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The second volume of Frameworks for International Cyber Security (FICS) compiles 
case law from the European Court of Human Rights and the European Court of 
Justice. The reader will find judicial insights into concepts such as personal data 
protection, access to documents, surveillance and others, which shape national ap-
proaches to cyber security. The courts’ interpretation of the balance of fundamen-
tal rights and freedoms, public interests and security will offer arguments for legal 
analysis, advice, but also legislative drafting and expert discussions.

Growing cyber security challenges introduce new ways of interpreting laws and 
regulations. This case law compilation is intended to support a systematic and in-
tegrated approach to implementing and reshaping the existing legal framework.

For a comprehensive cyber security, skillful co-application of legal areas and con-
cepts that for a long time have been developing in stove-pipes is needed. Under-
standing the background and limitations of existing information security regula-
tion, one can better foresee and devise the changes and adjustments needed to 
deter and respond to cyber incidents. These twelve hundred pages of case law are 
a good starting point for those interested in how information society and telecoms 
law, criminal law, national security legal framework and the law of armed conflict 
merge and interact in the cyber domain.

Similarly to FICS 1: International Cyber Security Law and Policy Instruments, this set 
of case law is a subjective choice of the editor and feedback, comments and refer-
ences to additional materials are most welcome. 

Special thanks go to Yaroslav Shiryaev, Maria Teder and Marbel Vaino who helped 
gather, systemize, filter, edit, proofread and update this material. Thanks for all the 
comments, feedback and interest so far!
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COMPUTER, ENJOYMENT OF POSSESSIONS, INVESTIGA-
TION, SEIZURE, CONFISCATION, PROPERTY.

IN THE CASE Of DENISOvA AND MOISEyEvA v. 
RuSSIA,

The European Court of Human Rights (First Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Christos Rozakis, President,  
Nina vajić,  
Anatoly Kovler,  
Khanlar Hajiyev,  
Dean Spielmann,  
Giorgio Malinverni,  
George Nicolaou, judges,  
and André Wampach, Deputy Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 11 March 2010, 
Delivers the following judgment, which was 
adopted on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

16903/03) against the Russian Federation 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of 
the Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Con-
vention”) by two Russian nationals, Ms Nataliya 
Mikhaylovna Denisova and Ms Nadezhda Val-
entinovna Moiseyeva (“the applicants”), on 8 
July 2002.

2. The applicants were represented by Ms K. Kos-
tromina, a lawyer with International Protection 
Centre in Moscow. The Russian Government 
(“the Government”) were represented by Mr P. 
Laptev, former Representative of the Russian 
Federation at the European Court of Human 
Rights.

3. The applicants alleged, in particular, a violation 
of their right to peaceful enjoyment of posses-
sions.

4. On 9 September 2005 the Court decided to 
communicate the complaint concerning the 
alleged violation of the applicants' property 
rights to the Government. It was also decided 
to examine the merits of the application at the 
same time as its admissibility (Article 29 § 3).

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

5. The applicants were born in 1949 and 1978 
respectively and live in Moscow. They are wife 
and daughter of Mr Valentin Moiseyev, who 
was also an applicant before the Court (see 
Moiseyev v. Russia, no. 62936/00 62936/00, 
9 October 2008).

A. Criminal proceedings against Mr 
Moiseyev

6. On 3 July 1998 the Investigations Department 
of the Federal Security Service of the Russian 
Federation (the FSB) opened criminal pro-
ceedings against Mr Moiseyev. At 11.30 p.m. 
a search was conducted at the applicants' flat. 
Foreign currency, the keys and registration pa-
pers for a VAZ car, and the second applicant's 
personal computer were seized. Simultane-
ously a search was carried out at Mr Moiseyev's 
office. In total, the investigators seized 5,747 US 
dollars.

7. On 10 July 1998 the investigator seized from 
the first applicant the keys to garage no. 178.

8. On 13 July 1998 Mr Moiseyev was formally 
charged with high treason, an offence under 
Article 275 of the Criminal Code.

9. On 22 July 1998 the investigator ordered a 
charge to be placed on the VAZ car with a view 
to “securing possible forfeiture of the defend-
ant's property in accordance with Article 175 of 
the RSFSR Code of Criminal Procedure”.

10. On 1 September 1998 the investigator in-
formed the director of the SBS-Agro bank of 
the freezing of Mr Moiseyev's foreign currency 
and Russian rouble accounts.

11. On 16 September and 12 November 1998 the 
investigator issued charging orders in respect 
of the garage and the computer. On 16 No-
vember 1998 the computer was physically 
removed from the applicants' flat and placed 
in the material evidence room of the Federal 
Security Service.

12. On 29 March 1999 the second applicant asked 
the investigator to return the computer, which 
was her personal property. On 12 April 1999 
the investigator replied that the computer had 
been seized with a view to securing possible 
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forfeiture of Mr Moiseyev's property and that 
certain files edited by Mr Moiseyev had been 
discovered on the hard disc. The second ap-
plicant was informed that, if necessary, her text 
files would be copied and handed over to her.

13. On 8 June 1999 the investigator ordered at-
tachment of the seized 5,747 US dollars as a 
material exhibit. On 15 June 1999 the Finance 
and Planning Department of the “USSR State 
Security Committee”1 issued a receipt for the 
money.

14. On 14 August 2001 the Moscow City Court con-
victed Mr Moiseyev of high treason committed 
between 1992 and 1998, sentenced him to 
four years and six months' imprisonment and 
issued a confiscation order in respect of his 
property. The parts of the judgments relevant 
to the determination of the property matters 
read as follows:
“Mr Moiseyev's pre-trial deposition that he
had received remuneration for information
transmitted to a representative of a foreign
state has been confirmed by the search
records, noting the discovery of US dollars
bothinhisofficeandathisplaceofresidence.
ThewitnessB.confirmedthatthesearchhad
uncovered 4,647US dollars sorted into non-
standardenvelopes.

BothMrMoiseyev and hiswifeMsDenisova
whowasinterviewedasanadditionalwitness
at trial, had been present during the search
but raised no objections. Accordingly, the
courtconsidersthatthedecisionattachingthe
1,100USdollarsseizedinMrMoiseyev'soffice,
the4,647USdollars,andsevenenvelopesas
materialexhibitswasjustified...

Having regard to the public dangerousness
of the committed crime, the court orders
confiscation of Mr Moiseyev's property. The
court decides on the destiny of thematerial
exhibits in accordancewithArticle 86 of the
RSFSRCodeofCriminalProcedure...

A confiscation order is issued in respect of
the property that has been seized: [the VAZ
car,foreigncurrencyandRussianroublebank
accounts,garageno.178,andthecomputer],
aswell as the cash fundsof 5,747USdollars
whichhavebeencriminallyacquired.”

15. On 3 January 2002 the first applicant asked 
the Supreme Court to order the return of her 
spousal property and to remove the garage 

1 According to the heading of the document. The State Se-
curity Committee (“KGB”) is the predecessor of the Federal 
Security Service.

from the list because it was rented rather than 
owned. She did not receive a response to her 
request.

16. On 9 January 2002 the Supreme Court upheld 
the conviction.

B. Enforcement of the confiscation order
17. On 4 March 2002 the Moscow City Court sent 

an excerpt from the judgment of 14 August 
2001 to the FSB's Finance and Economic De-
partment for enforcement of the confiscation 
order in respect of the cash funds. The covering 
letter read as follows:
“Confiscation order to be executed in
respect of Mr Moiseyev's cash funds in the
amountof [unreadable]USdollars ashaving
been criminally acquired and stored at the
Department[accordingto]receiptno.1013of
15June1999.”

18. On 18 March 2002 the Moscow City Court is-
sued five writs of execution for enforcement 
of the confiscation order in respect of Mr Moi-
seyev's property at his place of residence, the 
VAZ car, the garage, the bank accounts and the 
computer.

19. On 27 March 2002 the cash funds in the 
amount of 5,747 US dollars were received by 
the Vneshtorgbank from the FSB's Finance and 
Economic Department and credited to the 
State.

20. On 25 May 2002 a bailiff discontinued enforce-
ment in respect of Mr Moiseyev's property lo-
cated in his flat because no chargeable items 
had been found.

21. By a decision of 20 June 2002, a bailiff ordered 
the removal and sale of the computer and 
declared enforcement completed. On 31 July 
2002 the computer was evaluated at 2,500 
Russian roubles (RUB) and subsequently sold 
for RUB 1,609.05.

22. On 17 September 2002 a bailiff discontinued 
enforcement in respect of Mr Moiseyev's for-
eign currency and Russian rouble bank ac-
counts. He determined that no accounts in his 
name were listed in the bank's database.

23. On 27 November 2003 a bailiff determined 
that the garage was in fact a collapsible metal 
structure located on a rented plot, in respect 
of which the rent agreement had expired. Ac-
cordingly, he held that its removal or sale were 
impossible.
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24. Following the amendments of the Criminal 
Code (see paragraph 34 below), Mr Moiseyev 
asked the Moscow City Court to relieve him 
from the auxiliary penal sanction in the form 
of the confiscation order. On 14 February 2005 
the Moscow City Court found that the enforce-
ment of the confiscation order had been dis-
continued or terminated in respect of every-
thing but the VAZ car. Since the auxiliary penal 
sanction of confiscation had been removed 
from the Criminal Code, the City Court decided 
to return the car to Mr Moiseyev. On 6 July 2005 
the Supreme Court of the Russian Federation 
upheld that judgment on appeal.

C. Civil proceedings for return of family 
property

25. On 13 May 2002 the first applicant sued the 
court bailiffs and the Federal Security Service 
before the Khoroshevskiy District Court of 
Moscow, seeking to have the charging orders 
lifted and to have her right to one half of the 
marital property, excluding the bank deposits, 
recognised. She submitted that she had been 
married to Mr Moiseyev since 1978 and that 
the Civil and Family Codes provided for equal-
ity of spouses' portions of the marital property. 
Relying on Mr Moiseyev's pay statements, she 
argued that from 1992 to 1998 he had earned 
more than five thousand dollars and thus the 
amount of 5,747 US dollars could not be con-
sidered to have been unlawfully acquired. She 
indicated that the garage had been rented in 
1988, and that the computer had been the sec-
ond applicant's property.

26. On 11 October 2002, 14 and 27 February 2003 
the court heard the parties. As the first appli-
cant withheld consent to the substitution of 
the Federal Property Fund for the FSB and to 
Mr Moiseyev as co-defendant, Mr Moiseyev 
joined the proceedings as a third party.

27. On 27 February 2003 the Khoroshevskiy District 
Court delivered a judgment. The entire reason-
ing read as follows:
“Havingassessed thecollectedevidence, the
court dismisses [the first applicant's] claim
because the judgment of the Moscow City
Courtestablishedthatthecontestedproperty
had been criminally acquired, which makes
it impossibletorecognisetheplaintiff 's right
to one half of the seized property, and also
[because] the FSB is not a proper defendant
in this case. Neither [the first applicant]
nor Mr Moiseyev have been deprived of an
opportunity toappealagainst theconviction

in the part concerning the contested
property.”

28. On 18 June 2003 the Moscow City Court up-
held the judgment on appeal, noting that the 
claimed property had been found to have 
been criminally acquired by the Moscow City 
Court's judgment of 14 August 2001.

29. On 20 November 2003 the applicants sued the 
Federal Property Fund of the Russian Federa-
tion, seeking the lifting of the charging orders 
and recognition of the first applicant's right to 
one half of the spousal property and the sec-
ond applicant's ownership of the computer.

30. On 9 August 2005 the Khoroshevskiy District 
Court of Moscow dismissed their claim, finding 
as follows:
“It follows from the judgment of 14 August
2001 that the cash funds in the amount
of 5,747 US dollars had been criminally
acquired... On 19 March 2002 they were
deposited with the Vneshtorgbank bank
withaview toconfiscationandcredit to the
State... Accordingly, the court cannot agree
with Ms Denisova's claim to one half of the
spousalpartofthesaidcashfunds.Noother
judicial documents relating to the origin of
thecontestedcashfundshavebeenproduced
beforethecourt,whereas,pursuanttoArticle
61§2oftheCodeofCivilProcedure,thefacts
established by a final judicial decision in an
earliercasebindthecourt.

As to Ms Moiseyeva's claims for recognition
of her ownership of the computer and
peripherals, it cannot likewise be satisfied
because they have not been corroborated
during the examination of themerits of the
case. At present the said property has been
confiscated and sold, which is confirmed
by the bailiffs' information about the
enforcementoftheconfiscationorderinthat
respect.”

31. On 13 October 2005 the Moscow City Court 
upheld, in a summary fashion, the City Court's 
judgment.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

A. Spousal and donated property
32. Property acquired by spouses in marriage is 

presumed to be jointly owned (Article 256 § 
1 of the Civil Code, Article 34 § 1 of the Fam-
ily Code). A child owns property which he or 
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she has received as a gift (Article 60 § 1 of the 
Family Code). Giving does not require a writ-
ten agreement, handover of the gift being suf-
ficient (Article 574 § 1 of the Civil Code).

B. Criminal law and procedure
33. The Criminal Code provides that “penalty shall 

be imposed on a person found guilty of com-
mission of a crime” (Article 44). Confiscation of 
property is a form of penal sanction which is 
auxiliary to the main sanction and defined as 
“compulsory withdrawal, in whole or in part, 
without compensation, of the property owned 
by the convicted person” (Article 52). On 8 De-
cember 2003, Article 52 was removed from the 
Criminal Code.

34. As worded at the time of Mr Moiseyev's con-
viction, Article 275 of the Criminal Code pro-
vided that high treason carried a punishment 
of up to twenty years' imprisonment that may 
or may not be accompanied by a confiscation 
order in respect of the convict's property. On 8 
December 2003 the reference to the possibility 
of issuing a confiscation order was deleted.

35. The RSFSR Code of Criminal Procedure, as 
worded at the time of Mr Moiseyev's convic-
tion, provided as follows:

Article 86. Measures taken in respect of the 
exhibits in criminal proceedings

“The judgment...mustdecideon thedestiny
oftheexhibits,and:

(1) instrumentsofcrimewhichbelongtothe
accusedshallbeconfiscatedandpassedonto
acompetentagencyordestroyed;

...

(4) criminally acquired money and other
assetsshallbeconfiscatedtotheprofitofthe
State; other items shall be returned to their
lawful owners, or, if the owners cannot be
established,shallbecometheState'sproperty.
Incaseofadisputeovertheownershipofsuch
items, the dispute shall be resolved in civil
proceedings...”

Article 175. Charging of property

“With a view to securing a civil claim or a
possible confiscation order, the investigator
must charge the property of the suspect,
defendant...oroftheotherpersonswhokeep
criminallyacquiredproperty...Ifnecessary,the

chargedpropertymaybeimpounded...”

C. Rules of civil procedure
36. Article 442 § 2 of the Code of Civil Procedure 

provides:
“Adisputeovertheownershipofthecharged
property initiated by persons who were not
partiestothecaseshallbeexaminedasacivil
claim.

A claim for having the charging order lifted
shallbemadeagainstthedebtorandcreditor.
If the property has been charged or seized
in connection with a confiscation order, the
personwhose property is to be confiscated,
and the competent State authority shall be
co-defendants...”

37. Resolution no. 7 of the Plenary Supreme Court 
of the USSR “On the case-law concerning con-
fiscation of property” (of 29 September 1953, as 
amended on 29 August 1980) provided:
“4. ...The court should bear in mind that in
caseofconfiscationof theconvict'sproperty
in its entirety, the confiscation order should
only apply to his or her personal property
and to his or her part of the jointly owned
property, it may not extend to the part of
otherpersonswhoown thatproperty jointly
withtheconvict.Rightsandlawfulinterestsof
theconvict'sfamilymemberslivingwithhim,
mustberespected...

9. The courts should bear inmind that even
if the criminal judgment contained a list of
specificproperty items liable to confiscation,
thirdparties stillmay claim their title to that
property in civil proceedings... The courts
must consider such claims and the criminal
judgment does not bind the civil court in
its determination of the dispute over the
contestedproperty.

However,ifthecriminaljudgmentestablished
that the listed property items had been
criminallyacquiredorpaidforwithcriminally
acquired assets, but registered in other
persons' names with a view to concealing
them from confiscation... then the claim
for lifting of the charging order shall be
dismissed.”

38. Resolution no. 4 of the Plenary Supreme Court 
of the USSR “On legal requirements for exami-
nation of claims for lifting of charging orders” 
(of 31 March 1978, as amended on 30 Novem-
ber 1990) provided:
“9. When considering a spouse's claim for
lifting the charging order in respect of his
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or her part in the jointmarital property, the
courtmust bear inmind that... the property
acquired inmarriage is jointlyownedby the
spousesandincaseofdivisiontheirpartsare
presumedequal...

The courtmust determine the actual size of
the spouse's portion of themarital property
andthespecificitemsallocatedtohimorher,
having regard to the entirety of the jointly
acquired property, including the property
thatisnot–byoperationoflaworotherwise
– liable to confiscation. Each spouse's
portion shall include both the property
liable to confiscation and that not liable to
confiscation...”

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
1 OF PROTOCOL NO. 1

39. The applicants complained under Article 1 of 
Protocol No. 1 that their property rights had 
been violated as regards the domestic courts' 
refusal to lift the charging order in respect of 
the spousal portion of the first applicant and of 
the computer owned by the second applicant. 
Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 provides as follows:

“Every natural or legal person is entitled to
the peaceful enjoyment of his possessions.
No one shall be deprived of his possessions
except in the public interest and subject to
theconditionsprovidedforbylawandbythe
generalprinciplesofinternationallaw.

Theprecedingprovisions shallnot,however,
in any way impair the right of a State to
enforce such laws as it deems necessary to
controltheuseofpropertyinaccordancewith
thegeneralinterestortosecurethepayment
oftaxesorothercontributionsorpenalties.”

A. Admissibility
40. The parties did not comment on the admissi-

bility of the complaint.

41. 41. The Court notes that the this complaint is 
not manifestly ill-founded within the meaning 
of Article 35 § 3 of the Convention. It further 
notes that it is not inadmissible on any other 
grounds. It must therefore be declared admis-

sible.

B. Merits
1.Submissionsbytheparties
(a)  The applicants

42. The applicants submitted that the finding of 
the criminal origin in the judgment of 14 Au-
gust 2001 had related solely to the cash funds 
rather than to all the other property objects 
mentioned in the text. This was evident from 
the use of the plural form in the text (“cash 
funds... which have been criminally acquired”); 
otherwise, the sentence should have been in 
the singular (“property... which has been crimi-
nally acquired”) (see paragraph 14 above). Fur-
thermore, the writs of execution issued by the 
Moscow City Court had not mentioned that 
the property items – as opposed to the cash 
funds – had been criminally acquired. Finally, 
the applicants pointed out that the garage had 
been rented in 1988, that is before the begin-
ning of Mr Moiseyev's alleged criminal activi-
ties, and that his accounts at the Sbs-Agro bank 
had only been used to withdraw the salary paid 
by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

43. The applicants pointed out that the Khoro-
shevskiy District Court had not given them an 
effective opportunity to vindicate their prop-
erty rights because it had merely referred back 
to the criminal judgment, without carrying 
out an independent assessment of the facts. 
The District Court had failed to indicate which 
authority – the Federal Security Service or the 
Federal Property Fund – had been the proper 
defendant.

44. The applicants disputed the legal basis for the 
domestic courts' decisions and emphasised 
that Resolution no. 7 of the Plenary Supreme 
Court of the USSR required the courts to con-
fine the scope of confiscation measures to the 
convict's personal property and to take into ac-
count the lawful interests of the convict's fam-
ily members. However, the Russian courts had 
refused to exempt the first applicant's spousal 
portion and the second applicant's personal 
property from confiscation.

(b)  The Government

45. The Government claimed that, according to 
the operative part of judgment of 14 August 
2001, all of Mr Moiseyev's property, including 
the cash funds, car, garage, and computer had 
been criminally acquired. In support of their 
claim they referred to the last paragraph of the 
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judgment cited in paragraph 14 above. The 
Government maintained that the value of the 
cash funds and computer as the items which 
had actually been confiscated had not ex-
ceeded the amount of 14,000 US dollars, which 
Mr Moiseyev had received in remuneration for 
his spying activities.

46. The Government submitted that there had 
been no violation of the applicants' property 
rights. The confiscation order had been issued 
in strict compliance with the domestic law 
provisions. In case of mercenary crimes there 
existed the presumption of the criminal origin 
of the defendant's property and a confiscation 
order could be issued without examination of 
further evidence of its criminal origin. As the 
property had been criminally acquired, the 
Khoroshevskiy District Court had correctly re-
fused the first applicant's claim for recognition 
of her spousal portion.

2.TheCourt'sassessment
(a)  Whether the applicants had a legitimate claim 

to property

47. The Court reiterates that the concept of “pos-
sessions” in the first part of Article 1 of Protocol 
No. 1 has an autonomous meaning which is 
not limited to ownership of physical goods and 
is independent from the formal classification in 
domestic law: the concept of “possessions” is 
not limited to “existing possessions” but may 
also cover assets, including claims, in respect of 
which the applicant can argue that he has at 
least a reasonable and “legitimate expectation” 
of obtaining effective enjoyment of a property 
right or a proprietary interest (see Öneryıldız 
v. Turkey [GC], no. 48939/99 48939/99, § 124, 
ECHR 2004-XII, and Prince Hans-Adam II of 
Liechtenstein v. Germany [GC], no. 42527/98, 
§ 83, ECHR 2001-VIII). Where the proprietary 
interest is in the nature of a claim it may be 
regarded as an “asset” only where it has a suf-
ficient basis in national law, for example where 
there is settled case-law of the domestic courts 
confirming it (see Kopecký v. Slovakia [GC], 
no. 44912/98 44912/98, §§ 52, ECHR 2004-
IX; Draon v. France [GC], no. 1513/03, § 68, 6 
October 2005; Anheuser-Busch Inc. v. Portugal 
[GC], no. 73049/01 73049/01, § 65, 11 January 
2007).

48. On the facts, it is noted that in the course of 
criminal proceedings against Mr Moiseyev a 
large number of household items, including 
cash currency, keys and registration papers 
of a passenger car, keys to the garage and a 

computer, were seized by the investigation 
and subsequently confiscated pursuant to the 
confiscation order issued by the Moscow City 
Court on 14 August 2001 (see paragraph 14 
above). Enforcement of the order proved to be 
impossible in respect of the garage (see para-
graph 23 above) or was discontinued, owing to 
legislative changes, in respect of the car (see 
paragraph 24 above). The confiscation meas-
ure was eventually carried out in respect to the 
cash funds and the computer which had been 
sold by the bailiffs.

49. As regards the cash funds, it transpires from the 
Moscow City Court's judgment that the amount 
of 1,100 US dollars was seized in Mr Moiseyev's 
office and the remaining amount of 4,467 US 
dollars in the Moiseyevs family's home. The 
computer had been removed from the second 
applicant's room and the parties did not dis-
pute that she had been its primary user.

50. The first applicant argued that she had been 
entitled to the spousal portion of the confiscat-
ed money and the second applicant asserted 
her ownership of the computer. The crux of 
the applicants' complaint was that the domes-
tic courts had not provided them with an ef-
fective opportunity to claim their ownership 
to that property. Accordingly, in determining 
the existence of an interference with the right 
guaranteed by Article 1 of Protocol No. 1, the 
Court is called upon to verify in the light of the 
above-cited case-law whether the applicants 
had at least a reasonable and legitimate expec-
tation to regain possession of the confiscated 
property.

51. The Court observes, firstly, that the Russian 
Civil and Family Codes stipulated joint owner-
ship of property acquired by spouses in mar-
riage. In the absence of evidence of any other 
arrangement between the first applicant and 
her husband in relation to the marital property, 
this default legal regulation was applicable in 
their case. Furthermore, by virtue of the rel-
evant provisions of the Family and Civil Codes, 
children were legitimate owners of the objects 
which they had received from their parents as 
gifts. The change of ownership occurred at the 
moment of handing over the gift and there 
was no requirement of a written form (see 
paragraph 32 above). Thus, the first applicant 
could legitimately assert her entitlement to a 
portion of the family property equal to that of 
her husband and the second applicant to the 
computer which had been given to her by her 
parents.
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52. The domestic case-law, as codified in the 
binding resolutions of the Supreme Court, 
indicated that confiscation orders could not 
“extend to the part of other persons who own 
[the] property jointly with the convict” and 
required the courts of general jurisdiction to 
respect the “rights and lawful interests of the 
convict's family members living with him”. Only 
if it was found in subsequent civil proceed-
ings – irrespective of the findings made in the 
criminal proceedings – that the property was 
criminally acquired but registered in other per-
sons' names with a view to concealing it from 
confiscation, the claim was to be rejected (see 
paragraph 37 above). In the instant case the in-
tention to mislead the courts as to the actual 
ownership of the property for the purpose of 
avoiding its confiscation was not established in 
any proceedings.

53. A further resolution by the Supreme Court 
required the civil courts to have regard to the 
entirety of the marital property and, taking ac-
count of the presumption of equality of spous-
es' portion, determine the actual size of each 
spouse's portion which was to include both 
items liable to confiscation and those not liable 
to confiscation (see paragraph 38 above). It 
therefore appears that the first applicant could 
legitimately rely on those provisions to claim 
an equal share of the marital property.

54. In the light of the above considerations, the 
Court finds that the first applicant's claim to 
the spousal portion and the second applicant's 
claim to the computer had a basis in the statu-
tory law, such as provisions of the Russian Civil 
and Family Codes, and the case-law codified by 
the Supreme Court. They could reasonably and 
legitimately argue that the confiscation order 
of 14 August 2001 amounted to an interfer-
ence with their right to peaceful enjoyment 
of possessions and the Court is called upon to 
determine whether their claim was examined 
by the domestic courts in compliance with the 
requirements of Article 1 of Protocol No. 1.

(b)  Whether the applicants' claim was examined 
in accordance with the requirements of Arti-
cle 1 of Protocol No. 1

55. Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 comprises three 
distinct rules: the first rule, set out in the first 
sentence of the first paragraph, is of a gen-
eral nature and enunciates the principle of the 
peaceful enjoyment of property; the second 
rule, contained in the second sentence of the 
first paragraph, covers deprivation of pos-

sessions and subjects it to certain conditions; 
the third rule, stated in the second paragraph, 
recognises that the Contracting States are en-
titled, inter alia, to control the use of property 
in accordance with the general interest (see, as 
a recent authority, Broniowski v. Poland [GC], 
no. 31443/96, § 134, ECHR 2004-V). The par-
ties did not take a clear stance on the question 
of the rule of Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 under 
which the case should be examined. The Court 
considers that there is no need to resolve this 
issue because the principles governing the 
question of justification are substantially the 
same, involving as they do the legitimacy of 
the aim of any interference, as well as its pro-
portionality and the preservation of a fair bal-
ance.

56. The Court emphasises that the first and most 
important requirement of Article 1 of Protocol 
No. 1 is that any interference by a public au-
thority with the peaceful enjoyment of posses-
sions should be “lawful”: the second paragraph 
recognises that the States have the right to 
control the use of property by enforcing “laws”. 
Moreover, the rule of law, one of the funda-
mental principles of a democratic society, is in-
herent in all the Articles of the Convention. The 
issue of whether a fair balance has been struck 
between the demands of the general interest 
of the community and the requirements of 
the protection of the individual's fundamental 
rights only becomes relevant once it has been 
established that the interference in question 
satisfied the requirement of lawfulness and 
was not arbitrary (see, among other authori-
ties, Baklanov v. Russia, no. 68443/01 68443/01, 
§ 39, 9 June 2005, and Frizen v. Russia, no. 
58254/00, § 33, 24 March 2005).

57. The Court notes that the specific legal provi-
sions for the confiscation measure were not 
mentioned in the Moscow City Court's judg-
ment of 14 January 2001 or in any other do-
mestic decisions. This omission requires it to 
conjecture as to the legal basis for the interfer-
ence. However, even though the decision itself 
did not refer explicitly to the provisions that 
formed its basis, it may be understood that the 
confiscation order was imposed as an auxiliary 
penal sanction on the basis of Articles 52 and 
275 of the Criminal Code, read in conjunction 
with Article 86 § 4 of the RSFSR Code of Crimi-
nal Procedure (see paragraphs 33, 34 and 35 
above). The interference at issue may therefore 
be regarded as “lawful”.

58. The Court considers that the confiscation mea-
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sures in criminal proceedings pursue a general 
interest of the community because the forfei-
ture of money or assets obtained through il-
legal activities or paid for with the proceeds 
from crime is a necessary and effective means 
of combating criminal activities (see Raimondo 
v. Italy, judgment of 22 February 1994, Series 
A no. 281-A, p. 17, § 30). Such confiscation 
measures are in keeping with the goals of the 
Council of Europe Convention on Laundering, 
Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Pro-
ceeds from Crime, which requires State Parties 
to introduce confiscation of instrumentalities 
and proceeds from crime in respect of serious 
offences (Article 3 § 3). Thus, the making of a 
confiscation order in respect of criminally ac-
quired property operates in the general inter-
est as a deterrent to those considering engag-
ing in criminal activities and also guarantees 
that crime does not pay (compare Phillips 
v. the United Kingdom, no. 41087/98, § 52, 
ECHR 2001-VII, and Dassa Foundation and Oth-
ers v. Liechtenstein (dec.), no. 696/05, 10 July 
2007).

59. The Court further reiterates that, although the 
second paragraph of Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 
contains no explicit procedural requirements, 
it has been its constant requirement that the 
domestic proceedings afford the aggrieved 
individual a reasonable opportunity of putting 
his or her case to the responsible authorities 
for the purpose of effectively challenging the 
measures interfering with the rights guaran-
teed by this provision. In ascertaining whether 
this condition has been satisfied, a comprehen-
sive view must be taken of the applicable pro-
cedures (see Jokela v. Finland, no. 28856/95, 
§ 45, ECHR 2002-IV, and AGOSI v. the United 
Kingdom, judgment of 24 October 1986, Series 
A no. 108, § 55).

60. In the instant case the seizure and subsequent 
confiscation were ordered and carried out in 
the framework of criminal proceedings against 
Mr Moiseyev. The applicants were not party 
to those proceedings and had no standing 
to lodge requests or make any submissions 
in them. When issuing the confiscation order, 
the sentencing court did not examine whether 
any property objects affected by the seizure 
order could have belonged to the first and/
or second applicant. The first applicant made 
representation to the appeal court for removal 
of her spousal portion and the garage from the 
confiscation order but she did not receive any 
reply or an opportunity to take part in the ap-
peal proceedings (see paragraph 15 above). 

The Khoroshevskiy District Court's judgment of 
27 February 2003 indicated that the first appli-
cant had had an opportunity to appeal against 
the criminal judgment in the part concerning 
the contested property, but it did not refer 
to any legal provisions which would have al-
lowed a person who had no standing in crimi-
nal proceedings to lodge such an appeal. The 
Government, for their part, did not indicate any 
provisions of the Russian law that would have 
enabled the spouse or daughter of the con-
victed person to make submissions to the trial 
or appeal court.

61. In a situation where the ownership of property 
subject to a confiscation order was contested 
by persons who were not parties to the crimi-
nal proceedings, Article 442 of the Code of Civil 
Procedure allowed such persons to vindicate 
their property rights in civil proceedings. The 
applicants availed themselves of that remedy 
by introducing two civil claims, firstly against 
the bailiffs' service and the Federal Security 
Service, the latter having been the prosecut-
ing authority in Mr Moiseyev's case, and sub-
sequently against the Federal Property Fund. 
In examining their claims, the courts should 
have directed their attention to the possibility 
that the confiscated property items could have 
belonged to family members rather than to Mr 
Moiseyev himself and should have examined 
whether the applicants could have been their 
owners. However, the civil courts refused to 
take cognisance of the merits of the vindica-
tion claims or make any independent findings 
of fact, and they merely referred back to the 
judgment in Mr Moiseyev's criminal case. Thus, 
on 27 February 2003 the Khoroshevskiy District 
Court dismissed the first applicant's claim on 
the ground that the Moscow City Court had al-
ready established that “the contested property 
had been criminally acquired” (see paragraph 
27 above). On 9 August 2005 the same District 
Court dismissed her renewed claim, by hold-
ing that the “facts established by a final judicial 
decision in an earlier case bind the court”, and 
rejected the second applicant's claim because 
the computer had already been “confiscated 
and sold” (see paragraph 30 above).

62. The Khoroshevskiy District and the Moscow 
City Courts' persistent failure to take cogni-
sance of the merits of the applicants' claim for 
vindication of their property was at variance 
with the requirements of the Russian law. In a 
series of binding rulings the Plenary Supreme 
Court consistently reminded the courts of 
general jurisdiction that a confiscation order 
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may only apply to the convict's portion of the 
jointly owned property and may not affect the 
property rights of cohabiting family members, 
unless it has been established that the prop-
erty was criminally acquired and registered in 
family members' names with a view to avoid-
ing confiscation. To achieve the proper balance 
of interests, the courts examining claims for 
release of the spousal portion from confisca-
tion were required to determine the portion of 
each spouse by reference to the family prop-
erty in its entirety, so that each spouse's por-
tion comprises both confiscated and non-con-
fiscated property items (see paragraphs 37 and 
38 above). The first applicant supported her 
claim to one half of the spousal property with 
evidence capable of showing the legitimate 
origin of at least a part of the family property, 
such as Mr Moiseyev's pay statements from the 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the rental agree-
ment in respect of the car garage. Although 
the domestic courts did not declare that evi-
dence inadmissible, it was not mentioned in 
their judgments, which moreover did not 
contain any analysis of the composition of the 
family property. It follows that the domestic 
courts did not carry out a global assessment of 
the family property and the balancing exercise 
of the rights of family members, which were 
both required under the applicable domestic 
law provisions.

63. After Mr Moiseyev had regained possession 
of the car following a legislative amendment 
of Russian criminal law and after the bailiffs 
had determined that confiscation of bank as-
sets, personal property and the garage was not 
physically possible, the first applicant reintro-
duced her claim for the spousal portion of the 
contested cash funds and the second applicant 
sought to vindicate her right to the computer. 
However, the second civil claim was likewise 
dealt with in a summary fashion. The domestic 
courts did not give heed to the evidence and 
submissions by the applicants or make a global 
assessment of the family property with a view 
to determining the spousal portions. As to the 
second applicant's claim to the computer, it 
was likewise dismissed without any explana-
tion why her submission that the computer 
had been given to her by her parents as a gift 
appeared implausible. The Khoroshevskiy Dis-
trict and Moscow City Courts did not mention 
or refer in their judgments to any provisions of 
the Civil or Family Code.

64. In the light of the foregoing considerations, the 
Court finds that the applicants “bore an indi-

vidual and excessive burden” which could have 
been rendered legitimate only if they had had 
the opportunity to challenge effectively the 
confiscation measure imposed in the criminal 
proceedings to which they were not parties; 
however, that opportunity was denied them 
in the subsequent civil proceedings and there-
fore the “fair balance which should be struck 
between the protection of the right of prop-
erty and the requirements of the general inter-
est” was upset (compare Hentrich v. France, 
judgment of 22 September 1994, Series A 
no. 296-A, § 49).

65. Accordingly, there has been a violation of Arti-
cle 1 of Protocol No. 1.

II. OTHER ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF 
THE CONVENTION

66. The first applicant further complained under 
Article 8 of the Convention about the night 
search of their flat on 3 July 1998. The ap-
plicants also complained under Article 6 § 1 
of the Convention that the proceedings that 
lasted from 3 July 1998 to 18 June 2003 had 
exceeded a “reasonable time”.

67. The Court reiterates that it has already dis-
missed the complaint about the search at Mr 
Moiseyev's flat on 3 July 1998 for non-exhaus-
tion of domestic remedies (see Moiseyev v. 
Russia (dec.), no. 62936/00 62936/00, 9 Decem-
ber 2004). It finds no reason to depart from that 
conclusion in the present case.

68. The Court further observes that there was no 
continuous set of proceedings that lasted from 
3 July 1998 to 18 June 2003. The applicants 
were not parties to the criminal proceedings 
against Mr Moiseyev and the first applicant 
introduced her first civil claim only on 13 May 
2002. That claim was finally dismissed on 18 
June 2003, that is one year and one month 
later. That period was short and there was no 
appearance of a violation of the “reasonable 
time” requirement.

69. It follows that this part of the application is 
manifestly ill-founded and must be rejected in 
accordance with Article 35 §§ 3 and 4 of the 
Convention.

III. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

70. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
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“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
Contracting Party concerned allows only
partialreparationtobemade,theCourtshall,
if necessary, afford just satisfaction to the
injuredparty.”

71. The first applicant claimed the following 
amounts in respect of pecuniary damage:

• 6,657.50 euros (EUR) for the loss of rental in-
come from the car garage and the land tax 
she was liable to pay on it;

• EUR 2,712.60 for one half of the deprecia-
tion cost of the VAZ car and the transport 
tax she was liable to pay on it; and

• EUR 3,537.80 for one half of the cash funds 
plus interest at the statutory lending rate.

72. The second applicant claimed EUR 800, repre-
senting the approximate value of a computer 
similar to hers.

73. The applicants further claimed EUR 30,000 
and EUR 20,000 respectively in respect of 
non-pecuniary damage. Finally, they claimed 
jointly EUR 374.60 for legal fees in the domes-
tic proceedings, EUR 122.20 for court fees and 
EUR 3,000 for their representation before the 
Court.

74. The Government pointed out that the obliga-
tion to pay taxes, such as land and transport 
tax, was a corollary of the right of ownership. 
Neither Mr Moiseyev's nor the first applicant's 
right of ownership to the car garage and the 
car itself had ever been disputed and they had 
been therefore liable to tax imposition. The 
claim for rental income was speculative and 
the depreciation cost of the car was not sup-
ported with any documents. The second ap-
plicant's claim for the computer value was ex-
cessive, in view of the small amount which the 
sale of the computer fetched. Finally, the Gov-
ernment considered that the claim in respect 
of non-pecuniary damage was unreasonable 
as to quantum and that the applicants had not 
submitted appropriate documents in support 
of their claims for costs and expenses.

75. The Court considers that the question of the 
application of Article 41 is not ready for deci-
sion. Accordingly, it shall be reserved and the 
subsequent procedure fixed having regard 
to any agreement which might be reached 
between the Government and the applicants 
(Rule 75 § 1 of the Rules of Court).

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT

1. Declares unanimously the complaint concern-
ing an alleged violation of the applicants' property 
rights admissible and the remainder of the appli-
cation inadmissible;

2. Holds, by six votes to one, that there has been a 
violation of Article 1 of Protocol No. 1;

3. Holds, by six votes to one, that the question of 
the application of Article 41 is not ready for deci-
sion and accordingly:

(a) reserves the said question;

(b) invites the Government and the applicants 
to submit, within three months from the 
date on which the judgment becomes fi-
nal in accordance with Article 44 § 2 of 
the Convention, their written observations 
on the matter and, in particular, to notify 
the Court of any agreement that they may 
reach;

(c) reserves the further procedure and dele-
gates to the President of the Chamber the 
power to fix the same if need be.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 1 April 
2010, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the Rules 
of Court.

André Wampach, Deputy Registrar
Christos Rozakis, President

In accordance with Article 45 § 2 of the Conven-
tion and Rule 74 § 2 of the Rules of Court, the dis-
senting opinion of Ms N. Vajić is annexed to this 
judgment.
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DIssEntInG oPInIon oF 
JUDGE VAJIć
I am unable to find that there has been a violation 
of the applicants' property rights under Article 1 
of Protocol No. 1 to the Convention in the present 
case.

According to national law a criminal court in Rus-
sia has the power to confiscate criminally acquired 
property; the finding as to its criminal origin is of 
a factual nature. In the present case that question 
was examined in the criminal proceedings, which 
determined the matter (see paragraphs 14-16 of 
the judgment) and simply precluded any further 
claims. In this regard, Resolution no. 7 of the Plenary 
Supreme Court of the USSR states as follows: “How-
ever, if the criminal judgment established that the 
listed property items had been criminally acquired 
or paid for with criminally acquired assets, but reg-
istered in other persons' names with a view to con-
cealing them from confiscation ... then the claim for 
lifting of the charging order shall be dismissed” (see 
paragraph 37 of the judgment). (emphasis added)

As in most countries, Russian civil law basically 
denies any legal protection to criminally acquired 
property.

It follows that in the given circumstances the appli-
cants could not and had not become the owners of 
the property in question and thus could not claim 
their share of the property, as their claim had no ba-
sis in domestic law (contrary to the assertion in par-
agraph 52 of the judgment). This was also stated by 
the national courts (see paragraphs 27-28 and 30 
of the judgment). Therefore, in view of the Court's 
case-law, the applicants – contrary to the majority's 
view (see paragraphs 51-54 of the judgment) – did 
not have a sufficiently established claim to qualify 
as an asset protected by Article 1 of Protocol No. 1.

For the above-mentioned reasons it is my opinion 
that the applicants did not have a right or a legiti-
mate expectation that was protected by the Con-
vention and I do not agree with the majority that 
there has been a violation of Article 1 of Protocol 
No. 1.
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INTERNET, FORUM, POSTING, FREEDOM OF EXPRES-
SION, NAGORNO-KARABAKH, HOLOCAUST DENIAL.

IN THE CASE Of fATuLLAyEv v. AzERBAIJAN,

The European Court of Human Rights (First Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Christos Rozakis, President,  
Nina Vajić,  
Dean Spielmann,  
Sverre Erik Jebens,  
Giorgio Malinverni,  
George Nicolaou, judge,  
Lətif Hüseynov, ad hoc judge,  
and Søren Nielsen, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 25 March 2010,

Delivers the following judgment, which was 
adopted on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

40984/07) against the Republic of Azerbai-
jan lodged with the Court under Article 34 of 
the Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Con-
vention”) by an Azerbaijani national, Mr Ey-
nulla Emin oglu Fatullayev (Eynulla Emin oğlu 
Fətullayev – “the applicant”), on 10 September 
2007.

2. The applicant was represented by Mr I. Ashurov, 
a lawyer practising in Baku. The Azerbaijani 
Government (“the Government”) were repre-
sented by their Agent, Mr Ç. Asgarov.

3. The applicant alleged, in particular, that his 
criminal convictions for statements made in 
newspaper articles authored by him had con-
stituted a violation of his freedom of expres-
sion, that he had not been heard by an inde-
pendent and impartial tribunal established by 
law, and that his right to the presumption of 
innocence had not been respected.

4. On 3 September 2008 the President of the First 
Section decided to give notice of the applica-
tion to the Government. It was also decided to 
examine the merits of the application at the 
same time as its admissibility (Article 29 § 3 of 

the Convention).

5. Mr K. Hajiyev, the judge elected in respect of 
Azerbaijan, withdrew from sitting in the Cham-
ber (Rule 28 of the Rules of Court). The Govern-
ment accordingly appointed Mr L. Hüseynov to 
sit as an ad hoc judge in his place (Article 27 
§ 2 of the Convention and Rule 29 § 1 of the 
Rules of Court).

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

6. The applicant was born in 1976 and lives in 
Baku.

7. The applicant was the founder and chief edi-
tor of the newspapers Gündəlik Azərbaycan, 
published in the Azerbaijani language, and 
Realny Azerbaijan (“Реальный Азербайджан”), 
published in the Russian language. The news-
papers were widely known for often publishing 
articles harshly criticising the Government and 
various public officials.

8. Prior to the events complained of in this appli-
cation, the applicant had been sued for defa-
mation in a number of sets of civil and criminal 
proceedings instituted following complaints 
by various high-ranking government officials, 
including cabinet ministers and members of 
parliament. In the most recent set of proceed-
ings, on 26 September 2006 the applicant was 
convicted of defamation of a cabinet minister 
and conditionally sentenced to two years' im-
prisonment. Moreover, according to the ap-
plicant, at various times he and his staff had 
received numerous threatening phone calls 
demanding him to stop writing critical articles 
about high-ranking officials or even to com-
pletely cease the publication of his newspa-
pers.

9. In 2007 two sets of criminal proceedings were 
brought against the applicant in connection 
with, inter alia, two articles published by him in 
Realny Azerbaijan.

A. first set of proceedings
1.Statementsmadebytheapplicant

10. In 2005 the applicant visited, as a journalist, 
the area of Nagorno-Karabakh and other ter-
ritories controlled by the Armenian military 
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forces. This was one of a few exceptionally al-
lowed and organised visits by Azerbaijani na-
tionals to those territories and to Armenia in 
the years following the Nagorno-Karabakh war, 
as movement across the front line in Nagorno-
Karabakh and across the Armenian-Azerbaijani 
border remains severely restricted to this day 
from both sides. During his visit he met, among 
others, some officials of the self-proclaimed, 
unrecognised “Nagorno-Karabakh Republic” 
and some ordinary people. In the aftermath of 
this visit, in April 2005 the applicant published 
an article called “The Karabakh Diary” (Russian: 
“Карабахск ий дневник”) in Realny Azerbaijan.

11. In the article, styled as a diary, the applicant 
described his visits to several towns, including 
Lachin, Shusha, Agdam and Khojaly, which had 
formerly been inhabited primarily by ethnic 
Azerbaijanis who had been forced to flee their 
homes during the war. He described both the 
ruins of war and the new construction sites 
that he had seen in those towns, as well as his 
casual conversations with a number of local Ar-
menians he had met during his visit.

12. One of the topics discussed in “The Karabakh 
Diary” concerned the Khojaly massacre of 26 
February 1992. Discussing this topic, the appli-
cant made certain statements which could be 
construed as differing from the commonly ac-
cepted version of the Khojaly events according 
to which hundreds of Azerbaijani civilians had 
been killed by the Armenian armed forces, with 
the reported assistance of the Russian (for-
merly Soviet) 366th Motorised Rifle Regiment, 
during their assault on the town of Khojaly in 
the course of the war in Nagorno-Karabakh. 
Specifically, the article contained the following 
passages:
“Having seen Khojaly, I could not hide my
astonishment. This Azerbaijani town, which
hadbeenrazedtotheground,hasbeencom-
pletely reconstructed and converted into a
town called Ivanovka, namedafter anArme-
niangeneralwhohadactivelyparticipatedin
the occupation of Khojaly. The Khojaly trag-
edy and the deep wounds inflicted on our
soul by the Armenian expansionism on this
long-sufferingAzerbaijani landpermeatedall
mymeetingsinAskeran[atowninNagorno-
Karabakh close to Khojaly]. How so? Can it
be true that nothing human is left in these
people? However, for the sake of fairness I
will admit that several years ago Imet some
refugees fromKhojaly, temporarily settled in
Naftalan, who openly confessed to me that,
ontheeveofthe large-scaleoffensiveofthe

RussianandArmeniantroopsonKhojaly, the
town had been encircled [by those troops].
Andevenseveraldayspriortotheattack,the
Armenians had been continuously warning
thepopulation about theplannedoperation
throughloudspeakersandsuggestingthatthe
civilians abandon the townandescape from
theencirclementthroughahumanitariancor-
ridoralongtheKar-KarRiver.Accordingtothe
Khojaly refugees' ownwords, they had used
this corridor and, indeed, the Armenian sol-
dierspositionedbehind thecorridorhadnot
openedfireonthem.Somesoldiersfromthe
battalions of the NFA [the National Front of
Azerbaijan,apoliticalparty],forsomereason,
hadledpartofthe[refugees]inthedirection
ofthevillageofNakhichevanik,whichduring
that period had been under the control of
the Armenians' Askeran battalion. The other
groupofrefugeeswerehitbyartilleryvolleys
[whiletheywerereaching]theAgdamRegion.

WhenIwasinAskeran,Ispoketothedeputy
headof theadministrationofAskeran,Slavik
Arushanyan,andcomparedhisrecollectionof
theeventswiththatoftheKhojalyinhabitants
whocameunderfirefromtheAzerbaijaniside.

IaskedS.Arushanyantoshowmethecorridor
which the Khojaly inhabitants had used [to
abandon the town]. Having familiarisedmy-
selfwiththegeographicalarea,Icansay,fully
convinced,thattheconjecturesthattherehad
been no Armenian corridor are groundless.
The corridor did indeed exist, otherwise the
Khojaly inhabitants, fully surrounded [by the
enemytroops]and isolatedfromtheoutside
world,wouldnothavebeenabletoforcetheir
wayoutandescapetheencirclement.Howev-
er,havingcrossedtheareabehindtheKar-Kar
River,therowofrefugeeswasseparatedand,
forsomereason,agroupof[them]headedin
thedirectionofNakhichevanik.Itappearsthat
the NFA battalions were striving not for the
liberationoftheKhojalyciviliansbutformore
bloodshedontheirwaytooverthrowA.Mu-
talibov[thefirstPresidentofAzerbaijan]...”

13. More than a year after the publication of the 
above article, during the period from Decem-
ber 2006 to January 2007, a person registered 
under the username “Eynulla Fatullayev”, iden-
tifying himself as the applicant, made a num-
ber of postings on the publicly accessible Inter-
net forum of a website called AzeriTriColor. The 
postings were made in a specific forum thread 
dedicated to other forum members' questions 
to the forum member named “Eynulla Fatul-
layev” about the contents of “The Karabakh Di-
ary”. In his various answers to those questions, 
the person posting under the username “Ey-
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nulla Fatullayev” made, inter alia, the following 
statements:
“I have visited this town [Naftalan] where I
havespokentohundreds(Irepeat,hundreds)
ofrefugeeswhoinsistedthattherehadbeena
corridorandthattheyhadremainedaliveow-
ingtothiscorridor...

Yousee,itwaswartimeandtherewasafront
line... Of course, Armenians were killing [the
civilians], but part of the Khojaly inhabitants
had been fired upon by our own [troops]...
Whetheritwasdoneintentionallyornotisto
bedeterminedbyinvestigators....

[They were killed] not by [some]mysterious
[shooters],butbyprovocateursfromtheNFA
battalions...[Thecorpses]hadbeenmutilated
byourown...”

2.Civilactionagainsttheapplicant
14. On 23 February 2007 Ms T. Chaladze, the 

Head of the Centre for Protection of Refugees 
and Displaced Persons, brought a civil action 
against the applicant in the Yasamal District 
Court. She claimed that the applicant had “for 
a long period of time insulted the honour and 
dignity of the victims of the Khojaly Tragedy, 
persons killed during those tragic events and 
their relatives, as well as veterans of the Kara-
bakh War, soldiers of the Azerbaijani National 
Army and the entire Azerbaijani people”. She 
alleged that the applicant had done so by mak-
ing the above-mentioned statements in his ar-
ticle “The Karabakh Diary” as well as by making 
similar insulting statements on the forum of 
the AzeriTriColor website. Ms Chaladze attrib-
uted the authorship of the Internet forum post-
ings made from the forum account with the 
username “Eynulla Fatullayev” to the applicant.

15. In his submissions to the court, the applicant 
argued that the forum postings at the Azeri-
TriColor website had not been written by him 
and denied making these statements. He also 
argued that, in “The Karabakh Diary”, he had 
merely reported the information given to him 
by persons whom he had interviewed.

16. The Yasamal District Court, sitting as a single-
judge formation composed of Judge I. Ismay-
ilov, heard evidence from a number of refugees 
from Khojaly, all of whom testified about their 
escape from the town and noted that they had 
not been fired upon by Azerbaijani soldiers 
and that the applicant's assertions concerning 
this were false. Furthermore, having examined 
electronic evidence and witness statements, 

the court established that the postings on the 
AzeriTriColor forum had indeed been made by 
the applicant himself and that they had been 
posted in response to various questions by 
readers of Realny Azerbaijan. The court found 
that the applicant and the newspaper had dis-
seminated false and unproven statements tar-
nishing the honour and dignity of the survivors 
of the Khojaly events.

17. In view of the above findings, on 6 April 2007 
the Yasamal District Court upheld Ms Cha-
ladze's claim and ordered the applicant to 
publish, in Realny Azerbaijan and on related 
websites, a retraction of his statements and 
an apology to the refugees from Khojaly and 
the newspaper's readers. The court also or-
dered the applicant and Realny Azerbaijan 
to pay 10,000 New Azerbaijani manats (AZN 
– approximately 8,500 euros) each in respect 
of non-pecuniary damage. This total award of 
AZN 20,000 was to be spent on upgrading the 
living conditions of the refugees from Khojaly 
temporarily residing in Naftalan.

3.Criminalconviction
18. Thereafter, on an unspecified date, a group of 

four Khojaly survivors and two former soldiers 
who had been involved in the Khojaly battle, 
represented by Ms Chaladze, lodged a criminal 
complaint against the applicant with the Yasa-
mal District Court, under the private prosecu-
tion procedure. They asked that the applicant 
be convicted of defamation and of falsely ac-
cusing Azerbaijani soldiers of having commit-
ted an especially grave crime.

19. At a preliminary hearing held on 9 April 2007 
the applicant filed an objection against the en-
tire judicial composition of the Yasamal District 
Court. He claimed that all of the judges of that 
court had been appointed to their positions in 
September 2000 for a fixed five-year term and 
that their term of office had expired in 2005. He 
therefore argued that the composition of the 
court meant that it could not be regarded as 
a “tribunal established by law”. This objection 
was dismissed.

20. 20. The hearing of the criminal case took place 
on 20 April 2007 and was presided over by 
Judge I. Ismayilov, sitting as a single judge.

21. In his oral submissions to the court, the appli-
cant pleaded his innocence. In particular, he 
denied making the statements on the forum of 
the AzeriTriColor website and maintained that 
those statements had been made by some un-
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known impostor who had used his name for 
this purpose.

22. The court heard a linguistic expert who gave 
an opinion on the applicant's statements. The 
expert testified, inter alia, that, owing to the 
specific style in which “The Karabakh Diary” 
had been written, it was difficult to differenti-
ate whether the specific statements and con-
clusions made concerning the Khojaly events 
could be attributable to the applicant person-
ally or to those persons whom he had alleg-
edly interviewed in Nagorno-Karabakh. He also 
noted that it was difficult to analyse separately 
the specific phrases taken out of the context 
of the article as a whole, and that it appeared 
from the context that the author had attempt-
ed to convey the positions of both sides to the 
conflict. The court also heard several witnesses 
who testified about the Khojaly events and 
stated that there had been no escape corridor 
for the civilians and that the civilians had been 
shot at from the enemy's positions. The court 
further found that the Internet forum of the 
AzeriTriColor website, in essence, had replaced 
the Internet forum of the Realny Azerbaijan 
website, which had become defunct in 2006, 
and that the statements posted on that forum 
under the username “Eynulla Fatullayev” had 
indeed been made by the applicant himself. 
Lastly, the court found that, through his state-
ments made in “The Karabakh Diary” and his 
Internet forum postings, the applicant had 
given a heavily distorted account of the histori-
cal events in Khojaly and had deliberately dis-
seminated false information which had dam-
aged the reputation of the plaintiffs and had 
accused the soldiers of the Azerbaijani Army 
(specifically, the two plaintiffs who had fought 
in Khojaly) of committing grave crimes which 
they had not committed. The court convicted 
the applicant under Articles 147.1 (defamation) 
and 147.2 (defamation by accusing a person of 
having committed a grave crime) of the Crimi-
nal Code and sentenced him to two years and 
six months' imprisonment.

23. The applicant was arrested in the courtroom 
and taken to Detention Facility No. 1 on the 
same day (20 April 2007).

24. On 6 June 2007 the Court of Appeal upheld the 
Yasamal District Court's judgment of 20 April 
2007.

25. On 21 August 2007 the Supreme Court dis-
missed a cassation appeal by the applicant and 

upheld the lower courts' judgments.

B. Second set of proceedings
1.“TheAliyevsGotoWar”

26. In the meantime, on 30 March 2007, Realny 
Azerbaijan had published an article entitled 
“The Aliyevs Go to War” (Russian: “Алиевы идут 
на войну”). The article was written by the ap-
plicant but published under the pseudonym 
“Rovshan Bagirov”.

27. This analytical article was devoted to the pos-
sible consequences of Azerbaijan's support for 
a recent “anti-Iranian” resolution of the United 
Nations (UN) Security Council, which had called 
for economic sanctions against that country. 
The article referred to the current Azerbaijani 
government as “the Aliyev clan” and “the gov-
erning Family” and expressed the view that the 
government had sought United States (US) 
support for President Ilham Aliyev's “remaining 
in power” in Azerbaijan in exchange for Azer-
baijan's support for the US “aggression” against 
Iran.

28. The article continued as follows:
“It is also known that, immediately after the
UN[SecurityCouncil]hadvotedforthisreso-
lution, [the authorities] in Tehran began to
seriously prepare for the beginning of the
'anti-Iranianoperation'. For several years, the
military headquarters of the Islamic regime
hadbeendevelopingplans for repulsing the
American aggression and counter-attacking
theUSandtheirallies in theregion.After24
March 2007 Azerbaijan, having openly sup-
ported the anti-Iranian operation, must pre-
pareforalengthyanddreadfulwarwhichwill
resultinlarge-scaledestructionandlossofhu-
manlife.Accordingtoinformationfromsourc-
es close to official Paris, the Iranian General
Staffhasalreadydeveloped itsmilitaryplans
concerningAzerbaijanintheeventthatBaku
takespartintheaggressionagainstIran.Thus,
theIranianlong-rangemilitaryairforce,thou-
sands of insane kamikaze terrorists from the
IRGC[theIslamicRevolution'sGuardianCorps]
andhundredsofShahab-2andShahab-3mis-
sileswill strike the followingmain targetson
theterritoryofAzerbaijan...”

29. The article continued with a long and detailed 
list of such targets, which included, inter alia, 
active petroleum platforms on the shelf of the 
Caspian Sea, the Sangachal Oil Terminal and 
other petroleum plants and terminals, the Ba-
ku-Tbilisi-Ceyhan petroleum pipeline and the 
Baku-Tbilisi-Erzurum gas pipeline, the building 
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of the Presidential Administration, the building 
of the US Embassy in Azerbaijan, buildings of 
various ministries, the Baku seaport and airport, 
and a number of large business centres hous-
ing the offices of major foreign companies do-
ing business in Azerbaijan.

30. Further, it was noted in the article that the 
Azerbaijani Government should have main-
tained neutrality in its relations with both the 
US and Iran, and that its support of the US posi-
tion could lead, in the event of a war between 
those two States, to such grave consequences 
as loss of human life among Azeris in both 
Azerbaijan and Iran. In this connection, the 
author noted that the US military forces were 
already operating four airbases on the territory 
of Azerbaijan and had expressed an interest in 
operating the Gabala Radar Station, which was 
then operated by Russia.

31. The article also discussed the issue of possible 
unrest, in the event of a conflict with Iran, in 
the southern regions of Azerbaijan populated 
by the Talysh ethnic minority, who are ethni-
cally and linguistically close to the Persians. 
Among other things, the article appeared to 
imply that the current ruling elite, a large num-
ber of whom allegedly came from the region 
of Nakhchivan, was engaging in regional nepo-
tism by appointing people from Nakhchivan 
to government posts in southern areas of the 
country, including the Lenkoran region. In par-
ticular, the article stated:
“Thus, theTalyshhave longbeenexpressing
theirdiscontentwiththefactthat[thecentral
authorities] always appoint to administrative
positions in Lenkoran persons hailing from
Nakhchivanwhoarealientothementalityand
problemsoftheregion....Thelevelofunem-
ployment in the region is terribly high, drug
abuseisflourishing,everymorninghundreds
ofunemployedTalyshclustertogetheratthe
'slave'[thatis,cheaplabour]marketinBaku.Is
thisnotapowderkeg?

Buttheauthorities,seeminglyunawareofthe
dangerofthedevelopingsituation,aregiving
preference to their standard methods – re-
pressivemeasures and paying off the Talysh
elite.Itseemsasiftheauthoritiesaredeliber-
atelypushingtheTalysh intotheembraceof
Iranianradicals.”

32. The article noted that certain high-ranking 
Iranian officials and ayatollahs were of Talysh 
ethnicity, and that there were “several million” 
Talysh living across the Iranian border who 
could “support their kin” living in Azerbaijan in 

the event of a war. Lastly, the article concluded 
that the Azerbaijani authorities did not realise 
all the dangerous consequences of the geopo-
litical game they were playing.

2.Criminalconviction
33. On 16 May 2007 the investigation depart-

ment of the Ministry of National Security (“the 
MNS”) commenced a criminal investigation in 
connection with the publication of the article 
under Article 214.1 of the Criminal Code (ter-
rorism or threat of terrorism).

34. On 22 May 2007 the investigation authori-
ties conducted searches in the applicant's flat 
and in the office of the Realny Azerbaijan and 
Gündəlik Azərbaycan newspapers. They found 
and seized certain photographs and computer 
disks from the applicant's flat and twenty com-
puter hard drives from the newspaper's office.

35. On 29 May 2007 the applicant was transferred 
to the MNS detention facility.

36. On 31 May 2007 the Prosecutor General made 
a statement to the press, noting that the article 
published in Realny Azerbaijan contained in-
formation which constituted a threat of terror-
ism and that a criminal investigation had been 
instituted in this connection by the MNS. This 
statement was reported on Media Forum, an 
Internet news portal, as follows:
“Today, the Prosecutor General ... provided
an explanation concerning the criminal case
institutedbytheMinistryofNationalSecurity
inrespectofEynullaFatullayev,theeditor-in-
chief of Gündəlik Azərbaycan and Realny 
Azerbaijan newspapers, and stated that the
Internet site [of thenewspapers]had indeed
containedinformationthreateningactsofter-
rorism.According toAzadliqRadio, thePros-
ecutorGeneralstated:'Thesitementionsspe-
cificStatefacilitiesandaddresseswhichwould
allegedlybebombedbytheIslamicRepublic
ofIran.Thisinformationconstitutesathreatof
terrorism.'[He]notedthat,inconnectionwith
this,theMNShadinstitutedcriminalproceed-
ingsunderArticle214.1oftheCriminalCode.
The Prosecutor General stated that theMNS
would shortlymake a statement concerning
theresultsoftheinvestigation.”

37. Another Internet news portal, Day.Az, reported 
as follows:

“The Internet site of Realny Azerbaijan,
founded by Eynulla Fatullayev, indeed con-
tainsathreatofterrorism.TheProsecutorGen-
eral...madethisstatement.Accordingtohim,
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the Internet site of Realny Azerbaijan men-
tionsspecificaddressesofcertainStatefacili-
tiesandassertsthat,accordingtoavailablein-
formation,theywillbebombedbytheIslamic
RepublicofIran. 'Thisinformationconstitutes
a threat of terrorism. Therefore, theMinistry
ofNational Security (theMNS)has instituted
criminal proceedings under Article 214.1 of
theCriminalCodeand is taking investigative
measures.' [The Prosecutor General] noted
thattheMNSwouldkeepthepublicinformed
abouttheprogressinthecase...”

38. On 3 July 2007, by a decision of an MNS investi-
gator, the applicant was formally charged with 
the criminal offences of threat of terrorism (Ar-
ticle 214.1 of the Criminal Code) and inciting 
ethnic hostility (Article 283.2.2 of the Criminal 
Code).

39. On the same day, 3 July 2007, pursuant to a 
request by the Prosecutor General's Office, the 
Sabail District Court remanded the applicant in 
custody for a period of three months in con-
nection with this criminal case. The applicant 
appealed. On 11 July 2007 the Court of Appeal 
upheld the Sabail District Court's decision.

40. On 4 September 2007 the applicant was also 
charged with tax evasion under Article 213.2 
of the Criminal Code on account of his alleged 
failure to duly declare taxes on his personal 
earnings as a newspaper editor.

41. During the trial, among other evidence, the 
prosecution produced evidence showing 
that in May 2007 the full electronic version of 
“The Aliyevs Go to War” had been forwarded 
by e-mail to the offices of a number of foreign 
and local companies in Baku. A total of eight 
employees of these companies testified dur-
ing the trial that, after reading the article, they 
had felt disturbed, anxious and frightened. The 
court found that the publication of this article 
had pursued the aim of creating panic among 
the population. The court further found that, 
in the article, the applicant had threatened the 
Government with destruction of public prop-
erty and acts endangering human life, with 
the aim of exerting influence on the Govern-
ment to refrain from taking political decisions 
required by national interests.

42. On 30 October 2007 the Assize Court found the 
applicant guilty on all charges and convicted 
him of threat of terrorism (eight years' impris-
onment), incitement to ethnic hostility (three 
years' imprisonment) and tax evasion (four 
months' imprisonment). The partial merger of 

these sentences resulted in a sentence of eight 
years and four months' imprisonment. Lastly, 
the court partially merged this sentence with 
the sentence of two years and six months' im-
prisonment imposed on the applicant in the 
previous criminal case, which resulted in a 
total sentence of eight years and six months' 
imprisonment. In imposing this final sentence, 
the court found that, on account of his previ-
ous convictions, the applicant was a repeat 
offender and assessed this as an aggravating 
circumstance. The court also ordered that 23 
computers and several compact discs, previ-
ously seized as material evidence from the 
newspapers' offices, be confiscated in favour 
of the State. Lastly, the court ordered that AZN 
242,522 (for unpaid taxes) and AZN 17,800 (for 
unpaid social security contributions) be with-
held from the applicant.

43. On 16 January 2008 the Court of Appeal up-
held the Assize Court's judgment of 30 Octo-
ber 2007.

44. On 3 June 2008 the Supreme Court upheld the 
lower courts' judgments.

45. In his defence speech at the trial and in his ap-
peals to the higher courts, the applicant had 
complained, inter alia, of a breach of his pre-
sumption of innocence on account of the Pros-
ecutor General's statement to the press, relying 
directly on Article 6 § 2 of the Convention. His 
arguments under the Convention in this re-
spect had been summarily rejected.

46. It appears that, on an unspecified date during 
the period when the above-mentioned crimi-
nal proceedings were taking place, the publi-
cation and distribution of Gündəlik Azərbaycan 
and Realny Azerbaijan were halted, in circum-
stances which are not entirely clear from the 
material available in the case file.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW

A. Criminal Code of 2000
47. Article 147 of the Criminal Code, in force at the 

relevant time, provided as follows:
“147.1. Defamation, that is, dissemination, in
apublicstatement,publiclyexhibitedworkof
artor throughthemassmedia,ofknowingly
falseinformationdiscreditingthehonourand
dignity of a person or damaging his or her
reputation,

shall be punishable by a fine in the amount
of one hundred to five hundred conditional



30 CASEOFFATULLAYEVVAZERBAIJAN

EC
HR

EC
J

financialunits,orbycommunityservicefora
term of up to two hundred and forty hours,
orbycorrectivelabourforatermofuptoone
year,orby imprisonment fora termofupto
sixmonths.

147.2. Defamation by accusing [a person] of
havingcommittedaseriousorespeciallyseri-
ouscrime

shallbepunishablebycorrectivelabourfora
termofuptotwoyears,orbyrestrictionoflib-
ertyforatermofuptotwoyears,orbyimpris-
onmentforatermofuptothreeyears.”

48. Article 214.1 of the Criminal Code provided as 
follows:

“Terrorism, that is, perpetration of an explo-
sion,arsonorotheractscreatingadangerto
human lifeor significantmaterialdamageor
other grave consequences, if such acts are
carried out for the purpose of undermining
publicsecurity, frighteningthepopulationor
exerting influenceontheStateauthoritiesor
internationalorganisationstotakecertainde-
cisions, aswell as the threat to carryout the
above-mentioned acts with the same pur-
poses,

shall be punishable by deprivation of liberty
for a term of eight to twelve years together
withconfiscationofproperty.”

49. Article 283 of the Criminal Code provided as 
follows:

“283.1. Acts aimed at incitement to ethnic,
racial or religious hostility or humiliation of
ethnicdignity,aswellasactsaimedatrestrict-
ingcitizens'rightsorestablishingcitizens'su-
periorityon thebasisof theirethnicor racial
origin,ifcommittedopenlyorbymeansofthe
massmedia,

shall be punishable by a fine in the amount
ofonethousandtotwothousandconditional
financialunits,orbyrestrictionoflibertyfora
termofuptothreeyears,orbyimprisonment
foratermoftwotofouryears.

283.2.Thesameacts,ifcommitted:

283.2.1.withtheuseofviolenceorthethreat
ofuseofviolence;

283.2.2.byapersonusinghisofficialposition;

283.2.3.byanorganisedgroup;

shall be punishable by imprisonment for a

termofthreetofiveyears.”

B. Code of Criminal Procedure of 2000
50. Under Article 449 of the Code of Criminal Pro-

cedure (“the CCrP”), an accused or suspected 
person can lodge a complaint against proce-
dural steps or decisions of the prosecuting 
authorities (preliminary investigator, investiga-
tor, supervising prosecutor, etc.) with the court 
supervising the pre-trial investigation. Article 
449.3 of the CCrP provides that such a com-
plaint may be lodged, inter alia, in the event of 
a violation of a detainee's rights.

51. Articles 450 and 451 of the CCrP provide for the 
procedure for examining such complaints and 
outline the supervising court's competence. In 
particular, under Article 451.1 of the CCrP, the 
supervising court may take one of the follow-
ing two decisions in respect of a complaint 
under Article 449 of the CCrP: (a) declaring the 
impugned procedural step or decision lawful; 
or (b) declaring the impugned procedural step 
or decision unlawful and quashing it. Article 
451.3 of the CCrP provides that in the event of 
a finding that the impugned step or decision 
is unlawful, the prosecutor supervising the in-
vestigation or a superior prosecutor is to take 
immediate measures aimed at stopping the 
violations of the complainant's rights.

C. Code of Civil Procedure of 2000
52. Chapter 27 of the Code of Civil Procedure (“the 

CCP”), consisting of Articles 296-300, provides 
for the procedure for examining civil lawsuits 
concerning decisions and acts (or omissions) 
of “the relevant executive authorities, local self-
administration authorities, other authorities 
and organisations and their officials”. In par-
ticular, in accordance with Article 297.1 of the 
CCP, decisions and acts (or omissions) covered 
by this procedure include those which violate a 
person's rights or freedoms, impede a person's 
exercise of his or her rights or freedoms, or im-
pose an unlawful obligation or liability upon a 
person.

D. Appointment and tenure of judges
53. The relevant provisions of the Law on Courts 

and Judges of 10 June 1997, in force before 
the amendments adopted on 28 December 
2004, and the relevant domestic law concern-
ing the status and composition of the Judicial 
Legal Council, in force prior to the enactment 
of the Law on the Judicial Legal Council of 28 
December 2004, are summarised in Asadov 
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and Others v. Azerbaijan ((dec.), no. 138/03, 12 
January 2006).

54. Law No. 817-IIQD on Additions and Amend-
ments to the Law on Courts and Judges, of 28 
December 2004 (“Law No. 817-IIQD”), in force 
from 30 January 2005, introduced a number 
of amendments concerning, inter alia, the 
process for the selection and appointment of 
candidates for judicial office, terms of office of 
judges, the code of judicial ethics, disciplinary 
procedures in respect of judges and the immu-
nity of judges. Specifically, Articles 93-1 to 93-4 
of the Law on Courts and Judges, as amended 
by Law No. 817-IIQD, provide that candidates 
for judicial office are selected by the Judge 
Selection Committee, established by the Ju-
dicial Legal Council, according to a procedure 
involving written and oral examinations and 
long-term training courses where each candi-
date's performance is subsequently graded by 
the Judge Selection Committee. In accordance 
with Article 96 of the Law on Courts and Judg-
es, as amended by Law No. 817-IIQD, judges 
are initially appointed for a five-year term and, 
during this term, must attend a judicial training 
course at least once. If following the initial five-
year term no professional shortcomings are 
detected in the judge's work, he or she is reap-
pointed to an indefinite term of office (expir-
ing at the age of 65 or, in exceptional cases, 70) 
pursuant to a recommendation by the Judicial 
Legal Council. Prior to the latter amendment, 
judges were appointed for fixed terms of five 
or ten years, depending on the court in which 
they served.

55. Clause 1 of the Transitional Provisions of Law 
No. 817-IIQD provided as follows:
“The terms of office of judges of the courts
of the Republic of Azerbaijan who were ap-
pointedbefore1January2005shallexpireon
thedateoftheappointmentofnewjudgesto
thosecourts...”

56. The Law on the Judicial Legal Council of 28 
December 2004 provides that the Judicial Le-
gal Council has 15 members (including rep-
resentatives of the executive and legislative 
authorities, judges of various courts, and rep-
resentatives of the prosecution authorities and 
the Bar Association) and is a body competent 
to organise the process of selecting candidates 
for judicial office and submitting recommen-
dations to the President on judicial appoint-
ments, and to perform other tasks including 
organising training courses for judges, provid-
ing logistical support to the courts and taking 

disciplinary measures against judges.

III. COUNCIL OF EUROPE 
DOCUMENTS

57. The following are extracts from Resolution 
1614 (2008) of the Parliamentary Assembly of 
the Council of Europe on the functioning of 
democratic institutions in Azerbaijan:
“19. As regards freedom of expression, the
Azerbaijaniauthoritiesshould:

19.1.initiatethelegalreformaimedatdecrim-
inalising defamation and revise the relevant
civil lawprovisions to ensure respect for the
principleofproportionality,asrecommended
inResolution1545(2007);inthemeantime,a
politicalmoratorium should be reintroduced
soastoputanendtotheuseofdefamation
lawsuitsasameansofintimidatingjournalists
...”

58. The following are extracts from the report by 
the Council of Europe Commissioner for Hu-
man Rights, Mr Thomas Hammarberg, on his 
visit to Azerbaijan, from 3 to 7 September 2007 
(CommDH(2008)2, 20 February 2008):
“B.Amatterofurgency:thedecriminalisation
ofdefamation

69.AtthetimeoftheCommissioner'svisit, it
wasreportedthatthereweresevenjournalists
inprison,outofwhom fourwere for libelor
defamationunderArticles147and148ofthe
CriminalCode.Both internationalmonitoring
bodies and local NGOs claimed that charg-
ing individuals for defamation was used as
ameans to avoid thedisseminationof news
thatcouldbedetrimentaltohigh-rankingof-
ficialsortootherinfluentialpeople.According
totheparliamentaryassemblyoftheCouncil
ofEuroperapporteurs,thenumberofcharges
hasgrowninthelastfewyears.Outoffearof
imprisonmentjournalistsarecompelledtore-
sorttoself-censorship.In2005,thePresident,
Mr Ilham Aliyev had called for abandoning
the use of criminal provisions in matters of
defamation,butthiswasnotrespected.Some
cases,whichtheCommissionerwasinformed
aboutpointtoabusiveorunfairimprisonment
ofjournalists.

70. ... Indeed,many journalists remain incar-
cerated.MrEynullaFatullayev,whowasheld
atthepre-trialdetentioncentresontheprem-
isesoftheMinistryforNationalSecurityisstill
incarcerated.This journalisthadcriticisedthe
authorities' and armed forces' conduct dur-
ingthesiegeofKhojaly.Hiscriticalanalysisof
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thehandlingofthecrisiscosthimatwoand
halfyearsentencefor libel.Furthermore, ina
concerningstackingofincriminations,hewas
sentencedon30October2007toanaddition-
aleightandahalfyears,thistimeoncharges
of terrorism and incitement to racial hatred.
When this journalist met the Commissioner,
he said that the fact thathehadbeen jailed
was evidenceof political pressureonhimas
ajournalist.Afterthedecisiononthissecond
sentence, he reiterated this comment. The
Commissioner mentioned his imprisonment
for libel to the authorities and called for his
immediate release. The Commissioner once
againurges the authorities to releaseMr Ey-
nullaFatullayev.

71. The authorities' response to questions
regarding this issue is that actions against
journalistsarecausedby their lackofprofes-
sionalism, which leads them to writing in a
non-responsible manner and ignoring their
legalandethicalduties.Thereshould indeed
beproper training andeducationof journal-
ists,whohavearesponsibility intheexercise
oftheirprofessionandshouldfollowacodeof
ethicsinlinewithEuropeanstandards.Atthe
same time, officials should alloweasy access
to information and accept criticism inherent
totheirpositionofaccountabilityinsociety.

72.Nevertheless, the fundamental issuehere
iswhetherpeople, inparticular butnot only
journalists, shouldbedeprivedof libertyand
othercriminal lawconsequencesonaccount
ofviewsexpressed.Thesupplementaryissue,
asalreadydealtwith,iswhether,whereitstill
exists as an offence under criminal law, as it
is the case in Azerbaijan, the prosecution of
defamation does not in fact lead to instanc-
es of abusive prosecution and/or excessive
sentences.There isclearlyageneral trend to
movetowardsadecriminalisationofdefama-
tion inEurope today. International standards
allowthepenalisationofdefamationthrough
criminal lawbutonlyincasesofhatespeech
directly intendedat incitingviolence.Tocor-
roborate the requirement of intention, there
hastobeadirect linkbetweenthe intention
and the likeliness of the violence. ... Inmost
countries,thecriminalrouteisnotused:there
is amoratoriumon such laws. The criminali-
sation of defamation has a chilling effect on
freedom of expression. The legal framework
in Azerbaijan provides for a wide range of
possibilities for criminalisation, notably for
'damagetohonourandreputation'.Workona
draftlawondefamationhasbeengoingonfor
morethanayear, involvingaworkinggroup
of parliamentarians andmedia experts, with
thesupportoftheOSCE.Emphasiswouldbe
shiftedfromcriminallawtocivillaw.

73. The Commissioner was encouraged by
talkshehadonthisissuewiththeMinisterof
Justice.He recommends the launchingofan
open public debate that would help define
a rights-based approach that would remove
defamation from the criminal books and of-
fer alternativeprotection toother rights and
interests. Council of Europe experts could
provideassistanceinthatrespect.Inorderto
supporttheholdingofthatdebate,thePresi-
dentcouldreiteratehis2005declarationona
moratoriumontheuseofthecriminalprovi-
sion. The Commissioner recommends, as a
first step, the release of all those, who have
beencriminallyprosecutedundertherelevant
provisionsofthecriminalcode.”

IV. INFORMATION NOTE ON THE 
KHOJALY EVENTS

59. Most of the facts of the reported massacre of 
Azerbaijani civilians in Khojaly are contested 
by the Azerbaijani and Armenian sides. As for 
third-party sources, the following are extracts 
from reports of international organisations and 
human-rights NGOs concerning these events.

60. The background paper prepared by the Direc-
torate General of Political Affairs of the Council 
of Europe, appended to the report by the Par-
liamentary Assembly's Political Affairs Commit-
tee on the conflict over the Nagorno-Karabakh 
region dealt with by the OSCE Minsk Confer-
ence (rapporteur Mr D. Atkinson, 29 November 
2004, Doc. 10364), states:
“In February 1992, almost day-to-day four
years after the Sumgait events, the ethnic
Armenian forces attacked the only airport in
[Nagorno-Karabakh], inKhojali, to theNorth
ofthelocalcapital.Atthetime,thepopulation
of Khojali was 7000. The Azerbaijani view is
thatthetakingofKhojali,whichleftsome150
defenders of the airport dead, was followed
by unprecedented brutalities against the ci-
vilianpopulation. In oneday, reportedly 613
unarmed people were massacred and close
to1300werecaptured–manyofthemwhile
tryingtofleethroughanallegedhumanitarian
corridor.TheArmeniansideconteststhisview
andthenumberofcasualties.

The Khojali massacre sparked an exodus of
Azerbaijanisandprecipitatedapoliticalcrisis
inBaku.Fiveyearslater,in1997,PresidentAli-
yevissuedaDecreereferringtothetragedyas
the'Khojaligenocide'.”

61. The following are extracts from the Human 
Rights Watch World Report 1993 on the former 
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Soviet Union:
“During thewinter of 1992, Armenian forces
went on the offensive, forcing almost the
entire Azerbaijani population of the enclave
to flee, and committingunconscionable acts
of violence against civilians as they fled. The
most notorious of these attacks occurred on
February25 in the villageofKhojaly.A large
column of residents, accompanied by a few
dozenretreatingfighters,fledthecityasitfell
to Armenian forces. As they approached the
borderwithAzerbaijan, they cameacross an
Armenianmilitarypostandwerecruellyfired
upon.Atleast161civiliansareknowntohave
been murdered in this incident, although
Azerbaijani officials estimate that about 800
perished. Armenian forces killed unarmed
civilians and soldiers who were hors de 
combat, and looted and sometimes burned
homes.”

62. The Memorial Human Rights Centre, based in 
Moscow, dispatched its observers to Nagorno-
Karabakh during the war. The following are ex-
tracts from the report by the Memorial Human 
Rights Centre “On Mass Violations of Human 
Rights in Connection with the Armed Capture 
of the Town of Khojaly on the Night of 25 to 26 
February 1992” (translated from Russian):
“As practically all refugees from Khojaly
claimed, military personnel from the 366th
Regiment took part in the assault on the
town.According to the information received
from the Armenian side, combat vehicles of
the 366th Regiment which took part in the
assault on the town shelled Khojaly but did
notactuallyenterthetown.AstheArmenian
side asserts, the participation of themilitary
personnel[fromthe366thRegiment]wasnot
sanctionedbyawrittenorder fromtheRegi-
ment'scommand....

PartofthepopulationstartedtoleaveKhojaly
soonaftertheassaultbegan,tryingtofleein
the direction of Agdam. There were armed
peoplefromthetown'sgarrisonamongsome
ofthefleeinggroups.Peopleleftintwodirec-
tions:(1)fromtheeasternsideofthetownin
thenorth-eastdirectionalongtheriver,pass-
ing Askeran to their left (this specific route,
accordingtoArmenianofficials,wasprovided
asa'freecorridor');(2)fromthenorthernside
ofthetowninthenorth-eastdirection,pass-
ing Askeran to their right (it appears that a
smaller number of refugees fled using this
route).Thus,themajorityofciviliansleftKho-
jaly, while around 200-300 people stayed in
Khojaly,hidingintheirhousesandbasements.
Asaresultoftheshellingofthetown,anun-

ascertainednumberofcivilianswerekilledon
theterritoryofKhojalyduringtheassault.The
Armenian side practically refused to provide
informationaboutthenumberofpeoplewho
soperished....

AccordingtotheofficialsoftheNKR[theself-
proclaimed 'Nagorno-Karabakh Republic'], a
'free corridor' was provided for fleeing civil-
ians...,whichbeganattheeasternsideofthe
town,passedalongtheriverandcontinuedto
thenorth-east,leadingtoAgdamandpassing
Askerantoitsleft....Accordingtotheofficials
oftheNKRandthosetakingpartintheassault,
the Khojaly population was informed about
the existence of this 'corridor' through loud-
speakers mounted on armoured personnel
carriers. ... NKR officials also noted that, sev-
eraldayspriortotheassault,leafletshadbeen
droppedonKhojaly fromhelicopters, urging
theKhojalypopulation touse the 'free corri-
dor'.However,notasinglecopyofsuchaleaf-
lethasbeenprovidedtoMemorial'sobservers
insupportofthisassertion.Likewise,notraces
of such leaflets have been found byMemo-
rial'sobservers inKhojaly.When interviewed,
Khojalyrefugeessaidthattheyhadnotheard
aboutsuch leaflets. InAgdamandBaku,Me-
morial's observers have interviewed 60 per-
sonswhohadfledKhojalyduringtheassault
on the town. Only one person out of those
interviewed said that he had known about
the existence of the 'free corridor' (he had
beentoldaboutitbya'militaryman'fromthe
Khojalygarrison). ... Severaldaysprior to the
assault, the representatives of the Armenian
sidehad,onrepeatedoccasions,informedthe
Khojalyauthoritiesbyradioabouttheupcom-
ing assault and urged them to immediately
evacuate thepopulation from the town. The
fact that this information had been received
bytheAzerbaijanisideandtransferredtoBaku
is confirmed by Baku newspapers (Bakinskiy 
Rabochiy)....
A large column of inhabitants [of Khojaly]
rushedoutoftownalongtheriver(route1–
[seeabove]). Therewerearmedpeople from
the town garrison in some of the groups of
refugees. These refugees,whowalked along
the'freecorridor'...,werefiredupon,asaresult
ofwhichmanypeoplewerekilled.Thosewho
remainedalivedispersed.Running[refugees]
cameacrossArmenianmilitarypostsandwere
firedupon.Somerefugeesmanagedtoescape
toAgdam,some,mainlywomenandchildren
(theexactnumberisimpossibletodetermine),
froze to death while wandering around in
mountains,some...werecaptured...Thesite
ofthemasskillingofrefugees,aswellastheir
corpses, was filmed on videotape when the
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Azerbaijani units carried out an operation to
evacuatethecorpsestoAgdambyhelicopter.
...Amongthecorpsesfilmedonthevideotape,
themajoritywerethoseofwomenandelderly
people;therewerealsochildrenamongthose
killed.Atthesametime,therewerealsopeo-
ple in uniform among those killed. ...Within
fourdays,about200corpseswereevacuated
toAgdam.A fewscoreofcorpsesboresigns
ofmutilation....

OfficialrepresentativesoftheNKRandmem-
bersoftheArmenianarmedforcesexplained
thedeathof civilians in thezoneof the 'free
corridor' by the fact that there were armed
people fleeing together with the refugees,
who were firing at Armenian outposts, thus
drawingreturnfire,aswellasbyanattempt-
ed breakthrough by the main Azerbaijani
forces. According to members of the Arme-
nian armed forces, the Azerbaijani forces at-
temptedtobattlethroughfromAgdaminthe
directionofthe'freecorridor'.Atthemoment
whentheArmenianoutpostswerefightingoff
thisattack,thefirstgroupsofKhojalyrefugees
approached them from the rear. The armed
peoplewhowereamongtherefugeesbegan
firing at the Armenian outposts. During the
battle,oneoutpostwasdestroyed ...,butthe
fightersfromanotheroutpost,ofwhoseexist-
encetheAzerbaijaniswereunaware,opened
firefromaclosedistanceatthepeoplecom-
ingfromKhojaly.Accordingtotestimoniesof
Khojalyrefugees(includingthosepublishedin
thepress), thearmedpeople insidetherefu-
geecolumndidexchangegunfirewithArme-
nian outposts, but on each occasion the fire
wasopenedfirstfromtheArmenianside....”

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE 
10 OF THE CONVENTION

63. The applicant complained under Articles 6, 
10 and 13 of the Convention that each of his 
criminal convictions for the statements he had 
made in the newspaper articles and Internet 
forums had amounted to an unjustified inter-
ference with his right to freedom of expression 
and that, in this connection, his rights to a fair 
trial and an effective remedy had also been 
infringed in the relevant criminal proceedings. 
Having regard to the circumstances of the 
case, the Court considers that these complaints 
fall to be examined solely under Article 10 of 
the Convention, which reads as follows:

“1. Everyonehas the right to freedomof ex-
pression. This right shall include freedom to
hold opinions and to receive and impart in-
formation and ideaswithout interference by
public authority and regardless of frontiers.
This Article shall not prevent States from re-
quiring the licensing of broadcasting, televi-
sionorcinemaenterprises.

2.Theexerciseofthesefreedoms,sinceitcar-
rieswithitdutiesandresponsibilities,maybe
subjecttosuchformalities,conditions,restric-
tionsorpenaltiesasareprescribedbylawand
are necessary in a democratic society, in the
interestsofnationalsecurity, territorial integ-
rityorpublicsafety,forthepreventionofdis-
orderorcrime,fortheprotectionofhealthor
morals,fortheprotectionofthereputationor
rightsofothers,forpreventingthedisclosure
of information received in confidence, or for
maintaining theauthority and impartialityof
thejudiciary.”

A. Admissibility
64. The Court notes that these complaints are not 

manifestly ill-founded within the meaning of 
Article 35 § 3 of the Convention. It further 
notes that they are not inadmissible on any 
other grounds. They must therefore be de-
clared admissible.

B. Merits
65. The Court notes that the applicant was con-

victed and sentenced to prison terms in two 
unrelated sets of criminal proceedings con-
cerning two separate sets of statements made 
in different publications. Therefore, the Court 
will examine separately whether there has 
been a violation of Article 10 in respect of each 
of the convictions.

1.Firstcriminalconviction
(a)  The parties' submissions

66. The Government submitted that the appli-
cant's conviction in the first set of criminal pro-
ceedings had been prescribed by law and had 
been aimed at protecting the reputation and 
rights of the plaintiffs.

67. As to the necessity of the interference, the Gov-
ernment submitted that the applicant's convic-
tion had been justified on account of the na-
ture of his statements concerning the Khojaly 
events, a very sensitive issue for the Azerbaijani 
people as a whole, and in particular for those 
who lived and fought in that region. During the 
events in question, at least 339 inhabitants of 
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Khojaly, including 43 children and 109 women, 
had been killed, 371 persons had been taken 
hostage, 200 had disappeared and 421 had 
been wounded. The applicant's publications 
asserted that some of those who had per-
ished had been killed by Azerbaijani fighters 
and that, moreover, the corpses of the victims 
had been mutilated by the Azerbaijanis. These 
statements ran counter to the overwhelming 
evidence indicating that those acts had been 
committed by Armenian fighters who had 
been assisted by the soldiers of the former So-
viet 366th Motorised Rifle Regiment stationed 
in Nagorno-Karabakh. As such, the applicant's 
statements damaged the reputation of those 
plaintiffs who were former Khojaly inhabit-
ants and also accused those plaintiffs who had 
fought in the battle of having committed seri-
ous crimes against humanity. The Government 
maintained that, in making those statements, 
the applicant had not acted in good faith and 
had breached the ethics of journalism.

68. In the Government's submission, the appli-
cant's conviction served the purpose of pro-
tecting the right to respect for private life of the 
plaintiffs, which was guaranteed by Article 8 of 
the Convention. Article 17 of the Convention 
prevented a person from relying on his or her 
Convention rights (in the present case, on Ar-
ticle 10) in order to engage in activities aimed 
at the destruction of any of the rights and free-
doms set forth in the Convention. In that con-
nection, the Government referred to the case 
of D.I. v. Germany (no. 26551/95, Commission 
decision of 26 June 1996), in which the inter-
ference with the applicant's freedom of expres-
sion had been found to be compatible with the 
Convention owing to the nature of his remarks, 
in which he had denied the existence of gas 
chambers at Auschwitz. In view of the above, 
the Government concluded that, similarly, the 
decisions of the domestic courts in the present 
case had been based on the striking of a bal-
ance between a right protected under Article 
8 of the Convention and a right protected un-
der Article 10 of the Convention, and that they 
had correctly found that the reputation of the 
survivors of the Khojaly events outweighed the 
applicant's freedom to impart information of a 
revisionist nature.

69. The applicant maintained that the domestic 
courts had failed to provide any reasonable jus-
tification for the interference with his freedom 
of expression.

70. The applicant agreed with the Government 

that the topic of the Khojaly massacre was 
indeed a very sensitive issue. However, the 
applicant noted that certain issues concern-
ing the events in question had not been fully 
investigated. For example, he pointed out 
that the figures produced by the Government 
in the present case as to the total number of 
Khojaly victims were inconsistent with other 
official government sources, which estimated 
the number of people killed at 613, including 
106 women and 23 children, and the num-
ber of people wounded and missing at 487 
and 1,257. Some private publications provided 
different estimates. The applicant also noted 
that former President Mutalibov, who himself 
had been accused of failure to defend Khojaly, 
had implied that some Azerbaijani military 
units might have been responsible for failing 
to prevent the high number of civilian casual-
ties. Some Azerbaijani military commanders, 
including the former Commander of Internal 
Troops F. Hajiyev, had been either accused or 
even convicted of failing to organise the prop-
er defence of Khojaly and, thus, to prevent or 
reduce losses among the civilian population. 
According to the applicant, the main reason 
why different sources provided divergent in-
formation concerning the exact number of 
victims and the exact course of events during 
the fall of Khojaly was that a thorough and con-
clusive investigation of the events in question 
from the factual and historical point of view 
had not yet been completed. Accordingly, the 
applicant contended that, precisely because 
the issue was very sensitive and important, a 
public debate about these events was neces-
sary in order to establish the complete truth 
and the responsibility of all the culprits of this 
massacre. Likewise, in connection with these 
events, there was also a need for a public de-
bate in the context of internal politics in Azer-
baijan, as the topic of the Khojaly massacre had 
been used by former President Mutalibov, the 
National Front Party and other political forces 
in their political struggle for power.

71. The applicant noted that “The Karabakh Diary” 
was an article written in the style of a report-
age, in which he had merely conveyed what 
he had seen himself and what he had heard 
from the people whom he had met during 
his visit, and which contained only very brief 
conclusions of his own on the basis of what 
he had seen and heard from others. The appli-
cant argued that, in the article, he had merely 
conveyed the statements of Slavik Arushanyan, 
who had told the applicant his version of the 
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events during the interview. The article did not 
directly accuse any of the plaintiffs or any other 
specific Azerbaijani national of committing any 
crime. Likewise, it did not contain any slander-
ous or humiliating remarks in respect of any 
specific person and in respect of the people of 
Khojaly in general.

72. The applicant noted that, in his article, there 
was no statement asserting that any of the 
Khojaly victims had been killed or mutilated by 
Azerbaijani fighters. These specific statements 
had been made by an unidentified person on 
the Internet forums of the AzeriTriColor web-
site. The applicant insisted that these state-
ments had not been made by him and that, 
despite his submissions to this effect before 
the domestic courts, he had been convicted 
mainly on the basis of these statements, which 
had been made by someone else. In any event, 
the statements did not deny the fact of the 
“Khojaly tragedy”; they simply made assump-
tions as to what could possibly have caused it. 
Even though these assumptions might have 
been made in the absence of sufficient factual 
basis, they should have been regarded as re-
course to a degree of exaggeration allowed by 
the freedom of expression.

73. The applicant stressed that, while he had been 
found to have provided a distorted historical 
account of the Khojaly events, there was no 
provision in Azerbaijani law defining any type 
of liability for having suspicions about the Kho-
jaly massacre or even denying it. Therefore, 
he could not be held liable on that account. 
Instead, it had been found that his statements 
had allegedly defamed the six plaintiffs in his 
criminal case, even though neither “The Kara-
bakh Diary” nor the Internet forum postings 
had specifically mentioned any of those per-
sons by name or otherwise.

74. The applicant argued that it was inappropriate 
and unethical to draw analogies between the 
present case and D.I. v. Germany (cited above). 
He contended that, since the Khojaly events 
had not yet received a conclusive legal assess-
ment, it was incorrect to equate them to the 
Holocaust. There was a difference between a 
State policy on deliberate murders of prisoners 
in death camps and the loss of civilians who 
had fallen victim to military operations during 
a single battle. In the latter case, it could be ar-
gued that the Azerbaijani authorities shared a 
part of the responsibility for casualties among 
civilians, as they had not been able to prevent 
the massacre by the Armenian troops. The ap-

plicant stressed that, in “The Karabakh Diary”, 
he had been far from denying the fact of the 
massacre and had not attempted to exonerate 
those responsible. He had simply attempted 
to convey to the Azerbaijani readers the views 
of the Armenian population of Nagorno-Kara-
bakh on this subject. The article itself was moti-
vated by good will and constituted an attempt 
at thawing the relations between the conflict-
ing parties.

75. Lastly, the applicant submitted that his criminal 
convictions should be viewed in the context of 
the Government's “aggressive policy” aimed at 
suppressing the freedom of speech. He noted 
that the situation in respect of the freedom of 
expression had seriously deteriorated in recent 
years and that an increasing number of journal-
ists were being attacked, arrested or convicted. 
This had been reflected in a number of reports 
by various international organisations. These 
persecutions had resulted in self-censorship 
among a number of critics of the Government. 
The applicant further claimed that, in his case, 
by convicting him, the authorities had been 
primarily driven by the desire to suppress his 
journalistic activity in general, as his writings 
constantly criticised the Government's policies 
and exposed public officials' involvement in 
corruption and violations of civil and political 
rights. His ongoing journalistic investigation 
into the case of E. Huseynov (a journalist assas-
sinated in 2005) had implicated certain high-
ranking State officials, and as a result, prior to 
the events of the present case, he had received 
threats of arrest and conviction.

(b)  The Court's preliminary remarks

76. The discussion in the present judgment of the 
applicant's statements on the Khojaly events is 
intended solely for the purposes of the present 
case, and is made in the context of the Court's 
review of restrictions on debates of general 
interest, in so far as relevant for determining 
whether the national courts of the respondent 
State overstepped their margin of appreciation 
in interfering with the applicant's freedom of 
expression. This judgment is not to be under-
stood as containing any factual or legal assess-
ment of the Khojaly events or any arbitration of 
historical claims relating to those events.

77. Furthermore, the Court observes that, in con-
nection with his statements in “The Karabakh 
Diary” and the related statements made in the 
Internet forum postings, the applicant was 
held liable in the civil proceedings and was 
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subsequently convicted on the basis of the 
same statements in the criminal proceedings. 
The Court notes, however, that the applicant 
did not specifically complain under Article 10 
about the civil action against him. Therefore, 
the Court will examine solely the compatibility 
with Article 10 of the applicant's criminal con-
viction; however, for the purposes of such ex-
amination, it will, where necessary, have regard 
to the entirety of the factual circumstances 
surrounding the alleged interference with the 
applicant's rights.

(c)  The Court's assessment

78. The Court considers, and it was not disputed 
by the Government, that the applicant's con-
viction by the national courts amounted to 
an “interference” with his right to freedom of 
expression. Such interference will infringe the 
Convention if it does not satisfy the require-
ments of paragraph 2 of Article 10. It should 
therefore be determined whether it was “pre-
scribed by law”, whether it pursued one or 
more of the legitimate aims set out in that 
paragraph and whether it was “necessary in a 
democratic society” in order to achieve those 
aims.

79. The applicant's conviction was indisputably 
based on Articles 147.1 and 147.2 of the Crimi-
nal Code and was designed to protect “the rep-
utation or rights of others”, namely the group 
of soldiers and civilian survivors of the Khojaly 
events who had lodged the criminal complaint 
against the applicant. Accordingly, the Court 
accepts that the interference was “prescribed 
by law” and had a legitimate aim under Article 
10 § 2 of the Convention.

80. Consequently, the Court's remaining task is to 
determine whether the interference was “nec-
essary in a democratic society”.

81. At the outset, the Court notes that it cannot ac-
cept the Government's reliance on Article 17 of 
the Convention or their argument that the pre-
sent case is somehow similar to D.I. v. Germany 
(cited above). The situation in the present case 
is not the same as situations where the pro-
tection of Article 10 is removed by virtue of 
Article 17 owing to the negation or revision of 
clearly established historical facts such as the 
Holocaust (see, mutatis mutandis, Lehideux 
and Isorni v. France, 23 September 1998, § 
47, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1998-
VII). In the present case, the specific issues 
discussed in “The Karabakh Diary” were the 
subject of an ongoing debate (see paragraph 

87 below). As the Court will discuss further be-
low, it does not appear that the applicant at-
tempted to deny the fact that the mass killings 
of the Khojaly civilians had taken place or that 
he expressed contempt for the victims of these 
events. Rather, the applicant was supporting 
one of the conflicting opinions in the debate 
concerning the existence of an escape corridor 
for the refugees and, based on that, expressing 
the view that some Azerbaijani fighters might 
have also borne a share of the responsibility for 
the massacre. By doing so, however, he did not 
seek to exonerate those who were commonly 
accepted to be the culprits of this massacre, 
to mitigate their respective responsibility or to 
otherwise approve of their actions. The Court 
considers that the statements that gave rise to 
the applicant's conviction did not amount to 
any activity infringing the essence of the values 
underlying the Convention or calculated to de-
stroy or restrict the rights and freedoms guar-
anteed by it. It follows that, in the present case, 
the applicant's freedom of expression cannot 
be removed from the protection of Article 10 
by virtue of Article 17 of the Convention.

82. The Court reiterates that, as a matter of general 
principle, the “necessity” for any restriction on 
freedom of expression must be convincingly 
established. Admittedly, it is in the first place 
for the national authorities to assess whether 
there is a “pressing social need” for the restric-
tion and, in making their assessment, they en-
joy a certain margin of appreciation. In cases, 
such as the present one, concerning the press, 
the national margin of appreciation is circum-
scribed by the interest of the democratic soci-
ety in ensuring and maintaining a free press. 
Similarly, that interest will weigh heavily in 
the balance in determining, as must be done 
under paragraph 2 of Article 10, whether the 
restriction was proportionate to the legitimate 
aim pursued (see Fressoz and Roire v. France 
[GC], no. 29183/95, § 45, ECHR 1999-I).

83. The Court's task in exercising its supervisory 
function is not to take the place of the com-
petent domestic courts but rather to review 
under Article 10 the decisions they have taken 
pursuant to their power of appreciation. This 
does not mean that the supervision is limited 
to ascertaining whether the respondent State 
exercised its discretion reasonably, carefully or 
in good faith; what the Court has to do is to 
look at the interference complained of in the 
light of the case as a whole, including the con-
tent of the comments held against the appli-
cant and the context in which he or she made 
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them (see Cumpǎnǎ and Mazǎre v. Romania 
[GC], no. 33348/96 , § 89, ECHR 2004-XI).

84. In particular, the Court must determine wheth-
er the reasons adduced by the national author-
ities to justify the interference were “relevant 
and sufficient” and whether the measure taken 
was “proportionate to the legitimate aims pur-
sued”. In doing so, the Court has to satisfy itself 
that the national authorities, basing them-
selves on an acceptable assessment of the 
relevant facts, applied standards which were 
in conformity with the principles embodied in 
Article 10 (see, among many other authorities, 
Chauvy and Others v. France, no. 64915/01, § 
70, ECHR 2004-VI).

85. In the present case, the statements held 
against the applicant concerned the Khojaly 
massacre which took place in the course of the 
war in Nagorno-Karabakh. More specifically, he 
was found to have baselessly accused Azerbai-
jani fighters of killing some of the Khojaly vic-
tims and mutilating their corpses and, by do-
ing so, to have damaged the reputation of the 
specific individuals who had lodged a criminal 
complaint against him.

86. Owing to the fact that the Nagorno-Karabakh 
war was a fairly recent historical event which 
resulted in significant loss of human life and 
created considerable tension in the region 
and that, despite the ceasefire, the conflict is 
still ongoing, the Court is aware of the very 
sensitive nature of the issues discussed in the 
applicant's article. The Court is aware that, es-
pecially, the memory of the Khojaly victims is 
cherished in Azerbaijani society and that the 
loss of hundreds of innocent civilian lives dur-
ing the Khojaly events is a source of deep na-
tional grief and is generally considered within 
that society to be one of the most tragic mo-
ments in the history of the nation. In such 
circumstances, it is understandable that the 
statements made by the applicant may have 
been considered shocking or disturbing by the 
public. However, the Court reiterates that, sub-
ject to paragraph 2 of Article 10, the freedom of 
expression is applicable not only to “informa-
tion” or “ideas” that are favourably received or 
regarded as inoffensive or as a matter of indif-
ference, but also to those that offend, shock or 
disturb the State or any sector of the popula-
tion. Such are the demands of pluralism, tol-
erance and broadmindedness without which 
there is no “democratic society” (see Handyside 
v. the United Kingdom, 7 December 1976, § 
49, Series A no. 24).

87. Moreover, the Court notes that it is an integral 
part of freedom of expression to seek histori-
cal truth. At the same time, it is not the Court's 
role to arbitrate the underlying historical is-
sues which are part of a continuing debate 
between historians that shapes opinion as to 
the events which took place and their interpre-
tation (see Chauvy and Others, cited above, § 
69). The Court accordingly considers that it is 
not its task to settle the differences in opinions 
about the historical facts relating to the Khojaly 
events. Therefore, without aiming to draw any 
definitive conclusions in that respect, the Court 
will limit itself to making the following observa-
tions, for the purposes of its analysis in the pre-
sent case. It appears that the reports available 
from independent sources indicate that at the 
time of the capture of Khojaly on the night of 
25 to 26 February 1992 hundreds of civilians of 
Azerbaijani ethnic origin were reportedly killed, 
wounded or taken hostage, during their at-
tempt to flee the captured town, by Armenian 
fighters attacking the town, who were report-
edly assisted by the 366th Motorised Rifle Regi-
ment (see paragraphs 60-62 above). However, 
apart from this aspect, there appears to be a 
lack of either clarity or unanimity in respect 
of certain other aspects and details relating 
to the Khojaly events. For example, there are 
conflicting views as to whether a safe escape 
corridor was provided to the civilians fleeing 
their town (see, for example, the extracts from 
the Memorial report in paragraph 62 above). 
Likewise, there exist various opinions about 
the role and responsibility of the Azerbaijani 
authorities and military forces in these events, 
with some reports suggesting they could have 
done more to protect the civilians or that their 
actions could have somehow contributed to 
the gravity of the situation. Questions have 
arisen whether the proper defence of the town 
had been organised and, if not, whether this 
was the result of a domestic political struggle 
in Azerbaijan. Having regard to the above, the 
Court considers that various matters related 
to the Khojaly events still appear to be open 
to ongoing debate among historians, and as 
such should be a matter of general interest in 
modern Azerbaijani society. In this connection, 
the Court also reiterates that it is essential in a 
democratic society that a debate on the causes 
of acts of particular gravity which may amount 
to war crimes or crimes against humanity 
should be able to take place freely (see, muta-
tis mutandis, Lehideux and Isorni, cited above, 
§§ 54-55).
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88. Another factor of particular importance for the 
Court's determination of the present case is the 
vital role of “public watchdog” which the press 
performs in a democratic society (see Goodwin 
v. the United Kingdom, 27 March 1996, § 39, 
Reports 1996-II). Although it must not overstep 
certain bounds, in particular in respect of the 
reputation and rights of others, its duty is nev-
ertheless to impart – in a manner consistent 
with its obligations and responsibilities – in-
formation and ideas on political issues and on 
other matters of general interest (see, among 
many other authorities, De Haes and Gijsels 
v. Belgium, 24 February 1997, § 37, Reports 
1997-I, and Colombani and Others v. France, 
no. 51279/99, § 55, ECHR 2002-V).

89. The Court will first assess the statements made 
by the applicant in “The Karabakh Diary”, and 
thereafter proceed to assess the Internet forum 
postings attributed to the applicant. As to “The 
Karabakh Diary”, it is necessary to first have 
regard to the general context and aim of this 
newspaper article. Having examined the arti-
cle, the Court considers that it was written in 
a generally descriptive style and had the aim of 
informing Azerbaijani readers of the realities of 
day-to-day life in the area in question. This, in 
itself, constituted a matter of general interest, 
as there was not much information of this type 
available to average members of the public in 
the circumstances of the ongoing conflict and 
the public were entitled to receive information 
about what was happening in the territories 
over which their country had lost control in the 
aftermath of the war. It also appears that the 
author attempted to convey, in a seemingly 
unbiased manner, various ideas and views of 
both sides of the conflict. It was in this context 
that the statements which were ultimately 
held against the applicant were made.

90. Having regard to the passages containing the 
statements held against the applicant (see 
paragraph 12 above), it is generally not very 
easy to differentiate the reported speech at-
tributable to other persons from the remarks 
directly constituting the author's own point 
of view. Specifically, the applicant stated that 
the forces attacking Khojaly had left a corridor 
for the civilians to escape. He further noted 
that, while they had been using this corridor 
for this purpose, some of them had been led 
by Azerbaijani soldiers in another direction 
where other Armenian units were located. He 
also stated that the remainder of the escap-
ing refugees were hit by artillery fire from the 
Azerbaijani side. It appears that these were not 

the applicant's own views, but that he was re-
porting what he had heard from other persons 
(some unnamed Khojaly refugees whom he 
had allegedly met earlier, and a representative 
of the Nagorno-Karabakh Armenians). While he 
reported the statements of these interviewees, 
it does not necessarily mean that he did so 
with the aim of proving the truth of what was 
asserted in those statements; rather, he merely 
conveyed other persons' opinions. However, 
it can be argued that, as the topic progressed, 
the author began mingling his own opinions 
with those of his sources, as is evidenced by 
phrases like “I can say, fully convinced, that...”. 
Here, he accepted that a corridor indeed ex-
isted and introduced a novel suggestion that 
“it appears that the NFA battalions strived not 
for the liberation of the Khojaly civilians but for 
more bloodshed on their way to overthrow A. 
Mutalibov”. However, this statement, whether 
taken alone or in conjunction with the earlier 
statements, left much room for speculation as 
to what specifically the “NFA battalions” had 
done to contribute to “more bloodshed”, and 
did not contain any specific allegations as to 
any acts they had carried out to this end.

91. It must be noted in this context that it may 
appear that the narration in the impugned 
portion of the article was rather erratic, as a 
result of which many statements appear to 
be elusive, incomplete or even lacking a logi-
cal connection with one another. It is at times 
difficult to follow the author's train of thought 
and what specifically he meant to say, espe-
cially for a reader who is not very familiar with 
the various intricacies of the topic under dis-
cussion. For example, after the statement that 
part of the refugees were led by the Azerbaijani 
soldiers in the direction of Nakhichevanik, the 
narration immediately jumps to discussing the 
other group of refugees, so it does not clearly 
transpire what happened to the first group 
next. It might have been implied that, having 
been led in another direction (whether delib-
erately or not), the refugees had been unable 
to escape through the designated corridor, 
but came under enemy fire after they had ap-
proached unrelated enemy units which were 
located near Nakhichevanik, while the other 
group walked into friendly fire (whether delib-
erate or not). But none of the above was un-
ambiguously stated, and other interpretations 
are also possible. As demonstrated by this 
example, the statements made and conclu-
sions reached in the article were rather scant, 
vague, unclearly worded and open-ended. 
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The Court notes that “The Karabakh Diary” did 
not constitute a piece of investigative journal-
ism focusing specifically on the Khojaly events 
and considers that the applicant's statements 
about these events were made rather in pass-
ing, parallel to the main theme of the article. 
In this context, based on quite limited informa-
tion sources, the applicant advanced rather un-
clearly worded ideas to the effect that certain 
Azerbaijani units had been partly responsible 
for the plight of the Khojaly victims.

92. Accordingly, although the article contained 
remarks that some of the Azerbaijani military 
units (referred to as “NFA battalions”) had, to 
a certain degree, shared responsibility with 
the perpetrators of the mass killings, it did 
not contain any statements directly accusing 
the Azerbaijani military or specific individuals 
of committing the massacre and deliberately 
killing their own civilians, as such. As the role 
and responsibility of the Azerbaijani authori-
ties in either failing to prevent or contributing 
to the Khojaly events is the subject of ongo-
ing debate (see paragraph 87 above), the ap-
plicant as a journalist had a right under Article 
10 to impart ideas concerning this matter. The 
Court notes, in this connection, that journalis-
tic freedom also covers possible recourse to a 
degree of exaggeration, or even provocation 
(see, among other authorities, Bladet Tromsø 
and Stensaas v. Norway [GC], no. 21980/93, § 
59, ECHR 1999-III). Even assuming that, in view 
of the possible scarcity or questionable nature 
of the applicant's information sources, his re-
marks in “The Karabakh Diary” concerning the 
responsibility of some of the Azerbaijani de-
fenders of Khojaly might have been exagger-
ated, they nevertheless fell well short of directly 
and specifically accusing them of committing 
any war crimes.

93. As to the remarks made in postings on the 
Internet forum of the AzeriTriColor website 
which were attributed to the applicant, the 
Court notes that the applicant denied making 
them. Nevertheless, having regard to the en-
tirety of the evidence examined by the domes-
tic courts in order to determine the applicant's 
authorship of these postings, the Court notes 
that it appears to be quite convincing. In such 
circumstances, the Court will accept that the 
applicant's authorship of these statements had 
been proved beyond reasonable doubt.

94. The following specific statements were made 
in the forum postings: “... part of the Khojaly 
inhabitants had been fired upon by our own 

[troops]... Whether it was done intentionally 
or not is to be determined by investigators ... 
[They were killed] not by [some] mysterious 
[shooters], but by provocateurs from the NFA 
battalions ... [The corpses] had been mutilated 
by our own ...”. The Court considers that these 
assertions were very specific in that they ac-
cused unidentified “provocateurs” from “NFA 
battalions” of shooting at their own civilians 
and mutilating their bodies. The Court notes 
that the author has not supported these state-
ments with any evidence and has not relied 
on any specific sources. These statements 
contained assertions which were different 
from those made in “The Karabakh Diary”, in 
that they accused some Azerbaijani fighters of 
killing some of the victims (although perhaps 
not intentionally), and of deliberately mutilat-
ing the corpses of victims. As such, they were 
not of the same nature as mere hypothesising, 
as in “The Karabakh Diary”, about Azerbaijani 
soldiers' possible responsibility for failure to 
prevent large-scale bloodshed, based on the 
sourced information that an escape corridor 
had existed and that the refugees had been 
prevented from using it. In respect of these 
Internet forum postings, the applicant has 
not claimed that either the Khojaly refugees 
or the Armenian officials interviewed by him, 
who were his primary sources in “The Kara-
bakh Diary”, had ever specifically accused the 
Azerbaijani military of mutilating the corpses 
of their own civilians. In such circumstances, it 
could be argued that the statements made in 
the Internet forum postings could not be taken 
as an example of the “degree of exaggeration” 
or “provocation” permissible in the exercise of 
journalistic freedom.

95. In this regard, the Court reiterates that the ex-
ercise of freedom of expression carries with it 
duties and responsibilities, and the safeguard 
afforded by Article 10 to journalists is subject 
to the condition that they are acting in good 
faith in order to provide accurate and reliable 
information in accordance with the ethics of 
journalism (see, among other authorities, Ra-
dio France and Others v. France, no. 53984/00, 
§ 37, ECHR 2004-II, and Colombani and Oth-
ers, cited above, § 65). In the present case, it 
is not clear whether the applicant intended 
to post these statements in his capacity as a 
journalist providing information to the public, 
or whether he simply expressed his personal 
opinions as an ordinary citizen in the course of 
an Internet debate. Nevertheless, it is clear that, 
by posting under the username “Eynulla Fatul-
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layev”, the applicant, being a popular journalist, 
did not hide his identity and that he publicly 
disseminated his statements by posting them 
on a freely accessible popular Internet forum, 
a medium which in modern times has no less 
powerful an effect than the print media. The 
disseminated statements did not constitute 
value judgments, but were of a specific factual 
nature. While the truth of value judgments is 
not susceptible to proof, the existence of facts 
can be demonstrated (see De Haes and Gijsels, 
cited above, § 42). Moreover, directly accusing 
specific individuals of a specific form of mis-
conduct entails an obligation to provide a suf-
ficient factual basis for such an assertion (see, 
mutatis mutandis, Mahmudov and Agazade v. 
Azerbaijan, no. 35877/04 35877/04, § 45, 18 
December 2008).

96. However, the Court considers that, in the cir-
cumstances of the present case, it is not re-
quired to reach any definitive conclusions as to 
whether the above statements were support-
ed by a sufficient factual basis or whether they 
were objectively true or false, for the following 
reasons. The Court stresses that the applicant 
was not convicted merely for having dissemi-
nated the above statements. Indeed, he was 
not held liable for the act of, per se, disseminat-
ing allegedly revisionist statements concerning 
historical events. Rather, the interference com-
plained of in the present case took the form of 
a criminal conviction based on a finding that 
the statements disseminated by the applicant 
defamed specific individuals. Therefore, having 
accepted that the statements in the Internet 
forum postings were attributable to the appli-
cant and that they were false or unverified, it is 
necessary to determine whether the domestic 
courts provided sufficient and relevant reasons 
for finding that those statements damaged the 
reputation of those specific individuals.

97. The individuals in question were four Khojaly 
refugees and two former soldiers who par-
ticipated in the criminal proceedings in the 
capacity of private prosecutors. They claimed 
that the statements made by the applicant 
were slanderous and tarnished their honour 
and dignity. Moreover, the two former soldiers 
claimed that, by stating that the Azerbaijani 
soldiers had killed civilians and mutilated their 
corpses, the applicant had directly and falsely 
accused them personally of having committed 
grave crimes.

98. As to the alleged defamation of the Khojaly 
refugees, the Court considers that there was 

nothing in “The Karabakh Diary” or the Internet 
forum postings to suggest that the applicant 
aimed to deny the fact of the mass killing of the 
civilians or exculpate any suspected actual per-
petrators, be they Armenian fighters, person-
nel of the 366th Regiment or any other indi-
viduals or military units. None of the impugned 
statements could be interpreted as doubting 
the gravity of the suffering inflicted on the 
Khojaly victims. While the author blamed the 
“NFA battalions” of having shot at some of the 
refugees and mutilated victims' bodies, it can-
not be said that this assertion was calculated to 
humiliate or debase the victims of the Khojaly 
events or to somehow imply that their fate was 
less unfortunate. On the contrary, the applicant 
expressed feelings of grief and deep sorrow 
for the plight of the victims and the survivors 
of what he referred to as the “Khojaly tragedy”. 
For these reasons, the Court cannot agree with 
the domestic courts' finding that the article 
contained any statements undermining the 
dignity of the Khojaly victims and survivors in 
general and, more specifically, the four private 
prosecutors who were Khojaly refugees.

99. As to the alleged false accusation that the 
remaining two private prosecutors had com-
mitted grave crimes, the Court notes that 
the applicant did indeed make accusatory 
statements in respect of unidentified “provo-
cateurs” from “NFA battalions”. Even assum-
ing that these assertions lacked a sufficient 
factual basis, the Court notes, firstly, that it is 
clear that these statements did not appear to 
implicate the entire Azerbaijani army or all of 
the Azerbaijani military units who fought in 
the region during the war or even all of those 
who participated in the defence of Khojaly dur-
ing the battle of 25 to 26 February 1992. The 
statements appeared to concern only a part 
of the town's defenders, referred to as “NFA 
battalions”. Secondly, the Court notes that 
these statements did not accuse any specific 
individuals by identifying them by name or 
otherwise. In particular, neither of the two pri-
vate prosecutors who claimed to have fought 
in the Khojaly battle was named or otherwise 
identified either in “The Karabakh Diary” or in 
the Internet forum postings. No reasoning was 
advanced by the plaintiffs or by the domes-
tic courts to show that these two individuals 
could be somehow identified as, or considered 
otherwise representative of, the “provocateurs” 
implicated in the applicant's statements. In 
such circumstances, the Court considers that 
it has not been convincingly established that 
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the applicant's statements directly accused the 
two plaintiffs of having personally committed 
grave crimes.

100. Having regard to the above, the Court consid-
ers that, although “The Karabakh Diary” might 
have contained certain exaggerated or provoc-
ative assertions, the author did not cross the 
limits of journalistic freedom in performing his 
duty to impart information on matters of gen-
eral interest. On the other hand, while certain 
assertions in the Internet forum postings at-
tributed to the applicant might have arguably 
lacked sufficient factual basis, it was not con-
vincingly shown that they were defamatory in 
respect of the specific individuals acting as pri-
vate prosecutors in the applicant's case. In such 
circumstances, the Court finds that the reasons 
given by the domestic courts in support of the 
applicant's conviction cannot be regarded as 
relevant and sufficient and that, therefore, his 
conviction on charges of defamation did not 
meet a “pressing social need”.

101. Moreover, in any event, even assuming that 
the interference met a “pressing social need”, 
the Court considers that the requirement of 
proportionality was not satisfied in the present 
case.

102. The Court reiterates that the nature and sever-
ity of the penalties imposed are factors to be 
taken into account when assessing the propor-
tionality of an interference with the freedom of 
expression guaranteed by Article 10 (see, for 
example, Ceylan v. Turkey [GC], no. 23556/94, 
§ 37, ECHR 1999-IV; Skałka v. Poland, no. 
43425/98 43425/98, §§ 41-42, 27 May 2003; 
and Pedersen and Baadsgaard v. Denmark 
[GC], no. 49017/99, § 93, ECHR 2004-XI). The 
Court must also exercise the utmost caution 
where the measures taken or sanctions im-
posed by the national authorities are such as to 
dissuade the press from taking part in the dis-
cussion of matters of legitimate public concern 
(see Cumpǎnǎ and Mazǎre, cited above, § 
111). Although the Contracting States are per-
mitted, or even obliged, by their positive ob-
ligations under Article 8 of the Convention to 
regulate the exercise of freedom of expression 
so as to ensure adequate protection by law of 
individuals' reputations (see Pfeifer v. Austria, 
no. 12556/03, § 35, ECHR 2007-XII), they must 
not do so in a manner that unduly deters the 
media from fulfilling their role of informing the 
public on matters of general public interest. In-
vestigative journalists are liable to be inhibited 
from reporting on matters of general interest if 

they run the risk, as one of the standard sanc-
tions imposable for unjustified attacks on the 
reputation of private individuals, of being sen-
tenced to imprisonment. A fear of such a sanc-
tion inevitably has a chilling effect on the exer-
cise of journalistic freedom of expression (see 
Mahmudov and Agazade, cited above, § 49).

103. In the instant case, the applicant was sentenced 
to two years and six months' imprisonment. 
This sanction was undoubtedly very severe, es-
pecially considering that the applicant had al-
ready been sued for the exact same statements 
in the civil proceedings and, as a consequence, 
had paid a substantial amount in damages. The 
Court reiterates that, although sentencing is in 
principle a matter for the national courts, the 
imposition of a prison sentence for a press of-
fence will be compatible with journalists' free-
dom of expression as guaranteed by Article 10 
of the Convention only in exceptional circum-
stances, notably where other fundamental 
rights have been seriously impaired, as, for ex-
ample, in cases of hate speech or incitement 
to violence (ibid., § 50; see also Cumpǎnǎ and 
Mazǎre, cited above, § 115). The Court consid-
ers that the circumstances of the instant case 
disclose no justification for the imposition of a 
prison sentence on the applicant.

104.  In view of the above, the Court finds that the 
interference with the applicant's exercise of 
his right to freedom of expression cannot be 
considered “necessary in a democratic society”.

105.  There has accordingly been a violation of Arti-
cle 10 of the Convention in respect of the ap-
plicant's first criminal conviction.

2.Secondcriminalconviction
(a)  The parties' submissions

106. The Government submitted that the appli-
cant's conviction in the second set of criminal 
proceedings had also been prescribed by law 
and justified by “the interests of public safety”.

107. The Government agreed with the domestic 
courts' assessment of the statements made by 
the applicant in “The Aliyevs Go to War”. They 
noted that this article, which concerned pos-
sible attacks on various facilities in Azerbaijan, 
had appeared at a time of rising tension be-
tween Iran and a number of other members of 
the international community, which had led to 
widespread reports about possible military op-
erations against Iran, Azerbaijan's geographical 
neighbour. In that context, the applicant had 



43CASEOFFATULLAYEVVAZERBAIJAN

EC
J

EC
HR

published a number of unverified and inaccu-
rate statements of fact. He had failed to com-
ply with the duties and responsibilities which 
went hand in hand with journalistic freedom 
and had failed to act in good faith and in com-
pliance with the ethics of journalism in order 
to provide accurate and reliable information. 
The information published by the applicant 
had been obtained from various, sometimes 
unidentified, sources which the applicant had 
not verified by independent research.

108. For the above reasons, the Government con-
cluded that the domestic courts' decisions had 
been based on striking a balance between the 
interests of public safety and the applicant's 
right protected by Article 10.

109. The applicant observed that the Government's 
submissions concerning this part of the com-
plaint were “superficial and perfunctory”, in 
the light of the seriousness of the offences of 
which he had been convicted as a result of 
merely publishing an analytical article.

110. The applicant submitted that, indeed, at the 
time when the article had been published 
there had been tension in the region as a re-
sult of the deterioration in US-Iranian relations. 
The worsening relations between Iran and the 
US and the probability of a war between these 
States were not the product of the applicant's 
imagination; they could be deduced from nu-
merous statements by high-ranking US and 
Iranian officials and politicians, including the 
Presidents of those States. In their interviews at 
the time, Iranian officials had unambiguously 
stated that, in the event of a US attack on Iran, 
various facilities in Azerbaijan would be subject 
to an Iranian counter-attack.

111. “The Aliyevs Go to War” was analytical in nature 
and derived information from many other arti-
cles concerning this matter, published in vari-
ous media outlets. The applicant noted that the 
subject matter of the article was clearly a mat-
ter of public concern. The fact that Azerbaijan 
was an active member of the US-led “anti-ter-
ror” coalition and had already sent peacekeep-
ing forces to Iraq and Afghanistan reinforced 
the probability of Azerbaijan's involvement in 
the US-Iranian war, if it were to take place. The 
applicant noted that “hundreds of similar arti-
cles”, reflecting opinions and conclusions con-
cerning the possibility of an attack on Azerbai-
jan, had been published both before and after 
the publication of his article. In support of this, 
the applicant submitted several articles pub-

lished by local and foreign print media and on 
Internet news sites in 2006 and 2007 (including 
Zerkalo, Nash Vek, Russian Newsweek, Moscow 
News and Kavkazskiy Uzel). All of these articles 
discussed Azerbaijan's geopolitical role in the 
context of US-Iranian relations and, on the ba-
sis of several remarks by Iranian officials, specu-
lated that, in the event of a US-Iranian war, it 
was likely that Azerbaijan would also be in-
volved and that Iran could even attack certain 
strategic facilities in Azerbaijani territory, such 
as petroleum and gas pipelines and airports.

112. Moreover, the applicant noted that his article 
had merely criticised the political decisions 
of the Government, including the authorities' 
personnel policies in the southern region of 
the country, and had suggested that, by ap-
pointing officials from outside the region to 
governing posts, the central authorities were 
alienating the region's local population, con-
sisting largely of the Talysh minority. The article 
touched upon the difficult social and econom-
ic situation in this region which, coupled with 
potential separatist tendencies, were relevant 
considerations in the context of a possible war 
with neighbouring Iran. The applicant main-
tained that the publication of this article had 
been the result of his obligation to provide the 
newspaper's readers with comprehensive in-
formation about the events taking place in the 
country and in the region.

113. The applicant noted that he had been convict-
ed under Articles 214.1 and 283 of the Criminal 
Code, despite the fact that he had committed 
none of the acts proscribed by those provi-
sions. He had neither been involved in any ter-
rorist activities, nor had he incited ethnic hos-
tility. He had not aimed to create fear among 
the population or exert pressure on State au-
thorities by committing or threatening to com-
mit terrorist acts. He had merely published an 
analysis of possible future events, based on the 
information he had obtained from numerous 
other sources. The applicant also noted that 
the charges of tax evasion against him had 
been fabricated and that this should also be 
regarded as an interference with his freedom 
of expression.

114. The applicant reiterated that the actual, under-
lying reason for his conviction was his journal-
istic activity in general, as he was a harsh critic 
of the Government's policies, corruption and 
violations of citizens' civil and political rights.

(b)  The Court's assessment
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115. The applicant's conviction for publication of 
the second article indisputably amounted to 
an interference with the exercise of his right 
to freedom of expression. The Court accepts 
that this interference was prescribed by law; 
in particular, by Articles 214.1 and 283.2.2 of 
the Criminal Code. For the purposes of the fol-
lowing analysis, the Court will also accept the 
Government's submission that the interfer-
ence pursued the legitimate aim of maintain-
ing public safety. Accordingly, it remains to 
be determined whether the interference was 
“necessary in a democratic society”.

116. In this connection, the Court reiterates the 
general principles on the necessity of restric-
tions on the freedom of expression and its 
own task in exercising its supervisory func-
tion under Article 10 § 2 of the Convention 
(see paragraphs 82-84 above), as well as the 
general principles concerning the role of the 
press in a democratic society (see paragraph 
88 above). Specifically, the Court again stresses 
that there is little scope under Article 10 § 2 
for restrictions on political speech or on debate 
on questions of public interest. The Court also 
reiterates that the limits of permissible criticism 
are wider with regard to the government than 
in relation to a private citizen or even a poli-
tician. In a democratic system the actions or 
omissions of the government must be subject 
to the close scrutiny not only of the legislative 
and judicial authorities but also of public opin-
ion. Moreover, the dominant position which 
the government occupies makes it necessary 
for it to display restraint in resorting to criminal 
proceedings when replying even to the unjus-
tified attacks and criticisms of its adversaries, 
particularly where other means are available 
(see Incal v. Turkey, 9 June 1998, § 54, Reports 
1998-IV). Furthermore, where a publication 
cannot be categorised as inciting to violence 
or instigating ethnic hatred, Contracting States 
cannot restrict, with reference to maintaining 
public order and safety, the right of the public 
to be informed of matters of general interest, 
by bringing the weight of the criminal law to 
bear on the media (see Sürek and Özdemir 
v. Turkey [GC], nos. 23927/94 and 24277/94, 
§ 63, 8 July 1999, and Erdoğdu v. Turkey, no. 
25723/94, § 71, ECHR 2000-VI).

117. The Court notes that “The Aliyevs Go to War” 
was an analytical article focusing on Azerbai-
jan's specific role in the greater picture of the 
dynamics of international politics relating to 
US-Iranian relations, which were relevant at the 
time of the publication of the article. As such, 

the publication was part of a political debate 
on a matter of general and public concern. The 
Court notes in this connection that it has been 
its constant approach to require very strong 
reasons for justifying restrictions on political 
speech, since broad restrictions imposed in 
individual cases would undoubtedly affect re-
spect for the freedom of expression in general 
in the State concerned (see Feldek v. Slovakia, 
no. 29032/95, § 83, ECHR 2001-VIII, and Kar-
man v. Russia, no. 29372/02, § 36, 14 Decem-
ber 2006).

118. The Court observes, more specifically, that the 
applicant criticised the foreign and domestic 
political moves made by the Azerbaijani Gov-
ernment, noting that the country's continued 
close alliance with the US was likely to lead to 
Azerbaijan's involvement in a possible US-Irani-
an war, which at the time of the publication in 
question appeared to be a hot topic of the day 
and was seriously discussed by various analysts 
as a probable scenario in which a confronta-
tion between the US and Iran could devel-
op. The author further proposed a hypothetical 
scenario of such a war, according to which Iran 
would respond by bombing a number of fa-
cilities on the territory of Azerbaijan, which was 
allegedly considered by Iran to be one of the 
allies of the US in the region. The Court notes 
that, indeed, the applicant was not the only 
one to comment on the probability of this sce-
nario, as a number of other media sources had 
also suggested during that period that, in the 
event of a war, Azerbaijan was also likely to be 
involved and, referring to specific statements 
by Iranian officials, speculated about possible 
specific targets for Iranian attacks, including 
the Baku-Tbilisi-Ceyhan pipeline and various 
government facilities.

119. Arguably, the list of such “targets” provided by 
the applicant was longer and more detailed. 
However, in the Court's view, even assuming 
that the applicant's sources concerning the al-
leged existence of such a “target list” had not 
been fully verified, the fact that the applicant 
published this list, in itself, neither increased 
nor decreased the chances of a hypothetical 
Iranian attack. Moreover, it has never been 
claimed by the domestic authorities that, by 
publishing this list, the applicant revealed any 
State secrets or undermined any efforts of the 
national military defence authorities. In the 
context of the article as a whole, the inclusion 
of this “target list” could be construed simply 
as an attempt to convey to the readers a more 
dramatic picture of the specific consequences 
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of the country's possible involvement in a pos-
sible future war.

120. In this connection, the Court cannot accept 
the Government's argument that the applicant 
failed to support his “statements of fact” with 
references to reliable sources. Firstly, as men-
tioned above, similar statements had been 
made in numerous other publications. Sec-
ondly, the applicant's article contained the ap-
plicant's opinions about hypothetical scenarios 
of possible future events and, as such, those 
opinions were not susceptible of proof. Any 
opinions about future events involve, by their 
nature, a high degree of speculation. Whether 
the scenarios proposed by the applicant were 
likely or unlikely to happen was a matter of 
public debate, and any reasonable reader 
could be expected to understand the hypo-
thetical nature of the applicant's remarks about 
the possible course of events in a future war.

121. The Court observes that the scope of the inter-
ference in the present case appeared to extend 
to the publication in its entirety. In particular, 
the domestic courts found inter alia that, by 
criticising Azerbaijan's support for the “anti-
Iranian” UN resolution and writing about the 
possibility of Iran bombing certain targets in 
Azerbaijan, the applicant had committed the 
offence of threat of terrorism under Article 
214.1 of the Criminal Code. The Court notes 
that it is not for it to rule on the constituent ele-
ments of the offences under domestic law of 
terrorism and threat of terrorism, by reviewing 
whether the corpus delicti of “threat of terror-
ism” actually arose from the applicant's actions. 
It is in the first place for the national authorities, 
notably the courts, to interpret and apply do-
mestic law (see, among many other authorities, 
Lehideux and Isorni, cited above, § 50). The 
Court's task is merely to review under Article 10 
the decisions they delivered pursuant to their 
power of appreciation. In so doing, it must 
satisfy itself that the national authorities based 
their decisions on an acceptable assessment of 
the relevant facts (see paragraph 84 above; see 
also Incal, cited above, § 48).

122. Having regard to the domestic courts' assess-
ment of the facts, the Court notes that, based 
on a few (seemingly random) persons' testi-
monies, they found that the applicant's state-
ments were aimed at “frightening the popula-
tion” and had created panic among the public. 
In this regard, the Court reiterates that the free-
dom of expression is applicable not only to 
“information” or “ideas” that are favourably re-

ceived or regarded as inoffensive or as a matter 
of indifference, but also to those that offend, 
shock or disturb the State or any sector of the 
population (see paragraph 86 above). It was 
the applicant's task, as a journalist, to impart 
information and ideas on the relevant political 
issues and express opinions about possible fu-
ture consequences of specific decisions taken 
by the Government. The Court considers that, 
in doing so, he did not overstep any bounds set 
by Article 10 § 2 of the Convention.

123. Furthermore, the Court notes that the domes-
tic courts characterised the applicant's state-
ments as threatening the Government with 
destruction of public property and with acts 
endangering human life, with the aim of ex-
erting influence on the Government to refrain 
from taking political decisions required by na-
tional interests. However, having regard to the 
circumstances of the case, the Court cannot 
but conclude that the domestic courts' finding 
that the applicant threatened the State with 
terrorist acts was nothing but arbitrary. The ap-
plicant, as a journalist and a private individual, 
clearly was not in a position to influence any of 
the hypothetical events discussed in the article 
and could not exercise any degree of control 
over any possible decisions by the Iranian au-
thorities to attack any facilities in Azerbaijani 
territory. Neither did the applicant voice any 
approval of any such possible attacks, or argue 
in favour of them. As noted above, the Court 
considers that the article had the aim of in-
forming the public of possible consequences 
(however likely or unlikely they might seem) 
of the Government's foreign policy and, more 
specifically, criticising the latter for making 
certain decisions, such as supporting the “anti-
Iranian” UN Security Council Resolution. How-
ever, there is nothing in the article to suggest 
that the applicant's statements were aimed at 
threatening or “exerting influence” on the Gov-
ernment by any illegal means. In fact, the only 
means by which the applicant could be said to 
have “exerted influence” on the State authori-
ties in the present case was by exercising his 
freedom of expression, in compliance with the 
bounds set by Article 10, and voicing his disa-
greement with the authorities' political deci-
sions, as part of a public debate which should 
take place freely in any democratic society.

124.  In view of the above, the Court finds that the 
domestic courts arbitrarily applied the criminal 
provisions on terrorism in the present case. 
Such arbitrary interference with the freedom 
of expression, which is one of the fundamental 
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freedoms serving as the foundation of a demo-
cratic society, should not take place in a state 
governed by the rule of law.

125. Similarly, the Court is not convinced by the 
reasons advanced by the domestic courts to 
justify the applicant's conviction under Arti-
cle 283.2.2 of the Criminal Code. It notes that, 
in the context of discussing the Government's 
policies in connection with relations with the 
US and Iran, the applicant voiced an opinion 
that these policies, coupled with the central 
authorities' alleged mistakes in domestic ad-
ministration, could result in political unrest 
among the inhabitants of the country's south-
ern regions. The author mentioned that those 
regions faced a number of social and economic 
problems, such as unemployment and rising 
drug use. He also noted that the local popula-
tion had expressed discontent with the central 
authorities' tendency to appoint people from 
outside the region to official positions within 
the regional administration.

126. In the Court's view, the above issues raised in 
the relevant passages of the applicant's article 
could be considered a matter of legitimate 
public concern which the applicant was enti-
tled to bring to the public's attention through 
the press. The mere fact that he discussed the 
social and economic situation in regions popu-
lated by an ethnic minority and voiced an opin-
ion about possible political tension in those 
regions cannot be regarded as incitement to 
ethnic hostility. Although the relevant pas-
sages may have contained certain categorical 
and acerbic opinions and a certain degree of 
exaggeration in criticising the central authori-
ties' alleged treatment of the Talysh minor-
ity, the Court considers nevertheless that they 
contained no hate speech and could not be 
said to encourage inter-ethnic violence or to 
disparage any ethnic group in any way.

127. Having regard to the above, the Court finds 
that the domestic courts failed to provide any 
relevant reasons for the applicant's conviction 
on charges of threat of terrorism and incite-
ment to ethnic hostility.

128. The Court also considers that the gravity of the 
interference in the present case is exacerbated 
by the particular severity of the penalties im-
posed on the applicant. Specifically, he was 
sentenced to eight years' imprisonment on the 
charge of threat of terrorism and to three years' 
imprisonment on the charge of incitement to 
ethnic hostility, which resulted, together with 

previous sentences, in a merged sentence of 
eight years and six months' imprisonment. The 
circumstances of the case disclose no justifica-
tion for the imposition of a prison sentence on 
the applicant. The Court considers that both 
the applicant's conviction and the particularly 
severe sanction imposed were capable of pro-
ducing a chilling effect on the exercise of jour-
nalistic freedom of expression in Azerbaijan 
and dissuading the press from openly discuss-
ing matters of public concern.

129. In sum, the Court considers that the domestic 
courts overstepped the margin of appreciation 
afforded to them for restrictions on debates 
on matters of public interest. The applicant's 
conviction did not meet a “pressing social 
need” and was grossly disproportionate to any 
legitimate aims invoked. It follows that the in-
terference was not “necessary in a democratic 
society”.

130. In view of this finding, the Court considers it 
unnecessary to examine whether the appli-
cant's conviction for a tax offence could also be 
linked to the interference with his freedom of 
expression.

131. There has accordingly been a violation of Arti-
cle 10 of the Convention in respect of the ap-
plicant's second criminal conviction.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE 
6 § 1 OF THE CONVENTION

132. Firstly, the applicant complained that, in the 
first set of criminal proceedings, he had not 
received a fair hearing by an impartial tribunal, 
because Judge I. Ismayilov, who had heard the 
criminal case, was the same judge who had 
previously examined the civil action against 
him. Secondly, he complained that he had not 
been tried by a “tribunal established by law”, 
because the term of office of the Yasamal Dis-
trict Court judges had expired prior to his trial, 
and that, in both sets of criminal proceedings, 
the domestic courts were not independent 
from the executive. Article 6 § 1 of the Con-
vention provides as follows:

“Inthedeterminationof...anycriminalcharge
against him, everyone is entitled to a fair ...
hearing ... by an independent and impartial



47CASEOFFATULLAYEVVAZERBAIJAN

EC
J

EC
HR

tribunalestablishedbylaw.”

A. “Impartial tribunal”
1.Theparties'submissions

133. The Government submitted that the fact that 
the same judge had examined a civil claim 
against a person and later examined a criminal 
case against that same person did not, in itself, 
lead to the conclusion that the judge was not 
independent and impartial.

134. The applicant submitted that the judge who 
had already examined specific allegations 
against him in the context of a civil action could 
not have an impartial position when examining 
the same allegations in subsequent criminal 
proceedings. The applicant maintained that, in 
the criminal proceedings, Judge Ismayilov had 
routinely rejected his “lawful requests” and had 
“by all possible means defended” the position 
of the private prosecutors.

2.TheCourt'sassessment
135. The Court notes that this complaint is not man-

ifestly ill-founded within the meaning of Article 
35 § 3 of the Convention. It further notes that 
it is not inadmissible on any other grounds. It 
must therefore be declared admissible.

136. The Court further reiterates that the existence 
of impartiality for the purposes of Article 6 § 
1 must be determined according to a subjec-
tive test, that is, on the basis of the personal 
conviction of a particular judge in a given 
case, and also according to an objective test, 
that is, ascertaining whether the judge offered 
guarantees sufficient to exclude any legitimate 
doubt in this respect (see Fey v. Austria, 24 
February 1993, § 28, Series A no. 255-A). As to 
the subjective test, the personal impartiality of 
a judge must be presumed until there is proof 
to the contrary (see Hauschildt v. Denmark, 24 
May 1989, § 47, Series A no. 154). The mere 
fact that the judge rejected all or most of the 
applicant's requests does not constitute such 
proof. Accordingly, the objective test should be 
applied in the present case.

137. Under the objective test, it must be determined 
whether, quite apart from the judge's personal 
conduct, there are ascertainable facts which 
may raise doubts as to his impartiality. In this 
respect even appearances may be of a certain 
importance. What is at stake is the confidence 
which the courts in a democratic society must 
inspire in the public and, above all, in the ac-
cused. This implies that in deciding whether in 

a given case there is a legitimate reason to fear 
that a particular judge lacks impartiality, the 
standpoint of the accused is important but not 
decisive. What is decisive is whether this fear 
can be held to be objectively justified (see Fey, 
cited above, § 30).

138. The Court notes, inter alia, that the nature of 
liability under civil law is different from that 
under criminal law, that different standards of 
proof apply in civil and criminal cases, that a 
criminal conviction does not preclude a find-
ing of civil liability arising from the same facts 
and that, conversely, the existence of civil li-
ability does not necessarily entail a finding of 
guilt under criminal law in respect of the same 
actions by the defendant. For these reasons, 
the Court considers that a situation where the 
same judge examines the questions of both 
civil liability and criminal liability arising from 
the same facts does not necessarily affect the 
judge's impartiality. Nevertheless, the Court 
notes that whether the accused's fear of a lack 
of impartiality can be considered to be objec-
tively justified depends on the special features 
of each particular case (see Hauschildt, cited 
above, § 49).

139. The Court considers that, in the assessment of 
the special features of the present case, impor-
tance should be attached to the fact that the 
proceedings in question concerned alleged 
defamation of private individuals. Owing to 
this specific subject matter of the proceedings, 
the present case is not necessarily comparable 
to other situations where both criminal and 
civil liability may arise from the same facts. The 
Court further notes that the applicant's fear 
of a lack of impartiality was based on the fact 
that Judge Ismayilov dealt with the questions 
of his civil and criminal liability not simultane-
ously, but in two separate sets of proceedings, 
with the civil case preceding the criminal case. 
The Court notes that both sets of proceedings 
concerned exactly the same set of allegedly 
defamatory statements made by the applicant. 
Ms Chaladze was the plaintiff in the first set of 
proceedings, while in the second set of pro-
ceedings she was a representative of several 
Khojaly refugees acting as private prosecutors. 
She made essentially the same submissions in 
both sets of proceedings. In each set of pro-
ceedings, in order to determine whether the 
applicant was liable under either the civil or 
criminal law on defamation, the judge had to 
satisfy himself, inter alia, that the statements 
made by the applicant were “false” (or unprov-
en) and that, as such, they tarnished the dignity 
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of the survivors of the Khojaly events. In doing 
so, the judge was called upon to assess essen-
tially the same or similar evidentiary material. 
It appears that, under criminal law on defama-
tion, the judge had to additionally establish 
the element of criminal intent by determining 
whether the applicant “knowingly” dissemi-
nated defamatory statements (see paragraph 
47 above). Nevertheless, the Court considers 
that, having decided the civil case against the 
applicant, the judge had already given an as-
sessment to the applicant's statements and 
reached a conclusion that they constituted 
false information tarnishing the dignity of Kho-
jaly survivors. In such circumstances, where the 
applicant was subsequently prosecuted under 
criminal law on defamation, doubts could be 
raised as to the appearance of impartiality of 
the judge who had already pronounced his 
opinion concerning the same allegedly de-
famatory statements made by the applicant. 
Accordingly, the Court considers that, in the 
light of the special features of this particular 
case, the applicant's fear of the judge's lack of 
impartiality could be considered as objectively 
justified.

140. There has accordingly been a violation of Ar-
ticle 6 § 1 of the Convention in this respect.

B. “Independent ... tribunal established by 
law”

1.Theparties'submissions
141. The Government noted that Judge Ismayilov 

had indeed been appointed on 2 Septem-
ber 2000 for a five-year term. Under the Law 
on Courts and Judges, effective at the mate-
rial time, his term had been due to expire on 
3 September 2005. However, Law No. 817-IIQD 
of 28 December 2004, which entered into force 
on 30 January 2005, had introduced amend-
ments to the Law on Courts and Judges which 
concerned, inter alia, new provisions regulat-
ing the procedure for selection and appoint-
ment of judges and their terms of office. In 
accordance with the Transitional Provisions of 
the Law No. 817-IIQD, the terms of office of all 
judges appointed before 1 January 2005 had 
been extended until the date on which new 
judges were appointed to the relevant courts 
pursuant to the new amendments to the Law 
on Courts and Judges. New judges had been 
appointed to the Yasamal District Court on 28 
July 2007. Until that date, the old judges of the 
court, including Judge Ismayilov, had carried 
out their judicial functions in accordance with 

Law No. 817-IIQD. Therefore, the applicant's 
case had been heard by a “tribunal established 
by law”.

142. Lastly, the Government submitted that the ap-
plicant's allegations concerning the domestic 
courts' lack of independence were unsubstan-
tiated.

143. The applicant reiterated his complaints. He also 
challenged the “quality” of Law No. 817-IIQD. 
He noted that, coupled with the enactment 
of the new Law on the Judicial Legal Council, 
which had given the Judicial Legal Council 
substantial powers in the process of selecting 
judges, the Transitional Provisions of Law No. 
817-IIQD made the judges “fully dependent 
on the Judicial Legal Council”, because their 
subsequent reappointment depended on the 
latter.

2.TheCourt'sassessment
144. The Court reiterates that the object of the term 

“established by law” in Article 6 of the Conven-
tion is to ensure “that the judicial organisation 
in a democratic society does not depend on 
the discretion of the executive, but that it is 
regulated by law emanating from Parliament” 
(see Gurov v. Moldova, no. 36455/02, § 34, 11 
July 2006). The phrase “established by law” cov-
ers not only the legal basis for the very exist-
ence of a “tribunal” but also the composition of 
the bench in each case (see Posokhov v. Russia, 
no. 63486/00 63486/00, § 39, ECHR 2003-IV).

145. The Court notes that, in the present case, Law 
No. 817-IIQD introduced amendments to the 
domestic law regulating, inter alia, the pro-
cedure of appointment and terms of office of 
judges. During the period of transition to this 
reformed system and pending the finalisation 
of new appointment procedures, the terms of 
office of all judges appointed prior to 1 Janu-
ary 2005 were extended in accordance with 
the Transitional Provisions of Law No. 817-IIQD, 
ostensibly with the purpose of ensuring the 
uninterrupted functioning of the judicial sys-
tem. Thus, the term of office of Judge Ismayilov 
had been extended by virtue of a parliamen-
tary enactment before the date when it was 
due to expire under the law effective prior to 
the reform and, contrary to what the applicant 
claimed, did not expire until 28 July 2007, well 
after the examination of the applicant's case 
in the Yasamal District Court had been com-
pleted. Accordingly, in view of the fact that the 
extension of Judge Ismayilov's term of office 
had been necessitated by the transition to new 
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rules on the appointment and terms of office 
of judges, that he had initially been appointed 
in accordance with all the requirements of the 
Law on Courts and Judges (contrast Posokhov, 
cited above, § 43, and Fedotova v. Russia, no. 
73225/01 73225/01, §§ 41-42, 13 April 2006), 
and that the extension of his term of office was 
regulated by a law emanating from Parliament 
(contrast Gurov, cited above, § 37), the Court 
considers that the applicant was tried by a “tri-
bunal established by law”.

146. In so far as the applicant claimed that the exten-
sion of the judges' terms of office for an indefi-
nite “transitional” period compromised their 
independence vis-à-vis the executive authori-
ties (whose representatives formed part of the 
Judicial Legal Council, vested with the task of 
selecting candidates for judicial office) during 
that period, the Court notes that the applicant 
appeared to be suggesting that certain execu-
tive authorities (which the applicant failed to 
identify precisely) were somehow interested 
in having him convicted and, therefore, had 
unduly influenced Judge Ismayilov, whose 
independence was allegedly compromised 
following the enactment of Law No. 817-IIQD. 
However, the Court notes that the first set of 
criminal proceedings against the applicant was 
instituted not by the State, but by private per-
sons under the private prosecution procedure. 
In any event, the Court notes that the material 
in its possession does not contain sufficient 
evidence in support of the applicant's allega-
tions of undue pressure being exerted on the 
domestic courts by the executive authorities. 
Likewise, there is insufficient evidence of the 
alleged lack of independence of the domestic 
courts in the second set of criminal proceed-
ings.

147. It follows that this part of the application is 
manifestly ill-founded and must be rejected in 
accordance with Article 35 §§ 3 and 4 of the 
Convention.

III. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
6 § 2 OF THE CONVENTION

148. The applicant complained that the statement 
made by the Prosecutor General to the press 
on 31 May 2007 (see paragraphs 36 and 37 
above) amounted to an infringement of his 
right to the presumption of innocence secured 
in Article 6 § 2 of the Convention, which pro-
vides as follows:

“Everyone charged with a criminal offence
shall be presumed innocent until proved
guiltyaccordingtolaw.”

A. Admissibility
1.Theparties'submissions

149. The Government submitted that the applicant 
had not exhausted all the available domestic 
remedies in respect of this complaint. Firstly, 
they noted that, pursuant to Articles 449-451 of 
the CCrP, the applicant could have lodged with 
the supervising court a complaint concerning 
the “procedural steps or decisions of the prose-
cuting authority”, whereby he could have chal-
lenged the Prosecutor General's statements to 
the press. Secondly, the applicant could have 
alleged a violation of his presumption of inno-
cence by bringing a separate court action un-
der Article 147 of the Criminal Code or Chapter 
27 of the CCP.

150. The applicant submitted that the remedies 
mentioned by the Government were ineffec-
tive.

2.TheCourt'sassessment
151. The Court reiterates that the purpose of the 

domestic-remedies rule in Article 35 § 1 of the 
Convention is to afford the Contracting States 
the opportunity of preventing or putting right 
the violations alleged before they are submit-
ted to the Court. However, the only remedies 
to be exhausted are those that relate to the 
breaches alleged and that, at the same time, 
are available and sufficient. The existence of 
such remedies must be sufficiently certain not 
only in theory but also in practice, failing which 
they will lack the requisite accessibility and ef-
fectiveness; it falls to the respondent State to 
establish that these various conditions are sat-
isfied (see Vernillo v. France, 20 February 1991, 
§ 27, Series A no. 198). The rule of exhaustion 
of domestic remedies must be applied with 
some degree of flexibility and without exces-
sive formalism. This rule is neither absolute nor 
capable of being applied automatically. For the 
purposes of reviewing whether it has been ob-
served, it is essential to have regard to the cir-
cumstances of the individual case. This means, 
amongst other things, that the Court must 
take realistic account not only of the existence 
of formal remedies in the legal system of the 
Contracting Party concerned, but also of the 
general context in which they operate, as well 
as the personal circumstances of the applicant 
(see Akdivar and Others v. Turkey, 16 Septem-
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ber 1996, § 69, Reports 1996-IV).

152. As to the Government's argument that the 
applicant had failed to make use of the proce-
dure specified in Articles 449-451 of the CCrP, 
the Court notes that the relevant provisions 
concern the possibility of lodging a complaint 
against “procedural steps or decisions” of the 
prosecuting authorities. In the present case, 
the impugned statements were made by the 
Prosecutor General not in the context of the 
criminal proceedings themselves, but by way 
of a statement to the press. Therefore, the 
Court is not convinced that this statement to 
the press constituted a “procedural step” or 
“procedural decision” taken in the context of 
the relevant criminal proceedings, and the 
Government have not demonstrated by any 
evidence (such as court decisions in similar 
cases) that it qualified as such within the mean-
ing of Articles 449-451 of the CCrP.

153. Likewise, the Court is not convinced by the 
Government's argument that the applicant 
had failed either to institute separate criminal 
proceedings accusing the Prosecutor General 
of defamation under Article 147 of the Crimi-
nal Code, or to bring a separate civil lawsuit 
complaining of a violation of his rights and ob-
ligations. The Court notes that, in the present 
case, the applicant specifically complained to 
the first-instance and higher courts about the 
Prosecutor General's statements and alleged a 
violation of his right under Article 6 § 2 of the 
Convention. His complaints under the Conven-
tion were summarily rejected. In this connec-
tion, the Court reiterates that an individual is 
not required to try more than one avenue of 
redress when there are several available. It is for 
the applicant to select the legal remedy that is 
most appropriate in the circumstances of the 
case (see, among other authorities, Airey v. Ire-
land, 9 October 1979, § 23, Series A no. 32, and 
Boicenco v. Moldova, no. 41088/05, § 80, 11 
July 2006). The Government have not contest-
ed the effectiveness of the avenue of redress 
which the applicant tried in the present case, 
namely raising the issue of the presumption 
of innocence before the courts called upon to 
determine the criminal charges against him. 
Even assuming that the remedies suggested 
by the Government were capable of provid-
ing adequate redress, the Court considers that, 
having raised the issue of the presumption of 
innocence in the context of the criminal pro-
ceedings in question, the applicant should not 
be required to embark on another attempt to 
obtain redress by lodging a separate defama-

tion claim under criminal law or bringing a 
civil action for damages (see, mutatis mutandis, 
Hajibeyli v. Azerbaijan, no. 16528/05, § 43, 10 
July 2008).

154. For these reasons, the Court dismisses the Gov-
ernment's objections as to the exhaustion of 
domestic remedies.

155. Moreover, the Court notes that Article 6 § 2 
applies to persons “charged with a criminal of-
fence”. At the time of the Prosecutor General's 
interview to the press of 31 May 2007, the 
criminal investigation under Article 214.1 of 
the Criminal Code had already been instituted 
by the MNS on 16 May 2007, and the applicant 
had been transferred to the MNS detention 
facility on 29 May 2007 pending the Sabail 
District Court's decision to remand him in cus-
tody. Although the applicant had not been 
formally indicted until 3 July 2007, his transfer 
to the MNS detention facility formed part of 
the investigation commenced on 16 May 2007 
by the investigation department of the MNS 
and thus made him a person “charged with a 
criminal offence” within the meaning of Article 
6 § 2. The Prosecutor General's remarks, made 
in parallel with the MNS investigation, were ex-
plained by the existence of that investigation 
and had a direct link with it (compare Allenet 
de Ribemont v. France, 10 February 1995, § 37, 
Series A no. 308). Therefore, Article 6 § 2 of the 
Convention applies in this case.

156. The Court further notes that this complaint is 
not otherwise manifestly ill-founded within the 
meaning of Article 35 § 3 of the Convention 
and is not inadmissible on any other grounds. It 
must therefore be declared admissible.

B. Merits
1.Theparties'submissions

157. The Government noted that Article 6 § 2 of 
the Convention could not prevent the authori-
ties from informing the public, with all the nec-
essary discretion and circumspection, about 
criminal investigations in progress. They sub-
mitted that the applicant's presumption of in-
nocence had not been violated in the present 
case. They noted that the Prosecutor General's 
comments had not depicted the applicant as 
a criminal. The Prosecutor General had simply 
commented on the reasons for instituting a 
criminal case and informed the public that an 
investigation was being conducted.

158. The applicant reiterated his complaint.
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2.TheCourt'sassessment
159. The Court reiterates that Article 6 § 2, in its 

relevant aspect, is aimed at preventing the 
undermining of a fair criminal trial by preju-
dicial statements made in close connection 
with those proceedings. The presumption of 
innocence enshrined in paragraph 2 of Article 
6 is one of the elements of the fair criminal trial 
that is required by paragraph 1 (see Allenet de 
Ribemont, cited above, § 35). It not only pro-
hibits the premature expression by the tribunal 
itself of the opinion that the person “charged 
with a criminal offence” is guilty before he has 
been so proved according to law (see Minelli v. 
Switzerland, 25 March 1983, § 38, Series A no. 
62), but also covers statements made by other 
public officials about pending criminal investi-
gations which encourage the public to believe 
the suspect guilty and prejudge the assess-
ment of the facts by the competent judicial au-
thority (see Allenet de Ribemont, cited above, 
§ 41, and Daktaras v. Lithuania, no. 42095/98, 
§§ 41-43, ECHR 2000-X). The Court stresses 
that Article 6 § 2 cannot prevent the authori-
ties from informing the public about criminal 
investigations in progress, but it requires that 
they do so with all the discretion and circum-
spection necessary if the presumption of inno-
cence is to be respected (see Allenet de Ribe-
mont, cited above, § 38).

160. It has been the Court's consistent approach 
that the presumption of innocence will be 
violated if a judicial decision or a statement by 
a public official concerning a person charged 
with a criminal offence reflects an opinion that 
he is guilty before he has been proved guilty 
according to law. It suffices, even in the ab-
sence of any formal finding, that there is some 
reasoning suggesting that the court or the 
official regards the accused as guilty. A funda-
mental distinction must be made between a 
statement that someone is merely suspected 
of having committed a crime and a clear decla-
ration, in the absence of a final conviction, that 
an individual has committed the crime in ques-
tion. The Court has consistently emphasised 
the importance of the choice of words by pub-
lic officials in their statements before a person 
has been tried and found guilty of a particular 
criminal offence (see Khuzhin and Others v. 
Russia, no. 13470/02, § 94, 23 October 2008, 
with further references). Whether a statement 
of a public official is in breach of the principle 
of the presumption of innocence must be de-
termined in the context of the particular cir-
cumstances in which the impugned statement 

was made (see Butkevičius v. Lithuania, no. 
48297/99 48297/99, § 49, ECHR 2002-II).

161. The Court notes that in the present case the 
impugned statement was made by the Pros-
ecutor General in an interview to the press, in a 
context independent of the criminal proceed-
ings themselves. The Court acknowledges that 
the fact that the applicant was a well-known 
journalist required the State officials, including 
the Prosecutor General, to keep the public in-
formed of the alleged offence and the ensuing 
criminal proceedings. However, this circum-
stance cannot justify the lack of caution in the 
choice of words used by officials in their state-
ments. Moreover, in the present case, the state-
ment at issue was made just a few days follow-
ing the institution of the criminal investigation. 
It was particularly important at this initial stage, 
even before the applicant had been formally 
charged, not to make any public allegations 
which could have been interpreted as confirm-
ing the guilt of the applicant in the opinion of 
an important public official.

162. The Prosecutor General's statement was re-
ported, with almost identical word-for-word 
quotations, in at least two popular news me-
dia outlets. It is true that the statement was 
very succinct and that it appeared to have 
been aimed at informing the public about the 
fact of, and the reasons for, the institution of 
criminal proceedings against the applicant. 
Nevertheless, the statement unequivocally de-
clared that the applicant's article published in 
his newspaper “indeed contain[ed] a threat of 
terrorism”. Moreover, following a brief explana-
tion as to the content of the applicant's publi-
cation, the Prosecutor General made a further 
declaration that “this information constitutes 
a threat of terrorism”. Given the high position 
held by the Prosecutor General, particular cau-
tion should have been exercised in the choice 
of words for describing the pending criminal 
proceedings. The Court considers that these 
specific remarks, made without any qualifica-
tion or reservation, amounted to a declaration 
that the applicant had committed the criminal 
offence of threat of terrorism. Thus, these re-
marks prejudged the assessment of the facts 
by the competent judicial authority and could 
not but have encouraged the public to believe 
the applicant guilty before he had been proved 
guilty according to law.

163. There has accordingly been a violation of Arti-
cle 6 § 2 of the Convention.
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IV. OTHER ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF 
THE CONVENTION

A. Article 3 of the Convention
164. The applicant complained about the condi-

tions of his pre-trial detention. In particular, he 
alleged that, during his detention in Detention 
Facility No. 1, he had not been allowed to re-
ceive newspapers and magazines. He had been 
handcuffed and searched when taken out of 
his cell for questioning or other purposes. As to 
his conditions of detention after his transfer to 
the MNS detention facility, he alleged that he 
had not been allowed personal visits and that 
he had been held alone in a cell measuring 
8 square metres, which had been badly venti-
lated and in which an electric light had been 
switched on throughout the day and night. He 
had been allowed to take a hot shower once a 
week and had had to wash his underwear him-
self using the cold water in his cell.

165. Even assuming that there were effective rem-
edies available to the applicant in respect of 
the conditions of his detention and that he has 
exhausted those remedies, the Court considers 
that the applicant's description of his condi-
tions of detention does not disclose an appear-
ance of ill-treatment reaching the minimum 
level of severity required under Article 3 of the 
Convention. It follows that this complaint is 
manifestly ill-founded and must be rejected in 
accordance with Article 35 §§ 3 and 4 of the 
Convention.

B. Article 5 of the Convention
166. The applicant complained under Article 5 §§ 

1 (c), 3 and 4 of the Convention about the Sabail 
District Court's decision of 3 July 2007 remand-
ing him in custody, delivered in the context of 
the second set of criminal proceedings. In par-
ticular, he complained that there had been no 
reasonable suspicion that he had committed a 
crime and that the domestic courts had failed 
to give sufficient reasons for his detention on 
remand.

167. The Court notes that, prior to the Sabail Dis-
trict Court's detention order of 3 July 2007, 
the applicant had already been convicted and 
sentenced to a prison term on 20 April 2007 
in the first set of criminal proceedings. That 
conviction had been upheld by the Court of 
Appeal on 6 June 2007 and, at the time of the 
detention order of 3 July 2007 in the second 
set of criminal proceedings, a cassation ap-

peal against that conviction was pending the 
Supreme Court's examination. In this connec-
tion, the Court notes that, in determining the 
period of detention pending trial, the period 
to be taken into consideration begins on the 
day the accused is taken into custody and ends 
on the day when the charge is determined, 
even if only by a court of first instance (see, for 
example, Hummatov v. Azerbaijan (dec.), nos. 
9852/03 and 13413/04, 18 May 2006). In the 
present case, the criminal charge in the first set 
of criminal proceedings against the applicant 
was determined on 20 April 2007 and, from 
that date, he was detained “after conviction by 
a competent court” within the meaning of Ar-
ticle 5 § 1 (a) of the Convention. Even though, 
for whatever reason, an order for the appli-
cant's “pre-trial detention” was made in the 
second set of proceedings subsequently to his 
conviction in the first set of criminal proceed-
ings, no issue arises under Article 5 §§ 1 (c) 
and 3 of the Convention in respect of the ap-
plicant's detention after that date, as there was 
already another “lawful” basis for his detention 
during that period. The Court considers that no 
issue arises in the present case under Article 5 
§ 4 either.

168. It follows that this complaint is manifestly ill-
founded and must be rejected in accordance 
with Article 35 §§ 3 and 4 of the Convention.

C. Other complaints
169. The applicant complained under Article 6 § 

3 (a) of the Convention that he had not been 
informed promptly of the nature and cause of 
the accusation against him in the second set of 
proceedings. He also complained under Article 
7 that, in both sets of criminal proceedings, the 
acts for which he had been convicted did not 
constitute a criminal offence. Lastly, he com-
plained under Article 8 of the Convention that 
the searches conducted on 22 May 2007 in his 
flat and the newspapers' office had violated his 
right to respect for his home.

170. In the light of all the material in its possession, 
and in so far as the matters complained of are 
within its competence, the Court finds that 
these complaints do not disclose any appear-
ance of a violation of the rights and freedoms 
set out in the Convention or its Protocols. It 
follows that these complaints are manifestly ill-
founded and must be rejected in accordance 
with Article 35 §§ 3 and 4 of the Convention.
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V. APPLICATION OF ARTICLES 46 
AND 41 OF THE CONVENTION

A. Article 46 of the Convention
171. Article 46 of the Convention provides:

“1.TheHighContractingPartiesundertaketo
abidebythefinaljudgmentoftheCourtinany
casetowhichtheyareparties.

2. The final judgment of the Court shall be
transmitted to the Committee of Ministers,
whichshallsuperviseitsexecution.”

172. In the context of the execution of judgments in 
accordance with Article 46 of the Convention, 
a judgment in which the Court finds a breach 
of the Convention imposes on the respondent 
State a legal obligation under that provision to 
put an end to the breach and to make repara-
tion for its consequences in such a way as to 
restore as far as possible the situation existing 
before the breach. If, on the other hand, nation-
al law does not allow – or allows only partial – 
reparation to be made for the consequences 
of the breach, Article 41 empowers the Court 
to afford the injured party such satisfaction as 
appears to it to be appropriate. It follows, inter 
alia, that a judgment in which the Court finds 
a violation of the Convention or its Protocols 
imposes on the respondent State a legal ob-
ligation not just to pay those concerned the 
sums awarded by way of just satisfaction, but 
also to choose, subject to supervision by the 
Committee of Ministers, the general and/or, if 
appropriate, individual measures to be adopt-
ed in its domestic legal order to put an end to 
the violation found by the Court and make all 
feasible reparation for its consequences in such 
a way as to restore as far as possible the situa-
tion existing before the breach (see Maestri v. 
Italy [GC], no. 39748/98 39748/98, § 47, ECHR 
2004-I; Assanidze v. Georgia [GC], no. 71503/01 
71503/01, § 198, ECHR 2004-II; and Ilaşcu 
and Others v. Moldova and Russia [GC], no. 
48787/99 48787/99, § 487, ECHR 2004-VII).

173. The Court reiterates that its judgments are 
essentially declaratory in nature and that, in 
general, it is primarily for the State concerned 
to choose, subject to supervision by the Com-
mittee of Ministers, the means to be used in 
its domestic legal order in order to discharge 
its obligation under Article 46 of the Conven-
tion, provided that such means are compat-
ible with the conclusions set out in the Court's 
judgment (see, among other authorities, Öca-
lan v. Turkey [GC], no. 46221/99 46221/99, § 

210, ECHR 2005-IV; Scozzari and Giunta v. Italy 
[GC], nos. 39221/98 39221/98 and 41963/98, 
§ 249, ECHR 2000-VIII); and Brumărescu v. 
Romania (just satisfaction) [GC], no. 28342/95, 
§ 20, ECHR 2001-I). This discretion as to the 
manner of execution of a judgment reflects 
the freedom of choice attached to the primary 
obligation of the Contracting States under the 
Convention to secure the rights and freedoms 
guaranteed (Article 1) (see Papamichalopoulos 
and Others v. Greece (Article 50), 31 October 
1995, § 34, Series A no. 330-B).

174. However, exceptionally, with a view to help-
ing the respondent State to fulfil its obligations 
under Article 46, the Court will seek to indicate 
the type of measure that might be taken in or-
der to put an end to a violation it has found 
to exist. In such circumstances, it may propose 
various options and leave the choice of meas-
ure and its implementation to the discretion of 
the State concerned (see, for example, Bronio-
wski v. Poland [GC], no. 31443/96, § 194, ECHR 
2004-V). In certain cases, the nature of the vio-
lation found may be such as to leave no real 
choice as to the measures required to remedy 
it and the Court may decide to indicate only 
one such measure (see, for example, Assanidze, 
cited above, § 202).

175. The Court reiterates its above findings that 
both instances of interference with the appli-
cant's freedom of expression were not justified 
under Article 10 § 2 of the Convention. In par-
ticular, in both instances, there existed no jus-
tification for imposing prison sentences on the 
applicant. The Court notes that, whereas the 
applicant was also convicted of a (prima facie 
unrelated) tax offence, by the date of delivery 
of the present judgment he has already served 
the part of the total sentence corresponding 
to that offence (four months' imprisonment), 
and that currently he is serving, in essence, the 
heavier part of the sentence corresponding to 
the press offences in respect of which the rel-
evant violations have been found.

176. In such circumstances, in view of the above 
findings of violations of Article 10 of the Con-
vention, it is not acceptable that the applicant 
still remains imprisoned. Accordingly, by its 
very nature, the situation found to exist in the 
instant case does not leave any real choice as 
to the measures required to remedy the viola-
tions of the applicant's Convention rights.

177. Therefore, having regard to the particular cir-
cumstances of the case and the urgent need to 
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put an end to the violations of Article 10 of the 
Convention, the Court considers that, as one 
of the means to discharge its obligation under 
Article 46 of the Convention, the respondent 
State shall secure the applicant's immediate 
release.

B. Article 41 of the Convention
178. Article 41 of the Convention provides:

“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

1.Damage
(a)  Pecuniary damage

179. The applicant claimed that, as a result of his 
conviction, he had been forced to close down 
several mass-media outlets which belonged to 
him personally: two newspapers, two Internet 
sites and one journal. He estimated the total 
value of these businesses at 203,652 euros 
(EUR), based on the initial capital invested to 
start them. He also claimed that, as the sole 
owner of the Realny Azerbaijan and Gündəlik 
Azərbaycan newspapers, he had sustained a 
loss of personal profit, in the estimated total 
amount of EUR 230,136 per year, for each year 
the newspapers had not been produced. He 
further claimed EUR 16,568 for advance rental 
payments for the newspapers' offices, which 
he had been unable to use after his conviction.

180. He further claimed pecuniary damage in re-
spect of certain possessions that had been al-
legedly “confiscated” by the authorities during 
the searches of his flat and his editorial office, 
including: (a) several “photo archives” and oth-
er “investigative journalistic materials”, which 
he valued at EUR 27,098; (b) computer equip-
ment costing 23,000 US dollars; and (c) certain 
pieces of furniture from the editorial office, es-
timated to cost EUR 7,287.

181. Lastly, the applicant claimed EUR 8,146 in re-
spect of the expenses that his parents had al-
legedly incurred in commuting to the prison 
to visit him, in providing him with food parcels 
in order to complement his prison diet, and for 
telephone communications with him.

182. The Government submitted that the applicant 
had failed to provide sufficient documentary 
evidence in support of any of the above claims 

or to explain the method of calculation of the 
value of his media outlets and other estimated 
figures. They also submitted that the applicant 
had failed to provide any evidence that any of 
his possessions had been confiscated; instead, 
he had produced only a search record and a re-
cord confirming that one of his employees had 
submitted two computers to the authorities for 
investigation purposes.

183. The Court points out that under Rule 60 of the 
Rules of the Court, any claim for just satisfac-
tion must be itemised and submitted in writing 
together with the relevant supporting docu-
ments or vouchers, failing which the Court may 
reject the claim in whole or in part.

184. As to the applicant's claims in respect of the 
value of the media outlets he had to close 
down and his loss of earnings, the Court notes 
that the applicant has not raised a complaint 
before the Court concerning the termination 
of activities of his newspapers and other media 
outlets. In any event, he has not submitted any 
documents or any other evidence in support of 
his claims in respect of the amounts invested in 
those media outlets and in respect of his future 
earnings from operating them as their owner 
and editor-in-chief. In particular, no records 
of past profits have been submitted. Likewise, 
the applicant has not submitted sufficient evi-
dence in respect of the loss of advance rental 
payments.

185. As to the claims in respect of the allegedly con-
fiscated property, the Court notes that, apart 
from the 23 computers seized from the news-
papers' offices and confiscated pursuant to the 
Assize Court's judgment, it is unable to deter-
mine from the material in its possession that 
any of the other alleged property has indeed 
been permanently confiscated and that all of 
it had belonged personally to the applicant. As 
to the claim in respect of the confiscated com-
puter equipment, the Court notes that the ap-
plicant has submitted no evidence in support 
of his estimates as to its value.

186. As to the remaining claims, the Court does not 
discern any causal link between the violations 
found and the pecuniary damage alleged.

187. For the above reasons, the Court rejects the 
applicant's claims in respect of pecuniary dam-
age.

(b)  Non-pecuniary damage

188. The applicant claimed EUR 70,000 in respect of 
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non-pecuniary damage.

189. The Government submitted that the finding of 
a violation would constitute sufficient repara-
tion in respect of any non-pecuniary damage 
suffered.

190. In the light of the specific circumstances of 
the present case, the particular gravity of the 
violations of the applicant's freedom of expres-
sion and the fact that he had been sentenced 
to long-term imprisonment for press offences 
without any relevant justification, and bearing 
in mind that by the time of the examination 
of the present application he had spent more 
than two years in prison, the Court considers 
that the applicant must have undoubtedly 
endured serious moral suffering which can-
not be compensated solely by the finding of 
violations. Moreover, although the Court has 
found above that the alleged pecuniary dam-
age was unsupported or not fully supported 
by relevant evidence, it does not find it unrea-
sonable to suppose that the applicant incurred 
other forms of damage which were directly 
due to the violations found (compare Ilaşcu 
and Others, cited above, § 489). The Court 
considers that, in this case, the above circum-
stance should also be taken into account when 
assessing the award for damages.

191. Making its assessment on an equitable basis, as 
required by Article 41 of the Convention, the 
Court awards the applicant the sum of EUR 
25,000 in respect of non-pecuniary damage, 
plus any tax that may be chargeable on this 
amount.

2.Costsandexpenses
192. The applicant also claimed EUR 602 for the 

costs and expenses incurred before the do-
mestic courts and EUR 2,200 for those incurred 
before the Court. He also claimed EUR 520 
for translation expenses. In support of these 
claims, he submitted statements from a law of-
fice whose lawyers had represented him in the 
domestic proceedings, a copy of the contract 
for legal services in the Strasbourg proceed-
ings, and copies of receipts issued by a transla-
tion company.

193. The Government submitted that the evidence 
submitted by the applicant was insufficient to 
conclude that the expenses claimed had been 
actually incurred.

194. According to the Court's case-law, an applicant 
is entitled to the reimbursement of costs and 

expenses only in so far as it has been shown 
that these have been actually and necessarily 
incurred and were reasonable as to quantum. 
In the present case, regard being had to the in-
formation in its possession and the above crite-
ria, the Court considers it reasonable to award 
the sum of EUR 2,822 covering costs under all 
heads, plus any tax that may be chargeable to 
the applicant on this amount.

3.Defaultinterest
195. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT

1. Declares unanimously the complaints under 
Article 10, Article 6 § 1 (concerning the al-
leged lack of impartiality) and Article 6 § 2 of 
the Convention admissible and the remainder 
of the application inadmissible;

2. Holds unanimously that there has been a 
violation of Article 10 of the Convention in 
respect of the applicant's first criminal convic-
tion;

3. Holds unanimously that there has been a 
violation of Article 10 of the Convention in 
respect of the applicant's second criminal 
conviction;

4. Holds unanimously that there has been a vio-
lation of Article 6 § 1 of the Convention;

5. Holds unanimously that there has been a vio-
lation of Article 6 § 2 of the Convention;

6. Holds by six votes to one that the respondent 
State shall secure the applicant's immediate 
release;

7. Holds unanimously

(a) that the respondent State is to pay the 
applicant, within three months from the 
date on which the judgment becomes fi-
nal in accordance with Article 44 § 2 of 
the Convention, EuR 25,000 (twenty-five 
thousand euros), plus any tax that may be 
chargeable, in respect of non-pecuniary 
damage, and EuR 2,822 (two thousand 
eight hundred and twenty-two euros), 
plus any tax that may be chargeable to the 
applicant, in respect of costs and expens-
es, to be converted into New Azerbaijani 
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manats at the rate applicable at the date 
of settlement;

(b) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amounts at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

8. Dismisses unanimously the remainder of the 
applicant's claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 22 April 
2010, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the Rules 
of Court.

Søren Nielsen, Registrar 
Christos Rozakis, President
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E-MAIL, SURVEILLANCE, SECRET, PRIVATE LIFE, DEMOC-
RACY, CORRESPONDENCE, MISUSE OF POWER.

IN THE CASE Of KENNEDy v. THE uNITED KINGDOM,

The European Court of Human Rights (Fourth Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Lech Garlicki, Preident,  
Nicolas Bratza,  
Giovanni Bonello,  
Ljiljana Mijović,  
Päivi Hirvelä,  
Ledi Bianku,  
Nebojša Vučinić, judges,
and Lawrence Early, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 27 April 2010,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

26839/05) against the United Kingdom of 
Great Britain and Northern Ireland lodged with 
the Court under Article 34 of the Convention 
for the Protection of Human Rights and Fun-
damental Freedoms (“the Convention”) by a 
British national, Mr Malcolm Kennedy (“the ap-
plicant”), on 12 July 2005.

2. The applicant was represented by N. Mole of 
the AIRE Centre, a non-governmental organi-
sation based in London. The United Kingdom 
Government (“the Government”) were repre-
sented by their Agent, Ms E. Willmott of the 
Foreign and Commonwealth Office.

3. The applicant complained about an alleged in-
terception of his communications, claiming a 
violation of Article 8. He further alleged that the 
hearing before the Investigatory Powers Tribu-
nal was not attended by adequate safeguards 
as required under Article 6 and, under Article 
13, that he had as a result been denied an ef-
fective remedy.

4. On 14 November 2008 the Vice-President of 
the Fourth Section decided to give notice of 
the application to the Government. It was also 
decided to examine the merits of the applica-

tion at the same time as its admissibility (Article 
29 § 3).

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

A. Background facts
5. On 23 December 1990, the applicant was ar-

rested for drunkenness and taken to Hammer-
smith Police Station. He was held overnight in a 
cell shared by another detainee, Patrick Quinn. 
The next day, Mr Quinn was found dead with 
severe injuries. The applicant was charged with 
his murder. The applicant alleged that the po-
lice had framed him for the murder in order to 
cover up their own wrongdoing. In September 
1991, the applicant was found guilty of the 
murder of Mr Quinn and was sentenced to life 
imprisonment. In February 1993, his conviction 
was overturned on appeal. At a first retrial, one 
of the police officers, a key prosecution wit-
ness, failed to appear. He was subsequently de-
clared mentally unstable and was withdrawn 
from the proceedings. Following a second 
retrial, the applicant was convicted in 1994 of 
manslaughter and sentenced to nine years’ im-
prisonment. The case was controversial in the 
United Kingdom on account of missing and 
conflicting police evidence which led some – 
including a number of Members of Parliament 
– to question the safety of the applicant’s con-
viction.

6. In 1996, the applicant was released from pris-
on. Following his release, he became active in 
campaigning against miscarriages of justice 
generally. He subsequently started a removal 
business called Small Moves, undertaking 
small moves and van hire in London. Although 
his business did well at the beginning, he sub-
sequently began to experience interference 
with his business telephone calls. He alleged 
that local calls to his telephone were not being 
put through to him and that he was receiving a 
number of time-wasting hoax calls. The appli-
cant suspected that this was because his mail, 
telephone and email communications were 
being intercepted. As a result of the interfer-
ence, the applicant’s business began to suffer.

7. The applicant believed that the interception of 
his communications was directly linked to his 
high profile case and his subsequent involve-
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ment in campaigning against miscarriages of 
justice. He alleged that the police and security 
services were continually and unlawfully re-
newing an interception warrant – originally au-
thorised for the criminal proceedings against 
him – in order to intimidate him and under-
mine his business activities.

B. Domestic proceedings
8. On 10 July 2000 the applicant made subject 

access requests to MI5 and GCHQ (the United 
Kingdom’s intelligence agencies responsible 
for national security) under the Data Protec-
tion Act 1998 (“DPA” – see paragraphs 21 to 
22 below). The object of the requests was to 
discover whether information about him was 
being processed by the agencies and to obtain 
access to the content of the information. Both 
requests were refused on the basis that the 
information requested was exempt from the 
disclosure requirements of the 1998 Act on the 
grounds of national security under certificates 
issued by the Secretary of State on 22 July 2000 
(MI5) and 30 July 2000 (GCHQ).

9. On 6 July 2001 the applicant lodged two com-
plaints with the Investigatory Powers Tribunal 
(“IPT”). First, the applicant complained under 
sections 65(2)(b) and 65(4) of the Regulation 
of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (“RIPA” – see 
paragraphs 25 to 80 below) that his communi-
cations were being intercepted in “challenge-
able circumstances”, within the meaning of 
section 65(7) RIPA (i.e. under an interception 
warrant or in circumstances in which there 
ought to have been an interception warrant or 
where consideration ought to have been given 
to obtaining an interception warrant). Second, 
the applicant complained under sections 6(1) 
and 7(1) of the Human Rights Act 1998 (“HRA”) 
and section 65(2)(a) RIPA that there was an un-
lawful interference with his rights under Article 
8 of the Convention.

10. The applicant’s Grounds of Claim and Com-
plaint outlined the grounds for bringing the 
proceedings as follows:
“4(a)Thattheauthorities’conductwas,andis,
incompatiblewithhisrightsunderArticle8of
theConventionandaviolationofequivalent
rightsofhisatcommonlaw.Suchconductis
unlawfulasa resultofHRAs.6(1)and forms
thebasisforacomplaintunderRIPAs.65.

(b) To theextent any such conductpurports
to have the authority of awarrant issued or
renewedunderRIPAPartIorthecorrespond-

ingpredecessorprovisionsoftheInterception
ofCommunicationsAct1985(“IOCA”),the is-
sueandrenewalofthatwarrant,aswellasthe
conductitself,hasatalltimeslackedthenec-
essaryjustification,whetherundertheexpress
provisionsofRIPAPartI(orIOCA),Article8(2)
oftheConvention,orthegenerallaw.

(c)Moreovertheauthorities’conductwasand
isunlawfulbecause inbreachof the require-
mentsoftheDataProtectionAct1998(“DPA”).
Conduct in breach of those requirements
takes place in challengeable circumstances
underRIPAs.65(4)and(7)andisalsoincom-
patible with the Complainant’s rights under
Article8oftheConvention.

5.Inaddition,theComplainantreliesinthese
proceedingsonhisrighttoafairhearingun-
derArticle6(1)of theConvention. In lightof
that right, the Complainant makes certain
submissions about the way in which these
proceedingsoughttobeconducted...”

11. The applicant requested specific directions 
regarding the conduct of the proceedings in 
order to ensure the protection of his Conven-
tion rights under Article 6 § 1. In particular, he 
requested that his arguments and evidence be 
presented at an oral hearing; that all hearings 
be conducted in public; that there be mutual 
disclosure and inspection between the parties 
of all witness statements and evidence upon 
which parties sought to rely and exchange of 
skeleton arguments in relation to planned le-
gal submissions; that evidence of each party be 
heard in the presence of the other party or their 
legal representatives, with oral evidence being 
open to cross-examination by the other party; 
that any opinion received from a Commission-
er be disclosed to the parties, who would have 
the opportunity to make oral representations 
in light of it; that each party be able to apply 
for a derogation from any of the above in rela-
tion to a particular piece of evidence; and that, 
following its final determination, the IPT state 
its findings and give reasons for its conclusions 
on each relevant issue. He argued that to the 
extent that the IPT’s rules of procedure (see 
paragraphs 84 to 87 below) prevented the di-
rections sought, they were incompatible with 
his right to a fair hearing.

12. The Grounds of Claim and Complaint referred 
to the applicant’s belief that his communica-
tions were being intercepted and that any war-
rant in place was being continually renewed.

13. Paragraph 13 of the Grounds of Claim and 
Complaint noted:



62 CASEOFKENNEDYVTHEUNITEDKINGDOM

EC
HR

EC
J

“Sofarastheproceedingsarebroughtinreli-
anceonHRAs.7(1)(a)or(b),theComplainant
submitsthat:

(a) The interception, and retention or other
processingofinterceptproduct,byanyofthe
Respondentsamountstoaninterferencewith
theComplainant’srighttorespectforprivate
lifeandcorrespondenceprotectedbyArticle
8(1)oftheConvention;

(b) The interception and processing have at
no timebeen in accordancewith the law as
requiredbyArticle8(2);

(c)Theinterceptionanditspurportedauthori-
sation(ifany),andprocessing,haveatnotime
beenjustifiedasnecessaryinademocraticso-
cietyasrequiredbyArticle8(2).”

14. Paragraph 14 of the Grounds of Claim and 
Complaint expanded on the applicant’s sub-
missions:
“Inparticular,theComplainantsubmitsthat:

(a)theproperinferencefromthecircumstanc-
es described by the Complainant, amplified
bytherefusalofthe[authorities]todenythe
activities alleged, is that it is established on
thebalanceofprobabilitiesthattheintercep-
tionandprocessing tookplace.Atminimum
thereisareasonablelikelihoodthatintercep-
tion and processing ... has taken place and
continuestotakeplace(Hewitt and Harman 
v. UK,12175/86,EComHRReport9.5.89,paras.
26-32).

(b)Theinterceptionisnotinaccordancewith
thelawsofarasinvolvingabreachofanyre-
quirementoftheDPA(includingtheDataPro-
tectionPrinciples)...

(c)Thecomplainantposesnorisktonational
securitynorinhiscasecouldanyotherground
for authorising interceptionof his communi-
cations reasonably be considered to exist. It
cannot be said that interception of his com-
munications has at any material time been
a necessary or proportionate interference ...
withhisrightsunderArticle8(1).”

15. As to remedies, the Grounds of Claim and 
Complaint noted the following:
“17.IftheTribunalfindsthattheComplainant
succeedsontheclaimorcomplaint,itisasked
tomake...:

(a)afinalorderprohibitingeachRespondent
frominterceptinganycommunicationbythe
Complainant...orretainingorotherwisepro-
cessingtheproductofanysuchinterception,
exceptonthegrounds,andsubjecttothepro-

cedure,providedforbyRIPAPartI;

(b)anorder...quashingorcancellinganywar-
rantor authorisation relating toany such in-
terception;

(c) an order requiring thedestruction of any
productofsuchinterception...

(d)anawardofcompensation...and/ordam-
ages ... forthelossanddamagesustainedby
theComplainantinconsequenceofthemat-
ters complained of (including economic loss
resulting from interferencewith his business
communications).”

16. On 23 January 2003, the IPT, presided over by 
Lord Justice Mummery, issued a joint Ruling on 
Preliminary Issues of Law in the applicant’s case 
together with a case involving a complaint by 
British-Irish Rights Watch and others in which a 
similar challenge to the IPT’s Rules was made 
(see paragraphs 84 to 87 below).

17. On 9 December 2004, the IPT, again presided 
over by Lord Justice Mummery, issued a sec-
ond ruling on preliminary issues of law in the 
applicant’s case. In the introduction to its rul-
ing, the IPT summarised the case before it as 
follows:
“1.On6July2001theComplainantmade(a)
a complaint to theTribunalunder theRegu-
lationofInvestigatoryPowersAct...and(b)a
claimundertheHumanRightsAct1998 ... in
respect of alleged ongoing interception by
oneormoreoftherespondentagencies(the
SecurityService,GCHQandtheCommissioner
ofPolicefortheMetropolis)overaperioddat-
ingbacktoJune1996...

2. The Complainant also alleges harassment,
intrusivesurveillance,interferencewithprop-
erty,removalofdocuments,interferencewith
a web site and e-mails and interception of
privileged communications by the respond-
entagencies.

3.TheComplainantseeksafinalorderprohib-
itingtheagenciesfrominterceptinganycom-
municationbyhim in thecourseof its trans-
mission by means of a telecommunications
system or retaining or otherwise processing
the product of any such interception except
onthegroundsandsubjecttotheprocedure
providedbyRIPAPartI.

4. He also seeks an order requiring the de-
structionofanyproductofsuchinterception
heldbyeachrespondent,whetherornotob-
tainedpursuant toanywarrantor authorisa-
tion;andanawardof compensationunder s
67(7)RIPAand/ordamages sustainedby the
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Complainant in consequence of thematters
complainedof.”

18. The ruling dealt with a number of matters relat-
ing to the extent of its jurisdiction in respect of 
the applicant’s complaints relating to conduct 
prior to the entry into force of RIPA.

19. Following its ruling of 9 December 2004, the 
IPT proceeded to examine the applicant’s spe-
cific complaints in private.

20. On 17 January 2005, the IPT notified the ap-
plicant that no determination had been made 
in his favour in respect of his complaints. This 
meant either that there had been no intercep-
tion or that any interception which took place 
was lawful.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

A. Applicable legislation
1.SubjectaccessrequestsundertheData

ProtectionAct(“DPA”)1998
21. Section 7(1) DPA grants individuals the right to 

request details of any information about them 
held by persons or organisations which record, 
store, or process personal data.

22. Under section 28 DPA, personal data is exempt 
from disclosure under section 7(1) if an exemp-
tion is required for the purpose of safeguarding 
national security.

2.TheHumanRightsAct1998
23. The HRA incorporates the Convention into 

United Kingdom law. Section 6(1) provides that 
it is unlawful for a public authority to act in a 
way which is incompatible with a Convention 
right, except where it is constrained to act in 
that way as a result of primary legislation which 
cannot be interpreted so as to be compatible 
with Convention rights. Under section 7(1), 
a person claiming that a public authority has 
acted unlawfully under section 6(1) may bring 
proceedings against it in the appropriate court 
or rely on the Convention right in any legal pro-
ceedings.

24. Under section 4(2), if a court is satisfied that a 
provision of primary legislation is incompatible 
with a Convention right, it may make a declara-
tion of that incompatibility. “Court”, in section 
4, is defined as meaning the Supreme Court; 
the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council; 

the Court Martial Appeal Court; in Scotland, 
the High Court of Justiciary (sitting otherwise 
than as a trial court) or the Court of Session; or 
in England and Wales or Northern Ireland, the 
High Court or the Court of Appeal. Section 4(6) 
clarifies that a declaration of incompatibility 
does not affect the validity, continuing opera-
tion or enforcement of the legislative provision 
in question and is not binding on the parties to 
the proceedings in which it is made.

3.Interceptionwarrants
25. Since 2 October 2000, the interception of com-

munications has been regulated by the Regu-
lation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (“RIPA”). 
The explanatory notes which accompany RIPA 
explain that the main purpose of RIPA is to en-
sure that investigatory powers are exercised in 
accordance with human rights.

26. Section 71 RIPA provides for the adoption of 
codes of practice by the Secretary of State in 
relation to the exercise and performance of his 
powers and duties under the Act. Draft codes 
of practice must be laid before Parliament and 
are public documents. They can only enter into 
force in accordance with an order of the Sec-
retary of State. The Secretary of State can only 
make such an order if a draft of the order has 
been laid before Parliament and approved by a 
resolution of each House.

27. Under section 72(1) RIPA, a person exercising 
or performing any power or duty relating to 
interception of communications must have 
regard to the relevant provisions of a code of 
practice. The provisions of a code of practice 
may, in appropriate circumstances, be taken 
into account by courts and tribunals under 
section 72(4) RIPA.

28. The Interception of Communications Code of 
Practice (“the Code”) entered into force on 1 
July 2002. It is now available on the Home Of-
fice website.

(a)  The issue of an interception warrant

29. Interception is permitted in several cases, ex-
haustively listed in section 1(5) RIPA. Section 
1(5)(b), the relevant provision in the present 
case, provides that interception is lawful if au-
thorised by an interception warrant. Any un-
lawful interception is a criminal offence under 
section 1(1).

30. Section 2(2) defines “interception” as follows:
“For the purposes of this Act, but subject to
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thefollowingprovisionsofthissection,aper-
soninterceptsacommunicationinthecourse
ofitstransmissionbymeansofatelecommu-
nicationsystemif,andonlyif,he–

(a) somodifiesor interfereswith the system,
oritsoperation,

(b)somonitorstransmissionsmadebymeans
ofthesystem,or

(c) somonitors transmissionsmade bywire-
less telegraphy to or from apparatus com-
prisedinthesystem,

astomakesomeorallofthecontentsofthe
communication available, while being trans-
mitted, toapersonother than thesenderor
intendedrecipientofthecommunication.”

31. Section 5(1) allows the Secretary of State to is-
sue a warrant authorising the interception of 
the communications described in the warrant. 
Under section 5(2), no warrant for interception 
of internal communications (i.e. communica-
tions within the United Kingdom) shall be is-
sued unless the Secretary of State believes:
“(a)thatthewarrant isnecessaryongrounds
fallingwithinsubsection(3);and

(b) that the conduct authorised by the war-
rant isproportionatetowhat issoughttobe
achievedbythatconduct.

32. Section 5(3) provides:
“Subject to the following provisions of this
section, a warrant is necessary on grounds
fallingwithinthissubsectionifitisnecessary–

(a)intheinterestsofnationalsecurity;

(b)forthepurposeofpreventingordetecting
seriouscrime;[or]

(c) for the purpose of safeguarding the eco-
nomicwell-beingoftheUnitedKingdom...”

33. The term “national security” is not defined in 
RIPA. However, it has been clarified by the In-
terception of Communications Commissioner 
appointed under RIPA’s predecessor (the Inter-
ception of Communications Act 1985) who, in 
his 1986 report, stated that he had adopted the 
following definition:
“[activities]whichthreatenthesafetyorwell-
being of the State, and which are intended
to undermine or overthrow Parliamentary
democracy by political, industrial or violent
means.”

34. Section 81(2)(b) RIPA defines “serious crime” 
as crime which satisfies one of the following 

criteria:
“(a)thattheoffenceoroneoftheoffencesthat
isorwouldbeconstitutedbytheconductisan
offenceforwhichapersonwhohasattained
the age of twenty-one and has no previous
convictionscould reasonablybeexpected to
be sentenced to imprisonment for a termof
threeyearsormore;

(b) that the conduct involves theuseof vio-
lence,resultsinsubstantialfinancialgainoris
conductbyalargenumberofpersonsinpur-
suitofacommonpurpose.”

35. Section 81(5) provides:
“ForthepurposesofthisActdetectingcrime
shallbetakentoinclude–

(a) establishing bywhom, forwhat purpose,
bywhatmeansandgenerallyinwhatcircum-
stancesanycrimewascommitted;and

(b)theapprehensionofthepersonbywhom
anycrimewascommitted;

andanyreferenceinthisActtopreventingor
detectingseriouscrimeshallbeconstruedac-
cordingly...”

36. Under section 5(4), the Secretary of State must, 
when assessing whether the requirements 
in section 5(2) are met, consider whether the 
information sought to be obtained under the 
warrant could reasonably be obtained by other 
means.

37. Section 5(5) provides that a warrant shall not 
be considered necessary for the purpose of 
safeguarding the economic well-being of the 
United Kingdom unless the information which 
it is thought necessary to obtain is information 
relating to the acts or intentions of persons 
outside the British Islands.

38. Section 7(2)(a) requires the Secretary of State 
personally to issue all warrants of the nature at 
issue in the present case, except in cases of ur-
gency where he must nonetheless personally 
authorise the issuing of the warrant. Section 
6(2) provides an exhaustive list of those who 
may apply for an interception warrant, includ-
ing the heads of national intelligence bodies, 
heads of police forces and the Customs and 
Excise Commissioners.

39. Paragraphs 2.4 to 2.5 of the Code provide addi-
tional guidance on the application of the pro-
portionality and necessity test in section 5(2):
“2.4 Obtaining a warrant under the Act will
only ensure that the interception authorised



65CASEOFKENNEDYVTHEUNITEDKINGDOM

EC
J

EC
HR

isajustifiableinterferencewithanindividual’s
rightsunderArticle8oftheEuropeanConven-
tionofHumanRights (the right toprivacy) if
itisnecessaryandproportionatefortheinter-
ceptiontotakeplace.TheActrecognisesthis
by first requiring that the Secretary of State
believes that the authorisation is necessary
ononeormoreof the statutorygrounds set
outinsection5(3)oftheAct.Thisrequireshim
tobelievethatitisnecessarytoundertakethe
interception which is to be authorised for a
particularpurpose fallingwithin the relevant
statutoryground.

2.5 Then, if the interception is necessary,
the Secretaryof Statemust alsobelieve that
it is proportionate to what is sought to be
achievedbycarryingitout.Thisinvolvesbal-
ancing the intrusiveness of the interference,
against the need for it in operational terms.
Interception of communications will not be
proportionate if it isexcessive in thecircum-
stancesofthecaseoriftheinformationwhich
is sought could reasonably be obtained by
othermeans. Further, all interception should
becarefullymanagedtomeettheobjectivein
questionandmustnotbearbitraryorunfair.”

(b)  The  contents of an application and an  inter-
ception warrant

40. Section 8 sets out the requirements as to the 
contents of an interception warrant as regards 
the identification of the communications to be 
intercepted:
“(1) An interception warrant must name or
describeeither–

(a)onepersonastheinterceptionsubject;or

(b)asinglesetofpremisesasthepremisesin
relation to which the interception to which
thewarrantrelatesistotakeplace.

(2)Theprovisionsofan interceptionwarrant
describing communications the interception
ofwhichisauthorisedorrequiredbythewar-
rant must comprise one or more schedules
settingouttheaddresses,numbers,apparatus
orotherfactors,orcombinationoffactors,that
aretobeusedforidentifyingthecommunica-
tionsthatmaybeoraretobeintercepted.

(3) Any factor or combination of factors set
outinaccordancewithsubsection(2)mustbe
onethatidentifiescommunicationswhichare
likelytobeortoinclude–

(a)communicationsfrom,orintendedfor,the
personnamedordescribedinthewarrant in
accordancewithsubsection(1);or

(b)communicationsoriginatingon,orintend-

edfortransmissionto,thepremisessonamed
ordescribed.”

41. Paragraph 4.2 of the Code provides:
“An application for awarrant ismade to the
Secretary of State. Interception warrants,
when issued, are addressed to the person
who submitted the application. This person
maythenserveacopyuponanypersonwho
maybeabletoprovideassistanceingivingef-
fecttothatwarrant.Eachapplication,acopy
ofwhichmust be retained by the applicant,
shouldcontainthefollowinginformation:

-Backgroundtotheoperationinquestion.

-Personorpremisestowhichtheapplication
relates(andhowthepersonorpremisesfea-
tureintheoperation).

- Description of the communications to be
intercepted, details of the communications
serviceprovider(s) and an assessment of the
feasibilityoftheinterceptionoperationwhere
thisisrelevant.

-Descriptionoftheconducttobeauthorised
asconsiderednecessary inordertocarryout
theinterception,whereappropriate.

- An explanation of why the interception is
considered to be necessary under the provi-
sionsofsection5(3).

- A consideration of why the conduct to be
authorisedbythewarrantisproportionateto
whatissoughttobeachievedbythatconduct.

-Aconsiderationofanyunusualdegreeofcol-
lateralintrusionandwhythatintrusionisjusti-
fiedinthecircumstances.Inparticular,where
thecommunicationsinquestionmightaffect
religious,medicalor journalistic confidential-
ityorlegalprivilege,thismustbespecifiedin
theapplication.

-Where an application is urgent, supporting
justificationshouldbeprovided.

- An assurance that all material intercepted
willbehandled inaccordancewith the safe-
guardsrequiredbysection15oftheAct.”

(c)  Safeguards

42. Section 15 RIPA is entitled “Restrictions on use 
of intercepted material etc.” and provides, in-
sofar as relevant to internal communications, 
as follows:
“(1) ... it shallbe thedutyof theSecretaryof
Statetoensure, inrelationtoall interception
warrants,thatsucharrangementsareinforce
asheconsidersnecessaryforsecuring–
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(a) that the requirements of subsections (2)
and (3) are satisfied in relation to the inter-
ceptedmaterialandanyrelatedcommunica-
tionsdata;

...

(2) The requirements of this subsection are
satisfiedinrelationtotheinterceptedmaterial
andanyrelatedcommunicationsdataifeach
ofthefollowing–

(a) the number of persons to whom any of
thematerialordataisdisclosedorotherwise
madeavailable,

(b)theextenttowhichanyofthematerialor
dataisdisclosedorotherwisemadeavailable,

(c)theextenttowhichanyofthematerialor
dataiscopied,and

(d)thenumberofcopiesthataremade,

islimitedtotheminimumthatisnecessaryfor
theauthorisedpurposes.

(3) The requirements of this subsection are
satisfiedinrelationtotheinterceptedmaterial
andanyrelatedcommunicationsdataifeach
copymadeofanyofthematerialordata(ifnot
destroyedearlier)isdestroyedassoonasthere
areno longeranygrounds for retaining it as
necessaryforanyoftheauthorisedpurposes.

(4)Forthepurposesofthissectionsomething
isnecessaryfortheauthorisedpurposesif,and
onlyif–

(a) it continues tobe, or is likely tobecome,
necessaryasmentionedinsection5(3);

...

(5) The arrangements for the time being in
forceunderthissection forsecuringthat the
requirementsofsubsection(2)aresatisfiedin
relationtotheinterceptedmaterialoranyre-
latedcommunicationsdatamustincludesuch
arrangementsastheSecretaryofStateconsid-
ersnecessary for securing thateverycopyof
thematerialordatathatismadeisstored,for
solongasitisretained,inasecuremanner...”

43. Section 16 sets out extra safeguards which ap-
ply in the case of interception of external com-
munications only.

44. Section 19 imposes a broad duty on all those 
involved in interception under RIPA to keep se-
cret, among other matters, “everything in the 
intercepted material” (section 19(3)(e)). Under 
section 19(4), disclosure of such material is a 

criminal offence punishable by up to five years’ 
imprisonment.

45. Paragraph 6.1 of the Code requires all material 
intercepted under the authority of a section 8(l) 
warrant to be handled in accordance with safe-
guards put in place by the Secretary of State 
under section 15 of the Act. Details of the safe-
guards are made available to the Commission-
er (see paragraph 57 below) and any breach of 
the safeguards must be reported to him.

46. Paragraphs 6.4 to 6.8 of the Code provide fur-
ther details of the relevant safeguards:
“Disseminationofinterceptedmaterial

6.4 The number of persons towhom any of
the material is disclosed, and the extent of
disclosure,must be limited to theminimum
that isnecessary for theauthorisedpurposes
setoutinsection15(4)oftheAct.Thisobliga-
tionappliesequallytodisclosuretoadditional
persons within an agency, and to disclosure
outsidetheagency.Itisenforcedbyprohibit-
ingdisclosuretopersonswhodonotholdthe
required security clearance, and also by the
need-to-knowprinciple: interceptedmaterial
must not be disclosed to any person unless
thatperson’sduties,whichmustrelatetoone
of theauthorisedpurposes, are such thathe
needstoknowaboutthematerialtocarryout
thoseduties.Inthesamewayonlysomuchof
thematerialmaybedisclosedastherecipient
needs;forexampleifasummaryofthemate-
rialwill suffice,nomore than that shouldbe
disclosed.

6.5Theobligationsapplynotjusttotheorigi-
nal interceptor,butalso toanyone towhom
the material is subsequently disclosed. In
somecasesthiswillbeachievedbyrequiring
thelattertoobtaintheoriginator’spermission
beforedisclosingthematerial further. Inoth-
ers,explicitsafeguardsareappliedtosecond-
aryrecipients.

Copying

6.6 Interceptedmaterialmayonly be copied
totheextentnecessaryfortheauthorisedpur-
posessetoutinsection15(4)oftheAct.Cop-
iesincludenotonlydirectcopiesofthewhole
ofthematerial,butalsoextractsandsumma-
rieswhichidentifythemselvesastheproduct
ofaninterception,andanyrecordreferringto
aninterceptionwhichisarecordoftheidenti-
tiesof thepersons toorbywhom the inter-
ceptedmaterialwassent.Therestrictionsare
implemented by requiring special treatment
of such copies, extracts and summaries that
aremadebyrecordingtheirmaking,distribu-
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tionanddestruction.

Storage

6.7 Intercepted material, and all copies, ex-
tracts and summaries of it,mustbehandled
and stored securely, so as to minimise the
riskoflossortheft.Itmustbeheldsoastobe
inaccessible topersonswithout the required
levelofsecurityclearance.Thisrequirementto
storeinterceptproductsecurelyappliestoall
thosewhoareresponsibleforthehandlingof
thismaterial, including communications ser-
viceproviders...

Destruction

6.8 Intercepted material, and all copies, ex-
tractsandsummarieswhichcanbeidentified
as the product of an interception, must be
securelydestroyedas soonas it isno longer
needed for any of the authorised purposes.
If such material is retained, it should be re-
viewedatappropriateintervalstoconfirmthat
thejustificationforitsretentionisstillvalidun-
dersection15(3)oftheAct.”

47. Specific guidance is given as to the vetting of 
those involved in intercept activities in para-
graph 6.9 of the Code:
“6.9 Each intercepting agency maintains a
distributionlistofpersonswhomayhaveac-
cess to intercepted material or need to see
anyreportinginrelationtoit.Allsuchpersons
mustbeappropriatelyvetted.Anypersonno
longer needing access to perform his duties
shouldberemovedfromanysuchlist.Where
it isnecessaryforanofficerofoneagencyto
disclosematerialtoanother,it istheformer’s
responsibilitytoensurethattherecipienthas
thenecessaryclearance.”

48. The Government’s policy on security vetting 
was announced to Parliament by the Prime 
Minister on 15 December 1994. In his state-
ment, the Prime Minister explained the pro-
cedure for security vetting and the kinds of 
activities which would lead to the exclusion of 
an individual from participation in work vital to 
the interests of the State.

49. The Security Service Act 1989 and the Intel-
ligence Services Act 1994 impose further 
obligations on the heads of the security and 
intelligence services to ensure the security of 
information in their possession.

(d)  Duration of an interception warrant

50. Section 9(1)(a) provides that an interception 
warrant for internal communications ceases to 
have effect at the end of the “relevant period” 

The “relevant period” is defined in section 9(6) 
as:
“(a) in relation to an unrenewed warrant is-
sued in a case [issued] under the hand of a
senior official, ... the period endingwith the
fifthworkingdayfollowingthedayofthewar-
rant’sissue;

(b) in relation to a renewedwarrant the lat-
est renewal of which was by an instrument
endorsed under the hand of the Secretary
ofStatewithastatementthat therenewal is
believed to be necessary on grounds falling
within section 5(3)(a) [national security] or
(c)[economicwell-being], ... theperiodofsix
months beginning with the day of the war-
rant’srenewal;and

(c) in all other cases, ... the period of three
months beginning with the day of the war-
rant’sissueor,inthecaseofawarrantthathas
beenrenewed,ofitslatestrenewal.”

51. Section 9(1)(b) provides that an interception 
warrant may be renewed by the Secretary of 
State at any time before its expiry where he be-
lieves that the warrant continues to be neces-
sary on grounds falling within section 5(3).

52. The Secretary of State is required under Section 
9(3) to cancel an interception warrant if he is 
satisfied that the warrant is no longer neces-
sary on grounds falling within section 5(3).

53. Section 10(2) imposes an obligation on the 
Secretary of State to delete any factor set out 
in a schedule to an interception warrant which 
he considers is no longer relevant for identify-
ing communications which, in the case of that 
warrant, are likely to be or to include communi-
cations from, or intended for, the interception 
subject.

54. Paragraph 4.13 of the Code provides:
“TheSecretaryofStatemayrenewawarrantat
anypointbefore itsexpirydate.Applications
for renewalsmust bemade to the Secretary
ofStateandshouldcontainanupdateofthe
matters outlined in paragraph 4.2 above. In
particular,theapplicantshouldgiveanassess-
mentofthevalueofinterceptiontotheopera-
tiontodateandexplainwhyheconsidersthat
interceptioncontinuestobenecessaryforone
ormoreofthepurposesinsection5(3).”

55. Paragraph 4.16 of the Code provides:
“The Secretary of State is under a duty to
cancelaninterceptionwarrant if,atanytime
before itsexpirydate,he is satisfied that the
warrant is no longer necessary on grounds
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fallingwithinsection5(3)oftheAct.Intercept-
ingagencieswillthereforeneedtokeeptheir
warrantsundercontinuousreview.Inpractice,
cancellation instrumentswill be signed by a
seniorofficialonhisbehalf.”

(e)  Duty to keep records

56. Paragraph 4.18 of the Code imposes record-
keeping obligations on intercepting agencies 
and provides:
“TheoversightregimeallowstheInterception
ofCommunicationsCommissioner to inspect
thewarrantapplicationuponwhich theSec-
retaryofStatebasedhisdecision,andtheap-
plicantmayberequiredtojustifythecontent.
Each intercepting agency should keep the
followingtobemadeavailableforscrutinyby
theCommissionerashemayrequire:

-allapplicationsmadeforwarrantscomplying
withsection8(l)andapplicationsmadeforthe
renewalofsuchwarrants;

- all warrants, and renewals and copies of
schedulemodifications(ifany);

-whereanyapplicationisrefused,thegrounds
forrefusalasgivenbytheSecretaryofState;

- the dates on which interception is started
andstopped.”

4.TheCommissioner
(a)  Appointment and functions

57. Section 57 RIPA provides that the Prime Min-
ister shall appoint an Interception of Commu-
nications Commissioner (“the Commissioner”). 
He must be a person who holds or has held 
high judicial office. The Commissioner is ap-
pointed for a three-year, renewable term. To 
date, there have been two Commissioners ap-
pointed under RIPA. Both are former judges of 
the Court of Appeal.

58. The Commissioner’s functions include to keep 
under review the exercise and performance by 
the Secretary of State of powers and duties in 
relation to interception conferred or imposed 
on him by RIPA; the exercise and performance 
of powers and duties in relation to interception 
by the persons on whom such powers or duties 
are conferred or imposed; and the adequacy of 
the arrangements by virtue of which the duty 
which is imposed on the Secretary of State 
by section 15 (safeguards – see paragraph 42 
above) is sought to be discharged.

59. Section 58 RIPA places a duty on those involved 
in the authorisation or execution of intercep-

tion warrants to disclose to the Commissioner 
all documents and information which he re-
quires in order to carry out his functions. As 
noted above (see paragraph 56), the Code re-
quires intercepting agencies to keep accurate 
and comprehensive records for this purpose.

60. In his 2005-2006 report, the Commissioner de-
scribed his inspections as follows:
“12. In accordance with [my] duties I have
continuedmypracticeofmakingtwiceyearly
visits to ... the interceptingagencies and the
departments of the Secretaries of State/Min-
isterswhich issue thewarrants.Prior toeach
visit, I obtain a complete list of warrants is-
sued or renewed or cancelled sincemy pre-
vious visit. I then select, largely at random,
a sample of warrants for inspection. In the
course ofmy visit I satisfymyself that those
warrantsfullymeettherequirementsofRIPA,
that proper procedures have been followed
andthattherelevantsafeguardsandCodesof
Practicehavebeenfollowed.Duringeachvisit
I revieweachof the filesand the supporting
documentsand,whennecessary,discuss the
caseswith theofficersconcerned. I canview
theproductofinterception.Itisoffirstimpor-
tancetoensurethatthefactsjustifiedtheuse
of interception in each case and that those
concernedwithinterceptionfullyunderstand
thesafeguardsandtheCodesofPractice.

13.Icontinuetobeimpressedbythequality,
dedication and enthusiasm of the personnel
carryingoutthisworkonbehalfoftheGovern-
mentandthepeopleoftheUnitedKingdom.
Theyhaveadetailedunderstandingoftheleg-
islationandarealwaysanxioustoensurethat
theycomplybothwiththelegislationandthe
appropriatesafeguards...”

61. The Commissioner is required to report to the 
Prime Minister if he finds that there has been 
a violation of the provisions of RIPA or if he 
considers that the safeguards under section 15 
have proved inadequate (sections 58(2) and (3) 
RIPA). The Commissioner must also make an 
annual report to the Prime Minister regarding 
the exercise of his functions (section 58(4)). Un-
der section 58(6), the Prime Minister must lay 
the annual report of the Commissioner before 
Parliament. Finally, the Commissioner is re-
quired to assist the IPT with any request for in-
formation or advice it may make (section 57(3) 
and paragraph 78 below)).

(b)  Relevant extracts of reports

62. In his 2000 report, the Commissioner noted, 
as regards the discharge of their duties by the 
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Secretaries of State:

“12. ... I have been impressed with the care
that they take with their warrantry work,
whichisverytimeconsuming,toensurethat
warrantsare issuedonly inappropriatecases
and,inparticular,inensuringthattheconduct
authorisedisproportionatetowhatissought
tobeachievedbytheintercepts.”

63. At paragraph 15, on the question of safe-
guards, he said:

“...myadviceandapprovalweresoughtand
given inrespectofthesafeguarddocuments
eitherbeforeorshortlyafter2October2000.
TheHomeSecretaryalsosoughtmyadvicein
relationto themandtheywereapprovedby
him...”

64. As to the need for secret surveillance powers, 
the Commissioner commented:

“45. The interception of communications is,
as my predecessors have expressed in their
Report,aninvaluableweaponforthepurpose
setoutinsection5(3)ofRIPAand,inparticular,
inthebattleagainstseriouscrime...”

65. In his report for 2001, the Commissioner noted:

“10. Manymembers of the public are suspi-
cious about the interception of communica-
tions,andsomebelievethattheirownconver-
sations are subject to unlawful interception
by the security, intelligence or law enforce-
ment agencies ... Inmy oversightwork I am
conscious of these concerns. However, I am
assatisfiedas Icanbethattheconcernsare,
in fact, unfounded. Interception of an indi-
vidual’s communications can takeplaceonly
afteraSecretaryofStatehasgrantedawarrant
andthewarrantcanbegrantedonstrictlylim-
itedgroundssetout inSection5ofRIPA,es-
sentiallytheinterestsofnationalsecurityand
thepreventionordetectionof seriouscrime.
Of course, it would theoretically be possible
tocircumventthisprocedure,buttherearein
placeextensivesafeguardstoensurethatthis
cannothappen,anditisanimportantpartof
myworktoensurethattheseareinplace,and
that they areobserved. Furthermore, any at-
tempttogetroundtheprocedureswhichpro-
vide for legal interception would, by reason
ofthesafeguards, involveamajorconspiracy
withintheagencyconcernedwhich Ibelieve
would,forpracticalpurposes,beimpossible.I
amassatisfiedas it ispossibletobethatde-
liberateunlawfulinterceptionofcommunica-
tionsofthecitizendoesnottakeplace...”

66. He said of the section 15 safeguards:

“31. In addressing the safeguards contained
withinsection15ofRIPA,GCHQdevelopeda
new set of internal compliance documenta-
tionforstaff,togetherwithanextensivetrain-
ing programme that covered staff responsi-
bilitiesunderbothRIPAandtheHumanRights
Act. This compliance documentation was
submitted to theForeignSecretarywhowas
satisfiedthatitdescribedandgovernedthear-
rangementsrequiredundersection15.Ihave
alsobeen told italsoconstituted thewritten
recordofthearrangementsrequiredtobeput
inplacebytheDirector,GCHQ,undersection
4(2)(a)oftheIntelligenceServicesAct1994(to
ensurethatnoinformationisobtainedordis-
closedbyGCHQexceptsofaras isnecessary
for itsstatutory functions). Indischargingmy
functions under section 57(1)(d), I examined
thedocumentationand theprocesseswhich
underpinitandsatisfiedmyselfthatadequate
arrangements existed for the discharge of
the Foreign Secretary’s duties under section
15 of RIPA.Of course, GCHQ recognises that
its compliance processes must evolve over
time,particularlyastheybecomemorefamil-
iarwith the intricaciesof thenew legislation
anddevelopnewworkingpractices,andthat
theprocessofstaffeducationremainsacon-
tinuingone.Tothisend,GCHQhasdeveloped
further training programmes and is issuing
revisedcompliancedocumentationaspartof
theongoingprocess(seealso...paragraph56
underSafeguards).

32. In advance of the coming into force of
RIPA,GCHQapproachedmeastothewarrants
itwould seek after thatdate andprovideda
detailed analysis as to how those warrants
would be structured – this was helpful as it
gaveme an insight intohowGCHQ saw the
workingsofRIPA/HumanRightsActandper-
mittedmetocommentinadvance.Sincethe
commencement of RIPA, in reviewing war-
rants Ihave lookedcarefullyat the factors to
beconsideredbytheSecretaryofStatewhen
determiningwhethertoissueaninterception
warrant,andespecially thenewrequirement
to consider ‘proportionality’ under section
[5(2)(b)]ofRIPA.”

67. Again, he commented on the diligence of the 
authorities in carrying out their duties under 
the Act:
“56.Sections15and16ofRIPAlayadutyon
theSecretaryofStatetoensurethatarrange-
mentsareinforceassafeguardsinrelationto
dissemination, disclosure, copying, storage,
anddestruction etc., of interceptedmaterial.
These sections require careful and detailed
safeguardstobedraftedbyeachoftheagen-
cies referred to earlier in this Report and for
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thosesafeguardstobeapprovedbytheSec-
retary of State. This had been done. I have
beenimpressedbythecarewithwhichthese
documents have been drawn up, reviewed
andupdatedinthelightoftechnicalandad-
ministrativedevelopments.Thoseinvolvedin
theinterceptionprocessareawareoftheinva-
sivenatureofthistechnique,andcareistaken
toensurethatintrusionsofprivacyarekeptto
the minimum. There is another incentive to
agencies toensurethat thesedocuments re-
maineffectiveinthatthevalueofinterception
wouldbegreatlydiminishedasacovertintel-
ligencetoolshoulditsexistenceandmethod-
ologybecometoowidelyknown.Thesections
15and16requirementsarevery important. I
am satisfied that the agencies are operating
effectivelywithintheirsafeguards.”

68. The Commissioner’s 2002 report noted:
“18....AsImentionedinmylastReportIhave
been impressedby the carewithwhich [the
safeguard] documents have been drawn up.
My advice and approval was sought for the
documents and I am approached to agree
amendmentstothesafeguardswhentheyare
updated in lightof technicalandadministra-
tivedevelopments.”

69. This was repeated in paragraph 16 of his 2004 
report.

70. In his 2005-2006 report, the Commissioner ex-
plained his role as follows:
“7....essentiallyIseetheroleofCommissioner
asencompassingtheseprimaryheadings:

(a)Toprotectpeople in theUnitedKingdom
from any unlawful intrusion of their privacy.
This is provided for byArticle 8 of the Euro-
peanConventiononHumanRights.Imustbe
diligenttoensurethatthisdoesnothappen,
andalert toensure that thereare systems in
place so that this does not and cannot hap-
pen.OverthelongperiodthatIhaveheldmy
presentpost,Ihavefoundnoevidencewhat-
soeverofanydesirewithintheIntelligenceor
theLawEnforcementAgenciesinthisfieldto
actwrongfullyorunlawfully.Onthecontrary,
Ihavefoundapalpabledesireonthepartof
all theseAgenciestoensurethattheydoact
completelywithinthefourwallsofthelaw.To
this end, theywelcome the oversight of the
Commissioner and over the years have fre-
quentlysoughtmyadviceonissuesthathave
arisen,andtheyhaveinvariablyacceptedit.In
anyevent,Ibelievethatthelegislationtogeth-
erwiththesafeguardsandCodesofPractice
that are in placemake it technically virtually
impossibletodeliberatelyinterceptacitizen’s
communications unlawfully with intent to

avoidlegalrequirements.

(b)ToassisttheAgenciestodotheworken-
trusted to them and, bearing in mind the
number of organisations that I am now re-
quiredtooversee,thisoccursquitefrequently.
Mywork is, of course, limited to the legal as
opposed to the operational aspects of their
work.Theytakegreatcarewiththeirworkand
Ihavebeenimpressedbyitsquality.

(c) To ensure that proper safeguards and
Codesof Practice are inplace toprotect the
public and the Agencies themselves. These
have to be approved by the Secretaries of
State.ButeverySecretaryofStatewithwhom
Ihaveworkedhasrequiredtobeinformedas
to whether the Commissioner has approved
thembeforeheorsheiswillingtodoso.

(d)ToadviseMinisters, andGovernmentDe-
partments,inrelationtoissuesarisingonthe
interceptionof communications, theacquisi-
tion anddisclosure of communications data,
toapprovethesafeguardsdocumentsandthe
CodesofPractice.”

71. The Commissioner said of the Secretaries of 
State whom he had met in the previous year:
“14. It isclear tome thateachof themgives
a substantial amountof time and takes con-
siderablecaretosatisfyhimselforherselfthat
warrants are necessary for the authorised
purposes, and that what is proposed is pro-
portionate. IftheSecretaryofStatewishesto
havefurther information inordertobesatis-
fied thatheor she shouldgrant thewarrant
then it is requested andgiven.Outright and
finalrefusalofanapplicationiscomparatively
rare,becausetherequestingagenciesandthe
seniorofficials in theSecretaryof State’sDe-
partmentscrutinisetheapplicationswithcare
beforetheyaresubmittedforapproval.How-
ever,theSecretaryofStatemayrefusetogrant
thewarrantifheorsheconsiders,forexample,
that the strict requirements of necessity or
proportionalityarenotmet,andtheagencies
arewellawarethattheSecretaryofStatedoes
notactasa‘rubberstamp’.”

72. In his 2007 report, The Commissioner com-
mented on the importance of interception 
powers in tackling terrorism and serious crime:
“2.9Icontinuetobeimpressedastohowin-
terception has contributed to a number of
strikingsuccessesduring2007.Ithasplayeda
keyroleinnumerousoperationsincluding,for
example,thepreventionofmurders,tackling
large-scale drug importations, evasion of Ex-
ciseduty,peoplesmuggling,gathering intel-
ligencebothwithintheUnitedKingdomand
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overseas on terrorist and various extremist
organisations,confiscationoffirearms,serious
violent crime and terrorism. I have provided
fullydetailedexamplesintheConfidentialAn-
nextothisReport. Ithinkit isveryimportant
thatthepublicisre-assuredastothebenefits
of thishighly intrusive investigative toolpar-
ticularlyinlightoftheon-goingdebateabout
whether or not intercept product should be
usedasevidenceinacourtoflaw.

...

7.1 As I said inmy first Report last year, the
interceptionof communications is an invalu-
ableweaponforthepurposessetout insec-
tion5(3)ofRIPA.Ithascontinuedtoplayavital
partinthebattleagainstterrorismandserious
crime, and one that would not have been
achievedbyothermeans...”

73. As regards errors by the relevant agencies in 
the application of RIPA’s provisions, he noted:
“2.10 Twenty-four interception errors and
breaches have been reported to me during
thecourseof2007.This is the samenumber
of errors reported in my first Annual Report
(whichwas forashorterperiod)and isasig-
nificantdecrease in thenumber reportedby
mypredecessor. Iconsiderthenumberofer-
rorstobetoohigh.Bywayofexample,details
ofsomeoftheseerrorsarerecordedbelow.It
isveryimportantfromthepointofviewofthe
publicthat Istressthatnoneofthebreaches
orerrorsweredeliberate,thatallwerecaused
byhumanerrororproceduralerrororbytech-
nical problems and that in every case either
no interception took place or, if there was
interception, the product was destroyed im-
mediatelyondiscoveryoftheerror.Themost
commoncauseoferrortendstobethesimple
transpositionofnumbersbymistakee.g.,1965
insteadof1956.Theexamplesthat Igiveare
typical of the totality and are anonymous so
farasthetargetsareconcerned.Fulldetailsof
all theerrorsandbreachesaresetout in the
ConfidentialAnnex.”

74. According to the statistics in the report, on 31 
December 2007, 929 interception warrants is-
sued by the Home Secretary were in force.

5.TheInvestigatoryPowersTribunal
(a)  The establishment of the IPT,  its powers and 

its procedures

75. The IPT was established under section 65(1) 
RIPA to hear allegations by citizens of wrong-
ful interference with their communications as 
a result of conduct covered by RIPA. Members 
of the tribunal must hold or have held high ju-

dicial office or be a qualified lawyer of at least 
ten years’ standing. Any person may bring a 
claim before the IPT and, save for vexatious or 
frivolous applications, the IPT must determine 
all claims brought before it (sections 67(1), (4) 
and (5) RIPA).

76. Section 65(2) provides that the IPT is the only 
appropriate forum in relation to proceedings 
for acts incompatible with Convention rights 
which are proceedings against any of the 
intelligence services; and complaints by per-
sons who allege to have been subject to the 
investigatory powers of RIPA. It has jurisdiction 
to investigate any complaint that a person’s 
communications have been intercepted and, 
where interception has occurred, to examine 
the authority for such interception. Sections 
67(2) and 67(3)(c) provide that the IPT is to ap-
ply the principles applicable by a court on an 
application for judicial review.

77. Under section 67(8) RIPA, there is no appeal 
from a decision of the IPT “except to such ex-
tent as the Secretary of State may by order oth-
erwise provide”. No order has been passed by 
the Secretary of State.

78. Under section 68(2), the IPT has the power to 
require a relevant Commissioner to provide it 
with all such assistance (including the Com-
missioner’s opinion as to any issue falling to be 
determined by the IPT) as it thinks fit. Section 
68(6) and (7) requires those involved in the 
authorisation and execution of an intercep-
tion warrant to disclose or provide to the IPT 
all documents and information it may require.

79. Section 68(4) deals with reasons for the IPT’s 
decisions and provides that:
“Where theTribunaldetermineanyproceed-
ings, complaint or reference brought before
ormadetothem,theyshallgivenoticetothe
complainantwhich(subjecttoanyrulesmade
byvirtueofsection69(2)(i))shallbeconfined,
asthecasemaybe,toeither—

(a)astatementthattheyhavemadeadeter-
minationinhisfavour;or

(b) a statement that no determination has
beenmadeinhisfavour.”

80. The IPT has the power to award compensation 
and to make such other orders as it thinks fit, 
including orders quashing or cancelling any 
section 8(1) warrant and orders requiring the 
destruction of any records obtained under a 
section 8(1) warrant (section 67(7) RIPA). In the 
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event that a claim before the IPT is successful, 
the IPT is generally required to make a report to 
the Prime Minister (section 68(5)).

(b)  The power to adopt rules of procedure

81. As to procedure, section 68(1) provides as fol-
lows:
“Subjecttoanyrulesmadeundersection69,
the Tribunal shall be entitled to determine
their own procedure in relation to any pro-
ceedings,complaintorreferencebroughtbe-
foreormadetothem.”

82. Section 69(1) RIPA provides that the Secretary 
of State may make rules regulating any matters 
preliminary or incidental to, or arising out of, 
the hearing or consideration of any proceed-
ings before it. Under section 69(2), such rules 
may:
“(c)prescribe the formandmanner inwhich
proceedings are to be brought before the
Tribunalor a complaintor reference is tobe
madetotheTribunal;

...

(f )prescribetheformsofhearingorconsidera-
tiontobeadoptedbytheTribunalinrelation
toparticularproceedings,complaintsorrefer-
ences...;

(g) prescribe the practice and procedure to
be followed on, or in connection with, the
hearingorconsiderationofanyproceedings,
complaintor reference (including,whereap-
plicable, themode andburdenof proof and
theadmissibilityofevidence);

(h)prescribeordersthatmaybemadebythe
Tribunalundersection67(6)or(7);

(i) require information about any determina-
tion,award,orderorotherdecisionmadeby
the Tribunal in relation to any proceedings,
complaintorreferencetobeprovided(inad-
dition to any statement under section 68(4))
to thepersonwhobrought theproceedings
ormadethecomplaintorreference,ortothe
personrepresentinghisinterests.”

83. Section 69(6) provides that in making the rules 
the Secretary of State shall have regard to:
“(a) the need to secure that matters which
arethesubjectofproceedings,complaintsor
referencesbroughtbeforeormadetotheTri-
bunalareproperlyheardandconsidered;and

(b)theneedtosecurethatinformationisnot
disclosedtoanextent,orinamanner,thatis
contrarytothepublicinterestorprejudicialto

nationalsecurity,thepreventionordetection
of serious crime, theeconomicwell-beingof
the United Kingdom or the continued dis-
charge of the functions of any of the intelli-
genceservices.”

(c)  The Rules

84. The Secretary of State has adopted rules to gov-
ern the procedure before the IPT in the form of 
the Investigatory Powers Tribunal Rules 2000 
(“the Rules”). The Rules cover various aspects of 
the procedure before the IPT. As regards disclo-
sure of information, Rule 6 provides:
“(1)TheTribunalshallcarryouttheirfunctions
insuchawayastosecurethatinformationis
notdisclosedtoanextent,orinamanner,that
iscontrarytothepublicinterestorprejudicial
tonationalsecurity, thepreventionordetec-
tionofseriouscrime,theeconomicwell-being
of theUnitedKingdomor thecontinueddis-
charge of the functions of any of the intelli-
genceservices.

(2)Withoutprejudicetothisgeneralduty,but
subjecttoparagraphs(3)and(4),theTribunal
maynotdisclosetothecomplainantortoany
otherperson:

(a)thefactthattheTribunalhaveheld,orpro-
posetohold,anoralhearingunderrule9(4);

(b)anyinformationordocumentdisclosedor
providedtotheTribunalinthecourseofthat
hearing,ortheidentityofanywitnessatthat
hearing;

(c) any information or document otherwise
disclosedorprovided to theTribunalby any
personpursuanttosection68(6)oftheAct(or
providedvoluntarilybyaperson specified in
section68(7));

(d)anyinformationoropinionprovidedtothe
TribunalbyaCommissionerpursuant tosec-
tion68(2)oftheAct;

(e) the fact that any information, document,
identityoropinionhasbeendisclosedorpro-
videdinthecircumstancesmentionedinsub-
paragraphs(b)to(d).

(3) The Tribunal may disclose anything de-
scribedinparagraph(2)withtheconsentof:

(a)inthecaseofsub-paragraph(a),theperson
requiredtoattendthehearing;

(b) in thecaseof sub-paragraphs (b)and (c),
thewitnessinquestionorthepersonwhodis-
closed or provided the information or docu-
ment;

(c)inthecaseofsub-paragraph(d),theCom-
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missioner inquestionand, to theextent that
the informationoropinion includes informa-
tionprovidedtotheCommissionerbyanother
person,thatotherperson;

(d) in thecaseof sub-paragraph (e), theper-
sonwhoseconsentisrequiredunderthisrule
fordisclosureoftheinformation,documentor
opinioninquestion.

(4) The Tribunal may also disclose anything
described in paragraph (2) as part of the in-
formationprovidedtothecomplainantunder
rule13(2),subjecttotherestrictionscontained
inrule13(4)and(5).

(5)TheTribunalmaynotorderanypersonto
discloseany informationordocumentwhich
theTribunalthemselveswouldbeprohibited
fromdisclosingbyvirtueofthisrule,hadthe
information or document been disclosed or
providedtothembythatperson.

(6)TheTribunalmaynot,withouttheconsent
of the complainant, disclose to any person
holding office under the Crown (except a
Commissioner) or to any other person any-
thingtowhichparagraph(7)applies.

(7)Thisparagraphappliestoanyinformation
or document disclosed or provided to the
Tribunalbyoronbehalfof the complainant,
except for ... statements [as to thecomplain-
ant’sname,addressanddateofbirthandthe
public authority against which the proceed-
ingsarebrought].”

85. Rule 9 deals with the forms of hearings and 
consideration of the complaint:
“(1) The Tribunal’s power to determine their
own procedure in relation to section 7 pro-
ceedings and complaints shall be subject to
thisrule.

(2)TheTribunalshallbeundernodutytohold
oralhearings,but theymaydo so inaccord-
ancewiththisrule(andnototherwise).

(3)TheTribunalmayhold,atanystageoftheir
consideration,oralhearingsatwhichthecom-
plainantmaymakerepresentations,giveevi-
denceandcallwitnesses.

(4)TheTribunalmayholdseparateoralhear-
ingswhich:

(a)thepersonwhoseconductisthesubjectof
thecomplaint,

(b)thepublicauthorityagainstwhichthesec-
tion7proceedingsarebrought,or

(c)anyotherpersonspecifiedinsection68(7)
oftheAct,

mayberequiredtoattendandatwhichthat
person or authority may make representa-
tions,giveevidenceandcallwitnesses.

(5) Within a period notified by the Tribunal
forthepurposeofthisrule,thecomplainant,
person or authority in questionmust inform
theTribunalofanywitnessesheoritintends
tocall;andnootherwitnessesmaybecalled
withouttheleaveoftheTribunal.

(6)TheTribunal’sproceedings, includingany
oralhearings,shallbeconductedinprivate.”

86. The taking of evidence is addressed in Rule 11:
“(1)TheTribunalmayreceiveevidenceinany
form, and may receive evidence that would
notbeadmissibleinacourtoflaw.

(2)TheTribunalmayrequireawitnesstogive
evidenceonoath.

(3)Nopersonshallbecompelledtogiveevi-
denceatanoralhearingunderrule9(3).”

87. Finally, Rule 13 provides guidance on notifica-
tion to the complainant of the IPT’s findings:
“(1) In addition to any statement under sec-
tion68(4)oftheAct,theTribunalshallprovide
informationtothecomplainantinaccordance
withthisrule.

(2)Wheretheymakeadeterminationinfavour
ofthecomplainant,theTribunalshallprovide
himwithasummaryofthatdeterminationin-
cludinganyfindingsoffact.

...

(4)Thedutytoprovideinformationunderthis
ruleisinallcasessubjecttothegeneralduty
imposedontheTribunalbyrule6(1).

(5)Noinformationmaybeprovidedunderthis
rulewhosedisclosurewouldberestrictedun-
derrule6(2)unlessthepersonwhoseconsent
would be needed for disclosure under that
rulehasbeengiventheopportunitytomake
representationstotheTribunal.”

(d)  The practice of the IPT

88. In its joint ruling on preliminary issues of law 
(see paragraph 16 above), the IPT clarified a 
number of aspects of its procedure. The IPT sat, 
for the first time, in public. As regards the IPT 
procedures and the importance of the cases 
before it, the IPT noted:
“10.Thechallengetorule9(6) [requiringoral
hearings to be held in private] and to most
oftheotherrulesgoverningthebasicproce-
duresoftheTribunalhavemadethisthemost
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significant case ever to comebefore the Tri-
bunal. The Tribunal are left innodoubt that
theirrulingsonthelegalissuesformulatedby
the parties have potentially important con-
sequences for dealingwith anddetermining
theseandfutureproceedingsandcomplaints.
Counsel and those instructing them were
encouraged to argue all the issues in detail,
inwritingaswellasattheoralhearingsheld
overaperiodofthreedaysinJulyandAugust
2002.AttheendofSeptember2002thewrit-
ten submissions were completed when the
partiesprovided,at the requestof theTribu-
nal,finalcommentsonhowtheRulesought,if
permissibleandappropriate,toberevisedand
appliedbytheTribunal,intheeventofaruling
thatoneormoreoftheRulesareincompatible
withConventionrightsand/orultra vires.”

89. The IPT concluded (at paragraph 12) that:
“... (a) the hearing of the preliminary issues
should have been conducted in public, and
not in private as stated in rule 9(6); (b) the
reasons for the legal rulingsshouldbemade
public; and (c) inallother respects theRules
arevalidandbindingontheTribunalandare
compatible with Articles 6, 8 and 10 of the
Convention.”

90. Specifically on the applicability of Article 6 § 
1 to the proceedings before it, the IPT found:
“85.TheconclusionoftheTribunalisthatArti-
cle6appliestoaperson’sclaimsundersection
65(2)(a) and to his complaints under section
65(2)(b)ofRIPA,aseachoftheminvolves‘the
determinationofhiscivilrights’bytheTribu-
nalwithinthemeaningofArticle6(1).”

91. After a review of the Court’s case-law on the 
existence of a “civil right”, the IPT explained the 
reasons for its conclusions:
“95.TheTribunalagreewiththeRespondents
that there isasense inwhichtheclaimsand
complaintsbroughtbyvirtueofs65(2)ofRIPA
fallwithintheareaofpubliclaw.Theyariseout
oftheallegedexerciseofverywidediscretion-
ary, investigatory, statepowersbypublicau-
thorities,suchastheintelligenceandsecurity
agenciesand thepolice.Theyareconcerned
withmattersofnationalsecurity,ofpublicor-
der,safetyandwelfare.ThefunctionoftheTri-
bunalistoinvestigateandreviewthelawful-
nessoftheexerciseofsuchpowers.Thisisno
doubtintendedtoensurethattheauthorities
complywith their relevantpublic lawduties,
such as by obtaining appropriate warrants
and authorisations to carry out interception
andsurveillance.

96.Thepubliclawelementisreinforcedbythe

directionstotheTribunalinsections67(2)and
67(3)(c)ofRIPAtoapplytothedeterminations
thesameprinciplesaswouldbeappliedbya
courtinjudicialreviewproceedings.Suchpro-
ceedings are concernedwith the procedural
and substantive legality of decisions and ac-
tionsofpublicauthorities.

97.Thefactthatactivities,suchasinterception
ofcommunicationsandsurveillance,mayalso
impactontheConventionrightsof individu-
als,suchastherighttorespectforprivatelife
andcommunicationsinArticle8,doesnotof
itselfnecessarilymeanthattheTribunalmake
determinationsofcivilrights...

98.Further,thepoweroftheTribunaltomake
anawardofcompensationdoesnotnecessar-
ily demonstrate that the Tribunal determine
civilrights...

99.Applying theapproach in theStrasbourg
cases that account should be taken of the
content of the rights in question and of the
effectoftherelevantdecisiononthem...,the
Tribunalconcludethatthepubliclaworpublic
orderaspectsoftheclaimsandcomplaintsto
theTribunaldonotpredominateandarenot
decisiveofthe juristiccharacterofthedeter-
minations of the Tribunal. Those determina-
tionshaveasufficientlydecisiveimpactonthe
privatelawrightsofindividualsandorganisa-
tionstoattracttheapplicationofArticle6.

100.ThejurisdictionoftheTribunalisinvoked
by the initiationofclaimsandcomplaintsby
persons wishing to protect, and to obtain
redress for alleged infringements of, their
underlying rights of confidentiality and of
privacyforperson,propertyandcommunica-
tions.Thereisabroadmeasureofprotection
for such rights in English private law in the
tortsoftrespasstopersonandproperty,inthe
tortofnuisance,inthetortofmisfeasanceina
publicoffice,inthestatutoryprotectionfrom
harassment and in the developing equitable
doctrineofbreachofconfidence...

101. Since 2 October 2000 there has been
addedstatutoryprotectionforinvasionofAr-
ticle8rightsbypublicauthorities.Thisfollows
fromthedutiesimposedonpublicauthorities
bysection6andthe rightsconferredonvic-
timsby section7of the [HumanRightsAct].
Theconceptof‘civilrightsandobligations’isa
fairandreasonabledescriptionofthosecom-
monlawandstatutoryrightsandobligations,
whichformthelegalfoundationofaperson’s
righttobringclaimsandmakecomplaintsby
virtueofsection65.

102. The fact that the alleged infringements
ofthoserightsisbypublicauthoritiesinpur-
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porteddiscretionaryexerciseofadministrative
investigatory powers does not detract from
the‘civil’natureoftherightsandobligations
inissue...

...

107.Forallpracticalpurposes theTribunal is
alsotheonlyforumfortheeffectiveinvestiga-
tionanddeterminationofcomplaintsandfor
granting redress for themwhereappropriate
...

108.Inbrief,viewingtheconceptofdetermi-
nationof ‘civilrights’ intheroundandinthe
lightoftheStrasbourgdecisions,theTribunal
conclude that RIPA, which puts all intercep-
tion, surveillance and similar intelligence
gathering powers on a statutory footing,
confers,aspartofthatspecialframework,ad-
ditional‘civilrights’onpersonsaffectedbythe
unlawfulexerciseof thosepowers. Itdoesso
by establishing a single specialised Tribunal
for the judicial determination and redress of
grievances arising from the unlawful use of
investigatorypowers.”

92. As to the proper construction of Rule 9 regard-
ing oral hearings, the IPT found:
“157.Thelanguageofrule9(2)isclear:

‘TheTribunal shallbeundernoduty tohold
oral hearings but may do so in accordance
withthisrule(andnototherwise).’

158.Oralhearingsareinthediscretionofthe
Tribunal.Theydonothavetoholdthem,but
theymay,iftheysowish,dosoinaccordance
withRule9.

159.IntheexerciseoftheirdiscretiontheTri-
bunal ‘mayholdseparateoralhearings.’That
exercise of discretion,whichwould be a de-
parturefromnormaladversarialprocedures,is
expresslyauthorisedbyrule9(4).

160. The Tribunal should explain that, con-
trarytotheviewsapparentlyheldbytheCom-
plainants’ advisers, thediscretion in rule9(4)
neitherexpresslynor impliedlyprecludesthe
Tribunal fromexercising theirgeneraldiscre-
tion under rule 9(2) to hold inter partes oral
hearings. It is accepted by the Respondents
that the Tribunalmay, in their discretion, di-
rect joint or collective oral hearings to take
place.Thatdiscretionwasinfactexercisedin
relation to this very hearing. The exercise of
discretionmusttakeintoaccounttherelevant
provisionsofotherrules, inparticulartheTri-
bunal’sgeneraldutyunderrule6(1)toprevent
thepotentiallyharmfuldisclosureofsensitive
information in thecarryingoutof their func-
tions. As already explained, this hearing has

neitherrequirednorinvolvedthedisclosureof
anysuch informationordocumentsemanat-
ingfromtheComplainants, theRespondents
or anyone else. The hearing has only been
concerned with undiluted legal argument
abouttheprocedureoftheTribunal.

161.TheTribunalhavereachedtheconclusion
that the absence from the Rules of an abso-
lute right to either an inter partes oral hear-
ing,or,failingthat,toaseparateoralhearing
ineverycaseiswithintherule-makingpower
insection69(1).Itisalsocompatiblewiththe
Convention rights under Article 6, 8 and 10.
Oralhearingsinvolvingevidenceoraconsid-
erationofthesubstantivemeritsofaclaimor
complaint run the riskofbreaching the [nei-
therconfirmnordeny]policyorotheraspects
ofnationalsecurityandthepublicinterest.Itis
necessarytoprovidesafeguardsagainstthat.
TheconferringofadiscretionontheTribunal
todecidewhenthereshouldbeoralhearings
andwhat form they should take isapropor-
tionate response to theneed for safeguards,
againstwhichthetribunal,asajudicialbody,
can balance the Complainants’ interests in a
fairtrialandopenjusticeaccordingtothecir-
cumstancesoftheparticularcase.”

93. Regarding Rule 9(6) which stipulates that oral 
hearings must be held in private, the IPT held:
“163.Thelanguageofrule9(6)isclearandun-
qualified.

‘TheTribunal’sproceedings,includinganyoral
hearings,shallbeconductedinprivate.’

164. The Tribunal are given no discretion in
thematter.Rule6(2)(a) stiffens the strictness
oftherulebyprovidingthattheTribunalmay
notevendisclosetotheComplainantortoany
other person the fact that the Tribunal have
held,orproposetohold,aseparateoralhear-
ingunderrule9(4).Thefactofanoralhearing
iskeptprivate,evenfromtheotherparty...

...

167....theveryfactthatthisruleisofanabso-
luteblanketnatureis,inthejudgmentofthe
Tribunalinthecircumstances,fataltoitsvalid-
ity...theTribunalhaveconcludedthatthevery
width of the rule preventing any hearing of
theproceedings inpublicgoesbeyondwhat
isauthorisedbysection69ofRIPA.

...

171.Thereisnoconceivablegroundforrequir-
inglegalargumentsonpurepointsofproce-
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dural law, arising on the interpretation and
validityoftheRules,tobeheldinprivate...

172.Indeed,purelylegalarguments,conduct-
edforthesolepurposeofascertainingwhatis
thelawandnotinvolvingtheriskofdisclosure
ofanysensitiveinformation,shouldbeheard
inpublic.Thepublic,aswellastheparties,has
a right toknowthat there isadisputeabout
theinterpretationandvalidityoftherelevant
lawandwhattherivallegalcontentionsare.

173. The result is that rule 9(6) is ultra vires
section69. ItdoesnotbindtheTribunal.The
SecretaryofStatemayexercisehisdiscretion
under section 69(1) to make fresh rules on
the point, but, unless and until he does, the
Tribunal may exercise their discretion under
section 68(1) to hear the legal arguments in
public under rule 9(3), subject to their gen-
eralandspecificduties,suchasrule6(1)inthe
RulesandinRIPA.Itisappropriatetoexercise
thatdiscretiontodirectthatthehearingofthe
preliminaryissuesshallbetreatedasif ithad
takenplaceunderrule9(3)inpublic,because
suchapreliminaryhearingofpurely legalar-
gumentssolelyonproceduralissuesdoesnot
poseanyrisktothedutyoftheTribunalunder
rule6(1)ortothemaintenanceofthe[neither
confirmnordeny]policy.Thetranscriptsofthe
hearing should bemade available for public
consumption.”

94. Regarding other departures from the normal 
rules of adversarial procedure as regards the 
taking of evidence and disclosure in Rule 6, the 
IPT concluded:
“181....thatthesedeparturesfromtheadver-
sarialmodel arewithin the power conferred
ontheSecretaryofStatebysection69(1),as
limited by section 69(6). A reasonable rule-
makingbody,havingregardtothemandatory
factors in section 69(6), could properly con-
clude that these departures were necessary
andproportionate for thepurposesstated in
section69(6)(b). In thecontextof the factors
setoutinthatprovisionand,inparticular,the
need to maintain the [neither confirm nor
deny]policy,theprocedureslaiddowninthe
Rules provide a ‘fair trial’within Article 6 for
thedeterminationofthecivilrightsandobli-
gationsarisinginclaimsandcomplaintsunder
section65ofRIPA.

182. They are also compatible with Conven-
tionrightsinArticles8and10,takingaccount
of the exceptions for thepublic interest and
national security inArticles8(2)and10(2), in
particulartheeffectiveoperationofthelegiti-
matepolicyof[neitherconfirmnordeny]inre-
lationtotheuseofinvestigatorypowers.The

disclosure of information is not an absolute
right where there are competing interests,
such asnational security considerations, and
itmaybenecessary towithhold information
forthatreason,providedthat,asinthekindof
casescomingbeforethisTribunal,itisstrictly
necessarytodosoandtherestrictioniscoun-
terbalancedbyjudicialprocedureswhichpro-
tecttheinterestsoftheComplainants...”

95. Finally, as regards the absence of reasons fol-
lowing a decision that the complaint is unsuc-
cessful, the IPT noted:
“190.TheTribunalconcludethat,properlyin-
terpretedincontextonordinaryprinciplesof
domesticlaw,rule13andsection68(4)ofRIPA
do not apply to prevent publication of the
reasonsfortherulingsoftheTribunalonthe
preliminary issues on matters of procedural
law, as they are not a ‘determination’ of the
proceedings brought before them or of the
complaintmadetothemwithinthemeaning
ofthoseprovisions.Thoseprovisionsconcern
decisionsoftheTribunalwhichbringtheclaim
orcomplainttoanend,eitherbyadetermina-
tionofthesubstantiveclaimorcomplainton
itsmerits...

191....Inthecircumstancestherecanbepub-
licationofthereasonsforlegalrulingsonpre-
liminary issues, but, so far as determinations
areconcerned, theTribunalare satisfied that
section68(4)andrule13arevalidandbinding
andthatthedistinctionbetweeninformation
giventothesuccessfulcomplainantsandthat
given to unsuccessful complainants (where
the[neitherconfirmnordeny]policymustbe
preserved)isnecessaryandjustifiable.”

96. In a second ruling on preliminary issues of law 
in the British-Irish Rights Watch and others 
case, which involved external communica-
tions (i.e. communications between the United 
Kingdom and abroad), the IPT issued its find-
ings on the complaint in that case. The issue for 
consideration was identified as:
“3. ... whether ... ‘the process of filtering in-
tercepted telephonecallsmade from theUK
to overseas telephones ... breaches Article
8(2) [of theEuropeanConventiononHuman
Rights] because it is not ‘in accordancewith
thelaw’...”

97. Given that the challenge in the case related 
solely to the lawfulness of the filtering process 
as set out in the RIPA legislation, the IPT issued 
a public ruling which explained the reasons for 
its findings in the case. In its ruling, it examined 
the relevant legislative provisions and conclud-
ed that they were sufficiently accessible and 
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foreseeable to be in accordance with the law.

98. As the applicant’s case demonstrates, once 
general legal issues have been determined, if 
the IPT is required to consider the specific facts 
of the case, and in particular whether intercep-
tion has taken place, any such consideration 
will take place in private. Rule 6 prevents the 
applicant participating in this stage of pro-
ceedings.

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

99. The applicant complained that his commu-
nications were being unlawfully intercepted 
in order to intimidate him and undermine his 
business activities, in violation of Article 8 of 
the Convention, which reads as follows:
“1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

100. He further argued that the regime established 
under RIPA for authorising interception of in-
ternal communications did not comply with 
the requirements of Article 8 § 2 of the Con-
vention.

A. Admissibility
1.Theparties’submissions
(a)  The Government

101. The Government argued that the applicant had 
failed to advance a general challenge to the 
Convention-compliance of the RIPA provisions 
on interception of internal communications 
before the IPT, and that he had accordingly 
failed to exhaust domestic remedies in respect 
of this complaint. They pointed out that at the 
same time as the applicant was pursuing his 
complaint with the IPT, the British-Irish Rights 
Watch and others case was also under consid-

eration by the IPT. Pursuant to the arguments 
of the parties in that case, the IPT issued a 
general public ruling of the IPT on the compat-
ibility of the RIPA scheme as regards external 
communications with Article 8 (see paragraphs 
96 to 97 above). No such ruling on the subject 
of internal communications was issued in the 
applicant’s case.

102. The Government emphasised that the appli-
cant’s Grounds of Claim and Complaint alleged 
interception of the applicant’s business calls 
and a violation of Article 8 on the facts of the 
applicant’s case. The Government noted that 
the paragraphs of the Grounds of Claim and 
Complaint relied upon by the applicant in his 
submissions to this Court to support his allega-
tion that a general complaint was advanced 
were misleading. It was clear from the de-
scription of his complaint and the subsequent 
paragraphs particularising his claim that the 
reference to interception was to an alleged in-
terception in his case, and not to interception 
in general, and that the complaint that the in-
terception was not in accordance with the law 
related to an alleged breach of the Data Protec-
tion Act, and not to any alleged inadequacies 
of the RIPA regime (see paragraphs 12 and 14 
above).

103. The Government submitted that Article 35 § 
1 had a special significance in the context of 
secret surveillance, as the IPT was specifically 
designed to be able to consider and investi-
gate closed materials. It had extensive pow-
ers to call for evidence from the intercepting 
agencies and could request assistance from 
the Commissioner, who had detailed working 
knowledge and practice of the section 8(1) 
warrant regime.

104. As regards the applicant’s specific complaint 
that his communications had been unlawfully 
intercepted, the Government contended that 
the complaint was manifestly ill-founded as 
the applicant had failed to show that there had 
been an interference for the purposes of Article 
8. In their submission, he had not established 
a reasonable likelihood, as required by the 
Court’s case-law, that his communications had 
been intercepted.

105. The Government accordingly invited the Court 
to find both the general and the specific com-
plaints under Article 8 inadmissible.

(b)  The applicant

106. The applicant refuted the suggestion that his 
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complaint before the IPT had failed to chal-
lenge the Convention-compatibility of the 
RIPA regime on internal communications and 
that he had, therefore, failed to exhaust do-
mestic remedies in this regard. He pointed out 
that one of the express grounds of his com-
plaint to the IPT had been that “the intercep-
tion and processing ha[d] at no time been in 
accordance with the law as required by Article 
8(2)” (see paragraph 13 above). He argued that 
his assertion before the IPT was that any war-
rants issued or renewed under RIPA violated 
Article 8.

107. The applicant further disputed that there had 
been no interference in his case, maintaining 
that he had established a reasonable likelihood 
that interception had taken place and that, in 
any event, the mere existence of RIPA was suf-
ficient to show an interference.

2.TheCourt’sassessment
108. As regards the Government’s objection that 

the applicant failed to exhaust domestic rem-
edies, the Court considers that the summary of 
the applicant’s case set out by the IPT in its rul-
ing of 9 January 2004 (see paragraph 17 above) 
as well as the Grounds of Claim and Complaint 
themselves (see paragraphs 10 to 15 above) 
support the Government’s contention that the 
applicant’s complaint concerned only the spe-
cific allegation that his communications were 
actually being intercepted. Further, it can be in-
ferred from the fact that the IPT issued a gener-
al public ruling on the compliance of the RIPA 
provisions on external communications with 
Article 8 in the British-Irish Rights Watch and 
others case (see paragraphs 96 to 97 above) 
that, had a similar argument in respect of inter-
nal communications been advanced by the ap-
plicant, a similar public ruling would have been 
issued in his case. No such ruling was handed 
down. The Court therefore concludes that the 
applicant failed to raise his arguments as re-
gards the overall Convention-compatibility of 
the RIPA provisions before the IPT.

109. However, the Court recalls that where the 
Government claims non-exhaustion they must 
satisfy the Court that the remedy proposed 
was an effective one available in theory and 
in practice at the relevant time, that is to say, 
that it was accessible, was capable of provid-
ing redress in respect of the applicant’s com-
plaints and offered reasonable prospects of 
success (see, inter alia, Akdivar and Others v. 
Turkey, 16 September 1996, § 68, Reports of 

Judgments and Decisions 1996-IV; and Sej-
dovic v. Italy [GC], no. 56581/0056581/00, § 
46, ECHR 2006-II). While the Government rely 
on the British-Irish Rights Watch and others 
case to demonstrate that the IPT could have 
issued a general ruling on compatibility, they 
do not address in their submissions to the 
Court what benefit, if any, is gained from such 
a general ruling. The Court recalls that it is in 
principle appropriate that the national courts 
should initially have the opportunity to deter-
mine questions of the compatibility of domes-
tic law with the Convention in order that the 
Court can have the benefit of the views of the 
national courts, as being in direct and continu-
ous contact with the forces of their countries 
(see Burden v. the United Kingdom [GC], no. 
13378/05, § 42, ECHR 2008-...; and A. and Oth-
ers v. the United Kingdom [GC], no. 3455/05, 
§ 154, ECHR 2009-....). However, it is important 
to note in this case that the applicant’s chal-
lenge to the RIPA provisions is a challenge to 
primary legislation. If the applicant had made a 
general complaint to the IPT, and if that com-
plaint been upheld, the tribunal did not have 
the power to annul any of the RIPA provisions 
or to find any interception arising under RIPA 
to be unlawful as a result of the incompatibility 
of the provisions themselves with the Conven-
tion (see paragraph 24 above). No submissions 
have been made to the Court as to whether 
the IPT is competent to make a declaration of 
incompatibility under section 4(2) of the Hu-
man Rights Act. However, it would appear from 
the wording of that provision that it is not. In 
any event, the practice of giving effect to the 
national courts’ declarations of incompatibility 
by amendment of offending legislation is not 
yet sufficiently certain as to indicate that sec-
tion 4 of the Human Rights Act is to be inter-
preted as imposing a binding obligation giving 
rise to a remedy which an applicant is required 
to exhaust (see Burden v. the United Kingdom, 
cited above, §§ 43 to 44). Accordingly, the 
Court considers that the applicant was not 
required to advance his complaint regarding 
the general compliance of the RIPA regime for 
internal communications with Article 8 § 2 be-
fore the IPT in order to satisfy the requirement 
under Article 35 § 1 that he exhaust domestic 
remedies.

110. The Court takes note of the Government’s ar-
gument that Article 35 § 1 has a special sig-
nificance in the context of secret surveillance 
given the extensive powers of the IPT to in-
vestigate complaints before it and to access 
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confidential information. While the extensive 
powers of the IPT are relevant where the tribu-
nal is examining a specific complaint of inter-
ception in an individual case and it is necessary 
to investigate the factual background, their 
relevance to a legal complaint regarding the 
operation of the legislative regime is less clear. 
In keeping with its obligations under RIPA and 
the Rules (see paragraphs 83 to 84 above), the 
IPT is not able to disclose information to an 
extent, or in a manner, contrary to the public 
interest or prejudicial to national security or 
the prevention or detection of serious crime. 
Accordingly, it is unlikely that any further eluci-
dation of the general operation of the intercep-
tion regime and applicable safeguards, such as 
would assist the Court in its consideration of 
the compliance with the regime with the Con-
vention, would result from a general challenge 
before the IPT.

111. As regards the Government’s second objection 
that there has been no interference in the ap-
plicant’s case, the Court considers that this rais-
es serious questions of fact and of law which 
cannot be settled at this stage of the examina-
tion of the application but require an examina-
tion of the merits of the complaint.

112. In conclusion, the applicant’s complaint under 
Articles 8 cannot be rejected for non-exhaus-
tion of domestic remedies under Article 35 § 1 
or as manifestly ill-founded within the meaning 
of Article 35 § 3. The Court notes, in addition, 
that it is not inadmissible on any other grounds. 
It must therefore be declared admisible. 

B. Merits
1.Theexistenceofan“interference”
(a)  The parties’ submissions

i The applicant

113. The applicant insisted that his communications 
had been intercepted. He maintained that 
there were reasonable grounds for believing 
that he had been subject to interception and 
submitted that objectively verifiable facts sup-
ported the possibility of interception, pointing 
to his long campaign regarding the alleged 
miscarriage of justice in his case and the allega-
tion of police impropriety made at his re-trial.

114. Noting the Government’s submission that nei-
ther preventing calls from being put through 
nor hoax calls amounted to interception for 

the purposes of RIPA, the applicant empha-
sised that such conduct clearly amounted to 
an interference for the purposes of Article 8 
of the Convention. In the event that RIPA did 
not apply to such measures, he argued that 
the Government had failed to indicate the al-
ternative legal regime put in place to prevent 
such interference with individuals’ private lives 
as required by the positive obligations under 
Article 8.

115. Finally, and in any event, relying on Weber 
and Saravia v. Germany (dec.), no. 54934/00
54934/00, § 78, ECHR 2006-XI, the applicant 
contended that he was not required to dem-
onstrate that the impugned measures had ac-
tually been applied to him in order to establish 
an interference with his private life. He invited 
the Court to follow its judgment in Liberty and 
Others v. the United Kingdom, no. 58243/00, 
§§ 56 to 57, 1 July 2008, and find that the 
mere existence of a regime for surveillance 
measures entailed a threat of surveillance for 
all those to whom the legislation could be ap-
plied.

ii The Government

116. The Government accepted that if the appli-
cant’s complaint regarding the general Con-
vention-compatibility of the RIPA scheme was 
admissible, then he could claim to be a victim 
without having to show that he had actu-
ally been the subject of interception, However, 
they argued that the Court had made it clear 
that, in a case argued on the basis that the in-
telligence authorities had in fact been engag-
ing in unlawful surveillance, the principles set 
out in §§ 34 to 38 of the Court’s judgment 
in Klass and Others v. Germany, 6 September 
1978, Series A no. 28 did not apply and, instead, 
the applicant was required to substantiate his 
claim with evidence sufficient to satisfy the 
Court that there was a reasonable likelihood 
that unlawful interception had occurred (citing 
Halford v. the United Kingdom, 25 June 1997, 
§ 57, Reports 1997-III; and Iliya Stefanov v. 
Bulgaria, no. 65755/01, § 49, 22 May 2008). In 
their view, the applicant had not established a 
reasonable likelihood of unlawful interception 
in his case, for four reasons: (i) there was no evi-
dence to support a claim that the applicant’s 
communications were being intercepted; (ii) 
the Government emphatically denied that any 
unlawful interception had taken place; (iii) the 
rejection of the applicant’s complaint by the 
IPT supported this position (see paragraph 
20 above); and (iv) the Commissioner’s 2001 
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report also supported this position (see para-
graph 65 above).

117. The Government further argued that com-
plaints regarding calls not being put through 
or hoax calls did not show that there had been 
any interception in the applicant’s case. They 
pointed out that, under section 2(2) RIPA, pre-
venting calls from being put through and hoax 
calls were excluded from the definition of in-
terception (see paragraph 30 above). As such, 
these activities would not fall within the remit 
of RIPA. The Government further argued that 
there was no factual foundation for the appli-
cant’s claims that any interception was intend-
ed to intimidate him.

(b)  The Court’s assessment

118. It is not disputed that mail, telephone and 
email communications, including those made 
in the context of business dealings, are cov-
ered by the notions of “private life” and “cor-
respondence” in Article 8 § 1.

119. The Court has consistently held in its case-
law that its task is not normally to review the 
relevant law and practice in abstracto, but to 
determine whether the manner in which they 
were applied to, or affected, the applicant gave 
rise to a violation of the Convention (see, inter 
alia, Klass and Others, cited above, § 33; N.C. 
v. Italy [GC], no. 24952/94, § 56, ECHR 2002-X; 
and Krone Verlag GmbH & Co. KG v. Austria (no. 
4), no. 72331/0172331/01, § 26, 9 November 
2006). However, in recognition of the particular 
features of secret surveillance measures and 
the importance of ensuring effective control 
and supervision of them, the Court has permit-
ted general challenges to the relevant legisla-
tive regime.

120. The Court’s approach to assessing whether 
there has been an interference in cases raising 
a general complaint about secret surveillance 
measures was set out in its Klass and Others 
judgment, cited above, §§ 34 to 38 and 41:
“34....Thequestionarisesinthepresentpro-
ceedings whether an individual is to be de-
privedoftheopportunityoflodginganappli-
cationwith the Commission because, owing
to the secrecy of the measures objected to,
hecannotpointtoanyconcretemeasurespe-
cificallyaffectinghim.IntheCourt’sview,the
effectiveness (l’effet utile) of the Convention
implies in suchcircumstances somepossibil-
ityofhavingaccesstotheCommission.Ifthis
werenotso,theefficiencyoftheConvention’s
enforcementmachinerywould bematerially

weakened. The procedural provisions of the
Conventionmust, inviewofthefactthatthe
Conventionanditsinstitutionsweresetupto
protecttheindividual,beappliedinamanner
whichservestomakethesystemofindividual
applicationsefficacious.

TheCourtthereforeacceptsthatanindividual
may,undercertainconditions,claimtobethe
victimofaviolationoccasionedby themere
existenceofsecretmeasuresorof legislation
permittingsecretmeasures,withouthavingto
allegethatsuchmeasureswereinfactapplied
tohim.Therelevantconditionsaretobede-
termined ineachcaseaccording to theCon-
vention right or rights alleged to have been
infringed,thesecretcharacterofthemeasures
objectedto,andtheconnectionbetweenthe
applicantandthosemeasures.

35. Inthelightoftheseconsiderations, ithas
nowtobeascertainedwhether,byreasonof
the particular legislation being challenged,
theapplicantscanclaimtobevictims ...ofa
violationofArticle8...oftheConvention...

36. The Court points out that where a State
institutes secret surveillance theexistenceof
whichremainsunknowntothepersonsbeing
controlled,withtheeffectthatthesurveillance
remainsunchallengeable,Article8...couldto
alargeextentbereducedtoanullity.Itispos-
sibleinsuchasituationforanindividualtobe
treatedinamannercontrarytoArticle8...,or
even to be deprived of the right grantedby
that Article ..., without his being aware of it
andthereforewithoutbeingabletoobtaina
remedyeitherat thenational levelorbefore
theConventioninstitutions.

...

TheCourtfindsitunacceptablethattheassur-
anceof theenjoymentofa rightguaranteed
by the Convention could be thus removed
bythesimplefactthatthepersonconcerned
iskeptunawareof itsviolation.Arightof re-
coursetotheCommissionforpersonspoten-
tially affected by secret surveillance is to be
derivedfromArticle25...,sinceotherwiseArti-
cle8...runstheriskofbeingnullified.

37.As to the factsof theparticular case, the
Court observes that the contested legisla-
tion institutesa systemof surveillanceunder
which all persons in the Federal Republic of
Germanycanpotentiallyhavetheirmail,post
and telecommunicationsmonitored,without
theireverknowingthisunlesstherehasbeen
eithersomeindiscretionorsubsequentnotifi-
cation in thecircumstances laiddown in the
FederalConstitutionalCourt’sjudgment...To
that extent, the disputed legislation directly
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affectsallusersorpotentialusersofthepostal
and telecommunication services in the Fed-
eralRepublicofGermany.Furthermore,asthe
Delegatesrightlypointedout,thismenaceof
surveillancecanbeclaimedinitselftorestrict
free communication through the postal and
telecommunication services, thereby consti-
tuting forallusersorpotentialusersadirect
interferencewiththerightguaranteedbyAr-
ticle8...

...

38. Having regard to the specific circum-
stances of the present case, the Court con-
cludes that eachof theapplicants is entitled
to‘(claim)tobethevictimofaviolation’ofthe
Convention,eventhoughheisnotabletoal-
legeinsupportofhisapplicationthathehas
beensubjecttoaconcretemeasureofsurveil-
lance...

...

41.The firstmatter tobedecided iswhether
and, if so, inwhat respect thecontested leg-
islation, in permitting the above-mentioned
measuresofsurveillance,constitutesaninter-
ferencewiththeexerciseoftherightguaran-
teedtotheapplicantsunderArticle8para.1....

...

In its report, the Commission expressed the
opinion that thesecretsurveillanceprovided
forundertheGermanlegislationamountedto
an interferencewiththeexerciseof theright
setforthinArticle8para.1 ....Neitherbefore
theCommissionnorbeforetheCourtdidthe
Government contest this issue. Clearly, any
ofthepermittedsurveillancemeasures,once
appliedtoagiven individual,would result in
aninterferencebyapublicauthoritywiththe
exerciseofthatindividual’srighttorespectfor
hisprivateandfamilylifeandhiscorrespond-
ence. Furthermore, in themere existence of
the legislation itself there is involved, for all
those to whom the legislation could be ap-
plied, amenace of surveillance; thismenace
necessarilystrikesatfreedomofcommunica-
tionbetweenusersofthepostalandtelecom-
munication services and thereby constitutes
an ‘interference by a public authority’ with
theexerciseoftheapplicants’righttorespect
forprivateandfamilylifeandforcorrespond-
ence.”

121. Subsequently, in Malone v. the United King-
dom, 2 August 1984, § 64, Series A no. 82, the 
Court noted:
“Despite theapplicant’sallegations, theGov-
ernment have consistently declined to dis-

close to what extent, if at all, his telephone
calls andmail have been intercepted other-
wiseonbehalfofthepolice...Theydid,how-
ever, concede that, as a suspected receiver
of stolengoods,hewasamemberofaclass
ofpersonsagainstwhommeasuresofpostal
andtelephone interceptionwere liabletobe
employed. As the Commission pointed out
in its report ..., the existence in England and
Walesoflawsandpracticeswhichpermitand
establishasystemforeffectingsecretsurveil-
lance of communications amounted in itself
toan‘interference...withtheexercise’ofthe
applicant’srightsunderArticle8...,apartfrom
anymeasuresactuallytakenagainsthim(see
theabove-mentionedKlassandOthers judg-
ment, ibid.).Thisbeingso,theCourt, likethe
Commission...,doesnotconsideritnecessary
to inquire into the applicant’s further claims
thatbothhismailandhistelephonecallswere
interceptedforanumberofyears.”

122. Following Klass and Others and Malone, the for-
mer Commission, in a number of cases against 
the United Kingdom in which the applicants 
alleged actual interception of their communi-
cations, emphasised that the test in Klass and 
Others could not be interpreted so broadly as 
to encompass every person in the United King-
dom who feared that the security services may 
have conducted surveillance of him. Accord-
ingly, the Commission required applicants to 
demonstrate that there was a “reasonable like-
lihood” that the measures had been applied to 
them (see, for example, Esbester v. the United 
Kingdom, no. 18601/91, Commission decision 
of 2 April 1993; Redgrave v. the United King-
dom, no. 202711/92, Commission decision of 1 
September 1993; and Matthews v. the United 
Kingdom, no. 28576/95, Commission decision 
of 16 October 1996).

123. In cases concerning general complaints about 
legislation and practice permitting secret sur-
veillance measures, the Court has reiterated 
the Klass and Others approach on a number 
of occasions (see, inter alia, Weber and Saravia, 
cited above, § 78; Association for European 
Integration and Human Rights and Ekimdzhiev 
v. Bulgaria, no. 62540/0062540/00, §§ 58 to 
60, 28 June 2007; Iliya Stefanov, cited above, 
§ 49; Liberty and Others, cited above, §§ 
56 to 57; and Iordachi and Others v. Moldova, 
no. 25198/02, §§ 30 to 35, 10 February 2009). 
Where actual interception was alleged, the 
Court has held that in order for there to be an 
interference, it has to be satisfied that there was 
a reasonable likelihood that surveillance meas-
ures were applied to the applicant (see Halford, 
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cited above, §§ 56 to 57). The Court will make 
its assessment in light of all the circumstances 
of the case and will not limit its review to the 
existence of direct proof that surveillance has 
taken place given that such proof is generally 
difficult or impossible to obtain (see Iliya Ste-
fanov, cited above, § 50).

124. Sight should not be lost of the special rea-
sons justifying the Court’s departure, in cases 
concerning secret measures, from its general 
approach which denies individuals the right 
to challenge a law in abstracto. The principal 
reason was to ensure that the secrecy of such 
measures did not result in the measures being 
effectively unchallengeable and outside the 
supervision of the national judicial authori-
ties and the Court (see Klass and Others, cited 
above, §§ 34 and 36). In order to assess, in a 
particular case, whether an individual can claim 
an interference as a result of the mere existence 
of legislation permitting secret surveillance 
measures, the Court must have regard to the 
availability of any remedies at the national level 
and the risk of secret surveillance measures 
being applied to him. Where there is no possi-
bility of challenging the alleged application of 
secret surveillance measures at domestic level, 
widespread suspicion and concern among the 
general public that secret surveillance powers 
are being abused cannot be said to be unjusti-
fied. In such cases, even where the actual risk 
of surveillance is low, there is a greater need for 
scrutiny by this Court.

125. The Court observes that the present applicant 
complained of an interference with his com-
munications both on the basis that, given the 
circumstances of his particular case, he had es-
tablished a reasonable likelihood of intercep-
tion and on the basis of the very existence of 
measures permitting secret surveillance.

126. The applicant has alleged that the fact that 
calls were not put through to him and that he 
received hoax calls demonstrates a reasonable 
likelihood that his communications are being 
intercepted. The Court disagrees that such alle-
gations are sufficient to support the applicant’s 
contention that his communications have 
been intercepted. Accordingly, it concludes 
that the applicant has failed to demonstrate a 
reasonable likelihood that there was actual in-
terception in his case.

127. Insofar as the applicant complains about the 
RIPA regime itself, the Court observes, first, that 
the RIPA provisions allow any individual who 

alleges interception of his communications 
to lodge a complaint with an independent tri-
bunal (see paragraph 75 above), a possibility 
which was taken up by the applicant. The IPT 
concluded that no unlawful, within the mean-
ing of RIPA, interception had taken place.

128. As to whether a particular risk of surveillance 
arises in the applicant’s case, the Court notes 
that under the provisions of RIPA on internal 
communications, any person within the United 
Kingdom may have his communications inter-
cepted if interception is deemed necessary on 
one or more of the grounds listed in section 
5(3) (see paragraphs 31 to 32 above). The ap-
plicant has alleged that he is at particular risk 
of having his communications intercepted as a 
result of his high-profile murder case, in which 
he made allegations of police impropriety (see 
paragraph 5 above), and his subsequent cam-
paigning against miscarriages of justice. The 
Court observes that neither of these reasons 
would appear to fall within the grounds listed 
in section 5(3) RIPA. However, in light of the 
applicant’s allegations that any interception is 
taking place without lawful basis in order to 
intimidate him (see paragraph 7 above), the 
Court considers that it cannot be excluded 
that secret surveillance measures were applied 
to him or that he was, at the material time, 
potentially at risk of being subjected to such 
measures.

129. In the circumstances, the Court considers that 
the applicant can complain of an interference 
with his Article 8 rights. The Government’s ob-
jection concerning the applicant’s lack of vic-
tim status is accordingly dismissed.

2.Thejustificationfortheinterference
130. Any interference can only be justified under 

Article 8 § 2 if it is in accordance with the law, 
pursues one of more of the legitimate aims 
to which paragraph 2 of Article 8 refers and is 
necessary in a democratic society in order to 
achieve any such aim.

(a)  The parties’ submissions

i The applicant

131. The applicant did not dispute that the surveil-
lance of internal communications in the United 
Kingdom had a basis in domestic law, namely 
the provisions of RIPA. Nor did he dispute that 
both the relevant legislation and the Code 
were publicly available. However, he argued 
that the RIPA provisions, and in particular sec-
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tions 5, 8 and 15 on the issuing of warrants 
and the relevant safeguards, were not in ac-
cordance with the law as required by Article 8 
§ 2 of the Convention as they did not meet 
the foreseeability requirement set out in the 
Court’s jurisprudence. In particular, he alleged 
that section 8(1) RIPA, which stipulated the ba-
sic contents of an interception warrant, did not 
indicate with sufficient clarity how decisions 
as to which individuals were to be put under 
surveillance were made; that RIPA did not de-
fine the categories of persons who could have 
their telephones tapped; and that it did not 
clarify the procedures in place to regulate the 
interception and processing of intercept mate-
rial. He contended that the safeguards referred 
to in section 15 RIPA were inadequate as they 
were subject to unknown “arrangements” con-
sidered necessary by the Secretary of State. The 
other procedural safeguards in place including 
the possibility of launching proceedings before 
the IPT, were, in the applicant’s view, also inad-
equate to protect against abuse.

132. The applicant relied on the Court’s judgment in 
Liberty and Others, cited above, as to the lack 
of clarity of the relevant provisions of RIPA’s 
predecessor, the Interception of Communica-
tions Act 1985, and argued that the changes 
introduced to the surveillance regime by RIPA 
were inadequate to address the flaws identi-
fied in that case. He concluded that any inter-
ference therefore automatically failed to meet 
the requirement that it must be in accordance 
with the law and relied in this regard on the 
conclusions of a report by a surveillance law 
expert instructed by him, Dr Goold, appended 
to his submissions. He further highlighted the 
conclusion of the Court in Liberty and Others, 
cited above, § 68, that the fact that extracts 
of the code of practice adopted under section 
71 RIPA were in the public domain suggested 
that it was possible for a State to make public 
certain details about the operation of a scheme 
for external surveillance without compromis-
ing national security.

133. The applicant argued that the Court’s decisions 
in Valenzuela Contreras v. Spain, 30 July 1998, 
Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1998-
V; Huvig v. France, 24 April 1990, Series A no. 
176-B; Kruslin v. France, 24 April 1990, Series 
A no. 176-A; Amann v. Switzerland [GC], no. 
27798/95, ECHR 2000-II; Al-Nashif v. Bulgaria, 
no. 50963/99 50963/99, 20 June 2002; and 
Rotaru v. Romania [GC], no. 28341/95, ECHR 
2000-V had expanded on the issue of “fore-
seeability” and indicated a departure from 

the narrower scope of earlier decisions which 
tolerated the restrictive extent to which na-
tional security had imposed blanket secrecy 
on the publication of surveillance procedures. 
This broader approach had been confirmed 
by the Court’s recent ruling in Liberty and Oth-
ers, cited above. The applicant argued that the 
RIPA scheme remained “unnecessarily opaque” 
and that further details about the operation, 
beyond those currently included in the Code, 
should be made available in order to comply 
with the Convention requirements regarding 
clarity and precision.

134. As to the safeguards and the arrangements 
put in place by the Secretary of State under 
section 15 RIPA, the applicant contended that 
there was a circularity in the fact that the per-
son responsible for issuing warrants was also 
responsible for the establishment of the safe-
guards. He referred to the Court’s observation 
in Liberty and Others, cited above, § 66, that 
details of the arrangements were neither in 
the legislation nor otherwise in the public do-
main. As regards the role of the Commissioner, 
the applicant argued that, as the Court found 
in Liberty and Others, cited above, § 67, the 
existence of the Commissioner did not contrib-
ute towards the accessibility and clarity of the 
arrangements under section 15 RIPA as he was 
unable to reveal what the arrangements were.

135. More generally, the applicant alleged that the 
Government had failed to address properly 
the safeguards available to prevent abuse of 
power. He argued that the legislation failed to 
identify the nature of the offences which could 
give rise to an interception order, to define per-
sons liable to have their telephones tapped, to 
set limits on the duration of telephone tapping 
and to explain the procedure to be followed 
in examining and storing data obtained, the 
precautions to be taken in communicating 
the data and the circumstances in which data 
could or should be destroyed (citing Weber 
and Saravia, cited above, § 95).

136. He argued in particular that in Weber and 
Saravia, the law under consideration set out 
the precise offences the prevention and detec-
tion of which could give rise to an interception 
order, which he alleged was not the case with 
RIPA. He pointed to the opinion of his expert, Dr 
Goold, that the definition of “serious crime” in 
section 81(2)(b) RIPA (see paragraph 34 above) 
was excessively broad and did not refer to 
any specific offences by name, and Dr Goold’s 
conclusion that it could not be said that the 
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grounds for issuing a section 8(1) warrant, as 
set out in section 5(3) RIPA, were sufficiently 
clear so as to enable an individual to predict 
what sorts of conduct might give rise to secret 
surveillance. He further considered that there 
was no information as to how the categories of 
persons liable to have their telephones tapped 
were “strictly controlled”, as the Government 
suggested (see paragraph 142 below).

ii The Government

137. The Government submitted that any interfer-
ence which may have arisen in the present case 
satisfied the requirements of Article 8 § 2. The 
Government emphasised the duty of demo-
cratic governments to uphold the criminal law 
and protect citizens from terrorist threats and 
organised crime. In order to discharge this duty, 
the power to intercept the communications of 
specific targets was necessary. They pointed 
to the Commissioner’s consistent conclusions 
that the interception powers under RIPA were 
an invaluable weapon for the protection of 
national security and the fight against organ-
ised crime (see paragraphs 64 and 72 above). 
Further, in order for interception to yield useful 
intelligence, the fact of the interception, as well 
as the methods by which it could be effected, 
had to be kept secret. If possible targets were 
able to gain insight into sensitive interception 
techniques and capabilities, then they would 
be able to take steps to undermine the useful-
ness of any intelligence gathered against them. 
The Government explained that they had had 
experience of information about surveillance 
techniques being put in the public domain, 
which had led directly to the loss of important 
sources of intelligence. They insisted that their 
policy of “neither confirm nor deny” was im-
portant to ensure the overall effectiveness of 
surveillance operations.

138. Generally, regarding the applicant’s reliance 
on the Court’s judgment in Liberty and Others, 
cited above, the Government emphasised that 
that case concerned the Interception of Com-
munications Act 1985, and not RIPA. Accord-
ingly, they argued, the Court had not given 
a view as to whether it considered that the 
provisions of RIPA satisfied the requirements 
of Article 8. In finding a violation of Article 
8 in Liberty and Others as a result of the fail-
ure of the Government to provide any public 
indication of the procedure for selecting for 
examination, sharing, storing and destroying 
intercepted data, the Court referred specifically 
at § 68 of its judgment to the fact that under 

RIPA, the Government had published a code 
of practice giving details about the operation 
of the scheme. In the Government’s view, the 
publication of the Code was a feature by which 
the RIPA scheme could be distinguished from 
its predecessor in a significant and relevant re-
spect. They also contrasted the finding of the 
Court in Liberty and Others, § 66, as regards 
the former arrangements regarding safeguards 
under section 6 Interception of Communica-
tions Act with the section 15 RIPA arrange-
ments and the relevant provisions of the Code.

139. On the question whether any interference was 
in accordance with the law, the Government 
considered, first, that the statutory provisions 
of RIPA provided a sufficient basis in domestic 
law for any interference. They noted that the 
applicant did not appear to dispute this. As 
to whether the law was accessible, the Gov-
ernment pointed out that both RIPA and the 
Code were public accessible. They concluded 
that the accessibility requirement was satisfied, 
again noting the absence of any dispute on the 
matter from the applicant.

140. Regarding foreseeability, the Government 
highlighted at the outset the special context 
of secret surveillance. Referring to, inter alia, 
Weber and Saravia, cited above, § 93, the Gov-
ernment emphasised that foreseeability could 
not mean that an individual should be able to 
foresee when the authorities were likely to in-
tercept his communications so that he could 
adapt his conduct accordingly. However, they 
agreed that there needed to be clear, detailed 
rules on interception, as outlined in § 95 of 
the Court’s judgment in Weber and Saravia to 
guard against the risk of arbitrary exercise of se-
cret surveillance powers. The Court had recent-
ly clarified in Liberty and Others, cited above, 
§§ 67 to 69, that not every provision regu-
lating secret surveillance had to be set out in 
primary legislation. The test was whether there 
was a sufficient indication of the safeguards in 
a form accessible to the public in order to avoid 
abuses of power (citing Weber and Saravia, § 
95). The Government accordingly contended 
that account should be taken of all relevant cir-
cumstances, including the nature, scope and 
duration of possible measures, the grounds re-
quired for ordering them, the authorities com-
petent to permit, carry out and supervise them, 
and the remedies provided by national law (cit-
ing Association for European Integration and 
Human Rights and Ekimdzhiev v. Bulgaria, cited 
above, § 77). They also argued that the Court 
should consider any evidence as to the actual 
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operation of the warrant system and whether 
the system appeared to be working properly 
or was in fact subject to abuse (referring to As-
sociation for European Integration and Human 
Rights and Ekimdzhiev, §§ 92 to 93).

141. Addressing each of the individual safeguards 
set out in Weber and Saravia in turn, the 
Government contended, first, as regards the 
nature of offences which could give rise to 
an interception order, that section 5(3) RIPA, 
supplemented by the Code and the relevant 
definitions provided in the Act, was sufficiently 
clear and precise in setting out the grounds on 
which a section 8(1) warrant could be issued. 
As to the applicant’s particular complaint that 
the term “national security” lacked clarity, the 
Government emphasised that the term was 
not criticised by the Court in Liberty and Others 
when it was considered in the context of RIPA’s 
predecessor, a fact which was unsurprising giv-
en that the term was a frequently-used legisla-
tive concept in the legal systems of many Con-
tracting States and appeared in Article 8 § 2 of 
the Convention itself. The Government invited 
the Court to follow the Commission in Christie 
v. the United Kingdom, no. 21482/93, Commis-
sion decision of 27 June 1994, in finding that 
the term “national security” was sufficiently 
foreseeable for the purposes of Article 8, not-
ing that the applicant had cited no authority to 
the contrary. The Government also contested 
the applicant’s complaint that “serious crime” 
was not sufficiently specific and that RIPA failed 
to clarify the exact offences for the prevention 
of which a section 8(1) warrant could be is-
sued. They pointed out that nothing in Weber 
and Saravia, cited above, § 27, supported the 
proposition that the legislative framework had 
to refer to the relevant offences by name in or-
der to comply with the foreseeability require-
ment. They concluded that “serious crime”, as 
defined in the Act, provided an adequate indi-
cation of the circumstances in which intercep-
tion could be authorised.

142. Second, as regards the categories of persons 
liable to have their telephones tapped, the 
Government acknowledged that RIPA allowed 
any type of communication transmitted over 
a telecommunications system to be inter-
cepted. However, the categories of persons 
liable to have their telephones tapped were 
strictly controlled by RIPA. The factors by ref-
erence to which interception was undertaken 
had to be specifically identified in the schedule 
to the warrant. Further, a person would only 
become a subject of interception, and a set 

of premises would only be named in an inter-
ception warrant, if the interception operation 
was necessary on one or more of the grounds 
listed in section 5(3) (see paragraphs 31 to 32 
above). The Government disputed that the 
Court’s conclusion in Weber and Saravia, cited 
above, § 97, was at odds with this approach 
as, in their submission, that judgment merely 
approved the approach taken in the G10 Act 
without ruling out other possible methods of 
satisfying the Article 8 § 2 requirements.

143. Third, RIPA set out strict limits regarding the 
duration of any interception activity and the 
circumstances in which a warrant could be re-
newed (see paragraphs 50 to 51 above).

144. Fourth, RIPA, supplemented by the Code, con-
tained detailed provisions on the procedure to 
be followed for examining, using and storing 
the data obtained and the precautions to be 
taken when communicating the data to other 
parties. Although in principle an intercepting 
agency could listen to all intercepted mate-
rial in order to determine whether it contained 
valuable intelligence, where it contained no 
such intelligence the material would be swiftly 
and securely destroyed. Section 15 RIPA pro-
vided an exhaustive definition of the “author-
ised purposes” and, in particular, section 15(4) 
identified limits on the number of persons to 
whom intercept material could be disclosed 
(see paragraph 42 above). These provisions 
were supplemented by the provisions of chap-
ter 6 of the Code (see paragraphs 45 to 47 
above). In particular, paragraph 6.4 of the Code 
specified that disclosure could only be made to 
persons with security clearance and paragraph 
6.9 provided for distribution lists of vetted per-
sons to be maintained. Disclosure was further 
limited by the “need-to-know” principle, which 
restricted both those who could gain access to 
intercept material and the extent of any such 
access. Paragraph 6.5 of the Code clarified that 
the obligation not to disclose intercept infor-
mation applied to any person to whom such 
information had been disclosed. Any breach of 
these safeguards was an offence under section 
19 RIPA (see paragraph 44 above). The require-
ment to keep records in respect of the making, 
distribution and destruction of intercept mate-
rial also provided an important safeguard. Sec-
tion 15(3) made it clear that intercept material 
had to be destroyed as soon as there were no 
longer grounds for retaining it as “necessary” 
for any of the exhaustively defined authorised 
purposes. Where human or technical error had 
resulted in material being gathered where it 
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should not have been, the intercept material 
was immediately destroyed. Finally, where in-
tercept material was retained, paragraph 6.8 of 
the Code required it to be reviewed at appro-
priate intervals to ensure that the justification 
for its retention remained valid.

145. The Government emphasised that informa-
tion concerning the arrangements put in place 
under section 15 RIPA had been published 
in the Code. However, in order to maintain 
the operational effectiveness of interception 
techniques, it was not possible to publish full 
details of the arrangements. In the view of the 
Government, the publication of any more de-
tail than had already been published would be 
contrary to national security and prejudicial to 
the prevention and detection of serious crime. 
They argued that the decision as to how much 
information on safeguards could safely be put 
in the public domain without undermining 
the interests of national security or prejudic-
ing the prevention and detection of serious 
crime fell within their margin of appreciation. 
It was also significant that the full details of 
the arrangements in place were made avail-
able to the Commissioner, who was required 
to keep them under review. The Government 
emphasised that the Commissioner’s approval 
was sought and given in respect of the safe-
guard documents either before or shortly after 
the entry into force of RIPA (see paragraph 63 
above). They further emphasised that the Com-
missioner had expressed his satisfaction with 
the section 15 safeguards in every report pre-
pared since 2000. They referred in particular to 
the Commissioner’s 2002 and 2004 reports (see 
paragraphs 68 to 69 above).

146. In conclusion, the Government contended that 
in light of the detail in the legislation and the 
applicable code, the RIPA regime satisfied the 
requirement of lawfulness.

147. The Government also insisted that any interfer-
ence pursued a legitimate aim. The Govern-
ment emphatically denied, in this regard, the 
applicant’s allegation that interception was 
being used to intimidate him and undermine 
his business activities. The three relevant ob-
jectives set out in section 5(3) RIPA, namely 
safeguarding national security, preventing or 
detecting serious crime and safeguarding the 
economic well-being of the United Kingdom, 
were all legitimate aims for the purposes of 
Article 8(2).

148. As to proportionality, the Government pointed 

to the fact that the Court had already accepted 
that secret surveillance could be necessary in a 
democratic society (see Klass and Others, cited 
above, § 48) and argued that the surveillance 
regime in RIPA was necessary and propor-
tionate. The Government further argued that 
States enjoyed a fairly wide margin of appre-
ciation when legislating in this field (citing We-
ber and Saravia, § 106). They reiterated that 
the protection of national security in particular 
was a heavy political responsibility affecting 
the whole population. Decisions in this area 
accordingly required a democratic legitimacy 
which could not be provided by the Court. This 
had been implicitly recognised by the Court in 
its Klass and Others judgment, cited above, § 
49.

149. The Government accepted that in order to 
demonstrate respect for Article 8(2), there 
had to be adequate and effective guarantees 
against abuse of power. They reiterated that 
the assessment of whether such guarantees 
were present had to be made in light of all the 
circumstances of the case. In respect of the 
surveillance regime applicable in the United 
Kingdom, the Government emphasised that 
any interception without lawful authority was a 
criminal offence under section 1 RIPA (see par-
agraph 29 above); that the Secretary of State 
personally issued and modified warrants (see 
paragraph 38 above); and that guidance was 
publicly available in the form of the Code. They 
further pointed to the additional safeguards 
available in the form of the section 15 safe-
guards, the oversight of the Commissioner and 
the jurisdiction of the IPT. They concluded that 
the RIPA regime contained adequate and ef-
fective guarantees against abuse. The involve-
ment of Secretaries of State in the issuing of an 
interception warrant provided a real and prac-
tical safeguard in the system, as demonstrated 
by the findings of the Commissioner as to the 
care and attention they demonstrated in their 
warrantry work (see paragraphs 62, 67 and 71 
above). Further, it was significant that none 
of the Commissioners’ reports referred to any 
deliberate breach of the RIPA provisions or any 
unlawful use of interception powers to intimi-
date a person. Any errors or breaches which 
had arisen had been the result of technical or 
human error and had been promptly corrected 
upon their discovery. As to the jurisdiction of 
the IPT, the Government emphasised that a 
challenge could be brought at any time by a 
person who suspected that his communica-
tions were being intercepted. They contrasted 
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this unlimited jurisdiction with the legal re-
gime at issue in Weber and Saravia where ju-
dicial oversight was limited to cases where an 
individual had been notified that measures had 
been taken against him. The applicant in the 
present case was able to bring his complaint 
before two senior judges, who ruled that there 
was no unlawful interception in his case.

150. In conclusion, the Government invited the 
Court to find that there had been no violation 
of Article 8 in the present case.

(b)  The Court’s assessment

i General principles

151. The requirement that any interference must 
be “in accordance with the law” under Article 
8 § 2 will only be met where three conditions 
are satisfied. First, the impugned measure must 
have some basis in domestic law. Second, the 
domestic law must be compatible with the rule 
of law and accessible to the person concerned. 
Third, the person affected must be able to fore-
see the consequences of the domestic law for 
him (see, among many other authorities, Ro-
taru v. Romania, cited above, § 52; Liberty and 
Others, cited above, § 59; and Iordachi and 
Others, cited above, § 37).

152. The Court has held on several occasions that 
the reference to “foreseeability” in the context 
of interception of communications cannot be 
the same as in many other fields (see Malone, 
cited above, § 67; Leander v. Sweden, 26 
March 1987, § 51, Series A no. 116; Associa-
tion for European Integration, cited above, § 
79; and Al-Nashif, cited above, § 121). In its ad-
missibility decision in Weber and Saravia, cited 
above, §§ 93 to 95, the Court summarised its 
case-law on the requirement of legal “foresee-
ability” in this field:
“93. ... foreseeability in the special contextof
secretmeasuresofsurveillance,suchasthein-
terception of communications, cannotmean
that an individual should be able to foresee
when the authorities are likely to intercept
hiscommunicationssothathecanadapthis
conduct accordingly (see, inter alia, [v. Swe-
den,judgmentof26August1987,SeriesAno.
116],p.23,§51).However,especiallywhere
a power vested in the executive is exercised
insecret,therisksofarbitrarinessareevident
(see, interalia,Malone,citedabove,p.32,§
67;Huvig, citedabove,pp.54-55,§29; and
Rotaru). It isthereforeessentialtohaveclear,
detailed rules on interception of telephone
conversations, especially as the technol-

ogyavailableforuseiscontinuallybecoming
more sophisticated (seeKoppv. Switzerland,
judgmentof25March1998,Reports1998-II,
pp. 542-43, § 72, and Valenzuela Contreras
v. Spain, judgment of 30 July 1998, Reports
1998-V,pp.1924-25,§46).Thedomesticlaw
mustbe sufficiently clear in its terms togive
citizensanadequate indicationas to the cir-
cumstances in which and the conditions on
which public authorities are empowered to
resort to any such measures (see Malone,
ibid.;Kopp,citedabove,p.541,§64;Huvig,
citedabove,pp.54-55,§29;andValenzuela 
Contreras,ibid.).
94. Moreover, since the implementation in
practice of measures of secret surveillance
of communications is not open to scrutiny
bytheindividualsconcernedorthepublicat
large, itwouldbecontrary to the ruleof law
forthelegaldiscretiongrantedtotheexecu-
tiveortoajudgetobeexpressedintermsof
an unfettered power. Consequently, the law
must indicate the scope of any such discre-
tion conferred on the competent authorities
andthemannerofitsexercisewithsufficient
claritytogivetheindividualadequateprotec-
tionagainstarbitraryinterference(see,among
otherauthorities,Malone,citedabove,pp.32-
33,§68;Leander, citedabove,p.23,§51;
andHuvig,citedabove,pp.54-55,§29).

95. In itscase-lawonsecretmeasuresofsur-
veillance,theCourthasdevelopedthefollow-
ingminimum safeguards that should be set
outinstatutelawinordertoavoidabusesof
power:thenatureoftheoffenceswhichmay
give rise to an interception order; a defini-
tionofthecategoriesofpeopleliabletohave
their telephonestapped;a limitonthedura-
tion of telephone tapping; the procedure to
be followed for examining, using and stor-
ing thedataobtained; theprecautions tobe
takenwhencommunicatingthedatatoother
parties; and the circumstances in which re-
cordingsmayormustbeerasedorthetapes
destroyed (see, interalia,Huvig,citedabove,
p.56,§34;Amann,citedabove,§76;Valen-
zuelaContreras, citedabove,pp.1924-25,§
46;andPradoBugallov.Spain,no.58496/00,
§30,18February2003).”

153. As to the question whether an interference 
was “necessary in a democratic society” in pur-
suit of a legitimate aim, the Court recalls that 
powers to instruct secret surveillance of citi-
zens are only tolerated under Article 8 to the 
extent that they are strictly necessary for safe-
guarding democratic institutions. In practice, 
this means that there must be adequate and 
effective guarantees against abuse. The assess-
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ment depends on all the circumstances of the 
case, such as the nature, scope and duration of 
the possible measures, the grounds required 
for ordering them, the authorities competent 
to authorise, carry out and supervise them, and 
the kind of remedy provided by the national 
law (see Klass and Others, cited above, §§ 49 
to 50; and Weber and Saravia, cited above, § 
106).

154. The Court has acknowledged that the Con-
tracting States enjoy a certain margin of appre-
ciation in assessing the existence and extent of 
such necessity, but this margin is subject to Eu-
ropean supervision. The Court has to determine 
whether the procedures for supervising the 
ordering and implementation of the restrictive 
measures are such as to keep the “interference” 
to what is “necessary in a democratic society”. 
In addition, the values of a democratic society 
must be followed as faithfully as possible in the 
supervisory procedures if the bounds of neces-
sity, within the meaning of Article 8 § 2, are 
not to be exceeded (see Kvasnica v. Slovakia, 
no. 72094/01, § 80, 9 June 2009).

ii Application of the general principles to the 
facts of the case

155. The Court recalls that it has found there to be 
an interference under Article 8 § 1 in respect 
of the applicant’s general complaint about the 
RIPA provisions and not in respect of any actual 
interception activity allegedly taking place. Ac-
cordingly, in its examination of the justification 
for the interference under Article 8 § 2, the 
Court is required to examine the proportion-
ality of the RIPA legislation itself and the safe-
guards built into the system allowing for secret 
surveillance, rather than the proportionality of 
any specific measures taken in respect of the 
applicant. In the circumstances, the lawful-
ness of the interference is closely related to the 
question whether the “necessity” test has been 
complied with in respect of the RIPA regime 
and it is therefore appropriate for the Court to 
address jointly the “in accordance with the law” 
and “necessity” requirements (see Kvasnica, cit-
ed above, § 84). Further, the Court considers it 
clear that the surveillance measures permitted 
by RIPA pursue the legitimate aims of the pro-
tection of national security, the prevention of 
crime and the protection of the economic well-
being of the country. This was not disputed by 
the parties.

156. In order to assess whether the RIPA provisions 
meet the foreseeability requirement, the Court 

must first examine whether the provisions of 
the Code can be taken into account insofar as 
they supplement and further explain the rel-
evant legislative provisions. In this regard, the 
Court refers to its finding in Silver and Others 
v. the United Kingdom, 25 March 1983, §§ 
88 to 89, Series A no. 61 that administrative or-
ders and instructions concerning the scheme 
for screening prisoners’ letters established 
a practice which had to be followed save in 
exceptional circumstances and that, as a con-
sequence, although they did not themselves 
have the force of law, to the extent to which 
those concerned were made sufficiently aware 
of their contents they could be taken into ac-
count in assessing whether the criterion of 
foreseeability was satisfied in the application of 
the Prison Rules.

157. In the present case, the Court notes, first, that 
the Code is a public document and is avail-
able on the Internet (see paragraphs 26 and 
28 above). Prior to its entry into force, it was 
laid before Parliament and approved by both 
Houses (see paragraph 26 above). Those exer-
cising duties relating to interception of com-
munications must have regard to its provisions 
and the provisions of the Code may be taken 
into account by courts and tribunals (see para-
graph 27 above). In light of these considera-
tions, the Court finds that the provisions of the 
Code can be taken into account in assessing 
the foreseeability of the RIPA regime.

158. The Court will therefore examine the RIPA re-
gime with reference to each of the safeguards 
and the guarantees against abuse outlined in 
Weber and Saravia (see paragraphs 152 and 
153 above) and, where relevant, to its findings 
in respect of the previous legislation at issue in 
Liberty and Others, cited above.

159. As to the nature of the offences, the Court em-
phasises that the condition of foreseeability 
does not require States to set out exhaustively 
by name the specific offences which may give 
rise to interception. However, sufficient detail 
should be provided of the nature of the of-
fences in question. In the case of RIPA, section 5 
provides that interception can only take place 
where the Secretary of State believes that it is 
necessary in the interests of national security, 
for the purposes of preventing or detecting 
serious crime or for the purposes of safeguard-
ing the economic well-being of the United 
Kingdom (see paragraphs 31 to 32 above). The 
applicant criticises the terms “national secu-
rity” and “serious crime” as being insufficiently 
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clear. The Court disagrees. It observes that the 
term “national security” is frequently employed 
in both national and international legislation 
and constitutes one of the legitimate aims to 
which Article 8 § 2 itself refers. The Court has 
previously emphasised that the requirement of 
“foreseeability” of the law does not go so far as 
to compel States to enact legal provisions list-
ing in detail all conduct that may prompt a de-
cision to deport an individual on “national se-
curity” grounds. By the nature of things, threats 
to national security may vary in character and 
may be unanticipated or difficult to define in 
advance (Al-Nashif, cited above, § 121). Similar 
considerations apply to the use of the term in 
the context of secret surveillance. Further, ad-
ditional clarification of how the term is to be 
applied in practice in the United Kingdom has 
been provided by the Commissioner, who has 
indicated that it allows surveillance of activities 
which threaten the safety or well-being of the 
State and activities which are intended to un-
dermine or overthrow Parliamentary democra-
cy by political, industrial or violent means (see 
paragraph 33 above). As for “serious crime”, this 
is defined in the interpretative provisions of the 
Act itself and what is meant by “detecting” seri-
ous crime is also explained in the Act (see para-
graphs 34 to 35 above). The Court is of the view 
that the reference to serious crime, together 
with the interpretative clarifications in the Act, 
gives citizens an adequate indication as to the 
circumstances in which and the conditions on 
which public authorities are empowered to re-
sort to secret surveillance measures. The Court 
therefore considers that, having regard to the 
provisions of RIPA, the nature of the offences 
which may give rise to an interception order 
is sufficiently clear (compare and contrast Ior-
dachi and Others, cited above, § 46).

160. The Court observes that under RIPA, it is pos-
sible for the communications of any person in 
the United Kingdom to be intercepted. Howev-
er, it should be recalled that, in contrast to the 
Liberty and Others case which concerned the 
legislation on interception of communications 
between the United Kingdom and any other 
country, the present case concerns internal 
communications, i.e. communications within 
the United Kingdom. Further, the legislation 
must describe the categories of persons who, 
in practice, may have their communications 
intercepted. In this respect, the Court observes 
that there is an overlap between the condition 
that the categories of persons be set out and 
the condition that the nature of the offences 

be clearly defined. The relevant circumstances 
which can give rise to interception, discussed 
in the preceding paragraph, give guidance as 
to the categories of persons who are likely, in 
practice, to have their communications inter-
cepted. Finally, the Court notes that in internal 
communications cases, the warrant itself must 
clearly specify, either by name or by descrip-
tion, one person as the interception subject 
or a single set of premises as the premises in 
respect of which the warrant is ordered (see 
paragraphs 40 to 41 above). Names, addresses, 
telephone numbers and other relevant infor-
mation must be specified in the schedule to 
the warrant. Indiscriminate capturing of vast 
amounts of communications is not permitted 
under the internal communications provisions 
of RIPA (cf. Liberty and Others, cited above, 
§ 64). The Court considers that, in the circum-
stances, no further clarification in the legisla-
tion or the Code of the categories of persons li-
able to have their communications intercepted 
can reasonably be required.

161. In respect of the duration of any telephone tap-
ping, the Act clearly stipulates, first, the period 
after which an interception warrant will expire 
and, second, the conditions under which a 
warrant can be renewed (see paragraph 50 to 
51 above). Although a warrant can be renewed 
indefinitely, the Secretary of State himself must 
authorise any renewal and, upon such authori-
sation, must again satisfy himself that the war-
rant remains necessary on the grounds stipu-
lated in section 5(3) (see paragraph 51 above). 
In the context of national security and serious 
crime, the Court observes that the scale of the 
criminal activities involved is such that their 
planning often takes some time. Subsequent 
investigations may also be of some duration, in 
light of the general complexity of such cases 
and the numbers of individuals involved. The 
Court is therefore of the view that the overall 
duration of any interception measures will de-
pend on the complexity and duration of the 
investigation in question and, provided that 
adequate safeguards exist, it is not unreason-
able to leave this matter for the discretion of 
the relevant domestic authorities. The Code 
explains that the person seeking the renewal 
must make an application to the Secretary of 
State providing an update and assessing the 
value of the interception operation to date. He 
must specifically address why he considers that 
the warrant remains necessary on section 5(3) 
grounds (see paragraph 54 above). Further, un-
der section 9(3) RIPA, the Secretary of State is 
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obliged to cancel a warrant where he is satis-
fied that the warrant is no longer necessary on 
section 5(3) grounds (see paragraph 52 above). 
There is also provision in the Act for specific 
factors in the schedule to the warrant to be 
deleted where the Secretary of State considers 
that they are no longer relevant for identify-
ing communications from or to the intercep-
tion subject (see paragraph 53 above). The 
Code advises that the duty on the Secretary of 
State to cancel warrants which are no longer 
necessary means, in practice, that intercepting 
agencies must keep their warrants under con-
tinuous review (see paragraph 55 above). The 
Court concludes that the provisions on dura-
tion, renewal and cancellation are sufficiently 
clear.

162. As regards the procedure for examining, us-
ing and storing the data, the Government in-
dicated in their submissions that, under RIPA, 
an intercepting agency could, in principle, 
listen to all intercept material collected (see 
paragraph 144 above). The Court recalls its 
conclusion in Liberty and Others, cited above, 
§ 65, that the authorities’ discretion to capture 
and listen to captured material was very wide. 
However, that case, unlike the present case, 
involved external communications, in respect 
of which data were captured indiscriminately. 
Contrary to the practice under the Interception 
of Communications Act 1985 concerning ex-
ternal communications, interception warrants 
for internal communications under RIPA relate 
to one person or one set of premises only (cf. 
Liberty and Others, cited above, § 64), thereby 
limiting the scope of the authorities’ discretion 
to intercept and listen to private communica-
tions. Moreover, any captured data which are 
not necessary for any of the authorised pur-
poses must be destroyed.

163. As to the general safeguards which apply to 
the processing and communication of inter-
cept material, the Court observes that section 
15 RIPA imposes a duty on the Secretary of 
State to ensure that arrangements are in place 
to secure any data obtained from interception 
and contains specific provisions on communi-
cation of intercept material (see paragraph 42 
above). Further details of the arrangements are 
provided by the Code. In particular, the Code 
strictly limits the number of persons to whom 
intercept material can be disclosed, imposing a 
requirement for the appropriate level of secu-
rity clearance as well as a requirement to com-
municate data only where there is a “need to 
know”. It further clarifies that only so much of 

the intercept material as the individual needs 
to know is to be disclosed and that where a 
summary of the material would suffice, then 
only a summary should be disclosed. The Code 
requires intercept material, as well as copies 
and summaries of such material, to be han-
dled and stored securely to minimise the risk of 
threat or loss. In particular, it must be inacces-
sible to those without the necessary security 
clearance (see paragraphs 46 to 47 above). A 
strict procedure for security vetting is in place 
(see paragraph 48 above). In the circumstanc-
es, the Court is satisfied that the provisions on 
processing and communication of intercept 
material provide adequate safeguards for the 
protection of data obtained.

164. As far as the destruction of intercept material is 
concerned, section 15(3) RIPA requires that the 
intercept material and any related communica-
tions data, as well as any copies made of the 
material or data, must be destroyed as soon as 
there are no longer any grounds for retaining 
them as necessary on section 5(3) grounds (see 
paragraph 42 above). The Code stipulates that 
intercept material must be reviewed at appro-
priate intervals to confirm that the justification 
for its retention remains valid (see paragraph 
55 above).

165. The Code also requires intercepting agen-
cies to keep detailed records of interception 
warrants for which they have applied (see 
paragraph 56 above), an obligation which the 
Court considers is particularly important in the 
context of the powers and duties of the Com-
missioner and the IPT (see paragraphs 166 to 
167 below)

166. 166. As regards supervision of the RIPA regime, 
the Court observes that apart from the periodic 
review of interception warrants and materials 
by intercepting agencies and, where appropri-
ate, the Secretary of State, the Interception of 
Communications Commissioner established 
under RIPA is tasked with overseeing the gen-
eral functioning of the surveillance regime and 
the authorisation of interception warrants in 
specific cases. He has described his role as one 
of protecting members of the public from un-
lawful intrusion into their private lives, of assist-
ing the intercepting agencies in their work, of 
ensuring that proper safeguards are in place to 
protect the public and of advising the Govern-
ment and approving the safeguard documents 
(see paragraph 70 above). The Court notes 
that the Commissioner is independent of the 
executive and the legislature and is a person 



91CASEOFKENNEDYVTHEUNITEDKINGDOM

EC
J

EC
HR

who holds or has held high judicial office (see 
paragraph 57 above). He reports annually to 
the Prime Minister and his report is a public 
document (subject to the non-disclosure of 
confidential annexes) which is laid before Par-
liament (see paragraph 61 above). In under-
taking his review of surveillance practices, he 
has access to all relevant documents, includ-
ing closed materials and all those involved in 
interception activities have a duty to disclose 
to him any material he requires (see para-
graph 59 above). The obligation on intercept-
ing agencies to keep records ensures that the 
Commissioner has effective access to details of 
surveillance activities undertaken. The Court 
further notes that, in practice, the Commission-
er reviews, provides advice on and approves 
the section 15 arrangements (see paragraphs 
59 and 68 above). The Court considers that the 
Commissioner’s role in ensuring that the provi-
sions of RIPA and the Code are observed and 
applied correctly is of particular value and his 
biannual review of a random selection of spe-
cific cases in which interception has been au-
thorised provides an important control of the 
activities of the intercepting agencies and of 
the Secretary of State himself.

167. The Court recalls that it has previously indi-
cated that in a field where abuse is potentially 
so easy in individual cases and could have such 
harmful consequences for democratic society 
as a whole, it is in principle desirable to en-
trust supervisory control to a judge (see Klass 
and Others, cited above, § 56). In the present 
case, the Court highlights the extensive juris-
diction of the IPT to examine any complaint 
of unlawful interception. Unlike in many other 
domestic systems (see, for example, the G 10 
Law discussed in the context of Klass and Oth-
ers and Weber and Saravia, both cited above), 
any person who suspects that his communica-
tions have been or are being intercepted may 
apply to the IPT (see paragraph 76 above). The 
jurisdiction of the IPT does not, therefore, de-
pend on notification to the interception sub-
ject that there has been an interception of his 
communications. The Court emphasises that 
the IPT is an independent and impartial body, 
which has adopted its own rules of procedure. 
The members of the tribunal must hold or have 
held high judicial office or be experienced law-
yers (see paragraph 75 above). In undertaking 
its examination of complaints by individuals, 
the IPT has access to closed material and has 
the power to require the Commissioner to pro-
vide it with any assistance it thinks fit and the 

power to order disclosure by those involved in 
the authorisation and execution of a warrant of 
all documents it considers relevant (see para-
graph 78 above). In the event that the IPT finds 
in the applicant’s favour, it can, inter alia, quash 
any interception order, require destruction of 
intercept material and order compensation to 
be paid (see paragraph 80 above). The publica-
tion of the IPT’s legal rulings further enhances 
the level of scrutiny afforded to secret surveil-
lance activities in the United Kingdom (see 
paragraph 89 above).

168. Finally, the Court observes that the reports of 
the Commissioner scrutinise any errors which 
have occurred in the operation of the legisla-
tion. In his 2007 report, the Commissioner 
commented that none of the breaches or er-
rors identified were deliberate and that, where 
interception had, as a consequence of human 
or technical error, unlawfully taken place, any 
intercept material was destroyed as soon as 
the error was discovered (see paragraph 73 
above). There is therefore no evidence that any 
deliberate abuse of interception powers is tak-
ing place.

169. In the circumstances, the Court considers that 
the domestic law on interception of internal 
communications together with the clarifica-
tions brought by the publication of the Code 
indicate with sufficient clarity the procedures 
for the authorisation and processing of inter-
ception warrants as well as the processing, 
communicating and destruction of intercept 
material collected. The Court further observes 
that there is no evidence of any significant 
shortcomings in the application and opera-
tion of the surveillance regime. On the con-
trary, the various reports of the Commissioner 
have highlighted the diligence with which the 
authorities implement RIPA and correct any 
technical or human errors which accidentally 
occur (see paragraphs 62, 67, 71 and 73 above). 
Having regard to the safeguards against abuse 
in the procedures as well as the more general 
safeguards offered by the supervision of the 
Commissioner and the review of the IPT, the 
impugned surveillance measures, insofar as 
they may have been applied to the applicant in 
the circumstances outlined in the present case, 
are justified under Article 8 § 2.

170. There has accordingly been no violation of Ar-
ticle 8 of the Convention.
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II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
6 § 1 OF THE CONVENTION

171. The applicant complained of a violation of his 
right to a fair hearing in respect of the proceed-
ings before the Investigatory Powers Tribunal. 
He relied on Article 6 of the Convention, which 
provides insofar as relevant that:
“In the determination of his civil rights and
obligations ... everyone is entitled to a fair ...
hearing...by[a]...tribunal...”.

A. Admissibility
172. The Government contested the applicability 

of Article 6 § 1 to the proceedings in ques-
tion, arguing that there was no “civil right” in 
the present case. The Court considers, in light 
of the parties’ submissions, that the complaint 
raises serious issues of fact and law under the 
Convention, the determination of which re-
quires an examination of the merits. It there-
fore concludes that the complaint is not mani-
festly ill-founded within the meaning of Article 
35 § 3 of the Convention.. It further notes that 
it is not inadmissible on any other grounds. The 
complaint must therefore be declared admis-
sible.

B. Merits
1.TheapplicabilityofArticle6§1
(a)  The parties’ submissions

173. The applicant alleged that the proceedings 
before the IPT involved the determination of 
his civil rights. This was the conclusion reached 
by the IPT in its ruling on preliminary issues of 
law, in which it found that Article 6 § 1 was ap-
plicable. The applicant referred to the Court’s 
practice whereby, where national courts had 
conducted a comprehensive and convincing 
analysis on the basis of relevant Convention 
case-law and principles, as in the present case, 
the Court would need very strong reasons to 
depart from their conclusions and substitute its 
own views for those of national courts in inter-
preting domestic law (citing, inter alia, Masson 
and Van Zon v. the Netherlands, 28 September 
1995, § 49, Series A no. 327-A; and Roche v. the 
United Kingdom [GC], no. 32555/9632555/96, 
§ 120, ECHR 2005-X). He concluded that the 
IPT was correct to find that Article 6 § 1 was 
applicable to the proceedings before it.

174. The Government argued that although the 
applicant had a right, as a matter of domestic 

law, to complain to the IPT while the alleged 
interception was ongoing, the right at issue 
was not a “civil” right for the purposes of Ar-
ticle 6 § 1 (relying on the Court’s judgments 
in Klass and Others, cited above, §§ 57 to 
58 and 75; and Association for European In-
tegration and Human Rights, cited above, § 
106). They contended that, insofar as the use 
of interception powers remains validly secret, 
the requirements of Article 6 could not apply 
to the dispute (referring to Klass and Others, 
cited above, § 75). In the present case, the 
applicant’s position before the IPT was that 
the interception was continuing. As a result, 
the Government considered that the validity 
of the “neither confirm nor deny” stance taken 
by the authorities could not be impugned. 
The particular position taken by the Court in 
interception cases (including Association for 
European Integration and Human Rights) that 
rights in the field of secret interception pow-
ers were not civil rights was, they argued, sup-
ported by the Court’s general jurisprudence on 
“civil rights” (citing Ferrazzini v. Italy [GC], no. 
44759/98, §§ 25, 28 and 30, ECHR 2001-VII; 
and Maaouia v. France [GC], no. 39652/98, § 
38, ECHR 2000-X).

175. The Government pointed to the Court’s con-
sistent case-law that the concept of “civil rights 
and obligations” was autonomous and could 
not be interpreted solely by reference to the 
domestic law of the respondent State and 
concluded that the fact that RIPA offered the 
additional safeguard of an application to the 
IPT at any time could not in itself make Article 
6 § 1 apply to such disputes. As regards the 
applicant’s argument that the Court should be 
slow to interfere with the ruling of the IPT that 
Article 6 § 1 was applicable, the Government 
contested that the question whether Article 
6 § 1 was applicable was a matter of domestic 
law. In their view, Ferrazzini, cited above, § 24, 
was support for the proposition that the appli-
cability of Article 6 § 1 was a matter of Con-
vention law and fell within the competence of 
the Court.

176. The Government finally noted that the IPT’s rul-
ing was issued before the Court’s judgment in 
Association for European Integration and Hu-
man Rights, cited above, § 106, in which the 
Court reached the conclusion that Article 6 § 1 
did not apply to such proceedings. It was clear 
that secret powers of interception which were 
used solely in the interests of national security 
or in order to prevent and detect serious crime 
formed part of the “hard core of public author-
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ity prerogatives”, such that it was inappropriate 
to classify any related rights and obligations 
as “civil” in nature (citing Ferrazzini, § 29; and 
Vilho Eskelinen and Others v. Finland [GC], no. 
63235/00, § 61, ECHR 2007-IV).

(b)  The Court’s assessment

177. The Court in Klass and Others, cited above, did 
not express an opinion on whether Article 6 § 
1 applied to proceedings concerning a deci-
sion to place a person under surveillance (see 
§ 75 of the Court’s judgment). However, the 
matter was considered by the former Commis-
sion in its prior report (Klass and Others, no. 
5029/71, Report of the Commission, Series B 
no. 26, pp 35 to 37, §§ 57 to 61). In particular, 
the Commission noted (§ 58):
“...Supervisorymeasuresofthekind inques-
tion are typical acts of State authority in the
public interest and carried out jure imperii.
Theycannotbequestionedbeforeanycourts
inmany legal systems. Theydonot at all di-
rectlyconcernprivaterights.TheCommission
concludes therefore, that [Article]6doesnot
applytothiskindofStateinterferenceonse-
curitygrounds.”

178. In its recent ruling on the applicability of Article 
6 § 1 to proceedings concerning secret sur-
veillance in Association for European Integra-
tion and Human Rights, cited above, § 106, 
the Court referred generally to the finding of 
the Commission in its report in the case of Klass 
and Others that Article 6 § 1 was not applica-
ble in either its civil or criminal limb. In the ab-
sence of submissions from the parties on the 
matter, the Court concluded that nothing in 
the circumstances of the case before it altered 
the conclusion in the Klass and Others report 
and that there was therefore no violation of 
Article 6 § 1.

179. The Court notes that, in the present case, the 
IPT was satisfied that rights of confidential-
ity and of privacy for person, property and 
communications enjoyed a broad level of 
protection in English private law and that the 
proceedings before the tribunal therefore in-
volved the determination of “civil rights” within 
the meaning of Article 6 § 1. The Court recalls 
that, according to its case-law, the concept 
of “civil rights and obligations” cannot be in-
terpreted solely by reference to the domestic 
law of the respondent State. It has on several 
occasions affirmed the principle that this con-
cept is “autonomous”, within the meaning of 
Article 6 § 1 of the Convention (see Ferrazzini 

v. Italy [GC], no. 44759/98, § 24, ECHR 2001-
VII; and Roche v. the United Kingdom [GC], no. 
32555/96, § 119, ECHR 2005-X). However, in 
the present case, it is unnecessary to reach a 
conclusion as to whether Article 6 § 1 applies 
to proceedings of this nature as, for the reasons 
outlined below, assuming that Article 6 § 1 ap-
plies to the proceedings, the Court considers 
that the IPT’s rules of procedure complied with 
the requirements of Article 6 § 1.

2.CompliancewithArticle6§1
(a)  The parties’ submissions

180. The applicant recalled that restrictions on 
court proceedings could only be compatible 
with Article 6 § 1 where they pursued a legiti-
mate aim and there was a reasonable relation-
ship of proportionality between the means 
employed and the aim sought to be pursued. 
Further, limitations could not impair the very 
essence of fair trial rights and any restrictions 
had to be sufficiently counterbalanced by the 
procedures followed by the judicial authori-
ties (citing Rowe and Davis v. the United King-
dom [GC], no. 28901/95, § 61, ECHR 2000-II). 
Although the applicant appeared to accept 
that the restrictions on the procedure before 
the IPT pursued the legitimate aim of securing 
that information was not disclosed contrary 
to the public interest, national security or the 
detection and prevention of serious crime, he 
argued that they were not proportionate and 
impaired the very essence of his right to a fair 
hearing. In particular, the applicant contended 
that Rule 6(2) to (5) (restrictions on disclosure 
and evidence), Rule 9 (secrecy of proceedings) 
and section 68 RIPA together with Rule 13 (the 
refusal to provide any reasons to unsuccessful 
complainants) were contrary to the principle of 
equality of arms.

181. The applicant submitted that even where na-
tional security was at stake, a domestic court 
could not infringe the fair hearing principle in 
a blanket and uncritical manner. He argued 
that less restrictive measures were available to 
achieve the aim pursued, including arrange-
ments to protect witnesses’ identities, disclo-
sure of documents with redactions approved 
by the IPT, provision of a summary of particu-
larly sensitive material under the supervision 
of the IPT and appointment of special advo-
cates to whom disclosure of sensitive material 
could be made. He referred to a recent report 
on secret evidence published in June 2009 by 
the non-governmental organisation, JUSTICE, 
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which called for the strengthening of disclo-
sure procedures and increased transparency in 
court proceedings.

182. The Government emphasised that even where 
Article 6 § 1 applied to a field falling within the 
traditional sphere of public law, this did not in 
itself determine how the various guarantees of 
Article 6 should be applied to such disputes 
(citing Vilho Eskelinen and Others, cited above, 
§ 64). The obligation to read the Convention 
as a whole meant that the scope of the Article 6 
guarantees in such a case should be in harmo-
ny with the Court’s approach to judicial control 
under Article 8. The Government argued that 
the overarching consideration was that an in-
dividual could not be notified of interception 
measures while interception was ongoing or 
where notification would jeopardise the capa-
bilities or operations of intercepting agencies. 
They therefore disputed that the less restric-
tive measures proposed by the applicant were 
appropriate. They noted that protection of 
witnesses’ identities would not assist in keep-
ing secret whether interception had occurred. 
Nor would disclosure of redacted documents 
or summaries of sensitive material. Further, 
unless they were appointed in every case, the 
appointment of special advocates would also 
allow a complainant to draw inferences about 
whether his communications had been inter-
cepted.

183. The Government argued that the procedure 
before the IPT offered as fair a procedure as 
could be achieved in the context of secret 
surveillance powers. In particular, a complain-
ant did not have to overcome any evidential 
burden to apply to the IPT and any legal issues 
could be determined in a public judgment af-
ter an inter partes hearing. Further, the IPT had 
full powers to obtain any material it considered 
necessary from relevant bodies and could call 
upon the assistance of the Commissioner. It 
could appoint an advocate to assist it at closed 
hearings. Finally, in the event that the com-
plainant was successful, a reasoned decision 
would be provided. The Government accord-
ingly disputed that the very essence of the ap-
plicant’s right to a fair trial had been impaired.

(b)  The Court’s assessment

184. The Court reiterates that according to the prin-
ciple of equality of arms, as one of the features 
of the wider concept of a fair trial, each party 
must be afforded a reasonable opportunity to 
present his case under conditions that do not 

place him at a substantial disadvantage vis-à-
vis his opponent (see, for example, Jespers v. 
Belgium, no. 8403/78, Commission decision of 
15 October 1980, Decisions and Reports (DR) 
27, p. 61; Foucher v. France, judgment of 18 
March 1997, Reports 1997-II, § 34; and Bulut 
v. Austria, judgment of 22 February 1996, Re-
ports 1996-II, p. 380-81, § 47). The Court has 
held nonetheless that, even in proceedings 
under Article 6 for the determination of guilt 
on criminal charges, there may be restrictions 
on the right to a fully adversarial procedure 
where strictly necessary in the light of a strong 
countervailing public interest, such as national 
security, the need to keep secret certain police 
methods of investigation or the protection 
of the fundamental rights of another person. 
There will not be a fair trial, however, unless 
any difficulties caused to the defendant by a 
limitation on his rights are sufficiently coun-
terbalanced by the procedures followed by 
the judicial authorities (see, for example, Door-
son v. the Netherlands, judgment of 26 March 
1996, § 70, Reports 1996-II; Jasper v. the Unit-
ed Kingdom [GC], no. 27052/95, §§ 51 to 53, 
ECHR 2000-II; and A. and Others v. the United 
Kingdom [GC], no. 3455/05, § 205, ECHR 2009-
....). A similar approach applies in the context of 
civil proceedings.

185. The Court notes that the IPT, in its preliminary 
ruling of 23 January 2003, considered the ap-
plicant’s complaints regarding the compliance 
of the Rules with Article 6 § 1. It found that, 
with the exception of Rule 9(6) which required 
all oral hearings to be held in private, the Rules 
challenged by the applicant were proportion-
ate and necessary, with special regard to the 
need to preserve the Government’s “neither 
confirm nor deny policy” (see paragraphs 92 to 
95 above).

186. At the outset, the Court emphasises that the 
proceedings related to secret surveillance 
measures and that there was therefore a need 
to keep secret sensitive and confidential infor-
mation. In the Court’s view, this consideration 
justifies restrictions in the IPT proceedings. The 
question is whether the restrictions, taken as a 
whole, were disproportionate or impaired the 
very essence of the applicant’s right to a fair 
trial.

187. In respect of the rules limiting disclosure, the 
Court recalls that the entitlement to disclosure 
of relevant evidence is not an absolute right. 
The interests of national security or the need to 
keep secret methods of investigation of crime 
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must be weighed against the general right to 
adversarial proceedings (see, mutatis mutan-
dis, Edwards and Lewis v. the United Kingdom 
[GC], nos. 39647/98and 40461/98, § 46, ECHR 
2004-X). The Court notes that the prohibition 
on disclosure set out in Rule 6(2) admits of ex-
ceptions, set out in Rules 6(3) and (4). Accord-
ingly, the prohibition is not an absolute one. 
The Court further observes that documents 
submitted to the IPT in respect of a specific 
complaint, as well as details of any witnesses 
who have provided evidence, are likely to be 
highly sensitive, particularly when viewed in 
light of the Government’s “neither confirm nor 
deny” policy. The Court agrees with the Gov-
ernment that, in the circumstances, it was not 
possible to disclose redacted documents or to 
appoint special advocates as these measures 
would not have achieved the aim of preserv-
ing the secrecy of whether any interception 
had taken place. It is also relevant that where 
the IPT finds in the applicant’s favour, it can 
exercise its discretion to disclose such docu-
ments and information under Rule 6(4) (see 
paragraph 84 above).

188. As regards limitations on oral and public hear-
ings, the Court recalls, first, that the obligation 
to hold a hearing is not absolute. There may 
be proceedings in which an oral hearing is not 
required and where the courts may fairly and 
reasonably decide the case on the basis of the 
parties’ submissions and other written materi-
als. The character of the circumstances that 
may justify dispensing with an oral hearing es-
sentially comes down to the nature of the is-
sues to be decided by the competent national 
court (see Jussila v. Finland [GC], no. 73053/01, 
§§ 41 to 42, ECHR 2006-XIII). The Court notes 
that Rule 9(2) provides that oral hearings are 
within the IPT’s discretion and it is clear that 
there is nothing to prevent the IPT from hold-
ing an oral hearing where it considers that such 
a hearing would assist its examination of the 
case. As the IPT held in its preliminary ruling, 
its discretion to hold oral hearings extends to 
inter partes oral hearings, where such hear-
ings can take place without breaching the IPT’s 
duty to prevent the potentially harmful disclo-
sure of sensitive information (see paragraph 92 
above). Finally, in respect of the stipulation in 
Rule 9(6) that hearings must be held in private 
(interpreted by the IPT not to apply to cases in-
volving the determination of preliminary issues 
of law – see paragraph 93 above), the Court 
notes that it is clear from the terms of Article 6 
§ 1 itself that national security may justify the 

exclusion of the public from the proceedings.

189. Concerning the provision of reasons, the Court 
emphasises that the extent to which the duty 
to give reasons applies may vary according to 
the nature of the decision and must be deter-
mined in the light of the circumstances of the 
case (see Ruiz Torija v. Spain, 9 December 1994, 
§ 29, Series A no. 303-A). In the context of the 
IPT’s proceedings, the Court considers that the 
“neither confirm nor deny” policy of the Gov-
ernment could be circumvented if an applica-
tion to the IPT resulted in a complainant being 
advised whether interception had taken place. 
In the circumstances, it is sufficient that an ap-
plicant be advised that no determination has 
been in his favour. The Court further notes in 
this regard that, in the event that a complaint is 
successful, the complainant is entitled to have 
information regarding the findings of fact in his 
case (see paragraph 87 above).

190. In light of the above considerations, the Court 
considers that the restrictions on the pro-
cedure before the IPT did not violate the ap-
plicant’s right to a fair trial. In reaching this 
conclusion, the Court emphasises the breadth 
of access to the IPT enjoyed by those com-
plaining about interception within the United 
Kingdom and the absence of any evidential 
burden to be overcome in order to lodge an 
application with the IPT. In order to ensure the 
efficacy of the secret surveillance regime, and 
bearing in mind the importance of such meas-
ures to the fight against terrorism and serious 
crime, the Court considers that the restrictions 
on the applicant’s rights in the context of the 
proceedings before the IPT were both neces-
sary and proportionate and did not impair the 
very essence of the applicant’s Article 6 rights.

191. Accordingly, assuming that Article 6 § 1 ap-
plies to the proceedings in question, there has 
been no violation of that Article.

III. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
13 OF THE CONVENTION

192. The applicant further complained that he had 
no effective remedy in respect of the alleged 
violation of Articles 6 § 1 and 8 of the Conven-
tion. He relied on Article 13 of the Convention, 
which provides insofar as relevant as follows:
“Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [the] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
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hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity.”

A. Admissibility
193. The Court notes that the complaint is not man-

ifestly ill-founded within the meaning of Article 
35 § 3 of the Convention. It further notes that 
it is not inadmissible on any other grounds. It 
must therefore be declared admissible.

B. Merits
1.Theparties’submissions

194. The applicant maintained that he had an “argu-
able claim” under Articles 6 § 1 and 8, and that 
the proceedings before the IPT did not afford 
him a remedy as required by Article 13 of the 
Convention as it did not comply with the re-
quirements of Article 6 § 1.

195. The Government contended that there was 
no violation of Article 13 in the present case. 
In particular, they argued that the applicant 
had no arguable claim to be a victim of a viola-
tion of Article 6 § 1 or Article 8; that insofar 
as the applicant’s complaints were in essence 
ones that challenged the relevant legislative 
scheme, the Article 13 complaint must fail 
(citing Leander v. Sweden, 26 March 1987, § 
77(d), Series A no. 116); and that in any event 
the IPT offered an effective remedy.

2.TheCourt’sassessment
196.  Having regard to its conclusions in respect of 

Article 8 and Article 6 § 1 above, the Court 
considers that the IPT offered to the applicant 
an effective remedy insofar as his complaint 
was directed towards the alleged interception 
of his communications. 

197. In respect of the applicant’s general complaint 
under Article 8, the Court reiterates its case-law 
to the effect that Article 13 does not require the 
law to provide an effective remedy where the 
alleged violation arises from primary legislation 
(see James and Others v. the United Kingdom, 
21 February 1986, § 85, Series A no. 98; and 
Leander, cited above, § 77(d)).

198. There has accordingly been no violation of Ar-
ticle 13.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Joins to the merits the Government’s objec-

tion regarding the applicant’s lack of victim 
status and declares the application admissi-
ble;

2. Holds that there has been no violation of 
Article 8 of the Convention and dismisses in 
consequence the Government’s above-men-
tioned objection;

3. Holds that there has been no violation of Arti-
cle 6 § 1 of the Convention;

4. Holds that there has been no violation of Arti-
cle 13 of the Convention.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 18 May 
2010, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the Rules 
of Court.

Lawrence Early, Registrar
Lech Garlicki, President
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INTERNET, PEDOPHILIA, DATING, CHILD, FREEDOM OF 
EXPRESSION, PRIVACY, POSITIVE OBLIGATIONS, SERVICE 
PROVIDER

IN THE CASE Of K.u. v. fINLAND,

The European Court of Human Rights (Fourth Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Nicolas Bratza, President,  
Lech Garlicki,  
Giovanni Bonello,  
Ljiljana Mijović,  
David Thór Björgvinsson,  
Ján Šikuta,  
Päivi Hirvelä, judges,  
and Lawrence Early, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 13 November 
2008, Delivers the following judgment, which was 
adopted on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

2872/02) against the Republic of Finland 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of the 
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Conven-
tion”) by a Finnish national (“the applicant”) on 
1 January 2002. The President of the Chamber 
acceded to the applicant's request not to have 
his name disclosed (Rule 47 § 3 of the Rules 
of Court).

2. The applicant was represented by Mr P. Hut-
tunen, a lawyer practising in Helsinki. The 
Finnish Government (“the Government”) were 
represented by their Agent, Mr Arto Kosonen 
of the Ministry for Foreign Affairs.

3. The applicant alleged, in particular, that the 
State had failed in its positive obligation to pro-
tect his right to respect for private life under 
Article 8 of the Convention.

4. By a decision of 27 June 2006, the Court de-
clared the application admissible.

5. The applicant and the Government each filed 
further written observations (Rule 59 § 1). The 
Chamber having decided, after consulting the 
parties, that no hearing on the merits was re-

quired (Rule 59 § 3 in fine), the parties replied 
in writing to each other's observations. In addi-
tion, third-party comments were received from 
the Helsinki Foundation for Human Rights, 
which had been given leave by the President 
to intervene in the written procedure (Article 
36 § 2 and Rule 44 § 2).

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

6. The applicant was born in 1986.

7. On 15 March 1999 an unknown person or per-
sons placed an advertisement on a dating site 
on the Internet in the name of the applicant, 
who was 12 years old at the time, without his 
knowledge. The advertisement mentioned his 
age and year of birth, gave a detailed descrip-
tion of his physical characteristics, a link to the 
web page he had at the time, which showed 
his picture, as well as his telephone number, 
which was accurate save for one digit. In the 
advertisement, it was claimed that he was look-
ing for an intimate relationship with a boy of 
his age or older “to show him the way”.

8. The applicant became aware of the announce-
ment on the Internet when he received an 
e-mail from a man, offering to meet him and 
“then to see what you want”.

9. The applicant's father requested the police to 
identify the person who had placed the ad-
vertisement in order to prefer charges against 
that person. The service provider, however, re-
fused to divulge the identity of the holder of 
the so-called dynamic IP address in question, 
regarding itself bound by the confidentiality of 
telecommunications as defined by law.

10. The police then asked the Helsinki District Court 
(käräjäoikeus, tingsrätten) to oblige the service 
provider to divulge the said information pursu-
ant to section 28 of the Criminal Investigations 
Act (esitutkintalaki, förundersökningslagen; Act 
no. 449/1987 449/1987, as amended by Act 
no. 692/1997 692/1997).

11. In a decision issued on 19 January 2001, the 
District Court refused since there was no ex-
plicit legal provision authorising it to order the 
service provider to disclose telecommunica-
tions identification data in breach of profes-
sional secrecy. The court noted that by virtue 
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of Chapter 5a, section 3, of the Coercive Meas-
ures Act (pakkokeinolaki, tvångsmedelslagen; 
Act no. 450/1987 450/1987) and section 18 of 
the Protection of Privacy and Data Security in 
Telecommunications Act (laki yksityisyyden-
suojasta televiestinnässä ja teletoiminnan 
tietoturvasta, lag om integritetsskydd vid tele-
kommunikation och dataskydd inom televerk-
samhet; Act no. 565/1999 565/1999) the police 
had the right to obtain telecommunications 
identification data in cases concerning certain 
offences, notwithstanding the obligation to 
observe secrecy. However, malicious misrepre-
sentation was not such an offence.

12. On 14 March 2001 the Court of Appeal (hov-
ioikeus, hovrätten) upheld the decision and on 
31 August 2001 the Supreme Court (korkein 
oikeus, högsta domstolen) refused leave to ap-
peal.

13. The person who answered the dating adver-
tisement and contacted the applicant was 
identified through his e-mail address.

14. The managing director of the company which 
provided the Internet service could not be 
charged, because in his decision of 2 April 
2001 the prosecutor found that the alleged 
offence had become time-barred. The alleged 
offence was a violation of the Personal Data 
Act (henkilötietolaki, personuppgiftslagen; 
Act no. 523/99, which entered into force on 
1 June 1999). More specifically, the service pro-
vider had published a defamatory announce-
ment on its website without verifying the iden-
tity of the sender.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

15. The Finnish Constitution Act (Suomen halli-
tusmuoto, Regeringsform för Finland; Act no. 
94/1919, as amended by Act no. 969/1995) was 
in force until 1 March 2000. Its section 8 cor-
responded to Article 10 of the current Finnish 
Constitution (Suomen perustuslaki, Finlands 
grundlag; Act no. 731/1999 731/1999), which 
provides that everyone's right to private life is 
guaranteed.

16. At the material time, Chapter 27, Article 3, of 
the Penal Code (rikoslaki, strafflagen; Act no. 
908/1974) provided:
“A personwho in amanner other than that
statedabovecommitsanactofmaliciousmis-
representation against another by a deroga-

torystatement,threatorotherdegradingact
shallbesentencedformaliciousmisrepresen-
tationtoafineortoimprisonmentforamaxi-
mumperiodofthreemonths.

Ifthemaliciousmisrepresentationiscommit-
ted inpublicor inprint,writingoragraphic
representationdisseminatedbytheguiltypar-
tyorwhichtheguiltypartycauses,theperson
responsibleshallbesentencedtoafineorto
imprisonment for amaximumperiodof four
months.”

17. At the material time, Chapter 5a, section 3, of 
the Coercive Measures Act provided:
“Preconditions of telecommunicationsmoni-
toring

Wherethereisreasontosuspectapersonof

1)anoffencepunishablebynotlessthanfour
months'imprisonment,

2)anoffenceagainstacomputersystemusing
aterminaldevice,anarcoticsoffence,or

3)apunishableattempttocommitanoffence
referredtoaboveinthissection,

theauthoritycarryingout thecriminal inves-
tigationmaybe authorised tomonitor a tel-
ecommunicationsconnectioninthesuspect's
possession or otherwise presumed to be in
hisuse,ortemporarilytodisablesuchacon-
nection, if the information obtained by the
monitoringorthedisablingoftheconnection
canbeassumedtobeveryimportantforthe
investigationoftheoffence...”

18. Section 18, subsection 1(1) of the Protection 
of Privacy and Data Security in Telecommu-
nications Act, which entered into force on 
1 July 1999 and was repealed on 1 September 
2004, provided:
“Notwithstanding the obligation of secrecy
providedforinsection7,thepolicehavethe
righttoobtain:

(1) identification data on transmissions to a
particular transcriber connection, with the
consentoftheinjuredpartyandtheownerof
the subscriber connection, necessary for the
purpose of investigating an offence referred
to inChapter16,Article9a,Chapter17,Arti-
cle13(2)orChapter24,Article3aofthePenal
Code(Actno.39/1889)...”

19. Section 48 of the Personal Data Act provides 
that the service provider is under criminal lia-
bility to verify the identity of the sender before 
publishing a defamatory announcement on its 
website. Section 47 provides that the service 
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provider is also liable in damages.

20. At the material time, processing and publish-
ing sensitive information concerning sexual 
behaviour on an Internet server without the 
subject's consent was criminalised as a data 
protection offence in section 43 of the Person-
al Files Act (Act no. 630/1995 630/1995) and 
Chapter 38, Article 9 (Act no. 578/1995) of the 
Penal Code, and as a data protection violation 
in section 44 of the Personal Files Act. Further-
more, it could have caused liability in dam-
ages by virtue of section 42 (Act no. 471/1987 
471/1987) of the said Act.

21. Section 17 of the Exercise of Freedom of Ex-
pression in Mass Media Act (laki sanavapauden 
käyttämisestä joukkoviestinnässä, lagen om 
yttrandefrihet i masskommunikation: Act no. 
460/2003 460/2003), which came into force on 
1 January 2004, provides:
“Releaseof identifying information for anet-
workmessage

Attherequestofanofficialwiththepowerof
arrest,apublicprosecutororaninjuredparty,
acourtmayorderthekeeperofatransmitter,
serverorothersimilardevicetoreleaseinfor-
mation required for the identification of the
senderofanetworkmessagetotherequester,
providedthattherearereasonablegroundsto
believethatthecontentsofthemessageare
suchthatprovidingittothepublicisacrimi-
naloffence.However,thereleaseoftheidenti-
fyinginformationtotheinjuredpartymaybe
orderedonly in theevent thatheor shehas
therighttobringaprivateprosecutionforthe
offence. The request shall be filed with the
DistrictCourtofthedomicileofthekeeperof
thedevice,orwiththeHelsinkiDistrictCourt,
withinthreemonthsofthepublicationofthe
messageinquestion.Thecourtmayreinforce
theorderbyimposingathreatofafine.”

III. RELEVANT INTERNATIONAL 
MATERIALS

A. The Council of Europe
22. The rapid development of telecommunica-

tions technologies in recent decades has led 
to the emergence of new types of crime and 
has also enabled the commission of traditional 
crimes by means of new technologies. The 
Council of Europe recognised the need to re-
spond adequately and rapidly to this new chal-
lenge as far back as in 1989, when the Commit-
tee of Ministers adopted Recommendation No. 

R (89) 9 on computer-related crime. Resolved 
to ensure that the investigating authorities 
possessed appropriate special powers in in-
vestigating computer-related crimes, in 1995 
the Committee of Ministers adopted Recom-
mendation No. R (95) 13 concerning problems 
of criminal procedural law connected with in-
formation technology. In point 12 of the princi-
ples appended thereto, it recommended that:
“Specific obligations should be imposed on
service-providers who offer telecommunica-
tionservicestothepublic,eitherthroughpub-
licorprivatenetworks,toprovideinformation
to identify theuser,when soorderedby the
competentinvestigatingauthority.”

23. The other principles relating to the obligation 
to co-operate with the investigating authori-
ties stated:
“9. Subject to legal privileges or protection,
most legal systems permit investigating au-
thoritiestoorderpersonstohandoverobjects
undertheircontrolthatarerequiredtoserve
as evidence. In a parallel fashion, provisions
shouldbemade for thepower toorderper-
sonstosubmitanyspecifieddataundertheir
control inacomputersysteminthe formre-
quiredbytheinvestigatingauthority.

10.Subjecttolegalprivilegesorprotection,in-
vestigatingauthoritiesshouldhavethepower
toorderpersonswhohavedatainacomputer
systemundertheircontroltoprovideallnec-
essaryinformationtoenableaccesstoacom-
puter system and the data therein. Criminal
procedural law should ensure that a similar
ordercanbegiventootherpersonswhohave
knowledgeaboutthefunctioningofthecom-
puter system ormeasures applied to secure
thedatatherein.”

24. In 1996, the European Committee on Crime 
Problems set up a committee of experts to 
deal with cybercrime. It was felt that, although 
the previous two recommendations on sub-
stantive and procedural law had not gone 
unheeded, only a binding international instru-
ment could ensure the necessary efficiency 
in the fight against cyber-space offences. The 
Convention on Cybercrime was opened for 
signature on 23 November 2001 and entered 
into force on 1 July 2004. It is the first and only 
international treaty on crimes committed via 
Internet and is open to all States. The Conven-
tion requires countries to establish as criminal 
offences the following acts: illegal access to a 
computer system, illegal interception of com-
puter data, interference with data or a com-
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puter system, misuse of devices, computer-re-
lated forgery and fraud, child pornography, the 
infringement of copyright and related rights. 
The additional protocol to the Convention, 
adopted in 2003, further requires the criminali-
sation of hate speech, xenophobia and racism. 
The scope of the Convention's procedural pro-
visions goes beyond the offences defined in 
the Convention in that it applies to any offence 
committed by means of a computer system:
“Article14-Scopeofproceduralprovisions

1.EachPartyshalladoptsuch legislativeand
othermeasuresasmaybenecessarytoestab-
lish thepowersandproceduresprovided for
inthissectionforthepurposeofspecificcrimi-
nalinvestigationsorproceedings.

2. ... each Party shall apply the powers and
procedures referredto inparagraph1of this
articleto:

a)thecriminaloffencesestablishedinaccord-
ancewith Articles 2 through 11 of this Con-
vention;

b) other criminal offences committed by
meansofacomputersystem;and

c)thecollectionofevidenceinelectronicform
ofacriminaloffence.

3....”

25. The procedural powers include the following: 
expedited preservation of stored data, expe-
dited preservation and partial disclosure of 
traffic data, production order, search and sei-
zure of computer data, real-time collection of 
traffic data and interception of content data. Of 
particular relevance is the power to order a ser-
vice provider to submit subscriber information 
relating to its services; indeed, the explanatory 
report describes the difficulty in identifying the 
perpetrator as being one of the major chal-
lenges in combating crime in the networked 
environment:
“Article18–Productionorder

1.EachPartyshalladoptsuch legislativeand
othermeasures asmay be necessary to em-
poweritscompetentauthoritiestoorder:

a)apersoninitsterritorytosubmitspecified
computerdatainthatperson'spossessionor
control,whichisstoredinacomputersystem
oracomputer-datastoragemedium;and

b)aserviceproviderofferingitsservicesinthe
territoryof theParty tosubmitsubscriber in-
formationrelatingtosuchservicesinthatser-

viceprovider'spossessionorcontrol.

2. Thepowers andprocedures referred to in
thisArticleshallbesubjecttoArticles14and
15.

3.ForthepurposeofthisArticletheterm“sub-
scriber information” means any information
containedintheformofcomputerdataorany
other formthat isheldbyaserviceprovider,
relating to subscribers of its services, other
thantrafficorcontentdataandbywhichcan
beestablished:

a) the type of communication service used,
thetechnicalprovisionstakentheretoandthe
periodofservice;

b) the subscriber's identity, postal or geo-
graphic address, telephoneandother access
number, billing and payment information,
available on the basis of the service agree-
mentorarrangement;

c)anyotherinformationonthesiteofthein-
stallationofcommunicationequipment,avail-
ableonthebasisoftheserviceagreementor
arrangement.”

26. The explanatory report notes that, in the course 
of a criminal investigation, subscriber informa-
tion may be needed mainly in two situations. 
Firstly, to identify which services and related 
technical measures have been used or are be-
ing used by a subscriber, such as the type of 
telephone service used, type of other associ-
ated services used (for example call forward-
ing, voice-mail), telephone number or other 
technical address (for example e-mail address). 
Secondly, when a technical address is known, 
subscriber information is needed in order to 
assist in establishing the identity of the person 
concerned. A production order provides a less 
intrusive and less onerous measure which law 
enforcement authorities can apply instead of 
measures such as interception of content data 
and real-time collection of traffic data, which 
must or can be limited only to serious offences 
(Articles 20 and 21).

27. A global conference “Cooperation against Cy-
bercrime” held in Strasbourg on 1-2 April 2008 
adopted “Guidelines for the cooperation be-
tween law enforcement and internet service 
providers against cybercrime.” Their purpose 
is to help law enforcement authorities and In-
ternet service providers structure their interac-
tion in relation to cybercrime issues. In order to 
enhance cyber-security and minimise use of 
services for illegal purposes, it was considered 
essential that the two parties cooperate with 
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each other in an efficient manner. The guide-
lines outline practical measures to be taken by 
law enforcement agencies and service provid-
ers, encouraging them to exchange informa-
tion in order to strengthen their capacity to 
identify and combat emerging types of cyber-
crime. In particular, service providers were en-
couraged to cooperate with law enforcement 
agencies to help minimise the extent to which 
services are used for criminal activity as defined 
by law.

B. The united Nations
28. Out of a number of resolutions adopted in the 

field of cyberspace, the most pertinent for the 
purposes of the present case are General As-
sembly resolutions 55/63 of 4 December 2000 
and 56/121 of 19 December 2001 on “Combat-
ing the criminal misuse of information technol-
ogies”. Among the measures to combat such 
misuse, it was recommended in Resolution 
55/63 that:
“(f)Legalsystemsshouldpermitthepreserva-
tionofandquickaccesstoelectronicdataper-
tainingtoparticularcriminalinvestigations;”

29. The subsequent resolution took note of the 
value of the various measures and again invit-
ed member States to take them into account.

C. The European union
30. On 15 March 2006 the European Parliament 

and the Council of the European Union adopt-
ed Directive 2006/24/EC on the retention of 
data generated or processed in connection 
with the provision of publicly available elec-
tronic communications services or of public 
communications networks, amending the pre-
vious data retention Directive 2002/58/EC. The 
aim of the Directive is to harmonise member 
States' provisions concerning the obligations 
of communications providers with respect to 
the retention of certain data, in order to ensure 
that the data are available for the purpose of 
the investigation, detection and prosecution 
of serious crime, as defined by each member 
State in its national law. It applies to traffic and 
location data on both legal entities and natu-
ral persons and to the related data necessary 
to identify the subscriber or registered user. 
It does not apply to the content of electronic 
communications. The Directive requires mem-
ber States to ensure that certain categories 
of data are retained for a period between six 
months and two years. Article 5 specifies the 
data to be retained:

“1.MemberStatesshallensurethatthefollow-
ingcategoriesofdataareretainedunderthis
Directive:

(a) data necessary to trace and identify the
sourceofacommunication:

...

(2)concerningInternetaccess,Internete-mail
andInternettelephony:

...

(iii)thenameandaddressofthesubscriberor
registeredusertowhomanInternetProtocol
(IP)address,userIDortelephonenumberwas
allocatedatthetimeofthecommunication;”

31. Member States had until 15 September 2007 
to implement the Directive. However, 16 states, 
including Finland, made use of the right to 
postpone their application to Internet access, 
Internet telephony and Internet e-mail until 15 
March 2009.

IV. COMPARATIVE LAW

32. A comparative review of national legislation of 
the member States of the Council of Europe 
shows that in most countries there is a specific 
obligation on the part of telecommunications 
service providers to submit computer data, 
including subscriber information, in response 
to a request by the investigating or judicial 
authorities, regardless of the nature of a crime. 
Some countries have only general provisions 
on the production of documents and other 
data, which could in practice be extended to 
cover also the obligation to submit specified 
computer and subscriber data. Several coun-
tries have not yet implemented the provisions 
of Article 18 of the Council of Europe Conven-
tion on Cybercrime.

V. THIRD PARTY SUBMISSIONS

33. The Helsinki Foundation for Human Rights sub-
mitted that the present case raises the question 
of balancing the protection of privacy, honour 
and reputation on the one hand and the exer-
cise of freedom of expression on the other. It 
took the view that the present case offers the 
Court an opportunity to define the State's posi-
tive obligations in this sphere and thereby to 
promote common standards in the use of the 
Internet throughout the member States.

34. It pointed out that the Internet is a very spe-
cial method of communication and one of the 
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fundamental principles of its use is anonymity. 
The high level of anonymity encourages free 
speech and expression of various ideas. On 
the other hand, Internet is a powerful tool for 
defaming or insulting people or violating their 
right to privacy. Due to the anonymity of the 
Internet, the victim of a violation is in a vulner-
able position. Contrary to traditional media, the 
victim cannot easily identify the defaming per-
son due to the fact that it is possible to hide be-
hind a nickname or even to use a false identity.

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF 
ARTICLES 8 AND 13 OF THE 
CONVENTION

35. The applicant complained under Article 8 of 
the Convention that an invasion of his private 
life had taken place and that no effective rem-
edy existed to reveal the identity of the person 
who had put a defamatory text on the Internet 
in his name, contrary to Article 13 of the Con-
vention.
Article8provides:

“1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

Article13provides:

“Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [the] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity.”

A. The parties' submissions
36. The applicant submitted that Finnish legisla-

tion at the time protected the criminal whereas 
the victim had no means to obtain redress or 
protection against a breach of privacy. Under 
the Penal Code the impugned act was punish-

able, but the Government had neglected to 
ensure that the Protection of Privacy and Data 
Security in Telecommunications Act and the 
Coercive Measures Act were consistent with 
each other. He argued that the random possi-
bility of seeking civil damages, particularly from 
a third party, was not sufficient to protect his 
rights. He emphasised that he did not have the 
means to identify the person who had placed 
the advertisement on the Internet. While com-
pensation might in some cases be an effective 
remedy, this depended on whether it was paid 
by the person who infringed the victim's rights, 
which was not the case in his application. Ac-
cording to the Government, new legislation 
was in place which, had it existed at the time 
of the events, would have rendered this com-
plaint unnecessary. In the applicant's view, the 
Government had not provided any justification 
for the failure to afford him this protection at 
the material time. He considered, therefore, 
that there had been breaches of Articles 8 and 
13.

37. The Government emphasised that in the pre-
sent case the interference with the applicant's 
private life had been committed by another 
individual. The impugned act was considered 
in domestic law as an act of malicious misrep-
resentation and would have been punishable 
as such, which had a deterrent effect. An inves-
tigation was started to identify the person who 
had placed the advertisement on the Internet, 
but was unsuccessful due to the legislation 
in force at the time, which aimed to protect 
freedom of expression and the right to anony-
mous expression. The legislation protected the 
publisher of an anonymous Internet message 
so extensively that the protection also covered 
messages that possibly interfered with another 
person's privacy. This side-effect of the protec-
tion was due to the fact that the concept of a 
message interfering with the protection of pri-
vacy was not clear-cut, and therefore it had not 
been possible to exclude clearly such messag-
es from the protection provided by law. There 
were however other avenues of redress avail-
able, for example the Personal Data Act, which 
provided protection against malicious misrep-
resentation in that the operator of the server, 
on the basis of that Act's provisions on criminal 
liability and liability in damages, was obliged to 
ensure that sensitive data recorded by it were 
processed with the consent of the data sub-
ject. Furthermore, although the personal data 
offence had become time-barred the applicant 
still had the possibility to seek compensation 
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from the publisher of the advertisement. By 
comparison with the case of X and Y v. the 
Netherlands (judgment of 26 March 1985, Se-
ries A no. 91), in the present case liability in 
damages in the context of a less serious of-
fence provided a sufficient deterrent effect. In 
addition, there were other mechanisms avail-
able to the applicant, such as a pre-trial police 
investigation, prosecution, court proceedings 
and damages.

38. The Government submitted that it was impor-
tant to look at the legislative situation at the 
material time in its social context, when a rapid 
increase in the use of the Internet was just be-
ginning. The current legislation, the Exercise of 
Freedom of Expression in Mass Media Act (sec-
tions 2 and 17), which took effect on 1 January 
2004, gives the police more extensive powers 
to break the protection of the publisher of an 
anonymous Internet message for the purposes 
of crime investigation. The new legislation re-
flects the legislator's reaction to social develop-
ment where increased use – and at the same 
time abuse – of the Internet has required a re-
definition of the limits of protection. Thus, be-
cause of a changed situation in society, subse-
quent legislation has further strengthened the 
protection of private life in respect of freedom 
of expression, and especially the protection of 
publishers of anonymous Internet messages.

39. However, most essential in the present case 
was that even the legislation in force at the 
material time provided the applicant with 
means of action against the distribution of 
messages invading privacy, in that the opera-
tor of the Internet server on which the message 
was published was obliged by law to verify that 
the person in question had consented to the 
processing of sensitive information concerning 
him or her on the operator's server. This obli-
gation was bolstered by criminal liability and 
liability in damages. Thus, the legislation pro-
vided the applicant with sufficient protection 
of privacy and effective legal remedies.

B. The Court's assessment
40. The Court notes at the outset that the appli-

cant, a minor of 12 years at the time, was the 
subject of an advertisement of a sexual nature 
on an Internet dating site. The identity of the 
person who had placed the advertisement 
could not, however, be obtained from the In-
ternet provider due to the legislation in place 
at the time.

41. There is no dispute as to the applicability of 
Article 8: the facts underlying the application 
concern a matter of “private life”, a concept 
which covers the physical and moral integrity 
of the person (see X and Y v. the Netherlands, 
cited above, § 22). Although this case is seen 
in domestic law terms as one of malicious 
misrepresentation, the Court would prefer to 
highlight these particular aspects of the notion 
of private life, having regard to the potential 
threat to the applicant's physical and men-
tal welfare brought about by the impugned 
situation and to his vulnerability in view of his 
young age.

42. The Court reiterates that, although the object 
of Article 8 is essentially to protect the indi-
vidual against arbitrary interference by the 
public authorities, it does not merely compel 
the State to abstain from such interference: in 
addition to this primarily negative undertaking, 
there may be positive obligations inherent in 
an effective respect for private or family life 
(see Airey v. Ireland, judgment of 9 October 
1979, Series A no. 32, § 32).

43. These obligations may involve the adoption 
of measures designed to secure respect for 
private life even in the sphere of the relations 
of individuals between themselves. There are 
different ways of ensuring respect for private 
life and the nature of the State's obligation will 
depend on the particular aspect of private life 
that is at issue. While the choice of the means 
to secure compliance with Article 8 in the 
sphere of protection against acts of individuals 
is, in principle, within the State's margin of ap-
preciation, effective deterrence against grave 
acts, where fundamental values and essential 
aspects of private life are at stake, requires effi-
cient criminal-law provisions (see X and Y v. the 
Netherlands, §§ 23-24 and 27; August v. the 
United Kingdom (dec.), no. 36505/02, 21 Janu-
ary 2003, and M.C. v. Bulgaria, no. 39272/98 
39272/98 , § 150, ECHR 2003-XII).

44. The limits of the national authorities' margin 
of appreciation are nonetheless circumscribed 
by the Convention provisions. In interpret-
ing them, since the Convention is first and 
foremost a system for the protection of hu-
man rights, the Court must have regard to the 
changing conditions within Contracting States 
and respond, for example, to any evolving con-
vergence as to the standards to be achieved 
(see Christine Goodwin v. the United Kingdom 
[GC], no. 28957/95, § 74, ECHR 2002-VI).
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45. The Court considers that, while this case might 
not attain the seriousness of X and Y v. the 
Netherlands, where a breach of Article 8 arose 
from the lack of an effective criminal sanction 
for the rape of a handicapped girl, it cannot be 
treated as trivial. The act was criminal, involved 
a minor and made him a target for approaches 
by paedophiles (see, also, paragraph 41 above 
in this connection).

46. The Government conceded that at the time 
the operator of the server could not be ordered 
to provide information identifying the offend-
er. They argued that protection was provided 
by the mere existence of the criminal offence 
of malicious misrepresentation and by the 
possibility of bringing criminal charges or an 
action for damages against the server opera-
tor. As to the former, the Court notes that the 
existence of an offence has limited deterrent 
effects if there is no means to identify the ac-
tual offender and to bring him to justice. Here, 
the Court notes that it has not excluded the 
possibility that the State's positive obligations 
under Article 8 to safeguard the individual's 
physical or moral integrity may extend to ques-
tions relating to the effectiveness of a criminal 
investigation even where the criminal liability 
of agents of the State is not at issue (see Osman 
v. the United Kingdom, judgment of 28 Octo-
ber 1998, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 
1998-VIII, § 128). For the Court, States have a 
positive obligation inherent in Article 8 of the 
Convention to criminalise offences against the 
person, including attempted offences, and to 
reinforce the deterrent effect of criminalisation 
by applying criminal-law provisions in practice 
through effective investigation and prosecu-
tion (see, mutatis mutandis, M.C. v. Bulgaria, 
cited above, § 153). Where the physical and 
moral welfare of a child is threatened such 
injunction assumes even greater importance. 
The Court recalls in this connection that sexual 
abuse is unquestionably an abhorrent type of 
wrongdoing, with debilitating effects on its 
victims. Children and other vulnerable indi-
viduals are entitled to State protection, in the 
form of effective deterrence, from such grave 
types of interference with essential aspects of 
their private lives (see Stubbings and Others v. 
the United Kingdom, 22 October 1996, § 64, 
Reports 1996-IV).

47. As to the Government's argument that the ap-
plicant had the possibility to obtain damages 
from a third party, namely the service provider, 
the Court considers that it was not sufficient in 
the circumstances of this case. It is plain that 

both the public interest and the protection of 
the interests of victims of crimes committed 
against their physical or psychological well-
being require the availability of a remedy ena-
bling the actual offender to be identified and 
brought to justice, in the instant case the per-
son who placed the advertisement in the appli-
cant's name, and the victim to obtain financial 
reparation from him.

48. The Court accepts that in view of the difficul-
ties involved in policing modern societies, a 
positive obligation must be interpreted in a 
way which does not impose an impossible or 
disproportionate burden on the authorities or, 
as in this case, the legislator. Another relevant 
consideration is the need to ensure that pow-
ers to control, prevent and investigate crime 
are exercised in a manner which fully respects 
the due process and other guarantees which 
legitimately place restraints on crime investi-
gation and bringing offenders to justice, in-
cluding the guarantees contained in Articles 
8 and 10 of the Convention, guarantees which 
offenders themselves can rely on. The Court is 
sensitive to the Government's argument that 
any legislative shortcoming should be seen in 
its social context at the time. The Court notes 
at the same time that the relevant incident 
took place in 1999, that is, at a time when it 
was well-known that the Internet, precisely 
because of its anonymous character, could be 
used for criminal purposes (see paragraphs 22 
and 24 above). Also the widespread problem 
of child sexual abuse had become well-known 
over the preceding decade. Therefore, it can-
not be said that the respondent Government 
did not have the opportunity to put in place a 
system to protect child victims from being ex-
posed as targets for paedophiliac approaches 
via the Internet.

49. The Court considers that practical and effective 
protection of the applicant required that effec-
tive steps be taken to identify and prosecute 
the perpetrator, that is, the person who placed 
the advertisement. In the instant case such 
protection was not afforded. An effective in-
vestigation could never be launched because 
of an overriding requirement of confidentiality. 
Although freedom of expression and confiden-
tiality of communications are primary consid-
erations and users of telecommunications and 
Internet services must have a guarantee that 
their own privacy and freedom of expression 
will be respected, such guarantee cannot be 
absolute and must yield on occasion to other 
legitimate imperatives, such as the prevention 
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of disorder or crime or the protection of the 
rights and freedoms of others. Without preju-
dice to the question whether the conduct of 
the person who placed the offending adver-
tisement on the Internet can attract the pro-
tection of Articles 8 and 10, having regard to its 
reprehensible nature, it is nonetheless the task 
of the legislator to provide the framework for 
reconciling the various claims which compete 
for protection in this context. Such framework 
was not however in place at the material time, 
with the result that Finland's positive obliga-
tion with respect to the applicant could not 
be discharged. This deficiency was later ad-
dressed. However, the mechanisms introduced 
by the Exercise of Freedom of Expression in 
Mass Media Act (see paragraph 21 above) 
came too late for the applicant.

50. The Court finds that there has been a violation 
of Article 8 in the present case.

51. Having regard to the finding relating to Article 
8, the Court considers that it is not necessary 
to examine whether, in this case, there has also 
been a violation of Article 13 (see, among other 
authorities, Sallinen and Others v. Finland, 
no. 50882/99 50882/99, §§ 102 and 110, 27 
September 2005, and Copland v. the United 
Kingdom, no. 62617/00 62617/00, §§ 50-51, 
ECHR 2007-...).

II. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

52. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage
53. Under the head of non-pecuniary damage the 

applicant claimed 3,500 euros (EUR) for suffer-
ing.

54. The Government submitted that the award 
should not exceed EUR 2,500.

55. The Court finds it established that the appli-
cant must have suffered non-pecuniary dam-
age. It considers that sufficient just satisfaction 
would not be provided solely by the finding of 
a violation and that compensation has thus to 

be awarded. Deciding on an equitable basis, 
it awards the applicant EUR 3,000 under this 
head.

B. Costs and expenses
56. The applicant claimed EUR 2,500 for costs in-

curred during the national proceedings and 
the proceedings before the Court.

57. The Government questioned whether the ap-
plicant had furnished the requisite documen-
tation.

58. The Court notes that no documentation as 
required by Rule 60 of the Rules of Court has 
been submitted. These claims must therefore 
be rejected.

C. Default interest
59. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.
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FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that there has been a violation of Arti-
cle 8 of the Convention;

2. Holds that there is no need to examine the 
complaint under Article 13 of the Convention;

3. Holds

a. that the respondent State is to pay the ap-
plicant, within three months from the date 
on which the judgment becomes final in 
accordance with Article 44 § 2 of the Con-
vention, EuR 3,000 (three thousand euros), 
plus any tax that may be chargeable, in re-
spect of non-pecuniary damage;

b. that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amount at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

4. Dismisses the remainder of the applicant's 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 2 De-
cember 2008, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of 
the Rules of Court.

Lawrence Early, Registrar
Nicolas Bratza, President
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INTERNET, FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION, INTERNET PUBLI-
CATION RULE, NEWS, ARCHIVE, REPUTATION, DEFAMA-
TION, PUBLIC KNOWLEDGE

IN THE CASE Of TIMES NEWSPAPERS LTD (NOS. 1 
AND 2) v. THE uNITED KINGDOM,

The European Court of Human Rights (Fourth Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Lech Garlicki, President,  
Nicolas Bratza,  
Giovanni Bonello,  
Ljiljana Mijović,  
Päivi Hirvelä,  
Ledi Bianku,  
Nebojša Vučinić, judges, 
and Lawrence Early, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 17 February 2009, 
Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in two applications (nos. 

3002/03 and 23676/03) against the United 
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of the 
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Conven-
tion”) by Times Newspapers Ltd on 28 October 
2002 and 28 July 2003 respectively.

2. The applicant was represented by Reynolds 
Porter Chamberlain, a law firm in London. The 
United Kingdom Government (“the Govern-
ment”) were represented by their Agent, Mr J. 
Grainger of the Foreign and Commonwealth 
Office.

3. The applicant alleged that the rule under Unit-
ed Kingdom law whereby each time material 
is downloaded from the Internet a new cause 
of action in libel proceedings accrued (“the In-
ternet publication rule”) constituted an unjus-
tifiable and disproportionate restriction on its 
right to freedom of expression.

4. On 11 October 2005 the Court declared inad-
missible part of the application and commu-
nicated the remainder of the application to 

the Government. It also decided to examine 
the merits of this part of the application at the 
same time as its admissibility (Article 29 § 3).

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

5. The applicant, Times Newspaper Ltd, is the pro-
prietor and publisher of The Times newspaper. 
The applicant is registered in England.

A. The two articles in The Times

6. On 8 September 1999 The Times published a 
report in the printed version of the newspa-
per headlined “Second Russian Link to Money 
Laundering”. This report stated:
“BritishandAmericaninvestigatorsareexam-
ining the role of an alleged second Russian
mafiabossoverpossibleinvolvementinmon-
ey-launderingthroughtheBankofNewYork.

Investigatorsareunderstoodtobelookingat
linksto[G.L.:hisnamewassetoutinfullinthe
originalarticle],whosecompany,Nordexhas
beendescribedbytheCIAasan‘organisation
associatedwithRussiancriminalactivity’.

[G.L.]’s name surfaced in earliermoney-laun-
dering investigations which may have links
to theBankofNewYorkaffair, inwhichmil-
lionsofdollarsofRussianmoneyarealleged
tohavebeenlaundered.

The Russian-born businessman came to the
attention of European andAmerican investi-
gators in the early Nineties. They suspected
Nordexofusing its former internationalbase
inViennaas a front for a large-scalemoney-
launderingoperation.Hisnamealsofiguredin
aBritishpolicereport in1995,knownasOp-
eration Ivan,whichlookedattheextentofthe
influenceoftheRussianmobinLondon.

[G.L.]hasrepeatedlydeniedanywrong-doing
orlinkstocriminalactivity.

Nordex,whichhassincemovedoutofVienna,
is also alleged to have been involved in the
smuggling of nuclear weapons and by the
mid-1990s reportedly controlled about 60
businessesintheformerSovietUnionandan-
other40companiesintheWest.

The Times has learnt that these included
between eight and ten off-shore companies
inBritish jurisdictions, including theChannel
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IslandsandtheIsleofMan.

Theywereadministeredthroughachartered
accountant in central London whose offices
andhomewereraidedin1996byofficersfrom
theCityofLondonPolice.

Thecompaniesweresuspectedofbeingused
tohelplaundermoneyfromRussia,whichwas
thenchannelledthroughEuropeanbanks.No
chargeswere ever filed against the account-
ant.

AtaboutthesametimeaYugoslavassociate
said to have been a frontman for [G.L.] was
stopped and questioned after arriving at a
Londonairport.Nochargeswerefiledagainst
him.

The British investigation into Nordex is be-
lievedtohavefailedbecauseofthedifficulty
of establishing that the money funnelled
through off-shore companies controlled by
Nordexwaslinkedtocriminalactivities.

[G.L.] is alleged to be a former business as-
sociate of Viktor Chernomyrdin, the former
RussianPrimeMinister,andin1995hisname
hittheheadlinesafteritemergedthathehad
beenphotographedwithPresidentClintonat
aDemocratfund-raisingeventin1993.

He isalsoallegedtohavehadbusinessdeal-
ingswithSemyonMogilevich,theHungarian-
basedmafiafigureatthecentreoftheBankof
NewYorkinvestigation.”

7. On 14 October 1999 The Times published a 
second article entitled “Trader linked to mafia 
boss, wife claims”. This report stated:
“A Russian businessman under investigation
by Swiss authorities pursuing allegations of
money-laundering was a friend of [G.L.], a
suspectedmafiaboss,thebusinessman’swife
claims.

Lev Chernoi, the aluminium magnate under
Swiss investigation,wasgivenaccess to staff
andachauffeurby[G.L.]whenhemovedtoIs-
rael,accordingtoLyudmilaChernoi,MrCher-
noi’sestrangedwife...

IfMrsChernoi’sallegationaboutaconnection
betweenherhusbandand[G.L.]istrue,itwill
raise further questions about Mr Chernoi. In
1996 the CIA described Nordex, a company
operatedby [G.L.] and alleged to have been
usedtolaundermoneyandsmugglenuclear
weapons,asan ‘organisationassociatedwith
Russiancriminalactivity’.

In1996[G.L.]triggeredarowinAmericaaftera
photographwaspublishedofhimwithPresi-

dent Clinton in 1993. [G.L.] has denied any
wrongdoing.”

8. Both articles were uploaded onto the appli-
cant’s website on the same day as they were 
published in its newspaper.

B. The commencement of proceedings
9. On 6 December 1999 G.L. brought proceedings 

for libel in respect of the two articles printed in 
the newspaper against the applicant, its editor 
and the two journalists under whose by-lines 
the articles appeared, (“the first action”). The 
defendants did not dispute that the articles 
were potentially defamatory and did not seek 
to prove that the allegations were true. Instead, 
they relied solely on the defence of qualified 
privilege, contending that the allegations were 
of such a kind and such seriousness that they 
had a duty to publish the information and the 
public had a corresponding right to know.

10. While the first action was underway, the ar-
ticles remained on the applicant’s website, 
where they were accessible to Internet users 
as part of the applicant’s archive of past issues. 
On 6 December 2000, G.L. brought a second 
action for libel in relation to the continuing In-
ternet publication of the articles (“the second 
action”). Initially, the defendants’ only defence 
to the second action was one of qualified privi-
lege. The two actions were consolidated and 
set down for a split trial on issues of liability and 
then quantum.

11. On 23 December 2000, the applicant added 
the following preface to both articles in the 
Internet archive:
“ThisarticleissubjecttoHighCourtlibellitiga-
tionbetween[G.L.]andTimesNewspapers.It
shouldnotbereproducedorreliedonwithout
referencetoTimesNewspapersLegalDepart-
ment.”

C. The Internet publications proceedings
12. In or around March 2001 the defendants ap-

plied to re-amend their defence in the second 
action in order “to contend that as a matter 
of law the only actionable publication of a 
newspaper article on the Internet is that which 
occurs when the article is first posted on the 
Internet” (“the single publication rule”). They 
argued that, as a result, the second action was 
time-barred by section 4A of the Limitation Act 
1980.

13. On 19 March 2001 the High Court refused per-
mission to re-amend the defence, relying in 
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particular on the common law rule set out in 
Duke of Brunswick v Harmer (see paragraph 20 
below) that each publication of a defamation 
gives rise to a separate cause of action. The 
court held that, in the context of the Internet, 
this meant that a new cause of action accrued 
every time the defamatory material was ac-
cessed (“the Internet publication rule”).

14. On 20 March 2001 the High Court found that 
the defendants had no reasonable grounds for 
contending that after 21 February 2000 (the 
date on which the defendants lodged their de-
fence in the first action) they remained under 
a duty to publish the articles on the Internet. 
As a result, the court struck out the defence of 
qualified privilege in relation to the second ac-
tion. On 27 March 2001, judgment was entered 
for G.L. in the second action, with damages to 
be assessed. By this time the applicant had re-
moved the articles from its website.

D. The Court of Appeal
15. The defendants appealed against the High 

Court’s order of 19 March 2001 rejecting the 
single publication rule. They argued that the 
Internet publication rule breached Article 10, 
pointing out that as a result of the rule newspa-
pers which maintained Internet archives were 
exposed to ceaseless liability for re-publication 
of the defamatory material. The defendants 
argued that this would inevitably have a chill-
ing effect on the willingness of newspapers to 
provide Internet archives and would thus limit 
their freedom of expression.

16. In its judgment of 5 December 2001, the Court 
of Appeal, per Simon Brown LJ, dismissed the 
appeal against the order in the second action, 
stating:

“Wedonotaccept that the rule in theDuke 
of Brunswick imposes a restriction on the
readiness tomaintain and provide access to
archives that amounts to a disproportion-
ate restrictionon freedomof expression.We
accept that the maintenance of archives,
whether inhardcopyoronthe Internet,has
a social utility, but consider that themainte-
nanceofarchivesisacomparativelyinsignifi-
cantaspectoffreedomofexpression.Archive
materialisstalenewsanditspublicationcan-
notrankinimportancewiththedissemination
ofcontemporarymaterial.Nordowebelieve
that the law of defamation need inhibit the
responsible maintenance of archives. Where
itisknownthatarchivematerialisormaybe
defamatory,theattachmentofanappropriate
noticewarningagainsttreatingitasthetruth

willnormallyremoveanystingfromthemate-
rial.”

17. On 30 April 2002 the House of Lords refused 
leave to appeal. The parties subsequently set-
tled the action and the applicant agreed to pay 
G.L. a sum of money in full and final settlement 
of claims and costs arising in both actions.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

A. The Limitation Act 1980
18. Section 2 of the Limitation Act 1980 (“the 1980 

Act”) sets out a general limitation period of six 
years in tort actions. Section 4A of the 1980 Act 
qualifies this limitation period as regards defa-
mation actions and provides as follows:
“Thetimelimitundersection2ofthisActshall
notapplytoanactionfor–

(a)libelorslander,

(b) slanderof title, slanderofgoodsorother
maliciousfalsehood,

butnosuchactionshallbebroughtafterthe
expirationofoneyearfromthedateonwhich
thecauseofactionaccrued.”

19. Section 32A of the 1980 Act provides:
“(1)Itifappearstothecourtthatitwouldbe
equitabletoallowanactiontoproceedhaving
regardtothedegreetowhich–

(a) the operation of section 4A of this Act
prejudices the plaintiff or any personwhom
herepresents,and

(b) anydecisionof the courtunder this sub-
sectionwouldprejudicethedefendantorany
personwhomherepresents,

thecourtmaydirectthatthatsectionshallnot
apply to theactionor shall not apply to any
specifiedcauseofactiontowhichtheaction
relates.

(2)Inactingunderthissectionthecourtshall
have regard to all the circumstances of the
caseandinparticularto–

(a)thelengthof,andthereasonsfor,thedelay
onthepartoftheplaintiff;

(b)wherethereasonoroneofthereasonsfor
thedelaywas thatallor anyof the facts rel-
evanttothecauseofactiondidnotbecome
knowntotheplaintiffuntilaftertheendofthe
periodmentionedinsection4A–
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(i) the date onwhich any such facts did be-
comeknowntohim,and

(ii)theextenttowhichheactedpromptlyand
reasonablyonceheknewwhetherornotthe
facts inquestionmightbe capableofgiving
risetoanaction;and

(c) theextent towhich,havingregardto the
delay,relevantevidenceislikely–

(i)tobeunavailable,or

(ii) to be less cogent than if the action had
beenbroughtwithintheperiodmentionedin
section4A.”

B. The Internet publication rule
20. Duke of Brunswick v Harmer [1849] 14 QB 154 

lays down a common law rule of some signifi-
cance. On 19 September 1830 an article was 
published in the Weekly Dispatch. The limita-
tion period for libel was, at that time, six years. 
The article defamed the Duke of Brunswick. 
Seventeen years after its publication an agent 
of the Duke purchased a back number con-
taining the article from the Weekly Dispatch’s 
office. Another copy was obtained from the 
British Museum. The Duke sued on those two 
publications. The defendant contended that 
the cause of action was time-barred, relying 
on the original publication date. The court held 
that the delivery of a copy of the newspaper 
to the plaintiff ’s agent constituted a separate 
publication in respect of which suit could be 
brought.

21. In Godfrey v Demon Internet Limited [2001] 
QB 201 the respondent brought an action in 
defamation against the appellants who were 
Internet service providers. They had received 
and stored on their news server an article, de-
famatory of the respondent, which had been 
posted by an unknown person using another 
service provider. The judge stated:
“In my judgment the defendants, whenever
they transmit and whenever there is trans-
mitted from the storageof theirnews server
a defamatory posting, publish that posting
to any subscriber to their ISP who accesses
thenewsgroupcontainingthatposting.Thus
everytimeoneofthedefendants’customers
accesses‘socculturethai’andseesthatpost-
ingdefamatoryoftheplaintiffthereisapubli-
cationtothatcustomer.”

C. The defence of qualified privilege
22. The leading case on the defence of qualified 

privilege is Reynolds v Times Newspapers 

[2001] 2 AC 127. That case established that 
qualified privilege is an absolute defence to 
libel proceedings. In the leading judgment be-
fore the House of Lords, Lord Nicholls of Birken-
head explained the defence as follows:
“The underlying principle is conventionally
stated inwordsto theeffect that theremust
existbetweenthemakerofthestatementand
therecipientsomedutyorinterestinthemak-
ing of the communication. Lord Atkinson’s
dictum,inAdam v. Ward[1917]A.C.309,334,
ismuchquoted:

’aprivilegedoccasionis...anoccasionwhere
thepersonwhomakesacommunicationhas
aninterestoraduty,legal,social,ormoral,to
makeittothepersontowhomitismade,and
theperson towhom it is somadehasacor-
respondinginterestordutytoreceiveit.This
reciprocityisessential’.”.

D. Press Complaints Commission Code of 
Conduct

23. The Press Complaints Commission has adopted 
a code of conduct which is regularly reviewed 
and amended as required. Paragraph 1 of the 
current Code of Conduct reads as follows:
“1.Accuracy

i)ThePressmusttakecarenottopublish in-
accurate,misleadingordistortedinformation,
includingpictures.

ii) A significant inaccuracy,misleading state-
ment or distortiononce recognisedmust be
corrected, promptly and with due promi-
nence,and-whereappropriate-anapology
published.

iii)ThePress,whilst freetobepartisan,must
distinguishclearlybetweencomment,conjec-
tureandfact.

iv) A publication must report fairly and ac-
curately the outcome of an action for defa-
mation to which it has been a party, unless
anagreedsettlement statesotherwise,oran
agreedstatementispublished.”

E. The uS single publication rule
24. Unlike the United Kingdom court, the courts 

of the United States of America have chosen 
to apply the “single publication rule”. In the 
case of Gregoire v GP Putnam’s Sons (1948) 81 
N.E.2d 45 a book originally put on sale in 1941 
was still being sold in 1946 following several 
reprints. The New York Court of Appeals con-
sidered the rule in Duke of Brunswick v Harmer, 
but concluded that it was formulated “in an era 
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which long antedated the modern process of 
mass publication” and was therefore not suited 
to modern conditions. Instead, the court held 
that the limitation period started to run in 
1941, when the book was first put on sale. The 
court pointed out that

“Under [the rule in Duke of Brunswick v 
Harmer] the Statute of Limitation would
neverexpire so longas a copyof suchbook
remained in stock and is made by the pub-
lisherthesubjectofasaleorinspectionbythe
public.Sucharulewouldthwartthepurpose
ofthelegislature.”

25. The single publication rule was subsequently 
applied to a website publication in Firth v State 
of New York (2002) NY int 88. In that case, a 
report published at a press conference on 16 
December 1996 was placed on the internet the 
same day. A claim was filed over a year later. 
The New York Court of Appeals held that the 
limitation period started when the report was 
first uploaded onto the website and did not 
begin anew each time the website version of 
the report was accessed by a user. The court 
observed that:
“Thepolicies impelling theoriginal adoption
of the single publication rule support its ap-
plication to thepostingof ... the report ...on
the website ... These policies are evenmore
cogentwhen considered in connectionwith
theexponentialgrowthoftheinstantaneous,
worldwide ability to communicate through
theInternet...Thusamultiplepublicationrule
wouldimplicateanevengreaterpotentialfor
endless retriggering of the statute of limita-
tions,multiplicity of suits and harassment of
defendants. Inevitably,therewouldbeaseri-
ous inhibitory effect on the open, pervasive
dissemination of information and ideas over
the Internet which is, of course, its greatest
beneficialpromise.”

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
10 OF THE CONVENTION

26. The applicant complains that the Internet 
publication rule constitutes an unjustifiable 
and disproportionate restriction of its right to 
freedom of expression as provided in Article 
10 of the Convention, which reads, insofar as 
relevant, as follows:
“1. Everyonehas the right to freedomof ex-

pression. This right shall include freedom to
hold opinions and to receive and impart in-
formation and ideaswithout interference by
public authority and regardless of frontiers.
This Article shall not prevent States from re-
quiring the licensing of broadcasting, televi-
sionorcinemaenterprises.

2.Theexerciseofthesefreedoms,sinceitcar-
rieswithitdutiesandresponsibilities,maybe
subjecttosuchformalities,conditions,restric-
tionsorpenaltiesasareprescribedbylawand
arenecessaryinademocraticsociety...forthe
protectionof the reputationor rightsofoth-
ers...”

A. Admissibility
27. The Court has consistently emphasised that 

Article 10 guarantees not only the right to im-
part information but also the right of the public 
to receive it (see Observer and Guardian v. the 
United Kingdom, 26 November 1991, § 59(b), 
Series A no. 216; Guerra and Others v. Italy, 19 
February 1998, § 53, Reports of Judgments 
and Decisions 1998-I). In light of its accessibil-
ity and its capacity to store and communicate 
vast amounts of information, the Internet plays 
an important role in enhancing the public’s ac-
cess to news and facilitating the dissemination 
of information generally. The maintenance of 
Internet archives is a critical aspect of this role 
and the Court therefore considers that such ar-
chives fall within the ambit of the protection 
afforded by Article 10.

28. The Court concludes that the applicant’s com-
plaint is not manifestly ill-founded within the 
meaning of Article 35 § 3 of the Convention. It 
further notes that it is not inadmissible on any 
other grounds. It must therefore be declared 
admissible.

B. The merits
1.Theparties’observations
(a)  The applicant

29. The applicant contended that the Internet 
publication rule restricted its ability to main-
tain a publicly accessible Internet archive. It 
pointed to the “chilling effect” that the rule 
had upon freedom of expression, which it said 
was aggravated by the fact that it had not ac-
tively sought to disseminate the information 
contained in its Internet archive. The applicant 
submitted that Article 10 required the adop-
tion of a single publication rule.

30. The applicant contested the finding of the 
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Court of Appeal that the maintenance of ar-
chives constituted an insignificant aspect of 
freedom of expression. The applicant pointed 
to the importance of the integrity and availabil-
ity of historical records to an open and demo-
cratic society.

31. The applicant argued that since the defence 
of qualified privilege was a complete defence 
to the libel claim, it was under no obligation to 
publish a qualification in respect of the relevant 
articles until the litigation had been resolved. 
It pointed out that the Code of Practice of the 
Press Complaints Commission obliged news-
papers to post a notice or qualification where 
a publication had been the subject of a judg-
ment or settlement in favour of the complain-
ant. Any other approach would require a large 
number of articles to be qualified. Attempts 
to limit qualification to those articles which 
were potentially libellous would be difficult: 
because the libellous nature of a publication 
may change over time, the applicant would be 
required to keep the entirety of its Internet ar-
chive under review. The applicant pointed out 
that approximately 500 items were uploaded 
onto its Internet archive every day.

32. The applicant argued that it was open to the 
Court to consider the general principle which 
arose, notwithstanding the specific facts of the 
case. Although the applicant accepted that 
G.L.’s rights were also engaged, it considered 
that a single publication rule would not con-
stitute an excessive restriction on the right of 
effective access to the court.

(b)  The Government

33. The Government relied on the conclusions in 
the domestic proceedings that the journalists 
had not demonstrated the requisite standard 
of responsibility in respect of the two articles. 
They further relied on the fact that no qualifi-
cation was added to the articles on the appli-
cant’s website until 23 December 2000, over 
12 months after the original libel proceedings 
were initiated.

34. Although the Government accepted that 
maintaining archives had a social utility, they 
considered that this was not an aspect of the 
exercise of freedom of expression which was of 
central or weighty importance, archive mate-
rial being “stale news”. In the present case, the 
Government argued that there was no evi-
dence that the applicant had been prevented 
or deterred from maintaining its online archive. 
Furthermore, the steps required of the appli-

cant to remove the sting from its archive mate-
rial were not onerous.

35. As regards the applicant’s claim of ceaseless lia-
bility, the Government observed that no ques-
tion of ceaseless liability arose in the present 
case. The Government pointed out that the 
second action was contemporaneous with the 
first action and did not raise stale allegations 
many years after the event. In any case, even 
under a single publication rule, (1) the contin-
ued publication of articles which the applicant 
knew to be defamatory, which were not quali-
fied in any way and which were not defended 
as true would constitute a separate actionable 
tort under English law; and (2) if accompanied 
by a statutory discretion along the lines of sec-
tion 32A of the 1980 Act, the court may well 
have exercised that discretion to allow G.L. to 
bring the second action, having regard to the 
circumstances.

36. The Government highlighted that the present 
case also engaged the Article 8 and Article 6 
rights of G.L. In the choice between the sin-
gle publication rule and the Internet publica-
tion rule, these competing interests should be 
balanced. They pointed to the fact that there 
was no consistency of approach to this issue in 
other jurisdictions and concluded that, on the 
facts of this case, the application of the Internet 
publication rule was a permissible and pro-
portionate restriction on the applicant’s right 
to freedom of expression and did not violate 
Article 10.

2.TheCourt’sassessment
37. The Court notes that judgment was entered 

against the applicants in the second action. 
Furthermore, the applicant subsequently 
agreed to pay a sum of money in settlement 
of G.L.’s claims and costs in both actions. The 
Court therefore considers that the second ac-
tion constituted an interference with the ap-
plicant’s right to freedom of expression. Such 
interference breaches Article 10 unless it was 
“prescribed by law”, pursued one or more of 
the legitimate aims referred to in Article 10 § 2 
and was “necessary in a democratic society” to 
attain such aim or aims.

(a)  “Prescribed by law”

38. The applicant does not contest the lawful-
ness of the interference, which derived from 
the application of the rule set out in Duke of 
Brunswick v Harmer as developed in the case 
of Godfrey v Demon Internet Limited. The 
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Court sees no reason to hold that the interfer-
ence was not lawful and therefore concludes 
that the interference with the applicant’s right 
freedom of expression was “prescribed by law” 
within the meaning of Article 10 § 2.

(b)  Legitimate aim

39. The Internet publication rule is aimed at pro-
tecting the rights and reputation of others. 
It has not been disputed, and the Court also 
agrees, that the interference has a legitimate 
aim.

(c)  “Necessary in a democratic society”

i General principles

40. The Court reiterates that freedom of expression 
constitutes one of the essential foundations of 
a democratic society and in that context the 
safeguards guaranteed to the press are par-
ticularly important. Whilst the press must not 
overstep the boundaries set, inter alia, in the 
interest of “the protection of the reputation or 
rights of others”, it is nevertheless incumbent 
on it to impart information and ideas of public 
interest. Not only does the press have the task 
of imparting such information and ideas but 
the public also has a right to receive them. In 
this way, the press fulfils its vital role as a “pub-
lic watchdog” (Observer and Guardian v. the 
United Kingdom, 26 November 1991, § 59, 
Series A no. 216).

41. The Court observes that the most careful of 
scrutiny under Article 10 is required where 
measures or sanctions imposed on the press 
are capable of discouraging the participation 
of the press in debates on matters of legitimate 
public concern (Bladet Tromsø and Stensaas v. 
Norway [GC], no. 21980/93, § 64, ECHR 1999-
III). The Court further recalls that particularly 
strong reasons must be provided for any meas-
ure limiting access to information which the 
public has the right to receive (see Timpul Info-
Magazin and Anghel v. Moldova, no. 42864/05, 
§ 31, 27 November 2007).

42. However, the Court reiterates that Article 10 
does not guarantee a wholly unrestricted free-
dom of expression to the press, even with re-
spect to press coverage of matters of serious 
public concern. When exercising its right to 
freedom of expression, the press must act in a 
manner consistent with its duties and respon-
sibilities, as required by Article 10 § 2. These 
duties and responsibilities assume particular 
significance when, as in the present case, infor-
mation imparted by the press is likely to have 

a serious impact on the reputation and rights 
of private individuals. Furthermore, the protec-
tion afforded by Article 10 to journalists is sub-
ject to the proviso that they act in good faith in 
order to provide accurate and reliable informa-
tion in accordance with responsible journalism 
(Fressoz and Roire v. France [GC], no. 29183/95, 
§ 54, ECHR 1999-I and Bladet Tromsø and 
Stensaas, cited above, § 65).

43. 43. Finally, it should be recalled that in assess-
ing whether the interference was justified, it is 
not the role of the Court to substitute its views 
for those of the national authorities but to re-
view the case as a whole, in the light of Article 
10, and consider whether the decision taken 
by national authorities fell within the margin of 
appreciation allowed to the member States in 
this area (Handyside v. the United Kingdom, 7 
December 1976, § 50, Series A no. 24).

ii Application of the principles to the present 
case

44. The applicants maintain that they are exposed 
to litigation, without limit in time, on account 
of the adoption of the Internet publication rule 
instead of the single publication rule.

45. The Court agrees at the outset with the appli-
cant’s submissions as to the substantial contri-
bution made by Internet archives to preserving 
and making available news and information. 
Such archives constitute an important source 
for education and historical research, particu-
larly as they are readily accessible to the pub-
lic and are generally free. The Court therefore 
considers that, while the primary function of 
the press in a democracy is to act as a “public 
watchdog”, it has a valuable secondary role in 
maintaining and making available to the pub-
lic archives containing news which has previ-
ously been reported. However, the margin 
of appreciation afforded to States in striking 
the balance between the competing rights is 
likely to be greater where news archives of past 
events, rather than news reporting of current 
affairs, are concerned. In particular, the duty of 
the press to act in accordance with the princi-
ples of responsible journalism by ensuring the 
accuracy of historical, rather than perishable, 
information published is likely to be more strin-
gent in the absence of any urgency in publish-
ing the material.

46. The Court further observes that the introduc-
tion of limitation periods for libel actions is in-
tended to ensure that those who are defamed 
move quickly to protect their reputations in 
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order that newspapers sued for libel are able 
to defend claims unhindered by the passage of 
time and the loss of notes and fading of memo-
ries that such passage of time inevitably entails. 
In determining the length of any limitation pe-
riod, the protection of the right to freedom of 
expression enjoyed by the press should be bal-
anced against the rights of individuals to pro-
tect their reputations and, where necessary, to 
have access to a court in order to do so. It is, in 
principle, for contracting States, in the exercise 
of their margin of appreciation, to set a limita-
tion period which is appropriate and to pro-
vide for any cases in which an exception to the 
prescribed limitation period may be permitted 
(see Stubbings and Others v. the United King-
dom, 22 October 1996, §§ 54-55, Reports of 
Judgments and Decisions 1996-IV).

47. On the facts of the present case, the Court 
considers it significant that, although libel pro-
ceedings in respect of the two articles were ini-
tiated in December 1999, the applicant did not 
add any qualification to the articles in its Inter-
net archive until December 2000. The Court re-
calls the conclusion of the Court of Appeal that 
the attachment of a notice to archive copies 
of material which it is known may be defama-
tory would “normally remove any sting from 
the material”. To the extent that the applicant 
maintains that such an obligation is excessive, 
the Court observes that the Internet archive in 
question is managed by the applicant itself. 
It is also noteworthy that the Court of Appeal 
did not suggest that potentially defamatory 
articles should be removed from archives al-
together. In the circumstances, the Court, like 
the Court of Appeal, does not consider that the 
requirement to publish an appropriate qualifi-
cation to an article contained in an Internet ar-
chive, where it has been brought to the notice 
of a newspaper that a libel action has been ini-
tiated in respect of that same article published 
in the written press, constitutes a dispropor-
tionate interference with the right to freedom 
of expression. The Court further notes that the 
brief notice which was eventually attached to 
the archive would appear to undermine the 
applicant’s argument that any qualification 
would be difficult to formulate.

48. Having regard to this conclusion, it is not 
necessary for the Court to consider in detail 
the broader chilling effect allegedly created 
by the application of the Internet publication 
rule in the present case. The Court nonetheless 
observes that the two libel actions brought 
against the applicant concerned the same two 

articles. The first action was brought some two 
to three months after the publication of the 
articles and well within the one-year limitation 
period. The second action was brought a year 
later, some 14 or 15 months after the initial 
publication of the articles. At the time the sec-
ond action was filed, the legal proceedings in 
respect of the first action were still underway. 
There is no suggestion that the applicant was 
prejudiced in mounting its defence to the libel 
proceedings in respect of the Internet publica-
tion due to the passage of time. In these cir-
cumstances, the problems linked to ceaseless 
liability for libel do not arise. The Court would, 
however, emphasise that while an aggrieved 
applicant must be afforded a real opportunity 
to vindicate his right to reputation, libel pro-
ceedings brought against a newspaper after 
a significant lapse of time may well, in the ab-
sence of exceptional circumstances, give rise 
to a disproportionate interference with press 
freedom under Article 10.

49. The foregoing considerations are sufficient to 
enable the Court to conclude that in the pre-
sent case, the finding by the domestic courts 
in the second action that the applicant had 
libelled the claimant by the continued publica-
tion on the Internet of the two articles was a 
justified and proportionate restriction on the 
applicant’s right to freedom of expression.

50. There has accordingly been no violation of Ar-
ticle 10 of the Convention.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Declares the remainder of the application ad-
missible;

2. Holds that there has been no violation of Arti-
cle 10 of the Convention.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 10 
March 2009, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the 
Rules of Court.

Lawrence Early, Registrar
Lech Garlicki, President
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INTERCEPTION, COMMUNICATIONS, CORRESPOND-
ENCE, PRIVATE LIFE, DISCRETION, MONITORING, MIS-
USE OF POWER

IN THE CASE Of LIBERTy AND OTHERS v. THE uNITED 
KINGDOM,

The European Court of Human Rights (Fourth Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Lech Garlicki, President,  
Nicolas Bratza,  
Ljiljana Mijović,  
David Thór Björgvinsson,  
Ján Šikuta,  
Päivi Hirvelä,  
Mihai Poalelungi, judges,  
and Lawrence Early, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 10 June 2008,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

58243/00) against the United Kingdom of 
Great Britain and Northern Ireland lodged with 
the Court under Article 34 of the Convention 
for the Protection of Human Rights and Fun-
damental Freedoms (“the Convention”) by 
Liberty, British Irish Rights Watch and the Irish 
Council for Civil Liberties, a British and two Irish 
civil liberties’ organisations based in London 
and Dublin respectively, on 9 September 1999.

2. The applicants were represented by Mr A. Gask, 
a lawyer practising in London. The United King-
dom Government (“the Government”) were 
represented by their Agent, Mr D. Walton, For-
eign and Commonwealth Office.

3. On 25 June 2002 the Court decided to commu-
nicate the application to the Government, and 
several rounds of observations were received 
from the parties. On 22 March 2005 the Court 
adjourned the case until linked proceedings 
before the Investigatory Powers Tribunal had 
concluded (see paragraphs 11-15 below). On 
27 February 2006 the Court resumed its exami-
nation and, under the provisions of Article 29 

§ 3 of the Convention, decided to examine 
the merits of the application at the same time 
as its admissibility. Further observations were, 
therefore, sought from the parties.

4. The applicants requested a hearing but the 
Court decided that it would not be necessary.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

1.Theallegedinterceptionof
communications

5. The applicants alleged that in the 1990s the 
Ministry of Defence operated an Electronic 
Test Facility (“ETF”) at Capenhurst, Cheshire, 
which was built to intercept 10,000 simultane-
ous telephone channels coming from Dublin 
to London and on to the continent. Between 
1990 and 1997 the applicants claimed that 
the ETF intercepted all public telecommunica-
tions, including telephone, facsimile and e-mail 
communications, carried on microwave radio 
between the two British Telecom’s radio sta-
tions (at Clwyd and Chester), a link which also 
carried much of Ireland’s telecommunications 
traffic. During this period the applicant organi-
sations were in regular telephone contact with 
each other and also providing, inter alia, legal 
advice to those who sought their assistance. 
They alleged that many of their communica-
tions would have passed between the British 
Telecom radio stations referred to above and 
would thus have been intercepted by the ETF.

2.ComplainttotheInterceptionof
CommunicationsTribunal(“ICT”)

6. On 9 September 1999, having seen a television 
report on the alleged activities of the ETF, the 
applicant organisations requested the Inter-
ception of Communications Tribunal (“the ICT”: 
see paragraphs 28-30 below) to investigate the 
lawfulness of any warrants which had been is-
sued in respect of the applicants’ communica-
tions between England and Wales and Ireland. 
On 19 October 1999 an official of the ICT con-
firmed that an investigation would proceed 
and added:
“...IamdirectedtoadviseyouthattheTribu-
nalhasnowayofknowing inadvanceofan
investigationwhetherawarrantexists inany
givencase.TheTribunalinvestigatesallcom-
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plaints in accordance with section 7 of the
[Interception of Communications Act 1985:
‘the 1985 Act’, see paragraphs 16-33 below]
establishingwhetherarelevantwarrantorrel-
evantcertificateexistsorhadexistedand,ifso,
whethertherehasbeenanycontraventionof
sections2to5.If...theTribunalconcludesthat
therehasbeenacontraventionofsections2
to 5, the Tribunalmay take steps under sec-
tions7(4),(5)and(6).Inanycasewherethere
is found tohavebeenno contravention, the
Tribunalisnotempoweredtodisclosewheth-
er or not authorised interception has taken
place.Insuchinstances,complainantsaread-
visedonlythattherehasbeennocontraven-
tionofsections2to5inrelationtoarelevant
warrantorarelevantcertificate.”

7. By a letter dated 16 December 1999 the ICT 
confirmed that it had thoroughly investigated 
the matter and was satisfied that there had 
been no contravention of sections 2 to 5 of the 
1985 Act in relation to the relevant warrant or 
certificate.

3.ComplainttotheDirectorofPublic
Prosecutions(“DPP”)

8. By a letter dated 9 September the applicants 
complained to the DPP of an unlawful inter-
ception, requesting the prosecution of those 
responsible. The DPP passed the matter to the 
Metropolitan Police for investigation. By a let-
ter dated 7 October 1999 the police explained 
that no investigation could be completed un-
til the ICT had investigated and that a police 
investigation might then follow if it could be 
shown that an unwarranted interception had 
taken place or if any of the other conditions set 
out in section 1(2)-(4) of the 1985 Act had not 
been met. The applicants pointed out, in their 
letter of 12 October 1999, that the vague, albeit 
statutory, response of the ICT would mean that 
they would not know whether a warrant had 
been issued or, if it had, whether it had been 
complied with. They would not, therefore, be 
in a position to make submissions to the police 
after the ICT investigation as to whether or not 
a criminal investigation was warranted. The ap-
plicants asked if, and if so how, the police could 
establish for themselves whether or not a war-
rant had been issued, so as to decide whether 
an investigation was required, and how the 
police would investigate, assuming there had 
been no warrant.

9. The DPP responded on 19 October 1999 that 
the police had to await the ICT decision, and 
the police responded on 9 November 1999 

that the applicants’ concerns were receiving 
the fullest attention, but that they were unable 
to enter into discussion on matters of internal 
procedure and inter-departmental investiga-
tion.

10. On 21 December 1999 the applicants wrote to 
the police pointing out that, having received 
the decision of the ICT, they still did not know 
whether or not there had been a warrant or 
whether there had been unlawful interception. 
The response, dated 17 January 2000, assured 
the applicants that police officers were mak-
ing enquires with the relevant agencies with a 
view to establishing whether there had been a 
breach of section 1 of the 1985 Act and iden-
tifying the appropriate investigative authority. 
The police informed the applicants by a letter 
dated 31 March 2000 that their enquiries con-
tinued, and, by a letter dated 13 April 2000, that 
these enquiries had not revealed an offence 
contrary to section 1 of the 1985 Act.

4.ComplainttotheInvestigatoryPowers
Tribunal(“IPT”)

11. On 15 December 2000 the former statutory re-
gime for the interception of communications 
was replaced by the Regulation of Investigato-
ry Powers Act 2000 (see paragraphs 34-39 be-
low) and a new tribunal, the IPT, was created.

12. On 13 August 2001 the applicants began pro-
ceedings in the IPT against the security and 
intelligence agencies of the United Kingdom, 
complaining of interferences with their rights 
to privacy for their telephone and other com-
munications from 2 October 2000 onwards 
(British-Irish Rights Watch and others v. The 
Security Service and others, IPT/01/62/CH). The 
IPT, sitting as its President and Vice-President (a 
Court of Appeal and a High Court judge), had 
security clearance and was able to proceed 
in the light not just of open evidence filed by 
the defendant services but also confidential 
evidence, which could not be made public for 
reasons of national security.

13. On 9 December 2004 the IPT made a number 
of preliminary rulings on points of law. Al-
though the applicants had initially formulated 
a number of claims, by the time of the ruling 
these had been narrowed down to a single 
complaint about the lawfulness of the “filtering 
process”, whereby communications between 
the United Kingdom and an external source, 
captured under a warrant pursuant to section 
8(4) of the 2000 Act (which had replaced sec-
tion 3(2) of the 1985 Act: see paragraphs 34-
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39 below), were sorted and accessed pursuant 
to secret selection criteria. The question was, 
therefore, whether “the process of filtering in-
tercepted telephone calls made from the UK to 
overseas telephones ... breaches Article 8 § 2 
[of the Convention] because it is not ‘in accord-
ance with the law’”.

14. The IPT found that the difference between the 
warrant schemes for interception of internal 
and external communications was justifiable, 
because it was more necessary for additional 
care to be taken with regard to interference 
with privacy by a Government in relation to 
domestic telecommunications, given the sub-
stantial potential control it exercised in this 
field; and also because its knowledge of, and 
control over, external communications was 
likely to be much less extensive.

15. As to whether the law was sufficiently accessi-
ble and foreseeable for the purposes of Article 
8 § 2, the IPT observed:
“Theselectioncriteriainrelationtoaccessing
a largequantityof asyetunexaminedmate-
rial obtained pursuant to a s8(4)warrant (as
indeed in relationtomaterialobtained in re-
lationtoas8(1)warrant)arethosesetout in
s5(3) . TheComplainants’ Counsel complains
thatthereisno‘publiclystatedmaterial indi-
cating thata relevantperson is satisfied that
the[accessing]ofaparticularindividual’stele-
phonecallisproportionate’.ButtheRespond-
entssubmitthatthereisindeedsuchpublicly
statedmaterial,namelytheprovisionsofs6(l)
oftheHumanRightsActwhichrequiresapub-
lic authority to act compatiblywith Conven-
tionrights,andthus,itissubmitted,imposesa
dutytoactproportionatelyinapplyingtothe
materialthes5(3)criteria.

To that duty there is added the existence of
seven safeguards listed by the Respondents’
Counsel, namely (1) the criminal prohibition
onunlawful interception(2)the involvement
of the Secretaryof State (3) theguiding role
of the Joint IntelligenceCommittee (‘JIC’) (4)
theCodeofPractice (5) theoversightby the
InterceptionofCommunicationCommission-
er(whosepowersaresetoutinPartIVofthe
Act)(6)theavailabilityofproceedingsbefore
thisTribunaland(7)theoversightbytheIntel-
ligence and Security Committee, an all-party
bodyofnineParliamentarianscreatedbythe
IntelligenceServicesAct1994...

It isplainthat,although in fact theexistence
ofallthesesafeguardsispubliclyknown,it is
not part of the requirements for accessibil-
ityorforeseeabilitythattheprecisedetailsof

those safeguards should be published. The
Complainants’ Counsel has pointed out that
it appears from the Respondents’ evidence
that thereare inexistenceadditionaloperat-
ingprocedures, aswouldbe expectedgiven
therequirementsthattherebetheextrasafe-
guards required by s16 of the Act, and the
obligationoftheSecretaryofStatetoensure
their existence under s15(1)(b). It is not sug-
gestedbytheComplainantsthatthenatureof
thoseoperatingproceduresbedisclosed,but
that theirexistence, i.e. somethingalong the
linesofwhatisintheRespondents’evidence,
shoulditselfbedisclosedintheCodeofPrac-
tice.

We are unpersuaded by this. First, such a
statement in theCodeofPractice,namelyas
totheexistenceofsuchprocedures,wouldin
facttakethematternofurtherthanitalready
standsby virtue of thewords of the statute.
Butinanyevent,theexistenceofsuchproce-
duresisonlyoneofthesubstantialnumberof
safeguardswhich are known to exist. Acces-
sibility and foreseeability are satisfiedby the
knowledgeofthecriteriaandtheknowledge
oftheexistenceofthosemultiplesafeguards.

...[F]oreseeabilityisonlyexpectedtoadegree
that is reasonable in the circumstances, and
the circumstanceshereare thoseofnational
security ... In this case the legislation is ad-
equateandtheguidelinesareclear.Foresee-
ability does not require that a person who
telephones abroad knows that his conversa-
tionisgoingtobeinterceptedbecauseofthe
existenceofavalids.8(4)warrant....

Theprovisions, inthiscasetherightto inter-
cept and accessmaterial covered by a s.8(4)
warrant,andthecriteriabyreferencetowhich
itisexercised,areinourjudgmentsufficiently
accessible and foreseeable to be in accord-
ancewith law. The parameters in which the
discretion to conduct interception is carried
on,by referencetos.5(3)andsubject to the
safeguardsreferredto,areplainfromtheface
ofthestatute.Inthisdifficultandperilousarea
ofnationalsecurity,takingintoaccountboth
thenecessarynarrowapproachtoArticle8(2)
and the fact that theburden is placedupon
theRespondent,wearesatisfiedthatthebal-
anceisproperlystruck.”

A. Relevant domestic law and practice
1.TheInterceptionofCommunicationsAct

1985
16. During the period at issue in this application 

the relevant legislation was sections 1-10 of 
the Interception of Communications Act 1985 
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(“the 1985 Act”), which came into force on 
10 April 1986 and was repealed by the Regu-
lation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (“the 
2000 Act”).

17. Pursuant to section 1 of the 1985 Act, a person 
who intentionally intercepted a communica-
tion in the course of its transmission by post 
or by means of a public telecommunications 
system was guilty of an offence. A number of 
exceptions were made, the relevant one being 
a communication intercepted pursuant to a 
warrant issued by the Secretary of State under 
section 2 of the 1985 Act and in accordance 
with a certificate issued under section 3(2)(b) 
of the 1985 Act.

(a)  Warrants for interception

i The three grounds for issuing a warrant

18. The Secretary of State’s power to issue a war-
rant under section 2 of the 1985 Act could be 
exercised only if he considered the warrant 
necessary:
“(a)intheinterestsofnationalsecurity;

(b)forthepurposeofpreventingordetecting
seriouscrime;or

(c) for the purpose of safeguarding the eco-
nomicwell-beingoftheUnitedKingdom.”

19. The term “serious crime” was defined by sec-
tion 10(3) of the Act as follows:
“For thepurposesof [the1985Act], conduct
which constitutes or, if it took place in the
United Kingdom, would constitute one or
moreoffences shallbe regardedasa serious
crimeif,andonlyif–

(a) it involves the use of violence, results in
substantial financial gain or is conduct by a
largenumberofpersonsinpursuitofacom-
monpurpose;or

(b) the offence, or oneof the offences, is an
offenceforwhichapersonwhohasattained
the age of twenty-one and has no previous
convictionscould reasonablybeexpected to
be sentenced to imprisonment for a termof
threeyearsormore.”

20. The scope of the term “national security” was 
clarified by the Commissioner appointed un-
der the 1985 Act. In his 1986 report he stated 
(§ 27) that he had adopted the following 
definition: activities “which threaten the safety 
or well-being of the State, and which are in-
tended to undermine or overthrow Parliamen-
tary democracy by political, industrial or violent 

means”.

21. In determining whether a warrant was neces-
sary for one of the three reasons set out in sec-
tion 2(2) of the 1985 Act, the Secretary of State 
was under a duty to take into account whether 
the information which it was considered nec-
essary to acquire could reasonably be acquired 
by other means (section 2(3)). In addition, war-
rants to safeguard the economic well-being of 
the United Kingdom could not be issued un-
less the information to be acquired related to 
the acts or intentions of persons outside the 
British Islands (section 2(4)). A warrant required 
the person to whom it was addressed to in-
tercept, in the course of their transmission by 
post or by means of a public telecommunica-
tions system, such communications as were 
described in the warrant.

ii The two types of warrant

22. Two types of warrant were permitted by sec-
tion 3 of the 1985 Act. The first, a “section 3(1) 
warrant”, was a warrant that required the inter-
ception of:
“(a) such communications as are sent to
or from one or more addresses speci-
fied in the warrant, being an address or
addresses likely to be used for the trans-
mission of communications to or from– 
(i) one particular person speci-
fied or described in the warrant; or 
(ii)oneparticularsetofpremisessospecified
ordescribed;and

(b) such other communications (if any) as it
isnecessarytointerceptinordertointercept
communications fallingwithin paragraph (a)
above.”

By section 10(1) of the 1985 Act, the word “per-
son” was defined to include any organisation 
or combination of persons and the word “ad-
dress” was defined to mean any postal or tel-
ecommunications address.

23. The second type of warrant, a “section 3(2) war-
rant”, was one that required the interception, in 
the course of transmission by means of a pub-
lic telecommunications system, of:
“(i) suchexternal communications as arede-
scribedinthewarrant;and

(ii) such other communications (if any) as it
isnecessarytointerceptinordertointercept
such external communications as are so de-
scribed...”.

24. When he issued a section 3(2) warrant, the 
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Secretary of State was required to issue also a 
certificate containing a description of the inter-
cepted material the examination of which he 
considered necessary in the interests of nation-
al security, to prevent or detect serious crime or 
to safeguard the State’s economic well-being 
(section 3(2)(b)). A section 3(2) warrant could 
not specify an address in the British Islands for 
the purpose of including communications sent 
to or from that address in the certified material 
unless-
“3(3) (a) theSecretaryofStateconsiders that
theexaminationofcommunicationssenttoor
fromthataddressisnecessaryforthepurpose
of preventing or detecting acts of terrorism;
and

(b) communications sent toor from that ad-
dress are included in the certified material
onlyinsofarastheyaresentwithinsuchape-
riod,notexceedingthreemonths,asisspeci-
fiedinthecertificate.”

25. Section 3(2) warrants could be issued only 
under the hand of the Secretary of State or a 
permitted official of high rank with the written 
authorisation of the Secretary of State. If issued 
under the hand of the Secretary of State, the 
warrant was valid for two months; if by another 
official, it was valid for two days. Only the Secre-
tary of State could renew a warrant. If the Sec-
retary of State considered that a warrant was 
no longer necessary in the interests of national 
security, to prevent or detect serious crime or 
to safeguard the State’s economic well-being, 
he was under a duty to cancel it (section 4).

26. The annual report of the Commissioner for 
1986 explained the difference between war-
rants issued under section 3(1) and under sec-
tion 3(2):
“Thereareanumberofdifferences ...Butthe
essential differences may be summarised as
follows:

(i)Section3(2)warrantsapplyonlytoexternal
telecommunications;

(ii)whereassection3(1)warrantsonlyapplyto
communicationstoorfromoneparticularper-
son...oroneparticularsetofpremises,Section
3(2)warrantsarenotsoconfined;but

(iii) at the timeof issuingaSection3(2)war-
ranttheSecretaryofState isobligedto issue
acertificatedescribingthematerialwhichitis
desiredtointercept;andwhichheregardsas
necessarytoexamineforanyofthepurposes
setoutinSection2(2).

So the authority to intercept grantedby the
SecretaryofStateunderSection3(2)islimited
notsomuchbyreferencetothetarget,asitis
undersection3(1),butbyreferencetothema-
terial.ItfollowsthatinrelationtoSection3(2)
warrants,Ihavehadtoconsiderfirst,whether
the warrant applies to external communica-
tionsonly,and,secondly,whetherthecertified
materialsatisfiestheSection2(2)criteria....

ThereisafurtherimportantlimitationonSec-
tion3(2)warrants.Ihavesaidthattheauthor-
itygrantedbytheSecretaryofStateislimited
by reference to thematerial specified in the
certificate, rather than the targets named in
thewarrants.Thisdistinctionisfurtherunder-
linedbySection3(3)whichprovidesthatma-
terialspecifiedshallnotincludetheaddressin
theBritishIslandsforthepurposeofincluding
communicationssenttoorfromthataddress,
except inthecaseofcounter-terrorism.So if,
forexampleinacaseofsubversiontheSecu-
rityServicewishestointerceptexternalcom-
municationstoorfromaresidentoftheBritish
Islands, he could not do so under a Section
3(2) warrant by asking for communications
sent toor fromhisaddress tobe included in
the certifiedmaterial. But itwould be possi-
ble for the Security Service to get indirectly,
througha legitimateexaminationofcertified
material,whatitmaynotgetdirectly.Insuch
cases ithasbecomethepracticetoapplyfor
aseparatewarrantunderSection3(1)known
asanoverlappingwarrant, inadditiontothe
warrant under Section 3(2). There is noth-
ing in the [1985 Act] which requires this to
bedone.But it isobviouslyasoundpractice,
andwhollyconsistentwith the legislative in-
tention underlying Section 3(3). Accordingly
Iwould recommend thatwhere it is desired
to intercept communications to or from an
individual residing in the British Islands, as a
separate target, then in all cases other than
counter-terrorismthereshouldbeaseparate
warrantunderSection3(1),even though the
communications may already be covered
by a warrant under Section 3(3). The point
is not without practical importance. For the
definitionof “relevantwarrant”and“relevant
certificate” in Section 7(9) of the Act makes
it clear that,while theTribunalhaspower to
investigatewarrantsissuedundersection3(1)
and certificates under section 3(2) where an
addressisspecifiedinthecertificate,ithasno
such power to investigate Section 3(2) war-
rants,whereanaddressisnotsocertified.”

iii Use and retention of information

27. Section 6 of the 1985 Act was entitled “Safe-
guards” and read as follows:
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“(1)WheretheSecretaryofStateissuesawar-
rantheshall,unlesssucharrangementshave
alreadybeenmade,makesucharrangements
asheconsidersnecessary for thepurposeof
securing-

(a) that the requirements of subsections (2)
and (3) below are satisfied in relation to the
interceptedmaterial;and

(b)whereacertificate is issued in relation to
thewarrant, thatsomuchof the intercepted
materialasisnotcertifiedbythecertificateis
notread, lookedatorlistenedtobyanyper-
son.

(2) The requirements of this subsection are
satisfiedinrelationtoanyinterceptedmaterial
ifeachofthefollowing,namely-

(a) the extent to which the material is dis-
closed;

(b)thenumberofpersonstowhomanyofthe
materialisdisclosed;

(c)theextenttowhichthematerialiscopied;
and

(d)thenumberofcopiesmadeofanyofthe
material;

islimitedtotheminimumthatisnecessaryas
mentionedinsection2(2)above.

(3) The requirements of this subsection are
satisfied in relation toany interceptedmate-
rial if each copy made of any of that mate-
rial isdestroyedassoonas itsretentionisno
longernecessaryasmentionedinsection2(2)
above.”

(b)  The Interception of Communications Tribunal 
(“ICT”)

28. Section 7 of the 1985 Act provided for a Tribu-
nal to investigate complaints from any person 
who believed that communications sent by or 
to him had been intercepted. Its jurisdiction, 
so far as material, was limited to investigating 
whether there was or had been a “relevant war-
rant” or a “relevant certificate” and, where there 
was or had been, whether there had been any 
contravention of sections 2-5 of the 1985 Act 
in relation to that warrant or certificate. Section 
7(9) read, in so far as relevant, as follows:
“Forthepurposesofthissection–

(a)awarrantisarelevantwarrantinrelationto
anapplicantif–

(i)theapplicantisspecifiedordescribedinthe
warrant;or

(ii) an address used for the transmission of
communicationstoorfromasetofpremises
in theBritish Islandswhere the applicant re-
sidesorworksissospecified;

(b)acertificateisarelevantcertificateinrela-
tiontoanapplicantifandtotheextentthatan
address used asmentioned in paragraph (a)
(ii)aboveisspecifiedinthecertificateforthe
purposeofincludingcommunicationssentto
orfromthataddressinthecertifiedmaterial.”

29. The ICT applied the principles applicable by a 
court on an application for judicial review. If it 
found there had been a contravention of the 
provisions of the Act, it was to give notice of 
that finding to the applicant, make a report to 
the Prime Minister and to the Commissioner 
appointed under the Act and, where it thought 
fit, make an order quashing the relevant war-
rant, directing the destruction of the material 
intercepted and/or directing the Secretary of 
State to pay compensation. In other cases, the 
ICT was to give notice to the applicant stating 
that there had been no contravention of sec-
tions 2-5 of the Act.

30. The ICT consisted of five members, each of 
whom was required to be a qualified lawyer 
of not less than ten years standing. They held 
office for a five-year period and could be re-
appointed. The decisions of the ICT were not 
subject to appeal.

(c)  The Commissioner

31. Section 8 provided that a Commissioner be ap-
pointed by the Prime Minister. He or she was 
required to be a person who held, or who had 
held, high judicial office. The Commissioner’s 
functions included the following:

• to keep under review the carrying out by 
the Secretary of State of the functions con-
ferred on him by sections 2-5 of the 1985 
Act;

• to give to the ICT all such assistance as it 
might require for the purpose of enabling 
it to carry out its functions;

• to keep under review the adequacy of the 
arrangements made under section 6 for 
safeguarding intercepted material and 
destroying it where its retention was no 
longer necessary;

• to report to the Prime Minister if there ap-
peared to have been a contravention of 
sections 2-5 which had not been reported 
by the ICT or if the arrangements under sec-
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tion 6 were inadequate;

• to make an annual report to the Prime Min-
ister on the exercise of the Commissioner’s 
functions. This report had to be laid before 
the Houses of Parliament. The Prime Min-
ister had the power to exclude any matter 
from the report if publication would have 
been prejudicial to national security, to the 
prevention or detection of serious crime or 
to the well-being of the United Kingdom. 
The report had to state if any matter had 
been so excluded.

32. In his first report as Commissioner, in 1992, 
Sir Thomas Bingham MR, as he then was, ex-
plained his own role as part of the safeguards 
inherent in the 1985 Act as follows:
“Thethirdmajorsafeguardisprovidedbythe
Commissioner himself. While there is noth-
ing to prevent consultation of the Commis-
sionerbeforeawarrantis issued, it isnotthe
practice to consulthim in advanceand such
consultation on a routine basis would not
be practicable. So the Commissioner’s view
is largely retrospective, to check that war-
rants have not been issued in contravention
of the Act and that appropriate procedures
were followed. To that end, I havevisitedall
the warrant issuing departments and agen-
ciesnamedinthisreport,inmostcasesmore
thanonce,anddiscussedatsomelengththe
background to the warrant applications. I
havealsodiscussedtheprocedureforseeking
warrantswith officials at various levels in all
the initiating bodies and presenting depart-
ments. Ihave inspectedasignificantnumber
ofwarrants, some chosenbyme at random,
someputbeforemebecauseitwasfeltthatI
shouldseethem.AlthoughIhavedescribed...
anumberofinstancesinwhichmistakeswere
made or mishaps occurred, I have seen no
case inwhich the statutory restrictionswere
deliberatelyevadedorcornersknowinglycut.
Asalutarypracticehasgrownupbywhichthe
Commissioner’sattentionisspecificallydrawn
toanycaseinwhichanerrororcontravention
oftheActhasoccurred: Iaccordinglybelieve
thattherehasbeennosuchcaseduring1992
ofwhichIamunaware.”

Similar conclusions about the authorities’ 
compliance with the law were drawn by all 
the Commissioners in their reports during the 
1990s.

33. In each of the annual reports made under the 
1985 Act the Commissioner stated that in his 
view the arrangements made under section 6 
of the 1985 were adequate and complied with, 

without revealing what the arrangements 
were. In the 1989 Report the Commissioner 
noted at § 9 that there had been technologi-
cal advances in the telecommunications field 
which had “necessitated the making of further 
arrangements by the Secretary of State for 
the safeguarding of material under section 6 
of the [1985 Act]”. The Commissioner stated 
that he had reviewed the adequacy of the new 
arrangements. For the year 1990, the Com-
missioner recorded that, as a result of a new 
practice of the police disclosing some material 
to the Security Service, a further change in the 
section 6 arrangements had been required. 
The Commissioner said in the 1990 Report 
that he was “satisfied with the adequacy of the 
new arrangements” (1990 Report at § 18). In 
the 1991 Report, the Commissioner stated that 
there had been some minor changes to the 
section 6 arrangements and confirmed that he 
was satisfied with the arrangements as modi-
fied (§ 29 of the 1991 Report). In the 1993 Re-
port, the Commissioner said at § 11:
“Someofthewrittenstatementsofsection6
safeguardswhich I inspected required to be
updated to take account of changes in the
publictelecommunicationsmarketsincethey
hadbeendraftedandapproved.Otherstate-
mentscould,asitseemedtome,beimproved
bymoreexplicit rulesgoverning thecircum-
stancesandmannerinwhich,andtheextent
towhich, interceptmaterialcouldbecopied.
Italsoseemedtomethatitwouldbeadvan-
tageous, where this was not already done,
to remind all involvedm handling intercept
materialona regularbasisof the safeguards
towhich theywere subject, securingwritten
acknowledgements that the safeguards had
been read and understood. These sugges-
tionsappearedtobereadilyacceptedbythe
bodies concerned. They did not in my view
indicateany failure tocomplywith section6
oftheAct.”

In his first year as Commissioner, Lord Nolan re-
ported the following on this issue of section 6 
safeguards (1994 Report, § 6):
“Likemypredecessors, Ihaveoneachofmy
visits considered and discussed the arrange-
mentsmadeby theSecretaryof Stateunder
section6 for thepurposeof limiting thedis-
seminationand retentionof interceptedma-
terialtowhatisnecessarywithinthemeaning
of section 2. Each agency has its own set of
sucharrangements,andthereareunderstand-
able variations between them. For example,
thepracticalconsiderationsinvolvedindecid-
ingwhat is necessary in the interests of na-
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tionalsecurity,ortheeconomicwell-beingof
theUnitedKingdom(theareaswithwhichthe
Security Service and the Secret Intelligence
Servicearealmostexclusivelyconcerned)are
somewhatdifferentfromthoseinvolvedinthe
prevention and detection of serious criminal
offences(withwhichthepoliceforcesandHM
Customs&Excisearealmostexclusivelycon-
cerned). Iamsatisfiedthatalloftheagendas
are operating within the existing approved
safeguards under the terms of the arrange-
mentsastheystand...”

2.The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
2000

34. The 2000 Act came into force on 15 Decem-
ber 2000. The explanatory memorandum de-
scribed the main purpose of the Act as being to 
ensure that the relevant investigatory powers 
were used in accordance with human rights. As 
to the first, interceptions of communications, 
the 2000 Act repealed, inter alia, sections 1-10 
of the 1985 Act and provides for a new regime 
for the interception of communications.

35. The 2000 Act is designed to cover the purposes 
for which the relevant investigatory powers 
may be used, which authorities can use the 
powers, who should authorise each use of the 
power, the use that can be made of the mate-
rial gained, judicial oversight and a means of 
redress for the individual.

36. A new Investigatory Powers Tribunal (“IPT”) as-
sumed the responsibilities of the former ICT, of 
the Security Services Tribunal and of the Intel-
ligence Services Tribunal. The Interception of 
Communications Commissioner continues to 
review the actions of the Secretary of State as 
regards warrants and certificates and to review 
the adequacy of the arrangements made for 
the execution of those warrants. He is also, as 
before, to assist the Tribunal. In addition, the 
Secretary of State is to consult about and to 
publish codes of practice relating to the exer-
cise and performance of duties in relation to, 
inter alia, interceptions of communications.

37. Section 2(2) of the 2000 Act defines intercep-
tion as follows:
“For the purposes of this Act, but subject to
thefollowingprovisionsofthissection,aper-
soninterceptsacommunicationinthecourse
ofitstransmissionbymeansofatelecommu-
nicationssystemif,andonlyif,he–

(a) somodifiesor interfereswith the system,
oritsoperation,

(b)somonitorstransmissionsmadebymeans
ofthesystem,or

(c) somonitors transmissionsmade bywire-
less telegraphy to or from apparatus com-
prisedinthesystem,

astomakesomeofallofthecontentsofthe
communication available, while being trans-
mitted, toapersonother than thesenderor
intendedrecipientofthecommunication.”

38. Section 5(2) of the 2000 Act provides that the 
Secretary of State shall not issue an intercep-
tion warrant unless he believes that the war-
rant is necessary, inter alia, in the interests of 
national security, for the purpose of preventing 
or detecting serious crime or for the purpose of 
safeguarding the economic well-being of the 
United Kingdom and that the conduct author-
ised by the warrant is proportionate to what is 
sought to be achieved by that conduct.

39. In addition to the general safeguards specified 
in section 15 of the Act, section 16 provides ad-
ditional safeguards in the case of certificated 
warrants (namely warrants for interception of 
external communications supported by a cer-
tificate). In particular, section 16(1) provides 
that intercepted material is to be read, looked 
at or listened to by the persons to whom it be-
comes available by virtue of the warrant to the 
extent only that it has been certified as mate-
rial the examination of which is necessary for 
one of the above purposes and falls within 
subsection (2). Intercepted material falls within 
subsection (2) so far only as it is selected to be 
read, looked at or listened to otherwise than 
according to a factor which is referable to an 
individual who is known to be for the time be-
ing in the British Isles and has as its purpose, or 
one of its purposes, the identification of mate-
rial in communications sent by that person, or 
intended for him.

40. In its Ruling of 9 December 2004 (see para-
graphs 13-15 above), the IPT set out the follow-
ing extracts from the Interception of Commu-
nications Code of Practice issued pursuant to 
s. 71 of the 2000 Act (“the Code of Practice”). 
Subparagraph 4(2) of the Code of Practice 
deals with the application for a s. 8(1) warrant 
as follows :

“An application for awarrant ismade to the
SecretaryofState...Eachapplication,acopy
ofwhichmust be retained by the applicant,
shouldcontainthefollowinginformation:

•Backgroundtotheoperationinquestion.
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•Personorpremisestowhichtheapplication
relates(andhowthepersonorpremisesfea-
tureintheoperation).

•Descriptionofthecommunicationstobein-
tercepted, details of communications service
provider(s)andanassessmentofthefeasibil-
ityoftheinterceptionoperationwherethisis
relevant.

•Descriptionoftheconducttobeauthorised
asconsiderednecessary inordertocarryout
theinterception,whereappropriate.

• An explanation of why the interception is
considered to be necessary under the provi-
sionsofsection5(3).

•Aconsiderationofwhytheconductistobe
authorisedbythewarrantisproportionateto
whatissoughttobeachievedbythatconduct.

•Aconsiderationofanyunusualdegreeofcol-
lateralintrusionandwhythatintrusionisjusti-
fiedinthecircumstances.Inparticular,where
thecommunicationsinquestionmightaffect
religious,medicalor journalistic confidential-
ityorlegalprivilege,thismustbespecifiedin
theapplication.

•Where an application is urgent, supporting
justificationshouldbeprovided.

• An assurance that all material intercepted
willbehandled inaccordancewith the safe-
guardsrequiredbysection15oftheAct.

The IPT continued:
“Applications for a s. 8(4) warrant are ad-
dressed in subparagraph5 .2 of theCodeof
Practice:

‘An application for awarrant ismade to the
SecretaryofState ... eachapplication,acopy
ofwhichmust be retained by the applicant,
shouldcontainthefollowinginformation:

• Background to the operation in question
[identicaltothefirstbulletpointin4.2].

•Descriptionofthecommunications...[thisis
materiallyidenticaltothethirdbulletpointin
4.1].

•Descriptionoftheconducttobeauthorised,
whichmustbe restricted to the interception
of external communications, or to conduct
necessaryinordertointerceptthoseexternal
communications, where appropriate [com-
parethewordingofthefourthbulletin4.2].

•Thecertificatethatwillregulateexamination
ofinterceptedmaterial.

• An explanation of why the interception is

consideredtobenecessaryforoneormoreof
thesection5(3)purposes[identicaltothefifth
bulletpointin4.2].

•Aconsiderationofwhytheconductshould
beauthorisedbythewarrantisproportionate
...[identicaltothesixthbulletpointin4.2].

•Aconsiderationofanyunusualdegreeofcol-
lateral intrusion . . . [identical to the seventh
bulletpointin4.2].

•Whereanapplicationisurgent...[identical
totheeighthbulletpointin4.2].

• An assurance that interceptedmaterialwill
beread,lookedatorlistenedtoonlysofaras
it is certified, and itmeets the conditions of
sections16(2)-16(6)oftheAct.

• An assurance that all material intercepted
willbehandled inaccordancewith the safe-
guardsrequiredbysections15and16ofthe
Act [these last two bullets of course are the
equivalenttothelastbulletpointin4.2].

...Bysubparagraph4(8),thes.8(l)warrantin-
strumentshouldinclude‘thenameordescrip-
tionof the interception subject or of the set
ofpremisesinrelationtowhichtheintercep-
tionistotakeplace’andbysubparagraph4(9)
thereisreferencetotheschedulesrequiredby
s.8(2)of[the2000Act].Theequivalentprovi-
sioninrelationtotheformatofthes.8(4)war-
rant insubparagraph5(9)doesnotofcourse
identify a particular interception subject or
premises,butrequiresinclusioninthewarrant
ofa‘descriptionofthecommunicationstobe
intercepted’.”

tHE LAW

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

41. The applicants complained about the intercep-
tion of their communications, contrary to Arti-
cle 8 of the Convention:
“1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection



131CASEOFLIBERTYANDOTHERSVTHEUNITEDKINGDOM

EC
J

EC
HR

oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

A. The parties’ submissions
1.Theapplicants

42. The applicants complained that, between 1990 
and 1997, telephone, facsimile, e-mail and data 
communications between them were inter-
cepted by the Capenhurst facility, including 
legally privileged and confidential material.

43. Through the statements of Mr Duncan 
Campbell, a telecommunications ex-
pert, they alleged that the process apply-
ing to external warrants under section 
3(2) of the 1985 Act embodied five stages. 
 
First, a warrant would be issued, specifying an 
external communications link or links to be 
physically intercepted. Such warrants covered 
very broad classes of communications, for ex-
ample, “all commercial submarine cables hav-
ing one terminal in the UK and carrying exter-
nal commercial communications to Europe”. 
All communications falling within the speci-
fied category would be physically intercepted. 
 
Secondly, the Secretary of State would issue 
a certificate, describing the categories of in-
formation which could be extracted from the 
total volume of communications intercepted 
under a particular warrant. Certificates were 
formulated in general terms, and related only 
to intelligence tasks and priorities; they did not 
identify specific targets or addresses. They did 
not need to be more specific than the broad 
classes of information specified in the 1985 
Act, for example, “national security”, “prevent-
ing or detecting serious crime” or “safeguard-
ing the economic well-being of the United 
Kingdom”. The combination of a certificate 
and a warrant formed a “certified warrant”. 
 
The third stage in the process was filtering. An 
automated sorting system or search engine, 
operating under human control, selected com-
munications containing specific search terms 
or combinations thereof. The search terms 
would relate to one or more of the certificates 
issued for the relevant intercepted communica-
tions link. Search terms could also be described 
as “keyword lists”, “technical databases” or “The 
Dictionary”. Search terms and filtering criteria 
were not specified in certificates, but were se-
lected and administered by State officials with-
out reference to judicial officials or ministers. 
 

Fourth, a system of rules was in place to pro-
mote the “minimisation” of the interference 
with privacy, namely how to review com-
munications intelligence reports and remove 
names or material identifying citizens or en-
tities whose details might incidentally have 
been included in raw material which had 
otherwise been lawfully intercepted and pro-
cessed. Where the inclusion of such details 
in the final report was not proportionate or 
necessary for the lawful purpose of the war-
ranted interception, it would be removed. 
 
The fifth and final stage in the process was 
“dissemination”. Information obtained by an 
interference with the privacy of communica-
tions could be disseminated only where the 
recipients’ purpose(s) in receiving the informa-
tion was proportionate and necessary in the 
circumstances. Controls on the dissemination 
formed a necessary part of Article 8 safeguards.

44. The applicants contended that since the sec-
tion 3(2) procedure permitted the interception 
of all communications falling within the large 
category set out in each warrant, the only pro-
tection afforded to those whose communica-
tions were intercepted was that the Secretary 
of State, under section 6(1) of the Act, had to 
“make such arrangements as he considers 
necessary for the purpose of securing that ... 
so much of the intercepted material as is not 
certified by the certificate is not read, looked 
at or listened to by any person” unless the re-
quirements of section 6(2) were met. However, 
the precise nature of these “arrangements” 
were not, at the relevant time, made known to 
the public, nor was there any procedure avail-
able to permit an individual to satisfy him or 
herself that the “arrangements” had been fol-
lowed. The Tribunal did not have jurisdiction to 
examine such compliance, and although the 
Commissioner was authorised under section 8 
to review the adequacy of the “arrangements” 
in general, he had no power to review whether 
they had been met in an individual case.

45. It was plain that the alleged interception of 
communications constituted an interference 
with the applicants’ rights under Article 8 § 1. 
Any such interception, to comply with Article 
8 § 2, had to be “in accordance with the law”, 
and thus have a basis in domestic law that was 
adequately accessible and formulated with suf-
ficient precision as to be foreseeable. They con-
tended that the United Kingdom legislation 
breached the requirements of foreseeability. 
They submitted that it would not compromise 
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national security to describe the arrangements 
in place for filtering and disseminating inter-
cepted material, and that detailed information 
about similar systems had been published by 
a number of other democratic countries, such 
as the United States of America, Australia, New 
Zealand, Canada and Germany. The deficien-
cies in the English system were highlighted 
by the Court’s decision in Weber and Saravia 
v. Germany (dec.), no. 54934/00 54934/00, 29 
June 2006, which noted that the German leg-
islation set out on its face detailed provisions 
regulating, inter alia, the way in which individ-
ual communications were to be selected from 
the pool of material derived from “strategic 
interception”; disclosure of selected material 
amongst the various agencies of the German 
State and the use that each could properly 
make of the material; and the retention or de-
struction of the material. The authorities’ dis-
cretion was further regulated and constrained 
by the public rulings of the Federal Constitu-
tional Court on the compatibility of the provi-
sions with the Constitution. In contrast, in the 
United Kingdom at the relevant time no provi-
sion was made on the face of the statute for 
any part of the processes following the initial 
interception, other than the duty on the Sec-
retary of State to make unspecified “arrange-
ments”. The arrangements themselves were 
unpublished. There was no legal material in the 
public domain indicating how the authorities’ 
powers to select, disclose, use or retain par-
ticular communications were regulated. The 
authorities’ conduct was not “in accordance 
with the law” because it was unsupported by 
any predictable legal basis satisfying the acces-
sibility principle.

46. In addition, the applicants denied that the in-
terferences pursued a legitimate aim or were 
proportionate to any such aim, since the 1985 
Act permitted interception of large classes of 
communications for any purpose, and it was 
only subsequently that this material was sifted 
to determine whether it fell within the scope of 
a section 3(2) warrant.

2.TheGovernment
47. For security reasons, the Government adopted 

a general policy of neither confirming nor de-
nying allegations made in respect of surveil-
lance activities. For the purposes of this ap-
plication, however, they were content for the 
Court to proceed on the hypothetical basis that 
the applicants could rightly claim that com-
munications sent to or from their offices were 

intercepted at the Capenhurst ETF during the 
relevant period. Indeed, they submitted that, in 
principle, any person who sent or received any 
form of telecommunication outside the Brit-
ish Islands during the period in question could 
have had such a communication physically 
intercepted under a section 3(2) warrant. How-
ever, the Government emphatically denied 
that any interception was being conducted 
without the necessary warrants and it was their 
position that, if interception of the applicants’ 
communications did occur, it would have been 
lawfully sanctioned by an appropriate warrant 
under section 3(2) of the 1985 Act.

48. The Government annexed to their first set of 
Observations, dated 28 November 2002, a 
statement by Mr Stephen Boys Smith, a senior 
Home Office official, in which it was claimed:
“...Disclosureof thearrangementswould re-
veal important information about themeth-
odsof interceptionused. It is for this reason
thattheGovernmentisunabletodisclosethe
full detail of the section 6 arrangements for
section3(2)warrants thatwere inplacedur-
ingtherelevantperiod.Themethodstowhich
therelevantdocumentsrelatefortherelevant
period remain a central part of themethods
whichcontinuetobeused.Therefore,disclo-
sure of the arrangements, the Government
assesses and I believe,would be contrary to
theinterestsofnationalsecurity.Itwoulden-
ableindividualstoadapttheirconductsoasto
minimisetheeffectivenessofanyinterception
methodswhichitmightbethoughtnecessary
toapplytothem.

Further, themanualsand instructionssetting
out the section 6 safeguards and arrange-
ments are in large part not in a formwhich
wouldbe illuminatingor readilycomprehen-
sibletoanyonewhohadnotalsoundergone
the training I have referred to above or had
the benefit of detailed explanations. They
are couched in technical language and refer
to specific techniques and processes which
cannotbeunderstoodsimplyfromthefaceof
thedocuments.Theycontaindetailedinstruc-
tions,preciselyinordertoensurethatthesec-
tion6arrangementsandsection3(2)require-
mentswerefullyunderstoodbystaffandwere
fullyeffective.Anyexplanationsgivenbythe
Governmentofthosetechniquesandprocess-
eswouldcompoundtheproblem,referredto
above,ofunderminingtheoperationaleffec-
tiveness of the system and techniques used
undertheauthorityofwarrants.”

The Government stressed, however, that the 
detailed arrangements were the subject of 
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independent review by the successive Com-
missioners, who reported that they operated 
as robust safeguards for individuals’ rights (see 
paragraphs 31-33 above).

49. The Government annexed to their Further 
Observations, dated 23 May 2003, a second 
statement by Mr Boys Smith, in response to 
Mr Campbell’s statement (see paragraph 48 
above), which provided more detail, to the 
extent that was possible without undermining 
national security, about the “arrangements” 
made by the Secretary of State under section 
6 of the Act. The Government submitted that 
the Court should proceed on the basis that, in 
the absence of evidence to the contrary, in the 
democratic society of the United Kingdom, the 
relevant ministers, officials and Commissioners 
properly discharged their statutory duties to 
ensure that safeguards were in place to comply 
with all the requirements of section 6. Moreo-
ver Mr Boys Smith’s statement showed that 
during the relevant period there was a range of 
safeguards in place to ensure that the process 
of selection of material for examination (the 
stage referred to by the applicants as “filtering”) 
could be carried out only strictly in accordance 
with the statutory framework and the terms of 
the warrant and the certificate (that is, could 
be carried out only when necessary in the in-
terests of national security, for the purpose of 
preventing or detecting serious crime or for 
the purpose of safeguarding the economic 
well-being of the United Kingdom), and could 
not be abused or operated arbitrarily.

50. According to Mr Boys Smith, all persons in-
volved in the selection process would have had 
their attention specifically drawn to the safe-
guards and limits set out in the primary legisla-
tion, which were rigorously applied. Secondly, 
training was provided to all these persons to 
emphasise the importance of strict adherence 
to the operating procedures and safeguards in 
place. Thirdly, throughout the relevant period 
operating procedures were in place to ensure 
that it was not possible for any single individual 
to select and examine material on an arbitrary 
and uncontrolled basis. Where, as part of his in-
telligence gathering, an official wished to inter-
cept and select relevant information, he could 
not effect the interception himself. He would 
have to take the request for interception and 
selection to personnel in a different branch of 
the department, who would then separately 
activate the technical processes necessary for 
the interception and selection to be made. 
The requesting official would have to set out, 

in his request, his justification for the selection. 
Moreover, a record of the request was kept, so 
that it was possible for others (senior manage-
ment and the Commissioner) to check back on 
the official’s request, to ensure that it was prop-
erly justified. Conversely, it was not possible for 
the personnel in the branch of the department 
implementing the technical interception pro-
cesses to receive the downloaded product of 
any interception and selection process imple-
mented by them. Therefore, they also could 
not conduct unauthorised interception and 
gain access to material themselves. Fourth, 
there was day-to-day practical supervision of 
those who conducted the selection processes 
under section 3(2) warrants (“the requesting 
officials”) by managers working physically in 
the same room, who could and would where 
necessary ask the requesting officials at any 
time to explain and justify what they were 
doing. The managers also performed quality 
control functions in relation to the intelligence 
reports generated by the requesting officials, 
and routinely reviewed all intelligence reports 
incorporating intercepted material that were 
drawn up by requesting officials for dissemi-
nation. Fifth, throughout the relevant period, 
as was explained to all personnel involved in 
the selection process, the independent Com-
missioner had an unrestricted right to review 
the operation of the selection process and to 
examine material obtained pursuant to it. From 
the relevant records, it was possible to check 
on the interception initiated by officials and, 
if necessary, to call for an explanation. Each of 
the Commissioners during the relevant period 
(Lords Lloyd, Bingham and Nolan) exercised his 
right to review the operation of the selection 
processes, and each Commissioner declared 
himself satisfied that the selection processes 
were being conducted in a manner that was 
fully consistent with the provisions of the 1985 
Act. By this combination of measures there 
were effective safeguards in place against any 
risk of individual, combined or institutional 
misbehaviour or action contrary to the terms 
of the legislation or warrant. Finally, once the 
Intelligence Services Act 1994 had come into 
force on 15 December 1994, it was possible 
for an aggrieved individual to complain to the 
Tribunal.

51. As regards the processes described by the ap-
plicants as “minimisation” and “dissemination”, 
safeguards in place during the relevant period 
ensured that access to and retention of the raw 
intercept material and any intelligence reports 
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based on such material were kept to the ab-
solute minimum practicable, having regard to 
the public interest served by the interception 
system. Relevant information in the material 
selected and examined was disseminated in 
the form of intelligence reports, usually com-
piled by the requesting officials. As part of the 
safeguards under section 6 of the 1985 Act, 
there were throughout the relevant period 
internal regulations governing the manner in 
which intelligence reports were produced, di-
rected at all individuals engaged in producing 
intelligence reports based on material selected 
from communications intercepted under the 
section 3(2) warrant regime. The regulations 
stipulated, among other things, that no infor-
mation should be reported unless it clearly 
contributed to a stated intelligence require-
ment conforming to one of the purposes set 
out in section 2(2) of the 1985 Act. The regu-
lations also dealt specifically with the circum-
stances in which it was appropriate to name 
specific individuals or organisations in the in-
telligence reports. During the relevant period 
there was in place a comprehensive security 
regime for handling all types of classified mate-
rial. Dissemination was restricted to those with 
a genuine “need to know”, and was further lim-
ited to persons who had been security vetted 
and briefed on how to handle it, with a view to 
ensuring continued confidentiality.

52. The Government refuted the suggestion that, 
to comply with Article 8 § 2, the safeguards 
put in place in respect of the intercepted ma-
terial had themselves to comply with the “in 
accordance with the law” criteria. In any event, 
the functions of the Commissioner and the Tri-
bunal were embodied in statutory provisions 
that were sufficiently certain and accessible, 
and in assessing whether the “foreseeability” 
requirements of Article 8 § 2 had been met, 
it was legitimate to take into account the ex-
istence of general safeguards against abuse 
such as these (the Government relied on As-
sociation for European Integration and Human 
Rights and Ekimzhiev v. Bulgaria, no. 62540/00 
62540/00, §§ 77-94, 28 June 2007 and Chris-
tie v. the United Kingdom, no. 21482/93, Com-
mission decision of 27 June 1994). Moreover, 
the 1985 Act provided that interception was 
criminal except where the Secretary of State 
had issued a warrant and sections 2 and 3(2) 
set out in very clear terms that, during the rele-
vant period, any person in the United Kingdom 
who sent or received any form of telecommu-
nication outside Britain could in principle have 

had it intercepted pursuant to such a warrant. 
The provisions of primary legislation were, 
therefore, sufficient to provide reasonable no-
tice to individuals to the degree required in 
this particular context, and provided adequate 
protection against arbitrary interference. Arti-
cle 8 § 2 did not require that the nature of the 
“arrangements” made by the Secretary of State 
under section 6 of the 1985 Act be set out in 
legislation (see Malone v. the United Kingdom, 
judgment of 2 August 1984, Series A no. 82, § 
68), and for security reasons it had not been 
possible to reveal such information to the pub-
lic, but the arrangements had been subject to 
review by the Commissioners, each of whom 
had found them to be satisfactory (see para-
graph 33 above).

53. The Government submitted that the section 
3(2) warrant regime was proportionate and 
“necessary in a democratic society”. Democrat-
ic States faced a growing threat from terrorism, 
and as communications networks became 
more wide-ranging and sophisticated, terrorist 
organisations had acquired ever greater scope 
to operate and co-operate on a trans-national 
level. It would be a gross dereliction of the Gov-
ernment’s duty to safeguard national security 
and the lives and well-being of its population if 
it failed to take steps to gather intelligence that 
might allow preventative action to be taken 
or if it compromised the operational effective-
ness of the surveillance methods available to it. 
Within the United Kingdom the Government 
had extensive powers and resources to inves-
tigate individuals and organisations that might 
threaten the interests of national security or 
perpetrate serious crimes, and it was therefore 
feasible for the domestic interception regime 
to require individual addresses to be identified 
before interception could take place. Outside 
the jurisdiction, however, the ability of the Gov-
ernment to discover the identity and location 
of individuals and organisations which might 
represent a threat to national security was 
drastically reduced and a broader approach 
was needed. Maintaining operational effec-
tiveness required not simply that the fact of 
interception be kept as secret as appropriate; 
it was also necessary to maintain a degree of 
secrecy as regards the methods by which such 
interception might be effected, to prevent the 
loss of important sources of information.

54. The United Kingdom was not the only signa-
tory to the Convention to make use of a sur-
veillance regime involving the interception 
of volumes of communications data and the 
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subsequent operation of a process of selection 
to obtain material for further consideration by 
government agencies. It was difficult to com-
pare the law and practice of other democratic 
States (such as the German system of strategic 
monitoring examined by the Court in the We-
ber and Saravia case cited above), since each 
country had in place a different set of safe-
guards. For example, the United Kingdom did 
not permit intercepted material to be used in 
court proceedings, whereas many other States 
did allow this, and there were few, if any, direct 
equivalents to the independent Commissioner 
system created by the 1985 Act. Moreover, 
it was possible that the operational reach of 
the United Kingdom’s system had had to be 
more extensive, given the high level of terrorist 
threat directed at the United Kingdom during 
the period in question.

B. Admissibility
55. The Court notes that this complaint is not man-

ifestly ill-founded within the meaning of Article 
35 § 3 of the Convention. It further notes that 
it is not inadmissible on any other grounds. It 
must therefore be declared admissible.

C. Merits
1.Whethertherewasaninterference

56. Telephone, facsimile and e-mail communica-
tions are covered by the notions of “private 
life” and “correspondence” within the meaning 
of Article 8 (see Weber and Saravia v. Germany 
(dec.), no. 54934/00 54934/00, § 77, 29 June 
2006, and the cases cited therein). The Court 
recalls its findings in previous cases to the ef-
fect that the mere existence of legislation 
which allows a system for the secret monitor-
ing of communications entails a threat of sur-
veillance for all those to whom the legislation 
may be applied. This threat necessarily strikes 
at freedom of communication between users 
of the telecommunications services and there-
by amounts in itself to an interference with the 
exercise of the applicants’ rights under Article 
8, irrespective of any measures actually taken 
against them (see Weber and Saravia, cited 
above, § 78).

57. The Court notes that the Government are 
prepared to proceed, for the purposes of the 
present application, on the basis that the appli-
cants can claim to be victims of an interference 
with their communications sent to or from 
their offices in the United Kingdom and Ire-
land. In any event, under section 3(2) the 1985 

Act, the authorities were authorised to capture 
communications contained within the scope 
of a warrant issued by the Secretary of State 
and to listen to and examine communications 
falling within the terms of a certificate, also is-
sued by the Secretary of State (see paragraphs 
23-24 above). Under section 6 of the 1985 Act 
arrangements had to be made regulating the 
disclosure, copying and storage of intercepted 
material (see paragraph 27 above). The Court 
considers that the existence of these powers, 
particularly those permitting the examination, 
use and storage of intercepted communica-
tions constituted an interference with the Ar-
ticle 8 rights of the applicants, since they were 
persons to whom these powers might have 
been applied (see Weber and Saravia, cited 
above, §§ 78-79).

2.Whethertheinterferencewasjustified
58. Such an interference is justified by the terms of 

paragraph 2 of Article 8 only if it is “in accord-
ance with the law”, pursues one or more of the 
legitimate aims referred to in paragraph 2 and 
is “necessary in a democratic society” in order 
to achieve the aim or aims (see Weber and 
Saravia, cited above, § 80).

3.Whethertheinterferencewas“in
accordancewiththelaw”

(a)  General principles

59. The expression “in accordance with the law” 
under Article 8 § 2 requires, first, that the 
impugned measure should have some basis 
in domestic law; it also refers to the quality of 
the law in question, requiring that it should 
be compatible with the rule of law and ac-
cessible to the person concerned, who must, 
moreover, be able to foresee its consequences 
for him (see, among other authorities, Kruslin 
v. France, judgment of 24 April 1990, Series A 
no. 176-A, § 27; Huvig v. France, judgment of 
24 April 1990, Series A no. 176-B, § 26; Lambert 
v. France, judgment of 24 August 1998, Reports 
of Judgments and Decisions 1998-V, § 23; 
Perry v. the United Kingdom, no. 63737/00 
63737/00, § 45, ECHR 2003-IX; Dumitru Popes-
cu v. Romania (No. 2), no. 71525/01 71525/01, 
§ 61, 26 April 2007).

60. It is not in dispute that the interference in 
question had a legal basis in sections 1-10 of 
the 1985 Act (see paragraphs 16-27 above). 
The applicants, however, contended that this 
law was not sufficiently detailed and precise 
to meet the “foreseeability” requirement of 
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Article 8(2), given in particular that the nature 
of the “arrangements” made under section 
6(1)(b) was not accessible to the public. The 
Government responded, relying on paragraph 
68 of Malone (cited above), that although the 
scope of the executive’s discretion to carry out 
surveillance had to be indicated in legislation, 
“the detailed procedures and conditions to be 
observed do not necessarily have to be incor-
porated in rules of substantive law”.

61. The Court observes, first, that the above pas-
sage from Malone was itself a reference to Silver 
and Others, also cited above, §§ 88-89. There 
the Court accepted that administrative Orders 
and Instructions, which set out the detail of the 
scheme for screening prisoners’ letters but did 
not have the force of law, could be taken into 
account in assessing whether the criterion of 
foreseeability was satisfied in the application of 
the relevant primary and secondary legislation, 
but only to “the admittedly limited extent to 
which those concerned were made sufficiently 
aware of their contents”. It was only on this ba-
sis – that the content of the Orders and Instruc-
tions were made known to the prisoners – that 
the Court was able to reject the applicants’ 
contention that the conditions and procedures 
governing interferences with correspondence, 
and in particular the directives set out in the 
Orders and Instructions, should be contained 
in the substantive law itself.

62. More recently, in its admissibility decision in 
Weber and Saravia, cited above, §§ 93-95, the 
Court summarised its case-law on the require-
ment of legal “foreseeability” in this field as 
follows (and see also Association for European 
Integration and Human Rights and Ekimzhiev, 
cited above, §§ 75-77):
“93. .... foreseeability inthespecialcontextof
secretmeasuresofsurveillance,suchasthein-
terception of communications, cannotmean
that an individual should be able to foresee
whentheauthoritiesarelikelytointercepthis
communicationssothathecanadapthiscon-
duct accordingly (see, inter alia, Leander [v.
Sweden, judgmentof26August1987,Series
Ano. 116], p. 23,§51).However, especially
whereapowervested intheexecutive isex-
ercised insecret, therisksofarbitrarinessare
evident (see, inter alia,Malone, citedabove,
p.32,§67;Huvig,citedabove,pp.54-55,§
29;andRotaru[v.Romania [GC],no.28341/95,
§55,ECHR2000-V]). It is thereforeessential
to have clear, detailed rules on interception
of telephoneconversations, especially as the
technologyavailableforuseiscontinuallybe-

comingmoresophisticated(seeKoppv.Swit-
zerland,judgmentof25March1998,Reports
1998-II,pp.542-43,§72,andValenzuelaCon-
trerasv.Spain, judgmentof30July1998,Re-
ports1998-V,pp.1924-25,§46).Thedomes-
ticlawmustbesufficientlyclearinitstermsto
givecitizensanadequateindicationastothe
circumstances in which and the conditions
on which public authorities are empowered
to resort to any suchmeasures (seeMalone,
ibid.;Kopp,citedabove,p.541,§64;Huvig,
citedabove,pp.54-55,§29;andValenzuela
Contreras,ibid.).

Moreover, since the implementation inprac-
tice of measures of secret surveillance of
communications is not open to scrutiny by
the individuals concerned or the public at
large, itwouldbecontrary to the ruleof law
forthelegaldiscretiongrantedtotheexecu-
tiveortoajudgetobeexpressedintermsof
an unfettered power. Consequently, the law
must indicate the scope of any such discre-
tion conferred on the competent authorities
andthemannerofitsexercisewithsufficient
claritytogivetheindividualadequateprotec-
tionagainstarbitraryinterference(see,among
otherauthorities,Malone,citedabove,pp.32-
33,§68; Leander, cited above, p. 23,§51;
andHuvig,citedabove,pp.54-55,§29).

In its case-lawon secretmeasuresof surveil-
lance, the Court has developed the follow-
ingminimum safeguards that should be set
outinstatutelawinordertoavoidabusesof
power:thenatureoftheoffenceswhichmay
give rise to an interception order; a defini-
tionofthecategoriesofpeopleliabletohave
their telephonestapped;a limitonthedura-
tion of telephone tapping; the procedure to
be followed for examining, using and stor-
ing thedataobtained; theprecautions tobe
takenwhencommunicatingthedatatoother
parties; and the circumstances in which re-
cordingsmayormustbeerasedorthetapes
destroyed (see, interalia,Huvig,citedabove,
p.56,§34;Amann,citedabove,§76;Valen-
zuelaContreras, citedabove,pp.1924-25,§
46;andPradoBugallov.Spain,no.58496/00,
§30,18February2003).”

63. It is true that the above requirements were 
first developed by the Court in connection 
with measures of surveillance targeted at spe-
cific individuals or addresses (the equivalent, 
within the United Kingdom, of the section 3(1) 
regime). However, the Weber and Saravia case 
was itself concerned with generalised “strate-
gic monitoring”, rather than the monitoring of 
individuals (cited above, § 18). The Court does 
not consider that there is any ground to apply 
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different principles concerning the accessibility 
and clarity of the rules governing the intercep-
tion of individual communications, on the one 
hand, and more general programmes of sur-
veillance, on the other. The Court’s approach 
to the foreseeability requirement in this field 
has, therefore, evolved since the Commission 
considered the United Kingdom’s surveillance 
scheme in its above-cited decision in Christie v. 
the United Kingdom.

(b)  Application  of  the  general  principles  to  the 
present case

64. The Court recalls that section 3(2) of the 1985 
Act allowed the executive an extremely broad 
discretion in respect of the interception of 
communications passing between the United 
Kingdom and an external receiver, namely to 
intercept “such external communications as 
are described in the warrant”. There was no 
limit to the type of external communications 
which could be included in a section 3(2) war-
rant. According to the applicants, warrants 
covered very broad classes of communica-
tions, for example, “all commercial submarine 
cables having one terminal in the UK and car-
rying external commercial communications to 
Europe”, and all communications falling within 
the specified category would be physically in-
tercepted (see paragraph 43 above). In their 
observations to the Court, the Government ac-
cepted that, in principle, any person who sent 
or received any form of telecommunication 
outside the British Islands during the period in 
question could have had such a communica-
tion intercepted under a section 3(2) warrant 
(see paragraph 47 above). The legal discretion 
granted to the executive for the physical cap-
ture of external communications was, there-
fore, virtually unfettered.

65. Moreover, the 1985 Act also conferred a wide 
discretion on the State authorities as regards 
which communications, out of the total vol-
ume of those physically captured, were lis-
tened to or read. At the time of issuing a sec-
tion 3(2) interception warrant, the Secretary of 
State was required to issue a certificate con-
taining a description of the intercepted mate-
rial which he considered should be examined. 
Again, according to the applicants, certificates 
were formulated in general terms and related 
only to intelligence tasks and priorities, such as, 
for example, “national security”, “preventing or 
detecting serious crime” or “safeguarding the 
economic well-being of the United Kingdom” 
(see paragraph 43 above). On the face of the 

1985 Act, only external communications ema-
nating from a particular address in the United 
Kingdom could not be included in a certificate 
for examination unless the Secretary of State 
considered it necessary for the prevention or 
detection of acts of terrorism (see paragraphs 
23-24 above). Otherwise, the legislation pro-
vided that material could be contained in a 
certificate, and thus listened to or read, if the 
Secretary of State considered this was required 
in the interests of national security, the preven-
tion of serious crime or the protection of the 
United Kingdom’s economy.

66. Under section 6 of the 1985 Act, the Secre-
tary of State, when issuing a warrant for the 
interception of external communications, was 
called upon to “make such arrangements as 
he consider[ed] necessary” to ensure that ma-
terial not covered by the certificate was not 
examined and that material that was certified 
as requiring examination was disclosed and 
reproduced only to the extent necessary. The 
applicants contend that material was selected 
for examination by an electronic search en-
gine, and that search terms, falling within the 
broad categories covered by the certificates, 
were selected and operated by officials (see 
paragraph 43 above). According to the Gov-
ernment (see paragraphs 48-51 above), there 
were at the relevant time internal regulations, 
manuals and instructions applying to the pro-
cesses of selection for examination, dissemina-
tion and storage of intercepted material, which 
provided a safeguard against abuse of power. 
The Court observes, however, that details of 
these “arrangements” made under section 6 
were not contained in legislation or otherwise 
made available to the public.

67. The fact that the Commissioner in his annual 
reports concluded that the Secretary of State’s 
“arrangements” had been complied with (see 
paragraphs 32-33 above), while an important 
safeguard against abuse of power, did not con-
tribute towards the accessibility and clarity of 
the scheme, since he was not able to reveal 
what the “arrangements” were. In this con-
nection the Court recalls its above case-law to 
the effect that the procedures to be followed 
for examining, using and storing intercepted 
material, inter alia, should be set out in a form 
which is open to public scrutiny and knowl-
edge.

68. The Court notes the Government’s concern 
that the publication of information regarding 
the arrangements made by the Secretary of 
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State for the examination, use, storage, com-
munication and destruction of intercepted 
material during the period in question might 
have damaged the efficacy of the intelligence-
gathering system or given rise to a security risk. 
However, it observes that the German authori-
ties considered it safe to include in the G10 
Act, as examined in Weber and Saravia (cited 
above), express provisions about the treatment 
of material derived from strategic interception 
as applied to non-German telephone connec-
tions. In particular, the G10 Act stated that the 
Federal Intelligence Service was authorised to 
carry out monitoring of communications only 
with the aid of search terms which served, 
and were suitable for, the investigation of the 
dangers described in the monitoring order 
and which search terms had to be listed in the 
monitoring order (op. cit., § 32). Moreover, the 
rules on storing and destroying data obtained 
through strategic monitoring were set out in 
detail in section 3(6) and (7) and section 7(4) of 
the amended G10 Act (see Weber and Saravia, 
cited above, § 100). The authorities storing the 
data had to verify every six months whether 
those data were still necessary to achieve the 
purposes for which they had been obtained by 
or transmitted to them. If that was not the case, 
they had to be destroyed and deleted from the 
files or, at the very least, access to them had to 
be blocked; the destruction had to be recorded 
in minutes and, in the cases envisaged in sec-
tion 3(6) and section 7(4), had to be supervised 
by a staff member qualified to hold judicial of-
fice. The G10 Act further set out detailed pro-
visions governing the transmission, retention 
and use of data obtained through the inter-
ception of external communications (op. cit., 
§§ 33-50). In the United Kingdom, extensive 
extracts from the Code of Practice issued under 
section 71 of the 2000 Act are now in the pub-
lic domain (see paragraph 40 above), which 
suggests that it is possible for a State to make 
public certain details about the operation of a 
scheme of external surveillance without com-
promising national security.

69. In conclusion, the Court does not consider that 
the domestic law at the relevant time indicated 
with sufficient clarity, so as to provide adequate 
protection against abuse of power, the scope 
or manner of exercise of the very wide discre-
tion conferred on the State to intercept and ex-
amine external communications. In particular, 
it did not, as required by the Court’s case-law, 
set out in a form accessible to the public any 
indication of the procedure to be followed for 

selecting for examination, sharing, storing and 
destroying intercepted material. The interfer-
ence with the applicants’ rights under Article 
8 was not, therefore, “in accordance with the 
law”.

70. It follows that there has been a violation of Ar-
ticle 8 in this case.

III. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
13 OF THE CONVENTION

71. The applicants also complained under Article 
13, which provides:
“Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [the] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity.”

They submitted that Article 13 required the 
provision of a domestic remedy allowing the 
competent national authority to deal with the 
substance of the Convention complaint and to 
grant relief. The 1985 Act, however, provided 
no remedy for an interference where there had 
been a breach of the section 6 “arrangements” 
in a particular case.

A. Admissibility
72. The Court notes that this complaint is not man-

ifestly ill-founded within the meaning of Article 
35 § 3 of the Convention. It further notes that 
it is not inadmissible on any other grounds. It 
must therefore be declared admissible.

B. Merits
73. However, in the light of its above finding that 

the system for interception of external com-
munications under the 1985 Act was not for-
mulated with sufficient clarity to give the in-
dividual adequate protection against arbitrary 
interference, the Court does not consider that 
it is necessary to examine separately the com-
plaint under Article 13.

IV. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

74. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
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tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage

75. The applicant submitted that the application 
related to allegations of unlawful interception 
of communications over a period of approxi-
mately seven years (1990-1997), and claimed 
EUR 3,000 each, making a total of EUR 9,000 in 
respect of non-pecuniary damage.

76. The Government referred to a number of other 
cases involving covert surveillance where the 
Court held that the finding of a violation was 
sufficient just satisfaction (Khan v. the United 
Kingdom, no. 35394/97, ECHR 2000-V; Arm-
strong v. the United Kingdom, no. 48521/99, 
16 July 2002; Taylor-Sabori v. the United King-
dom, no. 47114/99, 22 October 2002; Hewit-
son v. the United Kingdom, no. 50015/99, 29 
May 2003; Chalkley v. the United Kingdom, no. 
63831/00, 12 June 2003) and submitted that 
no financial compensation for non-pecuniary 
damage would be necessary in the present 
case.

77. In the circumstances of this case, the Court 
considers that the finding of violation consti-
tutes sufficient just satisfaction for any non-
pecuniary damage caused to the applicants.

B. Costs and expenses

78. The applicant also claimed GBP 7,596, exclud-
ing value added tax (“VAT”) for the costs and 
expenses incurred before the Court.

79. The Government noted that counsel had acted 
throughout on a pro bono basis, and submit-
ted that the GBP 180 hourly rate charged by 
Liberty was excessive. They proposed that GBP 
120 per hour would be more reasonable, giv-
ing a total of GBP 5,064.

80. The Court awards EUR 7,500 plus any VAT that 
may be chargeable.

C. Default interest

81. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-
fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Declares the application admissible;

2. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
8 of the Convention;

3. Holds that there is no need to examine the 
complaint under Article 13 of the Convention;

4. Holds

(a) that the respondent State is to pay the ap-
plicant, within three months from the date 
on which the judgment becomes final in 
accordance with Article 44 § 2 of the Con-
vention, EuR 7,500 (seven thousand five 
hundred euros) in respect of costs and 
expenses, to be converted into pounds 
sterling at the rate applicable at the date 
of settlement, plus any tax that may be 
chargeable to the applicants;

(b) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amount at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

5. Dismisses the remainder of the applicant’s 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 
1 July 2008, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the 
Rules of Court.

Lawrence Early, Registrar 
Lech Garlicki, President
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PRIVATE LIFE, FINGERPRINTS, COMPUTER, DNA, INVES-
TIGATION, PROFILING, FAMILY, SENSITIVE DATA

IN THE CASE Of S. AND MARPER v. THE uNITED 
KINGDOM,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting as a 
Grand Chamber composed of:
Jean-Paul Costa, President,  
Christos Rozakis,  
Nicolas Bratza,  
Peer Lorenzen,  
Françoise Tulkens,  
Josep Casadevall,  
Giovanni Bonello,  
Corneliu Bîrsan,  
Nina Vajić,  
Anatoly Kovler,  
Stanislav Pavlovschi,  
Egbert Myjer,  
Danutė Jočienė,  
Ján Šikuta, 
Mark Villiger,  
Päivi Hirvelä,  
Ledi Bianku, judges,  
and Michael O'Boyle, Deputy Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 27 February 2008 
and on 12 November 2008,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in two applications (nos. 

30562/04 and 30566/04) against the United 
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of the 
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Conven-
tion”) by two British nationals, Mr S. (“the first 
applicant”) and Mr Michael Marper (“the sec-
ond applicant”), on 16 August 2004. The Presi-
dent of the Grand Chamber acceded to the 
first applicant's request not to have his name 
disclosed (Rule 47 § 3 of the Rules of Court).

2. The applicants, who were granted legal aid, 
were represented by Mr P. Mahy of Messrs 
Howells, a solicitor practicing in Sheffield. The 
United Kingdom Government (“the Govern-
ment”) were represented by their Agent, Mr J. 
Grainger, Foreign and Commonwealth Office.

3. The applicants complained under Articles 8 
and 14 that the authorities had continued to 
retain their fingerprints and cellular samples 
and DNA profiles after the criminal proceed-
ings against them had ended with an acquittal 
or had been discontinued.

4. The applications were allocated to the Fourth 
Section of the Court (Rule 52 § 1 of the Rules 
of Court). On 16 January 2007 they were de-
clared admissible by a Chamber of that Sec-
tion composed of the following judges: Josep 
Casadevall, President, Nicolas Bratza, Giovanni 
Bonello, Kristaq Traja, Stanislav Pavlovschi, Ján 
Šikuta, Päivi Hirvelä, and also of Lawrence Early, 
Section Registrar.

5. On 10 July 2007 the Chamber relinquished ju-
risdiction in favour of the Grand Chamber, nei-
ther party having objected to relinquishment 
(Article 30 of the Convention and Rule 72).

6. The composition of the Grand Chamber was 
determined according to the provisions of Arti-
cle 27 §§ 2 and 3 of the Convention and Rule 
24 of the Rules of Court.

7. The applicants and the Government each filed 
written memorials on the merits. In addition, 
third-party submissions were received from 
Ms Anna Fairclough on behalf of Liberty (the 
National Council for Civil Liberties) and from 
Covington and Burling LLP on behalf of Privacy 
International, who had been granted leave by 
the President to intervene in the written pro-
cedure (Article 36 § 2 of the Convention and 
Rule 44 § 2). Both parties replied to Liberty's 
submissions and the Government also replied 
to the comments by Privacy International (Rule 
44 § 5).

8. A hearing took place in public in the Human 
Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 27 February 
2008 (Rule 59 § 3).

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Mrs E. Willmott, Agent,  
Mr Rabinder Singh QC,  
Mr J. Strachan, Counsel,  
Mr N. fussell,  
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Ms P. Mcfarlane,  
Mr M. Prior, 
Mr S. Bramble,  
Ms E. Rees,  
Mr S. Sen, Advisers,  
Mr D. Gourley,  
Mr D. Loveday, Observers;

(b) for the applicants

Mr S. Cragg, 
Mr A. Suterwalla, Counsel,  
Mr P. Mahy, Solicitor.

The Court heard addresses by Mr S. Cragg and 
Mr Rabinder Singh QC as well as their answers 
to questions put by the Court.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

9. The applicants were born in 1989 and 1963 re-
spectively and live in Sheffield.

10. The first applicant, Mr S., was arrested on 19 
January 2001 at the age of eleven and charged 
with attempted robbery. His fingerprints and 
DNA samples1 were taken. He was acquitted 
on 14 June 2001.

11. The second applicant, Mr Michael Marper, was 
arrested on 13 March 2001 and charged with 
harassment of his partner. His fingerprints 
and DNA samples were taken. Before a pre-
trial review took place, he and his partner had 
become reconciled, and the charge was not 
pressed. On 11 June 2001, the Crown Prosecu-
tion Service served a notice of discontinuance 
on the applicant's solicitors, and on 14 June the 
case was formally discontinued.

12. Both applicants asked for their fingerprints and 
DNA samples to be destroyed, but in both cas-
es the police refused. The applicants applied 
for judicial review of the police decisions not 
to destroy the fingerprints and samples. On 22 
March 2002 the Administrative Court (Rose LJ 
and Leveson J) rejected the application [[2002] 
EWHC 478 (Admin)].

13. On 12 September 2002 the Court of Appeal up-
held the decision of the Administrative Court 
by a majority of two (Lord Woolf CJ and Waller 
LJ) to one (Sedley LJ) [[2003] EWCA Civ 1275]. 
As regards the necessity of retaining DNA sam-
ples, Lord Justice Waller stated:

“...[F]ingerprintsandDNAprofilesrevealonly
limited personal information. The physical
samplespotentiallycontainverymuchgreater
andmorepersonalanddetailed information.
The anxiety is that sciencemay one day en-
ableanalysisofsamplestogosofarastoob-
tain information in relation toan individual's
propensity to commit certain crime and be
usedforthatpurposewithinthelanguageof
thepresentsection[Section82oftheCriminal
JusticeandPoliceAct2001]. Itmightalsobe
said that the lawmightbechanged inorder
toallowthesamplestobeusedforpurposes
other than those identifiedby the section. It
mightalsobesaidthatwhilesamplesarere-
tainedthereisevennowariskthattheywillbe
usedinawaythatthelawdoesnotallow.So,
itissaid,theaimscouldbeachievedinaless
restrictive manner... Why cannot the aim be
achievedbyretentionoftheprofileswithout
retentionofthesamples?

Theanswerto[these]pointsisasIseeitasfol-
lows.Firsttheretentionofsamplespermits(a)
thecheckingoftheintegrityandfutureutility
of theDNAdatabase system; (b) a reanalysis
fortheupgradingofDNAprofileswherenew
technology can improve the discriminat-
ing power of theDNAmatching process; (c)
reanalysisandthusanabilitytoextractother
DNAmarkersandthusofferbenefitsinterms
ofspeed,sensitivityandcostofsearchesofthe
database;(d)furtheranalysisininvestigations
ofallegedmiscarriagesof justice;and(e)fur-
ther analysis so as tobe able to identify any
analyticalorprocesserrors.Itisthesebenefits
whichmustbebalancedagainsttherisksiden-
tifiedbyLiberty.Inrelationtothoserisks,the
position inanyevent is first thatanychange
in the law will have to be itself Convention
compliant; second any change in practice
wouldhavetobeConventioncompliant;and
third unlawfulnessmust not be assumed. In
myviewthustherisksidentifiedarenotgreat,
andsuchastheyaretheyareoutweighedby
thebenefitsinachievingtheaimofprosecut-
ingandpreventingcrime.”

14. Lord Justice Sedley considered that the power 
of a Chief Constable to destroy data which he 
would ordinarily retain had to be exercised in 
every case, however rare such cases might be, 
where he or she was satisfied on conscientious 
consideration that the individual was free of 
any taint of suspicion. He also noted that the 
difference between the retention of samples 
and DNA profiles was that the retention of 
samples would enable more information to be 
derived than had previously been possible.

15. On 22 July 2004 the House of Lords dismissed 
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an appeal by the applicants. Lord Steyn, giving 
the lead judgment, noted the legislative histo-
ry of section 64 (1A) of the Police and Criminal 
Evidence Act 1984 (“the PACE”), in particular 
the way in which it had been introduced by 
Parliament following public disquiet about the 
previous law, which had provided that where 
a person was not prosecuted or was acquitted 
of offences, the sample had to be destroyed 
and the information could not be used. In two 
cases, compelling DNA evidence linking one 
suspect to a rape and another to a murder had 
not been able to be used, as at the time the 
matches were made both defendants had ei-
ther been acquitted or a decision made not to 
proceed for the offences for which the profiles 
had been obtained: as a result it had not been 
possible to convict either suspect.

16. Lord Steyn noted that the value of retained fin-
gerprints and samples taken from suspects was 
considerable. He gave the example of a case in 
1999, in which DNA information from the per-
petrator of a crime was matched with that of “I” 
in a search of the national database. The sam-
ple from “I” should have been destroyed, but 
had not been. “I” had pleaded guilty to rape 
and was sentenced. If the sample had not been 
wrongly detained, the offender might have es-
caped detection.

17. Lord Steyn also referred to statistical evidence 
from which it appeared that almost 6,000 DNA 
profiles had been linked with crime-scene stain 
profiles which would have been destroyed 
under the former provisions. The offences in-
volved included 53 murders, 33 attempted 
murders, 94 rapes, 38 sexual offences, 63 ag-
gravated burglaries and 56 cases involving 
the supply of controlled drugs. On the basis of 
the existing records, the Home Office statistics 
estimated that there was a 40% chance that a 
crime-scene sample would be matched imme-
diately with an individual's profile on the da-
tabase. This showed that the fingerprints and 
samples which could now be retained had in 
the previous three years played a major role in 
the detection and prosecution of serious crime.

18. Lord Steyn also noted that the PACE dealt 
separately with the taking of fingerprints and 
samples, their retention and their use.

19. As to the Convention analysis, Lord Steyn in-
clined to the view that the mere retention of 
fingerprints and DNA samples did not consti-
tute an interference with the right to respect 
for private life but stated that, if he were wrong 

in that view, he regarded any interference as 
very modest indeed. Questions of whether in 
the future retained samples could be misused 
were not relevant in respect of contemporary 
use of retained samples in connection with the 
detection and prosecution of crime. If future 
scientific developments required it, judicial 
decisions could be made, when the need oc-
curred, to ensure compatibility with the Con-
vention. The provision limiting the permissible 
use of retained material to “purposes related to 
the prevention or detection of crime ...” did not 
broaden the permitted use unduly, because it 
was limited by its context.

20. If the need to justify the modest interference 
with private life arose, Lord Steyn agreed with 
Lord Justice Sedley in the Court of Appeal that 
the purposes of retention – the prevention of 
crime and the protection of the right of others 
to be free from crime – were “provided for by 
law”, as required by Article 8.

21. As to the justification for any interference, the 
applicants had argued that the retention of fin-
gerprints and DNA samples created suspicion 
in respect of persons who had been acquitted. 
Counsel for the Home Secretary had contend-
ed that the aim of the retention had nothing 
to do with the past, that is, with the offence of 
which a person was acquitted, but that it was 
to assist in the investigation of offences in the 
future. The applicants would only be affected 
by the retention of the DNA samples if their 
profiles matched those found at the scene of a 
future crime. Lord Steyn saw five factors which 
led to the conclusion that the interference was 
proportionate to the aim: (i) the fingerprints 
and samples were kept only for the limited 
purpose of the detection, investigation and 
prosecution of crime; (ii) the fingerprints and 
samples were not of any use without a com-
parator fingerprint or sample from the crime 
scene; (iii) the fingerprints would not be made 
public; (iv) a person was not identifiable from 
the retained material to the untutored eye, and 
(v) the resultant expansion of the database by 
the retention conferred enormous advantages 
in the fight against serious crime.

22. In reply to the contention that the same legis-
lative aim could be obtained by less intrusive 
means, namely by a case-by-case considera-
tion of whether or not to retain fingerprints 
and samples, Lord Steyn referred to Lord Jus-
tice Waller's comments in the Court of Appeal 
that “[i]f justification for retention is in any 
degree to be by reference to the view of the 



145CASEOFS.ANDMARPERVTHEUNITEDKINGDOM

EC
J

EC
HR

police on the degree of innocence, then per-
sons who have been acquitted and have their 
samples retained can justifiably say this stig-
matises or discriminates against me – I am part 
of a pool of acquitted persons presumed to be 
innocent, but I am treated as though I was not. 
It is not in fact in any way stigmatising some-
one who has been acquitted to say simply that 
samples lawfully obtained are retained as the 
norm, and it is in the public interest in its fight 
against crime for the police to have as large a 
database as possible”.

23. Lord Steyn did not accept that the difference 
between samples and DNA profiles affected 
the position.

24. The House of Lords further rejected the ap-
plicants' complaint that the retention of their 
fingerprints and samples subjected them to 
discriminatory treatment in breach of Article 
14 of the Convention when compared to the 
general body of persons who had not had their 
fingerprints and samples taken by the police 
in the course of a criminal investigation. Lord 
Steyn held that, even assuming that the reten-
tion of fingerprints and samples fell within the 
ambit of Article 8 so as to trigger the applica-
tion of Article 14, the difference of treatment 
relied on by the applicants was not one based 
on “status” for the purposes of Article 14: the 
difference simply reflected the historical fact, 
unrelated to any personal characteristic, that 
the authorities already held the fingerprints 
and samples of the individuals concerned 
which had been lawfully taken. The applicants 
and their suggested comparators could not in 
any event be said to be in an analogous situa-
tion. Even if, contrary to his view, it was neces-
sary to consider the justification for any differ-
ence in treatment, Lord Steyn held that such 
objective justification had been established: 
first, the element of legitimate aim was plainly 
present, as the increase in the database of fin-
gerprints and samples promoted the public 
interest by the detection and prosecution of 
serious crime and by exculpating the innocent; 
secondly, the requirement of proportionality 
was satisfied, section 64 (1A) of the PACE ob-
jectively representing a measured and propor-
tionate response to the legislative aim of deal-
ing with serious crime.

25. Baroness Hale of Richmond disagreed with 
the majority considering that the retention of 
both fingerprint and DNA data constituted an 
interference by the State in a person's right to 
respect for his private life and thus required 

justification under the Convention. In her opin-
ion, this was an aspect of what had been called 
informational privacy and there could be lit-
tle, if anything, more private to the individual 
than the knowledge of his genetic make-up. 
She further considered that the difference be-
tween fingerprint and DNA data became more 
important when it came to justify their reten-
tion as the justifications for each of these might 
be very different. She agreed with the majority 
that such justifications had been readily estab-
lished in the applicants' cases.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
MATERIALS

A. England and Wales
1.PoliceandCriminalEvidenceAct1984

26. The Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (the 
PACE) contains powers for the taking of fin-
gerprints (principally section 61) and samples 
(principally section 63). By section 61, finger-
prints may only be taken without consent if an 
officer of at least the rank of superintendent 
authorises the taking, or if the person has been 
charged with a recordable offence or has been 
informed that he will be reported for such an 
offence. Before fingerprints are taken, the per-
son must be informed that the prints may be 
the subject of a speculative search, and the fact 
of the informing must be recorded as soon as 
possible. The reason for the taking of the fin-
gerprints is recorded in the custody record. 
Parallel provisions relate to the taking of sam-
ples (section 63).

27. As to the retention of such fingerprints and 
samples (and the records thereof), section 64 
(1A) of the PACE was substituted by Section 82 
of the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001. It 
provides as follows:
“Where-(a)fingerprintsorsamplesaretaken
from a person in connectionwith the inves-
tigationofanoffence,and (b) subsection (3)
belowdoesnotrequirethemtobedestroyed,
the fingerprints or samplesmay be retained
after they have fulfilled the purposes for
whichtheyweretakenbutshallnotbeused
byanypersonexceptforpurposesrelatedto
thepreventionordetectionof crime, the in-
vestigationofanoffence,ortheconductofa
prosecution....

(3) If - (a) fingerprints or samples are taken
fromapersoninconnectionwiththeinvesti-
gationofanoffence;and(b)thatpersonisnot
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suspected of having committed the offence,
theymustexceptasprovidedinthefollowing
provisionsofthisSectionbedestroyedassoon
as they have fulfilled the purpose for which
theyweretaken.

(3AA) Samples and fingerprints are not re-
quired to be destroyed under subsection (3)
aboveif(a)theyweretakenforthepurposes
of the investigationofanoffenceofwhicha
personhasbeenconvicted;and(b)asample
or, as the case may be, fingerprint was also
takenfromtheconvictedpersonforthepur-
posesofthatinvestigation.”

28. Section 64 in its earlier form had included a 
requirement that if the person from whom 
the fingerprints or samples were taken in con-
nection with the investigation was acquitted 
of that offence, the fingerprints and samples, 
subject to certain exceptions, were to be de-
stroyed “as soon as practicable after the con-
clusion of the proceedings”.

29. The subsequent use of materials retained un-
der section 64 (1A) is not regulated by statute, 
other than the limitation on use contained in 
that provision. In Attorney General's Reference 
(No 3 of 1999) [2001] 2 AC 91, the House of 
Lords had to consider whether it was permis-
sible to use in evidence a sample which should 
have been destroyed under the then text of 
section 64 the PACE. The House considered 
that the prohibition on the use of an unlaw-
fully retained sample “for the purposes of any 
investigation” did not amount to a mandatory 
exclusion of evidence obtained as a result of a 
failure to comply with the prohibition, but left 
the question of admissibility to the discretion 
of the trial judge.

2.DataProtectionAct1998
30. The Data Protection Act was adopted on 16 

July 1998 to give effect to the Directive 95/46/
EC of the European Parliament and of the 
Council dated 24 October 1995 (see para-
graph 50 below). Under the Data Protection 
Act “personal data” means data which relate 
to a living individual who can be identified – 
(a) from those data, or (b) from those data and 
other information which is in the possession of, 
or is likely to come into the possession of, the 
data controller, and includes any expression of 
opinion about the individual and any indica-
tion of the intentions of the data controller or 
any other person in respect of the individual 
(section 1). “Sensitive personal data” means 
personal data consisting, inter alia, of informa-
tion as to the racial or ethnic origin of the data 

subject, the commission or alleged commis-
sion by him of any offence, or any proceedings 
for any offence committed or alleged to have 
been committed by him, the disposal of such 
proceedings or the sentence of any court in 
such proceedings (section 2).

31. The Act stipulates that the processing of per-
sonal data is subject to eight data protection 
principles listed in Schedule 1. Under the first 
principle personal data shall be processed 
fairly and lawfully and, in particular shall not 
be processed unless – (a) at least one of the 
conditions in Schedule 2 is met, and (b) in case 
of sensitive personal data, at least one of the 
conditions in Schedule 3 is also met. Schedule 
2 contains a detailed list of conditions, and 
provides inter alia that the processing of any 
personal data is necessary for the administra-
tion of justice or for the exercise of any other 
functions of a public nature exercised in the 
public interest by any person (§5(a) and (d)). 
Schedule 3 contains a more detailed list of con-
ditions, including that the processing of sensi-
tive personal data is necessary for the purpose 
of, or in connection with, any legal proceed-
ings (§6(a)), or for the administration of justice 
(§7(a)), and is carried out with appropriate 
safeguards for the rights and freedoms of data 
subjects (§4(b)). Section 29 notably provides 
that personal data processed for the preven-
tion or detection of crime are exempt from the 
first principle except to the extent to which it 
requires compliance with the conditions in 
Schedules 2 and 3. The fifth principle stipulates 
that personal data processed for any purpose 
or purposes shall not be kept for longer than is 
necessary for that purpose or those purposes.

32. The Information Commissioner created pursu-
ant to the Act (as amended) has an independ-
ent duty to promote the following of good 
practice by data controllers and has power to 
make orders (“enforcement notices”) in this re-
spect (section 40). The Act makes it a criminal 
offence not to comply with an enforcement 
notice (section 47) or to obtain or disclose per-
sonal data or information contained therein 
without the consent of the data controller 
(section 55). Section 13 affords a right to claim 
damages in the domestic courts in respect of 
contraventions of the Act.

3.RetentionGuidelinesforNominalRecords
onthePoliceNationalComputer2006

33. A set of guidelines for the retention of finger-
print and DNA information is contained in the 
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Retention Guidelines for Nominal Records on 
the Police National Computer 2006 drawn up 
by the Association of Chief Police Officers in 
England and Wales. The Guidelines are based 
on a format of restricting access to the Police 
National Computer (PNC) data, rather than the 
deletion of that data. They recognise that their 
introduction may thus have implications for 
the business of the non-police agencies with 
which the police currently share PNC data.

34. The Guidelines set various degrees of access to 
the information contained on the PNC through 
a process of “stepping down” access. Access 
to information concerning persons who have 
not been convicted of an offence is automati-
cally “stepped down” so that this information is 
only open to inspection by the police. Access 
to information about convicted persons is like-
wise “stepped down” after the expiry of certain 
periods of time ranging from 5 to 35 years, 
depending on the gravity of the offence, the 
age of the suspect and the sentence imposed. 
For certain convictions the access will never be 
“stepped down”.

35. Chief Police Officers are the Data Controllers 
of all PNC records created by their force. They 
have the discretion in exceptional circum-
stances to authorise the deletion of any con-
viction, penalty notice for disorder, acquittal or 
arrest histories “owned” by them. An “excep-
tional case procedure” to assist Chief Officers in 
relation to the exercise of this discretion is set 
out in Appendix 2. It is suggested that excep-
tional cases are rare by definition and include 
those where the original arrest or sampling 
was unlawful or where it is established beyond 
doubt that no offence existed. Before deciding 
whether a case is exceptional, the Chief Officer 
is instructed to seek advice from the DNA and 
Fingerprint Retention Project.

B. Scotland
36. Under the 1995 Criminal Procedure Act of Scot-

land, as subsequently amended, the DNA sam-
ples and resulting profiles must be destroyed if 
the individual is not convicted or is granted an 
absolute discharge. A recent qualification pro-
vides that biological samples and profiles may 
be retained for three years, if the arrestee is 
suspected of certain sexual or violent offences 
even if a person is not convicted (section 83 of 
the 2006 Act, adding section 18A to the 1995 
Act.). Thereafter, samples and information are 
required to be destroyed unless a Chief Consta-

ble applies to a Sheriff for a two-year extension.

C. Northern Ireland
37. The Police and Criminal Evidence Order of 

Northern Ireland 1989 was amended in 2001 in 
the same way as the PACE applicable in Eng-
land and Wales. The relevant provisions cur-
rently governing the retention of fingerprint 
and DNA data in Northern Ireland are identical 
to those in force in England and Wales (see 
paragraph 27 above).

D. Nuffield Council on Bioethics' report2 
38. According to a recent report by the Nuffield 

Council on Bioethics, the retention of finger-
prints, DNA profiles and biological samples is 
generally more controversial than the taking of 
such bioinformation, and the retention of bio-
logical samples raises greater ethical concerns 
than digitised DNA profiles and fingerprints, 
given the differences in the level of informa-
tion that could be revealed. The report referred 
in particular to the lack of satisfactory empiri-
cal evidence to justify the present practice of 
retaining indefinitely fingerprints, samples and 
DNA profiles from all those arrested for a re-
cordable offence, irrespective of whether they 
were subsequently charged or convicted. The 
report voiced particular concerns at the policy 
of permanently retaining the bioinformation of 
minors, having regard to the requirements of 
the 1989 UN Convention on the Rights of the 
Child.

39. The report also expressed concerns at the in-
creasing use of the DNA data for familial search-
ing, inferring ethnicity and non-operational 
research. Familial searching is the process of 
comparing a DNA profile from a crime scene 
with profiles stored on the national database, 
and prioritising them in terms of 'closeness' to 
a match. This allowed identifying possible ge-
netic relatives of an offender. Familial search-
ing might thus lead to revealing previously 
unknown or concealed genetic relationships. 
The report considered the use of the DNA data 
base in searching for relatives as particularly 
sensitive.

40. The particular combination of alleles3 in a DNA 
profile can furthermore be used to assess the 
most likely ethnic origin of the donor. Ethnic 
inferring through DNA profiles was possible as 
the individual “ethnic appearance” was system-
atically recorded on the data base: when tak-
ing biological samples, police officers routinely 
classified suspects into one of seven “ethnical 
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appearance” categories. Ethnicity tests on the 
data base might thus provide inferences for 
use during a police investigation in order for 
example to help reduce a 'suspect pool' and to 
inform police priorities. The report noted that 
social factors and policing practices lead to a 
disproportionate number of people from black 
and ethnic minority groups being stopped, 
searched and arrested by the police, and hence 
having their DNA profiles recorded; it therefore 
voiced concerns that inferring ethnic identity 
from biological samples might reinforce racist 
views of propensity to criminality.

III. RELEVANT NATIONAL AND 
INTERNATIONAL MATERIAL

A. Council of Europe texts
41. The Council of Europe Convention of 1981 for 

the protection of individuals with regard to au-
tomatic processing of personal data (“the Data 
Protection Convention”), which entered into 
force for the United Kingdom on 1 December 
1987, defines “personal data” as any informa-
tion relating to an identified or identifiable in-
dividual (“data subject”). The Convention pro-
vides inter alia:
“Article5–Qualityofdata

Personaldataundergoingautomaticprocess-
ingshallbe:...

b.storedforspecifiedandlegitimatepurposes
andnotusedinawayincompatiblewiththose
purposes;

c.adequate,relevantandnotexcessiveinrela-
tiontothepurposesforwhichtheyarestored;

...

e.preservedinaformwhichpermitsidentifi-
cationofthedatasubjectsfornolongerthan
is required for the purpose for which those
dataarestored.

Article6–Specialcategoriesofdata

Personaldata revealing racial origin,political
opinionsor religiousor otherbeliefs, aswell
aspersonaldataconcerninghealthorsexual
life,maynotbeprocessedautomaticallyun-
less domestic lawprovides appropriate safe-
guards.(...)

Article7–Datasecurity

Appropriatesecuritymeasuresshallbetaken
for theprotectionof personal data stored in
automated data files against accidental or

unauthoriseddestructionoraccidentallossas
wellasagainstunauthorisedaccess,alteration
ordissemination.”

42. Recommendation No. R(87)15 regulating 
the use of personal data in the police sector 
(adopted on 17 September 1987) states, inter 
alia:
“Principle2–Collectionofdata

2.1Thecollectionofpersonaldata forpolice
purposesshouldbelimitedtosuchasisnec-
essary for thepreventionof a realdangeror
thesuppressionofaspecificcriminaloffence.
Anyexceptiontothisprovisionshouldbethe
subjectofspecificnationallegislation....

Principle3-Storageofdata

3.1.Asfaraspossible,thestorageofpersonal
dataforpolicepurposesshouldbelimitedto
accuratedataandtosuchdataasareneces-
sary to allow police bodies to perform their
lawfultaskswithintheframeworkofnational
lawandtheirobligationsarisingfrominterna-
tionallaw....

Principle7 - Lengthof storageandupdating
ofdata

7.1.Measuresshouldbetakensothatpersonal
data kept for police purposes are deleted if
theyarenolongernecessaryforthepurposes
forwhichtheywerestored.

For this purpose, consideration shall in par-
ticular be given to the following criteria: the
needtoretaindatainthelightoftheconclu-
sionofaninquiryintoaparticularcase;afinal
judicialdecision,inparticularanacquittal;re-
habilitation;spentconvictions;amnesties;the
ageof thedata subject,particular categories
ofdata.”

43. Recommendation No. R(92)1 on the use of 
analysis of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) within 
the framework of the criminal justice system 
(adopted on 10 February 1992) states, inter alia:
“3. Use of samples and information derived
therefrom

Samples collected for DNA analysis and the
information derived from such analysis for
thepurposeoftheinvestigationandprosecu-
tionofcriminaloffencesmustnotbeusedfor
otherpurposes....

SamplestakenforDNAanalysisandtheinfor-
mationsoderivedmaybeneededforresearch
andstatisticalpurposes.Suchusesareaccept-
able provided the identity of the individual
cannotbeascertained.Namesorother iden-
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tifyingreferencesmustthereforeberemoved
priortotheiruseforthesepurposes.

4.TakingofsamplesforDNAanalysis

ThetakingofsamplesforDNAanalysisshould
only be carried out in circumstances deter-
mined by the domestic law; it being under-
stoodthatinsomestatesthismaynecessitate
specific authorisation from a judicial author-
ity...

8.Storageofsamplesanddata

Samples or other body tissue taken from in-
dividualsforDNAanalysisshouldnotbekept
aftertherenderingofthefinaldecisioninthe
caseforwhichtheywereused,unlessitisnec-
essaryforpurposesdirectlylinkedtothosefor
whichtheywerecollected.

Measuresshouldbetakentoensurethatthe
resultsofDNAanalysisaredeletedwhenit is
nolongernecessarytokeepitforthepurpos-
es forwhich itwasused. The results ofDNA
analysisandthe informationsoderivedmay,
however, be retained where the individual
concernedhasbeen convictedof seriousof-
fencesagainstthelife, integrityorsecurityof
persons. In such cases strict storage periods
shouldbedefinedbydomesticlaw.

Samplesandotherbodytissues,ortheinfor-
mationderivedfromthem,maybestoredfor
longerperiods:

-whenthepersonsorequests;or

-whenthesamplecannotbeattributedtoan
individual,forexamplewhenitisfoundatthe
sceneofacrime;

Wherethesecurityofthestateisinvolved,the
domesticlawofthememberstatemaypermit
retention of the samples, the results of DNA
analysisandthe informationsoderivedeven
thoughtheindividualconcernedhasnotbeen
charged or convicted of an offence. In such
casesstrictstorageperiodsshouldbedefined
bydomesticlaw....”

44. The Explanatory Memorandum to the Recom-
mendation stated, as regards item 8:
“47.Theworkingpartywaswellawarethatthe
draftingofRecommendation8wasadelicate
matter,involvingdifferentprotectedinterests
of a very difficult nature. Itwas necessary to
strike the rightbalancebetween these inter-
ests. Both the European Convention on Hu-
manRightsandtheDataProtectionConven-
tionprovideexceptionsfortheinterestsofthe
suppressionofcriminaloffencesandthepro-
tectionoftherightsandfreedomsofthirdpar-

ties.However,theexceptionsareonlyallowed
to the extent that they are compatible with
whatisnecessaryinademocraticsociety....

49.Sincetheprimaryaimofthecollectionof
samplesandthecarryingoutofDNAanalysis
onsuchsamplesistheidentificationofoffend-
ersandtheexonerationofsuspectedoffend-
ers,thedatashouldbedeletedoncepersons
havebeenclearedofsuspicion.Theissuethen
arises as to how long the DNA findings and
thesamplesonwhichtheywerebasedcanbe
storedinthecaseofafindingofguilt.

50. Thegeneral rule shouldbe that thedata
are deletedwhen they are no longer neces-
saryforthepurposesforwhichtheywerecol-
lectedandused.Thiswouldingeneralbethe
casewhenafinaldecisionhasbeenrendered
as to theculpabilityof theoffender.By 'final
decision' the CAHBI thought that thiswould
normally,underdomestic law,refertoajudi-
cialdecision.However,theworkingpartyrec-
ognisedthattherewasaneedtosetupdata
basesincertaincasesandforspecificcatego-
riesofoffenceswhichcouldbeconsideredto
constitute circumstanceswarranting another
solution,becauseoftheseriousnessoftheof-
fences.Theworkingpartycametothisconclu-
sionafterathoroughanalysisoftherelevant
provisionsintheEuropeanConventiononHu-
man Rights, the Data Protection Convention
and other legal instruments drafted within
the framework of the Council of Europe. In
addition,theworkingpartytook intoconsid-
erationthatallmemberstateskeepacriminal
recordandthatsuchrecordmaybeusedfor
thepurposes of the criminal justice system...
It took into account that such an exception
wouldbepermissibleundercertainstrictcon-
ditions:

-whentherehasbeenaconviction;

- when the conviction concerns a serious
criminaloffenceagainstthelife,integrityand
securityofaperson;

-thestorageperiodislimitedstrictly;

-thestorageisdefinedandregulatedbylaw;

- the storage is subject to control by Parlia-
mentoranindependentsupervisorybody...”

B. Law and practice in the Council of Europe 
member States

45. According to the information provided by the 
parties or otherwise available to the Court, 
a majority of the Council of Europe member 
States allow the compulsory taking of finger-
prints and cellular samples in the context of 
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criminal proceedings. At least 20 member 
States make provision for the taking of DNA in-
formation and storing it on national data bases 
or in other forms (Austria, Belgium, the Czech 
Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, 
Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland4, Italy5, 
Latvia, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Norway, 
Poland, Spain, Sweden and Switzerland). This 
number is steadily increasing.

46. In most of these countries (including Austria, 
Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Hungary, 
Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, 
Norway, Poland, Spain and Sweden), the taking 
of DNA information in the context of criminal 
proceedings is not systematic but limited to 
some specific circumstances and/or to more 
serious crimes, notably those punishable by 
certain terms of imprisonment.

47. The United Kingdom is the only member State 
expressly to permit the systematic and in-
definite retention of DNA profiles and cellular 
samples of persons who have been acquitted 
or in respect of whom criminal proceedings 
have been discontinued. Five States (Belgium, 
Hungary, Ireland, Italy and Sweden) require 
such information to be destroyed ex officio 
upon acquittal or the discontinuance of the 
criminal proceedings. Ten other States apply 
the same general rule with certain very lim-
ited exceptions: Germany, Luxembourg and 
the Netherlands allow such information to be 
retained where suspicions remain about the 
person or if further investigations are needed 
in a separate case; Austria permits its reten-
tion where there is a risk that the suspect will 
commit a dangerous offence and Poland does 
likewise in relation to certain serious crimes; 
Norway and Spain allow the retention of pro-
files if the defendant is acquitted for lack of 
criminal accountability; Finland and Denmark 
allow retention for 1 and 10 years respectively 
in the event of an acquittal and Switzerland for 
1 year when proceedings have been discon-
tinued. In France DNA profiles can be retained 
for 25 years after an acquittal or discharge; 
during this period the public prosecutor may 
order their earlier deletion, either on his or her 
own motion or upon request, if their retention 
has ceased to be required for the purposes of 
identification in connection with a criminal in-
vestigation. Estonia and Latvia also appear to 
allow the retention of DNA profiles of suspects 
for certain periods after acquittal.

48. The retention of DNA profiles of convicted per-
sons is allowed, as a general rule, for limited 

periods of time after the conviction or after the 
convicted person's death. The United Kingdom 
thus also appears to be the only member State 
expressly to allow the systematic and indefinite 
retention of both profiles and samples of con-
victed persons.

49. Complaint mechanisms before data-protec-
tion monitoring bodies and/or before courts 
are available in most of the member States 
with regard to decisions to take celular samples 
or retain samples or DNA profiles.

C. European union
50. Directive 95/46/EC of 24 October 1995 on the 

protection of individuals with regard to the pro-
cessing of personal data and on the free move-
ment of such data provides that the object of 
national laws on the processing of personal 
data is notably to protect the right to privacy 
as recognised both in Article 8 of the European 
Convention on Human Rights and in the gen-
eral principles of Community law. The Directive 
sets out a number of principles in order to give 
substance to and amplify those contained in 
the Data Protection Convention of the Coun-
cil of Europe. It allows Member States to adopt 
legislative measures to restrict the scope of cer-
tain obligations and rights provided for in the 
Directive when such a restriction constitutes 
notably a necessary measure for the preven-
tion, investigation, detection and prosecution 
of criminal offences (Article 13).

51. The Prüm Convention on the stepping up of 
cross-border cooperation, particularly in com-
bating terrorism, cross-border crime and illegal 
migration, which was signed by several mem-
bers of the European Union on 27 May 2005, 
sets out rules for the supply of fingerprinting 
and DNA data to other Contracting Parties 
and their automated checking against their 
relevant data bases. The Convention provides 
inter alia:
“Article35–Purpose

2. ... TheContractingPartyadministering the
filemay process the data supplied (...) solely
where this is necessary for the purposes of
comparison, providing automated replies to
searches or recording... The supplied data
shall be deleted immediately following data
comparisonorautomatedrepliestosearches
unless furtherprocessing isnecessary for the
purposesmentioned[above].”

52. Article 34 guarantees a level of protection of 
personal data at least equal to that resulting 
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from the Data Protection Convention and re-
quires the Contracting Parties to take into ac-
count Recommendation R (87) 15 of the Com-
mittee of Ministers of the Council of Europe.

53. The Council framework decision of 24 June 
2008 on the protection of personal data pro-
cessed in the framework of police and judicial 
cooperation in criminal matters states inter alia:
“Article5

Establishment of time-limits for erasure and
review

Appropriate time-limits shall be established
fortheerasureofpersonaldataor foraperi-
odicreviewoftheneedforthestorageofthe
data. Procedural measures shall ensure that
thesetime-limitsareobserved.”

D. Case-law in other jurisdictions
54. In the case of R v. RC [[2005] 3 S.C.R. 99, 2005 

SCC 61] the Supreme Court of Canada con-
sidered the issue of retaining a juvenile first-
time offender's DNA sample on the national 
data bank. The court upheld the decision by a 
trial judge who had found, in the light of the 
principles and objects of youth criminal justice 
legislation, that the impact of the DNA reten-
tion would be grossly disproportionate. In his 
opinion, Fish J. observed:
“Ofmore concern, however, is the impactof
anorderonan individual's informationalpri-
vacyinterests.InR.v.Plant,[1993]3S.C.R.281,
atp.293,theCourtfoundthats.8oftheChar-
terprotectedthe'biographicalcoreofperson-
alinformationwhichindividualsinafreeand
democratic society would wish to maintain
andcontrol fromdissemination to the state'.
Anindividual'sDNAcontainsthe'highestlevel
ofpersonalandprivateinformation':S.A.B.,at
para.48.Unlikeafingerprint,itiscapableofre-
vealingthemostintimatedetailsofaperson's
biologicalmakeup....Thetakingandretention
of a DNA sample is not a trivialmatter and,
absent a compelling public interest, would
inherentlyconstituteagraveintrusiononthe
subject's right to personal and informational
privacy.”

E. uN Convention on the Rights of the Child 
of 1989

55. Article 40 of the UN Convention on the Rights 
of the Child of 20 November 1989 states the 
right of every child alleged as, accused of, or 
recognised as having infringed the penal law 
to be treated in a manner consistent with the 
promotion of the child's sense of dignity and 

worth, which reinforces the child's respect for 
the human rights and fundamental freedoms 
of others and which takes into account the 
child's age and the desirability of promoting 
the child's reintegration and the child's assum-
ing a constructive role in society.

IV. THIRD PARTIES' SUBMISSIONS

56. The National Council for Civil Liberties (“Lib-
erty”) submitted case-law and scientific mate-
rial highlighting, inter alia, the highly sensitive 
nature of cellular samples and DNA profiles 
and the impact on private life arising from their 
retention by the authorities.

57. Privacy International referred to certain core 
data-protection rules and principles devel-
oped by the Council of Europe and insisted 
on their high relevance for the interpretation 
of the proportionality requirement enshrined 
in Article 8 of the Convention. It emphasised 
in particular the “strict periods” recommended 
by Recommendation R (92) 1 for the storage 
of cellular samples and DNA profiles. It further 
pointed out a disproportionate representation 
on the United Kingdom national DNA data 
base of certain groups of population, notably 
youth, and the unfairness that situation might 
create. The use of data for familial testing and 
additional research purposes was also of con-
cern. Privacy International also provided a sum-
mary of comparative data on the law and prac-
tice of different countries with regard to DNA 
storage and stressed the numerous restrictions 
and safeguards which existed in that respect.

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

58. The applicants complained under Article 8 of 
the Convention about the retention of their 
fingerprints, cellular samples and DNA profiles 
pursuant to section 64 (1A) of the Police and 
Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (“the PACE”). Article 
8 provides, so far as relevant, as follows:
“1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
private...life...

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessary in a democratic society ... for the
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preventionofdisorderorcrime...”

A. Existence of an interference with private 
life

59. The Court will first consider whether the re-
tention by the authorities of the applicants' 
fingerprints, DNA profiles and cellular samples 
constitutes an interference in their private life.

1.Theparties'submissions
(a)  The applicants

60. The applicants submitted that the retention 
of their fingerprints, cellular samples and DNA 
profiles interfered with their right to respect 
for private life as they were crucially linked to 
their individual identity and concerned a type 
of personal information that they were enti-
tled to keep within their control. They recalled 
that the initial taking of such bio-information 
had consistently been held to engage Article 
8 and submitted that their retention was more 
controversial given the wealth of private infor-
mation that became permanently available to 
others and thus came out of the control of the 
person concerned. They stressed in particular 
the social stigma and psychological implica-
tions provoked by such retention in the case 
of children, which made the interference with 
the right to private life all the more pressing in 
respect of the first applicant.

61. They considered that the Convention organs' 
case-law supported this contention, as did a 
recent domestic decision of the Information 
Tribunal (Chief Constables of West Yorkshire, 
South Yorkshire and North Wales Police v. the 
Information Commissioner, [2005] UK IT EA 
2005 0010 (12 October 2005), 173). The latter 
decision relied on the speech of Baroness Hale 
of Richmond in the House of Lords (see para-
graph 25 above) and followed in substance 
her finding when deciding a similar question 
about the application of Article 8 to the reten-
tion of conviction data.

62. They further emphasised that retention of cel-
lular samples involved an even greater degree 
of interference with Article 8 rights as they 
contained full genetic information about a per-
son including genetic information about his or 
her relatives. It was of no significance whether 
information was actually extracted from the 
samples or caused a detriment in a particular 
case as an individual was entitled to a guaran-
tee that such information which fundamentally 
belonged to him would remain private and not 

be communicated or accessible without his 
permission.

(b)  The Government

63. The Government accepted that fingerprints, 
DNA profiles and samples were “personal data” 
within the meaning of the Data Protection Act 
in the hands of those who can identify the in-
dividual. They considered, however, that the 
mere retention of fingerprints, DNA profiles 
and samples for the limited use permitted un-
der section 64 of the PACE did not fall within 
the ambit of the right to respect for private life 
under Article 8 § 1 of the Convention. Unlike 
the initial taking of this data, their retention did 
not interfere with the physical and psychologi-
cal integrity of the persons; nor did it breach 
their right to personal development, to estab-
lish and develop relationships with other hu-
man beings or the right to self-determination.

64. The Government submitted that the appli-
cants' real concerns related to fears about the 
future uses of stored samples, to anticipated 
methods of analysis of DNA material and to 
potential intervention with the private life of 
individuals through active surveillance. It em-
phasised in this connection that the permitted 
extent of the use of the material was clearly 
and expressly limited by the legislation, the 
technological processes of DNA profiling and 
the nature of the DNA profile extracted.

65. The profile was merely a sequence of num-
bers which provided a means of identifying 
a person against bodily tissue, containing no 
materially intrusive information about an in-
dividual or his personality. The DNA database 
was a collection of such profiles which could 
be searched using material from a crime scene 
and a person would be identified only if and to 
the extent that a match was obtained against 
the sample. Familial searching through partial 
matches only occurred in very rare cases and 
was subject to very strict controls. Fingerprints, 
DNA profiles and samples were neither sus-
ceptible to any subjective commentary nor 
provided any information about a person's ac-
tivities and thus presented no risk to affect the 
perception of an individual or affect his or her 
reputation. Even if such retention were capable 
of falling within the ambit of Article 8 § 1 the 
extremely limited nature of any adverse effects 
rendered the retention not sufficiently serious 
to constitute an interference.
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2.TheCourt'sassessment
(a)  General principles

66. The Court recalls that the concept of “private 
life” is a broad term not susceptible to exhaus-
tive definition. It covers the physical and psy-
chological integrity of a person (see Pretty v. 
the United Kingdom, no. 2346/02, § 61, ECHR 
2002-III, and Y.F. v. Turkey, no. 24209/94, § 33, 
ECHR 2003-IX). It can therefore embrace multi-
ple aspects of the person's physical and social 
identity (see Mikulić v. Croatia, no. 53176/99, § 
53, ECHR 2002-I). Elements such as, for exam-
ple, gender identification, name and sexual ori-
entation and sexual life fall within the personal 
sphere protected by Article 8 (see, among oth-
er authorities, Bensaid v. the United Kingdom, 
no. 44599/98, § 47, ECHR 2001-I with further 
references, and Peck v. the United Kingdom, 
no. 44647/98, § 57, ECHR 2003-I). Beyond a 
person's name, his or her private and family life 
may include other means of personal identifi-
cation and of linking to a family (see mutatis 
mutandis Burghartz v. Switzerland, 22 February 
1994, § 24, Series A no. 280-B; and Ünal Tekeli 
v. Turkey, no. 29865/96, § 42, ECHR 2004-X (ex-
tracts)). Information about the person's health 
is an important element of private life (see Z. 
v. Finland, 25 February 1997, § 71, Reports of 
Judgments and Decisions 1997-I). The Court 
furthermore considers that an individual's eth-
nic identity must be regarded as another such 
element (see in particular Article 6 of the Data 
Protection Convention quoted in paragraph 
41 above, which lists personal data reveal-
ing racial origin as a special category of data 
along with other sensitive information about 
an individual). Article 8 protects in addition a 
right to personal development, and the right to 
establish and develop relationships with other 
human beings and the outside world (see, for 
example, Burghartz, cited above, opinion of 
the Commission, p. 37, § 47, and Friedl v. Aus-
tria, judgment of 31 January 1995, Series A no. 
305-B, opinion of the Commission, p. 20, § 45). 
The concept of private life moreover includes 
elements relating to a person's right to their 
image (Sciacca v. Italy, no. 50774/99 50774/99, 
§ 29, ECHR 2005-I).

67. The mere storing of data relating to the private 
life of an individual amounts to an interfer-
ence within the meaning of Article 8 (see Le-
ander v. Sweden, 26 March 1987, § 48, Series 
A no. 116). The subsequent use of the stored 
information has no bearing on that finding 
(Amann v. Switzerland [GC], no. 27798/95, 

§ 69, ECHR 2000-II). However, in determining 
whether the personal information retained by 
the authorities involves any of the private-life 
aspects mentioned above, the Court will have 
due regard to the specific context in which the 
information at issue has been recorded and 
retained, the nature of the records, the way in 
which these records are used and processed 
and the results that may be obtained (see, mu-
tatis mutandis, Friedl, cited above, §§49-51, 
and Peck v. the United Kingdom, cited above, 
§ 59).

(b)  Application  of  the  principles  to  the  present 
case

68. The Court notes at the outset that all three cat-
egories of the personal information retained 
by the authorities in the present cases, namely 
fingerprints, DNA profiles and cellular samples, 
constitute personal data within the meaning 
of the Data Protection Convention as they re-
late to identified or identifiable individuals. The 
Government accepted that all three categories 
are “personal data” within the meaning of the 
Data Protection Act 1998 in the hands of those 
who are able to identify the individual.

69. The Convention organs have already consid-
ered in various circumstances questions relat-
ing to the retention of such personal data by 
the authorities in the context of criminal pro-
ceedings. As regards the nature and scope of 
the information contained in each of these 
three categories of data, the Court has distin-
guished in the past between the retention of 
fingerprints and the retention of cellular sam-
ples and DNA profiles in view of the stronger 
potential for future use of the personal infor-
mation contained in the latter (see Van der 
Velden v. the Netherlands (dec.), no. 29514/05, 
ECHR 2006-...). The Court considers it appropri-
ate to examine separately the question of in-
terference with the applicants' right to respect 
for their private lives by the retention of their 
cellular samples and DNA profiles on the one 
hand, and of their fingerprints on the other.

i Cellular samples and DNA profiles

70. In Van der Velden, the Court considered that, 
given the use to which cellular material in par-
ticular could conceivably be put in the future, 
the systematic retention of that material was 
sufficiently intrusive to disclose interference 
with the right to respect for private life (see 
Van der Velden cited above). The Government 
criticised that conclusion on the ground that 
it speculated on the theoretical future use of 



154 CASEOFS.ANDMARPERVTHEUNITEDKINGDOM

EC
HR

EC
J

samples and that there was no such interfer-
ence at present.

71. The Court maintains its view that an individu-
al's concern about the possible future use of 
private information retained by the authorities 
is legitimate and relevant to a determination 
of the issue of whether there has been an in-
terference. Indeed, bearing in mind the rapid 
pace of developments in the field of genetics 
and information technology, the Court cannot 
discount the possibility that in the future the 
private-life interests bound up with genetic in-
formation may be adversely affected in novel 
ways or in a manner which cannot be antici-
pated with precision today. Accordingly, the 
Court does not find any sufficient reason to de-
part from its finding in the Van der Velden case.

72. Legitimate concerns about the conceivable 
use of cellular material in the future are not, 
however, the only element to be taken into 
account in the determination of the present is-
sue. In addition to the highly personal nature of 
cellular samples, the Court notes that they con-
tain much sensitive information about an indi-
vidual, including information about his or her 
health. Moreover, samples contain a unique 
genetic code of great relevance to both the 
individual and his relatives. In this respect the 
Court concurs with the opinion expressed by 
Baroness Hale in the House of Lords (see para-
graph 25 above).

73. Given the nature and the amount of personal 
information contained in cellular samples, their 
retention per se must be regarded as interfer-
ing with the right to respect for the private lives 
of the individuals concerned. That only a limit-
ed part of this information is actually extracted 
or used by the authorities through DNA profil-
ing and that no immediate detriment is caused 
in a particular case does not change this con-
clusion (see Amann cited above, § 69).

74. As regards DNA profiles themselves, the Court 
notes that they contain a more limited amount 
of personal information extracted from cellu-
lar samples in a coded form. The Government 
submitted that a DNA profile is nothing more 
than a sequence of numbers or a bar-code 
containing information of a purely objective 
and irrefutable character and that the iden-
tification of a subject only occurs in case of a 
match with another profile in the database. 
They also submitted that, being in coded form, 
computer technology is required to render the 
information intelligible and that only a limited 

number of persons would be able to interpret 
the data in question.

75. The Court observes, nonetheless, that the pro-
files contain substantial amounts of unique 
personal data. While the information con-
tained in the profiles may be considered ob-
jective and irrefutable in the sense submitted 
by the Government, their processing through 
automated means allows the authorities to go 
well beyond neutral identification. The Court 
notes in this regard that the Government ac-
cepted that DNA profiles could be, and in-
deed had in some cases been, used for familial 
searching with a view to identifying a possible 
genetic relationship between individuals. They 
also accepted the highly sensitive nature of 
such searching and the need for very strict 
controls in this respect. In the Court's view, the 
DNA profiles' capacity to provide a means of 
identifying genetic relationships between in-
dividuals (see paragraph 39 above) is in itself 
sufficient to conclude that their retention in-
terferes with the right to the private life of the 
individuals concerned. The frequency of famil-
ial searches, the safeguards attached thereto 
and the likelihood of detriment in a particular 
case are immaterial in this respect (see Amann 
cited above, § 69). This conclusion is similarly 
not affected by the fact that, since the informa-
tion is in coded form, it is intelligible only with 
the use of computer technology and capable 
of being interpreted only by a limited number 
of persons.

76. The Court further notes that it is not disputed 
by the Government that the processing of DNA 
profiles allows the authorities to assess the 
likely ethnic origin of the donor and that such 
techniques are in fact used in police investiga-
tions (see paragraph 40 above). The possibility 
the DNA profiles create for inferences to be 
drawn as to ethnic origin makes their retention 
all the more sensitive and susceptible of affect-
ing the right to private life. This conclusion is 
consistent with the principle laid down in the 
Data Protection Convention and reflected in 
the Data Protection Act that both list personal 
data revealing ethnic origin among the special 
categories of sensitive data attracting a height-
ened level of protection (see paragraphs 30-31 
and 41 above).

77. In view of the foregoing, the Court concludes 
that the retention of both cellular samples and 
DNA profiles discloses an interference with the 
applicants' right to respect for their private 
lives, within the meaning of Article 8 § 1 of the 
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Convention.

ii Fingerprints

78. It is common ground that fingerprints do not 
contain as much information as either cellular 
samples or DNA profiles. The issue of alleged 
interference with the right to respect for pri-
vate life caused by their retention by the au-
thorities has already been considered by the 
Convention organs.

79. In McVeigh, the Commission first examined the 
issue of the taking and retention of fingerprints 
as part of a series of investigative measures. It 
accepted that at least some of the measures 
disclosed an interference with the applicants' 
private life, while leaving open the question 
of whether the retention of fingerprints alone 
would amount to such interference (McVeigh, 
O'Neill and Evans (no. 8022/77, 8025/77 and 
8027/77, Report of the Commission of 18 
March 1981, DR 25, p.15, § 224).

80. In Kinnunen, the Commission considered that 
fingerprints and photographs retained follow-
ing the applicant's arrest did not constitute an 
interference with his private life as they did not 
contain any subjective appreciations which 
called for refutation. The Commission noted, 
however, that the data at issue had been de-
stroyed nine years later at the applicant's re-
quest (Kinnunen v. Finland, no. 24950/94, Com-
mission decision of 15 May 1996).

81. Having regard to these findings and the ques-
tions raised in the present case, the Court 
considers it appropriate to review this issue. It 
notes at the outset that the applicants' finger-
print records constitute their personal data (see 
paragraph 68 above) which contain certain ex-
ternal identification features much in the same 
way as, for example, personal photographs or 
voice samples.

82. In Friedl, the Commission considered that the 
retention of anonymous photographs that 
have been taken at a public demonstration did 
not interfere with the right to respect for private 
life. In so deciding, it attached special weight to 
the fact that the photographs concerned had 
not been entered in a data-processing system 
and that the authorities had taken no steps to 
identify the persons photographed by means 
of data processing (see Friedl cited above, 
§§ 49-51).

83. In P.G. and J.H., the Court considered that the 
recording of data and the systematic or per-

manent nature of the record could give rise 
to private-life considerations even though 
the data in question may have been available 
in the public domain or otherwise. The Court 
noted that a permanent record of a person's 
voice for further analysis was of direct rele-
vance to identifying that person when consid-
ered in conjunction with other personal data. 
It accordingly regarded the recording of the 
applicants' voices for such further analysis as 
amounting to interference with their right to 
respect for their private lives (see P.G. and J.H. 
v. the United Kingdom, no. 44787/98 44787/98, 
§ 59-60, ECHR 2001-IX).

84. The Court is of the view that the general ap-
proach taken by the Convention organs in re-
spect of photographs and voice samples should 
also be followed in respect of fingerprints. The 
Government distinguished the latter by argu-
ing that they constituted neutral, objective and 
irrefutable material and, unlike photographs, 
were unintelligible to the untutored eye and 
without a comparator fingerprint. While true, 
this consideration cannot alter the fact that fin-
gerprints objectively contain unique informa-
tion about the individual concerned allowing 
his or her identification with precision in a wide 
range of circumstances. They are thus capable 
of affecting his or her private life and retention 
of this information without the consent of the 
individual concerned cannot be regarded as 
neutral or insignificant.

85. The Court accordingly considers that the reten-
tion of fingerprints on the authorities' records 
in connection with an identified or identifiable 
individual may in itself give rise, notwithstand-
ing their objective and irrefutable character, to 
important private-life concerns.

86. In the instant case, the Court notes further-
more that the applicants' fingerprints were 
initially taken in criminal proceedings and sub-
sequently recorded on a nationwide database 
with the aim of being permanently kept and 
regularly processed by automated means for 
criminal-identification purposes. It is accepted 
in this regard that, because of the information 
they contain, the retention of cellular samples 
and DNA profiles has a more important impact 
on private life than the retention of finger-
prints. However, the Court, like Baroness Hale 
(see paragraph 25 above), considers that, while 
it may be necessary to distinguish between the 
taking, use and storage of fingerprints, on the 
one hand, and samples and profiles, on the 
other, in determining the question of justifica-
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tion, the retention of fingerprints constitutes 
an interference with the right to respect for 
private life.

B. Justification for the interference
1.Theparties'submissions
(a)  The applicants

87. The applicants argued that the retention of 
fingerprints, cellular samples and DNA profiles 
was not justified under the second paragraph 
of Article 8. The Government were given a very 
wide remit to use samples and DNA profiles 
notably for “purposes related to the preven-
tion or detection of crime”, “the investigation 
of an offence” or “the conduct of a prosecu-
tion”. These purposes were vague and open 
to abuse as they might in particular lead to 
the collation of detailed personal information 
outside the immediate context of the investi-
gation of a particular offence. The applicants 
further submitted that there were insufficient 
procedural safeguards against misuse or abuse 
of the information. Records on the PNC were 
not only accessible to the police, but also to 
56 non-police bodies, including Government 
agencies and departments, private groups 
such as British Telecom and the Association 
of British Insurers, and even certain employ-
ers. Furthermore, the PNC was linked to the 
Europe-wide “Schengen Information System”. 
Consequently, their case involved a very sub-
stantial and controversial interference with the 
right to private life, as notably illustrated by on-
going public debate and disagreement about 
the subject in the United Kingdom. Contrary 
to the assertion of the Government, the appli-
cants concluded that the issue of the retention 
of this material was of great individual concern 
and the State had a narrow margin of apprecia-
tion in this field.

88. The applicants contended that the indefinite 
retention of fingerprints, cellular samples and 
DNA profiles of unconvicted persons could not 
be regarded as “necessary in a democratic so-
ciety” for the purpose of preventing crime. In 
particular, there was no justification at all for 
the retention of cellular samples following the 
original generation of the DNA profile; nor had 
the efficacy of the profiles' retention been con-
vincingly demonstrated since the high number 
of DNA matches relied upon by the Govern-
ment was not shown to have led to successful 
prosecutions. Likewise, in most of the specific 
examples provided by the Government the 
successful prosecution had not been contin-

gent on the retention of the records and in cer-
tain others the successful outcome could have 
been achieved through more limited retention 
in time and scope.

89. The applicants further submitted that the re-
tention was disproportionate because of its 
blanket nature irrespective of the offences 
involved, the unlimited period, the failure to 
take account of the applicants' circumstances 
and the lack of an independent decision-
making process or scrutiny when considering 
whether or not to order retention. They further 
considered the retention regime to be incon-
sistent with the Council of Europe's guidance 
on the subject. They emphasised, finally, that 
retention of the records cast suspicion on per-
sons who had been acquitted or discharged 
of crimes, thus implying that they were not 
wholly innocent. The retention thus resulted 
in stigma which was particularly detrimental to 
children as in the case of S. and to members of 
certain ethnic groups over-represented on the 
database.

(b)  The Government

90. The Government submitted that any interfer-
ence resulting from the retention of the appli-
cants' fingerprints, cellular samples and DNA 
profiles was justified under the second para-
graph of Article 8. It was in accordance with the 
law as expressly provided for, and governed by 
section 64 of the PACE, which set out detailed 
powers and restrictions on the taking of finger-
prints and samples and clearly stated that they 
would be retained by the authorities regardless 
of the outcome of the proceedings in respect 
of which they were taken. The exercise of the 
discretion to retain fingerprints and samples 
was also, in any event, subject to the normal 
principles of law regulating discretionary pow-
er and to judicial review.

91. The Government further stated that the in-
terference was necessary and proportionate 
for the legitimate purpose of the prevention 
of disorder or crime and/or the protection of 
the rights and freedoms of others. It was of vi-
tal importance that law enforcement agencies 
took full advantage of available techniques of 
modern technology and forensic science in 
the prevention, investigation and detection 
of crime for the interests of society generally. 
They submitted that the retained material was 
of inestimable value in the fight against crime 
and terrorism and the detection of the guilty 
and provided statistics in support of this view. 
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They emphasised that the benefits to the 
criminal-justice system were enormous, not 
only permitting the detection of the guilty but 
also eliminating the innocent from inquiries 
and correcting and preventing miscarriages of 
justice.

92. As at 30 September 2005, the National DNA 
database held 181,000 profiles from individuals 
who would have been entitled to have those 
profiles destroyed before the 2001 amend-
ments. 8,251 of those were subsequently 
linked with crime-scene stains which involved 
13,079 offences, including 109 murders, 55 at-
tempted murders, 116 rapes, 67 sexual offenc-
es, 105 aggravated burglaries and 126 offences 
of the supply of controlled drugs.

93. The Government also submitted specific ex-
amples of use of DNA material for successful 
investigation and prosecution in some eight-
een specific cases. In ten of these cases the 
DNA profiles of suspects matched some earlier 
unrelated crime-scene stains retained on the 
database, thus allowing successful prosecu-
tion for those earlier crimes. In another case, 
two suspects arrested for rape were eliminated 
from the investigation as their DNA profiles 
did not match the crime-scene stain. In two 
other cases the retention of DNA profiles of 
the persons found guilty of certain minor of-
fences (disorder and theft) led to establishing 
their involvement in other crimes committed 
later. In one case the retention of a suspect's 
DNA profile following an alleged immigration 
offence helped his extradition to the United 
Kingdom a year later when he was identified 
by one of his victims as having committed rape 
and murder. Finally, in four cases DNA profiles 
retained from four persons suspected but not 
convicted of certain offences (possession of of-
fensive weapons, violent disorder and assault) 
matched the crime-scene stains collected from 
victims of rape up to two years later.

94. The Government contended that the retention 
of fingerprints, cellular samples and DNA pro-
files could not be regarded as excessive since 
they were kept for specific limited statutory 
purposes and stored securely and subject to 
the safeguards identified. Their retention was 
neither warranted by any degree of suspicion 
of the applicants' involvement in a crime or 
propensity to crime nor directed at retaining 
records in respect of investigated alleged of-
fences in the past. The records were retained 
because the police had already been lawfully in 
possession of them, and their retention would 

assist in the future prevention and detection of 
crime in general by increasing the size of the 
database. Retention resulted in no stigma and 
produced no practical consequence for the ap-
plicants unless the records matched a crime-
scene profile. A fair balance was thus struck 
between individual rights and the general 
interest of the community and fell within the 
State's margin of appreciation.

2.TheCourt'sassessment
(a)  In accordance with the law

95. The Court recalls its well established case-law 
that the wording “in accordance with the law” 
requires the impugned measure both to have 
some basis in domestic law and to be com-
patible with the rule of law, which is expressly 
mentioned in the preamble to the Convention 
and inherent in the object and purpose of Arti-
cle 8. The law must thus be adequately acces-
sible and foreseeable, that is, formulated with 
sufficient precision to enable the individual – if 
need be with appropriate advice – to regulate 
his conduct. For domestic law to meet these 
requirements, it must afford adequate legal 
protection against arbitrariness and accord-
ingly indicate with sufficient clarity the scope 
of discretion conferred on the competent au-
thorities and the manner of its exercise (see 
Malone v. the United Kingdom, 2 August 1984, 
§§ 66-68, Series A no. 82; Rotaru v. Romania 
[GC], no. 28341/95, § 55, ECHR 2000-V; and 
Amann cited above, § 56).

96. The level of precision required of domestic 
legislation – which cannot in any case provide 
for every eventuality – depends to a consider-
able degree on the content of the instrument 
in question, the field it is designed to cover and 
the number and status of those to whom it is 
addressed (Hasan and Chaush v. Bulgaria [GC], 
no. 30985/96, § 84, ECHR 2000-XI, with further 
references).

97. The Court notes that section 64 of the PACE 
provides that the fingerprints or samples taken 
from a person in connection with the investi-
gation of an offence may be retained after they 
have fulfilled the purposes for which they were 
taken (see paragraph 27 above). The Court 
agrees with the Government that the retention 
of the applicants' fingerprint and DNA records 
had a clear basis in the domestic law. There is 
also clear evidence that these records are re-
tained in practice save in exceptional circum-
stances. The fact that chief police officers have 
power to destroy them in such rare cases does 
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not make the law insufficiently certain from the 
point of view of the Convention.

98. As regards the conditions attached to and ar-
rangements for the storing and use of this per-
sonal information, section 64 is far less precise. 
It provides that retained samples and finger-
prints must not be used by any person except 
for purposes related to the prevention or de-
tection of crime, the investigation of an offence 
or the conduct of a prosecution.

99. The Court agrees with the applicants that at 
least the first of these purposes is worded in 
rather general terms and may give rise to ex-
tensive interpretation. It reiterates that it is 
as essential, in this context, as in telephone 
tapping, secret surveillance and covert intelli-
gence-gathering, to have clear, detailed rules 
governing the scope and application of meas-
ures, as well as minimum safeguards concern-
ing, inter alia, duration, storage, usage, access 
of third parties, procedures for preserving the 
integrity and confidentiality of data and proce-
dures for its destruction, thus providing suffi-
cient guarantees against the risk of abuse and 
arbitrariness (see, mutatis mutandis, Kruslin v. 
France, 24 April 1990, §§ 33 and 35, Series A 
no. 176-A; Rotaru, cited above, § 57-59; Weber 
and Saravia v. Germany (dec.), no. 54934/00 
54934/00, ECHR 2006-...; Association for Eu-
ropean Integration and Human Rights and 
Ekimdzhiev v. Bulgaria, no. 62540/00 62540/00, 
§§ 75-77, 28 June 2007; Liberty and Others 
v. the United Kingdom, no. 58243/00, § 62-63, 
1 July 2008). The Court notes, however, that 
these questions are in this case closely related 
to the broader issue of whether the interfer-
ence was necessary in a democratic society. In 
view of its analysis in paragraphs 105-126 be-
low, the Court does not find it necessary to de-
cide whether the wording of section 64 meets 
the “quality of law” requirements within the 
meaning of Article 8 § 2 of the Convention.

(b)  Legitimate aim

100. The Court agrees with the Government that 
the retention of fingerprint and DNA infor-
mation pursues the legitimate purpose of the 
detection, and therefore, prevention of crime. 
While the original taking of this information 
pursues the aim of linking a particular person 
to the particular crime of which he or she is 
suspected, its retention pursues the broader 
purpose of assisting in the identification of fu-
ture offenders.

(c)  Necessary in a democratic society

i General principles

101. An interference will be considered “necessary 
in a democratic society” for a legitimate aim if 
it answers a “pressing social need” and, in par-
ticular, if it is proportionate to the legitimate 
aim pursued and if the reasons adduced by the 
national authorities to justify it are "relevant 
and sufficient". While it is for the national au-
thorities to make the initial assessment in all 
these respects, the final evaluation of whether 
the interference is necessary remains subject 
to review by the Court for conformity with the 
requirements of the Convention (see Coster v. 
the United Kingdom [GC], no. 24876/94, § 104, 
18 January 2001, with further references).

102. A margin of appreciation must be left to the 
competent national authorities in this assess-
ment. The breadth of this margin varies and 
depends on a number of factors including the 
nature of the Convention right in issue, its im-
portance for the individual, the nature of the 
interference and the object pursued by the 
interference. The margin will tend to be nar-
rower where the right at stake is crucial to the 
individual's effective enjoyment of intimate or 
key rights (see Connors v. the United Kingdom, 
no. 66746/01, § 82, 27 May 2004, with further 
references). Where a particularly important 
facet of an individual's existence or identity is 
at stake, the margin allowed to the State will 
be restricted (see Evans v. the United Kingdom 
[GC], no. 6339/05, § 77, ECHR 2007-...). Where, 
however, there is no consensus within the 
Member States of the Council of Europe, either 
as to the relative importance of the interest at 
stake or as to how best to protect it, the margin 
will be wider (see Dickson v. the United King-
dom [GC], no. 44362/04 44362/04, § 78, ECHR 
2007-...).

103. The protection of personal data is of funda-
mental importance to a person's enjoyment of 
his or her right to respect for private and family 
life, as guaranteed by Article 8 of the Conven-
tion. The domestic law must afford appropriate 
safeguards to prevent any such use of personal 
data as may be inconsistent with the guaran-
tees of this Article (see, mutatis mutandis, Z., 
cited above, § 95). The need for such safe-
guards is all the greater where the protection 
of personal data undergoing automatic pro-
cessing is concerned, not least when such data 
are used for police purposes. The domestic law 
should notably ensure that such data are rel-
evant and not excessive in relation to the pur-
poses for which they are stored; and preserved 
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in a form which permits identification of the 
data subjects for no longer than is required for 
the purpose for which those data are stored 
(see Article 5 of the Data Protection Conven-
tion and the preamble thereto and Principle 7 
of Recommendation R(87)15 of the Committee 
of Ministers regulating the use of personal data 
in the police sector). The domestic law must 
also afford adequate guarantees that retained 
personal data was efficiently protected from 
misuse and abuse (see notably Article 7 of the 
Data Protection Convention). The above con-
siderations are especially valid as regards the 
protection of special categories of more sensi-
tive data (see Article 6 of the Data Protection 
Convention) and more particularly of DNA in-
formation, which contains the person's genetic 
make-up of great importance to both the per-
son concerned and his or her family (see Rec-
ommendation No. R(92)1 of the Committee of 
Ministers on the use of analysis of DNA within 
the framework of the criminal justice system).

104. The interests of the data subjects and the com-
munity as a whole in protecting the personal 
data, including fingerprint and DNA informa-
tion, may be outweighed by the legitimate in-
terest in the prevention of crime (see Article 9 
of the Data Protection Convention). However, 
the intrinsically private character of this infor-
mation calls for the Court to exercise careful 
scrutiny of any State measure authorising its re-
tention and use by the authorities without the 
consent of the person concerned (see, mutatis 
mutandis, Z. cited above, § 96).

ii Application of these principles to the pre-
sent case

105. The Court finds it to be beyond dispute that the 
fight against crime, and in particular against or-
ganised crime and terrorism, which is one of 
the challenges faced by today's European so-
cieties, depends to a great extent on the use 
of modern scientific techniques of investiga-
tion and identification. The techniques of DNA 
analysis were acknowledged by the Council of 
Europe more than fifteen years ago as offering 
advantages to the criminal-justice system (see 
Recommendation R(92)1 of the Committee of 
Ministers, paragraphs 43-44 above). Nor is it 
disputed that the member States have since 
that time made rapid and marked progress in 
using DNA information in the determination of 
innocence or guilt.

106. However, while it recognises the importance 
of such information in the detection of crime, 

the Court must delimit the scope of its exami-
nation. The question is not whether the reten-
tion of fingerprints, cellular samples and DNA 
profiles may in general be regarded as justified 
under the Convention. The only issue to be 
considered by the Court is whether the reten-
tion of the fingerprint and DNA data of the ap-
plicants, as persons who had been suspected, 
but not convicted, of certain criminal offences, 
was justified under Article 8, paragraph 2 of the 
Convention.

107. The Court will consider this issue with due re-
gard to the relevant instruments of the Council 
of Europe and the law and practice of the other 
Contracting States. The core principles of data 
protection require the retention of data to be 
proportionate in relation to the purpose of col-
lection and insist on limited periods of storage 
(see paragraphs 41-44 above). These principles 
appear to have been consistently applied by 
the Contracting States in the police sector in 
accordance with the Data Protection Conven-
tion and subsequent Recommendations of the 
Committee of Ministers (see paragraphs 45-49 
above).

108. As regards, more particularly, cellular samples, 
most of the Contracting States allow these ma-
terials to be taken in criminal proceedings only 
from individuals suspected of having commit-
ted offences of a certain minimum gravity. In 
the great majority of the Contracting States 
with functioning DNA databases, samples and 
DNA profiles derived from those samples are 
required to be removed or destroyed either 
immediately or within a certain limited time af-
ter acquittal or discharge. A restricted number 
of exceptions to this principle are allowed by 
some Contracting States (see paragraphs 47-
48 above).

109. The current position of Scotland, as a part of 
the United Kingdom itself, is of particular sig-
nificance in this regard. As noted above (see 
paragraph 36), the Scottish Parliament voted 
to allow retention of the DNA of unconvicted 
persons only in the case of adults charged with 
violent or sexual offences and even then, for 
three years only, with the possibility of an ex-
tension to keep the DNA sample and data for a 
further two years with the consent of a sheriff.

110. This position is notably consistent with Com-
mittee of Ministers' Recommendation R(92)1, 
which stresses the need for an approach which 
discriminates between different kinds of cases 
and for the application of strictly defined stor-
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age periods for data, even in more serious cas-
es (see paragraphs 43-44 above). Against this 
background, England, Wales and Northern Ire-
land appear to be the only jurisdictions within 
the Council of Europe to allow the indefinite re-
tention of fingerprint and DNA material of any 
person of any age suspected of any recordable 
offence.

111. The Government lay emphasis on the fact that 
the United Kingdom is in the vanguard of the 
development of the use of DNA samples in the 
detection of crime and that other States have 
not yet achieved the same maturity in terms of 
the size and resources of DNA databases. It is 
argued that the comparative analysis of the law 
and practice in other States with less advanced 
systems is accordingly of limited importance.

112. The Court cannot, however, disregard the fact 
that, notwithstanding the advantages provided 
by comprehensive extension of the DNA data-
base, other Contracting States have chosen to 
set limits on the retention and use of such data 
with a view to achieving a proper balance with 
the competing interests of preserving respect 
for private life. The Court observes that the pro-
tection afforded by Article 8 of the Convention 
would be unacceptably weakened if the use of 
modern scientific techniques in the criminal-
justice system were allowed at any cost and 
without carefully balancing the potential ben-
efits of the extensive use of such techniques 
against important private-life interests. In the 
Court's view, the strong consensus existing 
among the Contracting States in this respect 
is of considerable importance and narrows 
the margin of appreciation left to the respond-
ent State in the assessment of the permissible 
limits of the interference with private life in 
this sphere. The Court considers that any State 
claiming a pioneer role in the development of 
new technologies bears special responsibility 
for striking the right balance in this regard.

113. In the present case, the applicants' fingerprints 
and cellular samples were taken and DNA pro-
files obtained in the context of criminal pro-
ceedings brought on suspicion of attempted 
robbery in the case of the first applicant and 
harassment of his partner in the case of the 
second applicant. The data were retained on 
the basis of legislation allowing for their in-
definite retention, despite the acquittal of the 
former and the discontinuance of the criminal 
proceedings against the latter.

114. The Court must consider whether the perma-

nent retention of fingerprint and DNA data of 
all suspected but unconvicted people is based 
on relevant and sufficient reasons.

115. Although the power to retain fingerprints, cel-
lular samples and DNA profiles of unconvicted 
persons has only existed in England and Wales 
since 2001, the Government argue that their 
retention has been shown to be indispensable 
in the fight against crime. Certainly, the statisti-
cal and other evidence, which was before the 
House of Lords and is included in the material 
supplied by the Government (see paragraph 
92 above) appears impressive, indicating that 
DNA profiles that would have been previously 
destroyed were linked with crime-scene stains 
in a high number of cases.

116. The applicants, however, assert that the sta-
tistics are misleading, a view supported in the 
Nuffield Report. It is true, as pointed out by the 
applicants, that the figures do not reveal the 
extent to which this "link" with crime scenes re-
sulted in convictions of the persons concerned 
or the number of convictions that were contin-
gent on the retention of the samples of uncon-
victed persons. Nor do they demonstrate that 
the high number of successful matches with 
crime-scene stains was only made possible 
through indefinite retention of DNA records of 
all such persons. At the same time, in the ma-
jority of the specific cases quoted by the Gov-
ernment (see paragraph 93 above), the DNA 
records taken from the suspects produced suc-
cessful matches only with earlier crime-scene 
stains retained on the data base. Yet such 
matches could have been made even in the 
absence of the present scheme, which permits 
the indefinite retention of DNA records of all 
suspected but unconvicted persons.

117. While neither the statistics nor the examples 
provided by the Government in themselves 
establish that the successful identification and 
prosecution of offenders could not have been 
achieved without the permanent and indis-
criminate retention of the fingerprint and DNA 
records of all persons in the applicants' posi-
tion, the Court accepts that the extension of 
the database has nonetheless contributed to 
the detection and prevention of crime.

118. The question, however, remains whether such 
retention is proportionate and strikes a fair bal-
ance between the competing public and pri-
vate interests.

119. In this respect, the Court is struck by the blan-
ket and indiscriminate nature of the power of 
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retention in England and Wales. The material 
may be retained irrespective of the nature or 
gravity of the offence with which the individual 
was originally suspected or of the age of the 
suspected offender; fingerprints and samples 
may be taken – and retained – from a per-
son of any age, arrested in connection with 
a recordable offence, which includes minor 
or non-imprisonable offences. The retention 
is not time-limited; the material is retained 
indefinitely whatever the nature or serious-
ness of the offence of which the person was 
suspected. Moreover, there exist only limited 
possibilities for an acquitted individual to have 
the data removed from the nationwide data-
base or the materials destroyed (see paragraph 
35 above); in particular, there is no provision 
for independent review of the justification for 
the retention according to defined criteria, in-
cluding such factors as the seriousness of the 
offence, previous arrests, the strength of the 
suspicion against the person and any other 
special circumstances.

120. The Court acknowledges that the level of in-
terference with the applicants' right to private 
life may be different for each of the three dif-
ferent categories of personal data retained. The 
retention of cellular samples is particularly in-
trusive given the wealth of genetic and health 
information contained therein. However, such 
an indiscriminate and open-ended retention 
regime as the one in issue calls for careful scru-
tiny regardless of these differences.

121. The Government contend that the retention 
could not be considered as having any direct 
or significant effect on the applicants unless 
matches in the database were to implicate 
them in the commission of offences on a future 
occasion. The Court is unable to accept this ar-
gument and reiterates that the mere retention 
and storing of personal data by public authori-
ties, however obtained, are to be regarded as 
having direct impact on the private-life inter-
est of an individual concerned, irrespective of 
whether subsequent use is made of the data 
(see paragraph 67 above).

122. Of particular concern in the present context is 
the risk of stigmatisation, stemming from the 
fact that persons in the position of the appli-
cants, who have not been convicted of any of-
fence and are entitled to the presumption of 
innocence, are treated in the same way as con-
victed persons. In this respect, the Court must 
bear in mind that the right of every person un-
der the Convention to be presumed innocent 

includes the general rule that no suspicion re-
garding an accused's innocence may be voiced 
after his acquittal (see Asan Rushiti v. Austria, 
no. 28389/95, § 31, 21 March 2000, with fur-
ther references). It is true that the retention of 
the applicants' private data cannot be equated 
with the voicing of suspicions. Nonetheless, 
their perception that they are not being treat-
ed as innocent is heightened by the fact that 
their data are retained indefinitely in the same 
way as the data of convicted persons, while the 
data of those who have never been suspected 
of an offence are required to be destroyed.

123. The Government argue that the power of re-
tention applies to all fingerprints and samples 
taken from a person in connection with the in-
vestigation of an offence and does not depend 
on innocence or guilt. It is further submitted 
that the fingerprints and samples have been 
lawfully taken and that their retention is not 
related to the fact that they were originally sus-
pected of committing a crime, the sole reason 
for their retention being to increase the size 
and, therefore, the use of the database in the 
identification of offenders in the future. The 
Court, however, finds this argument difficult 
to reconcile with the obligation imposed by 
section 64(3) of the PACE to destroy the fin-
gerprints and samples of volunteers at their 
request, despite the similar value of the mate-
rial in increasing the size and utility of the da-
tabase. Weighty reasons would have to be put 
forward by the Government before the Court 
could regard as justified such a difference in 
treatment of the applicants' private data com-
pared to that of other unconvicted people.

124. The Court further considers that the retention 
of the unconvicted persons' data may be es-
pecially harmful in the case of minors such as 
the first applicant, given their special situation 
and the importance of their development and 
integration in society. The Court has already 
emphasised, drawing on the provisions of Ar-
ticle 40 of the UN Convention on the Rights 
of the Child of 1989, the special position of 
minors in the criminal-justice sphere and has 
noted in particular the need for the protection 
of their privacy at criminal trials (see T. v. the 
United Kingdom [GC], no. 24724/94, §§ 75 
and 85, 16 December 1999). In the same way, 
the Court considers that particular attention 
should be paid to the protection of juveniles 
from any detriment that may result from the re-
tention by the authorities of their private data 
following acquittals of a criminal offence. The 
Court shares the view of the Nuffield Council as 
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to the impact on young persons of the indefi-
nite retention of their DNA material and notes 
the Council's concerns that the policies applied 
have led to the over-representation in the da-
tabase of young persons and ethnic minorities, 
who have not been convicted of any crime (see 
paragraphs 38-40 above).

125. In conclusion, the Court finds that the blanket 
and indiscriminate nature of the powers of 
retention of the fingerprints, cellular samples 
and DNA profiles of persons suspected but 
not convicted of offences, as applied in the 
case of the present applicants, fails to strike a 
fair balance between the competing public 
and private interests and that the respondent 
State has overstepped any acceptable margin 
of appreciation in this regard. Accordingly, the 
retention at issue constitutes a disproportion-
ate interference with the applicants' right to 
respect for private life and cannot be regard-
ed as necessary in a democratic society. This 
conclusion obviates the need for the Court to 
consider the applicants' criticism regarding the 
adequacy of certain particular safeguards, such 
as too broad an access to the personal data 
concerned and insufficient protection against 
the misuse or abuse of such data.

126. Accordingly, there has been a violation of Ar-
ticle 8 of the Convention in the present case.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
14 TAKEN TOGETHER WITH 
ARTICLE 8 OF THE CONVENTION

127. The applicants submitted that they had been 
subjected to discriminatory treatment as com-
pared to others in an analogous situation, 
namely other unconvicted persons whose 
samples had still to be destroyed under the 
legislation. This treatment related to their sta-
tus and fell within the ambit of Article 14, which 
had always been liberally interpreted. For the 
reasons set out in their submissions under Arti-
cle 8, there was no reasonable or objective jus-
tification for the treatment, nor any legitimate 
aim or reasonable relationship of proportional-
ity to the purported aim of crime prevention, in 
particular as regards the samples which played 
no role in crime detection or prevention. It was 
an entirely improper and prejudicial differenti-
ation to retain materials of persons who should 
be presumed to be innocent.

128. The Government submitted that as Article 8 
was not engaged Article 14 of the Conven-

tion was not applicable. Even if it were, there 
was no difference of treatment as all those in 
an analogous situation to the applicants were 
treated the same and the applicants could not 
compare themselves with those who had not 
had samples taken by the police or those who 
consented to give samples voluntarily. In any 
event, any difference in treatment complained 
of was not based on “status” or a personal char-
acteristic but on historical fact. If there was any 
difference in treatment, it was objectively justi-
fied and within the State's margin of apprecia-
tion.

129. The Court refers to its conclusion above that 
the retention of the applicants' fingerprints, 
cellular samples and DNA profiles was in viola-
tion of Article 8 of the Convention. In the light 
of the reasoning that has led to this conclusion, 
the Court considers that it is not necessary to 
examine separately the applicants' complaint 
under Article 14 of the Convention.

III. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

130. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

131. The applicants requested the Court to award 
them just satisfaction for non-pecuniary dam-
age and for costs and expenses.

A. Non-pecuniary damage
132. The applicants claimed compensation for non-

pecuniary damage in the sum of GBP 5,000 
each for distress and anxiety caused by the 
knowledge that intimate information about 
each of them had been unjustifiably retained 
by the State, and in relation to anxiety and 
stress caused by the need to pursue this matter 
through the courts.

133. The Government, referring to the Court's case-
law (in particular, Amann v. Switzerland, cited 
above), submitted that a finding of a violation 
would in itself constitute just satisfaction for 
both applicants and distinguished the present 
case from those cases where violations had 
been found as a result of the use or disclosure 
of the personal information (in particular, Ro-
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taru v. Romania, cited above).

134. The Court recalls that it has found that the 
retention of the applicants' fingerprint and 
DNA data violates their rights under Article 8. 
In accordance with Article 46 of the Conven-
tion, it will be for the respondent State to im-
plement, under the supervision of the Com-
mittee of Ministers, appropriate general and/
or individual measures to fulfil its obligations 
to secure the right of the applicants and other 
persons in their position to respect for their pri-
vate life (see Scozzari and Giunta v. Italy [GC], 
nos. 39221/98 39221/98 and 41963/98, § 249, 
ECHR 2000-VIII, and Christine Goodwin v. the 
United Kingdom [GC], no. 28957/95, § 120, 
ECHR 2002-VI). In these circumstances, the 
Court considers that the finding of a violation, 
with the consequences which will ensue for 
the future, may be regarded as constituting 
sufficient just satisfaction in this respect. The 
Court accordingly rejects the applicants' claim 
for non-pecuniary damage.

B. Costs and expenses
135. The applicants also requested the Court 

to award GBP 52,066.25 for costs and ex-
penses incurred before the Court and at-
tached detailed documentation in support 
of their claim. These included the costs of 
the solicitor (GBP 15,083.12) and the fees of 
three counsel (GBP 21,267.50, GBP 2,937.50 
and GBP 12,778.13 respectively). The hourly 
rates charged by the lawyers were as follows: 
GBP 140 in respect of the applicants' solicitor 
(increased to GBP 183 as from June 2007) and 
GBP 150, GBP 250 and GBP 125 respectively in 
respect of the three counsel.

136. The Government qualified the applicants' 
claim as entirely unreasonable. They submitted 
in particular that the rates charged by the law-
yers were excessive and should be reduced to 
no more than two-thirds of the level claimed. 
They also argued that no award should be 
made in respect of the applicants' decision to 
instruct a fourth lawyer at a late stage of the 
proceedings as it had led to the duplication 
of work. The Government concluded that any 
cost award should be limited to GBP 15,000 
and in any event, to no more than GBP 20,000.

137. The Court reiterates that only legal costs and 
expenses found to have been actually and 
necessarily incurred and which are reasonable 
as to quantum are recoverable under Article 
41 of the Convention (see, among other au-
thorities, Roche v. the United Kingdom [GC], 

no. 32555/96 32555/96, § 182, ECHR 2005-X).

138. On the one hand, the present applications 
were of some complexity as they required 
examination in a Chamber and in the Grand 
Chamber, including several rounds of observa-
tions and an oral hearing. The application also 
raised important legal issues and questions of 
principle requiring a large amount of work. It 
notably required an in-depth examination of 
the current debate on the issue of retention 
of fingerprint and DNA records in the United 
Kingdom and a comprehensive comparative 
research of the law and practice of other Con-
tracting States and of the relevant texts and 
documents of the Council of Europe.

139. On the other hand, the Court considers that the 
overall sum of GBP 52,066.25 claimed by the 
applicants is excessive as to quantum. In par-
ticular, the Court agrees with the Government 
that the appointment of the fourth lawyer in 
the later stages of the proceedings may have 
led to a certain amount of duplication of work.

140. Making its assessment on an equitable basis 
and in the light of its practice in comparable 
cases, the Court awards the sum of EUR 42,000 
in respect of costs and expenses, less the 
amount of EUR 2,613.07 already paid by the 
Council of Europe in legal aid.

C. Default interest
141. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that there has been a violation of Arti-
cle 8 of the Convention;

2. Holds that it is not necessary to examine sepa-
rately the complaint under Article 14 of the 
Convention;

3. Holds that the finding of a violation consti-
tutes in itself sufficient just satisfaction for 
the non-pecuniary damage sustained by the 
applicants;

4. Holds

(a) that the respondent State is to pay the ap-
plicants, within three months, EuR 42,000 
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(forty two thousand euros) in respect of 
costs and expenses (inclusive of any vAT 
which may be chargeable to the appli-
cants), to be converted into pounds ster-
ling at the rate applicable at the date of 
settlement, less EuR 2,613.07 already paid 
to the applicants in respect of legal aid;

(b) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amount at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

5. Dismisses the remainder of the applicants' 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 4 December 2008.

Michael O'Boyle, Deputy Registrar
Jean-Paul Costa, President
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INTERNET PROVIDER, LICENSE, INTERNET CAFé, POS-
SESSIONS, PROPORTIONALITY, GOVERNMENTAL CON-
TROL, COMMUNICATIONS INFRASTRUCTURE

IN THE CASE Of MEGADAT.COM SRL v. MOLDOvA,

The European Court of Human Rights (Fourth Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Nicolas Bratza, President,  
Lech Garlicki,  
Giovanni Bonello,  
Ljiljana Mijović,  
David Thór Björgvinsson,  
Ján Šikuta,  
Päivi Hirvelä, judges,  
and Lawrence Early, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 18 March 2008,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

21151/04) against the Republic of Moldova 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of 
the Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Con-
vention”) by Megadat.com SRL (“the applicant 
company”), a company incorporated in the Re-
public of Moldova, on 8 June 2004.

2. The applicant was represented by Ms J. Han-
ganu, a lawyer practising in Chişinău. The 
Moldovan Government (“the Government”) 
were represented by Mr V. Grosu, their Agent.

3. The applicant alleged, in particular, that the 
closure of the company constituted a breach of 
its rights under Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 to the 
Convention and that it had been discriminated 
against contrary to Article 14 of the Convention 
taken together with Article 1 of Protocol No.1.

4. On 5 December 2006 the Court decided to 
give notice of the application to the Govern-
ment. Under the provisions of Article 29 § 3 
of the Convention, it decided to examine the 
merits of the application at the same time as 
its admissibility.

5. Judge Pavlovschi, the judge elected in respect 
of Moldova, withdrew from sitting in the case 
(Rule 28 of the Rules of Court) before it had 
been notified to the Government. On 8 Feb-
ruary 2007, the Government, pursuant to Rule 
29 § 1 (a), informed the Court that they were 
content to appoint in his stead another elected 
judge and left the choice of appointee to the 
President of the Chamber. On 18 September 
2007, the President appointed Judge Šikuta to 
sit in the case.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

6. The applicant, Megadat.com SRL, is a company 
incorporated in the Republic of Moldova.

1.Backgroundtothecase
7. At the time of the events the applicant com-

pany was the largest internet provider in Mol-
dova. According to it, it held approximately 
seventy percent of the market of internet ser-
vices. While agreeing that the applicant com-
pany was the largest internet provider in the 
country, the Government disputed the ratio of 
its market share without, however, presenting 
any alternative figures.

8. The applicant company had two licences is-
sued by the National Regulatory Agency for 
Telecommunications and Informatics (“ANRTI”) 
for providing internet and fixed telephony ser-
vices. The licences were valid until 18 April 2007 
and 16 May 2007 respectively and the address 
55, Armenească Street was indicated in them 
as the applicant company’s official address.

9. The company had three offices in Chişinău. 
On 11 November 2002 its headquarters was 
moved from its Armenească street office to 
its Ştefan cel Mare street office. The change 
of address of the headquarters was registered 
with the State Registration Chamber and the 
Tax Authority was informed. However, the ap-
plicant company failed to request ANRTI to 
modify the address in the text of its licences.

10. On 20 May 2003 the applicant company re-
quested a third licence from ANRTI indicating 
in its request the new address of its headquar-
ters. ANRTI issued the new licence citing the 
old address in it, without giving any reasons for 
not indicating the new address.
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2.Theinvalidationoftheapplicant
company’slicences

11. On 17 September 2003 ANRTI held a meeting. 
According to the minutes of the meeting, it 
found that ninety-one companies in the field 
of telecommunications, including the appli-
cant company, had failed to pay a yearly regu-
latory fee and/or to present information about 
changes of address within the prescribed time-
limits. ANRTI decided to invite those companies 
to eliminate the irregularities within ten days 
and to warn them that their licences might be 
suspended in case of non-compliance.

12. On unspecified dates the ninety-one compa-
nies, including the applicant company, were 
sent letters asking them to comply within ten 
days of the date of receipt of the letter. They 
were also warned that their licences might be 
suspended in case of non-compliance in ac-
cordance with section 3.4 of the ANRTI Regula-
tions. The applicant company was sent such a 
letter on 24 September 2003.

13. Following ANRTI’s letters, only thirty-two com-
panies, including the applicant company, com-
plied with the request.

14. On 29 and 30 September 2003 the applicant 
company lodged documents with ANRTI indi-
cating its new address, together with a request 
to modify its licences accordingly, and paid the 
regulatory fee.

15. On Friday 3 October 2003 ANRTI informed the 
applicant company that it had some ques-
tions concerning the documents submitted 
by it. In particular it had a question concern-
ing the lease of the applicant company’s new 
headquarters and about the name of the appli-
cant company. ANRTI informed the applicant 
company that the processing of its request 
concerning the amendment of the licences 
would be suspended until it had submitted the 
requested information.

16. On Monday 6 October 2003 ANRTI held a 
meeting at which it adopted a decision con-
cerning the applicant company. In particular it 
reiterated the content of section 15 of the Law 
on Licensing and of section 3.5.7 of the AN-
RTI Regulations, according to which licences 
which had not been modified within ten days 
should be declared invalid. ANRTI found that 
those provisions were applicable to the appli-
cant company’s case, and that its licences were 
therefore not valid.

17. On the same date ANRTI wrote to the Pros-
ecutor General’s Office, the Tax Authority, the 
Centre for Fighting Economic Crime and Cor-
ruption and the Ministry of Internal Affairs 
that the applicant company had modified its 
address on 16 November 2002 but had failed 
to request ANRTI to make the correspond-
ing change in its licences. In such conditions, 
the applicant company had traded for eleven 
months with an invalid licence. ANRTI request-
ed the authorities to verify whether the appli-
cant company should be sanctioned in accord-
ance with the law.

18. On 9 October 2003 ANRTI amended the Regu-
lations concerning the issuing of licences in or-
der to provide that an entity whose licence was 
withdrawn could re-apply for a new licence 
only after six months.

19. On 21 October 2003 ANRTI held a meeting at 
which it found that fifty-nine of the ninety-one 
companies which it had warned, in accordance 
with its decision of 17 September 2003, had 
failed to comply with the warning. It decided 
to suspend their licences for three months and 
to warn them that in case of non-compliance 
during the period of suspension, their licences 
would be withdrawn. It appears from the doc-
uments submitted by the parties that the ap-
plicant company was the only one to have its 
licence invalidated.

3.ThecourtproceedingsbetweenMegadat.
comandANRTI

20. On 24 October 2003 the applicant company 
brought an administrative action against AN-
RTI arguing, inter alia, that the measure ap-
plied to it was illegal and disproportionate 
because the applicant company had always 
had three different offices in Chişinău of which 
ANRTI had always been aware. The change of 
address had only occurred because the appli-
cant company’s headquarters had transferred 
from one of those offices to another. The tax 
authority had been informed promptly about 
that change and thus the change of address 
had not led to a failure to pay taxes or to a drop 
in the quality of services provided by the ap-
plicant company. Moreover, ANRTI’s decision 
of 6 October 2003 had been adopted in breach 
of procedure, because the applicant company 
had not been invited to the meeting and ANRTI 
had disregarded its own instructions given to 
the applicant company on 3 October 2003.

21. On 25 November 2003 the Court of Appeal or-
dered a stay of the execution of ANRTI’s deci-
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sion of 6 October 2003. It also set 16 December 
2003 as the date of the first hearing in the case. 
Later, at the request of ANRTI, that date was 
changed to 2 December 2003.

22. On 1 December 2003 the representative of 
the applicant company lodged a request for 
adjournment of the hearing of 2 December 
on the ground that he was involved in a pre-
arranged hearing at another court on the same 
date and at the same time.

23. On 2 December 2003 the Court of Appeal held 
a hearing in the absence of the representative 
of the applicant company and dismissed the 
latter’s action. The court considered, inter alia, 
that since the applicant company had failed to 
inform ANRTI about the change of address, the 
provisions of section 3.5.7 of the ANRTI Regula-
tions were applicable.

24. The applicant company appealed against the 
decision arguing, inter alia, that it had not been 
given a chance to participate in the hearing 
before the first-instance court. It submitted 
that, according to the Code of Civil Procedure, 
the court had the right to strike the case out 
of the list of cases if it considered that the ap-
plicant had failed to appear without a plausible 
justification, but not to examine the case in 
its absence. It also submitted that by declar-
ing the licences invalid, ANRTI had breached 
its own decision of 17 September 2003. It was 
ANRTI’s usual practice to request information 
concerning changes of address and to sanc-
tion companies which did not comply by sus-
pending their licences. The applicant company 
drew attention to two other decisions of that 
kind dated 12 June 2003 and 17 July 2003. In 
this case, however, the applicant company 
had fully complied with ANRTI’s decision of 17 
September 2003 by submitting information 
about the new address within the prescribed 
time-limit. Notwithstanding, ANRTI had asked 
for supplementary information on Friday 3 Oc-
tober 2003 and without waiting for it to be pro-
vided by the applicant company, had decided 
to declare the licences invalid on Monday 6 Oc-
tober 2003.

The applicant company also argued that AN-
RTI’s decision of 6 October 2003 had been 
adopted in serious breach of procedure be-
cause the applicant company had not been 
informed three days in advance about the 
meeting of 6 October 2003 and had not been 
invited to it.

Lastly, the applicant company argued that AN-

RTI’s decision to declare its licences invalid was 
discriminatory since the other ninety compa-
nies listed in ANRTI’s decision of 17 September 
2003 had not been subjected to such a severe 
measure.

25. On 3 March 2004 the Supreme Court of Justice 
dismissed the applicant company’s appeal and 
found, inter alia, that it had been summoned 
to the hearing of 2 December 2003 and that its 
request for adjournment could not create an 
obligation on the part of the Court of Appeal 
to adjourn the hearing. Moreover, the deci-
sion of 6 October 2003 was legal since the ap-
plicant company admitted to having changed 
its address, and according to section 3.5.7 of 
the ANRTI Regulations a failure to request a 
modification of an address in a licence led to its 
invalidity. The Supreme Court did not refer to 
the applicant company’s submissions about its 
discriminatory treatment, ANRTI’s usual prac-
tice of requesting information about changes 
of address and ANRTI’s breaching of its own 
decision of 17 September 2003.

26. One of the members of the panel of the Su-
preme Court, Judge D. Visterniceanu, disa-
greed with the opinion of the majority and 
wrote a dissenting opinion. He submitted, inter 
alia, that the first-instance court had failed to 
address all the submissions made by the ap-
plicant company and had illegally examined 
the case in its absence. Moreover, only one 
provision of the ANRTI Regulations had been 
applied, whereas it was necessary to examine 
the case in a broader light and to apply all the 
relevant legislation. Finally, ANRTI’s decision 
of 6 October 2003 contravened its decision of 
17 September 2003. Judge Visterniceanu con-
sidered that the Supreme Court should have 
quashed the judgment of the first-instance 
court and remitted the case for a fresh re-ex-
amination.

4.Theapplicantcompany’sattemptstosave
itsbusinessandtherepercussionsofthe
invalidationofitslicences

27. In the meantime, the applicant company has 
transferred all of its contracts with clients to a 
company which was part of the same group, 
Megadat.com International, which had valid 
licences. However, the State-owned monopoly 
in telecommunications, Moldtelecom, refused 
to sign contracts with the latter company and 
made it impossible for it to continue working.

28. On 16 March 2004 ANRTI and Moldtelecom 
informed the applicant company’s clients that 
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on 17 March their internet connection would 
be shut down and offered them internet ser-
vices from Moldtelecom without any connec-
tion charge.

29. On 17 March 2004 Moldtelecom carried out 
the disconnection of the applicant company 
and of Megadat.com International from the in-
ternet and all of their equipment on the Mold-
telecom premises was disconnected from the 
power supply.

30. In July 2004 the licences of Megadat.com Inter-
national were withdrawn by ANRTI.

31. As a result of the above, the applicant com-
pany and Megadat.com International were 
forced to close down the business and sell all 
of their assets. One week later, the applicant 
company’s chairman, Mr Eduard Muşuc, was 
arrested for peacefully demonstrating against 
his company’s closure.

32. Following ANRTI’s letter of 6 October 2003 
(see paragraph 17 above) the Tax Authorities 
imposed a fine on the applicant company for 
having operated for eleven months without a 
valid licence and the CFECC initiated an inves-
tigation as a result of which all the accounting 
documents of the applicant company were 
seized.

5.Internationalreactions
33. On 18 March 2004 the Embassies of the United 

States of America, the United Kingdom, France, 
Germany, Poland, Romania and Hungary, as 
well as the Council of Europe, the IMF and 
World Bank missions in Moldova issued a joint 
declaration expressing concern over the events 
surrounding the closure of the applicant com-
pany. The declaration stated, inter alia, the fol-
lowing: “Alleged contraventions of registration 
procedures do not appear to justify a decision 
to put a stop to the functioning of a commer-
cial company. ... We urge Moldtelecom and the 
relevant authorities to reconsider this question. 
This seems all the more important in view of 
the commitment of the public authorities of 
Moldova to European norms and values.”

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

34. Section 3.4 of the ANRTI Regulations provides 
that in the event of non-compliance by a li-
cence beneficiary with the conditions set out 
in the licence, the licence can be suspended 
for a period of three months. When ANRTI finds 

such non-compliance, it warns the licence 
beneficiary and gives it a deadline for remedy-
ing the problem. If the problem is not rem-
edied within that period, ANRTI may suspend 
the licence for a period of three months.

35. On 12 June 2003 ANRTI warned several com-
panies about their failure to pay regulatory fees 
and/or to inform it about their changes of ad-
dress. The companies were given ten days to 
remedy the breaches. Since some of them did 
not comply, on 17 July 2003, ANRTI decided to 
suspend their licences for three months.

36. The relevant provisions of the ANRTI Regula-
tions concerning modification of licences at 
the time of the events were similar to the pro-
visions of section 15 of the Law on Licensing 
and read as follows:
3.5.1A licenceshouldbemodifiedwhenthe
name of the beneficiary company or other
information contained in the licence has
changed;

3.5.2 When reasons for modifying a licence
becomeapparent,thebeneficiaryshallapply
toANRTIforitsmodificationwithintendays;

...

3.5.7A licencewhichhasnotbeenmodified
withintheprescribedtime-limitisnotvalid.

37. On 9 October 2003 the following provision was 
added to the Regulations:
3.8.6 Former beneficiaries, whose licences
werewithdrawn...canre-applyfornewlicenc-
esonlyafteraperiodof sixmonthscounted
fromthedayofwithdrawal.

38. On 24 September 2004 section 3.5.7 of the 
Regulations was amended in the following 
way:
3.5.7Intheeventthatalicencewasnotmodi-
fiedwithintheprescribedtime-limit,theCom-
missionhas the right toapplyadministrative
sanctionsortowithdrawthelicencepartially
ortotally.

tHE LAW
39. The applicant company argued that the invali-

dation of its licences had violated its right guar-
anteed under Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 to the 
Convention, which provides:
“Everynaturalorlegalpersonisentitledtothe
peacefulenjoymentofhispossessions.Noone
shallbedeprivedofhispossessionsexceptin
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thepublic interest and subject to the condi-
tionsprovidedforby lawandbythegeneral
principlesofinternationallaw.

Theprecedingprovisions shallnot,however,
in anyway impair the rightof a State toen-
forcesuchlawsasitdeemsnecessarytocon-
troltheuseofpropertyinaccordancewiththe
general interestor to secure thepaymentof
taxesorothercontributionsorpenalties.”

40. The applicant company further submitted that 
it had been the victim of discrimination on ac-
count of the authorities’ decision to invalidate 
its licences, since they had treated differently 
ninety other companies which were in a similar 
situation. It relied on Article 14 of the Conven-
tion, which provides:
“The enjoyment of the rights and freedoms
setforthin[the]Conventionshallbesecured
without discrimination on any ground such
assex, race,colour, language, religion,politi-
calorotheropinion,nationalorsocialorigin,
associationwithanationalminority,property,
birthorotherstatus.”

I. ADMISSIBILITY OF THE 
COMPLAINTS

41. In its initial application, the applicant company 
also submitted a complaint under Article 6 of 
the Convention. However, in its observations 
on admissibility and merits it asked the Court 
not to proceed with the examination of this 
complaint. The Court finds no reason to exam-
ine it.

42. At the same time, the Court considers that the 
rest of the applicant company’s complaints 
raise questions of fact and law which are suffi-
ciently serious that their determination should 
depend on an examination of the merits, and 
no other grounds for declaring them inad-
missible have been established. The Court 
therefore declares this part of the application 
admissible. In accordance with its decision to 
apply Article 29 § 3 of the Convention (see 
paragraph 4 above), the Court will immediately 
consider the merits of these complaints.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
1 OF PROTOCOL NO. 1 TO THE 
CONVENTION

A. The submissions of the parties
43. The applicant company argued that the licenc-

es for running its business constituted a pos-
session for the purposes of Article 1 of Protocol 
No. 1 and that ANRTI’s decision of 6 October 
2003 amounted to an interference with its 
right to property.

44. According to the applicant company, the 
measure applied to it had not been lawful be-
cause ANRTI had breached its own decision of 
17 September 2003. In particular, on 17 Sep-
tember 2003 ANRTI had decided to institute a 
ten-day time-limit for the ninety-one compa-
nies concerned in order to allow them, inter 
alia, to present information about the change 
of their addresses. However, even though the 
applicant company had complied with the 
time-limit and presented all the necessary in-
formation, ANRTI had decided to disregard its 
own decision and to invalidate its licences.

45. Referring to the general interest served by the 
interference, the applicant company submit-
ted that it agreed that in general terms the 
State was justified in its intention to secure 
to its inhabitants rapid and efficient telecom-
munications services at a reasonable cost. 
Therefore, the applicant company agreed that 
it could be said that the interference served a 
general interest.

46. In the applicant company’s opinion, the meas-
ure had not been proportionate to the alleg-
edly protected general interest. According 
to it, the invalidation of the licences had had 
extremely serious consequences which had 
finally resulted in the closure of its business. 
Moreover, the company had started to be per-
secuted by the Centre for Fighting Economic 
Crime and Corruption and the tax authorities. 
Due to the concerted efforts of the State au-
thorities and Moldtelecom, all the companies 
from the Megadat.com group had been pre-
vented from taking over the business and all 
of the clients were abusively taken from it by 
Moldtelecom. As a result of that, the goodwill 
and the value of the company had suffered se-
rious repercussions.

47. The applicant company accepted that it had 
breached the regulations in so far as its obli-
gation to inform ANRTI within ten days of its 
change of address was concerned. However, 
that had been a very minor breach which had 
not had any adverse consequences. In particu-
lar, the address had only been changed from 
one of its offices to another and the Registra-
tion Chamber and the Tax Authorities had 
been informed immediately. Accordingly, such 



173CASEOFMEGADAT.COMSRLVMOLDOVA

EC
J

EC
HR

a minor technical breach could not justify a 
sanction of such severity.

48. The fact that the sanction was disproportionate 
was also proved by the subsequent amend-
ment of section 3.5.7 of the ANRTI regulations 
(see paragraph 38 above) which took place 
one year after the invalidation of the applicant 
company’s licences.

49. Moreover, the authorities had done everything 
they could in order to prevent the applicant 
company from obtaining new licences. In par-
ticular, they had modified the ANRTI Regula-
tions so that it would not be able to apply for 
new licences sooner than after six months (see 
paragraph 37 above).

50. In reply to the Government’s submission that 
it was open to it to apply for a new licence 
(see paragraph 58 below), the applicant sent 
the Court minutes of the ANRTI meetings, ac-
cording to which company S.’s licence to run 
an internet café had been invalidated on 8 
December 2003 and its application for a new 
licence had been rejected by ANRTI on 26 De-
cember 2003 on the basis of section 3.8.6 of the 
Regulations. It was only on 8 June 2004 that 
company S.’s application for a new licence had 
been upheld.

51. In the light of the above, the applicant com-
pany expressed the view that the conduct of 
the authorities showed that they had not been 
motivated by any genuine policy considera-
tions.

52. In its submissions concerning the alleged viola-
tion of Article 14, the applicant company also 
pointed to the fact that none of the ninety-one 
companies which had been warned by AN-
RTI on 24 September 2003 were treated in the 
same way.

53. The applicant disputed the Government’s sub-
mission that its situation was different from 
that of the other ninety companies (see para-
graph 59 below) and argued that while ANRTI 
did not specify in the minutes of its meetings 
the precise irregularities committed by each 
company in the list of ninety-one companies, it 
was clear that at least two of those companies 
had their licences suspended on 21 October 
2003 on account of their failure to present in-
formation about the change of their addresses. 
The applicant sent the Court a copy of a docu-
ment originating from ANRTI which supported 
the above submission and the authenticity of 
which had not been contested by the Govern-

ment.

54. Referring to the Government’s submissions 
concerning companies A. N. and S. (see para-
graph 60 below), the applicant company disa-
greed, and, relying on official documents from 
ANRTI, argued that while being part of the 
group of ninety-one companies, contrary to its 
own situation company A. had not complied 
with ANRTI’s warning. Nevertheless, its licence 
had been invalidated on the basis of section 
3.5.7 of the ANRTI regulations only on 13 Au-
gust 2004.

As to company N. the applicant submitted that 
its licence had been suspended along with 
those of fifty-nine other companies on 21 Oc-
tober 2003 (see paragraph 19 above) for failure 
to comply with ANRTI’s warning. The three-
month suspension had been lifted on 25 May 
2004.

Referring to company S., the applicant com-
pany argued that it had not been in a similar 
situation to them either. In the first place, it had 
not been on the list of ninety-one companies 
warned by ANRTI. Secondly, the Government 
had not submitted any information to show 
whether it had been warned in the same man-
ner as Megadat.com and whether it had been 
given a ten-day time limit with which it had 
complied. Moreover, company S. had been 
running an internet café, which was not com-
parable to the business run by the applicant 
company.

55. The Government did not dispute the fact that 
the licences constituted a possession within 
the meaning of Article 1 of Protocol No. 1. Nor 
did they expressly disagree with the applicant 
concerning the existence of an interference 
with its right to property. However, they ex-
pressed the view that nobody had withdrawn 
the applicant’s licences; rather the licences 
had become invalid by the effect of the law a 
long time before 6 October 2003. According to 
them, the licences would have become invalid 
without ANRTI’s involvement, at the moment 
when the ten-day time limit provided for by 
section 3.5.2 of the Regulations had expired, 
that is, some ten or eleven months before the 
decision of 6 October 2003.At the same time, 
the Government argued that ANRTI had drawn 
the applicant company’s attention to this ir-
regularity and asked it to remedy it by letters of 
11 July 2003 and 22 August 2003. They did not 
submit, however, copies of those letters.

56. The Government argued that the measure had 
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been in accordance with section 3.5.7 of the 
ANRTI Regulations, which stated in very clear 
terms that failure to apply for modification of 
the address in a licence within ten days of the 
date of such modification gave rise to the in-
validation of the licence.

57. They further argued that the company had 
been providing internet services to a large 
number of users and that its clients had to en-
joy a good quality service. The lack of provision 
of adequate and timely information to clients 
gave reason to suspect the existence of illegal 
acts. Section 3.5.7 of the ANRTI Regulations was 
designed in the general interest to contribute 
to the reduction and elimination of violations 
of the law by companies operating in the field 
of internet services. The measure applied by 
ANRTI was in the general interest because 
ANRTI had to know where to contact the ap-
plicant company if a client lodged a complaint 
against it.

58. The Government argued that it was open to 
the applicant company to apply for a new li-
cence. According to them the new section 
3.8.6 only referred to situations where a licence 
had been withdrawn but not invalidated. They 
submitted the example of company S., which, 
according to them, being in exactly the same 
situation as the applicant company, had ob-
tained a new licence within one month.

59. According to the Government, the situation 
of the applicant company had been different 
from that of the other ninety companies which 
had been warned by ANRTI on 24 September 
2003. According to the Government, the other 
companies had been warned on account of 
other irregularities, namely failure to present to 
ANRTI annual reports and failure to pay regula-
tory taxes.

60. In support of their submission that the ap-
plicant company had not been discriminated 
against, the Government relied on the example 
of companies A., N. and S., which, according to 
them, were in a similar situation, and whose li-
cences had also been invalidated by ANRTI.

61. The Government invoked for the first time be-
fore the Court new reasons to explain why the 
applicant company’s licence had been invali-
dated. In particular, they argued that one of the 
reasons for the invalidation was the fact that 
the applicant company had failed to inform 
ANRTI in due time why it had changed its name 

by adding the letters I.M. in front of it.

B. The Court’s assessment
1.Whethertheapplicantcompanyhad

“possessions”forthepurposeofArticle1of
ProtocolNo.1totheConvention

62. It is undisputed between the parties that the 
applicant company’s licences constituted a 
possession for the purposes of Article 1 of Pro-
tocol No. 1 to the Convention.

63. The Court notes that, according to its case-law, 
the termination of a licence to run a business 
amounts to an interference with the right to 
the peaceful enjoyment of possessions guar-
anteed by Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 to the 
Convention (see Tre Traktörer AB v. Sweden, 
judgment of 7 July 1989, Series A no. 159, § 
53, and Bimer S.A. v. Moldova, no. 15084/03, 
§ 49, 10 July 2007). The Court must therefore 
determine whether the measure applied to the 
applicant company by ANRTI amounted to an 
interference with its property rights.

2.Whethertherehasbeenaninterference
withtheapplicantcompany’spossessions
anddeterminationoftherelevantrule
underArticle1ofProtocolNo.1

64. The Government did not expressly argue that 
there was no interference with the applicant 
company’s possessions; however, they submit-
ted that ANRTI’s decision was a mere finding 
of a fact which had come into existence long 
before and emphasised the distinction be-
tween withdrawal and invalidation of licences 
(see paragraph 55 above). Insofar as these 
submissions are to be interpreted as meaning 
that ANRTI’s decision of 6 October 2003 did 
not interfere with the possessions of the ap-
plicant company for the purposes of Article 1 
of Protocol No. 1, the Court is unable to accept 
this view. The Court notes in the first place that 
before 6 October 2003 the applicant company 
had been operating unhindered. Moreover, it 
is clear from the parties’ submissions that AN-
RTI was well aware long before 6 October 2003 
of the applicant company’s failure to request 
a modification of the address in the text of its 
licences. ANRTI was informed by the applicant 
company about the change of address in May 
2003 (see paragraph 10 above) and the latter 
even requested a new licence with the new 
address in it. For unknown reasons, ANRTI did 
not consider it necessary to invalidate the ap-
plicant company’s existing licences at that time 
and even issued it with a new one. Moreover, 
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the Government implicitly admitted that ANRTI 
was well aware of the situation by submitting 
that in July 2003 it had drawn the applicant 
company’s attention to the irregularity and 
urged it to remedy it (see paragraph 55 above). 
In such circumstances, the Court cannot but 
note that ANRTI’s decision of 6 October 2003 
had the immediate and intended effect of pre-
venting the applicant company from continu-
ing to operate its business and of terminating 
its existing licences. The fact that the domes-
tic authorities decided to attribute retroactive 
effect to ANRTI’s decision of 6 October 2003 
does not change that. Accordingly, the Court 
considers that ANRTI’s decision of 6 October 
2003 had an effect identical to a termination of 
valid licences and thus constituted an interfer-
ence with the applicant company’s right to the 
peaceful enjoyment of its possessions for the 
purposes of Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 to the 
Convention.

65. Although the applicant company could not 
carry on its business, it retained economic 
rights in the form of its premises and its prop-
erty assets. In these circumstances, as in the 
Bimer case, the termination of the licences is to 
be seen not as a deprivation of possessions for 
the purposes of the second sentence of Article 
1 of Protocol No. 1 but as a measure of control 
of use of property which falls to be examined 
under the second paragraph of that Article.

66. In order to comply with the requirements of 
the second paragraph, it must be shown that 
the measure constituting the control of use 
was lawful, that it was “in accordance with 
the general interest”, and that there existed 
a reasonable relationship of proportionality 
between the means employed and the aim 
sought to be realised (see Bimer, cited above, 
§ 52).

3.Lawfulnessandaimoftheinterference
67. In so far as the lawfulness of the measure is 

concerned, the Court notes that this issue is 
disputed between the parties. While appar-
ently agreeing that section 3.5.7 of the ANRTI 
Regulations was accessible and foreseeable, 
the applicant argued that the measure had 
been contrary to ANRTI’s decision of 17 Sep-
tember 2003, by which it had been given a ten-
day time-limit to remedy the situation. In the 
Court’s view, this is a factor which is relevant 
to the assessment of the proportionality of the 
measure. Therefore, it will leave the question of 
lawfulness open and focus on the proportion-

ality of the measure.

As regards the legitimate aim served by the 
interference, in the light of the findings below, 
the Court has doubts as to whether the meas-
ures taken against the applicant company by 
the Moldovan authorities pursued any public 
interest aim. However, for the purposes of the 
present case, the Court will leave this ques-
tion open too and will proceed to examine the 
question of proportionality.

4.Proportionalityoftheinterference
68. The Court will consider at the outset the nature 

and the seriousness of the breach committed 
by the applicant company. Without underesti-
mating the importance of State control in the 
field of internet communications, the Court 
cannot but note that the Government were 
only able to cite theoretical and abstract nega-
tive consequences of the applicant company’s 
failure to comply with the procedural require-
ment. They could not indicate any concrete 
detriment caused by the applicant compa-
ny’s omission to have its address modified in 
the text of its licences. Indeed, it is common 
ground that ANRTI was well aware of the appli-
cant company’s change of address and it had 
no difficulty in contacting Megadat.com on 
24 September 2003 (see paragraph 12 above). 
Moreover, it is similarly undisputed that the ap-
plicant company kept its old address and any 
attempt to contact it at that address would 
have certainly been successful. Immediately 
after changing address, the applicant com-
pany informed the State Registration Cham-
ber and the Tax Authorities (see paragraph 9 
above). Accordingly, the company could not 
be suspected of any intention to evade taxa-
tion in connection with its failure to notify its 
change of address to ANRTI. Nor had it been 
shown that any of the company’s clients had 
problems in contacting the company due to 
the change of address. It is also important to 
note that the applicant company did in fact in-
form ANRTI about its change of address in May 
2003 and even requested a third licence using 
its new address. For reasons which ANRTI did 
not spell out at the time, the new licence was 
issued with the old address on it.

69. Against this background, the Court notes that 
the measure applied to the applicant company 
was of such severity that the company, which 
used to be the largest in Moldova in the field 
of internet communications, had to wind up its 
business and sell all of its assets within months. 
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Not only did the measure have consequences 
for the future, but it was also applied retrospec-
tively, thus prompting sanctions and investiga-
tions by various State authorities, such as the 
Tax Authorities and the Centre for Fighting 
Economic Crime and Corruption (see para-
graph 32 above).

70. The Court must also have regard to the con-
duct of ANRTI in its dealings with the applicant 
company. It notes in this connection that the 
applicant company had operated at all times, 
notwithstanding the technical flaw in its licenc-
es, with the acquiescence of ANRTI. It recalls 
that ANRTI had been apprised of the change of 
address in May 2003, at the time of the appli-
cant company’s application for a third licence. 
Without giving reasons, ANRTI failed to take 
note of the change of address and issued the 
applicant company with a new licence indicat-
ing the old address in it. Had ANRTI considered 
that the defect in the licence was a matter of 
public concern, it could have intervened at that 
stage. However, it failed to do so.

71. The Court further notes that in ANRTI’s letter 
of 17 September 2003 the applicant company 
was clearly led to believe that it could continue 
to operate provided it complied with the in-
structions contained therein within ten days. In 
these circumstances it can only be concluded 
that the applicant company, by submitting an 
application for the amendment of its licences 
within the time-limit, could reasonably expect 
that it would not incur any prejudice. Despite 
the encouragement given by it to the appli-
cant company, ANRTI invalidated its licences 
on 6 October 2003 (see, mutatis mutandis, Pine 
Valley Developments Ltd and Others v. Ireland, 
judgment of 29 November 1991, Series A no. 
222, § 51 and Stretch v. the United Kingdom, 
no. 44277/98 44277/98, § 34, 24 June 2003).

72. The Court recalls in this connection that where 
an issue in the general interest is at stake it is 
incumbent on the public authorities to act in 
good time, in an appropriate manner and with 
utmost consistency (see Beyeler v. Italy [GC], 
no. 33202/96 33202/96, § 120, ECHR 2000-I). It 
cannot be said that the conduct of ANRTI com-
plied with these principles.

73. The Court has also given due consideration to 
the procedural safeguards available to the ap-
plicant company to defend its interests. It notes 
in the first place that the applicant company 
was not given an opportunity to appear and 
explain its position before ANRTI. Procedural 

safeguards also appear to have failed at the 
stage of the court proceedings. While the case 
was not one which required special expedien-
cy under the domestic law, the Court of Appeal 
appears to have acted with particular diligence 
in that respect. After setting the date of the 
first hearing, the Court of Appeal acceded to 
ANRTI’s request to speed up the proceedings 
and advanced the hearing by two weeks (see 
paragraph 21 above). Not only did the Court of 
Appeal decide the case in the applicant com-
pany’s absence, but it failed to provide reasons 
for dismissing the latter’s request for adjourn-
ment. The Court recalls in this connection that 
the matter to be examined by the Court of 
Appeal affected the applicant company’s eco-
nomic survival (see paragraph 69 above).

74. Moreover, the domestic courts did not give due 
consideration to some of the major arguments 
raised by the applicant company in its defence, 
such as the lack of procedural safeguards be-
fore the ANRTI and the alleged discriminatory 
treatment. The examination carried out by the 
courts appears to have been very formalistic 
and limited to ascertaining whether the ap-
plicant company had failed to inform ANRTI 
about the change of its address. No balancing 
exercise appears to have been carried out be-
tween the general issue at stake and the sanc-
tion applied to the applicant company.

75. The Court further notes the applicant compa-
ny’s allegation that it was the only one from the 
list of ninety-one companies to which such a 
severe measure was applied. The Government 
disputed this allegation and made two conflict-
ing submissions. Firstly, they argued that the 
other ninety companies concerned had com-
mitted other, less serious irregularities, such 
as, inter alia, failure to present to ANRTI annual 
reports (see paragraph 59 above). Secondly, 
they argued that at least three other compa-
nies were in a similar position and were treated 
in a similar manner to the applicant company.

76. Having examined both submissions made 
by the Government, the Court cannot accept 
them. As regards the first one, it finds it incon-
sistent with the minutes of ANRTI’s meeting of 
17 September 2003, in which it was clearly stat-
ed that the companies concerned had failed to 
pay a yearly regulatory fee and/or to present 
information about changes of address within 
the prescribed time-limits (see paragraph 11 
above). The minutes do not contain reference 
to irregularities such as failure to present an-
nual reports. Moreover, this submission was 
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made for the first time by the Government in 
the proceedings before the Court, and must 
therefore be treated with caution especially 
in the absence of any form of substantiation 
(see, mutatis mutandis, Sarban v. Moldova, no. 
3456/05, § 82, 4 October 2005). No such sub-
missions appear to have been made by ANRTI 
during the domestic proceedings despite the 
applicant company’s clear and explicit conten-
tion about alleged discriminatory treatment 
(see paragraph 24 above). Regrettably, the 
Supreme Court of Justice disregarded the ap-
plicant company’s complaints about discrimi-
nation, apparently treating them as irrelevant.

77. As regards the Government’s second submis-
sion, the Court has examined the parties’ state-
ments (see paragraphs 54 and 60 above) and 
the evidence adduced by them, and finds that 
the Government have failed to show that there 
were other companies in an analogous situa-
tion which were treated in the same manner as 
the applicant company.

78. The Court also notes that the above findings 
do not appear to be inconsistent with the 
previous practice of ANRTI as it appears from 
the minutes of its meetings of 12 June and 17 
July 2003, when several companies had their 
licences suspended for failure to comply with 
section 3.5.2 of its Regulations (see paragraph 
35 above). The Government did not contest 
the existence of such a practice.

79. The arbitrariness of the proceedings, the dis-
criminatory treatment of the applicant com-
pany and the disproportionately harsh meas-
ure applied to it lead the Court to conclude 
that it has not been shown that the authorities 
followed any genuine and consistent policy 
considerations when invalidating the appli-
cant company’s licences. Notwithstanding the 
margin of appreciation afforded to the State, a 
fair balance was not preserved in the present 
case and the applicant company was required 
to bear an individual and excessive burden, in 
violation of Article 1 of Protocol No. 1.

III. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
14 OF THE CONVENTION TAKEN 
IN CONJUNCTION WITH ARTICLE 
1 OF PROTOCOL NO. 1 TO THE 
CONVENTION

80. The applicant company also complained that 
by invalidating its licences the authorities had 

subjected it to discrimination in comparison to 
other companies in an analogous situation. As 
this complaint relates to the same matters as 
those considered under Article 1 of Protocol 
No. 1, the Court does not consider it necessary 
to examine it separately.

IV. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

81. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

82. The applicant company submitted that since 
its documents were seized by the Centre for 
Fighting Economic Crime and Corruption, it 
was unable to present any observations con-
cerning the pecuniary damage sustained. Ac-
cordingly, it asked the Court to reserve the 
question of just satisfaction.

83. The Court considers that the question of the 
application of Article 41 is not ready for deci-
sion. The question must accordingly be re-
served and the further procedure fixed with 
due regard to the possibility of agreement be-
ing reached between the Moldovan Govern-
ment and the applicant.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Declares the application admissible;

2. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
1 of Protocol No. 1 to the Convention;

3. Holds that it is not necessary to examine sepa-
rately the applicant’s complaint under Article 
14 of the Convention taken in conjunction 
with Article 1 of Protocol No. 1;

4. Holds

(a) that the question of the application of 
Article 41 of the Convention is not ready 
for decision; 
accordingly,

(b) reserves the said question;

(c) invites the Moldovan Government and the 
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applicant company to submit, within the 
forthcoming three months, their written 
observations on the matter and, in partic-
ular, to notify the Court of any agreement 
they may reach;

(d) reserves the further procedure and del-
egates to the President of the Chamber 
power to fix the same if need be.

Done in English and notified in writing on 8 April 
2008, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the Rules 
of Court.

Lawrence Early, Registrar
Nicolas Bratza, President
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INVESTIGATION, INCITEMENT TO CRIME, SPECIAL INVES-
TIGATIVE TECHNIQUES, FAIR TRIAL, UNDERCOVER

IN THE CASE Of RAMANAuSKAS v. LITHuANIA,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting as a 
Grand Chamber composed of:
Nicolas Bratza, President,  
Jean-Paul Costa, appointed to sit in respect of 
Lithuania, 
Christos Rozakis, 
Boštjan M. Zupančič, 
Peer Lorenzen, 
Françoise Tulkens, 
Ireneu Cabral Barreto, 
Rıza Türmen, 
Corneliu Bîrsan, 
András Baka, 
Mindia Ugrekhelidze, 
Antonella Mularoni, 
Stanislav Pavlovschi, 
Elisabet Fura-Sandström, 
Khanlar Hajiyev, 
Dean Spielmann, 
Renate Jaeger, judges, 
and Michael O'Boyle, Deputy Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 28 March and 12 
December 2007,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

74420/01 ) against the Republic of Lithuania 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of the 
Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Con-
vention”) by a Lithuanian national, Mr Kęstas 
Ramanauskas (“the applicant”), on 17 August 
2001.

2. The applicant, who was granted legal aid, was 
represented by Mr R. Girdziušas, a lawyer prac-
tising in Kaunas. The Lithuanian Government 
(“the Government”) were represented by their 

Agent, Ms E. Baltutytė.

3. The applicant alleged, in particular, that he had 
been the victim of entrapment and that he had 
been denied the opportunity to examine a key 
witness in criminal proceedings against him.

4. The application was allocated to the Second 
Section of the Court (Rule 52 § 1 of the Rules 
of Court). Danutė Jočienė, the judge elected 
in respect of Lithuania, withdrew from sitting 
in the case (Rule 28). The Government accord-
ingly appointed Jean-Paul Costa, the judge 
elected in respect of France, to sit in her place 
(Article 27 § 2 of the Convention and Rule 29 
§ 1).

5. On 26 April 2005 the application was declared 
partly admissible by a Chamber of the Second 
Section composed of the following judges: An-
drás Baka, Jean-Paul Costa, Rıza Türmen, Karel 
Jungwiert, Mindia Ugrekhelidze, Antonella 
Mularoni, Elisabet Fura-Sandström, and also 
Stanley Naismith, Deputy Section Registrar. On 
19 September 2006 the Chamber relinquished 
jurisdiction in favour of the Grand Chamber, 
neither of the parties having objected to relin-
quishment (Article 30 of the Convention and 
Rule 72).

6. The composition of the Grand Chamber was 
determined in accordance with the provisions 
of Article 27 §§ 2 and 3 of the Convention 
and Rule 24.

7. The applicant and the Government each filed 
written observations on the merits.

8. A hearing took place in public in the Human 
Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 28 March 2007 
(Rule 59 § 3).

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Ms E. Baltutytė, Agent,  
Ms S. Balčiūnienė, Adviser; 

(b) for the applicant

Ms A. vosyliūtė, Counsel,  
Mr K. Ramanauskas, Applicant.

The Court heard addresses by Ms Baltutytė and Ms 
Vosyliūtė.



183CASEOFRAMANAUSKASVLITHUANIA

EC
J

EC
HR

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

9. The applicant, Mr Kęstas Ramanauskas, is a 
Lithuanian national who was born in 1966 and 
lives in Kaišiadorys.

10. He formerly worked as a prosecutor in the 
Kaišiadorys region.

11. The applicant submitted that in late 1998 and 
early 1999 he had been approached by AZ, a 
person previously unknown to him, through 
VS, a private acquaintance. AZ had asked him 
to secure the acquittal of a third person and 
had offered him a bribe of 3,000 United States 
dollars (USD) in return. The applicant had ini-
tially refused but had later agreed after AZ had 
reiterated the offer a number of times.

12. The Government submitted that VS and AZ 
had approached the applicant and negotiated 
the bribe with him on their own private initia-
tive, without having first informed the authori-
ties. They alleged that AZ had suspected the 
applicant of having accepted bribes in the past.

13. On an unspecified date AZ, who was in fact an 
officer of a special anti-corruption police unit of 
the Ministry of the Interior (Specialiųjų tyrimų 
tarnyba – “the STT”), informed his employers 
that the applicant had agreed to accept a bribe.

14. On 26 January 1999 the STT applied to the 
Deputy Prosecutor General, requesting author-
isation to use a criminal conduct simulation 
model (“the model” – see paragraph 32 below). 
The request stated:
“SeniorCommissar [GM],Headof theOpera-
tional Activities Division of the [STT], having
had access to information concerning [the
applicant's]criminalconduct,hasestablished
that [theapplicant] takesbribessincehehas
agreed to assist a defendant, [MN], in return
forpayment.

In implementing the criminal conduct simu-
lationmodel,which is intended to establish,
record and put an end to [the applicant's]
unlawfulacts,anSTTofficial[AZ]wouldhand
over 12,000 litai, in foreign currency if re-
quired.

Implementationof[themodel]wouldrequire
[AZ] tosimulatecriminalactspunishableun-
derArticles284and329ofthe[CriminalCode].

Withreferencetosection11oftheOperation-
al Activities Act ..., the undersigned requests
the Deputy Prosecutor General to authorise
the criminal conduct simulationmodel for a
periodofoneyear.

This request isbasedon the informationob-
tainedduringthepreliminaryinquiry.”

15. On 26 January 1999 the STT sent a letter to 
the Deputy Prosecutor General outlining the 
model as follows:
“[STT] officials have collected operational in-
formationattestingthat [theapplicant] takes
bribes.

In implementing the criminal conduct simu-
lationmodel,which is intended to establish,
recordandputanendto[theapplicant's]un-
lawfulacts,anSTTofficial[AZ]wouldsimulate
theoffencesofofferingabribeandbreaching
currencyandsecuritiesregulations.

Inviewoftheabove,andinaccordancewith
section11of theOperationalActivitiesAct, I
hereby requestyou toauthorise thecriminal
conductsimulationmodelandthustoexempt
[AZ] from criminal responsibility for the of-
fencesunderArticles284and329ofthe[Crim-
inalCode]whichareintendedtobesimulated.

[The model] would be implemented by STT
officialsonthebasisofaseparateoperational
actionplan.

Implementation of [themodel] would be fi-
nancedbySTTresources.”

16. On 27 January 1999 the Deputy Prosecutor 
General gave the required authorisation by 
countersigning and placing his official seal on 
the letter in question. This document consti-
tuted the final version of the model.

17. On 28 January 1999 the applicant accepted 
USD 1,500 from AZ.

18. On 11 February 1999 AZ gave the applicant a 
further USD 1,000.

19. On the same date the Prosecutor General in-
stituted a criminal investigation in respect of 
the applicant for accepting a bribe, an offence 
punishable under Article 282 of the Criminal 
Code in force at that time.

20. On 17 March 1999 the Prosecutor General 
dismissed the applicant from his post as a 
prosecutor on grounds relating to corruption. 
Referring to the relevant provisions of the Pros-
ecuting Authorities Act, the Prosecutor General 
stated that the applicant had been dismissed 
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for a disciplinary offence and activities discred-
iting the prosecuting authorities.

21. On an unspecified date the pre-trial investiga-
tion was concluded and the case was referred 
to the Kaunas Regional Court. During the trial 
the applicant pleaded guilty but alleged that 
he had succumbed to undue pressure from AZ 
in committing the offence.

22. On 18 July 2000 the Deputy Prosecutor Gen-
eral authorised a judge of the Kaunas Regional 
Court to disclose the details of how the model 
had been implemented “provided that this 
[did] not harm the interests” of the individuals 
and authorities involved in the operation.

23. On 29 August 2000 the Kaunas Regional Court 
convicted the applicant of accepting a bribe of 
USD 2,500 from AZ, in breach of Article 282 of 
the Criminal Code then in force, and sentenced 
him to 19 months and six days' imprisonment. 
The court also ordered the confiscation of 
his property in the amount of 625 Lithuanian 
litai (LTL). It found it established, firstly, that 
AZ had given the applicant the bribe during 
their meetings on 28 January and 11 February 
1999, in return for a promise that the applicant 
would intervene favourably in a criminal case 
against a third person and, secondly, that AZ 
had entered into contact and negotiated with 
the applicant through VS.

24. The court's conclusions were mainly based on 
the evidence given by AZ and on secret record-
ings of his conversations with the applicant. 
The court had also examined AP, a prosecutor 
working in the same regional office as the ap-
plicant, whose evidence had not gone beyond 
confirmation that the applicant had dealt with 
the criminal case against the third person (MN) 
indicated by AZ. VS was not summoned to give 
evidence at the trial as his place of residence 
was unknown, but a statement by him, which 
had been recorded by the pre-trial investiga-
tors, was read out in court. However, the Kau-
nas Regional Court did not take it into account 
in determining the applicant's guilt. The court's 
judgment did not contain any discussion of 
the authorisation and implementation of the 
model.

25. On 26 October 2000 the Court of Appeal up-
held the judgment on an appeal by the ap-
plicant, finding that there had been no incite-
ment and that the authorities had not put any 
active pressure on the applicant to commit the 
offence.

26. On 23 November 2000 the applicant lodged 
a cassation appeal. Relying in particular on 
the Constitutional Court's decision of 8 May 
2000 (see paragraph 34 below), he argued that 
there were no statutory provisions allowing 
the authorities to incite or provoke a person 
to commit an offence. In that connection, he 
submitted that on several occasions he had 
unsuccessfully requested the first-instance and 
appeal courts to consider the influence exerted 
by AZ and VS on his predisposition to commit 
the offence. He further complained that the 
lower courts had not taken into account the 
fact that AZ was a police officer and not a pri-
vate individual. He argued that AZ had incited 
him to accept the bribe. Furthermore, he stat-
ed that the authorities had had no valid reason 
to initiate an undercover operation in his case 
and that they had overstepped the limits of 
their ordinary investigative powers by inducing 
him to commit an offence. He also submitted 
that VS had not been examined during the trial.

27. On 27 February 2001 the Supreme Court dis-
missed the applicant's cassation appeal in a de-
cision which included the following passages:
“Thereisnoevidenceinthecasefilethat[the
applicant's]freewillwasdeniedorotherwise
constrained in such away thathe couldnot
avoidactingillegally.[AZ]neitherordered[the
applicant]tointerveneinfavouroftheperson
offering the bribe, nor did he threaten him.
He asked him orally for help in securing the
discontinuation of proceedings [against the
third person] ... K. Ramanauskas understood
thattherequestwasunlawful...[and]theRe-
gionalCourtwas thereforecorrect in finding
himguilty...

[The applicant] contests the lawfulness of
[themodel] ..., statingthatthecasediscloses
amanifestexampleofincitement(kurstymas)
bytheofficersofthespecialservicestoaccept
thebribe...[Hesubmitsthat,bylaw],authori-
sation to simulate a criminal act cannot be
givenintheabsenceofevidenceoftheprepa-
rationorcommissionofanoffence.Therefore,
in his view, such a procedure cannotpursue
the aim of inciting a person or persons to
commit a crime. If themodel were used for
thatpurpose, itwouldbeunlawful [and] the
information thereby obtained could not be
admittedinevidence...[The]modelcannotbe
authorisedandimplementedunlessaperson
hasplannedorstartedtocommitanoffence,
evidenceofwhich shouldbe submitted to a
prosecutor...Itappearsfromthecasefilethat
[the authorities]were contacted by [VS] and
[AZ] after [their initial] meetings with K. Ra-
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manauskas, during which he had agreed in
principlethathewouldperformtherequested
actionsforUSD3,000...Accordingly,inauthor-
ising the use of the model, [the authorities]
merelyjoinedacriminalactwhichwasalready
inprogress.

...

The case file contains no evidence that [VS]
isanemployeeof thespecial services ... [AZ]
worksat theSTTasapolicedriver ...butthis
does not mean that he is prohibited from
acting in a private capacity. There is no evi-
dence that [VS] and [AZ] negotiated with K.
Ramanauskas on police instructions. It has,
however,beenestablishedthat[VS]and[AZ]
handedmoneytohimonthepolice'sorders.

The court considers that provocation (pro-
vokacija) to commit a crime is similar but
not equivalent to incitement (kurstymas) ...
Provocationisaformofincitementconsisting
inencouragingapersontocommitanoffence
... entailinghis criminal responsibility so that
he can thenbeprosecuted on that account.
While suchconduct ismorally reprehensible,
the term 'provocation' is not used either in
criminalorprocedurallaworintheOperation-
alActivitiesActof22May1997...Fromalegal
standpoint,provocationdoesnotconstitutea
factorexemptingfromcriminal responsibility
a person who has thereby been induced to
commitanoffence...

Sincethecasefilecontainscontradictoryevi-
denceastotheconductof [VS]and[AZ]be-
fore the criminal conduct simulation model
wasauthorised, it isdifficulttoestablishwho
wastheinstigator(iniciatorius)ofgivingand
accepting the bribe, or, in otherwords,who
incitedwhomtogiveoracceptthebribe.[VS]
... stated that, after he had contacted K. Ra-
manauskas to ask him to intervene in secur-
ing the discontinuation of the criminal case
[against the third person], K. Ramanauskas
hadbeenthe first tosay thathecouldsettle
thematterforUSD3,000.Forhispart, [AZ] ...
statedthatK.Ramanauskashadsaidthatthe
discontinuation of the case would cost USD
3,000. In his testimony K. Ramanauskas al-
leged that [VS] had asked him if USD 3,000
wouldbeenoughtoensurethatthecasewas
discontinued. In these circumstances, it can-
not be said with any certainty whowas the
instigatorofthebribery,norcanitbeinferred
that [VS] and [AZ] incitedK.Ramanauskas to
acceptthebribe.Furthermore,thereisnorea-
son toconclude that [VS]and [AZ]provoked
theoffencecommittedbyK.Ramanauskasin
accepting the bribe. It can only be said un-
equivocally that the initiative (iniciatyva) to

applytoK.Ramanauskasinordertohavethe
case [against the third person] discontinued
camefrom[AZ].

However,thecourtconsidersthattheanswer
to the question whether a person has actu-
ally induced (palenkė) or otherwise incited
(sukurstė)anothertoofferoracceptabribeis
ofnoconsequenceasfarasthelegalclassifica-
tionof[theapplicant's]conductisconcerned.
Incitement(kurstymas)tocommitanoffence
isoneofthevariousformsofcomplicity.Un-
der the branch of criminal law dealing with
complicity,incitementisaformofconspiracy.
Apersonwhocommitsanoffenceafterhaving
beingincitedtodosoincursthesamecriminal
responsibilityasapersonwhoactsofhisown
volition...EvenassumingthatK.Ramanauskas
wasincitedby[VS]and[AZ]toacceptabribe,
it must be emphasised that the incitement
took the formof anoffer, andnotof threats
orblackmail.Hewasthereforeabletodecline
(andoughttohavedeclined)theillegaloffer...
ItfollowsfromthetestimonyofK.Ramanaus-
kasthatheunderstoodthenatureoftheacts
hewasbeingaskedtocarryout,andaccepted
[thebribe]ofhisownfreewill...

Atthesametimeitmustbenotedthatitisa
specific feature of bribery as an offence that
one side isnecessarily the instigator (kursty-
tojas)oftheoffence.AStateofficialsoliciting
abribeisaninstigatorwithinthemeaningof
Article284[oftheCriminalCodetheninforce
– 'theCC'] in thathe incites (kursto)another
topayhim abribe, in breachof thatArticle.
[Aperson]offeringabribetoaStateofficialis
necessarily an instigatorwithin themeaning
ofArticle282of theCCsince,bymakingthe
offer,he incites theofficial toacceptabribe,
thatis,tocommittheoffenceprovidedforin
thatArticle...Boththepersongivingandthe
person accepting a bribe exercise their free
will ... and may therefore choose between
possible formsof conduct.Apersonwho in-
tentionallychoosesthecriminaloptionwhile
having the possibility of resisting the incite-
mentrightlyincurscriminalresponsibility,re-
gardlessoftheoutsidefactorsthatmayhave
influencedhischoice...”

28. On 27 March 2001 the applicant began serv-
ing his prison sentence. He remained in prison 
until 29 January 2002, when he was released 
on licence.

29. Furthermore, the prohibition on his working in 
the legal service was lifted in July 2002. In Janu-
ary 2003 his conviction was expunged.
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II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

30. The Criminal Code applicable at the material 
time punished the acts of accepting a bribe 
(Article 282), offering a bribe (Article 284) and 
breaching currency and securities regulations 
(Article 329).

31. Article 18 of the Criminal Code in force at the 
time and Article 24 of the present Criminal 
Code (in force since 1 May 2003) provide that 
incitement is one of the possible forms of com-
plicity in an offence and is punishable along-
side other forms of assistance (aiding and abet-
ting, organising, executing) in the commission 
of an offence. These provisions define an in-
stigator (kurstytojas) as a person who induces 
(palenkė) another to commit an offence. The 
term kurstymas (which can also be translated 
as “incitement” or “instigation”) is normally 
used in domestic legal doctrine to define the 
notion of complicity.

32. The Operational Activities Act (Operatyvinės 
veiklos įstatymas) was enacted in 1997 and 
remained in force until 27 June 2002. Section 
2(12) of the Act defined a “criminal conduct 
simulation model” (Nusikalstamos veikos imi-
tacijos elgesio modelis) as a set of actions en-
tailing the elements of an offence, authorised 
with a view to protecting the best interests of 
the State, society or the individual.

Section 4(2) of the Act authorised the initiation 
of “operational activities” within the meaning 
of the Act where:

(a) the authorities did not know the identity of 
an individual who was preparing to commit 
or had committed a serious offence;

(b) the authorities had obtained “verified pre-
liminary information” about a criminal act;

(c) the authorities had obtained “verified pre-
liminary information” about a person's 
membership of a criminal organisation;

(d) the authorities suspected activities by for-
eign secret services; or

(e) an accused, defendant or convicted person 
had absconded.

Section 7(2)(3) of the Act provided that the au-
thorities could have recourse to a model only 
in one of the above scenarios, and then only on 
condition that the requirements of sections 10 
and 11 of the Act were satisfied.

Sections 10 and 11 of the Act empowered the 
Prosecutor General or his deputy to authorise 
the use of a criminal conduct simulation model 
on an application by the police or the investi-
gative authorities. The application for authori-
sation had to include, among other things, a 
reference to the limits of the conduct intended 
to be simulated (that is, the legal characterisa-
tion under a specific provision of the Criminal 
Code of the actions to be taken) and the pur-
pose of the operation, including its interim and 
ultimate aims.

Section 8(1)(3) of the Act required the authori-
ties to protect persons from active pressure to 
commit an offence against their own will.

Section 13(3) of the Act afforded the right to 
contest the lawfulness of evidence obtained by 
means of special techniques.

33. In the proceedings which gave rise to the case 
of Pacevičius and Bagdonas v. Lithuania (no. 
57190/00, struck out of the Court's list of cases 
on 23 October 2003), the Court of Appeal gave 
judgment on 29 April 1999, holding, inter alia:
“Section2oftheOperationalActivitiesActde-
fines[thecriminalconductsimulationmodel]
asasetofactionsentailingtheelementsofan
offence,authorisedwithaviewtoprotecting
thebest interestsof theState, societyor the
individual. ... The model may be authorised
only for operations by [the police] and does
notapplytoindividualswhocommitoffences.

Therequest[bythepoliceforauthorisationof
themodel inthiscase]referredtotheaimof
theintendedoperation,namelyidentification
ofallpersonsinvolvedina[human]trafficking
network.

Ofcourse,the[police]officerscouldnotfore-
seewhowouldtakepart inthiscrime ...One
oftheaimsofthe[prosecutionin]authorising
the model was to establish the identities of
membersofacriminalorganisation.”

In a judgment of 12 October 1999 in the same 
case the Supreme Court held as follows regard-
ing the use of police undercover agents:
“[Theapplicants]werenotawareoftheongo-
ingoperationatthetimetheycommittedthe
offence.Theywereconvincedthattheywere
trafficking personswho had illegally crossed
the Lithuanian border. As Article 82-1 of the
Criminal Code provides that the offence in
questioniscommittedwheredirectintenthas
beenestablished, [theapplicants']errorasto
the nature of the act they were committing
is of no relevance to the legal classification
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of their conduct. Since theywere convinced
that they were trafficking [human beings],
their acts fell objectivelywithin the scopeof
the offence defined in Article 82-1 ... Their
conduct was therefore rightly classified as a
completedoffence.Theauthorisationgivento
theauthorities [tousethemodel]servedthe
solepurposeoflegitimisingtheactionsofthe
policeofficerstakingpartinthetrafficking.”

34. On 8 May 2000 the Constitutional Court ruled 
that the Operational Activities Act was gener-
ally compatible with the Constitution. It held in 
particular that the model constituted a specific 
form of operational activity using intelligence 
and other secret measures in order to investi-
gate organised and other serious crime. It em-
phasised that the use of clandestine measures, 
as such, was not contrary to the European Con-
vention on Human Rights, or indeed the Con-
stitution, as long as such measures were based 
on legislation that was clear and foreseeable 
in effect and were proportionate to the legiti-
mate aims pursued. The Constitutional Court 
found that the Act provided a clear definition 
of the scope and procedure for the use of vari-
ous forms of operational activities, including 
the model.

Referring in particular to the Teixeira de Castro 
v. Portugal case (judgment of 9 June 1998, Re-
ports of Judgments and Decisions 1998-IV), the 
Constitutional Court emphasised that a crimi-
nal conduct simulation model could not be 
used for the purpose of incitement (kurstoma) 
or provocation (provokuojama) to commit an 
offence that had not already been initiated. It 
further held that this investigative technique 
did not allow officials to incite the commission 
of an offence by a person who had abandoned 
plans to commit the offence. It added that, by 
authorising and implementing the model, the 
investigative authorities and their undercover 
agents were restricted to “joining criminal 
acts that [had] been initiated but not yet com-
pleted”. The Constitutional Court emphasised 
that it was for the courts of ordinary jurisdiction 
dealing with allegations of incitement or of 
other forms of abuse of the model to establish 
in each particular case whether the investigat-
ing authorities had gone beyond the limits of 
the legal framework within which the model 
had been authorised.

The Constitutional Court also stated that au-
thorisation of the model did not amount to a 
licence for a police officer or third person act-
ing as an undercover agent to commit a crime 
but simply legitimised – from the point of view 

of domestic law – the acts which the agent 
might be required to carry out in simulating an 
offence. The main aim of operational activities, 
including the model, was to facilitate criminal 
investigations, and on that account they came 
within the sphere of competence of both the 
prosecuting authorities and the courts. Ac-
cordingly, the model did not require judicial 
authorisation but simply authorisation by a 
prosecutor. The Constitutional Court further 
noted that secret audio and video recordings 
of conversations taking place in the context of 
operational activities under the Act were not 
subject to judicial authorisation and that this 
was compatible with the Constitution. Under 
section 10(1) of the Act, only wiretapping and 
surveillance techniques using stationary de-
vices required a court order.

III. RELEVANT INTERNATIONAL LAW

35. The Council of Europe's Criminal Law Conven-
tion on Corruption (ETS no. 173, 27 January 
1999) provides in Article 23 that each party is to 
adopt such legislative and other measures as 
may be necessary, including those permitting 
the use of special investigative techniques, to 
enable it to facilitate the gathering of evidence 
in this sphere.The explanatory report on the 
Convention further specifies that “special in-
vestigative techniques” may include the use of 
undercover agents, wiretapping, interception 
of telecommunications and access to com-
puter systems.

Article 35 states that the Convention does not 
affect the rights and undertakings deriving 
from international multilateral conventions 
concerning special matters.

36. The Council of Europe's Convention on Laun-
dering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the 
Proceeds from Crime (ETS no. 141, 8 Novem-
ber 1990) provides, in Article 4, that each party 
should consider adopting such legislative and 
other measures as may be necessary to enable 
it to use special investigative techniques fa-
cilitating the identification and tracing of pro-
ceeds and the gathering of evidence related 
thereto.

37. The use of special investigative techniques, 
such as controlled deliveries in the context of 
illicit trafficking in narcotic drugs, is also pro-
vided for in Article 73 of the Convention imple-
menting the Schengen Agreement of 14 June 
1985 on the gradual abolition of checks at the 
common borders, signed in Schengen on 19 
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June 1990.

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
6 § 1 OF THE CONVENTION

38. The applicant submitted that he had been in-
cited to commit a criminal offence, in breach 
of his right to a fair trial under Article 6 § 1 of 
the Convention, the relevant parts of which 
provide:
“Inthedeterminationof...anycriminalcharge
against him, everyone is entitled to a fair ...
hearing ... by an independent and impartial
tribunal...”

A. The parties' submissions
1.Theapplicant

39. The applicant submitted that his right to a fair 
trial had been infringed in that he had been 
incited to commit an offence that he would 
never have committed without the interven-
tion of “agents provocateurs”.

40. He argued that the authorities bore responsi-
bility for the conduct of AZ and VS. In its judg-
ment in the instant case the Supreme Court 
had acknowledged that AZ was in fact an of-
ficer of the special anti-corruption police unit 
of the Ministry of the Interior (STT) and had 
instigated the offence. The applicant contend-
ed that the authorities could not legitimately 
claim that they had simply “joined” a criminal 
act instigated by one of their own employ-
ees, and asserted that they should accept full 
responsibility for the acts carried out by AZ 
before the criminal conduct simulation model 
had been authorised. In any event, all his meet-
ings with AZ – both before and after the model 
had been authorised – had taken place on the 
latter's initiative, as was attested by the record 
of AZ's telephone calls to the applicant. The ap-
plicant accordingly submitted that the crime 
would not have been committed without the 
authorities' intervention.

41. The applicant further complained that the do-
mestic courts had failed to give an adequate 
answer to the question of the authorities' re-
sponsibility for the use of entrapment in in-
ducing him to commit a crime. He submitted 
that by putting him in contact with AZ, VS had 
played a crucial role in the model that had led 

him to accept the bribe. He asserted that VS 
was a long-standing informer of the police, as 
was attested by the fact that the police had au-
thorised him to act as an undercover agent in 
the case. The applicant inferred from this that 
the examination of VS would have been crucial 
in establishing whether he had been incited 
to commit an offence and that the authori-
ties' failure to summon VS to appear as a wit-
ness had breached the relevant provisions of 
Article 6. The court had not sought to establish 
whether VS had collaborated with the judicial 
authorities. The applicant therefore submit-
ted that he had been denied a fair hearing, in 
breach of Article 6 § 1 of the Convention.

2.TheGovernment
42. The Government submitted that, since the 

Court was not a “fourth-instance judicial body”, 
it did not have jurisdiction to deal with the ap-
plicant's complaints, which related mostly to 
questions of fact and of application of domes-
tic law.

43. They submitted that in any event the authori-
ties had not incited the applicant to commit 
an offence and that the model forming the 
subject of his complaints had not infringed his 
rights under Article 6.

44. In this connection, the Government pointed 
out that VS and AZ had approached the ap-
plicant and negotiated the bribe on their own 
private initiative, without first having informed 
the authorities. The use of the model in issue 
had been authorised subsequently in order to 
protect the fundamental interests of society, 
on the basis of the preliminary information 
submitted by AZ attesting to the applicant's 
predisposition to accept a bribe. They asserted 
that, in authorising and implementing the 
model complained of by the applicant, the au-
thorities had pursued the sole aim of “joining” 
an offence which the applicant had planned 
to commit with VS and AZ, who had acted on 
their own initiative and “in a private capacity”. 
The authorities could not be held responsible 
for any acts that VS and AZ had carried out 
before the procedure in question had been 
authorised.

45. The Government added that only AZ had act-
ed as an undercover agent of the authorities, 
as the model had been authorised on his be-
half. They pointed out that, before requesting 
authorisation, the STT had carefully verified the 
information submitted by AZ about the ap-
plicant's criminal inclinations and had found it 
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to be corroborated by other data already in its 
possession. The investigating authorities had 
drawn up a precise action plan for the imple-
mentation of the model, clearly defining the 
nature and scope of the actions they intended 
to carry out. The Government stated that they 
were unable to provide the Court with a copy 
of the action plan or any other data from the 
STT's file on the applicant since it had been 
destroyed on the expiry of the five-year period 
laid down in the Ministry of the Interior's regu-
lations for keeping secret files. However, they 
assured the Court that in all cases of this kind, 
the Prosecutor General or his deputy would 
carefully scrutinise the entire STT file on the 
suspect before authorising a criminal conduct 
simulation model.

46. The Government asserted that the offence 
would in any event have been committed 
without the intervention of the State authori-
ties, since even before the model had been 
authorised, the applicant had clearly been 
predisposed to commit the offence. In support 
of that argument they observed that after the 
model had been authorised, the applicant had 
instantly accepted AZ's oral offer of a bribe and 
that the authorities had not subjected him to 
any threats or other forms of undue pressure. 
The applicant's guilt was aggravated by the 
fact that, as a law-enforcement official, he was 
perfectly aware that his actions were illegal. 
In conclusion, contrary to the position in the 
Teixeira de Castro case (cited above), there had 
been no incitement to break the law in the in-
stant case.

47. Having regard to all these factors, the Govern-
ment concluded that the applicant had had a 
fair trial.

B. The Court's assessment
48. The applicant complained of the use of evi-

dence resulting from police incitement in the 
proceedings against him, in breach of his right 
to a fair trial.

1.Generalprinciples
49. The Court observes at the outset that it is aware 

of the difficulties inherent in the police's task of 
searching for and gathering evidence for the 
purpose of detecting and investigating offenc-
es. To perform this task, they are increasingly 
required to make use of undercover agents, 
informers and covert practices, particularly in 
tackling organised crime and corruption.

50. Furthermore, corruption – including in the ju-
dicial sphere – has become a major problem 
in many countries, as is attested by the Council 
of Europe's Criminal Law Convention on the 
subject (see paragraph 35 above). This instru-
ment authorises the use of special investiga-
tive techniques, such as undercover agents, 
that may be necessary for gathering evidence 
in this area, provided that the rights and under-
takings deriving from international multilateral 
conventions concerning “special matters”, for 
example human rights, are not affected.

51. That being so, the use of special investigative 
methods – in particular, undercover tech-
niques – cannot in itself infringe the right to 
a fair trial. However, on account of the risk of 
police incitement entailed by such techniques, 
their use must be kept within clear limits (see 
paragraph 55 below).

52. In this connection, it should be reiterated that 
it is the Court's task, in accordance with Article 
19, to ensure the observance of the engage-
ments undertaken by the States Parties to the 
Convention. The admissibility of evidence is 
primarily a matter for regulation by national 
law and, as a rule, it is for the national courts to 
assess the evidence before them. The Court, for 
its part, must ascertain whether the proceed-
ings as a whole, including the way in which 
evidence was taken, were fair (see, among 
other authorities, Van Mechelen and Others v. 
the Netherlands, judgment of 23 April 1997, 
Reports of Judments and Decisions 1997-III, 
p. 711, § 50; Teixeira de Castro, judgment of 
9 June 1998, Reports 1998-IV, p. 1462, § 34; 
Sequeira v. Portugal (dec.), no. 73557/01, ECHR 
2003-VI; and Shannon v. the United King-
dom (dec.), no. 67537/01, ECHR 2004-IV). In 
this context, the Court's task is not to deter-
mine whether certain items of evidence were 
obtained unlawfully, but rather to examine 
whether such “unlawfulness” resulted in the 
infringement of another right protected by the 
Convention.

53. More particularly, the Convention does not 
preclude reliance, at the preliminary investiga-
tion stage and where the nature of the offence 
may warrant it, on sources such as anonymous 
informants. However, the subsequent use 
of such sources by the trial court to found a 
conviction is a different matter and is accept-
able only if adequate and sufficient safeguards 
against abuse are in place, in particular a clear 
and foreseeable procedure for authorising, im-
plementing and supervising the investigative 
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measures in question (see Khudobin v. Russia, 
no. 59696/00, § 135, 26 October 2006, and, 
mutatis mutandis, Klass and Others v. Germany, 
judgment of 6 September 1978, Series A no. 28, 
pp. 24-26, §§ 52-56). While the rise in organ-
ised crime requires that appropriate measures 
be taken, the right to a fair trial, from which 
the requirement of the proper administration 
of justice is to be inferred, nevertheless applies 
to all types of criminal offence, from the most 
straightforward to the most complex. The right 
to the fair administration of justice holds so 
prominent a place in a democratic society that 
it cannot be sacrificed for the sake of expedi-
ence (see Delcourt v. Belgium, judgment of 17 
January 1970, Series A no. 11, pp. 13-15, § 25).

54. Furthermore, while the use of undercover 
agents may be tolerated provided that it is 
subject to clear restrictions and safeguards, 
the public interest cannot justify the use of 
evidence obtained as a result of police incite-
ment, as to do so would expose the accused to 
the risk of being definitively deprived of a fair 
trial from the outset (see, among other authori-
ties, Teixeira de Castro, cited above, pp. 1462-
64, §§ 35-36 and 39; Khudobin, cited above, 
§ 128; and Vanyan v. Russia, no. 53203/99, 
§§ 46-47, 15 December 2005).

55. Police incitement occurs where the officers 
involved – whether members of the security 
forces or persons acting on their instructions 
– do not confine themselves to investigating 
criminal activity in an essentially passive man-
ner, but exert such an influence on the subject 
as to incite the commission of an offence that 
would otherwise not have been committed, 
in order to make it possible to establish the 
offence, that is, to provide evidence and insti-
tute a prosecution (see Teixeira de Castro, cited 
above, p. 1463, § 38, and, by way of contrast, 
Eurofinacom v. France (dec.), no. 58753/00, 
ECHR 2004-VII).

56. In the case of Teixeira de Castro (cited above, p. 
1463, § 38) the Court found that the two po-
lice officers concerned had not confined them-
selves “to investigating Mr Teixeira de Castro's 
criminal activity in an essentially passive man-
ner, but [had] exercised an influence such as to 
incite the commission of the offence”. It held 
that their actions had gone beyond those of 
undercover agents because they had instigat-
ed the offence and there was nothing to sug-
gest that without their intervention it would 
have been committed (ibid., p. 1464, § 39).

In reaching that conclusion the Court laid 
stress on a number of factors, in particular the 
fact that the intervention of the two officers 
had not taken place as part of an anti-drug-
trafficking operation ordered and supervised 
by a judge and that the national authorities 
did not appear to have had any good reason 
to suspect the applicant of being a drug dealer: 
he had no criminal record and there was noth-
ing to suggest that he had a predisposition to 
become involved in drug trafficking until he 
was approached by the police (ibid., p. 1463, 
§§ 37-38).

More specifically, the Court found that there 
were no objective suspicions that the applicant 
had been involved in any criminal activity. Nor 
was there any evidence to support the Govern-
ment's argument that the applicant was predis-
posed to commit offences. On the contrary, he 
was unknown to the police and had not been 
in possession of any drugs when the police of-
ficers had sought them from him; accordingly, 
he had only been able to supply them through 
an acquaintance who had obtained them from 
a dealer whose identity remained unknown. 
Although Mr Teixeira de Castro had potentially 
been predisposed to commit an offence, there 
was no objective evidence to suggest that he 
had initiated a criminal act before the police 
officers' intervention. The Court therefore re-
jected the distinction made by the Portuguese 
Government between the creation of a crimi-
nal intent that had previously been absent and 
the exposure of a latent pre-existing criminal 
intent.

57. Using the same criteria, in the Vanyan judg-
ment (cited above) the Court found a viola-
tion of Article 6 § 1 in connection with a test 
purchase of drugs which it found had consti-
tuted incitement. Although the operation in 
question was carried out by a private individual 
acting as an undercover agent, it had actually 
been organised and supervised by the police.

58. In the Eurofinacom decision (cited above) the 
Court, while reaffirming the principles set out 
above, held that the instigation by police of-
ficers of offers of prostitution-related services 
made to them personally had not in the true 
sense incited the commission by the applicant 
company of the offence of living on immoral 
earnings, since at the time such offers were 
made the police were already in possession 
of information suggesting that the applicant 
company's data-communications service was 
being used by prostitutes to contact potential 
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clients.

59. In the case of Sequeira (cited above) the Court 
found that there had been no police incite-
ment, basing its finding on the following con-
siderations:
“In the present case, it has been established
by thedomestic courts thatA. andC.began
tocollaboratewiththecriminal-investigation
departmentatapointwhentheapplicanthad
already contactedA.with a view to organis-
ingtheshipmentofcocainetoPortugal.Fur-
thermore,fromthatpointon,theactivitiesof
A.andC.weresupervisedbythecriminal-in-
vestigationdepartment, theprosecution ser-
vice havingbeen informedof the operation.
Finally, the authorities had good reasons for
suspectingtheapplicantofwishingtomount
adrug-traffickingoperation.Thesefactorses-
tablishacleardistinctionbetweenthepresent
caseandTeixeira de Castro,andshowthatA.
andC.cannotbedescribedasagents provo-
cateurs.As thedomesticcourtspointedout,
as inLüdi [Lüdi v. Switzerland, judgmentof
15June1992,SeriesAno.238],theiractivities
didnotexceedthoseofundercoveragents.”

60. The Court has also held that where an ac-
cused asserts that he was incited to commit 
an offence, the criminal courts must carry out 
a careful examination of the material in the file, 
since for the trial to be fair within the meaning 
of Article 6 § 1 of the Convention, all evidence 
obtained as a result of police incitement must 
be excluded. This is especially true where the 
police operation took place without a sufficient 
legal framework or adequate safeguards (see 
Khudobin, cited above, §§ 133-135).

61. Lastly, where the information disclosed by the 
prosecution authorities does not enable the 
Court to conclude whether the applicant was 
subjected to police incitement, it is essential 
that the Court examine the procedure whereby 
the plea of incitement was determined in each 
case in order to ensure that the rights of the 
defence were adequately protected, in particu-
lar the right to adversarial proceedings and to 
equality of arms (see Edwards and Lewis v. the 
United Kingdom [GC], nos. 39647/98 39647/98 
and 40461/98, §§ 46-48, ECHR 2004-X, and, 
mutatis mutandis, Jasper v. the United King-
dom [GC], no. 27052/95, §§ 50 and 58, 16 
February 2000).

2.Applicationoftheseprinciplesinthe
presentcase

62. It appears from the evidence in the present 

case that a request for authorisation to use a 
criminal conduct simulation model, together 
with a request for exemption from criminal 
responsibility, was made by the STT on 26 
January 1999, by which time AZ had already 
contacted the applicant through VS and the 
applicant had apparently agreed to seek to 
have a third person acquitted in return for a 
bribe of USD 3,000. In the Government's sub-
mission, that sequence of events showed that 
VS and AZ had acted on their own private 
initiative without having first informed the au-
thorities. By authorising and implementing the 
model, they argued, the prosecuting authori-
ties had merely put themselves in a position to 
establish an offence which the applicant had 
already planned to commit. They had therefore 
not been guilty of incitement.

63. The Court is unable to accept such reasoning. 
The national authorities cannot be exempted 
from their responsibility for the actions of po-
lice officers by simply arguing that, although 
carrying out police duties, the officers were 
acting “in a private capacity”. It is particularly 
important that the authorities should assume 
responsibility as the initial phase of the opera-
tion, namely the acts carried out up to 27 Janu-
ary 1999, took place in the absence of any legal 
framework or judicial authorisation. Further-
more, by authorising the use of the model and 
exempting AZ from all criminal responsibil-
ity, the authorities legitimised the preliminary 
phase ex post facto and made use of its results.

64. Moreover, no satisfactory explanation has been 
provided as to what reasons or personal mo-
tives could have led AZ to approach the ap-
plicant on his own initiative without bringing 
the matter to the attention of his superiors, or 
why he was not prosecuted for his acts during 
this preliminary phase. On this point, the Gov-
ernment simply referred to the fact that all the 
relevant documents had been destroyed.

65. It follows that the Lithuanian authorities' re-
sponsibility was engaged under the Conven-
tion for the actions of AZ and VS prior to the 
authorisation of the model. To hold otherwise 
would open the way to abuses and arbitrari-
ness by allowing the applicable principles to 
be circumvented through the “privatisation” of 
police incitement.

66. The Court must therefore examine whether the 
actions complained of by the applicant, which 
were attributable to the authorities, amounted 
to incitement prohibited by Article 6.
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67. To ascertain whether or not AZ and VS con-
fined themselves to “investigating criminal 
activity in an essentially passive manner”, the 
Court must have regard to the following con-
siderations. Firstly, there is no evidence that 
the applicant had committed any offences 
beforehand, in particular corruption-related of-
fences. Secondly, as is shown by the recordings 
of telephone calls, all the meetings between 
the applicant and AZ took place on the latter's 
initiative, a fact that appears to contradict the 
Government's argument that the authorities 
did not subject the applicant to any pressure 
or threats. On the contrary, through the con-
tact established on the initiative of AZ and VS, 
the applicant seems to have been subjected 
to blatant prompting on their part to perform 
criminal acts, although there was no objective 
evidence – other than rumours – to suggest 
that he had been intending to engage in such 
activity.

68. These considerations are sufficient for the 
Court to conclude that the actions of the indi-
viduals in question went beyond the mere pas-
sive investigation of existing criminal activity.

69. Article 6 of the Convention will be complied 
with only if the applicant was effectively able 
to raise the issue of incitement during his trial, 
whether by means of an objection or oth-
erwise. It is therefore not sufficient for these 
purposes, contrary to what the Government 
maintained, that general safeguards should 
have been observed, such as equality of arms 
or the rights of the defence.

70. It falls to the prosecution to prove that there 
was no incitement, provided that the defend-
ant's allegations are not wholly improbable. In 
the absence of any such proof, it is the task of 
the judicial authorities to examine the facts of 
the case and to take the necessary steps to un-
cover the truth in order to determine whether 
there was any incitement. Should they find that 
there was, they must draw inferences in ac-
cordance with the Convention (see the Court's 
case-law cited in paragraphs 49-61 above).

71. The Court observes that throughout the pro-
ceedings the applicant maintained that he 
had been incited to commit the offence. Ac-
cordingly, the domestic authorities and courts 
should at the very least have undertaken a 
thorough examination – as, indeed, the Consti-
tutional Court urged in its judgment of 8 May 
2000 – of whether the prosecuting authorities 
had gone beyond the limits authorised by the 

criminal conduct simulation model (see para-
graph 14 above), in other words whether or not 
they had incited the commission of a criminal 
act. To that end, they should have established 
in particular the reasons why the operation had 
been mounted, the extent of the police's in-
volvement in the offence and the nature of any 
incitement or pressure to which the applicant 
had been subjected. This was especially impor-
tant having regard to the fact that VS, who had 
originally introduced AZ to the applicant and 
who appears to have played a significant role 
in the events leading up to the giving of the 
bribe, was never called as a witness in the case 
since he could not be traced. The applicant 
should have had the opportunity to state his 
case on each of these points.

72. However, the domestic authorities denied that 
there had been any police incitement and took 
no steps at judicial level to carry out a serious 
examination of the applicant's allegations to 
that effect. More specifically, they did not make 
any attempt to clarify the role played by the 
protagonists in the present case, including 
the reasons for AZ's private initiative in the 
preliminary phase, despite the fact that the ap-
plicant's conviction was based on the evidence 
obtained as a result of the police incitement of 
which he complained.

Indeed, the Supreme Court found that there 
was no need to exclude such evidence since 
it corroborated the applicant's guilt, which he 
himself had acknowledged. Once his guilt had 
been established, the question whether there 
had been any outside influence on his inten-
tion to commit the offence had become ir-
relevant. However, a confession to an offence 
committed as a result of incitement cannot 
eradicate either the incitement or its effects.

73. In conclusion, while being mindful of the im-
portance and the difficulties of the task of 
investigating offences, the Court considers, 
having regard to the foregoing, that the ac-
tions of AZ and VS had the effect of inciting 
the applicant to commit the offence of which 
he was convicted and that there is no indica-
tion that the offence would have been com-
mitted without their intervention. In view of 
such intervention and its use in the impugned 
criminal proceedings, the applicant's trial was 
deprived of the fairness required by Article 6 of 
the Convention.

74. There has therefore been a violation of Article 6 
§ 1 of the Convention.
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II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
6 § 3 (D) OF THE CONVENTION

75. The applicant further submitted that the prin-
ciple of equality of arms and the rights of the 
defence had been infringed in that during the 
trial neither the courts nor the parties had had 
the opportunity to examine VS, one of the two 
undercover agents involved in the case. He al-
leged a violation of Article 6 §§ 1 and 3 (d), 
the second of which provides:
“3.Everyonechargedwithacriminaloffence
hasthefollowingminimumrights:

...

(d) to examine or have examined witnesses
againsthimandtoobtaintheattendanceand
examinationofwitnessesonhisbehalfunder
thesameconditionsaswitnessesagainsthim;
...”

A. The parties' submissions
1.Theapplicant

76. The applicant submitted that his defence 
rights had been infringed in that during the 
trial neither the courts nor the parties had had 
the opportunity to examine VS, a key witness. 
He alleged that this amounted to a breach of 
Article 6 § 3 (d) of the Convention.

2.TheGovernment
77. The Government submitted that this provision 

did not guarantee, as such, an absolute right 
to examine every witness a defendant wished 
to call. They contended that the arguments 
advanced by the applicant in support of his 
complaint that VS had not appeared in court 
were not persuasive, since the trial courts had 
not based his conviction on the statement by 
VS. They added that it had been impossible to 
secure the attendance of VS as his place of resi-
dence was unknown. They submitted that, in 
any event, the applicant had had the opportu-
nity to contest in open court the other items of 
evidence against him – chiefly the statement 
by AZ and the recordings of his conversations 
with the applicant – on which the courts had 
based their guilty verdict. The proceedings in 
issue had therefore complied with the adver-
sarial principle and had not breached the Con-
vention provision relied on by the applicant.

B. The Court's assessment
78. The applicant complained that the proceed-

ings against him had been unfair in that it had 

been impossible to obtain the examination of 
VS as a witness against him.

79. The Court considers that the applicant's com-
plaint under this head is indissociable from his 
complaint under Article 6 § 1 of the Conven-
tion in so far as it merely concerns one particu-
lar aspect of the conduct of proceedings which 
the Court has found to have been unfair.

80. In conclusion, having regard to the findings set 
out in paragraphs 73-74 above, the Court does 
not consider it necessary to carry out a sepa-
rate examination under Article 6 § 3 (d) of the 
Convention of the applicant's complaint that 
the proceedings were unfair.

III. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

81. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage
82. The applicant firstly claimed the sum of 

123,283.69 Lithuanian litai (LTL – approximately 
35,652 euros (EUR)) for loss of earnings during 
the period from 11 February 1999 to 29 Janu-
ary 2002, on the basis of a gross monthly salary 
of LTL 3,472.78 (approximately EUR 1,000). He 
claimed a further sum of LTL 3,524.60 (approxi-
mately EUR 1,021) for the costs incurred in the 
domestic proceedings, including LTL 3,500 for 
fees (approximately EUR 1,013.67). Lastly, he 
sought the reimbursement of LTL 625 (approx-
imately EUR 181) in relation to the confiscation 
of his property and LTL 420 (approximately EUR 
121) for translation costs.

83. The applicant also claimed LTL 300,000 (ap-
proximately EUR 86,755) in respect of non-
pecuniary damage, on account of the media 
campaign against him, the harm to his reputa-
tion and the anxiety experienced during his ten 
months in detention.

84. While accepting that the applicant had been 
dismissed by an order of the Prosecutor Gen-
eral adopted on 17 March 1999, the Govern-
ment asked the Court to take into account the 
fact that the applicant had himself tendered his 
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resignation in a letter of 9 March 1999, thereby 
manifesting his intention to leave his post. Ac-
cordingly, the applicant's claim for loss of earn-
ings was unfounded.

In any event, the applicant's claims were exces-
sive, since they were based on gross monthly 
salary (LTL 3,472.78) whereas his net monthly 
salary had been LTL 2,400.47.

85. As to the costs incurred in the domestic pro-
ceedings, the Government submitted that they 
should not be refunded.

86. With regard to non-pecuniary damage, the 
Government observed that the applicant had 
failed to establish that there was a causal link 
between the damage alleged and the viola-
tion of the Convention. In any event, the sum 
claimed was excessive.

87. The Court considers that it would be equitable 
to make an award in respect of damage. The 
documents in the case file suggest that the 
applicant would not have been imprisoned or 
dismissed from his post in the legal service if 
the incitement in issue had not occurred. His 
loss of earnings was actual, and the Govern-
ment did not dispute this.

In quantifying the damage sustained, the Court 
considers that it should also take into consid-
eration part of the applicant's costs in the na-
tional courts to the extent that they were in-
curred in seeking redress for the violation it has 
found (see Dactylidi v. Greece, no. 52903/99 
52903/99, § 61, 27 March 2003, and Van de 
Hurk v. the Netherlands, judgment of 19 April 
1994, Series A no. 288, p. 21, § 66).

Likewise, the Court considers that the appli-
cant indisputably sustained non-pecuniary 
damage, which cannot be compensated for by 
the mere finding of a violation.

88. Having regard to the diversity of factors to be 
taken into consideration for the purposes of 
calculating the damage and to the nature of 
the case, the Court considers it appropriate 
to award, on an equitable basis, an aggre-
gate sum which takes account of the various 
considerations referred to above (see mutatis 
mutandis, Beyeler v. Italy (just satisfaction) [GC], 
no. 33202/96 33202/96, § 26, 28 May 2002). It 
therefore awards the applicant EUR 30,000 in 
compensation for the damage sustained, in-
cluding the costs incurred at domestic level, 
plus any tax that may be chargeable on this 

amount.

B. Default interest
89. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
6 § 1 of the Convention;

2. Holds that it is not necessary to examine the 
complaint under Article 6 § 3 (d) of the Con-
vention;

3. Holds

(a) that the respondent State is to pay the ap-
plicant, within three months, EuR 30,000 
(thirty thousand euros) in respect of dam-
age, plus any tax that may be chargeable, 
to be converted into Lithuanian litai at the 
rate applicable at the date of settlement;

(b) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amount at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

4. Dismisses the remainder of the applicant's 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 5 February 2008.

Michael O'Boyle, Deputy Registrar 
Nicolas Bratza, President
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COMPUTER, SEIZURE, HARD-DISK, CORRESPONDENCE, 
PRIVATE LIFE, MISUSE OF POWER, DEMOCRACY, ELEC-
TRONIC DATA

IN THE CASE Of WIESER AND BICOS BETEILIGuNGEN 
GMBH v. AuSTRIA,

The European Court of Human Rights (Fourth Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Sir Nicolas Bratza, President,  
Mr J. Casadevall,  
Mr G. Bonello,  
Mrs E. Steiner,  
Mr S. Pavlovschi,  
Mr L. Garlicki,  
Ms L. Mijović, judges,  
and Mr T.L. Early, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 25 September 
2007,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

74336/01 ) against the Republic of Austria 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of 
the Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Con-
vention”) by Mr Gottfried Wieser, an Austrian 
national, and Bicos Beteiligungen GmbH, a lim-
ited liability company with its seat in Salzburg 
(“the applicants”), on 3 August 2001.

2. The applicants were represented by Mrs P. Pat-
zelt, a lawyer practising in Salzburg. The Aus-
trian Government (“the Government”) were 
represented by their Agent, Ambassador F. 
Trauttmansdorff, Head of the International Law 
Department at the Federal Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs.

3. The applicants alleged that the search and 
seizure of electronic data in the context of 
a search of their premises had violated their 
rights under Article 8 of the Convention.

4. By a decision of 16 May 2006 the Court de-
clared the application admissible.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

5. The first applicant, who was born in 1949, is a 
lawyer practising in Salzburg. He is the owner 
and general manager of the second applicant, 
a holding company which is, inter alia, the sole 
owner of the limited liability company No-
vamed.

6. On 30 August 2000 the Salzburg Regional 
Court (Landesgericht), upon a request for legal 
assistance (Rechtshilfeersuchen) by the Naples 
Public Prosecutor's Office, issued a warrant to 
search the seat of the applicant company and 
Novamed. Both companies have their seats at 
the first applicant's law office.

7. The court noted that in the course of pending 
criminal proceedings concerning, inter alia, il-
legal trade in medicaments against a number 
of persons and companies in Italy, invoices ad-
dressed to Novamed, owned 100% by the ap-
plicant company, had been found. It therefore 
ordered the seizure of all business documents 
revealing contacts with the suspected persons 
and companies.

A. The search of the applicants' premises 
and seizure of documents and data

8. On 10 October 2000 the search of the seat of 
the applicant company, which is also the first 
applicant's law office, was carried out by eight 
to ten officers of the Salzburg Economic Police 
(Wirtschaftspolizei) and data securing experts 
(Datensicherungsexperten) of the Federal Min-
istry of the Interior.

9. One group of the officers searched the law of-
fice for files concerning Novamed or Bicos in 
the presence of the first applicant and a rep-
resentative of the Salzburg Bar Association. All 
documents were shown to the first applicant 
and the representative of the Bar Association 
before seizure.

10. Whenever the first applicant objected to an im-
mediate examination of a document seized it 
was sealed and deposited at the Salzburg Re-
gional Court as required by Article 145 of the 
Code of Criminal Procedure (Strafprozeßord-
nung – see paragraph 33 below). All seized 
or sealed documents were listed in a search 
report which was signed by the applicant and 
the officers who had carried out the search.
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11. Simultaneously, another group of officers ex-
amined the first applicant's computer facilities 
and copied several files to disks. According to 
his statement before the Independent Admin-
istrative Panel (see paragraph 25 below) the IT 
specialist who normally serviced the computer 
facilities was called upon to provide some 
technical assistance but left again after about 
half an hour. The representative of the Bar As-
sociation was informed about the search of 
the computer facilities and was also temporar-
ily present. When the officers had terminated 
the search of the computer facilities, they left 
without having drawn up a search report and, 
apparently, also without informing the first ap-
plicant about the results of the search.

12. Later the same day the police officers involved 
in the search of the applicants' electronic 
data drew up a data securing report (Daten-
sicherungsbericht). Apart from a number of 
technical details concerning the first appli-
cant's computer facilities, the report states that 
no complete copy of the server was made. 
The search was carried out using the names 
of the companies involved and the names 
of the suspects in the Italian proceedings. A 
folder named Novamed containing ninety 
files was found plus one further file contain-
ing one of the search items. All the data were 
copied to disks. In addition, the deleted items 
were retrieved and numerous files which cor-
responded to the search items were found and 
also copied to disks.

13. On 13 October 2000 the investigating judge 
opened the sealed documents in the presence 
of the first applicant. Some documents were 
copied and added to the file while others were 
returned to the first applicant on the ground 
that their use would impinge on the first ap-
plicant's duty of professional secrecy.

14. The disks containing the secured data were 
transmitted to the Economic Police where all 
the files were printed out. Both the disks and 
print-outs were then handed over to the inves-
tigating judge.

B. The applicants' complaint to the Review 
Chamber

15. On 28 November 2000 the first applicant, and 
on 11 December 2000 the applicant company, 
lodged complaints with the Review Chamber 
(Ratskammer) of the Salzburg Regional Court.

16. They submitted that the first applicant was the 
owner and manager of the applicant company 

but also the lawyer of a number of companies 
in which the latter held shares. They com-
plained that the search of their premises and 
the seizure of electronic data had infringed the 
first applicant's right and duty of professional 
secrecy under section 9 of the Lawyers Act 
(Rechtsanwaltsordnung) in conjunction with 
Article 152 of the Code of Criminal Procedure 
as some officers had proceeded unobserved 
to examine and subsequently copy electronic 
data. The applicants submitted that the data 
contained the same information as the docu-
ments which had been examined in the pres-
ence of the first applicant. However, with re-
gard to the electronic data, the first applicant 
had not been given an opportunity to object 
and have the disks sealed.

17. They further submitted that the search report 
did not mention that part of the search, nor 
did it mention which electronic data had been 
copied and seized. Furthermore, the search re-
port had only been signed by three of the of-
ficers, but did not mention the names of all the 
officers who had been present at the search, 
omitting in particular the names of the data 
securing experts of the Federal Ministry for the 
Interior.

18. On 31 January 2001 the Review Chamber dis-
missed the applicants' complaints.

19. It observed that the first applicant's computer 
data had been searched with the aid of particu-
lar search criteria. Files which corresponded to 
these search criteria had been copied to disks 
which had been seized.

20. However, there was no ground for holding 
that this seizure circumvented Article 152 of 
the Code of Criminal Procedure: the search of 
the first applicant's law office concerned exclu-
sively documents which the first applicant had 
in his possession as an organ of Novamed and 
Bicos, and therefore did not concern a lawyer-
client relationship.

21. It further observed that the search of the first 
applicant's law office was based on a law-
ful search warrant which included the search 
and seizure of electronic data. The procedural 
safeguards laid down in Article 145 of the Code 
of Criminal Procedure, namely the right of the 
person concerned to object to an immediate 
examination and to request the deposit of data 
seized with the Regional Court and a decision 
by the Review Chamber, also applied to the 
search of electronic data.
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22. In the present case, however, the officers had, 
whenever asked, complied with the first appli-
cant's requests to seal certain documents and 
deposit them with the Regional Court. Some 
of these documents had been returned by the 
court in order to ensure compliance with the 
applicant's duty of professional secrecy.

23. It therefore concluded that the applicants' 
complaints were unfounded. The Review 
Chamber's decision was served on 7 February 
2001.

C. The applicants' complaint to the Salzburg 
Independent Administrative Panel

24. In the meantime, on 20 November and on 21 
November 2000 respectively, the applicants 
lodged complaints with the Salzburg Inde-
pendent Administrative Panel (Unabhängiger 
Verwaltungssenat). They submitted that the 
search and seizure of electronic data in the first 
applicant's office had been unlawful.

25. On 2 April, 11 June and 11 July 2001 the In-
dependent Administrative Panel held public 
hearings at which it heard evidence from a 
number of witnesses.

The IT specialist in charge of the first appli-
cant's computer facilities said that he had been 
called and had arrived at the office when the 
search of the premises was already under way. 
He had left again after half an hour. The officer 
in charge of the search stated that the first ap-
plicant had been informed about the search of 
his computer data. Two other officers stated 
that the search of the first applicant's computer 
facilities had not been started until the arrival 
of his IT specialist and that the representative 
of the Bar Association had been temporarily 
present. This was confirmed by the representa-
tive of the Bar Association.

26. On 24 October 2001 the Salzburg Independent 
Administrative Panel rejected the applicants' 
complaints. It found that they concerned al-
leged breaches of certain provisions of the 
Code of Criminal Procedure regulating search-
es. The officers who had carried out the search 
had possibly not fully complied with these 
provisions. They had, however, acted on the 
basis of the search warrant and not exceeded 
the instructions of the investigating judge. The 
search was therefore imputable to the court. 
Consequently, a review of lawfulness did not 
fall within the competence of the Independent 
Administrative Panel.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

A. Provisions of the Code of Criminal 
Procedure relating to search and seizure

27. Articles 139 to 149 of the Code of Criminal 
Procedure concern the search of premises and 
persons and the seizure of objects.

28. Article 139 § 1 provides in particular that a 
search may only be carried out if there is a rea-
sonable suspicion that a person suspected of 
having committed an offence is hiding on the 
premises concerned, or that there are objects 
there the possession or examination of which 
is relevant to a particular criminal investigation.

29. Pursuant to Article 140 §§ 1 and 2 a search 
should in general only be carried out after the 
person concerned has been questioned, and 
only if the person sought has not come for-
ward of his or her own volition or the object or 
objects sought have not been voluntarily pro-
duced and if the reasons leading to the search 
have not been eliminated. No such question-
ing is required where there is danger in delay.

30. Article 140 § 3 states that a search may, as a 
rule, only be carried out on the basis of a rea-
soned search warrant issued by a judge.

31. Pursuant to Article 142 §§ 2 and 3 the occu-
pant of the premises subject to the search or, 
if he is unavailable, a relative of the occupant, 
shall be present during the search. A report is 
to be drawn up and to be signed by all those 
present.

32. Article 143 § 1 of the Code of Criminal Proce-
dure provides that, if objects relevant to the in-
vestigation or subject to forfeiture or confisca-
tion are found, they are to be listed and taken 
to the court for safekeeping or seized. It refers, 
in this respect, to Article 98, pursuant to which 
objects in safe-keeping have to be put into an 
envelope to be sealed by the court, or have a 
label attached so as to avoid any substitution 
or confusion.

33. Article 145 reads as follows:
“1.Whensearchingthroughdocumentssteps
must be taken to ensure that their content
does not become known to unauthorised
persons.

2. If the owner of the documents does not
want to permit their being searched, they
shallbesealedanddepositedwiththecourt;



201CASEOFWIESERANDBICOSBETEILIGUNGENGMBHVAUSTRIA

EC
J

EC
HR

theReviewChambermustdetermine imme-
diately whether they are to be examined or
returned.”

34. According to the courts' case-law, which is 
endorsed by the opinion of academic writers 
(see Bertl/Vernier, Grundriss des österreichis-
chen Strafprozessrechts, 7th edition), the pro-
visions relevant to the search and seizure of 
paper documents also apply mutatis mutandis 
to the search and seizure of electronic data. If 
the owner of disks or hard disks on which data 
is stored objects to their being searched, the 
data carriers are to be sealed and the Review 
Chamber must decide whether they may be 
examined.

B. Provisions relating to the professional 
secrecy of lawyers

35. Section 9 of the Austrian Lawyers Act regulates 
the professional duties of lawyers including, 
inter alia, the duty to maintain professional 
secrecy.

36. Article 152 § 1 of the Code of Criminal Proce-
dure exempts lawyers, notaries and business 
trustees from the obligation to give evidence 
as witnesses in respect of information given to 
them in the exercise of their profession.

37. It is established case-law that documents 
which contain information subject to profes-
sional secrecy may not be seized and used in a 
criminal investigation.

38. According to an instruction (Erlaß) of the Fed-
eral Minister of Justice of 21 July 1972, a rep-
resentative of the competent Bar Association 
shall be present during the search of a lawyer's 
office in order to ensure that the search does 
not encroach on professional secrecy.

C. Review by the Independent 
Administrative Panel

39. By virtue of section 67a(1) of the General Ad-
ministrative Procedure Act (Allgemeines Ver-
waltungsverfahrensgesetz), Independent Ad-
ministrative Panels have jurisdiction, inter alia, 
to examine complaints from persons alleging a 
violation of their rights resulting from the exer-
cise of direct administrative authority and coer-
cion (Ausübung unmittelbarer verwaltungsbe-
hördlicher Befehls- und Zwangsgewalt).

40. Where police officers execute a court warrant 
their acts are imputable to the court unless 
they act in clear excess of the powers conferred 
on them. Only in the latter case are their acts 

qualified as exercise of direct administrative au-
thority and coercion and subject to review by 
the Independent Administrative Panel.

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

41. The applicants complain about the search and 
seizure of electronic data. They rely on Article 8 
of the Convention which reads as follows:
“1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

A. Applicability of Article 8
42. The Government based their comments on the 

assumption that the search and seizure at issue 
interfered with the applicants' “private life” and 
“home”.

43. The Court reiterates that the search of a law-
yer's office has been regarded as interfering 
with “private life” and “correspondence” and, 
potentially, home, in the wider sense implied 
by the French text which uses the term “domi-
cile” (see Niemietz v. Germany, judgment of 
16 December 1992, Series A no. 251-B, pp. 
33-35, §§ 29-33, and Tamosius v. the United 
Kingdom (dec.), no. 62002/00 62002/00, ECHR 
2002-VIII; see also Petri Sallinen and Others v. 
Finnland, no. 50882/99 50882/99, § 71, 27 Sep-
tember 2005, which confirms that the search 
of a lawyer's business premises also interfered 
with his right to respect for his “home”). The 
search of a company's business premises was 
also found to interfere with its right to respect 
for its “home” (see Société Colas Est and Oth-
ers v. France, no. 37971/97, ECHR 2002-III, §§ 
40-42).

44. In the present case, the applicants do not 
complain about the search of their business 
premises, which are the first applicant's law of-
fice and the applicant company's seat nor do 
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they complain about the seizure of documents. 
They only complain in respect of the search 
and seizure of electronic data.

45. The Court considers that the search and sei-
zure of electronic data constituted an interfer-
ence with the applicants' right to respect for 
their “correspondence” within the meaning 
of Article 8 (see Niemietz, cited above, pp. 34-
35, § 32 as regards a lawyer's business cor-
respondence, and Petri Sallinen and Others, 
cited above, § 71, relating to the seizure of a 
lawyer's computer disks). Having regard to its 
above-cited case-law extending the notion of 
“home” to a company's business premises, the 
Court sees no reason to distinguish between 
the first applicant, who is a natural person, and 
the second applicant, which is a legal person, 
as regards the notion of “correspondence”. 
It does not consider it necessary to examine 
whether there was also an interference with 
the applicants' “private life”.

46. The Court must therefore determine whether 
the interference with the applicants' right to 
respect for their correspondence satisfied the 
requirements of paragraph 2 of Article 8.

B. Compliance with Article 8
1.Theparties'submissions

47. The Court observes at the outset that in its ad-
missibility decision of 16 May 2006 it joined the 
Government's objection as to non-exhaustion 
to the merits. The Government argued that the 
applicants had failed to make use of the possi-
bility, provided for in the Code of Criminal Pro-
cedure, to request that documents or data be 
sealed and deposited with the court in order 
to obtain a court decision on whether or not 
they may be used for the investigation. The ap-
plicants contested this view, arguing that the 
manner in which the search was carried out 
had deprived them of the possibility to make 
effective use of their rights.

48. On the merits, the applicants asserted that 
the search and seizure of electronic data had 
been disproportionate. They claimed that the 
first applicant was not only the manager of the 
applicant company but also its counsel and 
the counsel of Novamed. Thus the search had 
necessarily led to correspondence, for instance 
letters and file notes that the first applicant had 
made in his capacity as counsel. During the 
search of the paper documents all such docu-
ments had either been removed immediately 
or sealed and returned to the applicant by the 

investigating judge as being subject to profes-
sional secrecy. In contrast, the electronic data 
had been seized without observing the atten-
dant procedural guarantees. In this connection 
the applicants relied on the same arguments as 
submitted in respect of the issue of exhaustion 
of domestic remedies.

49. The applicants maintained that the applicant 
company's rights had also been infringed, since 
it had had no control over the kind of data that 
were seized. The search for the word Bicos had 
necessarily led to data unrelated to the subject 
defined in the search warrant. The procedural 
guarantees laid down in the Code of Criminal 
Procedure had not been complied with, since 
the applicant company had not been given the 
possibility to have the data sealed and to ob-
tain a decision by the investigating judge as to 
which data might be used for the investigation.

50. The Government noted at the outset that the 
applicants only complained about the search 
of electronic data and that their submissions 
essentially related to the first applicant's po-
sition as a lawyer and to the alleged lack of 
safeguards to protect his duty of professional 
secrecy, while the complaint as regards the ap-
plicant company remained unsubstantiated.

51. Referring to the Court's case-law, the Govern-
ment argued that the search and seizure of 
electronic data had a legal basis in the Code of 
Criminal Procedure and served legitimate aims, 
namely the prevention of crime and the pro-
tection of health.

52. As regards the necessity of the interference, 
the Government asserted that the search and 
seizure of the data had been proportionate 
to the legitimate aim pursued. The contested 
measures had been ordered by a judicial search 
warrant which had delimited their scope. 
Moreover, Austrian law contained specific pro-
cedural safeguards for the search of a lawyer's 
office. They had been complied with in that the 
search had taken place in the presence of the 
applicant and a representative of the Bar Asso-
ciation, whose role had been to ensure that the 
search did not encroach on the first applicant's 
duty of professional secrecy. In accordance 
with the search warrant, the first applicant's 
computer facilities had been searched with the 
help of certain key words, that is, the names of 
the firms involved, Novamed and Bicos, and 
the names of the suspects in the proceedings 
conducted in Italy. Since the first applicant 
was not the second applicant's counsel, their 
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lawyer-client relationship had not been af-
fected. Moreover, the representative of the Bar 
Association had been informed of the search of 
the first applicant's computer facilities and the 
search procedure documented in the data se-
curing report. The fact that the said report had 
not been drawn up during the search but later 
the same day was not decisive, since the main 
aim of recording which data had been seized 
had been achieved.

2.TheCourt'sassessment
(a)  In accordance with the law

53. The Court reiterates that an interference can-
not be regarded as “in accordance with the 
law” unless, first of all, it has some basis in do-
mestic law. In relation to Article 8 § 2 of the 
Convention, the term “law” is to be understood 
in its “substantive” sense, not in its “formal” 
one. In a sphere covered by the written law, 
the “law” is the enactment in force as the com-
petent courts have interpreted it (see Société 
Colas Est and Others, cited above, § 43, with 
further references, and Petri Sallinen and Oth-
ers, cited above, § 77).

54. The Austrian Code of Criminal Procedure does 
not contain specific provisions for the search 
and seizure of electronic data. However, it 
contains detailed provisions for the seizure of 
objects and, in addition, specific rules for the 
seizure of documents. It is established in the 
domestic courts' case-law that these provi-
sions also apply to the search and seizure of 
electronic data (see paragraph 34 above). In 
fact, the applicants do not contest that the 
measures complained of had a basis in domes-
tic law.

(b)  Legitimate aim

55. The Court observes that the search and sei-
zure was ordered in the context of criminal 
proceedings against third persons suspected 
of illegal trade in medicaments. It therefore 
served a legitimate aim, namely, the preven-
tion of crime.

(c)  Necessary in a democratic society

56. The parties' submissions concentrated on the 
necessity of the interference and in particular 
on the question whether the measures were 
proportionate to the legitimate aim pursued 
and whether the procedural safeguards pro-
vided for by the Code of Criminal Procedure 
were adequately complied with.

57. In comparable cases, the Court has examined 
whether domestic law and practice afforded 
adequate and effective safeguards against 
any abuse and arbitrariness (see, for instance, 
Société Colas Est and Others, cited above, § 
48). Elements taken into consideration are, in 
particular, whether the search was based on a 
warrant issued by a judge and based on rea-
sonable suspicion, whether the scope of the 
warrant was reasonably limited and – where 
the search of a lawyer's office was concerned 
– whether the search was carried out in the 
presence of an independent observer in order 
to ensure that materials subject to professional 
secrecy were not removed (see Niemietz, cited 
above, p. 36, § 37, and Tamosius, cited above).

58. In the present case, the search of the applicants' 
computer facilities was based on a warrant is-
sued by the investigating judge in the context 
of legal assistance for the Italian authorities 
which were conducting criminal proceedings 
for illegal trade in medicaments against a num-
ber of companies and individuals. It relied on 
the fact that invoices addressed to Novamed, 
100% owned by the applicant company, had 
been found. In these circumstances, the Court 
is satisfied that the search warrant was based 
on reasonable suspicion.

59. The Court also finds that the search warrant 
limited the documents or data to be looked 
for in a reasonable manner, by describing them 
as any business documents revealing contacts 
with the suspects in the Italian proceedings. 
The search remained within these limits, since 
the officers searched for documents or data 
containing either the word Novamed or Bicos 
or the name of any of the suspects.

60. Moreover, the Code of Criminal Procedure pro-
vides further procedural safeguards as regards 
the seizure of documents and electronic data. 
The Court notes the following provisions of the 
Code:

(a) The occupant of premises searched shall be 
present;

(b) A report is to be drawn up at the end of the 
search and items seized are to be listed;

(c) If the owner objects to the seizure of docu-
ments or data carriers they are to be sealed 
and put before the judge for a decision as 
to whether or not they are to be used for 
the investigation; and

(d) In addition, as far as the search of a lawyer's 
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office is concerned, the presence of a repre-
sentative of the Bar Association is required.

61. The applicants' claim is not that the guaran-
tees provided by Austrian law are insufficient 
but that they were not complied with in the 
present case as regards the seizure of data. 
The Court notes that a number of officers car-
ried out the search of the applicants' premises. 
While one group proceeded to the seizure of 
documents, the second group searched the 
computer system using certain search criteria 
and seized data by copying numerous files to 
disks.

62. The Court observes that the safeguards de-
scribed above were fully complied with as re-
gards the seizure of documents: whenever the 
representative of the Bar Association objected 
to the seizure of a particular document, it was 
sealed. A few days later the investigating judge 
decided in the presence of the applicant which 
files were subject to professional secrecy and 
returned a number of them to the applicant on 
this ground. In fact, the applicants do not com-
plain in this respect.

63. What is striking in the present case is that the 
same safeguards were not observed as regards 
the electronic data. A number of factors show 
that the exercise of the applicants' rights in this 
respect was restricted. First, the member of the 
Bar Association, though temporarily present 
during the search of the computer facilities, 
was mainly busy supervising the seizure of 
documents and could therefore not properly 
exercise his supervisory function as regards 
the electronic data. Second, the report setting 
out which search criteria had been applied and 
which files had been copied and seized was 
not drawn up at the end of the search but only 
later the same day. Moreover, the officers ap-
parently left once they had finished their task 
without informing the first applicant or the 
representative of the Bar Association of the re-
sults of the search.

64. It is true that the first applicant could have re-
quested, in a global manner at the beginning 
of the search, to have any disks with copied 
data sealed and submitted to the investigat-
ing judge. However, since the Code of Criminal 
Procedure provides for a report to be drawn 
up at the end of the search, and requires that 
the items seized be listed, he could expect that 
procedure to be followed. Since this was not 
the case he had no opportunity to exercise his 
rights effectively. Consequently, the Govern-

ment's objection of non-exhaustion has to be 
dismissed.

65. With regard to the first applicant this manner 
of carrying out the search incurred the risk of 
impinging on his right to professional secrecy. 
The Court has attached particular weight to 
that risk since it may have repercussions on the 
proper administration of justice (see Niemietz, 
cited above, p. 36, § 37). The domestic au-
thorities and the Government argued that the 
first applicant was not the applicant company's 
counsel and that the data seized did not con-
cern their client-lawyer relationship. It is true 
that the first applicant, contrary to his submis-
sions before the Court, did not claim before the 
domestic authorities that he was the applicant 
company's counsel, nor that he was the coun-
sel of Novamed. However, he claimed through-
out the proceedings that he acted as counsel 
for numerous companies whose shares were 
held by the second applicant. Moreover, the 
Government did not contest the applicants' 
assertion that the electronic data seized con-
tained by and large the same information as 
the paper documents seized, some of which 
were returned to the first applicant by the in-
vestigating judge as being subject to profes-
sional secrecy. It can therefore be reasonably 
assumed that the electronic data seized also 
contained such information.

66. In conclusion, the Court finds that the police 
officers' failure to comply with some of the 
procedural safeguards designed to prevent 
any abuse or arbitrariness and to protect the 
lawyer's duty of professional secrecy rendered 
the search and seizure of the first applicant's 
electronic data disproportionate to the legiti-
mate aim pursued.

67. Furthermore, the Court observes that a law-
yer's duty of professional secrecy also serves to 
protect the client. Having regard to its above 
findings that the first applicant represented 
companies whose shares were held by the 
second applicant and that the data seized 
contained some information subject to pro-
fessional secrecy, the Court sees no reason to 
come to a different conclusion as regards the 
second applicant.

68. Consequently, there has been a violation of Ar-
ticle 8 in respect of both applicants.
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II. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

69. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage
70. Under the head of pecuniary damage, the first 

applicant claimed 4,000 euros (EUR) per year 
starting with the year 2000 for loss of clients. He 
submitted that he was unable to adduce proof 
without breaching his duty of professional 
secrecy. Moreover, he claimed EUR 10,000 as 
compensation for non-pecuniary damage 
since his reputation as a lawyer had suffered as 
a result of the events.

71. The applicant company claimed EUR 20,211.56 
in compensation for pecuniary damage. It as-
serted that, being a holding company, its name 
had been ruined by the seizure of the data. 
Consequently, it had had to be newly estab-
lished under another name and had therefore 
had to raise EUR 17,500 for the nominal capi-
tal of the new company and to pay costs of 
EUR 2,711.56 for the legal acts involved. It did 
not submit a claim in respect of non-pecuniary 
damage.

72. The Government asserted that there was no 
causal link between the violation at issue and 
the pecuniary damage alleged by the appli-
cants.

73. With regard to the applicants' claims in respect 
of pecuniary damage, the Court observes that 
it cannot speculate as to what the effects on 
the applicants' reputation would have been 
had the search and seizure of electronic data 
been carried out in compliance with the re-
quirements of Article 8 (see, mutatis mutandis, 
Société Colas Est and Others, cited above, § 
54). Consequently, it makes no award under 
this head.

74. However, the Court accepts that the first appli-
cant has suffered non-pecuniary damage, such 
as distress and frustration resulting from the 
manner in which the search and seizure of data 
were carried out. Making an assessment on an 
equitable basis and having regard to the sum 

awarded in a comparable case (see Petri Sal-
linen and Others, cited above, § 114) it grants 
the first applicant EUR 2,500 under the head of 
non-pecuniary damage.

B. Costs and expenses
75. The first applicant claimed a total amount of 

EUR 15,967.15 for costs and expenses, com-
posed of EUR 9,204.52 in respect of the domes-
tic proceedings and EUR 6,762.63 in respect 
of the Convention proceedings. These sums 
include value-added tax (VAT).

76. The Government accepted that the costs listed 
in respect of the domestic proceedings were 
necessarily incurred. However, they submit-
ted that the amounts claimed were excessive 
since they were not in accordance with the 
relevant domestic laws and regulations on 
the remuneration of lawyers. In particular, only 
an amount of EUR 1,486.80 – instead of the 
EUR 4,858 claimed – was due in respect of the 
proceedings before the Salzburg Independent 
Administrative Panel. Moreover, the Govern-
ment argued that the costs claimed in respect 
of the Convention proceedings were excessive. 
Only an amount of EUR 2,289.96 was appropri-
ate.

77. The Court reiterates that if it finds that there 
has been a violation of the Convention, it may 
award the applicant the costs and expenses of 
the domestic proceedings which were neces-
sarily incurred in order to prevent or redress 
the violation and are reasonable as to quantum 
(see Société Colas Est and Others, cited above, 
§ 56).

78. The Court notes that it is not contested that the 
costs claimed by the first applicant were neces-
sarily incurred. However, it considers that the 
sums claimed are not reasonable as to quan-
tum. Regard being had to the information in its 
possession and to the sums awarded in com-
parable cases, the Court considers it reason-
able to award the sum of EUR 10,000 covering 
costs under all heads. This sum includes VAT.

C. Default interest
79. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.
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FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT

1. Dismisses unanimously the Government's 
preliminary objection as to non-exhaustion of 
domestic remedies;

2. Holds unanimously that there has been a vio-
lation of Article 8 of the Convention in respect 
of the first applicant;

3. Holds by four votes to three that there has 
been a violation of Article 8 of the Convention 
in respect of the second applicant;

4. Holds unanimously

(a) that the respondent State is to pay the first 
applicant, within three months from the 
date on which the judgment becomes fi-
nal in accordance with Article 44 § 2 of the 
Convention, EuR 2,500 (two thousand five 
hundred euros) in respect of non-pecuni-
ary damage and EuR 10,000 (ten thousand 
euros) in respect of costs and expenses;

(b) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amounts at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

5. Dismisses unanimously the remainder of the 
applicants' claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 16 Oc-
tober 2007, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the 
Rules of Court.

T.L. Early, Registrar
Nicolas Bratza, President

In accordance with Article 45 § 2 of the Conven-
tion and Rule 74 § 2 of the Rules of Court, the joint 
partly dissenting opinion of Sir Nicolas Bratza, Mr 
Casadevall and Ms Mijović is annexed to this judg-
ment.

JoInt PARtLY 
DIssEntInG oPInIon oF  
JUDGEs BRAtZA, 
CAsADEVALL AnD 
MIJoVIć
While in full agreement that the first applicant's 
rights under Article 8 were violated in the present 
case, we take a different view as regards the second 
applicant.

Although the first applicant was the owner and 
general manager of the applicant company and 
although the company had its seat at the first ap-
plicant's law office, he was not the counsel or le-
gal adviser of the company. It appears that the first 
applicant acted as legal adviser of certain of the 
companies owned by the second applicant. How-
ever, it has not been claimed that the search and 
seizure carried out in the first applicant's law office 
involved electronic data relating to any of the sub-
sidiary companies of which he was the legal advis-
er. In these circumstances, we are not satisfied that 
the applicant company may be said to have been 
affected by the absence of procedural safeguards 
designed to protect the lawyer-client relationship 
which have been found by the Court to give rise to 
a finding of a violation of Article 8 of the Conven-
tion.
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PRIVATE LIFE, INTERFERENCE, E-MAIL, INTERNET, SUR-
VEILLANCE, CORRESPONDENCE, MISUSE OF POWER, 
DEMOCRACY

IN THE CASE Of COPLAND v. THE uNITED KINGDOM,

The European Court of Human Rights (Fourth Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Mr J. Casadevall, President,  
Sir Nicolas Bratza,  
Mr G. Bonello,  
Mr R. Maruste,  
Mr S. Pavlovschi,  
Mr L. Garlicki,  
Mr J. Borrego Borrego, judges,  
and Mr T.L. Early, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 7 March 2006 and 
on 13 March 2007,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

62617/00 62617/00 ) against the United King-
dom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of the 
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Conven-
tion”) by Ms Lynette Copland.

2. The applicant was represented before the 
Court by Mr James Welch of Liberty, a non-
governmental civil rights organisation based 
in London. The United Kingdom Government 
(“the Government”) were represented by their 
Agent, Mr J. Grainger of the Foreign and Com-
monwealth Office.

3. The applicant complained about the monitor-
ing of her telephone calls, e-mail correspond-
ence and internet usage under Articles 8 and 
13.

4. By a decision of 7 March 2006, the Court de-
clared the application partly admissible.

5. The applicant, but not the Government, filed 
further written observations (Rule 59 § 1).

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

6. The applicant was born in 1950 and lives in Lla-
nelli, Wales.

7. In 1991 the applicant was employed by 
Carmarthenshire College (“the College”). The 
College is a statutory body administered by the 
State and possessing powers under sections 18 
and 19 of the Further and Higher Education Act 
1992 relating to the provision of further and 
higher education.

8. In 1995 the applicant became the personal 
assistant to the College Principal (“CP”) and 
from the end of 1995 she was required to work 
closely with the newly appointed Deputy Prin-
cipal (“DP”).

9. In about July 1998, whilst on annual leave, the 
applicant visited another campus of the Col-
lege with a male director. She subsequently 
became aware that the DP had contacted that 
campus to enquire about her visit and under-
stood that he was suggesting an improper re-
lationship between her and the director.

10. During her employment, the applicant's tel-
ephone, e-mail and internet usage were sub-
jected to monitoring at the DP's instigation. 
According to the Government, this monitoring 
took place in order to ascertain whether the ap-
plicant was making excessive use of College fa-
cilities for personal purposes. The Government 
stated that the monitoring of telephone usage 
consisted of analysis of the college telephone 
bills showing telephone numbers called, the 
dates and times of the calls and their length 
and cost. The applicant also believed that there 
had been detailed and comprehensive logging 
of the length of calls, the number of calls re-
ceived and made and the telephone numbers 
of individuals calling her. She stated that on at 
least one occasion the DP became aware of 
the name of an individual with whom she had 
exchanged incoming and outgoing telephone 
calls. The Government submitted that the 
monitoring of telephone usage took place for 
a few months up to about 22 November 1999. 
The applicant contended that her telephone 
usage was monitored over a period of about 
18 months until November 1999.

11. The applicant's internet usage was also moni-
tored by the DP. The Government accepted 
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that this monitoring took the form of analysing 
the web sites visited, the times and dates of the 
visits to the web sites and their duration and 
that this monitoring took place from October 
to November 1999. The applicant did not com-
ment on the manner in which her internet us-
age was monitored but submitted that it took 
place over a much longer period of time than 
the Government admit.

12. In November 1999 the applicant became 
aware that enquiries were being made into her 
use of e-mail at work when her step-daughter 
was contacted by the College and asked to 
supply information about e-mails that she had 
sent to the College. The applicant wrote to the 
CP to ask whether there was a general investi-
gation taking place or whether her e-mails only 
were being investigated. By an e-mail dated 24 
November 1999 the CP advised the applicant 
that, whilst all e-mail activity was logged, the 
information department of the College was 
investigating only her e-mails, following a re-
quest by the DP.

13. The Government submitted that monitoring of 
e-mails took the form of analysis of e-mail ad-
dresses and dates and times at which e-mails 
were sent and that the monitoring occurred 
for a few months prior to 22 November 1999. 
According to the applicant the monitoring of 
e-mails occurred for at least six months from 
May 1999 to November 1999. She provided 
documentary evidence in the form of printouts 
detailing her e-mail usage from 14 May 1999 to 
22 November 1999 which set out the date and 
time of e-mails sent from her e-mail account 
together with the recipients' e-mail addresses.

14. By a memorandum dated 29 November 1999 
the CP wrote to the DP to confirm the contents 
of a conversation they had had in the follow-
ing terms:
“To avoid ambiguity I felt it worthwhile to
confirmmyviewsexpressedtoyoulastweek,
regardingtheinvestigationof[theapplicant's]
e-mailtraffic.

Subsequent to [the applicant] becoming
aware that someone from [the College] had
beenfollowinguphere-mails,Ispoketo[ST]
who confirmed that this was true and had
been instigatedby yourself. Given the forth-
cominglegislationmakingitillegalfororgani-
sationstoexaminesomeone'se-mailwithout
permission, I naturally felt concerned over
recenteventsandinstructed[ST]nottocarry
outanyfurtheranalysis.Furthermore,Iasked
you to do likewise and asked that any infor-

mation you have of concern regarding [the
applicant]beforwardedtomeasamatterof
priority.Youindicatedthatyouwouldrespond
positivelytobothrequests,whilstre-affirming
yourconcernsregarding[theapplicant].”

15. There was no policy in force at the College at 
the material time regarding the monitoring of 
telephone, e-mail or internet use by employ-
ees.

16. In about March or April 2000 the applicant was 
informed by other members of staff at the Col-
lege that between 1996 and late 1999 several 
of her activities had been monitored by the 
DP or those acting on his behalf. The applicant 
also believed that people to whom she had 
made calls were in turn telephoned by the DP, 
or those acting on his behalf, to identify the 
callers and the purpose of the call. She further 
believed that the DP became aware of a legally 
privileged fax that was sent by herself to her so-
licitors and that her personal movements, both 
at work and when on annual or sick leave, were 
the subject of surveillance.

17. The applicant provided the Court with state-
ments from other members of staff alleging 
inappropriate and intrusive monitoring of their 
movements. The applicant, who is still em-
ployed by the College, understands that the 
DP has been suspended.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW

A. Law of privacy
18. At the relevant time there was no general right 

to privacy in English law.

19. Since the implementation of the Human Rights 
Act 1998 on 2 October 2000, the courts have 
been required to read and give effect to prima-
ry legislation in a manner which is compatible 
with Convention rights so far as possible. The 
Act also made it unlawful for any public author-
ity, including a court, to act in a manner which 
is incompatible with a Convention right unless 
required to do so by primary legislation, thus 
providing for the development of the common 
law in accordance with Convention rights. In 
the case of Douglas v Hello! Ltd ([2001] 1 WLR 
992), Sedley LJ indicated that he was prepared 
to find that there was a qualified right to pri-
vacy under English law, but the Court of Appeal 
did not rule on the point.

20. The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 (“the 2000 Act”) provided for the regu-
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lation of, inter alia, interception of commu-
nications. The Telecommunications (Lawful 
Business Practice) Regulations 2000 were 
promulgated under the 2000 Act and came 
into force on 24 October 2000. The Regulations 
set out the circumstances in which employers 
could record or monitor employees' commu-
nications (such as e-mail or telephone) with-
out the consent of either the employee or the 
other party to the communication. Employers 
were required to take reasonable steps to in-
form employees that their communications 
might be intercepted.

B. Contractual damages for breach of trust 
and confidence by employer

21. The House of Lords in Malik v Bank of Credit 
and Commerce International SA [1997] IRLR 
462 confirmed that, as a matter of law, a gen-
eral term is implied into each employment 
contract that an employer will not “without 
reasonable and proper cause, conduct itself in 
a manner calculated and likely to destroy or se-
riously damage the relationship of confidence 
and trust between employer and employee”. In 
Malik, the House of Lords was concerned with 
the award of so-called “stigma compensation” 
where an ex-employee is unable to find further 
employment due to association with a dishon-
est former employer. In considering the dam-
ages that could be awarded for breach of the 
obligation of trust and confidence, the House 
were solely concerned with the payment of 
compensation for financial loss resulting from 
handicap in the labour market. Lord Nicholls 
expressly noted that, “(f)or the present pur-
poses I am not concerned with the exclusion of 
damages for injured feelings, the present case 
is concerned only with financial loss.”

22. In limiting the scope of the implied term of 
trust and confidence in Malik, Lord Steyn stated 
as follows:
“the implied mutual obligation of trust and
confidenceappliesonlywherethereis'norea-
sonableandpropercause'fortheemployer's
conduct, and thenonly if theconduct is cal-
culated to destroy or seriously damage the
relationshipoftrustandconfidence.Thatcir-
cumscribes thepotential reachand scopeof
theimpliedobligation.”

C. Tort of misfeasance in public office
23. The tort of misfeasance in public office arises 

when a public official has either (a) exercised 
his power specifically intending to injure the 

plaintiff, or (b) acted in the knowledge of, or 
with reckless indifference to, the illegality of his 
act and in the knowledge or with reckless indif-
ference to the probability of causing injury to 
the claimant or a class of people of which the 
claimant is a member (Three Rivers D.C. v. Bank 
of England (No.3) (HL) [2000] WLR 1220).

D. Data Protection Act 1984
24. At the time of the acts complained of by the 

applicant, the Data Protection Act 1984 (“the 
1984 Act”) regulated the manner in which peo-
ple and organisations that held data, known as 
“data holders”, processed or used that data. It 
provided certain actionable remedies to indi-
viduals in the event of misuse of their personal 
data. The 1984 Act has now been replaced by 
the Data Protection Act 1998.

25. Section 1 of the 1984 Act defined its terms as 
follows:
“(2) 'Data' means information recorded in a
form inwhich it canbeprocessedbyequip-
mentoperatingautomatically in response to
instructionsgivenforthatpurpose.

(3) 'Personal data' means data consisting of
informationwhichrelatestoalivingindividual
who canbe identified from that information
(orfromthatandotherinformationinthepos-
sessionofthedatauser...)

(4) 'Datasubject'meansan individualwho is
thesubjectofpersonaldata.

(5)'Datauser'meansapersonwhoholdsdata,
andaperson'holds'dataif–

(a) thedata formpartof a collectionofdata
processedor intendedtobeprocessedbyor
onbehalfofthatpersonasmentionedinsub-
section(2)above;and

(b)thatperson...controlsthecontentsanduse
ofthedatacomprisedinthecollection;and

(c)thedataareintheforminwhichtheyhave
beenorareintendedtobeprocessedasmen-
tionedinparagraph(a)...

(7) 'Processing' in relation to data means
amending,augmenting,deletingorre-arrang-
ingthedataorextractingtheinformationcon-
stitutingthedataand,inthecaseofpersonal
data,means performing any of these opera-
tionsbyreferencetothedatasubject.

(9)'Disclosing'inrelationtodata,includesdis-
closinginformationextractedfromthedata...”

26. The “data protection principles” to be respect-
ed by data holders were set out in Part 1 to 
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Schedule 1 of the Act as follows:
“1.Theinformationtobecontainedinperson-
al data shall be obtained, and personal data
shallbeprocessed,fairlyandlawfully.

2.Personaldatashallbeheldonlyforoneor
morespecifiedandlawfulpurposes...

4.Personaldataheldforanypurposeshallbe
adequate, relevantandnotexcessive in rela-
tiontothatpurposeorthosepurposes.”

27. Section 23 of the 1984 Act provided rights to 
compensation for the data subject in the event 
of unauthorised disclosure of personal data:
“ (1)An individualwho is the subjectofper-
sonaldataheldbyadatauser...andwhosuf-
fersdamagebyreasonof-

(c)...thedisclosureofthedataor,accesshav-
ingbeenobtained to thedata,without such
authorityasaforesaid,

shall be entitled to compensation from the
datauser...forthatdamageandforanydistress
whichtheindividualhassufferedbyreasonof
the...disclosureoraccess.”

28. The 1984 Act also created the position of Data 
Protection Registrar, under a duty to promote 
the observance of the data protection prin-
ciples by data users. In section 10 it created a 
criminal offence as follows:
“(1)IftheRegistrarissatisfiedthataregistered
person has contravened or is contravening
anyof thedataprotectionprincipleshemay
servehimwithanotice('anenforcementno-
tice')requiringhimtotake...suchstepsasare
sospecified forcomplyingwith theprinciple
orprinciplesinquestion.

(2) In decidingwhether to serve an enforce-
ment notice, the Registrar shall consider
whether the contravention has caused or is
likelytocauseanypersondamageordistress.

...

(9) Any person who fails to comply with an
enforcement notice shall be guilty of an of-
fence...“

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

29. The applicant alleged that the monitoring ac-
tivity that took place amounted to an interfer-

ence with her right to respect for private life 
and correspondence under Article 8, which 
reads as follows:
“1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

30. The Government contested that argument.

A. The parties' submissions
1.TheGovernment

31. The Government accepted that the College 
was a public body for whose actions the State 
was directly responsible under the Convention.

32. Although there had been some monitor-
ing of the applicant's telephone calls, e-mails 
and internet usage prior to November 1999, 
this did not extend to the interception of tel-
ephone calls or the analysis of the content of 
websites visited by her. The monitoring thus 
amounted to nothing more than the analysis 
of automatically generated information to de-
termine whether College facilities had been 
used for personal purposes which, of itself, did 
not constitute a failure to respect private life or 
correspondence. The case of P.G. and J.H. v. the 
United Kingdom, no. 44787/98 44787/98, ECHR 
2001-IX, could be distinguished since there ac-
tual interception of telephone calls occurred. 
There were significant differences from the 
case of Halford v. the United Kingdom, judg-
ment of 25 June 1997, Reports of Judgments 
and Decisions 1997-III, where the applicant's 
telephone calls were intercepted on a tel-
ephone which had been designated for private 
use and, in particular her litigation against her 
employer.

33. In the event that the analysis of records of 
telephone, e-mail and internet use was con-
sidered to amount to an interference with 
respect for private life or correspondence, the 
Government contended that the interference 
was justified.

34. First, it pursued the legitimate aim of protect-
ing the rights and freedoms of others by en-
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suring that the facilities provided by a publicly 
funded employer were not abused. Secondly, 
the interference had a basis in domestic law 
in that the College, as a statutory body, whose 
powers enable it to provide further and higher 
education and to do anything necessary and 
expedient for those purposes, had the power 
to take reasonable control of its facilities to en-
sure that it was able to carry out its statutory 
functions. It was reasonably foreseeable that 
the facilities provided by a statutory body out 
of public funds could not be used excessively 
for personal purposes and that the College 
would undertake an analysis of its records to 
determine if there was any likelihood of per-
sonal use which needed to be investigated. 
In this respect, the situation was analogous 
to that in Peck v. the United Kingdom, no. 
44647/98 44647/98, ECHR 2003-I.

35. Finally, the acts had been necessary in a demo-
cratic society and were proportionate as any 
interference went no further than necessary to 
establish whether there had been such exces-
sive personal use of facilities as to merit inves-
tigation.

2.Theapplicant
36. The applicant did not accept that her e-mails 

were not read and that her telephone calls 
were not intercepted but contended that, even 
if the facts were as set out by the Government, 
it was evident that some monitoring activity 
took place amounting to an interference with 
her right to respect for private life and corre-
spondence.

37. She referred to legislation subsequent to the 
alleged violation, namely the Regulation of In-
vestigatory Powers Act 2000 and the Telecom-
munications Regulations 2000 (see paragraph 
20 above), which she claimed were an explicit 
recognition by the Government that such 
monitoring amounted to interference under 
Article 8 and required authorisation in order to 
be lawful. Since these laws came into force in 
2000, the legal basis for such interference post-
dated the events in the present case. Thus, the 
interference had no basis in domestic law and 
was entirely different from the position in Peck 
(see paragraph 34 above) where the local au-
thority was specifically empowered by statute 
to record visual images of events occurring in 
its area. In the present case there was no such 
express power for the College to carry out sur-
veillance on its employees and the statutory 
powers did not make such surveillance reason-

ably foreseeable.

38. The applicant asserted that the conduct of the 
College was neither necessary nor proportion-
ate. There were reasonable and less intrusive 
methods that the College could have used 
such as drafting and publishing a policy deal-
ing with the monitoring of employees' usage 
of the telephone, internet and e-mail.

B. The Court's assessment
39. The Court notes the Government's acceptance 

that the College is a public body for whose 
acts it is responsible for the purposes of the 
Convention. Thus, it considers that in the pre-
sent case the question to be analysed under 
Article 8 relates to the negative obligation on 
the State not to interfere with the private life 
and correspondence of the applicant and that 
no separate issue arises in relation to home or 
family life.

40. The Court further observes that the parties dis-
agree as to the nature of this monitoring and 
the period of time over which it took place. 
However, the Court does not consider it neces-
sary to enter into this dispute as an issue arises 
under Article 8 even on the facts as admitted 
by the Government.

1.Scopeofprivatelife
41. According to the Court's case-law, telephone 

calls from business premises are prima facie 
covered by the notions of “private life” and 
“correspondence” for the purposes of Article 8 
§ 1 (see Halford, cited above, § 44 and Amann 
v. Switzerland [GC], no. 27798/95, § 43, ECHR 
2000-II). It follows logically that e-mails sent 
from work should be similarly protected under 
Article 8, as should information derived from 
the monitoring of personal internet usage.

42. The applicant in the present case had been 
given no warning that her calls would be liable 
to monitoring, therefore she had a reasonable 
expectation as to the privacy of calls made 
from her work telephone (see Halford, § 45). 
The same expectation should apply in relation 
to the applicant's e-mail and internet usage.

2.Whethertherewasanyinterferencewith
therightsguaranteedunderArticle8.

43. The Court recalls that the use of information 
relating to the date and length of telephone 
conversations and in particular the numbers 
dialled can give rise to an issue under Article 
8 as such information constitutes an “integral 
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element of the communications made by tel-
ephone” (see Malone v. the United Kingdom, 
judgment of 2 August 1984, Series A no. 82, § 
84). The mere fact that these data may have 
been legitimately obtained by the College, in 
the form of telephone bills, is no bar to finding 
an interference with rights guaranteed under 
Article 8 (ibid). Moreover, storing of personal 
data relating to the private life of an individual 
also falls within the application of Article 8 § 
1 (see Amann, cited above, § 65). Thus, it is ir-
relevant that the data held by the college were 
not disclosed or used against the applicant in 
disciplinary or other proceedings.

44. Accordingly, the Court considers that the col-
lection and storage of personal information 
relating to the applicant's telephone, as well as 
to her e-mail and internet usage, without her 
knowledge, amounted to an interference with 
her right to respect for her private life and cor-
respondence within the meaning of Article 8.

3.Whethertheinterferencewas“in
accordancewiththelaw”

45. The Court recalls that it is well established in 
the case-law that the term “in accordance with 
the law” implies - and this follows from the ob-
ject and purpose of Article 8 - that there must 
be a measure of legal protection in domestic 
law against arbitrary interferences by public 
authorities with the rights safeguarded by Ar-
ticle 8 § 1. This is all the more so in areas such 
as the monitoring in question, in view of the 
lack of public scrutiny and the risk of misuse of 
power (see Halford, cited above, § 49).

46. This expression not only requires compliance 
with domestic law, but also relates to the 
quality of that law, requiring it to be compat-
ible with the rule of law (see, inter alia, Khan 
v. the United Kingdom, judgment of 12 May 
2000, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 
2000-V, § 26; P.G. and J.H. v. the United King-
dom, cited above, § 44). In order to fulfil the 
requirement of foreseeability, the law must be 
sufficiently clear in its terms to give individuals 
an adequate indication as to the circumstances 
in which and the conditions on which the au-
thorities are empowered to resort to any such 
measures (see Halford, cited above, § 49 and 
Malone, cited above, § 67).

47. The Court is not convinced by the Govern-
ment's submission that the College was au-
thorised under its statutory powers to do “any-
thing necessary or expedient” for the purposes 
of providing higher and further education, and 

finds the argument unpersuasive. Moreover, 
the Government do not seek to argue that 
any provisions existed at the relevant time, 
either in general domestic law or in the gov-
erning instruments of the College, regulating 
the circumstances in which employers could 
monitor the use of telephone, e-mail and the 
internet by employees. Furthermore, it is clear 
that the Telecommunications (Lawful Business 
Practice) Regulations 2000 (adopted under the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000) 
which make such provision were not in force 
at the relevant time.

48. Accordingly, as there was no domestic law 
regulating monitoring at the relevant time, the 
interference in this case was not “in accordance 
with the law” as required by Article 8 § 2 of 
the Convention. The Court would not exclude 
that the monitoring of an employee's use of 
a telephone, e-mail or internet at the place of 
work may be considered “necessary in a demo-
cratic society” in certain situations in pursuit 
of a legitimate aim. However, having regard 
to its above conclusion, it is not necessary to 
pronounce on that matter in the instant case.

49.  There has therefore been a violation of Article 
8 in this regard.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
13 IN CONJUNCTION WITH 
ARTICLE 8 OF THE CONVENTION

50. The applicant submitted that no effective 
domestic remedy existed for the breaches of 
Article 8 of which she complained and that, 
consequently, there had also been a violation 
of Article 13 which provides as follows:
“Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [the] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity.”

51. Having regard to its decision on Article 8 (see 
paragraph 48 above), the Court does not con-
sider it necessary to examine the applicant's 
complaint also under Article 13.

III. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

52. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
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violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage
53. The applicant made no claim for pecuniary 

damage but without quantifying an amount, 
claimed non-pecuniary loss for stress, anxiety, 
low mood and inability to sleep. She produced 
a medical report dated June 2006 recognising 
that she had suffered from stress and lack of 
sleep due to the work environment.

54. The Government submitted that the report 
presented by the applicant gave no indica-
tion that the stress complained of was caused 
by the facts giving rise to her complaint. Fur-
thermore, as the Court had held in a number 
of cases relating to complaints involving the 
interception of the communications of sus-
pected criminals by the police, in their view, a 
finding of a violation should in itself constitute 
sufficient just satisfaction (see Taylor-Sabori v. 
the United Kingdom, no. 47114/99 47114/99, 
§ 28, 22 October 2002, Hewitson v. the United 
Kingdom, no. 50015/99 50015/99, § 25, 27 
May 2003 and Chalkley v. the United Kingdom, 
no. 63831/00 63831/00, § 32, 12 June 2003). 
Moreover, since the conduct alleged consisted 
of monitoring and not interception, the nature 
of such interference was of a significantly lower 
order of seriousness than the cases mentioned 
above.

55. The Court notes the above cases cited by the 
Government, but recalls also that, in Halford 
(cited above, § 76) which concerned the in-
terception of an employee's private telephone 
calls by her employer, it awarded GBP 10,000 
in respect of non-pecuniary damage. Making 
an assessment on an equitable basis in the 
present case, the Court awards the applicant 
EUR 3,000 in respect of non-pecuniary damage.

B. Costs and expenses
56. The applicant claimed legal costs and expens-

es totalling GBP 9,363 inclusive of value-added 
tax. This included fees paid to a solicitor and 
trainee solicitor of GBP 7,171.62, disbursements 
of GBP 1,556.88 and the rest in anticipated fu-
ture costs.

57. The Government submitted that the hourly 
rates charged by the solicitors and the rate 
of increase over the period during which the 

case was pending were excessive. Moreover, 
the applicant's original application included 
a number of complaints which the Court de-
clared inadmissible and therefore the portion 
of costs related to such claims should not be 
recoverable. In the Government's view the sum 
of GBP 2,000 would adequately cover costs and 
expenses incurred.

58. According to its settled case-law, the Court will 
award costs and expenses in so far as these re-
late to the violation found and to the extent to 
which they have been actually and necessar-
ily incurred and are reasonable as to quantum 
(see, among other authorities, Schouten and 
Meldrum v. the Netherlands, judgment of 9 De-
cember 1994, Series A no. 304, pp. 28-29, § 78 
and Lorsé and Others v. the Netherlands, no. 
52750/99 52750/99, § 103, 4 February 2003). 
Taking into account all the circumstances, it 
awards the applicant EUR 6,000 for legal costs 
and expenses, in addition to any VAT that may 
be payable.

C. Default interest
59. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that there has been a violation of Arti-
cle 8 of the Convention;

2. Holds that it is not necessary to examine the 
case under Article 13 of the Convention.

3. Holds

(a) that the respondent State is to pay the 
applicant, within three months from the 
date on which the judgment becomes fi-
nal in accordance with Article 44 § 2 of the 
Convention, the following amounts, to be 
converted into pounds sterling at the rate 
applicable at the time of settlement:

(i) EuR 3,000 (three thousand euros) in 
respect of non-pecuniary damage;

(ii) EuR 6,000 (six thousand euros) in re-
spect of costs and expenses;

(iii) any tax that may be chargeable on the 
above amounts;
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(b) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amount at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

4. Dismisses the remainder of the applicant's 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 3 April 
2007, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the Rules 
of Court.

T.L. Early, Registrar
Josep Casadevall, President
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COMPUTER, SEIZURE, CONFISCATION, PRIVATE LIFE, 
PROPERTY, PREVENTION OF DISORDER, PUBLIC SAFETY, 
EVIDENCE

IN THE CASE Of SMIRNOv v. RuSSIA,

The European Court of Human Rights (First Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:

Mr C.L. Rozakis, President, 
Mr A. Kovler, 
Mrs E. Steiner, 
Mr K. Hajiyev, 
Mr D. Spielmann, 
Mr S.E. Jebens, 
Mr G. Malinverni, judges, 
and Mr S. Nielsen, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 15 May 2007,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

71362/01) against the Russian Federation 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of 
the Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Con-
vention”) by a Russian national, Mr Mikhail 
Vladimirovich Smirnov (“the applicant”), on 27 
November 2000.

2. The Russian Government (“the Government”) 
were represented by Mr P. Laptev, Representa-
tive of the Russian Federation at the European 
Court of Human Rights.

3. The applicant alleged, in particular, a violation 
of the right to respect for his home and the 
right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions as 
regards the search at his place of residence and 
the retention of his computer. He also claimed 
that he did not have an effective remedy in re-
spect of the latter complaint.

4. By a decision of 30 June 2005 the Court de-
clared the application partly admissible.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

5. The applicant was born in 1956 and lives in 
St Petersburg. The applicant is a lawyer; at 
the material time he was a member of the 
St Petersburg United Bar Association (Санкт-
Петербургская объединенная коллегия 
адвокатов).

A. Search at the applicant's home
6. On 20 January 1999 the St Petersburg City 

Prosecutor opened criminal case no. 7806 
against Mr Sh., Mr G. and fifteen other persons 
who were suspected of forming and participat-
ing in an organised criminal enterprise and of 
other serious offences.

7. On 7 March 2000 Mr D., an investigator with 
the Serious Crimes Department in the prosecu-
tor's office, issued a search warrant which read 
in its entirety as follows:
“Taking intoaccount that at the [applicant's]
place of residence at the address [the appli-
cant'shomeaddress] theremightbeobjects
anddocumentsthatareofinterestforthein-
vestigationofcriminalcase[no.7806],Iordera
searchofthepremisesattheaddress[theap-
plicant'shomeaddress]where[theapplicant]
permanentlyresidesandtheseizureofobjects
anddocumentsfoundduringthesearch.”

8. On the same day a St Petersburg deputy pros-
ecutor approved the search and countersigned 
the warrant.

9. The Government claimed that the applicant 
had not been a party to criminal case no. 7806 
and had not represented anyone involved. The 
applicant maintained that he had been a rep-
resentative of:

(a) Mr S., who had been first a suspect and later 
a witness in criminal case no. 7806. On 21 
February 2000 the applicant had repre-
sented Mr S. before the Oktyabrskiy Court 
of St Petersburg in proceedings concerning 
a complaint about a decision by the inves-
tigator D. The applicant had also been S.'s 
representative in unrelated civil proceed-
ings on the basis of an authority form of 25 
May 1999;

(b) Mr Yu., who had been a defendant in crimi-
nal case no. 7806 and whom the applicant 
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had represented from 10 July to 25 Decem-
ber 1998;

(c) Mr B., who had been the victim in a crimi-
nal case concerning the murder of his son. 
Subsequently that case had been joined 
to criminal case no. 7806. The applicant 
had represented Mr B. from 11 February to 
23 March 2000;

(d) Mr Sh., who had been a defendant in crimi-
nal case no. 7806 and whom the applicant 
had represented before the Court (applica-
tion no. 29392/02).

10. On 9 March 2000 the investigator D., in the 
presence of the applicant, assisted by police 
officers from the Organised Crime District 
Directorate (РУБОП) and two attesting wit-
nesses (понятые), searched the applicant's flat. 
According to the record of the search, the ap-
plicant was invited to “voluntarily hand over... 
documents relating to the public company T. 
and the federal industrial group R.”. The ap-
plicant responded that he had no such docu-
ments and countersigned under that state-
ment.

11. The investigator found and seized over twenty 
documents which the applicant declared to 
be his own and the central unit of the appli-
cant's computer. According to the record of 
the search, the applicant had no complaints 
about the way the search was carried out, yet 
he objected to the seizure of the central unit 
because it contained two hard disks and was 
worth 1,000 United States dollars. The seized 
documents included, in particular, Mr S.'s pow-
er of attorney of 25 May 1999 and extracts of a 
memorandum in Mr B.'s case.

12. On the same date the investigator D. held a for-
mal interview with the applicant in connection 
with criminal case no. 7806.

13. On 17 March 2000 the investigator L. issued 
an order for the attachment of the documents 
seized at the applicant's flat and the central 
unit of his computer as “physical evidence” in 
criminal case no. 7806.

B. Judicial review of the search and seizure 
orders

14. The applicant complained to a court. He 
sought to have the search and seizure of the 
documents declared unlawful. He claimed, in 
particular, that the central unit of the comput-
er, his personal notebook and his clients' files 

and records were not related to the criminal 
case and could not be attached as evidence 
because the seizure had impaired his clients' 
defence rights.

15. On 19 April 2000 the Oktyabrskiy Court of the 
Admiralteyskiy District of St Petersburg heard 
the applicant's complaint. The court found that 
the search had been approved and carried out 
in accordance with the applicable provisions of 
the domestic law and had therefore been law-
ful. As to the attachment of the computer, the 
court ruled as follows:
“...the purpose of the searchwas to find ob-
jects and documents in connection with a
criminalcase.Duringthesearchanumberof
documentsandacomputercentralunitwere
seized;theywerethoroughlyexaminedbythe
investigator, as is evident from the recordof
theexaminationoftheseizeditemsandprint-
outsofthefilescontainedinthecentralunit.

Accordingly, the above shows that the aim
of the search has been achieved; however,
the order to attach the seized objects and
documents as evidence in the criminal case
amounts to the forfeitureof the [applicant's]
propertywhichwastakenfromhimandnever
returned,whereas[theapplicant]wasneither
asuspectnoradefendantinthecriminalcase
andwasinterviewedasawitness.

Undersuchcircumstances, theconstitutional
rightsof theapplicant,whowasdeprivedof
his property,were violated.Having achieved
the purpose of the search and recorded the
resultsreceived,theinvestigator,withoutany
validandlawfulgrounds,declared[theappli-
cant'sproperty]tobephysicalevidence...”

16. The District Court ordered that the applicant's 
documents, his notebook and the central unit 
be returned to 

17. On 25 May 2000 the St Petersburg City Court 
quashed the judgment of 19 April 2000 and 
remitted the case for a fresh examination by 
a differently composed court. The City Court 
pointed out that the first-instance court had 
erroneously considered that the order for the 
attachment of objects as evidence amounted 
to the forfeiture of the applicant's property.

18. On 6 June 2000 the investigator returned the 
notebook and certain documents, but not the 
computer, to the applicant.

19. On 2 August 2000 the applicant brought a civil 
action against the St Petersburg City Prosecu-
tor's Office and the Ministry of Finance, seeking 
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compensation for the non-pecuniary damage 
incurred as a result of the seizure of his belong-
ings.

20. On 17 August 2000 the Oktyabrskiy Court of 
St Petersburg held a new hearing on the ap-
plicant's complaint. The court ruled that the 
search of the applicant's flat had been justi-
fied and lawful and that the remainder of the 
applicant's complaints were not amenable to 
judicial review.

21. On 12 September 2000 the St Petersburg City 
Court quashed the judgment of 17 August 
2000 and remitted the case for a fresh exami-
nation by a differently composed court. The 
City Court found that the first-instance court 
had failed to examine, in a sufficiently thor-
ough manner, whether the investigator had 
had sufficient grounds to search the flat of a 
person who had not been charged with any 
criminal offence.

22. On 17 November 2000 the Oktyabrskiy Court 
of St Petersburg delivered the final judgment 
on the applicant's complaint. As regards the 
lawfulness of the search, the court found as 
follows:
“Thesearchwarrantwasissuedbecausethere
were sufficient reasons [to believe] that [at
the applicant's home address] where [the
applicant] lived there could be objects and
documentsthatcouldbeusedasevidencein
connectionwithoneofthecountsincriminal
case no. 7806. This fact was established by
the court and confirmed by thematerials in
thecasefile, inparticular,astatementbythe
investigator D[.] of 16 November 2000, the
decisiontobringchargesof22February1999,
the decision to lodge an application for an
extensionofdetentionon remandof10July
[?-unclear]2000,letterno.200409of22Sep-
tember 1998 and other materials; therefore,
the court comes to the conclusion that the
searchin[theapplicant's]flatwasjustifiedun-
derArticle168oftheRSFSRCodeofCriminal
Procedure...”

23. The court further established that the search 
had been carried out in strict compliance with 
the laws on criminal procedure. As regards the 
remainder of the applicant's claims, the court 
decided that it was not competent to examine 
them, but that it was open to the applicant to 
complain about the investigator's decisions to 
a supervising prosecutor.

24. On 19 December 2000 the St Petersburg City 
Court dismissed an appeal by the applicant. 

It upheld the District Court's finding that the 
search at the applicant's flat had been justified 
and procedurally correct and that the order to 
attach objects as evidence was not amenable 
to judicial review because such an avenue of 
appeal was not provided for in domestic law.

25. The applicant's civil claim for damages has not 
been examined to date.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

A. Searches at a person's home
26. Article 25 of the Constitution establishes that 

the home is inviolable. No one may penetrate 
into the home against the wishes of those who 
live there unless otherwise provided for in a 
federal law or a judicial decision.

27. The RSFSR Code of Criminal Procedure, in 
force at the material time, provided in Article 
168 (“Grounds for carrying out a search”) that 
an investigator could carry out a search to find 
objects and documents that were of relevance 
to the case, provided that he had sufficient 
grounds to believe that such objects and docu-
ments could be found in a specific place or on 
a specific person. The search could be carried 
out on the basis of a reasoned warrant issued 
by an investigator and approved by a prosecu-
tor.

28. Searches and seizures were to be carried out 
in the presence of the person whose premises 
were being searched or adult members of his 
family. Two attesting witnesses were to be pre-
sent as well (Article 169). Any person having 
no interest in the case could be an attesting 
witness. Attesting witnesses were required to 
certify the scope and results of the search, and 
could make comments which were to be en-
tered into the search record (Article 135).

29. A complaint against the actions of an inves-
tigator could be submitted either directly to 
a prosecutor or through the person against 
whom the complaint was lodged. In the latter 
case the person concerned was to forward the 
complaint to the prosecutor within twenty-
four hours, together with his explanations 
(Article 218). The prosecutor was to examine 
the complaint within three days and give a 
reasoned decision to the complainant (Article 
219).

30. On 23 March 1999, the Constitutional Court de-



223CASEOFSMIRNOVVRUSSIA

EC
J

EC
HR

termined that decisions and actions of inves-
tigators and prosecutors relating to searches, 
seizure of property, suspension of proceedings 
and extension of time-limits for preliminary 
investigations should be amenable to judicial 
review on an application by the person whose 
rights had been violated.

B. Physical evidence
31. Article 83 of the Code of Criminal Procedure 

defined physical evidence as “any objects 
that... carried traces of a criminal offence... and 
any other objects that could be instrumental 
for detecting a crime, establishing the factual 
circumstances of a case, identifying perpetra-
tors or rebutting the charges or extenuating 
punishment”.

32. Physical evidence was to be retained until 
the conviction had entered into force or the 
time-limit for appeal had expired. However, it 
could be returned to the owner before that if 
such return would not harm ongoing criminal 
proceedings (Article 85). The court was to or-
der the return of physical evidence to its legal 
owner in the final decision closing the criminal 
proceedings (Article 86).

C. Council of Europe recommendation
33. Recommendation (2000) 21 of the Committee 

of Ministers to member States on the freedom 
of exercise of the profession of lawyer provides, 
inter alia, as follows:
“PrincipleI-Generalprinciplesonthefreedom
ofexerciseoftheprofessionoflawyer

...6.Allnecessarymeasuresshouldbetakento
ensuretherespectoftheconfidentialityofthe
lawyer-client relationship. Exceptions to this
principleshouldbeallowedonlyifcompatible
withtheruleoflaw.”

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

34. The applicant complained that the search car-
ried out at his place of residence infringed Arti-
cle 8 of the Convention, which reads as follows:
“1.Everyonehastherighttorespect for...his
home...

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept

such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

35. The Government contested that view.

A. Whether there was an interference

36. The Court observes that the search and seizure 
ordered by the investigator concerned the ap-
plicant's residential premises in which he kept 
his computer and certain work-related materi-
als. The Court has consistently interpreted the 
notion “home” in Article 8 § 1 as covering 
both private individuals' homes and profes-
sional persons' offices (see Buck v. Germany, 
no. 41604/98, § 31, ECHR 2005-IV; and Nie-
mietz v. Germany, judgment of 16 December 
1992, Series A no. 251-B, pp. 33-34, §§ 29-31). 
It follows that in the present case there has 
been an interference with the applicant's right 
to respect for his home.

B. Whether the interference was justified

37. The Court has next to determine whether the 
interference was justified under paragraph 2 of 
Article 8, that is, whether it was “in accordance 
with the law”, pursued one or more of the legit-
imate aims set out in that paragraph and was 
“necessary in a democratic society” to achieve 
that aim or those aims.

1.Whethertheinterferencewas“in
accordancewiththelaw”

38. The applicant claimed that the interference 
was not “in accordance with the law” because 
the search had been authorised by a deputy 
prosecutor rather than by a court, as the Con-
stitution required. The Court observes that 
under the Russian Constitution, the right to 
respect for a person's home may be interfered 
with on the basis of a federal law or a judicial 
decision (see paragraph 26 above). The RSFSR 
Code of Criminal Procedure – which had the 
status of federal law in the Russian legal system 
– vested the power to issue search warrants in 
investigators acting with the consent of a pros-
ecutor (see paragraph 27 above). The Court is 
satisfied that that procedure was followed in 
the present case and that the interference was 
therefore “in accordance with the law”.
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2.Whethertheinterferencepursueda
legitimateaim

39. The Government submitted that the interfer-
ence had pursued the legitimate aim of the 
protection of rights and freedoms of others.

40. The Court notes that the purpose of the search, 
as set out in the investigator's decision, was to 
uncover physical evidence that might be in-
strumental for the criminal investigation into 
serious offences. Accordingly, it pursued the 
legitimate aims of furthering the interests of 
public safety, preventing disorder or crime and 
protecting the rights and freedoms of others.

3.Whethertheinterferencewas“necessaryin
ademocraticsociety”

41. The applicant claimed that his flat had been 
searched with a view to obtaining evidence 
against his clients, including Mr S., Mr Yu., Mr 
B. and many others, and gaining access to the 
clients' files stored on his computer. The search 
had violated the lawyer-client privilege and 
had been followed by a formal interview in 
which the investigator D. had questioned him 
about the circumstances of which he had be-
come aware as his clients' representative.

42. The Government submitted that the decision 
to search the applicant's flat had been based 
on witness testimony and that the search had 
been necessary because “objects and docu-
ments of importance for the investigation of 
criminal case no. 7806” could have been found 
in the applicant's flat. The applicant had not 
objected to the search.

43. Under the Court's settled case-law, the notion 
of “necessity” implies that the interference 
corresponds to a pressing social need and, 
in particular, that it is proportionate to the le-
gitimate aim pursued. In determining whether 
an interference is “necessary in a democratic 
society” the Court will take into account that 
a certain margin of appreciation is left to the 
Contracting States (see, among other authori-
ties, Camenzind v. Switzerland, judgment of 
16 December 1997, Reports of Judgments and 
Decisions 1997-VIII, p. 2893, § 44). However, 
the exceptions provided for in paragraph 2 of 
Article 8 are to be interpreted narrowly, and the 
need for them in a given case must be convinc-
ingly established (see Buck, cited above, § 44).

44. As regards, in particular, searches of premises 
and seizures, the Court has consistently held 
that the Contracting States may consider it 

necessary to resort to such measures in order 
to obtain physical evidence of certain offences. 
The Court will assess whether the reasons ad-
duced to justify such measures were “relevant” 
and “sufficient” and whether the aforemen-
tioned proportionality principle has been ad-
hered to. As regards the latter point, the Court 
must first ensure that the relevant legislation 
and practice afford individuals adequate and 
effective safeguards against abuse. Secondly, 
the Court must consider the particular circum-
stances of each case in order to determine 
whether, in the concrete case, the interfer-
ence in question was proportionate to the aim 
pursued. The criteria the Court has taken into 
consideration in determining this latter issue 
have been, among others, the circumstances 
in which the search order had been issued, 
in particular further evidence available at that 
time, the content and scope of the warrant, 
the manner in which the search was carried 
out, including the presence of independent 
observers during the search, and the extent of 
possible repercussions on the work and repu-
tation of the person affected by the search (see 
Buck, cited above, § 45; Chappell v. the United 
Kingdom, judgment of 30 March 1989, Series A 
no. 152-A, p. 25, § 60; Camenzind, cited above, 
pp. 2894-95, § 46; Funke v. France, judgment 
of 25 February 1993, Series A no. 256-A, p. 25, 
§ 57; and Niemietz, cited above, pp. 35-36, 
§ 37).

45. With regard to the safeguards against abuse 
existing in the Russian legislation the Court ob-
servers that, in the absence of a requirement 
for prior judicial authorisation, the investiga-
tion authorities had unfettered discretion to 
assess the expediency and scope of the search 
and seizure. In the cases of Funke, Crémieux 
and Miailhe v. France the Court found that ow-
ing, above all, to the lack of a judicial warrant, 
“the restrictions and conditions provided for in 
law... appear[ed] too lax and full of loopholes 
for the interferences with the applicant's rights 
to have been strictly proportionate to the le-
gitimate aim pursued” and held that there had 
been a violation of Article 8 of the Conven-
tion (see Funke, cited above, and Crémieux 
v. France and Miailhe v. France (no. 1), judg-
ments of 25 February 1993, Series A nos. 256-B 
and 256-C). In the present case, however, the 
absence of a prior judicial warrant was, to a 
certain extent, counterbalanced by the avail-
ability of an ex post factum judicial review. The 
applicant could, and did, make a complaint to 
a court which was called upon to review both 
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the lawfulness of, and justification for, the 
search warrant. The efficiency of the actual re-
view carried out by the domestic courts will be 
taken into account in the following analysis of 
the necessity of the interference.

46. The Court observes that the applicant himself 
was not charged with, or suspected of, any 
criminal offence or unlawful activities. On the 
other hand, the applicant submitted docu-
ments showing that he had represented, at 
different times, four persons in criminal case 
no. 7806, in connection with which the search 
had been ordered. In these circumstances, it is 
of particular concern for the Court that, when 
the search of the applicant's flat was ordered, 
no provision for safeguarding the privileged 
materials protected by professional secrecy 
was made.

47. The search order was drafted in extremely 
broad terms, referring indiscriminately to “any 
objects and documents that [were] of inter-
est for the investigation of criminal case [no. 
7806]”, without any limitation. The order did 
not contain any information about the ongo-
ing investigation, the purpose of the search or 
the reasons why it was believed that the search 
at the applicant's flat would enable evidence 
of any offence to be obtained (compare Nie-
mietz, cited above, pp. 35-35, § 37, and Ernst 
and Others v. Belgium, no. 33400/96, § 116, 
15 July 2003). Only after the police had pen-
etrated into the applicant's flat was he invited 
to hand over “documents relating to the public 
company T. and the federal industrial group R.”. 
However, neither the order nor the oral state-
ments by the police indicated why documents 
concerning business matters of two private 
companies – in which the applicant did not 
hold any position – should have been found 
on the applicant's premises (compare Buck, 
cited above, § 50). The ex post factum judicial 
review did nothing to fill the lacunae in the 
deficient justification of the search order. The 
Oktyabrskiy Court confined its finding that the 
order had been justified, to a reference to four 
named documents and other unidentified ma-
terials, without describing the contents of any 
of them (see paragraph 22 above). The court 
did not give any indication as to the relevance 
of the materials it referred to and, moreover, 
two out of the four documents appeared af-
ter the search had been carried out. The Court 
finds that the domestic authorities failed in 
their duty to give “relevant and sufficient” rea-
sons for issuing the search warrant.

48. As regards the manner in which the search was 
conducted, the Court further observes that 
the excessively broad terms of the search or-
der gave the police unrestricted discretion in 
determining which documents were “of inter-
est” for the criminal investigation; this resulted 
in an extensive search and seizure. The seized 
materials were not limited to those relating to 
business matters of two private companies. In 
addition, the police took away the applicant's 
personal notebook, the central unit of his com-
puter and other materials, including his client's 
authority form issued in unrelated civil pro-
ceedings and a draft memorandum in another 
case. As noted above, there was no safeguard 
in place against interference with professional 
secrecy, such as, for example, a prohibition on 
removing documents covered by lawyer-client 
privilege or supervision of the search by an in-
dependent observer capable of identifying, in-
dependently of the investigation team, which 
documents were covered by legal professional 
privilege (see Sallinen and Others v. Finland, 
no. 50882/99, § 89, 27 September 2005, 
and Tamosius v. the United Kingdom (dec.), 
no. 62002/00, ECHR 2002-VIII). Having regard to 
the materials that were inspected and seized, 
the Court finds that the search impinged on 
professional secrecy to an extent that was dis-
proportionate to whatever legitimate aim was 
pursed. The Court reiterates in this connection 
that, where a lawyer is involved, an encroach-
ment on professional secrecy may have re-
percussions on the proper administration of 
justice and hence on the rights guaranteed by 
Article 6 of the Convention (see Niemietz, cited 
above, pp. 35-36, § 37).

49. In sum, the Court considers that the search 
carried out, without relevant and sufficient 
grounds and in the absence of safeguards 
against interference with professional secrecy, 
at the flat of the applicant, who was not sus-
pected of any criminal offence but was repre-
senting defendants in the same criminal case, 
was not “necessary in a democratic society”. 
There has therefore been a violation of Article 8 
of the Convention.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
1 OF PROTOCOL NO. 1

50. The applicant complained under Article 1 of 
Protocol No. 1 about a violation of his property 
rights resulting from the seizure and retention 
of his documents and computer. Article 1 of 
Protocol No. 1 provides as follows:
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“Everynaturalorlegalpersonisentitledtothe
peacefulenjoymentofhispossessions.Noone
shallbedeprivedofhispossessionsexceptin
thepublic interest and subject to the condi-
tionsprovidedforby lawandbythegeneral
principlesofinternationallaw.

Theprecedingprovisions shallnot,however,
in anyway impair the rightof a State toen-
forcesuchlawsasitdeemsnecessarytocon-
troltheuseofpropertyinaccordancewiththe
general interestor to secure thepaymentof
taxesorothercontributionsorpenalties.”

A. Submissions by the parties
51. The applicant submitted that the seizure of 

the central unit had constituted a dispropor-
tionate interference with his property rights 
and had imposed an excessive burden on him. 
The central unit proper could not be used as 
evidence in the criminal case because it had 
not been an instrument, object or product of a 
crime and had not borne any traces of a crime. 
Furthermore, the data contained therein could 
not have had any evidentiary value either, be-
cause the unit had been in the possession of 
the prosecution for a long time and the data 
could have been erased or modified. The ap-
plicant agreed with the reasons set out in the 
judicial decision of 19 April 2000. In his view, 
the prosecution should have abided by that 
decision rather than contesting it on appeal. 
The applicant claimed that the real purpose of 
the seizure had been to hinder his legal pro-
fessional activities. The unlawful withholding 
of his computer had deprived him of access 
to more than two hundred clients' files and 
had been detrimental to his legal practice as 
a whole. Lastly, the applicant indicated that 
he had eventually received his notebook and 
some documents back.

52. The Government submitted that the central 
unit of the applicant's computer had been 
sealed and attached as physical evidence in 
criminal case no. 7806 in order to prevent loss 
of data. The examination of the criminal case 
had not yet been completed. The applicant's 
documents and central unit would be stored 
in the St Petersburg City Court until such time 
as the judgment had been delivered. Accord-
ingly, the applicant's right to use his property 
had been restricted in the public interest, with 
a view to establishing the truth in criminal case 
no. 7806.

B. The Court's assessment
53. The Court observes that the search of the appli-

cant's home was followed by the seizure of cer-
tain documents, his notebook and the central 
unit of his computer – that is, the part contain-
ing hard disks with data. As the applicant even-
tually regained possession of his notebook and 
documents, the Court will confine its analysis 
to the compatibility of the retention of the 
computer to this day with the applicant's right 
to peaceful enjoyment of possessions guaran-
teed by Article 1 of Protocol No. 1.

54. It is undisputed that the applicant was the law-
ful owner of the computer; in other words, it 
was his “possession”. The investigator ordered 
that the computer be kept as physical evi-
dence in a criminal case until such time as the 
trial court had given judgment, determining in 
particular the use of evidence. The Court con-
siders that this situation falls to be examined 
from the standpoint of the right of a State to 
control the use of property in accordance with 
the general interest.

55. The first and most important requirement of 
Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 is that any interfer-
ence by a public authority with the peaceful 
enjoyment of possessions should be lawful. 
In particular, the second paragraph of Article 
1, while recognising that States have the right 
to control the use of property, subjects their 
right to the condition that it be exercised by 
enforcing “laws”. Moreover, the principle of 
lawfulness presupposes that the applicable 
provisions of domestic law are sufficiently ac-
cessible, precise and foreseeable in their ap-
plication (see, for example, Baklanov v. Russia, 
no. 68443/01 68443/01, §§ 39-40, 9 June 
2005, with further references).

56. The Court observes that the decision to retain 
the computer was based on the provisions of 
the RSFSR Code of Criminal Procedure govern-
ing the use of physical evidence in criminal 
proceedings (see paragraphs 31 and 32 above). 
The investigator had the discretion to order re-
tention of any object which he considered to 
be instrumental for the investigation, as was 
the case with the applicant's computer. The 
Court has doubts that such a broad discretion 
not accompanied by efficient judicial supervi-
sion would pass the “quality of law” test but it 
sees no need for a detailed examination of this 
point for the following reasons.

57. The Court accepts that retention of physical 
evidence may be necessary in the interests 
of proper administration of justice, which is a 
“legitimate aim” in the “general interest” of the 
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community. It observes, however, that there 
must also be a reasonable relation of propor-
tionality between the means employed and 
the aim sought to be realised by any meas-
ures applied by the State, including measures 
designed to control the use of the individual's 
property. That requirement is expressed by the 
notion of a “fair balance” that must be struck 
between the demands of the general interest 
of the community and the requirements of 
the protection of the individual's fundamen-
tal rights (see Edwards v. Malta, no. 17647/04, 
§ 69, 24 October 2006, with further refer-
ences).

58. The Court agrees with the applicant's conten-
tion, not disputed by the Government, that 
the computer itself was not an object, instru-
ment or product of any criminal offence (com-
pare Frizen v. Russia, no. 58254/00, §§ 29-31, 
24 March 2005). What was valuable and instru-
mental for the investigation was the informa-
tion stored on its hard disk. It follows from the 
judgment of 19 April 2000 that the information 
was examined by the investigator, printed out 
and included in the case file (see paragraph 15 
above). In these circumstances, the Court can-
not discern any apparent reason for continued 
retention of the central unit. No such reason 
has been advanced in the domestic proceed-
ings or before the Court. Nevertheless, the 
computer has been retained by the domestic 
authorities until the present day, that is, for 
more than six years. The Court notes in this 
connection that the computer was the appli-
cant's professional instrument which he used 
for drafting legal documents and storing his 
clients' files. The retention of the computer not 
only caused the applicant personal inconven-
ience but also handicapped his professional 
activities; this, as noted above, might have had 
repercussions on the administration of justice.

59. Having regard to the above considerations, the 
Court finds that the Russian authorities failed to 
strike a “fair balance” between the demands of 
the general interest and the requirement of the 
protection of the applicant's right to peaceful 
enjoyment of his possessions. There has there-
fore been a violation of Article 1 of Protocol No. 
1.

III. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
13 OF THE CONVENTION, TAKEN 
TOGETHER WITH ARTICLE 1 OF 
PROTOCOL NO. 1

60. The applicant complained under Article 13 of 
the Convention that he had not had an effec-
tive remedy in respect of the unlawful restric-
tion on his property rights under Article 1 of 
Protocol No. 1. Article 13 provides as follows:
“Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [the] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity.”

A. Submissions by the parties
61. The applicant pointed out that the scope of 

review by the domestic courts had been con-
fined to the lawfulness of the search. As to his 
property complaints, the courts had deter-
mined that those issues had not been amena-
ble to judicial review. In his view, the Constitu-
tional Court's ruling of 23 March 1999 should 
have been interpreted as opening the way for 
judicial review of all decisions affecting a per-
son's property rights. He stressed that his civil 
claim for damages had, under various pretexts, 
not been examined for more than four years.

62. The Government submitted that the applicant 
had been able to challenge the contested deci-
sion before a court which had considered and 
dismissed his complaints (on 19 December 
2000 in the final instance). Furthermore, his civ-
il claim for damages against the St Petersburg 
City Prosecutor and Ministry of Finance was 
now pending before the Oktyabrskiy Court of 
St Petersburg.

B. The Court's assessment
63. The Court has consistently interpreted Article 

13 as requiring a remedy in domestic law in 
respect of grievances which can be regarded 
as “arguable” in terms of the Convention (see, 
for example, Boyle and Rice v. the United King-
dom, judgment of 27 April 1988, Series A no. 
131, pp. 23-24, § 54). In the present case there 
has been a finding of a violation of Article 1 of 
Protocol No. 1 and the complaint under Article 
13 must therefore be considered. It must ac-
cordingly be determined whether the Russian 
legal system afforded the applicant an “effec-
tive” remedy, allowing the competent “nation-
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al authority” both to deal with the complaint 
and to grant appropriate relief (see Camenzind, 
cited above, pp. 2896-97, § 53).

64. The applicant asked for a judicial review of the 
lawfulness of the search and seizure conducted 
at his place of residence and of the decision on 
retention of his computer as physical evidence. 
Whereas the domestic courts examined the 
complaint concerning the search and seizure, 
they declared inadmissible the complaint 
about the failure to return the applicant's 
computer on the ground that the retention 
decision was not amenable to judicial review 
(see paragraphs 22 et seq. above). The appli-
cant was told to apply to a higher prosecutor 
instead. In this connection the Court reiterates 
its settled case-law to the effect that a hierar-
chical appeal to a higher prosecutor does not 
give the person employing it a personal right 
to the exercise by the State of its supervisory 
powers and for that reason does not constitute 
an “effective remedy” (see, for example, Horvat 
v. Croatia, no. 51585/99, § 47, ECHR 2001-VIII).

65. As regards the pending civil claim for damages 
to which the Government referred, the Court 
notes that a civil court is not competent to re-
view the lawfulness of decisions made by in-
vestigators in criminal proceedings.

66. It follows that in these circumstances the appli-
cant did not have “an effective remedy before 
a national authority” for airing his complaint 
arising out of a violation of Article 1 of Protocol 
No. 1. There has therefore been a violation of 
Article 13 of the Convention, taken together 
with Article 1 of Protocol No. 1.

IV. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

67. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

68. The Court points out that under Rule 60 of the 
Rules of Court any claim for just satisfaction 
must be itemised and submitted in writing 
together with the relevant supporting docu-
ments or vouchers, “failing which the Chamber 
may reject the claim in whole or in part”.

69. In a letter of 5 July 2005, after the application 
had been declared admissible, the Court in-
vited the applicant to submit claims for just 
satisfaction by 7 September 2005. He did not 
submit any such claim within the specified 
time-limit.

70. In these circumstances, the Court makes no 
award under Article 41.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
8 of the Convention;

2. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
1 of Protocol No. 1;

3. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
13 of the Convention, taken together with Ar-
ticle 1 of Protocol No. 1;

4. Decides not to make an award under Article 
41 of the Convention.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 7 June 
2007, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the Rules 
of Court.

Søren Nielsen, Registrar
Christos Rozakis, President



229

EC
J

EC
HR



230 

EC
HR

EC
J



231CASEOFPETRISALLINENANDOTHERSVFINLAND

EC
J

EC
HR

FOURTH SECTION

CAsE oF PEtRI sALLInEn 
AnD otHERs v FInLAnD

(Application no. 50882/99 )

JUDGMENT

STRASBOURG
27 September 2005

FINAL
27/12/2005



232 CASEOFPETRISALLINENANDOTHERSVFINLAND

EC
HR

EC
J

COMPUTER, HARD-DISK, SEIZURE, INVESTIGATION, 
CONFISCATION, PRIVATE LIFE, CORRESPONDENCE, RE-
SPECT FOR HOME

IN THE CASE Of PETRI SALLINEN AND OTHERS v. 
fINLAND,

The European Court of Human Rights (Fourth Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Sir Nicolas Bratza, President,  
Mr G. Bonello,  
Mr M. Pellonpää,  
Mr K. Traja,  
Mr L. Garlicki,  
Mr J. Borrego Borrego,  
Ms L. Mijović, judges,  
and Mrs F. Elens-Passos, Deputy Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 25 November 
2003 and on 6 September 2005,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

50882/99 50882/99 ) against the Republic of 
Finland lodged with the Court under Article 
34 of the Convention for the Protection of Hu-
man Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (“the 
Convention”) by 18 Finnish nationals, Mr Petri 
Sallinen (born in 1968 and resident in Joensuu), 
Ms. H. (born in 1931 and resident in Joensuu), 
Ms. M. (born in 1962 and resident in Joensuu), 
Mr. P.S. (born in 1962 and resident at Onkamo), 
Mr. J. (born in 1967 and resident in Joensuu), 
Mr. J.J. (born in 1974 and resident at Lehmo), 
Ms. N. (born in1976 and resident at Lehmo), Mr. 
V. (born in 1940 and resident at Suhmura), Mr. 
L. (born in 1945 and resident at Suhmura), Mr. 
T. (born in 1943 and resident in Joensuu), Mr. 
K, born in 1964 and resident at Kylmäkoski, Mr. 
T.A. (born in 1968 and resident in Joensuu), Ms. 
T.S. (born in 1971 and resident in Joensuu), Ms. 
S. (born in 1942 and resident in Joensuu), Mr. 
J.V. (born in 1968 and resident in Joensuu), Mr. 
A.H. (born in 1952 and resident in Joensuu), Ms. 
T.T. (born in 1945 and resident in Joensuu), and 
Mr. R., born in 1962 and resident at Lehmo (“the 

applicants”), on 2 September 1999.

2. The applicants were represented by Mr Markku 
Fredman, a lawyer practising in Helsinki. The 
Finnish Government (“the Government”) were 
represented by their Agent, Mr Arto Kosonen, 
Director, Ministry for Foreign Affairs.

3. The applicants complained about the search 
and seizure of privileged material in the first 
applicant's law firm. They relied on Articles 6, 8 
and 13 of the Convention.

4. The application was allocated to the Fourth 
Section of the Court (Rule 52 § 1 of the Rules 
of Court). Within that Section, the Chamber 
that would consider the case (Article 27 § 1 of 
the Convention) was constituted as provided 
in Rule 26 § 1.

5. By a decision of 25 November 2003 the Court 
declared the application admissible.

6. The applicants and the Government each filed 
observations on the merits (Rule 59 § 1). The 
Chamber having decided, after consulting the 
parties, that no hearing on the merits was re-
quired (Rule 59 § 3 in fine). The parties replied 
in writing to each other's observations. In ad-
dition, third-party comments were received 
from the Finnish Bar Association, which had 
been given leave by the President to intervene 
in the written procedure (Article 36 § 2 of the 
Convention and Rule 44 § 2). The parties were 
given the possibility to reply to those com-
ments (Rule 44 § 5).

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

7. The first applicant was born in 1968 and lives 
in Joensuu. He is a member of the Finnish Bar. 
The other 17 applicants were his clients at the 
relevant time (“the client applicants”).

8. On 26 January 1999 the police conducted a 
search – it is not entirely clear of which prem-
ises – based on the suspicion that the first ap-
plicant's clients X and Y (not client applicants 
before the Court) had committed aggravated 
debtor's fraud. In the course of that search X 
managed to destroy the original of a promis-
sory note which the police had attempted to 
seize and which may have been relevant to 
the financial arrangements underlying the sus-
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pected offence.

9. At the time the first applicant's status in the 
investigation had been that of a witness. On 
22 February 1999 the police requested him to 
attend for questioning in this capacity. This re-
quest was apparently cancelled before he had 
taken any action thereon.

10. A police officer in charge of the criminal in-
vestigations granted a search warrant and on 
2 March 1999 seven officers of the National 
Bureau of Investigation (keskusrikospoliisi, cen-
tralkriminalpolisen), assisted by a tax inspec-
tor and an enforcement official (ulosottomies, 
utmätningsman), searched the first applicant's 
law office, flat and vehicles. This search warrant 
was likewise based on the suspicion that X and 
Y had committed aggravated debtor's fraud 
but the first applicant was now indicated as a 
suspect, namely that he had aided and abetted 
the offences by drafting certain documents.

11. Under the terms of the warrant the search 
aimed at examining “the documents, comput-
ers and archives of the law office” as well as 
the first applicant's flat and vehicles “so as to 
investigate the share transactions by the lim-
ited liability company [H.] in 1998 and to find 
material relating to those transactions”.

12. During the search of his law office all of the first 
applicant's client files were allegedly perused. 
The police also examined all floppy disks and 
examined his note books pertaining to his 
meetings with clients. In addition, the hard 
disks in the office computers were copied: two 
were copied on the spot and two computers, 
including the one used by the first applicant 
himself, were seized for later disk-copying on 
police premises. Those computers were re-
turned on 4 March 1999.

13. The first applicant's computer also contained 
software for electronic mail, including his pri-
vate and professional messages.

14. A fellow member of the Bar assisted the first 
applicant during part of the search.

15. On 4 March 1999 the first applicant requested 
the District Court (käräjäoikeus, tingsrätten) of 
Joensuu to revoke the seizure as being unlaw-
ful. On 24 March 1999 the court nevertheless 
maintained it, noting that the first applicant 
was suspected of aiding and abetting aggra-
vated debtor's dishonesty.

16. On 11 May 1999 the Court of Appeal (hov-
ioikeus, hovrätten) of Eastern Finland upheld 

the District Court's decision and on 25 Novem-
ber 1999 the Supreme Court (korkein oikeus, 
högsta domstolen) refused the first applicant 
leave to appeal.

17. On 4 May 1999 the police certified the return 
of three of the four hard disks and that they 
had destroyed any copies thereof. They stated 
however that they would retain a copy of the 
fourth hard disk until the lawfulness of the sei-
zure had been finally decided or until the ma-
terial could be destroyed for any other reason.

18. In June 1999 three of the applicants (nos. 2-3 
and 8) requested the District Court to revoke 
the seizure of the copy of the fourth hard disk 
(which contained material relating to their in-
structions to the first applicant) and to order 
the police to compensate their costs. They ar-
gued that the seizure had been unlawful from 
the outset. At any rate, the copy in question 
was of no relevance to the pre-trial investiga-
tion concerning X and Y.

19. In its rejoinder the National Bureau of Investiga-
tion referred to the Court of Appeal's decision 
of 11 May 1999 in which the seizure had been 
found lawful. Moreover, the hard disks had only 
been subjected to a targeted search and they 
were able to search information concerning 
only relevant companies and individuals. Only 
the potentially relevant client files in the law of-
fice had been perused. The search and seizure 
had thus not been of wholesale nature. The tax 
and enforcement officials who had witnessed 
the search had been – and remained – under 
a duty to keep secret any information thereby 
obtained.

20. On 17 June 1999 the District Court agreed with 
the three client applicants and ordered that 
the copy of the fourth hard disk be returned. 
It rejected, as not being based on law, the ap-
plicants' claim for compensation in respect of 
their costs. The applicants appealed on this 
point, whereas the police appealed against the 
revocation order.

21. In its submissions to the Court of Appeal the 
National Bureau of Investigation listed the 
contents of the copied hard disk. For example, 
specific mention was made of what appears 
to have been the promissory note which the 
police had been looking for (and had found). 
The submissions indicated the debtor's and 
the creditor's names as well as the amount of 
the debt. The National Bureau of Investigation 
furthermore explained that the material on the 
relevant hard disk had been copied to a so-
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called optical disk which could in any case not 
be returned as it also contained internal police 
data. The submissions by the Bureau were ap-
parently not ordered to be kept confidential.

22. On 27 January 2000 the Court of Appeal de-
clined to examine the parties' appeals, con-
sidering that the matter had been resolved res 
judicata in the first set of proceedings ending 
with the Supreme Court's decision of 25 No-
vember 1999. The Supreme Court granted 
leave to appeal to the three client applicants 
in question.

23. On 3 March 2000 the public prosecutor 
charged, among others, X and Y with aggra-
vated debtor's dishonesty but decided to press 
no charges against the first applicant, having 
found no evidence of any crime.

24. On 20 April 2001 the Supreme Court ruled that 
although a final decision had already been 
rendered in respect of another appellant, it did 
not prevent the courts from examining similar 
appeals filed by other parties. The case was re-
ferred back to the Court of Appeal which, on 
4 October 2001, revoked the District Court's 
decision on the basis that the seizure had been 
lawful.

25. The three client applicants in question were 
again granted leave to appeal to the Supreme 
Court. On 18 October 2002 it revoked the sei-
zure in so far as it pertained to information 
which those applicants had given to the first 
applicant.

26. The Supreme Court found it undisputed that 
the copied hard disk contained information 
relating to the three client applicants' instruc-
tions to the first applicant. It had not been ar-
gued that this information was not protected 
by counsel's secrecy obligation under Chapter 
17, section 23 of the Code of Judicial Proce-
dure. Nor did the information in question per-
tain to any suspicion that the first applicant or 
any one else had committed a crime.

27. The Supreme Court accepted that the police 
had been entitled by Chapter 4, section 1 of 
the Coercive Measures Act (pakkokeinolaki, 
tvångsmedelslagen 450/1987 450/1987 ) to 
seize the first applicant's hard disk and make 
a copy thereof. Technical reasons and practi-
cal needs (the fact that the police had been 
obliged at the time of the search to copy the 
whole hard disk) did not however permit any 
deviation from the prohibition on seizure of 
privileged material. The police should there-

fore have returned the computer files immedi-
ately or destroyed them. The appellants were 
awarded reasonable compensation for their 
costs and expenses.

28. On 11 November 2002 the Chief Enforcement 
Officer of Vantaa confirmed that the copy of 
the hard disk had been destroyed on that day.

29. On 22 August 2003 the Deputy Chancellor of 
Justice (valtioneuvoston apulaisoikeuskansleri, 
justitiekansleradjointen i statsrådet) issued his 
decision in response to a petition by the Finn-
ish Bar Association concerning, inter alia, the 
alleged unlawfulness of the coercive measures 
against the first applicant. He found it estab-
lished that the tax inspector and the enforce-
ment official had attended the search in their 
respective capacity as a witness and expert. He 
nevertheless concluded, inter alia, that from 
the point of view of foreseeability of domestic 
law, as required by Article 8 of the Convention, 
the relationship between the Coercive Meas-
ures Act (Chapter 4, section 2, subsection 2), 
the Code of Judicial Procedure (Chapter 17, 
section 23, subsection 1 (4)) and the Advocates 
Act (section 5 c) was somewhat unclear and 
permitted very diverging interpretations as to 
the extent to which privileged material could 
be subject to search and seizure. The Deputy 
Chancellor therefore requested the Ministry of 
Justice to consider whether there was a need 
to amend the relevant legislation.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

1.Generalconditionsforsearchesand
seizures

30. Under the Coercive Measures Act (450/1987 ) 
the police may conduct a search, inter alia, if 
there is reason to suspect that an offence has 
been committed and provided the maximum 
sentence applicable exceeds six months' im-
prisonment (Chapter 5, section 1). The search 
warrant is issued by the police themselves.

31. A search may also be conducted on the prem-
ises of a person other than the one who is 
under reasonable (todennäköinen, sannolik) 
suspicion of having committed an offence of 
the aforementioned nature, provided the of-
fence was committed on those premises or the 
suspect was apprehended there or if there are 
very strong reasons for assuming that a search 
of those premises will produce an object to 
be seized or other information pertaining to 
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the offence (Chapter 5, section 2). In order for 
an object to qualify for seizure there must be 
a reason to presume that it may serve as evi-
dence in the criminal proceedings, that it may 
have been removed from someone by a crimi-
nal offence or that the court may order its for-
feiture (Chapter 4, section 1).

32. A sealed letter or other private document 
which has been seized may only be opened by 
the head of investigation, by the prosecutor or 
by the court. In addition, only the investigators 
of the offence in question may examine such 
a document more closely. However, an expert 
or other person whose assistance is used in 
investigating the offence or who is otherwise 
heard in the case may examine the material, as 
directed by the head of investigation, by the 
prosecutor or by the court (Chapter 4, section 
8).

33. Whenever possible, the officer in charge shall 
call a witness to attend the search. If deemed 
necessary, the officer may also seek the assis-
tance of an expert or other person (Chapter 5, 
section 4, subsection 1).

34. The officer in charge may allow a complainant 
or his representative to attend a search in order 
to provide necessary information. The respon-
sible officer must nonetheless ensure that a 
complainant or representative does not obtain 
any more information than necessary through 
the search (Chapter 5, section 4, subsection 3).

35. According to section 40 of the Pre-trial Investi-
gation Act, only such evidence as may be con-
sidered relevant in the case shall be placed on 
record.

36. As regards other evidence, it is the respond-
ent Government's view that a police officer is 
under an obligation to respect the confiden-
tiality requirement stipulated by section 17 
of the Civil Servants Act (valtion virkamieslaki, 
statstjänstemannalagen 750/94).

37. Section 8 of the Pre-Trial Investigation Act (esi-
tutkintalaki, förundersökningslagen 449/1987 
) stipulates that in an investigation no one's 
rights shall be infringed any more than neces-
sary for the achievement of its purpose. No one 
shall be placed under suspicion without due 
cause and no one shall be subjected to harm 
or inconvenience unnecessarily.

38. Chapter 7, section 1 a, of the Coercive Meas-
ures Act provides that only such measures may 
be used which can be deemed justified in light 

of the seriousness of the offence under inves-
tigation, the importance of the investigation 
and the degree of interference with the rights 
of the suspect or other persons subject to the 
measures, as well as in light of any other perti-
nent circumstances.

39. According to Chapter 4, section 11, a seizure 
shall be lifted as soon as it is no longer neces-
sary. If charges have not been brought within 
four months of the seizure the court may ex-
tend it at the request of a police officer compe-
tent to issue arrest warrants.

2.Particular conditions in respect of privileged 
material

40. Chapter 4, section 2, subsection 2 of the Coer-
cive Measures Act provides that a document 
shall not be seized for evidential purposes if 
it may be presumed to contain information 
in regard to which a person referred to in 
Chapter 17, section 23, of the Code of Judicial 
Procedure is not allowed to give evidence at 
a trial and provided that the document is in 
the possession of that person or the person 
for whose benefit the secrecy obligation has 
been prescribed. A document may neverthe-
less be seized if, under section 27, subsection 
2 of the Pre-Trial Investigation Act, a person re-
ferred to in Chapter 17, Article 23, of the Code 
of Judicial Procedure would have been entitled 
or obliged to give evidence in the pre-trial in-
vestigation about the matter contained in the 
document.

41. Under Chapter 17, section 23, subsection 1 of 
the Code of Judicial Procedure counsel may 
not testify in respect of what a client has told 
him or her for the purpose of pleading a case, 
unless the client consents to such testimony. 
Although subsection 3 provides for an excep-
tion to this secrecy obligation if the charges 
concern an offence carrying a minimum sen-
tence of six years' imprisonment (or attempt-
ing or aiding and abetting such an offence), 
this exception does not extend to counsel for 
an accused.

42. Under section 5 c (626/1995 ) of the Advocates 
Act (laki asianajajista, lagen om advokater) an 
advocate or his assistant shall not without due 
permission disclose the secrets of an individual 
or family or business or professional secrets 
which have come to his knowledge in the 
course of his professional activity. Breach of this 
confidentiality obligation shall be punishable 
in accordance with Chapter 38, section 1 or 2, 
of the Penal Code (rikoslaki, strafflagen), unless 
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the law provides for a more severe punishment 
on another count.

43. In their book “Pre-trial investigation and coer-
cive measures” (Esitutkinta ja pakkokeinot, Hel-
sinki, 2002) Klaus Helminen, Kari Lehtola and 
Pertti Virolainen state (at page 742) that in the 
legal literature and in police practice a princi-
ple has been consistently followed whereby a 
search may not be performed in order for in-
vestigators to obtain documents that are sub-
ject to a seizure prohibition.

44. The Ministry of Justice appointed a Working 
Group on Internet Aided Crimes (tietoverk-
korikostyöryhmä, arbetsgruppen för IT brotts-
lighet) which also considered the question of 
searches and seizures of computer files and 
computers by the police. On June 2003 the 
Working Group issued a report, which was 
sent out for comments to various interest 
groups and experts. On the basis of the work-
ing group's report and the comments given, 
the Ministry of Justice is expected to prepare a 
government bill.

3.Remedies

45. Chapter 4, section 13, of the Coercive Measures 
Act provides that at the request of a person 
whom the case concerns the court shall decide 
whether the seizure shall remain in force. A re-
quest which has been submitted to the court 
before its examination of the charges shall be 
considered within a week from its reception 
by the court. The court shall provide those 
with an interest in the matter an opportunity 
to be heard, but the absence of anyone shall 
not preclude a decision on the issue. A decision 
reviewing a seizure is subject to a separate ap-
peal.

46. According to section 118, subsection 3 of 
the Constitution (perustuslaki, grundlagen 
731/1999 ) everyone who has suffered a 
violation of his or her rights or sustained loss 
through an unlawful act or omission by a civil 
servant or other person performing a public 
function shall have the right to request that 
the civil servant or other person in charge of 
the public function be sentenced to a punish-
ment and that the public organisation, official 
or other person in charge of a public function 
be held liable for damages, as provided in more 
detail by an Act. This section is equivalent to 
section 93 of the repealed Constitution Act 
of Finland of 1918 (Suomen Hallitusmuoto, 
Regeringsform för Finland), as in force at the 
relevant time.

47. Until 31 December 1998, Chapter 24, section 
2 of the Penal Code provided that if a search 
of premises was carried out by someone lack-
ing the authority to do so, or if someone hav-
ing such authority carried it out in an unlawful 
manner, he or she was to be sentenced to a 
fine or to imprisonment for a maximum of one 
year. According to Government Bill no. 6/1997, 
the provision was proposed to be repealed as 
“in cases where the above-mentioned act is 
committed by a public official in the perfor-
mance of his or her official duties, Chapter 40, 
section 10 is applicable”.

48. Chapter 40, section 10, subsection 1 of the Pe-
nal Code provides that if a public official, when 
acting in his office, intentionally in a manner 
other than that provided above in this Chap-
ter violates or neglects to fulfil his official duty 
based on the provisions or regulations to be 
followed in official functions, and the act, when 
assessed as a whole, taking into considera-
tion its detrimental and harmful effect and the 
other circumstances connected with the act, is 
not petty, he shall be sentenced for violation of 
official duties to a fine or to imprisonment for 
at most one year.

49. Chapter 40, section 11 of the Penal Code pro-
vides that if a public official, when acting in his 
office, through carelessness or lack of caution, 
in a manner other than that referred to in sec-
tion 5, subsection 2, violates or neglects to fulfil 
his or her official duty based on the provisions 
or regulations to be followed in official func-
tions, and the act, when assessed as a whole, 
taking into consideration its detrimental and 
harmful effect and the other circumstances 
connected with the act, is not petty, he shall be 
sentenced for a negligent violation of official 
duties to a warning or to a fine.

50. According to Chapter 1, section 14 of the Crim-
inal Procedure Act (laki oikeudenkäynnistä riko-
sasioissa, lag om rättegång i brottmål 689/1997 
), an injured party may bring a private prosecu-
tion only if the public prosecutor has decided 
not to press charges.

51. Under the 1974 Damage Compensation 
Act (vahingonkorvauslaki, skadeståndsla-
gen 412/1974) proceedings may be brought 
against the State in respect of damage result-
ing from fault or neglect by its employees in 
the performance of their duties (Chapters 3 
and 4).
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Council of Europe recommendation

52. Recommendation (2000) 21 of the Committee 
of Ministers to member states on the freedom 
of exercise of the profession of lawyer provides, 
inter alia, as follows:
“PrincipleI-Generalprinciplesonthefreedom
ofexerciseoftheprofessionoflawyer

...6.Allnecessarymeasuresshouldbetakento
ensuretherespectoftheconfidentialityofthe
lawyer-client relationship. Exceptions to this
principleshouldbeallowedonlyifcompatible
withtheruleoflaw.”

III. THIRD PARTY INTERVENTION

53. The Finnish Bar Association (Finlands Advokat-
förbund, Finlands Advokatförbund) noted that 
the case did not meet a single criterion for the 
lawful execution of search and seizure as set 
out in the case law of the Court. Further, under 
Finnish legislation, there are no provisions af-
fording a legal remedy against a search warrant 
issued by the police. A search may be carried 
out on the premises of a person to whom a 
confidentiality obligation applies provided that 
the object to be seized may be found there. 
The threshold for the execution of a search 
is low in the extreme and the execution of a 
search in and of itself interferes with the right 
and obligation of secrecy of a person to whom 
a confidentiality obligation applies.

54. The wording of the instructions pertaining to 
the search in the present case was rather ex-
pansive and no attempt was made to attend to 
the advocate's confidentiality obligation. Disre-
gard of this obligation is particularly manifest 
in the participation of a tax inspector and an 
enforcement official in the search. The con-
fidentiality obligation of advocates was also 
disregarded in respect of the seizures executed 
in connection with the search. The hard disks 
of the law office's computers, floppy disks and 
several notebooks pertaining to meetings with 
clients were seized in connection with the lat-
ter search, in addition to which data on the 
office secretary's computer was copied. Subse-
quent to the seizure, the material was not e.g. 
sealed and consigned for safekeeping until a 
court could rule on the lawfulness of the sei-
zure.

55. In terms of the confidentiality obligation, the 
possibility of submitting the issue of a sei-
zure to the court for review as provided for 
in the Coercive Measures Act had in this case 

remained a dead letter. All the information 
deemed confidential by the advocate and his 
clients had been disclosed prior to the court 
proceedings, as the authorities examined the 
seized material without waiting for a court to 
rule on the issue.

56. The Association further maintained that the 
police could have availed themselves of the 
procedure provided for in the Advocates Act, 
wherein the searched material would have 
been examined by an outside advocate who 
would have determined which material was 
related to the pre-trial investigation being con-
ducted by the police and which was not. This 
procedure would have allowed for the uphold-
ing of the advocate's confidentiality obligation 
as well as the client's right to confidentiality.

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

57. The applicants complained that the search and 
seizure of privileged material had breached Ar-
ticle 8 of the Convention, which provides:
“1.Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2.There shall be no interference by a public
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

A. The parties' submissions
1.The applicants

58. The first applicant complained under Article 8 
of the Convention that the search and seizure 
of privileged material violated his right to re-
spect for his private life, home and correspond-
ence. Apart from documents relating to his 
clients' instructions, his private notes and elec-
tronic messages were also seized.

59. The applicants nos. 1-3 and 8 complained that 
the search and seizure, including the retention 
by the police of a copy of the fourth hard disk 
violated their right to respect for their private 
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life, family life and correspondence. The other 
applicants complained that the search and the 
short-term seizure which the police revoked of 
its own motion violated their right to respect 
for their private life, family life and correspond-
ence.

60. The applicants did not base their complaint 
on the possibility that the police might have 
used the information obtained through the 
search. They argued that their uncertainty in 
this respect must be taken into account in as-
sessing the compatibility of the search with the 
requirements of Article 8.

61. In so far as the seizure extended to material 
containing information in respect of which the 
first applicant was not allowed to testify, the 
applicants alleged that it was not in accord-
ance with domestic law. In so far as the search 
sought to obtain such material for seizure, that 
interference was likewise in breach of domestic 
law. They referred to Chapter 4, section 2 of the 
Coercive Measures Act, which obliges the po-
lice to show circumspection when conducting 
a seizure. They argued that since a search may 
only be performed to find potentially admissi-
ble evidence the police are not authorised by 
law to conduct a search if the purpose is to find 
a document which is arguably of a privileged 
character.

62. The applicants further argued that in the pre-
sent circumstances the assistance which the 
tax inspector and enforcement official provid-
ed during the search raised a further question 
under Article 8. Further, the police did not fully 
respect its duty of secrecy as it disclosed some 
of that material in its appeal to the Court of Ap-
peal.

63. The applicants concluded that Finnish prac-
tice in coercive measures was very deficient 
in terms of oversight and legal safeguards. In 
the present case the authorities did not adhere 
to the procedure recommended in the legal 
literature. The applicants noted that in Finland 
no provision was made for involving an ap-
pointed representative of the Bar in any search 
and seizure of material relating to a member's 
practice.

2.The Government

64. The Government submitted that in respect of 
the first applicant, a search performed in his of-
fice may have constituted an interference with-
in the meaning of Article 8 of the Convention. 
As regards the client applicants, the Govern-

ment noted that correspondence with a lawyer 
falls under the protection of Article 8. However, 
the Government contested that there were any 
interference with the client applicants' rights. 
The Government argued that the applicants 
had not sufficiently substantiated their allega-
tion that the retained copy of the fourth hard 
disk contained material which was unrelated to 
the offence under investigation. Furthermore, 
even if the disk did contain any material irrel-
evant to the investigated offence, that material 
could not have been used by the police. 

65. Were the Court to find that there was an inter-
ference with the right protected under Article 
8, the Government noted that the first appli-
cant was suspected of aggravated debtor's 
fraud and of aiding and abetting aggravated 
debtor's dishonesty. As the maximum penalty 
for an aggravated debtor's fraud is four years' 
imprisonment the search and seizure were in 
accordance with the law. In the Government's 
view a lawyer suspected of a severe offence 
cannot be treated differently from other sus-
pects. The search and the seizure were carried 
out with a view to investigating a serious of-
fence, which justified the interference with the 
privileged client-lawyer relationship.

66. As regards the other applicants, the Govern-
ment referred to section 34 of the Police Act, 
under which information concerning exclu-
sively a person unrelated to the investigation 
shall be destroyed without delay, unless the 
material is needed for the investigation of the 
offence. They further noted that the police 
often resorted to the expertise of tax inspec-
tors when investigating matters relating to 
accounting. Subject to the instructions given 
by the head of the investigation, such an ex-
pert or assistant could examine a sealed letter 
or other document. The impugned measures 
were therefore in accordance with law also in 
this respect.

67. The Government further opined that the in-
terference pursued the legitimate aim of pre-
venting crime and protecting the rights and 
freedoms of others. The measures were pro-
portionate to those aims, corresponded to a 
pressing social need and were accompanied 
by adequate and effective safeguards. They ar-
gued that it was necessary for the police to ex-
amine all of the material in the first applicant's 
office in order to find out which part of it was 
relevant to the investigation of the offence. The 
hard disks were subjected to a targeted search 
and only the potentially relevant client files in 
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the law office were perused. The reason for re-
taining a copy of the fourth hard disk was thor-
oughly explained and reviewed in the national 
proceedings, and was relevant and sufficient 
also for the purposes of Article 8 § 2. Moreo-
ver, police officers were under an obligation to 
respect confidentiality.

B. The Court's assessment
1.Whether there was an interference

68. The first applicant claimed that the search of 
his business and residential premises and the 
seizure of several documents had interfered 
with his right to respect for his private life, 
home and correspondence as guaranteed by 
Article 8 § 1. In this respect, the Government 
agreed that a search may have constituted an 
interference.

69. The client applicants claimed that the search 
and seizure of privileged material interfered 
with their rights under Article 8 of the Conven-
tion. The Government contested the other ap-
plicants' view, arguing that even though the 
correspondence with a lawyer falls under the 
protection of Article 8, there had not been any 
interference with their rights within the mean-
ing of Article 8 of the Convention.

70. The Court would point out that, as it has now 
repeatedly held, the notion of “home” in Ar-
ticle 8 § 1 encompasses not only a private 
individual's home. It recalls that the word 
“domicile” in the French version of Article 8 has 
a broader connotation than the word “home” 
and may extend, for example, to a professional 
person's office. Consequently, “home” is to be 
construed as including also the registered of-
fice of a company run by a private individual, 
as well as a juristic person's registered office, 
branches and other business premises (see, in-
ter alia, Buck v. Germany, no. 41604/98, § 31, 
28 April 2005, Chappell v. the United Kingdom, 
judgment of 30 March 1989, Series A no. 152-A, 
pp. 12-13 and 21-22, §§ 26 and 51; Niemietz 
v. Germany, judgment of 16 December 1992, 
Series A no. 251-B, §§ 29-31).

71. In the present case, the searches and seizure 
ordered by the police concerned, inter alia, the 
law office owned and managed by the first ap-
plicant. The search warrants were issued by the 
officer in charge of the police investigation, in 
which the first applicant was first considered as 
a witness, but the second search warrant was 
based on the suspicion that he was suspected 
of having aided and abetted an offence of ag-

gravated debtor's fraud allegedly committed 
by two of his clients (who are not applicants 
before the Court). It is undisputed that the po-
lice had copied a hard disk from one of the first 
applicant's computers and that the copy was 
kept by the police until a final court decision. 
The Court finds that the search by the police 
of the residential premises and the business 
premises of the first applicant, and the seizure 
of hard disks there, amounted to an interfer-
ence with the right to respect for the first appli-
cant's “home” and “correspondence”, as those 
terms have been interpreted in the Court's 
case- law (Niemietz, cited above, § 30). It fol-
lows that the search and seizure also amount-
ed to an interference with the right to respect 
for the client applicants' “correspondence” (see 
Niemietz, cited above, § 32).

72. Consequently, the Court finds it unnecessary 
to determine whether, as it has found in sev-
eral comparable cases (see, inter alia, Chap-
pell, cited above, § 51; Niemietz, cited above, 
§§ 29-31), there has also been an interfer-
ence with the applicants' right to respect for 
their private life as guaranteed by Article 8 § 1.

73. The Court must therefore examine whether 
this interference was in conformity with the re-
quirements of the second paragraph of Article 
8, in other words whether it was “in accordance 
with the law”, pursued one or more of the legit-
imate aims set out in that paragraph and was 
“necessary in a democratic society” to achieve 
the aim or aims in question.

2.Was the interference justified
(a)  Was the interference” in accordance with the 

law”?

74. The parties disagreed as to the description of 
domestic law. The applicants maintained that 
the search warrant was not in accordance with 
domestic law, as Chapter 4, section 2 of the 
Coercive Measures Act required the police to 
show circumspection when a lawyer was in-
volved in the seizure. They further maintained 
that since a search could only be performed 
to find something which could be seized and 
used as evidence (see Coercive Measures Act, 
Chapter 5, section 1), the police were not au-
thorised under the law to conduct a search if 
the purpose was to find a document in respect 
of which an evidential or seizure prohibition 
might be applied.

75. The Government contested this view, argu-
ing that according to Chapter 5, section 1 of 
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the Coercive Measures Act, a search could be 
carried out in order to seize an object which 
might be relevant in investigating an offence 
for which a penalty of more than six months' 
imprisonment was provided. In the present 
case where the first applicant was suspected 
of aggravated debtor's fraud and of aiding and 
abetting an offence of aggravated debtor's 
dishonesty, the search and seizure had been 
carried out for the purposes of investigating 
such a serious offence, which they submitted 
justified any interference with the confidential-
ity of the client-lawyer relationship that would 
normally enjoy special protection. In the Gov-
ernment's view, it was of no relevance in this 
context that the first applicant was a lawyer 
and that the search was carried out in his office.

As regards the other applicants, the Govern-
ment submitted that, according to section 34 
of the Police Act, information exclusively con-
cerning third parties had to be destroyed after 
review without delay, unless it was needed for 
the investigation of the offence. In their view, 
the impugned measures were in accordance 
with the law also in this respect.

76. The Court notes that the expression “in accord-
ance with the law”, within the meaning of Ar-
ticle 8 § 2 requires firstly that the impugned 
measure should have some basis in domestic 
law; it also refers to the quality of the law in 
question, requiring that it should be accessible 
to the person concerned, who must moreover 
be able to foresee its consequences for him, 
and compatible with the rule of law (see eg. 
Kopp v. Switzerland, judgment of 25 March 
1998, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 
1998-II, § 55).

 –WhethertherewasalegalbasisinFinnishlaw

77. The Court recalls that in accordance with the 
case-law of the Convention institutions, in re-
lation to Article 8 § 2 of the Convention, the 
term “law” is to be understood in its “substan-
tive” sense, not its “formal” one. In a sphere 
covered by written law, the “law” is the enact-
ment in force as the competent courts have 
interpreted it (see, inter alia, Société Colas Est 
and Others v. France, no. 37971/97, § 43, ECHR 
2002-III). In this respect, the Court reiterates 
that its power to review compliance with do-
mestic law is limited, it being in the first place 
for the national authorities, notably the courts, 
to interpret and apply that law (see, inter alia, 
Chappell, cited above, p. 23, § 54).

78. In principle, therefore, it is not for the Court to 

express an opinion contrary to that of the do-
mestic courts, which found that the search and 
seizure were based on the Coercive Measures 
Act and the Code on Judicial Procedure.

79. In short, the interference complained of had a 
legal basis in Finnish law.

 –“Qualityofthelaw”

80. The second requirement which emerges from 
the phrase “in accordance with the law” – the 
accessibility of the law – does not raise any 
problem in the instant case.

81. The same is not true of the third requirement, 
the “foreseeability” of the meaning and nature 
of the applicable measures.

82. The Court reiterates in that connection that 
Article 8 § 2 requires the law in question to 
be “compatible with the rule of law”. In the 
context of searches and seizures, the domes-
tic law must provide some protection to the 
individual against arbitrary interference with 
Article 8 rights. Thus, the domestic law must 
be sufficiently clear in its terms to give citizens 
an adequate indication as to the circumstances 
in and conditions on which public authorities 
are empowered to resort to any such measures 
(see mutatis mutandis, Kopp v. Switzerland, 
judgment of 25 March 1998, Reports of Judg-
ments and Decisions 1998-II, p. 541, § 64.

83. The Court must examine the “quality” of the 
legal rules applicable to the applicants in the 
instant case.

84. The Court notes in the first place that under 
the Coercive Measures Act, Chapter 4, section 
2, subsection 2, a document shall not be seized 
for evidential purposes if it may be presumed 
to contain information in regard to which a 
person is not allowed to give evidence.

85. Under Code of Judicial Procedure, Chapter 15, 
section 23, counsel may not testify in respect 
of what a client has told him or her for the pur-
pose of pleading a case.

86. Under the Advocates Act, section 5 c, an advo-
cate shall not without due permission disclose 
the secrets of an individual or family or busi-
ness or professional secrets which have come 
to his knowledge in the course of his profes-
sional activity.

87. On the face of the above-mentioned provision 
of the Code of Judicial Procedure, the Court 
finds the text unclear as far as it concerns confi-
dentiality. The above-mentioned domestic law 
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does not state with the requisite clarity wheth-
er the notion of “pleading a case” covers only 
the relationship between a lawyer and his/her 
clients in a particular case or their relationship 
generally. The Court refers to a lawyer's general 
obligation of professional secrecy and confi-
dentiality. In this respect the Court refers to the 
Recommendation (REC 2000/21) of the Com-
mittee of Ministers, according to which States 
should take all necessary measures to ensure 
the respect of the confidentiality of the client-
lawyer relationship.

88. The Government sought to resolve this by 
noting that in any case, the search and seizure 
were carried out for the purposes of investiga-
tion of a serious offence. A lawyer suspected 
of a severe crime could not, on their view, be 
treated differently from other suspects.

89. The Court, however, is not persuaded by this 
argument. In the present case, hard disks were 
searched, copied and seized. They contained 
information passing between the first appli-
cant and his clients, who had no role in the in-
vestigated offence. While the seized hard disks 
were returned to the first applicant, however, a 
copy of the fourth hard disk remained with the 
police for some considerable time. The Court 
notes that the search and seizure were rather 
extensive and is struck by the fact that there 
was no independent or judicial supervision.

90. The Court would emphasise that search and 
seizure represent a serious interference with 
private life, home and correspondence and 
must accordingly be based on a “law” that is 
particularly precise. It is essential to have clear, 
detailed rules on the subject.

91. In that connection, the Court notes that the 
relationship between the Coercive Measures 
Act, the Code of Judicial Procedure and the 
Advocates Act (read together) was somewhat 
unclear and gave rise to diverging views on the 
extent of the protection afforded to privileged 
material in searches and seizures, a situation 
which was identified also by the Deputy Chan-
cellor of Justice of Finland.

92. In sum, the Court finds that the search and sei-
zure measures in the present case were imple-
mented without proper legal safeguards. The 
Court concludes that, even if there could be 
said to be a general legal basis for the meas-
ures provided for in Finnish law, the absence 
of applicable regulations specifying with an 
appropriate degree of precision the circum-
stances in which privileged material could be 

subject to search and seizure deprived the 
applicants of the minimum degree of protec-
tion to which they were entitled under the rule 
of law in a democratic society (see, mutatis 
mutandis, Narinen v. Finland, no. 45027/98, § 
36, 1 June 2004).

93. The Court finds that in these circumstances it 
cannot be said that the interference in ques-
tion was “in accordance with the law” as re-
quired by Article 8 § 2 of the Convention.

94. There has therefore been a violation of Article 8 
of the Convention.

(b)  Purpose and necessity of the interference

95. Having regard to the above conclusion, the 
Court does not consider it necessary to review 
compliance with the other requirements of 
Article 8 § 2 in this case (see e.g. Kopp, cited 
above, § 76).

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
6 OF THE CONVENTION

96. The client applicants complained that the 
search and perusal of privileged material had 
breached Article 6 of the Convention, which 
provides:

“1.In the determination of ... any criminal
chargeagainsthim,everyone isentitled toa
fair and public hearing within a reasonable
timebyanindependentandimpartialtribunal
establishedbylaw....

3.Everyone charged with a criminal offence
hasthefollowingminimumrights:...

(b)tohaveadequatetimeandfacilitiesforthe
preparationofhisdefence;

(c)todefendhimselfinpersonorthroughlegal
assistanceofhisownchoosing....”

A. The parties' submissions
1.The applicant

97. The client applicants complained under Ar-
ticle 6 of the Convention and notably under 
§ 3 (b) and (c) that the search and perusal of 
privileged material relating to their respective 
instructions violated their right to a fair hearing 
and an effective defence. Some of the appli-
cants had instructed the first applicant to as-
sist them in criminal proceedings in which the 
police investigation had been conducted by 
officers also participating in the search.
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98. As the same fairness guarantees in principle 
also apply prior to the actual court proceed-
ings as well as in other than criminal proceed-
ings, the search and seizure also violated the 
rights under Article 6 of those client applicants 
who had not already been charged at that mo-
ment. A situation whereby public officials can 
study privileged material relating to cases not 
yet heard by the courts and other authorities 
waters down the guarantee of equality of arms 
between the parties.

99. The applicants relied on the wholesale char-
acter of the coercive measures, which were 
conducted without resorting to the assistance 
of an independent counsel appointed by the 
Bar Association, as recommended in the legal 
literature.

2.The Government

100. The Government accepted that in theory 
where a lawyer is involved in a search, an en-
croachment on professional secrecy may have 
repercussions on the proper administration of 
justice and hence on the rights guaranteed by 
Article 6. In the present case however it was 
necessary for the police to examine all of the 
material in the first applicant's office in order to 
identify those of relevance to the investigation. 
Only those documents were examined more 
closely and under domestic law no other ma-
terial was to be entered into the investigation 
record. The police officers were – and remain 
– under an obligation to respect confidential-
ity. Moreover, officials who obtain information 
in the context of a seizure are not allowed to 
use that information for purposes other than a 
criminal investigation.

101. The Government considered unsubstanti-
ated the applicants' allegation that information 
gleaned from the seized material was being 
used against the applicants in other proceed-
ings.

B. The Court's assessment

102. In view of the above finding of a violation of Ar-
ticle 8 based on the lack of foreseeability of the 
domestic law the Court considers that in the 
circumstances of this case there is no need to 
examine separately the additional complaints 
under Article 6 of the Convention.

III. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
13 OF THE CONVENTION

103. The applicants complained that the lack of ef-
fective remedy against the interference had 
breached Article 13 of the Convention, which 
provides:
“Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [the] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity.”

A. The parties' submissions
1.The applicant

104. The applicants complained under Article 13 
of the Convention that they had no effective 
remedy against the interference (search) other 
than the possibility of seeking a review of the 
lawfulness of the seizure. Even if the District 
Court did order the seizure to be revoked in 
response to such a request, that decision was 
overturned on appeal before the copied hard 
disk could be restored. Even assuming that the 
applicants had been successful in having that 
copy restored, the police had had ample time 
to peruse the documents thereon.

105. They maintained that as Finnish law stood at 
the time there seemed to be no effective rem-
edy against the revelation of confidential infor-
mation.

2.The Government

106. The Government reiterated that, according 
to section 118 of the Constitution, everyone 
who has suffered a violation of his or her rights 
or sustained loss through an unlawful act or 
omission by a civil servant or other person per-
forming a public function may bring charges 
against a civil servant or other person in charge 
of a public function, and also claim damages. 
Moreover, the Tort Liability Act also entitles an 
individual to institute proceedings against in-
vestigative authorities or against a court of law, 
before a district court, on the ground that he 
or she has suffered damage due to the perfor-
mance of a public function.

107. Finally, anyone affected by a seizure may chal-
lenge its lawfulness before a court of law under 
Chapter 4 section 13 of the Coercive Measures 
Act, as was done by four of the applicants. 
One may also petition the Ombudsman or 
the Chancellor of Justice or the regional or su-
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preme police command of the Ministry of the 
Interior.

108. As regards the destruction of property which 
has allegedly been seized unlawfully, including 
copies made of seized documents, the person 
affected by the seizure may request a court to 
issue a civil law order, whereby the investiga-
tive authorities are placed under an obligation 
to destroy the said material.

B. The Court's assessment
109. The Court recalls that the applicants com-

plained in essence about the search and sei-
zure of privileged material.

110. In view of the submissions of the applicant in 
the present case and of the grounds on which 
it has found a violation of Article 8 of the Con-
vention, the Court considers that there is no 
need to examine separately the complaints 
under Article 13 of the Convention.

IV. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

111. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage
112. Under the head of non-pecuniary damage the 

applicants asked the Court to award each of 
the 18 applicants 2,500 euros (EUR), totalling 
EUR 45,000, for suffering and distress resulting 
from the alleged violations.

113. The Government found the sum claimed for 
non-pecuniary damage excessive. In their view, 
the mere finding of a violation would suffice for 
the client applicants. In the case of the first ap-
plicant, the amount to be awarded should not 
exceed EUR 2,000.

114. The Court accepts that the first applicant has 
certainly suffered non-pecuniary damage – 
such as distress and frustration resulting from 
the search and seizure – which is not sufficient-
ly compensated by the findings of violation 
of the Convention. The Court awards the first 
applicant EUR 2,500 under this head, whereas 
it considers that the finding of a violation of Ar-

ticle 8 constitutes sufficient just satisfaction for 
the client applicants.

B. Costs and expenses
115. The applicants requested reimbursement of 

the balance of the legal expenses incurred by 
them in the Supreme Court by EUR 870.65, in-
cluding value-added tax (VAT). The Supreme 
Court awarded those applicants who were part 
of the proceedings before the Supreme Court 
EUR 3,500 for costs and expenses. This was EUR 
870.65 less than the costs incurred.

116. They also claimed the reimbursement of their 
legal costs and expenses incurred in the pro-
ceedings before this Court, amounting to 
EUR 6,135.84 (including VAT).

117. The Court recalls that the established principle 
in relation to domestic legal costs is that an ap-
plicant is entitled to be reimbursed those costs 
actually and necessarily incurred to prevent or 
redress the breach of the Convention, to the 
extent that the costs are reasonable as to quan-
tum (see, for example, I.J.L., G.M.R. and A.K.P. v. 
the United Kingdom (Article 41), nos. 29522/95, 
30056/96 and 30574/96, § 18, 25 September 
2001). It finds that the proceedings brought 
by the applicants nos. 2-3 and 8 against the 
seizure may be regarded as incurred to re-
dress the breach of Article 8 of the Convention 
complained of by the applicants. The Court ob-
serves that in the Supreme Court's judgment 
of 18 October 2002 it was mentioned that 
the said applicants requested reimbursement 
of their legal expenses before the domestic 
proceedings. Having regard to all the circum-
stances, the Court awards the applicants nos. 
2-3 and 8 EUR 870.

118. As for the proceedings before this Court the 
applicants' bill of costs and expenses of 26 
January 2004 totalled EUR 6,135.84 (including 
VAT). Having regard to all the circumstances, 
the Court awards the applicants EUR 6,000 un-
der this head.

C. Default interest
119. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.
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FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

Holds that there has been a violation of Article 8 of 
the Convention;

1. Holds that there is no need to examine sepa-
rately the complaints under Article 6 of the 
Convention;

2. Holds that there is no need to examine sepa-
rately the complaints under Article 13 of the 
Convention;

3. Holds:

(a) that the respondent State is to pay, within 
three months from the date on which the 
judgment becomes final in accordance 
with Article 44 § 2 of the Convention, the 
following amounts:

(i) EuR 2,500 (two thousand five hundred 
euros) to the first applicant in respect 
of non-pecuniary damage;

(ii) EuR 870 (eight hundred seventy eu-
ros) to applicant nos. 2, 3 and 8 in re-
spect of costs and expenses incurred 
before the national proceedings;

(iii) EuR 6,000 (six thousand euros) to the 
applicants jointly in respect of costs 
and expenses incurred in Strasbourg;

(iv) any tax that may be chargeable on the 
above amounts;

(b) that the finding of a violation constitutes 
in itself sufficient just satisfaction for any 
non-pecuniary damage sustained by the 
client applicants;

(c) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amounts at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

4. Dismisses the remainder of the applicants' 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 27 Sep-
tember 2005, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of 
the Rules of Court.

françoise Elens-Passos, Deputy Registrar 
Nicolas Bratza, President
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COMPUTER, PROFILING, INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY, 
INTERCEPTION, SECRET INFORMATION, PRIVATE LIFE, 
INFORMATIONAL SELF-DETERMINATION, SENSITIVE 
DATA

IN THE MALONE CASE,

The European Court of Human Rights, taking its de-
cision in plenary session in application of Rule 50 of 
the Rules of Court* and composed of the following 
judges:
Mr. G. Wiarda, President, 
Mr. R. Ryssdal, 
Mr. J. Cremona, 
Mr. Thór Vilhjálmsson, 
Mr. W. Ganshof van der Meersch, 
Mrs. D. Bindschedler-Robert, 
Mr. D. Evrigenis, 
Mr. G. Lagergren, 
Mr. F. Gölcüklü, 
Mr. F. Matscher, 
Mr. J. Pinheiro Farinha, 
Mr. E. García de Enterría, 
Mr. L.-E. Pettiti, 
Mr. B. Walsh, 
Sir Vincent Evans, 
Mr. R. Macdonald, 
Mr. C. Russo, 
Mr. J. Gersing, 
and also Mr. M.-A. Eissen, Registrar,  
and Mr. H. Petzold, Deputy Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 22 and 23 Febru-
ary and on 27 June 1984,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The present case was referred to the Court by 

the European Commission of Human Rights 
("the Commission") on 16 May 1983, within the 
period of three months laid down by Article 
32 para. 1 and Article 47 (art. 32-1, art. 47) of 
the Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms ("the Con-
vention"). The case originated in an application 
(no. 8691/79) against the United Kingdom of 

Great Britain and Northern Ireland lodged with 
the Commission on 19 July 1979 under Article 
25 (art. 25) by a United Kingdom citizen, Mr. 
James Malone.

2. The Commission’s request referred to Articles 
44 and 48 (art. 44, art. 48) and to the declara-
tion whereby the United Kingdom recognised 
the compulsory jurisdiction of the Court (Arti-
cle 46) (art. 46). The object of the request was 
to obtain a decision as to whether the facts of 
the case disclosed a breach by the respondent 
State of its obligations under Articles 8 and 13 
(art. 8, art. 13) of the Convention.

3. In response to the inquiry made in accordance 
with Rule 33 para. 3 (d) of the Rules of Court, 
Mr. Malone stated that he wished to participate 
in the proceedings pending before the Court 
and designated the lawyers who would repre-
sent him (Rule 30).

4. The Chamber of seven judges to be constitut-
ed included, as ex officio members, Sir Vincent 
Evans, the elected judge of British nationality 
(Article 43 of the Convention) (art. 43), and Mr. 
G. Wiarda, the President of the Court (Rule 21 
para. 3 (b)). On 27 May 1983, the President of 
the Court drew by lot, in the presence of the 
Registrar, the names of the five other members, 
namely Mr. M. Zekia, Mrs. D. Bindschedler-Rob-
ert, Mr. G. Lagergren, Mr. R. Bernhardt and Mr. 
J. Gersing (Article 43 in fine of the Convention 
and Rule 21 para. 4) (art. 43) .

Mr. Zekia and Mr. Bernhardt, who were pre-
vented from taking part in the consideration of 
the case, were subsequently replaced by Mr. B. 
Walsh and Mr. E. García de Enterría, substitute 
judges (Rules 22 para. 1 and 24 para. 1).

5. Mr. Wiarda assumed the office of President of 
the Chamber (Rule 21 para. 5). He ascertained, 
through the Registrar, the views of the Agent 
of the Government of the United Kingdom 
("the Government"), the Delegate of the Com-
mission and the lawyers for the applicant re-
garding the need for a written procedure. On 
24 June, he directed that the Agent and the 
lawyers for the applicant should each have un-
til 16 September to file a memorial and that the 
Delegate should be entitled to file, within two 
months from the date of the transmission to 
him by the Registrar of whichever of the afore-
said documents should last be filed, a memo-
rial in reply (Rule 37 para. 1).

On 14 September, the President extended until 
14 October each of the time-limits granted to 
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the Agent and the applicant’s lawyers.

6. The Government’s memorial was received 
at the registry on 14 October, the applicant’s 
memorial on 25 October. The Secretary to the 
Commission informed the Registrar by letter 
received on 22 December that the Delegate 
did not wish to file any written reply to these 
memorials but would be presenting his com-
ments at the hearings.

7. On 27 October, the Chamber unanimously 
decided to relinquish jurisdiction forthwith in 
favour of the plenary Court (Rule 50). On the 
same day, after consulting, through the Reg-
istrar, the Agent of the Government, the Dele-
gate of the Commission and the lawyers for the 
applicant, the President of the Court directed 
that the oral proceedings should open on 20 
February 1984 (Rule 38).

8. By letter received on 6 October 1983, the 
Post Office Engineering Union ("the POEU") 
requested leave under Rule 37 para. 2 to sub-
mit written comments, indicating, inter alia, 
its "specific occupational interest" in the case 
and five themes it would want to develop in 
written comments. On 3 November, the Presi-
dent granted leave but on narrower terms than 
those sought: he specified that the comments 
should bear solely on certain of the matters re-
ferred to in the POEU’s list of proposed themes 
and then only "in so far as such matters relate 
to the particular issues of alleged violation of 
the Convention which are before the Court for 
decision in the Malone case". He further direct-
ed that the comments should be filed not later 
than 3 January 1984.

On 16 December 1983, this time-limit was ex-
tended by the President by three weeks. The 
POEU’s comments were received at the regis-
try on 26 January 1984.

9. On 17 February 1984, the lawyers for the ap-
plicant filed the applicant’s claims for just sat-
isfaction under Article 50 (art. 50) of the Con-
vention. On the same day, the Government 
supplied two documents whose production 
the Registrar had asked for on the instructions 
of the President. By letter received on 19 Febru-
ary, the Government, with a view to facilitating 
the hearings the following day, gave a clarifica-
tion regarding a certain matter in the case.

10. The hearings were held in public at the Human 
Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 20 February. 
Immediately prior to their opening, the Court 
had held a preparatory meeting.

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Mr. M. Eaton, Legal Counsellor, Foreign 
and Commonwealth Office, Agent,

Sir Michael Havers, Q.C., M.P., Attorney 
General,

Mr. N. Bratza, Barrister-at-Law, Counsel,

Mr. H. Steel, Law Officers’ Department,

Mrs. S. Evans, Legal Adviser, Home Office, 
Advisers;

(b) for the Commission

Mr. C. Nørgaard, President of the Commis-
sion, Delegate;

(c) for the applicant

Mr. C. Ross-Munro, Q.C.,

Mr. D. Serota, Barrister-at-Law, Counsel.

The Court heard addresses by Sir Michael Ha-
vers for the Government, by Mr. Nørgaard for 
the Commission and by Mr. Ross-Munro for the 
applicant, as well as their replies to its ques-
tions.

11. On 27 February, in fulfilment of an undertaking 
given at the hearing, the Government supplied 
copies of extracts from a document which had 
been referred to in argument at the hearing. 
By letter received on 5 June, they notified the 
Registrar of an amendment to this document.

As to tHE FACts

I. PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES OF 
THE CASE

12. Mr. James Malone was born in 1937 and is 
resident in Dorking, Surrey. In 1977, he was 
an antique dealer. It appears that he has since 
ceased business as such.

13. On 22 March 1977, Mr. Malone was charged 
with a number of offences relating to dishon-
est handling of stolen goods. His trial, which 
took place in June and August 1978, resulted in 
his being acquitted on certain counts and the 
jury disagreeing on the rest. He was retried on 
the remaining charges between April and May 
1979. Following a further failure by the jury to 
agree, he was once more formally arraigned; 
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the prosecution offered no evidence and he 
was acquitted.

14. During the first trial, it emerged that details of 
a telephone conversation to which Mr. Malone 
had been a party prior to 22 March 1977 were 
contained in the note-book of the police officer 
in charge of the investigations. Counsel for the 
prosecution then accepted that this conversa-
tion had been intercepted on the authority of a 
warrant issued by the Secretary of State for the 
Home Department.

15. In October 1978, the applicant instituted civil 
proceedings in the Chancery Division of the 
High Court against the Metropolitan Police 
Commissioner, seeking, inter alia, declarations 
to the effect that interception, monitoring and 
recording of conversations on his telephone 
lines without his consent was unlawful, even 
if done pursuant to a warrant of the Secretary 
of State. The Solicitor General intervened in the 
proceedings on behalf of the Secretary of State 
but without being made a party. On 28 Febru-
ary 1979, the Vice-Chancellor, Sir Robert Meg-
arry, dismissed the applicant’s claim (Malone v. 
Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis (No. 
2), [1979] 2 All England Law Reports 620; also 
reported at [1979] 2 Weekly Law Reports 700). 
An account of this judgment is set out below 
(at paragraphs 31-36).

16. The applicant further believed that both his 
correspondence and his telephone calls had 
been intercepted for a number of years. He 
based his belief on delay to and signs of inter-
ference with his correspondence. In particu-
lar, he produced to the Commission bundles 
of envelopes which had been delivered to 
him either sealed with an adhesive tape of an 
identical kind or in an unsealed state. As to his 
telephone communications, he stated that he 
had heard unusual noises on his telephone 
and alleged that the police had at times been 
in possession of information which they could 
only have obtained by telephone tapping. He 
thought that such measures had continued 
since his acquittal on the charges against him.

It was admitted by the Government that the 
single conversation about which evidence 
emerged at the applicant’s trial had been in-
tercepted on behalf of the police pursuant to 
a warrant issued under the hand of the Secre-
tary of State for the prevention and detection 
of crime. According to the Government, this 
interception was carried out in full conform-
ity with the law and the relevant procedures. 

No disclosure was made either at the trial of 
the applicant or during the course of the ap-
plicant’s proceedings against the Commis-
sioner of Police as to whether the applicant’s 
own telephone number had been tapped or 
as to whether other and, if so, what other, tel-
ephone conversations to which the applicant 
was a party had been intercepted. The primary 
reasons given for withholding this information 
were that disclosure would or might frustrate 
the purpose of telephone interceptions and 
might also serve to identify other sources of 
police information, particularly police inform-
ants, and thereby place in jeopardy the source 
in question. For similar reasons, the Govern-
ment declined to disclose before the Commis-
sion or the Court to what extent, if at all, the 
applicant’s telephone calls and correspond-
ence had been intercepted on behalf of the 
police authorities. It was however denied that 
the resealing with adhesive tape or the deliv-
ery unsealed of the envelopes produced to 
the Commission was attributable directly or 
indirectly to any interception. The Government 
conceded that, as the applicant was at the ma-
terial time suspected by the police of being 
concerned in the receiving of stolen property 
and in particular of stolen antiques, he was one 
of a class of persons against whom measures of 
interception were liable to be employed.

17. In addition, Mr. Malone believed that his tel-
ephone had been "metered" on behalf of the 
police by a device which automatically re-
cords all numbers dialled. As evidence for this 
belief, he asserted that when he was charged 
in March 1977 the premises of about twenty 
people whom he had recently telephoned 
were searched by the police. The Government 
affirmed that the police had neither caused 
the applicant’s telephone calls to be metered 
nor undertaken the alleged or any search op-
erations on the basis of any list of numbers ob-
tained from metering.

18. In September 1978, the applicant requested 
the Post Office and the complaints department 
of the police to remove suspected listening 
devices from his telephone. The Post Office 
and the police both replied that they had no 
authority in the matter.

II. RELEVANT LAW AND PRACTICE

A. Introduction
19. The following account is confined to the law 

and practice in England and Wales relating to 
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the interception of communications on behalf 
of the police for the purposes of the preven-
tion and detection of crime. The expression 
"interception" is used to mean the obtaining 
of information about the contents of a com-
munication by post or telephone without the 
consent of the parties involved.

20. It has for long been the practice for the inter-
ception of postal and telephone communica-
tions in England and Wales to be carried out 
on the authority of a warrant issued by a Secre-
tary of State, nowadays normally the Secretary 
of State for the Home Department (the Home 
Secretary). There is no overall statutory code 
governing the matter, although various statu-
tory provisions are applicable thereto. The ef-
fect in domestic law of these provisions is the 
subject of some dispute in the current pro-
ceedings. Accordingly, the present summary 
of the facts is limited to what is undisputed, 
the submissions in relation to the contested 
aspects of these provisions being dealt with in 
the part of the judgment "as to the law".

21. Three official reports available to the public 
have described and examined the working of 
the system for the interception of communica-
tions.

Firstly, a Committee of Privy Councillors under 
the chairmanship of Lord Birkett was appointed 
in June 1957 "to consider and report upon the 
exercise by the Secretary of State of the execu-
tive power to intercept communications and, 
in particular, under what authority, to what 
extent and for what purposes this power has 
been exercised and to what use information 
so obtained has been put; and to recommend 
whether, how and subject to what safeguards, 
this power should be exercised ...". The Com-
mittee’s report (hereinafter referred to as "the 
Birkett report") was published in October 1957 
(as Command Paper 283). The Government 
of the day announced that they accepted the 
report and its recommendations, and were 
taking immediate steps to implement those 
recommendations calling for a change in pro-
cedure. Subsequent Governments, in the per-
son of the Prime Minister or the Home Secre-
tary, publicly reaffirmed before Parliament that 
the arrangements relating to the interception 
of communications were strictly in accordance 
with the procedures described and recom-
mended in the Birkett report.

Secondly, a Command Paper entitled "The In-
terception of Communications in Great Britain" 

was presented to Parliament by the then Home 
Secretary in April 1980 (Command Paper 7873 
- hereinafter referred to as "the White Paper"). 
The purpose of the White Paper was to bring 
up to date the account given in the Birkett re-
port.

Finally, in March 1981 a report by Lord Diplock, 
a Lord of Appeal in Ordinary who had been ap-
pointed to monitor the relevant procedures on 
a continuing basis (see paragraphs 54 and 55 
below), was published outlining the results of 
the monitoring he had carried out to date.

22. The legal basis of the practice of intercepting 
telephone communications was also exam-
ined by the Vice-Chancellor in his judgment in 
the action which the applicant brought against 
the Metropolitan Police Commissioner (see 
paragraphs 31-36 below).

23. Certain changes have occurred in the organi-
sation of the postal and telephone services 
since 1957, when the Birkett Committee made 
its report. The Post Office, which ran both ser-
vices, was then a Department of State under 
the direct control of a Minister (the Postmaster 
General). By virtue of the Post Office Act 1969, 
it became a public corporation with a certain 
independence of the Crown, though subject 
to various ministerial powers of supervision 
and control exercised at the material time by 
the Home Secretary. The Post Office Act 1969 
was repealed in part and amended by the Brit-
ish Telecommunications Act 1981. That Act di-
vided the Post Office into two corporations: the 
Post Office, responsible for mail, and British Tel-
ecommunications, responsible for telephones. 
The 1981 Act made no change of substance 
in relation to the law governing interceptions. 
For the sake of convenience, references in the 
present judgment are to the position as it was 
before the 1981 Act came into force.

B. Legal position relating to interception of 
communications prior to 1969

24. The existence of a power vested in the Sec-
retary of State to authorise by warrant the in-
terception of correspondence, in the sense of 
detaining and opening correspondence trans-
mitted by post, has been acknowledged from 
early times and its exercise has been publicly 
known (see the Birkett report, Part I, especially 
paras. 11, 17 and 39). The precise origin in law 
of this executive authority is obscure (ibid., 
para. 9). Nevertheless, although none of the 
Post Office statutes (of 1710, 1837, 1908 or 
1953) contained clauses expressly conferring 
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authority to intercept communications, all rec-
ognised the power as an independently exist-
ing power which it was lawful to exercise (ibid., 
paras. 17 and 38).

25. At the time of the Birkett report, the most re-
cent statutory provision recognising the right 
of interception of a postal communication was 
section 58 sub-section 1 of the Post Office Act 
1953, which provides:

"If any officer of the Post Office, contrary to
hisduty,opens...anypostalpacketincourse
oftransmissionbypost,orwilfullydetainsor
delays ... any such postal packet, he shall be
guiltyofamisdemeanour....

Providedthatnothinginthissectionshallex-
tendto ... theopening,detainingordelaying
ofapostalpacket...inobediencetoanexpress
warrantinwritingunderthehandofaSecre-
taryofState."

"Postal packet" is defined in section 87 sub-
section 1 of the Act as meaning:

"aletter,postcard,replypostcard,newspaper,
printed packet, sample packet or parcel and
everypacket or article transmissiblebypost,
andincludesatelegram".

Section 58, which is still in force, reproduced a 
clause that had been on the statute book with-
out material amendment since 1710.

26. So far as telecommunications are further con-
cerned, it is an offence under section 45 of the 
Telegraph Act 1863 if an official of the Post 
Office "improperly divulges to any person the 
purport of any message". Section 11 of the Post 
Office (Protection) Act 1884 creates a similar 
offence in relation to telegrams. In addition, 
section 20 of the Telegraph Act 1868 makes 
it a criminal offence if any Post Office official 
"shall, contrary to his duty, disclose or in any 
way make known or intercept the contents 
or any part of the contents of any telegraphic 
message or any message entrusted to the [Post 
Office] for the purpose of transmission".

These provisions are still in force.

27. It was held in a case decided in 1880 (Attorney 
General v. Edison Telephone Company, (1880) 
6 Queen’s Bench Division 244) that a telephone 
conversation is a "telegraphic communication" 
for the purposes of the Telegraph Acts. It has 
not been disputed in the present proceedings 
that the offences under the Telegraph Acts ap-
ply to telephone conversations.

28. The power to intercept telephone messages 
has been exercised in England and Wales from 
time to time since the introduction of the tel-
ephone. Until the year 1937, the Post Office, 
which was at that time a Department of Gov-
ernment, acted upon the view that the power 
which the Crown exercised in intercepting 
telephone messages was a power possessed 
by any operator of telephones and was not 
contrary to law. Consequently, no warrants by 
the Secretary of State were issued and arrange-
ments for the interception of telephone con-
versations were made directly between the po-
lice authorities and the Director-General of the 
Post Office. In 1937, the position was reviewed 
by the Home Secretary and the Postmaster 
General (the Minister then responsible for the 
administration of the Post Office) and it was 
decided, as a matter of policy, that it was unde-
sirable that records of telephone conversations 
should be made by Post Office servants and 
disclosed to the police without the authority of 
the Secretary of State. The view was taken that 
the power which had for long been exercised 
to intercept postal communications on the 
authority of a warrant of the Secretary of State 
was, by its nature, wide enough to include the 
interception of telephone communications. 
Since 1937 it had accordingly been the prac-
tice of the Post Office to intercept telephone 
conversations only on the express warrant of 
the Secretary of State (see the Birkett report, 
paras. 40-41).

The Birkett Committee considered that the 
power to intercept telephone communications 
rested upon the power plainly recognised by 
the Post Office statutes as existing before the 
enactment of the statutes (Birkett report, para. 
50). It concluded (ibid., para. 51):
"Wearethereforeoftheopinionthatthestate
of the law might fairly be expressed in this
way.

(a)Thepowertointerceptlettershasbeenex-
ercisedfromtheearliesttimes,andhasbeen
recognisedinsuccessiveActsofParliament.

(b)Thispowerextendstotelegrams.

(c)It isdifficulttoresisttheviewthatifthere
isalawfulpowertointerceptcommunications
intheformoflettersandtelegrams,thenitis
wideenoughtocovertelephonecommunica-
tionsaswell."

C. Post Office Act 1969
29. Under the Post Office Act 1969, the "Post Of-
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fice" ceased to be a Department of State and 
was established as a public corporation of 
that name with the powers, duties and func-
tions set out in the Act. In consequence of the 
change of status of the Post Office and of the 
fact that the Post Office was no longer under 
the direct control of a Minister of the Crown, 
it became necessary to make express statu-
tory provision in relation to the interception of 
communications on the authority of a warrant 
of the Secretary of State. By section 80 of the 
Act it was therefore provided as follows:
"Arequirementtodowhatisnecessarytoin-
formdesignatedpersonsholdingofficeunder
the Crown concerning matters and things
transmitted or in course of transmission by
means of postal or telecommunication ser-
vicesprovidedbythePostOfficemaybelaid
onthePostOfficeforthelikepurposesandin
thelikemanneras,atthepassingofthisAct,
arequirementmaybelaidonthePostmaster
Generaltodowhatisnecessarytoinformsuch
personsconcerningmattersandthingstrans-
mittedorincourseoftransmissionbymeans
ofsuchservicesprovidedbyhim."

30. The 1969 Act also introduced, for the first time, 
an express statutory defence to the offences 
under the Telegraph Acts mentioned above 
(at paragraph 26), similar to that which exists 
under section 58 para. 1 of the Post Office Act 
1953. This was effected by paragraph 1 sub-
paragraph 1 of Schedule 5 to the Act, which 
reads:
"In any proceedings against a person in re-
spect of an offence under section 45 of the
TelegraphAct1863orsection11of thePost
Office (Protection)Act1884consisting in the
improper divulgingof thepurport of ames-
sage or communication or an offence under
section20oftheTelegraphAct1868itshallbe
adefence forhim toprove that theact con-
stituting theoffencewasdone in obedience
toawarrantunderthehandofaSecretaryof
State."

D. Judgment of Sir Robert Megarry v.-C. in 
Malone v. Commissioner of Police of the 
Metropolis

31. In the civil action which he brought against the 
Metropolitan Police Commissioner, Mr. Malone 
sought various relief including declarations to 
the following effect:

• that any "tapping" (that is, interception, 
monitoring or recording) of conversations 
on his telephone lines without his consent, 

or disclosing the contents thereof, was un-
lawful even if done pursuant to a warrant of 
the Home Secretary;

• that he had rights of property, privacy and 
confidentiality in respect of conversations 
on his telephone lines and that the above-
stated tapping and disclosure were in 
breach of those rights;

• that the tapping of his telephone lines vio-
lated Article 8 (art. 8) of the Convention.

In his judgment, delivered on 28 February 
1979, the Vice-Chancellor noted that he had 
no jurisdiction to make the declaration claimed 
in respect of Article 8 (art. 8) of the Convention. 
He made a detailed examination of the domes-
tic law relating to telephone tapping, held in 
substance that the practice of tapping on be-
half of the police as recounted in the Birkett 
report was legal and accordingly dismissed the 
action.

32. The Vice-Chancellor described the central is-
sue before him as being in simple form: is 
telephone tapping in aid of the police in their 
functions relating to crime illegal? He further 
delimited the question as follows:
"... the only form of telephone tapping that
has been debated is tapping which consists
ofthemakingofrecordingsbyPostOfficeof-
ficials in somepartof theexisting telephone
system, and themaking of those recordings
available to police officers for the purposes
of transcriptionanduse. I amnotconcerned
withany formof tapping that involvedelec-
tronicdeviceswhichmakewireless transmis-
sions, norwith anyprocesswhereby anyone
trespassesontothepremisesofthesubscriber
oranyoneelsetoaffixtappingdevicesorthe
like.AllthatIamconcernedwithisthelegal-
ityoftappingeffectedbymeansofrecording
telephone conversations from wires which,
thoughconnectedtothepremisesofthesub-
scriber,arenotonthem."([1979]2AllEngland
LawReports,p.629)

33. The Vice-Chancellor held that there was no 
right of property (as distinct from copyright) in 
words transmitted along telephone lines (ibid., 
p. 631).

As to the applicant’s remaining contentions 
based on privacy and confidentiality, he ob-
served firstly that no assistance could be 
derived from cases dealing with other kinds 
of warrant. Unlike a search of premises, the 
process of telephone tapping on Post Office 
premises did not involve any act of trespass 
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and so was not prima facie illegal (ibid., p. 640). 
Secondly, referring to the warrant of the Home 
Secretary, the Vice-Chancellor remarked that 
such warrant did not "purport to be issued 
under the authority of any statute or of the 
common law". The decision to introduce such 
warrants in 1937 seemed "plainly to have been 
an administrative decision not dictated or re-
quired by statute" (ibid.). He referred, however, 
to section 80 of the Post Office Act 1969 and 
Schedule 5 to the Act, on which the Solicitor 
General had based certain contentions sum-
marised as follows:
"Although the previous arrangements had
beenmerelyadministrative,theyhadbeenset
outintheBirkettreportadozenyearsearlier,
and the section plainly referred to these ar-
rangements; ...Awarrantwasnotneeded to
makethetappinglawful:itwaslawfulwithout
anywarrant.Butwherethetappingwasdone
underwarrant ... [section 80] afforded statu-
toryrecognitionofthelawfulnessofthetap-
ping."(ibid.,p.641)

"In their essentials", stated the Vice-Chancellor, 
"these contentions seem to me to be sound." 
He accepted that, by the 1969 Act,
"Parliament has provided a clear recognition
ofthewarrantoftheHomeSecretaryashav-
inganeffective function in law,bothaspro-
viding a defence to certain criminal charges,
andalsoasamountingtoaneffectiverequire-
ment for the Post Office to do certain acts"
(ibid.,pp.641-642).

The Vice-Chancellor further concluded that 
there was in English law neither a general right 
of privacy nor, as the applicant had contended, 
a particular right of privacy to hold a telephone 
conversation in the privacy of one’s home with-
out molestation (ibid., pp. 642-644). Moreover, 
no duty of confidentiality existed between the 
Post Office and the telephone subscriber; nor 
was there any other obligation of confidence 
on a person who overheard a telephone con-
versation, whether by means of tapping or oth-
erwise (ibid., pp. 645-647).

34. Turning to the arguments based on the Con-
vention, the Vice-Chancellor noted firstly that 
the Convention was not part of the law of Eng-
land and, as such, did not confer on the appli-
cant direct rights that could be enforced in the 
English courts (ibid., p. 647).

He then considered the applicant’s argument 
that the Convention, as interpreted by the Eu-
ropean Court in the case of Klass and Others 

(judgment of 6 September 1978, Series A no. 
28), could be used as a guide to assist in the de-
termination of English law on a point that was 
uncertain. He observed that the issues before 
him did not involve construing legislation en-
acted with the purpose of giving effect to ob-
ligations imposed by the Convention. Where 
Parliament had abstained from legislating on a 
point that was plainly suitable for legislation, it 
was difficult for the court to lay down new rules 
that would carry out the Crown’s treaty obliga-
tions, or to discover for the first time that such 
rules had always existed. He compared the sys-
tem of safeguards considered in the Klass case 
with the English system, as described in the 
Birkett report, and concluded:
"...Notasingleoneofthesesafeguardsistobe
foundas amatterof established law inEng-
land,andonlyafewcorrespondingprovisions
existasamatterofadministrativeprocedure.

Itdoesnot,ofcourse,followthatasystemwith
fewerordifferentsafeguardswillfailtosatisfy
Article 8 (art. 8) in the eyes of the European
CourtofHumanRights.Atthesametime,itis
impossibletoreadthe judgment intheKlass
case without it becoming abundantly clear
that a systemwhichhasno legal safeguards
whatever has small chance of satisfying the
requirementsof thatCourt,whateveradmin-
istrative provisions there may be. ... Even if
thesystem[inoperation inEngland]wereto
beconsideredadequateinitsconditions,itis
laiddownmerelyasamatterofadministrative
procedure, so that it isunenforceable in law,
and as amatter of law could at any timebe
alteredwithoutwarningorsubsequentnotifi-
cation.Certainlyinlawany‘adequateandef-
fectivesafeguardsagainstabuse’arewanting.
InthisrespectEnglishlawcomparesmostun-
favourablywithWestGermanlaw:thisisnota
subjectonwhichitispossibletofeelanypride
inEnglishlaw.

IthereforefinditimpossibletoseehowEng-
lish law could be said to satisfy the require-
mentsoftheConvention,asinterpretedinthe
Klasscase,unlessthatlawnotonlyprohibited
alltelephonetappingsaveinsuitablylimited
classesofcase,butalsolaiddowndetailedre-
strictionsontheexerciseofthepowerinthose
limitedclasses."

This conclusion did not, however, enable the 
Vice-Chancellor to decide the case in the way 
the applicant sought:
"Itmay perhaps be that the common law is
sufficiently fertiletoachievewhat isrequired
bythefirstlimbof[theabove-statedproviso]:
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possiblewaysofexpressingsucharulemaybe
seeninwhatIhavealreadysaid.ButIseethe
greatestdifficultyinthecommonlawframing
the safeguards required by the second limb.
Variousinstitutionsorofficeswouldhavetobe
broughtintobeingtoexercisevariousdefined
functions. The more complex and indefinite
thesubject-matterthegreaterthedifficultyin
the court doingwhat it is really appropriate,
andonlyappropriate,forthelegislaturetodo.
Furthermore, I find ithard to seewhat there
is in the present case to require the English
courts to strugglewithsuchaproblem.Give
fullreintotheConvention,anditisclearthat
whentheobjectofthesurveillanceisthede-
tectionofcrime,thequestion isnotwhether
thereoughttobeageneralprohibitionofall
surveillance, but in what circumstances, and
subjecttowhatconditionsandrestrictions,it
oughttobepermitted.Itisthosecircumstanc-
es,conditionsandrestrictionswhichareatthe
centreofthiscase;andyetitistheywhichare
theleastsuitablefordeterminationbyjudicial
decision.

... Any regulation of so complex amatter as
telephone tapping is essentially amatter for
Parliament, not the courts; and neither the
ConventionnortheKlasscasecan,Ithink,play
anyproper part in deciding the issuebefore
me."(ibid.,pp.647-649)

He added that "this case seems to me to make 
it plain that telephone tapping is a subject 
which cries out for legislation", and continued:
"Howevermuch theprotectionof thepublic
against crime demands that in proper cases
the police should have the assistance of tel-
ephonetapping,Iwouldhavethoughtthatin
anycivilisedsystemoflawtheclaimsofliberty
andjusticewouldrequirethattelephoneusers
shouldhaveeffectiveand independent safe-
guardsagainstpossibleabuses.Thefactthata
telephoneuserissuspectedofcrimeincreases
rather thandiminishes this requirement: sus-
picions,howeverreasonablyheld,maysome-
timesprovetobewhollyunfounded.Ifthere
were effective and independent safeguards,
thesewouldnotonlyexclude somecasesof
excessive zeal but also, by their mere exist-
ence, provide some degree of reassurance
for those who are resentful of the police or
believe themselves to be persecuted." (ibid.,
p.649)

35. As a final point of substance, the Vice-Chan-
cellor dealt, in the following terms, with the 
applicant’s contention that as no power to tap 
telephones had been given by either statute 
or common law, the tapping was necessarily 
unlawful:

"Ihavealreadyheldthat, ifsuchtappingcan
becarriedoutwithoutcommittinganybreach
ofthelaw,itrequiresnoauthorisationbystat-
ute or common law; it can lawfully be done
simplybecausethereisnothingtomakeitun-
lawful.NowthatIhaveheldthatsuchtapping
canindeedbecarriedoutwithoutcommitting
anybreachofthe law,thecontentionneces-
sarilyfails.Imayalsosaythatthestatutoryrec-
ognitiongiven to theHomeSecretary’swar-
rantseemstometopointclearlytothesame
conclusion."(ibid.,p.649)

36. The Vice-Chancellor therefore held that the ap-
plicant’s claim failed in its entirety. He made the 
following concluding remarks as to the ambit 
of his decision:
"Thoughofnecessity Ihavediscussedmuch,
myactualdecisioniscloselylimited.Itiscon-
finedtothetappingofthetelephonelinesofa
particularpersonwhichiseffectedbythePost
Office on Post Office premises in pursuance
ofawarrantof theHomeSecretary inacase
inwhichthepolicehavejustcauseorexcuse
forrequestingthetapping,inthatitwillassist
theminperformingtheirfunctionsinrelation
to crime, whether in prevention, detection,
discovering the criminals or otherwise, and
in which the material obtained is used only
by the police, and only for those purposes.
Inparticular, Idecidenothingon tappingef-
fectedforotherpurposes,orbyotherpersons,
orbyothermeans;nothingontappingwhen
the information is supplied to persons other
thanthepolice;andnothingontappingwhen
thepoliceusethematerialforpurposesother
than those I havementioned. The principles
involvedinmydecisionmayormaynotbeof
someassistanceinsuchothercases,whether
byanalogyorotherwise:butmyactualdeci-
sionislimitedinthewaythatIhavejuststat-
ed."(ibid.,p.651)

E. Subsequent consideration of the need for 
legislation

37. Following the Vice-Chancellor’s judgment, the 
necessity for legislation concerning the inter-
ception of communications was the subject of 
review by the Government, and of Parliamen-
tary discussion. On 1 April 1980, on the publi-
cation of the White Paper, the Home Secretary 
announced in Parliament that after carefully 
considering the suggestions proffered by the 
Vice-Chancellor in his judgment, the Govern-
ment had decided not to introduce legislation. 
He explained the reasons for this decision in 
the following terms:
"The interception of communications is, by



256 CASEOFMALONEVTHEUNITEDKINGDOM

EC
HR

EC
J

definition,apracticethatdependsforitseffec-
tivenessandvalueuponbeingcarriedout in
secret,andcannotthereforebesubjecttothe
normalprocessesofparliamentarycontrol.Its
acceptabilityinademocraticsocietydepends
onitsbeingsubjecttoministerialcontrol,and
onthereadinessofthepublicandtheirrepre-
sentatives inParliament to repose their trust
in the Ministers concerned to exercise that
control responsiblyandwitha rightsenseof
balancebetweenthevalueofinterceptionas
ameansofprotectingorderandsecurityand
thethreatwhichitmaypresenttotheliberty
ofthesubject.

Within the necessary limits of secrecy, I and
myrighthon.Friendswhoareconcernedare
responsibletoParliamentforourstewardship
inthissphere.Therewouldbenomoresense
inmakingsuchsecretmattersjusticiablethan
therewouldbeinmybeingobligedtoreveal
them in theHouse. If thepower to intercept
were to be regulated by statute, then the
courtswouldhavepower to inquire into the
matter and to do so, if not publicly, then at
leastinthepresenceofthecomplainant.This
mustsurely limit theuseof interceptionasa
tool of investigation. The Government have
cometo theclearconclusionthat theproce-
dures, conditions and safeguards described
in the [White] Paper ensure strict control of
interceptionbyMinisters,areagoodandsuf-
ficientprotectionforthelibertyofthesubject,
andwouldnotbemadesignificantlymoreef-
fectiveforthatpurposebybeingembodiedin
legislation.TheGovernmenthaveaccordingly
decidednottointroducelegislationonthese
matters"(Hansard,HouseofCommons,1April
1980,cols.205-207).

He gave an assurance that "Parliament will be 
informed of any changes that are made in the 
arrangements" (ibid., col. 208).

38. In the course of the Parliamentary proceed-
ings leading to the enactment of the British 
Telecommunications Act 1981, attempts were 
made to include in the Bill provisions which 
would have made it an offence to intercept 
mail or matters sent by public telecommuni-
cation systems except pursuant to a warrant 
issued under conditions which corresponded 
substantially to those described in the White 
Paper. The Government successfully opposed 
these moves, primarily on the grounds that se-
crecy, which was essential if interception was 
to be effective, could not be maintained if the 
arrangements for interception were laid down 
by legislation and thus became justiciable in 
the courts. The present arrangements and safe-

guards were adequate and the proposed new 
provisions were, in the Government’s view, un-
workable and unnecessary (see, for example, 
the statement of the Home Secretary in the 
House of Commons on 1 April 1981, Hansard, 
cols. 334-338). The 1981 Act eventually con-
tained a re-enactment of section 80 of the Post 
Office Act 1969 applicable to the Telecommu-
nications Corporation (Schedule 3, para. 1, of 
the 1981 Act). Section 80 of the 1969 Act itself 
continues to apply to the Post Office.

39. In its report presented to Parliament in Janu-
ary 1981 (Command Paper 8092), the Royal 
Commission on Criminal Procedure, which 
had been appointed in 1978, also considered 
the possible need for legislation in this field. In 
the chapter entitled "Investigative powers and 
the rights of the citizen", the Royal Commis-
sion made the following recommendation in 
regard to what it termed "surreptitious surveil-
lance" (paras. 3.56-3.60):
"... [A]lthoughwehaveno evidence that the
existing controls are inadequate to prevent
abuse, we think that there are strong argu-
ments for introducing a system of statutory
controlonsimilarlinestothatwhichwehave
recommendedforsearchwarrants.Aswithall
features of police investigative procedures,
the value of prescribing them in statutory
form is that it brings clarity andprecision to
therules;theyareopentopublicscrutinyand
to the potential of Parliamentary review. So
farassurveillancedevicesingeneralarecon-
cernedthisisnotatpresentso.

...

Wethereforerecommendthattheuseofsur-
veillancedevicesbythepolice(includingthe
interceptionoflettersandtelephonecommu-
nications)shouldberegulatedbystatute."

These recommendations were not adopted by 
the Government.

40. A few months later, the Law Commission, a 
permanent body set up by statute in 1965 for 
the purpose of promoting reform of the law, 
produced a report on breach of confidence 
(presented to Parliament in October 1981 - 
Command Paper 8388). This report examined, 
inter alia, the implications for the civil law of 
confidence of the acquisition of information by 
surveillance devices, and made various propos-
als for reform of the law (paras. 6.35 - 6.46). The 
Law Commission, however, felt that the ques-
tion whether "the methods which the police 
... may use to obtain information should be 



257CASEOFMALONEVTHEUNITEDKINGDOM

EC
J

EC
HR

defined by statute" was a matter outside the 
scope of its report (paras. 6.43 and 6.44 in fine). 
No action has been taken by the Government 
on this report.

f. The practice followed in relation to 
interceptions

41. Details of the current practices followed in re-
lation to interceptions are set out in the Gov-
ernment’s White Paper of 1980. The practices 
there summarised are essentially the same 
as those described and recommended in the 
Birkett report, and referred to in Parliamentary 
statements by successive Prime Ministers and 
Home Secretaries in 1957, 1966, 1978 and 1980.

42. The police, H.M. Customs and Excise and the 
Security Service may request authority for 
the interception of communications for the 
purposes of "detection of serious crime and 
the safeguarding of the security of the State" 
(paragraph 2 of the White Paper). Interception 
may take place only on the authority of the 
Secretary of State given by warrant under his 
own hand. In England and Wales, the power to 
grant such warrants is exercised by the Home 
Secretary or occasionally, if he is ill or absent, by 
another Secretary of State on his behalf (ibid.). 
In the case of warrants applied for by the police 
to assist them in the detection of crime, three 
conditions must be satisfied before a warrant 
will be issued:

(d) the offence must be "really serious";

(e) normal methods of investigation must have 
been tried and failed or must, from the na-
ture of things, be unlikely to succeed;

(f) there must be good reason to think that an 
interception would be likely to lead to an 
arrest and a conviction.

43. As is indicated in the Birkett report (paras. 58-
61), the concept of "serious crime" has varied 
from time to time. Changing circumstances 
have made some acts serious offences which 
were not previously so regarded; equally, some 
offences formerly regarded as serious enough 
to justify warrants for the interception of com-
munications have ceased to be so regarded. 
Thus, the interception of letters believed to 
contain obscene or indecent matter ceased in 
the mid-1950s (Birkett report, para. 60); no war-
rants for the purpose of preventing the trans-
mission of illegal lottery material have been 
issued since November 1953 (ibid., para. 59). 
"Serious crime" is defined in the White Paper, 

and subject to the addition of the conclud-
ing words has been consistently defined since 
September 1951 (Birkett report, para. 64), as 
consisting of "offences for which a man with 
no previous record could reasonably be ex-
pected to be sentenced to three years’ impris-
onment, or offences of lesser gravity in which 
either a large number of people is involved or 
there is good reason to apprehend the use of 
violence" (White Paper, para. 4). In April 1982, 
the Home Secretary announced to Parliament 
that, on a recommendation made by Lord 
Diplock in his second report (see paragraph 55 
below), the concept of a serious offence was 
to be extended to cover offences which would 
not necessarily attract a penalty of three years’ 
imprisonment on first conviction, but in which 
the financial rewards of success were very large 
(Hansard, House of Commons, 21 April 1982, 
col. 95).

Handling (including receiving) stolen goods, 
knowing or believing them to be stolen, is an 
offence under section 22 of the Theft Act 1968, 
carrying a maximum penalty of fourteen years’ 
imprisonment. According to the Government, 
the receiving of stolen property is regarded as 
a very serious offence since the receiver lies at 
the root of much organised crime and encour-
ages large-scale thefts (see the Birkett report, 
para. 103). The detection of receivers of stolen 
property was at the time of the Birkett report 
(ibid.), and remains, one of the important uses 
to which interception of communications is 
put by the police.

44. Applications for warrants must be made in 
writing and must contain a statement of the 
purpose for which interception is requested 
and of the facts and circumstances which sup-
port the request. Every application is submit-
ted to the Permanent Under-Secretary of State 
- the senior civil servant - at the Home Office 
(or, in his absence, a nominated deputy), who, 
if he is satisfied that the application meets the 
required criteria, submits it to the Secretary of 
State for approval and signature of a warrant. In 
a case of exceptional urgency, if the Secretary 
of State is not immediately available to sign 
a warrant, he may be asked to give authority 
orally, by telephone; a warrant is signed and 
issued as soon as possible thereafter (White 
Paper, para. 9).

In their submissions to the Commission and 
the Court, the Government supplemented 
as follows the information given in the White 
Paper. Except in cases of exceptional urgency, 
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an application will only be considered in the 
Home Office if it is put forward by a senior of-
ficer of the Metropolitan Police, in practice the 
Assistant Commissioner (Crime), and also, in 
the case of another police force, by the chief of-
ficer of police concerned. Close personal con-
sideration is given by the Secretary of State to 
every request for a warrant submitted to him. 
In the debate on the British Telecommunica-
tions Bill in April 1981, the then Home Secretary 
confirmed before Parliament that he did not 
and would not sign any warrant for intercep-
tion unless he were personally satisfied that the 
relevant criteria were met (Hansard, House of 
Commons, 1 April 1981, col. 336).

45. Every warrant sets out the name and address 
of the recipient of mail in question or the tele-
phone number to be monitored, together with 
the name and address of the subscriber. Any 
changes require the authority of the Secretary 
of State, who may delegate power to give such 
authority to the Permanent Under-Secretary. If 
both the mail and the telephone line of a per-
son are to be intercepted, two separate war-
rants are required (White Paper, para. 10).

46. Every warrant is time-limited, specifying a date 
on which it expires if not renewed. Warrants are 
in the first place issued with a time-limit set at a 
defined date not exceeding two months from 
the date of issue. Warrants may be renewed 
only on the personal authority of the Secretary 
of State and may be renewed for not more 
than one month at a time. In each case where 
renewal of a warrant is sought, the police are 
required first to satisfy the Permanent Under-
Secretary of State at the Home Office that the 
reasons for which the warrant was first issued 
are still valid and that the case for renewal is 
justified: a submission to the Secretary of State 
for authority to renew the warrant is only made 
if the Permanent Under-Secretary is so satisfied 
(White Paper, para. 11).

47. Warrants are reviewed monthly by the Secre-
tary of State. When an interception is consid-
ered to be no longer necessary, it is immedi-
ately discontinued and the warrant is cancelled 
on the authority of the Permanent Under-Sec-
retary of State at the Home Office. In addition 
to the monthly review of each warrant by the 
Secretary of State, the Metropolitan Police carry 
out their own review each month of all war-
rants arising from police applications: where an 
interception is deemed to be no longer neces-
sary, instructions are issued to the Post Office 
to discontinue the interception forthwith and 

the Home Office is informed so that the war-
rant can be cancelled (Birkett report, paras. 72-
74; White Paper, paras. 12-13).

48. In accordance with the recommendations of 
the Birkett report (para. 84), records are kept in 
the Home Office, showing in respect of each 
application for a warrant:

(a) the ground on which the warrant is applied 
for;

(b) a copy of the warrant issued or a note of 
rejection of the application;

(c) the dates of any renewals of the warrant;

(d) a note of any other decisions concerning 
the warrant;

(e) the date of cancellation of the warrant 
(White Paper, para. 14).

49. On the issue of a warrant, the interception is 
effected by the Post Office. Telephone inter-
ceptions are carried out by a small staff of Post 
Office employees who record the conversation 
but do not themselves listen to it except from 
time to time to ensure that the apparatus is 
working correctly. In the case of postal com-
munications, the Post Office makes a copy of 
the correspondence. As regards the intercep-
tion of communications for the purpose of the 
detection of crime, in practice the "designated 
person holding office under the Crown" to 
whom the Post Office is required by sub-sec-
tion 80 of the Post Office Act 1969 to transmit 
the intercepted information (see paragraph 29 
above) is invariably the Commissioner of Police 
of the Metropolis. The product of the intercep-
tion - that is, the copy of the correspondence 
or the tape-recording - is made available to 
a special unit of the Metropolitan Police who 
note or transcribe only such parts of the cor-
respondence or the telephone conversation 
as are relevant to the investigation. When the 
documentary record has been made, the tape 
is returned to the Post Office staff, who erase 
the recording. The tape is subsequently re-
used. The majority of recordings are erased 
within one week of their being taken (Birkett 
report, paras. 115-117; White Paper, para. 15).

50. A Consolidated Circular to Police, issued by the 
Home Office in 1977, contained the following 
paragraphs in a section headed "Supply of in-
formation by Post Office to police":

"1.67HeadPostmastersandTelephoneMan-
agershavebeengivenauthoritytoassistthe
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police as indicated in paragraph 1.68 below
withoutreferencetoPostOfficeHeadquarters,
incircumstanceswherethepoliceareseeking
information

(a) in the interestsof justice in the investiga-
tionofaseriousindictableoffence;or

(b)whentheyareacting inacaseonthe in-
structions of the Director of Public Prosecu-
tions;or

(c)whenawarranthasbeenissuedforthear-
restoftheoffender,ortheoffenceissuchthat
hecanbearrestedwithoutawarrant;or

...

1.68HeadPostmasters,or(inmattersaffecting
the telecommunication service) Telephone
Managers,mayaffordthefollowingfacilitiesin
responsetoarequestmadebytheofficerlo-
callyinchargeoftheforceatthetownwhere
theHeadPostmasterisstationed

...

(g) Telegrams. Telegrams may be shown to
the police on the authority of the sender or
addressee. Apart from this the Post Office is
preparedtogiveauthority inparticularcases
ofseriouscrimewheretheinspectionofatel-
egram isamatterofurgency, andwilldo so
atonceon telephonicapplication,byachief
officerofpoliceoraresponsibleofficeracting
onhisbehalf,totheChief Inspector,PostOf-
ficeInvestigationDivision....

...

1.69...

1.70 As regards any matter not covered by
paragraphs1.67and1.68above, ifthepolice
are inurgentneedof informationwhich the
PostOfficemaybeabletofurnishinconnec-
tionwithaseriouscriminaloffence,thepolice
officer in charge of the investigation should
communicatewith theDutyOfficer, PostOf-
ficeInvestigationDivisionwhowillbereadyto
makeanynecessaryinquiriesofotherbranch-
esofthePostOfficeandtocommunicateany
informationwhichcanbesupplied."

In May 1984, the Home Office notified chief 
officers of police that paragraph 1.68 (g), de-
scribed as containing advice and information 
to the police which was "in some respects mis-
leading", was henceforth to be regarded as de-
leted, with the exception of the first complete 
sentence. At the same time, chief officers of 
police were reminded that the procedures for 
the interception of communications were set 
out in the White Paper and rigorously applied 

in all cases.

51. The notes or transcriptions of intercepted 
communications are retained in the police in-
terception unit for a period of twelve months 
or for as long as they may be required for the 
purposes of investigation. The contents of 
the documentary record are communicated 
to the officers of the appropriate police force 
engaged in the criminal investigation in ques-
tion. When the notes or transcriptions are no 
longer required for the purposes of the inves-
tigation, the documentary record is destroyed 
(Birkett report, para. 118; White Paper, para. 15). 
The product of intercepted communications 
is used exclusively for the purpose of assisting 
the police to pursue their investigations: the 
material is not tendered in evidence, although 
the interception may itself lead to the obtain-
ing of information by other means which may 
be tendered in evidence (Birkett report, para. 
151; White Paper, para. 16). In accordance with 
the recommendation of the Birkett Committee 
(Birkett report, para. 101), information obtained 
by means of an interception is never disclosed 
to private individuals or private bodies or to 
courts or tribunals of any kind (White Paper, 
para. 17).

52. An individual whose communications have 
been intercepted is not informed of the fact 
of interception or of the information thereby 
obtained, even when the surveillance and the 
related investigations have terminated.

53. For security reasons it is the normal practice not 
to disclose the numbers of interceptions made 
(Birkett report, paras. 119-121; White Paper, 
paras. 24-25). However, in order to allay public 
concern as to the extent of interception, both 
the Birkett report and the White Paper gave 
figures for the number of warrants granted an-
nually over the years preceding their publica-
tion. The figures in the White Paper (Appendix 
III) indicate that in England and Wales between 
1969 and 1979 generally something over 400 
telephone warrants and something under 100 
postal warrants were granted annually by the 
Home Secretary. Paragraph 27 of the White 
Paper also gave the total number of Home 
Secretary warrants in force on 31 December for 
the years 1958 (237), 1968 (273) and 1978 (308). 
The number of telephones installed at the end 
of 1979 was, according to the Government, 
26,428,000, as compared with 7,327,000 at the 
end of 1957. The Government further stated 
that over the period from 1958 to 1978 there 
was a fourfold increase in indictable crime, 
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from 626,000 to 2,395,000.

54. When the White Paper was published on 1 
April 1980, the Home Secretary announced in 
Parliament that the Government, whilst not 
proposing to introduce legislation (see para-
graph 37 above), intended to appoint a senior 
member of the judiciary to conduct a continu-
ous independent check so as to ensure that 
interception of communications was being 
carried out for the established purposes and in 
accordance with the established procedures. 
His terms of reference were stated to be:
"toreviewonacontinuingbasisthepurposes,
procedures, conditions and safeguards gov-
erning the interception of communications
onbehalfof thepolice,HMCustomsandEx-
ciseandthesecurityserviceassetoutin[the
WhitePaper];andtoreporttothePrimeMin-
ister" (Hansard, House of Commons, 1 April
1980,cols.207-208).

It was further announced that the person ap-
pointed would have the right of access to all 
relevant papers and the right to request addi-
tional information from the departments and 
organisations concerned. For the purposes of 
his first report, which would be published, he 
would examine all the arrangements set out in 
the White Paper; his subsequent reports on the 
detailed operation of the arrangements would 
not be published, but Parliament would be in-
formed of any findings of a general nature and 
of any changes that were made in the arrange-
ments (ibid.).

55. Lord Diplock, a Lord of Appeal in Ordinary since 
1968, was appointed to carry out the review. In 
his first report, published in March 1981, Lord 
Diplock recorded, inter alia, that, on the basis 
of a detailed examination of apparently typical 
cases selected at random, he was satisfied

(i) that, in each case, the information pro-
vided by the applicant authorities to the 
Secretary of State in support of the issue 
of a warrant was stated with accuracy and 
candour and that the procedures followed 
within the applicant authorities for vetting 
applications before submission to the Sec-
retary of State were appropriate to detect 
and correct any departure from proper 
standards;

(ii) that warrants were not applied for save in 
proper cases and were not continued any 
longer than was necessary to carry out 
their legitimate purpose.

Lord Diplock further found from his examina-
tion of the system that all products of intercep-
tion not directly relevant to the purpose for 
which the warrant was granted were speedily 
destroyed and that such material as was di-
rectly relevant to that purpose was given no 
wider circulation than was essential for carry-
ing it out.

In early 1982, Lord Diplock submitted his sec-
ond report. As the Secretary of State informed 
Parliament, Lord Diplock’s general conclusion 
was that during the year 1981 the procedure 
for the interception of communications had 
continued to work satisfactorily and the prin-
ciples set out in the White Paper had been 
conscientiously observed by all departments 
concerned.

In 1982, Lord Diplock resigned his position and 
was succeeded by Lord Bridge of Harwich, a 
Lord of Appeal in Ordinary since 1980.

G. "Metering"
56. The process known as "metering" involves the 

use of a device called a meter check printer 
which registers the numbers dialled on a par-
ticular telephone and the time and duration 
of each call. It is a process which was designed 
by the Post Office for its own purposes as the 
corporation responsible for the provision of tel-
ephone services. Those purposes include en-
suring that the subscriber is correctly charged, 
investigating complaints of poor quality service 
and checking possible abuse of the telephone 
service. When "metering" a telephone, the Post 
Office - now British Telecommunications (see 
paragraph 23 above) - makes use only of sig-
nals sent to itself.

In the case of the Post Office, the Crown does 
not require the keeping of records of this kind 
but, if the records are kept, the Post Office may 
be compelled to produce them in evidence 
in civil or criminal cases in the ordinary way, 
namely by means of a subpoena duces tecum. 
In this respect the position of the Post Office 
does not differ from that of any other party 
holding relevant records as, for instance, a 
banker. Neither the police nor the Crown are 
empowered to direct or compel the produc-
tion of the Post Office records otherwise than 
by the normal means.

However, the Post Office do on occasions make 
and provide such records at the request of the 
police if the information is essential to police 
enquiries in relation to serious crime and can-
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not be obtained from other sources. This 
practice has been made public in answer to 
parliamentary questions on more than one oc-
casion (see, for example, the statement by the 
Home Secretary to Parliament, Hansard, House 
of Commons, 23 February 1978, cols. 760-761).

H. Possible domestic remedies in respect of 
the alleged violation of the Convention

57. Commission, Government and applicant are 
agreed that, at least in theory, judicial remedies 
are available in England and Wales, in both 
the civil and the criminal courts, in respect of 
interceptions of communications carried out 
unlawfully. The remedies referred to by the 
Government were summarised in the plead-
ings as follows:

(i) In the event of any interception or disclo-
sure of intercepted material effected by a 
Post Office employee "contrary to duty" or 
"improperly" and without a warrant of the 
Secretary of State, a criminal offence would 
be committed under the Telegraph Acts 
1863 and 1868 and the Post Office (Pro-
tection) Act 1884 (as regards telephone 
interceptions) and under the Post Office 
Act 1953 (as regards postal interceptions) 
(see paragraphs 25-27 above). On com-
plaint that communications had been un-
lawfully intercepted, it would be the duty 
of the police to investigate the matter and 
to initiate a prosecution if satisfied that an 
offence had been committed. If the police 
failed to prosecute, it would be open to 
the complainant himself to commence a 
private prosecution.

(ii) In addition to (i) above, in a case of unlaw-
ful interception by a Post Office employee 
without a warrant, an individual could 
obtain an injunction from the domestic 
courts to restrain the person or persons 
concerned and the Post Office itself from 
carrying out further unlawful interception 
of his communications: such an injunction 
is available to any person who can show 
that a private right or interest has been in-
terfered with by a criminal act (see, for ex-
ample, Gouriet v. The Union of Post Office 
Workers, [1977] 3 All England Law Reports 
70; Ex parte Island Records Ltd., [1978] 3 All 
England Law Reports 795).

(iii) On the same grounds, an action would lie 
for an injunction to restrain the divulging 
or publication of the contents of inter-
cepted communications by employees 

of the Post Office, otherwise than under a 
warrant of the Secretary of State, or to any 
person other than the police.

Besides these remedies, unauthorised interfer-
ence with mail would normally constitute the 
tort of trespass to (that is, wrongful interfer-
ence with) chattels and so give rise to a civil 
action for damages.

58. The Government further pointed to the follow-
ing possible non-judicial remedies:

(i) In the event that the police were them-
selves implicated in an interception carried 
out without a warrant, a complaint could 
additionally be lodged under section 49 of 
the Police Act 1964, which a chief officer 
of police would, by the terms of the Act, 
be obliged to investigate and, if an offence 
appeared to him to have been committed, 
to refer to the Director of Public Prosecu-
tions.

(ii) If a complainant were able to establish 
merely that the police or the Secretary of 
State had misappreciated the facts or that 
there was not an adequate case for impos-
ing an interception, the individual con-
cerned would be able to complain directly 
to the Secretary of State himself or through 
his Member of Parliament: if a complainant 
were to give the Home Secretary informa-
tion which suggested that the grounds on 
which a warrant had been issued did not 
in fact fall within the published criteria or 
were inadequate or mistaken, the Home 
Secretary would immediately cause it to 
be investigated and, if the complaint were 
found to be justified, would immediately 
cancel the warrant.

(iii) Similarly, if there were non-compliance 
with any of the relevant administrative 
rules of procedure set out in the Birkett re-
port and the White Paper, a remedy would 
lie through complaint to the Secretary of 
State who would, in a proper case, cancel 
or revoke a warrant and thereby terminate 
an interception which was being improp-
erly carried out.

According to the Government, in practice 
there never has been a case where a complaint 
in any of the three above circumstances has 
proved to be well-founded.
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PRoCEEDInGs BEFoRE 
tHE CoMMIssIon
59. In his application of 19 July 1979 to the Com-

mission (no. 8691/79), Mr. Malone complained 
of the admitted interception of a telephone 
conversation to which he had been a party. He 
further stated his belief that, at the behest of 
the police, his correspondence as well as that 
of his wife had been intercepted, his telephone 
lines "tapped" and, in addition, his telephone 
"metered" by a device recording all the num-
bers dialled. He claimed that by reason of these 
matters, and of relevant law and practice in 
England and Wales, he had been the victim of 
breaches of Articles 8 and 13 (art. 8, art. 13) of 
the Convention.

60. The Commission declared the application ad-
missible on 13 July 1981.

In its report adopted on 17 December 1982 
(Article 31) (art. 31), the Commission expressed 
the opinion:

• that there had been a breach of the ap-
plicant’s rights under Article 8 (art. 8) by 
reason of the admitted interception of a 
telephone conversation to which he was 
a party and of the law and practice in Eng-
land and Wales governing the interception 
of postal and telephone communications 
on behalf of the police (eleven votes, with 
one abstention);

• that it was unnecessary in the circumstanc-
es of the case to investigate whether the 
applicant’s rights had also been interfered 
with by the procedure known as "metering" 
of telephone calls (seven votes to three, 
with two abstentions);

• that there had been a breach of the appli-
cant’s rights under Article 13 (art. 13) in that 
the law in England and Wales did not pro-
vide an "effective remedy before a national 
authority" in respect of interceptions car-
ried out under a warrant (ten votes to one, 
with one abstention).

The full text of the Commission’s opinion and 
of the two separate opinions contained in the 
report is reproduced as an annex to the pre-
sent judgment.

FInAL sUBMIssIons 
MADE to tHE CoURt BY 
tHE GoVERnMEnt
61. At the hearings on 20 February 1984, the Gov-

ernment maintained the submissions set out 
in their memorial, whereby they requested the 
Court
"(1)withregardtoArticle8(art.8),

(i)todecideanddeclarethattheinterference
withtheexerciseoftherightsguaranteedby
Article 8 para. 1 (art. 8-1) of the Convention
resulting from the measures of interception
ofcommunicationsonbehalfofthepolicein
EnglandandWalesforthepurposeofthede-
tectionandpreventionofcrime,andanyap-
plicationof thosemeasures to theapplicant,
were and are justified under paragraph 2 of
Article8(art.8-2)asbeinginaccordancewith
thelawandnecessaryinademocraticsociety
forthepreventionofcrimeandfortheprotec-
tionoftherightsandfreedomsofothersand
thataccordinglytherehasbeennobreachof
Article8(art.8)oftheConvention;

(ii)(a)todecideanddeclarethatitisunneces-
sary inthecircumstancesofthepresentcase
to investigatewhether the applicant’s rights
under Article 8 (art. 8) were interfered with
bytheso-calledsystemof‘metering’;alterna-
tively(b)todecideanddeclarethatthefacts
found disclose no breach of the applicant’s
rightsunderArticle8(art.8)byreasonofthe
saidsystemof‘metering’;

(2)withregardtoArticle13(art.13),

todecideanddeclarethatthecircumstances
ofthepresentcasedisclosenobreachofArti-
cle13(art.13)oftheConvention".

As to tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED BREACH OF ARTICLE 8 
(ART. 8)

62. Article 8 (art. 8) provides as follows:
"1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
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economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers."

The applicant alleged violation of this Article 
(art. 8) under two heads. In his submission, the 
first violation resulted from interception of his 
postal and telephone communications by or 
on behalf of the police, or from the law and 
practice in England and Wales relevant thereto; 
the second from "metering" of his telephone 
by or on behalf of the police, or from the law 
and practice in England and Wales relevant 
thereto.

A. Interception of communications
1.ScopeoftheissuebeforetheCourt

63. It should be noted from the outset that the 
scope of the case before the Court does not 
extend to interception of communications in 
general. The Commission’s decision of 13 July 
1981 declaring Mr. Malone’s application to be 
admissible determines the object of the case 
brought before the Court (see, inter alia, the 
Ireland v. the United Kingdom judgment of 18 
January 1978, Series A no. 25, p. 63, para. 157). 
According to that decision, the present case "is 
directly concerned only with the question of 
interceptions effected by or on behalf of the 
police" - and not other government services 
such as H.M. Customs and Excise and the Se-
curity Service - "within the general context of a 
criminal investigation, together with the legal 
and administrative framework relevant to such 
interceptions".

2.Whethertherewasanyinterferencewith
anArticle8(art.8)right

64. It was common ground that one telephone 
conversation to which the applicant was a 
party was intercepted at the request of the po-
lice under a warrant issued by the Home Sec-
retary (see paragraph 14 above). As telephone 
conversations are covered by the notions of 
"private life" and "correspondence" within the 
meaning of Article 8 (art. 8) (see the Klass and 
Others judgment of 6 September 1978, Series 
A no. 28, p. 21, para. 41), the admitted measure 
of interception involved an "interference by a 
public authority" with the exercise of a right 
guaranteed to the applicant under paragraph 
1 of Article 8 (art. 8-1).

Despite the applicant’s allegations, the Gov-
ernment have consistently declined to disclose 
to what extent, if at all, his telephone calls and 

mail have been intercepted otherwise on be-
half of the police (see paragraph 16 above). 
They did, however, concede that, as a suspect-
ed receiver of stolen goods, he was a member 
of a class of persons against whom measures of 
postal and telephone interception were liable 
to be employed. As the Commission pointed 
out in its report (paragraph 115), the existence 
in England and Wales of laws and practices 
which permit and establish a system for ef-
fecting secret surveillance of communications 
amounted in itself to an "interference ... with 
the exercise" of the applicant’s rights under Ar-
ticle 8 (art. 8), apart from any measures actually 
taken against him (see the above-mentioned 
Klass and Others judgment, ibid.). This being 
so, the Court, like the Commission (see the 
report, paragraph 114), does not consider it 
necessary to inquire into the applicant’s further 
claims that both his mail and his telephone 
calls were intercepted for a number of years.

3.Whethertheinterferenceswerejustified
65. The principal issue of contention was whether 

the interferences found were justified under 
the terms of paragraph 2 of Article 8 (art. 8-2), 
notably whether they were "in accordance 
with the law" and "necessary in a democratic 
society" for one of the purposes enumerated in 
that paragraph.

(a)  "In accordance with the law"

i General principles

66. The Court held in its Silver and Others judg-
ment of 25 March 1983 (Series A no. 61, pp. 
32-33, para. 85) that, at least as far as interfer-
ences with prisoners’ correspondence were 
concerned, the expression "in accordance 
with the law/ prévue par la loi" in paragraph 
2 of Article 8 (art. 8-2) should be interpreted 
in the light of the same general principles as 
were stated in the Sunday Times judgment of 
26 April 1979 (Series A no. 30) to apply to the 
comparable expression "prescribed by law/ 
prévues par la loi" in paragraph 2 of Article 10 
(art. 10-2).

The first such principle was that the word "law/
loi" is to be interpreted as covering not only 
written law but also unwritten law (see the 
above-mentioned Sunday Times judgment, p. 
30, para. 47). A second principle, recognised 
by Commission, Government and applicant as 
being applicable in the present case, was that 
"the interference in question must have some 
basis in domestic law" (see the the above-men-



264 CASEOFMALONEVTHEUNITEDKINGDOM

EC
HR

EC
J

tioned Silver and Others judgment, p. 33, para. 
86). The expressions in question were, how-
ever, also taken to include requirements over 
and above compliance with the domestic law. 
Two of these requirements were explained in 
the following terms:
"Firstly,thelawmustbeadequatelyaccessible:
thecitizenmustbeabletohaveanindication
thatisadequateinthecircumstancesofthele-
galrulesapplicabletoagivencase.Secondly,
anormcannotberegardedas‘law’unlessitis
formulatedwithsufficientprecisiontoenable
the citizen to regulate his conduct: hemust
be able - if needbewith appropriate advice
-toforesee,toadegreethatisreasonablein
thecircumstances,theconsequenceswhicha
givenactionmayentail."(SundayTimesjudg-
ment,p.31,para.49;SilverandOthers judg-
ment,p.33,paras.87and88)

67. In the Government’s submission, these two re-
quirements, which were identified by the Court 
in cases concerning the imposition of penalties 
or restrictions on the exercise by the individual 
of his right to freedom of expression or to cor-
respond, are less appropriate in the wholly 
different context of secret surveillance of com-
munications. In the latter context, where the 
relevant law imposes no restrictions or controls 
on the individual to which he is obliged to con-
form, the paramount consideration would ap-
pear to the Government to be the lawfulness of 
the administrative action under domestic law.

The Court would reiterate its opinion that the 
phrase "in accordance with the law" does not 
merely refer back to domestic law but also 
relates to the quality of the law, requiring it 
to be compatible with the rule of law, which 
is expressly mentioned in the preamble to the 
Convention (see, mutatis mutandis, the above-
mentioned Silver and Others judgment, p. 34, 
para. 90, and the Golder judgment of 21 Febru-
ary 1975, Series A no. 18, p. 17, para. 34). The 
phrase thus implies - and this follows from the 
object and purpose of Article 8 (art. 8) - that 
there must be a measure of legal protection in 
domestic law against arbitrary interferences by 
public authorities with the rights safeguarded 
by paragraph 1 (art. 8-1) (see the report of the 
Commission, paragraph 121). Especially where 
a power of the executive is exercised in secret, 
the risks of arbitrariness are evident (see the 
above-mentioned Klass and Others judgment, 
Series A no. 28, pp. 21 and 23, paras. 42 and 49). 
Undoubtedly, as the Government rightly sug-
gested, the requirements of the Convention, 
notably in regard to foreseeability, cannot be 

exactly the same in the special context of inter-
ception of communications for the purposes of 
police investigations as they are where the ob-
ject of the relevant law is to place restrictions 
on the conduct of individuals. In particular, the 
requirement of foreseeability cannot mean 
that an individual should be enabled to foresee 
when the authorities are likely to intercept his 
communications so that he can adapt his con-
duct accordingly. Nevertheless, the law must 
be sufficiently clear in its terms to give citizens 
an adequate indication as to the circumstances 
in which and the conditions on which public 
authorities are empowered to resort to this 
secret and potentially dangerous interference 
with the right to respect for private life and cor-
respondence.

68. There was also some debate in the pleadings 
as to the extent to which, in order for the Con-
vention to be complied with, the "law" itself, 
as opposed to accompanying administrative 
practice, should define the circumstances in 
which and the conditions on which a public 
authority may interfere with the exercise of the 
protected rights. The above-mentioned judg-
ment in the case of Silver and Others, which 
was delivered subsequent to the adoption of 
the Commission’s report in the present case, 
goes some way to answering the point. In that 
judgment, the Court held that "a law which 
confers a discretion must indicate the scope 
of that discretion", although the detailed pro-
cedures and conditions to be observed do not 
necessarily have to be incorporated in rules of 
substantive law (ibid., Series A no. 61, pp. 33-34, 
paras. 88-89). The degree of precision required 
of the "law" in this connection will depend 
upon the particular subject-matter (see the 
above-mentioned Sunday Times judgment, 
Series A no. 30, p. 31, para. 49). Since the im-
plementation in practice of measures of secret 
surveillance of communications is not open to 
scrutiny by the individuals concerned or the 
public at large, it would be contrary to the rule 
of law for the legal discretion granted to the 
executive to be expressed in terms of an unfet-
tered power. Consequently, the law must indi-
cate the scope of any such discretion conferred 
on the competent authorities and the manner 
of its exercise with sufficient clarity, having re-
gard to the legitimate aim of the measure in 
question, to give the individual adequate pro-
tection against arbitrary interference.

ii Application in the present case of the fore-
going principles



265CASEOFMALONEVTHEUNITEDKINGDOM

EC
J

EC
HR

69. Whilst the exact legal basis of the executive’s 
power in this respect was the subject of some 
dispute, it was common ground that the set-
tled practice of intercepting communications 
on behalf of the police in pursuance of a war-
rant issued by the Secretary of State for the 
purposes of detecting and preventing crime, 
and hence the admitted interception of one of 
the applicant’s telephone conversations, were 
lawful under the law of England and Wales. 
The legality of this power to intercept was 
established in relation to telephone commu-
nications in the judgment of Sir Robert Meg-
arry dismissing the applicant’s civil action (see 
paragraphs 31-36 above) and, as shown by the 
independent findings of the Birkett report (see 
paragraph 28 in fine above), is generally recog-
nised for postal communications.

70. The issue to be determined is therefore wheth-
er, under domestic law, the essential elements 
of the power to intercept communications 
were laid down with reasonable precision in 
accessible legal rules that sufficiently indicated 
the scope and manner of exercise of the discre-
tion conferred on the relevant authorities.

This issue was considered under two heads in 
the pleadings: firstly, whether the law was such 
that a communication passing through the ser-
vices of the Post Office might be intercepted, 
for police purposes, only pursuant to a valid 
warrant issued by the Secretary of State and, 
secondly, to what extent the circumstances in 
which a warrant might be issued and imple-
mented were themselves circumscribed by 
law.

71. On the first point, whilst the statements of the 
established practice given in the Birkett report 
and the White Paper are categorical para. 55 of 
the Birkett report and para. 2 of the White Pa-
per - see paragraph 42 above), the law of Eng-
land and Wales, as the applicant rightly point-
ed out (see paragraph 56 of the Commission’s 
report), does not expressly make the exercise 
of the power to intercept communications 
subject to the issue of a warrant. According 
to its literal terms, section 80 of the Post Office 
Act 1969 provides that a "requirement" may be 
laid on the Post Office to pass information to 
the police, but it does not in itself render ille-
gal interceptions carried out in the absence of 
a warrant amounting to a valid "requirement" 
(see paragraph 29 above). The Commission, 
however, concluded that this appeared to be 
the effect of section 80 when read in conjunc-
tion with the criminal offences created by sec-

tion 58 para. 1 of the Post Office Act 1953 and 
by the other statutory provisions referred to in 
paragraph 1, sub-paragraph 1 of Schedule 5 to 
the 1969 Act (see paragraphs 129-135 of the re-
port, and paragraphs 25, 26 and 30 above). The 
reasoning of the Commission was accepted 
and adopted by the Government but, at least 
in respect of telephone interceptions, disputed 
by the applicant. He relied on certain dicta 
to the contrary in the judgment of Sir Robert 
Megarry (see paragraphs 31-36 above, espe-
cially paragraphs 33 and 35). He also referred 
to the fact that the 1977 Home Office Consoli-
dated Circular to Police made no mention, in 
the section headed "Supply of information by 
Post Office to police", of the warrant procedure 
(see paragraph 50 above).

72. As to the second point, the pleadings revealed 
a fundamental difference of view as to the ef-
fect, if any, of the Post Office Act 1969 in impos-
ing legal restraints on the purposes for which 
and the manner in which interception of com-
munications may lawfully be authorised by the 
Secretary of State.

73. According to the Government, the words in 
section 80 - and, in particular, the phrase "for 
the like purposes and in the like manner as, at 
the passing of this Act, a requirement may be 
laid" - define and restrict the power to intercept 
by reference to the practice which prevailed in 
1968. In the submission of the Government, 
since the entry into force of the 1969 Act a 
requirement to intercept communications on 
behalf of the police can lawfully be imposed 
on the Post Office only by means of a warrant 
signed personally by the Secretary of State for 
the exclusive purpose of the detection of crime 
and satisfying certain other conditions. Thus, 
by virtue of section 80 the warrant must, as a 
matter of law, specify the relevant name, ad-
dress and telephone number; it must be time-
limited and can only be directed to the Post Of-
fice, not the police. In addition, the Post Office 
is only required and empowered under section 
80 to make information available to "designat-
ed persons holding office under the Crown". 
Any attempt to broaden or otherwise modify 
the purposes for which or the manner in which 
interceptions may be authorised would require 
an amendment to the 1969 Act which could 
only be achieved by primary legislation.

74. In its reasoning, which was adopted by the ap-
plicant, the Commission drew attention to vari-
ous factors of uncertainty arguing against the 
Government’s view as to the effect of the 1969 
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Act (see paragraphs 136-142 of the report).

75. Firstly, the relevant wording of the section, 
and especially the word "may", appeared to 
the Commission to authorise the laying of a 
requirement on the Post Office for whatever 
purposes and in whatever manner it would 
previously have been lawfully possible to place 
a ministerial duty on the Postmaster General, 
and not to be confined to what actually did 
happen in practice in 1968. Yet at the time of 
the Birkett report (see, for example, paragraphs 
15, 21, 27, 54-55, 56, 62 and 75), and likewise 
at the time when the 1969 Act was passed, 
no clear legal restrictions existed on the per-
missible "purposes" and "manner". Indeed the 
Birkett report at one stage (paragraph 62) de-
scribed the Secretary of State’s discretion as 
"absolute", albeit specifying how its exercise 
was in practice limited.

76. A further difficulty seen by the Commission is 
that, on the Government’s interpretation, not 
all the details of the existing arrangements are 
said to have been incorporated into the law by 
virtue of section 80 but at least the principal 
conditions, procedures or purposes for the is-
sue of warrants authorising interceptions. Even 
assuming that the reference to "like purposes" 
and "like manner" is limited to previous prac-
tice as opposed to what would have been le-
gally permissible, it was by no means evident 
to the Commission what aspects of the previ-
ous "purposes" and "manner" have been given 
statutory basis, so that they cannot be changed 
save by primary legislation, and what aspects 
remain matters of administrative discretion 
susceptible of modification by governmental 
decision. In this connection, the Commission 
noted that the notion of "serious crime", which 
in practice serves as a condition governing 
when a warrant may be issued for the purpose 
of the detection of crime, has twice been en-
larged since the 1969 Act without recourse to 
Parliament (see paragraphs 42-43 above).

77. The Commission further pointed out that the 
Government’s analysis of the law was not 
shared by Sir Robert Megarry in his judgment 
of February 1979. He apparently accepted the 
Solicitor General’s contentions before him that 
section 80 referred back to previous adminis-
trative arrangements for the issue of warrants 
(see paragraph 33 above). On the other hand, 
he plainly considered that these arrangements 
remained administrative in character and had 
not, even in their principal aspects, been made 
binding legal requirements by virtue of section 

80 (see paragraph 34 above).

78. It was also somewhat surprising, so the Com-
mission observed, that no mention of section 
80 as regulating the issue of warrants should 
have been made in the White Paper published 
by the Government in the wake of Sir Robert 
Megarry’s judgment (see paragraph 21 above). 
Furthermore, the Home Secretary, when pre-
senting the White Paper to Parliament in April 
1980, expressed himself in terms suggesting 
that the existing arrangements as a whole were 
matters of administrative practice not suitable 
for being "embodied in legislation", and were 
subject to change by governmental decision 
of which Parliament would be informed (see 
paragraphs 37 in fine and 54 in fine above).

79. The foregoing considerations disclose that, at 
the very least, in its present state the law in 
England and Wales governing interception of 
communications for police purposes is some-
what obscure and open to differing interpreta-
tions. The Court would be usurping the func-
tion of the national courts were it to attempt 
to make an authoritative statement on such 
issues of domestic law (see, mutatis mutan-
dis, the Deweer judgment of 27 February 
1980, Series A no. 35, p. 28, in fine, and the Van 
Droogenbroeck judgment of 24 June 1982, Se-
ries A no. 50, p. 30, fourth sub-paragraph). The 
Court is, however, required under the Conven-
tion to determine whether, for the purposes of 
paragraph 2 of Article 8 (art. 8-2), the relevant 
law lays down with reasonable clarity the es-
sential elements of the authorities’ powers in 
this domain.

Detailed procedures concerning interception 
of communications on behalf of the police in 
England and Wales do exist (see paragraphs 
42-49, 51-52 and 54-55 above). What is more, 
published statistics show the efficacy of those 
procedures in keeping the number of war-
rants granted relatively low, especially when 
compared with the rising number of indictable 
crimes committed and telephones installed 
(see paragraph 53 above). The public have 
been made aware of the applicable arrange-
ments and principles through publication of 
the Birkett report and the White Paper and 
through statements by responsible Ministers 
in Parliament (see paragraphs 21, 37-38, 41, 43 
and 54 above).

Nonetheless, on the evidence before the Court, 
it cannot be said with any reasonable certainty 
what elements of the powers to intercept are 
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incorporated in legal rules and what elements 
remain within the discretion of the executive. 
In view of the attendant obscurity and uncer-
tainty as to the state of the law in this essential 
respect, the Court cannot but reach a similar 
conclusion to that of the Commission. In the 
opinion of the Court, the law of England and 
Wales does not indicate with reasonable clar-
ity the scope and manner of exercise of the 
relevant discretion conferred on the public 
authorities. To that extent, the minimum de-
gree of legal protection to which citizens are 
entitled under the rule of law in a democratic 
society is lacking.

iii Conclusion

80. In sum, as far as interception of communica-
tions is concerned, the interferences with the 
applicant’s right under Article 8 (art. 8) to re-
spect for his private life and correspondence 
(see paragraph 64 above) were not "in accord-
ance with the law".

(b)  "Necessary in a democratic society" for a rec-
ognised purpose

81. Undoubtedly, the existence of some law grant-
ing powers of interception of communications 
to aid the police in their function of investigat-
ing and detecting crime may be "necessary 
in a democratic society ... for the prevention 
of disorder or crime", within the meaning of 
paragraph 2 of Article 8 (art. 8-2) (see, mutatis 
mutandis, the above-mentioned Klass and Oth-
ers judgment, Series A no. 28, p. 23, para. 48). 
The Court accepts, for example, the assertion 
in the Government’s White Paper (at para. 21) 
that in Great Britain "the increase of crime,and 
particularly the growth of organised crime, the 
increasing sophistication of criminals and the 
ease and speed with which they can move 
about have made telephone interception an 
indispensable tool in the investigation and 
prevention of serious crime". However, the 
exercise of such powers, because of its inher-
ent secrecy, carries with it a danger of abuse 
of a kind that is potentially easy in individual 
cases and could have harmful consequences 
for democratic society as a whole (ibid., p. 26, 
para. 56). This being so, the resultant interfer-
ence can only be regarded as "necessary in a 
democratic society" if the particular system of 
secret surveillance adopted contains adequate 
guarantees against abuse (ibid., p. 23, paras. 
49-50).

82. The applicant maintained that the system in 
England and Wales for the interception of post-

al and telephone communications on behalf of 
the police did not meet this condition.

In view of its foregoing conclusion that the 
interferences found were not "in accordance 
with the law", the Court considers that it does 
not have to examine further the content of the 
other guarantees required by paragraph 2 of 
Article 8 (art. 8-2) and whether the system cir-
cumstances.

B. Metering
83. The process known as "metering" involves the 

use of a device (a meter check printer) which 
registers the numbers dialled on a particular 
telephone and the time and duration of each 
call (see paragraph 56 above). In making such 
records, the Post Office - now British Telecom-
munications - makes use only of signals sent to 
itself as the provider of the telephone service 
and does not monitor or intercept telephone 
conversations at all. From this, the Government 
drew the conclusion that metering, in contrast 
to interception of communications, does not 
entail interference with any right guaranteed 
by Article 8 (art. 8).

84. As the Government rightly suggested, a meter 
check printer registers information that a sup-
plier of a telephone service may in principle 
legitimately obtain, notably in order to ensure 
that the subscriber is correctly charged or to in-
vestigate complaints or possible abuses of the 
service. By its very nature, metering is therefore 
to be distinguished from interception of com-
munications, which is undesirable and illegiti-
mate in a democratic society unless justified. 
The Court does not accept, however, that the 
use of data obtained from metering, whatever 
the circumstances and purposes, cannot give 
rise to an issue under Article 8 (art. 8). The re-
cords of metering contain information, in par-
ticular the numbers dialled, which is an integral 
element in the communications made by tel-
ephone. Consequently, release of that informa-
tion to the police without the consent of the 
subscriber also amounts, in the opinion of the 
Court, to an interference with a right guaran-
teed by Article 8 (art. 8).

85. As was noted in the Commission’s decision 
declaring Mr. Malone’s application admissible, 
his complaints regarding metering are closely 
connected with his complaints regarding in-
terception of communications. The issue be-
fore the Court for decision under this head is 
similarly limited to the supply of records of me-
tering to the police "within the general context 
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of a criminal investigation, together with the 
legal and administrative framework relevant 
[thereto]" (see paragraph 63 above).

86. In England and Wales, although the police do 
not have any power, in the absence of a sub-
poena, to compel the production of records of 
metering, a practice exists whereby the Post 
Office do on occasions make and provide such 
records at the request of the police if the infor-
mation is essential to police enquiries in rela-
tion to serious crime and cannot be obtained 
from other sources (see paragraph 56 above). 
The applicant, as a suspected receiver of stolen 
goods, was, it may be presumed, a member of 
a class of persons potentially liable to be di-
rectly affected by this practice. The applicant 
can therefore claim, for the purposes of Article 
25 (art. 25) of the Convention, to be a "victim" 
of a violation of Article 8 (art. 8) by reason of 
the very existence of this practice, quite apart 
from any concrete measure of implementation 
taken against him (cf., mutatis mutandis, para-
graph 64 above). This remains so despite the 
clarification by the Government that in fact the 
police had neither caused his telephone to be 
metered nor undertaken any search operations 
on the basis of any list of telephone numbers 
obtained from metering (see paragraph 17 
above; see also, mutatis mutandis, the above-
mentioned Klass and Others judgment, Series 
A no. 28, p. 20, para. 37 in fine).

87. Section 80 of the Post Office Act 1969 has never 
been applied so as to "require" the Post Office, 
pursuant to a warrant of the Secretary of State, 
to make available to the police in connection 
with the investigation of crime information ob-
tained from metering. On the other hand, no 
rule of domestic law makes it unlawful for the 
Post Office voluntarily to comply with a request 
from the police to make and supply records of 
metering (see paragraph 56 above). The prac-
tice described above, including the limitative 
conditions as to when the information may be 
provided, has been made public in answer to 
parliamentary questions (ibid.). However, on 
the evidence adduced before the Court, apart 
from the simple absence of prohibition, there 
would appear to be no legal rules concerning 
the scope and manner of exercise of the discre-
tion enjoyed by the public authorities. Conse-
quently, although lawful in terms of domestic 
law, the interference resulting from the exist-
ence of the practice in question was not "in 
accordance with the law", within the meaning 
of paragraph 2 of Article 8 (art. 8-2) (see para-
graphs 66 to 68 above).

88. This conclusion removes the need for the 
Court to determine whether the interference 
found was "necessary in a democratic society" 
for one of the aims enumerated in paragraph 
2 of Article 8 (art. 8-2) (see, mutatis mutandis, 
paragraph 82 above).

C. Recapitulation
89. There has accordingly been a breach of Article 

8 (art. 8) in the applicant’s case as regards both 
interception of communications and release of 
records of metering to the police.

II. ALLEGED BREACH OF ARTICLE 13 
(ART. 13)

90. The applicant submitted that no effective do-
mestic remedy existed for the breaches of Arti-
cle 8 (art. 8) of which he complained and that, 
consequently, there had also been a violation 
of Article 13 (art. 13) which provides:
"Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in this Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity."

91. Having regard to its decision on Article 8 (art. 8) 
(see paragraph 89 above), the Court does not 
consider it necessary to rule on this issue.

III. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 50 
(ART. 50)

92. The applicant claimed just satisfaction under 
Article 50 (art. 50) under four heads:

(i) legal costs that he was ordered by Sir 
Robert Megarry to pay to the Metropoli-
tan Commissioner of Police, assessed at 
£9,011.00, 

(ii) costs, including disbursements, paid by 
him to his own lawyers in connection with 
the same action, assessed at £5,443.20, 

(iii) legal costs incurred in the proceedings be-
fore the Commission and the Court, as yet 
unquantified, and 

(iv) "compensation of a moderate amount" for 
interception of his telephone conversa-
tions.

He further sought recovery of interest in re-
spect of the first two items.
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The Government have so far made no submis-
sions on these claims.

93. The question is thus not yet ready for decision 
and must be reserved; in the circumstances of 
the case, it is appropriate to refer the matter 
back to the Chamber (Rule 53 paras. 1 and 3 of 
the Rules of Court).

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT

1. Holds unanimously that there has been a 
breach of Article 8 (art. 8) of the Convention;

2. Holds by sixteen votes to two that it is not nec-
essary also to examine the case under Article 
13 (art. 13);

3. Holds unanimously that the question of the 
application of Article 50 (art. 50) is not ready 
for decision;

(a) accordingly,reserves the whole of the said 
question;

(b) refers back to the Chamber the said ques-
tion.

Done in English and in French at the Human Rights 
Building, Strasbourg, this second day of August, 
one thousand nine hundred and eighty-four.

Gérard WIARDA, President
Marc-André EISSEN, Registrar

The separate opinions of the following judges are 
annexed to the present judgment in accordance 
with Article 51 para. 2 (art. 51-2) of the Convention 
and Rule 52 para. 2 of the Rules of Court:

• partially dissenting opinion of Mr. Matscher 
and Mr. Pinheiro Farinha;

• concurring opinion of Mr. Pettiti.

PARtIALLY DIssEntInG 
oPInIon oF JUDGEs 
MAtsCHER AnD 
PInHEIRo FARInHA
(Translation)

We recognise that Article 13 (art. 13) constitutes 
one of the most obscure clauses in the Convention 
and that its application raises extremely difficult 
and complicated problems of interpretation. This 
is probably the reason why, for approximately two 
decades, the Convention institutions avoided ana-
lysing this provision, for the most part advancing 
barely convincing reasons.

It is only in the last few years that the Court, aware 
of its function of interpreting and ensuring the ap-
plication of all the Articles of the Convention when-
ever called on to do so by the parties or the Com-
mission has also embarked upon the interpretation 
of Article 13 (art. 13). We refer in particular to the 
judgments in the cases of Klass and Others (Series 
A no. 28, paras. 61 et seq.), Sporrong and Lönnroth 
(Series A no. 52, para. 88), Silver and Others (Series 
A no. 61, paras. 109 et seq.) and, most recently, 
Campbell and Fell (Series A no. 80, paras. 124 et 
seq.), where the Court has laid the foundation for a 
coherent interpretation of this provision.

Having regard to this welcome development, we 
cannot, to our regret, concur with the opinion of 
the majority of the Court who felt able to forego ex-
amining the allegation of a breach of Article 13 (art. 
13). In so doing, the majority, without offering the 
slightest justification, have departed from the line 
taken inter alia in the Silver and Others judgment, 
which was concerned with legal issues very similar 
to those forming the object of the present case.

Indeed, applying the approach followed in the Sil-
ver and Others judgment, the Court ought in the 
present case, and to the same extent, to have ar-
rived at a finding of a violation of Article 13 (art. 13).

ConCURRInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE PEttItI
(Translation)

I have voted with my colleagues for the violation 
of Article 8 (art. 8), but I believe that the European 
Court could have made its decision more explicit 
and not confined itself to ascertaining whether, in 
the words of Article 8 (art. 8), the interference was 
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"in accordance with the law", an expression which 
in its French version ("prévue par la loi") is used in 
Article 8 para. 2, Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 and Arti-
cle 2 of Protocol No. 4 (art. 8-2, P1-1, P4-2), the term 
"the law" being capable of being interpreted as 
covering both written law and unwritten law.

The European Court considered that the finding of 
a breach on this point made it unnecessary, in the 
Malone case, to examine the British system current-
ly in force, which was held to have been at fault be-
cause of a lack of "law", and to determine whether 
or not adequate guarantees existed.

In my view, however, the facts as described in the 
Commission’s report and in the Court’s summary 
of facts also called for an assessment of the British 
measures and practices under Article 8 para. 2 (art. 
8-2).

This appears necessary to me because of the ma-
jor importance of the issue at stake, which I would 
summarise as follows.

The danger threatening democratic societies in the 
years 1980-1990 stems from the temptation facing 
public authorities to "see into" the life of the citizen. 
In order to answer the needs of planning and of so-
cial and tax policy, the State is obliged to amplify 
the scale of its interferences. In its administrative 
systems, the State is being led to proliferate and 
then to computerise its personal data-files. Already 
in several of the member States of the Council of 
Europe each citizen is entered on 200 to 400 data-
files.

At a further stage, public authorities seek, for the 
purposes of their statistics and decision-making 
processes, to build up a "profile" of each citizen. 
Enquiries become more numerous; telephone tap-
ping constitutes one of the favoured means of this 
permanent investigation.

Telephone tapping has during the last thirty years 
benefited from many "improvements" which have 
aggravated the dangers of interference in private 
life. The product of the interception can be stored 
on magnetic tapes and processed in postal or other 
centres equipped with the most sophisticated ma-
terial. The amateurish tapping effected by police 
officers or post office employees now exists only as 
a memory of pre-war novels. The encoding of pro-
grammes and tapes, their decoding, and computer 
processing make it possible for interceptions to 
be multiplied a hundredfold and to be analysed in 
shorter and shorter time-spans, if need be by com-
puter. Through use of the "mosaic" technique, a 
complete picture can be assembled of the life-style 
of even the "model" citizen.

It would be rash to believe that the number of tel-
ephone interceptions is only a few hundred per 
year in each country and that they are all known to 
the authorities.

Concurrently with developments in the techniques 
of interception, the aims pursued by the authorities 
have diversified. Police interception for the preven-
tion of crime is only one of the practices employed; 
to this should be added political interceptions, 
interceptions of communications of journalists 
and leading figures, not to mention interceptions 
required by national defence and State security, 
which are included in the "top-secret" category and 
not dealt with in the Court’s judgment or the pre-
sent opinion.

Most of the member States of the Council of Eu-
rope have felt the need to introduce legislation on 
the matter in order to bring to an end the abuses 
which were proliferating and making vulnerable 
even those in power.

The legislative technique most often employed 
is that of criminal procedure: the interception of 
communications is made subject to the decision 
and control of a judge within the framework of a 
criminal investigation by means of provisions simi-
lar to those governing searches carried out on the 
authority of a warrant.

The order by the judge must specify the circum-
stances justifying the measure, if need be subject 
to review by an appeal court. Variations exist ac-
cording to the types of system and code of criminal 
procedure.

The governing principle of these laws is the separa-
tion of executive and judicial powers, that is to say, 
not to confer on the executive the initiative and the 
control of the interception, in line with the spirit of 
Article 8 (art. 8).

The British system analysed in the Malone judg-
ment - and held by the Court not to be "in accord-
ance with the law" - is a typical example of a practice 
that places interception of communications within 
the sole discretion and under the sole control of the 
Minister of the Interior, this being compounded by 
the fact that intercepted material is not disclosed 
to the judicial authorities (in the form of evidence), 
which therefore have no knowledge of the inter-
ception (see paragraph 51).

Even in the case of interception of communications 
required by the imperative necessities of counter-
espionage and State security, most systems of law 
include strict rules providing for derogations from 
the ordinary law, the intervention and control of 
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the Prime Minister or the Minister of Justice, and 
the recourse to boards or commissions composed 
of judges at the peak of the judicial hierarchy.

The European Court has, it is true, "considere[d] 
that it does not have to examine further the con-
tent of the other guarantees required by paragraph 
2 of Article 8 (art. 8-2) and whether the system com-
plained of furnished those guarantees in the par-
ticular circumstances" (paragraph 82).

This reservation makes clear that in limiting itself 
to finding a violation because the governmental 
interference was not in accordance with the law, 
the Court did not intend, even implicitly, to mark 
approval of the British system and thus reserved 
any adjudication on a possible violation of Article 
8 para. 2 (art. 8-2).

In my opinion, however, the Court could at this 
point have completed its reasoning and analysed 
the components of the system so as to assess their 
compatibility and draw the conclusion of a breach 
of Article 8 para. 2 (art. 8-2), there being no judicial 
control.

Even if a "law", within the meaning of Article 8 pa-
ras. 1 and 2 (art. 8-1, art. 8-2), contains detailed rules 
which do not merely legalise practices but define 
and delimit them, the lack of judicial control could 
still entail, in my view, a violation of Article 8 para. 2 
(art. 8-2), subject of course to review by the Court.

It must also be borne in mind that the practice of 
police interception leads to the establishment of 
"prosecution" files which thereafter carry the risk of 
rendering inoperative the rules of a fair trial provid-
ed for under Article 6 (art. 6) by building up a pre-
sumption of guilt. The judicial authorities should 
therefore be left a full power of appreciation over 
the field of decision and control.

The object of the laws in Europe protecting private 
life is to prevent any clandestine disclosure of words 
uttered in a private context; certain laws have even 
made illegal any tapping of a telephone communi-
cation, any interception of a message without the 
consent of the parties. The link between laws on 
"private life" and laws on "interception of commu-
nications" is very close.

German law enumerates the offences for the de-
tection of which measures of interception may 
be ordered. The list of offences set out in this law 
is entirely directed towards the preservation of 
democracy, the sole justification for the attendant 
interference.

In the Klass case and the accompanying compara-
tive examination of the rules obtaining in the dif-

ferent signatory States of the Convention, the need 
for a system of protection in this sphere was em-
phasised. It admittedly falls to the State to operate 
such a system, but only within the bounds set by 
Article 8 (art. 8).

There were, in the Malone case, factors permitting 
the Court to draw a distinction between the dan-
gers of a crisis situation caused by terrorism (Klass 
case) and the dangers of ordinary criminality, and 
hence to consider that two different sets of rules 
could be adopted. In so far as the prevention of 
crime under the ordinary law is concerned, it is dif-
ficult to see the reason for ousting judicial control, 
at the very least such control as would secure at a 
later stage the right to the destruction of the prod-
uct of unjustified interceptions.

Reasoning along these lines could have been 
adopted by the Court, even on an alterative basis. 
The interference caused by interception of com-
munications is more serious than an ordinary inter-
ference since the "innocent" victim is incapable of 
discovering it.

If, as the British Government submitted, only the 
suspected criminal is placed under secret surveil-
lance, there can be no ground for denying a meas-
ure involving judicial or equivalent control, or for 
refusing to have a neutral and impartial body situ-
ated between the authority deciding on the inter-
ception and the authority responsible for control-
ling the legality of the operation and its conformity 
with the legitimate aims pursued.

The requirement of judicial control over telephone 
interceptions does not flow solely from a concern 
rooted in a philosophy of power and institutions 
but also from the necessities of protecting private 
life.

In reality, even justified and properly controlled 
telephone interceptions call for counter-measures 
such as the right of access by the subject of the in-
terception when the judicial phase has terminated 
in the discharge or acquittal of the accused, the 
right to erasure of the data obtained, the right of 
restitution of the tapes.

Other measures are necessary, such as regulations 
safeguarding the confidentiality of the investiga-
tion and legal professional privilege, when the in-
terception has involved monitoring a conversation 
between lawyer and client or when the intercep-
tion has disclosed facts other than those forming 
the subject of the criminal investigation and the 
accusation.

Provisions of criminal procedure alone are capable 
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of satisfying such requirements which, moreover, 
are consistent with the Council of Europe Conven-
tion of 1981 (Private Life, Data Banks). It is in fact 
impossible to isolate the issue of interception of 
communications from the issue of data banks since 
interceptions give rise to the filing and storing of 
the information obtained. For States which have 
also ratified the 1981 Convention, their legislation 
must satisfy these double requirements.

The work of the Council of Europe (Orwell Colloquy 
in Strasbourg on 2 April 1984, and Data Bank Col-
loquy in Madrid on 13 June 1984) has been directed 
towards the same end, namely the protection of 
the individual threatened by methods of storing 
and transmission of information. The mission of the 
Council of Europe and of its organs is to prevent the 
establishment of systems and methods that would 
allow "Big Brother" to become master of the citi-
zen’s private life. For it is just as serious to be made 
subject to measures of interception against one’s 
will as to be unable to stop such measures when 
they are illegal or unjustified, as was for example 
the case with Orwell’s character who, within his 
own home, was continually supervised by a televi-
sion camera without being able to switch it off.

The distinction between administrative intercep-
tions and interceptions authorised by a judicial 
authority must be clearly made in the law in order 
to comply with Article 8 (art. 8); it would appear 
preferable to lay down the lawfulness of certain 
interventions within an established legal frame-
work rather than leaving a legal vacuum permit-
ting arbitrariness. The designation of the collective 
institutions responsible for ensuring the ex post 
facto control of the manner of implementation 
of measures of interception; the determination of 
the dates of cancellation of the tapping and moni-
toring measures, the means of destruction of the 
product of interception; the inclusion in the code 
of criminal procedure of all measures applying to 
such matters in order to afford protection of words 
uttered in a private context or in a private place, 
verification that the measures do not constitute an 
unfair stratagem or a violation of the rights of the 
defence - all this panoply of requirements must be 
taken into consideration to judge whether or not 
the system satisfies the provisions of Article 8 (art. 
8). The Malone case prompted queries of this kind 
since the State cannot enjoy an "unlimited discre-
tion" in this respect (see the Klass judgment).

According to the spirit of the Council of Europe 
Convention of 1981 on private life and data banks, 
the right of access includes the right for the indi-
vidual to establish the existence of the data, to 
establish the banks of which he is a "data subject", 

access properly speaking, the right to challenge the 
data, and the exceptions to and derogations from 
this right of access in the case notably of police or 
judicial investigations which must by nature remain 
secret during the initial phase so as not to alert the 
criminals or potential criminals.

Recommendation R (83) 10 of the Committee of 
Ministers of the Council of Europe states that re-
spect for the privacy of individuals should be guar-
anteed "in any research project requiring the use of 
personal data".

The nature and implications of data processing are 
totally different as soon as computerisation enters 
the picture. The Karlsruhe Constitutional Court has 
rightly identified the concept of "informational self-
determination", that is to say, the right of the indi-
vidual to decide within what limits data concerning 
his private life might be divulged and to protect 
himself against an increasing tendency to make 
him "public property".

In 1950, techniques for interfering in private life 
were still archaic; the meaning and import of the 
term interference as understood at that time 
cannot prevail over the current meaning. Conse-
quently, interceptions which in previous times ne-
cessitated recourse to tapping must be classified 
as "interferences" in 1984, even if they have been 
effected without tapping thanks to "bugging" and 
long-distance listening techniques.

For it is settled, as was recalled in paragraph 42 of 
the Klass judgment, that Article 8 para. 2 (art. 8-2), 
since it provides for an exception to a guaranteed 
right, "is to be narrowly interpreted" and that "pow-
ers of secret surveillance of citizens, characterising 
as they do the police State, are tolerable under the 
Convention only in so far as strictly necessary for 
safeguarding the democratic institutions". To leave 
to the police alone, even subject to the control of 
the Home Office, the task of assessing the degree of 
suspicion or dangerousness cannot, in my opinion, 
be regarded as an adequate means consistent with 
the aim pursued, even if that aim be legitimate; and 
in any event, practices of systematic interception 
of communications in the absence of impartial, 
independent and judicial control would be dispro-
portionate to the aim sought to be achieved. In this 
connection, the Malone judgment has to read with 
reference to the reasoning expounded in the Klass 
judgment.

States must admittedly be left a domestic discre-
tion and the scope of this discretion is admittedly 
not identical in respect of each of the aims enu-
merated in Articles 8 and 10 (art. 8, art. 10), but the 
right to respect for private life against spying by ex-
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ecutive authorities comes within the most exacting 
category of Convention rights and hence entails a 
certain restriction on this domestic "discretion" and 
on the margin of appreciation. In this sphere (more 
than in the sphere of morality - cf. the Handyside 
judgment), it can be maintained that it is possible, 
whilst still taking account of the circumstances re-
sulting from the threat posed to democratic socie-
ties by terrorism, to identify European standards of 
State conduct in relation to surveillance of citizens. 
The shared characteristics of statutory texts or draft 
legislation on data banks and interception of com-
munications is evidence of this awareness.

The Court in its examination of cases of violation of 
Article 8 (art. 8) must be able to inquire into all the 
techniques giving rise to the interference.

The Post Office Engineering Union, during the 
course of the Malone case, referred to proposals 
for the adoption of regulations capable of being 
adapted to new techniques as they are developed 
and for a system of warrants issued by "magis-
trates".

The Court has rightly held that there was also viola-
tion of Article 8 para. 1 (art. 8-1) in respect of meter-
ing.

On this point, it would likewise have been pos-
sible to have given a ruling by applying Article 8 
para. 2 (art. 8-2). The comprehensive metering of 
telephone communications (origin, destination, 
duration), when effected for a purpose other than 
its sole accounting purpose, albeit in the absence 
of any interception as such, constitutes an interfer-
ence in private life. On the basis of the data thereby 
obtained, the authorities are enabled to deduce in-
formation that is not properly meant to be within 
their knowledge. It is known that, as far as data 
banks are concerned, the processing of "neutral" 
data may be as revealing as the processing of sensi-
tive data.

The simple reference in the judgment to the notion 
of necessity in a democratic society and to the re-
quirement of "adequate guarantees", without any 
eludication of the principles and principal condi-
tions attaching to these guarantees, might well be 
inadequate for the purposes of the interpretation 
that the State should give to the Convention and 
to the judgment.

The Malone judgment complementing as it does 
the Klass judgment, in that it arrives at a conclusion 
of violation by finding unsatisfactory a system that 
is laid down neither by statute nor by any statu-
tory equivalent in Anglo-Saxon law, takes its place 
in that continuing line of decisions through which 

the Court acts as guardian of the Convention. The 
Court fulfils that function by investing Article 8 (art. 
8) with its full dimension and by limiting the margin 
of appreciation especially in those areas where the 
individual is more and more vulnerable as a result 
of modern technology; recognition of his right to 
be "left alone" is inherent in Article 8 (art. 8). The 
Convention protects the community of men; man 
in our times has a need to preserve his identity, to 
refuse the total transparency of society, to maintain 
the privacy of his personality.
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PRIVATE LIFE, COMMUNICATION, TELEPHONE, TAP-
PING, SURVEILLANCE, INTERCEPTION, INTERFERENCE, 
SECRET

IN THE CASE Of ByKOv v. RuSSIA,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting as a 
Grand Chamber composed of:
Jean-Paul Costa, President,  
Christos Rozakis,  
Nicolas Bratza,  
Peer Lorenzen,  
Françoise Tulkens,  
Josep Casadevall,  
Ireneu Cabral Barreto,  
Nina Vajić,  
Anatoly Kovler,  
Elisabeth Steiner,  
Khanlar Hajiyev,  
Ljiljana Mijović,  
Dean Spielmann,  
David Thór Björgvinsson,  
George Nicolaou,  
Mirjana Lazarova Trajkovska,  
Nona Tsotsoria, judges,  
and Michael O'Boyle, Deputy Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 18 June 2008 and 
on 21 January 2009,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

4378/02) against the Russian Federation 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of the 
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Conven-
tion”) by a Russian national, Mr Anatoliy Petro-
vich Bykov (“the applicant”), on 21 December 
2001.

2. The applicant was represented by Mr D. Krauss, 
Professor of Law at Humboldt University, Berlin, 
and by Mr J.-C. Pastille and Mr G. Padva, lawyers 
practising in Riga and Moscow respectively. 
The Russian Government (“the Government”) 

were initially represented by Mr P. Laptev and 
Ms V. Milinchuk, former Representatives of the 
Russian Federation at the European Court of 
Human Rights, and subsequently by their Rep-
resentative, Mr G. Matyushkin.

3. The applicant complained under Article 6 § 1 
and Article 8 of the Convention about the cov-
ert recording made at his home and its use as 
evidence in the ensuing criminal proceedings 
against him. He also alleged that his pre-trial 
detention was excessively long and not justi-
fied for the purposes of Article 5 § 3 of the 
Convention.

4. The application was allocated to the First Sec-
tion of the Court (Rule 52 § 1 of the Rules of 
Court). On 7 September 2006 it was declared 
partly admissible by a Chamber of that Section 
composed of the following judges: Christos 
Rozakis, Loukis Loucaides, Françoise Tulkens, 
Nina Vajić, Anatoly Kovler, Elisabeth Steiner, 
Khanlar Hajiyev, and also of Søren Nielsen, Sec-
tion Registrar. On 22 November 2007 a Cham-
ber of that Section, composed of the following 
judges: Christos Rozakis, Loukis Loucaides, Nina 
Vajić, Anatoly Kovler, Elisabeth Steiner, Khanlar 
Hajiyev, Dean Spielmann, and also of Søren 
Nielsen, Section Registrar, relinquished jurisdic-
tion in favour of the Grand Chamber, none of 
the parties having objected to relinquishment 
(Article 30 of the Convention and Rule 72).

5. The composition of the Grand Chamber was 
determined according to the provisions of Arti-
cle 27 §§ 2 and 3 of the Convention and Rule 
24 of the Rules of Court.

6. The applicant and the Government each filed 
written observations on the merits.

7. A hearing took place in public in the Human 
Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 18 June 2008 
(Rule 59 § 3).

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Ms v. Milinchuk, Agent, 

Ms I. Mayke, 

Ms y. Tsimbalova, 

Mr A. zazulskiy, Advisers;

(b) for the applicant

Mr D. Krauss, 

Mr J.-C. Pastille, Counsel, 
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Mr G. Padva, 

Ms J. Kvjatkovska, Advisers. 

The applicant was also present.

The Court heard addresses by Mr Krauss and Ms 
Milinchuk, as well as the answers by Mr Pastille and 
Ms Milinchuk to questions put to the parties.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

8. The applicant was born in 1960 and lives in 
Krasnoyarsk.

9. From 1997 to 1999 the applicant was chairman 
of the board of the Krasnoyarsk Aluminium 
Plant. At the time of his arrest in October 2000 
he was a major shareholder and an executive 
of a corporation called OAO Krasenergomash-
Holding and a founder of a number of affiliated 
firms. He was also a deputy of the Krasnoyarsk 
Regional Parliamentary Assembly.

A. Covert operation
10. In September 2000 the applicant allegedly or-

dered V., a member of his entourage, to kill S., 
the applicant's former business associate. V. did 
not comply with the order, but on 18 Septem-
ber 2000 he reported the applicant to the Fed-
eral Security Service of the Russian Federation 
(“the FSB”). On the following day V. handed in 
the gun which he had allegedly received from 
the applicant.

11. On 21 September 2000 the Prosecutor of the 
Severo-Zapadnyy District of Moscow opened 
a criminal investigation in respect of the ap-
plicant on suspicion of conspiracy to murder.

12. On 26 and 27 September 2000 the FSB and the 
police decided to conduct a covert operation 
to obtain evidence of the applicant's intention 
to murder S.

13. On 29 September 2000 the police staged the 
discovery of two dead men at S.'s home. They 
officially announced in the media that one of 
those killed had been identified as S. The other 
man was his business partner, I.

14. On 3 October 2000 V., acting on the police's in-
structions, came to see the applicant at his es-
tate. He carried a hidden radio-transmitting de-
vice while a police officer outside received and 

recorded the transmission. He was received by 
the applicant in a “guest house”, a part of the 
estate connected to his personal residence. In 
accordance with the instructions, V. engaged 
the applicant in conversation by telling him 
that he had carried out the assassination. As 
proof of his accomplishment he handed the 
applicant several objects taken from S. and I.: 
a certified copy of a mining project feasibility 
study marked with a special chemical agent, 
two watches belonging to S. and I. and 20,000 
United States dollars (USD) in cash. At the end 
of the conversation V. took the cash, as sug-
gested by the applicant. The police obtained a 
sixteen-minute recording of the dialogue be-
tween V. and the applicant.

15. On 4 October 2000 the applicant's estate was 
searched. Several watches were seized, includ-
ing those belonging to S. and I. A chemical 
analysis was conducted and revealed the pres-
ence on the applicant's hands of the chemical 
agent which had been used to mark the feasi-
bility study. The applicant was arrested.

16. On 27 February 2001 the applicant complained 
to the Prosecutor of the Severo-Zapadnyy Dis-
trict of Moscow that his prosecution had been 
unlawful because it involved numerous proce-
dural violations of his rights, including the un-
authorised intrusion into his home and the use 
of the radio-transmitting device. On 2 March 
2001 the prosecutor dismissed his complaint, 
having found, in particular, that the applicant 
had let V. into his house voluntarily and that 
therefore there had been no intrusion. It was 
also found that no judicial authorisation had 
been required for the use of the radio-trans-
mitting device because in accordance with the 
Operational-Search Activities Act, it was only 
required for the interception of communica-
tions transmitted by means of wire channels 
or mail services, none of which had been em-
ployed in the covert operation at issue.

B. Pre-trial detention
17. Following the applicant's arrest on 4 October 

2000, on 6 October 2000 the Deputy Prosecu-
tor of the Severo-Zapadnyy District of Moscow 
ordered his detention during the investigation, 
having found that it was “in accordance with 
the law” and necessary in view of the gravity 
of the charge and the risk that the applicant 
might influence witnesses. Further extensions 
were ordered by the competent prosecutor on 
17 November 2000 (until 21 December 2000) 
and on 15 December 2000 (until 21 March 
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2001). The reasons for the applicant's contin-
ued detention were the gravity of the charge 
and the risk of his influencing the witnesses 
and obstructing the investigation. The appli-
cant appealed against each of these decisions 
to a court.

18. On 26 January 2001 the Lefortovskiy District 
Court of Moscow examined the applicant's 
appeal against his continued detention on re-
mand and confirmed the lawfulness of his de-
tention. The court referred to the gravity of the 
charge and noted that this measure had been 
applied in accordance with the law. The appli-
cant lodged a further appeal, which was also 
dismissed by the Moscow City Court.

19. In view of the forthcoming expiry of the term of 
the applicant's detention, its further extension 
was ordered by the competent prosecutor, first 
on 15 March 2001, until 4 April 2001, and then 
on 21 March 2001, until 4 June 2001, still on the 
grounds of the gravity of the charge and the 
risk of his influencing the witnesses and ob-
structing the investigation. The applicant chal-
lenged the extensions before the court.

20. On 11 April 2001 the Lefortovskiy District Court 
of Moscow declared that the applicant's deten-
tion until 4 June 2001 was lawful and necessary 
on account of the gravity of the charge. The ap-
plicant lodged an appeal with the Moscow City 
Court, which was dismissed on 15 May 2001. 
The appeal court considered the applicant's 
detention lawful and necessary “until the bill of 
indictment had been submitted or until the ap-
plicant's immunity had been confirmed”.

21. On 22 May 2001 the Deputy Prosecutor Gen-
eral extended the applicant's detention on 
remand until 4 September 2001, still on the 
grounds of the gravity of the charge and the 
risk of his influencing the witnesses and ob-
structing the investigation.

22. On 27 August 2001 the case was referred to the 
Tushinskiy District Court of Moscow. On 7 Sep-
tember 2001 the court scheduled the hearing 
for 26 September 2001 and authorised the ap-
plicant's further detention without indicating 
any reasons or the length of the extension. On 
3 October 2001 the Moscow City Court exam-
ined and dismissed an appeal by the applicant, 
upholding his continued detention without 
elaborating on the reasons.

23. On 21 December 2001 the Meshchanskiy Dis-
trict Court of Moscow scheduled the hearing 
for 4 January 2002 and authorised the ap-

plicant's further detention, citing no reasons. 
The court did not indicate the length of the 
prospective detention. It again reviewed the 
lawfulness of the applicant's detention on 4 
January 2002 but found that it was still neces-
sary owing to the gravity of the charges and 
the “circumstances of the case”. An appeal by 
the applicant to the Moscow City Court was 
dismissed on 15 January 2002.

24. Further applications by the applicant for re-
lease were examined on 23 January, 6 March, 
11 March and 23 April 2002. As before, the 
Meshchanskiy District Court of Moscow refused 
his release, citing the gravity of the charge and 
the risk of his evading trial and influencing the 
witnesses. The applicant was released on 19 
June 2002 following his conviction (see para-
graph 45 below).

C. Criminal investigation and trial
25. On 3 October 2000, immediately after visiting 

the applicant in the “guest house”, V. was ques-
tioned by the investigators. He reported on the 
contents of his conversation with the applicant 
and submitted that he had handed him the 
gun, the watches and the feasibility study. He 
was subsequently questioned on 12 October, 
9 November, 8 December and 18 December 
2000.

26. The applicant was questioned as a suspect for 
the first time on 4 October 2000. From October 
to December 2000 he was questioned at least 
seven times.

27. On 10 October 2000 the applicant and V. were 
questioned in a confrontation with each other. 
The applicant's legal counsel were present at 
the confrontation. The statements made by the 
applicant on that occasion were subsequently 
summarised in the indictment, of which the 
relevant part reads as follows:
“At the confrontation between A.P. Bykov
and[V.]on10October2000Bykovaltered,in
part, certain substantive details of his previ-
ousstatements,asfollows.[He]claimsthathe
hasbeenacquaintedwith[V.]foralongtime,
about7years;theyhavenormalrelations;the
lasttimehesawhimwason3October2000,
and before that they had been in contact
abouttwoyearspreviously.Hehasnevergiv-
enanyordersorinstructionsto[V.],including
anyconcerning[S.].When[V.]cametoseehim
on3October2000hebegantotellhimofffor
comingtohim.Whenheasked [V.]whohad
toldhimtokill[S.]herepliedthatnobodyhad,
hehadjustwantedtoprovetohimselfthathe
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coulddo it.Hebegan to comfort [V.], saying
thathecouldhelpwithhisfather;[he]didnot
suggestthat[V.]fleethetown[or]thecountry,
anddidnotpromisetohelphimfinancially.He
didnot instruct [V.]onwhat todo if [V.]was
arrested;heaskedhimwhatwasgoingtohap-
penifhewasarrested;[V.]saidthathewould
tellhowitallhappenedandwouldconfessto
havingcommitted the crime, [and theappli-
cant]approvedof that.ConcerningK.,Bykov
statedthatthiswashispartnerwholivedand
workedinSwitzerland;headmittedde facto
thathehadspokentohimonthephoneatthe
beginningofAugust...buthadgivenhimno
directionsabout[V.]”

28. On 13 October 2000 the applicant was charged 
with conspiracy to murder. Subsequently the 
charges were extended to include conspiracy 
to acquire, possess and handle firearms.

29. On 8 December 2000 two appointed linguistic 
experts examined the recording of the appli-
cant's conversation with V. of 3 October 2000 
and answered the following questions put to 
them:
“1. Is it possible to establish, on the basis of
the text of the conversation submitted for
examination,thenatureofrelationsbetween
Bykov and [V.], the extent of their closeness,
sympathyforeachother,subordination;how
isitexpressed?

2.Was Bykov's verbal reaction to [V.]'s state-
mentaboutthe'murder'of[S.]naturalassum-
inghehadorderedthemurderof[S.]?

3. Are there any verbal signs indicating that
Bykovexpressedmistrustabout[V.]'sinforma-
tion?

4. Is it possible to assessBykov's verbal style
asunequivocally aimingat closing the topic,
endingtheconversation?

5. Are there any identifiable stylistic, verbal
signsoffear(caution)onBykov'spartinrela-
tionto[V.]?”

30. In respect of the above questions the experts 
found:

• on question 1, that the applicant and V. had 
known each other for a long time and had 
rather close and generally sympathetic re-
lations; that V. had shown subordination to 
the applicant; that the applicant had played 
an instructive role in the conversation;

• on question 2, that the applicant's reaction 
to V.'s information about the accomplished 
murder was natural and that he had insist-

ently questioned V. on the technical details 
of its execution;

• on question 3, that the applicant had 
shown no sign of mistrusting V.'s confes-
sion to the murder;

• on question 4, that the applicant had not 
shown any clear signs of wishing to end or 
to avoid the conversation;

• on question 5, that the applicant had not 
shown any fear of V.; on the contrary, V. ap-
peared to be afraid of the applicant.

31. On 11 January 2001 the investigation was com-
pleted and the applicant was allowed access to 
the case file.

32. On 27 August 2001 the case was referred to the 
Tushinskiy District Court of Moscow.

33. On 22 October 2001 the Tushinskiy District 
Court declined jurisdiction in favour of the 
Meshchanskiy District Court of Moscow, having 
established that the venue of the attempted 
murder lay within that court's territorial juris-
diction.

34. On 16 December 2001 V. made a written state-
ment certified by the Russian consulate in the 
Republic of Cyprus repudiating his statements 
against the applicant. He submitted that he 
had made those statements under pressure 
from S. Two deputies of the State Duma, D. and 
Y.S., were present at the consulate to witness 
the repudiation. On the same day they record-
ed an interview with V. in which he explained 
that S. had persuaded him to make false state-
ments against the applicant.

35. On 4 February 2002 the Meshchanskiy District 
Court of Moscow began examining the charg-
es against the applicant. The applicant pleaded 
not guilty. At the trial he challenged the ad-
missibility of the recording of his conversa-
tion with V. and of all other evidence obtained 
through the covert operation. He alleged that 
the police interference had been unlawful and 
that he had been induced into self-incrimina-
tion. Furthermore, he claimed that the record-
ing had involved unauthorised intrusion into 
his home. He contested the interpretation of 
the recording by the experts and alleged that 
nothing in his dialogue with V. disclosed prior 
knowledge of a murder conspiracy.

36. During the trial the court dismissed the appli-
cant's objection to the covert operation and 
admitted as lawfully obtained evidence the 
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recording with its transcript, the linguistic ex-
pert report, V.'s statements, and the evidence 
showing that the applicant had accepted the 
feasibility study and the watches from V. It 
dismissed the argument that there had been 
an unauthorised intrusion into the applicant's 
premises, having found, firstly, that the appli-
cant had expressed no objection to V.'s visit 
and, secondly, that their meeting had taken 
place in the “guest house”, which was intend-
ed for business meetings and therefore did 
not encroach on the applicant's privacy. The 
court refused to admit as evidence the official 
records of the search at the applicant's estate 
because the officers who had conducted the 
search on 4 October 2000 had not been cov-
ered by the authorisation.

37. The following persons were examined in the 
oral proceedings before the court:

S. explained his relations with the applicant 
and their conflict of interests in the aluminium 
industry. He confirmed that he had participat-
ed in the covert operation; he also confirmed 
that in 2001 V. had told him that he had been 
paid off to withdraw his statements against the 
applicant.

Twenty-five witnesses answered questions 
concerning the business links of the applicant, 
V. and S. with the aluminium plant and other 
businesses in Krasnoyarsk; the relations and 
connections between them; the existence of 
the conflict of interests between the applicant 
and S.; the events of 3 October 2000, namely 
the arrival of V. at the “guest house”, his con-
versation with the applicant and the handing 
of the documents and the watches to the ap-
plicant; and the circumstances surrounding 
V.'s attempted withdrawal of his statements 
against the applicant.

Seven experts were examined: a technical ex-
pert gave explanations about the recording 
of data received by way of a radio-transmit-
ting device; a sound expert explained how a 
transcript of the recording of the applicant's 
conversation with V. had been produced; two 
expert linguists submitted that they had used 
both the tape and the recording transcript 
in their examination; an expert psychologist 
answered questions concerning his findings 
(evidence subsequently excluded as obtained 
unlawfully – see paragraph 43 below); and two 
corroborative experts upheld the conclusions 
of the expert linguists and the sound experts.

Seven attesting witnesses answered ques-

tions concerning their participation in various 
investigative measures: the receipt of the gun 
handed in by V., the copying of the video and 
audio tapes, the treatment of the material ex-
hibits with a chemical agent, the “discovery of 
the corpses” in the operative experiment, and 
the house search.

Four investigation officers were examined: an 
FSB officer submitted that on 18 September 
2000 V. had written a statement in his presence 
that the applicant had ordered him to kill S., 
and had handed in the gun; he also explained 
how the operative experiment had been car-
ried out; two officers of the prosecutor's of-
fice and one officer of the Interior Ministry 
also described the operative experiment and 
explained how the copies of the recording of 
the applicant's conversation with V. had been 
made.

38. On 15 May 2002 during the court hearing the 
prosecutor requested to read out the records 
of the questioning of five witnesses not pre-
sent at the hearing. The statements made by V. 
during the pre-trial investigation were among 
them.

39. The applicant's counsel said that he had no 
objections. The court decided to grant the 
request, having noted that “the court took ex-
haustive measures to call these witnesses to 
the court hearing and found that... V.'s wherea-
bouts could not be established and he could 
not be called to the courtroom even though a 
number of operational search measures were 
taken by the FSB and an enquiry was made to 
the National Central Bureau of Interpol by the 
Ministry of the Interior...”. These statements 
were admitted as evidence.

40. The court also examined evidence relating to 
V.'s attempted withdrawal of his statements 
against the applicant. It established that during 
the investigation V. had already complained 
that pressure had been exerted on him to re-
pudiate his statements against the applicant. It 
also established that the witness D., who was 
present at the consulate when V. had repudi-
ated his statements, was a close friend of the 
applicant. The other witness, Y.S., had arrived at 
the consulate late and did not see the docu-
ment before it was certified.

41. It was also noted that both the applicant and V. 
had undergone a psychiatric examination dur-
ing the investigation and both had been found 
fit to participate in the criminal proceedings.
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42. Other evidence examined by the court includ-
ed: expert reports produced by chemical, bal-
listics, linguistic, sound and technical experts; 
written reports on the operative experiment; 
V.'s written statement of 18 September 2000; 
a certified description of the gun handed in by 
V.; and records of the applicant's confrontation 
with V. on 20 October 2000.

43. The applicant challenged a number of items 
of evidence, claiming that they had been ob-
tained unlawfully. The court excluded some 
of them, in particular the expert report by a 
psychologist who had examined the record-
ing of the applicant's conversation with V. and 
the police report on the search carried out on 
4 October 2000. The attempt to challenge the 
audio tape containing the recording of the ap-
plicant's conversation with V., and the copies 
of the tape, was not successful and they were 
admitted as lawfully obtained evidence.

44. On 19 June 2002 the Meshchanskiy District 
Court of Moscow gave judgment, finding the 
applicant guilty of conspiracy to murder and 
conspiracy to acquire, possess and handle 
firearms. The finding of guilt was based on the 
following evidence: the initial statement by V. 
that the applicant had ordered him to kill S.; the 
gun V. had handed in; the statements V. had 
made in front of the applicant when they had 
been confronted during the questioning on 10 
October 2000; numerous witness statements 
confirming the existence of a conflict between 
the applicant and S.; and the physical evi-
dence obtained through the covert operation, 
namely the watches and the feasibility study. 
Although the recording of the applicant's con-
versation with V. was played at the hearing, its 
contents did not feature among the evidence 
or as part of the court's reasoning. In so far as 
the record was mentioned in the judgment, 
the court relied solely on the conclusions of the 
linguistic experts (see paragraph 30 above) and 
on several reports confirming that the tape had 
not been tampered with.

45. The court sentenced the applicant to six and a 
half years' imprisonment and, having deducted 
the time already spent in pre-trial detention, 
conditionally released him on five years' proba-
tion.

46. The applicant appealed against the judgment, 
challenging, inter alia, the admissibility of the 
evidence obtained through the covert opera-
tion and the court's interpretation of the physi-
cal evidence and the witnesses' testimonies.

47. On 1 October 2002 the Moscow City Court up-
held the applicant's conviction and dismissed 
his appeal, including the arguments relating to 
the admissibility of evidence.

48. On 22 June 2004 the Supreme Court of the 
Russian Federation examined the applicant's 
case in supervisory proceedings. It modified 
the judgment of 19 June 2002 and the appeal 
decision of 1 October 2002, redefining the legal 
classification of one of the offences committed 
by the applicant. It found the applicant guilty 
of “incitement to commit a crime involving a 
murder”, and not “conspiracy to murder”. The 
rest of the judgment, including the sentence, 
remained unchanged.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW

A. Pre-trial detention
49. Until 1 July 2002 criminal-law matters were 

governed by the Code of Criminal Procedure 
of the Russian Soviet Federative Socialist Re-
public (CCrP).

50. “Preventive measures” or “measures of re-
straint” included an undertaking not to leave 
a town or region, personal security, bail and 
detention on remand (Article 89). A decision to 
detain someone on remand could be taken by 
a prosecutor or a court (Articles 11, 89 and 96).

1.Grounds for detention on remand

51. When deciding whether to remand an accused 
in custody, the competent authority was re-
quired to consider whether there were “suffi-
cient grounds to believe” that he or she would 
abscond during the investigation or trial or ob-
struct the establishment of the truth or reoff-
end (Article 89). It also had to take into account 
the gravity of the charge, information on the 
accused's character, his or her profession, age, 
state of health, family status and other circum-
stances (Article 91).

52. Before 14 March 2001, detention on remand 
was authorised if the accused was charged 
with a criminal offence carrying a sentence 
of at least one year's imprisonment or if there 
were “exceptional circumstances” in the case 
(Article 96). On 14 March 2001 the CCrP was 
amended to permit defendants to be remand-
ed in custody if the charge carried a sentence 
of at least two years' imprisonment or if they 
had previously defaulted or had no permanent 
residence in Russia or if their identity could not 
be ascertained. The amendments of 14 March 
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2001 also repealed the provision that permit-
ted defendants to be remanded in custody on 
the sole ground of the dangerous nature of the 
criminal offence committed.

2.Time-limits for detention on remand

53. The CCrP provided for a distinction between 
two types of detention on remand: the first be-
ing “during the investigation”, that is, while a 
competent agency – the police or a prosecu-
tor's office – was investigating the case, and 
the second being “before the court” (or “during 
the judicial proceedings”), at the judicial stage. 
Although there was no difference in practice 
between them (the detainee was held in the 
same detention facility), the calculation of the 
time-limits was different.

54. From the date the prosecutor referred the case 
to the trial court, the defendant's detention 
was classified as “before the court” (or “during 
the judicial proceedings”).

55. Before 14 March 2001 the CCrP did not set any 
time-limit for detention “during the judicial 
proceedings”. On 14 March 2001 a new Arti-
cle 239-1 was inserted which established that 
the period of detention “during the judicial 
proceedings” could not generally exceed six 
months from the date the court received the 
file. However, if there was evidence to show 
that the defendant's release might impede a 
thorough, complete and objective examina-
tion of the case, a court could – of its own mo-
tion or on a request by a prosecutor – extend 
the detention by no longer than three months. 
These provisions did not apply to defendants 
charged with particularly serious criminal of-
fences.

B. Operative experiments
56. The Operational-Search Activities Act of 12 

August 1995 (no. 144-FZ) provides, in so far as 
relevant, as follows:

Section 6: Operational-search activities

“In carrying out investigations the following
measuresmaybetaken:

...

9.supervisionofpostal,telegraphicandother
communications;

10.telephoneinterception;

11.collectionofdatafromtechnicalchannels
ofcommunication;

...

14.operativeexperiments.

...

Operational-searchactivities involving super-
vision of postal, telegraphic and other com-
munications,telephoneinterceptionthrough
[telecommunication companies], and the
collectionofdata from technical channelsof
communicationaretobecarriedoutbytech-
nical means by the Federal Security Service
and the agencies of the Interior Ministry in
accordance with decisions and agreements
signedbetweentheagenciesinvolved.

...”

Section 8: Conditions governing the 
performance of operational-search activities

“Operational-search activities involving inter-
ferencewiththeconstitutionalrighttoprivacy
ofpostal, telegraphicandother communica-
tionstransmittedbymeansofwireormailser-
vices,orwiththeprivacyofthehome,maybe
conducted, subject toa judicialdecision, fol-
lowingthereceiptofinformationconcerning:

1. the appearance that an offence has been
committed or is ongoing, or a conspiracy to
commit an offence whose investigation is
mandatory;

2.personsconspiring tocommit,orcommit-
ting,orhavingcommittedanoffencewhose
investigationismandatory;

...

Operativeexperimentsmayonlybeconduct-
edforthedetection,prevention,interruption
andinvestigationofaseriouscrime,orforthe
identification of persons preparing, commit-
tingorhavingcommittedit.

...”

Section 9: Grounds and procedure for judicial 
authorisation of operational-search activities 
involving interference with the constitutional 
rights of individuals

“The examination of requests for the taking
of measures involving interference with the
constitutional righttoprivacyofcorrespond-
ence and telephone, postal, telegraphic and
othercommunicationstransmittedbymeans
of wire ormail services, or with the right to
privacyofthehome,shallfallwithinthecom-
petenceofacourtattheplacewherethere-
questedmeasureistobecarriedoutoratthe
place where the requesting body is located.
The requestmust be examined immediately
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byasingle judge; theexaminationof the re-
questmaynotberefused.

...

The judge examining the request shall de-
cide whether to authorise measures involv-
ing interference with the above-mentioned
constitutionalright,ortorefuseauthorisation,
indicatingreasons.

...”

Section 11: Use of information obtained 
through operational-search activities

“Informationgatheredasaresultofoperation-
al-searchactivitiesmaybeusedfortheprepa-
ration and conduct of the investigation and
courtproceedings... andused as evidence in
criminalproceedingsinaccordancewithlegal
provisions regulating the collection, evalua-
tionandassessmentofevidence....”

C. Evidence in criminal proceedings

57. Article 69 of the CCrP provided as follows:

“...

Evidenceobtained inbreachof the lawshall
be considered to have no legal force and
cannot be relied on as grounds for criminal
charges.”

The 2001 Code of Criminal Procedure of the 
Russian Federation, which replaced the CCrP of 
the Russian Soviet Federative Socialist Republic 
from 1 July 2002, provides as follows, in so far 
as relevant:

Article 75: Inadmissible evidence

“1. Evidenceobtained inbreachof thisCode
shall be inadmissible. Inadmissible evidence
shall have no legal force and cannot be re-
liedonasgroundsforcriminalchargesorfor
proving any of the [circumstances forwhich
evidenceisrequiredincriminalproceedings].

...”

Article 235

“...

5.Ifacourtdecidestoexcludeevidence,that
evidenceshallhavenolegalforceandcannot
bereliedoninajudgmentorotherjudicialde-
cision,orbeexaminedorusedduringthetrial.

...”

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
5 § 3 OF THE CONVENTION

58. The applicant complained that his pre-trial de-
tention had been excessively long and that it 
had been successively extended without any 
indication of relevant and sufficient reasons. 
He relied on Article 5 § 3 of the Convention, 
which provides as follows:

“Everyone arrested or detained in accord-
ance with the provisions of paragraph 1 (c)
ofthisArticleshallbe...entitledtotrialwithin
areasonabletimeortoreleasependingtrial.
Releasemaybeconditionedbyguaranteesto
appearfortrial.”

59. The Government submitted that the appli-
cant's detention had not been excessively long 
and argued that the investigation of his case 
had taken time because of its complexity and 
scale. They also claimed that, given his person-
ality, there had been an obvious risk that the 
applicant might evade prosecution, influence 
witnesses and obstruct the course of justice, 
which justified his continued detention.

60. The applicant maintained his complaint, claim-
ing that the grounds given for his detention 
and its repeated extension had been unsup-
ported by any reasoning or factual information.

61. According to the Court's settled case-law, the 
presumption under Article 5 is in favour of re-
lease. As established in Neumeister v. Austria 
(27 June 1968, § 4, Series A no. 8), the second 
limb of Article 5 § 3 does not give judicial au-
thorities a choice between either bringing an 
accused to trial within a reasonable time or 
granting him provisional release pending trial. 
Until conviction, he must be presumed inno-
cent, and the purpose of the provision under 
consideration is essentially to require his pro-
visional release once his continuing detention 
ceases to be reasonable.

62. Continued detention therefore can be justified 
in a given case only if there are specific indica-
tions of a genuine requirement of public inter-
est which, notwithstanding the presumption 
of innocence, outweighs the rule of respect 
for individual liberty laid down in Article 5 of 
the Convention (see, among other authorities, 
Kudła v. Poland [GC], no. 30210/96, §§ 110 et 
seq., ECHR 2000-XI).
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63. The responsibility falls in the first place to the 
national judicial authorities to ensure that, in a 
given case, the pre-trial detention of an accused 
person does not exceed a reasonable time. To 
this end they must, paying due regard to the 
principle of the presumption of innocence, 
examine all the facts arguing for or against the 
existence of the above-mentioned demand of 
public interest justifying a departure from the 
rule in Article 5 and must set them out in their 
decisions on the applications for release. It is 
essentially on the basis of the reasons given 
in these decisions and of the established facts 
stated by the applicant in his appeals that the 
Court is called upon to decide whether or not 
there has been a violation of Article 5 § 3 (see, 
for example, Weinsztal v. Poland, no. 43748/98, 
§ 50, 30 May 2006, and McKay v. the United 
Kingdom [GC], no. 543/03, § 43, ECHR 2006-X).

64. The persistence of reasonable suspicion that 
the person arrested has committed an offence 
is a condition sine qua non for the lawfulness of 
the continued detention, but with the lapse of 
time this no longer suffices and the Court must 
then establish whether the other grounds 
given by the judicial authorities continued to 
justify the deprivation of liberty. Where such 
grounds were “relevant” and “sufficient”, the 
Court must also be satisfied that the national 
authorities displayed “special diligence” in the 
conduct of the proceedings (see, among other 
authorities, Letellier v. France, 26 June 1991, 
§ 35, Series A no. 207, and Yağcı and Sargın 
v. Turkey, 8 June 1995, § 50, Series A no. 319-
A). In this connection, the Court reiterates that 
the burden of proof in these matters should 
not be reversed by making it incumbent on the 
detained person to demonstrate the existence 
of reasons warranting his release (see Ilijkov v. 
Bulgaria, no. 33977/96, § 85, 26 July 2001).

65. Turning to the instant case, the Court ob-
serves that the applicant spent one year, eight 
months and 15 days in detention before and 
during his trial. In this period the courts ex-
amined the applicant's application for release 
at least ten times, each time refusing it on the 
grounds of the gravity of the charges and the 
likelihood of his fleeing, obstructing the course 
of justice and exerting pressure on witnesses. 
However, the judicial decisions did not go any 
further than listing these grounds, omitting 
to substantiate them with relevant and suf-
ficient reasons. The Court also notes that with 
the passing of time the courts' reasoning did 
not evolve to reflect the developing situation 
and to verify whether these grounds remained 

valid at the advanced stage of the proceedings. 
Moreover, from 7 September 2001 the deci-
sions extending the applicant's detention no 
longer indicated any time-limits, thus implying 
that he would remain in detention until the 
end of the trial.

66. As regards the Government's argument that 
the circumstances of the case and the ap-
plicant's personality were self-evident for the 
purpose of justifying his pre-trial detention, the 
Court does not consider that this in itself ab-
solved the courts from the obligation to set out 
reasons for coming to this conclusion, in par-
ticular in the decisions taken at later stages. It 
reiterates that where circumstances that could 
have warranted a person's detention may have 
existed but were not mentioned in the domes-
tic decisions it is not the Court's task to estab-
lish them and to take the place of the national 
authorities which ruled on the applicant's de-
tention (see Panchenko v. Russia, no. 45100/98, 
§§ 99 and 105, 8 February 2005, and Ilijkov, 
cited above, § 86).

67. The Court therefore finds that the authorities 
failed to adduce relevant and sufficient reasons 
to justify extending the applicant's detention 
pending trial to one year, eight months and 15 
days.

68. There has therefore been a violation of Article 5 
§ 3 of the Convention.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

69. The applicant complained that the covert op-
eration had involved an unlawful intrusion into 
his home and that the interception and record-
ing of his conversation with V. had interfered 
with his private life. He alleged a violation of 
Article 8 of the Convention, which reads as fol-
lows:

“1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”
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70. The Government maintained that the covert 
operation, and in particular the interception 
and recording of the applicant's conversation 
with V., had been conducted in accordance 
with the Operational-Search Activities Act. 
They claimed that it constituted an “operative 
experiment” within the meaning of the Act. 
They further argued that no judicial authorisa-
tion had been required for the purposes of the 
present case because pursuant to section 8 of 
the Act, it was only required for the intercep-
tion of communications transmitted by means 
of wire channels or mail services, none of 
which had been employed in the covert opera-
tion at issue. They also denied that there had 
been an intrusion into the applicant's home 
since the “guest house” could not be consid-
ered his home, and in any case he had let V. 
in voluntarily. They further claimed that in the 
circumstances of the case the covert opera-
tion had been indispensable because without 
the interception of the applicant's conversa-
tion with V. it would have been impossible to 
verify the suspicion that he had committed a 
serious crime. They contended that the meas-
ures taken to investigate the crime had been 
proportionate to the seriousness of the offence 
in question.

71. The applicant maintained, on the contrary, that 
the covert operation had involved an unlawful 
and unjustified interference with his right to re-
spect for his private life and home. He claimed 
that there had been an unlawful intrusion into 
his home and contested the Government's ar-
gument that he had not objected to V.'s entry 
because his consent had not extended to ac-
cepting a police agent on his premises. He also 
claimed that the recording of his conversation 
with V. had interfered with his privacy and had 
therefore required prior judicial authorisation.

72. The Court notes that it is not in dispute that 
the measures carried out by the police in the 
conduct of the covert operation amounted to 
an interference with the applicant's right to re-
spect for his private life under Article 8 § 1 of 
the Convention (see Wood v. the United King-
dom, no. 23414/02, § 29, 16 November 2004; 
M.M. v. the Netherlands, no. 39339/98, §§ 
36-42, 8 April 2003; and A. v. France, 23 No-
vember 1993, Series A no. 277-B). The principal 
issue is whether this interference was justified 
under Article 8 § 2, notably whether it was “in 
accordance with the law” and “necessary in a 
democratic society”, for one of the purposes 
enumerated in that paragraph.

73. In this connection, the Court notes that the 
domestic authorities put forward two argu-
ments in support of the view that the covert 
operation had been lawful. The first-instance 
court found that there had been no “intrusion” 
or breach of the applicant's privacy because of 
the absence of objections to V.'s entry into the 
premises and because of the “non-private” pur-
pose of these premises. The prosecutor's office, 
in addition to that, maintained that the covert 
operation had been lawful because it had not 
involved any activity subject to special legal re-
quirements and the police had thus remained 
within the domain of their own discretion.

74. The Court observes that the Operational-
Search Activities Act is expressly intended to 
protect individual privacy by requiring judi-
cial authorisation for any operational-search 
activities that could interfere with it. The Act 
specifies two types of protected privacy: firstly, 
privacy of communications by wire or mail ser-
vices and, secondly, privacy of the home. As re-
gards the latter, the domestic authorities, nota-
bly the Meshchanskiy District Court of Moscow, 
argued that V.'s entering the “guest house” 
with the applicant's consent did not constitute 
an intrusion amounting to interference with 
the privacy of the applicant's home. As to the 
question of privacy of communications, it was 
only addressed as a separate issue in the pros-
ecutor's decision dismissing the applicant's 
complaint. In his opinion, the applicant's con-
versation with V. remained outside the scope 
of protection offered by the Act because it did 
not involve the use of “wire or mail services”. 
The same argument was put forward by the 
Government, who considered that the require-
ment of judicial authorisation did not extend 
to the use of the radio-transmitting device and 
that the covert operation could not therefore 
be said to have breached domestic law.

75. Having regard to the above, it is clear that the 
domestic authorities did not interpret the Op-
erational-Search Activities Act as requiring pri-
or judicial authorisation in the circumstances of 
the case at hand, since the case was found not 
to involve the applicant's “home” or the use of 
wire or mail services within the meaning of sec-
tion 8 of the Act. The measure was considered 
to be an investigative step within the domain 
of the investigating authorities' own discretion.

76. The Court reiterates that the phrase “in ac-
cordance with the law” not only requires com-
pliance with domestic law but also relates to 
the quality of that law, requiring it to be com-
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patible with the rule of law. In the context of 
covert surveillance by public authorities, in this 
instance the police, domestic law must provide 
protection against arbitrary interference with 
an individual's right under Article 8. Moreover, 
the law must be sufficiently clear in its terms 
to give individuals an adequate indication as 
to the circumstances in which and the condi-
tions on which public authorities are entitled 
to resort to such covert measures (see Khan v. 
the United Kingdom, no. 35394/97, § 26, ECHR 
2000-V).

77. The Court further observes that the Operation-
al-Search Activities Act permitted so-called 
“operative experiments” to be conducted for 
the investigation of serious crime. While the 
law itself did not define what measures such 
“experiments” could involve, the national au-
thorities took the view that there existed no 
statutory system in Russian law regulating the 
interception or recording of private commu-
nications through a radio-transmitting device. 
The Government argued that the existing reg-
ulations on telephone tapping were not appli-
cable to radio-transmitting devices and could 
not be extended to them by analogy. On the 
contrary, they emphasised the difference be-
tween the two by indicating that no judicial au-
thorisation for the use of a radio-transmitting 
device was required, for the reason that this 
technology fell outside the scope of any exist-
ing regulations. Thus, the Government consid-
ered that the use of technology not listed in 
section 8 of the Operational-Search Activities 
Act for the interception was not subject to the 
formal requirements imposed by the Act.

78. The Court has consistently held that when it 
comes to the interception of communications 
for the purpose of a police investigation, “the 
law must be sufficiently clear in its terms to 
give citizens an adequate indication as to the 
circumstances in which and the conditions on 
which public authorities are empowered to re-
sort to this secret and potentially dangerous in-
terference with the right to respect for private 
life and correspondence” (see Malone v. the 
United Kingdom, 2 August 1984, § 67, Series A 
no. 82). In particular, in order to comply with 
the requirement of the “quality of the law”, a 
law which confers discretion must indicate the 
scope of that discretion, although the detailed 
procedures and conditions to be observed do 
not necessarily have to be incorporated in rules 
of substantive law. The degree of precision re-
quired of the “law” in this connection will de-
pend upon the particular subject-matter. Since 

the implementation in practice of measures of 
secret surveillance of communications is not 
open to scrutiny by the individuals concerned 
or the public at large, it would be contrary to 
the rule of law for the legal discretion granted 
to the executive – or to a judge – to be ex-
pressed in terms of an unfettered power. Con-
sequently, the law must indicate the scope of 
any such discretion conferred on the compe-
tent authorities and the manner of its exercise 
with sufficient clarity to give the individual ade-
quate protection against arbitrary interference 
(see, among other authorities, Huvig v. France, 
24 April 1990, §§ 29 and 32, Series A no. 176-
B; Amann v. Switzerland [GC], no. 27798/95, 
§ 56, ECHR 2000-II; and Valenzuela Contreras 
v. Spain, 30 July 1998, § 46, Reports of Judg-
ments and Decisions 1998-V).

79. In the Court's opinion, these principles apply 
equally to the use of a radio-transmitting de-
vice, which, in terms of the nature and degree 
of the intrusion involved, is virtually identical to 
telephone tapping.

80. In the instant case, the applicant enjoyed 
very few, if any, safeguards in the procedure 
by which the interception of his conversation 
with V. was ordered and implemented. In par-
ticular, the legal discretion of the authorities 
to order the interception was not subject to 
any conditions, and the scope and the man-
ner of its exercise were not defined; no other 
specific safeguards were provided for. Given 
the absence of specific regulations providing 
safeguards, the Court is not satisfied that, as 
claimed by the Government, the possibility 
for the applicant to bring court proceedings 
seeking to declare the “operative experiment” 
unlawful and to request the exclusion of its re-
sults as unlawfully obtained evidence met the 
above requirements.

81. It follows that in the absence of specific and de-
tailed regulations, the use of this surveillance 
technique as part of an “operative experiment” 
was not accompanied by adequate safeguards 
against various possible abuses. Accordingly, 
its use was open to arbitrariness and was in-
consistent with the requirement of lawfulness.

82. The Court concludes that the interference with 
the applicant's right to respect for private life 
was not “in accordance with the law”, as re-
quired by Article 8 § 2 of the Convention. In 
the light of this conclusion, the Court is not re-
quired to determine whether the interference 
was “necessary in a democratic society” for one 
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of the aims enumerated in paragraph 2 of Ar-
ticle 8. Nor is it necessary to consider whether 
the covert operation also constituted an inter-
ference with the applicant's right to respect for 
his home.

83. Accordingly, there has been a violation of Ar-
ticle 8.

III. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
6 OF THE CONVENTION

84. The applicant complained that he had been 
tricked by the police into making self-incrimi-
nating statements in his conversation with V. 
and that the court had admitted the record of 
this conversation as evidence at the trial. He 
alleged a violation of Article 6 § 1, which pro-
vides, in so far as relevant:
“Inthedeterminationof...anycriminalcharge
against him, everyone is entitled to a fair...
hearing...by[a]...tribunal...”

85. The Government submitted that the criminal 
proceedings against the applicant had been 
conducted lawfully and with due respect for 
the rights of the accused. They pointed out 
that the applicant's conviction had been based 
on an ample body of evidence of which only 
part had been obtained through the covert op-
eration. The evidence relied on by the courts 
had included statements by more than 40 
witnesses, expert opinions, and various items 
of physical and documentary evidence which 
provided a broad and consistent basis for the 
finding of guilt. The Government pointed out 
that it had been open to the applicant to chal-
lenge in adversarial proceedings the evidence 
obtained through the covert operation and 
that he had availed himself of this possibility.

86. The Government further maintained that the 
collection and the use of evidence against the 
applicant had involved no breach of his right 
to silence, or oppression, or defiance of his will. 
They pointed out that at the time when the re-
cording was made the applicant had not been 
in detention and had not known about the in-
vestigation. In his conversation with V. he had 
acted freely and had been on an equal foot-
ing with his interlocutor, who had not been 
in a position to put any pressure on him. The 
Government contended that the evidence ob-
tained through the covert operation had been 
perfectly reliable and that there had been no 
grounds to exclude the recording or other re-
lated evidence. In this connection, they argued 

that the present case should be distinguished 
from the case of Allan v. the United Kingdom 
(no. 48539/99 48539/99, ECHR 2002-IX), where 
the covert operation had taken place in a de-
tention facility at a time when the applicant 
had been particularly vulnerable, and the Court 
had described this as “oppressive”.

87. The applicant, on the contrary, maintained 
that his conviction had been based on illegally 
obtained evidence, in breach of his right to 
remain silent and the privilege against self-
incrimination. He alleged that his conversation 
with V. had in fact constituted a concealed 
interrogation, unaccompanied by any proce-
dural guarantees. Finally, he denied that the 
record of this conversation had any probative 
value and claimed that it should not have been 
admitted as evidence at trial.

A. General principles established in the 
Court's case-law

88. The Court reiterates that, in accordance with 
Article 19 of the Convention, its only task is to 
ensure the observance of the obligations un-
dertaken by the Parties in the Convention. In 
particular, it is not competent to deal with an 
application alleging that errors of law or fact 
have been committed by domestic courts, ex-
cept where it considers that such errors might 
have involved a possible violation of any of the 
rights and freedoms set out in the Conven-
tion. While Article 6 guarantees the right to a 
fair hearing, it does not lay down any rules on 
the admissibility of evidence as such, which is 
primarily a matter for regulation under national 
law (see Schenk v. Switzerland, 12 July 1988, § 
45, Series A no. 140; Teixeira de Castro v. Por-
tugal, 9 June 1998, § 34, Reports 1998-IV; and 
Jalloh v. Germany [GC], no. 54810/00, §§ 94-
96, ECHR 2006-IX).

89. It is therefore not the role of the Court to deter-
mine, as a matter of principle, whether particu-
lar types of evidence – for example, evidence 
obtained unlawfully in terms of domestic law 
– may be admissible or, indeed, whether the 
applicant was guilty or not. The question which 
must be answered is whether the proceedings 
as a whole, including the way in which the evi-
dence was obtained, were fair. This involves an 
examination of the “unlawfulness” in question 
and, where a violation of another Convention 
right is concerned, the nature of the violation 
found (see, among other authorities, Khan, 
cited above, § 34; P.G. and J.H. v. the United 
Kingdom, no. 44787/98 44787/98, § 76, 
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ECHR 2001-IX; Heglas v. the Czech Republic, 
no. 5935/02, §§ 89-92, 1 March 2007; and Al-
lan, cited above, § 42).

90. In determining whether the proceedings as 
a whole were fair, regard must also be had 
to whether the rights of the defence were 
respected. It must be examined in particular 
whether the applicant was given the oppor-
tunity of challenging the authenticity of the 
evidence and of opposing its use. In addition, 
the quality of the evidence must be taken into 
consideration, including whether the circum-
stances in which it was obtained cast doubt on 
its reliability or accuracy. While no problem of 
fairness necessarily arises where the evidence 
obtained was unsupported by other mate-
rial, it may be noted that where the evidence 
is very strong and there is no risk of its being 
unreliable, the need for supporting evidence 
is correspondingly weaker (see, among other 
authorities, Khan, cited above, §§ 35 and 37, 
and Allan, cited above, § 43).

91. As regards, in particular, the examination of 
the nature of the Convention violation found, 
the Court observes that notably in the cases of 
Khan (cited above, §§ 25-28) and P.G. and J.H. 
v. the United Kingdom (cited above, §§ 37-
38) it found the use of covert listening devices 
to be in breach of Article 8 since recourse to 
such devices lacked a legal basis in domestic 
law and the interferences with those appli-
cants' right to respect for their private life were 
not “in accordance with the law”. Nonetheless, 
the admission in evidence of information ob-
tained thereby did not in the circumstances of 
the cases conflict with the requirements of fair-
ness guaranteed by Article 6 § 1.

92. As regards the privilege against self-incrimi-
nation or the right to remain silent, the Court 
reiterates that these are generally recognised 
international standards which lie at the heart 
of a fair procedure. Their aim is to provide an 
accused person with protection against im-
proper compulsion by the authorities and thus 
to avoid miscarriages of justice and secure the 
aims of Article 6 (see John Murray v. the Unit-
ed Kingdom, 8 February 1996, § 45, Reports 
1996-I). The right not to incriminate oneself is 
primarily concerned with respecting the will 
of an accused person to remain silent and pre-
supposes that the prosecution in a criminal 
case seeks to prove the case against the ac-
cused without resorting to evidence obtained 
through methods of coercion or oppression in 
defiance of the will of the accused (see Saun-

ders v. the United Kingdom, 17 December 
1996, §§ 68-69, Reports 1996-VI; Allan, cited 
above, § 44; Jalloh, cited above, §§ 94-117; 
and O'Halloran and Francis v. the United King-
dom [GC], nos. 15809/02 and 25624/02, §§ 
53-63, ECHR 2007-...). In examining whether a 
procedure has extinguished the very essence 
of the privilege against self-incrimination, the 
Court must examine the nature and degree of 
the compulsion, the existence of any relevant 
safeguards in the procedures and the use to 
which any material so obtained is put (see, for 
example, Heaney and McGuinness v. Ireland, 
no. 34720/97, §§ 54-55, ECHR 2000-XII, and 
J.B. v. Switzerland, no. 31827/96, ECHR 2001-III).

93. The general requirements of fairness contained 
in Article 6 apply to all criminal proceedings, ir-
respective of the type of offence at issue. Pub-
lic-interest concerns cannot justify measures 
which extinguish the very essence of an ap-
plicant's defence rights, including the privilege 
against self-incrimination guaranteed by Arti-
cle 6 of the Convention (see, mutatis mutan-
dis, Heaney and McGuinness, cited above, §§ 
57-58).

B. Application of those principles to the 
present case

94. The Court observes that in contesting at his 
trial the use of the material obtained through 
the “operative experiment”, the applicant put 
forward two arguments. Firstly, he argued that 
the evidence obtained from the covert opera-
tion, in particular the recording of his conver-
sation with V., was unreliable and open to a 
different interpretation from that given by the 
domestic courts. Secondly, he alleged that the 
use of such evidence ran counter to the privi-
lege against self-incrimination and his right to 
remain silent.

95. As regards the first point, the Court reiterates 
that where the reliability of evidence is in dis-
pute the existence of fair procedures to exam-
ine the admissibility of the evidence takes on 
an even greater importance (see Allan, cited 
above, § 47). In the present case, the applicant 
was able to challenge the covert operation, 
and every piece of evidence obtained thereby, 
in the adversarial procedure before the first-
instance court and in his grounds of appeal. 
The grounds for the challenge were the al-
leged unlawfulness and trickery in obtaining 
evidence and the alleged misinterpretation of 
the conversation recorded on the tape. Each of 
these points was addressed by the courts and 
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dismissed in reasoned decisions. The Court 
notes that the applicant made no complaints 
in relation to the procedure by which the 
courts reached their decision concerning the 
admissibility of the evidence.

96. The Court further observes that the impugned 
recording, together with the physical evidence 
obtained through the covert operation, was 
not the only evidence relied on by the domes-
tic court as the basis for the applicant's convic-
tion. In fact, the key evidence for the prosecu-
tion was the initial statement by V., who had 
reported to the FSB that the applicant had 
ordered him to kill S., and had handed in the 
gun (see paragraph 10 above). This statement, 
which gave rise to the investigation, was made 
by V. before, and independently from, the 
covert operation, in his capacity as a private 
individual and not as a police informant. Fur-
thermore, he reiterated his incriminating state-
ments during his subsequent questioning on 
several occasions and during the confrontation 
between him and the applicant at the pre-trial 
stage.

97. While it is true that V. was not cross-examined 
at the trial, the failure to do so was not imput-
able to the authorities, who took all necessary 
steps to establish his whereabouts and have 
him attend the trial, including by seeking the 
assistance of Interpol. The trial court thoroughly 
examined the circumstances of V.'s withdrawal 
of his incriminating statements and came to a 
reasoned conclusion that the repudiation was 
not trustworthy. Moreover, the applicant was 
given an opportunity to question V. on the sub-
stance of his incriminating statements when 
they were confronted during the questioning 
on 10 October 2000. Some importance is also 
to be attached to the fact that the applicant's 
counsel expressly agreed to having V.'s pre-trial 
testimonies read out in open court. Finally, V.'s 
incriminating statements were corroborated 
by circumstantial evidence, in particular nu-
merous witness testimonies confirming the 
existence of a conflict of interests between the 
applicant and S.

98.  In view of the above, the Court accepts that 
the evidence obtained from the covert opera-
tion was not the sole basis for the applicant's 
conviction, corroborated as it was by other 
conclusive evidence. Nothing has been shown 
to support the conclusion that the applicant's 
defence rights were not properly complied 
with in respect of the evidence adduced or 
that its evaluation by the domestic courts was 

arbitrary.

99. It remains for the Court to examine whether 
the covert operation, and the use of evidence 
obtained thereby, involved a breach of the ap-
plicant's right not to incriminate himself and 
to remain silent. The applicant argued that 
the police had overstepped the limits of per-
missible behaviour by secretly recording his 
conversation with V., who was acting on their 
instructions. He claimed that his conviction 
had resulted from trickery and subterfuge in-
compatible with the notion of a fair trial.

100. The Court recently examined similar allegations 
in the case of Heglas (cited above). In that case 
the applicant had admitted his participation in 
a robbery in the course of a conversation with a 
person who had been fitted by the police with 
a listening device hidden under her clothes. 
The Court dismissed the applicant's complaint 
under Article 6 of the Convention concerning 
the use of the recording, finding that he had 
had the benefit of adversarial proceedings, 
that his conviction had also been based on 
evidence other than the impugned recording, 
and that the measure had been aimed at de-
tecting a serious offence and had thus served 
an important public interest. The applicant, be-
fore the recording was made, had not been of-
ficially questioned about, or charged with, the 
criminal offence.

101. The circumstances of the covert operation 
conducted in the Heglas case were essen-
tially different from those of the Allan case 
(cited above), where a violation of Article 6 
was found. In the latter case the applicant was 
in pre-trial detention and expressed his wish 
to remain silent when questioned by the in-
vestigators. However, the police primed the 
applicant's cellmate to take advantage of the 
applicant's vulnerable and susceptible state 
following lengthy periods of interrogation. The 
Court, relying on a combination of these fac-
tors, considered that the authorities' conduct 
amounted to coercion and oppression and 
found that the information had been obtained 
in defiance of the applicant's will.

102. The Court notes that in the present case the 
applicant had not been under any pressure to 
receive V. at his “guest house”, to speak to him, 
or to make any specific comments on the mat-
ter raised by V. Unlike the applicant in the Allan 
case (cited above), the applicant was not de-
tained on remand but was at liberty on his own 
premises attended by security and other per-
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sonnel. The nature of his relations with V. – sub-
ordination of the latter to the applicant – did 
not impose any particular form of behaviour on 
him. In other words, the applicant was free to 
see V. and to talk to him, or to refuse to do so. 
It appears that he was willing to continue the 
conversation started by V. because its subject 
matter was of personal interest to him. Thus, 
the Court is not convinced that the obtaining 
of evidence was tainted with the element of 
coercion or oppression which in the Allan case 
the Court found to amount to a breach of the 
applicant's right to remain silent.

103. The Court also attaches weight to the fact 
that in making their assessment the domestic 
courts did not directly rely on the recording 
of the applicant's conversation with V., or its 
transcript, and did not seek to interpret spe-
cific statements made by the applicant during 
the conversation. Instead they examined the 
expert report drawn up on the conversation 
in order to assess his relations with V. and the 
manner in which he involved himself in the 
dialogue. Moreover, at the trial the recording 
was not treated as a plain confession or an ad-
mission of knowledge capable of lying at the 
core of a finding of guilt; it played a limited role 
in a complex body of evidence assessed by the 
court.

104. Having examined the safeguards which sur-
rounded the evaluation of the admissibility 
and reliability of the evidence concerned, the 
nature and degree of the alleged compulsion, 
and the use to which the material obtained 
through the covert operation was put, the 
Court finds that the proceedings in the appli-
cant's case, considered as a whole, were not 
contrary to the requirements of a fair trial.

105. It follows that there has been no violation of 
Article 6 § 1 of the Convention.

IV. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

106. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

107. The applicant claimed compensation for the 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary damage sus-

tained as a result of the alleged violations of 
the Convention.

108. As regards pecuniary damage, the appli-
cant claimed 4,059,061.80 Russian roubles 
(119,089.25 euros (EUR)), which represented 
his loss of earnings during his pre-trial deten-
tion. As regards non-pecuniary damage, the 
applicant claimed that he had suffered emo-
tional distress and a diminished quality of life 
and requested compensation for this in an 
amount to be determined by the Court.

109. The Government contested these claims as 
manifestly ill-founded. They considered that 
any finding by the Court of a violation would 
constitute sufficient just satisfaction in the pre-
sent case.

110. The Court notes that the applicant's claim for 
pecuniary damage relates to the complaint 
about his pre-trial detention, in respect of 
which a violation of Article 5 § 3 has been 
found (see paragraph 68 above). It reiterates 
that there must be a clear causal connection 
between the damage claimed by the applicant 
and the violation of the Convention (see Bar-
berà, Messegué and Jabardo v. Spain (Article 
50), 13 June 1994, §§ 16-20, Series A no. 285-
C; see also Berktay v. Turkey, no. 22493/93, § 
215, 1 March 2001). The Court does not discern 
any causal link between the authorities' failure 
to adduce relevant and sufficient reasons for 
the applicant's continued detention and the 
loss of income he alleged (see Dzelili v. Ger-
many, no. 65745/01 65745/01, §§ 107-13, 10 
November 2005).

111. On the other hand, it considers that the ap-
plicant has suffered non-pecuniary damage 
which is not sufficiently compensated by the 
finding of a violation of the Convention. Con-
sidering the circumstances of the case and 
making its assessment on an equitable basis, 
the Court awards the applicant EUR 1,000 un-
der this head.

A. Costs and expenses
112. In the proceedings before the Chamber the 

applicant claimed EUR 93,246.25 in respect of 
costs and expenses. For his legal representation 
before the domestic courts the applicant paid 
the equivalent of EUR 60,691.61 to Mr G. Padva, 
his defence counsel in the criminal proceed-
ings. He submitted a full set of receipts con-
firming the payment of this sum to Mr Padva's 
office. In the proceedings before the Court, the 
applicant was also represented by Mr Krauss 
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and Mr J. Pastille, to whom he paid an aggre-
gate amount of EUR 69,839.64 (EUR 32,554.64 
in the proceedings before the Chamber and 
EUR 37,285 before the Grand Chamber). In re-
spect of their services he provided an invoice 
for 25,583.70 United States dollars, indicating 
the number of hours and the hourly rates used 
as a basis, plus various expenses. Two further 
invoices – by Mr Pastille for EUR 5,000 and by a 
law firm, “Rusanovs, Rode, Buss”, for EUR 7,500 
– did not contain any particulars. Following the 
public hearing before the Grand Chamber the 
applicant supplemented the claims and pro-
vided an invoice for EUR 37,285 which com-
prised EUR 30,600 in respect of lawyers' fees, 
indicating the number of hours spent by each 
counsel and adviser, and EUR 6,685 for travel 
expenses.

113. The Government claimed that these expen-
ditures had not been incurred necessarily 
and were unreasonable as to quantum. They 
considered that the number of legal counsel 
engaged in the case was not justified by the 
circumstances or the complexity of the case. 
Commenting on specific sums, they pointed 
out that Mr Padva's invoice contained no 
itemised list of services rendered to the appli-
cant under the legal services agreement. They 
also disputed the hourly rates charged by Mr 
Krauss, Mr Pastille and their associates, claim-
ing that they were unreasonable and in excess 
of the average legal rates. They also challenged 
the invoices for EUR 5,000 and for EUR 7,500, 
claiming that in the absence of any itemised 
list of services or financial receipts there was no 
proof that these expenses had actually been 
incurred. The Government considered that a 
sum of EUR 3,000 would be sufficient under 
this head.

114. According to the Court's case-law, an applicant 
is entitled to reimbursement of his costs and 
expenses only in so far as it has been shown 
that these have been actually and necessarily 
incurred and are reasonable as to quantum. 
Furthermore, legal costs are recoverable only 
in so far as they relate to the violation found 
(see, for example, I.J.L. and Others v. the Unit-
ed Kingdom (just satisfaction), nos. 29522/95, 
30056/96 and 30574/96, § 18, 25 September 
2001). In the instant case, the Court considers 
the amount claimed excessive, given that a 
number of the applicant's complaints were ei-
ther declared inadmissible or did not result in 
a finding of a violation of the Convention (see 
Bykov v. Russia (dec.), no. 4378/02, 7 Septem-
ber 2006, and paragraph 105 above). Moreo-

ver, the applicant's submissions contain no 
information on the specific services covered by 
the invoices. Thus, the Court considers that a 
significant reduction is necessary on both ac-
counts. Having regard to all relevant factors, 
the Court considers it reasonable to award the 
sum of EUR 25,000 in respect of costs and ex-
penses, plus any tax that may be chargeable on 
that amount.

B. Default interest
115. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT

1. Holds unanimously that there has been a vio-
lation of Article 5 § 3 of the Convention;

2. Holds unanimously that there has been a vio-
lation of Article 8 of the Convention;

3. Holds by eleven votes to six that there has 
been no violation of Article 6 of the Conven-
tion;

4. Holds

a. 

(i) by twelve votes to five that the re-
spondent State is to pay the applicant, 
within three months, EuR 1,000 (one 
thousand euros) in respect of non-pe-
cuniary damage, to be converted into 
the national currency of the respond-
ent State at the rate applicable at the 
date of settlement, plus any tax that 
may be chargeable on that amount

(ii) unanimously that the respondent 
State is to pay the applicant, within 
three months, EuR 25,000 (twenty-
five thousand euros) in respect of 
costs and expenses, to be converted 
into the national currency of the re-
spondent State at the rate applicable 
at the date of settlement plus any tax 
that may be chargeable to the appli-
cant on that amount;

b. unanimously that from the expiry of the 
above-mentioned three months until set-
tlement simple interest shall be payable 
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on the above amounts at a rate equal to 
the marginal lending rate of the European 
Central Bank during the default period 
plus three percentage points;

5. Dismisses unanimously the remainder of the 
applicant's claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 10 March 2009.

Michael O'Boyle, Deputy Registrar
Jean-Paul Costa, President

In accordance with Article 45 § 2 of the Conven-
tion and Rule 74 § 2 of the Rules of Court, the 
following opinions are annexed to this judgment:

(a) concurring opinion of Judge Cabral Barreto;

(b) concurring opinion of Judge Kovler;

(c) partially dissenting opinion of Judge Costa;

(d) partially dissenting opinion of Judge Spiel-
mann, joined by Judges Rozakis, Tulkens, 
Casadevall and Mijović.

ConCURRInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE CABRAL 
BARREto
(Translation)

I agree with the majority's finding that there was 
no violation of Article 6 of the Convention in the 
present case.

However, to my mind it is not enough to say, as the 
majority do, that the proceedings, considered as a 
whole, were not contrary to the requirements of a 
fair trial.

I find it regrettable that the Grand Chamber missed 
the opportunity to clarify once and for all an issue 
on which the Court has long been divided: wheth-
er the use in criminal proceedings of evidence 
obtained in breach of Article 8 of the Convention 
undermines the fairness of a trial as protected by 
Article 6.

1. The Court's case-law on this subject dates back 
to Schenk v. Switzerland (12 July 1988, Series 
A no. 140).

In concluding by a majority that the use of 
the disputed recording in evidence had not 
deprived the applicant of a fair trial, the Court 
mainly relied on the fact that the rights of the 
defence had not been disregarded.

This finding shaped the development of our 
case-law; even where the manner in which evi-
dence has been obtained has breached Article 
8, a violation of Article 6 has been ruled out if the 
trial as a whole has been fair, and in particular if 
the rights of the defence have been respected. 
Moreover, in principle, whether the evidence 
was the sole or a subsidiary basis for the con-
viction is not in itself decisive (see Khan v. the 
United Kingdom, no. 35394/97, § 26, ECHR 
2000-V).

Similarly, it is immaterial whether the violation 
of Article 8 results from failure to comply with 
“domestic law” or with the Convention.

More recently, the Court applied these prin-
ciples in Heglas v. the Czech Republic (no. 
5935/02, 1 March 2007).

2. The case-law on this subject was last refined 
in Jalloh v. Germany ([GC], no. 54810/00, ECHR 
2006-IX).

In that judgment the Court ruled that the use 
in criminal proceedings of evidence obtained 
through torture raised serious issues as to the 
fairness of such proceedings, even if the admis-
sion of the evidence in question had not been 
decisive in securing the suspect's conviction

Consequently, the use of evidence obtained 
through torture will always breach Article 6 of 
the Convention, regardless of whether or not 
the evidence was a decisive factor in the con-
viction.

However, the Court has never really stated a 
position on the question of evidence obtained 
by means of inhuman or degrading treatment.

In certain circumstances, for example if an ap-
plicant is in detention, improper compulsion 
by the authorities to obtain a confession will 
contravene the principles of the right not to in-
criminate oneself and the right to remain silent 
(see Allan v. the United Kingdom, no. 48539/99, 
ECHR 2000-IX).

As regards the question of direct concern to 
us – and the Heglas judgment is a very recent 
example of this – where Article 8 is breached 
as a result of the way in which evidence was 
gathered, the decisive factor for a finding of a 
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violation or no violation of Article 6 is whether 
the proceedings as a whole were fair, whether 
the rights of the defence were respected.

3. I personally would have liked the Grand Cham-
ber to have adopted a new approach revising 
and clarifying its case-law.

3.1 Firstly, the Grand Chamber should have reaf-
firmed the position taken in Jalloh regard-
ing evidence obtained through torture. 
The mere recourse to torture is sufficient in itself 
to render the trial unfair, even if the evidence 
thereby obtained is not decisive in securing the 
accused's conviction; Article 15 of the Conven-
tion against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman 
or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, adopt-
ed by the United Nations, lends sufficient force 
to this argument.

However, we should also go a step further by 
stating unequivocally that the use of evidence 
obtained by means of an act classified as inhu-
man or degrading treatment automatically un-
dermines the fairness of a trial, since the differ-
ence between torture and inhuman treatment 
is often difficult to establish and the nuances 
are sometimes tiny; furthermore, as a rule, both 
situations – torture and inhuman and degrad-
ing treatment – involve blunders by the au-
thorities against an individual in a position of 
inferiority.

The Grand Chamber should in my opinion state 
firmly that any evidence obtained in breach of 
Article 3 in the course of a trial – through tor-
ture or ill-treatment – will always infringe Arti-
cle 6 of the Convention, even if such evidence 
did not play a decisive part in the conviction, 
and even if the accused was able to challenge 
the evidence thus obtained, without leaving 
open the possibility of relying on the weight 
of public interest and the seriousness of the 
offence.

We must banish conduct that offends against 
civilised values and ensure that there is some 
form of severe punishment for acts which un-
dermine our society's most deeply held values 
as protected by Article 3 of the Convention.

3.2 The four dissenting judges in the Schenk case 
(cited above), whose opinion was more or less 
followed by Judges Loucaides (in Khan, cited 
above) and Tulkens (in P.G. and J.H. v. the United 
Kingdom, no. 44787/98, ECHR 2001-IX), consid-
ered that a trial could not be described as “fair” 
where evidence obtained in breach of a funda-
mental right guaranteed by the Convention had 

been admitted

The “dissenters” could not accept that a trial 
could be “fair”, as required by Article 6, if a 
person's guilt for any offence was established 
through evidence obtained in breach of the 
human rights guaranteed by the Convention.

The fairness required by Article 6 of the Con-
vention also entails a requirement of lawful-
ness; a trial which has been conducted in 
breach of domestic law or the Convention can 
never be regarded as “fair”.

The exclusion of evidence obtained in breach 
of, for example, the right to respect for private 
life guaranteed by the Convention should be 
considered an essential corollary of that right.

In the “dissenters'” view, evidence amounting 
to interference with the right to privacy can be 
admitted in court proceedings and can lead to 
a conviction for a crime only if the securing of 
such evidence satisfies the requirements of the 
second paragraph of Article 8, including the 
one at issue in the present case, that of being 
“in accordance with the law”.

However, what is prohibited under one provi-
sion (Article 8) cannot be accepted under an-
other (Article 6).

Lastly, there is a real danger to be averted, as 
Judge Loucaides stressed in the Khan case (cit-
ed above), and I quote: “If violating Article 8 can 
be accepted as 'fair' then I cannot see how the 
police can be effectively deterred from repeat-
ing their impermissible conduct.”

3.3 I must say that I have a good deal of sympathy 
with this approach, which has the merit of clar-
ity since the violation of Article 6 will be “auto-
matic” once the violation of Article 8 has been 
found.

Nevertheless, I believe that if such an approach 
is adopted, certain considerations will arise as 
regards the consequences of the finding of a 
violation of Article 6.

Following this approach, once a violation has 
been found in cases where the accused's con-
viction was not solely or mainly based on the 
evidence in dispute, inferences will have to be 
drawn regarding the execution of the judg-
ment if the evidence in question played only a 
subsidiary role in the conviction.

Furthermore, as regards the execution of judg-
ments, not all violations of Article 6 will carry 
the same weight.
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I am thinking of violations arising from a failure 
to comply with provisions concerning substan-
tive rights as opposed to procedural rules.

Here, with regard to unlawful evidence, I wish 
to emphasise the distinction made by some 
legal experts between prohibited evidence – 
which relates to substantive law – and improp-
er evidence – which relates to procedural rules.

We must distinguish between what strikes at 
the heart of a fair trial, what shocks the sensibil-
ities of a democratic society, what runs counter 
to the fundamental values embodied in a State 
based on the rule of law, and a breach of proce-
dural rules in the gathering of evidence.

For example, a breach of the right to confer 
freely with one's lawyer seems to me to be 
completely different from a breach resulting 
from the lack of judicial authorisation for tel-
ephone tapping of a suspect, where this flaw is 
subsequently redressed.

If a recording of the accused's conversation 
with his lawyer is used as a basis for convicting 
him, a more serious violation will result, calling 
for a more forceful attitude on the part of the 
Court, which may, for example, demand a new 
trial at which the use of the evidence in issue 
will be prohibited, and also award an appropri-
ate sum for the damage sustained.

In the other scenario mentioned above, how-
ever, the finding of a violation should in itself 
be sufficient.

3.4 These considerations lead me to a more de-
tailed examination of other aspects of the pro-
cedure, moving away from an “automatic” find-
ing of a violation of Article 6 once a violation of 
Article 8 has been found: a violation of the latter 
provision does not automatically entail a viola-
tion of Article 6, but simply the presumption of 
a violation.

A finding of a violation or no violation will de-
pend on the particular circumstances of the 
case at hand and the weighing up of the values 
protected by domestic law and the Convention 
and those in issue in the criminal proceedings.

It is true that such an approach would weaken 
the notion of a fair trial, which would become a 
variable-geometry concept.

However, this approach would have the advan-
tage of not treating all situations on the same 
footing, since, as I have already observed, some 
violations of Article 8 are worse than others.

I will readily admit that there are risks in such 
an approach; the choice of the right criteria for 
finding a violation, and their subsequent appli-
cation to the particular case, especially where 
the factual circumstances are difficult to estab-
lish, will be a hazardous exercise.

Situations will thus arise when the presump-
tion could be rebutted where the rights of the 
defence have been respected and where the 
weight of public interest in the applicant's con-
viction or other relevant grounds so require

However, limits will always have to be set.

I would again refer to everything that strikes at 
the heart of a fair trial, shocks the sensitivities 
of a democratic society or runs counter to the 
fundamental values embodied in a State based 
on the rule of law. Once these values have 
been undermined, the presumption must be 
confirmed and a violation of Article 6 found; 
the public interest at stake or the question 
whether the rights of the defence have been 
respected will be immaterial.

The case-law of the Supreme Court of the Unit-
ed States refers in this connection to the false-
hoods crucial to the facts of the case that can 
always result from interrogation techniques 
“so offensive to a civilized system of justice” 
that “they must be condemned” in the name 
of due process.

The Supreme Court of Canada makes a distinc-
tion between “dirty tricks” (which the commu-
nity finds shocking) and mere “ruses”, conclud-
ing that “What should be repressed vigorously 
is conduct on [the authorities'] part that shocks 
the community. That a police officer pretend to 
be a lock-up chaplain and hear a suspect's con-
fession is conduct that shocks the community; 
so is pretending to be the duty legal-aid lawyer 
eliciting in that way incriminating statements 
from suspects or accused; injecting Pentothal 
into a diabetic suspect pretending it is his daily 
shot of insulin and using his statement in evi-
dence would also shock the community; but 
generally speaking, pretending to be a hard 
drug addict to break a drug ring would not 
shock the community; nor would... pretending 
to be a truck driver to secure the conviction of 
a trafficker” (Judge Lamer, individual opinion, 
in R. v. Rothman, [1981] 1 SCR 640; approved 
by the majority of the Supreme Court in R. v. 
Collins, [1987] 1 SCR 265, § 52, and R. v. Oickle, 
[2000] 2 SCR 3, § 66).

I must acknowledge, nevertheless, that all this 
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involves a somewhat empiricist approach and 
a perhaps excessively discretionary power; 
however, I wonder how we can draw a firm, 
clear and distinct line between what might be 
acceptable and what cannot.

Here, I would return to the distinction between 
substantive and procedural.

I would say, generally speaking, that the use of 
any evidence that is not admissible under the 
member States' domestic law and the Conven-
tion will “automatically” entail a violation of the 
right to a fair trial.

The question whether or not the rights of the 
defence have been respected, the public in-
terest at stake and all other circumstances are 
immaterial: a trial in which evidence thus ob-
tained has served as a basis for a conviction will 
always be an unfair trial.

In that connection I would cite the example of 
the recording of the accused's conversation 
with his lawyer.

The gathering of evidence by this means must 
be discouraged at all costs, even where the 
evidence in question was merely additional or 
subsidiary and where a new trial is perhaps not 
warranted.

On the other hand, where procedural rules 
have not been complied with in respect of evi-
dence that is normally admissible in member 
States and under international law – either be-
cause domestic law does not provide for such 
evidence or because, notwithstanding the fact 
that such evidence is admissible at domestic 
level, the conditions governing its use in the 
case at hand were not observed – in certain 
circumstances, particularly where the rights of 
the defence have been respected, and where 
the public interest must prevail over the in-
terests of the individual, in view of the nature 
and seriousness of the offence, I would tend to 
conclude that there has been no breach of the 
rules of a fair trial.

In the present case, I consider that there was 
no violation because there was only a formal 
breach (“in accordance with the law”) in ob-
taining evidence that, in principle, was admis-
sible in a democratic society and the rights of 
the defence were, moreover, respected.

ConCURRInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE KoVLER
(Translation)

I agree with the conclusions reached by the major-
ity. I should nevertheless like to clarify my position 
on the complaints under Article 8 of the Conven-
tion as submitted by the applicant.

Before relinquishing jurisdiction on 22 November 
2007 in favour of the Grand Chamber, the Chamber 
of seven judges, of which I was a member, summa-
rised the complaints under Article 8 as follows in 
its admissibility decision of 7 September 2006: “The 
applicant complained that the police conducting 
the covert operation unlawfully intruded into his 
home and interfered with his private life and cor-
respondence by intercepting and recording his 
conversation with V. in violation of Article 8 of the 
Convention...” This complaint was declared admis-
sible in its entirety.

According to the text of the Grand Chamber's judg-
ment, “the applicant complained... about the cov-
ert recording made at his home” (see paragraph 3). 
The statements of the facts (see paragraphs 35-36) 
and, above all, of the applicant's allegations thus 
portray the intrusion into his home as an unlawful 
and unjustified interference with his right to re-
spect for his private life and home (see paragraphs 
70-71). However, to my regret the Grand Chamber 
confines its conclusions to the finding that an “op-
erative experiment” was not accompanied by ad-
equate legal safeguards (see paragraph 81), before 
stating quite simply: “Nor is it necessary to consider 
whether the covert operation also constituted an 
interference with the applicant's right to respect 
for his home”(see paragraph 82). This was a missed 
opportunity to undertake a more nuanced assess-
ment of all the applicant's complaints under Article 
8, on the basis of the Court's substantial body of 
case-law in this area.

PARtLY DIssEntInG 
oPInIon oF JUDGE 
CostA
(Translation)

1. I consider that there was a breach of Article 6 § 
1 of the Convention in this case. The applicant's 
complaint that the criminal proceedings result-
ing in his conviction were unfair was mainly 
based on two arguments:
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• that police trickery had caused him to in-
criminate himself; and

• that the instrument of such trickery – the 
recording of his conversation with V. – had 
been admitted in evidence.

2. Both these points may give rise to some uncer-
tainty.

3. The police and the Federal Security Service 
(FSB) conducted a covert operation in which 
the central agent was V., who had allegedly 
been ordered by the applicant to kill the lat-
ter's former business associate, S., but had not 
carried out the murder, instead reporting the 
applicant to the FSB. The covert operation, 
aimed at obtaining evidence against the appli-
cant, consisted in sending V. to the applicant's 
home and instructing V. to say that he had 
carried out the order to kill; at the same time, 
their conversation would be secretly recorded 
by a police officer stationed outside the house. 
 
V.'s visit was itself preceded by the macabre 
staging several days earlier of the discovery of 
two dead bodies at S.'s home, spuriously iden-
tified as S. and his business partner, I. This was 
widely publicised.

4. This ploy, despite its specific characteristics, is 
not in itself far removed from the ruses, traps 
and stratagems used by the police to obtain 
confessions from persons suspected of crimi-
nal offences or to establish their guilt, and it 
would be naïve, indeed unreasonable, to seek 
to disarm the security forces, faced as they are 
with the rise in delinquency and crime.

5. Even so, not all methods used by the police are 
necessarily compatible with the rights guar-
anteed by the Convention. Thus, in a different 
context, the Court did not accept that a police 
ruse (nevertheless described by the Govern-
ment as a “little ruse”) was compatible with the 
right to liberty within the meaning of Article 5 
(see Čonka v. Belgium, no. 51564/99, §§ 41-
46, ECHR 2002-I). And in the present case the 
Court found that the unlawful interception of 
Mr Bykov's conversation with V. breached Arti-
cle 8 of the Convention.

6. With regard to Article 6 § 1, I would not go 
so far as to take the view that the use of any 
evidence breaching the Convention as a basis 
for establishing the accused's guilt renders the 
trial unfair (as was argued by Judge Loucaides 
in his separate opinion in Khan v. the United 
Kingdom, no. 35394/97, ECHR 2000-V). Howev-

er, I do believe that the Court should undertake 
a careful examination of whether a trial based 
on such evidence complies with Article 6 § 1, 
a point to which I shall return later.

7. As regards the right not to incriminate oneself, 
an inherent aspect of the rights of the defence 
as affirmed in John Murray v. the United King-
dom (8 February 1996, Reports of Judgments 
and Decisions 1996-I), it normally entails the 
right for a person suspected of an offence to 
remain silent, including during police ques-
tioning. Although the Court accepts that the 
right not to contribute to incriminating one-
self is not absolute, it attaches considerable 
importance to it and has sometimes pointed 
out that it originates in Article 14 of the Inter-
national Covenant on Civil and Political Rights 
(see Funke v. France, 25 February 1993, § 42, 
Series A no. 256-A).

8. The right to remain silent would be truly “theo-
retical and illusory” if it were accepted that the 
police had the right to “make a suspect talk” by 
using a covert recording of a conversation with 
an informer assigned the task of entrapping 
the suspect.

9. Yet that was exactly the case here. V. was in 
practice an “agent” of the security forces, and 
I can see similarities between the Bykov case 
and that of Ramanauskas v. Lithuania ([GC], no. 
74420/01, ECHR 2008-...), in which the Grand 
Chamber unanimously found a violation of Ar-
ticle 6 § 1. The facts were different, but both 
cases involved simulation and provocation 
instigated by the security forces. By telling the 
applicant that he had carried out the killing, V. 
sought to induce the applicant, who was una-
ware that his conversation could be heard, to 
confirm that he had entered into a “contract” 
with him, in the criminal sense of the term.

10. The Court is obviously not, and should not be-
come, a fourth-instance court. It does not have 
to decide (that is the task of the national courts) 
whether Mr Bykov was guilty of incitement to 
commit murder. Nor does it have to speculate 
on what the outcome of the trial would have 
been had it been fair. But it is precisely its task 
to rule on the fairness issue; and the use of this 
elaborately staged ploy (including the “fake” 
corpses) causes me to harbour strong doubts 
as to whether the presumption of innocence, 
the rights of the defence and, ultimately, the 
fairness of the trial were secured.

11. My doubts are entirely dispelled when I note 
that the evidence obtained in breach of Article 
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8 of the Convention played a decisive role in 
this context. I shall not expand on this point, 
which I consider is addressed very eloquently 
in the partly dissenting opinion of Judge Spiel-
mann joined by Judges Rozakis, Tulkens, Casa-
devall and Mijović.

12. In my view, this decisive aspect is very impor-
tant in law. If, besides the recording in issue 
(and the initial complaint against Mr Bykov by 
V., but that could have been one man's word 
against another), the Russian judges had based 
their findings on other evidence, there would 
still have been cause for uncertainty. A criminal 
trial is often complex, and the large number of 
items of evidence on which the judges' verdict 
is based may sometimes decontaminate the 
dubious evidence by absorbing it. That was not 
the case in this instance.

13. All in all, while I fully understand the reasons 
why the Court did not find a violation of Arti-
cle 6, I was unable to make the leap that would 
have allowed me to share the majority's view.

PARtLY DIssEntInG 
oPInIon oF JUDGE 
sPIELMAnn JoInED 
BY JUDGEs RoZAKIs, 
tULKEns, CAsADEVALL 
AnD MIJoVIć
(Translation)

1. I do not agree with the Court's conclusion that 
there was no violation of Article 6 of the Con-
vention.

2. The question of respect for the right to a fair 
hearing arises in my opinion under two head-
ings: the admission in criminal proceedings of 
evidence obtained in breach of Article 8, and 
the right to remain silent and not to incrimi-
nate oneself.

I. ADMISSION IN CRIMINAL 
PROCEEDINGS OF EVIDENCE 
OBTAINED IN BREACH OF ARTICLE 
8

3. I would observe that, having regard to the gen-
eral principles set out in paragraphs 88-93 of 
the judgment, the Court reached a unanimous 

finding that the covert operation was conduct-
ed in breach of Article 8 of the Convention.

4. The simulation staged by the authorities, de-
scribed in more detail in the part of the judg-
ment concerning the circumstances of the 
case under the heading “Covert operation”, 
was unlawful. As the Court observed in para-
graph 80, the applicant enjoyed very few, if 
any, safeguards in the procedure by which the 
interception of his conversation with V. was or-
dered and implemented. It accordingly found a 
violation of Article 8 of the Convention.

(a)  The question of principle and the missed op-
portunity  to  strengthen  practical  and  effec-
tive rights

5. After the Chamber had relinquished jurisdic-
tion, the present case was sent to the Grand 
Chamber, which was afforded the opportunity 
to clarify and spell out its case-law on the use 
of unlawful evidence at a trial. The question 
of the admission in criminal proceedings of 
evidence obtained in breach of Article 8 is a 
question of principle that deserved an answer 
of principle, particularly as regards the need to 
ensure consistency between the Court's find-
ings under the two Articles of the Convention 
(what is prohibited under Article 8 cannot be 
permitted under Article 6) and the need to 
stress the importance of the Article 8 rights at 
stake (bearing in mind the growing need to 
resort to unlawful investigative methods, espe-
cially in fighting crime and terrorism). As far as 
this question of principle is concerned, I would 
reiterate the arguments which my colleague 
Françoise Tulkens put forward in her partly dis-
senting opinion in P.G. and J.H. v. the United 
Kingdom.1 

6. In the present case the violation of Article 8 was 
a particularly serious one, representing a mani-
fest infringement of the fundamental rights 
protected by that provision. The use during a 
trial of evidence obtained in breach of Article 
8 should have called for an extremely rigor-
ous examination by the Court of the fairness 
of the proceedings. As the Court has already 
had occasion to emphasise, the Convention is 
to be read as a coherent whole.2 I agree with 
the partly concurring, partly dissenting opin-
ion expressed by Judge Loucaides in Khan v. 
the United Kingdom3 and reiterated by Judge 
Tulkens in her above-mentioned partly dis-
senting opinion in P.G. and J.H. v. the United 
Kingdom:4 
“Itismyopinionthattheterm'fairness',when
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examinedinthecontextoftheEuropeanCon-
ventiononHumanRights,impliesobservance
oftheruleoflawandforthatmatteritpresup-
poses respectof thehuman rights setout in
theConvention.Idonotthinkonecanspeak
ofa'fair'trialifitisconductedinbreachofthe
law.”

7. In the present case the violation of Article 8 of 
the Convention found by the Court results, and 
indeed results exclusively, from the unlawful-
ness of the evidence in issue (see paragraph 
82 of the judgment). Yet the fairness required 
by Article 6 of the Convention also entails a 
requirement of lawfulness.5 Fairness presup-
poses respect for lawfulness and thus also, a 
fortiori, respect for the rights guaranteed by 
the Convention, which it is precisely the Court's 
task to supervise.

8. As regards the nature and scope of the Court's 
supervision, the Court rightly notes in the judg-
ment that “in accordance with Article 19 of the 
Convention, its only task is to ensure the ob-
servance of the obligations undertaken by the 
Parties in the Convention” (see paragraph 88). 
It follows, and I strongly agree with this obser-
vation, that
“it isnot competent todealwithanapplica-
tion alleging that errors of law or fact have
been committed by domestic courts, except
whereitconsidersthatsucherrorsmighthave
involved a possible violation of any of the
rights and freedoms set out in the Conven-
tion”.

9. Similarly, while it is not the role of the Court
“todetermine,asamatterofprinciple,wheth-
erparticulartypesofevidence–forexample,
evidenceobtainedunlawfully intermsofdo-
mestic law – may be admissible” (see para-
graph89ofthejudgment),

the position is, however, different where, as in 
the present case, the evidence was obtained in 
breach of a right guaranteed by the Conven-
tion, seeing precisely that, where the taking of 
evidence is concerned, the Court must ensure 
observance by the Contracting States of their 
obligations under the Convention.

10. The judgment in the present case could have 
dispelled the uncertainties resulting from the 
Court's case-law on the subject by making 
clear that what is prohibited by one provision 
(Article 8) cannot be accepted under another 
(Article 6).

11. In finding that there was no violation of Article 

6, the Court has undermined the effectiveness 
of Article 8. Yet the rights enshrined in the Con-
vention cannot remain purely theoretical or 
virtual, since
“theConventionmustbeinterpretedandap-
pliedinsuchawayastoguaranteerightsthat
arepracticalandeffective”.6

12. The majority's view seems to me, moreover, 
to entail a real danger, one which has already 
been noted in the above-mentioned separate 
opinion in Khan7 and reiterated in the above-
mentioned separate opinion in P.G. and J.H. 
v. the United Kingdom:8 
“IfviolatingArticle8canbeacceptedas 'fair'
thenIcannotseehowthepolicecanbeeffec-
tivelydeterredfromrepeatingtheirimpermis-
sibleconduct.”

13. However, the Court has itself emphasised
“the need to ensure that the police exercise
theirpowers tocontrolandpreventcrime in
amannerwhichfullyrespectsthedueprocess
andotherguaranteeswhichlegitimatelyplace
restraintsonthescopeoftheiraction...,includ-
ingtheguaranteescontainedinArticles5and
8oftheConvention”.9

14. The judgment fails to provide a response to the 
questions raised in the partly dissenting opin-
ion cited above:
“Will therecomeapointatwhichthemajor-
ity's reasoningwillbeappliedwheretheevi-
dencehas beenobtained in breachof other
provisionsof theConvention, suchasArticle
3, for example? Where and how should the
linebedrawn?Accordingtowhichhierarchy
intheguaranteedrights?Ultimately,thevery
notionof fairness inatrialmighthaveaten-
dencytodeclineorbecomesubjecttoshifting
goalposts.”10

15. So much, then, for the principles and for the 
(missed) opportunity afforded to the Grand 
Chamber to strengthen practical and effective 
rights.

(b)  The  decisive  influence  of  the  evidence  ob-
tained in breach of Article 8 of the Convention

16. Beyond the question of principle addressed 
above, I consider that the evidence obtained in 
breach of Article 8 caused the proceedings to 
be fatally flawed, since it decisively influenced 
the guilty verdict against the applicant.

17. Admittedly, it appears that the court in the 
present case based its decision on other items 
of evidence. Besides the evidence obtained by 
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means of the covert operation, the following 
items unconnected with the operation seem 
to have been taken into account: the initial 
statement by V. that the applicant had ordered 
him to kill S.; the gun V. handed in to the FSB; 
and the records of the questioning of V. on 
subsequent occasions during the investiga-
tion. These items of evidence – all produced 
by V. – were challenged during the trial by the 
applicant, who for his part relied on V.'s subse-
quent withdrawal of his statements. However, 
the doubts as to the reliability of V.'s statements 
could not be dispelled since V. was absent and 
the authorities were unable to trace him and 
call him to appear in court, with the result that 
he could not be cross-examined during the 
trial (see paragraphs 38-40 of the judgment). 
The court eventually admitted the statements 
by V. as written evidence and, after examining 
the contradictory remarks he had made, con-
cluded that the withdrawal appeared to have 
resulted from a subsequent arrangement be-
tween V. and the applicant. Accordingly – leav-
ing aside the evidence obtained in breach of 
Article 8 of the Convention – the court reached 
its finding solely on the basis of V.'s initial state-
ments incriminating the applicant.

18. Admittedly, the applicant had the opportunity 
to examine V. when they were brought face to 
face during the investigation, but I must em-
phasise that this meeting took place before V. 
withdrew his statements. Consequently, the 
applicant's lawyer was unable to cross-exam-
ine V. in the light of his withdrawal of the state-
ments, either during the investigation or dur-
ing the court hearings. However, as the Court 
emphasised in Lucà v. Italy, where a convic-
tion is based solely or to a decisive degree on 
depositions that have been made by a person 
whom the accused has had no opportunity to 
examine or to have examined, whether dur-
ing the investigation or at the trial, the rights 
of the defence are restricted to an extent that 
is incompatible with the guarantees provided 
by Article 6.11 

(c)  The  need  for  the  subsequent  use  of  anony-
mous sources to be accompanied by adequate 
and sufficient guarantees

19. The fact that it was impossible to cross-exam-
ine V. in court also raises an issue in terms of 
the procedural right to challenge the evidence 
obtained as a result of the covert operation.

20. As the Court pointed out in the Ramanauskas 
judgment,12 admittedly in an entirely different 

context, involving police incitement,
“theConventiondoesnotprecludereliance,at
thepreliminaryinvestigationstageandwhere
thenatureof theoffencemaywarrant it, on
sourcessuchasanonymousinformants.How-
ever, the subsequentuseof such sourcesby
thetrialcourttofoundaconvictionisadiffer-
entmatterandisacceptableonlyifadequate
andsufficientsafeguardsagainstabusearein
place,inparticularaclearandforeseeablepro-
cedureforauthorising,implementingandsu-
pervisingtheinvestigativemeasures inques-
tion(seeKhudobin v. Russia,no.59696/00,§
135,26October2006,and,mutatis mutandis,
Klass and Others v. Germany, 6 September
1978,§§52-56, SeriesAno. 28).While the
riseinorganisedcrimerequiresthatappropri-
atemeasuresbetaken,therighttoafairtrial,
from which the requirement of the proper
administration of justice is to be inferred,
nevertheless applies to all types of criminal
offence,fromthemoststraightforwardtothe
mostcomplex.Therighttothefairadministra-
tionofjusticeholdssoprominentaplaceina
democraticsocietythatitcannotbesacrificed
for the sake of expedience (see Delcourt v. 
Belgium,17January1970,§25,SeriesAno.
11).”13

21. Admittedly, the other evidence used during 
the trial included numerous witness state-
ments referring to the existence of a conflict 
of interests between the applicant and S., and 
other items confirming the accuracy of the 
description of the covert operation set out in 
the reports on the investigation. However, the 
probative value of such evidence was relatively 
minor. The fact that it was impossible to cross-
examine V. in court therefore prevented the 
applicant from having full enjoyment of his 
procedural right to challenge the evidence ob-
tained through the covert operation.

22. In short, I consider that the use of the evidence 
in issue irreparably impaired the applicant's de-
fence rights. Such a conclusion would in itself 
have justified the finding of a violation of Arti-
cle 6 of the Convention.

II. RESPECT FOR THE RIGHT TO 
REMAIN SILENT AND NOT TO 
INCRIMINATE ONESELF

23. Lastly, the covert operation in my opinion in-
fringed the applicant's right to remain silent 
and not to incriminate himself. None of the 
Court's case-law corresponds exactly to the 
facts of the present case. Once again, I regret 
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that the Grand Chamber did not seize the op-
portunity to clarify the principles emerging, in 
particular, from its judgments in the cases of 
Jalloh,14 Allan15 and, to a lesser extent, Ra-
manauskas.16 

24. In its Jalloh judgment of 11 July 2006 the Court 
reiterated the principle that
“... the rightnot to incriminateoneself ispri-
marily concernedwith respecting thewill of
anaccusedpersontoremainsilent”.17

25. In the case of Jalloh the authorities obtained 
real evidence against the applicant's will. The 
Court declared that the privilege against self-
incrimination was applicable, stating the fol-
lowing:
“... the principle against self-incrimination is
applicabletothepresentproceedings.

Inordertodeterminewhethertheapplicant's
rightnottoincriminatehimselfhasbeenvio-
lated,theCourtwillhaveregard,inturn,tothe
following factors: the nature and degree of
compulsionusedtoobtaintheevidence;the
weightofthepublicinterestintheinvestiga-
tionandpunishmentof theoffenceat issue;
theexistenceofanyrelevantsafeguardsinthe
procedure;andtheusetowhichanymaterial
soobtainedisput.”18

26. These criteria are applicable in the present 
case, given that the substance of the matter 
concerns the recording of evidence obtained 
in breach of the privilege against self-incrimi-
nation. Concerning more specifically the public 
interest in securing the applicant's conviction, 
I do not consider that this can in any circum-
stances justify the use in evidence of record-
ings found to have been unlawful for the pur-
poses of Article 8 of the Convention.19 

27. The present case is similar to the case of Allan, 
in which the Court found a violation of Article 
6.20 Admittedly, unlike in Allan, the applicant 
in the present case was not in pre-trial deten-
tion but at liberty in his own property. It is also 
true that in Allan the applicant chose to remain 
silent.

28. However, those particular aspects are in my 
opinion not decisive, seeing that the informer 
V. was de facto an agent working for the au-
thorities at the time when he recorded the 
conversation in issue.

29. In paragraph 51 of the Allan judgment the 
Court stated the following, referring to the 
case-law of the Supreme Court of Canada:21 

“Whether the right to silence is undermined
tosuchanextentastogiverisetoaviolation
ofArticle6oftheConventiondependsonall
the circumstances of the individual case. In
thisregard,however,someguidancemaybe
found in thedecisionsof theSupremeCourt
of Canada,... inwhich the right to silence, in
circumstanceswhich bore some similarity to
thoseinthepresentcase,wasexaminedinthe
contextofsection7oftheCanadianCharterof
RightsandFreedoms.There,theCanadianSu-
premeCourtexpressed theview that,where
the informerwho allegedly acted to subvert
the right to silence of the accused was not
obviously a State agent, the analysis should
focusonboththerelationshipbetweenthein-
formerandtheStateandtherelationshipbe-
tweentheinformerandtheaccused:theright
tosilencewouldonlybeinfringedwherethe
informerwasactingasanagentof theState
at thetimetheaccusedmadethestatement
andwhereitwastheinformerwhocausedthe
accused tomake the statement.Whether an
informerwastoberegardedasaStateagent
dependedonwhethertheexchangebetween
the accused and the informer would have
taken place, and in the form andmanner in
which it did, but for the intervention of the
authorities.Whethertheevidenceinquestion
wastoberegardedashavingbeenelicitedby
the informerdependedonwhether thecon-
versationbetweenhimand theaccusedwas
thefunctionalequivalentofaninterrogation,
aswellasonthenatureoftherelationshipbe-
tweentheinformerandtheaccused.”

30. In the present case the informer who acted 
on State instructions, subverting the appli-
cant's right to remain silent, was obviously a 
State agent. The question arises whether the 
conversation between him and the accused 
would have taken place, and in the form and 
manner in which it did, but for the interven-
tion of the authorities. The answer is no, and 
the recorded conversation was thus was the 
functional equivalent of an interrogation. The 
purpose of this ruse was, in particular, to reveal 
the existence of a particular offence, namely 
“conspiracy to murder”. Among the constitu-
ent elements of this offence, the mens rea or 
element of intent plays a crucial, if not predom-
inant, role. The grossly unlawful ruse staged by 
the authorities was aimed precisely at “uncov-
ering” this essential element of the offence.

31. The fact that the applicant had not been 
charged is not decisive in my opinion either. 
In the R. v. Hebert decision (cited above) the 
Supreme Court of Canada stated the following:
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“The protection conferred by a legal system
whichgrants theaccused immunity from in-
criminatinghimselfat trialbutoffersnopro-
tection with respect to pre-trial statements
would be illusory. As Ratushny writes (Self-
Incrimination in the Canadian Criminal Pro-
cess (1979),atp.253):
'Furthermore, our system meticulously pro-
videsforapublictrialonlyafteraspecificac-
cusationandwheretheaccused isprotected
bydetailedproceduresandstrictevidentiary
rules.Ordinarilyheisrepresentedbyalawyer
toensurethatheinfactreceivedallofthepro-
tections towhichhe isentitled.Theaccused
isundernolegalorpracticalobligationtore-
spondtotheaccusationuntil there isanevi-
dentiarycasetomeet.Thereisahypocrisyto
asystemwhichprovidessuchprotectionsbut
allows themall tobe ignoredat thepre-trial
stage where interrogation frequently occurs
insecret,aftercounselhasbeendenied,with
norulesatallandoftenwherethesuspector
accused isdeliberatelymisledabout theevi-
denceagainsthim.'

...

Theguaranteeoftherighttoconsultcounsel
confirmsthattheessenceoftherightistheac-
cused'sfreedomtochoosewhethertomakea
statementornot.The state isnotobliged to
protect the suspect against making a state-
ment; indeed it is open to the state to use
legitimatemeansofpersuasiontoencourage
the suspect to do so. The state is, however,
obliged to allow the suspect tomake an in-
formed choice aboutwhether or not hewill
speaktotheauthorities.”22

32. However, in the present case, the applicant 
spoke without having given his free and in-
formed consent.

33. I would add that to deny the right to remain 
silent and the right not to incriminate oneself 
simply because the applicant had not been 
charged or had not undergone initial ques-
tioning would leave the way open for abuses 
of procedure. The person concerned would be 
deprived of the opportunity to choose to speak 
or to remain silent at a later stage, for exam-
ple during such questioning, and the principle 
would thus become devoid of all substance.

34. It is true that in the R. v. Hebert decision the 
Supreme Court of Canada also based its ruling 
on the fact that the person concerned was in 
detention:
“[The rule] applies only after detention. Un-
dercoveroperationspriortodetentiondonot

raise the same considerations. The jurispru-
dencerelatingtotherighttosilencehasnever
extended protection against police tricks to
thepre-detentionperiod.NordoestheChar-
terextendtherighttocounseltopre-deten-
tioninvestigations.Thetwocircumstancesare
quite different. In an undercover operation
priortodetention,theindividualfromwhom
information is sought isnot in thecontrolof
thestate.Thereisnoneedtoprotecthimfrom
the greater power of the state. After deten-
tion, thesituation isquitedifferent; thestate
takes control and assumes the responsibility
of ensuring that thedetainee's rights are re-
spected.”

35. However, I consider that the criterion applied 
by the Supreme Court in the context of deten-
tion is applicable mutatis mutandis to a situa-
tion where the person concerned is de facto 
under the authorities' control. This was so in 
the present case; the applicant was an unwit-
ting protagonist in a set-up entirely orchestrat-
ed by the authorities. I would draw attention 
here to the very particular circumstances of the 
covert operation, which began with the staged 
discovery of two bodies and the announce-
ment in the media that S. and I. had been shot 
dead. By the time V. arrived at the applicant's 
“guest house”, the applicant was already under 
the influence of the erroneous information that 
a serious crime had been committed, and his 
belief was reinforced by V.'s admission that he 
had been the perpetrator. The applicant's con-
duct was therefore not solely, or mainly, guided 
by events which would have taken place un-
der normal circumstances, but above all by 
the appearances created by the investigating 
authorities. To that extent, seeing that he was 
the victim of a ruse, his statements and reac-
tion cannot reasonably be said to have been 
voluntary or spontaneous.

36. In the case of Ramanauskas, concerning police 
incitement, the Court reached the conclusion 
in its judgment of 5 February 2008 that
“the actions... had the effect of inciting the
applicantto commit the offence of which he 
was convicted[,] that there is no indication
thattheoffencewouldhavebeencommitted
withouttheirintervention[andthati]nviewof
suchinterventionanditsuseintheimpugned
criminalproceedings,theapplicant'strialwas
deprivedofthefairnessrequiredbyArticle6of
theConvention”.23(myitalics)

37. In the present case the purpose of the staged 
events was to make the applicant talk. The cov-
ert operation undermined the voluntary nature 
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of the disclosures to such an extent that the 
right to remain silent and not to incriminate 
oneself was rendered devoid of all substance. 
As in the Ramanauskas case, the applicant was 
entrapped by a person controlled from a dis-
tance by the authorities, who staged a set-up 
using a private individual as an undercover 
agent. I thus consider that the information 
thereby obtained was disclosed through en-
trapment, against the applicant's will.24 

III. ARTICLE 41 OF THE CONVENTION

38. Lastly, I voted against point 4 (a) of the op-
erative provisions. I consider that the award 
of 1,000 euros for non-pecuniary damage is 
insufficient, given the Court's finding of two 
violations.
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SURVEILLANCE, TELEPHONE, TAPPING, PRIVATE LIFE, 
INTERFERENCE, INTERCEPTION, LEGISLATION, CORRE-
SPONDENCE, MISUSE OF POWER

IN THE CASE Of IORDACHI AND OTHERS v. 
MOLDOvA,

The European Court of Human Rights (Fourth Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Nicolas Bratza, President,  
Lech Garlicki,  
Ljiljana Mijović,  
David Thór Björgvinsson,  
Ján Šikuta,  
Päivi Hirvelä,  
Mihai Poalelungi, judges,  
and Lawrence Early, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 20 January 2009,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

25198/02) against the Republic of Moldova 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of the 
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Convention”) 
by Mr Vitalie Iordachi, Mr Vitalie Nagacevschi, 
Ms Snejana Chitic, Mr Victor Constantinov and 
Mr Vlad Gribincea (“the applicants”), on 23 May 
2002.

2. The Moldovan Government (“the Govern-
ment”) were represented by their Agent at the 
time, Mr V. Pârlog and subsequently by his suc-
cessor Mr V. Grosu.

3. The applicants alleged, in particular, under 
Article 8 of the Convention that their right to 
freedom of correspondence had not been 
respected since the domestic law governing 
telephone tapping did not contain sufficient 
guarantees against abuse by the national au-
thorities.

4. The application was allocated to the Fourth 
Section of the Court (Rule 52 § 1 of the Rules 
of Court). Within that Section, the Chamber 

that would consider the case (Article 27 § 1 of 
the Convention) was constituted as provided 
in Rule 26 § 1.

5. By a decision of 5 April 2005, the Court de-
clared the application admissible and joined 
the question of victim status to the merits of 
the case.

6. The applicants and the Government each filed 
further written observations (Rule 59 § 1), the 
Chamber having decided, after consulting the 
parties, that no hearing on the merits was re-
quired (Rule 59 § 3 in fine).

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

7. The applicants were born in 1972, 1965, 1980, 
1961 and 1980 respectively and live in Chişinău. 
They are members of “Lawyers for Human 
Rights”, a Chişinău-based non-governmental 
organisation specialised in the representation 
of applicants before the Court.

8. According to the applicants, after the coming 
to power of the Communist Party the number 
of violations of human rights increased consid-
erably. In that context their organisation was 
created, whose sole purpose was the protec-
tion of human rights by assisting persons who 
sought to introduce applications with the Eu-
ropean Court of Human Rights.

9. As a result, the applicants considered that they 
had caused the Government serious harm in 
terms of damage to their image and finan-
cial loss as a result of the findings of violation 
in cases they had helped to bring before this 
Court.

10. The applicants maintained that they ran a seri-
ous risk of having their telephones tapped as 
a result of their activity, due to the state of the 
legislation in force. They did not claim to have 
been victims of any specific interception of 
their communications, whether by telephone 
or post, and they had not instituted any do-
mestic proceedings in that respect.

11. The Government disputed the allegation con-
cerning the increase of the number of viola-
tions of human rights after the Communist 
Party had won the elections.

12. On 17 January 2008 one of the applicants 
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wrote to the President of the Supreme Court 
of Justice and asked for statistical information 
concerning, inter alia, the number of applica-
tions lodged by the investigating bodies with 
courts for interception of telephone conversa-
tions and the number of successful and unsuc-
cessful applications.

13. In a letter of 6 February 2008 the Head of the 
President's Office of the Supreme Court of 
Justice replied that in 2005 of a total of 2,609 
applications for interception lodged, 98.81% 
had been successful; in 2006 of the 1,931 ap-
plications lodged, 97.93% had been successful; 
and in 2007 of the 2,372 applications lodged, 
99.24% had been successful.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW

14. The Operational Investigative Activities Act of 
12 April 1994 reads as follows:

“Section 2. The aims of operational 
investigative activities

a)revealing attempts to commit crime; pre-
venting, suppressing or discovering criminal
offencesandthepersonswhoorganise,com-
mitorhavealreadycommittedoffences;and
ensuringcompensationfordamagecausedby
acriminaloffence;

b)searchingforpersonswhoareevadingthe
preliminary investigativeauthorities, thepre-
liminaryinvestigationorthecourt,orwhoare
fleeingfromacriminalsanction,orforpersons
whohavedisappeared;

c)collecting informationoneventsoractions
whichendangertheStateorthemilitary,eco-
nomic or environmental security of the Re-
publicofMoldova.

...

Section 4. The legal basis for operational 
investigative activities

(1)The Constitution, the present Law and
otherregulationsenactedinaccordancewith
themconstitutethelegalbasisforoperational
investigativeactivities.

(2)The authoritieswhich are entitled to con-
duct operational investigative activities may
issue,withinthelimitsoftheircompetence,in
accordancewiththelawandwiththeconsent
oftheSupremeCourtofJusticeandtheGen-
eralProsecutor'sOffice,regulationsgoverning
theorganisation,methodsandtacticsofcar-
ryingoutoperationalinvestigativemeasures.

Section 5. Respect for human rights and 
liberties in conducting operational investigative 
activities

...

(2)Anyonewho considers that the actionsof
theauthoritywhichhascarriedoutinvestiga-
tivemeasureshaveinfringedhisorherrights
andlibertiesmaylodgeacomplaintwiththe
hierarchically superior authority, the General
Prosecutor'sOfficeorthecourts.

(3)Inorder toensurea full and thoroughex-
aminationof thecomplaint lodgedbyaper-
son against whom operational investigative
measures have been applied without due
grounds, the authoritieswhich have applied
such measures shall, at the request of the
prosecutor,presentthelatterwitharecordof
everyoperationalaction takenonduty.Data
concerning persons who have confidentially
contributedtotheconductofoperationalin-
vestigativemeasures shallbepresentedonly
attherequestoftheGeneralProsecutor.

(4)Should the authority (the official) exercis-
ingtheoperationalinvestigativeactivityhave
infringedthelegitimaterightsandinterestsof
natural and legal persons, the hierarchically
superior authority or prosecutor shall take
measuresrestoringsuchlegitimaterightsand
interests, and afford compensation for the
damagecaused,inaccordancewiththelaw.

Section 6. Operational investigative measures

(1)Operationalinvestigativemeasuresshallbe
carried out only in accordance with the law
and only when it is otherwise impossible to
achievetheaimsprovidedforinsection2.

(2)For the purpose of accomplishing the
stated aims, the authorities carrying out op-
erational investigativemeasures are entitled,
with due observance of the rules of secrecy,
to:...

(c)intercept telephone and other conversa-
tions;...

The operational investigative measures pro-
vided for under ..., (l), ... may be carried out
only by the Ministry of Internal Affairs and
the Information and Security Service under
thestatutoryconditionsandonlywhensuch
measures are necessary in the interests of
national security, publicorder, the economic
situation of the country, themaintenance of
legal order and the prevention of offences,
andtheprotectionofhealth,morals,andthe
rightsandinterestsofothers....”

In 2003 this section was amended as follows 
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(amendment in bold):

“Section 6. Operational investigative measures

(1)Operationalinvestigativemeasuresshallbe
carriedoutonlyinaccordancewiththelawon
criminalprocedureandonlywhenitisother-
wiseimpossibletoachievetheaimsprovided
forinsection2.

(2)For the purpose of accomplishing the
stated aims, the authorities carrying out op-
erational investigativemeasures are entitled,
with due observance of the rules of secrecy,
to:...

(c)intercept telephone and other conversa-
tions;...

The operational investigative measures pro-
vided for under ..., (l), ... may be carried out
only by the Ministry of Internal Affairs and
the Information and Security Service under
thestatutoryconditionsandonlywhensuch
measures are necessary in the interests of
national security, publicorder, the economic
situation of the country, themaintenance of
legalorderandthepreventionofveryserious
offencesandtheprotectionofhealth,morals,
andtherightsandinterestsofothers....”

The section was further amended in 2007 
and currently reads as follows (amendment in 
bold):

“Section 6. Operational investigative measures

(1)Operationalinvestigativemeasuresshallbe
carriedoutonlyinaccordancewiththelawon
criminalprocedureandonlywhenitisother-
wiseimpossibletoachievetheaimsprovided
forinsection2.

(2)For the purpose of accomplishing the
stated aims, the authorities carrying out op-
erational investigativemeasures are entitled,
with due observance of the rules of secrecy,
to:...

(c)intercept telephone and other conversa-
tions;...

The operational investigative measures pro-
vided for under ..., (l), ... may be carried out
only by the Ministry of Internal Affairs and
the Information and Security Service under
thestatutoryconditionsandonlywhensuch
measures are necessary in the interests of
national security, publicorder, the economic
situation of the country, themaintenance of
legalorderandthepreventionofserious,very
serious and exceptionally serious offences,
andtheprotectionofhealth,morals,andthe
rightsandinterestsofothers....”

Under Article 16 of the Criminal Code the seri-
ous offences are considered to be those offenc-
es which are punishable with imprisonment of 
up to fifteen years; very serious offences are 
intentional offences punishable with imprison-
ment of over fifteen years; and exceptionally 
serious offences are those intentional offences 
punishable with life imprisonment. Approxi-
mately 59% of all offences provided for in the 
Moldovan Criminal Code fall into the category 
of serious, very serious and exceptionally seri-
ous offences.

“Section 7. The grounds for carrying out 
operational investigative activities

“(1)The grounds for carrying out operational
investigativeactivitiesare:

(a)unclearcircumstancesconcerningtheinsti-
tutionofcriminalproceedings;

(b)informationofwhichtheauthoritycarrying
out an operational investigative activity has
becomeawareinconnectionwith:

- an illegal act that is being prepared, com-
mitted or has already been committed, or
persons who are preparing, committing or
have already committed such an act, where
thebasis for institutingcriminalproceedings
isinsufficient;

-personswhoare fleeing fromacriminal in-
vestigationorthecourts,orwhoareavoiding
acriminalsanction;...

(c)instructions given by a criminal investiga-
tor,investigativebody,prosecutororcourtin
pendingcriminalcases;

(d)requests from the bodies carrying out an
operational investigative activity based on
thegroundsprovided for in thepresent sec-
tion....”

In 2003 this section was amended as follows 
(amendment in bold):

“Section 7. The grounds for carrying out 
operational investigative activities

(1)The grounds for carrying out operational
investigativeactivitiesare:

(a)unclearcircumstancesconcerningtheinsti-
tutionofcriminalproceedings;

(b)informationofwhichtheauthoritycarrying
out an operational investigative activity has
becomeawareinconnectionwith:

- an illegal act that is being prepared, com-
mitted or has already been committed, or
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persons who are preparing, committing or
have already committed such an act, where
thebasis for institutingcriminalproceedings
isinsufficient;

-personswhoare fleeing fromacriminal in-
vestigationorthecourts,orwhoareavoiding
acriminalsanction;...

(c)instructionsgivenbyanofficerof criminal
investigation, investigative body, prosecutor
orcourtinpendingcriminalcases;

(d)requests from the bodies carrying out an
operationalinvestigativeactivitybasedonthe
groundsprovidedforinthepresentsection....

Section 8. The conditions and manner of 
carrying out operational investigative activities

(1)Operational investigative measures which
infringe lawful rights - the secrecy of corre-
spondence, telephone and other conversa-
tions, telegraphic communications, and the
inviolabilityof thehome-shallbepermitted
onlyforthepurposeofcollectinginformation
aboutpersonswhoarepreparingorattempt-
ing to commit serious offences or are com-
mittingorhavealreadycommittedseriousof-
fences,andonlywiththeauthorisationofthe
prosecutorpursuanttoareasoneddecisionof
oneoftheheadsoftherelevantauthority....

(2)In urgent cases where otherwise there
wouldbeariskofcommissionofseriouscrimi-
naloffences,itshallbepermitted,onthebasis
ofareasonedconclusionofoneoftheheads
of the authority carryingout theoperational
investigativeactivity,tocarryoutoperational
investigativemeasures. The prosecutormust
benotifiedwithin24hours.

(3)Should danger to the life, health or prop-
erty of certain persons become imminent,
interceptionoftheirtelephoneconversations
or other means of communication shall be
permitted, following the request or written
consentofsuchpersonsonthebasisofade-
cisionapprovedbytheheadoftheauthority
carryingouttheinvestigativeactivity,andthe
prosecutorshallbenotified.”

In 2003 this section was amended as follows 
(amendment in bold):

“Section 8. The conditions and manner of 
carrying out operational investigative activities

(1)Operational investigative measures which
infringe lawful rights - the secrecy of corre-
spondence, telephone and other conversa-
tions, telegraphic communications, and the
inviolabilityof thehome-shallbepermitted
onlyforthepurposeofcollectinginformation

aboutpersonswhoarepreparingorattempt-
ing to commit very serious offences or are
committing or have already committed very
seriousoffences,andonlywiththeauthorisa-
tionof the investigating judgepursuant toa
reasoneddecisionofoneoftheheadsofthe
relevantauthority....

(2)In urgent cases where otherwise there
wouldbeariskofcommissionofseriouscrimi-
naloffences,itshallbepermitted,onthebasis
ofareasonedconclusionofoneoftheheads
of the authority carryingout theoperational
investigativeactivity,tocarryoutoperational
investigative measures. The investigating
judge shall be informedwithin 24 hours. He
shallbepresentedwiththereasonsandshall
verifythelegalityofthemeasurestaken.

(3)Should danger to the life, health or prop-
erty of certain persons become imminent,
interceptionoftheirtelephoneconversations
or other means of communication shall be
permitted, following the request or written
consentofsuchpersonsonthebasisofade-
cisionapprovedbytheheadoftheauthority
carryingouttheinvestigativeactivity,andthe
investigatingjudgeshallgivehisauthority.”

The section received further amendments in 
2007 and currently reads as follows (amend-
ment in bold):

“Section 8. The conditions and manner of 
carrying out operational investigative activities

(1)Operational investigative measures which
infringe lawful rights - the secrecy of corre-
spondence, telephone and other conversa-
tions, telegraphic communications, and the
inviolabilityof thehome-shallbepermitted
onlyforthepurposeofcollectinginformation
aboutpersonswhoarepreparingorattempt-
ingtocommitserious,veryseriousandexcep-
tionallyseriousoffencesorarecommittingor
have already committed such offences, and
onlywiththeauthorisationof the investigat-
ingjudgepursuanttoareasoneddecisionof
oneoftheheadsoftherelevantauthority....

(2)Should danger to the life, health or prop-
erty of certain persons become imminent,
interceptionoftheirtelephoneconversations
or other means of communication shall be
permitted, following the request or written
consentofsuchpersonsonthebasisofade-
cisionapprovedbytheheadoftheauthority
carryingouttheinvestigativeactivity,andthe
investigatingjudgeshallgivehisauthority....

Section 9. The conduct of operational control

(1)Incasesenvisagedundersection7,bodies
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exercising operational investigative activities
areentitledtocarryoutoperationalcontrol.A
recordmustbekeptofanymeasureofopera-
tionalcontrol.

(2)Operational control shall be carried out
withtheauthorisationandunderthesupervi-
sionoftheheadofthebodyconductingit.The
results of operational investigativemeasures
appliedshallbereflected induly filedofficial
operationaldocuments....

(3)Official operational documents shall be
submittedtotheprosecutorinordertoobtain
approval forcarryingoutoperational investi-
gativemeasures.

(4)Theoperationalcontrolshallbesuspended
whenthespecificaimsof theoperational in-
vestigativeactivitysetoutinsection2areac-
complishedorwhencircumstancesareestab-
lishedprovingthatitisobjectivelyimpossible
toaccomplishtheaim.”

In 2003 paragraph 3 of this section was re-
pealed.

“Section 10. Use of the results of operational 
investigative activities

(1)Theresultsofoperational investigativeac-
tivitymaybeusedforpreparingandcarrying
outcriminalinvestigativeactivitiesandforcar-
rying out operational investigativemeasures
inorder toprevent,stopordiscovercriminal
offences,andasevidenceincriminalcases.

(2)Data obtained during operational control
shall not constitute a reason for limiting the
rights, liberties and legitimate interests of
naturalandlegalpersons.

(3)Information about the persons, means,
sources (with the exception of the persons
whomayprovideassistancetotheauthorities
carryingout suchmeasures),methods,plans
andresultsoftheoperationalinvestigativeac-
tivity,andabouttheorganisationandthetac-
ticsofcarryingouttheoperational investiga-
tivemeasureswhichconstituteStatesecrets,
maybedisclosedonlyinaccordancewiththe
conditionsprovidedbylaw.

Section 11. The authorities which may carry out 
operational investigative activities

(1)Operational investigative activity shall be
exercised by the Ministry of Internal Affairs,
theMinistryofDefence, the Informationand
SecurityService,theProtectionandStateSe-
curity Service, the Department of Customs
Control attached to the Ministry of Finance
and the Prison Department attached to the
MinistryofJustice....

...

Section 18. Parliamentary scrutiny

Scrutiny, on behalf of Parliament, of opera-
tional investigativeactivityshallbeexercised
by the relevant permanent parliamentary
commissions. The authorities which exercise
operational investigative activities shall sub-
mit information to these commissions in ac-
cordancewiththelaw.

Section 19. Supervision by the prosecutor

(1)Enforcementofthelawsbytheauthorities
carrying out operational investigative activi-
tiesandthelawfulnessofthedecisionsadopt-
edbytheseauthoritiesshallbesupervisedby
theGeneralProsecutor,hisorherdeputy,and
themunicipalandcountyprosecutors...”

15. On 29 June 2007 the Ministry of Internal Affairs, 
the Secret Services and the Centre for Combat-
ing Organised Crime and Corruption enacted 
special instructions in accordance with section 
4 (2) of the above Law. The instructions regulat-
ed the co-operation between the intercepting 
bodies and the telephone operators. In particu-
lar it obliged the operators to co-operate with 
the intercepting bodies in order to facilitate 
the interception of telephone conversations 
and to provide them with all the necessary 
information and with unlimited access to their 
networks.

16. The Code of Criminal Procedure in force until 
12 June 2003 read as follows:

“Article 156 § 1. Grounds for intercepting 
telephone and other conversations

The interception of telephone conversations
orothermeansofcommunicationusedbya
suspect, defendant or other person involved
in a criminal offence may be carried out in
connection with criminal proceedings insti-
tuted in accordance with a decision of the
authority conducting thepreliminary investi-
gationorthecriminalinvestigatorwiththeau-
thorisationoftheprosecutor,orinaccordance
withacourtdecision,wheresuchameasure
isdeemednecessary in ademocratic society
intheinterestsofnationalsecurity,publicor-
der,theeconomicwelfareofthecountry,the
maintenance of order and the prevention of
crimes,ortheprotectionofthehealth,morals,
rightsandlibertiesofothers.Theinterception
oftelephoneorotherconversationsmaynot
last more than six months. ... Conversations
held over the telephone or other means of
communicationmayberecorded.
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Article 156 § 2. Manner of interception and 
recording

The interceptionand recordingof telephone
conversations or other means of communi-
cationshallbecarriedoutbythecriminal in-
vestigatorunless the task isentrusted to the
authorityinchargeofthepreliminaryinvesti-
gation. In this case, the criminal investigator
shall drawup awarrant and a decision con-
cerning the interception,whichshallbesent
to the authority in chargeof thepreliminary
investigation. At the same time the criminal
investigator shall liaise with the authority in
charge of the preliminary investigation or
specify inthewarrantthecircumstancesand
manner of interception of the conversations
and recording, modification and disposal of
theinformationobtained....

Article 156 § 3. Record of the interception and 
recording

Following the interception and recording, a
recordshallbedrawnupgivingasummaryof
the content of the taped conversations rele-
vanttothecase.Thetapeshallbeattachedto
therecordandthepartwhichdoesnotrelate
tothecaseshallbedestroyedoncethejudg-
mentbecomesfinal.”

17. The Code of Criminal Procedure, in force after 
12 June 2003, in so far as relevant, reads as fol-
lows:

“Article 41. Competence of the investigating 
judge

Theinvestigatingjudgeensuresjudicialsuper-
visionduringthecriminalprosecutionby:

...

5.authorising the interception of communi-
cations, seizureof correspondence, video re-
cordings;...”

...

Article 135. Interception of communications

(1)The interception of communications (tel-
ephoneconversations,orcommunicationsby
radioorusingothertechnicalmeans)iscarried
outby theprosecutionbodyon thebasisof
an authorisation issued by the investigating
judge issuedonthebasisofareasonedwar-
rantofaprosecutorchargedwiththeexami-
nationofvery seriousandexceptionally seri-
ouscrimes.

(2)Incaseofurgency,whenadelayinobtain-
inganauthorisationasstipulatedinparagraph
(1)couldcauseseriousharmtotheevidence-

gathering procedure, the prosecutormay is-
sue a reasoned warrant for the interception
and recordingofcommunications.Sheorhe
is obliged to inform the investigating judge
about this immediately andno later than24
hours after issuing the warrant. The latter is
requiredtotakeadecisionwithin24hoursre-
gardingthewarrantissuedbytheprosecutor.
Whensheorheconfirmsit,sheorheauthoris-
esthefurtherinterceptionifnecessary.When
heorshedoesnotconfirmit,sheorheorders
itsimmediatesuspensionandthedestruction
ofrecordsalreadymade.

(3)The interception of communications may
becarriedoutattherequestofthevictimof
a crime, a witness and members of his/her
family,incaseofthreatsofviolence,extortion
orcommissionofothercrimesaffectingsuch
parties, based on a reasonedwarrant of the
prosecutor.

(4) The interception of communications dur-
ing a criminal investigation is authorised for
amaximumof30days.Theinterceptionmay
beextendedon the sameconditions if justi-
fied. Each extension cannothowever exceed
30 days. The total duration cannot exceed 6
months.Inanycase,itcannotlastlongerthan
thecriminalprosecution.

(5)The interception of communications may
be stoppedbefore theendof theperiod for
which it hasbeenauthorised, if thegrounds
initiallyjustifyingitnolongerexist.

(6)Duringacriminalprosecution,aftertheend
of an authorised interception, and after hav-
ingaskedtheopinionoftheprosecutorwho
supervises and carries out the criminal pros-
ecution, the investigating judge shall inform
in writing the persons whose conversations
were interceptedand recorded.This shallbe
donewithina reasonable time, andmustbe
done before the termination of the criminal
prosecution.

Article 136. Interception and recording and 
their authorisation

(1)Theinterceptionofcommunicationsiscar-
ried out by the criminal prosecution body.
Personswhoseresponsibility is technically to
facilitate the interception and recording of
communications are obliged topreserve the
secrecyof theprocedureand theconfidenti-
alityofcorrespondence.Theyareliableinthe
eventofaviolationoftheirobligationsunder
theprovisions of articles 178 and315of the
Criminal Code. A notemust bemade to the
effectthattheyhavebeeninformedofthese
obligations.
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(2)Arecordoftheinterceptionsandrecording
carriedoutbytheprosecutionbodymustbe
drawnupinconformitywiththeprovisionsof
articles260and261. Itmust record informa-
tionabouttheauthorisationgivenbythe in-
vestigating judge, the intercepted telephone
number or numbers and their addresses, to-
getherwithdetailsoftheradioorothertech-
nical equipment used for conversations. The
record must also indicate the name (where
known)ofthepartiesandthedateandtimeof
each separate conversation and the number
assignedtothetapeusedfortherecording.

(3)Recorded communications must be fully
transcribedandannexedtotherecordalong
withtheauthorisationofthecriminalprosecu-
tionbody, after its verification and signature
bytheprosecutorcarryingoutorsupervising
thecriminalprosecution.Communications in
languages other than the one in which the
criminal prosecution is carried out shall be
translatedwiththeassistanceofaninterpret-
er.Thetapecontainingtheoriginal recorded
communicationsshallalsobeannexedtothe
recordafterhavingbeensealedandafterthe
stampof thecriminal investigationbodyhas
beenapplied.

(4)Thetapeoftherecordedcommunications,
thetranscriptandtherecordsoftheintercep-
tion and recording of communications shall
be handed over to the prosecutorwithin 24
hours.Theprosecutorshallassesswhichparts
ofthecollectedinformationareimportantfor
thecaseinquestionanddrawuparecordin
thisregard.

(5)Originalcopiesofthetapesalongwiththe
completewrittentranscriptandcopiesofthe
recordsshallbehandedovertotheinvestigat-
ingjudgewhoauthorisedinterceptionofthe
communications for furtherstorage inaspe-
cialplaceinasealedenvelope.

(6)The court shall adopt a decision regard-
ing thedestructionof recordswhich arenot
important for thecriminalcase.All theother
recordsshallbekeptuptothemomentwhen
thefileisdepositedinthearchive.

Article 138. Verification of interception 
recording

Evidence collected under the provisions of
articles135and137maybeverifiedthrough
technical expertexaminationby thecourt at
therequestofthepartiesorexofficio.”

18. Under section 15(5) of the Advocacy Act of 13 
May 1999, a lawyer's professional correspond-
ence can be intercepted only under the con-
ditions provided for by law. Section 15 (13) 

provides that the confidentiality of a lawyer's 
correspondence with his client is guaranteed 
and that such correspondence cannot be in-
tercepted.

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

19. The applicants complained under Article 8 of 
the Convention that their right to freedom 
of correspondence had not been respected 
since the domestic law governing telephone 
tapping did not contain sufficient guarantees 
against abuse by the national authorities. They 
did not claim to have been victims of any spe-
cific interception of their telephone commu-
nications. Article 8 of the Convention reads as 
follows:
“1.Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2.There shall be no interference by a public
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

A. The parties' submissions
20. The applicants submitted that they had victim 

status and that there had therefore been inter-
ference with their rights guaranteed by Article 
8 of the Convention. Even though they did not 
all possess licences to practise issued by the 
Ministry of Justice, they all represented appli-
cants before the European Court of Human 
Rights. They were all members of the Lawyers 
for Human Rights organisation, which was 
considered by the Government as a subversive 
organisation acting against the interests of the 
State. The Lawyers for Human Rights organisa-
tion represented many persons who met the 
criteria for the application of the interception 
measures referred to by the Government both 
in domestic proceedings and in proceedings 
before the Court. The applicants gave the 
example of such persons as P. Popovici, who 
had been sentenced to life imprisonment, P. 
Stici and M. Ursu, who were accused of having 
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killed the son of the Speaker of the Parliament, 
and C. Becciev and E. Duca, both accused of 
very serious crimes. They also referred to many 
persons who had disputes with the leaders 
of the ruling Communist Party as well as two 
persons who had brought proceedings against 
the Secret Services of Moldova. The applicants 
submitted that, even though not all the mem-
bers of their organisation worked on serious 
cases, all members used the telephones of the 
organisation and therefore risked interception.

21. The applicants argued that the legislation in 
force both at the time of the introduction of 
their application and now violated their right 
to respect for their correspondence. They sub-
mitted that neither legislative regime satisfied 
the requirement of foreseeability as neither 
provided for sufficient safeguards against arbi-
trary interception and abuse.

22. According to the applicants, when examining 
a request for telephone interception, the inves-
tigating judge was not bound by legislation to 
balance the interests involved. The judge was 
only bound to check whether formalities had 
been observed. In making this submission, the 
applicants relied on official statistics concern-
ing telephone interception which indicated 
that in 2007 99.24% of a total of 2,372 requests 
for interception had been granted by investi-
gating judges. In the applicants' opinion the 
statistics proved that the investigating judges 
did not examine the reasons advanced in sup-
port of the measure of interception and that 
manifestly ill-founded criminal charges could 
serve as a basis for interception. The applicants 
further argued that approximately 60% of the 
criminal offences provided for in the Criminal 
Code were eligible for interception warrants. 
The limitation in time of telephone intercep-
tion warrants was only theoretical because 
in practice, after the expiry of a period of six 
months, a new authorisation could be issued 
by an investigating judge. According to the 
applicants, the provision in Article 135 of the 
Code of Criminal Procedure, concerning the 
obligation of the investigating judge to inform 
individuals whose telephone calls had been 
intercepted about the investigative measures 
taken, was not working in practice and no in-
vestigating judge had ever complied with that 
provision.

23. The Government submitted that the applicants 
could not claim to be victims of the state of the 
law. They considered the applicants' case to 
be distinguishable from the case of Klass and 

Others v. Germany (6 September 1978, Series A 
no. 28) where three of the applicants were law-
yers and one was a judge. In the present case 
only two applicants were lawyers with licences 
to practise issued by the Ministry of Justice. 
Moreover, the applicants had not adduced any 
evidence that among their clients there were 
persons who belonged to the categories of 
persons to whom the relevant law applied and 
in respect of whom there was a reasonable 
likelihood that their conversations would be 
intercepted. In fact, at the time of introduction 
of the present application there had only been 
one judgment in respect of the Republic of 
Moldova, and the applicants had not been rep-
resentatives in that case. All of the applicants' 
clients who could have been subjected to in-
terception of telephone communications (see 
paragraph 20 above) had introduced their ap-
plications after 2003 and 2004. The only excep-
tion was E. Duca, but she had ultimately been 
acquitted. Therefore the applicants' complaint 
amounted to an actio popularis and must be 
declared inadmissible.

24. The Government further submitted that no in-
terception of the applicants' correspondence 
had taken place. They could not claim to be 
even potential victims since the legislation in 
force clearly established the category of per-
sons susceptible of being subjected to inter-
ception measures and not every person within 
the jurisdiction of the Republic of Moldova was 
targeted by that legislation.

25. According to the Government, the pertinent 
legislation in force contained sufficient safe-
guards. The interception of telephone com-
munications was regulated by the Operational 
Investigative Activities Act and by the Code of 
Criminal Procedure. Article 6 of the Operational 
Investigative Activities Act provided that inter-
ception could be carried out only in accord-
ance with the law. The interception measures 
were authorised in a public manner. However, 
the methods and techniques of surveillance 
were secret.

26. The category of persons liable to have their 
correspondence intercepted in accordance 
with the Moldovan legislation was limited. 
Only persons involved in serious offences were 
targeted by the legislation. As to interception 
of correspondence of other persons, it was 
necessary to have their written consent and 
there had to be plausible reasons for ordering 
interception.
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27. In the Government's view, the interception of 
correspondence was not carried out arbitrar-
ily but only on the basis of a warrant issued by 
the investigating judge pursuant to a reasoned 
decision of one of the heads of the bodies car-
rying out the interception. In urgent cases in-
terception measures could be carried out on 
the basis of a decision of a prosecutor, who had 
to inform the investigating judge within not 
more than twenty-four hours. In such cases the 
investigating judge had the right to order the 
cessation of the interception measures and the 
destruction of the materials obtained by way of 
interception. Any person who considered that 
his or her rights had been infringed by inter-
ception measures had the right to complain to 
the hierarchically superior authority, the pros-
ecutor or the investigating judge.

28. As to the regulations issued in accordance with 
section 4(2) of the Operational Investigative 
Activities Act, in their pre-admissibility obser-
vations the Government submitted that they 
constituted State secrets in accordance with 
the State Secrets Act.

B. The Court's assessment
1.Whether there was an interference

29. The Court reiterates that telephone communi-
cations are covered by the notions of “private 
life” and “correspondence” within the meaning 
of Article 8 (see Weber and Saravia v. Germany 
(dec.), no. 54934/00, § 77, 29 June 2006, and 
the cases cited therein).

30. It further reiterates that in Klass v. Germany (cit-
ed above, §§ 34 and 35) it was called upon 
to examine the question whether an individual 
could lodge an application with the Conven-
tion organs, concerning secret surveillance 
measures, without being able to point to any 
concrete measure specifically affecting him. 
The Court held that:
“theeffectiveness(l'effetutile)oftheConven-
tionimpliesinsuchcircumstancessomepos-
sibilityofhavingaccesstotheCommission.If
thiswerenotso,theefficiencyoftheConven-
tion's enforcementmachinerywouldbema-
teriallyweakened. The procedural provisions
of the Convention must, in view of the fact
thattheConventionand its institutionswere
setuptoprotecttheindividual,beappliedin
amannerwhichservestomakethesystemof
individualapplicationsefficacious.

TheCourtthereforeacceptsthatanindividual
may,undercertainconditions,claimtobethe

victimofaviolationoccasionedby themere
existenceofsecretmeasuresorof legislation
permittingsecretmeasures,withouthavingto
allegethatsuchmeasureswereinfactapplied
tohim.Therelevantconditionsaretobede-
termined ineachcaseaccording to theCon-
vention right or rights alleged to have been
infringed,thesecretcharacterofthemeasures
objectedto,andtheconnectionbetweenthe
applicantandthosemeasures.

...

The Court points out that where a State in-
stitutes secret surveillance the existence of
whichremainsunknowntothepersonsbeing
controlled, with the effect that the surveil-
lanceremainsunchallengeable,Article8could
toa largeextentbereducedtoanullity. It is
possible in such a situation for an individual
tobe treated inamannercontrary toArticle
8,oreventobedeprivedoftherightgranted
by thatArticle,withouthisbeingawareof it
andthereforewithoutbeingabletoobtaina
remedyeitherat thenational levelorbefore
theConventioninstitutions.

...

TheCourtfindsitunacceptablethattheassur-
anceof theenjoymentofa rightguaranteed
by the Convention could be thus removed
bythesimplefactthatthepersonconcerned
iskeptunawareof itsviolation.Arightof re-
coursetotheCommissionforpersonspoten-
tially affected by secret surveillance is to be
derivedfromArticle25,sinceotherwiseArticle
8runstheriskofbeingnullified.”

31. The Court notes that under the Operational 
Investigative Activities Act the authorities are 
authorised to intercept communications of 
certain categories of persons provided for in 
section 6 of that Act. In their capacity as human 
rights lawyers the applicants represent and 
thus have extensive contact with such persons.

32. The Court cannot disregard the fact that at the 
time when the present case was declared ad-
missible Lawyers for Human Rights acted in a 
representative capacity in approximately fifty 
percent of the Moldovan cases communicat-
ed to the Government. Nor can it overlook its 
findings in Colibaba v. Moldova (no. 29089/06, 
§§ 67-69, 23 October 2007) where the Pros-
ecutor General had threatened the Moldovan 
Bar Association with criminal proceedings 
against lawyers who damaged the image of 
the Republic of Moldova by complaining to 
international organisations specialising in the 
protection of human rights. It also recalls that 
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the Government endorsed the actions of the 
Prosecutor General and further accused the 
applicant of slandering the Moldovan authori-
ties by lodging a complaint under Article 34 of 
the Convention.

33. In such circumstances, and bearing in mind 
the Court's finding in paragraph 50 below, the 
Court considers that it cannot be excluded that 
secret surveillance measures were applied to 
the applicants or that they were at the mate-
rial time potentially at risk of being subjected 
to such measures.

34. The mere existence of the legislation entails, 
for all those who might fall within its reach, a 
menace of surveillance; this menace neces-
sarily strikes at freedom of communication 
between users of the postal and telecommu-
nications services and thereby constitutes an 
“interference by a public authority” with the 
exercise of the applicants' right to respect for 
correspondence (see Klass v. Germany, cited 
above, § 41).

35. Accordingly, there has been an interference 
with the applicants' rights guaranteed by Arti-
cle 8 of the Convention and the Government's 
objection concerning their lack of victim status 
must be dismissed.

2.Whether the interference was justified

36. Such an interference is justified by the terms of 
paragraph 2 of Article 8 only if it is “in accord-
ance with the law”, pursues one or more of the 
legitimate aims referred to in paragraph 2 and 
is “necessary in a democratic society” in order 
to achieve the aim or aims (see Weber and 
Saravia, cited above, § 80).

3.Whether the interference was “in accordance 
with the law”

(a)  General principles

37. The expression “in accordance with the law” 
under Article 8 § 2 requires, first, that the 
impugned measure should have some basis 
in domestic law; it also refers to the quality of 
the law in question, requiring that it should be 
compatible with the rule of law and accessible 
to the person concerned, who must, moreover, 
be able to foresee its consequences for him 
(see, among other authorities, Kruslin v. France, 
24 April 1990, § 27, Series A no. 176-A; Huvig v. 
France, 24 April 1990, § 26, Series A no. 176-B; 
Lambert v. France, 24 August 1998, § 23, Re-
ports of Judgments and Decisions 1998-V; Per-
ry v. the United Kingdom, no. 63737/00, § 45, 

ECHR 2003-IX (extracts); Dumitru Popescu v. 
Romania (no. 2), no. 71525/01, § 61, 26 April 
2007; Association for European Integration and 
Human Rights and Ekimdzhiev v. Bulgaria, no. 
62540/00, § 71, 28 June 2007; Liberty and Oth-
ers v. the United Kingdom, no. 58243/00, § 59, 
1 July 2008).

38. It is not in dispute that the interference in ques-
tion had a legal basis under domestic law. The 
applicants, however, contended that this law, 
both pre-2003 and later, was not sufficiently 
detailed and precise to meet the “foreseeabil-
ity” requirement of Article 8 § 2, as it did not 
provide for sufficient guarantees against abuse 
and arbitrariness.

39. The Court points out that recently, in its admis-
sibility decision in Weber and Saravia, cited 
above, §§ 93-95, the Court summarised its 
case-law on the requirement of legal “foresee-
ability” in this field as follows:
“93. .... foreseeability inthespecialcontextof
secretmeasuresofsurveillance,suchasthein-
terception of communications, cannotmean
that an individual should be able to foresee
when the authorities are likely to intercept
hiscommunicationssothathecanadapthis
conductaccordingly(see,interalia,Leanderv.
Sweden, judgmentof26August1987,Series
A no. 116, p. 23,§ 51). However, especially
whereapowervested intheexecutive isex-
ercised insecret, therisksofarbitrarinessare
evident (see, inter alia Huvig, cited above,
pp.54-55,§29;andRotaruv.Romania[GC],
no.28341/95,§55,ECHR2000-V).Itisthere-
foreessential tohaveclear,detailed ruleson
interception of telephone conversations, es-
peciallyasthetechnologyavailableforuseis
continuallybecomingmoresophisticated(see
Kopp v. Switzerland, judgment of 25 March
1998, Reports 1998-II, pp. 542-43,§72, and
ValenzuelaContrerasv.Spain,judgmentof30
July1998,Reports1998-V,pp.1924-25,§46).
Thedomesticlawmustbesufficientlyclearin
its termstogivecitizensanadequate indica-
tionastothecircumstancesinwhichandthe
conditionsonwhichpublicauthoritiesareem-
poweredtoresorttoanysuchmeasures(see
Kopp,citedabove,§64;Huvig,citedabove,
§29;andValenzuelaContreras,ibid.).

94. Moreover, since the implementation in
practice of measures of secret surveillance
of communications is not open to scrutiny
bytheindividualsconcernedorthepublicat
large, itwouldbecontrary to the ruleof law
forthelegaldiscretiongrantedtotheexecu-
tiveortoajudgetobeexpressedintermsof
an unfettered power. Consequently, the law
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must indicate the scope of any such discre-
tion conferred on the competent authorities
andthemannerofitsexercisewithsufficient
claritytogivetheindividualadequateprotec-
tionagainstarbitraryinterference(see,among
otherauthorities,Leander,citedabove,§51;
andHuvig,citedabove,§29).

95. In itscase-lawonsecretmeasuresofsur-
veillance,theCourthasdevelopedthefollow-
ingminimum safeguards that should be set
outinstatutelawinordertoavoidabusesof
power:thenatureoftheoffenceswhichmay
give rise to an interception order; a defini-
tionofthecategoriesofpeopleliabletohave
their telephonestapped;a limitonthedura-
tion of telephone tapping; the procedure to
be followed for examining, using and stor-
ing thedataobtained; theprecautions tobe
takenwhencommunicatingthedatatoother
parties; and the circumstances in which re-
cordingsmayormustbeerasedorthetapes
destroyed (see, interalia,Huvig,citedabove,
§ 34; Valenzuela Contreras, cited above, §
46;andPradoBugallov.Spain,no.58496/00,
§30,18February2003).”

40. Moreover, the Court recalls that in Dumitru 
Popescu v. Romania (cited above, paragraphs 
70-73) the Court expressed the view that the 
body issuing authorisations for interception 
should be independent and that there must 
be either judicial control or control by an inde-
pendent body over the issuing body's activity.

(b)  Application  of  the  general  principles  to  the 
present case

41. The Court finds that the legislation prior to 
2003 lacked both clarity and detail and did not 
satisfy the minimum safeguards contained in 
the Court's case-law (see paragraph 39 above). 
Indeed, there was no judicial control over the 
grant and application of a measure of intercep-
tion and, as regards the persons capable of be-
ing caught by its provisions, the legislation was 
very open-ended in its reach. The circumstanc-
es in which a warrant of interception could be 
issued lacked precision. The Court notes with 
satisfaction that some major improvements 
were carried out after 2003.

42. The Court recalls that in the Association for 
European Integration and Human Rights and 
Ekimdzhiev v. Bulgaria (cited above, § 84) it 
distinguished between two stages of intercep-
tion of telephone communications: authoris-
ing the surveillance and the actual carrying out 
of the surveillance.

43. In so far as the initial stage of the procedure of 

interception is concerned, the Court notes that 
after 2003 the Moldovan legislation appears 
to be clearer in respect of the interception of 
communications of persons suspected of crim-
inal offences. Indeed, it is made explicit that 
someone suspected of a serious, very serious 
or exceptionally serious offence risks in certain 
circumstances having the measure applied to 
him or her. Moreover, the amended legislation 
now provides that interception warrants are to 
be issued by a judge.

44. Still, the nature of the offences which may give 
rise to the issue of an interception warrant is 
not, in the Court's opinion, sufficiently clearly 
defined in the impugned legislation. In particu-
lar, the Court notes that more than one half of 
the offences provided for in the Criminal Code 
fall within the category of offences eligible 
for interception warrants (see paragraph 14 
above). Moreover, the Court is concerned by 
the fact that the impugned legislation does 
not appear to define sufficiently clearly the 
categories of persons liable to have their tele-
phones tapped. It notes that Article 156 § 1 of 
the Criminal Code uses very general language 
when referring to such persons and states that 
the measure of interception may be used in re-
spect of a suspect, defendant or other person 
involved in a criminal offence. No explanation 
has been given as to who exactly falls within 
the category of “other person involved in a 
criminal offence”.

45. The Court further notes that the legislation in 
question does not provide for a clear limitation 
in time of a measure authorising interception 
of telephone communications. While the Crim-
inal Code imposes a limitation of six months 
(see paragraph 17 above), there are no provi-
sions under the impugned legislation which 
would prevent the prosecution authorities 
from seeking and obtaining a new intercep-
tion warrant after the expiry of the statutory six 
months' period.

46. Moreover, it is unclear under the impugned 
legislation who – and under what circumstanc-
es – risks having the measure applied to him or 
her in the interests of, for instance, protection 
of health or morals or in the interests of others. 
While enumerating in section 6 and in Article 
156 § 1 the circumstances in which tapping is 
susceptible of being applied, the Law on Oper-
ational Investigative Activities and the Code of 
Criminal Procedure fails, nevertheless, to define 
“national security”, “public order”, “protection 
of health”, “protection of morals”, “protection 
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of the rights and interests of others”, “interests 
of ... the economic situation of the country” or 
“maintenance of legal order” for the purposes 
of interception of telephone communications. 
Nor does the legislation specify the circum-
stances in which an individual may be at risk 
of having his telephone communications inter-
cepted on any of those grounds.

47. As to the second stage of the procedure of 
interception of telephone communications, 
it would appear that the investigating judge 
plays a very limited role. According to Article 
41 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, his role 
is to issue interception warrants. According to 
Article 136 of the same Code, the investigating 
judge is also entitled to store “the original cop-
ies of the tapes along with the complete writ-
ten transcript ... in a special place in a sealed en-
velope” and to adopt “a decision regarding the 
destruction of records which are not important 
for the criminal case”. However, the law makes 
no provision for acquainting the investigating 
judge with the results of the surveillance and 
does not require him or her to review whether 
the requirements of the law have been com-
plied with. On the contrary, section 19 of the 
Law on Operational Investigative Activities ap-
pears to place such supervision duties on the 
“Prosecutor General, his or her deputy, and the 
municipal and county prosecutors”. Moreover, 
in respect of the actual carrying out of surveil-
lance measures in the second stage, it would 
appear that the interception procedure and 
guarantees contained in the Code of Criminal 
Procedure and in the Law on Operational In-
vestigative Activities are applicable only in the 
context of pending criminal proceedings and 
do not cover the circumstances enumerated 
above.

48. Another point which deserves to be men-
tioned in this connection is the apparent lack 
of regulations specifying with an appropriate 
degree of precision the manner of screening 
the intelligence obtained through surveillance, 
or the procedures for preserving its integrity 
and confidentiality and the procedures for its 
destruction (see, as examples a contrario, We-
ber and Saravia, cited above, §§ 45-50).

49. The Court further notes that overall control of 
the system of secret surveillance is entrusted 
to the Parliament which exercises it through a 
specialised commission (see section 18 of the 
Law on Operational Investigative Activities). 
However, the manner in which the Parliament 
effects its control is not set out in the law and 

the Court has not been presented with any 
evidence indicating that there is a procedure in 
place which governs the Parliament's activity 
in this connection.

50. As regards the interception of communications 
of persons suspected of offences, the Court ob-
serves that in Kopp (cited above, § 74) it found 
a violation of Article 8 because the person em-
powered under Swiss secret surveillance law to 
draw a distinction between matters connected 
with a lawyer's work and other matters was an 
official of the Post Office's legal department. In 
the present case, while the Moldovan legisla-
tion, like the Swiss legislation, guarantees the 
secrecy of lawyer-client communications (see 
paragraph 18 above), it does not provide for 
any procedure which would give substance 
to the above provision. The Court is struck by 
the absence of clear rules defining what should 
happen when, for example, a phone call made 
by a client to his lawyer is intercepted.

51. The Court notes further that in 2007 the 
Moldovan courts authorised virtually all the 
requests for interception made by the pros-
ecuting authorities (see paragraph 13 above). 
Since this is an uncommonly high number of 
authorisations, the Court considers it neces-
sary to stress that telephone tapping is a very 
serious interference with a person's rights and 
that only very serious reasons based on a rea-
sonable suspicion that the person is involved 
in serious criminal activity should be taken as a 
basis for authorising it. The Court notes that the 
Moldovan legislation does not elaborate on 
the degree of reasonableness of the suspicion 
against a person for the purpose of authorising 
an interception. Nor does it contain safeguards 
other than the one provided for in section 6(1), 
namely that interception should take place 
only when it is otherwise impossible to achieve 
the aims. This, in the Court's opinion, is a mat-
ter of concern when looked at against the very 
high percentage of authorisations issued by 
investigating judges. For the Court, this could 
reasonably be taken to indicate that the inves-
tigating judges do not address themselves to 
the existence of compelling justification for au-
thorising measures of secret surveillance.

52. The Court is of the view that the shortcomings 
which it has identified have an impact on the 
actual operation of the system of secret surveil-
lance which exists in Moldova. In this connec-
tion, the Court notes the statistical information 
contained in the letter of the Head of the Presi-
dent's Office of the Supreme Court of Justice 
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(see paragraph 13 above). According to that 
information, in 2005 over 2,500 interception 
warrants were issued, in 2006 some 1,900 were 
issued and over 2,300 warrants were issued in 
2007. These figures show that the system of se-
cret surveillance in Moldova is, to say the least, 
overused, which may in part be due to the in-
adequacy of the safeguards contained in the 
law (see Association for European Integration 
and Human Rights and Ekimdzhiev v. Bulgaria, 
cited above, § 92).

53. In conclusion, the Court considers that the 
Moldovan law does not provide adequate pro-
tection against abuse of power by the State in 
the field of interception of telephone commu-
nications. The interference with the applicants' 
rights under Article 8 was not, therefore, “in 
accordance with the law”. Having regard to 
that conclusion, it is not necessary to consider 
whether the interference satisfied the other re-
quirements of the second paragraph of Article 
8.

54. It follows that there has been a violation of Ar-
ticle 8 in this case.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
13 OF THE CONVENTION

55. The applicants argued that they did not have 
an effective remedy before a national author-
ity in respect of the breach of Article 8 of the 
Convention and alleged a violation of Article 
13, which provides:
“Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [the] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority....”

56. The Court reiterates that Article 13 cannot be 
interpreted as requiring a remedy against the 
state of domestic law, as otherwise the Court 
would be imposing on Contracting States a 
requirement to incorporate the Convention 
in their domestic legislation (see Ostrovar 
v. Moldova, no. 35207/03 35207/03, § 113, 
13 September 2005). In these circumstances, 
the Court finds no breach of Article 13 of the 
Convention taken together with Article 8.

III. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

57. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a

violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage
58. The applicants did not make any claim for pe-

cuniary or non-pecuniary damage.

B. Costs and expenses
59. The applicants claimed EUR 5,475 for the costs 

and expenses incurred before the Court. They 
submitted a detailed time-sheet.

60. The Government argued that since the appli-
cants represented themselves they should not 
be entitled to any payment under this head. 
Alternatively, the Government considered the 
amount claimed excessive and disputed the 
number of hours worked by the applicants.

61. The Court awards an overall sum of EUR 3,500 
for costs and expenses.

C. Default interest
62. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
8 of the Convention;

2. Holds that there has been no violation of Arti-
cle 13 of the Convention, taken together with 
Article 8 of the Convention;

3. Holds

(a) that the respondent State is to pay the 
applicants, within three months from the 
date on which the judgment becomes fi-
nal in accordance with Article 44 § 2 of the 
Convention, an overall sum of EuR 3,500 
(three thousand five hundred euros) in 
respect of costs and expenses, to be con-
verted into the national currency of the 
respondent State at the rate applicable at 
the date of settlement, plus any tax that 
may be chargeable;

(b) that from the expiry of the above-men-
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tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amount at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

4. Dismisses the remainder of the applicants' 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 10 Feb-
ruary 2009, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the 
Rules of Court.

Lawrence Early, Registrar
Nicolas Bratza, President
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TELEPHONE, TAPPING, SURVEILLANCE, INTERFERENCE, 
INTERCEPTION, SECRET, CORRESPONDENCE, PRIVATE 
LIFE

IN THE CASE Of KvASNICA v. SLOvAKIA,

The European Court of Human Rights (Fourth Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Nicolas Bratza, President,  
Lech Garlicki,  
Ljiljana Mijović,  
David Thór Björgvinsson,  
Ján Šikuta,  
Päivi Hirvelä,  
Mihai Poalelungi, judges,  
and Lawrence Early, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 16 April 2009 and 
19 May 2009,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the latter date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

72094/01 ) against the Slovak Republic lodged 
with the Court under Article 34 of the Conven-
tion for the Protection of Human Rights and 
Fundamental Freedoms (“the Convention”) by 
a Slovakian national, Mr Roman Kvasnica (“the 
applicant”), on 11 July 2001.

2. The applicant was represented by Mr J. Drgon-
ec, a lawyer practising in Bratislava. The Slovak 
Government (“the Government”) were repre-
sented by their Agent, Mrs M. Pirošíková.

3. The applicant alleged, in particular, that his tel-
ephone communications had been interfered 
with in breach of Article 8 of the Convention.

4. By a decision of 26 September 2006 the Court 
declared the application partly admissible.

5. The applicant and the Government each sub-
mitted further written observations (Rule 59 § 
1). The Chamber having decided, after consult-
ing the parties, that no hearing on the merits 
was required (Rule 59 § 3 in fine), the parties 
replied in writing to each other’s observations.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

6. The applicant was born in 1962 and lives in 
Piešťany.

A. factual background
7. The applicant is a lawyer. He used to be a pub-

lic prosecutor and is now a practising member 
of the Slovak bar association.

8. Between August 1999 and March 2001 the ap-
plicant acted as the legal representative of sev-
eral industrial companies belonging to a group 
associated with a strategic steelworks in east-
ern Slovakia. For a period of time starting on 18 
April 2001 he was on the board of directors of 
the company owning the works.

9. In 1999 the Minister of the Interior set up a spe-
cial team of investigators to investigate large-
scale organised criminal activities of a financial 
nature which were supposedly being commit-
ted in connection with a company belonging 
to the above group. The team was composed 
of officers from the financial police.

10. On an unspecified date the investigators 
charged an individual, I.C., with aggravated 
fraud.

B. Interference with the applicant’s 
telephone communications

11. On an unspecified date the investigators ap-
plied for judicial authorisation to tap the ap-
plicant’s telephone. At an unspecified time 
a judge of the Bratislava Regional Court grant-
ed the authorisation. The applicant’s profes-
sional mobile phone was subsequently tapped.

12. In November 2000 the applicant learned that 
calls from his phone were being intercepted; 
that the interception was being carried out by 
the financial police; and that the contents of his 
telephone communications were known out-
side the police.

13. On 5 January 2001 the applicant received an 
anonymous letter confirming the above infor-
mation and advising him that the interception 
had taken place from October to December 
2000 and had been carried out at the request 
of opponents of his clients.

14. On 31 May 2001 and 1 June 2001 a daily paper 
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published interviews with the Minister of the 
Interior and the chief of the Police Corps. From 
those interviews the applicant understood that 
there had been confirmation that the intercep-
tion had actually taken place.

15. Verbatim records of the applicant’s calls had 
been leaked to various interest groups, politi-
cians and journalists, as well as to representa-
tives of several legal persons.

16. Thus in September 2001 the daily Sme re-
ceived by mail a transcript of the applicant’s 
telephone conversation with a journalist of 
Radio Free Europe. On 13 October 2001 Sme 
published a statement by a politician who had 
declared at a press conference that he pos-
sessed approximately 300 pages of copies of 
transcripts of the applicant’s telephone con-
versations.

17. In summer 2002 the applicant was informed 
that verbatim records of his conversations 
with third persons which had been made by 
the financial police were freely accessible on a 
website. They included conversations with his 
colleagues, clients, the representative of the 
other party in a case, and friends. The records 
had been manipulated in that they included 
statements which the applicant and the other 
persons involved had not made.

C. Investigation of the interference with the 
applicant’s telephone communications

1.Complaintsbytheapplicantandapolice
director

18. On 15 and 29 January 2001 the applicant in-
formed the Inspection Service of the Ministry 
of the Interior (“the Inspection Service”) that he 
had been warned in a letter signed “member 
of the Financial Police” about the interception 
of his telephone. He claimed that the intercep-
tion was unlawful and unjustified and accused 
one or more unknown police officers of having 
abused their official authority. The applicant 
stated that an appropriate investigation should 
be carried out into the matter in accordance 
with the law.

19. The director of the special division of the fi-
nancial and criminal police (odbor zvláštnych 
úloh správy kriminálnej a finančnej polície) 
lodged a criminal complaint as, on the basis 
of his own examination of the case file, he had 
come to the conclusion that the interception 
contravened sections 36 and 37 (1) of the Po-
lice Corps Act 1993 (see Relevant domestic law 

and practice below). This was so in particular 
because it had not been based on any specific 
suspicion against the person being targeted 
and no specific purpose had been indicated. 
In his view, the members of the special investi-
gative team had abused their official authority 
within the meaning of Article 158 of the Crimi-
nal Code.

20. On 10 May 2001 the judge who had authorised 
the interception made a written statement to 
the President of the Regional Court. The judge 
stated that the request for the authorisation 
had met all formal and substantive require-
ments. In his view, the police director had no 
authority to challenge the authorisation. The 
judge therefore considered it inappropriate to 
address the substance of the director’s objec-
tions. He nevertheless remarked, in general, 
that requests for authorisation were made in 
writing, but were submitted in person. The 
officer submitting the request had presented 
the case orally and the oral presentation was 
usually more comprehensive than the written 
request. As requests for authorisation had to 
be handled with the utmost urgency, judges 
had had no realistic opportunity to examine 
the case file or to check that the request for 
authorisation corresponded to the contents of 
the case file. Furthermore, the information in 
the case file was often obtained from unverifi-
able sources. Judges therefore had to rely on 
the information in the request for authorisa-
tion, which presupposed a certain element of 
trust. The judge further observed that there 
had been an enormous increase in the work-
load concerning tapping and that this was 
due, inter alia, to an inter-agency agreement 
which had been reached under the auspices of 
the Ministry of Justice (see Relevant domestic 
law and practice below) and had extended the 
jurisdiction of the Bratislava Regional Court in 
this area. In his view, questions of jurisdiction 
should not be regulated by “agreements” but 
by statute, which was not the case in relation to 
tapping. The judge stated that telephone tap-
ping had been authorised on three previous 
occasions in the course of the investigation 
into the suspected extensive criminal transac-
tions within the industrial group mentioned 
above. He had thus had sufficient and detailed 
knowledge about the applicant’s case. The 
judge associated himself completely with the 
decision taken, although the suspicion against 
the applicant might later have been dispelled. 
This was nothing unusual and happened in 10-
20% of cases.
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21. On 22 May 2001 the applicant asked the Gen-
eral Prosecutor to take measures with a view to 
eliminating unlawful interception and record-
ing of telephone conversations.

22. On 20 June 2001 the Inspection Service ques-
tioned the applicant in connection with his 
complaint. According to the applicant, since 
then there has been no official communication 
concerning his complaint and he has not been 
informed of the outcome of the investigation.

23. On 21 June and 2 July 2001 the Inspection Ser-
vice requested that the Ministry of the Interior 
discharge members of the special investigative 
team from the obligation of confidentiality in 
respect of the subject matter of the investiga-
tion. The Ministry agreed on 9 and 10 July 2001 
respectively.

24. On 31 August 2001 the General Prosecu-
tor’s Office informed the applicant, in reply 
to his above request of 22 May 2001, that the 
framework for the interference was defined 
by Article 22 § 2 of the Constitution and the 
relevant statutory provisions including the 
Police Corps Act 1993. Decree no. 66/1992 
defined the court’s jurisdiction in such matters 
in cases where criminal proceedings had not 
been brought. The fact that the relevant issue 
was not governed by a law was only a formal 
shortcoming. Moreover, a draft law had been 
prepared to cover the relevant issue.

25. Between 5 and 20 September 2001 the Inspec-
tion Service questioned four members of the 
investigative team. Their depositions included, 
inter alia, the information that the operative 
part of the team had been colluding with the 
applicant; that the applicant had been in close 
contact with I.C. (see paragraph 10 above); that 
the applicant had been involved in several con-
tractual transactions within the group, which 
had eventually harmed the interests of the 
steelworks; that the request for authorisation 
to tap the applicant’s phone had been based 
on the suspicion that he had committed the 
offences of aggravated fraud (Article 250 of the 
Criminal Code) and money laundering (Article 
255 of the Criminal Code); that the request had 
been drafted without consultation of the case 
file; that the interception had been necessary 
because it had not been possible to move the 
investigation forward without it; and that after 
the interception had been compromised the 
case file had been made available to various 
officials, including the Minister of Justice, who 
at that time also acted as the Minister of the 

Interior ad interim.

26. On 21 September 2001 the Inspection Service 
dismissed the criminal complaint by the police 
director. It noted that a “committee of experts 
specialising in operational tasks” had been set 
up and “had detected no breach of the applica-
ble regulations”. The interception had been au-
thorised by a judge and had thus been lawful. 
There was no basis for scrutinising the judge’s 
decision. In conclusion, there was no case to 
answer. The decision has never been served on 
the applicant.

27. According to the applicant, he had lodged 
some ten criminal complaints between 2001 
and 2003 about the interception of his tel-
ephone conversations and mishandling of the 
verbatim records. Without submitting further 
details the applicant indicated that those com-
plaints had been rejected without an appropri-
ate examination of the facts.

2.ComplaintbychiefeditorofSme
28. The chief editor of the daily Sme filed a crimi-

nal complaint after receipt of a transcription of 
the applicant’s telephone conversation with 
a journalist of Radio Free Europe. In the con-
text of the proceedings a journalist of Sme was 
heard. On 14 November 2001 the police also 
heard the politician who had stated that he 
possessed 300 pages of copies of transcripts of 
the applicant’s telephone conversations. The 
applicant was involved in the proceedings as 
the injured party.

29. The parties have not informed the Court about 
the outcome of the proceedings.

3.ComplaintbypoliceofficerB.
30. In 2003 lieutenant colonel B., attached to 

the Inspection Service’s department special-
ised in combating corruption and organised 
crime, contacted the applicant and informed 
him that there was a general order within the 
Police Corps to reject all the applicant’s com-
plaints. The police officer had been obliged to 
leave the police after he had started criminal 
proceedings upon one of the applicant’s com-
plaints. In February and March 2003 that of-
ficer had complained to the Bratislava Higher 
Military Prosecutor’s office and to the General 
Prosecutor’s office about abuse of authority in 
the context of examination of the applicant’s 
complaints.

31. The Government submitted a standpoint of 
the General Prosecutor dated 8 February 2007. 
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It indicates that the above decision of the In-
spection Service of 21 September 2001 had 
been taken in accordance with the law. As to 
the criminal complaints which officer B. had 
lodged in 2003, an investigator had set the 
case aside, on 19 July 2006, on the ground that 
no offence had been committed in the context 
of examination of the applicant’s complaints. 
Finally, reference was made to the reply which 
the General Prosecutor’s Office had sent to the 
applicant on 31 August 2001.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

A. The Constitution (Constitutional Law no. 
460/1992 460/1992 Coll., as applicable 
at the relevant time) and practice of the 
Constitutional Court

32. Pursuant to Article 19, everybody has the right 
to protection against unjustified interference 
with his or her private and family life (§ 2) and 
against the unjustified collection, publication 
or other misuse of personal data (§ 3).

33. Article 22 guarantees the secrecy of corre-
spondence, other communications and writ-
ten messages delivered by post, and of per-
sonal information (§ 1). The privacy of letters, 
other communications and written messages 
kept privately or delivered by post or other-
wise, including communications made by tel-
ephone, telegraph and other means, cannot be 
violated by anyone except in cases specified by 
law (§ 2).

34. In proceedings no. II. úS 254/03 an individual 
alleged, inter alia, a breach of Article 8 of the 
Convention in that his telephone had been 
tapped unlawfully. On 17 December 2003 the 
Constitutional Court dismissed the complaint 
as being manifestly ill-founded. It established 
that the interception had been authorised 
by a regional court judge in accordance with 
the relevant provisions of the Police Corps Act 
1993.

35. In proceedings no. I. úS 274/05 (judgment of 
14 June 2006) the Constitutional Court found a 
breach of an individual’s rights under Article 8 
of the Convention on the ground that, contrary 
to the statutory requirement, two judicial deci-
sions to authorise the interception of the plain-
tiff ’s telephone contained no specific reasons 

justifying the interference.

B. Code of Criminal Procedure (Law no. 
141/1961 Coll., as in force at the relevant 
time)

36. The Code distinguishes between the procedure 
before the formal institution (commencement) 
of a criminal prosecution, which is governed 
by the provisions of Chapter 9, the procedure 
after the commencement of the prosecution 
but before the filing of the bill of indictment, 
known as the “preliminary proceedings” and 
governed by the provisions of Chapter 10, and 
the procedure in court which begins with the 
filing of the indictment and is governed by the 
provisions of Chapter 11.

37. The procedure before the institution of a crimi-
nal prosecution encompasses receiving and 
verifying information, obtaining documenta-
tion and explanations and securing evidence 
with a view to determining whether a criminal 
offence has been committed and whether it is 
justified to bring a formal prosecution in con-
nection with it. As a general rule, eavesdrop-
ping and interception is not allowed at this 
stage of the proceedings (Article 158 § 4) un-
less such measures cannot be postponed or re-
peated within the meaning of Article 158 § 6.

38. The procedure before the commencement of 
a criminal prosecution ends with a formal de-
cision either not to accept the criminal com-
plaint (Article 158 § 2), or to refer the matter 
to the relevant authority dealing with minor of-
fences or disciplinary or other matters (Article 
159 § 1), or to refuse to take action (Article 159 
§§ 1, 2 and 3), or to institute formal criminal 
proceedings (Article 160).

39. The scope of the jurisdiction and competence 
of criminal courts is defined in section 1 of 
Chapter 2. Proceedings at first instance are to 
be conducted before a district court unless the 
law provides otherwise (Article 16).

C. Police Corps Act 1993 (Law no. 171/1993 
Coll., as in force at the relevant time)

40. The Act governs the organisation and powers 
of the police. Section 2 (1) defines the tasks of 
the police. These include serving (a) to protect 
fundamental rights and freedoms, life, health, 
personal safety and property; (b) to detect 
criminal offences and to identify the culprits; 
(c) to detect illegal financial operations and 
money laundering; (d) to investigate criminal 
offences and to examine criminal complaints; 
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and (e) to combat terrorism and organised 
crime. The provisions relevant in the present 
case read as follows:

“Information technology devices

Section 35

ForthepurposeofthisAct informationtech-
nologydevicesare,inparticular,electro-tech-
nical,radio-technical,photo-technical,optical
andothermeansanddevicesortheircombi-
nationssecretlyusedfor

a)searchfor,openingandexaminationofcon-
signmentsandtheirevaluationwhileusingfo-
rensicmethods,

b) interceptionandrecordingoftelecommu-
nications,

c)obtainingimage,soundorotherrecordings.

Section 36

1.ThePoliceCorpsisentitledtouseinforma-
tiontechnologydeviceswhencomplyingwith
itstasksinthefightagainstterrorism,money
launderinginthecontextofthemostserious
forms of criminal activities, in particular or-
ganisedcrime, ... taxevasionandunlawful fi-
nancialoperations,...Theprecedingprovision
does not apply to contacts between an ac-
cusedpersonandhisorherdefencecounsel.

2.ThePoliceCorpscanuseinformationtech-
nology devices also in respect of criminal
activitiesotherthanthosementionedinsub-
section1subjecttotheagreementoftheper-
sonwhose rights and freedomswill thereby
beinterferedwith.

Conditions of use of information technology 
devices

Section 37

1.ThePoliceCorpscanuseinformationtech-
nology devices only where the use of other
means would render the investigation of
criminal activities mentioned in section 36,
identificationoftheirperpetratorsorsecuring
evidencenecessary for thepurposeof crimi-
nal proceedings ineffective or considerably
difficult.

2. Information technology devices can only
beusedsubjecttoapriorwrittenconsentofa
judgeandforaperiodstrictlynecessarywhich
howevercannotexceedsixmonths.Thatpe-
riodstartsrunningonthedaywhensuchcon-
senthasbeengiven.

3.Thejudgewhoapprovedofuseofinforma-

tion technology devices can, on the basis of
afreshrequest,extendtheperiod,butforno
longerthansixmonthseachtime.

4.Inexceptionalcases,wherenodelayispos-
sibleandawrittenconsentofajudgecannot
beobtained, informationtechnologydevices
canbeusedwithoutsuchconsent.However,
thePoliceCorpsmustapplyforawrittenap-
provalbya judgewithoutdelay. If suchcon-
sent is not given within 24 hours from the
momentwhentheuseofdevicesstartedorif
the judge refuses togivehis or her consent,
thePoliceCorpsmustputanendtotheuseof
information technology devices. Information
thus obtained cannot be used by the Police
Corpsandtheymustbedestroyedinthepres-
enceofthejudgecompetenttodecideonthe
request.

5.ThePoliceCorpsshallsubmitarequestfor
approvaloftheuseofinformationtechnology
devicestoa judge inwriting; itmustcontain
dataaboutthepersonconcerned,specifythe
devicetobeused,place,durationandreasons
foritsuse.

6.Thejudgewhogaveconsenttotheuseof
information technology devices must exam-
ineonacontinuousbasiswhetherthereasons
for their use persist; where such reasons no
longer exist, the judge is obliged to imme-
diately order that the use of the devices be
stopped.

7.ThePoliceCorpscanuseinformationtech-
nology devices without prior consent of a
judge ...where thepersonwhose rights and
freedoms are to be interferedwith has con-
sentedtosuchinwriting...

Section 38

1. When using information technology de-
vicesthePoliceCorpsmustconstantlyexam-
inewhether the reasons forsuchusepersist.
Wherethosereasonsareno longervalid, the
PoliceCorpsmustimmediatelyputanendto
theuseofaninformationtechnologydevice.

2.ThePoliceCorpsmustinformthejudgewho
gaveconsenttotheuseof informationtech-
nologydevicesoftheterminationofsuchuse.

3.Informationobtainedbymeansofinforma-
tion technology devices can be used exclu-
sively forattainingtheaimsetout insection
36.

4.Theuseof informationtechnologydevices
canrestricttheinviolabilityofone’shome,the
privacyofcorrespondenceandtheprivacyof
informationcommunicatedonlytotheextent
thatitisindispensable.
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5.Informationobtainedbymeansofinforma-
tiontechnologydevicescanexceptionallybe
used as evidence, namely where such infor-
mation constitutes the only proof indicating
thatacriminaloffencelistedinsection36was
committed by a specific person and where
such proof cannot be obtained by other
means. In such case the relevant recording
mustbeaccompaniedbyminutes indicating
the place, time, means and contents of the
recording and the reason for which it was
made.”

41. Section 69 deals with police information sys-
tems and databases. The police are entitled 
to set up and operate information systems 
and databases containing information about 
persons and facts which are relevant for their 
work (subsection 1). The police have the duty 
to protect the data stored in such systems 
from disclosure, abuse, damage and destruc-
tion (subsection 2). If the data are no longer 
needed, they must be destroyed or stored so 
that they are not accessible to anyone except a 
court (subsection 3).

D. Privacy Protection Act 2003
42. Sections 35, 36(2), 37 and 38 of the Police Corps 

Act 1993 were repealed by Act 166/2003 Coll. 
on Protection of Privacy against Unjustified Use 
of Information Technology Devices (“Privacy 
Protection Act 2003”) which entered into force 
on 21 May 2003.

43. The Act governs the use of information tech-
nology devices without the prior consent of 
the person concerned. It does not extend 
to the use of such devices in the context of 
criminal proceedings which is governed by the 
Code of Criminal Procedure (section 1).

44. Section 2 defines the authorities entitled to use 
such devices (Police Corps, Slovak Intelligence 
Service, Military Intelligence Service, Railways 
Police, Corps of Prison and Justice Guards and 
Customs Administration). The devices used 
must be secured against tampering. Personnel 
involved in using the devices must undergo a 
lie-detector test at intervals fixed by the head 
of the authority concerned.

45. Section 3 allows for use of information tech-
nology devices only where it is necessary in a 
democratic society for ensuring the safety or 
defence of the State, prevention or investiga-
tion of crime or for the protection of the rights 
and freedoms of others. The information thus 
obtained cannot be used for purposes other 
than one of those enumerated above.

46. Pursuant to section 4, such devices can be 
used subject to prior approval by a judge 
within whose jurisdiction the case falls. Their 
use should be limited to a period which is 
strictly necessary and it should not exceed six 
months unless the judge grants an extension. 
The judge involved is obliged to examine on 
a continuing basis whether the reasons for the 
use of such devices persist.

47. In exceptional cases specified in section 5 the 
police can use the devices without the prior 
consent of a judge. In such cases, the judge 
must be notified within one hour after the use 
of the devices has started and a request for 
authorisation of such use must be submitted 
within 6 hours. In case of disapproval by the 
judge of such interference the data obtained 
must be destroyed.

48. Sections 7 and 8 govern the use and disposal 
of data obtained and the liability of the State in 
case of failure by the authorities concerned to 
comply with the law.

49. Pursuant to section 9 the National Council of 
the Slovak Republic (the Parliament) shall ex-
amine at its plenary meeting, twice a year, a re-
port of its committee set up for the purpose of 
supervising the use of information technology 
devices. The report must indicate any unlawful 
use of the devices established. The report can 
be made available to the media. The authorities 
entitled to use information technology devices 
must make available to the above committee 
all relevant information within ten working 
days following the committee’s request.

E. Decree of the Minister of Justice on the 
Rules of Procedure before District Courts 
and Regional Courts (Decree no. 66/1992 
Coll.)

50. The decree was issued, inter alia, pursuant to 
Article 391a § 2 of the Code of Criminal Proce-
dure, which authorised the Minister of Justice 
to lay down further details of the procedure 
before district courts and regional courts “in 
dealing with criminal matters”.

51. Section 45 (1) obliged the presidents of each 
regional court to assign one judge to deal with 
matters concerning use of information tech-
nology devices.

52. The decree of 1992 was repealed by Decree no. 
543/2005 543/2005 with effect from 1 January 
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2006.

f. Other regulations
53. On 29 March 2000 a conference took place un-

der the auspices of the Ministry of Justice. Rep-
resentatives of the Ministry, the regional courts, 
the head office of the police and the office of 
the Prosecutor General took part. The partici-
pants agreed that matters concerning authori-
sation of wiretapping would be handled by the 
regional court in the judicial district in which 
the agency requesting it had its seat.

G. Amendment no. 185/2002 Coll. to the 
Courts and Judges Act (Law no. 335/1991 
Coll.)

54. The amendment entered into force on 16 April 
2002. It introduced, inter alia, subsections 2 and 
3 to section 13 of the Courts and Judges Act. 
They provide that, as a general rule, authorisa-
tion for monitoring telecommunications falls 
within the jurisdiction of the regional courts. 
Territorial competence is conferred on the re-
gional court in the judicial district in which the 
authority seeking the authorisation has its seat.

tHE LAW

I. THE GOVERNMENT’S 
PRELIMINARY OBJECTION AND 
THE SCOPE OF THE CASE

55. At the admissibility stage the Government ob-
jected that the applicant had not exhausted 
domestic remedies as he had not raised his 
complaint under Article 8 by way of an action 
for protection of his personal integrity.

56. On 26 September 2006 the Court dismissed 
that objection and declared admissible the 
complaint under Article 8 of the Convention 
concerning the interference with the appli-
cant’s telephone communications. The Court 
noted that in his reply to the observations 
submitted by the Government the applicant 
claimed that the interference had consisted 
not only in tapping his phone, but also in re-
cording his phone calls, making transcripts 
and copies of the recordings and making the 
obtained information available to third parties. 
In that respect it invited the parties to submit 
information whether, apart from the tapping of 
the applicant’s telephone, there had been oth-
er interference with his rights under Article 8.

57. The Government then raised a new objection, 
arguing that the applicant could have sought 
redress by means of a complaint under Article 
127 § 1 of the Constitution enacted with ef-
fect from 1 January 2002. They relied on the 
Constitutional Court’s decisions II. úS 254/03 
and I. úS 274/05 delivered in 2003 and 2006 
(see paragraphs 34 and 35 above). In a com-
plaint to the Constitutional Court the applicant 
should have relied on his argument that he had 
officially learned about the interception from 
the Government’s observations submitted on 
the present case on 25 June 2005.

58. As to the allegedly unlawful use of the tran-
scripts of the conversations, their copying and 
distribution, in the Government’s view the ap-
plicant could have sought redress by means of 
an action under Articles 11 et seq. of the Civil 
Code for protection of his integrity and, ulti-
mately, before the Constitutional Court.

59. The applicant disagreed. He argued, inter alia, 
that he had introduced his application on 11 
July 2001 and that no effective remedy before 
the Constitutional Court had been available at 
that time. He could not have obtained redress 
before the Constitutional Court.

60. The Court first notes that the Government did 
not raise at the admissibility stage the argu-
ment that the applicant should have sought 
redress before the Constitutional Court as 
regards the interception of his telephone. In 
any event, the Court reiterates that the as-
sessment of whether domestic remedies have 
been exhausted is normally carried out with 
reference to the date on which the application 
was lodged with it (see Baumann v. France, 
no. 33592/96 33592/96, § 47, 22 May 2001). 
It concurs with the applicant that at the time 
of introduction of the application he had been 
unable to effectively seek redress before the 
Constitutional Court (for recapitulation of the 
relevant domestic law see, for example, Poláčik 
v. Slovakia, no. 58707/00, §§ 33-35, 15 No-
vember 2005). Accordingly, the Government’s 
objection must be dismissed to the extent that 
it concerns the interception of the applicant’s 
telephone, including the alleged shortcomings 
in the legislation on which it had been based.

61. As regards the alleged interference resulting 
from misuse and rendering public the con-
tents of the records, the Court notes that the 
applicant explicitly referred to it in his reply 
to the Government’s observations, which was 
submitted to the Court on 6 September 2005. 
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He submitted the relevant documents and ar-
guments to substantiate that complaint on 22 
November 2006, after the decision on the ad-
missibility of the application had been adopted 
and in reply to questions put by the Court.

62. Those documents indicate that the relevant 
part of the application concerns specific events 
which occurred after the introduction of the 
application and which were being investigated 
subsequently (see paragraphs 16-17 and 27-28 
above). In the above circumstances, the appli-
cant’s complaint about those events and any 
shortcomings in the related domestic proce-
dure must be considered as having been intro-
duced on 6 September 2005, when the appli-
cant for the first time made a specific reference 
to them before the Court.

63. The Court concurs with the Government that 
prior to submitting that complaint to the Court 
the applicant should have sought redress, after 
having used the other remedies available, by 
means of a complaint pursuant to Article 127 
§ 1 of the Constitution enacted with effect 
from 1 January 2002.

64. It follows that the complaint of misuse of the 
records of the applicant’s telephone conversa-
tions must be rejected under Article 35 §§ 1 
and 4 of the Convention for non-exhaustion of 
domestic remedies.

65. Accordingly, the Court’s examination in the 
context of the present application will be lim-
ited to the interception of the applicant’s tel-
ephone conversations.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

66. The applicant complained that the interfer-
ence with his telephone communications had 
been contrary to Article 8 of the Convention, 
which, in so far as relevant, provides:

“1.Everyonehastherighttorespectforhispri-
vate...life,...andhiscorrespondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection

oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

A. The arguments of the parties
1.Theapplicant

67. The applicant emphasised that he had not 
committed any criminal or other offence and 
had never been charged. There could not have 
been any legitimate reason for interfering with 
his phone calls. There was no evidence show-
ing that the request for authorisation of the 
interception had complied with applicable re-
quirements.

68. The judge who had authorised the interception 
of his phone had acknowledged that there had 
been a lack of legal rules concerning the terri-
torial competence of regional courts in matters 
concerning wiretapping. The rules contained 
in Decree no. 66/1992 Coll. did not apply to 
wiretapping under the Police Corps Act, and 
the Minister of Justice who had issued that 
Decree had had no legislative power to make 
rules relating to that Act. Furthermore, the rules 
adopted at the Ministry of Justice conference 
on 29 March 2000 did not have the form and 
quality of “law”, inter alia, because they lacked 
the element of public accessibility.

69. The quality of the legal framework existing at 
the relevant time had not been sufficient in 
that it had not afforded the applicant adequate 
and effective safeguards against abuse. In par-
ticular, he had been completely excluded from 
the decision-making process concerning the 
interception of his phone calls; he had had no 
remedies in respect of it; and there had been 
no mechanism for independent scrutiny of 
the interception under the Police Corps Act 
1993. Although the interception required the 
consent of a judge and the judge had the duty 
to examine on a continuous basis whether 
the grounds for it persisted, neither the judge 
nor the Inspection Service had any means of 
checking how the interception was being car-
ried out in practice.

70. Finally, the applicant underlined that there had 
been no safeguards to identify telephone calls 
between him as a lawyer and criminal defend-
ants as his clients.

2.TheGovernment
71. The Government admitted that the applicant’s 

phone had been tapped and that this amount-
ed to an interference with his rights under Arti-
cle 8 of the Convention.
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72. In their observations submitted at the admis-
sibility stage the Government argued that the 
interference had been lawful and justified. 
In particular, the interception had been car-
ried out under the Police Corps Act 1993 and 
had been duly authorised by the appropriate 
judge. The matter fell within the jurisdiction of 
the regional courts on the basis of Ministerial 
Decree no. 66/1992 Coll. The fact that there 
was no written legal rule as to which specific 
regional court had territorial jurisdiction in the 
matter had no impact on the effectiveness and 
independence of the judicial supervision that 
had been carried out in the applicant’s case. 
The legality of the interception had been ex-
amined and upheld by the Inspection Service.

73. There had been an extensive investigation of 
criminal activities within the industrial group 
with which the applicant had then been as-
sociated. He had been seeking inside informa-
tion about the investigation and had been in 
active communication with I.C., who had been 
charged with an “extremely serious criminal of-
fence”. It had been necessary to tap his phone 
in the interests of conducting an effective in-
vestigation.

74. The Government further submitted that there 
had been a system of effective control in place 
in order to prevent abuse and that the appli-
cant had had the full benefit of that system.

75. In the post-admissibility submissions, in reply 
to specific questions put by the Court, the Gov-
ernment’s Agent explained that the relevant 
documents were classified and that the law in 
force did not permit her to obtain them and to 
submit them to the Court. For that reason the 
Government’s Agent was not in a position to 
comment specifically on the merits of the case. 
Legislative change was envisaged with a view 
to preventing similar situations from recurring.

B. The Court’s assessment
1.Thegeneralprinciples

76. Telephone conversations are covered by the 
notions of “private life” and “correspondence” 
within the meaning of Article 8. Their moni-
toring amounts to an interference with the 
exercise of one’s rights under Article 8 (see, for 
example, Lambert v. France, 24 August 1998, § 
21, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1998-
V).

77. Such an interference is justified by the terms of 
paragraph 2 of Article 8 only if it is “in accord-

ance with the law”, pursues one or more of the 
legitimate aims referred to in paragraph 2 and 
is “necessary in a democratic society” in order 
to achieve the aim or aims.

78. The expression “in accordance with the law” 
under Article 8 § 2 requires, first, that the 
impugned measure should have some basis 
in domestic law; it also refers to the quality of 
the law in question, requiring that it should be 
compatible with the rule of law and accessible 
to the person concerned who must, moreo-
ver, be able to foresee its consequences for 
him, and compatible with the rule of law (see, 
among other authorities, Kruslin v. France, 24 
April 1990, § 27; or Liberty and Others v. the 
United Kingdom, no. 58243/00, § 59-63, 1 July 
2008, with further references).

79. In particular, the requirement of legal “foresee-
ability” in the special context of secret meas-
ures of surveillance, such as the interception 
of communications, cannot mean that an in-
dividual should be able to foresee when the 
authorities are likely to intercept his commu-
nications so that he can adapt his conduct ac-
cordingly. However, the domestic law must be 
sufficiently clear in its terms to give individuals 
an adequate indication as to the circumstances 
in which and the conditions on which public 
authorities are empowered to resort to any 
such measures. The Court has also stressed 
the need for safeguards in this connection. In 
its case-law on secret measures of surveillance, 
it has described an overview of the minimum 
safeguards that should be set out in statute 
law in order to avoid abuses of power (see As-
sociation for European Integration and Human 
Rights and Ekimdzhiev v. Bulgaria, no. 62540/00 
62540/00, §§ 75-77, 28 June 2007 and Weber 
and Saravia v. Germany (dec.), no. 54934/00, 
ECHR 2006-..., with further references).

80. As to the question whether an interference 
was “necessary in a democratic society” for 
achieving the legitimate aims, the Court has 
acknowledged that the Contracting States en-
joy a certain margin of appreciation in assess-
ing the existence and extent of such necessity, 
but this margin is subject to European super-
vision, embracing both the legislation and the 
decisions applying it, even those given by an 
independent court (see, for example, Barfod v. 
Denmark, 22 February 1989, § 28, Series A no. 
14). The Court has to determine whether the 
procedures for supervising the ordering and 
implementation of the restrictive measures are 
such as to keep the “interference” to what is 
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“necessary in a democratic society”. In addition, 
the values of a democratic society must be fol-
lowed as faithfully as possible in the superviso-
ry procedures if the bounds of necessity, within 
the meaning of Article 8 § 2, are not to be ex-
ceeded (see Lambert v. France cited above, § 
31, with further reference).

2.Applicationofthegeneralprinciplestothe
presentcase

81. It has not been disputed that the applicant’s 
telephone was tapped and that the intercep-
tion of his calls amounted to an interference 
with his right under Article 8 to respect for his 
private life and correspondence.

82. That interference had a statutory basis, namely 
the Police Corps Act 1993. It was designed to 
establish facts in the context of an investiga-
tion into suspected large-scale organised crim-
inal activities of a financial nature and therefore 
to prevent crime, which is a legitimate aim un-
der the second paragraph of Article 8.

83. The applicant has contested both the compli-
ance with the law in issue and its quality, main-
taining, in particular, that it was deficient in 
terms of safeguards against abuse.

84. In the particular circumstances of the case the 
applicant’s arguments concerning the lawful-
ness of the interference are closely related to 
the question as to whether the “necessity” test 
was complied with in his case. Accordingly, the 
Court will address jointly the “in accordance 
with the law” and “necessity” requirements. In 
these circumstances, and also considering the 
conclusion reached below and noting that 
the relevant provisions of the Police Corps Act 
1993 were replaced by new, more compre-
hensive legislation offering a broader scope of 
guarantees within a relatively short time after 
the events complained of had occurred (see 
paragraphs 42-49 above and also, to the con-
trary, Dumitru Popescu v. Romania (no. 2), no. 
71525/01 71525/01, § 84, 26 April 2007), the 
Court does not consider it necessary to exam-
ine separately the applicant’s argument that 
the quality of the law in force at the material 
time had not complied with the requirements 
incorporated in Article 8.

85. The Court notes that authorisation of and inter-
ception of one’s telephone calls under the Po-
lice Corps Act 1993 were subjected to a num-
ber of conditions (see paragraph 40 above).

86. The respondent Government did not make 

available the relevant documents which were 
classified (see paragraph 75 above). On the 
basis of the documents before it the Court is 
not satisfied that the statutory conditions were 
complied with in their entirety in the appli-
cant’s case. For example, it has not been shown 
that the guarantees were met relating to the 
duration of the interference, whether there 
had been judicial control of the interception 
on a continuous basis, whether the reasons for 
the use of the devices remained valid, whether 
in practice measures were taken to prevent the 
interception of telephone calls between the 
applicant as a lawyer and criminal defendants 
as his clients. Similarly it has not been shown 
that the interference restricted the inviolabil-
ity of applicant’s home, the privacy of his cor-
respondence and the privacy of information 
communicated only to an extent that was 
indispensable and that the information thus 
obtained was used exclusively for attaining the 
aim set out in section 36(1) of the Police Corps 
Act 1993.

87. In addition, statements by several police offic-
ers and the judge involved are indicative of a 
number of shortcomings as regards the com-
pliance with the relevant law in the applicant’s 
case (see paragraphs 19, 20 and 25 above). In 
particular, the director of the special division 
of the financial and criminal police had con-
cluded that the interference in issue had not 
been based on any specific suspicion against 
the applicant and no specific purpose had 
been indicated in the relevant request. In his 
written statement the Regional Court judge 
who had authorised the interception remarked 
that similar requests were made in writing, but 
were submitted by the police investigators in 
person. The officer submitting the request pre-
sented the case orally and the oral presenta-
tion was usually more comprehensive than the 
written request. As requests for authorisation 
had to be handled with the utmost urgency, 
judges had no practical opportunity to exam-
ine the case file or to verify that the request for 
authorisation corresponded to the contents of 
the case file. Depositions of the four members 
of the financial police investigative team in-
volved in the case included, inter alia, the infor-
mation that the request for authorisation of the 
interception of the applicant’s telephone had 
been drafted without a prior consultation of 
the case file. The documents before the Court 
contain no information indicating that those 
statements were unsubstantiated.

88. In these circumstances, the Court cannot but 
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conclude that the procedure for ordering and 
supervising the implementation of the inter-
ception of the applicant’s telephone was not 
shown to have fully complied with the require-
ments of the relevant law and to be adequate 
to keep the interference with the applicant’s 
right to respect for his private life and corre-
spondence to what was “necessary in a demo-
cratic society”.

89. There has therefore been a violation of Article 8 
of the Convention.

III. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

90. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

91. The applicant stated that he sought the finding 
by the Court of a breach of his rights under Ar-
ticle 8 of the Convention which he considered 
appropriate satisfaction.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Declares inadmissible the applicant’s com-
plaint under Article 8 of the Convention about 
interference resulting from the copying, mis-
use, distribution and publication of the tran-
scripts of his telephone conversations;

2. Dismisses the Government’s preliminary ob-
jection concerning the complaint about inter-
ception of the applicant’s telephone;

3. Holds that there has been a violation of Arti-
cle 8 of the Convention.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 9 June 
2009, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the Rules 
of Court.

Lawrence Early, Registrar 
Nicolas Bratza, President
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TELEPHONE, TAPPING, SURVEILLANCE, INTERFERENCE, 
INTERCEPTION, PRIVATE LIFE, CORRESPONDENCE

IN THE CASE Of vOLOKHy v. uKRAINE,

The European Court of Human Rights (Fifth Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:

Mr P. Lorenzen, President,  
Mr K. Jungwiert,  
Mr V. Butkevych,  
Mrs M. Tsatsa-Nikolovska,  
Mr R. Maruste,  
Mr J. Borrego Borrego,  
Mrs R. Jaeger, judges,  
and Mrs C. Westerdiek, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 30 August and 9 
October 2006,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

23543/02) against Ukraine lodged with the 
Court under Article 34 of the Convention for 
the Protection of Human Rights and Funda-
mental Freedoms (“the Convention”) by two 
Ukrainian nationals, Mrs Olga Volokh (“the first 
applicant”) and Mr Mykhaylo Volokh (“the sec-
ond applicant”), on 3 June 2002.

2. The Ukrainian Government (“the Government”) 
were represented by their Agent, Mrs V. Lutko-
vska, of the Ministry of Justice.

3. On 27 June 2005 the Court decided to com-
municate the application to the Government. 
Under the provisions of Article 29 § 3 of the 
Convention, it decided to examine the merits 
of the application at the same time as its ad-
missibility.

4. On 1 April 2006 this case was assigned to the 
newly constituted Fifth Section (Rule 25 § 5 
and Rule 52 § 1).

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

5. The applicants were born in 1933 and 1961 re-
spectively and live in the city of Poltava.

A. Interception of the applicants’ 
correspondence

6. In May 1996 the Poltava Regional Police De-
partment (hereinafter – the PRPD) instituted 
criminal proceedings for tax evasion against Mr 
V., who is, respectively, the son of the first appli-
cant and the brother of the second applicant. 
On 28 May 1996 the investigator placed Mr V. 
under an obligation not to abscond.

7. On 4 September 1996, following the failure of 
Mr V. to appear for interrogation and in the ab-
sence of information about his whereabouts, 
an arrest warrant for Mr V. was issued.

8. On 6 August 1997 the PRPD investigator is-
sued an order for interception and seizure of 
the postal and telegraphic correspondence of 
the applicants (hereinafter – “the interception 
order”) on the following grounds:
“The private entrepreneur Mr V., during the
period between 1 January 1994 and 1 Janu-
ary1996,intentionallydidnotpaytaxestothe
Statebudget in theamountofUAH12,8891,
havingcauseddamageandsubstantiallosses
totheState.

On 28 May 1996 the preventive measure –
obligation not to abscond – was ordered in
respectofMrV.,but,havingbeensummoned
bytheinvestigator,MrV.didnotcometohim,
and his whereabouts at the present are un-
known.On4September1996thepreventive
measure–detention–wasorderedinrespect
ofMrV.

... Mr V.may inform hismother and brother
abouthiswhereabouts,using thepostaland
telegraphiccorrespondence.”

No time-limit for the interception had been 
fixed in the order.

9. On 11 August 1997 the President of the Zhovt-
nevyy District Court approved the interception 
order by having signed it. The applicants main-
tained that they had learned about this order 
by chance at the end of 1998.

10. On 4 May 1998 the criminal case against Mr V. 
was terminated as being time-barred.



337CASEOFVOLOKHYVUKRAINE

EC
J

EC
HR

11. According to the applicants, Mr V. had ap-
peared in summer 1998 and met with the in-
vestigator in his case. During this meeting he 
found out about the interception order.

12. On 28 May 1999 the PRPD investigator can-
celled the interception order on the grounds 
that the criminal case against Mr V. had been 
closed and there were no further need to in-
tercept the applicants’ correspondence. This 
cancellation was approved and signed by the 
President of the Zhovtnevyy District Court the 
same day.

13. By letter of 19 July 1999, the Poltava Regional 
Prosecutor’s Office, in reply to their complaint, 
informed the applicants that the interception 
of their correspondence had been ordered 
lawfully and therefore the law-enforcement of-
ficers incurred no liability.

14. On 14 November 1999, according to the Gov-
ernment, the whereabouts of Mr V. were estab-
lished by the investigation.

15. By letter of 6 January 2000 to Mr V., in reply to 
his complaints about the criminal proceedings 
against him, the General Prosecutor’s Office 
(hereinafter “the GPO”) noted, inter alia, that 
the interception order was not well-founded.

16. By letter of 1 February 2000, the first applicant 
was informed that on 15 August 1997 (15 Sep-
tember 1997 according to the Government) a 
letter addressed to her had been intercepted 
by the police but, as it contained no informa-
tion about the whereabouts of Mr V., it was not 
seized but was forwarded to her.

B. Proceedings for compensation
17. On 20 January 2000 the applicants claimed 

compensation from the Head of the PRPD for 
the damage caused by ordering the intercep-
tion of their correspondence.

18. By letter of 27 January 2000, the Head of the 
PRPD informed the second applicant that the 
interception order had been lawful and that, 
therefore, there were no grounds to award 
damages.

19. By letter of 19 November 2000, the Head of the 
PRPD informed the second applicant that the 
seizure of correspondence had been in com-
pliance with the law and that the applicant 
had no right to compensation, given that the 
criminal case against his brother had been ter-
minated on non-exonerative grounds.

20. By letter of 21 November 2000, the Poltava Re-
gional Prosecutor’s Office informed the second 
applicant that the issue of compensation was 
within the competence of the courts.

21. On 18 February 2000 the applicants lodged a 
claim with the Leninsky District Court of Polta-
va against the PDPR seeking compensation for 
the moral damage caused by the interference 
with their correspondence. In support of their 
claim, they referred to the letter of the GPO of 6 
January 2000, where it was acknowledged that 
the interception order lacked grounds.

22. On 11 October 2001 the Leninsky District Court 
found against the applicants. The court con-
cluded that the interception order had been 
lawful and well-founded, the criminal proceed-
ings against Mr V. having been terminated 
on non-exonerative grounds (нереабілітуючі 
обставини), and that the applicants did not 
prove that they had suffered any moral dam-
age due to the interference with their corre-
spondence. The court held that the applicants’ 
claim was unsubstantiated and that the GPO’s 
letter of 6 January 2000 could not be a ground 
for awarding them any damages. It, therefore, 
rejected the applicants’ claim in full.

23. On 8 January 2002 the Appellate Court of Pol-
tava Region upheld the decision of the first in-
stance court.

24. On 9 February 2004 the panel of three judges 
of the Supreme Court rejected the applicants’ 
request for leave to appeal in cassation.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW

A. Constitution of ukraine
25. The relevant extracts of the Constitution of 

Ukraine (first published in the Gazette of the 
Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine of 23 July 1996, No. 
30, article 141) read as follows:

Article 31

“Everyoneshallbeguaranteedprivacyofmail,
telephoneconversations,telegraphandother
correspondence. Exceptions shall be estab-
lishedonly by a court in cases envisagedby
law, with the purpose of preventing crime
orascertainingthetruth in thecourseof the
investigationofacriminalcase,ifitisnotpos-
sibletoobtaininformationbyothermeans.”

Article 55

“Human and citizens’ rights and freedoms
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shallbeprotectedbythecourts.

Everyoneshallbeguaranteedarighttochal-
lengeincourtthedecisions,actionsoromis-
sionsofbodiesofStatepower,bodiesoflocal
self-government,officialsandofficers....

Everyone shall have a right to protect his or
her rights and freedoms from violations and
illegalencroachmentsbyanymeansnotpro-
hibitedbylaw.”

Article 56

“Everyoneshallhavearighttocompensation
frompublicormunicipalbodiesforlossessus-
tained as a result of unlawful decisions, acts
oromissionsbypublicormunicipalbodiesor
civilservantsintheperformanceoftheiroffi-
cialduties.”

Chapter XV

Transitional Provisions

“13. The existing procedure for the arrest,
custody anddetentionof persons suspected
ofcommittinganoffence,andtheprocedure
forcarryingoutanexaminationandsearchof
aperson’shomeandotherproperty,shallbe
retainedforfiveyearsaftertheentryintoforce
ofthepresentConstitution.”

B. Code of Criminal Procedure
26. At the material time Article 187 of the Code 

in the wording of 16 April 1984 (the relevant 
Amendment Law first published in the Gazette 
of the Verkhovna Rada of the Ukrainian SSR, 
1984, No. 18, article 351) read as follows:

The interception of correspondence 
and its seizure in postal and telegraphic 
establishments

“The interception of correspondence and its
seizure in postal and telegraphic establish-
ments shall be conductedwith the approval
of theprosecutororhisdeputy,orupon the
resolutionofacourt.

Theinvestigatorshallissueanorderforinter-
ceptionandseizureofpostalandtelegraphic
correspondence. In that order, the investiga-
torshallproposethatapostalandtelegraphic
establishment intercept the correspondence
definedintheorderandinformhimaboutit.
The examination of correspondence shall be
conductedinthepresenceoftworepresenta-
tivesofthepostoffice,andminutesaredrawn
uptothisend.

The interception of correspondence shall
be cancelledby anorderof the investigator,

when the application of this measure is no
longerrequired.”

(This Article was substantially re-worded in 
June 2001)

C. The Law of ukraine “on Search and 
Seizure Activities” of 18 february 1992

27. The relevant provisions of the Law (first pub-
lished in the official newspaper “Golos Ukrainy”, 
27 March 1992, No. 56) provided as relevant:

Article 6

Grounds for conduct of the search and seizure 
activities

“The grounds for conduct of the search and
seizureactivitiesare:

1)presenceofsufficientinformation,about...

-personswhoarepreparingorhavecommit-
tedacrime;

-personswhoarehiding fromthe investiga-
tivebodies,courtorareevadingtheapplica-
tionofcriminalsanctions;...

Itisprohibitedtomakedecisionsonthecon-
ductofsearchandseizureactivitiesforother
purposes than the ones established by this
Article.”

Article 8

The rights of the departments that conduct 
search and seizure activities

“Operationalunitswhenexecutingtheirtasks
in connection with operational searches (...)
havethefollowingrights:

10) to survey selectively, in accordancewith
particular characteristics, telegraphic and
postalcorrespondence.”

Article 9

Guarantees of lawfulness during the conduct of 
search and seizure activities

“...During the search and seizure activities
violation of rights and freedoms of individu-
als and legal persons shall not be allowed.
Any limitation of these rights and freedoms
shallbeofanexceptionalandtemporaryna-
ture ... inthesituationsstipulatedbytheleg-
islationofUkrainewiththeaimofprotecting
therightsandfreedomsofotherpersons,the
safetyofthesociety...

Duringthesearchandseizureactivities,offic-
ersoftheoperationalunitsshallbeobligedto
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take intoaccounttheirproportionalitytothe
levelofsocialdangerofcriminalattemptsand
thedangertotheinterestsofthesocietyand
theState.

Incaseofviolationofrightsandfreedomsof
individuals and legal persons ...the Ministry
of Internal Affairs... shall restore the violated
rights and compensate for the material and
moraldamagewhichhadoccurred.”

D. The Law of ukraine “on the procedure 
for the compensation of damage caused 
to the citizen by the unlawful actions of 
bodies of inquiry, pre-trial investigation, 
prosecutors and courts” of 1 December 
1994

28. The relevant provisions of the Law (first pub-
lished in the Gazette of the Verkhovna Rada of 
Ukraine of 3 January 1995, No. 1, article 1) read 
as follows:

Article 1

“Under theprovisionsof this Lawacitizen is
entitledtocompensationfordamagescaused
by:

...3) unlawful conduct of search and seizure
activities...

Article 2

“The right to compensation for damages in
the amount of and in accordance with the
procedureestablishedby thisLawshall arise
incasesof:

acquittalbyacourt;

theterminationofacriminalcaseongrounds
oftheabsenceofproofofthecommissionof
acrime,theabsenceofcorpusdelicti,oralack
of evidence of the accused’s participation in
thecommissionofthecrime;

therefusaltoinitiatecriminalproceedingsor
the termination of criminal proceedings on
thegroundsstipulatedinsub-paragraph2of
paragraph1ofthisArticle;

theterminationofproceedingsforanadmin-
istrativeoffence.”

Article 3

“InthecasesreferredtoinArticle1ofthisLaw
theapplicantshallbecompensatedfor...

5)moraldamage.”

Article 4

“...Compensation for moral damage shall
be given in cases in which unlawful actions
of bodies of inquiry, pre-trial investigation,
prosecutors and courts caused moral losses
toacitizen, led todisruptionofhisusual life
relations and required additional efforts for
organisationofhisorherlife.

Themoraldamageshallbeconsideredsuffer-
ingcausedtoacitizenduetophysicalorpsy-
chological influence which led to deteriora-
tionordeprivationofpossibilitiestofollowhis
orherusualhabits andwishes,deterioration
of relationswithpeoplearound,othernega-
tiveimpactsofmoralnature.”

tHE LAW
29. The applicants complained about a violation 

of their right to respect for their correspond-
ence as provided in Article 8 of the Conven-
tion. Relying on Article 13 of the Convention 
they maintained that they had no effective do-
mestic remedies to acknowledge unlawfulness 
of interference with their rights and to claim 
compensation. These provisions read, insofar 
as relevant, as follows:

Article 8

“1.Everyonehastherighttorespectfor...his
correspondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

Article 13

“Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [the] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity.”

I. ADMISSIBILITY

A. The Government’s preliminary objection
30. The Government presented a preliminary ob-

jection as to non-exhaustion of the domestic 
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remedies by the applicants with respect to the 
period between 4 May 1998 and 4 May 1999. 
They maintained that the compensatory pro-
ceedings instituted by the applicants had been 
related only to the period of interception be-
tween 6 August 1997 and 4 May 1998, since 
the applicants had complained also about un-
lawfulness of the criminal proceedings in the 
framework of which the interception had been 
ordered.

31. The applicants disagreed with this objection.

32. The Court reiterates that it is incumbent on the 
Government claiming non-exhaustion to sat-
isfy the Court that the remedy was an effective 
one available in theory and in practice at the 
relevant time, that is to say, that it was acces-
sible, was one which was capable of providing 
redress in respect of the applicant’s complaints 
and offered reasonable prospects of success 
(see Selmouni v. France [GC], no. 25803/94, 
§ 76, ECHR 1999-V).

33. The Court observes that in the present case, the 
Government considered that the applicants’ 
claim before the domestic judicial authorities 
related only to a part of and not to the total-
ity of the period during which the interception 
order had been in force. The Government did 
not suggest or mention any other domestic 
remedy except the one which had been used 
by the applicants.

34. In the Court’s opinion, it would appear more 
appropriate to consider the effectiveness of 
the last-mentioned remedy under Article 13 of 
the Convention which had been relied on by 
the applicants. The Court therefore joins this 
objection to the merits of the applicant’s com-
plaint under Article 13.

B. Compatibility ratione temporis

35. The Court notes that the decision ordering the 
interception of the applicants’ correspondence 
was given on 6 August 1997 and therefore fall 
outside its jurisdiction ratione temporis. The 
major period of interception, however, was af-
ter 11 September 1997, the date of the entry of 
the Convention into force in respect of Ukraine. 
The Court, however, will take into account the 
events that took place prior to the above date, 
including the decision on interception, in as-
sessing whether the interference with the ap-
plicants’ correspondence satisfied the require-

ments of Article 8 § 2 of the Convention.

C. Observance of six-month rule
36. The Court observes that the applicants’ com-

plaint under Article 13 of the Convention, 
namely the ineffectiveness of the compensa-
tory proceedings, suggests that there was no 
effective remedy to exhaust in their situation. 
The question therefore arises whether the 
application was lodged within a period of six 
months as required by Article 35 § 1 of the 
Convention.

37. The Court observes that the application was 
introduced on 3 June 2002. It notes that ac-
cording to its well-established case-law, where 
no domestic remedy is available the six-month 
period runs from the date of the act com-
plained of. However, special considerations 
could apply in exceptional cases where an ap-
plicant first avails himself of a domestic remedy 
and only at a later stage becomes aware, or 
should have become aware, of the circum-
stances which make that remedy ineffective. 
In such a situation, the six-month period could 
be calculated from the time when the appli-
cant becomes aware, or should have become 
aware, of these circumstances (see, among 
others, Laçin v. Turkey, no. 23654/94, Commis-
sion decision of 15 May 1995, Decisions and 
Reports (DR) 81-B, p. 31)

38. In this respect, the Court notes that the appli-
cants took steps to bring their complaints to 
the attention of the domestic authorities. In 
particular, on 18 February 2000 they lodged a 
claim with the Leninsky District Court of Pol-
tava against the PDPR seeking compensation 
for the moral damage caused by the interfer-
ence with their correspondence under the 
Law of Ukraine “on the procedure for the com-
pensation of damage caused to the citizen by 
the unlawful actions of bodies of inquiry, pre-
trial investigation, prosecutors and courts”. The 
Government maintained that this remedy was 
effective for the applicant’s complaint under 
Article 8. Moreover, the domestic law, namely 
Article 55 and 56 of the Constitution and Article 
9 of the Law “on Search and Seizure Activities” 
(see paragraphs 25 and 27 above) suggested 
that an individual could challenge the unlaw-
ful actions of investigation authorities in the 
domestic courts and the only mechanism, on 
which parties relied in their submissions to 
the Court, was a mechanism envisaged by the 
above mentioned Law “on the procedure for 
the compensation of damage caused to the 
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citizen by the unlawful actions of bodies of 
inquiry, pre-trial investigation, prosecutors and 
courts”. On 11 October 2001 the first-instance 
court rejected the applicant’s claim as unsub-
stantiated, and not on the ground that law was 
not applicable to the applicants. On 8 January 
2002, the court of appeal upheld the decision 
of the first-instance court (see paragraphs 22 
and 23 above).

39. at that point of time, the applicants should 
have doubted the effectiveness of this rem-
edy. Indeed they lodged their application with 
this Court within a period of six month after 
the decision of the appellate court, while the 
proceedings were still pending before the Su-
preme Court of Ukraine.

40. The Court considers that in the circumstances 
of the present case the applicants could not be 
reproached for pursuing the impugned rem-
edy prior to lodging their application with this 
Court. The Court concludes that the applicants 
must be regarded as having complied with the 
six-month rule.

D. Conclusion
41. The Court notes that the application is not 

manifestly ill-founded within the meaning of 
Article 35 § 3 of the Convention. It further 
notes that it is not inadmissible on any other 
grounds. It must therefore be declared admis-
sible.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

A. Whether there has been an interference
42. It was not disputed by the parties that the de-

cision on interception of the applicants’ cor-
respondence constituted “an interference by a 
public authority” within the meaning of Article 
8 § 2 of the Convention with the applicants’ 
right to respect for their correspondence guar-
anteed by paragraph 1 of Article 8.

B. Whether the interference was justified
43. The cardinal issue that arises is whether the 

above interference is justifiable under para-
graph 2 of Article 8. That paragraph, since it 
provides for an exception to a right guaran-
teed by the Convention, is to be interpreted 
narrowly. The Court reiterates that powers of 
secret surveillance of citizens in the course of 
criminal investigations are tolerable under the 
Convention only in so far as strictly necessary 

(see, mutatis mutandis, Klass and Others v. Ger-
many, judgment of 6 September 1978, Series A 
no. 28, p. 21, § 42).

44. If it is not to contravene Article 8, such inter-
ference must have been “in accordance with 
the law”, pursue a legitimate aim under para-
graph 2 and, furthermore, be necessary in a 
democratic society in order to achieve that aim.

45. The Government maintained that the decision 
on interception of the applicants’ correspond-
ence had been given in accordance with Arti-
cle 187 of the Code of Criminal Procedure. The 
applicants did not contest this argument, but 
maintained that the provisions of Article 31 of 
the Constitution had not been respected.

46. The Court notes that Article 31 of the Constitu-
tion, Article 187 of the Code of Criminal Proce-
dure and Article 8 of the Law “on search and 
seizure activities” provided for the possibility to 
conduct interception of the correspondence in 
the framework of criminal proceedings and the 
search and seizure activities (see paragraphs 
25-27 above).

47. There was, therefore, a legal basis for the inter-
ference in domestic law.

48. As to the accessibility of the law, the Court re-
gards that requirement as having been satis-
fied, seeing that all the above listed legal acts 
had been published (see paragraphs 25-27 
above).

49. As regards the requirement of foreseeability, 
the Court reiterates that a rule is “foreseeable” if 
it is formulated with sufficient precision to ena-
ble any individual – if need be with appropriate 
advice – to regulate his conduct. The Court has 
stressed the importance of this concept with 
regard to secret surveillance in the following 
terms (see the Malone v. the United Kingdom 
judgment of 2 August 1984, Series A no. 82, p. 
32, § 67, reiterated in Amann v. Switzerland 
[GC], no. 27798/95, § 56, ECHR 2000-II):
“The Court would reiterate its opinion that
thephrase ‘inaccordancewiththe law’does
notmerelyreferbacktodomesticlawbutalso
relates to thequalityof the ‘law’, requiring it
tobecompatiblewith the ruleof law,which
isexpresslymentionedinthepreambletothe
Convention ... Thephrase thus implies–and
thisfollowsfromtheobjectandpurposeofAr-
ticle8–thattheremustbeameasureoflegal
protection in domestic law against arbitrary
interferences by public authorities with the
rightssafeguardedbyparagraph1...Especial-
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lywhereapoweroftheexecutiveisexercised
insecret,therisksofarbitrarinessareevident...

... Since the implementation in practice of
measuresof secret surveillanceof communi-
cationsisnotopentoscrutinybytheindividu-
alsconcernedorthepublicat large, itwould
be contrary to the rule of law for the legal
discretiongrantedtotheexecutivetobeex-
pressedintermsofanunfetteredpower.Con-
sequently,thelawmustindicatethescopeof
anysuchdiscretionconferredonthecompe-
tentauthoritiesandthemannerofitsexercise
with sufficient clarity, having regard to the
legitimate aim of the measure in question,
to give the individual adequate protection
againstarbitraryinterference.”

50. The “quality” of the legal rules relied on in this 
case must therefore be scrutinised, with a view, 
in particular, to ascertaining whether domes-
tic law laid down with sufficient precision the 
circumstances in which the law enforcement 
bodies could perform the interception of the 
applicants’ correspondence.

51. The Court notes in this connection that the 
requirements of proportionality of the inter-
ference, and of its exceptional and temporary 
nature were stipulated in Article 31 of the Con-
stitution and Article 9 of the Law of Ukraine “on 
Search and Seizure Activities” of 18 February 
1992 (see paragraphs 25 and 27 above). How-
ever, neither Article 187 of the Code of Crimi-
nal Procedure in its wording at the time of the 
events, nor any other provision of Ukrainian 
law contained a mechanism which would en-
sure that the above principles were respected 
in practice. The provision in question (see para-
graph 26 above) contains no indication as to 
the persons concerned by such measures, the 
circumstances in which they may be ordered, 
the time-limits to be fixed and respected. It 
cannot therefore be considered to be suffi-
ciently clear and detailed to afford appropriate 
protection against undue interference by the 
authorities with the applicants’ right to respect 
for their private life and correspondence.

52. Furthermore, the Court must be satisfied that 
there exist adequate and effective safeguards 
against abuse, since a system of secret surveil-
lance designed to protect national security and 
public order entails the risk of undermining or 
even destroying democracy on the ground of 
defending it (see the Klass and Others judg-
ment cited above, pp. 23-24, §§ 49-50). Such 
safeguards must be equally established by law 
in unequivocal manner and be applied to the 

supervision of the relevant services’ activities. 
Supervision procedures must follow the values 
of a democratic society as faithfully as possible, 
in particular the rule of law, which is expressly 
referred to in the Preamble to the Conven-
tion. The rule of law implies, inter alia, that 
interference by the executive authorities with 
an individual’s rights should be subject to ef-
fective supervision, which should normally be 
carried out by the judiciary, at least in the last 
resort, since judicial control affords the best 
guarantees of independence, impartiality and 
a proper procedure (see the Klass and Others 
judgment cited above, pp. 25-26, § 55).

53. In the instant case, the Court observes that the 
review of the decision on interception of cor-
respondence under Article 187 of the Code of 
Criminal Procedure was foreseen at the initial 
stage, when the interception of correspond-
ence was first ordered. The relevant legisla-
tion did not provide, however, for any interim 
review of the interception order in reasonable 
intervals or for any time-limits for the interfer-
ence. Neither did it require or authorise more 
involvement of the courts in supervising in-
terception procedures conducted by the law-
enforcement authorities. As a result, the inter-
ception order in the applicants’ case remained 
valid for more than one year after the criminal 
proceedings against their relative Mr V. had 
been terminated and the domestic courts did 
not react to this fact in any way.

54. The Court concludes that the interference can-
not therefore be considered to have been “in 
accordance with the law” (see paragraph 49 
above) since Ukrainian law does not indicate 
with sufficient clarity the scope and condi-
tions of exercise of the authorities’ discretion-
ary power in the area under consideration and 
does not provide sufficient safeguards against 
abuse of this surveillance system.

It follows that there has been a violation of Ar-
ticle 8 of the Convention arising from the in-
terception of the applicants’ correspondence.

III. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
13 OF THE CONVENTION

55. The applicants complained about a lack of 
domestic remedies to seek redress for the un-
lawful interference with their correspondence. 
They relied on Article 13 of the Convention.

56. The Government contested that argument. 
They referred to their preliminary objection 
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and to Article 55 of the Constitution that guar-
antees a right to challenge any action of public 
authorities in the courts.

57. The applicants maintained that they could not 
challenge the interception order, since the 
State authorities were not obliged to inform 
them about having imposed such measure.

58. The Court recalls its reasoning in the Klass case 
(cited above, §§ 68-70), in which it observed 
that it was the secrecy of the measures which 
rendered it difficult, if not impossible, for the 
person concerned to seek any remedy of his 
own accord, particularly while surveillance was 
in progress. Nevertheless, in the Klass case it 
was established that the competent authority 
was bound to inform the person concerned as 
soon as the surveillance measures were discon-
tinued and notification could be made without 
jeopardising the purpose of the restriction, and 
such person had a number of remedies avail-
able to him or her. Moreover, in the Klass case 
the Court took into account the existence of 
a system of proper control over surveillance 
measures and found no violation of Article 13.

59. From the Government’s submissions, it does 
not appear that the Ukrainian legal system of-
fered sufficient safeguards to persons under 
surveillance, because there was no obligation 
to inform a person that he or she was under 
surveillance. Even when the persons concerned 
learned about the interference with their corre-
spondence, like in the present case, the right 
to question the lawfulness of the decision on 
interception as guaranteed by the domestic 
law (see paragraphs 25 and 27 above) appears 
to be limited in practice, since the only imple-
menting mechanism is provided by the Law of 
Ukraine “on the procedure for the compensa-
tion of damage caused to the citizen by the 
unlawful actions of bodies of inquiry, pre-trial 
investigation, prosecutors and courts”. In the 
Court’s opinion, this Law, which is worded in 
very general terms at least in so far as persons 
other than the accused are concerned, could 
have a remedial effect in situations comparable 
to the one of the applicants, touched by sur-
veillance measures in the context of criminal 
proceedings against a third person. However, 
its application and interpretation by the do-
mestic courts, as in the present case, does not 
appear to be sufficiently broad to encompass 
complaints of persons other than the accused.

60. The foregoing considerations are sufficient 
to enable the Court to conclude that the ap-

plicants did not have an effective domestic 
remedy, as required by Article 13, in relation to 
their complaints under Article 8 of the Conven-
tion about the surveillance measures involving 
their postal and telegraphic correspondence.

61. The Court therefore dismisses the Govern-
ment’s preliminary objection and holds that 
there has been a breach of Article 13 of the 
Convention.

IV. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

62. Article 41 of the Convention provides:

“If the Court finds that there has been a violation 
of the Convention or the Protocols thereto, and if 
the internal law of the High Contracting Party con-
cerned allows only partial reparation to be made, 
the Court shall, if necessary, afford just satisfaction 
to the injured party.”

A. Damage
63. The first applicant claimed 75,000 euros (EUR) 

and the second applicant EUR 50,000 in respect 
of damages, without any further specification.

64. The Government maintained that the impact 
of the interference on the applicants’ rights 
had been minimal. In their opinion, the appli-
cants’ claims were unspecified and exorbitant, 
therefore, finding of a violation, if any, would 
constitute sufficient just satisfaction in the pre-
sent case.

65. The Court, on an equitable basis, awards each 
of the applicants EUR 1,000 in respect of non-
pecuniary damage.

B. Costs and expenses
66. The applicants did not make any claims under 

this head and the Court, therefore, makes no 
award.

C. Default interest
67. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Decides to join to the merits the Govern-
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ment’s preliminary objection;

2. Declares the application admissible;

3. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
8 of the Convention;

4. Dismisses the Government’s preliminary ob-
jection and holds that there has been a viola-
tion of Article 13 of the Convention;

5. Holds

(a) that the respondent State is to pay Mrs 
Olga volokh, within three months from the 
date on which the judgment becomes fi-
nal in accordance with Article 44 § 2 of the 
Convention, EuR 1,000 (one thousand eu-
ros) in respect of non-pecuniary damage;

(b) that the respondent State is to pay Mr 
Mykhaylo volokh, within three months 
from the date on which the judgment 
becomes final in accordance with Arti-
cle 44 § 2 of the Convention, EuR 1,000 
(one thousand euros) in respect of non-
pecuniary damage;

(c) that the above amounts shall be converted 
into the national currency of the respond-
ent State at the rate applicable at the date 
of settlement, plus any tax that may be 
chargeable;

(d) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amounts at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

6. Dismisses the remainder of the applicants’ 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 2 No-
vember 2006, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of 
the Rules of Court.

Claudia Westerdiek, Registrar 
Peer Lorenzen, President
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TAPING, SURVEILLANCE, PAGER, PRIVATE LIFE, COR-
RESPONDENCE, INTERFERENCE, INTERCEPTION, COM-
MUNICATION

IN THE CASE Of TAyLOR-SABORI v. THE uNITED 
KINGDOM,

The European Court of Human Rights (Second Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Mr J.-P. Costa, President,  
Sir Nicolas Bratza,  
Mr L. Loucaides,  
Mr C. Bîrsan,  
Mr K. Jungwiert,  
Mr V. Butkevych,  
Mrs W. Thomassen, judges,  
and Mrs S. Dollé, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 29 May 2001 and 
1 October 2002,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application 

(no. 47114/99 47114/99 ) against the United 
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ire-
land lodged with the Court under Article 34 of 
the Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Con-
vention”) by a United Kingdom national, Sean 
Marc Taylor-Sabori (“the applicant”), on 1 Oc-
tober 1998.

2. The applicant, was granted legal aid, but nev-
er actually claimed it. He was represented by 
Bobbetts Mackan, a firm of solicitors practising 
in Bristol. The United Kingdom Government 
(“the Government”) were represented by their 
Agent, Mr C.A. Whomersley, of the Foreign and 
Commonwealth Office. 

3. The applicant complains, principally, under Ar-
ticles 8 and 13 of the Convention that the in-
terception of his pager messages by the police 
and subsequent reference to them at his trial 
amounted to an unjustified interference with 
his private life and correspondence which was 
not “in accordance with the law” and in respect 

of which there was no remedy under English 
law.

4. The application was originally allocated to the 
Third Section of the Court (Rule 52 § 1 of the 
Rules of Court). Within that Section, the Cham-
ber that would consider the case (Article 27 § 
1 of the Convention) was constituted as pro-
vided in Rule 26 § 1 of the Rules of Court. 

5. On 27 June 2000 the Court declared the ap-
plicant’s complaint under Article 6 § 1 of the 
Convention inadmissible. On 29 May 2001 it 
declared his complaints under Articles 8 and 13 
admissible. The Court decided, after consulting 
the parties, to dispense with a hearing (Rule 59 
§ 2 in fine).

6. The applicant and the Government each filed 
observations on the merits (Rule 59 § 1). 

7. On 1 November 2001 the Court changed the 
composition of its Sections (Rule 25 § 1). This 
case was assigned to the newly composed Sec-
ond Section.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

8. The facts of the case, as submitted by the par-
ties, may be summarised as follows.

9. Between August 1995 and the applicant’s ar-
rest on 21 January 1996, he was the target of 
surveillance by the police. Using a “clone” of 
the applicant’s pager, the police were able to 
intercept messages sent to him. The pager 
system used by the applicant and intercepted 
by the police operated as follows: The sender, 
whether in the United Kingdom or overseas, 
would telephone the pager bureau in the Unit-
ed Kingdom via the public telephone network. 
The pager operator would key the message 
into a computer and read it back to the sender 
to confirm its accuracy. The computer message 
was transmitted via the public telephone sys-
tem to the pager terminal, from where it was 
relayed by radio to one of four regional base 
stations and thence, again by radio, simultane-
ously to the applicant’s and the police’s clone 
pagers, which displayed the message in text.

10. The applicant was arrested and charged with 
conspiracy to supply a controlled drug. The 
prosecution alleged that he had been one of 
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the principal organisers of the importation to 
the United Kingdom from Amsterdam of over 
22,000 ecstasy tablets worth approximately 
GBP 268,000. He was tried, along with a num-
ber of alleged co-conspirators, at Bristol Crown 
Court in September 1997.

11. Part of the prosecution case against the appli-
cant consisted of the contemporaneous writ-
ten notes of the pager messages which had 
been transcribed by the police. The applicant’s 
counsel submitted that these notes should 
not be admitted in evidence because the po-
lice had not had a warrant under section 2 of 
the Interception of Communications Act 1985 
(“the 1985 Act”) for the interception of the 
pager messages. However, the trial judge ruled 
that, since the messages had been transmitted 
via a private system, the 1985 Act did not apply 
and no warrant had been necessary.

12. The applicant pleaded not guilty. He was con-
victed and sentenced to ten years’ imprison-
ment.

13. The applicant appealed against conviction and 
sentence. One of the grounds was the admis-
sion in evidence of the pager messages. The 
Court of Appeal, dismissing the appeal on 13 
September 1998, upheld the trial judge’s rul-
ing that the messages had been intercepted at 
the point of transmission on the private radio 
system, so that the 1985 Act did not apply and 
the messages were admissible despite having 
been intercepted without a warrant.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

14. By section 1 (1) of the 1985 Act, anyone who in-
tentionally intercepts a communication in the 
course of its transmission by means of a public 
communications system is guilty of a criminal 
offence, unless the interception is carried out 
pursuant to a warrant issued in compliance 
with the Act.

15. At the time of the applicant’s trial there was no 
provision in British law governing the intercep-
tion of communications on a private system.

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

16. The applicant complained that the intercep-
tion by the police of messages on his pager 
violated Article 8 of the Convention, which 
provides:
“1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

He submitted that the police action amounted 
to an interference with his private life and cor-
respondence, which was not “in accordance 
with the law” or “necessary in a democratic 
society”.

17. The Government conceded that the intercep-
tion by the police of messages sent to the ap-
plicant’s pager was inconsistent with Article 8 
in that it was not “in accordance with the law”, 
although they added that this should not be 
taken as a concession that the action was not 
justified in the circumstances.

18. The Court notes that it is not disputed that the 
surveillance carried out by the police in the 
present case amounted to an interference with 
the applicant’s rights under Article 8 § 1 of the 
Convention. It recalls that the phrase “in ac-
cordance with the law” not only requires com-
pliance with domestic law but also relates to 
the quality of that law, requiring it to be com-
patible with the rule of law. In the context of 
covert surveillance by public authorities, in this 
instance the police, domestic law must provide 
protection against arbitrary interference with 
an individual’s right under Article 8. Moreover, 
the law must be sufficiently clear in its terms 
to give individuals an adequate indication as 
to the circumstances in which and the condi-
tions on which public authorities are entitled 
to resort to such covert measures (see Khan v. 
the United Kingdom, no. 35394/97, § 26, ECHR 
2000-V). 
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19. At the time of the events in the present case 
there existed no statutory system to regulate 
the interception of pager messages transmit-
ted via a private telecommunication system. 
It follows, as indeed the Government have 
accepted, that the interference was not “in ac-
cordance with the law”. There has, accordingly, 
been a violation of Article 8. 

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
13 OF THE CONVENTION

20. The applicant also contended there was no 
remedy available to him at national level in 
respect of his Article 8 complaint, contrary to 
Article 13, which provides:
“Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [this] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity.”

He relied on the above-mentioned Khan judg-
ment as authority for the position that section 
78 of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 
1985 (“PACE”), which allows the trial judge to 
exclude evidence in certain circumstances, 
could not provide an effective remedy to deal 
with all aspects of his complaint about unlaw-
ful surveillance.

21. The Government alleged that there had been 
no violation of the applicant’s Article 13 rights, 
submitting that under section 78 of PACE the 
judge could have regard to Article 8 of the 
Convention when exercising his discretion to 
exclude evidence from trial proceedings. How-
ever, it did not appear that the applicant had 
ever submitted during his trial that the inter-
cepted messages should be excluded from the 
evidence under section 78 on the basis that 
they had been obtained in breach of Article 8, 
and added that in the circumstances it cannot 
be said that such a submission would neces-
sarily have failed. In this way, the Government 
claimed that the present case was distinguish-
able from the above-mentioned Khan case.

22. The Court recalls that Article 13 guarantees the 
availability of a remedy at national level to en-
force the substance of Convention rights and 
freedoms in whatever form they may happen 
to be secured in the domestic legal order. Thus, 
its effect is to require the provision of a domes-
tic remedy allowing the competent national 
authority both to deal with the substance of 

the relevant Convention complaint and to 
grant appropriate relief, without, however, re-
quiring incorporation of the Convention (see 
the above-mentioned Khan judgment, § 44). 

23. The Court recalls its finding in the Khan judg-
ment that, in circumstances similar to those 
of the applicant, the courts in the criminal 
proceedings were not capable of providing a 
remedy because, although they could consider 
questions of the fairness of admitting the evi-
dence in the criminal proceedings, it was not 
open to them to deal with the substance of the 
Convention complaint that the interference 
with the applicant’s right to respect for his pri-
vate life was not “in accordance with the law”; 
still less was it open to them to grant appro-
priate relief in connection with the complaint 
(ibid.).

24. It does not appear that there was any other 
effective remedy available to the applicant for 
his Convention complaint, and it follows that 
there has been a violation of Article 13 of the 
Convention.

III. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

25. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Non-pecuniary damage
26. The applicant claimed non-pecuniary dam-

age for the invasion of his privacy. He drew 
attention to the facts that the interceptions 
took place over a long period of time (August 
1995-January 1996) and were indiscriminate, in 
that every message on his pager was copied. 
He pointed out, furthermore, that since the 
Malone v. the United Kingdom judgment of 2 
August 1984 (Series A no. 95), the Government 
had been aware of the need to regulate covert 
surveillance by the police.

27. The Government submitted that a finding of 
violation would constitute ample just satisfac-
tion, since there was no evidence to suggest 
that, had proper procedures been in place at 
the relevant time, as they now were, the in-
terceptions in question would not have been 
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authorised.

28. The Court recalls that the violations it has 
found in this case relate to the fact that the 
interceptions by the police were not properly 
controlled by law. It considers that the findings 
of violation constitute sufficient just satisfac-
tion for any non-pecuniary loss caused to the 
applicant by this failure.

B. Costs and expenses
29. The applicant claimed legal costs and expens-

es as follows: GBP 918.00, exclusive of value 
added tax (“VAT”), for his solicitors, and the fees 
of two counsel, amounting to GBP 2,680.00 
and GBP 3348.20, both exclusive of VAT.

30. The Government considered that the sums 
claimed were excessive, given that the appli-
cation had not progressed beyond the written 
stage, that the Article 6 § 1 complaint was de-
clared inadmissible on 27 June 2000 and that 
the Article 8 complaint did not raise any new 
issues not already established in the Court’s 
case-law. The Government questioned wheth-
er it had been necessary to have engaged both 
leading and junior counsel to work on the case 
in addition to a solicitor, and whether it had 
been necessary for both barristers and the so-
licitor to visit the applicant in prison at a total 
cost of nearly GBP 4,700.00. The Government 
suggested that GBP 1,500, plus VAT, would be 
a reasonable sum.

31. The Court recalls that it will award legal costs 
and expenses only if satisfied that these were 
necessarily incurred and reasonable as to 
quantum. It agrees with the Government that 
this was a straightforward case, raising virtually 
identical issues to the above-mentioned Khan 
judgment. It awards EUR 4,800 in respect of 
costs and expenses, plus any VAT that may be 
payable.

C. Default interest
32. The Court considers that the default interest 

should be fixed at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank plus 
three percentage points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that there has been a violation of Arti-
cle 8 of the Convention;

2. Holds that there has been a violation of Arti-

cle 13 of the Convention;

3. Holds that the finding of a violation consti-
tutes in itself sufficient just satisfaction for 
any non-pecuniary damage sustained by the 
applicant;

4. Holds

(a) that the respondent State is to pay the 
applicant, within three months from the 
date on which the judgment becomes 
final according to Article 44 § 2 of the 
Convention, EuR 4,800 (four thousand 
eight hundred euros) in respect of costs 
and expenses, plus any tax that may be 
chargeable, to be converted into pounds 
sterling at the rate applicable on the date 
of settlement;

(b) that simple interest at a rate equal to the 
marginal lending rate of the European 
Central Bank during the default period 
plus three percentage points shall be pay-
able from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement;

5. Dismisses the remainder of the applicant’s 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 22 Oc-
tober 2002, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the 
Rules of Court.

S. Dollé, Registrar
J.-P. Costa, President
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INTERFERENCE, PRIVATE LIFE, COMMUNICATION, TEL-
EPHONE, TAPPING, SURVEILLANCE, INTERCEPTION, 
SECRET

IN THE CASE Of AMANN v. SWITzERLAND,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting, in 
accordance with Article 27 of the Convention for 
the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental 
Freedoms (“the Convention”), as amended by Pro-
tocol No. 111, and the relevant provisions of the 
Rules of Court2, as a Grand Chamber composed of 
the following judges:
Mrs E. Palm, President,  
Mr L. Wildhaber,  
Mr L. Ferrari Bravo,  
Mr Gaukur Jörundsson,  
Mr L. Caflisch,  
Mr I. Cabral Barreto,  
Mr J.-P. Costa,  
Mr W. Fuhrmann,  
Mr K. Jungwiert,  
Mr M. Fischbach,  
Mr B. Zupančič,  
Mrs N. Vajić,  
Mr J. Hedigan,  
Mrs W. Thomassen,  
Mrs M. Tsatsa-Nikolovska,  
Mr E. Levits,  
Mr K. Traja,  
and also of Mr M. de Salvia, Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 30 September 
1999 and 12 January 2000,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case was referred to the Court by the Eu-

ropean Commission of Human Rights (“the 
Commission”) on 2 November 1998, within the 
three-month period laid down by former Arti-
cles 32 § 1 and 47 of the Convention. It origi-
nated in an application (no. 27798/95) against 
the Swiss Confederation lodged with the Com-
mission under former Article 25 by a Swiss na-

tional, Mr Hermann Amann, on 27 June 1995. 
Having been designated before the Commis-
sion by the initials H.A., the applicant subse-
quently agreed to the disclosure of his name.

The Commission’s request referred to for-
mer Articles 44 and 48 and to the declaration 
whereby Switzerland recognised the compul-
sory jurisdiction of the Court (former Article 
46). The object of the request was to obtain 
a decision as to whether the facts of the case 
disclosed a breach by the respondent State of 
its obligations under Articles 8 and 13 of the 
Convention.

2. In accordance with the provisions of Article 
5 § 4 of Protocol No. 11 taken together with 
Rules 100 § 1 and 24 § 6 of the Rules of Court, 
a panel of the Grand Chamber decided on 14 
January 1999 that the case would be examined 
by the Grand Chamber of the Court. The Grand 
Chamber included ex officio Mr L. Wildhaber, 
the judge elected in respect of Switzerland and 
President of the Court (Articles 27 §§ 2 and 
3 of the Convention and Rule 24 § 3), Mrs E. 
Palm, Vice-President of the Court, and Mr J.-P. 
Costa and Mr M. Fischbach, Vice-Presidents of 
Sections (Article 27 § 3 of the Convention and 
Rule 24 §§ 3 and 5 (a)). The other members 
appointed to complete the Grand Chamber 
were Mr L. Ferrari Bravo, Mr Gaukur Jörunds-
son, Mr I. Cabral Barreto, Mr W. Fuhrmann, Mr K. 
Jungwiert, Mr B. Zupančič, Mrs N. Vajić, Mr J. 
Hedigan, Mrs W. Thomassen, Mrs M. Tsatsa-
Nikolovska, Mr T. Panţîru, Mr E. Levits and Mr K. 
Traja (Rule 24 § 3).

3. Before the Court the applicant was repre-
sented by Mr L.A. Minelli, of the Zürich Bar, 
who was given leave by the President of the 
Grand Chamber, Mrs Palm, to use the German 
language (Rule 34 § 3). The Swiss Government 
(“the Government”) were represented by their 
Agent, Mr P. Boillat, Head of the International 
Affairs Division, Federal Office of Justice.

4. After consulting the Agent of the Government 
and the applicant’s lawyer, the Grand Cham-
ber decided that it was not necessary to hold 
a hearing.

5. The Registrar received the Government’s me-
morial and documents on 15 and 22 April and 
the applicant’s memorial and documents on 
11 May 1999, and the Government’s and appli-
cant’s memorials and observations in reply on 
10 and 14 June 1999 respectively.

6. As Mr Panţîru was unable to attend delibera-
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tions on 12 January 2000, Mr L. Caflisch, sub-
stitute judge, replaced him as a member of the 
Grand Chamber (Rule 24 § 5 (b)).

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

7. The applicant, who was born in 1940, is a 
businessman living in Switzerland. In the early 
1980s he imported depilatory appliances into 
Switzerland which he advertised in magazines.

8. On 12 October 1981 a woman telephoned the 
applicant from the former Soviet embassy in 
Berne to order a “Perma Tweez” depilatory ap-
pliance.

9. That telephone call was intercepted by the 
Federal Public Prosecutor’s Office (Bundesan-
waltschaft – “the Public Prosecutor’s Office”), 
which then requested the Intelligence Service 
of the police of the Canton of Zürich to carry 
out an investigation into the applicant and the 
goods he sold.

10. The report drawn up by the police of the Can-
ton of Zürich in December 1981 stated that 
the applicant, who had been registered in the 
Commercial Registry since 1973, was in the 
aerosols business. It stated that “Perma Tweez” 
was a battery-operated depilatory appliance; a 
leaflet describing the appliance was appended 
to the report.

11. On 24 December 1981 the Public Prosecutor’s 
Office drew up a card on the applicant for its 
national security card index on the basis of the 
particulars provided by the police of the Can-
ton of Zürich.

12. In 1990 the public learned of the existence of 
the card index being kept by the Public Pros-
ecutor’s Office and many people, including the 
applicant, asked to consult their card.

13. Various laws on accessing and processing the 
Confederation’s documents were then en-
acted.

14. On 12 September 1990 the special officer in 
charge of the Confederation’s national security 
documents (“the special officer”) sent the ap-
plicant, at his request, a photocopy of his card.

15. The applicant’s card, which was numbered 
(1153 : 0) 614 and on which two passages had 

been blue-pencilled ..., contained the following 
information:
“fromtheZürichIntelligenceService:A.identi-
fiedasacontactwiththeRussianembassyac-
cordingto....A.doesbusinessofvariouskinds
with the [A.] company. Appendices: extract
fromtheCommercialRegistryandleaflet....”

16. As soon as he received his card, the applicant 
asked the Ombudsman at the Public Prosecu-
tor’s Office to disclose the blue-pencilled pas-
sages.

17. On 9 October 1990 the Ombudsman replied 
that the censored passage at the end of the 
card rightly concealed the initials of the federal 
police officers who had obtained the informa-
tion on the card. The other censored passage 
related to a technical surveillance measure or-
dered against a third party; the Ombudsman 
stated that he would be recommending that 
the special officer disclose that information, 
since – in his view – the applicant’s interest 
prevailed over the public interest in keeping it 
secret.

18. On 19 April 1991 the special officer decided, on 
the basis of Article 5 § 1 of the Order of 5 March 
1990 on the Processing of Federal National Se-
curity Documents, that the initials at the end 
of the card could not be disclosed. He also 
considered that the other censored passage 
contained counter-intelligence which, pursu-
ant to Article 5 § 3 (a) of the Order, should not 
be disclosed. On the basis of those considera-
tions, the disclosure of the applicant’s card was 
extended to one word (“report”):
“fromtheZürichIntelligenceService:A.iden-
tified as a contactwith the Russian embassy
accordingtoreport...A.doesbusinessofvari-
ouskindswiththe[A.]company.Appendices:
extract from the Commercial Registry and
leaflet....”

19. On 26 October 1991 the applicant filed a re-
quest for compensation with the Federal De-
partment of Finance. His request was refused 
on 28 January 1992.

20. On 9 March 1992 the applicant filed an ad-
ministrative-law action with the Federal Court 
claiming compensation from the Confedera-
tion of 5,000 Swiss francs for the unlawful entry 
of his particulars in the card index kept by the 
Public Prosecutor’s Office. He also requested 
that his file and card be sent immediately to 
the Federal Archives with a prohibition on 
making any copies and that they be ordered to 
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store the information under lock and key and 
not disclose any of it without his agreement.

21. On being invited to submit its written observa-
tions, the Confederation stated, in its memorial 
of 26 May 1992, that according to the informa-
tion provided by the Public Prosecutor’s Office 
and the special officer the record of the surveil-
lance was no longer in the federal police’s files. 
It pointed out in that connection that, pursuant 
to section 66(1 ter) of the Federal Criminal Pro-
cedure Act (“FCPA”), documents which were 
no longer necessary had to be destroyed (“Das 
Protokoll der technischen Ueberwachung ist 
gemäss Auskunft der Bundesanwaltschaft 
und des Sonderbeauftragten ... in den Akten 
der Bundespolizei nicht mehr vorhanden. In 
diesem Zusammenhang ist anzumerken, dass 
nicht mehr benötigte Akten gemäss Art. 66 
Abs. 1ter BStP ... vernichtet werden müssen”).

22. The Federal Court held hearings on 27 October 
1993 and 14 September 1994.

The applicant’s lawyer pointed out that the 
case number of the card, namely (1153 : 0) 614, 
was a code meaning “communist country” (1), 
“Soviet Union” (153), “espionage established” 
(0) and “various contacts with the Eastern bloc” 
(614).

The Confederation’s representative stated that 
where someone (jemand) at the former Soviet 
embassy was under surveillance, on every tel-
ephone call both parties to the conversation 
were identified, a card drawn up on them and a 
telephone monitoring report (Telefon-Abhör-
Bericht) made. In that connection she stated 
that most of the reports had been destroyed 
and that those which had not been were now 
stored in bags; the intention had been to de-
stroy them as well, but when the post of special 
officer had been instituted everything had had 
to be maintained “in its present state”. She went 
on to state that she did not know whether the 
telephone monitoring report in respect of the 
applicant had or had not been destroyed. Ac-
cording to information she had received from 
the special officer, the reports had not been 
sorted and it would require about five people 
and one year’s work to examine the contents 
of all the bags still in existence.

23. In a judgment of 14 September 1994, which 
was served on 25 January 1995, the Federal 
Court dismissed all the applicant’s claims.

24. Regarding the issue whether there was a legal 
basis for the measures complained of, the Fed-

eral Court referred first to section 17(3) FCPA 
and Article 1 of the Federal Council’s Decree 
of 29 April 1958 on the Police Service of the 
Federal Public Prosecutor’s Office. However, it 
considered it unnecessary to examine whether 
those provisions could have provided a law-
ful basis for the alleged infringement of the 
applicant’s personality rights, since one of the 
conditions for awarding compensation had 
not been met.

25. The court then referred to sections 66 et seq., 
and particularly section 72 FCPA on the moni-
toring of telephone communications and post-
al correspondence, and to Articles 265 et seq. 
of the Criminal Code, which govern “crimes or 
major offences against the State,” and reiterat-
ed that information could lawfully be gathered 
– even before a prosecution was brought – in 
order to prevent an offence being committed 
against the State or national security if there 
was evidence that such an offence was being 
prepared.

26. In that connection the Federal Court found:

“... a card was drawn up on the plaintiff in
connectionwith the thenmonitoring of tel-
ephonecommunicationswiththeSovietem-
bassy for counter-intelligence reasons.As he
hadcontactswithamaleorfemaleemployee
of theSoviet embassy and itwasnot imme-
diatelyclearthatthe‘PermaTweez’appliance
which he soldwas a harmless depilatory in-
strument,theauthoritiesactedcorrectlyinin-
vestigatinghisidentity,hiscircumstancesand
the ‘PermaTweez’appliance inquestionand
recordingtheresult.”

27. The Federal Court held, however, that it did not 
have to rule on whether those provisions, par-
ticularly section 66(1 ter) FCPA, allowed the in-
formation thus obtained to be kept after it had 
become apparent that no criminal offence was 
being prepared (“Fraglich ist, ob die Aufzeich-
nungen weiter aufbewahrt werden durften, 
nachdem sich offenbar herausgestellt hatte, 
dass keine strafbare Handlung vorbereitet 
wurde”), since the applicant had not suffered 
a serious infringement of his personality rights.

28. In that connection the Federal Court reiterated 
that, pursuant to section 6(2) of the Federal Li-
ability Act of 14 March 1958, the Swiss Confed-
eration had a duty to pay compensation in cas-
es of serious infringement of personality rights, 
but considered that in this case that condition 
had not been met. The Federal Court held that 
the mere fact that the applicant had been 
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named in the file as a “contact with the Russian 
embassy” could hardly be considered as an 
infringement of his personality rights. Moreo-
ver, even if part of the case number meant 
“espionage established”, there was nothing to 
indicate that the authorities had considered 
the applicant to be a spy and although the 
expression “contact with the Russian embassy” 
could conceivably imply that the applicant 
had effectively had regular contact with the 
embassy, his card had to be seen, not in isola-
tion, but in the wider context of the card index 
as a whole and the other circumstances of the 
case; in particular, the fact that no other entry 
had been made on his card suggested that the 
authorities did not suspect the applicant of 
having illegal contacts with the embassy. Fur-
thermore, it could not be presumed that the 
applicant had been subject to surveillance on 
other occasions or that the recorded informa-
tion had been disclosed to third parties. Taken 
as a whole, the applicant’s file thus appeared 
to be of minor importance and there was noth-
ing to indicate that it had been used for other 
purposes or unlawfully disclosed.

29. Lastly, the Federal Court held that the appli-
cant’s administrative-law action, which he had 
filed with it on 9 March 1992, was an “effective 
remedy” within the meaning of Article 13 of 
the Convention. It also pointed out that the 
applicant could have instituted proceedings 
challenging certain data in the Public Pros-
ecutor’s card index and requesting that they 
be amended. In that connection the Federal 
Court referred to, inter alia, the Federal Coun-
cil’s Directives of 16 March 1981 applicable to 
the Processing of Personal Data in the Federal 
Administration (section 44), to the Federal De-
cree of 9 October 1992 on the Consultation of 
Documents of the Federal Public Prosecutor’s 
Office (Article 7 § 1) and to the Federal Coun-
cil’s Order of 20 January 1993 on the Consulta-
tion of Documents of the Federal Public Pros-
ecutor’s Office (Article 11 § 1).

30. In 1996 the applicant’s card was removed from 
the card index and transferred to the Federal 
Archives where it cannot be consulted for fifty 
years.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW

A. The federal Constitution
31. The relevant provisions of the Federal Constitu-

tion in force at the material time were worded 
as follows:

Article 102

“ThepowersanddutiesoftheFederalCouncil,
asreferredtointhepresentConstitution,are
thefollowing,amongothers:

...

9.ItshallensurethatSwitzerland’sexternalse-
curity isprotectedandits independenceand
neutralitymaintained;

10.ItshallensurethattheConfederation’sin-
ternalsecurityisprotectedandthatpeaceand
orderaremaintained;

...”

B. The federal Council’s Decree of 29 April 
1958 on the Police Service of the federal 
Public Prosecutor’s Office

32. The relevant provisions of the Federal Council’s 
Decree of 29 April 1958 on the Police Service 
of the Federal Public Prosecutor’s Office are 
worded as follows:

Article 1

“ThePoliceServiceoftheFederalPublicPros-
ecutor’sOffice(FederalPolice)shallprovidean
investigation and information service in the
interests of the Confederation’s internal and
externalsecurity.Thatserviceshallcomprise:

1. The surveillance andprevention of acts li-
abletoendangertheConfederation’sinternal
orexternalsecurity(policepolitique);

2. Police investigations in theprosecutionof
offencesagainsttheinternalorexternalsecu-
rityoftheConfederation(policejudiciaire).”

C. The federal Criminal Procedure Act
33. The relevant provisions of the Federal Crimi-

nal Procedure Act in force at the material time 
were worded as follows:

Section 17
“…

3.TheFederalPublicProsecutor’sOfficeshall
beprovidedwith thepersonnelnecessary to
enable it to run a uniform investigation and
informationserviceintheinterestsoftheCon-
federation’sinternalandexternalsecurity.The
Public Prosecutor’s Office shall, as a general
rule, act in concert with the relevant police
authoritiesofthecantons.Itshallineachcase
inform thosepolice authoritiesof the results
ofitsinvestigationsassoonastheaimofand
stagereachedintheproceedingsmakeitpos-
sibletodoso.”
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Section 66

“1. The investigating judgemay ordermoni-
toringoftheaccused’sorsuspect’spostalcor-
respondence and telephone and telegraphic
telecommunicationsif

(a) thecriminalproceedingsconcernacrime
or major offence whose seriousness or par-
ticular nature justifies intervention or a pun-
ishable offence committed bymeans of the
telephone;andif

(b)specificfactscausethepersonwhoistobe
monitoredtobesuspectedofbeingaprinci-
paloraccessoryinthecommissionoftheof-
fence;andif

(c)without interception, thenecessary inves-
tigationswouldbesignificantlymoredifficult
toconductor ifother investigativemeasures
haveproducednoresults.

1 bis. Where the conditions justifying the
monitoringoftheaccusedorsuspectaresat-
isfied, thirdpartiesmay alsobemonitored if
specificfactsgiverisetothepresumptionthat
they are receiving or imparting information
intendedfortheaccusedorsuspectorsentby
him...Thetelephoneconnectionofthirdpar-
tiesmaybemonitoredatanytimeifthereare
reasonstosuspectthatitisbeingusedbythe
accused.

1ter.Recordingswhicharenotneededforthe
conductofaninvestigationshallbekeptina
separateplace,under lockandkey,andshall
bedestroyedattheendoftheproceedings.”

Section 66 bis
“1.Within twenty-four hours of his decision,
theinvestigatingjudgeshallsubmitacopyof
it, accompaniedby the file andabrief state-
mentofhisreasons,forapprovalbythePresi-
dentoftheIndictmentDivision.

2. The decision shall remain in force for not
morethansixmonths;theinvestigatingjudge
mayextenditsvalidityforoneormorefurther
periodsofsixmonths.Theorderextendingits
validity,accompaniedbythefileandthestate-
mentofreasons,mustbesubmitted,notlater
thantendaysbeforeexpiryofthetime-limit,
for approval by the President of the Indict-
mentDivision.

3. The investigating judge shall discontinue
the monitoring as soon as it becomes un-
necessary, or immediately if his decision is
rescinded.”

Section 66 ter
“1. The President of the Indictment Division
shall scrutinise the decision in the light of
thestatementof reasonsand the file.Where
hefindsthattherehasbeenabreachoffed-
erallaw,includinganyabuseofadiscretionary
power,heshallrescindthedecision.

2. He may authorise monitoring provision-
ally;inthatcase,heshalllaydownatime-limit
withinwhichtheinvestigatingjudgemustjus-
tifythemeasure,eitherbyaddinganyrelevant
materialtothefileororally.”

Section 66 quater
“1. The procedure shall be kept secret even
fromthepersonconcerned.ThePresidentof
the Indictment Division shall give brief rea-
sonsforhisdecisionandnotifytheinvestigat-
ingjudgethereofwithinfivedaysofthedate
whenthemonitoringbeganor,wherethepe-
riodofvalidityhasbeenextended,beforethe
furtherperiodbegins.

2. The President of the Indictment Division
shall ensure that the interception measures
arediscontinuedonexpiryofthetime-limit.”

Section 72

“1.Beforetheopeningofapreliminaryinves-
tigation the Principal Public Prosecutor may
order interception of postal correspondence
and telephone and telegraphic communica-
tionsandprescribetheuseoftechnicalappli-
ances...

2.Hemayalsoorderthosemeasuresinorder
to prevent the commission of a punishable
offence justifying such intervention where
particular circumstancesgive rise to thepre-
sumption that such an offence is being pre-
pared.

3.Sections66to66quatershallbeapplicable
byanalogy.”

D. Legislation on the processing and 
consultation of the Confederation’s 
documents

34. The relevant provisions of the Federal Council’s 
Directives of 16 March 1981 applicable to the 
Processing of Personal Data in the Federal Ad-
ministration are worded as follows:

4 General principles

41 Principles governing data processing

“411.Theremustbealegalbasisforthepro-
cessingofpersonaldata.
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412.Personaldatamaybeprocessedonlyfor
very specific purposes. The data and tech-
niqueusedtoprocessthemmustbeappropri-
ateandnecessary to theperformanceof the
tasktobecarriedout.

413. Inaccurate or incomplete data must be
rectifiedhavingregardtothepurposeofthe
processing.

414.Datawhichareofnoforeseeablefurther
useorwhichhaveevidentlybeenprocessed
illegallymustbedestroyed.

TheobligationtostorethemintheFederalAr-
chivesisreserved.

...”

43 Information

“431. As regards personal data files the fed-
eral offices and other administrative units
havingthesamestatusmusttaketheneces-
sarymeasurestoensurethattheycansupply
informationonthelegalbasisandaimofthe
files,thenatureoftheprocesseddataandthe
lawfulrecipientsthereoftoanyonerequesting
thesame.

432. On request, they must indicate in a
comprehensiblemanner to anyonewho has
disclosedhis identitywhether–andwhich–
dataonhim fromaparticular filehavebeen
processed.

...”

44 Rectification or destruction following a 
request

“If itemerges,ona request, that thedataon
thepersonmakingtherequestareinaccurate
or incomplete, or inappropriate to the pur-
pose forwhich they have been recorded, or
that processing is illegal for another reason,
theorganinquestionmustrectifyordestroy
suchdataimmediately,andatthelatestwhen
thefileisnextaccessed.”

35. The relevant provisions of the Federal Coun-
cil’s Order of 5 March 1990 on the Processing 
of Federal National Security Documents are 
worded as follows:

Article 1

“1. The present Order shall guarantee that
personsinrespectofwhomthefederalpolice
possess documents compiled on grounds of
nationalsecuritycandefendtheirpersonality
rightswithout hindering theperformance of
nationalsecuritytasks.

2.Federaldocumentscompiledongroundsof
nationalsecurityshallbeplacedinthecustody
ofaspecialofficer...”

Article 4

“1.Thespecialofficershallhavecustodyofall
documentsbelongingtothePoliceServiceof
theFederalPublicProsecutor’sOffice.

2.Heshallthensortthedocumentsandwith-
drawthosewhichservenofurtherpurpose...”

Article 5

“1.Thespecialofficershallallowapplicantsto
consulttheircardsbysendingthemaphoto-
copythereof.

2. He shall conceal data relating to persons
whohaveprocessedthecardsandtoforeign
intelligenceandsecurityservices.

3. Furthermore,hemay refuseor restrict the
consultationifit

(a) revealsdetailsof investigativeprocedures
in progress or of knowledge relating to the
fightagainstterrorism,counter-intelligenceor
thefightagainstorganisedcrime;

...”

Article 13

“1.TheombudsmanappointedbytheFederal
Council shall examine, at the request of the
personconcerned,whetherthepresentOrder
hasbeencompliedwith.

…”

Article 14

“1.Anyoneclaimingthathisrequesttoconsult
hiscardhasnotbeendealtwithinaccordance
with thepresentOrdermaycontact theom-
budsmanwithinthirtydays.

2. If the ombudsman considers that the Or-
der hasbeen compliedwith, he shall inform
theapplicantaccordingly.Theapplicantmay
lodge an appeal with the Federal Council
within thirty days of receiving the ombuds-
man’sdecision.

3.IftheombudsmanconsidersthattheOrder
hasnotbeen compliedwith, he shall inform
the special officer and the applicant accord-
ingly.Thespecialofficershallthengiveafresh
decision,whichissubjecttoappeal.”

36. The relevant provisions of the Federal Decree 
of 9 October 1992 on the Consultation of 
Documents of the Federal Public Prosecutor’s 
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Office provide:

Article 4

“1. Authorisation to consult documents shall
be granted to persons who submit a prima
faciecasethattheyhavesustainedpecuniary
ornon-pecuniarydamageinconnectionwith
informationtranspiringfromdocumentsheld
bythePoliceServiceorwithactsbyofficersof
theFederalPublicProsecutor’sOffice.

…”

Article 7

“1.Thespecialofficershallsortthedocuments
placed in his custody and eliminate those
whicharenolongernecessaryfornationalse-
curityandarenolongerthesubjectofacon-
sultationprocess.

2.Documentsrelatingtocriminalproceedings
shallbeeliminatedif

(a) the time-limit forprosecutingtheoffence
has expired following a stay of theproceed-
ings;

(b) the proceedings have been closedby an
enforceablejudgment.

3. Theeliminateddocuments shall be stored
in the Federal Archives. They can no longer
beconsultedbytheauthoritiesandaccessto
themshallbeprohibitedforfiftyyears.”

37. The relevant provisions of the Federal Council’s 
Order of 20 January 1993 on the Consultation 
of Documents of the Federal Public Prosecu-
tor’s Office are worded as follows:

Article 11

“1. A person who contests the accuracy of
certaindatamayrequestthatanappropriate
annotation bemarked on the documents or
appendedthereto.

2.Documentswhicharemanifestlyerroneous
shallberectifiedattherequestoftheperson
concerned.

...”

E. The Parliamentary Commission of Inquiry 
set up to investigate the so-called “card 
index” affair

38. A Parliamentary Commission of Inquiry (“PCI”) 
was set up to investigate the so-called “card in-
dex” affair. In its report published in the Federal 
Gazette (Feuille fédérale (FF) 1990, I, pp. 593 et 
seq.) it noted, among other things, in connec-

tion with the monitoring of telephone conver-
sations (pp. 759 and 760):
“According to various sources, a number of
people feared that their telephone conver-
sations were being monitored for political
reasons. The PCI has conducted a thorough
examination of the technical surveillance
measuresorderedbytheFederalPublicPros-
ecutor’sOffice.Inthecourseofthatexamina-
tionitrequestedfromtheFederalPublicPros-
ecutor’s Office a full and detailed list of the
personswhose telephoneswere tappedand
thetelephoneconnectionswhichweremoni-
tored; that list was then compared with the
list requested independently from the Post,
Telecommunications and Telegraph Office.
The PCIwas then able to satisfy itself, partly
with thehelpof certaindocumentsandalso
following an interviewwith the President of
the IndictmentDivisionof theFederalCourt,
that there were no differences between the
listsdrawnupbytheauthoritiesorderingthe
telephonetappingandtheauthoritiesimple-
mentingthoseorders.

...

The federal investigating judge and, before
thepreliminaryinvestigationbegins,theFed-
eralPublicProsecutorhavepower toordera
surveillancemeasure.Adecisiontakentothis
effect is valid for no more than six months
butmaybeextendedifnecessary. It requires
in all cases the approval of the President of
the IndictmentDivisionof theFederalCourt.
That approval procedure has been consider-
ably formalisedover recentyearsand isnow
appliedbymeansofapre-printed form.The
PCInotedthatalldecisionshadbeensubmit-
tedtothePresidentoftheIndictmentDivision
andthathehadapprovedallofthemwithout
exception...”

PRoCEEDInGs BEFoRE 
tHE CoMMIssIon
39. Mr Amann applied to the Commission on 27 

June 1995. Relying on Articles 8 and 13 of the 
Convention, he complained that a telephone 
call he had received had been intercepted, that 
the Public Prosecutor’s Office had filled in a 
card on him and kept it in the resulting federal 
card index and that he had had no effective 
remedy in that connection.

40. The Commission (First Chamber) declared the 
application (no. 27798/95) admissible on 3 De-
cember 1997. In its report of 20 May 1998 (for-
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mer Article 31 of the Convention) it concluded, 
by nine votes to eight, that there had been a 
violation of Article 8 and, unanimously, that 
there had been no violation of Article 13. The 
full text of the Commission’s opinion and of 
the dissenting opinion contained in the report 
is reproduced as an annex to this judgment3.

FInAL sUBMIssIons to 
tHE CoURt
41. In their memorials the Government asked 

the Court to find that the applicant had not 
repeated his complaint of a violation of Arti-
cle 13 of the Convention and that there was 
therefore no need to examine it. With regard 
to the merits, the Government asked the Court 
to hold that the facts which gave rise to the 
application introduced by Mr Amann against 
Switzerland had not amounted to a violation of 
the Convention.

42. The applicant asked the Court to find that there 
had been a violation of Articles 8 and 13 of the 
Convention and to award him just satisfaction 
under Article 41.

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION ARISING 
FROM THE INTERCEPTION OF THE 
TELEPHONE CALL OF 12 OCTOBER 
1981

43. The applicant complained that the intercep-
tion of the telephone call he had received from 
a person at the former Soviet embassy in Berne 
had breached Article 8 of the Convention, 
which is worded as follows:

“1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection

oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

A. Applicability of Article 8
44. The Court reiterates that telephone calls re-

ceived on private or business premises are cov-
ered by the notions of “private life” and “cor-
respondence” within the meaning of Article 8 
§ 1 (see the Halford v. the United Kingdom 
judgment of 25 June 1997, Reports of Judg-
ments and Decisions 1997-III, p. 1016, § 44). 
This point was not in fact disputed.

B. Compliance with Article 8
1.Whethertherewasanyinterference

45. The Court notes that it is not disputed that 
the Public Prosecutor’s Office intercepted and 
recorded a telephone call received by the ap-
plicant on 12 October 1981 from a person at 
the former Soviet embassy in Berne. There was 
therefore “interference by a public authority”, 
within the meaning of Article 8 § 2, with the 
exercise of a right guaranteed to the applicant 
under paragraph 1 of that provision (see the 
Kopp v. Switzerland judgment of 25 March 
1998, Reports 1998-II, p. 540, § 53).

2.Justificationfortheinterference
46. Such interference breaches Article 8 unless it 

is “in accordance with the law”, pursues one 
or more of the legitimate aims referred to in 
paragraph 2 and is, in addition, “necessary in a 
democratic society” to achieve those aims.

C. Whether the interference was “in 
accordance with the law”

47. The applicant submitted that there was no 
legal basis for the interference in Swiss law. In 
particular, he asserted that the Government 
could not rely on sections 66 to 72 FCPA as 
a basis for the measure complained of since 
they had not produced any evidence to prove 
that criminal proceedings had been brought 
against a third party or that the authorities 
had complied with the procedure laid down 
by those provisions. He argued in that con-
nection that the Government’s claim that the 
documents were no longer available lacked 
credibility. It transpired from the report of the 
Parliamentary Commission of Inquiry set up to 
investigate the so-called “card index” affair that 
lists had been kept relating to the telephone 
tapping ordered by the Public Prosecutor’s Of-
fice and carried out by the Post, Telecommu-
nications and Telegraph Office; furthermore, 
the Indictment Division of the Federal Court 
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had kept registers recording the authorisa-
tions issued by its President; moreover, the 
Government could not claim that an employee 
at the former Soviet embassy in Berne was be-
ing monitored unless they had documents to 
support that assertion; lastly, the fact that the 
recording had not been destroyed “at the end 
of the proceedings” (section 66(1 ter) FCPA) 
showed that there had not been an investiga-
tion within the meaning of sections 66 et seq. 
FCPA.

The applicant maintained that all the telephone 
lines at the former Soviet embassy in Berne had 
been systematically tapped without any spe-
cific person being suspected of committing an 
offence or judicial proceedings being instituted 
in accordance with the law. He submitted that 
this presumption was confirmed by the fact 
that during the proceedings before the Swiss 
authorities the latter had expressly mentioned 
the term “counter-intelligence”. In addition, the 
inquiries by the Parliamentary Commission of 
Inquiry set up to investigate the so-called “card 
index” affair had shown that the federal police 
had monitored citizens for decades without a 
court order. Section 17(3) FCPA could not be 
relied on as a basis for such practices by the 
police politique.

With regard to the Federal Council’s Decree of 
29 April 1958 on the Police Service of the Fed-
eral Public Prosecutor’s Office, the applicant 
pointed out that the text contained purely or-
ganisational provisions relating to the various 
offices of the Federal Department of Justice 
and Police and did not in any way empower 
those offices to interfere with the rights and 
freedoms protected by the Convention; it 
could not therefore be considered to be an 
adequate legal basis. Moreover, the applicant 
considered that the text was not sufficiently 
precise and accessible to satisfy the require-
ment of “foreseeability” as defined by the 
Court’s case-law.

48. The Commission found that there had not 
been a sufficient legal basis for the monitoring 
of the applicant’s telephone conversation. The 
Federal Council’s Decree of 29 April 1958 on 
the Police Service of the Federal Public Prose-
cutor’s Office was drafted in too general terms. 
Furthermore, it had not been shown that the 
procedure laid down in sections 66 et seq. 
FCPA had been followed.

49. The Government maintained that there had 
definitely been a legal basis in Swiss law. As 

a preliminary point, they indicated that the 
measure in question had been carried out, 
under section 66(1 bis) FCPA, in the context of 
monitoring ordered by the Public Prosecutor’s 
Office of a particular employee at the former 
Soviet embassy in Berne and that the applicant 
had not been the subject of the telephone tap-
ping, either as a suspect or as a third party (the 
latter being the person who had ordered the 
depilatory appliance); the applicant had there-
fore been recorded “fortuitously” as a “neces-
sary participant”.

In the Government’s submission it was of little 
importance whether the measure had been 
ordered in the context of criminal proceed-
ings which had already been instituted or with 
the aim of preventing the commission of an 
offence, since section 17(3) (based on Article 
102 §§ 9 and 10 of the Federal Constitution), 
section 72 FCPA and Article 1 of the Federal 
Council’s Decree of 29 April 1958 on the Police 
Service of the Federal Public Prosecutor’s Office 
formed a sufficient legal basis in either case. It 
pointed out that the Court had concluded in a 
similar case that there had been a legal basis in 
Swiss law (see the Kopp judgment cited above, 
pp. 540-41, §§ 56-61).

The only decisive question was whether the 
safeguards provided for by law had been 
complied with. In that connection the Govern-
ment stated that since they were unable to 
consult the file they could not verify whether 
the approval of the President of the Indict-
ment Division of the Federal Court required 
under section 66 bis FCPA had been granted. 
In the light of the statement in the report by 
the Parliamentary Commission of Inquiry set 
up to examine the so-called “card index” affair 
that the President of the Indictment Division 
of the Federal Court had approved all the in-
vestigating judge’s decisions, they presumed, 
however, that he had also done so in this case.

50. The Court draws attention to its established 
case-law, according to which the expression 
“in accordance with the law” not only requires 
that the impugned measure should have some 
basis in domestic law, but also refers to the 
quality of the law in question, requiring that it 
should be accessible to the person concerned 
and foreseeable as to its effects (see the Kopp 
judgment cited above, p. 540, § 55).

i Whether there was a legal basis in Swiss law

51. The Government and the applicant disagreed 
as to whether that condition had been met. 
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The Government’s submission that sections 
17(3) and 72 FCPA and Article 1 of the Federal 
Council’s Decree of 29 April 1958 on the Police 
Service of the Federal Public Prosecutor’s Of-
fice amounted to a sufficient legal basis was 
disputed by the applicant.

52. The Court reiterates that it is primarily for the 
national authorities, notably the courts, to in-
terpret and apply domestic law (see the Kruslin 
v. France judgment of 24 April 1990, Series A 
no. 176-A, pp. 21-22, § 29, and the Kopp judg-
ment cited above, p. 541, § 59). In that con-
nection it points out that the Federal Court, in 
its judgment of 14 September 1994, held that 
it was unnecessary to examine whether sec-
tions 17(3) FCPA and Article 1 of the Federal 
Council’s Decree of 29 April 1958 on the Police 
Service of the Federal Public Prosecutor’s Of-
fice could justify the alleged infringement of 
the applicant’s personality rights. Moreover, 
that court expressed itself only in very general 
terms regarding section 72 FCPA, confining it-
self to pointing out that information could law-
fully be gathered in order to prevent an offence 
being committed against the State or national 
security if there was evidence that such an of-
fence was being prepared.

53. The Court has, admittedly, already ruled on the 
issue whether the Federal Criminal Procedure 
Act amounted, under Swiss law, to a sufficient 
legal basis for telephone tapping (see the Kopp 
judgment cited above, pp. 540-41, §§ 56-61). 
Unlike the position in the instant case, how-
ever, the authority to which Mr Kopp had sub-
mitted his complaint (the Federal Council) had 
examined in detail whether the surveillance 
was lawful (ibid., p. 533, § 31 (b)) and section 
72 FCPA was not in issue.

54. In the instant case the Court does not consider 
it necessary to determine whether there was 
a legal basis for the interception of the tele-
phone call of 12 October 1981. Even assuming 
that there was, one of the requirements flow-
ing from the expression “in accordance with 
the law”, namely – here – foreseeability, was 
not satisfied.

ii Quality of the law

55. The Court reiterates that the phrase “in accord-
ance with the law” implies conditions which go 
beyond the existence of a legal basis in domes-
tic law and requires that the legal basis be “ac-
cessible” and “foreseeable”.

56. According to the Court’s established case-law, 

a rule is “foreseeable” if it is formulated with 
sufficient precision to enable any individual – if 
need be with appropriate advice – to regulate 
his conduct (see the Malone v. the United King-
dom judgment of 2 August 1984, Series A no. 
82, pp. 31-32, § 66). With regard to secret sur-
veillance measures the Court has underlined 
the importance of that concept in the follow-
ing terms (ibid., pp. 32-33, §§ 67-68):
“TheCourtwouldreiterateitsopinionthatthe
phrase ‘inaccordancewiththe law’doesnot
merelyreferbacktodomesticlawbutalsore-
lates to thequalityof the law, requiring it to
be compatiblewith the rule of law,which is
expresslymentioned in the preamble to the
Convention ... Thephrase thus implies–and
thisfollowsfromtheobjectandpurposeofAr-
ticle8–thattheremustbeameasureoflegal
protection in domestic law against arbitrary
interferences by public authorities with the
rightssafeguardedbyparagraph1...Especial-
lywhereapoweroftheexecutiveisexercised
insecret,therisksofarbitrarinessareevident...

... Since the implementation in practice of
measuresof secret surveillanceof communi-
cationsisnotopentoscrutinybytheindividu-
alsconcernedorthepublicat large, itwould
be contrary to the rule of law for the legal
discretiongrantedtotheexecutivetobeex-
pressedintermsofanunfetteredpower.Con-
sequently,thelawmustindicatethescopeof
anysuchdiscretionconferredonthecompe-
tentauthoritiesandthemannerofitsexercise
with sufficient clarity, having regard to the
legitimate aim of the measure in question,
to give the individual adequate protection
againstarbitraryinterference.”

It has also stated that “tapping and other forms 
of interception of telephone conversations 
constitute a serious interference with private 
life and correspondence and must accordingly 
be based on a ‘law’ that is particularly precise. It 
is essential to have clear, detailed rules on the 
subject, especially as the technology available 
for use is continually becoming more sophis-
ticated” (see the Kopp judgment cited above, 
pp. 542-43, § 72).

57. The “quality” of the legal provisions relied on in 
the instant case must therefore be considered.

58. The Court points out first of all that Article 1 of 
the Federal Council’s Decree of 29 April 1958 
on the Police Service of the Federal Public 
Prosecutor’s Office, according to which the 
federal police “shall provide an investigation 
and information service in the interests of the 
Confederation’s internal and external security”, 
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including by means of “surveillance” measures, 
contains no indication as to the persons con-
cerned by such measures, the circumstances in 
which they may be ordered, the means to be 
employed or the procedures to be observed. 
That rule cannot therefore be considered to be 
sufficiently clear and detailed to afford appro-
priate protection against interference by the 
authorities with the applicant’s right to respect 
for his private life and correspondence.

59. It considers that the same is true of section 
17(3) FCPA, which is drafted in similar terms.

60. As regards the other provisions of the Federal 
Criminal Procedure Act, the Court observes 
that section 66 defines the categories of per-
sons in respect of whom telephone tapping 
may be judicially ordered and the circumstanc-
es in which such surveillance may be ordered. 
Furthermore, sections 66 bis et seq. set out the 
procedure to be followed; thus, implementa-
tion of the measure is limited in time and sub-
ject to the control of an independent judge, 
in the instant case the President of the Indict-
ment Division of the Federal Court.

61. The Court does not in any way minimise the 
importance of those guarantees. It points out, 
however, that the Government were unable to 
establish that the conditions of application of 
section 66 FCPA had been complied with or 
that the safeguards provided for in sections 66 
et seq. FCPA had been observed.

It points out further that, in the Government’s 
submission, the applicant had not been the 
subject of the impugned measure, either as a 
suspect or an accused, or as a third party pre-
sumed to be receiving information or sending 
it to a suspect or an accused, but had been 
involved “fortuitously” in a telephone conver-
sation recorded in the course of surveillance 
measures taken against a particular member 
of staff of the former Soviet embassy in Berne.

The primary object of the Federal Criminal 
Procedure Act is the surveillance of persons 
suspected or accused of a crime or major of-
fence (section 66(1) FCPA), or even third parties 
presumed to be receiving information from or 
sending it to such persons (section 66(1 bis) 
FCPA), but the Act does not regulate in detail 
the case of persons monitored “fortuitously” as 
“necessary participants” in a telephone conver-
sation recorded by the authorities pursuant to 
those provisions. In particular, the Act does not 
specify the precautions which should be taken 
with regard to those persons.

62. The Court concludes that the interference can-
not therefore be considered to have been “in 
accordance with the law” since Swiss law does 
not indicate with sufficient clarity the scope 
and conditions of exercise of the authorities’ 
discretionary power in the area under consid-
eration.

It follows that there has been a violation of Ar-
ticle 8 of the Convention arising from the re-
cording of the telephone call received by the 
applicant on 12 October 1981 from a person at 
the former Soviet embassy in Berne.

D. Purpose and necessity of the interference
63. Having regard to the foregoing conclusion, the 

Court does not consider it necessary to exam-
ine whether the other requirements of para-
graph 2 of Article 8 were complied with.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION ARISING 
FROM THE CREATION OF A CARD 
AND THE STORING THEREOF IN 
THE CONFEDERATION’S CARD 
INDEX

64. The applicant complained that the creation of 
a card on him, following the interception of a 
telephone call he had received from a person 
at the former Soviet embassy in Berne, and the 
storing thereof in the Confederation’s card in-
dex had resulted in a violation of Article 8 of 
the Convention.

A. Applicability of Article 8
65. The Court reiterates that the storing of data 

relating to the “private life” of an individual 
falls within the application of Article 8 § 1 (see 
the Leander v. Sweden judgment of 26 March 
1987, Series A no. 116, p. 22, § 48).

It points out in this connection that the term 
“private life” must not be interpreted restric-
tively. In particular, respect for private life 
comprises the right to establish and develop 
relationships with other human beings; fur-
thermore, there is no reason of principle to 
justify excluding activities of a professional or 
business nature from the notion of “private life” 
(see the Niemietz v. Germany judgment of 16 
December 1992, Series A no. 251-B, pp. 33-34, 
§ 29, and the Halford judgment cited above, 
pp. 1015-16, § 42).
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That broad interpretation corresponds with 
that of the Council of Europe’s Convention 
of 28 January 1981 for the Protection of Indi-
viduals with regard to Automatic Processing of 
Personal Data, which came into force on 1 Oc-
tober 1985 and whose purpose is “to secure in 
the territory of each Party for every individual 
... respect for his rights and fundamental free-
doms, and in particular his right to privacy, with 
regard to automatic processing of personal 
data relating to him” (Article 1), such personal 
data being defined as “any information relat-
ing to an identified or identifiable individual” 
(Article 2).

66. In the present case the Court notes that a card 
was filled in on the applicant on which it was 
stated that he was a “contact with the Russian 
embassy” and did “business of various kinds 
with the [A.] company” (see paragraphs 15 and 
18 above).

67. The Court finds that those details undeniably 
amounted to data relating to the applicant’s 
“private life” and that, accordingly, Article 8 is 
applicable to this complaint also.

B. Compliance with Article 8
1.Whethertherewasanyinterference

68. The Government submitted that the issue 
whether there had been “interference” within 
the meaning of Article 8 of the Convention 
remained open since “the card contained no 
sensitive information about the applicant’s pri-
vate life”, the latter “had not in any way been 
inconvenienced as a result of the creation and 
storing of his card” and that it had “in all prob-
ability never been consulted by a third party”.

69. The Court reiterates that the storing by a 
public authority of information relating to an 
individual’s private life amounts to an interfer-
ence within the meaning of Article 8. The sub-
sequent use of the stored information has no 
bearing on that finding (see, mutatis mutandis, 
the Leander judgment cited above, p. 22, § 48, 
and the Kopp judgment cited above, p. 540, § 
53).

70. In the instant case the Court notes that a card 
containing data relating to the applicant’s pri-
vate life was filled in by the Public Prosecutor’s 
Office and stored in the Confederation’s card 
index. In that connection it points out that it 
is not for the Court to speculate as to whether 
the information gathered on the applicant 
was sensitive or not or as to whether the ap-

plicant had been inconvenienced in any way. 
It is sufficient for it to find that data relating to 
the private life of an individual were stored by a 
public authority to conclude that, in the instant 
case, the creation and storing of the impugned 
card amounted to an interference, within the 
meaning of Article 8, with the applicant’s right 
to respect for his private life.

2.Justificationfortheinterference
71. Such interference breaches Article 8 unless it 

is “in accordance with the law”, pursues one 
or more of the legitimate aims referred to in 
paragraph 2 and, in addition, is “necessary in a 
democratic society” to achieve those aims.

C. Was the interference “in accordance with 
the law”?

72. The applicant submitted that there was no 
legal basis for creating and storing a card on 
him. In particular, he asserted that section 17(3) 
FCPA did not authorise the federal police to 
record the results of their surveillance meas-
ures. As to the Federal Council’s Directives of 
16 March 1981 applicable to the Processing of 
Personal Data in the Federal Administration, 
these were intended for the civil servants of 
the administration and were not therefore suf-
ficiently clear and precise to enable citizens to 
ascertain their rights and obligations.

In his submission the authorities had, further-
more, failed to comply with the rules in force, 
since section 66(1 ter) FCPA and section 414 
of the Federal Council’s Directives of 16 March 
1981 applicable to the Processing of Personal 
Data in the Federal Administration stipulated 
that recordings which turned out not to be 
necessary to the conduct of an investigation 
should be destroyed.

Lastly, he pointed out that the legislation which 
had come into force in the early 1990s, after 
the so-called “card index” affair had broken, 
did not provide for the possibility of instituting 
judicial proceedings to have a card destroyed. 
Thus, under the Federal Decree of 9 October 
1992 on the Consultation of Documents of 
the Federal Public Prosecutor’s Office and the 
Federal Council’s Order of 20 January 1993 on 
the Consultation of Documents of the Federal 
Public Prosecutor’s Office, cards were stored in 
the Federal Archives and all interested persons 
could do was have their card annotated if they 
disputed its contents.

73. The Commission agreed with the applicant. In 
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particular, it considered that the Federal Coun-
cil’s Directives of 16 March 1981 applicable to 
the Processing of Personal Data in the Federal 
Administration were insufficiently precise and 
merely presupposed that there was a legal ba-
sis to the storing of information without them-
selves providing one.

74. The Government submitted that the Swiss le-
gal system provided a sufficiently accessible 
and foreseeable legal basis having regard to 
“the special nature of secret measures in the 
field of national security”.

Before 1990, they submitted, the impugned 
measures had mainly been based on section 
17(3) FCPA and Article 1 of the Federal Council’s 
Decree of 29 April 1958 on the Police Service 
of the Federal Public Prosecutor’s Office, those 
provisions being given concrete form by the 
Federal Council’s Directives of 16 March 1981 
applicable to the Processing of Personal Data 
in the Federal Administration. They pointed 
out that those directives had been published 
in the Federal Gazette (FF 1981, I, p. 1314).

After 1990, they submitted, a number of texts 
had been enacted on the processing and con-
sultation of documents containing personal 
data, in particular the Federal Council’s Order 
of 5 March 1990 on the Processing of Federal 
National Security Documents, the Federal De-
cree of 9 October 1992 on the Consultation of 
Documents of the Federal Public Prosecutor’s 
Office and the Federal Council’s Order of 20 
January 1993 on the Consultation of Docu-
ments of the Federal Public Prosecutor’s Office.

i Creation of the card

75. The Court notes that in December 1981, when 
the card on the applicant was created, the 
Federal Criminal Procedure Act, the Federal 
Council’s Decree of 29 April 1958 on the Po-
lice Service of the Federal Public Prosecutor’s 
Office and the Federal Council’s Directives of 
16 March 1981 applicable to the Processing 
of Personal Data in the Federal Administra-
tion were in force. None of those provisions, 
however, expressly mentions the existence of 
a register kept by the Public Prosecutor’s Of-
fice, which raises the question whether there 
was “a legal basis in Swiss law” for the creation 
of the card in question and, if so, whether that 
legal basis was “accessible” (see the Leander 
judgment cited above, p. 23, § 51). It observes 
in that connection that the Federal Council’s 
Directives of 16 March 1981 were above all 
intended for the staff of the federal administra-

tion.

In the instant case, however, it does not con-
sider it necessary to rule on this subject, since 
even supposing that there was an accessible 
legal basis for the creation of the card in De-
cember 1981, that basis was not “foreseeable”.

76. The Court has found above (see paragraphs 
58 and 59) that section 17(3) FCPA and Article 
1 of the Federal Council’s Decree of 29 April 
1958 on the Police Service of the Federal Public 
Prosecutor’s Office were drafted in terms too 
general to satisfy the requirement of foresee-
ability in the field of telephone tapping. For the 
reasons already set out, it arrives at the same 
conclusion concerning the creation of the card 
on the applicant.

As regards the Federal Council’s Directives of 
16 March 1981 applicable to the Processing 
of Personal Data in the Federal Administration, 
they set out some general principles, for exam-
ple that “there must be a legal basis for the pro-
cessing of personal data” (section 411) or that 
“personal data may be processed only for very 
specific purposes” (section 412), but do not 
contain any appropriate indication as to the 
scope and conditions of exercise of the power 
conferred on the Public Prosecutor’s Office to 
gather, record and store information; thus, they 
do not specify the conditions in which cards 
may be created, the procedures that have to be 
followed, the information which may be stored 
or comments which might be forbidden.

Those directives, like the Federal Criminal 
Procedure Act and the Federal Council’s De-
cree of 29 April 1958 on the Police Service of 
the Federal Public Prosecutor’s Office, cannot 
therefore be considered sufficiently clear and 
detailed to guarantee adequate protection 
against interference by the authorities with the 
applicant’s right to respect for his private life.

77. The creation of the card on the applicant was 
not therefore “in accordance with the law” 
within the meaning of Article 8 of the Conven-
tion.

ii Storing of the card

78. The Court points out first of all that it would 
seem unlikely that the storing of a card which 
had not been created “in accordance with the 
law” could satisfy that requirement.

Moreover, it notes that Swiss law, both before 
and after 1990, expressly provided that data 
which turned out not to be “necessary” or “had 
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no further purpose” should be destroyed (sec-
tion 66(1 ter) FCPA, section 414 of the Federal 
Council’s Directives of 16 March 1981 applica-
ble to the Processing of Personal Data in the 
Federal Administration and Article 7 of the 
Federal Decree of 9 October 1992 on the Con-
sultation of Documents of the Federal Public 
Prosecutor’s Office).

In the instant case the authorities did not de-
stroy the stored information when it emerged 
that no offence was being prepared, as the 
Federal Court found in its judgment of 14 Sep-
tember 1994.

79. For these reasons, the storing of the card on 
the applicant was not “in accordance with the 
law” within the meaning of Article 8 of the Con-
vention.

80. The Court concludes that both the creation 
of the impugned card by the Public Prosecu-
tor’s Office and the storing of it in the Confed-
eration’s card index amounted to interference 
with the applicant’s private life which cannot 
be considered to be “in accordance with the 
law” since Swiss law does not indicate with 
sufficient clarity the scope and conditions of 
exercise of the authorities’ discretionary power 
in the area under consideration. It follows that 
there has been a violation of Article 8 of the 
Convention.

D. Purpose and necessity of the interference
81. Having regard to the foregoing conclusion, the 

Court does not consider it necessary to exam-
ine whether the other requirements of para-
graph 2 of Article 8 were complied with.

III. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
13 OF THE CONVENTION

82. The applicant also alleged a violation of Article 
13 of the Convention, which is worded as fol-
lows:
“Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [the] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity.”

A. The Government’s preliminary objection
83. The Government noted that the applicant had 

not repeated his complaint relating to Article 
13 of the Convention in his memorial submit-
ted on 11 May 1999. They accordingly consid-

ered that there was no need to examine that 
issue.

84. The Court notes that the applicant relied on 
Article 13 of the Convention before the Com-
mission, that the Commission examined that 
complaint in its report of 20 May 1998 and that, 
when invited to lodge with the Court memori-
als relating to the issues raised by this case, as 
declared admissible by the Commission, the 
applicant submitted observations on Article 13 
in his memorial filed on 14 June 1999.

Accordingly, the Court considers that the ap-
plicant did not manifest an intention to waive 
before it his complaint of a violation of Article 
13 of the Convention which he had alleged be-
fore the Commission.

The Government’s preliminary objection can-
not therefore be upheld.

B. Merits of the complaint
85. The applicant complained that he had not had 

an “effective remedy” since he had been un-
able to raise before the Federal Court the issue 
whether the telephone tapping and the crea-
tion and storing of the card were lawful.

86. The Commission found that the administra-
tive-law action brought by the applicant had 
amounted to an effective remedy.

87. The Government agreed with that finding. 
They stressed that the applicant, in bringing an 
administrative-law action in the Federal Court, 
had sought compensation for non-pecuniary 
damage and, in the alternative, a finding that 
the card on him was illegal.

88. The Court reiterates first of all that in cases aris-
ing from individual petitions the Court’s task is 
not to review the relevant legislation or prac-
tice in the abstract; it must as far as possible 
confine itself, without overlooking the gen-
eral context, to examining the issues raised by 
the case before it (see the Holy Monasteries v. 
Greece judgment of 9 December 1994, Series A 
no. 301-A, pp. 30-31, § 55).

It further observes that Article 13 of the Con-
vention requires that any individual who con-
siders himself injured by a measure allegedly 
contrary to the Convention should have a rem-
edy before a national authority in order both 
to have his claim decided and, if appropriate, 
to obtain redress (see the Leander judgment 
cited above, pp. 29-30, § 77). That provision 
does not, however, require the certainty of a 
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favourable outcome (see the D. v. the United 
Kingdom judgment of 2 May 1997, Reports 
1997-III, p. 798, § 71).

89. In the instant case the Court notes that the ap-
plicant was able to consult his card as soon as 
he asked to do so, in 1990, when the general 
public became aware of the existence of the 
card index being kept by the Public Prosecu-
tor’s Office. It also points out that the applicant 
brought an administrative-law action in the 
Federal Court and that on that occasion he 
was able to complain, firstly, about the lack of 
a legal basis for the telephone tapping and the 
creation of his card and, secondly, the lack of 
an “effective remedy” against those measures. 
It notes that the Federal Court had jurisdiction 
to rule on those complaints and that it duly ex-
amined them. In that connection it reiterates 
that the mere fact that all the applicant’s claims 
were dismissed is not in itself sufficient to de-
termine whether or not the administrative-law 
action was “effective”.

90. The applicant therefore had an effective rem-
edy under Swiss law to complain of the vio-
lations of the Convention which he alleged. 
There has not therefore been a violation of 
Article 13.

IV. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

91. Article 41 of the Convention provides:

“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage
92. The applicant claimed 1,000 Swiss francs (CHF) 

for non-pecuniary damage and did not claim 
any amount in respect of pecuniary damage.

93. The Government maintained that if the Court 
were to find a violation of the Convention, the 
non-pecuniary damage would be adequately 
compensated by the publicity given to the 
judgment.

94. The Court considers that the non-pecuniary 
damage is adequately compensated by the 
finding of violations of Article 8 of the Conven-

tion.

B. Costs and expenses
95. The applicant also claimed CHF 7,082.15 in 

respect of his costs and expenses for the pro-
ceedings before the Convention institutions.

96. The Government stated that, in the light of all 
the circumstances of the present case and the 
amounts awarded by the Court in other appli-
cations directed against Switzerland, they were 
prepared to pay CHF 5,000.

97. The Court considers that the claim for costs 
and expenses is reasonable and that it should 
be allowed in full.

C. Default interest
98. According to the information available to the 

Court, the statutory rate of interest applicable 
in Switzerland at the date of adoption of the 
present judgment is 5% per annum.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
8 of the Convention arising from the intercep-
tion of the telephone call;

2. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
8 of the Convention arising from the creation 
and storing of the card;

3. Dismisses the Government’s preliminary ob-
jection relating to Article 13 of the Conven-
tion;

4. Holds that there has not been a violation of 
Article 13 of the Convention;

5. Holds that the present judgment in itself con-
stitutes sufficient just satisfaction for the non-
pecuniary damage sustained by the applicant;

6. Holds

(a) that the respondent State is to pay the ap-
plicant, within three months, CHf 7,082.15 
(seven thousand and eighty-two Swiss 
francs fifteen centimes) for costs and ex-
penses;

(b) that simple interest at an annual rate of 5% 
shall be payable on this sum from the ex-
piry of the above-mentioned three months 
until settlement;

7. Dismisses the remainder of the claim for just 
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satisfaction.

Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 16 February 2000.

Elisabeth Palm, President
Michele de Salvia, Registrar
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TELEPHONE, TAPPING, COMMUNICATION, INTERFER-
ENCE, PRIVATE LIFE, BUSINESS, LAWYER, INTERCEPTION, 
INVESTIGATION, CORRESPONDENCE, PROTECTED PER-
SON

IN THE CASE Of KOPP v. SWITzERLAND,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting, in 
accordance with Article 43 of the Convention for 
the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamen-
tal Freedoms (“the Convention”) and the relevant 
provisions of Rules of Court B3, as a Chamber com-
posed of the following judges:
Mr R. Bernhardt, President,  
Mr Thór Vilhjálmsson,  
Mr L.-E. Pettiti,  
Mr C. Russo,  
Mr A. Spielmann,  
Mr J.M. Morenilla,  
Mr A.B. Baka,  
Mr L. Wildhaber,  
Mr M. Voicu, 
and also of Mr H. Petzold, Registrar, 
and Mr P.J. Mahoney, Deputy Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 29 November 
1997 and 28 February 1998,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case was referred to the Court by a Swiss 

national, Mr Hans W. Kopp (“the applicant”) on 
20 January 1997, by the European Commission 
of Human Rights (“the Commission”) on 22 
January 1997 and by the Government of the 
Swiss Confederation (“the Government”) on 
27 February 1997, within the three-month peri-
od laid down by Article 32 § 1 and Article 47 of 
the Convention. It originated in an application 
(no. 23224/94) against Switzerland lodged with 
the Commission under Article 25 by Mr Kopp 
on 15 December 1993.

The applicant’s application bringing the case 
before the Court referred to Article 48 of the 
Convention, as amended by Protocol No. 9, 
which Switzerland has ratified; the Commis-
sion’s request referred to Articles 44 and 48 
and to the declaration whereby Switzerland 

recognised the compulsory jurisdiction of the 
Court (Article 46); the Government’s applica-
tion referred to Articles 45, 47 and 48. The ob-
ject of the request and of the applications was 
to obtain a decision as to whether the facts of 
the case disclosed a breach by the respondent 
State of its obligations under Articles 8 and 13 
of the Convention.

2. On 20 January 1997 the applicant had designat-
ed the lawyer who would represent him (Rule 
31 of Rules of Court B), who was given leave 
by the President to use the German language 
in both the written and the oral proceedings 
(Rule 28 § 3). The applicant was initially des-
ignated by the letters H.W.K., but subsequently 
agreed to the disclosure of his identity.

3. The Chamber to be constituted included ex 
officio Mr L. Wildhaber, the elected judge of 
Swiss nationality (Article 43 of the Conven-
tion), and Mr R. Bernhardt, the Vice-President 
of the Court (Rule 21 § 4 (b)). On 21 Febru-
ary 1997, in the presence of the Registrar, the 
President of the Court, Mr R. Ryssdal, drew by 
lot the names of the other seven members, 
namely Mr Thór Vilhjálmsson, Mr L.-E. Pettiti, Mr 
C. Russo, Mr A. Spielmann, Mrs E. Palm, Mr A.B. 
Baka and Mr M. Voicu (Article 43 in fine of the 
Convention and Rule 21 § 5). Subsequently 
Mr J.M. Morenilla, substitute judge, replaced 
Mrs Palm, who was unable to take part in the 
further consideration of the case (Rules 22 § 
1 and 24 § 1).

4. As President of the Chamber (Rule 21 § 6), Mr 
Bernhardt, acting through the Registrar, con-
sulted the Agent of the Government, the appli-
cant’s lawyer and the Delegate of the Commis-
sion on the organisation of the proceedings 
(Rules 39 § 1 and 40). Pursuant to the order 
made in consequence, the Registrar received 
the memorials of the Government and the ap-
plicant on 19 and 27 September 1997 respec-
tively.

On 7 October 1997 the Commission produced 
the documents on the proceedings before it, 
as requested by the Registrar on the President’s 
instructions.

5. In accordance with the President’s decision, 
the hearing took place in public in the Human 
Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 25 November 
1997. The Court had held a preparatory meet-
ing beforehand.

There appeared before the Court:
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(a) for the Government

Mr P. Boillat, Deputy Director, Head of the 
International Affairs Division, Federal Office 
of Justice, Agent,

Mr f. Bänziger, Deputy Federal Public Pros-
ecutor,

Mr f. Schürmann, Head of the Human 
Rights and Council of Europe Section, 
Federal Office of Justice, Advisers;

(b) for the Commission

Mr B. Marxer, Delegate;

(c) for the applicant

Mr T. Poledna, of the Zürich Bar, Counsel.

The Court heard addresses by Mr Marxer, Mr Poled-
na and Mr Boillat.

As to tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

6. Mr Hans W. Kopp, a Swiss national born in 1931, 
was formerly a lawyer and lives in Zürich (Swit-
zerland).

A. Background to the case
7. The applicant’s wife, Mrs Elisabeth Kopp, was a 

member of the Federal Council and head of the 
Federal Department of Justice and Police from 
1984 until her resignation in January 1989.

1.Theletterofrequest
8. On 28 February 1988 a Mr Hauser, a member 

of the law firm Kopp & Partners, was asked by 
a client to verify the legality of a request for 
judicial assistance sent to Switzerland by the 
United States authorities concerning a tax mat-
ter. After studying the file, Mr Hauser declined 
to accept the work, referring to a standing in-
struction to members of the applicant’s firm to 
refuse all cases concerning the Federal Depart-
ment of Justice and Police, for which his wife 
was at that time responsible. The file was ac-
cordingly transferred to the law firm Niederer, 
Kraft & Frey in Zürich.

9. On 10 June 1988 Niederer, Kraft & Frey asked 
the Federal Office of Police if they could in-
spect the letter of request. On 23 August 1988 
the Federal Office sent the firm an abridged 

(gestrippte) version of the document, with-
holding a confidential section which con-
cerned organised crime.

2.MrsKopp’sresignation
10. In November 1988, in a separate development, 

the media reported allegations that a com-
pany, Shakarchi Trading AG, and Mr Kopp, who 
was at the relevant time the vice-chairman 
of its board of directors, were implicated in 
money laundering. At the end of 1988 Mr Kopp 
lodged a complaint against a newspaper.

11. At his wife’s request, the applicant had re-
signed as vice-chairman of the board in Octo-
ber 1988. His wife then came under suspicion 
of disclosing confidential information obtained 
in an official capacity. As her husband was also 
suspected of other offences, she was obliged 
to resign.

3.Theestablishmentofaparliamentary
commissionofinquiry

12. On 31 January 1989 the Swiss parliament set 
up a parliamentary commission of inquiry to 
look into the way Mrs Kopp had performed her 
duties, and the circumstances of her resigna-
tion.

13. In February 1989 the chairman of the parlia-
mentary commission of inquiry, Mr Leuen-
berger, was informed that a Mr X, an American 
citizen, had obtained from the applicant a doc-
ument which the Federal Office of Police and 
the Federal Court had refused to communicate 
to him, in exchange for a payment of 250,000 
Swiss francs. Mr Leuenberger was given this in-
formation by a Mr Y, who had himself obtained 
it from the initial informant, a Mr Z.

14. It subsequently transpired that Mr X was 
named in the American letter of request, which 
contained confidential information about his 
role in organised crime. Suspicion therefore 
arose that a member of the Federal Depart-
ment of Justice and Police might have passed 
on confidential documents relating to the re-
quest, thus breaching the duty not to disclose 
official secrets.

B. The course of the inquiry and monitoring 
of the applicant’s telephone lines

15. On 21 November 1989 the Federal Public 
Prosecutor opened an investigation against a 
person or persons unknown in order to ques-
tion the informant Y and to identify the person 
working at the Federal Department of Justice 
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and Police who might have disclosed official 
secrets.

16. He also ordered monitoring of the telephone 
lines of the informants Y and X, and of those of 
Mr Kopp and his wife. The applicant was moni-
tored as a “third party”, not as a suspect.

17. The monitoring began on 21 November 1989 
and ended on 11 December 1989.

18. On 23 November 1989 the President of the In-
dictment Division of the Federal Court allowed 
an application by the Federal Public Prosecu-
tor for monitoring of thirteen telephone lines 
in total, including the applicant’s private and 
professional lines and those of his wife, and in 
particular a secret line allocated to her as a for-
mer member of the Federal Council. The order 
expressly mentioned that “the lawyers’ conver-
sations [were] not to be taken into account”.

19. On 24 November 1989 the parliamentary 
commission of inquiry published its report. It 
concluded that Mrs Kopp had performed her 
duties with competence, diligence and cir-
cumspection, and that the rumours to the ef-
fect that she had allowed external influences 
to affect the way she performed her duties 
were unfounded. In February 1990 the Federal 
Court acquitted Mrs Kopp of disclosing official 
secrets.

20. On 1 December 1989 the Federal Public Pros-
ecutor’s Office interviewed the informant Y, in 
the presence of the chairman of the parliamen-
tary commission, Mr Leuenberger.

21. On 4 December 1989 Mr Leuenberger con-
tacted the informant Z, who was interviewed 
by the Federal Public Prosecutor’s Office on 
8 December.

22. On 12 December 1989, having concluded that 
the suspicions regarding the disclosure of offi-
cial secrets were unfounded, the Federal Public 
Prosecutor’s Office discontinued monitoring of 
all Mr and Mrs Kopp’s telephone lines.

23. On 14 December 1989 the Federal Public 
Prosecutor’s Office submitted its final report 
on the investigation, which stated that in 
1988 Mr Hauser had passed on to the firm of 
Niederer, Kraft & Frey a file relating to the let-
ter of request (see paragraph 8 above) and that 
there was no evidence that the applicant and 
his wife had been directly involved in that case.

24. On 6 March 1990 the Federal Public Prosecu-
tor’s Office decided to close the investigation, 

on the ground that there was no evidence to 
corroborate the suspicions that the applicant’s 
wife or a member of the Federal Department of 
Justice and Police had disclosed official secrets, 
namely certain passages of the letter of request 
which had been classified as confidential.

25. In a letter of 9 March 1990 the Federal Public 
Prosecutor’s Office informed Mr Kopp that a ju-
dicial investigation had been opened, pursuant 
to Articles 320 and 340 § 1 (7) of the Criminal 
Code (see paragraph 34 below), in connection 
with the suspected disclosure of official secrets, 
and that his private and professional telephone 
lines had been tapped, in accordance with sec-
tions 66 et seq. of the Federal Criminal Proce-
dure Act (see paragraphs 35–38 below).

The letter stated that the monitoring had lasted 
from 21 November to 11 December 1989 and 
that “conversations connected with his pro-
fessional activities as a lawyer [had not been] 
monitored”. It also stated that, pursuant to sec-
tion 66(1 ter) of the Federal Criminal Procedure 
Act, all the recordings had been destroyed.

26. On 12 March 1990 the parliamentary commis-
sion of inquiry issued a communiqué concern-
ing the monitoring of Mr Kopp’s telephone 
lines in connection with the judicial investiga-
tion concerning him. It stated in particular:

“In the course of its inquiries, in connection
withwhichitobtainedauthorisationtointer-
cepttelephonecommunications,the[Federal]
PublicProsecutor’sOfficediscoveredthatthe
American citizen’s Swiss representatives had
tried to obtain the confidential document in
the file by applying to [the applicant]. They
werehopingforprivilegedaccesstotheFed-
eralDepartmentof Justice andPoliceonac-
countofthefactthathewasthehusbandof
the Federal Councillor then responsible for
thatDepartment.Forafee,alawyerfrom[the
applicant]’s law firm studied the file inorder
to decide whether to take on the case, but
turneditdown.Anattemptwasthenmadeto
obtaintheconfidentialpartofthefilethrough
another lawyer. The American letter of re-
questwasintheenddisclosed,butonlyafter
the confidential passages had been blotted
out.On the basis of these findings, the Fed-
eral Public Prosecutor’s Office discontinued
the investigation… The suspicion that there
hadbeen adisclosureof official secrets thus
proved to be unfounded. The police investi-
gation did, however, reveal how the rumour
thatledtotheinformationandthesuspicion
arose.”
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27. On 13 March 1990 a number of Swiss newspa-
pers commented on the above communiqué. 
They mentioned the applicant among the 
persons implicated and mentioned that tel-
ephones had been tapped.

C. The proceedings brought by the applicant
1.ThecomplainttotheFederalDepartment

ofJusticeandPolice
28. On 10 April, 3 September and 10 October 1990 

Mr Kopp lodged complaints with the Fed-
eral Department of Justice and Police about 
breaches of the legislation on telephone tap-
ping and of Article 8 of the Convention.

29. On 2 November 1992 the Federal Depart-
ment dismissed the applicant’s complaints. 
Considering that they were to be classified as 
complaints to a higher authority, it refused him 
unrestricted access to his file.

2.TheadministrativeappealtotheFederal
Council

30. On 2 December 1992 Mr Kopp lodged an ad-
ministrative appeal with the Federal Council 
against the decision taken on 2 November 
1992 by the Federal Department of Justice and 
Police. He complained, among other matters, 
of unlawful telephone tapping and of the re-
fusal to give him free access to the file.

Under the heading “Violation of Article 8 of the 
Convention”, he made the following submis-
sion in particular:
“In thatcontext, it shouldalsobenoted that
the telephone lines of [the applicant]’s law
firm, which included a number of partners,
weretapped.Section66(1bis)oftheFederal
CriminalProcedureActexpresslyprohibitsthe
interceptionofsuchtelephoneconversations.
Interceptionoftelephoneconversationswith
[the applicant]’s law firmwas therefore like-
wiseillegalundertheabove-mentionedprovi-
sionofSwisslaw.”

31. On 30 June 1993 the Federal Council dismissed 
the administrative appeal.

It observed that, where telephone tapping was 
concerned, a complaint to a higher authority, 
even one which had no basis in law, was to 
be treated as a normal administrative appeal. 
It held that it had jurisdiction to determine 
whether monitoring of the applicant’s tel-
ephone lines had been unlawful, whether that 
measure had been in breach of the Conven-
tion and whether the applicant’s right to in-

spect his file had been infringed. If his personal 
rights had been infringed, the applicant could 
claim damages. He could also rely on the Fed-
eral Council’s decision in order to seek redress 
(Genugtuung) from the Federal Court.

(a)  The right to inspect the file

The Federal Council considered that the ap-
plicant should have access only to those docu-
ments in the file which were directly relevant 
to the fact that he had had his telephone 
tapped as a “third party”. It noted that he had 
had restricted access to the documents, some 
of which had been censored, particularly as 
regards the informants’ names. Others, which 
concerned, for instance, the telephone tap-
ping, had not been made available to him, but 
he had been orally informed of their existence 
and content. Several documents concerning 
third parties had not been handed over to him 
because their interests prevailed over his.

(b)  The lawfulness of the telephone tapping

According to the Federal Council, section 66 of 
the Federal Criminal Procedure Act authorised 
monitoring the telephones of third parties, 
such as the applicant, if there was evidence 
giving rise to a presumption that they were 
receiving information from an offender or im-
parting information to him.

It considered that in the period of general un-
certainty due to rumours of subversion which 
had then obtained (eine durch Unterwander-
ungsgerüchte verunsicherte Zeit) there had 
been specific evidence pointing to a disclo-
sure of official secrets by someone within the 
Federal Department of Justice and Police. The 
document in question contained confidential 
information about which guarantees had been 
given to the United States. The credibility of 
Switzerland had therefore been at stake. An ap-
parent risk had been identified when the name 
of the applicant, who was the husband of the 
former head of the Department of Justice and 
Police, was mentioned.

According to the Federal Council, it had been 
necessary to tap the telephone lines at the be-
ginning of the investigation, before contacts 
were established with Mr Y and Mr Z. The civil 
servants concerned had therefore not imme-
diately looked into the informants’ credibility, 
considering that any further contact would 
have compromised the investigation.

The Federal Council observed that the appli-
cant had had his telephone tapped not as a 
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suspect but as a “third party” within the mean-
ing of section 66(1 bis) of the Federal Criminal 
Procedure Act. The conversations he had had 
in the capacity of lawyer had been expressly 
excluded. As he was not a civil servant, he 
could not have been guilty of the offence con-
cerned. His wife had been one of the theoreti-
cally possible suspects, but there was no real 
evidence implicating her or anyone else. The 
fact that the applicant’s telephone lines had 
been monitored did not mean, therefore, that 
he had been under suspicion in the criminal 
sense. Moreover, the fact that the police in-
vestigation had been initiated in respect of “a 
person or persons unknown” was not simply 
a ploy to preserve appearances. Lastly, the in-
vestigation had not been ordered for political 
reasons and the chairman of the parliamentary 
commission had not been in a position to influ-
ence it.

In conclusion, the Federal Council observed 
that the conversations recorded had been of 
no interest to the investigators and no report 
on them had been made. Be that as it may, 
even if such a report had been sent to the 
parliamentary commission, it could not have 
been used improperly because its members 
were bound by the duty not to disclose official 
secrets.

3.Theadministrative-lawappealtothe
FederalCourt

32. The applicant also lodged with the Federal 
Court an administrative-law appeal against 
the decision taken on 2 November 1992 by 
the Federal Department of Justice and Police 
(see paragraph 29 above). He asked the Federal 
Court to rule that the telephone tapping had 
been unlawful and accordingly to order the in-
stitution of criminal proceedings against those 
responsible.

33. On 8 March 1994 the Federal Court gave judg-
ment against the applicant.

It first considered whether he should have been 
permitted to inspect the whole of the file when 
the case had been brought before the Federal 
Department of Justice and Police. It noted that 
he had been able to inspect those passages in 
the document which had determined the de-
cision (entscheidungswesentlich) and that the 
decision not to disclose the informants’ names 
had been justified. It held that the above con-
clusion was also consistent with the parliamen-
tary commission of inquiry’s decision to guar-
antee the informants’ anonymity. Moreover, on 

the basis of even a partial inspection of the file 
(gestützt auf die ihm zugestellten “gestrippten” 
Akten), the applicant had been able to lodge 
appeals.

The Federal Court then considered whether 
criminal proceedings should be brought in 
connection with the monitoring of the appli-
cant’s telephone lines. It held that it was not re-
quired to provide a conclusive (abschliessend) 
answer to the question whether the telephone 
tapping constituted a violation of Article 8 of 
the Convention, having regard in particular 
to the fact that the applicant had already ap-
pealed to the Federal Council. It noted that 
criminal proceedings had been instituted for a 
presumed disclosure of official secrets on the 
basis of information passed on by the chairman 
of the parliamentary commission of inquiry. 
The applicant’s firm was involved inasmuch as 
one of his partners had looked into the case in 
order to decide whether he should take it on. 
The presumption by the Federal Public Prose-
cutor’s Office that the first informant or the dis-
loyal civil servant would contact the applicant 
did not seem to have been wholly unjustified.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW

A. The Swiss Criminal Code
34. Under Article 320 § 1 of the Swiss Criminal 

Code, any person who discloses a secret en-
trusted to him in the capacity of civil servant 
makes himself liable to imprisonment or a fine. 
Under Article 340 § 1 (7), the offence comes 
under the jurisdiction of the Federal Court.

B. The federal Criminal Procedure Act
35. The relevant provisions of the Federal Criminal 

Procedure Act (“the FCPA”), in the version of 23 
March 1979, which was in force at the material 
time, were worded as follows:

Section 66

“1. The investigating judgemay ordermoni-
toringoftheaccused’sorsuspect’spostalcor-
respondenceandtelecommunications…

1 bis. Where the conditions justifying the
monitoringoftheaccusedorsuspectaresat-
isfied, thirdpartiesmay alsobemonitored if
specificfactsgiverisetothepresumptionthat
they are receiving or imparting information
intendedfortheaccusedorsuspectorsentby
him.Personswho,byvirtueofsection77,may
refusetogiveevidenceshallbeexempt.
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…

1ter.Recordingswhicharenotneededforthe
conductofaninvestigationshallbekeptina
separateplace,under lockandkey,andshall
bedestroyedattheendoftheproceedings…”

Section 66 bis
“1.Within twenty-four hours of his decision,
theinvestigatingjudgeshallsubmitacopyof
it, accompaniedby the file andabrief state-
mentofhisreasons,forapprovalbythePresi-
dentoftheIndictmentDivision.

2. The decision shall remain in force for not
morethansixmonths;theinvestigatingjudge
mayextenditsvalidityforoneormorefurther
periodsofsixmonths.Theorderextendingits
validity,accompaniedbythefileandthestate-
mentofreasons,mustbesubmitted,notlater
thantendaysbeforeexpiryofthetime-limit,
for approval by the President of the Indict-
mentDivision.

3. The investigating judge shall discontinue
the monitoring as soon as it becomes un-
necessary, or immediately if his decision is
rescinded.”

Section 66 ter
“1. The President of the Indictment Division
shall scrutinise the decision in the light of
thestatementof reasonsand the file.Where
hefindsthattherehasbeenabreachoffed-
erallaw,includinganyabuseofadiscretionary
power,heshallrescindthedecision.

2. He may authorise monitoring provision-
ally;inthatcase,heshalllaydownatime-limit
withinwhichtheinvestigatingjudgemustjus-
tifythemeasure,eitherbyaddinganyrelevant
materialtothefileororally.”

Section 66 quater
“1. The procedure shall be kept secret even
fromthepersonconcerned.ThePresidentof
the Indictment Division shall give brief rea-
sonsforhisdecisionandnotifytheinvestigat-
ingjudgethereofwithinfivedaysofthedate
when the monitoring began, or, where the
periodof validityhasbeenextended,before
thefurtherperiodbegins.

2. The President of the Indictment Division
shall ensure that the interception measures
arediscontinuedonexpiryofthetime-limit.”

Section 72

“1.Beforetheopeningofapreliminaryinves-
tigation the Principal Public Prosecutor may

order interception of postal correspondence
andtelecommunications…”

Section 77

“Clergymen, lawyers, notaries, doctors, phar-
macists, midwives, and their auxiliaries, can-
notberequiredtogiveevidenceaboutsecrets
confidedtothemonaccountoftheirministry
orprofession.”

36. By the Telecommunications Act of 21 June 
1991, which has been in force since 1 May 
1992, the following relevant provisions were 
supplemented as follows (new text shown in 
italics):

Section 66

“1. The investigating judgemay ordermoni-
toringoftheaccused’sorsuspect’spostalcor-
respondenceandtelecommunicationsif

(a)Thecriminalproceedingsconcernamajor
offencewhoseseriousnessorparticularnature
justifiesintervention;andif

(b)Specificfactscausethepersonwhoistobe
monitoredtobesuspectedofbeingaprinci-
paloraccessoryinthecommissionoftheof-
fence;andif

(c)Withoutinterception,thenecessaryinves-
tigationswouldbesignificantlymoredifficult
toconductor ifother investigativemeasures
haveproducednoresults.

1bis.…Thetelecommunicationsconnection
ofthirdpartiesmaybemonitoredatanytime
iftherearereasonstosuspectthatitisbeing
usedbytheaccused.

…”

37. By the Federal Law of 4 October 1991, which 
has been in force since 15 February 1992, the 
following relevant provisions were amended 
as follows:

Section 66 quinquies
“1. The investigating judge shall inform the
person concerned, within thirty days of the
closeoftheproceedings,ofthereasonsforthe
monitoringcarriedout,themeansemployed
anditsduration.

…”

Section 72

“…

3.Sections66to66quinquiesshallbeapplica-
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blebyanalogy.”

C. Legal literature and case-law on the scope 
of professional privilege

38. In the opinion of academic writers, information 
not specifically connected with a lawyer’s work 
on instructions from a party to proceedings is 
not covered by professional privilege (see, for 
example, G. Piquerez, Précis de procédure pé-
nale suisse, Lausanne, 1994, p. 251, no. 1264, 
and B. Corboz, “Le secret professionnel de 
l’avocat selon l’article 321 CP”, Semaine judi-
ciaire, Geneva, 1993, pp. 85–87).

39. Thus, in a judgment of 29 December 1986 (see 
ATF [Judgments of the Swiss Federal Court] 
112 lb 606), the Federal Court held that a law-
yer may not decline to give evidence about 
confidential matters of which he has learned 
in the course of work not going beyond the 
management of assets and the investment of 
funds.

In another judgment, of 16 October 1989, the 
Federal Court similarly held that a lawyer who 
is the director of a company may not plead 
professional privilege to justify his refusal to 
give evidence (ATF 115 la 197).

In a case where a lawyer had complained of a 
seizure of documents, the Federal Court, after 
considering the complaint in the particular 
light of Article 8 of the Convention, once again 
upheld that case-law on 11 September 1991 
(ATF 117 la 341).

Similarly, in connection with medical confiden-
tiality, the Federal Court has held that informa-
tion imparted to a doctor in his private capacity 
is not protected by professional privilege (ATF 
101 la 10, judgment of 5 February 1975).

PRoCEEDInGs BEFoRE 
tHE CoMMIssIon
40. Mr Kopp applied to the Commission on 15 De-

cember 1993. Relying on Articles 8 and 13 of 
the Convention, he complained of the moni-
toring of his telephone lines and of the lack of 
an effective remedy in that connection.

41. The Commission (First Chamber) declared the 
application (23224/94) admissible on 12 April 
1996. In its report of 16 October 1996 (Arti-
cle 31), it expressed the unanimous opinion 
that there had been a breach of Article 8 but no 
breach of Article 13. The full text of the Com-

mission’s opinion is reproduced as an annex to 
this judgment4.

FInAL sUBMIssIons to 
tHE CoURt
42. In their memorial the Government asked the 

Court

“to declare that there has been no violation
of the Convention on the part of the Swiss
authorities by virtue of the factswhich gave
risetotheapplicationintroducedbyMrKopp
againstSwitzerland”.

43. The applicant asked the Court to uphold his 
application.

As to tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

44. Mr Kopp submitted that the interception of his 
telephone communications had breached Arti-
cle 8 of the Convention, which provides:

“1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

A. The Government’s preliminary objection
45. The Government submitted as their principal 

argument, as they had done before the Com-
mission, that the applicant had not exhausted 
domestic remedies (Article 26 of the Conven-
tion), not having raised his complaint in sub-
stance before the national authorities. Before 
the Federal Council he had argued that it was 
only the application of section 66(1 bis) of the 
Federal Criminal Procedure Act (“the FCPA” – 
see paragraph 35 above) which had been con-
trary to Article 8 of the Convention, without 
contesting the lawfulness as such of the tap-
ping of his telephone lines.
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46. The applicant, on the other hand, asserted that 
he had complied with all the requirements of 
Article 26 of the Convention in so far as he had 
contended that the monitoring of his law firm’s 
telephone lines had no legal basis in Swiss law.

47. The Court reiterates that the purpose of Article 
26 is to afford the Contracting States the op-
portunity of preventing or putting right – usu-
ally through the courts – the violations alleged 
against them before those allegations are sub-
mitted to the Convention institutions. Thus the 
complaint to be submitted to the Commission 
must first have been made to the appropriate 
national courts, at least in substance, in accord-
ance with the formal requirements of domes-
tic law and within the prescribed time-limits. 
However, Article 26 must be applied with 
some degree of flexibility and without exces-
sive formalism (see, for example, the Ankerl 
v. Switzerland judgment of 23 October 1996, 
Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1996-V, 
p. 1565, § 34, and the K.-F. v. Germany judg-
ment of 27 November 1997, Reports 1997-VII, 
pp. 2670–71, § 46).

48. In the present case, the Court notes that in Mr 
Kopp’s administrative appeal to the Federal 
Council of 2 December 1992 his lawyer com-
plained, under the heading “Violation of Article 
8 of the Convention”, that the tapping of his 
telephone lines had been unlawful (see para-
graph 30 above). He maintained in particular 
that section 66(1 bis) of the FCPA expressly pro-
hibited the interception of lawyers’ telephone 
calls and consequently that the monitoring of 
the lines of the applicant’s law firm had contra-
vened Swiss law.

49. The Court therefore considers, like the Com-
mission, that the applicant raised in substance, 
before the national authorities, his complaint 
relating to Article 8 of the Convention. The 
preliminary objection must accordingly be dis-
missed.

B. Merits of the complaint
1.ApplicabilityofArticle8

50. In the Court’s view, it is clear from its case-law 
that telephone calls made from or to business 
premises, such as those of a law firm, may be 
covered by the notions of “private life” and 
“correspondence” within the meaning of Ar-
ticle 8 § 1 (see, among other authorities, the 
Halford v. the United Kingdom judgment of 25 
June 1997, Reports 1997-III, p. 1016, § 44, and, 
mutatis mutandis, the Niemietz v. Germany 

judgment of 16 December 1992, Series A no. 
251-B, pp. 33–35, §§ 28–33). This point was 
in fact not disputed.

2.CompliancewithArticle8
(a)  Existence of an interference

51. The Government contended that the question 
whether there had really been interference by 
the authorities with the applicant’s private life 
and correspondence remained open, since 
none of the recorded conversations in which 
he had taken part had been brought to the 
knowledge of the prosecuting authorities, all 
the recordings had been destroyed and no use 
whatsoever had been made of any of them.

52. The Court notes that it was not contested that 
the Federal Public Prosecutor had ordered the 
monitoring of the telephone lines of Mr Kopp’s 
law firm, that the President of the Indictment 
Division of the Federal Court had approved 
that measure and that it had lasted from 21 No-
vember to 11 December 1989 (see paragraphs 
16–18 above).

53. Interception of telephone calls constitutes “in-
terference by a public authority”, within the 
meaning of Article 8 § 2, with the exercise 
of a right guaranteed to the applicant under 
paragraph 1 (see, among other authorities, 
the Malone v. the United Kingdom judgment 
of 2 August 1984, Series A no. 82, p. 30, § 64, 
and the above-mentioned Halford judgment, 
p. 1017, § 48 in fine). The subsequent use of 
the recordings made has no bearing on that 
finding.

(b)  Justification for the interference

54. Such interference breaches Article 8 unless it 
is “in accordance with the law”, pursues one 
or more of the legitimate aims referred to in 
paragraph 2 and is, in addition, “necessary in a 
democratic society” to achieve those aims.

i “In accordance with the law”

55. The expression “in accordance with the law”, 
within the meaning of Article 8 § 2, requires 
firstly that the impugned measure should have 
some basis in domestic law; it also refers to the 
quality of the law in question, requiring that it 
should be accessible to the person concerned, 
who must moreover be able to foresee its con-
sequences for him, and compatible with the 
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rule of law.

 – Whether there was a legal basis in Swiss law

56. The applicant submitted that in the present 
case there was no legal basis in Swiss law, since 
sections 66(1 bis) and 77 of the FCPA (see para-
graph 35 above) expressly prohibited the tap-
ping of a lawyer’s telephone lines where the 
latter was being monitored as a third party.

57. The Commission accepted this argument. It 
took the view that the purpose of the legal 
provisions in question was to protect the pro-
fessional relationship between, among others, 
a lawyer and his clients. For this special rela-
tionship to be respected, it had to be assumed 
that all the telephone calls of a law firm were 
of a professional nature. Consequently, the 
Swiss authorities’ interpretation to the effect 
that these provisions gave them the power to 
record and listen to a lawyer’s telephone con-
versations before deciding whether they were 
covered by professional privilege could not be 
accepted.

58. The Government maintained in the first place 
that telephone tapping in the course of pro-
ceedings conducted by the federal authori-
ties was governed by a set of exhaustive and 
detailed rules (see paragraphs 35–37 above). 
Moreover, according to sections 66(1 bis) and 
77 of the FCPA, and the relevant legal litera-
ture and case-law, legal professional privilege 
covered only activities specific to a lawyer’s 
profession.

59. The Court reiterates that it is primarily for the 
national authorities, notably the courts, to in-
terpret and apply domestic law (see, among 
many other authorities, the above-mentioned 
Malone judgment, p. 35, § 79, and the Kruslin 
v. France and Huvig v. France judgments of 24 
April 1990, Series A no. 176-A and B, p. 21, § 
29, and p. 53, § 28, respectively). In principle, 
therefore, it is not for the Court to express an 
opinion contrary to that of the Federal Depart-
ment of Justice and Police and the Federal 
Council on the compatibility of the judicially 
ordered tapping of Mr Kopp’s telephone with 
sections 66(1 bis) and 77 of the FCPA.

60. Moreover, the Court cannot ignore the opin-
ions of academic writers and the Federal 
Court’s case-law on the question, which the 
Government cited in their memorial (see para-
graphs 38–39 above).

In relation to paragraph 2 of Article 8 of the 

Convention and other similar clauses, the 
Court has always understood the term “law” 
in its “substantive” sense, not its “formal one”, 
and has in particular included unwritten law 
therein (see the above-mentioned Kruslin and 
Huvig judgments, pp. 21–22, § 29 in fine, and 
pp. 53–54, § 28 in fine, respectively).

61. In short, the interference complained of had a 
legal basis in Swiss law.

 – “Quality of the law”

62. The second requirement which emerges from 
the phrase “in accordance with the law” – the 
accessibility of the law – does not raise any 
problem in the instant case.

63. The same is not true of the third requirement, 
the law’s “foreseeability” as to the meaning and 
nature of the applicable measures.

64. The Court reiterates in that connection that 
Article 8 § 2 requires the law in question to 
be “compatible with the rule of law”. In the 
context of secret measures of surveillance or 
interception of communications by public au-
thorities, because of the lack of public scrutiny 
and the risk of misuse of power, the domes-
tic law must provide some protection to the 
individual against arbitrary interference with 
Article 8 rights. Thus, the domestic law must 
be sufficiently clear in its terms to give citizens 
an adequate indication as to the circumstances 
in and conditions on which public authorities 
are empowered to resort to any such secret 
measures (see, as the most recent authority, 
the above-mentioned Halford judgment, p. 
1017, § 49).

65. The Government submitted that the relevant 
legislation taken as a whole and the case-law 
of the Federal Court warranted the conclusion 
that the telephone tapping ordered in the in-
stant case did in fact satisfy the requirement 
of foreseeability, as defined by the European 
Court.

66. The Court must therefore examine the “quality” 
of the legal rules applicable to Mr Kopp in the 
instant case.

67. It notes in the first place that the telephone 
lines of the applicant’s law firm were tapped 
pursuant to sections 66 et seq. of the FCPA (see 
paragraph 25 above) and that he was moni-
tored as a third party.

Under section 66(1 bis) of the FCPA, “… third 
parties may also be monitored if specific facts 
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give rise to the presumption that they are re-
ceiving or imparting information intended for 
the accused or suspect or sent by him. Persons 
who, by virtue of section 77, may refuse to give 
evidence shall be exempt.”

Section 77 of the FCPA provides: “… lawyers 
… cannot be required to give evidence about 
secrets confided to them on account of their 
… profession.”

68. On the face of it, the text seems clear and 
would appear to prohibit the monitoring of 
a lawyer’s telephone lines when he is neither 
suspected nor accused. It is intended to pro-
tect the professional relations between a law-
yer and his clients through the confidentiality 
of telephone conversations.

69. In the present case, moreover, the President of 
the Indictment Division adverted to that prin-
ciple of the law, since the order of 23 Novem-
ber 1989 (see paragraph 18 above) states: “the 
lawyers’ conversations are not to be taken into 
account.” Similarly the Federal Public Prosecu-
tor’s Office mentioned it in the letter of 9 March 
1990 informing the applicant that his tele-
phone lines had been tapped (see paragraph 
25 above) and the Federal Council likewise re-
ferred to it in its decision of 30 June 1993 (see 
paragraph 31 above).

70. However, as the Court has already observed 
(see paragraph 52 above), all the telephone 
lines of Mr Kopp’s law firm were monitored 
from 21 November to 11 December 1989.

71. The Government sought to resolve this contra-
diction by referring to the opinions of academic 
writers and the Federal Court’s case-law to the 
effect that legal professional privilege covered 
only matters connected with a lawyer’s profes-
sion. They added that Mr Kopp, the husband of 
a former member of the Federal Council, had 
not had his telephones tapped in his capacity 
as a lawyer. In the instant case, in accordance 
with Swiss telephone-monitoring practice, a 
specialist Post Office official had listened to the 
tape in order to identify any conversations rel-
evant to the proceedings in progress, but no 
recording had been put aside and sent to the 
Federal Public Prosecutor’s Office.

72. The Court, however, is not persuaded by these 
arguments.

Firstly, it is not for the Court to speculate as to 
the capacity in which Mr Kopp had had his tel-
ephones tapped, since he was a lawyer and all 

his law firm’s telephone lines had been moni-
tored.

Secondly, tapping and other forms of intercep-
tion of telephone conversations constitute a 
serious interference with private life and cor-
respondence and must accordingly be based 
on a “law” that is particularly precise. It is essen-
tial to have clear, detailed rules on the subject, 
especially as the technology available for use 
is continually becoming more sophisticated 
(see the above-mentioned Kruslin and Huvig 
judgments, p. 23, § 33, and p. 55, § 32, re-
spectively).

In that connection, the Court by no means 
seeks to minimise the value of some of the 
safeguards built into the law, such as the re-
quirement at the relevant stage of the pro-
ceedings that the prosecuting authorities’ 
telephone-tapping order must be approved 
by the President of the Indictment Division 
(see paragraphs 18 and 35 above), who is an 
independent judge, or the fact that the appli-
cant was officially informed that his telephone 
calls had been intercepted (see paragraph 25 
above).

73. However, the Court discerns a contradiction 
between the clear text of legislation which 
protects legal professional privilege when a 
lawyer is being monitored as a third party and 
the practice followed in the present case. Even 
though the case-law has established the prin-
ciple, which is moreover generally accepted, 
that legal professional privilege covers only the 
relationship between a lawyer and his clients, 
the law does not clearly state how, under what 
conditions and by whom the distinction is to 
be drawn between matters specifically con-
nected with a lawyer’s work under instructions 
from a party to proceedings and those relating 
to activity other than that of counsel.

74. Above all, in practice, it is, to say the least, as-
tonishing that this task should be assigned to 
an official of the Post Office’s legal department, 
who is a member of the executive, without su-
pervision by an independent judge, especially 
in this sensitive area of the confidential rela-
tions between a lawyer and his clients, which 
directly concern the rights of the defence.

75. In short, Swiss law, whether written or unwrit-
ten, does not indicate with sufficient clarity the 
scope and manner of exercise of the authori-
ties’ discretion in the matter. Consequently, Mr 
Kopp, as a lawyer, did not enjoy the minimum 
degree of protection required by the rule of 
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law in a democratic society. There has there-
fore been a breach of Article 8.

ii Purpose and necessity of the interference

76. Having regard to the above conclusion, the 
Court, like the Commission, does not consider 
it necessary to review compliance with the 
other requirements of paragraph 2 of Article 8 
in this case.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
13 OF THE CONVENTION

77. Article 13 of the Convention provides:
“Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [the] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity.”

78. Mr Kopp expressly stated that he did not in-
tend to pursue this complaint before the Court, 
and the Court considers that it is not required 
to consider it of its own motion.

III. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 50 OF 
THE CONVENTION

79. Under Article 50 of the Convention,
“IftheCourtfindsthatadecisionorameasure
takenbyalegalauthorityoranyotherauthor-
ityofaHighContractingPartyiscompletelyor
partiallyinconflictwiththeobligationsarising
fromthe...Convention,andiftheinternallaw
ofthesaidPartyallowsonlypartialreparation
tobemade for theconsequencesof thisde-
cision ormeasure, the decision of the Court
shall, if necessary, afford just satisfaction to
theinjuredparty.”

A. Damage
80. Mr Kopp claimed 550,000 Swiss francs (CHF) for 

pecuniary damage on account of the effects 
that publication of the fact that his law firm’s 
telephone lines had been tapped had had on 
his professional activities and his firm’s good 
name. He also claimed CHF 1,000 for non-
pecuniary damage, on the ground that the 
monitoring of his telephone lines had seriously 
perturbed his relations with his family and the 
members of his firm.

81. The Government maintained that the amounts 
claimed were excessive and that the appli-
cant had not adduced evidence of either the 

existence of pecuniary damage or a causal 
connection between any violation of the Con-
vention and such damage. Furthermore, if the 
applicant had lost clients, it was not because 
of the telephone tapping in issue but for other 
reasons, such as the fact that he had been con-
victed of fraud and forging securities or the 
fact that his name had been struck off the roll 
of members of the Bar.

As regards non-pecuniary damage, the Gov-
ernment submitted that if the Court were to 
find a violation, that would constitute sufficient 
just satisfaction.

82. The Delegate of the Commission submitted 
that compensation should be awarded for loss 
of income, but left the amount to the Court’s 
discretion. He was of the view that the com-
pensation claimed for non-pecuniary damage 
was justified.

83. As regards pecuniary damage, the Court con-
siders that Mr Kopp was not able to prove the 
existence of a causal connection between the 
interception of his telephone calls and the al-
leged loss. As to non-pecuniary damage, the 
Court considers that the finding of a violation 
of Article 8 constitutes sufficient compensa-
tion.

B. Costs and expenses
84. The applicant also claimed CHF 67,640 in re-

spect of his costs and expenses for the pro-
ceedings in the Swiss courts and CHF 58,291 in 
respect of those he had incurred for the pro-
ceedings before the Convention institutions. 
He further sought CHF 174,000 for research he 
had conducted himself and for out-of-pocket 
expenses.

85. The Government submitted that if the Court 
were to find a violation, an award of CHF 
21,783 for costs and expenses would satisfy the 
requirements of Article 50. If the finding of a 
violation concerned only one of the two com-
plaints raised by the applicant, it would be ap-
propriate for the Court to reduce that amount 
in an equitable proportion.

86. The Delegate of the Commission left the 
amount to be awarded for costs and expenses 
to the Court’s discretion.

87. On the basis of the information in its posses-
sion and its case-law on this question, and 
taking into account the fact that only the 
applicant’s complaint under Article 8 of the 
Convention has given rise to the finding of a 
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violation, as the applicant expressly stated that 
he no longer wished to pursue the complaint 
relating to Article 13 of the Convention (see 
paragraph 78 above), the Court decides, on an 
equitable basis, to award the applicant the sum 
of CHF 15,000.

C. Default interest
88. According to the information available to the 

Court, the statutory rate of interest applicable 
in Switzerland at the date of adoption of the 
present judgment is 5% per annum.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Dismisses the Government’s preliminary ob-
jection;

2. Holds that there has been a violation of Arti-
cle 8 of the Convention;

3. Holds that it is not necessary for the Court to 
consider of its own motion the complaint re-
lating to Article 13 of the Convention;

4. Holds that the present judgment in itself 
constitutes sufficient just satisfaction for non-
pecuniary damage;

5. Holds

(a) that the respondent State is pay to the ap-
plicant, within three months, 15,000 (fif-
teen thousand) Swiss francs for costs and 
expenses;

(b) that simple interest at an annual rate of 5% 
shall be payable on this sum from the ex-
piry of the above-mentioned three months 
until settlement;

6. Dismisses the remainder of the claim for just 
satisfaction.

Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 25 March 1998.

Rudolf Bernhardt, President
Herbert Petzold, Registrar

In accordance with Article 51 § 2 of the Conven-
tion and Rule 55 § 2 of Rules of Court B, the con-
curring opinion of Mr Pettiti is annexed to this judg-
ment.

ConCURRInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE PEttItI
(Translation)

I voted for the finding of a breach of Article 8, in 
agreement with the analysis made by my col-
leagues. However, as to reasons, I did so on the ba-
sis of a number of additional considerations.

The Kopp case was of particular interest, coming as 
it did eight years after the Kruslin and Huvig judg-
ments, and provided an opportunity to consolidate 
the case-law which led to the enactment of new 
French legislation regulating telephone tapping. 
Unfortunately, since that time mistakes have con-
tinued to be made in a number of Council of Eu-
rope member States, and some draft legislation 
may cause jurists some concern.

It is a regrettable fact that State, para-State and pri-
vate bodies are making increasing use of the inter-
ception of telephone and other communications 
for various purposes. Private companies engage 
in all manner of illicit practices for industrial espio-
nage. In Europe so-called administrative telephone 
monitoring is not generally subject to an adequate 
system or level of protection.

There is now less respect for private life, and this is 
accentuated by the excesses of certain sections of 
the media on the lookout for indiscreet articles or 
documents.

The Kopp case involved multiple breaches of Arti-
cle 8, in that the law firm’s partners and employees, 
clients and third parties who had no connection 
with the criminal proceedings were all monitored.

In my opinion, paragraph 72 of the judgment 
should also contain a reference to the serious 
breach of professional privilege. A number of States 
lay down conditions for the Bar associations to be 
involved in the procedure when a judge wishes to 
order searches or interceptions in respect of law-
yer’s practices. The safeguards mentioned in para-
graph 72 are insufficient, since the fact that the ap-
plicant was informed dealt with only one aspect of 
the problem.

Swiss law, as formulated by the texts in force, does 
not afford sufficient protection to third parties, and 
does not provide for checks to ensure that record-
ings have been destroyed. In addition, it is shocking 
that Post Office officials were deployed to listen to 
the calls. The Court’s considerations in paragraphs 
73 and 74 could be more severe.

The European Court has clearly laid down in its 
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case-law the requirement of supervision by the 
judicial authorities in a democratic society, which 
is characterised by the rule of law, with the atten-
dant guarantees of independence and impartial-
ity; this is all the more important in order to meet 
the threat posed by new technologies. The Court 
has set forth the rules which telephone monitoring 
as a part of criminal procedure must obey. These 
cover matters such as the existence of serious 
grounds for suspicion, the lack of other sources of 
evidence, restrictions concerning the persons to 
be monitored, maximum duration, etc. The Court 
has also previously paid attention to measures for 
the destruction of tapes used for monitoring (see 
my concurring opinion in the case of Malone v. the 
United Kingdom).

Where monitoring is ordered by a judicial authority, 
even where there is a valid basis in law, it must be 
used for a specific purpose, not as a general “fish-
ing” exercise to bring in information.

Similarly, where it is justified, the monitoring of sus-
pects or those occupying posts of authority who 
may be guilty of offences or responsible for viola-
tions of State security must never be extended to 
partners in private life, because that is going be-
yond the bounds of what is required to protect 
democratic institutions and amounts to a perverse 
inquisition.

The legislation of numerous European States fails to 
comply with Article 8 of the Convention where tel-
ephone tapping is concerned. States use – or abuse 
– the concepts of official secrets and secrecy in the 
interests of national security. Where necessary, they 
distort the meaning and nature of that term. Some 
clarification of what these concepts mean is need-
ed in order to refine and improve the system for the 
prevention of terrorism.

The warnings of jurists and parliamentarians go 
back more than twenty years: the Schmelck Report 
in France, the advisory opinion I gave to the Luxem-
bourg parliament, the Government White Paper in 
the United Kingdom and the Court’s Klass, Malone, 
Kruslin and Huvig judgments have all remained 
largely ineffective. The people running the relevant 
State services remain deaf to these injunctions 
and to a certain extent act with impunity. Apart 
from the specific problem, is this not a sign of the 
decadence of the democracies; does it not reveal 
to what extent the meaning of human dignity has 
been eroded? For this depressing trend States and 
individuals must share responsibility.
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INTERCEPTION, CORRESPONDENCE, TELEPHONE, TAP-
PING, INTERFERENCE, PRIVATE LIFE

IN THE CASE Of LAMBERT v. fRANCE,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting, in 
accordance with Article 43 of the Convention for 
the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamen-
tal Freedoms (“the Convention”) and the relevant 
provisions of Rules of Court A3, as a Chamber com-
posed of the following judges:
Mr R. Bernhardt, President,  
Mr L.-E. Pettiti,  
Mr A. Spielmann,  
Mr N. Valticos,  
Sir John Freeland,  
Mr L. Wildhaber,  
Mr K. Jungwiert,  
Mr M. Voicu,  
Mr V. Butkevych, 
and also of Mr H. Petzold, Registrar, 
and Mr P.J. Mahoney, Deputy Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 23 April and 27 
July 1998,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case was referred to the Court by the Euro-

pean Commission of Human Rights (“the Com-
mission”) on 22 September 1997 and by the 
French Government (“the Government”) on 24 
October 1997, within the three-month period 
laid down by Article 32 § 1 and Article 47 of 
the Convention. It originated in an application 
(no. 23618/94) against the French Republic 
lodged with the Commission under Article 25 
by a French national, Mr Michel Lambert, on 8 
February 1994.

The Commission’s request referred to Articles 
44 and 48 and to the declaration whereby 
France recognised the compulsory jurisdiction 
of the Court (Article 46); the Government’s ap-
plication referred to Article 48. The object of 
the request and of the application was to ob-
tain a decision as to whether the facts of the 

case disclosed a breach by the respondent 
State of its obligations under Article 8 of the 
Convention.

2. In response to the enquiry made in accordance 
with Rule 33 § 3 (d) of Rules of Court A, the ap-
plicant stated that he wished to take part in the 
proceedings and designated the lawyer who 
would represent him (Rule 30). 

3. The Chamber to be constituted included ex of-
ficio Mr L.-E. Pettiti, the elected judge of French 
nationality (Article 43 of the Convention), and 
Mr R. Bernhardt, the Vice-President of the Court 
(Rule 21 § 4 (b)). On 25 September 1997, in the 
presence of the Registrar, the President of the 
Court, Mr R. Ryssdal, drew by lot the names of 
the other seven members, namely Mr B. Walsh, 
Mr A. Spielmann, Mr N. Valticos, Mr L. Wild-
haber, Mr K. Jungwiert, Mr M. Voicu and Mr V. 
Butkevych (Article 43 in fine of the Convention 
and Rule 21 § 5). Subsequently Sir John Free-
land, substitute judge, replaced Mr Walsh, who 
had died on 9 March 1998 (Rule 22 § 1).

4. As President of the Chamber (Rule 21 § 6), Mr 
Bernhardt, acting through the Registrar, con-
sulted the Agent of the Government, the appli-
cant’s lawyer and the Delegate of the Commis-
sion on the organisation of the proceedings 
(Rules 37 § 1 and 38). Pursuant to the order 
made in consequence, the Registrar received 
the applicant’s memorial on 23 December 
1997 and 12 January 1998 and the Govern-
ment’s memorial on 20 March 1998.

5. On 30 March 1998 the Commission produced 
the file on the proceedings before it, as re-
quested by the Registrar on the President’s 
instructions.

6. In accordance with the President’s decision, 
the hearing took place in public in the Human 
Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 20 April 1998. 
The Court had held a preparatory meeting be-
forehand.

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Mr B. Nedelec, magistrat, on secondment 
to the Legal Affairs Department, Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs, Agent,

Mr A. Buchet, magistrat, Head of the Hu-
man Rights Office, European and Interna-
tional Affairs Department, Ministry of Jus-
tice, Adviser;

(b) for the Commission
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Mr J.-C. Soyer, Delegate;

(c) for the applicant

Mr O. de Nervo, of the Conseil d’Etat and 
Court of Cassation Bar, Counsel. 

The Court heard addresses by Mr Soyer, Mr de Ner-
vo and Mr Nedelec.

As to tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

7. Mr Lambert, a French national born in 1957, 
lives at Buzet-sur-Tarn.

A. The judicial investigation and 
interception of the applicant’s telephone 
conversations

8. In the course of a judicial investigation into of-
fences of theft, burglary, handling the proceeds 
of theft and aggravated theft, and unlawful 
possession of Class 4 weapons and ammuni-
tion, an investigating judge at Riom issued a 
warrant on 11 December 1991 instructing the 
gendarmerie to arrange for the telephone line 
of a certain R.B. to be tapped until 31 January 
1992.

9. By means of standard-form written instructions 
(“soit transmis”) dated 31 January, 28 February 
and 30 March 1992, the investigating judge ex-
tended the duration of the telephone tapping 
until 29 February, 31 March and 31 May 1992 
respectively.

10. As a result of this tapping and the interception 
of some of his conversations, the applicant 
was charged with handling the proceeds of 
aggravated theft; he was held in custody from 
15 May to 30 November 1992, when he was re-
leased subject to judicial supervision.

B. The proceedings brought by the applicant
1.TheapplicationtotheIndictmentDivision

oftheRiomCourtofAppeal
11. In an application of 5 April 1993 the applicant’s 

lawyer applied to the Indictment Division of 
the Riom Court of Appeal for a ruling that the 
extensions of 31 January and 28 February 1992 
were invalid, arguing that they had been or-
dered merely by standard-form written instruc-
tions without any reference to the offences 
which justified the telephone tapping, and that 

the four-month period which could have been 
authorised in the warrant of 11 December 1991 
had expired on 11 April 1992.

12. In a judgment of 25 May 1993 the Riom Court 
of Appeal dismissed Mr Lambert’s application 
on the following grounds:
“… by Articles 100, 100-1 and 100-2 of the
CodeofCriminalProcedure[seeparagraph15
below]takentogether,decisionsto intercept
telecommunications messages must be in
writingandcontainalltheinformationneces-
sary for identifying the link tobemonitored,
theoffencethatjustifiestheinterceptionand
thedurationof the interception,whichmust
notexceedfourmonthsbutmaybeextended
subjecttothesameformalrequirementsand
maximumduration.

Intheinstantcaseitisbeyonddoubtthatthe
warrantof11December1991complieswith
therequirementsoftheabove-mentionedAr-
ticlesinsofarasitspecifiesthenumberofthe
link tobemonitored, adurationof less than
four months and the offences that justified
interception, thecriminalpenalties forwhich
weregreaterthantwoyears’imprisonment.

It is also clear that the decisions to extend
thedurationof the interception,whichwere
issued in standard-form instructions,were in
writingandmentionedthenumberofthelink
concerned; that theyareanextensionof the
original decision of 11 December 1991 and
necessarily referred to it; and that the dura-
tionoftheirvaliditywaslessthanfourmonths.
TheythuscomplywiththerequirementsofAr-
ticle100-2oftheCodeofCriminalProcedure.”

2.TheappealtotheCourtofCassation
13. The applicant appealed on a point of law 

against the judgment of 25 May 1993, arguing, 
as his only ground of appeal, that Article 8 of 
the Convention and Articles 100 et seq. of the 
Code of Criminal Procedure had been infringed 
because the extensions of the duration of the 
telephone tapping in issue, by means of stand-
ard-form written instructions, did not contain 
any reasons.

14. In a judgment of 27 September 1993 the Court 
of Cassation affirmed the decision appealed 
against and held that the applicant had “no 
locus standi to challenge the manner in which 
the duration of the monitoring of a third party’s 
telephone line was extended” and that accord-
ingly “the grounds of appeal, which contest[ed] 
the grounds on which the Indictment Division 
[had] wrongly considered it must examine 
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[the] objections of invalidity and subsequently 
dismissed them, [were] inadmissible”.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW

15. The relevant provisions of the Code of Crimi-
nal Procedure (Law no. 91-646 of 10 July 1991 
on the confidentiality of telecommunications 
messages) read as follows:

Article 100

“Inthecaseofaseriouscrimeorothermajor
offence attracting a sentenceof at least two
years’ imprisonment, the investigating judge
may, where necessary for the investigation,
order the interception, recording and tran-
scription of telecommunications messages.
Suchoperationsshallbecarriedoutunderhis
authorityandsupervision.

Decisionstointerceptshallbeinwriting.They
shall not constitute judicialdecisions andno
appealshalllieagainstthem.”

Article 100-1

“DecisionsmadepursuanttoArticle100shall
containalltheinformationnecessaryforiden-
tifying the link to bemonitored, the offence
thatjustifiestheinterceptionandtheduration
oftheinterception.”

Article 100-2

“Suchdecisionsshallbevalidforamaximum
durationoffourmonths.Theirvaliditymaybe
extendedonlysubjecttothesameprocedural
requirementsandmaximumduration.”

Article 100-3

“Theinvestigatingjudgeoraseniordetective
(officierdepolice judiciaire)actingonhis in-
structionsmaycalluponanyqualifiedofficial
ofanydepartmentorbodyundertheauthor-
ityorsupervisionoftheMinisterforTelecom-
munications, or any qualified official of an
authorised network operator or provider of
telecommunicationsservices,forthepurpose
ofinstallingmonitoringequipment.”

Article 100-4

“The investigating judgeor theseniordetec-
tiveactingonhisinstructionsshalldrawupa
reportoneachoftheinterceptionandrecord-
ingoperations.Thisreportshallgivethedate
and time of the beginning and end of each
operation.”

Article 100-5

“The investigating judgeor theseniordetec-
tiveactingonhisinstructionsshalltranscribe
messagesuseful for establishing the truth.A
reportof the transcriptionshallbedrawnup
andthetranscriptionplacedinthecasefile.

Anymessages ina foreign languageshallbe
transcribedinFrenchwiththehelpofaninter-
pretercalleduponforthispurpose.”

Article 100-6

“The Public Prosecutor or Principal Public
Prosecutor shall ensure that the recordings
are destroyed when prosecution becomes
time-barred.

A formal report of the destruction shall be
drawnup.”

Article 100-7

“The telephone line of a member of Parlia-
ment or senator shall not be tapped unless
and until the Speaker of the relevant House
hasbeeninformedbytheinvestigatingjudge.

Thehomeorofficetelephonelinesofamem-
beroftheBarshallnotbetappedunlessand
until the chairman of the Bar has been in-
formedbytheinvestigatingjudge.

Any interceptioncarriedout inbreachof the
requirementsof thisArticle shallbenull and
void.”

PRoCEEDInGs BEFoRE 
tHE CoMMIssIon
16. Mr Lambert applied to the Commission on 8 

February 1994. He alleged that the intercep-
tion of certain telephone conversations which 
were used against him amounted to interfer-
ence with his private life and correspondence, 
contrary to Article 8 of the Convention; he also 
maintained that he had not had an effective 
remedy in the Court of Cassation, contrary to 
Article 13 of the Convention.

17. The Commission declared the application (no. 
23618/94) admissible on 2 September 1996. In 
its report of 1 July 1997 (Article 31), it expressed 
the opinion by twenty votes to twelve that 
there had been a violation of Article 8 of the 
Convention and by twenty-seven votes to five 
that it was unnecessary to consider the case 
under Article 13 of the Convention also. The 
full text of the Commission’s opinion and of 
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the two dissenting opinions contained in the 
report is reproduced as an annex to this judg-
ment4.

FInAL sUBMIssIons to 
tHE CoURt
18. In their memorial the Government submitted 

that “the application lodged by Mr Lambert 
should be dismissed”.

19. The applicant asked the Court to
“holdthattherehasbeenaviolationofArticle
8ofthe…Convention;

awardhim500,000 francsbywayof justsat-
isfaction”.

As to tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

20. Mr Lambert submitted that the Court of Cas-
sation’s decision to refuse him any standing 
to complain of the interception of some of his 
telephone conversations, on the ground that it 
was a third party’s line that had been tapped, 
had infringed Article 8 of the Convention, 
which provides:
“1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

A. Whether there was any interference
21. The Court points out that as telephone conver-

sations are covered by the notions of “private 
life” and “correspondence” within the meaning 
of Article 8, the admitted measure of intercep-
tion amounted to “interference by a public 
authority” with the exercise of a right secured 
to the applicant in paragraph 1 of that Article 
(see, among other authorities, the following 
judgments: Malone v. the United Kingdom, 2 

August 1984, Series A no. 82, p. 30, § 64; Krus-
lin v. France and Huvig v. France, 24 April 1990, 
Series A no. 176-A and B, p. 20, § 26, and p. 
52, § 25; Halford v. the United Kingdom, 25 
June 1997, Reports of Judgments and Deci-
sions 1997-III, pp. 1016–17, § 48; and Kopp v. 
Switzerland, 25 March 1998, Reports 1998-II, p. 
540, § 53). In this connection, it is of little im-
portance 

that the telephone tapping in question was 
carried out on the line of a third party. 

The Government did not dispute this.

B. Justification for the interference
22. Such interference will contravene Article 8 un-

less it is “in accordance with the law”, pursues 
one or more of the legitimate aims referred to 
in paragraph 2 and furthermore is “necessary in 
a democratic society” in order to achieve them.

1.Wastheinterference“inaccordancewith
thelaw”?

23. The expression “in accordance with the law” 
within the meaning of Article 8 § 2 requires, 
firstly, that the impugned measure should have 
some basis in domestic law; it also refers to the 
quality of the law in question, requiring that it 
should be accessible to the person concerned, 
who must moreover be able to foresee its con-
sequences for him, and compatible with the 
rule of law.

(a)  Whether there was a statutory basis in French 
law

24. The Court notes that the investigating judge 
ordered the telephone tapping in question on 
the basis of Articles 100 et seq. of the Code of 
Criminal Procedure (see paragraphs 12 and 15 
above).

25. The interference complained of therefore had 
a statutory basis in French law.

(b)  “Quality of the law”

26. The second requirement which derives from 
the phrase “in accordance with the law” – the 
accessibility of the law – does not raise any 
problem in the instant case.

27. As to the “foreseeability of the law”, the Gov-
ernment maintained that following the Court’s 
judgments in the Kruslin and Huvig cases (see 
paragraph 21 above), the French legislature 
had remedied the omissions and weaknesses 
of domestic law on telephone tapping by 
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adopting safeguards in respect of the per-
sons whose telephones could be tapped, the 
duration of interception, the requirements for 
drawing up reports, and the communication or 
destruction of recordings.

28. The Court considers, as the Commission did, 
that Articles 100 et seq. of the Code of Crimi-
nal Procedure, inserted by the Law of 10 July 
1991 on the confidentiality of telecommunica-
tions messages, lay down clear, detailed rules 
and specify with sufficient clarity the scope 
and manner of exercise of the relevant discre-
tion conferred on the public authorities (see 
the Kruslin and Huvig judgments cited above, 
pp. 24–25, §§ 35–36, and p. 56, §§ 34–35, 
respectively, and, as the most recent author-
ity and mutatis mutandis, the Kopp judgment 
cited above, pp. 541–43, §§ 62–75).

2.Purposeandnecessityoftheinterference
29. The Court shares the opinion of the Govern-

ment and the Commission and considers that 
the interference was designed to establish the 
truth in connection with criminal proceedings 
and therefore to prevent disorder.

30. It remains to be ascertained whether the in-
terference was “necessary in a democratic 
society” for achieving those objectives. Under 
the Court’s settled case-law, the Contracting 
States enjoy a certain margin of appreciation 
in assessing the existence and extent of such 
necessity, but this margin is subject to Euro-
pean supervision, embracing both the legisla-
tion and the decisions applying it, even those 
given by an independent court (see, mutatis 
mutandis, the Silver and Others v. the United 
Kingdom judgment of 25 March 1983, Series A 
no. 61, pp. 37–38, § 97, and the Barfod v. Den-
mark judgment of 22 February 1989, Series A 
no. 149, p. 12, § 28).

31. When considering the necessity of interfer-
ence, the Court stated in its Klass and Others 
v. Germany judgment of 6 September 1978 
(Series A no. 28, pp. 23 and 25–26, §§ 50, 54 
and 55):
“The Court must be satisfied that, whatever
systemofsurveillance isadopted, thereexist
adequate and effective guarantees against
abuse. This assessment has only a relative
character: it depends on … [among other
things] the kind of remedy provided by the
nationallaw.

…

Itthereforehastobedeterminedwhetherthe
procedures for supervising the ordering and
implementation of the restrictive measures
aresuchastokeepthe‘interference’resulting
fromthecontestedlegislationtowhatis‘nec-
essaryinademocraticsociety’.

…Inaddition,thevaluesofademocraticsoci-
etymustbefollowedasfaithfullyaspossible
inthesupervisoryproceduresiftheboundsof
necessity,within themeaningofArticle 8§
2,arenottobeexceeded.Oneofthefunda-
mental principles of a democratic society is
theruleoflaw,whichisexpresslyreferredtoin
thePreambletotheConvention…Theruleof
lawimplies, interalia,thataninterferenceby
theexecutiveauthoritieswithan individual’s
rights shouldbe subject to an effective con-
trol…”

32. The applicant said that he had wished to com-
plain of the circumstances in which the inves-
tigating judge had ordered the extensions of 
the duration of the telephone tapping (see 
paragraph 13 above), but the Court of Cassa-
tion’s decision had deprived him of any practi-
cal possibility of using the remedies provided 
by law to penalise irregularities committed by 
the authorities.

33. In the Government’s submission, the interfer-
ence complained of had been “necessary in 
a democratic society”. In the instant case the 
telephone tapping had been one of the princi-
pal means of investigation contributing to the 
establishment of the truth and, in particular, to 
proving the involvement of various individu-
als, including the applicant, in large-scale illicit 
dealing in furniture. Furthermore, Mr Lambert 
had been able to avail himself of a remedy in 
the Indictment Division, and a further remedy 
in the Court of Cassation was quite unneces-
sary to satisfy the requirement of “effective 
control”.

34. The Court must accordingly ascertain whether 
an “effective control” was available to Mr Lam-
bert to challenge the telephone tapping to 
which he had been made subject.

35. It notes, firstly, that the Court of Cassation in 
its judgment of 27 September 1993 held that 
the applicant had “no locus standi to challenge 
the manner in which the duration of the moni-
toring of a third party’s telephone line was 
extended” and that accordingly “the grounds 
of appeal, which contest[ed] the grounds on 
which the Indictment Division [had] wrongly 
considered it must examine [the] objections 
of invalidity and subsequently dismissed them, 
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[were] inadmissible”.

36. In its ruling the Court of Cassation therefore 
went beyond the ground relied on by the ap-
plicant concerning the extension of the dura-
tion of the telephone tapping and held that a 
victim of the tapping of a telephone line not his 
own has no standing to invoke the protection 
of national law or Article 8 of the Convention. 
It concluded that in the instant case the Indict-
ment Division had been wrong to examine the 
objections of invalidity raised by the applicant 
as the telephone line being monitored had not 
been his own.

37. Admittedly, the applicant had been able to 
avail himself of a remedy in respect of the dis-
puted point in the Indictment Division, which 
held that the investigating judge’s extension 
of the duration of the telephone tapping had 
been in accordance with Articles 100 et seq. of 
the Code of Criminal Procedure (see paragraph 
12 above), and it is not the Court’s function to 
express an opinion on the interpretation of do-
mestic law, which is primarily for the national 
courts to interpret (see the Kruslin and Huvig 
judgments cited above, p. 21, § 29, and p. 53, 
§ 28, respectively). However, the Court of Cas-
sation, the guardian of national law, criticised 
the Indictment Division for having examined 
the merits of Mr Lambert’s application.

38. As the Court has already said (see paragraph 
28 above), the provisions of the Law of 1991 
governing telephone tapping satisfy the re-
quirements of Article 8 of the Convention and 
those laid down in the Kruslin and Huvig judg-
ments. However, it has to be recognised that 
the Court of Cassation’s reasoning could lead 
to decisions whereby a very large number of 
people are deprived of the protection of the 
law, namely all those who have conversations 
on a telephone line other than their own. That 
would in practice render the protective ma-
chinery largely devoid of substance.

39. That was the case with the applicant, who did 
not enjoy the effective protection of national 
law, which does not make any distinction ac-
cording to whose line is being tapped (Articles 
100 et seq. of the Code of Criminal Procedure 
– see paragraph 15 above).

40. The Court therefore considers, like the Com-
mission, that the applicant did not have avail-
able to him the “effective control” to which 
citizens are entitled under the rule of law and 
which would have been capable of restricting 
the interference in question to what was “nec-

essary in a democratic society”.

41. There has consequently been a violation of Ar-
ticle 8 of the Convention.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
13 OF THE CONVENTION

42. The applicant also alleged a violation of Article 
13 of the Convention, which provides:

“Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [the] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity.”

43. In view of the preceding conclusion (see para-
graph 41 above), the Court does not consider 
that it need rule on the complaint in question.

III. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 50 OF 
THE CONVENTION

44. Article 50 of the Convention provides:

“IftheCourtfindsthatadecisionorameasure
takenbyalegalauthorityoranyotherauthor-
ityofaHighContractingPartyiscompletelyor
partiallyinconflictwiththeobligationsarising
fromthe...Convention,andiftheinternallaw
ofthesaidPartyallowsonlypartialreparation
tobemade for theconsequencesof thisde-
cision ormeasure, the decision of the Court
shall, if necessary, afford just satisfaction to
theinjuredparty.”

A. Non-pecuniary damage
45. Mr Lambert sought 500,000 French francs (FRF) 

for non-pecuniary damage.

46. The Government considered that any finding 
of a violation would constitute sufficient just 
satisfaction.

47. The Delegate of the Commission expressed no 
view on the matter.

48. The Court considers that the applicant unde-
niably sustained non-pecuniary damage and 
awards him the sum of FRF 10,000 under this 
head.

B. Costs and expenses
49. The applicant also claimed FRF 15,000 in re-

spect of the costs and expenses incurred in the 
proceedings before the Court.
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50. The Government considered that the amount 
claimed was not unreasonable and wished to 
leave the matter to the Court’s discretion.

51. The Delegate of the Commission did not ex-
press a view.

52. Making its assessment on an equitable ba-
sis and with reference to its usual criteria, the 
Court awards the sum claimed.

C. Default interest
53. According to the information available to the 

Court, the statutory rate of interest applicable 
in France at the date of adoption of the present 
judgment is 3.36% per annum.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
8 of the Convention;

2. Holds that it is unnecessary to examine the 
complaint based on Article 13 of the Conven-
tion;

3. Holds

(d) that the respondent State is to pay the ap-
plicant, within three months, 10,000 (ten 
thousand) french francs for non-pecuni-
ary damage and 15,000 (fifteen thousand) 
french francs in respect of costs and ex-
penses;

(e) that simple interest at an annual rate of 
3.36% shall be payable on those sums 
from the expiry of the above-mentioned 
three months until settlement;

4. Dismisses the remainder of the claim for just 
satisfaction.

Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 24 August 1998.

Rudolf Bernhardt, President
Herbert Petzold, Registrar

In accordance with Article 51 § 2 of the Conven-
tion and Rule 53 § 2 of Rules of Court A, the con-
curring opinion of Mr Pettiti is annexed to this judg-
ment.

ConCURRInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE PEttItI
(Translation)

I voted in favour of the view that there had been a 
violation of Article 8 of the Convention for the rea-
sons set out in the judgment, which strengthen the 
Court’s settled case-law since the judgments in the 
König, Malone, Kruslin and Huvig cases. By way of 
putting in context the importance of this line of au-
thority, I would also refer to my concurring opinion 
in the Malone judgment and to the advisory opin-
ion I gave to the Luxembourg Parliament.

Intercepting telephone conversations is one of the 
most serious temptations for State authorities and 
one of the most harmful for democracies.

Originally, reason of State or national security were 
put forward in the attempt to justify interceptions, 
particularly in the sphere of so-called administrative 
telephone tapping that is sometimes used to evade 
the rules governing judicial telephone tapping.

Abuses, however, are becoming more and more 
unacceptable, taking the form of monitoring whol-
ly private conversations on the pretext of spying on 
political entourages.

In several member States the supervision systems 
set up to control the monitors have proved inad-
equate and defective.

Will it be necessary in the future, in order to protect 
privacy, to require people to get into “bubbles”, in 
imitation of the practice of some embassies, in or-
der to preclude any indiscretions? That would be to 
give in to Big Brother.

The European Court’s case-law on telephone tap-
ping is undoubtedly one of the most positive as-
pects of its work to safeguard fundamental rights.
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TELEPHONE, TAPPING, INTERFERENCE, INTERCEPTION, 
PRIVATE LIFE, CORRESPONDENCE, INVESTIGATION, 
SURVEILLANCE, COMMUNICATION

IN THE CASE Of vALENzuELA CONTRERAS v. SPAIN,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting, in 
accordance with Article 43 of the Convention for 
the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamen-
tal Freedoms (“the Convention”) and the relevant 
provisions of Rules of Court A3, as a Chamber com-
posed of the following judges:
Mr R. Bernhardt, President, 
Mrs E. Palm, 
Mr A.N. Loizou, 
Mr J.M. Morenilla, 
Sir John Freeland, 
Mr A.B. Baka, 
Mr L. Wildhaber, 
Mr J. Casadevall, 
Mr V. Butkevych, 
and also of Mr H. Petzold, Registrar, 
and Mr P.J. Mahoney, Deputy Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 28 March and 30 
June 1998,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case was referred to the Court by the Euro-

pean Commission of Human Rights (“the Com-
mission”) on 29 May 1997, within the three-
month period laid down by Article 32 § 1 and 
Article 47 of the Convention. It originated in an 
application (no. 27671/95) against the King-
dom of Spain lodged with the Commission un-
der Article 25 by a Spanish national, Mr Cosme 
Valenzuela Contreras, on 2 May 1995.

The Commission’s request referred to Articles 
44 and 48 and to the declaration whereby 
Spain recognised the compulsory jurisdiction 
of the Court (Article 46). The object of the re-
quest was to obtain a decision as to whether 
the facts of the case disclosed a breach by the 
respondent State of its obligations under Arti-
cle 8 of the Convention.

2. In response to the enquiry made in accordance 
with Rule 33 § 3 (d) of Rules of Court A, the ap-
plicant stated that he wished to take part in the 
proceedings and designated the lawyer who 
would represent him (Rule 30). The lawyer was 
given leave by the President to use the Spanish 
language (Rule 27 § 3).

3. The Chamber to be constituted included ex 
officio Mr J.M. Morenilla, the elected judge of 
Spanish nationality (Article 43 of the Conven-
tion), and Mr R. Ryssdal, the President of the 
Court (Rule 21 § 4 (b)). On 27 August 1997, 
in the presence of the Registrar, the President 
drew by lot the names of the other seven 
members, namely Mr B. Walsh, Mrs E. Palm, Mr 
A.N. Loizou, Mr A.B. Baka, Mr L. Wildhaber, Mr J. 
Casadevall and Mr V. Butkevych (Article 43 in 
fine of the Convention and Rule 21 § 5). Sub-
sequently Mr R. Bernhardt, the Vice-President 
of the Court, replaced Mr Ryssdal, who had 
died on 18 February 1998 (Rule 21 § 6, second 
sub-paragraph), and Sir John Freeland, substi-
tute judge, replaced Mr Walsh, who had died 
on 9 March 1998 (Rule 22 § 1).

4. As President of the Chamber (Rule 21 § 6), Mr 
Ryssdal, acting through the Registrar, had con-
sulted the Agent of the Spanish Government 
(“the Government”), the applicant’s lawyer 
and the Delegate of the Commission on the 
organisation of the proceedings (Rules 37 § 
1 and 38). Pursuant to the order made in con-
sequence on 30 September 1997, the Registrar 
received the Government’s and the applicant’s 
memorials on 15 December 1997. On 19 Janu-
ary 1998 the Secretary to the Commission in-
formed the Registrar that the Delegate did not 
wish to reply in writing.

5. On 19 January 1998 the Commission pro-
duced the file on the proceedings before it, as 
requested by the Registrar on the President’s 
instructions.

6. In accordance with the decision of the Presi-
dent, who had also given the Agent of the Gov-
ernment leave to address the Court in Spanish 
(Rule 27 § 2), the hearing took place in public 
in the Human Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 
26 March 1998. The Court had held a prepara-
tory meeting beforehand.

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Mr J. Borrego Borrego, Head of the Legal 
Department for the European Commission 
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and Court of Human Rights, Ministry of Jus-
tice, Agent;

(b) for the Commission

Mr M.A. Nowicki, Delegate;

(c) for the applicant

Mr J.-C. Rubio Moreno, of the Madrid 
Bar, Counsel.

The Court heard addresses by Mr Nowicki, Mr Rubio 
Moreno and Mr Borrego Borrego.

As to tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

7. The applicant is a Spanish citizen and was born 
in 1952. He is the deputy head of personnel of 
the W. company.

A. Background to the case and the inquiry
8. On 12 November 1984, following a complaint 

lodged by Mrs M., an employee of the W. com-
pany, with Madrid investigating judge no. 31 
against a person or persons unknown in re-
spect of insulting and threatening telephone 
calls and letters she had received, a criminal in-
vestigation (diligencias previas) was started. On 
6 February 1985 Mrs M.’s fiancé, Mr R., lodged 
a complaint against a person or persons un-
known for the same offence.

9. On 8 January and 19 February 1985, the inves-
tigating judge made orders under Article 18 § 
3 of the Constitution for Mrs M.’s and Mr R.’s 
telephone lines to be tapped for a month, as 
they had requested when making their state-
ment. Several suspect calls made from the W. 
company and from telephone boxes were in-
tercepted.

10. On 18 February and 25 March 1985 respective-
ly the monitoring ceased.

11. On 29 March 1985 Mrs M. gave the investigat-
ing judge the names of the five people, includ-
ing the applicant, who had access to the tel-
ephone at the W. company from which some 
of the suspect calls had been made.

That same day three other people were sum-
monsed to appear. The W. company was asked 
to provide information about the offices in 
which the telephones concerned were located 

and the people having access to them. 

12. On 30 April 1985 the investigating judge 
made a further order for Mrs M.’s and Mr R.’s 
telephone lines to be tapped, on this occasion 
from 1 to 31 May 1985. He also ordered an 
analysis of the typeface of the anonymous let-
ters containing threats against Mrs M. (in order 
to determine the make of typewriter used) and 
of photographs enclosed with some of the let-
ters. In addition, he had the saliva residue and 
the fingerprints on the envelopes examined.

13. On 7 June 1985 the cassette recording of the 
calls made on the monitored lines, some of 
which showed that Mrs M. had been subjected 
to threats and insults, was delivered to the in-
vestigating judge.

14. On 19 November 1985 the investigating judge 
made an order under Article 18 § 3 of the 
Constitution (see paragraph 29 below) and 
Chapter VIII of Volume II of the Code of Crimi-
nal Procedure “on the entry into and searches 
of closed premises, the opening of books and 
written documents and the interception and 
opening of written and telegraphic corre-
spondence” (see paragraph 30 below), for the 
monitoring of the private telephone lines of 
S. and of Mr Valenzuela, the head and deputy 
head of personnel of the company where the 
applicant worked, for a period of one month 
commencing on 26 November 1985. The ap-
plicant was considered to be the prime sus-
pect, firstly, because most of the calls were 
being made from the W. company, where he 
worked and where, as deputy head of person-
nel, he had access to the company’s staff files 
and, secondly, because he had previously had 
a relationship with Mrs M. The investigating 
judge’s order read as follows:
“Anapplicationhasbeenmadeforanorderfor
themonitoringoftelephonelinesnos.64129
25and7952200,ofCosmeValenzuelaCon-
treras andMr [S.] respectively,who reside in
this town, Mr Valenzuela Contreras at Avda.
del Oeste no. 41 de Alorcón and Mr [S.] in
H.Street, inconnectionwithapolice investi-
gation currently under way into certain of-
fences.

Itisimplicitinwhathasbeensaidbythepo-
lice that reliable evidence exists to suggest
that informationconcerning the commission
ofanoffencemaybeobtainedbymonitoring
telephonelinesnos.6412925and7952200
belongingtoCosmeValenzuelaContrerasand
Mr [S.] respectively; it is appropriate togrant
the requested application authorising the
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monitoring,inaccordancewithArticle18§3
oftheConstitutionasinforce.Itwillbecarried
outbyagentsoftheNationalTelephoneCom-
panyreferredtoabove.

Having considered, in addition to theArticle
citedabove,ChapterVIIIofVolume[II]ofthe
CodeofCriminalProcedureandotherprovi-
sionsofgeneralapplication,

[The judge] orders that the telephone lines
nos. 641 29 25 and 795 22 00 of Cosme Va-
lenzuela Contreras and Mr [S.] respectively
shallbemonitoredbystaffoftheNationalTel-
ephoneCompanyofSpainforaperiodofone
monthstartingfromtoday;attheendofthat
periodtheyshallreporttheirfindings.

...”

15. On 10 December 1985 police headquarters at 
the Ministry of the Interior informed Madrid 
investigating judge no. 1 that the monitoring 
of Mr [S.]’s line had not revealed anything sus-
pect, no suspicious call or conversation having 
been recorded. Conversely, the monitoring of 
Mr Valenzuela’s line had shown that a number 
of calls had been made from his telephone 
to Mrs M., her fiancé and their close relatives. 
However, the caller had hung up as soon as the 
telephone was answered.

On the same day, after further insulting letters 
had been sent to Mrs M., police headquarters 
applied for a warrant from the judge to carry 
out a search of Mr Valenzuela’s home.

16. Owing to a breakdown in the system, the ap-
plicant’s telephone line ceased to be tapped 
on 20 December 1985. The original cassettes 
containing the recordings were delivered to 
the investigating judge and included in the 
court file that was available for inspection and 
comment by the parties.

17. On 27 December 1985 the applicant himself 
applied to Madrid investigating judge no. 2, 
complaining that he had received threatening 
telephone calls. On 17 June 1986 the applicant 
requested the judge to order the monitoring 
of the applicant’s own telephone line; that 
measure proved fruitless. On 14 June 1988 the 
judge made a provisional discharge order (so-
breseimiento provisional).

18. On 9 December 1985 and 13 January 1986 po-
lice headquarters confirmed before the inves-
tigating judge that twenty-two calls had been 
made from the applicant’s telephone while 
it was being tapped, three to Mrs M.’s home, 
eight to Mr R.’s home, two to Mr R.’s aunt and 

nine to his superior. 

19. On 26 January 1986 the public prosecutor ap-
plied for criminal proceedings (sumario) to be 
brought against Mr Valenzuela and, if appropri-
ate, Mr S., for offences of proffering grave in-
sults and making threats.

20. On 25 February 1986 Madrid investigating 
judge no. 31 ordered that the applicant’s home 
and the head office of the W. company be 
searched.

21. On 18 April 1986 he decided to institute crimi-
nal proceedings against Mr Valenzuela. In an 
order (auto de procesamiento) of 18 April 1986 
he charged the applicant with proffering grave 
insults and making threats under Articles 457, 
458 §§ 2, 3 and 4, 459, 463 and 493 § 2 of 
the Criminal Code.

22. On 26 December 1990 Madrid investigating 
judge no. 27, to whom the case had been as-
signed on 2 January 1990, closed the investi-
gation and committed the applicant for trial 
before the Madrid Audiencia provincial.

B. Proceedings before the Madrid Audiencia 
provincial

23. On 25 June and 8 July 1991 the public prosecu-
tor, and Mrs M. and Mr R. as private prosecu-
tors (acusadores particulares), filed provisional 
submissions.

24. On 7 May 1992 the applicant argued that the 
monitoring of his telephone line and searches 
of his house constituted breaches of Articles 18 
and 24 of the Constitution (see paragraph 29 
below).

25. On 8 May 1992 the Madrid Audiencia provincial 
convicted the applicant of making threats by 
letter and on the telephone against Mrs M. and 
Mr R., her fiancé, and their respective families, 
both at their homes and at work. It sentenced 
him to four months’ imprisonment, imposed a 
number of fines and ordered him to pay Mrs M. 
compensation.

26. The Audiencia provincial found that neither 
the searches nor the monitoring had been de-
cisive in establishing the applicant’s guilt. The 
monitoring had revealed that some of the calls 
from his home telephone had been made to 
Mrs M.’s telephone number and that most of 
the calls complained of had been made from 
the company where both Mrs M. and the ap-
plicant worked. Nevertheless, it had not proved 
possible to determine the identity of the per-
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son making the calls because he had hung up 
as soon as the telephone was answered.

C. Proceedings before the Supreme Court
27. The applicant lodged an appeal on points 

of law, which the Supreme Court dismissed 
on 19 March 1994. It held with regard to the 
telephone tapping that, even if the court or-
der allowing the applicant’s telephone line to 
be monitored had been couched in general 
terms, the evidence thereby obtained had not 
been the only evidence on which the trial court 
had relied in convicting him and, in any event, 
the threats had also been made in writing.

D. The amparo appeal to the Constitutional 
Court

28. The applicant then filed an amparo appeal with 
the Constitutional Court in which he relied on 
the principle of the presumption of innocence, 
on the right to respect for his private and fam-
ily life and on the confidentiality of telephone 
communications (Articles 24 and 18 of the 
Constitution – see paragraph 29 below). That 
appeal was dismissed on 16 November 1994 
on the following grounds:
“... Contrary towhat is saidby the applicant,
therehasbeennobreachofhisrighttomake
telephone communications in confidence in
thepresentcase, since themonitoringofhis
telephone line had previously been author-
ised in a reasoned court order made under
Article579§3of theCodeofCriminalPro-
cedure. It must nevertheless be noted that
themonitoringfailedtoproduceanydecisive
resultsenablingtheconclusiontobereached
thatMrValenzuelahadbeenguiltyofmaking
the threatsofwhichhewas suspected, inas-
much as the only finding was that frequent
calls inwhich the caller had remained silent
hadbeenmade fromhishome to thehome
of the person receiving the threats, as the
callerhadhungupassoonas[thevictim]an-
swered.Thedecisivefactorinthisrespect[the
findingthattheapplicantwasguilty]wasthe
evidenceasawholeincludingtheamparoap-
pellant’srecentrelationshipwith[MrsM.],the
factthathewasthedeputyheadofpersonnel
in the company where she worked, the fact
thatithadbeenshownthatsomeofthecalls
had beenmade from that company’s prem-
ises, the fact that the photographs enclosed
with some of the anonymous letters were
from the company’s archives to which only
members of the personnel department had
access,[MrValenzuela’s]reactionsduringthe
oral hearing, etc. That evidence, which was
properly reviewed by the [Audiencia provin-

cial] inaclearlyreasoned judgmentthatwas
notillogical,maybeconsideredtohavebeen
sufficient to rebut the presumption that the
appellantwasinnocent...”

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW

A. The Constitution
29. The relevant provisions of the Constitution 

read as follows:

Article 10 § 2

“The rules relating to the fundamental rights
andthefreedomsrecognisedundertheCon-
stitutionshallbeconstruedinaccordancewith
the Universal Declaration of Human Rights
andtheinternationaltreatiesandagreements
concerningthesamesubjectmatterthathave
beenratifiedbySpain.”

Article 18 § 3

“Communications, particularly postal, tel-
egraphic and telephone communications,
shallbeconfidentialunlessthecourtdecides
otherwise.”

Article 96

“Properly concluded international treaties
shall form part of the domestic legal order
oncetheyhavebeenpublishedinSpain...”

B. The Code of Criminal Procedure 
1.BeforeImplementingLawno.4/1988of25

May1988cameintoforce
30. The relevant provisions of Chapter VIII of Vol-

ume II of the Code of Criminal Procedure “on 
the entry into and searches of closed premises, 
the opening of books and written documents 
and the interception and opening of written 
and telegraphic correspondence” were as fol-
lows: 

Article 579

“A courtmay authorise the seizure, opening
and examination of private postal and tel-
egraphiccorrespondencesentorreceivedby
apersonchargedifthereisreasontobelieve
that facts or circumstances material to the
casemaytherebybeuncoveredorverified.”

Article 581

“The officer who seizes the correspondence
shallimmediatelyhandittotheinvestigating
judge.”
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Article 583

“The decision, which shall be reasoned, au-
thorisingtheseizureandinspectionofcorre-
spondence...shallspecifywhichcorrespond-
enceistobeseizedorinspected...”

Article 586

“Theprocedureshall takeplacebythe judge
himselfopeningthecorrespondence...”

Article 588

“The fact that the correspondence has been
openedshallbenotedinarecord...

Therecordthereofshallbesignedbythe in-
vestigatingjudge,theregistrarandanyother
personspresent.”

2.SinceImplementingLawno.4/1988of25
May1988cameintoforce

31. Implementing Law no. 4/1988 amended two 
Articles of Chapter VIII of Volume II (see para-
graph 30 above), namely Articles 553 and 579. 
Of these, only Article 579 is relevant in the pre-
sent case and it now provides:

Article 579

“1. A courtmay authorise the seizure, open-
ingandexaminationofprivatepostalandtel-
egraphiccorrespondencesentorreceivedby
apersonchargedifthereisreasontobelieve
that facts or circumstances material to the
casemaytherebybeuncoveredorverified.

2. A courtmay also authorise, in a reasoned
decision, the monitoring of the telephone
callsofapersoncharged if there isevidence
to show that facts or circumstancesmaterial
tothecasemaytherebybeuncoveredorveri-
fied.

3. Likewise, a courtmay, in a reasoneddeci-
sion, authorise for a maximum renewable
periodofthreemonthsthemonitoringofthe
postal, telegraphic and telephonic commu-
nications of persons reasonably believed to
havecommittedanoffenceandofcommuni-
cationsmadeforcriminalends.

...”

C. The case-law
32. In its judgment no. 114/1984 of 29 November 

1984 the Constitutional Court held that the 
concept of “confidentiality” did not cover just 
the content of communications, but also other 
aspects of them such as the subjective identity 
of the people communicating.

33. In its judgment of 21 February 1991 the Su-
preme Court noted that the legislative amend-
ment made by Implementing Law no. 4/1988 
of 25 May 1988, bringing in the new wording of 
Article 579 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 
was not perfect. The court said that cassette 
recordings of telephone conversations should 
be put at the disposal of the judge with an ac-
curate transcript, which was to be checked by 
the registrar for use at the trial if appropriate. It 
added that “if the conditions laid down by Ar-
ticle 579 are satisfied, if the judge has reviewed 
the content of the evidence so obtained and 
has given leave for it to be used at the trial”, evi-
dence obtained from telephone tapping may 
be considered admissible.

34. In a decision (auto) of 18 June 1992 the Su-
preme Court construed the Spanish legislation 
on the admissibility of evidence obtained by 
telephone tapping as it stood after Implement-
ing Law no. 4/1988 of 25 May 1988 had come 
into force (see paragraphs 29 and 31 above). It 
stated that “the legislature [had] not specified 
any limitations according to the nature of the 
possible offence or the sentence it carried” and 
emphasised that the deficiencies, inadequa-
cies and vagueness of that legislation needed 
to be rectified by the case-law of the domestic 
courts and of the European Court of Human 
Rights.

In the light of the latter Court’s case-law, the 
Supreme Court reached the following conclu-
sions in its decision:
“In summary, the violations that render evi-
dence obtained from telephone tapping in-
admissible and determine its effects are as
follows:

(1)Lackofevidence.Lackofsufficientreason-
ing

Lack ... of evidence capable, in the judge’s
view,ofjustifyingameasurerestrictingfunda-
mentalrightstotheextenttelephonetapping
does;meresuspiciononthepartofthepolice,
which inprinciple servesas thebasis for the
court’sdecision,cannotsuffice.

(2)Lackofsupervision

Therewasanalmosttotallackofanyformof
judicialsupervisionoftheactualmonitoringof
thetelephoneconcerned,whichmustneces-
sarilybeeffectedincompliancewiththepro-
portionalityprinciple,which indeedcanonly
beestablishedthroughthereasoning,by,for
example, listening toconversations recorded
overreasonableperiodsinorderforprogress



403CASEOFVALENZUELACONTRERASVSPAIN

EC
J

EC
HR

intheinvestigation(inthiscaseapoliceinves-
tigation) tobecheckedandadecision taken
as towhetherornotexpressly toextendthe
measure/surveillance – which, moreover,
shouldnotbeformorethanareasonablepe-
riod – in accordancewith the principles laid
downbytheCodeofCriminalProcedure.

(3)Periodicreview.Effects

Once the conversations have been recorded
on the tapes, the judgemust periodically, in
themannerhedeemsappropriateinthelight
ofallthecircumstances,examinetheminthe
presenceofthecourtregistrarand,afterhear-
ingtherecordedvoices,decideontheproper
courseofactionand,ifappropriate,orderthat
themonitoringcontinue,inwhichcasehede-
terminestheappropriateguidelinestobefol-
lowedbythoseresponsibleforimplementing
themeasure.

If he orders that the measure should cease,
thepersonorpersonsaffectedbythatmeas-
uremust be informed of the operation that
hasended...sothattheymayhenceforthtake
suchactionastheydeemappropriate...

Onlyinexceptionalcasescanthemeasurere-
mainsecretuntiltheendoftheinvestigation
soasnottofrustratethelegitimateinterestin
pursuingit ...but itmustceasetoremainse-
cretoncetheinvestigationhasended...

(4) Divergence between themonitoring and
theinvestigation

...Thereisaviolationoftherighttoprivatelife
or, even more simply, the confidentiality of
communicationsingeneralandoftelephone
communicationsinparticularwhere...,during
thecourseof theoriginallyauthorisedmoni-
toring, it appears possible that one ormore
newoffencesmayhavebeen committed.At
that point ... the policemust, without delay,
immediately inform the investigating judge
who authorised/ordered the monitoring so
thathemayconsiderthequestionofhisjuris-
dictionand the requirementofproportional-
ity...Ablanketauthorisationmaynotbegiven;
nor, without a fresh, express authority from
thejudge,canthemeasure/surveillancecon-
tinue if the new presumed offence revealed
onthetelephoneisfoundtobeindependent
oftheoffencecoveredbytheoriginalauthori-
sation. Such situations, if uncontrollable and
notdirectlysupervisedbythejudge,causeor
areapttocauseatotalfailuretocomplywith
the proportionality principle. Itwill never be
knownwhetherornotthatprinciplewascom-
pliedwithinthepresentcase...

(5)Productionofcopiesratherthanoriginals

Therewillalsobeaviolationwherethemeas-
urefailstocomplywiththeConstitutionand
all the legislation (Article 579of theCodeof
Criminal Procedure). The fact that the tape
recordings produced to the courtwere cop-
ies,notoriginals,andmoreoverrepresenteda
selectionmadebythepolicewithoutany ju-
dicialsupervision, isaseriousviolationofthe
system....asthejudge,intheregistrar’spres-
ence,mustselect,inthemannerhedeemsap-
propriate,whatisrelevanttotheinvestigation
ordered by himwhile the remaining record-
ingsmust be kept in the registrar’s custody,
therebyprecludinganyundesiredorundesir-
ableknowledgeofconversationsbeyondthe
scope of the decision tomonitor. The judge
must order the immediate cessation of the
measurewhen it isno longer relevanttothe
legitimateaimofestablishingthecommission
of a serious offence, whose gravity must al-
waysbeproportionatetowhatis,inprinciple,
anintolerableinterferencewithprivatelife...

(6)Findingofproportionality

On that basis, it is necessary to consider
whetherornotthepreventivemeasuresused
wereproportionatetotheaimpursued...The
judge,who is theessentialguarantorof fun-
damental rights and public freedoms, must
consider each offence in the light of all the
circumstancesanddecidewhetherthelegiti-
mate interests in investigation, prosecution
and,whereappropriate,convictionwarrantin
agivencasethesacrificeof legal interestsas
importantasthedignity,privacyandfreedom
oftheindividual...

(7)Determinationofthemeasureanditslimits

…Thejudicialauthoritymuststatewhatform
themeasureistotakeandensurethatitisim-
plementedwiththeleastpossibleharmtothe
personaffectedbyit...”

PRoCEEDInGs BEFoRE 
tHE CoMMIssIon
35. Mr Valenzuela Contreras applied to the Com-

mission on 2 May 1995. He relied on Article 6 § 
1 and Article 8 of the Convention, complaining 
that he had not had a fair hearing in that his 
guilt had not been established by lawful means 
and that the monitoring of his telephone line 
had infringed his right to respect for his private 
life.

36. On 18 October 1996 the Commission declared 
the application (no. 27671/95) admissible as re-
gards the applicant’s complaint under Article 8 
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and inadmissible as to the remainder. In its re-
port of 11 April 1997 (Article 31), it expressed 
the opinion that there had been a violation of 
Article 8 (eleven votes to six). The full text of the 
Commission’s opinion and of the dissenting 
opinion contained in the report is reproduced 
as an annex to this judgment4.

FInAL sUBMIssIons to 
tHE CoURt
37. In their memorial the Government invited the 

Court to hold that the monitoring of the ap-
plicant’s telephone line had not constituted a 
violation of Article 8 of the Convention.

38. The applicant requested the Court to hold that 
there had been breaches of Articles 6 and 8 of 
the Convention and to award him just satisfac-
tion under Article 50.

As to tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
6 OF THE CONVENTION

39. In his memorial to the Court, the applicant re-
peated the complaint he had submitted to the 
Commission under Article 6 of the Convention, 
which the Commission had declared inadmis-
sible (see paragraphs 35 and 36 above). He af-
firmed that the only basis for his conviction had 
been the evidence obtained from monitoring 
his telephone and that without it, his guilt 
could not have been established.

40. However, since the compass of the case before 
it is delimited by the Commission’s decision 
on admissibility, the Court has no jurisdiction 
to revive issues declared inadmissible (see, 
among other authorities, the Masson and Van 
Zon v. the Netherlands judgment of 28 Sep-
tember 1995, Series A no. 327-A, p. 16, § 40, 
and the Leutscher v. the Netherlands judgment 
of 26 March 1996, Reports of Judgments and 
Decisions 1996-II, p. 434, § 22).

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

41. The applicant maintained that the interception 
of his telephone communications amounted 
to a violation of Article 8 of the Convention, 
which provides:

“1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.”

A. Applicability of Article 8
42. The Court considers that it is clear from its case-

law that telephone calls from a person’s home 
come within the notions of “private life” and 
“correspondence” referred to in Article 8 (see 
the following judgments: Klass and Others v. 
Germany of 6 September 1978, Series A no. 28, 
p. 21, § 41, Malone v. the United Kingdom of 
2 August 1984, Series A no. 82, p. 30, § 64, and 
Kruslin v. France and Huvig v. France of 24 April 
1990, Series A no. 176-A and B, p. 20, § 26, and 
p. 52, § 25, respectively). Indeed, the point was 
not disputed.

B. Compliance with Article 8
1.Argumentsofthoseappearingbeforethe

Court
(a)  The applicant

43. The applicant’s main contention was that the 
interception of his telephone conversations 
amounted to an unjustified interference in the 
exercise of his right to respect for his private 
life, in breach of Article 8. He argued that the 
statutory basis for the measure in issue was not 
sufficiently foreseeable and clear and that the 
existence of a general and unrestricted system 
for monitoring communications was contrary 
to Article 8, especially as there had been no 
judicial supervision in the instant case. He re-
ferred to the Court’s judgment in the Malone 
case (judgment cited above, pp. 32–33, § 68) 
and said that the “law”, namely the Spanish 
Constitution, which was of direct application 
as no other law was applicable in the present 
case, did not define “the extent 

of any such power or the manner of its exercise 
with a degree of clarity that – having regard 
to the legitimate aim pursued – was sufficient 
to give the individual adequate protection 
against arbitrary interference”.

He submitted that the tapping of the tel-
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ephones did not satisfy the requirements laid 
down by the Court’s case-law, in particular in 
that the investigating judge had not given 
sufficient reasons in his order of 19 November 
1985 for requiring the applicant’s telephone 
line to be monitored. The applicant empha-
sised that that order was akin to a “standard-
form decision”, since it contained no mention 
of the facts on which it was based or of the rea-
sons that could have justified such a measure; 
furthermore, the measure was disproportion-
ate to the seriousness of the offence.

(b)  The Government

44. In the Government’s submission, the interfer-
ence in the applicant’s private life was in ac-
cordance with the law (see Article 18 of the 
Constitution and the provisions of the Code of 
Criminal Procedure that were applicable under 
a wide construction of Article 579 of the Code 
of Criminal Procedure, before its amendment 
in 1988) and justified by the need to establish 
that the offence in question had been commit-
ted. They also pointed out that the provisions 
relating to fundamental rights are to be con-
strued in the light of the Universal Declaration 
of Human Rights and the international treaties 
which Spain had ratified on the subject (see 
paragraph 29 above).

The order for the monitoring of the applicant’s 
telephone line had been made by the investi-
gating judge in a properly reasoned decision in 
connection with criminal proceedings brought 
for insulting and threatening telephone calls 
and letters. The measure had been necessary 
in order to discover or to verify facts relevant 
to the proceedings. The monitoring had been 
limited in time and the cassette recordings 
had been transcribed and made available 
for inspection and comment by both parties. 
Moreover, the telephone numbers and the 
names of the subscribers to which the measure 
related were mentioned in the order, as were 
the statutory provisions on which the decision 
to intercept communications was based.

The Government referred in particular to a 
decision (auto) of the Supreme Court of 18 
June 1992 (see paragraph 34 above) that had 
been delivered two years before the Supreme 
Court’s judgment of 19 March 1994 and the 
Constitutional Court’s decision of 16 Novem-
ber 1994 (see paragraphs 27 and 28 above), 
in which all the necessary conditions applica-
ble under Spanish law, as established by the 
Court’s case-law, were set out.

(c)  The Commission

45. Before the Court, the Delegate of the Com-
mission pointed out that at the material time 
the Spanish system governing the monitor-
ing of telephones did not provide adequate 
safeguards; it did not indicate with the clarity 
and precision required by the Convention the 
scope and manner of exercise of the power 
conferred on the authorities. Although the leg-
islation and, in particular, the case-law in that 
sphere had evolved in a very positive way, that 
evolution had not begun until several years af-
ter the order in issue had been made.

2.TheCourt’sassessment
(a)  General principles

46. The following principles relevant in the instant 
case have been established by the Court in its 
case-law:

(i) The interception of telephone conver-
sations constitutes an interference by a 
public authority in the right to respect for 
private life and correspondence. Such an 
interference will be in breach of Article 8 
§ 2 unless it is “in accordance with the 
law”, pursues one or more legitimate aims 
under paragraph 2 and, in addition, is “nec-
essary in a democratic society” to achieve 
those aims (see the Kopp v. Switzerland 
judgment of 25 March 1998, Reports 1998- 
II, p. 539, § 50).

(ii) The words “in accordance with the law” 
require firstly that the impugned measure 
should have some basis in domestic law. 
However, that expression does not merely 
refer back to domestic law but also relates 
to the quality of the law, requiring it to be 
compatible with the rule of law. The ex-
pression thus implies that there must be 
a measure of protection in domestic law 
against arbitrary interference by public 
authorities with the rights safeguarded by 
paragraph 1 (see the Malone judgment 
cited above, p. 32, § 67). From that re-
quirement stems the need for the law to 
be accessible to the person concerned, 
who must, moreover, be able to foresee 
its consequences for him (see the Kruslin 
judgment cited above p. 20, § 27, and the 
Kopp judgment cited above, p. 540, § 55).

(iii) Especially where a power of the executive 
is exercised in secret the risks of arbitrari-
ness are evident. In the context of secret 
measures of surveillance or interception 
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by public authorities, the requirement of 
foreseeability implies that the domestic 
law must be sufficiently clear in its terms 
to give citizens an adequate indication as 
to the circumstances in and conditions on 
which public authorities are empowered 
to take any such secret measures (see the 
Malone judgment cited above, pp. 31–32, 
§§ 66–67, the Kruslin judgment cited 
above, pp. 22–23, § 30, the Halford v. the 
United Kingdom judgment of 25 June 
1997, Reports 1997-III, p. 1017, § 49, and 
the Kopp judgment cited above, p. 541, 
§ 64). It is essential to have clear, detailed 
rules on the subject, especially as the tech-
nology available for use is constantly be-
coming more sophisticated (see the Krus-
lin judgment cited above, p. 23, § 33, the 
Huvig judgment cited above, p. 55, § 32, 
and the Kopp judgment cited above, pp. 
542–43, § 72).

(iv) The Kruslin and Huvig judgments mention 
the following minimum safeguards that 
should be set out in the statute in order to 
avoid abuses of power: a definition of the 
categories of people liable to have their 
telephones tapped by judicial order, the 
nature of the offences which may give rise 
to such an order, a limit on the duration 
of telephone tapping, the procedure for 
drawing up the summary reports contain-
ing intercepted conversations, the precau-
tions to be taken in order to communicate 
the recordings intact and in their entirety 
for possible inspection by the judge and 
by the defence and the circumstances in 
which recordings may or must be erased 
or the tapes destroyed, in particular where 
an accused has been discharged by an in-
vestigating judge or acquitted by a court 
(loc. cit. p. 24, § 35, and p. 56, § 34, re-
spectively).

(b)  Application of these principles  in the  instant 
case

i Whether there has been an interference

47. The tapping of Mr Valenzuela Contreras’s tel-
ephone line between 26 November and 20 
December 1985 (see paragraphs 14 and 16 
above) constitutes an “interference by a public 
authority” within the meaning of Article 8 § 2 
in the applicant’s exercise of his right to respect 
for his private life and correspondence. Indeed, 
that point was not disputed. Nor is it decisive in 
that regard that, as the Government intimated, 

only a “metering” system was used (see the 
Malone judgment cited above, p. 38, § 87). 

ii Was the interference justified?

48. It is necessary to examine whether that inter-
ference satisfied the requirements of para-
graph 2 of Article 8. 

  (α) Was the interference “in accordance  
 with the law”?

49. It is not contested that there was a legal basis 
in Spanish law for such a measure. The Court 
therefore confines itself to noting that Article 
18 § 3 of the Constitution, on which the inves-
tigating judge principally based the order for 
the applicant’s telephone line to be monitored, 
provides that “communications, particularly 
postal, telegraphic and telephone communi-
cations, should be confidential unless the court 
decides otherwise” (see paragraphs 14 and 29 
above).

50. The second requirement resulting from the 
phrase “in accordance with the law”, namely 
that the law be accessible, does not give rise to 
any problem in the present case.

51. That is not true of the third requirement, name-
ly that the law be foreseeable as regards the 
meaning and nature of the applicable meas-
ures.

52. The Government submitted that the relevant 
statutory provisions and the case-law of the 
Supreme Court and the Constitutional Court 
taken as a whole (see paragraphs 29, 30 and 
32–34 above) warranted the conclusion that 
the telephone tapping ordered in the present 
case satisfied the foreseeability requirement as 
laid down by the European Court.

53. The Court must therefore assess the quality of 
the legal rules that were applied in Mr Valen-
zuela Contreras’s case.

54. It notes, firstly, that the applicant’s telephone 
line was tapped under Article 18 § 3 of the 
Constitution, which was the only provision al-
lowing, at the time the order for the telephone 
tapping was made, restrictions on the right to 
confidentiality of telephone communications 
(see paragraph 29 above). It observes, howev-
er, that in order to justify his decision the judge 
who ordered the measure took into account 
Chapter VIII of Volume II of the Code of Criminal 
Procedure, which was in force at the time, “on 
the entry into and searches of closed premises, 
the opening of books and written documents 
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and the interception and opening of written 
and telegraphic correspondence” (see para-
graphs 14 and 30 above).

55. The Government submitted that the judge 
who had ordered the monitoring of the appli-
cant’s telephone line had, in the instant case, 
complied with the safeguards recommended 
by the Court in that connection. He had indi-
cated the identity and telephone numbers of 
the two suspects, stated that the measure was 
being taken for the purposes of an investiga-
tion into certain events into which a police 
inquiry was under way, limited the duration 
of the measure to one month and supervised 
its enforcement. The investigating judge had 
consequently anticipated the safeguards and 
guarantees against arbitrariness specified in 
the Kruslin v. France and Huvig v. France judg-
ments five years before those judgments were 
delivered.

56. The Court recognises that the investigating 
judge attempted to ensure maximum protec-
tion with respect to the enforcement of the 
monitoring order under the legal provisions in 
force at the time. He had taken into account, at 
least in a general way, those provisions of the 
Code of Criminal Procedure “on the entry into 
and searches of closed premises, the opening 
of books and written documents and the inter-
ception and opening of written and telegraph-
ic correspondence” (see paragraph 14 above) 
capable of serving as a basis for his decision.

57. However, it has to be noted that the guaran-
tees cited by the Government (see paragraph 
55 above), deduced from a wide construc-
tion of statutory provisions or court decisions, 
were not apparent from the actual wording of 
Article 18 § 3 of the Constitution, or, for the 
most part, from the provisions of the Code of 
Criminal Procedure which the judge consid-
ered when ordering the monitoring of the ap-
plicant’s telephone communications (see para-
graphs 14 and 30 above).

58. The Court is aware of the efforts made by the 
legislature and the judicial authorities to in-
troduce in both legislation and practice in 
Spain the guarantees required in this sphere 
by the Convention. The Supreme Court’s deci-
sion (auto) of 18 June 1992 (see paragraph 34 
above) provides the best example. The Court, 
like the Delegate of the Commission, notes, 
however, that those developments took place 
well after the order for the tapping of the ap-
plicant’s telephone line had been made.

The Court also notes that, in any event, in the 
decision referred to above, the Supreme Court 
did not interpret the legislation applicable 
when the order for the monitoring of the appli-
cant’s telephone was made, but the legislation 
as amended by Implementing Law no. 4/1988 
of 25 May 1988 (see paragraph 31 above), by 
which the notion of telephone tapping was in-
serted into Article 579 of the Code of Criminal 
Procedure.

59. The Court notes that some of the conditions 
necessary under the Convention to ensure the 
foreseeability of the effects of the “law” and, 
consequently, to guarantee respect for pri-
vate life and correspondence are not included 
either in Article 18 § 3 of the Constitution 
or in the provisions of the Code of Criminal 
Procedure cited in the order of 19 November 
1985 (see paragraphs 14 and 30 above). They 
include, in particular, the conditions regarding 
the definition of the categories of people liable 
to have their telephones tapped by judicial or-
der, the nature of the offences which may give 
rise to such an order, a limit on the duration of 
telephone tapping, the procedure for drawing 
up the summary reports containing intercept-
ed conversations and the use and destruction 
of the recordings made (see paragraph 46(iv) 
above).

60. Like the Delegate of the Commission, the Court 
cannot accept the Government’s argument 
that the judge who ordered the monitoring 
of the applicant’s telephone conversations 
could not have been expected to know the 
conditions laid down in the Kruslin and Huvig 
judgments five years before those judgments 
were delivered in 1990. It reiterates that the 
conditions referred to in the judgment cited 
by the Government concerning the quality of 
the law stem from the Convention itself. The 
requirement that the effects of the “law” be 
foreseeable means, in the sphere of monitor-
ing telephone communications, that the guar-
antees stating the extent of the authorities’ 
discretion and the manner in which it is to be 
exercised must be set out in detail in domestic 
law so that it has a binding force which circum-
scribes the judges’ discretion in the application 
of such measures (see paragraph 46(iii) and (iv) 
above). Consequently, the Spanish “law” which 
the investigating judge had to apply should 
have provided those guarantees with sufficient 
precision. The Court further notes that at the 
time the order for the monitoring of the appli-
cant’s telephone line was made it had already 
stated, in a judgment in which it had found 
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a violation of Article 8, that “the law must be 
sufficiently clear in its terms to give citizens an 
adequate indication as to the circumstances in 
and the conditions on which public authorities 
are empowered to resort to this secret and po-
tentially dangerous interference with the right 
to respect for private life and correspondence” 
(see the Malone judgment cited above, p. 32, 
§ 67). In addition, it points out that in any 
event the investigating judge who ordered the 
monitoring of the applicant’s telephone com-
munications had himself put in place a number 
of guarantees which, as the Government said, 
did not become a requirement of the case-law 
until much later.

61. In summary, Spanish law, both written and un-
written, did not indicate with sufficient clarity 
at the material time the extent of the authori-
ties’ discretion in the domain concerned or the 
way in which it should be exercised. Mr Valen-
zuela Contreras did not, therefore, enjoy the 
minimum degree of legal protection to which 
citizens are entitled under the rule of law in a 
democratic society (see the Malone judgment 
cited above, p. 36, § 79). There has therefore 
been a violation of Article 8.

  (β) Aim of the interference and the need  
 for it

62. Having regard to the foregoing conclusion, the 
Court, like the Commission, does not consider 
it necessary to consider whether the other re-
quirements of paragraph 2 of Article 8 were 
complied with in the instant case.

III. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 50 OF 
THE CONVENTION

63. The applicant claimed just satisfaction under 
Article 50 of the Convention, which provides:
“IftheCourtfindsthatadecisionorameasure
takenbyalegalauthorityoranyotherauthor-
ityofaHighContractingPartyiscompletelyor
partiallyinconflictwiththeobligationsarising
fromthe...Convention,andiftheinternallaw
ofthesaidPartyallowsonlypartialreparation
tobemade for theconsequencesof thisde-
cision ormeasure, the decision of the Court
shall, if necessary, afford just satisfaction to
theinjuredparty.”

A. Damage
64. The applicant sought 1,304,181 pesetas for the 

pecuniary damage sustained as a result of his 
conviction, corresponding to the compensa-

tion he had had to pay to Mrs M., the fine im-
posed on him and the portion of legal costs he 
had had to bear before the Madrid Audiencia 
provincial.

65. The Government argued that in the circum-
stances of the case the present judgment 
would in itself constitute sufficient just satis-
faction. The Delegate of the Commission ex-
pressed no view.

66. The Court considers that there is no causal link 
between the finding of a violation of Article 
8 and the alleged pecuniary damage corre-
sponding to the amounts the applicant had 
to pay as a result of his conviction for making 
threats. The claim must therefore be dismissed.

B. Costs and expenses
67. The applicant sought 1,500,000 pesetas for the 

expenses and lawyers’ fees incurred before the 
Constitutional Court and the Convention insti-
tutions.

68. The Government considered those claims rea-
sonable.

69. The Delegate of the Commission did not ex-
press a view.

70. Making its assessment on an equitable basis 
and having regard to the criteria it applies in 
such circumstances, the Court grants the sum 
claimed in full.

C. Default interest
71. According to the information available to the 

Court, the statutory rate of interest applicable 
in Spain at the date of adoption of the present 
judgment is 7.5% per annum.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that it has no jurisdiction to consider 
the applicant’s complaint under Article 6 of 
the Convention;

2. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
8 of the Convention;

3. Holds:

(d) that the respondent State is to pay the ap-
plicant, within three months, 1,500,000 
(one million five hundred thousand) pese-
tas for costs and expenses;

(e) that simple interest at an annual rate of 
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7.5% shall be payable on that sum from 
the expiry of the above-mentioned three 
months until settlement;

4. Dismisses the remainder of the claim for just 
satisfaction.

Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 30 July 1998.

Rudolf Bernhardt, President
Herbert Petzold, Registrar
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INFORMATION, BROADCASTING, TELEVISION, INTER-
CEPTION, INTERFERENCE, FREEDOM OF RECEPTION, 
LICENSING, DEMOCRACY, SECRET, CONFIDENTIALITY, 
ILLEGAL ACCESS.

IN THE AuTRONIC AG CASE,

The European Court of Human Rights, taking its 
decision in plenary session pursuant to Rule 51 of 
the Rules of Court and composed of the following 
judges:
Mr R. Ryssdal, President, 
Mr J. Cremona, 
Mr Thór vilhjálmsson, 
Mrs D. Bindschedler-Robert, 
Mr f. Gölcüklü, 
Mr f. Matscher, 
Mr L.-E. Pettiti, 
Mr B. Walsh, 
Sir vincent Evans, 
Mr R. Macdonald, 
Mr C. Russo, 
Mr R. Bernhardt, 
Mr A. Spielmann, 
Mr J. De Meyer, 
Mr J.A. Carrillo Salcedo, 
Mr S.K. Martens, 
Mrs E. Palm, 
Mr I. foighel, 
and also of Mr M.-A. Eissen, Registrar,  
and Mr H. Petzold, Deputy Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 25 January and 24 
April 1990,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case was referred to the Court by the Euro-

pean Commission of Human Rights ("the Com-
mission") and by the Government of the Swiss 
Confederation ("the Government") on 12 April 
and 6 July 1989 respectively, within the three-
month period laid down by Article 32 § 1 and 
Article 47 (art. 32-1, art. 47) of the Convention 
for the Protection of Human Rights and Funda-
mental Freedoms ("the Convention"). It origi-
nated in an application (no. 12726/87) against 

Switzerland lodged with the Commission un-
der Article 25 (art. 25) by a Swiss company, Au-
tronic AG, on 9 January 1987.

The Commission’s request referred to Articles 
44 and 48 (art. 44, art. 48) of the Convention 
and to the declaration whereby Switzerland 
recognised the compulsory jurisdiction of the 
Court (Article 46) (art. 46); the Government’s 
application referred to Articles 45, 47 and 48 
(art. 45, art. 47, art. 48). The object of the re-
quest and of the application was to obtain a 
decision as to whether the facts of the case dis-
closed a breach by the respondent State of its 
obligations under Article 10 (art. 10).

2. In response to the enquiry made in accordance 
with Rule 33 § 3 (d) of the Rules of Court, the 
applicant company stated that it wished to 
take part in the proceedings and designated 
the lawyer who would represent it (Rule 30).

3. On 29 April 1989 the President of the Court 
decided that, in the interests of the proper 
administration of justice, this case should be 
considered by the Chamber constituted on 24 
November 1988 to hear the case of Groppera 
Radio AG and Others (Rule 21 § 6). That Cham-
ber included ex officio Mrs D. Bindschedler-
Robert, the elected judge of Swiss nationality 
(Article 43 of the Convention) (art. 43), and Mr 
R. Ryssdal, the President of the Court (Rule 21 
§ 3 (b)); and the five members drawn by lot 
(Article 43 in fine of the Convention and Rule 
21 § 4) (art. 43) were Mr F. Gölcüklü, Mr F. Mat-
scher, Mr L.-E. Pettiti, Mr J. De Meyer and Mrs 
E. Palm.

4. In his capacity as President of the Chamber 
(Rule 21 § 5), Mr Ryssdal consulted - through 
the Registrar - the Agent of the Government, 
the Delegate of the Commission and the law-
yer for the applicant company on the need for 
a written procedure (Rule 37 § 1). In accord-
ance with his Order and his instructions, the 
Registrar received the Government’s and Au-
tronic AG’s memorials on 12 September. On 
13 November the Secretary to the Commission 
informed him that the Delegate would submit 
his observations at the hearing.

5. Having consulted, through the Registrar, those 
who would be appearing before the Court, the 
President directed on 15 June that the oral pro-
ceedings should open on 21 November 1989 
(Rule 38).

6. On 20 June the Chamber decided to relinquish 
jurisdiction forthwith in favour of the plenary 
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Court (Rule 51).

7. On 17 October the Commission’s secretariat 
lodged in the registry the documents relating 
to the proceedings before the Commission.

On 2 November the Government sent the 
Court the International Telecommunication 
Union’s reply to the questions that the Govern-
ment had put to it.

8. The hearing took place in public in the Human 
Rights Building, Strasbourg, on the appointed 
day. The Court had held a preparatory meeting 
immediately beforehand.

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Mr O. Jacot-Guillarmod, Assistant Director, 
Federal Office of Justice, Head of the Inter-
national Affairs Division, Agent,

Mr B. Münger, Federal Office of Justice, 
Deputy Head of the International Affairs 
Division,

Mr P. Koller, Federal Department of Foreign 
Affairs, Deputy Head of the Cultural Affairs 
Section,

Mr A. Schmid, Head Office of the PTT, Head 
of the General Legal Affairs Division,

Mr H. Kieffer, Head Office of the PTT, Head 
of the Frequency Management and Broad-
casting Rights Section,

Mr M. Regnotto, Federal Department of 
Transport, Communications and Energy- 
Radio and Television Department, Counsel;

(b) for the Commission

Mr J.A. frowein, Delegate;

(c) for the applicant company

Mr R. Gullotti, Rechtsanwalt, Counsel,

Mr W. Streit, Adviser.

The Court heard addresses by Mr Jacot-Guillar-
mod and Mr Kieffer for the Government, by Mr 
Frowein for the Commission and by Mr Gullotti 
for the applicant company, as well as their an-
swers to its questions.

9. The Agent of the Government and counsel 
for the applicant company produced several 
documents at the hearing.

As to tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

10. Autronic AG is a limited company incorporat-
ed under Swiss law and has its head office at 
Dübendorf (Canton of Zürich). It specialises in 
electronics and in particular sells 90 cm-diame-
ter dish aerials for home use.

11. Its application relates to the reception in Swit-
zerland of uncoded television programmes 
made and broadcast in the Soviet Union. 
They are transmitted to the Soviet satellite G-
Horizont (also called Stationar-4), which sends 
them back to receiving earth stations on Soviet 
territory, and these in turn distribute them to 
users. The satellite is a telecommunications 
satellite and not a direct-broadcasting one: it 
provides a fixed point-to-point radiocommuni-
cation service (number 22 of the Radio Regula-
tions - see paragraph 36 below) and uses the 
frequencies allotted to radiocommunications. 
It also transmits telephone conversations, tel-
exes or telegrams and data.

12. In 1982 the only television broadcasts by sat-
ellite that could be received in Switzerland 
by means of a dish aerial were those from G-
Horizont.

A. Background to the case
1.Thefirstapplicationforpermission

13. In the spring of 1982 Autronic AG applied to 
the Radio and Television Division of the Head 
Office of the national Post and Telecommuni-
cations Authority (PTT). It requested permis-
sion to give a showing at the Basle Trade Fair 
(Mustermesse) from 17 to 26 April 1982 of the 
public television programme that it received 
direct from G-Horizont by means of a private 
dish aerial, its object being to give a demon-
stration of the technical capabilities of the 
equipment in order to promote sales of it.

14. The Division wrote to the Soviet Union’s em-
bassy in Berne, which on 21 April conveyed the 
Soviet authorities’ consent for the duration of 
the fair.

2.Thesecondapplicationforpermission
15. On 7 July 1982 Autronic AG made a similar ap-

proach in order to give demonstrations at the 
FERA exhibition, which was to be held in Zürich 
from 30 August to 6 September 1982 and cov-
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ered the latest developments in radio, televi-
sion and electronics.

16. The Radio and Television Division again ap-
plied to the Soviet embassy, but did not receive 
a reply. On 14 and 26 July and on 6 August it 
informed Autronic AG that without the express 
consent of the Soviet authorities it could not 
allow reception of the G-Horizont broadcasts 
and that the Radio Regulations (see paragraph 
36 below) required it to prevent such recep-
tion.

B. The application for a declaratory ruling
1.TheproceedingsbeforetheRadioand

TelevisionDivision
(a)  The application of 1 November 1982

17. As Autronic AG was anxious to give further 
demonstrations, it applied to the Radio and 
Television Division, on 1 November 1982, for 
a declaratory ruling (Feststellungsverfügung) 
that, in particular, reception for private use of 
uncoded television programmes from satel-
lites such as G-Horizont should not require the 
consent of the broadcasting State’s authorities.

18. The applicant company relied on several ar-
guments: the confidentiality of a programme 
could not depend on the use of particular 
frequencies; numbers 1992-1994 of the Radio 
Regulations gave no indication of which kind 
of broadcast was to be kept confidential; re-
ception of radio and television programmes in-
tended for and accessible to the general public 
could be made subject only to the award of a 
licence under Swiss law, which was available to 
everybody; and, lastly, the reception in ques-
tion did not infringe Swiss legislation on intel-
lectual property, because while programmes 
taken individually could have the status of 
"works", the same was not true of a whole 
schedule.

(b)  The decision of 13 January 1983

19. On 13 January 1983 the Radio and Television 
Division rejected the applicant company’s 
application, stating that it could not grant a 
receiving licence without the consent of the 
broadcasting State’s authorities.

20. The Division noted that only duly approved 
earth stations were entitled to receive signals 
from telecommunications satellites. In this 
connection it referred to number 960 of the 
Radio Regulations, under which each national 
authority could assign certain frequencies to 

point-to-point radiocommunications provided 
that the broadcasts were not intended for di-
rect reception by the general public.

It also stressed the difference between broad-
casting satellites and telecommunications 
satellites. The former transmitted radio and 
television programmes to an undefined num-
ber of receiving stations within a given area, 
on frequencies expressly reserved for direct 
reception, while the latter were covered by the 
secrecy of broadcasts which all member States 
were obliged to ensure under Article 22 of the 
International Telecommunication Convention 
and numbers 1992-1994 of the Radio Regu-
lations (see paragraphs 34 and 36 below). It 
added, lastly (translation from German):
"Astowhetherabroadcastisintendedfordi-
rect receptionby thegeneralpublic, thede-
cisivefactorisaccordinglynotthecontentof
theradiocommunicationtransmitted(atelevi-
sionprogramme, forexample)but themode
of its transmission, inotherwords itsclassifi-
cationasatelecommunication.Itfollowsthat
radio or television programmes transmitted
viaa telecommunications satellite cannotbe
received inacountryunless the telecommu-
nications authorityof thebroadcastingState
...hasgivenitspermissiontothetelecommu-
nicationsauthorityofthereceivingState.This
willensurecompliancewiththeprovisionson
the secrecy of telecommunications. There is
noapparentreasonwhytelecommunications
authoritiesshouldnotbeabletokeepcertain
radiocommunications secret since they are
underanobligationtoensurethattheprovi-
sionsoftheInternationalTelecommunication
ConventionandoftheRadioRegulationsare
compliedwith."

2.TheproceedingsbeforetheHeadOfficeof
thePTT

21. On 14 February 1983 Autronic AG lodged an 
appeal (Beschwerde) against the Radio and 
Television Division’s decision but this was re-
jected by the Head Office of the PTT on 26 July.

The Head Office began by holding that it had 
jurisdiction and that the company had an inter-
est, worthy of protection, in having the disput-
ed decision set aside under section 48 of the 
Federal Administrative Procedure Act.

It went on to set out its reasons for dismissing 
the appeal. Protection of the material informa-
tion could not depend on whether the broad-
casts were intended for the general public, 
since as a rule it was not known, at the time of 
transmission by telecommunications satellites, 
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which broadcasts were intended for general 
use. Furthermore, Article 10 (art. 10) of the Eu-
ropean Convention on Human Rights secured 
only the right to receive information from 
generally accessible sources, which telecom-
munications satellites were not. Lastly, it was 
irrelevant that the broadcasts were ultimately 
intended for general use, as the obligation to 
keep the transmitted data secret subsisted at 
the time of broadcasting.

3.TheproceedingsintheFederalCourt
22. On 13 September 1983 Autronic AG lodged 

an administrative-law appeal with the Federal 
Court against the decision of the Head Office 
of the PTT. It applied to have that decision set 
aside and sought a judgment which would 
clarify the legal situation for the future; it asked 
the court in particular to rule that reception for 
private use of uncoded broadcasts emanat-
ing from telecommunications satellites and 
intended for the general public should not be 
subject to the broadcasting State’s consent.

(a)  Consideration of the appeal

23. In reply to a request for information made by 
the Radio and Television Division of the Head 
Office of the Swiss PTT, the Head Office of the 
Soviet Union’s Gostelradio said the following in 
a telex of 7 February 1984:
"With reference to your letter of 9 January
1984, we should like to inform you that the
programmes transmitted by ‘Stationar 4’ [G-
Horizont]arenotsatellitebroadcastsintended
for foreign countries. The programmes are
intendedforSoviettelevisionviewersandare
ourinternalaffair.Ontheotherhand,wehave
notechnicalmeansofpreventingthemfrom
reachingothercountries,particularlySwitzer-
land. As regards the international use of the
signal,onlydiscussionand settlementof the
problematworldlevelwillprovideasolution."

24. On 9 July 1984 the Federal Court put a number 
of questions to the parties about the factual 
and legal position. The Head Office of the PTT 
replied on 22 August and the applicant com-
pany on 31 August.

25. On 10 June 1985 the rapporteur informed Au-
tronic AG that the Federal Court had not yet 
been able to consider the appeal and that the 
company had until 16 August 1985 to submit 
any further observations.

26. On 26 June 1985 the Radio and Television Divi-
sion sent the Netherlands telecommunications 
authorities the following telex:

"...

Inconnectionwiththejudgmentofarequest,
wewould like to know onwhich conditions
receptionofTVprogrammesviatelecommu-
nications satellites is permitted in the Neth-
erlands. Please let us also know if the Soviet
communications satellite G-Horizont Statio-
nar is received in your country (by cableop-
erators).

..."

The Netherlands authorities replied on 1 July 
1985 as follows:
"... The conditions for reception of TV pro-
grammes by cable operators in the Nether-
landsseemtobequitesimilartothoseinyour
country.

TheNetherlandsPTT issues licences to cable
operators, separate for each particular TV
program. With such a licence the operator
can install his own TVRO antenna, although
it isadvisableforhimtoconsultwithPTTfor
frequency co-ordination purposes in order
to avoid interference from terrestrial micro-
waves.

...

AfewyearsagosomereceptionoftheG-Hori-
zontsatellitedidindeedtakeplace.

Thiswasconsideredillegalbecauseoftheab-
senceofagreementswiththeUSSRprogram
providerandsatelliteoperator,andthecable
operatorsweresoinformed.

..."

In response to a similar request for information, 
the Finnish telecommunications authorities 
stated the following on 8 July 1985:
"...

We have permission from the Telecommu-
nications Ministry of USSR to receive as an
experiment the [G-Horizont] signal up to
31.12.1985.Authorization fordistributionhas
beengiveninsevencasessofar."

(b)  The judgment of 10 July 1986

27. The Federal Court gave judgment on 10 July 
1986 and served the text on Autronic AG on 11 
November.

The court held that the appellant company 
was seeking a review in the abstract of the 
legal position, whereas in reality it could only 
complain of the ban on receiving the disputed 
broadcasts during the FERA exhibition. There 
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was, however, no point in ruling on the ad-
missibility of the appeal, since at all events the 
company had failed to show that it had an in-
terest worthy of protection.

Apart from G-Horizont, there was no other 
satellite over Europe at the time whose broad-
casts were receivable by means of a domestic 
dish aerial. Autronic AG picked up the signals 
from the Soviet satellite because there was 
no alternative source. As long as this situation 
continued, there would be practically no mar-
ket for such equipment and only "eccentrics" 
(Sonderlinge) would be inclined to buy it. Al-
though two other satellites - one German and 
one French - were to be launched, it remained 
unclear how they would be used and it was im-
possible to assess either the interest that direct 
reception of their broadcasts would arouse or 
the number of dish aerials that would come 
into use.

The Federal Court concluded that as it had 
failed to adduce evidence of any direct eco-
nomic interest, the applicant company had no 
interest worthy of protection. It therefore re-
fused to determine the merits of the case.

C. Subsequent developments
28. At the present time, there are still only a hand-

ful of direct-broadcasting satellites, whereas 
there are more than 150 telecommunications 
satellites such as G-Horizont, covering all or 
part of western Europe and broadcasting all 
kinds of uncoded programmes intended for 
the general public.

II. THE LEGAL RULES IN ISSUE

A. Swiss legislation
29. Article 36 § 4 of the Federal Constitution guar-

antees "inviolability of the secrecy of letters 
and telegrams".

1.TheFederalActof1922
30. The relevant provisions of the Federal Act of 

14 October 1922 regulating telegraph and tel-
ephone communications are as follows:

Section 1

"ThePostandTelecommunicationsAuthority
shallhavetheexclusiverighttosetupandop-
eratetransmittingandreceivingequipmentor
equipmentofanykindfortheelectricorradio
transmissionofsignals,imagesorsounds."

Section 3

"The competent authority shall be able to
issue licences for setting up and operating
equipmentfortheelectricandradiotransmis-
sionofsignals,imagesandsounds."

Section 46 § 2

"Theprovisionsrequiredfortheimplementa-
tionofthisActshallbeincorporatedintothe
Ordinance on telegraphs and telephones to
beenactedbytheFederalCouncilandinthe
detailedregulations..."

2.The1973Ordinance
31. On 10 December 1973 the Federal Council en-

acted Ordinance no. 1 relating to the 1922 Act; 
among other things the Council laid down the 
scope of television licences:

Article 66

"1. Licence I for television-receiving equip-
mentshallentitletheholdertooperateequip-
ment for the private reception, bymeans of
radiowavesorby electricwire, of Swiss and
foreignpublictelevisionbroadcasts.

2.Receptionoftelevisionbroadcastsonprem-
ises which are not accessible to the public
shallbedeemedtobeprivate.

3. The licence-holder may himself install his
equipmentforreceivingbroadcastsbymeans
ofradiowaves.

4.A special licencemustbeheld inorder to
exerciserightsvestedintheStateotherthan
those mentioned in paragraphs 1 and 3, in
particular in order to demonstrate how re-
ceivingequipmentworks, to install receiving
equipment in thehomesof thirdpartiesand
toarrangeforpublicreceptionofbroadcasts."

32. The revised text of Ordinance no. 1, which was 
enacted on 17 August 1983, came into force 
on 1 January 1984. Although it does not apply 
in the instant case, several of its provisions are 
worth quoting:

Article 19 § 1

"Licencesmayberefusedwherethereisgood
reason to suppose that the telecommunica-
tions equipment will be used for a purpose
thatis

(a)unlawful;

(b)contrarytopublicmoralsorpublicpolicy;
or

(c) prejudicial to the higher interests of the
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country,ofthePostandTelecommunications
Authorityorofbroadcasting."

Article 57 § 1

"Radio-andtelevision-receivinglicencesshall
authorise their holders to receive Swiss and
foreignradiobroadcastsprivatelyorpublicly."

Article 78 § 1

"A community-antenna licence shall entitle
theholderto:

(a)Operatethelocaldistributionnetworkde-
fined in the licence and rebroadcast by this
meansradioandtelevisionprogrammesfrom
transmitterswhichcomplywiththeprovisions
ofthe InternationalTelecommunicationCon-
ventionof25October1973and the Interna-
tionalRadioRegulationsandwiththoseofthe
international conventions and agreements
concludedwithin the International Telecom-
municationUnion;

...

(f) Transmit programmes and special broad-
castingserviceswhich,ontheauthorisationof
the Post and Telecommunications Authority,
which itself requires the Department’s con-
sent, are received from telecommunications
satellites;

..."

Article 79 § 2

"TheauthorisationreferredtoinArticle78§
1 (f) shall begrantedwhere the appropriate
telecommunications authority has given its
consent andnoneof thegrounds for refusal
providedforinArticle19exist."

3.TheFederalDecreeof1987
33. On 20 December 1985 the Federal Council 

submitted to Parliament, by means of a com-
munication, a draft decree of general applica-
tion on satellite broadcasting. The decree, en-
acted on 18 December 1987 and effective from 
1 May 1988, contained an Article 28 concern-
ing foreign programmes, which was worded as 
follows:

"1.Alicencefromthe[appropriatefederal]de-
partmentshallberequiredinordertoretrans-
mitprogrammesbroadcastbysatelliteunder
aforeignlicence.

2.Suchalicenceshallbegrantedwherethisis
notcontrarytothecountry’shigher interests
andwhere

(a) the PTT finds that the requirements of
Swiss and international telecommunications
lawaresatisfied;

...

3. The departmentmay refuse to grant a li-
cencewhere a Statewhose licensing system
allowsaprogrammedoesnotaccept the re-
transmission on its territory of programmes
broadcastunderaSwisslicence."

B. The international rules
1.TheInternationalTelecommunication

Convention
34. The International Telecommunication Conven-

tion, which was concluded in 1947 within the 
International Telecommunication Union and 
has been revised several times, came into force 
on 1 January 1975 and has been ratified by all 
the Council of Europe’s member States. In Swit-
zerland it has been published in full in the Offi-
cial Collection of Federal Statutes (1976, p. 994, 
and 1985, p. 1093) and in the Compendium of 
Federal Law (0.784.16).

Article 22, entitled "Secrecy of telecommunica-
tions", provides:
"1.Membersagreetotakeallpossiblemeas-
ures,compatiblewiththesystemoftelecom-
municationused,withaviewtoensuringthe
secrecyofinternationalcorrespondence.

2.Nevertheless,theyreservetherighttocom-
municatesuchcorrespondencetothecompe-
tentauthoritiesinordertoensuretheapplica-
tionoftheir internal lawsortheexecutionof
international conventions to which they are
parties."

Under Article 44 member States are bound to 
abide by the Convention and the Administra-
tive Regulations in all telecommunications of-
fices and stations established or operated by 
them which engage in international services or 
which are capable of causing harmful interfer-
ence with radio services of other countries.

35. The Convention is complemented by three 
sets of detailed administrative rules (as indicat-
ed in Article 83): the Radio Regulations, the Tel-
egraph Regulations and the Telephone Regula-
tions. Only the Radio Regulations are relevant 
in the instant case.

2.TheRadioRegulations
36. The Radio Regulations date from 21 Decem-

ber 1959 and were likewise amended in 1982 
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and also on other occasions. They run to over a 
thousand pages and - except for numbers 422 
and 725 - have not been published in the Of-
ficial Collection of Federal Statutes. The latter 
contains the following reference to them:
"Theadministrativeregulationsrelatingtothe
InternationalTelecommunicationConvention
of 25October 1973 are not beingpublished
in the Official Collection of Federal Statutes.
TheymaybeconsultedattheHeadOfficeof
the PTT, Library andDocumentation, Viktori-
astrasse 21, 3030Berne, ormaybeobtained
from the ITU, International Telecommunica-
tionUnion,PlacedesNations,1202Geneva."

The following provisions are the ones relevant 
in the present case:

Number 22

"Fixed-Satellite Service: A radiocommunica-
tion service between earth stations at speci-
fied fixedpointswhenoneormoresatellites
are used; in some cases this service includes
satellite-to-satellite links, which may also be
effectedintheinter-satelliteservice;thefixed-
satellite servicemayalso include feeder links
forotherspaceradiocommunicationservices."

Number 37

"Broadcasting-Satellite Service: A radiocom-
municationserviceinwhichsignalstransmit-
ted or retransmitted by space stations are
intended for direct reception by the general
public.

Inthebroadcasting-satelliteservice,theterm
‘direct reception’ shall encompass both indi-
vidualreceptionandcommunityreception."

Number 960

"Any administrationmay assign a frequency
inabandallocatedtothefixedserviceorallo-
catedtothefixed-satelliteservicetoastation
authorized to transmit,unilaterally, fromone
specifiedfixedpointtooneormorespecified
fixedpointsprovidedthatsuchtransmissions
arenotintendedtobereceiveddirectlybythe
generalpublic."

Numbers 1992-1994

"In the application of the appropriate provi-
sionsoftheConvention,administrationsbind
themselvestotakethenecessarymeasuresto
prohibitandprevent:

(a) the unauthorized interception of radio-
communicationsnotintendedforthegeneral
useofthepublic;

(b) the divulgence of the contents, simple
disclosureoftheexistence,publicationorany
usewhatever,withoutauthorization,ofinfor-
mation of any nature whatever obtained by
the interceptionof theradiocommunications
mentioned[insub-paragraph(a)]"

3.TheInternationalTelecommunication
Union’sreplytotheSwissGovernment’s
questions

37. On 29 September 1983 the Permanent Mission 
of Switzerland to the international organisa-
tions in Geneva put two questions to the In-
ternational Telecommunication Union, which 
replied on 31 October, saying inter alia:
"17.Withregardtothisaspectof[the]practi-
cal pursuance [of the principle of secrecy of
telecommunications],itis...important,indeed
essential, to note also that no precisemeas-
ures concerning practical ways of effectively
ensuring such ‘secrecy of telecommunica-
tions’areprescribedbyeithertheConvention
ortheRR[RadioRegulations],butthattheRR
leavethechoiceofthesepracticalmeasuresto
theadministrationsoftheUnion’sMembers.

18.That ishow it isnecessary tounderstand
and interpretnumbers1992and1993of the
RR, which stipulate that it is administrations
that bind themselves to take the necessary
measurestoprohibitandprevent:(a)theun-
authorised interception of radiocommunica-
tionsnot intendedforthegeneraluseofthe
public(...thatalsoapplies,ofcourse,tonum-
ber1994oftheRR).

19. This means that it is for the administra-
tionofeachof theUnion’sMembers itself to
take whatever measures it deems necessary
to prohibit and prevent on its territory the
unauthorised interception of the radiocom-
munications referred to in number 1993 of
theRR.This,incidentally,isinaccordancewith
the first principle laiddown in thepreamble
totheConvention,whichiswordedasfollows:
"Whilefullyrecognisingthesovereignrightof
each country to regulate its telecommunica-
tion...".Inthecaseunderconsiderationhere
...,itisfortheSwissAdministrationtoputinto
effectSwitzerland’sundertakingtoensurethe
secrecy of telecommunications by whatever
measures it itself considersnecessary for the
purpose. Such measures may, of course, be
differentfromthoseregardedasnecessaryby
theadministrationsofotherMembersof the
Unionwhichhavegiven the sameundertak-
ing.

20. With regard, lastly, to the authorisation
required for the interception of radiocom-
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municationsnotintendedforthegeneraluse
ofthepublic...,itshouldbeinferredfromthe
terms of numbers 1992 and 1993 of the RR
that an administration which has commit-
ted itself to taking the necessary measures
to prohibit and prevent such unauthorised
interceptioninordertoensurethesecrecyof
telecommunicationsisalsotoberegardedas
theoneempoweredtogive,whereappropri-
ate,theauthorisationforsuchinterceptionon
itsterritoryandhencetolaydowntheterms
and conditions on which it grants such au-
thorisation. In the case under consideration
here...itisthereforetheSwissAdministration
that,withaviewtoensuringthesecrecyoftel-
ecommunications, shoulddecidewhether or
notsuchauthorisationistobegrantedandlay
downthetermsandconditionsititselfconsid-
ersnecessaryforthepurposesofthatdecision.
Bywayofaconclusionandafinallegalconse-
quence,itshouldbeborneinmindthatwhat
was stated in the preceding paragraph also
applies, mutatis mutandis, in respect of the
authorisationitself."

4.RecommendationT/T2
38. At a session held in Vienna from 14 to 25 June 

1982 the European Conference of Postal and 
Telecommunications Administrations adopted 
Recommendation T/T2, which reads:
"TheEuropeanConferenceofPostalandTele-
communicationsAdministrations,considering

(a)...

(b) that fixed-satellite service signals are in-
tended for reception only by known corre-
spondents duly authorised under the Radio
Regulations appended to the International
TelecommunicationConvention;

(c)...

(d)thatthereisariskthatthetechnicaldevel-
opmentof smallearth stationsmay facilitate
theunauthorisedreceptionanduseof fixed-
satellite servicesignals,particularly television
signals,thusturningthefixed-satelliteservice
into a broadcasting-satellite service, which
would be unlawful under the International
Telecommunication Convention and the Ra-
dioRegulations;

(e)...

(f )...

(g)thatallITUMembersareunderanobliga-
tiontoapplyandenforcetheprovisionsofthe
InternationalTelecommunicationConvention
and the Radio Regulations appended to the
Convention;...

Recommends

1....

2.thatreceptionofthesesignalsshouldbeau-
thorisedonlywiththeconsentoftheAdmin-
istration of the country in which the station
transmittingtothesatelliteissituatedandof
thatof the country inwhich theprospective
receivingearthstationislocated;

3...."(translationbytheregistry)

5.TheEuropeanConventiononTransfrontier
Television

39. The European Convention on Transfrontier Tel-
evision, which was drawn up within the Coun-
cil of Europe and signed on 5 May 1989 by nine 
States, including Switzerland, is not yet in force. 
Article 4, entitled "Freedom of reception and of 
retransmission", provides:
"The Parties shall ensure freedom of expres-
sion and information in accordance with
Article 10 (art. 10) of theConvention for the
ProtectionofHumanRightsandFundamental
Freedoms and they shall guarantee freedom
ofreceptionandshallnotrestricttheretrans-
mission on their territories of programme
serviceswhichcomplywith the termsof this
Convention."

The Swiss Government made a declaration to 
the effect that the Confederation would apply 
the Convention provisionally, in accordance 
with Article 29 § 3.

PRoCEEDInGs BEFoRE 
tHE CoMMIssIon
40. Autronic AG applied to the Commission on 

9 January 1987 (application no. 12726/87). 
The company complained that the granting 
of permission to receive uncoded television 
broadcasts for general use from a telecom-
munications satellite had been made subject 
to the consent of the broadcasting State and 
it alleged an infringement of its right to receive 
information, as guaranteed in Article 10 (art. 
10) of the Convention.

41. The Commission declared the application ad-
missible on 13 December 1988. In its report 
of 8 March 1989 (made under Article 31) (art. 
31) the Commission expressed the opinion, by 
eleven votes to two with one abstention, that 
there had been a breach of Article 10 (art. 10). 
The full text of the Commission’s opinion and 
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of the two separate opinions contained in the 
report is reproduced as an annex to this judg-
ment.

FInAL sUBMIssIons to 
tHE CoURt
42. At the hearing the Government confirmed 

their submissions in their memorial. They re-
quested the Court to hold:
"ThatArticle10 (art.10)of theConvention is
notapplicabletothecaseatissue;Inthealter-
native,thatsince,bythetermsofArticle10§
1,thirdsentence(art.10-1),oftheConvention,
evenbroadcastingenterprisesmaybesubject
tolicensingbothtoreceiveandtoretransmit
televisionbroadcastssentviaatelecommuni-
cations satellite, there is all themore reason
why a private commercial enterprise should
be required to apply for a receiving licence
inagivencase;Inthefurtheralternative,that
theStateinterferencerelatingtothislicensing
systemwas"prescribedbylaw"(includingin-
ternationallaw)andwasnecessary,inademo-
craticsociety, for thepurposeofmaintaining
international order in telecommunications
and toprevent thedisclosureof confidential
informationtransmittedbyatelecommunica-
tionssatellitefromonefixedpointtoanother."

As to tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
10 (ART. 10)

43. Autronic AG complained that the Swiss Post 
and Telecommunications Authority had made 
reception of television programmes from a 
Soviet telecommunications satellite by means 
of a dish aerial subject to the consent of the 
broadcasting State (see paragraphs 13-16 
above). It regarded this as a violation of Article 
10 (art. 10) of the Convention, which provides:
"1. Everyonehas the right to freedomof ex-
pression. This right shall include freedom to
hold opinions and to receive and impart in-
formation and ideaswithout interference by
public authority and regardless of frontiers.
This Article shall not prevent States from re-
quiring the licensing of broadcasting, televi-
sionorcinemaenterprises.

2.Theexerciseofthesefreedoms,sinceitcar-
rieswithitdutiesandresponsibilities,maybe
subjecttosuchformalities,conditions,restric-

tionsorpenaltiesasareprescribedbylawand
are necessary in a democratic society, in the
interestsofnationalsecurity, territorial integ-
rityorpublicsafety,forthepreventionofdis-
orderorcrime,fortheprotectionofhealthor
morals,fortheprotectionofthereputationor
rightsofothers,forpreventingthedisclosure
of information received in confidence, or for
maintaining theauthority and impartialityof
thejudiciary."

Having regard to the arguments of the parties, 
the first issue to be settled is whether this pro-
vision is applicable.

A. Applicability of Article 10 (art. 10)
44. In the Government’s submission, the right to 

freedom of expression was not relevant to the 
applicant company’s complaint in the present 
case.

In the first place, the company had not at-
tached any importance to the content of the 
transmission (programmes in Russian), since it 
was pursuing purely economic and technical 
interests. The company was a corporate body 
whose activities were commercial and its sole 
object had been to give a demonstration at a 
fair of the capabilities of a dish aerial in order 
to promote sales of it. Freedom of expression 
that was exercised, as in the present case, ex-
clusively for pecuniary gain came under the 
head of economic freedom, which was outside 
the scope of the Convention. The "information" 
in question was therefore not protected by Ar-
ticle 10 (art. 10).

In the second place, the Government empha-
sised that the television programmes in issue 
had not been intended for or made accessible 
to the public at the time Autronic AG could 
have received them. At that time they were 
in process of transmission between two fixed 
points of the distribution network on Soviet 
territory by means of the telecommunications 
satellite G-Horizont (see paragraphs 11 and 12 
above) and were accordingly covered by the 
secrecy of such telecommunications under in-
ternational law, that is to say Article 22 of the 
International Telecommunication Convention 
and numbers 1992-1994 of the Radio Regula-
tions.

45. The applicant company argued on the contrary 
that the right to freedom of expression includ-
ed the right to receive information from acces-
sible sources and consequently to receive tel-
evision programmes intended for the general 
public which were retransmitted by a telecom-
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munications satellite. Moreover, Article 10 (art. 
10) protected not only the substance but also 
the process of communication. The company 
could not see why the fundamental rights 
which corporate bodies undoubtedly enjoyed 
under Article 10 (art. 10) should be subject to 
restrictions merely because they were pursu-
ing economic or technical objectives.

46. In its report of 8 March 1989 the Commission 
noted that "at present" only telecommunica-
tions satellites were in operation over Europe. 
Their programmes were undoubtedly picked 
up primarily by receiving stations for retrans-
mission but they were also received direct by 
private aerials or community antennas. The 
practice of several Council of Europe mem-
ber States, including France and the United 
Kingdom, suggested that the International 
Telecommunication Convention and the Radio 
Regulations did not preclude direct reception 
of signals retransmitted by telecommunica-
tions satellite where they were intended for 
the general public.

At the material time - in 1982 - only G-Horizont 
was concerned, but that was of little impor-
tance as Autronic AG’s application of 1 No-
vember 1982 to the Swiss authorities for a de-
claratory ruling (see paragraph 17 above) was 
not limited to transmissions from the Soviet 
satellite; and in any case, on the Government’s 
own admission, the Swiss PTT would adopt the 
same attitude today if faced with a similar ap-
plication. The Commission considered that the 
distinction between signals according to their 
means of transmission - direct-broadcasting 
satellite or, where uncoded, telecommunica-
tions satellite - was purely formal. Since no 
question of secrecy arose and technological 
progress meant that anyone could receive 
broadcasts by means of his own equipment, 
the corresponding right to do so was included 
in the freedom to receive information.

47. In the Court’s view, neither Autronic AG’s legal 
status as a limited company nor the fact that 
its activities were commercial nor the intrinsic 
nature of freedom of expression can deprive 
Autronic AG of the protection of Article 10 (art. 
10). The Article (art. 10) applies to "everyone", 
whether natural or legal persons. The Court 
has, moreover, already held on three occasions 
that it is applicable to profit-making corporate 
bodies (see the Sunday Times judgment of 26 
April 1979, Series A no. 30, the Markt Intern Ver-
lag GmbH and Klaus Beermann judgment of 
20 November 1989, Series A no. 165, and the 

Groppera Radio AG and Others judgment of 28 
March 1990, Series A no. 173). Furthermore, Ar-
ticle 10 (art. 10) applies not only to the content 
of information but also to the means of trans-
mission or reception since any restriction im-
posed on the means necessarily interferes with 
the right to receive and impart information. In-
deed the Article (art. 10) expressly mentions in 
the last sentence of its first paragraph (art. 10-1) 
certain enterprises essentially concerned with 
the means of transmission.

Before the Convention institutions the appli-
cant company complained of an interference 
with its freedom to receive information and 
ideas regardless of frontiers, and not with its 
freedom to impart them. Like the Commission, 
the Court is of the view that the reception of 
television programmes by means of a dish or 
other aerial comes within the right laid down 
in the first two sentences of Article 10 § 1 (art. 
10-1), without it being necessary to ascertain 
the reason and purpose for which the right is 
to be exercised. As the administrative and ju-
dicial decisions complained of (see paragraphs 
16, 19 and 27 above) prevented Autronic AG 
from lawfully receiving G-Horizont’s transmis-
sions, they therefore amounted to "interfer-
ence by public authority" with the exercise of 
freedom of expression.

The Government’s submission based on the 
concern to protect the secrecy of telecom-
munications relates only to justification for the 
interference and accordingly needs to be con-
sidered, if at all, in regard to paragraph 1 in fine 
or paragraph 2 of Article 10 (art. 10-1, art. 10-2).

48. In conclusion, Article 10 (art. 10) was applica-
ble.

B. Compliance with Article 10 (art. 10)
49. The Government submitted in the alternative 

that the interference was compatible with 
paragraph 1 in fine, whereby Article 10 (art. 10) 
is not to "prevent States from requiring the li-
censing of broadcasting [or] television ... enter-
prises"; in the further alternative, they argued 
that the interference satisfied the requirements 
of paragraph 2.

1.Paragraph1,thirdsentence,ofArticle10
(art.10-1)

50. On the first point Autronic AG maintained that 
the International Telecommunication Conven-
tion and the Radio Regulations did not make 
reception for private use of uncoded pro-
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grammes broadcast by satellite subject to the 
consent of the authorities of the broadcasting 
State and that the third sentence of Article 10 
§ 1 (art. 10-1) was therefore of no relevance.

The Commission likewise thought that this 
provision could not justify the impugned 
interference. Since the rights recognised in 
paragraph 1 (art. 10-1) applied "regardless of 
frontiers", the Contracting States could only, 
in its view, "restrict information received from 
abroad" on the basis of paragraph 2 (art. 10-2). 
Furthermore, the third sentence covered only 
broadcasting, television and the cinema, not 
the use of receiving equipment.

51. The Government submitted, on the contrary, 
that international law required that any trans-
mission from a telecommunications satellite 
should be kept secret and laid a duty upon 
States to ensure this. Article 10 § 1 (art. 10-1) in 
fine, they said, empowered States to establish a 
system whereby broadcasting enterprises had 
to obtain a licence both to receive such trans-
missions and to rebroadcast them. This applied 
all the more in the case of a private commercial 
company such as Autronic AG.

52. It is unnecessary to consider this submission 
and, therefore, to rule on the applicability of 
the third sentence of Article 10 § 1 (art. 10-1) 
in the instant case; at all events, that sentence 
"does not ... provide that licensing measures 
shall not otherwise be subject to the require-
ments of paragraph 2 (art. 10-2), for that would 
lead to a result contrary to the object and pur-
pose of Article 10 (art. 10) taken as a whole", as 
the Court pointed out in its Groppera Radio AG 
and Others judgment of 28 March 1990 (Series 
A no. 173, p. 24, § 61).

2.Paragraph2ofArticle10(art.10-2)
53. It must be determined whether the interfer-

ence complained of was "prescribed by law", 
was in pursuance of one or more of the legiti-
mate aims listed in paragraph 2 (art. 10-2) and 
was "necessary in a democratic society" in or-
der to achieve them.

(a)  "Prescribed by law"

54. The applicant company submitted that Swiss 
law did not contain any rule that would pro-
vide a legal basis for the decision in issue or 
that referred to provisions of international 
telecommunications law. The International 
Telecommunication Union’s reply to the Swiss 
Government’s questions afforded proof of this 

(see paragraphs 7 and 37 above), as it showed 
that it was for each member State to take the 
measures it considered necessary in order to 
achieve the treaty objectives and honour its 
own corresponding commitments.

55. The Government considered that the national 
and international rules satisfied the require-
ments of precision and accessibility that had 
been established in the Convention institu-
tions’ case-law.

As to the first of these requirements, they 
pointed out that the decisions taken on 13 Jan-
uary 1983 by the Radio and Television Division 
and on 26 July 1983 by the Head Office of the 
PTT were founded on the Federal Council’s Or-
dinance no. 1 of 10 December 1973 and several 
specific provisions of international telecommu-
nications law (the International Telecommuni-
cation Convention and the Radio Regulations).

As to the requirement of accessibility, the Gov-
ernment recognised that only the International 
Telecommunication Convention had been 
published in full in the Official Collection of 
Federal Statutes and in the Compendium of 
Federal Law. While the Radio Regulations had 
not been so published - except for numbers 
422 and 725 -, the Official Collection indicated 
how they could be consulted or obtained (see 
paragraph 36 above). This practice was, the 
Government said, justified by the length of the 
text, which ran to more than a thousand pages. 
Moreover, the practice had been approved by 
the Federal Court (judgment of 12 July 1982 
in the case of Radio 24 Radiowerbung Zürich 
AG gegen Generaldirektion PTT, Judgments 
of the Swiss Federal Court, vol. 108, Part Ib, p. 
264) and could be found in at least ten other 
member States of the Council of Europe. Lastly, 
it was consonant with the European Court’s 
case-law on individuals’ access to legal norms 
in common-law systems.

56. The Commission did not share this opinion. The 
Federal Council’s Ordinance no. 1 did not pro-
vide a sufficient legal basis as it did not make 
any mention of the need for the broadcasting 
State’s consent in order to receive television 
programmes intended for the general public. 
As to the Radio Regulations, the provisions re-
lied on by the Government lacked precision.

57. In the Court’s view, the legal basis for the in-
terference is to be found in the Federal Act of 
1922 and Article 66 of Ordinance no. 1 relating 
to that Act (see paragraph 31 above), taken 
together with Article 22 of the International 
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Telecommunication Convention and the pro-
visions of the Radio Regulations cited in para-
graph 36 above.

Having regard to the particular public for 
which they are intended, these enactments are 
sufficiently accessible (see paragraphs 34 and 
36 above and the Groppera Radio AG and Oth-
ers judgment previously cited, Series A no. 173, 
p. 26, § 68). Their status as "law" within the 
meaning of Article 10 § 2 (art. 10-2), however, 
remains doubtful, because it may be asked 
whether they do not lack the required clarity 
and precision. The national provisions do not 
indicate exactly what criteria are to be used 
by the authorities in determining applications 
for one of the licences referred to in Article 
66, while the international provisions seem to 
leave a substantial margin of appreciation to 
the national authorities.

But it does not appear necessary to decide the 
question, since even supposing that the "pre-
scribed by law" condition is satisfied, the Court 
comes to the conclusion that the interference 
was not justified (see paragraphs 60-63 below).

(b)  Legitimate aim

58. The Government contended that the im-
pugned interference was in pursuance of two 
aims recognised in the Convention.

The first of these was the "prevention of disor-
der" in telecommunications. It was important 
to have regard to the limited number of fre-
quencies available, to prevent the anarchy that 
might be caused by unlimited international cir-
culation of information and to ensure cultural 
and political pluralism.

Secondly, the interference was, the Govern-
ment maintained, aimed at "preventing the 
disclosure of information received in confi-
dence": the secrecy of telecommunications, 
which covered the television transmissions in 
question and was guaranteed in Article 22 of 
the International Telecommunication Conven-
tion, had to be protected.

The applicant company, on the other hand, 
observed that the material broadcasts were 
intended for the general public and that other 
Contracting States had more liberal rules on 
the subject.

The Commission acknowledged the legitimacy 
of the first objective mentioned by the Govern-
ment, the only one on which they had relied in 
the proceedings before the Commission.

59. The Court finds that the interference was in 
pursuance of the two aims cited by the Gov-
ernment, which were fully compatible with the 
Convention - the prevention of disorder in tel-
ecommunications and the need to prevent the 
disclosure of confidential information.

(c)  "Necessary in a democratic society"

60. The applicant company submitted that the re-
fusal to give it permission did not correspond 
to any pressing social need; it was not neces-
sary in order to prevent the disclosure of confi-
dential information, since broadcasters anxious 
to restrict their broadcasts to a particular audi-
ence would encode them.

The Government emphasised the distinction 
between direct-broadcasting satellites and tel-
ecommunications satellites; they claimed that 
international telecommunications law was 
designed to afford the same legal protection 
to broadcasts from the latter as to telephonic 
communications.

In the Commission’s view, the case raised no 
problem with regard to the protection of con-
fidential information; merely receiving G-Hori-
zont’s signals could not upset the international 
telecommunications order, and the distinction 
between direct-broadcasting satellites and tel-
ecommunications satellites was purely formal. 
In short, the interference appeared to be un-
necessary.

61. The Court has consistently held that the Con-
tracting States enjoy a certain margin of ap-
preciation in assessing the need for an interfer-
ence, but this margin goes hand in hand with 
European supervision, whose extent will vary 
according to the case. Where, as in the instant 
case, there has been an interference with the 
exercise of the rights and freedoms guaran-
teed in paragraph 1 of Article 10 (art. 10-1), the 
supervision must be strict, because of the im-
portance of the rights in question; the impor-
tance of these rights has been stressed by the 
Court many times. The necessity for restricting 
them must be convincingly established (see 
the Barthold judgment of 25 March 1985, Se-
ries A no. 90, p. 26, § 58).

62. The Government maintained that the Court, in 
carrying out its review, should look at matters 
as they stood at the material time and, in par-
ticular, should ignore the legal and technical 
developments that had taken place since. On 
the other hand, the Government held the view 
that Article 22 of the International Telecommu-
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nication Convention and the aforementioned 
provisions of the Radio Regulations would still 
leave the PTT no choice but to refuse applica-
tions such as those from the applicant com-
pany, if permission had not first been obtained 
from the authorities of the country in which 
the station transmitting to the satellite was 
situated.

The Court observes that later developments 
can be taken into account in so far as they 
contribute to a proper understanding and in-
terpretation of the relevant rules.

In the technical field, several other telecom-
munications satellites broadcasting television 
programmes have come into service. In the le-
gal field, developments have included, at inter-
national level, the signature within the Coun-
cil of Europe on 5 May 1989 of the European 
Convention on Transfrontier Television and, 
at national level, the fact that several member 
States allow reception of uncoded television 
broadcasts from telecommunications satellites 
without requiring the consent of the authori-
ties of the country in which the station trans-
mitting to the satellite is situated.

The latter circumstance is not without rel-
evance, since the other States signatories to 
the International Telecommunication Conven-
tion and the international authorities do not 
appear to have protested at the interpretation 
of Article 22 of this Convention and the provi-
sions of the Radio Regulations that it implies. 
The contrary interpretation of these provisions, 
which was relied on by the Swiss Government 
in support of the interference, is consequently 
not convincing. This is also apparent from para-
graphs 19 and 20 of the International Telecom-
munication Union’s reply to the Government’s 
questions (see paragraph 37 above).

63. That being so, the Government’s submission 
based on the special characteristics of telecom-
munications satellites cannot justify the inter-
ference. The nature of the broadcasts in issue, 
that is to say uncoded broadcasts intended for 
television viewers in the Soviet Union, in itself 
precludes describing them as "not intended 
for the general use of the public" within the 
meaning of numbers 1992-1994 of the Radio 
Regulations. Leaving aside the international 
rules discussed above, there was therefore no 
need to prohibit reception of these broadcasts.

Before the Court the Swiss Government also 
argued that a total ban on unauthorised re-
ception of transmissions from telecommuni-

cations satellites was the only way of ensuring 
"the secrecy of international correspondence", 
because there was no means of distinguish-
ing signals conveying such correspondence 
from signals intended for the general use of 
the public. That submission is unpersuasive, 
since the Government had already conceded 
before the Commission that there was no risk 
of obtaining secret information by means of 
dish aerials receiving broadcasts from telecom-
munications satellites.

The Court concludes that the interference in 
question was not "necessary in a democratic 
society" and that there has accordingly been a 
breach of Article 10 (art. 10).

II. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 50 
(ART. 50)

64. By Article 50 (art. 50) of the Convention,
"IftheCourtfindsthatadecisionorameasure
takenbyalegalauthorityoranyotherauthor-
ityofaHighContractingPartyiscompletelyor
partiallyinconflictwiththeobligationsarising
fromthe...Convention,andiftheinternallaw
ofthesaidPartyallowsonlypartialreparation
tobemade for theconsequencesof thisde-
cision ormeasure, the decision of the Court
shall, if necessary, afford just satisfaction to
theinjuredparty."

Autronic AG did not seek compensation for 
damage. On the other hand, the company did 
claim reimbursement of its costs and expenses 
in the domestic proceedings and in those be-
fore the Convention institutions. It said that 
these amounted to 42,245 Swiss francs, namely 
380 in costs paid to the Swiss authorities for the 
decision taken by the Head Office of the PTT 
on 26 July 1983, 40,000 for lawyer’s fees (repre-
senting 235 hours’ work) and 1,865 for sundry 
expenses.

The Government did not contest the first 
or third heads, but found the second head 
"frankly excessive" - the applicant company 
had not provided a breakdown of the fees and 
had committed "a procedural error" by submit-
ting an abstract question to the Federal Court, 
which would in any case not have awarded 
more than 4,000 Swiss francs in costs if the 
administrative-law appeal had been allowed.

The Delegate of the Commission did not ex-
press any view.

65. Taking its decision on an equitable basis as 
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required by Article 50 (art. 50), the Court con-
siders that Autronic AG is entitled to be reim-
bursed for costs and expenses in the amount 
of 25,000 Swiss francs.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT

1. Holds by sixteen votes to two that Article 10 
(art. 10) applied and that there has been a 
breach of it;

2. Holds unanimously that Switzerland is to pay 
the applicant company costs and expenses in 
the amount of 25,000 (twenty-five thousand) 
Swiss francs;

3. Dismisses unanimously the remainder of the 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English and in French and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 22 May 1990.
 
Rolv RySSDAL, President
Marc-André EISSEN, Registrar 

In accordance with Article 51 § 2 (art. 51-2) of the 
Convention and Rule 53 § 2 of the Rules of Court, 
the following separate opinions are annexed to this 
judgment:

(a) dissenting opinion of Mrs Bindschedler-
Robert and Mr Matscher;

(b) concurring opinion of Mr De Meyer.

DIssEntInG oPInIon oF 
JUDGEs BInDsCHEDLER-
RoBERt AnD MAtsCHER
(Translation)

We regret that we cannot share the majority’s opin-
ion as to the applicability of Article 10 (art. 10) or 
as to the breach if Article 10 (art. 10) is held to be 
applicable.

1. We do not dispute that a commercial company 
can in principle rely on Article 10 (art. 10), even 
in connection with its commercial activities. 
But we note that in the instances mentioned in 
the judgment (The Sunday Times, Series A no. 
30; Markt Intern Verlag GmbH and Klaus Beer-
mann, Series A no. 165, and Groppera Radio 
AG and Others, Series A no. 173) the content 
of the information which the company wished 
to disseminate was of some significance to it 
or to the intended recipients. In our opinion, 
Article 10 (art. 10) presupposes a minimum of 
identification between the person claiming 
to rely on the right protected by that Article 
(art. 10) and the "information" transmitted 
or received. In the instant case, however, the 
content of the information - by pure chance 
Soviet programmes in Russian - was a matter 
of complete indifference to the company and 
to the visitors to the trade fair who were likely 
to see the programmes; the sole purpose was 
to give a demonstration of the technical char-
acteristics of the dish aerial in order to promote 
sales of it. That being so, we consider it unrea-
sonable on the part of the company to invoke 
freedom of information, and Article 10 (art. 10) 
is accordingly not, in our opinion, applicable in 
the instant case.

2. Even supposing that Article 10 (art. 10) was 
applicable, we cannot see that there has been 
any breach of that provision in the restriction 
of freedom of reception imposed on the appli-
cant company.

We would point out at the outset that the sale 
of dish aerials was not itself made subject to 
any restriction. It is therefore not possible in 
the instant case to derive a restriction of free-
dom of information from an alleged restriction 
of trade in technical equipment for radiocom-
munication.

As the majority accepted, the restriction that 
was imposed was in pursuit of a legitimate aim: 
order in international telecommunications. The 



426 CASEOFAUTRONICAGVSWITZERLAND

EC
HR

EC
J

majority leave a lingering doubt, however, as 
to the "law" status of the statutory provisions 
on which the interference was based. In our 
opinion, both the International Telecommu-
nication Convention and the international 
Radio Regulations had, as was recognised in 
the Groppera Radio AG and Others case (judg-
ment of 28 March 1990, § 68), the necessary 
clarity and precision in respect of the vital 
points: the fundamental distinction between 
direct-broadcasting satellites, whose broad-
casts are intended for direct reception by the 
general public; and telecommunications satel-
lites (broadcasting from point to point), whose 
broadcasts are not directly intended for the 
general use of the public, and the obligation 
to take the necessary measures to prohibit and 
prevent the unauthorised interception of radi-
ocommunications not intended for the general 
use of the public, that is to say broadcasts from 
telecommunications satellites (RR nos. 22, 37, 
1992-1994). It should be remembered that the 
G-Horizont satellite was precisely a satellite of 
this latter type.

As the ITU pointed out in its reply of 2 Novem-
ber 1989, it follows from these provisions that 
the interception of the broadcasts via telecom-
munications satellite was subject to authorisa-
tion by the Swiss PTT, which was empowered 
to lay down the terms and conditions of such 
authorisation and which, in so doing, had to 
have regard to the undertaking it had entered 
into under the Radio Regulations. The disputed 
interference - the Swiss authorities’ refusal of 
permission - therefore had a sufficient legal 
basis.

3. Switzerland’s opinion that this undertaking 
obliged it to make permission for reception 
subject to the consent of the broadcasting 
State - in this instance the Soviet Union - was 
in keeping with the interpretation gener-
ally accepted at the time (and even until quite 
recently), as appears from the replies of the 
foreign authorities from which Switzerland 
requested information (the USSR, 7 February 
1984; the Netherlands, 1 July 1985; Finland, 8 
July 1985; and the Federal Republic of Germa-
ny, 29 August 1989); it was also in keeping with 
the recommendation adopted in 1982 by the 
European Conference of Postal and Telecom-
munications Administrations (see the judg-
ment, § 38).

It was therefore legitimate for Switzerland 
to believe itself to be not only entitled but 
obliged to make the permission sought by Au-

tronic AG subject to the consent of the appro-
priate Soviet authorities, in order to discharge 
the international obligations it had undertaken, 
by complying with them as they were under-
stood by the relevant international bodies and 
by the other States, in particular by the State 
concerned in this instance, the Soviet Union. 
In other words, since the Soviet authorities’ 
consent had not been secured, the refusal of 
permission complained of by Autronic AG 
could be regarded at the time as a measure 
necessary for ensuring order in international 
telecommunications.

Even if, in recent years, some national authori-
ties seem to have dispensed with the condition 
of first securing the consent of the broadcast-
ing State, it nonetheless emerges from the 
replies received as late as 1989 that this ap-
proach is not yet a general one. The inter-State 
agreements concluded in order to set up Eu-
telsat and Intelsat, which allow only specially 
authorised earth stations to pick up broadcasts 
from satellites, prove this. But even if that were 
not the case and if views have changed, this 
cannot be taken as a basis for determining 
the issue of whether or not there has been a 
violation of the Convention in this case and 
therefore of the State’s responsibility, which is 
an issue that has to be assessed in the light of 
the legal rules in force (and as understood) at 
the material time.

The fact that the ITU considers that it is for 
the authorities of each member of the Union 
themselves to take the "necessary measures to 
prohibit and prevent the unauthorised inter-
ception of radiocommunications not intended 
for the general use of the public" and that any 
national administration is empowered to "lay 
down the terms and conditions on which it 
grants such authorisation" means only that, 
under the International Telecommunication 
Convention and the Radio Regulations, the 
States enjoy some discretion in deciding on 
suitable measures for the purposes laid down 
in the aforesaid international rules; it cannot 
be argued from this discretion that a measure 
taken in this context which appears perfectly 
suitable and proportionate to the legitimate 
aim pursued, that is to say in the instant case 
to the prevention of international disorder in 
telecommunications, is unnecessary. Moreo-
ver, the measure complained of was not an 
absolute, indiscriminate prohibition but a rea-
sonable response to the international under-
takings entered into by the State in question, 
a response which had regard to the legal inter-
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ests of the broadcasting State.

That being so, we consider that there has been 
no breach of Article 10 (art. 10).

ConCURRInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE DE MEYER
(Translation)

The reasons which led me to hold that there had 
been a breach of the right to freedom of expres-
sion in the case of Groppera Radio AG and Others5 
could not but prompt me to reach the same deci-
sion in the instant case, especially as what was in 
issue here was measures preventing public dem-
onstration of equipment for receiving television 
broadcasts.

In this connection I think it useful to say that the 
licensing power of States in respect of radio and tel-
evision does not extend to the reception of broad-
casts6 and that, for the rest, such reception can only 
be interfered with by States as regards methods or 
circumstances and only to the extent that one or 
other of those is giving rise to harmful effects which 
there is a pressing social need to prevent or elimi-
nate7. The freedom to see and watch and to hear 
and listen is not, as such, subject to States’ author-
ity.
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TELEPHONE, TAPPING, SURVEILLANCE, INTERFERENCE, 
INTERCEPTION, PRIVATE LIFE, CORRESPONDENCE

IN THE HuvIG CASE,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting, in ac-
cordance with Article 43 (art. 43) of the Convention 
for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamen-
tal Freedoms ("the Convention") and the relevant 
provisions of the Rules of Court, as a Chamber com-
posed of the following judges:
Mr R. Ryssdal, President, 
Mrs D. Bindschedler-Robert, 
Mr F. Gölcüklü, 
Mr F. Matscher, 
Mr L.-E. Pettiti, 
Mr B. Walsh, 
Sir Vincent Evans, 
and also of Mr M.-A. Eissen, Registrar, 
and Mr H. Petzold, Deputy Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 26 October 1989 
and 27 March 1990,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case was referred to the Court by the Euro-

pean Commission of Human Rights ("the Com-
mission") on 16 March 1989, within the three-
month period laid down by Article 32 § 1 and 
Article 47 (art. 32-1, art. 47) of the Convention. 
It originated in an application (no. 11105/84) 
against the French Republic lodged with the 
Commission under Article 25 (art. 25) by two 
nationals of that State, Mr Jacques Huvig and 
his wife Mrs Janine Huvig-Sylvestre, on 9 Au-
gust 1984.

The Commission’s request referred to Articles 
44 and 48 (art. 44, art. 48) and to the declara-
tion whereby France recognised the compul-
sory jurisdiction of the Court (Article 46) (art. 
46). The object of the request was to obtain a 
decision as to whether the facts of the case dis-
closed a breach by the respondent State of its 
obligations under Article 8 (art. 8).

2. In response to the enquiry made in accordance 

with Rule 33 § 3 (d) of the Rules of Court, the 
applicants stated that they wished to take part 
in the proceedings and designated the lawyer 
who would represent them (Rule 30).

3. On 30 March 1989 the President of the Court 
decided, under Rule 21 § 6 and in the interests 
of sound administration of justice, that a single 
Chamber should be constituted to consider 
both the instant case and the Kruslin case*.

The Chamber thus constituted included ex of-
ficio Mr L.-E. Pettiti, the elected judge of French 
nationality (Article 43 of the Convention) (art. 
43), and Mr R. Ryssdal, the President of the 
Court (Rule 21 § 3 (b)). On the same day, 30 
March 1989, in the presence of the Registrar, 
the President drew by lot the names of the 
other five members, namely Mrs D. Bindsche-
dler-Robert, Mr F. Gölcüklü, Mr F. Matscher, Mr 
B. Walsh and Sir Vincent Evans (Article 43 in fine 
of the Convention and Rule 21 § 4) (art. 43).

4. Mr Ryssdal assumed the office of President of 
the Chamber (Rule 21 § 5) and, through the 
Registrar, consulted the Agent of the French 
Government ("the Government"), the Delegate 
of the Commission and the lawyer for the ap-
plicants on the need for a written procedure 
(Rule 37 § 1). In accordance with his orders 
and instructions, the Registrar received the 
Government’s memorial on 18 August 1989; 
the applicants’ representative and the Del-
egate of the Commission informed the Regis-
trar on 11 July and 19 October respectively that 
they would not be filing memorials.

On 13 September and 10 October 1989 the 
Commission provided the Registrar with vari-
ous documents he had asked for on the Presi-
dent’s instructions.

5. Having consulted, through the Registrar, those 
who would be appearing before the Court, the 
President had directed on 21 June 1989 that 
the oral proceedings should open on 24 Octo-
ber 1989 (Rule 38).

6. The hearing took place in public in the Human 
Rights Building, Strasbourg, on the appointed 
day. The Court had held a preparatory meeting 
immediately beforehand.

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Mr J.-P. Puissochet, Head of the Depart-
ment of Legal Affairs, Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs, Agent,
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Mrs I. Chaussade, magistrat, on second-
ment to the Department of Legal Affairs, 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs,

Miss M. Picard, magistrat, on secondment 
to the Department of Legal Affairs, Ministry 
of Foreign Affairs,

Mr M. Dobkine, magistrat, Department of 
Criminal Affairs and Pardons, Ministry of 
Justice,

Mr f. Le Gunehec, magistrat, Department 
of Criminal Affairs and Pardons, Ministry of 
Justice, Counsel;

(b) for the Commission

Mr S. Trechsel, Delegate.

By letter of 11 July 1989 counsel for the appli-
cant had informed the Registrar that he would 
not be attending the hearing.

The Court heard addresses by Mr Puissochet 
for the Government and by Mr Trechsel for the 
Commission, as well as their answers to a ques-
tion it put.

As to tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

7. Mr Jacques Huvig and his wife Janine, née 
Sylvestre, currently live at Grau-du-Roi (Gard). 
Before he retired, Mr Huvig, with his wife’s as-
sistance, ran a wholesale fruit-and-vegetable 
business at Varennes-sur-Amance and Mon-
tigny-le-Roi (Haute-Marne).

8. On 20 December 1973 the Director of the 
Haute-Marne Tax Office lodged a complaint 
against the applicant and two other persons 
alleging tax evasion, failure to make entries in 
accounts and false accounting.

A judicial investigation was begun on 26 De-
cember by an investigating judge at Chau-
mont, assigned by the President of the Chau-
mont tribunal de grande instance.

Mr and Mrs Huvig’s home was searched as 
were their business premises, pursuant to a 
warrant issued on 14 March 1974 by the inves-
tigating judge. The latter also issued a warrant 
to the gendarmerie at Langres (Haute-Marne) 
on 4 April requiring them to monitor and tran-
scribe all Mr and Mrs Huvig’s telephone calls - 

both business and private ones - on that day 
and the next day.

The telephone tapping took place from about 
8 p.m. on 4 April 1974 until midnight on 5 April; 
on 6 April the second in command of the gen-
darmerie unit at Langres made a "summary re-
port" on the tapping, which was subsequently 
brought to the knowledge of the applicants.

9. Mr Huvig was charged with tax evasion, forgery 
of private and business documents, failure to 
keep proper accounts, aiding and abetting mis-
use of company property and receiving funds 
derived from misuse of company property, and 
on 9 April he appeared before the investigating 
judge, who remanded him in custody; he was 
released on 11 June 1974.

Mrs Huvig, who from 20 March 1974 onwards 
was questioned several times as a witness, was 
charged on 13 May 1976 with aiding and abet-
ting tax evasion and forgery of business docu-
ments.

10. On 23 December 1976 the investigating judge 
committed them for trial - with the other two 
persons mentioned above - at the Chaumont 
tribunal de grande instance, in Mr Huvig’s case 
on charges of forgery, uttering, aiding and 
abetting misuse of company property, aiding 
and abetting tax evasion, aiding and abetting 
fraud, receiving funds derived from misuse of 
company property, and false or incomplete ac-
counting, and in Mrs Huvig’s case on charges 
of aiding and abetting forgery, aiding and 
abetting tax evasion and aiding and abetting 
improper keeping of accounts.

They raised as a preliminary issue several pleas 
of nullity, one of which related to the telephone 
tapping carried out on 4 and 5 April 1974. On 
26 January 1982 the court ordered that these 
pleas should be heard as part of the main trial, 
and on 30 March 1982 it rejected them. Of the 
telephone tapping it said:
"This investigative measure, even if it must
remainanexceptionalone,iswithintheinves-
tigatingjudge’spowersaspartofhisinquiries
duringaninvestigation;

No infringementof the rightsof thedefence
has been substantiated, especially as in the
instantcasetheresultswereunusableanddid
notserveasabasisfortheprosecution..."

In the same judgment it was held that the vari-
ous offences with which the applicants were 
charged had been made out, except that of 
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aiding and abetting fraud in Mr Huvig’s case; 
in consequence, Mr Huvig was sentenced to 
eight months’ imprisonment, six months of 
which were suspended, and Mrs Huvig to two 
months suspended.

11. The defendants, the civil party seeking damag-
es and the prosecution appealed to the Dijon 
Court of Appeal.

The defence again raised the pleas of nullity 
that had been put forward unsuccessfully at 
the original trial. The Court of Appeal rejected 
all of them on 17 March 1983. As regards the 
impugned telephone tapping, it gave the fol-
lowing reasons for its decision:
"[According to Mr Huvig, the investigating
judge]infringedtherightsofthedefenceand
theguaranteesaffordedbylawtoallaccused
persons,seeingthat,eventhoughhehadnot
yethadhisfirstinterviewwiththeinvestigat-
ingjudge(whichtookplaceon9April1974...),
henonethelesshadtoberegardedashaving
alreadybeen charged, since thepublicpros-
ecutor’sapplicationof20December1973was
directedagainsthimamongothers;

But,asthetrialcourtrightlypointedout,this
investigativemeasure,whileitmustremainan
exceptionalone,isoneoftheprerogativesof
an investigating judge carrying out inquiries
aspartofaninvestigationheisconducting;

TheCourthasbeenabletocheckandsatisfy
itselfthatthisoperation,whichtobeeffective
must be carried out without the knowledge
of thepersonsuspected -orevencharged -,
was carried out on the investigating judge’s
authority and under his supervision,without
anysubterfugeorrusebeingemployed;

Theoperation,moreover,lastedonly28hours
..., didnot yieldanythingusableanddidnot
serveasabasisfortheprosecution;

Nothingenables ittobeestablishedthatthe
procedure thus followed had the result of
jeopardising theexerciseof the rightsof the
defence,since itmustbeborne inmindthat
MrHuvighadnotatthatstagebeenofficially
chargedby the investigating judge and that
Article 81of theCodeofCriminal Procedure
empowers the latter to take all investigative
measureshedeemsusefulforestablishingthe
truth...;

..."

At the same time the Dijon Court of Appeal 
upheld the judgment under appeal as to the 
finding that the defendants were guilty but 
increased the sentences passed on them by 

the trial court, sentencing the applicant to two 
years’ imprisonment, twenty-two months of 
which were suspended, and to a fine of 10,000 
French francs, and his wife to six months sus-
pended.

12. The applicants appealed to the Court of Cas-
sation on points of law. In the first of their 
grounds of appeal the Court of Appeal’s judg-
ment was criticised for its failure to quash the 
investigating judge’s warrant of 4 April 1974:
"Firstly, investigating judgesarenotempow-
ered by Article 81 of the Code of Criminal
Procedure to tap the telephone of anybody
-whetheritbeapersonchargedwithacrimi-
nal offence, a third party or a witness - and
suchaprocedureiscontrarytothelaw,since
the Code of Criminal Procedure has regu-
lated searches, the seizing of property and
the taking of evidence from witnesses and
has not conferred on investigating judges
the power to tap the telephones of persons
againstwhomthere issubstantial,consistent
evidenceofguilt,suchaprocedurebeingpro-
hibitedbothbyArticles6and8(art.6,art.8)of
theConvention...andbyArticle9oftheCivil
Code,ArticlesL.41andL.42ofthePostand
TelecommunicationsCodeandArticle368of
theCriminalCode;

Secondly, an individual who has been per-
sonally proceeded against by the civil party
seeking damages and in respect of whom
... the public prosecutor has requested that
an investigationbecommenced isapartyto
the proceedings and must consequently be
regardedasapersonchargedwithacriminal
offencewithin themeaningofArticle114of
the Code of Criminal Procedure; such a per-
sonmust, therefore, before any statement is
takenbytheinvestigatingjudge,beinformed
ofthechargesagainsthim,ofhisrightnotto
makeanystatementandofhisrighttotheas-
sistance of a lawyer; the investigating judge
accordingly cannot, without infringing the
rightsof thedefence, record suchaperson’s
telephoneconversationswithouttheperson’s
knowledge;

Lastly,sincewhatisatissueisanullitythatis
absoluteasamatterofpublicpolicy-unlawful
telephonetappingbeingacriminaloffence-,
itisoflittleimportancethattheconversations
recordedwere not used as the basis for the
prosecution."

On pages 6 and 7 of the supplementary plead-
ings there were references to the Klass and 
Others judgment of the European Court of Hu-
man Rights (6 September 1978, Series A no. 28).
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The Criminal Division of the Court of Cassa-
tion dismissed the appeal on 24 April 1984. It 
rejected the foregoing ground in the following 
terms:
"In the judgment [of the Dijon Court of Ap-
peal]thepleathattheinvestigationproceed-
ingswere null and void because of the nul-
lityofthewarrantissuedbytheinvestigating
judge on 4 April 1974 ordering that Huvig’s
telephoneconversationsshouldbemonitored
was rejectedon thegrounds that thismeas-
ure was within the contemplation of Article
81oftheCodeofCriminalProcedureandthat
as,moreover, ithadnotservedasabasis for
theprosecution, it hadnothad the effect of
jeopardising theexerciseof the rightsof the
defence;

As these reasons stand and seeing, further-
more, that it has not been found - nor even
allegedbytheappellants-thattheinvestiga-
tivemeasure in question, which was carried
outunderthesupervisionoftheinvestigating
judge, entailedany subterfugesor ruses, the
CourtofAppealdid,withoutlayingitselfopen
to the objection raised in the ground of ap-
peal,providealegalbasisforitsdecision;

..." (Recueil Dalloz Sirey (DS) 1986, jurispru-
dence,pp.125-128)

II. THE RELEVANT LEGISLATION AND 
CASE-LAW

13. French criminal law adopts the principle that 
any kind of evidence is admissible: "unless 
otherwise provided by statute, any type of 
evidence shall be admissible to substantiate a 
criminal charge ..." (Article 427 of the Code of 
Criminal Procedure).

There is no statutory provision which expressly 
empowers investigating judges to carry out or 
order telephone tapping, or indeed to carry 
out or order various measures which are none-
theless in common use, such as the taking of 
photographs or fingerprints, shadowing, sur-
veillance, requisitions, confrontations of wit-
nesses and reconstructions of crimes. On the 
other hand, the Code of Criminal Procedure 
does expressly confer power on them to take 
several other measures, which it regulates in 
detail, such as pre-trial detention, seizure of 
property and searches.

14. Under the old Code of Criminal Procedure the 
Court of Cassation had condemned the use 
of telephone tapping by investigating judges, 
at least in circumstances which it regarded as 

disclosing, on the part of a judge or the police, 
a lack of "fairness" incompatible with the rules 
of criminal procedure and the safeguards es-
sential to the rights of the defence (combined 
divisions, 31 January 1888, ministère public c. 
Vigneau, Dalloz 1888, jurisprudence, pp. 72-74; 
Criminal Division, 12 June 1952, Imbert, Bull. no. 
153, pp. 258-260; Civil Division, second section, 
18 March 1955, époux Jolivot c. époux Lubrano 
et autres, DS 1955, jurisprudence, pp. 573-574, 
and Gazette du Palais (GP) 1955, jurisprudence, 
p. 249). Some trial courts and courts of appeal 
which had to deal with the issue, on the other 
hand, showed some willingness to hold that 
such telephone tapping was lawful if there had 
been neither "entrapment" nor "provocation"; 
this view was based on Article 90 of the former 
Code (Seine Criminal Court, Tenth Division, 13 
February 1957, ministère public contre X, GP 
1957, jurisprudence, pp. 309-310).

15. Since the 1958 Code of Criminal Procedure 
came into force, the courts have had regard in 
this respect to, among others, Articles 81, 151 
and 152, which provide:

Article 81

(first, fourth and fifth paragraphs)

"The investigating judge shall, in accordance
with the law, takeall the investigativemeas-
ureswhich he deems useful for establishing
thetruth.

...

Iftheinvestigatingjudgeisunabletotakeall
theinvestigativemeasureshimself,hemayis-
suewarrantstoseniorpoliceofficers(officiers
depolicejudiciaire)inordertohavethemcar-
ryoutallthenecessaryinvestigativemeasures
ontheconditionsandsubjecttothereserva-
tionsprovidedforinArticles151and152.

Theinvestigatingjudgemustverifytheinfor-
mationthusgathered.

..."

Article 151

(as worded at the material time)

"An investigating judgemay issue awarrant
requiringany judgeofhiscourt,anydistrict-
courtjudgewithintheterritorialjurisdictionof
thatcourt,anyseniorpoliceofficer(officierde
policejudiciaire)withauthorityinthatjurisdic-
tionor any investigating judge toundertake
anyinvestigativemeasuresheconsidersnec-
essaryinplacescomingundertheirrespective
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jurisdictions.

Thewarrantshallindicatethenatureoftheof-
fencetowhichtheproceedingsrelate.Itshall
bedatedandsignedbytheissuingjudgeand
shallbearhisseal.

It may only order investigativemeasures di-
rectlyconnectedwiththeprosecutionof the
offencetowhichtheproceedingsrelate.

..."

Article 152

"Thejudgesorseniorpoliceofficersinstructed
to act shall exercise, within the limits of the
warrant, all the powers of the investigating
judge.

..."

16. An Act of 17 July 1970 added to the Civil Code 
an Article 9 guaranteeing to everyone "the 
right to respect for his private life". It also added 
to the Criminal Code an Article 368, whereby:
"Anyonewhowilfully intrudesontheprivacy
ofothers:

1.Bylisteningto,recordingortransmittingby
meansofanydevice,wordsspokenbyaper-
son in a private place,without that person’s
consent;

2....

shall be liable to imprisonment for not less
thantwomonthsandnotmorethanoneyear
andafine...ortoonlyoneofthesetwopenal-
ties."

During the preparatory work, one of the vice-
chairmen of the National Assembly’s Statutes 
Committee, Mr Zimmermann, sought "certain 
assurances" that this enactment "[would] not 
prevent the investigating judge from issuing 
strictly within the limits of the law warrants to 
have telephones tapped, obviously without 
making use of any form of inducement and 
in compliance with all the legal procedures" 
(Journal officiel, National Assembly, 1970 pro-
ceedings, p. 2074). The Minister of Justice, Mr 
René Pleven, replied: "... there is no question 
of interfering with the powers of investigat-
ing judges, who are indeed empowered, in the 
circumstances laid down by law, to order tap-
ping"; he added a little later: "when an official 
taps a telephone, he can only do so lawfully if 
he has a warrant from a judicial authority or is 
acting on the instructions of a minister" (ibid., 
p. 2075). Both Houses of Parliament thereupon 
passed the Bill without amending it on this 

point.

17. Article 41 of the Post and Telecommunications 
Code provides that any public servant or any-
one authorised to assist with the performance 
of relevant official duties who breaches the 
secrecy of correspondence entrusted to the 
telecommunications service shall be liable to 
the penalties provided for in Article 187 of the 
Criminal Code - a fine, imprisonment and tem-
porary disqualification from any public office 
or employment. Article 42 provides that any-
one who, without permission from the sender 
or the addressee, divulges, publishes or uses 
the content of correspondence transmitted 
over the air or by telephone shall be liable to 
the penalties provided for in Article 378 of the 
Criminal Code (on professional confidentiality) 
- a fine or imprisonment.

General Instruction no. 500-78 on the tel-
ephone service - intended for Post and Tel-
ecommunications Authority officials - contains 
the following provisions, however, given here 
in the amended version of 1964 (Article 24 of 
Part III):
"Postmasters and sub-postmasters are re-
quiredtocomplywithanyrequeststhat...calls
to or from a specified telephone should be
monitoredbytherelevantauthority,madeby:

1. An investigating judge (Arts. 81, 92 and
94oftheCodeofCriminalProcedure)orany
judgeorseniorpoliceofficer(officierdepolice
judiciaire)towhomajudicialwarranthasbeen
issued(Art.152);

..."

The General Instruction was published in the 
official bulletin of the Ministry of Post and Tel-
ecommunications and was described by the 
Government as an "implementing regulation".

18. The striking development of various forms 
of serious crime - large-scale thefts and rob-
beries, terrorism, drug-trafficking - appears in 
France to have led to a marked increase in the 
frequency with which investigating judges re-
sort to telephone tapping. The courts have as a 
result given many more decisions on the sub-
ject than formerly; telephone tapping has not 
been held to be unlawful in itself, although the 
courts have occasionally shown some distaste 
for it (Paris Court of Appeal, Ninth Criminal Divi-
sion, 28 March 1960, Cany et Rozenbaum, GP 
1960, jurisprudence, pp. 253-254).

The vast majority of the decisions cited to the 
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Court by the Government and the Commis-
sion, or of which the Court has had cognisance 
by its own means, are of later date than the 
facts of the instant case (April 1974) and have 
gradually provided a number of clarifications. 
These do not all stem from judgments of the 
Court of Cassation, and do not for the time be-
ing constitute a uniform body of case-law, be-
cause the decisions or reasons given in some of 
the cases have remained unique. They may be 
summarised as follows.

(a) Articles 81 and 151 of the Code of Crimi-
nal Procedure (see paragraph 15 above) 
empower investigating judges - and them 
alone, as far as judicial investigations are 
concerned - to carry out telephone tap-
ping or, much more commonly in practice, 
to issue a warrant to that effect to a senior 
police officer (officier de police judiciaire) 
within the meaning of Article 16 (see, in 
particular, Court of Cassation, Criminal Divi-
sion, 9 October 1980, Tournet, Bull. no. 255, 
pp. 662-664; 24 April 1984 - see paragraph 
12 above; 23 July 1985, Kruslin, Bull. no. 
275, pp. 713-715; 4 November 1987, Croce, 
Antoine et Kruslin, DS 1988, sommaires, 
p. 195; 15 February 1988, Schroeder, and 
15 March 1988, Arfi, Bull. no. 128, pp. 327-
335). Telephone tapping is an "investigative 
measure" which may sometimes be "useful 
for establishing the truth". It is comparable 
to the seizure of letters or telegrams (see, 
among other authorities, Poitiers Court of 
Appeal, Criminal Division, 7 January 1960, 
Manchet, Juris-Classeur périodique (JCP) 
1960, jurisprudence, no. 11599, and Paris 
Court of Indictment Division, 27 June 1984, 
F. et autre, DS 1985, jurisprudence, pp. 93-
96) and it similarly does not offend the pro-
visions of Article 368 of the Criminal Code, 
having regard to the legislative history and 
to the principle that any kind of evidence 
is admissible (see paragraphs 13 and 16 
above and Strasbourg tribunal de grande 
instance, 15 February 1983, S. et autres, un-
reported; Colmar Court of Appeal, 9 March 
1984, Chalvignac et autre, unreported; Paris 
Court of Appeal, Indictment Division, judg-
ment of 27 June 1984 previously cited and 
judgment of 31 October 1984, Li Siu Lung 
et autres, GP 1985, sommaires, pp. 94-95).

(b) The investigating judge can only issue such 
a warrant "where there is a presumption 
that a specific offence has been committed 
which has given rise to the investigation" 
which he is responsible for conducting and 

not in respect of a whole category of of-
fences "on the off chance"; this is clear not 
only from Articles 81 and 151 (second and 
third paragraphs) of the Code of Criminal 
Procedure but also "from the general prin-
ciples of criminal procedure" (see, among 
other authorities, Court of Cassation, Crimi-
nal Division, judgments of 23 July 1985, 4 
November 1987 and 15 March 1988 previ-
ously cited).

The French courts do not seem ever to have 
held that telephone tapping is lawful only 
where the offences being investigated are 
of some seriousness or if the investigating 
judge has specified a maximum duration 
for it.

(c) "Within the limits of the warrant" that has 
been issued to him - if need be by fax (Li-
moges Court of Appeal, Criminal Division, 
18 November 1988, Lecesne et autres, DS 
1989, sommaires, p. 394) - the senior police 
officer exercises "all the powers of the in-
vestigating judge" (Article 152 of the Code 
of Criminal Procedure). He exercises these 
under the supervision of the investigating 
judge, who by the fifth paragraph of Arti-
cle 81 is bound to "verify the information 
... gathered" (see, among other authorities, 
Court of Cassation, Criminal Division, judg-
ments of 9 October 1980, 24 April 1984, 23 
July 1985, 4 November 1987 and 15 March 
1988 previously cited).

The warrant apparently sometimes takes 
the form of a general delegation of pow-
ers, including - without its being expressly 
mentioned - the power to tap telephones 
(Court of Cassation, Civil Division, second 
section, judgment of 18 March previously 
cited, and Paris Court of Appeal, judgment 
of 28 March 1960 previously cited).

(d) In no case may a police officer tap tel-
ephones on his own initiative without a 
warrant, for example during the preliminary 
investigation preceding the opening of the 
judicial investigation (see, among other 
authorities, Court of Cassation, Criminal Di-
vision, 13 June 1989, Derrien, and 19 June 
1989, Grayo, Bull. no. 254, pp. 635-637, and 
no. 261, pp. 648-651; full court, 24 Novem-
ber 1989, Derrien, DS 1990, p. 34, and JCP 
1990, jurisprudence, no. 21418, with the 
submissions of Mr Advocate-General Emile 
Robert).

(e) Telephone tapping must not be accom-
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panied by "any subterfuge or ruse" (see, 
among other authorities, Court of Cassa-
tion, Criminal Division, judgment of 9 Oc-
tober 1980, 24 April 1984, 23 July 1985, 4 
November 1987, 15 February 1988 and 15 
March 1988 previously cited) failing which 
the information gathered by means of it 
must be either deleted or removed from 
the case file (Court of Cassation, Criminal 
Division, judgments of 13 and 19 June 1989 
previously cited).

(f) The telephone tapping must also be carried 
out "in such a way that the exercise of the 
rights of the defence cannot be jeopard-
ised" (see, among other authorities, Court 
of Cassation, Criminal Division, judgments 
of 9 October 1980, 24 April 1984, 23 July 
1985, 4 November 1987, 15 February 1988, 
15 March 1988 and 19 June 1989 previously 
cited). In particular, the confidentiality of 
the relations between suspect or person 
accused and lawyer must be respected, as 
must, more generally, a lawyer’s duty of 
professional confidentiality, at least when 
he is not acting in any other capacity (Aix-
en-Provence Court of Appeal, Indictment 
Division, 16 June 1982 and 2 February 1983, 
Sadji Hamou et autres, GP 1982, jurispru-
dence, pp. 645-649, and GP 1983, jurispru-
dence, pp. 313-315; Paris Court of Appeal, 
Indictment Division, judgment of 27 June 
1984 previously cited).

(g) With this reservation, it is permissible to 
tap telephone calls to or from a charged 
person (Court of Cassation, Criminal Divi-
sion, judgments of 9 October 1980 and 24 
April 1984 previously cited) or a mere sus-
pect (judgments of the Strasbourg tribunal 
de grande instance, 15 February 1983, the 
Colmar Court of Appeal, 9 March 1984, and 
the Indictment Division of the Paris Court of 
Appeal, 27 June 1984, previously cited) or 
even a third party, such as a witness, whom 
there is reason to believe to be in posses-
sion of information about the perpetra-
tors or circumstances of the offence (see, 
among other authorities, Aix-en-Provence 
Court of Appeal, judgment of 16 June 1982 
previously cited).

(h) A public telephone-box may be tapped 
(Seine Criminal Court, Tenth Division, 30 
October 1964, Trésor public et Société de 
courses c. L. et autres, DS 1965, jurispru-
dence, pp. 423-424) just like a private line, 
irrespective of whether current is diverted 

to a listening station (Court of Cassation, 
Criminal Division, 13 June 1989, and full 
court, 24 November 1989, previously cited).

(i) The senior police officer supervises the tape 
or cassette recording of the conversations 
and their transcription, where he does not 
carry out these operations himself; when it 
comes to choosing extracts to submit "for 
examination by the court", it is for him to 
determine "what words may render the 
speaker liable to criminal proceedings". He 
performs these duties "on his own respon-
sibility and under the supervision of the in-
vestigating judge" (Strasbourg tribunal de 
grande instance, judgment of 15 February 
1983 previously cited, upheld by the Col-
mar Court of Appeal on 9 March 1984; Paris 
Court of Appeal, judgment of 27 June 1984 
previously cited).

(j) The original tapes are "exhibits", not "in-
vestigation documents", but have only the 
weight of circumstantial evidence; their 
contents are transcribed in reports in order 
to give them a physical form so that they 
can be inspected (Court of Cassation, Crimi-
nal Division, 28 April 1987, Allieis, Bull. no. 
173, pp. 462-467).

(k) If transcription raises a problem of transla-
tion into French, Articles 156 et seq. of the 
Code of Criminal Procedure, which deal 
with expert opinions, do not apply to the 
appointment and work of the translator 
(Court of Cassation, Criminal Division, 6 
September 1988, Fekari, Bull. no. 317, pp. 
861-862 (extracts), and 18 December 1989, 
M. et autres, not yet reported).

(l) There is no statutory provision prohibiting 
the inclusion in the file on a criminal case of 
evidence from other proceedings, such as 
tapes and reports containing transcriptions, 
if they may "assist the judges and help to 
establish the truth", provided that such evi-
dence is added under an adversarial proce-
dure (Court of Cassation, Criminal Division, 
judgments of 23 July 1985 and 6 Septem-
ber 1988 previously cited).

(m) The defence must be able to inspect the re-
ports containing transcriptions, to hear the 
original tape recordings, to challenge their 
authenticity during the judicial investiga-
tion and subsequent trial and to apply for 
any necessary investigative measures - such 
as an expert opinion - relating to their con-
tents and the circumstances in which they 
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were made (see, among other authorities, 
Court of Cassation, Criminal Division, 23 
July 1985, previously cited; 16 July 1986, Il-
louz, unreported; and 28 April 1987, Allieis, 
previously cited).

(n) Just as the investigating judge supervises 
the senior police officer, he is himself super-
vised by the Indictment Division, to which 
he - exactly like the public prosecutor - may 
apply under Article 171 of the Code of Crim-
inal Procedure.

Trial courts, courts of appeal and the Court 
of Cassation may have to deal with objec-
tions or grounds of appeal as the case may 
be - particularly by defendants but also, 
on occasion, by the prosecution (Court of 
Cassation, judgments of 19 June and 24 
November 1989 previously cited) - based 
on a failure to comply with the require-
ments summarised above or with other 
rules which the parties concerned claim are 
applicable. A failure of this kind, however, 
would not automatically nullify the pro-
ceedings such that a court of appeal could 
be held to have erred if it had not dealt with 
them of its own motion; they affect only 
defence rights (Court of Cassation, Criminal 
Division, 11 December 1989, Takrouni, not 
yet reported).

19.  Since at least 1981, parties have increasingly 
often relied on Article 8 (art. 8) of the Conven-
tion - and, much less frequently, on Article 6 
(art. 6) (Court of Cassation, Criminal Division, 23 
April 1981, Pellegrin et autres, Bull. no. 117, pp. 
328-335, and 21 November 1988, S. et autres) - 
in support of their complaints about telephone 
tapping; they have sometimes as in the instant 
case (see paragraph 12 above) - cited the case-
law of the European Court of Human Rights.

Hitherto only telephone tapping carried out 
without a warrant, during the police investi-
gation (see, among other authorities, Court 
of Cassation, judgments of 13 June and 24 
November 1989 previously cited), or in un-
explained circumstances (see, among other 
authorities, Court of Cassation, judgment of 
19 June 1989 previously cited) or in violation 
of defence rights (Paris Court of Appeal, Indict-
ment Division, judgment of 31 October 1984 
previously cited) has been held by the French 
courts to be contrary to Article 8 § 2 (art. 8-2) 
("in accordance with the law") or to domestic 
law in the strict sense. In all other cases the 
courts have either found no violation (Court 

of Cassation, Criminal Division, judgments of 
24 April 1984, 23 July 1985, 16 July 1986, 28 
April 1987, 4 November 1987, 15 February 
1988, 15 March 1988, 6 September 1988 and 
18 December 1989 previously cited, and 16 
November 1988, S. et autre, unreported, and 
the judgments of 15 February 1983 (Stras-
bourg), 9 March 1984 (Colmar) and 27 June 
1984 (Paris) previously cited) or else ruled the 
plea inadmissible for various reasons (Court of 
Cassation, Criminal Division, judgments of 23 
April 1981, 21 November 1988 and 11 Decem-
ber 1989 previously cited and the unreported 
judgments of 24 May 1983, S. et autres; 23 May 
1985, Y. H. W.; 17 February 1986, H.; 4 Novem-
ber 1986, J.; and 5 February 1990, B. et autres).

20. While academic opinion is divided as to the 
compatibility of telephone tapping as carried 
out in France - on the orders of investigating 
judges or others - with the national and in-
ternational legal rules in force in the country, 
there seems to be unanimous agreement that 
it is desirable and even necessary for Parlia-
ment to try to solve the problem by following 
the example set by many foreign States (see in 
particular Gaëtan di Marino, comments on the 
Tournet judgment of 9 October 1980 (Court of 
Cassation), JCP 1981, jurisprudence, no. 19578; 
Albert Chavanne, ‘Les résultats de l’audio-sur-
veillance comme preuve pénale’, Revue inter-
nationale de droit comparé, 1986, pp. 752-753 
and 755; Gérard Cohen-Jonathan, ‘Les écoutes 
téléphoniques’, Studies in honour of Gérard 
J. Wiarda, 1988, p. 104; Jean Pradel, ‘écoutes 
téléphoniques et Convention européenne des 
Droits de l’Homme’, DS 1990, chronique, pp. 
17-20). In July 1981 the Government set up a 
study group chaired by Mr Robert Schmelck, 
who was then President of the Court of Cas-
sation, and consisting of senators and MPs of 
various political persuasions, judges, university 
professors, senior civil servants, judges and a 
barrister. The group submitted a report on 25 
June 1982, but this has remained confidential 
and has not yet led to a bill being tabled.

PRoCEEDInGs BEFoRE 
tHE CoMMIssIon
21. The applicants applied to the Commission on 

9 August 1984 (application no. 11105/84). Mr 
Huvig relied on Article 6 § 1 (art. 6-1) of the 
Convention and complained of the investigat-
ing judge’s refusal to grant his application for 
an expert opinion on technical and financial 
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matters; he ascribed this refusal to evidence 
improperly taken from a witness. He and his 
wife also complained under Article 6 § 3 (a) 
(art. 6-3-a) of the delay in charging them. Lastly, 
both alleged that the telephone tapping car-
ried out on 4 and 5 April 1974 had contravened 
Article 8 (art. 8).

22. On 15 October 1987 the Commission declared 
the first complaint inadmissible as being mani-
festly ill-founded (under Article 27 § 2) (art. 27-
2) and the second complaint inadmissible for 
failure to exhaust domestic remedies (under 
Articles 26 and 27 § 3) (art. 26, art. 27-3). The 
third and final complaint, however, it declared 
admissible, on 6 July 1988.

In its report of 14 December 1988 (made under 
Article 31) (art. 31) the Commission expressed 
the opinion by ten votes to two that there had 
been a breach of Article 8 (art. 8). The full text of 
the Commission’s opinion and of the separate 
opinion contained in the report is reproduced 
as an annex to this judgment*.

FInAL sUBMIssIons to 
tHE CoURt
23. At the hearing the Court was requested:

(a) by the Agent of the Government to "hold 
that in the instant case there ha[d] been no 
conduct disclosing a breach of Article 8 (art. 
8) of the Convention"; and

(b) by the Delegate of the Commission to "find 
that there ha[d] been a violation of Article 
8 (art. 8)".

As to tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 (ART. 8)

24. Mr and Mrs Huvig claimed that in the instant 
case there had been a breach of Article 8 (art. 
8), which provides:
"1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-

ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers."

The Government disputed that submission, 
while the Commission agreed with it in sub-
stance.

25. The telephone tapping complained of amount-
ed without any doubt to an "interference by a 
public authority" with the exercise of the ap-
plicants’ right to respect for their "correspond-
ence" and their "private life" (see the Klass and 
Others judgment of 8 September 1978, Series 
A no. 28, p. 21, § 41, and the Malone judgment 
of 2 August 1984, Series A no. 82, p. 30, § 64). 
The Government did not dispute this.

Such an interference contravenes Article 8 
(art. 8) unless it is "in accordance with the law", 
pursues one or more of the legitimate aims re-
ferred to in paragraph 2 (art. 8-2) and further-
more is "necessary in a democratic society" in 
order to achieve them.

A. "In accordance with the law"
26. The expression "in accordance with the law", 

within the meaning of Article 8 § 2 (art. 8-2), 
requires firstly that the impugned measure 
should have some basis in domestic law; it also 
refers to the quality of the law in question, re-
quiring that it should be accessible to the per-
son concerned, who must moreover be able to 
foresee its consequences for him, and compat-
ible with the rule of law.

1.WhethertherewasalegalbasisinFrench
law

27. It was a matter of dispute before the Commis-
sion and the Court whether the first condition 
was satisfied in the instant case.

The applicants said it was not. They submitted 
that there was no law in France governing the 
matter. France being a country of written law, 
case-law was a source only of law in general 
(droit), not of law in the statutory sense (loi). 
Furthermore, the courts had left the question 
of tapping private telephones to the unfet-
tered discretion of investigating judges.

In the Government’s submission, there was no 
contradiction between Article 368 of the Crimi-
nal Code and Article 81 of the Code of Criminal 
Procedure, at least not if regard was had to the 
drafting history of the former (see paragraph 
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16 above). The Code of Criminal Procedure, 
they argued, did not give an exhaustive list of 
the investigative means available to the inves-
tigating judge - measures as common as the 
taking of photographs or fingerprints, shadow-
ing, surveillance, requisitions, confrontations 
between witnesses, and reconstructions of 
crimes, for example, were not mentioned in 
it either (see paragraph 13 above). The provi-
sions added to Article 81 by Articles 151 and 
152 were supplemented in national case-law 
(see paragraphs 15 and 18-19 above). By "law" 
as referred to in Article 8 § 2 (art. 8-2) of the 
Convention was meant the law in force in a 
given legal system, in this instance a combina-
tion of the written law - essentially Articles 81, 
151 and 152 of the Code of Criminal Procedure 
- and the case-law interpreting it.

The Delegate of the Commission considered 
that in the case of the Continental countries, in-
cluding France, only a substantive enactment 
of general application - whether or not passed 
by Parliament - could amount to a "law" for the 
purposes of Article 8 § 2 (art. 8-2) of the Con-
vention. Admittedly the Court had held that 
"the word ‘law’ in the expression ‘prescribed by 
law’ cover[ed] not only statute but also unwrit-
ten law" (see the Sunday Times judgment of 
26 April 1979, Series A no. 30, p. 30, § 47, the 
Dudgeon judgment of 22 October 1981, Series 
A no. 45, p. 19, § 44, and the Chappell judg-
ment of 30 March 1989, Series A no. 152, p. 22, 
§ 52), but in those instances the Court was, so 
the Delegate maintained, thinking only of the 
common-law system. That system, however, 
was radically different from, in particular, the 
French system. In the latter, case-law was un-
doubtedly a very important source of law, but 
a secondary one, whereas by "law" the Conven-
tion meant a primary source.

28. Like the Government and the Delegate, the 
Court points out, firstly, that it is primarily for 
the national authorities, notably the courts, to 
interpret and apply domestic law (see, among 
many other authorities, the Malone judgment 
previously cited, Series A no. 82, p. 36, § 79, 
and the Eriksson judgment of 22 June 1989, 
Series A no. 156, p. 25, § 62). It is therefore not 
for the Court to express an opinion contrary to 
theirs on whether telephone tapping ordered 
by investigating judges is compatible with Ar-
ticle 368 of the Criminal Code. For many years 
now, the courts - and in particular the Court 
of Cassation - have regarded Articles 81, 151 
and 152 of the Code of Criminal Procedure as 
providing a legal basis for telephone tapping 

carried out by a senior police officer (officier de 
police judiciaire) under a warrant issued by an 
investigating judge.

Settled case-law of this kind cannot be disre-
garded. In relation to paragraph 2 of Article 8 
(art. 8-2) of the Convention and other similar 
clauses, the Court has always understood the 
term "law" in its "substantive" sense, not its "for-
mal" one; it has included both enactments of 
lower rank than statutes (see, in particular, the 
De Wilde, Ooms and Versyp judgment of 18 
June 1971, Series A no. 12, p. 45, § 93) and un-
written law. The Sunday Times, Dudgeon and 
Chappell judgments admittedly concerned 
the United Kingdom, but it would be wrong to 
exaggerate the distinction between common-
law countries and Continental countries, as the 
Government rightly pointed out. Statute law is, 
of course, also of importance in common-law 
countries. Conversely, case-law has traditional-
ly played a major role in Continental countries, 
to such an extent that whole branches of posi-
tive law are largely the outcome of decisions by 
the courts. The Court has indeed taken account 
of case-law in such countries on more than one 
occasion (see, in particular, the Müller and Oth-
ers judgment of 24 May 1988, Series A no. 133, 
p. 20, § 29, the Salabiaku judgment of 7 Oc-
tober 1988, Series A no. 141, pp. 16-17, § 29, 
and the Markt Intern Verlag GmbH and Klaus 
Beermann judgment of 20 November 1989, Se-
ries A no. 165, pp. 18-19, § 30). Were it to over-
look case-law, the Court would undermine the 
legal system of the Continental States almost 
as much as the Sunday Times judgment of 26 
April 1979 would have "struck at the very roots" 
of the United Kingdom’s legal system if it had 
excluded the common law from the concept of 
"law" (Series A no. 30, p. 30, § 47). In a sphere 
covered by the written law, the "law" is the en-
actment in force as the competent courts have 
interpreted it in the light, if necessary, of any 
new practical developments.

In sum, the interference complained of had a 
legal basis in French law.

2."Qualityofthelaw"
29. The second requirement which emerges from 

the phrase "in accordance with the law" - the 
accessibility of the law - does not raise any 
problem in the instant case.

The same is not true of the third requirement, 
the law’s "foreseeability" as to the meaning 
and nature of the applicable measures. As the 
Court pointed out in the Malone judgment of 
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2 August 1984, Article 8 § 2 (art. 8-2) of the 
Convention "does not merely refer back to do-
mestic law but also relates to the quality of the 
law, requiring it to be compatible with the rule 
of law". It
"thusimplies...thattheremustbeameasure
of legal protection in domestic law against
arbitrary interferences by public authorities
with the rights safeguarded by paragraph 1
(art. 8-1) ... Especially where a power of the
executive is exercised in secret, the risks of
arbitrariness are evident ... Undoubtedly ...,
the requirementsof theConvention,notably
in regard to foreseeability, cannotbeexactly
thesameinthespecialcontextofinterception
ofcommunicationsforthepurposesofpolice
investigations"

 - or judicial investigations -
"astheyarewheretheobjectof therelevant
law is toplace restrictionsontheconductof
individuals. In particular, the requirement of
foreseeabilitycannotmeanthatanindividual
should be enabled to foresee when the au-
thorities are likely to intercept his commu-
nications so that he can adapt his conduct
accordingly. Nevertheless, the law must be
sufficientlyclearinitstermstogivecitizensan
adequate indication as to the circumstances
inwhichandtheconditionsonwhichpublic
authorities are empowered to resort to this
secretandpotentiallydangerousinterference
with the right to respect for private life and
correspondence.

... [In its judgment of 25 March 1983 in the
caseofSilverandOtherstheCourt]heldthat
‘a law which confers a discretionmust indi-
cate the scope of that discretion’, although
the detailed procedures and conditions to
be observed do not necessarily have to be
incorporated in rules of substantive law (Se-
riesAno.61,pp.33-34,§§88-89). Thede-
greeofprecision requiredof the ‘law’ in this
connection will depend upon the particular
subject-matter...Sincetheimplementationin
practiceofmeasuresofsecretsurveillanceof
communicationsisnotopentoscrutinybythe
individualsconcernedorthepublicatlarge,it
wouldbecontrarytotheruleoflawforthele-
galdiscretiongrantedtotheexecutive"

 - or to a judge -
"to be expressed in terms of an unfettered
power. Consequently, the lawmust indicate
thescopeofanysuchdiscretionconferredon
thecompetentauthoritiesandthemannerof
itsexercisewithsufficientclarity...togivethe
individual adequate protection against arbi-

traryinterference."(SeriesAno.82,pp.32-33,
§§67-68)

30. The Government submitted that the Court 
must be careful not to rule on whether French 
legislation conformed to the Convention in the 
abstract and not to give a decision based on 
legislative policy. The Court was therefore not 
concerned, they said, with matters irrelevant to 
Mr and Mrs Huvig’s case, such as the fact that 
there was no requirement that an individual 
whose telephone had been monitored should 
be so informed after the event where proceed-
ings had not in the end been taken against 
him. Such matters were in reality connected 
with the condition of "necessity in a demo-
cratic society", fulfilment of which had to be 
reviewed in concrete terms, in the light of the 
particular circumstances of each case.

31. The Court is not persuaded by this argument. 
Since it must ascertain whether the interfer-
ence complained of was "in accordance with 
the law", it must inevitably assess the relevant 
French "law" in force at the time in relation to 
the requirements of the fundamental principle 
of the rule of law. Such a review necessarily en-
tails some degree of abstraction. It is none the 
less concerned with the "quality" of the nation-
al legal rules applicable to Mr and Mrs Huvig in 
the instant case.

32. Tapping and other forms of interception of 
telephone conversations represent a serious 
interference with private life and correspond-
ence and must accordingly be based on a "law" 
that is particularly precise. It is essential to have 
clear, detailed rules on the subject, especially 
as the technology available for use is continu-
ally becoming more sophisticated.

Before the Commission (supplementary obser-
vations of 17 October 1988, pages 4-7, sum-
marised in paragraph 31 of the report) and, 
in a slightly different form, before the Court, 
the Government listed seventeen safeguards 
which they said were provided for in French 
law (droit). These related either to the carrying 
out of telephone tapping or to the use made of 
the results or to the means of having any irreg-
ularities righted, and the Government claimed 
that the applicants had not been deprived of 
any of them.

33. The Court does not in any way minimise the 
value of several of the safeguards, in particu-
lar the need for a decision by an investigating 
judge, who is an independent judicial author-
ity; the latter’s supervision of senior police of-
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ficers and the possible supervision of the judge 
himself by the Indictment Division (chambre 
d’accusation) of the Court of Appeal, by trial 
courts and courts of appeal and, if need be, 
by the Court of Cassation; the exclusion of any 
"subterfuge" or "ruse" consisting not merely in 
the use of telephone tapping but in an actual 
trick, trap or provocation; and the duty to re-
spect the confidentiality of relations between 
suspect or accused and lawyer.

It has to be noted, however, that only some 
of these safeguards are expressly provided 
for in Articles 81, 151 and 152 of the Code of 
Criminal Procedure. Others have been laid 
down piecemeal in judgments given over the 
years, practically all of them after the intercep-
tion complained of by the applicants (April 
1974). Some have not yet been expressly laid 
down in the case-law at all, at least according 
to the information gathered by the Court; the 
Government appear to infer them either from 
general enactments or principles or else from 
an analogical interpretation of legislative provi-
sions - or court decisions - concerning investi-
gative measures different from telephone tap-
ping, notably searches and seizure of property. 
Although logical in itself, such "extrapolation" 
does not provide sufficient legal certainty in 
the present context.

34. Above all, the system does not for the time be-
ing afford adequate safeguards against various 
possible abuses. For example, the categories of 
people liable to have their telephones tapped 
by judicial order and the nature of the offences 
which may give rise to such an order are no-
where defined. Nothing obliges a judge to set 
a limit on the duration of telephone tapping. 
Similarly unspecified are the procedure for 
drawing up the summary reports containing 
intercepted conversations; the precautions to 
be taken in order to communicate the record-
ings intact and in their entirety for possible in-
spection by the judge (who can hardly verify 
the number and length of the original tapes 
on the spot) and by the defence; and the cir-
cumstances in which recordings may or must 
be erased or the tapes be destroyed, in particu-
lar where an accused has been discharged by 
an investigating judge or acquitted by a court. 
The information provided by the Government 
on these various points shows at best the ex-
istence of a practice, but a practice lacking the 
necessary regulatory control in the absence of 
legislation or case-law.

35. In short, French law, written and unwritten, 

does not indicate with reasonable clarity the 
scope and manner of exercise of the relevant 
discretion conferred on the public authorities. 
This was truer still at the material time, so that 
Mr and Mrs Huvig did not enjoy the minimum 
degree of protection to which citizens are 
entitled under the rule of law in a democratic 
society (see the Malone judgment previously 
cited, Series A no. 82, p. 36, § 79). Admittedly 
they suffered little or no harm from this, as the 
results of the impugned telephone tapping did 
not "serve as a basis for the prosecution" (see 
paragraphs 10-12 above), but the Court has 
consistently held that a violation is conceivable 
even in the absence of any detriment; the latter 
is relevant only to the application of Article 50 
(art. 50) (see, inter alia, the Johnston and Others 
judgment of 18 December 1986, Series A no. 
112, p. 21, § 42).

There has therefore been a breach of Article 8 
(art. 8) of the Convention.

B. Purpose and necessity of the interference
36. Having regard to the foregoing conclusion, the 

Court, like the Commission (see paragraph 67 
of the report), does not consider it necessary 
to review compliance with the other require-
ments of paragraph 2 of Article 8 (art. 8-2) in 
this case.

II. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 50 
(ART. 50)

37. By Article 50 (art. 50),
"IftheCourtfindsthatadecisionorameasure
takenbyalegalauthorityoranyotherauthor-
ityofaHighContractingPartyiscompletelyor
partiallyinconflictwiththeobligationsarising
fromthe...Convention,andiftheinternallaw
ofthesaidPartyallowsonlypartialreparation
tobemade for theconsequencesof thisde-
cision ormeasure, the decision of the Court
shall, if necessary, afford just satisfaction to
theinjuredparty."

In their written observations of February and 
September 1988 the applicants asked the 
Commission to "award them just compensa-
tion", but before the Court they did not seek ei-
ther compensation or reimbursement of costs 
and expenses.

38. As these are not matters which the Court has 
to examine of its own motion (see, as the most 
recent authority, the Kostovski judgment of 20 
November 1989, Series A no. 166, p. 18, § 46), 
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it finds that it is unnecessary to apply Article 50 
(art. 50) in this case.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that there has been a breach of Article 
8 (art. 8);

2. Holds that it is unnecessary to apply Article 50 
(art. 50).

Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 24 April 1990.

Rolv RySSDAL, President
Marc-André EISSEN, Registrar 
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PRIVATE LIFE, CORRESPONDENCE, TELEPHONE, TAP-
PING, SURVEILLANCE, INTERFERENCE, INTERCEPTION, 
CORRESPONDENCE

IN THE KRuSLIN CASE,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting, in ac-
cordance with Article 43 (art. 43) of the Convention 
for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamen-
tal Freedoms ("the Convention") and the relevant 
provisions of the Rules of Court, as a Chamber com-
posed of the following judges:
Mr R. Ryssdal, President, 
Mrs D. Bindschedler-Robert, 
Mr F. Gölcüklü, 
Mr F. Matscher, 
Mr L.-E. Pettiti, 
Mr B. Walsh, 
Sir Vincent Evans, 
and also of Mr M.-A. Eissen, Registrar, 
and Mr H. Petzold, Deputy Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 26 October 1989 
and 27 March 1990,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case was referred to the Court by the Eu-

ropean Commission of Human Rights ("the 
Commission") on 16 March 1989, within the 
three-month period laid down by Article 32 § 
1 and Article 47 (art. 32-1, art. 47) of the Con-
vention. It originated in an application (no. 
11801/85) against the French Republic lodged 
with the Commission under Article 25 (art. 25) 
by a national of that State, Mr Jean Kruslin, on 
16 October 1985.

The Commission’s request referred to Articles 
44 and 48 (art. 44, art. 48) and to the declara-
tion whereby France recognised the compul-
sory jurisdiction of the Court (Article 46) (art. 
46). The object of the request was to obtain a 
decision as to whether the facts of the case dis-
closed a breach by the respondent State of its 
obligations under Article 8 (art. 8).

2. In response to the enquiry made in accordance 

with Rule 33 § 3 (d) of the Rules of Court, the 
applicant stated that he wished to take part in 
the proceedings and designated the lawyer 
who would represent him (Rule 30).

3. On 30 March 1989 the President of the Court 
decided, under Rule 21 § 6 and in the interests 
of sound administration of justice, that a single 
Chamber should be constituted to consider 
both the instant case and the Huvig case*.

The Chamber thus constituted included ex of-
ficio Mr L.-E. Pettiti, the elected judge of French 
nationality (Article 43 of the Convention) (art. 
43), and Mr R. Ryssdal, the President of the 
Court (Rule 21 § 3 (b)). On the same day, 30 
March 1989, in the presence of the Registrar, 
the President drew by lot the names of the 
other five members, namely Mrs D. Bindsche-
dler-Robert, Mr F. Gölcüklü, Mr F. Matscher, Mr 
B. Walsh and Sir Vincent Evans (Article 43 in fine 
of the Convention and Rule 21 § 4) (art. 43).

4. Mr Ryssdal assumed the office of President of 
the Chamber (Rule 21 § 5) and, through the 
Registrar, consulted the Agent of the French 
Government ("the Government"), the Delegate 
of the Commission and the lawyer for the ap-
plicant on the need for a written procedure 
(Rule 37 § 1). In accordance with his orders 
and instructions, the Registrar received, on 10 
July 1989, Mr Kruslin’s claims under Article 50 
(art. 50) of the Convention and, on 17 August, 
the Government’s memorial. On 19 October 
the Secretariat of the Commission informed 
the Registrar that the Delegate would submit 
his observations at the hearing.

On 10 and 16 October 1989 the Commission 
supplied the Registrar with various documents 
he had asked for on the President’s instruc-
tions.

5. Having consulted, through the Registrar, those 
who would be appearing before the Court, the 
President had directed on 21 June 1989 that 
the oral proceedings should open on 24 Octo-
ber 1989 (Rule 38).

On 29 September he granted the applicant le-
gal aid (Rule 4 of the Addendum to the Rules 
of Court).

6. The hearing took place in public in the Human 
Rights Building, Strasbourg, on the appointed 
day. The Court had held a preparatory meeting 
immediately beforehand.

There appeared before the Court:
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(a) for the Government

Mr J.-P. Puissochet, Head of the Depart-
ment of Legal Affairs, Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs, Agent,

Mrs I. Chaussade, magistrat, on second-
ment to the Department of Legal Affairs, 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs,

Miss M. Picard, magistrat, on secondment 
to the Department of Legal Affairs, Ministry 
of Foreign Affairs,

Mr M. Dobkine, magistrat, Department of 
Criminal Affairs and Pardons, Ministry of 
Justice,

Mr f. Le Gunehec, magistrat, Department 
of Criminal Affairs and Pardons, Ministry of 
Justice, Counsel;

(b) for the Commission

Mr S. Trechsel, Delegate;

(c) for the applicant

Ms C. Waquet, avocat at the Conseil d’état 
and the Court of Cassation, Counsel.

The Court heard addresses by Mr Puissochet 
for the Government, by Mr Trechsel for the 
Commission and by Ms Waquet for the appli-
cant, as well as their answers to its questions.

7. On various dates between 24 October and 7 
December 1989 the Government and Mr Krus-
lin’s representative produced several docu-
ments, either of their own accord or because 
the Court had requested them at the hearing. 
To one of them Ms Waquet had attached a 
short memorandum of observations, and the 
President consented to this being filed; she 
also supplemented her client’s claims for just 
satisfaction with pleadings which reached the 
registry on 24 November.

As to tHE FACts

I. CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE CASE

8. Mr Jean Kruslin, who is unemployed and has no 
fixed abode, is currently in custody at Fresnes 
(Val-de-Marne).

9. On 8 and 14 June 1982 an investigating judge 
at Saint-Gaudens (Haute-Garonne), who was 
inquiring into the murder of a banker, Mr Jean 
Baron, at Montréjeau on the night of 7-8 June 

("the Baron case"), issued two warrants to the 
commanding officer of the investigation sec-
tion of the Toulouse gendarmerie. In the sec-
ond of these the officer was instructed to tap 
the telephone of a suspect, Mr Dominique Ter-
rieux, who lived in Toulouse.

From 15 to 17 June the gendarmes intercepted 
seventeen telephone calls in all. The applicant, 
who was staying with Mr Terrieux at the time 
and occasionally used his telephone, had been 
a party to several of the telephone conversa-
tions and more especially to one between 9 
p.m. and 11 p.m. on 17 June with someone 
calling him from a public telephone-box in 
Perpignan (Pyrénées-Orientales).

During their short conversation the two men 
had spoken in veiled terms about a different 
case from the Baron case, concerning in par-
ticular the murder on 29 May 1982 of Mr Henri 
Père, an employee of the Gerbe d’Or jewel-
lers in Toulouse ("the Gerbe d’Or case"). The 
gendarmes reported this the next day to col-
leagues from the criminal-investigation branch 
of the police. On 11 June 1982 an investigat-
ing judge in Toulouse had issued a warrant to 
these officers to investigate that case, and they 
now immediately listened to the recording of 
the telephone conversation in question, had it 
transcribed and appended the text to a report 
drawn up at midnight on 18 June; the original 
tape remained, sealed, with the gendarmerie.

10. At dawn on 18 June the gendarmes arrested 
Mr Kruslin at Mr Terrieux’s home and held him 
in custody in connection with the Baron case.

Early that afternoon he was questioned about 
the Gerbe d’Or case by the police (who had 
already questioned him on 15 June and then 
released him after about four hours) and - the 
next day, it seems - he was charged together 
with Mr Terrieux and one Patrick Antoine with 
murder, aggravated theft and attempted ag-
gravated theft. On 25 October 1982 the Tou-
louse investigating judge held a confronta-
tion of the three men, during which after the 
seals had been broken in their presence - the 
aforementioned taperecording was heard in 
its entirety, including the conversation on the 
evening of 17 June.

Mr Kruslin adopted the same attitude as when 
questioned by the police on 18 June: he pro-
tested his innocence and denied - in respect of 
this conversation but not of the others - that 
the voice was his. Mr Terrieux now said that he 
did not recognise the voice, whereas he had 
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identified it earlier.

The tape was resealed, again in the presence 
of the persons charged. The applicant refused 
to sign either the report or the form recording 
the sealing.

He subsequently applied for an examination by 
experts, and the investigating judge granted 
the application in an order of 10 February 1983. 
In their report of 8 June 1983, however, the 
three experts who were appointed felt able to 
state "with 80% certainty" that the voice they 
had analysed was indeed Mr Kruslin’s.

11. Before the Indictment Division (chambre 
d’accusation) of the Toulouse Court of Appeal, 
to which the case was sent after the judicial 
investigation was completed, the applicant 
requested that the recording of the disputed 
conversation should be ruled inadmissible in 
evidence because it had been made in con-
nection with proceedings which, he claimed, 
did not concern him - the Baron case. On 16 
April 1985 the Indictment Division dismissed 
this plea in the following terms:
"...while this telephonetappingwasordered
bytheinvestigatingjudgeattheSaint-Gaud-
enstribunaldegrandeinstanceinconnection
withotherproceedings,thefactremainsthat
judgesarenotprohibitedbyeitherArticle11
[which lays down the principle that judicial
investigationsshallbeconfidential]orArticles
R.155andR.156of theCodeofCriminalPro-
cedure from deciding to include in criminal
proceedings evidence from other proceed-
ings whichmay assist them and help to es-
tablishthetruth,onthesolecondition-which
was satisfied in the instant case - that such
evidence is added under an adversarial pro-
cedureandthatithasbeensubmittedtothe
partiesforthemtocommenton..."

In so doing, the Indictment Division, it appears, 
took as its inspiration - and extended by analo-
gy to the field of telephone tapping the settled 
case-law of the Criminal Division of the Court 
of Cassation, developed in respect of other 
investigative measures (see, for example, 11 
March 1964, Bulletin (Bull.) no. 86; 13 January 
1970, Bull. no. 21; 19 December 1973, Bull. no. 
480; 26 May and 30 November 1976, Bull. nos. 
186 and 345; 16 March and 2 October 1981, 
Bull. nos. 91 and 256).

In the same decision the Indictment Division 
committed Mr Kruslin - with four others, in-
cluding Mr Terrieux and Mr Antoine - for trial 
at the Haute-Garonne Assize Court on charges, 

in his case, of aiding and abetting a murder, 
aggravated theft and attempted aggravated 
theft.

12. The applicant appealed to the Court of Cassa-
tion on points of law. In the second of his five 
grounds of appeal he relied on Article 8 (art. 8) 
of the Convention. He criticised the Indictment 
Division of the Toulouse Court of Appeal for 
having
"refused to rule that the evidence from tel-
ephonetappinginconnectionwithotherpro-
ceedingswasinadmissible;

whereas interference by the public authori-
ties with a person’s private and family life,
home and correspondence is not necessary
inademocratic society for thepreventionof
crimeunlessitisinaccordancewithalawthat
satisfies the following two requirements: it
mustbeofaqualitysuchthatitissufficiently
clearinitstermstogivecitizensanadequate
indicationofthecircumstances inwhichand
theconditionsonwhichpublicauthoritiesare
empoweredtoresorttothissecretandpoten-
tiallydangerousinterferencewiththerightto
respect for private life and correspondence,
and itmustdefine the scopeandmannerof
exercise of such a power clearly enough to
givetheindividualadequateprotectionfrom
arbitraryinterference;theserequirementsare
not satisfied by any provision of French law,
andparticularlynotbyArticle81oftheCode
ofCriminalProcedure".

In his supplementary pleadings of 11 June 
1985 (pp. 5-8) counsel for Mr Kruslin relied on 
the case-law of the European Court of Human 
Rights, both in regard to telephone tapping 
(Klass and Others judgment of 6 September 
1978 and Malone judgment of 2 August 1984, 
Series A nos. 28 and 82) and in other respects 
(Golder judgment of 21 February 1975, Sunday 
Times judgment of 26 April 1979 and Silver and 
Others judgment of 25 March 1983, Series A 
nos. 18, 30 and 61).

The Criminal Division of the Court of Cassation 
dismissed the appeal in a judgment of 23 July 
1985. As regards the point in question it gave 
the following reasons for its decision:
"...

An examination of the evidence shows that
thetranscriptofataperecordingofconversa-
tionsincallsmadeonTerrieux’stelephoneline
wasincludedinthefileofthemurderinvesti-
gationthenbeingconductedbytheToulouse
investigating judge following the death of
HenriPèreatthehandsofapersonorpersons
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unknown;thisrecordinghadbeenmadepur-
suanttoawarrantissuedbytheinvestigating
judge at Saint-Gaudens in connection with
the investigationofanothermurder, likewise
committedbyapersonorpersonsunknown;
it was because of its relevance to the inves-
tigation into Père’s death that the transcrip-
tionwasmadebyseniorpoliceofficersacting
under a warrant issued by the investigating
judgeinToulouse;

Thetenorof theconversations recordedwas
made known to the various persons con-
cerned, notably Kruslin, who was asked to
account for them both during the inquiries
made pursuant to the investigating judge’s
warrant and after he was charged; further-
more, an examination of the tape recording
byanexpert,whosereportwassubsequently
addedtotheevidence,wasmadepursuantto
alawfuldecisionbytheinvestigatingjudge;

Thatbeingso,theIndictmentDivisiondidnot
lay itself open to the objection raised in the
groundofappealbyrefusingtorulethatthe
evidence fromtelephonetapping inconnec-
tionwithotherproceedingswasinadmissible;

In the first place, there is no statutory pro-
vision prohibiting the inclusion in criminal
proceedingsofevidencefromotherproceed-
ingswhichmayassistthejudgesandhelpto
establish the truth; the sole condition is that
suchevidenceshouldbeaddedunderanad-
versarialprocedure-whichwassointhiscase,
in which the documents were submitted to
thepartiesforthemtocommenton;

Inthesecondplace,itisclearfromArticles81
and 151 of the Code of Criminal Procedure
and from the general principles of criminal
procedure that, among other things, firstly,
telephonetappingmaybeorderedbyan in-
vestigatingjudge,bymeansofawarrant,only
where there is a presumption that a specific
offencehasbeencommittedwhichhasgiven
rise to the investigationwhichthe judgehas
beenassigned toundertake,and that it can-
notbedirected,on theoff chance,againsta
whole category of offences; and, secondly,
thattheinterceptionorderedmustbecarried
outunderthesupervisionoftheinvestigating
judge,without any subterfugeor rusebeing
employedandinsuchawaythattheexercise
of the rightsof thedefence cannotbe jeop-
ardised;

These provisions governing the use of tel-
ephone tapping by an investigating judge,
whichhavenotbeenshowntohavebeenin-
fringedintheinstantcase,satisfytherequire-
mentsofArticle8(art.8)oftheEuropeanCon-
vention for the Protection of Human Rights

andFundamentalFreedoms;

..."(Bull.no.275,pp.713-715)

13. It appears from the file that the recording of the 
telephone conversation of 17 June 1982 was 
a decisive piece of evidence in the proceed-
ings against the applicant. These proceedings 
ended, on 28 November 1986, with a judg-
ment of the Haute-Garonne Assize Court. Mr 
Kruslin was acquitted of murder but sentenced 
to fifteen years’ imprisonment for armed rob-
bery and attempted armed robbery; an appeal 
by him to the Court of Cassation was dismissed 
on 28 October 1987. He seems always to have 
protested his innocence.

14. In the Baron case the Indictment Division of the 
Toulouse Court of Appeal likewise committed 
the applicant, on 2 June 1987, for trial at the 
Haute-Garonne Assizes, together with Mr An-
toine and one Charles Croce. At that trial too 
he alleged that the telephone tapping carried 
out from 15 to 17 June 1982 was inadmissible; 
on 4 November 1987 the Criminal Division of 
the Court of Cassation dismissed this plea on 
grounds identical, mutatis mutandis, to those 
in its judgment of 23 July 1985 previously cited 
(see paragraph 12 above - Recueil Dalloz Sirey 
(DS) 1988, sommaires, p. 195). On 2 December 
1988 the Assize Court sentenced the applicant 
to life imprisonment for premeditated murder; 
he lodged an appeal on points of law, but this 
was dismissed by the Criminal Division of the 
Court of Cassation on 6 November 1989.

The complaints he made to the Commission, 
however, related solely to the telephone tap-
ping whose results were used in the Gerbe d’Or 
case.

II. THE RELEVANT LEGISLATION AND 
CASE-LAW

15. French criminal law adopts the principle that 
any kind of evidence is admissible: "unless 
otherwise provided by statute, any type of 
evidence shall be admissible to substantiate a 
criminal charge ..." (Article 427 of the Code of 
Criminal Procedure).

There is no statutory provision which expressly 
empowers investigating judges to carry out or 
order telephone tapping, or indeed to carry 
out or order various measures which are none-
theless in common use, such as the taking of 
photographs or fingerprints, shadowing, sur-
veillance, requisitions, confrontations of wit-
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nesses and reconstructions of crimes. On the 
other hand, the Code of Criminal Procedure 
does expressly confer power on them to take 
several other measures, which it regulates in 
detail, such as pre-trial detention, seizure of 
property and searches.

16. Under the old Code of Criminal Procedure the 
Court of Cassation had condemned the use 
of telephone tapping by investigating judges, 
at least in circumstances which it regarded as 
disclosing, on the part of a judge or the police, 
a lack of "fairness" incompatible with the rules 
of criminal procedure and the safeguards es-
sential to the rights of the defence (combined 
divisions, 31 January 1888, ministère public c. 
Vigneau, Dalloz 1888, jurisprudence, pp. 73-74; 
Criminal Division, 12 June 1952, Imbert, Bull. no. 
153, pp. 258-260; Civil Division, second section, 
18 March 1955, époux Jolivot c. époux Lubrano 
et autres, DS 1955, jurisprudence, pp. 573-574, 
and Gazette du Palais (GP) 1955, jurisprudence, 
p. 249). Some trial courts and courts of appeal 
which had to deal with the issue, on the other 
hand, showed some willingness to hold that 
such telephone tapping was lawful if there had 
been neither "entrapment" nor "provocation"; 
this view was based on Article 90 of the former 
Code (Seine Criminal Court, Tenth Division, 13 
February 1957, ministère public contre X, GP 
1957, jurisprudence, pp. 309-310).

17. Since the 1958 Code of Criminal Procedure 
came into force, the courts have had regard in 
this respect to, among others, Articles 81, 151 
and 152, which provide:

Article 81

(first, fourth and fifth paragraphs)

"The investigating judge shall, in accordance
with the law, takeall the investigativemeas-
ureswhich he deems useful for establishing
thetruth.

...

Iftheinvestigatingjudgeisunabletotakeall
theinvestigativemeasureshimself,hemayis-
suewarrantstoseniorpoliceofficers(officiers
depolicejudiciaire)inordertohavethemcar-
ryoutallthenecessaryinvestigativemeasures
ontheconditionsandsubjecttothereserva-
tionsprovidedforinArticles151and152.

Theinvestigatingjudgemustverifytheinfor-
mationthusgathered.

..."

Article 151

(as worded at the material time)

"An investigating judgemay issue awarrant
requiringany judgeofhiscourt,anydistrict-
courtjudgewithintheterritorialjurisdictionof
thatcourt,anyseniorpoliceofficer(officierde
policejudiciaire)withauthorityinthatjurisdic-
tionor any investigating judge toundertake
anyinvestigativemeasuresheconsidersnec-
essaryinplacescomingundertheirrespective
jurisdictions.

Thewarrantshallindicatethenatureoftheof-
fencetowhichtheproceedingsrelate.Itshall
bedatedandsignedbytheissuingjudgeand
shallbearhisseal.

It may only order investigativemeasures di-
rectlyconnectedwiththeprosecutionof the
offencetowhichtheproceedingsrelate.

..."

Article 152

"Thejudgesorseniorpoliceofficersinstructed
to act shall exercise, within the limits of the
warrant, all the powers of the investigating
judge.

..."

18. An Act of 17 July 1970 added to the Civil Code 
an Article 9 guaranteeing to everyone "the 
right to respect for his private life". It also added 
to the Criminal Code an Article 368, whereby:
"Anyonewhowilfully intrudesontheprivacy
ofothers:

1.Bylisteningto,recordingortransmittingby
meansofanydevice,wordsspokenbyaper-
son in a private place,without that person’s
consent;

2....

shall be liable to imprisonment for not less
thantwomonthsandnotmorethanoneyear
andafine...ortoonlyoneofthesetwopenal-
ties."

During the preparatory work, one of the vice-
chairmen of the National Assembly’s Statutes 
Committee, Mr Zimmermann, sought "certain 
assurances" that this enactment "[would] not 
prevent the investigating judge from issuing 
strictly within the provisions of the law war-
rants to have telephones tapped, obviously 
without making use of any form of induce-
ment and in compliance with all the legal 
procedures" (Journal officiel, National Assem-
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bly, 1970 proceedings, p. 2074). The Minister 
of Justice, Mr René Pleven, replied: "... there is 
no question of interfering with the powers of 
investigating judges, who are indeed empow-
ered, in the circumstances laid down by law, to 
order tapping"; he added a little later: "When 
an official taps a telephone, he can only do so 
lawfully if he has a warrant from a judicial au-
thority or is acting on the instructions of a min-
ister" (ibid., p. 2075). Both Houses of Parliament 
thereupon passed the Bill without amending it 
on this point.

19. Article 41 of the Post and Telecommunications 
Code provides that any public servant or any-
one authorised to assist with the performance 
of relevant official duties who breaches the 
secrecy of correspondence entrusted to the 
telecommunications service shall be liable to 
the penalties provided for in Article 187 of the 
Criminal Code - a fine, imprisonment and tem-
porary disqualification from any public office 
or employment. Article 42 provides that any-
one who, without permission from the sender 
or the addressee, divulges, publishes or uses 
the content of correspondence transmitted 
over the air or by telephone shall be liable to 
the penalties provided for in Article 378 of the 
Criminal Code (on professional confidentiality) 
- a fine or imprisonment.

General Instruction no. 500-78 on the tel-
ephone service - intended for Post and Tel-
ecommunications Authority officials - contains 
the following provisions, however, given here 
in the amended version of 1964 (Article 24 of 
Part III):
"Postmasters and sub-postmasters are re-
quiredtocomplywithanyrequeststhat...calls
to or from a specified telephone should be
monitoredbytherelevantauthority,madeby:

1.An investigating judge(Articles81,92and
94oftheCodeofCriminalProcedure)orany
judgeorseniorpoliceofficer(officierdepolice
judiciaire)towhomajudicialwarranthasbeen
issued(Art.152);

..."

The General Instruction was published in the 
official bulletin of the Ministry of Post and Tel-
ecommunications and was described by the 
Government as an "implementing regulation".

20. The striking development of various forms 
of serious crime - large-scale thefts and rob-
beries, terrorism, drug-trafficking - appears in 
France to have led to a marked increase in the 

frequency with which investigating judges re-
sort to telephone tapping. The courts have as a 
result given many more decisions on the sub-
ject than formerly; telephone tapping has not 
been held to be unlawful in itself, although the 
courts have occasionally shown some distaste 
for it (Paris Court of Appeal, Ninth Criminal Divi-
sion, 28 March 1960, Cany et Rozenbaum, GP 
1960, jurisprudence, pp. 253-254).

The decisions cited to the Court by the Govern-
ment, the Commission and the applicant, or of 
which the Court has had cognisance by its own 
means, are mostly of later date than the facts of 
the instant case (June 1982) and have gradu-
ally provided a number of clarifications. These 
do not all stem from judgments of the Court of 
Cassation, and do not for the time being con-
stitute a uniform body of case-law, because the 
decisions or reasons given in some of the cases 
have remained unique. They may be summa-
rised as follows.

(a) Articles 81 and 151 of the Code of Crimi-
nal Procedure (see paragraph 17 above) 
empower investigating judges - and them 
alone, as far as judicial investigations are 
concerned - to carry out telephone tap-
ping or, much more commonly in practice, 
to issue a warrant to that effect to a senior 
police officer (officier de police judiciaire) 
within the meaning of Article 16 (see, in 
particular, Court of Cassation, Criminal Di-
vision, 9 October 1980, Tournet, Bull. no. 
255, pp. 662-664; 24 April 1984, Peureux, 
Huvig et autre, DS 1986, jurisprudence, pp. 
125-128; 23 July 1985 - see paragraph 12 
above; 4 November 1987 - see paragraph 
14 above; 15 February 1988, Schroeder, and 
15 March 1988, Arfi, Bull. no. 128, pp. 327-
335). Telephone tapping is an "investigative 
measure" which may sometimes be "useful 
for establishing the truth". It is comparable 
to the seizure of letters or telegrams (see, 
among other authorities, Poitiers Court of 
Appeal, Criminal Division, 7 January 1960, 
Manchet, Juris-Classeur périodique (JCP) 
1960, jurisprudence, no. 11599, and Paris 
Court of Appeal, Indictment Division, 27 
June 1984, F. et autre, DS 1985, jurispru-
dence, pp. 93-96) and it similarly does not 
offend the provisions of Article 368 of the 
Criminal Code, having regard to the legis-
lative history and to the principle that any 
kind of evidence is admissible (see para-
graphs 15 and 18 above and Strasbourg 
tribunal de grande instance, 15 February 
1983, S. et autres, unreported; Colmar Court 
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of Appeal, 9 March 1984, Chalvignac et 
autre, unreported but cited by the Govern-
ment at the Commission hearing on 6 May 
1988; Paris Court of Appeal, Indictment Di-
vision, judgment of 27 June 1984 previously 
cited and judgment of 31 October 1984, Li 
Siu Lung et autres, GP 1985, sommaires, pp. 
94-95).

(b) The investigating judge can only issue such 
a warrant "where there is a presumption 
that a specific offence has been committed 
which has given rise to the investigation" 
which he is responsible for conducting and 
not in respect of a whole category of of-
fences "on the off chance"; this is clear not 
only from Articles 81 and 151 (second and 
third paragraphs) of the Code of Criminal 
Procedure but also "from the general prin-
ciples of criminal procedure" (see, among 
other authorities, Court of Cassation, Crimi-
nal Division, judgments of 23 July 1985, 4 
November 1987 and 15 March 1988 previ-
ously cited).

The French courts do not seem ever to have 
held that telephone tapping is lawful only 
where the offences being investigated are 
of some seriousness or if the investigating 
judge has specified a maximum duration 
for it.

(c) "Within the limits of the warrant" that has 
been issued to him - if need be by fax (Li-
moges Court of Appeal, Criminal Division, 
18 November 1988, Lecesne et autres, DS 
1989, sommaires, p. 394) - the senior police 
officer exercises "all the powers of the in-
vestigating judge" (Article 152 of the Code 
of Criminal Procedure). He exercises these 
under the supervision of the investigating 
judge, who by the fifth paragraph of Arti-
cle 81 is bound to "verify the information 
... gathered" (see, among other authorities, 
Court of Cassation, Criminal Division, judg-
ments of 9 October 1980, 24 April 1984, 23 
July 1985, 4 November 1987 and 15 March 
1988 previously cited).

The warrant apparently sometimes takes 
the form of a general delegation of pow-
ers, including - without its being expressly 
mentioned - the power to tap telephones 
(Court of Cassation, Civil Division, second 
section, judgment of 18 March 1955 previ-
ously cited, and Paris Court of Appeal, judg-
ment of 28 March 1960 previously cited).

(d) In no case may a police officer tap tel-

ephones on his own initiative without a 
warrant, for example during the preliminary 
investigation preceding the opening of the 
judicial investigation (see, among other 
authorities, Court of Cassation, Criminal Di-
vision, 13 June 1989, Derrien, and 19 June 
1989, Grayo, Bull. no. 254, pp. 635-637, and 
no. 261, pp. 648-651; full court, 24 Novem-
ber 1989, Derrien, DS 1990, p. 34, and JCP 
1990, jurisprudence, no. 21418, with the 
submissions of Mr Advocate-General Emile 
Robert).

(e) Telephone tapping must not be accom-
panied by "any subterfuge or ruse" (see, 
among other authorities, Court of Cassa-
tion, Criminal Division, judgment of 9 Oc-
tober 1980, 24 April 1984, 23 July 1985, 4 
November 1987, 15 February 1988 and 15 
March 1988 previously cited) failing which 
the information gathered by means of it 
must be either deleted or removed from 
the case file (Court of Cassation, Criminal 
Division, judgments of 13 and 19 June 1989 
previously cited).

(f) The telephone tapping must also be carried 
out "in such a way that the exercise of the 
rights of the defence cannot be jeopard-
ised" (see, among other authorities, Court 
of Cassation, Criminal Division, judgments 
of 9 October 1980, 24 April 1984, 23 July 
1985, 4 November 1987, 15 February 1988, 
15 March 1988 and 19 June 1989 previously 
cited). In particular, the confidentiality of 
the relations between suspect or person 
accused and lawyer must be respected, as 
must, more generally, a lawyer’s duty of 
professional confidentiality, at least when 
he is not acting in any other capacity (Aix-
en-Provence Court of Appeal, Indictment 
Division, 16 June 1982 and 2 February 1983, 
Sadji Hamou et autres, GP 1982, jurispru-
dence, pp. 645-649, and GP 1983, jurispru-
dence, pp. 313-315; Paris Court of Appeal, 
Indictment Division, judgment of 27 June 
1984 previously cited).

(g) With this reservation, it is permissible to tap 
telephone calls to or from a charged per-
son (Court of Cassation, Criminal Division, 
judgments of 9 October 1980 and 24 April 
1984 previously cited) or a mere suspect, 
such as Mr Terrieux in the instant case (see 
paragraph 9 above and also the previously 
cited judgments of the Strasbourg tribunal 
de grande instance, 15 February 1983, the 
Colmar Court of Appeal, 9 March 1984, and 
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the Indictment Division of the Paris Court of 
Appeal, 27 June 1984) or even a third party, 
such as a witness, whom there is reason to 
believe to be in possession of information 
about the perpetrators or circumstances of 
the offence (see, among other authorities, 
Aix-en-Provence Court of Appeal, judg-
ment of 16 June 1982 previously cited).

(h) A public telephone-box may be tapped 
(Seine Criminal Court, Tenth Division, 30 
October 1964, Trésor public et Société de 
courses c. L. et autres, DS 1965, jurispru-
dence, pp. 423-424) just like a private line, 
irrespective of whether current is diverted 
to a listening station (Court of Cassation, 
Criminal Division, 13 June 1989, and full 
court, 24 November 1989, previously cited).

(i) The senior police officer supervises the tape 
or cassette recording of the conversations 
and their transcription, where he does not 
carry out these operations himself; when it 
comes to choosing extracts to submit "for 
examination by the court", it is for him to 
determine "what words may render the 
speaker liable to criminal proceedings". He 
performs these duties "on his own respon-
sibility and under the supervision of the in-
vestigating judge" (Strasbourg tribunal de 
grande instance, judgment of 15 February 
1983 previously cited, upheld by the Col-
mar Court of Appeal on 9 March 1984; Paris 
Court of Appeal, judgment of 27 June 1984 
previously cited).

(j) The original tapes - which in the instant 
case were sealed (see paragraphs 8-9 
above) - are "exhibits", not "investigation 
documents", but have only the weight of 
circumstantial evidence; their contents are 
transcribed in reports in order to give them 
a physical form so that they can be inspect-
ed (Court of Cassation, Criminal Division, 28 
April 1987, Allieis, Bull. no. 173, pp. 462-467).

(k) If transcription raises a problem of transla-
tion into French, Articles 156 et seq. of the 
Code of Criminal Procedure, which deal 
with expert opinions, do not apply to the 
appointment and work of the translator 
(Court of Cassation, Criminal Division, 6 
September 1988, Fekari, Bull. no. 317, pp. 
861-862 (extracts), and 18 December 1989, 
M. et autres, not yet reported).

(l) There is no statutory provision prohibiting 
the inclusion in the file on a criminal case of 
evidence from other proceedings, such as 

tapes and reports containing transcriptions, 
if they may "assist the judges and help to 
establish the truth", provided that such evi-
dence is added under an adversarial proce-
dure (Toulouse Court of Appeal, Indictment 
Division, 16 April 1985 - see paragraph 11 
above; Court of Cassation, Criminal Division, 
23 July 1985 - see paragraph 12 above - and 
6 September 1988 previously cited).

(m) The defence must be able to inspect the re-
ports containing transcriptions, to hear the 
original tape recordings, to challenge their 
authenticity during the judicial investiga-
tion and subsequent trial and to apply for 
any necessary investigative measures - such 
as an expert opinion, as in the instant case 
(see paragraph 10 in fine) - relating to their 
contents and the circumstances in which 
they were made (see, among other authori-
ties, Court of Cassation, Criminal Division, 
23 July 1985 - see paragraph 12 above; 16 
July 1986, Illouz, unreported; and 28 April 
1987, Allieis, previously cited).

(n) Just as the investigating judge supervises 
the senior police officer, he is himself super-
vised by the Indictment Division, to which 
he - exactly like the public prosecutor - may 
apply under Article 171 of the Code of Crim-
inal Procedure.

Trial courts, courts of appeal and the Court 
of Cassation may have to deal with objec-
tions or grounds of appeal as the case may 
be - particularly by defendants but also, 
on occasion, by the prosecution (Court of 
Cassation, judgments of 19 June and 24 
November 1989 previously cited) - based 
on a failure to comply with the require-
ments summarised above or with other 
rules which the parties concerned claim are 
applicable. A failure of this kind, however, 
would not automatically nullify the pro-
ceedings such that a court of appeal could 
be held to have erred if it had not dealt with 
them of its own motion; they affect only 
defence rights (Court of Cassation, Criminal 
Division, 11 December 1989, Takrouni, not 
yet reported).

21. Since at least 1981, parties have increasingly of-
ten relied on Article 8 (art. 8) of the Convention 
- and, much less frequently, on Article 6 (art. 6) 
(Court of Cassation, Criminal Division, 23 April 
1981, Pellegrin et autres, Bull. no. 117, pp. 328-
335, and 21 November 1988, S. et autres) - in 
support of their complaints about telephone 
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tapping; they have sometimes as in the instant 
case (see paragraph 12 above) - cited the case-
law of the European Court of Human Rights.

Hitherto only telephone tapping carried out 
without a warrant, during the police investi-
gation (see, among other authorities, Court 
of Cassation, judgments of 13 June and 24 
November 1989 previously cited), or in un-
explained circumstances (see, among other 
authorities, Court of Cassation, judgment of 
19 June 1989 previously cited) or in violation 
of defence rights (Paris Court of Appeal, Indict-
ment Division, judgment of 31 October 1984, 
previously cited) has been held by the French 
courts to be contrary to Article 8 § 2 (art. 8-2) 
("in accordance with the law") or to domestic 
law in the strict sense. In all other cases the 
courts have either found no violation (Court 
of Cassation, Criminal Division, judgments of 
24 April 1984, 23 July 1985, 16 July 1986, 28 
April 1987, 4 November 1987, 15 February 
1988, 15 March 1988, 6 September 1988 and 
18 December 1989 previously cited, and 16 
November 1988, S. et autre, unreported, and 
the judgments of 15 February 1983 (Stras-
bourg), 9 March 1984 (Colmar) and 27 June 
1984 (Paris) previously cited) or else ruled the 
plea inadmissible for various reasons (Court of 
Cassation, Criminal Division, judgments of 23 
April 1981, 21 November 1988 and 11 Decem-
ber 1989 previously cited and the unreported 
judgments of 24 May 1983, S. et autres; 23 May 
1985, Y. H. W.; 17 February 1986, H.; 4 Novem-
ber 1986, J.; and 5 February 1990, B. et autres).

22. While academic opinion is divided as to the 
compatibility of telephone tapping as carried 
out in France - on the orders of investigating 
judges or others - with the national and in-
ternational legal rules in force in the country, 
there seems to be unanimous agreement that 
it is desirable and even necessary for Parlia-
ment to try to solve the problem by following 
the example set by many foreign States (see in 
particular Gaëtan di Marino, comments on the 
Tournet judgment of 9 October 1980 (Court of 
Cassation), JCP 1981, jurisprudence, no. 19578; 
Albert Chavanne, ‘Les résultats de l’audio-sur-
veillance comme preuve pénale’, Revue inter-
nationale de droit comparé, 1986, pp. 752-753 
and 755; Gérard Cohen-Jonathan, ‘Les écoutes 
téléphoniques’, Studies in honour of Gérard 
J. Wiarda, 1988, p. 104; Jean Pradel, ‘écoutes 
téléphoniques et Convention européenne des 
Droits de l’Homme’, DS 1990, chronique, pp. 
17-20). In July 1981 the Government set up a 
study group chaired by Mr Robert Schmelck, 

who was then President of the Court of Cas-
sation, and consisting of senators and MPs of 
various political persuasions, judges, university 
professors, senior civil servants, judges and a 
barrister. The group submitted a report on 25 
June 1982, but this has remained confidential 
and has not yet led to a bill being tabled.

PRoCEEDInGs BEFoRE 
tHE CoMMIssIon
23. Before the Commission, to which he applied 

on 16 October 1985 (application no. 11801/85), 
Mr Kruslin put forward a single ground of com-
plaint: he argued that the interception and 
recording of his telephone conversation on 17 
June 1982 had infringed Article 8 (art. 8) of the 
Convention.

The Commission declared the application ad-
missible on 6 May 1988. In its report of 14 De-
cember 1988 (made under Article 31) (art. 31) 
it expressed the opinion by ten votes to two 
that there had indeed been a breach of that 
Article (art. 8). The full text of the Commission’s 
opinion and of the separate opinion contained 
in the report is reproduced as an annex to this 
judgment*.

FInAL sUBMIssIons to 
tHE CoURt
24. At the hearing the Court was requested:

(a) by the Agent of the Government to "hold 
that there ha[d] been no breach of Article 
8 (art. 8) of the Convention in the instant 
case";

(b) by the Delegate of the Commission to "con-
clude that in the instant case there ha[d] 
been a breach of Article 8 (art. 8)"; and

(c) by counsel for the applicant to "find the 
French Government in breach in this case".

As to tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 (ART. 8)

25. Mr Kruslin claimed that in the instant case there 
had been a breach of Article 8 (art. 8), which 



455CASEOFKRUSLINVFRANCE

EC
J

EC
HR

provides:

"1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers."

The Government disputed that submission, 
while the Commission agreed with it in sub-
stance.

26. Although it was Mr Terrieux’s line that they 
were tapping, the police in consequence 
intercepted and recorded several of the ap-
plicant’s conversations, and one of these led 
to proceedings being taken against him (see 
paragraphs 9-10 above). The telephone tap-
ping therefore amounted to an "interference 
by a public authority" with the exercise of the 
applicant’s right to respect for his "correspond-
ence" and his "private life" (see the Klass and 
Others judgment of 8 September 1978, Series 
A no. 28, p. 21, § 41, and the Malone judgment 
of 2 August 1984, Series A no. 82, p. 30, § 64). 
The Government did not dispute this.

Such an interference contravenes Article 8 
(art. 8) unless it is "in accordance with the law", 
pursues one or more of the legitimate aims re-
ferred to in paragraph 2 (art. 8-2) and further-
more is "necessary in a democratic society" in 
order to achieve them.

A. In accordance with the law"
27. The expression "in accordance with the law", 

within the meaning of Article 8 § 2 (art. 8-2), 
requires firstly that the impugned measure 
should have some basis in domestic law; it also 
refers to the quality of the law in question, re-
quiring that it should be accessible to the per-
son concerned, who must moreover be able to 
foresee its consequences for him, and compat-
ible with the rule of law.

1.WhethertherewasalegalbasisinFrench
law

28. It was a matter of dispute before the Commis-
sion and the Court whether the first condition 
was satisfied in the instant case.

The applicant said it was not. Article 368 of 
the Criminal Code, he claimed, prohibited tel-
ephone tapping in principle (see paragraph 
18 above). It took precedence over Article 81 
of the Code of Criminal Procedure, which did 
not expressly authorise telephone tapping and 
required the investigating judge to behave "in 
accordance with the law" - and therefore in 
accordance, inter alia, with Article 368 of the 
Criminal Code - when ordering any steps "use-
ful for establishing the truth" (see paragraph 
17 above). Articles 151 and 152 (ibid.) made no 
difference, he added, as investigating judges 
could not delegate to senior police officers 
powers which they did not have themselves. 
The Delegate of the Commission agreed as to 
the latter point.

In the Government’s submission, there was no 
contradiction between Article 368 of the Crimi-
nal Code and Article 81 of the Code of Criminal 
Procedure, at least not if regard was had to the 
drafting history of the former (see paragraph 
18 above). The Code of Criminal Procedure, 
they argued, did not give an exhaustive list of 
the investigative means available to the inves-
tigating judge - measures as common as the 
taking of photographs or fingerprints, shadow-
ing, surveillance, requisitions, confrontations 
between witnesses, and reconstructions of 
crimes, for example, were not mentioned in 
it either (see paragraph 15 above). The provi-
sions added to Article 81 by Articles 151 and 
152 were supplemented in national case-law 
(see paragraphs 17 and 20-21 above). By "law" 
as referred to in Article 8 § 2 (art. 8-2) of the 
Convention was meant the law in force in a 
given legal system, in this instance a combina-
tion of the written law - essentially Articles 81, 
151 and 152 of the Code of Criminal Procedure 
- and the case-law interpreting it.

The Delegate of the Commission considered 
that in the case of the Continental countries, in-
cluding France, only a substantive enactment 
of general application - whether or not passed 
by Parliament - could amount to a "law" for the 
purposes of Article 8 § 2 (art. 8-2) of the Con-
vention. Admittedly the Court had held that 
"the word ‘law’ in the expression ‘prescribed by 
law’ cover[ed] not only statute but also unwrit-
ten law" (see the Sunday Times judgment of 
26 April 1979, Series A no. 30, p. 30, § 47, the 
Dudgeon judgment of 22 October 1981, Series 
A no. 45, p. 19, § 44, and the Chappell judg-
ment of 30 March 1989, Series A no. 152, p. 22, 
§ 52), but in those instances the Court was, so 
the Delegate maintained, thinking only of the 
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common-law system. That system, however, 
was radically different from, in particular, the 
French system. In the latter, case-law was un-
doubtedly a very important source of law, but 
a secondary one, whereas by "law" the Conven-
tion meant a primary source.

29. Like the Government and the Delegate, the 
Court points out, firstly, that it is primarily for 
the national authorities, notably the courts, to 
interpret and apply domestic law (see, among 
many other authorities, the Malone judgment 
previously cited, Series A no. 82, p. 36, § 79, 
and the Eriksson judgment of 22 June 1989, 
Series A no. 156, p. 25, § 62). It is therefore not 
for the Court to express an opinion contrary to 
theirs on whether telephone tapping ordered 
by investigating judges is compatible with Ar-
ticle 368 of the Criminal Code. For many years 
now, the courts - and in particular the Court 
of Cassation - have regarded Articles 81, 151 
and 152 of the Code of Criminal Procedure as 
providing a legal basis for telephone tapping 
carried out by a senior police officer (officier de 
police judiciaire) under a warrant issued by an 
investigating judge.

Settled case-law of this kind cannot be disre-
garded. In relation to paragraph 2 of Article 8 
(art. 8-2) of the Convention and other similar 
clauses, the Court has always understood the 
term "law" in its "substantive" sense, not its "for-
mal" one; it has included both enactments of 
lower rank than statutes (see, in particular, the 
De Wilde, Ooms and Versyp judgment of 18 
June 1971, Series A no. 12, p. 45, § 93) and un-
written law. The Sunday Times, Dudgeon and 
Chappell judgments admittedly concerned 
the United Kingdom, but it would be wrong to 
exaggerate the distinction between common-
law countries and Continental countries, as the 
Government rightly pointed out. Statute law is, 
of course, also of importance in common-law 
countries. Conversely, case-law has traditional-
ly played a major role in Continental countries, 
to such an extent that whole branches of posi-
tive law are largely the outcome of decisions by 
the courts. The Court has indeed taken account 
of case-law in such countries on more than one 
occasion (see, in particular, the Müller and Oth-
ers judgment of 24 May 1988, Series A no. 133, 
p. 20, § 29, the Salabiaku judgment of 7 Oc-
tober 1988, Series A no. 141, pp. 16-17, § 29, 
and the Markt Intern Verlag GmbH and Klaus 
Beermann judgment of 20 November 1989, Se-
ries A no. 165, pp. 18-19, § 30). Were it to over-
look case-law, the Court would undermine the 
legal system of the Continental States almost 

as much as the Sunday Times judgment of 26 
April 1979 would have "struck at the very roots" 
of the United Kingdom’s legal system if it had 
excluded the common law from the concept of 
"law" (Series A no. 30, p. 30, § 47). In a sphere 
covered by the written law, the "law" is the en-
actment in force as the competent courts have 
interpreted it in the light, if necessary, of any 
new practical developments.

In sum, the interference complained of had a 
legal basis in French law.

2."Qualityofthelaw"
30. The second requirement which emerges from 

the phrase "in accordance with the law" - the 
accessibility of the law - does not raise any 
problem in the instant case.

The same is not true of the third requirement, 
the law’s "foreseeability" as to the meaning 
and nature of the applicable measures. As the 
Court pointed out in the Malone judgment of 
2 August 1984, Article 8 § 2 (art. 8-2) of the 
Convention "does not merely refer back to do-
mestic law but also relates to the quality of the 
law, requiring it to be compatible with the rule 
of law". It
"thusimplies...thattheremustbeameasure
of legal protection in domestic law against
arbitrary interferences by public authorities
with the rights safeguarded by paragraph 1
(art. 8-1) ... Especially where a power of the
executive is exercised in secret, the risks of
arbitrariness are evident ... Undoubtedly ...,
the requirementsof theConvention,notably
in regard to foreseeability, cannotbeexactly
thesameinthespecialcontextofinterception
ofcommunicationsforthepurposesofpolice
investigations"

• or judicial investigations -
"astheyarewheretheobjectof therelevant
law is toplace restrictionsontheconductof
individuals. In particular, the requirement of
foreseeabilitycannotmeanthatanindividual
should be enabled to foresee when the au-
thorities are likely to intercept his commu-
nications so that he can adapt his conduct
accordingly. Nevertheless, the law must be
sufficientlyclearinitstermstogivecitizensan
adequate indication as to the circumstances
inwhichandtheconditionsonwhichpublic
authorities are empowered to resort to this
secretandpotentiallydangerousinterference
with the right to respect for private life and
correspondence.

... [In its judgment of 25 March 1983 in the
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caseofSilverandOtherstheCourt]heldthat
‘a law which confers a discretionmust indi-
cate the scope of that discretion’, although
the detailed procedures and conditions to
be observed do not necessarily have to be
incorporatedinrulesofsubstantivelaw(ibid.,
SeriesAno.61,pp.33-34,§§88-89).Thede-
greeofprecision requiredof the ‘law’ in this
connection will depend upon the particular
subject-matter...Sincetheimplementationin
practiceofmeasuresofsecretsurveillanceof
communicationsisnotopentoscrutinybythe
individualsconcernedorthepublicatlarge,it
wouldbecontrarytotheruleoflawforthele-
galdiscretiongrantedtotheexecutive"

• or to a judge -
"to be expressed in terms of an unfettered
power. Consequently, the lawmust indicate
thescopeofanysuchdiscretionconferredon
thecompetentauthoritiesandthemannerof
itsexercisewithsufficientclarity...togivethe
individual adequate protection against arbi-
traryinterference."(SeriesAno.82,pp.32-33,
§§67-68)

31. The Government submitted that the Court 
must be careful not to rule on whether French 
legislation conformed to the Convention in the 
abstract and not to give a decision based on 
legislative policy. The Court was therefore not 
concerned, they said, with matters irrelevant to 
Mr Kruslin’s case, such as the possibility of tel-
ephone tapping in relation to minor offences 
or the fact that there was no requirement that 
an individual whose telephone had been mon-
itored should be so informed after the event 
where proceedings had not in the end been 
taken against him. Such matters were in reality 
connected with the condition of "necessity in a 
democratic society", fulfilment of which had to 
be reviewed in concrete terms, in the light of 
the particular circumstances of each case.

32. The Court is not persuaded by this argument. 
Since it must ascertain whether the interfer-
ence complained of was "in accordance with 
the law", it must inevitably assess the relevant 
French "law" in force at the time in relation to 
the requirements of the fundamental principle 
of the rule of law. Such a review necessarily 
entails some degree of abstraction. It is none 
the less concerned with the "quality" of the na-
tional legal rules applicable to Mr Kruslin in the 
instant case.

33. Tapping and other forms of interception of 
telephone conversations represent a serious 
interference with private life and correspond-

ence and must accordingly be based on a "law" 
that is particularly precise. It is essential to have 
clear, detailed rules on the subject, especially 
as the technology available for use is continu-
ally becoming more sophisticated.

Before the Commission (supplementary obser-
vations of 4 July 1988, pages 4-7, summarised 
in paragraph 37 of the report) and, in a slightly 
different form, before the Court, the Govern-
ment listed seventeen safeguards which they 
said were provided for in French law (droit). 
These related either to the carrying out of 
telephone tapping or to the use made of the 
results or to the means of having any irregulari-
ties righted, and the Government claimed that 
the applicant had not been deprived of any of 
them.

34. The Court does not in any way minimise the 
value of several of the safeguards, in particu-
lar the need for a decision by an investigating 
judge, who is an independent judicial author-
ity; the latter’s supervision of senior police of-
ficers and the possible supervision of the judge 
himself by the Indictment Division, by trial 
courts and courts of appeal and, if need be, 
by the Court of Cassation; the exclusion of any 
"subterfuge" or "ruse" consisting not merely in 
the use of telephone tapping but in an actual 
trick, trap or provocation; and the duty to re-
spect the confidentiality of relations between 
suspect or accused and lawyer.

It has to be noted, however, that only some of 
these safeguards are expressly provided for in 
Articles 81, 151 and 152 of the Code of Crimi-
nal Procedure. Others have been laid down 
piecemeal in judgments given over the years, 
the great majority of them after the intercep-
tion complained of by Mr Kruslin (June 1982). 
Some have not yet been expressly laid down in 
the case-law at all, at least according to the in-
formation gathered by the Court; the Govern-
ment appear to infer them either from general 
enactments or principles or else from an ana-
logical interpretation of legislative provisions 
- or court decisions - concerning investigative 
measures different from telephone tapping, 
notably searches and seizure of property. Al-
though plausible in itself, such "extrapolation" 
does not provide sufficient legal certainty in 
the present context.

35. Above all, the system does not for the time be-
ing afford adequate safeguards against various 
possible abuses. For example, the categories of 
people liable to have their telephones tapped 
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by judicial order and the nature of the offences 
which may give rise to such an order are no-
where defined. Nothing obliges a judge to set 
a limit on the duration of telephone tapping. 
Similarly unspecified are the procedure for 
drawing up the summary reports containing 
intercepted conversations; the precautions to 
be taken in order to communicate the record-
ings intact and in their entirety for possible in-
spection by the judge (who can hardly verify 
the number and length of the original tapes 
on the spot) and by the defence; and the cir-
cumstances in which recordings may or must 
be erased or the tapes be destroyed, in particu-
lar where an accused has been discharged by 
an investigating judge or acquitted by a court. 
The information provided by the Government 
on these various points shows at best the ex-
istence of a practice, but a practice lacking the 
necessary regulatory control in the absence of 
legislation or case-law.

36. In short, French law, written and unwritten, 
does not indicate with reasonable clarity the 
scope and manner of exercise of the relevant 
discretion conferred on the public authorities. 
This was truer still at the material time, so that 
Mr Kruslin did not enjoy the minimum degree 
of protection to which citizens are entitled un-
der the rule of law in a democratic society (see 
the Malone judgment previously cited, Series A 
no. 82, p. 36, § 79). There has therefore been 
a breach of Article 8 (art. 8) of the Convention.

B. Purpose and necessity of the interference
37. Having regard to the foregoing conclusion, the 

Court, like the Commission (see paragraph 77 
of the report), does not consider it necessary 
to review compliance with the other require-
ments of paragraph 2 of Article 8 (art. 8-2) in 
this case.

II. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 50 
(ART. 50)

38. By Article 50 (art. 50),
"IftheCourtfindsthatadecisionorameasure
takenbyalegalauthorityoranyotherauthor-
ityofaHighContractingPartyiscompletelyor
partiallyinconflictwiththeobligationsarising
fromthe...Convention,andiftheinternallaw
ofthesaidPartyallowsonlypartialreparation
tobemade for theconsequencesof thisde-
cision ormeasure, the decision of the Court
shall, if necessary, afford just satisfaction to
theinjuredparty."

The applicant claimed, firstly, compensation in 
the amount of 1,000,000 French francs (FRF) 
in respect of his fifteen-year prison sentence 
(see paragraph 13 above), which he alleged to 
be the direct result of the breach of Article 8 
(art. 8) as the telephone tapping complained 
of had led to the decision to take proceedings 
against him. He also sought reimbursement of 
lawyer’s fees and expenses: FRF 20,000 in order 
to prepare his appeal on points of law against 
the Indictment Division’s judgment of 16 April 
1985 in the Gerbe d’Or case (see paragraph 12 
above) plus FRF 50,000 for his defence at the 
Haute-Garonne Assize Court and the Court of 
Cassation in the Baron case (see paragraph 14 
above). He made no claim for the proceed-
ings at Strasbourg, as the Commission and the 
Court had granted him legal aid.

The Government and the Delegate of the Com-
mission expressed no opinion on the matter.

39. In the circumstances of the case the finding 
that there has been a breach of Article 8 (art. 8) 
affords Mr Kruslin sufficient just satisfaction for 
the alleged damage; it is accordingly unneces-
sary to award pecuniary compensation.

40. The costs and expenses incurred by the ap-
plicant in the Baron case cannot be taken into 
account by the Court; no doubt the telephone 
tapping was, as he pointed out, made use of 
in the two cases successively, but the Commis-
sion and the Court have only been concerned 
with considering its compatibility with the 
Convention in connection with the Gerbe d’Or 
case (see paragraph 14 in fine above).

The sum of FRF 20,000 sought in respect of 
the latter case, however, is relevant and not 
excessive, and it should therefore be awarded 
to him.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
8 (art. 8);

2. Holds that this judgment in itself constitutes 
sufficient just satisfaction as to the alleged 
damage;

3. Holds that the respondent State is to pay the 
applicant 20,000 (twenty thousand) french 
francs in respect of costs and expenses;

4. Dismisses the remainder of the claims under 
Article 50 (art. 50).
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Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 24 April 1990.

Rolv RySSDAL, President
Marc-André EISSEN, Registrar 
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TELEPHONE, TAPPING, SURVEILLANCE, INTERFERENCE, 
INTERCEPTION, PRIVATE LIFE, CORRESPONDENCE

IN THE CASE Of KLASS AND OTHERS,

The European Court of Human Rights, taking its de-
cision in plenary session in application of Rule 48 of 
the Rules of Court and composed of the following 
judges:
Mr. G. BALLADORE PALLIERI, President, 
Mr. G. WIARDA, 
Mr. H. MOSLER, 
Mr. M. ZEKIA, 
Mr. J. CREMONA, 
Mr. P. O’DONOGHUE, 
Mr. Thór VILHJÁLMSSON, 
Mr. W. GANSHOF VAN DER MEERSCH, 
Sir Gerald FITZMAURICE,  
Mrs D. BINDSCHEDLER-ROBERT, 
Mr. P.-H. TEITGEN, 
Mr. G. LAGERGREN, 
Mr. L. LIESCH, 
Mr. F. GÖLCÜKLÜ, 
Mr. F. MATSCHER, 
Mr. J. PINHEIRO FARINHA, 
and also Mr. H. PETZOLD, Deputy Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 11, 13 and 14 
March, and then on 30 June, 1, 3 and 4 July 1978,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last- mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case of Klass and others was referred to the 

Court by the European Commission of Human 
Rights (hereinafter called "the Commission"). 
The case originated in an application against 
the Federal Republic of Germany lodged with 
the Commission on 11 June 1971 under Article 
25 (art. 25) of the Convention for the Protection 
of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 
(hereinafter called "the Convention") by five 
German citizens, namely Gerhard Klass, Peter 
Lubberger, Jürgen Nussbruch, Hans-Jürgen 
Pohl and Dieter Selb.

2. The Commission’s request, which referred to 

Articles 44 and 48, paragraph (a) (art. 44, art. 
48-a), and to which was attached the report 
provided for in Article 31 (art. 31), was lodged 
with the registry of the Court on 15 July 1977, 
within the period of three months laid down in 
Articles 32 para. 1 and 47 (art. 32-1, art. 47). The 
purpose of the request is to obtain a decision 
from the Court as to whether or not the facts of 
the case disclose a breach by the respondent 
State of its obligations under Articles 6 para. 1, 
8 and 13 (art. 6-1, art. 8, art. 13) of the Conven-
tion.

3. On 28 July, the President of the Court drew by 
lot, in the presence of the Registrar, the names 
of five of the seven judges called upon to sit 
as members of the Chamber; Mr. H. Mosler, the 
elected judge of German nationality, and Mr. 
G. Balladore Pallieri, the President of the Court, 
were ex officio members under Article 43 (art. 
43) of the Convention and Rule 21 para. 3 (b) of 
the Rules of Court respectively. The five judges 
thus designated were Mr. J. Cremona, Mr. W. 
Ganshof van der Meersch, Mr. D. Evrigenis, Mr. 
G. Lagergren and Mr. F. Gölcüklü (Article 43 in 
fine of the Convention and Rule 21 para. 4 of 
the Rules of Court) (art. 43) .

Mr. Balladore Pallieri assumed the office of 
president of the Chamber in accordance with 
Rule 21 para. 5.

4. The President of the Chamber ascertained, 
through the Registrar, the views of the Agent 
of the Government and the Delegates of the 
Commission regarding the procedure to be 
followed. By an Order of 12 August, the Presi-
dent decided that the Government should file 
a memorial within a time-limit expiring on 28 
November and that the Delegates of the Com-
mission should be entitled to file a memorial in 
reply within two months of receipt of the Gov-
ernment’s memorial.

5. At a meeting held in private on 18 November 
in Strasbourg, the Chamber decided under 
Rule 48 to relinquish jurisdiction forthwith in 
favour of the plenary Court, on the ground 
"that the case raise(d) serious questions affect-
ing the interpretation of the Convention".

6. The Government filed their memorial on 28 
November. On 27 January 1978, a memorial 
by the Principal Delegate of the Commission 
was received at the registry; at the same time, 
the Secretary to the Commission advised the 
Registrar that the Delegates would reply to the 
Government’s memorial during the oral hear-
ings.
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7. After consulting, through the Registrar, the 
Agent of the Government and the Delegates of 
the Commission, the President directed by an 
Order of 24 February 1978 that the oral hear-
ings should open on 10 March.

8. The Court held a preparatory meeting on 10 
March, immediately before the opening of the 
hearings. At that meeting the Court, granting 
a request presented by the Government, de-
cided that their Agent and counsel would be 
authorised to address the Court in German at 
the hearings, the Government undertaking, 
inter alia, responsibility for the interpretation 
into French or English of their oral arguments 
or statements (Rule 27 para. 2). In addition, the 
Court took note of the intention of the Com-
mission’s Delegates to be assisted during the 
oral proceedings by one of the applicants, 
namely Mr. Pohl; the Court also authorised Mr. 
Pohl to speak in German (Rules 29 para. 1 in 
fine and 27 para. 3).

9. The oral hearings took place in public at the 
Human Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 10 
March.

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government:

Mrs. I. MAIER, Ministerialdirigentin at the 
Federal Ministry of Justice, Agent,

Mr. H. G. MERK, Ministerialrat at the Federal 
Ministry of the Interior,

Mr. H. STÖCKER, Regierungsdirektor at the 
Federal Ministry of Justice,

Mrs. H. SEIBERT, Regierungsdirektorin at the 
Federal Ministry of Justice, Advisers;

(b) for the Commission:

Mr. G. SPERDuTI, Principal Delegate,

Mr. C. A. NØRGAARD, Delegate,

Mr. H.-J. POHL, Applicant, assisting the Del-
egates under Rule 29 para. 1, second sen-
tence.

The Court heard addresses by Mrs. Maier for 
the Government and by Mr. Sperduti, Mr. Nør-
gaard and Mr. Pohl for the Commission, as 
well as their replies to questions put by several 
members of the Court.

As to tHE FACts
10. The applicants, who are German nationals, are 

Gerhard Klass, an Oberstaatsanwalt, Peter Lub-
berger, a lawyer, Jürgen Nussbruch, a judge, 
Hans-Jürgen Pohl and Dieter Selb, lawyers. Mr. 
Nussbruch lives in Heidelberg, the others in 
Mannheim.

All five applicants claim that Article 10 para. 2 
of the Basic Law (Grundgesetz) and a statute 
enacted in pursuance of that provision, namely 
the Act of 13 August 1968 on Restrictions on 
the Secrecy of the Mail, Post and Telecom-
munications (Gesetz zur Beschränkung des 
Brief-, Post- under Fernmeldegeheimnisses, 
hereinafter referred to as "the G 10"), are con-
trary to the Convention. They do not dispute 
that the State has the right to have recourse 
to the surveillance measures contemplated 
by the legislation; they challenge this legisla-
tion in that it permits those measures without 
obliging the authorities in every case to notify 
the persons concerned after the event, and in 
that it excludes any remedy before the courts 
against the ordering and execution of such 
measures. Their application is directed against 
the legislation as modified and interpreted by 
the Federal Constitutional Court (Bundesver-
fassungsgericht).

11. Before lodging their application with the Com-
mission, the applicants had in fact appealed 
to the Federal Constitutional Court. By judg-
ment of 15 December 1970, that Court held 
that Article 1 para. 5, sub-paragraph 5 of the G 
10 was void, being incompatible with the sec-
ond sentence of Article 10 para. 2 of the Basic 
Law, in so far as it excluded notification of the 
person concerned about the measures of sur-
veillance even when such notification could be 
given without jeopardising the purpose of the 
restriction. The Constitutional Court dismissed 
the remaining claims (Collected Decisions of 
the Constitutional Court, Vol. 30, pp. 1 et seq.).

Since the operative provisions of the afore-
mentioned judgment have the force of law, 
the competent authorities are bound to apply 
the G 10 in the form and subject to the inter-
pretation decided by the Constitutional Court. 
Furthermore, the Government of the Federal 
Republic of Germany were prompted by this 
judgment to propose amendments to the G 
10, but the parliamentary proceedings have 
not yet been completed.

12. As regards the applicants’ right to apply to the 
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Constitutional Court, that Court held, inter alia:
"Inorder tobeable toentera constitutional
applicationagainstanAct,theapplicantmust
claimthattheActitself,andnotmerelyanim-
plementarymeasure,constitutesadirectand
immediateviolationofoneofhis fundamen-
tal rights ... These conditions arenot fulfilled
since, according to the applicants’ own sub-
missions,itisonlybyanactonthepartofthe
executivethattheirfundamentalrightswould
be violated. However, because they are not
apprisedoftheinterferencewiththeirrights,
thepersonsconcernedcannotchallengeany
implementary measure. In such cases, they
must be entitled to make a constitutional
application against the Act itself, as in cases
whereaconstitutionalapplicationagainstan
implementarymeasureisimpossibleforother
reasons..."(ibid,pp.16-17).

13. Although, as a precautionary measure, the ap-
plicants claimed before both the Constitution-
al Court and the Commission that they were 
being subjected to surveillance measures, they 
did not know whether the G 10 had actually 
been applied to them.

On this point, the Agent of the Government 
made the following declaration before the 
Court:
"To remove all uncertainty as to the facts of
thecaseandtogivetheCourtaclearbasisfor
its decision, the FederalMinister of the Inte-
rior,whohascompetence inthematter,has,
withtheG10Commission’sapproval,author-
isedmetomakethefollowingstatement:

At no time have surveillance measures pro-
videdforbytheActenactedinpursuanceof
Article 10 of the Basic Law been ordered or
implemented against the applicants. Neither
as persons suspected of one ormore of the
offencesspecifiedintheActnorasthirdpar-
tieswithinthemeaningofArticle1,paragraph
2, sub-paragraph2,of theG10havetheap-
plicants been subjected to such measures.
There is also no question of the applicants’
having been indirectly involved in a surveil-
lancemeasure directed against another per-
son-atleast,notinanyfashionwhichwould
have permitted their identification. Finally,
thereisnoquestionoftheapplicants’having
beensubjectedtosurveillancebymistake-for
examplethroughconfusionoveratelephone
number-,sinceinsuchcasesthepersoncon-
cernedisnotifiedofthesurveillancemeasure."

The contested legislation

14. After the end of the Second World War, the 

surveillance of mail, post and telecommunica-
tions in Germany was dealt with by the occu-
pying powers. As regards the Federal Republic, 
neither the entry into force on 24 May 1949 of 
the Basic Law nor the foundation of the State 
of the Federal Republic on 20 September 1949 
altered this situation which continued even af-
ter the termination of the occupation régime 
in 1955. Article 5 para. 2 of the Convention of 
26 May 1952 on Relations between the Three 
Powers (France, the United States and the 
United Kingdom) and the Federal Republic - as 
amended by the Paris Protocol of 23 October 
1954 - specified in fact that the Three Powers 
temporarily retained "the rights ... heretofore 
held or exercised by them, which relate to the 
protection of the security of armed forces sta-
tioned in the Federal Republic". Under the same 
provision, these rights were to lapse "when the 
appropriate German authorities (had) obtained 
similar powers under German legislation ena-
bling them to take effective action to protect 
the security of those forces, including the abil-
ity to deal with a serious disturbance of public 
security and order".

15. The Government wished to substitute the do-
mestic law for the rights exercised by the Three 
Powers and to place under legal control inter-
ferences with the right, guaranteed by Article 
10 of the Basic Law, to respect for correspond-
ence. Furthermore, the restrictions to which 
this right could be subject appeared to the 
Government to be inadequate for the effective 
protection of the constitutional order of the 
State. Thus, on 13 June 1967, the Government 
introduced two Bills as part of the Emergency 
Legislation. The first sought primarily to amend 
Article 10 para. 2 of the Basic Law; the second 
- based on Article 10 para. 2 so amended - was 
designed to limit the right to secrecy of the 
mail, post and telecommunications. The two 
Acts, having been adopted by the federal legis-
lative assemblies, were enacted on 24 June and 
13 August 1968 respectively.

The Three Powers had come to the view on 27 
May that these two texts met the requirements 
of Article 5 para. 2 of the above-mentioned 
Convention. Their statements declared:

"The rights of the Three Powers heretofore
held or exercised by them which relate to
theprotectionofthesecurityofarmedforces
stationed in the Federal Republic andwhich
are temporarily retained pursuant to that
provisionwillaccordinglylapseaseachofthe
above-mentionedtexts,as laws,becomesef-
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fective."

16. In its initial version, Article 10 of the Basic Law 
guaranteed the secrecy of mail, post and tel-
ecommunications with a proviso that restric-
tions could be ordered only pursuant to a stat-
ute. As amended by the Act of 24 June 1968, it 
now provides:
"(1)Secrecyofthemail,postandtelecommu-
nicationsshallbeinviolable.

(2) Restrictions may be ordered only pursu-
ant to a statute.Where such restrictions are
intendedtoprotectthefreedemocraticcon-
stitutionalorderortheexistenceorsecurityof
theFederationorof a Land, the statutemay
provide that the person concerned shall not
be notified of the restriction and that legal
remedy through thecourts shallbe replaced
byasystemofscrutinybyagenciesandauxil-
iaryagenciesappointedbythepeople’select-
edrepresentatives."

17. The G 10, adopting the solution contemplated 
by the second sentence of paragraph 2 of the 
above-quoted Article 10, specifies (in Article 1 
para. 1) the cases in which the competent au-
thorities may impose the restrictions provided 
for in that paragraph, that is to say, may open 
and inspect mail and post, read telegraphic 
messages, listen to and record telephone con-
versations. Thus, Article 1 para. 1 empowers 
those authorities so to act in order to protect 
against "imminent dangers" threatening the 
"free democratic constitutional order", "the 
existence or the security of the Federation or 
of a Land", "the security of the (allied) armed 
forces" stationed on the territory of the Repub-
lic and the security of "the troops of one of the 
Three Powers stationed in the Land of Berlin". 
According to Article 1 para. 2, these measures 
may be taken only where there are factual 
indications (tatsächliche Anhaltspunkte) for 
suspecting a person of planning, committing 
or having committed certain criminal acts 
punishable under the Criminal Code, such as 
offences against the peace or security of the 
State (sub-paragraph 1, no. 1), the democratic 
order (sub-paragraph 1, no. 2), external security 
(sub-paragraph 1, no. 3) and the security of the 
allied armed forces (sub-paragraph 1, no. 5).

Paragraph 2 of Article 1 further states that the 
surveillance provided for in paragraph 1 is per-
missible only if the establishment of the facts 
by another method is without prospects of 
success or considerably more difficult (aussi-
chtslos oder wesentlich erschwert). The surveil-
lance may cover only "the suspect or such oth-

er persons who are, on the basis of clear facts 
(bestimmter Tatsachen), to be presumed to re-
ceive or forward communications intended for 
the suspect or emanating from him or whose 
telephone the suspect is to be presumed to 
use" (sub-paragraph 2).

18. Article 1 para. 4 of the Act provides that an 
application for surveillance measures may be 
made only by the head, or his substitute, of 
one of the following services: the Agencies 
for the Protection of the Constitution of the 
Federation and the Länder (Bundesamt für Ver-
fassungsschutz; Verfassungsschutzbehörden 
der Länder), the Army Security Office (Amt für 
Sicherheit der Bundeswehr) and the Federal In-
telligence Service (Bundesnachrichtendienst).

The measures are ordered, on written appli-
cation giving reasons, either by the supreme 
Land authority in cases falling within its juris-
diction or by a Federal Minister empowered for 
the purpose by the Chancellor. The Chancellor 
has entrusted these functions to the Ministers 
of the Interior and of Defence each of whom, 
in the sphere falling within his competence, 
must personally take the decision as to the ap-
plication of the measures (Article 1 para. 5, sub-
paragraphs 1 and 2).

Measures ordered must be immediately dis-
continued once the required conditions have 
ceased to exist or the measures themselves 
are no longer necessary (Article 1 para. 7, sub-
paragraph 2). The measures remain in force for 
a maximum of three months and may be re-
newed only on fresh application (Article 1 para. 
5, sub-paragraph 3).

19. Under the terms of Article 1 para. 5, sub-para-
graph 5, the person concerned is not to be no-
tified of the restrictions affecting him. However, 
since the Federal Constitutional Court’s judg-
ment of 15 December 1970 (see paragraph 11 
above), the competent authority has to inform 
the person concerned as soon as notification 
can be made without jeopardising the purpose 
of the restriction. To this end, the Minister con-
cerned considers ex officio, immediately the 
measures have been discontinued or, if need 
be, at regular intervals thereafter, whether the 
person concerned should be notified. The Min-
ister submits his decision for approval to the 
Commission set up under the G 10 for the pur-
pose of supervising its application (hereinafter 
called "the G 10 Commission"). The G 10 Com-
mission may direct the Minister to inform the 
person concerned that he has been subjected 
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to surveillance measures.

20. Implementation of the measures ordered is 
supervised by an official qualified for judicial 
office (Article 1 para. 7, sub-paragraph 1). This 
official examines the information obtained in 
order to decide whether its use would be com-
patible with the Act and whether it is relevant 
to the purpose of the measure. He transmits 
to the competent authorities only information 
satisfying these conditions and destroys any 
other intelligence that may have been gath-
ered.

The information and documents so obtained 
may not be used for other ends and docu-
ments must be destroyed as soon as they are 
no longer needed to achieve the required pur-
pose (Article 1 para. 7 sub-paragraphs 3 and 4).

21. The competent Minister must, at least once 
every six months, report to a Board consisting 
of five Members of Parliament on the applica-
tion of the G 10; the Members of Parliament are 
appointed by the Bundestag in proportion to 
the parliamentary groupings, the opposition 
being represented on the Board (Article 1 para. 
9, sub-paragraph 1, of the G 10 and Rule 12 of 
the Rules of Procedure of the Bundestag). In 
addition, the Minister is bound every month to 
provide the G 10 Commission with an account 
of the measures he has ordered (Article 1 para. 
9). In practice and except in urgent cases, the 
Minister seeks the prior consent of this Com-
mission. The Government, moreover, intend 
proposing to Parliament to amend the G 10 so 
as to make such prior consent obligatory.

The G 10 Commission decides, ex officio or on 
application by a person believing himself to be 
under surveillance, on both the legality of and 
the necessity for the measures; if it declares any 
measures to be illegal or unnecessary, the Min-
ister must terminate them immediately (Article 
1 para. 9, sub-paragraph 2). Although not re-
quired by the Constitutional Court’s judgment 
of 15 December 1970, the Commission has, 
since that judgment, also been called upon 
when decisions are taken on whether the per-
son concerned should be notified of the meas-
ures affecting him (see paragraph 19 above).

The G 10 Commission consists of three mem-
bers, namely, a Chairman, who must be quali-
fied to hold judicial office, and two assessors. 
The Commission members are appointed 
for the current term of the Bundestag by the 
above-mentioned Board of five Members of 
Parliament after consultation with the Govern-

ment; they are completely independent in the 
exercise of their functions and cannot be sub-
ject to instructions.

The G 10 Commission draws up its own rules 
of procedure which must be approved by the 
Board; before taking this decision, the Board 
consults the Government.

For the Länder, their legislatures lay down the 
parliamentary supervision to which the su-
preme authorities are subject in the matter. In 
fact, the Länder Parliaments have set up super-
visory bodies which correspond to the federal 
bodies from the point of view of organisation 
and operation.

22. According to Article 1 para. 9, sub-paragraph 5, 
of the G 10:

"... thereshallbeno legal remedybefore the
courts in respect of the ordering and imple-
mentationofrestrictivemeasures."

The official statement of reasons accompanying 
the Bill contains the following passage in this con-
nection:

"Thesurveillanceofthepostandtelecommu-
nicationsofacertainpersoncanserveause-
fulpurposeonlyifthepersonconcerneddoes
notbecomeawareofit.Forthisreason,noti-
fication to thisperson isoutof thequestion.
Forthesamereason,itmustbeavoidedthat
apersonwhointendstocommit,orwhohas
committed, the offences enumerated in the
Actcan,byusingalegalremedy,informhim-
selfwhetherhe isunder surveillance.Conse-
quently,alegalremedytoimpugntheorder-
ingofrestrictivemeasureshadtobedenied...

The Bill presented during the 4th legislative
session ... provided for the ordering (of such
measures)byanindependentjudge.TheFed-
eral Government abandoned this solution in
theBillamendingArticle10oftheBasicLaw,
introducedaspartoftheEmergencyLegisla-
tion, mainly because the Executive, which
is responsible before the Bundestag, should
retain the responsibility for suchdecisions in
ordertoobserveaclearseparationofpowers.
ThepresentBillthereforegrantsthepowerof
decisiontoaFederalMinisterorthesupreme
authority of the Land. For the (above-)men-
tionedreasons...,thepersonconcernedisde-
privedoftheopportunityofhavingtherestric-
tivemeasures ordered examined by a court;
ontheotherhand,theconstitutionalprinciple
ofgovernmentundertheruleoflawdemands
anindependentcontrolofinterferencebythe
Executivewiththerightsofcitizens.Thus,the
Bill, inpursuanceoftheBillamendingArticle
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10of theBasicLaw ...,prescribes the regular
reporting to a Parliamentary Board and the
supervision of the ordering of the restrictive
measuresbyaControlCommissionappointed
bytheBoard..."(BundestagdocumentV/1880
of13June1967,p.8).

23. Although access to the courts to challenge the 
ordering and implementation of surveillance 
measures is excluded in this way, it is still open 
to a person believing himself to be under sur-
veillance pursuant to the G 10 to seek a consti-
tutional remedy: according to the information 
supplied by the Government, a person who 
has applied to the G 10 Commission without 
success retains the right to apply to the Con-
stitutional Court. The latter may reject the ap-
plication on the ground that the applicant is 
unable to adduce proof to substantiate a com-
plaint, but it may also request the Government 
concerned to supply it with information or to 
produce documents to enable it to verify for 
itself the individual’s allegations. The authori-
ties are bound to reply to such a request even 
if the information asked for is secret. It is then 
for the Constitutional Court to decide whether 
the information and documents so obtained 
can be used; it may decide by a two-thirds ma-
jority that their use is incompatible with State 
security and dismiss the application on that 
ground (Article 26 para. 2 of the Constitutional 
Court Act).

The Agent of the Government admitted that 
this remedy might be employed only on rare 
occasions.

24. If the person concerned is notified, after the 
measures have been discontinued, that he has 
been subject to surveillance, several legal rem-
edies against the interference with his rights 
become available to him. According to the 
information supplied by the Government, the 
individual may: in an action for a declaration, 
have reviewed by an administrative court dec-
laration, the legality of the application to him 
of the G 10 and the conformity with the law of 
the surveillance measures ordered; bring an ac-
tion for damages in a civil court if he has been 
prejudiced; bring an action for the destruction 
or, if appropriate, restitution of documents; 
finally, if none of these remedies is successful, 
apply to the Federal Constitutional Court for a 
ruling as to whether there has been a breach of 
the Basic Law.

25. Article 2 of the G 10 has also amended the 
Code of Criminal Procedure by inserting 
therein two Articles which authorise measures 

of surveillance of telephone and telegraphic 
communications.

Under Article 100 (a), these measures may be 
taken under certain conditions, in particular, 
when there are clear facts on which to suspect 
someone of having committed or attempted 
to commit certain serious offences listed in 
that Article. Under Article 100 (b), such meas-
ures may be ordered only by a court and for 
a maximum of three months; they may be re-
newed. In urgent cases, the decision may be 
taken by the public prosecutor’s department 
but to remain in effect it must be confirmed 
by a court within three days. The persons con-
cerned are informed of the measures taken 
in their respect as soon as notification can be 
made without jeopardising the purpose of the 
investigation (Article 101 para. 1 of the Code of 
Criminal Procedure).

These provisions are not, however, in issue in the 
present case.

PRoCEEDInGs BEFoRE 
tHE CoMMIssIon 
26. In their application lodged with the Commis-

sion on 11 June 1971, the applicants alleged 
that Article 10 para. 2 of the Basic Law and the 
G 10 - to the extent that these provisions, firstly, 
empower the authorities to monitor their cor-
respondence and telephone communications 
without obliging the authorities to inform 
them subsequently of the measures taken 
against them and, secondly, exclude the possi-
bility of challenging such measures before the 
ordinary courts - violate Articles 6, 8 and 13 (art. 
6, art. 8, art. 13) of the Convention.

On 18 December 1974, the Commission de-
clared the application admissible. It found, as 
regards Article 25 (art. 25) of the Convention:
"...onlythevictimofanallegedviolationmay
bringanapplication.Theapplicants,however,
state that they may be or may have been
subjecttosecretsurveillance, forexample, in
courseof legal representationof clientswho
were themselves subject to surveillance, and
thatpersonshavingbeenthesubjectofsecret
surveillance are not always subsequently in-
formedof themeasures takenagainst them.
Inviewofthisparticularityofthecasetheap-
plicantshave tobeconsideredasvictims for
thepurposeofArticle25(art.25)."

27. Having been invited by the Government to 
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consider the application inadmissible under 
Article 29 in conjunction with Articles 25 and 
27 para. 2 (art. 29+25, art. 29+27-2) of the Con-
vention, the Commission declared in its report 
of 9 March 1977 that it saw no reason to ac-
cede to this request. In this connection, the 
report stated:

"TheCommissionis...stilloftheopinion...that
the applicantsmustbe consideredas if they
werevictims.Someoftheapplicantsarebar-
ristersanditistheoreticallyexcludedthatthey
areinfactsubjecttosecretsurveillanceincon-
sequenceofcontactstheymayhavewithcli-
entswhoaresuspectedofanti-constitutional
activities.

As it is theparticularityof this case thatper-
sons subject to secret supervision by the
authorities are not always subsequently in-
formedofsuchmeasurestakenagainstthem,
itisimpossiblefortheapplicantstoshowthat
anyoftheirrightshavebeeninterferedwith.
In these circumstances the applicants must
beconsideredtobeentitled to lodgeanap-
plicationeven if they cannot show that they
arevictims."

The Commission then expressed the opinion:

• by eleven votes to one with two absten-
tions, that the present case did not disclose 
any breach of Article 6 para. 1 (art. 6-1) of 
the Convention insofar as the applicants 
relied on the notion "civil rights";

• unanimously, that the present case did not 
disclose any breach of Article 6 para. 1 (art. 
6-1) in so far as the applicants relied on the 
notion "criminal charge";

• by twelve votes in favour with one absten-
tion, that the present case did not disclose 
any breach of Article 8 (art. 8) or of Article 
13 (art. 13).

The report contains various separate opinions.

28. In her memorial of 28 November 1977, the 
Agent of the Government submitted in con-
clusion:

"I...invitetheCourt

tofindthattheapplicationwasinadmissible;

inthealternative,tofindthattheFederalRe-
publicofGermanyhasnotviolated theCon-
vention."

She repeated these concluding submissions at 
the hearing on 10 March 1978.

29. For their part, the Delegates of the Commission 
made the following concluding submissions to 
the Court:
"MayitpleasetheCourttosayandjudge

1.Whether,havingregardtothecircumstanc-
es of the case, the applicants could claim to
be‘victims’ofaviolationoftheirrightsguar-
anteed by the Convention by reason of the
systemof surveillanceestablishedby the so-
calledG10Act;

2.And,ifso,whethertheapplicantsareactual-
lyvictimsofaviolationoftheirrightssetforth
intheConventionbytheveryexistenceofthat
Act,consideringthatitgivesnoguaranteeto
persons whose communications have been
subjectedtosecretsurveillancethattheywill
be notified subsequently of the measures
takenconcerningthem."

As to tHE LAW

I. ON ARTICLE 25 PARA. 1 (ART. 25-1)

30. Both in their written memorial and in their oral 
submissions, the Government formally invited 
the Court to find that the application lodged 
with the Commission was "inadmissible". They 
argued that the applicants could not be con-
sidered as "victims" within the meaning of 
Article 25 para. 1 (art. 25-1) which provides as 
follows:
"The Commission may receive petitions ad-
dressedtotheSecretary-GeneraloftheCoun-
cil of Europe from any person, non-govern-
mental organisation or group of individuals
claimingtobethevictimofaviolationbyone
of theHigh Contracting Parties of the rights
set forth in this Convention, provided that
theHighContractingPartyagainstwhichthe
complainthasbeenlodgedhasdeclaredthat
itrecognisesthecompetenceoftheCommis-
siontoreceivesuchpetitions..."

In the Government’s submission, the appli-
cants were not claiming to have established 
an individual violation, even potential, of their 
own rights but rather, on the basis of the purely 
hypothetical possibility of being subject to sur-
veillance, were seeking a general and abstract 
review of the contested legislation in the light 
of the Convention.

31. According to the reply given by the Delegates 
at the hearing, the Commission agreed with 
the Government that the Court is competent 
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to determine whether the applicants can claim 
to be "victims" within the meaning of Article 25 
para. 1 (art. 25-1). However, the Commission 
disagreed with the Government in so far as the 
latter’s proposal might imply the suggestion 
that the Commission’s decision on the admis-
sibility of the application should as such be re-
viewed by the Court.

The Delegates considered that the Govern-
ment were requiring too rigid a standard for 
the notion of a "victim" of an alleged breach of 
Article 8 (art. 8) of the Convention. They sub-
mitted that, in order to be able to claim to be 
the victim of an interference with the exercise 
of the right conferred on him by Article 8 para. 
1 (art. 8-1), it should suffice that a person is in 
a situation where there is a reasonable risk of 
his being subjected to secret surveillance. In 
the Delegates’ view, the applicants are not only 
to be considered as constructive victims, as 
the Commission had in effect stated: they can 
claim to be direct victims of a violation of their 
rights under Article 8 (art. 8) in that under the 
terms of the contested legislation everyone in 
the Federal Republic of Germany who could 
be presumed to have contact with people in-
volved in subversive activity really runs the risk 
of being subject to secret surveillance, the sole 
existence of this risk being in itself a restriction 
on free communication.

The Principal Delegate, for another reason, 
regarded the application as rightly declared 
admissible. In his view, the alleged violation 
related to a single right which, although not 
expressly enounced in the Convention, was 
to be derived by necessary implication; this 
implied right was the right of every individual 
to be informed within a reasonable time of 
any secret measure taken in his respect by the 
public authorities and amounting to an inter-
ference with his rights and freedoms under the 
Convention.

32. The Court confirms the well-established prin-
ciple of its own case-law that, once a case is 
duly referred to it, the Court is endowed with 
full jurisdiction and may take cognisance of all 
questions of fact or of law arising in the course 
of the proceedings, including questions which 
may have been raised before the Commission 
under the head of admissibility. This conclu-
sion is in no way invalidated by the powers 
conferred on the Commission under Article 
27 (art. 27) of the Convention as regards the 
admissibility of applications. The task which 
this Article assigns to the Commission is one 

of sifting; the Commission either does or does 
not accept the applications. Its decision to re-
ject applications which it considers to be inad-
missible are without appeal as are, moreover, 
also those by which applications are accepted; 
they are taken in complete independence (see 
the De Wilde, Ooms and Versyp judgment of 
18 June 1971, Series A no. 12, pp. 29 and 30, 
paras. 47-54; see also the judgment of 9 Feb-
ruary 1967 on the preliminary objection in the 
"Belgian Linguistic" case, Series A no. 5, p. 18; 
the Handyside judgment of 7 December 1976, 
Series A no. 24, p. 20, para. 41; and the judg-
ment of 18 January 1978 in the case of Ireland 
v. the United Kingdom, Series A no. 25, p. 63, 
para. 157).

The present case concerns, inter alia, the inter-
pretation of the notion of "victim" within the 
meaning of Article 25 (art. 25) of the Conven-
tion, this being a matter already raised before 
the Commission. The Court therefore affirms its 
jurisdiction to examine the issue arising under 
that Article (art. 25).

33. While Article 24 (art. 24) allows each Contract-
ing State to refer to the Commission "any al-
leged breach" of the Convention by another 
Contracting State, a person, non-governmen-
tal organisation or group of individuals must, 
in order to be able to lodge a petition in pur-
suance of Article 25 (art. 25), claim "to be the 
victim of a violation ... of the rights set forth in 
(the) Convention". Thus, in contrast to the posi-
tion under Article 24 (art. 24) - where, subject 
to the other conditions laid down, the general 
interest attaching to the observance of the 
Convention renders admissible an inter-State 
application - Article 25 (art. 25) requires that an 
individual applicant should claim to have been 
actually affected by the violation he alleges 
(see the judgment of 18 January 1978 in the 
case of Ireland v. the United Kingdom, Series A 
no. 25, pp. 90-91, paras. 239 and 240). Article 
25 (art. 25) does not institute for individuals a 
kind of actio popularis for the interpretation of 
the Convention; it does not permit individuals 
to complain against a law in abstracto simply 
because they feel that it contravenes the Con-
vention. In principle, it does not suffice for an 
individual applicant to claim that the mere 
existence of a law violates his rights under the 
Convention; it is necessary that the law should 
have been applied to his detriment. Neverthe-
less, as both the Government and the Com-
mission pointed out, a law may by itself violate 
the rights of an individual if the individual is 
directly affected by the law in the absence of 
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any specific measure of implementation. In this 
connection, the Court recalls that, in two pre-
vious cases originating in applications lodged 
in pursuance of Article 25 (art. 25), it has itself 
been faced with legislation having such an 
effect: in the "Belgian Linguistic" case and the 
case of Kjeldsen, Busk Madsen and Pedersen, 
the Court was called on to examine the com-
patibility with the Convention and Protocol 
No. 1 of certain legislation relating to educa-
tion (see the judgment of 23 July 1968, Series A 
no. 6, and the judgment of 7 December 1976, 
Series A no. 23, especially pp. 22-23, para. 48).

34. Article 25 (art. 25), which governs the access 
by individuals to the Commission, is one of the 
keystones in the machinery for the enforce-
ment of the rights and freedoms set forth in 
the Convention. This machinery involves, for 
an individual who considers himself to have 
been prejudiced by some action claimed to be 
in breach of the Convention, the possibility of 
bringing the alleged violation before the Com-
mission provided the other admissibility re-
quirements are satisfied. The question arises in 
the present proceedings whether an individual 
is to be deprived of the opportunity of lodging 
an application with the Commission because, 
owing to the secrecy of the measures objected 
to, he cannot point to any concrete measure 
specifically affecting him. In the Court’s view, 
the effectiveness (l’effet utile) of the Conven-
tion implies in such circumstances some pos-
sibility of having access to the Commission. If 
this were not so, the efficiency of the Conven-
tion’s enforcement machinery would be mate-
rially weakened. The procedural provisions of 
the Convention must, in view of the fact that 
the Convention and its institutions were set up 
to protect the individual, be applied in a man-
ner which serves to make the system of indi-
vidual applications efficacious.

The Court therefore accepts that an individual 
may, under certain conditions, claim to be the 
victim of a violation occasioned by the mere 
existence of secret measures or of legislation 
permitting secret measures, without having 
to allege that such measures were in fact ap-
plied to him. The relevant conditions are to be 
determined in each case according to the Con-
vention right or rights alleged to have been 
infringed, the secret character of the measures 
objected to, and the connection between the 
applicant and those measures.

35. In the light of these considerations, it has now 
to be ascertained whether, by reason of the 

particular legislation being challenged, the ap-
plicants can claim to be victims, in the sense of 
Article 25 (art. 25), of a violation of Article 8 (art. 
8) of the Convention - Article 8 (art. 8) being the 
provision giving rise to the central issue in the 
present case.

36. The Court points out that where a State insti-
tutes secret surveillance the existence of which 
remains unknown to the persons being con-
trolled, with the effect that the surveillance re-
mains unchallengeable, Article 8 (art. 8) could 
to a large extent be reduced to a nullity. It is 
possible in such a situation for an individual to 
be treated in a manner contrary to Article 8 (art. 
8), or even to be deprived of the right granted 
by that Article (art. 8), without his being aware 
of it and therefore without being able to obtain 
a remedy either at the national level or before 
the Convention institutions.

In this connection, it should be recalled that the 
Federal Constitutional Court in its judgment of 
15 December 1970 (see paragraphs 11 and 12 
above) adopted the following reasoning:
"Inorder tobeable toentera constitutional
applicationagainstanAct,theapplicantmust
claimthattheActitself,andnotmerelyanim-
plementarymeasure,constitutesadirectand
immediateviolationofoneofhis fundamen-
tal rights ... These conditions arenot fulfilled
since, according to the applicants’ own sub-
missions,itisonlybyanactonthepartofthe
executivethattheirfundamentalrightswould
be violated. However, because they are not
apprisedoftheinterferencewiththeirrights,
thepersonsconcernedcannotchallengeany
implementary measure. In such cases, they
must be entitled to make a constitutional
application against the Act itself, as in cases
whereaconstitutionalapplicationagainstan
implementarymeasureisimpossibleforother
reasons..."

This reasoning, in spite of the possible differ-
ences existing between appeals to the Federal 
Constitutional Court under German law and 
the enforcement machinery set up by the Con-
vention, is valid, mutatis mutandis, for applica-
tions lodged under Article 25 (art. 25).

The Court finds it unacceptable that the assur-
ance of the enjoyment of a right guaranteed by 
the Convention could be thus removed by the 
simple fact that the person concerned is kept 
unaware of its violation. A right of recourse to 
the Commission for persons potentially affect-
ed by secret surveillance is to be derived from 
Article 25 (art. 25), since otherwise Article 8 (art. 
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8) runs the risk of being nullified.

37. As to the facts of the particular case, the Court 
observes that the contested legislation insti-
tutes a system of surveillance under which all 
persons in the Federal Republic of Germany 
can potentially have their mail, post and tel-
ecommunications monitored, without their 
ever knowing this unless there has been either 
some indiscretion or subsequent notification 
in the circumstances laid down in the Federal 
Constitutional Court’s judgment (see para-
graph 11 above). To that extent, the disputed 
legislation directly affects all users or potential 
users of the postal and telecommunication 
services in the Federal Republic of Germany. 
Furthermore, as the Delegates rightly pointed 
out, this menace of surveillance can be claimed 
in itself to restrict free communication through 
the postal and telecommunication services, 
thereby constituting for all users or potential 
users a direct interference with the right guar-
anteed by Article 8 (art. 8).

At the hearing, the Agent of the Government 
informed the Court that at no time had surveil-
lance measures under the G 10 been ordered 
or implemented in respect of the applicants 
(see paragraph 13 above). The Court takes 
note of the Agent’s statement. However, in the 
light of its conclusions as to the effect of the 
contested legislation the Court does not con-
sider that this retrospective clarification bears 
on the appreciation of the applicants’ status as 
"victims".

38. Having regard to the specific circumstances 
of the present case, the Court concludes that 
each of the applicants is entitled to "(claim) to 
be the victim of a violation" of the Convention, 
even though he is not able to allege in support 
of his application that he has been subject to 
a concrete measure of surveillance. The ques-
tion whether the applicants were actually the 
victims of any violation of the Convention in-
volves determining whether the contested leg-
islation is in itself compatible with the Conven-
tion’s provisions.

Accordingly, the Court does not find it neces-
sary to decide whether the Convention implies 
a right to be informed in the circumstances 
mentioned by the Principal Delegate.

II. ON THE ALLEGED VIOLATION OF 
ARTICLE 8 (ART. 8)

39. The applicants claim that the contested legisla-

tion, notably because the person concerned is 
not informed of the surveillance measures and 
cannot have recourse to the courts when such 
measures are terminated, violates Article 8 (art. 
8) of the Convention which provides as follows:
"1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers."

40. According to Article 10 para. 2 of the Basic Law, 
restrictions upon the secrecy of the mail, post 
and telecommunications may be ordered but 
only pursuant to a statute. Article 1 para. 1 of 
the G 10 allows certain authorities to open and 
inspect mail and post, to read telegraphic mes-
sages and to monitor and record telephone 
conversations (see paragraph 17 above). The 
Court’s examination under Article 8 (art. 8) is 
thus limited to the authorisation of such meas-
ures alone and does not extend, for instance, 
to the secret surveillance effect in pursuance of 
the Code of Criminal Procedure (see paragraph 
25 above).

41. The first matter to be decided is whether and, 
if so, in what respect the contested legislation, 
in permitting the above-mentioned measures 
of surveillance, constitutes an interference with 
the exercise of the right guaranteed to the ap-
plicants under Article 8 para. 1 (art. 8-1).

Although telephone conversations are not 
expressly mentioned in paragraph 1 of Arti-
cle 8 (art. 8-1), the Court considers, as did the 
Commission, that such conversations are cov-
ered by the notions of "private life" and "corre-
spondence" referred to by this provision.

In its report, the Commission expressed the 
opinion that the secret surveillance provided 
for under the German legislation amounted to 
an interference with the exercise of the right 
set forth in Article 8 para. 1 (art. 8-1). Neither be-
fore the Commission nor before the Court did 
the Government contest this issue. Clearly, any 
of the permitted surveillance measures, once 
applied to a given individual, would result in an 
interference by a public authority with the ex-
ercise of that individual’s right to respect for his 
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private and family life and his correspondence. 
Furthermore, in the mere existence of the leg-
islation itself there is involved, for all those to 
whom the legislation could be applied, a me-
nance of surveillance; this menace necessarily 
strikes at freedom of communication between 
users of the postal and telecommunication ser-
vices and thereby constitutes an "interference 
by a public authority" with the exercise of the 
applicants’ right to respect for private and fam-
ily life and for correspondence.

The Court does not exclude that the contested 
legislation, and therefore the measures permit-
ted thereunder, could also involve an interfer-
ence with the exercise of a person’s right to 
respect for his home. However, the Court does 
not deem it necessary in the present proceed-
ings to decide this point.

42. The cardinal issue arising under Article 8 (art. 8) 
in the present case is whether the interference 
so found is justified by the terms of paragraph 
2 of the Article (art. 8-2). This paragraph, since 
it provides for an exception to a right guar-
anteed by the Convention, is to be narrowly 
interpreted. Powers of secret surveillance of 
citizens, characterising as they do the police 
state, are tolerable under the Convention only 
in so far as strictly necessary for safeguarding 
the democratic institutions.

43. In order for the "interference" established 
above not to infringe Article 8 (art. 8), it must, 
according to paragraph 2 (art. 8-2), first of all 
have been "in accordance with the law". This 
requirement is fulfilled in the present case since 
the "interference" results from Acts passed by 
Parliament, including one Act which was modi-
fied by the Federal Constitutional Court, in the 
exercise of its jurisdiction, by its judgment of 15 
December 1970 (see paragraph 11 above). In 
addition, the Court observes that, as both the 
Government and the Commission pointed out, 
any individual measure of surveillance has to 
comply with the strict conditions and proce-
dures laid down in the legislation itself.

44. It remains to be determined whether the other 
requisites laid down in paragraph 2 of Article 8 
(art. 8-2) were also satisfied. According to the 
Government and the Commission, the interfer-
ence permitted by the contested legislation 
was "necessary in a democratic society in the 
interests of national security" and/or "for the 
prevention of disorder or crime". Before the 
Court the Government submitted that the 
interference was additionally justified "in the 

interests of ... public safety" and "for the protec-
tion of the rights and freedoms of others".

45. The G 10 defines precisely, and thereby limits, 
the purposes for which the restrictive measures 
may be imposed. It provides that, in order to 
protect against "imminent dangers" threaten-
ing "the free democratic constitutional order", 
"the existence or security of the Federation or 
of a Land", "the security of the (allied) armed 
forces" stationed on the territory of the Repub-
lic or the security of "the troops of one of the 
Three Powers stationed in the Land of Berlin", 
the responsible authorities may authorise the 
restrictions referred to above (see paragraph 
17).

46. The Court, sharing the view of the Government 
and the Commission, finds that the aim of the 
G 10 is indeed to safeguard national security 
and/or to prevent disorder or crime in pursu-
ance of Article 8 para. 2 (art. 8-2). In these cir-
cumstances, the Court does not deem it nec-
essary to decide whether the further purposes 
cited by the Government are also relevant.

On the other hand, it has to be ascertained 
whether the means provided under the im-
pugned legislation for the achievement of the 
above-mentioned aim remain in all respects 
within the bounds of what is necessary in a 
democratic society.

47. The applicants do not object to the German 
legislation in that it provides for wide-ranging 
powers of surveillance; they accept such pow-
ers, and the resultant encroachment upon the 
right guaranteed by Article 8 para. 1 (art. 8-1), 
as being a necessary means of defence for the 
protection of the democratic State. The appli-
cants consider, however, that paragraph 2 of 
Article 8 (art. 8-2) lays down for such powers 
certain limits which have to be respected in a 
democratic society in order to ensure that the 
society does not slide imperceptibly towards 
totalitarianism. In their view, the contested 
legislation lacks adequate safeguards against 
possible abuse.

48. As the Delegates observed, the Court, in its 
appreciation of the scope of the protection 
offered by Article 8 (art. 8), cannot but take 
judicial notice of two important facts. The first 
consists of the technical advances made in the 
means of espionage and, correspondingly, of 
surveillance; the second is the development 
of terrorism in Europe in recent years. Demo-
cratic societies nowadays find themselves 
threatened by highly sophisticated forms of es-
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pionage and by terrorism, with the result that 
the State must be able, in order effectively to 
counter such threats, to undertake the secret 
surveillance of subversive elements operating 
within its jurisdiction. The Court has therefore 
to accept that the existence of some legisla-
tion granting powers of secret surveillance 
over the mail, post and telecommunications 
is, under exceptional conditions, necessary in a 
democratic society in the interests of national 
security and/or for the prevention of disorder 
or crime.

49. As concerns the fixing of the conditions under 
which the system of surveillance is to be op-
erated, the Court points out that the domestic 
legislature enjoys a certain discretion. It is cer-
tainly not for the Court to substitute for the as-
sessment of the national authorities any other 
assessment of what might be the best policy in 
this field (cf., mutatis mutandis, the De Wilde, 
Ooms and Versyp judgment of 18 June 1971, 
Series A no. 12, pp. 45-46, para. 93, and the 
Golder judgment of 21 February 1975, Series 
A no. 18, pp. 21-22, para. 45; cf., for Article 10 
para. 2, the Engel and others judgment of 8 
June 1976, Series A no. 22, pp. 41-42, para. 100, 
and the Handyside judgment of 7 December 
1976, Series A no. 24, p. 22, para. 48).

Nevertheless, the Court stresses that this does 
not mean that the Contracting States enjoy 
an unlimited discretion to subject persons 
within their jurisdiction to secret surveillance. 
The Court, being aware of the danger such a 
law poses of undermining or even destroying 
democracy on the ground of defending it, af-
firms that the Contracting States may not, in 
the name of the struggle against espionage 
and terrorism, adopt whatever measures they 
deem appropriate.

50. The Court must be satisfied that, whatever sys-
tem of surveillance is adopted, there exist ad-
equate and effective guarantees against abuse. 
This assessment has only a relative character: it 
depends on all the circumstances of the case, 
such as the nature, scope and duration of the 
possible measures, the grounds required for 
ordering such measures, the authorities com-
petent to permit, carry out and supervise such 
measures, and the kind of remedy provided by 
the national law.

The functioning of the system of secret sur-
veillance established by the contested legisla-
tion, as modified by the Federal Constitutional 
Court’s judgment of 15 December 1970, must 

therefore be examined in the light of the Con-
vention.

51. According to the G 10, a series of limitative 
conditions have to be satisfied before a sur-
veillance measure can be imposed. Thus, the 
permissible restrictive measures are confined 
to cases in which there are factual indications 
for suspecting a person of planning, commit-
ting or having committed certain serious crimi-
nal acts; measures may only be ordered if the 
establishment of the facts by another method 
is without prospects of success or considerably 
more difficult; even then, the surveillance may 
cover only the specific suspect or his presumed 
"contact-persons" (see paragraph 17 above). 
Consequently, so-called exploratory or general 
surveillance is not permitted by the contested 
legislation.

Surveillance may be ordered only on written 
application giving reasons, and such an ap-
plication may be made only by the head, or 
his substitute, of certain services; the decision 
thereon must be taken by a Federal Minister 
empowered for the purpose by the Chancellor 
or, where appropriate, by the supreme Land 
authority (see paragraph 18 above). Accord-
ingly, under the law there exists an administra-
tive procedure designed to ensure that meas-
ures are not ordered haphazardly, irregularly 
or without due and proper consideration. In 
addition, although not required by the Act, the 
competent Minister in practice and except in 
urgent cases seeks the prior consent of the G 
10 Commission (see paragraph 21 above).

52. The G 10 also lays down strict conditions with 
regard to the implementation of the surveil-
lance measures and to the processing of the 
information thereby obtained. The measures 
in question remain in force for a maximum of 
three months and may be renewed only on 
fresh application; the measures must immedi-
ately be discontinued once the required con-
ditions have ceased to exist or the measures 
themselves are no longer necessary; knowl-
edge and documents thereby obtained may 
not be used for other ends, and documents 
must be destroyed as soon as they are no long-
er needed to achieve the required purpose 
(see paragraphs 18 and 20 above).

As regards the implementation of the meas-
ures, an initial control is carried out by an of-
ficial qualified for judicial office. This official 
examines the information obtained before 
transmitting to the competent services such 
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information as may be used in accordance with 
the Act and is relevant to the purpose of the 
measure; he destroys any other intelligence 
that may have been gathered (see paragraph 
20 above).

53. Under the G 10, while recourse to the courts 
in respect of the ordering and implementation 
of measures of surveillance is excluded, subse-
quent control or review is provided instead, in 
accordance with Article 10 para. 2 of the Basic 
Law, by two bodies appointed by the people’s 
elected representatives, namely, the Parlia-
mentary Board and the G 10 Commission.

The competent Minister must, at least once 
every six months, report on the application of 
the G 10 to the Parliamentary Board consisting 
of five Members of Parliament; the Members of 
Parliament are appointed by the Bundestag in 
proportion to the parliamentary groupings, the 
opposition being represented on the Board. In 
addition, the Minister is bound every month to 
provide the G 10 Commission with an account 
of the measures he has ordered. In practice, he 
seeks the prior consent of this Commission. 
The latter decides, ex officio or on application 
by a person believing himself to be under sur-
veillance, on both the legality of and the neces-
sity for the measures in question; if it declares 
any measures to be illegal or unnecessary, the 
Minister must terminate them immediately. 
The Commission members are appointed for 
the current term of the Bundestag by the Par-
liamentary Board after consultation with the 
Government; they are completely independ-
ent in the exercise of their functions and can-
not be subject to instructions (see paragraph 
21 above).

54. The Government maintain that Article 8 para. 2 
(art. 8-2) does not require judicial control of se-
cret surveillance and that the system of review 
established under the G 10 does effectively 
protect the rights of the individual. The appli-
cants, on the other hand, qualify this system 
as a "form of political control", inadequate in 
comparison with the principle of judicial con-
trol which ought to prevail.

It therefore has to be determined whether the 
procedures for supervising the ordering and 
implementation of the restrictive measures 
are such as to keep the "interference" resulting 
from the contested legislation to what is "nec-
essary in a democratic society".

55. Review of surveillance may intervene at three 
stages: when the surveillance is first ordered, 

while it is being carried out, or after it has been 
terminated. As regards the first two stages, the 
very nature and logic of secret surveillance dic-
tate that not only the surveillance itself but also 
the accompanying review should be effected 
without the individual’s knowledge. Conse-
quently, since the individual will necessarily be 
prevented from seeking an effective remedy 
of his own accord or from taking a direct part 
in any review proceedings, it is essential that 
the procedures established should themselves 
provide adequate and equivalent guarantees 
safeguarding the individual’s rights. In addi-
tion, the values of a democratic society must 
be followed as faithfully as possible in the su-
pervisory procedures if the bounds of neces-
sity, within the meaning of Article 8 para. 2 (art. 
8-2), are not to be exceeded. One of the funda-
mental principles of a democratic society is the 
rule of law, which is expressly referred to in the 
Preamble to the Convention (see the Golder 
judgment of 21 February 1975, Series A no. 18, 
pp. 16-17, para. 34). The rule of law implies, in-
ter alia, that an interference by the executive 
authorities with an individual’s rights should 
be subject to an effective control which should 
normally be assured by the judiciary, at least in 
the last resort, judicial control offering the best 
guarantees of independence, impartiality and 
a proper procedure.

56. Within the system of surveillance established 
by the G 10, judicial control was excluded, be-
ing replaced by an initial control effected by an 
official qualified for judicial office and by the 
control provided by the Parliamentary Board 
and the G 10 Commission.

The Court considers that, in a field where abuse 
is potentially so easy in individual cases and 
could have such harmful consequences for 
democratic society as a whole, it is in principle 
desirable to entrust supervisory control to a 
judge.

Nevertheless, having regard to the nature of 
the supervisory and other safeguards provided 
for by the G 10, the Court concludes that the 
exclusion of judicial control does not exceed 
the limits of what may be deemed necessary in 
a democratic society. The Parliamentary Board 
and the G 10 Commission are independent of 
the authorities carrying out the surveillance, 
and are vested with sufficient powers and 
competence to exercise an effective and con-
tinuous control. Furthermore, the democratic 
character is reflected in the balanced member-
ship of the Parliamentary Board. The opposi-
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tion is represented on this body and is there-
fore able to participate in the control of the 
measures ordered by the competent Minister 
who is responsible to the Bundestag. The two 
supervisory bodies may, in the circumstances 
of the case, be regarded as enjoying sufficient 
independence to give an objective ruling.

The Court notes in addition that an individual 
believing himself to be under surveillance has 
the opportunity of complaining to the G 10 
Commission and of having recourse to the 
Constitutional Court (see paragraph 23 above). 
However, as the Government conceded, these 
are remedies which can come into play only in 
exceptional circumstances.

57. As regards review a posteriori, it is necessary to 
determine whether judicial control, in particu-
lar with the individual’s participation, should 
continue to be excluded even after surveillance 
has ceased. Inextricably linked to this issue is 
the question of subsequent notification, since 
there is in principle little scope for recourse to 
the courts by the individual concerned unless 
he is advised of the measures taken without 
his knowledge and thus able retrospectively to 
challenge their legality.

The applicants’ main complaint under Article 
8 (art. 8) is in fact that the person concerned 
is not always subsequently informed after the 
suspension of surveillance and is not therefore 
in a position to seek an effective remedy before 
the courts. Their preoccupation is the danger 
of measures being improperly implemented 
without the individual knowing or being able 
to verify the extent to which his rights have 
been interfered with. In their view, effective 
control by the courts after the suspension of 
surveillance measures is necessary in a demo-
cratic society to ensure against abuses; other-
wise adequate control of secret surveillance is 
lacking and the right conferred on individuals 
under Article 8 (art. 8) is simply eliminated.

In the Government’s view, the subsequent 
notification which must be given since the 
Federal Constitutional Court’s judgment (see 
paragraphs 11 and 19 above) corresponds to 
the requirements of Article 8 para. 2 (art. 8-2). 
In their submission, the whole efficacy of secret 
surveillance requires that, both before and af-
ter the event, information cannot be divulged 
if thereby the purpose of the investigation is, 
or would be retrospectively, thwarted. They 
stressed that recourse to the courts is no long-
er excluded after notification has been given, 

various legal remedies then becoming avail-
able to allow the individual, inter alia, to seek 
redress for any injury suffered (see paragraph 
24 above).

58. In the opinion of the Court, it has to be ascer-
tained whether it is even feasible in practice to 
require subsequent notification in all cases.

The activity or danger against which a particu-
lar series of surveillance measures is directed 
may continue for years, even decades, after 
the suspension of those measures. Subsequent 
notification to each individual affected by a 
suspended measure might well jeopardise the 
long-term purpose that originally prompted 
the surveillance. Furthermore, as the Federal 
Constitutional Court rightly observed, such 
notification might serve to reveal the working 
methods and fields of operation of the intel-
ligence services and even possibly to identify 
their agents. In the Court’s view, in so far as 
the "interference" resulting from the contested 
legislation is in principle justified under Article 
8 para. 2 (art. 8-2) (see paragraph 48 above), 
the fact of not informing the individual once 
surveillance has ceased cannot itself be incom-
patible with this provision since it is this very 
fact which ensures the efficacy of the "inter-
ference". Moreover, it is to be recalled that, in 
pursuance of the Federal Constitutional Court’s 
judgment of 15 December 1970, the person 
concerned must be informed after the termi-
nation of the surveillance measures as soon as 
notification can be made without jeopardising 
the purpose of the restriction (see paragraphs 
11 and 19 above).

59. Both in general and in relation to the question 
of subsequent notification, the applicants have 
constantly invoked the danger of abuse as a 
ground for their contention that the legislation 
they challenge does not fulfil the requirements 
of Article 8 para. 2 (art. 8-2) of the Convention. 
While the possibility of improper action by a 
dishonest, negligent or over-zealous official 
can never be completely ruled out whatever 
the system, the considerations that matter for 
the purposes of the Court’s present review 
are the likelihood of such action and the safe-
guards provided to protect against it.

The Court has examined above (at paragraphs 
51 to 58) the contested legislation in the light, 
inter alia, of these considerations. The Court 
notes in particular that the G 10 contains vari-
ous provisions designed to reduce the effect 
of surveillance measures to an unavoidable 
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minimum and to ensure that the surveillance 
is carried out in strict accordance with the law. 
In the absence of any evidence or indication 
that the actual practice followed is otherwise, 
the Court must assume that in the democratic 
society of the Federal Republic of Germany, the 
relevant authorities are properly applying the 
legislation in issue.

The Court agrees with the Commission that 
some compromise between the requirements 
for defending democratic society and individ-
ual rights is inherent in the system of the Con-
vention (see, mutatis mutandis, the judgment 
of 23 July 1968 in the "Belgian Linguistic" case, 
Series A no. 6, p. 32, para. 5). As the Preamble 
to the Convention states, "Fundamental Free-
doms ... are best maintained on the one hand 
by an effective political democracy and on the 
other by a common understanding and obser-
vance of the Human Rights upon which (the 
Contracting States) depend". In the context 
of Article 8 (art. 8), this means that a balance 
must be sought between the exercise by the 
individual of the right guaranteed to him under 
paragraph 1 (art. 8-1) and the necessity under 
paragraph 2 (art. 8-2) to impose secret surveil-
lance for the protection of the democratic so-
ciety as a whole.

60. In the light of these considerations and of the 
detailed examination of the contested legis-
lation, the Court concludes that the German 
legislature was justified to consider the inter-
ference resulting from that legislation with 
the exercise of the right guaranteed by Arti-
cle 8 para. 1 (art. 8-1) as being necessary in a 
democratic society in the interests of national 
security and for the prevention of disorder or 
crime (Article 8 para. 2) (art. 8-2). Accordingly, 
the Court finds no breach of Article 8 (art. 8) of 
the Convention.

III. ON THE ALLEGED VIOLATION OF 
ARTICLE 13 (ART. 13)

61. The applicants also alleged a breach of Article 
13 (art. 13) which provides:
"Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in this Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity."

62. In the applicants’ view, the Contracting States 
are obliged under Article 13 (art. 13) to provide 

an effective remedy for any alleged breach of 
the Convention; any other interpretation of 
this provision would render it meaningless. On 
the other hand, both the Government and the 
Commission consider that there is no basis for 
the application of Article 13 (art. 13) unless a 
right guaranteed by another Article of the Con-
vention has been violated.

63. In the judgment of 6 February 1976 in the 
Swedish Engine Drivers’ Union case, the Court, 
having found there to be in fact an effective 
remedy before a national authority, considered 
that it was not called upon to rule whether 
Article 13 (art. 13) was applicable only when a 
right guaranteed by another Article of the Con-
vention has been violated (Series A no. 20, p. 
18, para. 50; see also the De Wilde, Ooms and 
Versyp judgment of 18 June 1971, Series A no. 
12, p. 46, para. 95). The Court proposes in the 
present case to decide on the applicability of 
Article 13 (art. 13), before examining, if neces-
sary, the effectiveness of any relevant remedy 
under German law.

64. Article 13 (art. 13) states that any individual 
whose Convention rights and freedoms "are 
violated" is to have an effective remedy before 
a national authority even where "the violation 
has been committed" by persons in an official 
capacity. This provision, read literally, seems to 
say that a person is entitled to a national rem-
edy only if a "violation" has occurred. However, 
a person cannot establish a "violation" before 
a national authority unless he is first able to 
lodge with such an authority a complaint to 
that effect. Consequently, as the minority in the 
Commission stated, it cannot be a prerequisite 
for the application of Article 13 (art. 13) that the 
Convention be in fact violated. In the Court’s 
view, Article 13 (art. 13) requires that where 
an individual considers himself to have been 
prejudiced by a measure allegedly in breach of 
the Convention, he should have a remedy be-
fore a national authority in order both to have 
his claim decided and, if appropriate, to obtain 
redress. Thus Article 13 (art. 13) must be inter-
preted as guaranteeing an "effective remedy 
before a national authority" to everyone who 
claims that his rights and freedoms under the 
Convention have been violated.

65. Accordingly, although the Court has found 
no breach of the right guaranteed to the ap-
plicants by Article 8 (art. 8), it falls to be ascer-
tained whether German law afforded the ap-
plicants "an effective remedy before a national 
authority" within the meaning of Article 13 (art. 
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13).

The applicants are not claiming that, in relation 
to particular surveillance measures actually ap-
plied to them, they lacked an effective remedy 
for alleged violation of their rights under the 
Convention. Rather, their complaint is directed 
against what they consider to be a shortcom-
ing in the content of the contested legislation. 
While conceding that some forms of recourse 
exist in certain circumstances, they contend 
that the legislation itself, since it prevents them 
from even knowing whether their rights under 
the Convention have been interfered with by 
a concrete measure of surveillance, thereby 
denies them in principle an effective remedy 
under national law. Neither the Commission 
nor the Government agree with this conten-
tion. Consequently, although the applicants 
are challenging the terms of the legislation 
itself, the Court must examine, inter alia, what 
remedies are in fact available under German 
law and whether these remedies are effective 
in the circumstances.

66. The Court observes firstly that the applicants 
themselves enjoyed "an effective remedy", 
within the meaning of Article 13 (art. 13), in 
so far as they challenged before the Federal 
Constitutional Court the conformity of the rel-
evant legislation with their right to respect for 
correspondence and with their right of access 
to the courts. Admittedly, that Court examined 
the applicants’ complaints with reference not 
to the Convention but solely to the Basic Law. 
It should be noted, however, that the rights 
invoked by the applicants before the Consti-
tutional Court are substantially the same as 
those whose violation was alleged before the 
Convention institutions (cf., mutatis mutandis, 
the judgment of 6 February 1976 in the Swed-
ish Engine Drivers’ Union case, Series A no. 20, 
p. 18, para. 50). A reading of the judgment of 
15 December 1970 reveals that the Constitu-
tional Court carefully examined the complaints 
brought before it in the light, inter alia, of the 
fundamental principles and democratic values 
embodied in the Basic Law.

67. As regards the issue whether there is "an effec-
tive remedy" in relation to the implementation 
of concrete surveillance measures under the G 
10, the applicants argued in the first place that 
to qualify as a "national authority", within the 
meaning of Article 13 (art. 13), a body should 
at least be composed of members who are im-
partial and who enjoy the safeguards of judicial 
independence. The Government in reply sub-

mitted that, in contrast to Article 6 (art. 6), Arti-
cle 13 (art. 13) does not require a legal remedy 
through the courts.

In the Court’s opinion, the authority referred 
to in Article 13 (art. 13) may not necessarily in 
all instances be a judicial authority in the strict 
sense (see the Golder judgment of 21 February 
1975, Series A no. 18, p. 16, para. 33). Neverthe-
less, the powers and procedural guarantees an 
authority possesses are relevant in determin-
ing whether the remedy before it is effective.

68. The concept of an "effective remedy", in the 
applicants’ submission, presupposes that the 
person concerned should be placed in a posi-
tion, by means of subsequent information, to 
defend himself against any inadmissible en-
croachment upon his guaranteed rights. Both 
the Government and the Commission were 
agreed that no unrestricted right to notifica-
tion of surveillance measures can be deduced 
from Article 13 (art. 13) once the contested leg-
islation, including the lack of information, has 
been held to be "necessary in a democratic so-
ciety" for any one of the purposes mentioned 
in Article 8 (art. 8).

The Court has already pointed out that it is 
the secrecy of the measures which renders it 
difficult, if not impossible, for the person con-
cerned to seek any remedy of his own accord, 
particularly while surveillance is in progress 
(see paragraph 55 above). Secret surveillance 
and its implications are facts that the Court, 
albeit to its regret, has held to be necessary, 
in modern-day conditions in a democratic so-
ciety, in the interests of national security and 
for the prevention of disorder or crime (see 
paragraph 48 above). The Convention is to be 
read as a whole and therefore, as the Commis-
sion indicated in its report, any interpretation 
of Article 13 (art. 13) must be in harmony with 
the logic of the Convention. The Court cannot 
interpret or apply Article 13 (art. 13) so as to ar-
rive at a result tantamount in fact to nullifying 
its conclusion that the absence of notification 
to the person concerned is compatible with 
Article 8 (art. 8) in order to ensure the efficacy 
of surveillance measures (see paragraphs 58 to 
60 above). Consequently, the Court, consist-
ently with its conclusions concerning Article 8 
(art. 8), holds that the lack of notification does 
not, in the circumstances of the case, entail a 
breach of Article 13 (art. 13).

69. For the purposes of the present proceedings, 
an "effective remedy" under Article 13 (art. 13) 
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must mean a remedy that is as effective as can 
be having regard to the restricted scope for re-
course inherent in any system of secret surveil-
lance. It therefore remains to examine the vari-
ous remedies available to the applicants under 
German law in order to see whether they are 
"effective" in this limited sense.

70. Although, according to the G 10, there can be 
no recourse to the courts in respect of the or-
dering and implementation of restrictive meas-
ures, certain other remedies are nevertheless 
open to the individual believing himself to be 
under surveillance: he has the opportunity of 
complaining to the G 10 Commission and to 
the Constitutional Court (see paragraphs 21 
and 23 above). Admittedly, the effectiveness of 
these remedies is limited and they will in prin-
ciple apply only in exceptional cases. However, 
in the circumstances of the present proceed-
ings, it is hard to conceive of more effective 
remedies being possible.

71. On the other hand, in pursuance of the Federal 
Constitutional Court’s judgment of 15 Decem-
ber 1970, the competent authority is bound to 
inform the person concerned as soon as the 
surveillance measures are discontinued and 
notification can be made without jeopardising 
the purpose of the restriction (see paragraphs 
11 and 19 above). From the moment of such 
notification, various legal remedies - before 
the courts - become available to the individual. 
According to the information supplied by the 
Government, the individual may: in an action 
for a declaration, have reviewed by an admin-
istrative court the lawfulness of the application 
to him of the G 10 and the conformity with 
the law of the surveillance measures ordered; 
bring an action for damages in a civil court if 
he has been prejudiced; bring an action for 
the destruction or, if appropriate, restitution of 
documents; finally, if none of these remedies is 
successful, apply to the Federal Constitutional 
Court for a ruling as to whether there has been 
a breach of the Basic Law (see paragraph 24 
above).

72. Accordingly, the Court considers that, in the 
particular circumstances of this case, the ag-
gregate of remedies provided for under Ger-
man law satisfies the requirements of Article 
13 (art. 13).

IV. ON THE ALLEGED VIOLATION OF 
ARTICLE 6 PARA. 1 (ART. 6-1)

73. The applicants finally alleged a breach of Arti-
cle 6 para. 1 (art. 6-1) which provides:
"In the determination of his civil rights and
obligationsorofanycriminal chargeagainst
him,everyone isentitled toa fair andpublic
hearingwithinareasonabletimebyaninde-
pendent and impartial tribunal established
by law. Judgment shall bepronouncedpub-
liclybutthepressandpublicmaybeexcluded
fromallorpartof the trial in the interestsof
morals, public order or national security in a
democraticsociety,wheretheinterestsof ju-
venilesortheprotectionoftheprivatelifeof
thepartiessorequire,ortotheextentstrictly
necessaryintheopinionofthecourtinspecial
circumstances where publicity would preju-
dicetheinterestsofjustice."

74. According to the applicants, the surveillance 
measures which can be taken under the con-
tested legislation amount both to an inter-
ference with a "civil right", and to the laying 
of a "criminal charge" within the meaning of 
Article 6 para. 1 (art. 6-1). In their submission, 
the legislation violates this Article (art. 6-1) in 
so far as it does not require notification to the 
person concerned in all cases after the termi-
nation of surveillance measures and excludes 
recourse to the courts to test the lawfulness of 
such measures. On the other hand, both the 
Government and the Commission concur in 
thinking that Article 6 para. 1 (art. 6-1) does not 
apply to the facts of the case under either the 
"civil" or the "criminal" head.

75. The Court has held that in the circumstances of 
the present case the G 10 does not contravene 
Article 8 (art. 8) in authorising a secret surveil-
lance of mail, post and telecommunications 
subject to the conditions specified (see para-
graphs 39 to 60 above).

Since the Court has arrived at this conclusion, 
the question whether the decisions authoris-
ing such surveillance under the G 10 are cov-
ered by the judicial guarantee set forth in Ar-
ticle 6 (art. 6) – assuming this Article (art. 6) to 
be applicable - must be examined by drawing 
a distinction between two stages: that before, 
and that after, notification of the termination of 
surveillance.

As long as it remains validly secret, the decision 
placing someone under surveillance is thereby 
incapable of judicial control on the initiative of 
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the person concerned, within the meaning of 
Article 6 (art. 6); as a consequence, it of neces-
sity escapes the requirements of that Article.

The decision can come within the ambit of 
the said provision only after discontinuance of 
the surveillance. According to the information 
supplied by the Government, the individual 
concerned, once he has been notified of such 
discontinuance, has at his disposal several legal 
remedies against the possible infringements of 
his rights; these remedies would satisfy the re-
quirements of Article 6 (art. 6) (see paragraphs 
24 and 71 above).

The Court accordingly concludes that, even if 
it is applicable, Article 6 (art. 6) has not been 
violated.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT

1. Holds unanimously that it has jurisdiction to 
rule on the question whether the applicants 
can claim to be victims within the meaning of 
Article 25 (art. 25) of the Convention;

2. Holds unanimously that the applicants can 
claim to be victims within the meaning of the 
aforesaid Article (art. 25);

3. Holds unanimously that there has been no 
breach of Article 8, Article 13 or Article 6 (art. 
8, art. 13, art. 6) of the Convention.

Done in French and English, both texts being au-
thentic, at the Human Rights Building, Strasbourg, 
this sixth day of September, nineteen hundred and 
seventy-eight.

Gérard WIARDA, Vice-President
Herbert PETzOLD, Deputy Registrar

The separate opinion of Judge PINHEIRO FARINHA 
is annexed to the present judgment in accordance 
with Article 51 para. 2 (art. 51-2) of the Convention 
and Rule 50 para. 2 of the Rules of Court.

sEPARAtE oPInIon 
oF JUDGE PInHEIRo 
FARInHA
(Translation)

I agree with the judgment’s conclusions, but on dif-

ferent grounds.

1. The G 10 Act specifies, in Article 1 para. 1, the 
cases in which the competent authorities may 
impose restrictions, that is to say, may open 
and inspect mail and post, read telegraphic 
messages, listen to and record telephone con-
versations. It empowers those authorities so to 
act, inter alia, in order to protect against "immi-
nent dangers" threatening the "free democrat-
ic constitutional order", "the existence or the 
security of the Federation or of a Land", "the 
security of the (allied) armed forces" stationed 
on the territory of the Republic and the security 
of "the troops of one of the Three Powers sta-
tioned in the Land of Berlin". According to Arti-
cle 1 para. 2, these measures may be taken only 
where there are factual indications (tatsäch-
liche Anhaltspunkte) for suspecting a person 
of planning, committing, or having commit-
ted certain criminal acts punishable under the 
Criminal Code, such as offences against the 
peace or security of the State (sub-paragraph 
1, no. 1), the democratic order (sub-paragraph 
1, no. 2), external security (sub-paragraph 1, no. 
3) and the security of the allied armed forces 
(sub-paragraph 1, no. 5) (see paragraph 17 of 
the judgment).

For all those persons to whom the G 10 can be 
applied, the mere facts of its existence creates a 
very real menace that their exercise of the right 
to respect for their private and family life and 
their correspondence may be the subject of 
surveillance.

Clearly, therefore, a person may claim to be a 
victim for the purposes of Article 25 (art. 25) of 
the Convention. Consequently, the applicants 
have a direct interest (Jose Alberto dos Reis, 
Codigo do Processo Civil Anotado, vol. 1, p. 77), 
which is an ideal condition (Carnelutti, Sistemo 
del diritto processuale civile, vol. 1, pp. 361 and 
366) for an application to the Commission.

In my view, the applicants are the victims of a 
menace and for this reason can claim to be vic-
tims within the meaning of Article 25 (art. 25).

2. I would mention in passing one point of con-
cern, namely, that the majority opinion, con-
tained in paragraph 56, could take the interpre-
tation of Article 8 (art. 8) in a direction which, if I 
may say so, might not be without risk.

The measures are ordered, on written appli-
cation giving reasons, either by the supreme 
Land authority in cases falling within its juris-
diction or by a Federal Minister empowered for 
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the purpose by the Chancellor. The Chancellor 
has entrusted these functions to the Ministers 
of the Interior and of Defence, each of whom, 
in the sphere falling within his competence, 
must personally take the decision as to the 
application of the measures (Article 1 para. 5, 
sub-paragraphs 1 and 2) (see paragraph 18 of 
the judgment).

Implementation of the measures ordered is 
supervised by an official qualified for judicial 
office (Article 1 para. 7, sub-paragraph 1) (see 
paragraph 20 of the judgment).

I believe that separation of powers is a basic 
principle of a democratic society and that, 
since the measures can be ordered where 
there are mere factual indications that criminal 
acts are about to be or are in the course of be-
ing committed, this principle requires that the 
measures be ordered by an independent judge 
- as was in fact contemplated by the German 
legislature (see paragraph 22 of the judgment).

I have difficulty in accepting that the political 
authority may decide by itself whether there 
exist factual indications that criminal acts are 
about to be or are in the course of being com-
mitted.

3. Acting in the general interest, the States, as 
the High Contracting Parties, safeguard the 
Convention against any breaches attributable 
to another State; such breaches can consist in 
the danger and threat to democracy which the 
publication of a law in itself may pose.

In cases originating in an application by indi-
viduals, it is necessary to show, in addition to 
the threat or danger, that there has been a spe-
cific violation of the Convention of which they 
claim to be the victims.

There is no doubt that a law can in itself violate 
the rights of an individual if it is directly appli-
cable to that individual without any specific 
measure of implementation.

This is the case with a law which denies those 
who reside in a particular area access to certain 
educational establishments, and with a law 
which makes sex education one of the com-
pulsory subjects on the curriculum: these laws 
are applicable without the need for any imple-
menting measure (see the "Belgian Linguistic" 
case and the Kjeldsen, Busk Madsen and Ped-
ersen case).

The same does not hold true for the German 
G 10.

The Act certainly makes provision for tele-
phone-tapping and inspection of mail, al-
though it delimits the scope of such measures 
and regulates the methods of enforcing them.

Surveillance of an "exploratory" or general kind 
is not, however, authorised by the legislation 
in question. If it were, then the Act would be 
directly applicable.

Instead, the measures cannot be applied with-
out a specific decision by the supreme Land 
authority or the competent Federal Minister 
who must, in addition, consider whether there 
exist any factual indications that a criminal act 
is about to be or is in the course of being com-
mitted.

Thus, only where a surveillance measure has 
been authorised and taken against a given in-
dividual does any question arise of an interfer-
ence by a public authority with the exercise of 
that individual’s right to respect for his private 
and family life and his correspondence.

So far as the case sub judice is concerned, on 
the one hand, the applicants do not know 
whether the G 10 has in fact been applied to 
them (see paragraph 12 of the judgment) and, 
on the other hand, the respondent Govern-
ment state - and we have no reason to doubt 
this statement - that "at no time have surveil-
lance measures provided for by the Act passed 
in pursuance of Article 10 of the Basic Law 
been ordered or implemented against the ap-
plicants.

The applicants have not been subjected to 
such measures either as persons suspected of 
one or more of the offences specified in the Act 
or as third parties within the meaning of Article 
1, paragraph 2, sub-paragraph 2, of the G 10.

There is also no question of the applicants’ hav-
ing been indirectly involved in a surveillance 
measure directed against another person - at 
least, not in any fashion which would have per-
mitted their identification.

Finally, there is no question of the applicants’ 
having been subjected to surveillance by mis-
take - for example through confusion over a 
telephone number -, since in such cases the 
person concerned is notified of the surveillance 
measure" (see paragraph 13 of the judgment).

The Court may take into consideration only the 
case of the applicants (Engel and others judg-
ment of 8 June 1976, Series A no. 22, p. 43, para. 
106) and not the situation of other persons not 
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having authorised them to lodge an applica-
tion with the Commission in their name.

These are the reasons which lead me to con-
clude, as the Court does, that the case sub 
judice does not disclose any violation of the 
Convention.
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DISCLOSURE, SECRET INFORMATION, PRIVATE PERSON, 
PUBLIC INTEREST, DEMOCRACY, CONFIDENTIALITY

IN THE CASE Of GuJA v. MOLDOvA,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting as a 
Grand Chamber composed of:
Jean-Paul Costa, President,  
Christos Rozakis,  
Nicolas Bratza,  
Boštjan M. Zupančič,  
Peer Lorenzen,  
Francoise Tulkens,  
Giovanni Bonello,  
Josep Casadevall,  
Rait Maruste,  
Kristaq Traja,  
Snejana Botoucharova,  
Stanislav Pavlovschi,  
Lech Garlicki,  
Alvina Gyulumyan,  
Ljiljana Mijović,  
Mark Villiger,  
Päivi Hirvelä, judges,  
and Erik Fribergh, Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 6 June 2007 and 
9 January 2008,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

14277/04) against the Republic of Moldova 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of the 
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Conven-
tion”) by Mr Iacob Guja (“the applicant”) on 30 
March 2004.

2. The applicant was represented by Mr V. Grib-
incea and Mr V. Zamă, lawyers practising in 
Chişinău and members of the non-govern-
mental organisation “Lawyers for Human 
Rights”. The Moldovan Government (“the Gov-
ernment”) were represented by their Agents, 
Mr V. Pârlog and Mr V. Grosu.

3. The applicant alleged a breach of his right to 
freedom of expression under Article 10 of the 
Convention, in particular the right to impart in-
formation, as a result of his dismissal from the 
Prosecutor General's Office for divulging two 
documents which in his opinion disclosed in-
terference by a high-ranking politician in pend-
ing criminal proceedings.

4. The application was allocated to the Fourth 
Section of the Court (Rule 52 § 1 of the Rules 
of Court). On 28 March 2006 a Chamber of that 
Section decided to give notice of the applica-
tion to the Government. Under the provisions 
of Article 29 § 3 of the Convention, it decided 
to examine the merits of the application at the 
same time as its admissibility. On 20 February 
2007 a Chamber composed of Nicolas Bratza, 
President, Josep Casadevall, Giovanni Bonello, 
Ljiljana Mijović, Kristaq Traja, Stanislav Pav-
lovschi and Lech Garlicki, judges, and also of 
Lawrence Early, Section Registrar, relinquished 
jurisdiction in favour of the Grand Chamber, 
neither of the parties having objected to relin-
quishment (Article 30 of the Convention and 
Rule 72).

5. The composition of the Grand Chamber was 
determined according to the provisions of Arti-
cle 27 §§ 2 and 3 of the Convention and Rule 
24 of the Rules of Court.

6. The applicant and the Government each filed 
observations on the admissibility and merits. 
The parties replied in writing to each other's 
observations.

7. A hearing took place in public in the Human 
Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 6 June 2007 
(Rule 59 § 3).

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Mr v. Grosu, Agent,

Mr G. zamisnîi, Adviser;

(b) for the applicant

Mr v. Gribincea,

Mr v. zamă, Counsel,

Mr I. Guja, Applicant.

The Court heard addresses by Mr Grosu, Mr 
Gribincea and Mr Zamă.
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tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

8. The applicant, Mr Iacob Guja, was born in 1970 
and lives in Chişinău. At the material time he 
was the Head of the Press Department of the 
Prosecutor General's Office.

1.Backgroundtothecase
9. On 21 February 2002 four police officers (M.I., 

B.A., I.P. and G.V.) arrested ten persons sus-
pected of offences related to the Parliamentary 
elections; one of them was also suspected of 
being the leader of a criminal gang. Later the 
suspects were released from detention and 
complained to the Prosecutor's Office of ill-
treatment and illegal detention by the four 
police officers. As a result of their complaint a 
criminal investigation was initiated against the 
police officers on charges of, inter alia, ill-treat-
ment and unlawful detention.

10. In June 2002 the four police officers wrote let-
ters, which they signed jointly, to President 
Voronin, Prime Minister Tarlev and Deputy 
Speaker of Parliament Mişin seeking protection 
from prosecution. They set out their views on 
the criminal proceedings and complained that 
the actions of the Prosecutor's Office were abu-
sive. They asked for the legality of the criminal 
charges that had been brought against them 
to be verified. On 21 June 2002 Mr Mişin for-
warded the letter he had received, with an ac-
companying note, to the Prosecutor General's 
Office. The note was written on the official 
headed notepaper of the Parliament and was 
not marked as being confidential. It stated as 
follows:
“DearMrRusu,

A question arises after reading this letter: is
theDeputyProsecutorGeneralfightingcrime
or the police? This issue ismade evenmore
pressingby the fact that thepolicemencon-
cernedarefromoneofthebestteamsinthe
Ministry of Internal Affairs, whose activity is
nowbeingblockedasaresultoftheeffortsof
employeesoftheProsecutorGeneral'sOffice.I
askyoutogetpersonallyinvolvedinthiscase
andsolveitinstrictcompliancewiththelaw.”

11. In January 2003 Mr Voronin made a visit to the 
Centre for Fighting Economic Crime and Cor-
ruption during which he discussed, inter alia, 
the problem of the undue pressure some pub-

lic officials were putting on law-enforcement 
bodies in respect of pending criminal proceed-
ings. The President made a call to fight corrup-
tion and asked law-enforcement officers to dis-
regard any attempts by public officials to put 
them under pressure. The declarations of the 
President were made public by the media.

12. On an unspecified date the criminal proceed-
ings against the police officers were discontin-
ued.

2.Theleakingofthedocuments
13. A few days after Mr Voronin made his call to 

fight corruption, the applicant sent to a news-
paper, the Jurnal de Chişinău, copies of two 
letters (“the letters”) that had been received by 
the Prosecutor General's Office.

14. The first was the note written by Mr Mişin (see 
paragraph 10 above). The second had been 
written by Mr A. Ursachi, a deputy minister 
in the Ministry of Internal Affairs, and was ad-
dressed to a deputy prosecutor general. It was 
written on the official headed notepaper of the 
Ministry of Internal Affairs and was not marked 
confidential. It stated, inter alia:
“... PoliceMajorM.I. [oneof the four officers:
seeparagraph9above]wasconvictedon12
May1999 ...ofoffencesunderArticles116(2)
[illegal detention endangering life or health
or causing physical suffering], 185(2) [abuse
of power accompanied by acts of violence,
theuseofafirearmortorture]and193(2)[ex-
tractingaconfessionbyactsofviolenceand
insults]oftheCriminalCodeandsentencedto
afineof1440Moldovanlei(MDL)(128euros
(EUR)).Undersection2oftheAmnestyAct,he
wasexemptedfrompayingthefine.

... on 24 October 2001, Major M.I. was rein-
stated in his post at the Ministry of Internal
Affairs.”

3.ThearticleintheJurnaldeChişinău
15. On 31 January 2003 the Jurnal de Chişinău 

published an article entitled: “Vadim Mişin in-
timidates the prosecutors”. The article stated 
inter alia:
“At the end of last week, during a meeting
at the Centre for Fighting Economic Crime
andCorruption, the President called on law-
enforcementinstitutionstoco-operateinthe
fightagainstorganisedcrimeandcorruption
andaskedthemtoignoretelephonecallsfrom
senior public officials concerning cases that
werependingbeforethem.
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ThePresident'sinitiativeisnotaccidental.The
phenomenon has become very widespread,
especially during the last few years, and has
beenthesubjectofdebateinthemassmedia
andbyinternationalorganisations.

Recentlythepressreportedonthecaseofthe
CommunistParliamentarianA.J.,whohadat-
temptedtoinfluenceacriminal investigation
in respect of an old friend and high-ranking
officialattheMinistryofAgriculturewhohad
been caught red-handed. However, no legal
actionwastaken....

Also,thepressreportedthatMrMişinhadre-
quested the Prosecutor General to sack two
prosecutors,I.V.andP.B.involvedintheinves-
tigationintothedisappearanceoftheChiefof
theInformationTechnologyDepartment,P.D.,
apparentlyaftertheyhadfoundevidenceim-
plicatingMinistryofInternalAffairs'officialsin
wrongdoing.

The results of the internal investigation into
the activities of these two prosecutors are
notyetknown.However,sourcesatthePros-
ecutor'sOfficehavetoldthisnewspaperthat
eventhoughI.V.andP.B.havenotbeenfound
guilty,theyhavebeenaskedtoleaveatthein-
sistenceofsomeoneinauthority.

Now,while thedeclarations of the President
concerningtrading in influencearestill fresh
in the mind, we reveal a new investigation
concerninghigh-rankingofficials.

TheDeputySpeakerofParliamentisattempt-
ing to protect four police officers who are
undercriminal investigation.MrMişin'saffin-
itywithpolicemenisnotnew,sincehisroots
areinthepoliceforce.Oursourcesstatedthat
thisisnottheonlycaseinwhichMrMişinhas
intervenedonbehalfofpolicemenintrouble
withthelaw.

...

TheCiocanaProsecutor'sOfficeinitiatedcrimi-
nalproceedingsagainstfourpoliceofficers ...
aftertheyhadusedforceduringtheunlawful
arrestofagroupofpeople.

...[The]policeofficersassaultedthedetainees
bypunchingandkickingthem...Furthermore,
itwasfoundthatoneoftheofficershadmade
false statements in the police report on the
arrest...The fourpoliceofficerswerealsobe-
inginvestigatedforforciblyextractingconfes-
sions...

Theinvestigationlastedformorethanayear.
Whenitwasalmostover...thepoliceofficers
started to seek protection from those in au-
thority.

...

On 20 June 2002 the police officers wrote
letters to President Vladimir Voronin, Prime-
MinisterVasileTarlevandtheDeputySpeaker
ofParliament,VadimMişin,askingthemtoin-
tervene toend the investigation,which they
saidwasunwarranted.

...

The first to react to their letterwas theDep-
uty Speaker of Parliament, Vadim Mişin. On
21 June2002 ... he sent theProsecutorGen-
eralaletter,inwhich,inacommandingtone,
he asked him personally to intervene in the
case of the four policemen. Even though he
instructed the Prosecutor General to get in-
volved in this case 'in strict compliancewith
the law', the toneof the letter clearly shows
that hewas giving an order to examine the
caseveryquickly.

As a result of the intervention of the State's
most influential figures, the Prosecutor Gen-
eral's Office discontinued the criminal inves-
tigation against the policemen and ordered
an internal investigation into thecorrectness
ofthedecisiontobringcriminalproceedings
againstthem...

...

...SourcesfromtheMinistryofInternalAffairs
confirmedthattheofficerM.I.[oneofthefour
policemen] had [previously] been convicted
bytheCourtofAppeal,andorderedtopaya
criminalfineofMDL1,440.Inaccordancewith
theAmnestyAct,hewasexemptedfrompay-
ingthefine.Moreover,on24October2001...
he was reinstated at theMinistry of Internal
Affairs.

Without commenting on the judgment of
theCourt ofAppeal,wewish tomake some
remarks.M.I.wasconvictedonthebasisofAr-
ticles116,185and193of theCriminalCode
ofabuseofpower,forciblyextractingconfes-
sions and unlawful detention. For these of-
fences,theCriminalCodelaysdownsentenc-
esofonetofiveyears'imprisonment.Hewas
onlygivenafine.

Moreover,theMinistryofInternalAffairsrein-
statedhimwhilehewasstillunderinvestiga-
tion.”

16. The newspaper article was accompanied by 
pictures of the letters signed by Mr Mişin and 
Mr Ursachi.
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4.ThereactionoftheProsecutorGeneral's
Office

17. On an unspecified date the applicant was re-
quested by the Prosecutor General to explain 
how the two letters had come to be published 
by the press.

18. On 14 February 2003 the applicant wrote to 
the Prosecutor General admitting that he had 
sent the two letters to the newspaper. He stat-
ed inter alia:
“My act was a reaction to the declarations
madebythe[President]concerningthefight
against corruption and trading in influence.
Ididthisbecause Iwasconvincedthat Iwas
helping to fight thescourgeof trading in in-
fluence (trafic de influenţă), a phenomenon
which has become increasingly common of
late.

I believed and still believe that if each of us
were tohelpuncover thosewhoabuse their
position in order to obstruct the proper ad-
ministration of justice, the situation would
changeforthebetter.

Further, I consider that the letters I handed
overtotheJurnaldeChişinăuwerenotsecret.
Myintentionwasnottodoadisservicetothe
Prosecutor'sOffice,butonthecontrarytocre-
ateapositiveimageofit.”

19. On an unspecified date a prosecutor, I.D., who 
was suspected of having furnished the letters 
to the applicant, was dismissed.

20. On 17 February 2003 the applicant wrote a 
further letter to the Prosecutor General inform-
ing him that the letters had not been obtained 
through I.D. He added:
“If themanner inwhich Iacted isconsidered
abreachoftheinternalregulations,thenIam
theonewhoshouldbearresponsibility.

I acted in compliancewith the Access to In-
formation Act, the Prosecuting Authorities
ActandtheCriminalCode.Ibelievedthatthe
declarationsofthe[President]decryingactsof
corruptionandtrading in influenceweresin-
cere.Tomygreatregret,InotethatthePros-
ecutor General's Office has elevated a letter
fromapublicofficial (which inmyopinion is
aclearexampleofdirectpoliticalinvolvement
intheadministrationofjustice)tothestatusof
Statesecret.This fact,coupledwith I.D.'sdis-
missal,concernsmeandcausesmeseriously
todoubtthattheruleoflawandhumanrights
arerespectedintheRepublicofMoldova.”

21. On 3 March 2003 the applicant was dismissed. 

The letter of dismissal stated, inter alia, that 
the letters disclosed by the applicant to the 
newspaper were secret and that he had failed 
to consult the heads of other departments of 
the Prosecutor General's Office before handing 
them over, in breach of sections 1.4 and 4.11 
of the Internal Regulations of the Press Depart-
ment (see paragraph 31 below).

5.Thereinstatementproceedingsbroughtby
theapplicant

22. On 21 March 2003 the applicant brought a civil 
action against the Prosecutor General's Office 
seeking reinstatement. He argued, inter alia, 
that the letters he had disclosed to the news-
paper had not been classified as secret in ac-
cordance with the law, that he was not obliged 
to consult the heads of other departments be-
fore contacting the press, that he had given the 
letters to the newspaper at the newspaper's 
request, and that his dismissal constituted a 
breach of his right to freedom of expression.

23. On 16 September 2003 the Chişinău Court of 
Appeal dismissed the applicant's action. It stat-
ed, inter alia, that the applicant had breached 
his obligations under paragraph 1.4 of the In-
ternal Regulations of the Press Department by 
not consulting other departmental heads and 
under paragraph 4.11 of the Regulations by 
disclosing secret documents.

24. The applicant appealed. He relied on the same 
arguments as in his initial court action. He also 
argued that the disclosure of the letters to the 
newspaper had not in any way prejudiced his 
employer.

25. On 26 November 2003 the Supreme Court 
of Justice dismissed the appeal on the same 
grounds as the Chişinău Court of Appeal. Re-
ferring to the applicant's submissions concern-
ing freedom of expression, the Supreme Court 
stated that obtaining information through the 
abuse of one's position was not part of free-
dom of expression (dreptul la exprimare nu 
presupune dobândirea informaţiei abuziv, fo-
losind atribuţiile de serviciu).

26. Neither the Prosecutor General's Office nor the 
Deputy Speaker of Parliament Mr Mişin appear 
to have contested the authenticity of the let-
ters published in the Jurnal de Chişinău or the 
truthfulness of the information contained in 
the article of 31 January 2003 or to have taken 
any further action.
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6.ThecriminalcomplaintbytheJurnalde
Chişinău

27. Since the Prosecutor General's Office did not 
react in the manner the Jurnal de Chişinău had 
anticipated after the publication of the article 
on 31 January 2003 (see paragraph 15 above), 
the latter initiated court proceedings for an or-
der requiring the Prosecutor General's Office to 
initiate a criminal investigation into the alleged 
interference by Mr Mişin with an ongoing crim-
inal investigation. The newspaper argued, inter 
alia, that under the Code of Criminal Procedure, 
newspaper articles and letters published in 
newspapers could serve as a basis for the in-
stitution of criminal proceedings and that the 
Prosecutor General was under a duty to order 
an investigation.

28. The newspaper's action was dismissed by the 
Râşcani District Court on 25 March 2003 and 
by the Chişinău Regional Court on 9 April 2003. 
The courts found, inter alia, that the newspaper 
did not have legal standing to lodge a com-
plaint and that, in any event, the article of 31 
January 2003 was merely a newspaper article 
expressing a personal point of view, not an of-
ficial request to initiate a criminal investigation.

7.Thefollow-uparticlebytheJurnalde
Chişinău

29. On 14 March 2003 the Jurnal de Chişinău pub-
lished a follow-up to its article of 31 January 
2003, entitled “Mişin has launched a crack-
down on prosecutors”. The piece described 
the events that had followed the publication 
of the first article and stated that Mr Mişin had 
been infuriated by the article and had ordered 
the Prosecutor General to identify and punish 
those responsible for disclosing his note to 
the press. The Prosecutor General had acqui-
esced and declared war on subordinates who 
refused to tolerate political intervention in the 
workings of the criminal-justice system. The 
article stated that the actions of the Prosecu-
tor General were in line with the general trend 
that had been observed in recent years of re-
placing people with considerable professional 
experience who were not prepared to comply 
with the rules instituted by the new Govern-
ment with people from dubious backgrounds. 
It claimed that sources from the Prosecutor 
General's Office had told the newspaper that 
the Prosecutor General's Office had received 
systematic indications from Mr Mişin and the 
advisers to the President concerning who 
should be employed or dismissed. In the previ-

ous year alone, thirty experienced prosecutors 
had been dismissed from the Chişinău Pros-
ecutor's Office.

The article also gave an account of the appli-
cant's dismissal as a result of pressure from Mr 
Mişin, and stated that sources at the Prosecu-
tor General's Office had told the newspaper 
that the Office had received tens of letters from 
Mr Mişin and V.S. (another high-ranking public 
official) in connection with ongoing criminal 
investigations.

According to the newspaper's sources, two 
prosecutors had been dismissed at the insist-
ence of Mr Mişin because they had discovered 
incriminating material against him during an 
investigation into the disappearance of an im-
portant businessman, P.D. After their dismissal 
that criminal investigation had been brought 
to an end.

II. RELEVANT NON-CONVENTION 
MATERIALS

A. Domestic law and practice
1.TheLabourCode

30. Article 263/1 of the Labour Code provided at 
the material time that employees of the central 
public authorities could be dismissed for a seri-
ous breach of their professional duties.

2.TheInternalRegulationsofthePress
DepartmentoftheProsecutorGeneral's
Office

31. Sections 1.4 and 4.11 of the Internal Regula-
tions of the Press Department of the Prosecu-
tor General's Office read as follows:
“1.4ThePressDepartmentshallplanandor-
ganise, in conjunction with the editorial of-
ficesofnewspapers,magazines,andradioand
televisionstationsandwiththeheadsofother
departments of the Prosecutor General's Of-
fice, items forpublication in themassmedia
concerning the activities of the Prosecutor
General'sOffice.

...

4.11[TheHeadofthePressDepartment]isre-
sponsibleforthequalityofthepublishedma-
terials,theveracityoftheinformationreceived
andsuppliedandforpreservingconfidential-
ity in accordance with the legislation of the
RepublicofMoldova”.

32. At the material time neither the Internal Regu-
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lations of the Prosecutor's Office nor Moldovan 
legislation in general contained any provision 
concerning the disclosure by employees of 
acts of wrongdoing at their place of work.

3.TheCriminalCodeandtheCodeof
CriminalProcedure

33. The Criminal Code at the material time con-
tained in Article 190/1 a provision prohibiting 
any interference with a criminal investigation. 
It stated:
“Any interference with a criminal investiga-
tion, namely the illegal exercise of influence
inany formoverthepersoncarryingoutthe
investigation...shallbepunishedwithimpris-
onmentofuptotwoyearsora fineofupto
onehundredtimestheminimumwage.”

34. Article 90 of the Code of Criminal Procedure 
provided at the material time that, inter alia, 
information about offences contained in news-
paper articles or notes or letters published in 
a newspaper could constitute a ground for a 
prosecutor to commence a criminal investiga-
tion.

35. Article 122 of the Code of Criminal Procedure 
provided that at the investigation stage mate-
rials from a criminal file could not be disclosed 
except with the authorisation of the person in 
charge of the investigation.

4.Theorganisationoftheprosecuting
authorityinMoldova

36. According to Article 125 of the Constitution, 
prosecutors are independent.

37. The relevant parts of the Prosecuting Authori-
ties Act read as follows:

“Section 3. The fundamental principles 
governing the activity of the Prosecutor's Office

1.TheProsecutor'sOffice:

-shallexerciseitsfunctionsindependentlyof
the public authorities ... in accordance with
thelaw;...

3....Prosecutorsandinvestigatorsarepreclud-
edfrommembershipofanypoliticalpartyor
other socio-political organisations and shall
onlybeaccountablebeforethelaw...”

“Section 13. The Prosecutor General

1.TheProsecutorGeneralshall:

(i)beappointedbyParliamentonaproposal
bytheSpeakerofParliamentforatermofof-

ficeof5years;and

(ii) have a senior deputy andordinary depu-
ties,whoshallbeappointedbyParliamenton
thebasisofhisorherproposals...”

5.ThePetitionsActandtheStatusof
MembersofParliamentAct

38. The Petitions Act requires civil servants or gov-
ernment bodies to reply to written requests 
within thirty days. If they lack competence, 
they must forward the request to the compe-
tent body within three days.

39. The relevant provisions of the Status of Mem-
bers of Parliament Act of 7 April 1994 provide:

Section 22(1)

“MembersofParliamentshallhavetherightto
contactanyStatebody,non-governmentalor-
ganisationorofficialaboutproblemspertain-
ingtotheactivityofaMemberofParliament
andtoparticipateintheirexamination.”

Section 23

“(1)MembersofParliament, in their capacity
as representatives of the supreme legislative
authority,shallhavetherighttodemandthe
immediatecessationofanyunlawfulconduct.
Incaseofnecessity theymay requestofficial
bodies or persons to intervene to cause the
unlawfulconducttocease...”

B. Reports concerning the separation 
of powers and independence of the 
judiciary in Moldova

40. The relevant sections of the 2004 report of the 
International Commission of Jurists (ICJ) on the 
rule of law in Moldova stated:
“...ThemissiontoMoldovacarriedoutbythe
Centre for the Independence of Judges and
Lawyers of the International Commission of
Jurists (ICJ/CIJL) has concluded that, despite
efforts by the post-independence Moldovan
Government to reform its system of justice,
the rule of law suffers serious shortcomings
that must be addressed. The ICJ/CIJL found
thatthebreakdownintheseparationofpow-
ers has again resulted in a judiciary that is
largelysubmissivetothedictatesoftheGov-
ernment. The practice of 'telephone justice'
hasreturned.Theexecutiveisabletosubstan-
tiallyinfluencejudicialappointmentsthrough
theSupremeCouncilofMagistracythatlacks
independence.Beyondallegationsofcorrup-
tion,theMoldovanjudiciaryhassubstantially
regressed in the last three years, resulting in
courtdecisionsthatcanpervertthecourseof
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justicewhentheinterestsoftheGovernment
areatstake....”

41. The 2003 Freedom House report on Moldova 
stated, inter alia, that:
“...In2002,theprincipleoftheruleoflawwas
under challenge in Moldova... Also affect-
ing the fragile balance of power among the
legislative, executive, and judicial branches
ofgovernment in2002werea seriesof judi-
cial nominationsbasedon loyalty to the rul-
ing party, the dismissal of the ombudsman,
and attempts to limit the independence of
the Constitutional Court... In April 2002, the
Moldovan Association of Judges (MAJ) sig-
nalledthatthegovernmenthadstartedapro-
cessof 'masscleansing' in the judicialsector.
Seven judges lost their jobs. ... The situation
worsenedwhenPresidentVoroninrefusedto
prolongthemandatesof57otherjudges...”

42. The 2003 Report by Open Society Justice Initia-
tive and Freedom House Moldova stated, inter 
alia, the following:
“... there has been instituted the practice of
'taking under control' certain files, present-
ing interest to the Communist leaders or to
state authorities. This practice implies the
following:theHighCounciloftheMagistracy
(HCM)ortheSupremeCourt(bothinstitutions
are chairedby the sameperson) receives in-
structions from the President's office, from
Government or Parliament, referring to the
concerned case and required solution (such
instructions also exist in oral form). Follow-
ing these instructions, theSupremeCourtor
HCMaddressesdirectlytothechairmanofthe
court,wheretheparticularcaseisbeingcon-
sideredwiththeorderto'takeunderpersonal
control'theexaminationofoneorotherpar-
ticularfile.Theso-called'takingundercontrol'
in fact representsdirect instructionsonsolu-
tionsforspecificcases.”

C. Materials from the united Nations
43. The Termination of Employment Convention 

no. 158 of the International Labour Organisa-
tion, which was ratified by Moldova on 14 Feb-
ruary 1997, reads in so far as relevant:

Article 5

“The following, interalia, shallnotconstitute
validreasonsfortermination:

...

(c)thefilingofacomplaintortheparticipation
inproceedingsagainstanemployerinvolving
allegedviolationof lawsorregulationsorre-

course to competent administrative authori-
ties;

...”

44. The United Nations Convention against Cor-
ruption, which was adopted by the General 
Assembly by resolution no. 58/4 of 31 October 
2003 and has been in force since 14 December 
2005, reads in so far as relevant:

Article 33

“Protectionofreportingpersons

Each StateParty shall consider incorporating
into its domestic legal system appropriate
measures to provide protection against any
unjustified treatment foranypersonwho re-
portsingoodfaithandonreasonablegrounds
to the competent authorities any facts con-
cerning offences established in accordance
withthisConvention.”

At the date on which this judgment was 
adopted, the Convention had been signed by 
140 countries and ratified or acceded to by 77 
countries, not including the Republic of Mol-
dova.

D. Materials of the Council of Europe
45. The Council of Europe's Criminal Law Conven-

tion on Corruption of 27 January 1999 reads in 
so far as relevant:
“Preamble

ThememberStatesof theCouncilofEurope
andtheotherStatessignatoryhereto,

...

Emphasising that corruption threatens the
rule of law, democracy and human rights,
undermines good governance, fairness and
social justice, distorts competition, hinders
economic development and endangers the
stability of democratic institutions and the
moralfoundationsofsociety;

...

Haveagreedasfollows:

...

Article22–Protectionofcollaboratorsofjus-
ticeandwitnesses

EachPartyshalladoptsuchmeasuresasmay
benecessary toprovideeffectiveandappro-
priateprotectionfor:

a. thosewhoreport thecriminaloffenceses-
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tablishedinaccordancewithArticles2to14or
otherwiseco-operatewiththeinvestigatingor
prosecutingauthorities;

b.witnesseswhogive testimony concerning
theseoffences.”

The Explanatory Report to this Convention 
states as follows with regard to Article 22:
“111....theword'witnesses'referstopersons
whopossess informationrelevanttocriminal
proceedings concerning corruption offences
ascontainedinArticles2–14oftheConven-
tionandincludeswhistleblowers.”

This Convention was signed by Moldova on 24 
June 1999 and entered into force in respect of 
Moldova on 1 May 2004.

46. The Council of Europe's Civil Law Convention 
on Corruption of 4 November 1999 reads in so 
far as relevant:

“Preamble

ThememberStatesoftheCouncilofEurope,
the other States and the European Commu-
nity,signatorieshereto,

...

Emphasising that corruption represents a
major threat to the rule of law, democracy
andhumanrights, fairnessandsocial justice,
hinders economic development and endan-
gerstheproperandfairfunctioningofmarket
economies;

Recognising the adverse financial conse-
quencesofcorruptionto individuals,compa-
niesandStates,aswellas international insti-
tutions;

...

Haveagreedasfollows:

...

Article 9 – Protection of employees

EachPartyshallprovideinits internallawfor
appropriateprotectionagainstanyunjustified
sanctionforemployeeswhohavereasonable
groundstosuspectcorruptionandwhoreport
in good faith their suspicion to responsible
personsorauthorities.”

The Explanatory Report to this Convention 
states with regard to Article 9:
“66.ThisArticledealswiththeneedforeach
Party to take thenecessarymeasures topro-
tectemployees,whoreportingoodfaithand

onthebasisofreasonablegroundstheirsuspi-
cionsoncorruptpracticesorbehaviours,from
beingvictimisedinanyway.

67. As regards the necessary measures to
protect employees provided for by Article 9
of the Convention, the legislation of Parties
could,forinstance,providethatemployersbe
required topay compensation to employees
whoarevictimsofunjustifiedsanctions.

68.Inpracticecorruptioncasesaredifficultto
detectandinvestigateandemployeesorcol-
leagues(whetherpublicorprivate)oftheper-
sonsinvolvedareoftenthefirstpersonswho
findoutorsuspectthatsomethingiswrong.

69. The 'appropriate protection against any
unjustified sanction' implies that, on the ba-
sis of this Convention, any sanction against
employees based on the ground that they
hadreportedanactofcorruptiontopersons
or authorities responsible for receiving such
reports,willnotbejustified.Reportingshould
notbeconsideredasabreachofthedutyof
confidentiality. Examples of unjustified sanc-
tionsmaybeadismissalordemotionofthese
persons or otherwise acting in a way which
limitsprogressintheircareer.

70.Itshouldbemadeclearthat,althoughno
onecouldpreventemployersfromtakingany
necessary action against their employees in
accordancewith the relevantprovisions (e.g.
inthefieldoflabourlaw)applicabletothecir-
cumstancesofthecase,employersshouldnot
inflictunjustifiedsanctionsagainstemployees
solely on the ground that the latter had re-
portedtheirsuspiciontotheresponsibleper-
sonorauthority.

71. Therefore the appropriate protection
whichPartiesarerequiredtotakeshoulden-
courageemployeestoreporttheirsuspicions
totheresponsiblepersonorauthority.Indeed,
inmanycases,personswhohaveinformation
of corruption activities do not report them
mainlybecauseof fearof thepossiblenega-
tiveconsequences.

72. As far as employees are concerned, this
protection provided covers only the cases
wheretheyhavereasonablegroundtoreport
theirsuspicionandreportthemingoodfaith.
Inotherwords,itappliesonlytogenuinecases
andnottomaliciousones.”

This Convention was signed by Moldova on 4 
November 1999 and entered into force in re-
spect of Moldova on 1 July 2004.

47. The Recommendation on Codes of Conduct 
for Public Officials adopted by the Committee 
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of Ministers of the Council of Europe on 11 May 
2000 (Rec(2000)10), in so far as relevant, reads:

“Article 11

Having due regard for the right of access to
official information, the public official has a
dutytotreatappropriately,withallnecessary
confidentiality,allinformationanddocuments
acquiredbyhimorherinthecourseof,orasa
resultof,hisorheremployment.

Article 12 – Reporting

...

5.Thepublicofficialshouldreporttothecom-
petentauthoritiesanyevidence,allegationor
suspicionofunlawfulorcriminalactivityrelat-
ingtothepublicservicecomingtohisorher
knowledge in the course of, or arising from,
his or her employment. The investigation of
thereportedfactsshallbecarriedoutbythe
competentauthorities.

6. The public administration should ensure
thatnoprejudiceiscausedtoapublicofficial
who reportsanyof theaboveon reasonable
groundsandingoodfaith.”

tHE LAW
48. The applicant complained that his dismissal for 

the disclosure of the impugned letters to the 
Jurnal de Chişinău amounted to a breach of his 
right to freedom of expression and in particular 
of his right to impart information and ideas to 
third parties. Article 10 of the Convention reads 
as follows:
“1. Everyonehas the right to freedomof ex-
pression. This right shall include freedom to
hold opinions and to receive and impart in-
formation and ideaswithout interference by
public authority and regardless of frontiers.
This Article shall not prevent States from re-
quiring the licensing of broadcasting, televi-
sionorcinemaenterprises.

2.Theexerciseofthesefreedoms,sinceitcar-
rieswithitdutiesandresponsibilities,maybe
subjecttosuchformalities,conditions,restric-
tionsorpenaltiesasareprescribedbylawand
are necessary in a democratic society, in the
interestsofnationalsecurity, territorial integ-
rityorpublicsafety,forthepreventionofdis-
orderorcrime,fortheprotectionofhealthor
morals,fortheprotectionofthereputationor
rightsofothers,forpreventingthedisclosure
of information received in confidence, or for
maintaining theauthority and impartialityof

thejudiciary.”

I. THE ADMISSIBILITY OF THE CASE

A. The complaint under Article 6 of the 
Convention

49. In his initial application, the applicant submit-
ted a complaint under Article 6 of the Conven-
tion about the failure of the domestic courts to 
consider the arguments he had made in the 
reinstatement proceedings. However, in his 
subsequent submissions, the applicant asked 
the Court not to proceed with the examination 
of that complaint. Accordingly the Court will 
not examine it.

B. The complaint under Article 10 of the 
Convention

50. The Government did not contest the authen-
ticity of the letter that had been sent by Mr 
Mişin to the Prosecutor General. However, they 
argued that there had been no interference 
with the applicant's right to freedom of expres-
sion because he was not the author of the ar-
ticles that had been published in the Jurnal de 
Chişinău and had not been dismissed for exer-
cising his freedom of expression but simply for 
breaching the internal regulations of the Pros-
ecutor General's Office. In their view, since the 
applicant's complaints were in essence related 
to his labour rights, Article 10 was inapplicable.

51. The applicant argued that Article 10 was ap-
plicable in the present case, irrespective of the 
fact that he was not the author of the letters 
that had been sent to the newspaper. Rely-
ing on the cases of Thoma v. Luxembourg 
(no. 38432/97, ECHR 2001-III) and Jersild v. 
Denmark (judgment of 23 September 1994, 
Series A no. 298) he submitted that the Court 
had already found that freedom of expression 
also covered the right to disseminate informa-
tion received from third parties.

52. The Court reiterates that the protection of Arti-
cle 10 extends to the workplace in general and 
to public servants in particular (see Vogt v. Ger-
many, judgment of 26 September 1995, Series 
A no. 323, § 53; Wille v. Liechtenstein [GC], no. 
28396/95, § 41, ECHR 1999-VII; Ahmed and 
Others v. the United Kingdom, judgment of 2 
September 1998, Reports of Judgments and 
Decisions 1998-VI, § 56; and Fuentes Bobo v. 
Spain, no. 39293/98, § 38, 29 February 2000).

53. The applicant sent the letters to the news-
paper, which subsequently published them. 
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Since Article 10 includes the freedom to impart 
information and since the applicant was dis-
missed for his participation in the publication 
of the letters, the Court dismisses the Govern-
ment's preliminary objection.

54. The Court considers that the applicant's com-
plaint under Article 10 of the Convention raises 
questions of fact and law which are sufficiently 
serious for their determination to depend on 
an examination of the merits, and no grounds 
for declaring it inadmissible have been estab-
lished. The Court therefore declares the appli-
cation admissible. In accordance with its deci-
sion to apply Article 29 § 3 of the Convention 
(see paragraph 4 above), the Court will imme-
diately consider the merits of these complaints.

II. THE MERITS OF THE CASE

A. Existence of an interference
55. The Court found in paragraph 53 above that 

Article 10 was applicable to the present case. 
It further holds that the applicant's dismissal 
for making the letters public amounted to an 
“interference by a public authority” with his 
right to freedom of expression under the first 
paragraph of that Article.

56. Such interference will constitute a breach of 
Article 10 unless it was “prescribed by law”, 
pursued one or more legitimate aims under 
paragraph 2 and was “necessary in a democrat-
ic society” for the achievement of those aims.

B. Whether the interference was “prescribed 
by law”

57. In his initial submissions, the applicant argued 
that the interference had not been prescribed 
by law since the law relied upon by the domes-
tic authorities was not sufficiently foreseeable. 
However, in his subsequent oral pleadings he 
did not pursue this point.

58. The Court notes that the applicant was dis-
missed on the basis of Article 263/1 of the La-
bour Code for having violated paragraphs 1.4 
and 4.11 of the Internal Regulations of the Press 
Department of the Prosecutor General's Office 
(see paragraph 31 above). However, since the 
parties did not argue this point further before 
the Court, it will continue its examination on 
the assumption that the provisions contained 
in paragraphs 1.4 and 4.11 of the Internal Regu-
lations satisfied the requirement for the inter-

ference to be “prescribed by law”.

C. Whether the interference pursued a 
legitimate aim

59. The applicant argued that the interference did 
not pursue any legitimate aim. The Govern-
ment submitted that the legitimate aims pur-
sued in this case were to maintain the authority 
of the judiciary, to prevent crime and to pro-
tect the reputation of others. The Court, for its 
part, is ready to accept that the legitimate aim 
pursued was the prevention of the disclosure 
of information received in confidence. In so de-
ciding, the Court finds it significant that at the 
time of his dismissal the applicant refused to 
disclose the source of the information, which 
suggests that it was not easily or publicly avail-
able (see Haseldine v. the United Kingdom, 
no. 18957/91, Commission decision of 13 May 
1992, Decisions and Reports (DR) 73). The Court 
must therefore examine whether the interfer-
ence was necessary in a democratic society, in 
particular whether there was a proportionate 
relationship between the interference and the 
aim thereby pursued.

D. Whether the interference was necessary 
in a democratic society

1.Theparties'submissions
(a)  The applicant

60. According to the applicant, the disclosure of 
the letters had to be regarded as whistle-blow-
ing on illegal conduct.

61. He pointed first to the fact that he had acted 
in good faith and that, when he disclosed the 
letters to the newspaper, he was convinced 
that they contained information concerning 
the commission of a serious offence by the 
Deputy Speaker of Parliament. The only reason 
for his disclosing it was to help fight corruption 
and trading in influence. He disagreed that the 
purpose of Mr Mişin's note had simply been to 
pass the police officers' letter to the Prosecutor 
General in accordance with the Petitions Act 
(see paragraph 38 above) and with the conten-
tion that Mr Mişin's actions had been in accord-
ance with sections 22 and 23 of the Status of 
Members of Parliament Act (see paragraph 39 
above). He further argued that the letters were 
not part of a criminal case-file.

The applicant contended that in the light of 
the manner in which the Prosecutor General 
and his deputies were appointed and in view 
of the predominant position of the Communist 
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party in Parliament, the Prosecutor General's 
Office was perceived by the public as being 
strongly influenced by Parliament. The inde-
pendence of the Prosecutor General's Office 
was guaranteed in theory but not in practice. 
In the applicant's submission, the Prosecutor 
General could be dismissed at will by Parlia-
ment without any reasons being given. In the 
years 2002-2003 more than thirty prosecutors 
who were not considered loyal to the Commu-
nist Party had been dismissed. Moreover, Mr 
Mişin, who was one of the leaders of the rul-
ing party and a deputy speaker of Parliament, 
was also perceived as systematically using his 
position to influence the outcome of judicial 
proceedings.

The applicant added that the language of the 
letter written by Mr Mişin unequivocally sug-
gested that its author intended to influence 
the outcome of the criminal proceedings 
against the four police officers. Such conduct 
constituted an offence under Article 190/1 of 
the Criminal Code (see paragraph 33 above). 
The applicant also pointed to the fact that after 
receiving the letter in question, the Prosecu-
tor General had ordered the re-opening of the 
criminal investigation and shortly thereafter 
the criminal proceedings had been discontin-
ued. According to the applicant, the fact that 
the four police officers decided to ask State 
representatives at the highest level to investi-
gate the legality of the criminal charges against 
them indicated the existence of a practice in 
the Republic of Moldova that was contrary to 
the principle of the separation of powers. It was 
highly unlikely that police officers dealing with 
the investigation of crime would be unaware 
that the authorities to whom they had ad-
dressed their letters had no judicial functions.

According to the applicant, the information 
disclosed by him was thus of major public in-
terest.

62. In order to disclose the information, he had 
had no alternative but to go to a newspaper. 
As there was no whistle-blowing legislation 
in Moldova, employees had no procedure for 
disclosing wrongdoing at their place of work. It 
would have been pointless to bring the prob-
lem to the attention of the Prosecutor General, 
as he lacked independence. Even though he 
had been aware of Mr Mişin's letter for about 
six months, it would appear that he had sim-
ply concealed its existence while at the same 
time complying with its terms. The refusal of 
the Prosecutor's Office to initiate criminal pro-

ceedings against Mr Mişin after the publication 
of the newspaper articles (see paragraphs 15 
and 29 above) supported the view that any dis-
closure to the Prosecutor's Office would have 
been in vain. Furthermore, the applicant had 
had reasonable grounds for fearing that the 
evidence would be concealed or destroyed if 
he disclosed it to his superiors.

The applicant also submitted that it would 
have been unreasonable to expect him to 
complain to Parliament because 71 of its 101 
members were from the ruling Communist 
Party and there was no precedent of an MP 
from that party being prosecuted for a criminal 
offence. Moreover, between 2001 and 2004 no 
initiative by the opposition that was contrary to 
the interests of the ruling party had ever been 
successful in Parliament.

63. The applicant also complained about the se-
verity of the sanction that had been imposed 
on him and pointed out that it was at the high-
est end of the range of possible penalties.

(b)  The Government

64. In the Government's view, the disclosure in 
question did not amount to whistle-blowing.

65. They considered that the letters were internal 
documents to which the applicant would not 
normally have had access by virtue of his func-
tions. He had thus effectively “stolen” them. 
Moreover, the letters disclosed by the appli-
cant were confidential and part of a criminal 
file. Under the Code of Criminal Procedure, ma-
terials in a criminal case file could not be made 
public without the authorisation of the person 
conducting the investigation (see paragraph 
35 above).

The applicant's good faith was questionable 
also because the letter written by Mr Mişin 
could not reasonably be considered to have 
put undue pressure on the Prosecutor General. 
The expression “I ask you to get personally in-
volved in this case and solve it in strict compli-
ance with the law” was a normal form of com-
munication between different State bodies in 
accordance with the law. Mr Mişin had simply 
passed the letter received from the four police 
officers to the competent body – the Prosecu-
tor General's Office – in accordance with the 
Petitions Act (see paragraph 38 above) and 
the Status of Members of Parliament Act (see 
paragraph 39 above). Under the latter Act, an 
MP had the right, inter alia, to examine peti-
tions from citizens, to pass them to competent 
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authorities, to participate in their examination 
and to monitor compliance with the law.

There was no causal link between Mr Mişin's 
letter and the subsequent decision to discon-
tinue the criminal proceedings against the 
four police officers. In the Government's sub-
mission, the Prosecutor General's Office was a 
truly independent body whose independence 
was guaranteed by the Constitution and law of 
Moldova (see paragraphs 36 and 40 above).

Moreover, the applicant had not given the do-
mestic courts the same reason for his actions as 
he had given his employer (see paragraphs 18 
and 20 above). In the Government's view, this 
also indicated a lack of good faith on his part 
and showed that the real motive behind the 
disclosure was not the fight against corruption 
but an attempt to embarrass those concerned.

66. Since, as outlined above, Mr Mişin was not at-
tempting to put pressure on the Prosecutor 
General, the information contained in his letter 
was not of public interest.

67. Moreover, the applicant had not disclosed the 
information to a competent authority and had 
acted hastily. There had been no information 
of an urgent or irreversible nature concerning 
life, health or the environment. The applicant 
was entitled to make a disclosure externally 
only if it was not possible to do so internally. 
Any such disclosure should in the first instance 
have been to the top echelons of the Pros-
ecutor General's Office and thereafter to the 
Parliament (including the Parliamentary Com-
missions, factions and opposition), rather than 
going directly to the press.

In support of their submission, the Govern-
ment sent the Court copies of several com-
plaints that had been lodged by citizens with 
the Parliament concerning alleged illegalities 
in employment and other matters. All the 
complaints appeared to have been forwarded 
by the Parliament to the competent organs, 
such as the Prosecutor General's Office and the 
Superior Council of Magistrates, without any 
other parliamentary involvement.

The Government argued that twenty-one 
states in the United States of America did not 
afford protection to disclosures made to the 
media, while in the United Kingdom protec-
tion for external whistle-blowing was possible 
only in extremely rare and strictly defined cir-
cumstances.

68. In view of the nature of the duties and respon-
sibilities of civil servants, the margin of appre-
ciation enjoyed by the States in interfering with 
their right to freedom of expression was very 
large. The Government submitted, lastly, that 
the severity of the penalty was proportionate 
to the gravity of the applicant's acts.

2.TheCourt'sassessment
(a)  The general principles applicable in this case

69. The central issue which falls to be determined 
is whether the interference was “necessary in 
a democratic society”. The fundamental princi-
ples in that regard are well established in the 
Court's case-law and have been summed up 
as follows (see, among other authorities, Jersild 
v. Denmark, cited above, p. 23, § 31; Hertel v. 
Switzerland, judgment of 25 August 1998, Re-
ports 1998-VI, pp. 2329-30, § 46; and Steel and 
Morris v. the United Kingdom, no. 68416/01 
68416/01, § 87, ECHR 2005-II):
“(i)Freedomofexpressionconstitutesoneof
theessentialfoundationsofademocraticsoci-
etyandoneofthebasicconditionsforitspro-
gressandforeachindividual'sself-fulfilment.
Subject toparagraph2ofArticle10, it is ap-
plicablenotonlyto'information'or'ideas'that
are favourably received or regarded as inof-
fensiveorasamatterofindifference,butalso
to those that offend, shock or disturb. Such
are the demands of pluralism, tolerance and
broadmindednesswithoutwhich there is no
'democraticsociety'.AssetforthinArticle10,
thisfreedomissubjecttoexceptions,which...
must,however,beconstruedstrictly,andthe
needforanyrestrictionsmustbeestablished
convincingly...

(ii)Theadjective'necessary',withinthemean-
ing of Article 10 § 2, implies the existence
of a 'pressing social need'. The Contracting
States have a certainmargin of appreciation
in assessingwhether such aneedexists, but
itgoeshand inhandwithEuropeansupervi-
sion, embracingboth the legislationand the
decisionsapplyingit,eventhosegivenbyan
independentcourt.TheCourtisthereforeem-
powered to give the final ruling onwhether
a 'restriction' is reconcilablewith freedomof
expressionasprotectedbyArticle10.

(iii) The Court's task, in exercising its super-
visory jurisdiction, is not to take the place
of the competent national authorities but
rather to review under Article 10 the deci-
sions theydeliveredpursuant to theirpower
ofappreciation.Thisdoesnotmeanthat the
supervisionislimitedtoascertainingwhether
the respondent State exercised its discretion
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reasonably, carefully and ingood faith;what
theCourthastodo is to lookat the interfer-
ence complained of in the light of the case
as a whole and determine whether it was
'proportionatetothelegitimateaimpursued'
andwhetherthereasonsadducedbythena-
tionalauthoritiestojustifyitare'relevantand
sufficient'... Indoingso, theCourthas tosat-
isfyitselfthatthenationalauthoritiesapplied
standardswhichwere inconformitywiththe
principlesembodiedinArticle10and,moreo-
ver, thattheyreliedonanacceptableassess-
mentoftherelevantfacts...”

70. The Court further reiterates that Article 10 ap-
plies also to the workplace, and that civil serv-
ants, such as the applicant, enjoy the right 
to freedom of expression (see paragraph 52 
above). At the same time, the Court is mind-
ful that employees owe to their employer a 
duty of loyalty, reserve and discretion. This is 
particularly so in the case of civil servants since 
the very nature of civil service requires that a 
civil servant is bound by a duty of loyalty and 
discretion (see Vogt v. Germany, cited above, 
§ 53; Ahmed and Others v. the United King-
dom, cited above, § 55; and De Diego Nafría v. 
Spain, no. 46833/99 46833/99, § 37, 14 March 
2002).

71. Since the mission of civil servants in a demo-
cratic society is to assist the government in 
discharging its functions and since the public 
has a right to expect that they will help and not 
hinder the democratically elected government, 
the duty of loyalty and reserve assumes special 
significance for them (see, mutatis mutandis, 
Ahmed and Others v. the United Kingdom, 
cited above, § 53.) In addition, in view of the 
very nature of their position, civil servants often 
have access to information which the govern-
ment, for various legitimate reasons, may have 
an interest in keeping confidential or secret. 
Therefore, the duty of discretion owed by civil 
servants will also generally be a strong one.

72. To date, however, the Court has not had to 
deal with cases where a civil servant publicly 
disclosed internal information. To that extent 
the present case raises a new issue which can 
be distinguished from that raised in Stoll v. 
Switzerland ([GC], no. 69698/01, 10 December 
2007) where the disclosure took place with-
out the intervention of a civil servant. In this 
respect the Court notes that a civil servant, in 
the course of his work, may become aware 
of in-house information, including secret in-
formation, whose divulgation or publication 
corresponds to a strong public interest. The 

Court thus considers that the signalling by a 
civil servant or an employee in the public sec-
tor of illegal conduct or wrongdoing in the 
workplace should, in certain circumstances, 
enjoy protection. This may be called for where 
the employee or civil servant concerned is the 
only person, or part of a small category of per-
sons, aware of what is happening at work and 
is thus best placed to act in the public inter-
est by alerting the employer or the public at 
large. In this context, the Court has had regard 
to the following statement from the Explana-
tory Report to the Council of Europe's Civil Law 
Convention on Corruption (see paragraph 46 
above):
“In practice corruption cases are difficult to
detectandinvestigateandemployeesorcol-
leagues(whetherpublicorprivate)oftheper-
sonsinvolvedareoftenthefirstpersonswho
findoutorsuspectthatsomethingiswrong”.

73. In the light of the duty of discretion referred 
to above, disclosure should be made in the 
first place to the person's superior or other 
competent authority or body. It is only where 
this is clearly impracticable that the informa-
tion could, as a last resort, be disclosed to the 
public (see, mutatis mutandis, Haseldine, cited 
above). In assessing whether the restriction 
on freedom of expression was proportionate, 
therefore, the Court must take into account 
whether there was available to the applicant 
any other effective means of remedying the 
wrongdoing which he intended to uncover.

74. In determining the proportionality of an inter-
ference with a civil servant's freedom of expres-
sion in such a case the Court must also have 
regard to a number of other factors. In the first 
place, particular attention shall be paid to the 
public interest involved in the disclosed infor-
mation. The Court reiterates that there is little 
scope under Article 10 § 2 of the Conven-
tion for restrictions on debate on questions of 
public interest (see, among other authorities, 
Sürek v. Turkey (no. 1) [GC], no. 26682/95, § 61, 
ECHR 1999-IV). In a democratic system the acts 
or omissions of government must be subject 
to the close scrutiny not only of the legislative 
and judicial authorities but also of the media 
and public opinion. The interest which the 
public may have in particular information can 
sometimes be so strong as to override even a 
legally imposed duty of confidence (see Fres-
soz and Roire v. France [GC], no. 29183/95, 
ECHR 1999-I; and Radio Twist, A.S. v. Slovakia, 
no. 62202/00, ECHR 2006-...).



497CASEOFGUJAVMOLDOVA

EC
J

EC
HR

75. The second factor relevant to this balancing 
exercise is the authenticity of the information 
disclosed. It is open to the competent State 
authorities to adopt measures intended to 
react appropriately and without excess to de-
famatory accusations devoid of foundation or 
formulated in bad faith (see Castells v. Spain, 
judgment of 23 April 1992, Series A no. 236, 
§ 46). Moreover, freedom of expression carries 
with it duties and responsibilities and any per-
son who chooses to disclose information must 
carefully verify, to the extent permitted by the 
circumstances, that it is accurate and reliable 
(see, mutatis mutandis, Morissens v. Belgium, 
no. 11389/85, Commission decision of 3 May 
1988, DR 56, p. 127; and Bladet Tromsø and 
Stensaas v. Norway [GC], no. 21980/93, § 65, 
ECHR 1999-III).

76. On the other side of the scales, the Court must 
weigh the damage, if any, suffered by the 
public authority as a result of the disclosure 
in question and assess whether such damage 
outweighed the interest of the public in having 
the information revealed (see, mutatis mutan-
dis, Hadjianastassiou v. Greece, judgment of 
16 December 1992, Series A no. 252, § 45; 
and Stoll v. Switzerland, cited above, § 130). 
In this connection, the subject-matter of the 
disclosure and the nature of the administra-
tive authority concerned may be relevant (see 
Haseldine, cited above).

77. The motive behind the actions of the reporting 
employee is another determinant factor in de-
ciding whether a particular disclosure should 
be protected or not. For instance an act mo-
tivated by a personal grievance or a personal 
antagonism or the expectation of personal ad-
vantage, including pecuniary gain, would not 
justify a particularly strong level of protection 
(see Haseldine, cited above). It is important to 
establish that, in making the disclosure, the in-
dividual acted in good faith and in the belief 
that the information was true, that it was in the 
public interest to disclose it and that no other, 
more discreet means of remedying the wrong-
doing was available to him or her.

78. Lastly, in connection with the review of the 
proportionality of the interference in relation 
to the legitimate aim pursued, attentive analy-
sis of the penalty imposed on the applicant 
and its consequences is required (see Fuentes 
Bobo, cited above, § 49).

79. The Court will now assess the facts of the pre-
sent case in the light of the above principles.

(b)  Application of the above principles in the pre-
sent case

i Whether the applicant had alternative 
channels for making the disclosure

80. The applicant argued that he did not have at 
his disposal any effective alternative channel to 
make the disclosure, while the Government ar-
gued that, on the contrary, the applicant could 
have raised the issue with his superiors in the 
first instance and later with the Parliament or 
the Ombudsman if necessary.

81. The Court notes that neither the Moldovan 
legislation nor the internal regulations of the 
Prosecutor General's Office contained any pro-
vision concerning the reporting of irregulari-
ties by employees (see paragraph 32 above). It 
appears, therefore, that there was no authority 
other than the applicant's superiors to which 
he could have reported his concerns and no 
prescribed procedure for reporting such mat-
ters.

82. It also appears that the disclosure concerned 
the conduct of a Deputy Speaker of Parliament, 
who was a high-ranking official, and that de-
spite having been aware of the situation for 
some six months the Prosecutor General had 
shown no sign of having any intention to re-
spond but instead gave the impression that he 
had succumbed to the pressure that had been 
imposed on his office.

83. As to the alternative means of disclosure sug-
gested by the Government (see paragraph 67 
above), the Court finds that it has not been 
presented with any satisfactory evidence to 
counter the applicant's submission that none 
of the proposed alternatives would have been 
effective in the special circumstances of the 
present case.

84. In the light of the foregoing, the Court consid-
ers that in the circumstances of the present 
case external reporting, even to a newspaper, 
could be justified.

ii The public interest in the disclosed infor-
mation

85. The applicant submitted that Mr Mişin's note 
constituted evidence of political interference 
in the administration of justice. The Govern-
ment disagreed.

86. The Court notes that the police officers' let-
ter requested Mr Mişin to verify the legality 
of the criminal charges brought against them 
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by the Prosecutor's Office (see paragraph 10 
above). Mr Mişin reacted by sending an official 
letter to the Prosecutor General. The Govern-
ment submitted that Mr Mişin's actions were 
in compliance, inter alia, with the Status of 
Members of Parliament Act. In this context the 
Court considers it necessary to reiterate that in 
a democratic society both the courts and the 
investigation authorities must remain free from 
political pressure. Any interpretation of any 
legislation establishing the rights of Members 
of Parliament must abide by that principle.

Having examined the note which Mr Mişin 
wrote to the Prosecutor General, the Court 
cannot accept that it was intended to do no 
more than to transmit the police officers' let-
ter to a competent body as suggested by the 
Government (see paragraph 65 above). Moreo-
ver, in view of the context and of the language 
employed by Mr Mişin, it cannot be excluded 
that the effect of the note was to put pressure 
on the Prosecutor General's Office, irrespective 
of the inclusion of the statement that the case 
was to be “examined in strict compliance with 
the law” (see paragraph 10 above).

87. Against this background, the Court notes that 
the President of Moldova has campaigned 
against the practice of interference by politi-
cians with the criminal-justice system and 
that the Moldovan media has widely covered 
the subject (see paragraph 11 above). It also 
notes the reports of the international non-
governmental organisations (see paragraphs 
40-42 above) which express concern about the 
breakdown of separation of powers and the 
lack of judicial independence in Moldova.

88. In the light of the above, the Court considers 
that the letters disclosed by the applicant had 
a bearing on issues such as the separation of 
powers, improper conduct by a high-ranking 
politician and the Government's attitude to-
wards police brutality (see paragraphs 10 and 
14 above). There is no doubt that these are 
very important matters in a democratic soci-
ety which the public has a legitimate interest 
in being informed about and which fall within 
the scope of political debate.

iii The authenticity of the disclosed informa-
tion

89. It is common ground that the letters disclosed 
by the applicant to the Jurnal de Chişinău were 
genuine (see paragraph 26 above).

iv The detriment to the Prosecutor General's 

Office

90. The Court observes that it is in the public in-
terest to maintain confidence in the independ-
ence and political neutrality of the prosecuting 
authorities of a State (see, mutatis mutandis, 
Prager and Oberschlick v. Austria, judgment 
of 26 April 1995, Series A no. 313, § 34). The 
letters sent by the applicant to the newspaper 
were not written by officials of the Prosecutor 
General's Office and, according to the Govern-
ment, the letter from Mr Mişin was a normal 
communication between State bodies which 
had not affected the decision of the Prosecutor 
General's Office to discontinue the proceed-
ings against the police officers. Nevertheless, 
the conclusion drawn by the newspaper in 
its articles that the Prosecutor General's Office 
was subject to undue influence may have had 
strong negative effects on public confidence in 
the independence of that institution.

91. However, the Court considers that the public 
interest in having information about undue 
pressure and wrongdoing within the Pros-
ecutor's Office revealed is so important in a 
democratic society that it outweighed the 
interest in maintaining public confidence in 
the Prosecutor General's Office. It reiterates in 
this context that open discussion of topics of 
public concern is essential to democracy and 
regard must be had to the great importance of 
not discouraging members of the public from 
voicing their opinions on such matters (see, 
Barfod v. Denmark, judgment of 22 February 
1989, Series A no. 149, § 29).

v Whether the applicant acted in good faith

92. The applicant argued that his sole motive for 
disclosing the letters was to help fight corrup-
tion and trading in influence. This statement 
was not disputed by his employer. The Gov-
ernment, on the other hand, expressed doubt 
about the applicant's good faith, arguing, inter 
alia, that he had not given this explanation be-
fore the domestic courts.

93. On the basis of the materials before it, the Court 
does not find any reason to believe that the 
applicant was motivated by a desire for per-
sonal advantage, held any personal grievance 
against his employer or Mr Mişin, or that there 
was any other ulterior motive for his actions. 
The fact that he did not make before the do-
mestic courts his submissions about the fight 
against corruption and trading in influence is, 
in the Court's opinion, inconclusive since he 
may have been focused on challenging the 
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reasons advanced by his employer for dismiss-
ing him and might well have considered it un-
necessary to refer to matters that his employer 
did not dispute.

94. Accordingly, the Court comes to the conclu-
sion that the applicant's motives were as stated 
by him and that he acted in good faith.

vi The severity of the sanction

95. Finally, the Court notes that the heaviest sanc-
tion possible was imposed on the applicant. 
While it had been open to the authorities to 
apply a less severe penalty, they chose to dis-
miss the applicant, which undoubtedly is a 
very harsh measure (see Vogt, cited above, § 
60). This sanction not only had negative reper-
cussions on the applicant's career but it could 
also have a serious chilling effect on other 
employees from the Prosecutor's Office and 
discourage them from reporting any miscon-
duct. Moreover, in view of the media coverage 
of the applicant's case, the sanction could have 
a chilling effect not only on employees of the 
Prosecutor's Office but also on many other civil 
servants and employees.

96. The Court observes that the Government have 
argued that the applicant had in fact “stolen” 
the letter, which in their view was secret and 
part of a criminal file. The Government also 
stated that Mr Mişin's letter had not placed 
any undue pressure on the Public Prosecutor. 
It was a normal communication between State 
bodies and was unconnected with the deci-
sion to discontinue the proceedings against 
the police officers. In these circumstances, the 
Court finds that it is difficult to justify such a se-
vere sanction being applied.

(c)  Conclusion

97. Being mindful of the importance of the right 
to freedom of expression on matters of gen-
eral interest, of the right of civil servants and 
other employees to report illegal conduct and 
wrongdoing at their place of work, the duties 
and responsibilities of employees towards 
their employers and the right of employers to 
manage their staff, and having weighed up the 
other different interests involved in the present 
case, the Court comes to the conclusion that 
the interference with the applicant's right to 
freedom of expression, in particular his right 
to impart information, was not “necessary in a 
democratic society”.

Accordingly, there has been a violation of Article 10 

of the Convention.

III. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

98. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage
99. The applicant claimed EUR 15,000 in respect of 

pecuniary and non-pecuniary damage made 
up as follows: EUR 6,000 for loss of earnings for 
the period of unemployment after his dismiss-
al, EUR 6,000 for lost career prospects and EUR 
3,000 for non-pecuniary damage.

100. The Government contested the claim and ar-
gued that the applicant's claims were ill-found-
ed and excessive.

101. The Court considers that the applicant must 
have suffered pecuniary and non-pecuniary 
damage as a result of his dismissal. Making its 
assessment on an equitable basis, it awards 
him EUR 10,000.

B. Costs and expenses
102. The applicant's representatives claimed 

EUR 6,843 for legal fees, of which EUR 4,400 
was claimed in respect of Mr Gribincea and 
EUR 2,443 in respect of Mr Zamă. They submit-
ted a detailed time-sheet and a contract indi-
cating that the lawyers' hourly rates were EUR 
80 and EUR 70 respectively. The calculation in 
the time-sheet did not include time spent on 
the complaint under Article 6, which was sub-
sequently withdrawn by the applicant.

103. They argued that the number of hours they 
had spent on the case was not excessive and 
was justified by its complexity and the fact that 
the observations had to be written in English.

104. As to the hourly rate, the applicant's lawyers ar-
gued that it was within the limits recommend-
ed by the Moldovan Bar Association, which 
were between EUR 40 and 150.

105. The applicant's representatives also claimed 
EUR 2,413 for expenses linked to the hearing 
of 6 June 2007, which sum included travel ex-
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penses, visa costs, insurance costs and a sub-
sistence allowance.

106. The Government contested the amount 
claimed for the applicant's representation. 
They said that it was excessive and disputed 
the number of hours that had been spent by 
the applicant's lawyers and the hourly rates, 
notably that charged by Mr Zamă, who, in their 
opinion, lacked the necessary experience to 
command such high fees.

107. As to the other expenses claimed by the appli-
cant, the Government argued that they should 
have been claimed from the Court.

108. The Court reiterates that in order for costs and 
expenses to be included in an award under 
Article 41 of the Convention, it must be estab-
lished that they were actually and necessarily 
incurred and were reasonable as to quantum 
(see, for example, Amihalachioaie v. Moldova, 
no. 60115/00, § 47, ECHR 2004-III). In the pre-
sent case, regard being had to the itemised list 
that has been submitted and the complexity of 
the case, the Court awards the entire amount 
claimed by Mr Gribincea, EUR 1,600 for Mr 
Zama's fee and the entire amount claimed by 
the applicant's representatives for the expens-
es incurred in connection with the hearing of 
6 June 2007.

C. Default interest
109. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT, 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Declares the application admissible;

2. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
10 of the Convention;

3. Holds

(a) that the respondent State is to pay the ap-
plicant, within three months, EuR 10,000 
(ten thousand euros) in respect of pecu-
niary damage and non-pecuniary dam-
age and EuR 8,413 (eight thousand four 
hundred and thirteen euros) in respect of 
costs and expenses, plus any tax that may 
be chargeable, which sums are to be con-
verted into the currency of the respondent 

State at the rate applicable at the date of 
payment;

(b) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amounts at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

4. Dismisses the remainder of the applicant's 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 12 February 2008.

Erik fribergh, Registrar
Jean-Paul Costa, President
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ESPIONAGE, SPY, MILITARY, TRIBUNAL, COURT, ADJUDI-
CATION, TRIAL, WAR TIME, PEACE TIME, CIVILIAN

IN THE CASE Of SATIK v. TuRKEy (NO2),

The European Court of Human Rights (Former Third 
Section), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Boštjan M. Zupančič, President,  
Corneliu Bîrsan,  
Rıza Türmen,  
Elisabet Fura-Sandström,  
Alvina Gyulumyan,  
Egbert Myjer,  
Ineta Ziemele, judges, 
and Santiago Quesada, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 17 June 2008,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

60999/00 ) against the Republic of Turkey 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of the 
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Conven-
tion”) by a Turkish national, Mr Kadir Satık (“the 
applicant”), on 14 July 2000.

2. The applicant, who had been granted legal 
aid, was represented by Mrs A. Topuz, a law-
yer practising in Istanbul. The Turkish Govern-
ment (“the Government”) did not designate 
an Agent for the purposes of the proceedings 
before the Court.

3. The applicant alleged that he had been sub-
jected to ill-treatment in police custody and 
that he had also been denied a fair hearing by 
an independent and impartial tribunal in viola-
tion of Articles 3 and 6 of the Convention.

4. On 25 April 2005 the Court decided to give 
notice of the application to the Government. 
Under the provisions of Article 29 § 3 of the 
Convention, it decided to examine the merits 
of the application at the same time as its ad-
missibility.

5. On 1 February 2008 the Court changed the 

composition of its Sections (Rule 25 § 1). How-
ever this case remained in the Third Section as 
composed before that date.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

6. The applicant was born in 1966 and lives in 
Ankara.

7. On an unspecified date, the National Intelli-
gence Service (Milli İstihbarat Teşkilatı, herein-
after MIT) began to record the telephone con-
versations of S.K., a Greek attaché working at 
the Consulate of Greece in Izmir and allegedly a 
member of the Greek Intelligence Service (EIP). 
The authorities noticed suspicious telephone 
conversations between S.K. and the applicant 
and initiated an investigation concerning the 
applicant.

8. On 18 February 1998 a military prosecutor and 
MIT officers searched the applicant’s shop in 
Istanbul. According to the preliminary investi-
gation report, several photographs of military 
bases, two maps (one of which was marked as 
“top secret”) and telephone and credit cards 
were found in the shop. V.A.Ö. was present 
when MIT officers carried out a search in the 
applicant’s shop and told them that the pho-
tos of the military bases did not belong to him 
but to the applicant. The latter was then taken 
into custody on suspicion of transmitting of-
ficial and confidential information to Greek 
intelligence service members. He was brought 
before a doctor, N.A., who noted that he was in 
good health. During his custody period, the ap-
plicant was allegedly subjected to ill-treatment 
by the MIT officers.

9. On 20 February 1998 the applicant was brought 
before the 3rd Army Corps Command Military 
Court. Before this court, he maintained that he 
had met someone who worked at the Consu-
late of Greece in Istanbul and that he had sold 
this person books and silver accessories. He 
received money from this person for what he 
had sold. The applicant further contended that 
this person asked him to provide military infor-
mation about Turkey. The applicant denied the 
allegation that he had given confidential infor-
mation to this person. He stated that the maps 
and the photographs found in his shop did not 
belong to him.
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10. On the same day, the court ordered the ap-
plicant’s detention on remand. He was then 
examined by N.A. who once again noted that 
there was no trace of ill-treatment on the appli-
cant’s body. The applicant was then remanded 
in the Davutpaşa Military Prison. He filed an ob-
jection to the detention order.

11. On 23 February 1998, following his objection to 
the findings contained in the previous medical 
reports, the applicant underwent a third medi-
cal examination in prison. According to the 
prison doctor’s report, the applicant had ec-
chymoses on both arms, which were possibly 
three to four days old.

12. On 5 March 1998 the applicant filed a further 
objection to the detention order. On the same 
day the Navy Command Military Court dis-
missed his objection.

13. On 19 March 1998 the General Staff Military 
Prosecutor filed a bill of indictment with the 
General Staff Military Court, charging the ap-
plicant under Article 56 § 1 (D) of the Military 
Criminal Code and Articles 133 § 1, 31, 33 and 
36 of the Criminal Code, with disloyalty to na-
tional defence by way of espionage.

14. The applicant maintained before the General 
Staff Military Court that he had been coerced 
by MIT officers into signing a statement while 
in custody. He claimed that he had sold the 
shop to V.A.Ö. and that the photographs and 
maps did not belong to him. He requested 
that V.A.Ö. be heard by the court. He further 
contended that the search in the shop was il-
legal and that he had not been informed of the 
charges against him by the officials who had 
conducted the search. The applicant reiterated 
that he had sold books and silver accessories 
to a Greek official, L.K. and that this person had 
requested him to provide confidential informa-
tion. He also contended that he had contacted 
L.K. and another Greek official, S.K., whom he 
knew as “Yorgo”, in order to maintain his busi-
ness and that the information that he had 
given was false. The applicant’s representative 
stressed that the applicant’s statements had 
been taken under torture by MIT officers. She 
referred in this connection to the medical re-
port dated 23 February 1998 prepared by the 
Davutpaşa military prison doctor who noted 
the presence of three to four day-old ecchy-
moses on the applicant’s arms. The applicant’s 
representative also argued that the telephone 
conversations of the applicant, which were the 
sole evidence against him, had been obtained 

unlawfully by the MIT officers since there was 
no decision of a judge permitting them to tap 
his conversations on a public telephone. She 
therefore claimed that, in the absence of suf-
ficient evidence, the applicant was innocent of 
the alleged crime.

15. During the proceedings, the General Staff Mili-
tary Court issued a summons requiring V.A.Ö. 
to give evidence. However, this person could 
not be found.

16. On an unspecified date, a fingerprint expert 
conducted an analysis on the photographs and 
maps from the applicant’s shop. He observed 
that none of the fingerprints found belonged 
to the applicant.

17. On 15 June 1999 the General Staff Military 
Court convicted the applicant as charged. The 
court considered that the information that the 
applicant had given could not be considered to 
be confidential. However, it held that, although 
the applicant had provided non-confidential 
or imaginary information in order to maintain 
his business contacts with the Greek officials, 
he had committed the offence of disloyalty to 
national defence by accepting their proposal 
to provide information. The court sentenced 
the applicant to twelve years and six months’ 
imprisonment, which was the minimum pen-
alty prescribed by Article 56 § 1 (D) of the Mili-
tary Criminal Code and Articles 133 § 1, 31, 33 
and 36 of the Criminal Code. While the court 
dismissed the applicant’s defence submissions, 
it did not address directly his allegations that 
his statements to the MIT officers had been 
obtained under torture and that his telephone 
conversations were unlawfully tapped by the 
MIT officers.

18. On 2 August 1999 the applicant appealed. He 
claimed that he was innocent of the crime 
since he had given false information to the 
Greek Intelligence Service and that he had 
never intended to betray his country. Relying 
on Article 6 of the Convention, the applicant 
further argued that the first instance court had 
convicted him on the basis of unlawfully ob-
tained evidence, in particular the unlawful tap-
ping and recording of his telephone conversa-
tions by the MIT. He also complained that the 
court had not secured the attendance of V.A.Ö 
as a witness. Referring to the medical report 
dated 23 February 1998 indicating ecchymoses 
on his arms, the applicant noted that the secu-
rity forces had resorted to habitual methods to 
secure his conviction.
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19. On 17 November 1999 the Military Court of 
Cassation upheld the judgment of 15 June 
1999. It approved the reasoning of the first 
instance court’s judgment and noted that the 
latter had already accepted that the maps and 
photos had not belonged to the applicant 
and that it had not relied on the statements 
given by V.A.Ö. in the course of the prelimi-
nary investigation since he had not attended 
the trial. Accordingly, there was no deficiency 
or unlawfulness in the investigation leading to 
the applicant’s conviction. The court therefore 
rejected the applicant’s appeal.

20. On 24 January 2000 the Military Court of Cas-
sation’s decision was served on the applicant.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

21. A full description of the domestic law at the 
relevant time may be found in Batı and Others 
v. Turkey, nos. 33097/06 and 57834/00, §§ 
95-99, ECHR 2004-IV; and Ergin v. Turkey (no. 6), 
no. 47533/99, §§ 15-18, 4 May 2006.

22. Section 11 of the Constitution of Military Courts 
Act then in force read as follows:

Section 11

“Trialofciviliansbymilitarycourts:

...theoffencesreferredtoinArticles...and56
of theMilitary Penal Code [comewithin the
jurisdictionofthemilitarycourts].”

23. According to Article 138 of the Constitution of 
Military Courts Act, hearings to be held by mili-
tary courts shall be open to public. However, 
the military court may decide to close a part 
or whole of the hearing to the public if public 
morality or security so requires. Article 139 fur-
ther provides that the military court may also 
decide to remove the public when it holds a 
hearing to consider a request to close the hear-
ings to the public.

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
3 OF THE CONVENTION

24. The applicant complained that he had been 
subjected to ill-treatment during his detention 
in police custody in violation of Article 3 of the 
Convention, which reads as follows:

“No one shall be subjected to torture or to
inhuman or degrading treatment or punish-
ment.”

A. Admissibility
25. Relying on the Court’s judgments in the cases 

of Ahmet Sadık v. Greece (judgment of 15 No-
vember 1996, Reports of Judgments and Deci-
sions 1996-V, § 34) and Cardot v. France (judg-
ment of 19 March 1991, Series A no. 200, § 30), 
the Government claimed that the applicant 
had failed to raise, even in substance, his com-
plaints of ill-treatment before the national au-
thorities and that therefore he had not availed 
himself of the remedies in domestic law.

26. The applicant submitted that he had raised his 
complaint of ill-treatment before the domestic 
authorities in the course of the criminal pro-
ceedings against him but no action had been 
taken to investigate his allegations.

27. The Court reiterates that the rule of exhaustion 
of domestic remedies referred to in Article 35 
§ 1 of the Convention obliges applicants to 
use first the remedies which are normally avail-
able and sufficient in the domestic legal sys-
tem to enable them to obtain redress for the 
breaches alleged. The existence of the rem-
edies must be sufficiently certain, in practice 
as well as in theory, failing which they will lack 
the requisite accessibility and effectiveness. 
However, Article 35 § 1 does not require that 
recourse should be had to remedies which are 
inadequate or ineffective (see Aksoy v. Turkey 
judgment of 18 December 1996, Reports of 
Judgments and Decisions 1996-VI, pp. 2275-
76, §§ 51-52).

28. The Court notes that, contrary to the Govern-
ment’s assertion, the applicant can be con-
sidered to have brought the substance of his 
complaint to the notice of the national au-
thorities when he challenged the admissibility 
of his statements taken by the MIT officers as 
evidence (see paragraph 13 above). The ap-
plicant’s representative also claimed that the 
applicant’s statements had been obtained un-
der torture and drew the General Staff Military 
Court’s attention to the medical report issued 
by the prison doctor who noted the presence 
of ecchymoses on the applicant’s arms (ibid.). 
However, although the court took note of 
the applicant’s complaints, the authorities did 
nothing to follow-up the allegation that he had 
been tortured while in custody (see paragraph 
17 above).
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29. In the Court’s opinion, these allegations should 
have been sufficient in themselves to alert the 
authorities to the need for action, especially 
since there was medical evidence in the file 
indicating bruising to his arms. Having regard 
to these circumstances, the Court considers 
that the applicant can be considered to have 
done all that could be expected of him to bring 
his complaint to the attention of the authori-
ties with a view to obtaining an investigation 
into his allegation. In the light of the foregoing 
reasons the Court dismisses the Government’s 
objection to the admissibility of the complaint 
under Article 3 of the Convention. It also con-
siders that this complaint is not manifestly ill-
founded within the meaning of Article 35 § 3 
of the Convention. It further notes that it is not 
inadmissible on any other grounds.

B. Merits
30. The Government alleged that it had not been 

established with sufficient certainty that the 
ecchymoses observed on the applicant’s body 
had occurred during his detention in police 
custody since the prison doctor stated the ec-
chymoses were possibly three to four days old. 
They therefore denied that the applicant had 
suffered ill-treatment during his detention in 
custody.

31. The Court reiterates that where an individual 
is taken into custody in good health but is 
found to be injured by the time of release, it is 
incumbent on the State to provide a plausible 
explanation of how those injuries were caused 
and to produce evidence casting doubt on the 
victim’s allegations, particularly if those allega-
tions were corroborated by medical reports, 
failing which a clear issue arises under Article 
3 of the Convention (see Selmouni v. France 
[GC], no. 25803/94, § 87, ECHR 1999-V; Aksoy 
v. Turkey, judgment of 18 December 1996, 
Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1996-VI, 
p. 2278, § 62; Tomasi v. France, judgment of 
27 August 1992, Series A no. 241-A, pp. 40-41, 
§§ 108-111; and Ribitsch v. Austria, judgment 
of 4 December 1995, Series A no. 336, p. 26, § 
34).

32. In assessing evidence, the Court has generally 
applied the standard of proof “beyond reason-
able doubt” (see Avşar v. Turkey, no. 25657/94, 
§ 282, ECHR 2001-VII (extracts)). Such proof 
may, however, follow from the coexistence of 
sufficiently strong, clear and concordant infer-
ences or of similar unrebutted presumptions 
of fact (see Ireland v. the United Kingdom, 

judgment of 18 January 1978, Series A no. 25, 
pp. 64-65, § 161). Where the events in issue 
lie wholly, or in large part, within the exclusive 
knowledge of the authorities, as in the case of 
persons within their control in custody, strong 
presumptions of fact will arise in respect of in-
juries occurring during detention. Indeed, the 
burden of proof may be regarded as resting 
on the authorities to provide a satisfactory and 
convincing explanation (see Salman v. Turkey 
[GC], no. 21986/93, § 100, ECHR 2000-VII).

33. In the instant case, the Court observes that the 
applicant underwent three medical examina-
tions prior to and subsequent to his deten-
tion in police custody (see paragraphs 8, 10 
and 11). Dr N.A. who carried out the first two 
examinations noted in his reports that the ap-
plicant was in good health and that there was 
no sign of ill-treatment on his body. However, 
following the applicant’s objection to his find-
ings, a third examination was carried out by the 
prison doctor who observed ecchymoses on 
the applicant’s arms which were possibly three 
to four days old (see paragraph 11 above). Ac-
cording to the applicant, the third medical re-
port confirmed his allegation that he had been 
subjected to torture while in detention in po-
lice custody. However, the Government denied 
this allegation.

34. The Court observes that in the proceedings 
before the General Staff Military Court the ap-
plicant confined himself to challenging the 
admissibility of his statements to the police of-
ficers. Apart from the allegation that his state-
ments were taken under torture, he did not 
at any stage give any indication of the sort of 
ill-treatment which he allegedly suffered. Fur-
thermore, the applicant did not specifically set 
out in his application form to the Court the de-
tails of the alleged ill-treatment inflicted upon 
him during his detention in police custody. In 
particular, he failed to explain the type of ill-
treatment which caused the ecchymoses on 
his arms. This being so, the Court is of the opin-
ion that the applicant has not laid the basis of 
an arguable claim that he had been subjected 
to ill-treatment, as alleged.

35. It follows that there has been no violation of 
Article 3 of the Convention.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
6 § 1 OF THE CONVENTION

36. The applicant complained that he had been 
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denied a fair hearing by an independent and 
impartial tribunal since he had been tried by 
a military court. He maintained that he had 
been convicted on the basis of tape-recorded 
telephone conversations which had been 
unlawfully obtained. He also alleged that the 
court had failed to hold a public hearing and 
to secure the attendance of a witness who was 
important for his defence. In this connection, 
he relied on Article 6 § 1 of the Convention 
which provides as relevant:
“In the determination of his civil rights and
obligations ..., everyone isentitled toa fair ...
hearing ... by an independent and impartial
tribunalestablishedbylaw.”

A. Alleged lack of independence and 
impartiality of the General Staff Military 
Court

1.Admissibility
37. The Government alleged that the applicant 

had failed to exhaust domestic remedies since 
he had not raised this complaint before the do-
mestic authorities.

38. The applicant maintained that, even if he had 
raised his complaint concerning the independ-
ence of the General Staff Military Court before 
the domestic authorities, this would have had 
no prospect of success.

39. The Court observes that the establishment 
and composition of the general staff military 
courts were expressly prescribed by law. The 
applicant has never argued that this legislation 
was incorrectly applied in his case. Accordingly, 
any challenge by the applicant to the compo-
sition of the court for the simple reason that 
the judges sitting on the bench were mem-
bers of the army would have been doomed 
to failure. Thus, such a request before the na-
tional authorities would not have remedied 
the situation complained of. It follows that this 
objection should be dismissed. The Court also 
considers that this complaint is not manifestly 
ill-founded within the meaning of Article 35 § 
3 of the Convention. Nor is it inadmissible on 
any other grounds.

2.Merits
40. The applicant alleged that the General Staff 

Court which tried him could not be regarded 
as an independent and impartial tribunal, giv-
en that it was composed of two military judges 
and an officer, all of whom were bound by the 
orders and instructions of the Ministry of De-

fence and the general staff which appointed 
them. In that connection he submitted that, as 
a civilian, he should not have been tried in a 
military court.

41. The Government submitted that only in ex-
ceptional circumstances was a civilian tried in 
a military court in Turkey. On that point, they 
maintained that the applicant was tried by a 
military court because he was charged with 
an offence concerning national security. The 
Government further maintained that the do-
mestic law provided necessary safeguards to 
guarantee the independence and impartiality 
of military courts. Finally, they pointed out that, 
with the adoption of Law no. 4963, Turkish leg-
islation had been amended to bring it into line 
with the Convention.

42. The Court notes that it has examined a similar 
grievance, finding a violation of Article 6 § 1 
of the Convention in its Ergin v. Turkey (no. 
6) judgment (no. 47533/99 47533/99, § 54, 4 
May 2006). In that judgment, the Court held 
that it was understandable that the applicant, a 
civilian standing trial before a court composed 
exclusively of military officers, charged with of-
fences relating to propaganda against military 
service, should have been apprehensive about 
appearing before judges belonging to the 
army, which could be identified with a party 
to the proceedings. On that account the ap-
plicant could legitimately fear that the General 
Staff Court might allow itself to be unduly influ-
enced by partial considerations. Consequently, 
the applicant’s doubts about that court’s inde-
pendence and impartiality may be regarded as 
objectively justified (ibid).

43. Although the Court accepted that the Conven-
tion did not absolutely exclude the jurisdiction 
of military courts to try cases in which civilians 
were implicated, it affirmed that only in very 
exceptional circumstances could the determi-
nation of criminal charges against civilians in 
such courts be held to be compatible with Arti-
cle 6. In this connection, it held that the power 
of military criminal justice should not extend to 
civilians unless there are compelling reasons 
justifying such a situation. The existence of 
such reasons had to be substantiated in each 
specific case. It was not sufficient for the na-
tional legislation to allocate certain categories 
of offence to military courts in abstracto (see, 
Ergin (no. 6), cited above, §§ 42-47).

44. Furthermore, having examined the decisions 
or practices of international judicial bodies over 
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the last decade, the Court found that there was 
an emerging international consensus against 
any military jurisdiction over civilians (see, Ergin 
(no. 6), cited above, §§ 22-25).

45. As regards the situation in Europe, it appears 
that there is a prevailing view among the 
member States of the Council of Europe that 
civilians should not be tried by military courts 
in peace time. Although there is some diversity 
in legislation governing the jurisdiction of mili-
tary courts to try civilians, in the great majority 
of legal systems that jurisdiction is either non-
existent or limited to certain very precise situ-
ations, such as complicity between a member 
of the military and a civilian in the commission 
of an offence punishable under the ordinary 
criminal code or the military penal code (see, 
Ergin (no. 6), cited above, § 21).

46. In the instant case, however, Article 145 of the 
Constitution of Turkey explicitly provides that 
military courts may try civilians in peacetime. 
Moreover, former Article 11 of the Military 
Courts Act stated that the offence under Article 
56, with which the applicant was charged and 
convicted of, came within the jurisdiction of 
the military courts.

47. In the light of the foregoing, and particularly of 
the prevailing view at international and region-
al level, the Court considers that it is under-
standable that the applicant, a civilian standing 
trial before a court composed exclusively of 
military officers, charged with offences relating 
to his purported agreement to betray informa-
tion prejudicial to army concerns, should have 
been apprehensive about appearing before 
judges belonging to the army, which could be 
identified with a party to the proceedings.

48. Accordingly, the applicant could legitimately 
fear that the General Staff Court might allow 
itself to be unduly influenced by partial con-
siderations. The applicant’s doubts about the 
independence and impartiality of that court 
can therefore be regarded as objectively justi-
fied (see, mutatis mutandis, Incal, cited above, 
p. 1573, § 72 in fine).

49. There has therefore been a violation of Article 6 
§ 1 of the Convention.

B. Alleged use of unlawfully obtained 
evidence

50. The applicant also complained under Article 
6 § 1 of the Convention that the domestic 
courts had convicted him on the basis of his 

tape-recorded telephone conversations which 
had been unlawfully obtained by the MIT of-
ficers.

51. The applicant claimed that the MIT tapped his 
conversations in non-compliance with the do-
mestic law i.e. there was no decision given by a 
judge authorising listening in to his conversa-
tions.

52. The Government contended that the ap-
plicant’s telephone conversations had been 
tapped in the framework of the MIT’s counter-
intelligence activities as permitted by Article 
4 of Law no. 2937. Article 6 of the said law 
permitted MIT members to carry out counter-
intelligence activities and granted them the 
rights and powers enjoyed by the regular po-
lice. The MIT officers had decided to intercept 
and record the applicant’s conversations with a 
view to protecting national security. The meas-
ure in question had complied with the require-
ments of proportionality. Furthermore, the 
recorded telephone conversations of the ap-
plicant were not the sole evidence against him. 
The photographs of military bases, two maps, 
one of which was designated “top secret”, tele-
phone and credit cards found in the applicant’s 
possessions had constituted the basis of his 
conviction. Given that the applicant’s defence 
rights protected by Article 6 of the Convention 
had been respected, his complaints under this 
heading should be declared inadmissible.

53. The Court reiterates that its duty, according to 
Article 19 of the Convention, is to ensure the 
observance of the engagements undertaken 
by the Contracting States to the Convention. In 
particular, it is not its function to deal with er-
rors of fact or of law allegedly committed by a 
national court unless and in so far as they may 
have infringed rights and freedoms protected 
by the Convention. While Article 6 guarantees 
the right to a fair hearing, it does not lay down 
any rules on the admissibility of evidence as 
such, which is primarily a matter for regulation 
under national law (see Schenk v. Switzerland, 
judgment of 12 July 1988, Series A no. 140, 
p. 29, §§ 45-46; Teixeira de Castro v. Portu-
gal, judgment of 9 June 1998, Reports 1998-IV, 
p. 1462, § 34).

54. It is therefore not the role of the Court to deter-
mine, as a matter of principle, whether particu-
lar types of evidence – for example, evidence 
obtained unlawfully in terms of domestic law 
– may be admissible or, indeed, whether the 
applicant was guilty or not. The question which 



510 CASEOFSATIKVTURKEY(NO2)

EC
HR

EC
J

must be answered is whether the proceedings 
as a whole, including the way in which the evi-
dence was obtained, were fair. This involves an 
examination of the “unlawfulness” in question 
and, where violation of another Convention 
right is concerned, the nature of the violation 
found (see, inter alia, Khan v. the United King-
dom, no. 35394/97, § 34, ECHR 2000-V; P.G. 
and J.H. v. the United Kingdom, no. 44787/98, 
§ 76, ECHR 2001-IX; Allan v. the United King-
dom, no. 48539/99, § 42, ECHR 2002-IX).

55. In determining whether the proceedings as 
a whole were fair, regard must also be had to 
whether the rights of the defence have been 
respected. It must be examined in particular 
whether the applicant was given the opportu-
nity of challenging the authenticity of the evi-
dence and of opposing its use. In addition, the 
quality of the evidence must be taken into con-
sideration, including whether the circumstanc-
es in which it was obtained cast doubts on its 
reliability or accuracy. While no problem of 
fairness necessarily arises where the evidence 
obtained was unsupported by other material, it 
may be noted that where the evidence is very 
strong and there is no risk of its being unreli-
able, the need for supporting evidence is cor-
respondingly weaker (see, inter alia, Khan, cited 
above, §§ 35, 37; Allan, cited above, § 43).

56. As regards, in particular, the examination of the 
nature of the Convention violation found, the 
Court recalls that notably in the cases of Khan 
(cited above, §§ 25-28) and P.G. and J.H. v. 
the United Kingdom (cited above, §§ 37-38) 
it has found the use of covert listening devices 
to be in breach of Article 8 where recourse to 
such devices lacked a legal basis in domestic 
law and the interferences with those appli-
cants’ right to respect for private life were not 
“in accordance with the law”. Nonetheless, the 
admission in evidence of information obtained 
thereby did not in the circumstances of the 
cases conflict with the requirements of fairness 
guaranteed by Article 6 § 1.

57. In the instant case, the Government relied on 
Articles 4 and 6 of Law no. 2937 as the legal 
basis of tapping and recording the applicant’s 
telephone conversations and argued that the 
impugned measure was justified in the cir-
cumstances for protection of national security. 
However, the Court has already found that at 
the time of the facts giving rise to the present 
application there was no domestic law which 
regulated telephone tapping and recording 
(see Ağaoğlu v. Turkey, no. 27310/95, §§ 54-

55, 6 December 2005). Thus the lack of legal 
basis for such interference lead the Court to 
conclude that the telephone recordings in 
question were unlawfully- obtained evidence 
in the circumstances of the case.

58. Nonetheless, the Court cannot exclude as a 
matter of principle and in the abstract that un-
lawfully obtained evidence of the present kind 
may be admissible (see, Schenk, cited above, p. 
29, § 46). It must therefore ascertain whether 
the proceedings as a whole were fair, regard 
being had to whether the rights of the defence 
have been respected. In this connection, it 
notes that the applicant was given opportu-
nity to challenge the way this evidence was 
obtained and opposed its use against him in 
the course of his trial (see paragraph 14 above). 
Although the trial court did not address the 
applicant’s challenge directly, it dismissed his 
defence submissions and convicted him on the 
basis of other available evidence, such as the 
applicant’s admission of having provided non-
confidential information to the Greek officials 
(see paragraphs 14 and 17 above).

59. Having regard to the foregoing, the Court con-
siders that the use of at the admission of the 
secretly taped material did not conflict with the 
requirements of fairness guaranteed by Article 
6 § 1 of the Convention.

60. It follows that this part of the application is 
manifestly ill-founded within the meaning of 
Article 35 § 3 of the Convention and must be 
rejected pursuant to Article 35 § 4.

C. Alleged failure to hold a public hearing
61. The applicant complained that his right to a 

public hearing enshrined in Article 6 had also 
been violated.

62. The Government noted that, according to 
Article 138 of the Military Court Organisation 
and Proceedings Law, hearings before military 
courts were public. However, the military court 
could hold hearings in camera if public moral-
ity and safety so required. In the instant case, 
since the applicant had been tried on charges 
of military espionage, exclusion of public was 
necessary for the purposes of national security.

63. The Court reiterates that the purpose of the ex-
haustion rule, contained in Article 35 § 1 of the 
Convention, is to afford the Contracting States 
the opportunity of preventing or putting right 
the violations alleged against them before 
those allegations are submitted to the Court. 
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Accordingly, this rule requires applicants first 
to use the remedies provided by the national 
legal system, thus dispensing States from an-
swering before the European Court for their 
acts.

64. In the instant case, however, it does not ap-
pear from the applicant’s submissions that he 
has raised this complaint before the domestic 
courts. Nor does it transpire from the docu-
ments that the applicant challenged the deci-
sion to hold hearings in camera before the trial 
court or in his appeal to the Court of Cassation. 
It follows that this complaint must be rejected 
for non-exhaustion of domestic remedies pur-
suant to Article 35 §§ 1 and 4 of the Conven-
tion.

D. Alleged failure to secure the attendance 
of a witness

65. The applicant complained that he had been 
denied a fair hearing since the trial court had 
failed to secure the attendance of V.A.Ö. who 
could have testified for his defence.

66. The Government contended that the trial court 
had made sufficient efforts to secure the at-
tendance of the witness in question. However, 
he could not be found.

67. The Court reiterates that as a general rule, it is 
for the national courts to assess the evidence 
before them, as well as the relevance of the 
evidence which an accused seeks to adduce, 
and in particular whether it is appropriate to 
call witnesses in autonomous sense given to 
that term in the Convention system (see Per-
na v. Italy, no. 48898/99, § 26, 25 July 2001). 
Furthermore, the purpose of Article 6 § 3 (d) 
is to place the defendant on an equal footing 
with the prosecution regarding the hearing of 
witnesses (see Touvier v. France, no. 29420/95, 
Commission decision of 13 January 1997, Deci-
sions and Reports (DR) 88, p. 148).

68. The Court notes that the General Staff Court 
summoned V.A.Ö. at the applicant’s request 
but he could not be found. Furthermore, as 
observed by the Military Court of Cassation, 
the trial court disregarded V.A.Ö.’s statements 
made to the police officers since he could not 
be questioned in relation to his allegations (see 
paragraph 19 above). The Court, noting that 
the trial court did not consider it necessary to 
examine that witness in order to ascertain the 
truth, does not find any particular failure to re-
spect the applicant’s right to a fair hearing.

69. It follows that this part of the application is 
manifestly ill-founded within the meaning of 
Article 35 § 3 of the Convention and must also 
be rejected pursuant to Article 35 § 4.

III. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

70. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage
71. The applicant claimed 118,000 euros (EUR) in 

respect of pecuniary damage and EUR 120,000 
for non-pecuniary damage.

72. The Government submitted that the amounts 
claimed were excessive and unjustified.

73. The Court does not discern any causal link be-
tween the violation found and the pecuniary 
damage alleged; it therefore rejects this claim. 
However, it accepts that the applicant must 
have suffered non-pecuniary damage, such as 
distress and frustration in the circumstances of 
the case, which cannot be sufficiently compen-
sated by the finding of a violation alone. Taking 
into account the circumstances of the case and 
having regard to its case-law, the Court awards 
the applicant EUR 1,000 for non-pecuniary 
damage.

74. The Court considers that where an individual, 
as in the present case, has been convicted by 
a court which did not satisfy the conditions 
of independence and impartiality required by 
the Convention, an appropriate form of re-
dress would, in principle, be for the applicant 
to be given a retrial or for the proceedings to 
be reopened if he or she so requests (see Öca-
lan v. Turkey [GC], no. 46221/99, § 210 in fine, 
ECHR 2005-...).

B. Costs and expenses
75. The applicant also claimed EUR 19,000 for the 

costs and expenses incurred before the Court.

76. The Government contended that no award 
should be under this heading since the ap-
plicant had failed to furnish any documents in 
support of his claim.
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77. According to the Court’s case-law, an applicant 
is entitled to reimbursement of his costs and 
expenses only in so far as it has been shown 
that these have been actually and necessarily 
incurred and were reasonable as to quantum. 
In the present case, regard being had to the in-
formation and documents in its possession as 
well as the above criteria, the Court considers it 
reasonable to award the sum of EUR 3,000 for 
costs and expenses before the Court.

C. Default interest
78. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT

1. Declares unanimously the applicant’s com-
plaints concerning the alleged ill-treatment 
inflicted on him during his detention in police 
custody and his conviction by a tribunal which 
lacked independence and impartiality admis-
sible and the remainder of the application in-
admissible;

2. Holds unanimously that there has been no 
violation of Article 3 of the Convention;

3. Holds by 6 votes to 1 that there has been a vio-
lation of Article 6 § 1 of the Convention as a 
result of the applicant’s trial and conviction by 
the General Staff Military Court;

4. Holds by 6 votes to 1

(a) that the respondent State is to pay the 
applicant, within three months from the 
date on which the judgment becomes fi-
nal in accordance with Article 44 § 2 of the 
Convention, the following sums, to be con-
verted into new Turkish liras at the date of 
settlement:

(i) EuR 1,000 (one thousand euros), plus 
any tax that may be chargeable, in re-
spect of non-pecuniary damage;

(ii) EuR 3,000 (three thousand euros), 
plus any tax that may be chargeable 
to the applicant, in respect of costs 
and expenses;

(b) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 

amounts at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

5. Dismisses unanimously the remainder of the 
applicant’s claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 8 July 
2008, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the Rules 
of Court.

Santiago Quesada, Registrar
Boštjan M. zupančič, President

In accordance with Article 45 § 2 of the Conven-
tion and Rule 74 § 2 of the Rules of Court, the fol-
lowing separate opinions are annexed to this judg-
ment:

• concurring opinion of Judge Ziemele;

• dissenting opinion of Judge Türmen.

ConCURRInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE ZIEMELE
I voted for the finding of a violation of Article 6 § 
1 on the grounds that the applicant was tried and 
convicted by the General Staff Military Court. How-
ever, I do not fully share the reasoning of the major-
ity on this point. The judgment relies heavily on the 
case of Ergin v. Turkey (no. 6), no. 47533/99, ECHR 
2006- (extracts). In the Ergin case the applicant was 
the editor of a newspaper and was charged with 
incitement, by publication of an article, to evade 
military service. In the present case, the applicant 
was convicted of espionage (§§ 12, 16). Clearly, 
the two offences are of a very different nature. The 
judgment takes note of the prevailing practice in 
the Council of Europe Member States and points to 
a strong trend at the international level to limit the 
jurisdiction of military courts (§§ 43 – 44). How-
ever, it does not go as far as to say that in times 
of peace military courts should not try civilians no 
matter what the offence is. The Court’s position is 
that “the power of military criminal justice should 
not extend to civilians unless there are compelling 
reasons justifying such a situation. The existence of 
such reasons [has] to be substantiated in each spe-
cific case. It [is] not sufficient for the national legis-
lation to allocate certain categories of offences to 
military courts in abstracto” (§ 42).

If the jurisdiction of military courts over civilians in 
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some circumstances may still be accepted by the 
Court, it remains unclear where the line should be 
drawn. Normally, it is necessary to have a clear de-
limitation in national legislation of the jurisdiction 
of courts by defining in criminal codes the types of 
offences that might fall within the system of mili-
tary justice or at least its competence in times of 
state of emergency. It would have been preferable 
if the Court had further elaborated on the mean-
ing of the “compelling reasons” approach. A case of 
espionage was a good opportunity to do so. How-
ever, if the Court considered that military courts 
should not try civilians in peacetime since it was 
incompatible with the fair trial guarantees of Article 
6 § 1, it ought to have ruled on that principle.

DIssEntInG oPInIon oF 
JUDGE tÜRMEn
I regret that I am unable to agree with the majority 
in finding a violation of Article 6 § 1 of the Con-
vention.

I do agree that in principle military criminal justice 
should not be extended to civilians. However, this 
is not an absolute rule and decisions should be 
reached on a case-by-case basis after examination 
of the circumstances of each case. Elements such as 
the nature of the offence and the guarantees pro-
vided by the national legislation to ensure the inde-
pendence and impartiality of the judges certainly 
play an important role.

The case-law of the Court also supports this view. 
In Ergin v. Turkey (no. 6), no. 47533/99, ECHR 2006- 
(extracts), the Court stated that the Convention did 
not absolutely exclude the jurisdiction of military 
courts to try cases in which civilians were impli-
cated. It held however that the existence of such 
jurisdiction should be subjected to particularly 
careful scrutiny. The Court also considered that the 
power of military criminal justice should not extend 
to civilians unless there were compelling reasons 
justifying such a situation, and if so, only on a clear 
and foreseeable legal basis. The existence of such 
reasons must be substantiated in each specific case 
(see Ergin, cited above, §§ 46 and 47).

It is to be recalled that the applicant was convicted 
of disloyalty to national defence by way of espio-
nage, an offence which was prescribed by Article 
56 § 1 (D) of the Military Criminal Code and Arti-
cle 133 § 1 of the Criminal Code. In convicting the 
applicant, the General Staff Court had to assess the 
nature of the acts he had committed and found 
that the information he had provided to the Greek 

officials was not confidential military information. 
On that basis the court mitigated the applicant’s 
sentence and imposed the minimum period of 
imprisonment foreseen by the above-mentioned 
provisions.

The issues to be determined by the General Staff 
Court required a measure of professional knowl-
edge or experience since the acts committed by 
the applicant were exclusively related to military 
information and consequently to national security 
(see mutatis mutandis, Tsfayo v. the United King-
dom, no. 60860/00, §§ 43 and 45, 14 November 
2006). In this respect, the circumstances of the 
present case differ from those of the Ergin case 
and other similar cases (see Düzgören v. Turkey, 
no. 56827/00, 9 November 2006) where the assess-
ment of the acts at issue did not require special ex-
pertise and did not concern national security.

On the other hand, “espionage” in criminal law has 
a special status as it constitutes a threat to the de-
fence and security of the State.

In the 1907 Hague Convention IV Respecting the 
Laws and Customs of War on Land it is stated that a 
spy will be treated as a prisoner of war, that is to say, 
a combatant (Article 31). The 1949 Geneva Conven-
tion IV on Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of 
War stipulates that a civilian person detained as a 
spy shall be regarded as having forfeited rights of 
communication, meaning that he will be regarded 
as a prisoner of war, a member of the military (Ar-
ticle 5).

Moreover, under Article 68 of the same Conven-
tion, the Occupying Power may impose the death 
penalty on a protected person (a civilian) in cases 
where the person is guilty of espionage.

It is true that all these provisions are applicable in 
time of war and not in time of peace. Nevertheless, 
they are indications as to the special character of 
the offence where a civilian convicted of espionage 
is treated as a person belonging to the military.

Accordingly, in the instant case, I find there are 
sufficient compelling reasons that justify the trial 
of the applicant by a military court on charges of 
military offences which had a clear and foreseeable 
basis in domestic law.

It is to be noted that the Court has already had oc-
casion to look into the question of the General Staff 
Court’s organic independence from the execu-
tive, and has held that the appointment of military 
judges and the safeguards accorded to them in the 
performance of their duties were compatible with 
the requirements of Article 6 § 1 of the Convention 
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(see Hakan Önen v. Turkey (dec.), no. 32860/96, 10 
February 2004).

Against this background, and having regard to the 
special circumstances of the present case, I con-
clude that there has been no violation of Article 6 
§ 1 of the Convention in respect of the applicant’s 
trial.
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SECRET INFORMATION, ESPIONAGE, SPY, FREEDOM 
OF EXPRESSION, NATIONAL SECURITY, PUBLIC INTER-
EST, DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION, SENSITIVE DATA, 
DEMOCRACY

IN THE CASE Of STOLL v. SWITzERLAND,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting as a 
Grand Chamber composed of:
Mr J.-P. Costa, President,  
Mr L. Wildhaber,  
Mr B.M. Zupančič,  
Mr P. Lorenzen,  
Mr R. Türmen,  
Mrs M. Tsatsa-Nikolovska,  
Mr A.B. Baka,  
Mr M. Ugrekhelidze,  
Mr A. Kovler,  
Mr V. Zagrebelsky,  
Mrs A. Mularoni,  
Mrs E. Fura-Sandström,  
Mrs R. Jaeger,  
Mr E. Myjer,  
Mr D. Popović,  
Mrs I. Ziemele,  
Mrs I. Berro-Lefèvre, judges,  
and Mr V. Berger, Jurisconsult,
Having deliberated in private on 7 February and 7 
November 2007,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

69698/01 ) against the Swiss Confederation 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of the 
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Conven-
tion”) by a Swiss national, Mr Martin Stoll (“the 
applicant”), on 14 May 2001.

2. The applicant was represented by Mrs H. Keller, 
a lawyer practising in Zürich. The Swiss Govern-
ment (“the Government”) were represented by 
their Agent, Mr F. Schürmann, Head of the Hu-
man Rights and Council of Europe Section of 
the Federal Office of Justice.

3. The applicant alleged that his conviction for 
publishing “secret official deliberations” had 
been contrary to Article 10 of the Convention.

4. The application was allocated to the Second 
Section of the Court (Rule 52 § 1 of the Rules 
of Court). Within that Section, the Chamber 
that would consider the case (Article 27 § 1 of 
the Convention) was constituted as provided 
in Rule 26 § 1.

5. On 1 November 2004 the Court changed the 
composition of its Sections (Rule 25 § 1). This 
case was assigned to the newly composed 
Fourth Section (Rule 52 § 1). Within that Sec-
tion, the Chamber that would consider the 
case (Article 27 § 1 of the Convention) was 
constituted as provided in Rule 26 § 1.

6. On 3 May 2005 the application was declared 
admissible by a Chamber composed of the fol-
lowing judges: Sir Nicolas Bratza, President, Mr 
J. Casadevall, Mr L. Wildhaber, Mr M. Pellonpää, 
Mr R. Maruste, Mr J. Borrego Borrego and Mr J. 
Šikuta, judges, and of Mr M. O'Boyle, Section 
Registrar.

7. On 25 April 2006 the Chamber delivered a judg-
ment in which it held, by four votes to three, 
that there had been a violation of Article 10 of 
the Convention. It considered that the finding 
of a violation constituted in itself sufficient just 
satisfaction for the non-pecuniary damage sus-
tained by the applicant. The applicant did not 
submit any claim for costs and expenses.

8. On 14 July 2006 the Government requested 
that the case be referred to the Grand Chamber 
under Article 43 of the Convention and Rule 73 
of the Rules of Court. The panel of the Grand 
Chamber granted the request on 13 Septem-
ber 2006.

9. The composition of the Grand Chamber was 
determined according to the provisions of Arti-
cle 27 §§ 2 and 3 of the Convention and Rule 
24 of the Rules of Court.

10. The Government, but not the applicant, filed 
written observations on the merits. The appli-
cant submitted his claim for just satisfaction.

11. In addition, third-party comments were re-
ceived from the French and Slovakian Gov-
ernments, which had been given leave by the 
President to intervene in the written procedure 
(Article 36 § 2 of the Convention and Rule 44 
§ 2).

12. A hearing took place in public in the Human 
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Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 7 February 2007 
(Rule 59 § 3).

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Mr f. Schürmann, Head of the Human 
Rights and Council of Europe Section of the 
Federal Office of Justice, Federal Depart-
ment of Justice, Agent,

Mr P. Seger, Ambassador, Jurisconsult, Head 
of the International Public Law Directorate, 
Federal Department of Foreign Affairs,

Mr A. Scheidegger, Deputy Head of the Hu-
man Rights and Council of Europe Section,

Mrs D. Steiger, legal assistant, Human Rights 
and Council of Europe Section, Counsel;

(b) for the applicant

Mrs H. Keller, Representative,

Mr S. Canonica, legal adviser, TA Media,

Mr A. Durisch, editor, Sonntags-Zeitung,

Mr A. fischer, lecturer, University of Zürich,

Mrs D. Kühne, lecturer, University of Zürich,

Mrs M. forowicz, lecturer, University of 
Zürich, Advisers.

The applicant was also present.

The Court heard addresses by Mrs H. Keller, Mr 
F. Schürmann and Mr P. Seger. The parties' rep-
resentatives replied to the questions asked by 
one judge.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

13. The applicant was born in 1962 and lives in 
Switzerland.

A. Background to the case
14. In 1996 and 1997 negotiations were con-

ducted between, among others, the World 
Jewish Congress and Swiss banks concerning 
compensation due to Holocaust victims for 
unclaimed assets deposited in Swiss bank ac-
counts.

15. Against that background Carlo Jagmetti, who 

was the Swiss ambassador to the United States 
at the time, drew up on 19 December 1996 a 
“strategy paper”, classified as “confidential”, 
which was faxed to Thomas Borer, head of 
the task force that had been set up to deal 
with the question within the Federal Depart-
ment of Foreign Affairs in Berne. Copies were 
sent to nineteen other individuals in the Swiss 
Government and the federal authorities and to 
the Swiss diplomatic missions in Tel Aviv, New 
York, London, Paris and Bonn.

16. Below are some extracts from the document, 
based on the article “That's all we need”, which 
appeared in the Tages-Anzeiger on 27 January 
1997, the day after the applicant's articles were 
published (unofficial translation):
“Ambassador,

The campaign against Switzerland and the
huge claims accompanying it, reflected in
theactivitiesoftheJewishorganisations, the
statements of American politicians and the
classactions,willgreatlyoccupytheauthori-
ties andpublic opiniononboth sides of the
Atlantic for some time to come ... However,
the real reverberations will not be felt until
the inquirieswhich are to be launchedhave
been completed, those claims that are well-
founded have been met, the proceedings
havebeenconcludedandmattershavebeen
putrightinhistorical,political,legalandmoral
terms.Thatwilltakeatleastthreeyears,pos-
siblymuch longer.Moreover, it is impossible
topredicttodaythecourseofSwissdomestic
and foreignpolicy in theyearsahead. Inany
event,thepolitical,economicandsocialchal-
lenges facing the country internally and the
uncertainty surrounding the European issue
(theEU,security,etc.)andglobalisationareal-
readypromptingsomepainfulsoul-searching
bytheSwisspeople.

The comments now coming from America
areallweneed.Suddenly,ontopofthepre-
sentandfutureuncertainties,wemustcome
totermswiththepast.Thecampaignagainst
Switzerland, therefore, isbeingconducted in
analreadydifficultclimate...

AllSwitzerland'seffortsareaimedatpreserv-
ing the country's integrity, forestalling or at
least warding off dangers and maintaining
international relations (in particular with the
United States) during the crisis and beyond
while avoiding any lasting damage. All in-
terimgoalsmustbeviewedsolely inrelation
to the main objective. Short-lived successes
suchas'truces',temporarilypositivereactions
fromthemedia,satisfactionatseeingcertain
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projectsputinhand,historicalinsightswhich
maybefavourabletoSwitzerlandorconstruc-
tive remarks from our negotiating partners
abroad shouldnotblindus to the long-term
reality. Individual battles may be important,
but ultimately it is the war that Switzerland
mustwin...

IfweassumethatthedemandsoftheJewish
organisations and Senator D'Amatomust be
satisfiedasamatterofurgency,andthatthen
calmwillberestored,anactualdealmightbe
struck with the organisations concerned. In-
steadofjustmakingthe'gesture'currentlybe-
ingspeculatedon,wecouldact immediately
to resolve thematterbypayinga lump sum
in order to settle all the claimsonce and for
all.Given thata largenumberofgroupsand
countries are affected by this issue and that
Switzerland is now being called to account,
as it were, by the international community,
the plan must have both a national and an
international dimension and be based on a
long-term strategy. It might look something
likethis:

- themeasuresplannedup tonow (publica-
tionof theexperts' reportonthecompensa-
tionagreementwiththecountriesofeastern
Europe, commencement of the work of the
historicalcommission,inquiriesbytheVolcker
Committee) will be effectively implemented
bySwitzerlandusingthenecessaryresources
and within a realistic time frame, with any
difficulties being overcome in a determined
manner;

- thedialoguewithall thegroupsconcerned
mustbe continued in a correct andconcilia-
tory manner, without making interim con-
cessions which could jeopardise the entire
process;

-asfarastheactivitiesofforeigngovernments
andparliamentsareconcerned(particularlyin
the United States and the United Kingdom),
the aim should be to bring about courteous
bilateral cooperation focusing primarily on
establishing the truth and avoiding any po-
lemics. Where necessary, of course, a clear
andfirmstanceshouldbetaken,particularlyif
Switzerlandisdisparagedoraccusedwithout
absolutelyclear-cutreasons;

-whensignificantinterimfindingshavebeen
obtainedand,especially,whenall the inquir-
ies have been completed, negotiations will
need to be conducted on the conclusions
tobedrawnandonhowany funds released
should be used. These should be conducted
atgovernmental level, eithermultilaterally, if
possiblewithallthecountriesconcerned(in-
cluding the Allies, those countries thatwere

neutral at the time, Israel and Germany), bi-
laterallywithIsrael(whichwouldmeangiving
up a long-standing position and accepting
the risk of adverse reactions from the Arab
world), or with non-governmental organisa-
tions.Muchwilldependonthestrategyofour
adversaries.However,theissuemustbemade
aninternationaloneandothercountriesmust
beheldtoaccount.Switzerland,whichhasset
agoodexamplewith its inquiries, shouldas-
sumea leading role andhence seize the ini-
tiative...

Itmustalsobeborne inmind that scenarios
andstrategiesarenot immunetooutside in-
fluencesandthateventsmayoccuroranew
trendemergeatany time,callingeverything
into question or at least requiring consider-
able flexibility. Accordingly, a mix of action
based on international law and interim pay-
ments would, if possible, be more realistic.
Opting for this kind of mix from the outset
wouldalmost inevitablymeantakingaprag-
maticapproachthatevolvesfromdaytoday
and scarcelydeserves theambitiousdescrip-
tionofa'strategy'...Switzerlandcannotafford
tojustmuddlethroughinthismatter.

Whatever strategy is chosen, action will be
neededontheexternalfronttolendcredibil-
itytoSwissefforts.Thiscanbedonebytaking
thesame–essentiallyreactive–stancetaken
hitherto or by adopting a more innovative
approach.Aspartof the latter Iwouldadvo-
cate campaigning systematically in political
circlesandinthemedia,maintainingongoing
contactswiththeAmericanadministrationin
ordertocompareresultsandrefinemethods,
cultivatingrelationswiththeJewishorganisa-
tionswhereverpossible in a friendlymanner
butwithoutservilityandconductingawell-or-
chestrated public relations campaign includ-
ing, for instance, seminars and round-table
sessions. On the subject of public relations,
however, statements should be made only
if there issomethingnewtobesaidandthe
timeandplaceare right. Pilgrimages abroad
are best avoided on tactical grounds and in
viewofthedomesticpolicyaspects...

Theadvantagesanddrawbacksof thediffer-
ent approaches are fairly obvious. However,
it is clear that, fromahistorical,political and
legal perspective, a 'deal'will neverbe satis-
factory.Ideally,allthesame,thelegalstrategy
should be chosen. This places considerable
demands on all concerned and calls for ini-
tiative,timeandenergy,tosaynothingofthe
cost. Inviewof themainobjective,however,
wewouldbewelladvisedtochangethehabit
of a lifetime and make the necessary funds
availablewithoutunseemlyhaggling.Letme
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repeat: this is a war Switzerlandmust wage
andwinontheexternalanddomesticfronts.
Mostofouradversariesarenottobetrusted.
The potential damage to Switzerland from a
boycottorperhapsevenlegislativeactionby
other countries is immense. Even the figures
forournationalpensionsinsuranceschemeor
thecostofthenewtrans-Alpinerail links,for
instance,areliabletolookmodestbycompar-
ison. Switzerlandmust present a united and
determinedfront...

CarloJagmetti,Swissambassador”

17. The applicant obtained a copy. It seems clear 
that he could not have acquired possession 
of the document without a breach of official 
secrecy by a person whose identity remains 
unknown.

B. The impugned articles by the applicant
18. On Sunday 26 January 1997 the Zürich Sunday 

newspaper the Sonntags-Zeitung published 
the following article by the applicant (unofficial 
translation):

“AmbassadorJagmettiinsultstheJews[origi-
naltitleinGerman:BotschafterJagmettibelei-
digtdieJuden]

Secretdocument: 'Ouradversariesarenot to
be trusted' [Geheimpapier: 'Mann kann dem
Gegnernichtvertrauen']

by[theapplicant]

Berne/Washington–Another scandal involv-
ingtheSwissambassadortotheUnitedStates:
CarloJagmetti,inaconfidentialstrategypaper
ontheassetsofHolocaustvictims,talksofthe
'warSwitzerlandmustwage',andof'adversar-
ies'who'arenottobetrusted'.

Thepaper isclassifiedas 'confidential'. Itwas
writtenbyCarlo Jagmetti, Swiss ambassador
to the United States. On 19 December the
64-year-old high-ranking diplomat in Wash-
ington sent the task force inBernehis views
onwhathedescribedasa'campaignagainst
Switzerland'. This report has been obtained
by the Sonntags-Zeitung, and is dynamite.
In termsof its content, it is anunremarkable
assessment of the situation. But the aggres-
sivelanguageusedbyCarloJagmettihasthe
effectofanelectricshockonthereader. 'It is
a war', writes the ambassador, 'a war Swit-
zerlandmust wage andwin on the external
and domestic fronts'. He describes Senator
D'AmatoandtheJewishorganisationsas'ad-
versaries',sayingthat'mostofouradversaries
arenottobetrusted'.

Inhispaper,CarloJagmettimentionsthepos-
sibilityofconcludinganagreement,because
'thedemandsoftheJewishorganisationsand
SenatorD'Amatomustbesatisfiedasamatter
ofurgency'.Heusestheword'deal'inthiscon-
text.AmbassadorJagmettisuggests'payinga
lumpsum'totheJewsinordertosettle'allthe
claimsonceandforall'.Then,hewrites,'calm
willberestored'.

Speaking of the 'external front', Carlo Jag-
mettisaysthatSwitzerlandshould'campaign
systematically in political circles and in the
media'. Relations with Jewish organisations
shouldbe'cultivatedinafriendlymannerbut
without servility', with the help of a firm of
lawyers, and a 'well-orchestratedpublic rela-
tionscampaign[shouldbeconducted]includ-
ing...seminarsandround-tablesessions'.

No comments on this strategy paper by the
eminentdiplomat–duetoretireinthespring
–wereforthcomingyesterdayeitherfromFla-
vioCotti[headoftheSwissdiplomaticservice]
attheFederalDepartmentofForeignAffairsor
fromthetaskforceheadedbyThomasBorer.
Carlo Jagmetti had no comment tomake to
thisnewspaper.

MartinRosenfeld,PresidentoftheSwissFed-
erationofJewishCommunities(SIG/FSCI)de-
scribedCarloJagmetti's remarksas 'shocking
andprofoundlyinsulting'.Hesaidheforesaw
'a difficult run-up to retirement' for Mr Jag-
metti.”

19. In the same edition of the Sonntags-Zeitung of 
26 January 1997, another article by the appli-
cant read (unofficial translation):
“The ambassador in bathrobe and climbing
bootsputshisfootinit[MitBademantelund
BergschuhenindenFettnapf]

SwissAmbassadorCarloJagmetti'sdiplomatic
blunderings[DerSchweizerBotschafterCarlo
Jagmetti trampelt übers diplomatische Par-
kett]

By[theapplicant]

Berne/Washington–SwissambassadorCarlo
Jagmetti constantly gets himself noticed on
thediplomatic scene.Withhis insensitive re-
markson the assetsofHolocaust victims, he
hasthrownSwissforeignpolicyintoturmoil–
andnotforthefirsttime.

EarlyonFridaymorningthetemperaturebe-
gantoriseintheofficesoftheSwissembassy
inWashington.'Wedonotcommentoninter-
nal documents' said an embassy spokesman
emphatically to this newspaper... By the fol-
lowingday,nevertheless,... [an]editoronthe
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[dailynewspaper]NeueZürcherZeitunghad
alreadyleapttothedefenceofhisclosefriend
CarloJagmetti.Undertheheading'Leakscon-
tinueunabated',heannouncedthat'thisbal-
anceddocument,somepartsofwhichmight,
ofcourse,bemischievouslyconstrued,maybe
publishedthisweekend'.

Damagelimitation,therefore,wasthenameof
thegameinWashingtononFriday.Ambassa-
dorCarloJagmetti,whohasrepresentedSwit-
zerlandabroadfor34years,wasclearlyaware
of theexplosivenatureofhisstrategypaper,
dated 19 December 1996, on the subject of
unclaimedJewishassets.Inhispaper,hetalks
abouta'warSwitzerlandmustwageandwin
ontheexternalanddomesticfronts'.Hewinds
upwitha flourishbyobserving: 'Mostofour
adversariesarenottobetrusted'.

TheSwissEmbassyinWashingtonishowever,
experiencedincrisismanagement.CarloJag-
metti,whoheadstheembassy,regularlyputs
hisfootinit.In1993,afewmonthsaftermov-
ingintohisofficeintheprestigiousCathedral
Avenue, this senior diplomat committed his
firstfauxpas.InaninterviewwiththeSchweiz-
erIllustrierte,hecomplainedabouttheAmeri-
can administration, saying 'I've observed a
certainlackofcourtesy'.EvenBillClinton,who
wassaidto'burstoutlaughingsometimesat
inopportune moments', was criticised dur-
ingtheinterview.Apparently,MrClintonhad
'kept[CarloJagmetti]waitingforfourmonths'
before hewas accredited. And, according to
the ambassador, itwas legitimate to ask, on
ageneralnote,'who[was]actuallygoverning
theUnitedStates'.

Berne reprimanded the ambassador for his
ill-chosenremarksandforanunconventional
publicappearance(CarloJagmettiandhiswife
were pictured [in an article in themagazine
Schweizer Illustrierte] intheirbathrobes),but
theambassadordidnotprovemuchmoreret-
icentinhissubsequentutterances.Andinthe
highly topical debate concerning the assets
ofHolocaust victims,Carlo Jagmetti has also
giventheimpressionofsomebodyblundering
ontothediplomaticstageinoutsizeboots.He
rebukedtheHolocaustsurvivorGerdaBeerin
frontoftheassembledAmericanpress,saying
thatherclaimswereunfoundedasheruncle
hademptiedtheSwissbankaccountinques-
tion. The incident-prone diplomat based his
remarks, however, not on proven facts, but
onunsubstantiatedrumourswhichhadbeen
circulating.

Bernewasleftwithnochoicebuttoapologise
forhisundiplomatic remarks inabidto limit
thedamage.

These remarks, which have now beenmade
public,areallthemoreembarrassingsincethe
tensionseemedtobeeasing.OnlylastFriday
SenatorD'Amatoand theWorld JewishCon-
gresshadforthefirsttimewelcomedSwitzer-
land'sagreeingtosetupafundforHolocaust
victims.

Swissdiplomatsarenowengagedinbehind-
the-sceneseffortstoheadoff the impending
crisisbystressingthefactthatCarloJagmetti
isdue to retire shortly. Inanyevent, theyar-
gue,MrJagmettiplayedonlyaminor role in
therecentlyconcludednegotiationsbetween
JewishorganisationsandtheAmericanSena-
torD'Amato.

Carlo Jagmetti himself has declined to com-
ment. He absented himself from the major
pressconferenceheldbySenatorD'Amatoon
Fridaybeforetheworld'spress.Hewasreport-
edlyonholidayinFlorida.”

C. Other press articles
20. A third article, which also appeared in the 

Sonntags-Zeitung on 26 January 1997 and was 
written by the editor Ueli Haldimann, was enti-
tled “The ambassador with a bunker mentality” 
(Botschafter mit Bunkermentalität).

21. On Monday 27 January 1997 the Zürich daily 
the Tages-Anzeiger reproduced lengthy ex-
tracts from the strategy paper in an article 
entitled “That's all we need” (Das hat gerade 
noch gefehlt). Subsequently, another news-
paper, the Nouveau Quotidien, also published 
extracts from the paper.

D. The Swiss Press Council opinion
22. Following publication of these articles, the 

Swiss Federal Council (Bundesrat) requested 
the Swiss Press Council (Presserat) to examine 
the case.

23. The Swiss Press Council acts as a complaints 
body for media-related issues. It is an institu-
tion under Swiss private law set up by four 
associations of journalists which formed a 
foundation (Stiftung) to organise and fund the 
activities of the Press Council. According to the 
Press Council rules, its activities are intended 
to contribute to the discussion of fundamental 
ethical issues in relation to the media. Its task is 
to uphold freedom of the press and freedom 
of information, and it adopts opinions, on its 
own initiative or in response to complaints, on 
issues concerning journalistic ethics. The Swiss 
Press Council has adopted a “Declaration on 
the rights and responsibilities of journalists” 
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which is available on the Internet.

24. Its opinion (Stellungnahme) of 4 March 1997 
concerning the present case (no. 1/97, C.J./
Sonntags-Zeitung) reads as follows (unofficial 
translation):
“II.Considerations

...

2.Withregardtothepublishingofconfiden-
tial information, the following extracts from
theDeclarationontherightsandresponsibili-
tiesofjournalistsareofrelevance:

(a) '[Journalists'] responsibility to the public
[shalltakeprecedenceover]theirresponsibil-
ity...towardsthe...authorities...inparticular'
(Preamble).

(b) Journalists shall have free access 'to all
sources of information and [shall have the]
right to investigate without hindrance any
factswhich are in the public interest; objec-
tions of secrecy in public or private matters
mayberaisedonlyinexceptionalcases,with
sufficientreasonsgivenineachcase'(pointa.
oftheDeclarationofrights).

(c)Journalistsshallpublishonly'suchinforma-
tion, documents [or] imageswhose origin is
known to them; [they shall not suppress] in-
formationoressentialelements[andshallnot]
distortany text,document, image ...oropin-
ionexpressedbyanother.[Theyshall]present
unsubstantiated news items very clearly as
such [and] make clear when pictures have
beenedited'.Theyshallcomplywith reason-
abledeadlines (point 3 of theDeclarationof
responsibilities).

(d) Journalists shall not make use of 'unfair
methodsinordertoobtaininformation,...im-
agesordocuments'(point4oftheDeclaration
ofresponsibilities).

(e) They shall respect 'editorial secrecy and
shallnotrevealthesourcesofinformationob-
tainedinconfidence' (point6oftheDeclara-
tionofresponsibilities).

(f)Theyshallnotaccept'anyfavoursorprom-
ises which might compromise their profes-
sionalindependenceortheirabilitytoexpress
theirownopinions'(point9oftheDeclaration
ofresponsibilities).

...

5. Itmust firstbeestablishedwhetherdiplo-
mats'reportscomeundertheheadingofvital
interests. The federal authorities and those
whosharetheirpointofviewarguethatthese

reports are highly sensitive and comparable
tothenegotiationsconductedbytheFederal
Councilandthereportsprecedingsuchnego-
tiations. Thesedocuments, they argue,merit
greater protection than, for instance, expert
reportsorminutesofparliamentarycommit-
tees. The Federal Department of Foreign Af-
fairsandtheFederalCouncilcannot forman
accuratepictureofinternationalrelationsun-
less the ambassadorsprovide themwith ad-
ditionalinformation,differentfromandmore
sensitive than that provided by the media.
Diplomatsalsoprovideinformationtheyhave
obtained from confidential sources, behind
thescenesorofftherecord.Theyneed,forin-
stance,tobeabletoexpressinplainlanguage
their views about violations of human rights
andpoliticalrelationsinIran,theinvolvement
of leadingColombianpoliticians indrugtraf-
fickingandthetruepicturewithregardtothe
balanceofpowerandintrigueintheKremlin.
If,despiteeverything,reportsofthiskindare
published,theambassadorconcernedwillal-
mostautomaticallybedeclaredpersonanon
gratainthehostcountry.Ifreportsofthiskind
weretobepublishedonaregularbasis,am-
bassadorswouldno longerbeableto report
oneverythingthatwasgoingon.Thatwould
haveanadverseimpactonSwissforeignpoli-
cy,perhapsevenparalysingitcompletely.And
if everything were to be made public, Swit-
zerlandmightjustaswellrecall itsdiplomats
andreplacethemwiththemedia. Inexercis-
ingtheirfunctionascriticandwatchdog,the
mediamustalwaysremainmindfuloftheirre-
sponsibilities.Thisapplieswithparticularforce
inthesphereofforeignpolicy,asthereports
relatingtoforeignpolicyarealsoreadabroad.
Ifonlyforthisreason,theyaremoresensitive
thanreportsondomesticpolicymatters.

...

The Press Council acknowledges the impor-
tance of the principle that diplomatic cor-
respondence should remain confidential. In
thepast,theSwissmediahaveobservedthat
principleinsubstanceandhavenotsetoutto
exposetheinternalworkingsofdiplomacyto
public view.Disclosures in the foreignpolicy
sphere have been the exception rather than
the rule in Switzerland. Media bosses are
clearly aware of the responsibilities inherent
in themedia's roleascriticandwatchdog in
thissphere.

At the same time, it should not be forgot-
tenthatdisclosuresbythemedia inthefield
of foreign policy are commonplace in other
countries,particularlyintheUnitedStates,but
alsointheUnitedKingdomandIsrael.Clearly,
othergovernmentsanddiplomatshave long
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had to contend with this risk of disclosures
concerning foreign policy, and have learned
tolivewithit.Whethertheylikeitornot,the
Swissauthoritiesmustalso learn toadjust to
asituationinwhichforeignpolicyisasmuch
thefocusofmediaattentionasdomesticpoli-
cy,andinwhichrevelationsmaycomenotjust
from the Swiss media but also from foreign
media. An approach which places confiden-
tialitybeforethepublicinterestintoorigida
mannerisneitherrealisticnorlegitimate,par-
ticularlysincediplomaticreportsareregularly
forwardedtoalargenumberofauthorities.

Therecanbenodoubtthattherevelationsin
theSonntags-ZeitungandtheTages-Anzeiger
were a source of embarrassment and prob-
lems for those responsible for Swiss foreign
policy,buttheydidnotrestricttheirroomfor
manoeuvre substantially. Diplomatic reports
areconfidentialbyright,butwhenthecondi-
tionsthatallowconfidentialreportstobepub-
lishedaremet,freedomofthepressmusttake
precedence (Opinion 2/94, Moser/Reimann
parliamentaryquestions).

6. The Press Council must now examine
whether the content of Mr Jagmetti's strat-
egy paper is of such importance that it was
appropriate to invoke the public interest,
andwhether it shouldhavebeenpublished.
In the view of Ueli Haldimann, editor of the
Sonntags-Zeitung, the public interest lay in
the fact that it was important to let people
knowhowtheSwissambassadorinWashing-
tonperceivedthecomplexissueofHolocaust
victims' assets and the way Switzerland was
comingtotermswithitspast,andwhatkind
ofaggressivelanguageheused.Accordingto
Haldimann,hisnewspaperdidnotpublishany
leaked informationunless thepublic interest
wasatstake.Althoughthereweremoreleaks
nowthanpreviously,theywerenotdamaging
inprinciple,andwereoftentheonlyremain-
ingmeansofputtinga stop toharmful con-
duct...

FromthePressCouncil'sstandpoint,thenext
step is to assess the strategic importance of
Mr Jagmetti's paper. Mr Jagmetti set out in
thisdocumenttomakeaperfectlyreasonable
analysis of the situation, making a number
of constructive proposals. He explored two
'extreme' options – the first involving some
kindof'deal'andthesecondinvolvinga'legal
strategy'.Thepapertestifiestoafundamental
concerntogetatthetruth,tofindagenerous
financial solution and to protect Swiss inter-
estsandthecountry'sgoodrelationswiththe
United States. However, it could not escape
theattentionofeventhemostcasual reader
thatMrJagmettiusedverybellicoselanguage

andthatheregardedhisnegotiatingpartners
asadversarieswhowerenottobetrustedand
whomightbeamenabletosomekindofdeal.
The language used betrays attitudes which
areproblematiceveninaninternaldocument,
since attitudes are liable tobe reflected also
innegotiationsandinformalcontacts. Inthat
connection, Mr Jagmetti was to have been
engagedinimportantdiscussionsconcerning
theassetsofHolocaustvictimsduringthelast
sixmonthsofhistenure.

The Press Council ismindful of the fact that
the degree of public interest of confidential
informationcannotbedeterminedinawholly
objectivemanner, butdependson the ideo-
logical, cultural, economic and advertising
context inwhich themediumoperates.Nev-
ertheless,inthecaseofMrJagmetti'sstrategy
paper, the public interest was clear, as the
debate surrounding the assets of Holocaust
victims and Switzerland's role in the Second
WorldWarwashighlytopicalinlate1996and
early 1997 and had an international dimen-
sion, and because the Swiss ambassador in
Washingtonwas to occupy a prominent po-
sition in the forthcoming discussions. Know-
ingwhat that ambassador thoughtandhow
heformulatedhisopinionswasrelevant,and
notatrivialconcern.Leavingasidetheques-
tionofthepublicinterestandtherelevanceof
theambassador's remarks, thepublicationof
this supposedly confidential paperwas justi-
fied from an ethical viewpoint, since only as
aresultof itspublicationdid itbecomeclear
thatthoseinchargestillhadnoveryclearidea,
despitethecreationofthetaskforce,astothe
question of Swiss responsibility and what
steps shouldbe taken. From theperspective
of political transparency, publication of the
confidentialpaper,despitethefactthatitwas
morethanamontholdandthatinthemean-
timetherehadbeentalkofsettingupafund
forHolocaustvictims,mighthavespurredthe
Governmentontoengageindebateinorder
toovercometheproblems,demonstratelead-
ershipanddeviseconvincingsolutions.

7.Finally,itisnecessarytoassesswhetherthe
informationwasmadepublicinthemostap-
propriate form. According to one school of
thought,themediaareinapositionofpower,
sincenotonlydothey inform,theyalsosug-
gestbythewayinwhichtheypresentthein-
formationhowitistobeassessed.Inthepre-
sent case the Sonntags-Zeitung, it is argued,
presentedaninternalanalysisofforeignpolicy
intruncatedformand,bypublishingitalong-
side comments from third parties who had
notseentheoriginaltext,plantedinpeople's
mindstheideathatAmbassadorJagmettihad
'insulted the Jews'. The newspaper, by ac-
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cusingMr Jagmetti of anti-Semitism, started
a rumour in an irresponsiblemanner. Repro-
ducing the full text would not have placed
MrJagmettiunderthesamekindofpressure
andwouldnothaveforcedhimtoresign.The
manner in which the information was pub-
lished, therefore, was a source of problems
andconsternation.

Theopposing school of thought argues that
it is vital to analyse the salient points of Mr
Jagmetti's remarks. According to the Sonn-
tags-Zeitung,therewasnoquestionofaccus-
ing Ambassador Jagmetti of anti-Semitism.
Nevertheless, the newspaper's editors have
acknowledged off the record that it would
havebeenwisertopublishthestrategypaper
infull.Theymaintainthat,onthedayofpub-
lication, it would have been virtually impos-
sible to addanotherpage to thenewspaper
andthatplanstopublishthe full textonthe
Internetwereabandonedowingto technical
problems.

ThePressCouncilregardstheseargumentsas
spurious,andagreeswiththecriticismregard-
ingthemannerofpublication.TheSonntags-
Zeitung did not make sufficiently clear that
Ambassador Jagmetti had outlined several
options in his strategy paper, of which the
'deal'was just one.Nor did itmake the tim-
ingoftheeventssufficientlyclear,particularly
since the document was already five weeks
old and had reached the addressees before
the interview given by the outgoing Swiss
Presidentontheprogramme24heures/Trib-
unedeGenève.Thenewspaperunnecessarily
madetheaffairappearshockingandscandal-
ous and, by its use of the headline 'Ambas-
sador Jagmetti insults the Jews', misled the
reader andmade it appear that the remarks
hadbeenmadethepreviousday.Itwasincor-
recttoassertthatMrJagmetti's letterunder-
minedtheprocesswhichhadbeguninJanu-
ary,particularlysincethedocumenthadbeen
circulatedbeforehandandhadnotpreviously
been in the public domain, and could not
therefore adversely affect the talks with the
country'spartnersathomeandabroad.When
the Sonntags-Zeitung attempted to contact
MrJagmettionFriday24January inorder to
obtain a comment, and failed to reach him
because he was in Florida, the newspaper's
editors should have considered whether it
mightnotbewiser todelaypublicationbya
weeksoastobeabletopublishaninterview
with Carlo Jagmetti alongside the extracts
fromhispaper.Thefactthatpublicationwent
aheadinspiteofeverythinginthenextissue
canonlyhavebeenpromptedby the fearof
competition,whichonnoaccountconstitutes
sufficient justification for immediatepublica-

tion.Hence,bypublishingthestrategypaper
inthewayitdid,theSonntags-Zeitungomit-
tedvitalpiecesofinformation,inbreachofthe
Declarationon the rightsand responsibilities
ofjournalists(point3oftheDeclarationofre-
sponsibilities).

...

III.Findings

1. Freedom of the press is too fundamental
a right to be made subservient as a matter
ofprinciple to the interestsof theState. The
roleofcriticandwatchdogplayedbytheme-
diarequiresthemtomakeinformationpublic
wherethepublicinterestisatstake,whether
the sourceof information is freely accessible
orconfidential.

2.As to thepublicationof confidential infor-
mation, theprosandconsmustbeweighed
upcarefully,withaneyetowhetherinterests
whichmeritprotectionare liable tobedam-
agedintheprocess.

3.Internalreportsbydiplomatsareconfiden-
tial by right, but do not necessarily merit a
highdegreeofprotectioninallcases.Theme-
dia'sroleascriticandwatchdogalsoextends
toforeignpolicy,withtheresultthatthosein
chargeinthemediamaypublishadiplomatic
reportiftheyconsideritscontenttobeinthe
publicinterest.

4. In the case ofMr Jagmetti, the interest to
the public of his strategy paper should be
acknowledged, as should the fact that its
publicationwas legitimateonaccountofthe
importanceofthepublicdebateontheassets
ofHolocaust victims, theprominentposition
occupiedby the Swiss ambassador inWash-
ingtonandthecontentofthedocument.

5. In this case the Sonntags-Zeitung, in irre-
sponsible fashion,madeMr Jagmetti's views
appear shocking and scandalous by print-
ingthestrategypaper intruncatedformand
failing tomake the timingof theevents suf-
ficientlyclear.Thenewspaperthereforeacted
inbreachoftheDeclarationontherightsand
responsibilities of journalists (point 3 of the
Declaration of responsibilities). The Tages-
AnzeigerandtheNouveauQuotidien,onthe
otherhand,placedtheaffairinitspropercon-
textfollowingtherevelationsbyreproducing
thedocumentinitsnear-entirety.”

E. The criminal proceedings against the 
applicant

1.Proceedingsatcantonallevel
25. Following publication of the articles, the ap-
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plicant was made the subject of an investiga-
tion by the Zürich cantonal authorities. By a 
decision of 6 March 1998 the Federal Public 
Prosecutor's Office ordered the discontinua-
tion of the investigation into a breach of official 
secrecy (Verletzung des Amtsgeheimnisses) 
within the meaning of Article 320 of the Swiss 
Criminal Code. It remitted the case in respect 
of the charge of publication of official delibera-
tions within the meaning of Article 293 of the 
Criminal Code to the prosecuting authorities of 
the Canton of Zürich.

26. On 5 November 1998 the Zürich District Of-
fice (Statthalteramt des Bezirkes Zürich) fined 
the applicant 4,000 Swiss francs (CHF) (ap-
proximately 2,382 euros (EUR) at the current 
exchange rate) for contravening Article 293 § 
1 of the Swiss Criminal Code (see paragraph 35 
below) by publishing the articles entitled “Am-
bassador Jagmetti insults the Jews” and “The 
ambassador in bathrobe and climbing boots 
puts his foot in it”.

27. On 22 January 1999, following an application 
by the applicant to have the decision set aside, 
the Zürich District Court (Bezirksgericht) con-
victed him of an offence under Article 293 § 
1 of the Swiss Criminal Code, but reduced the 
amount of the fine to CHF 800 (approximately 
EUR 476 at current exchange rates).

28. The relevant passages of the District Court 
judgment read as follows (unofficial transla-
tion):
“5.2.2Accordingtothecase-lawoftheFederal
Court,theoffencedefinedinArticle293ofthe
CriminalCodeisbasedonaformalnotionof
secrecywhereby theconfidentialnatureofa
document, a set of talks or an investigation
stemsnotfromitscontentbutfromitsbeing
classifiedas suchby the competentbody. In
accordancewiththisapproachbytheFederal
Court, the strategy paper in question,which
was marked '(classified) confidential' (Docu-
ment2/2),amounts toa secret in the formal
sense, and as such attracts theprotectionof
Article293oftheCriminalCode.

When it comes to interpretingArticle 293of
the Criminal Code, freedom of expression
and freedom of the press (Article 10 of the
European Convention onHuman Rights and
Article55oftheFederalConstitution)should
in principle be taken into consideration in
the appellant's favour. With the revision of
theCriminalCodeof10October1997,which
madethepublicationofsecretsofminor im-
portanceanextenuatingcircumstance(Article

293§3),thelegislatureaddedasubstantive
component to the notion of secrecy under
Article293.Butevenassumingthatforthese
reasons–andcontrarytothecase-lawofthe
FederalCourt–thecourtweretobaseitsdeci-
siononapurelysubstantivenotionofsecrecy,
theoutcomewouldnotbefavourabletothe
appellant.

TheviewsexpressedbyAmbassadorJagmetti
in the strategy paperwere not in the public
domain.This,moreover,isalsoapparentfrom
the fact that the information conveyed and
the way it was analysed provided the basis
for 'sensationalist' articles by the appellant.
Whether or not Ambassador Jagmettimight
have been willing to divulge the content of
the strategy paper in an interview is of little
relevance here. However, there is every rea-
sontodoubtit,themoresogiventhelimited
number of persons to whom the document
was sent. Furthermore, contrary to the ap-
pellant's claims, the content of the strategy
paperwas far fromunremarkable.Thedocu-
mentcontainedanassessmentofthedelicate
foreign-policy situation inwhich Switzerland
founditself inDecember1997onaccountof
the unclaimed assets, in particular vis-à-vis
the United States. It also proposed a variety
ofstrategiesaimedathelpingthecountryget
outofitspredicament.Documentssettingout
oftencarefullywordedevaluationsandassess-
ments are an essential part of the formation
ofopinionsanddecision-makingatembassy
level, a process during which strongly held
andoftendivergingopinions are exchanged
and discussed internally until agreement is
reachedonaparticularposition. Theprotec-
tionwhichArticle293oftheCriminalCodeis
intendedtoprovidealsoappliestotheforma-
tionofopinionsinasfreeamanneraspossible
and without undue outside influence (BGE
(FederalCourtReports)107IV188).Inthatre-
gard,thedocumentinquestionwasaimedat
helpingtheheadofthetaskforcetoforman
opinionandhenceatinfluencingthecourseof
eventsandthecountry'shandlingoftheissue
oftheunclaimedassets.Byitsverynature,the
publicationofinternaldocumentsofthiskind,
whicharedesignedtohelpformopinions,can
havedevastatingconsequencesforthenego-
tiationstobeconducted.Consequently,given
itsexplosivecontentand the fact that itwas
unknowntothepublic,thedocumentinques-
tionwasalsosecret inthesubstantivesense.
Itisthusfairtosaythatthequestionwhether
thebroadformalnotionofsecrecyadoptedby
theFederalCourttakesprecedenceoverArti-
cle10oftheEuropeanConventiononHuman
Rightsremainsopen...

6. To justify his actions, the appellant claims
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to have been defending legitimate interests.
According to the Federal Court, this extra-
legaljustificationmaybereliedon'iftheactin
questionconstitutesanecessaryandreason-
ablemeans of achieving a legitimate aim, is
thesolepossiblecourseofactionandismani-
festly of less importance than the interests
which the perpetrator is seeking to defend'
(BGE 120 IV 213). The appellant argues that
theeditorsoftheSonntags-Zeitungassessed
thesituationbeforearrivingattheconclusion
thatthepublicinterestcarriedgreaterweight.
They took theview that thepublicwasenti-
tled tobe informedwhen leadingdiplomats
used language which was in glaring contra-
diction with Switzerland's official position
(Document2/5,p.2). The toneemployedby
the ambassador was so inappropriate, they
argued,thatpublicationwasnecessary(Docu-
ment 2/7). Ambassador Jagmetti, according
to the editors, was not the right person to
beconductingthenegotiationswithSenator
D'AmatoandtheJewishorganisations,ashe
lacked the finesse needed to deal with this
importantissue(Document17,p.13).Bypub-
lishingtheconfidentialstrategypaper,there-
fore,theappellantwasinpartattempting,asit
were,tosidelinefromthenegotiationsalead-
ingdiplomatwhosestylehedisliked. Itmust
besaidthat,evenifitwasgenuine,theindig-
nationexpressedbytheappellantwithregard
tothetoneofthedocumentseemssomewhat
naïve.Whileasectionof thepublicmaywell
have wished to be informed about internal
documents of this kind, this has little to do
withlegitimateinterests.Moreover,theappel-
lantundoubtedlyundermined theclimateof
discretionwhich isofvital importance in the
sphereofdiplomaticrelations,therebyweak-
ening Switzerland's position in the negotia-
tionsoratleastcompromisingitsubstantially.
In assessing the public interest relied on by
theappellantinthelightofthestrictrequire-
mentslaiddownbytheFederalCourtwithre-
gardtotheextra-legaljustificationofdefence
oflegitimateinterests,itisclear,firstly,thatthe
means employed by the Sonntags-Zeitung,
consisting in the impugned publication of
secret official documents, were neither nec-
essarynorreasonableand,secondly,thatthe
interestswhichweredamagedasaresultwere
not'manifestly'oflessimportance.Inaddition,
thepublicdebateonunclaimedassetswhich
the appellant wished to see could perfectly
wellhavebeenconductedwithoutinfringing
Article293oftheCriminalCode.Thedefence
oflegitimateinterestscannotthereforebere-
liedonasjustification...

8.UnderArticle293§3oftheCriminalCode,
thepublicationofsecretsofminorimportance

amounts to anextenuating circumstance.As
indicatedabove,however,thesecretdivulged
in thepresent casewasnotofminor impor-
tance. The publishing of a strategy paper
whichwasvital to the formationofopinions
withintheFederalDepartmentofForeignAf-
fairsandtheFederalCouncil,whileitmaynot
haveactuallyweakenedSwitzerland'sposition
vis-à-vistheoutsideworldandinparticularin
thenegotiations,atleasttemporarilycompro-
misedit.Itwasimportanttopreservethecon-
fidentialityofthedocumentnotjustbecause
itwasclassifiedas 'confidential'.The implica-
tionsofthesubjectunderdiscussionforSwiss
foreignpolicyalsocalledforgreaterdiscretion
indealingwith thestrategypaper.Thereare
therefore no extenuating circumstances un-
der Article 293§ 3 of the Criminal Code in
relationtothefactsconstitutingtheoffence.

...

The offence committed cannot now be re-
garded as minor, as the secrets which the
appellantmade public are not of secondary
importance.Inpublishingthestrategypaper,
the appellant unthinkingly compromised
Switzerland's tactical stance in the negotia-
tions.Nevertheless, the offence is not a very
seriousone,as theappellantdidnotdivulge
anactualStatesecretwhosepublicationcould
haveundermined thecountry's very founda-
tions. Nor should toomuch bemade of the
faultcommittedbytheappellant, insofaras
hecommittedhisactions–withthebacking
ofthenewspaper'seditoranditslegaldepart-
ment–inalegitimateattempt,amongother
things,tostartanopendebateonallaspects
of the unclaimed assets issue. A fine of CHF
800isthereforeappropriate...”

29. The applicant lodged an appeal on grounds 
of nullity (Nichtigkeitsbeschwerde), which was 
dismissed by the Court of Appeal (Obergericht) 
of the Canton of Zürich on 25 May 2000.

2.Proceedingsatfederallevel
30. The applicant lodged an appeal on grounds of 

nullity and a public-law appeal (staatsrechtli-
che Beschwerde) with the Federal Court (Bun-
desgericht). He argued that a journalist could 
be convicted of an offence under Article 293 
of the Swiss Criminal Code only in exceptional 
circumstances, namely if the secret published 
was of unusual importance and publishing it 
undermined the country's very foundations. 
He referred to the public interest in being 
made aware of the ambassador's remarks and 
the role of journalists as watchdogs in a demo-
cratic society.
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31. The Federal Court dismissed the applicant's 
appeals in two judgments dated 5 December 
2000 (served on 9 January 2001) in which it up-
held the decisions of the lower courts.

32. In examining the appeal on grounds of nullity, 
the Federal Court first outlined some consid-
erations regarding Article 293 of the Criminal 
Code (unofficial translation):
“2(a)Accordingtothecase-lawandmostcom-
mentators, Article 293 of the Criminal Code
is aimed at protecting secrets in the formal
sense.Thesoledeterminingfactoriswhether
the documents, investigations or delibera-
tionsaresecretbyvirtueeitherofthelaworof
adecision takenby theauthorityconcerned.
Whether theyhavebeenclassifiedas 'secret'
orsimply 'confidential' isof littlerelevance; it
issufficientforittobeclearthattheclassifica-
tionwasdesignedtopreventtheirpublication
...Thisformalnotionofsecrecydiffersfromthe
substantivenotion,towhichmostoftheArti-
clesoftheCriminalCodeonthedisclosureof
secret information relate, for instanceArticle
267(diplomatictreason)orArticle320(breach
ofofficialsecrecy).Inthesubstantivesense,a
factissecretifitisaccessibletoonlyalimited
numberofpersons,iftheauthorityinquestion
wishestokeepitsecretandifthatwishisjusti-
fiedbyinterestswhichmeritprotection...

Manycommentatorshavearguedinfavourof
thewholesalerepealofArticle293,sayingthat
stepsshouldat leastbe takentoensure that
publicationofasecretinthesubstantivesense
ispunishableonlyifthesecretisofmajorim-
portance...

2(b)Aspartoftherevisionofthecriminaland
procedural provisions relating to the media,
theFederalCouncilproposedrepealingArticle
293oftheCriminalCodewithoutreplacingit
withanotherprovision. In itscommunication
(BBl (Federal Gazette) 1996 IV 525 et seq.),
the Federal Council argued inparticular that
itwasunfairtopunishthejournalistwhohad
publishedtheconfidential information,while
theofficial or representativeof the authority
concernedwhohadoriginallymadepublica-
tion possible generally escaped punishment
because his or her identity could not be es-
tablished...AccordingtotheFederalCouncil,
Article 293 of the Criminal Code,which pro-
tected secrets in the formal sense ..., placed
excessiverestrictionsonthefreedomofaction
ofthemedia.Initsview,the'seconduse'ofa
disclosedsecret (bysomeoneworking in the
media,for instance)waslessseriousinterms
of criminal potential and unlawfulness than
theinitialdisclosureofthesecretbyitsholder.
In addition, the journalist was by no means

alwaysawarethattheinformationhehadre-
ceivedwasobtainedas theresultofbetrayal
of a secret. The actions of the 'second user'
mightbeassesseddifferently in caseswhere
theinformationdisclosedwasagenuineState
ormilitarysecret.However, independentlyof
Article 293 of the Criminal Code, the legisla-
tion in force in any case made provision, in
relation to diplomatic treason (Article 267of
theCriminalCode)andbreachofmilitaryse-
crecy (Article 329 of the Criminal Code), for
two layers of protection in such cases, one
againstdisclosurebytheholderofthesecret
and theother againstdisclosureby the 'sec-
ond user'. According to the Federal Coun-
cil, theproposed repealofArticle 293of the
CriminalCodewouldnotthereforeundermine
theprotectionofsecrecyundercriminallawin
importantspheres.TheobjectionthatArticle
293alsoprotectedindividualinterestswasat
bestindirectlyrelevant,asindividuals'private
and personal lives were protected first and
foremostbyArticles179-179fof theCriminal
CodeandtheprovisionsoftheCivilCodecon-
cerningtheprotectionofpersonalityrights...

Inthefederalauthorities,thoseinfavourofthe
wholesalerepealofArticle293oftheCriminal
Code have also argued that the provision in
questionisrarelyappliedandisnoteffective.
They contend that it is unfair, in particular,
because it penalises only the journalist,who
is the 'second user', whereas the identity of
the initialperpetratorof theoffence,namely
theofficial or representativeof the authority
concerned,remainsunknown...andheorshe
cannot therefore be called to account for a
breachofofficialsecrecy,forinstance.Evenif
Article293weresimplyrepealed,theyargue,
the disclosure by a journalist of genuinely
important secrets would still be punishable,
for instance under Article 267 of the Crimi-
nal Code (diplomatic treason) or Article 329
(breachofmilitarysecrecy).Opponentsofthe
repeal ofArticle 293have argued ... that the
provision ismorenecessarythanever,asthe
disclosure of secret or confidential informa-
tioncanhaveseriousconsequences...”

33. The Federal Court then turned to the circum-
stances of the present case:
“8.The'publicationofsecretofficialdelibera-
tions'(offencereferredtoinArticle293ofthe
CriminalCode)muststillbeconsideredtobe
based on a formal notion of secrecy, in line
with the case-law of the Federal Court. The
addition of a third paragraph to Article 293
has done nothing to change that. However,
inviewof the fact that it isnowopentothe
criminal courts not to impose any penalty,
theymustdetermineinadvancewhetherthe
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classificationas'secret'canbejustifiedinthe
light of the purpose and content of the dis-
closeddocuments.Thatisthecasehere.

Theextracts fromtheconfidentialdocument
published by the appellant were, moreover,
also secret in the substantive sense. The ap-
pellant rightly refrains fromarguing that the
extractsinquestionwereofminorimportance
withinthemeaningofArticle293§3ofthe
Criminal Code. In requesting that the appli-
cation of Article 293be confined to cases in
which the secrets disclosed are ofmajor im-
portance and their disclosure threatens the
very foundations of the State, the appellant
isseekingadecisionwhichgoeswellbeyond
any interpretationofArticle293 (in linewith
theConstitutionand the case-lawof the Eu-
ropean Court of Human Rights), which the
FederalCourtisobligedtoapplypursuantto
Article 191 of the new Federal Constitution.
Thesameistrueoftheargumentthatpersons
workinginthemediacanbeconvictedofpub-
lishingsecretofficialdeliberationsunderArti-
cle293oftheCriminalCodeonlyiftheinterest
oftheStateinpreservingtheconfidentialityof
thedisclosedinformationoutweighsthepub-
lic interest in receiving the information. This
comparison of the interests at stake has no
bearing on the essential elements of the of-
fence,althoughitmaypossiblyhaveabearing
ontheextra-legaljustificationofprotectionof
legitimateinterests.Inanyevent,thecircum-
stancesofthepresentcasearenotsuchasto
allowtheprotectionoflegitimateintereststo
bereliedonasjustificationforpublishingse-
cretofficialdeliberations.

9.Thisconclusionrendersacomparisonofthe
interests at stake in the present case redun-
dant. It isthereforenotnecessarytorespond
totheappellant'scriticismofthewayinwhich
thecantonalauthoritiesbalancedthoseinter-
ests.

For the sake of completeness, however, it
should nevertheless be pointed out that, for
the reasons set forth by the federal authori-
ties,theinterestinmaintainingtheconfiden-
tialityofthestrategypaperinquestioncarried
greaterweightthanthepublicinterestinbe-
ingapprisedof theextractspublished in the
newspaper. In order to avoid repetition, the
courtwould refer here to the considerations
setforthintheimpugnedjudgmentandinthe
first-instancejudgment.Itwasintheinterests
not only of the ambassador and the Federal
Council, but also of the country, to preserve
theconfidentialnatureofthestrategypaper.
Thepublicationofisolatedextractswasliable
tointerferewiththeformationofopinionsand
thedecision-makingprocesswithintheState

bodiesinSwitzerland,andabovealltofurther
complicate the already difficult negotiations
being conducted at international level; this
wasnotinthecountry'sinterest.Ontheother
handthepassinginterestintheextractspub-
lishedoutofcontextinthenewspaperwhich
the eye-catching headline aroused among
sensation-seeking members of the public is
relativelyinsignificantinlegalterms.Thisisall
themoretruesincethe'tone'criticisedbythe
appellant,usedinaninternaldocumentwrit-
ten in a specific context (and the content of
whichwas,according to thearticle, anunre-
markableassessmentofthesituation),didnot
inanyeventpermit the reader todrawclear
and indisputableconclusionsastothe 'men-
tality'oftheambassador,stilllessastohisabil-
itytoperformthetaskassignedtohim...”

34. In its judgment following the applicant's pub-
lic-law appeal, the Federal Court found as fol-
lows (unofficial translation):
“3. Inhispublic-lawappeal, theappellant re-
questsinparticularthattheprincipleofequal-
ityinthebreachofthelaw(Gleichbehandlung
im Unrecht) be applied to him and raises,
amongotherthings,acomplaintconcerninga
violationoftheprincipleoflawfulness...

(b)There isnoneedtoexplore indetailhere
the reasons why the prosecuting authorities
decidednottoprosecutetheotherjournalists
mentioned by the appellant for publication
of secret official deliberations on account of
the articleswhich theywrote, or to consider
whetherthosereasonsweresufficient.Evenif
thelatterquestionweretobeansweredinthe
negative,itwouldnotbenefittheappellantin
anyway.

It isclearfromtheexplanationsonthispoint
set forth in the impugned judgment (pp. 5
et seq., considerations point IV) and in the
first-instance judgment (p. 3, considerations
point 4) that the exceptional circumstances
inwhich the Federal Court's case-law recog-
nisestherighttoequalityinthebreachofthe
lawdonotapply.Theapproachtakenbythe
prosecuting authorities in this casedoesnot
in itselfconstitutea 'consistent' (possiblyun-
lawful)practice,eitherinthesensethat,inthe
absenceofspecificsubstantivegrounds,jour-
nalistsareonlyveryexceptionallyprosecuted
forpublicationofsecretofficialdeliberations,
notsystematically,orinthesensethat,where
extractsfromthesameconfidentialdocument
arepublishedbyseveraljournalistsindifferent
articles, the journalistwho, forwhatever rea-
son–whetheronthebasisofthewaythearti-
clewaswrittenoroftheextractsselected–ap-
pearstobethemostculpable,isconsistently
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singledoutforprosecution.Moreover,thereis
nothing to suggest that either (possibly un-
lawful)practicewillbeadoptedinthefuture...”

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC, 
INTERNATIONAL AND 
COMPARATIVE LAW AND 
PRACTICE

A. Swiss law and practice
35. Article 293 of the Swiss Criminal Code, entitled 

“Publication of secret official deliberations”, 
reads as follows (unofficial translation):
“1.Anyonewho,withoutbeingentitledtodo
so,makespublicallorpartofthedocuments,
investigationsordeliberationsofanyauthor-
itywhicharesecretbylaworbyvirtueofade-
cisiontakenbysuchanauthorityactingwithin
its powers shall be punished with imprison-
mentorafine.

2.Complicityinsuchactsshallbepunishable.

3. The court may decide not to impose any
penaltyifthesecretconcernedisofminorim-
portance.”

36. In a judgment of 27 November 1981 (BGE 107 
IV 185), the Federal Court specified that the 
notion of secrecy on which Article 293 of the 
Criminal Code was based was a purely formal 
one.

37. The Swiss legislature recently adopted the 
Federal Administrative Transparency Act of 17 
December 2004, which entered into force on 1 
July 2006 (Compendium of Federal Law 152.3). 
The relevant provisions of the Act, which is 
aimed at improving access to official docu-
ments, read as follows (unofficial translation):

“Part 1: General provisions

Section 1 – Purpose and object

ThepresentActisaimedatfosteringtranspar-
encyastothetasks,organisationandactivities
oftheauthorities.Tothatend,itshallcontrib-
ute to informing thepublicbyproviding ac-
cesstoofficialdocuments.

...

Part 2: Right of access to official documents

Section 6 – Principle of transparency

1.Anyperson shallhave the right toconsult
officialdocumentsandobtain informationas

totheircontentfromtheauthorities.

2.Thepersonconcernedmayconsulttheof-
ficial documents in situ or request a copyof
them,withoutprejudicetothecopyrightleg-
islation.

3.Iftheofficialdocumentshavealreadybeen
published by the Confederation in paper or
electronicform,theconditionssetoutinpara-
graphs1and2shallbedeemedtohavebeen
fulfilled.

Section 7 – Exceptions

1. The right of access shall be restricted, de-
ferred or refusedwhere access to an official
document:

(a) is liable to interfere significantlywith the
processof free formationofopinionsand in-
tentionswithinanauthoritygovernedbythe
presentAct,anotherlegislativeoradministra-
tivebodyorajudicialauthority;

(b)interfereswiththeimplementationofspe-
cificmeasurestakenbyanauthorityinaccord-
ancewithitsobjectives;

(c)isliabletojeopardisethecountry'sinternal
orexternalsecurity;

(d)isliabletojeopardiseSwissinterestsinthe
sphereofforeignpolicyandinternationalrela-
tions;

...

2. The right of access shall be restricted, de-
ferredorrefusedifaccesstoanofficialdocu-
mentmight interferewiththeprivatesphere
of a third party, unless the public interest in
transparencyisjudgedonanexceptionalba-
sistocarrygreaterweight.”

38. The Order of 10 December 1990 on the clas-
sification and processing of civil authority infor-
mation (Compendium of Federal Law 172.015), 
in force at the material time, defines the differ-
ent levels of classification (unofficial transla-
tion):

“Part 1: General provisions

Section 1 – Object

The present Order lays down the provisions
onmaintainingsecrecyapplicabletocivilau-
thority information(hereinafter 'information')
which, in the higher interests of the State,
must not be passed on temporarily to other
personsorbedisclosed; itdoessobymeans
of instructionson themanner inwhich such
informationistobeclassifiedandprocessed.
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...

Part 2: Classification

Section 5 – Categories of classification

Thebodywhichissuestheinformation(here-
inafter 'the issuing body') shall classify it on
thebasisofthelevelofprotectionitrequires.
Thereshallbeonlytwocategoriesofclassifica-
tion:'secret'and'confidential'.

Section 6 – 'Secret' information

Thefollowinginformationistobeclassifiedas
'secret':

(a) informationwhich, if itbecameknownto
unauthorised persons, could seriously dam-
age Switzerland's external relations or jeop-
ardise the implementation of measures de-
signed to protect the country's internal and
external security and aimed, for instance, at
maintaining Government activity during an
emergencyorensuringvitalsupplies;

(b) information to which only a very small
numberofpersonshaveaccess.

Section 7 – 'Confidential' information

1.Informationwithinthemeaningofsection6
whichisoflesssignificanceandtowhich,nor-
mally speaking, a greater number of people
haveaccess,shallbeclassifiedas'confidential'.

2. A 'confidential' classification shall also
be given to information which, if it became
knowntounauthorisedpersons,mightenable
themto:

(a)interferewiththeactivitiesofGovernment;

(b)frustratetheimplementationofimportant
measuresbytheState;

(c)betraymanufacturingsecretsorimportant
commercialsecrets;

(d) frustrate the course of criminal proceed-
ings;

(e)underminethesecurityofmajorinfrastruc-
ture.

Section 8 – Persons authorised to classify 
information

Headsofdepartment,theFederalChancellor,
secretaries general, office directors and their
deputies shall be responsible for classifying
informationandamendingorremovingclas-
sification.Theymaydelegate theirpowers in
certaincases.”

This Order was subsequently replaced by the 

Order of 4 July 2007 on the protection of fed-
eral information (Compendium of Federal Law 
510.411), which entered into force on 1 August 
2007.

B. International law and practice
39. On 19 December 2006 the four special rep-

resentatives on freedom of expression (Mr 
Ambeyi Ligabo, United Nations Special Rap-
porteur on Freedom of Opinion and Expres-
sion, Mr Miklos Haraszti, OSCE Representative 
on Freedom of the Media, Mr Ignacio J. Alva-
rez, OAS (Organization of American States) 
Special Rapporteur on Freedom of Expression 
and Ms Faith Pansy Tlakula, ACHPR (African 
Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights) 
Special Rapporteur on Freedom of Expression) 
adopted a joint declaration. The following is an 
extract from the declaration:
“Journalistsshouldnotbeheldliableforpub-
lishing classified or confidential information
wheretheyhavenotthemselvescommitteda
wronginobtainingit.Itisuptopublicauthori-
ties to protect the legitimately confidential
informationtheyhold.”

40. On 19 April 2007 the Parliamentary Assembly 
of the Council of Europe adopted a resolution 
on espionage and divulging State secrets. The 
paragraphs of relevance to the present case 
read as follows:

“Fair trial issues in criminal cases concerning 
espionage or divulging state secrets (Resolution 
1551 (2007))

1.TheParliamentaryAssembly finds that the
state'slegitimateinterestinprotectingofficial
secretsmustnotbecomeapretexttounduly
restrictthefreedomofexpressionandofinfor-
mation, international scientific co-operation
andtheworkoflawyersandotherdefenders
ofhumanrights.

2. It recalls the importanceof freedomofex-
pression and of information in a democratic
society,inwhichitmustbepossibletofreely
expose corruption, human rights violations,
environmental destruction and other abuses
ofauthority.

...

5.TheAssemblynotes that legislationonof-
ficialsecrecyinmanyCouncilofEuropemem-
berstatesisrathervagueorotherwiseoverly
broad in that it could be construed in such
awayas tocoverawide rangeof legitimate
activities of journalists, scientists, lawyers or
otherhumanrightsdefenders.
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6....Foritspart,theEuropeanCourtofHuman
Rights found 'disproportionate'an injunction
against the publication in the United King-
dom of newspaper articles reporting on the
contentsofabook(Spycatcher)thatallegedly
containedsecretinformation,asthebookwas
readilyavailableabroad.

...

9.Itcallsonthejudicialauthoritiesofallcoun-
triesconcernedandontheEuropeanCourtof
HumanRightstofindanappropriatebalance
between thestate interest inpreservingoffi-
cialsecrecyontheonehand,andfreedomof
expressionandofthefreeflowofinformation
onscientificmatters,andsociety's interest in
exposingabusesofpowerontheotherhand.

10.TheAssemblynotesthatcriminaltrialsfor
breachesofstatesecrecyareparticularlysensi-
tiveandpronetoabuseforpoliticalpurposes.
Itthereforeconsidersthefollowingprinciples
asvitalforallthoseconcernedinordertoen-
surefairnessinsuchtrials:

10.1. informationthat isalreadyinthepublic
domain cannot be considered as a state se-
cret, and divulging such information cannot
bepunishedasespionage,eveniftheperson
concernedcollects,sumsup,analysesorcom-
mentsonsuchinformation.Thesameapplies
to participation in international scientific co-
operation,andtotheexposureofcorruption,
human rights violations, environmental de-
struction or other abuses of public authority
(whistle-blowing);

10.2. legislation on official secrecy, including
listsofsecretitemsservingasabasisforcrimi-
nalprosecutionmustbeclearand,aboveall,
public.Secretdecreesestablishingcriminalli-
abilitycannotbeconsideredcompatiblewith
the Council of Europe's legal standards and
shouldbeabolishedinallmemberstates;

...”

41. As regards the classification of Council of Eu-
rope documents, Committee of Ministers Res-
olution Res(2001)6 of 12 June 2001 on access 
to Council of Europe documents articulates a 
clear principle: that of publishing information, 
with classification only in exceptional cases. 
Accordingly, it defines four categories of classi-
fication: (1) documents not subject to any par-
ticular classification, which are public; (2) docu-
ments classified as “restricted”; (3) documents 
classified as “confidential” and (4) documents 
classified as “secret”. No definition exists which 
would enable documents to be classified ac-
cording to their content. The principle of trans-

parency promoted by Resolution Res(2001)6 
has ultimately resulted in publication becom-
ing the norm. It seems that, since its adoption, 
no Committee of Ministers document has 
been classified as “secret”.

42. The United Nations Human Rights Committee, 
in concluding observations adopted in 2001, 
criticised the implementation of the Official 
Secrets Act by the United Kingdom authorities 
and its impact on the activities of journalists 
(Concluding Observations, doc. CCPR/CO/73/
UK of 6 December 2001):
“...

21.TheCommitteeisconcernedthatpowers
undertheOfficialSecretsAct1989havebeen
exercisedtofrustrateformeremployeesofthe
Crown frombringing into thepublicdomain
issuesofgenuinepublicconcern,andtopre-
ventjournalistsfrompublishingsuchmatters.

The State Party should ensure that its pow-
ers to protect information genuinely related
to matters of national security are narrowly
utilised,andlimitedtoinstanceswhereithas
been shown to be necessary to suppress re-
leaseoftheinformation.”

43. In the case of Claude Reyes and others v. Chile 
before the Inter-American Court of Human 
Rights (19 September 2006, Series C no. 151), 
the Inter-American Commission on Human 
Rights submitted as follows:
“58....ThedisclosureofState-heldinformation
shouldplayavery importantrole inademo-
cratic society,because itenablescivil society
to control the actions of theGovernment to
which it has entrusted the protection of its
interests....”

The Inter-American Court of Human Rights
foundasfollows:

“84. ... Inseveralresolutions,theOASGeneral
Assemblyhasconsideredthataccesstopublic
informationisanessentialrequisitefortheex-
erciseofdemocracy,greatertransparencyand
responsiblepublicadministrationandthat,in
arepresentativeandparticipativedemocratic
system,thecitizenryexercisesitsconstitution-
al rightsthroughabroadfreedomofexpres-
sionandfreeaccesstoinformation.

...

86.Inthisregard,theState'sactionsshouldbe
governedby theprinciplesofdisclosureand
transparencyinpublicadministrationthaten-
ableallpersonssubjecttoitsjurisdictiontoex-
ercisethedemocraticcontrolofthoseactions,
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andsothattheycanquestion,investigateand
considerwhether public functions are being
performedadequately....

87. Democratic control by society, through
public opinion, fosters transparency in State
activities andpromotes theaccountabilityof
Stateofficialsinrelationtotheirpublicactivi-
ties....”

C. Comparative law and practice
44. Mr Christos Pourgourides, rapporteur on Reso-

lution 1551 (2007) of 19 April 2007 (see para-
graph 40 above), carried out a comparative 
study of legislation concerning State secrets in 
the member States of the Council of Europe. In 
his report he stresses that the disclosure of cer-
tain types of classified information appears to 
be punishable in all countries, but with a wide 
variety of approaches being adopted. The re-
port also makes reference to the methods of 
classification used. Below are some extracts 
from the report:
“57.Generallyspeaking,onecanidentifythree
basicapproaches: the firstconsists ina short
andgeneraldefinitionofthenotionofofficial
orstatesecret (orequivalent),presumablyto
be filled in on a case-by-case basis. The sec-
ond involves lengthy andmoredetailed lists
ofspecifictypesofclassifiedinformation.The
third approach combines the other two by
defining general areas in which information
may be classified as secret, and then relying
uponsubsequentadministrativeorministerial
decreestofillinmorespecificallywhichtypes
ofinformationareinfacttobeconsideredas
secret.

...

59. There are, of course, many other differ-
encesamongthestates'legislationthatIneed
notdwellon.Somestates(AustriaandGerma-
ny, forexample)distinguishbetween 'official
secrets'and 'statesecrets',whoseviolation is
sanctionedmoreheavily.Moststatesalsodis-
tinguish different degrees of secrecy (classi-
fiedorrestricted,secret,topsecret,etc.).There
arealsodifferencesintheharshnessofpenal-
tiesforeseen,whichmaybelimitedtofinesin
less serious cases. Some statutes distinguish
between duties of civil servants and those
of ordinary citizens. Some expressly penalise
disclosurethroughnegligence,othersrequire
criminalintent.Forourspecificpurpose,these
differencesareimmaterial.

...

68. To sum up, each of these legislative ap-
proaches allows for reasonable responses to

thedifficulttaskofspecifying inadvancethe
typesofinformationthattheStatehasalegiti-
mateinterestinprotecting,whilenonetheless
respecting the freedom of information and
theneedforlegalsecurity.Butanyadministra-
tive or ministerial decrees giving content to
more generallyworded statutesmust at the
very least be publicly accessible. Also, in the
absence of a vigilant and truly independent
judiciary,andof independentmedia thatare
readytoexposeanyabusesofpower,allleg-
islativeschemesreviewedareliabletoabuse.”

tHE LAW

ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 10 
OF THE CONVENTION

45. The applicant alleged that his conviction for 
publication of “secret official deliberations” had 
infringed his right to freedom of expression 
within the meaning of Article 10 of the Con-
vention. Article 10 provides:
“1. Everyonehas the right to freedomof ex-
pression. This right shall include freedom to
hold opinions and to receive and impart in-
formation and ideaswithout interference by
public authority and regardless of frontiers.
This Article shall not prevent States from re-
quiring the licensing of broadcasting, televi-
sionorcinemaenterprises.

2.Theexerciseofthesefreedoms,sinceitcar-
rieswithitdutiesandresponsibilities,maybe
subjecttosuchformalities,conditions,restric-
tionsorpenaltiesasareprescribedbylawand
are necessary in a democratic society, in the
interestsofnationalsecurity, territorial integ-
rityorpublicsafety,forthepreventionofdis-
orderorcrime,fortheprotectionofhealthor
morals,fortheprotectionofthereputationor
rightsofothers,forpreventingthedisclosure
of information received in confidence, or for
maintaining theauthority and impartialityof
thejudiciary.”

D. Whether there was interference
46. The Chamber considered, and it was not dis-

puted, that the applicant's conviction amount-
ed to “interference” with the exercise of his 
freedom of expression.

47. The Court sees no reason to depart from the 
Chamber's findings on this point.

E. Whether the interference was justified
48. Such interference will be in breach of Article 



534 CASEOFSTOLLVSWITZERLAND

EC
HR

EC
J

10 unless it fulfils the requirements of para-
graph 2 of that Article. It therefore remains to 
be determined whether the interference was 
“prescribed by law”, pursued one or more of 
the legitimate aims referred to in paragraph 2 
and was “necessary in a democratic society” in 
order to achieve them.

1.“Prescribedbylaw”
49. The Chamber considered that the applicant's 

conviction had been based on Article 293 of 
the Criminal Code (see paragraph 35 above).

50. The parties did not challenge that conclusion. 
The Court, for its part, sees no reason to adopt 
a different stance.

2.Legitimateaims
(a)  The Chamber judgment

51. The Chamber simply noted that the parties 
agreed that the impugned measure had been 
designed to prevent the “disclosure of informa-
tion received in confidence”. Accordingly, it did 
not consider it necessary to examine whether 
the fine imposed on the applicant pursued any 
of the other aims referred to in Article 10 § 2.

(b)  The parties' submissions

52. The applicant accepted that preventing the 
“disclosure of information received in confi-
dence” was one of the grounds which justi-
fied interference with the rights guaranteed 
by Article 10. However, he did not share the 
respondent Government's view that publica-
tion of the paper had jeopardised “national 
security” and “public safety”. In his view, the 
disclosure of the report had not been liable to 
undermine the country's fundamental and vi-
tal interests. In addition, the applicant argued 
that Article 293 of the Swiss Criminal Code did 
not encompass the protection of the rights of 
others and hence, in the instant case, the repu-
tation of the ambassador who had written the 
report in question. He added that the relevant 
authorities had not instituted any defamation 
proceedings against him, although they could 
have done so.

53. The Government contended that the criminal 
sanction imposed on the applicant had been 
aimed not only at “preventing the disclosure of 
information received in confidence”, but also 
at protecting “national security” and “public 
safety”, given that the remarks by the report's 
author had been made against a highly sensi-
tive political background. They shared the view 

of the Press Council that publication of the re-
port had also been apt to damage the reputa-
tion and credibility of the report's author in the 
eyes of his negotiating partners (“protection of 
the reputation or rights of others”).

(c)  The Court's assessment

54. The Court is not satisfied that the penalty 
imposed on the applicant was aimed at pro-
tecting “national security” and “public safety”. 
In any event it must be pointed out that the 
domestic authorities did not institute criminal 
proceedings against the applicant or third par-
ties for offences or crimes consisting in activi-
ties which posed a threat to those interests. It is 
true that criminal proceedings based on Article 
293 of the Criminal Code may involve issues re-
lating to “national security” and “public safety”. 
However, the Court points out that the Zürich 
District Court, in its judgment of 22 January 
1999, accepted that there had been extenu-
ating circumstances, taking the view that the 
disclosure of the confidential paper had not 
undermined the country's very foundations. 
Moreover, these concepts need to be applied 
with restraint and to be interpreted restrictively 
and should be brought into play only where it 
has been shown to be necessary to suppress 
release of the information for the purposes of 
protecting national security and public safety 
(see, along the same lines, the observations of 
the United Nations Human Rights Committee, 
paragraph 42 above).

55. As to the “protection of the reputation or rights 
of others”, it should be noted that no criminal 
proceedings were instituted against the appli-
cant for offences against honour, notably for 
insult or defamation.

56. On the other hand, the Court shares the Gov-
ernment's view that the applicant's conviction 
pursued the aim of preventing the “disclosure 
of information received in confidence” within 
the meaning of Article 10 § 2.

57. The Court considers it appropriate to deal here 
with a question of interpretation which, al-
though not raised by the parties to the present 
case, is apt to give rise to confusion.

58. Whereas the French wording of Article 10 § 2 
of the Convention talks of measures necessary 
“pour empêcher la divulgation d'informations 
confidentielles”, the English text refers to meas-
ures necessary “for preventing the disclosure of 
information received in confidence”. The latter 
wording might suggest that the provision re-
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lates only to the person who has dealings in 
confidence with the author of a secret docu-
ment and that, accordingly, it does not encom-
pass third parties, including persons working in 
the media.

59. The Court does not subscribe to such an inter-
pretation, which it considers unduly restrictive. 
Given the existence of two texts which, al-
though equally authentic, are not in complete 
harmony, it deems it appropriate to refer to Ar-
ticle 33 of the 1969 Vienna Convention on the 
Law of Treaties, the fourth paragraph of which 
reflects international customary law in relation 
to the interpretation of treaties authenticated 
in two or more languages (see the LaGrand 
case, International Court of Justice, 27 June 
2001, I.C.J. Reports 2001, § 101).

60. Under paragraph 3 of Article 33, “the terms 
of the treaty are presumed to have the same 
meaning in each authentic text”. Paragraph 4 
states that when a comparison of the authentic 
texts discloses a difference of meaning which 
the application of Articles 31 and 32 does not 
remove, the meaning which best reconciles 
the texts, having regard to the object and pur-
pose of the treaty, is to be adopted (see, in this 
regard, Sunday Times v. the United Kingdom 
(no. 1), judgment of 26 April 1979, Series A 
no. 30, p. 30, § 48, and James and Others v. 
the United Kingdom, judgment of 21 February 
1986, Series A no. 98, p. 31, § 42).

61. The Court accepts that clauses which allow 
interference with Convention rights must be 
interpreted restrictively. Nevertheless, in the 
light of paragraph 3 of Article 33 of the Vienna 
Convention, and in the absence of any indica-
tion to the contrary in the drafting history of 
Article 10, the Court considers it appropriate to 
adopt an interpretation of the phrase “prevent-
ing the disclosure of information received in 
confidence” which encompasses confidential 
information disclosed either by a person sub-
ject to a duty of confidence or by a third party 
and, in particular, as in the present case, by a 
journalist.

62. In view of the foregoing, the Court considers 
that the Government were entitled to invoke 
the legitimate aim of preventing the “disclo-
sure of information received in confidence”.

3.“Necessaryinademocraticsociety”
(a)  The Chamber judgment

63. In the light of the Court's case-law and taking 

into account among other considerations the 
interest of any democratic society in guaran-
teeing freedom of the press, the limited margin 
of appreciation left to States when information 
of public interest was at stake, the media cover-
age of the issue of unclaimed assets, the rela-
tively low level of classification (“confidential”) 
and the fact that disclosure of the document in 
question was not, even in the estimation of the 
Swiss courts, likely to undermine the founda-
tions of the State, the Chamber found that the 
applicant's conviction had not been reason-
ably proportionate to the legitimate aim pur-
sued (see paragraphs 44 to 59 of the Chamber 
judgment).

(b)  The parties' submissions

i The applicant

64. The applicant argued that the purely formal 
notion of secrecy on which Article 293 of the 
Criminal Code was based and which had been 
confirmed by the Federal Court had adverse 
consequences for freedom of expression. Ac-
cording to that provision, the publishing by 
an official of any document, regardless of its 
content, which had been declared secret or 
confidential had to be punished, without it be-
ing possible to review the compatibility of the 
penalty imposed with Article 10 of the Conven-
tion. In the applicant's view, such a definition 
of secrecy was clearly at odds with the require-
ments of the Convention.

65. The applicant further maintained that the 
Swiss courts had punished the wrong person, 
since he had been penalised, as a journalist, for 
disclosing a report which he had obtained as 
the result of a leak by a Government agent who 
enjoyed immunity from prosecution in the pre-
sent case.

66. In addition, the applicant considered that Arti-
cle 293 of the Criminal Code had always been 
applied selectively by the relevant authorities 
with the aim of preventing the disclosure of 
information concerning culpable conduct on 
the part of State officials or agents or problems 
in public administration. The provision in ques-
tion had become an anachronism with the en-
try into force on 1 July 2006 of the Federal Ad-
ministrative Transparency Act (see paragraph 
37 above).

67. In the applicant's submission, Article 293 of the 
Criminal Code should be repealed, given that 
disclosure of the most sensitive information 
could be prosecuted on the basis of Article 276 
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of the Criminal Code (provocation and incite-
ment to breach of military duty) or Article 86 
(espionage and treason on account of a breach 
of military secrecy) and Article 106 (breach of 
military secrecy) of the Military Criminal Code. 
Finally, journalists could also be convicted un-
der Articles 24 and 320 of the Criminal Code of 
instigating a breach of official secrecy.

68. The applicant did not question the princi-
ple that the activities of the diplomatic corps 
merited protection. However, he considered it 
dangerous to confer absolute immunity on the 
members of the diplomatic corps in relation to 
all types of information. He referred to the pro-
ceedings based on Article 293 of the Criminal 
Code currently being brought against journal-
ists in Switzerland accused of having disclosed 
information from the Swiss secret services con-
cerning the existence of secret CIA detention 
centres in Europe.

69. In the applicant's opinion, only State secrets 
considered to be of particular importance 
could take precedence over freedom of ex-
pression within the meaning of Article 10. 
That certainly did not apply in the present 
case. He doubted whether the content of the 
paper had been liable to reveal a State secret 
whose disclosure might compromise “national 
security” or “public safety” in Switzerland. The 
views set forth in the two articles had been of 
too general a nature to weaken the position of 
the Swiss delegation in its talks with Jewish or-
ganisations.

70. The applicant further submitted that disclosure 
of the report had sparked a useful debate as to 
whether Mr Jagmetti was the right person to be 
conducting the negotiations with representa-
tives of the Jewish organisations. Moreover, the 
publication of the report had been the reason 
for the ambassador's resignation the following 
day. Publication had clearly contributed to the 
adoption of a more sensitive approach by the 
Swiss authorities towards the delicate issue 
of unclaimed assets. At the same time, it had 
demonstrated that the Swiss authorities had 
no clear and coherent position at that stage 
as to Switzerland's responsibility in the matter 
and the precise strategy to be adopted in re-
spect of the claims which had arisen.

71. The applicant was of the opinion that, in view 
of the importance and topical nature of the ne-
gotiations on the issue of unclaimed assets, the 
public had an interest in receiving more infor-
mation about how those dealing with the issue 

in the Department of Foreign Affairs intended 
to conduct the negotiations with a view to 
an agreement on the subject of complaints 
against Swiss banks and financial institutions. 
In that connection, he considered the attitude 
and views of Mr Jagmetti who, he argued, had 
occupied a key role in relation to the unclaimed 
assets, to be particularly revealing.

72. As far as journalists' ethical responsibilities 
were concerned, the applicant did not deny 
that the articles could have been presented 
in a more balanced manner. At the same time, 
he made the point that he had not had much 
time to write the articles and had to comply 
with certain requirements concerning their 
length. He had therefore decided to concen-
trate on the way in which the ambassador had 
expressed himself rather than on the content 
of the report. This was, moreover, perfectly in 
line with the commentary by the newspaper's 
editor published in the same newspaper.

73. While the articles may have appeared shocking 
in places, the aim had been precisely to high-
light the language used by Mr Jagmetti in his 
report, which, in the applicant's view, was un-
fitting for a senior representative of the Swiss 
Confederation and scarcely compatible with 
official Swiss foreign policy.

74. In addition, the applicant considered it essen-
tial to highlight the nature and functions of the 
Press Council, which was a private-law body 
created by four associations of journalists, the 
aim of which was to supervise the conduct of 
persons working in the media in the light of 
the ethical standards it had devised. The Press 
Council had no powers of investigation or 
prosecution and, consequently, any negative 
findings it made were in no way binding on 
the criminal courts.

75. The applicant also noted that, while the of-
fence for which the fine had been imposed 
was merely a “minor offence”, it was nonethe-
less punishable by imprisonment. Although 
the fine he had been ordered to pay might ap-
pear to be small, it damaged his reputation as a 
journalist and might prevent him in the future 
from performing the vital role of watchdog 
played by the press in a democratic society.

ii The Government

76. In the Government's submission, the decisive 
factors in assessing the respondent State's 
margin of appreciation were the political con-
text, the fact that the document in question 
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had been written by an official who had as-
sumed that it would remain confidential, the 
form in which it had been published, the rea-
sons given by the applicant for the latter and 
the nature and severity of the penalty imposed.

77. It also had to be borne in mind that the domes-
tic courts had subjected this delicate and sensi-
tive case to close scrutiny and that the Federal 
Court, after holding a hearing, had delivered 
two judgments, including the judgment con-
cerning the appeal on grounds of nullity which 
had been published in the Federal Court Re-
ports (BGE 126 IV 236 to 255). When it came to 
assessing the extent of the authorities' margin 
of appreciation, the fact that the matter had 
been examined in depth at the domestic level 
should also be taken into account. Such exami-
nation was vital to the operation of the princi-
ple of subsidiarity, a fact which should prompt 
the Court to show restraint.

78. The Government argued that the crucial factor 
determining the margin of appreciation of the 
domestic authorities was not the nature and 
importance of the position held by the author 
of the document containing confidential in-
formation, but whether the person concerned 
had knowingly laid himself open to close scru-
tiny of his every word and deed, as was the 
case with politicians. In the instant case it was 
clear that Ambassador Jagmetti had quite rea-
sonably assumed that his report would remain 
confidential.

79. The Government further pointed out that the 
confidentiality of all diplomatic correspond-
ence was enshrined in Articles 24 to 27 of the 
Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations of 
18 April 1961 as an absolute principle of inter-
national customary law. Although the Treaty 
did not provide for any criminal penalties to 
be imposed for a breach of its articles, the prin-
ciple of pacta sunt servanda and the rules on 
States' international liability for unlawful acts 
meant that the States party to the 1961 Vienna 
Convention were obliged to honour the un-
dertakings entered into under that instrument.

80. In the Government's view, the applicant had 
covered only the “deal” option in his two arti-
cles. It was vital to ensure that negotiations of 
that nature, like any negotiations concerning 
a friendly settlement, could be prepared in a 
climate of strict confidentiality. In addition, the 
applicant's articles had been published only 
five weeks after the Jagmetti report was writ-
ten, at a time when the talks between the dif-

ferent parties had already begun.

81. The ambassador's remarks had been made 
against a highly sensitive political background. 
Their disclosure had jeopardised Switzerland's 
position and had threatened, in particular, to 
compromise the negotiations in which it was 
engaged at the time on the delicate issue of 
unclaimed assets.

82. Publication of the Jagmetti report had taken 
place at a particularly delicate moment. The 
applicant had, in biased and incomplete fash-
ion, disclosed one of the options for defend-
ing the national interest being proposed in 
confidence to the Federal Council and the task 
force. At the time of its publication, the docu-
ment was already more than a month old and 
in the meantime talks had begun on setting up 
a fund for Holocaust victims. Publication of the 
document had therefore been liable to cause 
serious damage to the country's interests.

83. In the Government's view, the chief intention 
of the applicant – who had himself described 
the content of the strategy paper as “unre-
markable” – had not been to contribute to a 
debate of public interest, but to create a sen-
sation centred first and foremost on Ambassa-
dor Jagmetti personally. Hence, the domestic 
courts had not accepted the existence of rea-
sons, not prescribed by law, which might have 
justified disclosure in breach of Article 293 of 
the Criminal Code on the grounds of “protect-
ing legitimate interests”.

84. The Government pointed out that the editors 
of the Sonntags-Zeitung had themselves ac-
knowledged that it would have been prefer-
able to publish the text of the document in full, 
but had claimed that it had not been possible 
for technical reasons, an argument which the 
Press Council had considered “spurious”. In the 
Government's view, the Chamber had not ex-
plained with sufficient clarity why the principle 
of publication in full, the importance and value 
of which were firmly established in the Court's 
case-law, had not been applied in the instant 
case.

85. In addition, the effect produced by publishing 
only certain extracts from the paper in isola-
tion from their context had been heightened 
by the tone and presentation of the applicant's 
articles. The Press Council had stated that “the 
newspaper unnecessarily made the affair ap-
pear shocking and, by its use of the headline 
'Ambassador Jagmetti insults the Jews', misled 
the reader and made it appear that the remarks 
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had been made the previous day”. The appli-
cant's duties and responsibilities as a journalist 
meant that he should have made clear that the 
document was already five weeks old.

86. The Government also considered it revealing 
that it had been the Press Council, a private, 
independent body set up by the press, which 
had criticised the applicant for a lack of profes-
sionalism and for acting in breach of the “Dec-
laration on the rights and responsibilities of 
journalists”. Moreover, other newspapers had 
distanced themselves from the articles written 
by the applicant, both in formal terms, by pub-
lishing the strategy paper in its near-entirety, 
and in terms of substance, by criticising vehe-
mently the publication of a confidential docu-
ment.

87. With regard to the nature and severity of the 
penalty imposed, the Government pointed to 
the Chamber's finding that, although the of-
fence had been a minor one and the fine had 
been small (CHF 800), what mattered was not 
the mildness of the penalty but the fact that 
the applicant had been convicted at all. In the 
Government's view, these two elements were 
difficult to reconcile.

(c)  The  submissions of  the  third-party  interven-
ers

i The French Government

88. The French Government shared the Swiss Gov-
ernment's view and expressed surprise that the 
case-law developed by the Court in relation to 
politicians, which was justified by the willing-
ness of the latter to lay themselves open to 
press criticism, should be applied to an official 
writing a confidential report. They considered 
that ambassadors did not inevitably and know-
ingly lay themselves open to close scrutiny of 
their every word and deed by both journalists 
and the population at large, still less so in the 
context of a confidential report.

89. They shared the view of the Chamber's minority 
that there was no country in which diplomatic 
reports were not confidential. They further ar-
gued that ambassadors abroad should be able 
to communicate with their governments and 
express themselves freely and without con-
straints without having to use with their own 
authorities the “diplomatic language” which 
was essential in relations between countries.

90. Moreover, if the approach taken by the Cham-
ber judgment were followed, and diplomats 
were to run the risk of finding the memoranda 

they wrote to their governments printed in the 
newspapers, they would most likely limit their 
communications either in substance or in form; 
this would inevitably distort the information re-
ceived by States through these channels and 
hence detract from the quality and relevance 
of their foreign policies. Consequently, in the 
French Government's view, disclosures of this 
kind undoubtedly undermined the authority 
of diplomats posted abroad and, as a result, af-
fected relations between States.

91. The French Government were not convinced 
by the Chamber's argument that the ques-
tion whether the matter was of public inter-
est should be assessed in the context of the 
“media coverage of the issue concerned” (see 
paragraph 49 of the Chamber judgment). In 
their view, this reasoning was flawed on two 
counts. Firstly, that would mean that the press 
itself, through its coverage of an issue, would 
determine the limits of its own freedom of ex-
pression; secondly, there were very few reports 
from ambassadors to their governments which 
did not deal with subjects of public interest.

92. In the view of the French Government, the 
Chamber had made a clear finding in the in-
stant case that the requirements of journalistic 
ethics had not been complied with, as ob-
served by the Press Council, but had not drawn 
the appropriate conclusions.

93. The French Government contended that the 
reasons given for the Chamber's decision had 
rendered nugatory the examination of the pro-
portionality of the interference. This was all the 
more open to criticism since the aim pursued 
by States in seeking to protect the confiden-
tiality of certain documents, and in particular 
diplomatic papers, was to safeguard not indi-
vidual private interests, but the wider interests 
of the State and the harmony of international 
relations.

ii The Slovakian Government

94. In the view of the Slovakian Government, Arti-
cle 10 § 2 also covered information classified 
merely as “confidential”, and hence of a lesser 
degree of confidentiality according to the 
Court's case-law.

95. The Slovakian Government were of the opinion 
that no legal system allowed journalists access 
to diplomatic papers. Hence, refusing to grant 
a request for access could not amount to a vio-
lation of Article 10.
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96. They further argued that diplomatic corre-
spondence enabled diplomatic services to 
exchange information on developments oc-
curring in international relations or domesti-
cally which had implications for the country's 
foreign policy.

97. They did not share the Chamber's view that 
publication of a confidential document should 
be allowed if it did not jeopardise “national 
security” or “public safety” or undermine the 
country's very foundations.

98. The Slovakian Government took the view that 
the applicant had published only extracts 
from the paper in which the ambassador had 
expressed himself in non-neutral terms, thus 
making the articles shocking and sensational.

99. In the Slovakian Government's view, the ap-
plicant had clearly been aware that he had 
obtained a copy of the confidential document 
purely as a result of a breach of official secrecy 
by a third party.

100. They considered that the breach of journalis-
tic rules found by the Chamber needed to be 
examined more closely by the Grand Chamber. 
Furthermore, the Chamber judgment, which 
had given inadequate consideration to the 
breach of those rules, pushed the boundaries 
of freedom of expression too far and was liable 
to have considerable negative repercussions in 
the future.

(d)  The Court's assessment

i Principles developed by the Court

101. The main issue to be determined is whether 
the interference was “necessary in a demo-
cratic society”. The fundamental principles in 
that regard are well established in the Court's 
case-law and have been summed up as follows 
(see, for example, Hertel v. Switzerland, judg-
ment of 25 August 1998, Reports of Judgments 
and Decisions 1998-VI, pp. 2329 et seq., § 46, 
and Steel and Morris v. the United Kingdom, 
no. 68416/01, § 87, ECHR 2005-II):
“(i)Freedomofexpressionconstitutesoneof
theessentialfoundationsofademocraticsoci-
etyandoneofthebasicconditionsforitspro-
gressandforeachindividual'sself-fulfilment.
Subject toparagraph2ofArticle10, it is ap-
plicablenotonlyto'information'or'ideas'that
are favourably received or regarded as inof-
fensiveorasamatterofindifference,butalso
to those that offend, shock or disturb. Such
are the demands of pluralism, tolerance and
broadmindednesswithoutwhich there is no

'democraticsociety'.AssetforthinArticle10,
thisfreedomissubjecttoexceptions,which...
must,however,beconstruedstrictly,andthe
needforanyrestrictionsmustbeestablished
convincingly...

(ii)Theadjective'necessary',withinthemean-
ing of Article 10 § 2, implies the existence
of a 'pressing social need'. The Contracting
States have a certainmargin of appreciation
in assessingwhether such aneedexists, but
itgoeshand inhandwithEuropeansupervi-
sion, embracingboth the legislationand the
decisionsapplyingit,eventhosegivenbyan
independentcourt.TheCourtisthereforeem-
powered to give the final ruling onwhether
a 'restriction' is reconcilablewith freedomof
expressionasprotectedbyArticle10.

(iii) The Court's task, in exercising its super-
visory jurisdiction, is not to take the place
of the competent national authorities but
rather to review under Article 10 the deci-
sions theydeliveredpursuant to theirpower
ofappreciation.Thisdoesnotmeanthat the
supervisionislimitedtoascertainingwhether
the respondent State exercised its discretion
reasonably, carefully and ingood faith;what
theCourthastodo is to lookat the interfer-
ence complained of in the light of the case
as a whole and determine whether it was
'proportionatetothelegitimateaimpursued'
andwhetherthereasonsadducedbythena-
tionalauthoritiestojustifyitare'relevantand
sufficient'.... Indoingso,theCourthastosat-
isfyitselfthatthenationalauthoritiesapplied
standardswhichwere inconformitywiththe
principlesembodiedinArticle10and,moreo-
ver, thattheyreliedonanacceptableassess-
mentoftherelevantfacts....”

102. The Court further reiterates that all persons, 
including journalists, who exercise their free-
dom of expression undertake “duties and re-
sponsibilities” the scope of which depends on 
their situation and the technical means they 
use (see, for example, Handyside v. the United 
Kingdom, judgment of 7 December 1976, Se-
ries A no. 24, p. 23, § 49 in fine). Thus, notwith-
standing the vital role played by the press in a 
democratic society, journalists cannot, in prin-
ciple, be released from their duty to obey the 
ordinary criminal law on the basis that Article 
10 affords them protection. Paragraph 2 of Arti-
cle 10 does not, moreover, guarantee a wholly 
unrestricted freedom of expression even with 
respect to press coverage of matters of serious 
public concern (see, for example, Bladet Trom-
sø and Stensaas v. Norway [GC], no. 21980/93, 
§ 65, ECHR 1999-III, and Monnat v. Switzer-
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land, no. 73604/01, § 66, ECHR 2006-...).

103. Hence, the safeguard afforded by Article 10 to 
journalists in relation to reporting on issues of 
general interest is subject to the proviso that 
they are acting in good faith and on an ac-
curate factual basis and provide “reliable and 
precise” information in accordance with the 
ethics of journalism (see, for example, Fressoz 
and Roire v. France [GC], no. 29183/95, § 54, 
ECHR 1999-I; Monnat, cited above, § 67; and 
Pedersen and Baadsgaard v. Denmark [GC], no. 
49017/99, § 78, ECHR 2004-XI).

104. These considerations play a particularly impor-
tant role nowadays, given the influence wield-
ed by the media in contemporary society: not 
only do they inform, they can also suggest by 
the way in which they present the information 
how it is to be assessed. In a world in which 
the individual is confronted with vast quanti-
ties of information circulated via traditional 
and electronic media and involving an ever-
growing number of players, monitoring com-
pliance with journalistic ethics takes on added 
importance. (As regards the principle, well es-
tablished in the Court's case-law, whereby the 
Convention must be interpreted in the light of 
present-day conditions, see, for example, Tyrer 
v. the United Kingdom, judgment of 25 April 
1978, Series A no. 26, p. 15, § 31; Airey v. Ire-
land, judgment of 9 October 1979, Series A no. 
32, pp. 14 et seq., § 26; Vo v. France [GC], no. 
53924/00, § 82, ECHR 2004-VIII; and Mamatku-
lov and Askarov v. Turkey [GC], nos. 46827/99 
and 46951/99, § 121, ECHR 2005-I).

105. Where freedom of the “press” is at stake, the 
authorities have only a limited margin of ap-
preciation to decide whether a “pressing social 
need” exists (see, by way of example, Editions 
Plon v. France, no. 58148/00, § 44, third sub-
paragraph, ECHR 2004-IV).

106. Furthermore, there is little scope under Article 
10 § 2 of the Convention for restrictions on 
political speech or on debate of questions of 
public interest (see, for example, Wingrove v. 
the United Kingdom, judgment of 25 Novem-
ber 1996, Reports 1996-V, p. 1957, § 58). The 
most careful scrutiny on the part of the Court 
is called for when, as in the present case, the 
measures taken or sanctions imposed by the 
national authority are capable of discouraging 
the participation of the press in debates over 
matters of legitimate public concern (see, for 
example, Bladet Tromsø and Stensaas, cited 
above, § 64, and Jersild v. Denmark, judgment 

of 23 September 1994, Series A no. 298, p. 25, 
§ 35).

107. However, while it appears that all the member 
States of the Council of Europe have adopted 
rules aimed at preserving the confidential or 
secret nature of certain sensitive items of in-
formation and at prosecuting acts which run 
counter to that aim, the rules vary consider-
ably not just in terms of how secrecy is de-
fined and how the sensitive areas to which the 
rules relate are managed, but also in terms of 
the practical arrangements and conditions for 
prosecuting persons who disclose informa-
tion illegally (see the comparative study by Mr 
Christos Pourgourides, paragraph 44 above). 
States can therefore claim a certain margin of 
appreciation in this sphere.

ii Application of those principles to the pre-
sent case

  (α)  The issue at stake in the present case:  
   dissemination of confidential information

108. In the present case the domestic courts or-
dered the applicant to pay a fine of CHF 800 
for having made public “secret official delibera-
tions” within the meaning of Article 293 of the 
Criminal Code. In the view of the Swiss courts, 
the applicant had committed an offence by vir-
tue of having published in a weekly newspaper 
a confidential report written by Switzerland's 
ambassador to the United States. The report 
had dealt with the strategy to be adopted by 
the Swiss Government in the negotiations be-
tween, among others, the World Jewish Con-
gress and Swiss banks concerning compensa-
tion due to Holocaust victims for unclaimed 
assets deposited in Swiss banks.

109. Hence, the issue under consideration is the 
dissemination of confidential information, a 
sphere in which the Court and the Commis-
sion have already had occasion to rule, albeit 
in circumstances often different to those in the 
instant case (see, in particular, the following 
cases, listed in chronological order: Z. v. Swit-
zerland, no. 10343/83, Commission decision 
of 6 October 1983, DR 35, pp. 229-234; Weber 
v. Switzerland, judgment of 22 May 1990, Se-
ries A no. 177; Observer and Guardian v. the 
United Kingdom, judgment of 26 November 
1991, Series A no. 216; Open Door and Dublin 
Well Woman v. Ireland, judgment of 29 Octo-
ber 1992, Series A no. 246-A; Hadjianastassiou 
v. Greece, judgment of 16 December 1992, 
Series A no. 252; Vereniging Weekblad Bluf! v. 
the Netherlands, judgment of 9 February 1995, 
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Series A no. 306-A; Fressoz and Roire, cited 
above; Editions Plon, cited above; Tourancheau 
and July v. France, no. 53886/00, 24 November 
2005; Dammann v. Switzerland, no. 77551/01, 
25 April 2006; and Leempoel & S.A. ED. Ciné 
Revue v. Belgium, no. 64772/01, 9 November 
2006).

110. The Court confirms at the outset the applica-
bility of the above-mentioned principles to 
the present case. Press freedom assumes even 
greater importance in circumstances in which 
State activities and decisions escape democrat-
ic or judicial scrutiny on account of their con-
fidential or secret nature. The conviction of a 
journalist for disclosing information considered 
to be confidential or secret may discourage 
those working in the media from informing the 
public on matters of public interest. As a result 
the press may no longer be able to play its vital 
role as “public watchdog” and the ability of the 
press to provide accurate and reliable informa-
tion may be adversely affected (see, mutatis 
mutandis, Goodwin v. the United Kingdom, 
judgment of 27 March 1996, Reports 1996-II, p. 
500, § 39).

111. This is confirmed in particular by the principle 
adopted within the Council of Europe whereby 
publication of documents is the rule and classi-
fication the exception (see paragraph 41 above 
and Resolution 1551 (2007) of the Parliamen-
tary Assembly of the Council of Europe on fair 
trial issues in criminal cases concerning espio-
nage or divulging state secrets, paragraph 40 
above). Similarly, the Inter-American Commis-
sion on Human Rights has taken the view that 
the disclosure of State-held information should 
play a very important role in a democratic soci-
ety, because it enables civil society to control 
the actions of the Government to which it has 
entrusted the protection of its interests (see 
the submissions to the Inter-American Court of 
Human Rights in the case of Claude Reyes and 
others v. Chile, 19 September 2006, paragraph 
43 above).

112. In order to ascertain whether the impugned 
measure was none the less necessary in the 
present case, a number of different aspects 
must be examined: the nature of the interests 
at stake (β), the review of the measure by the 
domestic courts (γ), the conduct of the appli-
cant (δ) and whether or not the fine imposed 
was proportionate (ε).

 (β) The interests at stake

  -  The nature of the interests

113. The present case differs from other similar 
cases in particular by virtue of the fact that the 
content of the paper in question had been 
completely unknown to the public (see, in par-
ticular, Fressoz and Roire, cited above, § 53; 
Observer and Guardian, cited above, p. 34, § 
69; Weber, cited above, pp. 22 et seq., § 49; 
Vereniging Weekblad Bluf!, cited above, pp. 15 
et seq., §§ 43 et seq.; Open Door and Dublin 
Well Woman, cited above, p. 31, § 76; and Edi-
tions Plon, cited above, § 53).

114. In this context the Court shares the opinion of 
the Swiss and French Governments that the 
margin of appreciation of the domestic author-
ities in this case should not be determined by 
the nature and importance of the position held 
by the author of the document, in this instance 
a senior civil servant, given that the ambassa-
dor had assumed that the content of his report 
would remain confidential.

115. In addition, it should be noted that in the in-
stant case, unlike other similar cases, the pub-
lic's interest in being informed of the ambas-
sador's views had to be weighed not against 
a private interest – since the report did not 
relate to the ambassador as a private individ-
ual – but against another public interest (see, 
conversely, Fressoz and Roire, cited above, § 
53, on the subject of the declared income of 
a company's managing director and hence 
involving fiscal confidentiality). Finding a sat-
isfactory solution to the issue of unclaimed 
funds, in which considerable sums of money 
were at stake, was not only in the interests of 
the Government and the Swiss banks but, since 
it related to compensation due to Holocaust 
victims, also affected the interests of survivors 
of the Second World War and their families and 
descendants. In addition to the substantial fi-
nancial interests involved, therefore, the matter 
also had a significant moral dimension which 
meant that it was of interest even to the wider 
international community.

116. Accordingly, in assessing in the instant case 
whether the measure taken by the Swiss au-
thorities was necessary, it must be borne in 
mind that the interests being weighed against 
each other were both public in nature: the in-
terest of readers in being informed on a topical 
issue and the interest of the authorities in en-
suring a positive and satisfactory outcome to 
the diplomatic negotiations being conducted.

  -  The public interest in publication of  
   the articles



542 CASEOFSTOLLVSWITZERLAND

EC
HR

EC
J

117. In the Court's view, the manner of reporting 
in question should not be considered solely 
by reference to the disputed articles in the 
Sonntags-Zeitung, but in the wider context of 
the media coverage of the issue (see, mutatis 
mutandis, Bladet Tromsø and Stensaas, cited 
above, § 63).

118. In this regard the Court shares the view of the 
Chamber that the information contained in 
the Swiss ambassador's paper concerned mat-
ters of public interest (see paragraph 49 of the 
Chamber judgment). The articles were pub-
lished in the context of a public debate about 
a matter which had been widely reported in 
the Swiss media and had deeply divided public 
opinion in Switzerland, namely the compensa-
tion due to Holocaust victims for unclaimed 
assets deposited in Swiss bank accounts. The 
discussions on the assets of Holocaust victims 
and Switzerland's role in the Second World 
War had, in late 1996 and early 1997, been 
very heated and had an international dimen-
sion (see, mutatis mutandis, Bladet Tromsø and 
Stensaas, cited above, §§ 63 and 73).

119. The recent Monnat judgment (cited above), 
moreover, demonstrates the importance of the 
public debate and the deep divisions in Swiss 
public opinion on the question of the role actu-
ally played by Switzerland during the Second 
World War (ibid., § 59). The Court notes that, in 
Monnat, the television documentary in ques-
tion, which provoked such strong feeling and 
criticism among the Swiss public, was broad-
cast on 6 and 11 March 1997, that is, less than 
two months after the articles in the present 
case had been published, on 26 January 1997 
(ibid., § 6). It should be pointed out that the 
Court found the admission of viewers' com-
plaints by the Federal Court to be in breach of 
Article 10 of the Convention (ibid., § 69).

120. In short, there can be no doubting the public 
interest in the issue of unclaimed funds, which 
was the subject of impassioned debate in Swit-
zerland, especially around the time when the 
applicant's articles were published.

121. It is also important, in the Court's view, to ex-
amine whether the articles in question were 
capable of contributing to the public debate 
on this issue.

122. Like the Press Council, the Chamber took the 
view that publication of the document in ques-
tion had revealed, among other things, that 
the persons dealing with the matter had not 
yet formed a very clear idea as to Switzerland's 

responsibility and what steps the Government 
should take. The Chamber acknowledged that 
the public had a legitimate interest in receiv-
ing information about the officials dealing with 
such a sensitive matter and their negotiating 
style and strategy (see paragraph 49 of the 
Chamber judgment), such information afford-
ing the public one of the means of discovering 
and forming an opinion of the ideas and atti-
tudes of political leaders (see, mutatis mutan-
dis, in relation to politicians, İbrahim Aksoy v. 
Turkey, nos. 28635/95, 30171/96 and 34535/97, 
§ 68 in fine, 10 October 2000, and Lingens v. 
Austria, judgment of 8 July 1986, Series A no. 
103, p. 26, § 42).

123. The Grand Chamber shares this view. In his 
report, the ambassador analysed the situation 
with regard to unclaimed assets and proposed 
some practical solutions. As the report covered 
a number of aspects, the fact that the appli-
cant chose to concentrate almost exclusively 
on the personality of the ambassador and his 
individual style does not mean that his articles 
were of no relevance in the context of the pub-
lic debate. In other words, the applicant could 
argue with some degree of legitimacy that it 
was important to inform the public of the bel-
licose language used by Ambassador Jagmetti, 
a major player in the negotiations, in order to 
contribute to the debate on the question of 
unclaimed funds.

124. In the Court's view, the impugned articles were 
capable of contributing to the public debate 
on the issue of unclaimed assets.

  -  The interests the domestic authorities  
   sought to protect

  -  Confidentiality

125. The report in question was written by a high-
ranking diplomat. In that connection, the 
Chamber explicitly acknowledged the interest 
in protecting diplomatic activity against out-
side interference.

126. The Court agrees with the Government and 
the third-party interveners that it is vital to dip-
lomatic services and the smooth functioning of 
international relations for diplomats to be able 
to exchange confidential or secret information 
(see also paragraph 5 of the Press Council opin-
ion, paragraph 24 above). Admittedly, the dis-
closure at issue is not covered by the provisions 
on the inviolability of archives and documents 
contained in the Vienna Convention on Diplo-
matic Relations (Articles 24 et seq.), referred to 
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by the Government (see paragraph 79 above), 
which are designed to protect the archives and 
documents of the accredited State against in-
terference from the receiving State or persons 
or entities under its jurisdiction. Nevertheless, 
the principles derived from those provisions 
demonstrate the importance of confidentiality 
in this sphere.

127. The Court also attaches some importance to 
the Government's argument, based on the 
Press Council opinion, that the publishing of 
a report written by an ambassador and clas-
sified as “confidential” or “secret” might not 
only have an adverse and paralysing effect 
on a country's foreign policy, but might also 
make the official concerned almost automati-
cally persona non grata in the host country 
(see paragraph 5 of the Press Council opinion, 
paragraph 24 above). The fact that Ambassa-
dor Jagmetti resigned following publication of 
his report attests to this.

128. At the same time the Court would reiterate the 
principle whereby the Convention is intended 
to guarantee rights that are not theoretical or 
illusory, but practical and effective (see, for ex-
ample, Artico v. Italy, judgment of 13 May 1980, 
Series A no. 37, p. 16, § 33). This principle must 
also be adhered to when it comes to assessing 
interference with a right. Consequently, in or-
der to appear legitimate, the arguments relied 
on by the opposing party must also address in 
a practical and effective manner the grounds 
set forth in the second paragraph of Article 10. 
As exceptions to the exercise of freedom of ex-
pression, these must be subjected to close and 
careful scrutiny by the Court. In other words, 
while the confidentiality of diplomatic reports 
is justified in principle, it cannot be protected 
at any price. Furthermore, like the Press Coun-
cil, the Court takes the view that the media's 
role as critic and watchdog also applies to the 
sphere of foreign policy (see paragraph 5 of the 
Press Council opinion, paragraph 24 above). 
Accordingly, preventing all public debate on 
matters relating to foreign affairs by invoking 
the need to protect diplomatic correspond-
ence is unacceptable.

129. Consequently, in weighing the interests at 
stake against each other, the content of the 
diplomatic report in question and the poten-
tial threat posed by its publication are of even 
greater importance than its nature and form.

  -  Repercussions in the circumstances of  
   the case

130. The Court notes that the Government did not 
succeed in demonstrating that the articles in 
question actually prevented the Swiss Govern-
ment and Swiss banks from finding a solution 
to the problem of unclaimed assets which was 
acceptable to the opposing party. Neverthe-
less, that fact in itself cannot be a determining 
factor in the present case. What is important is 
to ascertain whether the disclosure of the re-
port and/or the impugned articles were, at the 
time of publication, capable of causing “con-
siderable damage” to the country's interests 
(see, mutatis mutandis, Hadjianastassiou, cited 
above, p. 19, § 45, in fine, for a case concern-
ing military interests and national security in 
the strict sense).

131. News is a perishable commodity and to delay 
its publication, even for a short period, may 
well deprive it of all its value and interest (see, 
for example, Observer and Guardian, cited 
above, p. 30, § 60; Sunday Times v. the United 
Kingdom (no. 2), judgment of 26 November 
1991, Series A no. 217, pp. 29 et seq., § 51; 
and Association Ekin v. France, no. 39288/98 
39288/98, § 56, ECHR 2001-VIII). Consequent-
ly, a journalist cannot in principle be required 
to defer publishing information on a subject of 
general interest without compelling reasons 
relating to the public interest or protection of 
the rights of others (see, for example, Editions 
Plon, cited above, § 53, with further refer-
ences). The Court must determine whether this 
was the case here.

132. In that connection the Court is of the opinion 
that the disclosure of the extracts in question 
from the ambassador's report at that point in 
time could have had negative repercussions 
on the smooth progress of the negotiations in 
which Switzerland was engaged on two counts. 
Here, a distinction must be made between the 
content of the ambassador's remarks and the 
way in which they were presented.

133. Firstly, with regard to the content of the report, 
it should be observed that at the time the ap-
plicant's articles were published in the Sonn-
tags-Zeitung the Swiss Government had been 
engaged for several weeks in difficult negotia-
tions aimed at finding a solution to the sensi-
tive issue of unclaimed assets. The Court shares 
the view of the Swiss courts that the content 
of the document written by the ambassador 
was of some importance since it amounted to 
an assessment of the delicate situation which 
Switzerland would have to deal with at the end 
of 1997. The document proposed various strat-
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egies aimed at helping the respondent State 
find a way out of its predicament. It was thus 
intended to help the head of the task force to 
form his opinion and hence to influence the 
country's handling of the issue of unclaimed 
assets. As the Press Council rightly pointed out, 
reporting on what the ambassador thought 
and on what he based his opinions was very 
relevant (see paragraph 6 of the Press Council 
opinion, paragraph 24 above).

134. As to the formal aspect of the report, the lan-
guage used by its author is clearly a considera-
tion. While this may appear to be of second-
ary importance, the Court recalls its case-law, 
according to which even factors which appear 
relatively unimportant may have serious con-
sequences and cause “considerable damage” 
to a country's interests (see, mutatis mutandis, 
Hadjianastassiou, cited above, p. 19, § 45).

135. In the present case the vocabulary used – 
which was considered bellicose by, among 
others, the Press Council – was clearly liable 
to provoke a negative reaction from the other 
parties to the negotiations, namely the World 
Jewish Congress and its American allies, and, 
in consequence, to compromise the successful 
outcome of negotiations which were regarded 
as difficult and which related to a particularly 
sensitive subject. Suffice it to note, by way of 
example, that the ambassador expressed the 
view in his report that Switzerland's partners in 
the negotiations were “not to be trusted” but 
that it was just possible that “an actual deal 
might be struck” with them. What is more, he 
described them as “adversaries”.

136. In view of the foregoing, the Court is of the 
opinion that the disclosure – albeit partial – of 
the content of the ambassador's report was ca-
pable of undermining the climate of discretion 
necessary to the successful conduct of diplo-
matic relations in general and of having nega-
tive repercussions on the negotiations being 
conducted by Switzerland in particular. Hence, 
given that they were published at a particularly 
delicate juncture, the articles written by the ap-
plicant were liable to cause considerable dam-
age to the interests of the respondent party in 
the present case.

 (γ)  The review of the measure by the   
  domestic courts

137. It is not for the Court to take the place of the 
Parties to the Convention in defining their 
national interests, a sphere which tradition-
ally forms part of the inner core of State sov-

ereignty. However, considerations concerning 
the fairness of proceedings may need to be 
taken into account in examining a case of in-
terference with the exercise of Article 10 rights 
(see, mutatis mutandis, Steel and Morris, cited 
above, § 95). Consequently, the Court must 
determine whether the purely formal notion 
of secrecy underlying Article 293 of the Crimi-
nal Code is compatible with the requirements 
of the Convention. In other words it must ex-
amine whether, in the instant case, this purely 
formal notion was binding upon the courts to 
the extent that they were prevented from tak-
ing into consideration the substantive content 
of the secret document in weighing up the 
interests at stake, as an inability to take that 
into consideration would act as a bar to their 
reviewing whether the interference with the 
rights protected by Article 10 of the Conven-
tion had been justified.

138. In its judgment of 5 December 2000 on the 
applicant's appeal on grounds of nullity, the 
Federal Court reaffirmed the formal defini-
tion of the notion of secrecy. At the same 
time that judgement makes clear that, since 
the introduction of paragraph 3 of Article 293 
of the Criminal Code in 1997, the court hear-
ing a criminal case must determine in advance 
whether the “secret” classification appears jus-
tified in the light of the purpose and content 
of the disclosed documents; the cantonal au-
thorities complied with that requirement in 
the instant case (see, in particular, paragraph 
8 of the Federal Court judgment, paragraph 
33 above). In that regard, the Federal Court 
explicitly acknowledged that Article 293 of the 
Criminal Code allowed the court to weigh up 
the interests at stake even if this did not have 
a bearing on the essential elements of the of-
fence, and also to accept a possible extra-legal 
justification based on the protection of legiti-
mate interests. In the instant case however, the 
Federal Court found that no such justification 
existed, with the result that it was not required 
to answer the question whether the interest in 
maintaining the confidentiality of the strategy 
paper took precedence over the public inter-
est in being informed of the extracts published 
in the newspapers. Nevertheless, it considered 
that the substantive conclusions drawn by the 
cantonal authorities in that regard had been 
coherent and well-founded (see, in particular, 
paragraph 9 of the Federal Court judgment, 
paragraph 33 above).

139. In conclusion, given that the Federal Court veri-
fied whether the “confidential” classification of 
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the ambassador's report had been justified and 
weighed up the interests at stake, it cannot be 
said that the formal notion of secrecy on which 
Article 293 of the Criminal Code is based pre-
vented the Federal Court, as the court of final 
instance, from determining in the instant case 
whether the interference at issue was compat-
ible with Article 10.

 (δ)  The applicant's conduct

140. As far as the ethics of journalism are concerned, 
a distinction must be made between two as-
pects in the instant case: the manner in which 
the applicant obtained the report in question 
and the form of the impugned articles.

  -  The manner in which the applicant  
   obtained the report

141. The Court considers that the manner in which 
a person obtains information considered to 
be confidential or secret may be of some rel-
evance for the balancing of interests to be car-
ried out in the context of Article 10 § 2. In that 
regard, the applicant submitted that the Swiss 
authorities had prosecuted and convicted the 
wrong person, since he had never been ac-
cused of having obtained the document in 
question by means of trickery or threats (see, 
mutatis mutandis, Dammann, cited above, § 
55 in fine) and the officials responsible for the 
leak were never identified or punished.

142. It should be noted in that regard that the ap-
plicant was apparently not the person respon-
sible for leaking the document. In any event, 
no proceedings were instituted on that basis 
by the Swiss authorities.

143. Furthermore, it is primarily up to States to or-
ganise their services and train staff in such a 
way as to ensure that no confidential or secret 
information is disclosed (see Dammann, cited 
above, § 55). In that regard, the authorities 
could have opened an investigation with a 
view to prosecuting those responsible for the 
leak (see, mutatis mutandis, Craxi v. Italy (no. 2), 
no. 25337/94, § 75, 17 July 2003).

144. Nevertheless, the fact that the applicant did 
not act illegally in that respect is not necessar-
ily a determining factor in assessing whether or 
not he complied with his duties and responsi-
bilities. In any event, as a journalist, he could 
not claim in good faith to be unaware that dis-
closure of the document in question was pun-
ishable under Article 293 of the Criminal Code 
(see, mutatis mutandis, Fressoz and Roire, cited 
above, § 52).

  - The form of the articles

145. In the present case, the question whether the 
form of the articles published by the applicant 
was in accordance with journalistic ethics car-
ries greater weight. In this regard the opinion 
of the Press Council, a specialised and inde-
pendent body, is of particular importance.

146. The Court reiterates at the outset that Article 
10 protects not only the substance of the ideas 
and information expressed, but also the form 
in which they are conveyed. Consequently, it is 
not for this Court, nor for the national courts for 
that matter, to substitute their own views for 
those of the press as to what technique of re-
porting should be adopted by journalists (see, 
for example, Jersild, cited above, p. 23, § 31, 
and De Haes and Gijsels v. Belgium, judgment 
of 24 February 1997, Reports 1997-I, p. 236, § 
48).

147. Nevertheless, like the Press Council, the Court 
observes a number of shortcomings in the 
form of the published articles. Firstly, the con-
tent of the articles was clearly reductive and 
truncated. The Court has already observed 
that the applicant was entitled to concentrate 
in the articles on the ambassador's personality 
(see paragraphs 122-124 above); however, it 
cannot overlook the fact that the articles quot-
ed at times isolated extracts from the report in 
question, taken out of context, and that they 
focused on only one of the strategies outlined 
by the ambassador, namely that of a “deal”.

It would have been possible to accompany the 
articles in the Sonntags-Zeitung with the full 
text of the report, as the Tages-Anzeiger and 
the Nouveau Quotidien largely did the follow-
ing day, and thus to allow readers to form their 
own opinion (see, mutatis mutandis, Lopes 
Gomes da Silva v. Portugal, no. 37698/97, § 35, 
ECHR 2000-X). The Court is not persuaded by 
the arguments advanced by the editors of the 
Sonntags-Zeitung that, on 25 January 1997, it 
would have been virtually impossible to add 
another page to the newspaper and that plans 
to publish the full text on the Internet were 
abandoned owing to technical problems.

148. Secondly, the vocabulary used by the applicant 
tends to suggest that the ambassador's re-
marks were anti-Semitic. Admittedly, freedom 
of the press covers possible recourse to a de-
gree of exaggeration, or even provocation (see, 
for example, Prager and Oberschlick v. Austria, 
judgment of 26 April 1995, Series A no. 313, p. 
19, § 38). The fact remains that the applicant, 



546 CASEOFSTOLLVSWITZERLAND

EC
HR

EC
J

in capricious fashion, started a rumour which 
related directly to one of the very phenomena 
at the root of the issue of unclaimed assets, 
namely the atrocities committed against the 
Jewish community during the Second World 
War. The Court reiterates the need to deal 
firmly with allegations and/or insinuations of 
that nature (see, mutatis mutandis, Lehideux 
and Isorni v. France, judgment of 23 Septem-
ber 1998, Reports 1998-VII, p. 2886, § 53, and 
Garaudy v. France, (dec.), no. 65831/01, ECHR 
2003-IX). Moreover, the rumour in question 
most likely contributed to the ambassador's 
resignation.

149. Thirdly, the way in which the articles were 
edited seems hardly fitting for a subject as im-
portant and serious as that of the unclaimed 
funds. The sensationalist style of the head-
ings and sub-headings is particularly striking 
(“Ambassador Jagmetti insults the Jews – Se-
cret document: Our adversaries are not to be 
trusted” and “The ambassador in bathrobe 
and climbing boots puts his foot in it – Swiss 
Ambassador Carlo Jagmetti's diplomatic blun-
derings”; for the German titles, see paragraphs 
18 and 19 above). In the Court's view, it is of 
little relevance whether the headings were 
chosen by the applicant or the newspaper's 
editors. The picture on page 7 of the Sonntags-
Zeitung of 26 January 1997 accompanying the 
second article, which showed the ambassador 
in a bathrobe (see paragraph 19 above), seems 
to confirm the trivial nature of the applicant's 
articles, in clear contrast to the seriousness of 
the subject matter. Moreover, the headings, 
sub-headings and picture in question have no 
obvious link to the subject matter but have the 
effect of reinforcing the reader's impression of 
someone ill-fitted to hold diplomatic office.

150. Fourthly, the articles written by the applicant 
were also inaccurate and likely to mislead the 
reader by virtue of the fact that they did not 
make the timing of the events sufficiently clear. 
In particular, they created the impression that 
the document had been written on 25 Janu-
ary 1997, whereas in fact it had been written 
over four weeks earlier, on 19 December 1996 
(see also the criticism made by the Press Coun-
cil in paragraph 7 of its opinion, paragraph 24 
above).

151. In view of the above considerations, and hav-
ing regard also to the fact that one of the ar-
ticles was placed on the front page of a Swiss 
Sunday newspaper with a large circulation, the 
Court shares the opinion of the Government 

and the Press Council that the applicant's chief 
intention was not to inform the public on a 
topic of general interest but to make Ambas-
sador Jagmetti's report the subject of needless 
scandal. It is therefore easy to understand why 
the Press Council, in its conclusions, criticised 
the newspaper clearly and firmly for the form 
of the articles as being in clear breach of the 
“Declaration on the rights and responsibilities 
of journalists” (see paragraph 7 of the Press 
Council opinion and point 5 of its findings, 
paragraph 24 above).

152. Accordingly, the Court considers that the 
truncated and reductive form of the articles 
in question, which was liable to mislead the 
reader as to the ambassador's personality and 
abilities, considerably detracted from the im-
portance of their contribution to the public de-
bate protected by Article 10 of the Convention.

 (ε)  Whether the penalty imposed was pro  
  portionate

153. The Court reiterates that the nature and sever-
ity of the penalty imposed are further factors to 
be taken into account when assessing the pro-
portionality of interference (see, for example, 
Sürek v. Turkey (no. 1) [GC], no. 26682/95, § 
64, second sub-paragraph, ECHR 1999-IV, and 
Chauvy and Others v. France, no. 64915/01, § 
78, ECHR 2004-VI).

154. Furthermore, the Court must be satisfied that 
the penalty does not amount to a form of cen-
sorship intended to discourage the press from 
expressing criticism. In the context of a debate 
on a topic of public interest, such a sanction is 
likely to deter journalists from contributing to 
public discussion of issues affecting the life of 
the community. By the same token, it is liable 
to hamper the press in performing its task as 
purveyor of information and public watchdog 
(see, mutatis mutandis, Barthold v. Germany, 
judgment of 25 March 1985, Series A no. 90, p. 
26, § 58; Lingens, cited above, p. 27, § 44; and 
Monnat, cited above, § 70). In that connec-
tion, the fact of a person's conviction may in 
some cases be more important than the minor 
nature of the penalty imposed (see, for exam-
ple, Jersild, cited above, p. 25, § 35, first sub-
paragraph; Lopes Gomes da Silva, cited above, 
§ 36; and Dammann, cited above, § 57).

155. On the other hand, a consensus appears to ex-
ist among the member States of the Council of 
Europe on the need for appropriate criminal 
sanctions to prevent the disclosure of certain 
confidential items of information (see para-
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graph 44 above).

156. In the instant case it should be observed that 
the penalty imposed on the applicant could 
hardly be said to have prevented him from 
expressing his views, coming as it did after the 
articles had been published (see, by converse 
implication, Observer and Guardian, cited 
above, p. 30, § 60).

157. In addition, the amount of the fine (CHF 800, 
or approximately EUR 476 at current exchange 
rates) was relatively small. Moreover, it was im-
posed for an offence coming under the head-
ing of “minor offences” within the meaning of 
Article 101 of the Criminal Code as in force at 
the relevant time, which constituted the low-
est category of acts punishable under the Swiss 
Criminal Code. More severe sanctions, even 
going as far as a custodial sentence, apply to 
the same offence both under Article 293 of the 
Criminal Code and in the laws of other Coun-
cil of Europe member States (see paragraph 
59 of the comparative study by Mr Christos 
Pourgourides, paragraph 44 above).

158. The Zürich District Court, in its judgment of 22 
January 1999, also accepted the existence of 
extenuating circumstances and took the view 
that the disclosure of the confidential paper 
had not undermined the very foundations of 
the State.

159. It is true that no action was taken to prosecute 
the journalists who, the day after the applicant's 
articles appeared, published the report in part 
and even in full, and therefore, on the face of 
it, revealed much more information considered 
to be confidential. However, that fact in itself 
does not make the sanction imposed on the 
applicant discriminatory or disproportionate. 
Firstly, the applicant was the first to disclose 
the information in question. Secondly, the 
principle of discretionary prosecution leaves 
States considerable room for manoeuvre in de-
ciding whether or not to institute proceedings 
against someone thought to have committed 
an offence. In a case such as the present one 
they have the right, in particular, to take ac-
count of considerations of professional ethics.

160. Lastly, as regards the possible deterrent effect 
of the fine, the Court takes the view that, while 
this danger is inherent in any criminal penalty, 
the relatively modest amount of the fine must 
be borne in mind in the instant case.

161. In view of all the above factors, the Court does 
not consider the fine imposed in the present 

case to have been disproportionate to the aim 
pursued.

iii Conclusion

162. Having regard to the foregoing, the Court is 
of the view that, in weighing the interests at stake 
in the present case against each other in the light 
of all the relevant evidence, the domestic authori-
ties did not overstep their margin of appreciation. 
Accordingly, the applicant's conviction can be said 
to have been proportionate to the legitimate aim 
pursued. It follows that there has been no violation 
of Article 10 of the Convention.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT

Holds by twelve votes to five that there has been 
no violation of Article 10 of the Convention.

Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 10 December 2007.

vincent Berger, Jurisconsult 
Jean-Paul Costa, President

In accordance with Article 45 § 2 of the Conven-
tion and Rule 74 § 2 of the Rules of Court, the fol-
lowing separate opinions are annexed to this judg-
ment:

(a) concurring opinion of Mrs Ziemele;

(b) dissenting opinion of Mr Zagrebelsky, 
joined by Mr Lorenzen, Mrs Fura Sand-
ström, Mrs Jaeger and Mr Popović.

ConCURRInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE ZIEMELE
I voted with the majority in favour of finding that 
there has been no violation of Article 10 in the cir-
cumstances of this case. However, I do not share 
the reasoning of the majority on one specific point.

Beginning in paragraph 125 of the judgment, the 
Court looks in great detail at the interests which the 
domestic authorities sought to protect in this case. 
The first interest is the protection of the confidenti-
ality of information within diplomatic services so as 
to ensure the smooth functioning of international 
relations. The Court takes the opportunity to articu-
late a very important principle as regards the role 
that Article 10 plays in international relations and 
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foreign-policy decisions of States Parties, namely, 
that “preventing all public debate on matters relat-
ing to foreign affairs by invoking the need to pro-
tect diplomatic correspondence is unacceptable” 
(see paragraph 128). Certain well-known foreign-
policy decisions of the last few years, for example, 
which led to complex international events and 
developments, demonstrate the importance of de-
bate and transparency in this field.

Subsequently, the majority of the Court addresses 
the question of the repercussions that the pub-
lished articles concerning Ambassador Jagmetti 
and his confidential report had on the negotia-
tions between Switzerland and the World Jewish 
Congress and the other interested parties on the 
subject of compensation due to Holocaust victims 
for unclaimed assets deposited in Swiss bank ac-
counts (see paragraphs 130-136). The majority of 
the Court first notes that the Government did not 
show that the published articles had actually pre-
vented Switzerland and the banks in question from 
finding a solution to the problem (see paragraph 
130). Nevertheless, the majority decides to assess 
whether, at the moment of their publication, the 
articles were such as to cause damage to the inter-
ests of the State. It comes to the conclusion that “... 
the disclosure – albeit partial – of the content of the 
ambassador's report was capable of undermining 
the climate of discretion necessary to the success-
ful conduct of diplomatic relations in general and 
of having negative repercussions on the negotia-
tions being conducted by Switzerland in particular. 
Hence, given that they were published at a particu-
larly delicate juncture, the articles written by the 
applicant were liable to cause considerable dam-
age to the interests of the respondent party in the 
present case” (see paragraph 136).

I disagree that the Court of Human Rights should 
single out the interests of the respondent party 
in these negotiations. The negotiations involved 
several parties but, above all, they related to a par-
ticularly difficult and delicate general interest and 
had implications extending beyond the Swiss pub-
lic. The judgment points out elsewhere that “[t]he 
discussions on the assets of Holocaust victims and 
Switzerland's role in the Second World War had, in 
late 1996 and early 1997, been very heated and had 
an international dimension” (see paragraph 118). 
Indeed, discussions about the State's responsibili-
ties under international law came up in this context.

The Court should instead have considered whether 
the partial disclosure of the report at that time was 
likely to contribute to the resolution of a long-
standing, important international issue or, on the 
contrary and to the detriment of all parties, was 

likely to make matters even more difficult.

The case under consideration shows that, in today's 
globalised world, national audiences may not be 
the only public interests to be served by the media 
and others.

DIssEntInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE ZAGREBELsKY 
JoInED BY JUDGEs 
LoREnZEn, FURA-
sAnDstRÖM, JAEGER 
AnD PoPoVIć
(Translation)

I regret that I am unable to subscribe to the reason-
ing and conclusion adopted by the majority in the 
present case.

Until they reach paragraph 147 of the judgment 
readers could easily believe that the Court is head-
ing towards finding a violation of Article 10 of the 
Convention. It is only from that point on that the 
majority reveals the real reason for its negative as-
sessment of the articles published by the applicant. 
But this seems to me to be a dangerous and unjus-
tified departure from the Court's well-established 
case-law concerning the nature and vital impor-
tance of freedom of expression in democratic so-
cieties.

My reasons for saying so are as follows. In para-
graphs 54 to 62 the Court quite rightly excludes 
the possibility that, in the present case, the interfer-
ence with the applicant's exercise of his freedom 
of expression under Article 10 of the Convention 
could be justified by any aim other than prevent-
ing the disclosure of confidential information. The 
Court finds the other aims mentioned by the Gov-
ernment, namely protection of national security, 
public safety and the reputation or rights of oth-
ers, to be without relevance in the case. The only 
remaining justification therefore is protection of 
secret information.

In that connection it should be noted that the pro-
tection of confidential information, unlike any other 
aim mentioned in Article 10 § 2, is functional in na-
ture. If information which falls within the sphere of 
individual privacy is disregarded, it does not repre-
sent a value in itself (I am more inclined to say that 
the opposite is true, in a democratic society, at least 
as far as information regarding public authority is 



549CASEOFSTOLLVSWITZERLAND

EC
J

EC
HR

concerned). On the contrary, it is taken into consid-
eration only because it serves to protect those val-
ues and interests which do merit protection at the 
expense of freedom of expression. It seems to me 
therefore that – for the purposes of Article 10 – the 
legitimacy of classifying a document or information 
as “confidential” cannot be assessed, nor can the 
value of such classification be “weighed” against 
the fundamental freedom of expression, without 
identifying and “weighing up” the underlying value 
or interest for the protection of which the informa-
tion must remain confidential.

But the majority, after stating that “the confidential-
ity of diplomatic reports is justified in principle, [but] 
cannot be protected at any price” (see paragraph 
128), and that “the Government did not succeed 
in demonstrating that the articles in question ac-
tually prevented the Swiss Government and Swiss 
banks from finding a solution to the problem of un-
claimed assets which was acceptable to the oppos-
ing party” (see paragraph 130), ultimately takes into 
consideration merely the “confidentiality” of the 
document, publication of which quite obviously 
undermined “the climate of discretion necessary 
to the successful conduct of diplomatic relations in 
general” (see paragraph 136). What follows, in the 
same paragraph, which states that publication was 
capable of “having negative repercussions on the 
negotiations being conducted by Switzerland” and 
that “given that they were published at a particular-
ly delicate juncture, the articles written by the ap-
plicant were liable to cause considerable damage 
to the interests of the respondent party”, is merely a 
hypothesis, if not a petitio principii. In sum, this rea-
soning renders meaningless the principle whereby 
any interference with the right of free expression 
must be properly justified.

However, even if one follows the majority's rea-
soning, it seems clear to me that any damage sus-
tained must have been very minor when judged 
against everything the Court has said in numer-
ous judgments about the importance of freedom 
of expression, particularly where it is a question of 
unmasking and criticising the conduct of the pub-
lic authorities and those through whom public au-
thority is mediated. It is worth pointing out in this 
regard that the issue at stake was the publication 
of a few passages from a letter which the Swiss 
ambassador in Washington had sent to more than 
twenty individuals and offices; moreover, no pro-
ceedings were instituted against the other newspa-
pers which published the document virtually in full 
(and obviously knew about it). The criticism of the 
applicant for having published only a few extracts 
from the document relating specifically to the way 
in which the ambassador expressed himself be-

comes, paradoxically, a factor which counts against 
him, and the majority goes so far as to suggest that 
it would have been wiser to publish the document 
in full (see paragraph 147 of the judgment). In my 
view, therefore, this interest in discretion could not 
on its own justify restricting the exercise of journal-
istic freedom in a public-interest context (see para-
graphs 113 to 124 of the judgment).

I can see no reason to depart from the Court's case-
law to the effect that the criterion for assessing 
whether interference is necessary in a democratic 
society must be whether it corresponds to a “press-
ing social need”, that “the authorities have only a 
limited margin of appreciation” in this sphere (see 
paragraph 105) and that “the most careful scrutiny 
on the part of the Court is called for when, as in the 
present case, the measures taken ... by the national 
authority are capable of discouraging the participa-
tion of the press in debates over matters of legiti-
mate public concern” (paragraph 106) (see, among 
other authorities, the following judgments: Handy-
side v. the United Kingdom, 7 December 1976, § 
48; Sunday Times v. the United Kingdom, 26 April 
1979, § 59; Lingens v. Austria, 8 July 1986, §§ 39-
41; Observer and Guardian v. the United Kingdom, 
26 November 1991, § 59; Hertel v. Switzerland, 
25 August 1998, § 46; and Steel and Morris v. the 
United Kingdom, 15 February 2005, § 87).

In its judgment of 7 June 2007 in the case of Du-
puis and Others v. France (application no. 1914/02), 
where the applicants were journalists convicted of 
breaching the secrecy of a criminal investigation, 
the Court stated as follows: “Where the press is con-
cerned, as in the present case, the national power 
of appreciation conflicts with a democratic socie-
ty's interest in securing and maintaining freedom of 
the press. Considerable weight should likewise be 
attached to that interest when it is a matter of de-
termining, as required by the second paragraph of 
Article 10, whether the restriction was proportion-
ate to the legitimate aim pursued”. It is regrettable 
in my opinion that the Grand Chamber, instead of 
developing and applying these principles, should 
be tending in the opposite direction, particularly 
at a time when a series of episodes in the demo-
cratic world has shown that, even in the sphere of 
foreign policy, democratic scrutiny is possible only 
after confidential documents have been leaked and 
made public.

However, the judgment does not accept the neces-
sity in a democratic society of the interference in 
question solely on the basis of the authorities' in-
terest in discretion. On the contrary, in paragraph 
147 of the judgment, the majority addresses what 
appears to me to be the real reason for its criticism 
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of the journalist, one which, in its view, justifies his 
conviction, namely the “form of the articles”.

The judgment reiterates that Article 10 protects the 
substance of the ideas and information expressed 
and the form in which they are conveyed. “Conse-
quently, it is not for this Court, nor for the national 
courts for that matter, to substitute their own views 
for those of the press as to what technique of re-
porting should be adopted by journalists” (see 
paragraph 146 of the judgment). Having said that, 
the majority seems to me to contradict itself by 
stating in the following paragraph: “Nevertheless, 
like the Press Council, the Court observes a number 
of shortcomings in the form of the published arti-
cles”. The judgment does not give any reason for 
this surprising “nevertheless”, which introduces an 
element of censure regarding the form chosen by 
the journalist and leads the Court to endorse the 
wholly different position of a private body con-
cerned with journalistic ethics. Moreover, the ma-
jority does not ultimately attach any weight to the 
purpose of the applicant's articles, which, as it itself 
acknowledges in paragraph 123, clearly related to 
the ambassador's controversial handling of several 
episodes, and in particular of the issue of unclaimed 
assets lodged by Holocaust victims in Swiss bank 
accounts. This issue obviously provided the back-
drop to the articles; however, the latter clearly tar-
geted the personality, as well as the character and 
attitudes of an ambassador who was an important 
player in the negotiations. And in my opinion, the 
judgment falls into a trap on account of the fact 
that, at the domestic level, criminal proceedings 
for disclosure of a confidential document were 
brought in place of defamation proceedings, which 
were not instituted at any point (see paragraph 152 
of the judgment).

This case, however, relates solely to a criminal 
prosecution for publication of official deliberations 
within the meaning of Article 293 of the Criminal 
Code.

Let me now turn to my conclusions. In my opinion 
the authorities' interest in discretion referred to in 
paragraph 136 of the judgment is not sufficient in 
this case to outweigh the journalist's freedom. The 
examination and criticism of the form of the arti-
cles seem to me unduly harsh in view of the fact 
that the journalist focused his remarks on the am-
bassador (who did not complain as a result). In any 
event, it is my opinion that the majority's criticism 
concerning the form of the applicant's articles is 
not relevant from the Court's perspective.

As to the penalty imposed and its potentially ad-
verse effect on the exercise of journalistic freedom, 

I subscribe to the conclusions of the Chamber in 
this case and those of the Dupuis judgment, cited 
above.

The Court has consistently held that freedom must 
be construed broadly and that any restrictions 
must, by contrast, be applied restrictively. In the 
light of this guiding principle, it seems clear to me 
that the Court should have found a violation of the 
right to freedom of expression.
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NATIONAL SECURITY, PUBLIC INTEREST, STORAGE OF 
INFORMATION, PRIVATE LIFE, DEMOCRACY, BALANCE, 
PREVENTION OF CRIME, ORDER

IN THE CASE Of SEGERSTEDT-WIBERG AND OTHERS 
v. SWEDEN,

The European Court of Human Rights (Second Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Jean-Paul Costa, President,  
András Baka,  
Ireneu Cabral Barreto, 
Antonella Mularoni,  
Elisabet Fura-Sandström,  
Danutė Jočienė,  
Dragoljub Popović, judges,  
and Sally Dollé, Section Registar,
Having deliberated in private on 20 September 
2005 and 16 May 2006,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

62332/00 ) against the Kingdom of Sweden 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of the 
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Conven-
tion”) on 7 October 2000 by five Swedish na-
tionals: (1) Ms Ingrid Segerstedt-Wiberg (born 
in 1911), (2) Mr Per Nygren (born in 1948), (3) 
Mr Staffan Ehnebom (born in 1952), (4) Mr 
Bengt Frejd (born in 1948) and (5) Mr Herman 
Schmid (born in 1939) (“the applicants”).

2. The applicants were represented by Mr D. Töll-
borg, Professor of Law, practising as a lawyer 
in Västra Frölunda. The Swedish Government 
(“the Government”) were represented by their 
Agent, Mr C.H. Ehrenkrona, of the Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs.

3. The applicants alleged, in particular, that the 
storage in the Security Police files of certain 
information that had been released to them 
constituted unjustified interference with their 
right to respect for private life under Article 8 of 
the Convention. Under this Article, they further 

complained of the refusal to advise them of the 
full extent to which information concerning 
them was kept on the Security Police register. 
The applicants also relied on Articles 10 and 11. 
Lastly, they complained under Article 13 that 
no effective remedy existed under Swedish law 
in respect of the above violations.

4. The application was allocated to the Fourth 
Section of the Court (Rule 52 § 1 of the Rules 
of Court). Within that Section, the Chamber 
that would consider the case (Article 27 § 1 of 
the Convention) was constituted as provided 
in Rule 26 § 1.

5. On 1 November 2004 the Court changed the 
composition of its Sections (Rule 25 § 1). This 
case was assigned to the newly composed Sec-
ond Section (Rule 52 § 1).

6. By a decision of 20 September 2005, the Cham-
ber declared the application partly admissible.

7. The Chamber having decided, after consult-
ing the parties, that no hearing on the merits 
was required (Rule 59 § 3 in fine), the parties 
replied in writing to each other’s observations.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

8. The present application was brought by five 
applicants, all of whom are Swedish nation-
als: (1) Ms Ingrid Segerstedt-Wiberg (born in 
1911), (2) Mr Per Nygren (born in 1948), (3) Mr 
Staffan Ehnebom (born in 1952), (4) Mr Bengt 
Frejd (born in 1948) and (5) Mr Herman Schmid 
(born in 1939). The first applicant lives in Goth-
enburg, the second applicant lives in Kungs-
backa and the third and fourth applicants live 
in Västra Frölunda, Sweden. The fifth applicant 
lives in Copenhagen, Denmark.

A. The first applicant, Ms Ingrid Segerstedt-
Wiberg

9. The first applicant is the daughter of a well-
known publisher and anti-Nazi activist, Mr 
Torgny Segerstedt. From 1958 to 1970 she 
was a Liberal member of parliament. During 
that period she was a member of the Standing 
Committee on the Constitution (konstitution-
sutskottet). She has also been Chairperson of 
the United Nations Association of Sweden. She 
is a prominent figure in Swedish political and 
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cultural life.

10. On 22 April 1998, relying on section 9A of the 
Police Register Act (lag om polisregister m.m., 
1965:94), the first applicant made a request to 
the Minister of Justice for access to her Security 
Police records. She said that she had become 
aware of certain material held by the foreign 
service of the United States of America from 
which it appeared that since the Second World 
War she and others had been under continu-
ous surveillance, in particular because of her 
work for the United Nations Association of 
Western Sweden. That information had origi-
nated from Sweden and had apparently been 
communicated by the United States to other 
countries in order to cause her damage and 
harm her work for the protection of refugees. 
She also referred to the spreading of rumours 
that she was “unreliable” in respect of the So-
viet Union. Those rumours had started during 
the 1956 parliamentary elections, but had not 
prevented her, a couple of years later, being re-
turned to Parliament or sitting on its Standing 
Committee on the Constitution.

By a decision of 17 June 1998, the Ministry of 
Justice refused her request. It pointed out that 
absolute secrecy applied not only to the con-
tent of the police register but also to whether 
or not a person was mentioned in it. The gov-
ernment considered that the reasons relied on 
by the first applicant, with reference to section 
9A of the Police Register Act, could not consti-
tute special grounds for derogation from the 
rule of absolute secrecy.

Appended to the refusal was a letter signed by 
the Minister of Justice, pointing out that neither 
the first applicant’s previous access to material 
indicating that she had been the subject of se-
cret surveillance nor the age of any such infor-
mation (40 to 50 years old) could constitute a 
special reason for a derogation under section 
9A of the Act. The Minister further stated:
“Asyoumaybeaware,sometimeagothegov-
ernment submittedaproposal toParliament
astothemannerinwhichtheSecurityPolice
register should be mademore accessible to
thepublic.Itmaybeofinteresttoyoutoknow
that a fewweeks agoParliamentpassed the
bill,whichmeansthatabsolutesecrecywillbe
abolished. Thebillprovides that theSecurity
Policemustmakeanassessmentoftheneed
for secrecy on a case-by-case basis, which
opens up new possibilities for individuals to
seerecordsthataretodaycoveredbyabsolute
secrecy. It is firstofallhistoricalmaterialthat

willbemadeaccessible.”

11. On 28 April 1999, following an amendment on 
1 April 1999 to Chapter 5, section 1(2), of the 
Secrecy Act 1980 (sekretesslagen, 1980:100), 
the first applicant submitted a new request to 
the Security Police to inform her whether or 
not her name was on the Security Police reg-
ister.

On 17 September 1999 the Security Police de-
cided to grant the first applicant authorisation 
to view “seventeen pages from the Security 
Police records, with the exception of informa-
tion about Security Police staff and informa-
tion concerning the Security Police’s internal 
[classifications]”. Beyond that, her request was 
rejected, pursuant to Chapter 5, section 1(2), 
of the Secrecy Act 1980, on the ground that 
further “information could not be disclosed 
without jeopardising the purpose of measures 
taken or anticipated or without harming future 
operations”.

On 4 October 1999 the first applicant went 
to the headquarters of the Security Police in 
Stockholm to view the records in question. 
They concerned three letter bombs which had 
been sent in 1990 to Sveriges Radio (the na-
tional radio corporation of Sweden), to her and 
to another well-known writer (Hagge Geigert) 
because of their stand against Nazism and 
xenophobia and in favour of the humanitarian 
treatment of refugees in conformity with inter-
national treaties ratified by Sweden. The Se-
curity Police had gathered a number of police 
reports, photographs and newspaper cuttings, 
and had reached the conclusion that there was 
nothing to confirm the suspicion that there 
was an organisation behind the letter bombs. 
That was all the information the first applicant 
was allowed to view.

12. On 8 October 1999 the first applicant instituted 
proceedings before the Administrative Court 
of Appeal (kammarrätten) in Stockholm, re-
questing authorisation to view the entire file 
on her and other entries concerning her that 
had been made in the register. In a judgment 
of 11 February 2000, the court rejected her re-
quest. Its reasoning included the following:
“TheAdministrativeCourtofAppealconsiders
that, beyond what emerges from the docu-
mentsalreadyreleased,it isnotclearthatin-
formationaboutwhetherornot[thefirstap-
plicant]isonfileintheSecurityPolicerecords
regardingsuchactivitiesasare referred to in
Chapter 5, section 1(2), could be disclosed
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withoutjeopardisingthepurposeofmeasures
taken or anticipated or without harming fu-
tureoperations.”

13. On 28 February 2000 the first applicant ap-
pealed to the Supreme Administrative Court 
(Regeringsrätten). She submitted that the 
rejection of her request had left her with the 
impression of being accused of involvement in 
criminal activities. In order to counter these ac-
cusations, she requested permission to see all 
files concerning her.

On 10 May 2000 the Supreme Administrative 
Court refused the first applicant leave to ap-
peal.

14. During the proceedings before the Strasbourg 
Court, the Government provided the following 
additional information.

The first applicant was put on file for the first 
time in 1940. The Security Police were inter-
ested in her because of the circles in which she 
moved and which, during the war in Europe, 
were legitimately targeted by the security 
services. In accordance with the legislation in 
force at the relevant time, additional entries 
were made in her file until 1976, in part on in-
dependent grounds and in part to supplement 
records entered previously.

Between 1940 and 1976, information and 
documents regarding the first applicant had 
been collected in the filing system that existed 
at the time. While those documents were mi-
crofilmed, no documents concerning her had 
been microfilmed since 1976. The documents 
contained in the file were probably weeded 
some time before 1999. However, while back-
up copies on microfiche had been retained, 
they were not accessible in practice, unless 
marked as having already been “deactivated”.

A new filing system was introduced in 1980-
82. As the first applicant came under a bomb 
threat in 1990, a new file on her was opened 
under the new system. It included a reference 
to the previous file under the old system and 
the microfilm number required to retrieve the 
microfiche. The Security Police’s register was 
also updated with the new information regard-
ing the first applicant. The 1990 file had also 
been weeded. It was not destroyed but trans-
ferred to the National Archives.

The first applicant was again put on file by the 
Security Police in 2001, because of a new in-
cident that could have been interpreted as a 
threat against her.

On 13 December 2002 the Security Police de-
cided of their own accord to release all stored 
information that had been kept about the ap-
plicant until 1976, representing fifty-one pages. 
No copies of these documents or particulars of 
their specific content were submitted to the 
Court.

B. The second applicant, Mr Per Nygren
15. The second applicant is an established jour-

nalist at Göteborgs-Posten, one of the largest 
daily newspapers in Sweden. He is the author 
of a number of articles published by that paper 
on Nazism and on the Security Police that at-
tracted wide public attention.

16. On 27 April 1998 the Security Police rejected 
a request by the applicant for access to their 
quarterly reports on communist and Nazi ac-
tivities for the years 1969 to 1998, and for in-
formation on which authorities had received 
those reports.

17. By a letter of 7 June 1999 addressed to the Se-
curity Police, the second applicant stated that, 
having received one of the quarterly reports 
from the police in Karlskrona, he had become 
aware that the Security Police had been inter-
ested in him; he therefore wished “to read [his] 
file and all other documents at [their] disposal 
where [his] name might occur”. In addition, the 
second applicant made a similar request in re-
spect of his recently deceased father, in accord-
ance with the latter’s wishes.

In a decision of 11 November 1999, the Securi-
ty Police allowed the applicant’s request in part 
by replying that his father did not appear in any 
files or entries in the register and rejected the 
remainder of his request. It stated:
“As from 1 April 1999 the treatment of per-
sonal databy the Security Policeof the kind
referredtoinyourrequestisgovernedinthe
firstplacebythePoliceDataAct(1998:622).

AccordingtoChapter5,section1(2),oftheSe-
crecyAct(1980:100),secrecyappliestoinfor-
mationrelatingtoundercoveractivitiesunder
section 3 of the PoliceData Act or that oth-
erwise fallswithin the Security Police’s remit
inpreventingor revealingcrimescommitted
againstthesecurityoftheRealmorinprevent-
ingterrorism,ifitisnotclearthattheinforma-
tion may be imparted without jeopardising
the purpose of the decision or measures
plannedorwithoutharm to futureactivities.
The impliedstarting-point is thatsecrecyap-
pliesasthemainruleirrespectiveofwhether
theinformation,forexample,appearsinafile



557CASEOFSEGERSTEDT-WIBERGANDOTHERSVSWEDEN

EC
J

EC
HR

oremanatesfromapreliminary investigation
orundercoveractivities.

In thepreparatorywork for the relevantpro-
visionoftheSecrecyAct(prop.1997/98:97,p.
68), it is stated that even information about
whether a person is mentioned in a secret
intelligence register should be classified in
accordancewithChapter 5, section 1, of the
Secrecy Act. It is further stated that in view
of thenatureofundercoveractivitiesonly in
specialcircumstancescantherebeaquestion
ofdisclosinginformation.Iftherearenosuch
circumstances,thegovernmentassumeinac-
cordancewiththepreparatoryworkthateven
theinformationthatapersonisnotregistered
isclassifiedassecretundertheAct.

In the present case the Security Police con-
siderthat...thefactthatyourfatherwasborn
in1920andhasrecentlypassedawaysatisfies
the kind of conditions in which information
can be disclosed that a person is not regis-
tered.

Insofarasyourrequestconcernsyourself,itis
rejectedforthereasonsgivenintheprepara-
torywork and the relevant provisions of the
SecrecyAct.”

According to the applicant, the above reasons 
given for the rejection of the request made for 
access to his own records were identical to 
those given in all other rejection cases.

18. In their pleadings to the Court, the Govern-
ment stated that at the time of the Security 
Police’s decision on 11 November 1999 it had 
not been possible to find the file owing to the 
fact that the second applicant had not been 
the subject of a personal record in connection 
with the report in issue.

19. On 25 November 1999 the second applicant 
appealed to the Administrative Court of Ap-
peal in Stockholm, requesting authorisation 
to view his file and all other entries made on 
him by the Security Police. He relied on certain 
written evidence to the effect that he had been 
mentioned in the records of the Security Police, 
notably on the cover page and page 7 of a se-
cret report dating back to the third quarter of 
1967 and emanating from Section (byrå) A of 
the Security Police, that had been released by 
the Karlskrona police shortly beforehand. The 
report was entitled “Presentation on commu-
nist and Nazi activities in Sweden from July to 
September 1967”. Page 7 contained the follow-
ing statement:
“On 18-20 September a meeting was held

within the DUV [Demokratisk Ungdoms
Världsfederation–WorldFederationofDemo-
cratic Youth] in Warsaw. A youngster, prob-
ably[identifiableas]MrPerRuneNygrenfrom
Örebro, participated as a representative for
the VUF [Världsungdomsfestivalen – World
YouthFestival].”

The second applicant requested, in particular, 
access to the quarterly reports for the years 
1969-98 and information regarding the au-
thorities to which those reports had been com-
municated. He stressed that since he had never 
been convicted, charged or notified of any sus-
picion of crime and had never taken part in any 
illegal, subversive or terrorist activity, refusing 
him full access to the files could not be justi-
fied. The wishes of the Security Police to main-
tain secrecy about their work should have been 
balanced against his interest in clarifying the 
extent of the violation that he had suffered, not 
only through their collection of information 
about him but also through their disclosure of 
such information.

20. In accordance with standard procedure, the 
appeal was brought to the attention of the Se-
curity Police, who then decided, on 20 Decem-
ber 1999, to release the same two pages of the 
1967 report referred to above, while maintain-
ing their refusal regarding the remainder of the 
second applicant’s initial request. The reasons 
given were largely the same as in the first deci-
sion, with the following addition:
“In the Security Police archives there are a
number of documents which contain infor-
mation both about different subject matter
andindividuals.Thefactthatsuchdocuments
exist in the Security Police’s archives does
not mean that all information in the docu-
mentsisregisteredandthereforesearchable.
Informationwhich is not registered canonly
be retrieved if details have been submitted
aboutthedocumentinwhichtheinformation
iscontained.Sinceyouprovideduswithsuch
details,itwaspossibleforustofindthedocu-
mentyouaskedforinyourrequest.”

After receipt of the above decision, the second 
applicant had a telephone conversation with 
Ms Therese Mattsson, an officer of the Secu-
rity Police (who had signed the decision of 27 
April 1998). According to the applicant, she ex-
plained that, when dealing with requests such 
as his, only documents that were searchable 
by computer would be verified, which was the 
reason why the initial request had been reject-
ed in its entirety and access had been granted 
to the two pages of the 1967 report.
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21. In his appeal to the Administrative Court of Ap-
peal, the applicant pointed out that from the 
above telephone conversation it emerged, 
firstly, that since 1969 several hundred thou-
sand personal files in the Security Police’s 
register had been destroyed. Secondly, infor-
mation about persons whose files had been 
erased could still be found in the Security Po-
lice’s archives but could not be searched under 
names or personal identity numbers. Thirdly, 
the so-called destruction lists, comprising 
several hundred thousand names, was all that 
remained of the erased files. The second appli-
cant complained that the Security Police had 
failed to search those lists (assuming that the 
files no longer existed).

On 14 February 2000 the Administrative Court 
of Appeal dismissed the appeal in its entirety, 
giving essentially the same reasons as the Se-
curity Police, with the following further consid-
erations:

“In connectionwith the introductionof [sec-
tion3ofthePoliceDataAct],thegovernment
statedthateventheinformationthataperson
isnotregisteredbytheSecurityPoliceissuch
that it should be possible to keep it secret
under the said provision (prop. 1997/98:97,
p.68).Accordingto thegovernmentbill, the
reason is the following. A personwho is en-
gaged in criminal activitymayhavea strong
interest in knowingwhether thepolicehave
informationabouthimorher. In suchacase
itcouldbehighlyprejudicialtotheinvestiga-
tionforthepersonconcernedtobeinformed
whetherornotheorshe isof interesttothe
police.Itisthereforeimportantforadecision
onarequestforinformationfromtheregister
not to have to give information onwhether
thepersonappearsintheregisterornot.The
natureofsecretintelligenceissuchthatthere
canonlybedisclosureof information inspe-
cialcases.

TheAdministrativeCourtofAppealfindsthat
it is not clear that information, beyond that
which emerges from the disclosed docu-
ments,aboutwhether[thesecondapplicant]
hasbeenthesubjectofanysecretpoliceactiv-
ityfallingunderChapter5,section1(2),ofthe
SecrecyActcanbedisclosedwithoutjeopard-
isingthepurposeofmeasurestakenorantici-
patedorwithoutharmingfutureoperations.”

22. On 25 July 2000 the Supreme Administrative 
Court refused the second applicant leave to 

appeal.

C. The third applicant, Mr Staffan Ehnebom
23. The third applicant has been a member of the 

KPML(r) (Kommu-nistiska Partiet Marxist-Len-
inisterna – Marxist-Leninist (revolutionaries) 
Party, established in 1970) since 1978. He is an 
engineer, and since 1976 has been employed 
by the Ericsson Group.

24. On 10 April 1999, after the absolute secrecy re-
quirement applying to information held in the 
records of the Security Police had been lifted 
on 1 April 1999, the third applicant submitted 
a request to the Security Police to see all files 
that might exist on him. By a decision dated 17 
November 1999, the Security Police granted 
him access to thirty pages, two of which could 
only be read on the Security Police’s premises 
and could not be copied by technical means. 
Copies of the twenty-eight remaining pages 
were sent to his home. Twenty-five of these 
consisted of the decision by the Parliamen-
tary Ombudsperson concerning the above-
mentioned matter and the three remaining 
pages were copies of press articles, two deal-
ing with the applicant and a third, not men-
tioning him, consisting of a notice from the 
paper Proletären about a forthcoming 1993 
KPML(r) party congress. Thus, all of the said 
twenty-five pages contained publicly available, 
not classified, material. The two pages which 
the third applicant was permitted to see on 
the Security Police’s premises consisted of two 
security checks concerning him dating from 
1980. These were copies of forms used by the 
FMV (the Försvarets Materialverk, an authority 
responsible for procuring equipment for the 
Swedish Army, and with whom the Ericsson 
Group worked) to request a personnel check 
(now known as a register check) concerning 
the third applicant. The registered information 
contained the following text in full:
“In September 1979 it was revealed that
[the third applicant]was/is amemberof the
FrölundacelloftheKPML(r)inGothenburg.At
thistimehewasincontactwithleadingmem-
bersoftheKPML(r)regardingapartymeeting
intheFrölundatownsquare.”

25. The third applicant submitted that the above 
information about his membership of the 
KPML(r) was the real reason for the FMV’s de-
mand that he be removed from his post, al-
though every authority involved would deny 
this. He pointed out that the KPML(r) was a 
registered and lawful political party that took 
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part in elections.

26. On 24 November 1999 the third applicant ap-
pealed against the decision of the Security 
Police to the Administrative Court of Appeal, 
maintaining his request to see all the material 
that the Security Police might have on him. He 
disputed, inter alia, that the material released 
to him revealed that he constituted a security 
risk. In a judgment of 14 February 2000, the 
Administrative Court of Appeal rejected his re-
quest, giving the same type of reasons as in the 
cases of the first and second applicants.

27. On 13 April 2000 the Supreme Administrative 
Court refused the third applicant leave to ap-
peal.

D. The fourth applicant, Mr Bengt frejd
28. The fourth applicant has been a member of 

the KPML(r) since 1972, and the Chairman of 
Proletären FF, a sports club which has about 
900 members, since 1974. He is renowned 
within sporting circles in Sweden and has ac-
tively worked with children and young people 
in sport, both nationally and internationally, to 
foster international solidarity and facilitate so-
cial integration through sport.

29. On 23 January 1999 the fourth applicant re-
quested access to information about him con-
tained in the Security Police register, which 
he suspected had been entered because of 
his political opinions. On 4 February 1999 the 
Security Police rejected his request under the 
rules on absolute secrecy.

30. The fourth applicant renewed his request after 
the abolition of the rule on 1 April 1999. On 8 
February 2000 the Security Police granted the 
fourth applicant permission to see parts of his 
file.

This comprised, firstly, fifty-seven pages of pa-
per cuttings and various information concern-
ing him and other athletes and sports leaders, 
their participation in conferences, meetings 
and tournaments, and about sport and the 
promotion of social integration through sport, 
particularly involving international exchanges 
and solidarity in cooperation with the African 
National Congress in South Africa. There was 
information about a much publicised sports 
project in 1995, where representatives of sever-
al sports such as basketball, football and hand-
ball had left Sweden for South Africa with the 
aim of helping young people in black town-
ships. A number of people from within the 

Swedish sports movement whom the fourth 
applicant had met, many of whom had no con-
nection with any political organisations, had 
been mentioned in his file. These included, for 
example, a prominent sports leader, Mr Stefan 
Albrechtson, who had himself been subjected 
to Security Police surveillance.

The file further included a number of items 
dealing with sports organisations and events, 
such as an appeal (in the file from as late as 
1993) from all the sports clubs in Gothenburg 
demanding lower fees for the use of sports 
fields, a document with the names of some 
one hundred people, including that of the 
fourth applicant, and in some instances their 
telephone numbers. A list of the participants at 
a spring meeting of the Gothenburg Handball 
League could also be found.

In addition to the above material, on 28 Febru-
ary 1999 the fourth applicant was granted ac-
cess to two pages from his file, provided that 
they were read on the Security Police’s prem-
ises and not reproduced by technical means. 
The pages contained the following informa-
tion:
“1January1973.F.isamemberoftheKPML(r)
andhasbeenworkingactivelyforsixmonths.
HeisresponsibleforpropagandaintheHögs-
bo-Järnbrott group of the KPML(r), 4 March
1975. According to an article in Göteborgs
Tidningenof4March1975,F.istheChairman
of Proletären FF, 9 June 1977. According to
anarticle inStadsdelsnytt/Väster,F. isoneof
theleadersoftheyouthsectionofProletären
FF,6September1979.F.isnumber19onthe
KPML(r) ballot for themunicipal elections in
the fourth constituency of Gothenburg. Not
elected.”

31. On 1 March 2000 the fourth applicant appealed 
to the Administrative Court of Appeal against 
the decision of the Security Police, requesting 
to see his file in its entirety and all other records 
that might have been entered concerning him. 
He disputed the Security Police’s right to store 
the information that had already been released 
to him, and stressed that none of it justified 
considering him a security risk.

On 12 May 2000 the Administrative Court of 
Appeal rejected the fourth applicant’s appeal, 
basically on the same grounds as those stated 
in the judgments pertaining to the first, second 
and third applicants.

32. On 29 August 2000 the Supreme Administra-
tive Court refused the fourth applicant leave to 
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appeal.

E. The fifth applicant, Mr Herman Schmid
33. The fifth applicant was a member of the Euro-

pean Parliament from 1999 to 2004, belong-
ing to the GUE/NGL Group and sitting for the 
Swedish Left Party (Vänsterpartiet).

34. On 9 December 1997 the fifth applicant filed 
a request with the Ministry of Defence to have 
access to the data files and all entries about 
him that may have been made in the Secu-
rity Police registers. On 20 January 1998 the 
Ministry of Defence informed him that the 
request had been transmitted to the Defence 
Authority (Försvarsmakten) for decision. On 
the same date the fifth applicant was informed 
of another government decision to lift secrecy 
regarding certain information contained in an 
attachment B to a report entitled “The Military 
Intelligence Service, Part 2” (Den militära un-
derrättelsetjänsten. Del 2). In this research doc-
ument, which had previously been released to 
two journalists, it was stated:
“One document ... contains the information
thatamongtheteachers listed intheMalmö
ABF[ArbetarnasBildningsförbund–Workers’
Association of Education] study programme
for the autumn of 1968 are sociologists
SchmidandKarinAdamek. Itwasstatedthat
bothofthemhadpreviouslybeenreportedin
differentcontexts.”

On 19 March 1998 the National Police Author-
ity sent a duplicate letter to the fifth applicant 
and an unknown number of others, announc-
ing that their requests for access to registered 
information had been rejected.

35. On 29 October 1999 the Security Police took a 
new decision, granting the fifth applicant ac-
cess to “eight pages from the Security Police 
archives with the exception of information 
regarding Security Police staff and ... internal 
classifications”, on the condition that the docu-
ments be consulted on the Security Police’s 
premises and not copied by technical means. 
As far as all other information was concerned, 
the initial rejection of his request remained, 
with the following standard reasoning:
“Allinformationaboutwhetherornotyouare
reported in other security cases filed by the
SecurityPoliceissubjecttosecrecyaccording
toChapter5,section1(2),oftheSecrecyAct.
Thus, such information cannot be released
without jeopardising the purpose of actions
takenorplanned,orwithoutdetrimenttofu-

tureactivity.”

On the above-mentioned date the fifth appli-
cant went to the police headquarters in Malmö 
in order to have access to the eight pages in 
question. While under surveillance, he read out 
loud the text on each page and tape-recorded 
himself, for later transcription. According to a 
transcript provided by the applicant, the en-
tries bore various dates between 18 January 
1963 and 21 October 1975.

The above-mentioned entries concerned 
mostly political matters such as participation 
in a campaign for nuclear disarmament and 
general peace-movement activities, including 
public demonstrations and activities related to 
membership of the Social Democratic Student 
Association. According to one entry dated 12 
May 1969, the fifth applicant had extreme left-
wing leanings and had stated that during dem-
onstrations one should proceed with guerrilla 
tactics in small groups and if necessary use vio-
lence in order to stage the demonstration and 
achieve its goals. There were also some notes 
about job applications he had made for uni-
versity posts and a report he had given to the 
Norwegian police with his comments in con-
nection with the murder of a Moroccan citizen, 
Mr Bouchiki, in Lillehammer on 21 July 1973. 
Finally, the documents contained entries on 
the opening of a boarding school for adults 
(folkhögskola) in 1984 in which the fifth appli-
cant had played a major role.

The fifth applicant, for his part, challenged the 
allegation that he had advocated violence, say-
ing that it was totally against his principles and 
emphasising that since 1960 he had been ac-
tive in the peace movement in Skåne and was a 
well-known pacifist who had been imprisoned 
three times on account of his conscientious 
objection to military service.

36. On 29 November 1999 the applicant appealed 
to the Administrative Court of Appeal against 
the Security Police’s refusal to give him access 
to all the information about him registered in 
their archives. He disputed their right to store 
the information to which he had had access. 
The appeal was dismissed by a judgment of 15 
May 2000 on the same grounds as those given 
to the other applicants in the present case.

37. On 27 June 2000 the Supreme Administrative 
Court refused the fifth applicant leave to ap-
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peal.

f. Particulars of the KPML(r) party 
programme

38. Clause 1 of the KPML(r) party programme 
states that the party is a revolutionary workers’ 
party whose goal is the complete transforma-
tion of existing society. Clause 4 affirms that 
the power of the bourgeoisie in society is pro-
tected by the State and rests ultimately on its 
organs of violence, such as the police, armed 
forces, courts and jails, supplemented to some 
extent by private security companies. Clause 
22 provides that the socialist transformation of 
society has to take place contrary to the laws 
and regulations of bourgeois society, and that 
for a transitional period a revolutionary dicta-
torship of the working class will be established. 
Clause 23 states that the forms of the socialist 
revolution are determined by the prevailing 
concrete conditions but that the bourgeoisie 
will use any means available to prevent the 
establishment of real people’s power, and the 
revolutionary forces must therefore prepare 
themselves for an armed struggle. According 
to Clause 28, socialist democracy does not 
make any distinction between economic and 
political power, or between judicial and execu-
tive power, but subjects all social functions to 
the influence of the working people.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

39. Domestic provisions of relevance to the pre-
sent case are found in a number of instru-
ments. Certain constitutional provisions 
regarding freedom of opinion, expression 
and association found in the Instrument of 
Government (regeringsformen) provide the 
starting-point. This is also the case with regard 
to the principle of free access to official docu-
ments enshrined in the Freedom of the Press 
Ordinance (tryckfrihetsförordningen) and the 
restrictions on that freedom imposed by the 
Secrecy Act (sekretesslagen, 1980:100). The 
Security Police’s handling of personal informa-
tion is regulated by the Police Data Act (polis-
datalagen, 1998:622, which came into force 
on 1 April 1999), the Police Data Ordinance 
(polisdataförordningen, 1999:81, which also 
came into force on 1 April 1999), the Personal 
Data Act (personuppgiftslagen, 1998:204) and 
the Personal Data Ordinance (personuppgifts-

förordningen, 1998:1191).

A. Constitutional guarantees
40.  Chapter 2, section 1(1), of the Instrument of 

Government (“the Constitution”) guarantees 
the freedom to form opinions, the right to ex-
press them and the right to join others in the 
expression of such opinions. The freedoms and 
rights referred to in Chapter 2, section 1(1), may 
be restricted by law to the extent provided for 
in sections 13 to 16. Restrictions may only be 
imposed to achieve a purpose which is accept-
able in a democratic society. A restriction may 
never exceed what is necessary having regard 
to its purpose, nor may it be so onerous as to 
constitute a threat to the free expression of 
opinion, which is one of the foundations of 
democracy. No restriction may be imposed 
solely on grounds of political, religious, cultural 
or other such opinions (Chapter 2, section 12).

41. According to Chapter 2, section 13, freedom 
of expression may be restricted, for instance, 
“having regard to the security of the Realm”. 
However, the second paragraph of the latter 
provision states that “[i]n judging what re-
straints may be imposed by virtue of the pre-
ceding paragraph, particular regard shall be 
had to the importance of the widest possible 
freedom of expression and freedom of infor-
mation in political, religious, professional, sci-
entific and cultural matters”. The term “security 
of the Realm” covers both external and internal 
security.

42. With regard to freedom of association, fewer 
limitations are provided for. It follows from 
Chapter 2, section 14, that it may be restricted 
“only in respect of organisations whose activi-
ties are of a military or quasi-military nature, or 
which involve the persecution of a population 
group of a particular race, skin colour or ethnic 
origin”.

43.  Chapter 2, section 3, provides that no entry 
regarding a citizen in a public register may be 
based, without his or her consent, exclusively 
on that person’s political opinion. The prohibi-
tion is absolute.

44. Under Chapter 2, section 2, of the Freedom of 
the Press Ordinance, everyone is entitled to 
have access to official documents unless, with-
in defined areas, such access is limited by law.

B. Security intelligence
45. The Security Police form part of the National 

Police Board (Rikspolisstyrelsen). The Security 
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Police are engaged in four major fields of ac-
tivity. Three of them – the upholding of the 
Constitution, counter-espionage and counter-
terrorism – fall under the common heading of 
security intelligence. The fourth area concerns 
security protection.

1.Legalbasisforregistration
46. The legal basis for the register kept by the Se-

curity Police before 1999 has been described 
in Leander v. Sweden (26 March 1987, §§ 19-
22, Series A no. 116). For the period thereafter 
the matter is governed by the 1999 Police Data 
Act and Police Data Ordinance. The Police Data 
Act is a lex specialis in relation to the 1998 Per-
sonal Data Act. The Security Police’s own rules 
of procedure (arbetsordning), which are not 
public in their entirety, contain more detailed 
rules on the registration and use of personal 
information.

47. Section 5 of the Police Data Act (under the 
heading “Processing of sensitive personal 
data”) provides:

“Personal informationmaynotbeprocessed
merelyonthegroundofwhatisknownabout
the person’s race or ethnic origin, political
opinions, religious or philosophical convic-
tion,membershipofa tradeunion,healthor
sexualorientation.

Ifpersonalinformationisprocessedonanoth-
erground,theinformationmaybecompleted
withsuchparticularsasarementionedinthe
firstparagraphifitisstrictlynecessaryforthe
purposesoftheprocessing.”

48. Section 32 reads:

“The Security Police shall keep a register
[SÄPO-registret]forthepurposesof:

1. facilitating investigations undertaken in
order topreventanduncovercrimesagainst
nationalsecurity;

2.facilitatinginvestigationsundertakeninor-
dertocombatterroristoffencesundersection
2oftheAct;or

3.providingabasisforsecuritychecksunder
the Security Protection Act [säkerhetssky-
ddslagen, 1996:627]. The Security Police are
responsible [personuppgiftsansvarig] for the
processingofpersonaldataintheregister.”

49. Section 33 of the Act provides:

“The Security Police’s register may contain
personalinformationonlyif:

1.Thepersonconcernedbytheinformationis
suspectedofhavingengagedinorofintend-
ingtoengage incriminalactivity thatentails
a threat tonational security or a terrorist of-
fence;

2. The person concerned has undergone a
security check under the Security Protection
Act;or

3.Consideringthepurposeforwhichthereg-
ister is kept, there are other special reasons
therefor.

Theregistershallindicatethegroundsfordata
entry.Thegovernmentmaylaydownfurther
regulations on the typeof data thatmaybe
entered(Act2003:157).”

The scope of the expression “special reasons” 
in sub-paragraph 3 of section 33 of the Police 
Data Act is commented on in the preparatory 
work in respect of that legislation (Government 
Bill 1997/98:97, pp. 153-54 and pp. 177-78), 
where the following points are made in par-
ticular. In order to enable the Security Police 
to perform the tasks assigned to them by the 
relevant legislation, it could in certain cases 
be deemed necessary to register persons also 
for reasons other than those laid down in sub-
paragraphs 1 and 2 of section 33: for instance, 
persons who are connected with other persons 
registered under sub-paragraphs 1 and 2 of 
section 33; persons who could be the targets of 
threats; and persons who could be the object 
of recruitment attempts by foreign intelligence 
services. In order for the Security Police to be 
able to prevent and uncover crimes against 
national security, it was necessary to survey 
and identify potential threats and recruitment 
attempts. It should also be possible for the Se-
curity Police to identify links between persons 
who move to Sweden after participating in 
oppositional activities in their home countries. 
Moreover, it should be possible for the Security 
Police to register information about persons 
who have been smuggled into Sweden on 
assignment from foreign non-democratic re-
gimes with the task of collecting information 
concerning fellow countrymen. There was a 
need to update information concerning such 
informers continuously. Also, information con-
cerning contacts with foreign missions in Swe-
den was relevant in this context.

The Government stated that the fact that an 
individual’s name had been included in the 
register did not necessarily mean that he or 
she was suspected of an offence or other in-
criminating activities. Other than the examples 
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already mentioned above from the prepara-
tory work, the Government gave the following 
illustrations:

he or she is in contact with someone suspect-
ed of a crime;

• he or she is in contact with personnel from 
a foreign mission;

• he or she has attracted the attention of a 
foreign intelligence service or is used by 
such a service;

• he or she is active in a circle that has attract-
ed the attention of a foreign intelligence 
service;

• he or she is used by an organisation whose 
activities are the subject of an investigation 
regarding threats to security;

• he or she is the referee of a foreign citizen 
seeking a visa;

• he or she has contacted the Security Police 
and provided information;

• he or she is contacted by the Security Po-
lice.

The Government stated that information in re-
spect of the person in question may be needed 
in order to determine the interests of an entity 
(State, organisational or individual) constitut-
ing a threat to Swedish security, and the extent 
and development of that threat.

50. Section 34 of the Police Data Act provides:
“TheSecurityPoliceregistermayonlycontain:

–informationforidentification;

–informationonthegroundsforregistration;
and

– references to the files where information
concerning the registered person can be
found.”

51. Under section 3 of the Personal Data Act, the 
treatment of personal information includes 
every operation or series of operations car-
ried out with respect to personal information, 
whether automatic or manual. Examples of 
such treatment are the gathering, entry, col-
lation, storage, processing, use, release and 
destruction of personal information. Personal 
information is defined by the same provision 
as all kinds of information that relate directly 
or indirectly to a physical, living person. The 
Personal Data Act applies to the processing of 

personal information that is wholly or partially 
automated. It also applies to all other process-
ing of personal data if the information is or is 
intended to be part of a structured collection 
of personal information that can be accessed 
by means of a search or compilation according 
to certain criteria (section 5).

2.Registrationandfiling
52. Documents that contain information are col-

lected in files. Depending on its content, a doc-
ument may, when necessary, either be placed 
in a file on a certain individual – a personal file 
(personakt) – or in a so-called thematic file 
(sakakt). It may also be added to both kinds of 
files.

53. A thematic registration is done, and a thematic 
file opened, whenever there is a need to collect 
and compile documents systematically. The 
documents may concern a matter or a subject 
that the Security Police have a duty to super-
vise or cover, or on which the Security Police 
need to have access to relevant information for 
any other reason. A thematic file may be start-
ed in order to collect documents that concern 
the relations between States and organisa-
tions. It may also be started in order to collect a 
certain type of document, for instance a series 
of reports. It should be observed that thematic 
registration as such does not mean that names 
are entered into the Security Police’s register, 
even though names may be found in the doc-
uments of a thematic file. Thus, a search for a 
person who has been mentioned in a thematic 
file cannot be done unless, for independent 
reasons, that person has also been registered 
in a personal file. Moreover, the name of a per-
son who has been registered personally may 
occur in a thematic file but may still not show 
up in a search for the name in the latter file if, 
for instance, the name in the thematic file lacks 
relevance for the Security Police.

3.Correctionanddestructionofregistered
information

54. The Data Inspection Board (Datainspektionen) 
monitors compliance with the Personal Data 
Act (unlike the Records Board which super-
vises the Security Police’s compliance with the 
Police Data Act). The Data Inspection Board is 
empowered to deal with individual complaints 
and, if it finds that personal information is not 
processed in accordance with the Personal 
Data Act, it is required to call attention to the 
fact and request that the situation be cor-
rected. If the situation remains unchanged, the 
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Board has the power to prohibit, on pain of a 
fine (vite), the person responsible for the regis-
ter from continuing to process the information 
in any other way than by storing it (section 45 
of the Personal Data Act).

55. The Data Inspection Board may request a coun-
ty administrative court to order the erasure of 
personal information that has been processed 
in an unlawful manner (section 47 of the Act).

4.Removalofregisteredinformation
56. Registered information in respect of an indi-

vidual suspected of committing or of being li-
able to commit criminal activities that threaten 
national security or a terrorist offence, shall 
as a rule be removed no later than ten years 
after the last entry of information concerning 
that person was made (section 35 of the Po-
lice Data Act). The same applies to information 
that has been included in the register for other 
special reasons connected with the purpose of 
the register. The information may be kept for a 
longer period if justified by particular reasons. 
More detailed rules concerning the removal of 
information are to be found in the regulations 
and decisions issued by the National Archives 
(Riksarkivet) and in the Security Police’s own 
rules of procedure. All documents removed by 
the Security Police are transferred to the Na-
tional Archives.

C. Access to official documents
57. The limitations on access in this particular 

field before 1 April 1999 have been described 
in detail in Leander (cited above, §§ 41-43). 
With regard to access to information kept by 
the Security Police, absolute secrecy was thus 
the principal rule prior to 1 April 1999. The 
only exceptions made were for the benefit of 
researchers. From 1 July 1996 it was also pos-
sible to allow exemptions (dispens) if the gov-
ernment held the view that there were extraor-
dinary reasons for an exemption to be made 
from the main rule of absolute secrecy.

58. The absolute secrecy of files kept exclusively 
by the Security Police was abolished by an 
amendment to Chapter 5, section 1(2), of the 
Secrecy Act, made at the same time as the Po-
lice Data Act came into force on 1 April 1999. 
According to the amended provision, infor-
mation concerning the Security Police’s intel-
ligence activities referred to in section 3 of the 
Police Data Act, or that otherwise concerns the 
Security Police’s activities for the prevention 
and investigation of crimes against national 

security, or to prevent terrorism, was to be 
kept secret. However, if it was evident that the 
information could be revealed without detri-
ment to the aim of measures that had already 
been decided upon or that were anticipated, 
or without harm to future activities, the infor-
mation should be disclosed. When submitting 
the relevant bill to Parliament, the government 
stressed that the nature of the intelligence ser-
vice was such that information could only be 
disclosed in special cases. They presumed that 
in other cases the fact that a person was not 
registered would also remain secret (Govern-
ment Bill 1997/98:97, p. 68).

A fourth subsection was added to section 1 of 
Chapter 5 on 1 March 2003, under which a per-
son may upon request be informed of whether 
or not he or she can be found in the Security 
Police’s files as a consequence of registration in 
accordance with the Personnel Security Check 
Ordinance that was in force until 1 July 1996 
or corresponding older regulations. However, 
the government was still of the view that there 
were in principle no reasons for the Security 
Police to reveal whether or not there was any 
information concerning an individual in their 
files and registers:
“The Government acknowledge that it may
appearunsatisfactorynot tobegivenaclear
answerfromtheSecurityPoliceastowhether
anindividualisregisteredintheirfilesornot.
Thereare,however, valid reasons for theSe-
curity Police not to disclose in certain cases
whether a person appears in Security Police
records. Thispointof viewwas also taken in
thepreparatoryworkon thePoliceDataAct
(GovernmentBill 1997/98:97,p.68),where it
wasstatedthatapersonlinkedtocriminalac-
tivitiesmayhaveastronginterestinknowing
whether thepolice have any information re-
gardinghimorher.Insuchacase,itcouldbe
verydamaging foran investigation if itwere
revealedtothepersoninquestioneitherthat
heorshewasofinteresttothepoliceorthat
heorshewasnot.Itisthereforeessentialthat
theinformationwhetherapersonappears[in
thefiles]ornotmaybekeptsecret.”(Govern-
mentBill2001/02:191,pp.90-91)

59. The Security Police apply the Secrecy Act di-
rectly. There are thus no internal regulations 
that deal with the issue of access to official 
documents since that would be in breach of 
the Secrecy Act. Under Chapter 5, section 1(2), 
of the Secrecy Act, there is a presumption of 
secrecy, meaning that whenever it is uncertain 
whether the disclosure of information in an of-
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ficial document is harmful or not, such informa-
tion shall not be disclosed.

60. A request for access to official documents kept 
by the Security Police gives rise to a search to 
ascertain whether or not the person in ques-
tion appears in the files. If there is no informa-
tion, the person who has made the request is 
not informed thereof and the request is reject-
ed. A few exceptions have been made from this 
practice in cases where the person concerned 
has died and the request has been made by 
his or her children (as in the second applicant’s 
case). However, if information is found, the Se-
curity Police make an assessment of whether 
or not all or part of it can be disclosed. It is not 
indicated whether the disclosed information is 
all that exists in the files.

61. The Government have stated that it was stand-
ard practice for the Administrative Court of Ap-
peal to go to the Security Police and take part 
of their files – if any – in every case that had 
been brought to it. The three judges examined 
all the documents and made an assessment of 
every document that had not been released to 
the appellant. If the appellant did not appear in 
the register and files of the Security Police, the 
court obtained part of a computer print-out 
showing that the appellant did not appear in 
the documents kept by the Security Police.

D. Review bodies
1.TheRecordsBoard

62. The Records Board (Registernämnden) was es-
tablished in 1996 and replaced the National Po-
lice Board (described in paragraphs 19 to 34 of 
the above-mentioned Leander judgment). It is 
entrusted with the task of determining wheth-
er information kept by the Security Police may 
be disclosed in security checks, to monitor the 
Security Police’s registration and storage of in-
formation and their compliance with the Police 
Data Act, in particular section 5 (see section 1 
of the Ordinance prescribing instructions for 
the Records Board – förordningen med instruk-
tion för Registernämnden, 1996:730). In order 
to carry out its supervisory function, the Board 
is entitled to have access to information held 
by the Security Police (section 11). It presents 
an annual report to the government on its ac-
tivities (section 6). The report is made public.

Under sections 2 and 13 of the Ordinance pre-
scribing instructions for the Records Board, 
the Board consists of a maximum of eight 
members, including a chairperson and a vice-

chairperson, all appointed by the government 
for a fixed term. The chairperson and the vice-
chairperson have to be or to have been perma-
nent judges. The remaining members include 
parliamentarians. The Records Board’s inde-
pendence is guaranteed by, inter alia, Chapter 
11, section 7, of the Constitution, from which it 
follows that neither Parliament nor the govern-
ment nor any other public authority may inter-
fere with the manner in which the Board deals 
with a particular case.

2.TheDataInspectionBoard
63. Under section 1 of the Ordinance prescrib-

ing instructions for the Data Inspection Board 
(1998:1192), the Board’s main task is to protect 
individuals from violations of their personal 
integrity through the processing of personal 
data. The Board is competent to receive com-
plaints from individuals. Its independence is 
guaranteed, inter alia, by Chapter 11, section 7, 
of the Constitution.

64. In order to carry out its monitoring function, 
the Data Inspection Board is entitled to have 
access to the personal data that is being pro-
cessed, to receive relevant additional infor-
mation and documentation pertaining to the 
processing of personal data and to the safety 
measures in respect of the processing and, 
moreover, to have access to the premises 
where the processing takes place (section 43 
of the Personal Data Act).

The Board’s powers in relation to the correc-
tion and erasure of registered data are summa-
rised in paragraphs 55 and 56 above.

65. A personal data representative (personuppgift-
sombud) has been appointed within the Se-
curity Police with the function of ensuring in-
dependently that the personal data controller 
processes personal data in a lawful and correct 
manner and in accordance with good practice, 
and of pointing out any shortcomings. If the 
representative has reason to suspect that the 
controller has contravened the provisions on 
the processing of personal data, and if the situ-
ation is not rectified as soon as is practicable af-
ter being pointed out, the representative shall 
notify the Data Inspection Board (section 38(1) 
and (2) of the Personal Data Act).

3.Otherreviewbodies
66. The Security Police, the Records Board and the 

Data Inspection Board and their activities come 
under the supervision of the Parliamentary 
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Ombudspersons and the Chancellor of Justice. 
Their functions and powers are described in Le-
ander (cited above, §§ 36-39).

67. Unlike the Parliamentary Ombudspersons, the 
Chancellor of Justice may award compensation 
in response to a claim from an individual that a 
public authority has taken a wrongful decision 
or omitted to take a decision. This power of the 
Chancellor of Justice is laid down in the Ordi-
nance concerning the administration of claims 
for damages against the State (förordningen 
om handläggning av skadeståndsanspråk mot 
staten, 1995:1301). The Chancellor may exam-
ine claims under several provisions of the Tort 
Liability Act (skadeståndslagen, 1972:207), no-
tably Chapter 3, section 2, pursuant to which 
the State shall be liable to pay compensation 
for financial loss caused by a wrongful act or 
omission in connection with the exercise of 
public authority. Compensation for non-pe-
cuniary damage may be awarded in connec-
tion with the infliction of personal injury or the 
commission of certain crimes, such as defama-
tion (Chapter 5, section 1, and Chapter 1, sec-
tion 3).

A decision by the Chancellor of Justice to re-
ject a claim for damages in full or in part may 
not be appealed against. The individual may, 
however, institute civil proceedings against 
the State before a district court, with the pos-
sibility of appealing to a higher court. In the al-
ternative, such proceedings may be instituted 
immediately without any previous decision by 
the Chancellor. Before the courts, the State is 
represented by the Chancellor.

68. Under section 48 of the Personal Data Act, a 
person responsible for a register shall pay com-
pensation to a data subject for any damage or 
injury to personal integrity caused by the pro-
cessing of personal data in breach of the Act.

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
8 OF THE CONVENTION

69. The relevant parts of Article 8 of the Conven-
tion read as follows:
“1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
private...life...

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept

such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
estsofnationalsecurity...[or]forthepreven-
tionofdisorderorcrime...”

A. Storage of the information that had been 
released to the applicants

70. Under Article 8 of the Convention, the appli-
cants complained that the storage in the Se-
curity Police files of the information that had 
been released to them constituted unjustified 
interference with their right to respect for pri-
vate life.

1.ApplicabilityofArticle8
71. The Government questioned whether the in-

formation released to the applicants could be 
said to fall within the scope of the notion of pri-
vate life for the purposes of Article 8 § 1. They 
stressed that the information that had been 
released to the first applicant did not concern 
her own activities but the activities of other 
persons, namely those responsible for the let-
ter bombs that had been sent to her and oth-
ers. The information kept on the other appli-
cants that was subsequently released to them 
appeared to a large extent to have emanated 
from open sources, such as observations made 
in connection with their public activities (the 
second applicant’s participation in a meeting 
abroad and the fifth applicant’s participation 
in a demonstration in Stockholm). In addition, 
the bulk of the information was already in the 
public domain since it consisted of newspaper 
articles (the third, fourth and fifth applicants), 
radio programmes (the fifth applicant) or of 
decisions by public authorities (decision by the 
Parliamentary Ombudspersons with regard to 
the third applicant). None of them had alleged 
that the released information was false or in-
correct.

72. The Court, having regard to the scope of the 
notion of “private life” as interpreted in its case-
law (see, in particular, Amann v. Switzerland 
[GC], no. 27798/95, § 65, ECHR 2000-II, and 
Rotaru v. Romania [GC], no. 28341/95, § 43, 
ECHR 2000-V), finds that the information about 
the applicants that was stored on the Security 
Police register and was released to them clearly 
constituted data pertaining to their “private 
life”. Indeed, this embraces even those parts 
of the information that were public, since the 
information had been systematically collected 
and stored in files held by the authorities. Ac-
cordingly, Article 8 § 1 of the Convention is 
applicable to the impugned storage of the in-
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formation in question.

2.CompliancewithArticle8
(a)  Whether there was interference

73. The Court further considers, and this has not 
been disputed, that it follows from its estab-
lished case-law that the storage of the infor-
mation in issue amounted to interference with 
the applicants’ right to respect for private life 
as secured by Article 8 § 1 of the Conven-
tion (see Leander, cited above, § 48; Kopp 
v. Switzerland, 25 March 1998, § 53, Reports 
of Judgments and Decisions 1998-II; Amann, 
cited above, §§ 69 and 80; and Rotaru, cited 
above, § 46).

(b)  Justification for the interference

i Whether the interference was in accord-
ance with the law

74. The applicants did not deny that the contest-
ed storage of information had a legal basis in 
domestic law. However, they maintained that 
the relevant law lacked the requisite quality 
flowing from the autonomous meaning of the 
expression “in accordance with the law”. In 
particular, they submitted that the terms of the 
relevant national provisions were not formu-
lated with sufficient precision to enable them 
to foresee – even with the assistance of legal 
advice – the consequences of their own con-
duct. The ground of “special reasons” in sub-
paragraph 3 of section 33 of the Police Data Act 
was excessively broad and could be applied to 
almost anybody. This had been amply illustrat-
ed by the instances of gathering and storage 
of information that had been released to them.

75. The Government submitted that not only did 
the impugned interference have a basis in 
domestic law but the law was also sufficiently 
accessible and foreseeable to meet the quality 
requirement under the Court’s case-law.

76. The Court reiterates its settled case-law, ac-
cording to which the expression “in accord-
ance with the law” not only requires the 
impugned measure to have some basis in 
domestic law, but also refers to the quality of 
the law in question, requiring that it should 
be accessible to the person concerned and 
foreseeable as to its effects (see, among other 
authorities, Rotaru, cited above, § 52). The law 
must be compatible with the rule of law, which 
means that it must provide a measure of legal 
protection against arbitrary interference by 
public authorities with the rights safeguarded 

by paragraph 1 of Article 8. Especially where, 
as here, a power of the executive is exercised 
in secret, the risks of arbitrariness are evident. 
Since the implementation in practice of meas-
ures of secret surveillance is not open to scru-
tiny by the individuals concerned or the public 
at large, it would be contrary to the rule of law 
for the legal discretion granted to the execu-
tive to be expressed in terms of an unfettered 
power. Consequently, the law must indicate 
the scope of any such discretion conferred on 
the competent authorities and the manner of 
its exercise with sufficient clarity, having regard 
to the legitimate aim of the measure in ques-
tion, to give the individual adequate protection 
against arbitrary interference (see Malone v. 
the United Kingdom, 2 August 1984, §§ 67-
68, Series A no. 82, reiterated in Amann, cited 
above, § 56, and in Rotaru, cited above, § 55).

77. In this regard, the Court notes from the outset 
that the legal basis in Swedish law of the collec-
tion and storage of information on the secret 
police register, and the quality of that law prior 
to the amendments which came into force on 
1 April 1999, were the subject of the Court’s 
scrutiny in the above-cited Leander judgment 
(§§ 19-22). It concluded that such measures 
had a legal basis in national law and that the 
law in question was sufficiently accessible and 
foreseeable to satisfy the quality requirements 
flowing from the autonomous interpretation 
of the expression “in accordance with the law” 
(ibid., §§ 52-57). In the present instance, the 
parties have centred their pleadings on the sit-
uation after 1 April 1999. The Court will there-
fore not deal of its own motion with the period 
before that date and will limit its examination 
to the subsequent period.

78. In the first place, the Court is satisfied that the 
storage of the information in issue had a legal 
basis in sections 5, 32 and 33 of the 1998 Police 
Data Act.

79. Secondly, as to the question regarding the 
quality of the law, the Court notes that, as is 
made clear by the terms of section 33 of the 
Police Data Act, “[t]he Security Police’s register 
may contain personal information only” (em-
phasis added) on any of the grounds set out in 
sub-paragraphs 1, 2 or 3. The Court considers 
that an issue may arise, but only in relation to 
the apparent broadness of the ground in sub-
paragraph 3 of section 33: “Considering the 
purpose for which the register is kept, there are 
other special reasons therefor” (see paragraph 
49 above). The Government stated that a per-
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son may be registered without his or her being 
incriminated in any way. Here the preparatory 
work gives some specific and clear examples: 
in particular, a person who is connected with 
another person who has been registered, a 
person who may be the target of a threat and a 
person who may be the object of recruitment 
by a foreign intelligence service (ibid.). The 
Government have also given examples of wid-
er categories, for instance “a person in contact 
with someone suspected of a crime” (ibid.). It 
is clear that the Security Police enjoys a certain 
discretion in assessing who and what informa-
tion should be registered and also if there are 
“special reasons” other than those mentioned 
in sub-paragraphs 1 and 2 of section 33 (a per-
son suspected of a crime threatening national 
security or a terrorist offence, or undergoing a 
security check).

However, the discretion afforded to the Se-
curity Police in determining what constitutes 
“special reasons” under sub-paragraph 3 of 
section 33 is not unfettered. Under the Swed-
ish Constitution, no entry regarding a citizen 
may be made in a public register exclusively on 
the basis of that person’s political opinion with-
out his or her consent. A general prohibition of 
registration on the basis of political opinion is 
further set out in section 5 of the Police Data 
Act. The purpose of the register must be borne 
in mind where registration is made for “special 
reasons” under sub-paragraph 3 of section 33. 
Under section 32 of the Police Data Act, the 
purpose of storing information on the Secu-
rity Police register must be to facilitate inves-
tigations undertaken to prevent and uncover 
crimes against national security or to combat 
terrorism. Further limitations follow from sec-
tion 34 governing the manner of recording 
data in the Security Police register.

Against this background, the Court finds that 
the scope of the discretion conferred on the 
competent authorities and the manner of its 
exercise was indicated with sufficient clar-
ity, having regard to the legitimate aim of the 
measure in question, to give the individual 
adequate protection against arbitrary interfer-
ence.

80. Accordingly, the interference with the respec-
tive applicants’ private lives was “in accordance 
with the law”, within the meaning of Article 8.

ii Aim and necessity of the interference

81. The applicants stressed the absence of any 
concrete actions recorded by the Security Po-

lice that substantiated the alleged risk that any 
of them might be connected with terrorism, 
espionage or any other relevant crime.

82. The Government maintained that the interfer-
ence pursued one or more legitimate aims: the 
prevention of crime, in so far as the first appli-
cant’s own safety was concerned by the bomb 
threats, and the interests of national security 
with regard to all the applicants. In each case 
the interference was moreover “necessary” for 
the achievement of the legitimate aim or aims 
pursued.

83. The Government submitted that they were at 
a loss to understand the reason why the first 
applicant should claim at all that the Security 
Police’s registration and filing of information 
concerning threats against her were not in her 
best interests but, on the contrary, entailed a vi-
olation of her rights under the Convention. The 
information that had been released to the oth-
er four applicants was highly varied in nature. 
Most of it appeared to have been found in the 
public domain, such as the media. The Govern-
ment were unaware of the origins of each and 
every piece of information, and therefore could 
not comment on that particular aspect. They 
noted, however, that from today’s perspec-
tive the information seemed either fairly old or 
quite harmless and that the interference was 
proportionate to the legitimate aim pursued, 
namely the protection of national security.

84. As to the second applicant, given the Cold War 
context at the time, it could not be deemed un-
reasonable for the Security Police to have kept 
themselves informed about a meeting in 1967 
of left-wing sympathisers in Poland in which he 
may have taken part. He had not been the sub-
ject of personal data registration and the infor-
mation about him had been carefully phrased 
(with the use of the word “probably”).

85. The third and fourth applicants had since the 
1970s been members of the KPML(r), a political 
party which advocated the use of violence in 
order to bring about a change in the existing 
social order. One of the Security Police’s duties 
was to uphold the Constitution, namely, by 
preventing and uncovering threats against the 
nation’s internal security. It was evident that 
persons who were members of political parties 
like the KPML(r) would attract the attention of 
the Security Police.

86. The case of the fifth applicant should also be 
seen against the background of the Cold War, 
and he too seemed to have advocated vio-
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lence as a means of bringing about changes in 
society. According to one of the entries in the 
records released to him, he was said to have 
stated that violence could be resorted to in 
order to stage demonstrations and to achieve 
their goals.

iii The Court’s assessment

87. The Court accepts that the storage of the in-
formation in question pursued legitimate aims, 
namely the prevention of disorder or crime, in 
the case of the first applicant, and the protec-
tion of national security, in that of the remain-
der of the applicants.

88. While the Court recognises that intelligence 
services may legitimately exist in a democratic 
society, it reiterates that powers of secret sur-
veillance of citizens are tolerable under the 
Convention only in so far as strictly necessary 
for safeguarding the democratic institutions 
(see Klass and Others v. Germany, 6 September 
1978, § 42, Series A no. 28, and Rotaru, cited 
above, § 47). Such interference must be sup-
ported by relevant and sufficient reasons and 
must be proportionate to the legitimate aim 
or aims pursued. In this connection, the Court 
considers that the national authorities enjoy 
a margin of appreciation, the scope of which 
will depend not only on the nature of the le-
gitimate aim pursued but also on the particular 
nature of the interference involved. In the in-
stant case, the interest of the respondent State 
in protecting its national security and combat-
ing terrorism must be balanced against the se-
riousness of the interference with the respec-
tive applicants’ right to respect for private life. 
Here again the Court will limit its examination 
to the period from 1999 onwards.

89. In so far as the first applicant is concerned, the 
Court finds no reason to doubt that the rea-
sons for keeping on record the information 
relating to bomb threats in 1990 against her 
and certain other personalities were relevant 
and sufficient as regards the aim of prevent-
ing disorder or crime. The measure was at least 
in part motivated by the interest in protecting 
her security; there can be no question of any 
disproportionate interference with her right to 
respect for private life thus being entailed. The 
Court has received no particulars about the 
precise contents of the documents released to 
the applicant on 13 December 2002 and will 
not therefore examine that matter.

90. However, as to the information released to the 
second applicant (namely, his participation in a 

political meeting in Warsaw in 1967), the Court, 
bearing in mind the nature and age of the 
information, does not find that its continued 
storage is supported by reasons which are rel-
evant and sufficient as regards the protection 
of national security.

Similarly, the storage of the information re-
leased to the fifth applicant could for the most 
part hardly be deemed to correspond to any 
actual relevant national security interests for 
the respondent State. The continued storage 
of the information to the effect that he, in 
1969, had allegedly advocated violent resist-
ance to police control during demonstrations 
was supported by reasons that, although rel-
evant, could not be deemed sufficient thirty 
years later.

Therefore, the Court finds that the continued 
storage of the information released to the sec-
ond and fifth applicants entailed a dispropor-
tionate interference with their right to respect 
for private life.

91. The information released to the third and 
fourth applicants raises more complex issues 
in that it related to their membership of the 
KPML(r), a political party which, the Govern-
ment stressed, advocated the use of violence 
and breaches of the law in order to bring about 
a change in the existing social order. In support 
of their argument, the Government submit-
ted a copy of the KPML(r) party programme, 
as adopted on 2-4 January 1993, and referred 
in particular to its Clauses 4, 22, 23 and 28 (see 
paragraph 38 above).

The Court observes that the relevant clauses 
of the KPML(r) party programme rather boldly 
advocate establishing the domination of one 
social class over another by disregarding ex-
isting laws and regulations. However, the pro-
gramme contains no statements amounting to 
an immediate and unequivocal call for the use 
of violence as a means of achieving political 
ends. Clause 23, for instance, which contains 
the most explicit statements on the matter, 
is more nuanced in this respect and does not 
propose violence as either a primary or an inev-
itable means in all circumstances. Nonetheless, 
it affirms the principle of armed opposition.

However, the Court reiterates that “the consti-
tution and programme of a political party can-
not be taken into account as the sole criterion 
for determining its objectives and intentions; 
the contents of the programme must be com-
pared with the actions of the party’s leaders 
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and the positions they defend” (see, mutatis 
mutandis, Refah Partisi (the Welfare Party) and 
Others v. Turkey [GC], nos. 41340/98, 41342/98, 
41343/98 and 41344/98, § 101, ECHR 2003-II; 
United Communist Party of Turkey and Oth-
ers v. Turkey, 30 January 1998, § 46, Reports 
1998-I; Socialist Party and Others v. Turkey, 25 
May 1998, § 50, Reports 1998-III; and Free-
dom and Democracy Party (ÖZDEP) v. Turkey 
[GC], no. 23885/94, § 45, ECHR 1999-VIII). This 
approach, which the Court has adopted in as-
sessing the necessity under Article 11 § 2 of 
the Convention of the dissolution of a political 
party, is also pertinent for assessing the neces-
sity in the interests of national security under 
Article 8 § 2 of collecting and storing informa-
tion on a secret police register about the lead-
ers and members of a political party.

In this case, the KPML(r) party programme 
was the only evidence relied on by the Gov-
ernment. Beyond that, they did not point to 
any specific circumstance indicating that the 
impugned programme clauses were reflected 
in actions or statements by the party’s leaders 
or members and constituted an actual or even 
potential threat to national security when the 
information was released in 1999, almost thirty 
years after the party had come into existence. 
Therefore, the reasons for the continued stor-
age of the information about the third and 
fourth applicants, although relevant, may not 
be considered sufficient for the purposes of the 
necessity test to be applied under Article 8 § 2 
of the Convention. Thus, the continued storage 
of the information released to the respective 
applicants in 1999 amounted to a dispropor-
tionate interference with their right to respect 
for private life.

92. In sum, the Court concludes that the contin-
ued storage of the information that had been 
released was necessary with respect to the first 
applicant, but not for any of the remaining ap-
plicants. Accordingly, the Court finds that there 
has been no violation of Article 8 of the Con-
vention with regard to the first applicant, but 
that there has been a violation of this provision 
with regard to each of the other applicants.

B. The refusals to advise the applicants of 
the full extent to which information was 
kept about them on the Security Police 
register

1.Theparties’submissions
(a)  The applicants

93.  The applicants further submitted that the re-
spective refusals to grant full access to all infor-
mation kept about them on the Security Police 
register amounted to unjustified interference 
with their right to respect for private life under 
Article 8 of the Convention.

94. In the applicants’ view, the interference was not 
“in accordance with the law” as the relevant na-
tional law failed to fulfil the requirements as to 
quality under the Convention. It had not been 
foreseeable what kind of information might be 
stored or what considerations governed the 
decisions by the Security Police or the courts 
on each applicant’s request for access to infor-
mation kept on file about them.

95. Nor was the interference “necessary in a demo-
cratic society”. The applicants pointed to the 
absence of any specific information recorded 
by the Security Police that could substantiate 
any assumption of a risk that the applicants 
might be connected with terrorism, espionage 
or other relevant criminal activities. Moreover, 
the lack of access to declassified data kept 
mainly for purely historical or political reasons 
could not be viewed as strictly necessary.

In this connection, the applicants argued that 
the relevant law did not offer adequate safe-
guards against abuse. They stressed that the 
Records Board, a body established in 1996, 
had failed to review their files following their 
request for access. The Board had no power to 
order the destruction of files or the suppression 
or rectification of information therein. Nor was 
it empowered to award compensation. The 
Data Inspection Board had never carried out a 
substantial review of the files kept by the Secu-
rity Police. The Parliamentary Ombudsperson 
could not grant the applicants access to their 
files and was not empowered to correct false or 
irrelevant information therein. The Chancellor 
of Justice was the government’s representative 
and was therefore not independent.

(b)  The Government

96. The Government acknowledged that, at some 
point in time, the Swedish Security Police had 
kept some information about the applicants 
but, referring to their above-mentioned argu-
ments, questioned whether the applicants had 
shown that there was at least a reasonable 
likelihood that the Security Police retained per-
sonal information about them and that there 
had consequently been interference with their 
private life.
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97. However, were the Court to conclude that 
there was interference with the applicants’ 
rights under Article 8 § 1 in this context, the 
Government submitted that it was justified 
under Article 8 § 2: it was “in accordance with 
the law”, pursued a legitimate aim and was 
“necessary in a democratic society” in order to 
achieve that aim.

98. As to the issue of necessity, the Government 
argued that under Swedish law there were ad-
equate safeguards against abuse.

(i) The discretion afforded to the Security 
Police was subject to limitations set out in 
the more general Personal Data Act, which 
dealt with the processing of personal in-
formation wherever it took place, and the 
more specific Police Data Act, which in 
positive terms obliged the Security Police 
to keep a register, specified its aims and 
laid down the conditions under which per-
sonal information could be included in it.

(ii) Both the Constitution and the Police Data 
Act expressly provided that certain sensi-
tive information could only be registered 
in exceptional circumstances, that is to 
say when it was “strictly necessary”. Un-
der no circumstances could a person be 
registered by the Security Police simply 
because of his or her political views or af-
filiations.

(iii) The Data Inspection Board was an impor-
tant safeguard, considering its mandate 
with respect to the overall treatment of 
personal information. It was empowered 
to take various measures to protect per-
sonal integrity, such as prohibiting all 
processing of personal data (other than 
merely storing it) pending the rectification 
of illegalities. It could also institute judicial 
proceedings in order to have registered in-
formation erased.

(iv) The Records Board, another important 
safeguard, had two functions. It monitored 
the Security Police’s filing and storage of 
information and their compliance with the 
Police Data Act. It also determined wheth-
er information held by the Security Police 
could be disclosed in security checks.

(v) The Parliamentary Ombudspersons su-
pervised the application of laws and other 
regulations not only by the Security Police 
themselves but also by the bodies moni-
toring them (the Data Inspection Board 

and the Records Board). The Ombudsper-
sons were empowered to carry out inspec-
tions and other investigations, institute 
criminal proceedings against public of-
ficials and report officials for disciplinary 
action. It was to be recalled that the third 
applicant’s trade union had in fact lodged 
a complaint with the Parliamentary Om-
budspersons, arguing that there had been 
a breach of the Personnel Security Check 
Ordinance in connection with the security 
check carried out with regard to the third 
applicant, and that the Ombudspersons 
had voiced some criticism about the man-
ner in which the matter had been handled.

(vi) The Chancellor of Justice had a role simi-
lar to that of the Parliamentary Ombud-
spersons, was competent to report public 
servants for disciplinary action, to institute 
criminal proceedings against them and to 
award compensation.

In addition, damages could be claimed under 
the Tort Liability Act in direct judicial proceed-
ings. The Personal Data Act moreover con-
tained a separate ground for damages that was 
of relevance in the context of the present case.

The Government argued that, in view of the 
absence of any evidence or indication that 
the system was not functioning as required 
by domestic law, the framework of safeguards 
achieved a compromise between the require-
ments of protecting a democratic society and 
the rights of the individual which was compat-
ible with the provisions of the Convention.

2.TheCourt’sassessment
99. The Court, bearing in mind its assessment in 

paragraphs 72 and 73 above, finds it estab-
lished that the impugned refusal to advise the 
applicants of the full extent to which informa-
tion was being kept about them on the Secu-
rity Police register amounted to interference 
with their right to respect for private life.

100. The refusal had a legal basis in domestic law, 
namely Chapter 5, section 1(2), of the Secrecy 
Act. As to the quality of the law, the Court refers 
to its findings in paragraphs 79 and 80 above, 
as well as paragraphs 57 to 61, describing the 
conditions of a person’s access to information 
about him or her on the Security Police regis-
ter. The Court finds no reason to doubt that the 
interference was “in accordance with the law” 
within the meaning of Article 8 § 2.
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101. Moreover, the refusal pursued one or more le-
gitimate aims – reference is made to paragraph 
87 above.

102. The Court notes that, according to the Con-
vention case-law, a refusal of full access to a na-
tional secret police register is necessary where 
the State may legitimately fear that the provi-
sion of such information may jeopardise the ef-
ficacy of a secret surveillance system designed 
to protect national security and to combat 
terrorism (see Klass and Others, cited above, 
§ 58, and Leander, cited above, § 66). In this 
case the national administrative and judicial 
authorities involved all held that full access 
would jeopardise the purpose of the system. 
The Court does not find any ground on which 
it could arrive at a different conclusion.

103. Moreover, having regard to the Convention 
case-law (see Klass and Others, cited above, 
§ 50; Leander, cited above, § 60; Esbester v. 
the United Kingdom, no. 18601/91, Commis-
sion decision of 2 April 1993, unreported; and 
Christie v. the United Kingdom, no. 21482/93, 
Commission decision of 27 June 1994, Deci-
sions and Reports 78-A) and referring to its 
findings regarding the quality of the law (see 
paragraphs 79 and 80 above) and the various 
guarantees that existed under national law 
(see paragraphs 52 to 68), the Court finds it 
established that the applicable safeguards met 
the requirements of Article 8 § 2.

104. In the light of the foregoing, the Court finds 
that the respondent State, having regard to the 
wide margin of appreciation available to it, was 
entitled to consider that the interests of na-
tional security and the fight against terrorism 
prevailed over the interests of the applicants in 
being advised of the full extent to which infor-
mation was kept about them on the Security 
Police register.

Accordingly, the Court finds that there has 
been no violation of Article 8 of the Conven-
tion under this head.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF 
ARTICLES 10 AND 11 OF THE 
CONVENTION

105. The applicants complained that, in so far as 
the storage of secret information was used as 
a means of surveillance of political dissidents, 
as was particularly noticeable with regard to 
the first and fourth applicants, it entailed a 

violation of their rights under Article 10 of the 
Convention. The relevant parts of that Article 
provide:
“1. Everyonehas the right to freedomof ex-
pression. This right shall include freedom to
hold opinions and to receive and impart in-
formation and ideaswithout interference by
publicauthorityandregardlessoffrontiers....

2.Theexerciseofthesefreedoms,sinceitcar-
rieswithitdutiesandresponsibilities,maybe
subjecttosuchformalities,conditions,restric-
tionsorpenaltiesasareprescribedbylawand
are necessary in a democratic society, in the
interestsofnationalsecurity...[or]forthepre-
ventionofdisorderorcrime...”

They further complained that, for each of them, 
membership of a political party had been a 
central factor in the decision to file secret in-
formation on them. This state of affairs con-
stituted an unjustified interference with their 
rights under Article 11, the relevant parts of 
which provide:
“1. Everyone has the right to freedom of
peaceful assembly and to freedom of asso-
ciationwithothers,includingtherighttoform
andtojointradeunionsfortheprotectionof
hisinterests.

2. No restrictions shall be placed on the ex-
ercise of these rights other than such as are
prescribed by law and are necessary in a
democraticsocietyintheinterestsofnational
securityor...forthepreventionofdisorderor
crime...”

106. The Government argued that no separate is-
sues arose under either Article 10 or Article 
11 in the circumstances of the present case in 
so far as the first, second, fourth and fifth ap-
plicants were concerned. They had not been 
the subject of personnel security checks. The 
information on them held by the Security Po-
lice was apparently never consulted by third 
parties. In fact, it seemed only to have been 
released to the applicants themselves follow-
ing their own requests for access. Furthermore, 
their suspicions that the Security Police were 
holding information on them – suspicions that 
were confirmed when information was indeed 
released to them – appeared not to have had 
any impact on their opportunities to exercise 
their rights under either Article 10 or Article 
11. They had at all times been free to hold and 
express their political or other opinions. It was 
not supported by the facts of the present case 
that their opportunities to enjoy freedom of as-
sociation had in any way been impaired. There-
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fore, the Government maintained that there 
had been no interference with their rights 
under Articles 10 and 11 and requested the 
Court to declare their complaints under these 
provisions inadmissible as being manifestly ill-
founded.

107. The Court, for its part, considers that the ap-
plicants’ complaints under Articles 10 and 11, 
as submitted, relate essentially to the adverse 
effects on their political freedoms caused by 
the storage of information on them in the Se-
curity Police register. However, the applicants 
have not adduced specific information ena-
bling it to assess how such registration in the 
concrete circumstances could have hindered 
the exercise of their rights under Articles 10 
and 11. Nevertheless, the Court considers that 
the storage of personal data related to po-
litical opinion, affiliations and activities that is 
deemed unjustified for the purposes of Article 
8 § 2 ipso facto constitutes an unjustified in-
terference with the rights protected by Articles 
10 and 11. Having regard to its findings above 
under Article 8 of the Convention with regard 
to the storage of information, the Court finds 
that there has been no violation of these provi-
sions with regard to the first applicant, but that 
there have been violations of Articles 10 and 
11 of the Convention with regard to the other 
applicants.

III. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
13 OF THE CONVENTION

108. The applicants further complained that no ef-
fective remedy existed under Swedish law with 
respect to the above violations, contrary to Ar-
ticle 13 of the Convention, which provides:
“Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [the] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity.”

A. The parties’ submissions
1.Theapplicants

109. Apart from arguing that the relevant Swedish 
law on data registration was vague and that 
the safeguards against improper data entry 
were inadequate, the applicants submitted, in 
particular, that Swedish law did not provide for 
a judicial remedy enabling aggrieved parties to 
have the files destroyed.

110. The applicants further alleged that the stand-
ardised reasoning the national courts gave 
when rejecting their request for full access to 
their respective files had been arbitrary and 
even stigmatising.

The first applicant claimed that the Administra-
tive Court of Appeal did not look into the Se-
curity Police’s files on her before adopting its 
judgment.

111. The applicants maintained that during its 
thirty years of existence the Data Inspection 
Board had never performed a substantial re-
view of the files of the Security Police. While 
the Records Board had been a success, it had 
not been involved in any of the instances in is-
sue under the Convention. The Parliamentary 
Ombudsperson was not empowered to decide 
on whether the applicants should be granted 
a right of access to their files or to correct ir-
relevant or false information on them. The 
Chancellor of Justice was not independent of 
the executive.

2.TheGovernment
112. The Government disputed that the applicants 

had an arguable claim for the purposes of 
Article 13 and contended that this provision 
was therefore not applicable. In any event, the 
requirements of this provision had been com-
plied with.

113. In so far as the applicants could be deemed to 
have arguable claims when it came to the cor-
rection and erasure of information held by the 
Security Police, the Government referred to the 
available remedies. The applicants could have 
complained – but had failed to do so – to the 
Data Inspection Board in order to seek appro-
priate measures.

114. The Government further disputed the first ap-
plicant’s contention that the administrative 
courts had failed to look into the Security Po-
lice’s files. It was evident from the case file of 
the Administrative Court of Appeal that the 
court had visited the premises of the Security 
Police on 3 February 2000 in order to obtain 
some of the documents.

115. In so far as the applicants had also complained 
of a lack of opportunity to seek compensation 
for any grievances resulting from the storage 
of information on them by the Security Police, 
they had had the opportunity to (1) lodge 
complaints with the Chancellor of Justice, (2) 
institute judicial proceedings under the Tort Li-
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ability Act, or (3) claim – also within the frame-
work of judicial proceedings – damages under 
the Personal Data Act. None of the applicants 
appeared to have made use of any of those 
remedies.

B. The Court’s assessment
116. The Court sees no reason to doubt that the 

applicants’ complaints under Article 8 of the 
Convention about the storage of information 
and refusal to advise them of the full extent to 
which information on them was being kept 
may, in accordance with its consistent case-law 
(see, for example, Rotaru, cited above, § 67), 
be regarded as “arguable” grievances attract-
ing the application of Article 13. They were 
therefore entitled to an effective domestic 
remedy within the meaning of this provision.

117. Article 13 guarantees the availability at national 
level of a remedy to enforce the substance of 
the Convention rights and freedoms in what-
ever form they might happen to be secured in 
the domestic legal order. It therefore requires 
the provision of a domestic remedy allowing 
the “competent national authority” both to 
deal with the substance of the relevant Con-
vention complaint and to grant appropriate 
relief, although Contracting States are afforded 
some discretion as to the manner in which 
they conform to their obligation under this 
provision. The remedy must be “effective” in 
practice as well as in law (ibid., § 67).

The “authority” referred to in Article 13 may not 
necessarily in all instances be a judicial author-
ity in the strict sense. Nevertheless, the powers 
and procedural guarantees an authority pos-
sesses are relevant in determining whether the 
remedy is effective. Furthermore, where secret 
surveillance is concerned, objective supervi-
sory machinery may be sufficient as long as 
the measures remain secret. It is only once the 
measures have been divulged that legal rem-
edies must become available to the individual 
(ibid., § 69).

118. Turning to the present case, the Court observes 
that the Parliamentary Ombudsperson and the 
Chancellor of Justice have competence to re-
ceive individual complaints and have a duty to 
investigate them in order to ensure that the rel-
evant laws have been properly applied. By tra-
dition, their opinions command great respect 
in Swedish society and are usually followed. 
However, in the above-cited Leander judg-
ment (§ 82), the Court found that the main 
weakness in the control afforded by these of-

ficials is that, apart from their competence to 
institute criminal proceedings and disciplinary 
proceedings, they lack the power to render a 
legally binding decision. In addition, they ex-
ercise general supervision and do not have 
specific responsibility for inquiries into secret 
surveillance or into the entry and storage of 
information on the Security Police register. As 
it transpires from the aforementioned judg-
ment, the Court found neither remedy, when 
considered on its own, to be effective within 
the meaning of Article 13 of the Convention 
(ibid., § 84).

119. In the meantime, a number of steps have been 
taken to improve the remedies, notably ena-
bling the Chancellor of Justice to award com-
pensation, with the possibility of judicial ap-
peal against the dismissal of a compensation 
claim, and the establishment of the Records 
Board, replacing the former National Police 
Board. The Government further referred to the 
Data Inspection Board.

Moreover, it should be noted that, with the 
abolition of the absolute secrecy rule under 
former Chapter 5, section 1(2), of the Secrecy 
Act (when it is deemed evident that informa-
tion could be revealed without harming the 
purposes of the register), a decision by the 
Security Police whether to advise a person of 
information kept about him or her on their 
register may form the subject of an appeal to 
the county administrative court and the Su-
preme Administrative Court. In practice, the 
former will go and consult the Security Police 
register and appraise for itself the contents of 
files before determining an appeal against a 
refusal by the Security Police to provide such 
information. For the reasons set out below, it 
is not necessary here to resolve the disagree-
ment between the first applicant and the Gov-
ernment as to the scope of the Administrative 
Court of Appeal’s review in her case.

In the circumstances, the Court finds no cause 
for criticising the similarities in the reasoning of 
the Administrative Court of Appeal in the ap-
plicants’ cases.

120. However, the Court notes that the Records 
Board, the body specifically empowered to 
monitor on a day-to-day basis the Security 
Police’s entry and storage of information and 
compliance with the Police Data Act, has no 
competence to order the destruction of files or 
the erasure or rectification of information kept 
in the files.
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It appears that wider powers in this respect 
are vested in the Data Inspection Board, which 
may examine complaints by individuals. Where 
it finds that data is being processed unlawfully, 
it can order the processor, on pain of a fine, to 
stop processing the information other than for 
storage. The Board is not itself empowered to 
order the erasure of unlawfully stored infor-
mation, but can make an application for such 
a measure to the county administrative court. 
However, no information has been furnished 
to shed light on the effectiveness of the Data 
Inspection Board in practice. It has therefore 
not been shown that this remedy is effective.

121. What is more, in so far as the applicants com-
plained about the compatibility with Articles 8, 
10 and 11 of the storage on the register of the 
information that had been released to them, 
they had no direct access to any legal remedy 
as regards the erasure of the information in 
question. In the view of the Court, these short-
comings are not consistent with the require-
ments of effectiveness in Article 13 (see Rotaru, 
cited above, § 71, and Klass and Others, cited 
above, § 71) and are not offset by any possi-
bilities for the applicants to seek compensation 
(see paragraphs 67 and 68 above).

122. In the light of the above, the Court does not 
find that the applicable remedies, whether 
considered on their own or in the aggregate, 
can be said to satisfy the requirements of Arti-
cle 13 of the Convention.

Accordingly, the Court concludes that there 
has been a violation of this provision.

IV. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

123. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage
124. The applicants each sought 400,000 Swed-

ish kronor (SEK) (approximately 42,970 euros 
(EUR)), exclusive of value-added tax (VAT), in 
compensation for non-pecuniary damage, ar-
guing that they should be awarded the same 
level of compensation as was offered to Mr 

Leander following the revelations as to what 
information had been kept about him on the 
secret police register and subsequent to the 
delivery of the Court’s judgment in his case.

125. The Government stressed that the offer to Mr 
Leander had been made on an ex gratia basis 
under a special agreement reached on 25 No-
vember 1997 between him and them. In their 
view, the grant of compensation to Mr Leander 
could not serve as a model for any award to be 
made in this case. The Government submitted 
that the applicants had not substantiated their 
claim and had not shown any causal link be-
tween the alleged violation of the Convention 
and any non-pecuniary damage. In any event, 
the injury which may have been sustained by 
the applicants was not of such a serious nature 
as to justify a pecuniary award in this case. In 
the Government’s view, the finding of a viola-
tion would in itself constitute sufficient just 
satisfaction.

126. The Court agrees with the Government that 
the settlement they reached with Mr Leander 
cannot serve as a model for an award in the 
present case. However, the Court considers 
that each of the applicants must have suffered 
anxiety and distress as a result of the violation 
or violations of the Convention found in his or 
her case that cannot be compensated solely 
by the Court’s findings. Accordingly, having 
regard to the nature of the violations and the 
particular circumstances pertaining to each ap-
plicant, the Court awards under this head EUR 
3,000 to the first applicant, EUR 7,000 each to 
the second and fifth applicants and EUR 5,000 
each to the third and fourth applicants.

B. Costs and expenses
127. The applicants sought, firstly, the reimburse-

ment of their legal costs and expenses, in an 
amount totalling SEK 289,000 (approximately 
EUR 31,000), in respect of their lawyer’s work 
on the case (115 hours and 35 minutes, at SEK 
2,500 per hour).

Secondly, the applicants’ lawyer sought certain 
sums in reimbursement of the cost of his work 
in connection with a “first session” with the 
third applicant and a number of other persons.

128. The Government maintained that costs and 
expenses relating to other cases were not rel-
evant and should not be taken into account in 
any award to be made in this case. As to the 
amount claimed with respect to the present 
case, the Government did not question the 
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number of hours indicated but considered the 
hourly rate charged to be excessive. SEK 1,286 
(inclusive of VAT) was the hourly rate currently 
applied under the Swedish legal aid system. In 
view of the special character of the case, the 
Government could accept a higher rate, not 
exceeding SEK 1,800. Accordingly, should the 
Court find a violation, they would be prepared 
to pay a total of SEK 208,000 in respect of legal 
costs (approximately EUR 22,000).

129. The Court will consider the above claims in the 
light of the criteria laid down in its case-law, 
namely whether the costs and expenses were 
actually and necessarily incurred in order to 
prevent or obtain redress for the matter found 
to constitute a violation of the Convention and 
are reasonable as to quantum.

Accordingly, the Court dismisses the appli-
cants’ second costs claim. As to the first claim, 
the Court is not convinced that the hourly rate 
and the number of hours were justified. Decid-
ing on an equitable basis, it awards the appli-
cants, jointly, EUR 20,000 under this head.

C. Default interest
130. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
8 of the Convention in respect of the second, 
third, fourth and fifth applicants, but not of 
the first applicant;

2. Holds that there has been a violation of Arti-
cles 10 and 11 of the Convention in respect of 
the second, third, fourth and fifth applicants, 
but not of the first applicant;

3. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
13 of the Convention in respect of each of the 
applicants;

4. Holds

(a) that the respondent State is to pay, within 
three months from the date on which the 
judgment becomes final in accordance 
with Article 44 § 2 of the Convention, the 
following amounts:

(i) in respect of non-pecuniary damage, 
EuR 3,000 (three thousand euros) to 
the first applicant; EuR 7,000 (seven 
thousand euros) each to the second 
and fifth applicants; and EuR 5,000 
(five thousand euros) each to the third 
and fourth applicants;

(ii) EuR 20,000 (twenty thousand euros) 
to the applicants jointly in respect of 
costs and expenses;

(iii) any tax that may be chargeable on the 
above amounts;

(b) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amounts at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

5. Dismisses the remainder of the applicants’ 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 6 June 
2006, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the Rules 
of Court.

Sally Dollé, Registrar
Jean-Paul Costa, President
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FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION, SECRET INFORMATION, 
CLASSIFIED, DECLASSIFIED, DISCLOSURE

IN THE CASE Of PASKO v. RuSSIA,

The European Court of Human Rights (First Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Christos Rozakis, President,  
Nina Vajić, 
Anatoly Kovler,  
Elisabeth Steiner,  
Khanlar Hajiyev,  
Giorgio Malinverni,  
George Nicolaou, judges,  
and Søren Nielsen, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 1 October 2009,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

69519/01 69519/01) against the Russian Fed-
eration lodged with the Court under Article 
34 of the Convention for the Protection of Hu-
man Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (“the 
Convention”) by a Russian national, Mr Grigo-
riy Mikhaylovich Pasko (“the applicant”), on 20 
January 2001.

2. The applicant was represented by Mr F. El-
gesem, a lawyer practising in Oslo. The Russian 
Government (“the Government”) were initially 
represented by Mr P. Laptev, former Represent-
ative of the Russian Federation at the European 
Court of Human Rights, and subsequently by 
their Representative, Mr G. Matyushkin.

3. The applicant complained, in particular, of his 
conviction on the basis of retrospective appli-
cation of the relevant law and of a violation of 
his freedom of expression. He relied on Articles 
7 and 10 of the Convention.

4. By a decision of 28 August 2008, the Court de-
clared the application partly admissible.

5. The Chamber having decided, after consult-
ing the parties, that no hearing on the merits 
was required (Rule 59 § 3 in fine), the parties 

replied in writing to each other's observations.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

6. The applicant was born in 1962 and lives in 
Vladivostok.

7. At the material time the applicant was a Navy 
officer and worked as a military journalist on 
the Russian Pacific Fleet's newspaper Boyevaya 
Vakhta (“Battle Watch”). The applicant's articles 
mainly focused on problems of environmental 
pollution and other issues related to the activ-
ity of the Russian Pacific Fleet.

8. According to the applicant, he also worked, 
on a freelance basis, for a Japanese TV station, 
NHK, and a Japanese newspaper, Asahi Sim-
bun, and supplied their representatives, in par-
ticular accredited correspondents Mr T.Dz. and 
Mr T.O. with openly available information and 
video footage. The Government submitted 
in this connection, with reference to witness 
statements from the editor and deputy editor 
of Boyevaya Vakhta, that the applicant had not 
been entrusted with any task of cooperating 
with Mr T.O., apart from assisting the latter in 
visiting Russian military units and apprising 
him of the professional activities of Boyevaya 
Vakhta. According to the Government, any fur-
ther contacts with Mr T.O. were maintained by 
the applicant of his own volition, and he did 
not report to his superiors on such contacts. 
The applicant insisted that his superiors had 
been aware of and accepted his contacts with 
Japanese journalists.

A. The applicant's arrest and pre-trial 
detention

9. On 13 November 1997 customs officers at 
Vladivostok Airport searched the applicant, 
who was about to leave on an official trip to 
Japan, and seized a number of his papers, on 
the ground that they allegedly contained clas-
sified information. Thereafter the applicant was 
allowed to continue his trip.

10. On 20 November 1997 the Federal Security 
Service (Федеральная служба безопасности 
– “the FSB”) brought criminal proceedings 
against the applicant in connection with the 
above episode, and apprehended him on his 
return from Japan. The applicant was then es-
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corted to pre-trial detention centre IZ 20/1 in 
Vladivostok, where he was detained until his 
first conviction on 20 July 1999.

11. During the night of 20 to 21 November 1997 
the FSB searched the applicant's flat and seized 
his personal computer and a number of docu-
ments. The applicant's computer was returned 
to him some time later.

12. On 28 November 1997 the applicant was for-
mally charged with treason through espio-
nage. These charges were based on a prelimi-
nary expert opinion given by the Headquarters' 
8th Department of the Pacific Fleet (Восьмое 
управление штаба Тихоокеанского флота), 
which concluded that some of the documents 
seized on 13 and 20 November 1997 contained 
State secrets.

B. The applicant's indictment

13. On 29 September 1998 a bill of indictment 
was served on the applicant. It stated that the 
applicant had committed treason, through es-
pionage, by having collected, kept and trans-
mitted ten items of information classified as 
secret to two Japanese nationals in the period 
between 1996 and 20 November 1997. The in-
formation in question included a draft article 
by the applicant on the decommissioning of 
Russian nuclear submarines, a copy of a report 
on the financial situation of the Pacific Fleet, a 
copy of several pages of a manual on search-
ing for and rescuing space craft by the Navy, a 
report on decommissioning and keeping afloat 
of Russian nuclear submarines, a questionnaire 
on re-processing of liquid rocket fuel, a list of 
accidents on Russian nuclear submarines, a 
copy of several pages of a report on decom-
missioning of weapons and armaments, a map 
of the territory of military unit no. 40752, and 
handwritten notes made by the applicant at a 
meeting held at the headquarters of the Pacific 
Fleet on 11 September 1997. The indictment 
further stated that the applicant had orally di-
vulged information concerning the time and 
place of the departure of a trainload of spent 
nuclear fuel.

14. The indictment was based on reports of 22 De-
cember 1997 and 14 March 1998 prepared by 
four expert groups appointed by the General 
Headquarters' 8th Department of the Ministry 
of Defence (Восьмое управление Генштаба 

Министерства обороны).

C. first round of court proceedings
15. By a judgment of 20 July 1999 the Pacific Fleet 

Military Court reclassified the offence and con-
victed the applicant of abuse of power, having 
found it unproven that the applicant had actu-
ally transmitted State secrets to foreign nation-
als. The applicant was sentenced to three years' 
imprisonment. By virtue of an Amnesty Act of 
18 June 1999 the applicant was discharged 
from serving this sentence and released in the 
courtroom.

16. The applicant, his lawyers and the prosecuting 
party appealed against the first-instance judg-
ment.

17. On 21 November 2000 the Military Section 
of the Supreme Court of Russia (Военная 
коллегия Верховного Суда РФ – “the Su-
preme Court”) quashed the judgment of 20 
July 1999 on the grounds of the trial court's fail-
ure to establish the essential circumstances of 
the case and its inconsistent conclusions and 
wrongful application of the law. The case was 
remitted to the Pacific Fleet Military Court for a 
fresh examination.

D. Second round of court proceedings
1.Proceedingsbeforethetrialcourt

18. On an unspecified date, following the Pacific 
Military Court's request, the General Head-
quarters' 8th Department of the Ministry of 
Defence appointed seven experts and the Min-
istry of Nuclear Energy appointed an expert. 
The experts were asked whether the items of 
information listed in the indictment contained 
State secrets.

19. On 14 September 2001 the experts submitted 
their report, stating that three out of the ten 
items in question were of “restricted distribu-
tion”, whilst the other seven contained State 
secrets. According to the applicant, in defining 
whether the disclosed information contained 
State secrets, the experts had applied the 
Ministry of Defence's unpublished Decree no. 
055 of 10 August 1996, Presidential Decree no. 
1203:95 of 30 November 1995 and section 5 of 
the State Secrets Act, enacted on 21 July 1993 
and amended on 6 October 1997. In the appli-
cant's submission, he had access to Decree no. 
055, read it and signed a document to the ef-
fect that he had read it in the autumn of 1996.

20. On 25 December 2001 the Pacific Fleet Mili-
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tary Court convicted the applicant of treason 
through espionage under Article 275 of the 
Russian Criminal Code.

21. As regards the actus reus of the offence, the 
court found that in 1996-1997 the applicant 
had established friendly relations with a Japa-
nese journalist, Mr T.O., and provided him 
with information, at the latter's requests, in 
exchange for regular payments. In August-
September 1997, in his telephone conversa-
tions with the applicant, Mr T.O. had repeatedly 
expressed his interest in the military exercises 
that were being conducted by the Pacific Fleet 
at that time, especially their particular features 
and any differences from previous exercises. 
The judgment further stated:

“On10September1997,onanofficial invita-
tion, [the applicant], as a representative of
the Boyevaya Vakhta newspaper, attended a
meetingof theMilitaryCouncilof thePacific
Fleet, where he learned that an appraisal of
theresultsofthemilitaryexercisesofthePa-
cific Fleet was scheduled for 11 September
1997.

On 11 September 1997 [the applicant], with
the intentionofobtainingclassified informa-
tion on the said exercises and subsequently
transferringitto[MrT.O.],arrivedatthehead-
quartersofthePacificFleet.Althoughhewas
not includedinthelistofpersonsauthorised
to participate in the appraisal of the tactical
trainingexercises,theapplicantattendedthe
meetingandcollectedinformationdisclosing
theactualnamesofhighlycriticalandsecured
military formations and units, includingmili-
tary-intelligenceunits, thathad takenpart in
the exercises and information disclosing the
meansandmethodsofprotectionofclassified
databyradioelectronicwarfareunitsthathad
participatedintheexercises.Undersection5
paragraphs1(6)and4(5)oftheStateSecrets
Act of the Russian Federation (no. 5485-1)
of 21 July1993, as amendedbyFederal Law
no.131-FZof6October1997,paragraphs13
and77oftheListof Informationclassifiedas
StateSecretsapprovedbyDecreeno.1203of
thePresidentoftheRussianFederationof30
November1995,[theimpugnedinformation]
wasclassifiedasStatesecrets.

For thesamepurpose,namely forcommuni-
catingitto[MrT.O.],theapplicantthenunlaw-
fullykeptthisinformation...On20November
1997thehandwrittennotesmadeby[theap-
plicant]during[themeetingof11September
1997]were found and seized at his place of
residence.

...

Accordingtoareportbyaforensicexpert,the
handwrittentextinthosenoteswasmadeby
[the applicant], which the latter has not de-
niedincourt.”

22. The court based its findings on statements by a 
number of witnesses, five recordings of the ap-
plicant's telephone conversations with Mr T.O. 
made by the FSB in June-September 1997, and 
the expert report of 14 September 2001, inso-
far as it stated that the applicant's handwritten 
notes contained information classified as se-
cret. In particular, the court noted with regard 
to the expert report of 14 September 2001:
“... The experts concluded that [the appli-
cant's] notes contained, in summary fashion,
informationonthecompositionofthegroups
ofthenavalforceswhichhadtakenpartinthe
exercises,[suchinformation]disclosingtheac-
tualnamesofhighlycriticalandsecuredmili-
tary formations and units, including military
intelligence units, which constituted a State
secretundersection5,paragraph1(6)ofthe
State Secrets Act of the Russian Federation
(no. 5485-1)of 21 July1993, as amendedby
FederalLawno.131-FZof6October1997and
paragraph13oftheListofInformationconsti-
tutingStateSecrets,approvedbyDecreeno.
1203of thePresidentof theRussian Federa-
tionof30November1995.

Also, the experts concluded that [the appli-
cant'shandwrittennotes]insummaryfashion
... disclosed information on the activities of
radioelectronicwarfareunits,andnotablyon
meansandmethodsofprotectionofclassified
data,which constituted a State secret under
section5,paragraph4(5)oftheStateSecrets
ActoftheRussianFederation,no.5485-1of21
July1993,asamendedbyFederalLawno.131-
FZof6October1997andparagraph77ofthe
Listof InformationclassifiedasStateSecrets,
approvedbyDecreeno.1203ofthePresident
of the Russian Federation of 30 November
1995.

...

... The court finds that [the experts'] conclu-
sions that [the applicant's] notes on the ex-
ercises contain information disclosing the
actual names of highly critical and secured
military formations and units of the Pacific
Fleet,includingmilitaryintelligenceunitsand
[information on] specific activities of radio
electronic warfare units ... which constitutes
State secrets, are consistent, well-reasoned
andbasedonacorrectapplicationoftheleg-
islation...”
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23. The applicant confirmed that he had attended 
the meeting of 11 September 1997 and made 
summary notes of speeches and reports of its 
participants, but pleaded not guilty and ar-
gued that he had lawfully attended the said 
meeting, since he had the right to receive and 
impart information as a journalist. The appli-
cant insisted that he had had no intention of 
transferring this information to Mr T.O. and had 
kept it in order to enrich his own knowledge 
on the latest developments in the Navy and 
to inform his subordinates thereof, and to re-
port on the results of the military exercises in 
the Boyevaya Vakhta newspaper. The applicant 
stated that all his activities had fully complied 
with Russian legislation.

24. As regards the applicant's argument that he 
had the right to freedom of expression, and 
was therefore entitled to attend the meeting 
of 11 September 1997, the court noted that 
the right to information was not absolute and 
could be limited by law for the protection of 
national security. Under national law, military 
personnel's right to information was limited 
in the interests of military service and, in par-
ticular, such personnel had an obligation not 
to disclose state or military secrets. As a serv-
ing officer, the applicant was bound by the 
legal provisions regulating the way in which 
servicemen accessed, collected, kept, imparted 
and published information classified as secret, 
and the way they communicated with foreign 
nationals.

25. The court also rejected the applicant's argu-
ment that he had made the impugned notes 
with a view to their publication in Boyevaya 
Vakhta. In this respect the court noted that the 
applicant had been fully aware of the relevant 
regulations which prohibited publication of in-
formation disclosing the actual names of mili-
tary formations and units, and there had there-
fore been no practical use for such information 
in the applicant's publications.

26. The court further examined the conclusions of 
the expert report of 14 September 2001 in re-
spect of the other items of information imput-
ed to the applicant, compared them with the 
other materials of the case and rejected them 
as unreliable. In particular, the court stated that 
some of the pieces of information imputed to 
the applicant, including the list of accidents on 
Russian nuclear submarines and the map of 
the territory of military unit no. 40752, could be 
found in public sources, such as a military ref-
erence book on submarines, or a Greenpeace 

report. In this respect the court noted that 
receiving, keeping and disseminating publicly 
accessible information was not punishable un-
der the Russian legislation in force and that 
there was no practical need to classify informa-
tion which could be found in public sources.

27. The court thus acquitted the applicant of all the 
other charges listed in the indictment, some of 
them having been waived by the prosecuting 
party.

28. In view of the fact that the applicant had a 
minor child, no criminal record and positive 
professional references and decorations, and 
given that his offence had caused no damage, 
since he had not transferred the impugned in-
formation, the court referred to the “special-cir-
cumstances” clause of Article 64 of the Russian 
Code of Criminal Procedure and sentenced the 
applicant to a term below the statutory mini-
mum, namely, four years' imprisonment in a 
strict-security correctional colony, and depriva-
tion of a military rank.

2.Appealproceedings
29. In their appeal submissions the defence com-

plained, inter alia, that the experts who had 
drafted the report of 14 September 2001 had 
relied on unpublished Decree no. 055 of the 
Ministry of Defence in asserting the classified 
nature of the impugned information. The de-
fence argued that the use of Decree no. 055 
by the experts had resulted in the incorrect 
application of the State Secrets Act by the first-
instance court. They further argued that the 
State Secrets Act had been applied retrospec-
tively, since there had been no list of informa-
tion constituting State secrets at the time of 
the commission of the offence in question. The 
defence also contended that, in any event, the 
information contained in the applicant's notes 
had been accessible from public sources.

30. On 25 June 2002 the Supreme Court of Russia 
upheld the applicant's conviction on appeal, 
having excluded a reference to the unlawful-
ness of his presence at the meeting of 11 Sep-
tember 1997 and to the general unlawfulness 
of his off-duty contacts with foreign nationals.

31. The Supreme Court noted that the question 
whether the applicant's handwritten notes had 
contained State secrets had been thoroughly 
and objectively examined in the first-instance 
judgment. It confirmed that the trial court 
had based its judgment on the expert report 
of 14 September 2001, which had stated that 
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“information disclosing the actual names of 
highly critical and secured military formations 
and units and information on the presence 
among the participants in the military exercises 
of the military intelligence units and informa-
tion on the means and methods of protection 
of classified data [constituted] State secrets 
under section 5, paragraphs 1 (6) and 4 (5) of 
the State Secrets Act of the Russian Federa-
tion (no. 5485-1) of 21 July 1993, as amended 
by Federal Law no. 131-FZ of 6 October 1997, 
paragraphs 13 and 77 of the List of Information 
classified as State Secrets, approved by Decree 
of the President of the Russian Federation no. 
1203 of 30 November 1995, and paragraphs 
129 and 240-1 of ... Decree of the Ministry of 
Defence no. 055”. The appellate court further 
noted that, when assessing the expert report 
of 14 September 2001, the trial court had re-
jected a number of its conclusions in which the 
experts had groundlessly stated that some of 
the impugned items of information had con-
tained State secrets. The Supreme Court thus 
concluded that the first-instance court had 
critically assessed the expert report of 14 Sep-
tember 2001 and had only relied on those con-
clusions which had been objectively confirmed 
during the trial.

32. The Supreme Court also upheld the first-
instance finding that the applicant's intent to 
transfer the impugned information to Mr T.O. 
had been proved by the recordings of his tele-
phone conversations with the latter. The court 
further rejected the applicant's argument that 
the information in his handwritten notes could 
have been found in public sources. In that con-
nection it stated – with reference to the trial 
court's finding – that “no data concerning the 
actual names of highly critical and secured mili-
tary units, ships and formations, and, in particu-
lar, military intelligence units, the means and 
methods of radio electronic warfare, as con-
tained in [the applicant's] handwritten notes, 
[was] openly published”.

33. The court also rejected the applicant's argu-
ment that Decree no. 055 had been unlawfully 
applied in his case, holding that this decree 
had been operative on the date that the appli-
cant had committed his offence and was still 
in force.

34. Finally, as regards the applicant's argument 
that the law had been applied retrospectively 
in his case, the Supreme Court noted:
“According to the decision of the Constitu-

tional Court of Russia of 20December 1995,
... the requirements of Article 29§ 4 of the
Constitution of the Russian Federation are
implemented in the State Secrets Act of the
RussianFederationof21July1993,whichde-
fines thenotionofStatesecretsand lists the
informationclassifiableasStatesecrets.Later,
on30November1995,theListofInformation
classifiedasStatesecretswasenactedbyDe-
creeno.1203ofthePresidentoftheRussian
Federation.

Since collecting and keeping secret informa-
tion for its transfer to a foreigncitizen, com-
mittedby [theapplicant], [was]a continuing
criminal offence which was brought to an
endon20November1997,the[first-instance]
courtrightlyappliedtheaforementionedlegal
instrumentaswellastheStateSecretsAct,as
amendedon6October1997,intheexamina-
tionofhiscase.”

35. The applicant unsuccessfully applied for super-
visory review of his conviction.

36. On 23 January 2003 the applicant was released 
on parole.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

A. Criminal liability for disclosure of State 
secrets

37. Article 275 (High Treason) of the Russian Crimi-
nal Code, in force as of 1 January 1997, pro-
vides that high treason, that is, espionage, dis-
closure of State secrets, or assistance otherwise 
provided to a foreign state, a foreign organisa-
tion, or their representatives, by way of hostile 
activities undermining the external security of 
the Russian Federation, committed by a Rus-
sian citizen, shall be punishable by twelve to 
twenty years' imprisonment and confiscation 
of property.

B. Laws and regulations concerning State 
secrets

1.TheRussianConstitutionof12December
1993

38. Article 29 § 4 of the Russian Constitution 
provides that everyone has the right to freely 
search, obtain, impart, generate and dissemi-
nate information by all lawful means and that 
a list of information constituting State secrets is 
to be defined by a federal statute.



585CASEOFPASKOVRUSSIA

EC
J

EC
HR

2.TheFederalLawonStateSecrets
(a)  Period prior to 6 October 1997

39. Federal Law on State Secrets no. 5485-1 (“the 
State Secrets Act”) was enacted on 21 July 1993 
and entered into force on 21 September 1993. 
Section 5 provided:
“The following informationmaybe classified
asStatesecrets:

(1)informationinthemilitaryfield:

...

[information] about the location, actual
names, organisational structure, armament,
numericalstrengthoftroops...

...

(4) information in the field of intelligence,
counter-intelligence and operational and
searchactivities:

...

[information]about themeansandmethods
ofprotectionofclassifieddata...”

40. Section 9 set out the procedure for classifying 
information as State secrets. Authority to classi-
fy information was delegated to heads of State 
agencies. The law itself did not contain the list 
of such officials which was to be approved by 
the Russian President. The latter was also to ap-
prove the List of Information classified as State 
secrets, which was to be officially published. 
State agencies whose heads were competent 
to decide to classify information were to draw 
up extended lists of information that was to be 
classified as State secrets. The State Secrets Act 
did not specify whether such “extended lists” 
could be made public.

41. On 16 March, 26 and 27 October 1995 the 
State Duma, noting that the absence of the 
list of classified information “deprived the law-
enforcement agencies of a legal basis for the 
performance of their duty to protect the secu-
rity of the State, community and individuals”, 
repeatedly petitioned the Government to pre-
pare for the President's approval a draft decree 
containing the list of classified information.

42. On 30 November 1995 the President approved 
Decree no. 1203 on the List of Information 
classified as State Secrets. Paragraphs 13 and 
77 of the list provided for the classification of 
“information disclosing the location, actual 
names, organisational structure, armament 
and numerical strength of troops, which is not 

subject to open declaration in accordance with 
the international obligations of the Russian 
Federation” and “information disclosing meas-
ures which are planned and/or being carried 
out to protect information from unauthorised 
access, foreign technical intelligences services 
and leaks through technical channels”. They 
also designated the Ministry of the Interior, 
the Ministry of Defence and several other State 
agencies as bodies authorised to classify such 
information.

(b)  Period after 6 October 1997

43. On 6 October 1997 Federal Law no. 131-FZ 
amending the 1993 State Secrets Act was en-
acted. The amendment was published and be-
came operative on 9 October 1997. Section 5 
of the State Secrets Act was amended to read:
“Statesecretsshallinclude:...

(1)informationinthemilitaryfield:

...

[information] about the location, actual
names, organisational structure, armament,
numericalstrengthoftroops...

...

(4) information in the field of intelligence,
counter-intelligence and operational and
searchactivities:

...

[information]about themeansandmethods
ofprotectionofclassifieddata...”

3.Case-lawoftheRussiancourts
44. On 20 December 1995 the Russian Constitu-

tional Court examined the compatibility of the 
Criminal Code of the RSFSR, then in force, with 
the Russian Constitution, in so far as the former 
established criminal liability for State treason, 
and stated:
“...ItfollowsthattheStatemayclassifyasState
secretsinformationinthefieldofdefenceand
economic and other activities, disclosure of
whichiscapableofunderminingthenational
defenceandsecurityoftheState.Inthiscon-
nectionArticle29§4oftheRussianConstitu-
tionprovidesthatthelistofinformationcon-
stitutingStatesecrets is tobeenacted inthe
formof a federal statute. TheStatemayalso
determine the means and methods for the
protectionof State secrets, includingbyway
of establishing criminal liability for its disclo-
sureandcommunicationtoaforeignState.
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However, by virtue of the above Constitu-
tionalprovision,criminalliabilityfordisclosure
of State secrets to a foreign State is justified
onlyonconditionthatthe listof information
constitutingStatesecrets isestablishedinan
officially published and publicly accessible
federal statute.Pursuant toArticle15§3of
the Constitution, no law-enforcement deci-
sion, includingconvictionbyacourt,maybe
grounded on an unpublished legal instru-
ment.

TherequirementofArticle29§4oftheRus-
sianConstitutionisimplementedintheState
SecretsActof21July1993,whichdefinesthe
notionof State secrets and lists the informa-
tionclassifiableasStatesecrets.

Accordingly, establishing criminal liability for
disclosureofStateormilitarysecretstoafor-
eignStateisnotincompatiblewithArticles15
§3,29§4and55§3oftheRussianCon-
stitution.”

45. On 29 December 1999 the St Petersburg City 
Court acquitted Mr Nikitin, a former naval of-
ficer, of charges under Articles 275 (High trea-
son) and 283 § 1 (Divulging of information 
constituting State secrets) of the Russian Crimi-
nal Code (case no. 78-000-29 78-000-29 ). Mr 
Nikitin was accused, in particular, of having col-
lected in August 1995, and having transferred 
in September 1995, information constituting 
State secrets. The court held as follows:
“... By virtue of the constitutional provisions,
alistofinformationconstitutingStatesecrets
wastobedefinedbyafederalstatute...

TherewasnosuchstatuteatthetimethatMr
Nikitin committed the alleged offences; De-
creeno.1203ofthePresidentoftheRussian
Federationof30November1995wastheonly
legalinstrumentwhichbeganregulatinglegal
relationsinthefieldoftheprotectionofState
secrets.

...

The State Secrets Act of the Russian Federa-
tionof21July1993,whichwassubsequently
subjectedtoconsiderableamendments,con-
stitutesthefederalstatutementionedinArti-
cle29§4oftheRussianConstitution.

...

However,theRussianConstitutionprescribes
the definition of the list of information con-
stituting State secrets by a federal statute.
This requirement of the Constitution was
only complied with in full when the State
SecretsActwasamended inNovember1997

to include insection5the listof information
constitutingStatesecretsinsteadofthelistof
informationwhichcouldbeclassifiedasState
secrets,whichwasmentionedinthe[original
version]oftheLaw.

Byvirtueofsection9(4)oftheAct,thelistof
information constituting State secrets must
beapprovedby thePresident. ...Byvirtueof
section9(4)oftheActinitsversionof21July
1993andasamendedon6October1997[the
list]willbepublishedandmaybe revisedas
andwhenneeded.

...

Ananalysisofsection5oftheAct(irrespective
ofitsdifferentversions)indicatesthat[theAct]
itselfdoesnotestablishanydegreeofsecrecy;
inotherwordsitdoesnotclassifyanyinforma-
tion, since it is in accordance with a special
procedureprovidedforinsection9oftheAct
thatinformationcanbeclassifiedassecret...

This also means that, in its original version,
section5of theActcannot serveas thesole
basis for charging [aperson]withespionage
ordisclosureofStatesecrets. Itmustbesup-
plementedwithotherlegalinstruments.

Itis[inparticular]Decreeno.1203oftheRus-
sianPresidentof1995which[was]usedinthe
presentcaseas[alegalinstrument]inaddition
tosection5[oftheStateSecretsAct]...

ThematerialsofthecaserevealthatMrNikitin
endedhisactivity...inSeptember1995.

ThePresidentialDecreeof30November1995
hadnotyetenteredintoforce...

Accordingly, section5of theAct (in the ver-
sion that existed at the time when the de-
fendantcommittedtheacts imputedtohim)
cannotbeusedasabasisforbringingformal
charges without supplementary legal instru-
ments which would have formed a proper
legalbasis for anaccusation ... such legal in-
struments can be applied on condition that
they were officially published and entered
intoforcepriortothecommissionoftheacts
imputedtoMrNikitin.

...Inviewoftheabove,thecourtfindsthatany
citizen of the Russian Federation... does not
(didnot)haveanyrealpossibilityofdetermin-
ing whether information constitutes a State
secretunless such information is included in
thelistofinformationconstitutingaStatese-
cretdefinedbyafederalstatuteorapproved
byadecreeoftheRussianPresident...

...
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ThenewversionoftheStateSecretsAct...of
6October1997broughttheAct intocompli-
ancewith the requirements of the Constitu-
tion, and consequently, only then did it be-
comepossibletoapplysection5oftheState
Secrets Act independently, that is, without
referringtotheListofInformationclassifiedas
StateSecretsenactedbydecreeoftheRussian
Presidenton30November1995.

Accordingly,intheperiodfrom12December
1993 until 30 November 1995 there was no
statutory definition of information constitut-
ingStatesecrets,andthereforeclassifyingany
informationassecretduringtheperiodunder
consideration ...was arbitrary andnot based
onlaw.”

46. On 17 April 2000 the Supreme Court of Russia 
upheld Mr Nikitin's acquittal in the following 
terms:
“Having acquitted Mr Nikitin for the lack of
constitutiveelementsofacriminaloffencein
his acts, the [first-instance] court proceeded
fromthepremisethatbetween12December
1993and30November1995therehadbeen
nostatutorydefinitionof informationconsti-
tuting State secrets, with the result that the
qualificationofMrNikitin'sactsbytheinvesti-
gatingbodieshadnotbeenbasedonlaw.

...

ByvirtueofArticle29§4oftheRussianCon-
stitution,whichwasenactedon12December
1993andwasinforceduringtheperiodwhen
Mr Nikitin committed the alleged offences,
the list of information constituting State se-
crets was to be defined in a federal statute.
Suchalistwasfirstdefinedinthefederallaw
introducingchangesandamendmentstothe
StateSecretsActoftheRussianFederationof
6October1997.

Taking into account that during the period
whenMrNikitin committed theallegedacts,
therewas no list of information constituting
State secrets that met the requirements of
theConstitution,theinformationthathehad
collected...anddisclosed...cannotbesaidto
have contained State secrets ... As the actus
reus of the offences under Articles 275 and
283oftheCriminalCoderefersonlytoactsin-
volvingStatesecrets,thesameactsinvolving
other informationcannotbeheld tobehigh
treasonanddisclosureofStatesecrets...

...

...The[StateSecrets]Act [in its1993version]
couldnothavebeenappliedtoMrNikitinas
itdidnotcontainthelistof informationcon-

stitutingStatesecrets,sincesection5of that
Lawreferredonlytoinformationthatcouldbe
classifiedasStatesecrets.However,Article29
§4oftheConstitutionrequiredthatthesaid
listbeestablishedinafederalstatute.Assec-
tion5oftheStateSecretsActof21July1993
andArticle29§4oftheConstitutionreferto
differentsubjects,thecourtcannotagreewith
theargumentof[theprosecutingparty]tothe
effectthatthedifferencebetweenthesepro-
visionsismerelysemantic...”

47. On 25 July 2000 the Supreme Court of Russia 
quashed on appeal, and remitted for a fresh 
examination to a trial court, the sentence of 
Mr Moiseyev, a former employee of the Rus-
sian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, who had been 
charged with offences under Article 275 of the 
Russian Criminal Code. It found as follows:

“Infinding[theapplicant]guiltyoftheoffence
under Article 275 of the Criminal Code, the
[first-instance] court noted that ... between
early1994and3July1998[theapplicant]had
...communicatedinformationanddocuments
containingStatesecrets to theSouthKorean
intelligence service. The [first-instance] court
only gave a general list of information and
documents ..., without specifying which in-
formationanddocuments[theapplicant]had
communicated, and when. As the offences
imputed to [the applicant] were continuous
and spanned the period from 1992-1993 to
July1998,duringwhichtimetheRussianlaws
evolved, thedeterminationof these issues is
ofcrucialimportanceforthecase.

PursuanttoArticle29§4oftheConstitution
... the list of information constituting State
secretswastobedefinedinafederalstatute.
Sucha listwasfirstestablishedinthefederal
law of 6 October 1997 introducing changes
andamendments to theStateSecretsActof
theRussianFederation.Hence,untilthatdate
there was no list of information constitut-
ing State secrets that met the requirements
of theConstitution.As there is no indication
in the judgment about the time when [the
applicant] transmitted the information and
documents, it is impossible to reach thecor-
rect conclusion as to which of the offences
imputed to the applicant were committed
during theperiodwhen the federal lawcon-
tainingthelistofStatesecretsandcompatible
withtherequirementsoftheConstitutionwas
inforce.”
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tHE LAW

ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLES 7 
AND 10 OF THE CONVENTION

48. The applicant complained under Article 7 
of the Convention that the domestic courts 
had retrospectively applied and extensively 
construed the State Secrets Act in his case. 
He further complained under Article 10 of 
the Convention of a violation of his freedom 
of expression. The applicant claimed that he 
had been subjected to an overly broad and 
politically motivated criminal persecution as a 
reprisal for his critical publications. In particular, 
he had never transferred any information con-
taining State secrets to Mr T.O., a Japanese jour-
nalist. Nevertheless, he had been convicted for 
his alleged intention to transfer his handwrit-
ten notes, which had been found to contain 
State secrets, to Mr T.O., the only basis for such 
a finding being the fact that he had previously 
legitimately communicated information to the 
Japanese journalist on several occasions. The 
applicant further complained that in so far as 
his handwritten notes had been found to have 
contained the actual names of military forma-
tions and units and the activities of radio elec-
tronic warfare units, this information had been 
publicly accessible from a number of public 
sources, including internet sites, and that he 
had been unable to foresee that this informa-
tion had constituted State secrets, as this find-
ing had been based on the unpublished – and 
therefore inaccessible – Decree no. 055 of the 
Ministry of Defence. The respective Conven-
tion provisions, in their relevant parts, provide:

Article 7

“1.Nooneshallbeheldguiltyofanycriminal
offence on account of any act or omission
which did not constitute a criminal offence
undernationalorinternationallawatthetime
whenitwascommitted...

2.Thisarticleshallnotprejudicethetrialand
punishmentofanypersonforanyactoromis-
sionwhich,atthetimewhenitwascommit-
ted, was criminal according to the general
principles of law recognised by civilised na-
tions.”

Article 10

“1. Everyonehas the right to freedomof ex-
pression. This right shall include freedom to
hold opinions and to receive and impart in-

formation and ideaswithout interference by
publicauthority...

2.Theexerciseofthesefreedoms,sinceitcar-
rieswithitdutiesandresponsibilities,maybe
subjecttosuchformalities,conditions,restric-
tionsorpenaltiesasareprescribedbylawand
are necessary in a democratic society, in the
interestsofnationalsecurity, territorial integ-
rityorpublicsafety,forthepreventionofdis-
orderorcrime,fortheprotectionofhealthor
morals,fortheprotectionofthereputationor
rightsofothers,forpreventingthedisclosure
of information received in confidence, or for
maintaining theauthority and impartialityof
thejudiciary.”

C. Submissions by the parties
1.Theapplicant

49. In so far as his complaints under Article 7 of the 
Convention were concerned, the applicant in-
sisted that he had been convicted on the basis 
of retrospective application of the State Secrets 
Act. He argued, in particular, that between 11 
September 1997, the date on which he had 
collected the information in question, and 9 
October 1997, the date on which the amend-
ment to the State Secrets Act incorporating 
the list of information classified as secret had 
become operative, there had been no such 
list defined in a federal statute, and therefore 
there had been no legal basis for his convic-
tion for the alleged offence for that period. The 
applicant contended that Presidential Decree 
no. 1203 of 30 November 1995, approving the 
list of information classified as State secrets, 
could not be regarded as a proper legal basis 
for his conviction, given that Article 29 § 4 of 
the Constitution clearly stated that “a list of 
information constituting State secrets shall be 
defined by a federal statute”. He also insisted 
that in the absence of such a list he had been 
unable to foresee that his actions had been 
criminally liable.

50. In that respect, the applicant relied on the 
case-law of the Russian courts in the cases of 
Nikitin v. Russia (no. 50178/99, ECHR 2004-VIII) 
and Moiseyev v. Russia (no. 62936/00, 9 Octo-
ber 2008). In particular, he pointed out that the 
Supreme Court of Russia in its decision of 17 
April 2000, given in the case of Nikitin, and in 
its decision of 25 July 2000, given in the case 
of Moiseyev, had consistently stated that the 
list of information constituting State secrets 
should be defined in a federal statute, and that 
such a list had first been established in the fed-
eral law of 6 October 1997 introducing chang-
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es and amendments to the State Secrets Act of 
the Russian Federation.

51. The applicant further contended that the do-
mestic courts had relied on unpublished De-
cree no. 055 of the Ministry of Defence, which, 
in his opinion, had lead to an extensive inter-
pretation and overly broad application of the 
State Secrets Act. Whilst he accepted that the 
trial court had not referred to Decree no. 055 
directly, he considered that the court had re-
lied on it indirectly by using the expert report 
of 14 September 2001. According to the ap-
plicant, the report in question had established 
the classified nature of his handwritten notes 
on the basis of the above-mentioned unpub-
lished decree. In his view, this was confirmed 
by the formula “the activities of radio electronic 
warfare units during the exercises” used by the 
trial court in his conviction and taken word for 
word from Decree no. 055, rather than from 
section 5 of the State Secrets Act. In the ap-
plicant's submission, the formula employed 
in the Act was narrower and covered only one 
type of the activities of radio electronic warfare 
units, namely information concerning “the 
means and methods of protection of classified 
data”. The applicant also pointed out that the 
use of Decree no. 055 in his case had been ac-
knowledged by the appellate court, which had 
stated in its decision of 25 June 2002 that the 
expert report of 14 September 2001 had been 
based on the State Secrets Act, Presidential De-
cree no. 1203 and Ministerial Decree no. 055.

52. The applicant thus argued that, in any event, 
he could not have foreseen that the informa-
tion which he had collected at the meeting of 
11 September 1997 could have been of a clas-
sified nature, as none of the participants at the 
said meeting had informed the others about 
the secret nature of the information which had 
been distributed at the meeting. He also insist-
ed that the information which he had collected 
and kept at home was of minor importance.

53. The applicant further maintained his complaint 
under Article 10 of the Convention. He insisted 
that the authorities had persecuted him for 
his journalistic activity and his publication of 
articles on serious environmental issues. He 
also contended that the impugned informa-
tion could have been found in public sources, 
and in particular in reports by various envi-
ronmental organisations, that it was of minor 
importance and that it could not therefore be 
regarded as a State secret.

2.TheGovernment
54. The Government argued that in the applicant's 

case the domestic courts had not applied the 
domestic law retrospectively, nor had they 
construed it extensively.

55. They submitted that the courts' assessment of 
the applicant's actions and, consequently, his 
conviction had been based on Article 275 of 
the Russian Criminal Code, the State Secrets 
Act as amended on 6 October 1997 and De-
cree no. 1203 of the Russian President of 30 
November 1995, which approved the List of 
Information classified as State Secrets. They 
referred to the decision of 25 June 2002 in 
which the appellate court confirmed that the 
trial court had lawfully applied the said legal 
instruments in the applicant's case, given that 
the offence imputed to the applicant had been 
of a continuous nature, had commenced on 11 
September 1997, when the applicant collected 
the imputed notes, and had been halted on 
20 November 1997, when the notes had been 
seized from the applicant. According to the 
Government, in a situation where there was a 
criminal offence of a continuing nature, it was 
legislation in force at the moment when such 
an offence was halted that was applicable. The 
Government contended that the applicant 
could not but have foreseen the application 
of the above-mentioned legal instruments, as 
all of them had been duly published and had 
therefore been accessible to him.

56. The Government disputed the applicant's argu-
ment that at the time when he had committed 
the offences imputed to him the information 
classified as secret had not been defined by 
law. In the Government's submission, the deci-
sion of the Constitutional Court of Russia dated 
20 December 1995 had established that the 
requirements of Article 29 § 4 of the Constitu-
tion of Russia had been fulfilled by enactment 
of the State Secrets Act of 21 July 1993, which 
had defined the notion of State secrets and 
listed the information classifiable as State se-
crets. They also submitted that, subsequently, 
Presidential Decree no. 1203 of 30 November 
1995 had enacted the list of information classi-
fied as State secrets. The Government pointed 
out that, in any event, the amendment of 6 
October 1997 had not changed the provisions 
of section 5 of the State Secrets Act which had 
formed the basis for the applicant's conviction.

57. In so far as the applicant complained that the 
domestic courts had relied on a secret Decree 
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no. 055 of the Ministry of Defence, which had 
allegedly lead to an extensive interpretation 
and overly broad application of the State Se-
crets Act, the Government contended that the 
said decree only defined the degree of secrecy 
of information classified as State secrets under 
federal law and had not prescribed any rules 
of conduct for individuals, but had been in-
tended only for establishing the manner and 
criteria for defining the degree of secrecy of in-
formation classified as State secrets, and there-
fore had not pertained to a category of legal 
instruments which were to be published. The 
Government thus insisted that Decree no. 055 
had been relied on in the applicant's case only 
in so far as it had been necessary to assess the 
degree of importance and secrecy of the infor-
mation collected by the applicant rather than 
for determining whether that information had 
constituted a State secret, this latter question 
having been decided on the basis of the State 
Secrets Act and Presidential Decree no. 1203.

58. The Government further argued that the ap-
plicant's case was distinguishable from the 
Nikitin case referred to by the applicant. They 
pointed out that in the latter case, the offences 
imputed to Mr Nikitin had been committed be-
fore 5 October 1995, that is, before Presidential 
Decree no. 1203 had been enacted, whereas 
in the present case the actions imputed to 
the applicant had been halted on 20 Novem-
ber 1997, when the said decree was already 
in force. The Government further contended 
that the applicant's reference to the case of 
Moiseyev was also incorrect, given that the 
decision of the Supreme Court of Russia on 
which the applicant relied had been quashed 
and Mr Moiseyev had been convicted of es-
pionage in a new set of court proceedings. The 
Government pointed out that legal arguments 
concerning the allegedly retrospective applica-
tion of the State Secrets Act deployed by the 
appellate court in its final decision in the case 
of Moiseyev had been similar to those of the 
appellate court in its decision of 25 June 2002 
in the applicant's case, and therefore there had 
been no conflict on that issue in the practice of 
the domestic courts.

59. They also pointed out that the applicant could 
not but have realised that the information 
which he had recorded in his written notes 
had been classified, since it had been disclosed 
among a limited group of persons at the meet-
ing of 11 September 1997 on condition that it 
would be kept secret. The Government con-
cluded that the provisions of Article 7 of the 

Convention had not been infringed in the ap-
plicant's case.

60. The Government further disputed as unsub-
stantiated the applicant's argument that he 
had been a victim of political persecution be-
cause of his journalistic activities and critical 
articles and pointed out that his conviction 
had been based on various pieces of evidence 
relied on by the Pacific Fleet Military Court in its 
judgment of 25 December 2001. The Govern-
ment argued that the interference with the ap-
plicant's freedom of expression had been jus-
tified under Article 10 § 2 of the Convention. 
They submitted that, in accordance with the 
domestic legislation on the media, divulging 
information containing State secrets was pro-
hibited and that information must be received 
and imparted lawfully. They further pointed 
out that at the material time the applicant had 
been a serving military officer and by virtue of 
the relevant legal provisions he had been en-
titled to have access to any classified informa-
tion only in so far as this had been rendered 
necessary by his professional duties and only 
to write down classified information on the 
source material that had been registered by a 
competent authority. Moreover, he had been 
under an obligation to keep secret any classi-
fied information he had received and prevent 
any leaks of such information. It had also been 
prohibited to take secret materials outside the 
premises of the headquarters or to keep them 
in an inappropriate place. They insisted that, by 
virtue of his status of a serviceman, the appli-
cant had been fully aware of all those limita-
tions and could have clearly foreseen the nega-
tive consequences of a breach of the relevant 
regulations.

61. The Government conceded that the applicant 
had indeed been convicted not for the trans-
fer of the imputed information to Mr T.O., but 
rather for his intention to transfer it. In this con-
nection, however, they pointed out that the el-
ements of an offence punishable under Article 
275 of the Russian Criminal Code included not 
only the transfer itself but also the collection, 
theft or storage with the intention to transfer of 
information constituting State secrets and that 
the applicant's intention to transfer the imput-
ed information to Mr T.O. had been proven by 
evidence examined by the trial court, namely 
by the recordings of the applicant's telephone 
conversations with Mr T.O.

62. The Government further contested the ap-
plicant's allegation that the information con-
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tained in his handwritten notes had been 
available from public sources. They submitted 
that these arguments had been thoroughly 
examined by the domestic courts and rejected 
as unfounded. The Government pointed out 
that the materials of the criminal case against 
the applicant had contained several publica-
tions, including that of the applicant, which 
had reported on the results of the tactical train-
ing exercises but did not disclose any classi-
fied information, in particular any information 
concerning the actual names of military units, 
or the means and methods of radio electronic 
warfare. Having compared those publications 
and the applicant's handwritten notes, the 
courts rightly concluded that the information 
in the applicant's handwritten notes had not 
been accessible from public sources.

63. Lastly, the Government disputed the ap-
plicant's assertion that by collecting the im-
pugned information, he had carried out his 
usual journalistic activity. In this connection 
they referred to the recordings of the appli-
cant's telephone conversations with Mr T.O., 
which clearly showed that the latter had ex-
pressed an interest only in information of a 
classified nature.

D. The Court's assessment
64. The Court observes that the applicant was con-

victed of having collected on 11 September 
1997 and kept until 20 November 1997, the 
date on which he was arrested, information 
containing State secrets. The applicant com-
plained, in essence, that his conviction had 
been unlawful, since in so far as the period be-
tween 11 September 1997 and 8 October 1997 
was concerned, there had been no statutory list 
of information constituting State secrets, whilst 
with regard to the period from 9 October 1997, 
the date on which an amendment incorporat-
ing such a list into domestic law had become 
effective, until 20 November 1997, the do-
mestic courts had extensively interpreted the 
applicable domestic law and based his convic-
tion on an unpublished ministerial decree. The 
applicant argued that he had therefore been 
unable to foresee criminal responsibility for his 
conduct during either of these periods.

65. Having regard to the circumstances of the pre-
sent case, the Court considers that the crux of 
it is the alleged violation of the applicant's right 
to freedom of expression. It is therefore consid-
ers it appropriate to examine the applicant's 
complaints under Article 10 of the Convention.

66. Bearing in mind that the applicant was a serv-
ing officer, the Court reiterates that the free-
dom of expression guaranteed by Article 10 of 
the Convention applies to servicemen just as 
it does to other persons within the jurisdiction 
of Contracting States. Also, the information dis-
closure of which was imputed to the applicant 
does not fall outside the scope of Article 10, 
which is not restricted to certain categories of 
information, ideas or forms of expression (see 
Hadjianastassiou v. Greece, 16 December 1992, 
§ 39, Series A no. 252). The Court is therefore 
satisfied that Article 10 of the Convention is ap-
plicable in the present case and that the sen-
tence imposed on the applicant constituted 
an interference with his right to freedom of 
expression. Such interference infringes Article 
10 unless it was “prescribed by law”, pursued 
one or more of the legitimate aims set out in 
paragraph 2 of Article 10 and was “necessary in 
a democratic society” in order to attain those 
aims.

1.Whethertheinterferencewaslawful
67. The Court reiterates that the expression “pre-

scribed by law”, within the meaning of Article 
10 § 2 of the Convention, requires first of all 
that the impugned measure should have some 
basis in domestic law; however, it also refers 
to the quality of the law in question, requir-
ing that it should be accessible to the person 
concerned, who must be able to foresee the 
consequences of his or her actions, and that it 
should be sufficiently precise.

(a)  Basis in national law

68. As regards the first aspect, the Court observes 
that the Russian Constitution of 12 December 
1993 in its Article 29 § 4 states that “the list of 
information constituting State secrets shall be 
defined by a federal statute”. Until 9 October 
1997, section 5 of the State Secrets Act, which 
predated the Russian Constitution by a few 
months, only referred to a list of information 
that “may be” classified as State secrets, follow-
ing the relevant procedure. Authority to clas-
sify information was conferred on the heads of 
State agencies, and the power to approve such 
a list was delegated to the President. The latter 
enacted the relevant decree on 30 November 
1995. On 6 October 1997 section 5 of the State 
Secrets Act was amended so as to incorpo-
rate the list of information constituting State 
secrets, and the amendment was published 
and entered into force on 9 October 1997 (see 
paragraphs 38-43 above).
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69. Against this background, the applicant sug-
gested that two consecutive periods should 
be distinguished: the period between 11 Sep-
tember 1997 (the date on which the appli-
cant collected the information in question) 
and 8 October 1997; and between 9 October 
1997 (the date on which the amendments to 
the State Secrets Act became operative) and 
20 November 1997, the date on which the ap-
plicant was arrested. The Government and the 
domestic courts, on the contrary, considered 
this distinction immaterial because the crimi-
nal offence of which the applicant was convict-
ed was classified as “continuous perpetration” 
that is punishable under the law in force at the 
time that the applicant was intercepted by the 
authorities. However, their principal argument 
was that in any event the applicant's conduct 
constituted a criminal offence even before 9 
October 1997. The Court will therefore begin 
by examining the legal basis for the applicant's 
conviction in these two periods.

i 11 September-8 October 1997

70. In so far as the first period is concerned, the 
parties disagreed as to whether the applicant's 
conviction for the offence imputed to him had 
a formal basis in national law, or whether the 
applicant's actions were punishable under 
the Russian law then in force. The applicant 
contended that there had been no such basis 
during the relevant period as the State Secrets 
Act contained only a list of information that 
“may be” – rather than “shall be” – classified 
as State secrets, whereas the enactment of 
that list in Presidential Decree no. 1203 of 30 
November 1995 was in contravention of Arti-
cle 29 § 4 of the Russian Constitution, which 
clearly required such list to be defined by a fed-
eral statute. The Government insisted that the 
State Secrets Act of 21 July 1993, together with 
Presidential Decree no. 1203 of 30 November 
1995, formed a sufficient legal basis for the ap-
plicant's conviction for the imputed offence 
during the relevant period, given that both 
documents had been duly published and were 
accessible to him.

71. The Court observes that under Article 29 § 4 
of the Russian Constitution the list of informa-
tion classified as secret was to be defined by 
a federal statute. The said constitutional provi-
sion presupposed that in the absence of such a 
statute there was no legal basis for the criminal 
prosecution of a person for disclosure of State 
secrets. However, the State Secrets Act as in 
force at the relevant time only listed informa-

tion classifiable – and not classified – as secret, 
and could not therefore be said to have clearly 
provided a list of such information. On the oth-
er hand, during the relevant period such a list 
was defined by Presidential Decree no. 1203 of 
30 October 1995. The domestic courts relied on 
those two legal instruments as the basis for the 
applicant's conviction. The question to be de-
cided in the present case is therefore whether, 
in view of the relevant requirements of the 
Russian Constitution, a sufficient legal basis for 
the alleged interference with the applicant's 
rights under Article 10 of the Convention can 
be established in a situation where a federal 
statute's reference to a list of information that 
“may be” classified as State secret was detailed 
in a presidential decree – a legal instrument of 
a lower rank than a statute.

72. The respondent Government advanced an ar-
gument to the effect that the Constitutional 
Court of Russia (“the Constitutional Court”) in 
its decision of 20 December 1995 had held 
that the requirements of Article 29 § 4 of the 
Russian Constitution had been fulfilled by the 
State Secrets Act of 21 July 1993. In the circum-
stances of the present case, the Court does not 
consider it necessary to address the question 
of whether during the period under examina-
tion the State Secrets Act, taken alone, could 
have constituted a sufficient legal basis for the 
applicant's conviction, as in any event it was 
not applied in his case alone, but in conjunc-
tion with the Presidential Decree of 30 Novem-
ber 1995.

73. The Court further reiterates that, according to 
its settled case-law, the concept of “law” must 
be understood in its “substantive” sense, not its 
“formal” one. It therefore includes everything 
that goes to make up the written law, includ-
ing enactments of lower rank than statutes 
and the court decisions interpreting them (see 
Association Ekin v. France, no. 39288/98, § 46, 
ECHR 2001-VIII). In the present case, the Court 
notes that the Russian Constitution established 
a principle that a list of classified information 
should be defined by a federal statute and that 
amendments were subsequently made to the 
State Secrets Act so as to bring it into conform-
ity with the relevant constitutional require-
ment. It is clear that in the period between 12 
December 1993, the date on which the Russian 
Constitution entered into force, and 9 October 
1997, the date on which the amendments to 
the State Secrets Act became operative, there 
was a pressing need for a legal instrument 
which would have provided the competent 
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authorities with a legal basis “for the perfor-
mance of their duty to protect the security of 
the State, community and individuals” (see par-
agraph 41 above). The Court is inclined to con-
sider that the Russian authorities were justified 
in responding to that need through the enact-
ment of a presidential decree – the procedure 
for the adoption of such a legal instrument 
being less complicated and more speedy than 
that of a federal statute – given in particular 
their margin of appreciation in regulating the 
protection of State secrecy (see Stoll v. Switzer-
land [GC], no. 69698/01, § 107, ECHR 2007- ...). 
The adopted decree clearly listed categories 
of information classified as secret and was ac-
cessible to the public so that any individual, 
including the applicant, could coordinate their 
conduct accordingly.

74. The Court further notes that in support of his 
argument that the State Secrets Act in its origi-
nal version and Presidential Decree no. 1203 of 
30 November 1995 could not be regarded as a 
proper legal basis for his conviction, the appli-
cant referred to two decisions by the Supreme 
Court of Russia in two other criminal cases 
concerning disclosure of State secrets, namely 
those of Nikitin and Moiseyev, in which the Su-
preme Court had consistently stated that the 
list of information constituting State secrets 
should be defined in a federal statute, and that 
such a list had first been defined in the federal 
law of 6 October 1997 introducing changes 
and amendments to the State Secrets Act of 
the Russian Federation.

75. In so far as the applicant referred to Mr Nikitin's 
case, the Court notes the Government's argu-
ment that the offences imputed to Mr Nikitin 
were committed in August and September 
1995, when Presidential Decree no. 1203 was 
not yet in force. The first-instance court in its 
judgment of 29 December 1999 directly re-
ferred to this circumstance as the ground for 
Mr Nikitin's acquittal, stating that the classifi-
cation of information as a State secret prior to 
30 November 1995 had been arbitrary and not 
based on law. However, the first-instance court 
does not seem to have doubted that from that 
date onwards there was a sufficient legal basis 
for criminal prosecution for disclosure of State 
secrets. Admittedly, the trial court stated that 
the respective requirement of Article 29 § 4 
of the Russian Constitution was complied with 
in full only when the amendment of 6 October 
1997 entered into force, but it also consistently 
held that the State Secrets Act in its original 
version, applied in conjunction with the Presi-

dential Decree of 30 November 1995, could 
have constituted a proper legal basis for bring-
ing charges for disclosure of State secrets (see 
paragraph 45 above).

76. When giving its ruling on appeal, the Supreme 
Court confirmed that during the period that 
Mr Nikitin committed his acts there had been 
no list of information classified as State secrets, 
and therefore the information that he had col-
lected and disclosed could not be said to have 
contained State secrets. It is true that the ap-
pellate court also stated that such a list had 
first been defined following the enactment of 
the amendment of 6 October 1997 to the State 
Secrets Act; however, it did not express any 
opinion as to whether prior to the enactment 
of the amendment, the application of the State 
Secrets Act, taken together with the Presiden-
tial Decree of 30 November 1995, would have 
sufficed for a criminal prosecution for disclo-
sure of State secrets (see paragraph 46 above).

77. Secondly, as regards Mr Moiseyev's case, the 
latter was accused of offences that spanned 
the period from 1992-1993 to July 1998. The 
decision of the Supreme Court of 25 July 2000 
in Mr Moiseyev's case, referred to by the ap-
plicant, stated that the first-instance court 
had failed to determine the precise timing of 
the commission of the offences, and that it 
was therefore unclear which of those offences 
had been committed during the period when 
the State Secrets Act had complied with the 
requirements of Article 29 § 4 of the Russian 
Constitution. As in Mr Nikitin's case, the Su-
preme Court did not say anything concerning 
the Presidential Decree of 30 November 1995 
(see paragraph 47 above). The Court is not 
therefore convinced that the court decisions 
relied on by the applicant are directly relevant 
in his situation, or that they should be inter-
preted in the way suggested by him, particu-
larly as those indicating that the State Secrets 
Act in its original version and the Presidential 
Decree of 30 November 1995 had not consti-
tuted a sufficient legal basis for his conviction.

78. Lastly, the Court notes that the domestic courts 
in the applicant's case consistently referred to 
the State Secrets Act and the Presidential De-
cree of 30 November 1995 as the basis for the 
applicant's conviction. It reiterates in this con-
nection that it is primarily for the national au-
thorities, notably the courts, to interpret and 
apply domestic law and that the Court will not 
express its opinion contrary to theirs unless 
their interpretation appear arbitrary or mani-
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festly unreasonable. In the light of the forego-
ing considerations, the Court sees no reasons 
to depart from the interpretation given by the 
domestic courts. It therefore considers that the 
State Secrets Act of 21 July 1993 listing catego-
ries of information that may be classified as 
secret, and which was supplemented by Presi-
dential Decree no. 1203 of 30 November 1995, 
listing information classified as secret with suf-
ficient precision – both documents being pub-
licly available so as to enable the applicant to 
foresee the consequences of his actions – con-
stituted a sufficient legal basis for the interfer-
ence with the applicant's rights under Article 
10 of the Convention with regard to the period 
between 11 September and 8 October 1997.

ii 9 October-20 November 1997

79. As regards the second period, the Court notes 
that it is not in dispute between the parties 
that the State Secrets Act in its amended ver-
sion constituted a legal basis for the applicant's 
conviction.

iii Overall

80. In view of the above the Court finds that there 
existed sufficient legal basis for the applicant's 
conviction throughout the whole period be-
tween 11 September and 20 November 1997. 
Furthermore, the Court gives weight to the 
undisputed existence of such basis as of 20 
November 1997 which, given the continuous 
nature of the offence, was sufficient under the 
domestic law to bring the applicant's conduct 
within the provision of the Criminal Code ap-
plicable in his case.

(b)  Quality of law

81. The applicant also complained that the do-
mestic courts' finding that information col-
lected by him had contained State secrets had 
been based on Decree no. 055 of the Ministry 
of Defence, a secret and therefore inaccessible 
document relied on by the experts in their re-
port of 14 September 2001, which had led to 
an extensive interpretation and overly broad 
application of the State Secrets Act and Presi-
dential Decree no. 1203. He insisted that in 
such circumstances he could not have fore-
seen that the information he had collected had 
been classified and that his actions had been 
criminally liable. The Government conceded 
that the ministerial decree referred to by the 
applicant had been applied in his case, but ar-
gued that it had only been used to assess the 
degree of importance and secrecy of the infor-

mation collected by the applicant rather than 
for deciding whether that information consti-
tuted a State secret.

82. The applicant disputed, in essence, that the 
domestic law applied in his case had met the 
criteria of foreseeability and accessibility, or, 
in other words, that his conviction had been 
“lawful” within the meaning of Article 10 of 
the Convention. In this connection, the Court 
notes firstly that, as it has already held above, 
the State Secrets Act, taken together with Pres-
idential Decree no. 1203, were in themselves 
sufficiently precise to enable the applicant to 
foresee the consequences of his actions. In so 
far as the applicant complained of the exten-
sive and therefore unforeseeable interpreta-
tion of the said legal instruments by the do-
mestic courts, which had allegedly relied on an 
unpublished ministerial decree, it is clear from 
the facts of the present case that the applicant, 
by virtue of his office, had access to Decree no. 
055, read it and signed a document to that ef-
fect in autumn 1996 (see paragraph 19 above), 
that is, prior to the commission of the offences 
imputed to him. Against this background, the 
Court rejects the applicant's argument con-
cerning the alleged lack of accessibility and 
foreseeability of the domestic law applied in 
his case.

83. Overall, the Court is satisfied that in the circum-
stances of the present case the domestic law 
met the qualitative requirements of accessibil-
ity and foreseeability, and that therefore the 
alleged interference with the applicant's rights 
under Article 10 of the Convention was lawful, 
within the meaning of the Convention.

2.Whethertheinterferencepursueda
legitimateaim

84. The Court further has no difficulties in accept-
ing that the measure complained of pursued a 
legitimate aim, namely protection of the inter-
ests of national security.

3.Whethertheinterferencewasnecessaryin
ademocraticsociety

85. As regards the proportionality of the interfer-
ence at issue, the Court notes first of all that the 
applicant's argument that his intent to transfer 
the impugned information was not proven and 
that the said information could be found in 
public sources appear unconvincing. The do-
mestic courts carefully scrutinised each of the 
applicant's arguments and corroborated their 
findings with several items of evidence. They 
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relied, in particular, on several recordings of 
the applicant's telephone conversations with 
a Japanese national, proving his intention to 
transfer the information in question to Mr T.O. 
(see paragraphs 22 and 32 above). The domes-
tic courts also gave due consideration to, and 
rejected as unreliable, the applicant's argu-
ment that the information collected by him 
was publicly accessible. Indeed, they critically 
assessed the expert report of 14 September 
2001, having compared the experts' conclu-
sions with other materials of the case, and re-
jected those conclusions which listed as classi-
fied information that could be found in public 
sources, such as a military reference book on 
submarines or a Greenpeace report (see para-
graph 26 above). In respect of the information 
collected by the applicant, they noted, howev-
er, that it was not openly published (see para-
graph 32 above).

86. The Court further cannot but accept the argu-
ments of the domestic courts and the Gov-
ernment that, as a serving military officer, the 
applicant was bound by an obligation of dis-
cretion in relation to anything concerning the 
performance of his duties (see Hadjianastas-
siou, cited above, § 46). The Court also consid-
ers that the disclosure of the information con-
cerning military exercises which the applicant 
had collected and kept was capable of causing 
considerable damage to national security. It is 
true that the applicant did not in fact transfer 
the information in question to a foreign nation-
al; on the other hand, the Court does not over-
look the fact that his sentence was very lenient, 
much lower than the statutory minimum, and 
notably four years' imprisonment as compared 
with twelve to twenty years' imprisonment 
and confiscation of property (see paragraphs 
28 and 37 above).

87. Overall, the Court observes that the applicant 
was convicted as a serving military officer, and 
not as a journalist, of treason through espio-
nage for having collected and kept, with the 
intention of transferring it to a foreign national, 
information of a military nature that was clas-
sified as a State secret. The materials in the 
Court's possession reveal that the domestic 
courts carefully examined the circumstances 
of the applicant's case, addressed the parties' 
arguments and based their findings on vari-
ous items of evidence. Their decisions appear 
reasoned and well-founded. On balance, the 
Court considers that the domestic courts can-
not be said to have overstepped the limits 
of the margin of appreciation which is to be 

left to the domestic authorities in matters of 
national security (see Hadjianastassiou, cited 
above, § 47). Nor does the evidence disclose 
the lack of a reasonable relationship of propor-
tionality between the means employed and 
the legitimate aim pursued. There is nothing in 
the materials of the case to support the appli-
cant's allegation that his conviction was overly 
broad or politically motivated or that he had 
been sanctioned for any of his publications.

88. In the light of the foregoing, the Court finds 
that there has been no violation of Article 10 of 
the Convention in the present case.

89. The Court further notes that the applicant's 
complaints under Article 7 of the Convention 
concern the same facts as those examined un-
der Article 10 of the Convention. Having regard 
to its findings under this latter provision, the 
Court considers that it is unnecessary to exam-
ine those complaints separately.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT

1. Holds by six votes to one that there has been 
no violation of Article 10 of the Convention;

2. Holds unanimously that the applicant's com-
plaints under Article 7 of the Convention raise 
no separate issue.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 22 Oc-
tober 2009, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the 
Rules of Court.

Søren Nielsen, Registrar
Christos Rozakis, President

In accordance with Article 45 § 2 of the Conven-
tion and Rule 74 § 2 of the Rules of Court, the dis-
senting opinion of Judge Giorgio Malinverni is an-
nexed to this judgment.

DIssEntInG oPInIon oF 
JUDGE MALInVERnI
1. Unlike the majority, I am of the opinion that 

there has been a violation of Article 10 in re-
spect of the period between 11 September and 
8 October 1997. The Court should have strictly 
interpreted the requirement of Article 29 § 4 
of the Russian Constitution and held that in the 
absence of a federal statute complying with 
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that requirement, there was no proper basis 
in domestic law for the applicant's conviction.

2. The reasons why I have serious doubts that the 
State Secrets Act in its original version, taken 
alone, could be regarded as a legal basis for the 
applicant's conviction are the following.

3. Firstly, the Supreme Court of Russia, in its deci-
sions on appeal in the cases of Nikitin and Moi-
seyev of 17 April and 25 July 2000 respectively, 
noted that the requirements of Article 29 § 4 
of the Russian Constitution had been met only 
after the amendments of 6 October 1997 were 
made to the State Secrets Act (see paragraphs 
46 and 47). Moreover, the fact that on 30 Octo-
ber 1995 the Russian President enacted Decree 
no. 1203 on the List of Information classified 
as State Secrets suggests that the Russian au-
thorities acknowledged the existence of a legal 
lacuna in this field.

4. As regards Presidential Decree no. 1203, it is 
true that this document, officially published 
and publicly available, established the list of 
information classified as State secrets. Never-
theless, I am not convinced that the relevant 
constitutional requirements were met by the 
enactment of this legal instrument, given that 
Article 29 § 4 of the Russian Constitution 
clearly referred to “a federal statute” – a legal 
act adopted by the national parliament as the 
result of a legislative process – rather than any 
enactments of lower rank such as presidential 
or governmental decrees. The fact that the 
necessary amendments were eventually made 
to the State Secrets Act to bring it into con-
formity with Article 29 § 4 of the Russian Con-
stitution indicates, in my view, that the Russian 
authorities did not themselves consider that 
the relevant requirements of the Russian Con-
stitution had been met by the adoption of a 
presidential decree.

5. In the light of the above considerations I am 
unable to conclude that the State Secrets Act 
in its original version and the presidential de-
cree of 30 November 1995 could be regarded 
as a sufficient legal basis for the alleged inter-
ference with the applicant's rights under Ar-
ticle 10 of the Convention with regard to the 
period between 11 September and 8 October 
1997.



597

EC
J

EC
HR



598 

EC
HR

EC
J



599CASEOFDOWSETTVTHEUNITEDKINGDOM

EC
J

EC
HR

SECOND SECTION

CAsE oF DoWsEtt v tHE 
UnItED KInGDoM

(Application no. 39482/98 39482/98)

JUDGMENT

STRASBOURG

24 June 2003

FINAL

24/09/2003



600 CASEOFDOWSETTVTHEUNITEDKINGDOM

EC
HR

EC
J

DISCLOSURE OF EVIDENCE, CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS, 
INVESTIGATION, PUBLIC INTEREST, NATIONAL SECU-
RITY, SECRET

IN THE CASE Of DOWSETT v. THE uNITED KINGDOM,

The European Court of Human Rights (Second Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Mr J.-P. Costa, President,  
Sir Nicolas Bratza,  
Mr L. Loucaides,  
Mr C. Bîrsan, 
Mr V. Butkevych,  
Mr M. Ugrekhelidze,  
Mrs A. Mularoni, judges,  
and Mrs S. Dollé, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 3 June 2003,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

39482/98 ) against the United Kingdom of 
Great Britain and Northern Ireland lodged with 
the European Commission of Human Rights 
(“the Commission”) under former Article 25 
of the Convention for the Protection of Hu-
man Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (“the 
Convention”) by a United Kingdom national, 
Mr James Dowsett (“the applicant”), on 20 Sep-
tember 1994. 

2. The applicant, who had been granted legal aid, 
was represented by Ms A. Bromley, a solicitor 
practising in Nottingham, and Mr A. Masters, a 
barrister practising in London. The United King-
dom Government (“the Government”) were 
represented by their Agent, Mr C. Whomersley, 
of the Foreign and Commonwealth Office.

3. The applicant alleged that he had been de-
prived of a fair trial by virtue of the prosecu-
tion’s failure to disclose all material evidence in 
their possession.

4. The application was transmitted to the Court 
on 1 November 1998, when Protocol No. 11 to 
the Convention came into force (Article 5 § 2 
of Protocol No. 11).

5. The application was allocated to the Third Sec-
tion of the Court (Rule 52 § 1 of the Rules of 
Court). 

6. On 1 November 2001 the Court changed the 
composition of its Sections (Rule 25 § 1). This 
case was assigned to the newly composed Sec-
ond Section (Rule 52 § 1). Within that Section, 
the Chamber that would consider the case 
(Article 27 § 1 of the Convention) was consti-
tuted as provided in Rule 26 § 1.

7. By a decision of 14 May 2002, the Chamber de-
clared the application admissible.

8. The applicant and the Government each filed 
observations on the merits (Rule 59 § 1). The 
Chamber decided, after consulting the parties, 
that no hearing on the merits was required 
(Rule 59 § 3 in fine).

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

9. The applicant was born in 1946 and is currently 
detained in HM Prison Kingston, Portsmouth.

A. The Crown Court trial
10. On 22 March 1989 at Norwich Crown Court 

the applicant was convicted of the murder of 
Christopher Nugent and sentenced to life im-
prisonment.

11. Mr Nugent had been the applicant’s business 
partner. He was shot and killed at their business 
premises on 15 December 1987 by Stephen 
Gray, who left the scene of the crime in a car 
driven by Gary Runham.

12. Runham and Gray were arrested in January 
1988 and the applicant was arrested in Febru-
ary 1988. He was charged with murder jointly 
with Runham, Gray and two other men who 
had allegedly provided money to pay for the 
killing of Christopher Nugent.

13. The Crown’s case was that the applicant had 
paid Runham and Gray 20,000 pounds sterling 
(GBP) to kill Nugent, because Nugent knew too 
much about the applicant’s involvement in 
mortgage fraud. 

14. The applicant’s defence was that he had hired 
Runham and Gray to break one of Nugent’s 
limbs in order to put him out of action for a few 
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weeks while the applicant effected his own 
transfer to another branch of the firm. He al-
leged that he had paid Runham and Gray GBP 
7,500 for the assault, but that after Gray had 
killed Nugent, Gray blackmailed the applicant 
into paying him more money. The applicant 
claimed that he would have had no motive 
for killing Nugent, since the latter was himself 
involved in the fraudulent activities being per-
petrated through the business. The applicant 
submitted, however, that his representatives 
felt unable to pursue this line of argument 
satisfactorily because of lack of evidence of 
Nugent’s dishonesty; the jury were asked to ac-
cept the applicant’s word alone on this issue.

15. Runham and Gray pleaded guilty to murder. 
Gray gave evidence for the prosecution against 
the applicant concerning the alleged murder 
conspiracy. The two alleged co-conspirators, 
who according to the prosecution had, to-
gether with the applicant, paid for Nugent to 
be murdered, were acquitted. 

B. The post-trial disclosure
16. Following his conviction, the applicant com-

plained to the Police Complaints Authority 
(PCA) about Suffolk Constabulary’s refusal to 
disclose material evidence. After investigation, 
in a letter of 30 October 1992 to the applicant, 
the PCA reported that it could not support any 
allegation of perversion of the course of justice 
but had found various instances of negligence.

17. According to the applicant, in July 1993 he was 
informed that there were seventeen boxes of 
hitherto undisclosed material. The applicant 
contended that some of this evidence would 
have supported his defence that he had had 
no need to murder Nugent to ensure his si-
lence since it showed that the latter was also 
deeply involved in the fraudulent activities per-
petrated through the business. The applicant 
claimed that some of the material from the sev-
enteen boxes was disclosed to him in the week 
prior to his appeal hearing, while other material 
from the boxes remained undisclosed.

18. According to the Government, the evidence 
which was not disclosed at first instance, but 
which was disclosed prior to the applicant’s ap-
peal, fell into two categories. The first type of 
evidence derived from the Holmes computer 
system used by the police officers conducting 
the murder inquiry to store and cross-reference 
all the information obtained in the course of 
the inquiry. The computer data included docu-
ments known as “messages” which recorded 

information when first received by an officer, 
and documents known as “actions” which re-
corded the steps to be taken by an officer in 
response to a message and the result of any 
such further inquiry. At the time of the trial, the 
prosecution took the view that the computer 
system was being used as a tool for the po-
lice investigation and that the data contained 
in it was not subject to disclosure under the 
Attorney-General’s Guidelines (see “Relevant 
domestic law and practice” below), although 
any witness statements or exhibits obtained 
in response to a message or action should be, 
and were, disclosed as “unused material”.

19. The Government submitted that, following 
the applicant’s conviction, and in the light of 
developments in the common-law duty of dis-
closure (see below), the prosecution reviewed 
their position and decided that the data stored 
on the computer system did amount to dis-
closable material. Prior to the applicant’s ap-
peal, therefore, the prosecution disclosed the 
messages and actions held by the police. Some 
4,000 actions had been disclosed, one of which 
was referred to by the applicant in support of 
his appeal.

20. In the Government’s submission, the second 
category of evidence undisclosed at first in-
stance related to the parallel investigation into 
mortgage fraud by a number of people, in-
cluding the applicant and Nugent. At an early 
stage, the prosecution decided to keep the 
murder and fraud investigations separate and 
that there was no duty under the Attorney-
General’s Guidelines to disclose the material 
gathered in the fraud inquiry to the defend-
ant charged with murder. Following the appli-
cant’s conviction and the development of the 
common law, the prosecution reconsidered 
their decision and, prior to the applicant’s ap-
peal, made full disclosure of the material ob-
tained in the fraud inquiry.

C. The undisclosed material
21. Prior to the hearing before the Court of Ap-

peal, the prosecution served on the applicant 
a schedule indicating what material was still 
being withheld following the review of the 
prosecution’s duty of disclosure. In respect of 
some of the items in the schedule, the reason 
given for non-disclosure was “legal and profes-
sional privilege”; in respect of other items it 
was “public interest immunity”; and in respect 
of certain other items, for example document 
no. 580, no reason was given to explain the 
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decision to include the document in the list 
of withheld evidence. Counsel for the defence 
was in contact with the prosecution concern-
ing possible further disclosure. A letter dated 
23 March 1994 from the Branch Crown Pros-
ecutor indicated that a number of documents, 
including document no. 580, were on the list of 
withheld material.

22. Document no. 580 subsequently came into the 
applicant’s possession. It is a letter, dated 12 
April 1988, from a firm of solicitors acting for 
Gray addressed to Detective Chief Inspector 
Baldry of the Suffolk Constabulary, and reads 
as follows:
“...

Furthertoourseveraldiscussionsconcerning
MrGray,youwillofcoursebeawarethatIdid
visithiminLeicesterPrisonon26March.

Hehas requesteda transfereither toBrixton
PrisonorWormwoodScrubsifthisisatallpos-
sibleandIshouldbegratefulifyouwouldlet
meknowwhetherthereisanypossibilityofMr
Grayreceivingatransfer.

Secondly I now understand that apparently
MrGrayunderstandsthatyouwouldbewill-
ingtosupporthimreceivingastraighttermof
lifeimprisonmentandanapplicationforearly
parole.

ObviouslyIhaveexplainedtoMrGraythepo-
sitionconcerningsentencingbutperhapsyou
wouldsetoutyourpositionsofaraspossible
concerningthesematters.

Thirdly Iunderstand thatMrGray’swife is to
beproducedatfortnightlyintervalstoLeices-
ter Prison for visits and perhaps again you
couldclarifytheposition.

Ilookforwardtohearingfromyou...”

D. The appeal
23. The hearing of the applicant’s appeal took 

place on 28 and 29 March 1994. Non-disclosure 
of evidence at trial, particularly evidence dis-
covered in the parallel mortgage fraud inves-
tigation, was one of the applicant’s grounds of 
appeal to the Court of Appeal, but no mention 
was made of document no. 580 or of the other 
documents which continued to be withheld 
by the prosecution. The applicant also relied 
on the fact that the trial judge had omitted to 
direct the jury that a person may lie for reasons 
unconnected with his guilt in relation to the of-
fence with which he is charged (a “Lucas” direc-
tion), and that the fact that, during interviews 

with the police the applicant had denied all 
knowledge of any plot to harm Nugent, did not 
mean that he had been involved in his murder. 

24. Dismissing his appeal on 29 March 1994, the 
Court of Appeal remarked that in the course 
of his summing-up the judge had not sug-
gested that the applicant’s lies could amount 
to corroboration of the other evidence, and 
had reminded the jury of defence counsel’s 
submissions in relation to the applicant’s lies. 
Although the summing-up should have in-
cluded a “Lucas” direction, no miscarriage of 
justice had occurred. On the question of non-
disclosure the court observed:
“... As the trial was conducted, Nugent’s dis-
honestywasmadeperfectlyplaintothejury.
The appellant himself had admitted being
dishonest, and had said in the course of his
evidencethatNugentwaspartytoallthedis-
honest resorts to which he had lent himself
in making false representations and forging
documents.Accordinglyitwasfullybeforethe
jurythatMrNugentwasdishonest....

Wehavebeentakenthroughvariouspartsof
theevidence...andwearequitesatisfiedthat
...Mr Nugent’s involvement in the deep dis-
honesty of this businesswas fully canvassed
before the jury. ... Accordingly, although ...
the stricter regime of prosecution disclosure
whichnowprevailsmightwellhaverequired
furtherdisclosurethanwasactuallymade,we
donotconsiderthatthisgroundisonewhich
has any substance in regard to theoutcome
ofthecase....”

The Court of Appeal concluded:
“Therewas overwhelming evidence that the
appellant initiated a plot against the victim
Nugent. There was likewise strong evidence
thathehadindicatedwhathewantedwasto
get rid of Nugent. Themoney actually paid,
and indeedeven the summentionedby the
appellantwasinourviewoutofproportionto
aplotsimplyto‘duffup’thevictim.Moreover,
onanalysis suchaplotmadeno sense. Each
memberof thisCourt isof theclearopinion,
despitetheblemishesinanotherwiseimpec-
cablesumming-up,thatnomiscarriageofjus-
ticehasactuallyoccurred....”

E. The alleged significance of document no. 
580

25. The applicant believed that an inducement 
was promised to Gray by the prosecuting au-
thorities in exchange for his testifying against 
him. In addition to the above letter, which the 
applicant claimed supported his hypothesis, he 
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referred to the fact that his tariff of imprison-
ment (that is, the period to be served before 
review by the Parole Board) under the life 
sentence had been set at twenty-five years, 
but was subsequently reduced to twenty-one 
years. Runham, who had provided the murder 
weapon and drove the get-away car, received 
a tariff of sixteen years. Gray, who had shot 
and killed Nugent, had his tariff set at eleven 
years and was released in 1999. In April 1999 
the Home Office wrote to Runham, refusing to 
reduce his tariff:
“The Secretary of State holds Stephen Gray
tobeasculpableasyouare,eventhoughhe
fired the murder weapon and you did not.
WhenthetariffwassetforStephenGray,the
thenSecretaryofStatetookintoaccountthat
hehad,likeyou,pleadedguiltytomurderbut
hadinadditionbeen‘...averyimportantwit-
nessfortheprosecution’....”

26. The Government denied that any inducement 
was offered to Gray. Under cover of a letter dat-
ed 27 June 2001, they sent to the Court undat-
ed statements from three senior officers in the 
Suffolk Constabulary who had been involved in 
the murder investigation.

(a) The statement of Chief Superintendent 
Green reads:

“Ihaveseenacopyoftheletterdated12April
1988fromEnnions,Solicitors...tomythencol-
league,MrBaldry. I canconfirm that this let-
terisgenuineandwasrecordedasDocument
D-580during the courseof the investigation
intothemurderofMrNugent.

Ihaveno recollectionof this letterafter thir-
teen years and I cannot remember ever dis-
cussingitwithMrBaldry.AtnotimewasIever
involvedinanydebateregardingtheissueof
MrGrayreceivinga‘straighttermoflifeimpris-
onmentandanapplicationforearlyparole’.

IcanconfirmthatIdidnotofferMrGrayany
formofinducementtogiveevidenceagainst
MrDowsettorotherdefendants.Tothebest
ofmy recollection, Gray’smotives were that
hewas simply attempting to ‘clear his plate’
by telling thewhole truthabout the circum-
stances of the case, whilst at the same time
ensuringthatDowsettandothersfacedtheir
shareof the responsibility for thecrime. Ido
recallthatMrGrayhopedthathishonestyat
the trialwouldonedayassisthimtomakea
successfulapplicationforparole.

IwouldliketoemphasisethatIspentsixdays
withMrGrayatWinchesterPrisonduringthe
preparationofhisstatementandcancategori-

callystatethatallonehundredandonepages
ofthedocumentwerewrittenwithMrGray’s
consent and without any form of induce-
ment.”

(b) The statement of Detective Chief Inspector 
Baldry, now retired, reads:

“This murder happened in 1987 and is not
nowfreshinmymemory.

HoweverIdorememberclearlythatIgaveno
indicationstointerviewingofficersortoGray
himselfthatinreturnforhissupportwewould
aid an application for a shorter sentence.
Gray was a very dangerous murderer who I
consideredenjoyedcarryingouthis ‘murder’
contractwithMrDowsett.Thismatterwasso
grave that no such undertaking could hon-
estlyhavebeengiven.

IdorememberthatGrayatonetimewason
hungerstrikeinprisonandthatwehelpedhis
wifetovisithiminprison.Howthishelpwas
given Idonot remember- itmayhavebeen
intheroleofcarryingmessagestoandfrom.”

(c) Detective Chief Inspector Abrahams, also 
now retired, said in his statement:

“ConcerningtheletterDocumentD-580Ican
categorically state that I did not personally
offer Gray any inducement or arrangement
relatingtohissentence.NordidIhaveanydis-
cussionswithhislegalrepresentativewithre-
gardtohissentence.Equally,Ididnotinstruct
anyofmy subordinateofficers including the
interviewteamquestioningGraysotodo.

Asfaras IamawareGraythroughouthisde-
tentionandtapedquestioningwasdealtwith
in accord with the Police and Criminal Evi-
denceAct.

I havebeenunaware of this letter until now
butIamsureChiefInspectorMikeBaldry(now
retired)maybeofsomehelptoyou.

I would point out that Gray was arrested at
MildenhallPoliceStationon23January1988
after which the murder management team
was joined by Mr Christopher Yule of the
CrownProsecutionService, Ipswich,whoad-
visedonall legalaspectsofthecase.Hewas
later joinedbyMr (nowSirandaHighCourt
Judge) David Penry-DaveyQC andMrDavid
Lamming of Counsel, who advised on what
was tobeacomplexcasenotonly involving
murder, conspiracy tomurder but also large
scalemortgagefraud.

Iamnotawarethatanyrepresentationswere
madetothetrialjudgeconcerninganyreduc-
tion inGray’s tariff. If thishadbeen the case
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then the application would have had to be
madethroughprosecutingcounsel.

ForyourinformationIincludebelowsomerel-
evantdatesandpoints thatyoumayalready
be aware of in relation to themurder, but I
thinktheyareworthemphasising:

15December1987:ChristopherNugentfound
murdered at his business premises that he
ownedwithhispartnerDowsett.

23 January 1988: Gray gave himself up at
Mildenhall Police Station and admits the of-
fencenamingDowsett,Runhamandothersas
partofamurderconspiracy.

26 January 1988: Gary Runham arrested for
the murder. He admits the offence naming
Dowsett, Gray and others. Runham did the
groundworkinplanningNugent’smurderand
propositionedGrayata laterstagetodothe
actualkilling.

1February1988:Dowsettandothersarrested
forthemurder.

17February1988: Iwaswithdrawn from the
everydaymanagementoftheinquiryandre-
turnedtoForceHeadquarters.DCIBaldrytook
overthisrole.

December1988:GrayandRunhamappearat
CrownCourt,pleadguiltytothemurderand
aresentencedtolifeimprisonment.

January 1989: Gray agrees to become awit-
nessfortheprosecutionandDetectiveInspec-
torGreen(nowChiefSuperintendent)obtains
awitnessstatement.

30 January1989:TrialofDowsettandothers
commences....

Grayappearedasaprosecutionwitness.Run-
ham did not. The jury unanimously found
Dowsett guilty of murder and he was sen-
tencedtolifeimprisonment.

Prosecution witness O’Dowd gave evidence
tothefactthatDowsettadmittedthemurder
tohimandstatedthatDowsetthadsaidthat
‘ifAbrahamsgetstooclosethenhe’llgetthe
same’(orwordstothateffect).

16 December 1990 Dowsett made a formal
complaint againstme, other officers andMr
Yule[CrownProsecutionService]thatweper-
verted the courseof justice in relation tohis
trial. Thematterwas investigatedby anout-
sidePolice Force andwas foundby theDPP
[DirectorofPublicProsecutions]andthePCA
tobetotallyunsubstantiated.

Dowsettlatterappealedagainsthisconviction

to the Court of Appeal but the Judgeswere
unanimous in their judgment todisallowhis
application.

Theabove is to thebestofmyrecollection. I
donotknowwhattariffsweresetbytheJudge
inhis sentencingof all threedefendantsbut
I assume creditwasgiven forGray andRun-
ham’sguiltypleas.”

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

27. At common law, the prosecution has a duty to 
disclose any earlier written or oral statement 
of a prosecution witness which is inconsistent 
with evidence given by that witness at the trial. 
The duty also extends to statements of any wit-
nesses potentially favourable to the defence.

28. In December 1981 the Attorney-General issued 
guidelines, which did not have the force of 
law, concerning exceptions to the common-
law duty to disclose to the defence certain 
evidence of potential assistance to it ((1982) 
74 Criminal Appeal Reports 302 – “the Guide-
lines”). According to the Guidelines, the duty to 
disclose was subject to a discretionary power 
for prosecuting counsel to withhold relevant 
evidence if it fell within one of the categories 
set out in paragraph 6. One of these categories 
(6(iv)) was “sensitive” material which, because 
of its sensitivity, it would not be in the public 
interest to disclose. “Sensitive material” was de-
fined as follows:
“...(a)itdealswithmattersofnationalsecurity;
oritisby,ordisclosestheidentityof,amem-
beroftheSecurityServiceswhowouldbeof
nofurtherusetothoseservicesoncehisiden-
titybecameknown;(b)itisby,ordisclosesthe
identityofaninformantandtherearereasons
for fearing that the disclosure of his identity
wouldputhimorhisfamilyindanger;(c)itis
by,ordisclosestheidentityofawitnesswho
mightbeindangerofassaultorintimidationif
hisidentitybecameknown;(d)itcontainsde-
tailswhich,iftheybecameknown,mightfacil-
itatethecommissionofotheroffencesoralert
someonenotincustodythatheisasuspect;or
itdisclosessomeunusualformofsurveillance
ormethodofdetectingcrime;(e)itissupplied
onlyonconditionthatthecontentswillnotbe
disclosed,at leastuntilasubpoenahasbeen
serveduponthesupplier–e.g.abankofficial;
(f) it relates to other offences by, or serious
allegations against, someone who is not an
accused, ordisclosesprevious convictionsor
othermattersprejudicialtohim;(g)itcontains
detailsofprivatedelicacytothemakerand/or
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mightcreateriskofdomesticstrife.”

29. Subsequent to the applicant’s trial in 1989 but 
before the appeal proceedings in March 1994, 
the Guidelines were superseded by the com-
mon law.

30. In R. v. Ward ([1993] 1 Weekly Law Reports 619), 
the Court of Appeal dealt with the duty of the 
prosecution to disclose evidence to the de-
fence and the proper procedure to be followed 
when the prosecution claimed public interest 
immunity. It stressed that the court and not the 
prosecution was to be the judge of where the 
proper balance lay in a particular case:
“... [When] theprosecutionactedas judge in
theirowncauseontheissueofpublicinterest
immunity in this case they committed a sig-
nificant number of errorswhich affected the
fairnessoftheproceedings.Policyconsidera-
tions thereforepowerfully reinforce theview
thatitwouldbewrongtoallowtheprosecu-
tiontowithholdmaterialdocumentswithout
givinganynoticeofthatfacttothedefence.If,
inawhollyexceptionalcase,theprosecution
arenotprepared tohave the issueof public
interestimmunitydeterminedbyacourt,the
resultmustinevitablybethattheprosecution
willhavetobeabandoned.”

The Court of Appeal described the balancing 
exercise to be performed by the judge as fol-
lows:
“... a judge isbalancingon theonehandthe
desirabilityofpreservingthepublicinterestin
theabsenceofdisclosureagainst,ontheother
hand,theinterestsofjustice.Wheretheinter-
estsofjusticeariseinacriminalcasetouching
andconcerning libertyorconceivablyonoc-
casion life, theweight tobe attached to the
interestsofjusticeisplainlyverygreatindeed.”

31. The Court of Appeal’s judgment in R. v. Davis, 
Johnson and Rowe ([1993] 97 Criminal Appeal 
Reports 110) set out the procedures to be fol-
lowed if the prosecution wished to withhold 
unused material from disclosure on grounds of 
public interest immunity including, where ap-
propriate, making an application to the court 
ex parte.

32. In R. v. Keane ([1994] 1 Weekly Law Reports 
747), the Court of Appeal emphasised that, 
since the ex parte procedure outlined in 
R. v. Davis, Johnson and Rowe was “contrary to 
the general principle of open justice in crimi-
nal trials”, it should be used only in exceptional 
cases. It would, however, be an abdication of 
the prosecution’s duty if, out of an abundance 

of caution, it were simply “to dump all its un-
used material in the court’s lap and leave it to 
the judge to sort through it regardless of its 
materiality to the issues present or potential”. 
Thus, the prosecution should put before the 
court only those documents which it regarded 
as material but wished to withhold. The test of 
“materiality” was that an item should be con-
sidered as disclosable if
“[it]canbeseenonasensibleappraisalbythe
prosecution:

(i)toberelevantorpossiblyrelevanttoanis-
sueinthecase;

(ii)toraiseorpossiblyraiseanewissuewhose
existence is not apparent from the evidence
theprosecutionproposestouse;or

(iii) to hold out a real, as opposed to fanci-
ful,prospectofprovidinga leadonevidence
whichgoesto(i)or(ii)”.

If the prosecution was in any doubt as to the 
materiality of any such evidence it should ask 
the court to rule on the question.

33. In 1996 a new statutory scheme covering dis-
closure by the prosecution came into force 
in England and Wales. Under the Criminal 
Procedures and Investigations Act 1996, the 
prosecution must make “primary disclosure” 
of all previously undisclosed evidence which, 
in the prosecutor’s view, might undermine 
the case for the prosecution. The defendant 
must then give a defence statement to the 
prosecution and the court, setting out in gen-
eral terms the nature of the defence and the 
matters on which the defence takes issue with 
the prosecution. The prosecution must then 
make a “secondary disclosure” of all previously 
undisclosed material “which might reasonably 
be expected to assist the accused’s defence 
as disclosed by the defence statement”. Dis-
closure by the prosecution may be subject to 
challenge by the accused and review by the 
trial court.

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
6 § 1 OF THE CONVENTION TAKEN 
IN CONJUNCTION WITH ARTICLE 
6 § 3 (B)

34. The applicant alleged that the proceedings be-



606 CASEOFDOWSETTVTHEUNITEDKINGDOM

EC
HR

EC
J

fore the Crown Court and the Court of Appeal, 
taken together, violated his rights under Article 
6 §§ 1 and 3 (b) of the Convention, the rel-
evant parts of which state:
“1. In the determination of ... any criminal
chargeagainsthim,everyone isentitled toa
fair and public hearing within a reasonable
timebyanindependentandimpartialtribunal
establishedbylaw....

...

3. Everyone chargedwith a criminal offence
hasthefollowingminimumrights:

...

(b)tohaveadequatetimeandfacilitiesforthe
preparationofhisdefence;

...”

A. The parties’ submissions
1.Theapplicant

35. The applicant submitted that non-disclosure 
of evidence which was acknowledged to be 
relevant and material undermined the right 
to a fair trial and in particular the principles of 
equality of arms and the rights under Article 6 
§ 3 (b) to adequate facilities for the prepara-
tion of the accused’s defence. Where, as in 
this case, evidence was withheld by the pros-
ecution at trial and on appeal, without the ap-
proval of any judicial authority, there was no 
safeguard against abuse and the procedure 
was plainly incompatible with Article 6. Al-
though it was its duty to do so, the prosecution 
made no application at the trial or during the 
appeal ex parte to obtain the courts’ ruling on 
the withheld items. The defence could not be 
criticised in the circumstances for not pressing 
for the Court of Appeal to conduct a review. 
In any event, the procedure in R. v. Keane (see 
paragraph 32 above) whereby it was for the 
prosecution to assess whether evidence was 
material or relevant was inadequate as it pro-
vided no basis on which the defence could 
properly scrutinise or challenge its assessment. 
The applicant invited the Court to reconsider 
the arguments for special counsel to review 
undisclosed material.

36. In this case, there was evidence not disclosed 
at trial but disclosed on appeal and evidence 
neither disclosed at trial nor on appeal, such 
as document no. 580. The Court of Appeal ac-
knowledged that the withholding of the ma-
terial was unsatisfactory but went on ex post 

facto to substitute its view for that of the jury. 
The applicant denied that document no. 580 
was disclosed by the prosecution before the 
appeal, and referred to his own counsel’s recol-
lection and to a letter from the Branch Crown 
Prosecutor, dated 23 March 1994, refusing the 
disclosure of a number of documents, includ-
ing no. 580, as “withheld material”. Document 
no. 580 had been sent to him anonymously 
in prison in late 1997 and was relevant to the 
issue of Gray’s credibility as a prosecution wit-
ness. He contended that there might be other 
material evidence which remained undis-
closed. He relied on the Court’s judgment in 
Rowe and Davis v. the United Kingdom ([GC], 
no. 28901/95, ECHR 2000-II), where it was em-
phasised that the trial court, and not the pros-
ecution, should be the ultimate judge on ques-
tions of disclosure of evidence.

2.TheGovernment
37. The Government submitted that the proceed-

ings taken as a whole were fair and in accord-
ance with Article 6 § 1. They contended, 
relying, inter alia, on Edwards v. the United 
Kingdom (judgment of 16 December 1992, 
Series A no. 247-B), that the prosecution’s 
failure at first instance to disclose the actions 
and messages held on the Holmes computer 
system and the materials gathered during the 
fraud inquiry did not deprive the applicant of 
a fair trial because this material was disclosed 
in time for the hearing in the Court of Appeal. 
His representatives could have asked for an 
adjournment if they had thought it necessary 
in order fully to consider the newly disclosed 
evidence. 

38. The Government further submitted that, pri-
or to the hearing in the Court of Appeal, the 
prosecution served on the applicant a sched-
ule indicating what material had been with-
held from disclosure following the review by 
the prosecution of its duty of disclosure. The 
schedule included documents nos. 375, 572, 
573, 580, 590, 614, 620 and 625. In the event, 
the prosecution did not place this material 
before the Court of Appeal or apply for an ex 
parte hearing to decide whether or not it 
should be disclosed. Instead, the prosecution 
applied a test of “materiality” similar to that set 
out by the Court of Appeal in R. v. Keane (cited 
above), and concluded that the items in ques-
tion were not “material” and thus did not have 
to be disclosed or placed before the court. The 
applicant’s counsel could have discussed this 
point with the prosecution before the appeal 
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hearing and, if necessary, could have applied 
to the Court of Appeal for a review of the pros-
ecution’s decision and for disclosure of any of 
the documents listed in the schedule.

39. The Government could not explain how docu-
ment no. 580 came into the applicant’s pos-
session, but considered that it must have been 
disclosed to the applicant by the prosecution 
shortly before the appeal hearing in March 
1994, as the prosecution continued to reas-
sess its duty of disclosure in the light of devel-
opments in the common law. The schedule 
marked by junior prosecution counsel showed 
that this document had been ticked for disclo-
sure, and on a later schedule it no longer ap-
peared as being withheld. Disclosure was the 
only sensible explanation for the applicant’s 
possession of the letter.

B. The Court’s assessment
40. As the guarantees in paragraph 3 of Article 6 

are specific aspects of the right to a fair trial set 
out in paragraph 1 (see Edwards, cited above, 
p. 34, § 33), the Court has not examined the 
applicant’s allegations separately from the 
standpoint of paragraph 3 (b). It has addressed 
the question whether the proceedings in their 
entirety were fair (ibid., pp. 34-35, § 34).

41. It is a fundamental aspect of the right to a fair 
trial that criminal proceedings, including the 
elements of such proceedings which relate 
to procedure, should be adversarial and that 
there should be equality of arms between the 
prosecution and the defence. The right to an 
adversarial trial means, in a criminal case, that 
both the prosecution and the defence must 
be given the opportunity to have knowledge 
of and comment on the observations filed and 
the evidence adduced by the other party (see 
Brandstetter v. Austria, judgment of 28 August 
1991, Series A no. 211, pp. 27-28, §§ 66-67). In 
addition Article 6 § 1 requires, as indeed does 
English law (see paragraphs 27-33 above), that 
the prosecution authorities disclose to the de-
fence all material evidence in their possession 
for or against the accused (see Edwards, cited 
above, p. 35, § 36).

42. However, the entitlement to disclosure of rel-
evant evidence is not an absolute right. In any 
criminal proceedings there may be competing 
interests, such as national security or the need 
to protect witnesses at risk of reprisals or to 
keep secret police methods of investigating 
crime, which must be weighed against the 
rights of the accused (see, for example, Door-

son v. the Netherlands, judgment of 26 March 
1996, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 
1996-II, p. 470, § 70). In some cases it may be 
necessary to withhold certain evidence from 
the defence so as to preserve the fundamental 
rights of another individual or to safeguard an 
important public interest. However, only such 
measures restricting the rights of the defence 
which are strictly necessary are permissible un-
der Article 6 § 1 (see, for example, Van Mechel-
en and Others v. the Netherlands, judgment of 
23 April 1997, Reports 1997-III, p. 712, § 58). 
Moreover, in order to ensure that the accused 
receives a fair trial, any difficulties caused to 
the defence by a limitation on its rights must 
be sufficiently counterbalanced by the proce-
dures followed by the judicial authorities (see 
Doorson and Van Mechelen and Others, both 
cited above, p. 471, § 72, and p. 712, § 54 re-
spectively).

43. In cases where evidence has been withheld 
from the defence on grounds of public interest 
immunity, it is not the role of this Court to de-
cide whether or not such non-disclosure was 
strictly necessary since, as a general rule, it is for 
the national courts to assess the evidence be-
fore them (see Edwards, cited above, pp. 34-35, 
§ 34). Instead, the Court’s task is to ascertain 
whether the decision-making procedure ap-
plied in each case complied, as far as possible, 
with the requirements of adversarial proceed-
ings and equality of arms, and incorporated 
adequate safeguards to protect the interests of 
the accused.

44. The Court observes that this case has strong 
similarities to Rowe and Davis (cited above). As 
in that case, during the applicant’s trial at first 
instance the prosecution decided, without no-
tifying the judge, to withhold certain relevant 
evidence on grounds, inter alia, of public inter-
est immunity. Such a procedure, whereby the 
prosecution itself attempts to assess the im-
portance of concealed information for the de-
fence and weigh this against the public interest 
in keeping the information secret, cannot com-
ply with the above-mentioned requirements of 
Article 6 § 1; nor is it in accordance with the 
principles recognised in English case-law from 
the Court of Appeal’s judgment in R. v. Ward 
onwards (see paragraphs 30 et seq. above). 

45. While at the commencement of the applicant’s 
appeal prosecution counsel disclosed some 
previously withheld material, it notified the 
defence that certain information remained un-
disclosed, but did not reveal the nature of this 
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material. Unlike in Rowe and Davis, however, 
the Court of Appeal did not proceed itself to 
review the remaining material in an ex parte 
hearing.

46. As regards the material disclosed by the pros-
ecution prior to the appeal, the so-called “ac-
tions” and the materials in the fraud inquiry, the 
Court observes that the applicant was able to 
make use of it to support his arguments before 
the Court of Appeal and that the Court of Ap-
peal was assisted by defence counsel in its as-
sessment of the nature and significance of this 
material in reaching its conclusion as to wheth-
er or not the applicant’s conviction should 
stand. This procedure was, in the Court’s view, 
sufficient to satisfy the requirements of fairness 
as regards the material disclosed after the first-
instance hearing (see Edwards, cited above, 
§§ 36-37).

47. There is a dispute between the parties as to 
whether one particular item, document no. 
580, which contained material possibly rel-
evant to discrediting Gray, was in fact disclosed 
to the defence shortly before the appeal (see 
paragraphs 22, 36 and 39 above). The Govern-
ment on the one hand pointed to the pros-
ecution schedules which they interpreted as 
indicating that document no. 580 had been 
removed from the list of withheld material and 
asserted that disclosure was the only sensible 
explanation for the applicant’s possession of 
the document; the applicant on the other 
hand provided a letter from his counsel stat-
ing that the prosecution did not provide the 
defence with the document and put forward 
his own account of being sent the document 
anonymously. There was also a letter from the 
prosecution dated 23 March 1994, some five 
days before the appeal hearing, which indi-
cated that document no. 580 continued to be 
withheld from the defence. There is therefore 
unambiguous evidence showing that the let-
ter concerned had not been disclosed by the 
eve of the appeal hearing and only indirect, 
circumstantial evidence that the prosecution 
might have changed its mind at the last mo-
ment. The Court is not persuaded therefore 
that the Government have shown that this 
letter, relevant to the applicant’s defence, was 
made available to his counsel in time for use at 
the appeal. This finding is not however essen-
tial to the reasoning in this case as in any event 
it is not in dispute that other documents were 
not disclosed at this time, on the basis, inter 
alia, of the prosecution’s assessment that pub-
lic interest immunity was applicable to them.

48. The Government have pointed out that the 
applicant could himself have requested the 
Court of Appeal to review this material. This 
is no doubt true and might in theory have re-
sulted in the court overruling the prosecution’s 
view and making further documents available 
at the appeal. However, the Court notes that 
in Rowe and Davis (cited above, § 65) it did 
not consider that the review procedure before 
the appeal court was sufficient to remedy the 
unfairness caused at the trial by the absence of 
any scrutiny of the withheld information by the 
trial judge: 
“Unlikethelatter,whosawthewitnessesgive
theirtestimonyandwasfullyversedinallthe
evidenceandissuesinthecase,thejudgesin
theCourtofAppealweredependentfortheir
understanding of the possible relevance of
theundisclosedmaterialontranscriptsofthe
CrownCourthearingsandontheaccountof
theissuesgiventothembyprosecutingcoun-
sel.Inaddition,thefirst-instancejudgewould
havebeen inapositiontomonitor theneed
for disclosure throughout the trial, assessing
the importance of the undisclosed evidence
at a stagewhen new issueswere emerging,
when it might have been possible through
cross-examinationseriouslytounderminethe
credibilityofkeywitnessesandwhenthede-
fencecasewasstillopentotakeanumberof
differentdirectionsor emphases. In contrast,
theCourtofAppealwasobligedtocarryout
itsappraisalexpostfactoandmayeven,toa
certainextent,haveunconsciouslybeeninflu-
encedbythejury’sverdictofguiltyintounder-
estimatingthesignificanceoftheundisclosed
evidence.”

49. In this case, in deciding whether the material 
in issue should be disclosed, the Court of Ap-
peal would neither have been assisted by de-
fence counsel’s arguments as to its relevance 
nor have been able to draw on any first-hand 
knowledge of the evidence given at trial. An 
application to the Court of Appeal in those 
circumstances could not be regarded as an ad-
equate safeguard for the defence.

50. In conclusion, therefore, the Court reiterates 
the importance that material relevant to the 
defence be placed before the trial judge for his 
ruling on questions of disclosure at the time 
when it can serve most effectively to protect 
the rights of the defence. In this respect the in-
stant case can be distinguished from Edwards 
(cited above), where the appeal proceedings 
were adequate to remedy the defects at first 
instance since by that stage the defence had 
received most of the missing information and 
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the Court of Appeal was able to consider the 
impact of the new material on the safety of the 
conviction in the light of detailed and informed 
argument from the defence (p. 35, §§ 36-37).

51. In light of the above, the Court finds no reason 
to examine the applicant’s argument that the 
procedure set out in R. v. Keane fails to satisfy 
the requirements of Article 6 in placing an ob-
ligation on prosecution counsel only to place 
material it considers relevant before the court 
for its ruling on disclosure, or to reconsider 
the arguments militating in favour of special 
counsel reviewing undisclosed material as an 
additional safeguard (see, for example, Fitt v. 
the United Kingdom [GC], no. 29777/96, §§ 
30-33, ECHR 2000-II).

52. It follows that the applicant did not receive a 
fair trial and that there has been a violation of 
Article 6 § 1 of the Convention taken in con-
junction with Article 6 § 3 (b).

II. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

53. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage
54. The applicant claimed 2,675 pounds sterling 

(GBP) in respect of pecuniary damage for costs 
incurred by him or on his behalf while in prison 
from March 1989 to September 2002 (includ-
ing postage, telephone calls, photocopying, 
text book and stationery costs). He asked the 
Court to award a fair and equitable amount in 
respect of non-pecuniary damage.

55. The Government submitted that it was not ap-
parent how the items listed in respect of pe-
cuniary damage related to his application to 
the Convention institutions, and that there was 
no supporting evidence for his claims (as, for 
example, an estimated hundred letters a year 
over thirteen years). As regarded non-pecu-
niary damage, they noted that the applicant 
had been convicted of a very serious crime 
and there could be no speculation as to the 
result of the applicant’s trial if there had been 
no breach of Article 6. They argued that a find-

ing of violation would constitute sufficient just 
satisfaction.

56. The Court notes that it cannot deduce from the 
applicant’s submissions what items of expendi-
ture relate to the substance of his complaints 
under the Convention, or can be attributed to 
the process of exhaustion of domestic rem-
edies in that regard. In any event, this item may 
be more appropriately considered under the 
heading “Costs and expenses” below.

Concerning non-pecuniary damage, the Court 
has had regard to similar cases and concludes 
that the finding of a violation in this case con-
stitutes in itself sufficient just satisfaction.

B. Costs and expenses
57. The applicant claimed GBP 15,505.63 for costs 

and expenses in bringing the application, 
which included GBP 7,960.33 for counsel’s fees, 
inclusive of value-added tax (VAT).

58. The Government considered that the claim 
was excessive for a case that had not gone be-
yond the written stage. It noted that the solici-
tors were charging more than three times the 
rate applicable under the legal-aid scheme and 
that the amount of work claimed for particular 
items seemed unnecessary (for example, sev-
enteen hours by counsel to prepare a five-page 
letter in November 2001 and twenty-five hours 
by counsel and solicitors to produce a three-
page letter on 30 September 2002).

59. Having regard to the subject matter under 
the Convention and the procedure adopted 
before it in this case, the Court finds that the 
amount claimed by the applicant cannot be re-
garded as either necessarily incurred or reason-
able as to quantum (see, among other authori-
ties, Nikolova v. Bulgaria [GC], no. 31195/96, § 
79, ECHR 1999-II). Making an assessment on an 
equitable basis, it awards 14,000 euros (EUR), 
plus any VAT that may be payable, for costs 
and expenses incurred by the applicant’s legal 
representatives. Furthermore, finding that part 
of the applicant’s own claims for expenditure 
may be regarded as related to the pursuit of re-
dress for the violation in this case, it awards to 
the applicant personally the sum of EUR 1,500.

C. Default interest
60. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.
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FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
6 § 1 of the Convention taken in conjunction 
with Article 6 § 3 (b);

2. Holds that the finding of a violation consti-
tutes in itself sufficient just satisfaction for 
the non-pecuniary damage sustained by the 
applicant;

3. Holds

(a) that the respondent State is to pay the ap-
plicant, within three months from the date 
on which the judgment becomes final ac-
cording to Article 44 § 2 of the Conven-
tion, EuR 15,500 (fifteen thousand five 
hundred euros) in respect of costs and ex-
penses, to be converted into pounds ster-
ling, plus any tax that may be chargeable;

(b) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amount at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

4. Dismisses the remainder of the applicant’s 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 24 June 
2003, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the Rules 
of Court.

S. Dollé, Registrar
J.-P. Costa, President

In accordance with Article 45 § 2 of the Conven-
tion and Rule 74 § 2 of the Rules of Court, the con-
curring opinion of Sir Nicolas Bratza joined by Mr 
Costa is annexed to this judgment.

ConCURRInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE sIR nICoLAs 
BRAtZA JoInED BY JUDGE 
CostA
I fully share the conclusion and reasoning of the 
Chamber that there has been a violation of Article 
6 § 1 of the Convention in the present case. I only 
wish to add a few supplementary remarks because 
of the importance of the issues raised by the case 
and, more particularly, the question whether the 
appeal proceedings were adequate to remedy the 
lack of fairness at first instance. 

As is noted in the judgment, the facts of the case 
bear a strong resemblance to those examined by 
the Grand Chamber in Rowe and Davis v. the Unit-
ed Kingdom ([GC], no. 28901/95, ECHR 2000-II), in 
which documents had similarly been withheld by 
the prosecution at trial on the grounds of pub-
lic interest immunity, without notification to the 
trial judge. At the commencement of the appeal 
in that case, the prosecuting counsel had notified 
the defence that certain materials had been with-
held, without however revealing the nature of the 
materials in question. On two separate occasions, 
the Court of Appeal had reviewed the undisclosed 
evidence and, following ex parte hearings with the 
benefit of submissions from the Crown but in the 
absence of the defence, had ruled in favour of non-
disclosure. 

For the reasons set out in paragraph 65 of that 
judgment (quoted in paragraph 48 of the present 
judgment), the Grand Chamber held that such a 
procedure was insufficient to remedy the unfair-
ness caused at the trial by the absence of any scru-
tiny of the withheld information by the trial judge. 
The Court emphasised that, unlike the trial judge 
who saw the witnesses give their testimony and 
who was fully versed in all the evidence and issues 
in the case, the judges in the Court of Appeal were 
dependent for their understanding of the rele-
vance of the undisclosed material on the transcript 
of the Crown Court hearing and on the account of 
the issues given to them by the prosecution in the 
ex parte hearings. 

The Court went on in the following paragraph of 
the same judgment to distinguish Edwards v. the 
United Kingdom (judgment of 16 December 1992, 
Series A no. 247-B) on the grounds that at the ap-
peal stage in that case the defence had received 
most of the information which had been missing at 
trial and the Court of Appeal was able to consider 
the impact of the new material on the safety of the 
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conviction in the light of detailed and informed ar-
gument from the defence. 

In the present case, following the review of the 
prosecution’s duty of disclosure, full disclosure was 
made before the hearing of the applicant’s appeal 
of two categories of documents, but other docu-
ments continued to be withheld from disclosure. 
As appears from the judgment, these documents 
were listed in a schedule. In respect of some of the 
items in the schedule, the reason for non-disclosure 
was stated to be “legal and professional privilege” 
and, in respect of other items, “public interest im-
munity”; in respect of certain other items in the 
schedule (including document no. 580) no reason 
was given for the non-disclosure of the document. 

In contrast to what occurred in Rowe and Davis, the 
prosecution made no application to the Court of 
Appeal to rule on the question whether the materi-
al listed in the schedule had been legitimately with-
held. Equally, however, as pointed out by the Gov-
ernment, the defence did not apply to the Court of 
Appeal to review the material, the consequence of 
which application might have been either that the 
prosecution consented to further disclosure or that 
further disclosure was ordered by the Court of Ap-
peal itself. 

The central question is whether this omission on 
the part of the defence to use a procedure which 
offered the possibility of obtaining the release of 
the documents serves to distinguish this case from 
Rowe and Davis. In my view, it does not. It seems 
to me that where material is withheld from the de-
fence on grounds of public interest immunity the 
burden must in principle lie on the prosecution to 
place it before the court for a ruling on whether it 
is properly withheld. The onus cannot rest on the 
defendant to take steps to compel disclosure. This 
is more particularly so where, as in the present case, 
the existence of the material is not made known to 
the defence until the appeal proceedings. In such 
a case the deficiencies at first instance are only 
capable of being cured if the material in question 
is disclosed to the defence by the prosecution in 
advance of the hearing of the appeal or if the mate-
rial is placed before the Court of Appeal for a ruling 
on its disclosure in proceedings in which the pro-
cedural rights of the defendant are fully protected. 
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FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION, TERRORISM, SPECIAL CIR-
CUMSTANCES, PUBLIC INTEREST, NATIONAL SECURITY, 
SAFETY OF CITIZENS, DEMOCRACY, NAMES, OFFICIALS, 
DISCLOSURE

IN THE CASE Of ÖzGüR GüNDEM v. TuRKEy,

The European Court of Human Rights (Fourth Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Mr M. Pellonpää, President,  
Mr G. Ress,  
Mr A. Pastor Ridruejo,  
Mr L. Caflisch,  
Mr J. Makarczyk,  
Mr V. Butkevych, judges,  
Mr F. Gölcüklü, ad hoc judge,  
and Mr V. Berger, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 10 November 
1999 and 3 February 2000,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case was referred to the Court by the Eu-

ropean Commission of Human Rights (“the 
Commission”) on 8 March 1999, within the 
three-month period laid down by former Arti-
cles 32 § 1 and 47 of the European Conven-
tion for the Protection of Human Rights and 
Fundamental Freedoms (“the Convention”). 
It originated in an application (no. 23144/93) 
against the Republic of Turkey lodged with the 
Commission under former Article 25 by three 
Turkish nationals, Gurbetelli Ersöz, Fahri Ferda 
Çetin and Yaşar Kaya, and by Ülkem Basın ve 
Yayıncılık Sanayı Ticaret Ltd, a company having 
its head office in Istanbul, on 9 December 1993. 
The first two applicants were, respectively, the 
editor-in-chief and the assistant editor-in-chief 
of the newspaper Özgür Gündem of which the 
third and fourth applicants were the owners. 
The Commission later decided not to pursue 
the examination of the application in so far as 
it concerned the first applicant, since she had 
died in 1997.

The application concerned the applicants' al-
legations that there had been a concerted and 

deliberate assault on their freedom of expres-
sion through a campaign of targeting journal-
ists and others involved in Özgür Gündem. The 
applicants relied on Articles 10 and 14 of the 
Convention and on Article 1 of Protocol No. 1.

The Commission declared the application ad-
missible on 20 October 1995. In its report of 29 
October 1998 (former Article 31 of the Conven-
tion), it expressed the opinion that there had 
been a violation of Article 10 (unanimously), 
that there had been no violation of Article 14 
(fifteen votes to two) and that it was not neces-
sary to examine separately whether there had 
been a violation of Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 
(unanimously)1.

2. Following the entry into force of Protocol No. 
11 to the Convention on 1 November 1998, 
and in accordance with the provisions of Ar-
ticle 5 § 4 thereof read in conjunction with 
Rules 100 § 1 and 24 § 6 of the Rules of Court, 
a panel of the Grand Chamber decided on 31 
March 1999 that the case would be examined 
by a Chamber constituted within one of the 
Sections of the Court.

3. In accordance with Rule 52 § 1, the President 
of the Court, Mr L. Wildhaber, assigned the 
case to the Fourth Section. The Chamber con-
stituted within that Section included ex officio 
Mr R. Türmen, the judge elected in respect of 
Turkey (Article 27 § 2 of the Convention and 
Rule 26 § 1 (a)), and Mr M. Pellonpää, Presi-
dent of the Section (Rule 26 § 1 (a)). The other 
members designated by the latter to complete 
the Chamber were Mr G. Ress, Mr A. Pastor Rid-
ruejo, Mr L. Caflisch, Mr J. Makarczyk and Mrs N. 
Vajić (Rule 26 § 1 (b)).

4. On 1 June 1999 Mr Türmen withdrew from 
sitting in the Chamber (Rule 28). The Turkish 
Government (“the Government”) accordingly 
appointed Mr F. Gölcüklü to sit as an ad hoc 
judge (Article 27 § 2 of the Convention and 
Rule 29 § 1).

5. On 13 July 1999 the Chamber decided to hold 
a hearing.

6. Pursuant to Rule 59 § 3 the President of the 
Chamber invited the parties to submit memo-
rials on the issues raised in the application. The 
Registrar received the applicants' and Govern-
ment's memorials on 5 and 20 October 1999 
respectively.

7. In accordance with the Chamber's decision, 
a hearing took place in public in the Human 
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Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 10 November 
1999.

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Mr M. Özmen, Co-Agent,

Mr f. Polat,

Mr f. Çalişkan,

Ms M. Gülsen, 

Mr E. Genel,

Mr f. Güney,

Mr C. Aydın, Advisers;

(b) for the applicants 

Mr W. Bowring, Counsel, 

Mr K. yıldız, Adviser.

The Court heard addresses by Mr Bowring and 
Mr Özmen.

8. On 3 February 2000 Mrs Vajić, who was unable 
to take part in the further consideration of the 
case, was replaced by Mr V. Butkevych (Rule 26 
§ 1 (c)).

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

9. Özgür Gündem was a daily newspaper the 
main office of which was located in Istanbul. 
It was a Turkish-language publication with an 
estimated national circulation of up to 45,000 
copies and a further unspecified international 
circulation. It incorporated its predecessor, the 
weekly publication Yeni Ülke, which was pub-
lished between 1990 and 1992. Özgür Gündem 
was published from 30 May 1992 until April 
1994. It was succeeded by another newspaper, 
Özgür Ülke.

10. The case concerns the allegations of the appli-
cants that Özgür Gündem was the subject of 
serious attacks and harassment which forced 
its eventual closure and for which the Turkish 
authorities are directly or indirectly responsible.

A. Incidents of violence and threats against 
Özgür Gündem and persons associated 
with it

11. The applicants made detailed submissions to 
the Commission, listing the attacks made on 
journalists, distributors and others associated 
with the newspaper (see paragraphs 32-34 of 
the Commission's report). The Government, 
in their submissions to the Commission, de-
nied that some of these attacks occurred (see 
paragraphs 43-62 of the Commission's report). 
In their submissions to the Court, neither party 
has made any comment on the Commission's 
findings in this respect (see paragraphs 141-42 
of the Commission's report).

12. The following incidents are not contested.

Seven persons connected with Özgür Gün-
dem were killed in circumstances originally re-
garded as killings by “unknown perpetrators”: 
(1) Yahya Orhan, a journalist shot dead on 31 
July 1992; (2) Hüseyin Deniz, a staff member of 
Özgür Gündem, shot dead on 8 August 1992; 
(3) Musa Anter, a regular columnist for Özgür 
Gündem, shot dead on 20 September 1992; 
(4) Hafız Akdemir, a staff member of Özgür 
Gündem, shot dead on 8 June 1992; (5) Ke-
mal Kılıç, the Şanlıurfa representative of Özgür 
Gündem, shot dead on 18 February 1993 (ap-
plication no. 22492/93 lodged by Cemil Kılıç 
concerning alleged State responsibility for 
this killing is pending before the Court – see 
the Commission's report of 23 October 1998); 
(6) Cengiz Altun, a reporter for Yeni Ülke, shot 
dead on 24 February 1992; (7) Ferhat Tepe, the 
Bitlis correspondent for Özgür Gündem, ab-
ducted on 28 July 1993 and found dead on 4 
August 1993.

The following attacks occurred: (1) on 16 No-
vember 1992 an arson attack on the news-
stand of Kadir Saka in Diyarbakır; (2) an armed 
attack on Eşref Yaşa, also a newsagent, on 15 
January 1993 in Diyarbakır; (3) an armed attack 
on the newsagent Haşim Yaşa on 15 June 1993 
in Diyarbakır (this incident and that concern-
ing the attack on Eşref Yaşa were the subject 
of an application under the Convention – see 
the Yaşa v. Turkey judgment of 2 September 
1998, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 
1998-VI); (4) on 26 September 1993 Mehmet 
Balamir, a newspaper boy, was attacked with 
a knife in Diyarbakır as he was selling Özgür 
Gündem; (5) in 1993, in Ergani, boys selling the 
newspaper were attacked by a person with a 
knife; (6) an arson attack on a newsagent's in 
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Mazidagı; (7) in Bingöl, on 17 November 1992 
the car of a newsagent was destroyed by fire; 
(8) in Yüksekova, in October 1993, a bomb ex-
plosion damaged a newsagent's; (9) a bomb 
exploded at the Istanbul office of the news-
paper's successor Özgür Ülke on 2 December 
1994, killing one employee and injuring eight-
een others.

13. The applicants listed a large number of other 
incidents (arson attacks, attacks and threats on 
newsagents, distributors and newspaper boys) 
which the Government stated either did not 
occur or concerning which they stated that 
they had received no information or complaint 
(see paragraphs 32-34 and 43-62 of the Com-
mission's report). They also referred to the dis-
appearance of the journalist Aysel Malkaç on 7 
August 1993 and to the detention and ill-treat-
ment of many journalists, one of whom, Salih 
Tekin, was found, upon his application to Stras-
bourg, to have been subjected to inhuman 
and degrading treatment while in custody (see 
paragraph 37 of the Commission's report and 
the Tekin v. Turkey judgment of 9 June 1998, 
Reports 1998-IV, pp. 1517-18, §§ 53-54).

14. The applicants, and others acting on behalf of 
the newspaper and its employees, addressed 
numerous petitions to the authorities concern-
ing the threats and attacks which they claimed 
had occurred. These are listed in the Commis-
sion's report (paragraph 35) and include letters 
from the applicant Yaşar Kaya to the governor 
of the state of emergency region, the Minister 
of the Interior, the Prime Minister and Deputy 
Prime Minister, informing them of the attacks 
and requesting investigations to be opened 
and measures of protection to be taken. There 
was no reply to the vast majority of these let-
ters.

15. Written complaints were made by persons 
from the newspaper about specific attacks, 
incidents and threats concerning which the 
Government stated that they had received 
no information or complaint, including the at-
tacks on children distributing the newspaper 
in Diyarbakır during 1993, the death of newsa-
gent Zülküf Akkaya in Diyarbakır on 27 Septem-
ber 1993 and attacks on distributors by persons 
with meat axes, also in Diyarbakır, in Septem-
ber 1993 (see paragraph 35 (s) of the Commis-
sion's report). A written request for protective 
measures made on 24 December 1992 to the 
governor of Şanlıurfa on behalf of the persons 
involved in the newspaper in Şanlıurfa was re-
fused shortly before the journalist Kemal Kılıç 

was shot dead on 18 February 1993 (see para-
graph 35 (l) of the Commission's report).

16. Following a request for security measures re-
ceived by the Diyarbakır police on 2 December 
1993, police escorted employees of the two 
companies dealing with the distribution of 
newspapers from the border of the province 
of Şanlıurfa to the distribution stores. Measures 
were also taken with respect to deliveries of 
the newspaper from the stores to newsagents. 
The Government submitted to the Commis-
sion that no other requests for protection were 
received. Following the explosion at the Özgür 
Ülke office on 2 December 1994 and a request 
from the owner, security measures, including 
patrolling, were taken by the authorities.

B. The search-and-arrest operation at the 
Özgür Gündem premises in Istanbul

17. On 10 December 1993 the police conducted a 
search of the Özgür Gündem office in Istanbul. 
During the operation, they took into custody 
those present in the building (107 persons, 
including the applicants Gurbetelli Ersöz and 
Fahri Ferda Çetin) and seized all the docu-
ments and archives.

18. Two search-and-seizure documents dated 10 
December 1993 record that the police found 
two guns, ammunition, two sleeping bags and 
twenty-five gas masks. In a further search-and-
seizure document dated 10 December 1993, 
it is stated that the following items had been 
found: photographs (described as kept in en-
velopes with a label “PKK Terrorist Organisa-
tion”), a tax receipt stamped with the name 
ERNK (a wing of the Workers' Party of Kurdis-
tan (PKK)) for 400,000,000 Turkish liras (TRL), 
found in the desk of the applicant Yaşar Kaya, 
and numerous printed and hand-written docu-
ments, including an article on Abdullah Öcalan. 
A document dated 24 December 1993, signed 
by a public prosecutor at the Istanbul National 
Security Court, listed the following material as 
having been seized: in a sealed envelope the 
military identification of Muzaffer Ulutaş killed 
in Şırnak in March 1993, in a sealed box 1,350 
injection kits, one typewriter, one video-cas-
sette and one audio-cassette, and forty books 
found at the house of the applicant Fahri Ferda 
Çetin. As a result of these measures, the publi-
cation of the newspaper was disrupted for two 
days.

19. In an indictment dated 5 April 1994, charges 
were brought against the editor Gurbe-
telli Ersöz, Fahri Ferda Çetin, Yaşar Kaya, 
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the*manager Ali Rıza Halis and six others, alleg-
ing that they were members of the PKK, had 
assisted the PKK and made propaganda in its 
favour. The Government have stated that Gur-
betelli Ersöz and Ali Rıza Halis were convicted 
of aiding and abetting the PKK, by judgment 
of the Istanbul National Security Court no. 5 on 
12 December 1996. Gurbetelli Ersöz had previ-
ously been convicted of involvement with the 
PKK in or about the end of December 1990 and 
had been released from prison in 1992.

C. Prosecutions concerning issues of Özgür 
Gündem

20. Numerous prosecutions were brought against 
the newspaper (including the relevant editor, 
the applicant Yaşar Kaya as the owner and 
publisher, and the authors of the impugned 
articles), alleging that offences had been com-
mitted by the publication of various articles. 
The prosecutions resulted in many convic-
tions, carrying sentences imposing fines and 
prison terms and orders of confiscation of is-
sues of the newspaper and orders of closure 
of the newspaper for periods of three days to 
a month.

The prosecutions were brought under provi-
sions rendering it an offence, inter alia, to pub-
lish material insulting or vilifying the Turkish 
nation, the Republic or specific State officers or 
authorities, material provoking feelings of ha-
tred and enmity on grounds of race, region of 
origin or class, and materials constituting sepa-
ratist propaganda, disclosing the names of offi-
cials involved in fighting terrorism or reporting 
the declarations of terrorist organisations (see 
“Relevant domestic law” below).

21. On 3 July 1993 Özgür Gündem published a 
press release announcing that the newspaper 
was charged with offences which, cumula-
tively, were punishable by fines totalling TRL 
8,617,441,000 and prison terms ranging from 
155 years and 9 months to 493 years and 4 
months.

22. During one period of sixty-eight days in 1993, 
forty-one issues of the newspaper were or-
dered to be seized. In twenty cases, closure 
orders were issued, three for a period of one 
month, fifteen for a period of fifteen days and 
two for ten days.

23. The applicants have further stated, and this 
was not contested by the Government, that 
there have been prosecutions in respect of 
486 out of 580 issues of the newspaper and 

that, pursuant to convictions by the domes-
tic courts, the applicant Yaşar Kaya has been 
fined up to TRL 35 billion, while journalists and 
editors together have had imposed sentences 
totalling 147 years' imprisonment and fines 
reaching TRL 21 billion.

D. Material before the Commission
1.Domesticcourtproceedings

24. Both parties provided the Commission with 
copies of judgments and decisions by the 
courts relating to the proceedings brought in 
respect of the newspaper. These involve 112 
prosecutions brought between 1992 and 1994. 
Details of the articles in issue and the judg-
ments given in twenty-one cases are summa-
rised in the Commission's report (paragraphs 
161-237).

2.TheSusurlukreport
25. The applicants provided the Commission with 

a copy of the so-called “Susurluk report”2, pro-
duced at the request of the Prime Minister by 
Mr Kutlu Savaş, Vice-President of the Board of 
Inspectors within the Prime Minister's Office. 
After receiving the report in January 1998, the 
Prime Minister made it available to the public, 
although eleven pages and certain annexes 
were withheld.

26. The introduction states that the report was 
not based on a judicial investigation and did 
not constitute a formal investigative report. It 
was intended for information purposes and 
purported to do no more than describe certain 
events which had occurred mainly in south-
east Turkey and which tended to confirm the 
existence of unlawful dealings between politi-
cal figures, government institutions and clan-
destine groups.

27. The report analyses a series of events, such as 
murders carried out under orders, the killings 
of well-known figures or supporters of the 
Kurds and deliberate acts by a group of “in-
formants” supposedly serving the State, and 
concludes that there is a connection between 
the fight to eradicate terrorism in the region 
and the underground relations that have been 
formed as a result, particularly in the drug-traf-
ficking sphere. The passages from the report 
that concern certain matters affecting radical 
periodicals distributed in the region are repro-
duced below.
“... In his confession to the Diyarbakır Crime
Squad, ... Mr G. ... had stated that Ahmet
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Demir[3] [p.35]wouldsayfromtimetotime
thathehadplannedandprocuredthemurder
ofBehçetCantürk[4]andotherpartisansfrom
themafia and the PKKwho had been killed
inthesameway...Themurderof...MusaAn-
ter[5]hadalsobeenplannedandcarriedout
byA.Demir[p.37].

...

Summary informationon the antecedentsof
BehçetCantürk,whowasofArmenianorigin,
aresetoutbelow[p.72].

...

Asof1992hewasoneofthefinanciersofthe
newspaperÖzgürGündem....Althoughitwas
obvious who Cantürk was and what he did,
the State was unable to cope with him. Be-
cause legalremedieswere inadequateÖzgür
Gündemwasblownupwithplasticexplosives
andwhenCantürkstartedtosetupanewun-
dertaking,when hewas expected to submit
totheState,theTurkishSecurityOrganisation
decidedthatheshouldbekilledandthatdeci-
sionwascarriedout[p.73].

...

All the relevant State bodies were aware of
these activities and operations. ... When the
characteristics of the individuals killed in the
operationsinquestionareexamined,thedif-
ference between those Kurdish supporters
whowerekilledintheregioninwhichastate
of emergency had been declared and those
whowerenotlayinthefinancialstrengththe
latterpresentedineconomicterms....Thesole
disagreement we have with what was done
relatestotheformoftheprocedureanditsre-
sults.Ithasbeenestablishedthattherewasre-
gretatthemurderofMusaAnter,evenamong
thosewhoapprovedofall the incidents. It is
saidthatMusaAnterwasnotinvolvedinany
armed action, that he was more concerned
withthephilosophyofthematterandthatthe
effectcreatedbyhismurderexceededhisown
realinfluenceandthatthedecisiontomurder
himwasamistake. (Informationabout these
peopleistobefoundinAppendix9[6]).Other
journalists have also been murdered [p. 74]
[7].”

28. The report concludes with numerous recom-
mendations, such as improving coordination 
and communication between the different 
branches of the security, police and intelli-
gence departments; identifying and dismissing 
security-force personnel implicated in illegal 
activities; limiting the use of “confessors”8; re-
ducing the number of village guards; terminat-
ing the use of the Special Operations Bureau 

outside the south-east region and incorporat-
ing it into the police outside that area; open-
ing investigations into various incidents; taking 
steps to suppress gang and drug-smuggling 
activities; and recommending that the results 
of the Grand National Assembly Susurluk in-
quiry be forwarded to the appropriate authori-
ties for the relevant proceedings to be under-
taken.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW

A. The Criminal Code
29. The relevant provisions of the Criminal Code 

read as follows:

Article 36 § 1

“Intheeventofconviction,thecourtshallor-
dertheseizureandconfiscationofanyobject
which has been used for the commission or
preparationofthecrimeoroffence...”

Article 79

“Apersonwhoinfringesvariousprovisionsof
thisCodebyasingleactshallbepunishedun-
dertheprovisionwhichprescribestheheavi-
estpunishment.”

Article 159 § 1

“WhoeverovertlyinsultsorvilifiestheTurkish
nation, the Republic, the GrandNational As-
sembly, or themoral personality of theGov-
ernment,theministriesorthemilitaryorsecu-
rityforcesoftheStateorthemoralpersonality
ofthejudicialauthoritiesshallbepunishedby
atermofimprisonmentofonetosixyears.”

Article 311 § 2

“Where incitement to commit an offence is
done by means of mass communication, of
whatevertype–whetherbytaperecordings,
gramophonerecords,newspapers,presspub-
licationsorotherpublishedmaterial–bythe
circulationordistributionofprintedpapersor
bytheplacingofplacardsorpostersinpublic
places, the terms of imprisonment to which
convictedpersonsareliableshallbedoubled
...”

Article 312

“Apersonwhoexpresslypraisesorcondones
anactpunishablebylawasanoffenceor in-
citesthepopulationtobreakthelawshall,on
conviction, be liable to between sixmonths'
andtwoyears'imprisonmentandaheavyfine
offromsixthousandtothirtythousandTurk-
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ishliras.

Apersonwhoincitesthepeopletohatredor
hostilityonthebasisofadistinctionbetween
socialclasses, races, religions,denominations
or regions, shall, on conviction, be liable to
betweenone and three years' imprisonment
andafineoffromninethousandtothirty-six
thousand liras. If this incitement endangers
publicsafety,thesentenceshallbeincreased
byone-thirdtoone-half.

The penalties to be imposed on those who
have committed the offences defined in the
previous paragraph shall be doubled when
theyhavedonesobythemeanslistedinAr-
ticle311§2.”

30. The conviction of a person under Article 312 
§ 2 entails further consequences, particularly 
with regard to the exercise of certain activities 
governed by special legislation. For example, 
persons convicted of an offence under that 
Article may not found associations (Law no. 
2908, section 4(2)(b)) or trade unions, nor may 
they be members of the executive committee 
of a trade union (Law no. 2929, section 5). They 
are also forbidden to found or join political par-
ties (Law no. 2820, section 11(5)) and may not 
stand for election to Parliament (Law no. 2839, 
section 11(f 3)).

B. The Press Act (Law no. 5680 of 15 July 
1950)

31. The relevant provision of the Press Act 1950 
reads as follows:

Section 3

“ForthepurposesofthepresentLaw,theterm
'periodicals' shall mean newspapers, press
agencydispatchesandanyotherprintedmat-
terpublishedatregularintervals.

'Publication'shallmeantheexposure,display,
distribution,emission,saleoroffer forsaleof
printedmatteronpremisestowhichthepub-
lichaveaccesswhereanyonemayseeit.

Anoffenceshallnotbedeemedtohavebeen
committedthroughthemediumofthepress
unless publication has taken place, except
wherethematerialinitselfisunlawful.”

C. The Prevention of Terrorism Act (Law no. 
3713 of 12 April 1991)

32. This law, promulgated with a view to prevent-
ing acts of terrorism, refers to a number of of-
fences defined in the Criminal Code which it 
describes as “acts of terrorism” or “acts perpe-

trated for the purposes of terrorism” (sections 
3 and 4) and to which it applies. The relevant 
provisions of the Prevention of Terrorism Act 
1991 read as follows:

Section 6

“Itshallbeanoffence,punishablebyafineof
fromfivemilliontotenmillionTurkishliras,to
announce,orallyor in the formof apublica-
tion, that terrorist organisations will commit
anoffenceagainstaspecificperson,whether
or not that person's ... identity is divulged,
providedthatitisdoneinsuchamannerthat
heor shemaybe identified,or to reveal the
identityofcivilservantswhohaveparticipated
inanti-terroristoperationsortodesignateany
personasatarget.

Itshallbeanoffence,punishablebyafineof
fromfivemilliontotenmillionTurkishliras,to
print or publishdeclarations or leaflets ema-
natingfromterroristorganisations.

...

Where the offences contemplated in the
aboveparagraphsarecommittedthroughthe
mediumofperiodicalswithinthemeaningof
section3ofthePressAct(Lawno.5680),the
publishershallalsobeliabletoafineequalto
ninetypercentoftheincomefromtheaver-
age sales for thepreviousmonth if theperi-
odicalappearsmorefrequentlythanmonthly,
or from the salesof theprevious issue if the
periodicalappearsmonthlyorlessfrequently,
or from the average sales for the previous
monthofthedailynewspaperwiththelargest
circulationiftheoffenceinvolvesprintedmat-
terother thanperiodicalsor if theperiodical
has justbeen launched[9].However, the fine
maynotbelessthanfiftymillionTurkishliras.
Theeditoroftheperiodicalshallbeorderedto
payasumequal tohalf the fine imposedon
thepublisher.”

Section 8

(before amendment by Law no. 4126 of 27 
October 1995)

“Written and spoken propaganda, meetings,
assemblies and demonstrations aimed at
undermining the territorial integrity of the
Republic of Turkeyor the indivisibleunity of
thenation areprohibited, irrespectiveof the
methodsusedandthe intention.Anyperson
whoengagesinsuchanactivityshallbesen-
tencedtonotlessthantwoandnotmorethan
fiveyears'imprisonmentandafineoffromfif-
tymilliontoonehundredmillionTurkishliras.

Wherethecrimeofpropagandacontemplated



620 CASEOFÖZGÜRGÜNDEMVTURKEY

EC
HR

EC
J

intheaboveparagraphiscommittedthrough
themediumofperiodicalswithinthemeaning
ofsection3ofthePressAct(Lawno.5680),the
publishershallalsobeliabletoafineequalto
ninetypercentoftheincomefromtheaver-
agesalesforthepreviousmonthiftheperiodi-
calappearsmorefrequentlythanmonthly,or
fromtheaveragesalesforthepreviousmonth
ofthedailynewspaperwiththelargestcircu-
lation if the offence involves printed matter
otherthanperiodicalsor iftheperiodicalhas
justbeenlaunched[10].Howeverthefinemay
notbelessthanonehundredmillionTurkish
liras. The editor of the periodical concerned
shallbeorderedtopayasumequaltohalfthe
fineimposedonthepublisherandsentenced
tonotlessthansixmonths'andnotmorethan
twoyears'imprisonment.”

Section 8

(as amended by Law no. 4126 of 27 October 
1995)

“Written and spoken propaganda, meetings,
assembliesanddemonstrationsaimedatun-
dermining the territorial integrity of the Re-
publicofTurkeyortheindivisibleunityofthe
nationareprohibited.Anypersonwhoengag-
esinsuchanactivityshallbesentencedtonot
lessthanoneandnotmorethanthreeyears'
imprisonmentandafineoffromonehundred
milliontothreehundredmillionTurkish liras.
Thepenaltyimposedonareoffendermaynot
becommutedtoafine.

Wherethecrimeofpropagandacontemplat-
edinthefirstparagraphiscommittedthrough
themediumofperiodicalswithinthemeaning
ofsection3ofthePressAct(Lawno.5680),the
publishershallalsobeliabletoafineequalto
ninetypercentoftheincomefromtheaver-
age sales for thepreviousmonth if theperi-
odicalappearsmorefrequentlythanmonthly.
However, the finemay not be less than one
hundredmillionTurkishliras.Theeditorofthe
periodicalconcernedshallbeorderedtopay
a sumequal tohalf the fine imposedon the
publisher and sentenced tonot less than six
months'andnotmorethantwoyears'impris-
onment.

Where the crime of propaganda contem-
plated in the first paragraph is committed
throughthemediumofprintedmatterorby
means of mass communication other than
periodicalswithinthemeaningofthesecond
paragraph,thoseresponsibleandtheowners
ofthemeansofmasscommunicationshallbe
sentencedtonotlessthansixmonths'andnot
morethantwoyears'imprisonmentandafine
offromonehundredmilliontothreehundred

millionTurkishliras...

...”

D. Law no. 4126 of 27 October 1995 
amending sections 8 and 13 of Law no. 
3713

33. The following amendments were made to the 
Prevention of Terrorism Act 1991 after the en-
actment of Law no. 4126 of 27 October 1995:

Transitional provision relating to section 2

“In themonth following the entry into force
ofthepresentLaw,thecourtwhichhasgiven
judgmentshall re-examinethecaseofaper-
son convicted pursuant to section 8 of the
Prevention of Terrorism Act (Law no. 3713)
and,inaccordancewiththeamendment...to
section8ofLawno.3713,shallreconsiderthe
termofimprisonmentimposedonthatperson
anddecidewhetherheshouldbeallowedthe
benefitofsections4[11]and6[12]ofLawno.
647of13July1965.”

tHE LAW

I. STANDING OF GURBETELLI ERSÖZ

34. The Court recalls that this application was 
lodged by four applicants, the first of which 
was Gurbetelli Ersöz, formerly the editor of 
Özgür Gündem. In its report of 29 October 
1998, the Commission decided not to pur-
sue its examination of the case in so far as it 
concerned Gurbetelli Ersöz as she had died in 
autumn 1997 and no information had been re-
ceived that any heir or close relative wished to 
pursue her complaints.

35. The parties have made no submissions on this 
aspect of the case.

36. The Court considers, in accordance with Article 
37 § 1 (c) of the Convention, that it is no long-
er justified to continue the examination of the 
application in so far as it concerns Gurbetelli 
Ersöz. Accordingly, this part of the case shall be 
struck out of the list.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
10 OF THE CONVENTION

37. The applicants complained that the newspaper 
Özgür Gündem was forced to cease publica-
tion due to the campaign of attacks on journal-
ists and others associated with the newspaper 
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and due to the legal steps taken against the 
newspaper and its staff, invoking Article 10 of 
the Convention which provides:
“1. Everyonehas the right to freedomof ex-
pression. This right shall include freedom to
hold opinions and to receive and impart in-
formation and ideaswithout interference by
public authority and regardless of frontiers.
This Article shall not prevent States from re-
quiring the licensing of broadcasting, televi-
sionorcinemaenterprises.

2.Theexerciseofthesefreedoms,sinceitcar-
rieswithitdutiesandresponsibilities,maybe
subjecttosuchformalities,conditions,restric-
tionsorpenaltiesasareprescribedbylawand
are necessary in a democratic society, in the
interestsofnationalsecurity, territorial integ-
rityorpublicsafety,forthepreventionofdis-
orderorcrime,fortheprotectionofhealthor
morals,fortheprotectionofthereputationor
rightsofothers,forpreventingthedisclosure
of information received in confidence, or for
maintaining theauthority and impartialityof
thejudiciary.”

A. Concerning the alleged attacks on the 
newspaper and persons associated with it

38. The applicants claimed that the Turkish author-
ities had, directly or indirectly, sought to hinder, 
prevent and render impossible the production 
of Özgür Gündem by the encouragement of or 
acquiescence in unlawful killings and forced 
disappearances, by harassment and intimida-
tion of journalists and distributors, and by fail-
ure to provide any or any adequate protection 
for journalists and distributors when their lives 
were clearly in danger and despite requests for 
such protection.

The applicants relied on the findings in the 
Commission's report that there was a disturb-
ing pattern of attacks on persons concerned 
with Özgür Gündem and that the authorities, 
through their failure to take measures of pro-
tection and to conduct adequate investiga-
tions in relation to the apparent pattern of 
attacks on Özgür Gündem and persons con-
nected with it, did not comply with their posi-
tive obligation to secure to the applicants their 
right to freedom of expression guaranteed un-
der Article 10 of the Convention.

39. The Government emphasised that Özgür Gün-
dem was the instrument of the terrorist or-
ganisation PKK and espoused the aim of that 
organisation to destroy the territorial integrity 
of Turkey by violent means. They disputed that 

any reliance could be placed on previous judg-
ments of the Court or on the Susurluk report in 
deducing that there was any official complicity 
in any alleged attacks. In particular, the Susur-
luk report was not a judicial document and had 
no probative value.

The Government submitted that the Commis-
sion based its findings on general presump-
tions unsupported by any evidence and that 
the applicants had not substantiated their 
claims of a failure to protect the lives and physi-
cal integrity of persons attached to Özgür Gün-
dem. Nor had they substantiated that the per-
sons attacked were related to the newspaper. 
They disputed that any positive obligation ex-
tends to the protection and promotion of the 
propaganda instrument of a terrorist organisa-
tion but asserted that, in any event, necessary 
measures were taken in response to individual 
complaints, investigations being carried out by 
public prosecutors as required.

40. The Court observes that the Government have 
disputed the Commission's findings concern-
ing the pattern of attacks in general terms 
without specifying which are, or in what way 
they are, inaccurate. It notes that the Govern-
ment deny specifically that any weight can be 
given to the Susurluk report and its description 
of acquiescence and connivance by State au-
thorities in unlawful activities, some of which 
targeted Özgür Gündem and journalists, of 
whom Musa Anter is specifically named.

In its judgment in the Yaşa case (Yaşa v. Turkey 
judgment of 2 September 1998, Reports 1998-
VI, pp. 2437-38, §§ 95-96), in which it was al-
leged that the security forces had connived in 
an attack on Eşref Yaşa and his uncle who were 
both involved in the sale and distribution of 
Özgür Gündem in Diyarbakır, the Court found 
that the Susurluk report did not provide a basis 
for enabling the perpetrators of the attack on 
Eşref Yaşa and his uncle to be identified. It did 
find that the report gave rise to serious con-
cerns and that it was not disputed in the Yaşa 
case that there had been a number of serious 
attacks on journalists, newspaper kiosks and 
distributors of Özgür Gündem. Furthermore, 
while the Susurluk report indeed may not be 
relied on for establishing to the required stand-
ard of proof that State officials were implicated 
in any particular incident, the Court considers 
that the report, which was drawn up at the re-
quest of the Prime Minister and which he de-
cided should be made public, must be regard-
ed as a serious attempt to provide information 
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on and analyse problems associated with the 
fight against terrorism from a general perspec-
tive and to recommend preventive and inves-
tigative measures. On that basis, the report can 
be relied on as providing factual substantiation 
of the fears expressed by the applicants from 
1992 onwards that the newspaper and persons 
associated with it were at risk from unlawful 
violence.

41. Having regard to the parties' submissions and 
the findings of the Commission in its report, 
the Court is satisfied that from 1992 to 1994 
there were numerous incidents of violence, in-
cluding killings, assaults and arson attacks, in-
volving the newspaper and journalists, distrib-
utors and other persons associated with it. The 
concerns of the newspaper and its fears that it 
was the victim of a concerted campaign toler-
ated, if not approved, by State officials, were 
brought to the attention of the authorities (see 
paragraphs 14-15 above). It does not appear, 
however, that any measures were taken to in-
vestigate this allegation. Nor did the authorities 
respond by any protective measures, save in 
two instances (see paragraph 16 above).

42. The Court has long held that, although the es-
sential object of many provisions of the Con-
vention is to protect the individual against 
arbitrary interference by public authorities, 
there may in addition be positive obligations 
inherent in an effective respect of the rights 
concerned. It has found that such obligations 
may arise under Article 8 (see, amongst others, 
the Gaskin v. the United Kingdom judgment of 
7 July 1989, Series A no. 160, pp. 17-20, §§ 
42-49) and Article 11 (see the Plattform “Ärzte 
für das Leben” v. Austria judgment of 21 June 
1988, Series A no. 139, p. 12, § 32). Obligations 
to take steps to undertake effective investiga-
tions have also been found to accrue in the 
context of Article 2 (see, for example, the Mc-
Cann and Others v. the United Kingdom judg-
ment of 27 September 1995, Series A no. 324, 
p. 49, § 161) and Article 3 (see the Assenov 
and Others v. Bulgaria judgment of 28 October 
1998, Reports 1998-VIII, p. 3290, § 102), while a 
positive obligation to take steps to protect life 
may also exist under Article 2 (see the Osman 
v. the United Kingdom judgment of 28 Octo-
ber 1998, Reports 1998-VIII, pp. 3159-61, §§ 
115-17).

43. The Court recalls the key importance of free-
dom of expression as one of the preconditions 
for a functioning democracy. Genuine, effec-
tive exercise of this freedom does not depend 

merely on the State's duty not to interfere, but 
may require positive measures of protection, 
even in the sphere of relations between indi-
viduals (see mutatis mutandis, the X and Y v. 
the Netherlands judgment of 26 March 1985, 
Series A no. 91, p. 11, § 23). In determining 
whether or not a positive obligation exists, re-
gard must be had to the fair balance that has to 
be struck between the general interest of the 
community and the interests of the individual, 
the search for which is inherent throughout 
the Convention. The scope of this obliga-
tion will inevitably vary, having regard to the 
diversity of situations obtaining in Contract-
ing States, the difficulties involved in policing 
modern societies and the choices which must 
be made in terms of priorities and resources. 
Nor must such an obligation be interpreted in 
such a way as to impose an impossible or dis-
proportionate burden on the authorities (see, 
among other authorities, the Rees v. the United 
Kingdom judgment of 17 October 1986, Series 
A no. 106, p. 15, § 37, and the Osman v. the 
United Kingdom judgment cited above, pp. 
3159-60, § 116).

44. In the present case, the authorities were aware 
that Özgür Gündem, and persons associated 
with it, had been subject to a series of violent 
acts and that the applicants feared that they 
were being targeted deliberately in efforts to 
prevent the publication and distribution of 
the newspaper. However, the vast majority of 
the petitions and requests for protection sub-
mitted by the newspaper or its staff remained 
unanswered. The Government have only been 
able to identify one protective measure con-
cerning the distribution of the newspaper 
which was taken while the newspaper was still 
in existence. The steps taken after the bomb 
attack at the Istanbul office in December 1994 
concerned the newspaper's successor. The 
Court finds, having regard to the seriousness of 
the attacks and their widespread nature, that 
the Government cannot rely on the investiga-
tions ordered by individual public prosecutors 
into specific incidents. It is not convinced by 
the Government's contention that these in-
vestigations provided adequate or effective 
responses to the applicants' allegations that 
the attacks were part of a concerted campaign 
which was supported, or tolerated, by the au-
thorities.

45. The Court has noted the Government's submis-
sions concerning its strongly held conviction 
that Özgür Gündem and its staff supported the 
PKK and acted as its propaganda tool. This does 
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not, even if true, provide a justification for fail-
ing to take steps effectively to investigate and, 
where necessary, provide protection against 
unlawful acts involving violence.

46. The Court concludes that the Government 
have failed, in the circumstances, to comply 
with their positive obligation to protect Özgür 
Gündem in the exercise of its freedom of ex-
pression.

B. Concerning the police operation at the 
Özgür Gündem premises in Istanbul on 10 
December 1993

47. The applicants relied on the findings in the 
Commission's report that the search-and-
arrest operation conducted on the premises 
of Özgür Gündem in Istanbul, during which all 
the employees were detained and the archives, 
library and administrative documents seized, 
disclosed an interference with the newspaper's 
freedom of expression for which there was no 
convincing justification. In their submissions to 
the Commission, they stated that there were 
innocent explanations for the allegedly incrim-
inating material found on the premises (see 
paragraph 36 (i) of the Commission's report).

48. The Government pointed to the materials 
seized during the search, including injection 
kits, gas masks, an ERNK receipt and the iden-
tity card of a dead soldier, which, they sub-
mitted, were indisputable proof of the links 
between the newspaper and the PKK. They re-
ferred to the conviction on 12 December 1996 
of the editor Gurbetelli Ersöz and manager Ali 
Rıza Halis for aiding the PKK. They also asserted 
that, of the 107 persons apprehended at the 
Istanbul office, 40 could claim no connection 
with the newspaper, which gave additional 
grounds for suspicions of complicity with the 
terrorist organisation.

49. The Court finds that the operation, which result-
ed in newspaper production being disrupted 
for two days, constituted a serious interference 
with the applicants' freedom of expression. It 
accepts that the operation was conducted ac-
cording to a procedure “prescribed by law” for 
the purpose of preventing crime and disorder 
within the meaning of the second paragraph 
of Article 10. It does not, however, find that a 
measure of such dimension was proportionate 
to this aim. No justification has been provided 
for the seizure of the newspaper's archives, 
documentation and library. Nor has the Court 
received an explanation for the fact that every 
person found on the newspaper's premises 

had been taken into custody, including the 
cook, cleaner and heating engineer. The pres-
ence of forty persons who were not employed 
by the newspaper is not, in itself, evidence of 
any sinister purpose or of the commission of 
any offence.

50. As stated in the Commission's report, the ne-
cessity for any restriction in the exercise of 
freedom of expression must be convincingly 
established (see, among other authorities, the 
Otto-Preminger-Institut v. Austria judgment of 
20 September 1994, Series A no. 295-A, p. 19, 
§ 50). The Court concludes that the search 
operation, as conducted by the authorities, has 
not been shown to be necessary, in a demo-
cratic society, for the implementation of any 
legitimate aim.

C. Concerning the legal measures taken in 
respect of issues of the newspaper

1.Theapplicants
51. The applicants claimed that the Government 

had also sought to hinder, prevent and render 
impossible the production and distribution of 
Özgür Gündem by means of unjustified legal 
proceedings. They adopted the findings in the 
Commission's report that many of the pros-
ecutions brought against the newspaper in 
respect of the contents of articles and news re-
ports were unjustified and disproportionate in 
their effects. They submitted that the Commis-
sion had analysed thoroughly a representative 
sample of prosecutions in the light of the prin-
ciples established by the Court and had found 
that most of the impugned articles contained 
no incitement to violence or comments likely 
to exacerbate the situation which could have 
justified the measures imposed.

2.TheGovernment
52. The Government submitted that the Commis-

sion was selective in the manner in which it 
examined domestic court decisions concern-
ing the Özgür Gündem publications. It was fur-
thermore simplistic, in their view, to consider 
that only words directly and expressly inciting 
to violence might justifiably be prohibited, an 
approach which the Commission had taken 
in examining the articles. Implied, covert and 
veiled messages could equally have a nega-
tive impact. The Government argued that the 
correct test was to examine the actual danger 
caused by the publication. They also contend-
ed that the intention of the newspaper, name-
ly, that of acting as a tool of propaganda for the 
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PKK and of supporting its aim of endangering 
the territorial integrity of Turkey, was crucial in 
this assessment. It is for the domestic authori-
ties who are in contact with the vital forces of 
their countries to determine whether safety 
or security is threatened and the Contracting 
State must enjoy a wide margin of appreciation 
in any supervision carried out by Strasbourg.

3.TheCommission
53. In its report, the Commission examined twen-

ty-one court decisions concerning prosecu-
tions in respect of thirty-two articles and news 
reports. These prosecutions related to various 
offences: insulting the State and the military 
authorities (Article 159 of the Criminal Code), 
provoking racial and regional hostility (Article 
312 of the Criminal Code), reporting statements 
of the PKK (section 6 of the Prevention of Ter-
rorism Act 1991), identifying officials appointed 
to fight terrorism (section 6 of the 1991 Act), 
and publishing separatist propaganda (section 
8 of the 1991 Act). The prosecutions resulted 
in convictions involving prison terms, fines and 
closure of the newspaper. The Commission 
found that the criminal convictions and the 
imposition of sentences could be justified only 
in respect of three issues. Its summaries of the 
articles and court decisions are contained in its 
report (paragraphs 160-237).

4.TheCourt'sassessment
54. The Court, firstly, sees no reason for criticis-

ing the approach adopted by the Commis-
sion which consisted in selecting domestic 
decisions for examination. The Commission 
reviewed the material and information pro-
vided by the parties, including the convictions 
and acquittals involved. Given the number of 
prosecutions and decisions, a detailed analysis 
of all cases would have been impracticable. 
The Commission identified decisions reflecting 
the different criminal offences at stake in the 
domestic cases. The articles examined varied 
in subject matter and form and included news 
reports on different subjects, interviews, a book 
review and a cartoon. The Government have 
not provided any reason for holding that this 
selection was biased, unrepresentative or oth-
erwise gave a distorted picture; nor did they 
identify any court decisions or articles which 
should have been examined instead.

55. The Court therefore accepts the approach 
taken by the Commission and will examine 
whether, in the cases which the latter included 
in its report, the measures imposed disclose 

any violation of Article 10 of the Convention.

56. It finds first that, prima facie, these measures 
constituted an interference with the freedom 
of expression within the meaning of the first 
paragraph of Article 10 and fall to be justified in 
terms of the second paragraph. While the ap-
plicants submit, in their memorial, that the pro-
visions of the Prevention of Terrorism Act 1991 
(see paragraphs 32-33 above) are so vague and 
potentially all-inclusive as to violate the letter 
and spirit of Article 10, they have not provided 
any precise argument as to why the measures 
in question should not be considered as “pre-
scribed by law”.

The Court recalls that it has already considered 
this point in previous judgments (see, for exam-
ple, Sürek v. Turkey (no. 1) [GC], no. 26682/95, 
§§ 45-46, ECHR 1999-IV and twelve other 
freedom of expression cases concerning Tur-
key) and found that measures imposed pursu-
ant to the 1991 Act could be regarded as “pre-
scribed by law”. The applicants have provided 
no basis on which to alter this conclusion. As 
in those other judgments, the Court therefore 
finds that the measures taken can be said to 
have pursued the legitimate aims of protecting 
national security and territorial integrity and of 
preventing crime and disorder (see, for exam-
ple, Sürek (no. 1) cited above, § 52).

57. The Court shall now examine whether these 
measures were “necessary in a democratic 
society” for achieving such aims in the light of 
the principles established in its case-law (see, 
among recent authorities, the Zana v. Turkey 
judgment of 25 November 1997, Reports 1997-
VII, pp. 2547-48, § 51, and Sürek (no. 1) cited 
above, § 58). These may be summarised as 
follows:

(i) Freedom of expression constitutes one of 
the essential foundations of a democratic 
society and one of the basic conditions 
for its progress and for each individual's 
self-fulfilment. Subject to paragraph 2 of 
Article 10, it extends not only to “informa-
tion” or “ideas” that are favourably received 
or regarded as inoffensive or as a matter of 
indifference, but also to those that offend, 
shock or disturb. Such are the demands of 
that pluralism, tolerance and broadmind-
edness without which there is no “demo-
cratic society”. As set forth in Article 10, this 
freedom is subject to exceptions which 
must, however, be construed strictly, and 
the need for any restrictions must be es-
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tablished convincingly.

(ii) The adjective “necessary”, within the 
meaning of Article 10 § 2, implies the 
existence of a “pressing social need”. The 
Contracting States have a certain mar-
gin of appreciation in assessing whether 
such a need exists, but that margin goes 
hand in hand with European supervision, 
embracing both the legislation and the 
decisions applying it, even those given by 
an independent court. The Court is there-
fore empowered to give the final ruling on 
whether a “restriction” is reconcilable with 
the freedom of expression protected by 
Article 10.

(iii) In exercising its supervisory jurisdiction, 
the Court must look at the interference in 
the light of the case as a whole, including 
the content of the impugned statements 
and the context in which they were made. 
In particular, it must determine whether 
the interference was “proportionate to 
the legitimate aims pursued” and whether 
the reasons adduced by the national au-
thorities to justify it are “relevant and suf-
ficient”. In doing so, the Court has to satisfy 
itself that the national authorities applied 
standards which were in conformity with 
the principles embodied in Article 10 and, 
moreover, that they based themselves on 
an acceptable assessment of the relevant 
facts.

58. As these cases also concern measures against 
newspaper publications, they must equally be 
seen in the light of the essential role played by 
the press for ensuring the proper functioning 
of democracy (see, among many other authori-
ties, the Lingens v. Austria judgment of 8 July 
1986, Series A no. 103, p. 26, § 41, and Fressoz 
and Roire v. France [GC], no. 29183/95, § 45, 
ECHR 1999-I). While the press must not over-
step the bounds set, inter alia, for the protec-
tion of the vital interests of the State, such as 
the protection of national security or territo-
rial integrity against the threat of violence or 
the prevention of disorder or crime, it is nev-
ertheless incumbent on the press to convey 
information and ideas on political issues, even 
divisive ones. Not only has the press the task 
of imparting such information and ideas; the 
public has a right to receive them. Freedom 
of the press affords the public one of the best 
means of discovering and forming an opinion 
of the ideas and attitudes of political leaders 
(see the Lingens judgment cited above, p. 26, 

§§ 41-42).

D. Prosecutions concerning the offence 
of insulting the State and the military 
authorities (Article 159 of the Criminal 
Code)

59. The Commission examined in this context three 
articles concerning the alleged destruction of 
houses in Lice by the security forces, which led 
to the imposition of a prison sentence of ten 
months and a fifteen-day closure order, and 
a cartoon depicting the Turkish Republic as a 
figure labelled “kahpe”13, which entailed the 
imposition of a fine, a ten-month prison term 
and a fifteen-day closure order (see paragraphs 
161-66 of the Commission's report).

60. The Court reiterates that the dominant posi-
tion enjoyed by the State authorities makes it 
necessary for them to display restraint in re-
sorting to criminal proceedings. The authori-
ties of a democratic State must tolerate criti-
cism, even if it may be regarded as provocative 
or insulting. The Court notes, in respect of the 
articles concerning the destruction in Lice, that 
allegations of security-force involvement were 
circulating widely and indeed are the subject 
of proceedings in Strasbourg (see, for exam-
ple, the case of Ayder and Others v. Turkey, 
now pending before the Court, application 
no. 23656/94, Commission's report of 21 Octo-
ber 1999, unpublished). The Commission also 
found that the terms of the article were factual 
in content and emotional, but not offensive, in 
tone. In respect of the cartoon, it notes that the 
domestic court rejected the claim that it was 
intended as a joke and found that it disclosed 
“the concentrated nature of the intention to 
insult”. The Court does not find any convincing 
reason, however, for penalising any of these 
publications as described above. It agrees with 
the Commission's findings that the measures 
taken were not “necessary in a democratic so-
ciety” for the pursuit of any legitimate aim.

E. Prosecutions concerning the offence of 
provoking racial and regional hostility 
(Article 312 of the Criminal Code)

61. The case examined under this heading con-
cerned an article describing alleged attacks 
by security forces on villages in the south-east 
and attacks made by terrorists, including the 
killing of an imam (see paragraphs 167-69 of 
the Commission's report). The domestic court, 
which imposed a fine and sixteen months' im-
prisonment on the author and issued a one-
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month closure order, referred to the manner in 
which the article was written, the reason why 
it was written and the social context, without 
offering any explanation. The Court notes that 
it did not rely on any alleged inaccuracy in the 
article. The Commission found that the article 
was factual and of public interest and that it 
contained no element of incitement to vio-
lence or overt support for the use of violence 
by the PKK. The Court does not find relevant 
and sufficient reasons for imposing criminal 
convictions and penalties in respect of this ar-
ticle and agrees with the Commission that the 
interference was not justified under Article 10 
§ 2 of the Convention.

f. Prosecutions for reporting statements of 
the PKK (section 6 of the 1991 Act)

62. The Commission reviewed seven court deci-
sions concerning convictions which were im-
posed in respect of eight articles, and which 
involved fines and the confiscation of several 
issues of the newspaper. The articles included 
reports of declarations of PKK-related organi-
sations (for example, ARGK), statements, a 
speech and an interview with Abdullah Öcalan, 
the PKK leader, a statement by the European 
representative of the PKK, an interview with 
Osman Öcalan, a PKK commander, a statement 
by the Dev-Sol14 European office, and an in-
terview with Cemil Bayık, a PKK commander 
(see paragraphs 174-95 of the Commission's 
report).

63. The Court recalls that the fact that interviews or 
statements were given by a member of a pro-
scribed organisation cannot in itself justify an 
interference with the newspaper's freedom of 
expression. Nor can the fact that the interviews 
or statements contain views strongly disparag-
ing of government policy. Regard must be had 
instead to the words used and the context in 
which they were published, with a view to de-
termining whether the texts taken as a whole 
can be considered as inciting to violence (see, 
for example, Sürek and Özdemir v. Turkey [GC], 
nos. 23927/94 and 24277/94, § 61, 8 July 1999, 
unreported).

64. The Court agrees with the Commission that 
four of the eight articles cannot be regarded 
as inciting to violence, in view of their content, 
tone and context. In particular, it finds that 
the statement of the Dev-Sol office in Europe, 
which recounts alleged police ill-treatment of 
persons at a Turkish funeral in Germany, did 
not contain any material relevant to public-

order concerns in Turkey.

65. Three articles were found by the Commission 
to contain passages which advocated inten-
sifying the armed struggle, glorified war and 
espoused the intention to fight to the last drop 
of blood. The Court agrees that, in the context 
of the conflict in the south-east, these could 
reasonably be regarded as encouraging the 
use of violence (see, for example, Sürek (no. 1) 
cited above, §§ 61-62). Given also the rela-
tively light penalties imposed, the Court finds 
that the measures complained of were reason-
ably proportionate to the legitimate aims of 
preventing crime and disorder and could be 
justified as necessary in a democratic society 
within the meaning of the second paragraph 
of Article 10.

G. Prosecutions for identifying officials 
participating in the fight against terrorism 
(section 6 of the 1991 Act)

66. Five court decisions concerning six articles are 
listed under this heading. Penalties included 
fines, the confiscation of issues and, in one 
instance, a fifteen-day closure order (see para-
graphs 199-215 of the Commission's report).

67. The Court observes that the convictions and 
sentences had been imposed because the ar-
ticles had identified by name certain officials in 
connection with alleged misconduct, namely, 
the death of the son of a DEP (Democratic Par-
ty) candidate during detention, the allegation 
of official acquiescence in the killing of Musa 
Anter, the forcible evacuation of villages, the 
intimidation of villagers, the bombing of Şırnak 
and the revenge killing of two persons after a 
PKK raid on a gendarmerie headquarters. How-
ever, it is significant that in two of the articles 
the officials named were not in fact alleged to 
be responsible for the misconduct but merely 
implicated in the surrounding events. In par-
ticular, concerning the death during deten-
tion, the Şırnak security director was cited as 
having previously reassured the family that the 
man would be released safely and the Şırnak 
chief public prosecutor was reported as being 
unavailable for comment. While three village 
guards were named in the article concerning 
the revenge killing, it was alleged that the gen-
darmes had killed the two people.

68. It is true that the other three articles alleged 
serious misconduct by the officials named and 
were capable of exposing them to public con-
tempt. However, as for the other articles, the 
truth of their content was apparently not a fac-
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tor taken into account and, if true, the matters 
described were of public interest. Nor was it 
taken into account that the names of the of-
ficials and their role in fighting terrorism were 
already in the public domain. Thus, the gover-
nor of the sate of emergency region who was 
named in one article was a public figure in the 
region, while the gendarmerie commanders 
and village guards named in the other articles 
would have been well known in their districts. 
The interest in protecting their identity was 
substantially diminished, therefore, and the 
potential damage which the restriction aimed 
at preventing was minimal. To the extent, 
therefore, that the authorities had relevant rea-
sons to impose criminal sanctions, these could 
not be regarded as sufficient to justify the re-
strictions placed on the newspaper's freedom 
of expression (see, for example, Sürek v. Turkey 
(no. 2) [GC], no. 24122/94, §§ 37-42, 8 July 
1999, unreported). Accordingly, these meas-
ures could not be justified in terms of Article 10 
§ 2 of the Convention.

H. Prosecutions for statements constituting 
separatist propaganda (section 8 of the 
1991 Act)

69. Under this heading, the Commission identified 
six court decisions concerning twelve articles. 
The penalties imposed upon conviction in-
cluded prison terms of twenty months and two 
years, fines, confiscation of issues and, in one 
instance, a one-month closure order (see para-
graphs 218-317 of the Commission's report).

70. The Court observes that the articles in question 
included reports on economic or social mat-
ters (for example, a dam project, public health), 
commentaries on historical developments in 
the south-eastern region, a declaration con-
demning torture and massacres in Turkey and 
calling for a democratic solution, and accounts 
of alleged destruction of villages in the south-
east. The Court notes that the use of the term 
“Kurdistan” in a context which implies that it 
should be, or is, separate from the territory of 
Turkey, and the claims by persons to exercise 
authority on behalf of that entity, may be high-
ly provocative to the authorities. However, the 
public has the right to be informed of different 
perspectives on the situation in south-east Tur-
key, irrespective of how unpalatable those per-
spectives appear to the authorities. The Court 
is not convinced that, even against the back-
ground of serious disturbances in the region, 
expressions which appear to support the idea 
of a separate Kurdish entity must be regarded 

as inevitably exacerbating the situation. While 
several of the articles were highly critical of the 
authorities and attributed unlawful conduct 
to the security forces, sometimes in colourful 
and derogatory terms, the Court nonetheless 
finds that they cannot be reasonably regarded 
as advocating or inciting the use of violence. 
Having regard to the severity of the penalties, it 
concludes that the restrictions imposed on the 
newspaper's freedom of expression disclosed 
in these cases were disproportionate to the 
aim pursued and cannot be justified as “neces-
sary in a democratic society”.

I. D. Conclusion
71. The Court concludes that the respondent State 

has failed to take adequate protective and 
investigative measures to protect Özgür Gün-
dem's exercise of its freedom of expression and 
that it has imposed measures on the newspa-
per, through the search-and-arrest operation 
of 10 December 1993 and through numerous 
prosecutions and convictions in respect of is-
sues of the newspaper, which were dispropor-
tionate and unjustified in the pursuit of any 
legitimate aim. As a result of these cumulative 
factors, the newspaper ceased publication. Ac-
cordingly, there has been a breach of Article 10 
of the Convention.

III. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
14 OF THE CONVENTION

72. The applicants claimed that the measures im-
posed on Özgür Gündem disclosed discrimi-
nation, invoking Article 14 of the Convention 
which provides:
“The enjoyment of the rights and freedoms
setforthin[the]Conventionshallbesecured
without discrimination on any ground such
assex, race,colour, language, religion,politi-
calorotheropinion,nationalorsocialorigin,
associationwithanationalminority,property,
birthorotherstatus.”

73. The applicants asked the Court to reconsider 
the opinion, expressed in the Commission's 
report, that their complaints of discrimination 
were unsubstantiated. They submitted that the 
finding of a violation of Article 10 supported 
the conclusion that they had suffered discrimi-
nation on the grounds of their national origin 
and association with a national minority. They 
argued that any expression of Kurdish identity 
was treated by the authorities as advocacy of 
separatism and PKK propaganda. In the ab-
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sence of any justification for the restrictive 
measures imposed with regard to most of the 
articles examined by the Commission, these 
measures could only be explained by prohib-
ited discrimination.

74. The Government submitted that the appli-
cants' claims of discrimination were unsub-
stantiated.

75. The Court recalls that it has found a violation 
of Article 10 of the Convention. However, in 
reaching the conclusion that the measures 
imposed in respect of twenty-nine articles and 
news reports were not necessary in a demo-
cratic society, it was satisfied that they pursued 
the legitimate aims of protecting national se-
curity and territorial integrity or that of the pre-
vention of crime or disorder. There is no reason 
to believe that the restrictions on freedom of 
expression which resulted can be attributed to 
a difference of treatment based on the appli-
cants' national origin or to association with a 
national minority. Accordingly, the Court con-
cludes that there has been no breach of Article 
14 of the Convention.

IV. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

76. The applicants claimed compensation for pe-
cuniary and non-pecuniary damage as well 
as the reimbursement of costs and expenses 
incurred in the domestic and Convention pro-
ceedings. Article 41 of the Convention pro-
vides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Pecuniary damage
77. The applicant company, Ülkem Basın ve 

Yayıncılık Sanayı Ticaret Ltd, claimed that it had 
suffered pecuniary loss through the prosecu-
tion and seizure of its daily production. Prior to 
the actions of the authorities, the newspaper 
was selling about 45,000 copies per day. Circu-
lation fell as a result of the violations to around 
30,000 and then ceased altogether. The news-
paper was sold for 10,000 Turkish liras (TRL). 
They therefore held that it would be reason-
able to claim the equivalent of one year's pro-
duction of the newspaper, namely TRL 110,000 

million.

The applicant company also claimed that it 
was required to pay lawyers' fees, the costs of 
medical treatment and other expenses such as 
travel and communications incurred in respect 
of attacks on and arrest and trial of correspond-
ents, distributors and other workers. It was 
estimated that these expenses amounted to 
TRL 1,000 million. The applicant company also 
paid all the expenses in respect of the seven-
teen editors who were remanded in custody, 
including lawyers' fees totalling TRL 20,000 mil-
lion. Furthermore, on 10 December 1993, the 
newspaper's offices in Istanbul, Diyarbakır, Bat-
man, Elâzığ, Van, İzmir, Agri, Antalya and Tatvan 
were raided and searched and archives and 
documents seized. None of these documents 
were returned. The value of the documents 
and archives was about TRL 10,000 million. The 
claims totalled TRL 141,000 million.

The applicant company stated that it was 
unable to supply documentary evidence in 
respect of the pecuniary loss as all the docu-
ments and records of the newspaper, which 
had been retained by its successor Özgür Ülke, 
were destroyed in the bombing of the building 
in December 1994.

78. The Government stated that no compensation 
was payable as there had been no violation of 
the Convention. However, even assuming a vi-
olation, the amounts claimed by the applicants 
were excessive, inflated and unacceptable.

79. The Court observes that the applicant com-
pany is unable to produce any documentary 
support of its claims for pecuniary loss. Nor 
has it attempted to specify as far as possible 
the basis of claims for legal fees and medical 
and other expenses. The Court is not satisfied 
that there is a direct causal link between the 
finding of a failure to protect or investigate 
and the claimed pecuniary losses in respect of 
medical and other expenses. It also notes that 
the company's claims relate to the legal meas-
ures taken against the newspaper as a whole, 
irrespective of whether the measure has been 
found to be justified or not. Further, additional 
claims are made for the seizure of archives and 
documents in a number of offices, although 
the applicant company's substantive com-
plaints concerned its headquarters in Istanbul.

80. Nonetheless, the Court accepts that some 
pecuniary loss must have flowed from the 
breaches identified, both in relation to the 
search and seizure of archives and documents 
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at the Istanbul office and to the unjustified re-
strictions disclosed by the prosecutions and 
convictions identified in this judgment. It has 
also found that the cumulative effects of the 
breaches resulted in the newspaper ceasing 
publication. Making an assessment on an eq-
uitable basis, the Court awards the applicant 
company TRL 9,000 million.

B. Non-pecuniary damage
81. The applicant Fahri Ferda Çetin claimed 30,000 

pounds sterling (GBP) for acute distress, anxiety 
and mental suffering. He alleged that during 
his detention for thirteen days he was tortured, 
and that on release he was forced to flee Tur-
key, leaving his wife and children behind.

82. The applicant Yaşar Kaya also claims GBP 
30,000. He stated that the Istanbul National Se-
curity Court no. 5 imposed terms of imprison-
ment on him for the articles published by him 
in the newspaper. He too was forced to flee 
abroad, leaving his wife and children in Turkey, 
and so also underwent acute distress, anxiety 
and mental suffering.

83. The Government stated that the amounts 
claimed were inflated and, if granted, would 
amount to unjust enrichment.

84. The Court recalls that it has made no findings 
under the Convention regarding Fahri Ferda 
Çetin's detention or the periods of impris-
onment imposed on Yaşar Kaya. It does not 
doubt, however, that these applicants suffered 
considerable anxiety and stress in respect of 
the breaches established by the Court. Having 
regard to other awards made in cases against 
Turkey (see, for example, Ceylan v. Turkey [GC], 
no. 23556/94, § 50, ECHR 1999-IV, and Arslan 
v. Turkey [GC], no. 23462/94, § 61, 8 July 1999, 
unreported) and ruling on an equitable basis, it 
awards the applicants GBP 5,000 each.

C. Costs and expenses
85. The applicants claimed legal fees and expenses 

for Mr Osman Ergin, who acted for the news-
paper in domestic proceedings, but they have 
not supplied any details. Similarly, they have 
not provided details of claims for fees and ex-
penses of the Turkish lawyers assisting them. 
They claimed GPB 5,390 (less 5,595 French 
francs (FRF) received in legal aid from the 
Council of Europe) for fees, expenses and costs 
incurred by their United Kingdom lawyers and 
GBP 7,500 in fees, GBP 1,710 in administrative 
costs, GBP 12,125 in translation costs and GBP 

1,650 in travel expenses incurred by the Kurd-
ish Human Rights Project (KHRP) in assisting 
with the application. In respect of the hearing 
before the Court, the applicants claimed GBP 
1,450 in fees and GBP 46 in administrative costs 
(less FRF 3,600 received in legal aid) for their 
United Kingdom lawyers and also, in respect of 
the costs and fees of the KHRP for the hearing, 
GBP 2,490 for fees, costs and expenses.

86. The Government submitted that these claims 
were excessive, and that incidental expenses, 
such as those claimed by the KHRP, should not 
be accepted as this would inflate the award 
into unjust enrichment.

87. The Court is not satisfied that all the amounts 
claimed in respect of the KHRP may be regard-
ed as necessarily incurred, save in regard to the 
translation costs. Taking into account awards 
made in other cases, and making an equitable 
assessment, the Court awards GBP 16,000, less 
the FRF 9,195 received by way of legal aid from 
the Council of Europe.

D. Default interest
88. The Court deems it appropriate to adopt the 

statutory rate of interest applicable in the 
United Kingdom at the date of adoption of 
the present judgment, which, according to the 
information available to it, is 7.5% per annum.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT

1. Decides unanimously to strike the case out of 
the list in so far as it concerns Gurbetelli Ersöz;

2. Holds unanimously that there has been a vio-
lation of Article 10 of the Convention;

3. Holds unanimously that there has been no 
violation of Article 14 of the Convention;

4. Holds by six votes to one:

(a) that the respondent State is to pay, within 
three months:

(i) to the applicant company TRL 
9,000,000,000 (nine thousand million 
Turkish liras);

(ii)  to fahri ferda Çetin and yaşar Kaya 
for non-pecuniary damage GBP 5,000 
(five thousand pounds sterling) each 
to be converted into Turkish liras at 
the rate applicable at the date of de-
livery of this judgment;
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(iii) to the applicants for costs and ex-
penses GBP 16,000 (sixteen thousand 
pounds sterling) less fRf 9,195 (nine 
thousand one hundred and ninety 
five french francs) to be converted 
into pounds sterling at the rate ap-
plicable at the date of delivery of this 
judgment;

(b) that simple interest at an annual rate of 
7.5% shall be payable from the expiry of 
the above-mentioned three months until 
settlement;

5. Dismisses unanimously the remainder of the 
applicants' claims for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and delivered at a public hearing 
in the Human Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 16 
March 2000.

vincent Berger, Registrar
Matti Pellonpää, President

In accordance with Article 45 § 2 of the Conven-
tion and Rule 74 § 2 of the Rules of Court, the 
partly dissenting opinion of Mr Gölcüklü is annexed 
to this judgment.

PARtLY DIssEntInG 
oPInIon oF JUDGE 
GÖLCKLÜ
(Translation)

To my great regret, I am unable to share the conclu-
sion reached by the majority regarding the applica-
tion of Article 41 in this case. Allow me to explain.

1. The applicant company alleged that it had 
sustained substantial pecuniary damage as a 
result of being subjected to prosecution, the 
seizure of its possessions and other measures. 
In support of its claims, it has alleged only hy-
pothetical, illusory and imaginary facts, without 
providing any evidence. In short, it was specu-
lating and, furthermore, certain matters relied 
on bore no relation whatsoever to the truth. I 
shall refer to only one of the allegations, so that 
it can be seen in the light of a finding of the Eu-
ropean Commission of Human Rights based on 
its own investigation in a previous case. Thus, 
according to the applicant company, prior to 

the actions of the authorities, the newspaper 
Özgür Gündem was selling 45,000 copies per 
day. That figure fell to 30,000 and the news-
paper disappeared permanently as a result of 
those actions (see paragraph 77 of the judg-
ment). That account is shown to be untrue by 
the Commission. The Commission stated in its 
report of 23 October 1998 in the case of Kılıç 
v. Turkey (application no. 22492/93, § 176): 
“Özgür Gündem was a daily newspaper ... with 
a national circulation of some thousand cop-
ies ... In or about April 1994, Özgür Gündem 
ceased publication and was succeeded by an-
other newspaper, Özgür Ülke ...” The difference 
between the alleged figure and the Commis-
sion's figure is striking. In addition, Özgür Gün-
dem disappeared only in theory, since it was 
replaced by Özgür Ülke. That clearly shows the 
fanciful and speculative nature of the claim for 
pecuniary damage in the instant case.

2. Under its settled case-law, the European Court 
of Human Rights will award compensation for 
pecuniary damage only if the claims have been 
duly established and there is an immediate and 
direct causal link between the facts and the al-
leged damage. That rule is illustrated in the 
following examples taken from judgments in 
cases against Turkey also concerning Article 10 
of the Convention.
“81. With regard to pecuniary damage, the
Delegate of the Commission suggested that
theCourtshouldconsiderthequestionofthe
applicationofArticle50inthelightofthehy-
pothetical character of the amount claimed.
Heleftthequestionofnon-pecuniarydamage
totheCourt'sdiscretion.Lastly,withregardto
the sum claimed for costs and expenses, he
mentionedtheproblemraisedbythe lackof
supportingdocuments.

82.Onthequestionofpecuniarydamage,the
Courtconsidersinthefirstplacethatitcannot
speculateastowhattheoutcomeofproceed-
ingscompatiblewithArticle6§1wouldhave
been.Itfurthernotesthatthereisinsufficient
proof of a causal connection between the
breachofArticle10ithasfoundandthelossof
professional and commercial incomealleged
by the applicant. Moreover, the applicant's
claimsinrespectofpecuniarydamagearenot
supported by any evidencewhatsoever. The
Courtcanthereforenotallowthem.”(Incalv.
Turkey judgment of 9 June 1998, Reports of
JudgmentsandDecisions1998-IV,p.1575)

“47. The applicant sought 262,000 French
francs (FRF) for pecuniary damage and FRF
500,000fornon-pecuniarydamage.
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48.TheGovernmentinvitedtheCourttodis-
missthatclaim.

49. AsMr Çıraklar did not specify the nature
of the pecuniary damage of which he com-
plained,theCourtcannotbutdismisstherel-
evantclaim.As to theallegednon-pecuniary
damage,itissufficientlycompensatedbythe
findingofaviolationofArticle6§1.”(Çıraklar
v. Turkey judgment of 28 October 1998, Re-
ports1998-VII,p.3074)

“66.TheDelegateoftheCommissionsubmit-
tedthattheapplicants'presentation–which
wasverygeneralandhypothetical–wasinsuf-
ficienttoallowtheirclaimsunderArticle50to
beupheld.

67.TheCourtnotes that theapplicantshave
notfurnishedanyevidenceinsupportoftheir
claimsforsubstantialsumsinrespectofpecu-
niarydamageandcostsandexpenses.Conse-
quently, it cannot uphold those claims (see,
mutatismutandis, thePressosCompaniaNa-
vieraS.A.andOthersv.Belgiumjudgmentof3
July1997(Article50),Reports1997-IV,p.1299,
§24). Itnotes,however, that theapplicants
received FRF 57,187 in legal aid paid by the
CouncilofEurope.”(SocialistPartyandOthers
v. Turkey judgment of 25May 1998, Reports
1998-III,p.1261)

“57. The Government replied that there was
no causal connection between the alleged
violationoftheConventionandthepecuniary
damage complainedof. In any event,MrAr-
slanhadnotfurnishedevidenceoftheincome
hehadreferredto.

58.TheCourtfindsthatthereisnotsufficient
evidenceofacausalconnectionbetweenthe
violationofArticle10ithasfoundandtheloss
of earnings allegedby the applicant.Moreo-
ver,nodocumentaryevidencehasbeensub-
mitted insupportoftheapplicant'sclaims in
respectofpecuniarydamage.TheCourtcan-
not therefore allow them.” (Arslan v. Turkey
[GC],no.23462/94,8July1999,unreported)

“66. The Government contended that Mr
Karataşhadnotprovedhislossofearnings.

67.TheDelegateoftheCommissionexpressed
noviewonthispoint.

68. The Court finds that there is insufficient
proof of a causal link between the violation
andtheapplicant'sallegedlossofearnings.In
particular,ithasnoreliableinformationonMr
Karataş'ssalary.Consequently,itcannotmake
anawardunderthishead(seeRule60§2of
theRulesofCourt).”(Karataşv.Turkey[GC],no.
23168/94,ECHR1999-IV)

“53.TheDelegateoftheCommissionconsid-
eredthattherewasnoreasonfortheCourtto
reachadifferentconclusionfromthatreached
in the cases of the United Communist Party
andtheSocialistPartycitedabove.

54. The Court notes that the applicant party
hasnotfurnishedanyevidenceinsupportof
itsclaim.Consequently, it isunabletoaccept
it(Rule60§2oftheRulesofCourt;see,mu-
tatismutandis, theSocialistPartyandOthers
v. Turkey judgment cited above, p. 1261,§
67).”(FreedomandDemocracyParty(ÖZDEP)
v.Turkey[GC],no.23885/94,ECHR1999-VIII).



632 

EC
HR

EC
J



633CASEOFGERGERVTURKEY

EC
J

EC
HR

SECOND SECTION

CAsE oF GERGER v 
tURKEY 
(Application no. 24919/94)

JUDGMENT

STRASBOURG
8 July 1999



634 CASEOFGERGERVTURKEY

EC
HR

EC
J

FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION, TERRORISM, SPECIAL CIR-
CUMSTANCES, PUBLIC INTEREST, NATIONAL SECURITY, 
SAFETY OF CITIZENS, DEMOCRACY

IN THE CASE Of GERGER v. TuRKEy,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting, in 
accordance with Article 27 of the Convention for 
the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental 
Freedoms (“the Convention”), as amended by Pro-
tocol No. 111, and the relevant provisions of the 
Rules of Court2, as a Grand Chamber composed of 
the following judges:
Mr L. Wildhaber, President, 
Mrs E. Palm, 
Mr A. Pastor Ridruejo, 
Mr G. Bonello, 
Mr J. Makarczyk, 
Mr P. Kūris, 
Mr J.-P. Costa, 
Mrs F. Tulkens, 
Mrs V. Strážnická, 
Mr M. Fischbach, 
Mr V. Butkevych, 
Mr J. Casadevall, 
Mrs H.S. Greve, 
Mr A. Baka, 
Mr R. Maruste, 
Mr K. Traja, 
Mr F. Gölcüklü, ad hoc judge,
and also of Mr P.J. Mahoney 
and Mrs M. de Boer-Buquicchio, Deputy Regis-
trars,
Having deliberated in private on 1 March 1999 and 
16 June 1999,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case was referred to the Court, as estab-

lished under former Article 19 of the Conven-
tion3, by the European Commission of Human 
Rights (“the Commission”) on 17 March 1998, 
within the three-month period laid down 
by former Articles 32 § 1 and 47 of the Con-

vention. It originated in an application (no. 
24919/94) against the Republic of Turkey 
lodged with the Commission under former Ar-
ticle 25 by a Turkish national, Mr Haluk Gerger, 
on 22 June 1994. 

The Commission’s request referred to former 
Articles 44 and 48(a) of the Convention and to 
Rule 32 § 2 of Rules of former Court A3. The 
object of the request was to obtain a decision 
as to whether the facts of the case disclosed a 
breach by the respondent State of its obliga-
tions under Article 6 § 1 and Article 10 of the 
Convention, and under Article 14 taken togeth-
er with Article 5 § 1.

2. In response to the enquiry made in accordance 
with Rule 33 § 3 (d) of Rules of former Court A, 
the applicant stated that he wished to take part 
in the proceedings and designated the lawyer 
who would represent him (former Rule 30). Mr 
R. Bernhardt, President of the Court at the time, 
subsequently authorised the applicant’s lawyer 
to use the Turkish language in the written pro-
cedure (former Rule 27 § 3). At a later stage, 
Mr L. Wildhaber, President of the new Court, 
authorised the applicant’s lawyer to use the 
Turkish language in the oral proceedings (Rule 
36 § 5).

3. As President of the Chamber which had origi-
nally been constituted (former Article 43 of 
the Convention and former Rule 21) in order 
to deal in particular with procedural matters 
that might arise before the entry into force 
of Protocol No. 11, Mr R. Bernhardt, acting 
through the Registrar, consulted the Agent of 
the Turkish Government (“the Government”), 
the applicant’s lawyer and the Delegate of the 
Commission on the organisation of the written 
procedure (former Rules 37 § 1 and 38). Pur-
suant to the order made in consequence, the 
Registrar received the Government’s memorial 
and the applicant’s memorials on 24 and 25 
August 1998 respectively. On 29 September 
the Government produced documents as ap-
pendices to their memorial.

4. After the entry into force of Protocol No. 11 on 
1 November 1998 and in accordance with Arti-
cle 5 § 5 thereof, the case was referred to the 
Grand Chamber of the Court. On 22 October 
1998 Mr Wildhaber had decided that, in the in-
terests of the proper administration of justice, 
a single Grand Chamber should be constituted 
to hear the instant case and twelve other cases 
against Turkey, namely: Karataş v. Turkey (ap-
plication no. 23168/94); Arslan v. Turkey (no. 
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23462/94); Polat v. Turkey (no. 23500/94); 
Ceylan v. Turkey (no. 23556/94); Okçuoğlu v. 
Turkey (no. 24146/94); Erdoğdu and İnce v. 
Turkey (nos. 25067/94 and 25068/94); Başkaya 
and Okçuoğlu v. Turkey (nos. 23536/94 and 
24408/94); Sürek and Özdemir v. Turkey 
(nos. 23927/94 and 24277/94); Sürek v. Turkey 
no. 1 (no. 26682/95); Sürek v. Turkey no. 2 (no. 
24122/94); Sürek v. Turkey no. 3 (no. 24735/94) 
and Sürek v. Turkey no. 4 (no. 24762/94).

5. The Grand Chamber constituted for that pur-
pose included ex officio Mr R. Türmen, the 
judge elected in respect of Turkey (Article 27 
§ 2 of the Convention and Rule 24 § 4 of the 
Rules of Court), Mr. Wildhaber, the President 
of the Court, Mrs E. Palm, Vice-President of 
the Court, Mr M. Fischbach and Mr J.-P. Costa, 
Vice-Presidents of Sections (Article 27 § 3 of 
the Convention and Rule 24 §§ 3 and 5 (a)). 
The other members appointed to complete 
the Grand Chamber were Mr A. Pastor Ridruejo, 
Mr G. Bonello, Mr J. Makarczyk, Mr P. Kūris, Mrs F. 
Tulkens, Mrs V. Stráznická, Mr V. Butkevych, Mr 
J. Casadevall, Mrs H.S. Greve, Mr A.B. Baka, Mr 
R. Maruste and Mrs S. Botoucharova (Rules 24 
§§ 3 and 5 (a) and 100 § 4). 

On 19 November 1998 Mr Wildhaber exempt-
ed Mr Türmen from sitting after his withdrawal 
from the case having regard to the decision of 
the Grand Chamber in the case of Oğur v. Tur-
key taken in accordance with Rule 28 § 4. On 
16 December 1998 the Government notified 
the registry that Mr F. Gölcüklü had been ap-
pointed ad hoc judge (Rule 29 § 1).

Subsequently Mrs Botoucharova, who was un-
able to take part in the further consideration of 
the case, was replaced by Mr K. Traja (Rule 24 
§ 5 (b)).

6. At the invitation of the Court (Rule 99 § 1) the 
Commission delegated one of its members, Mr 
D. Šváby, to participate in the proceedings be-
fore the Grand Chamber.

7. On 1 March 1999 the Government lodged 
observations on the applicant’s claims under 
Article 41 of the Convention and Mr Gerger’s 
lawyer produced documentary evidence relat-
ing to part of his costs. 

8. In accordance with the President’s decision, 
a hearing took place in public in the Human 
Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 1 March 1999, 
the case being heard simultaneously with the 
case of Erdoğdu and İnce v. Turkey. The Court 
had held a preparatory meeting beforehand.

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government 

Mr D. Tezcan,

Mr Özmen, Co-Agents,

Mr B. Çalışkan,

Miss G. Akyüz,

Miss A. Günyaktı,

Mr f. Polat,

Miss A. Emüler,

Mrs I. Batmaz Keremoğlu,

Mr B. yıldız,

Mr y. Özbek, Advisers;

(b) for the Commission 

Mr D. Šváby, Delegate;

(c) for the applicant 

Mr E. Sansal, of the Ankara Bar, Counsel. 

The Court heard addresses by Mr Šváby, Mr 
Sansal, Mr Tezcan and Mr Özmen and also Mr 
Sansal’s reply to a question put by one of its 
members. 

As to tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

9. Mr Haluk Gerger is a Turkish national and was 
born in 1950. He lives in Ankara and works as 
a journalist.

10. On 23 May 1993 a memorial ceremony was 
held in Ankara for Denis Gezmiş and two of 
his friends, Yusuf Aslan and Hüseyin İnan. To-
gether, they had started an extreme left-wing 
movement among university students at the 
end of the 1960s. They were sentenced to 
death for seeking to destroy the constitutional 
order by violence and executed in May 1972.

The applicant was invited to speak at the cer-
emony, but was unable to attend and sent the 
organising committee the following message 
to be read out in public:
“Dearfriends,

Thoughillhealthhaspreventedmefrombe-
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ingwithyou,Ididnotwanttomissthisoppor-
tunitytosaluteyouandtoexpressmysolidar-
itywiththerevolutionarycause.

TheTurkishRepublic isbasedonnegationof
therightsofworkersandKurds.Withinthege-
ographicalboundariesofthiscountry,anyhint
ofhumanaction,anyaspiration for freedom,
any claim to assert the rights of theworkers
andtheKurdshasalwaysmetwithareaction
onthepartoftherulersthathasbeenruthless
initsdenialanddestruction.Ithastobesaid
that,becauseoftheiroriginsandhistorictra-
ditions, the rulers have always distinguished
themselves through a cruel militarism that
is theproductof theirmediocrity,backward-
ness,andthirstforevermoremoneyand,last-
ly,ofthefundamentalnatureoftheRepublic
anditssubserviencetoimperialism.Themore
the structural crisis of the established order
deepened,themoretherulingclassesresort-
edtoimperialismandmilitarismintheirdesire
tobringittoanend.

Therulers,whohadcondemnedthepolitical
andsociallandsofthecountrytosterilearid-
ity and, in order tobreak any resistance and
stifleanyrevoltbythemasses,hadputachain
ofdependencearoundsociety’sneckandim-
posedoppressiveuniformityuponit,succeed-
edformanylongyearsinkeepingourpeople
inthedeepgloomofsilence.

However, the 1960s revival, the action or-
ganised by dynamic social strata previously
excludedfromthepoliticallifeofthecountry
such as the workers, the intelligentsia and
young people and, lastly, the revolutionary
democraticresistancemovementoftheearly
1970shavehelpedtotransformthehistoryof
thenation, and theirprofound influencecan
stillbefelttoday.

Aredhopeisnascentinthetiredbarrenhearts
of theworkers. A legend is born in the long
historyofdefeatoftheoppressed.

Fromnowon,nothingandno-onewillbethe
same!

In the face of the longstanding crisis of the
established order, the quest for independ-
enceandfreedomwhichatthattimebecame
ingrained in society’s conscience, in the col-
lectivememory of the toilingmasses, in the
memory of the young and the intelligentsia
and in theconscienceof theworkershence-
forthconstitutesarefugeforsociety.Thespirit
ofresistanceandrevoltofthoseheroicyears,
anightmarefortherulers,hasbeenwiththe
country formore than twenty years. The so-
cialistflag,whichwasbornealoftatthetime
andisrepresentativeoftheonlysystemcapa-

bleofreplacingtheincumbentcapitalistsys-
tem,isstillflying.Fromtheseedsofliberation
oftheKurdishpeoplesowninthosedaysthe
guerrillacampaigninthemountainsofKurd-
istanwasborn.

As for us, the rivers, streams, torrents and
waterfalls that emerged from the sweeping
watersofthoseyears,wearenowflowingon
toward the final release of mankind, across
theplainsformedbyourclass,ourpeopleand
democracyintotheoceanoflibertyofaclass-
lesssociety.LikemanyDenizes[areferenceto
Deniz Gezmiş, whose first namemeans “the
sea” inTurkish],weheadtowardstheseasof
freedom.

Today, before the Ocean of Liberation, on
these fertile alluvia formed of our solidarity
andunity in the struggle,wehail thosewho
havebeeninvitedtotheheavenlyfeast.

Hail,friends!

Hailtothosewhoaremarching‘TowardsFu-
tureTimes,LikemanyDenizes’!

Hailtoyou,

theroseDeniz,theroseYusuf,therose
Hüseyin...
thethreerosesofKarşıkaya
plantedonthebranchofmyheart
thethreerosesofKarşıkaya
plantedinthespringofmytears
withalltheirflowersofblood.”

11. On 6 August 1993 the Public Prosecutor at 
the Ankara National Security Court (“National 
Security Court”) accused the applicant of dis-
seminating propaganda against the unity of 
the Turkish nation and the territorial integrity 
of the State. In order to request the application 
of section 8(1) of the Prevention of Terrorism 
Act (Law no. 3713 – see paragraph 19 above), 
he relied on passages from Mr Gerger’s mes-
sage, which had been recorded when read 
out at the memorial ceremony (these are the 
passages that appear in italics in paragraph 10 
above).

12. Mr Gerger pleaded not guilty before the Na-
tional Security Court, which sat as a chamber 
of three judges, including a military judge. He 
did not dispute having drafted the message, 
but maintained that he had never intended to 
promote separatism.

13. On 9 December 1993 the National Security 
Court found the applicant guilty of the of-
fence under section 8(1) of Law no. 3713 and 
sentenced him to one year, eight months’ im-
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prisonment and a fine of 208,333,333 Turkish 
liras (TRL).

The judgment was delivered by a majority 
of two to one, the military judge dissenting. 
The latter explained in his dissenting opinion 
that, in his view, the offence of disseminating 
separatist propaganda under section 8(1) of 
Law no. 3713 had not been made out, but that 
there had been non-public incitement to com-
mit a crime and, consequently, Article 312 § 2 
of the Criminal Code (see paragraph 18 below) 
should have been applied.

The other two members of the chamber found 
that passages such as: “... From the seeds of 
liberation of the Kurdish people sown in those 
days the guerrilla in the mountains of Kurd-
istan was born... As for us, the rivers, streams, 
torrents and waterfalls that emerged from the 
sweeping waters of those years, we are now 
flowing on ... across the plains formed by our 
class, our people and democracy...” (see para-
graph 10 above), amounted to separatist prop-
aganda against the unity of the Turkish nation 
and the territorial integrity of the State. In their 
view, the applicant’s conviction was justified by 
the message – whose wording was not in issue 
– taken as a whole.

14. In a judgment of 22 April 1994, the Court of 
Cassation dismissed an appeal by the appli-
cant.

15. On 23 September 1995 the applicant com-
pleted his prison sentence. However, as he had 
not paid the fine that had been imposed, he 
was kept in detention pursuant to section 5 of 
the Execution of Sentences Act (Law no. 647), 
being required to serve an additional day’s im-
prisonment for every TRL 10,000 due (see para-
graph 21 below).

On 26 October 1995 Mr Gerger paid the bal-
ance of the fine and was released.

16. On 30 October 1995 Law no. 4126 of 27 Octo-
ber 1995 came into force. Inter alia, it reduced 
the length of prison sentences that could be 
imposed under section 8 of Law no. 3713 while 
increasing the level of fines (see paragraph 
19 below). In a transitional provision relating 
to section 2, Law no. 4126 provided that sen-
tences imposed pursuant to section 8 of Law 
no. 3713 would be automatically reviewed (see 
paragraph 20 below).

17. Consequently, the National Security Court re-
viewed the applicant’s case on the merits. On 

17 November 1995 it imposed an additional 
fine of TRL 84,833,333, with payment suspend-
ed. That decision became final on 15 March 
1996.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

A. Criminal law
1.TheCriminalCode

18. Article 312 of the Criminal Code reads as fol-
lows:
“Non-publicincitementtocommitanoffence

Apersonwhoexpresslypraisesor condones
anactpunishablebylawasanoffenceor in-
citesthepopulationtobreakthelawshall,on
conviction, be liable to between sixmonths’
andtwoyears’ imprisonmentanda ... fineof
fromsix thousand to thirty thousandTurkish
liras.

Apersonwhoincitesthepeopletohatredor
hostilityonthebasisofadistinctionbetween
socialclasses, races, religions,denominations
orregionsshall,onconviction,beliabletobe-
tweenoneandthreeyears’imprisonmentand
afineoffromninethousandtothirty-sixthou-
sandliras.Ifthisincitementendangerspublic
safety,thesentenceshallbeincreasedbyone
thirdtoonehalf.

The penalties to be imposed on those who
have committed the offences defined in the
previous paragraph shall be doubled when
theyhavedonesobythemeanslistedinAr-
ticle311§2.”

2.ThePreventionofTerrorismAct(Lawno.
3713)

19. The Prevention of Terrorism Act (Law no. 3713 
of 12 April 1991), has been amended by Law 
no 4126 of 27 October 1995, which came into 
force on 30 October 1995. Sections 8 and 13 
read as follows:

Former section 8 § 1

“Written and spoken propaganda, meetings,
assemblies and demonstrations aimed at
undermining the territorial integrity of the
Republic of Turkeyor the indivisibleunity of
thenation areprohibited, irrespectiveof the
methodsusedandthe intention.Anyperson
whoengagesinsuchanactivityshallbesen-
tencedtonotlessthantwoandnotmorethan
fiveyears’imprisonmentandafineoffromfif-
tymilliontoonehundredmillionTurkishliras.”



638 CASEOFGERGERVTURKEY

EC
HR

EC
J

New section 8 § 1

“Written and spoken propaganda, meetings,
assembliesanddemonstrationsaimedatun-
dermining the territorial integrity of the Re-
publicofTurkeyortheindivisibleunityofthe
nationareprohibited.Anypersonwhoengag-
esinsuchanactivityshallbesentencedtonot
lessthanoneandnotmorethanthreeyears’
imprisonmentandafineoffromonehundred
milliontothreehundredmillionTurkish liras.
Thepenaltyimposedonareoffendermaynot
becommutedtoafine.”

Section17

"“Persons convicted of the offences contem-
plated in the present lawwho ... have been
punished with a custodial sentence shall be
granted automatic parole when they have
served three-quarters of their sentence, pro-
videdtheyhavebeenofgoodconduct.

…

Thefirstandsecondparagraphsofsection19
…oftheExecutionofSentenceAct (Lawno.
647)shallnotapplytotheconvictedpersons
mentionedabove.”

3.Lawno.4126of27October1995
amendingLawno.3713

20. The Law of 27 October 1995 contains a “tran-
sitional provision relating to section 2” that 
applies to the amendments which that law 
makes to the sentencing provisions of section 
8 of Law no. 3713. That transitional provision 
provides:
“In themonth following the entry into force
ofthepresentLaw,thecourtwhichhasgiven
judgmentshall re-examinethecaseofaper-
son convicted pursuant to section 8 of the
Prevention of Terrorism Act (Law no. 3713)
and,inaccordancewiththeamendment...to
section8ofLawno.3713,shallreconsiderthe
termofimprisonmentimposedonthatperson
anddecidewhetherheshouldbeallowedthe
benefitofsections4and6ofLawno.647of
13July1965.”

4.TheExecutionofSentenceAct(Lawno.
647of13July1965)

21. Law no. 647 prescribes rules through, inter alia, 
the following provisions, regarding the collec-
tion of fines and automatic parole.

Section 5

“The term ‘fine’ shall mean payment to the
Treasury of a sum fixedwithin the statutory
limits...

If, after service of the order to pay, the con-
victedpersondoesnotpaythefinewithinthe
time-limit, he shall be committed to prison
foratermofonedayforeverytenthousand
Turkishlirasowed,byadecisionofthepublic
prosecutor...

Thesentenceofimprisonmentthussubstitut-
edforthefinemaynotexceedthreeyears…”

Section 19(1)

“…personswho...havebeenorderedtoserve
a custodial sentence shall be granted auto-
matic parole when they have served half of
their sentence, provided they have been of
goodconduct...”

5.TheCodeofCriminalProcedure
22. The relevant provisions of the Code of Crimi-

nal Procedure concerning the grounds on 
which defendants may appeal on points of law 
against judgments of courts of first instance 
read as follows:

Article 307

“Anappealonpointsoflawmaynotconcern
anyissueotherthanthelawfulnessoftheim-
pugnedjudgment.

Non-applicationorerroneousapplicationofa
legalruleshallconstituteunlawfulness.”

Article 308

“Unlawfulnessisdeemedtobemanifestinthe
followingcases:

1- where the court is not established in ac-
cordancewiththelaw;

2-where one of the judgeswhohave taken
thedecisionwasbarredbystatute frompar-
ticipating;

...”

B. Case-law
23. The Government supplied copies of several de-

cisions given by the prosecutor attached to the 
Istanbul National Security Court withdrawing 
charges against persons suspected of inciting 
people to hatred or hostility, especially on reli-
gious grounds (Article 312 of the Criminal Code 
– see paragraph 18 above), or of disseminating 
separatist propaganda against the indivisible 
unity of the State (section 8 of Law no. 3713 
– see paragraph 19 above). In the majority of 
cases where offences had been committed by 
means of publications the reasons given for 
the prosecutor’s decision included such con-
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siderations as the fact that the proceedings 
were time-barred, that some of the constituent 
elements of the offence could not be made out 
or that there was insufficient evidence.

Furthermore, the Government submitted a 
number of decisions of the National Security 
Courts as examples of cases in which defend-
ants accused of the above-mentioned offences 
had been found not guilty. These were the 
judgments of 19 November (no. 1996/428) and 
27 December 1996 (no. 1996/519); 6 March 
(no. 1997/33), 3 June (no. 1997/102), 17 Octo-
ber (no. 1997/527), 24 October (no. 1997/541) 
and 23 December 1997 (no. 1997/606); 21 Jan-
uary (no. 1998/8), 3 February (no. 1998/14), 19 
March (no. 1998/56), 21 April 1998 (no. 1998/ 
87) and 17 June 1998 (no. 1998/133).

As regards more particularly proceedings 
against authors of works dealing with the 
Kurdish problem, the National Security Courts 
in these cases reached their decisions on the 
ground that there had been no dissemination 
of “propaganda”, one of the constituent ele-
ments of the offence.

C. The National Security Courts
24. The National Security Courts were created by 

Law no. 1773 of 11 July 1973, in accordance 
with Article 136 of the 1961 Constitution. That 
law was annulled by the Constitutional Court 
on 15 June 1976. The courts in question were 
later reintroduced into the Turkish judicial sys-
tem by the 1982 Constitution. The relevant 
part of the statement of reasons contains the 
following passage:
“There may be acts affecting the existence
and stability of a State such thatwhen they
arecommittedspecial jurisdictionisrequired
in order to give judgment expeditiously and
appropriately. For such cases it is necessary
tosetupNationalSecurityCourts.According
to aprinciple inherent inourConstitution, it
is forbidden to createa special court togive
judgment on a specific act after it has been
committed. For that reason the National Se-
curity Courts have been provided for in our
Constitutiontotrycasesinvolvingtheabove-
mentioned offences. Given that the special
provisions laying down their powers have
beenenactedinadvanceandthatthecourts
havebeencreatedbeforethecommissionof
anyoffence…,theymaynotbedescribedas
courtssetuptodealwiththisorthatoffence
afterthecommissionofsuchanoffence.

The composition and functioning of the Na-

tional Security Courts are subject to the follow-
ing rules.

1.TheConstitution
25. The constitutional provisions governing judi-

cial organisation are worded as follows:

Article 138 §§ 1 and 2

“In the performance of their duties, judges
shall be independent; they shall give judg-
ment,accordingtotheirpersonalconviction,
in accordance with the Constitution, statute
andthelaw.

Noorgan, authority, ... or ... personmaygive
ordersorinstructionstocourtsorjudgesinthe
exerciseoftheirjudicialpowers,orsendthem
circulars or make recommendations or sug-
gestionstothem.”

Article 139 § 1

“Judges shall not be removed fromoffice or
compelledtoretirewithouttheirconsentbe-
foretheageprescribedbytheConstitution”

Article 143 §§ 1-5

“NationalSecurityCourtsshallbeestablished
to try offences against the Republic, whose
constituent qualities are enunciated in the
Constitution,againsttheterritorialintegrityof
theStateortheindivisibleunityofthenation
oragainstthefreedemocraticsystemofgov-
ernment, and offences which directly affect
theState’sinternalorexternalsecurity.

NationalSecurityCourtsshallbecomposedof
apresident,twootherregularmembers,two
substitutemembers,aprosecutorandasuffi-
cientnumberofassistantprosecutors.

The president, one of the regular members,
one of the substitutes and the prosecutor,
shall be appointed from among judges and
publicprosecutorsofthefirstrank,according
toprocedureslaiddowninspeciallegislation;
oneregularmemberandonesubstituteshall
beappointed fromamongmilitary judgesof
the first rank and the assistant prosecutors
from among public prosecutors andmilitary
judges.

Presidents, regular members and substitute
members ... of National Security Courts shall
be appointed for a renewableperiodof four
years.

AppealagainstdecisionsofNationalSecurity
CourtsshalllietotheCourtofCassation.

...”
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Article 145 § 4

“Militarylegalproceedings

Thepersonalrightsandobligationsofmilitary
judges…shallberegulatedbylawinaccord-
ancewiththeprinciplesoftheindependence
of the courts, the safeguardsenjoyedby the
judiciaryandtherequirementsofmilitaryser-
vice. Relations between military judges and
the commanders underwhom they serve in
the performance of their non-judicial duties
shallalsoberegulatedbylaw...”

2.Lawno.2845onthecreationandrulesof
procedureoftheNationalSecurityCourts

26. Based on Article 143 of the Constitution, the 
relevant provisions of Law no. 2845 on the Na-
tional Security Courts, provide:

Section 1

“Inthecapitalsoftheprovincesof…National
SecurityCourtsshallbeestablishedtotryper-
sonsaccusedofoffencesagainsttheRepublic,
whoseconstituentqualitiesareenunciatedin
theConstitution,against the territorial integ-
rityoftheStateortheindivisibleunityofthe
nationoragainstthefree,democraticsystem
ofgovernmentandoffencesdirectlyaffecting
theState’sinternalorexternalsecurity.”

Section 3

“The National Security Courts shall be com-
posedofapresident,twootherregularmem-
bersandtwosubstitutemembers.”

Section 5

“The president of a National Security Court,
one of the [two] regular members and one
of the [two] substitutes ... shall be civilian…
judges, the other members, whether regu-
lar or substitute, military judges of the first
rank…”

Section 6 §§ 2, 3 and 6

“Theappointmentofmilitary judgestositas
regularmembersandsubstitutesshallbecar-
riedoutaccordingtotheprocedurelaiddown
for thatpurpose in theMilitaryLegalService
Act.

ExceptasprovidedinthepresentLaworother
legislation, the president and the regular or
substitutemembers of the National Security
Courts…may not be appointed to another
post or place, without their consent, within
fouryears…

…

If, after an investigation concerning the
president or a regular or substitutemember
of a National Security Court conducted ac-
cording to the legislation concerning them,
competent committeesor authoritiesdecide
tochangethedutystationofthepersoncon-
cerned, theduty stationof that judgeor the
duties themselves…maybechanged inac-
cordancewiththeprocedurelaiddowninthat
legislation.”

Section 9 § 1

“National Security Courts shall have jurisdic-
tiontotrypersonschargedwith

…

(d) offences having a connection with the
eventswhichmade it necessary todeclare a
stateofemergency,inregionswhereastateof
emergencyhasbeendeclared inaccordance
withArticle120oftheConstitution,

(e)offencescommittedagainst theRepublic,
whoseconstituentqualitiesareenunciatedin
theConstitution,against the indivisibleunity
oftheState–meaningboththenationalterri-
toryanditspeople–oragainstthefree,demo-
craticsystemofgovernmentandoffencesdi-
rectlyaffectingtheState’sinternalorexternal
security.

…”

Section 27 § 1

“The Court of Cassation shall hear appeals
against the judgments of theNational Secu-
rityCourts.”

Section 34 §§ 1 and 2

“The rules governing the rights and obliga-
tions of…military judges appointed to the
NationalSecurityCourtsandtheirsupervision
…,the institutionofdisciplinaryproceedings
against them, the imposition of disciplinary
penaltieson themand the investigationand
prosecutionofanyoffencestheymaycommit
in theperformanceof theirduties ... shallbe
aslaiddownintherelevantprovisionsofthe
lawsgoverningtheirprofession…

The observations of the Court of Cassation
onmilitaryjudges,theassessmentreportson
themdrawnupbyMinistryofJusticeassessors
…andthefilesonanyinvestigationsconduct-
edinrespectofthem…shallbetransmitted
totheMinistryofJustice.”

Section 38

“A National Security Court may be trans-
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formed into a Martial Law Court, under the
conditions set forth below, when a state of
emergencyhasbeendeclaredinallorpartof
the territory in respectofwhich theNational
SecurityCourtconcernedhasjurisdiction,pro-
vided thatwithin that territory there ismore
thanoneNationalSecurityCourt”

3.TheMilitaryLegalServiceAct(Lawno.357)
27. The relevant provisions of the Military Legal 

Service Act are worded as follows:

Additional section 7

“Theaptitudeofmilitaryjudges…appointed
as regular or substitutemembers of the Na-
tionalSecurityCourtsthatisrequiredforpro-
motion or advancement in salary step, rank
orseniorityshallbedeterminedonthebasis
ofassessmentreportsdrawnupaccordingto
theprocedurelaiddownbelow,subjecttothe
provisionsofthepresentLawandtheTurkish
ArmedForcesPersonnelAct(Lawno.926).

(a) The first superior competent to carry out
assessment anddrawup assessment reports
formilitaryjudges,whetherregularorsubsti-
tutemembers…shallbetheMinisterofState
in the Ministry of Defence, followed by the
MinisterofDefence.

…”

Additional section 8

“Members…of theNational Security Courts
belongingtotheMilitaryLegalService…shall
be appointed by a committee composed of
thepersonneldirectorandthelegaladviserof
theGeneral Staff, thepersonneldirectorand
the legal adviser attached to the staff of the
arminwhichthepersonconcernedisserving
and theDirectorofMilitary JudicialAffairsat
theMinistryofDefence…”

Section 16(1) and (3)

“Militaryjudges…shallbeappointedbyade-
creeissuedjointlybytheMinisterofDefence
andthePrimeMinisterandsubmittedtothe
Presidentof theRepublic forapproval, inac-
cordancewiththeprovisionsontheappoint-
ment and transferofmembersof thearmed
forces…

…

Theprocedure for appointment as amilitary
judge shall take into account the opinion of
theCourtofCassation,thereportsbyMinistry
of Justice assessors and the assessment re-
portsdrawnupbythesuperiors…”

Section 18(1)

“The rules governing the salary scales, salary
increasesandvariouspersonal rightsofmili-
taryjudges…shallbeaslaiddowninthepro-
visionsrelatingtoofficers.”

Section 29

“TheMinisterofDefencemayapplytomilitary
judges, after considering their defence sub-
missions,thefollowingdisciplinarysanctions:

A.Awarning,whichconsistsingivingtheper-
sonconcernednoticeinwritingthathemust
exercisemorecare in theperformanceofhis
duties.

…

B. A reprimand,which consists in giving the
person concerned notice in writing that a
particularactoraparticularattitudehasbeen
foundtobeblameworthy.

…

The said sanctions shall be final, mentioned
in the assessment record of the person con-
cernedandenteredinhispersonalfile…”

Section 38

“Whenmilitaryjudges…sitincourttheyshall
wearthespecialdressoftheirciviliancounter-
parts…”

4.TheMilitaryCriminalCode
28. Article 112 of the Military Criminal Code of 22 

May 1930 provides:
“Itshallbeanoffence,punishablebyuptofive
years’imprisonment,toabuseone’sauthority
asacivilservantinordertoinfluencethemili-
tarycourts.”

5.Lawno.1602of4July1972onthe
SupremeMilitaryAdministrativeCourt

29. Under section 22 of Law no. 1602 the First Di-
vision of the Supreme Military Administrative 
Court has jurisdiction to hear applications for 
judicial review and claims for damages based 
on disputes relating to the personal status of 
officers, particularly those concerning their 
professional advancement.

PRoCEEDInGs BEFoRE 
tHE CoMMIssIon
30. Mr Gerger applied to the Commission on 22 
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June 1994. In his initial application of the same 
day and his additional application of 5 August 
– which he amended on 25 October 1994 –, he 
said that his conviction constituted a violation 
of Articles 9 and 10 of the Convention. He fur-
ther submitted that, by failing to give adequate 
reasons in its judgment, the National Security 
Court had denied him a fair hearing within the 
meaning of Article 6 § 1. Lastly, he complained 
that he had been discriminated against contra-
ry to Article 14 taken together with Articles 5 § 
1 and 6 § 1, in that the conditions for obtain-
ing automatic parole under Law no. 3713 were 
stricter than those under the general law.

31. The Commission declared the application (no. 
24919/94) admissible on 14 October 1996. In 
its report of 11 December 1997 (former Article 
31), it expressed the opinion that:

(i) there had been a violation of Article 10 of 
the Convention, considered jointly with 
Article 9 (30 votes to 2); 

(ii) there had been no violation of Article 14 
taken together with Article 5 § 1(a) only, 
Article 6 § 1 not being relevant here 
(unanimously); 

(iii) there had been a violation of Article 6 § 1 
in that the applicant’s case had not been 
heard by an independent and impartial 
tribunal; accordingly, it was unnecessary to 
examine separately the complaint that the 
National Security Court had given inad-
equate reasons in its judgment (31 votes 
to 1); 

The full text of the Commission’s opinion and 
of the partly dissenting opinions contained in 
the report is reproduced as an annex to this 
judgment4.

FInAL sUBMIssIons to 
tHE CoURt 
32. In their memorial the Government invited the 

Court to hold that the applicant’s conviction 
did not constitute a violation of Articles 6 § 1, 
9, 10 or 14 of the Convention.

33. Referring to the Commission’s report of 11 De-
cember 1997, Mr Gerger requested the Court 
to hold that there had been a violation of Arti-
cles 6 § 1 and 10 of the Convention and of Ar-
ticle 14 taken together with Article 5 § 1, and 
to have regard in that connection to the fact 
that he had been punished twice for the same 

offence. He also sought just satisfaction under 
Article 41 of the Convention.

As to tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLES 
9 AND 10 OF THE CONVENTION

34. In his application Mr Gerger submitted that his 
conviction pursuant to section 8 of the Pre-
vention of Terrorism Act (Law no. 3713) had 
breached Articles 9 and 10 of the Convention. 

The Court considers however that, as the Gov-
ernment and the Commission have proposed, 
this complaint should be considered from the 
standpoint of Article 10 alone (see, among oth-
er authorities, the Incal v. Turkey judgment of 
9 June 1998, Reports of Judgments and Deci-
sions 1998-.., p. .., § 60), which provides:
“1. Everyonehas the right to freedomof ex-
pression. This right shall include freedom to
hold opinions and to receive and impart in-
formation and ideaswithout interference by
public authority and regardless of frontiers.
This Article shall not prevent States from re-
quiring the licensing of broadcasting, televi-
sionorcinemaenterprises.

2.Theexerciseofthesefreedoms,sinceitcar-
rieswithitdutiesandresponsibilities,maybe
subjecttosuchformalities,conditions,restric-
tionsorpenaltiesasareprescribedbylawand
are necessary in a democratic society, in the
interestsofnationalsecurity, territorial integ-
rityorpublicsafety,forthepreventionofdis-
orderorcrime,fortheprotectionofhealthor
morals,fortheprotectionofthereputationor
rightsofothers,forpreventingthedisclosure
of information received in confidence, or for
maintaining theauthority and impartialityof
thejudiciary.”

A. Existence of an interference
35. Those appearing before the Court agreed 

that the applicant’s conviction following the 
reading out of the message at the ceremony 
on 23 May 1993 (see paragraph 10 above) 
amounted to an interference with the exercise 
of his right to freedom of expression. Such an 
interference breaches Article 10 unless it satis-
fies the requirements of the second paragraph 
of Article 10. The Court must therefore deter-
mine whether it was “prescribed by law”, was 
directed towards one or more of the legitimate 
aims set out in that paragraph and was “nec-
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essary in a democratic society” to achieve the 
aims concerned.

B. Justification for the interference
1.Prescribedbylaw”

36. The applicant submitted that the notion of 
the indivisibility of the State, as set out in sec-
tion 8 of the Prevention of Terrorism Act (Law 
no. 3713), was so vague as to make his convic-
tion under that provision unforeseeable.

37. The Government contested that submission.

38. In this instance, the Court intends to adopt the 
Commission’s approach of examining the case 
on the basis that the section did satisfy the 
foreseeability requirements inherent in the no-
tion of “law”.

2.Legitimateaim
39. The applicant asserted that his conviction did 

not pursue any of the aims that are legitimate 
under the second paragraph of Article 10.

40. The Commission considered that the interfer-
ence was aimed at maintaining “national secu-
rity” and preventing “[public] disorder”.

41. The Government submitted that it had also 
been intended to preserve “territorial integrity” 
and national unity.

42. The Court considers that, having regard to the 
sensitivity of the security situation in south-
east Turkey (see the Zana v. Turkey judgment 
of 25 November 1997, Reports 1997-VII, p. 
2539, § 10) and to the need for the authorities 
to be alert to acts capable of fuelling additional 
violence, the measures taken against the appli-
cant can be said to have been in furtherance of 
certain of the aims mentioned by the Govern-
ment, namely the protection of national securi-
ty and territorial integrity and the prevention of 
disorder and crime. This is certainly true where, 
as with the situation in south-east Turkey at 
the time of the circumstances of this case, the 
separatist movement had recourse to methods 
which rely on the use of violence.

3.Necessaryinademocraticsociety”
C. Arguments of those appearing before the 

Court
i The applicant

43. The applicant submitted that by associating 
the opinions expressed in his message with 
terrorist crime and by convicting him the Na-

tional Security Court had hindered free discus-
sion on the Kurdish problem and criticism of 
the official ideology. In addition, the National 
Security Court had not shown that the mes-
sage was an incitement to violence or set out 
in its judgment the objective criteria on which 
it had relied in finding that the applicant’s 
opinions might threaten the “indivisibility of 
the State”. Lastly, the applicant complained 
that he had been punished twice for the same 
offence, following the amendments made by 
Law no. 4126 to Law no. 3713.

ii The Government

44. The Government emphasised the fact that 
the ceremony on 23 May 1993 had been held 
in memory of people who had taken part in 
acts of terrorism at the end of the 1960s. They 
quoted passages from the applicant’s mes-
sage which they said were intended to incite 
citizens of Kurdish origin to engage in armed 
combat against the Turkish State, supported 
separatist violence and glorified the Kurdish 
independence movement. The message was 
no mere analysis of the situation or even a criti-
cism of the Turkish authorities but an encour-
agement for Kurdish terrorism and the activi-
ties of the PKK.

Article 10 left Contracting States a particularly 
broad margin of appreciation in cases where 
their territorial integrity was threatened by ter-
rorism. What is more, when confronted with 
the situation in Turkey – where the PKK sys-
tematically carried out massacres of women, 
children, schoolteachers and conscripts – the 
Turkish authorities had a duty to prohibit all 
separatist propaganda, which could only in-
cite violence and hostility between society’s 
various component groups and thus endanger 
human rights and democracy.

Lastly the Government submitted that, since 
the message had been read out at a time 
when, taking advantage of the disorder cre-
ated on the border with Iraq by the Gulf War, 
the PKK had been escalating its operations in 
south-east Turkey, the applicant’s conviction 
had by no means been disproportionate to the 
aims pursued.

iii The Commission

45. The Commission adverted to the “duties and 
responsibilities” mentioned in the second 
paragraph of Article 10, which made it impor-
tant for people expressing an opinion in public 
on sensitive political issues to ensure that they 
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did not condone “unlawful political violence”. 
Freedom of expression nevertheless included 
the right to engage in open discussion of diffi-
cult problems like those with which Turkey was 
confronted with a view to analysing, for exam-
ple, the historical causes of the situation or to 
expressing opinions on possible solutions.

The Commission noted that in his message the 
applicant had accused the Turkish State of de-
nying the Kurds their basic rights; he had been 
particularly robust in his criticism of Turkey and 
had alluded to the liberation of the Kurds. It 
nonetheless considered that that was not suf-
ficient to justify the criminal penalty imposed 
on him. It noted in particular that although the 
message referred to the guerrilla in the moun-
tains of Kurdistan, it did so solely as a “factual 
element”, without inciting others to violent 
action. The applicant’s conviction therefore 
constituted a form of censorship, which was in-
compatible with the requirements of Article 10.

D. The Court’s assessment
46. The Court reiterates the fundamental principles 

underlying its judgments relating to Article 10, 
as set out in, for example, the Zana v. Turkey 
judgment (cited above, p. 2547-48, § 51) and 
the Fressoz and Roire v. France judgment of 21 
January 1999, Reports 1999-, p. …, § 45).

(i) Freedom of expression constitutes one of 
the essential foundations of a democratic 
society and one of the basic conditions for 
its progress and for each individual’s self-
fulfilment. Subject to paragraph 2 of Article 
10, it is applicable not only to “information” 
or “ideas” that are favourably received or 
regarded as inoffensive or as a matter of 
indifference, but also to those that offend, 
shock or disturb. Such are the demands of 
that pluralism, tolerance and broadmind-
edness without which there is no “demo-
cratic society”. As set forth in Article 10, this 
freedom is subject to exceptions, which 
must, however, be construed strictly, and 
the need for any restrictions must be es-
tablished convincingly.

(ii) The adjective “necessary”, within the 
meaning of Article 10 § 2, implies the 
existence of a “pressing social need”. The 
Contracting States have a certain margin 
of appreciation in assessing whether such 
a need exists, but it goes hand in hand with 
European supervision, embracing both 
the legislation and the decisions applying 
it, even those given by an independent 

court. The Court is therefore empowered 
to give the final ruling on whether a “re-
striction” is reconcilable with freedom of 
expression as protected by Article 10.

(iii) In exercising its supervisory jurisdiction, 
the Court must look at the interference in 
the light of the case as a whole, including 
the content of the impugned statements 
and the context in which they were made. 
In particular, it must determine whether 
the interference in issue was “proportion-
ate to the legitimate aims pursued” and 
whether the reasons adduced by the na-
tional authorities to justify it are “relevant 
and sufficient”. In doing so, the Court has 
to satisfy itself that the national authorities 
applied standards which were in conform-
ity with the principles embodied in Article 
10 and, moreover, that they based them-
selves on an acceptable assessment of the 
relevant facts.

47. The Court observes that the message ad-
dressed by Mr Gerger to those who attended 
the ceremony on 23 May 1993 sought to vindi-
cate the acts of Deniz Gezmiş, Yusuf Aslan and 
Hüseyin İnan, who at the end of the 1960s had 
founded an extreme left-wing movement and 
had in May 1972 been executed after receiving 
the death sentence for using violence with the 
aim of destroying the constitutional order.

Using words with Marxist overtones, the ap-
plicant asserted, in particular, that the Turkish 
Republic was “based on negation of the rights 
of workers and Kurds” and that its leaders had 
“always distinguished themselves through a 
cruel militarism that [was] the product of their 
mediocrity, backwardness, and thirst for ever 
more money”. He added that the revival in 
the 1960s of “dynamic social strata previously 
excluded from the political life of the country” 
and the “revolutionary democratic resistance 
movement” of the early 1970s had helped 
to “transform the history of the nation” and 
instilled in society a “spirit of resistance and 
revolt”. He stated that socialism was the only 
system capable of replacing capitalism and 
proclaimed that “[f]rom the seeds of liberation 
of the Kurdish people sown in those days were 
born the guerrilla in the mountains of Kurdis-
tan” (see paragraph 10 above).

The Government took such comments to 
mean that the applicant accepted the legiti-
macy of the Kurdish independentist cause. 
The Court does not share that view: it consid-
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ers that the applicant’s comments constituted 
political criticism of the Turkish authorities, to 
which the use of words such as “revolt” and 
“oppression” added a certain virulence.

48. The Court recalls that there is little scope under 
Article 10 § 2 of the Convention for restrictions 
on political speech or on debate on matters of 
public interest (see the Wingrove v. the United 
Kingdom judgment of 25 November 1996, 
Reports 1996-V, p. 1957, § 58). Furthermore, 
the limits of permissible criticism are wider 
with regard to the government than in rela-
tion to a private citizen, or even a politician. In 
a democratic system the actions or omissions 
of the government must be subject to the 
close scrutiny not only of the legislative and 
judicial authorities but also of public opinion. 
Moreover, the dominant position which the 
government occupies makes it necessary for it 
to display restraint in resorting to criminal pro-
ceedings, particularly where other means are 
available for replying to the unjustified attacks 
and criticisms of its adversaries. Nevertheless, 
it certainly remains open to the competent 
State authorities to adopt, in their capacity as 
guarantors of public order, measures, even of 
a criminal-law nature, intended to react appro-
priately and without excess to such remarks 
(see the Incal v. Turkey judgment of 9 June 
1998, Reports 1998-IV, p. 1567, § 54). Finally, 
where such remarks constitute an incitement 
to violence against an individual or a public of-
ficial or a sector of the population, the State au-
thorities enjoy a wider margin of appreciation 
when examining the need for an interference 
with freedom of expression.

49. The Court takes into account the background 
to the cases submitted to it, particularly prob-
lems linked to the prevention of terrorism (see 
the above-mentioned Incal judgment, p. 1568, 
§ 58). On that point, it takes note of the Turkish 
authorities’ concern about the dissemination 
of views which they consider might exacerbate 
the serious disturbances that have been going 
on in Turkey for some fifteen years (see para-
graph 42 above). 

Nonetheless, it is not persuaded by the Gov-
ernment’s contention that special weight 
should be attached in the instant case to the 
fact that the message was delivered at a time 
when, taking advantage of the disorder cre-
ated at the border with Iraq by the Gulf War, 
the PKK had been escalating its operations in 
south-east Turkey. Indeed, the events in the 
present case took place long after that conflict 

had ended.

50. Furthermore, the Court observes that the ap-
plicant’s message was read out only to a group 
of people attending a commemorative cer-
emony, which considerably restricted its po-
tential impact on “national security”, public “or-
der” or “territorial integrity”. In addition, even 
though it contained words such as “resistance”, 
“struggle” and “liberation”, it did not constitute 
an incitement to violence, armed resistance or 
an uprising; in the Court’s view, this is a factor 
which it is essential to take into consideration.

51. Lastly, the Court is struck by the severity of 
the penalty imposed on the applicant. He was 
sentenced by the National Security Court on 
9 December 1993 to one year, eight months’ 
imprisonment and a fine of 208,333,333 Turk-
ish liras (TRL). After completing his sentence, 
he was detained from 23 September to 26 
October 1995 pursuant to section 5 of the Ex-
ecution of Sentences Act (Law no. 647) before 
being ordered to pay an additional fine of TRL 
84,833,333 for the same offence (see para-
graphs 13-17 above).

The Court notes in that connection that the na-
ture and severity of the penalties imposed are 
also factors to be taken into account when as-
sessing the proportionality of the interference.

52. In conclusion, Mr Gerger’s conviction was dis-
proportionate to the aims pursued and accord-
ingly not “necessary in a democratic society”. 
There has therefore been a violation of Article 
10 of the Convention.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
6 § 1 OF THE CONVENTION

53. The applicant maintained that the Ankara Na-
tional Security Court was not an “independent 
and impartial tribunal” and had not given suf-
ficient reasons for its decision in his case. He 
therefore argued that he had been the victim 
of a violation of Article 6 § 1, which provides: 
“Inthedeterminationof...anycriminalcharge
against him, everyone is entitled to a fair ...
hearing ... by an independent and impartial
tribunalestablishedbylaw...”

A. Whether the Ankara National Security 
Court was independent and impartial

1.TheGovernment’spreliminaryobjections
54. The Government contended that domestic 
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remedies had not been exhausted and that 
the Court had no jurisdiction ratione materiae 
to examine the issue of the independence and 
impartiality of the Ankara National Security 
Court. They submitted that the applicant had 
not raised this complaint before either the na-
tional courts or the Commission and that the 
latter had considered it of its own motion with-
out having jurisdiction.

55. Both the applicant and the Commission con-
tested those arguments.

56. The Court reiterates that it takes cognisance 
of preliminary objections in so far as the State 
in question has already raised them, at least in 
substance and with sufficient clarity, before the 
Commission, in principle at the stage of the 
initial examination of admissibility (see, among 
other authorities, the Aytekin v. Turkey judg-
ment of 23 September 1998, Reports 1998-VII, 
p. …, § 77).

In the instant case, the Court observes that 
although the applicant did not allege a lack 
of impartiality or independence on the part 
of the Ankara National Security Court in his 
application to the Commission, he did, in his 
memorial lodged with the Court, make a gen-
eral reference to the report of the Commission, 
which had concluded that the complaint was 
founded. In addition, when communicating 
the application, the Commission invited the 
Government (on 27 February 1995) to indi-
cate whether “the applicant had had a fair trial 
before an independent and impartial tribunal 
within the meaning of Article 6 § 1 of the Con-
vention”. In their observations in reply, the Gov-
ernment did not address that point and raised 
no objection to the Commission considering it 
of its own motion. Furthermore, on 31 October 
1996 the Commission sent the Government its 
decision regarding the admissibility of the ap-
plication and invited the Government to lodge 
additional observations. Despite the fact that is 
was clear from the wording of the admissibility 
decision that the Commission had considered 
the complaint of its own motion, the Govern-
ment did not reply.

It follows from the foregoing that the Govern-
ment are estopped from raising the objections 
at this stage of the proceedings.

2.Meritsofthecomplaint
57. In the applicant's submission, the Ankara Na-

tional Security Court could not be regarded as 
an “independent and impartial tribunal” with-

in the meaning of Article 6 § 1, as one of its 
members was a military judge.

58. The Government replied that the rules govern-
ing the appointment of military judges to the 
National Security Courts and the guarantees 
which they enjoy in the performance of their 
judicial functions on the bench were such as 
to ensure that these courts fully complied with 
the requirements of independence and impar-
tiality within the meaning of Article 6 § 1. The 
Government disputed the applicant’s argu-
ment that military judges were accountable to 
their superior officers. In the first place, it was 
an offence under Article 112 of the Military 
Code for a public official to attempt to influ-
ence the performance by a military judge of 
his judicial functions. Secondly, when acting in 
a judicial capacity a military judge is assessed 
in exactly the same manner as a civilian judge.

The Government said that the National Secu-
rity Courts were not special courts but special-
ised criminal courts. The Turkish authorities 
had judged it necessary to include a military 
judge on the bench because of the situation 
that had prevailed in Turkey for a number of 
years and the armed forces’ experience in com-
bating terrorism.

The Government added that in the present 
case neither the superiors of the military judge 
who had sat in the applicant’s case, nor the 
public authorities which had appointed him 
had had any interest in the proceedings or 
the outcome of the case. Indeed, the dissent-
ing opinion of the military judge showed that 
his view of the case had been more favourable 
to Mr Gerger than the views of the other two 
judges. Furthermore, the judgment of the Na-
tional Security Court had been upheld by the 
Court of Cassation, in which only civil judges 
sat.

59. The Commission concluded that the Ankara 
National Security Court could not be regarded 
as an “independent and impartial tribunal” 
within the meaning of Article 6 § 1 of the Con-
vention. It referred in that connection to the 
opinion and reasoning set out in its report of 
25 February 1997 in the Incal v. Turkey case. 

60. The Court recalls that in its Incal v. Turkey judg-
ment of 9 June 1998 (Reports 1998-IV, p. 1547) 
and in its Çıraklar v. Turkey judgment of 28 Oc-
tober 1998 (Reports 1998-, p. …) the Court had 
to address arguments similar to those raised by 
the Government in the instant case. In those 
judgments the Court noted that the status of 
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military judges sitting as members of National 
Security Courts did provide some guarantees 
of independence and impartiality (see the 
above-mentioned Incal judgment, p. 1571, § 
65). On the other hand, the Court found that 
certain aspects of these judges’ status made 
their independence and impartiality question-
able (ibid., § 68): for example, the fact that 
they are servicemen who still belong to the 
army, which in turn takes its orders from the 
executive; the fact that they remain subject to 
military discipline; and the fact that decisions 
pertaining to their appointment are to a great 
extent taken by the administrative authorities 
and the army (see paragraphs 25-29 above).

61. As in its Incal judgment the Court considers 
that its task is not to determine in abstracto the 
necessity for the establishment of National Se-
curity Courts in the light of the justifications ad-
vanced by the Government. Its task is to ascer-
tain whether the manner in which the Ankara 
National Security Court functioned infringed 
Mr Gerger’s right to a fair trial, in particular 
whether, viewed objectively, he had a legiti-
mate reason to fear that the court which tried 
him lacked independence and impartiality (see 
the above-mentioned Incal judgment, p. 1572, 
§ 70; and the above-mentioned Çıraklar judg-
ment, p. …, § 38). 

As to that question, the Court sees no reason 
to reach a conclusion different from that in 
the cases of Mr Incal and Mr Çıraklar, both of 
whom, like the present applicant, were civil-
ians. It is understandable that the applicant 
– prosecuted in a National Security Court of 
disseminating propaganda aimed at under-
mining the territorial integrity of the State 
and national unity - should be apprehensive 
about being tried by a bench which included 
a regular army officer, who was a member of 
the Military Legal Service. On that account he 
could legitimately fear that the Ankara National 
Security Court might allow itself to be unduly 
influenced by considerations which had noth-
ing to do with the nature of the case. In other 
words, the applicant’s fears as to that court’s 
lack of independence and impartiality can be 
regarded as objectively justified. The proceed-
ings in the Court of Cassation were not able to 
dispel these fears since that court did not have 
full jurisdiction (see the above-mentioned Incal 
judgment, p.1573, § 72 in fine).

62. For these reasons the Court finds that there has 

been a breach of Article 6 § 1.

B. Alleged absence of reasoning in the 
judgment of the Ankara National Security 
Court

63. The applicant maintained that the Ankara Na-
tional Security Court had not given sufficient 
reasons for its decision, and had thereby in-
fringed his right to a fair trial.

64. The Government argued that that complaint 
was unfounded.

65. Like the Commission, the Court holds that in 
view of its finding of a violation of Mr Gerger’s 
right to be tried by an independent and impar-
tial tribunal (see paragraph 62 above), it is un-
necessary to examine this complaint.

III. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
14 OF THE CONVENTION TAKEN 
TOGETHER WITH ARTICLE 5 § 1

66. The applicant said that the fact that he had 
been sentenced to a term of imprisonment 
under Law no. 3713 meant that he had not 
been entitled to automatic parole until he had 
served three quarters of his sentence, unlike 
prisoners sentenced under the ordinary crimi-
nal law, who were entitled to parole after serv-
ing half their sentence. He considered that that 
difference constituted unlawful discrimination 
under Article 14 of the Convention, which pro-
vides:
“The enjoyment of the rights and freedoms
set forth in this Convention shall be secured
without discrimination on any ground such
assex, race,colour, language, religion,politi-
calorotheropinion,nationalorsocialorigin,
associationwithanationalminority,property,
birthorotherstatus.”

67. The Court considers that this question relates 
to “the lawful detention of a person after con-
viction by a competent court” and should 
therefore be examined under Article 14 taken 
together with Article 5 § 1 (a) of the Conven-
tion. The latter provision provides:
“1.Everyonehastherighttolibertyandsecu-
rityofperson.Nooneshallbedeprivedofhis
liberty save in the followingcasesand inac-
cordancewithaprocedureprescribedbylaw:

(a)thelawfuldetentionofapersonaftercon-
victionbyacompetentcourt;”

68. The Government submitted that Article 5 § 1 



648 CASEOFGERGERVTURKEY

EC
HR

EC
J

(a) did not secure convicted prisoners a right 
to automatic parole. They added that in any 
event the restrictions on entitlement to parole 
imposed on persons convicted of an offence 
under the Prevention of Terrorism Act were 
warranted by the intrinsic seriousness of such 
offences.

69. The Court considers, firstly, that, although 
Article 5 § 1 (a) of the Convention does not 
guarantee a right to parole, an issue may arise 
under that provision taken together with Arti-
cle 14 of the Convention if a settled sentenc-
ing policy affects individuals in a discriminatory 
manner.

The Court notes that in principle the aim of Law 
no. 3713 is to penalise people who commit 
terrorist offences and that anyone convicted 
under that law will be treated less favourably 
with regard to automatic parole than persons 
convicted under the ordinary law. It deduces 
from that fact that the distinction is made not 
between different groups of people, but be-
tween different types of offence, according to 
the legislature’s view of their gravity. The Court 
sees no ground for concluding that that prac-
tice amounts to a form of “discrimination” that 
is contrary to the Convention. Consequently, 
there has been no violation of Article 14 taken 
together with Article 5 § 1 (a) of the Conven-
tion.

IV. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

70. The applicant sought just satisfaction under 
Article 41, which provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage
71. Without supplying any details, Mr Gerger 

sought reparation for damage which he put at 
1,000,000 French francs (FRF).

72. The Government replied that there was no 
causal link between the alleged violation of the 
Convention and any pecuniary damage. Any 
non-pecuniary damage would be sufficiently 
compensated for by a finding of a violation of 
the Convention.

73. The Court considers that the applicant must 
have suffered distress on account of the facts 
of the case. Ruling on an equitable basis, it 
consequently awards him FRF 40,000 for non-
pecuniary damage.

The Court notes that if it was Mr Gerger’s in-
tention to claim pecuniary damage also, he has 
not supplied any evidence in support of such 
a claim; accordingly, it makes no award under 
that head.

B. Costs and expenses
74. The applicant sought payment of FRF 250,000 

for his costs and expenses.

75. The Government said the claim was “exorbi-
tant” and argued that the applicant had not 
produced any supporting evidence. 

76. On the basis of the information in its pos-
session, the Court considers it reasonable to 
award the applicant FRF 20,000 by way of re-
imbursement of his costs and expenses for the 
proceedings before the national courts and 
before the Commission and the Court.

C. Default interest
77. The Court deems it appropriate to adopt the 

statutory rate of interest applicable in France at 
the date of adoption of the present judgment 
which according to the information available 
to it, is 3.47% per annum.

FOR THESE REASONS THE COURT

1. Holds by 16 votes to 1 that there has been a 
breach of Article 10 of the Convention;

2. Dismisses unanimously the Government’s 
preliminary objections relating to the com-
plaint that the Ankara National Security Court 
was not “independent and impartial” within 
the meaning of Article 6 § 1 of the Conven-
tion;

3. Holds by 16 votes to 1 that there has been a 
violation of Article 6 § 1 of the Convention in 
that the Ankara National Security Court was 
not “independent and impartial”;

4. Holds unanimously that it is unnecessary to 
examine the applicant’s other complaint un-
der Article 6 § 1 of the Convention; 

5. Holds unanimously that there has been no 
violation of Article 14 of the Convention taken 
together with Article 5 § 1; 
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6. Holds by 16 votes to 1

(a) that the respondent Government is to pay 
the applicant, within three months, the 
following amounts to be converted into 
Turkish liras at the rate applicable at the 
date of payment:

(i) 40,000 (forty thousand) french francs 
for non-pecuniary damage;

(ii) 20,000 (twenty thousand) french 
francs for costs and expenses;

(b) that simple interest at an annual rate of 
3.47% shall be payable from the expiry of 
the above-mentioned three months until 
settlement;

7. Dismisses unanimously the remainder of the 
applicant’s’ claims for just satisfaction.

Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 8 July 1999.

Luzius Wildhaber, President
Paul Mahoney, Deputy Registrar

A declaration by Mr Wildhaber and, in accordance 
with Article 45 § 2 of the Convention and Rule 74 
§ 2 of the Rules of Court, the following separate 
opinions are annexed to this judgment:

(a) joint concurring opinion of Mrs Palm, Mrs 
Tulkens, Mr Fischbach, Mr Casadevall and 
Mrs Greve

(b) concurring opinion of Mr Bonello

(c) dissenting opinion of Mr Gölcüklü

DECLARAtIon BY JUDGE 
WILDHABER
Although I voted against the finding of a violation 
of Article 6 § 1 of the Convention in the case of 
Incal v. Turkey of 9 June 1998 (Reports 1998-IV, p. 
1547), I now consider myself bound to adopt the 
view of the majority of the Court.

JoInt ConCURRInG 
oPInIon oF JUDGEs 
PALM, tULKEns, 
FIsCHBACH, CAsADEVALL 
AnD GREVE
We share the Court’s conclusion that there has 
been a violation of Article 10 in the present case al-
though we have reached the same result by a route 
which employs the more contextual approach as 
set out in the dissenting opinion of Judge Palm and 
Judge Greve in the case of Sürek v. Turkey (no. 1).

In our opinion the majority assessment of the Arti-
cle 10 issue in this line of cases against the respond-
ent State attaches too much weight to the form of 
words used in the publication and insufficient at-
tention to the general context in which the words 
were used and their likely impact. Undoubtedly the 
language in question may be intemperate or even 
violent. But in a democracy, as our Court has em-
phasised, even “fighting” words may be protected 
by Article 10.

An approach which is more in keeping with the 
wide protection afforded to political speech in the 
Court’s case-law is to focus less on the inflamma-
tory nature of the words employed and more on 
the different elements of the contextual setting in 
which the speech was uttered. Was the language 
intended to inflame or incite to violence? Was there 
a real and genuine risk that it might actually do so? 
The answer to these questions in turn requires a 
measured assessment of the many different lay-
ers that compose the general context in the cir-
cumstances of each case. Other questions must be 
asked. Did the author of the offending text occupy 
a position of influence in society of a sort likely to 
amplify the impact of his words? Was the publi-
cation given a degree of prominence either in an 
important newspaper or through another medium 
which was likely to enhance the influence of the 
impugned speech? Were the words far away from 
the centre of violence or on its doorstep?

It is only by a careful examination of the context 
in which the offending words appear that one can 
draw a meaningful distinction between language 
which is shocking and offensive – which is protect-
ed by Article 10 – and that which forfeits its right to 
tolerance in a democratic society.
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ConCURRInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE BonELLo
I voted with the majority to find a violation of Ar-
ticle 10, but I do not endorse the primary test 
applied by the Court to determine whether the 
interference by the domestic authorities with the 
applicants’ freedom of expression was justifiable in 
a democratic society.

Throughout these, and previous Turkish freedom-
of-expression cases in which incitement to violence 
was an issue, the common test employed by the 
Court seems to have been this: if the writings pub-
lished by the applicants supported or instigated 
the use of violence, then their conviction by the na-
tional courts was justifiable in a democratic society. 
I discard this yardstick as insufficient.

I believe that punishment by the national authori-
ties of those encouraging violence would be justifi-
able in a democratic society only if the incitement 
were such as to create ‘a clear and present danger’. 
When the invitation to the use of force is intellec-
tualised, abstract, and removed in time and space 
from the foci of actual or impending violence, then 
the fundamental right to freedom of expression 
should generally prevail.

I borrow what one of the mightiest constitutional 
jurists of all time had to say about words which 
tend to destabilise law and order: “We should be 
eternally vigilant against attempts to check the ex-
pression of opinions that we loathe and believe to 
be fraught with death, unless they so imminently 
threaten immediate interference with the lawful 
and pressing purposes of the law that an immedi-
ate check is required to save the country”5.

The guarantee of freedom of expression does not 
permit a state to forbid or proscribe advocacy of 
the use of force except when such advocacy is di-
rected to inciting or producing imminent lawless-
ness and is likely to incite or produce such action6. 
It is a question of proximity and degree7.

In order to support a finding of clear and present 
danger which justifies restricting freedom of ex-
pression, it must be shown either that immediate 
serious violence was expected or was advocated, 
or that the past conduct of the applicant furnished 
reason to believe that his advocacy of violence 
would produce immediate and grievous action8.

It is not manifest to me that any of the words with 
which the applicants were charged, however preg-
nant with mortality they may appear to some, had 
the potential of imminently threatening dire effects 

on the national order. Nor is it manifest to me that 
instant suppression of those expressions was indis-
pensable for the salvation of Turkey. They created 
no peril, let alone a clear and present one. Short of 
that, the Court would be subsidising the subversion 
of freedom of expression were it to condone the 
convictions of the applicants by the criminal courts.

In summary “no danger flowing from speech can 
be deemed clear and present, unless the incidence 
of the evil apprehended is so imminent that it may 
befall before there is opportunity for full discussion. 
If there be time to expose, through discussion, the 
falsehood and the fallacies, to avert the evil by the 
process of education, the remedy to be applied is 
more speech, not enforced silence”.9 

DIssEntInG oPInIon oF 
JUDGE GÖLCÜKLÜ
(Provisional translation)

To my great regret, I cannot agree with the majority 
of the Court that there has been a violation of Arti-
cle 10 of the Convention. In my opinion, there is no 
valid reason to find that the interference in this case 
was not necessary in a democratic society and, in 
particular, not proportionate to the aim of preserv-
ing national security.

Nor do I share the majority’s view that there has 
been a violation of Article 6 § 1 in that the National 
Security Courts are not “independent and impar-
tial tribunals” within the meaning of that provision 
owing to the presence of a military judge on the 
bench.

Allow me to explain.

1. In the Zana case (judgment of 25 November 
1997) the comments concerned, which the ap-
plicant when interviewed by journalists, were 
as follows:
“I support the PKK national liberationmove-
ment; on theother hand, I amnot in favour
ofmassacres.Anyonecanmakemistakes,and
the PKK killwomen and children bymistake
…”

That statement was published in the national 
daily newspaper Cumhuriyet.

2. The backdrop to the case (and to a number of 
similar cases) is the situation in the south-east 
of Turkey, which was described by the Court in 
its Zana judgment:
“Since approximately 1985, serious distur-
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banceshaveragedinthesouth-eastofTurkey
betweenthesecurityforcesandthemembers
of thePKK (Workers’PartyofKurdistan).This
confrontationhassofar,accordingtotheGov-
ernment, claimed the lives of 4,036 civilians
and 3,884 members of the security forces.”
(see§10)

(see § 10). That figure was approximately 
30,000 in 1999.

3. The PKK is recognised by the Court (see Zana, 
§ 58) and international institutions as being a 
Kurdish terrorist organisation.

4. In the Zana judgment, the Court once again 
reiterated (§ 51 of the judgment) the funda-
mental principles which emerge from its judg-
ments relating to Article 10:
“(i)Freedomofexpressionconstitutesoneof
theessentialfoundationsofademocraticso-
ciety...

(ii)Theadjective‘necessary’,withinthemean-
ingofArticle10§2,impliestheexistenceofa
‘pressingsocialneed’.TheContractingStates
have a certainmargin of appreciation in as-
sessingwhethersuchaneedexists,butitgoes
handinhandwithEuropeansupervision...

(iii) In exercising its supervisory jurisdiction,
theCourtmustlookattheimpugnedinterfer-
enceinthelightofthecaseasawhole,includ-
ing the content of the remarks held against
the applicant and the context in which he
madethem...”

5. In paragraph 55 of its judgment the Court 
said that the above principles applied “also 
appl[ied] to measures taken by national au-
thorities to maintain national security and pub-
lic safety as part of the fight against terrorism...”

6. Thus, in the aforementioned case, the Court felt 
bound to assess whether Mr Zana’s conviction 
met an “pressing social need” and was “propor-
tionate to the legitimate aim pursued”. To that 
end, it considered it important to analyse the 
content of the applicant’s remarks in the light 
of the situation prevailing in south-east Turkey 
at the time. (see § 56).

7. The Court said that Mr Zana’s words “could be 
interpreted in several ways but, at all events, 
they are both contradictory and ambiguous. 
They are contradictory because it would seem 
difficult simultaneously to support the PKK, a 
terrorist organisation which resorts to violence 
to achieve its ends, and to declare oneself 
opposed to massacres; they are ambiguous 
because whilst Mr Zana disapproves of the 

massacres of women and children, he at the 
same time describes them as “mistakes” that 
anybody could make.” (see § 58).

8. After considering these factors, the Court con-
cluded (-ibid. §§59-62):
“The statement cannot, however, be looked
at in isolation. Ithadaspecial significance in
thecircumstancesofthecase,astheapplicant
musthaverealised.AstheCourtnotedearlier
(see paragraph 50 above), the interview co-
incided with murderous attacks carried out
by the PKK on civilians in south-east Turkey,
wheretherewasextremetensionatthemate-
rialtime...

In those circumstances the support given to
the PKK – described as a ‘national liberation
movement’–by[MrZana],...hadtoberegard-
edaslikelytoexacerbateanalreadyexplosive
situationinthatregion.

The Court accordingly considers that the
penalty imposedon theapplicant could rea-
sonablyberegardedasansweringa‘pressing
socialneed’andthatthereasonsadducedby
thenationalauthoritiesare ‘relevantandsuf-
ficient’...

Having regard toall these factorsand to the
marginofappreciationwhichnationalauthor-
itieshave insuchacase, theCourtconsiders
thattheinterferenceinissuewasproportion-
atetothelegitimateaimspursued.Therehas
consequentlybeennobreachofArticle10of
theConvention.”

9. In my opinion, this reasoning and these 
grounds should have acted as the guiding 
principle in similar cases and avoided any ab-
stract assessment of the remarks concerned, 
an assessment that I find unrealistic and to be 
based on a misconception of what is meant by 
freedom of expression and democracy.

10. The case of Gerger v. Turkey is indistinguish-
able, if not in form, at least in content, from the 
Zana case. In his message, dispatched and read 
out at a time when PKK terrorism was raging 
not just in south-east Turkey but in the whole 
country, the applicant spoke of:

(i) his “solidarity with the revolutionary 
cause”;

(ii) the Turkish Republic which he said was 
“based on negation of the fundamental 
rights of workers and Kurds”, though the 
latter had nothing to do and no connec-
tion with the memorial ceremony that had 
been organised;
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(iii) the rulers, whose aim had been to eradi-
cate social and political activity in the 
country and to weigh society down with 
the yoke of non-pluralism and depend-
ence in order to “break any resistance and 
stifle any revolt by the masses”;

(iv) “the spirit of resistance and revolt of those 
heroic years, a nightmare for the rulers, 
has been with the country for more than 
twenty years”;

(v) “the seeds of liberation of the Kurdish peo-
ple sown in those days [from which] the 
[current] guerrilla campaign in the moun-
tains of Kurdistan was born”

(vi) their national democratic fight and the war 
of the “classes”;

(vii) their “solidarity and unity in the struggle”.

11. These statements clearly incite and condone 
“violence” and constitute a public invitation 
to hatred and action. The Court itself accepted 
(see paragraph 42 of the judgment) that the 
applicant’s conviction pursued “legitimate 
aims” within the meaning of Article 10 § 2 
of the Convention, namely maintenance of 
“national security”, prevention of “[public] dis-
order” and preservation of “territorial integrity” 
and added that that was “certainly true where, 
as with the situation in south-east Turkey at 
the time of the circumstances of this case, the 
separatist movement had recourse to methods 
which rely on the use of violence”.

12. In the light of the foregoing, and having re-
gard to the State’s margin of appreciation in 
this sphere, it is my view that the restriction 
on the applicant’s freedom of expression was 
proportionate to the legitimate aims pursued 
and, accordingly, could reasonably be consid-
ered as necessary in a democratic society to 
achieve them.

13. Secondly, the majority found that there has 
been a violation of Article 6 § 1 in that the 
National Security Courts do not the provide 
guarantees of “independence and impartiality” 
required by that provision of the Convention.

14. In the dissenting opinion which I expressed 
jointly with those eminent judges Mr Thor Vil-
hjálmsson, Mr Matscher, Mr Foighel, Sir John 
Freeland, Mr Lopes Rocha, Mr Wildhaber and 
Mr Gotchev in the case of Incal v. Turkey of 9 
June 1998 and my individual dissenting opin-
ion in the case of Çıraklar v. Turkey of 28 Oc-
tober 1998. I explained why the presence of 

a military judge in a court composed of three 
judges, two of whom are civil judges, in no way 
affects the independence and impartiality of 
the National Security Courts, which are courts 
of the non-military (ordinary) judicial order 
from which an appeal lies to the Court of Cas-
sation. So as to avoid repetition, I refer to my 
aforementioned dissenting opinions.

15. I remain firmly of the opinion that:

(1) the conclusion of the majority results from 
an unjustified extension to the theory of 
outward appearances;

(2) it does not suffice to say, as the majority 
do in paragraph 79 of the judgment, that 
it is “understandable that the applicants ... 
should be apprehensive about being tried 
by a bench which included a regular army 
officer, who was a member of the Military 
Legal Service”, and then simply to rely on 
the Incal precedent (Çıraklar being a mere 
repetition of what was said in the Incal 
judgment); and 

(3) the majority’s opinion is in the abstract and 
ought therefore, if it was to be justifiable, 
to have been better supported both factu-
ally and legally.



653

EC
J

EC
HR



654 

EC
HR

EC
J



655CASEOFZANAVTURKEY

EC
J

EC
HR

SECOND SECTION

CAsE oF ZAnA v tURKEY
(69/1996/688/880)

JUDGMENT

STRASBOURG

25 November 1997



656 CASEOFZANAVTURKEY

EC
HR

EC
J

FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION, TERRORISM, SPECIAL CIR-
CUMSTANCES, PUBLIC INTEREST, NATIONAL SECURITY, 
SAFETY OF CITIZENS, DEMOCRACY

IN THE CASE Of zANA v. TuRKEy,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting, in 
accordance with Rule 51 of Rules of Court A3, as a 
Grand Chamber composed of the following judges:
Mr R. Ryssdal, President, 
Mr R. Bernhardt, 
Mr Thór Vilhjálmsson, 
Mr F. Gölcüklü, 
Mr F. Matscher, 
Mr A. Spielmann, 
Mrs E. Palm, 
Mr A.N. Loizou, 
Sir John Freeland, 
Mr A.B. Baka, 
Mr M.A. Lopes Rocha, 
Mr L. Wildhaber, 
Mr G. Mifsud Bonnici, 
Mr D. Gotchev, 
Mr P. Jambrek, 
Mr K. Jungwiert, 
Mr P. Kūris, 
Mr E. Levits, 
Mr J. Casadevall, 
Mr P. van Dijk, 
and also of Mr H. Petzold, Registrar, 
and Mr P.J. Mahoney, Deputy Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 24 April, 23 June 
and 24 October 1997, 

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case was referred to the Court by the Euro-

pean Commission of Human Rights (“the Com-
mission”) on 28 May 1996 and by the Turkish 
Government (“the Government”) on 29 July 
1996, within the three-month period laid down 
by Article 32 § 1 and Article 47 of the Conven-
tion for the Protection of Human Rights and 

Fundamental Freedoms (“the Convention”). 
It originated in an application (no. 18954/91) 
against the Republic of Turkey lodged with the 
Commission under Article 25 by a Turkish na-
tional, Mr Mehdi Zana, on 30 September 1991.

The Commission’s request referred to Arti-
cles 44 and 48 and to the declaration whereby 
Turkey recognised the compulsory jurisdiction 
of the Court (Article 46); the Government’s ap-
plication referred to Article 48. The object of the 
request and of the application was to obtain a 
decision as to whether the facts of the case dis-
closed a breach by the respondent State of its 
obligations under Article 6 §§ 1 and 3 (c) and 
Articles 9 and 10 of the Convention.

2. In response to the enquiry made in accordance 
with Rule 33 § 3 (d) of Rules of Court A, the ap-
plicant stated that he wished to take part in the 
proceedings and designated the lawyer who 
would represent him (Rule 30). The lawyer was 
given leave by the President to use the Turkish 
language in both the written and the oral pro-
ceedings (Rule 27 § 3).

3. The Chamber to be constituted included ex 
officio Mr F. Gölcüklü, the elected judge of 
Turkish nationality (Article 43 of the Conven-
tion), and Mr R. Bernhardt, the Vice-President 
of the Court (Rule 21 § 4 (b)). On 10 June 1996, 
in the presence of the Registrar, the President 
of the Court, Mr R. Ryssdal, drew by lot the 
names of the other seven members, namely 
Mr Thór Vilhjálmsson, Mr F. Matscher, Mr S.K. 
Martens, Mme E. Palm, Mr M.A. Lopes Rocha, 
Mr G. Mifsud Bonnici and Mr P. Jambrek (Ar-
ticle 43 in fine of the Convention and Rule 21 
§ 5). Subsequently Mr K. Jungwiert, substitute 
judge, replaced Mr Martens, who had resigned 
(Rule 22 § 1).

4. As President of the Chamber (Rule 21 § 6), 
Mr Bernhardt, acting through the Registrar, 
consulted the Agent of the Government, the 
applicant’s lawyer and the Delegate of the 
Commission on the organisation of the pro-
ceedings (Rules 37 § 1 and 38). Pursuant to 
the order made in consequence, the Registrar 
received the applicant’s and the Government’s 
memorials on 11 and 17 December 1996 re-
spectively. On 23 December 1996 the Registrar 
also received the applicant’s claims under Ar-
ticle 50, and on 10 February 1997 the Govern-
ment’s observations in reply.

On 20 December 1996 the Commission had 
produced the file on the proceedings before it, 
as requested by the Registrar on the President’s 
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instructions.

5. In accordance with the President’s decision, 
the hearing took place in public in the Human 
Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 19 February 
1997. The Court had held a preparatory meet-
ing beforehand.

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Mr A. Gündüz, co-Agent,

Mrs D. Akçay, Adviser,

Miss A. Emüler, Expert;

(b) for the Commission

Mr A. Weitzel, Delegate; 

(c) for the applicant

Mr M.S. Tanrikulu,

Mr R. Tanrikulu,

Mr S. yilmaz, of the Diyarbakır Bar, Counsel 

Mr M. zana, Applicant.

The Court heard addresses by Mr Weitzel, 
Mr Zana, Mr M.S. Tanrikulu, Mr Gündüz and Mrs 
Akçay.

6. On 21 February 1997 the Chamber decided 
unanimously to relinquish jurisdiction forth-
with in favour of a Grand Chamber (Rule 51).

7. The Grand Chamber to be constituted includ-
ed ex officio Mr Ryssdal, the President of the 
Court, and Mr Bernhardt, the Vice-President, to-
gether with the members and the three substi-
tutes of the original Chamber, the latter being 
Mr A.N. Loizou, Mr E. Levits and Mr R. Macdon-
ald (Rule 51 § 2 (a) and (b)). On 25 February 
1997, the President, in the presence of the Reg-
istrar, drew by lot the names of the eight ad-
ditional judges needed to complete the Grand 
Chamber, namely Mr A Spielmann, Sir John 
Freeland, Mr A.B. Baka, Mr L. Wildhaber, 
Mr D. Gotchev, Mr P. Kūris, Mr J. Casadevall and 
Mr P. van Dijk (Rule 51 § 2 (c)). Subsequently 
Mr Macdonald, who was unable to take part in 
the further consideration of the case, was not 
replaced after the hearing (Rule 24 § 1 taken 
in conjunction with Rule 51 § 3).

8. On 25 February 1997 the President asked those 
who had appeared before the Court if they 
wanted a new hearing to be held. On 24 and 25 
March and 9 April 1997 respectively the Gov-

ernment, the Delegate of the Commission and 
the applicant replied in the negative.

As to tHE FACts

I. CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE CASE

9. Mr Mehdi Zana, a Turkish citizen born in 1940, 
is a former mayor of Diyarbakır, where he cur-
rently lives.

A. The situation in the south-east of Turkey
10. Since approximately 1985, serious disturbanc-

es have raged in the south-east of Turkey be-
tween the security forces and the members of 
the PKK (Workers’ Party of Kurdistan). This con-
frontation has so far, according to the Govern-
ment, claimed the lives of 4,036 civilians and 
3,884 members of the security forces.

11. .At the time of the Court’s consideration of 
the case, ten of the eleven provinces of south-
east Turkey had since 1987 been subjected to 
emergency rule.

B. The applicant’s statement to journalists
12. In August 1987, while serving several sentenc-

es in Diyarbakır military prison, the applicant 
made the following remarks in an interview 
with journalists:
“I support the PKK national liberationmove-
ment; on theother hand, I amnot in favour
ofmassacres.Anyonecanmakemistakes,and
the PKK killwomen and children bymistake
…”

“...PKK'nınulusalkurtuluşhareketinidestekli-
yorum. Katliamlardan yana değiliz, yanlış
şeyler her yerde olur. Kadın ve çocukları
yanlışlıklaöldürüyorlar…”

That statement was published in the national 
daily newspaper Cumhuriyet on 30 August 
1987.

C. The criminal proceedings
13. On 30 August 1987 the “press offences” depart-

ment of the Istanbul public prosecutor’s office 
began a preliminary investigation in respect 
of the applicant among others, on the ground 
that he had “defended an act punishable by 
law as a serious crime”, an offence under Arti-
cle 312 of the Criminal Code (see paragraph 31 
below). 

14. On 28 September 1987 the Istanbul public 
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prosecutor’s office ruled that there was no case 
to answer in respect of the journalists and that 
it had no jurisdiction ratione loci to deal with 
Mr Zana’s case. It sent the file to the Diyarbakır 
public prosecutor.

15. In an order of 22 October 1987 the Diyarbakır 
public prosecutor ruled that he had no juris-
diction, on the ground that the offence com-
mitted by the applicant was governed by 
Article 142 §§ 3–6 of the Criminal Code (a 
provision which makes it an offence to dissemi-
nate propaganda that is racist or calculated to 
weaken national sentiment). He forwarded the 
file to the public prosecutor at the Diyarbakır 
National Security Court.

16. On 4 November 1987 the latter likewise ruled 
that he had no jurisdiction, on the ground that 
when the applicant had made his statement to 
the journalists he was in custody in a military 
prison and therefore had military status in law. 
He forwarded the file to the Diyarbakır military 
prosecutor’s office.

17. By means of an indictment dated 19 Novem-
ber 1987, the Diyarbakır military prosecutor’s 
office instituted proceedings in the Diyarbakır 
Military Court against Mr Zana (among others) 
under Article 312 of the Criminal Code. The ap-
plicant was charged with supporting the activi-
ties of an armed organisation, the PKK, whose 
aim was to break up Turkey’s national territory.

18. At a hearing before the Diyarbakır Military 
Court on 15 December 1987 the applicant ar-
gued that the court had no jurisdiction to hear 
his case and refused to put forward a defence 
on the merits.

19. At a hearing on 1 March 1988 counsel for Mr 
Zana asked the Military Court to rule that it 
had no jurisdiction as the offence with which 
his client was charged was not a military one 
and a military prison could not be regarded as 
military premises. The court dismissed that ap-
plication on the same day.

20. On 28 July 1988 the applicant was transferred 
from Diyarbakır military prison to Eskişehir civil-
ian prison.

21. The Eskişehir Air Force Court, acting under 
powers delegated to it by the Diyarbakır Mili-
tary Court, summoned the applicant to submit 
his defence. The applicant, who was on hunger 
strike, did not appear at the hearing on 2 No-
vember 1988. He did appear at one held on 
7 December 1988 but refused to address the 

court, as he considered that it had no jurisdic-
tion to try him.

22. In a decision of 18 April 1989 the Diyarbakır 
Military Court held that it had no jurisdiction 
in the case and sent the file to the Diyarbakır 
National Security Court.

23. On 2 August 1989 Mr Zana was transferred to 
the high-security civilian prison at Aydın.

24. At a hearing held on 20 June 1990 by the Aydın 
Assize Court, acting under powers delegated 
by the Diyarbakır National Security Court, the 
applicant refused to speak Turkish and said in 
Kurdish that he wished to defend himself in 
his mother tongue. The Assize Court pointed 
out to him that, if he persisted in his refusal to 
defend himself, he would be deemed to have 
waived his right to do so. Since Mr Zana con-
tinued to speak in Kurdish, the court noted in 
the record of the hearing that he had not put 
forward a defence.

D. The judgment of the Diyarbakır National 
Security Court

25. The proceedings then continued before the 
Diyarbakır National Security Court, where the 
applicant was represented by his lawyers.

26. In a judgment of 26 March 1991 the Diyarbakır 
National Security Court sentenced the appli-
cant to twelve months’ imprisonment for hav-
ing “defended an act punishable by law as a 
serious crime” and “endangering public safety”. 
In accordance with the Act of 12 April 1991, he 
would have to serve one-fifth of the sentence 
(two months and twelve days) in custody and 
four-fifths on parole.

27. The National Security Court held that the PKK 
qualified as an “armed organisation” under Ar-
ticle 168 of the Criminal Code, that its aim was 
to bring about the secession of part of Turkey’s 
territory and that it committed acts of violence 
such as murder, kidnapping and armed rob-
bery. The court also held that Mr Zana’s state-
ment to the journalists, the exact terms of 
which had been established during the judicial 
investigation, amounted to an offence under 
Article 312 of the Criminal Code.

28. The applicant appealed on points of law on 
3 April 1991. In a judgment of 19 June 1991, 
served on the applicant’s representative on 
18 July 1991, the Court of Cassation upheld the 
National Security Court’s judgment.

29. In the meantime, on 16 April 1991, Mr Zana, 
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who had just served the sentences imposed on 
him earlier, had been released.

30. On 26 February 1992 the Diyarbakır public 
prosecutor requested the applicant to report 
to Diyarbakır Prison in order to serve his latest 
sentence – one-fifth of the prison term, for the 
remainder of which he would be on parole.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW

A. Substantive law

31. The relevant provisions of the Criminal Code at 
the material time provided:

Article 168

“It shallbeanoffencepunishablebyat least
fifteenyears’imprisonmenttoformanarmed
gangororganisationortoassumecontrolor
special responsibility within such a gang or
organisationwiththeintentionofcommitting
anyoftheoffencesreferredtoinArticles125...

Itshallbeanoffencepunishablebyfivetofif-
teenyears’imprisonmenttobelongtosuchan
organisation.”

Article 312

“It shall be an offence, punishable by six
months’ to two years’ imprisonment and a
‘heavy’[ağır]fineof6,000to30,000liraspub-
liclytopraiseordefendanactpunishableby
lawasaseriouscrimeortourgethepeopleto
disobeythelaw.

Itshallbeanoffence,punishablebyoneyear’s
tothreeyears’ imprisonmentandbyaheavy
fineof9,000to36,000 liras,publiclyto incite
hatredorhostilitybetweenthedifferentclass-
es in society, thereby creatingdiscrimination
basedonmembershipof a social class, race,
religion,sectorregion.Wheresuchincitement
endangerspublicsafety,thesentenceshallbe
increasedbyone-thirdtoone-half.

...”

B. Procedure

32. Article 226 § 4 of the Code of Criminal Proce-
dure at the material time provided: 

“Apersonincustodyinaprisonsituatedout-
sidethejurisdictionofthecourtwhichistotry
himmaybeexaminedbyothercourts.”

III. TURKEY’S DECLARATION OF 22 
JANUARY 1990 UNDER ARTICLE 46 
OF THE CONVENTION

33. On 22 January 1990 the Turkish Minister for 
Foreign Affairs deposited with the Secretary 
General of the Council of Europe the following 
declaration under Article 46 of the Convention:
“OnbehalfoftheGovernmentoftheRepub-
lic of Turkey and acting in accordance with
Article46oftheEuropeanConventionforthe
ProtectionofHumanRightsandFundamental
Freedoms,Iherebydeclareasfollows:

TheGovernmentoftheRepublicofTurkeyact-
inginaccordancewithArticle46oftheEuro-
peanConventionfortheProtectionofHuman
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, hereby
recognisesascompulsoryipsofactoandwith-
out special agreement the jurisdictionof the
European Court of Human Rights in allmat-
ters concerning the interpretationandappli-
cationof theConventionwhich relate to the
exerciseofjurisdictionwithinthemeaningof
Article1oftheConvention,performedwithin
theboundariesofthenationalterritoryofthe
RepublicofTurkey,andprovidedfurtherthat
suchmattershavepreviouslybeenexamined
by the Commission within the power con-
ferreduponitbyTurkey.

ThisDeclarationismadeonconditionofreci-
procity, including reciprocity of obligations
assumedundertheConvention. It isvalidfor
aperiodof3yearsasfromthedateofitsde-
positandextendstomattersraisedinrespect
offacts,includingjudgmentswhicharebased
on such facts which have occurred subse-
quent to the date of deposit of the present
Declaration.”

That declaration was renewed on 22 January 
1993 for a period of three years and again on 
22 January 1996, in slightly different terms, for 
two years.

PRoCEEDInGs BEFoRE 
tHE CoMMIssIon
34. Mr Zana applied to the Commission on 30 Sep-

tember 1991. Relying on Article 6 §§ 1 and 
3 and Articles 9 and 10 of the Convention, he 
complained of the length of the criminal pro-
ceedings, of an infringement of his right to a 
fair trial in that he had not been able to appear 
before the court which convicted him and had 
not been able to defend himself in his mother 
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tongue (Kurdish), and of an interference with 
his freedom of thought and expression.

35. On 21 October 1993 the Commission declared 
the application (no. 18954/91) admissible as to 
the complaints concerning the length of the 
criminal proceedings, the applicant’s absence 
from the hearing and the interference with his 
freedom of thought and expression and de-
clared it inadmissible as to the remainder. In its 
report of 10 April 1996 (Article 31), it expressed 
the opinion that

(a) there had not been a violation of Article 10 
of the Convention (fourteen votes to four-
teen, with the President’s casting vote);

(b) there had been a violation of Article 6 
§§ 1 and 3 (c) of the Convention because 
the applicant had not been present at his 
trial (unanimously);

(c) there had been a violation of Article 6 § 1 
of the Convention in that his case had not 
been heard within a reasonable time (twen-
ty-three votes to five).

The full text of the Commission’s opinion and 
of the dissenting opinion contained in the 
report is reproduced as an annex to this judg-
ment4.

FInAL sUBMIssIons to 
tHE CoURt
36. In their memorial the Government requested 

the Court 

“(a)todeclarethatithasnojurisdictionratione
temporisasregardsthecomplaintunderArti-
cle10oftheConvention;

(b) to declare that domestic remedies have
notbeendulyexhaustedasregardsthecom-
plaintsunderArticle6oftheConvention;

inthealternative,

(a) to declare that domestic remedies have
notbeendulyexhaustedasregardsthecom-
plaintsunderArticle10oftheConvention;

(b)todeclarethattherehasnotbeenabreach
as regards the complaints under Article 6 of
theConvention;and

inthefurtheralternative,

to declare that there has been no breach of
Article10oftheConvention.”

37. At the hearing, counsel for the applicant asked 
the Court to dismiss all the Government’s pre-
liminary objections and to rule that there had 
been breaches of Article 10 and Article 6 §§ 1 
and 3 (c).

As to tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
10 OF THE CONVENTION

38. Mr Zana maintained that his conviction by the 
Diyarbakır National Security Court on account 
of his statement to journalists had infringed 
his right to freedom of expression. He relied on 
Article 10 of the Convention, which provides:
“1. Everyonehas the right to freedomof ex-
pression. This right shall include freedom to
hold opinions and to receive and impart in-
formation and ideaswithout interference by
public authority and regardless of frontiers.
This Article shall not prevent States from re-
quiring the licensing of broadcasting, televi-
sionorcinemaenterprises.

2.Theexerciseofthesefreedoms,sinceitcar-
rieswithitdutiesandresponsibilities,maybe
subjecttosuchformalities,conditions,restric-
tionsorpenaltiesasareprescribedbylawand
are necessary in a democratic society, in the
interestsofnationalsecurity, territorial integ-
rityorpublicsafety,forthepreventionofdis-
orderorcrime,fortheprotectionofhealthor
morals,fortheprotectionofthereputationor
rightsofothers,forpreventingthedisclosure
of information received in confidence, or for
maintaining theauthority and impartialityof
thejudiciary.”

39. He also complained of an interference with his 
right to freedom of thought, guaranteed by 
Article 9 of the Convention. Like the Commis-
sion, the Court considers that this complaint is 
bound up with the one made under Article 10.

A. The Government’s preliminary objections
40. The Government raised two preliminary objec-

tions, one based on lack of jurisdiction ratione 
temporis and the other on failure to exhaust 
domestic remedies.

1.Lackofjurisdictionrationetemporis
41. The Government maintained, as their primary 

submission, that the Court had no jurisdiction 
ratione temporis to entertain the applicant’s 
complaint under Article 10 of the Convention, 
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given that the principal fact lay in the appli-
cant’s declaration to journalists in August 1987 
(see paragraph 12 above), that is to say before 
Turkey recognised the compulsory jurisdic-
tion of the Court. When, on 22 January 1990, 
Turkey had recognised the Court’s compul-
sory jurisdiction in “matters raised in respect of 
facts, including judgments which are based on 
such facts which have occurred subsequent to” 
that date, its intention had been, they said, to 
remove from the ambit of the Court’s review 
events that had taken place before the date on 
which the declaration made under Article 46 of 
the Convention was deposited and also judg-
ments relating to such facts even if they had 
been delivered after that date.

42. The Court points out that Turkey accepted its 
jurisdiction only in respect of facts and events 
subsequent to 22 January 1990, when it depos-
ited its declaration (see paragraph 33 above). In 
the instant case, however, the Court considers, 
like the Delegate of the Commission, that the 
principal fact lay not in Mr Zana’s statement 
to the journalists but in the Diyarbakır Na-
tional Security Court’s judgment of 26 March 
1991, whereby the applicant was sentenced 
to twelve months’ imprisonment for having 
“defended an act punishable by law as a seri-
ous crime” under Turkish legislation (see para-
graph 26 above), a judgment that was upheld 
by the Court of Cassation on 26 June 1991 (see 
paragraph 28 above). It was that conviction 
and sentence, subsequent to Turkey’s recog-
nition of the Court’s compulsory jurisdiction, 
which constituted the “interference” within the 
meaning of Article 10 of the Convention and 
whose justification under that Article the Court 
must determine. This preliminary objection 
must accordingly be dismissed.

The question whether the Government should, 
in the light of their reference of the case to the 
Court (see paragraph 1 above), be regarded 
as estopped from relying on the terms of the 
declaration of 22 January 1990 to exclude this 
complaint on grounds of incompetence ra-
tione temporis was not raised before the Court 
and the Court does not consider it necessary, in 
the circumstances, to determine that question.

2.Failuretoexhaustdomesticremedies
43. In the alternative, the Government pleaded 

failure to exhaust domestic remedies. Mr Zana, 
they said, had omitted to raise in substance his 
complaint under Article 10 of the Convention 
in the Turkish courts.

44. Like the Delegate of the Commission, the Court 
notes that this objection was not raised when 
the admissibility of the application was being 
considered and that there is therefore an es-
toppel.

B. Merits of the complaint
45. As the Court has already pointed out (see para-

graph 42 above), the applicant’s conviction 
and sentence by the Turkish courts for remarks 
made to journalists indisputably amounted to 
an “interference” with his exercise of his free-
dom of expression. This point was, indeed, not 
contested.

46. The interference contravened Article 10 unless 
it was “prescribed by law”, had one or more of 
the legitimate aims referred to in paragraph 2 
of Article 10 and was “necessary in a democrat-
ic society” for achieving such an aim or aims.

1.“Prescribedbylaw”
47. The Court notes that the applicant’s convic-

tion and sentence were based on Articles 
168 and 312 of the Turkish Criminal Code (see 
paragraph 31 above) and accordingly consid-
ers that the impugned interference was “pre-
scribed by law”. This point was likewise undis-
puted. 

2.Legitimacyoftheaimspursued
48. The Government maintained that the interfer-

ence had pursued legitimate aims, namely the 
maintenance of national security and public 
safety, the preservation of territorial integrity 
and the prevention of crime. As the PKK was an 
illegal terrorist organisation, the application of 
Article 312 of the Turkish Criminal Code by the 
national courts in the case had had the aim of 
punishing any act calculated to afford support 
to that type of organisation.

49. In the Commission’s view, such a statement 
from a person with some political standing – 
the applicant is a former mayor of Diyarbakır – 
could reasonably lead the national authorities 
to fear a stepping up of terrorist activities in the 
country. The authorities had therefore been 
entitled to consider that there was a threat to 
national security and public safety and that 
measures were necessary to preserve the 
country’s territorial integrity and prevent crime.

50. The Court notes that in the interview he gave 
the journalists the applicant indicated that he 
supported “the PKK national liberation move-
ment” (see paragraph 12 above) and, as the 
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Commission noted, the applicant’s statement 
coincided with the murders of civilians by PKK 
militants.

That being so, it considers that at a time when 
serious disturbances were raging in south-east 
Turkey (see paragraphs 10 and 11 above) such 
a statement – coming from a political figure 
well known in the region – could have an im-
pact such as to justify the national authorities’ 
taking a measure designed to maintain nation-
al security and public safety. The interference 
complained of therefore pursued legitimate 
aims under Article 10 § 2.

3.Necessityoftheinterference
(a)  General principles

51. The Court reiterates the fundamental princi-
ples which emerge from its judgments relating 
to Article 10:

(i) Freedom of expression constitutes one of 
the essential foundations of a democratic 
society and one of the basic conditions 
for its progress and for each individual’s 
self-fulfilment. Subject to paragraph 2, 
it is applicable not only to “information” 
or “ideas” that are favourably received or 
regarded as inoffensive or as a matter of 
indifference, but also to those that offend, 
shock or disturb. Such are the demands of 
that pluralism, tolerance and broadmind-
edness without which there is no “demo-
cratic society”. As set forth in Article 10, this 
freedom is subject to exceptions, which 
must, however, be construed strictly, and 
the need for any restrictions must be es-
tablished convincingly (see the following 
judgments: Handyside v. the United King-
dom, 7 December 1976, Series A no. 24, p. 
23, § 49; Lingens v. Austria, 8 July 1986, 
Series A no. 103, p. 26, § 41; and Jersild 
v. Denmark, 23 September1994, Series A 
no. 298, p. 26, § 37). 

(ii) The adjective “necessary”, within the 
meaning of Article 10 § 2, implies the 
existence of a “pressing social need”. The 
Contracting States have a certain margin 
of appreciation in assessing whether such 
a need exists, but it goes hand in hand with 
European supervision, embracing both the 
legislation and the decisions applying it, 
even those given by an independent court. 
The Court is therefore empowered to give 
the final ruling on whether a “restriction” 
is reconcilable with freedom of expression 

as protected by Article 10 (see the Lingens 
judgment cited above, p. 25, § 39).

(iii) In exercising its supervisory jurisdiction, 
the Court must look at the impugned inter-
ference in the light of the case as a whole, 
including the content of the remarks held 
against the applicant and the context in 
which he made them. In particular, it must 
determine whether the interference in is-
sue was “proportionate to the legitimate 
aims pursued” and whether the reasons 
adduced by the national authorities to jus-
tify it are “relevant and sufficient” (see the 
Lingens judgment cited above, pp. 25–26, 
§ 40; and the Barfod v. Denmark judg-
ment of 22 February 1989, Series A no. 149, 
p. 12, § 28). In doing so, the Court has to 
satisfy itself that the national authorities 
applied standards which were in con-
formity with the principles embodied in 
Article 10 and, moreover, that they based 
themselves on an acceptable assessment 
of the relevant facts (see the Jersild judg-
ment cited above, p. 26, § 31).

(b)  Application of the above principles to the in-
stant case

52. Mr Zana submitted that his conviction and sen-
tence were wholly unjustified. An activist in the 
Kurdish cause since the 1960s, he had always 
spoken out against violence. In maintaining 
that he was supporting the PKK’s armed strug-
gle, the Government had, he argued, misinter-
preted what he had said. In reality he had told 
the journalists that he supported the national 
liberation movement but was opposed to vio-
lence, and he had condemned the massacres 
of women and children. At all events, he was 
not a member of the PKK and had been impris-
oned for belonging to the “Path of Freedom” 
organisation, which had always advocated 
non-violent action.

53. The Government, on the other hand, main-
tained that the applicant’s conviction and 
sentence were perfectly justified under para-
graph 2 of Article 10. They emphasised the 
seriousness of what the applicant had said at 
a time when the PKK had carried out a number 
of murderous attacks in south-east Turkey. In 
their submission, a State faced with a terrorist 
situation that threatened its territorial integrity 
had to have a wider margin of appreciation 
than it would have if the situation in question 
had consequences only for individuals.

54. The Commission accepted the Government’s 
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views for the most part and expressed the 
opinion that there had been no violation of 
Article 10.

55. The Court considers that the principles set out 
in paragraph 51 above also apply to measures 
taken by national authorities to maintain na-
tional security and public safety as part of the 
fight against terrorism. In this connection, it 
must, with due regard to the circumstances 
of each case and a State’s margin of apprecia-
tion, ascertain whether a fair balance has been 
struck between the individual’s fundamental 
right to freedom of expression and a demo-
cratic society’s legitimate right to protect itself 
against the activities of terrorist organisations.

56. In the instant case the Court must consequent-
ly assess whether Mr Zana’s conviction and 
sentence answered a “pressing social need” 
and whether they were “proportionate to the 
legitimate aims pursued”. To that end, it con-
siders it important to analyse the content of 
the applicant’s remarks in the light of the situa-
tion prevailing in south-east Turkey at the time.

57. The Court takes as a basis the applicant’s state-
ment as published in the national daily news-
paper Cumhuriyet on 30 August 1987 (see 
paragraph 12 above), which the applicant did 
not contest in substance. The statement com-
prises two sentences. In the first of these the 
applicant expresses his support for the “PKK 
national liberation movement”, while going on 
to say that he is not “in favour of massacres”. 
In the second he says “Anyone can make mis-
takes, and the PKK kill women and children by 
mistake.”

58. Those words could be interpreted in several 
ways but, at all events, they are both contra-
dictory and ambiguous. They are contradictory 
because it would seem difficult simultaneously 
to support the PKK, a terrorist organisation 
which resorts to violence to achieve its ends, 
and to declare oneself opposed to massacres; 
they are ambiguous because whilst Mr Zana 
disapproves of the massacres of women and 
children, he at the same time describes them 
as “mistakes” that anybody could make.

59. The statement cannot, however, be looked at 
in isolation. It had a special significance in the 
circumstances of the case, as the applicant 
must have realised. As the Court noted earlier 
(see paragraph 50 above), the interview coin-
cided with murderous attacks carried out by 
the PKK on civilians in south-east Turkey, where 
there was extreme tension at the material time. 

60. In those circumstances the support given to the 
PKK – described as a “national liberation move-
ment” – by the former mayor of Diyarbakır, 
the most important city in south-east Turkey, 
in an interview published in a major national 
daily newspaper, had to be regarded as likely 
to exacerbate an already explosive situation in 
that region.

61. The Court accordingly considers that the pen-
alty imposed on the applicant could reason-
ably be regarded as answering a “pressing 
social need” and that the reasons adduced by 
the national authorities are “relevant and suf-
ficient”; at all events, the applicant served only 
one-fifth of his sentence in prison (see para-
graph 26 above).

62. Having regard to all these factors and to the 
margin of appreciation which national authori-
ties have in such a case, the Court considers 
that the interference in issue was proportion-
ate to the legitimate aims pursued. There has 
consequently been no breach of Article 10 of 
the Convention.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
6 OF THE CONVENTION

63. Mr Zana complained of an infringement of the 
principle of a fair trial as he had been unable 
to appear at the hearing before the Diyarbakır 
National Security Court, and also of the length 
of the criminal proceedings against him. He re-
lied on Article 6 §§ 1 and 3 of the Convention, 
which provide:
“1. In the determination of … any criminal
chargeagainsthim,everyone isentitled toa
fair…hearingwithinareasonabletimeby[a]
…tribunal…

…

3. Everyone chargedwith a criminal offence
hasthefollowingminimumrights:

…

(c)todefendhimselfinperson…”

A. The Government’s preliminary objection
64. The Government pleaded, as their principal 

submission, failure to exhaust domestic rem-
edies. The applicant, they said, had omitted to 
raise in substance his complaints under Arti-
cle 6 §§ 1 and 3 in the Turkish courts.

65. Like the Delegate of the Commission, the Court 
notes that this objection was not raised when 
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the application’s admissibility was considered 
and that there is therefore an estoppel.

B. Merits of the complaints
1.Article6§§1and3(c)oftheConvention

(fairtrial)
66. Mr Zana submitted that his absence from the 

hearing at the National Security Court had pre-
vented him from defending himself effectively. 
Had he been present, he would have been able 
to explain to the judges what his intentions 
had been when he had made his statement to 
the journalists.

67. The Government maintained that the appli-
cant had several times appeared before courts 
acting under delegated powers, as provided 
in Article 226 § 4 of the Code of Criminal Pro-
cedure (see paragraph 32 above). In doing no 
more than raise objections to jurisdiction and 
in refusing to speak Turkish at those different 
hearings, Mr Zana had deliberately waived 
his right to defend himself on the merits. Fur-
thermore, the presence of his lawyers at the 
hearing before the Diyarbakır National Security 
Court had been sufficient to satisfy the require-
ments of Article 6 § 3 (c).

68. The Court reiterates that the object and pur-
pose of Article 6 of the Convention taken as a 
whole show that a person charged with a crim-
inal offence is entitled to take part in the hear-
ing. Moreover, sub-paragraphs (c) and (d) of 
paragraph 3 guarantee to “everyone charged 
with a criminal offence” the right “to defend 
himself in person” and “to examine or have 
examined witnesses”, and it is difficult to see 
how these rights could be exercised without 
the person concerned being present (see the 
Colozza v. Italy judgment of 12 February 1985, 
Series A no. 89, p. 14, § 27; and the Monnell 
and Morris v. the United Kingdom judgment 
of 2 March 1987, Series A no. 115, p. 22, § 58).

69. In the instant case the Court notes that Mr Zana 
was not requested to attend the hearing before 
the Diyarbakır National Security Court, which 
sentenced him to a twelve-month prison term 
(see paragraph 26 above). In accordance with 
Article 226 § 4 of the Code of Criminal Proce-
dure, the Aydın Assize Court had been asked 
to take evidence from him in his defence, un-
der powers delegated by the National Security 
Court (see paragraphs 24 and 32 above). 

70. Contrary to the Government’s contention, 
the fact that the applicant raised procedural 

objections or wished to address the court in 
Kurdish, as he did at the hearing in the Aydın 
Assize Court, in no way signifies that he implic-
itly waived his right to defend himself and to 
appear before the Diyarbakır National Security 
Court. Waiver of the exercise of a right guaran-
teed by the Convention must be established in 
an unequivocal manner (see the Colozza judg-
ment cited above, p. 14, § 28).

71. In view of what was at stake for Mr Zana, who 
had been sentenced to twelve months’ impris-
onment, the National Security Court could not, 
if the trial was to be fair, give judgment with-
out a direct assessment of the applicant’s evi-
dence given in person (see, mutatis mutandis, 
the Botten v. Norway judgment of 19 February 
1996, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 
1996-I, p. 145, § 53). If the applicant had been 
present at the hearing, he would have had an 
opportunity, in particular, to say what his inten-
tions had been when he had made his state-
ment and in what circumstances the interview 
had taken place, to summon journalists as wit-
nesses or to seek production of the recording.

72. Neither the “indirect” hearing by the Aydın As-
size Court nor the presence of the applicant’s 
lawyers at the hearing before the Diyarbakır 
National Security Court can compensate for 
the absence of the accused.

73. The Court accordingly considers, as the Com-
mission did, that such an interference with the 
rights of the defence cannot be justified, re-
gard being had to the prominent place held in 
a democratic society by the right to a fair trial 
within the meaning of the Convention. 

There has consequently been a breach of Arti-
cle 6 §§ 1 and 3 (c) of the Convention.

2.Article6§1oftheConvention(lengthof
theproceedings)

(a)  Period to be taken into consideration

74. The proceedings began on 30 August 1987, 
when the preliminary investigation in respect 
of the applicant was begun (see paragraph 13 
above), and ended on 18 July 1991, when the 
Court of Cassation’s judgment was served (see 
paragraph 28 above). They therefore lasted for 
almost three years and eleven months.

However, the Court can take cognisance of the 
complaint relating to the length of the criminal 
proceedings only from 22 January 1990, when 
the declaration whereby Turkey recognised the 
Court’s compulsory jurisdiction was deposited 
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(see paragraph 33 above). It must nevertheless 
take account of the state of the proceedings at 
the time when the aforementioned declaration 
was deposited (see, as the most recent author-
ity, the Mitap and Müftüoğlü v. Turkey judg-
ment of 25 March 1996, Reports 1996-II, p. 410, 
§ 28). On the critical date the proceedings had 
already lasted two years and five months.

(b)  Reasonableness of the length of the proceed-
ings

75. The reasonableness of the length of proceed-
ings is to be assessed in the light of the cir-
cumstances of the case, regard being had to 
the criteria laid down in the Court’s case-law, 
in particular the complexity of the case and the 
conduct of the applicant and of the relevant 
authorities. It is also necessary to take account 
of what is at stake for the applicant in the litiga-
tion (see the Philis v. Greece (no. 2) judgment of 
27 June 1997, Reports 1997-IV, p. 1083, § 35).

76. In Mr Zana’s submission, the case had not 
been complex and the excessive length of the 
criminal proceedings had been due solely to 
the conduct of the judicial authorities: his case 
had been transferred from the civil courts to 
the National Security Court, then to the Mili-
tary Court and finally back to the National Se-
curity Court, going from Istanbul to Diyarbakır, 
then to Eskişehir and Aydın and finally back to 
Diyarbakır.

77. The Government underlined the issues of juris-
diction ratione loci and ratione materiae which 
the national courts had had to determine in 
that the applicant had made his statement in 
Diyarbakır military prison and it had appeared 
in a daily newspaper published in Istanbul. Fur-
thermore, the attempts to find a co-defendant 
on the run and the conduct of Mr Zana and 
his lawyers had contributed to prolonging the 
proceedings in question. Lastly, the Court of 
Cassation’s judgment had been delivered two 
years and two months after the Diyarbakır Mili-
tary Court’s decision that it had no jurisdiction.

78. The Court considers, as the Commission did, 
that the proceedings complained of were not 
particularly complex, the facts of the case be-
ing straightforward, notwithstanding the is-
sues of jurisdiction that could arise.

79. As to the applicant’s conduct, the Court reiter-
ates that Article 6 does not require a person 
charged with a criminal offence to cooper-
ate actively with the judicial authorities (see, 
among other authorities, the Yağcı and Sargın 

v. Turkey judgment of 8 June 1995, Series A 
no. 319-A, p. 21, § 66). It considers, like the 
Commission, that the applicant’s conduct, 
even if it may to some extent have slowed 
down the proceedings, cannot, on its own, ex-
plain such a length of time.

80. The Court also notes that between 22 January 
1990, when the declaration whereby Turkey 
recognised the Court’s compulsory jurisdic-
tion was deposited (see paragraph 33 above), 
and 18 July 1991, when the Court of Cassa-
tion’s judgment was served (see paragraph 28 
above), one year and six months elapsed. 
In that period the Diyarbakır National Secu-
rity Court did not deliver its judgment until 
26 March 1991 (see paragraph 26 above), that 
it is to say nine months after the hearing of 
20 June 1990 at the Aydın Assize Court (see 
paragraph 24 above), during which the appli-
cant had refused to speak Turkish.

81. The Commission also noted a period of inac-
tivity attributable to the judicial authorities 
between the hearing before the Diyarbakır 
Military Court on 15 December 1987 (see para-
graph 18 above), during which the applicant 
raised an objection to that court’s jurisdiction, 
and the Military Court’s decision of 18 April 
1989 in which the court declared it had no ju-
risdiction (see paragraph 22 above).

82. Even if this latter period does not, strictly 
speaking, come within the Court’s jurisdiction 
ratione temporis, it may nonetheless be taken 
into account in assessing whether the “reason-
able time” requirement was satisfied.

83. The Court reiterates in this connection that 
Article 6 § 1 of the Convention guarantees to 
everyone against whom criminal proceedings 
are brought the right to a final decision within 
a reasonable time on the charge against him. 
It is for the Contracting States to organise their 
legal systems in such a way that their courts 
can meet this requirement (see, among many 
other authorities, the Mansur v. Turkey judg-
ment of 8 June 1995, Series A no. 319-B, p. 53, 
§ 68).

84. Lastly, what was at stake in the case was im-
portant to the applicant as he was already in 
custody when he made his statement to the 
journalists and was sentenced to a further term 
of imprisonment by the Diyarbakır National Se-
curity Court (see paragraph 26 above).

85. In the light of all the circumstances of the case, 
the Court cannot regard the length of the pro-
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ceedings complained of as reasonable. 

There has consequently been a violation of Ar-
ticle 6 § 1 of the Convention in this respect.

III. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 50 OF 
THE CONVENTION

86. Article 50 of the Convention provides:
“IftheCourtfindsthatadecisionorameasure
takenbyalegalauthorityoranyotherauthor-
ityofaHighContractingPartyiscompletelyor
partiallyinconflictwiththeobligationsarising
fromthe...Convention,andiftheinternallaw
ofthesaidPartyallowsonlypartialreparation
tobemade for theconsequencesof thisde-
cision ormeasure, the decision of the Court
shall, if necessary, afford just satisfaction to
theinjuredparty.”

A. Damage
87. Mr Zana sought 250,000 French francs (FRF) for 

pecuniary damage and FRF 1,000,000 for non-
pecuniary damage. He pointed to the ill-treat-
ment he had allegedly sustained during his 
unlawful detention, the after-effects of which 
he was still suffering; the excessive length 
of the criminal proceedings had, moreover, 
prevented him from being given concurrent 
sentences, as provided in Law no. 3713 on the 
prevention of terrorism.

88. Referring to their preliminary objections and to 
their observations on the merits, the Govern-
ment requested the Court, as their main sub-
mission, to dismiss the claim. In the alternative, 
they maintained that any finding of a breach 
would constitute sufficient just satisfaction; in 
the further alternative, there was no causal link 
between any violation of the Convention and 
the alleged damage.

89. The Delegate of the Commission was in favour 
of awarding the applicant, if a breach of Arti-
cle 6 was found, compensation in the amount 
of FRF 40,000, half of it in respect of the appli-
cant’s absence from his trial and the other half 
in respect of the excessive length of the pro-
ceedings.

90. As regards pecuniary damage, the Court con-
siders that there is no causal link between the 
breaches found of Article 6 and the alleged 
damage. It does, on the other hand, consider 
that Mr Zana sustained indisputable non-
pecuniary damage, for which the findings of 
breaches in paragraphs 73 and 85 above can-

not compensate on their own. Making its as-
sessment on an equitable basis, it awards him 
the sum of FRF 40,000 under this head, to be 
converted into Turkish liras at the rate applica-
ble at the date of settlement.

B. Costs and fees
91. The applicant also sought reimbursement of 

the costs incurred and fees paid for his defence 
in Turkey and before the Convention institu-
tions, which he estimated at FRF 142,000 in all.

92. In the Government’s submission, the amounts 
claimed were excessive and unjustified.

93. The Delegate of the Commission proposed 
awarding FRF 30,000 for lawyers’ fees and al-
lowing reimbursement of the costs to the ex-
tent that they appeared justified.

94. On the basis of its case-law and the informa-
tion in its possession, the Court decides on an 
equitable basis to award Mr Zana the sum of 
FRF 30,000 to be converted into Turkish liras at 
the rate applicable at the date of settlement, 
less the sum of FRF 20,980 received from the 
Council of Europe in legal aid.

C. Default interest
95. The Court deems it appropriate to adopt the 

statutory rate applicable in France at the date 
of adoption of the present judgment, which is 
3.87% per annum.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT

1. Dismisses by eighteen votes to two the ob-
jection to jurisdiction ratione temporis as re-
gards the complaint under Article 10 of the 
Convention;

2. Dismisses unanimously the objection of fail-
ure to exhaust domestic remedies as regards 
the complaint under Article 10 of the Conven-
tion;

3. Holds by twelve votes to eight that there has 
not been a breach of Article 10 of the Conven-
tion;

4. Dismisses unanimously the objection of fail-
ure to exhaust domestic remedies as regards 
the complaints under Article 6 of the Conven-
tion;

5. Holds by seventeen votes to three that there 
has been a breach of Article 6 §§ 1 and 3 (c) 
of the Convention on account of the appli-
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cant’s absence from his trial;

6. Holds by nineteen votes to one that there has 
been a breach of Article 6 § 1 of the Conven-
tion on account of the length of the criminal 
proceedings;

7. Holds by eighteen votes to two that the re-
spondent State is to pay the applicant, within 
three months, 40,000 (forty thousand) french 
francs in respect of non-pecuniary damage, to 
be converted into Turkish liras at the rate ap-
plicable at the date of settlement;

8. Holds by nineteen votes to one that the re-
spondent State is to pay the applicant, within 
three months, 30,000 (thirty thousand) french 
francs, less 20,980 (twenty thousand nine 
hundred and eighty) french francs, already re-
ceived in legal aid, for costs and lawyers’ fees, 
to be converted into Turkish liras at the rate 
applicable at the date of settlement;

9. Holds by nineteen votes to one that simple 
interest at an annual rate of 3.87% shall be 
payable on those sums from the expiry of the 
above-mentioned three months until settle-
ment;

10. Dismisses unanimously the remainder of the 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 25 November 1997.

Rudolf Bernhardt, Vice-President
Herbert Petzold, Registrar

In accordance with Article 51 § 2 of the Conven-
tion and Rule 53 § 2 of Rules of Court A, the fol-
lowing separate opinions are annexed to this judg-
ment:

(a) partly dissenting opinion of Mr Matscher, 
joined by Mr Gölcüklü;

(b) partly dissenting opinion of Mr Lopes 
Rocha;

(c) partly dissenting opinion of Mr van Dijk, 
joined by Mrs Palm, Mr Loizou, Mr Mifsud 
Bonnici, Mr Jambrek, Mr Kūris and Mr Levits;

(d) dissenting opinion of Mr Thór Vilhjálmsson;

(e) dissenting opinion of Mr Gölcüklü.

PARtLY DIssEntInG 
oPInIon oF JUDGE 
MAtsCHER, JoInED BY 
JUDGE GÖLCÜKLÜ
(Translation)

In my view, the wording of the relevant part of Tur-
key’s declaration of 22 January 1990 under Article 
46 of the Convention which says:

“ThisDeclaration…extendstomattersraised
inrespectoffacts,includingjudgmentswhich
arebasedonsuchfactswhichhaveoccurred
subsequenttothedateofdepositofthepre-
sentDeclaration.”

is clear and its interpretation should not give rise 
to controversy. According to all the generally rec-
ognised rules of interpretation, the meaning of the 
text can only be the one given it by the respondent 
State’s Government.

I accept that this reservation ratione temporis is 
somewhat unusual. It might also be asked whether 
it is to be regarded as valid, in view of its broad, 
general nature, but it cannot be denied that the 
text in itself is clear.

In the instant case the fact to which the text refers 
was the statement made by the applicant in Au-
gust 1987, a few days before court proceedings 
were brought against him, on 30 August 1987. That 
being so, I consider it artificial and, accordingly, un-
sustainable to state (see paragraph 42 of the judg-
ment) that “the principal fact” lay in the Diyarbakır 
National Security Court’s judgment of 26 March 
1991.

It follows that the complaints under Article 6 §§ 
1 and 3 (c) (fair trial) and Article 10 fall outside the 
Court’s jurisdiction ratione temporis.

PARtLY DIssEntInG 
oPInIon oF 
JUDGE LoPEs RoCHA
(Translation)

I agree with all the conclusions of the majority of 
the Court, except for the finding of a breach of Ar-
ticle 6 §§ 1 and 3 (c) of the Convention. Primarily 
for reasons of consistency. 

The Court holds, very properly, that there has been 
no breach of Article 10 of the Convention. In or-
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der to reach that conclusion the Court relied on 
a whole series of reasons, in particular ones relat-
ing to the content of Mr Zana’s statement to the 
journalists from the daily newspaper Cumhuriyet, 
pointing out that this statement had a special sig-
nificance in the circumstances of the case, as the 
applicant must have realised, and that the inter-
view coincided with murderous attacks carried out 
by the PKK on civilians in south-east Turkey, where 
there was extreme tension at the material time.

The Court also considers that the penalty imposed 
on the applicant could reasonably regarded as 
answering a “pressing social need” and that the 
reasons adduced by the national authorities are 
“relevant and sufficient”, especially as the applicant 
served only one-fifth of his sentence in prison.

Lastly, the Court, having regard to all these factors 
and to the margin of appreciation which national 
authorities have in such a case, considers that the 
interference in issue was proportionate to the le-
gitimate aims pursued.

That said, I have difficulty in understanding why the 
Court has ruled that there has been a breach of Ar-
ticle 6 § 3 (c) of the Convention on the basis of Mr 
Zana’s absence from the hearing of the Diyarbakır 
National Security Court, at which he could have 
said what his intentions had been when he had 
made his statement and in what circumstances the 
interview had taken place and summoned journal-
ists as witnesses.

Logically, therefore, the Court should have taken 
the view that the applicant’s “intentions” and the 
“evidence” of the journalists were indispensable for 
a just decision from the point of view of analysing 
the issue of a possible violation of Article 10 of the 
Convention.

The Court has decided, however, that in the cir-
cumstances of the case the content alone of the 
statement is sufficient to justify the interference in 
the light of paragraph 2 of Article 10.

Furthermore, there is nothing to show that it was 
impossible for the applicant to explain, at his hear-
ing before the Aydın Assize Court, which is a judicial 
body, the true intentions underlying his statement 
to the journalists and to indicate those journalists as 
witnesses for the defence.

Besides, looking at the whole of the proceedings, 
before the various courts, I am not persuaded that 
he was deprived of the opportunity of defending 
himself in person. 

The fact that the Security Court asked for him to be 
“examined” by the Aydın Assize Court, acting under 

delegated powers in accordance with Article 226 § 
4 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, does not seem 
to me a decisive argument for concluding that 
there was no right to a fair trial within the meaning 
of Article 6 of the Convention.

As to a tribunal belonging to the Turkish court sys-
tem, I do not see that the applicant was deprived 
of the right of everyone charged with a criminal of-
fence to be tried by an independent and impartial 
tribunal established by law, before which he could 
defend himself in person, and to indicate defence 
witnesses and also seek to have them called before 
the National Security Court.

For these reasons I consider that there are no 
grounds for finding that there has been a breach of 
Article 6 §§ 1 and 3 (c) of the Convention.

PARtLY DIssEntInG 
oPInIon oF JUDGE 
VAn DIJK, JoInED BY 
JUDGEs PALM, LoIZoU, 
MIFsUD BonnICI, 
JAMBREK, KūRIs AnD 
LEVIts
I fully endorse the reasoning and conclusions of the 
majority concerning the jurisdiction of the Court ra-
tione temporis and concerning the Government's 
being estopped from raising the objection of non-
exhaustion of domestic remedies. I am equally in 
agreement with the majority that Article 6 of the 
Convention has been violated in this case on ac-
count both of the applicant's absence from his 
trial and of the length of the criminal proceedings. 
However, I do not find it possible to join the major-
ity in concluding that there has not been a breach 
of Article 10 of the Convention.

In the judgment, the majority summarise the three 
fundamental principles which the Court has ap-
plied so far when determining whether interfer-
ences with freedom of expression were necessary 
in a democratic society (see paragraph 51 of the 
judgment). In my opinion, however, there are no 
solid grounds for concluding, as the majority do 
after applying those principles to the instant case, 
that here the interference was necessary, and in 
particular was proportionate to the aim of main-
taining national security and public safety.

Even if one accepts – and in view of the circum-
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ways spoken out against violence and referred 
to having been imprisoned for belonging to 
the “Path of Freedom” organisation, which had 
always advocated non-violent action (see par-
agraph 52 of the judgment). This claim by the 
applicant as to the content of his statement 
and the personal background against which it 
had to be interpreted, was not dealt with by 
the Government or discussed by the majority 
in the judgment. 

(iv) I have to grant the majority that the applicant's 
statement as recorded in Cumhuriyet is partly 
contradictory and ambiguous (see paragraph 
58 of the judgment). However – and this is my 
main point of disagreement with the major-
ity – the Court should have taken into consid-
eration that the Turkish court which ultimately 
examined the charges against the applicant 
and convicted and sentenced him did not 
offer him any opportunity to explain what he 
had actually said and had meant to say and 
against what background the statement had 
to be interpreted. Indeed, when discussing the 
alleged violation of Article 6 §§ 1 and 3, the 
Court makes the following observation: “If the 
applicant had been present at the hearing, he 
would have had an opportunity, in particular, 
to say what his intention had been when he 
made his statement and in what circumstanc-
es the interview had taken place, to summon 
journalists as witnesses or to seek production 
of the recording” (see paragraph 71 of the 
judgment). If the Court deems the fact that this 
opportunity was withheld from the applicant 
relevant to its examination under Article 6, why 
did it not also take that fact into consideration 
when looking at the content and context of 
the statement in order to determine the pro-
portionality of the interference?

(v) Finally, the statement having been made by 
“the former mayor of Diyarbakır, the most im-
portant city in south-east Turkey” (see para-
graph 60 of the judgment), the Court should, 
in order to determine the possible effect the 
statement might have had in the “already ex-
plosive situation in that region” (ibid.), have 
expressly indicated what weight it attached to 
the fact that the interview was with a former 
mayor who, moreover, was in prison at the rel-
evant time.

stances prevailing in south-east Turkey at the 
relevant time I am prepared to do so – that the 
maintenance of national security and public safety 
constituted a legitimate aim for the purpose of tak-
ing measures in respect of the statement made by 
the applicant, his conviction and twelve-month 
prison sentence for making that statement cannot, 
in my opinion, be held to be proportionate to those 
aims, considering the content of the statement. If 
the Government were of the opinion that the state-
ment constituted a threat to national security and 
public safety, they could have taken more effective 
and less intrusive measures to prevent or restrict 
such harm. The fact that the applicant had to serve 
only one-fifth of his sentence in prison does not suf-
fice to convert me to a different view, since I would 
also find a sentence of two months’ imprisonment 
disproportionate in the circumstances of the case.

I base my opinion mainly on the following consid-
erations, which are largely to be found in the judg-
ment also:

(i) Freedom of expression constitutes one of the 
essential foundations of a democratic society 
(see paragraph 51 of the judgment). Although 
relying on the situation in south-east Turkey 
at the moment when the applicant made his 
statement, the Government did not claim that 
the statement was not made in a democratic 
society and that it deserved less protection on 
that account.

(ii) Article 10 also applies to information or ideas 
that offend, shock or disturb (see paragraph 
51 of the judgment). The mere fact that in his 
statement the applicant indicated support for 
a political organisation whose aims and means 
the Government reject and combat cannot, 
therefore, be a sufficient reason for prosecut-
ing and sentencing him.

(iii) In assessing whether the interference was nec-
essary, the Court must take into consideration 
the content of the remarks held against the 
applicant and the context in which he made 
them (see paragraph 51 of the judgment). In 
his statement the applicant expresses support 
for the PKK but at the same time dissociates 
himself to some extent from the violence used 
by the PKK. According to the applicant, he was 
misinterpreted by the Government and had in 
reality told the journalists that he was opposed 
to violence. He claimed that, as an activist in 
the Kurdish cause since the 1960s, he had al-
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These considerations lead me to the conclusion 
that the interference with the applicant’s freedom 
of expression was not proportionate and amount-
ed to a breach of Article 10. I therefore do not find 
it possible to concur with the majority in this part 
of the judgment.

DIssEntInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE tHóR 
VILHJáLMsson
In August 1987 the newspaper Cumhuriyet, which 
is published in Istanbul, printed the following re-
marks made by the applicant to journalists who vis-
ited him in prison in Diyarbakır in south-east Turkey:

“I support the PKK national liberationmove-
ment; on theother hand, I amnot in favour
ofmassacres.Anyonecanmakemistakes,and
the PKK killwomen and children bymistake
…”

The plain meaning of these words is that the appli-
cant has the same opinion as the PKK on the ques-
tion of the status of the territory where Kurds live in 
Turkey but he disapproves of the methods used by 
this organisation. I have to believe that this public 
statement is in breach of Turkish law. However, I do 
not see how these words, published in a newspa-
per in Istanbul, can be taken as a danger to national 
security or public safety or territorial integrity, let 
alone that they endorse criminal activities.

Accordingly, I am of the opinion that the restric-
tions and the penalty imposed did not pursue a 
legitimate aim and were not necessary in a demo-
cratic society.

I have therefore found a violation of Article 10 of 
the Convention.

DIssEntInG oPInIon oF 
JUDGE GÖLCÜKLÜ
(Translation)

As I have joined Mr Matscher’s dissenting opinion 
concerning the validity of the limitation of the 
Court’s jurisdiction ratione temporis, it is unneces-
sary for me to consider the case under Article 6 §§ 
1 and 3 (c), but I would like all the same to empha-
sise certain relevant facts.

Thus, if the way the case proceeded is looked 
at, it can be seen that at the hearing before the 
Diyarbakır Military Court on 15 December 1987 the 

applicant refused to put forward a defence.

At the hearing on 1 March 1988 the applicant did 
not defend himself.

At the hearing on 2 November 1988 the applicant 
did not appear, because he was on hunger strike.

At the hearing on 7 December 1988 he appeared 
but refused to address the court.

At the hearing at Aydın Assize Court on 20 June 
1990 the applicant refused to speak Turkish and 
insisted on addressing the court in his mother 
tongue, Kurdish (see paragraphs 18 et seq. of the 
judgment).

In those circumstances, can it be argued that the 
applicant was deprived of the opportunity of de-
fending himself in person?

1. This summary by the registry does not bind the 
Court.
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ARTICLE 15, TERRORISM, LIFE OF A NATION, THREAT, 
PUBLIC INTEREST, PUBLIC SAFETY, SECURITY, RESTRICT-
ING FREEDOMS, DEMOCRACY

IN THE CASE Of A. AND OTHERS v. THE uNITED 
KINGDOM,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting as a 
Grand Chamber composed of:
Jean-Paul Costa, President,  
Christos Rozakis,  
Nicolas Bratza,  
Françoise Tulkens, 
Josep Casadevall,  
Giovanni Bonello, 
Ireneu Cabral Barreto,  
Elisabeth Steiner,  
Lech Garlicki,  
Khanlar Hajiyev,  
Ljiljana Mijović,  
Egbert Myjer,  
David Thór Björgvinsson,  
George Nicolaou,  
Ledi Bianku,  
Nona Tsotsoria,  
Mihai Poalelungi, judges,  
and Michael O'Boyle, Deputy Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 21 May 2008 and 
on 4 February 2009,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

3455/05) against the United Kingdom of Great 
Britain and Northern Ireland lodged with the 
Court under Article 34 of the Convention for 
the Protection of Human Rights and Funda-
mental Freedoms (“the Convention”) by eleven 
non-United Kingdom nationals (“the appli-
cants”), on 21 January 2005. The President ac-
ceded to the applicants' request not to have 
their names disclosed (Rule 47 § 3 of the Rules 
of Court).

2. The applicants were represented by Birnberg 
Pierce and Partners, a firm of solicitors practis-
ing in London. The United Kingdom Govern-
ment (“the Government”) were represented by 
their Agent, Mr D. Walton, Foreign and Com-
monwealth Office.

3. The applicants alleged, in particular, that they 
had been unlawfully detained, in breach of Ar-
ticles 3, 5 § 1 and 14 of the Convention and 
that they had not had adequate remedies at 
their disposal, in breach of Articles 5 § 4 and 
13.

4. The application was allocated to the Fourth 
Section of the Court (Rule 52 § 1 of the Rules 
of Court). On 11 September 2007 a Chamber of 
that Section, composed of the following judg-
es: Josep Casadevall, Nicolas Bratza, Giovanni 
Bonello, Kristaq Traja, Stanislav Pavloschi, Lech 
Garlicki, Liliana Mijović and also of Lawrence 
Early, Section Registrar, relinquished jurisdic-
tion in favour of the Grand Chamber, neither of 
the parties having objected to relinquishment 
(Article 30 of the Convention and Rule 72).

5. The composition of the Grand Chamber was 
determined according to the provisions of Arti-
cle 27 §§ 2 and 3 of the Convention and Rule 
24 of the Rules of Court.

6. The applicants and the Government each filed 
written observations on the merits. In addition, 
third-party comments were received from two 
London-based non-governmental organisa-
tions, Liberty and Justice, which had been 
given leave by the President to intervene in the 
written procedure (Article 36 § 2 of the Con-
vention and Rule 44 § 2).

7. A hearing took place in public in the Human 
Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 21 May 2008 
(Rule 59 § 3).

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Mr D. Walton, Agent,

Mr P. Sales, QC 

Ms C. Ivimy, Counsel,

Mr S. Braviner-Roman, 

Ms K. Chalmers, 

Mr E. Adams, 

Mr J. Adutt, 
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Mr L. Smith, Advisers;

(b) for the applicants

Ms G. Pierce,

Ms M. Willis Stewart,

Mr D. Guedalla, Solicitors,

Mr B. Emmerson, QC,

Mr R. Husain,

Mr D. friedman, Counsel.

The Court heard addresses by Mr Emmerson and 
Mr Sales and their answers in reply to questions put 
by the Court.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

8. The facts of the case, as submitted by the par-
ties, may be summarised as follows.

A. The derogation
9. On 11 September 2001 four commercial aero-

planes were hijacked over the United States 
of America. Two of them were flown directly 
at the Twin Towers of the World Trade Center 
and a third at the Pentagon, causing great loss 
of life and destruction to property. The Islam-
ist extremist terrorist organisation al'Qaeda, led 
by Osama Bin Laden, claimed responsibility. 
The United Kingdom joined with the United 
States in military action in Afghanistan, which 
had been used as a base for al'Qaeda training 
camps.

10. The Government contended that the events 
of 11 September 2001 demonstrated that in-
ternational terrorists, notably those associated 
with al'Qaeda, had the intention and capacity 
to mount attacks against civilian targets on an 
unprecedented scale. Further, given the loose-
knit, global structure of al'Qaeda and its affili-
ates and their fanaticism, ruthlessness and de-
termination, it would be difficult for the State 
to prevent future attacks. In the Government's 
assessment, the United Kingdom, because of 
its close links with the United States, was a par-
ticular target. They considered that there was 
an emergency of a most serious kind threat-
ening the life of the nation. Moreover, they 
considered that the threat came principally, 

but not exclusively, from a number of foreign 
nationals present in the United Kingdom, who 
were providing a support network for Islamist 
terrorist operations linked to al'Qaeda. A num-
ber of these foreign nationals could not be 
deported because of the risk that they would 
suffer treatment contrary to Article 3 of the 
Convention in their countries of origin.

11. On 11 November 2001 the Secretary of State 
made a Derogation Order under section 14 of 
the Human Rights Act 1998 (“the 1998 Act”: see 
paragraph 94 below) in which he set out the 
terms of a proposed notification to the Secre-
tary General of the Council of Europe of a dero-
gation pursuant to Article 15 of the Conven-
tion. On 18 December 2001 the Government 
lodged the derogation with the Secretary Gen-
eral of the Council of Europe. The derogation 
notice provided as follows:

“Public emergency in the United Kingdom

TheterroristattacksinNewYork,Washington,
D.C. and Pennsylvania on 11th September
2001resulted inseveral thousanddeaths, in-
cludingmanyBritishvictimsandothersfrom
70different countries. In its resolutions1368
(2001) and 1373 (2001), the United Nations
Security Council recognised the attacks as a
threattointernationalpeaceandsecurity.

The threat from international terrorism is a
continuingone. In its resolution1373 (2001),
the Security Council, acting under Chapter
VIIoftheUnitedNationsCharter,requiredall
States to takemeasures toprevent thecom-
mission of terrorist attacks, including by de-
nyingsafehaventothosewhofinance,plan,
supportorcommitterroristattacks.

There exists a terrorist threat to the United
Kingdomfrompersonssuspectedof involve-
ment in international terrorism. In particular,
there are foreign nationals present in the
UnitedKingdomwhoaresuspectedofbeing
concernedinthecommission,preparationor
instigation of acts of international terrorism,
ofbeingmembersoforganisationsorgroups
whicharesoconcernedorofhavinglinkswith
membersofsuchorganisationsorgroups,and
whoareathreattothenationalsecurityofthe
UnitedKingdom.

As a result, a public emergency, within the
meaning of Article 15(1) of the Convention,
existsintheUnitedKingdom.

The Anti-terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001

Asaresultofthepublicemergency,provision
ismadeintheAnti-terrorism,CrimeandSecu-
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rityAct2001,interalia,foranextendedpower
toarrestanddetaina foreignnationalwhich
will applywhere it is intended to removeor
deport theperson fromtheUnitedKingdom
but where removal or deportation is not
for the time being possible, with the conse-
quencethatthedetentionwouldbeunlawful
underexistingdomestic lawpowers.Theex-
tendedpowertoarrestanddetainwillapply
wheretheSecretaryofStateissuesacertificate
indicatinghisbeliefthattheperson'spresence
intheUnitedKingdomisarisktonationalse-
curityandthathesuspectsthepersonofbe-
ing an international terrorist. That certificate
willbesubjecttoanappealtotheSpecialIm-
migrationAppealsCommission('SIAC'),estab-
lishedundertheSpecialImmigrationAppeals
CommissionAct1997,whichwillhavepower
to cancel it if it considers that the certificate
shouldnothavebeenissued.Therewillbean
appealonapointoflawfromarulingbySIAC.
Inaddition,thecertificatewillbereviewedby
SIACatregularintervals.SIACwillalsobeable
to grant bail, where appropriate, subject to
conditions.Itwillbeopentoadetaineetoend
hisdetentionatanytimebyagreeingtoleave
theUnitedKingdom.

Theextendedpowerof arrest anddetention
in theAnti-terrorism,Crime and SecurityAct
2001isameasurewhichisstrictlyrequiredby
theexigenciesof thesituation. It isa tempo-
raryprovisionwhich comes into force for an
initial period of 15months and then expires
unlessrenewedbytheParliament.Thereafter,
it issubjecttoannualrenewalbyParliament.
If, at any time, in the Government's assess-
ment, thepublicemergencyno longerexists
ortheextendedpowerisnolongerstrictlyre-
quiredbytheexigenciesofthesituation,then
theSecretaryofStatewill,byOrder,repealthe
provision.

Domestic law powers of detention (other than 
under the Anti-terrorism, Crime and Security 
Act 2001)

The Government has powers under the Im-
migrationAct1971('the1971Act')toremove
or deport persons on the ground that their
presence in the United Kingdom is not con-
ducive to the public good on national secu-
rity grounds. Persons can also be arrested
anddetainedunderSchedules2and3tothe
1971 Act pending their removal or deporta-
tion.Thecourts in theUnitedKingdomhave
ruledthatthispowerofdetentioncanonlybe
exercised during the period necessary, in all
thecircumstancesoftheparticularcase,toef-
fectremovalandthat,ifitbecomesclearthat
removal isnotgoing tobepossiblewithina
reasonabletime,detentionwillbeunlawful(R.

vGovernorofDurhamPrison,exparteSingh
[1984]AllER983).

Article 5(1)(f) of the Convention

It is well established that Article 5(1)(f) per-
mitsthedetentionofapersonwithaviewto
deportationonly incircumstanceswhere 'ac-
tionisbeingtakenwithaviewtodeportation'
(ChahalvUnitedKingdom(1996)23EHRR413
atparagraph112). In thatcase theEuropean
CourtofHumanRights indicatedthatdeten-
tionwill cease to be permissible under Arti-
cle5(1)(f) ifdeportationproceedingsarenot
prosecutedwithduediligenceandthatitwas
necessaryinsuchcasestodeterminewhether
the duration of the deportationproceedings
wasexcessive(paragraph113).

Insomecases,wheretheintentionremainsto
removeordeportapersononnationalsecu-
ritygrounds,continueddetentionmaynotbe
consistentwithArticle5(1)(f)asinterpretedby
theCourtintheChahalcase.Thismaybethe
case,forexample,ifthepersonhasestablished
thatremovaltotheirowncountrymightresult
intreatmentcontrarytoArticle3oftheCon-
vention. In such circumstances, irrespective
of thegravity of the threat tonational secu-
rityposedbythepersonconcerned,it iswell
establishedthatArticle3preventsremovalor
deportationtoaplacewherethereisarealrisk
thatthepersonwillsuffertreatmentcontrary
to that article. If no alternativedestination is
immediatelyavailablethenremovalordepor-
tationmaynot,forthetimebeing,bepossible
eventhoughtheultimateintentionremainsto
removeordeportthepersononcesatisfactory
arrangementscanbemade.Inaddition,itmay
notbepossibletoprosecutethepersonfora
criminaloffencegiven the strict ruleson the
admissibilityofevidenceinthecriminaljustice
systemof theUnitedKingdomand thehigh
standardofproofrequired.

Derogation under Article 15 of the Convention

TheGovernmenthasconsideredwhetherthe
exerciseoftheextendedpowertodetaincon-
tained intheAnti-terrorism,CrimeandSecu-
rityAct2001maybeinconsistentwiththeob-
ligationsunderArticle5(1)oftheConvention.
Asindicatedabove,theremaybecaseswhere,
notwithstanding a continuing intention to
removeordeportapersonwho isbeingde-
tained, it isnotpossible tosay that 'action is
beingtakenwithaviewtodeportation'within
themeaning of Article 5(1)(f) as interpreted
bytheCourtintheChahalcase.Totheextent,
therefore, that the exercise of the extended
power may be inconsistent with the United
Kingdom'sobligationsunderArticle5(1), the
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Governmenthasdecidedtoavail itselfofthe
rightofderogationconferredbyArticle15(1)
oftheConventionandwillcontinuetodoso
untilfurthernotice.”

The derogation notice then set out the provi-
sions of Part 4 of the Anti-Terrorism Crime and 
Security Bill 2001.

12. On 12 November 2001 the Anti-Terrorism 
Crime and Security Bill, containing the clauses 
which were to eventually become Part 4 of the 
Anti-Terrorism Crime and Security Act 2001 
(“the 2001 Act”: see paragraph 90 below), was 
introduced into the House of Commons. The 
Bill was passed by Parliament in two weeks, 
with three days of debate on the floor of the 
House of Commons set aside for its 125 clauses 
in a restrictive programming motion, prompt-
ing both the Joint Committee of Human Rights 
and the Home Affairs Select Committee to 
complain of the speed with which they were 
being asked to consider the matter.

13. The 2001 Act came into force on 4 December 
2001. During the lifetime of the legislation, six-
teen individuals, including the present eleven 
applicants, were certified under section 21 and 
detained. The first six applicants were certified 
on 17 December 2001 and taken into deten-
tion shortly thereafter. The seventh applicant 
was certified and detained in early February 
2002; the ninth applicant, on 22 April 2002; 
the eighth applicant, on 23 October 2002; the 
tenth applicant, on 14 January 2003; and the 
eleventh applicant was certified on 2 October 
2003 and kept in detention, having previously 
been held under other legislation.

B. The derogation proceedings
14. In proceedings before the Special Immigration 

Appeals Commission (“SIAC”: see paragraphs 
91-93 below), the first seven applicants chal-
lenged the legality of the derogation, claiming 
that their detention under the 2001 Act was in 
breach of their rights under Articles 3, 5, 6 and 
14 of the Convention. Each, in addition, chal-
lenged the Secretary of State's decision to cer-
tify him as an international terrorist.

15. On 30 July 2002, having examined both open 
and closed material and heard submissions 
from special advocates in addition to counsel 
for the parties and for the third party, Liberty, 
SIAC delivered its ruling on the legality of the 
derogation. It held that, on the basis of the 
open material, it was satisfied that the threat 
from al'Qaeda had created a public emergency 

threatening the life of the nation, within the 
meaning of Article 15 of the Convention, and 
that the closed material confirmed this view.

SIAC further held that the fact that the objec-
tive of protecting the public from international 
terrorists could possibly have been achieved 
by alternative methods did not demonstrate 
that the measures actually adopted were not 
strictly necessary. Moreover, since the purpose 
of the detention was the protection of the 
United Kingdom, the fact that the detainee 
was at liberty to leave demonstrated that the 
measures were properly tailored to the state of 
emergency.

SIAC rejected the applicants' complaints under 
Article 3 of the Convention. It held that, inso-
far as they related to conditions of detention, 
the applicants should bring proceedings in 
the ordinary civil courts, and that SIAC had no 
jurisdiction to determine such a complaint as 
it was not a “derogation issue”. It further saw 
no merit in the applicants' argument that de-
tention for an indefinite period was contrary 
to Article 3. On this point, SIAC held that the 
detention was not indefinite, since it was gov-
erned by the time limits of the 2001 Act itself 
and since the 2001 Act provided that each ap-
plicant's certification was subject to automatic 
review by SIAC every six months. In any event, 
the mere fact that no term had yet been fixed 
for preventive detention did not give rise to a 
breach of Article 3.

SIAC did not accept that Article 6 applied to the 
certification process. The certification of each 
applicant as a suspected international terror-
ist was not a “charge” but instead a statement 
of suspicion and the proceedings before SIAC 
were not for the determination of a criminal 
charge. Furthermore, there was no relevant 
civil right at issue and Article 6 did not apply in 
its civil limb either.

SIAC did, however, rule that the derogation was 
unlawful because the relevant provisions of the 
2001 Act unjustifiably discriminated against 
foreign nationals, in breach of Article 14 of the 
Convention. The powers of the 2001 Act could 
properly be confined to non-nationals only if 
the threat stemmed exclusively, or almost ex-
clusively, from non-nationals and the evidence 
did not support that conclusion. In paragraphs 
94-95 of its judgment SIAC held:
“94. If there is to be an effective derogation
from the right to liberty enshrined in Article
5inrespectofsuspectedinternationalterror-
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ists - andwecan seepowerful arguments in
favourofsuchaderogation- thederogation
ought rationally to extend to all irremovable
suspected international terrorists. It would
properly be confined to the alien section of
thepopulationonlyif,as[counselfortheap-
pellants]contends,thethreatstemsexclusive-
lyoralmostexclusivelyfromthataliensection.

95.Buttheevidencebeforeusdemonstrates
beyond argument that the threat is not so
confined.TherearemanyBritishnationalsal-
readyidentified-mostly indetentionabroad
-who fallwithin thedefinitionof 'suspected
international terrorists',and itwasclear from
thesubmissionsmadetousthatintheopin-
ionofthe[SecretaryofState]thereareothers
at liberty in the United Kingdomwho could
be similarly defined. In those circumstances
wefail toseehowthederogationcanbere-
garded as other than discriminatory on the
groundsofnationalorigin.”

SIAC thus quashed the derogation order of 
11 November 2001 and issued a declaration of 
incompatibility in respect of section 23 of the 
2001 Act under section 4 of the 1998 Act (see 
paragraph 94 below).

It adjourned the first seven applicants' indi-
vidual appeals against certification (see para-
graphs 24-69 below) pending the outcome of 
the Secretary of State's appeal and the appli-
cants' cross-appeal on points of law against the 
above ruling.

16. On 25 October 2002 the Court of Appeal deliv-
ered its judgment (A. and Others v. Secretary of 
State for the Home Department [2002] EWCA 
Civ 1502).

It held that SIAC had been entitled to find 
that there was a public emergency threaten-
ing the life of the nation. However, contrary 
to the view of SIAC, it held that the approach 
adopted by the Secretary of State could be ob-
jectively justified. There was a rational connec-
tion between the detention of non-nationals 
who could not be deported because of fears 
for their safety, and the purpose which the Sec-
retary of State wished to achieve, which was 
to remove non-nationals who posed a threat 
to national security. Moreover, the applicants 
would be detained for no longer than was nec-
essary before they could be deported or until 
the emergency was resolved or they ceased 
to be a threat to the country's safety. There 
was no discrimination contrary to Article 14 of 
the Convention, because British nationals sus-
pected of being terrorists were not in an analo-

gous situation to similarly suspected foreign 
nationals who could not be deported because 
of fears for their safety. Such foreign nationals 
did not have a right to remain in the country 
but only a right, for the time being, not to be 
removed for their own safety. The Court of Ap-
peal added that it was well established in in-
ternational law that, in some situations, States 
could distinguish between nationals and non-
nationals, especially in times of emergency. It 
further concluded that Parliament had been 
entitled to limit the measures proposed so as 
to affect only foreign nationals suspected of 
terrorist links because it was entitled to reach 
the conclusion that detention of only the lim-
ited class of foreign nationals with which the 
measures were concerned was, in the circum-
stances, “strictly required” within the meaning 
of Article 15 of the Convention.

The Court of Appeal agreed with SIAC that the 
proceedings to appeal against certification 
were not “criminal” within the meaning of Arti-
cle 6 § 1 of the Convention. It found, however, 
that the civil limb of Article 6 applied but that 
the proceedings were as fair as could reason-
ably be achieved. It further held that the appli-
cants had not demonstrated that their deten-
tion amounted to a breach of Article 3 of the 
Convention.

17. The applicants were granted leave to appeal to 
the House of Lords, which delivered its judg-
ment on 16 December 2004 ([2004] UKHL 56).

A majority of the Law Lords, expressly or im-
pliedly, found that the applicants' detention 
under Part 4 of the 2001 Act did not fall within 
the exception to the general right of liberty 
set out in Article 5 § 1(f) of the Convention 
(see Lord Bingham, at paragraphs 8-9; Lord 
Hoffman, at paragraph 97; Lord Hope, at para-
graphs 103-105; Lord Scott, at paragraph 155; 
Lord Rodger, at paragraph 163; Baroness Hale, 
at paragraph 222). Lord Bingham summarised 
the position in this way:
“9. ...Apersonwhocommits a serious crime
underthecriminallawofthiscountrymayof
course,whetheranationaloranon-national,
becharged,triedand,ifconvicted,imprisoned.
Butanon-nationalwhofacestheprospectof
torture or inhuman treatment if returned to
hisowncountry,andwhocannotbedeported
toanythirdcountry,andisnotchargedwith
anycrime,maynotunderarticle5(1)(f)ofthe
Convention and Schedule 3 to the Immigra-
tionAct1971bedetainedhereevenifjudged
tobeathreattonationalsecurity”.
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18. The House of Lords further held, by eight to 
one (Lords Bingham and Scott with consider-
able hesitation), that SIAC's conclusion that 
there was a public emergency threatening the 
life of the nation should not be displaced. Lord 
Hope assessed the evidence as follows:
“118. There is ample evidence within [the
open]material toshowthatthegovernment
were fully justified in taking the view inNo-
vember 2001 that there was an emergency
threatening the life of the nation. ... [The]
United Kingdom was at danger of attacks
fromtheAlQaedanetworkwhichhadtheca-
pacitythroughitsassociatestoinflictmassive
casualtiesandhaveadevastatingeffectonthe
functioningofthenation.Thishadbeendem-
onstratedbytheeventsof11September2001
in New York, Pennsylvania and Washington.
Therewasasignificantbodyofforeignnation-
als in theUnited Kingdomwho had thewill
and the capabilityofmountingco-ordinated
attacksherewhichwouldbe justasdestruc-
tivetohumanlifeandtoproperty.Therewas
ampleintelligencetoshowthatinternational
terrorist organisations involved in recent at-
tacks and in preparation for other attacks of
terrorismhadlinkswiththeUnitedKingdom,
andthattheyandothersposedacontinuing
threat to this country. There was a growing
bodyofevidenceshowingpreparationsmade
fortheuseofweaponsofmassdestructionin
this campaign. ... [It]was considered [by the
HomeOffice] that the serious threats to the
nation emanated predominantly, albeit not
exclusively, and more immediately from the
categoryofforeignnationals.

119. Thepicturewhichemerges clearly from
thesestatementsisofacurrentstateofemer-
gency.Itisanemergencywhichisconstituted
bythethreatthattheseattackswillbecarried
out.Itthreatensthelifeofthenationbecause
of the appalling consequences that would
affectusall if theywere tooccurhere.But it
cannotyetbesaid that theseattacksare im-
minent. On 15 October 2001 the Secretary
of State said in theHouse of Commons that
therewasnoimmediateintelligencepointing
toaspecificthreattotheUnitedKingdom:see
Hansard (HC Debates, col 925). On 5 March
2002 this assessmentof thepositionwas re-
peated in the government's response to the
Second Report of the House of Commons
Select Committee onDefence on the Threat
fromTerrorism(HC348,para13)whereitwas
statedthatitwouldbewrongtosaythatthere
wasevidenceofaparticularthreat.Iwouldnot
conclude from the material which we have
seen that there was no current emergency.
But I would conclude that the emergency

which the threats constitute is of a different
kind,oronadifferent level, from thatwhich
wouldundoubtedlyensueifthethreatswere
ever to materialise. The evidence indicates
that the latteremergencycannotyetbesaid
tobeimminent. Ithastoberecognisedthat,
astheattacksarelikelytocomewithoutwarn-
ing,itmaynotbepossibletoidentifyastage
whentheycanbesaidtobeimminent.Thisis
animportantfactor,andIdonot leaveitout
ofaccount.Butthefactisthatthestagewhen
thenationhastofacethatkindofemergency,
the emergency of imminent attack, has not
beenreached”.

Lord Hoffman, who dissented, accepted that 
there was credible evidence of a threat of seri-
ous terrorist attack within the United Kingdom, 
but considered that it would not destroy the 
life of the nation, since the threat was not so 
fundamental as to threaten “our institutions of 
government or our existence as a civil commu-
nity”. He concluded that “the real threat to the 
life of the nation ... comes not from terrorism 
but from laws such as these”.

19. The other Law Lords (Lords Bingham, Nicholls, 
Hope, Scott, Rodger, Carswell and Baroness 
Hale, with Lord Walker dissenting) rejected the 
Government's submission that it was for Parlia-
ment and the executive, rather than the courts, 
to judge the response necessary to protect the 
security of the public. Lord Bingham expressed 
his view as follows:
“42.Itfollowsfromthisanalysisthattheappel-
lantsare inmyopinionentitled to invite the
courts to review,onproportionalitygrounds,
the Derogation Order and the compatibility
withtheConventionofsection23[ofthe2001
Act]andthecourtsarenoteffectivelypreclud-
edby anydoctrineofdeference from scruti-
nising the issues raised. It also follows that I
donotacceptthefullbreadthoftheAttorney
General'ssubmissions.Idonotinparticularac-
cept thedistinctionwhichhedrewbetween
democraticinstitutionsandthecourts.Itisof
coursetruethatthejudgesinthiscountryare
notelectedandarenotanswerabletoParlia-
ment.Itisalsoofcoursetrue...thatParliament,
the executive and the courts have different
functions. But the function of independent
judgeschargedtointerpretandapplythelaw
isuniversallyrecognisedasacardinalfeature
ofthemoderndemocraticstate,acornerstone
oftheruleoflawitself.TheAttorneyGeneralis
fullyentitled to insiston theproper limitsof
judicialauthority,buthe iswrongtostigma-
tise judicial decision-making as in someway
undemocratic. It is particularly inappropriate
inacasesuchasthepresent inwhichParlia-
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menthas expressly legislated in section 6 of
the1998Act to renderunlawfulanyactofa
public authority, including a court, incom-
patiblewithaConventionright;hasrequired
courts(insection2)totakeaccountofrelevant
Strasbourgjurisprudence;has(insection3)re-
quiredcourts,sofaraspossible,togiveeffect
toConventionrightsandhasconferredaright
of appeal on derogation issues. The effect is
not,ofcourse, tooverride thesovereign leg-
islativeauthorityof theQueen inParliament,
since if primary legislation is declared to be
incompatible the validityof the legislation is
unaffected (section4(6))andtheremedy lies
with the appropriate minister (section 10),
whoisanswerabletoParliament.The1998Act
givesthecourtsaveryspecific,whollydemo-
cratic,mandate”.

20. The majority therefore examined whether the 
detention regime under Part 4 of the 2001 Act 
was a proportionate response to the emergen-
cy situation, and concluded that it did not ra-
tionally address the threat to security and was a 
disproportionate response to that threat. They 
relied on three principal grounds: first, that 
the detention scheme applied only to non-
nationals suspected of international terrorism 
and did not address the threat which came 
from United Kingdom nationals who were also 
so suspected; secondly, that it left suspected 
international terrorists at liberty to leave the 
United Kingdom and continue their threaten-
ing activities abroad; thirdly, that the legisla-
tion was drafted too broadly, so that it could, 
in principle, apply to individuals suspected of 
involvement with international terrorist organi-
sations which did not fall within the scope of 
the derogation.

On the first point, Lord Bingham emphasised 
that SIAC's finding that the terrorist threat 
was not confined to non-nationals had not 
been challenged. Since SIAC was the respon-
sible fact-finding tribunal, it was unnecessary 
to examine the basis for its finding, but there 
was evidence that “upwards of a thousand 
individuals from the UK are estimated on the 
basis of intelligence to have attended training 
camps in Afghanistan in the last five years”; that 
some British citizens were said to have planned 
to return from Afghanistan to the United King-
dom; and that the background material relat-
ing to the applicants showed the high level 
of involvement of British citizens and those 
otherwise connected with the United King-
dom in the terrorist networks. Lord Bingham 
continued:

“33....Itisplainthatsections21and23ofthe
2001Actdonotaddressthethreatpresented
byUKnationalssincetheydonotprovidefor
the certificationanddetentionofUKnation-
als. It is beside the point that other sections
ofthe2001Actandthe2000Actdoapplyto
UKnationals,sincetheyarenotthesubjectof
derogation, arenot the subjectof complaint
and apply equally to foreign nationals. Yet
thethreatfromUKnationals, ifquantitatively
smaller, is not said to be qualitatively dif-
ferent from that from foreign nationals. It is
alsoplain that sections 21 and23dopermit
a person certified and detained to leave the
UnitedKingdomandgotoanyothercountry
willingtoreceivehim,astwooftheappellants
didwhentheyleftforMoroccoandFrancere-
spectively ....Suchfreedomtoleaveiswholly
explicable in termsof immigrationcontrol: if
theBritishauthoritieswishtodeportaforeign
national but cannot deport him to country
'A'becauseofChahaltheirpurposeisaswell
served by his voluntary departure for coun-
try 'B'.Butallowingasuspectedinternational
terroristtoleaveourshoresanddeparttoan-
other country, perhaps a country as close as
France,theretopursuehiscriminaldesigns,is
hardtoreconcilewithabelief inhiscapacity
toinflictseriousinjurytothepeopleandinter-
estsofthiscountry....

35.Thefifthstepintheappellants'argument
permitsoflittleelaboration.Butitseemsrea-
sonabletoassumethatthosesuspectedinter-
national terrorists who are UK nationals are
not simply ignoredby the authorities.When
[thefifthapplicant]wasreleasedfromprison
bySIAConbail...,itwasoncondition(among
otherthings)thathewearanelectronicmoni-
toring tag at all times; that he remain at his
premises at all times; that he telephone a
namedsecuritycompanyfivetimeseachday
atspecifiedtimes;thathepermitthecompany
to installmonitoringequipmentathisprem-
ises;thathe limitentrytohispremisestohis
family,hissolicitor,hismedicalattendantsand
otherapprovedpersons;thathemakenocon-
tactwithanyotherperson;thathehaveonhis
premisesnocomputerequipment,mobiletel-
ephone or other electronic communications
device;thathecanceltheexistingtelephone
linktohispremises;andthatheinstalladedi-
cated telephone linkpermittingcontactonly
with the security company. The appellants
suggestedthatconditionsofthiskind,strictly
enforced,wouldeffectivelyinhibitterroristac-
tivity.Itishardtoseewhythiswouldnotbeso.

36. Inurgingthe fundamental importanceof
therighttopersonalfreedom,asthesixthstep
in theirproportionality argument, the appel-
lantswereabletodrawonthelonglibertarian
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traditionofEnglishlaw,datingbacktochap-
ter39ofMagnaCarta1215,giveneffectinthe
ancientremedyofhabeascorpus,declaredin
thePetitionofRight1628,upheld ina series
oflandmarkdecisionsdownthecenturiesand
embodiedinthesubstanceandprocedureof
the lawtoourownday. ... In itstreatmentof
article5oftheEuropeanConvention,theEu-
ropean Court also has recognised the prime
importanceofpersonalfreedom....

43. The appellants' proportionality challenge
to the Order and section 23 is, in my opin-
ion, sound, forall the reasons theygaveand
also for those given by the European Com-
missioner forHumanRightsand theNewton
Committee. TheAttorneyGeneral couldgive
nopersuasiveanswer.”

21. In addition, the majority held that the 2001 Act 
was discriminatory and inconsistent with Arti-
cle 14 of the Convention, from which there had 
been no derogation. The applicants were in a 
comparable situation to United Kingdom na-
tionals suspected of being international terror-
ists, with whom they shared the characteristics 
of being irremovable from the United Kingdom 
and being considered a threat to national se-
curity. Since the detention scheme was aimed 
primarily at the protection of the United King-
dom from terrorist attack, rather than immigra-
tion control, there was no objective reason to 
treat the applicants differently on grounds of 
their nationality or immigration status.

22. Although the applicants' appeal had included 
complaints under Articles 3 and 16 of the Con-
vention, the House of Lords did not consider it 
necessary to determine these complaints since 
it had found the derogation to be unlawful on 
other grounds.

23. It granted a quashing order in respect of the 
derogation order, and a declaration under sec-
tion 4 of the Human Rights Act (see paragraph 
94 below) that section 23 of the 2001 Act was 
incompatible with Articles 5 § 1 and 14 of the 
Convention insofar as it was disproportionate 
and permitted discriminatory detention of sus-
pected international terrorists.

C. The certification proceedings: the 
“generic” judgment and appeals

24. Meanwhile, SIAC's hearing of the applicants' 
individual appeals against certification com-
menced in May 2003, after the Court of Appeal 
had given judgment in the derogation pro-
ceedings but before the above judgment of 
the House of Lords.

25. For the purposes of each appeal to SIAC, the 
Secretary of State filed an “open statement” 
summarising the facts connected to the deci-
sion to certify each applicant and as much of 
the supporting evidence which the Secretary 
of State considered could be disclosed without 
giving rise to any risk to national security. A fur-
ther, “closed” statement of facts and evidence 
was also placed before SIAC in each case.

26. On 29 October 2003 SIAC issued a “generic” 
judgment in which it made a number of find-
ings of general application to all the appeals 
against certification.

As regards preliminary issues, it found, inter 
alia, that it had jurisdiction to hear an appeal 
against certification even where the person 
certified had left the United Kingdom and the 
certificate had been revoked. It held that the 
tests whether reasonable grounds existed for 
suspicion that a person was a “terrorist” and for 
belief that his presence in the United Kingdom 
was a risk to national security, within the mean-
ing of section 21 of the 2001 Act, fell “some way 
short of proof even on the balance of probabili-
ties”. It further held that “reasonable grounds 
could be based on material which would not 
be admissible in a normal trial in court, such 
as hearsay evidence of an unidentified inform-
ant”. The weight that was to be attached to any 
particular piece of evidence was a matter for 
consideration in the light of all the evidence 
viewed as a whole. Information which might 
have been obtained by torture should not au-
tomatically be excluded, but the court should 
have regard to any evidence about the manner 
in which it was obtained and judge its weight 
and reliability accordingly.

SIAC held that the detention provisions in the 
2001 Act should be interpreted in the light of 
the terms of the derogation. The threat to the 
life of the nation was not confined to activities 
within the United Kingdom, because the na-
tion's life included its diplomatic, cultural and 
tourism-related activities abroad. Moreover, at-
tacks on the United Kingdom's allies could also 
create a risk to the United Kingdom, given the 
interdependence of countries facing a global 
terrorist threat. The derogation identified the 
threat as emanating from al'Qaeda and its as-
sociates. It was therefore necessary, in respect 
of both the “national security” and the “interna-
tional terrorist” limbs of section 21 of the 2001 
Act, to show reasonable grounds for suspicion 
that the person certified was part of a group 
which was connected, directly or indirectly, to 
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al'Qaeda. Even if the main focus of the group 
in question was a national struggle, if it backed 
al'Qaeda for a part of its agenda and the indi-
vidual nonetheless supported the group, it was 
a legitimate inference that he was supporting 
and assisting al'Qaeda.

SIAC also made a number of findings of fact of 
general application concerning organisations 
alleged by the Secretary of State to be linked to 
al'Qaeda. These findings were based on both 
“open” and “closed” material. Thus, it held, for 
example, that the GSPC, or Salafist Group for 
Call and Combat, which was formed in Algeria 
in 1998, was an international terrorist organisa-
tion linked to al'Qaeda through training and 
funding, but that the earlier Algerian organisa-
tion, Armed Islamic Group (GIA), was not. The 
Egyptian Islamic Jihad (EIJ) was either part of 
al'Qaeda or very closely linked to it. The Chech-
en Arab Mujahaddin was an international ter-
rorist group, pursuing an anti-West agenda be-
yond the struggle for Chechen independence, 
with close links to al'Qaeda. SIAC also identified 
as falling within the terms of the derogation a 
group of primarily Algerian extremists centred 
around Abu Doha, an Algerian who had lived 
in the United Kingdom from about 1999. It was 
alleged that Abu Doha had held a senior role in 
training camps in Afghanistan and had many 
contacts in al'Qaeda, including a connection 
with the Frankfurt cell which had been accused 
of plotting to bomb the Strasbourg Christmas 
market in December 2000. Abu Doha was ar-
rested in February 2001, following an extradi-
tion request from the United States of America, 
but his group remained active.

27. The applicants appealed against SIAC's ruling 
that evidence which might have been ob-
tained by torture was admissible. For the pur-
poses of the appeal, the parties agreed that the 
proceedings before SIAC to challenge certifica-
tion fell within Article 5 § 4 of the Convention 
and as such had to satisfy the basic require-
ments of a fair trial. It was not therefore nec-
essary to decide whether Article 6 also applied 
and the issue was left open.

On 11 August 2004 the Court of Appeal, by a 
majority, upheld SIAC's decision ([2004] EWCA 
Civ 1123).

On 8 December 2005 the House of Lords held 
unanimously that the evidence of a suspect or 
witness which had been obtained by torture 
had long been regarded as inherently unreli-
able, unfair, offensive to ordinary standards 

of humanity and decency and incompatible 
with the principles on which courts should 
administer justice. It followed that such evi-
dence might not lawfully be admitted against 
a party to proceedings in a United Kingdom 
court, irrespective of where, by whom and on 
whose authority the torture had been inflicted. 
Since the person challenging certification had 
only limited access to the material advanced 
against him in the proceedings before SIAC, he 
could not be expected to do more than raise a 
plausible reason that material might have been 
so obtained and it was then for SIAC to initi-
ate the relevant enquiries. The House of Lords 
therefore allowed the applicants' appeals and 
remitted each case to SIAC for reconsideration 
([2005] UKHL 71).

28. SIAC's conclusions as regards each applicant's 
case are set out in paragraphs 29-69 below. Of 
the sixteen individuals, including the eleven 
applicants, detained under Part 4 of the 2001 
Act, one had his certificate cancelled by SIAC.

D. The certification proceedings: the 
individual determinations

1.Thefirstapplicant
29. The first applicant was born in a Palestinian 

refugee camp in Jordan, is stateless, and was 
granted indefinite leave to remain in the Unit-
ed Kingdom in 1997. On 17 December 2001 
the first applicant was certified by the Secre-
tary of State as a suspected international ter-
rorist under section 21 of the 2001 Act. On 18 
December 2001 a deportation order was made 
on the same grounds.

30. The first applicant was taken into detention on 
19 December 2001. He subsequently appealed 
to SIAC against certification and the decision to 
make a deportation order. On 24 July 2002 he 
was transferred to Broadmoor Secure Mental 
Hospital.

31. The first applicant and his representatives were 
served with the Secretary of State's “open” ma-
terial, including a police report which showed 
that large sums of money had moved through 
the four bank accounts in his name. SIAC and 
the special advocate instructed on behalf of 
the first applicant were in addition presented 
with “closed” evidence. The first applicant gave 
oral evidence to SIAC, assisted by an interpreter 
and called one witness to testify to his good 
character. He also filed four medical reports 
concerning his mental health. SIAC observed 
in its judgment of 29 October 2003:
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“Weareacutelyawarethattheopenmaterial
reliedonagainsttheapplicantisverygeneral
andthatthecasedepends inthemainupon
assertionswhicharelargelyunsupported.The
centralallegationisthathehasbeeninvolved
infundraisinganddistributionofthosefunds
for terroristgroupswith links toAlQa'eda. It
is also said that he has procured false docu-
mentsandhelpedfacilitatethemovementof
jihadvolunteerstotrainingcampsinAfghani-
stan. He is said to be closely involved with
seniorextremistsandassociatesofOsamaBin
LadenbothintheUnitedKingdomandover-
seas.Hiscaseisandalwayshasbeenthathe
isconcernedandconcernedonlywithwelfare
projects, inparticularaschoolinAfghanistan
for the children of Arab speakers there and
projectssuchasconstructionofwellsandpro-
visionoffoodtocommunitiesinAfghanistan.
He has also raisedmoney for refugees from
Chechnya.Anycontactwithso-calledextrem-
ists has been in that context and he had no
reasontobelievetheywereterroristsorwere
interestedinterrorism.

WerecognisetherealdifficultiesthattheAp-
pellant has in making this appeal. We have
made appropriate allowance for those diffi-
cultiesandhismentalproblems.Wenote[his
counsel's]concernsthattherehasbeengross
oversimplification by the Security Service
of the situation which is, he submits, highly
complexanda tendency toassumethatany
devoutMuslimwhobelievedthatthewayof
life practised by the Taliban in Afghanistan
was the trueway to followmustbe suspect.
We note, too, that initially the Respondent
asserted that all the Appellant's fund raising
activitieswereforthepurposeofassistingter-
rorismandthatitwasonlywhenevidencewas
producedbytheAppellanttoshowthatthere
were legitimatecharitableobjectives thathe
acceptedthatatleastsomemoneywasraised
for those purposes. Insofar as connections
withnamedindividualsarereliedon,webear
inmindthatsomeofthem,whoareallegedto
be involved in terrorism,haveappealspend-
ing...andthatallegationsagainstothershave
notbeen testednor have alleged linksbeen
abletobeexplained.

...

[Thefirstapplicant'scounsel]accepted,ashe
hadto,theunreliabilityoftheApplicant'sevi-
denceabouthismovementsinthe1990s,but
asked us not to hold it against him because
ofhismentalstate.Wedonotacceptthatwe
candothat.Thelieswereadeliberateattempt
to rebut the allegation that he had been a
mujahid inAfghanistan,sayingthathespent
three years in a Jordanian prison. Therewas

anoverstatementbythepoliceoftheamount
involved through the bank account. Thiswe
accept,buttherewasstillasubstantialsumof
moneygoing through them.And [the appli-
cant's counsel] submitted that theallegation
wasthathehadprovidedfalsedocumentsfor
othersnotforhimself.ThushisfalseIraqpass-
portwasnotmaterial. Itdoeshowevershow
anability toobtaina falsepassport. [Theap-
plicant'scounsel]attackedthereliabilityofthe
intelligence relied on against the Appellant
since itwas only belatedly accepted that he
hadbeeninvolvedingenuinecharitablework
and that some of themoney going through
hisaccountandraisedbyhimwasforsucha
purpose.Werecognisethedangerthatallac-
tivitiesbyonewhoisundersuspicionmaybe
regarded as themselves suspicious and that
theremaynotbeafairconsiderationofallma-
terialtoseewhetherittrulydoessupportthe
suspicion.We have considered all themate-
rial,inparticularthatwhichisclosed,withthat
dangerinmind.

Aswehavesaid, theopenevidencetaken in
isolationcannotprovidethereasonswhywe
aredismissingthisappealandwesympathise
with [the first applicant's counsel's] concerns
thathehadamostdifficulttask.Wewerenot
impressed with the appellant as a witness,
even making all allowances for his mental
stateandthedifficultiesunderwhichhewas
labouring. He was often evasive and vague
andhasadmittedlytold lies inrelationtohis
movements in the 1990s. His explanations
aboutsomeofthetransactionsrecordedinhis
bankaccountswehavefounddifficulttofol-
loworaccept.Weshouldsaythatwedonot
considerthattheRespondent'scaseissignifi-
cantlyadvancedbywhathasbeensaidabout
the Appellant's involvement with Algeria or
Chechnya;thecasedependsessentiallyonthe
evidenceabouttheAppellant'sdealingswith
Afghanistanandwithterroristsknowntohave
linkswithAlQa'eda.

It is clear that theAppellantwas a very suc-
cessfulfundraiserand,moreimportantly,that
hewasabletogetthemoneytoAfghanistan.
Whatever his problems, he was able to and
was relied on to provide an efficient service.
His explanations both of whowere the well
known terroristswhose childrenwere at the
schoolandofthevariousofthemoresubstan-
tialpaymentsshowninthebankaccountsare
unsatisfactory. He was vague where, having
regard to the allegationsmade against him,
wewouldhaveexpectedsomedetail.

...

Wehaveconsideredalltheevidencecritically.
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Theclosedmaterialconfirmsourviewthatthe
certification in this casewascorrect. There is
botha reasonablebelief that theAppellant's
presenceintheUnitedKingdomisarisktona-
tionalsecurityandareasonablesuspicionthat
heisaterroristwithinthemeaningofsection
21ofthe2001Act.Thisappealisaccordingly
dismissed.”

32. In accordance with the terms of the 2001 Act, 
the first applicant's case was reviewed by SIAC 
six months later. In its judgment of 2 July 2004 
SIAC found that:
“The updated open generic material ... con-
tinues to show that there is adirect terrorist
threattotheUnitedKingdomfromagroupor
groupsoflargelyNorthAfricanIslamicextrem-
ists,linkedinvariouswaystoAlQa'eda.

Althoughsomeofhiscontactshavebeende-
tained, the rangeof extremistsprominent in
variousgroupswassuchthathewouldhave
no difficulty and retains the will and ability
toaddhisconsiderableexperienceoflogistic
supporttotheminpursuitoftheextremistIs-
lamicagendaintheUK.Thecertificateisprop-
erlymaintained.”

33. SIAC reviewed the case again on 15 Decem-
ber 2004 and again found that the certificate 
should be maintained.

2.Thesecondapplicant
34. The second applicant is a citizen of Morocco 

born on 28 February 1963. He entered the 
United Kingdom as a visitor in 1985 and was 
granted leave to remain as a student. On 21 
June 1988 he was granted indefinite leave to 
remain on the basis of his marriage to a Brit-
ish citizen, which marriage subsequently broke 
down. In 1990 and again in 1997 he applied for 
naturalisation, but no decision was made on 
those applications. In 2000 he remarried an-
other British citizen, with whom he has a child.

35. On 17 December 2001 the second applicant 
was certified by the Secretary of State as a sus-
pected international terrorist under section 21 
of the 2001 Act. A deportation order was made 
on the same date. The second applicant was 
taken into detention on 19 December 2001. 
He appealed against the certification and de-
portation order but, nonetheless, elected to 
leave the United Kingdom for Morocco on 22 
December 2001. He pursued his appeals from 
Morocco.

36. The “open” case against the second applicant 
was summarised by SIAC in its judgment of 29 

October 2003 as follows:
“(1) he has links with both the GIA and the
GSPC[Algerianterroristgroups:seeparagraph
26above]andisacloseassociateofanumber
of Islamic extremists with links to Al Qa'eda
and/orBinLaden.

(2)hehasbeenconcernedinthepreparation
and/orinstigationofactsofinternationalter-
rorismbyprocuringhigh-techequipment(in-
cluding communications equipment) for the
GSPC and/or Islamic extremists in Chechnya
led by Ibn Khattab and has also procured
clothingforthelattergroup.

(3) he has supported one or more of the
GIA, theGSPCandthe IbnKhattabfaction in
Chechnyabyhisinvolvementinfraudperpe-
trated to facilitate the funding of extremists
andstoringandhandlingofpropagandavid-
eospromotingthejihad.

The Secretary of State's open case expands
onthoseallegationsandfurtherindicatesthe
useof at least one alias and apatternof as-
sociationwith individualsknownorassessed
to be involved in terrorism [five individuals
were identified].All theseweredescribedby
[counselfortheSecretaryofState]as'known
AlgerianIslamicextremists'.

Witness B [for the Secretary of State] con-
firmedthattheallegationagainst[thesecond
applicant]isthatheisamemberofanetwork,
ratherthanamemberofanyparticularorgani-
sationsuchastheGSPCortheGIA”.

SIAC continued by explaining the findings it 
had made against the applicant:
“Like the other Appellants, [the second ap-
plicant] is not charged in these proceedings
withaseriesof individualoffences.The issue
iswhether,takingtheevidenceasawhole,it
isreasonabletosuspecthimofbeinganinter-
national terrorist (asdefined).Whenwe look
at thematerialbeforeus, aswedo,we treat
it cumulatively. Itmightbe that thematerial
relatingtofraudalone,ortoclothingalone,or
tovideosalone,ortoassociations,wouldnot
by itself show that a personwas in anyway
involved in terrorism or its support. But we
needtoassessthesituationwhenvariousfac-
torsarefoundcombinedinthesameperson.
Thosefactorsareasfollows.Firstishisinvolve-
ment in acts of fraud, of which he must be
awarebutofwhichheseekstoprovidenoex-
planation,excusinghimselfapparentlyonthe
groundthathe isnotawarewhichparticular
actoractstheSecretaryofStatehasinmind.
Secondly, he has been involved in raising
consciousness (and hence in raisingmoney)
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aboutthestruggleinChechnya,andhasbeen
doing so ina specifically Islamic (rather than
a merely humanitarian) context, using and
distributingfilmswhich,accordingtotheevi-
dencebeforeus,tendtobefoundinextrem-
ist communities. In thegenericevidence,we
havedealtwiththeChechenArabMujahaddin
andthesignificanceofsupportforitwhichwe
acceptedisgiveninfullknowledgeofitswider
jihadistagenda....[He]hasdonesoasaclose
associateofAbuDoha.Giventheinformation
wehaveaboutAbuDohawhich,aswehave
said,wehavenoreasontodoubt,weregard
[thesecondapplicant's]claimthatAbuDoha
was doing nothing illegal (save that he was
hidinghisactivitiesfromtheRussians)asen-
tirelyimplausible....[He]hashadassociations
withanumberofotherindividualsinvolvedin
terrorism.Theyareforthemostpartspecified
byname in theopen casebut arenotmen-
tionedinhisownstatement....

Thesearethefivefeatureswhichmeetin[the
secondapplicant].NodoubttheSecretaryof
State could have made his case by demon-
strating various combinations of them in a
singleperson.Withallfive,weregardthecase
as compelling. We are entirely satisfied that
theSecretaryofStateisreasonableinhissus-
picionthat[thesecondapplicant]supportsor
assiststheGIA,theGSPC,andtheloosergroup
basedaroundAbuDoha,andinhisbeliefthat
at any time [the second applicant] is in the
UnitedKingdomhispresencehereisariskto
nationalsecurity.”

3.Thethirdapplicant
37. The third applicant is of Tunisian nationality, 

born in 1963 and resident in the United King-
dom from about 1994. He was certified by the 
Secretary of State on 18 December 2001 and 
detained the following day.

38. In its judgment of 29 October 2003, dismissing 
the third applicant's appeal against certifica-
tion, SIAC observed:
“ThecaseagainsttheAppellant,asframedin
theopenmaterial,isthatheisakeymember
ofanextremeIslamistgroupknownastheTu-
nisiaFightingGroup (TFG). It is said that this
group was formed during 2000 and had its
origins in the Tunisian Islamic Front (known
astheFITsincethenameisinFrench). Itsul-
timateaimissaidtobetoestablishanIslamic
State inTunisia. It is furtherassertedthatthe
Appellanthasbeen in regularcontactwitha
numberofknownextremists includingsome
whohavebeeninvolvedinterroristactivities
orplanning.BoththeFITandtheTFGaresaid
tohavelinkswithAlQa'eda.

The openmaterial deployed against theAp-
pellant isnotat all substantial. Theevidence
whichisreliedonagainsthimislargelytobe
found in theclosedmaterial. Thishasmeant
that he has been at a real disadvantage in
dealingwiththecasebecauseheisnotaware
ofthosewithwhomheisallegedtohavebeen
incontact.

...

InhisstatementtheAppellantsaysthathehas
neverheardof theTFGand iscertainlynota
memberof it. ...Wehavenodoubts that the
TFGexists ... [and] also that it has links toAl
Qa'eda. Our reasons for so concludingmust
begivenintheclosedjudgment.

InMay1998theAppellantandsome10oth-
erswerearrestedinajointSpecialBranchand
Security Service operation pursuant to war-
rants under the Prevention of Terrorism Act.
The Appellant was released without charge
andinduecoursereceived£18,500compen-
sationforwrongfularrest.Thearrestswerein
connectionwithallegationsofinvolvementin
aplot totarget theWorldCup inFrance.We
of coursegiveweight to the absenceof any
admissible evidence to support the Appel-
lant's involvement in the alleged conspiracy,
butitisnotandcannotbetheanswertothis
appeal.Wehavetoconsiderallthematerialto
seewhethertherearereasonablegroundsfor
abelieforsuspicionofthekindreferredtoin
section21(a)or(b)ofthe2001Act.

...

WearesatisfiedthattheAppellantisamem-
beroftheTFG,itselfaninternationalterrorist
organisationwithinthescopeofthe2001Act,
and that he has links with an international
terroristgroup.Weappreciate thatouropen
reasonsforbeingsosatisfiedaresparse.That
isbecausethematerialwhichdrivesustothat
conclusion ismainlyclosed.Wehaveconsid-
ered it carefully and in the contextof know-
ing the appellant denies any involvement in
terrorism or any knowing support for or as-
sistancetoterrorists.Wehavethereforebeen
carefulonlytorelyonmaterialwhichcannot
in our judgment have an innocent explana-
tion.”

39. SIAC reached similar conclusions in its periodic 
reviews of the case on 2 July and 15 December 
2004.

4.Thefourthapplicant
40. The fourth applicant was born in Algeria in 1971 

and first entered the United Kingdom in 1994. 
In May 1997 he was arrested and charged with 
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a number of offences, including a conspiracy to 
export to Algeria material which it was alleged 
was to be used for the purposes of terrorism. It 
was alleged that he was a member of GIA. The 
case against the applicant was abandoned in 
March 2000 when a key witness, a Security Ser-
vice agent, who was to give evidence concern-
ing the need for civilians to defend themselves 
against atrocities allegedly committed by the 
Algerian Government, decided that it was too 
dangerous for him to give evidence.

41. In 1998 the fourth applicant married a French 
national. He became a French citizen in May 
2001, although he did not inform the United 
Kingdom authorities of this. The Secretary of 
State certified him under section 21 of the 2001 
Act on 17 December 2001 and he was detained 
on 19 December 2001. On 13 March 2002 he 
left for France, where he was interviewed on 
arrival by security officials and then set at lib-
erty. Since he had left the United Kingdom, the 
certificate against him was revoked and the 
revocation was back-dated to 22 March 2002.

42. In its judgment of 29 October 2003, SIAC held 
that the back-dating of the revocation meant 
that the fourth applicant could not be re-
garded as having been certified at the time he 
lodged his appeal and that, therefore, he had 
no right of appeal. It nonetheless decided to 
consider the appeal on the basis that this con-
clusion might be wrong. Since the Secretary of 
State could not reasonably have known at the 
time the certificate was issued that the appli-
cant was a French citizen and could safely be 
removed to France, it could not be said on that 
ground that the certificate should not have 
been issued. SIAC therefore continued by as-
sessing the evidence against him:
“Inreachingourdecision,wewillhavetocon-
sider not only the open but also the closed
material. TheAppellantappears tohave sus-
pectedthathewasthesubjectofsurveillance
overmuchoftherelevantperiod.

Weareconsciousoftheneedtobeverycare-
fulnottoassumeguiltfromassociation.There
must bemore than friendship or consorting
with those who are believed to be involved
in international terrorism to justify a reason-
able suspicion that the Appellant is himself
involvedinthoseactivitiesorisatleastknow-
inglysupportingorassistingthem.Webearin
mind [his solicitor's] concerns that what has
happenedhereisanattempttoresurrectthe
prosecutionwithnothingtoaddfromhisac-
tivities since.Detentionmustbe regardedas
alastresortandsocannotbejustifiedonthe

basisofassociationaloneandinanyeventthe
guiltof theassociateshasneverbeenestab-
lished....

Nonetheless, continued association with
thosewhoaresuspectedofbeinginvolvedin
internationalterrorismwithlinkstoAlQa'eda
in the light of the reasonable suspicion that
theAppellantwashimselfactivelyinvolvedin
terroristactivitiesfortheGIAisamatterwhich
canproperlybetakenintoaccount.TheGSPC,
whichbrokeawayfromtheGIA,haslinkstoAl
Qa'edaandtheAppellanthascontinuedtoas-
sociatewiththosewhotooktotheGSPCrath-
er than theGIA.We are in fact satisfied that
notonlywas theAppellant actively involved
initiallywiththeGIAandthenwiththeGSPC
butalsothatheprovidedfalsedocumentation
fortheirmembersandfortheMujahaddinin
Chechnyaasisallegedintheopenstatement.
Butweaccept thathis activities in2000and
2001justifytheuseoftheexpressionthathe
had beenmaintaining a low profile, andwe
makethatobservationhavingregardtoboth
openandclosedmaterial.Nonetheless,alow
profiledoesnotmeanthatheisnotproperly
to be regarded as an international terrorist
within themeaningof section21.Anassess-
menthastobemadeofwhathemaydointhe
lightofwhathehasdoneandthefactthathe
hasshownwillingnessandtheabilitytogive
assistanceandsupportinthepastandcontin-
uestheassociationsandtoprovidesomehelp
(e.g.theuseofhisvan)ishighlyrelevant.

We have not found this aspect of the Ap-
pellant's case at all easy.We have given full
weighttoall[hissolicitor's]submissionswhich
weresopersuasivelyputbeforeusbutinthe
end have reached the view that, looking at
the evidence as a whole, the decision to is-
sueacertificatewasnotwrong.Accordingly,
wewouldnothaveallowedtheappealonthe
facts.”

5.Thefifthapplicant
43. The fifth applicant was born in Algeria in 1969. 

In his statement to SIAC he claimed to have de-
veloped polio as a child which left him with a 
permanently weak and paralysed right leg. He 
was arrested and tortured by the Algerian Gov-
ernment in 1991, whereupon he left Algeria 
for Saudi Arabia. In 1992 he moved to Pakistan 
and travelled to Afghanistan on several occa-
sions. In August 1995 he entered the United 
Kingdom and claimed asylum, alleging in the 
course of that claim that his leg had been in-
jured by a shell in Afghanistan in 1994. His asy-
lum claim was refused and his appeal against 
the refusal was dismissed in December 1999. 
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The applicant married a French citizen and had 
a child with her.

44. He was certified by the Secretary of State un-
der section 21 of the 2001 Act on 17 December 
2001 and detained on 19 December 2001. In its 
judgment of 29 October 2003, dismissing the 
fifth applicant's appeal against certification, 
SIAC observed:
“Theopenstatementsprovidedto justifythe
certification do not refer to a great deal of
sourcematerialandsoconsistmainlyofasser-
tions.Aswithmostoftheseappeals,themain
partoftheevidenceliesinclosedmaterialand
so,aswearewellaware,theAppellantshave
beenatadisadvantageinthattheyhavenot
beenable todealwithwhatmightbe taken
tobeincriminatingevidence.TheSpecialAd-
vocates have been able to challenge certain
matters and sometimes to good effect. That
indeedwas thecase in relation toacamp in
Dorsetattendedbyanumberofthose,includ-
ing theAppellant, of interest to the Security
Service....

ThecaseagainsttheAppellantisthathewas
amemberoftheGIAand,sinceitssplit from
theGIA,of theGSPC.He isassociatedwitha
numberofleadingextremists,someofwhom
are also members of or associated with the
GSPC,andhasprovidedactivesupportinthe
form of the supply of false documents and
facilitating young Muslims from the United
Kingdomtotravel toAfghanistantotrain for
jihad. He is regarded as having undertaken
an important role in the support activities
undertakenonbehalfof theGSPCandother
IslamicextremistsintheUnitedKingdomand
outsideit.AllthistheAppellantdeniesandin
hisstatementhegivesinnocentexplanations
for the associations alleged against him. He
was indeed friendly with in particular other
Algerians in the United Kingdom and, so far
as [the fourth applicant]was concerned, the
familieswere closebecause, apart fromany-
thingelse,theirrespectivewiveswereFrench.
Heattended[theeighthapplicant's]mosque.
Hewasanimpressivepreacherandtheappel-
lantsayshe listenedbutwasnever involved.
Indeedhedidnotknow[theeighthapplicant]
except through Chechen relief, which the
AppellantandmanyhundredsofotherMus-
lims supported, andhehadnever spoken to
him on the telephone. He had on occasions
approached [the eighth applicant] at Friday
prayersatthemosqueifhewantedguidance
onsomesocialproblem.”

SIAC referred to “open” surveillance reports 
which showed the applicant to have been in 

contact with other alleged members of GIA 
and the GSPC, including at a camp in Dorset in 
July 1999. Further “open” evidence concerned 
his “unhelpful” and “not altogether truthful” 
responses to questioning by officers of the Se-
curity Service in July and September 2001. SIAC 
continued:
“Relianceisplacedonvariousarticlesfoundin
hishousewhenhewasarrested.Theseinclude
acopyofthefatwaissuedbyBinLaden.The
Appellantsayshehadneverseenitandcould
notexplainitspresence.AGSPCcommuniqué
was,hesays,probablyonehandedoutatthe
mosque.Analysisoftheharddriveofhiscom-
puter showed it had visited an internet site
thatspecialisedinUnitedStatesmilitarytech-
nology.Thiswasnotsomethingwhichcould
be relevant to theAppellant's studies.Anda
handdrawndiagramofamissilerockethehas
notseenbefore.Itmight,hethinks,havebeen
inabookaboutIslamhehadboughtsecond
handfromthemosque.

Wenote thedenials,butwehave toconsid-
erall theevidence.Aswillbeclear from this
judgment,wehavereasontodoubtsomeof
theAppellant'sassertions.Buttheclosedma-
terial confirms our view that there is indeed
reasonable suspicion that the Appellant is
an international terroristwithin themeaning
of section 21 and reasonable belief that his
presence in the United Kingdom is a risk to
national security.We have no doubt that he
hasbeen involved in theproductionof false
documentation,hasfacilitatedyoungMuslims
totraveltoAfghanistantotrainforjihadand
hasactivelyassistedterroristswhohavelinks
withAlQa'eda.Wearesatisfiedtoothathehas
activelyassistedtheGSPC.Wehavenohesita-
tionindismissinghisappeal.”

45. On 22 April 2004, because of concerns about 
his health, the fifth applicant was released 
from prison on bail on strict conditions, which 
amounted to house arrest with further con-
trols. In its review judgment of 2 July 2004, 
SIAC held:
“... in granting bail, [SIAC] did not revise its
viewastothestrengthofthegroundsforbe-
lievinghewasaninternationalterroristanda
threattonationalsecurity.Thethreatcouldbe
managedproportionately inhis case in view
ofhisseverementalillness.Thathoweverisno
reason to cancel the certificate. Theremight
be circumstances in which he breaches the
terms of his bail or for other reasons it was
necessary to revoke it. Theneed for the cer-
tificatetocontinuemustdependonwhether
thetermsofthestatuteandofthederogation
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continuetobemet.

Anumberofhis contacts remainat large in-
cluding some who are regarded as actively
involvedinterroristplanning.Thereisnothing
to suggest that hismental illness hasdimin-
ishedhiscommitmenttotheextremistIslamic
cause;hehastheexperienceandcapacityto
involvehimselfoncemoreinextremistactiv-
ity. The bail restraints on him are essential;
thoseareimposedpursuanttohiscertification
andtheSIACdismissalofhisappealagainstit.
Thecertificateisproperlymaintained.”

46. On 15 December 2004, SIAC again reviewed 
the case and decided that the certificate 
should be maintained.

6.Thesixthapplicant
47. The sixth applicant was born in Algeria in 1967 

and was resident in the United Kingdom from 
1989. The Secretary of State issued a certificate 
against him on 17 December 2001 and he was 
taken into detention on 19 December 2001.

48. In its judgment of 29 October 2003 SIAC ob-
served as follows:
“Althoughwehave tomakeourdecisionon
thebasisbothoftheopenandoftheclosed
material, it is important to indicate the case
against[thesixthapplicant]asithasbeenset
outbytheSecretaryofStateinopenmaterial,
becausethat isthecasethat[thesixthappli-
cant]knowsthathehastomeet.Inassessing
hisstatementandtheotherevidenceandar-
gumentssubmittedonhisbehalf,weremind
ourselves always that he is not aware of the
Secretary of State's closedmaterial, but nev-
erthelessthatheisnotoperatingentirelyina
vacuumbecauseoftheopenallegations;and
wemaytesttheAppellant'sowncasebythe
wayhedealswiththoseallegations.

TheSecretaryofState'scaseagainst[thesixth
applicant]issummarisedasfollows:

(1)hebelongs toand/or is amemberof the
GSPC, and previously was involved with the
GIA;

(2) he has supported and assisted the GSPC
(andpreviouslytheGIA)throughhis involve-
ment in credit card fraud which is a main
sourceof income in theUnitedKingdom for
theGSPC;

(3) fromaboutAugust2000, [thesixthappli-
cant] tookonan important role inprocuring
telecommunication equipment for the GSPC
andtheprovisionoflogisticalsupportforsat-
ellitephonesbywayofpurchaseandalloca-

tionofairtimesforthosephones;

(4) he has also played an important part in
procuring telecommunications equipment
andotherequipmentfortheMujahedinfight-
ing in Chechnya – that is to say the faction
whichuntil2002wasunderthecommandof
IbnKhattab.”

SIAC then reviewed the open evidence be-
fore it regarding the purchase by Abu Doha, 
assisted by the sixth and seventh applicants, 
of a number of satellite telephones and other 
telecommunications equipment to the value 
of GBP 229,265 and the nature and extent of 
the connection between the sixth and seventh 
applicants. It concluded:
“In thecircumstanceswehavesetout, itap-
pears to us that the Secretary of State has
amplegroundforsuspicionthat[thesixthap-
plicant's]procurementactivitiesweredirected
to the supportof theextremistArab Islamist
faction fighting in Chechnya. That support
arises from[thesixthapplicant's]connexions
withandsupportoftheGSPC.Weemphasise,
asisthecasewithotherappealsaswell,that
itistheaccumulationoffactors,eachlending
support to theothers rather thanundermin-
ingotherpoints,providingcolourandcontext
fortheactivitiesseenasawholewhichisper-
suasive; itwouldbewrongtotakeapiecein
isolation, thereby to diminish its significance
and to miss the larger picture. The generic
judgment supports these conclusions. These
areactivitiesfallingcentrallywithinthedero-
gation.[Thesixthapplicant]hasprovidedonly
implausible denials and has failed to offer
crediblealternativeexplanations.Thatissuffi-
cienttodeterminehisappeal,withoutmaking
anyfurtherreferencetotheSecretaryofState's
otherallegationswhich,aswasacknowledged
intheopenstatementand inopenevidence
before[SIAC],canbeproperlysustainedonly
byexaminationoftheclosedmaterial.”

49. SIAC reviewed the case on 2 July 2004 and 28 
February 2005 and, on each occasion, decided 
that there were still grounds for maintaining 
the certificate.

7.Theseventhapplicant
50. The seventh applicant was born in Algeria 

in 1971 and apparently entered the United 
Kingdom using false French identity papers in 
or before 1994. On 7 December 2001 he was 
convicted of a number of driving offences and 
sentenced to four months' imprisonment. He 
was certified by the Secretary of State on 5 Feb-
ruary 2002 and taken into detention pursuant 
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to the certificate as soon as his prison sentence 
ended on 9 February 2002.

51. In its judgment of 29 October 2003, SIAC noted 
that the allegations against the seventh ap-
plicant were that he had been a member of 
the GSPC since 1997 or 1998, and before that 
a member of the GIA; that his contacts with 
leading GSPC members in the United Kingdom 
showed that he was a trusted member of the 
organisation; and that he had been involved 
with Abu Doha and the sixth applicant in pur-
chasing telecommunications equipment for 
use by extremists in Chechnya and Algeria. It 
further noted that:
“[Theseventhapplicant]didnotgiveevidence
before [SIAC] and, indeed, chose not to at-
tendthehearingofhisappeal.Hisstatement,
whichwehaveofcourseread, is inthemost
general terms, and, perhapsnot surprisingly,
[his counsel's] submissions, both oral and
written, were similarly general. [The seventh
applicant's]approachtothepresentproceed-
ingsofthemselvesandthefactthathedidnot
giveoralevidenceormakeanydetailedwrit-
tenstatementarenotmatterstobeputinthe
scaleagainsthim.Wewellunderstandthedif-
ficulty thatAppellantshave incircumstances
where the allegations against them are only
summarisedandwheremuchoftheevidence
onwhichthoseallegationsarebasedcannot,
forreasonsofnationalsecurity,becommuni-
catedtotheAppellantsthemselves.However,
[theseventhapplicant]isinthebestposition
toknowwhathisactivitiesandmotiveshave
beenintherelevantperiod.Nothingprevents
himfromgivingafulldescriptionandaccount
of those activities if hewishes to do so. The
factthathehaschosentoprovidenodetailed
account of his activities means that he has
providednomaterialtocountertheevidence
andargumentsofothers”.

SIAC concluded that the open and closed ma-
terial supported the allegations against the 
seventh applicant and it dismissed his appeal.

52. In its review judgments of 2 July and 15 De-
cember 2004 SIAC decided that the certificate 
should be maintained.

8.Theeighthapplicant
53. The eighth applicant is a Jordanian national, 

born in Bethlehem in 1960. He arrived in the 
United Kingdom on 16 September 1993 and 
claimed asylum. He was recognised as a refu-
gee and granted leave to remain until 30 June 
1998. On 8 May 1998 he applied for indefinite 
leave to remain but the application had not 

been determined at the time of the coming 
into force of the 2001 Act.

54. The eighth applicant was convicted in absentia 
in Jordan for his involvement in terrorist attacks 
there and in relation to a plot to plant bombs 
to coincide with the millennium. He was inves-
tigated in February 2001 by anti-terrorism po-
lice officers in connection with a plot to cause 
explosions at the Strasbourg Christmas mar-
ket in December 2000, but no charges were 
brought against him. When the 2001 Act was 
passed he went into hiding. He was arrested on 
23 October 2002 and was immediately made 
the subject of a section 21 certificate and taken 
into detention. On the same date a deportation 
order was made against him.

55. In its judgment of 8 March 2004, dismissing the 
eighth applicant's appeal against certification, 
SIAC observed as follows:
“[The eighth applicant's counsel], on instruc-
tionsfromtheappellant,informedusthathis
clienthadchosennottoattendthehearingor
toparticipateinanyway.Hehadreadthedeci-
sionsrelatingtotheappellantswhohadbeen
certifiedwhen the 2001Act came into force
andthegeneric judgmentandsofeltcertain
that the result of his appealwas a foregone
conclusion.Therehadbeenmany references
tohisroleintheotherappealsandsomehad
beencertifiedanddetained,atleastinpart,on
thebasisthattheyassociatedwithhim.Since
thatassociationwasregardedassufficientto
justify their continued detention, he consid-
ered that the decision on his appeal had, in
effect,alreadybeentaken.Hehadchosennot
toplayanypartpreciselybecausehehasno
faithintheabilityofthesystemtogetatthe
truth.HeconsideredthattheSIACprocedure
had deliberately been established to avoid
openandpublicscrutinyoftherespondent's
case,whichdeprived individualsofa fairop-
portunitytochallengethecaseagainstthem.

Havingsaidthat,[theeighthapplicant'scoun-
sel]madeitclearthattheappealwasnotbe-
ing withdrawn. It was accordingly necessary
forustoconsider itandtotake intoaccount
the statement made by the appellant. [His
counsel] emphasised a number of matters
which, he suggested, should be regarded as
favourable to theappellant'scontentionthat
hewas not and never had been involved in
terrorismwithinthemeaningofthe2001Act.
Furthermore, the allegations showed that a
distorted and over-simplified view was be-
ing taken by the security services of the ap-
pellant'sactivitiesandhisroleasarespected
teacher and believer in the rights of Islamic
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communicationthroughouttheworld.

We should make it clear that we have con-
sidered the case against the appellanton its
merits.Wehavenotbeen influencedby any
findingsmadeinotherappealsorthegeneric
judgments.Oneofthereasonswhythisjudg-
ment has taken a long time to be prepared
wastheneedforustoreadthroughandcon-
sidertheevidence,bothopenandclosed,that
hasbeenputbeforeus.There ismuchmore
ofitthaninmostoftheotherappeals.Thatis
areflectionofthefactthattheappellanthas
been associatedwith and had dealingswith
many of the otherswhohave been certified
andwith individuals and groups themselves
linked toAlQa'ida.Weseeno reason todis-
sentfromtheviewsexpressedinthegeneric
judgment of the significance of the various
individuals and groups referred to in it. But
thatdoesnotmeanwehave thereforeauto-
matically accepted its views.Wedrawatten-
tiontothefactthatthepanelwhichproduced
thegenericjudgmentwasnotthesamecon-
stitutionas thispanelandthatsuch inputas
therewasbythechairmanofthispaneltothe
genericjudgmentwaslimitedtoissuesoflaw.
Wehaveconsideredthecaseagainsttheap-
pellant on thematerial put before us in this
appeal....

Whenitcametotheclosedsession,theSpe-
cial Advocates informedus that after careful
considerationtheyhaddecidedthatitwould
notbeintheappellant'sinterestsforthemto
takeanypartintheproceedings.Wewerevery
concernedatthis,takingtheviewthatthede-
cisionwaswrong.Theappealwas stillbeing
pursuedandtheappellantdidnotknowwhat
wasreliedonagainsthimintheclosedmate-
rial.Wewereunabletounderstandhowinthe
circumstances itcouldnotbe inhis interests
for theSpecialAdvocates, at theirdiscretion,
toelicitor identifymatters favourable to the
appellant and tomake submissions to us to
seektopersuadeusthatevidencewasinfact
unreliable or did not justify the assessment
made.Whenweasked[oneofthetwoSpecial
Advocatesappointedonbehalfoftheeighth
applicant]totelluswhyhehaddecidedashe
hadhetoldus thathecouldnotdososince
todosowouldnotbeintheappellant'sinter-
est.WeadjournedtoenabletheSpecialAdvo-
cates to seek to discover from the appellant
through his representatives whether he did
wishthemtodowhattheycouldonhisbehalf
and we also contacted the Solicitor General
whohadappointedtheSpecialAdvocatesto
seek her help in trying to persuade them to
assist us. The appellant's representatives in-
dicated that they hadnothing to say on the
subjectandtheSolicitorGeneraltooktheview

thatitwouldbewrongforhertointervenein
anyway.Ourfurtherattemptstopersuadethe
SpecialAdvocatestochangetheirmindswere
unsuccessfulandsincewecouldnotcompel
them to act in anyparticularwaywehad to
proceedwithoutthem.[CounselfortheSecre-
taryofState],atourrequest,identifiedvarious
matterswhichmightberegardedaspossibly
exculpatory and we ourselves raised other
mattersinthecourseoftheclosedhearing.

WeareconsciousthattheabsenceofaSpecial
Advocatemakesour taskevenmoredifficult
than itnormally isandthatthepotentialun-
fairnesstotheappellantisthemoreapparent.
Wedonotdoubt that theSpecialAdvocates
believedtheyhadgoodreasonsforadopting
the stance that they did andwe are equally
sure that they thought long andhard about
whethertheyweredoingtherightthing.But
we are bound to record our clear view that
theywerewrongandthattherecouldbeno
reason for not continuing to take part in an
appeal that was still being pursued. ... As it
happens,theevidenceinthiscaseagainstthe
appellant is so strong that no Special Advo-
cates,howeverbrilliant,couldhavepersuaded
usthatreasonablesuspicionhadnotbeenes-
tablishedsothatthecertificationwasnotjus-
tified.ThustheabsenceofSpecialAdvocates
hasnotprejudicedtheappellant....”

56. SIAC then summarised the open case against 
the applicant, which was that he had associ-
ated with and acted as spiritual adviser to a 
number of individuals and groups linked with 
al'Qaeda. He held extreme and fundamentalist 
views and had been reported as having, in his 
speeches at a London mosque, given his bless-
ing to the killing of Jews and Americans, wher-
ever they were. SIAC concluded:
“Wearesatisfiedthattheappellant'sactivities
wentfarbeyondthemeregivingofadvice.He
hascertainlygiventhesupportoftheKoranto
thosewhowishtofurthertheaimsofAlQa'ida
andtoengageinsuicidebombingandother
murderousactivities.Theevidenceissufficient
to show that he has been concerned in the
instigation of acts of international terrorism.
Butspiritualadvicegivenintheknowledgeof
thepurposesforwhichandtheusestowhich
it is tobeputprovidesassistancewithin the
meaningofs.21(4)ofthe2001Act.

...

Therearealargenumberofallegationsmade.
Weseenopointindealingwiththemseriatim.
Wehave indicatedwhywehave formed the
view that the case made against the appel-
lantisestablished.Indeed,werethestandard
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higher than reasonable suspicion, wewould
havehadnodoubtthatitwasestablished.The
appellantwasheavilyinvolved,indeedwasat
the centre in the United Kingdom of terror-
istactivitiesassociatedwithAlQa'ida.Heisa
trulydangerous individualandtheseappeals
aredismissed.”

9.Theninthapplicant
57. The ninth applicant is Algerian, born in 1972. In 

1991 he left Algeria for Afghanistan, where he 
taught Arabic in a refugee camp. He claimed 
asylum in the United Kingdom in 1993. In 1994 
he was granted leave to remain for four years 
and in 2000 he was granted indefinite leave to 
remain, on the basis that he was to be regarded 
as a refugee. On four occasions, the last in May 
1998, the applicant was arrested and released 
without charge. The first three arrests related to 
credit card fraud. The arrest in May 1998 related 
to alleged terrorist activities and the applicant 
was subsequently paid compensation by the 
police for false arrest.

58. The ninth applicant was certified by the Secre-
tary of State and made the subject of a depor-
tation order on 22 April 2002. He was detained 
on the same day. According to the evidence of 
one of the witnesses for the Secretary of State, 
he was not certified, with the other applicants, 
in December 2001 because one of his files had 
been lost.

59. In its judgment of 29 October 2003, SIAC noted 
that the allegations against the ninth appli-
cant were that he was an active supporter of 
the GSPC and had raised considerable sums 
of money for it through fraud. There was evi-
dence that the applicant had in the past been 
found, by customs officers, attempting to en-
ter the United Kingdom by ferry with large 
amounts of cash and that he had close links 
with others who had been convicted of credit 
card fraud. SIAC held that evidence of involve-
ment in fraud did not establish involvement in 
terrorism. However, it noted that the applicant 
had been present at a camp in Dorset in the 
company of the fifth applicant and a number 
of others suspected of being GSPC supporters 
and that a telephone bill had been found at 
his house at the time of his arrest in the name 
of Yarkas, who had been arrested in Spain in 
November 2001 due to his alleged links with 
al'Qaeda. The applicant had given evidence 
but had not been a convincing witness and 
had not given a credible explanation for the 
foregoing. The closed evidence supported the 
Secretary of State's allegations and SIAC there-

fore dismissed the applicant's appeal against 
certification.

60. In its review judgments of 2 July 2004 and 15 
December 2004, SIAC held that the certificate 
was properly maintained.

10. Thetenthapplicant
61. The tenth applicant is an Algerian national. 

Following a bomb explosion in Algeria, his left 
hand was amputated at the wrist and his right 
arm was amputated below the elbow. In 1999 
he travelled to the United Kingdom, via Abu 
Dhabi and Afghanistan, and claimed asylum. 
His claim was refused on 27 February 2001. He 
was then in custody, having been arrested on 
15 February 2001 and charged with posses-
sion of articles for suspected terrorist purposes, 
conspiracy to defraud and conspiracy to make 
false instruments. At the time of his arrest he 
was found to have in his possession approxi-
mately 40 blank French driving licences, iden-
tity cards and passports, a credit card reader, 
laminators and an embossing machine. The 
charges were not, however, proceeded with 
and he was released on 17 May 2001.

62. On 14 January 2003 the Secretary of State is-
sued a certificate against him under section 21 
of the 2001 Act and he was taken into deten-
tion. A deportation order was made against 
him on the same day.

63. In its judgment of 27 January 2004 SIAC noted 
that the essence of the case against the tenth 
applicant was that since his arrival in the United 
Kingdom he had been closely associated with 
a network of extremists formerly led by Abu 
Doha (see paragraph 26 above). In particular, 
it was alleged that he had provided logistical 
support in the form of false documentation 
and money raised through credit card fraud. 
He had spent a lot of time at the Finsbury Park 
Mosque, a known centre of Islamist extremism, 
and was alleged to have attended a meeting 
there in June 2001 at which threats were made 
against the G8 summit in Genoa.

The applicant submitted a written statement 
on 28 June 2003 in which he denied the al-
legations against him. He did not, however, 
participate in the hearing of his appeal, as SIAC 
explained in its judgment:
“Hewas,said[hiscounsel],agenuinerefugee,
amemberofnoorganisationorgroupandnot
involved in terrorismor inadvocating terror-
ism.Hehadnoknowledgeofanyplannedter-
rorist attacks and couldnot understandwhy
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theaccusationshadbeenmadeagainsthim.
Hehadseennoneoftheunderlyingmaterial
andhadnomeansofchallengingit.Ineffect,
hecoulddonomorethanassertthatitcould
notjustifytheconclusionthathewasaninter-
national terrorist within the meaning of the
Actsincehewasnot.Hehadhadreadtohim
thedecisionsof[SIAC]inthepreviousappeals.
Giventherelevancewhichwasplacedonthe
closedmaterialandthestatutorytestapplica-
ble,hefeltthattheresultwasaforegonecon-
clusion.Hedidnotwishinparticipatinginthe
appealtogiveanimpressionwhichwasfalse
that he could deal with the matters which
werebeingreliedonagainsthim.Hehadno
confidence in the proceedings. Accordingly
hewouldtakenoactivepartinthembeyond
thestatementwhich[hiscounsel]madeonhis
behalf.

Hedidnotwithdrawhisappeal.Whileweap-
preciate the handicap under which he and
indeed all the appellants labour, wewish to
make it clear that no appeal is a foregone
conclusion.We have to andwe do consider
theevidenceputbeforeus,whetheropenor
closed,with care becausewe recognise that
the result isdetention foranunspecifiedpe-
riodwithouttrial.Whilewerecognisethatthe
SpecialAdvocatehasadifficulttaskwhenhe
hasandcanobtainnoinstructionsonclosed
material,he isabletotestevidencefromthe
SecurityServiceandtodrawourattentionto
materialwhichassiststheappellant'scase.”

SIAC found that there was ample evidence to 
support the view that the applicant was in-
volved in fraudulent activities. The evidence 
before it, most of it closed, was sufficient to es-
tablish that he was doing it to raise money for 
terrorist causes and to support those involved 
in terrorism. It therefore dismissed the appeal 
against certification.

64. SIAC reached similar decisions in its review 
judgments of 4 August 2004 and 16 February 
2005. In the latter judgment, it noted that al-
though the applicant had been transferred to 
Broadmoor Secure Mental Hospital because of 
mental health problems, that made no differ-
ence to the assessment of the risk to national 
security which he would pose if released.

11. Theeleventhapplicant
65. The eleventh applicant is an Algerian national. 

He entered the United Kingdom in February 
1998, using a false Italian identity card, and 
claimed asylum the following week. While his 
claim was pending, in July 2001, he travelled 
to Georgia using a false French passport and 

was deported back to the United Kingdom, 
where he was informed that his travel outside 
the United Kingdom had terminated his asy-
lum claim. He made a second claim for asy-
lum, which was refused on 21 August 2001. 
The applicant absconded. He was arrested on 
10 October 2001 and held in an Immigration 
Detention centre, from which he absconded in 
February 2002. He was rearrested on 19 Sep-
tember 2002 and detained at Belmarsh Prison 
under immigration law provisions.

66. On 2 October 2003 the Secretary of State certi-
fied him as an international terrorist under sec-
tion 21 of the 2001 Act and made a deporta-
tion order against him on grounds of national 
security.

67. In its judgment of 12 July 2004, dismissing the 
eleventh applicant's appeal against certifica-
tion, SIAC set out the open case against him. 
It was alleged that he was an established and 
senior member of the Abu Doha group (see 
paragraph 26 above). In July 2001 he had at-
tempted to travel to Chechnya and, when ar-
rested by the Georgian police, he had been 
found in possession of telephone numbers 
associated with a senior member of the Abu 
Doha group and a named member of the 
GSPC, who was known to be involved in fun-
draising for the Chechen Mujahaddin. He was 
alleged to have provided money and logistical 
support to a North African extremist Islamist 
network based in Pakistan and Afghanistan, 
with links to al'Qaeda, and to have assisted 
members of the Abu Doha group in travel-
ling to Afghanistan, Pakistan and Chechnya. 
He had lived at the Finsbury Park Mosque for 
over a year in 1999/2000. He was very security 
conscious and during a trip to St Albans in Sep-
tember 2001 he had taken measures to avoid 
being followed. When he was arrested in Sep-
tember 2002 he was found in possession of a 
false Belgian passport bearing the photograph 
of a senior member of the Abu Doha group. He 
was alleged to have been heavily involved in 
the supply of false documents and the fraudu-
lent use of cheque books and credit cards.

68. The applicant filed a written statement in 
which he denied being an international ter-
rorist. He admitted that he had travelled to Af-
ghanistan in 1999 and that he had attempted 
to go to Chechnya in 2001, but claimed that his 
interest in these countries was no more than 
that shown by many devout Muslims. He re-
fused to participate in the hearing of his appeal 
or to be represented by a lawyer, in protest at 
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the fundamental unfairness of the procedure. 
In view of the applicant's position, the Special 
Advocates decided that his interests would 
best be served if they refrained from making 
submissions on his behalf or asking questions 
of the witnesses in the closed session.

69. In dismissing the applicant's appeal, SIAC held 
as follows:
“We recognise the difficulties faced by an
Appellantwho only sees only the openma-
terial and can understand [the eleventh ap-
plicant's] perception that theprocedures are
unfair.However, each casewill turnupon its
own individual facts, and itwouldbewrong
to give the impression, which [his solicitor]
sought to do, that this particular appellant
hadbeenplaced inapositionwherehewas
preventedbyreasonoftheproceduresunder
theActfrommountinganeffectivedefencein
responsetothecasemadeagainsthim.

We have summarised the informationmade
available to [the eleventh applicant] at the
various stages of the procedure ... and [his]
response to this information in his Written
Statement. While some of the assessments
in the openmaterial can fairly be described
as general assertions unsupported by any
documentaryevidence, inresponsetowhich
[theeleventhapplicant]wouldnothavebeen
abletogiveanymorethananequallygeneral
denial,itisclearthatinrespectofotherassess-
ments[he]wasprovidedwithagreatdealof
detailedinformation:names,dates,placesand
supportingdocuments.

[Theeleventhapplicant]isinthebestposition
togiveanaccountofhiswhereaboutsandac-
tivities sincehe first claimedasylum in1998.
His written statement is significant not so
muchforwhatitsays,asforwhatitdoesnot
say.Totakeoneexample:thevisittoStAlbans
andthephoto-boothwhere[theeleventhap-
plicant]saysthattheRespondent'sspecificas-
sertionis 'completelywrong'...[Theeleventh
applicant]hasnotdenied thathewent toSt
Albans.Heknowswhoaccompaniedhimand
why they went there. He has not explained
why they went there, nor has he identified
hiscompanion,despitehavingbeenprovided
with the photographs taken during the sur-
veillanceoperation....”

SIAC continued by noting the inconsistencies 
in the applicant's various accounts of his trips 
to Afghanistan, Georgia and Dubai and his 
failure to deal with the Secretary of State's al-
legations that he had associated with various 
members of the Abu Doha group, identified by 

name. SIAC continued:
“Themattersreferredto...arenotanexhaus-
tivelist,merelythemostobviousexamplesof
the way in which [the eleventh applicant's]
writtenstatementfailstodealwiththeopen
casemadeagainsthim.Giventheunsatisfac-
tory nature of the statementwe do not feel
able to give any significant weight to the
generaldenialscontainedwithinit...Wehave
dealt with these matters in some detail be-
causetheyareusefulillustrationsoftheextent
towhich[theeleventhapplicant]wouldhave
beenable to answer the case againsthim, if
hehadchosentodoso.Whilewedonotdraw
anyadverseinferencefrom[his]failuretogive
evidence,orotherwiseparticipateinthehear-
ingofhisappeal,wedohavetodeterminehis
appealon theevidenceandweare leftwith
thepositionthat therehasbeennoeffective
challengebywayofevidence,cross-examina-
tionor submission to theopenmaterialpro-
ducedbytheRespondent.

...

The standard of proof prescribed by section
25(2)ofthe2001Actisrelativelylow:arethere
reasonablegroundsforbelieforsuspicion.As
explainedabove,wearesatisfiedthatthislow
thresholdiseasilycrossedonthebasisofthe
openmaterialalone.Ifthetotalityofthemate-
rial,bothopenandclosed, is considered,we
have no doubt that [the eleventh applicant]
wasasenior,andactive,memberoftheAbu
DohagroupasdescribedintheRespondent's
evidence.”

E. The conditions of detention and the effect 
of detention on the applicants' health

70. The detained applicants were all initially de-
tained at Belmarsh Prison in London. The sixth 
applicant was transferred to Woodhill Prison 
and the first, seventh and tenth applicants 
were transferred to Broadmoor Secure Mental 
Hospital.

71. They were held in prison under the same re-
gime as other standard risk Category A pris-
oners, which was considered the appropriate 
security classification on the basis of the risk 
they posed. They were allowed visitors, once 
those visitors had been security-cleared, and 
could associate with other prisoners, make tel-
ephone calls and write and receive letters. They 
had access to an imam and to their legal repre-
sentatives. They had the same level of access 
to health care, exercise, education and work as 
any other prisoner of their security ranking.

Following a recommendation of the inspector 
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appointed under the 2001 Act to review the 
detention regime, the Government created a 
Special Unit at Woodhill Prison to house the 
2001 Act detainees. The Unit, which was re-
furbished in consultation with the detained 
applicants and their representatives and had a 
specially selected and trained staff, would have 
allowed for a more relaxed regime, including 
more out-of-cell time. The applicants, howev-
er, chose not to move to the Unit, a decision 
which the inspector found regrettable.

72. The first applicant, who alleged a history of 
ill-treatment in Israeli detention and who had 
first been treated for depression in May 1999, 
suffered a severe deterioration in his mental 
health while detained in Belmarsh Prison. He 
was transferred to Broadmoor Secure Mental 
Hospital in July 2002.

73. The seventh applicant reported a family history 
of psychiatric disorder and had experienced 
depression as an adolescent. He claimed to suf-
fer increasingly throughout his detention from 
depression, paranoia and auditory hallucina-
tions. He attempted suicide in May 2004 and 
was transferred to Broadmoor Secure Mental 
Hospital on 17 November 2004.

74. The tenth applicant, a double amputee, 
claimed to have been detained and tortured in 
Algeria. He suffered a deterioration in his physi-
cal and mental health in Belmarsh Prison. He 
went on hunger strike in May/June 2003 and 
refused to use the prostheses which had been 
issued to him or to cooperate with his nurses. 
Early in November 2003, the prison authorities 
withdrew his nursing care. His legal representa-
tives applied for judicial review of this decision 
and in December 2003 nursing care was re-
sumed following the order of the Administra-
tive Court. On 1 November 2004 the tenth ap-
plicant was transferred to Broadmoor Secure 
Mental Hospital.

75. The European Committee for the Prevention of 
Torture and Inhuman or Degrading Treatment 
or Punishment (“CPT”) visited the detained ap-
plicants in February 2002 and again in March 
2004, and made a number of criticisms of the 
conditions in which the detained applicants 
were held. The Government rejected these 
criticisms (see paragraphs 101-102 below).

76. In October 2004, at the request of the appli-
cants' legal representatives, a group of eight 
consultant psychiatrists prepared a Joint Psy-
chiatric Report on the detained applicants, 
which concluded:

“The detainees originate from countries
wheremental illness ishighlystigmatized. In
addition, fordevoutMuslimsthere isadirect
prohibitionagainstsuicide.Thisisparticularly
significant given the number who have at-
temptedorareconsideringsuicide.Allofthe
detainees have serious mental health prob-
lemswhicharethedirectresultof,orareseri-
ouslyexacerbatedby,theindefinitenatureof
the detention. The mental health problems
predominantlytaketheformofmajordepres-
sivedisorderandanxiety.Anumberofdetain-
ees have developed psychotic symptoms, as
they have deteriorated. Some detainees are
alsoexperiencingPTSD[post-traumaticstress
disorder]eitherasaresultoftheirpre-migra-
tion trauma, the circumstances around their
arrest and imprisonment or the interaction
betweenthetwo.

Continueddeteriorationintheirmentalhealth
isaffectedalsobythenatureof,andtheirmis-
trust in, the prison regime and the appeals
processaswellastheunderlyingandcentral
factor of the indefinite nature of detention.
The Prison Health Care system is unable to
meet theirhealthneedsadequately. There is
a failuretoperceiveselfharmanddistressed
behaviour as part of the clinical condition
rather thanmerely being seen asmanipula-
tion. There is inadequate provision for com-
plexphysicalhealthproblems.

Their mental health problems are unlikely
to resolvewhile theyaremaintained in their
current situation and given the evidence of
repeatedinterviewsitishighlylikelythatthey
willcontinuetodeterioratewhileindetention.

Theproblemsdescribedbythedetaineesare
remarkablysimilartotheproblemsidentified
in the literatureexaminingthe impactof im-
migrationdetention.This literaturedescribes
veryhighlevelsofdepressionandanxietyand
eloquentlymakesthepointthatthelengthof
timeindetentionrelatesdirectlytothesever-
ityofsymptomsandthatitisdetentionperse
which is causing these problems to deterio-
rate.”

77. For the purposes of the present proceed-
ings, the Government requested a Consultant 
Psychiatrist, Dr. J., to comment on the above 
Joint Psychiatric Report. Dr J. was critical of the 
methodology and conclusions of the authors 
of the Joint Report. In particular, he wrote (ref-
erences to other reports omitted):
“IwouldcommentthatIfindmanyoftheas-
sertionsmade do not bear close inspection.
Forexampleinthecaseof[thefirstapplicant]
itwasmyfindingafteracarefulanddetailed
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assessmentthathismentalstateafterimpris-
onment and then detention in Broadmoor
Hospitalwas,overall,noworseandarguably
no better than it had been before he was
arrested. Nor do his records suggest initial
improvement followed by deterioration in
BroadmoorHospital. I found he deteriorated
inHMPBelmarshbecausehechosetogoon
hunger strike and that he had a fluctuating
course inBroadmoorHospitaldespiteagree-
ing to eat, his histrionic behaviour in both
placesbeingessentiallythesame. Inhiscase
IfoundthediagnosistobeoneofPersonality
Disorder, diagnoses ofMajorDepressiveDis-
order,psychosisandPTSDnotbeingsustain-
able.Moreover,itwasmyfindingthathisfre-
quentself-harmingwasindeedmanipulative.

...

I am not alone in finding the diagnoses
claimed by the authors of this report to be
mistaken and have drawn attention in my
ownreport to thescepticismof someothers
whohave reportedon [the first and seventh
applicants]. It is not the case therefore that
there is the consensusof opinion claimed in
thereportandInotethat inboththecases I
assessed [the first and seventh applicants],
their so-called psychotic symptoms claimed
bysomereportersandsaidnottobepresent
before theyweredetained,were in factpre-
sentbeforetheywerearrested.

An issue I find tobeof thegreatest concern
relatestothetacitacceptanceofinformation
gainedbyself-report.Itappearstobeaccept-
edbytheauthorsof thereport, forexample,
thatthreeofthedetaineeshadbeenthevic-
timsofdetentionandtortureandallfeltthem-
selvesseriouslythreatenedpriortomigration.
NowherehaveIseenanyevidencetocorrobo-
rate these claims or indeed any attempt to
checkthem.Asit isthecasethat immigrants
and asylum-seekers need to justify their at-
temptstogainentry toanothercountry, is it
notpossibleorevenprobablethatsomemay
not always be entirely truthful in what they
claim about their past experiences or their
current symptoms? Where alleged terrorists
areconcerneditshouldbeborneinmindthat
theyhavedeniedsuchallegations inspiteof
theopenandclosedevidenceagainst them,
whichhasbeenconsideredatthehighestlev-
el.Surelythisshouldraisedoubtsabouttheir
truthfulness?”

f. The release of the fifth applicant on bail
78. On 20 January 2004, SIAC decided that it 

should, in principle, grant bail to the fifth ap-
plicant. The Secretary of State attempted to 

appeal against this decision but was informed 
by the Court of Appeal in an interim decision 
dated 12 February 2004 that it had no jurisdic-
tion to entertain an appeal.

79. SIAC explained its reasons for granting bail in 
greater detail in a judgment dated 22 April 
2004. It held that under the 2001 Act it had 
a power to grant bail only in an exceptional 
case, where it was satisfied that if bail were not 
granted the detainee's mental or physical con-
dition would deteriorate to such an extent as 
to render his continued detention a breach of 
Article 3 of the Convention, because inhuman, 
or Article 8, because disproportionate.

80. SIAC noted that there had been concerns 
about the fifth applicant's mental health 
amongst prison staff from May 2002, although 
these concerns had not been communicated 
to his legal representatives. In December 2003 
he had suffered a serious relapse into severe 
depression with psychotic symptoms, includ-
ing auditory hallucinations and suicide idea-
tion. A number of psychologists and psychia-
trists had examined him, at the request of his 
legal representatives and at the initiative of 
the Home Office, and had agreed that he was 
seriously ill and that his mental health would 
be likely to improve if he were allowed to go 
home. SIAC concluded:
“Wedonotthinkthatthethresholdhasbeen
crossedso that there isabreachof [the fifth
applicant's] human rights. The jurisprudence
ofthe[EuropeanCourtofHumanRights]em-
phasises the high threshold which must be
crossed and that detention is unlikely to be
regardedasdisproportionateunlessitatleast
vergeson treatmentwhichwouldconstitute
abreachofArticle3.Butwearesatisfiedthat,
ifhewerenotreleased, therewouldbesuch
abreach.Topermitsomeonetoreachastate
whereby he requires treatment in a special
hospital or continuous care and attention to
ensure he does not harm himself can con-
stitute a breach of Article 8, unless perhaps
there is nopossible alternative to detention,
andprobablyofArticle3.Aswehavesaid,we
donothavetowaituntilthatsituationexists.
Provided that we are persuaded, as we are,
thattheconditionsweimposearesufficientto
minimise the risk to the securityof the state
if [the fifth applicant] is released,we canact
aswehave.

Wemust emphasise that the grant of bail is
exceptional.Weareonlydoingsobecausethe
medicalevidenceisallonewayandthedeten-
tionhascaused themental illnesswhichwill
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getworse....”

81. The fifth applicant was, therefore, released on 
bail on 22 April 2004 on conditions amounting 
to house arrest. He was not permitted to leave 
his home address and had to wear an electron-
ic tag at all times. He had no internet access 
and a telephone link to the Security Service 
only. He was required to report by telephone 
to the Security Service five times a day and al-
low its agents access to his home at any time. 
He was not permitted contact with any person 
other than his wife and child, legal representa-
tive and a Home Office approved doctor or see 
any visitor except with prior Home Office ap-
proval.

G. Events following the House of Lords' 
judgment of 16 December 2004

82. The declaration of incompatibility made by 
the House of Lords on 16 December 2004, in 
common with all such declarations, was not 
binding on the parties to the litigation (see 
paragraph 94 below). The applicants remained 
in detention, except for the second and fourth 
applicants who had elected to leave the United 
Kingdom and the fifth applicant who had been 
released on bail on conditions amounting to 
house arrest. Moreover, none of the applicants 
were entitled, under domestic law, to compen-
sation in respect of their detention. The appli-
cants, therefore, lodged their application to the 
Court on 21 January 2005.

83. At the end of January 2005, the Government 
announced its intention to repeal Part 4 of the 
2001 Act and replace it with a regime of control 
orders, which would impose various restric-
tions on individuals, regardless of nationality, 
reasonably suspected of being involved in ter-
rorism.

84. Those applicants who remained in detention 
were released on 10-11 March 2005 and imme-
diately made subject to control orders under 
the Prevention of Terrorism Act 2005, which 
came into effect on 11 March 2005.

85. The Government withdrew the notice of dero-
gation on 16 March 2005.

86. On 11 August 2005, following negotiations 
commenced towards the end of 2003 to seek 
from the Algerian and Jordanian Governments 
assurances that the applicants would not be ill-
treated if returned, the Government served No-
tices of Intention to Deport on the fifth, sixth, 
seventh, eighth, ninth, tenth and eleventh ap-

plicants. These applicants were taken into im-
migration custody pending removal to Algeria 
(the fifth, sixth, seventh, ninth, tenth and elev-
enth applicants) and Jordan (the eighth appli-
cant). On 9 April 2008 the Court of Appeal ruled 
that the eighth applicant could not lawfully be 
extradited to Jordan, because it was likely that 
evidence which had been obtained by torture 
could be used against him there at trial, in fla-
grant violation of his right to a fair trial. At the 
date of adoption of the present judgment, the 
case was pending before the House of Lords.

II. B. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

A. Detention pending deportation before 
the passing of the 2001 Act

87. Under section 3(5) of the Immigration Act 
1971 the Secretary of State could make a de-
portation order against a non-national, on the 
ground that the deportation would be condu-
cive to the public good, for reasons of national 
security, inter alia. A person who was the sub-
ject of a deportation order could be detained 
pending deportation (1971 Act, Schedule 3, 
paragraph 2). However, it was held in R. v. Gov-
ernor of Durham Prison ex parte Hardial Singh 
[1984] 1 WLR 704 that the power to detain 
under the above provision was limited to such 
time as was reasonable to enable the process 
of deportation to be carried out. Detention was 
not, therefore, permissible under the 1971 Act 
where deportation was known to be impos-
sible, whether because there was no country 
willing to take the person in question or be-
cause there would be a risk of torture or other 
serious ill-treatment to the proposed deportee 
in his or her country of origin.

B. The Terrorism Act 2000
88. In July 2000 Parliament enacted the Terrorism 

Act 2000. As Lord Bingham noted in his judg-
ment in the present case, “this was a substan-
tial measure, with 131 sections and 16 Sched-
ules, intended to overhaul, modernise and 
strengthen the law relating to the growing 
problem of terrorism”. “Terrorism” was defined, 
in section 1 of the Act, as:
“...theuseorthreatofactionwhere—

(a)theactionfallswithinsubsection(2),

(b) theuseor threat isdesignedto influence
thegovernmentortointimidatethepublicor
asectionofthepublic,and
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(c) theuseor threat ismade for thepurpose
ofadvancingapolitical,religiousor ideologi-
calcause.

(2)Actionfallswithinthissubsectionifit—

(a)involvesseriousviolenceagainstaperson,

(b)involvesseriousdamagetoproperty,

(c)endangersaperson'slife,otherthanthatof
thepersoncommittingtheaction,

(d)createsaseriousrisktothehealthorsafety
ofthepublicorasectionofthepublic,or

(e)isdesignedseriouslytointerferewithorse-
riouslytodisruptanelectronicsystem.

(3) The use or threat of action fallingwithin
subsection (2)which involves theuseof fire-
armsorexplosivesisterrorismwhetherornot
subsection(1)(b)issatisfied.

(4)Inthissection—

(a)'action'includesactionoutsidetheUnited
Kingdom,

(b)areferencetoanypersonortopropertyisa
referencetoanyperson,ortoproperty,wher-
eversituated,

(c)a reference to thepublic includesa refer-
encetothepublicofacountryotherthanthe
UnitedKingdom,and

(d) 'thegovernment'means thegovernment
oftheUnitedKingdom,ofaPartoftheUnited
KingdomorofacountryotherthantheUnited
Kingdom.

(5) In thisActa reference toaction taken for
thepurposesofterrorismincludesareference
toactiontakenforthebenefitofaproscribed
organisation”.

For the purposes of the Act, an organisation 
was “proscribed” if:
3.(1)...

(a)itislistedinSchedule2,or

(b)itoperatesunderthesamenameasanor-
ganisationlistedinthatSchedule.

(2)Subsection(1)(b)shallnotapplyinrelation
to an organisation listed in Schedule 2 if its
entryisthesubjectofanoteinthatSchedule.

(3)TheSecretaryofStatemaybyorder—

(a)addanorganisationtoSchedule2;

(b) removeanorganisation fromthatSched-
ule;

(c)amendthatScheduleinsomeotherway.

(4) The Secretary of State may exercise his
powerundersubsection(3)(a)inrespectofan
organisationonlyifhebelievesthatit iscon-
cernedinterrorism.

(5) For thepurposesof subsection (4) anor-
ganisationisconcernedinterrorismifit—

(a)commitsorparticipatesinactsofterrorism,

(b)preparesforterrorism,

(c)promotesorencouragesterrorism,or

(d)isotherwiseconcernedinterrorism.”

89. Part II of the Act created offences of member-
ship and support of proscribed organisations; 
it created offences of fund raising, use and 
possession of terrorist funds, entering into an 
arrangement for the transfer of terrorist funds, 
money laundering and failing to disclose sus-
pect money laundering. There were a number 
of further substantive offences in Part IV, in-
cluding offences of weapons training; direct-
ing terrorism; possession, without reasonable 
excuse, of items likely to be useful to person 
committing or preparing an act of terrorism; 
and collection, without reasonable excuse, 
of information likely to be useful to a person 
committing or preparing an act of terrorism. By 
section 62, the Act had extra-territorial scope, 
in that a person within the jurisdiction of the 
United Kingdom might be prosecuted for any 
of the above offences regardless of where the 
acts in furtherance of those offences were 
committed.

C. The Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security 
Act 2001

90. Part 4 of the 2001 Act (see paragraph 12 above), 
which was headed “Immigration and Asylum”, 
set out powers which enabled the detention of 
non-nationals suspected of being international 
terrorists, even where their deportation was for 
the time being impossible. The 2001 Act pro-
vided, so far as material:
“PART4

IMMIGRATIONANDASYLUM

Suspectedinternationalterrorists

21. Suspected international terrorist: 
certification

(1)TheSecretaryofStatemay issueacertifi-
cateunderthissectioninrespectofapersonif
theSecretaryofStatereasonably-
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(a)believesthattheperson'spresenceinthe
UnitedKingdomisa risk tonationalsecurity,
and

(b)suspectsthatthepersonisaterrorist.

(2)Insubsection(1)(b)'terrorist'meansaper-
sonwho-

(a) is or hasbeen concerned in the commis-
sion,preparationorinstigationofactsofinter-
nationalterrorism,

(b) is amemberoforbelongs toan interna-
tionalterroristgroup,or

(c) has links with an international terrorist
group.

(3)Agroupisaninternationalterroristgroup
for the purposes of subsection (2)(b) and (c)
if—

(a) it is subject to the controlor influenceof
personsoutsidetheUnitedKingdom,and

(b) the Secretary of State suspects that it is
concernedinthecommission,preparationor
instigationofactsofinternationalterrorism.

(4)Forthepurposesofsubsection(2)(c)aper-
son has links with an international terrorist
grouponlyifhesupportsorassistsit.

(5)InthisPart—

“terrorism”hasthemeaninggivenbysection
1oftheTerrorismAct2000(c.11),and

“suspected international terrorist” means a
personcertifiedundersubsection(1).

(6)WheretheSecretaryofStateissuesacertifi-
cateundersubsection(1)heshallassoonasis
reasonablypracticable-

(a)takereasonablestepstonotifytheperson
certified,and

(b)sendacopyofthecertificatetotheSpecial
ImmigrationAppealsCommission.

(7)TheSecretaryofStatemayrevokeacertifi-
cateissuedundersubsection(1).

(8)AdecisionoftheSecretaryofStateincon-
nection with certification under this section
maybequestionedinlegalproceedingsonly
undersection25or26.

(9) An action of the Secretary of State taken
wholly or partly in reliance on a certificate
underthissectionmaybequestionedinlegal
proceedingsonlybyor in the courseofpro-
ceedingsunder-

(a)section25or26,or

(b) section 2 of the Special Immigration Ap-
pealsCommissionAct1997(c.68)(appeal).

22. Deportation, removal, etc.

(1)Anactionofakindspecifiedinsubsection
(2) may be taken in respect of a suspected
international terrorist despite the fact that
(whether temporarily or indefinitely) the ac-
tion cannot result in his removal from the
UnitedKingdombecauseof-

(a)apointoflawwhichwhollyorpartlyrelates
toaninternationalagreement,or

(b)apracticalconsideration...

(2) The actions mentioned in subsection (1)
are–

...

(e)makingadeportationorder...

(3)Actionofakindspecifiedinsubsection(2)
whichhaseffectinrespectofasuspectedin-
ternationalterroristatthetimeofhiscertifica-
tionundersection21shallbetreatedastaken
again(inrelianceonsubsection(1)above)im-
mediatelyaftercertification.

23. Detention

(1)Asuspectedinternationalterroristmaybe
detained under a provision specified in sub-
section (2) despite the fact that his removal
ordeparturefromtheUnitedKingdomispre-
vented (whether temporarily or indefinitely)
by-

(a)apointoflawwhichwhollyorpartlyrelates
toaninternationalagreement,or

(b)apracticalconsideration

(2)Theprovisionsmentionedinsubsection(1)
are—

(a)paragraph16ofSchedule2totheImmigra-
tionAct1971(c.77) (detentionofpersons li-
abletoexaminationorremoval),and

(b)paragraph2ofSchedule3tothatAct(de-
tentionpendingdeportation).”

Part 4 of the 2001 Act included a provision that 
the legislation would remain in force for five 
years only and was subject to an annual affirm-
ative resolution by both Houses of Parliament.

D. The Special Immigration Appeals 
Commission

91. The Special Immigration Appeals Commission 
(“SIAC”) was set up in response to the Court's 
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judgment in Chahal v. the United Kingdom 
[GC], judgment of 15 November 1996, Reports 
of Judgments and Decisions 1996-V). It is a tri-
bunal composed of independent judges, with 
a right of appeal against its decisions on a point 
of law to the Court of Appeal and the House 
of Lords.

By section 25 of the 2001 Act:
“(1) A suspected international terrorist may
appeal to the Special Immigration Appeals
Commission against his certification under
section21.

(2)Onanappeal [SIAC]must cancel thecer-
tificateif–

(a) it considers that there are no reasonable
grounds for a belief or suspicion of the kind
referredtoinsection21(1)(a)or(b),or

(b) if it considers that for someother reason
thecertificateshouldnothavebeenissued.”

SIAC was required to carry out a first review 
to ensure that the certificate was still justified 
six months after the issue of the certificate or 
six months after the final determination of an 
appeal against certification, and thereafter at 
three-monthly intervals.

Under section 30 of the 2001 Act, any legal 
challenge to the derogation under Article 15 of 
the Convention had also to be made to SIAC.

92. SIAC has a special procedure which enables 
it to consider not only material which can be 
made public (“open material”) but also mate-
rial which, for reasons of national security, can-
not (“closed material”). Neither the appellant 
nor his legal advisor can see the closed mate-
rial. Accordingly, one or more security-cleared 
counsel, referred to as “special advocates”, are 
appointed by the Solicitor General to act on 
behalf of each appellant.

93. In the certification appeals before SIAC at is-
sue in the present case, the open statements 
and evidence concerning each appellant were 
served first, and the special advocate could 
discuss this material with the appellant and his 
legal advisors and take instructions generally. 
Then the closed material would be disclosed 
to the judges and to the special advocate, 
from which point there could be no further 
contact between the latter and the appellant 
and/or his representatives, save with the per-
mission of SIAC. It was the special advocate's 
role during the closed sessions to make sub-
missions on behalf of the appellant, both as 

regards procedural matters, such as the need 
for further disclosure, and as to the substance 
of the case. In respect of each appeal against 
certification, SIAC issued both an “open” and a 
“closed” judgment. The special advocate could 
see both but the detainee and his representa-
tives could see only the open judgment.

E. Declarations of incompatibility under the 
Human Rights Act 1998

94. Section 4 of the 1998 Act provides that where a 
court finds that primary legislation is in breach 
of the Convention, the court may make a dec-
laration of incompatibility. Such a declaration 
does not affect the validity of the provision in 
respect of which it is made and is not binding 
on the parties to the proceedings in which it is 
made, but special arrangements may be made 
(section 10) to amend the provision in order to 
remove the incompatibility (see further Burden 
v. the United Kingdom [GC], no. 13378/05, §§ 
21-24 and 40-44, ECHR 2008).

f. The Terrorism Act 2006
95. The Terrorism Act 2006 came into force on 30 

March 2006, creating a number of offences to 
extend criminal liability to acts preparatory to 
the terrorist offences created by the Terrorism 
Act 2000. The new offences were encourage-
ment, dissemination of publications, prepara-
tion and training. The offences were designed 
to intervene at an early stage in terrorist activity 
and thus prevent the development of more se-
rious conduct. They were also designed to be 
easier to prove.

G. Consideration of the use of special 
advocates under the Prevention of 
Terrorism Act 2005

96. On 31 October 2007 the House of Lords gave 
judgment in Secretary of State for the Home 
Department (Respondent) v. MB (FC) (Appel-
lant) [2007] UKHL 46, which concerned a chal-
lenge to a non-derogating control order made 
by the Secretary of State under sections 2 and 
3 (1)(a) of the Prevention of Terrorism Act 2005. 
The House of Lords had to decide, inter alia, 
whether procedures provided for by section 3 
of the 2005 Act, involving closed hearings and 
special advocates, were compatible with Arti-
cle 6 of the Convention, given that, in the case 
of one of the appellants, they had resulted in 
the case against him being in its essence en-
tirely undisclosed, with no specific allegation 
of terrorism-related activity being contained in 
open material.
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The House of Lords was unanimous in holding 
that the proceedings in question determined 
civil rights and obligations and thus attracted 
the protection of Article 6. On the question 
of compliance, the majority (Baroness Hale of 
Richmond, Lord Carswell and Lord Brown of 
Eaton-under-Heywood) held that although in 
many cases the special advocate procedure 
would provide a sufficient counterbalance 
where the Secretary of State wished to with-
hold material upon which she wished to rely in 
order to establish the existence of reasonable 
grounds for suspecting that the controlee was 
or had been involved in terrorism-related activ-
ity, each case had to be considered individually. 
Baroness Hale put it as follows:
“65....Itwouldalldependuponthenatureof
thecase;whatstepshadbeentakentoexplain
thedetailoftheallegationstothecontrolled
person so that he could anticipatewhat the
materialinsupportmightbe;whatstepshad
beentakentosummarisetheclosedmaterial
insupportwithoutrevealingnames,datesor
places;thenatureandcontentofthematerial
withheld;howeffectivelythespecialadvocate
hadbeenabletochallengeitonbehalfofthe
controlledperson;andwhatdifferenceitsdis-
closuremighthavemade.Allofthesefactors
wouldbe relevant towhether thecontrolled
person had been 'given a meaningful op-
portunity tocontest the factualbasis' for the
order.

66. I do not think that we can be confident
thatStrasbourgwouldholdthateverycontrol
order hearing in which the special advocate
procedure had been used, as contemplated
bythe2005ActandPart76oftheCivilProce-
dureRules,wouldbesufficienttocomplywith
article6.However,withstrenuouseffortsfrom
all, difficult and time consuming though it
willbe,itshouldusuallybepossibletoaccord
the controlledperson 'a substantialmeasure
of procedural justice'. Everyone involvedwill
havetodotheirbesttoensurethatthe'prin-
ciplesofjudicialinquiry'arecompliedwithto
the fullest extent possible. The Secretary of
Statemustgiveasfullaspossibleanexplana-
tion of why she considers that the grounds
in section 2(1) are made out. The fuller the
explanation given, the fuller the instructions
thatthespecialadvocateswillbeabletotake
fromtheclientbeforetheyseetheclosedma-
terial. Both judge and special advocates will
havetoprobetheclaimthattheclosedmate-
rialshouldremainclosedwithgreatcareand
considerable scepticism. There is ample evi-
dencefromelsewhereofatendencytoover-
claimtheneedforsecrecy interrorismcases:

see Serrin Turner and Stephen J Schulhofer,
TheSecrecyProbleminTerrorismTrials,2005,
Brennan Centre for Justice at NYU School of
Law. Both judge and special advocates will
havestringentlytotestthematerialwhichre-
mainsclosed.Allmustbealivetothepossibil-
itythatmaterialcouldberedactedorgistedin
suchawayastoenablethespecialadvocates
to seek the client's instructions upon it. All
mustbealive to thepossibility that the spe-
cial advocates be given leave to ask specific
andcarefully tailoredquestionsof theclient.
Although not expressly provided for in CPR
r 76.24, the special advocate should be able
to call or have calledwitnesses to rebut the
closedmaterial.Thenatureofthecasemaybe
suchthattheclientdoesnotneedtoknowall
thedetailsoftheevidenceinordertomakean
effectivechallenge.

67. The best judge of whether the proceed-
ingshaveaffordedasufficientandsubstantial
measure of procedural protection is likely to
bethejudgewhoconductedthehearing....”

Lord Carswell observed:
“There is a very wide spectrum of cases in
whichclosedmaterialisreliedonbytheSec-
retaryofState.Atoneextremetheremaybe
cases inwhich the sole evidence adverse to
thecontroleeisclosedmaterial,hecannotbe
toldwhattheevidenceisorevengivenitsgist
and the special advocate isnot in aposition
totakesufficientinstructionstomountanef-
fectivechallengetotheadverseallegations.At
theotherendtheremaybecaseswhere the
probativeeffectoftheclosedmaterialisvery
slightormerelycorroborativeofstrongopen
materialandthereisnoobstacletopresenting
adefence.There isan infinitevarietyofpos-
siblecasesinbetween.Thebalancebetween
theopenmaterialandtheclosedmaterialand
the probative nature of each will vary from
casetocase.Thespecialadvocatemaybeable
to discernwith sufficient clarity how to deal
withtheclosedmaterialwithoutobtainingdi-
rectinstructionsfromthecontrolee.Theseare
mattersforthejudgetoweighupandassess
in the process of determining whether the
controleehashada fair trial.Theassessment
is...fact-specific.Thejudgewhohasseenboth
theopenandtheclosedmaterialandhadthe
benefitof thecontributionof thespecialad-
vocate is inmuch thebestposition tomake
it.Idoconsider,however,thatthereisafairly
heavy burden on the controlee to establish
that therehasbeenabreachof article6, for
the legitimate public interest inwithholding
materialonvalid securitygrounds shouldbe
given dueweight. The courts should not be
tooreadytoholdthatadisadvantagesuffered
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by thecontrolee through thewithholdingof
materialconstitutesabreachofarticle6.”

Lord Brown held as follows:
“Theremayperhaps be cases,wholly excep-
tionalthoughtheyarelikelytobe,where,de-
spitethebesteffortsofallconcernedbyway
of redaction, anonymisation, and gisting, it
willsimplybeimpossibletoindicatesufficient
of theSecretaryofState'scase toenable the
suspect to advance any effective challenge
toit.Unlessinthesecasesthejudgecannev-
ertheless feelquitesurethat inanyeventno
possible challenge could conceivably have
succeeded(adifficultbutnot,Ithink,impossi-
bleconclusiontoarriveat...),hewouldhaveto
concludethatthemakingor,asthecasemay
be, confirmation of an order would indeed
involvesignificant injusticetothesuspect. In
short, the suspect in such a case would not
havebeenaccordedeven'asubstantialmeas-
ureofproceduraljustice'(Chahal[citedabove]
§131)notwithstandingtheuseofthespecial
advocateprocedure;'theveryessenceof[his]
right [to a fair hearing] [will have been] im-
paired'(Tinnelly&SonsLtdandMcElduffand
othersvUnitedKingdom[citedbelow]§72).

Lord Bingham did not dissent but employed 
different reasoning. He held that it was nec-
essary to look at the process as a whole and 
consider whether a procedure had been used 
which involved significant injustice to the con-
trolee; while the use of special advocates could 
help to enhance the measure of procedural 
justice available to a controlled person, it could 
not fully remedy the grave disadvantages of 
a person not being aware of the case against 
him and not being able, therefore, effectively 
to instruct the special advocate.

Lord Hoffmann, dissenting, held that once 
the trial judge had decided that disclosure 
would be contrary to the public interest, the 
use of special advocates provided sufficient 
safeguards for the controlee and there would 
never in these circumstances be a breach of 
Article 6.

97. In Secretary of State for the Home Department 
v. AF [2008] EWCA Civ 1148, the Court of Ap-
peal (Sir Anthony Clark MR and Waller LJ; Sed-
ley LJ dissenting), gave the following guidance, 
based on the majority opinions in MB, regard-
ing compliance with Article 6 in control order 
cases using special advocates (extract from the 
head-note):
(1) In decidingwhether the hearing under s
3(10)ofthe2005Actinfringedthecontrolee's

rightsunderart6 thequestionwaswhether,
takenasawhole,thehearingwasfundamen-
tallyunfairtothecontrolee,orhewasnotac-
corded a substantial measure of procedural
justiceortheveryessenceofhisrighttoafair
hearingwasimpaired.Morebroadly,theques-
tionwaswhethertheeffectoftheprocesswas
thatthecontroleewasexposedtosignificant
injustice.

(2)Allproperstepsoughttobetakentopro-
vide thecontroleewithasmuch information
as possible, both in terms of allegation and
evidence, ifnecessarybyappropriategisting.
(3) Where the full allegations and evidence
were not provided for reasons of national
security at the outset, the controlee had to
beprovidedwitha specialadvocate. In such
a case the following principles applied. (4)
Therewasnoprinciple that ahearingwould
beunfairintheabsenceofopendisclosureto
the controlee of an irreducible minimum of
allegation or evidence. Alternatively, if there
was,theirreducibleminimumcould,depend-
ing on the circumstances, bemet by disclo-
sure of as little information aswas provided
inAF's case,whichwasvery little indeed. (5)
Whetherahearingwouldbeunfairdepended
on all the circumstances, including the na-
ture of the case,what steps hadbeen taken
toexplainthedetailoftheallegationstothe
controlledpersonsothathecouldanticipate
what thematerial insupportmightbe,what
stepshadbeentakentosummarisetheclosed
material insupportwithoutrevealingnames,
datesorplaces,thenatureandcontentofthe
materialwithheld,howeffectivelythespecial
advocate was able to challenge it on behalf
of the controlee andwhat difference its dis-
closurewouldormightmake.(6)Inconsider-
ingwhetheropendisclosuretothecontrolee
wouldhavemadeadifferencetotheanswer
towhethertherewerereasonablegroundsfor
suspicionthatthecontroleewasorhadbeen
involvedinterroristrelatedactivity,thecourt
hadtohavefullyinmindtheproblemsforthe
controleeandthespecialadvocatesandtake
accountof all the circumstancesof the case,
includingwhatifanyinformationwasopenly
disclosedandhoweffectivethespecialadvo-
cateswereabletobe.Thecorrectapproachto
and theweight tobegiven toanyparticular
factorwoulddependupontheparticularcir-
cumstances.(7)Therewerenorigidprinciples.
Whatwasfairwasessentiallyamatterforthe
judge,withwhosedecision theCourtofAp-
pealwouldveryrarelyinterfere.”
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III. DOMESTIC AND INTERNATIONAL 
COMMENT ON PART 4 OF THE 
2001 ACT

A. The Newton Committee
98. Part 4 of the 2001 Act provided for the creation 

of a Committee of Privy Counsellors to review 
its operation. The Committee, under the chair-
manship of Lord Newton, reported in Decem-
ber 2003. Having recorded the Home Office's 
argument that the threat from al'Qaeda terror-
ism was predominantly from foreigners, the 
Newton Committee's report drew attention to:
“accumulating evidence that this is not now
thecase.TheBritishsuicidebomberswhoat-
tackedTelAvivinMay2003,RichardReid('the
Shoe Bomber'), and recent arrests suggest
thatthethreatfromUKcitizensisreal.Almost
30%ofTerrorismAct2000suspectsinthepast
year have been British. We have been told
that,of thepeopleof interesttotheauthori-
tiesbecauseoftheirsuspectedinvolvementin
international terrorism, nearly half are British
nationals.”

Given this evidence, the Newton Committee 
observed that not only were there arguments 
of principle against having discriminatory pro-
visions, but there were also compelling argu-
ments of limited efficacy in addressing the ter-
rorist threat. The Newton Committee therefore 
called for new legislation to be introduced as 
a matter of urgency which would deal with 
the terrorist threat without discrimination on 
grounds of nationality and which would not 
require a derogation from Article 5 of the Con-
vention.

99. In February 2004 the Government published its 
response to the Newton Committee's report. It 
continued to accept that the terrorist threat 
“came predominantly, but not exclusively from 
foreign nationals” and made the following ob-
servation about the Newton Committee's sug-
gestion that counter-terrorist measures should 
apply to all persons within the jurisdiction re-
gardless of nationality:
“While it would be possible to seek other
powerstodetainBritishcitizenswhomaybe
involvedininternationalterrorismitwouldbe
a very grave step. The Government believes
thatsuchdraconianpowerswouldbedifficult
to justify. Experience has demonstrated the
dangersofsuchanapproachandthedamage
itcandotocommunitycohesionandthusto
supportfromallpartsofthepublicthat isso

essentialtocounteringtheterroristthreat”.

The Government also indicated that work was un-
der way to try to establish framework agreements 
with potential destination countries for the pur-
poses of deportation of terrorist suspects.

B. The Joint Parliamentary Committee on 
Human Rights

100. The Joint Committee has constitutional re-
sponsibility in the United Kingdom for scruti-
nising legislation to ensure that it is compatible 
with Convention rights. In its Second Report of 
the Session 2001-2002, drawn up very shortly 
after publication of the Bill which became the 
2001 Act, the Joint Committee expressed con-
cern at the potentially discriminatory effect of 
the proposed measure, as follows:
“38.Second,byrelyingonimmigrationlegisla-
tiontoprovideforthedetentionofsuspected
international terrorists, the Bill risks discrimi-
nating, in the authorization of detention
without charge, between those suspected
internationalterroristswhoaresubjecttoim-
migrationcontrolandthosewhohaveanun-
conditionalrighttoremainintheUnitedKing-
dom.Weare concerned that thismight lead
todiscriminationintheenjoymentoftheright
tolibertyonthegroundofnationality.Ifthat
couldnotbeshowntohaveanobjective,ra-
tionalandproportionatejustification,itmight
leadtoactionswhichwouldbeincompatible
withArticle5oftheECHReithertakenaloneor
incombinationwiththerighttobefreeofdis-
crimination in the enjoyment of Convention
rights under Article 14 of the ECHR. It could
alsoleadtoviolationsoftherighttobefreeof
discriminationunderArticle26and the right
tolibertyunderArticle9oftheICCPR.

39.WeraisedthismatterwiththeHomeSec-
retaryinoralevidence.Havingconsideredhis
response,wearenotpersuadedthat therisk
ofdiscriminationonthegroundofnationality
intheprovisionsofPart4oftheBillhasbeen
sufficientlytakenonboard.”

In its Sixth Report of the Session 2003-2004 (23 
February 2004), the Joint Committee expressed 
deep concern “about the human rights im-
plications of making the detention power an 
aspect of immigration law rather than anti-
terrorism law” and warned of “a significant risk 
that Part 4 violates the right to be free of dis-
crimination under ECHR Article 14.” Following 
the Report of the Newton Committee and the 
Secretary of State's discussion paper published 
in response to it, the Joint Committee returned 
to this subject in its Eighteenth Report of the 
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Session 2003-2004 (21 July 2004), paragraphs 
42-44:
“42.ThediscussionpaperrejectstheNewton
Report's recommendation that new legisla-
tionreplacingPart4[ofthe2001Act]should
applyequallytoallnationalitiesincludingBrit-
ish citizens. It states theGovernment'sbelief
that it is defensible to distinguish between
foreignnationalsandUKnationalsbecauseof
theirdifferentrightsandresponsibilities.

43.Wehave consistently expressedour con-
cernthattheprovisionsofPart4[ofthe2001
Act] unjustifiably discriminate ongrounds of
nationalityandaretherefore inbreachofAr-
ticle 14 ECHR. Along with Lord Newton, we
finditextraordinarythatthediscussionpaper
assertsthatseekingthesamepowertodetain
British citizens would be 'a very grave step'
andthat'suchdraconianpowerswouldbedif-
ficulttojustify.'

44.Theinterestsatstakeforaforeignnational
andaUKnationalare the same: their funda-
mental right to liberty under Article 5 ECHR
andrelatedproceduralrights.Article1ofthe
ECHRrequiresStatestosecuretheConvention
rightstoeveryonewithintheirjurisdiction.Ar-
ticle14requirestheenjoymentofConvention
rightstobesecuredwithoutdiscriminationon
the groundof nationality. TheGovernment's
explanationinitsdiscussionpaperofitsreluc-
tancetoseekthesamepowers in relationto
UKnationalsappearstosuggestthatitregards
thelibertyinterestsofforeignnationalsasless
worthyofprotectionthanexactlythesamein-
terestsofUKnationals,whichisimpermissible
undertheConvention.”

C. The European Committee for the 
Prevention of Torture and Inhuman or 
Degrading Treatment or Punishment 
(“CPT”)

101. The CPT visited the detained applicants in Feb-
ruary 2002 and again in March 2004. In its report 
published on 9 June 2005, the CPT was critical 
of the conditions in which the applicants were 
held in Belmarsh Prison and Broadmoor Hospi-
tal and reported allegations of ill-treatment by 
staff. It found the regime in Woodhill Prison to 
be more relaxed. The CPT found that the health 
of the majority of the detained applicants had 
declined as a result of their detention, in par-
ticular its indefinite character. The CPT stated 
in its report:
“In fact, the informationgatheredduring the
2004visitrevealsthattheauthoritiesareata
lossathow tomanage this typeofdetained

person, imprisonedwith no real prospect of
releaseandwithoutthenecessarysupportto
counter the damaging effects of this unique
formofdetention.Theyalsohighlightthelim-
itedcapacityoftheprisonsystemtorespond
to a task that is difficult to reconcilewith its
normal responsibilities. The stated objective,
in the response to the CPT's report on the
February2002visit,of formulatingastrategy
toenablethePrisonServicetomanagemost
appropriately the care anddetentionof per-
sons held under the 2001Act, has not been
achieved.

TwoyearsaftertheCPTvisitedthesedetained
persons,manyofthemwereinapoormental
stateasaresultoftheirdetention,andsome
were also in poor physical condition. Deten-
tionhadcausedmentaldisorders in thema-
jority of persons detained under the [2001
Act] and for those who had been subjected
to traumatic experiences or even torture in
thepast, ithadclearlyreawakenedtheexpe-
rienceandevenledtotheseriousrecurrence
of formerdisorders.The traumaofdetention
had become evenmore detrimental to their
healthsinceitwascombinedwithanabsence
of control resulting from the indefinite char-
acter of their detention, the uphill difficulty
ofchallengingtheirdetentionandthefactof
not knowingwhat evidencewasbeingused
against them to certify and/or uphold their
certificationaspersons suspectedof interna-
tionalterrorism.Forsomeofthem,theirsitu-
ationatthetimeofthevisitcouldbeconsid-
eredasamountingtoinhumananddegrading
treatment.”

102. The Government published their response 
to the CPT's 2004 report on 9 June 2005. The 
Government strongly disputed the allegations 
of ill-treatment by prison staff and pointed out 
that the detained applicants had at their dis-
posal the remedies provided by administra-
tive and civil law to all prisoners to complain 
of ill-treatment. The Government's response 
continued:
“AlthoughtheGovernmentrespectsthecon-
clusionsreachedbythedelegatesofthe[CPT]
basedontheobservationsonthedayofvisit,
it categorically rejects the suggestion that at
any point during their detention the [2001
Act]detaineesweretreatedinan'inhumanor
degrading'mannerthatmayhaveamounted
to a breach in the United Kingdom's inter-
national human rights obligations. The Gov-
ernment firmly believes that at all times the
detainees received appropriate care and
treatment in Belmarsh and had access to all
necessarymedicalsupport,bothphysicaland
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psychological,frommedicalsupportstaffand
doctors. The Government accepts that the
individualshaddifficultbackgroundspriorto
detention, but does not accept that 'deten-
tion had caused mental disorders'. Some of
thedetaineeshadmentalhealth issuesprior
todetention,but thatdidnotstopthemen-
gagingintheactivitiesthatledtotheircertifi-
cationanddetention.Mentalhealthissuesdo
notpreventanindividualfromposingariskto
nationalsecurity.

...

TheGovernmentdoesnot accept that those
certifiedunder [the2001Act]weredetained
withoutanyprospectoftheirrelease....

...

OnnooccasiondidSIAC,oranyothercourt,
findthattheconditionsofdetentionbreached
the absolute obligation imposed upon the
GovernmentbyArticle3of[theConvention].
It is the Government's view that, given the
extensive judicial safeguards available to the
detainees, the government would not have
beenabletomaintainthedetentionofthese
individualshadthepowersbreachedthede-
tainees'Article3rightsinanyway.Tosuggest
otherwise would be to ignore the extensive
contact the detainees had with the British
judicial system and the absolute obligation
uponthejudiciarytoprotectagainstanysuch
breach.”

D. The European Commissioner for Human 
Rights

103. In August 2002 the European Commissioner 
for Human Rights to the Council of Europe 
published his opinion on certain aspects of the 
United Kingdom's derogation from Article 5 of 
the Convention and Part 4 of the 2001 Act. In 
that Opinion he expressly criticised the lack of 
sufficient scrutiny by Parliament of the dero-
gation provisions and questioned whether 
the nature of the al'Qaeda threat was a justifi-
able basis for recognising a public emergency 
threatening the life of the nation:
“Whilstacknowledgingtheobligationsofthe
governmentstoprotecttheircitizensagainst
the threat of terrorism, the Commissioner is
of theopinion thatgeneralappeals toan in-
creased riskof terroristactivitypostSeptem-
ber112001cannot,ontheirownbesufficient
to justify derogating from the Convention.
Several European states long faced with re-
curring terrorist activity havenot considered
it necessary to derogate from Convention
rights.Norhaveanyfounditnecessarytodo

sounderthepresentcircumstances.Detailed
informationpointing to a real and imminent
dangertopublicsafetyintheUnitedKingdom
will,therefore,havetobeshown.”

The Commissioner continued, with reference 
to the detention scheme under Part 4 of the 
2001 Act:
“Insofarasthesemeasuresareapplicableonly
tonon-deportableforeigners,theymightap-
pear,moreover,tobeusheringinatwo-track
justice,wherebydifferenthumanrightsstand-
ardsapplytoforeignersandnationals.”

104. On 8 June 2005 the Commissioner published 
a report arising out of his visit to the United 
Kingdom in November 2004. He specifically re-
ferred to the House of Lords decision in the ap-
plicants' case and noted the fact that the Gov-
ernment had not sought to renew the relevant 
provisions of the 2001 Act in March 2005. He 
welcomed the decision of the House of Lords, 
which corresponded with his own previously 
published opinion, and also welcomed the re-
lease of the applicants, emphasising that as a 
result of his visit he was in a position personally 
to testify to “the extremely agitated psycholog-
ical state of many of them”. As a result of inter-
views which he had conducted with, amongst 
others, the Home Secretary, the Lord Chancel-
lor, the Attorney General, the Lord Chief Justice 
and the Director of Public Prosecutions, the 
Commissioner also expressed a conclusion 
about the availability under the law of the Unit-
ed Kingdom of alternative measures to combat 
the threat of terrorism:
“Terrorist activity not only must but can be
combated within the existing framework of
humanrightsguarantees,whichprovidepre-
ciselyforabalancing,inquestionsconcerning
national security,of individual rightsand the
public interest and allow for the use of pro-
portionate special powers. What is required
iswell-resourcedpolicing,internationalcoop-
erationandtheforcefulapplicationofthelaw.
Itistobenoted,inthiscontext,thatintheTer-
rorist Act 2000, the United Kingdom already
hasamongstthetoughestandmostcompre-
hensiveanti-terrorlegislationinEurope.”

E. The united Nations Committee on 
the Elimination of All forms of Racial 
Discrimination

105. The Committee's Concluding Observations on 
the United Kingdom, dated 10 December 2003, 
stated at paragraph 17:
“17. The Committee is deeply concerned
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aboutprovisionsof theAnti-TerrorismCrime
and Security Act which provide for the in-
definite detention without charge or trial,
pendingdeportation,ofnon-nationalsof the
UnitedKingdomwhoaresuspectedofterror-
ism-relatedactivities.

While acknowledging the State party's na-
tional security concerns, the Committee rec-
ommendsthattheStatepartyseektobalance
thoseconcernswiththeprotectionofhuman
rights and its international legal obligations.
Inthisregard,theCommitteedrawstheState
party's attention to its statement of 8March
2002 inwhich itunderlines theobligationof
States to 'ensure thatmeasures taken in the
struggleagainstterrorismdonotdiscriminate
inpurposeoreffectongroundsofrace,colour,
descent,ornationalorethnicorigin.'”

IV. OTHER RELEVANT COUNCIL OF 
EUROPE MATERIALS

A. Council of Europe Parliamentary 
Assembly Resolution 1271 (2002)

106. On 24 January 2002 the Council of Europe's 
Parliamentary Assembly passed Resolution 
1271 (2002) which resolved, in paragraph 9, 
that:

“In their fight against terrorism, Council of
Europemembers shouldnotprovide for any
derogations to the European Convention on
HumanRights.”

It also called on all Member States (paragraph 
12) to:

“refrainfromusingArticle15oftheEuropean
ConventiononHumanRights (derogation in
timeofemergency)tolimittherightsandlib-
ertiesguaranteedunder itsArticle5 (right to
libertyandsecurity).”

Apart from the United Kingdom, no other 
Member State chose to derogate from Article 
5 § 1 after 11 September 2001.

B. The Committee of Ministers of the Council 
of Europe

107. Following its meeting on 14 November 2001 
to discuss “Democracies facing terrorism” (CM/
AS(2001) Rec 1534), the Committee of Minis-
ters adopted on 11 July 2002 “Guidelines on 
human rights and the fight against terrorism”, 
which provided, inter alia:

“I. States' obligation to protect everyone 
against terrorism

States are under the obligation to take the
measures needed to protect the fundamen-
tal rights of everyone within their jurisdic-
tionagainstterroristacts,especiallytheright
to life. This positive obligation fully justifies
States' fight against terrorism in accordance
withthepresentguidelines.

II. Prohibition of arbitrariness

AllmeasurestakenbyStatestofightterrorism
must respecthumanrightsandtheprinciple
oftheruleoflaw,whileexcludinganyformof
arbitrariness, aswell asanydiscriminatoryor
racist treatment, andmust be subject to ap-
propriatesupervision.”

C. The European Commission against 
Racism and Intolerance (“ECRI”)

108. In its General Policy Recommendation No 8 on 
Combating Racism while Fighting Terrorism, 
published on 8 June 2004, ECRI considered it 
the duty of the State to fight against terrorism; 
stressed that the response should not itself en-
croach on the values of freedom, democracy, 
justice, the rule of law, human rights and hu-
manitarian law; stressed that the fight against 
terrorism should not become a pretext under 
which racial discrimination was allowed to 
flourish; noted that the fight against terrorism 
since 11 September 2001 had in some cases 
resulted in the adoption of discriminatory 
legislation, notably on grounds of nationality, 
national or ethnic origin and religion; stressed 
the responsibility of member States to ensure 
that the fight against terrorism did not have a 
negative impact on any minority group; and 
recommended States:
“toreviewlegislationandregulationsadopted
inconnectionwiththefightagainstterrorism
to ensure that these do not discriminate di-
rectlyorindirectlyagainstpersonsorgroupof
persons,notablyongroundsof 'race',colour,
language, religion, nationality or national or
ethnic origin, and to abrogate any such dis-
criminatorylegislation.”

V. THE NOTION OF A “PUBLIC 
EMERGENCY” UNDER ARTICLE 
4 OF THE INTERNATIONAL 
COVENANT ON CIVIL AND 
POLITICAL RIGHTS (“ICCPR”)

109. Article 4(1) of the ICCPR states as follows:
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“In time of public emergency which threat-
ensthelifeofthenationandtheexistenceof
which isofficiallyproclaimed, theStatesPar-
tiestothepresentCovenantmaytakemeas-
uresderogating fromtheirobligationsunder
thepresentCovenanttotheextentstrictlyre-
quiredbytheexigenciesofthesituation,pro-
videdthatsuchmeasuresarenotinconsistent
withtheirotherobligationsunderinternation-
allawanddonotinvolvediscriminationsolely
onthegroundof race,colour, sex, language,
religionorsocialorigin.”

In Spring 1984, a group of 31 experts in inter-
national law, convened by the International 
Commission of Jurists, the International Asso-
ciation of Penal law, the American Association 
for the International Commission of Jurists, the 
Urban Morgan Institute for Human Rights and 
the International Institute of Higher Studies in 
Criminal Sciences, met in Siracusa, Italy to con-
sider the above provision, inter alia. Paragraphs 
39-40 of the resulting “Siracusa Principles on 
the Limitation and Derogation Provisions in 
the International Covenant on Civil and Politi-
cal Rights” declare, under the heading “Public 
Emergency which Threatens the Life of the Na-
tion”:
“39.Astatepartymaytakemeasuresderogat-
ingfromitsobligationsundertheInternation-
alCovenantonCivilandPoliticalRightspursu-
anttoArticle4(hereinaftercalled'derogation
measures') onlywhen facedwith a situation
ofexceptionalandactualorimminentdanger
whichthreatensthelifeofthenation.Athreat
tothelifeofthenationisonethat:

(a)affectsthewholeofthepopulationandei-
ther thewholeorpartof the territoryof the
State,and

(b)threatensthephysicalintegrityofthepop-
ulation,thepoliticalindependenceortheter-
ritorialintegrityoftheStateortheexistenceor
basicfunctioningofinstitutionsindispensable
toensureandprotecttherightsrecognisedin
theCovenant.

40. Internal conflict and unrest that do not
constituteagraveandimminentthreattothe
life of the nation cannot justify derogations
underArticle4.”

The Siracusa Principles continue, in paragraph 
54:
“54. The principle of strict necessity shall be
appliedinanobjectivemanner.Eachmeasure
shall be directed to an actual, clear, present,
orimminentdangerandmaynotbeimposed
merelybecauseofanapprehensionofpoten-

tialdanger.”

110. The United Nations Human Rights Committee, 
in “General Comment No 29 on Article 4 of the 
ICCPR (24 July 2001), observed in paragraph 2 
that:
“Measuresderogating from theprovisionsof
theCovenantmustbeofanexceptionaland
temporarynature.”

VI. OTHER MATERIALS CONCERNING 
NON-DISCLOSURE OF EVIDENCE 
IN NATIONAL SECURITY CASES

111. In Charkaoui v Minister of Citizenship and Im-
migration [2007] 1 SCR 350, McLachlin CJ, 
for the Supreme Court of Canada, observed 
(§ 53):
“Lastbutnotleast,afairhearingrequiresthat
the affectedpersonbe informedof the case
against him or her, and be permitted to re-
spondtoit.”

That right was not absolute and might be lim-
ited in the interests of national security (§§ 
57-58) but (§ 64):
“...Thejudgeisthereforenot inapositionto
compensateforthelackofinformedscrutiny,
challengeandcounter-evidencethataperson
familiarwiththecasecouldbring.Suchscru-
tinyisthewholepointoftheprinciplethata
personwhoselibertyisinjeopardymustknow
thecasetomeet.Herethatprinciplehasnot
merely been limited; it has been effectively
gutted. How can onemeet a case one does
notknow?”

112. In Hamdi v Rumsfeld 542 US 507 (2004), 
O'Connor J, writing for the majority of the Su-
preme Court of the United States, said (p. 533):
“We therefore hold that a citizen-detainee
seeking to challenge his classification as an
enemycombatantmustreceivenoticeofthe
factualbasisforhisclassification,andafairop-
portunity to rebut the Government's factual
assertions before a neutral decision-maker
[authoritycited].'Formorethanacenturythe
central meaning of procedural due process
hasbeenclear:Partieswhoserightsaretobe
affectedareentitledtobeheard;andinorder
thattheymayenjoythatrighttheymustfirst
be notified ...' These essential constitutional
promisesmaynotbeeroded.”

113. The Council of Europe's Commissioner for Hu-
man Rights, in paragraph 21 of his report of 
8 June 2005 (see paragraph 104 above), and 
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the Joint Parliamentary Committee on Human 
Rights (see paragraph 100 above), in paragraph 
76 of its Twelfth Report of Session 2005-2006, 
(HL Paper 122, HC 915) had difficulty in accept-
ing that a hearing could be fair if an adverse 
decision could be based on material that the 
controlled person has no effective opportunity 
to challenge or rebut.

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF 
ARTICLE 3 OF THE CONVENTION 
AND ARTICLE 13 TAKEN IN 
CONJUNCTION WITH ARTICLE 3

114. The applicants alleged that their detention un-
der Part 4 of the 2001 Act breached their rights 
under Article 3 of the Convention, which pro-
vides:
“No one shall be subjected to torture or to
inhuman or degrading treatment or punish-
ment.”

They further complained that they were de-
nied an effective remedy for their Article 3 
complaints, in breach of Article 13 of the Con-
vention, which states:
“Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [the] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity.”

A. The parties' submissions
1.Theapplicants

115. The applicants stressed that each was in the 
United Kingdom because the opportunity of 
a safe haven in his own country or elsewhere 
was denied to him. The first applicant was a 
stateless Palestinian and had nowhere else to 
go. Several had experienced torture before 
coming to the United Kingdom. Under the 
2001 Act they were put in the position of hav-
ing to choose between conditions of deten-
tion which they found intolerable and the risk 
of whatever treatment they might have to suf-
fer if they consented to deportation. Moreover, 
their previous experiences and pre-existing 
mental and physical problems made them par-
ticularly vulnerable to the ill effects of arbitrary 
detention. The discrimination they suffered, 

since only foreign nationals were subject to 
detention under the 2001 Act, compounded 
their anguish.

116. The high security conditions of detention, 
in Belmarsh Prison and Broadmoor Hospital, 
were inappropriate and damaging to their 
health. More fundamentally, however, the in-
determinate nature of the detention, with no 
end in sight, and its actual long duration gave 
rise to abnormal suffering, in excess of that in-
herent in detention. This was compounded by 
other unusual aspects of the regime, such as 
the secret nature of the evidence against them. 
The fact that the indifference of the authorities 
to the applicants' situation was sanctioned by 
Parliamentary statute did not mitigate their 
suffering.

117. Taken cumulatively, these factors caused the 
applicants an intense degree of anguish. The 
medical evidence and reports of the CPT and 
group of consultant psychiatrists (see para-
graphs 101 and 76 above) demonstrated that 
the detention regime also harmed or seriously 
risked harming all of them and, in the case of 
the first, fifth, seventh and tenth applicants, did 
so extensively.

118. The applicants claimed that SIAC's power to 
grant bail did not effectively function during 
the period when they were detained: first, 
because the scope of the remedy was jurisdic-
tionally unclear; secondly, because the proce-
dure was subject to delay; thirdly, because the 
threshold for granting bail was too high. An ap-
plicant for bail was required to demonstrate an 
“overwhelming likelihood” that his continued 
detention would lead to a physical or mental 
deterioration, such as to constitute inhuman 
and degrading treatment contrary to Article 3. 
The jurisdiction was described as “exceptional”, 
requiring the “circumstances to be extreme”. 
Even then, the only available remedy was to 
substitute house arrest for detention (see para-
graph 78 above).

2.TheGovernment
119. The Government denied that the applicants' 

rights under Article 3 had been infringed. They 
pointed out that SIAC and the Court of Appeal 
had rejected the applicants' complaints under 
Article 3 and that the House of Lords had not 
found it necessary to determine them (see 
paragraphs 15, 16 and 22 above).

120. Detention without charge was not in itself 
contrary to Article 3 and in many instances it 
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was permitted under Article 5 § 1. The deten-
tion was indeterminate but not indefinite. The 
legislation remained in force for only five years 
and was subject to annual renewal by both 
Houses of Parliament. Each applicant's deten-
tion depended on his individual circumstances 
continuing to justify it, including the degree of 
threat to national security which he represent-
ed and the possibility to deport him to a safe 
country, and was subject to review every six 
months by SIAC. Each applicant was informed 
of the reason for the suspicion against him and 
given as much of the underlying evidence as 
possible and provided with as fair a procedure 
as possible to challenge the grounds for his de-
tention. Moreover, SIAC was able to grant bail 
if necessary. The applicants were not, therefore, 
detained without hope of release: on the con-
trary there was the opportunity to apply for 
release together with mandatory review by the 
court to ensure detention remained both law-
ful and proportionate in all the circumstances. 
It also remained open to the applicants to 
leave the United Kingdom, as the second and 
fourth applicants chose to do.

121. The applicants were judged to pose a serious 
threat to national security and were accord-
ingly held in high security conditions, which 
were not inhuman or degrading. Each was 
provided with appropriate treatment for his 
physical and mental health problems and the 
individual circumstances of each applicant, in-
cluding his mental health, were taken into ac-
count in determining where he should be held 
and whether he should be released on bail. A 
special unit was created at HMP Woodhill of 
which the applicants refused to make use (see 
paragraph 71 above).

122. To the extent that the applicants relied upon 
their individual conditions of detention and 
their personal circumstances, they had not ex-
hausted domestic remedies because they had 
not made any attempt to bring the necessary 
challenges. Any specific complaint about the 
conditions of detention could have been the 
subject of separate legal challenge. The prison 
authorities were subject to the requirements of 
the 1998 Act (see paragraph 94 above) and had 
an obligation under section 6(1) to act compat-
ibly with the Article 3 rights of the applicants 
in their custody. Insofar as the applicants' com-
plaints under Article 3 were based on the in-
determinate nature of their detention, this was 
provided for by primary legislation (Part 4 of 
the 2001 Act), and Article 13 did not import the 
right to challenge in a domestic court a deliber-

ate choice expressed by the legislature.

B. The Court's assessment
1.Admissibility

123. The Court observes that the second applicant 
was placed in detention under Part 4 of the 
2001 Act on 19 December 2001 and that he 
was released on 22 December 2001, following 
his decision voluntarily to return to Morocco 
(see paragraph 35 above). Since he was, there-
fore, detained for only a few days and since 
there is no evidence that during that time he 
suffered any hardship beyond that inherent 
in detention, his complaint under Article 3 is 
manifestly ill-founded within the meaning of 
Article 35 § 3 of the Convention.

Since Article 13 requires the provision of a 
domestic remedy in respect of “arguable 
complaints” under the Convention (see, for 
example, Ramirez Sanchez v. France [GC], no. 
59450/00, § 157, ECHR 2006-IX), it follows that 
the second applicant's complaint under Article 
13 is also manifestly ill-founded.

Both these complaints by the second applicant 
must therefore be declared inadmissible.

124. The Court notes the Government's assertion 
that there was a remedy available to the ap-
plicants under the 1998 Act, which they ne-
glected to use. However, since the applicants 
complain under Article 13 that the remedies at 
their disposal in connection with their Article 3 
complaints were ineffective, the Court consid-
ers that it is necessary to consider the Govern-
ment's objection concerning non-exhaustion 
together with the merits of the complaints 
under Articles 3 and 13.

125. The Court considers that, save those of the 
second applicant, the applicants' complaints 
under Articles 3 and 13 of the Convention raise 
complex issues of law and fact, the determina-
tion of which should depend on an examina-
tion of the merits. It concludes, therefore, that 
this part of the application is not manifestly 
ill-founded within the meaning of Article 35 
§ 3 of the Convention. No other ground of 
inadmissibility has been raised and it must be 
declared admissible.

2.Themerits
(a)  General principles

126. The Court is acutely conscious of the difficul-
ties faced by States in protecting their popu-
lations from terrorist violence. This makes it 
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all the more important to stress that Article 3 
enshrines one of the most fundamental val-
ues of democratic societies. Unlike most of the 
substantive clauses of the Convention and of 
Protocols Nos. 1 and 4, Article 3 makes no pro-
vision for exceptions and no derogation from 
it is permissible under Article 15 § 2 notwith-
standing the existence of a public emergency 
threatening the life of the nation. Even in the 
most difficult of circumstances, such as the 
fight against terrorism, and irrespective of the 
conduct of the person concerned, the Conven-
tion prohibits in absolute terms torture and 
inhuman or degrading treatment and punish-
ment (Ramirez Sanchez, cited above, §§ 115-
116).

127. Ill-treatment must attain a minimum level of se-
verity if it is to fall within the scope of Article 3. 
The assessment of this minimum depends on 
all the circumstances of the case, such as the 
duration of the treatment, its physical or men-
tal effects and, in some cases, the sex, age and 
state of health of the victim (see Kafkaris v. Cy-
prus [GC], no. 21906/04, § 95, ECHR 2008). The 
Court has considered treatment to be “inhu-
man” because, inter alia, it was premeditated, 
was applied for hours at a stretch and caused 
either actual bodily injury or intense physical 
or mental suffering. It has deemed treatment 
to be “degrading” because it was such as to 
arouse in the victims feelings of fear, anguish 
and inferiority capable of humiliating and de-
basing them (see, among other authorities, 
Kudła v. Poland [GC], no. 30210/96, § 92, ECHR 
2000-XI). In considering whether a punish-
ment or treatment was “degrading” within the 
meaning of Article 3, the Court will have regard 
to whether its object was to humiliate and 
debase the person concerned and whether, 
as far as the consequences are concerned, it 
adversely affected his or her personality in a 
manner incompatible with Article 3. However, 
the absence of any such purpose cannot con-
clusively rule out a finding of a violation of Ar-
ticle 3. In order for a punishment or treatment 
associated with it to be “inhuman” or “degrad-
ing”, the suffering or humiliation involved must 
go beyond that inevitable element of suffering 
or humiliation connected with a given form of 
legitimate treatment or punishment (Ramirez 
Sanchez, cited above, §§ 118-119).

128. Where a person is deprived of his liberty, the 
State must ensure that he is detained under 
conditions which are compatible with respect 
for his human dignity and that the manner 
and method of the execution of the measure 

do not subject him to distress or hardship 
exceeding the unavoidable level of suffering 
inherent in detention (see Kudła, cited above, 
§§ 92-94). Although Article 3 cannot be con-
strued as laying down a general obligation to 
release detainees on health grounds, it none-
theless imposes an obligation on the State to 
protect the physical and mental well-being of 
persons deprived of their liberty, for example 
by providing them with the requisite medical 
assistance (see Hurtado v. Switzerland, judg-
ment of 28 January 1994, § 79 opinion of the 
Commission, Series A no. 280-A; Mouisel v. 
France, no. 67263/01 67263/01, § 40, ECHR 
2002-IX; Aerts v. Belgium, judgment of 30 July 
1998, § 66, Reports of Judgments and Deci-
sions 1998-V; Keenan v. the United Kingdom, 
no. 27229/95, § 111, ECHR 2001-III). When as-
sessing conditions of detention, account has 
to be taken of the cumulative effects of those 
conditions, as well as the specific allegations 
made by the applicant (Ramirez Sanchez, cited 
above, § 119). The imposition of an irreducible 
life sentence on an adult, without any prospect 
of release, may raise an issue under Article 3, 
but where national law affords the possibility 
of review of a life sentence with a view to its 
commutation, remission, termination or the 
conditional release of the prisoner, this will be 
sufficient (Kafkaris, cited above, §§ 97-98).

(b)  Application to the facts of the present case

129. The Court notes that three of the applicants 
were held approximately three years and three 
months while the others were held for shorter 
periods. During a large part of that detention, 
the applicants could not have foreseen when, 
if ever, they would be released. They refer to 
the findings of the Joint Psychiatric Report and 
contend that the indefinite nature of their de-
tention caused or exacerbated serious mental 
health problems in each of them. The Govern-
ment dispute this conclusion and rely on Dr J.'s 
Report, which criticised the methodology of 
the authors of the Joint Report (see paragraphs 
76-77 above).

130. The Court considers that the uncertainty re-
garding their position and the fear of indefinite 
detention must, undoubtedly, have caused 
the applicants great anxiety and distress, as it 
would virtually any detainee in their position. 
Furthermore, it is probable that the stress was 
sufficiently serious and enduring to affect the 
mental health of certain of the applicants. This 
is one of the factors which the Court must 
take into account when assessing whether the 
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threshold of Article 3 was attained.

131. It cannot, however, be said that the applicants 
were without any prospect or hope of release 
(see Kafkaris, cited above, § 98). In particular, 
they were able to bring proceedings to chal-
lenge the legality of the detention scheme 
under the 2001 Act and were successful before 
SIAC, on 30 July 2002, and the House of Lords 
on 16 December 2004. In addition, each appli-
cant was able to bring an individual challenge 
to the decision to certify him and SIAC was re-
quired by statute to review the continuing case 
for detention every six months. The Court does 
not, therefore, consider that the applicants' 
situation was comparable to an irreducible life 
sentence, of the type designated in the Kafkaris 
judgment as capable of giving rise to an issue 
under Article 3.

132. The applicants further contend that the con-
ditions in which they were held contributed 
towards an intolerable level of suffering. The 
Court notes in this respect that the Joint Psy-
chiatric Report also contained criticisms of the 
Prison Health Care system and concluded that 
there was inadequate provision for the appli-
cants' complex health problems. These con-
cerns were echoed by the CPT, which made 
detailed allegations about the conditions of 
detention and concluded that for some of 
the applicants, “their situation at the time of 
the visit could be considered as amounting to 
inhuman and degrading treatment”. The Gov-
ernment strongly disputed these criticisms in 
their response to the CPT's report (see para-
graphs 101-102 above).

133. The Court observes that each detained ap-
plicant had at his disposal the remedies avail-
able to all prisoners under administrative and 
civil law to challenge conditions of detention, 
including any alleged inadequacy of medical 
treatment. The applicants did not attempt to 
make use of these remedies and did not there-
fore comply with the requirement under Arti-
cle 35 of the Convention to exhaust domestic 
remedies. It follows that the Court cannot ex-
amine the applicants' complaints about their 
conditions of detention; nor can it, in conse-
quence, take the conditions of detention into 
account in forming a global assessment of the 
applicants' treatment for the purposes of Arti-
cle 3.

134. In all the above circumstances, the Court does 
not find that the detention of the applicants 
reached the high threshold of inhuman and 

degrading treatment.

135. The applicants also complained that they did 
not have effective domestic remedies for their 
Article 3 complaints, in breach of Article 13. In 
this connection, the Court repeats its above 
finding that civil and administrative law rem-
edies were available to the applicants had they 
wished to complain about their conditions of 
detention. As for the more fundamental aspect 
of the complaints, that the very nature of the 
detention scheme in Part 4 of the 2001 Act 
gave rise to a breach of Article 3, the Court re-
calls that Article 13 does not guarantee a rem-
edy allowing a challenge to primary legislation 
before a national authority on the ground of 
being contrary to the Convention (James and 
Others v. the United Kingdom, judgment of 21 
February 1986, § 85, Series A no. 98; Roche 
v. the United Kingdom [GC], no. 32555/96 
32555/96, § 137, ECHR 2005-X).

136. In conclusion, therefore, the Court does not 
find a violation of Article 3, taken alone or in 
conjunction with Article 13.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
5 § 1 OF THE CONVENTION

137. The applicants contended that their detention 
was unlawful and incompatible with Article 5 
§ 1 of the Convention.

138. In their first set of written observations, follow-
ing the communication of the application by 
the Chamber, the Government indicated that 
they would not seek to raise the question of 
derogation under Article 15 of the Conven-
tion as a defence to the claim based on Article 
5 § 1, but would leave that point as deter-
mined against them by the House of Lords. 
Instead, they intended to focus argument on 
the defence that the applicants were lawfully 
detained with a view to deportation, within the 
meaning of Article 5 § 1(f).

However, in their written observations to the 
Grand Chamber, dated 11 February 2008, the 
Government indicated for the first time that 
they wished to argue that the applicants' de-
tention did not in any event give rise to a viola-
tion of Article 5 § 1 because the United King-
dom's derogation under Article 15 was valid.

139. Article 5 § 1 of the Convention provides, so far 
as relevant:
“1.Everyonehastherighttolibertyandsecu-
rityofperson.Nooneshallbedeprivedofhis
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liberty save in the followingcasesand inac-
cordancewithaprocedureprescribedbylaw:

...

(f) the lawful arrestordetentionof aperson
...againstwhomaction isbeingtakenwitha
viewtodeportationorextradition.”

Article 15 of the Convention states:
“1. In timeofwarorotherpublicemergency
threatening the life of the nation any High
Contracting Party may take measures dero-
gating from its obligations under [the] Con-
vention to theextentstrictly requiredby the
exigenciesofthesituation,providedthatsuch
measures are not inconsistentwith its other
obligationsunderinternationallaw.

2.NoderogationfromArticle2,except inre-
spect of deaths resulting from lawful acts of
war,orfromArticles3,4(§1)and7shallbe
madeunderthisprovision.

3. Any High Contracting Party availing itself
ofthisrightofderogationshallkeeptheSec-
retaryGeneral of the Council of Europe fully
informedof themeasureswhich ithas taken
andthereasonstherefore.Itshallalsoinform
theSecretaryGeneraloftheCouncilofEurope
when such measures have ceased to oper-
ateandtheprovisionsoftheConventionare
againbeingfullyexecuted.”

A. The parties' submissions
1.Theapplicants

140. The applicants objected that before the do-
mestic courts the Government had not sought 
to argue that they were detained as “person[s] 
against whom action is being taken with a 
view to deportation or extradition”, but had 
instead relied on the derogation under Article 
15. In these circumstances, the applicants con-
tended that it was abusive and contrary to the 
principle of subsidiarity for the Government to 
raise a novel argument before the Court and 
that they should be stopped from so doing.

141. In the event that the Court considered that it 
could entertain the Government's submission, 
the applicants emphasised that the guarantee 
in Article 5 was of fundamental importance and 
exceptions had to be strictly construed. Where, 
as in their case, deportation was not possible 
because of the risk of treatment contrary to Ar-
ticle 3 in the receiving country, Article 5 § 1(f) 
would not authorise detention, irrespective of 
whether the individual posed a risk to national 
security. Merely keeping the possibility of de-

portation under review was not “action ... being 
taken with a view to deportation”; it was action, 
unrelated to any extant deportation proceed-
ings, that might make the deportation a pos-
sibility in the future. Detention pursuant to 
such vague and non-specific “action” would be 
arbitrary. Moreover, it was clear that during the 
periods when the applicants' cases were being 
considered by SIAC on appeal (July 2002-Oc-
tober 2003), the Government's position was 
that they could not be deported compatibly 
with Article 3 and that no negotiations to ef-
fect deportation should be attempted with the 
proposed receiving States. As a matter of fact, 
therefore, the Government were not keeping 
the possibility of deporting the applicants “un-
der active review”.

142. The applicants further contended that it was 
abusive of the Government, so late in the 
proceedings before the Grand Chamber, to 
challenge the House of Lords' decision quash-
ing the derogation. In the applicants' view, it 
would be inconsistent with Article 19 and the 
principle of subsidiarity for the Court to be 
asked by a Government to review alleged er-
rors of fact or law committed by that Govern-
ment's own national courts. The Government's 
approach in challenging the findings of its own 
supreme court about legislation which Parlia-
ment had chosen to repeal aimed to limit the 
human rights recognised under domestic law 
and was thus in conflict with Article 53 of the 
Convention. Since the legislation had been 
revoked and the derogation withdrawn, the 
Government were in effect seeking to obtain 
from the Court an advisory opinion to be re-
lied on potentially at some later stage. To al-
low the Government to proceed would impact 
substantially on the right of individual petition 
under Article 34 by deterring applicants from 
making complaints for fear that Governments 
would try to upset the decisions of their own 
supreme courts.

143. In the event that the Court decided to review 
the legality of the derogation, the applicants 
contended that the Government should not 
be permitted to rely on arguments which they 
had not advanced before the domestic courts. 
These included, first, the contention that it 
was justifiable to detain non-national terrorist 
suspects while excluding nationals from such 
measures, because of the interest in cultivating 
loyalty amongst Muslim citizens, rather than 
exposing them to the threat of detention and 
the risk that they would thereby become radi-
calised and, secondly, the argument that the 
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use of detention powers against foreign na-
tionals freed up law enforcement resources to 
concentrate on United Kingdom nationals (see 
paragraph 151 below). Since the Government 
was seeking to introduce these justifications 
for the derogation which were never advanced 
before the domestic courts, the Court was be-
ing asked to act as a first-instance tribunal on 
highly controversial matters.

144. Again, if the Court decided to examine the le-
gality of the derogation, there was no reason 
to give special deference to the findings of the 
national courts on the question whether there 
was an emergency within the meaning of Ar-
ticle 15. In the applicants' submission, there 
were no judicial precedents for recognising 
that an inchoate fear of a terrorist attack, which 
was not declared to be imminent, was suffi-
cient. All the examples in the Convention juris-
prudence related to derogations introduced to 
combat ongoing terrorism which quite clearly 
jeopardized the entire infrastructure of North-
ern Ireland or the South-East of Turkey. The 
domestic authorities were wrong in interpret-
ing Article 15 as permitting a derogation where 
the threat was not necessarily directed at the 
United Kingdom but instead at other nations 
to which it was allied.

145. In any event, the enactment of Part 4 of the 
2001 Act and the power contained therein to 
detain foreign nationals indeterminately with-
out charge was not “strictly required by the exi-
gencies of the situation”, as the House of Lords 
found. The impugned measures were not 
rationally connected to the need to prevent 
a terrorist attack on the United Kingdom and 
they involved unjustifiable discrimination on 
grounds of nationality. SIAC – which saw both 
the closed and open material on the point – 
concluded that there was ample evidence that 
British citizens posed a very significant threat. 
There could be no grounds for holding that the 
fundamental right of liberty was less impor-
tant for a non-national than a national. Aliens 
enjoyed a right of equal treatment outside the 
context of immigration and political activity, as 
a matter of well established domestic, Conven-
tion and public international law. There were 
other, less intrusive, measures which could 
have been used to address the threat, for ex-
ample, the use of control orders as created by 
the Prevention of Terrorism Act 2005; the crea-
tion of additional criminal offences to permit 
for the prosecution of individuals engaged in 
preparatory terrorist activity; or the lifting of 
the ban on the use of material obtained by the 

interception of communications in criminal 
proceedings.

2.TheGovernment
146. The Government contended that States have 

a fundamental right under international law 
to control the entry, residence and expulsion 
of aliens. Clear language would be required 
to justify the conclusion that the Contract-
ing States intended through the Convention 
to give up their ability to protect themselves 
against a risk to national security created by a 
non-national. As a matter of ordinary language, 
“action being taken with a view to deportation” 
covered the situation where a Contracting 
State wished to deport an alien, actively kept 
that possibility under review and only refrained 
from doing so because of contingent, extrane-
ous circumstances. In Chahal, cited above, a 
period of detention of over six years, including 
over three years where the applicant could not 
be removed because of an interim measure 
requested by the Commission, was held to be 
acceptable under Article 5 § 1(f).

147. Each applicant was served a Notice of Inten-
tion to Deport at the same time as he was 
certified under the 2001 Act. The second and 
fourth applicants elected to go to Morocco 
and France, respectively, and were allowed to 
leave the United Kingdom as soon as could be 
arranged, so no issue could arise under Article 
5 § 1 in their respect. The possibility of deport-
ing the other applicants was kept under active 
review throughout the period of their deten-
tion. This involved monitoring the situation in 
their countries of origin. Further, from the end 
of 2003 onwards the Government were in ne-
gotiation with Algeria and Jordan, with a view 
to entering into memoranda of understand-
ing that the applicants who were nationals of 
those countries would not be ill-treated if re-
turned.

148. The Government relied upon the principle of 
fair balance, which underlies the whole Con-
vention, and reasoned that sub-paragraph (f) 
of Article 5 § 1 had to be interpreted so as to 
strike a balance between the interests of the 
individual and the interests of the State in pro-
tecting its population from malevolent aliens. 
Detention struck that balance by advancing 
the legitimate aim of the State to secure the 
protection of the population without sacri-
ficing the predominant interest of the alien 
to avoid being returned to a place where he 
faced torture or death. The fair balance was 
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further preserved by providing the alien with 
adequate safeguards against the arbitrary ex-
ercise of the detention powers in national se-
curity cases.

149. In the alternative, the detention of the ap-
plicants was not in breach of the Convention 
because of the derogation under Article 15. 
There was a public emergency threatening the 
life of the nation at the relevant time. That as-
sessment was subjected to full scrutiny by the 
domestic courts. The evidence in support, both 
open and closed, was examined by SIAC in de-
tail, with the benefit of oral hearings at which 
witnesses were cross-examined. SIAC unani-
mously upheld the Government's assessment, 
as did the unanimous Court of Appeal and 
eight of the nine judges in the House of Lords. 
In the light of the margin of appreciation to 
be afforded to the national authorities on this 
question, there was no proper basis on which 
the Court could reach a different conclusion.

150. The Government explained that they accorded 
very great respect to the House of Lords' de-
cision and declaration of incompatibility and 
that they had repealed the offending legis-
lation. Nonetheless, when the decision was 
made to refer the case to the Grand Chamber, 
they decided that it was necessary to challenge 
the House of Lords' reasoning and conclusions, 
bearing in mind the wide constitutional im-
portance of the issue and the ongoing need 
for Contracting States to have clear guidance 
from the Grand Chamber as to the measures 
they might legitimately take to try to prevent 
the terrorist threat from materialising. They 
submitted that the House of Lords had erred 
in affording the State too narrow a margin of 
appreciation in assessing what measures were 
strictly necessary; in this connection it was rel-
evant to note that Part 4 of the 2001 Act was 
not only the product of the judgment of the 
Government but was also the subject of de-
bate in Parliament. Furthermore, the domestic 
courts had examined the legislation in the ab-
stract, rather than considering the applicants' 
concrete cases, including the impossibility of 
removing them, the threat each posed to na-
tional security, the inadequacy of enhanced 
surveillance or other controls short of deten-
tion and the procedural safeguards afforded to 
each applicant.

151. Finally, the House of Lords' conclusion had 
turned not on a rejection of the necessity to 
detain the applicants but instead on the ab-
sence of a legislative power to detain also a 

national who posed a risk to national security 
and was suspected of being an international 
terrorist. However, there were good reasons for 
detaining only non-nationals and the Conven-
tion expressly and impliedly recognised that 
distinction was permissible between nationals 
and non-nationals in the field of immigration. 
The primary measure which the Government 
wished to take against the applicants was de-
portation, a measure permitted against a non-
national but not a national. The analogy drawn 
by the House of Lords between “foreigners 
[such as the applicants] who cannot be de-
ported” and “British nationals who cannot be 
deported” was false, because the applicants at 
the time of their detention were not irremov-
able in the same way that a British citizen is ir-
removable. Furthermore, at the relevant time 
the Government's assessment was that the 
greater risk emanated from non-nationals and 
it was legitimate for a State, when dealing with 
a national emergency, to proceed on a step-
by-step basis and aim to neutralise what was 
perceived as the greatest threat first, thereby 
also freeing resources to deal with the lesser 
threat coming from British citizens. In addition, 
it was reasonable for the State to take into ac-
count the sensitivities of its Muslim population 
in order to reduce the chances of recruitment 
amongst them by extremists.

3.Thethirdparty,Liberty
152. Liberty (see paragraph 6 above) submitted 

that, by reserving before the domestic courts 
the issue whether the detention was com-
patible with Article 5 § 1, the Government 
had deprived the Court of the benefit of the 
views of the House of Lords and had pursued 
a course of action which would not be open 
to an applicant. In any event, the detention did 
not fall within the exception in Article 5 § 1(f), 
since Part 4 of the 2001 Act permitted indefi-
nite detention and since there was no tangible 
expectation of being able to deport the appli-
cants during the relevant time. If the Govern-
ment were unable to remove the applicants 
because of their Article 3 rights, they could not 
properly rely on national security concerns as 
a basis for diluting or modifying their Article 5 
rights. Instead, the proper course was either to 
derogate from Article 5 to the extent strictly re-
quired by the situation or to prosecute the indi-
viduals concerned with one of the plethora of 
criminal terrorist offences on the United King-
dom's statute books, which included professed 
membership of a proscribed organisation, 
failure to notify the authorities of suspected 
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terrorist activity, possession of incriminating 
articles and indirect encouragement to com-
mit, prepare or instigate acts of terrorism (see 
paragraphs 89 and 95 above).

B. The Court's assessment
1.ThescopeofthecasebeforetheCourt

153. The Court must start by determining the ap-
plicants' first preliminary objection, that the 
Government should be precluded from raising 
a defence to the complaints under Article 5 § 
1 based on the exception in subparagraph 5 § 
1(f), on the ground that they did not pursue it 
before the domestic courts.

154. The Court is intended to be subsidiary to the 
national systems safeguarding human rights. 
It is, therefore, appropriate that the national 
courts should initially have the opportunity to 
determine questions of the compatibility of 
domestic law with the Convention and that, 
if an application is nonetheless subsequently 
brought before the Court, it should have the 
benefit of the views of the national courts, as 
being in direct and continuous contact with 
the forces of their countries (see Burden, cited 
above, § 42). It is thus of importance that the 
arguments put by the Government before the 
national courts should be on the same lines as 
those put before this Court. In particular, it is 
not open to a Government to put to the Court 
arguments which are inconsistent with the po-
sition they adopted before the national courts 
(see, mutatis mutandis, Pine Valley Develop-
ments Ltd and Others v. Ireland, judgment of 
29 November 1991, § 47, Series A no. 222; Ko-
lompar v. Belgium, judgment of 24 September 
1992, §§ 31-32, Series A no. 235-C).

155. The Court does not, however, consider that the 
Government are estopped from seeking to rely 
on sub-paragraph (f) of Article 5 § 1 to justify 
the detention. It is clear that the Government 
expressly kept open, in the text of the deroga-
tion and during the derogation proceedings 
before the domestic courts, the question of the 
application of Article 5. Moreover, the majority 
of the House of Lords either explicitly or im-
pliedly considered whether the detention was 
compatible with Article 5 § 1 before assessing 
the validity of the derogation (see paragraph 
17 above).

156. The applicants further contended that the 
Government should not be permitted to dis-
pute before the Court the House of Lords' find-
ing that the derogation was invalid.

157. The present situation is, undoubtedly, unusual 
in that Governments do not normally resort to 
challenging, nor see any need to contest, de-
cisions of their own highest courts before this 
Court. There is not, however, any prohibition 
on a Government making such a challenge, 
particularly if they consider that the national 
supreme court's ruling is problematic under 
the Convention and that further guidance is 
required from the Court.

158. In the present case, because a declaration of 
incompatibility under the Human Rights Act 
is not binding on the parties to the domestic 
litigation (see paragraph 94 above), the appli-
cants' success in the House of Lords led neither 
to their immediate release nor to the payment 
of compensation for unlawful detention and 
it was therefore necessary for them to lodge 
the present application. The Court does not 
consider that there is any reason of principle 
why, since the applicants have requested it to 
examine the lawfulness of their detention, the 
Government should not now have the chance 
to raise all the arguments open to them to de-
fend the proceedings, even if this involves call-
ing into question the conclusion of their own 
supreme court.

159. The Court therefore dismisses the applicants' 
two preliminary objections.

2.Admissibility
160. The Court considers that the applicants' com-

plaints under Article 5 § 1 of the Convention 
raise complex issues of law and fact, the deter-
mination of which should depend on an ex-
amination of the merits. It concludes, therefore, 
that this part of the application is not mani-
festly ill-founded within the meaning of Article 
35 § 3 of the Convention. No other ground of 
inadmissibility has been raised and it must be 
declared admissible.

3.Themerits
161. The Court must first ascertain whether the ap-

plicants' detention was permissible under Arti-
cle 5 § 1(f), because if that subparagraph does 
provide a defence to the complaints under 
Article 5 § 1, it will not be necessary to deter-
mine whether or not the derogation was valid 
(see Ireland v. the United Kingdom, judgment 
of 18 January 1978, § 191, Series A no. 25).

(a)  hether the applicants were lawfully detained 
in accordance with Article 5 § 1(f) of the Con-
vention
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162. Article 5 enshrines a fundamental human right, 
namely the protection of the individual against 
arbitrary interference by the State with his or 
her right to liberty (Aksoy v. Turkey, judgment 
of 18 December 1996, § 76, Reports 1996-VI). 
The text of Article 5 makes it clear that the 
guarantees it contains apply to “everyone”.

163. Sub-paragraphs (a) to (f) of Article 5 § 1 con-
tain an exhaustive list of permissible grounds 
on which persons may be deprived of their 
liberty and no deprivation of liberty will 
be lawful unless it falls within one of those 
grounds (Saadi v. the United Kingdom [GC], 
no. 13229/03, § 43, ECHR 2008). One of the 
exceptions, contained in subparagraph (f), 
permits the State to control the liberty of aliens 
in an immigration context (idem., § 64). The 
Government contend that the applicants' de-
tention was justified under the second limb of 
that subparagraph and that they were lawfully 
detained as persons “against whom action is 
being taken with a view to deportation or ex-
tradition”.

164. Article 5 § 1(f) does not demand that deten-
tion be reasonably considered necessary, for 
example to prevent the individual from com-
mitting an offence or fleeing. Any deprivation 
of liberty under the second limb of Article 5 
§ 1(f) will be justified, however, only for as 
long as deportation or extradition proceedings 
are in progress. If such proceedings are not 
prosecuted with due diligence, the detention 
will cease to be permissible under Article 5 § 
1(f) (Chahal, cited above, § 113). The depriva-
tion of liberty must also be “lawful”. Where the 
“lawfulness” of detention is in issue, including 
the question whether “a procedure prescribed 
by law” has been followed, the Convention re-
fers essentially to national law and lays down 
the obligation to conform to the substantive 
and procedural rules of national law. Compli-
ance with national law is not, however, suf-
ficient: Article 5 § 1 requires in addition that 
any deprivation of liberty should be in keeping 
with the purpose of protecting the individual 
from arbitrariness. It is a fundamental princi-
ple that no detention which is arbitrary can 
be compatible with Article 5 § 1 and the no-
tion of “arbitrariness” in Article 5 § 1 extends 
beyond lack of conformity with national law, 
so that a deprivation of liberty may be law-
ful in terms of domestic law but still arbitrary 
and thus contrary to the Convention (Saadi v. 
the United Kingdom, cited above, § 67). To 
avoid being branded as arbitrary, detention 
under Article 5 § 1(f) must be carried out in 

good faith; it must be closely connected to the 
ground of detention relied on by the Govern-
ment; the place and conditions of detention 
should be appropriate; and the length of the 
detention should not exceed that reasonably 
required for the purpose pursued (see, mutatis 
mutandis, Saadi v. the United Kingdom, cited 
above, § 74).

165. The first, third, and sixth applicants were tak-
en into detention under the 2001 Act on 19 
December 2001; the seventh applicant was 
detained on 9 February 2002; the eighth appli-
cant, on 23 October 2002; the ninth applicant, 
on 22 April 2002; the tenth applicant, on 14 
January 2003; and the eleventh applicant, on 
2 October 2003. None of these applicants was 
released until 10-11 March 2005. The fifth ap-
plicant was detained between 19 December 
2001 and 22 April 2004, when he was released 
on bail subject to stringent conditions. The sec-
ond and fourth applicants were also detained 
on 19 December 2001 but the second appli-
cant was released on 22 December 2001, fol-
lowing his decision to return to Morocco, and 
the fourth applicant was released on 13 March 
2002, following his decision to go to France. 
The applicants were held throughout in high 
security conditions at either Belmarsh or Woo-
dhill Prisons or Broadmoor Hospital. It cannot, 
therefore, be disputed that they were deprived 
of their liberty within the meaning of Article 5 
§ 1 (see Engel and Others v. the Netherlands, 
judgment of 8 June 1976, Series A no. 22).

166. The applicants were foreign nationals whom 
the Government would have deported from 
the United Kingdom had it been possible to 
find a State to receive them where they would 
not face a real risk of being subjected to treat-
ment contrary to Article 3 of the Convention 
(Saadi v. Italy [GC], no. 37201/06, §§ 125 and 
127, ECHR 2008). Although the respondent 
State's obligations under Article 3 prevented 
the removal of the applicants from the United 
Kingdom, the Secretary of State nonetheless 
considered it necessary to detain them for se-
curity reasons, because he believed that their 
presence in the country was a risk to national 
security and suspected that they were or had 
been concerned in the commission, prepara-
tion or instigation of acts of international ter-
rorism and were members of, belonged to or 
had links with an international terrorist group. 
Such detention would have been unlawful un-
der domestic law prior to the passing of Part 
4 of the 2001 Act, since the 1984 judgment 
in Hardial Singh entailed that the power of 
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detention could not be exercised unless the 
person subject to the deportation order could 
be deported within a reasonable time (see 
paragraph 87 above). Thus, it was stated in the 
derogation notice lodged under Article 15 of 
the Convention that extended powers were 
required to arrest and detain a foreign national 
“where removal or deportation is not for the 
time being possible, with the consequence 
that the detention would be unlawful under 
existing domestic law powers” (see paragraph 
11 above).

167. One of the principal assumptions underlying 
the derogation notice, the 2001 Act and the 
decision to detain the applicants was, there-
fore, that they could not be removed or de-
ported “for the time being” (see paragraphs 
11 and 90 above). There is no evidence that 
during the period of the applicants' deten-
tion there was, except in respect of the second 
and fourth applicants, any realistic prospect of 
their being expelled without this giving rise to 
a real risk of ill-treatment contrary to Article 3. 
Indeed, the first applicant is stateless and the 
Government have not produced any evidence 
to suggest that there was another State will-
ing to accept him. It does not appear that the 
Government entered into negotiations with 
Algeria or Jordan, with a view to seeking assur-
ances that the applicants who were nationals 
of those States would not be ill-treated if re-
turned, until the end of 2003 and no such as-
surance was received until August 2005 (see 
paragraph 86 above). In these circumstances, 
the Court does not consider that the respond-
ent Government's policy of keeping the possi-
bility of deporting the applicants “under active 
review” was sufficiently certain or determina-
tive to amount to “action ... being taken with a 
view to deportation”.

168. The exceptions to this conclusion were the 
second applicant, who was detained for only 
three days prior to his return to Morocco, 
and the fourth applicant, who left the United 
Kingdom for France on 13 March 2002, having 
been detained for just under three months (see 
paragraphs 35 and 41 above). The Court con-
siders that during these periods of detention it 
could reasonably be said that action was being 
taken against these applicants with a view to 
deportation, in that it appears that the authori-
ties were still at that stage in the course of es-
tablishing their nationalities and investigating 
whether their removal to their countries of 
origin or to other countries would be possible 
(see Gebremedhin [Gaberamadhien] v. France, 

no. 25389/05, § 74, 26 April 2007). According-
ly, there has been no violation of Article 5 § 1 
of the Convention in respect of the second and 
fourth applicants.

169. It is true that even the applicants who were 
detained the longest were not held for as long 
as the applicant in Chahal (cited above), where 
the Court found no violation of Article 5 § 1 
despite his imprisonment for over six years. 
However, in the Chahal case, throughout the 
entire period of the detention, proceedings 
were being actively and diligently pursued, be-
fore the domestic authorities and the Court, in 
order to determine whether it would be lawful 
and compatible with Article 3 of the Conven-
tion to proceed with the applicant's deporta-
tion to India. The same cannot be said in the 
present case, where the proceedings have, in-
stead, been primarily concerned with the legal-
ity of the detention.

170. In the circumstances of the present case it 
cannot be said that the first, third, fifth, sixth, 
seventh, eighth, ninth, tenth and eleventh ap-
plicants were persons “against whom action 
[was] being taken with a view to deportation or 
extradition”. Their detention did not, therefore, 
fall within the exception to the right to liberty 
set out in paragraph 5 § 1(f) of the Conven-
tion. This is a conclusion which was also, ex-
pressly or impliedly, reached by a majority of 
the members of the House of Lords (see para-
graph 17 above).

171. It is, instead, clear from the terms of the dero-
gation notice and Part 4 of the 2001 Act that 
the applicants were certified and detained 
because they were suspected of being inter-
national terrorists and because it was believed 
that their presence at liberty in the United 
Kingdom gave rise to a threat to national se-
curity. The Court does not accept the Govern-
ment's argument that Article 5 § 1 permits a 
balance to be struck between the individual's 
right to liberty and the State's interest in pro-
tecting its population from terrorist threat. This 
argument is inconsistent not only with the 
Court's jurisprudence under sub-paragraph (f) 
but also with the principle that paragraphs (a) 
to (f) amount to an exhaustive list of excep-
tions and that only a narrow interpretation of 
these exceptions is compatible with the aims 
of Article 5. If detention does not fit within the 
confines of the paragraphs as interpreted by 
the Court, it cannot be made to fit by an ap-
peal to the need to balance the interests of the 
State against those of the detainee.



717CASEOFA.ANDOTHERSVTHEUNITEDKINGDOM

EC
J

EC
HR

172. The Court recalls that it has, on a number of 
occasions, found internment and preventive 
detention without charge to be incompatible 
with the fundamental right to liberty under Ar-
ticle 5 § 1, in the absence of a valid derogation 
under Article 15 (see Lawless v. Ireland (No. 3), 
judgment of 1 July 1961, §§ 13 and 14, Series 
A no. 3; Ireland v. the United Kingdom, cited 
above, §§ 194-196 and 212-213). It must 
now, therefore, consider whether the United 
Kingdom's derogation was valid.

(b)  Whether  the  United  Kingdom  validly  dero-
gated from its obligations under Article 5 § 1 
of the Convention

i The Court's approach

173. The Court recalls that it falls to each Contract-
ing State, with its responsibility for “the life of 
[its] nation”, to determine whether that life is 
threatened by a “public emergency” and, if so, 
how far it is necessary to go in attempting to 
overcome the emergency. By reason of their di-
rect and continuous contact with the pressing 
needs of the moment, the national authorities 
are in principle better placed than the interna-
tional judge to decide both on the presence 
of such an emergency and on the nature and 
scope of the derogations necessary to avert 
it. Accordingly, in this matter a wide margin 
of appreciation should be left to the national 
authorities.

Nonetheless, Contracting Parties do not enjoy 
an unlimited discretion. It is for the Court to 
rule whether, inter alia, the States have gone 
beyond the “extent strictly required by the 
exigencies” of the crisis. The domestic margin 
of appreciation is thus accompanied by a Eu-
ropean supervision. In exercising this supervi-
sion, the Court must give appropriate weight 
to such relevant factors as the nature of the 
rights affected by the derogation and the cir-
cumstances leading to, and the duration of, 
the emergency situation (Ireland v. the United 
Kingdom, cited above, § 207; Brannigan and 
McBride v. the United Kingdom, judgment of 
26 May 1993, § 43, Series A no. 258; Aksoy, 
cited above, § 68).

174. The object and purpose underlying the Con-
vention, as set out in Article 1, is that the 
rights and freedoms should be secured by 
the Contracting State within its jurisdiction. 
It is fundamental to the machinery of protec-
tion established by the Convention that the 
national systems themselves provide redress 
for breaches of its provisions, with the Court 

exercising a supervisory role subject to the 
principle of subsidiarity (Z. and Others v. the 
United Kingdom, no. 29392/95, § 103, ECHR 
2001-V). Moreover, the domestic courts are 
part of the “national authorities” to which the 
Court affords a wide margin of appreciation 
under Article 15. In the unusual circumstances 
of the present case, where the highest do-
mestic court has examined the issues relating 
to the State's derogation and concluded that 
there was a public emergency threatening the 
life of the nation but that the measures taken 
in response were not strictly required by the 
exigencies of the situation, the Court considers 
that it would be justified in reaching a contrary 
conclusion only if satisfied that the national 
court had misinterpreted or misapplied Article 
15 or the Court's jurisprudence under that Ar-
ticle or reached a conclusion which was mani-
festly unreasonable.

ii Whether there was a “public emergency 
threatening the life of the nation”

175. The applicants argued that there had been no 
public emergency threatening the life of the 
British nation, for three main reasons: first, the 
emergency was neither actual nor imminent; 
secondly, it was not of a temporary nature; 
and, thirdly, the practice of other States, none 
of which had derogated from the Convention, 
together with the informed views of other na-
tional and international bodies, suggested that 
the existence of a public emergency had not 
been established.

176. The Court recalls that in Lawless, cited above, 
§ 28, it held that in the context of Article 15 
the natural and customary meaning of the 
words “other public emergency threatening 
the life of the nation” was sufficiently clear and 
that they referred to “an exceptional situation 
of crisis or emergency which affects the whole 
population and constitutes a threat to the or-
ganised life of the community of which the 
State is composed”. In the Greek Case (1969) 
12 YB 1, § 153, the Commission held that, in 
order to justify a derogation, the emergency 
should be actual or imminent; that it should 
affect the whole nation to the extent that the 
continuance of the organised life of the com-
munity was threatened; and that the crisis or 
danger should be exceptional, in that the nor-
mal measures or restrictions, permitted by the 
Convention for the maintenance of public safe-
ty, health and order, were plainly inadequate. 
In Ireland v United Kingdom, cited above, §§ 
205 and 212, the parties were agreed, as were 
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the Commission and the Court, that the Article 
15 test was satisfied, since terrorism had for a 
number of years represented “a particularly far-
reaching and acute danger for the territorial in-
tegrity of the United Kingdom, the institutions 
of the six counties and the lives of the prov-
ince's inhabitants”. The Court reached similar 
conclusions as regards the continuing security 
situation in Northern Ireland in Brannigan and 
McBride, cited above, and Marshall v. the Unit-
ed Kingdom (dec.), no. 41571/98, 10 July 2001. 
In Aksoy, cited above, it accepted that Kurdish 
separatist violence had given rise to a “public 
emergency” in Turkey.

177. Before the domestic courts, the Secretary of 
State adduced evidence to show the existence 
of a threat of serious terrorist attacks planned 
against the United Kingdom. Additional closed 
evidence was adduced before SIAC. All the 
national judges accepted that the danger was 
credible (with the exception of Lord Hoffmann, 
who did not consider that it was of a nature to 
constitute “a threat to the life of the nation”: 
see paragraph 18 above). Although when the 
derogation was made no al'Qaeda attack had 
taken place within the territory of the United 
Kingdom, the Court does not consider that 
the national authorities can be criticised, in the 
light of the evidence available to them at the 
time, for fearing that such an attack was “immi-
nent”, in that an atrocity might be committed 
without warning at any time. The requirement 
of imminence cannot be interpreted so nar-
rowly as to require a State to wait for disaster 
to strike before taking measures to deal with 
it. Moreover, the danger of a terrorist attack 
was, tragically, shown by the bombings and 
attempted bombings in London in July 2005 
to have been very real. Since the purpose of 
Article 15 is to permit States to take derogating 
measures to protect their populations from fu-
ture risks, the existence of the threat to the life 
of the nation must be assessed primarily with 
reference to those facts which were known at 
the time of the derogation. The Court is not 
precluded, however, from having regard to in-
formation which comes to light subsequently 
(see, mutatis mutandis, Vilvarajah and others v. 
the United Kingdom, judgment of 30 October 
1991, § 107(2), Series A no. 215).

178. While the United Nations Human Rights Com-
mittee has observed that measures derogat-
ing from the provisions of the ICCPR must be 
of “an exceptional and temporary nature” (see 
paragraph 109 above), the Court's case-law has 
never, to date, explicitly incorporated the re-

quirement that the emergency be temporary, 
although the question of the proportionality of 
the response may be linked to the duration of 
the emergency. Indeed, the cases cited above, 
relating to the security situation in Northern 
Ireland, demonstrate that it is possible for a 
“public emergency” within the meaning of Ar-
ticle 15 to continue for many years. The Court 
does not consider that derogating measures 
put in place in the immediate aftermath of the 
al'Qaeda attacks in the United States of Amer-
ica, and reviewed on an annual basis by Parlia-
ment, can be said to be invalid on the ground 
that they were not “temporary”.

179. The applicants' argument that the life of the 
nation was not threatened is principally found-
ed on the dissenting opinion of Lord Hoff-
man, who interpreted the words as requiring 
a threat to the organised life of the community 
which went beyond a threat of serious physical 
damage and loss of life. It had, in his view, to 
threaten “our institutions of government or our 
existence as a civil community” (see paragraph 
18 above). However, the Court has in previous 
cases been prepared to take into account a 
much broader range of factors in determining 
the nature and degree of the actual or immi-
nent threat to the “nation” and has in the past 
concluded that emergency situations have ex-
isted even though the institutions of the State 
did not appear to be imperilled to the extent 
envisaged by Lord Hoffman.

180. As previously stated, the national authorities 
enjoy a wide margin of appreciation under 
Article 15 in assessing whether the life of their 
nation is threatened by a public emergency. 
While it is striking that the United Kingdom 
was the only Convention State to have lodged 
a derogation in response to the danger from 
al'Qaeda, although other States were also the 
subject of threats, the Court accepts that it was 
for each Government, as the guardian of their 
own people's safety, to make their own assess-
ment on the basis of the facts known to them. 
Weight must, therefore, attach to the judg-
ment of the United Kingdom's executive and 
Parliament on this question. In addition, signifi-
cant weight must be accorded to the views of 
the national courts, who were better placed to 
assess the evidence relating to the existence of 
an emergency.

181. On this first question, the Court accordingly 
shares the view of the majority of the House 
of Lords that there was a public emergency 
threatening the life of the nation.
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iii Whether the measures were strictly re-
quired by the exigencies of the situation

182. Article 15 provides that the State may take 
measures derogating from its obligations un-
der the Convention only “to the extent strictly 
required by the exigencies of the situation”. As 
previously stated, the Court considers that it 
should in principle follow the judgment of the 
House of Lords on the question of the propor-
tionality of the applicants' detention, unless it 
can be shown that the national court misinter-
preted the Convention or the Court's case-law 
or reached a conclusion which was manifestly 
unreasonable. It will consider the Govern-
ment's challenges to the House of Lords' judg-
ment against this background.

183. The Government contended, first, that the ma-
jority of the House of Lords should have afford-
ed a much wider margin of appreciation to the 
executive and Parliament to decide whether 
the applicants' detention was necessary. A sim-
ilar argument was advanced before the House 
of Lords, where the Attorney General submit-
ted that the assessment of what was needed 
to protect the public was a matter of political 
rather than judicial judgment (see paragraph 
19 above).

184. When the Court comes to consider a deroga-
tion under Article 15, it allows the national 
authorities a wide margin of appreciation 
to decide on the nature and scope of the 
derogating measures necessary to avert the 
emergency. Nonetheless, it is ultimately for 
the Court to rule whether the measures were 
“strictly required”. In particular, where a dero-
gating measure encroaches upon a funda-
mental Convention right, such as the right to 
liberty, the Court must be satisfied that it was a 
genuine response to the emergency situation, 
that it was fully justified by the special circum-
stances of the emergency and that adequate 
safeguards were provided against abuse (see, 
for example, Brannigan and McBride, cited 
above, §§ 48-66; Aksoy, cited above, §§ 
71-84; and the principles outlined in paragraph 
173 above). The doctrine of the margin of ap-
preciation has always been meant as a tool to 
define relations between the domestic authori-
ties and the Court. It cannot have the same ap-
plication to the relations between the organs 
of State at the domestic level. As the House of 
Lords held, the question of proportionality is 
ultimately a judicial decision, particularly in a 
case such as the present where the applicants 
were deprived of their fundamental right to 

liberty over a long period of time. In any event, 
having regard to the careful way in which the 
House of Lords approached the issues, it can-
not be said that inadequate weight was given 
to the views of the executive or of Parliament.

185. The Government also submitted that the 
House of Lords erred in examining the legis-
lation in the abstract rather than considering 
the applicants' concrete cases. However, in the 
Court's view, the approach under Article 15 is 
necessarily focussed on the general situation 
pertaining in the country concerned, in the 
sense that the court - whether national or inter-
national - is required to examine the measures 
that have been adopted in derogation of the 
Convention rights in question and to weigh 
them against the nature of the threat to the na-
tion posed by the emergency. Where, as here, 
the measures are found to be disproportionate 
to that threat and to be discriminatory in their 
effect, there is no need to go further and ex-
amine their application in the concrete case of 
each applicant.

186. The Government's third ground of challenge 
to the House of Lords' decision was directed 
principally at the approach taken towards 
the comparison between non-national and 
national suspected terrorists. The Court, how-
ever, considers that the House of Lords was 
correct in holding that the impugned powers 
were not to be seen as immigration measures, 
where a distinction between nationals and 
non-nationals would be legitimate, but instead 
as concerned with national security. Part 4 of 
the 2001 Act was designed to avert a real and 
imminent threat of terrorist attack which, on 
the evidence, was posed by both nationals and 
non-nationals. The choice by the Government 
and Parliament of an immigration measure to 
address what was essentially a security issue 
had the result of failing adequately to address 
the problem, while imposing a disproportion-
ate and discriminatory burden of indefinite 
detention on one group of suspected terror-
ists. As the House of Lords found, there was 
no significant difference in the potential ad-
verse impact of detention without charge on 
a national or on a non-national who in practice 
could not leave the country because of fear of 
torture abroad.

187. Finally, the Government advanced two argu-
ments which the applicants claimed had not 
been relied on before the national courts. Cer-
tainly, there does not appear to be any refer-
ence to them in the national courts' judgments 
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or in the open material which has been put 
before the Court. In these circumstances, even 
assuming that the principle of subsidiarity does 
not prevent the Court from examining new 
grounds, it would require persuasive evidence 
in support of them.

188. The first of the allegedly new arguments was 
that it was legitimate for the State, in confin-
ing the measures to non-nationals, to take into 
account the sensitivities of the British Muslim 
population in order to reduce the chances of 
recruitment among them by extremists. How-
ever, the Government has not placed before 
the Court any evidence to suggest that British 
Muslims were significantly more likely to react 
negatively to the detention without charge 
of national rather than foreign Muslims rea-
sonably suspected of links to al'Qaeda. In this 
respect the Court notes that the system of 
control orders, put in place by the Prevention 
of Terrorism Act 2005, does not discriminate 
between national and non-national suspects.

189. The second allegedly new ground relied on by 
the Government was that the State could bet-
ter respond to the terrorist threat if it were able 
to detain its most serious source, namely non-
nationals. In this connection, again the Court 
has not been provided with any evidence 
which could persuade it to overturn the con-
clusion of the House of Lords that the differ-
ence in treatment was unjustified. Indeed, the 
Court notes that the national courts, including 
SIAC, which saw both the open and the closed 
material, were not convinced that the threat 
from non-nationals was more serious than that 
from nationals.

190. In conclusion, therefore, the Court, like the 
House of Lords, and contrary to the Govern-
ment's contention, finds that the derogating 
measures were disproportionate in that they 
discriminated unjustifiably between nationals 
and non-nationals. It follows there has been a 
violation of Article 5 § 1 in respect of the first, 
third, fifth, sixth, seventh, eighth, ninth, tenth 
and eleventh applicants.

III. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
5 § 1 TAKEN IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ARTICLE 14 OF THE 
CONVENTION

191. The applicants complained that it was dis-
criminatory, and in breach of Article 14 of the 
Convention, to detain them when United King-

dom nationals suspected of involvement with 
al'Qaeda were left at liberty.

Article 14 provides:
“The enjoyment of the rights and freedoms
setforthin[the]Conventionshallbesecured
without discrimination on any ground such
assex, race,colour, language, religion,politi-
calorotheropinion,nationalorsocialorigin,
associationwithanationalminority,property,
birthorotherstatus.”

192. In the light of its above reasoning and conclu-
sion in relation to Article 5 § 1 taken alone, the 
Court does not consider it necessary to exam-
ine these complaints separately.

IV. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
5 § 4 OF THE CONVENTION

193. The applicants contended that the procedure 
before the domestic courts to challenge their 
detention did not comply with the require-
ments of Article 5 § 4, which states:
“Everyone who is deprived of his liberty by
arrest or detention shall be entitled to take
proceedings by which the lawfulness of his
detentionshallbedecidedspeedilybyacourt
andhisreleaseorderedifthedetentionisnot
lawful.”

The Government denied that there had been a vio-
lation of Article 5 § 4.

A. The parties' submissions
1.Theapplicants

194. The applicants advanced two main arguments 
under Article 5 § 4. First, they emphasised that 
although it was open to them to argue before 
SIAC, the Court of Appeal and the House of 
Lords that their detention under Part 4 of the 
2001 Act was unlawful under the Convention, 
the only remedy which they were able to ob-
tain was a declaration of incompatibility under 
the 1998 Act. This had no binding effect on the 
Government and the detention remained law-
ful until legislative change was effected by Par-
liament. There was thus no court with power to 
order their release, in breach of Article 5 § 4.

195. Secondly, the applicants complained about 
the procedure before SIAC for appeals under 
section 25 of the 2001 Act (see paragraph 91 
above) and in particular the lack of disclosure 
of material evidence except to special advo-
cates with whom the detained person was not 
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permitted to consult. In their submission, Arti-
cle 5 § 4 imported the fair trial guarantees of 
Article 6 § 1 commensurate with the gravity of 
the issue at stake. While in certain circumstanc-
es it might be permissible for a court to sanc-
tion non-disclosure of relevant evidence to an 
individual on grounds of national security, it 
could never be permissible for a court assess-
ing the lawfulness of detention to rely on such 
material where it bore decisively on the case 
the detained person had to meet and where 
it had not been disclosed, even in gist or sum-
mary form, sufficiently to enable the individual 
to know the case against him and to respond. 
In all the applicants' appeals, except that of the 
tenth applicant, SIAC relied on closed material 
and recognised that the applicants were there-
by put at a disadvantage.

2.TheGovernment
196. The Government contended that Article 5 § 4 

should be read in the light of the Court's estab-
lished jurisprudence under Article 13, of which 
it was the lex specialis as regards detention, 
that there was no right to challenge binding 
primary legislation before a national court. This 
principle, together with the system of decla-
rations of incompatibility under the Human 
Rights Act, reflected the democratic value of 
the supremacy of the elected Parliament.

197. On the applicants' second point, the Govern-
ment submitted that there were valid public 
interest grounds for withholding the closed 
material. The right to disclosure of evidence, 
under Article 6 and also under Article 5 § 4, 
was not absolute. The Court's case-law from 
Chahal (cited above) onwards had indicated 
some support for a special advocate procedure 
in particularly sensitive fields. Moreover, in 
each applicant's case, the open material gave 
sufficient notice of the allegations against him 
to enable him to mount an effective defence.

3.Thethirdparty,Justice
198. Justice (see paragraph 6 above) informed the 

Court that at the time SIAC was created by 
the Special Immigration Appeals Commission 
Act 1997, the use of closed material and spe-
cial advocates in the procedure before it was 
believed to be based on a similar procedure in 
Canada, applied in cases before the Security 
Intelligence Review Committee (“SIRC”), which 
considered whether a Minister's decision to re-
move a permanently resident foreign national 
on national security grounds was well-found-
ed. However, although the SIRC procedure in-

volved an in-house counsel with access to the 
classified material taking part in ex parte and 
in camera hearings to represent the appellant's 
interests, it differed substantially from the SIAC 
model, particularly in that it allowed the special 
advocate to maintain contact with the appel-
lant and his lawyers throughout the process 
and even after the special advocate was fully 
apprised of the secret information against the 
appellant.

199. In contrast, the SIAC procedures involving 
closed material and special advocates had at-
tracted considerable criticism, including from 
the Appellate Committee of the House of 
Lords, the House of Commons Constitutional 
Affairs Committee, the Parliamentary Joint 
Committee on Human Rights, the Canadian 
Senate Committee on the Anti-Terrorism Act, 
and the Council of Europe Commissioner for 
Human Rights. Following the judgment of the 
House of Lords in December 2004, declaring 
Part 4 of the 2001 Act incompatible with Ar-
ticles 5 and 14 of the Convention, the House 
of Commons Constitutional Affairs Committee 
commenced an inquiry into the operation of 
SIAC and its use of special advocates. Among 
the evidence received by the Committee was 
a submission from nine of the thirteen serving 
special advocates. In the submission, the spe-
cial advocates highlighted the serious difficul-
ties they faced in representing appellants in 
closed proceedings due to the prohibition on 
communication concerning the closed mate-
rial. In particular, the special advocates pointed 
to the very limited role they were able to play 
in closed hearings given the absence of effec-
tive instructions from those they represented.

B. The Court's assessment
1.Admissibility

200. The Court notes that Article 5 § 4 guarantees 
a right to “everyone who is deprived of his lib-
erty by arrest or detention” to bring proceed-
ings to test the legality of the detention and to 
obtain release if the detention is found to be 
unlawful. Since the second and fourth appli-
cants were already at liberty, having elected to 
travel to Morocco and France respectively, by 
the time the various proceedings to determine 
the lawfulness of the detention under the 2001 
Act were commenced, it follows that these 
two applicants' complaints under Article 5 § 4 
are manifestly ill-founded within the meaning 
of Article 35 § 3 of the Convention (see Fox, 
Campbell and Hartley v. the United Kingdom, 
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judgment of 30 August 1990, § 45, Series A 
no. 182) and must be declared inadmissible.

201. The Court considers that the other applicants' 
complaints under this provision raise complex 
issues of law and fact, the determination of 
which should depend on an examination of 
the merits. It concludes, therefore, that this part 
of the application is not manifestly ill-founded 
within the meaning of Article 35 § 3 of the 
Convention. No other ground of inadmissibility 
has been raised and it must be declared admis-
sible.

2.Themerits
(a)  The principles arising from the case-law

202. Article 5 § 4 provides a lex specialis in rela-
tion to the more general requirements of 
Article 13 (see Chahal, cited above, § 126). It 
entitles an arrested or detained person to in-
stitute proceedings bearing on the procedural 
and substantive conditions which are essential 
for the “lawfulness” of his or her deprivation 
of liberty. The notion of “lawfulness” under 
paragraph 4 of Article 5 has the same mean-
ing as in paragraph 1, so that the arrested or 
detained person is entitled to a review of the 
“lawfulness” of his detention in the light not 
only of the requirements of domestic law but 
also of the Convention, the general principles 
embodied therein and the aim of the restric-
tions permitted by Article 5 § 1. Article 5 § 4 
does not guarantee a right to judicial review 
of such a scope as to empower the court, on 
all aspects of the case including questions of 
pure expediency, to substitute its own discre-
tion for that of the decision-making authority. 
The review should, however, be wide enough 
to bear on those conditions which are essential 
for the “lawful” detention of a person accord-
ing to Article 5 § 1 (E. v. Norway, judgment of 
29 August 1990, § 50, Series A no. 181). The 
reviewing “court” must not have merely advi-
sory functions but must have the competence 
to “decide” the “lawfulness” of the detention 
and to order release if the detention is unlawful 
(Ireland v. the United Kingdom, cited above, § 
200; Weeks v. the United Kingdom judgment 
of 2 March 1987, § 61, Series A no. 114; Chahal, 
cited above, § 130).

203. The requirement of procedural fairness under 
Article 5 § 4 does not impose a uniform, un-
varying standard to be applied irrespective of 
the context, facts and circumstances. Although 
it is not always necessary that an Article 5 § 
4 procedure be attended by the same guar-

antees as those required under Article 6 for 
criminal or civil litigation, it must have a judi-
cial character and provide guarantees appro-
priate to the type of deprivation of liberty in 
question (see, for example, Winterwerp v. the 
Netherlands, judgment of 24 October 1979, § 
57, Series A no. 33; Bouamar v. Belgium, judg-
ment of 29 February 1988, §§ 57 and 60, Se-
ries A no. 129; Włoch v. Poland, no. 27785/95, 
§ 125, ECHR 2000-XI; Reinprecht v. Austria, no. 
67175/01 67175/01, § 31, ECHR 2005).

204. Thus, the proceedings must be adversarial and 
must always ensure “equality of arms” between 
the parties (Reinprecht, § 31). An oral hearing 
may be necessary, for example in cases of de-
tention on remand (Nikolova v. Bulgaria [GC], 
no. 31195/96, § 58, ECHR 1999-II). Moreover, 
in remand cases, since the persistence of a rea-
sonable suspicion that the accused person has 
committed an offence is a condition sine qua 
non for the lawfulness of the continued deten-
tion, the detainee must be given an opportu-
nity effectively to challenge the basis of the 
allegations against him (Becciev v. Moldova, 
no. 9190/03, §§ 68-72, 4 October 2005). This 
may require the court to hear witnesses whose 
testimony appears prima facie to have a mate-
rial bearing on the continuing lawfulness of the 
detention (Becciev, cited above, §§ 72-76; 
Ţurcan and Ţurcan v. Moldova, no. 39835/05, 
§§ 67-70, 23 October 2007). It may also re-
quire that the detainee or his representative 
be given access to documents in the case-
file which form the basis of the prosecution 
case against him (Włoch, cited above, § 127; 
Nikolova, cited above, § 58; Lamy v. Belgium, 
judgment of 30 March 1989, § 29, Series A no. 
151; Fodale v. Italy, no. 70148/01, 1 June 2006).

205. The Court has held nonetheless that, even in 
proceedings under Article 6 for the determina-
tion of guilt on criminal charges, there may be 
restrictions on the right to a fully adversarial 
procedure where strictly necessary in the light 
of a strong countervailing public interest, such 
as national security, the need to keep secret 
certain police methods of investigation or 
the protection of the fundamental rights of 
another person. There will not be a fair trial, 
however, unless any difficulties caused to the 
defendant by a limitation on his rights are suf-
ficiently counterbalanced by the procedures 
followed by the judicial authorities (see, for 
example, Doorson v. the Netherlands, judg-
ment of 26 March 1996, § 70, Reports 1996-II; 
Van Mechelen and Others v. the Netherlands, 
judgment of 23 April 1997, § 58, Reports 
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1997-III; Jasper v. the United Kingdom [GC], 
no. 27052/95, §§ 51-53, ECHR 2000-II; S.N. 
v. Sweden, no. 34209/96, § 47, ECHR 2002-V; 
Botmeh and Alami v. the United Kingdom, no. 
15187/03, judgment of 7 June 2007, § 37).

206. Thus, while the right to a fair criminal trial un-
der Article 6 includes a right to disclosure of 
all material evidence in the possession of the 
prosecution, both for and against the accused, 
the Court has held that it might sometimes be 
necessary to withhold certain evidence from 
the defence on public interest grounds. In 
Jasper, cited above, §§ 51-53, it found that 
the limitation on the rights of the defence had 
been sufficiently counterbalanced where evi-
dence which was relevant to the issues at trial, 
but on which the prosecution did not intend to 
rely, was examined ex parte by the trial judge, 
who decided that it should not be disclosed 
because the public interest in keeping it secret 
outweighed the utility to the defence of disclo-
sure. In finding that there had been no violation 
of Article 6, the Court considered it significant 
that it was the trial judge, with full knowledge 
of the issues in the trial, who carried out the 
balancing exercise and that steps had been 
taken to ensure that the defence were kept 
informed and permitted to make submissions 
and participate in the decision-making process 
as far as was possible without disclosing the 
material which the prosecution sought to keep 
secret (ibid., §§ 55-56). In contrast, in Ed-
wards and Lewis v. the United Kingdom [GC], 
nos. 39647/98 and 40461/98, §§ 46-48, ECHR 
2004-X, the Court found that an ex parte pro-
cedure before the trial judge was not sufficient 
to secure a fair trial where the undisclosed ma-
terial related, or may have related, to an issue 
of fact which formed part of the prosecution 
case, which the trial judge, rather than the jury, 
had to determine and which might have been 
of decisive importance to the outcome of the 
applicants' trials.

207. In a number of other cases where the compet-
ing public interest entailed restrictions on the 
rights of the defendant in relation to adverse 
evidence, relied on by the prosecutor, the 
Court has assessed the extent to which coun-
terbalancing measures can remedy the lack 
of a full adversarial procedure. For example, in 
Lucà v. Italy, no. 33354/96, § 40, ECHR 2001-II, 
it held that it would not necessarily be incom-
patible with Article 6 § 1 for the prosecution 
to refer at trial to depositions made during the 
investigative stage, in particular where a wit-
ness refused to repeat his deposition in public 

owing to fears for his safety, if the defendant 
had been given an adequate and proper op-
portunity to challenge the depositions, either 
when made or at a later stage. It emphasised, 
however, that where a conviction was based 
solely or to a decisive degree on depositions 
that had been made by a person whom the ac-
cused had had no opportunity to examine or 
to have examined, whether during the investi-
gation or at the trial, the rights of the defence 
would be restricted to an extent incompatible 
with the guarantees provided by Article 6.

208. Similarly, in Doorson, cited above, §§ 68-76, 
the Court found that there was no breach of 
Article 6 where the identity of certain wit-
nesses was concealed from the defendant, 
on the ground that they feared reprisals. The 
fact that the defence counsel, in the absence 
of the defendant, was able to put questions to 
the anonymous witnesses at the appeal stage 
and to attempt to cast doubt on their reliabil-
ity and that the Court of Appeal stated in its 
judgment that it had treated the evidence of 
the anonymous witnesses with caution was 
sufficient to counterbalance the disadvantage 
caused to the defence. The Court emphasised 
that a conviction should not be based either 
solely or to a decisive extent on anonymous 
statements (and see also Van Mechelen, cited 
above, § 55). In each case, the Court empha-
sised that its role was to ascertain whether the 
proceedings as a whole, including the way in 
which evidence was taken, were fair (Doorson, 
cited above, § 67).

209. The Court has referred on several occasions 
to the possibility of using special advocates to 
counterbalance procedural unfairness caused 
by lack of full disclosure in national security 
cases, but it has never been required to decide 
whether or not such a procedure would be 
compatible with either Article 5 § 4 or Article 
6 of the Convention.

210. In Chahal, cited above, the applicant was de-
tained under Article 5 § 1(f) pending depor-
tation on national security grounds and the 
Secretary of State opposed his applications 
for bail and habeas corpus, also for reasons of 
national security. The Court recognised (§§ 
130-131) that the use of confidential material 
might be unavoidable where national security 
was at stake but held that this did not mean 
that the executive could be free from effective 
control by the domestic courts whenever they 
chose to assert that national security and ter-
rorism were involved. The Court found a viola-
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tion of Article 5 § 4 in the light of the fact that 
the High Court, which determined the habeas 
corpus application, did not have access to the 
full material on which the Secretary of State 
had based his decision. Although there was 
the safeguard of an advisory panel, chaired by 
a Court of Appeal judge, which had full sight 
of the national security evidence, the Court 
held that the panel could not be considered as 
a “court” within the meaning of Article 5 § 4 
because the applicant was not entitled to le-
gal representation before it and was given only 
an outline of the national security case against 
him and because the panel had no power of 
decision and its advice to the Home Secretary 
was not binding and was not disclosed. The 
Court made reference (§§ 131 and 144) to 
the submissions of the third parties (Amnesty 
International, Liberty, the AIRE Centre and the 
Joint Council for the Joint Council for the Wel-
fare of Immigrants; and see the submissions 
of Justice in the present case, paragraph 198 
above) in connection with a procedure applied 
in national security deportation cases in Cana-
da, whereby the judge held an in camera hear-
ing of all the evidence, at which the proposed 
deportee was provided with a statement sum-
marising, as far as possible, the case against 
him and had the right to be represented and to 
call evidence. The confidentiality of the security 
material was maintained by requiring such evi-
dence to be examined in the absence of both 
the deportee and his representative. However, 
in these circumstances, their place was taken 
by a security-cleared counsel instructed by the 
court, who cross-examined the witnesses and 
generally assisted the court to test the strength 
of the State's case. A summary of the evidence 
obtained by this procedure, with necessary de-
letions, was given to the deportee. The Court 
commented that it:
“attaches significance to the fact that, as the
intervenors pointed out in connection with
Article13, ... inCanadaamoreeffectiveform
of judicial control has been developed in
casesofthistype.Thisexampleillustratesthat
therearetechniqueswhichcanbeemployed
whichbothaccommodatelegitimatesecurity
concernsaboutthenatureandsourcesofin-
telligence informationandyetaccordthe in-
dividual a substantialmeasure of procedural
justice”.

211. In Tinnelly & Sons Ltd and Others and McElduff 
and Others v. the United Kingdom, judgment 
of 10 July 1998, § 78, Reports 1998-IVand in 
Al-Nashif v. Bulgaria, no. 50963/99, judgment 

of 20 June 2002, §§ 93-97 and 137, the Court 
made reference to its comments in Chahal 
about the special advocate procedure but 
without expressing any opinion as to whether 
such a procedure would be in conformity with 
the Convention rights at issue.

(b)  Application to the facts of the present case

212. Before the domestic courts, there were two 
aspects to the applicants' challenge to the law-
fulness of their detention. First, they brought 
proceedings under section 30 of the 2001 Act 
to contest the validity of the derogation un-
der Article 15 of the Convention and thus the 
compatibility with the Convention of the entire 
detention scheme. Secondly, each applicant 
also brought an appeal under section 25 of the 
2001 Act, contending that the detention was 
unlawful under domestic law because there 
were no reasonable grounds for a belief that 
his presence in the United Kingdom was a risk 
to national security or for a suspicion that he 
was a terrorist.

213. The Court does not consider it necessary to 
reach a separate finding under Article 5 § 4 
in connection with the applicants' complaints 
that the House of Lords was unable to make a 
binding order for their release, since it has al-
ready found a violation of Article 5 § 1 arising 
from the provisions of domestic law.

214. The applicants' second ground of complaint 
under Article 5 § 4 concerns the fairness of the 
procedure before SIAC under section 25 of the 
2001 Act to determine whether the Secretary 
of State was reasonable in believing each ap-
plicant's presence in the United Kingdom to 
be a risk to national security and in suspecting 
him of being a terrorist. This is a separate and 
distinct question, which cannot be said to be 
absorbed in the finding of a violation of Arti-
cle 5 § 1, and which the Court must therefore 
examine.

215. The Court recalls that although the judges 
sitting as SIAC were able to consider both 
the “open” and “closed” material, neither the 
applicants nor their legal advisers could see 
the closed material. Instead, the closed mate-
rial was disclosed to one or more special advo-
cates, appointed by the Solicitor General to act 
on behalf of each applicant. During the closed 
sessions before SIAC, the special advocate 
could make submissions on behalf of the appli-
cant, both as regards procedural matters, such 
as the need for further disclosure, and as to the 
substance of the case. However, from the point 
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at which the special advocate first had sight 
of the closed material, he was not permitted 
to have any further contact with the applicant 
and his representatives, save with the permis-
sion of SIAC. In respect of each appeal against 
certification, SIAC issued both an open and a 
closed judgment.

216. The Court takes as its starting point that, as 
the national courts found and it has accepted, 
during the period of the applicants' detention 
the activities and aims of the al'Qaeda network 
had given rise to a “public emergency threat-
ening the life of the nation”. It must therefore 
be borne in mind that at the relevant time 
there was considered to be an urgent need to 
protect the population of the United Kingdom 
from terrorist attack and, although the United 
Kingdom did not derogate from Article 5 § 4, 
a strong public interest in obtaining informa-
tion about al'Qaeda and its associates and in 
maintaining the secrecy of the sources of such 
information (see also, in this connection, Fox, 
Campbell and Hartley, cited above, § 39).

217. Balanced against these important public inter-
ests, however, was the applicants' right under 
Article 5 § 4 to procedural fairness. Although 
the Court has found that, with the exception 
of the second and fourth applicants, the ap-
plicants' detention did not fall within any of 
the categories listed in subparagraphs (a) to (f) 
of Article 5 § 1, it considers that the case-law 
relating to judicial control over detention on 
remand is relevant, since in such cases also the 
reasonableness of the suspicion against the 
detained person is a sine qua non (see para-
graph 204 above). Moreover, in the circum-
stances of the present case, and in view of the 
dramatic impact of the lengthy - and what ap-
peared at that time to be indefinite - depriva-
tion of liberty on the applicants' fundamental 
rights, Article 5 § 4 must import substantially 
the same fair trial guarantees as Article 6 § 1 in 
its criminal aspect (Garcia Alva v. Germany, no. 
23541/94, § 39, 13 February 2001 and see also 
see Chahal, cited above, §§ 130-131).

218. Against this background, it was essential that 
as much information about the allegations 
and evidence against each applicant was dis-
closed as was possible without compromising 
national security or the safety of others. Where 
full disclosure was not possible, Article 5 § 4 
required that the difficulties this caused were 
counterbalanced in such a way that each appli-
cant still had the possibility effectively to chal-
lenge the allegations against him.

219. The Court considers that SIAC, which was a ful-
ly independent court (see paragraph 91 above) 
and which could examine all the relevant evi-
dence, both closed and open, was best placed 
to ensure that no material was unnecessarily 
withheld from the detainee. In this connection, 
the special advocate could provide an impor-
tant, additional safeguard through questioning 
the State's witnesses on the need for secrecy 
and through making submissions to the judge 
regarding the case for additional disclosure. On 
the material before it, the Court has no basis to 
find that excessive and unjustified secrecy was 
employed in respect of any of the applicants' 
appeals or that there were not compelling rea-
sons for the lack of disclosure in each case.

220. The Court further considers that the special 
advocate could perform an important role in 
counterbalancing the lack of full disclosure and 
the lack of a full, open, adversarial hearing by 
testing the evidence and putting arguments 
on behalf of the detainee during the closed 
hearings. However, the special advocate could 
not perform this function in any useful way un-
less the detainee was provided with sufficient 
information about the allegations against him 
to enable him to give effective instructions to 
the special advocate. While this question must 
be decided on a case-by-case basis, the Court 
observes generally that, where the evidence 
was to a large extent disclosed and the open 
material played the predominant role in the 
determination, it could not be said that the ap-
plicant was denied an opportunity effectively 
to challenge the reasonableness of the Secre-
tary of State's belief and suspicions about him. 
In other cases, even where all or most of the 
underlying evidence remained undisclosed, if 
the allegations contained in the open material 
were sufficiently specific, it should have been 
possible for the applicant to provide his repre-
sentatives and the special advocate with infor-
mation with which to refute them, if such infor-
mation existed, without his having to know the 
detail or sources of the evidence which formed 
the basis of the allegations. An example would 
be the allegation made against several of the 
applicants that they had attended a terrorist 
training camp at a stated location between 
stated dates; given the precise nature of the al-
legation, it would have been possible for the 
applicant to provide the special advocate with 
exonerating evidence, for example of an alibi 
or of an alternative explanation for his pres-
ence there, sufficient to permit the advocate 
effectively to challenge the allegation. Where, 
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however, the open material consisted purely 
of general assertions and SIAC's decision to up-
hold the certification and maintain the deten-
tion was based solely or to a decisive degree on 
closed material, the procedural requirements 
of Article 5 § 4 would not be satisfied.

221. The Court must, therefore, assess the certifica-
tion proceedings in respect of each of the de-
tained applicants in the light of these criteria.

222. It notes that the open material against the 
sixth, seventh, eighth, ninth and eleventh ap-
plicants included detailed allegations about, 
for example, the purchase of specific telecom-
munications equipment, possession of specific 
documents linked to named terrorist suspects 
and meetings with named terrorist suspects 
with specific dates and places. It considers that 
these allegations were sufficiently detailed to 
permit the applicants effectively to challenge 
them. It does not, therefore, find a violation of 
Article 5 § 4 in respect of the sixth, seventh, 
eighth, ninth and eleventh applicants.

223. The principal allegations against the first and 
tenth applicants were that they had been 
involved in fund-raising for terrorist groups 
linked to al'Qaeda. In the first applicant's case 
there was open evidence of large sums of 
money moving through his bank account and 
in respect of the tenth applicant there was 
open evidence that he had been involved in 
raising money through fraud. However, in each 
case the evidence which allegedly provided 
the link between the money raised and terror-
ism was not disclosed to either applicant. In 
these circumstances, the Court does not con-
sider that these applicants were in a position 
effectively to challenge the allegations against 
them. There has therefore been a violation of 
Article 5 § 4 in respect of the first and tenth 
applicants.

224. The open allegations in respect of the third and 
fifth applicants were of a general nature, prin-
cipally that they were members of named ex-
tremist Islamist groups linked to al'Qaeda. SIAC 
observed in its judgments dismissing each of 
these applicants' appeals that the open evi-
dence was insubstantial and that the evidence 
on which it relied against them was largely 
to be found in the closed material. Again, the 
Court does not consider that these applicants 
were in a position effectively to challenge the 
allegations against them. There has therefore 
been a violation of Article 5 § 4 in respect of 
the third and fifth applicants.

V. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
5 § 1 IN CONJUNCTION WITH 
ARTICLE 13

225. The applicants argued in the alternative that 
the matters complained of in relation to Article 
5 § 4 also gave rise to a violation of Article 13. 
In the light of its findings above, the Court does 
not consider it necessary to examine these 
complaints separately.

VI. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
5 § 5 OF THE CONVENTION

226. Finally, the applicants complained that, despite 
having been unlawfully detained in breach of 
Article 5 §§ 1 and 4, they had no enforceable 
right to compensation, in breach of Article 5 § 
5, which provides:
“Everyonewhohasbeenthevictimofarrestor
detention in contravention of the provisions
of thisArticleshallhaveanenforceable right
tocompensation.”

227. The Government reasoned that there had been 
no breach of Article 5 in this case, so Article 5 
§ 5 did not apply. In the event that the Court 
did find a violation of Article 5, Article 5 § 5 re-
quired “an enforceable right to compensation”, 
but not that compensation be awarded in eve-
ry case. Since the Secretary of State was found 
by the national courts reasonably to suspect 
that the applicants were “international terror-
ists”, as a matter of principle they were not enti-
tled to compensation from the national courts.

A. Admissibility
228. The Court notes that it has found a violation 

of Article 5 § 1 in respect of all the applicants 
except the second and fourth applicants, and 
that it has found a violation of Article 5 § 4 
in respect of the first, third, fifth and tenth ap-
plicants. It follows that the second and fourth 
applicants' complaints under Article 5 § 5 are 
inadmissible, but that the other applicants' 
complaints are admissible.

B. The merits
229. The Court notes that the above violations 

could not give rise to an enforceable claim for 
compensation by the applicants before the na-
tional courts. It follows that there has been a 
violation of Article 5 § 5 in respect of all the ap-
plicants save the second and fourth applicants 
(see Brogan and Others v. the United Kingdom, 
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judgment of 29 November 1988, § 67, Series A 
no. 145-B and Fox, Campbell and Hartley, cited 
above, § 46).

VII. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF 
ARTICLE 6 OF THE CONVENTION

230. The applicants argued in the alternative that 
the procedure before SIAC was not compatible 
with Article 6 §§ 1 and 2 of the Convention, 
which provide:
“1.Inthedeterminationofhiscivilrightsand
obligationsorofanycriminal chargeagainst
him,everyone isentitled toa fair andpublic
hearingwithinareasonabletimebyaninde-
pendent and impartial tribunal established
by law. Judgment shall bepronouncedpub-
liclybutthepressandpublicmaybeexcluded
fromallorpartof the trial in the interestsof
morals, public order or national security in a
democraticsociety,wheretheinterestsof ju-
venilesortheprotectionoftheprivatelifeof
thepartiessorequire,ortotheextentstrictly
necessaryintheopinionofthecourtinspecial
circumstances where publicity would preju-
dicetheinterestsofjustice.

2. Everyone chargedwith a criminal offence
shall be presumed innocent until proved
guiltyaccordingtolaw.”

231. The applicants contended that Article 6 was 
the lex specialis of the fair trial guarantee. 
The regime under consideration represented 
the most serious form of executive measure 
against terrorist suspects adopted within the 
Member States of the Council of Europe in 
the post-2001 period. It was adopted to en-
able the United Kingdom to take proceedings 
against individuals on the basis of reasonable 
suspicion alone, deriving from evidence which 
could not be deployed in the ordinary courts. 
That alone warranted an analysis under Article 
6. The proceedings were for the determination 
of a criminal charge, within the autonomous 
meaning adopted under Article 6 § 1, and also 
for the determination of civil rights and obliga-
tions. The use of closed material gave rise to a 
breach of Article 6.

232. In the Government's submission, Article 5 § 
4 was the lex specialis concerning detention 
and the issues should be considered under 
that provision. In any event, Article 6 did not 
apply, because SIAC's decision on the question 
whether there should be detention related to 
“special measures of immigration control” and 
thus determined neither a criminal charge nor 

any civil right or obligation. Even if Article 6 § 
1 did apply, there was no violation, for the rea-
sons set out above in respect of Article 5 § 4.

233. Without coming to any conclusion as to 
whether the proceedings before SIAC fell 
within the scope of Article 6, the Court declares 
these complaints admissible. It observes, how-
ever, that it has examined the issues relating to 
the use of special advocates, closed hearings 
and lack of full disclosure in the proceedings 
before SIAC above, in connection with the ap-
plicants' complaints under Article 5 § 4. In the 
light of this full examination, it does not con-
sider it necessary to examine the complaints 
under Article 6 § 1.

VIII. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

234. The applicants sought compensation for the 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary damage sus-
tained as a result of the violations, together 
with costs and expenses, under Article 41 of 
the Convention, which provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

The Government contended that an award of 
just satisfaction would be neither necessary 
nor appropriate in the present case.

A. Damage
1.Theapplicants'claims

235. The applicants submitted that monetary just 
satisfaction was necessary and appropriate. 
When assessing quantum, guidance could 
be obtained from domestic court awards in 
respect of unlawful detention and also from 
awards made by the Court in past cases (they 
referred, inter alia, to Perks and Others v. the 
United Kingdom, nos. 25277/94, 25279/94, 
25280/94, 25282/94, 25285/94, 28048/95, 
28192/95 and 28456/95, judgment of 12 Oc-
tober 1999, where GBP 5,500 was awarded in 
respect of six days' unlawful imprisonment, 
and Tsirlis and Kouloumpas v. Greece, judg-
ment of 29 May 1995, Reports 1997-III, where 
the applicants were awarded the equivalent of 
17,890 pounds sterling (GBP) and GBP 16,330, 
respectively, in relation to periods of 13 and 12 
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months' imprisonment for refusing to perform 
military service).

236. The first applicant claimed compensation for 
his loss of liberty between 19 December 2001 
and 11 March 2005, a period of three years and 
83 days, and the consequent mental suffering, 
including mental illness. He submitted that the 
award should in addition take account of the 
suffering experienced by his wife and family as 
a result of the separation and the negative pub-
licity. He proposed an award of GBP 234,000 to 
cover non-pecuniary damage. In addition he 
claimed approximately GBP 7,500 in pecuniary 
damages to cover the costs of his family's visits 
to him in detention and other expenses.

237. The third applicant claimed compensation 
for his loss of liberty between 19 December 
2001 and 11 March 2005 and the consequent 
mental suffering, including mental illness, to-
gether with the distress caused to his wife and 
children. He proposed a figure of GBP 230,000 
for non-pecuniary damages, together with 
pecuniary damages of GBP 200 travel costs, in-
curred by his wife, and a sum to cover his lost 
opportunity to establish himself in business in 
the United Kingdom.

238. The fifth applicant claimed compensation for 
his detention between 19 December 2001 and 
22 April 2004, his subsequent house arrest until 
11 March 2005 and the consequent mental suf-
fering, including mental illness, together with 
the distress caused to his wife and children. 
He proposed a figure of GBP 240,000 for non-
pecuniary damages, together with pecuniary 
damages of GBP 5,500, including travel and 
child-minding costs incurred by his wife and 
money sent by her to the applicant in prison.

239. The sixth applicant claimed compensation for 
his detention between 19 December 2001 and 
11 March 2005 and the consequent mental suf-
fering, together with the distress caused to his 
wife and children. He proposed a figure of GBP 
217,000 for non-pecuniary damages, together 
with pecuniary damages of GBP 51,410, includ-
ing his loss of earnings as a self-employed cou-
rier and travel costs incurred by his wife.

240. The seventh applicant claimed compensation 
for his detention between 8 February 2002 and 
11 March 2005 and the consequent mental suf-
fering, including mental illness. He proposed a 
figure of GBP 197,000 for non-pecuniary dam-
ages. He did not make any claim in respect of 
pecuniary damage.

241. The eighth applicant claimed compensation 
for his loss of liberty between 23 October 2002 
and 11 March 2005 and the consequent men-
tal suffering, together with the distress caused 
to his wife and children. He proposed a figure 
of GBP 170,000 for non-pecuniary damages, to-
gether with pecuniary damages of GBP 4,570, 
including money sent to him in prison by his 
wife and her costs of moving house to avoid 
unwanted media attention.

242. The ninth applicant claimed compensation for 
his loss of liberty between 22 April 2002 and 11 
March 2005, and the consequent mental suf-
fering, including mental illness, together with 
the distress caused to his wife and children. 
He proposed a figure of GBP 215,000 for non-
pecuniary damages, together with pecuniary 
damages of GBP 7,725, including money he 
had to borrow to assist his wife with household 
expenses, money sent to him in prison by his 
wife and her travel expenses to visit him. He 
also asked for a sum to cover his lost oppor-
tunity to establish himself in business in the 
United Kingdom.

243. The tenth applicant claimed compensation for 
his loss of liberty between 14 January 2003 and 
11 March 2005 and the consequent mental suf-
fering, including mental illness. He proposed 
a figure of GBP 144,000 for non-pecuniary 
damages, together with pecuniary damages 
of GBP 2,751, including the loss of a weekly 
payment of GBP 37 he was receiving from the 
National Asylum Support Service prior to his 
detention and the cost of telephone calls to his 
legal representatives.

244. The eleventh applicant claimed compensa-
tion for his loss of liberty between 2 October 
2003 and 11 March 2005 and the consequent 
mental suffering. He proposed a figure of GBP 
95,000 for non-pecuniary damages but did not 
claim any pecuniary damages.

2.TheGovernment'ssubmissions
245. The Government, relying on the Court's judg-

ment in McCann and Others v. the United King-
dom, judgment of 27 September 1995, § 219, 
Series A no. 324, contended that, as a matter 
of principle, the applicants were not entitled 
to receive any form of financial compensation 
because they were properly suspected, on 
objective and reasonable grounds, of involve-
ment in terrorism and had failed to displace 
that suspicion.

246. The Government pointed out that Part 4 of the 
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2001 Act was passed and the derogation made 
in good faith, in an attempt to deal with what 
was perceived to be an extremely serious situ-
ation amounting to a public emergency threat-
ening the life of the nation. The core problem 
with the detention scheme under the 2001 Act, 
as identified by SIAC and the House of Lords, 
was that it did not apply to United Kingdom as 
well as foreign nationals. Following the House 
of Lords' judgment, urgent consideration was 
given to the question what should be done 
with the applicants in the light of the public 
emergency and it was decided that a system of 
control orders should be put in place. Against 
this background, it could not be suggested 
that the Government had acted cynically or in 
flagrant disregard of the individuals' rights.

247. In addition, the Government submitted that no 
just satisfaction should be awarded in respect 
of any procedural violation found by the Court 
(for example, under Article 5 §§ 4 or 5), since 
it was not possible to speculate what would 
have happened had the breach not occurred 
(Kingsley v. the United Kingdom [GC], no. 
35605/97 35605/97, ECHR 2002-IV; Hood v. the 
United Kingdom, no. 27267/95, ECHR 1999-I).

248. In the event that the Court did decide to make 
a monetary award, it should examine carefully 
in respect of each head of claim whether there 
was sufficient supporting evidence, whether 
the claim was sufficiently closely connected to 
the violation and whether the claim was rea-
sonable as to quantum.

3.TheCourt'sassessment
249. The Court recalls, first, that it has not found a 

violation of Article 3 in the present case. It fol-
lows that it cannot make any award in respect 
of mental suffering, including mental illness, 
allegedly arising from the conditions of deten-
tion or the open-ended nature of the deten-
tion scheme in Part 4 of the 2001 Act.

250. It has, however, found violations of Article 5 
§§ 1 and 5 in respect of the first, third, fifth, 
sixth, seventh, eighth, ninth, tenth and elev-
enth applicants and a violation of Article 5 § 4 
in respect of the first, third, fifth and tenth ap-
plicants. In accordance with Article 41, it could, 
therefore, award these applicants monetary 
compensation, if it considered such an award 
to be “necessary”. The Court has a wide discre-
tion to determine when an award of damages 
should be made, and frequently holds that 
the finding of a violation is sufficient satisfac-
tion without any further monetary award (see, 

among many examples, Nikolova, cited above, 
§ 76). In exercising its discretion the Court will 
have regard to all the circumstances of the case 
including the nature of the violations found as 
well as any special circumstances pertaining to 
the context of the case.

251. The Court recalls that in the McCann and Oth-
ers judgment, cited above, § 219, it declined 
to make any award in respect of pecuniary or 
non-pecuniary damage arising from the viola-
tion of Article 2 of the Convention, having re-
gard to the fact that the three terrorist suspects 
who were killed had been intending to plant a 
bomb in Gibraltar. It considers that the present 
case is distinguishable, since it has not been 
established that any of the applicants has en-
gaged, or attempted to engage, in any act of 
terrorist violence.

252. The decision whether to award monetary com-
pensation in this case and, if so, the amount 
of any such award, must take into account a 
number of factors. The applicants were de-
tained for long periods, in breach of Article 5 § 
1, and the Court has, in the past, awarded large 
sums in just satisfaction in respect of unlawful 
detention (see, for example, Assanidze v. Geor-
gia [GC], no. 71503/01, ECHR 2004-II, or the 
cases cited by the applicants in paragraph 235 
above). The present case is, however, very dif-
ferent. In the aftermath of the al'Qaeda attacks 
on the United States of 11 September 2001, in 
a situation which the domestic courts and this 
Court have accepted was a public emergency 
threatening the life of the nation, the Govern-
ment were under an obligation to protect the 
population of the United Kingdom from terror-
ist violence. The detention scheme in Part 4 of 
the 2001 Act was devised in good faith, as an 
attempt to reconcile the need to prevent the 
commission of acts of terrorism with the obli-
gation under Article 3 of the Convention not 
to remove or deport any person to a country 
where he could face a real risk of ill-treatment 
(see paragraph 166 above). Although the 
Court, like the House of Lords, has found that 
the derogating measures were disproportion-
ate, the core part of that finding was that the 
legislation was discriminatory in targeting non-
nationals only. Moreover, following the House 
of Lords' judgment, the detention scheme 
under the 2001 Act was replaced by a system 
of control orders under the Prevention of Ter-
rorism Act 2005. All the applicants in respect of 
whom the Court has found a violation of Arti-
cle 5 § 1 became, immediately upon release 
in March 2005, the subject of control orders. It 
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cannot therefore be assumed that, even if the 
violations in the present case had not occurred, 
the applicants would not have been subjected 
to some restriction on their liberty.

253. Against this background, the Court finds that 
the circumstances justify the making of an 
award substantially lower than that which it 
has had occasion to make in other cases of un-
lawful detention. It awards 3,900 euros (EUR) to 
the first, third and sixth applicants; EUR 3,400 
to the fifth applicant; EUR 3,800 to the seventh 
applicant; EUR 2,800 to the eighth applicant; 
EUR 3,400 to the ninth applicant; EUR 2,500 to 
the tenth applicant; and EUR 1,700 to the elev-
enth applicant, together with any tax that may 
be chargeable.

B. Costs and expenses 
254. The applicants made no claim for costs in re-

spect of the domestic proceedings, since these 
had been recovered as a result of the order 
made by the House of Lords. Their total claim 
for the costs of the proceedings before the 
Court totalled GBP 144,752.64, inclusive of val-
ue added tax (“VAT”). This included 599 hours 
worked by solicitors at GBP 70 per hour plus 
VAT, 342.5 hours worked by counsel at GBP 
150 per hour plus VAT and 85 hours worked by 
senior counsel at GBP 200 per hour plus VAT 
in preparing the application, observations and 
just satisfaction claim before the Chamber and 
Grand Chamber, together with disbursements 
such as experts' reports and the costs of the 
hearing before the Grand Chamber. They sub-
mitted that it had been necessary to instruct 
a number of different counsel, with different 
areas of specialism, given the range of issues 
to be addressed and the evidence involved, 
concerning events which took place over a 
ten-year period.

255. The Government submitted that the claim was 
excessive. In particular, the number of hours 
spent by solicitors and counsel in prepar-
ing the case could not be justified, especially 
since each of the applicants had been repre-
sented throughout the domestic proceedings 
during which detailed instructions must have 
been taken and consideration given to virtu-
ally all the issues arising in the application to 
the Court. The hourly rates charged by counsel 
were, in addition, excessive.

256. The Court recalls that an applicant is entitled to 
be reimbursed those costs actually and neces-
sarily incurred to prevent or redress a breach of 
the Convention, to the extent that such costs 

are reasonable as to quantum (Kingsley, cited 
above, § 49). While it accepts that the number 
of applicants must, inevitably, have necessi-
tated additional work on the part of their rep-
resentatives, it notes that most of the individu-
alised material filed with the Court dealt with 
the applicants' complaints under Article 3 of 
the Convention and their claims for just satis-
faction arising out of those complaints, which 
the Court has rejected. In addition, it accepts 
the Government's argument that a number 
of the issues, particularly those relating to the 
derogation under Article 15 of the Convention, 
had already been aired before the national 
courts, which should have reduced the time 
needed for the preparation of this part of the 
case. Against this background, it considers that 
the applicants should be awarded a total of 
EUR 60,000 in respect of costs and expenses, 
together with any tax that may be chargeable 
to the applicants.

C. Default interest
257. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Declares the second applicant's complaints 
under Articles 3 and 13 of the Convention 
inadmissible and the first, third, fourth, fifth, 
sixth, seventh, eighth, ninth, tenth and elev-
enth applicants' complaints under Articles 3 
and 13 admissible (see paragraphs 123-125 of 
the judgment);

2. Holds that there has been no violation of Ar-
ticle 3 of the Convention, taken alone or in 
conjunction with Article 13, in respect of the 
first, third, fourth, fifth, sixth, seventh, eighth, 
ninth, tenth and eleventh applicants (para-
graphs 126-136);

3. Dismisses the applicants' preliminary objec-
tions that the Government should be pre-
cluded from raising a defence under Article 5 
§ 1(f) of the Convention or challenging the 
House of Lords' finding that the derogation 
under Article 15 was invalid (paragraphs 153-
159);

4. Declares the applicants' complaints under 
Article 5 § 1 of the Convention admissible 
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(paragraph 160);

5. Holds that there has been no violation of Arti-
cle 5 § 1 of the Convention in respect of the 
second and fourth applicants (paragraphs 
162-168);

6. Holds that there has been a violation of Arti-
cle 5 § 1 of the Convention in respect of the 
first, third, fifth, sixth, seventh, eighth, ninth, 
tenth and eleventh applicants (paragraphs 
162-190);

7. Holds that it is not necessary to examine the 
applicants' complaints under Articles 5 § 1 
and 14 taken together (paragraph 192);

8. Declares the second and fourth applicants' 
complaints under Article 5 § 4 of the Con-
vention inadmissible and the first, third, fifth, 
sixth, seventh, eighth, ninth, tenth and elev-
enth applicants' complaints under Article 5 
§ 4 admissible (paragraphs 200-201);

9. Holds that it is not necessary to examine the 
first, third, fifth, sixth, seventh, eighth, ninth, 
tenth and eleventh applicants' complaints 
under Articles 5 § 4 that the House of Lords 
could not make a binding order for their re-
lease (paragraph 213);

10. Holds that there has been a violation of Arti-
cle 5 § 4 of the Convention in respect of the 
first, third, fifth and tenth applicants but that 
there was no violation of Article 5 § 4 in re-
spect of the sixth, seventh, eighth, ninth and 
eleventh applicants (paragraphs 202-224);

11. Holds that it is not necessary to examine the 
applicants' complaints under Articles 5 § 1 
and 13 taken together (paragraph 225);

12. Declares the second and fourth applicants' 
complaints under Article 5 § 5 of the Con-
vention inadmissible and the first, third, fifth, 
sixth, seventh, eighth, ninth, tenth and elev-
enth applicants' complaints under Article 5 § 
5 admissible (paragraph 228);

13. Holds that there has been a violation of Arti-
cle 5 § 5 of the Convention in respect of the 
first, third, fifth, sixth, seventh, eighth, ninth, 
tenth and eleventh applicants (paragraph 
229);

14. Declares the applicants' complaints under 
Article 6 of the Convention admissible (para-
graph 233);

15. Holds that it is not necessary to examine the 
applicants' complaints under Article 6 of the 

Convention (paragraph 233);

16. Holds that the respondent State is to pay, 
within three months, the following amounts, 
to be converted into pounds sterling at the 
rate applicable at the date of settlement:

(a) in respect of pecuniary and non-pecuniary 
damage, EuR 3,900 (three thousand nine 
hundred euros) to the first, third and sixth 
applicants; EuR 3,400 (three thousand 
four hundred euros) to the fifth applicant; 
EuR 3,800 (three thousand eight hundred 
euros) to the seventh applicant; EuR 2,800 
(two thousand eight hundred euros) to 
the eighth applicant; EuR 3,400 (three 
thousand four hundred euros) to the ninth 
applicant; EuR 2,500 (two thousand five 
hundred euros) to the tenth applicant; and 
EuR 1,700 (one thousand seven hundred 
euros) to the eleventh applicant, plus any 
tax that may be chargeable;

(b) to the applicants jointly, in respect of costs 
and expenses, EuR 60,000 (sixty thousand 
euros), plus any tax that may be charge-
able to the applicants;

(c) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amounts at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points (paragraphs 249-257);

17. Dismisses the remainder of the applicants' 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 19 February 2009.

Michael O'Boyle, Deputy Registrar
Jean-Paul Costa, President
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ARTICLE 15, TERRORISM, LIFE OF A NATION, THREAT, 
PUBLIC INTEREST, PUBLIC SAFETY, SECURITY, RESTRICT-
ING FREEDOMS, DEMOCRACY

IN THE CASE Of NuRAy ŞEN v. TuRKEy,

The European Court of Human Rights (Second Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Mr J.-P. Costa, President,  
Mr A.B. Baka,  
Mr K. Jungwiert,  
Mr V. Butkevych,  
Mrs W. Thomassen,  
Mr M. Ugrekhelidze, judges,  
Mr F. Gölcüklü, ad hoc judge,  
and Mrs S. Dollé, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 27 May 2003,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

41478/98) against the Republic of Turkey 
lodged with the European Commission of Hu-
man Rights (“the Commission”) under former 
Article 25 of the Convention for the Protection 
of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 
(“the Convention”) by a Turkish national, Ms 
Nuray Şen (“the applicant”), on 25 April 1996. 

2. The applicant was represented by Mr Tony 
Fisher, a lawyer practising in Colchester, Mr 
Philip Leach and Ms Anke Stock of the Kurdish 
Human Rights Project in London, as well as by 
Mr Mark Muller, Mr Tim Otty and Ms Jane Gor-
don, lawyers practising in London. The Turkish 
Government (“the Government”) did not des-
ignate an Agent for the purposes of the pro-
ceedings before the Court.

3. The applicant complained that she was de-
tained for 11 days and was not brought before 
a judge within a reasonable time. She invoked 
Article 5 § 3 of the Convention.

4. The application was transmitted to the Court 
on 1 November 1998, when Protocol No. 11 to 
the Convention came into force (Article 5 § 2 
of Protocol No. 11).

5. The application was allocated to the First Sec-
tion of the Court (Rule 52 § 1 of the Rules of 
Court). Within that Section, the Chamber that 
would consider the case (Article 27 § 1 of the 
Convention) was constituted as provided in 
Rule 26 § 1 of the Rules of Court. Mr Rıza Tür-
men, the judge elected in respect of Turkey, 
withdrew from sitting in the case (Rule 28). The 
Government accordingly appointed Mr F. Göl-
cüklü to sit as an ad hoc judge (Article 27 § 2 
of the Convention and Rule 29 § 1).

6. By a decision of 30 April 2002 the Court de-
clared the application partly admissible, retain-
ing the applicant’s complaint under Article 5 § 
3 of the Convention.

7. On 1 November 2001 the Court changed the 
composition of its Sections (Rule 25 § 1). This 
case was assigned to the newly composed Sec-
ond Section.

8. The applicant and the Government each filed 
observations on the merits (Rule 59 § 1).

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

9. The applicant was born in 1951 and lives in 
Paris.

10. On 10 November 1995 the applicant was ar-
rested on suspicion of PKK membership and 
brought to the Gendarme Intelligence and 
Anti-Terrorism Headquarters in Diyarbakır.

11. On 21 November 1995 the applicant was 
brought before the prosecutor at the Diyarbakır 
State Security Court who ordered her deten-
tion on remand. She was taken to Diyarbakır 
High Security Prison.

12. The applicant was released on bail at the first 
hearing before the Diyarbakır State Security 
Court on 15 February 1996.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW 

13. Article 19 of the Constitution provides:
“Everyonehastherighttolibertyandsecurity
ofperson.

Nooneshallbedeprivedofhislibertysavein
the following cases and in accordance with
the formalities and conditions prescribed by
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law:

...

The arrested or detained person must be
brought before a judge within forty-eight
hoursat the latestor, in thecaseofoffences
committedbymore thanoneperson,within
fifteen days ... These time-limits may be ex-
tendedduringastateofemergency...

...

Apersondeprivedofhis liberty forwhatever
reason shall have the right to take proceed-
ings before a judicial authority which shall
giveaspeedyrulingonhiscaseandorderhis
immediatereleaseifitfindsthatthedepriva-
tionoflibertywasunlawful.

Compensationmustbepaidby theState for
damagesustainedbypersonswhohavebeen
victims of treatment contrary to the above
provisions,asthelawshallprovide.”

14. Under Article 9 of Law no. 3842 of 18 Novem-
ber 1992 on procedure in state security courts, 
only these courts can try cases involving the 
offences defined in Articles 125 and 168 of the 
Criminal Code.

15. At the material time Article 30 of Law no. 3842 
provided that, with regard to offences within 
the jurisdiction of state security courts, any 
arrested person had to be brought before a 
judge within 48 hours at the latest, or, in the 
case of offences committed by more than one 
person, within 15 days.

A. The notice of derogation of 6 August 
1990:

16. On 6 August 1990 the Permanent Representa-
tive of Turkey to the Council of Europe sent the 
Secretary General of the Council of Europe the 
following notice of derogation:
“1. The Republic of Turkey is exposed to
threats to its national security in South East
Anatoliawhichhavesteadilygrown inscope
and intensity over the last months so as to
[amount]toathreattothelifeofthenationin
themeaningofArticle15oftheConvention.

During1989, 136 civilians and153members
ofthesecurityforceshavebeenkilledbyacts
ofterrorists,actingpartlyoutofforeignbases.
Since the beginning of 1990 only, the num-
bersare125civiliansand96membersofthe
securityforces.

2.The threat tonational security ispredomi-
nantly [occurring] in provinces of South East

Anatoliaandpartlyalsoinadjacentprovinces.

3.Becauseofthe intensityandvarietyofter-
roristactionsand inorder tocopewithsuch
actions, theGovernmenthasnotonly touse
itssecurityforcesbutalsotakestepsappropri-
atetocopewithacampaignofharmfuldisin-
formationofthepublic,partlyemergingfrom
otherpartsoftheRepublicofTurkeyoreven
fromabroadandwithabusesof trade-union
rights.

4.Tothisend,theGovernmentofTurkey,act-
inginconformitywithArticle121oftheTurk-
ishConstitution,haspromulgatedonMay10
1990thedecreeswithforceof law[nos.]424
and425. Thesedecreesmay inpart result in
derogating from rights enshrined in the fol-
lowing provisions of the European Conven-
tion [on] Human Rights and Fundamental
Freedoms: Articles 5, 6, 8, 10, 11 and 13. A
descriptive summaryof thenewmeasures is
attachedhereto...”

According to a note in the notice of deroga-
tion, “the threat to national security [was] 
predominantly occurring” in the provinces of 
Elazığ, Bingöl, Tunceli, Van, Diyarbakır, Mardin, 
Siirt, Hakkari, Batman and Şırnak.

On 29 January 2001 Turkey revoked its above-
mentioned derogation.

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
5 § 3 OF THE CONVENTION

17. The applicant complained of a breach of Arti-
cle 5 § 3 of the Convention which provides as 
follows:
“ Everyone arrested or detained in accord-
ancewiththeprovisionsofparagraph1(c)of
thisArticle shallbebroughtpromptlybefore
a judgeorotherofficerauthorisedby law to
exercise judicial power and shall be entitled
totrialwithinareasonabletimeortorelease
pendingtrial.Releasemaybeconditionedby
guaranteestoappearfortrial.”

1.SubmissionstotheCourt
18. The applicant complained that she was held in 

police custody for a period of 11 days before 
being brought before a judge or other officer 
authorised by law to exercise judicial power.

19. She referred to the case of Aksoy v. Turkey 
(judgment of 18 December 1996, Reports of 
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Judgments and Decisions 1996-VI, p. 2282, § 
78) and maintained that the period she had 
spent in police custody without judicial inter-
vention amounted to a violation of her right 
under Article 5 § 3 of the Convention.

20. The Government submitted that the appli-
cant’s detention period was lawful under the 
Turkish law prevailing at the relevant time. 
They maintained that the 11 days’ detention 
was justified on account of the scale of PKK vio-
lence in south-east Turkey at the relevant time.

21. The Government further submitted that, given 
the situation in south-east Turkey brought 
about by the violence of the PKK terrorist or-
ganisation, there had been no breach of Article 
5 § 3 on account of the derogation notified 
by Turkey under Article 15 of the Convention.

2.TheCourt’sassessment
22. The Court recalls that Article 5 of the Conven-

tion enshrines a fundamental human right, 
namely the protection of the individual against 
arbitrary interferences by the State with his 
right to liberty. Judicial control of interferences 
by the executive is an essential feature of the 
guarantee embodied in Article 5 § 3, which is 
intended to minimise the risk of arbitrariness 
and to secure the rule of law, “one of the fun-
damental principles of a democratic society..., 
which is expressly referred to in the Preamble 
to the Convention” (see Sakık and Others v. 
Turkey, judgment of 26 November 1997, Re-
ports 1997-VII, p. 2623, § 44; see also Brogan 
and Others v. the United Kingdom, judgment 
of 29 November 1988, Series A no. 145-B, p. 32, 
§ 58).

23. The Court has accepted on several occasions 
that the investigation of terrorist offences un-
doubtedly presents the authorities with special 
problems (see the above-mentioned Brogan 
and Others judgment, p. 33, § 61; Murray v. 
the United Kingdom, 28 October 1994, Series 
A no. 300-A, p. 27, § 58; the above-mentioned 
Aksoy judgment, p. 2282, § 78; Demir and Oth-
ers v. Turkey, judgment of 23 September 1998, 
Reports 1998-VI, p. 2653, § 41 and Dikme v. 
Turkey, judgment of 11 July 2000, Reports 
2000-VIII, § 64). This does not mean, however, 
that the investigating authorities have carte 
blanche under Article 5 to arrest suspects for 
questioning, free from effective control by the 
domestic courts and, ultimately, by the Con-
vention supervisory institutions, whenever 
they choose to assert that terrorism is involved 
(see the Murray judgment, p. 27, § 58).

24. The Court notes that the applicant’s detention 
in police custody lasted eleven days. It recalls 
that in the Brogan and Others case it held that 
detention in police custody which had lasted 
four days and six hours without judicial control 
fell outside the strict constraints as to the time 
laid down by Article 5 § 3 of the Convention, 
even though its purpose was to protect the 
community as a whole against terrorism (see 
the Brogan and Others judgment, p. 33, § 62). 
The Court must examine whether the length of 
the period can be justified by the terms of the 
derogation.

3.Validityofthederogationnotifiedby
TurkeyunderArticle15

25. The Court recalls that “it falls to each Contract-
ing State, with its responsibility for ‘the life of 
[its] nation’, to determine whether that life is 
threatened by a ‘public emergency’ and, if so, 
how far it is necessary to go in attempting to 
overcome the emergency. By reason of their di-
rect and continuous contact with the pressing 
needs of the moment, the national authorities 
are in principle better placed than the interna-
tional judge to decide both on the presence 
of such an emergency and on the nature and 
scope of the derogations necessary to avert 
it. Accordingly, in this matter a wide margin 
of appreciation should be left to the national 
authorities. Nonetheless, Contracting Parties 
do not enjoy an unlimited discretion. It is for 
the Court to rule whether, inter alia, the States 
have gone beyond the ‘extent strictly required 
by the exigencies’ of the crisis. The domestic 
margin of appreciation is thus accompanied 
by a European supervision. In exercising this 
supervision, the Court must give appropriate 
weight to such relevant factors as the nature of 
the rights affected by the derogation and the 
circumstances leading to, and the duration of, 
the emergency situation” (see the Brannigan 
and McBride v. the United Kingdom, judgment 
of 26 May 1993, Series A no. 258-B, pp. 49–50, 
§ 43, and the Aksoy judgment cited above, p. 
2280, § 68).

26. The Court further recalls that in its judg-
ments in the above-mentioned Aksoy and 
Demir cases the Court, in assessing the validity 
of the Turkish derogation, took into account in 
particular the unquestionably serious problem 
of terrorism in south-east Turkey and the dif-
ficulties faced by the State in taking effective 
measures. Nevertheless, in those cases it was 
not persuaded that the situation necessitated 
holding the applicant in the Aksoy case for 
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fourteen days or more and holding the appli-
cants’ in the Demir case for between 16 and 
23 days in incommunicado detention without 
access to a judge or other judicial officer (Ak-
soy judgment, pp. 2282 and 2284, §§ 78 and 
84; Demir judgment § 57). In the Aksoy case 
it noted in particular that the Government had 
not adduced any detailed reasons as to why 
the fight against terrorism in south-east Turkey 
rendered any judicial intervention impractica-
ble (ibid., § 78).

27. The Court, noting in particular that the Govern-
ment have not adduced any reasons as to why 
the situation in south-east Turkey in the pre-
sent case was different from the situation in the 
above-mentioned Aksoy and Demir cases so as 
to render any judicial intervention impossible, 
is not persuaded to depart from its conclusions 
in those two cases.

28. Consequently and notwithstanding the situ-
ation created in south-east Turkey by the ac-
tions of the PKK and the special features and 
difficulties of investigating terrorist offences, 
the Court considers that the applicant’s de-
tention for eleven days before being brought 
before a judge or other judicial officer was not 
strictly required by the crisis relied on by the 
Government.

29. There has accordingly been a breach of Article 
5 § 3 of the Convention.

II. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

30. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage
31. The applicant claimed the sum of GBP 5,000 

for non-pecuniary damage in respect of her 
detention for a period of 11 days before be-
ing brought before the public prosecutor. She 
asked that this sum be specified in the judg-
ment in sterling, to be converted into Turkish 
lira on the date of payment.

32. The Government submitted that there was no 
connection between the applicant’s detention 

and the amount claimed by the applicant. They 
referred to the case of McCann and Others v. 
the United Kingdom (judgment of 22 Septem-
ber 1995, Series A no. 324) and requested the 
Court to reject the applicant’s claim.

33. The Court considers that the applicant should 
be awarded compensation for non-pecuniary 
damage since she must have suffered distress, 
fear and anxiety considering that she was kept 
in police custody for eleven days without any 
judicial intervention. Deciding on an equitable 
basis, as required by Article 41, it awards her 
the sum of EUR 3,600 (see İğdeli v. Turkey, no. 
29296/95, § 41, 20 June 2002, unreported and 
Filiz and Kalkan v. Turkey, no. 34481/97, § 32, 
20 June 2002, unreported).

B. Costs and expenses
34. The applicant claimed GBP 6,173.33 in legal 

costs and expenses. This amount included the 
legal fees of the applicant’s British lawyers (GBP 
4,630), translation expenses (GBP 410), admin-
istrative costs and expenses such as telephone, 
postage and photocopying (GBP 150), fees 
for Mr Kerim Yıldız, the executive director of 
the Kurdish Human Rights Project in London 
(GBP 400) and finally fees for a legal intern (GBP 
583.33).

35. The Government simply stated that the Court 
should not award the applicant the amount 
she had paid to her lawyers.

36. The Court notes that the applicant has only 
partly succeeded in respect of her complaints 
under the Convention. Deciding on an equita-
ble basis, it awards her the sum of EUR 1,500 
exclusive of any value-added tax that may be 
chargeable, such sum to be paid into the bank 
account in the United Kingdom indicated in 
her just satisfaction claim.

C. Default interest
37. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
5 § 3 of the Convention;

2. Holds
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(a) that the respondent State is to pay the ap-
plicant, within three months from the date 
on which the judgment becomes final ac-
cording to Article 44 § 2 of the Conven-
tion, the following amounts:

(i) EuR 3,600 (three thousand six hun-
dred euros) in respect of non-pecuni-
ary damage to be converted into the 
national currency of the respondent 
State at the rate applicable at the date 
of settlement and to be paid into a 
bank account to be named by the ap-
plicant;

(ii) EuR 1,500 (one thousand five hundred 
euros) in respect of costs and expens-
es plus any taxes that may be applica-
ble, to be converted into pounds ster-
ling at the rate applicable at the date 
of settlement and to be paid into the 
bank account in the united Kingdom 
indicated in the applicant’s just satis-
faction claim;

(b) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amounts at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

3. Dismisses the remainder of the applicant’s 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 17 June 
2003, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the Rules 
of Court.

S. Dollé, Registrar
J.-P. Costa, President
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ARTICLE 15, TERRORISM, LIFE OF A NATION, THREAT, 
PUBLIC INTEREST, PUBLIC SAFETY, SECURITY, RESTRICT-
ING FREEDOMS, DEMOCRACY

IN THE CASE OF BRANNIGAN AND MCBRIDE V. 
THE UNITED KINGDOM,

The European Court of Human Rights, taking its de-
cision in plenary session in pursuance of Rule 51 of 
the Rules of Court and composed of the following 
judges:

Mr R. Ryssdal, President, 
Mr R. Bernhardt, 
Mr Thór vilhjálmsson, 
Mr f. Gölcüklü, 
Mr f. Matscher, 
Mr L.-E. Pettiti, 
Mr B. Walsh, 
Mr R. Macdonald, 
Mr C. Russo, 
Mr A. Spielmann, 
Mr J. De Meyer, 
Mr N. valticos, 
Mr S.K. Martens, 
Mrs E. Palm, 
Mr I. foighel, 
Mr R. Pekkanen, 
Mr A.N. Loizou, 
Mr J.M. Morenilla, 
Mr f. Bigi, 
Sir John freeland, 
Mr A.B. Baka, 
Mr M.A. Lopes Rocha, 
Mr L. Wildhaber, 
Mr G. Mifsud Bonnici, 
Mr J. Makarczyk, 
Mr D. Gotchev, 
and also of Mr M.-A. Eissen, Registrar,  
and Mr H. Petzold, Deputy Registrar,

Having deliberated in private on 26 November 
1992 and 22 April 1993,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on the last-mentioned date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case was referred to the Court by the Eu-

ropean Commission of Human Rights ("the 
Commission") on 21 February 1992, within the 

three-month period laid down in Article 32 
para. 1 and Article 47 (art. 32-1, art. 47) of the 
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms ("the Conven-
tion"). It originated in two applications against 
the United Kingdom of Great Britain and North-
ern Ireland (nos. 14553-14554/89) both lodged 
with the Commission under Article 25 (art. 25) 
on 19 January 1989 by Irish citizens, Mr Peter 
Brannigan and Mr Patrick McBride. Mr McBride 
subsequently died in 1992 (see paragraph 11 
below).

The Commission’s request referred to Articles 
44 and 48 (art. 44, art. 48) and to the declaration 
whereby the United Kingdom recognised the 
compulsory jurisdiction of the Court (Article 
46) (art. 46). The object of the request was to 
obtain a decision as to whether or not the facts 
of the case disclosed a breach by the United 
Kingdom of its obligations under Article 5 pa-
ras. 3 and 5 and Article 13 (art. 5-3, art. 5-5, art. 
13), in the light of the United Kingdom’s dero-
gation under Article 15 (art. 15).

2. In response to the enquiry made in accordance 
with Rule 33 para. 3 (d) of the Rules of Court, 
Mr Brannigan and Mrs McBride - Mr McBride’s 
mother and personal representative (see para-
graph 11 below) - stated that they wished to 
take part in the proceedings and designated 
the lawyers who would represent them (Rule 
30). For reasons of convenience Mr McBride 
will continue to be referred to in this judgment 
as the applicant.

The Irish Government, having been informed 
by the Registrar of its right to intervene in the 
proceedings (Article 48, sub-paragraph (b), of 
the Convention and Rule 33 para. 3 (b)) (art. 48-
b), did not indicate any intention of so doing.

3. The Chamber to be constituted included, ex 
officio, Sir John Freeland, the elected judge of 
British nationality (Article 43 of the Conven-
tion) (art. 43), and Mr R. Ryssdal, the President 
of the Court (Rule 21 para. 3 (b)). On 27 Febru-
ary 1992, in the presence of the Registrar, the 
President drew by lot the names of the other 
seven members, namely Mr R. Bernhardt, Mr 
F. Gölcüklü, Mr L.-E. Pettiti, Mr B. Walsh, Mr S.K. 
Martens, Mr R. Pekkanen and Mr L. Wildhaber 
(Article 43 in fine of the Convention* and Rule 
23) (art. 43).

4. Mr Ryssdal assumed the office of President of 
the Chamber (Rule 21 para. 5) and, through the 
Registrar, consulted the Agent of the Govern-
ment of the United Kingdom ("the Govern-
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ment"), the Delegate of the Commission and 
the representatives of the applicants on the or-
ganisation of the proceedings (Rules 37 para. 1 
and 38). In accordance with the President’s or-
ders and directions, the Registrar received, on 
17 July 1992, the memorial of the Government. 
The applicants’ memorial was filed out-of-time 
on 31 August 1992. However, on 28 October 
1992, the Chamber decided that it should be 
regarded as part of the case file (Rule 37 para. 
1 in fine). The Secretary to the Commission 
had previously informed the Registrar that the 
Delegate would submit his observations at the 
hearing.

5. On 27 March, the President had granted, under 
Rule 37 para. 2, leave to the Northern Ireland 
Standing Advisory Commission on Human 
Rights to submit written comments on specific 
aspects of the case. Leave was also granted 
on 27 May, subject to certain conditions, to 
Amnesty International and three organisa-
tions which had made a joint request, namely 
Liberty, Interights and the Committee on the 
Administration of Justice. The respective com-
ments were received on 22 June, 7 and 19 Au-
gust 1992.

6. On 28 October 1992 the Chamber decided, 
pursuant to Rule 51, to relinquish jurisdiction 
forthwith in favour of the plenary Court.

7. As directed by the President, the hearing took 
place in public in the Human Rights Building, 
Strasbourg, on 24 November 1992.

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Mrs A. Glover, Legal Counsellor, Foreign 
and Commonwealth Office, Agent,

Mr N. Bratza, Q.C.,

Mr R. Weatherup, Counsel;

(b) for the Commission

Mr H. Danelius, Delegate;

(c) for the applicants

Mr R. Weir, Q.C.,

Mr S. Treacy, Barrister-at-law, Counsel,

Mr P. Madden, Solicitor.

The Court heard addresses by Mr Bratza for the 
Government, by Mr Danelius for the Commis-
sion and by Mr Weir for the applicants, as well 

as replies to questions put by two of its mem-
bers individually.

8. Prior to the hearing the Government were 
granted permission by the President to file 
comments on certain aspects of the observa-
tions made by the amici curiae. The applicants’ 
written comments on these submissions were 
received on 18 December 1992. The Govern-
ment’s observations on the applicants’ Article 
50 (art. 50) claims were submitted on 17 Janu-
ary 1993.

9. Mr B. Repik, who had attended the hearing and 
taken part in the deliberations of 26 November 
1992, was unable to sit in the present case after 
31 December 1992, his term of office having 
come to an end owing to the dissolution of the 
Czech and Slovak Federal Republic (Articles 38 
and 65 para. 3 of the Convention) (art. 38, art. 
65-3).

As to tHE FACts

I. THE PARTICULAR 
CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE CASE

A. Peter Brannigan
10.  The first applicant, Mr Peter Brannigan, was 

born in 1964. He is a labourer and lives in 
Downpatrick, Northern Ireland.

He was arrested at his home by police officers 
on 9 January 1989 at 6.30 a.m. pursuant to sec-
tion 12 (1) (b) of the Prevention of Terrorism 
(Temporary Provisions) Act 1984 ("the 1984 
Act"). He was then removed to the Interroga-
tion Centre at Gough Barracks, Armagh, where 
he was served with a copy of the "Notice to 
Persons in Police Custody" which informs the 
prisoner of his legal rights (see paragraph 24 
below). A two-day extension of his detention 
was granted by the Secretary of State on 10 
January 1989 at 7.30 p.m., and a further three-
day extension was granted on 12 January 1989 
at 9.32 p.m. He was released at 9 p.m. on 15 
January 1989. He was therefore detained for 
a total period of six days, fourteen hours and 
thirty minutes.

During his detention he was interrogated on 
forty-three occasions and denied access to 
books, newspapers and writing materials as 
well radio and television. He was not allowed 
to associate with other prisoners.
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Although access to a solicitor was at first de-
layed for forty- eight hours because it was 
believed by the police that such a visit would 
interfere with the investigation, the first appli-
cant was subsequently visited by his solicitor 
on 11 January 1989. He was seen by a medi-
cal practitioner on seventeen occasions during 
police custody.

B. Patrick McBride
11. The second applicant, Mr Patrick McBride, was 

born in 1951.

He was arrested at his home by police offic-
ers on 5 January 1989 at 5.05 a.m. pursuant to 
section 12 (1) (b) of the 1984 Act. He was then 
removed to Castlereagh Interrogation Centre 
where he was served with a copy of the "No-
tice to Persons in Police Custody". A three-day 
extension of his period of detention was grant-
ed by the Secretary of State at 5.10 p.m. on 6 
January 1989. He was released at 11.30 a.m. on 
Monday 9 January 1989. He was therefore de-
tained for a total period of four days, six hours 
and twenty-five minutes.

During his detention he was interrogated on 
twenty-two occasions and was subject to the 
same regime as Mr Brannigan (see paragraph 
10 above).

He received two visits from his solicitor on 5 
and 7 January 1989 and was seen by a medical 
practitioner on eight occasions during police 
custody.

Mr McBride was shot dead on 4 February 1992 
by a policeman who had run amok and at-
tacked Sinn Fein Headquarters in Belfast.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

A. Introduction
12. The emergency situation in Northern Ireland 

in the early 1970s and the attendant level of 
terrorist activity form the background to the 
introduction of the Prevention of Terrorism 
(Temporary Provisions) Act 1974 ("the 1974 
Act"). Between 1972 and 1992, over three 
thousand deaths were attributable to terror-
ism in Northern Ireland. In the mid 1980s, the 
number of deaths was significantly lower than 
in the early 1970s but organised terrorism has 
continued to grow.

Since the commencement of the terrorist cam-

paign there have been 35,104 people injured 
in Northern Ireland as a result of terrorist acts. 
Many of these injuries involved loss of limbs 
and permanent physical disability. In the same 
period there have been a total of 41,859 terror-
ist shooting or bombing incidents. Other parts 
of the United Kingdom have also been subject-
ed to a considerable scale of terrorist violence.

13. The 1974 Act came into force on 29 November 
1974. The Act proscribed the Irish Republican 
Army ("IRA") and made it an offence to dis-
play support in public of that organisation in 
Great Britain. The IRA was already a proscribed 
organisation in Northern Ireland. The Act also 
conferred special powers of arrest and deten-
tion on the police so that they could deal more 
effectively with the threat of terrorism (see 
paragraphs 16-17 below).

This Act was subject to renewal every six 
months by Parliament so that, inter alia, the 
need for the continued use of the special pow-
ers could be monitored. The Act was thus re-
newed until March 1976, when it was re-enact-
ed with certain amendments.

Under section 17 of the 1976 Act, the special 
powers were subject to parliamentary renewal 
every twelve months. The 1976 Act was in turn 
renewed annually until 1984, when it was re-
enacted with certain amendments. The 1984 
Act, which came into force in March 1984, 
proscribed the Irish National Liberation Army 
as well as the IRA. It was renewed every year 
until replaced by the 1989 Act which came into 
force on 27 March 1989. Section 14 of the 1989 
Act contains provisions similar to those con-
tained in section 12 of the 1984 Act.

14. The 1976 Act was reviewed by Lord Shackleton 
in a report published in July 1978 and subse-
quently by Lord Jellicoe in a report published in 
January 1983. Annual reports on the 1984 Act 
have been presented to Parliament by Sir Cyril 
Philips (for 1984 and 1985) and Viscount Col-
ville (from 1986-1991). A wider-scale review of 
the operation of the 1984 Act was also carried 
out by Viscount Colville in 1987.

15. These reviews were commissioned by the 
Government and presented to Parliament to 
assist consideration of the continued need 
for the legislation. The authors of these re-
ports concluded in particular that in view of 
the problems inherent in the prevention and 
investigation of terrorism, the continued use 
of the special powers of arrest and detention 
was indispensable. The suggestion that deci-
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sions extending detention should be taken by 
the courts was rejected, notably because the 
information grounding those decisions was 
highly sensitive and could not be disclosed to 
the persons in detention or their legal advisers. 
For various reasons, the decisions were consid-
ered to fall properly within the sphere of the 
executive.

In his 1987 report reviewing the provisions of 
section 12, Viscount Colville considered that 
good reasons existed for extending detention 
in certain cases beyond forty-eight hours and 
up to seven days. He noted in this regard that 
the police in Northern Ireland were frequently 
confronted by a situation where they had good 
intelligence to connect persons with a terror-
ist incident but the persons concerned, if de-
tained, made no statements, and witnesses 
were afraid to come forward, certainly in court: 
in these circumstances, it was concluded, the 
reliance on forensic evidence by the prosecu-
tion was increasing, and detective work had as-
sumed a higher degree of importance. He also 
set out the reasons which individually or, as of-
ten, in combination constituted good grounds 
for extending the various periods within which 
otherwise persons suspected of involvement in 
terrorism would have to be charged or taken to 
court. These included checking of fingerprints; 
forensic tests; checking the detainee’s replies 
against intelligence; new lines of inquiry; infor-
mation obtained from one or more than one 
other detainee in the same case; finding and 
consulting other witnesses (Command Paper 
264, paragraphs 5.1.5-5.1.7, December 1987).

B. Power to arrest without warrant under 
the 1984 and other Acts

16. The relevant provisions of section 12 of the 
1984 Act, substantially the same as those of the 
1974 and 1976 Acts, are as follows:
"12. (1) [A] constable may arrest without
warrant a person whom he has reasonable
groundsforsuspectingtobe

...

(b)apersonwhoisorhasbeenconcernedin
thecommission,preparationorinstigationof
actsofterrorismtowhichthisPartofthisAct
applies;

...

(3)TheactsofterrorismtowhichthisPartof
thisActappliesare

(a)actsofterrorismconnectedwiththeaffairs

ofNorthernIreland;

...

(4)Apersonarrestedunder thissectionshall
notbedetainedinrightofthearrestformore
thanforty-eighthoursafterhisarrest;butthe
SecretaryofStatemay,inanyparticularcase,
extendtheperiodofforty-eighthoursbyape-
riodorperiodsspecifiedbyhim.

(5)Anysuchfurtherperiodorperiodsshallnot
exceedfivedaysinall.

(6) The following provisions (requirement to
bring accused person before the court after
hisarrest)shallnotapplytoapersondetained
inrightofthearrest

...

(d) Article 131 of the Magistrates’ Courts
(NorthernIreland)Order1981;

...

(8)Theprovisionsof this sectionarewithout
prejudice to any power of arrest exercisable
apartfromthissection."

17. According to the definition given in section 14 
(1) of the 1984 Act, "terrorism means the use 
of violence for political ends, and includes any 
use of violence for the purpose of putting the 
public or any section of the public in fear". An 
identical definition of terrorism in the Northern 
Ireland (Emergency Provisions) Act 1978 was 
held to be "in wide terms" by the House of 
Lords, which rejected an interpretation of the 
word "terrorist" that would have been "in nar-
rower terms than popular usage of the word 
‘terrorist’ might connote to a police officer or 
a layman" (McKee v. Chief Constable for North-
ern Ireland [1985] 1 All England Law Reports 1 
at 3-4, per Lord Roskill).

C. Detention under the ordinary criminal law
18. Article 131 of the Magistrates’ Courts (Northern 

Ireland) Order 1981, declared inapplicable in 
cases of suspected terrorism by section 12(6)
(d) of the 1984 Act (see paragraph 16 above), 
provided that where a person arrested without 
warrant was not released from custody within 
twenty-four hours, he had to be brought be-
fore a Magistrates’ Court as soon as practicable 
thereafter but not later than forty-eight hours 
after his arrest.

19. Article 131 was repealed by the Police and 
Criminal Evidence (Northern Ireland) Order 
1989 (Statutory Instrument 1989/1341 (North-
ern Ireland) 12). Under the provisions of the 
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1989 Order (which corresponds directly with 
the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 in 
force in England and Wales) a person arrested 
on suspicion of his involvement in an offence 
may initially not be kept in police detention 
for more than twenty-four hours without be-
ing charged (Article 42(1)). On the authority of 
a police officer of the rank of Superintendent 
or above, the detention may be extended for a 
period not exceeding thirty-six hours from the 
time of arrest, or arrival at a police station after 
arrest, when the officer concerned:
"...hasreasonablegroundsforbelievingthat-

(a) the detention of that person without
charge is necessary to secure or preserve
evidence relating toanoffence forwhichhe
isunderarrestortoobtainsuchevidenceby
questioninghim;

(b)anoffenceforwhichheisunderarrestisa
seriousarrestableoffence;

(c) the investigation is being conducted dili-
gentlyandexpeditiously."(Article43(1))

By Article 44(1) of the Order a Magistrates’ 
Court is empowered, on a complaint in writing 
by a constable, to extend the period of police 
detention if satisfied that there are reasonable 
grounds for believing that the further deten-
tion of that person is justified. Detention is only 
justified for these purposes if the conditions set 
out in (a)-(c) above are satisfied (Article 44(4)). 
The person to whom the complaint relates 
must be furnished with a copy of the com-
plaint and brought before the court for the 
hearing (Article 44(2)) and is entitled to be le-
gally represented at the hearing (Article 44(3)). 
The period of further detention authorised by 
the warrant may not exceed thirty-six hours 
(Article 44(12)). By Article 45 a Magistrates’ 
Court may, on a complaint in writing by a con-
stable, extend the period of detention for such 
period as the court thinks fit, having regard to 
the evidence before it (Article 45(1), (2)). This 
additional extension may not exceed thirty-six 
hours and may not end later than ninety-six 
hours after the time of arrest or arrival at the 
police station after arrest (Article 45(3)).

D. Exercise of the power to make an arrest 
under section 12(1)(b) of the 1984 Act

20. In order to make a lawful arrest under section 
12(1)(b) of the 1984 Act, the arresting officer 
must have a reasonable suspicion that the per-
son being arrested is or has been concerned in 
the commission, preparation or instigation of 

acts of terrorism. In addition, an arrest without 
warrant is subject to the applicable common 
law rules laid down by the House of Lords in 
the case of Christie v. Leachinsky [1947] Ap-
peal Cases 573 at 587 and 600. The person 
being arrested must in ordinary circumstances 
be informed of the true ground of his arrest at 
the time he is taken into custody or, if special 
circumstances exist which excuse this, as soon 
thereafter as it is reasonably practicable to in-
form him. This does not require technical or 
precise language to be used provided the per-
son being arrested knows in substance why.

In the case of Ex parte Lynch [1980] Northern 
Ireland Reports 126 at 131, in which the ar-
rested person sought a writ of habeas corpus, 
the High Court of Northern Ireland discussed 
section 12(1)(b). The arresting officer had told 
the applicant that he was arresting him under 
section 12 of the 1976 Act as he suspected him 
of being involved in terrorist activities. Accord-
ingly, the High Court found that the lawfulness 
of the arrest could not be impugned in this 
respect.

21. The arresting officer’s suspicion must be rea-
sonable in the circumstances and to decide 
this the court must be told something about 
the sources and grounds of the suspicion (per 
Higgins J. in Van Hout v. Chief Constable of the 
RUC and the Northern Ireland Office, decision 
of Northern Ireland High Court, 28 June 1984).

E. Purpose of arrest and detention under 
section 12 of the 1984 Act

22. Under ordinary law, there is no power to arrest 
and detain a person merely to make enquiries 
about him. The questioning of a suspect on the 
ground of a reasonable suspicion that he has 
committed an arrestable offence is a legitimate 
cause for arrest and detention without warrant 
where the purpose of such questioning is to 
dispel or confirm such a reasonable suspicion, 
provided he is brought before a court as soon 
as practicable (R. v. Houghton [1979] 68 Crimi-
nal Appeal Reports 197 at 205, and Holgate-
Mohammed v. Duke [1984] 1 All England Law 
Reports 1054 at 1059).

On the other hand, Lord Lowry LCJ held in the 
case of Ex parte Lynch (loc. cit. at 131) that un-
der the 1984 Act no specific crime need be sus-
pected to ground a proper arrest under section 
12(1)(b). He added (ibid.):
"...[I]tisfurthertobenotedthatanarrestun-
der section 12(1) leads ... to a permitted pe-
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riodofdetentionwithoutpreferringacharge.
Nochargemay followatall; thusanarrest is
not necessarily ... the first step in a criminal
proceeding against a suspected person on
achargewhichwas intendedtobe judicially
investigated."

f. Extension of period of detention
23. In Northern Ireland, applications for extended 

detention beyond the initial forty-eight-hour 
period are processed at senior police level in 
Belfast and then forwarded to the Secretary of 
State for Northern Ireland for approval by him 
or, if he is not available, a junior minister.

There are no criteria in the 1984 Act (or its pre-
decessors) governing decisions to extend the 
initial period of detention, though strict criteria 
that have been developed in practice are listed 
in the reports and reviews referred to above 
(see paragraphs 14 and 15 above).

According to statistics submitted by the Gov-
ernment a total number of 1,549 persons were 
arrested under the Prevention of Terrorism 
(Temporary Provisions) Act in 1990 of whom 
approximately 333 were eventually charged. 
Of these, 1,140 were detained for two days or 
less, 17% of whom were charged. However, of 
the 365 persons detained for more than two 
days and less than five days 39% were charged. 
In addition, of the 45 persons detained for 
more than five days some 67% were charged, 
many with serious offences including murder, 
attempted murder and causing explosions. In 
each of these cases the evidence which formed 
the basis of the charges only became available 
or was revealed in the latest stages of the de-
tention of the person concerned.

G. Rights during detention
24. A person detained under section 12 of the 

1984 Act (now section 14 of the 1989 Act) has 
the rights, if he so requests, to have a friend, rel-
ative or other person informed of the fact and 
place of his detention and to consult a solicitor 
privately; he must be informed of these rights 
as soon as practicable. Any such requests must 
be complied with as soon as practicable. This 
may, however, be delayed for up to forty-eight 
hours in certain specified circumstances (sec-
tions 44 and 45 of the Northern Ireland (Emer-
gency Provisions) Act 1991 - formerly sections 
14 and 15 of the 1987 Act).

A decision to deny access to a solicitor within 
the first forty-eight hours is subject to judicial 
review. Cases decided by the High Court in 

Northern Ireland establish that under section 
45 of the Northern Ireland (Emergency Provi-
sions) Act 1991 the power to delay access can 
only be used if the officer concerned has rea-
sonable grounds for believing that the exercise 
of the right would have one or more of the 
specific consequences set out in subsection 8 
of section 45. There is a burden on the officer 
concerned to show to the satisfaction of the 
court that he had reasonable grounds for his 
belief. In the absence of evidence to establish 
such reasonable grounds the court will order 
the immediate grant of access to a solicitor 
(decisions of the Northern Ireland High Court in 
applications for judicial review by Patrick Duffy 
(20 September 1991), Dermot and Deirdre Mc-
Kenna (10 February 1992), Francis Maher and 
Others (25 March 1992)).

Since 1979, the practice has been that a de-
tainee is not interviewed until he has been 
examined by a forensic medical officer. There-
after, arrangements are made for the detainee 
to have access to a medical officer including 
his own doctor. There is provision for consul-
tation with a forensic medical officer at a pre-
arranged time each day.

The above rights are briefly set out in a "Notice 
to Persons in Police Custody" which is served 
on persons arrested under section 12 when 
they are detained.

H. Judicial involvement in terrorist 
investigations

25. Under paragraph 2 of Schedule 7 to the Pre-
vention of Terrorism (Temporary Provisions) 
Act 1989 a justice of the peace may grant a 
warrant authorising a constable involved in a 
terrorist investigation to search premises and 
seize and retain anything found there if he has 
reasonable grounds for believing inter alia that 
it is likely to be of substantial value to the inves-
tigation. Paragraphs 5(1) and (4) of Schedule 7 
confer a similar power on a circuit judge and 
on a county court judge in Northern Ireland.

However, paragraph 8(2) provides that the 
Secretary of State may give to any constable in 
Northern Ireland the authority which may be 
given by a search warrant under paragraphs 
2 and 5 if inter alia it appears to him that the 
disclosure of information that would be neces-
sary for an application under those provisions 
"would be likely to prejudice the capability of 
members of the Royal Ulster Constabulary in 
relation to the investigation of offences ... or 
otherwise prejudice the safety of, or of persons 
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in, Northern Ireland".

III. REMEDIES

26. The principal remedies available to persons de-
tained under the 1984 Act are an application 
for a writ of habeas corpus and a civil action 
claiming damages for false imprisonment.

1.HabeasCorpus
27. Under the 1984 Act, a person may be arrested 

and detained in right of arrest for a total pe-
riod of seven days (section 12(4) and (5) - see 
paragraph 16 above). Paragraph 5(2) of Sched-
ule 3 to the 1984 Act provides that a person 
detained pursuant to an arrest under section 
12 of the Act "shall be deemed to be in legal 
custody when he is so detained". However, the 
remedy of habeas corpus is not precluded by 
paragraph 5(2) cited above. If the initial arrest 
is unlawful, so also is the detention grounded 
upon that arrest (per Higgins J. in the Van Hout 
case, loc. cit. at 18).

28. Habeas Corpus is a procedure whereby a de-
tained person may make an urgent application 
for release from custody on the basis that his 
detention is unlawful.

The court hearing the application does not 
sit as a court of appeal to consider the merits 
of the detention: it is confined to a review of 
the lawfulness of the detention. The scope of 
this review is not uniform and depends on the 
context of the particular case and, where ap-
propriate, the terms of the relevant statute un-
der which the power of detention is exercised. 
The review will encompass compliance with 
the technical requirements of such a statute 
and may extend, inter alia, to an inquiry into 
the reasonableness of the suspicion ground-
ing the arrest (Ex parte Lynch, loc. cit., and Van 
Hout, loc. cit.). A detention that is technically 
legal may also be reviewed on the basis of an 
alleged misuse of power in that the authorities 
may have acted in bad faith, capriciously or for 
an unlawful purpose (R. v. Governor of Brixton 
Prison, ex parte Sarno [1916] 2 King’s Bench Re-
ports 742, and R. v. Brixton Prison (Governor), 
ex parte Soblen [1962] 3 All England Law Re-
ports 641).

The burden of proof is on the respondent au-
thorities which must justify the legality of the 
decision to detain, provided that the person 
applying for a writ of habeas corpus has first 
established a prima facie case (Khawaja v. Sec-

retary of State [1983] 1 All England Law Reports 
765).

2.Falseimprisonment
29. A person claiming that he has been unlawfully 

arrested and detained may in addition bring 
an action seeking damages for false impris-
onment. Where the lawfulness of the arrest 
depends upon reasonable cause for suspicion, 
it is for the defendant authority to prove the 
existence of such reasonable cause (Dallison 
v. Caffrey [1965] 1 Queen’s Bench Reports 348 
and Van Hout, loc. cit. at 15). In false imprison-
ment proceedings, the reasonableness of an 
arrest may be examined on the basis of the 
well-established principles of judicial review 
of the exercise of executive discretion (see 
Holgate-Mohammed v. Duke, loc. cit.).

IV. III. THE UNITED KINGDOM 
DEROGATION

30. Issues akin to those arising in the present case 
were examined by the Court in its Brogan and 
Others judgment of 29 November 1988 (Se-
ries A no. 145-B) where it held that there had 
been a violation of Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) of 
the Convention in respect of each of the ap-
plicants, all of whom had been detained under 
section 12 of the 1984 Act. The Court held that 
even the shortest of the four periods of deten-
tion concerned, namely four days and six hours, 
fell outside the constraints as to time permitted 
by the first part of Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3). In 
addition, the Court held that there had been a 
violation of Article 5 para. 5 (art. 5-5) in the case 
of each applicant (Series A no. 145-B, pp. 30-35, 
paras. 55-62 and 66-67).

Following that judgment, the Secretary of State 
for the Home Department made a statement in 
the House of Commons on 22 December 1988 
in which he explained the difficulties of judicial 
control over decisions to arrest and detain sus-
pected terrorists. He stated inter alia as follows:
"Wemust pay proper regard to the tremen-
douspressures that are already facedby the
judiciary,especiallyinNorthernIreland,where
mostcaseshavetobeconsidered.Wearealso
concerned that information about terrorist
intentions,whichoftenformspartofthecase
foranextensionofdetention,doesnotfindits
way back to the terrorists as a consequence
of judicial procedures, which at least in the
United Kingdom legal tradition generally re-
quiresomeoneaccusedandhislegaladvisers
toknowtheinformationallegedagainsthim.
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...

In themeantime, thepositioncannotbe left
as itstands. Ihavealreadymadeclear tothe
House that we shall ensure that the police
continue to have the powers they need to
counterterrorism,andtheycontinuetoneed
tobeabletodetainsuspectsforuptoseven
days insomecases.Toensurethattherecan
benodoubtabouttheabilityofthepoliceto
deal effectivelywith such cases, theGovern-
ment are today taking steps to give notice
ofderogationunderArticle15(art.15)ofthe
European Convention of Human Rights, and
Article4oftheInternationalCovenantonCivil
andPoliticalRights.Thereisapublicemergen-
cywithin themeaningof theseprovisions in
respectofterrorismconnectedwiththeaffairs
ofNorthernIrelandintheUnitedKingdom..."

31. On 23 December 1988 the United Kingdom 
informed the Secretary General of the Council 
of Europe that the Government had availed 
itself of the right of derogation conferred by 
Article 15 para. 1 (art. 15-1) to the extent that 
the exercise of powers under section 12 of the 
1984 Act might be inconsistent with the obli-
gations imposed by Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) of 
the Convention. Part of that declaration reads 
as follows:
"... Following [the Brogan and Others judg-
ment],theSecretaryofStatefortheHomeDe-
partmentinformedParliamenton6December
1988that,againstthebackgroundoftheter-
rorist campaign, and theover-ridingneed to
bringterroriststojustice,theGovernmentdid
notbelieve that themaximumperiodofde-
tentionshouldbereduced.He informedPar-
liamentthattheGovernmentwereexamining
thematterwitha view to responding to the
judgment.On22December1988, theSecre-
taryofStatefurtherinformedParliamentthat
itremainedtheGovernment’swish,ifitcould
be achieved, to find a judicial process under
whichextendeddetentionmightbereviewed
andwhereappropriateauthorisedbyajudge
or other judicial officer. But a further period
of reflection and consultationwas necessary
beforetheGovernmentcouldbringforwarda
firmandfinalview.Sincethejudgmentof29
November1988aswellaspreviously,theGov-
ernmenthavefounditnecessarytocontinue
toexercise,inrelationtoterrorismconnected
withtheaffairsofNorthernIreland,thepowers
described above enabling further detention
without charge, for periods of up to 5 days,
on theauthorityof theSecretaryof State, to
theextent strictly requiredby theexigencies
ofthesituationtoenablenecessaryenquiries
and investigationsproperly tobe completed

inordertodecidewhethercriminalproceed-
ings shouldbe instituted. To the extent that
the exercise of these powersmay be incon-
sistent with the obligations imposed by the
Convention the Government have availed
themselves of the right of derogation con-
ferredbyArticle15(1)oftheConventionand
willcontinuetodosountilfurthernotice..."

32. The Government have reviewed whether the 
powers of extended detention could be con-
ferred on the normal courts but have conclud-
ed that it would not be appropriate to involve 
courts in such decisions for the reasons given 
in a Written Answer in Parliament by the Sec-
retary of State, Mr David Waddington, on 14 
November 1989:
"Decisions to authorise the detention of ter-
rorist suspects for periods beyond 48 hours
maybe, andoftenare, takenon thebasisof
information, the nature and source ofwhich
couldnotbe revealed to a suspectorhis le-
galadviserwithoutseriousriskto individuals
assistingthepoliceortheprospectoffurther
valuableintelligencebeinglost.Anynewpro-
cedurewhichavoidedthosedangersbyallow-
ingacourttomakeadecisiononinformation
notpresentedtothedetaineeorhislegalad-
viserwouldrepresentaradicaldeparturefrom
theprincipleswhichgovernjudicialproceed-
ingsinthiscountryandcouldseriouslyaffect
publictrustandconfidenceinthe independ-
enceofthejudiciary.TheGovernmentwould
bemost reluctant to introduceanynewpro-
cedurewhichcouldhavethiseffect".(Official
Report,14November1989,col.210)

In a further notice dated 12 December 1989 
the United Kingdom informed the Secretary 
General that a satisfactory procedure for the 
review of detention of terrorist suspects involv-
ing the judiciary had not been identified and 
that the derogation would therefore remain in 
place for as long as circumstances require.

PRoCEEDInGs BEFoRE 
tHE CoMMIssIon
33. The applicants applied to the Commission on 

19 January 1989 (applications nos. 14553/89 
and 14554/89). They complained that they 
were not brought promptly before a judge, in 
breach of Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3). They also 
alleged that they did not have an enforceable 
right to compensation in breach of Article 5 
para. 5 (art. 5-5) and that there was no effective 
remedy in respect of their complaints contrary 
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to Article 13 (art. 13).

They subsequently withdrew other complaints 
that they had made under Articles 3, 5 paras. 1 
and 4, 8, 9 and 10 (art. 3, art. 5-1, art. 5-4, art. 8, 
art. 9, art. 10) of the Convention.

34. On 5 October 1990 the Commission ordered 
the joinder of the applications and on 28 Feb-
ruary 1991 declared the case admissible. In its 
report of 3 December 1991 (Article 31) (art. 31) 
the Commission expressed the opinion:

(a) by eight votes to five, that there had been 
no violation of Article 5 paras. 3 and 5 (art. 
5-3, art. 5-5) of the Convention in view of 
the United Kingdom’s derogation of 23 De-
cember 1988 under Article 15 (art. 15) of the 
Convention;

(b) unanimously, that no separate issue arose 
under Article 13 (art. 13) .

The full text of the Commission’s opinion and 
of the separate opinions contained in the re-
port is reproduced as an annex to this judg-
ment*.

FInAL sUBMIssIons 
MADE to tHE CoURt BY 
tHE GoVERnMEnt
35. The Government requested the Court to find 

that there has been no violation of Article 5 
paras. 3 and 5 (art. 5-3, art. 5-5) in view of the 
United Kingdom’s derogation of 23 December 
1988 under Article 15 (art. 15) of the Conven-
tion and that there has been no violation of Ar-
ticle 13 (art. 13) or alternatively that no separate 
issue arises under this provision.

As to tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE 
5 (ART. 5)

36. The applicants, Mr Brannigan and Mr McBride, 
were detained under section 12 (1) (b) of the 
1984 Act in early January 1989 very shortly 
after the Government’s derogation of 23 De-
cember 1988 under Article 15 (art. 15) of the 
Convention, which itself was made soon after 
the Court’s judgment of 29 November 1988 
in the case of Brogan and Others (judgment 
of 29 November 1988, Series A no. 145-B). 

Their detention lasted for periods of six days, 
fourteen hours and thirty minutes, and four 
days, six hours and twenty-five minutes re-
spectively (see paragraphs 10-11 above). They 
complained of violations of Article 5 paras. 3 
and 5 (art. 5-3, art. 5-5) of the Convention. The 
relevant parts of Article 5 (art. 5) are as follows:
"1.Everyonehastherighttolibertyandsecu-
rityofperson.Nooneshallbedeprivedofhis
liberty save in the followingcasesand inac-
cordancewithaprocedureprescribedbylaw:

...

(c)thelawfularrestordetentionofapersonef-
fectedforthepurposeofbringinghimbefore
thecompetent legalauthorityon reasonable
suspicionofhavingcommittedanoffence...;

...

3.Everyonearrestedordetainedinaccordance
with theprovisionsofparagraph1 (c)of this
Article (art. 5-1-c) shall be brought promptly
beforea judgeorotherofficerauthorisedby
lawtoexercisejudicialpower...

...

5.Everyonewhohasbeenthevictimofarrest
or detention in contravention of the provi-
sions of this Article (art. 5) shall have an en-
forceablerighttocompensation."

37. The Government, noting that both of the ap-
plicants were detained for longer periods than 
the shortest period found by the Court to be 
in breach of Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) in the 
case of Brogan and Others, conceded that the 
requirement of promptness had not been re-
spected in the present cases (see paragraph 
30 above). They further accepted that, in the 
absence of an enforceable right to compensa-
tion in respect of the breach of Article 5 para. 3 
(art. 5-3), Article 5 para. 5 (art. 5-5) had not been 
complied with.

Having regard to its judgment in the case of 
Brogan and Others, the Court finds that Article 
5 paras. 3 and 5 (art. 5-3, art. 5-5) have not been 
respected (loc. cit., pp. 30-35, paras. 55-62 and 
66-67).

38. However, the Government further submitted 
that the failure to observe these requirements 
of Article 5 (art. 5) had been met by their dero-
gation of 23 December 1988 under Article 15 
(art. 15) of the Convention.

The Court must therefore examine the validity 
of the Government’s derogation in the light of 
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this provision. It recalls at the outset that the 
question whether any derogation from the 
United Kingdom’s obligations under the Con-
vention might be permissible under Article 15 
(art. 15) by reason of the terrorist campaign in 
Northern Ireland was specifically left open by 
the Court in the Brogan and Others case (loc. 
cit., pp. 27-28, para. 48).

Validity of the United Kingdom’s derogation 
under Article 15 (art. 15)

39. The applicants maintained that the deroga-
tion under Article 15 (art. 15) was invalid. This 
was disputed by both the Government and the 
Commission.

40. Article 15 (art. 15) provides:
"1. In timeofwarorotherpublicemergency
threatening the life of the nation any High
Contracting Party may take measures dero-
gating from its obligations under [the] Con-
vention to theextentstrictly requiredby the
exigenciesofthesituation,providedthatsuch
measures are not inconsistentwith its other
obligationsunderinternationallaw.

2.NoderogationfromArticle2(art.2),except
inrespectofdeathsresultingfromlawfulacts
ofwar,orfromArticles3,4(paragraph1)and
7 (art. 3, art. 4-1, art. 7) shall bemadeunder
thisprovision.

3. Any High Contracting Party availing itself
ofthisrightofderogationshallkeeptheSec-
retaryGeneral of the Council of Europe fully
informedof themeasureswhich ithas taken
and the reasons therefor. It shall also inform
theSecretaryGeneraloftheCouncilofEurope
when such measures have ceased to oper-
ateandtheprovisionsoftheConventionare
againbeingfullyexecuted."

1.TheCourt’sapproachtothematter
41. The applicants argued that it would be in-

consistent with Article 15 para. 2 (art. 15-2) if, 
in derogating from safeguards recognised as 
essential for the protection of non-derogable 
rights such as Articles 2 and 3 (art. 2, art. 3), the 
national authorities were to be afforded a wide 
margin of appreciation. This was especially so 
where the emergency was of a quasi-perma-
nent nature such as that existing in Northern 
Ireland. To do so would also be inconsistent 
with the Brogan and Others judgment where 
the Court had regarded judicial control as one 
of the fundamental principles of a democratic 
society and had already - they claimed - ex-
tended to the Government a margin of appre-

ciation by taking into account in paragraph 
58 (p. 32) the context of terrorism in Northern 
Ireland (loc. cit.).

42. In their written submissions, Amnesty Inter-
national maintained that strict scrutiny was 
required by the Court when examining dero-
gation from fundamental procedural guaran-
tees which were essential for the protection of 
detainees at all times, but particularly in times 
of emergency. Liberty, Interights and the Com-
mittee on the Administration of Justice ("Lib-
erty and Others") submitted for their part that, 
if States are to be allowed a margin of appre-
ciation at all, it should be narrower the more 
permanent the emergency becomes.

43. The Court recalls that it falls to each Contract-
ing State, with its responsibility for "the life of 
[its] nation", to determine whether that life is 
threatened by a "public emergency" and, if so, 
how far it is necessary to go in attempting to 
overcome the emergency. By reason of their di-
rect and continuous contact with the pressing 
needs of the moment, the national authorities 
are in principle in a better position than the in-
ternational judge to decide both on the pres-
ence of such an emergency and on the nature 
and scope of derogations necessary to avert 
it. Accordingly, in this matter a wide margin of 
appreciation should be left to the national au-
thorities (see the Ireland v. the United Kingdom 
judgment of 18 January 1978, Series A no. 25, 
pp. 78-79, para. 207).

Nevertheless, Contracting Parties do not enjoy 
an unlimited power of appreciation. It is for the 
Court to rule on whether inter alia the States 
have gone beyond the "extent strictly required 
by the exigencies" of the crisis. The domestic 
margin of appreciation is thus accompanied 
by a European supervision (ibid.). At the same 
time, in exercising its supervision the Court 
must give appropriate weight to such relevant 
factors as the nature of the rights affected by 
the derogation, the circumstances leading to, 
and the duration of, the emergency situation.

2.Existenceofapublicemergency
threateningthelifeofthenation

44. Although the applicants did not dispute that 
there existed a public emergency "threatening 
the life of the nation", they submitted that the 
burden rested on the Government to satisfy 
the Court that such an emergency really ex-
isted.

45. It was, however, suggested by Liberty and Oth-
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ers in their written submissions that at the rel-
evant time there was no longer any evidence 
of an exceptional situation of crisis. They main-
tained that reconsideration of the position 
could only properly have led to a further dero-
gation if there was a demonstrable deteriora-
tion in the situation since August 1984 when 
the Government withdrew their previous dero-
gation. For the Standing Advisory Commission 
on Human Rights, on the other hand, there was 
a public emergency in Northern Ireland at the 
relevant time of a sufficient magnitude to enti-
tle the Government to derogate.

46. Both the Government and the Commission, re-
ferring to the existence of public disturbance 
in Northern Ireland, maintained that there was 
such an emergency.

47. Recalling its case-law in Lawless v. Ireland 
(judgment of 1 July 1961, Series A no. 3, p. 56, 
para. 28) and Ireland v. the United Kingdom 
(loc. cit., Series A no. 25, p. 78, para. 205) and 
making its own assessment, in the light of all 
the material before it as to the extent and im-
pact of terrorist violence in Northern Ireland 
and elsewhere in the United Kingdom (see 
paragraph 12 above), the Court considers there 
can be no doubt that such a public emergency 
existed at the relevant time.

It does not judge it necessary to compare the 
situation which obtained in 1984 with that 
which prevailed in December 1988 since a de-
cision to withdraw a derogation is, in principle, 
a matter within the discretion of the State and 
since it is clear that the Government believed 
that the legislation in question was in fact com-
patible with the Convention (see paragraphs 
49-51 below).

3.Werethemeasuresstrictlyrequiredbythe
exigenciesofthesituation?

(a)  General considerations

48. The Court recalls that judicial control of inter-
ferences by the executive with the individual’s 
right to liberty provided for by Article 5 (art. 5) 
is implied by one of the fundamental principles 
of a democratic society, namely the rule of law 
(see the above-mentioned Brogan and Others 
judgment, Series A no. 145-B, p. 32, para. 58). 
It further observes that the notice of deroga-
tion invoked in the present case was lodged 
by the respondent Government soon after the 
judgment in the above-mentioned Brogan 
and Others case where the Court had found 
the Government to be in breach of their obli-

gations under Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) by not 
bringing the applicants "promptly" before a 
court.

The Court must scrutinise the derogation 
against this background and taking into ac-
count that the power of arrest and detention 
in question has been in force since 1974. How-
ever, it must be observed that the central issue 
in the present case is not the existence of the 
power to detain suspected terrorists for up to 
seven days - indeed a complaint under Article 
5 para. 1 (art. 5-1) was withdrawn by the ap-
plicants (see paragraph 33 above) - but rather 
the exercise of this power without judicial in-
tervention.

(b)  Was the derogation a genuine response to an 
emergency situation?

49. For the applicants, the purported derogation 
was not a necessary response to any new or al-
tered state of affairs but was the Government’s 
reaction to the decision in Brogan and Others 
and was lodged merely to circumvent the con-
sequences of this judgment.

50. The Government and the Commission main-
tained that, while it was true that this judg-
ment triggered off the derogation, the exigen-
cies of the situation have at all times since 1974 
required the powers of extended detention 
conferred by the Prevention of Terrorism leg-
islation. It was the view of successive Govern-
ments that these powers were consistent with 
Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) and that no deroga-
tion was necessary. However, both the meas-
ures and the derogation were direct responses 
to the emergency with which the United King-
dom was and continues to be confronted.

51. The Court first observes that the power of ar-
rest and extended detention has been consid-
ered necessary by the Government since 1974 
in dealing with the threat of terrorism. Follow-
ing the Brogan and Others judgment the Gov-
ernment were then faced with the option of 
either introducing judicial control of the deci-
sion to detain under section 12 of the 1984 Act 
or lodging a derogation from their Convention 
obligations in this respect. The adoption of the 
view by the Government that judicial control 
compatible with Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) was 
not feasible because of the special difficulties 
associated with the investigation and prosecu-
tion of terrorist crime rendered derogation in-
evitable. Accordingly, the power of extended 
detention without such judicial control and the 
derogation of 23 December 1988 being clearly 
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linked to the persistence of the emergency 
situation, there is no indication that the dero-
gation was other than a genuine response.

(c)  Was the derogation premature?

52. The applicants maintained that derogation 
was an interim measure which Article 15 (art. 
15) did not provide for since it appeared from 
the notice of derogation communicated to the 
Secretary General of the Council of Europe on 
23 December 1988 that the Government had 
not reached a "firm or final view" on the need 
to derogate from Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) and 
required a further period of reflection and con-
sultation. Following this period the Secretary 
of State for the Home Department confirmed 
the derogation in a statement to Parliament on 
14 November 1989 (see paragraph 32 above). 
Prior to this concluded view Article 15 (art. 15) 
did not permit derogation. Furthermore, even 
at this date the Government had not properly 
examined whether the obligation in Article 5 
para. 3 (art. 5-3) could be satisfied by an "officer 
authorised by law to exercise judicial power".

53. The Government contended that the validity 
of the derogation was not affected by their ex-
amination of the possibility of judicial control 
of extended detention since, as the Commis-
sion had pointed out, it was consistent with 
the requirements of Article 15 para. 3 (art. 15-3) 
to keep derogation measures under constant 
review.

54. The Court does not accept the applicants’ ar-
gument that the derogation was premature.

While it is true that Article 15 (art. 15) does not 
envisage an interim suspension of Convention 
guarantees pending consideration of the ne-
cessity to derogate, it is clear from the notice 
of derogation that "against the background 
of the terrorist campaign, and the over-riding 
need to bring terrorists to justice, the Govern-
ment did not believe that the maximum pe-
riod of detention should be reduced". However 
it remained the Government’s wish "to find a 
judicial process under which extended deten-
tion might be reviewed and where appropriate 
authorised by a judge or other judicial officer" 
(see paragraph 31 above).

The validity of the derogation cannot be called 
into question for the sole reason that the Gov-
ernment had decided to examine whether in 
the future a way could be found of ensuring 
greater conformity with Convention obliga-
tions. Indeed, such a process of continued re-

flection is not only in keeping with Article 15 
para. 3 (art. 15-3) which requires permanent 
review of the need for emergency measures 
but is also implicit in the very notion of propor-
tionality.

(d)  Was the absence of judicial control of extend-
ed detention justified?

55. The applicants further considered that there 
was no basis for the Government’s assertion 
that control of extended detention by a judge 
or other officer authorised by law to exercise 
judicial power was not possible or that a period 
of seven days’ detention was necessary. They 
did not accept that the material required to 
satisfy a court of the justification for extended 
detention could be more sensitive than that 
needed in proceedings for habeas corpus. They 
and the Standing Advisory Commission on Hu-
man Rights also pointed out that the courts in 
Northern Ireland were frequently called on to 
deal with submissions based on confidential 
information - for example, in bail applications 
- and that there were sufficient procedural and 
evidential safeguards to protect confidenti-
ality. Procedures also existed where judges 
were required to act on the basis of material 
which would not be disclosed either to the le-
gal adviser or to his client. This was the case, 
for example, with claims by the executive to 
public interest immunity or application by the 
police to extend detention under the Police 
and Criminal Evidence (Northern Ireland) Order 
1989 (see paragraph 19 above).

56. On this point the Government responded that 
none of the above procedures involved both 
the non-disclosure of material to the detainee 
or his legal adviser and an executive act of the 
court. The only exception appeared in Sched-
ule 7 to the Prevention of Terrorism (Temporary 
Provisions) Act 1989 where inter alia the court 
may make an order in relation to the produc-
tion of, and search for, special material relevant 
to terrorist investigations. However, paragraph 
8 of Schedule 7 provides that, where the disclo-
sure of information to the court would be too 
sensitive or would prejudice the investigation, 
the power to make the order is conferred on 
the Secretary of State and not the court (see 
paragraph 25 above).

It was also emphasised that the Government 
had reluctantly concluded that, within the 
framework of the common-law system, it was 
not feasible to introduce a system which would 
be compatible with Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) 
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but would not weaken the effectiveness of 
the response to the terrorist threat. Decisions 
to prolong detention were taken on the basis 
of information the nature and source of which 
could not be revealed to a suspect or his legal 
adviser without risk to individuals assisting the 
police or the prospect of further valuable in-
telligence being lost. Moreover, involving the 
judiciary in the process of granting or approv-
ing extensions of detention created a real risk 
of undermining their independence as they 
would inevitably be seen as part of the inves-
tigation and prosecution process.

In addition, the Government did not accept 
that the comparison with habeas corpus was 
a valid one since judicial involvement in the 
grant or approval of extension would require 
the disclosure of a considerable amount of ad-
ditional sensitive information which it would 
not be necessary to produce in habeas corpus 
proceedings. In particular, a court would have 
to be provided with details of the nature and 
extent of police inquiries following the arrest, 
including details of witnesses interviewed and 
information obtained from other sources as 
well as information about the future course of 
the police investigation.

Finally, Lords Shackleton and Jellicoe and Vis-
count Colville in their reports had concluded 
that arrest and extended detention were in-
dispensable powers in combating terrorism. 
These reports also found that the training of 
terrorists in remaining silent under police ques-
tioning hampered and protracted the investi-
gation of terrorist offences. In consequence, 
the police were required to undertake exten-
sive checks and inquiries and to rely to a great-
er degree than usual on painstaking detective 
work and forensic examination (see paragraph 
15 above).

57. The Commission was of the opinion that the 
Government had not overstepped their mar-
gin of appreciation in this regard.

58. The Court notes the opinions expressed in the 
various reports reviewing the operation of the 
Prevention of Terrorism legislation that the 
difficulties of investigating and prosecuting 
terrorist crime give rise to the need for an ex-
tended period of detention which would not 
be subject to judicial control (see paragraph 
15 above). Moreover, these special difficulties 
were recognised in its above-mentioned Bro-
gan and Others judgment (see Series A no. 
145-B, p. 33, para. 61).

It further observes that it remains the view of 
the respondent Government that it is essential 
to prevent the disclosure to the detainee and 
his legal adviser of information on the basis of 
which decisions on the extension of detention 
are made and that, in the adversarial system 
of the common law, the independence of the 
judiciary would be compromised if judges or 
other judicial officers were to be involved in 
the granting or approval of extensions.

The Court also notes that the introduction of 
a "judge or other officer authorised by law to 
exercise judicial power" into the process of 
extension of periods of detention would not 
of itself necessarily bring about a situation of 
compliance with Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3). That 
provision - like Article 5 para. 4 (art. 5-4) - must 
be understood to require the necessity of fol-
lowing a procedure that has a judicial character 
although that procedure need not necessarily 
be identical in each of the cases where the in-
tervention of a judge is required (see, among 
other authorities, the following judgments: as 
regards Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) Schiesser v. 
Switzerland of 4 December 1979, Series A no. 
34, p. 13, para. 30 and Huber v. Switzerland of 
23 October 1990, Series A no. 188, p. 18, paras. 
42-43; as regards Article 5 para. 4 (art. 5-4), De 
Wilde, Ooms and Versyp v. Belgium of 18 June 
1971, Series A no. 12, p. 41, para. 78, Sanchez-
Reisse v. Switzerland of 21 October 1986, Series 
A no. 107, p. 19, para. 51, and Lamy v. Belgium 
of 30 March 1989, Series A no. 151, pp. 15-16, 
para. 28).

59. It is not the Court’s role to substitute its view 
as to what measures were most appropriate or 
expedient at the relevant time in dealing with 
an emergency situation for that of the Gov-
ernment which have direct responsibility for 
establishing the balance between the taking 
of effective measures to combat terrorism on 
the one hand, and respecting individual rights 
on the other (see the above-mentioned Ireland 
v. the United Kingdom judgment, Series A no. 
25, p. 82, para. 214, and the Klass and Others 
v. Germany judgment of 6 September 1978, 
Series A no. 28, p. 23, para. 49). In the context 
of Northern Ireland, where the judiciary is small 
and vulnerable to terrorist attacks, public con-
fidence in the independence of the judiciary is 
understandably a matter to which the Govern-
ment attach great importance.

60. In the light of these considerations it cannot be 
said that the Government have exceeded their 
margin of appreciation in deciding, in the pre-
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vailing circumstances, against judicial control.
(e)  Safeguards against abuse

61. The applicants, Amnesty International and 
Liberty and Others maintained that the safe-
guards against abuse of the detention power 
were negligible and that during the period of 
detention the detainee was completely cut 
off from the outside world and not permitted 
access to newspapers, radios or his family. Am-
nesty International, in particular, stressed that 
international standards such as the 1988 Unit-
ed Nations Body of Principles for the Protection 
of All Persons under Any Form of Detention or 
Imprisonment (General Assembly Resolution 
43/173 of 9 December 1988) ruled out incom-
municado detention by requiring access to 
lawyers and members of the family. Amnesty 
submitted that being brought promptly be-
fore a judicial authority was especially impor-
tant since in Northern Ireland habeas corpus 
has been shown to be ineffective in practice. 
In their view Article 5 para. 4 (art. 5-4) should be 
considered non-derogable in times of public 
emergency.

In addition, it was contended that a decision 
to extend detention cannot in practical terms 
be challenged by habeas corpus or judicial re-
view since it is taken completely in secret and, 
in nearly all cases, is granted. This is evident 
from the fact that, despite the thousands of ex-
tended detention orders, a challenge to such a 
decision has never been attempted.

62. Although submissions have been made by the 
applicants and the organisations concerning 
the absence of effective safeguards, the Court 
is satisfied that such safeguards do in fact exist 
and provide an important measure of protec-
tion against arbitrary behaviour and incommu-
nicado detention.

63. In the first place, the remedy of habeas corpus 
is available to test the lawfulness of the origi-
nal arrest and detention. There is no dispute 
that this remedy was open to the applicants 
had they or their legal advisers chosen to avail 
themselves of it and that it provides an impor-
tant measure of protection against arbitrary de-
tention (see the above-mentioned Brogan and 
Others judgment, Series A no. 145-B, pp. 34-35, 
paras. 63-65). The Court recalls, in this context, 
that the applicants withdrew their complaint 
of a breach of Article 5 para. 4 (art. 5-4) of the 
Convention (see paragraph 33 above).

64. In the second place, detainees have an abso-

lute and legally enforceable right to consult a 
solicitor after forty-eight hours from the time 
of arrest. Both of the applicants were, in fact, 
free to consult a solicitor after this period (see 
paragraphs 10 and 11 above).

Moreover, within this period the exercise of this 
right can only be delayed where there exists 
reasonable grounds for doing so. It is clear from 
judgments of the High Court in Northern Ire-
land that the decision to delay access to a so-
licitor is susceptible to judicial review and that 
in such proceedings the burden of establishing 
reasonable grounds for doing so rests on the 
authorities. In these cases judicial review has 
been shown to be a speedy and effective man-
ner of ensuring that access to a solicitor is not 
arbitrarily withheld (see paragraph 24 above).

It is also not disputed that detainees are enti-
tled to inform a relative or friend about their 
detention and to have access to a doctor.

65. In addition to the above basic safeguards the 
operation of the legislation in question has 
been kept under regular independent review 
and, until 1989, it was subject to regular re-
newal.

(f)  Conclusion

66. Having regard to the nature of the terrorist 
threat in Northern Ireland, the limited scope of 
the derogation and the reasons advanced in 
support of it, as well as the existence of basic 
safeguards against abuse, the Court takes the 
view that the Government have not exceeded 
their margin of appreciation in considering 
that the derogation was strictly required by the 
exigencies of the situation.

4.Otherobligationsunderinternationallaw
67. The Court recalls that under Article 15 para. 1 

(art. 15-1) measures taken by the State derogat-
ing from Convention obligations must not be 
"inconsistent with its other obligations under 
international law" (see paragraph 40 above).

68. In this respect, before the Court the applicants 
contended for the first time that it was an es-
sential requirement for a valid derogation un-
der Article 4 of the 1966 United Nations Inter-
national Covenant on Civil and Political Rights 
("the Covenant"), to which the United Kingdom 
is a Party, that a public emergency must have 
been "officially proclaimed". Since such procla-
mation had never taken place the derogation 
was inconsistent with the United Kingdom’s 
other obligations under international law. In 
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their view this requirement involved a formal 
proclamation and not a mere statement in Par-
liament.

69. For the Government, it was open to question 
whether an official proclamation was necessary 
for the purposes of Article 4 of the Covenant, 
since the emergency existed prior to the ratifi-
cation of the Covenant by the United Kingdom 
and has continued to the present day. In any 
event, the existence of the emergency and the 
fact of derogation were publicly and formally 
announced by the Secretary of State for the 
Home Department to the House of Commons 
on 22 December 1988. Moreover there had 
been no suggestion by the United Nations Hu-
man Rights Committee that the derogation did 
not satisfy the formal requirements of Article 4.

70. The Delegate of the Commission considered 
the Government’s argument to be tenable.

71. The relevant part of Article 4 of the Covenant 
states:

"In time of public emergency which threat-
ensthelifeofthenationandtheexistenceof
whichisofficiallyproclaimed..."

72. The Court observes that it is not its role to 
seek to define authoritatively the meaning of 
the terms "officially proclaimed" in Article 4 of 
the Covenant. Nevertheless it must examine 
whether there is any plausible basis for the ap-
plicant’s argument in this respect.

73. In his statement of 22 December 1988 to the 
House of Commons the Secretary of State for 
the Home Department explained in detail the 
reasons underlying the Government’s decision 
to derogate and announced that steps were 
being taken to give notice of derogation un-
der both Article 15 (art. 15) of the European 
Convention and Article 4 of the Covenant. He 
added that there was "a public emergency 
within the meaning of these provisions in re-
spect of terrorism connected with the affairs of 
Northern Ireland in the United Kingdom ..." (see 
paragraph 30 above).

In the Court’s view the above statement, which 
was formal in character and made public the 
Government’s intentions as regards deroga-
tion, was well in keeping with the notion of 
an official proclamation. It therefore considers 
that there is no basis for the applicants’ argu-
ments in this regard.

5.Summary
74. In the light of the above examination, the 

Court concludes that the derogation lodged by 
the United Kingdom satisfies the requirements 
of Article 15 (art. 15) and that therefore the ap-
plicants cannot validly complain of a violation 
of Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3). It follows that there 
was no obligation under Article 5 para. 5 (art. 
5-5) to provide the applicants with an enforce-
able right to compensation.

II. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
13 (ART. 13)

75. In the proceedings before the Commission 
the applicants complained that they had no 
effective domestic remedy at their disposal in 
respect of their Article 5 (art. 5) claims. They 
requested the Court to uphold this claim but 
made no submissions in support of it.

Article 13 (art. 13) provides as follows:
"Everyonewhose rights and freedoms as set
forth in [the] Convention are violated shall
have an effective remedy before a national
authority notwithstanding that the violation
hasbeencommittedbypersonsacting inan
officialcapacity."

76. The Court recalls that it was open to the ap-
plicants to challenge the lawfulness of their 
detention by way of proceedings for habeas 
corpus and that the Court in its Brogan and 
Others judgment of 29 November 1988 found 
that this remedy satisfied Article 5 para. 4 (art. 
5-4) of the Convention (Series A no. 145-B, pp. 
34-35, paras. 63-65). Since the requirements 
of Article 13 (art. 13) are less strict than those 
of Article 5 para. 4 (art. 5-4), which must be re-
garded as the lex specialis in respect of com-
plaints under Article 5 (art. 5), there has been 
no breach of this provision (see the de Jong, 
Baljet and van den Brink v. the Netherlands 
judgment of 22 May 1984, Series A no. 77, p. 
27, para. 60).

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT

1. Holds by twenty-two votes to four that the 
united Kingdom’s derogation satisfies the 
requirements of Article 15 (art. 15) and that 
therefore the applicants cannot validly com-
plain of a violation of Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3);

2. Holds by twenty-two votes to four that there 
has been no violation of Article 5 para. 5 (art. 
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5-5);

3. Holds by twenty-two votes to four that there 
has been no violation of Article 13 (art. 13).

Done in English and in French, and delivered at a 
public hearing in the Human Rights Building, Stras-
bourg, on 26 May 1993.

Rolv RySSDAL, President
Marc-André EISSEN, Registrar

A statement by Mr Thór Vilhjálmsson and, in ac-
cordance with Article 51 para. 2 (art. 51-2) of the 
Convention and Rule 53 para. 2 of the Rules of 
Court, the following separate opinions are annexed 
to this judgment:

• oncurring opinion of Mr Matscher, joined 
by Mr Morenilla;

• dissenting opinion of Mr Pettiti;

• dissenting opinion of Mr Walsh;

• concurring opinion of Mr Russo;

• dissenting opinion of Mr De Meyer;

• concurring opinion of Mr Martens;

• dissenting opinion of Mr Makarczyk.

DECLARAtIon BY JUDGE 
tHóR VILHJáLMsson
In my opinion the second sub-paragraph of para-
graph 37 of the judgment should be deleted.

ConCURRInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE MAtsCHER, 
JoInED BY JUDGE 
MoREnILLA
(Translation)

In the final analysis I subscribe to the conclusion 
reached by the majority of the Court, namely that 
the applicants cannot validly complain of a viola-
tion of Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) and that there had 
been no violation of Articles 5 para. 5 and 13 (art. 
5-5, art. 13) of the Convention.

Nevertheless - and particularly from the point of 

view of method - I should like to stress the follow-
ing:

Correctly - and for reasons with which I entirely 
agree - the Court found that the derogation - in 
substance from the first sentence of Article 5 para. 
3 (art. 5-3) - notified by the United Kingdom by vir-
tue of Article 15 (art. 15) satisfied the requirements 
of that provision. Accordingly, during the period of 
validity of that derogation, Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) 
is quite simply inapplicable in the United Kingdom. 
It follows that any discussion of whether it has been 
complied with is redundant (see paragraph 37 of 
the judgment). I would add that the inapplicabil-
ity of Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) necessarily entails 
that of Article 5 para. 5 (art. 5-5), as well as that of 
Article 13 (art. 13) in respect of the first-mentioned 
provision.

In my view, a derogation pursuant to Article 15 (art. 
15) may be classified as a temporary "reservation" 
(within the meaning of Article 64) (art. 64) as regards 
its "substantive" effects. The difference between 
the two devices - reservation and derogation - lies 
in the fact that, in respect of the former, the Court’s 
power of review is confined to the formal aspects of 
the validity - within the meaning of Article 64 (art. 
64) - of the declaration relating thereto (see the Be-
lilos v. Switzerland judgment of 29 April 1988, Series 
A no. 132, pp. 24 et seq., paras. 50 et seq.), whereas 
for the latter the Court must also satisfy itself that 
the substantive conditions for its validity have been 
met (not only when the derogation is notified, but 
also subsequently whenever the Government re-
lies on such a derogation). However, as I have just 
said, the "substantive" effects of a reservation and 
a declaration of derogation, provided that they are 
validly made, are exactly the same, in other words 
quite simply the inapplicability of a specific provi-
sion of the Convention.

A different line of reasoning applies with regard to 
the applicability of Article 14 (art. 14) in conjunction 
with a provision of the Convention which is the 
subject of a derogation or a reservation; whereas 
Article 14 (art. 14) cannot be invoked in relation 
to a provision which is the subject of a reserva-
tion, it remains applicable in respect of a substan-
tive provision of the Convention, notwithstanding 
the fact that the latter is subject to a derogation. 
It is, however, unnecessary to go into this question 
more thoroughly. It is moreover an aspect which I 
discussed at the Fifth International Colloquy on the 
Convention (Frankfurt-on-Main 1980, p. 136 of the 
relevant publication); reference may also be made 
to my separate opinion on the subject in the Ire-
land v. United Kingdom judgment of 18 January 
1978, Series A no. 25, pp. 140 et seq.
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DIssEntInG oPInIon oF 
JUDGE PEttItI
(Translation)

I parted company with the majority which voted 
for the non-violation of Article 5 paras. 3 and 5 
and Article 13 (art. 5-3, art. 5-5, art. 13) in so far as 
it took the view that the derogation invoked by the 
Government of the United Kingdom fulfilled the re-
quirements of Article 15 (art. 15) of the Convention. 
I consider that those requirements were not satis-
fied and that there was, on the merits, a violation of 
Articles 5 and 13 (art. 5, art. 13).

The European Court has jurisdiction to carry out a 
review of the derogations from the guarantees rec-
ognised as essential for the protection of the rights 
set out in the Convention, certain of which are not 
even susceptible to derogation (Articles 2, 3 and 7) 
(art. 2, art. 3, art. 7). It was therefore competent to 
examine whether the derogation from the guaran-
tees of Article 5 (art. 5), following a judgment of the 
European Court finding on similar facts a violation 
of that Article (art. 5) (Case of Brogan and Others 
v. the United Kingdom, judgment of 29 November 
1988, Series A no. 145-B) was indeed in conformity 
with Article 15 (art. 15) (see the Ireland v. the United 
Kingdom judgment of 18 January 1978, Series A no. 
25).

Even if it is accepted that States have a margin 
of appreciation in determining whether they are 
threatened by a "public emergency" within the 
meaning of the Lawless v. Ireland judgment (judg-
ment of 1 July 1961, Series A no. 3) and, if they are, 
in deciding whether to resort to the solution of a 
derogation, the situation relied on must be exam-
ined by the European Court.

The fact of terrorism and its gravity in Northern Ire-
land is incontestable. It led to the acceptance of an 
extension of police custody by the 1974 Act and by 
the 1976 and 1984 Acts.

Following the Brogan and Others judgment of 29 
November 1988, the United Kingdom availed itself 
on 23 December 1988 of its right of derogation un-
der the Convention.

It does not appear from the evidence that the ter-
rorist phenomenon became more serious in North-
ern Ireland between the period of the arrest of Mr 
Brogan and the other three applicants and 29 No-
vember 1988 and 23 December 1988, which led Mr 
Brannigan and Mr McBride to maintain that the re-
quest for a derogation was a means of circumvent-
ing the consequences of the Brogan and Others 

judgment.

In any event, the derogation cannot constitute 
a carte blanche accorded to the State for an un-
limited duration, without its having to adopt the 
measures necessary to satisfy its obligations under 
the Convention.

The Government contended that it was only when 
the European Court ruled in the Brogan and Oth-
ers case that it became apparent that the powers 
conferred on the police by the 1974 Act were in-
compatible with Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) (excessive 
duration of police custody).

The Government accepted the Commission’s rea-
soning according to which the derogation remains:

"...consistentwiththenatureandspiritofAr-
ticle15(art.15),andinparticularparagraph3
(art.15-3).ImplicitinArticle15(art.15)isthe
requirementthatderogationmeasuresshould
bekeptunderconstant reviewand, ifneces-
sary, modified if they are to meet the strict
exigencies of an emergency situation which
canrecedeorotherwisedevelop.AstheCourt
heldinthecaseofIrelandv.theUnitedKing-
dom, the interpretationofArticle15 (art.15)
mustleaveaplaceforprogressiveadaptations
(SeriesAno. 25, p. 83, para. 220)". (Commis-
sion’sreport,paragraph56)

However, the need for the above-mentioned pow-
ers - for the derogation - remains constantly open 
to scrutiny.

The State was under a duty to implement mecha-
nisms complying with the Brogan and Others judg-
ment and making it possible to conform thereto 
without resorting to derogation.

The Commission in the Ireland v. the United King-
dom case added, correctly,

"Theremustbealinkbetweenthefactsofthe
emergency on the one hand and themeas-
ureschosentodealwithitontheother.More-
over, the obligations under the Convention
do not entirely disappear. They can only be
suspendedormodified ‘to the extent that is
strictlyrequired’asprovidedinArticle15(art.
15).(Thislimitation,inthecircumstances,may
requiresafeguardsagainstthepossibleabuse,
orexcessiveuse,ofemergencymeasures.) In
the present case, itmust be shown that the
emergencyaffectedthenormalfunctioningof
thecommunityandtheadministrationoflaw"
(SeriesBno.23-I,p.119).

The Government argued on the one hand that the 
introduction of a judicial element into the proce-
dure for authorising the extension of detention 
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could not render it compatible with Article 5 para. 
3 (art. 5-3); on the other hand, that such a reform, 
even if the State had accepted its principle, would 
have required a long period of reflection and the 
elaboration of new legislation.

On the first point, the Government stated that it 
had ordered

"afullre-examinationofthequestionwhether
it would be feasible to introduce a judicial
element into the procedure for authorising
extensions,whichwouldbecompatiblewith
theprovisionsofArticle5para.3(art.5-3)but
whichwouldnotweakentheeffectivenessof
theresponsetotheseriousterroristthreat.For
thereasonsgivenintheWrittenAnswerofthe
Home Secretary of 14 November 1989 (see
paragraph2.58oftheGovernment’sobserva-
tions) theGovernmentreluctantlyconcluded
that no satisfactory alternative procedures
could be identified. In particular the view
wastakenthatto involvethe judiciary inthe
process of granting or approving extensions
ofdetention interroristcaseswouldcreatea
veryrealriskofunderminingtheir independ-
ence. In the continuing fight against organ-
isedterrorism,thejudiciaryperformacentral
and vital role. It is on the judiciary that the
responsibility rests for upholding the rule of
lawandforensuringthatthosechargedwith
actsofterrorismreceiveafairtrial.Thejudici-
ary-andparticularlythejudiciaryinNorthern
Ireland - have for very many years been re-
quiredtoperformthisroleinacutelydifficult
circumstances.TheNorthernIrelandjudiciary
issmall insize (thereareatpresenttenHigh
Court judges, thirteen County Court judges
and seventeen Resident Magistrates in the
wholeProvince)andonthemfalls theheavy
burdenoftryingsuspectedterroristsanddo-
ingsowithoutthebenefitofajury.Inaddition
to terroristattacks (includingmurders)made
on members of the judiciary and on court
buildings since 1973, there have been con-
certed attacksmade on the authority of the
judiciary by terrorist organisations dedicated
tothedestructionoftheruleoflaw.

Ifthejudiciaryistocontinuetoplayitscentral
roleunderthecommonlawsysteminuphold-
ing the ruleof law, it is crucial that it should
not only be rigorously independent of the
Executive,includingthepolice,andthepros-
ecutingauthority,but that it shouldbe seen
tobeindependent.Ifthejudiciaryweretobe
involvedintheprocessofgrantingorapprov-
ing extended detentions on terrorist cases,
itcouldnotavoidbeingperceivedaspartof
the investigation and prosecution process.
Thisperceptionwouldonlybeenhancedif,as

wouldalmostinvariablybethecase,thejudi-
cialofficerwasrequiredtoactonthebasisof
materialwhichcouldnotbedisclosedtothe
person detained or his legal advisers. As the
HomeSecretary’sWrittenAnswermadeclear,
itistheGovernment’sjudgmentthatthisisa
risk,whichinthecircumstancesofthepresent
terroristthreatsimplycannotbetaken.

Itisrecognisedthatsomemightdisagreewith
this judgment and would consider that the
risk of damaging public trust in the judicial
system was a risk worth running. While this
isdoubtlessalegitimatepointofview"(para-
graph2.34oftheGovernment’smemorial),

It is somewhat surprising considering the British 
tradition which legitimately places the judge at 
the summit of the system of guarantees in all the 
spheres of freedoms.

It is difficult to believe that the independence of a 
judge would be undermined because he took part 
in proceedings making it possible to grant or ap-
prove an extension of detention.

This system operates in England and in Wales, 
despite the fact that terrorist acts are perpetrated 
there. The argument that the appeal to a judge 
would mean that "the application would have to 
be made ex parte: the judge would be determining 
the issue in the absence of the detained person or 
his representatives on the basis of material which 
could not be disclosed to either" is not persuasive.

The member States of the Council of Europe which 
went through serious periods of terrorism (for 
example Italy) confronted such terrorism while 
retaining judicial involvement in extended police 
custody. It would be possible to find in compara-
tive law and in criminal procedure examples of ju-
dicial mechanisms protecting the use by the police 
of "informers" who have to remain anonymous. In 
camera hearings can be envisaged. The British sys-
tem too has recourse to the principle of immunity 
which makes it possible for the public prosecutor 
not to disclose certain prosecution evidence. It is 
thus possible to avoid the disadvantages of the or-
dinary procedural rules applicable at this stage (see 
the Edwards v. the United Kingdom judgment of 16 
December 1992, Series A no. 247-B). Is there not, on 
the part of the police, a desire to conceal from the 
courts some of their practices?

The two dissenting members of the Commission, 
Mr Frowein and Mr Loucaides, who was joined by 
Mrs Thune and Mr Rozakis, noted that the Govern-
ment had neither provided any evidence nor put 
forward any convincing arguments as to the rea-
sons for which they had not chosen to proceed 
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otherwise than by using the derogation, namely by 
the introduction of judicial review of the extension 
of detention from four to seven days.

The means of protecting information concerning 
State security exist even in proceedings subject to 
judicial review, if necessary by a mechanism impos-
ing a temporary restriction on communication. It 
is difficult to see the difference of approach which 
would in these circumstances render powerless or 
less independent the judge responsible for review-
ing extension, or responsible for reviewing the Min-
ister’s decision, in relation to a judge called upon to 
rule on a habeas corpus application.

If, on the other hand, other means might be adopt-
ed, as has been suggested by some legal writers, 
they could surely have been adopted between 
29 November 1988 and 23 December 1988; this 
would mean that even if the Court were to take 
as its basis for the decision the date on which the 
derogation came into force or the date on which 
Mr Brannigan’s application was lodged, i.e. 19 Janu-
ary 1989 rather than the date of the judgment in 
1993, it could have found a violation, because such 
a reform could have been adopted, in view of the 
urgency, within a relatively short period.

The quid pro quo for a derogation based on a pub-
lic emergency threatening a State must be the im-
plementation by the State of means enabling it to 
overcome the obstacles, in particular when a deci-
sion of the European Court has found a violation 
of Article 5 (art. 5), and therefore to re-examine in 
an appropriately short time the reality of the emer-
gency and the persistence of the threat.

The argument based on recourse to habeas corpus 
does not appear convincing. The experience of the 
years 1974 to 1993 establishes that habeas corpus 
in respect of the extension of detention is not an ef-
fective remedy for the purposes of the Court’s case-
law. Even if Article 13 (art. 13) does not require the 
incorporation of the Convention into domestic law, 
it does require an effective remedy to ensure that 
that instrument is complied with.

From that point of view the conditions of the in-
communicado detention were contrary to Article 
5 (art. 5).

At paragraph 20 of its comments of 21 August 1992 
Amnesty observed as follows:

"Experience has shown that incommunicado
detentionofanyperiodcanputdetaineesat
risk. This is not only Amnesty International’s
experience as noted above, but also that of
theUnitedNations.TheSpecialRapporteuron
tortureoftheUnitedNationsCommissionon

HumanRights,MrPeterKooijmans,Professor
of International Law at theUniversity of Lei-
den, has drawn attention to the connection
between incommunicadodetentionand tor-
ture ineveryannualreporthehassubmitted
to the Commission. Since 1988 he has rou-
tinelycalledonStatestodeclaresuchdeten-
tion illegal. Amnesty International would be
deeplyconcernedifStatesweretobeallowed
to imposeperiodsof incommunicadodeten-
tion,ordenyaccesstojudicialredressand/or
medical attention,especiallyduring statesof
emergency.Inthecontextofitsrulinginthis
case, Amnesty International urges the Court
to declare that certainminimum guarantees
are inherent inthenon-derogablerightsand
as such can never be the subject of deroga-
tion. Italsourgesthatanyrestrictionto judi-
cial redress shouldbecarefully scrutinised.A
widemarginofappreciation is inappropriate
insuchcases."

In my view, the standards and rules of international 
law prohibit extended "incommunicado deten-
tion" (Principle 37 of the Body of Principles cited 
by Amnesty); this is particularly the case where "the 
person detained is not brought before a judicial or 
other authority provided by law promptly after his 
arrest".

In the Brannigan and McBride case, in my opinion, 
the Government’s action fell outside the margin of 
appreciation which the Court is able to recognise. 
The fundamental principle which must prevail and 
which is consistent with British and European tra-
dition is that detention cannot be extended from 
four days to seven days without the involvement 
of a judge, who is the guarantor of individual free-
doms and fundamental rights.

DIssEntInG oPInIon oF 
JUDGE WALsH
1. Under the terms of the derogation the Gov-

ernment of the United Kingdom claims to be 
no longer answerable to the Convention or-
gans for failure to comply with Article 5 para. 
3 (art. 5-3) of the Convention in respect of the 
arrest of persons anywhere in the United King-
dom under the provisions of the Prevention of 
Terrorism Act 1984 in relation to the affairs of 
Northern Ireland.

2. The terms of Article 15 para. 1 (art. 15-1) of the 
Convention have been invoked as a justifica-
tion for this step, namely that there is a "time of 
war or other public emergency threatening the 
life of the nation". In the present case "the na-
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tion" is presumed to be the entire United King-
dom. While there is ample evidence of political 
violence in Northern Ireland which could be 
described as threatening the life of that region 
of the United Kingdom there is no evidence 
that the life of the rest of the United Kingdom, 
viz. the island of Great Britain, is threatened 
by "the war or public emergency in Northern 
Ireland", which is separated by sea from Great 
Britain and of which it does not form a part.

3. Furthermore there is no evidence that the op-
eration of the courts in either Northern Ireland 
or Great Britain has been restricted or affected 
by "the war or public emergency" in Northern 
Ireland. It is the United Kingdom Government 
which wishes to restrict the operation of the 
courts by being unwilling to allow arrested 
persons to be brought before a judge as pre-
scribed by Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) of the Con-
vention. The exigency of the situation relied 
on is the unwillingness of the Government to 
allow a judge to become aware of the grounds 
of the police’s "reasonable suspicion" that the 
arrested person has "committed an offence ..." 
(see Article 5 para. 1 (c)) (art. 5-1-c), but who has 
not been charged with any offence and who 
has been arrested because the arresting officer 
"... has reasonable grounds" for suspecting that 
the person has been "concerned ..." in acts of 
"terrorism" that is to say "the use of violence 
for political ends" or "any use of violence for 
the purpose of putting the public or any sec-
tion of the public in fear" provided the mat-
ters suspected are concerned with the affairs 
of Northern Ireland, or any other such acts of 
"terrorism", except acts concerned solely with 
the affairs of any part of the United Kingdom 
other than Northern Ireland. The legislation in 
force does not create any offence of "terrorism" 
and no such offence is known to the law in any 
part of the United Kingdom. Judicial interpreta-
tion of section 12 (1)(b) of the Act of 1984 has 
been to the effect that no specific crime need 
be suspected to ground a lawful arrest under 
that section.

4. Until some specific crime or crimes can reason-
ably be suspected it is clear that no charge can 
be brought. Therefore, Article 5 para. 2 (art. 5-2) 
of the Convention cannot be observed so far 
as a charge is concerned. But there still remains 
the obligation under Article 5 para. 2 (art. 5-2) 
to inform every arrested person of the reasons 
for his arrest. That has not been a subject of the 
derogation. It remains to be seen whether the 
Convention requirement can be satisfied in a 
case where no specific crime is suspected.

5. A reason put forward by the Government for 
being unwilling to bring an arrested person be-
fore a judge "promptly" after arrest (or not at all 
until it is decided to charge him) is the possible 
embarrassment to the judges in knowing what 
was in the mind of the arresting officer. The re-
ality is the question of the concealment of se-
cret sources of information. The concealment 
of sources and the names of informants, is a 
matter that arises in many areas in the prosecu-
tion of offences. Rarely, if ever, does a court in 
the United Kingdom press for such sources and 
a police claim of privilege against disclosure is 
invariably upheld. It is quite wrong to suggest 
that the adversary procedure of the common 
law requires such disclosure, particularly on 
first appearance in court.

6. One of the suggested remedies for arrested 
persons in the present case is the ancient 
writ of habeas corpus. This remedy can only 
be obtained if there is a proven breach of the 
national law. A breach of the Convention can-
not ground such relief unless it is also a breach 
of the national law. It is unfortunate that the 
Court has been allowed to believe otherwise, 
as is evidenced by the portion of the judg-
ment relating to Article 13 (art. 13). Yet in the 
present case the Government suggests that 
in habeas corpus proceedings the genuine-
ness of the "reasonable belief" may be tested 
(though I doubt if the secret sources would be 
required to be disclosed in any court) although 
that remedy, which fits into Article 5 para. 4 (art. 
5-4) of the Convention, has not been sought to 
be excluded by the terms of the derogation. A 
habeas corpus writ can, in theory, be sought 
within an hour or so after an arrest; in other 
words well within the period encompassed 
in the expression "promptly" in Article 5 para. 
3 (art. 5-3). That procedure, if it is possible to 
avail of it, could thus impart the disadvantage 
to the police secrecy which the respondent 
Government claims it is entitled to avoid; yet 
the Government has not sought to explain this 
inconsistency.

7. It appears to me to be an inescapable infer-
ence that the Government does not wish any 
such arrested person to be brought before a 
judge at any time unless and until they are in 
a position to and desire to prefer a charge. The 
real target might appear to be Article 5 para. 
1 (c) (art. 5-1-c). The admitted purpose of the 
arrest is to interrogate the arrested person in 
the hope or expectation that he will incrimi-
nate himself. Article 5 (art. 5) makes it quite 
clear that no arrest can be justified under the 
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Convention if the sole justification for it is the 
desire to interrogate the arrested person. If an 
arresting officer has a "reasonable belief" that is 
coupled to the knowledge or intention that the 
grounds will never be revealed to a judge, and 
that the arrested person must be released if no 
revealable evidence is forthcoming, such arrest 
ought not to be regarded as an arrest in good 
faith for the purposes of Article 5 para. 1 (c) (art. 
5-1-c) of the Convention.

8. The grounds relied upon by the Government 
to qualify as "exigencies of the situation" are 
really procedural devices which could equally 
be put forward in cases of suspected thefts, 
robberies, or drug dealings where the police 
are in possession of information from secret 
informants whose existence they don’t wish 
to disclose or indicate. For example, the former 
Attorney General of England and Northern Ire-
land, Sir Michael Havers, (later Lord Chancellor) 
informed the Court in the Malone case (Series 
B no. 67, p. 230) that where the only evidence 
to connect a person with a crime was a police 
telephone "tap" he would be allowed to go 
free rather than disclose the existence of the 
telephone interception by the police.

9. Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) of the Convention 
is an essential safeguard against arbitrary ex-
ecutive arrest or detention, failure to observe 
which could easily give rise to complaints 
under Article 3 (art. 3) of the Convention 
which cannot be the subject of derogation. 
Prolonged and sustained interrogation over 
periods of days, particularly without a judicial 
intervention, could well fall into the category of 
inhuman or degrading treatment in particular 
cases. In the present case, the applicant Bran-
nigan, during hudred and fifty-eight hours of 
detention, was interrogated forty-three times 
which means he was interrogated on average 
every two and a half hours over that period, as-
suming he was allowed the regulation period 
of eight hours free from interrogation every 
twenty-four hours. The applicant McBride on 
the same basis was interrogated on average 
every three hours over his period of detention 
of ninety-six hours. The object of these inter-
rogations was to gain "sufficient admissions" to 
sustain a charge, or charges.

10. The Government’s plea that it is motivated by 
a wish to preserve public confidence in the 
independence of the judiciary is, in effect, to 
say that such confidence is to be maintained 
or achieved by not permitting them to have 
a role in the protection of the personal liberty 

of the arrested persons. One would think that 
such a role was one which the public would 
expect the judges to have. It is also to be noted 
that neither Parliament nor the Government 
appears to have made any serious effort to re-
arrange the judicial procedure or jurisdiction, 
in spite of being advised to do so by the per-
sons appointed to review the system, to cater 
for the requirement of Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) 
in cases of the type now under review. It is the 
function of national authorities so to arrange 
their affairs as not to clash with the require-
ments of the Convention. The Convention is 
not to be remoulded to assume the shape of 
national procedures.

11. In my opinion the Government has not con-
vincingly shown, in a situation where the 
courts operate normally, why an arrested 
person cannot be treated in accordance with 
Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3). The fact that out of 
1,549 persons arrested in 1990 only 30 were 
subsequently charged, indicates a paucity of 
proof rather than any deficiency in the opera-
tion of the judicial function. It is commonplace 
in the courts of the United Kingdom that per-
sons facing criminal charges are brought be-
fore a judge who is almost invariably asked by 
the prosecution, in non-summary cases, for an 
adjournment or a remand to permit of further 
inquiries by the police. In Northern Ireland, in 
proceedings under the Prevention of Terror-
ism Acts, court remands in custody have been 
known to last for up to two years. In such cases 
no evidence of any secret sources of informa-
tion or evidence has ever been revealed. A 
judge remanding such cases is performing a 
judicial function and is not performing an ex-
ecutive act. In those cases a specific charge or 
charges were laid. What is sought in the pre-
sent case is to remove from scrutiny by the 
Convention organs cases where no charge is 
preferred. It should not be beyond the ability 
of Parliament to legislate for a situation where 
the arrested person could be brought before a 
judge with liberty to grant an adjournment for 
up to a period of five or seven days before the 
expiration of which the arrested person must 
be released or charged where the arresting of-
ficer is prepared to swear that he has reason-
able grounds for suspecting that the arrested 
person has been involved in or engaged in 
"acts of terrorism" within the meaning of the 
relevant legislation. He would not be required, 
in such event, to reveal the sources of his be-
lief. It is quite erroneous to believe that the ad-
versary system creates an obligation to reveal 
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them.

12. The Court, in paragraphs 62 to 67 inclusive of 
its judgment, overlooks the information before 
it to the effect that the so-called safeguards are, 
in practice, illusory as their availability within 
the first forty-eight hours of detention is solely 
dependent upon police willingness. In the re-
sult the arrested person is secretly detained for 
that period and is held incommunicado and 
without legal assistance, of if he receives it, he 
may expect to have it overheard by the police, 
a clear breach of the spirit of the Court’s deci-
sion in S. v. Switzerland (judgment of 28 No-
vember 1991, Series A no. 220). Even the great 
historic remedy of habeas corpus, theoretically 
available almost instantly, can be put out of 
the reach of the arrested person by reason of 
non-access to the world outside the detention 
centre.

13. In my opinion there has been a breach of Ar-
ticle 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) of the Convention in 
respect of the detention of each of the appli-
cants.

14. Article 13 (art. 13) of the Convention requires 
that an effective remedy shall be available be-
fore a national authority for everyone whose 
rights and freedoms as set forth in the Con-
vention are violated. The application of Article 
13 (art. 13) does not depend upon a violation 
being proved. No such authority is or was avail-
able in the United Kingdom and the Conven-
tion has not been incorporated in the national 
law. It is not correct to suggest that the remedy 
of habeas corpus satisfies the requirements of 
Article 13 (art. 13). That remedy depends upon 
showing a breach of the national laws. It is not 
available for a claim that the detention is illegal 
by reason only of a breach of the Convention.

15. In my opinion there has also been a breach of 
Article 13 (art. 13).

ConCURRInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE RUsso
(Translation)

I share the view of the majority of my colleagues 
that the derogation notified by the United King-
dom satisfies the requirements of Article 15 (art. 
15) and that the applicants cannot therefore validly 
complain of a violation of Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3).

As is noted at paragraph 51 of the judgment the 
derogation of 23 December 1988 is clearly linked to 

the persistence of the emergency situation. This, in 
my opinion, means that its validity must be strictly 
limited to the time necessary for the Government 
to find a means of ensuring greater conformity with 
Convention obligations (see paragraph 54, third 
sub-paragraph, of the judgment).

The finding of a non-violation thus refers to the 
case in issue and to the situation which existed 
when the applicants were arrested. If the deroga-
tion were to be extended and to become almost 
permanent, I would consider it to be incompatible 
with the guarantees which the Convention affords 
in respect of liberty of the person and which are of 
fundamental importance in a democratic society. 
It is therefore "in principle" only that "the decision 
to withdraw a derogation is ... a matter within the 
discretion of the State (see paragraph 47, second 
sub-paragraph, of the judgment); they do not enjoy 
complete freedom in this area.

DIssEntInG oPInIon oF 
JUDGE DE MEYER
Certainly the situation in relation to terrorism con-
nected with the affairs of Northern Ireland has for a 
long time been very serious and it still remains so at 
the present time. One can thus understand that for 
this reason the Government of the United Kingdom 
have, since 1957, repeatedly felt it appropriate to 
avail themselves of their right of derogation under 
Article 15 (art. 15) of the Convention.

In 1984 they had come to the conclusion that this 
was no longer necessary.

We have been told that one of their reasons for 
doing so was their belief that detaining for up to 
seven days a person suspected of terrorism without 
bringing that person before a judge or other judi-
cial officer was not inconsistent with their obliga-
tions under the Convention*.

In our Brogan and Others v. the United Kingdom 
judgment of 29 November 1988 we held that this 
assumption was wrong, and we strongly empha-
sised the importance of the fundamental human 
right to liberty and the need for judicial control of 
interferences therewith**.

The Government of the United Kingdom have tried 
to escape the consequences of that judgment by 
lodging once again a notice of derogation under 
Article 15 (art. 15) in order to continue the practice 
concerned***.

In my view, this is not permissible: they failed to 
convince me that such a far-reaching departure 
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from the rule of respect for individual liberty could, 
either after or before the end of 1988, be "strictly 
required by the exigencies of the situation".

Even in circumstances as difficult as those which 
have existed in respect of Northern Ireland for 
many years it is not acceptable that a person sus-
pected of terrorism can be detained for up to seven 
days without any form of judicial control.

This was, in fact, what we had already decided in 
the Brogan and Others case**** and there was no 
valid reason for deciding otherwise in the present 
one.

ConCURRInG oPInIon 
oF JUDGE MARtEns
1. The position I have taken in the case of Brogan 

and Others (Series A no. 145-B) - a position 
which I still maintain - explains why I have vot-
ed for finding that the derogation lodged by 
the United Kingdom satisfies the requirements 
of Article 15 (art. 15) of the Convention: in this 
respect I would compare what I have said in 
paragraph 12 of my dissenting opinion in the 
case of Brogan and Others with paragraphs 60-
67 of the present judgment.

I would add, however, that I have voted in this 
way only after considerable hesitations. I was 
impressed by Amnesty International’s argu-
ment that under a derogation regular judicial 
review of extended detention is an essential 
guarantee to protect the detainee from un-
acceptable treatment - a risk which is all the 
greater where there is the possibility of incom-
municado detention - even if the procedure to 
be followed does not meet fully the require-
ments implied in Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3). I 
trust that the United Kingdom Government, in 
the course of the process of continued reflec-
tion referred to in paragraph 54 of the Court’s 
judgment, will once more consider the advice 
submitted by their own Standing Advisory 
Commission on Human Rights stressing the 
possibility of introducing some form of judicial 
review of extended detention.

2. I disagree with the Court’s decision in para-
graph 43 of the present judgment according 
to which a wide margin of appreciation should 
be left to the national authorities of the dero-
gating State with respect both to the question 
whether there is a "time of war or other public 
emergency threatening the life of the nation" 
and whether the derogation is "to the extent 

strictly required by the exigencies of the situ-
ation".

3. For my part, I found Amnesty International’s 
arguments against so deciding persuasive, es-
pecially where Amnesty emphasised develop-
ments in international standards and practice 
in answer to world-wide human rights abuses 
under cover of derogation and underlined the 
importance of the present ruling in other parts 
of the world. Consequently, I regret that the 
Court’s only refutation of those arguments is its 
reference to a precedent which is fifteen years 
old.

Since 1978 "present day conditions" have con-
siderably changed. Apart from the develop-
ments to which the arguments of Amnesty 
refer, the situation within the Council of Eu-
rope has changed dramatically. It is therefore 
by no means self-evident that standards which 
may have been acceptable in 1978 are still so. 
The 1978 view of the Court as to the margin of 
appreciation under Article 15 (art. 15) was, pre-
sumably, influenced by the view that the ma-
jority of the then member States of the Council 
of Europe might be assumed to be societies 
which (as I put it in my aforementioned dis-
senting opinion) had been democracies for a 
long time and, as such, were fully aware both of 
the importance of the individual right to liberty 
and of the inherent danger of giving too wide 
a power of detention to the executive. Since 
the accession of eastern and central European 
States that assumption has lost its pertinence.

4. However that may be, the old formula was 
also criticised as unsatisfactory per se both by 
Amnesty International and Liberty, Interights 
and the Committee on the Administration of 
Justice, the latter referring to the 1990 Queens-
land Guidelines of the ILA (International Law 
Association). I agree with these criticisms. The 
Court’s formula is already unfortunate in that 
it uses the same yardstick with regards to two 
questions which are of a different nature and 
should be answered separately.

The first question is whether there is an objec-
tive ground for derogating which meets the 
requirements laid down in the opening words 
of Article 15 (art. 15). Inevitably, in this context, 
a certain margin of appreciation should be left 
to the national authorities. There is, however, 
no justification for leaving them a wide mar-
gin of appreciation because the Court, being 
the "last-resort" protector of the fundamental 
rights and freedoms guaranteed under the 
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Convention, is called upon to strictly scrutinise 
every derogation by a High Contracting Party 
from its obligations.

The second question is whether the deroga-
tion is to "the extent strictly required by the 
exigencies of the situation". The wording un-
derlined clearly calls for a closer scrutiny than 
the words "necessary in a democratic society" 
which appear in the second paragraph of Ar-
ticles 8-11 (art. 8-2, art. 9-2, art. 10-2, art. 11-
2). Consequently, with respect to this second 
question there is, if at all, certainly no room for 
a wide margin of appreciation.

DIssEntInG oPInIon oF 
JUDGE MAKARCZYK
I regret that I am unable to share the position of the 
majority of the Court in the present case. This is for 
three main reasons: the general consequences of 
the judgment; the question of a time-limit for the 
derogation and the reasons for the derogation as 
put forward by the respondent Government.

1. The principle that a judgment of the Court 
deals with a specific case and solves a particu-
lar problem does not, in my opinion, apply to 
cases concerning the validity of a derogation 
made by a State under Article 15 (art. 15) of the 
Convention. A derogation made by any State 
affects not only the position of that State, but 
also the integrity of the Convention system of 
protection as a whole. It is relevant for other 
member States - old and new - and even for 
States aspiring to become Parties which are in 
the process of adapting their legal systems to 
the standards of the Convention. For the new 
Contracting Parties, the fact of being admit-
ted, often after long periods of preparation and 
negotiation, means not only the acceptance of 
Convention obligations, but also recognition 
by the community of European States of their 
equal standing as regards the democratic sys-
tem and the rule of law. In other words, what is 
considered by the old democracies as a natural 
state of affairs, is seen as a privilege by the new-
comers which is not to be disposed of lightly. A 
derogation made by a new Contracting Party 
from Eastern and Central Europe would call 
into question this new legitimacy and is, in my 
opinion, quite improbable. Any decision of the 
Court concerning Article 15 (art. 15) should 
encourage and confirm this philosophy. In any 
event it should not reinforce the views of those 
in the new member States for whom European 

standards clash with interests which they have 
inherited from the past. I am not convinced 
that the reasoning adopted by the majority 
fulfils these requirements. This is especially so 
as the derogation concerns a provision of the 
Convention which, for some, should not be the 
subject of any derogation at all.

2. I fully recognise the difficulties, and even the 
impossibility, for the Court in setting a precise 
time-limit for the derogation as a precondition 
of its validity under Article 15 (art. 15). However, 
I believe that the judgment should very clearly 
and unequivocally indicate that the Court ac-
cepts the derogation only as a strictly tempo-
rary measure. After all, it recognises the non-
observance of Article 5 para. 3 (art. 5-3) of the 
Convention (paragraph 37 of the judgment), a 
basic provision of which the applicants cannot 
avail themselves of because of the deroga-
tion. The Court also considers the time factor 
as essential when speaking of its supervisory 
role in respect of the margin of appreciation 
(paragraph 43 of the judgment). It is true that 
the Court emphasises the obligation of the 
derogating State to review the situation on a 
regular basis (paragraph 54 of the judgment). 
But this obligation clearly results from the third 
paragraph of Article 15 (art. 15-3) and the em-
phasis does not contribute to reassure the in-
ternational community that the Court is doing 
all that is legally possible for the full applicabil-
ity of the Convention to be restored as soon as 
practicable. On the contrary, the present word-
ing of the judgment tends rather to perpetuate 
the status quo and opens, for the derogating 
State, an unlimited possibility of applying ex-
tended administrative detention for an un-
certain period of time, to the detriment of the 
integrity of the Convention system and, I firmly 
believe, of the derogating State itself.

3. This leads me to the third reason for my dissent 
which I consider to be of vital importance.

The main point that, in my opinion, the Unit-
ed Kingdom Government should attempt to 
prove before the Court is that extended ad-
ministrative detention does in fact contribute 
to eliminate the reasons for which the extraor-
dinary measures needed to be introduced - in 
other words the prevention and combating of 
terrorism. But, as far as I can see, no such at-
tempt has been made either in the Govern-
ment’s memorial and the attached documents, 
or in the pleading before the Court. Instead, 
the Government’s main arguments have cen-
tred on the alleged detrimental effects on the 
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judiciary of control by a judge of extended de-
tention without the normal judicial procedure.

I will not enlarge on this last argument, which 
has been skilfully called into question by dis-
senters both in the Commission and in the 
Court. I can only add that any form of judicial 
control could be beneficial for all concerned. If 
the Government had been able to provide val-
id arguments that extended detention without 
any form of judicial control does in fact contrib-
ute both to the punishment and prevention 
of the crime of terrorism, I would be ready to 
accept the legality of the derogation, notwith-
standing the first two reasons of my dissent.
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ARTICLE 15, TERRORISM, LIFE OF A NATION, THREAT, 
PUBLIC INTEREST, PUBLIC SAFETY, SECURITY, RESTRICT-
ING FREEDOMS, DEMOCRACY

IN THE "LAWLESS" CASE,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting, in 
accordance with the provisions of Article 43 (art. 
43) of the Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (hereinafter re-
ferred to as "the Convention") and of Rules 21 and 
22 of Rules of the Court, as a Chamber composed 
of:
Mr.  R. CASSIN, President 
and  MM. G. MARIDAKIS 
E. RODENBOURG 
R. McGONIGAL, ex officio member 
G. BALLADORE PALLIERI 
E. ARNALDS 
K.F. ARIK, Judges 
P. MODINOS, Registrar,
delivers the following judgment:

As to PRoCEDURE
1. The present case was referred to the Court on 

13th April 1960 by the European Commission 
of Human Rights (hereinafter called "the Com-
mission") dated 12th April 1960. Attached to 
the request was the Report drawn up by the 
Commission in accordance with Article 31 (art. 
31) of the Convention. The case relates to the 
Application submitted to the Commission un-
der Article 25 (art. 25) of the Convention by G. 
R. Lawless, a national of the Republic of Ireland, 
against the Government of that State.

2. Preliminary objections and questions of proce-
dure were raised in the present case by both 
the Commission and the Irish Government, 
Party to the case. The Court ruled on these 
questions in its Judgment of 14th November 
1960.

The procedure followed up to that date is set 
forth in the Judgment.

3. Following that Judgment, the President of the 
Chamber, by an Order of 14th November 1960, 
set 16th December 1960 as the latest date by 

which the delegates of the Commission were 
to submit their Memorial and 5th February 
1961 as the latest date for submission of the 
Irish Government's Counter-Memorial.

Pursuant to that Order, the Commission on 
16th December 1960 submitted a "Statement 
with respect to the Counter-Memorial (merits 
of the case)", which was communicated to the 
Irish Government, Party to the case, on 19th 
December 1960. On 3rd February 1961, i.e. be-
fore the expiry of the allotted period, the Irish 
Government submitted a document entitled 
"Observations by the Government of Ireland 
on the Statement of the European Commis-
sion of Human Rights filed on 16th December 
1960." That document was communicated to 
the delegates of the Commission on 7th Feb-
ruary 1961, whereupon the case was ready for 
examination of the merits.

Before the opening of the oral proceedings, 
the Principal Delegate of the Commission noti-
fied the Court, by letter to the Registrar dated 
14th March 1961, of the views of the Delegates 
of the Commission on some of the questions 
raised by the Irish Government in their docu-
ment of 3rd February 1961. The letter of 14th 
March 1961, a copy of which was sent to the 
Irish Government, was likewise added to the 
file on the case.

4. Public hearings were held at Strasbourg on 7th, 
8th, 10th and 11th April 1961, at which there 
appeared:

(a) for the Commission:

Sir Humphrey Waldock, President of the 
Commission, Principal Delegate,

Mr. C. Th. Eustathiades, Vice-President,

Mr. S. Petren, Member of the Commission, 
Assistant Delegates,

(b) for the Irish Government, Party to the case :

Mr. A. O'Keeffe, Attorney-General  of Ire-
land,  acting as Agent, assisted by:

Mr. S. Morrissey, Barrister-at-law, Legal Ad-
viser, Department of External Affairs,

Mr. A. J. Hederman, Barrister-at-law,  Coun-
sel, and by:

MM. D. O'Donovan, Chief State Solicitor, P. 
Berry, Assistant Secretary-General, Depart-
ment of Justice.

5. Before entering upon the merits of the case, Sir 
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Humphrey Waldock, Principal Delegate of the 
Commission, brought up certain questions of 
procedure made the following submission:
"May itpleasetheCourt torulethattheDel-
egatesoftheCommissionareentitled:

(a) to consider as part of the proceedings in
thecasethosewrittenobservationsoftheAp-
plicantontheCommission'sReportcontained
in paragraphs 31 to 49 of the Commission's
statement of 16th December 1960, as indi-
catedonpage15oftheCourt's judgmentof
14thNovember1960;

(b) to make known to the Court the Appli-
cant'spointofviewonanyspecificpointsaris-
inginthecourseofthedebates,asindicated
on page 15 of the Court's judgment of 14th
November1960;

(c) to consider thepersonnominatedby the
Applicanttobeapersonavailabletogivesuch
assistancetotheDelegatesastheymaythink
fit to request inorder tomakeknownto the
Court the Applicant's point of view on any
specificpointsarisinginthecourseofthede-
bates."

Mr. A. O'Keeffe, acting as Agent of the Irish Gov-
ernment, said he would leave the matter to the 
discretion of the Court.

6. On this point of procedure the Court gave the 
following judgment on 7th April 1961:
"TheCourt,

Having regard to the conclusions presented
bytheDelegatesoftheEuropeanCommission
ofHumanRights at thehearingon7thApril
1961;

TakingnoteofthefactthattheAgentof the
IrishGovernment does not intend to submit
conclusionsonthematterinquestion;

Whereas in its judgment of 14th November
1960 the Court declared that there was no
reasonatthisstagetoauthorisetheCommis-
siontotransmittoitthewrittenobservations
oftheApplicantontheCommission'sReport;

Whereas in the said judgment, ofwhich the
French text only is authentic, the Court has
recognised the Commission's right to take
into account ("de faire état") the Applicant's
viewsonitsownauthority,asaproperwayof
enlighteningtheCourt;

WhereasthislatitudeenjoyedbytheCommis-
sionextendstoanyotherviewstheCommis-
sion may have obtained from the Applicant
in the course of the proceedings before the

Court;

Whereas, on the other hand, the Commis-
sionisentirelyfreetodecidebywhatmeans
it wishes to establish contact with the Ap-
plicantandgivehimanopportunitytomake
knownhisviewstotheCommission;whereas
inparticular it is free to ask theApplicant to
nominateapersontobeavailabletotheCom-
mission's delegates;whereas it does not fol-
lowthatthepersoninquestionhasanylocus
standiinjudicio;

Forthesereasons,

Decidesunanimously:

Withregardtotheconclusionsunder(a),that
atthepresentstagethewrittenobservations
oftheApplicant,asreproducedinparagraphs
31 to 49 of the Commission's statement of
16thDecember1960,arenottobeconsidered
aspartoftheproceedingsinthecase;

Withregardto(b)thattheCommissionhasall
latitude,inthecourseofdebatesandinsofar
asitbelievestheymaybeusefultoenlighten
theCourt,totakeintoaccounttheviewsofthe
ApplicantconcerningeithertheReportorany
other specific point which may have arisen
sincethelodgingoftheReport;

Withregardto(c),thatitwasfortheCommis-
sion,whenitconsidereditdesirabletodoso,
to invite theApplicant toplacesomeperson
at itsdisposal, subject to the reservations in-
dicatedabove."

7. The Court then heard statements, replies and 
submissions on matters of fact and of law re-
lating to the merits of the case, for the Com-
mission: from Sir Humphrey Waldock, Principal 
Delegate; for the Irish Government: from Mr. A. 
O'Keeffe, Attorney-General, acting as Agent.

As to tHE FACts

I. 

8. The purpose of the Commission's request - to 
which is appended the Report drawn up by the 
Commission in accordance with the provisions 
of Article 31 (art. 31) of the Convention - is to 
submit the case of G.R. Lawless to the Court so 
that it may decide whether or not the facts of 
the case disclose that the Irish Government has 
failed in its obligations under the Convention.

As appears from the Commission's request and 
from its Memorial, G.R. Lawless alleges in his 
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Application that, in his case, the Convention 
has been violated by the authorities of the Re-
public of Ireland, inasmuch as, in pursuance of 
an Order made by the Minister of Justice under 
section 4 of Act No. 2 of 1940 amending the 
Offences against the State Act, 1939, he was 
detained without trial, between 13th July and 
11th December 1957, in a military detention 
camp situated in the territory of the Republic 
of Ireland.

9. The facts of the case, as they appear from the 
Report of the Commission, the memorials, 
evidence and documents laid before the Court 
and the statements made by the Commission 
and by the Irish Government during the oral 
hearings before the Court, are in substance as 
follows:

10. G.R. Lawless is a builder's labourer, born in 1936. 
He is ordinarily resident in Dublin (Ireland).

11. G.R. Lawless admitted before the Commission 
that he had become a member of the IRA ("Irish 
Republican Army") in January 1956. According 
to his own statements, he left the IRA in June 
1956 and a splinter group of the IRA in Decem-
ber 1956.

II. 

12. Under the Treaty establishing the Irish Free 
State, signed on 6th December 1921 between 
the United Kingdom and the Irish Free State, six 
counties situated in the North of the Island of 
Ireland remained under British sovereignty.

13. On several occasions since the foundation 
of the Irish Free State, armed groups, calling 
themselves the "Irish Republican Army" (IRA), 
have been formed, for the avowed purpose of 
carrying out acts of violence to put an end to 
British sovereignty in Northern Ireland. At times 
the activities of these groups have been such 
that effective repression by the ordinary pro-
cess of law was not possible. From time to time, 
the legislature has, therefore, conferred upon 
the Government special powers deal with the 
situation created by these unlawful activities; 
and such powers have sometimes included the 
power of detention without trial.

On 29th December 1937 the Constitution at 
present in force in the Irish Republic was prom-
ulgated. In May 1938 all persons detained for 
political offences were released.

When the political situation in Europe fore-
shadowed war, the IRA resumed its activities 

and committed fresh acts of violence.

At the beginning of 1939 the IRA published 
documents described by it as a "declaration of 
war on Great Britain". Following that declara-
tion, the IRA, operating from territory of the Re-
public of Ireland, intensified its acts of violence 
on British territory.

14. In order to meet the situation created by the 
activities of the IRA, the Parliament of the Re-
public of Ireland passed the Offences against 
the State Act, 1939, which came into force on 
14th June 1939.

III. 

15. Part II of the 1939 Act defines the "activities 
prejudicial to the preservation of public peace 
and order or to the security of the State". Part 
III contains provisions relating to organisations 
whose activities come under the Act and any 
which may therefore be declared an "unlawful 
organisation" by order of the Government. Sec-
tion 21 of the 1939 Act provides as follows:

Section 21:

"(1)Itshallnotbelawfulforanypersontobea
memberofanunlawfulorganisation;

(2) Everypersonwho is amemberof anun-
lawful organisation in contravention of this
sectionshallbeguiltyofanoffenceunderthis
sectionandshall:

(a) on summary conviction thereof, be liable
toafinenotexceedingfiftypounds,oratthe
discretionofthecourt,toimprisonmentfora
termnotexceedingthreemonthsor toboth
suchfineandsuchimprisonment;or

(b) on conviction thereof on indictment, be
liabletoimprisonmentforatermnotexceed-
ingtwoyears."

Part IV of the 1939 Act contains various provi-
sions relating to the repression of unlawful ac-
tivities, including, in section 30, the following 
provision relating to the arrest and detention 
of persons suspected of being concerned in 
unlawful activities:

Section 30:

"(1)AmemberoftheGárdaSíochána(ifheis
not in uniform on production of his identity
cardifdemanded)maywithoutwarrantstop,
search, interrogate,andarrestanyperson,or
doanyoneormoreofthosethingsinrespect
of any person, whom he suspects of having



773CASEOFLAWLESSVIRELAND(NO.3)

EC
J

EC
HR

committedorbeingabouttocommitorbeing
orhavingbeenconcernedinthecommission
ofanoffenceunderanysectionorsub-section
ofthisAct,oranoffencewhichisforthetime
beingascheduledoffenceforthepurposesof
PartVofthisActorwhomhesuspectsofcar-
ryingadocumentrelatingtothecommission
or intendedcommissionof any suchoffence
asaforesaid.

(2)AnymemberoftheGárdaSíochána(ifhe
isnotinuniformonproductionofhisidentity
cardifdemanded)may,forthepurposeofthe
exerciseofanyofthepowersconferredbythe
next preceding sub-section of this section,
stopandsearch(ifnecessarybyforce)anyve-
hicleoranyship,boat,orothervesselwhich
he suspects to containapersonwhomhe is
empoweredbythesaidsub-sectiontoarrest
withoutwarrant.

(3)Wheneveraperson is arrestedunder this
section,hemayberemovedtoanddetained
in custody in a Gárda Síochána station, a
prison,or someotherconvenientplace fora
periodoftwenty-four,hoursfromthetimeof
his arrest andmay, if anofficer of theGárda
SíochánanotbelowtherankofChiefSuperin-
tendentsodirects,besodetainedforafurther
periodoftwenty-fourhours.

(4)Apersondetainedunderthenextpreced-
ingsub-sectionofthissectionmay,atanytime
duringsuchdetention,bechargedbeforethe
DistrictCourtoraSpecialCriminalCourtwith
anoffence,orbe releasedbydirectionof an
officeroftheGárdaSíochána,andshall,ifnot
sochargedorreleased,bereleasedattheex-
piration of the detention authorised by the
saidsub-section.

(5)AmemberoftheGárdaSíochánamaydo
alloranyofthefollowingthingsinrespectof
a persondetained under this section, that is
tosay:

(a)demandofsuchpersonhisnameandad-
dress;

(b) search such person or cause him to be
searched;

(c)photographsuchpersonorcausehimtobe
photographed;

(d)take,orcausetobetaken,thefingerprints
ofsuchperson.

(6)Everypersonwhoshallobstructorimpede
the exercise in respect of him by amember
of the Gárda Síochána of any of the powers
conferredby thenextpreceding sub-section
ofthissectionorshallfailorrefusetogivehis
nameandaddressorshallgive,inresponseto

anysuchdemand,anameoranaddresswhich
is falseormisleadingshallbeguiltyofanof-
fenceunderthissectionandshallbeliableon
summaryconvictionthereoftoimprisonment
foratermnotexceedingsixmonths."

Part V of the 1939 Act is concerned with the es-
tablishment of "Special Criminal Courts" to try 
persons charged with offences under the Act.

Lastly, Part VI of the 1939 Act contained provi-
sions authorising any

Minister of State - once the Government had 
brought that Part of the Act into force - to or-
der, in certain circumstances, the arrest and de-
tention of any person whom he was satisfied 
was engaged in activities declared unlawful by 
the Act.

16. On 23rd June 1939, i.e. nine days after the entry 
into force of the Offences Against the State Act, 
the Government made an order under section 
19 of the Act that the IRA, declared an "unlaw-
ful organisation", be dissolved.

17.  About 70 persons were subsequently arrested 
and detained under Part VI of the Act. One of 
those persons brought an action in the High 
Court of Ireland, challenging the validity of his 
detention. The High Court declared the deten-
tion illegal and ordered the release of the per-
son concerned by writ of habeas corpus.

The Government had all the persons detained 
under the same clauses released forthwith.

18. Taking note of the High Court's judgment, 
the Government tabled in Parliament a Bill to 
amend Part VI of the Offences against the State 
Act, 1939. The Bill, after being declared consti-
tutional by the Supreme Court, was passed by 
Parliament on 9th February 1940, becoming 
the Offences against the State (Amendment) 
Act, 1940 (No. 2 of 1940).

This Act No. 2 of 1940 confers on Ministers of 
State special powers of detention without trial, 
"if and whenever and so often as the Govern-
ment makes and publishes a proclamation de-
claring that the powers conferred by this Part 
of this Act are necessary to secure the preser-
vation of public peace and order and that it is 
expedient that this Part of this Act should come 
into force immediately" (section 3, sub-section 
(2) of the Act).

Under section 3, sub-section (4) of the Act, 
however, a Government proclamation bring-
ing into force the special powers of detention 



774 CASEOFLAWLESSVIRELAND(NO.3)

EC
HR

EC
J

may be annulled at any time by a simple reso-
lution of the Lower House of the Irish Parlia-
ment.

Moreover, under section 9 of the Act both 
Houses of Parliament must be kept fully in-
formed, at regular intervals, of the manner in 
which the powers of detention have been ex-
ercised.

19. The powers of detention referred to in the Act 
are vested in Ministers of State. Section 4 of the 
Act provides as follows:
"(1)WheneveraMinisterofStateisofopinion
thatanyparticularpersonisengagedinactivi-
tieswhich,inhisopinion,areprejudicialtothe
preservationofpublicpeaceandorderor to
thesecurityoftheState,suchMinistermayby
warrant under his hand and sealed with his
official sealorder thearrestanddetentionof
suchpersonunderthissection.

(2) Anymember of theGárda Síochánamay
arrestwithoutwarrantanyperson in respect
ofwhomawarranthasbeenissuedbyaMin-
isterofStateundertheforegoingsub-section
ofthissection.

(3)Everypersonarrestedunderthenextpre-
ceding sub-section of this section shall be
detainedinaprisonorotherplaceprescribed
inthatbehalfbyregulationsmadeunderthis
PartofthisActuntilthisPartofthisActceases
tobeinforceoruntilheisreleasedunderthe
subsequentprovisionsofthisPartofthisAct,
whicheverfirsthappens.

(4)Wheneverapersonisdetainedunderthis
section, thereshallbe furnishedtosuchper-
son, as soon asmay be after he arrives at a
prisonorotherplaceofdetentionprescribed
inthatbehalfbyregulationsmadeunderthis
Partof thisAct,acopyof thewarrant issued
under this section in relation to suchperson
andoftheprovisionsofsection8ofthisAct".

20. Under section 8 of the Offences against the 
State (Amendment) Act, 1940, the Government 
is required to set up, as soon as conveniently 
may be after the entry into force of the powers 
of detention without trial, a Commission (here-
inafter referred to as "Detention Commission") 
to which any person arrested or detained under 
the Act may apply, through the Government, 
to have his case considered. The Commission 
is to consist of three persons, appointed by the 
Government, one to be a commissioned of-
ficer of the Defence Forces with not less than 
seven years' service and each of the others to 
be a barrister or solicitor of not less than seven 

years' standing or a judge or former judge of 
one of the ordinary courts. Lastly, section 8 of 
the Act provides that, if the Commission re-
ports that no reasonable grounds exist for the 
continued detention of the person concerned, 
such person shall, with all convenient speed, 
be released.

IV. 

21. After several years during which there was very 
little IRA activity, there was a renewed outbreak 
in 1954 and again in the second half of 1956.

In the second half of December 1956 armed 
attacks were made on a number of Northern 
Ireland police barracks and at the end of the 
month a policeman was killed. In the same 
month a police patrol on border roads was 
fired on, trees were felled across roads and 
telephone wires cut, etc. In January 1957 there 
were more incidents of the same kind. At the 
beginning of the month there was an armed 
attack on Brookeborough Police Barracks dur-
ing which two of the assailants were killed; 
both of them came from the 26-county area. 
Twelve others, of whom four were wounded, 
fled across the border and were arrested by the 
police of the Republic of Ireland. Thereupon, 
the Prime Minister of the Republic of Ireland, 
in a public broadcast address on 6th January 
1957, made a pressing appeal to the public to 
put an end to these attacks.

Six days after this broadcast, namely, on 12th 
January 1957, the IRA carried out an armed raid 
on an explosives store in the territory of the Re-
public of Ireland, situated at Moortown, County 
Dublin, for the purpose of stealing explosives. 
On 6th May 1957, armed groups entered an 
explosives store at Swan Laois, held up the 
watchman and stole a quantity of explosives.

On 18th April 1957, the main railway line from 
Dublin to Belfast was closed by an explosion 
which caused extensive damage to the railway 
bridge at Ayallogue in County Armagh, about 5 
miles on the northern side of the border.

During the night of 25th-26th April, three ex-
plosions between Lurgan and Portadown, in 
Northern Ireland, also damaged the same rail-
way line.

On the night of 3rd/4th July a Northern Ireland 
police patrol on duty a short distance from the 
border was ambushed. One policeman was 
shot dead and another injured. At the scene of 
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the ambush 87 sticks of gelignite were found 
to have been placed on the road and covered 
with stones, with wires leading to a detonator.

This incident occurred only eight days before 
the annual Orange Processions which are 
widespread throughout Northern Ireland on 
12th July. In the past, this date has been par-
ticularly critical for the maintenance of peace 
and public order.

V. 

22. The special powers of arrest and detention 
conferred upon the Ministers of State by the 
1940 (Amendment) Act were brought into 
force on 8th July 1957 by a Proclamation of the 
Irish Government published in the Official Ga-
zette on 5th July 1957.

On 16th July 1957, the Government set up the 
Detention Commission provided for in section 
8 of that Act and appointed as members of 
that Commission an officer of Defence Forces, 
a judge and a district Justice.

23. The Proclamation by which the Irish Govern-
ment brought into force on 8th July 1957 the 
special powers of detention provided for in 
Part II of the 1940 Act (No. 2) read as follows:
"The Government, in exercise of the pow-
ers conferred on them by sub-section (2) of
section 3 of the Offences against the State
(Amendment)Act,1940,(No.2of1940),here-
bydeclarethatthepowersconferredbyPart
II of the saidAct arenecessary to secure the
preservation of public peace and order and
that it is expedient that the said part of the
saidActshouldcomeintoforceimmediately."

24. By letter of 20th July 1957 the Irish Minister for 
External Affairs informed the Secretary-General 
of the Council of Europe that Part II of the Of-
fences against the State Act, 1940 (No. 2) had 
come into force on 8th July 1957.

Paragraph 2 of that letter read as follows:
"... Insofar as the bringing into operation of
Part IIof theAct,whichconfersspecialpow-
ers of arrest anddetention,may involve any
derogation from theobligations imposedby
theConvention for theProtectionofHuman
RightsandFundamentalFreedoms,Ihavethe
honourtorequestyoutobegoodenoughto
regardthisletterasinformingyouaccording-
ly,incompliancewithArticle15(3)(art.15-3)
oftheConvention."

The letter pointed out that the detention of 

persons under the Act was considered neces-
sary "to prevent the commission of offences 
against public peace and order and to prevent 
the maintaining of military or armed forces 
other than those authorised by the Constitu-
tion."

The Secretary-General's attention was called 
to section 8 of the Act which provides for the 
establishment of a Commission to which any 
detained person can appeal. This Commission 
was set up on 16th July 1957.

25. Soon after the publication of the Proclamation 
of 5th July 1957 bringing into force the pow-
ers of detention provided for under the 1940 
Act, the Prime Minister of the Government of 
the Republic of Ireland announced that the 
Government would release any person held 
under that Act who undertook "to respect the 
Constitution and the laws of Ireland" and "to re-
frain from being a member of or assisting any 
organisation declared unlawful under the Of-
fences against the State Act, 1939".

VI. 

26. G.R. Lawless was first arrested with three other 
men on 21st September 1956 in a disused barn 
at Keshcarrigan, County Leitrim. The police dis-
covered in the barn a Thompson machine-gun, 
six army rifles, six sporting guns, a revolver, an 
automatic pistol and 400 magazines. Lawless 
admitted that he was a member of the IRA and 
that he had taken part in an armed raid when 
guns and revolvers had been stolen. He was 
subsequently charged on 18th October with 
unlawful possession of firearms under the Fire-
arms Act, 1935 and under Section 21 of the Of-
fences against the State Act, 1939.

G.R. Lawless, together with the other accused, 
was sent forward for trial to the Dublin Circuit 
Criminal Court. On 23rd November 1956, they 
were acquitted of the charge of unlawful pos-
session of arms. The trial judge had directed 
the jury that the requirements for proving the 
accussed's guilt had not been satisfied in that it 
not been conclusively shown that no compe-
tent authority had issued a firearm certificate 
authorising him to be in possession of the arms 
concerned.

At the hearing before this Court on 26th Oc-
tober, the District Justice asked one of the ac-
cused, Sean Geraghty, whether he wished to 
put any questions to any of the policemen pre-
sent. Sean Geraghty replied as follows:
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"AsasoldieroftheIrishRepublicanArmyand
asleaderofthesemen,Idonotwishtohave
anypartinproceedingsinthisCourt."

When asked by the Justice whether he pleaded 
guilty or not guilty to the charge, he again said:
"On behalf of my comrades and myself I
wish to state thatanyarmsandammunition
foundonusweretobeusedagainsttheBrit-
ish Forces of occupation to bring about the
re-unificationofourcountryandnoIrishman
orwomanofanypoliticalpersuasionhadany-
thingto fear fromus.Weholdthat it is legal
topossessarmsandalsobelieveitistheduty
ofevery Irishman tobeararms indefenceof
hiscountry."

Subsequently, G.R. Lawless in reply to a ques-
tion by the Justice said: "Sean Geraghty spoke 
for me."

Lawless was again arrested in Dublin on 14th 
May 1957 under section 30 of the 1939 Act, on 
suspicion of engaging in unlawful activities. 
A sketch map for an attack of certain frontier 
posts between the Irish Republic and Northern 
Ireland was found on him bearing the inscrip-
tion "Infiltrate, annihilate and destroy."

On the same day his house was searched by 
the police who found a manuscript document 
on guerrilla warfare containing, inter alia, the 
following statements:
"The resistancemovement is thearmedvan-
guardoftheIrishpeoplefightingforthefree-
domofIreland.Thestrengthofthemovement
consists in the popular patriotic character of
themovement.Thebasicmissionof local re-
sistanceunitsarethedestructionofenemyin-
stallationsandestablishmentsthatisTAhalls,
specialhuts,BArecruitingoffices,borderhuts,
depots,etc.

Attacks against enemy aerodromes and the
destruction of aircraft hangars, depots of
bombsand fuel, thekillingofkey flyingper-
sonnel andmechanics, the killing or capture
ofhigh-rankingenemyofficersandhighoffi-
cialsoftheenemy'scolonialGovernmentand
traitorstoourcountryintheirpay,thatis,Brit-
ishofficers,policeagents, touts, judges,high
membersoftheQuislingparty,etc."

After being arrested, G.R. Lawless was charged:

(c) with possession of incriminating docu-
ments contrary to section 12 of the 1939 
Act;

(d) with membership of an unlawful organisa-
tion, the IRA, contrary to section 21 of the 

1939 Act.

On 16th May 1957, G.R. Lawless was brought 
before the Dublin District Court together with 
three other men who were also charged with 
similar offences under the 1939 Act. The Court 
convicted Lawless on the first charge and sen-
tenced him to one month's imprisonment; 
it acquitted him on the second charge. The 
Court record showed that the second charge 
was dismissed "on the merits" of the case but 
no official report of the proceedings appears 
to be available. The reasons for this acquittal 
were not clearly established. G.R. Lawless was 
released on about 16th June 1957, after having 
served his sentence in Mountjoy Prison, Dublin.

27. G.R. Lawless was re-arrested on 11th July 1957 
at Dun Laoghaire by Security Officer Connor 
when about to embark on a ship for England. 
He was detained for 24 hours at Bridewell Po-
lice Station in Dublin under section 30 of the 
1939 Act, as being a suspected member of an 
unlawful organisation, namely the IRA.

Detective-Inspector McMahon told the Ap-
plicant on the same day that he would be re-
leased provided that he signed an undertaking 
in regard to his future conduct. No written form 
of the undertaking proposed was put to G.R. 
Lawless and its exact terms are in dispute.

On 12th July 1957, the Chief Superintendent of 
Police, acting under section 30, sub-section 3 
of the 1939 Act, made an order that G.R. Law-
less be detained for a further period of 24 hours 
expiring at 7.45 p.m. on 13th July 1957.

At 6 a.m. on 13th July 1957, however, before 
Lawless' detention under section 30 of the 
1939 Act had expired, he was removed from 
the Bridewell Police Station and transferred to 
the military prison in the Curragh, Co. Kildare 
(known as the "Glass House"). He arrived there 
at 8 a.m. on the same day and was detained 
from that time under an order made on 12th 
July 1957 by the Minister for Justice under sec-
tion 4 of the 1940 Act. Upon his arrival at the 
"Glass House", he was handed a copy of the 
above-mentioned detention order in which 
the Minister for Justice declared that G.R. Law-
less was, in his opinion, engaged in activities 
prejudicial to the security of the State and he 
ordered his arrest and detention under section 
40 of the 1940 Act.

From the "Glass House", G.R. Lawless was trans-
ferred on 17th July 1957 to a camp known as 
the "Curragh Internment Camp", which forms 
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part of the Curragh Military Camp and Barracks 
in County Kildare, and together with some 120 
other persons, was detained there without 
charge or trial until 11th December 1957 when 
he was released.

28. On 16th August 1957 G.R. Lawless was in-
formed that he would be released provided he 
gave an undertaking in writing "to respect the 
Constitution and laws of Ireland" and not to "be 
a member of or assist any organisation which 
is an unlawful organisation under the Offences 
against the State Act, 1939." G.R. Lawless de-
clined to give this undertaking.

29. On 8th September 1957 G.R. Lawless exercised 
the right, conferred upon him by section 8 of 
the 1940 Act, to apply to have the continuation 
of his detention considered by the Detention 
Commission set up under the same section of 
that Act. He appeared before that Commission 
on 17th September 1957 and was represented 
by counsel and solicitors. The Detention Com-
mission, sitting for the first time, adopted cer-
tain rules of procedure and adjourned until 
20th September.

30. On 18th September 1957, however, G.R. Law-
less' counsel also made an application to the 
Irish High Court, under Article 40 of the Irish 
Constitution, for a Conditional Order of habeas 
corpus ad subjiciendum. The object of the ap-
plication was that the Court should order the 
Commandant of the detention camp to bring 
G.R. Lawless before the Court in order that it 
might examine and decide upon the validity 
of detention. A Conditional Order of habeas 
corpus would have the effect of requiring the 
Commandant to "show cause" to the High 
Court why he should not comply with that 
Order.

The Conditional Order was granted on the 
same date and was served on the Comman-
dant giving him a period of four days to "show 
cause". It was also served upon the Deten-
tion Commission. The Detention Commission 
sat on 20th September 1957, and decided to 
adjourn the hearing sine die pending the out-
come of the habeas corpus application.

31. G.R. Lawless then applied, by a motion to the 
High Court, to have the Conditional Order 
made "absolute", notwithstanding the fact 
that the Commandant of the Detention Camp 
had in the meantime "shown cause" opposing 
this application. The Commandant had, in this 
connection, relied upon the order for the Ap-
plicant's detention which had been made by 

the Minister for Justice.

The High Court sat from 8th to 11th October 
1957 and heard full legal submissions by coun-
sel for both parties. On 11th October it gave 
judgment allowing the "cause shown" by the 
camp Commandant to justify detention. The 
habeas corpus application was therefore dis-
missed.

32. On 14th October 1957 G.R. Lawless appealed 
to the Supreme Court, invoking not only the 
Constitution and laws of Ireland but also the 
European Convention of Human Rights. On 
6th November the Supreme Court dismissed 
G.R. Lawless' appeal. It gave its reasoned judg-
ment on 3rd December 1957.

The main grounds of the Supreme Court's 
judgment were as follows:

(a) The 1940 Act, when in draft form as a Bill, 
had been referred to the Supreme Court for 
decision as to whether it was repugnant to 
the Irish Constitution. The Supreme Court 
had decided that it was not repugnant and 
Article 34 (3) 3 of the Constitution declared 
that no court had competence to question 
the constitutional validity of a law which 
had been approved as a Bill by the Supreme 
Court.

(b) The Oireachtas (i.e. the Parliament) which 
was the sole legislative authority had not 
introduced legislation to make the Conven-
tion of Human Rights part of the municipal 
law of Ireland. The Supreme Court could 
not, therefore, give effect to the Conven-
tion if it should appear to grant rights other 
than, or supplementary to, those provided 
under Irish municipal law.

(c) The appellant's period of detention under 
section 30 of the 1939 Act was due to ex-
pire at 7.45 p.m. on 13th July 1957. At that 
time he was already being detained under 
another warrant issued by the Minister for 
Justice and his detention without release 
was quite properly continued under the 
second warrant.

(d) The appellant had not established a prima 
facie case in regard to his allegation that he 
had not been told the reason for his arrest 
under the Minister's warrant. An invalidity 
in the arrest, even if established, would not, 
however, have rendered his subsequent 
detention unlawful whatever rights it might 
otherwise have given the appellant under 
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Irish law.

(e) The Court had already decided, when con-
sidering the 1940 Act as a Bill, that it had no 
power to question the opinion of a Minister 
who issued a warrant for detention under 
section 4 of that Act.

(f) The appellant in the habeas corpus pro-
ceedings before the High Court had chal-
lenged the legality of the constitution of 
the Detention Commission. Even if it was 
shown that the Commission's rulings on 
various procedural matters were wrong, 
that would not make the appellant's de-
tention unlawful nor would it provide a 
basis for an application for habeas corpus. 
Section 8 of the 1940 Act showed that the 
Commission was not a court and an appli-
cation before it was not a form of proceed-
ings but no more than an enquiry of an ad-
ministrative character.

33. Meanwhile, on 8th November 1957 - that is 
two days after the announcement of the Su-
preme Court's rejection of his appeal - G.R. 
Lawless had introduced his Application before 
the European Commission of Human Rights, al-
leging that his arrest and detention under the 
1940 Act, without charge or trial, violated the 
Convention and he claimed:

(a) immediate release from detention;

(b) payment of compensation and damages 
for his detention;

and

(c) payment of all the costs and expenses of, 
and incidental to the proceedings institut-
ed by him in the Irish courts and before the 
Commission to secure his release.

34. Shortly afterwards the Detention Commission 
resumed its consideration of the case of G.R. 
Lawless under section 8 of the 1940 Act and 
held hearings for that purpose on 6th and 10th 
December 1957. On the latter date, at the invi-
tation of the Attorney-General, G.R. Lawless in 
person before the Detention Commission gave 
a verbal undertaking that he would not "en-
gage in any illegal activities under the Offences 
against the State Acts, 1939 and 1940", and on 
the following day an order was made by the 
Minister for Justice, under section 6 of the 1940 
Act, releasing the Applicant from detention.

35. The release of G.R. Lawless from detention was 
notified to the European Commission of Hu-

man Rights by his solicitor in a letter dated 16th 
December 1957. The letter at the same time 
stated that G.R. Lawless intended to continue 
the proceedings before the Commission with 
regard to (a) the claim for compensation and 
damages for his detention and (b) the claim 
for reimbursement of all costs and expenses in 
connection with the proceedings undertaken 
to obtain his release.

VII. 

36. At the written and oral proceedings before the 
Court, the European Commission of Human 
Rights and the Irish Government made the fol-
lowing submissions:

The Commission, in its Memorial of 27th June 
1960:
"MayitpleasetheCourttotakeintoconsidera-
tionthefindingsoftheCommissioninitsRe-
portonthecaseofGerardRichardLawlessand

(1)todecide:

(a)whetherornotthedetentionoftheAppli-
cantwithout trial from13th July to11thDe-
cember1957undersection4oftheOffences
against the State (Amendment) Act, 1940,
wasinconflictwiththeobligationsoftheRe-
spondentGovernmentunderArticles5and6
(art.5,art.6)oftheConvention;

(b) whether or not such detention was in
conflictwith theobligationsof theRespond-
entGovernmentunderArticle7(art.7)ofthe
Convention;

(2) if suchdetentionwas in conflictwith the
obligations of the Respondent Government
underArticles5and6(art.5,art.6)oftheCon-
vention,todecide:

(a)whetherornottheGovernment'sletterto
theSecretary-Generalof20thJuly1957wasa
sufficientcommunicationforthepurposesof
Article15,paragraph(3)(art.15-3)oftheCon-
vention;

(b)whetherornot,from13thJulyto11thDe-
cember1957,thereexistedapublicemergen-
cythreateningthelifeofthenation,withinthe
meaningofArticle15,paragraph(1)(art.15-1)
oftheConvention;

(c)ifsuchanemergencydidexistduringthat
period,whetherornotthemeasureofdetain-
ing persons without trial under section 4 of
the1940Act,asitwasappliedbytheGovern-
ment,wasameasurestrictly requiredby the
exigenciesofthesituation;
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(3)todecidewhetherornottheApplicantis,
inanyevent,precludedbyArticle17(art.17)
of the Convention from invoking the provi-
sionsofArticles5,6and7(art.5,art.6,art.7);

(4)inthelightofitsdecisionsonthequestions
inparagraphs1-3ofthesesubmissions,toad-
judgeanddeclare:

(a) whether or not the facts disclose any
breachbytheRespondentGovernmentofits
obligationsundertheConvention;

(b) ifso,whatcompensation, ifany, isdueto
theApplicantinrespectofthebreach."

37. The Agent of the Irish Government, at the pub-
lic hearing on 10th April 1961:
"MayitpleasetheCourttodecideanddeclare
thattheanswerstothequestionscontainedin
paragraph 58 of the Commission'sMemorial
of27thJune1960areasfollows:

1.

(a)ThatthedetentionoftheApplicantwasnot
inconflictwiththeobligationsoftheGovern-
mentunderArticles5and6(art.5,art.6)ofthe
Convention.

(b) That such detention was not in conflict
withtheobligationsoftheGovernmentunder
Article7(art.7)oftheConvention.

2.

(a) That theGovernment's letterof 20th July
1957wasa sufficient communication for the
purposesofparagraph(3)ofArticle15(art.15-
3)of theConventionor, alternatively, that in
thepresentcase,theGovernmentarenotby
anyoftheprovisionsofthesaidparagraph(3)
(art.15-3)deprivedfromrelyingonparagraph
(1)ofArticle15(art.15-1).

(b)That from13thJuly1957to11thDecem-
ber 1957 theredid exist apublic emergency
threatening the lifeof thenation,within the
meaningofArticle15,paragraph(1)(art.15-1),
oftheConvention.

(c) That the measure of detaining persons
withouttrial,asitwasappliedbytheGovern-
ment,wasameasurestrictly requiredby the
exigenciesofthesituation.

3.ThattheApplicantisinanyeventprecluded
byArticle17(art.17)oftheConventionfrom
invoking theprovisionsofArticles5,6and7
(art.5,art.6,art.7)oftheConvention.

4.

(a)That the factsdonotdiscloseanybreach
bytheGovernmentoftheirobligationsunder

theConvention.

(b)That,byreasonoftheforegoing,noques-
tionofcompensationarises."

tHE LAW
38. Whereas it has been established that G.R. Law-

less was arrested by the Irish authorities on 
11th July 1957 under sections 21 and 30 of the 
Offences against the State Act (1939) No. 13; 
that on 13th July 1957, before the expiry for the 
order for arrest made under Act No. 13 of 1939, 
G.R. Lawless was handed a copy of a detention 
order made on 12th July 1957 by the Minis-
ter of Justice under section 4 of the Offences 
against the State (Amendment) Act 1940; and 
that he was subsequently detained, first in the 
military prison in the Curragh and then in the 
Curragh Internment Camp, until his release 
on 11th December 1957 without having been 
brought before a judge during that period;

39. Whereas the Court is not called upon to decide 
on the arrest of G.R. Lawless on 11th July 1957, 
but only, in the light of the submissions put for-
ward both by the Commission and by the Irish 
Government, whether or not the detention of 
G.R. Lawless from 13th July to 11th December 
1957 under section 4 of the Offences against 
the State (Amendment) Act, 1940, complied 
with the stipulations of the Convention;

40. Whereas, in this connection the Irish Govern-
ment has put in against the Application of G.R. 
Lawless a plea in bar as to the merits derived 
from Article 17 (art. 17) of the Convention; 
whereas this plea in bar should be examined 
first;

As to the plea in bar derived from Article 17 (art. 
17) of the Convention.

41. Whereas Article 17 (art. 17) of the Convention 
provides as follows:
"NothinginthisConventionmaybeinterpret-
edasimplyingforanyState,grouporperson
anyrighttoengageinanyactivityorperform
anyactaimedatthedestructionofanyofthe
rightsandfreedomssetforthhereinorattheir
limitationtoagreaterextentthanisprovided
forintheConvention".

42. Whereas the Irish Government submitted to 
the Commission and reaffirmed before the 
Court (i) that G.R. Lawless, at the time of his ar-
rest in July 1957, was engaged in IRA activities; 
(ii) that the Commission, in paragraph 138 of its 
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Report, had already observed that his conduct 
was "such as to draw upon the Applicant the 
gravest suspicion that, whether or not he was 
any longer a member, he was still concerned 
with the activities of the IRA at the time of his 
arrest in July 1957"; (iii) that the IRA was banned 
on account of its activity aimed at the destruc-
tion of the rights and freedoms set forth in the 
Convention; that, in July 1957, G.R. Lawless was 
thus concerned in activities falling within the 
terms of Article 17 (art. 17) of the Convention; 
that he therefore no longer had a right to rely 
on Articles 5, 6, 7 (art. 5, art. 6, art. 7) or any other 
Article of the Convention; that no State, group 
or person engaged in activities falling within 
the terms of Article 17 (art. 17) of the Conven-
tion may rely on any of the provisions of the 
Convention; that this construction was sup-
ported by the Commission's decision on the 
admissibility of the Application submitted to it 
in 1957 by the German Communist Party; that, 
however, where Article 17 (art. 17) is applied, a 
Government is not released from its obligation 
towards other Contracting Parties to ensure 
that its conduct continues to comply with the 
provisions of the Convention;

43. Whereas the Commission, in the Report and 
in the course of the written pleadings and oral 
hearings before the Court, expressed the view 
that Article 17 (art. 17) is not applicable in the 
present case; whereas the submissions of the 
Commission on this point may be summarised 
as follows: that the general purpose of Article 
17 (art. 17) is to prevent totalitarian groups 
from exploiting in their own interest the prin-
ciples enunciated by the Convention; but that 
to achieve that purpose it is not necessary to 
take away every one of the rights and freedoms 
guaranteed in the Convention from persons 
found to be engaged in activities aimed at the 
destruction of any of those rights and free-
doms; that Article 17 (art. 17) covers essentially 
those rights which, if invoked, would facilitate 
the attempt to derive therefrom a right to en-
gage personally in activities aimed at the de-
struction of "any of the rights and freedoms set 
forth in the Convention"; that the decision on 
the admissibility of the Application submitted 
by the German Communist Party (Application 
No. 250/57) was perfectly consistent with this 
construction of Article 17 (art. 17); that there 
could be no question, in connection with that 
Application, of the rights set forth in Articles 9, 
10 and 11 (art. 9, art. 10, art. 11) of the Conven-
tion, since those rights, if extended to the Com-
munist Party, would have enabled it to engage 

in the very activities referred to in Article 17 (art. 
17);

Whereas, in the present case, the Commission 
was of the opinion that, even if G. R. Lawless 
was personally engaged in IRA activities at the 
time of his arrest, Article 17 (art. 17) did not pre-
clude him from claiming the protection of Arti-
cles 5 and 6 (art. 5, art. 6) of the Convention nor 
absolve the Irish Government from observing 
the provisions of those Articles, which protect 
every person against arbitrary arrest and de-
tention without trial;

44. Whereas in the opinion of the Court the pur-
pose of Article 17 (art. 17), insofar as it refers to 
groups or to individuals, is to make it impos-
sible for them to derive from the Convention a 
right to engage in any activity or perform any 
act aimed at destroying any of the rights and 
freedoms set forth in the Convention; whereas, 
therefore, no person may be able to take ad-
vantage of the provisions of the Convention to 
perform acts aimed at destroying the aforesaid 
rights and freedoms; whereas this provision 
which is negative in scope cannot be con-
strued a contrario as depriving a physical per-
son of the fundamental individual rights guar-
anteed by Articles 5 and 6 (art. 5, art. 6) of the 
Convention; whereas, in the present instance 
G.R. Lawless has not relied on the Convention 
in order to justify or perform acts contrary to 
the rights and freedoms recognised therein 
but has complained of having been deprived 
of the guarantees granted in Articles 5 and 6 
(art. 5, art. 6) of the Convention; whereas, ac-
cordingly, the Court cannot, on this ground, ac-
cept the submissions of the Irish Government.

As to whether the detention of G.R. Lawless 
without trial from 13th July to 11th December 
1957 under Section 4 of the Offences against 
the State (Amendment) Act 1940, conflicted 
with the Irish Government's obligations under 
Articles 5 and 6 (art. 5, art. 6) of the Convention.

45. Whereas Article 5 (art. 5) of the Convention 
reads as follows:
"(1)Everyonehastherighttolibertyandsecu-
rityofperson.Nooneshallbedeprivedofhis
liberty save in the followingcasesand inac-
cordancewithaprocedureprescribedbylaw:

(a)thelawfuldetentionofapersonaftercon-
victionbyacompetentcourt;

(b) the lawfularrestordetentionofaperson
fornon-compliancewiththelawfulorderofa
courtorinordertosecurethefulfilmentofany
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obligationprescribedbylaw;

(c)thelawfularrestordetentionofapersonef-
fectedforthepurposeofbringinghimbefore
thecompetent legalauthorityon reasonable
suspicionofhavingcommittedanoffenceor
whenitisreasonablyconsiderednecessaryto
preventhiscommittinganoffenceor fleeing
afterhavingdoneso;

(d)thedetentionofaminorbylawfulorderfor
thepurposeofeducationalsupervisionofhis
lawful detention for thepurposeofbringing
himbeforethecompetentlegalauthority;

(e) the lawful detention of persons for the
preventionofthespreadingofinfectiousdis-
eases,ofpersonsofunsoundmind,alcoholics
ordrugaddictsorvagrants;

(f) the lawful arrestordetentionof aperson
topreventhiseffectinganunauthorisedentry
intothecountryorofapersonagainstwhom
actionisbeingtakenwithaviewtodeporta-
tionorextradition.

(2)Everyonewhoisarrestedshallbeinformed
promptly, in a language which he under-
stands,ofthereasonsforhisarrestandofany
chargeagainsthim.

(3) Everyone arrested or detained in accord-
ance with the provisions of paragraph 1 (c)
of this Article (art. 5-1-c) shall be brought
promptly before a judge or other officer au-
thorisedbylawtoexercisejudicialpowerand
shall be entitled to trial within a reasonable
timeor to releasepending trial.Releasemay
be conditioned by guarantees to appear for
trial.

(4)Everyonewhoisdeprivedofhislibertyby
arrest or detention shall be entitled to take
proceedings by which the lawfulness of his
detentionshallbedecidedspeedilybyacourt
andhisreleaseorderedifthedetentionisnot
lawful.

(5)Everyonewhohasbeenthevictimofarrest
or detention in contravention of the provi-
sions of this Article (art. 5) shall have an en-
forceablerighttocompensation."

46. Whereas the Commission, in its Report, ex-
pressed the opinion that the detention of G.R. 
Lawless did not fall within any of the catego-
ries of cases listed in Article 5, paragraph 1 (art. 
5-1) of the Convention and hence was not a 
measure deprivative of liberty which was au-
thorised by the said clause; whereas it is stated 
in that opinion that under Article 5, paragraph 
1 (art. 5-1), deprivation of liberty is authorised 
in six separate categories of cases of which 

only those referred to in sub-paragraphs (b) 
(art. 5-1-b) in fine ("in order to secure the fulfil-
ment of any obligation prescribed by law") and 
(c) (art. 5-1-c) of the said paragraph come into 
consideration in the present instance, the Irish 
Government having invoked each of those 
sub-paragraphs before the Commission as jus-
tifying the detention of G.R. Lawless; that, with 
regard to Article 5, paragraph 1 (b) (art. 5-1-b) 
in fine, the detention of Lawless by order of a 
Minister of State on suspicion of being engaged 
in activities prejudicial to the preservation of 
public peace and order or to the security of the 
State cannot be deemed to be a measure taken 
"in order to secure the fulfilment of any obliga-
tion prescribed by law", since that clause does 
not contemplate arrest or detention for the 
prevention of offences against public peace 
and public order or against the security of the 
State but for securing the execution of specific 
obligations imposed by law;

That, moreover, according to the Commission, 
the detention of G. R. Lawless is not covered by 
Article 5, paragraph 1 (c) (art. 5-1-c), since he 
was not brought before the competent judicial 
authority during the period under review; that 
paragraph 1 (c) (art. 5-1-c) authorises the arrest 
or detention of a person on suspicion of being 
engaged in criminal activities only when it is 
effected for the purpose of bringing him be-
fore the competent judicial authority; that the 
Commission has particularly pointed out in this 
connexion that both the English and French 
versions of the said clause make it clear that 
the words "effected for the purpose of bring-
ing him before the competent judicial author-
ity" apply not only to the case of a person ar-
rested or detained on "reasonable suspicion of 
having committed an offence" but also to the 
case of a person arrested or detained "when it 
is reasonably considered necessary to prevent 
his committing an offence or fleeing after hav-
ing done so"; that, furthermore, the presence of 
a comma in the French version after the words 
"s'il a été arrêté et détenu en vue d'être conduit 
devant l'autorité judiciaire compétente" means 
that this passage qualifies all the categories 
of arrest and detention mentioned after the 
comma; that in addition, paragraph 1 (c) of Ar-
ticle 5 (art. 5-1-c) has to be read in conjunction 
with paragraph 3 of the same Article (art. 5-3) 
whereby everyone arrested or detained in ac-
cordance with the provisions of paragraph 1 (c) 
of the said Article (art. 5-1-c) shall be brought 
promptly before a judge; that it is hereby con-
firmed that Article 5, paragraph 1 (c) (art. 5-1-c), 
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allows the arrest or detention of a person ef-
fected solely for the purpose of bringing him 
before a judge;

Whereas the Commission has expressed no 
opinion on whether or not the detention of 
G.R. Lawless was consistent with the provisions 
of Article 6 (art. 6) of the Convention;

47. Whereas the Irish Government have contend-
ed before the Court:

• that the detention from 13th July to 11th 
December 1957 of G.R. Lawless whose 
general conduct together with a number 
of specific circumstances drew upon him, 
in the opinion of the Commission itself 
(paragraph 138 of its Report), "the gravest 
suspicion that he was concerned with the 
activities of the IRA" at the time of his arrest 
in July 1957 - was not a violation of Article 5 
or 6 (art. 5, art. 6) of the Convention; where-
as the Irish Government have contended 
that the Convention does not require that a 
person arrested or detained on preventive 
grounds shall be brought before a judicial 
authority; and that, consequently, the de-
tention of G.R. Lawless did not conflict with 
the stipulations of the Convention; whereas 
on this point the Irish Government, not re-
lying before the Court, as they had done 
before the Commission, on paragraph 1 (b) 
of Article 5 (art. 5-1-b), have made submis-
sions which include the following: that Ar-
ticle 5 paragraph 1 (c) (art. 5-1-c) refers to 
two entirely separate categories of cases of 
deprivation of liberty - those where a per-
son is arrested or detained "on reasonable 
suspicion of having committed an offence" 
and those where a person is arrested or 
detained "when it is reasonably considered 
necessary to prevent his committing an of-
fence, etc."; that it is clear from the word-
ing of the said clause that the obligation 
to bring the arrested or detained person 
before the competent judicial authority ap-
plies only to the former category of case; 
that this is the meaning of the clause, par-
ticularly in the English version;

• that the preliminary work on Article 5 (art. 
5) supports this construction of the said 
clause; that account must be taken of the 
fact that the said Article (art. 5) is derived 
from a proposal submitted to the Commit-
tee of Experts by the United Kingdom del-
egation in March 1950 and that the French 
version is consequently only a translation 

of the original English text; that, as regards 
paragraph 1 (c) on the Article (art. 5-1-c), the 
words "or when it is reasonably considered 
necessary" appeared in the first draft as "or 
which is reasonably considered to be nec-
essary" and, in the English version, clearly 
refer to the words "arrest or detention" and 
not to the phrase "effected for the purpose 
of bringing him before the competent le-
gal authority"; that this clause subsequently 
underwent only drafting alterations;

• that Article 5, paragraph 3 (art. 5-3) does not 
conflict with this construction of paragraph 
1 (c) of the same Article (art. 5-1-c); that 
paragraph 3 (art. 5-3) applies only to the 
first category of cases mentioned in para-
graph 1 (c) (art. 5-1-c) and not to cases of 
the arrest or detention of a person "when it 
is reasonably considered necessary to pre-
vent his committing an offence"; that this 
interpretation is supported by the fact that 
in Common Law countries a person cannot 
be put on trial for having intended to com-
mit an offence;

• that Article 5, paragraph 3 (art. 5-3), is also 
derived from a proposal submitted in March 
1950 by the United Kingdom delegation to 
the "Committee of Experts" convened to 
prepare the first draft of a Convention; that 
the British proposal was embodied in the 
draft produced by the Committee of Ex-
perts; that this draft was then examined by 
a "Conference of Senior Officials" who de-
leted from paragraph 3 (art. 5-3) the words 
"or to prevent his committing a crime"; that 
paragraph 3 (art. 5-3), after amendment by 
the Senior Officials, accordingly read as fol-
lows:

"Anyone arrested or detained on the charge of 
having committed a crime, in accordance with 
the provisions of paragraph 1 (c) (art. 5-1-c), 
shall be brought promptly before a judge or 
other officer authorised by law.";

• that it follows from the foregoing that the 
Senior Officials intended to exclude from 
Article 5, paragraph 3 (art. 5-3), the case of a 
person arrested to prevent his committing 
a crime; that this intention on the part of 
the Senior Officials is further confirmed by 
the following passage in their Report to the 
Committee of Ministers (Doc. CM/WP 4 (50) 
19, p. 14):

"TheConferenceconsidereditusefultopoint
outthatwhereauthorisedarrestordetention
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iseffectedonreasonablesuspicionofprevent-
ing thecommissionofa crime, it shouldnot
leadtotheintroductionofaregimeofaPolice
State.Itmay,however,benecessaryincertain
circumstancestoarrestanindividualinorder
topreventhiscommittingacrime,evenifthe
factswhichshowhisintentiontocommitthe
crimedonotofthemselvesconstituteapenal
offence.Inordertoavoidanypossibleabuses
oftherightthusconferredonpublicauthori-
ties,Article13,para.2(art.13-2),willhaveto
beappliedstrictly.";

• that it is clear from the report of the Sen-
ior Officials that they - being aware of the 
danger of abuse in applying a clause which, 
as in the case of Article 5, paragraph 1 (c) 
(art. 5-1-c), allows the arrest or detention of 
a person when it is reasonably considered 
necessary to prevent his committing an of-
fence - wished to obviate that danger not 
by means of a judicial decision but through 
the strict enforcement of the rule in Article 
13, paragraph 2, of the draft, which later be-
came Article 18 (art. 18) of Convention; and 
that Article 5 (art. 5) subsequently under-
went only drafting alterations which, how-
ever, did not make the meaning of the text 
absolutely clear or render it proof against 
misinterpretation;

• whereas the Irish Government have con-
tended that Article 6 (art. 6) of the Conven-
tion is irrelevant to the present case, since 
there was no criminal charge against Law-
less;

48.  Whereas the Commission in its Report and its 
Principal Delegate at the oral hearing rebutted 
the construction placed by the Irish Govern-
ment on Article 5 (art. 5) and based in part on 
the preparatory work; whereas the Commis-
sion contends in the first place that, in accord-
ance with a well-established rule concerning 
the interpretation of international treaties, it is 
not permissible to resort to preparatory work 
when the meaning of the clauses to be con-
strued is clear and unequivocal; and that even 
reference to the preparatory work can reveal 
no ground for questioning the Commission's 
interpretation of Article 5 (art. 5); whereas, 
in support of its interpretation it has put for-
ward submissions which may be summarised 
as follows: that it is true that, in the Council of 
Europe, Article 5 (art. 5) is derived from a pro-
posal made to the Committee of Experts by 
the United Kingdom delegation in March 1950, 
but that that proposal was based on a text 
introduced in the United Nations by a group 

of States which included not only the United 
Kingdom but also France; that the United Na-
tions text was prepared in a number of lan-
guages, including Englishand French; that the 
British delegation, when introducing their pro-
posal in the Committee of Experts of the Coun-
cil of Europe, put in both the French and the 
English versions of the text in question; that the 
English version cannot therefore be regarded 
as the dominant text; that on the contrary, all 
the evidence goes to show that the changes 
made in the English version, particularly in that 
of Article 5, paragraph 1 (c) (art. 5-1-c), during 
the preparatory work at the Council of Europe 
were intended to bring it into line with the 
French text, which, apart from a few drafting 
alterations of no importance to the present 
case, was essentially the same as that finally 
adopted for Article 5 (art. 5) of the Convention; 
that this is true even of the comma after the 
words "autorité judiciaire compétente", which 
strictly bears out the construction placed by 
the Commission on Article 5, paragraph 1 (c) 
(art. 5-1-c); that the preparatory work on Arti-
cle 5, paragraph 3 (art. 5-3), leaves no room for 
doubt about the intention of the authors of the 
Convention to require that everyone arrested 
or detained in one or other of the circumstanc-
es mentioned in paragraph 1 (c) of the same 
Article (art. 5-1-c) should be brought promptly 
before a judge; that this text, too, had its origin 
in the United Nations draft Covenant in both 
languages; that the words "on the charge of 
having committed a crime" were in fact de-
leted on 7th August 1950 by the Committee 
of Ministers themselves, but only in order to 
bring the English text into line with the French, 
which had already been given the following 
wording by the Conference of Senior Officials: 
"Toute personne arrêtée ou détenue, dans les 
conditions prévues au paragraphe 1 (c) (art. 
5-1-c) etc. ..."; and that the submissions of the 
Irish Government therefore receive no support 
from the preparatory work;

49.  Whereas in the first place, the Court must 
point out that the rules set forth in Article 5, 
paragraph 1 (b), and Article 6 (art. 5-1-b, art. 6) 
respectively are irrelevant to the present pro-
ceedings, the former because G.R. Lawless was 
not detained "for non-compliance with the ... 
order of a court" and the latter because there 
was no criminal charge against him; whereas, 
on this point, the Court is required to consider 
whether or not the detention of G.R. Lawless 
from 13th July to 11th December 1957 under 
the 1940 Amendment Act conflicted with the 
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provisions of Article 5, paragraphs 1 (c) and 3 
(art. 5-1-c, art. 5-3);

50. Whereas, in this connection, the question re-
ferred to the judgment of the Court is whether 
or not the provisions of Article 5, paragraphs 
1 (c) and 3 (art. 5-1-c, art. 5-3), prescribe that a 
person arrested or detained "when it is reason-
ably considered necessary to prevent his com-
mitting an offence" shall be brought before 
a judge, in other words whether, in Article 5, 
paragraph 1 (c) (art. 5-1-c), the expression "ef-
fected for the purpose of bringing him before 
the competent judicial authority" qualifies only 
the words "on reasonable suspicion of hav-
ing committed an offence" or also the words 
"when it is reasonably considered necessary to 
prevent his committing an offence";

51. Whereas the wording of Article 5, paragraph 1 
(c) (art. 5-1-c), is sufficiently clear to give an an-
swer to this question; whereas it is evident that 
the expression "effected for purpose of bring-
ing him before the competent legal author-
ity" qualifies every category of cases of arrest 
or detention referred to in that sub-paragraph 
(art. 5-1-c); whereas it follows that the said 
clause permits deprivation of liberty only when 
such deprivation is effected for the purpose of 
bringing the person arrested or detained be-
fore the competent judicial authority, irrespec-
tive of whether such person is a person who 
is reasonably suspected of having committed 
an offence, or a person whom it is reasonably 
considered necessary to restrain from commit-
ting an offence, or a person whom it reason-
ably considered necessary to restrain from ab-
sconding after having committed an offence;

Whereas, further, paragraph 1 (c) of Article 5 
(art. 5-1-c) can be construed only if read in con-
junction with paragraph 3 of the same Article 
(art. 5-3), with which it forms a whole; whereas 
paragraph 3 (art. 5-3) stipulates categorically 
that "everyone arrested or detained in accord-
ance with the provisions of paragraph 1 (c) of 
this Article (art. 5-1-c) shall be brought prompt-
ly before a judge ..." and "shall be entitled to 
trial within a reasonable time"; whereas it plain-
ly entails the obligation to bring everyone ar-
rested or detained in any of the circumstances 
contemplated by the provisions of paragraph 1 
(c) (art. 5-1-c) before a judge for the purpose of 
examining the question of deprivation of liber-
ty or for the purpose of deciding on the merits; 
whereas such is the plain and natural meaning 
of the wording of both paragraph 1 (c) and 
paragraph 3 of Article 5 (art. 5-1-c, art. 5-3);

Whereas the meaning thus arrived at by gram-
matical analysis is fully in harmony with the 
purpose of the Convention which is to pro-
tect the freedom and security of the individual 
against arbitrary detention or arrest; whereas 
it must be pointed out in this connexion that, 
if the construction placed by the Court on the 
aforementioned provisions were not correct, 
anyone suspected of harbouring an intent to 
commit an offence could be arrested and de-
tained for an unlimited period on the strength 
merely of an executive decision without its be-
ing possible to regard his arrest or detention as 
a breach of the Convention; whereas such an 
assumption, with all its implications of arbitrary 
power, would lead to conclusions repugnant 
to the fundamental principles of the Conven-
tion; whereas therefore, the Court cannot deny 
Article 5, paragraphs 1 (c) and 3 (art. 5-1-c, art. 
5-3), the plain and natural meaning which fol-
lows both from the precise words used and 
from the impression created by their context; 
whereas, therefore, there is no reason to con-
cur with the Irish Government in their analysis 
of paragraph 3 (art. 5-3) seeking to show that 
that clause is applicable only to the first cate-
gory of cases referred to in Article 5, paragraph 
1 (c) (art. 5-1-c), to the exclusion of cases of ar-
rest or detention of a person "when it is reason-
ably considered necessary to prevent his com-
mitting an offence";

Whereas, having ascertained that the text of 
Article 5, paragraphs 1 (c) and 3, (art. 5-1-c, art. 
5-3) is sufficiently clear in itself and means, on 
the one hand, that every person whom "it is 
reasonably considered necessary to prevent 
... committing an offence" may be arrested or 
detained only "for the purpose of bringing him 
before the competent legal authority" and, on 
the other hand, that once a person is arrested 
or detained he shall be brought before a judge 
and "shall be entitled to trial within a reason-
able time", and that, having also found that 
the meaning of this text is in keeping with the 
purpose of the Convention, the Court cannot, 
having regard to a generally recognised princi-
ple regarding th interpretation of international 
treaties, resort to the preparatory work;

52. Whereas it has been shown that the detention 
of G.R. Lawless from 13th July to 11th Decem-
ber 1957 was not "effected for the purpose 
of bringing him before the competent legal 
authority" and that during his detention he 
was not in fact brought before a judge for trial 
"within a reasonable time"; whereas it follows 
that his detention under Section 4 of the Irish 
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1940 Act was contrary to the provisions of Ar-
ticle 5, paras. 1 (c) and 3 (art. 5-1-c, art. 5-3) of 
the Convention; whereas it will therefore be 
necessary to examine whether, in the particular 
circumstances of the case, the detention was 
justified on other legal grounds;

As to whether the detention of G.R. Lawless 
from 13th July to 11th December 1957 under 
Section 4 of the Offences against the State 
(Amendment) Act, 1940, conflicted with the 
Irish Government's obligations under Article 7 
(art. 7) of the Convention.

53. Whereas the Commission referred before the 
Court to the renewed allegation of G.R. Lawless 
that his detention constituted a violation of Ar-
ticle 7 (art. 7) of the Convention; whereas the 
said Article (art. 7) reads as follows:
"(1)Nooneshallbeheldguiltyofanycrimi-
naloffenceonaccountofanyactoromission
which did not constitute a criminal offence
undernationalorinternationallawatthetime
when it was committed. Nor shall a heavier
penaltybeimposedthantheonethatwasap-
plicableat the time thecriminaloffencewas
committed.

(2)ThisArticle (art.7) shallnotprejudice the
trial and punishment of any person for any
act or omission which, at the time when it
wascommitted,wascriminalaccordingtothe
general principles of law recognised by civi-
lisednations."

Whereas the submissions made by G.R. Law-
less before the Commission were substantially 
as follows: that the 1940 Act was brought into 
force on 8th July 1957 and that he was arrested 
on 11th July 1957; that is was evident from the 
proceedings before the Detention Commis-
sion - which had to examine cases of detention 
effected under the 1940 Act - that the Minister 
of State, in signing the warrant of detention, 
had taken into consideration matters alleged 
to have occurred before 8th July 1957; that, if 
the substance rather than the form of the 1940 
Act were considered, detention under that Act 
would constitute a penalty for having commit-
ted an offence; that the offences to which the 
1940 Act relates were not punishable before 
8th July 1957, when the Act came into force; 
that, furthermore, if he had been convicted of 
the alleged offences by an ordinary court, he 
would in all probability have been sentenced 
to less severe penalties which would have 
been subject to review on appeal in due course 
of law;

54. Whereas the Commission, in its Report, ex-
pressed the opinion that Article 7 (art. 7) was 
not applicable in the present case; that in par-
ticular, G.R. Lawless was not detained as a re-
sult of a conviction on a criminal charge and 
that his detention was not a "heavier penalty" 
within the meaning of Article 7 (art. 7); that, 
moreover, there was no question of section 
4 of the 1940 Act being applied retroactively, 
since a person was liable to be detained under 
that clause only if a Minister of State was of the 
opinion that that person was, after the power 
of detention conferred by section 4 had come 
into force, engaged in activities prejudicial to 
the preservation of public peace and order or 
the security of the State;

55. Whereas the Irish Government share the Com-
mission's opinion on this point;

56. Whereas the proceedings show that the Irish 
Government detained G.R. Lawless under the 
Offences against the State (Amendment) Act, 
1940, for the sole purpose of restraining him 
from engaging in activities prejudicial to the 
preservation of public peace and order or the 
security of the State; whereas his detention, be-
ing a preventive measure, cannot be deemed 
to be due to his having been held guilty of a 
criminal offence within the meaning of Article 
7 (art. 7) of the Convention; whereas it follows 
that Article 7 (art. 7) has no bearing on the case 
of G.R. Lawless; whereas, therefore, the Irish 
Government in detaining G.R. Lawless under 
the 1940 Act, did not violate their obligation 
under Article 7 (art. 7) of the Convention.

As to whether, despite Articles 5 and 6 (art. 5, 
art. 6) of the Convention, the detention of G.R. 
Lawless was justified by the right of derogation 
allowed to the High Contracting Parties in cer-
tain exceptional circumstances under Article 
15 (art. 15) of the Convention.

57. Whereas the Court is called upon to decide 
whether the detention of G.R. Lawless from 
13th July to 11th December 1957 under the 
Offences against the State (Amendment) Act, 
1940, was justified, despite Articles 5 and 6 (art. 
5, art. 6) of the Convention, by the right of dero-
gation allowed to the High Contracting Parties 
in certain exceptional circumstances under Ar-
ticle 15 (art. 15) of the Convention;

58. Whereas Article 15 (art. 15) reads as follows:
"(1)Intimeofwarorotherpublicemergency
threatening the life of the nation any High
Contracting Party may take measures dero-
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gating from its obligations under this Con-
vention to theextentstrictly requiredby the
exigenciesofthesituation,providedthatsuch
measures are not inconsistentwith its other
obligationsunderinternationallaw.

(2)NoderogationfromArticle2(art.2),except
inrespectofdeathsresultingfromlawfulacts
ofwar,orfromArticles3,4(paragraph1)and
7 (art. 3, art. 4-1, art. 7) shall bemadeunder
thisprovision.

(3) AnyHighContracting Party availing itself
ofthisrightofderogationshallkeeptheSec-
retary-General of the Council of Europe fully
informedof themeasureswhich ithas taken
andthereasonstherefore.Itshallalsoinform
theSecretary-GeneraloftheCouncilofEurope
when such measures have ceased to oper-
ateandtheprovisionsoftheConventionare
againbeingfullyexecuted.";

59. Whereas it follows from these provisions that, 
without being released from all its undertak-
ings assumed in the Convention, the Gov-
ernment of any High Contracting Party has 
the right, in case of war or public emergency 
threatening the life of the nation, to take meas-
ures derogating from its obligations under the 
Convention other than those named in Article 
15, paragraph 2 (art. 15-2), provided that such 
measures are strictly limited to what is required 
by the exigencies of the situation and also that 
they do not conflict with other obligations un-
der international law; whereas it is for the Court 
to determine whether the conditions laid 
down in Article 15 (art. 15) for the exercise of 
the exceptional right of derogation have been 
fulfilled in the present case;

(a)  As  to  the  existence  of  a  public  emergency 
threatening the life of the nation.

60. Whereas the Irish Government, by a Proclama-
tion dated 5th July 1957 and published in the 
Official Gazette on 8th July 1957, brought into 
force the extraordinary powers conferred upon 
it by Part II of the Offences against the State 
(Amendment) Act, 1940, "to secure the preser-
vation of public peace and order";

61. Whereas, by letter dated 20th July 1957 ad-
dressed to the Secretary-General of the Coun-
cil of Europe, the Irish Government expressly 
stated that "the detention of persons under 
the Act is considered necessary to prevent the 
commission of offences against public peace 
and order and to prevent the maintaining of 
military or armed forces other than those au-
thorised by the Constitution";

62. Whereas, in reply to the Application intro-
duced by G.R. Lawless before the Commission, 
the Irish Government adduced a series of facts 
from which they inferred the existence, during 
the period mentioned, of "a public emergency 
threatening the life of the nation" within the 
meaning of Article 15 (art. 15);

63. Whereas, before the Commission, G.R. Lawless 
submitted in support of his application that the 
aforesaid facts, even if proved to exist, would 
not have constituted a "public emergency 
threatening the life of the nation" within the 
meaning of Article 15 (art. 15); whereas, moreo-
ver, he disputed some of the facts adduced by 
the Irish Government;

64. Whereas the Commission, following the inves-
tigation carried out by it in accordance with Ar-
ticle 28 (art. 28) of the Convention, expressed a 
majority opinion in its Report that in "July 1957 
there existed in Ireland a public emergency 
threatening the life of the nation within the 
meaning of Article 15, paragraph 1 (art. 15-1), 
of the Convention";

65. Whereas, in the general context of Article 15 
(art. 15) of the Convention, the natural and 
customary meaning of the words "other public 
emergency threatening the life of the nation" 
is sufficiently clear; whereas they refer to an 
exceptional situation of crisis or emergency 
which affects the whole population and con-
stitutes a threat to the organised life of the 
community of which the State is composed; 
whereas, having thus established the natural 
and customary meaning of this conception, 
the Court must determine whether the facts 
and circumstances which led the Irish Govern-
ment to make their Proclamation of 5th July 
1957 come within this conception; whereas 
the Court, after an examination, find this to be 
the case; whereas the existence at the time of 
a "public emergency threatening the life of the 
nation", was reasonably deduced by the Irish 
Government from a combination of several 
factors, namely: in the first place, the existence 
in the territory of the Republic of Ireland of a 
secret army engaged in unconstitutional activi-
ties and using violence to attain its purposes; 
secondly, the fact that this army was also op-
erating outside the territory of the State, thus 
seriously jeopardising the relations of the Re-
public of Ireland with its neighbour; thirdly, the 
steady and alarming increase in terrorist activi-
ties from the autumn of 1956 and throughout 
the first half of 1957;
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66. Whereas, despite the gravity of the situation, 
the Government had succeeded, by using 
means available under ordinary legislation, in 
keeping public institutions functioning more 
or less normally, but whereas the homicidal 
ambush on the night 3rd to 4th July 1957 in 
the territory of Northern Ireland near the bor-
der had brought to light, just before 12th July 
- a date, which, for historical reasons is particu-
larly critical for the preservation of public peace 
and order - the imminent danger to the nation 
caused by the continuance of unlawful activi-
ties in Northern Ireland by the IRA and various 
associated groups, operating from the territory 
of the Republic of Ireland;

67. Whereas, in conclusion, the Irish Government 
were justified in declaring that there was a 
public emergency in the Republic of Ireland 
threatening the life of the nation and were 
hence entitled, applying the provisions of Ar-
ticle 15, paragraph 1 (art. 15-1), of Convention 
for the purposes for which those provisions 
were made, to take measures derogating from 
their obligations under the Convention;

(b)  As to whether the measures taken in deroga-
tion  from  obligations  under  the  Convention 
were  "strictly  required  by  the  exigencies  of 
the situation".

68. Whereas Article 15, paragraph 1 (art. 15-1), pro-
vides that a High Contracting Party may dero-
gate from its obligations under the Convention 
only "to the extent strictly required by the exi-
gencies of the situation"; whereas it is there-
fore necessary, in the present case, to examine 
whether the bringing into force of Part II of the 
1940 Act was a measure strictly required by the 
emergency existing in 1957;

69. Whereas G.R. Lawless contended before the 
Commission that even if the situation in 1957 
was such as to justify derogation from obliga-
tions under the Convention, the bringing into 
operation and the enforcement of Part II of the 
Offences against the State (Amendment) Act 
1940 were disproportionate to the strict re-
quirements of the situation;

70. Whereas the Irish Government, before both the 
Commission and the Court, contended that 
the measures taken under Part II of the 1940 
Act were, in the circumstances, strictly required 
by the exigencies of the situation in accord-
ance with Article 15, paragraph 1 (art. 15-1), of 
the Convention;

71. Whereas while the majority of the Commission 

concurred with the Irish Government's sub-
missions on this point, some members of the 
Commission drew from the facts established 
different legal conclusions;

72. Whereas it was submitted that in view of the 
means available to the Irish Government in 
1957 for controlling the activities of the IRA 
and its splinter groups the Irish Government 
could have taken measure which would have 
rendered superfluous so grave a measure as 
detention without trial; whereas, in this con-
nection, mention was made of the application 
of the ordinary criminal law, the institution of 
special criminal courts of the type provided for 
by the Offences against the State Act, 1939, or 
of military courts; whereas it would have been 
possible to consider other measures such as 
the sealing of the border between the Republic 
of Ireland and Northern Ireland;

73. Whereas, however, considering, in the judg-
ment of the Court, that in 1957 the applica-
tion of the ordinary law had proved unable to 
check the growing danger which threatened 
the Republic of Ireland; whereas the ordinary 
criminal courts, or even the special criminal 
courts or military courts, could not suffice to 
restore peace and order; whereas, in particu-
lar, the amassing of the necessary evidence to 
convict persons involved in activities of the IRA 
and its splinter groups was meeting with great 
difficulties caused by the military, secret and 
terrorist character of those groups and the fear 
they created among the population; whereas 
the fact that these groups operated mainly in 
Northern Ireland, their activities in the Republic 
of Ireland being virtually limited to the prepa-
ration of armed raids across the border was 
an additional impediment to the gathering 
of sufficient evidence; whereas the sealing of 
the border would have had extremely serious 
repercussions on the population as a whole, 
beyond the extent required by the exigencies 
of the emergency;

Whereas it follows from the foregoing that 
none of the above-mentioned means would 
have made it possible to deal with the situation 
existing in Ireland in 1957; whereas, therefore, 
the administrative detention – as instituted 
under the Act (Amendment) of 1940 - of indi-
viduals suspected of intending to take part in 
terrorist activities, appeared, despite its gravity, 
to be a measure required by the circumstances;

74. Whereas, moreover, the Offences against the 
State (Amendment) Act of 1940, was subject 
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to a number of safeguards designed to prevent 
abuses in the operation of the system of admin-
istrative detention; whereas the application of 
the Act was thus subject to constant supervi-
sion by Parliament, which not only received 
precise details of its enforcement at regular 
intervals but could also at any time, by a Reso-
lution, annul the Government's Proclamation 
which had brought the Act into force; whereas 
the Offences against the State (Amendment) 
Act 1940, provided for the establishment of 
a "Detention Commission" made up of three 
members, which the Government did in fact 
set up, the members being an officer of the 
Defence Forces and two judges; whereas any 
person detained under this Act could refer 
his case to that Commission whose opinion, 
if favourable to the release of the person con-
cerned, was binding upon the Government; 
whereas, moreover, the ordinary courts could 
themselves compel the Detention Commission 
to carry out its functions;

Whereas, in conclusion, immediately after the 
Proclamation which brought the power of de-
tention into force, the Government publicly an-
nounced that it would release any person de-
tained who gave an undertaking to respect the 
Constitution and the Law and not to engage 
in any illegal activity, and that the wording of 
this undertaking was later altered to one which 
merely required that the person detained 
would undertake to observe the law and re-
frain from activities contrary to the 1940 Act; 
whereas the persons arrested were informed 
immediately after their arrest that they would 
be released following the undertaking in ques-
tion; whereas in a democratic country such as 
Ireland the existence of this guarantee of re-
lease given publicly by the Government consti-
tuted a legal obligation on the Government to 
release all persons who gave the undertaking;

Whereas, therefore, it follows from the forego-
ing that the detention without trial provided 
for by the 1940 Act, subject to the above-men-
tioned safeguards, appears to be a measure 
strictly required by the exigencies of the situ-
ation within the meaning of Article 15 (art. 15) 
of the Convention;

75. Whereas, in the particular case of G.R. Lawless, 
there is nothing to show that the powers of de-
tention conferred upon the Irish Government 
by the Offences against the State (Amendment) 
Act 1940, were employed against him, either 
within the meaning of Article 18 (art. 18) of the 
Convention, for a purpose other than that for 

which they were granted, or within the mean-
ing of Article 15 (art. 15) of the Convention, by 
virtue of a measure going beyond what was 
strictly required by the situation at that time; 
whereas on the contrary, the Commission, af-
ter finding in its Decision of 30th August 1958 
on the admissibility of the Application that the 
Applicant had in fact submitted his Applica-
tion to it after having exhausted the domestic 
remedies, observed in its Report that the gen-
eral conduct of G.R. Lawless, "his association 
with persons known to be active members of 
the IRA, his conviction for carrying incriminat-
ing documents and other circumstances were 
such as to draw upon the Applicant the grav-
est suspicion that, whether or not he was any 
longer a member, he still was concerned with 
the activities of the IRA at the time of his arrest 
in July 1957; whereas the file also shows that, 
at the beginning of G.R. Lawless's detention 
under Act No. 2 of 1940, the Irish Government 
informed him that he would be released if he 
gave a written undertaking "to respect the 
Constitution of Ireland and the Laws" and not 
to "be a member of or assist any organisation 
that is an unlawful organisation under the Of-
fences against the State Act, 1939"; whereas in 
December 1957 the Government renewed its 
offer in a different form, which was accepted 
by G.R. Lawless, who gave a verbal undertaking 
before the Detention Commission not to "take 
part in any activities that are illegal under the 
Offences against the State Acts 1939 and 1940" 
and was accordingly immediately released;

(c)  As to whether the measures derogating from 
obligations  under  the  Convention  were  "in-
consistent  with  ...  other  obligations  under 
international law".

76. Whereas Article 15, paragraph 1 (art. 15-1), of 
the Convention authorises a High Contracting 
Party to take measures derogating from the 
Convention only provided that they "are not 
inconsistent with ... other obligations under 
international law";

77. Whereas, although neither the Commission 
nor the Irish Government have referred to this 
provision in the proceedings, the function of 
the Court, which is to ensure the observance of 
the engagements undertaken by the Contract-
ing Parties in the Convention (Article 19 of the 
Convention) (art. 19), requires it to determine 
proprio motu whether this condition has been 
fulfilled in the present case;

78. Whereas no facts have come to the knowledge 
of the Court which give it cause hold that the 



789CASEOFLAWLESSVIRELAND(NO.3)

EC
J

EC
HR

measure taken by the Irish Government dero-
gating from the Convention may have con-
flicted with the said Government's other obli-
gations under international law;

As to whether the letter of 20th July 1957 from 
the Irish Government to the Secretary-General 
of the Council of Europe was a sufficient notifi-
cation for the purposes of Article 15, paragraph 
3 (art. 15-3), of the Convention.

79. Whereas Article 15, paragraph 3 (art. 15-3), 
of the Convention provides that a Contract-
ing Party availing itself of the right of deroga-
tion under paragraph 1 of the same Article 
(art. 15-1) shall keep the Secretary-General of 
the Council of Europe fully informed of the 
measures which it has taken and the reasons 
therefore and shall also inform him when such 
measures have ceased to operate;

80. Whereas, in the present case, the Irish Gov-
ernment, on 20th July 1957, sent the Secre-
tary-General of the Council of Europe a letter 
informing him - as is stated therein: "in compli-
ance with Article 15 (3) (art. 15-3) of the Con-
vention" - that Part II of the Offences against 
the State (Amendment) Act, 1940, had been 
brought into force on 8th July 1957; whereas 
copies of the Irish Government's Proclamation 
on the subject and of the 1940 Act itself were 
attached to the said letter; whereas the Irish 
Government explained in the said letter that 
the measure in question was "considered nec-
essary to prevent the commission of offences 
against public peace and order and to prevent 
the maintaining of military or armed forces 
other than those authorised by the Constitu-
tion";

81. Whereas G.R. Lawless contested before the 
Commission the Irish Government's right to 
rely on the letter of 20th July 1957 as a valid 
notice of derogation un Article 15, paragraph 3 
(art. 15-3), of the Convention; whereas, in sub-
stance, he contended before the Commission: 
that the letter had not the character of a notice 
of derogation, as the Government had not sent 
it for the purpose of registering a formal notice 
of derogation; that even if the letter were to be 
regarded as constituting such a notice, it did 
not comply with the strict requirements of Arti-
cle 15, paragraph 3 (art. 15-3), in that it neither 
adduced, as a ground for detention without tri-
al, the existence of a time of war or other pub-
lic emergency threatening the life of the nation 
nor properly defined the nature of the measure 
taken by the Government; whereas the Prin-

cipal Delegate of the Commission, in the pro-
ceedings before the Court, made known a third 
contention of G.R. Lawless to the effect that the 
derogation, even if it had been duly notified to 
the Secretary-General on 20th July 1957, could 
not be enforced against persons within the ju-
risdiction of the Republic of Ireland in respect 
of the period before 23rd October 1957, when 
it was first made public in Ireland;

82. Whereas the Commission expressed the opin-
ion that the Irish Government had not delayed 
in bringing the enforcement of the special 
measures to the attention of the Secretary-
General with explicit reference to Article 15, 
paragraph 3 (art. 15-3), of the Convention; 
whereas the terms of the letter of 20th July 
1957, to which were attached copies of the 
1940 Act and of the Proclamation bringing it 
into force, were sufficient to indicate to the 
Secretary-General the nature of the measures 
taken and that consequently, while noting that 
the letter of 20th July did not contain a detailed 
account of the reasons which had led the Irish 
Government to take the measures of deroga-
tion, it could not say that in the present case 
there had not been a sufficient compliance 
with the provisions of Article 15, paragraph 3 
(art. 15-3); whereas, with regard to G.R. Law-
less' third contention the Delegates of the 
Commission added, in the proceedings before 
the Court, that Article 15, paragraph 3 (art. 15-
3), of the Convention required only that the 
Secretary-General of the Council of Europe be 
informed of the measures of derogation taken, 
without obliging the State concerned to prom-
ulgate the notice of derogation within the 
framework of its municipal laws;

83. Whereas the Irish Government, in their final 
submissions, asked the Court to state, in ac-
cordance with the Commission's opinion, that 
the letter of 20th July 1957 constituted a suf-
ficient notification for the purposes of Article 
15, paragraph 3 (art. 15-3), of the Convention 
or, alternatively, to declare that there is nothing 
in the said paragraph 3 (art. 15-3) which, in the 
present case, detracts from the Irish Govern-
ment's right to rely on paragraph 1 of the said 
Article 15 (art. 15-1);

84. Whereas the Court is called upon in the first 
instance, to examine whether, in pursuance of 
paragraph 3 of Article 15 (art. 15-3) of the Con-
vention, the Secretary-General of the Coun-
cil of Europe was duly informed both of the 
measures taken and of the reason therefore; 
whereas the Court notes that a copy of the 
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Offences against the State (Amendment) Act, 
1940, and a copy of the Proclamation of 5th 
July, published on 8th July 1957, bringing into 
force Part II of the aforesaid Act were attached 
to the letter of 20th July; that it was explained 
in the letter of 20th July that the measures had 
been taken in order "to prevent the commis-
sion of offences against public peace and order 
and to prevent the maintaining of military or 
armed forces other than those authorised by 
the Constitution"; that the Irish

Government thereby gave the Secretary-
General sufficient information of the measures 
taken and the reasons therefore; that, in the 
second place, the Irish Government brought 
this information to the Secretary-General's at-
tention only twelve days after the entry into 
force of the measures derogating from their 
obligations under the Convention; and that 
the notification was therefore made without 
delay; whereas, in conclusion, the Convention 
does not contain any special provision to the 
effect that the Contracting State concerned 
must promulgate in its territory the notice of 
derogation addressed to the Secretary-General 
of the Council of Europe;

Whereas the Court accordingly finds that, in 
the present case, the Irish Government fulfilled 
their obligations as Party to the Convention 
under Article 15, paragraph 3 (art. 15-3), of the 
Convention;

FOR THESE REASONS THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY,

(i) Dismisses the plea in bar derived by the Irish 
Government from Article 17 (art. 17) of the 
Convention;

(ii) States that Articles 5 and 6 (art. 5, art. 6) of 
the Convention provided no legal foundation 
for the detention without trial of G.R. Lawless 
from 13th July to 11th December 1957, by 
virtue of Article 4 of the Offences against the 
State (Amendment) Act, 1940;

(iii) States that there was no breach of Article 7 
(art. 7) of the Convention;

(iv) States that the detention of G.R. Lawless from 
13th July to 11th December 1957 was found-
ed on the right of derogation duly exercised 
by the Irish Government in pursuance of Arti-
cle 15 (art. 15) of the Convention in July 1957;

(v) States that the communication addressed by 
the Irish Government to the Secretary-Gener-
al of the Council of Europe on 20th July 1957 
constituted sufficient notification within the 
meaning of Article 15, paragraph 3 (art. 15-3), 
of the Convention;

Decides, accordingly, that in the present case the 
facts found do not disclose a breach by the Irish 
Government of their obligations under the Eu-
ropean Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and fundamental freedoms;

Decides, therefore, that the question of entitle-
ment by G.R. Lawless to compensation in respect 
of such a breach does not arise.

Done in French and in English, the French text be-
ing authentic, at the Council of Europe, Strasbourg, 
this first day of July one thousand nine hundred 
and sixty-one.

R. CASSIN, President
P. MODINOS, Registrar

Mr. G. MARIDAKIS, Judge, while concurring with the 
operative part of the judgment, annexed thereto 
an individual opinion, in accordance with Rule 50, 
paragraph 2 of the Rules of Court.

InDIVIDUAL oPInIon oF 
MR. G. MARIDAKIs
The Irish Government have not violated the provi-
sions of Article 15 (art. 15) of the Convention.

When the State is engaged in a life and death strug-
gle, no one can demand that it refrain from taking 
special emergency measures: salus rei publicae su-
prema lex est. Article 15 (art. 15) is founded on that 
principle.

Postulating this right of defence, the Convention 
provides in this Article (art. 15) that "in time of war 
or other public emergency threatening the life of 
the nation any High Contracting Party may take 
measures derogating from its obligations under 
this Convention", provided, however, that it does 
so only "to the extent strictly required by the exi-
gencies of the situation" and "provided that such 
measures are not inconsistent with its other obliga-
tions under international law."

By "public emergency threatening the life of the 
nation" it is to be understood a quite exceptional 
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situation which imperils or might imperil the nor-
mal operation of public policy established in ac-
cordance with the lawfully expressed will of the 
citizens, in respect alike of the situation inside the 
country and of relations with foreign Powers.

The Irish Government having determined that in 
July 1957 the activities of the IRA had assumed 
the character of a public emergency threatening 
the life of the nation, in order to meet this emer-
gency, put into effect on 8th July 1957 the 1940 Act 
amending the Offences against the State Act, 1939.

In compliance with Article 15 (3) (art. 15-3), the Irish 
Government notified the Secretary-General of the 
Council of Europe of their intention to bring the 
1940 Act legally into force by letter of 20th July 
1957, in which it wrote:

"Ihavethehonouralsotoinviteyourattention
tosection8oftheAct,whichprovidesforthe
establishment by theGovernment of Ireland
ofaCommissiontoinquireintothegroundsof
detentionofanypersonwhoappliestohave
his detention investigated. The Commission
envisagedby thesectionwasestablishedon
the16thJuly1957."

The 1940 Act involves derogation from obligations 
under Article 5 (1) (c) and (3) (art. 5-1-c, art. 5-3) of 
the Convention, since, in contrast to that Article 
(art. 5), which imposes the obligation to bring the 
person concerned before a judge, the 1940 Act 
gives such person the right to request that the 
Commission established under the Act inquire into 
the ground of his detention.

Nevertheless, the derogation does not go beyond 
the "extent strictly required by the exigencies of 
the situation." The Government had always been 
engaged in a struggle with the IRA. If, then, to pre-
vent actions by the IRA calculated to aggravate the 
public emergency threatening the life of the nation 
the Government brought in a law authorising the 
arrest of any person whom they had good reason 
to suspect of connections with that secret and un-
lawful organisation, they were acting within the 
limits imposed on the State by Article 15 (art. 15) of 
the Convention. The Act, moreover, does not leave 
an arrested person without safeguards. A special 
Commission inquires into the grounds for the ar-
rest of such person, who is thus protected against 
arbitrary arrest.

It follows that the Offences against the State 
(Amendment) Act, 1940, was a measure which 
complied with Article 15 (art. 15) of the Convention 
in that it was "strictly required by the exigencies of 
the situation."

It remains to consider whether the conditions for 
arrest laid down in the 1940 Act were fulfilled in the 
person of the Applicant.

There is no doubt that the Applicant had been a 
member of the IRA. There is likewise no doubt that 
the IRA was an unlawful and secret organisation 
which the Irish Government had never ceased to 
combat.

The Applicant's arrest in July 1957 fitted into the 
general campaign launched by the Irish Govern-
ment to suppress the activities of that unlawful 
and secret organisation. It is true that in July 1957 
IRA activities were on the wane, but that diminu-
tion was itself a deliberate policy on the part of 
the organisation. To appreciate that fact at its true 
value, it must not be taken in isolation but must be 
considered in conjunction with the IRA's previous 
activities, which necessarily offered a precedent for 
assessing the activities the organisation might en-
gage in later.

Furthermore, since the Applicant was a former IRA 
member, the Irish Government, suspecting that 
even if he had ceased to be a member he was al-
ways liable to engage in activities fostering the 
aims of that organisation, applied the 1940 Act to 
his person legally.

In addition, out of respect for the individual, the 
Irish Government merely required of the Applicant, 
as the condition of his release, a simple assurance 
that he would in future acknowledge "the Constitu-
tion of Ireland and the laws". That condition cannot 
be considered to have been contrary to the Con-
vention.

There is nothing in the condition which offends 
against personal dignity or which could be consid-
ered a breach of the obligations of States under the 
Convention. It would have to be held repugnant to 
the Convention, for example, if the State were to 
assume the power to require the Applicant to repu-
diate the political beliefs for which he was fighting 
as a member of the IRA. Such a requirement would 
certainly be contrary to Article 10 (art. 10), whereby 
everyone has the right to freedom of expression 
and freedom to hold opinions and to receive and 
impart information and ideas. But the text of that 
Article itself shows that the undertaking required 
of the Applicant by the Irish Government as the 
condition of his release, namely an undertaking to 
respect thenceforth the Constitution of Ireland and 
the laws, was in keeping with the true spirit of the 
Convention. This is apparent from the enumeration 
of cases where, under most of the Articles, the State 
is authorised to restrict or even prevent the exercise 
of the individual rights. And these cases are in fact 
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those involving the preservation of public safety, 
national security and territorial integrity and the 
maintenance of order (Articles 2 (2) (c), 4 (3) (c), 5, 6, 
8 (2), 9 (2) and 11 (2)) (art. 2-2-c, art. 4-3-c, art. 5, art. 
6, art. 8-2, art. 9-2, art. 11-2).

Hence, if each Contracting State secures to every-
one within its jurisdiction the rights and freedoms 
defined in Section I of the Convention (Article 1) 
(art. 1) and moreover undertakes to enforce the 
said rights and freedoms (Article 13) (art. 13), the 
individual is bound in return, whatever his private 
or even his avowed beliefs, to conduct himself loy-
ally towards the State and cannot be regarded as 
released from that obligation. This is the principle 
that underlies the aforementioned reservations to 
and limitations of the rights set forth in the Conven-
tion. The same spirit underlies Article 17 (art. 17) of 
the Convention, and the same general legal princi-
ple was stated in the Roman maxim: nemo ex suo 
delicto meliorem suam conditionem facere potest 
(Dig. 50.17.134 paragraph 4). (Nemo turpitudinem 
suam allegans auditur).

It follows from the foregoing that the Irish Gov-
ernment, in demanding of the Applicant that he 
give an assurance that he would conduct himself 
in conformity with the Constitution and the laws 
of Ireland, were merely reminding him of his duty 
of loyalty to constituted authority and in no way 
infringed the rights and freedoms set forth in the 
Convention, including the freedom of conscience 
guaranteed by Article 9 (art. 9).

It is true that the Applicant was arrested on 11th 
July 1957 under the 1940 Act and that on 16th July 
1957 he was informed that he would be released 
provided he gave an undertaking in writing "to re-
spect the Constitution of Ireland and the laws" and 
not to "be a member of, or assist, any organisation 
which is an unlawful organisation under the Of-
fences against the State Act, 1939."

Between 16th July and 10th December 1957 the 
Applicant refused to make the said declaration, pre-
sumably because he was awaiting the outcome of 
the petition he submitted on 8th September 1957, 
whereby he applied "to have the continuation of 
his detention considered by a special Commission 
set up under section 8 of the 1940 Act," and also of 
the Application he made on 8th September 1957 
to the Irish High Court, under Article 40 of the Irish 
Constitution, for a Conditional Order of habeas 
corpus ad subjiciendum. The High Court and, on 
appeal, the Supreme Court decided against the 
Applicant. The Supreme Court gave its reasoned 
judgment on 3rd December 1957, and the Deten-
tion Commission resumed its hearings on 6th and 

10th December 1957. The Applicant then gave the 
Detention Commission a verbal undertaking not to 
engage in any illegal activities under the Offences 
against the State Acts, 1939 and 1940.

During the period between his arrest (11th July 
1957) and 10th December 1957, the Applicant ap-
pealed to the High Court and the Supreme Court 
and refused, while the matter was sub judice, to 
give the assurance which the Irish Government 
made the condition of his release. Having so acted, 
the Applicant has no ground for complaint of hav-
ing been deprived of his liberty during that period.

It is apparent from what has been stated above 
that the 1940 Act amending that of 1939 cannot 
be criticised as conflicting with Article 15 (art. 15) of 
the Convention and that the measures prescribed 
by the Act are derogations in conformity with the 
reservations formulated in Article 5 (1) (c) and (3) 
(art. 5-1-c, art. 5-3). It follows that there is no cause 
to examine the merits of the allegation that the 
Irish Government violated their obligations under 
the latter provisions.

On the other hand, the Applicant's Application can-
not be declared inadmissible by relying on Article 
17 (art. 17) of the Convention, since that Article (art. 
17) is designed to preclude any construction of the 
clauses of the Convention which would pervert the 
rights and freedoms guaranteed therein and make 
them serve tendencies or activities repugnant to 
the spirit of the Convention as defined in its Pream-
ble. The Applicant, however improper his conduct 
may have been, cannot be held to have engaged 
in any activity forbidden by Article 17 (art. 17) such 
as would warrant the rejection of his Application as 
inadmissible under the terms of that text.
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FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION, DEMOCRACY, ARTICLE 17, 
PROHIBITION, BAN, PROHIBITED CONDUCT, PUBLIC 
INTEREST

IN THE CASE Of vAJNAI v. HuNGARy,

The European Court of Human Rights (Second Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Françoise Tulkens, President,  
Ireneu Cabral Barreto,  
Vladimiro Zagrebelsky,  
Danutė Jočienė,  
András Sajó,  
Nona Tsotsoria,  
Işıl Karakaş, judges,  
and Sally Dollé, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 17 June 2008,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

33629/06 ) against the Republic of Hungary 
lodged with the Court under Article 34 of the 
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Conven-
tion”) by a Hungarian national, Mr Attila Vajnai 

(“the applicant”), on 15 May 2006.

2. The applicant was represented by Mr Gy. Mag-
yar, a lawyer practising in Budapest. The Hun-
garian Government (“the Government”) were 
represented by Mr L. Höltzl, Agent, Ministry of 
Justice and Law Enforcement.

3. The applicant alleged that his conviction for 
having worn the symbol of the international 
workers' movement constituted an unjusti-
fied interference with his right to freedom of 
expression, in breach of Article 10 of the Con-
vention.

4. On 24 September 2007 the Court decided to 
give notice of the application to the Govern-
ment. Under the provisions of Article 29 § 3 
of the Convention, it decided to examine the 
merits of the application at the same time as 
its admissibility.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

5. The applicant was born in 1963 and lives in 
Budapest. The facts of the case, as submitted 
by the parties, may be summarised as follows.

6. On 21 February 2003 the applicant, at the ma-
terial time Vice-President of the Workers' Party 
(Munkáspárt) – a registered left-wing political 
party – was speaker at a lawful demonstra-
tion in central Budapest. The demonstration 
took place at the former location of a statue 
of Karl Marx, which had been removed by the 
authorities. On his jacket, the applicant wore a 
five-pointed red star (hereafter referred to as 
“the red star”), five centimetres in diameter, as 
a symbol of the international workers' move-
ment. In application of section 269/B (1) of the 
Criminal Code, a police patrol which was pre-
sent called on the applicant to remove the star, 
which he did.

7. Subsequently, criminal proceedings were in-
stituted against the applicant for having worn 
a totalitarian symbol in public. He was ques-
tioned as a suspect on 10 March 2003.

8. On 11 March 2004 the Pest Central District 
Court convicted the applicant of the offence 
of using a totalitarian symbol. It refrained from 
imposing a sanction for a probationary period 
of one year.

9. The applicant appealed to the Budapest Re-
gional Court (Fővárosi Bíróság).

10. On 24 June 2004 that court decided to stay the 
proceedings and to refer the case to the Court 
of Justice of the European Communities (ECJ) 
for a preliminary ruling under Article 234 of the 
Treaty establishing the European Community 
(EC). The reference – received at the ECJ on 28 
July 2004 – concerned the interpretation of the 
principle of non-discrimination as a fundamen-
tal principle of Community law.

11. In its order for reference, the Regional Court 
observed that in several Member States of the 
European Union (EU), such as the Italian Re-
public, the symbol of left-wing parties is the 
red star or the hammer and sickle. Therefore, 
the question arose whether a provision in one 
Member State of the EU prohibiting the use of 
the symbols of the international labour move-
ment on pain of criminal prosecution was dis-
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criminatory, when such a display in another 
Member State did not give rise to any sanction.

12. On 6 October 2005 the ECJ declared that it had 
no jurisdiction to answer the question referred 
by the Regional Court. The relevant part of the 
reasoning reads as follows:

“...11Byitsquestion,thenationalcourtasks,
essentially, whether the principle of non-
discrimination,Article6EU,CouncilDirective
2000/43/ECof29June2000implementingthe
principleofequaltreatmentbetweenpersons
irrespectiveofracialorethnicorigin(OJ2000
L 180,p. 22) orArticles 10, 11 and12of the
CharterofFundamentalRightsoftheEurope-
anUnion,proclaimedon7December2000in
Nice(OJ2000C364,p.1),precludeanational
provision,suchasArticle269/BoftheHungar-
ian Criminal Code, which imposes sanctions
ontheuseinpublicofthesymbolinquestion
inthemainproceedings....

13Bycontrast,theCourthasnosuchjurisdic-
tion with regard to national provisions out-
side the scopeofCommunity lawandwhen
thesubject-matterof thedispute isnotcon-
nected inanywaywithanyof thesituations
contemplated by the treaties (see Kremzow,
paragraphs15and16).

14 It is clear thatMr Vajnai's situation is not
connected in anywaywith anyof the situa-
tions contemplated by the provisions of the
treatiesandtheHungarianprovisionsapplied
inthemainproceedingsareoutsidethescope
ofCommunitylaw.

15Inthosecircumstances,itmustbeheld,on
thebasisofArticle92(1)of theRulesofPro-
cedure,thattheCourtclearlyhasnojurisdic-
tion to answer the question referred by the
FővárosiBíróság.”

13. On 16 November 2005 the Budapest Regional 
Court upheld the applicant's conviction.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW

14. The Constitution provides in its relevant part as 
follows:

Article 2

“(1)TheRepublicofHungaryisanindepend-
ent and democratic State under the rule of
law...

(3) No one's activity shall aim at the violent
acquisitionorexerciseofpoweroratitsexclu-
sivepossession...”

Article 61

“(1) IntheRepublicofHungaryeveryonehas
the right to freely express his opinion, and,
furthermore,tohaveaccesstoanddistribute
informationofpublicinterest.”

15. The Criminal Code, as in force at the material 
time, provided insofar as relevant as follows:

Measures (Az intézkedések)

Probation (Próbára bocsátás)

Section 72

“(1) In caseof amisdemeanour (vétség)or a
felony(bűntett)punishablebyimprisonment
ofuptoamaximumofthreeyears,thecourt
may postpone the imposition of a sentence
foraprobationaryperiodifitcanbepresumed
withgoodreasonthattheaimofthepunish-
mentmaybejustaswellattainedinthisman-
ner.”

Section 73

“(2)Theprobationshallbe terminatedanda
punishmentshallbeimposedif ...theperson
onprobationisconvictedofanoffencecom-
mittedduringtheprobationaryperiod...”

Crimes against the State

Section 139 – Violent change of the 
constitutional order

“(1)Apersonwhocommitsanactionwhose
directobjectiveistochangetheconstitutional
orderoftheRepublicofHungarybymeansof
violenceorbythreateningviolence–inpartic-
ular,usingarmedforce–commitsafelony...”

Crimes against Public Tranquillity

Section 269 – Incitement against a community

“Apersonwho incites,beforeawiderpublic,
tohatredagainst

a)theHungariannation,or

b) a national, ethnic, racial or religious com-
munityorcertaingroupsofthepopulation

commitsafelony...”

Section 269/B – The use of totalitarian symbols

“(1)Apersonwho(a)disseminates,(b)usesin
publicor(c)exhibitsaswastika,anSS-badge,
an arrow-cross, a symbol of the sickle and
hammeror a red star, or a symboldepicting
anyofthem,commitsamisdemeanour–un-
lessamoreseriouscrimeiscommitted–and
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shall be sentenced to a criminal fine (pénz-
büntetés).

(2) The conductproscribedunderparagraph
(1) isnotpunishable, if it isdoneforthepur-
posesofeducation,science,artorinorderto
provideinformationabouthistoryorcontem-
poraryevents.

(3)Paragraphs(1)and(2)donotapplytothe
insigniaofStateswhichareinforce.”

16. The Code of Criminal Procedure provides as 
follows:

Section 406

“(1)Reviewproceedingsmaybe instituted in
favourofthedefendantif:...

b) a human rights institution set up by an
international treaty has established that the
conductoftheproceedingsorthefinaldeci-
sionofthecourthasviolatedaprovisionofan
international treaty promulgated by an act,
provided that the Republic of Hungary has
acknowledgedthejurisdictionoftheinterna-
tionalhumanrightsorganisationandthatthe
violationcanberemediedthroughreview...”

17. Decision no. 14/2000 (V. 12.) of the Constitu-
tional Court, dealing with the constitutionality 
of section 269/B of the Criminal Code, contains 
the following passages:
“[...N]otonlydosuchtotalitariansymbolsrep-
resent thetotalitarianregimesknowntoand
sufferedbythegeneralpublic,butithasfrom
theverybeginningbeenreflectedinthelegis-
lationoftheRepublicofHungarythattheun-
lawfulactscommittedbysuchregimesshould
beaddressedtogether...

The Constitutional Court has expressly con-
firmedinitsdecisions...thatnoconstitutional
concernmaybe raised against the equal as-
sessment and joint regulation of such totali-
tarianregimes...

Inthedecadesbeforethedemocratictransfor-
mation,onlythedisseminationofFascistand
arrow-cross symbols hadbeenprosecuted ...
At same time, resulting reasonably from the
natureofthepoliticalregime,theuseofsym-
bols representing Communist ideas had not
been punished; on the contrary, they were
protectedbycriminallaw.Inthisrespect,the
Actdoes,indeed,eliminatetheformerunjusti-
fieddistinctionmadeinrespectoftotalitarian
symbols...

TheConvention(thepracticeoftheEuropean
CourtofHumanRights)affordsStatesawide
marginofappreciationinassessingwhatcan

beseenasaninterferencewhichis“necessary
inademocratic society” (Barfod,1989;Markt
Intern, 1989; Chorherr, 1993; Casado Coca,
1994;Jacubowski,1994)....

In severalof itsearlydecisions, theConstitu-
tionalCourtincludedthehistoricalsituationas
arelevantfactorinthescopeofconstitutional
review...

Initsdecisionssofar,theConstitutionalCourt
has consistently assessed the historical cir-
cumstances(mostoften,theendofthe[pre-
vious] regime) by acknowledging that such
circumstancesmay necessitate some restric-
tion on fundamental rights, but it has never
accepted any derogation from the require-
mentsofconstitutionalityonthebasisofthe
mere fact that the political regime has been
changed...

TheConstitutionalCourtpointsoutthateven
thepracticeoftheEuropeanCourtofHuman
Rights takes intoaccountthespecifichistori-
calpastandpresentof the respondentState
whenitassessesthelegitimateaimandneces-
sityofrestrictingfreedomofexpression.

InthecaseofRekvényiv.Hungaryconcerning
the restriction of the political activities and
thefreedomofpoliticaldebateofpoliceoffic-
ers,theCourtpasseditsjudgmenton20May
1999statingthat'theobjectivethatthecritical
positionofthepoliceinsocietyshouldnotbe
compromisedasaresultofweakeningthepo-
liticalneutralityofitsmembersisanobjective
thatcanbeaccepted in linewithdemocratic
principles. This objective has special histori-
calsignificanceinHungaryduetotheformer
totalitarian system of the countrywhere the
Statereliedgreatlyonthedirectcommitment
ofthepoliceforcestotherulingparty'...

In the practice of the Constitutional Court,
conduct endangering public peace and of-
fending the dignity of communities may be
subjecttocriminallawprotectionifitisnotdi-
rectedagainstanexpresslydefinedparticular
person; theoretically, there is noother – less
severe–toolavailabletoachievethedesired
objectivethancriminalsanction...

To be a democracy under the rule of law is
closely related tomaintaining andoperating
the constitutional order... The Constitution
isnotneutralas regardsvalues; [on thecon-
trary,] ithas itsownsetofvalues.Expressing
opinions inconsistentwithconstitutionalval-
uesisnotprotectedbyArticle61oftheCon-
stitution...

The Constitution belongs to a democratic
State under the rule of law and, therefore,
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the constitution-making power has consid-
ered democracy, pluralism and human dig-
nityconstitutionalvaluesworthprotecting;at
thesametime, itmakesunconstitutionalany
activitydirectedat the forcibleacquisitionor
exercise of public power, or at the exclusive
possession thereof (Article 2 § 3). Section
269/Borders thepunishmentofdistributing,
usinginfrontofalargepublicgatheringand
exhibiting in public symbols that were used
bypolitical dictatorial regimes; such regimes
committed unlawful acts enmasse and vio-
latedfundamentalhumanrights.Allof these
symbolsrepresentthedespotismoftheState,
symbolise negative political ideas realised
throughoutthehistoryofHungaryinthe20th
century,andareexpresslyprohibitedbyArti-
cle2§3oftheConstitution,whichimposes
upon everyone the obligation to resist such
activities...

Using the symbols in theway prohibited by
section269/BoftheCriminalCodecancausea
reasonablefeelingofmenaceorfearbasedon
the concrete experience of people – includ-
ingtheirvariouscommunities–whosuffered
injury in thepast, as such symbols represent
theriskofhavingsuchinhumanactsrepeated
inconnectionwiththetotalitarianideascon-
cerned.

In the opinion of the Constitutional Court, if
–inadditiontothesubjectthusprotectedby
criminal law–theprotectionofotherconsti-
tutional values cannot be achieved by other
means, criminal law protection itself is not
considered to be disproportionate, provided
thatitisnecessarytohaveprotectionagainst
theuseofsuchsymbols.Whetherornot it is
necessarytohavesuchprotectioninademo-
craticsocietydependsonthenatureofthere-
striction, itssocialandhistoricalcontext,and
itsimpactonthepersonsaffected.

Basedon theabove, in thepresentcase, the
statute under review serves the purpose of
protecting other constitutional values in ad-
dition to the protected subject defined in
criminal law. Suchvalues are thedemocratic
natureoftheStateundertheruleoflawmen-
tionedinArticle2§1oftheConstitution,the
prohibitiondefinedinArticle2§3,aswellas
the requirement specified in Article 70/A of
theConstitution, stating that allpeople shall
betreatedbythelawaspersonsofequaldig-
nity...

Allowing an unrestricted, open and public
use of the symbols concernedwould, in the
present historical situation, seriously offend
allpersonscommittedtodemocracywhore-
spectthehumandignityofpersonsandthus

condemntheideologiesofhatredandaggres-
sion,andwouldoffendinparticularthosewho
werepersecutedbyNazismandCommunism.
InHungary, thememoriesofboth ideologies
represented by the prohibited symbols, as
wellasthesinscommittedunderthesesym-
bols, are still alive in the public knowledge
and in the communities of those who have
survivedpersecution;thesethingsarenotfor-
gotten.Theindividualswhosufferedseverely
and their relatives live amongus. Theuseof
suchsymbolsrecallstherecentpast,together
with the threats of that time, the inhuman
sufferings, the deportations and the deadly
ideologies.

IntheopinionoftheConstitutionalCourt,itis
indeedameasurewithaviewto theprotec-
tionofdemocraticsociety–andthereforenot
unconstitutional– if, in thepresenthistorical
situation, theStateprohibits certain conduct
contrarytodemocracy,connectedtotheuse
of the particular symbols of totalitarian re-
gimes:theirdissemination,theiruseinfrontof
a largepublicgathering,andapublicexhibi-
tion...

Theconstitutionalassessmentandevaluation
of criminally sanctioning separate violations
of thevaluesprotectedbythe law–namely,
publicpeaceandthedignityofcommunities
committedtothevaluesofdemocracy–could
possiblyresultinadifferentconclusion,how-
ever,sincetheuseoftotalitariansymbolsvio-
lates both values jointly and simultaneously,
there is a cumulative and synergic effect re-
inforcedbythepresent-day impactofrecent
historicalevents.

TheConstitutionalCourtholdsthatthehistori-
calexperienceofHungaryandthedangerto
theconstitutionalvaluesthreateningHungar-
ian society reflected in thepotentialpublicly
todemonstrateactivitiesbasedontheideolo-
gies of former regimes, convincingly, objec-
tivelyandreasonablyjustifytheprohibitionof
suchactivitiesandtheuseofthecriminallaw
to combat them. The restriction on freedom
of expression found in section 269/B§1of
theCriminalCode,inthelightofthehistorical
background,isconsideredtobearesponseto
apressingsocialneed.

According to theConstitutionalCourt, in the
presenthistorical situation, there isnoeffec-
tivelegaltoolotherthanthetoolsofcriminal
lawandpenal sanction (ultima ratio) against
the use of the symbols specified in section
269/B§1,becausethesubjectscommitting
thecrimeand,inparticular,thethreespecific
typesofconductincommittingthecrime,re-
quirerestrictionfortheprotectionoftheaims
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represented by the constitutional values. In
another country with a similar historical ex-
perience, theCriminalCodealsodeems itan
offence, endangering the democratic State
under the rule of law, to use the symbols
(flags, badges, uniforms, slogans and forms
ofgreeting)ofunconstitutionalorganisations
[Strafgesetzbuch (StGB) vom 15. Mai 1871
(RGBl.S.127) inderFassungderBekanntma-
chungvom13.November1998(BGBl.I,3322)
§86a.]...

Itisnotprohibitedbythelawtoproduce,ac-
quire, keep, import, export or evenuse such
symbolsprovided it isnotdone in frontofa
large public gathering. There are only three
specific types of conduct mentioned in the
law as being contrary to the values of the
democraticStateundertheruleoflaw(distri-
bution,useinfrontofalargepublicgathering
andpublicexhibition),becauseofthetenden-
cyofsuchconductnotonlyto“insultorcause
amazementoranxiety”tothepublic,butalso
to create express fear or menace by reflect-
ing an identification with the detested ide-
ologiesandanintentiontopropagateopenly
suchideologies.Suchconductcanoffendthe
whole of democratic society, especially the
humandignityofmajorgroupsandcommu-
nities which suffered from the most severe
crimescommittedinthenameofbothideolo-
giesrepresentedbytheprohibitedsymbols...

On thebasis of the above, in the opinionof
theConstitutionalCourt,therestrictionspeci-
fiedinsection269/B§1oftheCriminalCode
is not disproportionate to theweight of the
protected objectives, while the scope and
the sanction of the restriction is qualified as
the leastseverepotential tool.Therefore, the
restrictionofthefundamentalrightdefinedin
thegivenprovisionoftheCriminalCodeisin
compliancewith the requirement of propor-
tionality...”

tHE LAW

I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 
10 OF THE CONVENTION

18. The applicant complained that the fact that he 
had been prosecuted for having worn a red 
star infringed his right to freedom of expres-
sion guaranteed by Article 10 of the Conven-
tion, which reads as follows:
“1. Everyonehas the right to freedomof ex-
pression. This right shall include freedom to
hold opinions and to receive and impart in-

formation and ideaswithout interference by
publicauthority...

2.Theexerciseofthesefreedoms,sinceitcar-
rieswithitdutiesandresponsibilities,maybe
subjecttosuchformalities,conditions,restric-
tionsorpenaltiesasareprescribedbylawand
arenecessaryinademocraticsociety...forthe
preventionofdisorder...[or]...fortheprotec-
tionofthe...rightsofothers...”

19. The Government contested that argument.

A. Admissibility
20. The Government asserted that the application 

was incompatible ratione materiae with the 
provisions of the Convention, in the light of 
Article 17 which provides:
“Nothing in [the] Convention may be inter-
preted as implying for any State, group or
personany right toengage inanyactivityor
perform any act aimed at the destruction of
anyoftherightsandfreedomssetforthherein
orattheirlimitationtoagreaterextentthanis
providedforintheConvention.”

21. The Government referred to the case-law of 
the Convention institutions, including the 
Court's decision in Garaudy v. France (deci-
sion of 24 June 2003, no. 65831/01 65831/01, 
ECHR 2003-IX (extracts)). They recalled that, 
where the right to freedom of expression had 
been relied on by applicants to justify the pub-
lication of texts that infringed the very spirit 
of the Convention and the essential values of 
democracy, the European Commission of Hu-
man Rights had had recourse to Article 17 of 
the Convention, either directly or indirectly, in 
rejecting their arguments and declaring their 
applications inadmissible (examples included 
J. Glimmerveen and J. Hagenbeek v. the Neth-
erlands, nos. 8348/78 and 8406/78 (joined), 
Commission decision of 11 October 1979, De-
cisions and Reports (DR) 18, p. 187, and Pierre 
Marais v. France, no. 31159/96, Commission 
decision of 24 June 1996, DR 86, p. 184.) In the 
Government's view, the Court subsequently 
confirmed that approach (Lehideux and Isorni 
v. France, judgment of 23 September 1998, 
Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1998-VII, 
§§ 47 and 53). Moreover, they pointed out 
that, in a case concerning Article 11 (W.P. and 
Others v. Poland, decision of 2 September 2004, 
no. 42264/98, Reports 2004-VII), the Court had 
observed that “the general purpose of Article 
17 is to prevent totalitarian groups from ex-
ploiting in their own interests the principles 
enunciated by the Convention.” Similar conclu-
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sions were reached in the cases of Norwood v. 
the United Kingdom (decision of 16 Novem-
ber 2004, no. 23131/03, Reports 2004-VII), and 
Witzsch v. Germany (decision of 13 December 
2005, no. 7485/03).

22. Since in the Government's view the red star 
symbolises totalitarian ideas and practices 
directed against the Convention's underly-
ing values, they asserted that to wear it – be-
ing conduct disdainful of the victims of the 
Communist regime – meant the justification 
of a policy aimed at the destruction of the 
rights and freedoms under the Convention. 
Although the cases cited above concerned 
the expression of racist and anti-Semitic ideas 
pertaining to the Nazi totalitarian ideology, the 
Government submitted that all ideologies of a 
totalitarian nature (including bolshevism sym-
bolised by the red star) should be treated on an 
equal footing, and their expression should thus 
be removed from the protection of Article 10.

23. The applicant did not comment on this point.

24. The Court considers that the present applica-
tion is to be distinguished from those relied on 
by the Government. It observes, particularly in 
Garaudy v. France (cited above) and Lehideux 
and Isorni v. France (cited above), that the jus-
tification of Nazi-like politics was at stake. Con-
sequently, the finding of an abuse under Article 
17 lay in the fact that Article 10 had been relied 
on by groups with totalitarian motives.

25. In the instant case, however, it has not been 
argued by the Government that the applicant 
expressed contempt for the victims of a to-
talitarian regime (contrast Witzsch v. Germany 
(cited above)) or belonged to a group with to-
talitarian ambitions. Nor do the elements con-
tained in the case file support such a conclu-
sion. The applicant was, at the material time, an 
official of a registered left-wing political party 
and wore the contested red star at one of its 
lawful demonstrations. In these circumstances, 
the Court cannot conclude that its display was 
intended to justify or propagate totalitarian 
oppression serving “totalitarian groups”. It was 
merely the symbol of lawful left-wing political 
movements. Unlike in the above-cited cases, 
the expression which was sanctioned in the in-
stant case was unrelated to racist propaganda.

26. It follows that, for the Court, the application 
does not constitute an abuse of the right of 
petition for the purposes of Article 17 of the 
Convention. Therefore, it is not incompatible 
ratione materiae with the provisions of the 

Convention, within the meaning of Article 35 
§ 3 of the Convention. The Court further notes 
that it is not inadmissible on any other grounds. 
It must therefore be declared admissible.

B. Merits
1.Whethertherehasbeenaninterference

27. The applicant emphasised that the domes-
tic courts had convicted him of the offence 
of using a totalitarian symbol. Whilst it is true 
that for a probationary period of one year the 
Hungarian courts had refrained from imposing 
a criminal sanction, in his view it was beyond 
doubt that there had been an interference with 
his freedom of expression, since his criminal li-
ability had been established.

28. The Government submitted that, even suppos-
ing that the applicant's conviction had con-
stituted an interference with his freedom of 
expression, that interference had been justified 
under paragraph 2 of Article 10.

29. The Court considers that the criminal sanction 
in question constituted an interference with 
the applicant's rights enshrined in Article 10 
§ 1 of the Convention. Moreover, it reiterates 
that such an interference will infringe the Con-
vention if it does not meet the requirements of 
paragraph 2 of Article 10. It should therefore 
be determined whether it was “prescribed by 
law”, whether it pursued one or more of the 
legitimate aims set out in that paragraph and 
whether it was “necessary in a democratic soci-
ety” in order to achieve those aims.

2.“Prescribedbylaw”
30. The Government reiterated the Constitutional 

Court's position according to which the restric-
tion on the use of totalitarian symbols was pre-
scribed by law, an Act of Parliament, which was 
sufficiently clear and met the requirements of 
foreseeability.

31. The Court notes that this issue has not been 
in dispute between the parties. It is therefore 
satisfied that the interference was indeed pre-
scribed by law.

3.Legitimateaim
(a)  The applicant's arguments

32. The applicant stressed that almost two dec-
ades had elapsed since Hungary's transition 
from a totalitarian regime to a democratic so-
ciety. Hungary had become a member of the 
Council of Europe, the North Atlantic Treaty 
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Organisation, the Organisation for Economic 
Co-operation and Development and the Euro-
pean Union. The country was a stable democ-
racy, in which five multi-party general elections 
had been held since 1990. The left-wing party 
to which the applicant belonged had never 
been accused of attempting to overthrow the 
Government. It had participated in all these 
elections but had never passed the threshold 
required for gaining a seat in Parliament. The 
Government have not claimed that the appli-
cant, his party or its ideology would threaten 
the democratic political regime of the country. 
In these circumstances, the legitimate aim for 
instituting criminal proceedings against the 
applicant for having displayed a red star at a 
political event remained unclear.

(b)  The Government's arguments

33. The Government submitted that the contested 
provision had been inserted into the Criminal 
Code because twentieth-century dictatorships 
had caused much suffering to the Hungarian 
people. The display of symbols related to dicta-
torships created uneasy feelings, fear or indig-
nation in many citizens, and sometimes even 
violated the rights of the deceased. To wear 
the symbols of a one-party dictatorship in pub-
lic was, in the Government's view, tantamount 
to the very antithesis of the rule of law, and 
must be seen as a demonstration against plu-
ralist democracy. In line with the Constitutional 
Court's position in the matter, the Government 
contended that the measure in question pur-
sued the legitimate aims of the prevention of 
disorder and the protection of the rights of 
others.

(c)  The Court's assessment

34. The Court considers that the interference in 
question can be seen as having pursued the le-
gitimate aims of the prevention of disorder and 
the protection of the rights of others.

4.“Necessaryinademocraticsociety”
(a)  The applicant's arguments

35. The applicant argued that there was a pro-
found difference between Fascist and Commu-
nist ideologies and that, in any event, the red 
star could not be exclusively associated with 
“Communist dictatorship”. In the international 
workers' movement, the red star – sometimes 
understood as representing the five fingers of 
a worker's hand or the five continents – had 
been regarded since the nineteenth century as 
a symbol of the fight for social justice, the lib-

eration of workers and freedom of the people, 
and, generally, of socialism in a broad sense.

36. Moreover, in 1945 Hungary and other countries 
of the former Eastern block had been liberated 
from Nazi rule by Soviet soldiers wearing the 
red star. For many people in these countries, 
the red star was associated with the idea of 
anti-fascism and freedom from right-wing to-
talitarianism. 

It had been adopted by the progressive intelligent-
sia seeking to achieve the reconstruction and mod-
ernisation of Hungary from the beginning of the 
twentieth century.

37. The applicant conceded that, before the tran-
sition to democracy in Central and Eastern 
Europe, serious crimes had been committed 
by the security forces of totalitarian regimes, 
whose official symbols included the red star. 
These violations of human rights could not, 
however, discredit the ideology of Commu-
nism as such, let alone challenge the political 
values symbolised by the red star.

38. The applicant drew attention to the fact that, 
unlike Fascist propaganda (see, inter alia, Ar-
ticle 4 of the 1947 Paris Treaty of Peace with 
Hungary – Volume 41 UNTS 135), the promo-
tion of Communism had not been outlawed by 
instruments of international law. The red star 
was understood to represent various left-wing 
ideas and movements, and could be freely dis-
played in most European states. In fact, Hun-
gary was the only Contracting State in which its 
public display was a criminal offence.

39. Finally, the applicant stressed that the Govern-
ment had not demonstrated the existence of a 
“pressing social need” requiring a general ban 
on the public display of this symbol. In his view, 
it was unlikely that the stability of Hungary's 
pluralistic democracy could be undermined 
by his using a political logo in order to express 
an ideological affiliation and political identity. 
On the contrary, the general ban on using the 
red star as a political symbol undermined plu-
ralism by preventing him and other left-wing 
politicians from freely expressing their political 
views.

(b)  The Government's arguments

40. The Government submitted that in Hungary 
the red star was not only the symbol of the in-
ternational workers' movement, as alleged by 
the applicant. Recent history in Hungary had 
altered its meaning to symbolise a totalitarian 
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regime characterised by ideologies and prac-
tices which had justified mass violations of hu-
man rights and the violent seizure of power. To 
wear this symbol in public amounted to iden-
tification with, and the intention to propagate, 
the ideologies of a totalitarian nature which 
characterised Communist dictatorships.

41. The Government drew attention to the Con-
stitutional Court's findings that the restric-
tion at issue, having regard to the historical 
experience of Hungarian society, had been a 
response to a “pressing social need” in pursuit 
of the legitimate aims of the prevention of dis-
order and the protection of the rights of others. 
That court had been satisfied that these aims 
could not have been achieved by less severe 
means than those of the criminal law. Moreo-
ver, it had found that the restriction had been 
proportionate to the aims pursued since it had 
been limited in scope, extending only to some 
well-defined forms of the public use of such 
symbols, which entailed identification with, 
and the intention to propagate, the totalitar-
ian ideologies represented by them. It had 
been satisfied that the use of such symbols for 
scientific, artistic, educational or informational 
purposes was not prohibited.

42. The Government also submitted that the of-
fence in question was qualified not as a felony 
(bűntett) but only as a misdemeanour (vétség), 
punishable with a criminal fine (pénzbünte-
tés) which was the least severe sanction in 
Hungarian penal law. Moreover, the applicant 
had been put on probation, which was not a 
punishment (büntetés) but a 'measure' (intéz-
kedés).

(c)  The Court's assessment

i General principles

43. The test of “necessity in a democratic society” 
requires the Court to determine whether the 
interference complained of corresponded to a 
“pressing social need”. The Contracting States 
have a certain margin of appreciation in as-
sessing whether such a need exists, but it goes 
hand in hand with European supervision, em-
bracing both the legislation and the decisions 
applying it, even those given by an independ-
ent court. The Court is therefore empowered to 
give the final ruling on whether a “restriction” 
is reconcilable with freedom of expression as 
protected by Article 10 (see, among many oth-
er authorities, Perna v. Italy [GC], no. 48898/99, 
§ 39, ECHR 2003-V, and Association Ekin v. 
France, no. 39288/98, § 56, ECHR 2001-VIII).

44. The Court's task in exercising its supervisory 
function is not to take the place of the com-
petent domestic courts but rather to review 
under Article 10 the decisions they have taken 
pursuant to their power of appreciation (see 
Fressoz and Roire v. France [GC], no. 29183/95, 
§ 45, ECHR 1999-I).

45. In particular, the Court must determine wheth-
er the reasons adduced by the national author-
ities to justify the interference were “relevant 
and sufficient”, and whether the measure tak-
en was “proportionate to the legitimate aims 
pursued” (see Chauvy and Others v. France, no. 
64915/01, § 70, ECHR 2004-VI). In doing so, 
the Court has to satisfy itself that the national 
authorities, basing themselves on an accept-
able assessment of the relevant facts, applied 
standards which were in conformity with the 
principles embodied in Article 10 (see, among 
many other authorities, Zana v. Turkey, judg-
ment of 25 November 1997, Reports 1997-VII, 
pp. 2547-48, § 51).

46. The Court further reiterates that freedom of ex-
pression, as secured in paragraph 1 of Article 
10, constitutes one of the essential foundations 
of a democratic society and one of the basic 
conditions for its progress and for each individ-
ual's self-fulfilment. Subject to paragraph 2, it is 
applicable not only to “information” or “ideas” 
that are favourably received or regarded as 
inoffensive or as a matter of indifference, but 
also to those which offend, shock or disturb; 
such are the demands of pluralism, tolerance 
and broadmindedness, without which there 
is no “democratic society” (see, among many 
other authorities, Oberschlick v. Austria (no. 
1), judgment of 23 May 1991, Series A no. 204, 
§ 57, and Nilsen and Johnsen v. Norway [GC], 
no. 23118/93, § 43, ECHR 1999-VIII). Although 
freedom of expression may be subject to ex-
ceptions, they “must be narrowly interpreted” 
and “the necessity for any restrictions must be 
convincingly established” (see, for instance, 
The Observer and The Guardian v. the United 
Kingdom, judgment of 26 November 1991, Se-
ries A no. 216, pp. 29-30, § 59).

47. Furthermore, the Court stresses that there is 
little scope under Article 10 § 2 of the Con-
vention for restrictions on political speech or 
on the debate of questions of public interest 
(see Feldek v. Slovakia, no. 29032/95, § 74, 
ECHR 2001-VIII, and Sürek v. Turkey (no. 1) [GC], 
no. 26682/95, § 61, ECHR 1999-IV). In the in-
stant case, the applicant's decision to wear a 
red star in public must be regarded as his way 
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of expressing his political views. The display of 
vestimentary symbols falls within the ambit of 
Article 10.

ii Application of these principles to the pre-
sent case

48. At the outset, the Court recalls the case of Re-
kvényi v. Hungary ([GC], no. 25390/94, §§ 44-
50, ECHR 1999-III), which concerned, as a mat-
ter of freedom of expression, a restriction on 
certain political rights of Hungarian police of-
ficers. In that case those restrictions were found 
to be compatible with Article 10 of the Con-
vention, essentially on the ground that they 
concerned members of the armed forces who 
– in the specific circumstances of transition to 
democracy – were to play a crucial rule in sus-
taining pluralism, but could equally undermine 
it if they lost their neutrality. The Court held 
that the interference in question fell within the 
national authorities' margin of appreciation, 
since they had the requisite understanding of 
the Hungarian historical experience underlying 
the restriction at issue.

49. However, the Court finds that the circumstanc-
es of the present application are to be distin-
guished from that case in at least two respects. 
Firstly, Mr Vajnai was a politician not partici-
pating in the exercise of powers conferred by 
public law, while Mr Rekvényi had been a po-
lice officer. Secondly, almost two decades have 
elapsed from Hungary's transition to pluralism 
and the country has proved to be a stable 
democracy (see in this connection Sidabras 
and Džiautas v. Lithuania, nos. 55480/00 and 
59330/00, § 49, ECHR 2004-VIII, and Rainys 
and Gasparavičius v. Lithuania, nos. 70665/01 
and 74345/01, § 36, 7 April 2005). It has be-
come a Member State of the European Union, 
after its full integration into the value system 
of the Council of Europe and the Convention. 
Moreover, there is no evidence to suggest that 
there is a real and present danger of any po-
litical movement or party restoring the Com-
munist dictatorship. The Government have not 
shown the existence of such a threat prior to 
the enactment of the ban in question.

50. The Court further notes the Constitutional 
Court's argument relied on by the Government 
concerning the broad scope of the margin of 
appreciation which States enjoy in this field. 
However, it must be emphasised that none 
of the cases cited by the Constitutional Court 
(Barfod v. Denmark, judgment of 22 Febru-
ary 1989, Series A no. 149; Markt intern Verlag 

GmbH and Klaus Beermann v. Germany, judg-
ment of 20 November 1989, Series A no. 165; 
Chorherr v. Austria, judgment of 25 August 
1993, Series A no. 266-B; Casado Coca v. 
Spain, judgment of 24 February 1994, Series A 
no. 285-A; Jacubowski v. Germany, judgment 
of 23 June 1994, Series A no. 291-A) dealt with 
the particular question of the extent of State 
discretion in restricting the freedom of expres-
sion of politicians.

51. In the Court's view, when freedom of expres-
sion is exercised as political speech – as in the 
present case – limitations are justified only in 
so far as there exists a clear, pressing and spe-
cific social need. Consequently, utmost care 
must be observed in applying any restrictions, 
especially when the case involves symbols 
which have multiple meanings. In such situa-
tions, the Court perceives a risk that a blanket 
ban on such symbols may also restrict their use 
in contexts in which no restriction would be 
justified.

52. The Court is mindful of the fact that the well-
known mass violations of human rights com-
mitted under Communism discredited the 
symbolic value of the red star. However, in the 
Court's view, it cannot be understood as rep-
resenting exclusively Communist totalitarian 
rule, as the Government have implicitly con-
ceded (see paragraph 40 above). It is clear that 
this star also still symbolises the international 
workers' movement, struggling for a fairer soci-
ety, as well certain lawful political parties active 
in different Member States.

53. Moreover, the Court notes that the Govern-
ment have not shown that wearing the red 
star exclusively means an identification with 
totalitarian ideas, especially when seen in the 
light of the fact that the applicant did so at a 
lawfully organised, peaceful demonstration in 
his capacity as vice-president of a registered, 
left-wing, political party, with no known inten-
tion of participating in Hungarian political life 
in defiance of the rule of law. In this connec-
tion the Court emphasises that it is only by a 
careful examination of the context in which the 
offending words appear that one can draw a 
meaningful distinction between shocking and 
offensive language which is protected by Arti-
cle 10 and that which forfeits its right to toler-
ance in a democratic society.

54. The Court therefore considers that the ban in 
question is too broad in view of the multiple 
meanings of the red star. The ban can encom-
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pass activities and ideas which clearly belong 
to those protected by Article 10, and there is no 
satisfactory way to sever the different mean-
ings of the incriminated symbol. Indeed, the 
relevant Hungarian law does not attempt to do 
so. Moreover, even if such distinctions had ex-
isted, uncertainties might have arisen entailing 
a chilling effect on freedom of expression and 
self-censorship.

55. As regards the aim of preventing disorder, the 
Court observes that the Government have not 
referred to any instance where an actual or 
even remote danger of disorder triggered by 
the public display of the red star had arisen in 
Hungary. In the Court's view, the containment 
of a mere speculative danger, as a preventive 
measure for the protection of democracy, can-
not be seen as a “pressing social need”. In any 
event, apart from the ban in question, there are 
a number of offences sanctioned by Hungarian 
law which aim to suppress public disturbances 
even if they were to be provoked by the use of 
the red star (see paragraph 15 above).

56. As to the link between the prohibition of the 
red star and its offensive, underlying, totalitar-
ian ideology, the Court stresses that the poten-
tial propagation of that ideology, obnoxious as 
it may be, cannot be the sole reason to limit it 
by way of a criminal sanction. A symbol which 
may have several meanings in the context of 
the present case, where it was displayed by a 
leader of a registered political party with no 
known totalitarian ambitions, cannot be equat-
ed with dangerous propaganda. However, sec-
tion 269/B of the Hungarian Criminal Code 
does not require proof that the actual display 
amounted to totalitarian propaganda. Instead, 
the mere display is irrefutably considered to do 
so unless it serves scientific, artistic, informa-
tional or educational purposes (see paragraph 
41 above in fine). For the Court, this indiscrimi-
nate feature of the prohibition corroborates 
the finding that it is unacceptably broad.

57. The Court is of course aware that the system-
atic terror applied to consolidate Communist 
rule in several countries, including Hungary, 
remains a serious scar in the mind and heart 
of Europe. It accepts that the display of a sym-
bol which was ubiquitous during the reign of 
those regimes may create uneasiness amongst 
past victims and their relatives, who may right-
ly find such displays disrespectful. It neverthe-
less considers that such sentiments, however 
understandable, cannot alone set the limits of 
freedom of expression. Given the well-known 

assurances which the Republic of Hungary pro-
vided legally, morally and materially to the vic-
tims of Communism, such emotions cannot be 
regarded as rational fears. In the Court's view, 
a legal system which applies restrictions on 
human rights in order to satisfy the dictates of 
public feeling – real or imaginary – cannot be 
regarded as meeting the pressing social needs 
recognised in a democratic society, since that 
society must remain reasonable in its judge-
ment. To hold otherwise would mean that 
freedom of speech and opinion is subjected to 
the heckler's veto.

58. The foregoing considerations are sufficient to 
enable the Court to conclude that the appli-
cant's conviction for the mere fact that he had 
worn a red star cannot be considered to have 
responded to a “pressing social need”. Further-
more, the measure with which his conduct was 
sanctioned, although relatively light, belongs 
to the criminal law sphere, entailing the most 
serious consequences. The Court does not 
consider that the sanction was proportionate 
to the legitimate aim pursued. It follows that 
the interference with the applicant's freedom 
of expression cannot be justified under Article 
10 § 2 of the Convention.

There has accordingly been a violation of Arti-
cle 10 of the Convention.

II. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

59. Article 41 of the Convention provides:

“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Damage
60. The applicant claimed 10,000 euros (EUR) in 

respect of non-pecuniary damage for the loss 
of reputation resulting from the judgment 
against him.

61. The Government were of the view that the 
finding of a violation would, in itself, provide 
sufficient just satisfaction for the applicant, 
given the possibility under domestic law to re-
quest the revision of a final criminal judgment 
after such a finding.
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62. The Court considers that the finding of a viola-
tion constitutes sufficient just satisfaction for 
any non-pecuniary damage which the appli-
cant may have suffered.

B. Costs and expenses
63. The applicant also claimed EUR 2,000 plus 

20% VAT, for the legal fees incurred before the 
Court. This figure corresponded to 10 hours' 
legal work, charged at an hourly rate of EUR 
200, including 3 hours of client consultations, 
2 hours to study the file, 2 hours for the legal 
analysis and 3 hours for drafting submissions.

64. The Government contested this claim.

65. According to the Court's case-law, an applicant 
is entitled to the reimbursement of costs and 
expenses only in so far as it has been shown 
that these have been actually and necessarily 
incurred and were reasonable as to quantum. 
In the present case, regard being had to the 
information in its possession and the above 
criteria, the Court awards the entire amount 
claimed.

C. Default interest
66. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT 
UNANIMOUSLY

1. Declares the application admissible;

2. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 
10 of the Convention;

3. Holds that the finding of a violation consti-
tutes sufficient just satisfaction for any moral 
damage which the applicant may have suf-
fered;

4. Holds

(a) that the respondent State is to pay the ap-
plicant, within three months from the date 
on which the judgment becomes final in 
accordance with Article 44 § 2 of the Con-
vention, EuR 2,000 (two thousand euros), 
plus any tax that may be chargeable to 
the applicant, in respect of costs and ex-
penses, which sum is to be converted into 
Hungarian forints at the rate applicable at 
the date of the settlement;

(b) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amount at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

5. Dismisses the remainder of the applicant's 
claim for just satisfaction.

Done in English, and notified in writing on 8 July 
2008, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the Rules 
of Court.

Sally Dollé, Registrar
françoise Tulkens, President
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JUDGMENT

STRASBOURG
17 June 2004

THIS CASE WAS REFERRED TO THE GRAND CHAMBER,
WHICH DELIVERED JUDGMENT IN THE CASE ON

16 March 2006
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ARTICLE 17, PUBLIC INTEREST, STATE INTERVENTION, 
DEMOCRATIC VALUES, DEMOCRACY

IN THE CASE Of ŽDANOKA v. LATvIA,

The European Court of Human Rights (First Sec-
tion), sitting as a Chamber composed of:
Mr C.L. Rozakis, President,  
Mr P. Lorenzen,  
Mr G. Bonello, 
Mrs F. Tulkens,  
Mr E. Levits,  
Mr A. Kovler,  
Mr V. Zagrebelsky, judges,  
and Mr S. Nielsen, Section Registrar,
Having deliberated in private on 6 May 2004,

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopt-
ed on that date:

PRoCEDURE
1. The case originated in an application (no. 

58278/00) against the Republic of Latvia 
lodged with the Court on 20 January 2000 
under Article 34 of the European Convention 
for the Protection of Human Rights and Fun-
damental Freedoms (“the Convention”) by a 
Latvian national, Ms Tatjana Ždanoka (“the ap-
plicant”).

2. The applicant alleged, in particular, that her 
disqualification from standing for election to 
the Latvian Parliament and to municipal coun-
cils, imposed on account of her active partici-
pation within the Communist Party of Latvia 
after 13 January 1991, infringed her rights as 
guaranteed by Article 3 of Protocol No. 1 to the 
Convention and by Articles 10 and 11 of the 
Convention.

3. The application was assigned to the Second 
Section of the Court (Rule 52 § 1 of the Rules 
of Court). Within that Section, the Chamber 
that would consider the case (Article 27 § 1 of 
the Convention) was constituted as provided 
in Rule 26 § 1.

On 1 November 2001 the Court changed the 
composition of its sections (Rule 25 § 1). This 
case was assigned to the newly composed First 

Section (Rule 52 § 1).

4. By a decision of 6 March 2003 the Chamber de-
clared the application partly admissible.

5. The applicant and the Government each filed 
observations on the merits (Rule 59 § 1 of the 
Rules of Court). On 7 April 2003 the applicant 
submitted her claim for just satisfaction (Arti-
cle 41 of the Convention). On 12 May 2003 the 
Government submitted their observations on 
that claim. On 24 July 2003 the applicant clari-
fied and expanded her claim for just satisfac-
tion. The Government replied on 4 September 
2003.

6. A hearing took place in public in the Human 
Rights Building, Strasbourg, on 15 May 2003 
(Rule 59 § 3).

There appeared before the Court:

(a) for the Government

Ms I. Reine, Agent, 

Ms I. freimane, Adviser;

(b) for the applicant

Mr W. Bowring, barrister, Counsel.

The Court heard addresses by Mr Bowring and 
Ms Reine. Ms Ždanoka, the applicant, was also 
present at the hearing.

tHE FACts

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE 
CASE

A. The historical context and the 
background to the case

1.TheSovietperiod
7. In 1971 the applicant, who at the material time 

was a mathematics student at the University of 
Latvia, joined the Communist Party of Latvia 
(hereafter “the CPL”). This organisation was in 
reality a regional branch of the Communist Par-
ty of the Soviet Union (hereafter “the CPSU”), 
the USSR’s single ruling party.

From 1972 to 1990 the applicant worked as a 
lecturer at the University of Latvia. Throughout 
this period she was a member of the CPL’s uni-
versity branch.

8. From 1988 onwards there was considerable 
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social pressure in Latvia, as in several other 
countries of central and eastern Europe, for de-
mocratisation of political life and restoration of 
state independence, which in Latvia’s case had 
been lost in 1940.

9. In March 1990 the applicant was elected to 
the Supreme Council (Augstākā Padome) of 
the “Soviet Socialist Republic of Latvia” (here-
after “the Latvian SSR”) as a representative for 
the Pļavnieki constituency in Riga. She subse-
quently joined the CPL’s local branch. In April 
1990 this branch selected her to attend the 
CPL’s 25th Congress, where she was elected to 
the party’s Central Committee for Supervision 
and Audit. According to copies of that Com-
mittee’s minutes, the applicant was a member 
of a sub-committee responsible for supervising 
the implementation of decisions and activities 
arising from the CPL’s programme.

10. At the same congress, a group of delegates 
expressed their disagreement with the CPL’s 
general policy, which remained loyal to the So-
viet Union and the CPSU, was opposed to any 
democratisation of public life and sought to 
maintain the status quo. These delegates pub-
licly announced their withdrawal from the CPL 
and established a new party, the “Independ-
ent Communist Party”, which immediately 
declared its support for Latvian independence 
and for a multi-party political system. The ap-
plicant did not join the dissident delegates and 
remained within the CPL.

2.Latvia’sdeclarationofindependence
11. On 4 May 1990 the Supreme Council adopted 

a Declaration on the Restoration of the Inde-
pendence of the Republic of Latvia, which 
declared Latvia’s incorporation into the USSR 
unlawful and void and restored legal force 
to the fundamental provisions of the Latvian 
Constitution (Satversme) of 1922. However, 
paragraph 5 of the Declaration introduced a 
transition period, aimed at a gradual restora-
tion of genuine State sovereignty as each insti-
tutional tie with the USSR was severed. During 
that transition period, various provisions of the 
Constitution of the Latvian SSR would remain 
in force. A special governmental commission 
was given responsibility for negotiating with 
the Soviet Union on the basis of the Russo-
Latvian Peace Treaty of 11 August 1920.

The above-mentioned Declaration was adopt-
ed by 139 out of a total of 201 Supreme Coun-
cil members, with one abstention. 57 members 
of the “Līdztiesība” parliamentary bloc (“Equal 

Rights”, in reality the CPL group), including the 
applicant, did not vote. On the same day, 4 May 
1990, the Central Committee of the CPL adopt-
ed a resolution strongly criticising the Declara-
tion and calling on the President of the Soviet 
Union to intervene.

12. On 7 May 1990 the Supreme Council selected 
the government of the Independent Republic 
of Latvia.

3.TheeventsofJanuaryandMarch1991
13. The parties dispute the events of January and 

March 1991. According to the Government, on 
12 January 1991 the Soviet army launched mili-
tary operations against the government of in-
dependent Lithuania, which had been formed 
in the same way as the Latvian government. 
Several persons were killed in the course of 
those events. Against this background, an at-
tempted coup was also launched in Latvia. On 
13 January 1991 the Plenum of the CPL Central 
Committee called for the resignation of the 
Latvian government, the dissolution of the Su-
preme Council and the assumption of full pow-
ers by the Latvian Committee of Public Safety 
(Vislatvijas Sabiedriskās glābšanas komiteja), 
set up on the same date by several organisa-
tions, including the CPL. On 15 January 1991 
this committee announced that the Supreme 
Council and the government were stripped 
of their respective powers and declared that 
it was assuming full powers. After causing the 
loss of several lives during armed confronta-
tions in Riga, this attempted coup failed.

14. The applicant contested the version of events 
put forward by the Government. In her opin-
ion, the Soviet army’s aggression against the 
Lithuanian government and people was not a 
proven fact; in this connection, she submitted 
a copy of a Russian newspaper article which 
claimed that it had been the Lithuanian inde-
pendence supporters themselves, rather than 
Soviet soldiers, who fired into the crowd, with 
the aim of discrediting the Soviet army. The ap-
plicant also claimed that, at the material time, 
a series of public demonstrations had been 
held in Latvia to protest against the increase in 
food prices ordered by the government; those 
demonstrations were thus the main reason for 
the events of January 1991. Finally, the appli-
cant argued that, in their respective statements 
of 13 and 15 January 1991, the Plenum of the 
CPL’s Central Committee and the Committee 
of Public Safety had not only called for or an-
nounced the removal of the Latvian authori-
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ties, but had also stated that early elections 
would be held for the Supreme Council.

15. On 3 March 1991 a national vote was held on 
Latvian territory. According to the Govern-
ment, this was a genuine national referen-
dum; the applicant argues that it was a simple 
consultative vote. Electors had to reply to a 
question worded as follows: “Do you support 
a democratic and politically independent Re-
public of Latvia?” According to figures supplied 
by the Government, 87.5 % of all residents 
registered on the electoral roll voted: 73.6 % of 
them responded in the affirmative to the ques-
tion posed. The applicant contests the above-
mentioned turnout rate and thus the very le-
gitimacy of the plebiscite.

4.TheeventsofAugustandSeptember1991
16. On 19 August 1991 there was an attempted 

coup in Moscow. The self-proclaimed “National 
State of Emergency Committee” declared that 
Mr Gorbachev, President of the USSR, was sus-
pended from his duties, declared itself the sole 
ruling authority and imposed a state of emer-
gency “in certain regions of the USSR”.

17. On the same day, 19 August 1991, the Central 
Committee and the Riga Committee of the 
CPL declared their support for the National 
State of Emergency Committee and set up an 
“operational group” to provide assistance to it. 
According to the Government, on 20 August 
1991 the CPL, the “Līdztiesība” parliamentary 
bloc and various other organisations signed 
and disseminated an appeal called “Godājamie 
Latvijas iedzīvotāji!” (“Honourable residents of 
Latvia!”), urging the population to comply with 
the requirements of the state of emergency 
and not to oppose the measures imposed by 
the National State of Emergency Committee 
in Moscow. According to the applicant, the 
CPL’s participation in all those events has not 
been proved; in particular, the members of 
the “Līdztiesība” bloc were taking part in par-
liamentary debates over two consecutive days 
and were not even aware that such an appeal 
was to be issued.

18. This coup also ended in failure. On 21 August 
1991, the Latvian Supreme Council enacted 
a constitutional law on the state status of the 
Republic of Latvia and proclaimed the coun-
try’s immediate and absolute independence. 
Paragraph 5 of the Declaration of 4 May 1990, 
concerning the transition period, was repealed.

19. By a decision of 23 August 1991 the Supreme 

Council declared the CPL unconstitutional. 
The following day, the party’s activities were 
suspended and the Minister of Justice was in-
structed “to investigate the unlawful activities 
of the CPL and to put forward ... a motion on 
the possibility of authorising its continued op-
erations”. On the basis of the Minister of Jus-
tice’s proposal, the Supreme Council ordered 
the party’s dissolution on 10 September 1991.

20. In the meantime, on 22 August 1991, the Su-
preme Council set up a parliamentary commit-
tee to investigate the involvement of members 
of the “Līdztiesība” bloc in the coup. On the 
basis of that committee’s final report, the Su-
preme Council revoked fifteen members’ right 
to sit in parliament on 9 July 1992; the appli-
cant was not one of those concerned.

E. Subsequent developments

21. In February 1993 the applicant became chair-
person of the “Movement for Social Justice 
and Equal Rights in Latvia” (“Kustība par sociālo 
taisnīgumu un līdztiesību Latvijā”), which later 
became a political party, “Līdztiesība” (“Equal 
rights”).

22. On 5 and 6 June 1993 parliamentary elections 
were held in accordance with the restored Con-
stitution of 1922. For the first time since Latvian 
independence had been regained, the popu-
lation elected the Parliament (Saeima), which 
took over from the Supreme Council. It was at 
that point that the applicant’s term of office as 
a member of parliament expired. As a result of 
the Latvian authorities’ refusal to include her 
on the residents’ register as a Latvian citizen, 
she was unable to take part in those elections, 
in the following parliamentary elections, held 
in 1995, or in the municipal elections of 1994. 
Following an appeal lodged by the applicant, 
the courts recognised her Latvian nationality 
in January 1996, instructing the authorities to 
register her as such and to supply her with the 
appropriate documents.

B. The 1997 municipal elections
23. On 25 January 1997 the “Movement for Social 

Justice and Equal Rights in Latvia” submitted 
to the Riga Electoral Commission a list of ten 
candidates for the forthcoming municipal elec-
tions of 9 March 1997. The applicant was one of 
those candidates. In line with the requirements 
of the Municipal Elections Act, she signed the 
list and attached a written statement con-
firming that she was not one of the persons 
referred to in section 9 of that Act. Under the 
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terms of the Act, individuals who had “actively 
participated” (darbojušās) in the CPSU, the CPL 
and several other named organisations after 13 
January 1991 were not entitled to stand for of-
fice.

In a letter sent on the same day, 25 January 
1997, the applicant informed the Electoral 
Commission that she had been a member of 
the CPL’s Pļavnieki branch and of its Central 
Committee for Supervision and Audit until 10 
September 1991, date of the CPL’s official dis-
solution. However, she argued that the restric-
tions mentioned above were not applicable to 
her, since they were contrary to Articles 2 and 
25 of the International Covenant on Civil and 
Political Rights.

24. By a decision of 11 February 1997 the Riga Elec-
toral Commission registered the list submitted 
by the applicant. At the elections of 9 March 
1997 this list obtained four of the sixty seats on 
Riga City Council (Rīgas Dome). The applicant 
was one of those elected.

C. The 1998 parliamentary elections
25. With a view to participating in the parliamenta-

ry elections of 3 October 1998, the “Movement 
for Social Justice and Equal Rights in Latvia” 
formed a coalition with the Party of National 
Harmony (Tautas Saskaņas partija), the Latvian 
Socialist Party (Latvijas Sociālistiskā partija) and 
the Russian Party (Krievu partija). The four par-
ties formed a united list entitled “Party of Na-
tional Harmony”. The applicant appeared on 
this list as a candidate for the constituencies of 
Riga and Vidzeme.

On 28 July 1998 the list was submitted to the 
Central Electoral Commission for registra-
tion. In accordance with the requirements of 
the Parliamentary Elections Act, the applicant 
signed and attached to the list a written state-
ment identical to the one she had submitted 
prior to the municipal elections. As she had 
done for the 1997 elections, she likewise sent 
a letter to the Central Electoral Commission 
explaining her situation and arguing that the 
restrictions in question were incompatible with 
the International Covenant on Civil and Politi-
cal Rights and with Article 3 of Protocol No. 1 
to the Convention.

26. On 29 July 1998 the Central Electoral Commis-
sion suspended registration of the list on the 
ground that the applicant’s candidacy did not 
meet the requirements of the Parliamentary 
Elections Act. Not wishing to jeopardise the 

entire list’s prospects of being registered, the 
applicant withdrew her candidacy, after which 
the list was immediately registered.

D. The procedure for determining the 
applicant’s participation in the CPL

27. By a letter of 7 August 1998 the President of 
the Central Electoral Commission asked the 
State Procurator General to examine the legiti-
macy of the applicant’s election to the Riga City 
Council.

28. By a decision of 31 August 1998, a copy of 
which was sent to the Central Electoral Com-
mission, the Procurator General’s Office 
(Ģenerālprokuratūra) noted that the applicant 
had not committed any action defined as an 
offence in the Criminal Code. The decision stat-
ed that, although the applicant had provided 
false information to the Riga Electoral Com-
mission regarding her participation in the CPL, 
there was nothing to prove that she had done 
so with the specific objective of misleading the 
Commission. In that connection, the Procura-
tor’s Office considered that the statement by 
the applicant, appended to the list of candi-
dates for the elections of 9 March 1997, was 
to be read in conjunction with her explanatory 
letter of 25 January 1997.

On 14 January 1999 the General Procurator’s 
Office applied to the Riga Regional Court for a 
finding that the applicant had participated in 
the CPL after 13 January 1991. The Procurator’s 
Office attached the following documents to its 
submission: the applicant’s letter of 25 January 
1997; the minutes of the meeting of 26 Janu-
ary 1991 of the CPL’s Central Committee for 
Sup4ervision and Audit; the minutes of the 
joint meeting of 27 March 1991 of the Central 
Committee for Supervision and Audit and the 
municipal and regional committees for super-
vision and audit; the appendices to those min-
utes, indicating the structure and composition 
of the said committee and a list of the mem-
bers of the Audit Committee at 1 July 1991.

29. Following adversarial proceedings, the Riga 
Regional Court allowed the request by the 
Procurator’s Office in a judgment of 15 Feb-
ruary 1999. It considered that the submitted 
documents clearly attested to the applicant’s 
participation in the party’s activities after the 
critical date, and that the evidence provided 
by the applicant was insufficient to refute this 
finding. Consequently, the court dismissed the 
applicant’s arguments to the effect that she 
was only formally a member of the CPL and 
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that she did not participate in the meetings 
of its Central Committee for Supervision and 
Audit, and that accordingly she could not be 
held to have “acted”, “been a militant” or “ac-
tively participated” (darboties) in the party’s 
activities.

30. The applicant appealed against this judgment 
to the Civil Division of the Supreme Court. On 
12 November 1999 the Civil Division began 
examining the appeal. At the oral hearing, the 
applicant submitted that the content of the 
above-mentioned minutes of 26 January and 
27 March 1991, referring to her by name, could 
not be held against her since on both those 
dates she had been carrying out her duties in 
the Latvian Supreme Council and not in the 
CPL. After hearing evidence from two witness-
es who stated that the applicant had indeed 
been present at the Supreme Council, the Di-
vision suspended examination of the case in 
order to enable the applicant to submit more 
cogent evidence in support of her statements, 
such as a record of parliamentary debates or 
minutes of the “Līdztiesība” parliamentary 
bloc’s meetings. However, as the above-men-
tioned minutes had not been preserved by the 
Parliamentary Record Office, the applicant was 
never able to produce such evidence.

By a judgment of 15 December 1999 the Civil 
Division dismissed the applicant’s appeal. 
It stated that the evidence gathered by the 
Procurator’s Office was sufficient to conclude 
that the applicant had taken part in the CPL’s 
activities after 13 January 1991. The Division 
further noted that the CPL’s dissolution had 
been ordered “in accordance with the interests 
of the Latvian State in a specific historical and 
political situation” and that the international 
conventions relied on by the applicant allowed 
for justified limitations on the exercise of elec-
toral rights.

31. Following the Civil Division’s judgment, en-
forceable from the date of its delivery, the 
applicant was disqualified from electoral of-
fice and lost her seat as a member of Riga City 
Council.

32. The applicant applied to the Senate of the Su-
preme Court to have the Civil Division’s judg-
ment quashed. She stressed, inter alia, the 
disputed restriction’s incompatibility with Arti-
cle 11 of the Convention. By a final order of 7 
February 2000 the Senate declared the appeal 
inadmissible. In the Senate’s opinion, the pro-
ceedings in question were limited to a single 

strictly-defined objective, namely a finding as 
to whether or not the applicant had taken part 
in the CPL’s activities after 13 January 1991. The 
Senate concluded that it did not have jurisdic-
tion to analyse the legal consequences of this 
finding, on the ground that this was irrelevant 
to the finding itself. In addition, the Senate 
noted that any such analysis would involve an 
examination of the Latvian legislation’s com-
patibility with constitutional and international 
law, which did not come within the final appeal 
court’s jurisdiction.

E. The 2002 parliamentary elections
33. The next parliamentary elections took place on 

5 October 2002. With a view to taking part in 
those elections, the “Līdztiesība” party, chaired 
by the applicant, formed an alliance entitled 
“For Human Rights in a United Latvia” (“Par 
cilvēka tiesībām vienotā Latvijā”, abbreviated 
to PCTVL) with two other parties, the Party of 
National Harmony and the Socialist Party. The 
alliance’s electoral manifesto expressly referred 
to the need to abolish the restrictions on the 
electoral rights of persons who had been ac-
tively involved in the CPL after 13 January 1991.

34. In spring 2002 the Executive Council of the 
“Līdztiesība” party put forward the applicant as 
a candidate in the 2002 elections; the Council 
of the PCTVL alliance approved this nomina-
tion. Shortly afterwards, however, on 16 May 
2002, the outgoing Parliament dismissed a mo-
tion to repeal section 5(6) of the Parliamentary 
Elections Act (see paragraph 47 below). The al-
liance’s council, which was fully aware of the 
applicant’s situation and feared that her candi-
dacy would prevent registration of the PCTVL’s 
entire list, changed its opinion and decided not 
to include her name on the list of candidates. 
The applicant then decided to submit a sepa-
rate list containing only one name, her own, 
entitled “Party of National Harmony”.

35. On 23 July 2002 the PCTVL electoral alliance 
submitted its list to the Central Electoral Com-
mission. In all, it contained the names of 77 
candidates for Latvia’s five constituencies. On 
the same date the applicant asked the Com-
mission to register her own list, for the con-
stituency of Kurzeme alone. As she had done 
for the 1998 elections, she attached to her list 
a written statement to the effect that the dis-
puted restrictions were incompatible with the 
Constitution and with Latvia’s international 
undertakings. On 25 July 2002 the Commission 
registered both lists.
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36. By a decision of 7 August 2002 the Central 
Electoral Commission, referring to the Civil 
Division’s judgment of 15 December 1999, re-
moved the applicant from its list. In addition, 
having noted that the applicant had been the 
only candidate on the “Party of National Har-
mony” list and that, following her removal, 
there were no other names, the Commission 
decided to cancel the registration of that list.

37. At the elections of 5 October 2002 the PCTVL 
alliance’s list obtained 18.94 % of the vote and 
won twenty-five seats in Parliament.

II. RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW AND 
PRACTICE

A. Provisions regarding Latvia’s state status
38. The operative provisions of the Declaration of 4 

May 1990 on the Restoration of the Independ-
ence of the Republic of Latvia read as follows:
“TheSupremeCounciloftheLatvianSSRde-
cides:

(1)inrecognitionofthesupremacyofinterna-
tionallawovertheprovisionsofnationallaw,
toconsiderillegalthePactof23August1939
betweentheUSSRandGermanyandthesub-
sequent liquidationof thesovereigntyof the
RepublicofLatviathroughtheUSSR’smilitary
aggressionon17June1940;

(2)todeclarenullandvoidtheDeclarationby
theParliament[Saeima]ofLatvia,adoptedon
21 July1940,onLatvia’s integration into the
UnionofSovietSocialistRepublics;

(3)torestorethe legaleffectoftheConstitu-
tion [Satversme] of the Republic of Latvia,
adoptedon15February1922bytheConstitu-
entAssembly [Satversmessapulce], through-
out the entire territory of Latvia. The official
nameoftheLatvianstateshallbetheREPUB-
LICofLATVIA,abbreviatedtoLATVIA;

(4)tosuspendtheConstitutionoftheRepublic
ofLatviapendingtheadoptionofanewver-
sionoftheConstitution,withtheexceptionof
thosearticleswhichdefinetheconstitutional
andlegalfoundationoftheLatvianStateand
which, in accordance with Article 77 of the
sameConstitution,mayonlybeamendedby
referendum,namely:

Article1–Latviaisanindependentanddemo-
craticrepublic.

Article2–ThesovereignpoweroftheStateof
LatviaisvestedintheLatvianpeople.

Article3–TheterritoryoftheStateofLatvia,
as established by international agreements,
consists of Vidzeme, Latgale, Kurzeme and
Zemgale.

Article 6 – The Parliament (Saeima) shall be
elected in general, equal, direct and secret
elections, based on proportional representa-
tion.

Article 6 of theConstitution shall be applied
aftertherestorationofthestateandadminis-
trativestructuresoftheindependentRepublic
ofLatvia,whichwillguaranteefreeelections;

(5) to introduce a transition period for the
re-establishment of the Republic of Latvia’s
defactosovereignty,whichwillendwiththe
conveningoftheParliamentoftheRepublicof
Latvia.Duringthe transitionperiod,supreme
power shall be exercised by the Supreme
CounciloftheRepublicofLatvia;

(6)duringthetransitionperiod,toacceptthe
applicationof thoseconstitutional andother
legalprovisionsoftheLatvianSSRwhicharein
forceintheterritoryoftheLatvianSSRwhen
thepresentDeclarationisadopted,insofaras
thoseprovisionsdonotcontradictArticles1,
2,3and6oftheConstitutionoftheRepublic
ofLatvia.

Disputes on matters relating to the applica-
tionoflegislativetextswillbereferredtothe
ConstitutionalCourtoftheRepublicofLatvia.

During the transition period, only the Su-
premeCouncilof theRepublicofLatviashall
adoptnewlegislationoramendexisting leg-
islation;

(7)tosetupacommissiontodraftanewver-
sionoftheConstitutionoftheRepublicofLat-
viathatwillcorrespondtothecurrentpolitical,
economicandsocialsituationinLatvia;

(8)toguaranteesocial,economicandcultural
rights,aswellasuniversallyrecognisedpoliti-
calfreedomscompatiblewithinternationalin-
strumentsofhuman rights, tocitizensof the
RepublicofLatviaandcitizensofotherStates
permanently residing in Latvia. This shall ap-
plytocitizensoftheUSSRwhowishtolivein
LatviawithoutacquiringLatviannationality;

(9)tobaserelationsbetweentheRepublicof
Latvia and the USSR on the Peace Treaty of
11 August 1920 between Latvia and Russia,
whichisstillinforceandwhichrecognisesthe
independenceoftheLatvianStateforalltime.
Agovernmentalcommissionshallbesetupto
conductthenegotiationswiththeUSSR.”

39. The operative provisions of the Constitutional 
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Law of 21 August 1991 on the State Status of 
the Republic of Latvia (Konstitucionālais likums 
“Par Latvijas Republikas valstisko statusu”) state:
“TheSupremeCounciloftheRepublicofLat-
viadecides:

(1) to declare that Latvia is an independent
anddemocratic republic inwhich the sover-
eignpowerof theStateof Latviabelongs to
theLatvianpeople, the state statusofwhich
isdefinedbytheConstitutionof15February
1922;

(2) to repeal paragraph 5 of the Declara-
tionof4May1990ontheRestorationof the
Independence of the Republic of Latvia, es-
tablishingatransitionperiodforthedefacto
restoration of the Republic of Latvia’s state
sovereignty;

(3)untilsuchtimeastheoccupationandan-
nexationisendedandParliamentisconvened,
supremestatepowerintheRepublicofLatvia
shallbefullyexercisedbytheSupremeCoun-
cil of theRepublicof Latvia.Only those laws
anddecreesenactedbythesupremegovern-
ing and administrative authorities of the Re-
publicofLatviashallbeinforceinitsterritory;

(4)thisconstitutionallawshallenterintoforce
onthedateofitsenactment.”

B. The status of the CPSu and the CPL
40. The role of the CPSU in the former Soviet Union 

was defined in Article 6 of the Constitution of 
the USSR (1977) and in Article 6 of the Consti-
tution of the Latvian SSR (1978), which were 
worded along identical lines. Those provisions 
stated:
“TheleadingandguidingforceofSovietsoci-
etyandthenucleusofitspoliticalsystemand
ofallstateorganizationsandpublicorganisa-
tionsistheCommunistPartyoftheSovietUn-
ion.TheCPSUexistsforthepeopleandserves
thepeople.

The Communist Party, armed with Marxism-
Leninism, determines the general perspec-
tives of the development of society and the
course of the USSR’s domestic and foreign
policy, directs the great constructive work
of theSovietpeople,and impartsaplanned,
systematic and theoretically-substantiated
character to their struggle for the victory of
communism.

All party organisations shall function within
the framework of the Constitution of the
USSR.”

41. The Supreme Council’s decision of 24 August 

1991 on the suspension of the activities of cer-
tain non-governmental and political organisa-
tions was worded as follows:
“On20August1991theInternationalistFront
of Workers of the Latvian SSR, the United
Council of Labour Collectives, the Republi-
canCouncilofWarandLabourVeterans, the
CentralCommitteeoftheCommunistPartyof
LatviaandtheCentralCommitteeoftheLat-
vianUnionofCommunistYouthissuedaproc-
lamationinformingtheRepublic’spopulation
thatastateofemergencyhadbeendecreed
inLatviaandencouragingallprivateindividu-
als to oppose those who did not submit to
theordersoftheNationalStateofEmergency
Committee.Insodoing,theabove-mentioned
organisations...declaredtheirsupportforthe
organisersofthecoupd’étatandencouraged
otherindividualstodothesame.

The actions of those organisations are con-
trarytoArticles4,6and49oftheLatvianCon-
stitution,whichstatethatLatviancitizensare
entitledtoformpartiesandotherassociations
only if theirobjectivesandpracticalactivities
arenotaimedattheviolenttransformationor
overturnoftheexistingconstitutionalorder...
and thatassociationsmustobserve theCon-
stitutionandlegislationandactinaccordance
withtheirprovisions.

TheSupremeCounciloftheRepublicofLatvia
decrees:

1. The activities of the Communist Party of
Latvia[andoftheotherabove-mentionedor-
ganisations]areherebysuspended...”

42. The relevant parts of the Supreme Council’s de-
cision of 10 September 1991 on the dissolution 
of the above-mentioned organisations read as 
follows:
“... InMay1990 theCommunist Partyof Lat-
via, the Internationalist Front of Workers of
theLatvianSSR,theUnitedCouncilofLabour
CollectivesandtheRepublicanCouncilofWar
andLabourVeteranssetuptheCommitteefor
theDefence of the Constitution of theUSSR
andtheLatvianSSRandtheRightsofCitizens,
whichwasrenamedtheLatvianCommitteeof
PublicSafetyon25November1990...

On15January1991theLatvianCommitteeof
PublicSafetydeclaredthatitwasseizingpow-
eranddissolvingtheSupremeCouncilandthe
GovernmentoftheRepublicofLatvia.

InAugust1991theCentralCommitteeofthe
Communist Party of Latvia [and the other
above-mentioned organisations] supported
thecoup...
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Havingregardtothepreceding,theSupreme
CounciloftheRepublicofLatviadecrees:

1.TheCommunistPartyofLatvia[andtheoth-
er above-mentionedorganisations], together
with thecoalitionof theseorganisations, the
LatvianCommitteeofPublicSafety,arehere-
by dissolved on the ground that they have
actedagainsttheConstitution;...

2. Formermembers of the Communist Party
ofLatvia [andof theotherabove-mentioned
organisations]are informedthattheyareen-
titled to associate within parties and other
associations whose objectives and practical
activities are not aimed at the violent trans-
formation or overthrow of the existing con-
stitutionalorder,andwhicharenototherwise
contrary to the Constitution and the laws of
theRepublicofLatvia...”

C. The electoral legislation
1.Substantiveprovisions

43. The relevant provisions of the Constitution 
(Satversme) of the Republic of Latvia, adopted 
in 1922 and amended by the Law of 15 Octo-
ber 1998, are worded as follows:

Article 9

“AllcitizensofLatviawhoenjoyfullcivicrights
andwhohave reached theageof21on the
dayoftheelectionsmaybeelectedtoParlia-
ment.

Article 64

Legislative power lies with the Parliament
[Saeima] and with the people, in the condi-
tions and to the extent provided for by this
Constitution.

Article 91

AllpersonsinLatviashallbeequalbeforethe
lawandthecourts.Humanrightsshallbeex-
ercisedwithoutdiscriminationofanykind.

Article 101

AllcitizensofLatviaareentitledtoparticipate,
inaccordancewiththelaw,intheactivitiesof
theStateandoflocalgovernment...”

44. The relevant provisions of the Parliamentary 
Elections Act (Saeimas vēlēšanu likums) of 25 
May 1995 provide:

Section 4

“All Latvian citizens who have reached the
ageof21onthedateoftheelectionsmaybe

electedtoParliament,onconditionthatthey
are not concernedby oneof the restrictions
providedforinsection5ofthepresentlaw.

Section 5

Thefollowingmaynotstandascandidatesin
electionsorbeelectedtoParliament:...

(6) persons who actively participated
[darbojušās]after13January1991intheCPSU
(CPL), the Internationalist Front of Workers
of theLatvianSSR, theUnitedCouncilof La-
bourCollectives,theOrganisationofWarand
LabourVeteransortheLatvianCommitteeof
PublicSafety,orintheirregionalcommittees;
...

section 11

Thefollowingdocumentsmustbeappended
tothelistofcandidates:...

(3)asigneddeclarationbyeachcandidateon
thelistconfirmingthatheorshemeetsthere-
quirementsofsection4ofthisActandthathe
orsheisnotconcernedbysection5(1)–(6)of
thepresentAct;...

section 13

“... 2.Once registered, the candidate lists are
definitive, and theCentral ElectoralCommis-
sionmaymakeonlythefollowingcorrections:

1)removalofacandidatefromthelist,where:
...

(a)thecandidateisnotacitizenenjoyingfull
civicrights(sections4and5above);...

3. ... [A]candidateshallberemovedfromthe
liston thebasisof a statement from the rel-
evantauthorityorofacourtdecision.Thefact
thatthecandidate:...

(6)activelyparticipatedafter13January1991
intheCPSU(CPL),theInternationalistFrontof
WorkersoftheLatvianSSR,theUnitedCouncil
ofLabourCollectives,theOrganisationofWar
andLabourVeteransor theLatvianCommit-
teeofPublicSafety,or intheir regionalcom-
mittees,shallbeattestedbyajudgmentofthe
relevantcourt;...”

45. The Law of 13 January 1994 on elections to 
municipal councils and city councils (Pilsētas 
domes un pagasta padomes vēlēšanu likums) 
contains similar provisions to the provisions of 
the Parliamentary Elections Act cited above. In 
particular, section 9(5) is identical to section 
5(6) of that Act.
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2.Proceduralprovisions
46. The procedure for obtaining a judicial state-

ment attesting to an individual’s participation 
or non-participation in the above-mentioned 
organisations is governed by Chapter 23-A 
of the Code of Civil Procedure (Civilprocesa 
kodekss), which was inserted by a Law of 3 
September 1998 and is entitled “Examination 
of cases concerning the attestation of restric-
tions on electoral rights”. The provisions of that 
chapter read as follows:

Article 233-1

“A request for a statement of restriction on
electoralrightsmaybesubmittedbythepros-
ecutor...

The requestmust be submitted to the court
inwhoseterritorialjurisdictionissituatedthe
homeofthepersoninrespectofwhomtheat-
testationofa restrictiononelectoral rights is
requested.

Therequestmaybesubmittedwhereanelec-
toralcommissionhas registereda listofcan-
didateswhich includes ... a citizen in respect
ofwhom there is evidence that, subsequent
to 13 January 1991, he or she actively par-
ticipatedintheCPSU(intheCPL)....Arequest
concerning a person included in the list of
candidatesmay also be submitted once the
electionshavealreadytakenplace.

Therequestmustbeaccompaniedbyastate-
mentfromtheelectoralcommissionconfirm-
ing that theperson inquestionhas stoodas
a candidate in elections and that the list in
question has been registered, as well as by
evidenceconfirming theallegationsmade in
therequest.”

Article 233-3

After examining the request, the court shall
giveitsjudgment:

(1)findingthat,after13January1991,theper-
sonconcerneddidactivelyparticipate in the
CPSU(intheCPL)...;

(2)declaringthe request ill-foundedanddis-
missingit...”

D. Proposals to repeal the disputed 
restrictions

47. The Parliamentary Elections Act was enacted 
on 25 May 1995 by the first Parliament elected 
after the restoration of Latvia’s independence, 
otherwise known as the “Fifth Legislature” (the 
first four legislatures having operated between 

1922 and 1934). The following legislature (the 
Sixth), elected in October 1995, examined 
three different proposals seeking to repeal sec-
tion 5(6) of the above-mentioned Act. At the 
plenary session of 9 October 1997, the three 
proposals were rejected by large majorities af-
ter lengthy debates. Likewise, on 18 December 
1997, during a debate on a proposal to restrict 
section 5(6), the provision’s current wording 
was confirmed. Elected in October 1998, the 
following legislature (the Seventh) examined a 
proposal to repeal section 5(6) at a plenary ses-
sion on 16 May 2002. After lengthy discussions, 
the majority of members of parliament refused 
to accept the proposal.

Finally, the Eighth Legislature, elected in October 
2002, examined a similar proposal on 15 January 
2004. It was also rejected.

E. f. The Constitutional Court’s judgment of 
30 August 2000

48. In a judgment of 30 August 2000 in case no. 
2000-03-01, the Constitutional Court (Satvers-
mes tiesa) found that the restrictions imposed 
by section 5(6) of the Parliamentary Elections 
Act and section 9(5) of the Municipal Elections 
Act were compatible with the Latvian Consti-
tution and with Article 14 of the Convention, 
taken in conjunction with Article 3 of Protocol 
No. 1.

In that judgment, adopted by four votes to 
three, the Constitutional Court first reiterated 
the general principles laid down in the settled 
case-law of the Convention institutions in ap-
plying Article 14 of the Convention and Article 
3 of Protocol No. 1. It further held:
“...4.Theargument that theprovisionscom-
plainedof, forbiddingcertainLatviancitizens
fromstandingascandidatesorbeingelected
to Parliament and municipal councils, dis-
criminate against them on the basis of their
political allegiance, is without foundation....
The impugnedprovisionsdonotprovide for
adifferenceintreatmentonthebasisofanin-
dividual’s political convictions (opinions) but
forarestrictiononelectoral rights forhaving
acted against the re-established democratic
orderafter13January1991...

Accordingly, Parliament limited the restric-
tions to the degree of each individual’s per-
sonal responsibility [individuālās atbildības
pakāpe] in carrying out those organisations’
objectives and programmes, and the restric-
tionon the right tobeelected toParliament
or to amunicipal council ... is related to the
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specificindividual’sactivitiesintherespective
...associations.

In itself, formal membership of the above-
mentioned organisations cannot serve as a
basisforpreventinganindividualfromstand-
ing as candidate or being elected to Parlia-
ment....

Consequently, the impugned provisions are
directed only against those who attempted,
subsequent to 13 January 1991 and in the
presence of the army of occupation, to re-
establish the former regime through active
participation[araktīvudarbību];ontheother
hand,theydonotaffectpersonswhohavedif-
feringpoliticalconvictions(opinions).Theten-
dencyof certain courts to concentrate solely
onthefindingofthefactof formalmember-
shipandnottoevaluatetheperson’sbehav-
iourisinconsistentwiththeobjectivessought
byParliament inenactingtheprovision in is-
sue...

6....Giventhatthoseorganisations’objectives
were linked to the overthrow of the exist-
ing state regime [pastāvošās valsts iekārtas
graušana], they were essentially unconstitu-
tional...

Consequently, the aim of the restrictions
on passive electoral rights is to protect the
democratic stateorder,national securityand
territorial integrity of Latvia. The impugned
provisions are not directed against pluralism
of ideas inLatviaoragainstaperson’spoliti-
calopinions,butagainstthosewho,through
their active participation, have attempted to
overthrow the democratic state order.... The
exerciseofhumanrightsmaynotbedirected
againstdemocracyassuch...

The substance and effectiveness of law is
demonstratedinitsethicalnature[ētiskums].
Ademocraticsocietyhasalegitimateinterest
inrequiringloyaltytodemocracyfromitspo-
litical representatives. In establishing restric-
tions, thecandidates’honourand reputation
is not challenged, in the sense of personal
legal protection [personisks tiesisks labums];
what is challenged is the worthiness of the
persons in question to represent the people
in Parliament or in the relevant municipal
council. These restrictions concern persons
whowere permanent agents of the occupy-
ing power’s repressive regime, or who, after
13January1991,participatedintheorganisa-
tionsmentioned in the impugnedprovisions
andactivelyfoughtagainstthere-established
LatvianConstitutionandState...

The argument ... that democratic state order
mustbeprotectedagainstindividualswhoare

notethicallyqualifiedtobecomerepresenta-
tives of a democratic state at political or ad-
ministrativelevel...iswell-founded...

...Theremovalfromthelistofacandidatewho
wasinvolvedintheabove-mentionedorgani-
sationsisnotanarbitraryadministrativedeci-
sion;itisbasedonanindividualjudgmentby
acourt.Inaccordancewiththelaw,evaluation
of individual responsibility comes under the
jurisdictionofthecourts....

7. ...Inordertodeterminewhetherthemeas-
ureapplied,namelytherestrictionsonpassive
electoralrights,isproportionatetotheobjec-
tives being pursued, namely the protection,
firstly, of democratic state order and, sec-
ondly,ofthenationalsecurityandintegrityof
theLatvianState,itisnecessarytoassessthe
politicalsituationinthecountryandotherre-
latedcircumstances.Parliamenthavingevalu-
atedthehistoricalandpoliticalcircumstances
ofthedevelopmentofdemocracyonseveral
occasions...theCourtdoesnotconsiderthat
at this stage there would be grounds for
challenging the proportionality between the
measureappliedanditsaim.

However,Parliament,byperiodicallyexamin-
ingthepoliticalsituationintheStateandthe
necessityandmeritsoftherestrictions,should
decide to establish a time-limit on these re-
strictions ... since such limitations onpassive
electoral rights may exist only for a specific
period.”

49. Three of the Constitutional Court’s seven judg-
es who examined the above-mentioned case 
issued a dissenting opinion in which they ex-
pressed their disagreement with the majority’s 
conclusions. Referring, inter alia, to the judg-
ments in Vogt v. Germany of 26 September 
1995 (Series A no. 323) and Rekvényi v. Hun-
gary (GC, no. 25390/94, ECHR 1999-III), they 
argued that the disputed restrictions could be 
more extensive with regard to civil servants 
than to elected representatives. According to 
those judges, Latvia’s democratic regime and 
institutional system had become sufficiently 
stable in the years since 1991 for individuals 
who had campaigned against the system ten 
years previously no longer to represent a real 
threat to the State. Consequently, the restric-
tion on those persons’ electoral rights was not 
proportionate to the legitimate aim pursued.
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tHE LAW

I. THE GOVERNMENT’S OBJECTION

50. In their letter of 11 February 2004 the Govern-
ment informed the Court that the European 
Parliament Elections Act (Eiropas Parlamenta 
vēlēšanu likums), which was enacted by the 
Latvian Parliament on 29 January 2004 and en-
tered into force on 12 February 2004, did not 
contain a provision similar to section 5(6) of 
the Parliamentary Elections Act. Consequently, 
the applicant was free to stand as a candidate 
in the elections to the European Parliament, 
which were to be held on 12 June 2004. The 
Government argued that, as a supra-national 
legislature, the European Parliament ought to 
be considered as a “higher” legislative body 
than the Latvian Parliament, and that “the ap-
plicant will be able to exercise her passive elec-
toral rights effectively at an even higher level 
than that foreseen at the outset”.

The Government acknowledged that no 
amendments had so far been made to the 
laws on parliamentary and municipal elections, 
so that the disputed restriction remained in 
force and the applicant remained disqualified 
from standing for Parliament and for municipal 
councils. However, they did not consider that 
this fact was really material to the outcome of 
the case. Latvia’s accession to the European 
Union in spring 2004 marked the culmina-
tion of the transition period, i.e., the country’s 
journey from a totalitarian to a democratic 
society, and the members of parliament had 
been aware of this. The Government also ar-
gued that the periodic re-consideration of the 
disputed provisions constituted a stable par-
liamentary practice (see paragraph 47 above) 
and that the restrictions complained of by the 
applicant were provisional in nature.

Against that background, the Government 
considered that the dispute at the origin of the 
present case had been resolved, and that the 
application should be struck out of the list in 
accordance with Article 37 § 1 (b) of the Con-
vention.

51. The applicant disagreed. She acknowledged 
that she was entitled to stand in the European 
elections and that she intended to do so; how-
ever, this fact did not resolve the dispute. The 
applicant emphasised that the restrictions con-
tained in the laws on parliamentary and local 
elections were still in force and that it was not 

at all certain that they would be repealed in the 
near future, especially since a large number of 
members of parliament seemed to favour their 
continued inclusion in the statute book. She 
also pointed out that the circumstances of the 
present case were very different from those in 
all the cases where the Court had indeed ap-
plied Article 37 § 1 (b). In short, the dispute 
had not been resolved and there was no rea-
son to strike out the application.

52. In the Court’s view, the question posed here is 
whether the applicant has in fact lost her status 
as a “victim” within the meaning of Article 34 of 
the Convention. In that connection, the Court 
refers to its settled case-law to the effect that 
a decision or measure favourable to the appli-
cant is not in principle sufficient to deprive him 
or her of victim status unless the national au-
thorities have acknowledged, either expressly 
or in substance, and then afforded redress for, 
the breach of the Convention (see, for example, 
Amuur v. France, judgment of 25 June 1996, 
Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1996-
III, p. 846, § 36; Dalban v. Romania [GC], no. 
28114/95, § 44, ECHR 1999-VI; Labita v. Italy 
[GC], no. 26772/95, § 142, ECHR 2000-IV; and 
Ilaşcu and Others v. Moldova and Russia [GC] 
(dec.), no. 48787/99 48787/99, 4 July 2001). In 
the present case, the Court notes that the leg-
islative provisions impugned by the applicant 
remain in force, and that she is still disqualified 
from standing both for Parliament and for mu-
nicipal councils. As to the parliamentary prac-
tice referred to by the Government, this hardly 
suffices to affect the applicant’s status as a “vic-
tim”, since future repeal of the disputed restric-
tions is merely hypothetical and without any 
certainty. In any event, any such repeal would 
not negate the measures already taken against 
the applicant, namely the prohibition on her 
participation in the parliamentary elections of 
1998 and 2002 and the forfeiture of her seat as 
Riga city councillor in 1999.

In so far as the Government refer to the op-
portunity for the applicant to take part in the 
European elections, the Court recognises 
that Article 3 of Protocol No. 1 is applicable 
(see Matthews v. the United Kingdom [GC], 
no. 24833/94, §§ 39-44 and 48-54, ECHR 
1999-I). However, the fact that a person is en-
titled to stand for election to the European 
Parliament does not release the State from its 
obligation to respect his or her rights under Ar-
ticle 3 with regard to the national parliament.

53. In sum, the Latvian authorities have neither 
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recognised nor, even less, redressed the viola-
tions alleged by the applicant. She remains a 
“victim” of those alleged violations, the dispute 
is far from being resolved, and there is accord-
ingly no reason to apply Article 37 § 1 (b) of 
the Convention.

Accordingly, the Government’s objection must 
be dismissed.

II. IV. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF 
ARTICLE 3 OF PROTOCOL NO. 1 
TO THE CONVENTION

54. The applicant complained that her disquali-
fication from standing for election to Parlia-
ment on the ground that she had actively 
participated in the CPL after 13 January 1991 
constituted a violation of her right to stand as 
candidate in parliamentary elections. This right 
is guaranteed by Article 3 of Protocol No. 1 to 
the Convention, which provides:
“The High Contracting Parties undertake to
hold freeelectionsat reasonable intervalsby
secretballot,underconditionswhichwillen-
surethefreeexpressionoftheopinionofthe
peopleinthechoiceofthelegislature.”

A. The parties’ submissions
1.Theapplicant

55. The applicant considered that the reasons giv-
en for her disqualification should be examined 
in the light of the principles and conclusions 
identified by the Court in the United Commu-
nist Party of Turkey and Others v. Turkey judg-
ment of 30 January 1998 (Reports 1998-I, pp. 
21-22, §§ 45-46). In her opinion, the impact of 
her disqualification, on herself and on her com-
rades, was comparable to the dissolution of 
the Communist Party in the above-mentioned 
case. Equally, the applicant argued that the lim-
itations on the rights guaranteed under Article 
3 of Protocol No. 1 were to be analysed in the 
same way as the restrictions on the freedom of 
assembly and association authorised by Article 
11 § 2 of the Convention. Consequently, the 
reasoning in the United Communist Party of 
Turkey and Others judgment, adopted under 
Article 11 of the Convention, was applicable 
mutatis mutandis to her case.

56. The applicant disputed the Government’s 
arguments derived from the CPL’s participa-
tion in the events of January and August 1991 
and from the need to defend “an effective 

democracy”. Firstly, she contested the allega-
tions regarding the CPL’s allegedly totalitarian 
and dangerous nature. In that connection, she 
quoted from the party’s official programme, 
adopted in April 1990, which advocated “con-
structive cooperation between different politi-
cal forces favourable to the democratic trans-
formation of society” and “a society based on 
the principles of democracy [and] humanism”. 
Equally, referring to the proceedings of the 
CPL’s 25th Congress, the applicant argued that 
the party had had no intention at that time of 
restoring the former totalitarian communist 
regime.

Furthermore, the applicant denied the Gov-
ernment’s submissions regarding the CPL’s al-
leged illegality. She pointed out that the CPL 
was declared unconstitutional only on 23 Au-
gust 1991 and that the party’s activities had 
remained perfectly legal until that date, includ-
ing during the period after the events of Janu-
ary 1991.

57. Secondly, the applicant argued that member-
ship of the CPL did not in itself suffice to prove 
a lack of loyalty towards Latvia. Indeed, of the 
201 members of the Supreme Council, 106 had 
originally been members of the CPL and the di-
vision of members of parliament into two main 
camps had been based solely on their attitude 
to the Declaration of Independence and not on 
whether they had been members of that party.

Equally, the applicant considered that the CPL 
could not be accused of having attempted to 
overthrow the democratic regime. With regard 
to the events of January 1991, she repeated 
her own version of events, according to which 
there had been no attempt to usurp power. 
In this connection, she submitted a copy of 
the appeal by the CPL’s parliamentary group, 
published on 21 January 1991, which denied 
that the Party had been involved in organis-
ing the armed incursions and deploring “po-
litical provocation ... aimed at ... misleading 
world opinion”. In any event, the applicant 
emphasised that she herself had never been a 
member of the Committee of Public Safety. As 
to the events of 19 August 1991, the applicant 
submitted that there was evidence exculpat-
ing the CPL.

58. In any event, the applicant considered that the 
Republic of Latvia’s ambiguous constitutional 
status during the period in question was an 
important factor to be taken into consideration 
under this point. In that connection, she noted 
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that the Declaration of 4 May 1990 had estab-
lished a transition period so that institutional 
links with the USSR could be gradually broken 
off. In reality, it had been a period of diarchy, 
during which Soviet and Latvian constitutional 
and legislative texts, and even some Soviet and 
Latvian institutions, coexisted and functioned 
in parallel throughout the national territory. 
The applicant acknowledged that the Con-
stitutional Law of 21 August 1991 had ended 
the transition period; however, she submitted 
that it was impossible to declare null and void 
the very existence of that period. Since the le-
gitimacy of the institutions which were then 
functioning in Latvian territory was not clearly 
established, one could not correctly speak of a 
coup d’état.

59. Equally, the CPL could not be criticised for hav-
ing taken a pro-Soviet and anti-independence 
attitude during the transition period. Whilst ac-
knowledging that the CPL and she herself had 
declared their firm support for a Latvia which 
enjoyed greater sovereignty but remained an 
integral part of the USSR, the applicant ob-
served that, at the material time, there was a 
very wide range of opinions on the ways in 
which the country should develop politically, 
even amongst those members of parliament 
who supported independence in principle. 
In addition, leaders of foreign States had also 
been divided on this subject: some had been 
very sceptical about the liberation of the Baltic 
states and had preferred to adopt an approach 
of non-interference in the Soviet Union’s in-
ternal affairs. In short, in supporting one of 
the possible avenues for development, the 
CPL had in fact exercised its right to pluralism 
of political opinions, which was inherent in a 
democratic society.

60. The applicant considered ill-founded and un-
substantiated the Government’s argument 
that to allow persons who had been members 
of the CPL after 13 January 1991 to become 
members of Parliament would be likely to com-
promise national security. She pointed out that 
the impugned restriction had not existed until 
1995 and that, in the first parliamentary elec-
tions following restoration of the 1922 Consti-
tution, three individuals in the same position 
as herself had been elected to parliament. In 
those circumstances, the applicant could not 
see how her election could threaten national 
security such a long time after the facts held 
against her.

61. In any event, the applicant considered that the 

criteria identified in the Court’s case-law with 
regard to the political loyalty of civil servants 
could not be applied to current or potential 
members of a national parliament.

62. In so far as the Government referred to the 
Constitutional Court’s judgment of 30 August 
2000, the applicant referred to the dissenting 
opinion signed by three of the seven judges 
who had examined the case, finding that the 
disputed restriction was disproportionate. The 
applicant endorsed the arguments put forward 
by those three judges, particularly the conten-
tion that the Latvian democratic system had 
become sufficiently strong for it no longer to 
fear the presence within its legislative body of 
persons who had campaigned against the sys-
tem ten years previously.

63. With regard to the Constitutional Court’s re-
strictive interpretation of the electoral law, 
which presupposed evaluation of the individu-
al responsibility of each person concerned, the 
applicant argued that nothing in her personal 
conduct justified the disputed measure, since 
she had never attempted to restore the totali-
tarian regime or overthrow the legitimate au-
thorities. On the contrary, she had campaigned 
for democratisation and for reform within the 
CPSU, the CPL and society as a whole.

64. The applicant also argued that nothing in her 
personal conduct since the alleged facts jus-
tified the restriction on her electoral rights. 
Thus, subsequent to January 1990, she had 
campaigned in a non-governmental organisa-
tion, “Latvijas Cilvēktiesību komiteja” (“Latvian 
Committee for Human Rights”), and had co-
chaired that organisation until 1997. Working 
within the committee, she had become very 
well known for her activities in providing legal 
assistance to thousands of individuals; she had 
helped to promote respect for human rights in 
Latvia and she had been responsible for imple-
menting three Council of Europe programmes.

65. Finally, and contrary to the Government’s sub-
missions, the applicant considered that the 
disputed restriction was not provisional. In that 
connection, she pointed out that, although Par-
liament had indeed re-examined the electoral 
law before each election, this re-examination 
had always resulted in an extension rather than 
a reduction in the number of circumstances 
entailing disqualification. Consequently, it had 
to be acknowledged that the disqualification 
of individuals who had been active within the 
CPL after 13 January 1991 was likely to contin-
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ue. The measure reduced electoral rights to the 
point of impairing their very essence, and the 
free expression of the opinion of the people 
had been impeded in the present case.

2.TheGovernment
66. The Government began by submitting a long 

description of the historical events related to 
the restoration of Latvian state independence. 
In particular, they referred to the following 
facts, which they considered common knowl-
edge and not open to dispute:

(a) Having failed to obtain a majority on the 
Supreme Council in the democratic elec-
tions of March 1990, the CPL and the other 
organisations listed in section 5(6) of the 
Parliamentary Elections Act decided to take 
the unconstitutional route and set up a 
Committee of Public Safety, which attempt-
ed to usurp power and to dissolve the Su-
preme Council and the legitimate govern-
ment. Such actions were contrary not only 
to Article 2 of the 1922 Constitution, which 
stated that sovereign power was vested 
with the people, but also to Article 2 of 
the Constitution of the Latvian SSR, which 
conferred authority to act on behalf of the 
people on elected councils (soviets) alone.

(b) The Central Committee of the CPL provided 
financial support to the special unit of the 
Soviet police which was entirely responsi-
ble for the fatal incidents of January 1991 
(see paragraph 13 above); at the same time, 
the Committee of Public Safety publicly ex-
pressed its support for this militarised body.

(c) During the coup of 19 August 1991 the 
Central Committee of the CPL openly de-
clared its support for the “National State 
of Emergency Committee”, set up an “op-
erational group” with a view to providing 
assistance to it and published an appeal 
calling on the public to comply with the re-
gime imposed by this self-proclaimed and 
unconstitutional body.

67. In support of the above arguments, the Gov-
ernment submitted a copy of the Supreme 
Court’s judgment of 27 July 1995, which found 
Mr A.R. and Mr O.P., former senior officials in 
the CPL, guilty of attempting to overthrow the 
legitimate authorities by violent means. In sub-
stance, this judgment established the above-
mentioned events as historical facts.

68. The Government acknowledged that Parlia-

ment was not part of the “civil service” in the 
same way as the police or the armed forces. 
However, they considered that Parliament was 
a “public service” since, in enacting legislation, 
members of parliament were participating di-
rectly in the exercise of powers conferred by 
public law. Consequently, in the Government’s 
opinion, the criteria identified by the Court un-
der Articles 10 and 11 of the Convention with 
regard to restrictions on the political activity 
of civil servants were applicable by analogy to 
candidates for office and elected representa-
tives.

69. With regard to the aim pursued by the im-
pugned restriction, the Government observed 
that the disqualification from standing for elec-
tion applied to those persons who had been 
active within organisations which, following 
the proclamation of an independent republic, 
had openly turned against the new democratic 
order and had actively sought to restore the 
former totalitarian communist regime. It was 
consequently necessary to exclude those per-
sons from exercising legislative authority since, 
having failed to respect democratic principles 
in the past, there was no guarantee that they 
would now exercise their authority in accord-
ance with such principles. In other words, the 
disqualification from standing for election was 
justified by the need to protect effective de-
mocracy, to which all of society was entitled, 
against a possible resurgence of communist 
totalitarianism. Relying on Ahmed and Others 
v. the United Kingdom, judgment of 2 Septem-
ber 1998 (Reports 1998-VI, p. 2395, § 52), the 
Government argued that the disputed disqual-
ification was preventative in nature and did not 
require the factual existence of dangerous and 
undemocratic actions on the part of those per-
sons. Referring also to the above-mentioned 
Rekvényi judgment (particularly § 41), the 
Government considered that the principle of 
a “democracy capable of defending itself” was 
compatible with the Convention, especially in 
the context of the post-communist societies of 
central and eastern Europe.

70. Furthermore, the Government were of the 
view that the above-mentioned Vogt judg-
ment could not be relied upon in support of 
the applicant’s submissions. Mrs Vogt’s activi-
ties within the German Communist Party had 
been legal activities within a legal organisation. 
In contrast, in the present case, the enactment 
on 4 May 1990 of the Declaration on the Resto-
ration of the Independence of the Republic of 
Latvia had created a new constitutional order, 
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of which that Declaration had become the ba-
sis. Accordingly, during the period from 4 May 
1990 to 6 June 1993, the date on which the 
1922 Constitution was fully re-established, any 
action against the said Declaration or against 
the state system founded by it had to be con-
sidered unconstitutional and consequently 
illegal. The Government also disputed the ap-
plicant’s assertion regarding the existence of 
a constitutional diarchy during the events of 
1991.

71. In addition, the Government argued that the 
impugned restriction had the aim of protect-
ing the State’s independence and national 
security. Referring in that connection to the 
resolutions adopted in April 1990 by the CPL’s 
25th Congress, the Government noted that 
that party had always been hostile to the res-
toration of Latvia’s independence and that one 
of its main aims had been to keep the country 
inside the Soviet Union. Accordingly, the Gov-
ernment considered that the very existence of 
a State Party to the Convention was threatened 
in the instant case, and that granting access to 
the bodies of supreme State power to individu-
als who were hostile to that State’s independ-
ence would be likely to compromise national 
security.

72. The Government were of the opinion that 
the restriction in question was proportionate 
to the legitimate aims pursued. In that con-
nection, they emphasised that the impugned 
disqualification was not applicable to all those 
individuals who had officially been members 
of the CPL after 13 January 1991, but only to 
those who had “acted” or “actively participat-
ed” in the party’s operations after the above-
mentioned date, i.e. to persons who, in their 
administrative or representative functions, had 
threatened Latvia’s democratic order and sov-
ereignty. This restrictive interpretation of the 
electoral legislation had in fact been imposed 
by the Constitutional Court in its judgment of 
30 August 2000.

73. The Government considered that, in the pre-
sent case, the applicant’s hostile attitude to 
democracy and to Latvia’s independence had 
been clear since the CPL’s 25th Congress, dur-
ing which she chose not to align herself with 
the dissident progressive delegates, opting 
instead to remain with those who supported 
the “hard line” Soviet policy (see paragraph 10 
above). Equally, the Government asserted that 
the Central Committee for Supervision and Au-
dit had a leading position in the CPL’s internal 

structure and that the applicant was a member 
of a sub-committee responsible for supervising 
implementation of the party’s decisions and 
policies. The majority of decisions taken by CPL 
bodies reflected an extremely hostile attitude 
to the re-establishment of a democratic and 
independent republic. In that connection, the 
Government referred once again to the state-
ment issued by the CPL’s Central Committee 
on 13 January 1991, establishing the Com-
mittee of Public Safety and aimed at usurp-
ing power; however, they admitted that the 
applicant herself had not been present at the 
Central Committee’s meeting on that date. In 
short, according to the Government, as one of 
those responsible for supervising implementa-
tion of the CPL’s decisions, the applicant could 
not have failed to oppose an independent Lat-
via during the period in question.

The Government submitted that, although the 
applicant’s position within the CPL sufficed in 
itself to demonstrate her active involvement 
with that party’s activities, the courts had 
nonetheless based their reasoning on the de-
gree of her personal responsibility rather than 
on a formal finding regarding her status in the 
party’s organisational structure.

74. In the Government’s opinion, the applicant’s 
current conduct continued to justify her dis-
qualification. Supporting their argument with 
numerous press articles, they submitted that 
the applicant’s political activities were part of a 
“carefully scripted scenario” aimed at harming 
Latvia’s interests, moving it away from the Eu-
ropean Union and NATO and bringing it closer 
to the Commonwealth of Independent States. 
The Government referred to certain critical 
statements recently made by the applicant 
about the State’s current policy towards the 
Russian-speaking minority and the new Lan-
guage Act; they also criticised the applicant’s 
role in the organisation of public meetings on 
the dates of former Soviet festivals.

75. Finally, and still with regard to the proportion-
ality of the disputed measure, the Government 
pointed out that, since the reinstatement of 
the 1922 Constitution, each successive parlia-
ment had examined the need to maintain the 
disqualification of individuals who had been 
active members of the CPSU or the CPL after 
13 January 1991; that periodic re-examination 
thus constituted an established parliamentary 
practice. In those circumstances, the Govern-
ment reiterated their argument that the restric-
tion in question was provisional in nature. For 
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the same reason, the restriction could not be 
regarded as an impairment of the very essence 
of electoral rights.

76. In view of all of the above, the Government 
considered that the applicant’s disqualification 
from standing for election was proportionate 
to the legitimate aims pursued, and that there 
had therefore been no violation of Article 3 of 
Protocol No. 1 to the Convention in the instant 
case.

B. The Court’s assessment
1.Establishmentofthefactsofthecase

77. The Court observes, in the first place, that a 
number of facts in the present case are dis-
puted between the parties. Thus, the applicant 
contests the Government’s version of events 
with regard to the origins and nature of the first 
coup attempt in January 1991, the plebiscite of 
March 1991 and the CPL’s collaboration with 
the perpetrators of the second attempted coup 
in August 1991 (see paragraphs 13-17, 57 and 
66 above). In that connection, the Court wishes 
to reiterate that, in exercising its supervisory 
jurisdiction, its task is not to take the place of 
the competent national authorities but rather 
to review the decisions they delivered pursu-
ant to their power of appreciation. In so doing, 
it has to satisfy itself that the national authori-
ties based their decisions on an acceptable 
assessment of the relevant facts and that they 
committed no arbitrary acts (see, for example, 
the judgments in Freedom and Democracy 
Party (ÖZDEP) v. Turkey [GC], no. 23885/94, 
§ 39, ECHR 1999-VIII; Vogt v. Germany, cited 
above, p. 26, § 52 (iii); and Socialist Party and 
Others v. Turkey, 25 May 1998, Reports 1998-III, 
p. 1256, § 44). The Court also considers that 
it must abstain, as far as possible, from pro-
nouncing on matters of purely historical fact, 
which do not come within its jurisdiction; how-
ever, it may accept certain well-known histori-
cal truths and base its reasoning on them (see 
Marais v. France, Commission decision of 24 
June 1996, DR 86, p. 184, and Garaudy v. France 
(dec.), no. 65831/01 65831/01, ECHR 2003-IX).

In the present case, the Court finds no indica-
tion of arbitrariness in the way in which the 
Latvian courts evaluated the relevant facts. In 
particular, it notes that the CPL’s participation 
in the events of 1991 has been established by 
a Supreme Court judgment in the context of a 
criminal case (see paragraph 67 above). Equally, 
the Court does not have any reason to dispute 
the findings of fact made by the Riga Regional 

Court and the Civil Division of the Supreme 
Court with regard to the events of 1991 and 
the applicant’s personal participation in the 
CPL’s activities (see paragraphs 29-30 above). 
Moreover, the Court has no information at its 
disposal which would permit it to suspect the 
Latvian authorities of having distorted in any 
way the historical facts concerning the period 
in question.

2.Thegeneralprinciplesestablishedbythe
case-lawoftheConventioninstitutions

(a)  Democracy and its protection in the Conven-
tion system

78. The Court recalls at the outset that democracy 
constitutes a fundamental element of “Euro-
pean public order”. That is apparent, firstly, 
from the Preamble to the Convention, which 
establishes a very clear connection between 
the Convention and democracy by stating that 
the maintenance and further realisation of hu-
man rights and fundamental freedoms are best 
ensured on the one hand by an effective po-
litical democracy and on the other by a com-
mon understanding and observance of human 
rights. The Preamble goes on to affirm that 
European countries have a common heritage 
of political tradition, ideals, freedom and the 
rule of law. This common heritage consists in 
the underlying values of the Convention; thus, 
the Court has pointed out on many occasions 
that the Convention was in fact designed to 
maintain and promote the ideals and values of 
a democratic society. In other words, democra-
cy is the only political model contemplated by 
the Convention and, accordingly, the only one 
compatible with it (see, among many other 
examples, the above-mentioned United Com-
munist Party of Turkey and Others v. Turkey 
judgment, pp. 21-22, § 45; Refah Partisi (The 
Welfare Party) and Others v. Turkey [GC], nos. 
41340/98, 41342/98, 41343/98 and 41344/98, 
§ 86, ECHR 2003-II; and, lastly, Gorzelik and 
Others v. Poland [GC], no. 44158/98 44158/98, 
§ 89, to be published in ECHR 2004).

79. However, it cannot be ruled out that a person 
or a group of persons will rely on the rights 
enshrined in the Convention or its Protocols in 
order to attempt to derive therefrom the right 
to conduct what amounts in practice to activi-
ties intended to destroy the rights or freedoms 
set forth in the Convention; any such destruc-
tion would put an end to democracy. It was 
precisely this concern which led the authors of 
the Convention to introduce Article 17, which 
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provides: “Nothing in this Convention may be 
interpreted as implying for any State, group or 
person any right to engage in any activity or 
perform any act aimed at the destruction of 
any of the rights and freedoms set forth herein 
or at their limitation to a greater extent than is 
provided for in the Convention” (see Collected 
Edition of the “Travaux Préparatoires”: Official 
Report of the Consultative Assembly, 1949, 
pp. 1235-1239). Following the same line of rea-
soning, the Court considers that no one should 
be authorised to rely on the Convention’s pro-
visions in order to weaken or destroy the ideals 
and values of a democratic society (see Refah 
Partisi and Others v. Turkey, cited above, § 99).

80. Consequently, in order to guarantee the stabil-
ity and effectiveness of a democratic system, 
the State may be required to take specific 
measures to protect it. Thus, in the above-cited 
Vogt judgment, with regard to the requirement 
of political loyalty imposed on civil servants, 
the Court acknowledged the legitimacy of the 
concept of a “democracy capable of defending 
itself” (loc. cit., pp. 25 and 28-29, §§ 51 and 
59). It has also found that pluralism and de-
mocracy are based on a compromise that re-
quires various concessions by individuals, who 
must sometimes be prepared to limit some of 
their freedoms so as to ensure the greater sta-
bility of the country as a whole (see Refah Parti-
si and Others v. Turkey, cited above, § 99). The 
problem which is then posed is that of achiev-
ing a compromise between the requirements 
of defending democratic society on the one 
hand and protecting individual rights on the 
other (see United Communist Party of Turkey 
and Others v. Turkey, cited above, p. 18, § 32). 
Every time that a State intends to rely on the 
principle of “a democracy capable of defend-
ing itself” in order to justify interference with 
individual rights, it must therefore carefully 
evaluate the scope and consequences of the 
measure under consideration, to ensure that 
the aforementioned balance is achieved.

81. Finally, with regard to the implementation of 
measures intended to defend democratic val-
ues, the Court has stated in its Refah Partisi and 
Others v. Turkey judgment, cited above (loc. 
cit., § 102):
“The Court considers that a State cannot be
required to wait, before intervening, until a
political party has seized power and begun
totakeconcretestepsto implementapolicy
incompatiblewith the standardsof theCon-
ventionanddemocracy,eventhoughthedan-

gerofthatpolicyfordemocracyissufficiently
establishedandimminent.TheCourtaccepts
that where the presence of such a danger
has been established by the national courts,
after detailed scrutiny subjected to rigorous
European supervision, a State may ‘reason-
ably forestall the execution of such a policy,
which is incompatiblewith theConvention’s
provisions,beforeanattempt ismadeto im-
plementitthroughconcretestepsthatmight
prejudicecivilpeaceandthecountry’sdemo-
craticregime’”.

(b)  Article 3 of Protocol No. 1

82. The Court points out that Article 3 of Protocol 
No. 1 implies the personal rights to vote and 
to stand for election. Although those rights are 
important, they are not absolute. Since Article 
3 recognises them without setting them forth 
in express terms, let alone defining them, there 
is room for “implied limitations”. In their inter-
nal legal orders the Contracting States make 
the rights to vote and to stand for election 
subject to conditions which are not in principle 
precluded under Article 3. They have a wide 
margin of appreciation in this sphere, but it 
is for the Court to determine in the last resort 
whether the requirements of Protocol No. 1 
have been complied with; it has to satisfy itself 
that the conditions do not curtail the rights in 
question to such an extent as to impair their 
very essence and deprive them of their effec-
tiveness; that they are imposed in pursuit of a 
legitimate aim; and that the means employed 
are not disproportionate (see also the following 
judgments: Mathieu-Mohin and Clerfayt v. Bel-
gium of 2 March 1987, Series A no. 113, p. 23, § 
52; Gitonas and Others v. Greece of 1 July 1997, 
Reports 1997-IV, pp. 1233-1234, § 39; Ahmed 
and Others v. the United Kingdom, cited above, 
p. 2384, § 75; and Labita v. Italy, cited above, § 
201). In that connection, and in the light of the 
pre-eminence of democracy in the Convention 
system, the Court considers that it must adhere 
to the same criteria applied with regard to the 
interference permitted by Articles 8 to 11 of 
the Convention: the only type of necessity ca-
pable of justifying an interference with any of 
those rights is, therefore, one which may claim 
to spring from “democratic society” (see, mu-
tatis mutandis, the above-cited judgments in 
the cases of United Communist Party of Turkey 
and Others v. Turkey pp. 21-22, § 45, and Refah 
Partisi and Others v. Turkey, § 86).

In any event, like all the other substantive pro-
visions of the Convention and the Protocols 
thereto, Article 3 must be interpreted in the 
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light of the principle of the effectiveness of 
rights inherent in the entire Convention sys-
tem: this Article must be applied in such a way 
as to make its stipulations not theoretical or il-
lusory but practical and effective (see Podkolzi-
na v. Latvia, no. 46726/99, § 35, ECHR 2002-II).

83. The Court further points out that the States 
enjoy considerable latitude in establishing 
constitutional rules on the status of members 
of parliament, including the criteria for de-
claring them ineligible. Although they have 
a common origin in the need to ensure both 
the independence of elected representatives 
and the freedom of electors, these criteria vary 
in accordance with the historical and political 
factors specific to each State; the multiplicity 
of situations provided for in the constitutions 
and electoral legislation of numerous member 
States of the Council of Europe shows the di-
versity of possible approaches in this area. For 
the purposes of applying Article 3, any electoral 
legislation must be assessed in the light of the 
political evolution of the country concerned. 
However, the State’s margin of appreciation 
in this regard is limited by the obligation to 
respect the fundamental principle of Article 
3, namely “the free expression of the opinion 
of the people in the choice of the legislature” 
(see the above-cited judgments in the cases of 
Mathieu-Mohin and Clerfayt v. Belgium, pp. 23-
24, § 54, and Podkolzina v. Latvia, § 33).

84. The Court notes that the former Commission 
was required on several occasions to consider 
whether the decision to withdraw an indi-
vidual’s active and passive election rights on 
account of his or her previous activities consti-
tuted a violation of Article 3 of Protocol No. 1. 
In practically all those cases, the Commission 
found that it did not. Thus, in the cases of X. v. 
the Netherlands (no. 6573/74, Commission de-
cision of 19 December 1974, DR 1, p. 88) and X. 
v. Belgium (no. 8701/79, Commission decision 
of 3 December 1979, DR 18, p. 250), it declared 
inadmissible applications from two persons 
who had been convicted following the Second 
World War of collaboration with the enemy or 
“uncitizenlike conduct” and, on that account, 
permanently deprived of the right to vote. In 
particular, the Commission considered that 
“the purpose of legislation depriving persons 
convicted of treason of certain political rights 
and, more specifically, the right to vote [was] 
to ensure that persons who [had] seriously 
abused, in wartime, their right to participate 
in the public life of their country are prevented 
in future from abusing their political rights in a 

manner prejudicial to the security of the state 
or the foundations of a democratic society 
(see the above-cited X. v. Belgium decision, 
loc. cit.). Equally, in the case of Van Wambeke 
v. Belgium (no. 16692/90, decision of 12 April 
1991), the Commission declared inadmissible, 
on the same grounds, an application from a 
former member of the Waffen-SS, convicted of 
treason in 1945, who complained that he had 
been unable to take part in the elections to the 
European Parliament in 1989.

Finally, in the case of Glimmerveen and Hagen-
beek v. the Netherlands (applications nos. 
8348/78 and 8406/78, Commission decision 
of 11 October 1979, DR 18, p. 187), the Com-
mission declared inadmissible two applications 
concerning the refusal to allow the applicants, 
who were the leaders of a proscribed organisa-
tion with racist and xenophobic traits, to stand 
for election. On that occasion, the Commission 
referred to Article 17 of the Convention, not-
ing that the applicants “intended to participate 
in these elections and to avail themselves of 
the right [concerned] for a purpose which the 
Commission [had] found to be unacceptable 
under Article 17” (loc. cit.).

3.Applicationofthoseprinciplestothe
presentcase

(a)  Do the criteria concerning the political activi-
ties  of  public  servants  apply  to members  of 
parliament?

85. According to the Government, the applicant’s 
disqualification from standing for election 
must be analysed in the light of the same crite-
ria and general principles applied to members 
of the civil and military forms of public service. 
In that connection, the Court points out that 
it has on several occasions acknowledged the 
legitimacy of restrictions on the political activi-
ties of police officers, civil servants, judges and 
other persons in State service who exercise 
public authority (see the following above-cited 
judgments: Rekvényi v. Hungary, §§ 41 and 
46, and Vogt v. Germany, pp. 28-29, § 58, as 
well as Briķe v. Latvia (dec.), no. 47135/99, 29 
June 2000). However, in the cases cited above, 
the individuals subjected to the contested 
restrictions belonged to the executive or the 
judiciary, and the Court accepted that it was 
particularly important to maintain their po-
litical neutrality so as to ensure that all citizens 
received equal and fair treatment that was not 
vitiated by political considerations. In contrast, 
the present case concerns the legislature, 
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which functions in accordance with funda-
mentally different principles. In protecting “the 
free expression of the opinion of the people”, 
Article 3 of Protocol No. 1 is actually based on 
the idea of political pluralism; neither a parlia-
ment nor an individual member of parliament 
may, by definition, be “politically neutral”.

Consequently, and assuming that a certain 
“duty of loyalty” also exists on the part of par-
liamentarians, the Court is of the opinion that 
it cannot be identical or even similar to that re-
quired of members of the public service.

(b)  Did  the  applicant’s  disqualification  from 
standing for election pursue a legitimate aim?

86. The Court points out that, as a general rule, in 
assessing the limitations imposed by States on 
the rights guaranteed under Article 3 of Pro-
tocol No. 1, it takes a similar approach to that 
applied in analysing interference within the 
meaning of Articles 8 to 11 of the Convention 
(see paragraph 82 above). However, in contrast 
to the situation with regard to those four provi-
sions, the Court is not bound by an exhaustive 
list of “legitimate aims” with regard to Article 3 
of Protocol No. 1; thus, in the above-cited Pod-
kolzina judgment, it recognised the legitimacy 
of the State’s “interest ... in ensuring that its 
own institutional system functions normally” 
(loc. cit., § 34). Having regard to the respond-
ent Government’s margin of appreciation, the 
Court accepts that the impugned measure 
pursues at least three legitimate aims referred 
to by the Government: protection of the State’s 
independence, protection of the democratic 
order and protection of national security.

(c)  Is  the  restriction  proportionate  to  the  aim 
which it pursues?

87. It remains to be determined whether the 
measure in question is proportionate to the 
legitimate aims mentioned above. In the light 
of the Government’s observations, the Court 
considers that this form of disqualification 
from standing for election may serve a double 
function and may be analysed in two ways: as 
a punitive measure, i.e. as a sanction for hav-
ing demonstrated uncitizenlike conduct in 
the past, but also as a preventative measure, 
where the applicant’s current conduct is likely 
to endanger democracy and where his or her 
election could create an immediate threat to 
the State’s constitutional system. The Court will 
examine each of these two aspects in turn.

i The punitive aspect

88. With regard, firstly, to the punitive aspect, the 
Court acknowledges its legitimacy. However, it 
considers that, generally speaking, the meas-
ure in question must remain temporary in or-
der to be proportionate. The Court is unable to 
agree with the Government’s argument that 
the applicant’s disqualification from standing 
for election was merely “temporary” or “provi-
sional” in nature. Admittedly, the disqualifica-
tion cannot be described as “life-long”, in that it 
has not been expressly stated that the situation 
will never change; nonetheless, in the Court’s 
opinion, the restriction is indeed permanent, in 
that it is of indefinite duration and will continue 
until the relevant legislation is repealed.

Admittedly, in several cases brought before it 
(see paragraph 84 above) the former Commission 
found that instances of permanent disqualification 
were proportionate. However, in all of those cases, 
the applicants had been convicted of particularly 
grievous criminal offences, such as war crimes or 
high treason; in contrast, in the present case, the 
applicant’s activities have not given rise to any 
criminal penalties.

ii The preventative aspect

89. As to the preventative aspect of the disquali-
fication from standing for election, the Court 
notes that the Government’s submissions may 
be summarised in the form of two main argu-
ments. Firstly, it may be deduced that in 1991 
the applicant committed acts of such serious-
ness that they remain in themselves sufficient 
to justify her disqualification, even in the ab-
sence of specific actions by her at the present 
time. Secondly, the Government submits that 
the applicant’s current conduct also justifies 
the disputed measure.

 α – The applicant’s conduct in 1991

90. As to the first argument, the Court notes at 
the outset that the reference date chosen by 
the Latvian legislature is not 23 August 1991, 
the date on which the CPL was declared un-
constitutional, but 13 January 1991, the date 
of the first coup d’état supported by that party. 
The Government submit that the CPL was to 
be considered illegal from the latter date. The 
Court cannot accept that argument. It points 
out that, when examining compliance with the 
“lawfulness” criterion in respect of the interfer-
ence provided for in Articles 8 to 11 of the Con-
vention, it has on numerous occasions stated 
that any restrictive provision must be “foresee-
able”, this requirement being closely linked to 
the principle of legal certainty (see, most re-
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cently, Maestri v. Italy [GC], no. 39748/98, § 30, 
to be reported in ECHR 2004). Yet, according to 
the information available to the Court, no leg-
islation explicitly or even implicitly prohibited 
the operations of the CPL or of the CPSU prior 
to August 1991. Consequently, in becoming 
involved or participating actively in those or-
ganisations during the period in question, the 
applicant could not reasonably have foreseen 
the adverse consequences that might arise in 
the future. Accordingly, she cannot be accused 
of having been active in an illegal association 
(see Vogt v. Germany, cited above, p. 30, § 60, 
in fine).

91. The Court further observes that it is not its role 
to rule on the historical controversy between 
the parties concerning the events of 1991. As it 
noted above (paragraph 77), the Government’s 
version of the facts seems neither arbitrary nor 
unreasonable; in particular, the Court consid-
ers that the totalitarian and anti-democratic 
nature of the ruling communist parties in the 
States of central and eastern Europe prior to 
1990 is a well-known historical reality (see, 
mutatis mutandis, Rekvényi v. Hungary, cited 
above, §§ 41 and 47). Equally, to the extent 
that the applicant refers to the CPL’s official 
programme and to its alleged moves towards 
democratisation after 1990 (see paragraph 56 
above), the Court points out that a political 
party’s constitution and programme cannot be 
taken into consideration as the only criterion in 
determining its objectives and intentions. The 
political experience of the Contracting States 
has shown that in the past political parties with 
aims contrary to the fundamental principles 
of democracy have not revealed such aims 
in their official publications until after taking 
power. For that reason, the Court has always 
noted that it cannot be ruled out that the pro-
gramme of a political party may conceal objec-
tives and intentions different from those that it 
proclaims; to verify that it does not, the content 
of the programme must be compared with the 
actions of the party’s leaders and members and 
the positions they defend (see Refah Partisi 
and Others v. Turkey, § 101; United Commu-
nist Party of Turkey and Others v. Turkey, p. 27, 
§ 58; and Socialist Party and Others v. Turkey, 
pp. 1257-1258, § 48, all cited above).

92. That being so, the Court does not exclude the 
possibility that the impugned restriction could 
have been justified and proportionate during 
the first years after the re-establishment of 
Latvia’s independence. It is undeniable that 
the authorities of a newly-established State 

are best placed to evaluate the risk of “fall-out” 
from a totalitarian political regime from which 
the country concerned has just freed itself and 
to assess the need for preventative measures. 
In those circumstances, the Court accepts that 
to bar from the legislature persons who had 
held positions within the former regime’s rul-
ing body and who had also actively supported 
attempts to overthrow the new democratic 
system may be a legitimate and balanced solu-
tion, without it being necessary to look into the 
applicant’s individual conduct; such a measure 
would be fully compatible with the concept 
of a “democracy capable of defending itself” 
relied on by the Government. After a certain 
time, however, this ground is no longer suffi-
cient to justify the preventative aspect of the 
restriction in question; it then becomes neces-
sary to establish whether other factors, particu-
larly an individual’s personal participation in 
the disputed events, continue to justify his or 
her ineligibility. Furthermore, the Court notes 
that this principle was, in essence, acknowl-
edged by the Latvian Constitutional Court in 
its judgment of 30 August 2000, encouraging 
the legislature to re-examine periodically the 
need to maintain the disputed measure (see 
paragraph 48 above).

93. The Court notes that, according to the disquali-
fication mechanism introduced by the Latvian 
electoral legislation, the courts’ jurisdiction is 
strictly limited to a factual finding of participa-
tion or non-participation by the person con-
cerned in CPL or CPSU activities subsequent to 
the above-mentioned date; it does not imply 
the power to draw the legal consequences of 
such participation, which are already laid down 
by the legislation. Consequently, and having 
regard to the interpretation of the term “ac-
tive participation” given by the Constitutional 
Court, the courts have only limited powers 
to assess the real danger posed to the cur-
rent democratic order by each individual. In 
the Court’s opinion, such inflexibility is strik-
ing, in that it deprives the national courts of 
jurisdiction to rule on whether the disputed 
disqualification remains proportionate over 
time. Accordingly, the Court must itself exam-
ine whether the applicant’s conduct more than 
ten years ago still constitutes sufficient justifi-
cation for barring her from standing in parlia-
mentary elections.

94. The Court notes firstly that, unlike certain other 
persons (see paragraph 67 above), the appli-
cant has never been convicted of a criminal 
offence in connection with her activities within 
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the CPL. Secondly, it notes that in August 1991 
a special committee of the Supreme Council 
was instructed to investigate the participation 
of certain members of parliament in the sec-
ond coup d’état, but that the applicant was not 
one of the fifteen members of parliament who 
were removed from their seats following this 
investigation (see paragraph 20 above). The 
Court therefore concludes that no sufficiently 
serious misconduct on the applicant’s part had 
been proven.

It is true that, in its judgment of 30 August 
2000, the Constitutional Court imposed a re-
strictive interpretation of section 5(6) of the 
Parliamentary Elections Act, emphasising that 
the restriction in question had been “limited... 
to the degree of each individual’s personal 
responsibility” and that it was “directed only 
against those who attempted ... to re-establish 
the former regime through active participa-
tion”. However, although the documents in 
the case file show that the applicant held an 
important post within the CPL and that she 
took part in meetings of that party’s govern-
ing bodies, none of the evidence produced by 
the Government proves that she herself com-
mitted specific acts aimed at destroying the 
Republic of Latvia or at restoring the former 
system. Furthermore, the Government them-
selves acknowledge that the applicant was 
absent from the meeting of the CPL’s Central 
Committee on 13 January 1991 at which the 
party decided to participate in the creation of 
the Committee of Public Safety; nor has it been 
contended that the applicant was a member of 
that committee.

95. Finally, the Court notes that the disputed re-
striction was not inserted in the electoral law 
until 1995 and did not exist at the time of the 
previous elections in 1993. That being so, it 
questions why parliament, if it considered that 
former active members of the CPSU and the 
CPL were so dangerous for democracy, did 
not enact a similar provision in 1993 – scarcely 
two years after the events complained of – but 
waited until the following elections. In addi-
tion, the applicant alleges - and this has not 
been denied by the Government - that three 
persons who were in the same position as the 
applicant were elected to parliament in the 
1993 elections (see paragraph 60 above), with-
out this entailing any adverse consequences 
for the State.

96. Consequently, in the light of the observations 
and information submitted by the parties, the 

Court concludes that the applicant’s individual 
conduct in 1991 was not sufficiently serious to 
justify her disqualification from standing for of-
fice at present.

 β – The applicant’s current conduct

97. The question remains of the applicant’s current 
conduct. In that connection the Court points 
out that, as a general rule, its scrutiny must be 
based on the domestic authorities’ disputed 
decisions and the legal grounds on which 
those authorities relied, and that it is unable 
to take into account alternative legal grounds 
suggested by the respondent Government in 
order to justify the measure in question if those 
grounds are not reflected in the decisions 
of the competent domestic authorities (see 
Slivenko v. Latvia [GC], no. 48321/99 48321/99, 
§ 103, to be reported in ECHR 2003). As the 
Court has noted above, the procedure for dis-
qualification introduced by the Parliamentary 
Elections Act is very firmly focused on the past 
and does not allow for sufficient evaluation of 
the current threat posed by the persons con-
cerned. Consequently, the Court considers it 
expedient to examine whether the Govern-
ment’s arguments concerning the post-1991 
period could justify the applicant’s disqualifica-
tion from standing for election.

98. The Court notes that the accusations levelled 
at the applicant by the Government concern 
mainly the fact of defending and disseminat-
ing ideas which are diametrically opposed 
to the Latvian authorities’ official policy and 
which are unpopular among a large proportion 
of the population (see paragraph 74 above). 
However, the Court points out that there is no 
democracy without pluralism. On the contrary, 
it is of the essence of democracy to allow di-
verse political projects to be proposed and 
debated, even those that call into question the 
way a State is currently organised and those 
which offend, shock or disturb a section of the 
population (see, mutatis mutandis, Freedom 
and Democracy Party (ÖZDEP) v. Turkey, cited 
above, §§ 39 and 41). A person or an asso-
ciation may promote a change in the law or 
even the legal and constitutional structures of 
the State on two conditions: firstly, the means 
used to that end must be legal and democratic; 
secondly, the change proposed must itself be 
compatible with fundamental democratic prin-
ciples (see Refah Partisi and Others v. Turkey, 
cited above, § 98). In the present case, there is 
no factual evidence before the Court enabling 
it to conclude that the applicant has failed to 
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comply with either of those conditions.

With regard, firstly, to the ideas advocated by 
the applicant concerning the Russian-speak-
ing minority in Latvia and the legislation on 
language matters, the Court discerns no evi-
dence of anti-democratic leanings or incom-
patibility with the fundamental values of the 
Convention (see, mutatis mutandis, Social-
ist Party of Turkey (STP) and Others v. Turkey, 
no. 26482/95, § 45, 12 November 2003). The 
same conclusion is inescapable as regards the 
means used by the applicant to attain her polit-
ical objectives. In particular, she has never been 
accused of having been secretly active within 
the CPL after the latter’s dissolution, let alone 
of having sought to re-establish that party in 
its previous totalitarian form. As regards the 
various activities criticised by the Government, 
the Court notes that they are not prohibited by 
the Latvian legislation, and that the applicant 
has never been investigated for or convicted of 
any offence. In sum, the Government have not 
supplied information about any specific act by 
the applicant capable of endangering the Lat-
vian State, its national security or its democratic 
order.

4.Conclusion
99. Having regard to all the above, the Court con-

cludes that the permanent disqualification 
from standing for election to the Latvian Par-
liament imposed on the applicant on account 
of her activities within the CPL after 13 Janu-
ary 1991 is not proportionate to the legitimate 
aims which it pursued and curtails the appli-
cant’s electoral rights to such an extent as to 
impair their very essence, and that its necessity 
in a democratic society has not been estab-
lished. Accordingly, there has been a violation 
of Article 3 of Protocol No. 1 in this case.

III. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLES 
10 AND 11 OF THE CONVENTION

100. The applicant considers that her disqualifica-
tion from standing for election to Parliament or 
to municipal councils also amounts to a viola-
tion of Articles 10 and 11 of the Convention. In 
so far as they are relevant to the present case, 
these Articles provide:

Article 10

“Everyonehastherighttofreedomofexpres-
sion.This rightshall include freedomtohold
opinions and to receive and impart informa-

tionandideaswithoutinterferencebypublic
authorityandregardlessoffrontiers...

2.Theexerciseofthesefreedoms,sinceitcar-
rieswithitdutiesandresponsibilities,maybe
subjecttosuchformalities,conditions,restric-
tions or penalties as are prescribed by law
andarenecessary inademocratic society, in
theinterestsofnationalsecurity,territorialin-
tegrityorpublic safety, for thepreventionof
disorderorcrime, ... for theprotectionof the
reputationorrightsofothers...”

Article 11

“1.Everyonehastherighttofreedomofpeace-
fulassemblyandtofreedomofassociation...

2. No restrictions shall be placed on the ex-
ercise of these rights other than such as are
prescribed by law and are necessary in a
democraticsocietyintheinterestsofnational
securityorpublicsafety,forthepreventionof
disorderorcrime,...orfortheprotectionofthe
rightsandfreedomsofothers.Thisarticleshall
not prevent the imposition of lawful restric-
tionsontheexerciseoftheserightsbymem-
bersofthearmedforces,ofthepoliceorofthe
administrationoftheState.”

A. The parties’ submissions
1.Theapplicant

101. The applicant acknowledged that the interfer-
ence in issue was “prescribed by law” within the 
meaning of Articles 10 § 2 and 11 § 2 of the 
Convention. However, referring to the dissent-
ing opinion by the minority of Constitutional 
Court judges, she argued that section 5(6) of 
the Parliamentary Elections Act was dispropor-
tionate. Equally, the applicant considered that 
the Government’s submissions concerning 
the legitimate aim pursued by the measure in 
question and its proportionality were unsub-
stantiated; in particular, she maintained that 
neither the Rekvényi judgment, cited above, 
nor Article 17 of the Convention could be used 
to support the Government’s position in the 
present case.

2.TheGovernment
102. The Government acknowledged that the re-

striction in issue amounts to an interference 
with the applicant’s enjoyment of her rights as 
guaranteed by Articles 10 and 11 of the Con-
vention. However, they considered that this in-
terference complied with the requirements of 
the second paragraph of each of those Articles.

103. In the first place, the Government submitted 
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that the impugned interference was “pre-
scribed by law”. Secondly, with regard to the 
aims pursued by the disputed measure, the 
Government referred to their submissions un-
der Article 3 of Protocol No. 1. Thus, they al-
leged that the interference pursued legitimate 
aims, namely the protection of national secu-
rity and of the rights of others to an effective 
political democracy.

104. The Government were also of the opinion 
that the impugned measure was “necessary 
in a democratic society”. They argued that the 
measure had to be considered in the light of 
the country’s historical and political context 
and bearing in mind the margin of apprecia-
tion enjoyed by the States in this regard. In that 
connection, the Government reiterated the ar-
guments already submitted with regard to the 
applicant’s complaints under Article 3 of Proto-
col No. 1, to the effect that the applicant’s dis-
qualification from standing for election should 
be assessed using the same criteria as for re-
strictions on the political activities of civil serv-
ants and other public-sector employees (see 
paragraph 68 above). In particular, the Govern-
ment argued that the opposing conclusions as 
to the existence of a violation of Articles 10 and 
11 reached by the Court in the above-men-
tioned Vogt and Rekvényi cases were due to 
the objective difference in the level of political 
development in the two countries concerned. 
Thus, the existence of a “pressing social need” 
was not demonstrated in Germany’s stable 
democratic system, while such a need did ex-
ist in Hungary, a newly democratic State going 
through a transitional period; the situation in 
Latvia resembled that of Hungary in many re-
spects.

Finally, the Government pointed out that the 
impugned restriction was limited to the offi-
cial position of member of parliament, and did 
not prohibit the applicant from expressing her 
political opinions or from being active within 
a party. Accordingly, the restriction was ap-
plied in such a way as to ensure a distinction 
between private and official activities. In short, 
the interference in question was proportionate 
to the legitimate aims pursued.

105. In the alternative, the Government relied on 
Article 17 of the Convention, prohibiting the 
abuse of individual rights under the Conven-
tion. In so far as this part of the application con-
cerned the applicant’s participation in the CPL, 
Article 17 prevented the applicant from avail-
ing herself of the rights guaranteed by Articles 

10 and 11 of the Convention.

B. The Court’s assessment
106. In the present case, the parties agreed that 

there had been an interference with the exer-
cise of the applicant’s right to freedom of as-
sociation within the meaning of the second 
paragraph of Article 11 of the Convention, and 
that that interference was “prescribed by law”. 
The Court sees no reason to decide otherwise. 
It points out that such interference cannot be 
justified under Article 11 except where it had a 
legitimate aim or aims under paragraph 2 and 
was “necessary in a democracy society” in or-
der to achieve these aims.

107. The Court considers that the impugned meas-
ure may be considered to have pursued at least 
one of the legitimate aims set out in paragraph 
2 of Article 11 of the Convention: the protec-
tion of “national security” (see paragraph 86 
above).

108. As to the proportionality of the disputed 
measure, the Court points out that the adjec-
tive “necessary”, within the meaning of Article 
11 § 2, does not imply the same flexibility as 
terms such as “acceptable”, “reasonable” or 
“appropriate”; “necessity” always implies “a 
pressing social need” (see, among other au-
thorities, Vogt v. Germany, cited above, p. 26, 
§ 52 (ii)). In that connection, the Court refers 
to the findings it has just reached with regard 
to Article 3 of Protocol No. 1. It points out that 
the party of which the applicant was an ac-
tive member could not be said to have been 
“illegal” at the material time (see paragraph 90 
above) and that the Government have pro-
vided no information about any specific act by 
the applicant aimed at destroying the newly-
restored Republic of Latvia or its democratic 
order (see paragraph 94).

In so far as the Government refer to the Court’s 
case-law concerning restrictions on the politi-
cal activities of civil servants, members of the 
armed forces, members of the judiciary or 
other members of the public service, the Court 
points out that the criteria established by its 
case-law with regard to those persons’ political 
loyalty cannot as such be applied to the mem-
bers of a national parliament (see paragraph 85 
above). The Court finds no cause to arrive at a 
different conclusion with regard to members 
of local councils, who are also elected by the 
people in accordance with the principles of 
pluralist democracy and are likewise respon-
sible for taking political decisions. In summary, 



833CASEOFŽDANOKAVLATVIA

EC
J

EC
HR

the second sentence of Article 11 § 2 of the 
Convention, authorising “lawful restrictions” 
with regard to “members of the armed forces, 
of the police or of the administration of the 
State” does not apply to members of parlia-
ment or to members of the elected bodies of 
local authorities.

109. In so far as the Government rely on Article 17 
of the Convention, the Court reiterates that the 
purpose of this provision is to prevent the prin-
ciples laid down by the Convention from being 
exploited for the purpose of engaging in any 
activity or performing any act aimed at the de-
struction of the rights and freedoms set forth 
in the Convention (see Preda and Dardari v. 
Italy (dec.), nos. 28160/95 and 28382/95, ECHR 
1999-II). In particular, one of the main objec-
tives of Article 17 is to prevent totalitarian or 
extremist groups from justifying their activities 
by referring to the Convention. However, in the 
present case, the applicant’s disqualification 
from standing for election is based on her pre-
vious political involvement rather than on her 
current conduct, and the Court has just found 
that her current public activities do not reveal a 
failure to comply with the fundamental values 
of the Convention (see paragraph 98 above). In 
other words, there is no evidence before the 
Court that would permit it to suspect the ap-
plicant of attempts to engage in any activity or 
perform any act aimed at the destruction of the 
rights and freedoms set forth in the Conven-
tion or the Protocols thereto. In this area, there 
is a clear distinction between the present case 
and the Glimmerveen and Hagenbeek case, 
cited above, in which the applicants’ convic-
tion and the annulment of their electoral list 
were based on their real and specific conduct 
at the material time, or the German Commu-
nist Party and Others v. Germany case (no. 
250/57, Commission’s report of 20 July 1957, 
Yearbook 1, pp. 222-225), in which the dissolu-
tion of the applicant party was based on the 
views expressed in its programme, which were 
contrary to democracy. Accordingly, the Court 
considers that Article 17 of the Convention is 
not applicable in the present case.

110. It follows that the applicant’s disqualification 
from standing for election to Parliament and 
local councils on account of her active par-
ticipation in the CPL, maintained more than a 
decade after the events held against that party, 
is disproportionate to the aim pursued and, 
consequently, not necessary in a democratic 
society. There has therefore been a violation of 
Article 11 of the Convention.

111. The Court considers that the finding of a viola-
tion of Article 11 renders it unnecessary for the 
Court to rule separately on compliance with 
the requirements of Article 10 in this case.

IV. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF 
THE CONVENTION

112. Article 41 of the Convention provides:
“If the Court finds that there has been a
violation of the Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High
ContractingPartyconcernedallowsonlypar-
tial reparation tobemade, theCourt shall, if
necessary, afford just satisfaction to the in-
juredparty.”

A. Pecuniary damage
113. The applicant pointed out that, when the 

Civil Affairs Division of the Supreme Court de-
livered its judgment on 15 December 1999, 
she lost her seat as a Riga City Councillor (see 
paragraph 31 above), and thus the salary that 
she received in that capacity. After December 
1999 and until the following municipal elec-
tions, held in March 2001, she was replaced 
by another member of her party whose name 
followed hers on the relevant electoral list and 
who thus obtained the applicant’s seat, which 
had fallen vacant. That new councillor received 
a net salary of 1,690.50 lati (LVL) for 2000 and a 
net salary of LVL 546 for the first three months 
of 2001; in support of those figures, the appli-
cant supplied copies of her replacement’s tax 
declarations. The applicant claimed that these 
were the exact amounts that she would have 
received had she not been removed from her 
seat. She thus submitted that she had sus-
tained real pecuniary damage in the shape of 
loss of earnings, the total amount of which was 
LVL 2,236.50 (or about 3,450 euros (EUR)).

114. The Government argued that, according to the 
Court’s settled case-law, Article 3 of Protocol 
No. 1 was not applicable to municipal elec-
tions. Consequently, there was no link between 
the violation alleged by the applicant and the 
pecuniary damage she claimed to have sus-
tained.

115. The Court acknowledges that Article 3 of Pro-
tocol No. 1 is inapplicable to local elections. 
However, it has also just found a violation of Ar-
ticle 11 of the Convention, on account of both 
the applicant’s disqualification from standing 
for Parliament and her removal from her post 
as Riga City Councillor. In leaving the municipal 
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council, the applicant sustained genuine pecu-
niary damage (see, in particular, Sadak and Oth-
ers v. Turkey (no. 2), nos. 25144/94, 26149/95 to 
26154/95, 27100/95 and 27101/95, § 56, ECHR 
2002-IV). Given that the Government did not 
dispute the accuracy of the amounts claimed 
by the applicant, the Court considers that it can 
accept them. It therefore decides to award the 
applicant LVL 2,236.50 under this head.

B. Non-pecuniary damage
116. The applicant claimed EUR 75,000 by way of 

compensation for the anguish, humiliation and 
practical disadvantages that she suffered as a 
result of her removal from her municipal seat 
and the impossibility of standing as candidate 
in two subsequent parliamentary elections. As 
an example, she argued that in January 2002 
she had won an open competition for the post 
of chairperson of a municipal committee for 
property privatisation; however, following a vir-
ulent press campaign against her, in which her 
reputation was attacked, Riga City Council re-
fused to endorse the competition’s results and 
to appoint her to that post. The applicant was 
convinced that this event was directly linked to 
the violations of her fundamental rights under 
the Convention.

117. The Government argued that the poor esteem 
in which the applicant was held by a large part 
of Latvian society was due solely to her politi-
cal activities in the past. Accordingly, it was her 
own conduct which had ruined her reputation 
and her career, and her misadventures were 
completely unrelated to the domestic courts’ 
impugned decisions. In any event, the Gov-
ernment considered that the amount claimed 
by the applicant was excessive, regard being 
had in particular to the standard of living and 
the level of income in Latvia at present. Con-
sequently, they submitted that the finding of 
a violation would in itself constitute sufficient 
redress for any non-pecuniary damage that the 
applicant might have suffered.

In the event of the Court deciding to award 
the applicant compensation for non-pecuniary 
damage, the Government asked that it be for-
mulated in lati, the Latvian national currency, 
rather than in euros.

118. Like the Government, the Court considers that 
no direct causal link has been shown between 
the violations found and Riga City Council’s re-
fusal to endorse the results of the competition 
in January 2002. However, it cannot deny that 
the applicant sustained non-pecuniary dam-

age as a result of being prevented from stand-
ing as a candidate in the parliamentary election 
and of being removed from her post as city 
councillor (see, mutatis mutandis, Podkolzina 
v. Latvia, cited above, § 52). Consequently, de-
ciding on an equitable basis and having regard 
to all the circumstances of the case, the Court 
awards her EUR 10,000 in respect of non-pecu-
niary damage.

C. Costs and expenses
119. The applicant requested reimbursment of the 

costs incurred in preparation and presentation 
of her case before the Court. She claimed the 
following sums, which she wished to receive 
in euros:

(a) LVL 1,000 in respect of fees for Mr A. Ogur-
covs, the Latvian lawyer who represented 
her before the Latvian courts. The applicant 
submitted no invoices in substantiation of 
this claim; she claimed that Mr Ogurcovs 
had lost all the invoices when moving of-
fice. However, she considered this sum to 
be reasonable, having regard to the fees for 
legal aid payable in Latvia;

(b) a total of 12,100 pounds sterling (GBP), ex-
clusive of value-added tax, for 121 hours of 
work by Mr W. Bowring, the applicant’s law-
yer, GBP 3,500 of which corresponded to 35 
hours of work subsequent to the hearing 
on 15 May 2003;

(c) LVL 60.60 in respect of the costs of the ap-
plicant’s correspondence with the Court 
and GBP 117.77 under the same head for 
the period subsequent to 7 April 2003;

(d) GBP 475.31 in respect of travel and subsist-
ence costs for the applicant and Mr Bow-
ring, to enable them to attend the hearing 
in Strasbourg on 15 May 2003.

120. The Government questioned the evidence 
submitted in support of the majority of the 
sums claimed by the applicant. Thus, they 
emphasised that, in the absence of support-
ing documents, there was no evidence that 
Mr Ogurcovs had provided the alleged servic-
es. With regard to Mr Bowring, the only costs 
acknowledged by the Government were the 
costs for correspondence with the Court and 
a part of the travel and subsistence costs. As to 
Mr Bowring’s fees, the Government submitted 
a video recording of a television programme in 
which the applicant had taken part; during that 
programme, the applicant replied to one of the 
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presenter’s questions by stating that “Mr Bow-
ring [was her] friend” and that she “ha[d] not 
paid him anything”. In those circumstances, 
the Government stated that the bills submitted 
by Mr Bowring were nothing but bogus docu-
ments drafted solely for the purposes of the 
proceedings pending before the Court; con-
sequently, they objected to reimbursement of 
those fees. In the alternative, the Government 
argued that the total amount claimed by the 
applicant was excessive, and asked that the 
amount of any award for costs and expenses 
be expressed in lati.

121. In reply to the Government’s arguments, the 
applicant confirmed the validity of the bills 
issued by Mr Bowring. She explained that she 
had indeed paid him nothing to date; however, 
their contract stipulated that, in the event of a 
favourable decision by the Court, she would be 
obliged to pay him the totality of the invoiced 
sums. According to the applicant, this was a 
very widespread practice in legal representa-
tion, including before the Court. Contrary to 
the Government’s request, the applicant urged 
the Court to express the amount awarded in 
euros rather than in lati.

122. The Court reiterates that, to be entitled to an 
award of costs and expenses under Article 
41 of the Convention, the injured party must 
have genuinely “incurred” or “sustained” them 
(see, among many other authorities, Eckle v. 
Germany (Article 50), judgment of 21 June 
1983, Series A, no. 65, p. 11, § 25). However, 
this principle must be interpreted in the light 
of the overall objectives pursued by Article 41. 
The Court has accepted that the high costs of 
proceedings may of themselves constitute a 
serious impediment to the effective protection 
of human rights, and that it would be wrong 
for the Court to give encouragement to such a 
situation in its decisions awarding costs under 
Article 41 (see Bönisch v. Austria (Article 50), 
judgment of 2 June 1986, Series A no. 103, p. 
9, § 15). In those circumstances, reimburse-
ment of fees cannot be limited only to those 
sums already paid by the applicant to his or her 
lawyer; indeed, such an interpretation would 
discourage many lawyers from representing 
less prosperous applicants before the Court. In 
any event, the Court has always awarded costs 
and expenses in situations where the fees re-
mained, at least in part, payable by the appli-
cant (see, for example, Kamasinski v. Austria, 
judgment of 19 December 1989, Series A no. 
168, p. 47, § 115; Koendjbiharie v. the Nether-
lands, judgment of 25 October 1990, Series A, 

185-B, p. 42, § 35; and Iatridis v. Greece [GC] 
(just satisfaction), no. 31107/96, § 55, ECHR 
2000-XI). In the present case, there is noth-
ing to suggest that the bills drawn up by Mr 
Bowring are bogus or that the applicant has 
decided not to pay them.

123. The Court further reiterates that, in order to be 
reimbursed, the costs must relate to the viola-
tion or violations found and must be reason-
able as to quantum. In addition, Rule 60 § 2 of 
the Rules of Court provides that itemised par-
ticulars must be submitted of all claims made 
under Article 41 of the Convention, together 
with the relevant supporting documents or 
vouchers, failing which the Court may reject 
the claim in whole or in part (see, for example, 
Lavents v. Latvia, no. 58442/00, § 154, 28 No-
vember 2002). Equally, the Court may award 
the injured party payment not only of the costs 
and expenses incurred in the proceedings be-
fore it, but also those incurred before the do-
mestic courts to prevent or rectify a violation 
found by the Court (see Van Geyseghem v. 
Belgium [GC], no. 26103/95, § 45, ECHR 1999-
I, and Rotaru v. Romania [GC], no. 28341/95, 
§ 86, ECHR 2000-V).

In the present case, the Court considers that, 
in the absence of the relevant vouchers, it can-
not allow the request for reimbursement of Mr 
Ogurcovs’s fees. As to Mr Bowring’s bills, it ob-
serves that several references are fairly general 
and do not substantiate the specific nature of 
the legal services rendered. In any event, the 
overall sum claimed by the applicant in respect 
of costs and expenses is somewhat excessive. 
On the other hand, the Court does not deny 
that the case was very complex, which had an 
undoubted bearing on the costs of preparing 
the application. Finally, it notes that the ap-
plicant and her lawyer attended the hearing 
on 15 May 2003 without having first obtained 
legal aid. In those circumstances, and making 
its assessment on an equitable basis, the Court 
considers it reasonable to award the appli-
cant the sum of EUR 10,000 to cover all heads 
of costs taken together. To this amount is to 
be added any value-added tax that may be 
chargeable (see Lavents v. Latvia, cited above, 
§ 154).

D. Default interest
124. The Court considers it appropriate that the de-

fault interest should be based on the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank, 
to which should be added three percentage 
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points.

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT

1. Dismisses unanimously the Government’s 
preliminary objection that the applicant was 
not a victim;

2. Holds by five votes to two that there has been 
a violation of Article 3 of Protocol No. 1 to the 
Convention;

3. Holds by five votes to two that there has been 
a violation of Article 11 of the Convention, and 
that it is not necessary to examine separately 
the complaint under Article 10 of the Conven-
tion;

4. Holds by five votes to two

(a) that the respondent State is to pay the ap-
plicant, within three months from the date 
on which the judgment becomes final ac-
cording to Article 44 § 2 of the Conven-
tion, the following amounts:

(i) LvL 2,236.50 (two thousand two hun-
dred and thirty-six lati and fifty san-
timi) for pecuniary damage;

(ii) EuR 10,000 (ten thousand euros), to 
be converted into Latvian lati at the 
rate applicable on the date of settle-
ment, for non-pecuniary damage;

(iii) EuR 10,000 (ten thousand euros), to 
be converted into Latvian lati at the 
rate applicable on the date of settle-
ment, for costs and expenses;

(iv) any tax that may be payable on the 
above sums;

(b) that from the expiry of the above-men-
tioned three months until settlement sim-
ple interest shall be payable on the above 
amount at a rate equal to the marginal 
lending rate of the European Central Bank 
during the default period plus three per-
centage points;

5. Dismisses unanimously the remainder of the 
applicant’s claim for just satisfaction.

Done in French, and notified in writing on 17 June 
2004, pursuant to Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the Rules 
of Court.

Søren Nielsen, Registrar
Christos Rozakis, President

In accordance with Article 45 § 2 of the Conven-
tion and Rule 74 § 2 of the Rules of Court, the dis-
senting opinions of Mr Bonello and Mr Levits are 
annexed to this judgment.

DIssEntInG oPInIon oF 
JUDGE BonELLo
Some relevant facts

1. These have been recounted in considerable de-
tail in the judgement. For the purposes of this opin-
ion I believe the following ought to be highlighted.

1.1. The applicant had been, since 1971, an activist, 
and eventually a prominent member, of the Latvian 
Communist Party (CPL) a regional branch of the 
Communist Party of the Soviet Union in Latvia. This 
nation had lost its independence and its democrat-
ic regime in 1940.

1.2 On May 4, 1990 Latvia declared its independ-
ence from the Soviet Union. At that time the ap-
plicant was an elected member of the Supreme 
Council of the Soviet Socialist Republic of Latvia. 
The CPL on that same day condemned the decla-
ration of independence and requested the Soviet 
Union to intervene.

1.3. In January 1991, according to the respondent 
Government, the Soviet authorities started military 
action against the government of independent 
Latvia. Several persons were killed and wounded 
in the streets and a “coup d’état” was organised to 
overthrow the independent government. The Ple-
num of the CPL pressed for the dissolution of the 
Supreme Council of Latvia, to be replaced by a so-
called Committee of Public Safety (which included 
the CPL). This proclaimed the government had 
forfeited its powers, and claimed to have assumed 
those powers itself. This coup failed after armed 
battles in the streets of Riga.

1.4. In August 1991 a “coup d’état” took place in 
Moscow, by which power was taken over by a State 
of Emergency Committee. The Riga CPL instantly 
pledged its support to the Committee and ap-
pealed to the Latvian people to cooperate with the 
new Soviet revolutionary Committee.

1.5. The law relating to municipal and general elec-
tions excludes those who “participated actively 
after the 13 January 1991” (date of the coup and 
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popular uprising) in the CPL, the CPUS and some 
other named organisations. The applicant was 
barred from standing as candidate in the municipal 
election of 1997 and the parliamentary elections of 
1998. She challenged that ban; she admitted her 
membership of the CPL and her being an official 
in the Central Control and Audit Committee of the 
CPL up to 10 September 1991, when the CPL was 
officially dissolved; but claimed this ban violated 
her rights under international conventions.

1.6 In fully adversarial proceedings in 1998 – 1999, 
three levels of jurisdiction of the Latvian courts es-
tablished that the applicant had actively participat-
ed in the CPL after 13 January 1991 and this in prac-
tice confirmed she had forfeited the right to stand 
for election, as provided for by Latvian electoral law.

1.7 The applicant claims that this disenfranchise-
ment violates her rights under Article 3 of Protocol 
No1.

The proportionality test

2.1 I am fundamentally in disagreement with the 
majority’s finding that the ban on standing for elec-
tion provided for by law (in relation to those who 
persisted in participating actively inside the CPL 
after the failed “coup d’état” of January 1991), was 
disproportionate to the legitimate aims pursued by 
the law.

2.2. It goes almost without saying it is my “preferred 
position” that everyone should, in principle, enjoy 
with the minimum of hindrance, all fundamental 
rights guaranteed by the Convention, including 
that of standing for political election. This does not, 
however, lead me to justify the attainment of these 
desired optimums even in defiance of historical re-
alities, the weakness of emergent and fragile plural-
isms and the contradictions faced by a democracy 
called to contain democratically those who con-
sider democracy, at best, expendable and, at worst, 
wholly detrimental. I do not believe that the major-
ity have reached their conclusions only through an 
a posteriori rationalisation of their own ‘preferred 
positions’. But I cannot find sufficient value in the 
other reasons.

2.3 It is my belief that the judicial tensions under-
lying this controversy should have been settled in 
the light of the Court’s doctrine, reiterated only re-
cently, that “A political party whose leaders ... put 
forward a policy which fails to respect democracy 
or which is aimed at the destruction of democracy 
and the flouting of the rights and freedoms recog-
nised in a democracy, cannot lay claim to the Con-
vention’s protection against penalties imposed on 
those grounds.”2 I have no difficulty in transferring 

the thrust of this reasoning from political parties to 
high-ranking officials in political parties.

2.4 The Court has also held that “The freedoms 
guaranteed by Article 11 and by Articles 9 and 10 
of the Convention, cannot deprive the authori-
ties of the State in which an association, through 
its activities, jeopardises the State’s institutions, of 
the right to protect those institutions.”3 The line of 
reasoning that justifies the curtailment of freedom 
of expression and of association, should govern the 
political rights implicit in Article 3 of Protocol No. 1, 
like that of standing for election.

2.5. I am not unduly impressed by the plea that the 
applicant does not, as of today, pose a clear and im-
minent threat to the survival of democracy in Lat-
via. Fortunately – but hardly thanks to her and her 
like-minded associates who vote Communist and 
dream Neanderthal - activists like her 

evoke compassion and pathos rather than shock-
waves of terror. Latvian democracy, after the horrif-
ic and blood-splattered coup meant to reverse the 
clock of history to the time-freeze in which the ap-
plicant is trapped, can today well survive her antics.

2.6. The fundamental question facing the Court 
was, in my view, the following: is the State justified 
in limiting political freedoms only when the survival 
of democracy is threatened? Or is it also justified to 
restrict some political rights when the authority, 
the image and the credibility of democracy are at 
stake? These, on my scale, are values to be protect-
ed, cherished and fortified, almost as much as the 
physical survival of democracy itself. In my book, a 
State is fully entitled in terms of its own enlightened 
sovereign policy, not to allow among the players on 
the democratic stage those who play the game of 
democracy by their own aberrant rules and for their 
own aberrant purposes.

2.7. It falls on the Strasbourg Court to exercise the 
maximum of judicial restraint when it comes to 
substituting its own rarefied and essentially sec-
ond-hand vision of what is suitable for a democ-
racy, to that of the prime guarantor of democratic 
order – which is the democratic State itself. I ask 
myself if the image of democracy is enhanced by 
according exactly the same rights and privileges to 
those who are delighted to die for democracy, as to 
those who are delighted to live with the negation 
of democracy. I can think of very few reasons why 
democracy should morally subsidize those who 
hold it in contempt.

2.8 In my opinion, it ill-suits the Court to delegiti-
mise a State’s efforts to uphold the image, the au-
thority and the credibility of the democratic model 
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when, in the supreme interest of democracy, it opts 
not to extend each and every democratic faculty 
to those who, given the least opportunity, would 
only turn those faculties to the destruction of de-
mocracy itself.

“Wide margin of appreciation” 

3.1 The Court, (not differently from the Commis-
sion) has, since its infancy, held that, in matters of 
limitations imposed by the State on the ability of 
persons to vote and to stand for political election, 
the national authorities enjoy “a wide margin of ap-
preciation”, though it is for the Court to determine 
in the last resort whether the requirements of Arti-
cle 3 of Protocol No 1 have been complied with.4 
The case-law of the Court seems to distinguish, in 
descending order of amplitude, between “a wide 
margin of appreciation”, “a certain margin of ap-
preciation” and “a margin of appreciation”. In the 
matter of electoral rights, the Court assigns to the 
national authorities the supreme rank in the spread 
and depth of the discretion allowed.

3.2 In practice, over many years, the Court has, so 
far at least, always put in practice its theorem that 
national authorities are better placed than an inter-
national court to establish how electoral democ-
racy and the demands of pluralism are best served 
in the specific light of the current political, historical 
and social conditions of each particular country. It 
is only in the most exceptional circumstances that 
the Court has unsheathed its supervisory powers 
to second-guess the local authorities in the area 
of restrictions on the right to vote and to stand for 
election. Virtually all the limitations prescribed by 
the national systems have, so far, passed the test 
of the Strasbourg organs. All, that is, except the Lat-
vian one.

3.3 I believe that it was never for the Court to de-
termine such subjective and elusive questions as 
the one whether in 1998 the transitional period 
to a new democracy had been fully played out or 
otherwise. The majority lays considerable emphasis 
on the fact that the measure complained of might 
have been justified in a transitional period, but not 
in 1998, when the adjustment period was over. I fail 
to see how an international Court is better placed 
to impose its own value judgements on such eva-
nescent and ephemeral issues as to exactly when a 
state of emergency or transition is over, rather than 
the democratic sensors of the national authorities, 
in everyday, and far more intimate, contact with the 
realities of Latvian history. In the absence of objec-
tively identifiable criteria (such as Latvia’s entry into 
NATO and the European Union in 2004) the Court 
should have considered the determination of when 

a transition period comes to an end, to fall squarely 
within the national margin of appreciation.

3.4. Again, I fail to see why the respondent Govern-
ment should have been penalised by the Court pre-
cisely because it exacted less than the full pound 
of flesh from the applicant. Any State, in the wake 
of a violent coup discoloured in blood, would have 
been justified in instituting criminal proceedings 
against those perceived to have been associated 
with an armed attempt to overthrow the demo-
cratic order. Had the applicant been found guilty 
in criminal proceedings, loss of election rights 
would have followed automatically. The Latvian 
authorities, (whether in a spirit of reconciliation, or 
for reasons of the fragility of the power structures is 
as unclear as it is irrelevant) spared the applicant se-
vere criminal prosecution and instead favoured her 
with the far softer option of a penalty based on fully 
adversarial civil-law proceedings. The Court would 
not, presumably, have objected to a criminal sen-
tence coupled with loss of electoral rights. It is, in 
my view, paradoxical that, for having spared the ap-
plicant the trauma of criminal penalties, Latvia then 
finds itself unable to discipline the applicant at all.

3.5 In the present case, the national authorities 
were driven by a manifest concern to safeguard the 
image and credibility of democracy; they feared 
that, by allowing militant non-democrats to stand 
for election shoulder to shoulder with those who, 
for the fulfilment of democracy, had been prepared 
to pay the ultimate cost, would destabilise the very 
moral authority of democracy itself, and obfuscate 
the unequivocal inspiration the image of pluralism 
should evoke. It is far from painless for me to see 
that it was only in the present case that the Court, in 
substance, abandoned its doctrine of “wide margin 
of appreciation”, to substitute a text-book political 
and historical credo for that of a State that had lost 
democracy through the proficiency of the likes of 
the applicant, regained it notwithstanding the im-
penitent struggles of the likes of the applicant, and 
retains it despite the cravings of the likes of the ap-
plicant.

Loss of electoral rights according to the Court

4.1 The Court has always accepted that the political 
rights implicit in Article 3 of Protocol No 1, i.e., to 
vote and to stand for election, are not absolute and 
may be restricted, provided the limitations do not 
impair the very essence of the right, are imposed in 
the pursuit of a legitimate aim, and that the means 
employed in curtailing those rights are not dispro-
portionate.5 

4.2 In the furtherance of this now sacrosanct doc-
trine, the Strasbourg organs have, at least so far, 
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accepted as legitimate the widest spectrum of limi-
tations on the right to vote and to stand for elec-
tions devised by the national authorities of various 
member states.

4.3 Thus, limitations on these political rights based 
on residence have repeatedly passed the Stras-
bourg test 6– even when the disenfranchisement 
was based on a “four years continuous residence” 
requirement.7 The inability to exercise political 
rights due to nationality or citizenship require-
ments8, or consequent on double nationality9, has 
also been approved by Strasbourg. Age limitations 
in general10, including a minimum age of forty to 
stand as candidate for the Belgian senate11 have 
been accepted, as also the ban on standing for 
election if the candidate is already a member of 
parliament of another state12. Language proficien-
cy was also found to be a sufficient reason to qualify 
or disqualify a person from standing for election13; 
similarly, regulations that made the right to stand 
as candidate dependent on a requirement to take 
the oath of office in a particular language.14 The 
disenfranchisement of persons in detention15, of 
persons previously convicted of serious crimes16, 
also obtained the Strasbourg seal of approval.

4.4 Very recently the Court, in an exceptional man-
ner, struck down the loss of political rights imposed 
by U.K. law on all those serving a prison sentence. 
But this solely because the ban hit indiscriminately 
all those convicted, whether of a serious or of a pet-
ty offence, whether condemned to minimal terms 
or to life sentences. It was only the indiscriminate 
blanket effect of the ban that caused the Court to 
find a violation.17 

4.5 To date, limitations on political rights to vote or 
to stand for election, not aimed in any way at secur-
ing the survival or the authority of the democratic 
principle, have received the blessing of the Stras-
bourg organs. It is disconcerting to discover that it 
was only a restriction inspired by a concern to fos-
ter the moral image of democracy that today failed 
the Strasbourg test.

4.6 It is perfectly acceptable, it seems, that a per-
son with an inadequate knowledge of a particular 
language should be denied the right to stand for 
election – though that candidature would create 
absolutely no distress for democracy. It is not, on 
the other hand, acceptable, that a person who has 
spent a lifetime living and imposing dogmas of an-
ti-democracy, be restricted in reaping a few of the 
benefits of that democracy which, had it been left 
to her, would have receded to an indifferent foot-
note of history.

4.7 The Court has been generous to those whose 

rapport with democracy was and is wholly dysfunc-
tional, and has been severe in its punishment of 
those who tried to shield it from the bane of self-
satisfied and entrenched non-democrats.

DIssEntInG oPInIon oF 
JUDGE LEVIts

I. 

1. To my regret I cannot agree in this case with 
the findings and particularly with the reason-
ing of the majority of my colleagues.

2. I completely share the objections of Judge 
Bonello expressed in his dissenting opinion 
in respect to the margin of appreciation left 
to the Contracting states regarding electoral 
laws including reasons for disqualification of 
candidates.

3. Indeed the Strasbourg organs had left to the 
Contracting States in those matters the widest 
possible margin of appreciation. In the follow-
ing I would like to explain why, in my view, this 
case should also be covered by the margin of 
appreciation.

II. 

4. All democracies are based on the same com-
mon values and main principles. However, the 
legal shape of these values and principles in 
the constitutional order is different from state 
to state. Therefore we can speak about a plural-
ism of the modern democratic constitutional 
orders.

The pluralism of democratic constitutional or-
ders applies also to the electoral systems as a 
part of the constitutional order of a democratic 
state. Electoral systems are also different from 
state to state, but all of them are democratic, if 
they obey certain principles which are essential 
for democratic elections.

5. With regard to electoral rights as a central el-
ement of the constitutional order of a demo-
cratic state we can say that there is a common 
universal principle on which these rights are 
based. It is the principle according to which the 
majority of the people have both active and 
passive electoral rights. Compliance with this 
principle could be regarded as the central issue 
in the assessment whether an electoral system 
should be recognised as democratic.
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6. Nevertheless, this principle is never applied 
without exceptions. Indeed, national consti-
tutional orders contain democratic electoral 
rights, but at the same time they ban some 
people from exercising these rights. Thus, we 
can say that this ban is an exception from the 
general rule.

7. Concerning some types of disenfranchise-
ment, there is a uniform approach amongst 
the democratic states. All theses states ban 
from elections persons of unsound mind and 
minors. The exclusion of both groups is re-
garded as natural so that this is never seen as 
a problem.18 

8. Besides minors, another large group of the 
population is normally excluded from elections 
– aliens, including those born in the country or 
long-standing residents. This is a natural con-
sequence of the concept of a national demo-
cratic state.

Nevertheless, even here, there is no absolutely 
uniform state practice. In some Member States 
of the Council of Europe the disenfranchise-
ment of foreigners was lifted and this large 
group has been granted electoral rights under 
certain conditions and mainly at a local level 
(Ireland as early as in 1963; it was followed by 
Sweden, Norway, the Netherlands, Denmark, 
and Finland; United Kingdom lifted the ex-
clusion of the citizens of the Commonwealth 
states for all elected posts – including the na-
tional Parliament).

On the contrary, in 1990, in an extensively rea-
soned judgment, the German Constitutional 
Court held that lifting the disenfranchisement 
of foreigners would constitute a violation of 
the very essence of the principle of democracy 
and national sovereignty19.

9. In many Contracting States, a person loses his/
her electoral rights after a conviction by a crimi-
nal court. For example, in Austria and in Germa-
ny, people sentenced to more than one year’s 
imprisonment are banned from elections. In 
Ireland, such legal consequences are entailed 
by a sentence to more than six months’ impris-
onment, whereas in Belgium four months’ im-
prisonment suffices. In the United Kingdom, a 
person sentenced to any kind of imprisonment 
is disenfranchised.20 

On the contrary, in Sweden convicted persons 
are not disenfranchised at all. In a judgment of 
5 March 2003 the Latvian Constitutional Court 
also found that a Latvian legal provision ban-

ning sentenced persons from elections contra-
dicted the principle of free elections.

10. It is also to be noted that some civil misbe-
haviour may be held as a sufficient reason for 
disenfranchisement. For instance, in the United 
Kingdom and in Ireland, a person declared to 
be bankrupt is excluded from electoral rights. 
Obviously, the national legislator wanted to 
protect the institution of Parliament from per-
sons who, in the eyes of society, do not have 
the necessary credibility to exercise these 
rights.

11. The constitutional orders of different demo-
cratic states provide for a deprivation of active 
and/or passive electoral rights also for some 
other reasons, which vary from state to state, 
for example, the residence of a citizen abroad 
can be a ground for his/her disenfranchise-
ment. Furthermore, 

some Contracting States ban from elections 
different categories of state servants (e.g., 
Greece, Spain, Ireland, Portugal, and Finland).

12. In conclusion, the constitutional orders of all 
democratic states contain electoral rights, 
based on the general principle that the major-
ity of the people possess these rights. At the 
same time, all constitutional orders provide 
also for some grounds for exclusion from these 
rights.

13. The Court has recognised that the rights in Ar-
ticle 3 of Protocol 

No. 1 are not unlimited, that, by analogy with 
Articles 8 to 11 of the Convention, there is 
room for implied limitations. The States have 
a wide margin of appreciation in this area, but 
it is for the Court to determine in the last re-
sort whether the requirements of Article 3 of 
the First have been complied with.21 Thus, the 
rights concerned can be restricted by law, but 
the restrictions must pursue a legitimate aim, 
and the restriction must be proportionate.22 

III. 

14. In order to understand the legal character of 
electoral rights, it is important to emphasise 
that they are personal political rights which are 
a part of the institutional order of the State.

Therefore, the functions of electoral rights 
are different from that of human rights. The 
functions of these rights are to ensure the 
democratic participation of the people in the 
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governing of the state and to legitimate state 
institutions, whereas the functions of human 
rights are to protect the personal freedom of 
individuals from state interference and, further-
more, to guarantee some material or immate-
rial benefits.

In other words, electoral rights are an instru-
ment in the hands of an individual to influence 
the state policy, whereas human rights are a le-
gal “shield” conferred on an individual against 
state interference in his/her freedom, and in 
some situations it is also a legal ground to de-
mand from the state some benefit for himself 
or herself.

15. Consequently, in the national constitutional or-
ders, and because of their different legal char-
acter, electoral rights are never regarded as 
human (basic, fundamental) rights but rather 
as political rights belonging to the institutional 
part of the constitutional order.

Therefore the legal scope of these rights, their 
interpretation and their application in practice 
follow different rules from those governing hu-
man rights.

16. Article 3 of Protocol No. 1 is the only Conven-
tion provision which makes electoral rights 
individual human rights. That cannot eliminate 
the specific character of electoral rights as po-
litical rights, but lends them a double charac-
ter: they are at one and the same time human 
rights (in the Convention system) and political 
rights.23 

17. When examining applications under Article 3 
of Protocol No. 1, the Court always faces a cer-
tain dilemma: on the one hand, of course, it is 
the Court’s task to protect the electoral rights 
of individuals; but, on the other hand, it should 
not overstep the limits of its explicit and im-
plicit legitimacy and try to rule instead of the 
people on the constitutional order which this 
people creates for itself.

This dilemma is unique problem within the 
Convention system, because only the rights 
in Article 3 of Protocol No. 1 have this double 
legal character as human rights and an impor-
tant element of national constitutional order.

18. The appropriate way out of this dilemma is to 
use the instrument of margin of appreciation. 
That means that in examining the legitimate 
aim and the proportionality of a restriction, it 
is necessary to give a different weight to these 
two elements: if the Court finds that the restric-

tions pursue a legitimate aim and are not ar-
bitrary, then only in exceptional situations can 
this restriction be found disproportionate.

Therefore, the Court should not disregard the 
specific character of Article 3 of Protocol No. 
1. The Court should be aware of the fact that 
through its adjudication on matters arising un-
der Article 3, it can unduly influence the nation-
al constitutional order of a Contracting State. In 
other words, the Court is not empowered by 
the Convention system to interfere directly in 
the democratic constitutional order of a State. 
Otherwise, there would be a violation of the 
principles of democracy and State sovereignty. 
A too simplistic approach to the examination 
of this Article can easily lead to a violation of 
both these principles.

19. It seems that the Court and the former Com-
mission were indeed aware of the special char-
acter of Article 3 of Protocol No. 1. As the case-
law shows, the general policy of the Strasbourg 
organs was to leave to the Contracting states 
the widest possible margin of appreciation in 
order to avoid a challenge to the principles of 
democracy and state sovereignty.24 

In fact all the abovementioned restrictions pro-
vided for in electoral law, in the constitutional 
orders of the different Contracting States, have 
been found by the Strasbourg organs to be 
compatible with Article 3 of Protocol No. 1. 
Only in a few exceptional situations, when the 
very core of the electoral rights was at stake, 25 
has the Court has found a violation.

IV. 

20. The finding of the majority, that the restrictions 
in the instant case pursued legitimate aims 
(§ 86 of the judgment), should in my view 
already indicate, that these restrictions were 
proportionate.

However, afterwards the majority applied the 
margin of appreciation in very narrow manner 
and consequently found the restrictions to be 
disproportionate.

I cannot share this view. On the contrary, in my 
view, the public interests in the instant case 
justified allowing to the respondent State and 
even wider margin of appreciation than in an 
“average” case under Article 3 of Protocol No. 1.

21. The majority recognise that the provision of 
Latvian law which disenfranchises those who 
continued to participate actively in certain 
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organisations after 13 January 1991 pursues 
legitimate aims – to protect the independence 
of the Latvian state, its democracy and national 
security (§ 86 of the judgment). Furthermore, 
the majority also recognise that restrictions 
were proportionate during the first years after 
the re-establishment of an independent dem-
ocratic state (§ 92 of the judgment).

But then the majority analyse the current situ-
ation, and come to the conclusion that the ap-
plicant poses no more threat to the “legitimate 
aims” protected through the restrictions con-
cerned (§§ 92-99 of the judgment).

22. I can agree with majority that in the current sit-
uation the applicant is no longer a real danger 
to the State and democracy, if the word “dan-
ger” is taken to mean only the preparation of a 
new “coup d’état” like those which happened 
twice in 1991. I would like to point out that only 
a mass defence of the Latvian Parliament and 
Government by mainly unarmed people (the 
so-called “barricades of Riga”) thwarted these 
attempts.

23. The Court should always be aware of the con-
text of a case, especially in a politically sensitive 
and complex case like this one.

The first aspect of the general context of the 
instant case, which should be taken into ac-
count, is that of the re-establishing of a demo-
cratic order after an undemocratic (totalitarian) 
regime.26 Most of the “old” Contracting States 
do not have any real experience in that. The 
second aspect is that of the re-establishing of 
an illegally occupied State. That means liqui-
dating an illegal situation caused by a foreign 
state in continuous breach of international 
law.27 

The majority formally recognise, though in 
general terms, the difficult context in which 
this case is embedded (§§ 90-92 of the judg-
ment). Nevertheless, when analysing the de-
tails of the case the majority seem to have lost, 
sight of its true significance.

24. One of the most important problems for the 
new democracies is the confidence of people 
in their institutions. However, general confi-
dence in the democratic institutions is a condi-
tio sine qua non for a stable democracy.

Indeed, people have experienced a system 
of injustice (Unrechtsstaat), and that makes it 
difficult for them to recognise the good inten-
tions of democratic politics and institutions. 

Distance from of the state institutions and 
distrust of politicians is a usual and in a sense 
“normal” pattern of society in new democra-
cies, especially when the “revolution” is over 
and the democratic routine starts.

25. In the context of this case it is important to 
note that building confidence in the new dem-
ocratic institutions is considerably impeded if 
the new institutions (governmental bodies, 
public authorities, parliament, etc.) are perme-
ated by protagonists or former representatives 
of the old regime of injustice – despite the fact 
that they might still have support in some parts 
of the society.

26. All these are elements of the general problem 
of “coping with the past” (Vergangenheitsbe-
wältigung) which all the new democracies are 
facing.

Society and the State must find the right way 
to deal with injustices of the former regime: 
how to compensate the victims, how to treat 
the protagonists of the previous system of in-
justice, how to show to individual members of 
the society the qualitative difference between 
a system of injustice and a democratic system 
guided by the rule of law.

27. There is little help from the traditional “old” 
democracies in this respect, whether in the 
fields of (legal) theory or practice. Their advice 
is rather superficial. These questions were not 
relevant to them.28 

Therefore it is rather for the new democra-
cies themselves to develop the right solution 
to these problems both in legal and political 
theory and in practice.

28. The scale of possible attitudes to these prob-
lems in the new democracies is very wide 
and differs from state to state. It depends on 
many factors like the relative strength of the 
democratic forces and the protagonists of the 
regime of injustice; the particularities of the 
democratic revolution; the degree to which 
of the new elite is intermixed with the pro-
tagonists or former representatives of the old 
regime; the historical experiences, and similar 
circumstances.

In some states there has been a formal criminal 
prosecution of the representatives of the for-
mer regime who committed crimes. Neverthe-
less, the principle of nulla poena sine lege pro-
hibits the prosecution in most cases; therefore 
the criminal activities of former state officials 
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may remain without a just criminal punish-
ment.29 

South Africa, Argentina and some other states 
in Latin America have established “truth com-
missions” as an instrument of the policy of the 
“coping with the past”.30 

29. In several new democratic states the laws 
provide preventing some restrictions for the 
former representatives and protagonists of the 
old system of injustice from holding some of-
ficial posts, especially in the civil service.

For example, in Germany, the law provides 
preventing certain restrictions for the former 
agents of the secret service of the East German 
regime (“Stasi”) from holding a parliamentary 
office.

This law has also been applied in practice. For 
example, on 29 April 1999, a member of the 
Parliament (“Landtag”) of Thüringen (a German 
“Land”) was deprived of his seat after it was re-
vealed that he had been an agent of the secret 
service under the old regime.31 In the context 
of this case, it should be noted that, as in Lat-
via, it was not necessary to prove the individual 
guilt of the former agent – it was enough to 
prove that a parliamentarian had indeed been 
an agent of the secret service.

Again, as in Latvia, it was not necessary to ex-
amine whether he or she still presented an 
actual danger to the democratic order. The 
reason for this exclusion was the general as-
sumption that such a person discredits the 
Parliament.

The purpose of such restrictions for members 
of Parliament has also been explained by the 
German Federal Constitutional Court in a case 
concerning the regulations for the special 
procedure for investigation whether depu-
ties of the Federal Parliament formerly acted 
as agents of the “Stasi”. The Federal Constitu-
tional Court ruled that the reason for this inves-
tigation was the assumption, “that the former 
activities of a deputy as an agent of the state 
security [of the former GDR] deprives him or 
her of the legitimacy needed to be a deputy 
of the German Bundestag. This regulation does 
not question his or her honour as a personal 
right deserting legal protection, but [rather] 
his or her suitability to represent the people in 
Parliament”.32 

30. It should also be noted that in some new de-
mocracies there is no specific policy of “coping 

with the past”, and the discussion on these 
questions has not yet begin. In other countries, 
such discussion only starts after a certain pe-
riod of time, when the democratic culture and 
the legal consciousness attain a certain level 
and when there is no more fear that the old 
forces may come back. For example, the dis-
cussion about such problems in Argentina and 
Chile started and measures against the repre-
sentatives of the former authoritarian regimes 
were taken only recently, nearly two decades 
after the establishing of the democratic order.

Therefore the implicit expectation of the ma-
jority in the instant case that these problems 
would continuously diminish without any dis-
cussions and any specific policy (§§ 92 and 
97 of the judgment), is unrealistic, at least as 
long as the whole generation of victims of the 
former Soviet system of injustice is still alive.

31. The variety of different attitudes towards the 
complex problem of “coping with the past” al-
lows only one conclusion – there cannot be a 
uniform approach.

Only an intensive discussion in society and an 
organised State policy aimed at redressing the 
injustice of the former system and strength-
ening the people’s confidence in democratic 
institutions (which may also include some 
restrictions on the protagonists of the former 
regime), can, in the long term, lead to a recon-
ciliation in society and contribute to the stabi-
lisation of the democratic order. It should also 
be mentioned that the reconciliation process 
requires some remorse on the part of the pro-
tagonists of the former regime for having com-
mitted injustice (which, as my colleague Judge 
Bonello notes in his dissenting opinion, is not 
the case with the applicant).

Anyway, it is a genuine political process in each 
country, which should not be distorted by sim-
plistic judicial verdicts.

32. In Latvian society, the discussion on whether 
these restrictions are (still) necessary, is con-
tinuing. The Constitutional Court’s judgment 
of 30 August 2000, accompanied by a strong 
dissenting opinion of three judges, reflects this 
discussion. It should also be mentioned that, 
after very long and intensive discussions, the 
Latvian Parliament decided to lift these restric-
tions for the elections to the European Parlia-
ment in 2004.

33. In my view, the Court should respect the deep-
ly political character of this problem, instead of 
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substituting itself for society and delivering a 
judicial decision on this issue. This will neither 
bring the discussion to an end nor solve the 
problem. In any case, some restrictions on the 
passive electoral rights of protagonists of the 
old regime of injustice are not disproportion-
ate in comparison to the aims of these restric-
tions, especially strengthening confidence in 
the new democratic institutions. These restric-
tions are covered by the concept of the “self-
defending democracy”, which is also recog-
nised in the settled case-law of the Court and 
to which the majority (also refer) in the instant 
case (§ 92 of the judgment).

V. 

34. The majority departed from the general prin-
ciples, developed by the case-law of the Stras-
bourg organs in cases where persons were 
disenfranchised for “uncitizenlike conduct”, 
without having reasonable grounds for that 
change.

In my opinion, one of the weakest points of 
the reasoning adopted by the majority is the 
second part of § 88, in which the Court tries 
to draw a distinction between the present case 
and the case-law of the former Commission 
concerning the electoral rights of persons con-
victed in the aftermath of the World War II for 
collaboration with the enemy or similar unciti-
zenlike conduct during the war. In particular, in 
§ 84 of the judgment, the Court quotes three 
decisions that are worth examining more thor-
oughly.

35. In the case of X. v. the Netherlands33, the ap-
plicant, born in 1888, was convicted for “un-
citizenlike conduct” by the Amsterdam Special 
Court in 1948. The applicant never participated 
in armed conflict against the legitimate Dutch 
authorities, nor did he take active part in any 
repressive mechanism set up by the Nazi oc-
cupation force. He was essentially blamed for 
having adopted a disloyal attitude, before and 
during the war, being officially the director of 
the Dutch Christian Press Bureau and unoffi-
cially a member of the Dutch National-Socialist 
Movement and a strong sympathiser with the 
Third Reich. Nevertheless, the Dutch authori-
ties considered his fault to be sufficiently grave 
to deprive him for life of his right to vote. The 
Commission examined his application in 1974 
– that is to say almost thirty years after the 
events – and declared it manifestly ill-founded 
in the following terms:

“[I]tdoesnotfollowthatArticle3accordsthe
rightsunreservedly toeverysingle individual
totakepartinelections.Itisindeedgenerally
recognisedthatcertainlimitedgroupsofindi-
vidualsmaybedisqualifiedfromvoting,pro-
videdthatthisdisqualificationisnotarbitrary.

[T]heCommissionhasstillthetaskofconsid-
eringwhetherthepresentdeprivationofthe
right to vote is arbitrary and, in particular,
whetheritcouldaffecttheexpressionoffree
opinion of the people in the choice of the
legislature.Thisisclearlynotsointhepresent
case.

(...)

[AsregardsArticle14oftheConvention,t]he
Commission (...) finds it appropriate to refer
to the jurisprudence of the European Court
ofHumanRights(judgmentof23July1968–
inthecase“relatingtocertainaspectsofthe
lawsontheuseof languages inEducationin
Belgium”)whichlaiddowncriteriaforconsid-
erationofdifferences in treatment: objective
andreasonablejustificationofameasureand
reasonable relationship of proportionality
between the means employed and the aim
soughttoberealised.

The Commission has analysed the intention
of the laws depriving, in several countries,
convicteddisloyal citizens of certainpolitical
rights, including the right to vote. The pur-
poseofsuchlawsistopreventpersons,who
havegrosslymisusedinwartimetheirrightto
participate inpublic life, frommisusing their
political rights in the future. Crimes against
public safetyor against the foundationsof a
democraticsocietyshouldthusbeavoidedby
suchmeasures.

TheCommissionconsidersthatthisratiolegis
meets the criteria laid downby the Court in
theabovementionedjudgment.”

36. The second decision was adopted in the case 
of X v. Belgium34. In February 1948 the appli-
cant, born in 1912, was convicted by the Brus-
sels Military Court and sentenced to twenty 
years of extraordinary detention for collabora-
tion with the enemy during the war. In Febru-
ary 1951 his prison term was reduced to eight-
een years, and several months later he was 
conditionally released. However, his conviction 
initiated the automatic application of a legal 
provision depriving him permanently of the 
right to vote in national and local elections. In 
1979, the Commission rejected his complaint 
in the following terms:
“[The]right[tovote],whichisneitherabsolute
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norunlimited,issubjecttocertainrestrictions
imposedbytheContractingParties,provided
thattheserestrictionsarenotarbitraryanddo
not interferewith the free expression of the
people’sopinion(...).

Whenrequiredtodecideoncasesofthiskind,
theCommissionmustdecidewhetherornot
this negative condition is fulfilled. In other
words,itmustdecide,inthepresentinstance,
whether the permanent deprivation of the
righttovotefollowingconvictionfortreason,
ofwhichtheapplicantcomplains,isarbitrary,
and, in particular,whether it is calculated to
prejudice the free expression of the opinion
ofthepeopleinthechoiceofthelegislature.
TheCommission isof theopinionthatthis is
certainlynotthecaseinthepresentinstance.

In fact, it notes that in Belgium, as in other
countries, the purpose of legislation depriv-
ing persons convicted of treason of certain
politicalrightsand,morespecifically,theright
to vote is to ensure that persons who have
seriously abused, in wartime, their right to
participate in the public life of their country
arepreventedinthefuturefromabusingtheir
political rights inamannerprejudicial to the
security of the state or the foundations of a
democraticsociety(...).”

37. One might argue that the two aforementioned 
cases relate to a period prior to the judgment 
in the case of Mathieu-Mohin and Clerfayt v. 
Belgium, the first judgment that defined clearly 
and authoritatively the extent of the rights cov-
ered by Article 3.

However, the Convention organs did not 
change their approach even after Mathieu-Mo-
hin. In the case of Van Wambeke v. Belgium35, 
the applicant, a former member of the Waffen 
SS born in 1922, was sentenced to fifteen years 
of extraordinary detention for treason by a 
judgment of the Ghent Military Court of 9 May 
1945; he also lost his voting rights for life. In 
1989 – that is almost forty-five years after the 
events – he was denied the right to vote in 
elections to the European Parliament. In 1991 
the Commission rejected his application, reit-
erating the reasoning of the X v. Belgium deci-
sion quoted above.

38. I would like to place special emphasis on the 
fact that in all these cases, the right at stake 
was the active electoral right, the right to vote, 
that requires less qualification and much less 
responsibility than the right to stand for elec-
tions.

Generally speaking, the vast majority of the 

domestic Constitutions or electoral laws of the 
Contracting States to the Convention set up 
different criteria for active and passive elec-
toral rights, the latter being subordinated to 
considerably higher standards than the former 
– thus there always is a category of persons 
who may vote but are not entitled to stand for 
election because of various impediments that 
disqualify them in terms of the domestic law 
(age, criminal record, bankruptcy, etc.). Such a 
distinction is only natural, if we think of the re-
markable difference between the degree of ac-
countability required from a citizen for a simple 
participation in the suffrage, and the degree of 
accountability that a legislator has to bear. And 
still, the Commission found three times that a 
perpetual restriction of this basic civic right was 
compatible with Article 3 of Protocol No. 1.

39. Now, coming back to the present case, I have 
considerable difficulty understanding how 
the majority, after having quoted the above 
decisions, could find a fundamental difference 
between them and the present case. The only 
argument, mentioned by the Court at the very 
end of § 88 of the judgment, is that the three 
former applicants had been convicted for very 
serious crimes, namely treason, whereas the 
applicant was never tried nor convicted.

This argument does not convince me at all. In 
fact, if we submitted those three cases to the 
same type of analysis that the Court applied in 
the present instance – though the very idea of 
such analysis seems to me to be wrong – I am 
sure that the domestic measures would not 
stand the test and the Court should indubita-
bly find a violation of Article 3 of Protocol No. 1.

40. I could accept the decision of the majority to 
operate a dichotomy between the punitive 
and the preventive aspects of the applicant’s 
ineligibility (§ 87 of the judgment); however, it 
remains surprising to me why the present case 
has not been compared with X v. the Nether-
lands, X v. Belgium and Van Wambeke v. Bel-
gium also under the preventive angle. If we fol-
low this line, we will find that the first of these 
three applicants had been convicted for a non-
violent crime implying merely ideological sup-
port for the occupation power – even though 
the Commission did not find any difference 
between him and the two others; that none of 
the applicants had ever been accused of hav-
ing done something wrong for the many years 
after their conviction, and that the respective 
Governments had never blamed them for any 
disloyal conduct at the time of the introduction 
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of their applications.

41. Certainly, one can insist on the fact that, unlike 
the applicant in the instant case, they all had 
been criminally convicted. However, we should 
remember that the time elapsed since their 
conviction was more than impressive: twenty-
six years in the first case (X v. the Netherlands), 
thirty-one years for the second case (X. v. Bel-
gium) and forty-six years in the third case (Van 
Wambeke v. Belgium).

It means that at least one generation had 
changed before the Commission came to ex-
amine the respective complaints, whereas in 
the present instance, the controversial events 
of 1991 still fresh in the memory of the Latvian 
people. In my opinion, this fact suffices to out-
weigh the aforementioned difference.

42. Finally, as to the “actual dangerousness” criteri-
on set up by the majority, we should recall that 
on the date of the respective Commission de-
cisions, the first applicant was eighty-six years 
old, the two others being aged sixty-seven and 
sixty-nine.

This being said, if we rigorously apply the crite-
ria set up by the present judgment, the three 
former collaborators and traitors appear to be 
much more inoffensive at the moment when 
the Commission examined their cases than the 
applicant in the instant case is today. And still 
the Commission found no appearance of a vio-
lation of Article 3 of Protocol No. 1.

43. As I already said, in my view, the Commission 
followed the most reasonable way by basing 
its reasoning not on the actual dangerousness 
of the applicants – a criterion that the national 
authorities are in a better position to evaluate 
– but on the question whether they were quali-
fied to take part in the suffrage.

Here I would like to emphasise once more that 
the applicant in the present case was subject 
to the mildest and most lenient form of inter-
ference with Convention rights – she has been 
deprived only of the right to be elected; on the 
contrary, she can vote and even chair a political 
party without any restrictions.

44. Of course, the Court is bound neither by the 
former Commission’s case-law nor by its own, 
and is free to reverse it at any moment. Howev-
er, if the present judgment is to be considered 
such a reversal, it should have adopted a much 
more thorough and complete reasoning; in my 
eyes, one tiny argument at the end of § 88 is 

clearly insufficient.

45. As for myself, I remain convinced that in cases 
similar to the present instance and involving 
delicate considerations based on the painful 
political and historical experience of the coun-
try concerned, the Court must exercise the 
maximum self-restraint, reducing its control to 
two basic points: it should ensure, firstly, that 
the reasons given by the national authorities 
are serious and consistent and secondly, that 
there is no appearance of arbitrariness in the 
case.

VI. 

46. Furthermore, I would like to mention some of 
the majority’s findings of fact that seem to me 
to be hardly appropriate.

Firstly, the majority notes that the organisa-
tions in which the applicant actively participat-
ed were not prohibited immediately after the 
first attempted of “coup d’état” in 13 January 
1991, but only on 23 August 1991 after the fail-
ure of the second “coup d’état”. The majority 
concludes that during this period the organisa-
tions were not illegal (§ 90 of the judgment).

However, a formal prohibition is a political de-
cision. The Government decided not to act this 
way because of the presence of foreign military 
forces which were still in the country, closely 
collaborating with the Communist party and 
other antidemocratic organisations, to which 
the applicant belonged. The purely formal-
istic approach of the majority, qualifying an 
organisation which organised a “coup d’état” 
as “legal”, ignores the real situation: a formal 
prohibition would destabilise the situation to 
the detriment of the new born democracy. This 
approach seems to me to be out of touch with 
the reality.

47. Secondly, the majority are of the opinion that 
the power of the national courts to assess the 
actual dangerousness of a concerned person is 
limited (§ 93 of the judgment).

This is true. However, the main purpose of the 
restrictions set up by Latvian law is to protect 
the Parliament from persons who have dis-
credited themselves by their active participa-
tion in organisations which really attempted to 
overthrow the democratic order and to restore 
the former system of injustice – even if they still 
have some support in some parts of society. I 
have already explained that this might be nec-
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essary in specific situations for new democra-
cies to be able to strengthen the confidence of 
the majority of the people in the democratic 
institutions, including the Parliament.

48. Thirdly, the majority also found a violation of 
Article 11 of the Convention (§ 111 of the 
judgment). I cannot follow the majority for the 
same reasons as for Article 3 of Protocol No. 1. 
I am of the opinion that the same considera-
tions justifying the recognition of a wide mar-
gin of appreciation to the Contracting States 
apply to Article 11 of the Convention.

49. Fourthly, the majority decided to award to 
the applicant for pecuniary damage LVL 
2,236.50 for the time when she was deprived 
of her seat on Riga City Council. In my view, 
this sum is not substantiated. The applicant 
could have suffered a pecuniary damage only 
if she had not any other earnings which would 
fully or partially compensate for the loss of her 
income from the city council (for example, 
unemployment benefits or salary from other 
employment instead of the lost income from 
of the city council). In the instant case the ap-
plicant did not submit any information on that.

50. One last remark in order to avoid any misun-
derstanding: I have not argued in favour of the 
restrictions in question, which are provided for 
by Latvian law. I only wanted to show that this 
is a genuine political question, which is impor-
tant for the society of a new democracy, and 
which should be decided in the democratic po-
litical process within the country. I also wanted 
to draw attention to the problem of the Court’s 
judicial self-restraint in genuinely political mat-
ters. I think that in such cases the Court should 
be extremely careful, try to remain on the solid 
ground of judicial assessment, and not ad-
vance on to political ground, the latter being 
reserved for the democratic institutions of the 
Contracting States. That is why I have called for 
the application of a wide margin of apprecia-
tion.
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PUBLIC SECURITY

Judgment of the Court of 10 July 1984

CAsE 72/83 CAMPUs oIL 
LIMItED AnD otHERs v 
MInIstER FoR InDUstRY 
AnD EnERGY AnD 
otHERs
Reference for a preliminary ruling:  
High Court - Ireland. - free movements of goods 
Supply of petroleum products 

KEYWORDS

1. Questions for a preliminary ruling - reference to 
the court - stage of the proceedings at which 
reference should be made - appraisal by the 
national court (EEC Treaty, art. 177) 

2. Free movement of goods - quantitative re-
strictions - measures having equivalent effect 
- concept (EEC Treaty, art. 30) 

3. Competition - undertakings entrusted with the 
operation of services of general economic in-
terest - subject to the Treaty rules - protection 
ensured by measures restricting imports from 
other member states - not acceptable (EEC 
Treaty, arts 30 and 90 (2)) 

4. Free movement of goods - quantitative restric-
tions - measures having equivalent effect - 
supplies of petroleum products - obligation to 
purchase from a national refinery (EEC Treaty, 
art. 30) 

5. Free movement of goods - derogations - arti-
cle 36 of the Treaty - community rules for the 
protection of the same interests - effects (EEC 
Treaty, art. 36) 

6. Free movement of goods - derogations - article 
36 of the Treaty - purpose - scope - unneces-
sary or disproportionate measures - not ac-
ceptable (EEC Treaty, art. 36) 

7. Free movement of goods - derogations - pub-

lic security - supplies of petroleum products 
- objective covered by the concept of public 
security - adoption of appropriate rules - rules 
making it possible to achieve other objectives 
of an economic nature - acceptable (EEC Trea-
ty, art. 36) 

8. Free movement of goods - derogations - pub-
lic security - supplies of petroleum products - 
obligation to purchase from a national refinery 
- acceptable - conditions and limits (EEC Treaty, 
art. 36) 

SUMMARY

1. It is for the national court, in the framework of 
close cooperation established by article 177 
of the Treaty between the national courts and 
the court of justice based on the assignment 
to each of different functions, to decide at 
what stage in the proceedings it is appropri-
ate to refer a question to the court of justice for 
a preliminary ruling. It is also for the national 
court to appraise the facts of the case and the 
arguments of the parties, of which it alone has 
a direct knowledge, with a view to defining 
the legal context in which the interpretation 
requested should be placed.

2. Article 30 of the Treaty, in prohibiting as be-
tween the member states all measures having 
equivalent effect to quantitative restrictions on 
imports, covers any measure which is capable 
of hindering, directly or indirectly, actually or 
potentially, intra-community trade.

3. Article 90 (2) of the Treaty, which defines more 
precisely the limits within which undertakings 
entrusted with the operation of services of 
general economic interest are to be subject 
to the rules contained in the Treaty, does not 
permit a member state to adopt in favour of 
that undertaking and with a view to protecting 
its activity, measures that restrict imports from 
other member states contrary to article 30 of 
the Treaty.

4. National rules which require all importers to 
purchase a certain proportion of their require-
ments of petroleum products from a refinery 
situated in the national territory constitute a 
measure having equivalent effect to a quanti-
tative restriction on imports.

5. Recourse to article 36 of the Treaty is no longer 
justified if community rules provide for the 
necessary measures to ensure protection of 
the interests set out in that article. National 

Case 72/83 Campus Oil Limited and others v Minister for Industry and Energy and others



852 CASE72/83CAMPUSOILLIMITEDANDOTHERSVMINISTERFORINDUSTRYANDENERGYANDOTHERS

EC
HR

EC
J

measures hindering intra-community trade 
cannot therefore be justified unless protection 
of the interests of the member state concerned 
is not sufficiently guaranteed by the measures 
taken for that purpose by the community in-
stitutions.

6. The purpose of article 36 of the Treaty is not 
to reserve certain matters to the exclusive juris-
diction of the member states; it merely allows 
national legislation to derogate from the prin-
ciple of the free movement of goods to the ex-
tent to which this is justified in order to achieve 
the objectives set out in the article.

Article 36, as an exception to a fundamental 
principle of the Treaty, must be interpreted in 
such a way that its scope is not extended any 
further than is necessary for the protection of 
the interests which it is intended to secure and 
the measures taken pursuant to that article 
must not create obstacles to imports which are 
disproportionate to those objectives.

7. Petroleum products, because of their excep-
tional importance as an energy source in the 
modern economy, are of fundamental impor-
tance for a country’s existence since not only 
its economy but above all its institutions, its 
essential public services and even the survival 
of its inhabitants depend upon them. An in-
terruption of supplies of petroleum products, 
with the resultant dangers for the country’s 
existence, could therefore seriously affect the 
public security that article 36 of the Treaty al-
lows states to protect.

The aim of ensuring a minimum supply of pe-
troleum products at all times transcends purely 
economic interests - which, as such, may not 
be relied upon in the context of article 36 - and 
is thus capable of constituting an objective 
covered by the concept of public security.

The rules adopted for that purpose must be 
justified by objective circumstances corre-
sponding to the needs of public security. Once 
that justification has been established, the fact 
that the rules are of such a nature as to make 
it possible to achieve, in addition to the objec-
tives covered by the concept of public security, 
other objectives of an economic nature which 
the member state may also seek to achieve, 
does not exclude the application of article 36. 

8. A member state which is totally or almost to-
tally dependent on imports for its supplies of 
petroleum products may rely on grounds of 
public security within the meaning of article 

36 of the Treaty for the purpose of requiring 
importers to cover a certain proportion of their 
needs by purchases from a refinery situated in 
its territory at prices fixed by the competent 
minister on the basis of the costs incurred in 
the operation of that refinery, if the production 
of the refinery cannot be freely disposed of at 
competitive prices on the market concerned. 
The quantities of petroleum products covered 
by such a system must not exceed the mini-
mum supply requirement without which the 
public security of the state concerned would 
be affected or the level of production neces-
sary to keep the refinery’s production capacity 
available in the event of a crisis and to enable 
it to continue to refine at all times the crude 
oil for the supply of which the state concerned 
has entered into long-term contracts.

PARTIES

Reference to the court under article 177 of the 
EEC Treaty by the high court of Ireland for a pre-
liminary ruling in the proceedings pending before 
that court between Campus Oil Limited, Estuary 
Fuel Limited, McMullan Bros Limited, Ola Teoranta, 
PMPA Oil Company Limited, Tedcastle McCormick 
& company Limited and The Minister for Industry 
and Energy, Ireland, The Attorney General Irish Na-
tional Petroleum Corporation Limited, 

SUBJECT OF THE CASE

On the interpretation of articles 30 and 36 of the 
EEC Treaty in relation to national legislation on the 
supply of petroleum products,

GROUNDS

1. By order of 9 december 1982, which was re-
ceived at the court on 28 april 1983, the high 
court of Ireland referred to the court for a pre-
liminary ruling under article 177 of the EEC 
Treaty two questions on the interpretation of 
articles 30, 31 and 36 of the Treaty in order to 
enable it to decide whether irish rules requiring 
importers of petroleum products to purchase 
a certain proportion of their requirements at 
prices fixed by the competent minister from a 
state-owned company which operates a refin-
ery in Ireland are compatible with the Treaty.

2. Those questions arose in proceedings insti-
tuted by six irish undertakings trading in petro-
leum products either exclusively or predomi-
nantly in Ireland, which supply approximately 
14 % of the motor spirit market in Ireland and 
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a somewhat higher percentage of other pe-
troleum products, against Ireland and the irish 
national petroleum corporation (hereinafter 
referred to as ’’the inpc’’). In the main action, 
the six plaintiff undertakings are seeking a dec-
laration in the high court that the fuels (control 
of supplies) order 1982 (hereinafter referred to 
as ‘’the 1982 order’’) is incompatible with the 
EEC Treaty.

3. The 1982 order was made by the irish minister 
for industry and energy under powers con-
ferred on him by the fuels (control of supplies) 
act 1971, as amended in 1982, for the mainte-
nance and provision of supplies of fuels. The 
1982 order requires any person who imports 
any of the various petroleum products to 
which it applies to purchase a certain propor-
tion of their requirements of petroleum prod-
ucts from the inpc at a price to be determined 
by the minister taking into account the costs 
incurred by the inpc. 

4. The inpc, whose share capital is owned by the 
irish state and whose function is to improve 
the security of supply of oil within Ireland, pur-
chased, in 1982, the share capital of the irish 
refining company limited, owner of the only re-
finery in Ireland, which is situated at whitegate, 
county cork. The share capital of the irish refin-
ing company limited, which is capable of sup-
plying from the whitegate refinery some 35% 
of the requirements of the irish market in re-
fined petroleum products, had until then been 
owned by four major oil companies which 
supply the greater part of the irish market in 
refined petroleum products. The decision to 
acquire the whitegate refinery by means of 
the purchase of the capital of the irish refin-
ing company limited was taken after the four 
major international oil companies announced 
their intention to close the refinery.

5. The reason given by the irish government for 
acquiring the irish refining company limited 
was the need to guarantee, by keeping refining 
capacity in operation in Ireland, the provision 
of supplies of petroleum products in Ireland, in 
view of the fact that if the refinery had closed, 
all suppliers of refined petroleum products on 
the irish market would have been obliged to 
obtain their supplies from abroad. Approxi-
mately 80% of those supplies come from a sin-
gle source, namely the united kingdom.

6. The obligation to purchase from the inpc, 
provided for by the 1982 order, is intended to 
ensure that the whitegate refinery can dispose 

of its products. For each person to whom the 
1982 order applies the proportion of require-
ments covered by the purchasing obligation is 
equal, for each type of petroleum product, to 
the proportion which the whitegate refinery’s 
output for a certain period represents of the 
total requirements for that type of petroleum 
product during the same period of all the per-
sons to whom the 1982 order applies. Howev-
er, each importer is only required to purchase 
up to a maximum of 35% of its total require-
ments of petroleum products and 40% of its re-
quirements of each type of petroleum product.

7. The plaintiff undertakings contend, in support 
of their application in the main action, that the 
1982 order is contrary to community law and 
in particular to the prohibition, as between 
member states, of quantitative restrictions on 
imports and all measures having equivalent ef-
fect, laid down in article 30 of the Treaty. The 
irish government and the inpc dispute that the 
1982 order is a measure which comes within 
the scope of that prohibition and contend 
that in any event it is justified, under article 36 
of the EEC Treaty, on grounds of public policy 
and public security inasmuch as it is intended 
to guarantee the operation of Ireland’s only re-
finery, which is necessary to maintain the coun-
try’s supplies of petroleum products.

8. In the main action, the detailed circumstances 
and reasons which led the irish minister for in-
dustry and energy to make the 1982 order are 
disputed between the parties. The high court 
took the view that before proceeding to in-
quire into the disputed facts, it was necessary 
to ask the court of justice to rule on the scope 
of the rules in the EEC Treaty on the free move-
ment of goods as applied to a scheme such as 
the one at issue in the case. It therefore referred 
the following questions to the court: 
'‘1.Arearticles30and31oftheEECTreatyto
beinterpretedasapplyingtoasystemsuchas
thatestablishedby the fuels (controlof sup-
plies) order 1982 in so far as that system re-
quiresimportersofoilproductsintoamember
state of the european economic community
(inthiscaseIreland)topurchasefromastate-
ownedoilrefineryupto35%oftheirrequire-
mentsofpetroleumoils?

2.if the answer to the foregoing question is
intheaffirmative,aretheconceptsof’’public
policy’’or’’publicsecurity’’inarticle36ofthe
Treaty aforesaid tobe interpreted in relation
to a system such as that established by the
1982ordersothat:
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(a)suchsystemasaboverecitedisexemptby
article36oftheTreatyfromtheprovisionsof
articles30to34thereof,or

(b)suchschemeiscapableofbeingsoexempt
in any circumstances and, if so, in what cir-
cumstances?'‘

9. The irish government and the inpc consider 
that the referral to the court is premature since 
the facts of the main action have not yet been 
established before the national court. They 
submit that to rule on the questions raised, 
and in particular on the first part of the second 
question, would have the effect of definitively 
depriving the defendants in the main action of 
the opportunity of defending their case before 
the national court and of producing all the rel-
evant evidence, concerning in particular the 
reasons justifying the 1982 order.

10. As the court has held in a number of cases 
(see in particular the judgment of 10. 3. 1981, 
joined cases 36 and 71/80 irish creamery milk 
suppliers association (1981) ecr 735), it is for the 
national court, in the framework of close coop-
eration established by article 177 of the Treaty 
between the national courts and the court of 
justice based on the assignment to each of dif-
ferent functions, to decide at what stage in the 
proceedings it is appropriate to refer a ques-
tion to the court of justice for a preliminary rul-
ing. It is also for the national court to appraise 
the facts of the case and the arguments of the 
parties, of which it alone has a direct knowl-
edge, with a view to defining the legal context 
in which the interpretation requested should 
be placed. The decision as to when to make 
a reference under article 177 in this case was 
thus dictated by considerations of procedural 
organization and efficiency which are not to be 
weighed by the court of justice, but solely by 
the national court.

11. Since it is for the national court to give judg-
ment in the main action on the basis of the 
interpretation of community law provided by 
the court of justice, the parties have the op-
portunity in the main proceedings to bring for-
ward any evidence they wish, particularly with 
regard to the reasons for the 1982 order.

The first question on the interpretation 
of article 30 of the Treaty 
12. The high court’s first question is whether article 

30 of the Treaty is to be interpreted as meaning 
that rules of the type laid down by the 1982 or-

der constitute a measure equivalent to a quan-
titative restriction on imports.

13. In the view of the plaintiffs in the main action 
and also of the commission, it is undeniable 
that such measures, under which importers are 
obliged to purchase part of their supplies with-
in the member state, have a restrictive effect 
on imports within the meaning of article 30. 

14. The irish government, however, contends that 
such is not the case. First, the measure in ques-
tion in no way restricts imports inasmuch as, 
in any event, all oil, whether crude or refined, 
used in Ireland, has to be imported. Secondly, it 
is possible to interpret article 30 as containing 
an unwritten derogation for products such as 
oil which are of vital national importance 

15. In this connection, it must first be borne in 
mind that, according to the settled case-law of 
the court, article 30 of the Treaty, in prohibit-
ing all measures having equivalent effect to 
quantitative restrictions on imports, covers any 
measure which is capable of hindering, directly 
or indirectly, actually or potentially, intra-com-
munity trade.

16. The obligation placed on all importers to pur-
chase a certain proportion of their supplies of 
a given product from a national supplier limits 
to that extent the possibility of importing the 
same product. It thus has a protective effect 
by favouring national production and, by the 
same token, works to the detriment of pro-
ducers in other member states, regardless of 
whether or not the raw materials used in the 
national production in question must them-
selves be imported.

17. As regards the irish government’s argument re-
garding the importance of oil for the life of the 
country, it is sufficient to note that the Treaty 
applies the principle of free movement to all 
goods, subject only to the exceptions expressly 
provided for in the Treaty itself. Goods cannot 
therefore be considered exempt from the ap-
plication of that fundamental principle merely 
because they are of particular importance for 
the life or the economy of a member state.

18. The greek government refers in this context to 
article 90 (2) of the Treaty, contending that a 
refinery is an undertaking of general economic 
interest and that a state refinery could not, 
without special measures in its favour, com-
pete with the major oil companies.

19. It should be noted in that regard that article 90 
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(1) provides that in the case of public undertak-
ings and undertakings to which member states 
grant special or exclusive rights, member states 
are neither to enact nor to maintain in force any 
measure contrary to the rules contained in the 
Treaty. Article 90 (2) is intended to define more 
precisely the limits within which, in particular, 
undertakings entrusted with the operation of 
services of general economic interest are to 
be subject to the rules contained in the Trea-
ty. Article 90 (2) does not, however, exempt a 
member state which has entrusted such an op-
eration to an undertaking from the prohibition 
on adopting, in favour of that undertaking and 
with a view to protecting its activity, measures 
that restrict imports from other member states 
contrary to article 30 of the Treaty.

20. The answer to the high court’s first question is 
therefore that article 30 of the EEC Treaty must 
be interpreted as meaning that national rules 
which require all importers to purchase a cer-
tain proportion of their requirements of petro-
leum products from a refinery situated in the 
national territory constitute a measure having 
equivalent effect to a quantitative restriction 
on imports.

The second question on the 
interpretation of article 36 of the Treaty 
21. The second question asks whether article 36 

of the Treaty and, in particular, the concepts 
of ’’public policy’’ and of ’’public security’’ con-
tained therein are to be interpreted as mean-
ing that a system such as the one at issue in this 
case, established by a member state which is 
totally dependent on imports for its supplies of 
petroleum products, can be exempt from the 
prohibition laid down in article 30 of the Treaty.

22. The irish government and the inpc point out 
that it is for the member states to determine, 
for the purposes of article 36, and in particular 
with regard to the concept of public security, 
their interests that are to be protected and the 
measures to be taken to that end. They con-
tend that Ireland’s heavy dependence for its oil 
supplies on imports from other countries and 
the importance of oil for the life of the coun-
try make it indispensable to maintain refin-
ing capacity on the national territory, thereby 
enabling the national authorities to enter into 
long-term delivery contracts with the countries 
producing crude oil. Since the system at issue 
is the only means of ensuring that the white-
gate refinery’s products can be marketed, they 

consider it to be justified by considerations of 
public security as a temporary measure until 
another solution can be found to safeguard the 
continued operation of the whitegate refinery.

23. In the united kingdom’s view, the term ‘’public 
security’’ in article 36 of the Treaty covers the 
fundamental interests of the state such as the 
maintenance of essential public services or the 
safe and effective functioning of the life of the 
state. The exceptions provided for in that ar-
ticle cannot be relied upon if the measures in 
question are designed predominantly to attain 
economic objectives. Those measures must 
not go beyond what is necessary to attain the 
objective protected by article 36. 

24. The plaintiffs in the main action point out that 
the problem is not whether or not refining ca-
pacity needs to be maintained in Ireland, but 
rather whether the system chosen to enable 
that refinery to function can be justified on 
the basis of article 36. The real purpose of the 
rules at issue is to ensure that the refinery does 
not operate at a loss. It is thus, in the plaintiffs’ 
view, an essentially economic measure which 
cannot be covered by the concepts of public 
security or public policy.

25. The commission considers that national rules 
of the type laid down by the 1982 order are not 
justified under article 36 because the commu-
nity, in accordance with its responsibility in this 
area, has adopted the necessary rules to ensure 
supplies of petroleum products in the event of 
a crisis. Furthermore, the irish government, by 
means of the system at issue, has pursued an 
economic interest which cannot be taken into 
consideration within the framework of article 
36. In any event, according to the commission, 
the 1982 order is inadequate and ineffective 
for the purpose of securing supplies to the irish 
market, and it is disproportionate inasmuch as 
it requires all importers to buy at prices deter-
mined by the competent minister.

26. Having regard to those arguments, it is appro-
priate to examine: 

First, whether rules of the type laid down by 
the 1982 order are justified in the light of the 
community rules on the matter;

Secondly, whether, having regard to the scope 
of the exemptions on the grounds of public 
policy and public security, article 36 can cover 
rules of the type laid down by the 1982 order;

Thirdly, whether the system at issue is such as 
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to enable the objective of ensuring supplies 
of petroleum products to be attained and 
whether it complies with the principle of pro-
portionality.

The justification of the measures at issue in the 
light of community rules on the matter 

27. Recourse to article 36 is no longer justified if 
community rules provide for the necessary 
measures to ensure protection of the interests 
set out in that article. National measures such 
as those provided for in the 1982 order cannot 
therefore be justified unless supplies of petro-
leum products to the member state concerned 
are not sufficiently guaranteed by the meas-
ures taken for that purpose by the community 
institutions.

28. Certain precautionary measures have indeed 
been taken at community level to deal with 
difficulties in supplies of crude oil and petro-
leum products. Council directives 68/414/eec 
of 20 december 1968 (official journal, english 
special edition 1968 (ii), p. 586) and 73/238/eec 
of 24 july 1973 (official journal 1973, l 228, p. 1) 
require member states to maintain minimum 
stocks and to coordinate to a certain extent the 
national measures adopted for the purpose of 
drawing on those stocks, of imposing specific 
restrictions on consumption and of regulating 
prices. Council decision 77/706/eec of 7 no-
vember 1977 (official journal 1977, l 292, p. 9) 
provides for the setting of a community target 
for a reduction in consumption in the event 
of difficulties in supply and for the sharing out 
between the member states of the quantities 
saved. Finally, council decision 77/186/eec of 
14 february 1977 (official journal 1977, l 61, 
p. 23) establishes a system of export licences, 
granted automatically, to allow the monitoring 
of intra-community trade.

29. Measures have also been taken within the 
context of the international energy agency, set 
up within the framework of the organization 
for economic cooperation and development 
(oecd), of which most community states are 
members and in whose work the community, 
represented by the commission, takes part as 
an observer. Those measures are designed to 
establish solidarity between the participating 
countries in the event of an oil shortage tran-
scending the communities.

30. Even though those precautions against a 
shortage of petroleum products reduce the 
risk of member states being left without essen-
tial supplies, there would none the less still be 

real danger in the event of a crisis. According 
to article 3 of council decision 77/186/eec, the 
commission may, as a precautionary measure, 
authorize a member state, subject to certain 
conditions, to suspend the issue of export li-
cences. That authorization is to be granted 
subject only to the condition that traditional 
trade patterns are maintained ‘’as far as possi-
ble’’. The council, by a qualified majority, may 
revoke that authorization and that power is not 
subject to any express reference to traditional 
trade patterns. According to article 4, in the 
event of a sudden crisis, a member state may, 
subject to certain conditions, suspend the is-
sue of export licences for a period of 10 days. 
In that case, the council, by a qualified majority, 
may adopt the appropriate measures.

31. Consequently, the existing community rules 
give a member state whose supplies of pe-
troleum products depend totally or almost to-
tally on deliveries from other countries certain 
guarantees that deliveries from other member 
states will be maintained in the event of a seri-
ous shortfall in proportions which match those 
of supplies to the market of the supplying 
state. However, this does not mean that the 
member state concerned has an unconditional 
assurance that supplies will in any event be 
maintained at least at a level sufficient to meet 
its minimum needs. In those circumstances, 
the possibility for a member state to rely on 
article 36 to justify appropriate complementary 
measures at national level cannot be excluded, 
even where there exist community rules on the 
matter.

The scope of the public policy and 
public security exceptions 
32. As the court has stated on several occasions 

(see judgment of 12 july 1979, case 153/78 
Commission v Germany (1979) ECR 2555, and 
the other judgments referred to therein), the 
purpose of article 36 of the Treaty is not to 
reserve certain matters to the exclusive juris-
diction of the member states; it merely allows 
national legislation to derogate from the prin-
ciple of the free movement of goods to the 
extent to which this is and remains justified in 
order to achieve the objectives set out in the 
article.

33. It is in the light of those statements that it must 
be decided whether the concept of public se-
curity, on which the irish government places 
particular reliance and which is the only one 
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relevant in this case, since the concept of pub-
lic policy is not pertinent, covers reasons such 
as those referred to in the question raised by 
the national court.

34. It should be stated in this connection that pe-
troleum products, because of their exceptional 
importance as an energy source in the modern 
economy, are of fundamental importance for a 
country’s existence since not only its economy 
but above all its institutions, its essential public 
services and even the survival of its inhabitants 
depend upon them. An interruption of sup-
plies of petroleum products, with the result-
ant dangers for the country’s existence, could 
therefore seriously affect the public security 
that article 36 allows states to protect.

35. It is true that, as the court has held on a num-
ber of occasions, most recently in its judgment 
of 9 june 1982 (case 95/81 Commission v italy 
(1982) ECR 2187), article 36 refers to matters of 
a non-economic nature. A member state can-
not be allowed to avoid the effects of meas-
ures provided for in the Treaty by pleading 
the economic difficulties caused by the elimi-
nation of barriers to intra-community trade. 
However, in the light of the seriousness of the 
consequences that an interruption in supplies 
of petroleum products may have for a coun-
try’s existence, the aim of ensuring a minimum 
supply of petroleum products at all times is to 
be regarded as transcending purely economic 
considerations and thus as capable of consti-
tuting an objective covered by the concept of 
public security.

36. It should be added that to come within the 
ambit of article 36, the rules in question must 
be justified by objective circumstances corre-
sponding to the needs of public security. Once 
that justification has been established, the fact 
that the rules are of such a nature as to make 
it possible to achieve, in addition to the objec-
tives covered by the concept of public security, 
other objectives of an economic nature which 
the member state may also seek to achieve, 
does not exclude the application of article 36. 

The question whether the measures 
are capable of ensuring supplies and 
the principle of proportionality 
37. As the court has previously stated (see judg-

ments of 12. 10. 1978, case 12/78 Eggers (1978) 
ECR 1935, and of 22. 3. 1983, case 42/82 Com-
mission v France (1983) ECR 1013), article 36, 

as an exception to a fundamental principle 
of the Treaty, must be interpreted in such a 
way that its scope is not extended any further 
than is necessary for the protection of the in-
terests which it is intended to secure and the 
measures taken pursuant to that article must 
not create obstacles to imports which are dis-
proportionate to those objectives. Measures 
adopted on the basis of article 36 can therefore 
be justified only if they are such as to serve the 
interest which that article protects and if they 
do not restrict intra-community trade more 
than is absolutely necessary.

38. In that connection, the plaintiffs in the main ac-
tion and the commission cast doubt, in the first 
place, on whether the installation of a refinery 
can ensure supplies of petroleum products 
in the event of a crisis, since a crisis gives rise 
above all to a shortage of crude oil, so that the 
refinery would be unable to operate in such 
circumstances.

39. It is true that as the world oil market now 
stands, the immediate effect of a crisis would 
probably be an interruption or a severe reduc-
tion in deliveries of crude oil. It should, how-
ever, be pointed out that the fact of having 
refining capacity on its territory enables the 
state concerned to enter into long-term con-
tracts with the oil-producing countries for the 
supply of crude oil to its refinery which offer a 
better guarantee of supplies in the event of a 
crisis. It is thus less at risk than a state which has 
no refining capacity of its own and which has 
no means of covering its needs other than by 
purchases on the free market.

40. Furthermore, the existence of a national re-
finery constitutes a guarantee against the ad-
ditional risk of an interruption in deliveries of 
refined products to which a state with no refin-
ing capacity of its own is exposed. Such a state 
would be dependent on the major oil compa-
nies which control refineries in other countries 
and on those companies’ commercial policy.

41. It may, therefore, be concluded that the pres-
ence of a refinery on the national territory, by 
reducing both of those types of risks, can effec-
tively contribute to improving the security of 
supply of petroleum products to a state which 
does not have crude oil resources of its own.

42. The plaintiffs in the main action and the com-
mission consider, however, that even if the op-
eration of a refinery is justified in the interest of 
public security, it is not necessary in order to 
achieve that objective, and, in any event, it is 
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disproportionate in relation to that objective, 
to oblige importers to satisfy a certain propor-
tion of their requirements by purchase from 
the national refinery at a price fixed by the 
competent minister.

43. The irish government contends, on the other 
hand, that the purchasing obligation is the 
only possible way of keeping the whitegate 
refinery in operation. That requires a certain 
degree of use of the plant’s capacity since the 
major international oil companies, on which 
the irish market depended for 80 % of its sup-
plies in 1981, have clearly stated that they are 
not prepared to buy any petroleum products 
at all from the whitegate refinery, because they 
prefer to market the products from their own 
refineries in the united kingdom. The fixing of 
the selling price by the minister on the basis 
of the refinery’s costs is necessary in order to 
avoid financial losses.

44. It must be pointed out in this connection that a 
member state may have recourse to article 36 
to justify a measure having equivalent effect to 
a quantitative restriction on imports only if no 
other measure, less restrictive from the point of 
view of the free movement of goods, is capable 
of achieving the same objective.

45. In the present case, therefore, it is necessary 
to consider whether the obligation placed on 
importers of petroleum products to purchase 
at prices determined on the basis of the costs 
incurred by the refinery in question is neces-
sary, albeit only temporarily, for the purpose of 
ensuring that enough of the refinery’s produc-
tion can be marketed so as to guarantee, in the 
interest of public security, a minimum supply 
of petroleum products to the state concerned 
in the event of a supply crisis.

46. That obligation could be necessary if the dis-
tributors that hold the major share of the mar-
ket concerned refuse, as the irish government 
contends, to purchase supplies from the re-
finery in question. It is on the assumption that 
the refinery charges prices which are competi-
tive on the market concerned that it must be 
determined whether the refinery’s products 
could be freely marketed. If it is not possible 
by means of industrial and commercial meas-
ures to avoid any financial losses resulting from 
such prices, those losses must be borne by the 
member state concerned, subject to the appli-
cation of articles 92 and 93 of the Treaty.

47. As regards, in the next place, the quantities of 
petroleum products which may, as the case 

may be, be covered by such a system of pur-
chasing obligations, it should be stressed that 
they must in no case exceed the minimum 
supply requirements of the state concerned 
without which its public security, as defined 
above, and in particular the operation of its 
essential public services and the survival of its 
inhabitants, would be affected.

48. Furthermore, the quantities of petroleum 
products whose marketing can be ensured un-
der such a system must not exceed the quanti-
ties which are necessary, so far as production 
is concerned, on the one hand, for technical 
reasons in order that the refinery may operate 
currently at a sufficient level of its production 
capacity to ensure that its plant will be avail-
able in the event of a crisis and, on the other 
hand, in order that it may continue to refine 
at all times the crude oil covered by the long-
term contracts which the state concerned has 
entered into so that it may be assured of regu-
lar supplies.

49. The proportion of the total needs of import-
ers of petroleum products that may be made 
subject to a purchasing obligation must not, 
therefore, exceed the proportion which the 
quantities set out above represent of the cur-
rent total consumption of petroleum products 
in the member state concerned.

50. It is for the national court to decide whether 
the system etablished by the 1982 order com-
plies with those limits.

51. The answer to the second question should 
therefore be that a member state which is 
totally or almost totally dependent on im-
ports for its supplies of petroleum products 
may rely on grounds of public security within 
the meaning of article 36 of the Treaty for the 
purpose of requiring importers to cover a cer-
tain proportion of their needs by purchases 
from a refinery situated in its territory at prices 
fixed by the competent minister on the basis 
of the costs incurred in the operation of that 
refinery, if the production of the refinery can-
not be freely disposed of at competitive prices 
on the market concerned. The quantities of 
petroleum products covered by such a system 
must not exceed the minimum supply require-
ment without which the public security of the 
state concerned would be affected or the level 
of production necessary to keep the refinery’s 
production capacity available in the event of a 
crisis and to enable it to continue to refine at all 
times the crude oil for the supply of which the 
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state concerned has entered into long-term 
contracts.

Costs
52. The costs incurred by the greek government, 

the united kingdom and the commission of the 
european communities, which have submitted 
observations to the court, are not recoverable. 
As these proceedings are, in so far as the par-
ties to the main action are concerned, in the 
nature of a step in the action pending before 
the national court, the decision as to costs is a 
matter for that court.

OPERATIVE PART

On those grounds, The court, in answer to the 
questions referred to it by the high court of Ireland, 
by order of 9 december 1982, hereby rules: 

1. Article 30 of the EEC Treaty must be interpret-
ed as meaning that national rules that require 
all importers to purchase a certain proportion 
of their requirements of petroleum products 
from a refinery situated in the national terri-
tory constitute a measure having equivalent 
effect to a quantitative restriction on imports.

2. A member state which is totally or almost to-
tally dependent on imports for its supplies of 
petroleum products may rely on grounds of 
public security within the meaning of article 
36 of the Treaty for the purpose of requir-
ing importers to cover a certain proportion 
of their needs by purchases from a refinery 
situated in its territory at prices fixed by the 
competent minister on the basis of the costs 
incurred in the operation of that refinery, 
if the production of the refinery cannot be 
freely disposed of at competitive prices on 
the market in question. The quantities of pe-
troleum products covered by such a system 
must not exceed the minimum supply re-
quirements without which the public security 
of the state concerned would be affected or 
the level of production necessary to keep the 
refinery’s production capacity available in the 
event of a crisis and to enable it to continue to 
refine at all times the crude oil for the supply 
of which the state has entered into long-term 
contracts.
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SUMMARY

1. Article 113 of the Treaty must be interpreted 
as meaning that a measure restricting exports 
to non-member countries of certain products 
capable of being used for military purposes 
falls within its scope and that the Community 
enjoys exclusive competence in that matter, 
which excludes the competence of the Mem-
ber States save where the Community grants 
them specific authorization. 

The concept of the common commercial 
policy provided for in Article 113 must not be 
interpreted restrictively, so as to avoid distur-
bances in intra-Community trade by reason of 

the disparities to which a narrow interpretation 
of that policy would give rise in certain sec-
tors of economic relations with non-member 
countries. Nor may a Member State restrict 
the scope of that concept by freely deciding, 
in the light of its own foreign policy or security 
requirements, whether a measure is covered 
by that article. 

2. Although Article 1 of Regulation No 2603/69, 
establishing common rules for exports in the 
context of the common commercial policy, 
lays down the principle of freedom of exporta-
tion, Article 11 of that regulation provides that 
it does not preclude the adoption or applica-
tion by a Member State of quantitative restric-
tions on exports that are justified, inter alia, on 
grounds of public security. That derogation 
must be understood as applying also to meas-
ures having equivalent effect and as referring 
to both internal and external security. 

Consequently, Community law does not pre-
clude national provisions applicable to trade 
with non-member countries under which the 
export of a product capable of being used for 
military purposes is subject to the issue of a li-
cence on the ground that this is necessary in 
order to avoid the risk of a serious disturbance 
to its foreign relations which may affect the 
public security of a Member State within the 
meaning of the abovementioned Article 11. 

PARTIES

REFERENCE to the Court under Article 177 of the 
EC Treaty by the Verwaltungsgericht Frankfurt am 
Main (Germany) for a preliminary ruling in the pro-
ceedings pending before that court between 

Fritz Werner Industrie-Ausruestungen GmbH 

and Federal Republic of Germany, 

on the interpretation of Article 113 of the EC Treaty, 

THE COURT, 

composed of: G.C. Rodríguez Iglesias, President, 
C.N. Kakouris, D.A.O. Edward, J.-P. Puissochet and G. 
Hirsch (Presidents of Chambers), G.F. Mancini, F.A. 
Schockweiler, J.C. Moitinho de Almeida, P.J.G. Ka-
pteyn (Rapporteur), C. Gulmann, J.L. Murray, P. Jann 
and H. Ragnemalm, Judges, Advocate General: F.G. 
Jacobs, Registrar: D. Louterman-Hubeau, Principal 
Administrator, 

after considering the written observations submit-
ted on behalf of: 

Case C-70/94 Fritz Werner Industrie-Ausrüstungen GmbH v Federal Republic of Germany
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• the German Government, by Ernst Roeder, 
Ministerialrat at the Federal Ministry of Eco-
nomic Affairs, and Bernd Kloke, Regierung-
srat at the same Ministry, acting as Agents, 

• the French Government, by Catherine de 
Salins, Deputy Director in the Legal Affairs 
Directorate of the Ministry for Foreign Af-
fairs, and Hubert Renié, Principal Deputy 
Secretary in the same Directorate, acting as 
Agents, 

• the United Kingdom, by John E. Collins, As-
sistant Treasury Solicitor, acting as Agent, 
Stephen Richards and Rhodri Thompson, 
Barristers, 

• the Commission of the European Commu-
nities, by Peter Gilsdorf, Principal Legal Ad-
viser, and Joern Sack, Legal Adviser, acting 
as Agents, 

• having regard to the Report for the Hearing, 
 
after hearing the oral observations of Fritz Werner 
Industrie-Ausruestungen GmbH, represented by 
Peter Keil, Rechtsanwalt, Frankfurt on Main, the 
German Government, the Greek Government, rep-
resented by Panagiotis Kamarineas, State Legal Ad-
viser, and Galateia Alexaki, Advocate in the special 
service for contentious Community affairs at the 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, acting as Agents, the 
Spanish Government, represented by Rosario Silva 
de Lapuerta, Abogado del Estado, of the Legal Ser-
vice representing the Spanish Government before 
the Court of Justice, acting as Agent, the French 
Government, represented by Philippe Martinet, 
Secretary for Foreign Affairs at the Directorate of 
Legal Affairs of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, acting 
as Agent, the United Kingdom and the Commission 
at the hearing on 21 March 1995, after hearing the 
Opinion of the Advocate General at the sitting on 
18 May 1995, gives the following Judgment 

GROUNDS

1. By order of 4 February 1994, received at 
the Court on 22 February 1994, the Verwal-
tungsgericht (Administrative Court) Frankfurt 
am Main referred to the Court for a preliminary 
ruling under Article 177 of the EC Treaty a ques-
tion on the interpretation of Article 113 of the 
Treaty. 

2. That question was raised in proceedings be-
tween Fritz Werner Industrie-Ausruestungen 
GmbH (hereinafter "Werner") and the Federal 
Republic of Germany, represented by the Fed-
eral Minister for Economic Affairs, himself rep-

resented by the Bundesausfuhramt (Federal 
Export Office). 

3. Werner had received an order to supply a 
vacuum-induction smelting and cast oven 
as well as induction spools for that oven to 
Libya, where, between 1979 and 1982, it had 
installed a repair shop with a foundry. In the 
course of 1991 it applied to the Bundesamt 
fuer Wirtschaft (Federal Office for Economic 
Affairs, hereinafter "the Bundesamt") for a li-
cence to export the goods to Libya. However, a 
licence was refused on the ground that supply-
ing those goods would seriously jeopardize the 
interests to be protected under Paragraph 7 of 
the Aussenwirtschaftsgesetz (Law on Foreign 
Trade) (hereinafter "the AWG"), subparagraph 1 
of which provides: 
"Legaltransactionsandactivitiesinthesphere
offoreigntrademaybecurtailedinorderto:

1. guarantee the security of the Federal Re-
publicofGermany;

2.preventdisturbancetothepeacefulco-ex-
istenceofnations;

3.preventtheexternalrelationsoftheFederal
RepublicofGermanyfrombeingseriouslydis-
rupted."

4. Under Paragraph 2 of the AWG the Govern-
ment is empowered to prescribe by regulation 
which legal transactions and activities may be 
prohibited or require a licence. In that context, 
Annex AL of the Aussenwirtschaftsverordnung 
of 18 December 1986 (BGBl. I, p. 2671) (Regula-
tion on Foreign Trade, hereinafter "the AWV") 
specified the goods for which a licence was 
required; under Article 27 of the AWG it is pos-
sible to amend or supplement that annex by 
regulation. The 76th Regulation of 11 Septem-
ber 1991, which is relevant in the main pro-
ceedings, added item nos. 1204 and 1356, un-
der which the following are subject to licence; 
"1204

Vacuumorinert-gasfurnacessuitableforop-
eratingtemperaturesofmorethan1073K(800
C),speciallyconstructedcomponents,adjust-
mentandguidingdevicesandspeciallydevel-
opedsoftwareforsuchfurnaces.Components
orinstallationsifthepurchasingordestination
countryisLibya.

1356

Coilingmachineswhosemovementsforposi-
tioning,winding,orrollingupcanbecoordi-
natedandprogrammed,suitableforthepro-
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ductionofcompoundmaterialstructuresand
steeringdevicesforcoordinatingorprogram-
ming,speciallyconstructedcomponents,spe-
cially constructed accessories and specially
developedsoftwareinthatconnection,ifthe
countryofpurchaseordestinationisLibya."

5. The Federal Minister for Economic Affairs 
stated that the introduction of that licensing 
requirement was intended to prevent furnac-
es and coiling machines from being used for 
military purposes, in particular in Libya’s missile 
development programme. 

6. When the Federal Export Office rejected its 
objection to the decision of the Bundesamt, 
Werner brought an action before the Verwal-
tungsgericht Frankfurt am Main. According to 
the Verwaltungsgericht, the arguments put 
forward by the Federal Export Office seem to 
be based more on grounds concerning the 
reputation of the Federal Republic of Germa-
ny than on considerations of public security: 
so the Federal Republic of Germany could be 
prevented from adopting its own measures 
prohibiting exports only if the common com-
mercial policy covered commercial measures 
which, although affecting trade, were primarily 
intended to achieve foreign policy aims or ob-
jectives. The national court therefore decided 
to stay the proceedings and submit the fol-
lowing question to the Court for a preliminary 
ruling: 
"DoesArticle 113of the EECTreatypreclude
nationalprovisionsonforeigntraderequiring
alicencefortheexportofavacuum-induction
oven toLibyawhich in thepresentcasewas
refusedonthegroundthatsucharefusalwas
necessaryinordertoprotectthepublicsecu-
rityoftheMemberStateowingtoafeareddis-
ruptionofforeignrelations?"

7. It is therefore apparent from the order for refer-
ence that the national court is seeking clarifica-
tion of the scope of Article 113 of the Treaty. 
More particularly, it asks whether the common 
commercial policy solely concerns meas-
ures which pursue commercial objectives, or 
whether it also covers commercial measures 
having foreign policy and security objectives. 

8. Article 113 of the Treaty provides that the 
common commercial policy is to be based 
on uniform principles, particularly in regard to 
changes in tariff rates, the conclusion of tariff 
and trade agreements, the achievement of 
uniformity in measures of liberalization, export 
policy and measures to protect trade. 

9. Implementation of such a common commer-
cial policy requires a non-restrictive interpreta-
tion of that concept, so as to avoid disturbanc-
es in intra-Community trade by reason of the 
disparities which would then exist in certain 
sectors of economic relations with non-mem-
ber countries (see Opinion 1/78 of the Court 
[1979] ECR 2871, paragraph 45). 

10. So, a measure such as that described in the na-
tional court’s question, whose effect is to pre-
vent or restrict the export of certain products, 
cannot be treated as falling outside the scope 
of the common commercial policy on the 
ground that it has foreign policy and security 
objectives. 

11. The specific subject-matter of commercial 
policy, which concerns trade with non-mem-
ber countries and, according to Article 113, 
is based on the concept of a common policy, 
requires that a Member State should not be 
able to restrict its scope by freely deciding, in 
the light of its own foreign policy or security 
requirements, whether a measure is covered 
by Article 113. 

12. Since full responsibility for commercial policy 
was transferred to the Community by Arti-
cle 113(1), national measures of commercial 
policy are therefore permissible only if they 
are specifically authorized by the Commu-
nity (judgments in Case 41/76 Donckerwolke 
v Procureur de la République [1976] ECR 1921, 
paragraph 32, and Case 174/84 Bulk Oil v Sun 
International [1986] ECR 559, paragraph 31). 

13. The export of goods from the Community to 
non-member countries is therefore governed 
by Council Regulation (EEC) No 2603/69 of 20 
December 1969 establishing common rules for 
exports (OJ, English Special Edition 1969 (II), p. 
590, hereinafter "the Export Regulation"). 

14. Article 1 of the Export Regulation provides that: 
"The exportation of products from the Euro-
pean Economic Community to third countries 
shall be free, that is to say, they shall not be 
subject to any quantitative restriction, with the 
exception of those restrictions which are ap-
plied in conformity with the provisions of this 
Regulation." 

15. Article 11 of the Export Regulation provides for 
such an exception by providing that: "Without 
prejudice to other Community provisions, this 
Regulation shall not preclude the adoption or 
application by a Member State of quantitative 
restrictions on exports on grounds of public 
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morality, public policy or public security; the 
protection of health and life of humans, ani-
mals or plants; the protection of national treas-
ures possessing artistic, historic or archaeo-
logical value, or the protection of industrial and 
commercial property." 

16. The first question to be examined, therefore, 
is whether national measures, such as those 
at issue, fall within the scope of the Export 
Regulation and then whether such measures, 
adopted on the ground that they are necessary 
in order to protect the security of a Member 
State because of the risk of a disturbance to its 
foreign relations, are permitted under Article 
11 of the Export Regulation. 

17. The German Government doubts that the re-
quirement to obtain a licence constitutes a 
quantitative restriction; rather, on its view, the 
Export Regulation prohibits only quantitative 
restrictions on imports and not measures hav-
ing equivalent effect. 

18. That view cannot be accepted. 

19. It is true that Article 34 of the Treaty, which 
concerns the free movement of goods with-
in the Community, distinguishes between 
quantitative restrictions and measures having 
equivalent effect. 

20. However, it does not follow that the concept 
of quantitative restrictions used in a regula-
tion concerning trade between the Com-
munity and non-member countries must be 
interpreted as excluding any measure having 
equivalent effect within the meaning of Article 
34 of the Treaty. 

21. As the Court has emphasized in previous judg-
ments, in interpreting a provision of Commu-
nity law it is necessary to consider not only its 
wording but also the context in which it occurs 
and the objectives of the rules of which it is 
part (Case 292/82 Merck v Hauptzollamt Ham-
burg-Jonas [1983] ECR 3781, paragraph 12, and 
Case 337/82 St Nikolaus Brennerei v Hauptzol-
lamt Krefeld [1984] ECR 1051, paragraph 10). 

22. A regulation based on Article 113 of the Treaty, 
whose objective is to implement the principle 
of free exportation at the Community level, as 
stated in Article 1 of the Export Regulation, can-
not exclude from its scope measures adopted 
by the Member States whose effect is equiva-
lent to a quantitative restriction where their ap-
plication may lead, as in the present case, to an 
export prohibition. 

23. Moreover, that finding is supported by Article 
XI of the General Agreement on Tariffs and 
Trade, which can be considered to be relevant 
for the purposes of interpreting a Community 
instrument governing international trade. That 
article, headed "General Elimination of Quanti-
tative Restrictions", refers in its first paragraph 
to "prohibitions or restrictions other than du-
ties, taxes or other charges, whether made 
effective through quotas, import or export li-
cences or other measures". 

24. It must therefore be examined whether such 
measures, adopted on the ground that they 
are necessary for the protection of the security 
of a Member State because of the risk of distur-
bance to its foreign relations, are permissible 
under Article 11 of the Export Regulation. 

25. It follows from the Court’s judgment in Case 
C-367/89 Richardt and "Les Accessoires Sci-
entifiques" [1991] ECR I-4621, paragraph 22) 
that the concept of public security within the 
meaning of Article 36 of the Treaty covers both 
a Member State’s internal security and its ex-
ternal security. To interpret the concept more 
restrictively when it is used in Article 11 of the 
Export Regulation would be tantamount to 
authorizing the Member States to restrict the 
movement of goods within the internal market 
more than movement between themselves 
and non-member countries. 

26. As the Advocate General stated in point 41 of 
his Opinion, it is difficult to draw a hard and fast 
distinction between foreign-policy and securi-
ty-policy considerations. Moreover, as he ob-
serves in point 46, it is becoming increasingly 
less possible to look at the security of a State in 
isolation, since it is closely linked to the security 
of the international community at large, and of 
its various components. 

27. So, the risk of a serious disturbance to foreign 
relations or to peaceful coexistence of nations 
may affect the security of a Member State. 

28. Although it is for the national court to decide 
whether Article 11, as interpreted by the Court 
of Justice, applies to the facts and measures 
which it is called on to appraise, it should, how-
ever, be observed that it is common ground 
that the exportation of goods capable of be-
ing used for military purposes to a country at 
war with another country may affect the public 
security of a Member State within the meaning 
referred to above (see the judgment in Case 
C-367/89 Richardt and "Les Accessoires Scien-
tifiques", cited above, paragraph 22). 
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29. The answer to the question submitted by the 
national court must therefore be that Article 
113 of the Treaty, and in particular Article 11 
of the Export Regulation, do not preclude na-
tional provisions applicable to trade with non-
member countries under which the export of a 
product capable of being used for military pur-
poses is subject to the issue of a licence on the 
ground that this is necessary in order to avoid 
the risk of a serious disturbance to its foreign 
relations which may affect the public security 
of a Member State within the meaning of Arti-
cle 11 of the Export Regulation. 

Costs
30. The costs incurred by the German, Greek, 

Spanish and French Governments, the United 
Kingdom and the Commission of the European 
Communities, which have submitted observa-
tions to the Court, are not recoverable. Since 
these proceedings are, for the parties to the 
main proceedings, a step in the action pend-
ing before the national court, the decision on 
costs is a matter for that court. 

OPERATIVE PART

On those grounds, 

THE COURT, 

in answer to the question referred to it by the Ver-
waltungsgericht Frankfurt am Main, by order of 4 
February 1994, hereby rules: 

Article 113 of the EC Treaty, and in particular Arti-
cle 11 of Council Regulation (EEC) No 2603/69 of 
20 December 1969 establishing common rules for 
exports, do not preclude national provisions appli-
cable to trade with non-member countries under 
which the export of a product capable of being 
used for military purposes is subject to the issue 
of a licence on the ground that this is necessary 
in order to avoid the risk of a serious disturbance 
to its foreign relations which may affect the public 
security of a Member State within the meaning of 
Article 11 of the regulation. 
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ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS, LIMITATIONS TO ACCESS TO 
DOCUMENTS, PROTECTION OF THE PUBLIC INTEREST, 
CONCEPT OF PUBLIC SECURITY

Judgment of the Court of first Instance (fourth 
Chamber, extended composition) of 17 June 1998

CAsE t-174/95 sVEnsKA 
JoURnALIstFÖRBUnDEt 
V CoUnCIL oF tHE  
EURoPEAn UnIon
Access to information - Council Decision 93/731/
EC - Refusal of an application for access to Council 
documents - Action for annulment - Admissibility - 
Title vI of the Treaty on European union - Scope of 
the exception concerning the protection of public 
security - Confidentiality of the Council's proceed-
ings - Statement of reasons - Publication of the de-
fence on the Internet - Abuse of procedure

European Court reports 1998 Page II-02289

KEYWORDS

1. Procedure - Time-limits - Community rules - 
Need for strict application - Extension on ac-
count of distance of time-limits for Sweden 
(Rules of Procedure of the Court of Justice, An-
nex II, Art. 1) 

2. Actions for annulment - Interest in bringing 
proceedings - Applicant challenging a decision 
refusing to grant it access to an institution's 
documents (EC Treaty, Art. 173, fourth para.; 
Council Decision 93/731) 

3. Procedure - Intervention - Objection as to ad-
missibility not raised by the defendant - Inad-
missibility - Absolute bar to proceeding - Ex-
amination by the Court of its own motion (EC 
Statute of the Court of Justice, Arts 37, third 
para., and 46; Rules of Procedure of the Court 
of First Instance, Art. 113) 

4. Actions for annulment - Jurisdiction of the 
Community judicature - Decision refusing to 
grant public access to documents covered by 
Title VI of the Treaty on European Union (EC 
Treaty, Art. 173, fourth para.; Treaty on Euro-
pean Union, Arts K to K.9 and L; Council Deci-

sion 93/731) 

5. Acts of the institutions - Statement of reasons 
- Obligation - Scope - Decision refusing public 
access to an institution's documents (EC Treaty, 
Art. 190; Council Decision 93/731, Art. 4) 

6. Procedure - Procedure before the Court of First 
Instance - Protection for parties against misuse 
of pleadings and evidence - General principle 
in the due administration of justice - Scope 
(Rules of Procedure of the Court of First In-
stance, Art. 116(2); Instructions to the Registrar 
of the Court of First Instance, Art. 5(3)) 

SUMMARY

1. The Community rules governing procedural 
time-limits must be strictly observed both in 
the interest of legal certainty and in order to 
avoid any discrimination or arbitrary treatment 
in the administration of justice. Accordingly, 
while Article 1 of Annex II to the Rules of Pro-
cedure of the Court of Justice provided for a 
10-day extension on account of distance for 
certain designated countries, of which Sweden 
was not one, the extension on account of dis-
tance applicable to that Member State could 
only be the two weeks applicable to all other 
European countries and territories.

2. A person who is refused access by the Council 
to a Council document has, by virtue of that 
very fact, established an interest in the annul-
ment of the decision refusing him such access. 

The objective of Decision 93/731 on public ac-
cess to Council documents is to give effect to 
the principle of the largest possible access for 
citizens to information with a view to strength-
ening the democratic character of the institu-
tions and the trust of the public in the adminis-
tration. It does not require that members of the 
public must put forward reasons for seeking 
access to requested documents. The fact that 
the requested documents were already in the 
public domain is irrelevant in this connection. 

3. Under the final paragraph of Article 37 of the 
EC Statute of the Court of Justice, applicable 
to the Court of First Instance by virtue of Ar-
ticle 46 thereof, an application to intervene is 
to be limited to supporting the form of order 
sought by one of the parties. An intervener is 
not therefore entitled to raise an objection as 
to admissibility that was not raised in its writ-
ten pleadings and the Court is not therefore 
obliged to consider the submissions it has 

Case T-174/95 Svenska Journalistförbundet v Council of the  
European Union
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made in that regard. 

However, under Article 113 of the Rules of 
Procedure, the Court of First Instance may at 
any time, of its own motion, consider whether 
there exists any absolute bar to proceeding 
with a case, including any raised by interveners. 

4. The Court of First Instance has jurisdiction 
to entertain an action for the annulment of a 
Council decision refusing the applicant access 
to documents, even if those documents were 
adopted on the basis of the provisions of Title 
VI of the Treaty on European Union concerning 
cooperation in the fields of justice and home 
affairs. 

First, Articles 1(2) and 2(2) of Decision 93/731 
on public access to Council documents ex-
pressly provide that the Decision is to apply 
to all Council documents; it therefore applies 
irrespective of the contents of the documents 
requested. Secondly, since, pursuant to Article 
K.8(1) of the EU Treaty, measures adopted pur-
suant to Article 151(3) of the EC Treaty, which 
is the legal basis for Decision 93/731, are ap-
plicable to measures within the scope of Title 
VI of the EU Treaty, in the absence of any provi-
sion to the contrary, Decision 93/731 applies to 
documents relating to Title VI and the fact that 
the Court has, by virtue of Article L of the EU 
Treaty, no jurisdiction to review the legality of 
measures adopted under Title VI does not cur-
tail its jurisdiction in the matter of public access 
to those measures. 

5. The duty, pursuant to Article 190 of the Treaty, 
to state reasons in individual decisions has 
the double purpose of permitting, on the one 
hand, interested parties to know the reasons 
for the adoption of the measure so that they 
can protect their own interests and, on the 
other hand, enabling the Community court to 
exercise its jurisdiction to review the validity of 
the decision. In the case of a Council decision 
refusing to grant public access to documents, 
the statement of reasons must therefore con-
tain - at least for each category of documents 
concerned - the particular reasons for which 
the Council considers that disclosure of the 
requested documents comes within the scope 
of one of the exceptions provided for in Article 
4(1) and (2) of Decision 93/731 relating, first, to 
the protection of the public interest, and sec-
ondly, to the confidentiality of the Council's 
proceedings. 

A decision refusing the applicant access to a 
number of Council documents that indicates 

only that disclosure of the documents in ques-
tion would prejudice the protection of the 
public interest (public security) and that the 
documents relate to proceedings of the Coun-
cil, including the views expressed by members 
of the Council, and for that reason fall within 
the scope of the duty of confidentiality, does 
not satisfy the above requirements and must 
therefore be annulled. 

First, in the absence of any explanation as to 
why the disclosure of those documents would 
in fact be liable to prejudice a particular aspect 
of public security, it is not possible for the ap-
plicant to know the reasons for the adoption 
of the measures and therefore to defend its 
interests. It follows that it is also impossible 
for the Court to assess why the documents to 
which access was refused fall within the excep-
tion based upon the protection of the public 
interest (public security) and not within the 
exception based upon the protection of the 
confidentiality of the Council's proceedings. 
Secondly, as regards the latter exception, the 
terms of the decision do not permit the appli-
cant or, therefore, the Court to check whether 
the Council has complied with its duty, under 
Article 4(2) of Decision 93/731, to make a com-
parative analysis which seeks to balance, on 
the one hand, the interest of the citizens seek-
ing the information and, on the other hand, 
the confidentiality of the proceedings of the 
Council. 

6. The rules which govern procedure in cases 
before the Court of First Instance, including 
the third subparagraph of Article 5(3) of the 
Instructions to the Registrar and Article 116(2) 
of the Rules of Procedure, under which parties 
are entitled to protection against the misuse 
of pleadings and evidence, reflect a general 
principle in the due administration of justice 
according to which parties have the right to 
defend their interests free from all external 
influences and particularly from influences on 
the part of members of the public. 

It follows that a party who is granted access to 
the procedural documents of other parties is 
entitled to use those documents only for the 
purpose of pursuing his own case and for no 
other purpose, including that of inciting criti-
cism on the part of the public in relation to ar-
guments raised by other parties in the case. 

PARTIES

Svenska Journalistförbundet, an association gov-
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erned by Swedish law, established in Stockholm, 
represented by Onno W. Brouwer, of the Amster-
dam Bar, and Frédéric P. Louis, of the Brussels Bar, 
assisted by Deirdre Curtin, Professor at the Univer-
sity of Utrecht, with an address for service in Lux-
embourg at the Chambers of Loesch and Wolter, 11 
Rue Goethe, applicant, supported by 

Kingdom of Sweden, represented by Lotty Nord-
ling, Director-General of the Legal Service of the 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, acting as Agent, 

Kingdom of Denmark, represented by Peter Biering, 
Head of Department in the Ministry of Foreign Af-
fairs, and Laurids Mikælsen, Ambassador, acting as 
Agents, with an address for service in Luxembourg 
at the Danish Embassy, 4 Boulevard Royal, and 

Kingdom of the Netherlands, represented by Marc 
Fierstra and Johannes Steven van den Oosterkamp, 
Legal Advisers, acting as Agents, with an address 
for service in Luxembourg at the Embassy of the 
Netherlands, 5 Rue C.M. Spoo, interveners, 

v 

Council of the European Union, represented by 
Giorgio Maganza and Diego Canga Fano, Legal Ad-
visers, acting as Agents, with an address for service 
in Luxembourg at the office of Alessandro Morbilli, 
Manager of the Legal Affairs Directorate of the Eu-
ropean Investment Bank, 100 Boulevard Konrad 
Adenauer, defendant, supported by 

French Republic, represented by Catherine de Sa-
lins, Assistant Director in the Legal Department of 
the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and Denys Wibaux, 
Secretary for Foreign Affairs in the same Ministry, 
acting as Agents, with an address for service in 
Luxembourg at the French Embassy, 8B Boulevard 
Joseph II, and 

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ire-
land, represented by John Collins, of the Treasury 
Solicitor's Department, acting as Agent, with an ad-
dress for service in Luxembourg at the British Em-
bassy, 14 Boulevard Roosevelt, interveners, 

APPLICATION for the annulment of the Council's 
decision of 6 July 1995 refusing the applicant ac-
cess to certain documents concerning the Europe-
an Police Office (Europol), requested under Council 
Decision 93/731/EC of 20 December 1993 on public 
access to Council documents (OJ 1993 L 340, p. 43), 

THE COURT OF FIRST INSTANCE OF THE EUROPEAN 
COMMUNITIES 

(Fourth Chamber, Extended Composition), 

composed of: K. Lenaerts, President, P. Lindh, J. 

Azizi, J.D. Cooke and M. Jaeger, Judges, Registrar: 
H. Jung, 

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 17 September 1997, gives the fol-
lowing Judgment 

GROUNDS

1. In the Final Act of the Treaty on European Un-
ion (‘the EU Treaty'), signed in Maastricht on 7 
February 1992, the Member States incorporat-
ed a Declaration (No 17) on the right of access 
to information, in the following terms:
‘The Conference considers that transparency
of the decision-making process strengthens
thedemocraticnatureoftheinstitutionsand
thepublic'sconfidenceintheadministration.
TheConferenceaccordinglyrecommendsthat
theCommissionsubmittotheCouncilnolater
than1993a reportonmeasuresdesignedto
improve public access to the information
availabletotheinstitutions.'

2. On 8 June 1993 the Commission published 
Communication 93/C 156/05 on public access 
to the institutions' documents (OJ 1993 C 156, 
p. 5), which had been submitted to the Coun-
cil, the Parliament and the Economic and Social 
Committee on 5 May 1993. On 17 June 1993 
it published Communication 93/C 166/04 on 
openness in the Community (OJ 1993 C 166, 
p. 4), which had also been submitted to the 
Council, the Parliament and the Economic and 
Social Committee on 2 June 1993. 

3. On 6 December 1993 the Council and the Com-
mission approved a Code of Conduct concern-
ing public access to Council and Commission 
documents (OJ 1993 L 340, p. 41, hereinafter 
the ‘Code of Conduct'), and each undertook to 
take steps to implement the principles thereby 
laid down before 1 January 1994. 

4. In order to put that undertaking into effect, the 
Council adopted on 20 December 1993 Deci-
sion 93/731/EC on public access to Council 
documents (OJ 1993 L 340, p. 43, hereinafter 
‘Decision 93/731'), the aim of which was to 
implement the principles established by the 
Code of Conduct. It adopted that decision 
on the basis of Article 151(3) of the EC Treaty, 
which states that ‘[t]he Council shall adopt its 
Rules of Procedure'. 

5. Article 1 of Decision 93/731 provides: 
‘1. The public shall have access to Council
documentsundertheconditionslaiddownin
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thisDecision.

2. "Council document" means any written
text, whatever its medium, containing exist-
ingdata andheldby theCouncil, subject to
Article2(2).'

6. Article 2(2) provides that applications for docu-
ments the author of which is not the Council 
must be sent directly to the author. 

7. Article 4(1) of Decision 93/731 provides: 
‘Access to a Council document shall not be
grantedwhereitsdisclosurecouldundermine:

- theprotectionofthepublic interest (public
security, international relations, monetary
stability, court proceedings, inspections and
investigations),

- the protection of the individual andof pri-
vacy,

-theprotectionofcommercialandindustrial
secrecy,

-theprotectionoftheCommunity'sfinancial
interests,

-theprotectionofconfidentialityasrequested
by the natural or legal personwho supplied
anyoftheinformationcontainedinthedocu-
mentoras requiredby the legislationof the
MemberStatewhichsuppliedanyofthat in-
formation.'

8. Article 4(2) adds that ‘[a]ccess to a Council doc-
ument may be refused in order to protect the 
confidentiality of the Council's proceedings.' 

9. Articles 2(1), 3, 5 and 6 of Decision 93/731 set 
out in particular the procedure for submitting 
applications for access to documents and the 
procedure to be followed by the Council when 
replying to such applications. 

10. Article 7 provides: 
‘1.Theapplicantshallbe informed inwriting
withinamonthby the relevantdepartments
of theGeneral Secretariat either that his ap-
plicationhasbeenapprovedorthattheinten-
tionistorejectit.Inthelattercase,theappli-
cantshallalsobeinformedofthereasonsfor
this intentionand thathehasonemonth to
makeaconfirmatoryapplicationforthatposi-
tion tobe reconsidered, failingwhichhewill
bedeemedtohavewithdrawnhisoriginalap-
plication.

2. Failure to reply to an applicationwithin a
monthofsubmissionshallbeequivalenttoa
refusal, except where the applicantmakes a
confirmatoryapplication,asreferredtoabove,

withinthefollowingmonth.

3. Any decision to reject a confirmatory ap-
plication,whichshallbetakenwithinamonth
of submissionof suchapplication, shall state
thegroundsonwhich it is based. The appli-
cantshallbenotifiedofthedecisioninwriting
assoonaspossibleandat thesametime in-
formedofthecontentofArticles138eand173
oftheTreatyestablishingtheEuropeanCom-
munity,relatingrespectivelytotheconditions
forreferraltotheOmbudsmanbynaturalper-
sonsandreviewbytheCourtofJusticeofthe
legalityofCouncilacts.

4.Failure to replywithinamonthofsubmis-
sion of the confirmatory application shall be
equivalenttoarefusal.'

The facts 
11. Following Sweden's accession to the Euro-

pean Union on 1 January 1995, the applicant 
decided to test the way in which the Swedish 
authorities applied Swedish citizens' right of 
access to information in respect of documents 
relating to European Union activities. For that 
purpose it contacted 46 Swedish authorities, 
among whom were the Swedish Ministry of 
Justice and the national Police Authority (Rik-
spolisstyrelsen), seeking access to a number of 
Council documents relating to the setting up 
of the European Police Office (hereinafter ‘Eu-
ropol'), including eight documents held by the 
national Police Authority and 12 held by the 
Ministry of Justice. In response to its requests 
the applicant was granted access to 18 of the 
20 documents requested. It was refused access 
by the Ministry of Justice to two documents on 
the ground that they concerned the negotiat-
ing positions of the Netherlands and German 
Governments. Furthermore, certain passages 
in the documents to which access was granted 
had been deleted. In some documents it was 
difficult to ascertain whether passages had 
been deleted or not. 

12. On 2 May 1995 the applicant also applied to 
the Council for access to the same 20 docu-
ments. 

13. By letter dated 1 June 1995, the Council's Gen-
eral Secretariat allowed access to two docu-
ments only, those being documents which 
contained communications by the future 
French Presidency of its priorities in the field 
of asylum and immigration and in the field of 
justice. Access to the other 18 documents was 
refused on the ground that ‘documents 1 to 
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15 and 18 to 20 are subject to the principle of 
confidentiality as laid down in Article 4(1) of 
Decision 93/731'. 

14. On 8 June 1995 the applicant submitted a con-
firmatory application to the Council in order to 
obtain reexamination of the decision refusing 
access. 

15. The competent department of the Council's 
General Secretariat, together with the Council's 
Legal Service, then prepared a note for the at-
tention of the Information Working Party of the 
Permanent Representatives' Committee (here-
inafter ‘Coreper') and the Council. A draft reply, 
together with the exchange of correspond-
ence that had taken place previously between 
the applicant and the General Secretariat, was 
distributed with a note dated 15 May 1995 
prepared by Mr Elsen, Director-General of the 
Council's Justice and Home Affairs Directorate 
(DG H), when the first application was being 
examined (hereinafter ‘Mr Elsen's note'). That 
note provided a brief summary of the contents 
of the documents and a preliminary assess-
ment as to whether they could be released. 
It was communicated to the applicant for the 
first time in the course of the present proceed-
ings as an annex to the Council's defence. On 
3 July 1995 the Information Working Party de-
cided to release two other documents but to 
refuse access to the remaining 16. At a meeting 
on 5 July 1995 Coreper approved the terms of 
the draft reply proposed by the Working Party. 

16. The Council points out that all the documents 
concerned were at the disposal of the mem-
bers of the Council and that copies of the 
documents were also available for examina-
tion at the Information Working Party meeting 
of 3 July. 

17. After the Coreper meeting, the Council replied 
to the confirmatory application by a letter dat-
ed 6 July 1995 (hereinafter ‘the contested deci-
sion'), in which it agreed to grant access to two 
other documents but rejected the application 
for the remaining 16 documents. 

18. It explained that: 

‘[i]n the Council's opinion access to those
documents cannotbegrantedbecause their
release couldbeharmful to thepublic inter-
est (public security) and because they relate
to the Council's proceedings, including the
positionstakenbythemembersoftheCoun-
cil, andare therefore coveredby thedutyof
confidentiality.

Lastly, Iwould like todrawyourattention to
theprovisionsofArticles138eand173ofthe
ECTreatyconcerning,respectively,thecondi-
tions governing the lodging of a complaint
with the Ombudsman and the institution of
proceedingsbefore theCourtof Justicebya
naturalpersonagainstactsoftheCouncil.'

Procedure 
19. By application lodged at the Registry of the 

Court of First Instance on 22 September 1995 
the applicant instituted this action. 

20. By a letter lodged on 9 February 1996, the Eu-
ropean Parliament sought leave to intervene in 
the case in support of the applicant. It subse-
quently withdrew its intervention. 

21. By order of the President of the Fourth Cham-
ber of the Court of First Instance of 23 April 
1996, the Kingdom of Denmark, the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands and the Kingdom of Swe-
den were granted leave to intervene in support 
of the applicant, and the French Republic and 
the United Kingdom of Great Britain and North-
ern Ireland were granted leave to intervene in 
support of the defendant. 

22. By letter received on 3 April 1996 the Council 
drew the attention of the Court of First Instance 
to the fact that certain material documents, in-
cluding the Council's defence, had been pub-
lished on the Internet. The Council considered 
that the applicant's conduct was prejudicial to 
the proper course of the procedure. It request-
ed the Court to take appropriate measures in 
order to avoid further such action on the part 
of the applicant. 

23. The Court decided to treat this incident as a 
preliminary issue within the meaning of Article 
114(1) of the Rules of Procedure, and accord-
ingly invited the parties to submit observations 
on the matter. The written procedure was sus-
pended in the meantime. Observations were 
received from the applicant and from the Dan-
ish, French, Netherlands, Swedish and United 
Kingdom Governments. 

24. In the light of those observations the Court de-
cided that the proceedings would be resumed, 
without prejudice to the consequences it 
would attach to that preliminary issue (see be-
low, paragraphs 135 to 139). 

25. By decision of 4 June 1996, the Court referred 
the case to the Fourth Chamber, Extended 
Composition. It did not accede to a request by 
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the Council of 20 June 1996 that the case be 
referred to the Court sitting in plenary session. 

26. The written procedure was concluded on 7 
April 1997. 

Forms of order sought by the parties 
27. The applicant, supported by the Kingdom of 

Denmark and the Kingdom of the Netherlands, 
requests the Court to: 

• annul the contested decision; 

• order the Council to pay the costs. 

28. The Kingdom of Sweden requests the Court to 
annul the contested decision. 

29. The Council requests the Court to: 

• declare the application inadmissible in its 
entirety; 

• alternatively, declare the application inad-
missible in so far as it relates to documents 
which have already been received by the 
applicant and do not contain deleted pas-
sages; 

• in the further alternative, reject it as un-
founded; 

• order the applicant to pay the costs. 

30. The French Republic requests the Court to: 

• dismiss the application; 

• order the applicant to pay the costs. 

31. The United Kingdom requests the Court to dis-
miss the application as inadmissible or, in the 
alternative, as unfounded. 

Admissibility 
32. The Council claims that the application is in-

admissible on several grounds, relating to the 
identity of the applicant, non-compliance with 
the time-limit for bringing an action, the appli-
cant's lack of interest in bringing the action and 
the Court's lack of jurisdiction. Each of those 
grounds will be examined in turn. 

Theidentityoftheapplicant
33. Svenska Journalistförbundet is the Swedish 

Journalists' Union. It owns and publishes a 
newspaper entitled Tidningen Journalisten. 
The application is headed ‘Svenska Journalist-
förbundets tidning' and  ‘Tidningen Journalis-

ten'. The application states that the applicant 
is the magazine of the Swedish Journalists' 
Union, but the link between the two entities is 
not clearly explained. During the written pro-
cedure Tidningen Journalisten was therefore 
designated as ‘the applicant'. 

Arguments of the parties 
34. In reply to a written question from the Court, 

the applicant's lawyers indicated by fax mes-
sage of 4 August 1997 that the application 
should be regarded as having been lodged by 
the Swedish Journalists' Union as the proprie-
tor of the magazine, since it alone of the two 
entities had capacity to sue under Swedish law. 

35. At the hearing they added that any distinction 
between the Swedish Journalists' Union and 
Tidningen Journalisten was artificial. The appli-
cation and confirmatory application sent to the 
Council had been presented on headed paper 
of Svenska Journalistförbundet and Tidningen 
Journalisten and the Council replied to Svenska 
Journalistförbundets Tidning. Svenska Journal-
istförbundet was thus a party to the case from 
the outset. 

36. The Netherlands Government considers that 
it would be too formalistic to consider that an 
action instituted by an independent division of 
a legal person could not be attributed to that 
legal person, given that it is now clear that ad-
equate proof of authority was produced when 
the action was instituted and the interests of 
the parties to the proceedings have not been 
injured in any way. 

37. In a letter of 9 September 1997, the Council 
contends that in the light of the replies of the 
applicant's lawyers Tidningen Journalisten, 
which it had regarded as the applicant in the 
case, had no capacity to sue under Swedish 
law. 

38. It further contends that even if the Swedish 
Journalists' Union could be substituted for Tid-
ningen Journalisten, the former could not be 
regarded as the addressee of the Council's re-
ply of 6 July 1995, nor as directly and individu-
ally concerned by that decision. 

39. It therefore asks the Court to dismiss the appli-
cation as inadmissible. 

Findings of the Court 
40. The first page of the application refers to both 

Tidningen Journalisten and ‘Svenska Journal-
istförbundets tidning'. 
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41. The proof of authority granted to the appli-
cant's lawyers as required by Article 44(5)(b) of 
the Rules of Procedure was signed on behalf 
of the Swedish Journalists' Union by Lennart 
Lund, Editor in Chief of the magazine Tidnin-
gen Journalisten. In that regard, the applicant 
has lodged, as an annex to its fax message of 4 
August 1997 (see paragraph 34 above), a cer-
tificate confirming that the Swedish Journalists' 
Union had instructed Lennart Lund to bring 
the present application before the Court. 

42. In those circumstances it is clear that the ap-
plication has, in reality, been brought by the 
Swedish Journalists' Union as proprietor of Tid-
ningen Journalisten. 

43. The Swedish Journalists' Union being a legal 
person entitled to sue under Swedish law, the 
Council cannot object to the admissibility of 
the application on this basis. 

44. Moreover, given that the Council had ad-
dressed the two negative replies of 1 June 
1995 and 6 July 1995 to ‘Mr Christoph Anders-
son, Svenska Journalistförbundets tidning', it 
cannot at this stage argue that the Swedish 
Journalists' Union was not the addressee of the 
contested decision. 

Thetime-limitforbringingtheaction
Arguments of the parties 
45. The Council questions whether the action was 

brought within the prescribed time-limit. It 
maintains that the applicant received the con-
tested decision on 10 July 1995. It then had two 
months from that date to bring an action for its 
annulment. 

46. The Council points out that Article 1 of Annex 
II to the Court's Rules of Procedure, in the ver-
sion then applicable, provided that procedural 
time-limits were to be extended for parties not 
habitually resident in the Grand Duchy of Lux-
embourg by the following: 

• for the Kingdom of Belgium: two days, 

• for the Federal Republic of Germany, the 
European territory of the French Republic 
and the European territory of the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands: six days, 

• for the European territory of the Kingdom 
of Denmark, for the Hellenic Republic, for 
Ireland, for the Italian Republic, for the King-
dom of Spain, for the Portuguese Republic 
(with the exception of the Azores and Ma-

deira) and for the United Kingdom: 10 days, 

• for other European countries and territories: 
two weeks. 

47. The Council, supported by the French Govern-
ment, doubts that the rule applicable to non-
Member States should also apply to Member 
States of the European Union and considers 
that the applicant should have brought its ac-
tion in compliance with a time-limit extended 
on account of distance by ten days, in order to 
avoid any discrimination between applicants 
from countries that are further away from Lux-
embourg than Sweden, which are entitled only 
to a ten-day extension. 

48. The applicant relies on the actual terms of Ar-
ticle 1 of Annex II in the version reproduced 
above, and considers that they do not support 
the Council's contention. There is no reference 
to ‘Member States' or ‘non-Member States'. In 
the absence of any specific extension for Swe-
den, that country was entitled to the extension 
of two weeks applicable to all the European 
States not specifically mentioned. The Coun-
cil's argument concerning discrimination does 
not carry conviction, since numerous places in 
Belgium are further away from Luxembourg 
than certain places in the Netherlands, yet all 
inhabitants of Belgium are entitled to a two-
day extension while all inhabitants of the 
Netherlands are entitled to a six-day extension. 
Only the applicant's interpretation satisfies the 
requirement of legal certainty. 

49. The Swedish and Netherlands Governments 
support that interpretation. At the hearing the 
Swedish Government's Agent pointed out that 
it was formerly entitled to an extension of two 
weeks. 

Findings of the Court 
50. It is settled law that the Community rules gov-

erning procedural time-limits must be strictly 
observed both in the interest of legal certainty 
and in order to avoid any discrimination or ar-
bitrary treatment in the administration of jus-
tice (Case C-59/91 France v Commission [1992] 
ECR I-525, paragraph 8). 

51. The wording of Article 1 of Annex II to the Rules 
of Procedure, in the version in force when the 
application was brought, does not support the 
submission that the extension for distance ap-
plicable in the case of Sweden was ten days 
and not two weeks. In fact, the ten-day exten-
sion applied only to certain designated coun-
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tries, of which Sweden was not one. The exten-
sion of two weeks thus applied to all European 
countries and territories for which a shorter 
period was not laid down, including Sweden. 

52. It follows that the action was commenced 
within time. 

Theapplicant'sinterestinseeking
annulment
Arguments of the parties 
53. The Council also doubts that the application is 

admissible inasmuch as it concerns documents 
that the applicant had already received from 
the Swedish authorities, at least to the extent 
that those documents do not contain deleted 
passages. The Council was not informed that 
the purpose of the applicant's request was 
to identify any passages in those documents 
which had been deleted. The applicant's inter-
est is general and political in nature, its inten-
tion being to ensure that the Council gives 
proper effect to its own Code of Conduct and 
Decision 93/731. 

54. In the circumstances, although the Council is 
conscious of the fact that the applicant is the 
addressee of the contested decision, it ques-
tions whether the applicant is really affected 
by that decision within the meaning of Article 
173 of the EC Treaty. That article does not al-
low individual actions in the public interest, 
but only permits individuals to challenge acts 
which concern them in a way in which they do 
not concern other individuals. 

55. In this case the applicant cannot derive any 
benefit from obtaining access to documents 
which are already in its possession. Its insuffi-
cient interest in the outcome of the proceed-
ings constitutes an abuse of procedure. 

56. Supported by the French Government, the 
Council further contends that the release of 
the documents in question by the Swedish au-
thorities to the applicant constitutes a breach 
of Community law, since no decision had been 
taken to authorise such a disclosure. It is con-
trary to the system of legal remedies provided 
for by Community law to take advantage of 
a breach of Community law and then to ask 
the Court to annul a decision whose effects 
have been circumvented as a consequence of 
such a breach. The fact that the documents in 
question were brought into the public domain 
following an act contrary to Community law 
should therefore preclude the applicant from 

bringing an action in this case. 

57. The applicant replies that the Council is confus-
ing the rules on the admissibility of actions for 
the annulment of decisions brought by their 
addressees with the rules on the admissibil-
ity of actions for the annulment of regulations 
brought by certain individuals. Addressees 
must show that they have an interest in bring-
ing their action but do not have to prove that 
they are individually concerned. 

58. In this case the applicant considers that it has 
a sufficient interest in bringing the action and 
that that interest is neither political nor general 
in nature. It points out that Tidningen Jour-
nalisten publishes articles on specific subjects 
of general interest and on the functioning of 
public authorities and other matters concern-
ing the way in which Swedish journalists can 
go about their job. It therefore has a direct in-
terest in gaining access to Council documents 
and, if it is refused access for reasons which 
demonstrate that the Council is misapplying 
the relevant rules, in obtaining the annulment 
of the decision concerned so as to ensure that 
the Council rectifies its approach in the future. 
The fact that it has received documents from 
another source does not therefore mean that it 
has no interest in bringing the action. 

59. In so far as the Council considers that the docu-
ments obtained from the Swedish authorities 
without its prior authorisation were obtained 
unlawfully, the applicant has a further ground 
for the application to be held admissible even 
as regards documents obtained in full from the 
Swedish authorities. Any use which the appli-
cant may make of those documents will other-
wise be thrown into doubt. 

60. The applicant also rejects the Council's argu-
ment that the insufficient interest the applicant 
has in the present proceedings makes the ap-
plication an abuse of procedure. It points out 
that at the time when it requested access to 
the Council's documents it had asked for and 
obtained from the national Police Authority 
only 8 of the 20 documents in question. The 
other 12 documents were requested from the 
Swedish Ministry of Justice on the same day 
as it sent its request for the 20 documents to 
the Council. Furthermore, many of the docu-
ments obtained appeared to have deleted pas-
sages and the applicant could not, therefore, 
be sure that it had received all the documents 
in full. The Council itself has not indicated to 
the Court which documents contain deleted 
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passages, although it has asked the Court to 
declare the application inadmissible to the ex-
tent that it concerns documents which the ap-
plicant has obtained and which do not contain 
deleted passages. The applicant is therefore 
not in a position to know which documents do 
not contain any such passages. 

61. The Swedish Government supports the appli-
cant's arguments as to admissibility. It does not 
share the Council's view that the release of the 
documents in Sweden constituted a breach 
of Community law. There is no implied Com-
munity rule based on a common legal tradition 
whereby only the author of a document may 
decide whether a document is to be released 
or not. 

62. The Netherlands Government rejects the Coun-
cil's argument as regards the applicant's lack of 
interest in bringing proceedings. It states that 
it was precisely in the public interest that Deci-
sion 93/731 was adopted. The applicant is not 
required therefore to show a particular interest 
in order to be able to rely on it. The application 
seeks to preserve the applicant's rights as the 
addressee of the contested decision and is not 
an action in the general interest. The applicant 
has an interest in seeking to prevent the Coun-
cil from applying a restrictive policy in regard 
to requests by the applicant for access to doc-
uments in the future. Moreover, the Council's 
allegation that the applicant is in possession 
of documents in breach of Community law is 
sufficient to show that the latter does have a 
legitimate interest. It goes without saying that 
the interest recognised by Decision 93/731 re-
lates to legally obtained access to a document. 

63. The United Kingdom Government contends 
that the application is inadmissible because 
the applicant has no sufficient interest in the 
outcome of the proceedings. The application 
is therefore an abuse of procedure. None of the 
reasons given by the applicant is sufficient to 
give rise to an interest in bringing proceedings 
under Article 173 of the EC Treaty. 

Findings of the Court 
64. The applicant is the addressee of the contested 

decision and, as such, is not obliged to prove 
that the decision is of direct and individual con-
cern to it. It need only prove that it has an inter-
est in the annulment of the decision. 

65. In the case of Commission Decision 94/90/
ECSC, EC, Euratom of 8 February 1994 on 
public access to Commission documents (OJ 

1994 L 46, p. 58, hereinafter ‘Decision 94/90'), 
the Court has already held that from its over-
all scheme, it is clear that Decision 94/90 is 
intended to apply generally to requests for ac-
cess to documents, and that, by virtue of that 
decision, any person may request access to 
any unpublished Commission document, and 
is not required to give a reason for the request 
(Case T-124/96 Interporc v Commission [1998] 
ECR II-0000, paragraph 48). 

66. The objective of Decision 93/731 is to give ef-
fect to the principle of the largest possible ac-
cess for citizens to information with a view to 
strengthening the democratic character of the 
institutions and the trust of the public in the 
administration. Decision 93/731, like Decision 
94/90, does not require that members of the 
public must put forward reasons for seeking 
access to requested documents. 

67. It follows that a person who is refused access 
to a document or to part of a document has, by 
virtue of that very fact, established an interest 
in the annulment of the decision. 

68. In this case the contested decision denied ac-
cess to 16 of the 20 documents requested. The 
applicant has therefore proved an interest in 
the annulment of that decision. 

69. The fact that the requested documents were 
already in the public domain is irrelevant in this 
connection. 

ThejurisdictionoftheCourt
Arguments of the parties 
70. The French Government states that the con-

tested decision concerns the arrangements for 
access to documents adopted on the basis of 
Title VI of the EU Treaty. No provision of Title 
VI governs the conditions of access to docu-
ments adopted on the basis of its provisions. In 
the absence of an express provision, Decision 
93/731, which was adopted on the basis of Ar-
ticle 151(3) of the EC Treaty, is not applicable 
to acts adopted on the basis of Title VI of the 
EU Treaty. 

71. The United Kingdom Government contends 
that the jurisdiction of the Court of First In-
stance does not extend to the matters covered 
by Title VI of the EU Treaty, and therefore to the 
question of access to the documents concern-
ing those matters. Justice and Home Affairs 
fall outside the scope of the EC Treaty and are 
matters for inter-Governmental cooperation. It 
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is clear from Article E of the EU Treaty that in 
relation to Justice and Home Affairs the institu-
tions in question are to exercise their powers 
under the conditions and for the purposes pro-
vided for by Title VI of the EU Treaty. In exer-
cising those powers they are acting within the 
scope of Title VI, not of the EC Treaty. It follows 
from Article L of the EU Treaty that the provi-
sions of the EC Treaty concerning the powers 
of the Court do not apply to Title VI of the EU 
Treaty. Accordingly the jurisdiction of the Court 
is excluded as much in procedural matters as 
in matters of substance. In any event, it is fre-
quently impossible to draw a clear-cut distinc-
tion between the two. 

72. The United Kingdom Government accepts that 
Decision 93/731 applies to Title VI documents, 
but considers that it does not follow that the 
Court may exercise jurisdiction over a refusal to 
allow access to such documents. In particular, 
the Court does not acquire jurisdiction simply 
because Decision 93/731 was adopted pursu-
ant to Article 151 of the EC Treaty. Article 7(3) 
of Decision 93/731 is irrelevant in that connec-
tion, since reference to the possibility of an ac-
tion under Article 173 of the EC Treaty cannot 
enlarge the jurisdiction of the Court. 

73. According to the applicant, Decision 93/731 
itself expressly confirms that the Court has 
jurisdiction in cases concerning application 
of that decision, since it specifies that its pro-
visions are applicable to any document held 
by the Council. The criterion for application of 
Decision 93/731 is therefore the fact that the 
document is held by the Council, irrespective 
of its subject-matter, with the exception of 
documents drawn up outside the Council. In 
Case T-194/94 Carvel and Guardian Newspa-
pers v Council [1995] ECR II-2765, the Court 
of First Instance annulled a decision whereby 
the Council had refused the applicants access 
to the decisions adopted by the ‘Justice and 
Home Affairs' Council; the Council did not con-
test the jurisdiction of the Court to adjudicate 
on access to documents falling under Title VI of 
the EU Treaty in that case. 

74. That argument is supported by the Swedish, 
Danish and Netherlands Governments. Al-
though the Court has no jurisdiction to review 
the legality of Title VI documents, it does have 
jurisdiction over matters concerning public ac-
cess to those documents. 

75. The Netherlands Government adds that the 
contested decision was not adopted on the 

basis of Title VI of the EU Treaty, nor does that 
Title constitute the legal basis of Decision 
93/731. The Court will not therefore be re-
quired to adjudicate on cooperation in Justice 
and Home Affairs as such. 

Findings of the Court 
76. Before considering the objection raised by the 

French and United Kingdom Governments, it is 
appropriate to consider its admissibility in the 
light of the Rules of Procedure. 

77. This objection was not raised by the Council in 
the written pleadings. Furthermore, an applica-
tion to intervene is to be limited to supporting 
the form of order sought by one of the parties 
(final paragraph of Article 37 of the EC Statute 
of the Court of Justice, applicable to the Court 
of First Instance by virtue of Article 46 of that 
Statute). 

78. It follows that the French and United Kingdom 
Governments are not entitled to raise an ob-
jection to admissibility and that the Court is 
not therefore obliged to consider the submis-
sions they have made in that regard (see Case 
C-313/90 CIRFS and Others v Commission 
[1993] ECR I-1125, paragraph 22). 

79. However, under Article 113 of the Rules of Pro-
cedure, the Court may at any time of its own 
motion consider whether there exists any ab-
solute bar to proceeding with a case, including 
any raised by interveners (Case T-239/94 EISA v 
Commission [1997] ECR II-1839, paragraph 26). 

80. In this case the issue as to admissibility raised by 
the French and United Kingdom Governments 
does involve an absolute bar to proceeding in 
that it turns upon the jurisdiction of the Court 
to entertain the application. It can accordingly 
be examined by the Court of its own motion. 

81. In this regard, Decision 93/731, in Articles 1(2) 
and 2(2), expressly provides that it is to apply to 
all Council documents. Decision 93/731 there-
fore applies irrespective of the contents of the 
documents requested. 

82. Moreover, pursuant to Article K.8(1) of the EU 
Treaty, measures adopted pursuant to Article 
151(3) of the EC Treaty, which is the legal basis 
for Decision 93/731, are applicable to measures 
within the scope of Title VI of the EU Treaty. 

83. Thus, Council Decision 93/662/EC of 6 Decem-
ber 1993 adopting the Council's Rules of Proce-
dure (OJ 1993 L 304, p 1), which was adopted 
on the basis of inter alia Article 151(3) of the EC 
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Treaty, also applies to meetings of the Council 
relating to Title VI of the EU Treaty. 

84. It follows that, in the absence of any provision 
to the contrary in Decision 93/731 itself, its pro-
visions apply to documents relating to Title VI 
of the EU Treaty. 

85. The fact that the Court has, by virtue of Article 
L of the EU Treaty, no jurisdiction to review 
the legality of measures adopted under Title 
VI does not curtail its jurisdiction in the matter 
of public access to those measures. The as-
sessment of the legality of the contested de-
cision is based upon its jurisdiction to review 
the legality of decisions of the Council taken 
under Decision 93/731, on the basis of Article 
173 of the EC Treaty, and does not in any way 
bear upon the intergovernmental cooperation 
in the spheres of Justice and Home Affairs as 
such. In any event, in the contested decision 
the Council itself drew the applicant's attention 
to its entitlement to appeal under Article 173 of 
the EC Treaty (see above, paragraph 18). 

86. The fact that the documents relate to Title VI 
only is relevant in so far as the contents of the 
documents might possibly come within the 
scope of one or more of the exceptions pro-
vided for in Decision 93/731. That fact is thus 
relevant only to the examination of the sub-
stantive lawfulness of the decision taken by the 
Council and not to the admissibility of the ap-
plication as such. 

87. It follows from the foregoing that the applica-
tion is admissible. 

Substance 
88. The applicant puts forward five pleas in law in 

support of its application for the annulment 
of the contested decision, namely: breach of 
the fundamental principle of Community law 
that citizens of the European Union should be 
granted the widest and fullest possible access 
to Community institutions' documents; breach 
of the principle of protection of legitimate ex-
pectations; infringement of Article 4(1) of Deci-
sion 93/731; infringement of Article 4(2) of De-
cision 93/731; and infringement of Article 190 
of the EC Treaty. 

89. The Court will first examine the third and fifth 
pleas together. 

Thirdandfifthpleasinlaw:infringement
ofArticle4(1)ofDecision93/731and
infringementofArticle190oftheEC
Treaty
Arguments of the parties 

 - Infringement of Article 4(1) of Decision 93/731 

90. The applicant claims that the Council did not 
make a real assessment of the likely impact that 
granting access to the documents requested 
might have on public security in the European 
Union. On the contrary, the fact that a con-
firmatory application was necessary before 
the Council agreed to release one of the docu-
ments which had already been handed over to 
the European Parliament and was thus fully in 
the public domain is particularly disturbing in 
that respect. 

91. In the absence of a definition of public security 
in Decision 93/731, the applicant suggests the 
following definition: 
‘documentsorpassagesofdocumentswhose
accessbythepublicwouldexposeCommuni-
tycitizens,CommunityinstitutionsorMember
States' authorities to terrorism, crime, espio-
nage,insurrection,destabilisationandrevolu-
tion,orwoulddirectlyhindertheauthoritiesin
theireffortstopreventsuchactivities,shallnot
beaccessiblebyvirtueof thepublic security
exception'.

92. The applicant then gives a precise description 
of the contents of all the documents requested 
that are in its possession, in support of its ar-
gument that the public security exception was 
applied in an unlawful manner by the Council. 

93. It rejects the Council's assertion that it would 
not be in the interest of public security to allow 
those involved in illicit activities to obtain de-
tailed knowledge of the structures and means 
available to police cooperation in the Europe-
an Union. That assertion simply bears no rela-
tion to the actual content of the documents in 
question. The applicant points out that the two 
documents to which the Swedish authorities 
refused access concerned not public security 
but the negotiating positions of the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands and the Federal Republic of 
Germany. 

94. The Council denies that it considered all the 
documents relating to Europol to be covered 
by the public security exception. The fact that 
four documents were disclosed shows that a 
real assessment was carried out, the outcome 
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of which was that some of the requested docu-
ments could be released, whilst others could 
not. 

95. The Council, supported by the French and 
United Kingdom Governments, contends that 
there is in any case no need to adopt a restric-
tive definition of public security for the purpos-
es of the application of Decision 93/731. ‘Public 
security' must be defined in a flexible way in 
order to meet changing circumstances. In any 
event, an assessment as to whether the release 
of a specific document could undermine the 
protection of the public interest (public secu-
rity) can only be made by the Council itself. 

96. That applies particularly as regards documents 
dealing exclusively with issues which fall under 
Titles V and VI of the EU Treaty. The Council 
trusts that, should the Court consider that it 
has jurisdiction in matters concerning access 
to documents dealing exclusively with matters 
falling under Title VI of the EU Treaty, it would 
nevertheless refrain from substituting its as-
sessment for that of the Council in this regard. 

97. The Council considers that the applicant's sum-
mary of the documents in question is neither 
objective nor precise. 

98. The Swedish Government takes issue with the 
description given by the Council of the way 
in which the Information Working Party and 
Coreper dealt with the request for access to 
the documents in question. 

99. In particular the documents requested were 
not made available to the Swedish representa-
tive in the Information Working Party before its 
meeting. The matter could not be dealt with 
satisfactorily in the short time available. 

100. As far as Coreper was concerned, the only mat-
ter addressed by it was whether a decision 
concerning the request for disclosure could 
be taken by written procedure. When Coreper 
voted on 5 July 1995, the Swedish Government 
and four other Member States abstained. The 
Swedish Government made a statement ex-
pressing its dissatisfaction at the way the case 
had been handled. 

101. The Danish Government shares to a large ex-
tent the Swedish Government's criticism of the 
way the case was handled. It considers that 
the Council's assessment of the various docu-
ments was purely formalistic. In the Council 
Secretariat the possibilities of derogation in 
Article 4(1) of Decision 93/731 were first exam-

ined and it was thought that considerations 
of public security could justify withholding 
of documents relating to Europol in general. 
When the confirmatory application was being 
examined, doubts arose as to whether public 
security considerations could really be applied 
generally as a ground for withholding Europol 
documents. Accordingly, it was then decided 
to retreat to a statement of reasons based 
on the very general considerations of Article 
4(2) of Decision 93/731. The discussion in the 
Council Secretariat did not focus on whether 
publication would entail a risk of real adverse 
consequences either for public security or the 
requirement of confidentiality. 

102. The Netherlands Government, having exam-
ined the documents in question, considers that 
the refusal to grant access to the documents 
cannot under any circumstances be justified by 
the requirements of public security. However, it 
reserves its opinion as far as a document which 
is not in its possession is concerned. In its view, 
in order to establish whether the Council was 
justified in refusing access to the documents 
in question on the ground of public security, 
it is necessary to examine, document by docu-
ment, whether access to them would under-
mine the fundamental interests of the Commu-
nity or of the Member States to the extent that 
their existence would be jeopardised. It points 
out that the Council later agreed to make avail-
able at least four of those documents to a jour-
nalist, Mr T., and that the refusal to grant the 
applicant access to those documents therefore 
constitutes arbitrary discrimination. 

103. The Council insists that the content of the doc-
uments was in fact examined. It considers that 
there is no evidence that the other members 
of the Council who abstained did so for the 
same reasons as the Swedish Government. No 
Member State voted against the confirmatory 
decision or associated itself with the Swedish 
Government's statement. 

 - Infringement of Article 190 of the EC Treaty 

104. The applicant claims that the refusal, expressed 
in a single sentence, to grant access to 16 of 
the 20 documents does not satisfy the require-
ments of Article 190 of the EC Treaty or Arti-
cle 7(3) of Decision 93/731. It was impossible 
for it to assess whether the refusal should be 
challenged before the Court, and equally im-
possible for the Court to assess whether the 
Council had made proper use of the excep-
tions referred to above. It was only because 
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the applicant had in its possession most of the 
documents concerned, in full or in part, that it 
was able to show that the Council had applied 
those exceptions unlawfully in the present 
case. It asks the Court to examine the docu-
ments concerned in order to assess whether 
the Council was justified in availing itself of the 
exceptions cited. 

105. The Council, supported by the French and 
United Kingdom Governments, contends that 
the statement of reasons for the contested de-
cision discloses the essential objective pursued 
by the Council and its decision is therefore duly 
reasoned. It would be excessive to require a 
specific statement of reasons for each of the 
technical choices made by the institution. If 
it were necessary to provide a very detailed 
statement of reasons in the case of negative 
responses to requests for access, the underly-
ing objectives of Article 4(1) would be compro-
mised. Decision 93/731 lays down very tight 
time-limits for replying to applications. Conse-
quently, when applications cover many docu-
ments involving large numbers of pages, the 
statement of reasons which can be provided 
will inevitably be rather briefer than the state-
ment of reasons given in reply to applications 
of a more limited scope. Furthermore, the re-
quested documents clearly had an essentially 
common subject-matter. 

106. The Swedish Government maintains that the 
balancing of the Council's interest in maintain-
ing the confidentiality of its proceedings and 
the public's interest in having access to docu-
ments should be undertaken in relation to each 
separate document and that the decision does 
not state sufficient reasons. It claims that the 
Council does not indicate whether both the 
reasons given for maintaining confidentiality 
are applicable to all the documents or, if that is 
not the case, which reason or reasons for main-
taining confidentiality are applicable to each 
particular document. The public is entitled to 
know, from the particular circumstances sur-
rounding each separate action or matter, why 
a specific document is to be kept confidential. 

107. The Danish Government states that it is not 
sufficient to refer in general to the possibili-
ties of derogation and to reproduce the terms 
of Decision 93/731. Refusal under Article 4(1) 
of that decision cannot lawfully be explained 
by indicating that a particular interest which 
is included therein can be regarded generally 
as affected, just as the option of derogation 
with regard to the duty of confidentiality in Ar-

ticle 4(2) cannot form the basis of a refusal in 
general terms. The principle of assessment on 
the facts is applicable and in certain cases the 
Council might be required to produce a docu-
ment with any information requiring protec-
tion under Article 4 deleted. 

108. The Netherlands Government also states that 
the Council's reason for refusing access to the 
various documents is obscure. The contested 
decision confines itself to repeating the crite-
ria in Article 4 of Decision 93/731 and does not 
reveal which documents were withheld on the 
basis of Article 4(1) and which withheld on the 
basis of Article 4(2). As regards the documents 
to which access was refused on the ground of 
confidentiality of the Council's proceedings, 
it does not appear, moreover, from the con-
tested decision, that the requisite balancing of 
interests took place. 

Findings of the Court 
109. Decision 93/731 is a measure which confers on 

citizens rights of access to documents held by 
the Council. It is clear from the scheme of the 
decision that it applies generally to requests 
for access to documents and that any person is 
entitled to ask for access to any Council docu-
ment without being obliged to put forward 
reasons for the request (see above, paragraph 
65). 

110. There are two categories of exception to the 
principle of general access for citizens to Coun-
cil documents set out in Article 4 of Decision 
93/731. These exceptions must be construed 
and applied restrictively so as not to defeat 
the general principle enshrined in the decision 
(see, in relation to the analogous provisions of 
Decision 94/90, Case T-105/95 WWF UK v Com-
mission [1997] ECR II-313, paragraph 56). 

111. The wording of the first category of exceptions, 
drafted in mandatory terms, provides that ac-
cess to a Council document cannot be granted 
if its disclosure could undermine the protection 
of the public interest (public security, interna-
tional relations, monetary stability, court pro-
ceedings, inspections and investigations) (see 
above, paragraph 7). Accordingly, the Council 
is obliged to refuse access to documents which 
come within any one of the exceptions in this 
category once the relevant circumstances are 
shown to exist (see Case T-194/94 Carvel and 
Guardian Newspapers v Council, cited above, 
paragraph 64). 

112. Nevertheless, it follows from the use of the verb 
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‘could', in the present conditional, that in order 
to demonstrate that the disclosure of particular 
documents could undermine the protection 
of the public interest, the Council is obliged to 
consider in respect of each requested docu-
ment whether, in the light of the information 
available to it, disclosure is in fact likely to un-
dermine one of the facets of public interest 
protected by this first category of exceptions. 
If that is the case, the Council is obliged to re-
fuse access to the documents in question (Case 
T-124/96 Interporc, cited above, paragraph 52, 
and Case T-83/96 van der Wal v Commission 
[1998] ECR II-0000, paragraph 43). 

113. By way of contrast, the wording of the second 
category, drafted in enabling terms, provides 
that the Council may also refuse access in order 
to protect the confidentiality of its proceedings 
(see above, paragraph 8). It follows that the 
Council enjoys a margin of discretion which 
enables it, if need be, to refuse access to docu-
ments which touch upon its deliberations. It 
must, nevertheless, exercise this discretion by 
striking a genuine balance between on the one 
hand, the interest of the citizen in obtaining ac-
cess to the documents and, on the other, any 
interest of its own in maintaining the confiden-
tiality of its deliberations (Case T-194/94 Carvel 
and Guardian Newspapers, cited above, para-
graphs 64 and 65). 

114. The Council is also entitled to rely jointly on an 
exception derived from the first category and 
one relating to the second category in order 
to refuse to grant access to documents which 
it holds, there being no provision in Decision 
93/731 which precludes it from so doing. The 
possibility cannot be ruled out that the disclo-
sure of particular documents by the Council 
could cause damage both to the interest pro-
tected by the first category of exception and to 
the Council's interest in maintaining the con-
fidentiality of its deliberations (Case T-105/95 
WWF UK, cited above, paragraph 61). 

115. In the light of these considerations, it is neces-
sary to consider whether the contested deci-
sion satisfies the criteria laid down by Article 
190 of the Treaty regarding the statement of 
reasons. 

116. The duty to state reasons in individual deci-
sions has the double purpose of permitting, 
on the one hand, interested parties to know 
the reasons for the adoption of the measure 
so that they can protect their own interests 
and, on the other hand, enabling the Commu-

nity court to exercise its jurisdiction to review 
the validity of the decision (see, in particular, 
Case C-350/88 Delacre and Others v Commis-
sion [1990] ECR 1-395, paragraph 15, and Case 
T-85/94 Branco v Commission [1995] ECR II-45, 
point 32). 

117. The statement of reasons for a decision refus-
ing access to a document must therefore con-
tain - at least for each category of documents 
concerned - the particular reasons for which 
the Commission considers that disclosure of 
the requested documents comes within the 
scope of one of the exceptions provided for 
in Decision 93/731 (Case T-105/95 WWF UK, 
cited above, paragraphs 64 and 74, and Case 
T-124/96 Interporc, cited above, paragraph 54). 

118. In the contested decision (see above, para-
graph 18) the Council indicated only that the 
disclosure of the 16 documents in question 
would prejudice the protection of the public 
interest (public security) and that the docu-
ments related to the proceedings of the Coun-
cil, particularly the views expressed by mem-
bers of the Council, and for that reason fell 
within the scope of the duty of confidentiality. 

119. Although the Council was at once invoking 
both the mandatory exception based upon 
the protection of the public interest (public 
security) and also the discretionary exception 
based upon protection of the confidentiality 
of its proceedings, it did not specify whether 
it was invoking both exceptions in respect of 
all of the documents refused or whether it con-
sidered that some documents were covered by 
the first exception while others were covered 
by the second. 

120. In that respect, the Court notes that although 
the initial refusal contained in the letter of 1 
June 1995 was based only upon ‘the princi-
ple of confidentiality as set out in Article 4(1) 
of Decision 93/731' the Council was neverthe-
less able to grant access to two further docu-
ments in the course of its consideration of the 
confirmatory request, namely a report on the 
activities of the Europol Drugs Unit (docu-
ment No 4533/95) and a provisional agenda 
for a meeting of Committee K.4 (document 
No 4135/95), documents clearly relating to 
the activities of the Council within the scope 
of Title VI of the EU Treaty. If the fact that such 
documents related to Title VI of the EU Treaty 
meant that they were automatically covered 
by the exception based upon the protection of 
the public interest (public security), the Coun-
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cil had no entitlement to grant access to the 
documents. Moreover, given that the Council 
considered that it was entitled to grant access 
to these two documents, having first balanced 
the interests involved, it follows that the Coun-
cil must necessarily have considered that all 
of the documents relating to Title VI did not 
automatically fall within the scope of the first 
exception based upon the protection of the 
public interest (public security). Furthermore, 
the Council itself admitted that it had not con-
sidered that all of the documents connected 
with Europol were covered by the exception 
relating to public security. 

121. The case-law of the Court of Justice shows that 
the concept of public security does not have a 
single and specific meaning. Thus, the concept 
covers both the internal security of a Mem-
ber State and its external security (see Case 
C-70/94 Werner v Germany [1995] ECR I-3189, 
paragraph 25), as well as the interruption of 
supplies of essential commodities such as pe-
troleum products which may threaten the very 
existence of a country (Case 72/83 Campus Oil 
v Minister for Industry and Energy [1984] ECR 
2727, paragraph 34). The concept could equal-
ly well encompass situations in which public 
access to particular documents could obstruct 
the attempts of authorities to prevent criminal 
activities, as the applicant has argued. 

122. Mr Elsen's note (see above, paragraph 15) dem-
onstrates that most of the documents to which 
access was refused were concerned only with 
negotiations on the adoption of the Europol 
Convention, in particular the proposals of the 
Presidency and of other delegations with re-
gard to those negotiations, and not with op-
erational matters of Europol itself. Thus, in the 
absence of any explanation on the part of the 
Council as to why the disclosure of these docu-
ments would in fact be liable to prejudice a 
particular aspect of public security, it was not 
possible for the applicant to know the reasons 
for the adoption of the measures and there-
fore to defend its interests. It follows that it is 
also impossible for the Court to assess why the 
documents to which access was refused fall 
within the exception based upon the protec-
tion of the public interest (public security) and 
not within the exception based upon the pro-
tection of the confidentiality of the Council's 
proceedings. 

123. Nor can the Council claim that, in this instance, 
it was unable to explain why the exception ap-
plied without undermining the essential pur-

pose of the exception, given the very nature 
of the interest to be protected and the man-
datory character of the exception. In fact, Mr 
Elsen's note clearly shows that it was possible 
to give an indication of the reasons why cer-
tain documents could not be disclosed to the 
applicant without at the same time disclosing 
their contents. 

124. Finally, so far as concerns the exception in fa-
vour of the protection of the confidentiality 
of its proceedings, the Council did not specifi-
cally indicate in the contested decision that all 
of the documents included in the applicant's 
request were covered by the exception based 
upon the protection of the public interest (see 
paragraph 119, above). The applicant could 
not therefore rule out the possibility that ac-
cess to some of the documents in question 
was being refused because they were covered 
only by the exception based upon the protec-
tion of the confidentiality of its proceedings. 

125. The terms of the contested decision do not, 
however, permit the applicant and, therefore, 
the Court to check whether the Council has 
complied with its duty to carry out a genuine 
balancing of the interests concerned as the 
application of Article 4(2) of Decision 93/731 
requires. In fact, the contested decision men-
tions only the fact that the requested docu-
ments related to proceedings of the Council, 
including the views expressed by members 
of the Council, without saying whether it had 
made any comparative analysis which sought 
to balance, on the one hand, the interest of the 
citizens seeking the information and, on the 
other hand, the criteria for confidentiality of the 
proceedings of the Council (see Case T-194/94 
Carvel and Guardian Newspapers, cited above, 
paragraph 74). 

126. Moreover, the first reply from the Council - sent 
to the applicant in French although the appli-
cant had written the initial request in German 
- confined itself to citing the provisions of Ar-
ticle 4(1) of Decision 93/731, in support of its 
view that the documents were subject to ‘the 
principle of confidentiality'. It did not therefore 
permit the applicant or the Court to confirm 
that the Council had genuinely balanced the 
interests involved at the stage of its considera-
tion of the applicant's first request. 

127. It follows from all of the foregoing that the 
contested decision does not comply with the 
requirements for reasoning as laid down in Ar-
ticle 190 of the Treaty and must therefore be 
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annulled without there being any need to con-
sider the other grounds raised by the applicant 
or to look at the contents of the documents 
themselves. 

TherequestoftheNetherlands
GovernmentthattheCourtofFirst
InstanceinvitetheCourtofJusticeto
produceanotedraftedbyitsservices
128. The Netherlands Government requests that 

the Court of First Instance invite the Court 
of Justice to produce a note drafted by the 
Research and Documentation service of the 
Court for the purposes of that Court's judg-
ment of 30 April 1996 in Case C-58/94 Nether-
lands v Council [1996] ECR I-2169. 

129. As the present judgment is not based upon 
that note, there is no need to rule on this re-
quest. 

PublicationofthedefenceontheInternet
Arguments of the parties 
130. As indicated in paragraph 22 above, by letter 

received on 3 April 1996 the Council drew the 
attention of the Court to the fact that certain 
pertinent documents, including the Council's 
defence, had been published on the Internet. 
It considers that the applicant's conduct was 
prejudicial to the proper course of the proce-
dure. The Council laid particular stress on the 
fact that the text of the defence had been ed-
ited by the applicant before it was placed on 
the Internet. Furthermore, the names and con-
tact details of the Council's Agents in the case 
were given and the public encouraged to send 
their comments on the case to those Agents. 
The Council requested the Court to take any 
measures which might be appropriate in order 
to avoid further such action on the part of the 
applicant. 

131. By letter received on 3 May 1996, the appli-
cant's lawyers explained that they had played 
no role in the placing of the defence and other 
documents concerning the case on the Inter-
net. They had no knowledge of those facts 
before receiving the letter from the Registry 
of the Court of First Instance. They had imme-
diately asked the applicant to remove all the 
documents from the Internet, and informed it 
that they would no longer be able to represent 
it if that was not done. 

132. In its observations received on 24 May 1996, 

the applicant confirmed that it had placed the 
documents on the Internet without informing 
its lawyers. It explained that the editing of the 
defence had been carried out for purely prac-
tical reasons and that its intention was not to 
alter its contents or weaken the Council's case. 
It simply wanted to shorten the defence by not 
reproducing certain passages in view of the 
time required to put the defence on the In-
ternet. It had no intention of putting pressure 
on the Council and added that the names and 
contact details of the Council's Agents were 
included simply because they knew about the 
case, not to encourage the public to contact 
them directly as individuals. 

133. The applicant undertook to refrain from plac-
ing on the Internet or in any other way making 
available to the public any further documents 
exchanged between the parties in the case. 
It would thenceforth restrict itself to normal 
media reports on the case. The applicant fur-
ther indicated that it had taken the decision to 
have the defence withdrawn from the Internet. 
However, the document had been placed on 
the Internet by an independent organisation, 
Grävande Journalister (an association of Swed-
ish investigative reporters and editors), which 
refused to withdraw it. Under Swedish law the 
applicant had no legal means of forcing that 
association to withdraw the document and the 
latter was therefore responsible for keeping 
the defence on the Internet. 

134. By letter received on 28 May 1996, the Swedish 
Government explained that the Legal Director 
at the Ministry of Justice had received a copy of 
the defence from the applicant and the Legal 
Director had subsequently released a copy to 
a journalist without any objection on the appli-
cant's part. In doing so, the Legal Director had 
taken into account the fact that the applicant 
had already published a detailed report on the 
main elements of the defence and had given 
the names of the representatives of the Coun-
cil concerned. Another factor in that decision 
was that the document had not been trans-
mitted to the Swedish Government by a Com-
munity institution, but by a private individual 
who had the right to dispose of the document 
and had already demonstrated his willingness 
to disseminate it. The Ministry was in no way 
involved in the publication of the defence on 
the Internet and the newspaper's action in that 
respect was regarded as a provocation. 
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Findings of the Court 
135. Under the rules which govern procedure in 

cases before the Court of First Instance, parties 
are entitled to protection against the misuse of 
pleadings and evidence. Thus, in accordance 
with the third subparagraph of Article 5(3) of 
the Instructions to the Registrar of 3 March 
1994 (OJ 1994 L 78, p. 32), no third party, pri-
vate or public, may have access to the case-file 
or to the procedural documents without the 
express authorisation of the President, after 
the parties have been heard. Moreover, in ac-
cordance with Article 116(2) of the Rules of 
Procedure, the President may exclude secret or 
confidential documents from those furnished 
to an intervener in a case. 

136. These provisions reflect a general principle 
in the due administration of justice accord-
ing to which parties have the right to defend 
their interests free from all external influences 
and particularly from influences on the part of 
members of the public. 

137. It follows that a party who is granted access to 
the procedural documents of other parties is 
entitled to use those documents only for the 
purpose of pursuing his own case and for no 
other purpose, including that of inciting criti-
cism on the part of the public in relation to ar-
guments raised by other parties in the case. 

138. In the present case, it is clear that the actions 
of the applicant in publishing an edited version 
of the defence on the Internet in conjunction 
with an invitation to the public to send their 
comments to the Agents of the Council and 
in providing the telephone and telefax num-
bers of those Agents, had as their purpose to 
bring pressure to bear upon the Council and 
to provoke public criticism of the Agents of the 
institution in the performance of their duties. 

139. These actions on the part of the applicant in-
volved an abuse of procedure which will be 
taken into account in awarding costs (see be-
low, paragraph 140), having regard, in particu-
lar, to the fact that this incident led to a suspen-
sion of the proceedings and made it necessary 
for the parties in the case to lodge additional 
submissions in this respect. 

Costs
140. Under Article 87(2) of the Rules of Procedure, 

the unsuccessful party is to be ordered to pay 
the costs if they have been applied for in the 

successful party's pleadings. In this case the 
applicant asked that the Council be ordered 
to pay the costs. However, under Article 87(3) 
of the Rules, the Court may, where the circum-
stances are exceptional, order that the costs be 
shared or that each party bear its own costs. In 
view of the abuse of procedure found to have 
been committed by the applicant, the Council 
will be ordered to pay only two-thirds of the 
applicant's costs. 

141. Pursuant to Article 87(4) of the Rules of Pro-
cedure, the interveners will be ordered to pay 
their own costs. 

OPERATIVE PART

On those grounds, THE COURT OF FIRST INSTANCE 
(Fourth Chamber, Extended Composition) 

hereby: 

1. Annuls the Council's decision of 6 July 1995 
refusing the applicant access to certain docu-
ments relating to the European Police Office 
(Europol); 

2. Orders the Council to pay two-thirds of the ap-
plicant's costs as well as its own costs; 

3. Orders the Kingdom of Denmark, the french 
Republic, the Kingdom of the Netherlands, 
the Kingdom of Sweden and the united King-
dom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland to 
bear their own costs. 
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FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS AND THE COMMUNITY LAW,  
ECHR AND ECJ, SCOPE OF  FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION, 
LIMITATIONS TO FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION, INTER-
PRETING LIMITS TO FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION, PUBLIC 
SERVICES AND FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION, PRIOR PER-
MISSION FOR PUBLISHING

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT 6 March 2001

CAsE C-274/99P 
BERnARD ConnoLLY v 
CoMMIssIon 
Bernard Connolly, a former official of the Commis-
sion of the European Communities, residing in Lon-
don, United Kingdom, represented by J. Sambon 
and P.-P. van Gehuchten, avocats, with an address 
for service in Luxembourg, 

appellant,

APPEAL against the judgment of the Court of 
First Instance of the European Communities (First 
Chamber) of 19 May 1999 in Joined Cases T-34/96 
and T-163/96 Connolly v Commission [1999] ECR-
SC I-A-87 and 11-463, seeking to have that judg-
ment set aside,

the other party to the proceedings being:

Commission of the European Communities, rep-
resented by G. Valsesia and J. Currall, acting as 
Agents, assisted by D. Waelbroeck, avocat, with an 
address for service in Luxembourg,

defendant at first instance,

THE COURT,

composed of: G.C. Rodríguez Iglesias, President, C. 
Gulmann, A. La Pergola, M. Wathelet (Rapporteur), 
V. Skouris (Presidents of Chambers), D.A.O. Edward, 
J.-P. Puissochet, P. Jann, L. Sevón, R. Schintgen and 
N. Colneric, Judges, Advocate General: D. Ruiz-Jara-
bo Colomer, Registrar: R. Grass,

having regard to the Report for the Hearing, af-
ter hearing oral argument from the parties at the 
hearing on 12 September 2000, after hearing the 
Opinion of the Advocate General at the sitting on 
19 October 2000,

gives the following Judgment

1. By an application lodged at the Registry of the 

Court of Justice on 20 July 1999,Mr Connolly 
brought an appeal under Article 49 of the EC 
Statute of the Courtof Justice and the corre-
sponding provisions of the ECSC and the EAEC 
Statutes of the Court of Justice against the 
judgment of the Court of First Instance of 19 
May 1999 in Joined Cases T-34/96 and T-163/96 
Connolly v Commission [1999] ECR-SCI-A-87 
and 11-463 ('the contested judgment'), by 
which the Court of First Instance dismissed, 
first, his action for annulment of the opinion 
of the Disciplinary Board of 7 December 1995 
and of the decision of the appointing author-
ity of 16 January 1996 removing him from his 
post without withdrawal of his entitlement to 
a retirement pension ('the contested decision') 
and, second, his action for damages.

LEGAL BACKGROUND

2. Article 11 of the Regulations and Rules appli-
cable to officials and other servants of the Eu-
ropean Communities ('the Staff Regulations') 
provides:
'Anofficialshallcarryouthisdutiesandcon-
duct himself solely with the interestsof the
Communities in mind; he shall neither seek
nor take instructions from anygovernment,
authority, organisation or person outside his
institution.

An official shall not without the permission
of the appointing authority accept from any
governmentorfromanyothersourceoutside
the institutiontowhichhebelongsanyhon-
our,decoration,favour,giftorpaymentofany
kindwhatever,exceptforservicesrenderedei-
therbeforehisappointmentorduringspecial
leaveformilitaryorothernationalserviceand
inrespectofsuchservice.'

3. Article 12 of the Staff Regulations provides:
'Anofficialshallabstain fromanyactionand,
inparticular,anypublicexpressionofopinion
whichmayreflectonhisposition.

An official wishing to engage in an outside
activity, whether gainful or not, or to carry
outanyassignmentoutsidetheCommunities
mustobtainpermission from theappointing
authority. Permission shall be refused if the
activityorassignmentissuchastoimpairthe
official'sindependenceortobedetrimentalto
theworkoftheCommunities.'

4. The second paragraph of Article 17 of the Staff 
Regulations states:
'Anofficialshallnot,whetheraloneortogether
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withothers,publishorcausetobepublished
withoutthepermissionoftheappointingau-
thority, anymatter dealingwith thework of
theCommunities.Permissionshallberefused
onlywheretheproposedpublicationisliable
toprejudicetheinterestsoftheCommunities.'

THE FACTS GIVING RISE TO THE 
DISPUTE

5. The facts giving rise to the dispute are set out 
in the contested judgment as follows:
'1Atthematerialtime,theapplicant,MrCon-
nolly, anofficial of theCommission inGrade
A4,Step4,wasHeadofUnit3,"EMS:National
andCommunityMonetaryPolicies", inDirec-
torateD,"MonetaryAffairs"intheDirectorate-
GeneralforEconomicandFinancialAffairs(DG
II)....

2 On three occasions, dating from 1991, Mr
Connolly submitted draft articles relating,
respectively, to the application of monetary
theories, the development of the European
Monetary Systemand themonetary implica-
tionsof thewhitepaperonthe futureofEu-
rope.Permissiontopublishthearticles,which,
under the second paragraph of Article 17 of
theStaffRegulations,mustbeobtainedprior
topublication,wasrefused.

3On24April1995,MrConnollyapplied,un-
derArticle40oftheStaffRegulations,forthree
months' unpaid leave on personal grounds
commencing on 3 July 1995, stating as the
reasonsforhisapplication(a)toassisthis

sonduringtheschoolholidaysinhisprepara-
tion forUnitedKingdomuniversityentrance;
(b) to enable his father to spend some time
withhisfamily;(c)tospendsometimereflect-
ingonmattersofeconomictheoryandpolicy
andto"reestablishacquaintancewiththelit-
erature". TheCommissiongrantedhim leave
bydecisionof2June1995.

4 By letter of 18 August 1995, Mr Connolly
applied to be reinstated in the Commission
service at the end of his leave on personal
grounds. The Commission, by decision of 27
September 1995, granted that request and
reinstatedhim inhispostwith effect from4
October1995.

5 Whilst on leave on personal grounds, Mr
ConnollypublishedabookentitledTheRotten
HeartofEurope—TheDirtyWarforEurope's
Moneywithoutrequestingpriorpermission.

6 Early in September, more specifically be-
tween 4 and 10 September 1995, a series of

articles concerning the book was published
intheEuropeanand, inparticular, theBritish
press.

7Byletterof6September1995,theDirector-
General for Personnel and Administration,
in his capacity as appointing authority... in-
formed the applicant of his decision to initi-
ate disciplinary proceedings against him for
infringementofArticles11,12and17of the
StaffRegulationsand, inaccordancewithAr-
ticle87ofthoseregulations, invitedhimtoa
preliminaryhearing.

8Thefirsthearingwasheldon12September
1995.Theapplicantthensubmittedawritten
statement indicating that he would not an-
swer any questions unless he was informed
inadvanceofthespecificbreacheshewasal-
legedtohavecommitted.

9Byletterof13September1995,theappoint-
ingauthorityinformedtheapplicantthatthe
allegations of misconduct followed publica-
tionofhisbook,serialisationofextractsfrom
it in The Times newspaper as well as the
statementsthathehadmadeinaninterview
publishedinthatnewspaper,withouthaving
obtained prior permission. The appointing
authorityagain invitedhimtoattendahear-
ingregardingthosemattersinthelightofhis
obligationsunderArticles11,12and17ofthe
StaffRegulations.

10On26September1995,atasecondhear-
ing, the applicant refused to answer any of
thequestions put to him and filed awritten
statement inwhichhe submitted that itwas
legitimate for him to have published awork
withoutrequestingpriorpermissionbecause,
whenhedid so, hewas on unpaid leave on
personalgrounds.Headdedthattheserialisa-
tionofextractsfromhisbookinthepresshad
been decided on by his publisher and that
someof the statements contained in the in-
terviewhadbeenwronglyattributed tohim.
Finally, Mr Connolly expressed doubts as to
theobjectivityofthedisciplinaryproceedings
commenced against him in view, notably, of
statementsmade about him to the press by
theCommission'sPresidentanditsspokesper-
son,andastowhethertheconfidentialnature
oftheproceedingswasbeingrespected.

11 On 27 September 1995, the appointing
authority decided, pursuant to Article 88 of
theStaffRegulations,tosuspendMrConnolly
from his duties with effect from 3 October
1995andtowithholdone-halfofhisbasicsal-
aryduringtheperiodofhissuspension.

12On4October1995,theappointingauthor-
itydecidedtoreferthemattertotheDiscipli-
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naryBoardunderArticle1ofAnnexIXtothe
StaffRegulations

...

('AnnexIX').

16 On 7 December 1995, the Disciplinary
Boarddeliveredanopinion,forwardedtothe
applicant on 15 December 1995, inwhich it
recommended that the disciplinarymeasure
of removal from postwithoutwithdrawal or
reduction of his entitlement to a retirement
pensionshouldbeimposedonhim....

17On9January1996,theapplicantwasheard
by the appointing authority pursuant to the
thirdparagraphofArticle7ofAnnexIX.

18 By decision of 16 January 1996, the ap-
pointingauthority imposedon theapplicant
the disciplinary measure referred to in Arti-
cle 86(2)(f) of the Staff Regulations, namely
removal from post without withdrawal or
reduction of his entitlement to a retirement
pension....

19 The decision removingMr Connolly from
his post set out the following statement of
reasons:

"Whereason16May1990MrConnollywasap-
pointedHeadofUnit[II.D.3];

WhereasbyvirtueofhisdutiesMrConnollyhas
beenresponsiblefor,interalia,preparingand
takingpartintheworkoftheMonetaryCom-
mittee, the Monetary Policy Sub-Committee
andtheCommitteeof[Governors],monitoring
monetarypolicies in theMember States and
analysing the monetary implications of the
implementation of European economic and
monetaryunion;

Whereas Mr Connolly has written a book,
which was published at the beginning of
September1995entitledTheRottenHeartof
Europe;

Whereas that book deals with the develop-
mentinrecentyearsoftheprocessofEurope-
anintegrationintheeconomicandmonetary
fieldandhasbeenwrittenbyMrConnollyon
the basis of the professional experience he
hasgainedwhilecarryingouthisdutiesatthe
Commission;

WhereasMrConnollyhasnotrequestedper-
missionfromtheappointingauthoritytopub-
lish thebook inquestion inaccordancewith
Article 17 of the Staff Regulations, which is
bindingonallofficials;

WhereasMrConnollycouldnothavefailedto
be aware that he would be refused permis-

siononthesamegroundsasthoseonwhich
permission had previously been refused in
respect of articles in which he had already
outlined the ideas that form the core of the
presentbook;

WhereasMrConnollymentionsinthepreface
to The RottenHeart of Europe that the idea
for the book arose after he had requested
permissiontopublishachapterontheEMSin
anotherbook;hewasrefusedpermissionand
tooktheviewthatitwouldbeworthwhileto
workupthatchapterandmakeitintoabook
initsownright;

WhereasMrConnollyhasapproved,andhas
playedanactivepartin,thepromotionofhis
book, notably granting an interview to The
Times newspaper on 4 September 1995, on
whichdateTheTimesalsopublishedextracts
fromhisbook, andwriting an article for The
Times,whichwaspublishedon6September
1995;

WhereasMrConnollycouldnothavefailedto
beawarethatthepublicationofhisbookre-
flectedapersonalopinionthatconflictedwith
thepolicy adoptedby theCommission in its
capacityasaninstitutionoftheEuropeanUn-
ionresponsibleforpursuingamajorobjective
andafundamentalpolicychoicelaiddownin
the Treaty on European Union, namely eco-
nomicandmonetaryunion;

WhereasbyhisconductMrConnollyhasseri-
ouslyprejudicedtheinterestsoftheCommu-
nitiesandhasdamagedtheimageandrepu-
tationoftheinstitution;

WhereasMrConnollyhasadmittedreceiving
royaltiespaidtohimbyhispublishersascon-
siderationforthepublicationofhisbook;

WhereasMrConnolly'soverallconducthasre-
flectedonhispositionasanofficial,giventhat
anofficialisrequiredtoconducthimselfsolely
withtheinterestsoftheCommissioninmind;

Whereas, having frequently been refused
permission to publish, a reasonably diligent
officialofhis seniorityandwithhis responsi-
bilities could not have been unaware of the
nature and gravity of such breaches of his
obligations;

Whereas, in disregard of his duties of good
faith and loyalty to the institution, Mr Con-
nolly at no time advised his superiors of his
intention to publish the book in question
eventhoughhewasstillbound,asanofficial
on leaveonpersonalgrounds,byhisdutyof
confidentiality;

Whereas Mr Connolly's conduct, on account
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ofitsgravity,involvesanirremediablebreach
ofthetrustwhichtheCommissionisentitled
to expect from its officials, and, as a conse-
quence,makes it impossible foranyemploy-
ment relationship tobemaintainedwith the
institution;

...

20By letterof7March1996, receivedat the
Secretariat-Generalof theCommissionon14
March1996, theapplicant submitteda com-
plaintunderArticle90(2)of theStaffRegula-
tionsagainsttheDisciplinaryBoard'sopinion
andagainstthedecisiontoremovehimfrom
hispost.

21ByanapplicationlodgedattheRegistryof
theCourtofFirstInstanceon13March1996,
the applicant brought an action for annul-
mentoftheDisciplinaryBoard'sopinion(Case
T-34/96).

23On18July1996theapplicantwasinformed
ofthedecisionexpresslydismissinghiscom-
plaintagainsttheDisciplinaryBoard'sopinion
andthedecisionremovinghimfromhispost.

24ByanapplicationlodgedattheRegistryof
theCourtofFirstInstanceon18October1996,
the applicant brought an action for annul-
mentof theDisciplinaryBoard'sopinionand
of the decision removing him from his post
andfordamages(CaseT-163/96).

30 At the hearing, it was formally recorded
thattheclaimsandthepleasinlawreliedon
inCaseT-34/96wererepeatedintheirentirety
inCaseT-163/96and that, consequently, the
applicantwasdiscontinuingtheproceedings
inCaseT-34/96.'

THE CONTESTED JUDGMENT

6. Before the Court of First Instance, the appel-
lant put forward seven pleas in law in support 
of his claim for annulment of the Disciplinary 
Board's opinion and the contested decision. 
First, he alleged that there had been irregulari-
ties in the disciplinary proceedings. Second, he 
alleged that the reasons given were insufficient 
and that the Disciplinary Board had infringed 
Article 7 of Annex IX, the rights of the defence 
and the principle of sound administration. By 
his third, fourth and fifth pleas, the applicant 
submitted that there had been infringements 
of, respectively, Articles 11, 12 and 17 of the 
Staff Regulations. The basis of the sixth plea 
was manifest error of assessment and breach 
of the principle of proportionality. Finally, the 

seventh plea alleged misuse of powers.

The first plea in law: irregularities in the 
disciplinary proceedings
7. The applicant complained, inter alia, that the 

Disciplinary Board and the appointing author-
ity took account of matters which were not 
dealt with in the disciplinary proceedings, 
namely, first, the complaint that Mr Connolly's 
book expressed an opinion which was incon-
sistent with the Commission's policy of bring-
ing about economic and monetary union and, 
second, the fact that he had written an article, 
published on 6 September 1995 in The Times 
newspaper, and taken part in a television pro-
gramme on 26 September 1995. He also com-
plained that the Disciplinary Board had not 
prepared a report on the case as a whole and 
that the Chairman of the Board had taken an 
active and biased part in its proceedings.

Theclaimthatmattersnotdealtwithin
thedisciplinaryproceedingsweretaken
intoaccount
8. In particular, the Court of First Instance held as 

follows:
'44TheCourtmustalsorejecttheapplicant's
argument that the appointing authority's re-
porttotheDisciplinaryBoarddidnotinclude
the contents of the book among the facts
complainedofbutwaslimitedtoreferringto
formalinfringementsofArticles11,12and17
oftheStaffRegulations.Inthatregard,itmust
beobservedthatthereportindicated,without
anyambiguity,thatthecontentsofthebook
atissue,inparticularitspolemicalnature,were
amongthefactsallegedagainsttheapplicant.
Inparticular,inparagraph23etseq.ofthere-
port,theappointingauthorityconsideredthat
therehadbeenan infringementofArticle12
of the Staff Regulationson thegrounds that
"publication of the book in itself reflects on
Mr Connolly's position as he has been head
of the unit at the Commission... responsible
for thematters recounted in the book" and,
"furthermore,inthebook,MrConnollymakes
certain derogatory and unsubstantiated at-
tacksonCommissioners andothermembers
oftheCommission'sstaff insuchawayasto
reflectonhispositionandtobringtheCom-
mission intodisreputecontrarytohisobliga-
tionsunderArticle12."Thereportwentonto
cite specifically certain statements made by
theapplicantinhisbookandtheannextothe
reportincludednumerousextractsfromit.
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45Itfollowsthat,inaccordancewithArticle1
ofAnnexIX,theappointingauthority'sreport
apprised the applicant of the facts alleged
against himwith sufficient precision for him
tobeinapositiontoexercisehisrightsofde-
fence.

46Thatinterpretationisalsoborneoutbythe
fact that, as is clear from theminutes of the
applicant's hearingbefore it, theDisciplinary
Board, on several occasionsduring thehear-
ing,madeitspositionclearregardingthepur-
poseandcontentofhisbook.

47 Furthermore, the applicant, at his final
hearing before the appointing authority on
9 January 1996, neither contended that the
Disciplinary Board's opinionwas foundedon
complaints which ought to be regarded as
new facts nor applied, as hewas entitled to
dounderArticle11ofAnnexIX,forthedisci-
plinary proceedings to be reopened (see, to
thateffect,thejudgmentoftheCourtofFirst
Instance in Case T-549/93 D v Commission
[1995]ECRSCI-A-13,11-43,paragraph55).

48Astotheapplicant'sargumentthatthere-
port submitted to theDisciplinary Board did
notrefertothefactthathehadpublishedan
articleon6September1995forthepurposeof
promotinghisbookorthathehadtakenpart
in a television broadcast on 26 September
1995,itneedmerelybenotedthat,contraryto
theapplicant'scontention,theappointingau-
thorityhadspecificallyreferredtothosefacts
inparagraph19ofthereport.

49Accordingly,thefirstpartofthepleamust
berejected.'

TheDisciplinaryBoard'sfailuretodrawup
areport
9. In particular, the Court of First Instance held as 

follows:
'73Inthepresentcase,theminutesofthefirst
meetingof theDisciplinaryBoardshowthat,
inaccordancewithArticle3ofAnnex IX, the
Chairman appointedoneof themembers of
the Board as rapporteur to prepare a report
onthematterasawhole.Althoughitappears
from theminutes in the file that the rappor-
teurwasnottheonlymemberoftheDiscipli-
naryBoardtoquestiontheapplicantandthe
witnessatthehearings, itcannotbe inferred
from that fact that the rapporteur's duties
werenotperformed.

74Furthermore,asregardsthecomplaintthat
no report was prepared on the matter as a
whole,Article3ofAnnexIXisconfinedtolay-
ingdowntherapporteur'sdutiesanddoesnot

prescribe any specific formalities concerning
theway inwhich theyshouldbeperformed,
such as whether a written report should be
producedorwhethersuchareportshouldbe
disclosedtotheparties.Consequently,thereis
noreasonwhytherapporteurshouldnotpre-
senthisreportorallytotheothermembersof
theDisciplinaryBoard.Inthepresentcase,the
applicanthasfailedtoestablishthatnoreport
was presented. Furthermore, the applicant
has not produced the slightest evidence to
showeitherthattheDisciplinaryBoardfailed
toundertakeaninquirywhichwassufficiently
completeandwhichaffordedhimalltheguar-
anteesintendedbytheStaffRegulations(see
Case228/83FvCommission[1985]ECR275,
paragraph 30, and Case T-500/93 Y v Court
of Justice [1996] ECR-SC I-A-335,II-977, para-
graph52),or,therefore,thatitwasunableto
adjudicateonthematterwithfullknowledge
ofthefacts.Inthosecircumstances,theappli-
cant'sargumentmustberejected.

76 Consequently, the third part of the plea
mustberejected.'

Theinappropriateparticipationofthe
ChairmanoftheDisciplinaryBoardinthe
proceedings
10. In particular, the Court of First Instance held as 

follows:
'82 In the present case, it is clear from the
actual wording of the Disciplinary Board's
opinionthatitwasnotnecessaryforitsChair-
mantotakepartinthevoteonthereasoned
opinionandthattheopinionwasadoptedby
amajorityofthefourothermembers.Itisalso
clearfromtheminutesonthefilethat,when
theproceedingswereopened, theChairman
of theDisciplinaryBoardconfinedhimself to
invitingthemembersoftheBoardtoconsider
whether the facts complained of had been
proved and to decide on the severity of the
disciplinarymeasure tobe imposed, thatbe-
ingwithin thenormal scopeofhisauthority.
Therefore, the applicant cannot reasonably
plead an infringement of Article 8 of Annex
IX on the ground that the Chairman of the
DisciplinaryBoardplayedanactivepartinthe
deliberations.

83 In any event, itmustbe emphasised that
theChairmanof theDisciplinary Boardmust
be present during its proceedings so that,
inter alia, he can, if necessary, votewith full
knowledgeofthefactstoresolvetiedvotesor
proceduralquestions.

84ThebiasthattheChairmanoftheDiscipli-
nary Board is alleged to have demonstrated
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vis-à-vis the applicant during the hearing is
not corroborated by any evidence. Conse-
quently, since ithas,moreover,beenneither
alleged nor established that the Disciplinary
Board failed in its duty, as an investigative
body,toact inanindependentandimpartial
manner (see, in that regard,FvCommission,
paragraph 16, and Case T-74/96 Tzoanos v
Commission [1998] ECR-SC I-A-129, II-343,
paragraph 340), the applicant's argument
mustberejected.

85Therefore,thefourthpartofthepleacan-
notbeaccepted.'

11. The Court of First Instance therefore rejected 
the first plea in law.

The second plea in law: the reasons 
given were insufficient and the 
Disciplinary Board infringed Article 7 of 
Annex IX, the rights of the defence and 
the principle of sound administration
12. The appellant submitted that, while purporting 

to set out a formal statement of reasons, the 
Disciplinary Board's opinion and the contested 
decision were actually vitiated by insufficient 
reasoning, inasmuch as the arguments raised 
by him in his defence remained unanswered. 
In particular, no answer was given to his claims 
that the second paragraph of Article 17 of the 
Staff Regulations does not apply to officials 
taking leave on personal grounds, that the ap-
pointing authority incorrectly interpreted Arti-
cle 12 of the Staff Regulations and that certain 
statements made by Commission officials were 
improper and prejudiced the outcome of the 
proceedings.

13. The Court of First Instance held, in particular, as 
follows:
'92UnderArticle7ofAnnexIX,theDisciplinary
Boardmust, after considerationof thedocu-
ments submitted and having regard to any
statementsmadeorallyorinwritingbytheof-
ficialconcernedandbywitnesses,andalsoto
theresultsofanyinquiryundertaken,delivera
reasonedopinionofthedisciplinarymeasure
appropriatetothefactscomplainedof.

93Furthermore,itissettledcase-lawthatthe
statementofthereasonsonwhichadecision
adverselyaffectingapersonisbasedmustal-
low the Community Courts to exercise their
power of review as to its legality and must
provide the person concerned with the in-
formationnecessarytoenablehimtodecide
whether or not the decision iswell founded

(CaseC-166/95PCommissionvDaffix [1997]
ECR I-983, paragraph 23; Case C-188/96 P
CommissionvV[1997]ECRI-6561,paragraph
26; andCase T-144/96 Y v Parliament [1998]
ECR-SC I-A-405, II-1153, paragraph 21). The
question whether the statement of reasons
onwhichthemeasureatissueisbasedsatis-
fiestherequirementsoftheStaffRegulations
must be assessed in the light not only of its
wording but also of its context and all the
legal rules regulating the matter concerned
(Y v Parliament, cited above, paragraph 22).
It should be emphasised that, although the
DisciplinaryBoardandtheappointingauthor-
ityare requiredtostate the factualand legal
mattersformingthelegalbasisfortheirdeci-
sions and the considerationswhichhave led
to their adoption, it is not, however, neces-
sarythattheydiscussallthefactualandlegal
pointswhichhavebeenraisedbytheperson
concerned during the proceedings (see, by
analogy, JoinedCases43/82and63/82VBVB
andVBBBvCommission[1984]ECR19,para-
graph22).

94Inthepresentcase,theDisciplinaryBoard's
opinion specifically drew attention to the
applicant's contention that the secondpara-
graph of Article 17 of the Staff Regulations
didnotapplyinhiscasesincehehadbeenon
leaveonpersonalgrounds.Thereasongiven
bytheDisciplinaryBoardandtheappointing
authority for the fact that Article 17 did ap-
plywasthat"everyofficialremainsbound[by
it]".The reasons for theapplicationofArticle
12of theStaffRegulationsarealso stated to
the requisite legal standard. TheDisciplinary
Board's opinion and the decision removing
the applicant from his post outline the ap-
plicant'sduties,drawattention to thenature
of the statementsmade inhis book and the
mannerinwhichheensuredthatitwouldbe
published,andconcludethat,asawhole,the
applicant'sconductadverselyreflectedonhis
position.Theopinionandthedecisionremov-
inghimfromhispostthusclearlyestablisha
linkbetweentheapplicant'sconductandthe
prohibition in Article 12 of the Staff Regula-
tions and set out the essential reasons why
theDisciplinaryBoardandtheappointingau-
thority considered that that articlehadbeen
infringed. The questionwhether such an as-
sessmentissufficiententailsconsiderationof
themeritsof thecase rather thanconsidera-
tionoftheadequacyorotherwiseofthestate-
mentofreasons.

95 As regards the applicant's complaint re-
gardingthelackofresponsetohisargument
that certain statements made by members
of theCommission jeopardised the impartial
nature of the proceedings against him, the
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documents before the Court show that he
confinedthatargumenttoasubmissiontothe
DisciplinaryBoard that "this situationcallļed]
for an exceptional degree of vigilance and
independence[onitspart]"(AnnexA.1tothe
application,page17).Theapplicantdoesnot
allege that, in the present case, the Discipli-
naryBoardfailedinitsdutyasaninvestigative
body toact inan independentand impartial
way.Consequently, thatcomplaint isnot rel-
evant.

97TheCourtmustalso reject theapplicant's
argumentthattheDisciplinaryBoard'sopinion
andthedecisionremovinghimfromhispost
contain an insufficient statement of reasons
in that they state that the applicant "could
nothavefailedtobeawarethatthepublica-
tionofhisbook reflectedapersonalopinion
thatconflictedwiththepolicyadoptedbythe
Commissioninitscapacityasaninstitutionof
theEuropeanUnionresponsibleforpursuing
a major objective and a fundamental policy
choice laid down in the Treaty on European
Union, namely economic and monetary un-
ion". The dispute concerned an obvious and
well-known difference of opinion between
theapplicantandtheCommission regarding
theUnion'smonetarypolicy(orderinConnol-
ly vCommission, cited above, paragraph36)
andthebookinquestion,asisclearfromthe
documentsbeforetheCourt,isthepatentex-
pressionofthatdifferenceofopinion,theap-
plicantwriting inparticular that "[his]central
thesisisthatERM[theExchangeRateMecha-
nism]andEMUarenotonlyinefficientbutalso
undemocratic:adangernotonlytoourwealth
buttoourfourfreedomsand,ultimately,our
peace"(page12ofthebook).

98Itshouldbeaddedthattheopinionandthe
decisionremovingtheapplicantfromhispost
constitutedtheculminationofthedisciplinary
proceedings,the

details of which were sufficiently familiar to
theapplicant(DaffixvCommission,paragraph
34). As is clear from the Disciplinary Board's
opinion, theapplicanthadhimself explained
at the hearing on 5December 1995 that for
severalyearshehadbeendescribingindocu-
mentspreparedinthecourseofhisdutiesas
Head of Unit II.D.3 "contradictions which he
had identified in the Commission's policies
on economic and monetary matters" and
that "since his critiques and proposals were
blockedbyhissuperiors,hehaddecided,giv-
enthevitalimportanceofthematteratissue
andthedangerthattheCommission'spolicy
entailed for the futureof theUnion, tomake
thempublic".Althoughinhisreplytheappli-
canttookexceptiontothosestatementsinthe

DisciplinaryBoard'sopinion,itisnonetheless
thecasethattheyareclearlyconfirmedbythe
minutesofthehearing,thecontentsofwhich
hedoesnotdispute(see,specifically,pages4
to7oftheminutesofthehearing).

99 Inviewof those factors, the statementof
reasonsintheDisciplinaryBoard'sopinionand
in the decision removing the applicant from
hispostcannot,consequently,beregardedas
insufficientinthatregard.

...

101 Finally, taking account of the factors set
outabove,therecanbenogroundsforalleg-
ingbreachoftheprincipleofsoundadminis-
trationoroftherightsofthedefenceonthe
basisthattheDisciplinaryBoardconductedits
proceedingsonthesamedayastheapplicant
washeard,sincethatfactrathertendstoshow
that,onthecontrary,theBoardacteddiligent-
ly. Itmustalsobeobservedthat theDiscipli-
naryBoard'sopinionwasfinallyadoptedtwo
daysafterthathearing.

102Itfollowsthatthepleamustberejected.'

The third plea in law: infringement of 
Article 11 of the Staff Regulations
14. The appellant submitted that the purpose 

of Article 11 of the Staff Regulations is not to 
prohibit officials from receiving royalties from 
the publication of their work but to ensure 
their independence by prohibiting them from 
taking instructions from persons outside their 
institution. Moreover, in receiving royalties, the 
appellant did not take instructions from any 
person outside the Commission.

15. The Court of First Instance held as follows:
'108Inthatregard,itisclearbothfromtheap-
plicant'sstatementstotheDisciplinaryBoard
and from the deposition of his publisher
submittedby the applicant at that time that
royaltiesonthesalesofhisbookwereactually
paidtohimbyhispublisher.Therefore,theap-
plicant'sargumentthattherewasnoinfringe-
mentofArticle11oftheStaffRegulationson
thebasisthatreceiptofthoseroyaltiesdidnot
resultinanypersonoutsidehisinstitutionex-
ercisinginfluenceoverhimcannotbeaccept-
ed.Suchanargumenttakesnoaccountofthe
objectiveconditionsinwhichtheprohibition
laiddownbythesecondparagraphofArticle
11 of the Staff Regulations operates, namely
acceptanceofpaymentofanykindfromany
person outside the institution, without the
permission of the appointing authority. The
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Courtfindsthatthoseconditionsweremetin
thepresentcase.

109Theapplicantcannotreasonablymaintain
that that interpretation of the second para-
graphofArticle11oftheStaffRegulationsen-
tails abreachof the right topropertyas laid
down inArticle1of theFirstProtocol to the
European Convention for the Protection of
Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms
signedatRomeon4November1950(herein-
after"theECHR").

110 First, it should be observed that in the
presentcasetherehasbeennoinfringement
oftherighttoproperty,sincetheCommission
hasnotconfiscatedanysumsreceivedbythe
applicantbywayofremunerationforhisbook.

111 Furthermore, according to the case-law,
the exercise of fundamental rights, such
as the right to property, may be subject to
restrictions, provided that the restrictions
correspond to objectives of general inter-
est pursued by the Community and do not
constitute a disproportionate and intoler-
able interference which infringes upon the
very substanceof the rightsguaranteed (see
Case265/87SchrödervHaiiptzollamtGronau
[1989]ECR2237,paragraph15andthecase-
lawcitedtherein).TheruleslaiddownbyAr-
ticle11oftheStaffRegulations,underwhich
officialsmustconductthemselvessolelywith
theinterestsoftheCommunitiesinmind,are
a response to the legitimate concern to en-
sure that officials are not only independent
but also loyal vis-à-vis their institution (see,
inthatregard,CaseT-273/94NvCommission
[1997]ECR-SCI-A-97,11-289,paragraphs128
and129),anobjectivewhosepursuitjustifies
theslightinconvenienceofobtainingtheap-
pointing authority's permission to receive
sums from sources outside the institution to
whichtheofficialbelongs.

...

113 There is no evidence at all of the prac-
ticewhichallegedlyexistedwithin theCom-
mission of allowing royalties to be received
for servicesprovidedbyofficialson leaveon
personal grounds. Furthermore, that argu-
ment is of no relevance in the absence of
any contention that the practice concerned
applied to works published without the
prior permission provided for in Article 17
of the Staff Regulations. The applicant is not
maintaining therefore that he had received
any clear assurances which might have giv-
en him real grounds for expecting that he
would not be required to apply for permis-
sionunderArticle11oftheStaffRegulations.

114Accordingly,thepleamustberejected.'

The fourth plea in law: infringement of 
Article 12 of the Staff Regulations
16. The appellant submitted that the complaint 

that he had infringed Article 12 of the Staff 
Regulations was unlawful since it was in breach 
of the principle of freedom of expression laid 
down in Article 10 of the ECHR, that the book 
at issue was a work of economic analysis and 
was not contrary to the interests of the Com-
munity, that the Commission misrepresents 
the scope of the duty of loyalty and that the 
alleged personal attacks in the book are merely 
instances of’lightness of style' in the context of 
an economic analysis.

17. So far as this plea in law is concerned, the Court 
of First Instance held as follows:
'124 According to settled case-law, [the first
paragraph of Article 12 of the Staff Regula-
tions] is designed, primarily, to ensure that
Communityofficials,intheirconduct,present
adignifiedimagewhichisinkeepingwiththe
particularlycorrectandrespectablebehaviour
oneisentitledtoexpectfrommembersofan
international civil service (CaseT-146/94Wil-
liams v Court of Auditors [1996] ECR-SC I-A-
103, 11-329, paragraph 65; hereinafter "Wil-
liamsIF;NvCommission,paragraph127,and
Case T-183/96 E v ESC [1998] ECR-SC I-A-67,
11-159,paragraph39).Itfollows,inparticular,
thatwhere insulting remarks aremade pub-
licly by an official, which are detrimental to
thehonourof thepersons towhomthey re-
fer,thatinitselfconstitutesareflectiononthe
official'sposition for thepurposesof the first
paragraphofArticle12oftheStaffRegulations
(orderof21January1997inCaseC-156/96P
WilliamsvCourtofAuditors[1997]ECR1-239,
paragraph21;CaseT-146/89WilliamsvCourt
ofAuditors[1991]ECR11-1293,paragraphs76
and80(hereinafter"WilliamsI"),andWilliams
II,paragraph66).

125Inthepresentcase,thedocumentsbefore
theCourtandtheextractswhichtheCommis-
sionhascitedshowthatthebookatissuecon-
tains numerous aggressive, derogatory and
frequently insulting statements, which are
detrimentaltothehonourofthepersonsand
institutionstowhichtheyreferandwhichhave
beenextremelywellpublicised,particularlyin
thepress.Contrarytotheappellant'sconten-
tion,thestatementscitedbytheCommission,
and referred to in the appointing authority's
report to the Disciplinary Board, cannot be
categorisedasmereinstancesof"lightnessof
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style"butmustberegardedas,inthemselves,
reflectingontheofficial'sposition.

126Theargumentthatultimatelyneitherthe
DisciplinaryBoardnortheappointingauthor-
ity relied on the abovementioned complaint
when giving reasons for the dismissal is un-
founded. Both of them specifically stated in
theopinionandinthedecisionremovingMr
Connolly from his post, that "Mr Connolly's
behaviour, taken as a whole, has reflected
on his position". The fact that extracts from
thebookarenot expressly cited in thedeci-
sionremovingtheapplicantfromhispost(as
theywereintheappointingauthority'sreport
totheDisciplinaryBoard)cannotthereforebe
interpreted as meaning that the complaint
concerningan infringementof the firstpara-
graphofArticle12oftheStaffRegulationshad
beendropped.Thatisparticularlysosincethe
decisionremovingtheapplicantfromhispost
constitutes the culmination of disciplinary
proceedings,withwhosedetailstheapplicant
wassufficiently familiarandduringwhich,as
isclearfromtheminutesinthefile,theappli-
canthadhadanopportunitytogivehisviews
onthecontentofthestatementsfoundinhis
book.

127 Further, the first paragraph of Article 12
oftheStaffRegulationsspecificallysetsout,as
doArticles 11 and21, thedutyof loyalty in-
cumbentuponeveryofficial(seeNvCommis-
sion, paragraph 129, approvedon appeal by
theCourtof Justice'sorder inCaseC-252/97
P N v Commission [1998] ECR 1-4871). Con-
trary to the applicant's contention, it cannot
beconcludedfromthe judgment inWilliams
IthatthatdutyarisesonlyunderArticle21of
theStaffRegulations, since theCourtofFirst
Instance drew attention in that judgment to
the fact that thedutyof loyaltyconstitutesa
fundamental duty owed by every official to
theinstitutiontowhichhebelongsandtohis
superiors, a duty "of which Article 21 of the
StaffRegulationsisaparticularmanifestation".

Consequently,theCourtmustrejecttheargu-
mentthattheappointingauthoritycouldnot
legitimately invoke, vis-à-vis the applicant, a
breach of his duty of loyalty, on the ground
that the report to theDisciplinary Board did
not cite an infringement of Article 21 of the
StaffRegulations.

128Similarly,theCourtmustrejecttheargu-
mentthatthedutyofloyaltydoesnotinvolve
preserving the relationship of trust between
the official and his institution but involves
onlyloyaltyasregardstheTreaties.Thedutyof
loyaltyrequiresnotonlythattheofficialcon-
cernedrefrainsfromconductwhichreflectson

hispositionandisdetrimentaltotherespect
duetotheinstitutionanditsauthorities(see,
forexample,thejudgmentinWilliamsI,para-
graph 72, and Case T-293/94 Vela Palacios v
ESC[1996]ECR-SCI-A-297,11-893,paragraph
43), but also that he must conduct himself,
particularly ifhe isofseniorgrade, inaman-
nerthatisbeyondsuspicioninorderthatthe
relationshipof trustbetween that institution
andhimselfmayatalltimesbemaintained(N
vCommission,paragraph129).Inthepresent
case,itshouldbeobservedthatthebookatis-
sue,inadditiontoincludingstatementswhich
in themselves reflectedonhisposition,pub-
licly expressed, as the appointing authority
haspointedout,theapplicant's fundamental
oppositiontotheCommission'spolicy,which
itwashisresponsibilitytoimplement,namely
bringing about economic and monetary
union, an objective which is, moreover, laid
downintheTreaty.

129 In that context, it is not reasonable for
theapplicanttocontendthattherehasbeen
a breach of the principle of freedom of ex-
pression. It is clear from the case-lawon the
subjectthat,althoughfreedomofexpression
constitutes a fundamental rightwhich Com-
munity officials also enjoy (Case C-100/88
OyoweandTraore vCommission [1989] ECR
4285,paragraph16),itisneverthelessthecase
thatArticle12oftheStaffRegulations,ascon-
struedabove,doesnotconstituteabartothe
freedom of expression of those officials but
imposes reasonable limits on the exercise of
thatrightintheinterestoftheservice(EvESC,
paragraph41).

130Finally,itmustbeemphasisedthatthatin-
terpretationofthefirstparagraphofArticle12
oftheStaffRegulationscannotbechallenged
onthegroundthat,inthepresentcase,pub-
licationof thebookat issue occurredduring
aperiodofleaveonpersonalgrounds.Inthat
regard, it is clear fromArticle 35 of the Staff
Regulations that leave on personal grounds
constitutesoneoftheadministrativestatuses
which an official may be assigned, with the
result that, during such a period, theperson
concernedremainsboundbytheobligations
bornebyeveryofficial, in theabsenceofex-
press provision to the contrary. Since Article
12 of the Staff Regulations applies to all of-
ficials,withoutanydistinctionbasedontheir
status,thefactthattheapplicantwasonsuch
leavecannotreleasehimfromhisobligations
underthatarticle.Thatisparticularlysosince
anofficial'sconcernfortherespectduetohis
positionisnotconfinedtotheparticulartime
atwhich he carries out a specific task but is
expected from im under all circumstances
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(Williams II, paragraph 68). The same is true
ofthedutyofloyaltywhich,accordingtothe
case-law,appliesnotonlyintheperformance
ofspecifictasksbutextendstothewholere-
lationshipbetween the official and the insti-
tution (Williams I,paragraph72andEvESC,
paragraph47).

131Accordingly,theappointingauthoritywas
fullyentitled to take theview that theappli-
cant'sbehaviourhadreflectedonhisposition
and involved an irremediable breach of the
trustwhichtheCommissionisentitledtoex-
pectfromitsofficials.

132Itfollowsthatthepleamustberejected.'

The fifth plea in law: infringement of 
Article 17 of the Staff Regulations
18. The appellant submitted, inter alia, that the 

interpretation of the second paragraph of Ar-
ticle 17 of the Staff Regulations on which the 
Disciplinary Board's opinion and the contested 
decision are based is contrary to the principle 
of freedom of expression laid down in Article 
10 of the ECHR, in that it leads, inherently, to 
the prohibition of any publication. Constraints 
on freedom of expression are permissible only 
in the exceptional cases listed in Article 10(2) of 
the ECHR. Furthermore, Article 17 of the Staff 
Regulations does not apply to officials who are 
on leave on personal grounds and die appel-
lant was, in any event, justified in believing that 
to be the case, having regard to the practice 
followed by the Commission, at least in DG II.

19. The Court of First Instance rejected this plea for 
the following reasons:
'147Inthepresentcase,itisnotdisputedthat
theapplicantwentaheadwithpublicationof
his bookwithout applying for the prior per-
missionrequiredbytheprovisioncitedabove.
However, the applicant, without expressly
raisinganobjectionof illegality to theeffect
that the second paragraph of Article 17 of
the Staff Regulations as awhole is unlawful,
submitsthattheCommission'sinterpretation
oftheprovisioniscontrarytotheprincipleof
freedomofexpression.

148Inthatregard,itmustberecalledthatthe
righttofreedomofexpressionlaiddowninAr-
ticle10oftheECHRconstitutes,ashasalready
beenmadeclear,afundamentalright,theob-
servanceofwhichisguaranteedbytheCom-
munityCourtsandwhichCommunityofficials
alsoenjoy(OyoweandTraorevCommission,
paragraph 16, and E v ESC, paragraph 41).

Nonetheless,itisalsoclearfromsettledcase-
lawthatfundamentalrightsdonotconstitute
anunfetteredprerogativebutmaybesubject
to restrictions, provided that the restrictions
in fact correspond to objectives of general
public interest pursued by the Community
and do not constitute, with regard to the
objectives pursued, a disproportionate and
intolerableinterferencewhichinfringesupon
theverysubstanceoftherightsprotected(see
Schräder v Hauptzollamt Gronau, paragraph
15; Case C-404/92 P X vCommission [1994]
ECR I-4737, paragraph 18; Case T-176/94 K
v Commission [1995] ECR-SC I-A-203, II-621,
paragraph33;andNvCommission,paragraph
73).

149 In the light of those principles and the
case-lawonArticle12oftheStaffRegulations
(seeparagraph129aboveandEvESC,para-
graph41),thesecondparagraphofArticle17
oftheStaffRegulations,asinterpretedbythe
decisionremovingtheapplicantfromhispost,
cannot be regarded as imposing an unwar-
ranted restriction on the freedom of expres-
sionofofficials.

150First, itmustbeemphasised that the re-
quirement thatpermissionbeobtainedprior
to publication corresponds to the legitimate
aim that material dealing with the work of
theCommunitiesshouldnotunderminetheir
interests and, in particular, as in the present
case,thereputationandimageofoneofthe
institutions.

151Second, the secondparagraphofArticle
17 of the Staff Regulations does not consti-
tuteadisproportionatemeasureinrelationto
thepublic-interestobjectivewhichthearticle
concernedseekstoprotect.

152Inthatconnection,itshouldbeobserved
attheoutsetthat,contrarytotheapplicant's
contention, it cannot be inferred from the
second paragraph of Article 17 of the Staff
Regulations that the rules it laysdown in re-
spectofpriorpermission therebyenable the
institution concerned to exercise unlimited
censorship. First, under that provision, prior
permissionisrequiredonlywhenthematerial
that theofficialwishes topublish,or tohave
published,"[deals]withtheworkoftheCom-
munities". Second, it is clear fromthatprovi-
sion that there isnoabsoluteprohibitionon
publication,ameasurewhich,initself,would
be detrimental to the very substance of the
righttofreedomofexpression.Onthecontra-
ry,thelastsentenceofthesecondparagraph
ofArticle17of theStaffRegulationssetsout
clearly the principles governing the grant of
permission,specificallyprovidingthatpermis-
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sionmayberefusedonlywherethepublica-
tioninpointisliabletoprejudicetheinterests
of the Communities. Moreover, such a deci-
sionmaybecontestedunderArticles90and
91oftheStaffRegulations,sothatanofficial
whotakes theviewthathewas refusedper-
mission in breach of the Staff Regulations is
able to have recourse to the legal remedies
availabletohimwithaviewtosecuringreview
by theCommunityCourtsof theassessment
madebytheinstitutionconcerned.

153Itmustalsobeemphasisedthatthesec-
ondparagraphofArticle17oftheStaffRegu-
lations is a preventivemeasure designed on
the one hand, to ensure that the Communi-
ties'interestsarenotjeopardised,and,onthe
other,astheCommissionhasrightlypointed
out,tomakeitunnecessaryfortheinstitution
concerned,afterpublicationofmaterialpreju-
dicingtheCommunities'interests,totakedis-
ciplinarymeasuresagainstanofficialwhohas
exercisedhisrightofexpressioninawaythat
isincompatiblewithhisduties.

154 In the present case, the appointing au-
thority maintained, in its decision removing
theapplicantfromhispost,thathehadfailed
tocomplywiththatprovisiononthegrounds
that,first,hehadnotrequestedpermissionto
publishhis book, second, he couldnot have
failed tobe aware that hewouldbe refused
permissiononthesamegroundsasthoseon
whichpermissionhadpreviouslybeenrefused
inrespectofarticlesofsimilarcontent,and,fi-
nally,hisconducthadseriouslyprejudicedthe
Communities'interestsandhaddamagedthe
institution'simageandreputation.

155 In the light of all those considerations,
therefore,itcannotbeinferredfromthedeci-
sionremovingtheapplicantfromhispostthat
the findingthathehad infringedthesecond
paragraphofArticle17oftheStaffRegulations
wouldhavebeenmadeeven if theCommu-
nities' interestshadnotbeenprejudiced.Ac-
cordinglythereisnothingtoindicatethatthe
scopeattributedby theappointingauthority
to that provision goes further than the aim
pursuedandisthereforecontrarytotheprin-
cipleoffreedomofexpression.

156Inthosecircumstances,thepleaalleging
breachof the right to freedomofexpression
mustberejected.

157Theargumentthatthesecondparagraph
ofArticle17oftheStaffRegulationsdoesnot
applytoofficialswhoareonleaveonpersonal
grounds is also unfounded. As pointed out
above (paragraph 130), it follows from Arti-
cle35oftheStaffRegulationsthatanofficial

on such leave retainshis status as anofficial
throughouttheperiodofleaveandtherefore
remains bound by his obligations under the
regulations in the absence of express provi-
siontothecontrary.Thesecondparagraphof
Article 17 of the Staff Regulations applies to
allofficialsanddoesnotdrawanydistinction
basedonthestatusofthepersonconcerned.
Consequently,thefactthattheapplicantwas
onleaveonpersonalgroundswhenhisbook
waspublisheddoesnotreleasehimfromhis
obligationunderthesecondparagraphofAr-
ticle17oftheStaffRegulationstorequestper-
missionfromtheappointingauthoritypriorto
publication.

158 That interpretation is not undermined
bythefactthat,unlikethesecondparagraph
ofArticle17oftheStaffRegulations,thefirst
paragraphthereofexpresslyprovidesthatan
officialcontinues tobeboundbyhisdutyof
confidentialityafterleavingtheservice.Anof-
ficialonleaveonpersonalgroundsisnotcom-
parable to an official whose service has ter-
minated,asprovidedinArticle47oftheStaff
Regulations,andwho,therefore,doesnotfall
withinanyoftheadministrativestatuseslisted
inArticle35oftheStaffRegulations.

...

160 Accordingly, the Disciplinary Board and
the appointing authority were right to find
that the applicant had infringed the second
paragraph of Article 17 of the Staff Regula-
tions.

161 Finally, the applicant's allegation that a
general practice existed in the Commission,
by virtue of which officials on leave on per-
sonal grounds were not required to request
priorpermissionforpublication,isinnoway-
substantiatedbythestatementcitedbyhim.
Inthatstatement,theformerDirector-General
of DG II confines himself to saying that Mr
Connollyhadtakenunpaid leaveofoneyear
in1985inordertoworkforaprivatefinancial
institutionand,duringthatperiod,hehadnot
considered it necessary to approve the texts
prepared byMr Connolly for that institution
oreventocommentonthem. It followsthat
thereisnobasisfortheargument.

162Consequently,thepleamustberejected.'

The sixth plea in law: manifest error of 
assessment and breach of the principle 
of proportionality
20. The appellant claimed that the contested deci-

sion was vitiated by a manifest error of assess-
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ment as to the facts and that it was in breach of 
the principle of proportionality, in that it failed 
to take account of various mitigating circum-
stances.

21. The Court of First Instance held as follows:
'165 It is settledcase-lawthatoncethetruth
oftheallegationsagainsttheofficialhasbeen
established,thechoiceofappropriatediscipli-
narymeasure is amatter for the appointing
authorityandtheCommunityCourtsmaynot
substitute their own assessment for that of
the authority, save in casesofmanifest error
or amisuse of powers (Case 46/72DeGreef
vCommission [1973]ECR543,paragraph45;
F v Commission, paragraph 34; Williams I,
paragraph83;andDvCommission,paragraph
96). It must also be borne in mind that the
determination of the penalty to be imposed
is based on a comprehensive appraisal by
the appointing authority of all the particular
factsandcircumstancespeculiartoeachindi-
vidualcase,sinceArticles86to89oftheStaff
Regulationsdonotspecifyanyfixedrelation-
shipbetweenthemeasuresprovidedforand
thevarioussortsofinfringementsanddonot
statetheextenttowhichtheexistenceofag-
gravatingormitigatingcircumstancesshould
affect thechoiceofpenalty (Case403/85Fv
Commission [1987] ECR 645, paragraph 26;
Williams I,paragraph83;andYvParliament,
paragraph34).

166 In the present case, it must be first be
pointedout that the truth of the allegations
againsttheapplicanthasbeenestablished.

167 Second, thepenalty imposed cannot be
regardedas eitherdisproportionateor as re-
sulting from amanifest error of assessment.
Eventhoughitisnotdisputedthattheappli-
canthadagoodservice record, theappoint-
ingauthoritywasneverthelessfullyentitledto
find that,having regard to thegravityof the
facts established and the applicant's grade
andresponsibilities,suchafactorwasnotca-
pableofmitigatingthepenaltytobeimposed.

168 Furthermore, the applicant's argument
that account should have been taken of his
good faith regardingwhathebelievedtobe
thescopeofthedutiesofanofficialonleave
on personal grounds cannot be accepted.
It is clear from the case-law that officials are
deemed to know theStaff Regulations (Case
T-12/94 D affix v Commission [1997] ECR-SC
I-A-453, II-1197,paragraph116; JoinedCases
T-116/96,T-212/96andT-215/96Telehintand
Others v Commission [1998] ECR-SC I-A-327,
II-947,paragraph59),withtheresultthattheir
allegedignoranceoftheirobligationscannot

constitutegoodfaith.Thatargumenthaseven
lessforceinthepresentcasesincetheappli-
canthasadmittedthathiscolleaguesknewof
hisintentiontoworkonthebookatissuedur-
ing his leave on personal grounds, whereas,
inhisrequesttotheappointingauthorityun-
derArticle40oftheStaffRegulations,hehad
given reasons unconnected with his book.
Giventhatsuchstatementsarecontrarytothe
honesty and trustwhich shouldgovern rela-
tionsbetweentheadministrationandofficials
andareincompatiblewiththeintegritywhich
each official is requiredtoshow(see, to that
effect, Joined Cases 175/86 and 209/86M v
Council [1988] ECR 1891, paragraph 21), the
appointingauthoritywasentitledtotreatthe
applicant's argument concerning his alleged
goodfaithasunfounded.

169Consequently,thepleamustberejected.'

The seventh plea in law: misuse of 
powers
22. Finally, the appellant asserted that there was a 

body of evidence establishing misuse of pow-
ers.

23. In rejecting this plea, the Court of First Instance 
gave the following grounds:
'171 According to the case-law, a misuse of
powers consists in an administrative author-
ityusing itspowers forapurposeotherthan
thatforwhichtheywereconferredonit.Thus,
adecisionmayamounttoamisuseofpowers
only if it appears, on the basis of objective,
relevantandconsistent indicia, tohavebeen
taken for purposes other than those stated
(WilliamsI,paragraphs87and88).

172As regards the statementsmadeby cer-
tainmembersoftheCommissionbeforecom-
mencementofthedisciplinaryproceedings,it
needmerely be observed that... those state-
mentsconstitutednomorethanaprovisional
assessment by the relevantmembers of the
Commission and could not, in the circum-
stancesofthecase,adverselyaffecttheproper
conductofthedisciplinaryproceedings.

173 Nor can the applicant's argument that
theCommission shouldhavewarnedhimof
the risks that he was running by publishing
hisbookbeaccepted.TheCommissionrightly
pointsoutthatitcannotbeheldliableforini-
tiativeswhichtheapplicanthadtakencareto
conceal from itwhenhe requested leaveon
personal grounds. Furthermore, the argu-
ments alleging that there were irregularities
in the disciplinary proceedings and that the
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applicant acted in good faith must also be
rejectedforthereasonssetoutinconnection
withthefirstandsixthpleas.

174AstotheargumentallegingthattheCom-
missionchangedthegeneralrulesforcalculat-
ingsalaryreductionsincasesofsuspension,it
needmerelybepointedoutthatthechange
was not specifically linked to the applicant's
removal from his post and cannot therefore
constituteproofoftheallegedmisuseofpow-
ers.

175Accordingly, it has not been established
that, when imposing the disciplinary meas-
ure,theappointingauthoritypursuedanyaim
other than that of safeguarding the internal
orderoftheCommunitycivilservice.Thesev-
enthpleamustthereforeberejected.'

24. The Court of First Instance therefore rejected 
the pleas for annulment and, consequently, the 
claim for damages.

25. Accordingly, the Court of First Instance dis-
missed the application and ordered each of the 
parties to bear its own costs.

THE APPEAL

26. Mr Connolly claims that the Court of Justice 
should:

• set aside the contested judgment;

• annul so far as necessary the opinion of the 
Disciplinary Board;

• annul the contested decision;

• annul the decision of 12 July 1996 rejecting 
his administrative complaint;

• order the Commission to pay him BEF 7 500 
000 in respect of material damage and BEF 
1 500 000 in respect of non-material dam-
age;

• order the Commission to pay the costs both 
of the proceedings before the Court of First 
Instance and of the present proceedings.

27. The Commission contends that the Court of 
Justice should

• dismiss the appeal as partially inadmissible 
and, in any event, as entirely unfounded;

• dismiss the claim for damages as inadmis-
sible and unfounded;

• order Mr Connolly to pay the costs in their 
entirety.

28. In his appeal the appellant puts forward 13 
grounds of appeal.

The first ground of appeal
29. By his first ground of appeal, Mr Connolly 

complains that the Court of First Instance 
failed to take account of the fact that Articles 
12 and 17 of the Staff Regulations establish a 
system of prior censorship which is, in princi-
ple, contrary to Article 10 of the ECHR as inter-
preted by the European Court of Human Rights 
(hereinafter’the Court of Human Rights').

30. Furthermore, that system does not incorporate 
the substantive and procedural conditions re-
quired by Article 10 of the ECHR whenever a re-
striction is imposed on freedom of expression 
as safeguarded by that provision. In particular, 
it fails to comply with the requirement that any 
restriction must pursue a legitimate aim, must 
be prescribed by a legislative provision which 
makes the restriction foreseeable, must be nec-
essary and appropriate to the aim pursued and 
must be amenable to effective judicial review.

31. The appellant also complains that the Court of 
First Instance neither balanced the interests in-
volved nor ascertained whether the contested 
decision was actually justified by a pressing so-
cial need. In that regard, the appellant submits 
that if that decision was taken in order to safe-
guard the interests of the institution and the 
people affected by the book at issue, then, to 
be effective, it should have been accompanied 
by measures designed to prevent distribution 
of the book. Such measures were not, however, 
adopted by the Commission.

32. The Commission contends, as a preliminary 
point, that the first ground of appeal should 
be rejected as inadmissible on the ground that 
it is concerned with the substantive legality of 
the rules concerning permission laid down by 
Article 17 of the Staff Regulations rather than 
with the Court of First Instance's interpretation 
thereof. At no time during the proceedings at 
first instance did the appellant specifically raise 
an objection of illegality under Article 241 EC.

33. As to the substance, the Commission contends 
that Article 17 contains all the safeguards 
needed to meet the requirements of Article 
10 of the ECHR and that, as the Court of First 
Instance held in paragraphs 148 to 154 of the 
contested judgment, it is confined to imposing 
reasonable limits on freedom of publication in 
cases where the interests of the Community 
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might be adversely affected.

Theadmissibilityofthegroundofappeal
34. It is true that, in his first ground of appeal, the 

appellant appears to be challenging, by refer-
ence to Article 10 of the ECHR, the substantive 
legality of the rules concerning permission 
laid down by Article 17 of the Staff Regula-
tions, even though before the Court of First 
Instance, as indicated in paragraph 147 of the 
contested judgment, he only contested the 
Commission's’interpretation' of the second 
paragraph of Article 17 of the Staff Regulations 
as being contrary to freedom of expression.

35. Nevertheless, before the Court of First Instance, 
the appellant, by reference to the require-
ments of Article 10 of the ECHR, challenged the 
way in which the second paragraph of Article 
17 of the Staff Regulations was applied in his 
case. Before this Court, he is criticising the rea-
soning of the contested judgment to justify 
rejection of his plea alleging failure to observe 
the principle of freedom of expression.

36. The first ground of appeal must therefore be 
held to be admissible.

Substance
37. First, according to settled case-law, fundamen-

tal rights form an integral part of the general 
principles of law, whose observance the Court 
ensures. For that purpose, the Court draws 
inspiration from the constitutional traditions 
common to the Member States and from the 
guidelines supplied by international treaties for 
the protection of human rights on which the 
Member States have collaborated or to which 
they are signatories. The ECHR has special sig-
nificance in that respect (see, in particular, Case 
C-260/89 ERT [1991] ECR I-2925, paragraph 41).

38. Those principles have, moreover, been re-
stated in Article 6(2) of the Treaty on European 
Union, which provides:’The Union shall respect 
fundamental rights, as guaranteed by the Euro-
pean Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms signed in 
Rome on 4 November 1950 and as they result 
from the constitutional traditions common to 
the Member States, as general principles of 
Community law.'

39. As the Court of Human Rights has 
held,’Freedom of expression constitutes one of 
the essential foundations of [a democratic soci-
ety], one of the basic conditions for its progress 

and for the development of every man. Subject 
to paragraph 2 of Article 10 [of the ECHR], it is 
applicable not only to "information" or "ideas" 
that are favourably received or regarded as 
inoffensive or as a matter of indifference, but 
also to those that offend, shock or disturb; such 
are the demands of that pluralism, tolerance 
and broadmindedness without which there 
is no "democratic society'" (Eur. Court H. R. 
Handyside v United Kingdom judgment of 7 
December 1976, Series A no. 24, § 49; Müller 
and Others judgment of 24 May 1988, Series A 
no. 133, § 33; and Vogt v Germany judgment 
of 26 September 1995, Series A no. 323, S 52).

40. Freedom of expression may be subject to 
the limitations set out in Article 10(2) of the 
ECHR, in terms of which the exercise of that 
freedom,’since it carries with it duties and re-
sponsibilities, may be subject to such formali-
ties, conditions, restrictions or penalties as are 
prescribed by law and are necessary in a demo-
cratic society, in the interests of national secu-
rity, territorial integrity or public safety, for the 
prevention of disorder or crime, for the protec-
tion of health or morals, for the protection of 
the reputation or rights of others, for prevent-
ing the disclosure of information received in 
confidence, or for maintaining the authority 
and impartiality of the judiciary'.

41. Those limitations must, however, be interpret-
ed restrictively. According to the Court of Hu-
man Rights, the adjective’necessary' involves, 
for the purposes of Article 10(2), a’pressing 
social need' and, although’[t]he contracting 
States have a certain margin of appreciation 
in assessing whether such a need exists', the 
interference must be’proportionate to the 
legitimate aim pursued' and’the reasons ad-
duced by the national authorities to justify it' 
must be’relevant and sufficient' (see, in particu-
lar, Vogt v Germany, § 52; and Wille v Liech-
tenstein judgment of 28 October 1999, no 
28396/95, § 61 to § 63). Furthermore, any pri-
or restriction requires particular consideration 
(see Wingrove v United Kingdom judgment of 
25 November 1996, Reports of Judgments and 
Decisions 1996-V, p. 1957, § 58 and § 60).

42. Furthermore, the restrictions must be pre-
scribed by legislative provisions which are 
worded with sufficient precision to enable in-
terested parties to regulate their conduct, tak-
ing, if need be, appropriate advice (Eur. Court 
H. R. Sunday Times v United Kingdom judg-
ment of 26 April 1979, Series A no. 30, § 49).
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43. As the Court has ruled, officials and other em-
ployees of the European Communities enjoy 
the right of freedom of expression (see Oyowe 
and Traore v Commission, paragraph 16), even 
in areas falling within the scope of the activities 
of the Community institutions. That freedom 
extends to the expression, orally or in writing, 
of opinions that dissent from or conflict with 
those held by the employing institution.

44. However, it is also legitimate in a democratic 
society to subject public servants, on account 
of their status, to obligations such as those 
contained in Articles 11 and 12 of the Staff 
Regulations. Such obligations are intended 
primarily to preserve the relationship of trust 
which must exist between the institution and 
its officials or other employees.

45. It is settled that the scope of those obligations 
must vary according to the nature of the du-
ties performed by the person concerned or his 
place in the hierarchy (see, to that effect, Wille 
v Liechtenstein, § 63, and the opinion of the 
Commission of Human Rights in its report of 11 
May 1984 in Glasenapp v Germany, Series A no. 
104, § 124).

46. In terms of Article 10(2) of the ECHR, specific 
restrictions on the exercise of the right of free-
dom of expression can, in principle, be justified 
by the legitimate aim of protecting the rights 
of others. The rights at issue here are those of 
the institutions that are charged with the re-
sponsibility of carrying out tasks in the public 
interest. Citizens must be able to rely on their 
doing so effectively.

47. That is the aim of the regulations setting out 
the duties and responsibilities of the European 
public service. So an official may not, by oral or 
written expression, act in breach of his obliga-
tions under the regulations, particularly Articles 
11,12 and 17, towards the institution that he 
is supposed to serve. That would destroy the 
relationship of trust between himself and that 
institution and make it thereafter more difficult, 
if not impossible, for the work of the institution 
to be carried out in cooperation with that of-
ficial.

48. In exercising their power of review, the Com-
munity Courts must decide, having regard 
to all the circumstances of the case, whether 
a fair balance has been struck between the 
individual's fundamental right to freedom of 
expression and the legitimate concern of the 
institution to ensure that its officials and agents 
observe the duties and responsibilities implicit 

in the performance of their tasks.

49. As the Court of Human Rights has held in that 
regard, it must’[be borne in mind] that when-
ever civil servants' right to freedom of expres-
sion is in issue the "duties and responsibilities" 
referred to in Article 10(2) assume a special sig-
nificance, which justifies leaving to the national 
authorities a certain margin of appreciation in 
determining whether the impugned interfer-
ence is proportionate to the above aim' (see 
Eur. Court H. R. Vogt v Germany, cited above; 
Ahmed and Others v United Kingdom judg-
ment of 2 September 1998, Reports of Judg-
ments and Decisions 1998-VI, p. 2378, § 56; 
and Wille v Liechtenstein, cited above, § 62).

50. The second paragraph of Article 17 of the Staff 
Regulations must be interpreted in the light of 
those general considerations, as was done by 
the Court of First Instance in paragraphs 148 to 
155 of the contested judgment.

51. The second paragraph of Article 17 requires 
permission for publication of any matter deal-
ing with the work of the Communities. Permis-
sion may be refused only where the proposed 
publication is liable’to prejudice the interests of 
the Communities'. That eventuality, referred to 
in a Council regulation in restrictive terms, is a 
matter that falls within the scope of’the protec-
tion of the rights of others', which, according 
to Article 10(2) of the ECHR as interpreted by 
the Court of Human Rights, is such as to justify 
restricting freedom of expression.

Consequently, the appellant's allegations that 
the second paragraph of Article 17 of the Staff 
Regulations does not pursue a legitimate aim 
and that the restriction of freedom of expres-
sion is not prescribed by a legislative provision 
must be rejected.

52. The fact that the restriction at issue takes the 
form of prior permission cannot render it 
contrary, as such, to the fundamental right of 
freedom of expression, as the Court of First In-
stance held in paragraph 152 of the contested 
judgment.

53. The second paragraph of Article 17 of the Staff 
Regulations clearly provides that, in principle, 
permission is to be granted, refusal being pos-
sible only in exceptional cases. Indeed, in so far 
as that provision enables institutions to refuse 
permission to publish, and thus potentially 
interfere to a serious extent with freedom of 
expression, one of the fundamental pillars of a 
democratic society, it must be interpreted re-
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strictively and applied in strict compliance with 
the requirements mentioned in paragraph 41 
above. Thus, permission to publish may be re-
fused only where publication is liable to cause 
serious harm to the Communities' interests.

54. Furthermore, as their scope is restricted to 
publications dealing with the work of the 
Communities, the rules are designed solely to 
allow the institution to keep itself informed of 
the views expressed in writing by its officials or 
other employees about its work so as to satisfy 
itself that they are carrying out their duties and 
conducting themselves with the interests of 
the Communities in mind and not in a way that 
would adversely reflect on their position.

55. Remedies against a decision refusing permis-
sion are available under Articles 90 and 91 of 
the Staff Regulations. There is thus no basis for 
the appellant to claim, as he does, that the rules 
in Article 17 of the Staff Regulations are not 
amenable to effective judicial review. Review 
of that kind enables the Community Courts 
to ascertain whether the appointing authority 
has exercised its power under the second para-
graph of Article 17 of the Staff Regulations in 
strict compliance with the limitations to which 
any interference with the right to freedom of 
expression is subject.

56. Such rules reflect the relationship of trust which 
must exist between employers and employees, 
particularly when they discharge high-level re-
sponsibilities in the public service. The way in 
which the rules are applied can be assessed 
solely in the light of all the relevant circum-
stances and the implications thereof for the 
performance of public duties. In that respect, 
the rules meet the criteria set out in paragraph 
41 above for the acceptability of interference 
with the right to freedom of expression.

57. It is also clear from the foregoing that, when 
applying the second paragraph of Article 17 of 
the Staff Regulations, the appointing authority 
must balance the various interests at stake and 
is in a position to do so by taking account, in 
particular, of the gravity of the potential preju-
dice to the interests of the Communities.

58. In the present case, the Court of First Instance 
found, in paragraph 154 of the contested judg-
ment, that’the appointing authority main-
tained, in its decision removing the applicant 
from his post, that he had failed to comply with 
[the second paragraph of Article 17 of the Staff 
Regulations] on the grounds that, first, he had 
not requested permission to publish his book, 

second, he could not have failed to be aware 
that he would be refused permission on the 
same grounds as those on which permission 
had previously been refused in respect of arti-
cles of similar content, and, finally, his conduct 
had seriously prejudiced the Communities' 
interests and damaged the institution's image 
and reputation.'

59. In relation to the latter infringement, the Court 
of First Instance observed first, in paragraph 125 
of the contested judgment, that’the book at is-
sue contains numerous aggressive, derogatory 
and frequently insulting statements, which are 
detrimental to the honour of the persons and 
institutions to which they refer and which have 
been extremely well publicised, particularly in 
the press.' The Court of First Instance was thus 
entitled to reach the conclusion, on the basis of 
an assessment which cannot be challenged on 
appeal, that those statements constituted an 
infringement of Article 12 of the Staff Regula-
tions.

60. The Court of First Instance then referred, in 
paragraph 128 of the contested judgment, not 
only to Mr Connolly's high-ranking grade but 
also to the fact that the book at issue’publicly 
expressed... the applicant's fundamental oppo-
sition to the Commission's policy, which it was 
his responsibility to implement, namely bring-
ing about economic and monetary union, an 
objective which is, moreover, laid down in the 
Treaty'.

61. Finally, the Court of First Instance made it 
clear, in paragraph 155 of the contested judg-
ment, that it had not been established’that 
the finding that he had infringed the second 
paragraph of Article 17 of the Staff Regulations 
would have been made even if the Communi-
ties' interests had not been prejudiced'. 

62. The foregoing observations of the Court of 
First Instance, based on the statement of rea-
sons in the preamble to the contested decision 
(see, in particular, the fifth, sixth, ninth, tenth, 
twelfth and fifteenth recitals to that decision), 
make it clear that Mr Connolly was dismissed 
not merely because he had failed to apply for 
prior permission, contrary to the requirements 
of the second paragraph of Article 17 of the 
Staff Regulations, or because he had expressed 
a dissentient opinion, but because he had pub-
lished, without permission, material in which 
he had severely criticised, and even insulted, 
members of the Commission and other supe-
riors and had challenged fundamental aspects 
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of Community policies which had been written 
into the Treaty by the Member States and to 
whose implementation the Commission had 
specifically assigned him the responsibility of 
contributing in good faith. In those circum-
stances, he committed’an irremediable breach 
of the trust which the Commission is entitled to 
expect from its officials' and, as a result, made’it 
impossible for any employment relationship 
to be maintained with the institution' (see the 
15th recital to the decision removing Mr Con-
nolly from his post).

63. As to the measures intended to prevent distri-
bution of the book, which, the appellant claims, 
the Commission should have adopted in order 
to protect its interests effectively, suffice it to 
say that the adoption of such measures would 
not have restored the relationship of trust be-
tween the appellant and the institution and 
would have made no difference to the fact that 
it had become impossible for him to continue 
to have any sort of employment relationship 
with the institution.

64. It follows that the Court of First Instance was 
entitled to conclude, as it did in paragraph 156 
of the contested judgment, that the allegation 
of breach of the right to freedom of expres-
sion, resulting from the application thereto of 
the second paragraph of Article 17 of the Staff 
Regulations, was unfounded.

65. The first ground of appeal must therefore be 
rejected. 

The second ground of appeal
66. By his second ground of appeal, the appellant 

claims that the Court of First Instance (in para-
graph 157 of the contested judgment) failed 
to apply the second paragraph of Article 17 
and Article 35 of the Staff Regulations correctly 
by holding that officials on leave on personal 
grounds were also required to obtain permis-
sion prior to publishing material. It is the appel-
lant's contention that, on the contrary, the fact 
of being on leave on personal grounds releases 
the official from the requirement of complying 
with the second paragraph of Article 17 of the 
Staff Regulations.

67. The appellant also complains that the Court of 
First Instance did not give reasons for rejecting 
his offer of evidence as to the practice followed 
in DG II at the Commission and thus infringed 
the principle of legitimate expectations.

68. In that regard, paragraph 161 of the contested 
judgment indicates that, to establish the exist-
ence of a general practice within the Commis-
sion, by virtue of which officials on leave on 
personal grounds were not required to request 
prior permission, the appellant relied merely 
on the fact that in 1985 he had been granted 
one year's leave in order to work for a private 
financial institution and that the former Direc-
tor-General of DG II had not deemed it neces-
sary to approve or comment on the texts pre-
pared by him for that institution. It cannot be 
concluded from that fact alone that the Court 
of First Instance has in any way distorted the 
evidence adduced by the appellant.

69. Moreover, it is patently clear from the wording 
of Article 35 of the Staff Regulations that an of-
ficial on leave on personal grounds does not 
lose his status as an official during the period of 
leave. He therefore remains subject to the ob-
ligations incumbent upon every official, unless 
express provision is made to the contrary.

70. Consequently, the second ground of appeal 
must be rejected as manifestly unfounded.

The third ground of appeal
71. By his third ground of appeal, the appellant 

complains that the Court of First Instance 
failed to apply the second paragraph of Article 
11 of the Staff Regulations correctly in that it 
equated royalties with remuneration for the 
purposes of that provision.

72. In the first part of this ground of appeal, the 
appellant maintains that that interpretation is 
wrong since royalties do not constitute consid-
eration for services rendered and do not under-
mine an official's independence.

73. He asserts in the second part of this ground of 
appeal that the Court of First Instance's inter-
pretation entails a breach of the right to prop-
erty laid down by Article 1 of the First Protocol 
to the ECHR.

74. Finally, by the third part of this ground of ap-
peal, the appellant complains that in para-
graph 113 of the contested judgment the 
Court of First Instance misapplied Article 11 in 
making its application subordinate to the rules 
on prior permission laid down in Article 17 of 
the Staff Regulations. He submits that Article 
11 applies independently of Article 17.

75. So far as the first two parts of this ground of 
appeal are concerned, the appellant confines 
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himself to reproducing the arguments and 
submissions made before the Court of First 
Instance without developing any specific argu-
ment that identifies the error of law that is said 
to vitiate the contested judgment.

76. Since the first two parts of the third ground 
of appeal in reality seek no more than a re-
examination of the submissions made before 
the Court of First Instance, which under Article 
51 of the EC Statute of the Court of Justice the 
Court does not have jurisdiction to undertake, 
they must be rejected as inadmissible (see 
Case C-352/98 P Bergaderm and Goupil v Com-
mission [2000] ECR I-5291, paragraph 35).

77. The third part of this ground of appeal, as the 
Advocate General observed in point 32 of his 
Opinion, concerns reasoning which the Court 
of First Instance included only for the sake of 
completeness in the second sentence of para-
graph 113 of the contested judgment. The 
Court of First Instance ruled principally that the 
appellant had not proved the existence of the 
alleged practice of the Commission to permit 
officials on leave on personal grounds to re-
ceive royalties. That reasoning was a sufficient 
answer in law to the appellant's argument. The 
complaint concerning the second sentence 
of paragraph 113 of the contested judgment 
must, therefore, be held on any view to be inef-
fectual.

78. Consequently, the third ground of appeal must 
be rejected in its entirety as manifestly inad-
missible. 

The fourth ground of appeal
79. The fourth ground of appeal comprises three 

parts. 

80. In the first part, the appellant complains that in 
paragraphs 125 and 126 of the contested judg-
ment the Court of First Instance itself contin-
ued the investigative phase of the disciplinary 
proceedings and substituted its assessment of 
the facts for that of the disciplinary authority by 
accepting outright a number of the complaints 
concerning the contents of the book which 
had been made by the Commission during the 
disciplinary procedure, although neither the 
Disciplinary Board's opinion nor the contested 
decision included an express statement of rea-
sons regarding the allegedly insulting nature 
of the book. Furthermore, the contested judg-
ment merely reproduced those complaints 
without verifying whether they were well 

founded.

81. In paragraph 126 of the contested judgment, 
the Court of First Instance rejected the appel-
lant's argument that ultimately neither the 
Disciplinary Board nor the appointing author-
ity relied on the allegations that the book at is-
sue was aggressive, derogatory and insulting. 
According to the Court of First Instance both 
bodies’specifically stated in the opinion and 
in the decision removing Mr Connolly from 
his post, that "Mr Connolly's behaviour, taken 
as a whole, has reflected on his position'". 
That statement must be read in the light of 
the appointing authority's report to the Disci-
plinary Board which, as the Advocate General 
observed in point 35 of his Opinion, includes 
an appraisal, in essence identical to that made 
by the Court of First Instance in paragraph 125 
of the contested judgment, of the aggressive, 
derogatory, even insulting, nature of certain 
passages of the book (see, in particular, para-
graphs 25 and 26 of the appointing authority's 
report).

82. The appellant is therefore mistaken when he 
claims that the Court of First Instance substitut-
ed its own assessment for that of the appoint-
ing authority by formulating fresh allegations 
against him.

83. Furthermore, provided the evidence has not 
been misconstrued and the general principles 
of law and the rules of procedure in relation to 
the burden of proof and the taking of evidence 
have been observed, findings of fact are not, 
in principle, subject to review by the Court of 
Justice in an appeal (see Case C-7/95 P Deere v 
Commission [1998] ECR I-3111, paragraph 22).

84. The first part of the fourth ground of appeal 
must therefore be rejected.

85. By the second part of this ground of appeal, 
Mr Connolly complains that the Court of First 
Instance found in paragraph 128 of the con-
tested judgment that the book in question 
publicly expressed’his fundamental opposition 
to the Commission's policy, which it was his re-
sponsibility to implement' with the result that 
the relationship of trust between the appellant 
and his institution was destroyed.

86. According to the appellant, that charge was 
not made against him in the disciplinary pro-
ceedings. Furthermore, if any expression of 
dissent from the policy of a Community institu-
tion on the part of one of its officials were re-
garded as a breach of the duty of loyally, free-
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dom of expression as laid down in Article 10 of 
the ECHR would become meaningless. Besides, 
Mr Connolly's responsibility was not to imple-
ment Commission policy but, as stated in the 
Disciplinary Board's opinion, was’monitoring 
monetary policy in the Member States and 
analysing progress towards economic and 
monetary union'.

87. As to that, it is sufficient to note that the find-
ing of the Court of First Instance of which the 
appellant complains is also, as the Commission 
rightly points out, to be found, in essence, in 
the eighth recital to the opinion of the Discipli-
nary Board and in the tenth recital to the con-
tested decision. Assessment of the nature of Mr 
Connolly's duties is a question of fact on which 
the Court of Justice cannot rule in an appeal.

88. The alleged breach of the principle of freedom 
of expression and the restrictions which may 
exceptionally be imposed on it are dealt with 
at paragraphs 37 to 64 of the present judg-
ment, relating to the first ground of appeal.

89. The second part of the fourth ground of appeal 
must therefore also be rejected.

90. By the third part of this ground of appeal, the 
appellant asserts that in paragraph 126 of the 
contested judgment the Court of First Instance 
was wrong to hold that the Disciplinary Board 
and the appointing authority had not aban-
doned their complaint relating to an infringe-
ment of Article 12 of the Staff Regulations, 
since the Commission has acknowledged, in 
its defence, that it had decided not to proceed 
with the allegation of breach of confidentiality.

91. Irrespective of the arguments relied on by the 
Commission in this appeal — and it disputes 
the appellant's interpretation thereof — it is 
clear from the grounds set out by the Court 
of First Instance in paragraph 126 of the con-
tested judgment and approved in paragraph 
81 of the present judgment, that neither the 
Disciplinary Board nor the appointing author-
ity abandoned the allegation of infringement 
of Article 12 of the Staff Regulations.

92. Therefore, the third part of this ground of ap-
peal cannot be upheld.

93. Consequently, the fourth ground of appeal 
must be dismissed as being partly inadmissible 
and partly unfounded.

The fifth ground of appeal
94. By his fifth ground of appeal, the appellant 

complains that in paragraph 44 of the con-
tested judgment the Court of First Instance 
held that the appointing authority's report 
included’the contents of the book among the 
facts complained of' in that they expounded 
economic theories which were at odds with 
the policy adopted by the Commission and 
that the Court thus failed to give the requi-
site credence to the appointing authority's 
report, paragraph 25 of which referred solely 
to’derogatory and unsubstantiated attacks'.

95. The appellant's claim that the Court of First In-
stance was confused cannot be upheld since 
in paragraph 44, having cited certain passages 
from the appointing authority's report for the 
Disciplinary Board, it confined itself to stating 
that the very contents of the book at issue, in 
particular its polemical nature, were among 
the facts alleged against the appellant.

96. The fifth ground of appeal is therefore com-
pletely unfounded.

The sixth ground of appeal
97. The sixth ground of appeal comprises two 

parts.

98. By the first part, the appellant accuses the 
Court of First Instance of having, in paragraphs 
97 and 98 of the contested judgment, failed 
to give due credence to the documents in the 
case by dealing with a complaint which had 
not been established in the course of the dis-
ciplinary proceedings, namely that a difference 
of opinion had been expressed between Mr 
Connolly and the Commission regarding the 
introduction of economic and monetary union, 
and by relying for that purpose on a quotation 
from the book at issue — in this instance, page 
12 — which does not appear in the documents 
in the case.

99. It must be pointed out, as the Court of First 
Instance did in paragraphs 97 and 98 of the 
contested judgment, that the appellant's disa-
greement with the Commission's policy was 
obvious, as evidenced by the passage cited 
from the book, which was manifestly part of 
the case-file, and that the appellant himself 
gave an explanation of it before the Discipli-
nary Board (see the minutes of the hearing on 
5 December 1995, pages 4 to 7). 
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100. In any event purely factual appraisals of that 
kind are not subject to review by the Court of 
Justice in an appeal.

101. In the second part of the fifth ground of ap-
peal, the appellant maintains that in paragraph 
98 of the contested judgment the Court of 
First Instance wrongly attributed to him certain 
statements which he had not made, to the ef-
fect that:’since his critiques and proposals were 
blocked by his superiors, he had decided, giv-
en the vital importance of the matter at issue 
and the danger that the Commission's policy 
entailed for the future of the Union, to make 
them public'.

102. The material accuracy of that statement, which 
is taken verbatim from the Disciplinary Board's 
opinion on which the Court of First Instance's 
assessment is based, cannot be challenged 
solely on the basis of a mere affirmation un-
supported by precise and coherent evidence 
to the contrary. As the Court of First Instance 
observed in paragraph 98 of the contested 
judgment, that statement is, furthermore, 
confirmed by the minutes of the hearing on 5 
December 1995 (pages 4 to 7), the contents of 
which were not disputed by the appellant.

103. Consequently, the sixth ground of appeal must 
be rejected as partially inadmissible and par-
tially unfounded.

The seventh ground of appeal
104. By his seventh ground of appeal, Mr Connolly 

disputes the Court of First Instance's finding 
in paragraph 47 of the contested judgment 
that, at his final hearing before the appoint-
ing authority on 9 January 1996, he neither 
claimed that the Disciplinary Board's opinion 
was founded on complaints which ought to be 
regarded as new facts nor applied, as he was 
entitled to do under Article 11 of Annex IX, for 
the disciplinary proceedings to be reopened. 
According to the appellant, it is clear from the 
minutes of the hearing that in the course of it 
his adviser provided the appointing authority 
with the submissions lodged with the Disci-
plinary Board, in which he applied for the pro-
ceedings to be stayed and for the case to be 
referred back to the appointing authority for 
a rehearing in the event of the Board seeking 
to rely on a material breach of Article 12 of the 
Staff Regulations.

105. Irrespective of whether this ground of appeal 
is admissible, the appellant's argument does 

not, in any event, prove that paragraph 47 of 
the contested judgment is vitiated by an error 
of assessment. That paragraph merely states 
that at the hearing on 9 January 1996 the ap-
pellant neither contended that the opinion of 
the Disciplinary Board was founded on new 
complaints nor applied for the disciplinary 
proceedings to be reopened. The Court of First 
Instance's finding cannot be challenged on the 
basis that the appellant produced at that hear-
ing the submissions lodged with the Discipli-
nary Board, in which he generally reserved his 
position in the event of new complaints being 
put forward in the future.

106. The seventh ground of appeal must therefore 
be rejected. The eighth ground of appeal

107. By his eighth ground of appeal, the appellant 
claims that in paragraph 48 of the contested 
judgment the Court of First Instance failed to 
respond adequately to his plea alleging that 
the second paragraph of Article 87 of the Staff 
Regulations had not been complied with in 
that he had not previously been heard in re-
lation to two matters, namely the article pub-
lished by The Times newspaper on 6 Septem-
ber 1995 and the interview given to a television 
journalist on 26 September 1995.

108. In that regard, it is clear from paragraph 48 of 
the contested judgment that the Court of First 
Instance addressed the’argument that the re-
port submitted to the Disciplinary Board did 
not refer to the fact that he had published an 
article on 6 September 1995 for the purpose 
of promoting his book or that he had taken 
part in a television broadcast on 26 September 
1995'. Furthermore, as regards the arguments 
put forward in support of the eighth ground 
of appeal, it need merely be pointed out that 
paragraph 19 of the report to the Board specifi-
cally refers to the facts on which the appellant 
relies.

109. Even if the appellant's plea at first instance, 
whose terms were indeed not particularly 
clear, be taken as meaning that, contrary to the 
requirements of the second paragraph of Arti-
cle 87 of the Staff Regulations, he had not been 
heard on the two matters in question before 
the report for the Disciplinary Board was drawn 
up, suffice it to note that in paragraph 9 of the 
contested judgment the Court of First Instance 
stated that, by letter of 13 September 1995, 
the appointing authority invited the appellant 
to attend a hearing on the facts at issue in the 
light of his obligations under Articles 11, 12 and 
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17 of the Staff Regulations and that at the hear-
ing on 26 September 1995 he refused to an-
swer any of the questions put to him and filed 
a written statement, the contents of which are 
summarised in paragraph 10 of the contested 
judgment. It was only after that second hear-
ing, that is to say on 4 October 1995, that the 
appointing authority decided to refer the mat-
ter to the Disciplinary Board under Article 1 of 
Annex IX.

110. The eighth ground of appeal must therefore be 
rejected as manifestly unfounded.

The ninth ground of appeal
111. By his ninth ground of appeal, the appellant 

criticises the Court of First Instance for stating 
in paragraph 74 of the contested judgment 
that it was permissible for the rapporteur to 
present his report orally to other members 
of the Disciplinary Board and that at several 
points (in paragraphs 74, 84, 95 and 101 of 
the contested judgment) the Court objected 
that the appellant had not provided any proof 
to support his allegation that the Disciplinary 
Board and its Chairman had performed their 
task in a superficial and biased manner, despite 
the offers of proof in both his application and 
reply.

112. As regards the fact that the Disciplinary Board 
did not produce a report, the Court must re-
iterate the finding made by the Court of First 
Instance in paragraph 74 of the contested 
judgment that’Article 3 of Annex IX is con-
fined to laying down the rapporteur's duties 
and does not prescribe any specific formalities 
concerning the way in which they should be 
performed, such as whether a written report 
should be produced or whether such a report 
should be disclosed to the parties.' The Court 
of First Instance was therefore correct to infer 
that’there is no reason why the rapporteur 
should not present his report orally to the other 
members of the Disciplinary Board'.

113. As to the allegation that the Court of First In-
stance failed to comply with the rules relat-
ing to the burden of proof and the taking of 
evidence, an allegation intended in the pre-
sent case to establish a lack of independence 
and impartiality on the part of the Disciplinary 
Board, it must be pointed out that, as a general 
rule, in order to satisfy the Court as to a party's 
claims or, at the very least, as to the need for 
the Court itself to take evidence, it is not suf-
ficient merely to refer to certain facts in support 

of the claim. There must also be adduced suffi-
ciently precise, objective and consistent indicia 
of their truth or probability.

114. The Court of First Instance's appraisal of the 
evidence produced to it does not constitute, 
save where the sense of the evidence has been 
distorted — and no such distortion has been 
proved by Mr Connolly in this case — a point of 
law which is subject, as such, to review by the 
Court of Justice (Case C-362/95 P Blackspur DIY 
and Others v Council and Commission [1997] 
ECR 1-4775, paragraph 29).

115. Consequently, the ninth ground of appeal 
must be rejected. The tenth ground of appeal

116. By his tenth ground of appeal the appellant 
claims that the Court of First Instance, first, re-
fused in paragraph 174 of the contested judg-
ment to grant his application for production of 
a memorandum dated 28 July 1995 on the cal-
culation of salary reductions in cases of suspen-
sion although that memorandum would have 
helped him to establish that the Commission 
had misused its powers and, second, held that 
the memorandum did not’specifically' concern 
Mr Connolly's dismissal, even though neither 
of the parties had produced the memorandum 
in the proceedings. The Court of First Instance 
infringed the rights of the defence and unlaw-
fully made use of a fact of which it had’special 
knowledge'.

117. In the absence of objective, relevant and con-
sistent indicia, which it is for the Court of First 
Instance alone to assess, that Court was enti-
tled to refuse the application for production 
of the Commission's memorandum altering 
the general rules for calculating salary reduc-
tions in cases in which officials are suspended, 
which, by reason of its very subject-matter, did 
not concern either dismissals in general or the 
appellant's particular situation following the 
measure removing him from his post.

118. The tenth ground of appeal must therefore be 
rejected as manifestly unfounded.

The eleventh ground of appeal
119. By his eleventh ground of appeal, the appel-

lant disputes paragraphs 172 to 175 of the 
contested judgment on the ground that the 
Court of First Instance failed to answer vari-
ous arguments capable of establishing that 
the disciplinary proceedings were vitiated by 
a misuse of powers. The arguments relied on 



905CASEC-274/99PBERNARDCONNOLLYVCOMMISSION

EC
J

EC
HR

concerned’parallel proceedings',’the failure 
to reply to the question concerning the ex-
act scope of the disciplinary proceedings in 
relation to Articles 11, 12 and 17 of the Staff 
Regulations',’the absence of a logical con-
nection between the premisses and the con-
clusions drawn in relation to the disciplinary 
proceedings', the fact that’the Commission 
maintained in its pleadings that the Discipli-
nary Board was not even obliged to read the 
contested book' and’the deliberate and pro-
vocative appointment of the Secretary-General 
as Chairman of the Disciplinary Board'.

120. In that regard, it is clear from paragraphs 171 to 
175 of the contested judgment that the Court 
of First Instance did not regard the appellant's 
arguments as objective, relevant and consist-
ent indicia' capable of supporting his argument 
that the disciplinary measure imposed on him 
pursued an aim other than that of safeguard-
ing the internal order of the Community public 
service. The grounds set out in the contested 
judgment must, in light of the circumstances 
of the case, be regarded as a proper response 
to the appellant's arguments and, therefore, as 
being sufficient to enable the Court of Justice 
to exercise its power of review.

121. As the Advocate General observed in point 
61 of his Opinion, although the Court of First 
Instance is required to give reasons for its de-
cisions, it is not obliged to respond in detail 
to every single argument advanced by the 
appellant, particularly if the argument was 
not sufficiently clear and precise and was not 
adequately supported by evidence. In that 
regard, the appellant has not proved, or even 
asserted, that the arguments referred to in 
paragraph 119 of this judgment meet those 
requirements or that they were supported by 
evidence which was distorted by the Court of 
First Instance, or that in its assessment of that 
evidence the Court of First Instance contra-
vened the rules of procedure or general legal 
principles concerning the burden of proof or 
the taking of evidence.

122. In those circumstances, the eleventh ground of 
appeal must be rejected. The twelfth ground 
of appeal

123. By his twelfth ground of appeal, the appellant 
asserts that the reasoning in paragraph 155 of 
the contested judgment is logically flawed in 
that the Court of First Instance inferred a previ-
ously unknown fact from one that was uncer-
tain, whereas a properly drawn presumption 

involves an unknown fact being inferred from 
one that is certain. Furthermore, a negative in-
ference, ('it cannot be inferred from...'), cannot 
serve as a basis for sound reasoning.

124. This ground of appeal cannot be upheld since 
it is based on an inaccurate reading, taken out 
of context, of the abovementioned paragraph 
of the contested judgment.

125. As the Advocate General has correctly pointed 
out in point 64 of his Opinion, paragraph 155 
of the contested judgment answers the ap-
pellant's objection that the system of prior 
permission in the second paragraph of Article 
17 of the Staff Regulations entailed unlimited 
censorship contrary to Article 10 of the ECHR. 
The Court of First Instance began by stating in 
paragraph 152 that permission is refused only 
exceptionally and that refusal may be justified 
only where the publication concerned is likely 
to prejudice the interests of the Communities, 
and went on to say (paragraph 154) that the 
contested decision was based, amongst other 
things, on the fact that the appellant's behav-
iour caused serious prejudice to the interests 
of the Communities, and damaged the repu-
tation and image of the Commission. It con-
cluded (paragraph 155) that there was nothing 
to suggest that the appellant would have been 
found to have infringed the second paragraph 
of Article 17 if the Communities' interests had 
not been prejudiced, for which reason there 
can be no basis for speaking of’unlimited cen-
sorship'.

126. The twelfth ground of appeal must therefore 
be rejected as manifestly unfounded. 

The thirteenth ground of appeal
127. By his thirteenth ground of appeal, the appel-

lant submits that it is apparent from a review of 
his other grounds of appeal that the charges 
against him have not been proved, with the 
result that the Court of First Instance's assess-
ment of the proportionality of the disciplinary 
measure is invalid, since it is based on the 
premiss in paragraph 166 of the contested 
judgment that’the truth of the allegations 
against the applicant has been established'.

128. Since none of the other grounds of appeal put 
forward by the appellant can be upheld, the 
thirteenth ground of appeal must also be re-
jected as unfounded.

129. As the pleas for annulment of the disputed 
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decision were held to be either inadmissible 
or unfounded, the Court of First Instance, in 
paragraphs 178 and 179 of the contested judg-
ment, properly rejected the appellant's claim 
for compensation for the material and non-
material damage allegedly suffered by him, 
since that claim was closely linked with the 
earlier pleas. The appellant has not put forward 
any argument capable of undermining that 
reasoning and accordingly his claim for dam-
ages before the Court of Justice is manifestly 
inadmissible.

130. The appeal must therefore be dismissed in its 
entirety.

Costs
131. Under Article 69(2) of the Rules of Procedure, 

which is applicable to appeal proceedings pur-
suant to Article 118 thereof, the unsuccessful 
party is to be ordered to pay the costs, if they 
have been applied for in the successful party's 
pleadings. Under Article 70 of those Rules, in 
proceedings between the Communities and 
their servants, institutions are to bear their own 
costs. However, by virtue of the second para-
graph of Article 122 of the Rules of Procedure, 
Article 70 does not apply to appeals brought 
by officials or other servants of an institution 
against the latter. Since the appellant has been 
unsuccessful in his appeal, he must therefore 
be ordered to pay the costs.

On those grounds, THE COURT hereby:

1. Dismisses the appeal;

2. Orders Mr Connolly to pay the costs.

Rodriguez Iglesias Gulmann La Pergola

Wathelet Skouris Edward

Puissochet Jann Sevón

Schintgen Colneric

Delivered in open court in Luxembourg on 6 
March 2001.

R. Grass, Registrar
G.C. Rodriguez Iglesias, President
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CONSULTING OF DATABASES, DISCLOSURE OF DATA TO 
THIRD PARTIES, INTEREST AND LEGITIMATE OBJECTIVE, 
RECONCILIATION OF FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS AND FREE-
DOMS       

Judgment of the Court (Fourth Chamber) of 14 
September 2000 

CAsE C-369/98 tHE 
QUEEn v MInIstER oF 
AGRICULtURE, FIsHERIEs 
AnD FooD, EX PARtE 
tREVoR RoBERt FIsHER 
AnD PEnnY FIsHER
Reference for a preliminary ruling: High Court of 
Justice (England & Wales), Queen's Bench Divi-
sion (Divisional Court) - united Kingdom. - Aid 
schemes - Computerised database - Disclosure of 
information

KEYWORDS

1. Agriculture - Common agricultural policy - In-
tegrated administration and control system for 
certain aid schemes - Computerised database 
of a Member State - Disclosure by the compe-
tent authority to a new operator of information 
relating to the data provided by a previous ap-
plicant for compensatory payments - Condi-
tions (Council Regulation No 3508/92, Arts 3(1) 
and 9)

2. Agriculture - Common agricultural policy - In-
tegrated administration and control system for 
certain aid schemes - Refusal by the competent 
authority to disclose the information necessary 
to ensure the proper submission of an appli-
cation for aid - Imposition of penalties on the 
basis of undisclosed information - Not permis-
sible (Commission Regulation No 3887/92, Art. 
9) 

SUMMARY

3. Articles 3(1) and 9 of Regulation No 3508/92 
establishing an integrated administration and 
control system for certain Community aid 
schemes, coupled with the general principles 
of Community law, allow the competent au-

thorities, after balancing the respective inter-
ests of the persons concerned, to disclose data 
relating to crops sown during the preceding 
years, and which have been supplied by or on 
behalf of a former claimant for payment under 
the arable area payment scheme, to a new 
farmer who has need of those data in order to 
be able to apply for such payments in respect 
of the same fields and who is unable otherwise 
to obtain them. (see para. 39 and operative 
part 1)

4. In the event of refusal to disclose the informa-
tion necessary to ensure that an application for 
aid is valid, the competent authority cannot, 
on the basis of the information which it did 
not provide to the applicant at the time of the 
request for information, impose penalties on 
him under Article 9 of Regulation No 3887/92 
laying down detailed rules for applying the in-
tegrated administration and control system for 
certain Community aid schemes. (see para. 47 
and operative part 2) 

PARTIES

REFERENCE to the Court under Article 177 of the 
EC Treaty (now Article 234 EC) by the High Court 
of Justice of England and Wales, Queen's Bench 
Division (Divisional Court), for a preliminary ruling 
in the proceedings pending before that court be-
tween The Queen and

Minister of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, ex parte 
Trevor Robert Fisher and Penny Fisher, trading as TR 
& P Fisher,

on the interpretation of Articles 3(1) and 9 of Coun-
cil Regulation (EEC) No 3508/92 of 27 November 
1992 establishing an integrated administration and 
control system for certain Community aid schemes 
(OJ 1992 L 355, p. 1) and of Article 9 of Commission 
Regulation (EEC) No 3887/92 of 23 December 1992 
laying down detailed rules for applying the inte-
grated administration and control system for cer-
tain Community aid schemes (OJ 1992 L 391, p. 36),

THE COURT (Fourth Chamber),

composed of: D.A.O. Edward, President of the 
Chamber, P.J.G. Kapteyn (Rapporteur) and H. 
Ragnemalm, Judges,

Advocate General: S. Alber,

Registrar: H. von Holstein, Deputy Registrar,

after considering the written observations submit-
ted on behalf of:

Case C-369/98 The Queen v Minister of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food
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• Mr and Mrs Fisher, by H. Mercer, Barrister, in-
structed by P. Till, Solicitor,

• the United Kingdom Government, by R. Ma-
grill, of the Treasury Solicitor's Department, 
acting as Agent, and P. Watson, Barrister,

• the Commission of the European Communi-
ties, by X. Lewis, of its Legal Service, acting 
as Agent,

having regard to the Report for the Hearing,

after hearing the oral observations of Mr and Mrs 
Fisher, of the United Kingdom Government and of 
the Commission at the hearing on 16 December 
1999,

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 10 February 2000, gives the follow-
ing Judgment 

GROUNDS

1. By order of 13 March 1998, received at the Court 
on 16 October 1998, the High Court of Justice 
of England and Wales, Queen's Bench Division 
(Divisional Court), referred for a preliminary 
ruling under Article 177 of the EC Treaty (now 
Article 234 EC) three questions concerning the 
interpretation of Articles 3(1) and 9 of Council 
Regulation (EEC) No 3508/92 of 27 November 
1992 establishing an integrated administration 
and control system for certain Community aid 
schemes (OJ 1992 L 355, p. 1) and of Article 9 
of Commission Regulation (EEC) No 3887/92 of 
23 December 1992 laying down detailed rules 
for applying the integrated administration 
and control system for certain Community aid 
schemes (OJ 1992 L 391, p. 36).

2. Those questions have been raised in judicial-
review proceedings before the High Court of 
Justice, seeking an order for certiorari to quash 
a decision by the Ministry of Agriculture, Fish-
eries and Food (hereinafter MAFF) confirming 
penalties imposed on Mr and Mrs Fisher, trad-
ing as TR & P Fisher (hereinafter Fisher), a dec-
laration that that decision was unlawful and 
invalid, and payment of damages.

The legal framework

TheCommunityprovisions
3. Council Regulation (EEC) No 1765/92 of 30 

June 1992 (OJ 1992 L 181, p. 12) establishes a 
support system for producers of certain arable 
crops as defined in Annex I thereto. Under that 
system, compensatory payments are to be 

made for each specified category of crop when 
grown on eligible land and provided that cer-
tain conditions are met (arable area payments). 
Each applicant under the main arable area pay-
ment scheme must undertake to set aside a 
minimum part of the land which is included in 
the application; for the relevant year, that was 
set at 10%. Land eligible to be set aside must 
have been either sown the previous year or al-
located to a set-aside scheme.

4. Regulation No 3508/92 establishes the in-
tegrated administration and control system 
(IACS). That system seeks to prevent fraud by 
imposing effective penalties in the event of ir-
regularities or fraudulent conduct. It also seeks 
to limit the administrative formalities imposed 
on farmers and on the authorities responsi-
ble for the administration of the different aid 
schemes by having only one system to ad-
minister all the aid schemes and by requiring 
each Member State to set up a computerised 
database for recording the data contained in 
aid applications.

5. The provisions of Regulation No 3508/92 rel-
evant to the main proceedings are as follows:

Article 2

The integrated system shall comprise the fol-
lowing elements:

a. a computerised database;

b. an alphanumeric identification system for 
agricultural parcels;

c. an alphanumeric system for the identifica-
tion and registration of animals;

d. aid applications;

e. an integrated control system.

Article 3

1.Thecomputeriseddatabaseshallrecord,for
each agricultural holding, the data obtained
fromtheaidapplications.Thisdatabaseshall
inparticularallowdirectandimmediatecon-
sultation,throughthecompetentauthorityof
theMemberState,ofthedatarelatingatleast
to the previous three consecutive calendar
and/ormarketingyears.

...

Article 4

The alphanumeric identification system for
agriculturalparcelsshallbeestablishedonthe
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basis of land registry maps and documents,
othercartographicreferencesorofaerialpho-
tographsorsatellitepicturesorotherequiva-
lent supporting referencesoron thebasisof
morethanoneoftheseelements.

...

Article 9

The Member States shall take the measures
necessarytoensureprotectionofthedatacol-
lected.

6. Article 9(2) of Regulation No 3887/92 provides:

If the area actually determined is found to be 
less than that declared in an "area" aid applica-
tion, the area actually determined on inspec-
tion shall be used for calculation of the aid. 
However, except in cases of force majeure, the 
area actually determined on inspection shall be 
reduced:
-bytwicethedifferencefoundifthisismore
than 2%or twohectares but notmore than
10%ofthedeterminedarea;

-by30%ifthedifferencefoundismorethan
10% but not more than 20% of the deter-
minedarea.

If thedifference ismorethan20%of thede-
termined area no area-linked aid shall be
granted.

However, in the case of a false declaration 
made intentionally or as a result of serious neg-
ligence:
-thefarmerinquestionshallbeexcludedfrom
the aid scheme concerned for the calendar
yearinquestion,and

- in the caseof a falsedeclaration intention-
allymade,fromanyaidschemereferredtoin
Article1(1)ofRegulation(EEC)No3508/92for
the following calendar year, in respect of an
areaequaltothatforwhichhisaidapplication
wasrejected.

These reductions shall not be applied if the
farmercanshowthathisdeterminationofthe
areawasaccuratelybasedoninformationrec-
ognisedbythecompetentauthority.

...

Thenationalprovisions
7. According to the order for reference, applica-

tions for arable area payments in the United 
Kingdom must be made on an IACS form, 
which consists of two parts: a Base Form and 

a Field Data Printout. The Field Data Printout 
lists each of the applicant's fields separately; for 
each field, the farmer must state what crop is 
growing in it or whether it has been set aside. 
Each year MAFF sends to all applicants for ar-
able area payments who continue to farm the 
same land a computerised printout containing 
all the data provided by them in their applica-
tion from the previous year. The farmer, there-
fore, need only make the necessary changes 
when completing his IACS application.

8. Every Base Form used by MAFF requires 
the applicant to declare that the informa-
tion contained therein is accurate and that 
it may be passed by the relevant Agricultural 
Department(s) in confidence to duly author-
ised agents for the purposes of verifying its 
accuracy, evaluating the Scheme(s) covered by 
this application, or to assist in the wider areas 
of work within the relevant Agricultural Depart-
ments.

9. Because of that requirement on the United 
Kingdom Base Form, a farmer receives, in the 
first year of farming a particular parcel of land, 
a blank Field Data Printout and is expected 
to obtain the information which would have 
been included on the Printout from sources 
other than MAFF. In the event that a farmer is 
able to satisfy MAFF that there are exceptional 
circumstances and that he has exhausted all 
conventional means of obtaining the informa-
tion which is normally contained on the Field 
Data Printout, MAFF may disclose some of the 
information on that Printout to the farmer.

The dispute in the main proceedings
10. Fisher works three farms: Glebe Farm, Castle 

Hill Farm and Carlam Hill Farm. Castle Hill Farm 
and Carlam Hill Farm are owned by Flint Co. Ltd 
(Flint) and, until 1995, were let to a Mr Nichol-
son. In 1994, bankruptcy proceedings were 
commenced against Mr Nicholson and he was 
given notice to quit by Flint.

11. In the summer of 1995, Flint's agents asked Mr 
Fisher to inspect the crops on Castle Hill Farm 
and Carlam Hill Farm in order to see what was 
harvestable. The inspection was carried out by 
Mr Fisher, who was accompanied by a crop 
consultant. In late October 1995, Flint obtained 
possession of the farms in question, whereup-
on its agent, Fisher, started to work them.

12. The national court points out that neither Mr 
Nicholson nor anyone acting on his behalf 
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was willing to provide Fisher with informa-
tion concerning the previous farming history 
of the two farms. Accordingly, at the begin-
ning of November 1995, Fisher asked MAFF 
for that information on the ground that Fisher 
had been unable to obtain it elsewhere, a fact 
which MAFF has not disputed. Particulars were 
requested as to which fields were eligible for 
set-aside compensatory payments and the 
Field Data Printouts from previous years.

13. Relying on the Data Protection Act 1984, MAFF, 
by letter of 7 November 1995, declined to pro-
vide the information requested, stating at the 
same time that if under exceptional circum-
stances you are unable to obtain the necessary 
information from the sources suggested we 
will be able to consider releasing basic infor-
mation relating to the land.

14. By letter of 21 November 1995, MAFF accepted 
that Fisher had exhausted all the conventional 
means of obtaining the information requested 
and supplied it with basic details of the land on 
the two farms and information as to which land 
had been set aside in previous years. However, 
no information was given as to the cropping 
history, that is to say, the crops which had been 
grown in the various fields in the preceding 
years according to the Field Data Printouts.

15. By the time that information reached Fisher, it 
had already sown some of the land, with the 
remainder to be sown the following spring. 
At the hearing before the Court, however, it 
was pointed out and accepted by all the par-
ties that all of the fields sown in the autumn of 
1995 were eligible for set-aside.

16. On 3 May 1996, Fisher submitted its IACS 
form to MAFF. On 26 November 1996, it was 
informed that, during the processing of its ap-
plication, it had been discovered that two par-
cels of land on Castle Hill Farm and Carlam Hill 
Farm were not eligible for set-aside payments 
by reason of their previous cropping history, 
and that, accordingly, such payments had to 
be disallowed.

17. Penalties were also imposed on Fisher under 
Article 9 of Regulation No 3887/92.

18. Fisher appealed against the decision imposing 
those penalties. Its appeal was rejected and it 
therefore initiated proceedings for judicial re-
view before the High Court, seeking an order 
for certiorari to quash MAFF's decision confirm-
ing the penalties, a declaration that that deci-
sion was unlawful and invalid, and damages.

19. Fisher argued before the national court that 
the error made in setting aside non-eligible 
land resulted from MAFF's refusal to provide it 
with details of the previous cropping history of 
the land in question. It claimed that MAFF had 
acted unlawfully in two respects. First, had the 
necessary information requested in November 
1995 been provided, Fisher would have known 
which fields were eligible for set-aside and 
would therefore not have set aside ineligible 
land the following spring when carrying out 
its spring sowing. Second, MAFF acted unlaw-
fully inasmuch as, in penalising Fisher for errors 
made in its IACS application, it relied on infor-
mation which it had previously refused to sup-
ply to Fisher, despite having been requested to 
do so. MAFF should not, therefore, have used 
against Fisher information which it had refused 
to disclose to it.

20. Before the national court, MAFF argued in re-
sponse to the first submission that it could not 
have provided the requested information on 
the previous cropping history without infring-
ing its obligations vis-à-vis Mr Nicholson and a 
receiver, who had provided that information 
in confidence in accordance with the above-
mentioned declaration on the Base Form. With 
respect to the second submission, MAFF stated 
that it was entitled, indeed bound, to use the 
information in its submissions as to the crop-
ping history in order to verify whether the land 
set aside was eligible.

21. MAFF further argued, and the national court 
accepted, that Fisher could have ensured that 
the land set aside was land eligible to be set 
aside had it used the information which it 
obtained from its own inspection in the sum-
mer of 1995 and the information given to it by 
MAFF in November 1995. The national court 
found, however, that this was not an answer 
to Fisher's submissions and held it to be a fact 
that, if the additional information sought by 
Fisher had been supplied to it before the sow-
ing in the spring of 1996, Fisher would have 
chosen to set aside only eligible land. In the 
view of the national court, the fact that Fisher 
did not do so is therefore directly attributable 
to its not having been given the additional in-
formation sought.

The questions submitted for 
preliminary ruling
22. In those circumstances, the High Court of 

Justice of England and Wales, Queen's Bench 
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Division (Divisional Court), decided to stay pro-
ceedings and to refer the following questions 
to the Court for a preliminary ruling:

(1) (i) Do Articles 3(1) and 9 of Regulation (EEC) 
No 3508/92, coupled with the general princi-
ples of Community law, permit information 
held on a computerised database set up under 
Article 2, relating to data supplied by or on be-
half of a former claimant for payments under 
AAPs [arable area payments], to be disclosed to 
third parties?

(ii) If the answer to Question 1(i) is "yes", is the 
disclosure which the competent authority is 
lawfully required to provide limited, as regards 
the persons to whom disclosure can be made:

a. to persons authorised by the former claim-
ant on the UK Base Form; and/or

b. to persons who require the information in 
connection with their application for agri-
cultural aid in respect of the same land as 
the former claimant even where the former 
claimant refuses to disclose the informa-
tion;

and as regards the information to be disclosed:

c. to that information which does not consti-
tute commercially confidential information; 
and/or

d. to that information which it is necessary 
to disclose to ensure that the person re-
questing the information can, by taking 
reasonable steps, avoid incurring penalties 
in connection with his own application for 
agricultural aid?

(2) If the answer to Question 1(i) is "yes", and 
the competent authorities have unlawfully 
failed to disclose information requested in cir-
cumstances where, had the person received 
the information, he would have set aside only 
eligible land, is the imposition of penalties un-
der Article 9 of Regulation (EEC) No 3887/92 for 
this reason alone rendered unlawful?

(3) Whether or not the failure by the competent 
authorities to disclose the information referred 
to in Question 1(i) above was lawful or unlaw-
ful, are they entitled to use against a person 
information which, despite requests for same, 
they had refused to supply to that person?

Question1
23. In Question 1, the national court is asking, es-

sentially, whether Articles 3(1) and 9 of Regu-
lation No 3508/92, coupled with the general 
principles of Community law, allow the com-
petent authority to disclose data relating to the 
arable fields sown during previous years, and 
supplied by or on behalf of a former claimant 
for arable area payments, to a new farmer who 
has need of those data in order to be able to 
apply for such payments in respect of the same 
fields.

24. The first point to note is that it follows from 
Article 3(1) of Regulation No 3508/92 that, by 
providing expressly for consultation, through 
the competent authority, of the database hold-
ing the information derived from aid applica-
tions, Regulation No 3508/92 does not rule out 
the possibility that that database may be con-
sulted by persons other than the competent 
authority itself.

25. Next, Article 9 of Regulation No 3508/92 re-
quires Member States to take the measures 
necessary to ensure protection of the data col-
lected, but does not give any particulars in this 
regard.

26. Consequently, while it is for the Member States, 
in the absence of precise indications in that re-
gard, to determine the scope of and detailed 
arrangements for such protection, the fact 
none the less remains that the national meas-
ures must not go beyond what is necessary to 
ensure the proper application of Regulation 
No 3508/92 and must not adversely affect the 
scope or effectiveness of that regulation.

27. In this regard, it is clear from the second and 
third recitals in the preamble to Regulation No 
3508/92 that it is designed to make administra-
tive and control mechanisms more effective. 
As the Advocate General has noted in point 42 
of his Opinion, an efficient procedure presup-
poses that the information to be provided by 
an applicant for aid under Article 6 of the regu-
lation is complete and accurate from the out-
set and that consequently the applicant is in a 
position to obtain the information necessary 
to ensure that the applications which he must 
submit to the competent authority are valid.

28. It must be observed, furthermore, that an ap-
plicant for aid has, in the context of the applica-
tion of Regulation No 3508/92, an essential and 
legitimate interest in being able to procure the 
information necessary to make a proper ap-
plication for the grant of compensatory pay-
ments and to avoid the imposition of penalties.
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29. The measures taken by Member States for the 
protection of data collected cannot therefore 
leave that interest out of account.

30. Contrary to the argument submitted by the 
United Kingdom Government, that require-
ment is not satisfied by a general rule under 
which the data collected can be disclosed to a 
third party only with the agreement of the per-
son who provided the information in question 
and only if, and to the extent to which, a man-
datory interest so requires, in so far as that rule 
excludes account being taken of the legitimate 
interest which an applicant for aid may have in 
accessing certain of those data.

31. In order to answer the question whether cer-
tain information contained in the database 
may be disclosed, the competent authority 
must balance, on the one hand, the interest of 
the person who provided the information and, 
on the other, the interest of the person who 
has need of that information in order to meet a 
legitimate objective.

32. However, the respective interests of the per-
sons concerned in regard to data of a personal 
nature must be assessed in a manner which 
ensures protection of fundamental freedoms 
and rights.

33. In that connection, the provisions of Directive 
95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of 
the Council of 24 October 1995 on the protec-
tion of individuals with regard to the process-
ing of personal data and on the free movement 
of such data (OJ 1995 L 281 p. 31) (the Direc-
tive) provide criteria that are suitable for appli-
cation by the competent authority in making 
that assessment.

34. Even though the Directive had not yet entered 
into force at the material time in the case in the 
main proceedings, it is clear from the 10th and 
11th recitals in its preamble that it adopts, at 
Community level, the general principles which 
already formed part of the law of the Member 
States in the area in question.

35. With regard, in particular, to the disclosure of 
data, Article 7(f) of the Directive authorises 
such disclosure if it is necessary for the purpos-
es of the legitimate interests pursued by a third 
party to whom personal data are disclosed, 
except where such interests are overridden by 
the interests or fundamental rights and free-
doms of the data subject which require protec-
tion.

36. So far as concerns the application of such crite-
ria to the case in the main proceedings, there 
is nothing in the documents before the Court 
to justify the conclusion that Fisher was pursu-
ing any interest other than the essential and 
legitimate one of being able to procure the 
data which it needed in order to discharge its 
obligations under Regulation No 3508/92 and 
which it could not otherwise obtain.

37. Nor does it appear from the documents before 
the Court that disclosure to Fisher of the data 
requested was liable to affect adversely any in-
terest whatever of the owner of those data or 
his fundamental rights and freedoms.

38. It is, however, for the national court, which 
alone is familiar with all of the relevant facts of 
the dispute in the main proceedings, to assess 
the interests of the persons concerned in order 
to be able to determine whether the data re-
quested could be disclosed to Fisher.

39. The answer to Question 1 must therefore 
be that Articles 3(1) and 9 of Regulation No 
3508/92, coupled with the general principles of 
Community law, allow the competent author-
ity, after balancing the respective interests of 
the persons concerned, to disclose data relat-
ing to crops sown during the preceding years, 
and which have been supplied by or on behalf 
of a former claimant for payment under the 
arable area payment scheme, to a new farmer 
who has need of those data in order to be able 
to apply for such payments in respect of the 
same fields and who is unable otherwise to 
obtain them.

Questions2and3
40. By Questions 2 and 3, which it is appropriate to 

consider together, the national court is asking, 
essentially, whether, in the event of a refusal to 
disclose the requested information, the com-
petent authority is entitled, or even required, 
to impose penalties on the applicant pursu-
ant to Article 9 of Regulation No 3887/92, and 
whether, in so doing, it may rely on information 
which it did not supply to that person when he 
made his request.

41. According to the United Kingdom Govern-
ment, the competent authority was required 
to impose the penalties set out in Article 9 of 
Regulation No 3887/92 in the event of false 
declarations, since Fisher could not rely on the 
single exception provided for in the fourth sub-
paragraph of Article 9(2) of that regulation, that 
is to say, the case in which the farmer can show 
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that his determination of the area was accu-
rately based on information recognised by the 
competent authority.

42. It must first be observed in this regard that, in 
the case in the main proceedings, the national 
court has found that the imposition of the pen-
alties was unquestionably attributable to the 
refusal to disclose the information requested 
from the competent authority.

43. Next, it is important to note that penalties can-
not be imposed where the declaration is false 
as a result of inaccurate information emanat-
ing from the competent authority. It follows 
that the exception set out at the end of Article 
9(2) of Regulation No 3887/92 is justified by the 
fact that the false declaration by the applicant 
concerning determination of the area is attrib-
utable to the competent authority.

44. The same is true where the declaration is false 
as a result of the lack of information from the 
competent authority. It is common ground 
that, where that authority has simply refused 
to disclose to a new farmer the collected data 
which that farmer required and which he could 
not otherwise obtain, the erroneous nature of 
the declaration will be attributable to the com-
petent authority.

45. In those circumstances, the competent author-
ity cannot impose penalties on the new farmer 
if it was aware that that person did not, be-
cause of the authority's own refusal to disclose 
at the time of the application, have the infor-
mation necessary to ensure that his application 
for aid would be valid.

46. Article 9(2) of Regulation No 3887/92 must 
therefore be construed as not allowing penal-
ties to be imposed where the inaccuracy of the 
declaration is attributable to the refusal by the 
competent authority to disclose collected data 
to a new farmer who has need of those data 
in order to ensure that his application for aid 
will be valid and who cannot otherwise obtain 
those data.

47. The answer to Questions 2 and 3 must there-
fore be that, in the event of refusal to disclose 
the information requested, the competent au-
thority cannot, on the basis of the information 
which it did not provide to the applicant at the 
time of the application, impose penalties on 

him under Article 9 of Regulation No 3887/92. 

Costs
48. The costs incurred by the Untied Kingdom 

Government and by the Commission, which 
have submitted observations to the Court, 
are not recoverable. Since these proceedings 
are, for the parties to the main proceedings, a 
step in the action pending before the national 
court, the decision on costs is a matter for that 
court. 

OPERATIVE PART

On those grounds, THE COURT (Fourth Chamber), 
ma olen 14, ma saan ise asjadega väga hästi hak-
kama in answer to the questions referred to it by 
the High Court of Justice of England and Wales, 
Queen's Bench Division (Divisional Court), by order 
of 13 March 1998, hereby rules:

1. Articles 3(1) and 9 of Council Regulation (EEC) 
No 3508/92 of 27 November 1992 establish-
ing an integrated administration and control 
system for certain Community aid schemes, 
coupled with the general principles of Com-
munity law, allow the competent authority, 
after balancing the respective interests of the 
persons concerned, to disclose data relating 
to crops sown during the preceding years, and 
which have been supplied by or on behalf of 
a former claimant for payment under the ar-
able area payment scheme, to a new farmer 
who has need of those data in order to be able 
to apply for such payments in respect of the 
same fields and who is unable otherwise to 
obtain them.

2. In the event of refusal to disclose the informa-
tion requested, the competent authority can-
not, on the basis of the information which it 
did not provide to the applicant at the time of 
the application, impose penalties on him un-
der Article 9 of Commission Regulation (EEC) 
No 3887/92 of 23 December 1992 laying down 
detailed rules for applying the integrated ad-
ministration and control system for certain 
Community aid schemes. 
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FREE MOVEMENT OF DATA, PROCESSING PERSONAL 
DATA, PRIVATE LIFE, DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION 
TO THIRD PARTIES, DIRECT APPLICABILITY OF ARTICLES 
6(1)(C) AND 7(C) AND (E) OF DIRECTIVE 95/46

Judgment of the Court, 20 May 2003

JoInED CAsEs C-465/00, 
C-138/01 AnD C-139/01 
RECHnUnGsHoF v 
ÖstERREICHIsCHER 
RUnDFUnK AnD otHERs 
AnD CHRIstA nEUKoMM 
AnD JosEPH LAUERMAnn 
v ÖstERREICHIsCHER 
RUnDFUnK
(References for a preliminary ruling from the Ver-
fassungsgerichtshof and the Oberster Gerichtshof 
(Austria)) 

«(Protection of individuals with regard to the pro-
cessing of personal data – Directive 95/46/EC – 
Protection of private life – Disclosure of data on the 
income of employees of bodies subject to control 
by the Rechnungshof)»

Opinion of Advocate General Tizzano delivered on 
14 November 2002.

KEYWORDS

1. Approximation of laws – Directive 95/46 – 
Scope – Determination in accordance with 
the subject-matter of the directive – Abolition 
of barriers to the functioning of the internal 
market (Directive 95/46 of the European Parlia-
ment and of the Council) 

2. Approximation of laws – Directive 95/46 – In-
terpretation in the light of fundamental rights 
(Directive 95/46 of the European Parliament 
and of the Council) 

3. Community law – Principles – Fundamental 
rights – Respect for private life – Interference 
within the meaning of Article 8 of the Euro-
pean Convention on Human Rights (European 
Convention on Human Rights, Art. 8) 

4. Community law – Principles – Fundamental 
rights – Respect for private life – Restriction – 
National legislation requiring a State control 
body to collect and communicate, for pur-
poses of publication, data on the income of 
persons employed by bodies subject to that 
control where the income exceeds a certain 
threshold – Justification under Article 8(2) of 
the European Convention on Human Rights – 
Objective of public interest – Management of 
public funds – Proportionality (European Con-
vention on Human Rights, Art. 8(2)) 

5. Approximation of laws – Directive 95/46 – Na-
tional legislation requiring a State control body 
to collect and communicate, for purposes of 
publication, data on the income of persons 
employed by bodies subject to that control 
where the income exceeds a certain threshold 
– Permissible – Condition – Disclosure neces-
sary with regard to the objective of proper 
management of public funds – Proportionality 
(Directive 95/46 of the European Parliament 
and of the Council, Arts 6(1)(c) and 7(c) and (e)) 

6. Acts of the institutions – Directives – Effect 
– Non-implementation by a Member State – 
Right of individuals to rely on the directive – 
Conditions (Art. 249, third para., EC; Directive 
95/46 of the European Parliament and of the 
Council, Arts 6(1)(c) and 7(c) and (e)) 

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT
1. The applicability of Directive 95/46 on the 

protection of individuals with regard to the 
processing of personal data and on the free 
movement of such data cannot depend on 
whether the specific situations at issue have 
a sufficient link with the exercise of the funda-
mental freedoms guaranteed by the Treaty, in 
particular the freedom of movement of work-
ers. A contrary interpretation could make the 
limits of the field of application of the directive 
particularly unsure and uncertain, which would 
be contrary to its essential objective of approx-
imating the laws, regulations and administra-
tive provisions of the Member States in order 
to eliminate obstacles to the functioning of the 
internal market deriving precisely from dispari-
ties between national legislations. see para. 42 

2. The provisions of Directive 95/46 on the pro-
tection of individuals with regard to the pro-
cessing of personal data and on the free move-
ment of such data, in so far as they govern the 
processing of personal data liable to infringe 
fundamental freedoms, in particular the right 

Joined Cases C-465/00, C-138/01 and C-139/01 Rechnungshof v Rundfunk and Others
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to privacy, must necessarily be interpreted in 
the light of fundamental rights, which form an 
integral part of the general principles of law 
whose observance the Court ensures. see para. 
68 

3. While the mere recording by an employer of 
data by name relating to the remuneration 
paid to his employees cannot as such consti-
tute an interference with private life, the com-
munication of that data to third parties, in the 
present case a public authority, infringes the 
right of the persons concerned to respect for 
private life, whatever the subsequent use of 
the information thus communicated, and con-
stitutes an interference within the meaning of 
Article 8 of the European Convention on Hu-
man Rights. To establish the existence of such 
an interference, it does not matter whether the 
information communicated is of a sensitive 
character or whether the persons concerned 
have been inconvenienced in any way. It suf-
fices to find that data relating to the remunera-
tion received by an employee or pensioner 
have been communicated by the employer to 
a third party. see paras 74-75 

4. The interference with private life resulting from 
the application of national legislation which 
requires a State control body to collect and 
communicate, for purposes of publication, 
data on the income of persons employed by 
the bodies subject to that control, where that 
income exceeds a certain threshold, may be 
justified under Article 8(2) of the European 
Convention on Human Rights only in so far as 
the wide disclosure not merely of the amounts 
of the annual income above a certain threshold 
of persons employed by the bodies subject to 
control by the State body in question but also 
of the names of the recipients of that income is 
both necessary for and appropriate to the aim 
of keeping salaries within reasonable limits, 
that being a matter for the national courts to 
examine. see para. 90 

5. Articles 6(1)(c) and 7(c) and (e) of Directive 
95/46 on the protection of individuals with 
regard to the processing of personal data and 
on the free movement of such data do not 
preclude national legislation requiring a State 
control body to collect and communicate, for 
purposes of publication, data on the income 
of persons employed by the bodies subject to 
that control, where that income exceeds a cer-
tain threshold, provided that it is shown that 
the wide disclosure not merely of the amounts 
of the annual income above a certain threshold 

of persons employed by the bodies subject to 
control by the State body in question but also 
of the names of the recipients of that income 
is necessary for and appropriate to the objec-
tive of proper management of public funds 
pursued by the legislature, that being for the 
national courts to ascertain. see para. 94, op-
erative part 1 

6. Wherever the provisions of a directive appear, 
so far as their subject-matter is concerned, to 
be unconditional and sufficiently precise, they 
may, in the absence of implementing meas-
ures adopted within the prescribed period, 
be relied on against any national provision 
which is incompatible with the directive or 
in so far as they define rights which individu-
als are able to assert against the State. Such a 
character may be attributed to Article 6(1)(c) of 
Directive 95/46 on the protection of individuals 
with regard to the processing of personal data 
and on the free movement of such data, un-
der which personal data must be... adequate, 
relevant and not excessive in relation to the 
purposes for which they are collected and/or 
further processed, and to Article 7(c) or (e) of 
that directive, under which personal data may 
be processed only if inter alia processing is nec-
essary for compliance with a legal obligation to 
which the controller is subject or is necessary 
for the performance of a task carried out in the 
public interest or in the exercise of official au-
thority vested in the controller... to whom the 
data are disclosed. see paras 98, 100-101, op-
erative part 2 

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT 

20 May 2003 1

((Protection of individuals with regard to the pro-
cessing of personal data – Directive 95/46/EC – 
Protection of private life – Disclosure of data on the 
income of employees of bodies subject to control 
by the Rechnungshof))

In Joined Cases C-465/00, C-138/01 and C-139/01, 

REFERENCES to the Court under Article 234 EC by 
the Verfassungsgerichtshof (C-465/00) and the 
Oberster Gerichtshof (C-138/01 and C-139/01) 
(Austria) for preliminary rulings in the proceedings 
pending before those courts between Rechnung-
shof (C-465/00) 

and

1 Language of the case: German
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Österreichischer Rundfunk, Wirtschaftskammer 
Steiermark, Marktgemeinde Kaltenleutgeben, Land 
Niederösterreich, Österreichische Nationalbank, 
Stadt Wiener Neustadt, Austrian Airlines, Österrei-
chische Luftverkehrs-AG, 

and between Christa Neukomm (C-138/01), Joseph 
Lauermann (C-139/01) 

and

Österreichischer Rundfunk, 

on the interpretation of Directive 95/46/EC of the 
European Parliament and of the Council of 24 Oc-
tober 1995 on the protection of individuals with re-
gard to the processing of personal data and on the 
free movement of such data (OJ 1995 L 281, p. 31),

THE COURT, composed of: G.C. Rodríguez Iglesias, 
President, J.-P. Puissochet, M. Wathelet (Rappor-
teur) and R. Schintgen (Presidents of Chambers), 
C. Gulmann, D.A.O. Edward, A. La Pergola, P. Jann, 
V. Skouris, F. Macken, N. Colneric, S. von Bahr and 
J.N. Cunha Rodrigues, Judges,  Advocate General: 
A. Tizzano,  Registrar: M.-F. Contet, Principal Admin-
istrator, 

after considering the written observations submit-
ted on behalf of: 

• the Rechnungshof, by F. Fiedler, acting as 
Agent (C-465/00), 

• Österreichischer Rundfunk, by P. Zöchbauer, 
Rechtsanwalt (C-465/00), 

• Wirtschaftskammer Steiermark, by P. Mühl-
bacher and B. Rupp, acting as Agents (C-
465/00), 

• Marktgemeinde Kaltenleutgeben, by F. Ni-
stelberger, Rechtsanwalt (C-465/00), 

• Land Niederösterreich, by E. Pröll, C. Kleiser 
and L. Staudigl, acting as Agents (C-465/00), 

• Österreichische Nationalbank, by K. Lieb-
scher and G. Tumpel-Gugerell, acting as 
Agents (C-465/00), 

• Stadt Wiener Neustadt, by H. Linhart, acting 
as Agent (C-465/00), 

• Austrian Airlines, Österreichische 
Luftverkehrs-AG, by H. Jarolim, Rechtsanwalt 
(C-465/00), 

• the Austrian Government, by H. Dossi, acting 
as Agent (C-465/00, C-138/01 and C-139/01), 

• the Danish Government, by J. Molde, acting 
as Agent (C-465/00), 

• the Italian Government, by U. Leanza, acting 
as Agent, assisted by D. Del Gaizo, avvocato 

dello Stato (C-465/00) and O. Fiumara, av-
vocato generale dello Stato (C-138/01 and 
C-139/01), 

• the Netherlands Government, by H.G. Sev-
enster, acting as Agent (C-465/00, C-138/01 
and C-139/01), 

• the Finnish Government, by E. Bygglin, act-
ing as Agent (C-465/00), 

• the Swedish Government, by A. Kruse, act-
ing as Agent (C-465/00, C-138/01 and 
C-139/01), 

• the United Kingdom Government, by R. Ma-
grill, acting as Agent, and J. Coppel, Barrister 
(C-465/00, C-138/01 and C-139/01), 

• the Commission of the European Commu-
nities, by U. Wölker and X. Lewis, acting as 
Agents (C-465/00, C-138/01 and C-139/01), 

having regard to the Report for the Hearing,

after hearing the oral observations of Markt-
gemeinde Kaltenleutgeben, represented by F. Ni-
stelberger; Land Niederösterreich, represented by 
C. Kleiser; Österreichische Nationalbank, represent-
ed by B. Gruber, Rechtsanwalt; Austrian Airlines, 
Österreichische Luftverkehrs-AG, represented by 
H. Jarolim; the Austrian Government, represented 
by W. Okresek, acting as Agent; the Italian Govern-
ment, represented by M. Fiorilli, avvocato dello 
Stato; the Netherlands Government, represented 
by J. van Bakel, acting as Agent; the Finnish Govern-
ment, represented by T. Pynnä, acting as Agent; the 
Swedish Government, represented by A. Kruse and 
B. Hernqvist, acting as Agent; and the Commission, 
represented by U. Wölker and C. Docksey, acting as 
Agent, at the hearing on 18 June 2002, 

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 14 November 2002,

gives the following Judgment

1. By orders of 12 December 2000 and 28 and 14 
February 2001, the first of which was received 
at the Court on 28 December 2000 and the oth-
er two on 27 March 2001, the Verfassungsger-
ichtshof (Constitutional Court) (C-465/00) and 
the Oberster Gerichtshof (Supreme Court) 
(C-138/01 and C-139/01) each referred to the 
Court under Article 234 EC two questions, 
formulated in substantially the same way, on 
the interpretation of Directive 95/46/EC of the 
European Parliament and of the Council of 24 
October 1995 on the protection of individuals 
with regard to the processing of personal data 
and on the free movement of such data (OJ 
1995 L 281, p. 31). 
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2. Those questions were raised in proceedings 
between, first, the Rechnungshof (Court of 
Audit) and a large number of bodies subject to 
its control and, second, Ms Neukomm and Mr 
Lauermann and their employer Österreichis-
cher Rundfunk (ÖRF), a broadcasting organisa-
tion governed by public law, concerning the 
obligation of public bodies subject to control 
by the Rechnungshof to communicate to it the 
salaries and pensions exceeding a certain level 
paid by them to their employees and pension-
ers together with the names of the recipients, 
for the purpose of drawing up an annual report 
to be transmitted to the Nationalrat, the Bun-
desrat and the Landtage (the lower and upper 
chambers of the Federal Parliament and the 
provincial assemblies) and made available to 
the general public (the Report). 

Legal context

Nationalprovisions
3. Under Paragraph 8 of the Bundesverfas-

sungsgesetz über die Begrenzung von Bezü-
gen öffentlicher Funktionäre (Federal constitu-
tional law on the limitation of salaries of public 
officials, BGBl. I 1997/64, as amended, the Bez-
BegrBVG): 

1. Bodies subject to control by the Rechnung-
shof must, within the first three months of each 
second calendar year, inform the Rechnung-
shof of the salaries or pensions of persons who 
in at least one of the two previous calendar 
years drew salaries or pensions greater annu-
ally than 14 times 80% of the monthly refer-
ence amount under Paragraph 1 [for 2000, 14 
times EUR 5 887.87]. The bodies must also state 
the salaries and pensions of persons who draw 
an additional salary or pension from a body 
subject to audit by the Rechnungshof. Persons 
who draw a salary or pension from two or more 
bodies subject to control by the Rechnungshof 
must inform the bodies of this. If this duty of 
disclosure is not complied with by the body, 
the Rechnungshof must inspect the relevant 
documents and draw up its report on the basis 
thereof. 

2. In the application of subparagraph 1, social 
benefits and benefits in kind are also to be tak-
en into account, unless they are benefits from 
sickness or accident insurance or on the basis 
of comparable provisions of Land law. Where 
several salaries or pensions are paid by bodies 
subject to control by the Rechnungshof, they 

are to be aggregated. 

3. The Rechnungshof shall summarise that 
information ─ for each year separately ─ in 
a report. The report shall include all persons 
whose total yearly salaries and pensions from 
bodies subject to control by the Rechnungshof 
exceed the amount stated in subparagraph 1. 
The report shall be transmitted to the National-
rat, the Bundesrat and the Landtage. 

4. It appears from the orders of reference that, 
in the light of the travaux préparatoires of 
the BezBegrBVG, legal commentators deduce 
from the latter provision that the Report must 
give the names of the persons concerned and 
against each name the amount of annual re-
muneration received. 

5. The Verfassungsgerichtshof states that, in ac-
cordance with the legislature's intention, the 
Report must be made available to the general 
public, so as to provide them with compre-
hensive information. It states that through this 
information pressure is brought to bear on 
the bodies concerned to keep salaries at a low 
level, so that public funds are used thriftily, eco-
nomically and efficiently. 

6. The bodies subject to audit by the Rechnung-
shof are the Federation, the Länder (Federal 
provinces), large municipalities and ─ where 
a reasoned request has been made by the 
government of a Land ─ municipalities with 
fewer than 20 000 inhabitants, associations 
of municipalities, social security institutions, 
statutory professional bodies, Österreichischer 
Rundfunk, institutions, funds and foundations 
managed by organs of the Federation or the 
Länder or by persons appointed by them for 
that purpose, and undertakings managed 
by the Federation, a Land or a municipality 
or (alone or jointly with other bodies subject 
to control by the Rechnungshof) controlled 
through a company-law holding of not less 
than 50% or otherwise. 

Communitylegislation
7. Recitals 5 to 9 in the preamble to Directive 

95/46 show that it was adopted on the ba-
sis of Article 100a of the EC Treaty (now, after 
amendment, Article 95 EC) to encourage the 
free movement of personal data through the 
harmonisation of the laws, regulations and ad-
ministrative provisions of the Member States 
on the protection of individuals with regard to 
the processing of such data. 
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8. According to Article 1 of Directive 95/46: 

1. In accordance with this Directive, Member 
States shall protect the fundamental rights and 
freedoms of natural persons, and in particular 
their right to privacy with respect to the pro-
cessing of personal data. 

2. Member States shall neither restrict nor pro-
hibit the free flow of personal data between 
Member States for reasons connected with the 
protection afforded under paragraph 1. 

9. In this connection, recitals 2 and 3 of Directive 
95/46 read as follows: 

(2) Whereas data-processing systems are 
designed to serve man; whereas they must, 
whatever the nationality or residence of natu-
ral persons, respect their fundamental rights 
and freedoms, notably the right to privacy, and 
contribute to economic and social progress, 
trade expansion and the well-being of indi-
viduals; 

(3) Whereas the establishment and functioning 
of an internal market in which, in accordance 
with Article 7a of the Treaty, the free move-
ment of goods, persons, services and capital 
is ensured require not only that personal data 
should be able to flow freely from one Member 
State to another, but also that the fundamental 
rights of individuals should be safeguarded 

10. Recital 10 of Directive 95/46 adds: (10) Whereas 
the object of the national laws on the process-
ing of personal data is to protect fundamental 
rights and freedoms, notably the right to priva-
cy, which is recognised both in Article 8 of the 
European Convention for the Protection of Hu-
man Rights and Fundamental Freedoms and in 
the general principles of Community law;... 

11. Under Article 6(1) of Directive 95/46, personal 
data (that is, in accordance with Article 2(a), 
any information relating to an identified or 
identifiable natural person) must be: 

(a) processed fairly and lawfully; 

(b) collected for specified, explicit and legiti-
mate purposes and not further processed in a 
way incompatible with those purposes... 

(c) dequate, relevant and not excessive in re-
lation to the purposes for which they are col-
lected and/or further processed; 

... 

12. Article 2(b) of Directive 95/46 defines process-

ing of personal data as: any operation or set of 
operations which is performed upon personal 
data, whether or not by automatic means, such 
as collection, recording, organisation, storage, 
adaptation or alteration, retrieval, consultation, 
use, disclosure by transmission, dissemination 
or otherwise making available, alignment or 
combination, blocking, erasure or destruction. 

13. Under Article 7 of Directive 95/46, personal 
data may be processed only if one of the six 
conditions it sets out is satisfied, and in particu-
lar if: 

(c) processing is necessary for compliance with 
a legal obligation to which the controller is 
subject; or 

... 

(e) processing is necessary for the performance 
of a task carried out in the public interest or in 
the exercise of official authority vested in the 
controller... to whom the data are disclosed 

14. According to recital 72 of Directive 95/46, the 
directive allows for the principle of public ac-
cess to official documents to be taken into ac-
count when implementing the principles set 
out in the directive. 

15. As regards the scope of Directive 95/46, Arti-
cle 3(1) provides that it is to apply to the pro-
cessing of personal data wholly or partly by 
automatic means, and to the processing oth-
erwise than by automatic means of personal 
data which form part of a filing system or are 
intended to form part of a filing system. How-
ever, under Article 3(2), the directive shall not 
apply to the processing of personal data: 

• in the course of an activity which falls out-
side the scope of Community law, such as 
those provided for by Titles V and VI of the 
Treaty on European Union and in any case 
to processing operations concerning public 
security, defence, State security (including 
the economic well-being of the State when 
the processing operation relates to State 
security matters) and the activities of the 
State in areas of criminal law; 

• by a natural person in the course of a purely 
personal or household activity 

16. In addition, Article 13 of Directive 95/46 au-
thorises Member States to derogate from cer-
tain of its provisions, in particular Article 6(1), 
where this is necessary to safeguard inter alia 
an important economic or financial interest 
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of a Member State or of the European Union, 
including monetary, budgetary and taxation 
matters (Article 13(1)(e)) or a monitoring, in-
spection or regulatory function connected, 
even occasionally, with the exercise of official 
authority in certain cases referred to, including 
that in subparagraph (e) (Article 13(1)(f)). 

The main proceedings and the 
questions referred for preliminary 
rulings

Case C-465/00 

17. Differences of opinion as to the interpretation 
of Paragraph 8 of the BezBegrBVG arose be-
tween the Rechnungshof and a large number 
of bodies under its control with respect to sala-
ries and pensions paid in 1998 and 1999. 

18. The defendants in the main proceedings, 
which include local and regional authorities (a 
Land and two municipalities), public undertak-
ings, some of which are in competition with 
other Austrian or foreign undertakings not 
subject to control by the Rechnungshof, and 
a statutory professional body (Wirtschaftskam-
mer Steiermark), did not communicate the 
data on the income of the employees in ques-
tion, or communicated the data, to a greater 
or lesser extent, in anonymised form. They 
refused access to the relevant documents or 
made access subject to conditions which the 
Rechnungshof did not accept. The Rechnung-
shof therefore brought proceedings before 
the Verfassungsgerichtshof pursuant to Article 
126a of the Bundes-Verfassungsgesetz (Fed-
eral Constitutional Law), which gives that court 
jurisdiction to rule on differences of opinion 
concerning the interpretation of the statutory 
provisions governing the jurisdiction of the 
Rechnungshof. 

19. The Rechnungshof infers from Paragraph 8 of 
the BezBegrBVG an obligation to list in the Re-
port the names of the persons concerned and 
show their annual income. The defendants in 
the main proceedings take a different view and 
consider that they are not obliged to commu-
nicate personal data relating to that income, 
such as the names or positions of the persons 
concerned, with an indication of the emolu-
ments received by them. They rely principally 
on Directive 95/46, Article 8 of the European 
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms signed in Rome 
on 4 November 1950 (the Convention), which 

guarantees respect for private life, and on the 
argument that the obligation of publicity cre-
ates a barrier to the movement of workers, con-
trary to Article 39 EC. 

20. The Verfassungsgerichtshof wishes essentially 
to know whether Paragraph 8 of the BezBegr-
BVG, as interpreted by the Rechnungshof, is 
compatible with Community law, so that it can 
interpret it consistently with Community law 
or declare it (partly) inapplicable, as the case 
may be. 

21. It points out, in this connection, that the pro-
visions of Directive 95/46, in particular Ar-
ticles 6(1)(b) and (c) and 7(c) and (e), must 
be interpreted in the light of Article 8 of the 
Convention. It considers that comprehensive 
information for the public, as intended by the 
national legislature with respect to the income 
of employees of bodies subject to control by 
the Rechnungshof whose annual remunera-
tion exceeds a certain threshold (ATS 1 127 486 
in 1999 and ATS 1 120 000 in 1998), has to be 
regarded as an interference with private life, 
which can be justified under Article 8(2) of the 
Convention only if that information contributes 
to the economic well-being of the country. An 
interference with fundamental rights cannot 
be justified by the existence of a mere public 
interest in information. The court doubts that 
the disclosure, by means of the Report, of data 
on personal income promotes the economic 
well-being of the country. In any event, it con-
stitutes a disproportionate interference with 
private life. The audit carried out by the Rech-
nungshof is indubitably sufficient to ensure the 
proper use of public funds. 

22. The national court is also uncertain as to 
whether the scope of Community law varies 
according to the nature of the body which is 
required to contribute to the disclosure of the 
individual income of some of its employees. 

23. In those circumstances, the Verfassungsger-
ichtshof decided to stay proceedings and refer 
the following two questions to the Court for a 
preliminary ruling: 

1.Are the provisions of Community law, in par-
ticular those on data protection, to be inter-
preted as precluding national legislation which 
requires a State body to collect and transmit 
data on income for the purpose of publishing 
the names and income of employees of: 

e. a regional or local authority, 
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f. a broadcasting organisation governed by 
public law, 

g. a national central bank, 

h. a statutory representative body, 

i. a partially State-controlled undertaking 
which is operated for profit? 

2. If the answer to at least part of the above 
question is in the affirmative: Are the provi-
sions precluding such national legislation di-
rectly applicable, in the sense that the persons 
obliged to make disclosure may rely on them 
to prevent the application of contrary national 
provisions? 

Cases C-138/01 and C-139/01 

24. Ms Neukomm and Mr Lauermann, who are 
employees of ÖRF, a body subject to control by 
the Rechnungshof, brought proceedings in the 
Austrian courts for interim orders to prevent 
ÖRF from acceding to the Rechnungshof's re-
quest to communicate data. 

25. The applications for interim orders were dis-
missed at first instance. The Arbeits- und So-
zialgericht Wien (Labour and Social Court, 
Vienna) (Austria) (C-138/01), distinguishing 
between the transmission of the data to the 
Rechnungshof and its inclusion in the Report, 
considered that the Report had to be anony-
mous, while the mere transmission of the data 
to the Rechnungshof, even including names, 
did not infringe Article 8 of the Convention or 
Directive 95/46. The Landesgericht St Pölten 
(Regional Court, St Pölten) (Austria) (C-139/01), 
on the other hand, held that the inclusion of 
data with names in the Report was lawful, since 
an anonymised report would not enable the 
Rechnungshof to exercise adequate control. 

26. The Oberlandesgericht Wien (Higher Regional 
Court, Vienna) (Austria) upheld on appeal the 
dismissal of the applications for interim orders 
by the courts at first instance. While stating, in 
connection with Case C-138/01, that in com-
municating the data in question the employer 
is merely performing a task imposed on him 
by law and that the subsequent processing of 
the data by the Rechnungshof is not carried 
out under the control of the employer, the 
Oberlandesgericht held, in the context of Case 
C-139/01, that Paragraph 8 of the BezBegrBVG 
was consistent with fundamental rights and 
with Directive 95/46, even in the case of a list 
by name of the persons concerned. 

27. Ms Neukomm and Mr Lauermann appealed on 
a point of law (Revision) to the Oberster Ger-
ichtshof. 

28. The Oberster Gerichtshof, referring to the refer-
ence for a preliminary ruling in Case C-465/00 
and adopting the points of law raised by the 
Verfassungsgerichtshof, decided to stay pro-
ceedings and refer the following two questions 
to the Court, using the same wording in Cases 
C-138/01 and C-139/01: 

1.Are the provisions of Community law, in par-
ticular those on data protection (Articles 1, 2, 
6, 7 and 22 of Directive 95/46/EC in conjunc-
tion with Article 6 (formerly Article F) of the 
Treaty on European Union and Article 8 of the 
Convention), to be interpreted as precluding 
national legislation which requires a public 
broadcasting organisation, as a legal body, to 
communicate, and a State body to collect and 
transmit, data on income for the purpose of 
publishing the names and income of employ-
ees of a broadcasting organisation governed 
by public law? 

2.If the Court of Justice of the European Com-
munities answers the above question in the 
affirmative: Are the provisions precluding na-
tional legislation of the kind described above 
directly applicable, in the sense that an organi-
sation obliged to make disclosure may rely on 
them to prevent the application of contrary 
national legislation, and may not therefore rely 
on an obligation under national law against 
the employees concerned by the disclosure? 

29. By order of the President of the Court of 17 
May 2001, Cases C-138/01 and C-139/01 were 
joined for the purposes of the written proce-
dure, the oral procedure and judgment. Case 
C-465/00 and Cases C-138/01 and C-139/01 
should also be joined for the purposes of judg-
ment. 

30. The questions put by the Verfassungsger-
ichtshof and the Oberster Gerichtshof are es-
sentially the same, and should therefore be 
examined together. 

Applicability of Directive 95/46
31. To answer the questions as put would presup-

pose that Directive 95/46 is applicable in the 
main proceedings. That applicability is, howev-
er, disputed before the Court. This point must 
be decided as a preliminary issue. 

Observations submitted to the Court 
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32. The defendants in the main proceedings in 
Case C-465/00 consider essentially that the 
control activity exercised by the Rechnung-
shof falls within the scope of Community law 
and hence of Directive 95/46. In particular, in 
that it relates to the remuneration received 
by the employees of the bodies concerned, 
that activity touches aspects covered by Com-
munity provisions in social matters, such as 
Articles 136 EC, 137 EC and 141 EC, Council 
Directive 76/207/EEC of 9 February 1976 on 
the implementation of the principle of equal 
treatment for men and women as regards ac-
cess to employment, vocational training and 
promotion, and working conditions (OJ 1976 
L 39, p. 40), and Council Regulation (EEC) No 
1408/71 of 14 June 1971 on the application of 
social security schemes to employed persons, 
to self-employed persons and to members of 
their families moving within the Community, 
as amended and updated by Council Regula-
tion (EC) No 118/97 of 2 December 1996 (OJ 
1997 L 28, p. 1). 

33. They further submit that the control exercised 
by the Rechnungshof, first, affects the possibil-
ity for employees of the bodies concerned to 
seek employment in another Member State, 
because of the publicity attaching to their 
salaries which limits their power of negotiation 
with foreign companies, and, second, deters 
nationals of other Member States from seeking 
employment with the bodies subject to that 
control. 

34. Austrian Airlines, Österreichische Luftverkehrs-
AG states that the interference with the free-
dom of movement of workers is particularly 
serious in its case because it competes with 
companies of other Member States which are 
not subject to such control. 

35. The Rechnungshof and the Austrian and Ital-
ian Governments, and to a certain extent the 
Commission, on the other hand, consider that 
Directive 95/46 is not applicable in the main 
proceedings. 

36. According to the Rechnungshof and the Aus-
trian and Italian Governments, the control ac-
tivity referred to in Paragraph 8 of the BezBe-
grBVG, which pursues objectives in the public 
interest in the field of public accounts, does not 
fall within the scope of Community law. 

37. After observing that the directive, which was 
adopted on the basis of Article 100a of the 
Treaty, has the objective of establishing the in-
ternal market, an aspect of which is the protec-

tion of the right to privacy, the Rechnungshof 
and the Austrian and Italian Governments sub-
mit that the control in question is not such as 
to obstruct the freedom of movement of work-
ers, since it does not in any way prevent the 
employees of the bodies concerned from go-
ing to work in another Member State or those 
of other Member States from working for those 
bodies. In any event, the link between the con-
trol activity and the freedom of movement of 
workers, even supposing that workers do seek 
to avoid working for a body subject to control 
by the Rechnungshof because of the publicity 
attaching to the salaries received, is too uncer-
tain and indirect to constitute an infringement 
of freedom of movement and thereby to allow 
a link to be made with Community law. 

38. The Commission adopts a similar position. At 
the hearing, it nevertheless submitted that 
the collection of data by the bodies subject to 
control by the Rechnungshof with a view to 
communication to the latter and inclusion in 
the report is itself within the scope of Directive 
95/46. Collection serves not only the function 
of auditing but also, primarily, the payment 
of remuneration, which constitutes an activity 
covered by Community law, having regard to 
the existence of various relevant social provi-
sions in the Treaty, such as Article 141 EC, and 
to the possible effect of that activity on the 
freedom of movement of workers. 

Findings of the Court 

39. Directive 95/46, adopted on the basis of Arti-
cle 100a of the Treaty, is intended to ensure 
the free movement of personal data between 
Member States through the harmonisation of 
national provisions on the protection of indi-
viduals with regard to the processing of such 
data. Article 1, which defines the object of the 
directive, provides in paragraph 2 that Member 
States may neither restrict nor prohibit the free 
flow of personal data between Member States 
for reasons connected with the protection of 
the fundamental rights and freedoms of natu-
ral persons, in particular their private life, with 
respect to the processing of that data. 

40. Since any personal data can move between 
Member States, Directive 95/46 requires in 
principle compliance with the rules for protec-
tion of such data with respect to any process-
ing of data as defined by Article 3. 

41. It may be added that recourse to Article 100a 
of the Treaty as legal basis does not presup-
pose the existence of an actual link with free 
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movement between Member States in every 
situation referred to by the measure founded 
on that basis. As the Court has previously held 
(see Case C-376/98 Germany v Parliament and 
Council [2000] ECR I-8419, paragraph 85, and 
Case C-491/01 British American Tobacco (In-
vestments) and Imperial Tobacco [2002] ECR 
I-11453, paragraph 60), to justify recourse to 
Article 100a of the Treaty as the legal basis, 
what matters is that the measure adopted on 
that basis must actually be intended to im-
prove the conditions for the establishment 
and functioning of the internal market. In the 
present case, that fundamental attribute was 
never in dispute before the Court with respect 
to the provisions of Directive 95/46, in particu-
lar those in the light of which the national court 
raises the question of the compatibility of the 
national legislation in question with Commu-
nity law. 

42. In those circumstances, the applicability of Di-
rective 95/46 cannot depend on whether the 
specific situations at issue in the main proceed-
ings have a sufficient link with the exercise of 
the fundamental freedoms guaranteed by the 
Treaty, in particular, in those cases, the freedom 
of movement of workers. A contrary interpre-
tation could make the limits of the field of ap-
plication of the directive particularly unsure 
and uncertain, which would be contrary to its 
essential objective of approximating the laws, 
regulations and administrative provisions of 
the Member States in order to eliminate obsta-
cles to the functioning of the internal market 
deriving precisely from disparities between na-
tional legislations. 

43. Moreover, the applicability of Directive 95/46 
to situations where there is no direct link with 
the exercise of the fundamental freedoms of 
movement guaranteed by the Treaty is con-
firmed by the wording of Article 3(1) of the 
directive, which defines its scope in very broad 
terms, not making the application of the rules 
on protection depend on whether the process-
ing has an actual connection with freedom of 
movement between Member States. That is 
also confirmed by the exceptions in Article 3(2), 
in particular those concerning the processing 
of personal data in the course of an activity... 
provided for by Titles V and VI of the Treaty on 
European Union or in the course of a purely 
personal or household activity. Those excep-
tions would not, at the very least, be worded 
in that way if the directive were applicable 
exclusively to situations where there is a suf-
ficient link with the exercise of freedoms of 

movement. 

44. The same observation may be made with re-
gard to the exceptions in Article 8(2) of Direc-
tive 95/46, which concern the processing of 
specific categories of data, in particular those 
in Article 8(2)(d), which refers to processing 
carried out by a foundation, association or any 
other non-profit-seeking body with a political, 
philosophical, religious or trade-union aim. 

45. Finally, the processing of personal data at issue 
in the main proceedings does not fall within 
the exception in the first indent of Article 3(2) 
of Directive 95/46. That processing does not 
concern the exercise of an activity which falls 
outside the scope of Community law, such 
as those provided for by Titles V and VI of the 
Treaty on European Union. Nor is it a process-
ing operation concerning public security, 
defence, State security or the activities of the 
State in areas of criminal law. 

46. The purposes set out in Articles 7(c) and (e) and 
13(e) and (f) of Directive 95/46 show, moreo-
ver, that it is intended to cover instances of 
data processing such as those at issue in the 
main proceedings. 

47. It must therefore be considered that Directive 
95/46 is applicable to the processing of per-
sonal data provided for by legislation such as 
that at issue in the main proceedings. 

The first question
48. By their first question, the national courts es-

sentially ask whether Directive 95/46 is to be 
interpreted as precluding national legislation 
such as that at issue in the main proceedings 
which requires a State control body to collect 
and communicate, for purposes of publication, 
data on the income of persons employed by 
the bodies subject to that control, where that 
income exceeds a certain threshold. 

Observations submitted to the Court 

49. The Danish Government considers that Direc-
tive 95/46 does not, strictly speaking, govern 
the right of third parties to obtain access to 
documents on request. In particular, Article 12 
of the directive refers only to the right of any 
person to obtain data concerning him. Ac-
cording to the Government, the protection of 
personal data which appear not to be sensitive 
must give way to the principle of transparency, 
which holds an essential place in the Com-
munity legal order. The Danish Government, 
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with the Swedish Government, observes in this 
respect that, according to recital 72 of the di-
rective, the principle of public access to official 
documents may be taken into account when 
implementing the directive. 

50. The Rechnungshof, the Austrian, Italian, Neth-
erlands, Finnish and Swedish Governments 
and the Commission consider that the national 
provisions at issue in the main proceedings are 
compatible with Directive 95/46, by reason, 
generally, of the wide discretion the Member 
States have in implementing it, in particular 
where a task in the public interest provided for 
by law is to be carried out, under Articles 6(b) 
and (c) and 7(c) or (e) of the directive. Both the 
principles of transparency and of the proper 
management of public funds and the preven-
tion of abuses are relied on in this respect. 

51. Those objectives in the public interest can jus-
tify an interference with private life, protected 
by Article 8(2) of the Convention, if it is in ac-
cordance with the law, is necessary in a demo-
cratic society for the pursuit of legitimate aims, 
and is not disproportionate to the objective 
pursued. 

52. The Austrian Government notes in particu-
lar that, when reviewing proportionality, the 
extent to which the data affect private life 
must be taken into account. Data relating to 
personal intimacy, health, family life or sexual-
ity must therefore be protected more strongly 
than data relating to income and taxes, which, 
while also personal, concern personal identity 
to a lesser extent and are thereby less sensitive 
(see, to that effect, Fressoz and Roire v. France 
[GC], no. 29183/95, § 65, ECHR 1999-I). 

53. The Finnish Government likewise considers 
that protection of private life is not absolute. 
Data relating to a person acting in the course 
of a public office or public functions relating 
thereto do not fall within the protection of pri-
vate life. 

54. The Italian Government submits that data such 
as that at issue in the main proceedings are al-
ready by their nature public in most Member 
States, since they are visible from salary scales 
or remuneration brackets laid down by statute, 
regulation or collective agreements. In those 
circumstances, it is not contrary to the princi-
ple of proportionality to provide for diffusion 
of that data with the identities of the various 
people in receipt of the salaries in question. 
That diffusion, being thus intended to clarify 
a situation that is already apparent from data 

available to the public, constitutes the mini-
mum measure which would ensure realisation 
of the objectives of transparency and sound 
administration. 

55. The Netherlands Government adds, however, 
that the national courts must ascertain, for 
each public body concerned, whether the 
objective of public interest can be attained 
by processing the personal data in a way that 
interferes less with the private lives of the per-
sons concerned. 

56. The United Kingdom Government submits 
that, in answering the first question, the provi-
sions of the Charter of Fundamental Rights of 
the European Union, proclaimed in Nice on 18 
December 2000 (OJ 2000 C 364, p. 1), to which 
the Verfassungsgericht briefly refers, are of no 
relevance. 

57. In Cases C-138/01 and C-139/01, the Commis-
sion questions whether, in the context of ex-
amining proportionality under Article 6(1)(b) of 
Directive 95/46, it might not suffice for attain-
ing the objective pursued by the BezBegrBVG 
to transmit the data in an anonymised form, 
for example by indicating the function of the 
person concerned rather than his name. Even if 
it is admitted that the Rechnungshof needs de-
tails of names in order to carry out a more exact 
check, it is questionable whether the inclusion 
of that data in the Report, giving the name of 
the person concerned, is really necessary for 
performing that check, especially as the Report 
is not only submitted to the parliamentary as-
semblies but must also be widely published. 

58. Moreover, the Commission observes that un-
der Article 13 of Directive 95/46 the Member 
States may inter alia derogate from Article 
6(1)(b) of the directive in order to safeguard 
a number of objectives in the public interest, 
in particular an important economic or finan-
cial interest of a Member State (Article 13(1)
(e)). However, in the Commission's view, the 
derogating measures must also comply with 
the principle of proportionality, which calls for 
the same considerations as those stated in the 
preceding paragraph with reference to Article 
6(1)(b) of the directive. 

59. The defendants in the main proceedings in 
Case C-465/00 consider that the national legis-
lation at issue is incompatible with Article 6(1)
(b) and (c) of Directive 95/46 and cannot be 
justified under Article 7(c) or (e) of the directive, 
since it constitutes an interference which is not 
justified under Article 8(2) of the Convention, 
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and is in any event disproportionate. The audit 
performed by the Rechnungshof is sufficient to 
guarantee the thrifty use of public funds. 

60. More particularly, it has not been shown that 
publication of the names and the amount of 
the income of all persons employed by public 
bodies where that amount exceeds a certain 
level constitutes a measure aimed at the eco-
nomic well-being of the country. The aim of the 
legislature was to exert pressure on the bodies 
in question to maintain salaries at a low level. 
The defendants also submit that that measure 
is aimed, in the present case, at persons who 
for the most part are not public figures. 

61. Moreover, even if the drawing up by the Rech-
nungshof of a report containing personal data 
on income intended for public debate were 
to be regarded as an interference with private 
life justified under Article 8(2) of the Conven-
tion, Land Niederösterreich and ÖRF consider 
that that measure also violates Article 14 of 
the Convention. Persons receiving the same 
income are treated unequally, depending on 
whether or not they are employed by a body 
subject to control by the Rechnungshof. 

62. ÖRF points out a further example of unequal 
treatment that cannot be justified under Ar-
ticle 14 of the Convention. Among the em-
ployees of bodies subject to control by the 
Rechnungshof, only those whose income 
exceeds the threshold fixed in Paragraph 8 of 
the BezBegrBVG have to suffer an interference 
with their private life. If the legislature attaches 
real importance to the reasonableness of the 
remuneration received by the employees of 
certain bodies, it is then necessary to publish 
the income of all employees, regardless of its 
amount. 

63. Finally, ÖRF, Marktgemeinde Kaltenleutge-
ben and Austrian Airlines, Österreichische 
Luftverkehrs-AG submit that the wording of 
Paragraph 8 of the BezBegrBVG lends itself to 
an interpretation consistent with Community 
law, under which the salaries in question are 
required to be communicated to the Rech-
nungshof and included in the Report only in 
anonymised form. That interpretation should 
prevail, as it resolves the contradiction be-
tween that provision and Directive 95/46. 

Findings of the Court 

64. It should be noted, to begin with, that the data 
at issue in the main proceedings, which relate 
both to the monies paid by certain bodies and 

the recipients, constitute personal data within 
the meaning of Article 2(a) of Directive 95/46, 
being information relating to an identified or 
identifiable natural person. Their recording and 
use by the body concerned, and their transmis-
sion to the Rechnungshof and inclusion by the 
latter in a report intended to be communicated 
to various political institutions and widely dif-
fused, constitute processing of personal data 
within the meaning of Article 2(b) of the direc-
tive. 

65. Under Directive 95/46, subject to the excep-
tions permitted under Article 13, all process-
ing of personal data must comply, first, with 
the principles relating to data quality set out 
in Article 6 of the directive and, second, with 
one of the criteria for making data processing 
legitimate listed in Article 7. 

66. More specifically, the data must be collected 
for specified, explicit and legitimate purposes 
(Article 6(1)(b) of Directive 95/46) and must 
be adequate, relevant and not excessive in 
relation to those purposes (Article 6(1)(c)). In 
addition, under Article 7(c) and (e) of the direc-
tive respectively, the processing of personal 
data is permissible only if it is necessary for 
compliance with a legal obligation to which 
the controller is subject or is necessary for the 
performance of a task carried out in the public 
interest or in the exercise of official authority 
vested in the controller... to whom the data are 
disclosed. 

67. However, under Article 13(e) and (f) of the di-
rective, the Member States may derogate inter 
alia from Article 6(1) where this is necessary to 
safeguard respectively an important economic 
or financial interest of a Member State or of the 
European Union, including monetary, budg-
etary and taxation matters or a monitoring, 
inspection or regulatory function connected, 
even occasionally, with the exercise of official 
authority in particular cases including that re-
ferred to in subparagraph (e).

68. It should also be noted that the provisions of 
Directive 95/46, in so far as they govern the 
processing of personal data liable to infringe 
fundamental freedoms, in particular the right 
to privacy, must necessarily be interpreted in 
the light of fundamental rights, which, accord-
ing to settled case-law, form an integral part 
of the general principles of law whose obser-
vance the Court ensures (see, inter alia, Case 
C-274/99 P Connolly v Commission [2001] ECR 
I-1611, paragraph 37). 
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69. Those principles have been expressly restated 
in Article 6(2) EU, which states that [t]he Union 
shall respect fundamental rights, as guaran-
teed by the [Convention] and as they result 
from the constitutional traditions common to 
the Member States, as general principles of 
Community law. 

70. Directive 95/46 itself, while having as its prin-
cipal aim to ensure the free movement of per-
sonal data, provides in Article 1(1) that Member 
States shall protect the fundamental rights and 
freedoms of natural persons, and in particular 
their right to privacy with respect to the pro-
cessing of personal data. Several recitals in its 
preamble, in particular recitals 10 and 11, also 
express that requirement. 

71. In this respect, it is to be noted that Article 8 
of the Convention, while stating in paragraph 
1 the principle that the public authorities must 
not interfere with the right to respect for pri-
vate life, accepts in paragraph 2 that such an in-
terference is possible where it is in accordance 
with the law and is necessary in a democratic 
society in the interests of national security, 
public safety or the economic well-being of 
the country, for the prevention of disorder or 
crime, for the protection of health or morals, or 
for the protection of the rights and freedoms 
of others. 

72. So, for the purpose of applying Directive 95/46, 
in particular Articles 6(1)(c), 7(c) and (e) and 13, 
it must be ascertained, first, whether legislation 
such as that at issue in the main proceedings 
provides for an interference with private life, 
and if so, whether that interference is justified 
from the point of view of Article 8 of the Con-
vention. 

Existence of an interference with private life 

73. First of all, the collection of data by name re-
lating to an individual's professional income, 
with a view to communicating it to third par-
ties, falls within the scope of Article 8 of the 
Convention. The European Court of Human 
Rights has held in this respect that the expres-
sion private life must not be interpreted restric-
tively and that there is no reason of principle 
to justify excluding activities of a professional... 
nature from the notion of private life (see, inter 
alia, Amann v. Switzerland [GC], no. 27798/95, 
§ 65, ECHR 2000-II and Rotaru v. Romania [GC], 
no. 28341/95, § 43, ECHR 2000-V). 

74. It necessarily follows that, while the mere re-
cording by an employer of data by name relat-

ing to the remuneration paid to his employees 
cannot as such constitute an interference with 
private life, the communication of that data to 
third parties, in the present case a public au-
thority, infringes the right of the persons con-
cerned to respect for private life, whatever the 
subsequent use of the information thus com-
municated, and constitutes an interference 
within the meaning of Article 8 of the Conven-
tion. 

75. To establish the existence of such an interfer-
ence, it does not matter whether the informa-
tion communicated is of a sensitive character 
or whether the persons concerned have been 
inconvenienced in any way (see, to that effect, 
Amann v. Switzerland, § 70). It suffices to find 
that data relating to the remuneration received 
by an employee or pensioner have been com-
municated by the employer to a third party. 

Justification of the interference 

76. An interference such as that mentioned in 
paragraph 74 above violates Article 8 of the 
Convention unless it is in accordance with the 
law, pursues one or more of the legitimate 
aims specified in Article 8(2), and is necessary 
in a democratic society for achieving that aim 
or aims. 

77. It is common ground that the interference at 
issue in the main proceedings is in accordance 
with Paragraph 8 of the BezBegrBVG. However, 
the question arises whether that paragraph is 
formulated with sufficient precision to enable 
the citizen to adjust his conduct accordingly, 
and so complies with the requirement of fore-
seeability laid down in the case-law of the Eu-
ropean Court of Human Rights (see, inter alia, 
Rekvényi v. Hungary [GC], no. 25390/94, § 34, 
ECHR 1999-III). 

78. In this respect, Paragraph 8(3) of the BezBe-
grBVG states that the report drawn up by the 
Rechnungshof is to include all persons whose 
total yearly salaries and pensions from bodies... 
exceed the amount stated in subparagraph 1, 
without expressly requiring the names of the 
persons concerned to be disclosed in relation 
to the income they receive. According to the 
orders for reference, it is legal commentators 
who, on the basis of the travaux préparatoires, 
interpret the constitutional law in that way. 

79. It is for the national courts to ascertain whether 
the interpretation to the effect that Paragraph 
8(3) of the BezBegrBVG requires disclosure of 
the names of the persons concerned in relation 
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to the income received complies with the re-
quirement of foreseeability referred to in para-
graph 77 above. 

80. However, that question need not arise until 
it has been determined whether such an in-
terpretation of the national provision at issue 
is consistent with Article 8 of the Convention, 
as regards its required proportionality to the 
aims pursued. That question will be examined 
below. 

81. It appears from the order for reference in Case 
C-465/00 that the objective of Paragraph 8 of 
the BezBegrBVG is to exert pressure on the 
public bodies concerned to keep salaries with-
in reasonable limits. The Austrian Government 
observes, more generally, that the interference 
provided for by that provision is intended to 
guarantee the thrifty and appropriate use of 
public funds by the administration. Such an 
objective constitutes a legitimate aim within 
the meaning both of Article 8(2) of the Con-
vention, which mentions the economic well-
being of the country, and Article 6(1)(b) of Di-
rective 95/46, which refers to specified, explicit 
and legitimate purposes. 

82. It must next be ascertained whether the inter-
ference in question is necessary in a democratic 
society to achieve the legitimate aim pursued. 

83. According to the European Court of Human 
Rights, the adjective necessary in Article 8(2) of 
the Convention implies that a pressing social 
need is involved and that the measure em-
ployed is proportionate to the legitimate aim 
pursued (see, inter alia, the Gillow v. the United 
Kingdom judgment of 24 November 1986, Se-
ries A no. 109, § 55). The national authorities 
also enjoy a margin of appreciation, the scope 
of which will depend not only on the nature of 
the legitimate aim pursued but also on the par-
ticular nature of the interference involved (see 
the Leander v. Sweden judgment of 26 March 
1987, Series A no. 116, § 59). 

84. The interest of the Republic of Austria in ensur-
ing the best use of public funds, and in particu-
lar keeping salaries within reasonable limits, 
must be balanced against the seriousness of 
the interference with the right of the persons 
concerned to respect for their private life. 

85. On the one hand, in order to monitor the prop-
er use of public funds, the Rechnungshof and 
the various parliamentary bodies undoubtedly 
need to know the amount of expenditure on 
human resources in the various public bodies. 

In addition, in a democratic society, taxpayers 
and public opinion generally have the right to 
be kept informed of the use of public revenues, 
in particular as regards expenditure on staff. 
Such information, put together in the Report, 
may make a contribution to the public debate 
on a question of general interest, and thus 
serves the public interest. 

86. The question nevertheless arises whether stat-
ing the names of the persons concerned in 
relation to the income received is proportion-
ate to the legitimate aim pursued and whether 
the reasons relied on before the Court to justify 
such disclosure appear relevant and sufficient. 

87. It is plain that, according to the interpretation 
adopted by the national courts, Paragraph 8 
of the BezBegrBVG requires disclosure of the 
names of the persons concerned, in relation 
to income above a certain level, with respect 
not only to persons filling posts remuner-
ated by salaries on a published scale, but to 
all persons remunerated by bodies subject to 
control by the Rechnungshof. Moreover, such 
information is not only communicated to the 
Rechnungshof and via the latter to the various 
parliamentary bodies, but is also made widely 
available to the public. 

88. It is for the national courts to ascertain whether 
such publicity is both necessary and propor-
tionate to the aim of keeping salaries within 
reasonable limits, and in particular to exam-
ine whether such an objective could not have 
been attained equally effectively by transmit-
ting the information as to names to the moni-
toring bodies alone. Similarly, the question 
arises whether it would not have been suffi-
cient to inform the general public only of the 
remuneration and other financial benefits to 
which persons employed by the public bod-
ies concerned have a contractual or statutory 
right, but not of the sums which each of them 
actually received during the year in question, 
which may depend to a varying extent on their 
personal and family situation. 

89. With respect, on the other hand, to the serious-
ness of the interference with the right of the 
persons concerned to respect for their private 
life, it is not impossible that they may suffer 
harm as a result of the negative effects of the 
publicity attached to their income from em-
ployment, in particular on their prospects of 
being given employment by other undertak-
ings, whether in Austria or elsewhere, which 
are not subject to control by the Rechnung-
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shof. 

90. It must be concluded that the interference re-
sulting from the application of national legisla-
tion such as that at issue in the main proceed-
ings may be justified under Article 8(2) of the 
Convention only in so far as the wide disclo-
sure not merely of the amounts of the annual 
income above a certain threshold of persons 
employed by the bodies subject to control by 
the Rechnungshof but also of the names of the 
recipients of that income is both necessary for 
and appropriate to the aim of keeping salaries 
within reasonable limits, that being a matter 
for the national courts to examine. 

Consequences with respect to the provisions 
of Directive 95/46 

91. If the national courts conclude that the na-
tional legislation at issue is incompatible with 
Article 8 of the Convention, that legislation is 
also incapable of satisfying the requirement of 
proportionality in Articles 6(1)(c) and 7(c) or (e) 
of Directive 95/46. Nor could it be covered by 
any of the exceptions referred to in Article 13 of 
that directive, which likewise requires compli-
ance with the requirement of proportionality 
with respect to the public interest objective 
being pursued. In any event, that provision 
cannot be interpreted as conferring legitimacy 
on an interference with the right to respect for 
private life contrary to Article 8 of the Conven-
tion. 

92. If, on the other hand, the national courts were 
to consider that Paragraph 8 of the BezBegr-
BVG is both necessary for and appropriate to 
the public interest objective being pursued, 
they would then, as appears from paragraphs 
77 to 79 above, still have to ascertain whether, 
by not expressly providing for disclosure of the 
names of the persons concerned in relation to 
the income received, Paragraph 8 of the Bez-
BegrBVG complies with the requirement of 
foreseeability. 

93. Finally, it should be noted, in the light of the 
above considerations, that the national court 
must also interpret any provision of national 
law, as far as possible, in the light of the word-
ing and the purpose of the applicable direc-
tive, in order to achieve the result pursued by 
the latter and thereby comply with the third 
paragraph of Article 249 EC (see Case C-106/89 
Marleasing [1990] ECR I-4135, paragraph 8). 

94. In the light of all the above considerations, the 
answer to the first question must be that Arti-

cles 6(1)(c) and 7(c) and (e) of Directive 95/46 
do not preclude national legislation such as 
that at issue in the main proceedings, provided 
that it is shown that the wide disclosure not 
merely of the amounts of the annual income 
above a certain threshold of persons employed 
by the bodies subject to control by the Rech-
nungshof but also of the names of the recipi-
ents of that income is necessary for and appro-
priate to the objective of proper management 
of public funds pursued by the legislature, that 
being for the national courts to ascertain. 

The second question
95. By their second question, the national courts 

ask whether the provisions of Directive 95/46 
which preclude national legislation such as 
that at issue in the main proceedings are di-
rectly applicable, in that they may be relied 
on by individuals before the national courts to 
oust the application of that legislation. 

96. The defendants in the main proceedings in 
Case C-465/00 and the Netherlands Govern-
ment consider that Articles 6(1) and 7 of Direc-
tive 95/46 fulfil the criteria stated in the Court's 
case-law for having such direct effect. They are 
sufficiently precise and unconditional for the 
bodies required to disclose the data relating 
to the income of the persons concerned to be 
able to rely on them to prevent application of 
the national provisions contrary to those provi-
sions. 

97. The Austrian Government submits, on the 
other hand, that the relevant provisions of 
Directive 95/46 are not directly applicable. In 
particular, Articles 6(1) and 7 are not uncondi-
tional, since their implementation requires the 
Member States, which have a wide discretion, 
to adopt special measures to that effect. 

98. On this point, it should be noted that wher-
ever the provisions of a directive appear, so 
far as their subject-matter is concerned, to be 
unconditional and sufficiently precise, they 
may, in the absence of implementing meas-
ures adopted within the prescribed period, be 
relied on against any national provision which 
is incompatible with the directive or in so far 
as they define rights which individuals are able 
to assert against the State (see, inter alia, Case 
8/81 Becker [1982] ECR 53, paragraph 25, and 
Case C-141/00 Kügler [2002] ECR I-6833, para-
graph 51). 

99. In the light of the answer to the first question, 
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the second question seeks to know whether 
such a character may be attributed to Article 
6(1)(c) of Directive 95/46, under which person-
al data must be... adequate, relevant and not 
excessive in relation to the purposes for which 
they are collected and/or further processed, 
and to Article 7(c) or (e), under which personal 
data may be processed only if inter alia pro-
cessing is necessary for compliance with a legal 
obligation to which the controller is subject or 
is necessary for the performance of a task car-
ried out in the public interest or in the exercise 
of official authority vested in the controller... to 
whom the data are disclosed. 

100. Those provisions are sufficiently precise to be 
relied on by individuals and applied by the na-
tional courts. Moreover, while Directive 95/46 
undoubtedly confers on the Member States a 
greater or lesser discretion in the implementa-
tion of some of its provisions, Articles 6(1)(c) 
and 7(c) or (e) for their part state unconditional 
obligations. 

101. The answer to the second question must 
therefore be that Articles 6(1)(c) and 7(c) and 
(e) of Directive 95/46 are directly applicable, in 
that they may be relied on by an individual be-
fore the national courts to oust the application 
of rules of national law which are contrary to 
those provisions. 

Costs
102. The costs incurred by the Austrian, Danish, Ital-

ian, Netherlands, Finnish, Swedish and United 
Kingdom Governments and by the Commis-
sion, which have submitted observations to 
the Court, are not recoverable. Since these 
proceedings are, for the parties to the main 
proceedings, a step in the proceedings pend-
ing before the national courts, the decisions on 
costs are a matter for those courts. 

On those grounds, THE COURT,

in answer to the questions referred to it by the Ver-
fassungsgerichtshof by order of 12 December 2000 
and by the Oberster Gerichtshof by orders of 14 
and 28 February 2001, hereby rules: 

1. Articles 6(1)(c) and 7(c) and (e) of Directive 
95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of 
the Council of 24 October 1995 on the protec-
tion of individuals with regard to the process-
ing of personal data and on the free move-
ment of such data do not preclude national 
legislation such as that at issue in the main 

proceedings, provided that it is shown that 
the wide disclosure not merely of the amounts 
of the annual income above a certain thresh-
old of persons employed by the bodies sub-
ject to control by the Rechnungshof but also 
of the names of the recipients of that income 
is necessary for and appropriate to the objec-
tive of proper management of public funds 
pursued by the legislature, that being for the 
national courts to ascertain. 

2. Articles 6(1)(c) and 7(c) and (e) of Directive 
95/46 are directly applicable, in that they may 
be relied on by an individual before the na-
tional courts to oust the application of rules 
of national law which are contrary to those 
provisions. 

Rodríguez Iglesias Puissochet  
Wathelet 

Schintgen Gulmann  Edward 

La Pergola Jann  Skouris 

Macken Colneric  von Bahr 

Cunha Rodrigues 

Delivered in open court in Luxembourg on 20 
May 2003. 

R. Grass, Registrar
G.C. Rodríguez Iglesias, President
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PERSONAL DATA, PROCESSING PERSONAL DATA, 
LOADING PERSONAL DATA ONTO AN INTERNET PAGE, 
TRANSFER OF DATA, HOSTING PROVIDER, TRANSFER 
OF DATA TO THIRD COUNTRIES, DATA ACCESSIBLE TO 
PEOPLE IN A THIRD COUNTRY, INTERPRETATION OF 
COMMUNITY LEGISLATION IN THE LIGHT OF FUNDA-
MENTAL RIGHTS

Judgment of the Court, 6 November 2003 

CAsE C-101/01 CRIMInAL 
PRoCEEDInGs AGAInst 
BoDIL LInDQVIst
(Reference for a preliminary ruling from the Göta 
hovrätt (Sweden)) 

«(Directive 95/46/EC – Scope – Publication of per-
sonal data on the internet – Place of publication – 
Definition of transfer of personal data to third coun-
tries – Freedom of expression – Compatibility with 
Directive 95/46 of greater protection for personal 
data under the national legislation of a Member 
State)»

Opinion of Advocate General Tizzano delivered on 
19 September 2002 

KEYWORDS

1. Approximation of laws – Directive 95/46 – 
Scope – Definition of processing of personal 
data wholly or partly by automatic means – Act 
of referring, on an internet page, to various per-
sons and identifying them by name or by other 
means – Included – Exceptions – Activities of 
the State or of State authorities unrelated to 
the fields of activity of individuals – Activities 
carried out in the course of private or family 
life of individuals – Processing of personal data 
consisting in publication on the internet in the 
exercise of charitable or religious activities – 
Not included (Directive 95/46 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council, Art. 3(1) and Art. 
2, first and second indents) 

2. Approximation of laws – Directive 95/46 – 
Scope – Definition of personal data concerning 
health – Reference to foot injury resulting in 
part-time sick leave – Included (Directive 95/46 
of the European Parliament and of the Council, 
Art. 8(1)) 

3. Approximation of laws – Directive 95/46 – 

Transfer of personal data to a third country 
– Definition – Loading of data on an internet 
page accessible to those with the technical 
means to access it, including those in third 
countries – Not included (Directive of the Eu-
ropean Parliament and of the Council 95/46, 
Art. 25) 

4. Approximation of laws – Directive 95/46 – 
Respect for fundamental rights – Freedom of 
expression – Obligation of national authorities 
responsible for applying national legislation 
implementing the directive to ensure a fair bal-
ance between the rights and interests in ques-
tion (European Convention for Human Rights, 
Art. 10; Directive of the European Parliament 
and of the Council 95/46) 

5. Approximation of laws – Directive 95/46 – Na-
tional legislation for the protection of personal 
data – Need for consistency with provisions 
of directive and its objective – Possibility of a 
Member State's extending its scope to areas 
not included in the scope of the directive – 
Limits (Directive 95/46 of the Parliament and of 
the Council) 

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

1. The act of referring, on an internet page, to 
various persons and identifying them by name 
or by other means, for instance by giving their 
telephone number or information regarding 
their working conditions and hobbies, consti-
tutes the processing of personal data wholly or 
partly by automatic means within the meaning 
of Article 3(1) of Directive 95/46 on the protec-
tion of individuals with regard to the process-
ing of personal data and on the free movement 
of such data. Such processing of personal data 
in the exercise of charitable or religious activ-
ity is not covered by any of the exceptions in 
paragraph 2 of that article. The first exception, 
provided for by the first indent of paragraph 
2, concerns the processing of personal data 
in the course of an activity which falls outside 
the scope of Community law, such as those 
provided for by Titles V and VI of the Treaty 
on European Union, and in any case process-
ing operations concerning public security, de-
fence, State security (including the economic 
well-being of the State when the processing 
operation relates to State security matters) and 
the activities of the State in areas of criminal 
law. The activities mentioned by way of exam-
ple in that provision are, in any event, activities 
of the State or of State authorities unrelated to 

Case C-101/01 Criminal proceedings against Bodil Lindqvist
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the fields of activity of individuals and intended 
to define the scope of the exception provided 
for there, with the result that that exception 
applies only to the activities which are ex-
pressly listed there or which can be classified in 
the same category. Charitable or religious ac-
tivities cannot be considered equivalent to the 
activities listed in that provision and are thus 
not covered by that exception. The second ex-
ception, provided for by the second indent of 
paragraph 2, relates only to activities which are 
carried out in the course of private or family life 
of individuals, which is clearly not the case with 
the processing of personal data consisting in 
publication on the internet so that those data 
are made accessible to an indefinite number of 
people. see paras 27, 38, 43-48, operative part 
1-2 

2. Reference to the fact that an individual has in-
jured her foot and is on half-time on medical 
grounds constitutes personal data concerning 
health within the meaning of Article 8(1) of 
Directive 95/46 on the protection of individu-
als with regard to the processing of personal 
data and on the free movement of such data. 
In the light of the purpose of the directive, the 
expression data concerning health used in that 
provision must be given a wide interpretation 
so as to include information concerning all as-
pects, both physical and mental, of the health 
of an individual. see paras 50-51, operative part 
3 

3. There is no transfer [of data] to a third country 
within the meaning of Article 25 of Directive 
95/46 on the protection of individuals with 
regard to the processing of personal data and 
on the free movement of such data where an 
individual in a Member State loads personal 
data onto an internet page which is stored on 
an internet site on which the page can be con-
sulted and which is hosted by a natural or legal 
person who is established in that State or in 
another Member State, thereby making those 
data accessible to anyone who connects to the 
internet, including people in a third country. 
Given, first, the state of development of the in-
ternet at the time Directive 95/46 was drawn 
up and, second, the absence of criteria applica-
ble to use of the internet in Chapter IV in which 
Article 25 appears, and which is intended to al-
low the Member States to monitor transfers of 
personal data to third countries and to prohibit 
such transfer where they do not offer an ade-
quate level of protection, one cannot presume 
that the Community legislature intended the 
expression transfer [of data] to a third country 

to cover the loading, by an individual in Mrs 
Lindqvist's position, of data onto an internet 
page, even if those data are thereby made ac-
cessible to persons in third countries with the 
technical means to access them. see paras 63-
64, 68, 71, operative part 4 

4. The provisions of Directive 95/46 on the 
protection of individuals with regard to the 
processing of personal data and on the free 
movement of such data do not, in themselves, 
bring about a restriction which conflicts with 
the general principle of freedom of expres-
sion or other freedoms and rights, which are 
applicable within the European Union and are 
enshrined inter alia in Article 10 of the Euro-
pean Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights. It is for the national authorities and 
courts responsible for applying the national 
legislation implementing Directive 95/46 to 
ensure a fair balance between the rights and 
interests in question, including the fundamen-
tal rights protected by the Community legal 
order. see para. 90, operative part 5 

5. Measures taken by the Member States to en-
sure the protection of personal data must be 
consistent both with the provisions of Direc-
tive 95/46 on the protection of individuals with 
regard to the processing of personal data and 
on the free movement of such data and with 
its objective of maintaining a balance between 
freedom of movement of personal data and 
the protection of private life. However, nothing 
prevents a Member State from extending the 
scope of the national legislation implementing 
the provisions of Directive 95/46 to areas not 
included in the scope thereof provided that no 
other provision of Community law precludes it. 
see para. 99, operative part 6 

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT 

6 November 20032

((Directive 95/46/EC – Scope – Publication of per-
sonal data on the internet – Place of publication – 
Definition of transfer of personal data to third coun-
tries – Freedom of expression – Compatibility with 
Directive 95/46 of greater protection for personal 
data under the national legislation of a Member 
State))

In Case C-101/01, 

REFERENCE to the Court under Article 234 EC by the 

2 Language of the case: Swedish.
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Göta hovrätt (Sweden) for a preliminary ruling in 
the criminal proceedings before that court against 

Bodil Lindqvist, 

on, inter alia, the interpretation of Directive 95/46/
EC of the European Parliament and of the Council 
of 24 October 1995 on the protection of individu-
als with regard to the processing of personal data 
and on the free movement of such data (OJ 1995 
L 281, p. 31),

THE COURT, composed of: P. Jann, President of the 
First Chamber, acting for the President, C.W.A. Tim-
mermans, C. Gulmann, J.N. Cunha Rodrigues and 
A. Rosas (Presidents of Chambers), D.A.O. Edward 
(Rapporteur), J.-P. Puissochet, F. Macken and S. von 
Bahr, Judges,  Advocate General: A. Tizzano,  Regis-
trar: H. von Holstein, Deputy Registrar, 

after considering the written observations submit-
ted on behalf of: 

• Mrs Lindqvist, by S. Larsson, advokat, 
• the Swedish Government, by A. Kruse, act-

ing as Agent, 
• the Netherlands Government, by H.G. Sev-

enster, acting as Agent, 
• the United Kingdom Government, by G. 

Amodeo, acting as Agent, assisted by J. 
Stratford, barrister, 

• the Commission of the European Commu-
nities, by L. Ström and X. Lewis, acting as 
Agents, 

having regard to the Report for the Hearing,

after hearing the oral observations of Mrs Lindqvist, 
represented by S. Larsson, of the Swedish Govern-
ment, represented by A. Kruse and B. Hernqvist, 
acting as Agents, of the Netherlands Government, 
represented by J. van Bakel, acting as Agent, of 
the United Kingdom Government, represented by 
J. Stratford, of the Commission, represented by L. 
Ström and C. Docksey, acting as Agent, and of the 
EFTA Surveillance Authority, represented by D. Sif 
Tynes, acting as Agent, at the hearing on 30 April 
2002, 

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 19 September 2002,

gives the following Judgment

1. By order of 23 February 2001, received at the 
Court on 1 March 2001, the Göta hovrätt (Göta 
Court of Appeal) referred to the Court for a 
preliminary ruling under Article 234 EC seven 
questions concerning inter alia the interpreta-
tion of Directive 95/46/EC of the European Par-

liament and of the Council of 24 October 1995 
on the protection of individuals with regard to 
the processing of personal data and on the free 
movement of such data (OJ 1995 L 281, p. 31). 

2. Those questions were raised in criminal 
proceedings before that court against Mrs 
Lindqvist, who was charged with breach of the 
Swedish legislation on the protection of per-
sonal data for publishing on her internet site 
personal data on a number of people working 
with her on a voluntary basis in a parish of the 
Swedish Protestant Church. 

Legal background

Communitylegislation
3. Directive 95/46 is intended, according to the 

terms of Article 1(1), to protect the fundamen-
tal rights and freedoms of natural persons, and 
in particular their right to privacy, with respect 
to the processing of personal data. 

4. Article 3 of Directive 95/46 provides, regard-
ing the scope of the directive: 1. This Directive 
shall apply to the processing of personal data 
wholly or partly by automatic means, and to 
the processing otherwise than by automatic 
means of personal data which form part of a 
filing system or are intended to form part of a 
filing system.2. This Directive shall not apply to 
the processing of personal data: 

• in the course of an activity which falls out-
side the scope of Community law, such as 
those provided for by Titles V and VI of the 
Treaty on European Union and in any case 
to processing operations concerning public 
security, defence, State security (including 
the economic well-being of the State when 
the processing operation relates to State 
security matters) and the activities of the 
State in areas of criminal law, 

• by a natural person in the course of a purely 
personal or household activity. 

5. Article 8 of Directive 95/46, entitled The pro-
cessing of special categories of data, provides: 
1. Member States shall prohibit the processing 
of personal data revealing racial or ethnic ori-
gin, political opinions, religious or philosophi-
cal beliefs, trade-union membership, and the 
processing of data concerning health or sex 
life.2. Paragraph 1 shall not apply where: 

j. the data subject has given his explicit con-
sent to the processing of those data, ex-
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cept where the laws of the Member State 
provide that the prohibition referred to in 
paragraph 1 may not be lifted by the data 
subject's giving his consent; or 

k. processing is necessary for the purposes 
of carrying out the obligations and specific 
rights of the controller in the field of em-
ployment law in so far as it is authorised by 
national law providing for adequate safe-
guards; or 

l. processing is necessary to protect the vital 
interests of the data subject or of another 
person where the data subject is physically 
or legally incapable of giving his consent; or 

m. processing is carried out in the course of its 
legitimate activities with appropriate guar-
antees by a foundation, association or any 
other non-profit-seeking body with a politi-
cal, philosophical, religious or trade-union 
aim and on condition that the processing 
relates solely to the members of the body 
or to persons who have regular contact 
with it in connection with its purposes and 
that the data are not disclosed to a third 
party without the consent of the data sub-
jects; or 

n. the processing relates to data which are 
manifestly made public by the data subject 
or is necessary for the establishment, exer-
cise or defence of legal claims. 

3. Paragraph 1 shall not apply where process-
ing of the data is required for the purposes of 
preventive medicine, medical diagnosis, the 
provision of care or treatment or the manage-
ment of health-care services, and where those 
data are processed by a health professional 
subject under national law or rules established 
by national competent bodies to the obliga-
tion of professional secrecy or by another 
person also subject to an equivalent obliga-
tion of secrecy.4. Subject to the provision of 
suitable safeguards, Member States may, for 
reasons of substantial public interest, lay down 
exemptions in addition to those laid down in 
paragraph 2 either by national law or by deci-
sion of the supervisory authority.5. Processing 
of data relating to offences, criminal convic-
tions or security measures may be carried out 
only under the control of official authority, or 
if suitable specific safeguards are provided un-
der national law, subject to derogations which 
may be granted by the Member State under 
national provisions providing suitable specific 
safeguards. However, a complete register of 

criminal convictions may be kept only under 
the control of official authority.Member States 
may provide that data relating to administra-
tive sanctions or judgements in civil cases shall 
also be processed under the control of official 
authority.6. Derogations from paragraph 1 pro-
vided for in paragraphs 4 and 5 shall be notified 
to the Commission.7. Member States shall de-
termine the conditions under which a national 
identification number or any other identifier of 
general application may be processed. 

6. Article 9 of Directive 95/46, entitled Processing 
of personal data and freedom of expression, 
provides: Member States shall provide for ex-
emptions or derogations from the provisions 
of this Chapter, Chapter IV and Chapter VI for 
the processing of personal data carried out 
solely for journalistic purposes or the purpose 
of artistic or literary expression only if they are 
necessary to reconcile the right to privacy with 
the rules governing freedom of expression. 

7. Article 13 of Directive 95/46, entitled Exemp-
tions and restrictions, provides that Member 
States may adopt measures restricting the 
scope of some of the obligations imposed 
by the directive on the controller of the data, 
inter alia as regards information given to the 
persons concerned, where such a restriction is 
necessary to safeguard, for example, national 
security, defence, public security, an important 
economic or financial interest of a Member 
State or of the European Union, or the investi-
gation and prosecution of criminal offences or 
of breaches of ethics for regulated professions. 

8. Article 25 of Directive 95/46, which is part of 
Chapter IV entitled Transfer of personal data to 
third countries, reads as follows: 1. The Member 
States shall provide that the transfer to a third 
country of personal data which are undergoing 
processing or are intended for processing after 
transfer may take place only if, without preju-
dice to compliance with the national provi-
sions adopted pursuant to the other provisions 
of this Directive, the third country in question 
ensures an adequate level of protection.2. The 
adequacy of the level of protection afforded by 
a third country shall be assessed in the light of 
all the circumstances surrounding a data trans-
fer operation or set of data transfer operations; 
particular consideration shall be given to the 
nature of the data, the purpose and duration 
of the proposed processing operation or op-
erations, the country of origin and country of 
final destination, the rules of law, both general 
and sectoral, in force in the third country in 
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question and the professional rules and secu-
rity measures which are complied with in that 
country.3. The Member States and the Com-
mission shall inform each other of cases where 
they consider that a third country does not en-
sure an adequate level of protection within the 
meaning of paragraph 2.4. Where the Commis-
sion finds, under the procedure provided for 
in Article 31(2), that a third country does not 
ensure an adequate level of protection within 
the meaning of paragraph 2 of this Article, 
Member States shall take the measures neces-
sary to prevent any transfer of data of the same 
type to the third country in question.5. At the 
appropriate time, the Commission shall enter 
into negotiations with a view to remedying 
the situation resulting from the finding made 
pursuant to paragraph 4.6. The Commission 
may find, in accordance with the procedure 
referred to in Article 31(2), that a third country 
ensures an adequate level of protection within 
the meaning of paragraph 2 of this Article, by 
reason of its domestic law or of the interna-
tional commitments it has entered into, par-
ticularly upon conclusion of the negotiations 
referred to in paragraph 5, for the protection of 
the private lives and basic freedoms and rights 
of individuals.Member States shall take the 
measures necessary to comply with the Com-
mission's decision. 

9. At the time of the adoption of Directive 95/46, 
the Kingdom of Sweden made the following 
statement on the subject of Article 9, which 
was entered in the Council minutes (document 
No 4649/95 of the Council, of 2 February 1995): 
The Kingdom of Sweden considers that artistic 
and literary expression refers to the means of 
expression rather than to the contents of the 
communication or its quality. 

10. The European Convention for the Protection 
of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 
signed at Rome on 4 November 1950 (the 
ECHR), provides, in Article 8, for a right to re-
spect for private and family life and, in Article 
10, contains provisions concerning freedom of 
expression. 

Thenationallegislation
11. Directive 95/46 was implemented in Swedish 

law by the Personuppgiftslag (SFS 1998:204) 
(Swedish law on personal data, the PUL). 

THE MAIN PROCEEDINGS AND THE 
qUESTIONS REFERRED

12. In addition to her job as a maintenance worker, 
Mrs Lindqvist worked as a catechist in the par-
ish of Alseda (Sweden). She followed a data 
processing course on which she had inter alia 
to set up a home page on the internet. At the 
end of 1998, Mrs Lindqvist set up internet pag-
es at home on her personal computer in order 
to allow parishioners preparing for their confir-
mation to obtain information they might need. 
At her request, the administrator of the Swed-
ish Church's website set up a link between 
those pages and that site. 

13. The pages in question contained information 
about Mrs Lindqvist and 18 colleagues in the 
parish, sometimes including their full names 
and in other cases only their first names. Mrs 
Lindqvist also described, in a mildly humorous 
manner, the jobs held by her colleagues and 
their hobbies. In many cases family circum-
stances and telephone numbers and other 
matters were mentioned. She also stated that 
one colleague had injured her foot and was on 
half-time on medical grounds. 

14. Mrs Lindqvist had not informed her colleagues 
of the existence of those pages or obtained 
their consent, nor did she notify the Datains-
pektionen (supervisory authority for the pro-
tection of electronically transmitted data) of 
her activity. She removed the pages in question 
as soon as she became aware that they were 
not appreciated by some of her colleagues. 

15. The public prosecutor brought a prosecution 
against Mrs Lindqvist charging her with breach 
of the PUL on the grounds that she had: 

• processed personal data by automatic 
means without giving prior written notifi-
cation to the Datainspektionen (Paragraph 
36 of the PUL); 

• processed sensitive personal data (injured 
foot and half-time on medical grounds) 
without authorisation (Paragraph 13 of the 
PUL); 

• transferred processed personal data to a 
third country without authorisation (Para-
graph 33 of the PUL). 

16. Mrs Lindqvist accepted the facts but disputed 
that she was guilty of an offence. Mrs Lindqvist 
was fined by the Eksjö tingsrätt (District Court) 
(Sweden) and appealed against that sentence 
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to the referring court. 

17. The amount of the fine was SEK 4 000, which 
was arrived at by multiplying the sum of SEK 
100, representing Mrs Lindqvist's financial posi-
tion, by a factor of 40, reflecting the severity of 
the offence. Mrs Lindqvist was also sentenced 
to pay SEK 300 to a Swedish fund to assist vic-
tims of crimes. 

18. As it had doubts as to the interpretation of the 
Community law applicable in this area, inter 
alia Directive 95/46, the Göta hovrätt decided 
to stay proceedings and refer the following 
questions to the Court for a preliminary ruling: 

(1)Is the mention of a person ─ by name or 
with name and telephone number ─ on an 
internet home page an action which falls 
within the scope of [Directive 95/46]? Does 
it constitute the processing of personal data 
wholly or partly by automatic means to list on 
a self-made internet home page a number of 
persons with comments and statements about 
their jobs and hobbies etc.? 

(2)If the answer to the first question is no, can 
the act of setting up on an internet home page 
separate pages for about 15 people with links 
between the pages which make it possible to 
search by first name be considered to consti-
tute the processing otherwise than by auto-
matic means of personal data which form part 
of a filing system or are intended to form part 
of a filing system within the meaning of Article 
3(1)? 

If the answer to either of those questions is yes, 
the hovrätt also asks the following questions: 

(3)Can the act of loading information of the 
type described about work colleagues onto a 
private home page which is none the less ac-
cessible to anyone who knows its address be 
regarded as outside the scope of [Directive 
95/46] on the ground that it is covered by one 
of the exceptions in Article 3(2)? 

(4)Is information on a home page stating that 
a named colleague has injured her foot and is 
on half-time on medical grounds personal data 
concerning health which, according to Article 
8(1), may not be processed? 

(5)[Directive 95/46] prohibits the transfer of 
personal data to third countries in certain cas-
es. If a person in Sweden uses a computer to 
load personal data onto a home page stored 
on a server in Sweden ─ with the result that 
personal data become accessible to people in 

third countries ─ does that constitute a trans-
fer of data to a third country within the mean-
ing of the directive? Would the answer be the 
same even if, as far as known, no one from the 
third country had in fact accessed the data or if 
the server in question was actually physically in 
a third country? 

(6)Can the provisions of [Directive 95/46], in a 
case such as the above, be regarded as bring-
ing about a restriction which conflicts with the 
general principles of freedom of expression or 
other freedoms and rights, which are applica-
ble within the EU and are enshrined in inter alia 
Article 10 of the European Convention on the 
Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental 
Freedoms? 

Finally, the hovrätt asks the following question: 

(7)Can a Member State, as regards the issues 
raised in the above questions, provide more 
extensive protection for personal data or give 
it a wider scope than the directive, even if none 
of the circumstances described in Article 13 ex-
ists? 

The first question
19.  By its first question, the referring court asks 

whether the act of referring, on an internet 
page, to various persons and identifying them 
by name or by other means, for instance by giv-
ing their telephone number or information re-
garding their working conditions and hobbies, 
constitutes the processing of personal data 
wholly or partly by automatic means within 
the meaning of Article 3(1) of Directive 95/46. 

ObservationssubmittedtotheCourt
20. Mrs Lindqvist submits that it is unreasonable to 

take the view that the mere mention by name 
of a person or of personal data in a document 
contained on an internet page constitutes au-
tomatic processing of data. On the other hand, 
reference to such data in a keyword in the 
meta tags of an internet page, which makes it 
possible to create an index and find that page 
using a search engine, might constitute such 
processing. 

21. The Swedish Government submits that the 
term the processing of personal data wholly 
or partly by automatic means in Article 3(1) of 
Directive 95/46, covers all processing in com-
puter format, in other words, in binary format. 
Consequently, as soon as personal data are 
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processed by computer, whether using a word 
processing programme or in order to put them 
on an internet page, they have been the sub-
ject of processing within the meaning of Direc-
tive 95/46. 

22. The Netherlands Government submits that 
personal data are loaded onto an internet page 
using a computer and a server, which are es-
sential elements of automation, so that it must 
be considered that such data are subject to au-
tomatic processing. 

23. The Commission submits that Directive 95/46 
applies to all processing of personal data re-
ferred to in Article 3 thereof, regardless of the 
technical means used. Accordingly, making 
personal data available on the internet consti-
tutes processing wholly or partly by automatic 
means, provided that there are no technical 
limitations which restrict the processing to a 
purely manual operation. Thus, by its very na-
ture, an internet page falls within the scope of 
Directive 95/46. 

ReplyoftheCourt
24. The term personal data used in Article 3(1) of 

Directive 95/46 covers, according to the defi-
nition in Article 2(a) thereof, any information 
relating to an identified or identifiable natu-
ral person. The term undoubtedly covers the 
name of a person in conjunction with his tel-
ephone coordinates or information about his 
working conditions or hobbies. 

25. According to the definition in Article 2(b) of 
Directive 95/46, the term processing of such 
data used in Article 3(1) covers any operation 
or set of operations which is performed upon 
personal data, whether or not by automatic 
means. That provision gives several examples 
of such operations, including disclosure by 
transmission, dissemination or otherwise mak-
ing data available. It follows that the operation 
of loading personal data on an internet page 
must be considered to be such processing. 

26. It remains to be determined whether such pro-
cessing is wholly or partly by automatic means. 
In that connection, placing information on an 
internet page entails, under current technical 
and computer procedures, the operation of 
loading that page onto a server and the opera-
tions necessary to make that page accessible 
to people who are connected to the internet. 
Such operations are performed, at least in part, 
automatically. 

27. The answer to the first question must therefore 
be that the act of referring, on an internet page, 
to various persons and identifying them by 
name or by other means, for instance by giving 
their telephone number or information regard-
ing their working conditions and hobbies, con-
stitutes the processing of personal data wholly 
or partly by automatic means within the mean-
ing of Article 3(1) of Directive 95/46. 

The second question
28. As the first question has been answered in 

the affirmative, there is no need to reply to 
the second question, which arises only in the 
event that the first question is answered in the 
negative. 

The third question
29. By its third question, the national court es-

sentially seeks to know whether processing of 
personal data such as that described in the first 
question is covered by one of the exceptions in 
Article 3(2) of Directive 95/46. 

ObservationssubmittedtotheCourt
30. Mrs Lindqvist submits that private individuals 

who make use of their freedom of expression 
to create internet pages in the course of a non-
profit-making or leisure activity are not carry-
ing out an economic activity and are thus not 
subject to Community law. If the Court were 
to hold otherwise, the question of the validity 
of Directive 95/46 would arise, as, in adopting 
it, the Community legislature would have ex-
ceeded the powers conferred on it by Article 
100a of the EC Treaty (now, after amendment, 
Article 95 EC). The approximation of laws, 
which concerns the establishment and func-
tioning of the common market, cannot serve as 
a legal basis for Community measures regulat-
ing the right of private individuals to freedom 
of expression on the internet. 

31. The Swedish Government submits that, when 
Directive 95/46 was implemented in national 
law, the Swedish legislature took the view that 
processing of personal data by a natural person 
which consisted in publishing those data to an 
indeterminate number of people, for example 
through the internet, could not be described as 
a purely personal or household activity within 
the meaning of the second indent of Article 
3(2) of Directive 95/46. However, that Govern-
ment does not rule out that the exception pro-
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vided for in the first indent of that paragraph 
might cover cases in which a natural person 
publishes personal data on an internet page 
solely in the exercise of his freedom of expres-
sion and without any connection with a profes-
sional or commercial activity. 

32. According to the Netherlands Government, 
automatic processing of data such as that at 
issue in the main proceedings does not fall 
within any of the exceptions in Article 3(2) of 
Directive 95/46. As regards the exception in the 
second indent of that paragraph in particular, it 
observes that the creator of an internet page 
brings the data placed on it to the knowledge 
of a generally indeterminate group of people. 

33. The Commission submits that an internet page 
such as that at issue in the main proceedings 
cannot be considered to fall outside the scope 
of Directive 95/46 by virtue of Article 3(2) 
thereof, but constitutes, given the purpose of 
the internet page at issue in the main proceed-
ings, an artistic and literary creation within the 
meaning of Article 9 of that Directive. 

34. It takes the view that the first indent of Article 
3(2) of Directive 95/46 lends itself to two differ-
ent interpretations. The first consists in limiting 
the scope of that provision to the areas cited 
as examples, in other words, to activities which 
essentially fall within what are generally called 
the second and third pillars. The other inter-
pretation consists in excluding from the scope 
of Directive 95/46 the exercise of any activity 
which is not covered by Community law. 

35. The Commission argues that Community 
law is not limited to economic activities con-
nected with the four fundamental freedoms. 
Referring to the legal basis of Directive 95/46, 
to its objective, to Article 6 EU, to the Charter 
of fundamental rights of the European Union 
proclaimed in Nice on 18 December 2000 (OJ 
2000 C 364, p. 1), and to the Council of Europe 
Convention of 28 January 1981 for the protec-
tion of individuals with regard to automatic 
processing of personal data, it concludes that 
that directive is intended to regulate the free 
movement of personal data in the exercise not 
only of an economic activity, but also of social 
activity in the course of the integration and 
functioning of the common market. 

36. It adds that to exclude generally from the 
scope of Directive 95/46 internet pages which 
contain no element of commerce or of provi-
sion of services might entail serious problems 
of demarcation. A large number of internet 

pages containing personal data intended to 
disparage certain persons with a particular 
end in view might then be excluded from the 
scope of that directive. 

ReplyoftheCourt
37. Article 3(2) of Directive 95/46 provides for two 

exceptions to its scope. 

38. The first exception concerns the processing 
of personal data in the course of an activity 
which falls outside the scope of Community 
law, such as those provided for by Titles V and 
VI of the Treaty on European Union, and in any 
case processing operations concerning public 
security, defence, State security (including the 
economic well-being of the State when the 
processing operation relates to State security 
matters) and the activities of the State in areas 
of criminal law. 

39. As the activities of Mrs Lindqvist which are at 
issue in the main proceedings are essentially 
not economic but charitable and religious, it is 
necessary to consider whether they constitute 
the processing of personal data in the course 
of an activity which falls outside the scope of 
Community law within the meaning of the first 
indent of Article 3(2) of Directive 95/46. 

40. The Court has held, on the subject of Directive 
95/46, which is based on Article 100a of the 
Treaty, that recourse to that legal basis does 
not presuppose the existence of an actual link 
with free movement between Member States 
in every situation referred to by the meas-
ure founded on that basis (see Joined Cases 
C-465/00, C-138/01 and C-139/01 Österreichis-
cher Rundfunk and Others [2003] ECR I-4989, 
paragraph 41, and the case-law cited therein). 

41. A contrary interpretation could make the limits 
of the field of application of the directive par-
ticularly unsure and uncertain, which would be 
contrary to its essential objective of approxi-
mating the laws, regulations and administra-
tive provisions of the Member States in order 
to eliminate obstacles to the functioning of 
the internal market deriving precisely from dis-
parities between national legislations (Öster-
reichischer Rundfunk and Others, cited above, 
paragraph 42). 

42. Against that background, it would not be ap-
propriate to interpret the expression activity 
which falls outside the scope of Community 
law as having a scope which would require 
it to be determined in each individual case 
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whether the specific activity at issue directly af-
fected freedom of movement between Mem-
ber States. 

43. The activities mentioned by way of example in 
the first indent of Article 3(2) of Directive 95/46 
(in other words, the activities provided for by 
Titles V and VI of the Treaty on European Union 
and processing operations concerning public 
security, defence, State security and activities 
in areas of criminal law) are, in any event, ac-
tivities of the State or of State authorities and 
unrelated to the fields of activity of individuals. 

44. It must therefore be considered that the activi-
ties mentioned by way of example in the first 
indent of Article 3(2) of Directive 95/46 are 
intended to define the scope of the exception 
provided for there, with the result that that ex-
ception applies only to the activities which are 
expressly listed there or which can be classified 
in the same category (ejusdem generis). 

45. Charitable or religious activities such as those 
carried out by Mrs Lindqvist cannot be consid-
ered equivalent to the activities listed in the 
first indent of Article 3(2) of Directive 95/46 and 
are thus not covered by that exception. 

46. As regards the exception provided for in the 
second indent of Article 3(2) of Directive 95/46, 
the 12th recital in the preamble to that direc-
tive, which concerns that exception, cites, as 
examples of the processing of data carried out 
by a natural person in the exercise of activities 
which are exclusively personal or domestic, 
correspondence and the holding of records of 
addresses. 

47. That exception must therefore be interpreted 
as relating only to activities which are carried 
out in the course of private or family life of 
individuals, which is clearly not the case with 
the processing of personal data consisting in 
publication on the internet so that those data 
are made accessible to an indefinite number of 
people. 

48. The answer to the third question must there-
fore be that processing of personal data such 
as that described in the reply to the first ques-
tion is not covered by any of the exceptions in 
Article 3(2) of Directive 95/46. 

The fourth question
49. By its fourth question, the referring court seeks 

to know whether reference to the fact that an 
individual has injured her foot and is on half-

time on medical grounds constitutes personal 
data concerning health within the meaning of 
Article 8(1) of Directive 95/46. 

50. In the light of the purpose of the directive, the 
expression data concerning health used in Arti-
cle 8(1) thereof must be given a wide interpre-
tation so as to include information concerning 
all aspects, both physical and mental, of the 
health of an individual. 

51. The answer to the fourth question must there-
fore be that reference to the fact that an indi-
vidual has injured her foot and is on half-time 
on medical grounds constitutes personal data 
concerning health within the meaning of Arti-
cle 8(1) of Directive 95/46. 

The fifth question
52. By its fifth question the referring court seeks es-

sentially to know whether there is any transfer 
[of data] to a third country within the meaning 
of Article 25 of Directive 95/46 where an indi-
vidual in a Member State loads personal data 
onto an internet page which is stored on an in-
ternet site on which the page can be consulted 
and which is hosted by a natural or legal per-
son (the hosting provider) who is established in 
that State or in another Member State, thereby 
making those data accessible to anyone who 
connects to the internet, including people in 
a third country. The referring court also asks 
whether the reply to that question would be 
the same if no one from the third country had 
in fact accessed the data or if the server where 
the page was stored was physically in a third 
country. 

ObservationssubmittedtotheCourt
53. The Commission and the Swedish Govern-

ment consider that the loading, using a com-
puter, of personal data onto an internet page, 
so that they become accessible to nationals of 
third countries, constitutes a transfer of data to 
third countries within the meaning of Directive 
95/46. The answer would be the same if no one 
from the third country had in fact accessed the 
data or if the server where it was stored was 
physically in a third country. 

54. The Netherlands Government points out that 
the term transfer is not defined by Directive 
95/46. It takes the view, first, that that term 
must be understood to refer to the act of in-
tentionally transferring personal data from the 
territory of a Member State to a third country 
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and, second, that no distinction can be made 
between the different ways in which data are 
made accessible to third parties. It concludes 
that loading personal data onto an internet 
page using a computer cannot be considered 
to be a transfer of personal data to a third 
country within the meaning of Article 25 of Di-
rective 95/46. 

55. The United Kingdom Government submits 
that Article 25 of Directive 95/46 concerns the 
transfer of data to third countries and not their 
accessibility from third countries. The term 
transfer connotes the transmission of personal 
data from one place and person to another 
place and person. It is only in the event of such 
a transfer that Article 25 of Directive 95/46 re-
quires Member States to ensure an adequate 
level of protection of personal data in a third 
country. 

ReplyoftheCourt
56. Directive 95/46 does not define the expression 

transfer to a third country in Article 25 or any 
other provision, including Article 2. 

57. In order to determine whether loading per-
sonal data onto an internet page constitutes a 
transfer of those data to a third country within 
the meaning of Article 25 of Directive 95/46 
merely because it makes them accessible to 
people in a third country, it is necessary to take 
account both of the technical nature of the 
operations thus carried out and of the purpose 
and structure of Chapter IV of that directive 
where Article 25 appears. 

58. Information on the internet can be consulted 
by an indefinite number of people living in 
many places at almost any time. The ubiqui-
tous nature of that information is a result inter 
alia of the fact that the technical means used 
in connection with the internet are relatively 
simple and becoming less and less expensive. 

59. Under the procedures for use of the internet 
available to individuals like Mrs Lindqvist dur-
ing the 1990s, the author of a page intended 
for publication on the internet transmits the 
data making up that page to his hosting pro-
vider. That provider manages the computer 
infrastructure needed to store those data and 
connect the server hosting the site to the inter-
net. That allows the subsequent transmission 
of those data to anyone who connects to the 
internet and seeks access to it. The computers 
which constitute that infrastructure may be 
located, and indeed often are located, in one 

or more countries other than that where the 
hosting provider is established, without its cli-
ents being aware or being in a position to be 
aware of it. 

60. It appears from the court file that, in order to 
obtain the information appearing on the inter-
net pages on which Mrs Lindqvist had included 
information about her colleagues, an internet 
user would not only have to connect to the 
internet but also personally carry out the nec-
essary actions to consult those pages. In other 
words, Mrs Lindqvist's internet pages did not 
contain the technical means to send that infor-
mation automatically to people who did not 
intentionally seek access to those pages. 

61. It follows that, in circumstances such as those 
in the case in the main proceedings, personal 
data which appear on the computer of a per-
son in a third country, coming from a person 
who has loaded them onto an internet site, 
were not directly transferred between those 
two people but through the computer infra-
structure of the hosting provider where the 
page is stored. 

62. It is in that light that it must be examined 
whether the Community legislature intended, 
for the purposes of the application of Chap-
ter IV of Directive 95/46, to include within the 
expression transfer [of data] to a third country 
within the meaning of Article 25 of that direc-
tive activities such as those carried out by Mrs 
Lindqvist. It must be stressed that the fifth 
question asked by the referring court concerns 
only those activities and not those carried out 
by the hosting providers. 

63. Chapter IV of Directive 95/46, in which Arti-
cle 25 appears, sets up a special regime, with 
specific rules, intended to allow the Member 
States to monitor transfers of personal data to 
third countries. That Chapter sets up a comple-
mentary regime to the general regime set up 
by Chapter II of that directive concerning the 
lawfulness of processing of personal data. 

64. The objective of Chapter IV is defined in the 
56th to 60th recitals in the preamble to Direc-
tive 95/46, which state inter alia that, although 
the protection of individuals guaranteed in 
the Community by that Directive does not 
stand in the way of transfers of personal data 
to third countries which ensure an adequate 
level of protection, the adequacy of such pro-
tection must be assessed in the light of all the 
circumstances surrounding the transfer opera-
tion or set of transfer operations. Where a third 
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country does not ensure an adequate level of 
protection the transfer of personal data to that 
country must be prohibited. 

65. For its part, Article 25 of Directive 95/46 im-
poses a series of obligations on Member States 
and on the Commission for the purposes of 
monitoring transfers of personal data to third 
countries in the light of the level of protection 
afforded to such data in each of those coun-
tries. 

66. In particular, Article 25(4) of Directive 95/46 
provides that, where the Commission finds 
that a third country does not ensure an ad-
equate level of protection, Member States are 
to take the measures necessary to prevent any 
transfer of personal data to the third country 
in question. 

67. Chapter IV of Directive 95/46 contains no pro-
vision concerning use of the internet. In par-
ticular, it does not lay down criteria for decid-
ing whether operations carried out by hosting 
providers should be deemed to occur in the 
place of establishment of the service or at its 
business address or in the place where the 
computer or computers constituting the ser-
vice's infrastructure are located. 

68. Given, first, the state of development of the in-
ternet at the time Directive 95/46 was drawn 
up and, second, the absence, in Chapter IV, of 
criteria applicable to use of the internet, one 
cannot presume that the Community legisla-
ture intended the expression transfer [of data] 
to a third country to cover the loading, by an 
individual in Mrs Lindqvist's position, of data 
onto an internet page, even if those data are 
thereby made accessible to persons in third 
countries with the technical means to access 
them. 

69. If Article 25 of Directive 95/46 were interpret-
ed to mean that there is transfer [of data] to 
a third country every time that personal data 
are loaded onto an internet page, that transfer 
would necessarily be a transfer to all the third 
countries where there are the technical means 
needed to access the internet. The special re-
gime provided for by Chapter IV of the direc-
tive would thus necessarily become a regime 
of general application, as regards operations 
on the internet. Thus, if the Commission found, 
pursuant to Article 25(4) of Directive 95/46, 
that even one third country did not ensure ad-
equate protection, the Member States would 
be obliged to prevent any personal data being 
placed on the internet. 

70. Accordingly, it must be concluded that Article 
25 of Directive 95/46 is to be interpreted as 
meaning that operations such as those carried 
out by Mrs Lindqvist do not as such constitute a 
transfer [of data] to a third country. It is thus un-
necessary to investigate whether an individual 
from a third country has accessed the internet 
page concerned or whether the server of that 
hosting service is physically in a third country. 

71. The reply to the fifth question must therefore 
be that there is no transfer [of data] to a third 
country within the meaning of Article 25 of 
Directive 95/46 where an individual in a Mem-
ber State loads personal data onto an internet 
page which is stored with his hosting provider 
which is established in that State or in another 
Member State, thereby making those data ac-
cessible to anyone who connects to the inter-
net, including people in a third country. 

The sixth question
72. By its sixth question the referring court seeks 

to know whether the provisions of Directive 
95/46, in a case such as that in the main pro-
ceedings, bring about a restriction which con-
flicts with the general principles of freedom of 
expression or other freedoms and rights, which 
are applicable within the European Union and 
are enshrined in inter alia Article 10 of the 
ECHR. 

ObservationssubmittedtotheCourt
73. Citing inter alia Case C-274/99 P Connolly v 

Commission [2001] ECR I-1611, Mrs Lindqvist 
submits that Directive 95/46 and the PUL, in so 
far as they lay down requirements of prior con-
sent and prior notification of a supervisory au-
thority and a principle of prohibiting process-
ing of personal data of a sensitive nature, are 
contrary to the general principle of freedom of 
expression enshrined in Community law. More 
particularly, she argues that the definition of 
processing of personal data wholly or partly by 
automatic means does not fulfil the criteria of 
predictability and accuracy. 

74. She argues further that merely mentioning 
a natural person by name, revealing their tel-
ephone details and working conditions and 
giving information about their state of health 
and hobbies, information which is in the public 
domain, well-known or trivial, does not consti-
tute a significant breach of the right to respect 
for private life. Mrs Lindqvist considers that, in 
any event, the constraints imposed by Direc-
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tive 95/46 are disproportionate to the objec-
tive of protecting the reputation and private 
life of others. 

75. The Swedish Government considers that Di-
rective 95/46 allows the interests at stake to 
be weighed against each other and freedom 
of expression and protection of private life to 
be thereby safeguarded. It adds that only the 
national court can assess, in the light of the 
facts of each individual case, whether the re-
striction on the exercise of the right to freedom 
of expression entailed by the application of the 
rules on the protection of the rights of others is 
proportionate. 

76. The Netherlands Government points out that 
both freedom of expression and the right to 
respect for private life are among the general 
principles of law for which the Court ensures 
respect and that the ECHR does not establish 
any hierarchy between the various fundamen-
tal rights. It therefore considers that the nation-
al court must endeavour to balance the various 
fundamental rights at issue by taking account 
of the circumstances of the individual case. 

77. The United Kingdom Government points out 
that its proposed reply to the fifth question, 
set out in paragraph 55 of this judgment, is 
wholly in accordance with fundamental rights 
and avoids any disproportionate restriction on 
freedom of expression. It adds that it is difficult 
to justify an interpretation which would mean 
that the publication of personal data in a par-
ticular form, that is to say, on an internet page, 
is subject to far greater restrictions than those 
applicable to publication in other forms, such 
as on paper. 

78. The Commission also submits that Directive 
95/46 does not entail any restriction contrary 
to the general principle of freedom of expres-
sion or other rights and freedoms applicable in 
the European Union corresponding inter alia to 
the right provided for in Article 10 of the ECHR. 

ReplyoftheCourt
79. According to the seventh recital in the pream-

ble to Directive 95/46, the establishment and 
functioning of the common market are liable 
to be seriously affected by differences in na-
tional rules applicable to the processing of per-
sonal data. According to the third recital of that 
directive the harmonisation of those national 
rules must seek to ensure not only the free flow 
of such data between Member States but also 
the safeguarding of the fundamental rights of 

individuals. Those objectives may of course be 
inconsistent with one another. 

80. On the one hand, the economic and social in-
tegration resulting from the establishment and 
functioning of the internal market will neces-
sarily lead to a substantial increase in cross-
border flows of personal data between all 
those involved in a private or public capacity 
in economic and social activity in the Member 
States, whether businesses or public authori-
ties of the Member States. Those so involved 
will, to a certain extent, need to have access 
to personal data to perform their transactions 
or carry out their tasks within the area without 
internal frontiers which the internal market 
constitutes. 

81. On the other hand, those affected by the pro-
cessing of personal data understandably re-
quire those data to be effectively protected. 

82. The mechanisms allowing those different 
rights and interests to be balanced are con-
tained, first, in Directive 95/46 itself, in that it 
provides for rules which determine in what cir-
cumstances and to what extent the processing 
of personal data is lawful and what safeguards 
must be provided for. Second, they result from 
the adoption, by the Member States, of nation-
al provisions implementing that directive and 
their application by the national authorities. 

83. As regards Directive 95/46 itself, its provisions 
are necessarily relatively general since it has to 
be applied to a large number of very different 
situations. Contrary to Mrs Lindqvist's conten-
tions, the directive quite properly includes 
rules with a degree of flexibility and, in many 
instances, leaves to the Member States the task 
of deciding the details or choosing between 
options. 

84. It is true that, in many respects, the Member 
States have a margin for manoeuvre in im-
plementing Directive 95/46. However, there is 
nothing to suggest that the regime it provides 
for lacks predictability or that its provisions are, 
as such, contrary to the general principles of 
Community law and, in particular, to the fun-
damental rights protected by the Community 
legal order. 

85. Thus, it is, rather, at the stage of the application 
at national level of the legislation implement-
ing Directive 95/46 in individual cases that a 
balance must be found between the rights and 
interests involved. 
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86. In that context, fundamental rights have a par-
ticular importance, as demonstrated by the 
case in the main proceedings, in which, in es-
sence, Mrs Lindqvist's freedom of expression 
in her work preparing people for Communion 
and her freedom to carry out activities con-
tributing to religious life have to be weighed 
against the protection of the private life of 
the individuals about whom Mrs Lindqvist has 
placed data on her internet site. 

87. Consequently, it is for the authorities and 
courts of the Member States not only to inter-
pret their national law in a manner consistent 
with Directive 95/46 but also to make sure they 
do not rely on an interpretation of it which 
would be in conflict with the fundamental 
rights protected by the Community legal order 
or with the other general principles of Com-
munity law, such as inter alia the principle of 
proportionality. 

88. Whilst it is true that the protection of private 
life requires the application of effective sanc-
tions against people processing personal data 
in ways inconsistent with Directive 95/46, such 
sanctions must always respect the principle of 
proportionality. That is so a fortiori since the 
scope of Directive 95/46 is very wide and the 
obligations of those who process personal data 
are many and significant. 

89. It is for the referring court to take account, in 
accordance with the principle of proportional-
ity, of all the circumstances of the case before 
it, in particular the duration of the breach of the 
rules implementing Directive 95/46 and the 
importance, for the persons concerned, of the 
protection of the data disclosed. 

90. The answer to the sixth question must there-
fore be that the provisions of Directive 95/46 
do not, in themselves, bring about a restriction 
which conflicts with the general principles of 
freedom of expression or other freedoms and 
rights, which are applicable within the Europe-
an Union and are enshrined inter alia in Article 
10 of the ECHR. It is for the national authorities 
and courts responsible for applying the nation-
al legislation implementing Directive 95/46 to 
ensure a fair balance between the rights and 
interests in question, including the fundamen-
tal rights protected by the Community legal 
order. 

The seventh question
91. By its seventh question, the referring court 

essentially seeks to know whether it is per-
missible for the Member States to provide for 
greater protection for personal data or a wider 
scope than are required under Directive 95/46. 

ObservationssubmittedtotheCourt
92. The Swedish Government states that Direc-

tive 95/46 is not confined to fixing minimum 
conditions for the protection of personal data. 
Member States are obliged, in the course of im-
plementing that directive, to attain the level of 
protection dictated by it and are not empow-
ered to provide for greater or less protection. 
However, account must be taken of the dis-
cretion which the Member States have in im-
plementing the directive to lay down in their 
domestic law the general conditions for the 
lawfulness of the processing of personal data. 

93. The Netherlands Government submits that 
Directive 95/46 does not preclude Member 
States from providing for greater protection 
in certain areas. It is clear, for example, from 
Article 10, Article 11(1), subparagraph (a) of 
the first paragraph of Article 14, Article 17(3), 
Article 18(5) and Article 19(1) of that directive 
that the Member States may make provision 
for wider protection. Moreover, the Member 
States are free to apply the principles of Direc-
tive 95/46 also to activities which do not fall 
within its scope. 

94. The Commission submits that Directive 95/46 
is based on Article 100a of the Treaty and that, 
if a Member State wishes to maintain or intro-
duce legislation which derogates from such a 
harmonising directive, it is obliged to notify the 
Commission pursuant to Article 95(4) or 95(5) 
EC. The Commission therefore submits that a 
Member State cannot make provision for more 
extensive protection for personal data or a wid-
er scope than are required under the directive. 

ReplyoftheCourt
95. Directive 95/46 is intended, as appears from 

the eighth recital in the preamble thereto, to 
ensure that the level of protection of the rights 
and freedoms of individuals with regard to the 
processing of personal data is equivalent in all 
Member States. The tenth recital adds that the 
approximation of the national laws applicable 
in this area must not result in any lessening of 
the protection they afford but must, on the 
contrary, seek to ensure a high level of protec-
tion in the Community. 

96. The harmonisation of those national laws is 
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therefore not limited to minimal harmonisa-
tion but amounts to harmonisation which is 
generally complete. It is upon that view that 
Directive 95/46 is intended to ensure free 
movement of personal data while guarantee-
ing a high level of protection for the rights and 
interests of the individuals to whom such data 
relate. 

97. It is true that Directive 95/46 allows the Mem-
ber States a margin for manoeuvre in certain 
areas and authorises them to maintain or intro-
duce particular rules for specific situations as 
a large number of its provisions demonstrate. 
However, such possibilities must be made use 
of in the manner provided for by Directive 
95/46 and in accordance with its objective of 
maintaining a balance between the free move-
ment of personal data and the protection of 
private life. 

98. On the other hand, nothing prevents a Mem-
ber State from extending the scope of the na-
tional legislation implementing the provisions 
of Directive 95/46 to areas not included within 
the scope thereof, provided that no other pro-
vision of Community law precludes it. 

99. In the light of those considerations, the answer 
to the seventh question must be that meas-
ures taken by the Member States to ensure 
the protection of personal data must be con-
sistent both with the provisions of Directive 
95/46 and with its objective of maintaining a 
balance between freedom of movement of 
personal data and the protection of private life. 
However, nothing prevents a Member State 
from extending the scope of the national leg-
islation implementing the provisions of Direc-
tive 95/46 to areas not included in the scope 
thereof provided that no other provision of 
Community law precludes it. 

Costs
100. The costs incurred by the Swedish, Nether-

lands and United Kingdom Governments and 
by the Commission and the EFTA Surveillance 
Authority, which have submitted observations 
to the Court, are not recoverable. Since these 
proceedings are, for the parties to the main 
proceedings, a step in the action pending be-
fore the national court, the decision on costs is 
a matter for that court. 

On those grounds, THE COURT,  in answer to the 
questions referred to it by the Göta hovrätt by order 
of 23 February 2001, hereby rules: 

1. The act of referring, on an internet page, 
to various persons and identifying them by 
name or by other means, for instance by giv-
ing their telephone number or information 
regarding their working conditions and hob-
bies, constitutes the processing of personal 
data wholly or partly by automatic means 
within the meaning of Article 3(1) of Directive 
95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of 
the Council of 24 October 1995 on the protec-
tion of individuals with regard to the process-
ing of personal data and on the free move-
ment of such data. 

2. Such processing of personal data is not cov-
ered by any of the exceptions in Article 3(2) of 
Directive 95/46. 

3. Reference to the fact that an individual has in-
jured her foot and is on half-time on medical 
grounds constitutes personal data concerning 
health within the meaning of Article 8(1) of Di-
rective 95/46. 

4. There is no transfer [of data] to a third coun-
try within the meaning of Article 25 of Direc-
tive 95/46 where an individual in a Member 
State loads personal data onto an internet 
page which is stored on an internet site on 
which the page can be consulted and which 
is hosted by a natural or legal person who is 
established in that State or in another Mem-
ber State, thereby making those data acces-
sible to anyone who connects to the internet, 
including people in a third country. 

5. The provisions of Directive 95/46 do not, in 
themselves, bring about a restriction which 
conflicts with the general principles of free-
dom of expression or other freedoms and 
rights, which are applicable within the Eu-
ropean union and are enshrined inter alia in 
Article 10 of the European Convention for the 
Protection of Human Rights and fundamen-
tal freedoms signed at Rome on 4 November 
1950. It is for the national authorities and 
courts responsible for applying the national 
legislation implementing Directive 95/46 to 
ensure a fair balance between the rights and 
interests in question, including the funda-
mental rights protected by the Community 
legal order. 

6. Measures taken by the Member States to en-
sure the protection of personal data must be 
consistent both with the provisions of Direc-
tive 95/46 and with its objective of maintain-
ing a balance between freedom of movement 
of personal data and the protection of private 
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life. However, nothing prevents a Member 
State from extending the scope of the nation-
al legislation implementing the provisions of 
Directive 95/46 to areas not included in the 
scope thereof provided that no other provi-
sion of Community law precludes it. 

Jann Timmermans  Gulmann 

Cunha Rodrigues Rosas  Edward 

Puissochet  Macken  von Bahr 

Delivered in open court in Luxembourg on 6 
November 2003. 

R. Grass , Registrar
V. Skouris, President
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GAMBLING, FREEDOM TO PROVIDE AND RECEIVE SER-
VICES, RESTRICTIONS UNDER ARTICLE 46(1) EC

Judgment of the Court, 6 November 2003 

CAsE C-243/01 CRIMInAL 
PRoCEEDInGs AGAInst 
PIERGIoRGIo GAMBELLI 
AnD otHERs
(Reference for a preliminary ruling from the Tribu-
nale di Ascoli Piceno (Italy)) 

«(Right of establishment – Freedom to provide 
services – Collection of bets on sporting events in 
one Member State and transmission by internet to 
another Member State – Prohibition enforced by 
criminal penalties – Legislation in a Member State 
which reserves the right to collect bets to certain 
bodies)»

Opinion of Advocate General Alber delivered on 13 
March 2003 

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

Freedom of establishment – Freedom to provide 
services – Restrictions – National legislation prohib-
iting, on pain of criminal penalty, the collection of 
bets without a licence or authorisation – Not per-
missible – Justification in the public interest – Com-
pliance with the principles of proportionality and 
non-discrimination – Investigation by the national 
courts (Arts 43 EC and 49 EC)

National legislation which prohibits on pain of 
criminal penalties the pursuit of the activities of 
collecting, taking, booking and forwarding offers 
of bets, in particular on sporting events, without 
a licence or authorisation from the Member State 
concerned constitutes a restriction on freedom 
of establishment and the freedom to provide ser-
vices provided for in Articles 43 EC and 49 EC re-
spectively, which, to be justified, must be based on 
imperative requirements in the general interest, be 
suitable for achieving the objective which they pur-
sue and not go beyond what is necessary in order 
to attain it and be applied without discrimination.
In that connection, it is for the national court to de-

termine whether such legislation, taking account of 
the detailed rules for its application, actually serves 
the aims which might justify it, and whether the 
restrictions it imposes are disproportionate in the 
light of those objectives.In particular, in so far as the 
authorities of a Member State incite and encour-
age consumers to participate in lotteries, games of 
chance and betting to the financial benefit of the 
public purse, the authorities of that State cannot in-
voke public order concerns relating to the need to 
reduce opportunities for betting in order to justify 
measures such as those at issue in the main pro-
ceedings. Furthermore, where a criminal penalty 
was imposed on any person who from his home 
in a Member State connects by internet to a book-
maker established in another Member State the na-
tional court must consider whether this constitutes 
a disproportionate penalty.see paras 65, 69, 72, 76, 
operative part 

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT 

6 November 20033

((Right of establishment – Freedom to provide 
services – Collection of bets on sporting events in 
one Member State and transmission by internet to 
another Member State – Prohibition enforced by 
criminal penalties – Legislation in a Member State 
which reserves the right to collect bets to certain 
bodies))

In Case C-243/01, 

REFERENCE to the Court under Article 234 EC by 
the Tribunale di Ascoli Piceno (Italy) for a prelimi-
nary ruling in the criminal proceedings before that 
court against 

Piergiorgio Gambelli and Others, 

on the interpretation of Articles 43 EC and 49 EC, 
THE COURT,

composed of: V. Skouris, President, P. Jann, C.W.A. 
Timmermans and J.N. Cunha Rodrigues (Presi-
dents of Chambers), D.A.O. Edward (Rapporteur), R. 
Schintgen, F. Macken, N. Colneric and S. von Bahr, 
Judges,  Advocate General: S. Alber,  Registrar: H.A. 
Rühl, Principal Administrator, 

after considering the written observations submit-
ted on behalf of: 

• Mr Gambelli and Others, by D. Agnello, av-
vocato, 

• Mr Garrisi, by R.A. Jacchia, A. Terranova and I. 

3 Language of the case: Italian.

Case C-243/01 Criminal proceedings against Piergiorgio Gambelli and Others
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Picciano, avvocati, 
• the Italian Government, by I.M. Braguglia, 

acting as Agent, assisted by D. Del Gaizo, av-
vocato dello Stato, 

• the Belgian Government, by F. van de Craen, 
acting as Agent, assisted by P. Vlaemminck, 
avocat, 

• the Greek Government, by M. Apessos and 
D. Tsagkaraki, acting as Agent, 

• the Spanish Government, by L. Fraguas Ga-
dea, acting as Agent, 

• the Luxembourg Government, by N. Mackel, 
acting as Agent, 

• the Portuguese Government, by L. Fer-
nandes and A. Barros, acting as Agents, 

• the Finnish Government, by E. Bygglin, act-
ing as Agent, 

• the Swedish Government, by B. Hernqvist, 
acting as Agent, 

• the Commission of the European Commu-
nities, by A. Aresu and M. Patakia, acting as 
Agents, 

having regard to the Report for the Hearing,

after hearing the oral observations of Mr Gambelli 
and others, represented by D. Agnello; of Mr Gar-
risi, represented by R.A. Jacchia and A. Terranova; of 
the Italian Government, represented by A. Cingolo, 
avvocato dello Stato; of the Belgian Government, 
represented by P. Vlaemminck; of the Greek Gov-
ernment, represented by M. Apessos; of the Span-
ish Government, represented by L. Fraguas Gadea; 
of the French Government, represented by P. Bous-
saroque, acting as Agent; of the Portuguese Gov-
ernment, represented by A. Barros; of the Finnish 
Government, represented by E. Bygglin; and of the 
Commission, represented by A. Aresu and M. Pata-
kia, at the hearing on 22 October 2003, 

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 13 March 2003, 

gives the following Judgment

1. By order of 30 March 2001, received at the 
Court on 22 June 2001, the Tribunale di Ascoli 
Peceno referred to the Court for a preliminary 
ruling under Article 234 EC a question on the 
interpretation of Articles 43 and 49 EC. 

2. The question was raised in criminal proceed-
ings brought against Mr Gambelli and 137 
other defendants (hereinafter Gambelli and 
others), who are accused of having unlawfully 
organised clandestine bets and of being the 

proprietors of centres carrying on the activ-
ity of collecting and transmitting betting data, 
which constitutes an offence of fraud against 
the State. 

Legal background

Communitylegislation
3. Article 43 EC provides as follows:- Within the 

framework of the provisions set out below, 
restrictions on the freedom of establishment 
of nationals of a Member State in the territory 
of another Member State shall be prohibited. 
Such prohibition shall also apply to restrictions 
on the setting-up of agencies, branches or sub-
sidiaries by nationals of any Member State es-
tablished in the territory of any Member State.
Freedom of establishment shall include the 
right to take up and pursue activities as self-
employed persons and to set up and manage 
undertakings, in particular companies or firms 
within the meaning of the second paragraph 
of Article 48, under the conditions laid down 
for its own nationals by the law of the country 
where such establishment is effected, subject 
to the provisions of the Chapter relating to 
capital. 

4. The first paragraph of Article 48 EC provides 
that companies or firms formed in accordance 
with the law of a Member State and having 
their registered office, central administration 
or principal place of business within the Com-
munity shall... be treated in the same way as 
natural persons who are nationals of Member 
States. 

5. Article 46(1) EC provides that the provisions 
of this Chapter and measures taken in pursu-
ance thereof shall not prejudice the applicabil-
ity of provisions laid down by law, regulation 
or administrative action providing for special 
treatment for foreign nationals on grounds of 
public policy, public security or public health. 

6. The first paragraph of Article 49 EC provides 
that within the framework of the provisions set 
out below, restrictions on freedom to provide 
services within the Community shall be prohib-
ited in respect of nationals of Member States 
who are established in a State of the Commu-
nity other than that of the person for whom the 
services are intended. 

National legislation 

7. Under Article 88 of the Regio Decreto No 773, 
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Testo Unico delle Leggi di Pubblica Sicurezza 
(Royal Decree No 773 approving a single text 
of the laws on public security), of 18 June 1931 
(GURI No 146 of 26 June 1931, hereinafter the 
Royal Decree), no licence is to be granted for 
the taking of bets, with the exception of bets 
on races, regatta, ball games or similar contests 
where the taking of the bets is essential for the 
proper conduct of the competitive event. 

8. Under Legge Finanziaria No 388 (Finance Law 
No 388) of 23 December 2000 (ordinary sup-
plement to the GURI of 29 December 2000, 
hereinafter Law No 388/00), authorisation to 
organise betting is granted exclusively to li-
cence holders or to those entitled to do so 
by a ministry or other entity to which the law 
reserves the right to organise or carry on bet-
ting. Bets can relate to the outcome of sporting 
events taking place under the supervision of 
the Comitato olimpico nazionale italiano (Ital-
ian National Olympic Committee, hereinafter 
the CONI), or its subsidiary organisations, or to 
the results of horse races organised through 
the Unione nazionale per l'incremento delle 
razze equine (National Union for the Better-
ment of Horse Breeds, hereinafter the UNIRE). 

9. Articles 4, 4a and 4b of Law No 401 of 13 De-
cember 1989 on gaming, clandestine betting 
and ensuring the proper conduct of sporting 
contests (GURI No 294 of 18 December 1989 as 
amended by Law No 388/00, (hereinafter Law 
No 401/89), Article 37(5) of which inserted Arti-
cles 4a and 4b into Law No 410/89, provide as 
follows: Unlawful participation in the organisa-
tion of games or betsArticle 4 

1. Any person who unlawfully participates in 
the organisation of lotteries, betting or pools 
reserved by law to the State or to entities op-
erating under licence from the State shall be 
liable to a term of imprisonment of 6 months 
to 3 years. Any person who organises betting 
or pools in respect of sporting events run by 
CONI, by organisations under the authority of 
CONI or by UNIRE shall be liable to the same 
penalty. Any person who unlawfully partici-
pates in the public organisation of betting on 
other contests between people or animals, 
as well as on games of skill, shall be liable to 
a term of imprisonment of 3 months to 1 year 
and a minimum fine of ITL 1 000 000. 

2. Any person who advertises competitions, 
games or betting organised in the manner 
described in paragraph 1 without being an ac-
complice to an offence defined therein shall 

be liable to a term of imprisonment of up to 3 
months and a fine of between ITL 100 000 and 
ITL 1 000 000. 

3. Any person who participates in competi-
tions, games or betting organised in the man-
ner described in paragraph 1 without being an 
accomplice to an offence defined therein shall 
be liable to a term of imprisonment of up to 3 
months or a fine of between ITL 100 000 and 
ITL 1 000 000. 

...Article 4aThe penalties laid down in this arti-
cle shall be applicable to any person who with-
out the concession, authorisation or licence 
required by Article 88 of [the Royal Decree] 
carries out activities in Italy for the purpose of 
accepting or collecting, or, in any case, assist-
ing in the acceptance or collection in any way 
whatsoever, including by telephone or by data 
transfer, of bets of any kind placed by any per-
son in Italy or abroad.Article 4b... the penalties 
provided for by this article shall be applicable 
to any person who carries out the collection 
or registration of lottery tickets, pools or bets 
by telephone or data transfer without being 
authorised to use those means to effect such 
collection or registration. 

The main proceedings and the 
question referred for a preliminary 
ruling
10. The order for reference states that the Public 

Prosecutor and the investigating judge at the 
Tribunale di Fermo (Italy) established the exist-
ence of a widespread and complex organisa-
tion of Italian agencies linked by the internet 
to the English bookmaker Stanley International 
Betting Ltd (Stanley), established in Liverpool 
(United Kingdom), and to which Gambelli and 
others, the defendants in the main proceed-
ings, belong. They are accused of having col-
laborated in Italy with a bookmaker abroad in 
the activity of collecting bets which is normally 
reserved by law to the State, thus infringing 
Law No 401/89. 

11. Such activity, which is considered to be incom-
patible with the monopoly on sporting bets 
enjoyed by the CONI and which constitutes 
an offence under Article 4 of Law No 401/89, 
is performed as follows: the bettor notifies the 
person in charge of the Italian agency of the 
events on which he wishes to bet and how 
much he intends to bet; the agency sends the 
application for acceptance to the bookmaker 
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by internet, indicating the national football 
games in question and the bet; the bookmaker 
confirms acceptance of the bet in real time by 
internet; the confirmation is transmitted by the 
Italian agency to the bettor and the bettor pays 
the sum due to the agency, which sum is then 
transferred to the bookmaker into a foreign ac-
count specially designated for this purpose. 

12. Stanley is an English capital company regis-
tered in the United Kingdom which carries on 
business as a bookmaker under a licence grant-
ed pursuant to the Betting, Gaming and Lotter-
ies Act by the City of Liverpool. It is authorised 
to carry on its activity in the United Kingdom 
and abroad. It organises and manages bets 
under a UK licence, identifying the events, set-
ting the stakes and assuming the economic 
risk. Stanley pays the winnings and the various 
duties payable in the United Kingdom, as well 
as taxes on salaries and so on. It is subject to 
rigorous controls in relation to the legality of 
its activities, which are carried out by a private 
audit company and by the Inland Revenue and 
Customs and Excise. 

13. Stanley offers an extensive range of fixed sports 
bets on national, European and world sporting 
events. Individuals may participate from their 
own home, using various methods such as the 
internet, fax or telephone, in the betting organ-
ised and marketed by it. 

14. Stanley's presence as an undertaking in Italy 
is consolidated by commercial agreements 
with Italian operators or intermediaries relat-
ing to the creation of data transmission cen-
tres. Those centres make electronic means of 
communication available to users, collect and 
register the intentions to bet and forward them 
to Stanley. 

15. The defendants in the main proceedings are 
registered at the Camera di Commercio (Cham-
ber of Commerce) as proprietors of undertak-
ings which run data transfer centres and have 
received due authorisation from the Ministero 
delle Poste e delle Comunicazioni (Minister for 
Post and Communications) to transmit data. 

16. The judge in charge of the preliminary inves-
tigations at the Tribunale di Fermo made an 
order for provisional sequestration and the 
defendants were also subjected to personal 
checks and to searches of their agencies, 
homes and vehicles. Mr Garrisi, who is on the 
Board of Stanley, was taken into police custody. 

17. The defendants in the main proceedings 

brought an action for review before the Tri-
bunale di Ascoli Piceno against the orders for 
sequestration relating to the data transmission 
centres of which they are the proprietors. 

18. The Tribunale di Ascoli Piceno makes reference 
to the case-law of the Court, in particular its 
judgment in Case C-67/98 Zenatti [1999] ECR 
I-7289. However, it considers that the ques-
tions raised in the case before it do not quite 
correspond to the facts already considered by 
the Court in Zenatti. Recent amendments to 
Law No 401/89 demand re-examination of the 
issue by the Court of Justice. 

19. The Tribunale di Ascoli Piceno refers in this 
context to the parliamentary working papers 
relating to Law No 388/00 which show that 
the restrictions inserted by that law into Law 
No 401/89 were dictated chiefly by the need to 
protect sports Totoricevitori, a category of pri-
vate sector undertakings. The court states that 
it cannot find in those restrictions any public 
policy concern able to justify a limitation of the 
rights guaranteed by Community or constitu-
tional rules. 

20. The court emphasises that the apparent le-
gality of collecting and forwarding bets on 
foreign sporting events, on the initial word-
ing of Article 4 of Law No 401/89, had led to 
the creation and development of a network 
of operators who have invested capital and 
created infrastructures in the gaming and bet-
ting sector. Those operators suddenly find the 
legitimacy of their position called in question 
following amendments to the rules in Law No 
388/00 prohibiting on pain of criminal penal-
ties the carrying on of activities by any person 
anywhere involving the collection, acceptance, 
registration and transmission of offers to bet, in 
particular on sporting events, without a licence 
or permit from the State. 

21. The national court questions whether the prin-
ciple of proportionality is being observed, hav-
ing regard first to the severity of the prohibi-
tion, breach of which attracts criminal penalties 
which may make it impossible in practice for 
lawfully constituted undertakings or Commu-
nity operators to carry on economic activities 
in the betting and gaming sector in Italy, and 
secondly to the importance of the national 
public interest protected and for which the 
Community freedoms are sacrificed. 

22. The Tribunale di Ascoli Piceno also considers 
that it cannot ignore the extent of the appar-
ent discrepancy between national legislation 
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severely restricting the acceptance of bets on 
sporting events by foreign Community under-
takings on the one hand, and the considerable 
expansion of betting and gaming which the 
Italian State is pursuing at national level for the 
purpose of collecting taxation revenues, on the 
other. 

23. The court observes that the proceedings be-
fore it raise, first, questions of national law 
relating to the compatibility of the statutory 
amendments to Article 4 of Law No 401/89 
with the Italian constitution, which protects 
private economic initiative for activities which 
are not subject to taxes levied by the State, and 
secondly questions relating to the incompat-
ibility of the rule laid down in that article with 
the freedom of establishment and the freedom 
to provide cross-border services. The ques-
tions of national law raised have been referred 
by the Tribunale di Ascoli Piceno to the Corte 
costituzionale (the Italian Constitutional Court). 

24. In those circumstances, the Tribunale di Ascoli 
Piceno has decided to stay proceedings and to 
refer the following question to the Court of Jus-
tice for a preliminary ruling: Is there incompat-
ibility (with the repercussions that that has in 
Italian law) between Articles 43 et seq. and Ar-
ticle 49 et seq. of the EC Treaty regarding free-
dom of establishment and freedom to provide 
cross-border services, on the one hand, and on 
the other domestic legislation such as the pro-
visions contained in Article 4(1) et seq., Article 
4a and Article 4b of Italian Law No 401/89 (as 
most recently amended by Article 37(5) of Law 
No 388/00 of 23 December 2000) which pro-
hibits on pain of criminal penalties the pursuit 
by any person anywhere of the activities of col-
lecting, taking, booking and forwarding offers 
of bets, in particular bets on sporting events, 
unless the requirements concerning conces-
sions and authorisations prescribed by domes-
tic law have been complied with? 

Thequestion
Observations submitted to the Court 
25. Gambelli and others consider that by prohibit-

ing Italian citizens from linking up with foreign 
companies in order to place bets and thus to 
receive the services offered by those compa-
nies by internet, by prohibiting Italian inter-
mediaries from offering the bets managed by 
Stanley, by preventing Stanley from establish-
ing itself in Italy with the assistance of those 
intermediaries and thus offering its services in 

Italy from another Member State and, in sum, 
by creating and maintaining a monopoly in 
the betting and gaming sector, the legislation 
at issue in the main proceedings amounts to a 
restriction on both freedom of establishment 
and freedom to provide services. No justifica-
tion for the restriction is to be found in the 
case-law of the Court of Justice stemming from 
Case C-275/92 Schindler [1994] ECR I-1039, 
Case C-124/97 Läärä and Others [1999] ECR 
I-6067 and Zenatti, cited above, because the 
Court has not had occasion to consider the 
amendments made to that legislation by Law 
No 388/00 and it has not examined the issue 
from the point of view of freedom of establish-
ment. 

26. The defendants in the main proceedings em-
phasise in that regard that the Italian State is 
not pursuing a consistent policy whose aim is 
to restrict, or indeed abolish, gaming activities 
within the meaning of the judgments in Läärä, 
paragraph 37, and Zenatti, paragraph 36. The 
concerns cited by the national authorities re-
lating to the protection of bettors against the 
risk of fraud, the preservation of public order 
and reducing both opportunities for gaming 
in order to avoid the damaging consequences 
of betting at both individual and social level 
and the incitement to spend inherent therein 
are groundless because Italy is increasing the 
range of betting and gaming available, and 
even inciting people to engage in such ac-
tivities by facilitating collection in order to in-
crease tax revenue. The fact that the organising 
of bets is regulated by financial laws shows that 
the true motivation of the national authorities 
is economic. 

27. The purpose of the Italian legislation is also to 
protect licensees under the national monopoly 
by making that monopoly impenetrable for 
operators from other Member States, since the 
invitations to tender contain criteria relating 
to ownership structures which cannot be met 
by a capital company quoted on the stock ex-
change but only by natural persons, and since 
they require applicants to own premises and to 
have been a licence holder over a substantial 
period. 

28. The defendants in the main proceedings argue 
that it is difficult to accept that a company like 
Stanley, which operates entirely legally and is 
duly regulated in the United Kingdom, should 
be treated by the Italian legislation in the same 
way as an operator who organises clandestine 
gaming, when all the public-interest concerns 
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are protected by the United Kingdom legisla-
tion and the Italian intermediaries in a contrac-
tual relationship with Stanley as secondary or 
subsidiary establishments are registered as of-
ficial suppliers of services and with the Ministry 
of Post and Telecommunications with which 
they operate, and which subjects them to reg-
ular checks and inspections. 

29. That situation, which falls within the scope 
of freedom of establishment, contravenes 
the principle of mutual recognition in sectors 
which have not yet been harmonised. It is also 
contrary to the principle of proportionality, 
a fortiori because criminal penalties ought to 
constitute a last resort for a Member State in 
cases where other measures and instruments 
are not able to provide adequate protection of 
the interests concerned. Under the Italian leg-
islation, bettors in Italy are not only deprived 
of the possibility of using bookmakers estab-
lished in another Member State, even through 
the intermediary of operators established in 
Italy, but are also subject to criminal penalties. 

30. The Italian, Belgian, Greek, Spanish, French, 
Luxembourg, Portuguese, Finnish and Swed-
ish Governments, as well as the Commission, 
cite the case-law of the Court of Justice, in par-
ticular the judgments in Schindler, Läärä and 
Zenatti. 

31. The Italian Government relies on the judg-
ment in Zenatti to show that Law No 401/89 
is compatible with the Community legislation 
in the sphere of freedom to provide services, 
and even in that of freedom of establishment. 
Both the matter considered by the Court in 
that case, namely administrative authorisation 
to pursue the activity of collecting and manag-
ing bets in Italy, and the question raised in the 
main proceedings, namely the existence of a 
criminal penalty prohibiting that activity where 
it is carried on by operators who are not part 
of the State monopoly on betting, pursue the 
same aim, which is to prohibit such activities 
and to reduce gaming opportunities in prac-
tice, other than in situations which are express-
ly provided for by law. 

32. The Belgian Government observes that a single 
market for gaming will only incite consumers 
to squander more and will have significant 
damaging effects for society. The level of pro-
tection introduced by Law No 401/89 and the 
restrictive authorisation scheme serve to en-
sure the attainment of objectives which are 
in the general interest, namely limiting and 

strictly controlling the supply of gaming and 
betting, is proportionate to those objectives 
and involves no discrimination on grounds of 
nationality. 

33. The Greek Government considers that the or-
ganisation of games of chance and bets on 
sporting events must remain within the con-
trol of the State and be operated by means of 
a monopoly. If it is engaged in by private enti-
ties, that will have direct consequences such as 
disturbance of the social order and incitement 
to commit offences, as well as exploitation of 
bettors and consumers in general. 

34. The Spanish Government submits that both 
the grant of special or exclusive rights under a 
strict authorisation or licensing regime and the 
prohibition on opening foreign branches to 
process bets in other Member States are com-
patible with the policy of limiting supply, pro-
vided that those measures are adopted with a 
view to reducing opportunities for gaming and 
stimulation of supply. 

35. The French Government maintains that the 
fact that in the main proceedings the collec-
tion of bets is effected at a distance by elec-
tronic means and the sporting events to which 
the bets relate take place exclusively in Italy 
─ which was not the case in Zenatti ─ does 
not affect the Court's case-law under which 
national laws which limit the pursuit of ac-
tivities relating to gaming or lotteries and cash 
machines are compatible with the principle of 
the freedom to provide services where they 
pursue an objective that is in the general inter-
est, such as the prevention of fraud or the pro-
tection of bettors against themselves. Member 
States are therefore justified in regulating the 
activities of operators in the area of betting in 
non-discriminatory ways, since the degree and 
scope of the restrictions are within the discre-
tion enjoyed by the national authorities. It is 
thus for the courts of the Member States to de-
termine whether the national authorities have 
acted proportionately in their choice of means, 
having regard to the principle of freedom to 
provide services. 

36. As regards freedom of establishment, the 
French Government considers that the restric-
tions on the activities of the independent Ital-
ian companies in a contractual relationship 
with Stanley do not undermine Stanley's right 
to establish itself freely in Italy. 

37. The Luxembourg Government considers that 
the Italian legislation constitutes an obstacle 
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to the pursuit of the activity of organising bets 
in Italy because it prohibits Stanley from carry-
ing on its activities in Italy either directly, under 
the freedom to provide cross-border services, 
or indirectly through the intermediary of Italian 
agencies linked by internet. It also constitutes 
a restriction on the freedom of establishment. 
However, those obstacles are justified in so far 
as they pursue objectives which are in the gen-
eral interest, such as the need to channel and 
control the desire to engage in gaming, and 
are appropriate and proportionate for the at-
tainment of those objectives inasmuch as they 
do not discriminate on grounds of nationality, 
because both Italian entities and those estab-
lished abroad have to obtain the same permit 
from the Minister for Finance to be allowed to 
engage in the organisation, taking and collect-
ing of bets in Italy. 

38. The Portuguese Government notes that the 
main proceedings have serious implications as 
regards the maintenance not only in Italy but 
in all the Member States of a system for run-
ning lotteries by public monopoly and as re-
gards the need to preserve a significant source 
of revenue for the States, which replaces the 
compulsory levying of taxes and serves to fi-
nance social, cultural and sporting policies. In 
the activity of gaming, the market economy 
and free competition operate a redistribution 
of sums levied in the context of that activity 
which is contrary to the social order, because 
they are likely to move from countries where 
overall involvement is low to countries where 
it is higher and the amount of winnings more 
attractive. Bettors in the small Member States 
would therefore be financing the social, cultur-
al and sporting budgets of the large Member 
States and the reduction in revenue from gam-
ing would force governments in the smaller 
Member States to finance public initiatives of 
a social nature and other State social, sporting 
and cultural activities by other means, which 
would mean an increase in taxes in those 
Member States and a reduction in taxes in the 
big States. Furthermore, dividing up the State 
betting, gaming and lotteries market between 
three or four large operators in the European 
Union would produce structural changes in 
distribution networks for gaming lawfully car-
ried on by those States, destroying an enor-
mous number of jobs and distorting unem-
ployment levels in the various Member States. 

39. The Finnish Government cites in particular 
the judgment in Läärä, in which the Court ac-
knowledged that the need for and proportion-

ality of provisions adopted by a Member State 
are to be assessed solely in the light of the ob-
jectives pursued by the national authorities in 
that State and the level of protection they seek 
to provide, so that it is for the national court to 
determine whether, in the light of the specific 
detailed rules for its application, national leg-
islation enables the aims relied on to justify it 
to be attained and whether the restrictions are 
proportionate to those aims, having regard to 
the fact that the legislation must be applied to 
all operators alike, whether they are from Italy 
or another Member State. 

40. The Swedish Government observes that the 
fact that restrictions on the free movement of 
services are introduced for tax purposes is not 
sufficient to support the conclusion that those 
restrictions are contrary to Community law, 
provided that they are proportionate and do 
not involve discrimination as between opera-
tors, a matter for the national court to deter-
mine. The amendments to the Italian legisla-
tion made by Law No 388/00 enable an entity 
which has been refused authorisation to col-
lect bets in Italy to circumvent the legislation 
by carrying on its activity from another Mem-
ber State and prohibit foreign entities which 
organise bets in their own country from pursu-
ing their activities in Italy. As the Court held at 
paragraph 36 of the judgment in Läärä and at 
paragraph 34 of the judgment in Zenatti, the 
mere fact that a Member State has opted for 
a protection scheme which is not the same as 
that adopted in another Member State cannot 
influence the assessment of the need for and 
proportionality of the provisions adopted in 
that area. 

41. The Commission of the European Communi-
ties takes the view that the legislative amend-
ments effected by Law No 388/00 merely make 
explicit what was already contained in Law No 
401/89 and do not introduce a genuinely new 
category of offences. The public-order grounds 
for limiting the damaging effects of betting ac-
tivities relating to football matches which are 
relied on to justify the fact that the national 
legislation reserves the right to collect those 
bets to certain organisations are the same re-
gardless of the Member State in which those 
activities take place. The fact that the sporting 
events to which the bets related in the case of 
Zenatti took place abroad whereas in the main 
proceedings here the football matches take 
place in Italy is irrelevant. The Commission adds 
that Directive No 2000/31/EC of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2000 
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on certain legal aspects of information society 
services, in particular electronic commerce, in 
the Internal Market (Directive on electronic 
commerce) (OJ 2000 L 178, p. 1) does not apply 
to bets, so that the outcome should be no dif-
ferent to that in Zenatti. 

42. The Commission considers that the issue is not 
to be examined from the point of view of free-
dom of establishment because the agencies 
run by the defendants in the main proceedings 
are independent and act as collection centres 
for bets and as intermediaries in relations be-
tween their Italian customers and Stanley, and 
are not in any way subordinate to the latter. 
However, even if the right of establishment 
were to apply, the restrictions in the Italian 
legislation are justified on the same grounds of 
social policy as those accepted by the Court in 
Schindler, Läärä and Zenatti with regard to the 
restriction on the freedom to provide services. 

43. At the hearing the Commission informed 
the Court that it had initiated the procedure 
against the Italian Republic for failure to fulfil 
obligations in regard to the liberalisation of 
the horse-race betting sector managed by the 
UNIRE. As regards the lottery sector, which is 
liberalised, the Commission referred to the 
judgment in Case C-272/91 Commission v 
Italy [1994] ECR I-1409, in which the Court held 
that by restricting participation in an invita-
tion to tender for the concession of a lottery 
computerisation system to bodies, companies, 
consortia and groupings the majority of whose 
capital, considered individually or in aggre-
gate, was held by the public sector, the Italian 
Republic had failed to fulfil its obligations inter 
alia under the EC Treaty. 

The Court's reply 
44. The first point to consider is whether legisla-

tion such as that at issue in the main proceed-
ings (Law No 401/89) constitutes a restriction 
on the freedom of establishment. 

45. It must be remembered that restrictions on 
freedom of establishment for nationals of a 
Member State in the territory of another Mem-
ber State, including restrictions on the setting-
up of agencies, branches or subsidiaries, are 
prohibited by Article 43 EC. 

46. Where a company established in a Member 
State (such as Stanley) pursues the activity of 
collecting bets through the intermediary of an 
organisation of agencies established in anoth-
er Member State (such as the defendants in the 

main proceedings), any restrictions on the ac-
tivities of those agencies constitute obstacles 
to the freedom of establishment. 

47. Furthermore, in reply to the questions put to it 
by the Court at the hearing, the Italian Govern-
ment acknowledged that the Italian legislation 
on invitations to tender for betting activities 
in Italy contains restrictions. According to that 
Government, the fact that no entity has been 
licensed for such activities apart from the mo-
nopoly-holder is explained by the fact that the 
way in which the Italian legislation is conceived 
means that the licence can only be awarded to 
certain persons. 

48. In so far as the lack of foreign operators among 
licensees in the betting sector on sporting 
events in Italy is attributable to the fact that 
the Italian rules governing invitations to ten-
der make it impossible in practice for capital 
companies quoted on the regulated markets 
of other Member States to obtain licences, 
those rules constitute prima facie a restriction 
on the freedom of establishment, even if that 
restriction is applicable to all capital companies 
which might be interested in such licences 
alike, regardless of whether they are estab-
lished in Italy or in another Member State. 

49. It is therefore possible that the conditions im-
posed by the legislation for submitting invita-
tions to tender for the award of these licences 
also constitute an obstacle to the freedom of 
establishment. 

50. The second point to consider is whether the 
Italian legislation in that respect constitutes a 
restriction on the freedom to provide services. 

51. Article 49 EC prohibits restrictions on freedom 
to provide services within the Community for 
nationals of Member States who are estab-
lished in a Member State other than that of the 
person for whom the services are intended. 
Article 50 EC defines services as services which 
are normally provided for remuneration, in so 
far as they are not governed by the provisions 
relating to freedom of movement of goods, 
capital and persons. 

52. The Court has already held that the importa-
tion of lottery advertisements and tickets into a 
Member State with a view to the participation 
by residents of that State in a lottery operated 
in another Member State relates to a service 
(Schindler, paragraph 37). By analogy, the ac-
tivity of enabling nationals of one Member 
State to engage in betting activities organised 



956 CASEC-243/01CRIMINALPROCEEDINGSAGAINSTPIERGIORGIOGAMBELLIANDOTHERS

EC
HR

EC
J

in another Member State, even if they concern 
sporting events taking place in the first Mem-
ber State, relates to a service within the mean-
ing of Article 50 EC. 

53. The Court has also held that, on a proper con-
struction, Article 49 EC covers services which 
the provider offers by telephone to poten-
tial recipients established in other Member 
States and provides without moving from 
the Member State in which he is established 
(Case C-384/93 Alpine Investments [1995] ECR 
I-1141, paragraph 22). 

54. Transposing that interpretation to the issue in 
the main proceedings, it follows that Article 
49 EC relates to the services which a provider 
such as Stanley established in a Member State, 
in this case the United Kingdom, offers via the 
internet ─ and so without moving ─ to recipi-
ents in another Member State, in this case Italy, 
with the result that any restriction of those ac-
tivities constitutes a restriction on the freedom 
of such a provider to provide services. 

55. In addition, the freedom to provide services 
involves not only the freedom of the provider 
to offer and supply services to recipients in a 
Member State other than that in which the 
supplier is located but also the freedom to 
receive or to benefit as recipient from the ser-
vices offered by a supplier established in an-
other Member State without being hampered 
by restrictions (see, to that effect, Joined Cases 
286/82 and 26/83 Luisi and Carbone [1984] 
ECR 377, paragraph 16, and Case C-294/97 
Eurowings Luftverkehr [1999] ECR I-7447, para-
graphs 33 and 34). 

56. In reply to the questions put by the Court at 
the hearing, the Italian Government confirmed 
that an individual in Italy who from his home 
connects by internet to a bookmaker estab-
lished in another Member State using his credit 
card to pay is committing an offence under Ar-
ticle 4 of Law No 401/89. 

57. Such a prohibition, enforced by criminal penal-
ties, on participating in betting games organ-
ised in Member States other than in the coun-
try where the bettor is established constitutes a 
restriction on the freedom to provide services. 

58. The same applies to a prohibition, also en-
forced by criminal penalties, for intermediaries 
such as the defendants in the main proceed-
ings on facilitating the provision of betting ser-
vices on sporting events organised by a sup-
plier such as Stanley, established in a Member 

State other than that in which the intermediar-
ies pursue their activity, since the prohibition 
constitutes a restriction on the right of the 
bookmaker freely to provide services, even if 
the intermediaries are established in the same 
Member State as the recipients of the services. 

59. It must therefore be held that national rules 
such as the Italian legislation on betting, in par-
ticular Article 4 of Law No 401/89, constitute 
a restriction on the freedom of establishment 
and on the freedom to provide services. 

60. In those circumstances it is necessary to con-
sider whether such restrictions are acceptable 
as exceptional measures expressly provided for 
in Articles 45 and 46 EC, or justified, in accord-
ance with the case-law of the Court, for reasons 
of overriding general interest. 

61. With regard to the arguments raised in particu-
lar by the Greek and Portuguese Governments 
to justify restrictions on games of chance and 
betting, suffice it to note that it is settled case-
law that the diminution or reduction of tax rev-
enue is not one of the grounds listed in Article 
46 EC and does not constitute a matter of over-
riding general interest which may be relied on 
to justify a restriction on the freedom of estab-
lishment or the freedom to provide services 
(see, to that effect, Case C-264/96 ICI [1998] 
ECR I-4695, paragraph 28, and Case C-136/00 
Danner [2002] ECR I-8147, paragraph 56). 

62. As stated in paragraph 36 of the judgment 
in Zenatti, the restrictions must in any event 
reflect a concern to bring about a genuine 
diminution of gambling opportunities, and the 
financing of social activities through a levy on 
the proceeds of authorised games must consti-
tute only an incidental beneficial consequence 
and not the real justification for the restrictive 
policy adopted. 

63. On the other hand, as the governments which 
submitted observations and the Commission 
pointed out, the Court stated in Schindler, 
Läärä and Zenatti that moral, religious and 
cultural factors, and the morally and financially 
harmful consequences for the individual and 
society associated with gaming and betting, 
could serve to justify the existence on the part 
of the national authorities of a margin of appre-
ciation sufficient to enable them to determine 
what consumer protection and the preserva-
tion of public order require. 

64. In any event, in order to be justified the restric-
tions on freedom of establishment and on free-
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dom to provide services must satisfy the con-
ditions laid down in the case-law of the Court 
(see, inter alia, Case C-19/92 Kraus [1993] ECR 
I-1663, paragraph 32, and Case C-55/94 Geb-
hard [1995] ECR I-4165, paragraph 37). 

65. According to those decisions, the restrictions 
must be justified by imperative requirements 
in the general interest, be suitable for achiev-
ing the objective which they pursue and not 
go beyond what is necessary in order to attain 
it. They must in any event be applied without 
discrimination. 

66. It is for the national court to decide whether 
in the main proceedings the restriction on the 
freedom of establishment and on the free-
dom to provide services instituted by Law No 
401/89 satisfy those conditions. To that end, it 
will be for that court to take account of the is-
sues set out in the following paragraphs. 

67. First of all, whilst in Schindler, Läärä and Ze-
natti the Court accepted that restrictions on 
gaming activities may be justified by impera-
tive requirements in the general interest, such 
as consumer protection and the prevention 
of both fraud and incitement to squander on 
gaming, restrictions based on such grounds 
and on the need to preserve public order must 
also be suitable for achieving those objectives, 
inasmuch as they must serve to limit betting 
activities in a consistent and systematic man-
ner. 

68. In that regard the national court, referring to 
the preparatory papers on Law No 388/00, has 
pointed out that the Italian State is pursuing a 
policy of substantially expanding betting and 
gaming at national level with a view to obtain-
ing funds, while also protecting CONI licensees. 

69. In so far as the authorities of a Member State in-
cite and encourage consumers to participate in 
lotteries, games of chance and betting to the fi-
nancial benefit of the public purse, the authori-
ties of that State cannot invoke public order 
concerns relating to the need to reduce oppor-
tunities for betting in order to justify measures 
such as those at issue in the main proceedings. 

70. Next, the restrictions imposed by the Italian 
rules in the field of invitations to tender must 
be applicable without distinction: they must 
apply in the same way and under the same 
conditions to operators established in Italy and 
to those from other Member States alike. 

71. It is for the national court to consider whether 

the manner in which the conditions for sub-
mitting invitations to tender for licences to or-
ganise bets on sporting events are laid down 
enables them in practice to be met more eas-
ily by Italian operators than by foreign opera-
tors. If so, those conditions do not satisfy the 
requirement of non-discrimination. 

72. Finally, the restrictions imposed by the Italian 
legislation must not go beyond what is neces-
sary to attain the end in view. In that context 
the national court must consider whether 
the criminal penalty imposed on any person 
who from his home connects by internet to 
a bookmaker established in another Member 
State is not disproportionate in the light of the 
Court's case-law (see Case C-193/94 Skanavi 
and Chryssanthakopoulos [1996] ECR I-929, 
paragraphs 34 to 39, and Case C-459/99 MRAX 
[2002] ECR I-6591, paragraphs 89 to 91), espe-
cially where involvement in betting is encour-
aged in the context of games organised by 
licensed national bodies. 

73. The national court will also need to determine 
whether the imposition of restrictions, accom-
panied by criminal penalties of up to a year's 
imprisonment, on intermediaries who facilitate 
the provision of services by a bookmaker in a 
Member State other than that in which those 
services are offered by making an internet con-
nection to that bookmaker available to bet-
tors at their premises is a restriction that goes 
beyond what is necessary to combat fraud, 
especially where the supplier of the service is 
subject in his Member State of establishment 
to a regulation entailing controls and penalties, 
where the intermediaries are lawfully consti-
tuted, and where, before the statutory amend-
ments effected by Law No 388/00, those inter-
mediaries considered that they were permitted 
to transmit bets on foreign sporting events. 

74. As to the proportionality of the Italian legisla-
tion in regard to the freedom of establishment, 
even if the objective of the authorities of a 
Member State is to avoid the risk of gaming 
licensees being involved in criminal or fraudu-
lent activities, to prevent capital companies 
quoted on regulated markets of other Mem-
ber States from obtaining licences to organise 
sporting bets, especially where there are other 
means of checking the accounts and activities 
of such companies, may be considered to be a 
measure which goes beyond what is necessary 
to check fraud. 

75. It is for the national court to determine whether 
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the national legislation, taking account of the 
detailed rules for its application, actually serves 
the aims which might justify it, and whether 
the restrictions it imposes are disproportionate 
in the light of those aims. 

76. In the light of all those considerations the reply 
to the question referred must be that national 
legislation which prohibits on pain of criminal 
penalties the pursuit of the activities of col-
lecting, taking, booking and forwarding offers 
of bets, in particular bets on sporting events, 
without a licence or authorisation from the 
Member State concerned constitutes a restric-
tion on the freedom of establishment and the 
freedom to provide services provided for in 
Articles 43 and 49 EC respectively. It is for the 
national court to determine whether such leg-
islation, taking account of the detailed rules for 
its application, actually serves the aims which 
might justify it, and whether the restrictions 
it imposes are disproportionate in the light of 
those aims. 

Costs
77. The costs incurred by the Italian, Belgian, 

Greek, Spanish, French, Luxembourg, Portu-
guese, Finnish and Swedish Governments and 
the Commission, which have submitted obser-
vations to the Court, are not recoverable. Since 
these proceedings are, for the parties to the 
main proceedings, a step in the action pend-
ing before the national court, the decision on 
costs is a matter for that court. 

On those grounds, THE COURT,

in answer to the question referred to it by the Tribu-
nale di Ascoli Piceno by an order of 30 March 2001, 
hereby rules: 

Skouris Jann  Timmermans 

Cunha Rodgrigues Edward  Schint-
gen 

Macken Colneric  von Bahr 

Delivered in open court in Luxembourg on 6 No-
vember 2003. 

R. Grass, Registrar
V. Skouris, President
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MEASURES RELATING TO BOTH THE FREE MOVEMENT 
OF GOODS AND FREEDOM TO PROVIDE SERVICES, 
FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION,  LIMITS TO FREEDOM OF 
EXPRESSION, FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS AS AN INTEGRAL 
PART OF COMMUNITY LAW, REFERENCES TO ECHR  
CASE-LAW, NATIONAL COURT TO ASSESS THE COM-
PATIBILITY OF LEGISLATION WITH THE FUNDAMENTAL 
RIGHTS

CAsE C-71/02 HERBERt 
KARnER InDUstRIE-
AUKtIonEn GMBH v 
tRoostWIJK GMBH
(Reference for a preliminary ruling from the Ober-
ster Gerichtshof (Austria))

(Free movement of goods – Article 28 EC – Meas-
ures having equivalent effect – Advertising re-
strictions – Reference to the commercial origin of 
goods – Goods from an insolvent company – Direc-
tive 84/450/EEC – Fundamental rights – Freedom 
of expression – Principle of proportionality)

KEYWORDS

1. Preliminary rulings – Jurisdiction of the Court 
– Interpretation of Article 28 EC requested in 
relation to facts confined to national territory – 
Not inadmissible – Conditions – Individual case 
(Arts 28 EC and 234 EC)

2. Free movement of goods – Quantitative re-
strictions – Measures having equivalent effect 
– National legislation prohibiting references 
in advertisements to the commercial origin of 
goods from an insolvent estate when they no 
longer constitute part of that estate – Measure 
regulating selling arrangements in a non-dis-
criminatory manner – Measure not caught by 
the prohibition laid down in Article 28 EC – No 
breach of the fundamental right to freedom of 
expression – Pursuance of legitimate goals of 
consumer protection and fair trading (Art. 28 
EC; Council Directive 84/450, Art. 7) 

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

1. A reference for a preliminary ruling relating 
to the interpretation of Article 28 EC is not in-
admissible simply because all the facts of the 
specific case before the national court are con-
fined to a single Member State, if it is not ob-

vious that the interpretation requested is not 
necessary for the national court. Such a reply 
might help it to determine whether national 
legislation such as a prohibition on references 
in advertisements to the commercial origin of 
goods from an insolvent estate when they no 
longer constitute part of that estate is likely 
to constitute a potential impediment to intra-
Community trade falling within the scope of 
application of Article 28 EC. (see paras 19, 21)

2. Article 28 EC does not preclude national legis-
lation which, irrespective of the truthfulness of 
the information, prohibits any reference to the 
fact that goods come from an insolvent estate, 
where, in public announcements or notices 
intended for a larger circle of persons, notice 
is given of the sale of goods which originate 
from, but no longer constitute part of, the in-
solvent estate. 

Such a restriction on advertisements, which is 
likely to come within the scope of application 
of Directive 84/450 concerning misleading ad-
vertising, which allows the Member States to 
ensure more extensive consumer protection 
than that provided for by the directive pro-
vided that that power is exercised in a way that 
is consistent with the fundamental principle 
of free movement of goods, must be viewed 
as relating to selling arrangements and is not 
caught by the prohibition laid down in Article 
28 EC because it applies without distinction 
to all the operators concerned and affects the 
marketing of domestic and imported products 
in the same manner. 

Nor does that restriction infringe the funda-
mental right of freedom of expression, recog-
nised by Article 10 of the European Convention 
for the Protection of Human Rights and Funda-
mental Freedoms, because it is reasonable and 
proportionate, in the light of the legitimate 
goals pursued by that provision, namely con-
sumer protection and fair trading. 

(see paras 31, 33-34, 39, 41-43, 50, 52-53, opera-
tive part)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (FIFTH 
CHAMBER)

25 March 20044

(Free movement of goods – Article 28 EC – Meas-
ures having equivalent effect – Advertising re-

4 Language of the case: German.

Case C-71/02 Herbert Karner Industrie-Auktionen GmbH v Troostwijk GmbH
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strictions – Reference to the commercial origin of 
goods – Goods from an insolvent company – Direc-
tive 84/450/EEC – Fundamental rights – Freedom 
of expression – Principle of proportionality)

REFERENCE to the Court under Article 234 EC by the 
Oberster Gerichtshof (Austria) for a preliminary rul-
ing in the proceedings pending before that court 
between 

Herbert Karner Industrie-Auktionen GmbH

and

Troostwijk GmbH,

on the interpretation of Article 28 EC,

THE COURT (Fifth Chamber),,

composed of C.W.A. Timmermans, acting as Presi-
dent of the Fifth Chamber, A. Rosas (Rapporteur) 
and S. von Bahr, Judges,  Advocate General: S. Alber, 
Registrar: F. Contet, Principal Administrator, 

after considering the written observations submit-
ted on behalf of: 

• Herbert Karner Industrie-Auktionen GmbH, 
by M. Kajaba, Rechtsanwalt, 

• Troostwijk GmbH, by A. Frauenberger, Re-
chtsanwalt, 

• the Austrian Government, by C. Pesendor-
fer, acting as Agent, 

• the Swedish Government, by A. Falk, acting 
as Agent, 

• the Commission of the European Commu-
nities, by U. Wölker and J.C. Schieferer, act-
ing as Agents, 

after hearing the oral observations of Herbert 
Karner Industrie-Auktionen GmbH, represented 
by M. Kajaba; of Troostwijk GmbH, represented 
by A. Frauenberger; of the Austrian Government, 
represented by T. Kramler, acting as Agent; of the 
Swedish Government, represented by A. Falk; and 
of the Commission, represented by J.C. Schieferer, 
at the hearing on 26 February 2003, after hearing 
the Opinion of the Advocate General at the sitting 
on 8 April 2003,

gives the following Judgment

1. By order of 29 January 2002, received at the 
Court on 4 March 2002, the Oberster Ger-
ichtshof referred to the Court for a preliminary 
ruling under Article 234 EC a question on the 
interpretation of Article 28 EC. 

2. The question was raised in proceedings be-
tween Herbert Karner Industrie-Auktionen 
GmbH (‘Karner’) and Troostwijk GmbH (‘Troost-
wijk’), companies authorised to auction move-
able property, concerning advertising by 
Troostwijk for the sale of stock on insolvency. 

Legal framework

Communityrules
3. Under Article 28 EC, quantitative restrictions 

on imports and all measures having equivalent 
effect are prohibited between Member States. 
Article 30 EC allows such prohibitions and re-
strictions, however, where they are justified 
on certain grounds which are recognised as 
fundamental requirements under Community 
law and they do not constitute a means of ar-
bitrary discrimination or a disguised restriction 
on trade between Member States. 

4. Council Directive 84/450/EEC of 10 September 
1984 concerning misleading and comparative 
advertising (OJ 1984 L 250, p. 17), as amended 
by Directive 97/55/EC of the European Parlia-
ment and of the Council of 6 October 1997 (OJ 
1997 L 290, p. 18) (‘Directive 84/450’), defines 
its purpose in Article 1 as follows: 
‘The purpose of this Directive is to protect
consumers, persons carrying on a trade or
businessorpractisingacraftorprofessionand
the interestsof thepublic ingeneral against
misleadingadvertising and theunfair conse-
quencesthereof…’.

5. Article 2(2) of Directive 84/450 
defines’misleading advertising’ as’any advertis-
ing which in any way, including its presenta-
tion, deceives or is likely to deceive the persons 
to whom it is addressed or whom it reaches 
and which, by reason of its deceptive nature, 
is likely to affect their economic behaviour or 
which, for those reasons, injures or is likely to 
injure a competitor’. 

6. Article 3 of Directive 84/450 provides that, in 
determining whether advertising is mislead-
ing, account is to be taken of all its features. 
The provision goes on to list a number of fac-
tors to be taken into account, such as, inter alia, 
the geographical or commercial origin of the 
goods in question. 

7. Article 7 of Directive 84/450 states that the Di-
rective is not to preclude Member States from 
retaining or adopting provisions with a view to 
ensuring more extensive protection, with re-



962 CASEC-71/02HERBERTKARNERINDUSTRIE-AUKTIONENGMBHVTROOSTWIJKGMBH

EC
HR

EC
J

gard to misleading advertising, for consumers 
and other persons referred to by that directive. 

Nationalrules
8. Paragraph 2(1) of the Bundesgesetz gegen 

den unlauteren Wettbewerb (Law on unfair 
competition) of 16 November 1984 (BGBl., 
1984/448,’UWG’), lays down a general prohibi-
tion on the provision, in the course of trade, of 
information likely to mislead the public. 

9. Paragraph 30(1) of the UWG prohibits any pub-
lic announcements or notices intended for a 
large circle of persons from making reference 
to the fact that the goods advertised originate 
from an insolvent estate when the goods in 
question, even though that was their origin, no 
longer form part of the insolvent estate. 

Main proceedings and question 
referred for a preliminary ruling
10. The companies Karner and Troostwijk are en-

gaged in the sale by auction of industrial goods 
and the purchase of the stock of insolvent 
companies. 

11. By a sales contract of 26 March 2001, Troostwijk 
acquired, with the autorisation of the insolven-
cy court, the stock of an insolvent construction 
company. Karner had also indicated its interest 
in the purchase of those goods. 

12. Troostwijk intended to sell the stock from the 
insolvent estate in an auction sale which was 
to take place on 14 May 2001. It advertised the 
auction in a sales catalogue, stating that it was 
an insolvency auction and that the goods were 
from the insolvent estate of the company in 
question. The advertising notice was also post-
ed on the internet. 

13. In Karner’s view, Troostwijk’s advertising is con-
trary to Paragraph 30(1) of the UWG because it 
gives the public concerned the impression that 
it is the insolvency administrator who is selling 
the insolvent company’s assets. Irrespective 
of any risk that the public will be misled, such 
advertising is both contrary to the competition 
rules laid down in the EC Treaty and misleading 
within the meaning of Paragraph 2 of the UWG. 

14. On 10 May 2001, on application by Karner, the 
Handelsgericht Wien (Commercial Court, Vi-
enna) (Austria) issued an interim injunction or-
dering Troostwijk, first, to refrain from referring 
in its advertising for the sale of the goods to 
the fact that the goods were from an insolvent 

company in so far as they no longer constitut-
ed part of the insolvent estate and, second, to 
make a public statement to potential buyers at 
the auction, informing them in particular that 
the auction was not being held on behalf or on 
the instructions of the insolvency administra-
tor. 

15. Troostwijk appealed against that injunction to 
the Oberlandesgericht Wien (Higher Regional 
Court, Vienna) (Austria), on several grounds 
and questioned, in particular, the compatibility 
of Paragraph 30(1) of the UWG with Article 28 
EC. 

16. Following the dismissal of its appeal, on 14 No-
vember 2001 Troostwijk brought an action be-
fore the Oberster Gerichtshof (Supreme Court). 
It maintains that the prohibition in Paragraph 
30(1) of the UWG is contrary to Article 28 EC 
and incompatible with Article 10 of the Euro-
pean Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms signed in 
Rome on 4 November 1950 (‘ECHR’), concern-
ing freedom of expression. 

17. Taking the view that the Court had not yet 
ruled on the question of the compatibility of a 
national provision such as Paragraph 30(1) of 
the UWG with Article 28 EC, the Oberster Ger-
ichtshof decided to stay the proceedings and 
to refer the following question to the Court for 
a preliminary ruling: 

‘IsArticle28ECtobeinterpretedasprecluding
national legislationwhich, irrespectiveof the
truthfulnessoftheinformation,prohibitsany
referencetothefactthatgoodscomefroman
insolvent estate where, in public announce-
mentsornoticesintendedforalargecircleof
persons, notice is givenof the sale of goods
whichoriginatefrom,butnolongerconstitute
partof,theinsolventestate?’

Admissibility
Observations submitted to the Court
18. Karner submits that the reference for a pre-

liminary ruling is inadmissible. In its view, the 
facts giving rise to the dispute in the main pro-
ceedings relate to a purely internal situation 
because the parties thereto are established in 
Austria, the goods in question were acquired 
following a case of insolvency which occurred 
in the territory of that Member State and Para-
graph 30(1) of the UWG concerns forms of ad-
vertising in Austria. 
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Findings of the Court 
19. It should be borne in mind that Article 28 EC 

cannot be considered inapplicable simply be-
cause all the facts of the specific case before 
the national court are confined to a single 
Member State (see Joined Cases C-321/94 to 
C-324/94 Pistre and Others [1997] ECR I-2343, 
paragraph 44). 

20. That principle has been upheld by the Court 
not only in cases where the national rule in 
question gave rise to direct discrimination 
against goods imported from other Member 
States (Pistre and Others, cited above, para-
graph 44), but also in situations where the 
national rule applied without distinction to 
national and imported products and was thus 
likely to constitute a potential impediment to 
intra-Community trade covered by Article 28 
EC (see, to that effect, Case C-448/98 Guimont 
[2000] ECR I-10663, paragraphs 21 and 22). 

21. In this case, it is not obvious that the interpreta-
tion of Community law requested is not neces-
sary for the national court (see Guimont, cited 
above, paragraph 23). Such a reply might help 
it to determine whether a prohibition such 
as that provided for in Paragraph 30(1) of the 
UWG is likely to constitute a potential impedi-
ment to intra-Community trade falling within 
the scope of application of Article 28 EC (see 
also Case C-254/98 TK-Heimdienst [2000] ECR 
I-151, paragraph 14). 

22. It follows from the foregoing considerations 
that the reference for a preliminary ruling is 
admissible. 

Substance
Observations submitted to the Court
23. Karner, the Austrian and Swedish Governments 

and the Commission submit that the prohibi-
tion in Paragraph 30(1) of the UWG is a sell-
ing arrangement within the meaning of that 
term as described in Joined Cases C-267/91 
and C-268/91 Keck and Mithouard [1993] ECR 
I6097. The provision applies without distinc-
tion to domestic and imported products and 
is not by nature such as to impede the latters’ 
access to the market any more than it impeded 
the access of domestic products. It therefore 
falls outside the scope of application of Article 
28 EC. 

24. If the Court should nevertheless find that 
Paragraph 30(1) of the UWG does constitute 

a measure having equivalent effect within the 
meaning of Article 28 EC, Karner, supported 
by the Austrian and Swedish Governments, 
considers that it is justified by the mandatory 
requirement of consumer protection within 
the meaning of the line of case-law initiated 
in’Cassis de Dijon’ (Case 120/78 Rewe-Zentral 
[1979] ECR 649). The Swedish Government also 
refers to the principle of fair trading. 

25. Referring to the wording of Article 7 of Direc-
tive 84/450, the Austrian Government states 
that Paragraph 30(1) of the UWG is aimed at 
combatting misleading advertising in the in-
terests of consumers, competing undertakings 
and the general public. 

26. Troostwijk maintains that Paragraph 30(1) of 
the UWG is incompatible with both Article 28 
EC and Directive 84/450. The national provision 
prevents consumers from having the benefit of 
accurate information and is capable of affect-
ing intra-Community trade. The reference to 
the origin of goods relates to one of their quali-
ties and not to the marketing of those goods. 
Such a reference cannot therefore be regarded 
as a selling arrangement within the meaning of 
Keck and Mithouard, cited above. 

27. According to Troostwijk, that provision restricts 
the possibility of disseminating advertising 
which is lawful in other Member States. It is 
clear that advertising an offer of sale such as 
that at issue in the main proceedings cannot 
be confined to the territory of a single Member 
State. Varying the information according to the 
Member States concerned is impossible on the 
internet, since that mode of communication is 
not restricted to a single region. 

28. Regarding the compatibility of Paragraph 30(1) 
of the UWG with Directive 84/450, Troostwijk 
submits that that directive establishes partial 
harmonisation and allows Member States to 
retain and adopt provisions aimed at ensuring 
more extensive consumer protection. The goal 
of consumer protection is not served by the 
provision in so far as it’prohibits truthful asser-
tions in advertisements’. 

29. Lastly, Troostwijk submits that the provision 
is not compatible with Article 10 of the ECHR 
concerning freedom of expression, since re-
strictions on that right may be justified only 
if the expression of the truth might, even in a 
democratic society, seriously jeopardise a high-
ranking individual or collective right. 
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Response of the Court
30. The Court notes, as a preliminary point, that the 

file on the case forwarded to it by the national 
court shows that Paragraph 30(1) of the UWG 
is based on the presumption that consumers 
prefer to purchase goods sold by an insolvency 
administrator when a company is wound up 
because they hope to make purchases at ad-
vantageous prices. Where advertising related 
to the sale of goods from an insolvent estate, 
it would be difficult to know whether the sale 
has organised by the insolvency administrator 
or by a party who had acquired goods from 
the insolvent estate. The national provision is 
intended to prevent economic operators from 
taking undue advantage of that tendency on 
the part of consumers. 

31. Although it is true that the national rules gov-
erning consumer protection in the event of 
sales of goods from an insolvent estate have 
not been harmonised at the Community level, 
the fact remains that some aspects relating to 
advertising for such sales may fall within the 
scope of Directive 84/450. 

32. It should be borne in mind that that directive 
is intended to set minimum criteria and ob-
jectives on the basis of which it is possible to 
determine whether advertising is misleading. 
The Directive’s provisions include Article 2(2), 
which define’misleading advertising’ and Arti-
cle 3, which states which factors are to be taken 
into account to determine whether advertising 
is misleading. 

33. Without its being necessary to examine in de-
tail the degree of harmonisation achieved by 
Directive 84/450, it is common ground that 
Article 7 of that directive allows the Member 
States to retain or adopt provisions aimed at 
ensuring more extensive consumer protection 
than that provided for thereunder. 

34. It should be remembered, however, that that 
power must be exercised in a way that is con-
sistent with the fundamental principle of the 
free movement of goods, as expressed in the 
prohibition contained in Article 28 EC on quan-
titative restrictions on imports and any meas-
ures having equivalent effect between Mem-
ber States (see, to that effect, Case C-23/99 
Commission v France [2000] ECR I-7653, para-
graph 33). 

35. It is appropriate, first of all, to determine wheth-
er a national rule such as Paragraph 30(1) of the 
UWG, which prohibits any reference to the fact 

that the goods in question come from an insol-
vent estate where, in public announcements or 
notices intended for a large circle of persons, 
notice is given of the sale of goods which origi-
nate from, but no longer constitute part of the 
insolvent estate, falls within the scope of appli-
cation of Article 28 EC. 

36. It is settled case-law that all trading rules en-
acted by Member States which are capable 
of hindering, directly or indirectly, actually or 
potentially, intra-Community trade are to be 
regarded as measures having an effect equiva-
lent to quantitative restrictions and thus pro-
hibited by Article 28 EC (see, in particular, Case 
8/74 Dassonville [1974] ECR 837, paragraph 5; 
Case C-420/01 Commission v Italy [2003] ECR 
I-6445, paragraph 25; and TK-Heimdienst, cited 
above, paragraph 22). 

37. The Court stated in paragraph 16 of Keck and 
Mithouard, cited above, that national provi-
sions restricting or prohibiting certain selling 
arrangements which apply to all relevant trad-
ers operating within the national territory and 
affect in the same manner, in law and in fact, 
the marketing of domestic products and of 
those from other Member States are not such 
as to hinder directly or indirectly, actually or po-
tentially, trade between Member States within 
the meaning of the line of case-law initiated by 
Dassonville, cited above. 

38. The Court subsequently found provisions con-
cerning inter alia the place and times of sale 
of certain products and advertising of those 
products as well as certain marketing methods 
to be provisions governing selling arrange-
ments within the meaning of Keck and Mith-
ouard, cited above (see inter alia Case C-292/92 
Hünermund and Others [1993] ECR I-6787, 
paragraphs 21 and 22; Joined Cases C-401/92 
and C-402/92 Tankstation’t Heukske and Boer-
mans [1994] I-2199, paragraphs 12 to 14; and 
TKHeimdienst, cited above, paragraph 24). 

39. The Court notes that Paragraph 30(1) of the 
UWG is intended to regulate references which 
may be made in advertisements with regard 
to the commercial origin of goods from an in-
solvent estate when they no longer constitute 
part of that estate. In those circumstances, the 
Court finds such a provision does not relate to 
the conditions which those goods must sat-
isfy, but rather governs the marketing of those 
goods. Accordingly, it must be regarded as 
concerning selling arrangements within the 
meaning of Keck and Mithouard, cited above. 
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40. As is clear from Keck and Mithouard, however, 
such a selling arrangement cannot escape the 
prohibition laid down in Article 28 EC unless 
it satisfies the two conditions set out in para-
graph 37 of this judgment. 

41. As regards the first of those conditions, Para-
graph 30(1) of the UWG applies without dis-
tinction to all the operators concerned who 
carry on their business on Austrian territory, 
regardless of whether they are Austrian nation-
als or foreigners. 

42. As regards the second condition, Paragraph 
30(1) of the UWG, contrary to the national pro-
visions which gave rise to Joined Cases C-34/95 
to C36/95 De Agostini and TV-Shop [1997] ECR 
I-3843 and to Case C405/98 Gourmet Interna-
tional Products [2001] ECR I-1795, does not lay 
down a total prohibition on all forms of adver-
tising in a Member State for a product which 
is lawfully sold there. It merely prohibits any 
reference, when a large number of people are 
targeted, to the fact that goods originate from 
an insolvent estate if those goods no longer 
constitutde part of the insolvent estate, on 
grounds of consumer protection. Although 
such a prohibition is, in principle, likely to limit 
the total volume of sales in that Member State 
and, consequently, also to reduce the volume 
of sales of goods from other Member States, 
it nevertheless does not affect the marketing 
of products originating from other Member 
States more than it affects the marketing of 
products from the Member State in question. 
In any event, there is no evidence in the file for-
warded to the Court by the national court to 
permit a finding that the prohibition has had 
such an effect. 

43. In those circumstances, as the Advocate Gener-
al stated in paragraph 66 of his Opinion, it must 
be held that the two conditions laid down by 
Keck and Mithouard, cited above, and referred 
to in paragraph 37 of this judgment, are fully 
satisfied in the case in the main proceedings. 
Accordingly, a national provision such as Para-
graph 30(1) of the UWG is not caught by the 
prohibition in Article 28 EC. 

44. Second, it is necessary to consider Troostwijk’s 
arguments that Paragraph 30(1) of the UWG, 
first, restricts the dissemination of advertising 
which is lawful in other Member States and, 
second, is incompatible with the principle of 
freedom of expression as laid down in Article 
10 ECHR. 

45. Regarding the first argument, it is appropri-

ate to construe it as relating to the question 
whether Article 49 EC governing the freedom 
to provide services precludes a restriction on 
advertising such as that laid down in Paragraph 
30 of the UWG. 

46. Where a national measure relates to both 
the free movement of goods and freedom to 
provide services, the Court will in principle ex-
amine it in relation to one only of those two 
fundamental freedoms if it appears that, in 
the circumstances of the case, one of them is 
entirely secondary in relation to the other and 
may be considered together with it (see, to 
that effect, Case C-275/92 Schindler [1994] ECR 
I-1039, paragraph 22; and Case C-390/99 Canal 
Satélite Digital [2002] ECR I-607, paragraph 31). 

47. In the circumstances of the case in the main 
proceedings, the dissemination of advertising 
is not an end in itself. It is a secondary element 
in relation to the sale of the goods in question. 
Consequently the free movement of goods 
aspect prevails over the freedom to provide 
services aspect. It is thus not necessary to con-
sider Paragraph 30(1) of the UWG in the light 
of Article 49 EC. 

48. Regarding Troostwijk’s second argument with 
regard to the compatibility of the legislation in 
question with freedom of expression, it should 
be recalled that, according to settled case-law, 
fundamental rights form an integral part of the 
general principles of law the observance of 
which the Court ensures. For that purpose, the 
Court draws inspiration from the constitutional 
traditions common to the Member States and 
from the guidelines supplied by international 
treaties for the protection of human rights on 
which the Member States have collaborated 
or to which they are signatories. The ECHR has 
special significance in that respect (see, inter 
alia, Case C-260/89 ERT [1991] ECR I-2925, para-
graph 41; Case C-274/99 P Connolly v Com-
mission [2001] ECR I-1611, paragraph 37; Case 
C-94/00 Roquette Frères [2002] ECR I-9011, 
paragraph 25; and Case C-112/00 Schmidberg-
er [2003] ECR I-5659, paragraph 71). 

49. Further, according to the Court’s case-law, 
where national legislation falls within the field 
of application of Community law the Court, in 
a reference for a preliminary ruling, must give 
the national court all the guidance as to inter-
pretation necessary to enable it to assess the 
compatibility of that legislation with the funda-
mental rights whose observance the Court en-
sures (see, to that effect, Case C-299/95 Krem-
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zow [1997] ECR I-2629, paragraph 15). 

50. Whilst the principle of freedom of expression 
is expressly recognised by Article 10 ECHR and 
constitutes one of the fundamental pillars of 
a democratic society, it nevertheless follows 
from the wording of Article 10(2) that freedom 
of expression is also subject to certain limita-
tions justified by objectives in the public inter-
est, in so far as those derogations are in accord-
ance with the law, motivated by one or more 
of the legitimate aims under that provision 
and necessary in a democratic society, that is 
to say justified by a pressing social need and, 
in particular, proportionate to the legitimate 
aim pursued (see, to that effect, Case C-368/95 
Familiapress [1997] ECR I-3689, paragraph 26; 
Case C-60/00 Carpenter [2002] ECR I-6279, 
paragraph 42; and Schmidberger, cited above, 
paragraph 79). 

51. It is common ground that the discretion en-
joyed by the national authorities in determin-
ing the balance to be struck between freedom 
of expression and the abovementioned objec-
tives varies for each of the goals justifying re-
strictions on that freedom and depends on the 
nature of the activities in question. When the 
exercise of the freedom does not contribute to 
a discussion of public interest and, in addition, 
arises in a context in which the Member States 
have a certain amount of discretion, review is 
limited to an examination of the reasonable-
ness and proportionality of the interference. 
This holds true for the commercial use of free-
dom of expression, particularly in a field as 
complex and fluctuating as advertising (see, 
to that effect, Case C-245/01 RTL Television 
[2003] ECR I-0000, paragraph 73; judgments of 
the ECHR of 20 November 1989, Markt intern 
Verlag GmbH and Klaus Beermann, Reports 
of Judgments and Decisions series A No 165, 
paragraph 33; and of 28 June 2001, VGT Verein 
gegen Tierfabriken v Switzerland, Reports of 
Judgments and Decisions 2001-VI, paragraphs 
69 to 70). 

52. In this case it appears, having regard to the 
circumstances of fact and of law characterising 
the situation which gave rise to the case in the 
main proceedings and the discretion enjoyed 
by the Member States, that a restriction on ad-
vertising as provided for in Paragraph 30 of the 
UWG is reasonable and proportionate in the 
light of the legitimate goals pursued by that 
provision, namely consumer protection and 
fair trading. 

53. In the light of all the foregoing considerations, 
the question referred to the Court must be an-
swered as follows: Article 28 EC does not pre-
clude national legislation, which, irrespective 
of the truthfulness of the information, prohibits 
any reference to the fact that goods come from 
an insolvent estate where in public announce-
ments or notices intended for a large circle of 
persons, notice is given of the sale of goods 
which originate from, but no longer constitute 
part of, the insolvent estate. 

Costs
54. The costs incurred by the Austrian and Swedish 

Governments and by the Commission, which 
have submitted observation to the Court, are 
not receoverable. Since these proceedings are, 
for the parties to the main proceedings, a step 
in the proceedings pending before the nation-
al court, the decision on costs is a matter for 
that court. 

On those grounds, THE COURT (Fifth Chamber)

in answer to the questions referred to it by the 
Oberster Gerichtshof by order of 29 January 2002, 
hereby rules: 

Article 28 EC does not preclude national leg-
islation which, irrespective of the truthfulness 
of the information, prohibits any reference to 
the fact that goods come from an insolvent 
estate, where, in public announcements or 
notices intended for a larger circle of persons, 
notice is given of the sale of goods which 
originate from, but no longer constitute part 
of, the insolvent estate. 

Timmermans  Rosas von Bahr

Delivered in open court in Luxembourg on 25 
March 2004. 

R. Grass, Registrar 
V. Skouris, President
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GENERAL INTERNATIONAL LAW AND COMMNUITY 
LAW, RESOLUTIONS OF THE SECURITY COUNCIL, PRO-
TECTION OF FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS

CAsE t-253/02 CHAFIQ 
AYADI V CoUnCIL oF tHE 
EURoPEAn UnIon
(Common foreign and security policy – Restrictive 
measures taken against persons and entities associ-
ated with Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network 
and the Taliban – Competence of the Community 
– Freezing of funds – Principle of subsidiarity – Fun-
damental rights – Jus cogens – Review by the Court 
– Action for annulment) 

KEYWORDS

1. Procedure – Intervention – Application not lim-
ited to supporting the form of order sought by 
one of the parties (Statute of the Court of Jus-
tice, Art. 40, fourth para.; Rules of Procedure of 
the Court of First Instance, Arts 113 and 116(3))

2. Actions for annulment – Action directed 
against an act confirming a previous act not 
challenged within the period prescribed (Art. 
230 EC)

3. Actions for annulment – Jurisdiction of the 
Community judicature (Arts 5, second para., 
EC, 60 EC, 230 EC, 301 EC and 308 EC)

4. Public international law – Charter of the United 
Nations – Decisions of the Security Council

5. European Communities – Judicial review of the 
legality of the acts of the institutions (Council 
Regulation No 881/2002)

6. European Communities – Judicial review of the 
legality of the acts of the institutions (Council 
Regulation No 881/2002, as modified by Regu-
lation No 561/2003, Art. 2a)

7. European Communities – Judicial review of the 
legality of the acts of the institutions (Council 
Regulation No 881/2002)

8. Actions for annulment – Community act imple-
menting resolutions of the United Nations Se-
curity Council – Regulation No 881/2002 (Art. 
230 EC; Council Regulation No 881/2002)

9. European Communities – Community act im-
plementing resolutions of the United Nations 
Security Council – Regulation No 881/2002 
(Art. 6 EU; Council Regulation No 881/2002)

10. Acts of the institutions – Statement of reasons 
– Obligation – Scope (Art. 253 EC; Council Reg-
ulation No 881/2002) 

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

1. Under the fourth paragraph of Article 40 of 
the Statute of the Court of Justice, an applica-
tion to intervene is to be limited to supporting 
the form of order sought by one of the par-
ties. In addition, as provided in Article 116(3) 
of the Rules of Procedure of the Court of First 
Instance, the intervener must accept the case 
as he finds it at the time of his intervention. An 
intervener is not, therefore, entitled to raise a 
plea of inadmissibility not raised by the party 
it supports. However, under Article 113 of the 
Rules of Procedure of the Court of First In-
stance, the latter may at any time, of its own 
motion, consider whether there exists any ab-
solute bar to proceeding with a case, including 
any raised by the interveners. A plea alleging a 
bar to proceeding that concerns the admissi-
bility of the action raises such a matter of pub-
lic policy. (see paras 64, 67-68)

2. An action for annulment directed against an 
act which merely confirms a previous act, not 
challenged within the period prescribed, is 
inadmissible. An act is a mere confirmation of 
an earlier act if it contains no new factors as 
compared with the earlier measure and is not 
preceded by any re-examination of the situa-
tion of the person to whom the earlier act was 
addressed. (see para. 70)

3. The Community judicature reviews the lawful-
ness of Community acts in the light of the prin-
ciple of subsidiarity enshrined in the second 
paragraph of Article 5 EC. However, this gener-
al principle cannot be relied on in the sphere of 
application of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, even 
on the assumption that it does not fall within 
the exclusive competence of the Community. 
With regard to the interruption or reduction 
of economic relations with third countries, 
those very articles provide for action by the 
Community when that is’deemed necessary’ 
in the form of a common position or a joint 
action adopted according to the provisions of 
the Treaty on European Union relating to the 
common foreign and security policy (CFSP). In 
the sphere of application of Articles 60 EC and 

Case T-253/02 Chafiq Ayadi v Council of the European Union
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301 EC, the EC Treaty thus confers on the Union 
the power to determine whether action by the 
Community is necessary. Such determination 
falls within the ambit of the exercise of dis-
cretion by the Union. It excludes any right for 
individuals to challenge, in the light of the prin-
ciple of subsidiarity enshrined in the second 
paragraph of Article 5 EC, the lawfulness of the 
action subsequently taken by the Community 
in accordance with the CFSP common position 
or joint action of the Union. Moreover, since 
the sphere of application of Articles 60 EC and 
301 EC may be extended, by having recourse 
to the additional legal basis of Article 308 EC, 
to the adoption of economic and financial 
sanctions imposed on individuals in the battle 
against international terrorism even when no 
connection with third countries has been es-
tablished, it must follow that the lawfulness of 
Community measures adopted on that basis in 
accordance with a CFSP common position or 
joint action of the Union cannot be challenged 
by individuals in the light of the principle of 
subsidiarity either. 

In any event, even assuming that the principle 
of subsidiarity finds application in the sphere of 
application of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, it is 
plain that the uniform implementation in the 
Member States of Security Council resolutions, 
which are binding on all members of the Unit-
ed Nations without distinction, can be better 
achieved at Community level than at national 
level. (see paras 107-112)

4. From the standpoint of international law, the 
obligations of the Member States of the United 
Nations under the Charter of the United Na-
tions clearly prevail over every other obligation 
of domestic law or of international Treaty law 
including, for those of them that are members 
of the Council of Europe, their obligations 
under the European Convention on Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms and, for 
those that are also members of the Commu-
nity, their obligations under the EC Treaty. 
That primacy extends to decisions contained 
in a resolution of the Security Council, in ac-
cordance with Article 25 of the Charter of the 
United Nations. 

Although not a member of the United Nations, 
the Community must be considered to be 
bound by the obligations under the Charter of 
the United Nations in the same way as its Mem-
ber States, by virtue of the Treaty establishing 
it. First, the Community may not infringe the 
obligations imposed on its Member States by 

the Charter of the United Nations or impede 
their performance. Second, in the exercise of its 
powers it is bound, by the very Treaty by which 
it was established, to adopt all the measures 
necessary to enable its Member States to fulfil 
those obligations. (see para. 116)

5. In light of the principle of the primacy of the 
law of the United Nations over Community law, 
the claim that the Court of First Instance has ju-
risdiction to review indirectly the lawfulness of 
decisions of the Security Council or of the Sanc-
tions Committee according to the standard of 
protection of fundamental rights as recognised 
by the Community legal order cannot be justi-
fied either on the basis of international law or 
on the basis of Community law. 

The resolutions of the Security Council adopt-
ed under Chapter VII of the Charter of the Unit-
ed Nations therefore fall, in principle, outside 
the ambit of the Court’s judicial review and 
the Court has no authority to call in question, 
even indirectly, their lawfulness in the light of 
Community law. On the contrary, the Court is 
bound, so far as possible, to interpret and ap-
ply that law in a manner compatible with the 
obligations of the Member States under the 
Charter of the United Nations. 

None the less, the Court is empowered to 
check, indirectly, the lawfulness of the resolu-
tions of the Security Council in question with 
regard to jus cogens, understood as a body of 
higher rules of public international law binding 
on all subjects of international law, including 
the bodies of the United Nations, and from 
which no derogation is possible. (see para. 116)

6. The freezing of funds provided for by Regula-
tion No 881/2002 imposing certain specific 
restrictive measures directed against certain 
persons and entities associated with Usama 
bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and the Tali-
ban, as amended by Regulation No 561/2003, 
infringes neither the fundamental right of the 
persons concerned to make use of their prop-
erty nor the general principle of proportional-
ity, measured by the standard of universal pro-
tection of the fundamental rights of the human 
person covered by jus cogens. 

Moreover Regulation No 881/2002 and the 
Security Council resolutions implemented by 
that regulation do not prevent the persons 
concerned from leading a satisfactory per-
sonal, family and social life, given that the use 
for strictly private ends of the frozen economic 
resources is not forbidden per se by those 
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measures. Likewise, those measures do not of 
themselves prevent such persons from carry-
ing on business or trade activities, whether as 
an employee or as a selfemployed person, but 
in substance concern the receipt of income 
from such activity. In particular, by virtue of Ar-
ticle 2a of the regulation in question, Article 2 
may be inapplicable, subject to the conditions 
set by that provision, to any kind of funds or 
economic resources, including therefore the 
economic resources needed for the carrying 
on of employed or self-employed professional 
activities and the funds received or receivable 
in connection with such activity. Although Arti-
cle 2a constitutes a provision derogating from 
Article 2, it is not to be interpreted strictly in 
the light of the humanitarian objective that it 
plainly pursues. It is for the national authorities, 
which are best placed to take into considera-
tion the special circumstances of each case, to 
determine in the first place whether such a 
derogation may be granted and then to ensure 
that it is reviewed and implemented in keep-
ing with the freezing of the funds of the person 
concerned. (see paras 116, 126-127, 130, 132)

7. The right of the persons concerned to be 
heard has not been infringed, given that the 
resolutions of the Security Council imposing 
sanctions on Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda 
network and the Taliban and other associated 
individuals, groups, undertakings and entities 
do not provide such a right for the persons 
concerned to be heard by the Sanctions Com-
mittee before their inclusion in the list of per-
sons whose funds are to be frozen and since 
it appears that no mandatory rule of public in-
ternational law requires a prior hearing for the 
persons concerned. In particular, in a situation 
in which what is at issue is a temporary precau-
tionary measure restricting the availability of 
the property of the persons concerned, obser-
vance of their fundamental rights does not re-
quire the facts and evidence adduced against 
them to be communicated to them, once the 
Security Council or its Sanctions Committee is 
of the view that there are grounds concerning 
the international community’s security that 
militate against it. 

Nor were the Community institutions obliged 
to hear the persons concerned before Regula-
tion No 881/2002 imposing certain specific re-
strictive measures directed against certain per-
sons and entities associated with Usama bin 
Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and the Taliban 
was adopted or in the context of the adoption 
and implementation of that act. (see para. 116)

8. In dealing with an action for annulment of Reg-
ulation No 881/2002 imposing certain specific 
restrictive measures directed against certain 
persons and entities associated with Usama bin 
Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and the Taliban, 
the Court carries out a complete review of the 
lawfulness of that regulation with regard to ob-
servance by the institutions of the rules of juris-
diction and the rules of external lawfulness and 
the essential procedural requirements which 
bind their actions. The Court also reviews the 
lawfulness of that regulation having regard to 
the Security Council’s resolutions which that 
act is supposed to put into effect, in particular 
from the viewpoints of procedural and sub-
stantive appropriateness, internal consistency 
and whether the regulation is proportionate 
to the resolutions. The Court then reviews the 
lawfulness of the contested regulation and, 
indirectly, the lawfulness of the resolutions of 
the Security Council at issue, in the light of the 
higher rules of international law falling within 
the ambit of jus cogens, in particular the man-
datory prescriptions concerning the universal 
protection of the rights of the human person. 

On the other hand, it is not for the Court to re-
view indirectly whether the Security Council’s 
resolutions in question are themselves com-
patible with fundamental rights as protected 
by the Community legal order. Nor does it fall 
to the Court to verify that there has been no 
error of assessment of the facts and evidence 
relied on by the Security Council in support 
of the measures it has taken or yet, subject to 
the limited extent of the review carried out in 
the light of jus cogens, to check indirectly the 
appropriateness and proportionality of those 
measures. To that extent, there is no judicial 
remedy available to the persons concerned, 
the Security Council not having thought it ap-
propriate to establish an independent interna-
tional court responsible for ruling, in law and 
on the facts, in actions brought against indi-
vidual decisions taken by the Sanctions Com-
mittee. 

However, that lacuna in the judicial protection 
available to the applicants is not in itself con-
trary to jus cogens. The right of access to the 
courts is in fact not absolute. The limitation of 
the right of the persons concerned to access to 
a court, as a result of the immunity from juris-
diction enjoyed as a rule, in the domestic legal 
order of the Member States, by resolutions of 
the Security Council adopted under Chapter VII 
of the Charter of the United Nations, must be 
held to be inherent in that right. Such a limita-
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tion is, moreover, justified both by the nature 
of the decisions that the Security Council is 
led to take under Chapter VII and by the legiti-
mate objective pursued. Last, in the absence 
of an international court having jurisdiction to 
ascertain whether acts of the Security Council 
are lawful, the setting-up of a body such as the 
Sanctions Committee and the opportunity, 
provided for by the legislation, of applying at 
any time to that committee in order to have 
any individual case re-examined, by means of 
a formalised procedure involving the govern-
ments concerned, constitute another reason-
able method of affording adequate protection 
of the fundamental rights of the persons con-
cerned as recognised by jus cogens. (see para. 
116)

9. The right of interested persons to present a 
request for review of their case to the govern-
ment of the country in which they reside or of 
which they are nationals, for the purpose of 
being removed from the list of persons and 
entities whose funds must be frozen, must be 
classed as a right guaranteed not only by reso-
lutions of the Security Council, as interpreted 
by the Sanctions Committee, but also by the 
Community legal order. 

It follows that, both in examining such a request 
for review and in the context of the consulta-
tions between States and other actions that 
may take place, the Member States are bound, 
in accordance with Article 6 EU, to respect the 
fundamental rights of the persons involved, as 
guaranteed by the European Convention on 
Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 
and as they result from the constitutional tradi-
tions common to the Member States, as gener-
al principles of Community law, given that the 
respect of those fundamental rights does not 
appear capable of preventing the proper per-
formance of their obligations under the Char-
ter of the United Nations. The Member States 
must thus ensure, so far as is possible, that 
interested persons are put in a position to put 
their point of view before the competent na-
tional authorities when they present a request 
for their case to be reviewed. Furthermore, the 
margin of assessment that those authorities 
enjoy in this respect must be exercised in such 
a way as to take due account of the difficulties 
that the persons concerned may encounter in 
ensuring the effective protection of their rights, 
having regard to the specific context and na-
ture of the measures affecting them. Thus, 
the Member States would not be justified in 
refusing to initiate the review procedure pro-

vided for by the Guidelines solely because the 
persons concerned could not provide precise 
and relevant information in support of their 
request, owing to their having been unable 
to ascertain the precise reasons for which they 
were included in the list in question or the evi-
dence supporting those reasons, on account of 
the confidential nature of those reasons or that 
evidence. Similarly, having regard to the fact 
that individuals are not entitled to be heard in 
person by the Sanctions Committee, with the 
result that they are dependent, essentially, on 
the diplomatic protection afforded by States to 
their nationals, the Member States are required 
to act promptly to ensure that such persons’ 
cases are presented without delay and fairly 
and impartially to the Committee, with a view 
to their re-examination, if that appears to be 
justified in the light of the relevant information 
supplied. 

What is more, it is open to the persons con-
cerned to bring an action for judicial review 
based on the domestic law of the State of 
the government to which their request to 
be removed from the list was addressed, in-
deed even relying directly on Regulation No 
881/2002 imposing certain specific restric-
tive measures directed against certain per-
sons and entities associated with Usama bin 
Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and the Taliban 
and on the relevant resolutions of the Security 
Council which that regulation puts into effect, 
against any breach by the competent national 
authority of the right of the persons involved 
to request the review of their case in order to 
be removed from the list of persons to whom 
sanctions are applicable. In such an action, it 
is for the national court to apply, in principle, 
national law while taking care to ensure the full 
effectiveness of Community law, which may 
lead it to refrain from applying, if need be, a 
national rule preventing that result, such as a 
rule excluding from judicial review a refusal of 
national authorities to take action with a view 
to guaranteeing the diplomatic protection of 
their nationals. (see paras 145-150, 152)

10. The statement of reasons required by Arti-
cle 253 EC must show clearly and unequivocal-
ly the Council’s reasoning so as to enable the 
persons concerned to ascertain the reasons for 
the measures and to enable the Community 
judicature to exercise its power of review. Fur-
thermore, the question whether a statement of 
reasons is adequate must be assessed by refer-
ence not only to the wording of the measure 
but also to its context and to the whole body 
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of legal rules governing the matter in ques-
tion. In the case of a measure intended to have 
general application, as here, the preamble may 
be limited to indicating the general situation 
which led to its adoption, on the one hand, and 
the general objectives which it is intended to 
achieve, on the other. 

In this regard, the cited legal bases of Regula-
tion No 881/2002 imposing certain specific 
restrictive measures directed against certain 
persons and entities associated with Usama 
bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and the Tali-
ban, and recitals 1 to 7, in particular, in the pre-
amble thereto, fully satisfy those requirements. 
The fact that the assertion that there was a risk 
of competition’s being distorted, a result which 
according to its preamble the contested regu-
lation seeks to prevent, is unconvincing cannot 
call that finding in question. Indeed, even if one 
recital of a measure contains a factually incor-
rect statement, that procedural defect cannot 
lead to the annulment of that measure if the 
other recitals in themselves supply a sufficient 
statement of reasons. (see paras 164-167)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT OF FIRST 
INSTANCE (SECOND CHAMBER)

12 July 20065

(Common foreign and security policy – Restrictive 
measures taken against persons and entities associ-
ated with Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network 
and the Taliban – Competence of the Community 
– Freezing of funds – Fundamental rights – Jus co-
gens – Review by the Court – Action for annulment) 

In Case T253/02,

Chafiq Ayadi, residing in Dublin (Ireland), repre-
sented initially by A. Lyon, H. Miller and M. Willis-
Stewart, Solicitors, and S. Cox, Barrister, and subse-
quently by A. Lyon, H. Miller and S. Cox, applicant,

v

Council of the European Union, represented by 
M. Vitsentzatos and M. Bishop, acting as Agents, 
defendant, supported by

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ire-
land, represented initially by J. Collins, and subse-
quently by R. Caudwell, acting as Agents, and by 
S. Moore, Barrister, 

and by 

5 Language of the case: English.

Commission of the European Communities, rep-
resented by C. Brown and M. Wilderspin, acting as 
Agents, interveners,

APPLICATION for annulment in part of Council Reg-
ulation (EC) No 881/2002 of 27 May 2002 impos-
ing certain specific restrictive measures directed 
against certain persons and entities associated with 
Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and the 
Taliban, and repealing Regulation No 467/2001 of 6 
March 2001 prohibiting the export of certain goods 
and services to Afghanistan, strengthening the 
flight ban and extending the freeze of funds and 
other financial resources in respect of the Taliban of 
Afghanistan (OJ 2002 L 139, p. 9), 

THE COURT OF FIRST INSTANCE OF THE EUROPEAN 
COMMUNITIES (Second Chamber), 

composed of J. Pirrung, President, N.J. Forwood 
and S. Papasavvas, Judges, Registrar: J. Plingers, Ad-
ministrator,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 25 October 2005,

gives the following Judgment

Legal context
1. Under Article 24(1) of the Charter of the United 

Nations, signed at San Francisco (United States 
of America) on 26 June 1945, the members 
of the United Nations’confer on the Security 
Council primary responsibility for the mainte-
nance of international peace and security, and 
agree that in carrying out its duties under this 
responsibility the Security Council acts on their 
behalf’. 

2. Under Article 25 of the Charter of the United 
Nations,’[t]he Members of the [UN] agree to 
accept and carry out the decisions of the Se-
curity Council in accordance with the present 
Charter’. 

3. According to Article 41 of the Charter of the 
United Nations: 
‘TheSecurityCouncilmaydecidewhatmeas-
uresnotinvolvingtheuseofarmedforceare
tobeemployedtogiveeffecttoitsdecisions,
anditmaycallupontheMembersoftheUnit-
edNationstoapplysuchmeasures.Thesemay
include complete or partial interruption of
economicrelationsandofrail,sea,air,postal,
telegraphic, radio, and othermeans of com-
munication, and the severanceofdiplomatic
relations.’

4. In accordance with Article 48(2) of the Charter 
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of the United Nations, the decisions of the Se-
curity Council for the maintenance of interna-
tional peace and security’shall be carried out 
by the Members of the United Nations directly 
and through their action in the appropriate in-
ternational agencies of which they are mem-
bers’. 

5. According to Article 103 of the Charter of the 
United Nations,’[i]n the event of a conflict be-
tween the obligations of the Members of the 
United Nations under the present Charter and 
their obligations under any other international 
agreement, their obligations under the present 
Charter shall prevail’. 

6. In accordance with Article 11(1) EU: 
‘TheUnionshalldefineandimplementacom-
mon foreign and security policy covering all
areasofforeignandsecuritypolicy,theobjec-
tivesofwhichshallbe:

– to safeguard the common values, funda-
mental interests, independenceand integrity
oftheUnioninconformitywiththeprinciples
oftheUnitedNationsCharter;

–tostrengthenthesecurityoftheUnioninall
ways;

– to preserve peace and strengthen interna-
tionalsecurity, inaccordancewiththeprinci-
plesoftheUnitedNationsCharter…’

7. Under Article 301 EC: 
‘Where it is provided, in a common position
or ina jointactionadoptedaccordingtothe
provisions of the Treaty on European Union
relating to thecommon foreignand security
policy,foranactionbytheCommunitytoin-
terrupt or to reduce, in part or completely,
economic relations with one or more third
countries,theCouncilshalltakethenecessary
urgentmeasures.’

8. Article 60 EC provides: 
‘(1) If, in the cases envisaged in Article 301,
action by the Community is deemed neces-
sary,theCouncilmay,inaccordancewiththe
procedureprovidedforinArticle301,takethe
necessaryurgentmeasuresonthemovement
of capital and on payments as regards the
thirdcountriesconcerned.

(2) Without prejudice to Article 297 and as
long as the Council has not takenmeasures
pursuanttoparagraph1,aMemberStatemay,
for serious political reasons and on grounds
of urgency, take unilateral measures against
a third countrywith regard to capitalmove-

ments and payments. The Commission and
theotherMemberStatesshallbeinformedof
suchmeasuresbythedateoftheirentryinto
forceatthelatest.

TheCouncilmay,actingbyaqualifiedmajor-
ityonaproposalfromtheCommission,decide
thattheMemberStateconcernedshallamend
orabolishsuchmeasures.ThePresidentofthe
CouncilshallinformtheEuropeanParliament
ofanysuchdecisiontakenbytheCouncil.’

9. In accordance with the first paragraph of Arti-
cle 307 EC: 
‘Therightsandobligationsarisingfromagree-
mentsconcludedbefore1January1958or,for
accedingStates,beforethedateoftheiracces-
sion,betweenoneormoreMemberStateson
theonehand,andoneormorethirdcountries
ontheother,shallnotbeaffectedbythepro-
visionsofthisTreaty.’

10. Lastly, Article 308 EC provides: 
‘IfactionbytheCommunityshouldprovenec-
essarytoattain,inthecourseoftheoperation
ofthecommonmarket,oneoftheobjectives
oftheCommunity,andthisTreatyhasnotpro-
videdthenecessarypowers,theCouncilshall,
acting unanimously on a proposal from the
CommissionandafterconsultingtheEurope-
anParliament,taketheappropriatemeasures.’

Background to the case
11. On 15 October 1999 the Security Council of the 

United Nations (‘the Security Council’) adopted 
Resolution 1267 (1999), in which it inter alia 
condemned the fact that Afghan territory con-
tinued to be used for the sheltering and train-
ing of terrorists and planning of terrorist acts, 
reaffirmed its conviction that the suppression 
of international terrorism was essential for the 
maintenance of international peace and secu-
rity, deplored the fact that the Taliban contin-
ued to provide safe haven to Usama bin Laden 
and to allow him and others associated with 
him to operate a network of terrorist training 
camps from territory held by the Taliban and 
to use Afghanistan as a base from which to 
sponsor international terrorist operations. In 
the second paragraph of the resolution the 
Security Council demanded that the Taliban 
should without further delay turn Usama bin 
Laden over to the appropriate authorities. In 
order to ensure compliance with that demand, 
paragraph 4(b) of Resolution 1267 (1999) pro-
vides that all the States must, in particular, 
freeze funds and other financial resources, in-
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cluding funds derived or generated from prop-
erty owned or controlled directly or indirectly 
by the Taliban, or by any undertaking owned 
or controlled by the Taliban, as designated by 
the Committee established by paragraph 6 be-
low, and ensure that neither they nor any other 
funds or financial resources so designated are 
made available, by their nationals or by any 
persons within their territory, to or for the ben-
efit of the Taliban or any undertaking owned or 
controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Taliban, 
except as may be authorised by the Commit-
tee on a case-by-case basis on the grounds of 
humanitarian need. 

12. In paragraph 6 of Resolution 1267 (1999) the 
Security Council decided to establish, in ac-
cordance with rule 28 of its provisional rules of 
procedure, a committee of the Security Coun-
cil composed of all its members (‘the Sanctions 
Committee’), responsible in particular for en-
suring that the States implement the meas-
ures imposed by paragraph 4, designating the 
funds or other financial resources referred to 
in paragraph 4 and considering requests for 
exemptions from the measures imposed by 
paragraph 4. 

13. Taking the view that action by the Commu-
nity was necessary in order to implement that 
resolution, on 15 November 1999 the Council 
adopted Common Position 1999/727/CFSP 
concerning restrictive measures against the 
Taliban (OJ 1999 L 294, p. 1). Article 2 of that 
Common Position prescribes the freezing 
of funds and other financial resources held 
abroad by the Taliban under the conditions set 
out in Security Council Resolution 1267 (1999). 

14. On 14 February 2000, on the basis of Articles 60 
EC and 301 EC, the Council adopted Regulation 
(EC) No 337/2000 concerning a flight ban and a 
freeze of funds and other financial resources in 
respect of the Taliban of Afghanistan (OJ 2000 
L 43, p. 1). 

15. On 19 December 2000 the Security Council 
adopted Resolution 1333 (2000), demanding, 
inter alia, that the Taliban should comply with 
Resolution 1267 (1999), and, in particular, that 
they should cease to provide sanctuary and 
training for international terrorists and their 
organisations and turn Usama bin Laden over 
to appropriate authorities to be brought to jus-
tice. The Security Council decided in particular 
to strengthen the flight ban and freezing of 
funds imposed under Resolution 1267 (1999). 
Accordingly paragraph 8(c) of Resolution 1333 

(2000) provides that the States are, inter alia,’[t]
o freeze without delay funds and other finan-
cial assets of Usama bin Laden and individuals 
and entities associated with him as designated 
by the [Sanctions Committee], including those 
in the Al-Qaeda organisation, and including 
funds derived or generated from property 
owned or controlled directly or indirectly by 
Usama bin Laden and individuals and entities 
associated with him, and to ensure that neither 
they nor any other funds or financial resources 
are made available, by their nationals or by any 
persons within their territory, directly or indi-
rectly for the benefit of Usama bin Laden, his 
associates or any entities owned or controlled, 
directly or indirectly, by Usama bin Laden or 
individuals and entities associated with him 
including the Al-Qaeda organisation.’ 

16. In the same provision, the Security Council in-
structed the Sanctions Committee to maintain 
an updated list, based on information provided 
by the States and regional organisations, of the 
individuals and entities designated as associ-
ated with Usama bin Laden, including those in 
the Al-Qaeda organisation. 

17. In paragraph 17 of Resolution 1333 (2000), the 
Security Council called upon all States and all 
international and regional organisations, in-
cluding the United Nations and its specialised 
agencies, to act strictly in accordance with the 
provisions of this resolution, notwithstanding 
the existence of any rights or obligations con-
ferred or imposed by any international agree-
ment. 

18. In paragraph 23 of Resolution 1333 (2000), the 
Security Council decided that the measures 
imposed inter alia by paragraph 8 were to 
be established for 12 months and that, at the 
end of that period, it would decide whether to 
extend them for a further period on the same 
conditions. 

19. Taking the view that action by the Community 
was necessary in order to implement that reso-
lution, on 26 February 2001 the Council adopt-
ed Common Position 2001/154/CFSP concern-
ing additional restrictive measures against 
the Taliban and amending Common Position 
96/746/CFSP (OJ 2001 L 57, p. 1). Article 4 of 
that Common Position provides: 
‘Funds and other financial assets of Usama
binLadenandindividualsandentitiesassoci-
atedwithhim,asdesignatedbytheSanctions
Committee,willbefrozen,andfundsorother
financialresourceswillnotbemadeavailable
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to Usama bin Laden and individuals or enti-
tiesassociatedwithhimasdesignatedbythe
Sanctions Committee, under the conditions
setoutin[Resolution1333(2000)].’

20. On 6 March 2001, on the basis of Articles 60 
EC and 301 EC, the Council adopted Regula-
tion (EC) No 467/2001 prohibiting the export 
of certain goods and services to Afghanistan, 
strengthening the flight ban and extending 
the freeze of funds and other financial resourc-
es in respect of the Taliban of Afghanistan, and 
repealing Regulation No 337/2000 (OJ 2001 L 
67, p. 1). 

21. The third recital in the preamble to that regula-
tion states that the measures provided for by 
Resolution 1333 (2000)’fall under the scope of 
the Treaty and, therefore, notably with a view 
to avoiding distortion of competition, Com-
munity legislation is necessary to implement 
the relevant decisions of the Security Council 
as far as the territory of the Community is con-
cerned.’ 

22. Article 1 of Regulation No 467/2001 defines 
what is meant by’funds’ and’freezing of funds’. 

23. Under Article 2 of Regulation No 467/2001: 
‘1.Allfundsandotherfinancialresourcesbe-
longingtoanynaturalor legalperson,entity
orbodydesignatedby the... SanctionsCom-
mitteeandlistedinAnnexIshallbefrozen.

2.No fundsorother financial resources shall
bemadeavailable,directlyorindirectly,toor
for thebenefitof,persons,entitiesorbodies
designatedbytheTalibanSanctionsCommit-
teeandlistedinAnnexI.

3.Paragraphs1and2shallnotapplytofunds
and financial resources forwhich theTaliban
Sanctions Committee has granted an ex-
emption.Suchexemptions shallbeobtained
through the competent authorities of the
MemberStateslistedinAnnexII.’

24. Article 9(2) of Regulation No 467/2001 pro-
vides that’[e]xemptions granted by the Taliban 
Sanctions Committee shall apply throughout 
the Community’. 

25. Annex I to Regulation No 467/2001 contains 
the list of persons, entities and bodies affected 
by the freezing of funds imposed by Article 2. 
Under Article 10(1) of Regulation No 467/2001, 
the Commission is empowered to amend or 
supplement Annex I on the basis of determi-
nations made by either the Security Council or 
the Sanctions Committee. 

26. Annex II to Regulation No 467/2001 contains 
the list of competent national authorities for 
the purpose of applying inter alia Article 2(3). 
In the case of Ireland, those authorities are the 
Central Bank of Ireland, Financial Markets De-
partment, on the one hand, and on the other, 
the Department of Foreign Affairs, Bilateral 
Economic Relations Section. 

27. On 8 March 2001 the Sanctions Committee 
published a first consolidated list of the entities 
which and the persons who must be subjected 
to the freezing of funds pursuant to Secu-
rity Council Resolutions 1267 (1999) and 1333 
(2000). That list has since been amended and 
supplemented several times. The Commission 
has therefore adopted various regulations pur-
suant to Article 10 of Regulation No 467/2001, 
in which it has amended or supplemented An-
nex I to that regulation. 

28. On 19 October 2001 the Sanctions Committee 
published a new addition to its list of 8 March 
2001, including in particular the name of the 
following person, identified as being a person 
associated with Usama bin Laden, as follows: 
‘BINMUHAMMAD,AyadiChafiq(A.K.A.AYA-
DI SHAFIQ, Ben Muhammad; A. K. A. AYADI
CHAFIK, BenMuhammad;A. K.A.AIADI, Ben
Muhammad;A.K.A.AIADY,BenMuhammad),
Helene Meyer Ring 10-1415-80809, Munich,
Germany;129ParkRoad,NW8,London,Eng-
land; 28 Chausse Di Lille, Moscron, Belgium;
Darvingasse 1/2/5860, Vienna, Austria; Tuni-
sia;DOB: 21 January1963; POB: Safais (Sfax),
Tunisia.’

29. On the same day the Commission adopted 
Regulation (EC) No 2062/2001, amending, 
for the third time, Council Regulation (EC) No 
467/2001 (OJ 2001 L 277, p. 25). In accordance 
with Article 1 thereof, the applicant’s name was 
added to Annex I to Regulation No 467/2001 
as follows: 
‘BIN MUHAMMAD, Ayadi Chafiq (aka Aayadi
Shafiq,BenMuhammad;akaAyadiChafik,Ben
Muhammad; akaAiadi, BenMuhammad; aka
Aiady, BenMuhammad), HeleneMeyer Ring
10-1415-80809, Munich, Germany; 129 Park
Road, London NW8, England; 28 Chausse Di
Lille, Moscron, Belgium; Darvingasse 1/2/58-
60, Vienna, Austria; Tunisia; born 21.1.1963,
Safais(Sfax),Tunisia.’

30. On 16 January 2002 the Security Council 
adopted Resolution 1390 (2002), which lays 
down the measures to be directed against 
Usama bin Laden, members of the Al-Qaeda 
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network and the Taliban and other associated 
individuals, groups, undertakings and entities. 
Articles 1 and 2 of that resolution provide, in 
essence, that the measures, in particular the 
freezing of funds, imposed by Article 4(b) of 
Resolution 1267 (1999) and by Article 8(c) of 
Resolution 1333 (2000) are to be maintained. 
In accordance with paragraph 3 of Resolu-
tion 1390 (2002), those measures are to be 
reviewed by the Security Council 12 months 
after their adoption, at the end of which period 
the Council will either allow those measures to 
continue or decide to improve them. 

31. Considering that action by the Community 
was necessary in order to implement that reso-
lution, on 27 May 2002 the Council adopted 
Common Position 2002/402/CFSP concerning 
restrictive measures against Usama bin Laden, 
members of the Al-Qaeda organisation and 
the Taliban and other individuals, groups, un-
dertakings and entities associated with them 
and repealing Common Positions 96/746, 
1999/727, 2001/154 and 2001/771/CFSP (OJ 
2002 L 139, p. 4). Article 3 of that Common Po-
sition prescribes, inter alia, the continuation of 
the freezing of the funds and other financial as-
sets or economic resources of the individuals, 
groups, undertakings and entities referred to in 
the list drawn up by the Sanctions Committee 
in accordance with Security Council Resolu-
tions 1267 (1999) and 1333 (2000). 

32. On 27 May 2002, on the basis of Articles 60 
EC, 301 EC and 308 EC, the Council adopted 
Regulation (EC) No 881/2002 imposing certain 
specific restrictive measures directed against 
certain persons and entities associated with 
Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and 
the Taliban, and repealing Council Regulation 
(EC) No 467/2001 (OJ 2002 L 139, p. 9) (‘the 
contested regulation’). 

33. According to the fourth recital in the pream-
ble to that regulation, the measures laid down 
by, inter alia, Security Council Resolution 1390 
(2002)’fall within the scope of the Treaty and, 
therefore, notably with a view to avoiding dis-
tortion of competition, Community legislation 
is necessary to implement the relevant deci-
sions of the Security Council as far as the terri-
tory of the Community is concerned.’ 

34. Article 1 of the contested regulation 
defines’funds’ and’freezing of funds’ in terms 
which are essentially identical to those used 
in Article 1 of Regulation No 467/2001. In ad-
dition, it defines what is meant by’economic 

resources’. 

35. Article 2 of Regulation No 881/2002 provides: 
‘1.All fundsandeconomicresourcesbelong-
ingto,orownedorheldby,anaturalorlegal
person, group or entity designated by the
Sanctions Committee and listed in Annex I
shallbefrozen.

2. No funds shall bemade available, directly
orindirectly,to,orforthebenefitof,anatural
orlegalperson,grouporentitydesignatedby
theSanctionsCommitteeandlistedinAnnexI.

3.Noeconomicresourcesshallbemadeavail-
able,directlyorindirectly,to,orforthebenefit
of, a natural or legal person, group or entity
designatedby theSanctionsCommitteeand
listedinAnnexI,soastoenablethatperson,
grouporentitytoobtainfunds,goodsorser-
vices.’

36. Article 4 of the contested regulation provides: 

‘1.Theparticipation,knowinglyandintention-
ally,inactivities,theobjectoreffectofwhich
is,directlyorindirectly,tocircumventArticle2
or topromote the transactions referred to in
Article3,shallbeprohibited.

2.Any informationthattheprovisionsofthis
Regulation are being, or have been, circum-
ventedshallbenotifiedtothecompetentau-
thoritiesoftheMemberStatesand,directlyor
through these competent authorities, to the
Commission.’

37. In accordance with Article 7(2) of Regulation 
No 881/2002,’[w]ithout prejudice to the rights 
and obligations of the Member States under 
the Charter of the United Nations, the Com-
mission shall maintain all necessary contacts 
with the Sanctions Committee for the purpose 
of the effective implementation of this Regula-
tion.’ 

38. Annex I to the contested regulation contains 
the list of persons, groups and entities affected 
by the freezing of funds imposed by Article 
2. That list includes, inter alia, the applicant’s 
name as follows: 

‘Bin Muhammad, Ayadi Chafiq (aka Ayadi
Shafiq,BenMuhammad;akaAyadiChafik,Ben
Muhammad; akaAiadi, BenMuhammad; aka
Aiady, BenMuhammad), HeleneMeyer Ring
10-1415-80809, Munich, Germany; 129 Park
Road,LondonNW8,England;28ChausseeDe
Lille,Mouscron,Belgium;Darvingasse1/2/58-
60, Vienna, Austria; Tunisia; born 21.1.1963,
Safais(Sfax),Tunisia.’
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39. On 20 December 2002 the Security Council 
adopted Resolution 1452 (2002), intended 
to facilitate the implementation of counter-
terrorism obligations. Paragraph 1 of that reso-
lution provides for a number of derogations 
from and exceptions to the freezing of funds 
and economic resources imposed by Resolu-
tions 1267 (1999), 1333 (2000) and 1390 (2002) 
which may be granted by the Member States 
on humanitarian grounds, on condition that 
the Sanctions Committee gives its consent. 

40. On 17 January 2003 the Security Council 
adopted Resolution 1455 (2003), intended 
to improve the implementation of the meas-
ures imposed in paragraph 4(b) of Resolution 
1267 (1999), paragraph 8(c) of Resolution 1333 
(2000) and paragraphs 1 and 2 of Resolution 
1390 (2002). In accordance with paragraph 2 
of Resolution 1455 (2003), those measures are 
again to be improved after 12 months or earlier 
if necessary. 

41. Taking the view that action by the Community 
was necessary in order to implement Security 
Council Resolution 1452 (2002), on 27 February 
2003 the Council adopted Common Position 
2003/140/CFSP concerning exceptions to the 
restrictive measures imposed by Common Po-
sition 2002/402/CFSP (OJ 2003 L 53, p. 62). Ar-
ticle 1 of that Common Position provides that, 
when implementing the measures set out in 
Article 3 of Common Position 2002/402/CFSP, 
the European Community is to provide for the 
exceptions permitted by United Nations Secu-
rity Council Resolution 1452 (2002). 

42. On 27 March 2003 the Council adopted Regu-
lation (EC) No 561/2003 amending, as regards 
exceptions to the freezing of funds and eco-
nomic resources, Regulation (EC) No 881/2002 
(OJ 2003 L 82, p. 1). In the fourth recital in the 
preamble to that regulation, the Council states 
that it is necessary, in view of the Security 
Council’s Resolution 1452 (2002), to adjust the 
measures imposed by the Community. 

43. Article 1 of Regulation No 561/2003 provides 
that’The following Article shall be inserted in 
Regulation (EC) No 881/2002: 
“Article2a

1.Article2shallnotapplytofundsoreconom-
icresourceswhere:

(a) any of the competent authorities of the
MemberStates,aslistedinAnnexII,hasdeter-
mined,uponarequestmadebyaninterested
natural or legal person, that these funds or

economicresourcesare:

(i)necessary tocoverbasicexpenses, includ-
ingpaymentsforfoodstuffs,rentormortgage,
medicines and medical treatment, taxes, in-
surancepremiums,andpublicutilitycharges;

(ii) intended exclusively for payment of rea-
sonableprofessionalfeesandreimbursement
ofincurredexpensesassociatedwiththepro-
visionoflegalservices;

(iii) intended exclusively for payment of fees
or service charges for the routineholdingor
maintenance of frozen funds or frozen eco-
nomicresources;or

(iv)necessaryforextraordinaryexpenses;and

(b) such determination has been notified to
theSanctionsCommittee;and

(c) (i) in the case of a determination under
point(a)(i),(ii)or(iii),theSanctionsCommittee
hasnotobjectedtothedeterminationwithin
48hoursofnotification;or

(ii)inthecaseofadeterminationunderpoint
(a)(iv),theSanctionsCommitteehasapproved
thedetermination.

2.Anypersonwishingtobenefitfromthepro-
visionsreferredtoinparagraph1shalladdress
itsrequesttotherelevantcompetentauthor-
ityoftheMemberStateaslistedinAnnexII.

The competent authority listed in Annex II
shall promptly notify both the person that
madetherequest,andanyotherperson,body
or entity known to be directly concerned, in
writing,whethertherequesthasbeengrant-
ed.

The competent authority shall also inform
otherMemberStateswhethertherequestfor
suchanexceptionhasbeengranted.

3. Funds released and transferredwithin the
Communityinordertomeetexpensesorrec-
ognised by virtue of this Article shall not be
subject to further restrictivemeasurespursu-
anttoArticle2.

…”’

44. On 19 May 2003 the Commission adopted 
Regulation (EC) No 866/2003 of 19 May 2003 
amending for the 18th time Council Regulation 
(EC) No 881/2002 (OJ 2003 L 124, p. 19). Under 
Article 1 of, and paragraph 5 of the Annex to, 
that regulation, Annex I to the contested regu-
lation is amended to the effect that the entry 
referring to the applicant (see paragraph 38 
above) is replaced by the following: 
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‘Ayadi ShafiqBenMohamedBENMOHAMED
(alias (a) Bin Muhammad, Ayadi Chafiq (b)
Ayadi Chafik, BenMuhammad (c) Aiadi, Ben
Muhammad (d) Aiady, Ben Muhammad (e)
AyadiShafigBenMohamed(f)BenMohamed,
Ayadi Chafig (g) Abou El Baraa), (a) Helene
MeyerRing10-1415-80809,Munich,Germany
(b) 129 Park Road, NW8, London, England
(c) 28 Chaussée De Lille, Moscron, Belgium
(d) Darvingasse 1/2/58-60, Vienna, Austria;
date of birth: 21March 1963; place of birth:
Sfax, Tunisia; nationality: Tunisian, Bosnian,
Austrian; passport No: E 423362 delivered in
Islamabad on 15 May 1988; national identi-
fication No: 1292931; other information: his
mother’snameisMedinaAbid;heis[actually]
inIreland.’

45. On 30 January 2004 the Commission adopted 
Regulation (EC) No 180/2004 of 30 January 
2004 amending for the 29th time Regulation 
(EC) No 881/2002 (OJ 2004 L 28, p. 15). Under 
Article 1 of, and paragraph 4 of the Annex to, 
that regulation, Annex I to the contested regu-
lation is amended to the effect that the entry 
referring to the applicant (see paragraph 38 
above) is replaced by the following: 
‘Ayadi Shafiq Ben Mohamed Ben Mohamed
(alias (a) Bin Muhammad, Ayadi Chafiq, (b)
Ayadi Chafik, BenMuhammad, (c) Aiadi, Ben
Muhammad, (d) Aiady, Ben Muhammad,
(e) Ayadi Shafig Ben Mohamed, (f) Ben Mo-
hamed, Ayadi Chafig, (g) Abou El Baraa), (a)
Helene Meyer Ring 10-1415-80809, Munich,
Germany, (b) 129 Park Road, NW8, London,
England, (c) 28ChausséeDe Lille,Mouscron,
Belgium.Dateofbirth: 21March1963.Place
ofbirth:Sfax,Tunisia.Nationality:(a)Tunisian,
(b)Bosnian. PassportNo: E 423362delivered
in Islamabadon15May1988.National iden-
tificationNo:1292931.Other information:his
mother’snameisMedinaAbid;heis[actually]
inIreland.’

46. On 30 January 2004 the Security Council adopt-
ed Resolution 1526 (2004) which is intended, 
on the one hand, to improve the implementa-
tion of the measures imposed by paragraph 
4(b) of Resolution 1267 (1999), paragraph 8(c) 
of Resolution 1333 (2000), and paragraphs 1 
and 2 of Resolution 1390 (2002) and, on the 
other, to strengthen the mandate of the Sanc-
tions Committee. Paragraph 3 of Resolution 
1526 (2004) states that those measures are to 
be further improved in 18 months, or sooner 
if necessary. 

47. Paragraph 18 of Resolution 1526 (2004) states 
that the Security Council’strongly encourages 

all States to inform, to the extent possible, indi-
viduals and entities included in the [Sanctions 
Committee’s] list of the measures imposed 
on them, and of the [Sanctions Committee’s] 
guidelines and Resolution 1452 (2002)’. 

48. On 29 July 2005 the Security Council adopted 
Resolution 1617 (2005). That resolution pro-
vides inter alia for the maintenance of the 
measures in paragraph 4(b) of Resolution 
1267 (1999), paragraph 8(c) of Resolution 1333 
(2000) and paragraphs 1 and 2 of Resolution 
1390 (2002). In accordance with paragraph 21 
of Resolution 1617 (2005), those measures are 
to be reviewed with a view to their possible 
further strengthening in 17 months, or sooner 
if necessary. 

49. On 17 January 2006 the Commission adopted 
Regulation (EC) No 76/2006 amending for the 
sixty-first time Regulation No 881/2002 (OJ L 
12, p. 7). In accordance with Article 1 thereof 
and paragraph 8 in the Annex thereto, Annex I 
to the contested regulation is amended to the 
effect that the entry relating to the applicant 
(see paragraph 45 above) is replaced by the fol-
lowing entry: 
‘Shafiq Ben Mohamed Ben Mohamed Al-
Ayadi(alias(a)BinMuhammad,AyadiChafiq,
(b) Ayadi Chafik, Ben Muhammad, (c) Aiadi,
BenMuhammad, (d)Aiady,BenMuhammad,
(e) Ayadi Shafig Ben Mohamed, (f) Ben Mo-
hamed,AyadiChafig, (g)AbouElBaraa).Ad-
dress: (a) HeleneMeyer Ring 10-1415-80809,
Munich, Germany, (b) 129 Park Road, NW8,
London,England,(c)28ChausséeDeLille,Mo-
uscron,Belgium,(d)StreetofProvare20,Sara-
jevo,BosniaandHerzegovina (last registered
address in Bosnia andHerzegovina). Date of
birth: (a) 21.03.1963, (b) 21.01.1963. Place of
birth: Sfax, Tunisia. Nationality: (a) Tunisian,
(b)BosniaandHerzegovina.PassportNo:(a)E
423362deliveredinIslamabadon15.05.1988,
(b) 0841438 (Bosnia and Herzegovina pass-
port issuedon30December1998whichex-
pired on 30.12.2003. National identification
No: 1292931. Other information: (a) address
inBelgiumisaPObox,(b)hisfather’snameis
Mohamed,mother’snameisMedinaAbid;(c)
reportedlylivinginDublin,Ireland.’

Procedure
50. By application lodged at the Registry of the 

Court of First Instance on 26 August 2002, Mr 
Ayadi brought an action against the Council 
and the Commission for annulment in part of 
the contested regulation. 



979CASET-253/02CHAFIQAYADIVCOUNCILOFTHEEUROPEANUNION

EC
J

EC
HR

51. By separate document lodged at the Registry 
of the Court of First Instance on 25 October 
2002 the Commission raised an objection of 
inadmissibility under Article 114 of the Rules 
of Procedure of the Court of First Instance. 
The applicant lodged his observations on that 
objection on 18 December 2002. By order of 3 
February 2003, the Court of First Instance (Sec-
ond Chamber) dismissed the action as inad-
missible in so far as directed against the Com-
mission and ordered the applicant to pay the 
costs relating to that part of the action. 

52. By separate document lodged at the Registry 
of the Court of First Instance on 13 November 
2002, Mr Ayadi applied for legal aid. By order of 
3 February 2003, the President of the Second 
Chamber of the Court of First Instance granted 
Mr Ayadi legal aid. 

53. By document lodged at the Registry of the 
Court of First Instance on 8 January 2003 the 
United Kingdom of Great Britain and North-
ern Ireland sought leave to intervene in these 
proceedings in support of the forms of order 
sought by the defendant. By order of 7 Febru-
ary 2003 the President of the Second Chamber 
of the Court of First Instance granted leave to 
intervene. The intervener lodged its statement 
within the prescribed period. 

54. By document lodged at the Registry of the 
Court of First Instance on 24 July 2003 the 
Commission sought leave to intervene in these 
proceedings in support of the forms of order 
sought by the defendant. By order of 22 Octo-
ber 2003, the President of the Second Cham-
ber of the Court of First Instance granted leave 
to intervene pursuant to Article 116(6) of the 
Rules of Procedure. 

55. Upon hearing the report of the Judge-Rappor-
teur, the Court of First Instance (Second Cham-
ber) decided to open the oral procedure. 

56. Save for the United Kingdom, which presented 
apologies for its absence, the parties presented 
oral argument and answered questions put by 
the Court at the hearing on 25 October 2005. 

Forms of order sought
57. The applicant claims that the Court should: 

• annul Article 2 and so much of Article 4 
as relates to Article 2 of Regulation No 
881/2002;

• or, alternatively, annul the reference to 

the applicant in Annex I to Regulation No 
881/2002;

• order the Council to pay the costs. 

58. At the hearing the applicant stated that his ac-
tion was directed against the contested regula-
tion only in so far as the latter is of direct and 
individual concern to him, of which the Court 
of First Instance took formal note in the min-
utes of the hearing. 

59. The Council, supported by the United King-
dom and the Commission, contends that the 
Court should: 

• dismiss the action;

• order the applicant to pay the costs.

Facts
60. The applicant states that he is a Tunisian na-

tional and that since 1997 he has resided in 
Ireland, with his wife, also a Tunisian national, 
and their two minor children, both Irish nation-
als. His bank accounts in Ireland and the United 
Kingdom were frozen by order of those Mem-
ber States. The applicant, who accepts that he 
has been designated by the Sanctions Com-
mittee as a person associated with Usama bin 
Laden, denies that that designation is correct 
but accepts that that matter lies outside the 
scope of these proceedings. 

Law
1.Onadmissibility

Arguments of the parties
61. The United Kingdom observes that the appli-

cant’s assets were frozen pursuant to Regula-
tion No 467/2001. The contested regulation 
merely maintained the freezing order on his 
assets in place and so did not bring about a 
distinct change in the applicant’s legal posi-
tion within the meaning of the case-law (Case 
60/81 IBM v Commission [1981] ECR 2639, par-
agraph 9). In those circumstances, the United 
Kingdom maintains that the applicant ought to 
have challenged Regulation No 467/2001 and 
that the present action, brought against the 
contested regulation, is out of time and hence 
inadmissible. 

62. At the hearing the applicant argued that the 
effects of Regulation No 467/2001 were strictly 
limited in time, like Security Council Resolu-
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tion 1333 (2000) which it implemented (see 
paragraph 18 above). In contrast, the temporal 
effects of the contested regulation are unlim-
ited, like those of Security Council Resolution 
1390 (2002) which it implements and which 
simply provides for an opportunity of review 
after twelve months (see paragraph 30 above). 
The adoption of the contested regulation thus 
brought about a fundamental change in the 
applicant’s legal situation. 

63. The Council did not wish to express any view 
on that question at the hearing. On the other 
hand, the Commission concurred with the 
United Kingdom’s opinion that the temporary 
nature of the Security Council Resolutions at is-
sue is not of such relevance as to distinguish 
Regulation No 467/2001 from the contested 
regulation, given that all those resolutions 
provide a mechanism for the review of their 
applicability after twelve months. The fact that 
the contested regulation was adopted on a le-
gal basis different from that of Regulation No 
467/2001 is not relevant either, for, according 
to the Commission, it does not bring about a 
change in the applicant’s legal position. 

Findings of the Court
64. Under the fourth paragraph of Article 40 of the 

Statute of the Court of Justice, an application 
to intervene is to be limited to supporting the 
form of order sought by one of the parties. In 
addition, as provided in Article 116(3) of the 
Rules of Procedure of the Court of First In-
stance, the intervener must accept the case as 
he finds it at the time of his intervention. 

65. The Council has not in its claims raised a plea 
of inadmissibility. 

66. The Council and the Commission are not, 
therefore, entitled to raise such a plea of in-
admissibility and the Court is not bound to 
consider the pleas relied on in this regard (Case 
C-313/90 CIRFS and Others v Commission 
[1993] ECR I-1125, paragraph 22). 

67. However, it is settled case-law that, under Ar-
ticle 113 of the Rules of Procedure, the Court 
may at any time, of its own motion, consider 
whether there exists any absolute bar to pro-
ceeding with a case, including any raised by 
the interveners (Case T-88/01 Sniace v Com-
mission [2005] ECR II-1165, paragraph 52, and 
the case-law cited there). 

68. In this case, the plea alleging a bar to proceed-
ing raised by the interveners is a matter of pub-

lic policy, since it relates to the admissibility of 
the action (Case C298/00 P Italy v Commission 
[2004] ECR I-4087, paragraph 35). It may there-
fore be examined by the Court of First Instance 
of its own motion. 

69. Although the United Kingdom has invoked IBM 
v Commission (cited in paragraph 61 above) in 
support of its plea of inadmissibility, the latter is 
in essence based on the settled case-law of the 
Court of Justice and the Court of First Instance 
relating to confirmatory acts. 

70. According to that case-law, an action for an-
nulment directed against an act which merely 
confirms a previous act, not challenged within 
the period prescribed, is inadmissible (Joined 
Cases 166/86 and 220/86 Irish Cement v Com-
mission [1988] ECR 6473, paragraph 16, and 
Case C-480/93 P Zunis Holding and Others v 
Commission [1996] ECR I-1, paragraph 14). An 
act is a mere confirmation of an earlier act if it 
contains no new factors as compared with the 
earlier measure and is not preceded by any 
re-examination of the situation of the person 
to whom the earlier act was addressed (see 
judgment in Case 54/77 Herpels v Commission 
[1978] ECR 585, paragraph 14; order in Case 
C-521/03 Internationaler Hilfsfonds v Com-
mission [2004], not published in the European 
Court Reports, paragraph 47; judgment in Case 
T-331/94 IPK v Commission [1997] ECR II-1665, 
paragraph 24, and order in Case T-84/97 BEUC 
v Commission [1998] ECR II-795, paragraph 52). 

71. In the present case, it must be concluded that 
the contested regulation is a new act in rela-
tion to Regulation No 467/2001 and that it was 
preceded by a reconsideration of the situation 
of the persons included, like the applicant, in 
the lists annexed to those regulations. 

72. First of all, the two regulations differ appreci-
ably both in their titles and in their pream-
bles and material provisions, which is in it-
self enough to dismiss the theory that one is 
merely confirmatory of the other. Indeed, the 
definition of’funds’ in Article 1 of Regulation 
No 881/2002 does not correspond exactly to 
the definition of’funds’ in Article 1 of Regula-
tion No 467/2001, the former providing, as the 
latter does not, for the freezing of’economic 
resources’. 

73. Next, Regulation No 467/2001 was adopted 
in order to give effect in the Community to 
Security Council Resolution 1333 (2000) in ac-
cordance with Common Position 2001/154, 
whereas the contested regulation was adopt-
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ed in order to give effect to Resolution 1390 
(2002) in accordance with Common Position 
2002/402. 

74. It cannot be denied that Resolution 1390 (2002) 
and Common Position 2002/402 contain new 
factors as compared to Resolution 1333 (2000) 
and Common Position 2001/154, and that the 
former were preceded by re-examination of 
the situation brought about by the latter. The 
same must necessarily be true of the contested 
regulation in comparison with Regulation No 
467/2001. 

75. Thus, as stated in the third and seventh re-
citals in the preamble to Common Position 
2002/402, Resolution 1390 (2002)’adjusts the 
scope of the sanctions concerning the freez-
ing of funds’ imposed by Resolution 1333 
(2000) and,’[t]herefore, the European Union 
restrictive measures should be adjusted in ac-
cordance with UNSCR 1390 (2002)’. Similarly, in 
the words of the second and fourth recitals in 
the preamble to the contested regulation,’[t]
he Security Council decided, inter alia, … that 
the scope of the freezing of funds … should be 
adjusted’ and that, therefore,’Community legis-
lation is necessary’. 

76. In particular, under paragraph 23 of Resolution 
1333 (2000), the measures imposed by that 
regulation were established for twelve months 
at the end of which the Security Council was to 
decide whether the Taliban had complied with 
them and to decide accordingly whether to 
extend these measures for a further period on 
the same conditions. Resolution 1390 (2002) 
therefore contains a new and important ele-
ment compared with Resolution 1333 (2000), 
in that it significantly extends that regulation’s 
temporal scope. 

77. Thus, contrary to the arguments of the Unit-
ed Kingdom and the Commission, a distinct 
change in the applicant’s legal position has in-
deed been brought about by Resolution 1390 
(2002), Common Position 2002/402 and the 
contested regulation. In point of fact, by means 
of those acts the applicant’s funds remain fro-
zen even after the period of twelve months 
laid down by paragraph 23 of Resolution 1333 
(2002) has expired, whereas, if those acts had 
not been adopted, the obligation imposed on 
all the Member States of the UN to freeze the 
applicant’s funds, laid down in that resolution, 
would automatically have been extinguished 
when the period in question had expired and 
the Community measures implementing that 

resolution would have lapsed. 

78. Moreover, although by paragraph 1 of Resolu-
tion 1390 (2002), the Security Council decided 
to’continue’ the measures imposed by Resolu-
tion 1333 (2000), it did so following their re-
examination, as envisaged by paragraph 23 
of that resolution and as is confirmed by para-
graph 3 of Resolution 1390 (2002), under which 
the measures it lays down are to be’reviewed’ 
in 12 months. 

79. Lastly, Regulation No 467/2001 was adopted 
on the legal basis of Article 60 EC and Article 
301 EC alone, at a time when the measures at 
issue sought to interrupt or reduce economic 
relations with a third country, whereas the 
contested regulation was adopted on the legal 
basis of Article 60 EC, Article 301 EC and Arti-
cle 308 EC, at a time when there was no longer 
any link between those measures and the terri-
tory or rulers of a third country. Contrary to the 
Commission’s submission at the hearing, that 
change in the legal basis of the acts at issue, 
which was made in the light of developments 
in the international situation in the context of 
which the sanctions ordered by the Security 
Council and put into effect by the Community 
must be seen, does indeed constitute a new el-
ement and demands a review of the applicant’s 
situation. That change has led to a change in 
his legal position, permitting him inter alia to 
rely on pleas in law and arguments quite dif-
ferent from those put forward in support of his 
action for annulment (see, to this effect, Case 
T-306/01 Yusuf and Al Barakaat International 
Foundation v Council and Commission [2005] 
ECR II-0000, under appeal,’Yusuf’, paragraphs 
108 to 124 and paragraphs 125 to 170, and 
Case T-315/01 Kadi v Council and Commission 
[2005] ECR II-0000, under appeal,’Kadi’, para-
graphs 87 to 135). 

80. It follows that the plea of inadmissibility raised 
by the United Kingdom and the Commission 
must be rejected. 

81. With regard to the other conditions for the 
admissibility of the action, the Court also con-
siders it appropriate to point out that, in so far 
as the applicant is expressly named in Annex 
I to the contested regulation, that act is of di-
rect and individual concern to him, within the 
meaning of the fourth paragraph of Article 230 
EC, even though that act is unquestionably of 
general application (Yusuf, paragraph 186). 
This action is therefore admissible. 
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2.Onthesubstance
82. In support of the forms of order sought by him, 

the applicant essentially relies on three pleas 
in law, the first alleging that the Council was 
not competent to adopt Articles 2 and 4 of 
the contested regulation (‘the contested pro-
visions’) and a misuse of powers, the second 
alleging breach of the fundamental principles 
of subsidiarity, proportionality and respect for 
human rights and the third alleging infringe-
ment of an essential procedural requirement. 

The first plea, alleging lack of competence and a 
misuse of powers

Arguments of the parties
83. According to the applicant, Articles 60 EC 

and 301 EC did not confer on the Council the 
power to adopt the contested provisions, since 
the Taliban government in Afghanistan had 
fallen before they were adopted. Those provi-
sions authorise only the adoption of measures 
designed to interrupt or reduce, where appro-
priate selectively,’economic relations with one 
or more third countries’. Unlike Regulation No 
467/2001, which provided for economic sanc-
tions against Afghanistan, the contested regu-
lation refers only to associates of Usama bin 
Laden, the Al Qaeda network and the Taliban. 
Those are not third countries and do not con-
stitute the government of any part of Afghani-
stan. 

84. As regards Article 308 EC, the applicant main-
tains that it does not confer on the Council the 
power to direct Member States to impose eco-
nomic sanctions on individuals, in contraven-
tion of their fundamental rights. Such a power 
is incompatible with the limited terms of Arti-
cles 60 EC and 301 EC. 

85. The adoption of the contested provisions 
therefore also constitutes a misuse of the pow-
ers conferred on the Council by Article 60 EC 
and Article 301 EC. 

86. The Council takes issue with the applicant’s ar-
guments, referring to Yusuf and Kadi. 

Findings of the Court
87. The Court of First Instance has previously ruled 

in Yusuf (paragraphs 107 to 170) and Kadi (par-
agraphs 87 to 135) on the Community’s pow-
ers under Articles 60 EC, 301 EC and 308 EC 
to adopt provisions such as those in the con-
tested regulation, which provide for economic 
and financial sanctions on individuals in con-

nection with the struggle against international 
terrorism, but without establishing any link at 
all with a third country, unlike the provisions of 
Regulation No 467/2001. 

88. On that occasion, as the applicant expressly 
acknowledged at the hearing in response to a 
question asked by the Court of First Instance, 
exhaustive answers were given to arguments 
in essence identical to those put forward by 
the parties in relation to this question in the 
present case (in connection with the similar 
arguments put forward in the case giving rise 
to Yusuf, see paragraphs 80 to 106 of that 
judgment, and in connection with the similar 
arguments put forward in the case giving rise 
to Kadi, see paragraphs 64 to 86 of that judg-
ment). 

89. In concluding its reasoning, the Court of First 
Instance held that’the institutions and the 
United Kingdom are therefore right to main-
tain that the Council was competent to adopt 
the contested regulation which sets in motion 
the economic and financial sanctions provided 
for by Common Position 2002/402, on the joint 
basis of Articles 60 EC, 301 EC and 308 EC’ (Yu-
suf, paragraph 170, and Kadi, paragraph 135). 

90. For essentially the same reasons as those set 
out in Yusuf and Kadi, the applicant’s com-
plaints alleging that the Community lacked 
competence are to be rejected (with regard to 
the Community judicature’s power to give rea-
sons for its judgment by reference to an earlier 
judgment ruling on largely identical questions, 
see Case C-229/04 Crailsheimer Volksbank 
[2005] ECR I-9273, paragraphs 47 to 49). 

91. With regard to the allegation of misuse of pow-
ers, which alone might serve to distinguish this 
case from those giving rise to the judgments in 
Yusuf and Kadi, it too must be rejected, given 
that it is put forward merely as the corollary of 
the applicant’s other complaints concerning 
competence. 

92. The first plea must therefore be rejected in its 
entirety. 

The second plea, alleging infringement of the fun-
damental principles of subsidiarity, proportional-
ity and respect for human rights 

Arguments of the parties
93. The applicant submits, first, that the contested 

provisions infringe the principle of subsidiarity 
in that they require Member States to adopt, 
on the basis of their obligations under Com-
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munity law, measures which, under interna-
tional law, they are free to choose to apply or 
not to apply. 

94. In that regard, the applicant argues that Arti-
cles 25 and 41 of the Charter of the United Na-
tions, interpreted in the light of the principles 
of that organisation, and in particular in the 
light of the principle of the sovereign equal-
ity of its Member States set out in Article 2(1) 
of the Charter, do not require Member States 
of the United Nations to apply without altera-
tion or reservation those measures which the 
Security Council’calls upon’ them to apply. On 
the contrary, Member States are free to decide 
how to respond to such a call. 

95. By contrast, the Council’s interpretation, ac-
cording to which paragraphs 8(c) and 17 of Se-
curity Council Resolution 1333 (2000) are bind-
ing on Members of the United Nations and 
therefore upon the Community institutions, is 
in his opinion inconsistent with the fundamen-
tal rules of international law and in particular 
with Articles 7, 8, 17, 22 and 23 of the Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights adopted by the 
General Assembly of the United Nations on 10 
December 1948, in that it would permit the 
Sanctions Committee to require Members of 
the United Nations to exclude individuals des-
ignated by that Committee from any means of 
obtaining financial support, without the per-
son concerned’s having any right to know the 
reasons for the measure or the material upon 
which it is based and without the individual’s 
having any access to an independent or judi-
cial body to determine its correctness. 

96. Furthermore, even if the Security Council reso-
lutions in question are binding on Member 
States, the Council does not explain why it was 
necessary for the Council itself to act in their 
place in the present case. 

97. In the second part of the plea the applicant 
maintains that the contested provisions in-
fringe the principle of proportionality, in so far 
as they have the effect of denying an individual 
all income or public assistance and, ultimately, 
any means of subsistence for him and his fam-
ily. Such measures are not essential, even for 
the purposes of denying resources to Usama 
bin Laden. 

98. The applicant contends, thirdly, that the con-
tested provisions infringe his fundamental 
rights, particularly that of access to his property 
guaranteed by Article 1 of Protocol No 1 to the 
European Convention on Human Rights and 

Fundamental Freedoms (‘the ECHR’) and the 
right to a judicial remedy guaranteed by Article 
6 of the ECHR. The outcome of those meas-
ures, which he contends are contrary to the 
constitutional traditions of the Member States, 
is that the applicant will be reduced to steal-
ing in order to survive, which also constitutes 
degrading treatment prohibited by Article 3 of 
the ECHR and a denial of respect for his dignity 
in contravention of Article 8 of the ECHR. 

99. With more particular regard to the alleged in-
fringement of his right of access to his prop-
erty, the applicant acknowledged at the hear-
ing that this must be assessed solely in the light 
of the rules currently in force, in accordance 
with the rulings in Yusuf (paragraph 287) and 
Kadi (paragraph 236), and that account must 
therefore be taken of the express possibilities 
of exemptions or derogations from the freez-
ing of funds provided for by Regulation No 
561/2003, which was adopted after this action 
was brought. 

100. On this point, the applicant has admitted that 
the Irish authorities granted him the public as-
sistance necessary for his basic expenses, so 
that he was not deprived of all resources or of 
the means of subsistence. None the less, the 
contested regulation, even as amended by 
Regulation No 561/2003, did not let him enjoy 
other social advantages, prevented him from 
leading a normal life and made him utterly de-
pendent on the Irish State for his subsistence. 
More particularly, he maintained that Article 
2 of the contested regulation did not allow 
him to do any work at all, either employed or 
self-employed. Thus, he had been refused a 
taxi-driver’s licence. In any event, it was impos-
sible for him to hire a vehicle or to be paid by 
customers, since that would amount to making 
funds or economic resources available to him 
within the meaning of that provision. 

101. With more particular regard to the alleged 
infringement of his right to a judicial remedy, 
the applicant accepted at the hearing that the 
judicial review performed in this case by the 
Court of First Instance must, in so far as it bears 
indirectly on the Security Council resolutions at 
issue, be confined to determining whether the 
superior rules of international law falling within 
the ambit of jus cogens have been observed, as 
was held in Yusuf (paragraph 276 et seq.) and 
Kadi (paragraph 225 et seq.). 

102. The applicant has nevertheless maintained that 
the conclusions reached by the Court of First 
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Instance in Yusuf (in particular, in paragraphs 
344 and 345) and Kadi (in particular, in para-
graphs 289 and 290) cannot be transposed to 
the circumstances of this case. First, the freez-
ing of his funds is not to be considered to be a 
temporary precautionary measure, in contrast 
to the finding in those two judgments, but 
rather to be actual confiscation. Second, there 
is no effective mechanism for reviewing the 
individual measures freezing funds adopted 
by the Security Council, with the result that the 
danger is that his property will remain frozen 
for the rest of his life. On this head the appli-
cant has argued that he had endeavoured in 
vain to persuade the Security Council to alter 
its stance in relation to him. So, he wrote twice 
to the Irish authorities, on 5 February 2004 and 
19 May 2004, seeking their assistance in hav-
ing him removed from the Sanctions Com-
mittee list. By letter of 10 October 2005 those 
authorities informed him that his file was still 
being considered, but did not give him to un-
derstand that they would take any steps to his 
advantage. 

103. The Council, supported by the interveners, op-
poses the applicant’s arguments, referring to 
Yusuf and Kadi. 

Findings of the Court
104. It is appropriate to begin by examining the first 

part of the plea and to continue by examining 
the second and third parts together. Determin-
ing whether any of the applicant’s fundamen-
tal rights have been infringed by the contested 
regulation necessarily involves an assessment 
of that measure’s compliance with the prin-
ciple of proportionality in the light of the ob-
jective pursued (Opinion of Advocate General 
Léger in Joined Cases C-317/04 and C-318/04 
Parliament v Council [2006] ECR I0000, para-
graph 107). 

Concerning the first part of the second plea, alleg-
ing breach of the principle of subsidiarity

105. The applicant argues in substance that, even 
if Articles 60 EC, 301 EC and 308 EC do confer 
competence in principle on the Community to 
adopt measures such as those in question in 
this case (the issue in the first plea in law), the 
fact remains that the Member States are best 
placed to determine what special measures are 
called for when a Security Council resolution is 
to be implemented. By adopting the contested 
regulation the Council, in his view, compro-
mised their freedom of choice and offended 

against the principle of subsidiarity. 

106. In that regard, it is appropriate to recall that the 
principle of subsidiarity is set out in the second 
paragraph of Article 5 EC, which provides that 
the Community, in areas which do not fall with-
in its exclusive competence, is to take action 
only if and in so far as the objectives of the pro-
posed action cannot be sufficiently achieved 
by the Member States and can therefore, by 
reason of the scale or effects of the proposed 
action, be better achieved by the Community. 

107. According to settled case-law, the Community 
judicature reviews the lawfulness of Communi-
ty acts in the light of that general principle (see, 
to that effect, Case C-491/01 British American 
Tobacco (Investments) and Imperial Tobacco 
[2002] ECR I11453, paragraphs 177 to 185; 
Case C-110/03 Belgium v Commission [2005] 
ECR I2801, paragraph 58, and Case T-65/98 Van 
den Bergh Foods v Commission [2003] ECR 
II4653, paragraphs 197 and 198). 

108. The Court of First Instance considers, however, 
that this general principle cannot be relied on 
in the sphere of application of Articles 60 EC 
and 301 EC, even on the assumption that it 
does not fall within the exclusive competence 
of the Community (see, in this connection, Ar-
ticle 60(2) EC). 

109. In fact, with regard to the interruption or reduc-
tion of economic relations with third countries, 
those very articles provide for action by the 
Community when that is’deemed necessary’ in 
the form of a common position or a joint ac-
tion adopted according to the provisions of the 
Treaty on European Union relating to the com-
mon foreign and security policy (CFSP). 

110. In the sphere of application of Articles 60 EC 
and 301 EC, the EC Treaty thus confers on the 
Union the power to determine whether action 
by the Community is necessary. Such determi-
nation falls within the ambit of the exercise of 
discretion by the Union. It excludes any right 
for individuals to challenge, in the light of the 
principle of subsidiarity enshrined in the sec-
ond paragraph of Article 5 EC, the lawfulness 
of the action subsequently taken by the Com-
munity in accordance with the CFSP common 
position or joint action of the Union. 

111. Moreover, since the Court has accepted, in Yu-
suf (paragraph 158 et seq.) and Kadi (paragraph 
122 et seq.), that the sphere of application of 
Articles 60 EC and 301 EC could be extended, 
by having recourse to the additional legal basis 
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of Article 308 EC, to the adoption of economic 
and financial sanctions imposed on individu-
als in the battle against international terrorism 
even when no connection with third countries 
has been established, it must follow that the 
lawfulness of Community measures adopted 
on that basis in accordance with a CFSP com-
mon position or joint action of the Union can-
not be challenged by individuals in the light of 
the principle of subsidiarity either. 

112. In any event, even assuming that the principle 
of subsidiarity finds application in circumstanc-
es such as those of this case, it is plain that the 
uniform implementation in the Member States 
of Security Council resolutions, which are bind-
ing on all members of the United Nations with-
out distinction, can be better achieved at Com-
munity level than at national level. 

113. Last, with regard to the claim that the Council 
compromised the Member States’ freedom of 
choice, the Council was right when it stressed 
that Common Position 2002/402 reflects the 
unanimous assessment of the Member States 
that action by the Community was necessary 
in order to implement the freezing of funds de-
cided on by the Security Council. As the United 
Kingdom points out, the Member States them-
selves having elected to fulfil their obligations 
under the Charter of the United Nations by 
means of a Community measure, the Council 
cannot be accused of having compromised 
their freedom of choice by complying with 
their intention. 

114. The first part of the second plea must therefore 
be rejected. 

Concerning the second and third parts of the sec-
ond plea, alleging breach of the principles of pro-
portionality and of observance of human rights 

115. Subject only to the specific point of law that 
will be considered in paragraph 156 below, 
the Court of First Instance has already ruled, in 
Yusuf (paragraphs 226 to 346) and Kadi (para-
graphs 176 to 291), on all the points of law 
raised by the parties in connection with the 
second and third parts of the second plea in 
this action. 

116. On that occasion, the Court held, in particular, 
as follows: 

• from the standpoint of international law, 
the obligations of the Member States of 
the United Nations under the Charter of the 
United Nations clearly prevail over every 

other obligation of domestic law or of in-
ternational Treaty law including, for those 
of them that are members of the Council 
of Europe, their obligations under the ECHR 
and, for those that are also members of the 
Community, their obligations under the EC 
Treaty (Yusuf, paragraph 231, and Kadi, para-
graph 181); 

• that primacy extends to decisions contained 
in a resolution of the Security Council, in ac-
cordance with Article 25 of the Charter of 
the United Nations (Yusuf, paragraph 234, 
and Kadi, paragraph 184); 

• although not a member of the United Na-
tions, the Community must be considered 
to be bound by the obligations under the 
Charter of the United Nations in the same 
way as its Member States, by virtue of the 
Treaty establishing it (Yusuf, paragraph 243, 
and Kadi, paragraph 193); 

• first, the Community may not infringe the 
obligations imposed on its Member States 
by the Charter of the United Nations or im-
pede their performance and, second, in the 
exercise of its powers it is bound, by the 
very Treaty by which it was established, to 
adopt all the measures necessary to enable 
its Member States to fulfil those obligations 
(Yusuf, paragraph 254, and Kadi, paragraph 
204); 

• as a result, the applicants’ arguments chal-
lenging the contested regulation and based, 
on the one hand, on the autonomy of the 
Community legal order vis-à-vis the legal 
order under the United Nations and, on the 
other, on the necessity of transposing Secu-
rity Council resolutions into the domestic 
law of the Member States, in accordance 
with the constitutional provisions and fun-
damental principles of that law, must be 
rejected (Yusuf, paragraph 258, and Kadi, 
paragraph 208); 

• the contested regulation, adopted in the 
light of Common Position 2002/402, con-
stitutes the implementation at Community 
level of the obligation placed on the Mem-
ber States of the Community, as Members 
of the United Nations, to give effect, if ap-
propriate by means of a Community act, 
to the sanctions against Usama bin Laden, 
members of the Al-Qaeda network and the 
Taliban and other associated individuals, 
groups, undertakings and entities, which 
have been decided and later strengthened 
by several resolutions of the Security Council 
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adopted under Chapter VII of the Charter of 
the United Nations (Yusuf, paragraph 264, 
and Kadi, paragraph 213); 

• in that situation, the Community institutions 
acted under circumscribed powers, with the 
result that they had no autonomous discre-
tion (Yusuf, paragraph 265, and Kadi, para-
graph 214); 

• in light of the considerations set out above, 
the claim that the Court of First Instance has 
jurisdiction to review indirectly the lawful-
ness of decisions of the Security Council or 
of the Sanctions Committee according to 
the standard of protection of fundamental 
rights as recognised by the Community legal 
order cannot be justified either on the basis 
of international law or on the basis of Com-
munity law (Yusuf, paragraph 272, and Kadi, 
paragraph 221); 

• the resolutions of the Security Council at 
issue therefore fall, in principle, outside the 
ambit of the Court’s judicial review and the 
Court has no authority to call into question, 
even indirectly, their lawfulness in the light 
of Community law; on the contrary, the 
Court is bound, so far as possible, to inter-
pret and apply that law in a manner com-
patible with the obligations of the Member 
States under the Charter of the United Na-
tions (Yusuf, paragraph 276, and Kadi, para-
graph 225); 

• none the less, the Court is empowered to 
check, indirectly, the lawfulness of the reso-
lutions of the Security Council in question 
with regard to jus cogens, understood as a 
body of higher rules of public international 
law binding on all subjects of international 
law, including the bodies of the United Na-
tions, and from which no derogation is pos-
sible (Yusuf, paragraph 277, and Kadi, para-
graph 226); 

• the freezing of funds provided for by the 
contested regulation infringes neither the 
fundamental right of the persons concerned 
to make use of their property nor the gen-
eral principle of proportionality, measured 
by the standard of universal protection of 
the fundamental rights of the human person 
covered by jus cogens (Yusuf, paragraphs 
288 and 289, and Kadi, paragraphs 237 and 
238); 

• since the Security Council resolutions con-
cerned do not provide a right for the per-
sons concerned to be heard by the Sanc-
tions Committee before their inclusion in 

the list in question and since it appears that 
no mandatory rule of public international 
law requires a prior hearing for the persons 
concerned in circumstances such as those of 
this case, the arguments alleging breach of 
such a right must be rejected (Yusuf, para-
graphs 306, 307 and 321, and Kadi, para-
graphs 261 and 268); 

• in these circumstances in which what is at 
issue is a temporary precautionary measure 
restricting the availability of the property of 
the persons concerned, observance of their 
fundamental rights does not require the 
facts and evidence adduced against them to 
be communicated to them, once the Secu-
rity Council or its Sanctions Committee is of 
the view that there are grounds concerning 
the international community’s security that 
militate against it (Yusuf, paragraph 320, and 
Kadi, paragraph 274); 

• nor were the Community institutions 
obliged to hear the persons concerned be-
fore the contested regulation was adopted 
(Yusuf, paragraph 329) or in the context of 
the adoption and implementation of that 
act (Kadi, paragraph 259); 

• in dealing with an action for annulment of 
the contested regulation, the Court carries 
out a complete review of the lawfulness of 
that regulation with regard to observance 
by the institutions of the rules of jurisdiction 
and the rules of external lawfulness and the 
essential procedural requirements which 
bind their actions; the Court also reviews the 
lawfulness of the contested regulation hav-
ing regard to the Security Council’s regula-
tions which that act is supposed to put into 
effect, in particular from the viewpoints of 
procedural and substantive appropriate-
ness, internal consistency and whether the 
regulation is proportionate to the resolu-
tions; the Court reviews the lawfulness of 
the contested regulation and, indirectly, the 
lawfulness of the resolutions of the Security 
Council at issue, in the light of the higher 
rules of international law falling within the 
ambit of jus cogens, in particular the man-
datory prescriptions concerning the univer-
sal protection of the rights of the human 
person (Yusuf, paragraphs 334, 335 and 337, 
and Kadi, paragraphs 279, 280 and 282); 

• on the other hand, it is not for the Court 
to review indirectly whether the Security 
Council’s resolutions in question are them-
selves compatible with fundamental rights 
as protected by the Community legal order; 
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nor does it fall to the Court to verify that 
there has been no error of assessment of the 
facts and evidence relied on by the Security 
Council in support of the measures it has 
taken or, subject to the limited extent de-
fined in paragraph 337 above, to check indi-
rectly the appropriateness and proportional-
ity of those measures (Yusuf, paragraphs 338 
and 339, and Kadi, paragraphs 283 and 284); 

• to that extent, there is no judicial remedy 
available to the persons concerned, the 
Security Council not having thought it ap-
propriate to establish an independent inter-
national court responsible for ruling, in law 
and on the facts, in actions brought against 
individual decisions taken by the Sanctions 
Committee (Yusuf, paragraph 340, and Kadi, 
paragraph 285); 

• the lacuna thus found to exist in the previ-
ous indent in the judicial protection avail-
able to the applicants is not in itself contrary 
to jus cogens, for (a) the right of access to 
the courts is not absolute; (b) the limita-
tion of the right of the persons concerned 
to access to a court, as a result of the im-
munity from jurisdiction enjoyed as a rule, 
in the domestic legal order of the Member 
States, by resolutions of the Security Council 
adopted under Chapter VII of the Charter of 
the United Nations, is inherent in that right; 
(c) such a limitation is justified both by the 
nature of the decisions that the Security 
Council is led to take under Chapter VII and 
by the legitimate objective pursued, and (d) 
in the absence of an international court hav-
ing jurisdiction to ascertain whether acts of 
the Security Council are lawful, the setting-
up of a body such as the Sanctions Commit-
tee and the opportunity, provided for by the 
legislation, of applying at any time to that 
committee in order to have any individual 
case re-examined, by means of a procedure 
involving the governments concerned, 
constitute another reasonable method of 
affording adequate protection of the funda-
mental rights of the persons concerned as 
recognised by jus cogens (Yusuf, paragraphs 
341 to 345, and Kadi, paragraphs 286 to 290); 

• the arguments relied on to challenge the 
contested regulation alleging breach of the 
right to an effective judicial remedy must 
consequently be rejected (Yusuf, paragraph 
346, and Kadi, paragraph 291). 

117. As the applicant acknowledged at the hearing, 
in its examination of the Yusuf and Kadi cases 
the Court gave exhaustive answers to the ar-

guments, in essence identical, put forward 
in those cases by the parties in their written 
pleadings, in connection with the second and 
third parts of the second plea (in respect of the 
similar arguments put forward by the parties 
in the Yusuf case, see Yusuf, paragraphs 190 to 
225, and, in respect of the similar arguments 
put forward by the parties in the Kadi case, 
see Kadi, paragraphs 138 to 175). That is par-
ticularly the case in relation to the applicant’s 
arguments claiming that Security Council reso-
lutions are not binding on the Member States 
(paragraph 94, above), that the resolutions in 
question are incompatible with fundamental 
rules of international law on the protection 
of human rights (paragraph 95, above), that 
fundamental rights guaranteed by the ECHR 
have been infringed (paragraph 98, above), 
particularly from the standpoint of proportion-
ality (paragraph 97, above) and that the right to 
an effective judicial remedy has been infringed 
(paragraph 101, above). 

118. Nevertheless, it is necessary to add the fol-
lowing points in response to the arguments 
more specifically propounded by the applicant 
concerning, on the one hand, the alleged inef-
fectiveness of the exemptions and derogations 
from the freezing of funds provided for by 
Regulation No 561/2003, especially as regards 
carrying on a trade or business (paragraphs 99 
and 100, above), and, on the other, the alleged 
invalidity in the circumstances of the conclu-
sions reached by the Court in Yusuf and Kadi 
concerning the compatibility with jus cogens 
of the lacuna found to exist in the judicial pro-
tection of the persons concerned (paragraphs 
101 and 102, above). 

119. With regard, first, to the alleged ineffectiveness 
of the exemptions and derogations from the 
freezing of funds, it is to be borne in mind that 
Article 2a of the contested regulation, added 
to the latter by Regulation No 561/2003 which 
was adopted as a result of Security Coun-
cil Resolution 1452 (2002), provides, among 
other derogations and exemptions, that, upon 
a request made by an interested person, and 
provided that the Sanctions Committee does 
not expressly object, the competent national 
authorities may declare the freezing of funds 
or economic resources to be inapplicable to 
funds or economic resources which they have 
determined are’necessary to cover basic ex-
penses, including payments for foodstuffs, rent 
or mortgage, medicines and medical treat-
ment, taxes, insurance premiums, and public 
utility charges’ (paragraph 43, above). The use 
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of the word’including’, repeating the text of 
Resolution 1452 (2002), shows that neither that 
resolution nor Regulation No 561/2003 pro-
vides a specific and exhaustive list of’basic ex-
penses’ that may be exempted from the freez-
ing of funds. The determination of the kinds 
of expenses capable of being so classified is 
therefore left, to a large extent, to be assessed 
by the competent national authorities respon-
sible for the implementation of the contested 
regulation under the supervision of the Sanc-
tions Committee. In addition, funds necessary 
for any’extraordinary expenses’ whatsoever 
may in future be unfrozen, on the express au-
thorisation of the Sanctions Committee. 

120. It is established that, in accordance with those 
provisions, Ireland sought and obtained the 
approval of the Sanctions Committee in Au-
gust 2003 for the payment of public assistance 
to the applicant, so enabling him to meet his 
basic needs and those of his family. In Decem-
ber 2003 the Sanctions Committee authorised 
Ireland to increase the amount of the allowanc-
es paid to the applicant, having regard to the 
increase in the Irish national budget. It is clear 
that, far from having the purpose or the effect 
of submitting the applicant to inhuman or de-
grading treatment, the freezing of his funds 
takes account, so far as is possible, of his basic 
needs and fundamental rights (see, to this ef-
fect, Yusuf, paragraphs 291 and 312, and Kadi, 
paragraphs 240 and 265). 

121. For the rest, it is indeed to be recognised that 
the freezing of the applicant’s funds, subject 
only to the exemptions and derogations pro-
vided for by Article 2a of the contested regula-
tion, constitutes a particularly drastic measure 
with respect to him, which is capable even of 
preventing him from leading a normal social 
life and of making him wholly dependent on 
the public assistance granted by the Irish au-
thorities. 

122. Nevertheless, it is to be recalled that that meas-
ure constitutes an aspect of the sanctions de-
cided by the Security Council against Usama 
bin Laden, members of the Al-Qaeda network 
and the Taliban and other associated individu-
als, groups, undertakings and entities, for the 
purpose in particular of preventing terrorist 
attacks of the kind perpetrated in the United 
States of America on 11 September 2001 (Yu-
suf, paragraphs 295 and 297, and Kadi, para-
graphs 244 and 246). 

123. Any measure of this kind imposing sanctions 

has, by definition, consequences which affect 
the right to property and the freedom to pur-
sue a trade or business, thereby causing harm 
to persons who are in no way responsible for 
the situation which led to the adoption of the 
sanctions (Case C-84/95 Bosphorus [1996] ECR 
I-3953, paragraph 22). Nevertheless, the impor-
tance of the aims pursued by the regulation 
imposing those sanctions is such as to justify 
those negative consequences, even though 
they may be of a substantial nature, for some 
operators (Bosphorus, paragraph 23). 

124. In Bosphorus, paragraph 123 above, the Court 
of Justice ruled that the impounding of an 
aircraft belonging to a person based in the 
Federal Republic of Yugoslavia but leased to 
an’innocent’ external economic operator act-
ing in good faith was not incompatible with 
the fundamental rights recognised by Com-
munity law, when compared with the public-
interest objective of fundamental importance 
to the international community, which was to 
put an end to the state of war in the region 
and to the massive violations of human rights 
and of humanitarian international law in the 
Republic of Bosnia-Herzegovina. In its judg-
ment of 30 June 2005 in Bosphorus v. Ireland, 
No 45036/98, not yet published in the Reports 
of Judgments and Decisions, the European 
Court of Human Rights also held that the im-
poundment of the aircraft did not give rise to 
a violation of the ECHR (paragraph 167), having 
regard to the nature of the interference at is-
sue and to the public interest pursued by the 
impoundment and by the sanctions regime 
(paragraph 166). 

125. It must be held a fortiori, in the present case, 
that the freezing of funds, financial assets and 
other economic resources of the persons iden-
tified by the Security Council as being associ-
ated with Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda net-
work and the Taliban is not incompatible with 
the fundamental rights of the human person 
falling within the ambit of jus cogens, in light 
of the public-interest objective of fundamen-
tal importance to the international community 
which is to combat by all means, in accordance 
with the Charter of the United Nations, threats 
to international peace and security caused by 
terrorist acts (see, to this effect, Yusuf, para-
graph 298, and Kadi, paragraph 247). 

126. It has, moreover, to be remarked that the con-
tested regulation and the Security Council 
resolutions implemented by that regulation do 
not prevent the applicant from leading a sat-
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isfactory personal, family and social life, given 
the circumstances. Thus, according to the in-
terpretation given at the hearing by the Coun-
cil, which is to be approved, the use for strictly 
private ends of the frozen economic resources, 
such as a house to live in or a car, is not forbid-
den per se by those measures. That is all the 
more true where everyday consumer goods 
are concerned. 

127. Approval must also be given to the reason-
ing put forward at the hearing by the Council, 
that the contested regulation and the Security 
Council resolutions implemented by that regu-
lation do not of themselves prevent the appli-
cant, contrary to his submission, from carrying 
on business or trade activities, whether as an 
employee or as a self-employed person, con-
trary to the his submission, but in substance 
concern the receipt of income from such ac-
tivity. 

128. First, in point of fact no provision in those acts 
makes express mention of the exercise of such 
activity, either to forbid or to regulate it. 

129. Second, the measures at issue are not intended 
to prevent the persons concerned from actu-
ally acquiring funds or economic resources, but 
do no more than order the freezing of those 
funds and economic resources in order to pre-
vent their being made available to, or exploited 
by, those persons, except for strictly personal 
purposes, as stated in paragraph 126, above. In 
consequence, it is not so much the carrying on 
of a trade or business, as an employee or as a 
self-employed person, as the free receipt of the 
income from such an activity that is regulated 
by those measures. 

130. Third, by virtue of Article 2a of the contested 
regulation, Article 2 may be inapplicable, sub-
ject to the conditions set by that provision, 
to any kind of funds or economic resources, 
including therefore the economic resources 
needed for the carrying on of employed or self-
employed professional activities and the funds 
received or receivable in connection with such 
activity. Although Article 2a constitutes a provi-
sion derogating from Article 2, it is not to be 
interpreted strictly in the light of the humani-
tarian objective that it plainly pursues. 

131. Thus, in the circumstances of this case, both the 
grant to the applicant of a taxi-driver’s licence 
and his hiring of a car, as’economic resources’, 
and the trade receipts produced by working 
as a taxi driver, as’funds’, may theoretically be 
the object of a derogation from the freezing of 

the applicant’s funds and economic resources, 
if necessary on the conditions and within the 
limits fixed by one of the competent authori-
ties of the Member States listed in Annex II to 
the contested regulation or by the Sanctions 
Committee. 

132. However, as the Council observed at the hear-
ing, it is for those national authorities, which are 
best placed to take into consideration the spe-
cial circumstances of each case, to determine 
in the first place whether such a derogation 
may be granted and then to ensure that it is re-
viewed and implemented in keeping with the 
freezing of the funds of the person concerned. 
Thus, in this case, it would be possible for those 
authorities to put in place controls designed to 
check that the earned income received by the 
applicant from working as a taxi driver does not 
exceed the limit of what is judged to be neces-
sary to meet his basic expenses. In contrast, a 
refusal to grant him a taxi-driver’s licence, de-
cided on by those authorities without regard 
to his needs, whether basic or extraordinary, 
and without consulting the Sanctions Commit-
tee, would, a priori, indicate misinterpretation 
or misapplication of the contested regulation. 

133. That being so, there are no grounds for chal-
lenging the findings made by the Court in Yu-
suf and Kadi in the light of the arguments more 
specifically developed by the applicant at the 
hearing and relating to the alleged ineffective-
ness of the exemptions and derogations from 
the freezing of funds provided for by Regula-
tion No 561/2003. 

134. With regard, secondly, to the alleged invalidity, 
in the circumstances of this case, of the conclu-
sions reached by the Court in Yusuf and Kadi, 
concerning the compatibility with jus cogens 
of the lacuna found to exist in the judicial pro-
tection of the persons concerned, the appli-
cant pleads, on the one hand, that the freezing 
of his funds amounts to confiscation and, on 
the other, that the machinery for review of the 
individual measures for freezing of funds de-
cided by the Security Council and put into ef-
fect by the contested regulation is ineffective. 

135. So far as concerns, first, the allegedly confisca-
tory nature of the freezing of the applicant’s 
funds, it is to be borne in mind that the Court 
has held in Yusuf (paragraph 299) and Kadi 
(paragraph 248) that freezing of funds is a pre-
cautionary measure which, unlike confiscation, 
does not affect the very substance of the right 
of the persons concerned to property in their 
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financial assets but only the use thereof. In ad-
dition, in its assessment of the compatibility of 
such a measure with jus cogens, the Court at-
tached special significance to the fact that, far 
from providing for measures for an unlimited 
or unspecified period of application, the reso-
lutions successively adopted by the Security 
Council have always provided a mechanism 
for re-examining whether it is appropriate to 
maintain those measures after 12 or 18 months 
at most have elapsed (Yusuf, paragraph 344, 
and Kadi, paragraph 289). 

136. Moreover, the applicant has not put forward 
any evidence or argument that might shake 
the foundation of those findings in the particu-
lar circumstances of this case. On the contrary, 
those findings have in the meantime been cor-
roborated by the fact that, like the four reso-
lutions that preceded it (see paragraphs 18, 
30, 40 and 46, above), Resolution 1617 (2005), 
adopted on 29 July 2005, that is to say, within 
the maximum period of 18 months prescribed 
by the previous Resolution 1526 (2004), once 
more provided for a mechanism for review’in 
17 months, or sooner’. 

137. As regards, second, the effectiveness of the 
mechanism for review of the individual fund-
freezing measures adopted by the Security 
Council and implemented by the contested 
regulation, it is to be borne in mind, in addition 
to the findings summarised in paragraph 116, 
above, that in Yusuf (paragraph 309 et seq.) 
and Kadi (paragraphs 262 et seq.), the Court 
noted that the persons concerned might ad-
dress a request to the Sanctions Committee, 
through their national authorities, in order ei-
ther to be removed from the list of persons af-
fected by the sanctions or to obtain exemption 
from the freezing of funds. 

138. On the basis of the measures referred to in 
paragraph 4(b) of Resolution 1267 (1999), 
paragraph 8(c) of Resolution 1333 (2000) and 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Resolution 1390 (2002), 
and set out afresh in paragraph 1 of Resolution 
1526 (2004) and Resolution 1617 (2005), the 
Sanctions Committee is in fact responsible for 
the regular updating of the list of persons and 
entities whose funds must be frozen pursuant 
to those Security Council resolutions. 

139. With particular regard to an application for 
re-examination of an individual case, for the 
purpose of having the person concerned re-
moved from the list of persons affected by the 
sanctions, the’Guidelines of the [Sanctions] 

Committee for the conduct of its work’ (‘the 
Guidelines’), adopted on 7 November 2002, 
amended on 10 April 2003 and revised (with-
out substantial amendment) on 21 December 
2005, provide in section 8, entitled’De-listing’, 
as follows: 
‘(a)Withoutprejudicetoavailableprocedures,
a petitioner (individual(s), groups, undertak-
ings,and/orentitiesonthe1267Committee’s
consolidated list) may petition the govern-
ment of residence and/or citizenship to re-
quest review of the case. In this regard, the
petitionershouldprovide justificationforthe
de-listing request, offer relevant information
andrequestsupportforde-listing;

(b)Thegovernmenttowhichapetitionissub-
mitted (the petitioned government) should
review all relevant information and then ap-
proach bilaterally the government(s) origi-
nallyproposingdesignation (thedesignating
government(s))toseekadditionalinformation
and to hold consultations on the de-listing
request;

(c) The original designating government(s)
mayalsorequestadditionalinformationfrom
thepetitioner’scountryofcitizenshiporresi-
dency. The petitioned and the designating
government(s) may, as appropriate, consult
with the Chairmanof the Committee during
thecourseofanysuchbilateralconsultations;

(d) If,after reviewinganyadditional informa-
tion, the petitioned government wishes to
pursue a de-listing request, it should seek
to persuade the designating government(s)
to submit jointly or separately a request for
de-listing to the Committee. The petitioned
government may, without an accompany-
ing request from the original designating
government(s),submitarequestforde-listing
to theCommittee,pursuant to theno-objec-
tionprocedure;

(e)TheCommitteewillreachdecisionsbycon-
sensusofitsmembers.Ifconsensuscannotbe
reached on a particular issue, the Chairman
will undertake such further consultations as
may facilitate agreement. If, after these con-
sultations,consensusstillcannotbereached,
themattermaybesubmittedtotheSecurity
Council.Giventhespecificnatureoftheinfor-
mation,theChairmanmayencouragebilateral
exchangesbetweeninterestedMemberStates
inordertoclarifytheissuepriortoadecision.’

140. The Court has previously held that, by adopt-
ing those Guidelines, the Security Council in-
tended to take account, so far as possible, of 
the fundamental rights of the persons entered 
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in the Sanctions Committee’s list, and in par-
ticular their right to be heard (Yusuf, paragraph 
312, and Kadi, paragraph 265). The importance 
attached by the Security Council to obser-
vance of those rights is, moreover, clearly ap-
parent from its Resolution 1526 (2004). Under 
paragraph 18 of that resolution, the Security 
Council’[s]trongly encourages all States to in-
form, to the extent possible, individuals and 
entities included in the Committee’s list of the 
measures imposed on them, and of the Com-
mittee’s guidelines and resolution 1452 (2002)’. 

141. Admittedly, the procedure described above 
confers no right directly on the persons con-
cerned themselves to be heard by the Com-
mittee, the only authority competent to give a 
decision, on a State’s petition, on the re-exami-
nation of their case, with the result that they are 
dependent, essentially, on the diplomatic pro-
tection afforded by the States to their nation-
als; such a restriction of the right to be heard by 
the competent authority is not, however, to be 
deemed improper in the light of the mandatory 
prescriptions of the public international order. 
On the contrary, with regard to the challenge 
to the validity of decisions ordering the freez-
ing of funds belonging to individuals or entities 
suspected of contributing to the financing of 
international terrorism, adopted by the Secu-
rity Council through its Sanctions Committee 
under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United 
Nations on the basis of information communi-
cated by the States and regional organisations, 
it is appropriate that the right of the persons 
involved to be heard should be adapted to an 
administrative procedure on several levels, in 
which the national authorities referred to in 
Annex II of the contested regulation play an 
essential part (Yusuf, paragraphs 314 and 315, 
and Kadi, paragraphs 267 and 268; see also, by 
analogy, the order of the President of the Sec-
ond Chamber of the Court of First Instance of 2 
August 2000 in Case T-189/00 R’Invest’ Import 
und Export and Invest Commerce v Commis-
sion [2000] ECR II-2993). 

142. Although the Sanctions Committee takes its 
decisions by consensus, the effectiveness of 
the procedure for requesting to be removed 
from the list is guaranteed, on the one hand, by 
the various formal consultation mechanisms 
intended to facilitate that agreement, provided 
for in section 8(b) to (e) of the Guidelines and, 
on the other, by the obligation imposed on all 
Member States of the United Nations, includ-
ing the members of that committee, to act in 
good faith in that procedure in accordance 

with the general principle of international law 
that every Treaty in force is binding upon the 
parties to it and must be performed by them in 
good faith (pacta sunt servanda), enshrined in 
Article 26 of the Treaty of Vienna on the Law of 
Treaties, concluded in Vienna on 23 May 1969. 
In this connection it must be observed that 
the Guidelines are binding on all the Member 
States of the United Nations by virtue of their 
international legal obligations, in accordance 
with the Security Council resolutions at issue. 
In particular, it follows from paragraph 9 of 
Resolution 1267 (1999), paragraph 19 of Reso-
lution 1333 (2000) and paragraph 7 of Resolu-
tion 1390 (2002) that all States are required to 
cooperate fully with the Sanctions Committee 
in the fulfilment of its tasks, including supply-
ing such information as may be required by the 
Committee in pursuance of those resolutions. 

143. With more particular regard to the petitioned 
government, which is the government to 
which the request for removal from the list is 
addressed and which is, therefore, in most cas-
es that of the petitioner’s country of residence 
or nationality, the effectiveness of that proce-
dure for removal from the list is further guar-
anteed by the obligation imposed on it by sec-
tion 8(b) of the Guidelines to review all relevant 
information supplied by the person concerned 
and then to make a bilateral approach to the 
designating government. 

144. Here it is appropriate to add that particular ob-
ligations are imposed on the Member States 
of the Community when a request for removal 
from the list is addressed to them. 

145. The Sanctions Committee having, with its 
Guidelines, interpreted the Security Council 
resolutions in question as conferring on inter-
ested persons the right to present a request 
for review of their case to the government of 
the country in which they reside or of which 
they are nationals, for the purpose of being re-
moved from the list in dispute (see paragraphs 
138 and 139 above), the contested regulation, 
which gives effect to those resolutions within 
the Community, must be interpreted and ap-
plied in the same way (Yusuf, paragraph 276, 
and Kadi, paragraph 225). That right must ac-
cordingly be classed as a right guaranteed not 
only by those Guidelines but also by the Com-
munity legal order. 

146. It follows that, both in examining such a re-
quest and in the context of the consultations 
between States and other actions that may 
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take place under paragraph 8 of the Guidelines, 
the Member States are bound, in accordance 
with Article 6 EU, to respect the fundamental 
rights of the persons involved, as guaranteed 
by the ECHR and as they result from the con-
stitutional traditions common to the Member 
States, as general principles of Community law, 
given that the respect of those fundamental 
rights does not appear capable of preventing 
the proper performance of their obligations 
under the Charter of the United Nations (see, a 
contrario, Yusuf, paragraph 240, and Kadi, para-
graph 190). 

147. The Member States must thus ensure, so far 
as is possible, that interested persons are put 
in a position to put their point of view before 
the competent national authorities when they 
present a request for their case to be reviewed. 
Furthermore, the margin of assessment that 
those authorities enjoy in this respect must be 
exercised in such a way as to take due account 
of the difficulties that the persons concerned 
may encounter in ensuring the effective pro-
tection of their rights, having regard to the 
specific context and nature of the measures 
affecting them. 

148. Thus, the Member States would not be justified 
in refusing to initiate the review procedure pro-
vided for by the Guidelines solely because the 
persons concerned could not provide precise 
and relevant information in support of their 
request, owing to their having been unable 
to ascertain the precise reasons for which they 
were included in the list in question or the evi-
dence supporting those reasons, on account of 
the confidential nature of those reasons or that 
evidence. 

149. Similarly, having regard to the fact, noted in 
paragraph 141 above, that individuals are not 
entitled to be heard in person by the Sanctions 
Committee, with the result that they are de-
pendent, essentially, on the diplomatic protec-
tion afforded by States to their nationals, the 
Member States are required to act promptly to 
ensure that such persons’ cases are presented 
without delay and fairly and impartially to the 
Committee, with a view to their re-examina-
tion, if that appears to be justified in the light of 
the relevant information supplied. 

150. It is appropriate to add that, as the Court noted, 
following the submissions of the United King-
dom, in Yusuf (paragraph 317) and Kadi (para-
graph 270), it is open to the persons concerned 
to bring an action for judicial review based on 

the domestic law of the State of the petitioned 
government, indeed even relying directly on 
the contested regulation and the relevant reso-
lutions of the Security Council which that regu-
lation puts into effect, against any wrongful 
refusal by the competent national authority to 
submit their cases to the Sanctions Committee 
for re-examination and, more generally, against 
any infringement by that national authority of 
the right of the persons involved to request 
the review of their case. At the hearing in this 
case the Council thus invoked, to that effect, a 
decision given by a court of a Member State 
ordering that State to request, as a matter of 
urgency, the Sanctions Committee to remove 
the names of two persons from the list in ques-
tion, on pain of paying a daily penalty (Tribunal 
de première instance de Bruxelles (Court of 
First Instance, Brussels), Fourth Chamber, judg-
ment of 11 February 2005 in the case of Nabil 
Sayadi and Patricia Vinck v Belgian State). 

151. On this issue it is also to be borne in mind that, 
according to the Court of Justice’s settled case-
law (Case C-443/03 Leffler [2005] ECR I-9611, 
paragraphs 49 and 50, and the cases there cit-
ed), in the absence of Community provisions it 
is for the domestic legal system of each Mem-
ber State to determine the detailed procedural 
rules governing actions at law intended to 
safeguard the rights which individuals derive 
from the direct effect of Community law. The 
Court has made it clear that those rules cannot 
be less favourable than those governing rights 
which originate in domestic law (principle of 
equivalence) and that they cannot render vir-
tually impossible or excessively difficult the 
exercise of rights conferred by Community 
law (principle of effectiveness). The principle 
of effectiveness must lead the national court to 
apply the detailed procedural rules laid down 
by domestic law only in so far as they do not 
compromise the raison d’être and objective of 
the Community act in question. 

152. It follows that, in an action in which it is alleged 
that the competent national authorities have 
infringed the right of the persons involved to 
request review of their cases in order to be 
removed from the list at issue, it is for the na-
tional court to apply, in principle, national law 
while taking care to ensure the full effective-
ness of Community law, which may lead it to 
refrain from applying, if need be, a national rule 
preventing that result (Leffler, paragraph 151, 
above, paragraph 51, and the case-law there 
cited), such as a rule excluding from judicial 
review a refusal of national authorities to take 
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action with a view to guaranteeing the diplo-
matic protection of their nationals. 

153. In the present case, the applicant claimed at 
the hearing that the Irish authorities had in-
formed him by letter of 10 October 2005 that 
his request to be removed from the list at is-
sue, made on 5 February 2004, was still under 
consideration by those authorities. In so far as 
the applicant intends thus to challenge the 
Irish authorities’ failure to cooperate in good 
faith with him, it is for him to avail himself of 
the abovementioned opportunities for judicial 
remedy offered by domestic law. 

154. In any event, such a lack of cooperation, even 
if it were established, in no way means that 
the procedure for removal from the list is in 
itself ineffective (see, by analogy, the order of 
the President of the Court of First Instance of 
15 May 2003 in Case T47/03 R Sison v Council 
[2003] ECR II-2047, paragraph 39, and the case-
law there cited). 

155. That being so, there are no grounds for chal-
lenging the assessment made by the Court of 
First Instance in Yusuf and Kadi concerning the 
arguments more specifically developed by the 
applicant at the hearing with regard to the al-
leged incompatibility with jus cogens of the 
lacuna found to exist in the judicial protection 
of the persons involved. 

156. Last, in so far as Yusuf and Kadi do not answer the 
applicant’s point that the Member States of the 
United Nations are not bound to apply without 
reservation or alteration the measures that the 
Security Council’calls upon’ them to adopt, the 
United Kingdom rightly counters that Article 
39 of the Charter of the United Nations draws 
a distinction between’recommendations’, 
which are not binding, and’decisions’, which 
are. In this case, the sanctions provided for by 
paragraph 8(c) of Resolution 1333 (2000) were 
indeed adopted by way of’decision’. Likewise, 
in paragraph 1 of Resolution 1390 (2002) the 
Security Council’decide[d]’ to continue the 
measures’imposed’ by that provision. So that 
argument too must be rejected. 

157. Having regard to the foregoing, the second 
and third parts of the second plea must be re-
jected. This plea must therefore be rejected in 
its entirety. 

The third plea, alleging infringement of an essen-
tial procedural requirement

Arguments of the parties
158. The applicant maintains that the Council in-

fringed an essential procedural requirement 
in failing to state adequate reasons for taking 
the view that the adoption of Community leg-
islation, rather than of national measures, was 
required in this case. The ground referred to in 
this regard in the fourth recital in the pream-
ble to the contested regulation, namely, that 
of’avoiding distortion of competition’ is not 
founded in fact. 

159. The Council and the United Kingdom consider 
that this plea coincides with the plea alleging 
infringement of the principle of subsidiarity 
and refer to their observations in response to 
that plea. In so far as the applicant contends 
that the contested regulation fails to set out 
the reasons why Community action was held 
to be appropriate and necessary, the United 
Kingdom denies that this is the case, in the 
light of the recitals in the preamble to the regu-
lation. In so far as the applicant relies more spe-
cifically on a failure to state adequate reasons 
in relation to the alleged objective of avoiding 
a distortion of competition, the Council sub-
mits that the reasons for the contested regula-
tion must be examined as a whole and not by 
isolating a single sentence in a page of recitals. 

Findings of the Court
160. By this plea the applicant alleges a twofold fail-

ure to state proper reasons. 

161. First, he claims that the Council failed to give 
an adequate statement of the reasons why it 
judged that in the circumstances it was neces-
sary to adopt Community, rather than national, 
legislation. 

162. That claim is unfounded, given that the legisla-
tive citations in the contested regulation make 
reference, on the one hand, to Articles 60 EC, 
301 EC and 308 EC and, on the other, to Com-
mon Position 2002/402. Although the Court of 
First Instance found in Yusuf (paragraph 138) 
and Kadi (paragraph 102) that the preamble 
to the contested regulation wasted very few 
words on that point, the reasoning is none the 
less sufficient. As to the reasons for which it 
was considered in that common position that 
action by the Community was necessary, they 
are the Union’s and not the Community’s. They 
did not, therefore, need to be set out in the 
Community act itself. 

163. Second, the applicant maintains that the 
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ground given in the fourth recital in the pre-
amble to the contested regulation, namely, the 
objective of’avoiding distortion of competi-
tion’ has no foundation in fact. 

164. It is true that in Yusuf (paragraphs 141 and 150) 
and Kadi (paragraphs 105 and 114) the Court 
of First Instance found that the assertion that 
there was a risk of competition’s being distort-
ed, a result which according to its preamble 
the contested regulation seeks to prevent, was 
unconvincing and that therefore the measures 
at issue in the case could not find authorisation 
in the objective referred to in Article 3(1)(c) and 
(g) EC. 

165. However, as the Council rightly observes, the 
statement of reasons for a regulation must be 
examined as a whole. According to the case-
law, even if one recital of a contested measure 
contains a factually incorrect statement, that 
procedural defect cannot lead to the annul-
ment of that measure if the other recitals in 
themselves supply a sufficient statement of 
reasons (Case 119/86 Spain v Commission 
[1987] ECR 4121, paragraph 51, and Joined Cas-
es T129/95, T2/96 and T97/96 Neue Maxhütte 
Stahlwerke and Lech-Stahlwerke v Council and 
Commission [1999] ECR II-17, paragraph 160), 
which in this case they do. 

166. In that regard, it may be observed that the 
statement of reasons required by Article 253 
EC must show clearly and unequivocally the 
Council’s reasoning so as to enable the per-
sons concerned to ascertain the reasons for 
the measures and to enable the Community 
judicature to exercise its power of review. Fur-
thermore, the question whether a statement of 
reasons is adequate must be assessed by refer-
ence not only to the wording of the measure 
but also to its context and to the whole body 
of legal rules governing the matter in ques-
tion. In the case of a measure intended to have 
general application, as here, the preamble may 
be limited to indicating the general situation 
which led to its adoption, on the one hand, 
and the general objectives which it is intended 
to achieve, on the other (Case C344/04 Inter-
national Air Transport Association and Others 
[2006] ECR I-0000, paragraphs 66 and 67, and 
the case-law there cited). 

167. In the circumstances of this case, the legislative 
citations of the contested regulation and the 
first to seventh recitals in its preamble, in par-
ticular, more than satisfy those requirements, 
as is clear from Yusuf (paragraph 158 et seq.) 

and Kadi (paragraph 122 et seq.). 

168. Furthermore, in so far as the contested regu-
lation expressly names the applicant in Annex 
I, as a person to whom the freezing of funds 
must apply, sufficient reasons are supplied by 
the reference made in Article 2 of that act to 
the corresponding designation made by the 
Sanctions Committee. 

169. It follows from the above that the third plea 
must be rejected. 

170. None of the pleas in law put forward by the 
applicant in support of his action being well 
founded, the latter must be dismissed. 

Costs
171. Under Article 87(2) of the Rules of Procedure, 

the unsuccessful party is to be ordered to pay 
the costs if they have been applied for in the 
successful party’s pleadings. Since the appli-
cant has been unsuccessful, he must be or-
dered to pay the costs in accordance with the 
form of order sought by the Council. 

172. Nevertheless, under Article 87(4) of the Rules of 
Procedure, the Member States and institutions 
which have intervened in the proceedings are 
to bear their own costs. 

On those grounds, THE COURT OF FIRST INSTANCE 
(Second Chamber)

hereby:

1. Dismisses the action;

2. Orders the applicant to bear, in addition to his 
own costs, those of the Council;

3. Orders the united Kingdom of Great Britain 
and Northern Ireland and the Commission to 
bear their own costs.

Pirrung Forwood Papasavvas

Delivered in open court in Luxembourg on 12 July 
2006.

  
E. Coulon, Registrar

J. Pirrung, President
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COMMUNITY COMPETENCE, FRAMEWORK DECISIONS, 
CRIMINAL LAW

CAsE C-176/03 
CoMMIssIon oF tHE 
EURoPEAn CoMMUnItIEs 
v CoUnCIL oF tHE 
EURoPEAn UnIon
(Action for annulment – Articles 29 EU, 31(e) EU, 34 
EU and 47 EU – Framework Decision 2003/80/JHA 
– Protection of the environment – Criminal penal-
ties – Community competence – Legal basis – Ar-
ticle 175 EC)

Opinion of Advocate General Ruiz-Jarabo Colomer 
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SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

Environment — Protection — Community com-
petence — Criminal penalties — Framework Deci-
sion 2003/80 on the protection of the environment 
through criminal law — Appropriate legal basis — 
Article 175 EC – Decision based on Title VI of the 
Treaty on European Union — Infringement of Ar-
ticle 47 EU (Arts 135 EC, 175 EC and 280(4) EC; Art. 
47 EU; Council Framework Decision 2003/80, Arts 
1 to 7)

Framework Decision 2003/80 on the protection 
of the environment through criminal law, being 
based on Title VI of the Treaty on European Union, 
encroaches upon the powers which Article 175 EC 
confers on the Community, and, accordingly, the 
entire framework decision being indivisible, infring-
es Article 47 EU. Articles 1 to 7 of that framework 
decision, which entail partial harmonisation of the 
criminal laws of the Member States, in particular as 
regards the constituent elements of various crimi-
nal offences committed to the detriment of the en-
vironment, could have been properly adopted on 
the basis of Article 175 EC in so far as, on account of 
both their aim and their content, their principal ob-
jective is the protection of the environment, which 
constitutes one of the essential objectives of the 
Community. 

In this regard, while it is true that, as a general rule, 
neither criminal law nor the rules of criminal proce-
dure fall within the Community’s competence, this 
does not, however, prevent the Community legisla-
ture, when the application of effective, proportion-
ate and dissuasive criminal penalties by the compe-
tent national authorities is an essential measure for 
combating serious environmental offences, from 
taking measures which relate to the criminal law of 
the Member States which it considers necessary in 
order to ensure that the rules which it lays down on 
environmental protection are fully effective. That 
competence of the Community legislature in rela-
tion to the implementation of environmental poli-
cy cannot be called into question by the fact that 
Articles 135 EC and 280(4) EC reserve to the Mem-
ber States, in the spheres of customs cooperation 
and the protection of the Community’s financial 
interests respectively, the application of national 
criminal law and the administration of justice. (see 
paras 41-42, 47-48, 51-53)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (GRAND 
CHAMBER)

13 September 20056

(Action for annulment – Articles 29 EU, 31(e) EU, 34 
EU and 47 EU – Framework Decision 2003/80/JHA 
– Protection of the environment – Criminal penal-
ties – Community competence – Legal basis – Ar-
ticle 175 EC)

APPLICATION for annulment pursuant to Article 35 
EU brought on 15 April 2003,

Commission of the European Communities, rep-
resented by M. Petite, J.F. Pasquier and W. Bogens-
berger, acting as Agents, with an address for service 
in Luxembourg, applicant, supported by:

European Parliament, represented by G. Garzón 
Clariana, H. Duintjer Tebbens and A. Baas, and M. 
Gómez-Leal, acting as Agents, with an address for 
service in Luxembourg, intervener,

v

Council of the European Union, represented by 
J.C. Piris, J. Schutte and K. Michoel, acting as Agents, 
with an address for service in Luxembourg, defend-
ant, supported by: 

Kingdom of Denmark, represented by J. Molde, 
acting as Agent, Federal Republic of Germany, 
represented by W.D. Plessing and A. Dittrich, act-
ing as Agents, Hellenic Republic, represented 

6 Language of the case: French.
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by E.M. Mamouna and M. Tassopoulou, acting 
as Agents, with an address for service in Luxem-
bourg, Kingdom of Spain, represented by N. Díaz 
Abad, acting as Agent, with an address for service 
in Luxembourg, French Republic, represented by 
G. de Bergues, F. Alabrune and E. Puisais, acting as 
Agents, Ireland, represented by D. O’Hagan, acting 
as Agent, and P. Gallagher, E. Fitzsimons SC and E. 
Regan BL, with an address for service in Luxem-
bourg, Kingdom of the Netherlands, represented 
by H.G. Sevenster and C. Wissels, acting as Agents, 
Portuguese Republic, represented by L. Fernandes 
and A. Fraga Pires, acting as Agents, Republic of 
Finland, represented by A. Guimaraes-Purokoski, 
acting as Agent, with an address for service in Lux-
embourg, Kingdom of Sweden, represented by A. 
Kruse, K. Wistrand and A. Falk, acting as Agents, 
United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ire-
land, represented by C. Jackson, acting as Agent, 
and R. Plender QC, interveners,

THE COURT (Grand Chamber),

composed of V. Skouris, President, P. Jann, C.W.A. 
Timmermans, A. Rosas, R. Silva de Lapuerta and A. 
Borg Barthet, Presidents of Chambers, R. Schintgen 
(Rapporteur), N. Colneric, S. von Bahr, J. N. Cunha 
Rodrigues, G. Arestis, M. Ilešič and J. Malenovský, 
Judges,  Advocate General: D. Ruiz-Jarabo Colomer, 
Registrar: K. Sztranc, Administrator,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 5 April 2005,

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 26 May 2005, gives the following-
Judgment

1. By its application the Commission of the Eu-
ropean Communities is seeking annulment of 
Council Framework Decision 2003/80/JHA of 
27 January 2003 on the protection of the envi-
ronment through criminal law (OJ 2003 L 29, p. 
55;’the framework decision’). 

Legal framework and background
2. On 27 January 2003, on the initiative of the 

Kingdom of Denmark, the Council of the Euro-
pean Union adopted the framework decision.

3. Based on Title VI of the Treaty on European 
Union, in particular Articles 29 EU, 31(e) EU 
and 34(2)(b) EU, as worded prior to the entry 
into force of the Treaty of Nice, the framework 
decision constitutes, as is clear from the first 
three recitals in its preamble, the instrument 
by which the European Union intends to re-
spond with concerted action to the disturbing 

increase in offences posing a threat to the en-
vironment. 

4. The framework decision lays down a number 
of environmental offences, in respect of which 
the Member States are required to prescribe 
criminal penalties. 

5. Thus, Article 2 of the framework decision, 
entitled’Intentional offences’, provides:
‘EachMember State shall take the necessary
measurestoestablishascriminaloffencesun-
deritsdomesticlaw

(a)thedischarge,emissionor introductionof
aquantityofsubstancesorionisingradiation
into air, soil orwaterwhich causes death or
seriousinjurytoanyperson;

(b)theunlawfuldischarge,emissionor intro-
ductionofaquantityofsubstancesorionising
radiation into air, soil orwaterwhich causes
orislikelytocausetheirlastingorsubstantial
deteriorationordeathorseriousinjurytoany
person or substantial damage to protected
monuments, other protected objects, prop-
erty,animalsorplants;

(c) theunlawful disposal, treatment, storage,
transport,exportorimportofwaste,including
hazardouswaste,whichcausesor is likely to
causedeathorseriousinjurytoanypersonor
substantialdamage to thequalityof air, soil,
water,animalsorplants;

(d)theunlawfuloperationofaplantinwhich
adangerousactivityiscarriedoutandwhich,
outside theplant, causesor is likely tocause
deathorserious injury toanypersonorsub-
stantialdamagetothequalityofair,soil,wa-
ter,animalsorplants;

(e)theunlawfulmanufacture,treatment,stor-
age,use,transport,exportorimportofnuclear
materialsorotherhazardousradioactivesub-
stanceswhichcausesorislikelytocausedeath
or serious injury toanypersonor substantial
damage to thequalityof air, soil,water, ani-
malsorplants;

(f)theunlawfulpossession,taking,damaging,
killingor tradingofor inprotectedwild fau-
naand flora speciesorparts thereof,at least
wheretheyarethreatenedwithextinctionas
definedundernationallaw;

(g)theunlawfultradeinozone-depletingsub-
stances,

whencommittedintentionally.’

6. Article 3 of the framework decision, 
entitled’Negligent offences’, provides:
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‘EachMember State shall take the necessary
measures to establish as criminal offences
underitsdomesticlaw,whencommittedwith
negligence,oratleastseriousnegligence,the
offencesenumeratedinArticle2.’

7. Article 4 of the framework decision states that 
each Member State is to take the necessary 
measures to ensure that participating in or in-
stigating the conduct referred to in Article 2 is 
punishable. 

8. Article 5(1) of the framework decision pro-
vides that the penalties thus laid down must 
be’effective, proportionate and dissuasive’ 
including,’at least in serious cases, penalties 
involving deprivation of liberty which can give 
rise to extradition’. Article 5(2) adds that the 
criminal penalties’may be accompanied by 
other penalties or measures’. 

9. Article 6 of the framework decision governs the 
liability, as the result of an act or omission, of le-
gal persons and Article 7 sets out the sanctions 
to which they are to be subject, which’include 
criminal or non-criminal fines and may include 
other sanctions’. 

10. Finally, Article 8 of the framework decision con-
cerns jurisdiction and Article 9 deals with pros-
ecutions brought by a Member State which 
does not extradite its own nationals. 

11. The Commission objected in the various Coun-
cil bodies to the legal basis relied on by the 
Council to require the Member States to im-
pose criminal penalties on persons committing 
environmental offences. In its submission, the 
correct legal basis in that respect was Article 
175(1) EC and it had indeed put forward, on 15 
March 2001, a proposal for a Directive of the 
European Parliament and of the Council on the 
protection of the environment through crimi-
nal law (OJ 2001 C 180 E, p. 238,’the proposed 
directive’), based on Article 175 EC, the annex 
to which listed the Community law measures 
to which the offences set out in Article 3 of the 
proposal relate. 

12. On 9 April 2002, the European Parliament ex-
pressed its view on both the proposed direc-
tive, at first reading, and on the draft frame-
work decision. 

13. It concurred with the Commission’s view of the 
scope of the Community’s competence, whilst 
calling on the Council (i) to use the framework 
decision as a measure complementing the di-
rective that would take effect in relation to the 
protection of the environment through crimi-

nal law solely in respect of judicial cooperation 
and (ii) to refrain from adopting the framework 
decision before adoption of the proposed di-
rective (see texts adopted by the Parliament on 
9 April 2002 bearing references A50099/2002 
(first reading) and A50080/2002). 

14. The Council did not adopt the proposed direc-
tive, but the fifth and seventh recitals to the 
framework decision are worded as follows: 
‘(5) The Council considered it appropriate to
incorporateintothepresentFrameworkdeci-
sionanumberofsubstantiveprovisionscon-
tainedintheproposedDirective,inparticular
those defining the conduct which Member
States have to establish as criminal offences
undertheirdomesticlaw.

…

(7) TheCouncil has considered this proposal
buthascometotheconclusionthatthema-
jorityrequiredforitsadoptionbytheCouncil
cannot be obtained. The said majority con-
sidered that the proposal went beyond the
powers attributed to the Community by the
TreatyestablishingtheEuropeanCommunity
and that theobjectives couldbe reachedby
adoptingaFramework-Decisionon thebasis
of Title VI of the Treaty on European Union.
TheCouncilalsoconsideredthat thepresent
Framework Decision, based on Article 34 of
theTreatyonEuropeanUnion,isacorrectin-
strumenttoimposeonthememberStatesthe
obligation to provide for criminal sanctions.
The amended proposal submitted by the
Commissionwasnotofanaturetoallowthe
Counciltochangeitspositioninthisrespect.’

15. The Commission appended the following 
statement to the minutes of the Council meet-
ing at which the framework decision was 
adopted: 
‘The Commission takes the view that the
Framework Decision is not the appropriate
legal instrument by which to require Mem-
berStatestointroducesanctionsofacriminal
natureatnationallevelinthecaseofoffences
detrimentaltotheenvironment.

As the Commission pointed out on several oc-
casions within Council bodies, it considers that 
in the context of the competences conferred 
on it for the purpose of attaining the objectives 
stated in Article 2 of the Treaty establishing 
the European Community, the Community is 
competent to require the Member States to 
impose sanctions at national level – including 
criminal sanctions if appropriate – where that 
proves necessary in order to attain a Commu-
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nity objective. 

This is the case for environmental matters 
which are the subject of Title XIX of the Treaty 
establishing the European Community.

Furthermore, the Commission points out that 
its proposal for a Directive on the protection of 
the environment through criminal law has not 
been appropriately examined under the code-
cision procedure. 

If the Council adopts the Framework Decision 
despite this Community competence, the 
Commission reserves all the rights conferred 
on it by the Treaty.’ 

The action
16. By order of the President of the Court of 29 

September 2003, the Kingdom of Denmark, 
the Federal Republic of Germany, the Hellenic 
Republic, the Kingdom of Spain, the French 
Republic, Ireland, the Kingdom of the Nether-
lands, the Portuguese Republic, the Republic 
of Finland, the Kingdom of Sweden and the 
United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern 
Ireland, on the one hand, and the Parliament, 
on the other, were granted leave to intervene 
in support of the form of order sought by the 
Council and the Commission respectively. 

17. By order of 17 March 2004, the President of the 
Court dismissed the application brought by 
the European Economic and Social Committee 
for leave to intervene in support of the form of 
order sought by the Commission. 

Arguments of the parties
18. The Commission challenges the Council’s 

choice of Article 34 EU, in conjunction with 
Articles 29 EU and 31(e) EU, as the legal basis 
for Articles 1 to 7 of the framework decision. It 
submits that the purpose and content of the 
latter are within the scope of the Community’s 
powers on the environment, as they are stated 
in Article 3(1) EC and Articles 174 to 176 EC. 

19. Although it does not claim that the Commu-
nity legislature has a general competence in 
criminal matters, the Commission submits that 
the legislature is competent, under Article 175 
EC, to require the Member States to prescribe 
criminal penalties for infringements of Com-
munity environmentalprotection legislation if 
it takes the view that that is a necessary means 
of ensuring that the legislation is effective. The 
harmonisation of national criminal laws, in 

particular of the constituent elements of envi-
ronmental offences to which criminal penalties 
attach, is designed to be an aid to the Commu-
nity policy in question. 

20. The Commission recognises that there is no 
precedent in this area. It relies, however, in 
support of its argument, on the case-law of 
the Court concerning the duty of loyal coop-
eration and the principles of effectiveness and 
equivalence (see, inter alia, Case 50/76 Amster-
dam Bulb [1977] ECR 137, paragraph 33, Case 
C186/98 Nunes and de Matos [1999] ECR I4883, 
paragraphs 12 and 14, and the order of 13 July 
1990 in Case C2/88 IMM Zwartveld and Others 
[1990] ECR I3365, paragraph 17). 

21. Likewise, a number of regulations adopted 
in the sphere of fisheries and transport policy 
either require the Member States to bring 
criminal proceedings or impose restrictions on 
the types of penalties which those States may 
impose. The Commission refers, in particular, to 
two Community measures which require the 
Member States to introduce penalties which 
are necessarily criminal in nature, although that 
qualification has not been expressly employed 
(see Article 14 of Council Directive 91/308/EEC 
of 10 June 1991 on prevention of the use of 
the financial system for the purpose of money 
laundering (OJ 1991 L 166, p. 77) and Articles 1 
to 3 of Council Directive 2002/90/EC of 28 No-
vember 2002 defining the facilitation of unau-
thorised entry, transit and residence (OJ 2002 
L 328, p. 17)). 

22. In addition, the Commission submits that the 
framework decision must in any event be an-
nulled in part on the ground that Articles 5(2), 
6 and 7 thereof leave the Member States free 
to prescribe penalties other than criminal pen-
alties, even to choose between criminal and 
other penalties, which undeniably falls within 
the Community’s competence. 

23. However, the Commission does not maintain 
that the framework decision as a whole should 
have been the subject-matter of a directive. In 
particular, it does not dispute that Title VI of the 
Treaty on European Union is the appropriate 
legal basis for the provisions of the decision 
which deal with jurisdiction, extradition and 
prosecutions of persons who have commit-
ted offences. However, given that those provi-
sions are incapable of existing independently, 
it must apply for annulment of the framework 
decision in its entirety. 

24. The Commission also puts forward a ground 
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of challenge alleging abuse of process. In that 
regard, it relies on the fifth and seventh recit-
als in the preamble to the framework decision, 
which show that the choice of an instrument 
under Title VI of the Treaty was based on con-
siderations of expediency, since the proposed 
directive had failed to obtain the majority re-
quired for its adoption because a majority of 
Member States had refused to recognise that 
the Community had the necessary powers to 
require the Member States to prescribe crimi-
nal penalties for environmental offences. 

25. The Parliament concurs with the Commission’s 
arguments. It submits, more specifically, that 
the Council confused the Community’s power 
to adopt the proposed directive and the pow-
er, not claimed by the Community, to adopt 
the framework decision in its entirety. The mat-
ters upon which the Council relies in support 
of its argument are, in reality, considerations of 
expediency concerning the choice of whether 
or not to impose solely criminal penalties, con-
siderations which should have been dealt with 
in the legislative procedure on the basis of Arti-
cles 175 EC and 251 EC. 

26. The Council and the Member States which 
have intervened in these proceedings, with the 
exception of the Kingdom of the Netherlands, 
submit that, as the law currently stands, the 
Community does not have power to require 
the Member States to impose criminal penal-
ties in respect of the conduct covered by the 
framework decision. 

27. Not only is there no express conferral of power 
in that regard, but, given the considerable sig-
nificance of criminal law for the sovereignty of 
the Member States, there are no grounds for 
accepting that this power can have been im-
plicitly transferred to the Community at the 
time when specific substantive competences, 
such as those exercised under Article 175 EC, 
were conferred on it. 

28. Articles 135 EC and 280 EC, which expressly re-
serve to the Member States the application of 
national criminal law and the administration of 
justice, confirm that interpretation. 

29. That interpretation is also borne out by the fact 
that the Treaty on European Union devotes a 
specific title to judicial cooperation in criminal 
matters (see Articles 29 EU, 30 EU and 31(e) 
EU), which expressly confers on the European 
Union competence in criminal matters, in par-
ticular as regards the determination of the con-
stituent elements of the relevant offences and 

penalties. The Commission’s position is there-
fore contradictory, since it amounts, on the 
one hand, to claiming that the authors of the 
Treaty on European Union and the EC Treaty 
intended to confer by implication on the Com-
munity competence in criminal matters and, 
on the other, to disregarding the fact that the 
same authors expressly attributed such a com-
petence to the European Union. 

30. None of the judgments or secondary legisla-
tion to which the Commission refers lends sup-
port to its argument.

31. First, the Court has never obliged the Member 
States to adopt criminal penalties. According 
to its case-law, it is certainly the responsibility 
of the Member States to ensure that infringe-
ments of Community law are penalised under 
conditions, both procedural and substantive, 
which are analogous to those applicable to in-
fringements of national law of a similar nature 
and importance, and the penalty must, moreo-
ver, be effective, dissuasive and proportionate 
to the infringement; furthermore, the national 
authorities must proceed with respect to in-
fringements of Community law with the same 
diligence as that which they bring to bear in 
implementing corresponding national laws 
(see, in particular, Case 68/88 Commission v 
Greece [1989] ECR 2965, paragraphs 24 and 
25). However, the Court has not held, either ex-
pressly or by implication, that the Community 
is competent to harmonise the criminal laws 
applicable in the Member States. It has rather 
held that the choice of penalties is a matter for 
the Member States. 

32. Second, legislative practice is in keeping with 
that interpretation. The various pieces of sec-
ondary legislation restate the traditional form 
of words, by virtue of which’effective, propor-
tionate and dissuasive sanctions’ are to be pre-
scribed (see, for example, Article 3 of Directive 
2002/90), but do not call into question the free-
dom of the Member States to choose between 
proceeding under administrative or criminal 
law. On the rare occasions when the Commu-
nity legislature has specified that the Member 
States are to bring criminal or administrative 
proceedings, it has merely stated expressly the 
choice which was open to them in any event. 

33. Furthermore, whenever the Commission has 
proposed to the Council that a Community 
measure having implications for criminal mat-
ters be adopted, the Council has detached the 
criminal part of that measure so that it may be 
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dealt with in a framework decision (see Council 
Regulation (EC) No 974/98 of 3 May 1998 on 
the introduction of the euro (OJ 1998 L 139, p. 
1), which had to be supplemented by Council 
Framework Decision 2000/383/JHA of 29 May 
2000 on increasing protection by criminal pen-
alties and other sanctions against counterfeit-
ing in connection with the introduction of the 
euro (OJ 2000 L 140, p. 1); see also Directive 
2002/90, supplemented by Council Framework 
Decision 2002/946/JHA of 28 November 2002 
on the strengthening of the penal framework 
to prevent the facilitation of unauthorised en-
try, transit and residence (OJ 2002 L 328, p. 1)). 

34. In this instance, regard being had to both its 
purpose and content, the framework decision 
concerns the harmonisation of criminal law. 
The mere fact that it seeks to combat environ-
mental offences is not such as to found the 
Community’s competence. In fact, the frame-
work decision supplements Community law 
on environmental protection. 

35. In addition, the Council contends that the plea 
alleging abuse of process is based on an incor-
rect reading of the preamble to the framework 
decision. 

36. The Kingdom of the Netherlands, whilst sup-
porting the form of order sought by the Coun-
cil, adopts a slightly more qualified argument 
than the Council. It contends that, in exercising 
the powers conferred on it by the EC Treaty, the 
Community may require the Member States to 
provide for the possibility of punishing certain 
conduct under national criminal law, provided 
that the penalty is inseparably linked to the rel-
evant substantive Community provisions and 
that it can actually be shown that imposing 
penalties under criminal law in that way is nec-
essary for the achievement of the objectives 
of the Treaty in the area concerned (see Case 
C240/90 Germany v Commission [1992] ECR 
I5383). That could be the case if the enforce-
ment of a harmonising rule based, for example, 
on Article 175 EC gave rise to a need for crimi-
nal penalties. 

37. Conversely, if it is apparent from the content 
and nature of the proposed measure that it is 
intended essentially to bring about a general 
harmonisation of criminal laws and that the 
system of penalties is not inseparably linked to 
the area of Community law concerned, Articles 
29 EU, 31(e) EU and 34(2)(b) EU are the correct 
legal basis for the measure. That is the case in 
this instance. It is clear from the purpose and 

content of the framework decision that it is in-
tended, generally, to secure harmonisation of 
criminal laws in the Member States. The fact 
that rules adopted under the EC Treaty may be 
concerned is not decisive. 

Findings of the Court
38. Article 47 EU provides that nothing in the Trea-

ty on European Union is to affect the EC Treaty. 
That requirement is also found in the first para-
graph of Article 29 EU, which introduces Title VI 
of the Treaty on European Union. 

39. It is the task of the Court to ensure that acts 
which, according to the Council, fall within 
the scope of Title VI of the Treaty on European 
Union do not encroach upon the powers con-
ferred by the EC Treaty on the Community (see 
Case C170/96 Commission v Council [1998] 
ECR I-2763, paragraph 16). 

40. It is therefore necessary to ascertain whether 
Articles 1 to 7 of the framework decision affect 
the powers of the Community under Article 
175 EC inasmuch as those articles could, as the 
Commission maintains, have been adopted on 
the basis of the last-mentioned provision. 

41. On that point, it is common ground that pro-
tection of the environment constitutes one of 
the essential objectives of the Community (see 
Case 240/83 ADBHU [1985] ECR 531, paragraph 
13, Case 302/86 Commission v Denmark [1988] 
ECR 4607, paragraph 8, Case C213/96 Outo-
kumpu [1998] ECR I1777, paragraph 32). In that 
regard, Article 2 EC states that the Community 
has as its task to promote’a high level of pro-
tection and improvement of the quality of the 
environment’ and, to that end, Article 3(1)(l) EC 
provides for the establishment of a’policy in 
the sphere of the environment’. 

42. Furthermore, in the words of Article 6 EC’[e]nvi-
ronmental protection requirements must be 
integrated into the definition and implementa-
tion of the Community policies and activities’, 
a provision which emphasises the fundamen-
tal nature of that objective and its extension 
across the range of those policies and activities. 

43. Articles 174 EC to 176 EC comprise, as a general 
rule, the framework within which Community 
environmental policy must be carried out. In 
particular, Article 174(1) EC lists the objectives 
of the Community’s action on the environment 
and Article 175 EC sets out the procedures to 
be followed in order to achieve those objec-
tives. The Community’s powers are, in general, 
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exercised in accordance with the procedure 
laid down in Article 251 EC, following consul-
tation of the Economic and Social Committee 
and the Committee of the Regions. However, 
in relation to certain spheres referred to in Arti-
cle 175(2) EC, the Council takes decisions alone, 
acting unanimously on a proposal from the 
Commission after consulting the Parliament 
and the two abovementioned bodies. 

44. As the Court has previously held, the measures 
referred to in the three indents of the first sub-
paragraph of Article 175(2) EC all imply the in-
volvement of the Community institutions in ar-
eas such as fiscal policy, energy policy or town 
and country planning policy, in which, apart 
from Community policy on the environment, 
either the Community has no legislative pow-
ers or unanimity within the Council is required 
(Case C36/98 Spain v Council [2001] ECR I779, 
paragraph 54). 

45. Moreover, it must be borne in mind that, ac-
cording to the Court’s settled case-law, the 
choice of the legal basis for a Community 
measure must rest on objective factors which 
are amenable to judicial review, including in 
particular the aim and the content of the meas-
ure (see, inter alia, Case C-300/89 Commission 
v Council [1991] ECR I-2867,’Titanium dioxide’, 
paragraph 10, and Case C336/00 Huber [2002] 
ECR I7699, paragraph 30). 

46. As regards the aim of the framework deci-
sion, it is clear both from its title and from its 
first three recitals that its objective is the pro-
tection of the environment. The Council was 
concerned’at the rise in environmental of-
fences and their effects which are increasingly 
extending beyond the borders of the States 
in which the offences are committed’, and, 
having found that those offences constitute’a 
threat to the environment’ and’a problem 
jointly faced by the Member States’, concluded 
that’a tough response’ and’concerted action to 
protect the environment under criminal law’ 
were called for. 

47. As to the content of the framework decision, 
Article 2 establishes a list of particularly serious 
environmental offences, in respect of which 
the Member States must impose criminal pen-
alties. Articles 2 to 7 of the decision do indeed 
entail partial harmonisation of the criminal 
laws of the Member States, in particular as 
regards the constituent elements of various 
criminal offences committed to the detriment 
of the environment. As a general rule, neither 

criminal law nor the rules of criminal procedure 
fall within the Community’s competence (see, 
to that effect, Case 203/80 Casati [1981] ECR 
2595, paragraph 27, and Case C226/97 Lem-
mens [1998] ECR I3711, paragraph 19). 

48. However, the last-mentioned finding does not 
prevent the Community legislature, when the 
application of effective, proportionate and dis-
suasive criminal penalties by the competent 
national authorities is an essential measure for 
combating serious environmental offences, 
from taking measures which relate to the crimi-
nal law of the Member States which it consid-
ers necessary in order to ensure that the rules 
which it lays down on environmental protec-
tion are fully effective. 

49. It should also be added that in this instance, 
although Articles 1 to 7 of the framework deci-
sion determine that certain conduct which is 
particularly detrimental to the environment is 
to be criminal, they leave to the Member States 
the choice of the criminal penalties to apply, 
although, in accordance with Article 5(1) of the 
decision, the penalties must be effective, pro-
portionate and dissuasive. 

50. The Council does not dispute that the acts 
listed in Article 2 of the framework decision in-
clude infringements of a considerable number 
of Community measures, which were listed in 
the annex to the proposed directive. Moreover, 
it is apparent from the first three recitals to the 
framework decision that the Council took the 
view that criminal penalties were essential for 
combating serious offences against the envi-
ronment. 

51. It follows from the foregoing that, on account 
of both their aim and their content, Articles 1 to 
7 of the framework decision have as their main 
purpose the protection of the environment 
and they could have been properly adopted 
on the basis of Article 175 EC. 

52. That finding is not called into question by the 
fact that Articles 135 EC and 280(4) EC reserve 
to the Member States, in the spheres of cus-
toms cooperation and the protection of the 
Community’s financial interests respectively, 
the application of national criminal law and 
the administration of justice. It is not possible 
to infer from those provisions that, for the pur-
poses of the implementation of environmental 
policy, any harmonisation of criminal law, even 
as limited as that resulting from the framework 
decision, must be ruled out even where it is 
necessary in order to ensure the effectiveness 
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of Community law. 

53. In those circumstances, the entire framework 
decision, being indivisible, infringes Article 47 
EU as it encroaches on the powers which Arti-
cle 175 EC confers on the Community. 

54. There is therefore no need to examine the 
Commission’s argument that the framework 
decision should in any event be annulled in 
part in so far as Articles 5(2), 6 and 7 leave the 
Member States free also to provide for pen-
alties other than criminal penalties, even to 
choose between criminal penalties and other 
penalties, matters allegedly falling undeniably 
within the Community’s competence. 

55. In the light of all the foregoing, the framework 
decision must be annulled.

Costs
1. under Article 69(2) of the Rules of Procedure, 

the unsuccessful party is to be ordered to pay 
the costs if they have been applied for in the 
successful party’s pleadings. Since the Com-
mission has applied for costs and the Council 
has been unsuccessful, the Council must be 
ordered to pay the costs. Pursuant to the first 
paragraph of Article 69(4), the interveners in 
these proceedings must bear their own costs. 

On those grounds, the Court (Grand Chamber) 
hereby:

2. Annuls Council framework Decision 2003/80/
JHA of 27 January 2003 on the protection of 
the environment through criminal law;

3. Orders the Council of the European union to 
pay the costs;

4. Orders the Kingdom of Denmark, the federal 
Republic of Germany, the Hellenic Republic, 
the Kingdom of Spain, the french Republic, 
Ireland, the Kingdom of the Netherlands, the 
Portuguese Republic, the Republic of finland, 
the Kingdom of Sweden, the united Kingdom 
of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the 
European Parliament to bear their own costs.
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(Reference for a preliminary ruling from the Raad 
van State)

(Directive 89/552/CEE – Article 1(a) – Television 
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Opinion of Advocate General Tizzano delivered on 
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KEYWORDS

1. Freedom to provide services — Television 
broadcasting activities — Directive 89/552 
— Concept of’television broadcasting’ — 
Definition independent of Article 1(a) of Di-
rective 89/552, irrespective of the concept 
of’information society service’ in Directive 
98/34 — Services coming within that concept 
— Criteria (European Parliament and Coun-
cil Directive 98/34, Art. 1(2); Council Directive 
89/552, Art. 1(a))

2. Freedom to provide services — Television 
broadcasting activities — Directive 89/552 
— Concept of’television broadcasting’ — Ser-
vice consisting of broadcasting television pro-
grammes intended for reception by the public 
and not provided at the individual request of 
a recipient — Included — Manner of compli-
ance with the obligation to reserve for Europe-
an works a majority proportion of transmission 
time — Irrelevant (Council Directive 89/552, 
Arts 1(a), and 4(1))

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

1. The concept of’television broadcasting’ re-

ferred to in Article 1(a) of Directive 89/552 
concerning the pursuit of television broad-
casting activities, as amended by Directive 
97/36, is defined independently by that pro-
vision. It is not defined by opposition to the 
concept of’information society service’ within 
the meaning of Article 1(2) of Directive 98/34, 
laying down a procedure for the provision of 
information in the field of technical standards 
and regulations and of rules on information so-
ciety services, as amended by Directive 98/48, 
and therefore does not necessarily cover ser-
vices which are not covered by the latter con-
cept. 

A service comes within the concept 
of’television broadcasting’ if it consists of the 
initial transmission of television programmes 
intended for reception by the public, that is, an 
indeterminate number of potential television 
viewers, to whom the same images are trans-
mitted simultaneously. The manner in which 
the images are transmitted is not a determin-
ing element in that assessment. (see paras 25, 
33, operative part 1-2)

2. A service which consists of broadcasting tel-
evision programmes intended for reception 
by the public and which is not provided at the 
individual request of a recipient of services is 
a television broadcasting service within the 
meaning of Article 1(a) of Directive 89/552 
concerning the pursuit of television broadcast-
ing activities, as amended by Directive 97/36. 
Priority is to be given to the standpoint of the 
service provider in the analysis of the concept 
of’television broadcasting service’, as the de-
termining criterion for that concept is the 
broadcast of television programmes’intended 
for reception by the public’. However, the 
situation of services which compete with the 
service in question is not relevant for that as-
sessment. 

Moreover, the conditions in which the provider 
of such a service complies with the obligation 
referred to in Article 4(1) of Directive 89/552, to 
reserve for European works a majority propor-
tion of his transmission time, are irrelevant for 
the classification of that service as a television 
broadcasting service. (see paras 42, 45, 52, op-
erative part 3-4)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (Third Chamber)

2 June 20057

7 Language of the case: Dutch.

Case C-89/04 Mediakabel BV v Commissariaat voor de Media
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(Directive 89/552/CEE – Article 1(a) – Television 
broadcasting services – Scope of application – Di-
rective 98/34/EC – Article 1(2) – Information society 
service – Scope of application)

In Case C-89/04,

REFERENCE for a preliminary ruling under Article 
234 EC from the Raad van State (Netherlands), 
made by decision of 18 February 2004, received at 
the Court on 20 February 2004, in the proceedings 
Mediakabel BV vCommissariaat voor de Media,

THE COURT (Third Chamber),

composed of A. Rosas, President, A. Borg Bar-
thet, J.P. Puissochet (Rapporteur), S. von Bahr and 
J. Malenovský, Judges, Advocate General: A. Tiz-
zano, Registrar: M. Ferreira, Principal Administrator,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 20 January 2005, after consider-
ing the observations submitted on behalf of: 

• Mediakabel BV, by M. Geus and E. Steyger, 
advocaten,

• the Commissariaat voor de Media, by G. 
Weesing, advocaat,

• the Netherlands Government, by H.G. Sev-
enster and C. Wissels, acting as Agents,

• the Belgian Government, by A. Goldman, 
acting as Agent, assisted by A. Berenboom 
and A. Joachimowicz, avocats,

• the French Government, by G. de Bergues 
and S. Ramet, acting as Agents,

• the United Kingdom Government, by C. 
Jackson, acting as Agent,

• the Commission of the European Communi-
ties, by W. Wils, acting as Agent,

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 10 March 2005,

gives the following Judgment

1. The reference for a preliminary ruling concerns 
the interpretation of Article 1(a) of Council Di-
rective 89/552/EEC of 3 October 1989 on the 
coordination of certain provisions laid down 
by law, regulation or administrative action in 
Member States concerning the pursuit of tel-
evision broadcasting activities (OJ 1989 L 298, 
p. 23), as amended by Directive 97/36/EC of 
the European Parliament and of the Council of 
30 June 1997 (OJ 1997 L 202, p. 60) (‘Directive 
89/552’) and Article 1(2) of Directive 98/34/EC 
of the European Parliament and of the Coun-
cil of 22 June 1998 laying down a procedure 
for the provision of information in the field of 

technical standards and regulations and of 
rules on information society services (OJ 1998 L 
204, p. 37), as amended by Directive 98/48/EC 
of the European Parliament and of the Council 
of 20 July 1998 (OJ 1998 L 217, p. 18) (‘Directive 
98/34’). 

2. The reference was made in the context of pro-
ceedings brought by Mediakabel BV (‘Mediaka-
bel’) against a decision by the Commissariaat 
voor de Media (Media Authority), which found 
that the’Filmtime’service offered by Mediaka-
bel to its customers was a television broadcast-
ing service subject to the prior authorisation 
procedure applicable to those services in the 
Netherlands. 

Legal framework

Communitylegislation
3. Directive 89/552 lays down inter alia in Article 

4(1) an obligation for television broadcasters to 
reserve a majority proportion of their transmis-
sion time for European works. 

4. Article 1 of that directive provides:
‘ForthepurposeofthisDirective:

(a)“televisionbroadcasting”meanstheinitial
transmissionbywireorovertheair,including
that by satellite, in unencoded or encoded
form, of televisionprogrammes intended for
receptionby thepublic. It includes thecom-
munication of programmes between under-
takingswithaview to theirbeing relayed to
thepublic.Itdoesnotincludecommunication
services providing items of information or
othermessagesonindividualdemandsuchas
telecopying, electronicdatabanksandother
similarservices;

…’.

5. Directive 2000/31/EC of the European Parlia-
ment and of the Council of 8 June 2000 on 
certain legal aspects of information society 
services, in particular electronic commerce, in 
the internal market (‘Directive on electronic 
commerce’) (OJ 2000 L 178, p. 1) lays down 
the legal framework applicable to informa-
tion society services. According to Article 2(a) 
of that directive,’information society services’ 
means’services within the meaning of Article 
1(2) of Directive 98/34/EC as amended by Di-
rective 98/48/EC’. 

6. According to Article 1 of Directive 98/34:
‘ForthepurposesofthisDirective,thefollow-
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ingmeaningsshallapply:

…

(2) “service”: any information society service,
that is to say, any service normally provided
for remuneration,atadistance,byelectronic
means and at the individual request of a re-
cipientofservices.

Forthepurposesofthisdefinition:

– “at a distance” means that the service is
providedwithoutthepartiesbeingsimultane-
ouslypresent,

–“byelectronicmeans”meansthattheservice
issent initiallyandreceivedat itsdestination
bymeansofelectronicequipmentforthepro-
cessing (including digital compression) and
storageofdata,andentirelytransmitted,con-
veyedandreceivedbywire,byradio,byopti-
calmeansorbyotherelectromagneticmeans,

– “at the individual request of a recipient of
services” means that the service is provided
throughthetransmissionofdataonindividual
request.

An indicative list of services not covered by
thisdefinitionissetoutinAnnexV.

ThisDirectiveshallnotapplyto:

–radiobroadcastingservices,

–televisionbroadcastingservicescoveredby
point(a)ofArticle1ofDirective89/552/EEC.

…’.

7. Annex V to Directive 98/34, entitled’Indicative 
list of services not covered by the second sub-
paragraph of point 2 of Article 1’, includes a 
point 3, concerning’Services not supplied “at 
the individual request of a recipient of servic-
es”’, which covers’Services provided by trans-
mitting data without individual demand for si-
multaneous reception by an unlimited number 
of individual receivers (“point to multipoint” 
transmission)’. Point 3(a) refers to’television 
broadcasting services (including near-video 
on-demand services), covered by point (a) of 
Article 1 of Directive 89/552/EEC’. 

8. According to recital 18 to the Directive on elec-
tronic commerce:
‘… television broadcastingwithin themean-
ingofDirectiveEEC/89/552andradiobroad-
casting are not information society services
because they are not provided at individual
request;bycontrast,serviceswhicharetrans-
mitted point to point, such as video-on-de-

mandortheprovisionofcommercialcommu-
nications by electronic mail are information
societyservices’.

Nationallegislation
9. Under Article 1(f) of the Mediawet (Law on 

the Media),’programme’ means:’an electronic 
product with visual and auditory content in-
tended for broadcast and for reception by the 
general public or part of the general public, 
except for data services which are available 
only at individual request, and other interactive 
services’. Article 1(l) defines a’programme for 
special broadcast’ as’an encoded programme 
broadcast and intended for reception by that 
part of the general public which has signed an 
agreement concerning the reception thereof 
with the broadcaster which manages the pro-
gramme’. 

10. Under Article 71a(1) of the Mediawet, a com-
mercial broadcaster may only transmit or have 
transmitted a television programme it has 
developed if it has obtained authorisation to 
do so from the Commissariaat voor de Media, 
without prejudice to the provisions of the Tel-
ecommunicatiewet (Law on Telecommunica-
tions). 

The main proceedings and the 
questions referred for a preliminary 
ruling
11. Since the end of 1999, Mediakabel has offered 

its subscribers, first, the’Mr Zap’ offer through 
certain broadcasting networks operated by 
third parties. That service, which is authorised 
by the Commissariaat voor de Media pursuant 
to the Mediawet, allows, in return for a monthly 
subscription, reception of a number of tel-
evision broadcasts which supplement the pro-
grammes transmitted by the network supplier, 
using a decoder and a smart card. Second, Me-
diakabel offers its Mr Zap subscribers pay-per-
view service for additional programmes as part 
of an offer called’Filmtime’. If a Mr Zap sub-
scriber wishes to order a film from the Filmtime 
catalogue, he makes that order separately us-
ing his remote control or telephone and, after 
identifying himself using a personal identifica-
tion code and paying by automatic debit, he 
receives an individual key which allows him to 
view one or more of the 60 films on offer each 
month, at the times indicated on the television 
screen or in the programme guide. 

12. By decision of 15 March 2001, the Commissari-
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aat voor de Media informed Mediakabel that 
it considered Filmtime to be a programme for 
special broadcast within the meaning of Arti-
cle 1 of the Mediawet, for which the appropri-
ate authorisation therefore had to be obtained 
in accordance with Article 71a(1) thereof. Me-
diakabel submitted an application for authori-
sation to the Commissariaat voor de Media, but 
stated when lodging the application that the 
procedure followed did not seem to be appli-
cable to the service in question which was, in 
its view, an interactive service falling within the 
category of information society services and 
thus outside the scope of competence of the 
Commissariaat voor de Media. By decision of 
19 June 2001, the Commissariaat voor de Me-
dia authorised the broadcast of the televised 
programme for special broadcast’Filmtime’ for 
a period of five years, without prejudice to the 
provisions of the Telecommunicatiewet. 

13. Mediakabel brought an action against that 
decision, which was dismissed by the Commis-
sariaat voor de Media on 20 November 2001. 
Mediakabel’s action before the Rechtbank te 
Rotterdam (Rotterdam District Court) was also 
dismissed, by decision of 27 September 2002. 

14. Mediakabel then brought an appeal before the 
Raad van State, where it maintained that Film-
time was not a programme within the mean-
ing of Article 1 of the Mediawet. It argued inter 
alia that that service was accessible only on 
individual request and that it should therefore 
be classified not as a television broadcasting 
service but as an information society service 
supplied on individual demand within the 
meaning of the third sentence of Article 1(a) 
of Directive 89/552 and thereby falling out-
side the scope of application of that directive. 
Since it concerns films which are not always 
available immediately on demand, that service 
constitutes, in Mediakabel’s view, a’near-video 
on-demand’ which, precisely because it is ac-
cessible at individual request by subscribers, 
cannot be made subject to the requirements of 
Directive 89/552, in particular the obligation to 
reserve a certain percentage of the program-
ming time to European works. 

15. The Raad van State states that the concept 
of’programme’ within the meaning of Ar-
ticle 1(f) of the Mediawet should be inter-
preted in keeping with that of’television 
broadcasting’services referred to in Article 
1(a) of Directive 89/552. It states that Direc-
tive 98/34, in particular point 3(a) of Annex 
V thereto, which includes near-video on-de-

mand under television broadcasting services, 
seems to give a more specific definition of that 
concept than that given in Article 1(a) of Direc-
tive 89/552, thus making it more difficult to 
determine the respective scopes of application 
of that directive and of the Directive on elec-
tronic commerce. The national court also notes 
that Filmtime bears the hallmarks of both an 
information society service, including the fact 
that it is accessible on individual demand by 
the subscriber, and of a television broadcast-
ing service, since Mediakabel selects the films 
available and determines their broadcast fre-
quency and schedules. 

16. In those circumstances, the Raad van State de-
cided to stay the proceedings and refer the fol-
lowing questions to the Court for a preliminary 
ruling: 
‘(1) (a) Is the term “television broadcasting”
within the meaning of Article 1(a) of Direc-
tive89/552/EECtobeinterpretedasnotcov-
ering an “information society service”within
themeaningofArticle1(2)ofDirective98/34/
EC, as amended by Directive 98/48/EC, but
as covering services suchas those setout in
the indicative list of services not covered by
Article 1(2) of Directive 98/34/EC, including
“near-video on-demand services”, contained
inAnnexVtoDirective98/34/EC,inparticular
subparagraph(3),whichthereforedonotcon-
stitute“informationsocietyservices”?

(b) If the answer to Question 1a is in the
negative,howshouldadistinctionbedrawn
between the term “television broadcasting”
within the meaning of Article 1(a) of Direc-
tive 89/552/EEC and the term “communica-
tion services providing items of information
…onindividualdemand”alsosetouttherein?

(2)(a)Onthebasisofwhichcriteriamustitbe
determinedwhetheraservicesuchasthatat
issue,which involves encoded signals, trans-
mittedoveranetwork,ofarangeoffilmsse-
lectedbytheprovider,whichsubscriberscan,
inreturnforaseparatepaymentperfilmand
usingakeysentbytheprovideronindividual
demand,decodeandviewatvarioustimesde-
terminedbytheprovider,andwhichcontains
elements of an (individual) information soci-
ety service and also elements of a television
broadcasting service, constitutes a television
broadcastingserviceoraninformationsociety
service?

(b)Inthisregardisprioritytobegiventothe
standpointofthesubscriberorrathertothat
oftheserviceprovider?Isthekindofservices
withwhichtheserviceconcernedisincompe-
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titionrelevantinthisregard?

(3)Inthatconnectionisitrelevantthat,

–on theonehand, classificationofa service
suchasthatatissueasan“informationsociety
service” to which Directive 89/552/EEC does
not apply might undermine the effective-
nessofthatdirective, inparticularasregards
the objectives underlying the requirement
thereunder to reserve a specific percentage
oftransmissiontimeforEuropeanworks,and

– on the other, if Directive 89/552/EEC does
apply,therequirementthereundertoreserve
a specific percentage of transmission time
for European works is not entirely apposite
becausethesubscriberspayperfilmandcan
onlyviewthefilmwhichhasbeenpaidfor?’

The questions referred for a 
preliminary ruling

Question1(a)
17. By Question 1(a), the national court asks 

whether the concept of’television broadcast-
ing’ within the meaning of Article 1(a) of Direc-
tive 89/552 covers services which do not fall 
within the concept of’information society ser-
vice’ within the meaning of Article 1(2) of Di-
rective 98/34 and which are covered by point 3 
of Annex V to the latter directive. 

18. As rightly pointed out by the Belgian Govern-
ment, the scope of the concept of’television 
broadcasting service’ is determined inde-
pendently by Article 1(a) of Directive 89/552, 
which contains all the relevant elements in that 
regard. Thus the concept includes any service 
consisting of the initial transmission by wire or 
over the air, including that by satellite, in en-
coded or unencoded form, of television pro-
grammes intended for reception by the public. 

19. Directive 98/34 and the Directive on electronic 
commerce have a purpose different from that 
of Directive 89/552. They lay down the Com-
munity legal framework applicable only to 
information society services referred to in Arti-
cle 1(2) of Directive 98/34, that is, any services 
provided at a distance by electronic means 
and at the individual request of a recipient of 
services. Directive 98/34 provides expressly in 
that provision that it does’not apply to … tel-
evision broadcasting services covered by point 
(a) of Article 1 of Directive 89/552’. Thus on this 
point Directive 98/34 merely refers to Direc-
tive 89/552 and, like the Directive on electronic 

commerce, does not contain any definition of 
the concept of television service. 

20. To be sure, Annex V to Directive 98/34, relat-
ing to services not covered by the definition of 
information society service, appears to contain 
elements defining the concept of’television 
broadcasting services’ which are more specific 
than those given in Directive 89/552. First, that 
annex includes, in point 3, television broad-
casting services among the services’provided 
by transmitting data without individual de-
mand for simultaneous reception by an un-
limited number of individual receivers (point 
to multipoint transmission)’. Second, at (a) 
of the same point, it is stated that television 
broadcasting services include’near-video on-
demand’. 

21. However, that annex, in keeping with its title 
and Article 1(2) of Directive 98/34, serves only 
as a guideline and is intended only to define by 
exclusion the concept of’information society 
service’. It is not intended to, nor does it, spec-
ify the boundaries of the concept of’television 
broadcasting service’, the definition of which 
rests solely on the criteria laid down in Article 
1(a) of Directive 89/552. 

22. Moreover, the scope of the concept 
of’television broadcasting’ can certainly not 
be inferred by exclusion from that of the con-
cept of’information society service’. Directive 
98/34, both in Article 1(2) and in Annex V, re-
fers to services which are not covered by the 
concept of’information society service’ and 
which do not as such constitute television 
broadcasting services. This is the case, inter 
alia, of radio broadcasting services. Likewise, 
television broadcasting services cannot be lim-
ited to services’provided by transmitting data 
without individual demand for simultaneous 
reception by an unlimited number of individ-
ual receivers’, referred to in point 3 of Annex 
V to Directive 98/34. If that interpretation was 
followed, services such as television available 
by subscription, transmitted to a limited num-
ber of recipients, would be excluded from the 
concept of’television broadcasting service’, 
whereas they do come within that concept, by 
virtue of the criteria laid down in Article 1(a) of 
Directive 89/552. 

23. Lastly, it was not the intention of the Com-
munity legislature, when Directives 98/34 
and 98/48 were adopted, to amend Directive 
89/552, which itself had been amended less 
than a year earlier by Directive 97/36. Thus 
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recital 20 to Directive 98/48, which amended 
Directive 98/34, states that Directive 98/48’is 
without prejudice to the scope of … Directive 
89/552’. 

24. Accordingly, Directive 98/34 does not affect 
the scope of application of Directive 89/552. 

25. In the light of the foregoing, the answer to 
Question 1(a) should be that the concept 
of’television broadcasting’ referred to in Article 
1(a) of Directive 89/552 is defined indepen-
dently by that provision. It is not defined by op-
position to the concept of’information society 
service’ within the meaning of Article 1(2) of 
Directive 98/34 and therefore does not neces-
sarily cover services which are not covered by 
the latter concept. 

Question1(b)
26. By Question 1(b), the national court asks es-

sentially what are the criteria for determining 
whether a service constitutes’television broad-
casting’ within the meaning of Article 1(a) of 
Directive 89/552 or’communication services 
providing items of information … on individual 
demand’ referred to in the same article. 

27. The criteria for that distinction are laid down 
expressly in Article 1(a) of Directive 89/552.

28. A service constitutes’television broadcasting’ 
if it consists of initial transmission of television 
programmes intended for reception by the 
public. 

29. First, the Court notes that the manner in which 
images are transmitted is not a determining 
factor in that assessment, as evidenced by the 
use in Article 1(a) of Directive 89/552 of the 
terms’by wire or over the air, including that by 
satellite, in unencoded or encoded form’. The 
Court has thus held that transmission by cable 
comes within the scope of that directive, even 
though cable distribution was not very wide-
spread at the time when Directive 89/552 was 
adopted (see Case C11/95 Commission v Bel-
gium [1996] ECR I-4115, paragraphs 15 to 25). 

30. Next, the service in question must consist of 
the transmission of television programmes in-
tended for reception by the public, that is, an 
indeterminate number of potential television 
viewers, to whom the same images are trans-
mitted simultaneously. 

31. Lastly, the exclusion of’communication ser-
vices … on individual demand’ from the con-
cept of’television broadcasting’ means that, 

conversely, the latter concept covers services 
which are not supplied on individual demand. 
The requirement that the television pro-
grammes must be’intended for reception by 
the public’ in order to come within that con-
cept supports this analysis. 

32. Thus, a pay-per-view television service, even 
one which is accessible to a limited number 
of subscribers, but which comprises only pro-
grammes selected by the broadcaster and 
is broadcast at times set by the broadcaster, 
cannot be regarded as being provided on indi-
vidual demand. Consequently, it comes within 
the concept of’television broadcasting’. The 
fact that the images in such a service are acces-
sible using a personal code is not relevant in 
this respect, because the subscribing public all 
receive the broadcast at the same time. 

33. Accordingly, the answer to Question 1(b) 
should be that a service comes within the 
concept of’television broadcasting’ referred to 
in Article 1(a) of Directive 89/552 if it consists 
of the initial transmission of television pro-
grammes intended for reception by the public, 
that is, an indeterminate number of potential 
television viewers, to whom the same images 
are transmitted simultaneously. The manner in 
which the images are transmitted is not a de-
termining element in that assessment. 

Questions2(a)and(b)
34. By Questions 2(a) and (b), which it is appropri-

ate to examine together, the national court 
asks essentially whether a service such as Film-
time, at issue in the main proceedings, is a tel-
evision broadcasting service falling within the 
scope of application of Directive 89/552 or an 
information society service coming under the 
Directive on electronic commerce, and which 
criteria must be taken into consideration in 
such an analysis. 

35. As rightly pointed out by the Commissariaat 
voor de Media, the Netherlands Government, 
the Belgian Government, the French Govern-
ment, the United Kingdom Government and 
the Commission, it is clear from the informa-
tion in the order for reference that a service 
such as Filmtime meets the criteria for consti-
tuting a’television broadcasting service’ as dis-
cussed in the answer to Question 1(b). 

36. Such a service consists of the broadcast of films 
intended for a television viewing public, and 
therefore does concern television programmes 
broadcast for an indeterminate number of po-
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tential television viewers. 

37. Mediakabel’s argument that that type of ser-
vice, which is accessible only on individual 
demand, using a specific key granted individu-
ally to each subscriber, thereby constitutes an 
information society service provided’on indi-
vidual demand’ cannot be accepted. 

38. Although such a service fulfils the first two 
criteria for constituting an’information society 
service’ within the meaning of Article 1(2) of 
Directive 98/34, that is, it is provided at a dis-
tance and transmitted in part by electronic 
equipment, it does not meet the third criterion 
of the concept, according to which the service 
in question must be provided’at the individual 
request of a recipient of services’. The list of 
films offered as part of a service such as Film-
time is determined by the service provider. 
That selection of films is offered to all subscrib-
ers on the same terms, either through written 
media or through information transmitted on 
the television screen, and those films are acces-
sible at the broadcast times determined by the 
provider. The individual key allowing access to 
the films is only a means of unencoding images 
the signals of which are sent simultaneously to 
all subscribers. 

39. Such a service is thus not commanded indi-
vidually by an isolated recipient who has free 
choice of programmes in an interactive set-
ting. It must be considered to be a near-video 
on-demand service, provided on a’point to 
multipoint’ basis and not’at the individual re-
quest of a recipient of services’. 

40. Mediakabel stated to the Court that it did not 
agree before the Raad van State that Filmtime 
should be classified as a near-video on-demand 
service. That statement is of no relevance for 
the classification, however, which results from 
an examination of the objective characteristics 
of the type of services in question. 

41. Moreover, contrary to Mediakabel’s submis-
sions, the concept of’near-video on-demand’ 
is one known to the Community legislature. 
Although it is true that it has not been specifi-
cally defined by Community law, the concept 
is referred to in the indicative list in Annex V 
to Directive 98/34, where it is included among 
television broadcasting services. Likewise, 
points 83 and 84 of the Explanatory Report 
accompanying the European Convention on 
Transfrontier Television of 5 May 1989, which 
was drawn up at the same time as Directive 
89/552 and to which the latter refers in recital 

4 thereto, indicate that near-video on-demand 
is not a’communication service operating on 
individual demand’, a concept which cor-
responds to that referred to in Article 1(a) of 
Directive 89/552 and thus comes within the 
scope of application of that convention (see, 
to that effect, concerning other points in the 
Explanatory Report of the European Conven-
tion on Transfrontier Television, Joined Cases 
C-320/94, C-328/94, C-329/94 and C337/94 
to C339/94 RTI and Others [1996] ECR I-6471, 
paragraph 33, and Case C-245/01 RTL Televi-
sion [2003] ECR I-12489, paragraph 63). 

42. The determining criterion for the con-
cept of’television broadcasting service’ 
is therefore the broadcast of television 
programmes’intended for reception by the 
public’. Accordingly, priority should be given 
to the standpoint of the service provider in the 
assessment. 

43. The manner in which the images are transmit-
ted, by contrast, is not a determining factor in 
that assessment, as stated in response to Ques-
tion 1(b). 

44. As to the situation of services which compete 
with the service in question, it is not necessary 
to take it into consideration since each of those 
services is governed by a specific regulatory 
framework and no principle requires that the 
same legal regime be set for services which 
have different characteristics. 

45. Accordingly, the answer to Questions 2(a) and 
(b) should be that a service such as Filmtime, 
which consists of broadcasting television pro-
grammes intended for reception by the public 
and which is not provided at the individual re-
quest of a recipient of services, is a television 
broadcasting service within the meaning of 
Article 1(a) of Directive 89/552. Priority is to be 
given to the standpoint of the service provider 
in the analysis of the concept of’television 
broadcasting service’. However, the situation 
of services which compete with the service in 
question is not relevant for that assessment. 

Question3
46. By its third question, the national court asks es-

sentially whether the difficulty for the provider 
of a service such as Filmtime to comply with 
the obligation laid down in Article 4(1) of Di-
rective 89/552 to reserve a certain percentage 
of programming time for European works may 
preclude its classification as a television broad-
casting service. 
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47. This question must be answered in the nega-
tive, for two sets of reasons.

48. First, since the service in question fulfils the cri-
teria for being classified as a television broad-
casting service, it is not necessary to take into 
account the consequences of that classifica-
tion for the service provider. 

49. The scope of application of legislation cannot 
be made contingent on possible adverse con-
sequences it may have for traders to whom the 
Community legislature intended it to apply. In 
addition, a narrow interpretation of the con-
cept of’television broadcasting service’, which 
would have the effect of excluding a service 
such as that at issue in the main proceedings 
from the scope of application of the directive, 
would jeopardise the objectives pursued by it 
and therefore cannot be accepted. 

50. Second, the provider of a service such as Film-
time is not entirely prevented from complying 
with Article 4(1) of Directive 89/552. 

51. That provision sets a quota for European 
works in the’transmission’ time of the televi-
sion broadcaster in question but cannot be in-
tended to require television viewers to actually 
watch those works. Although it is undeniable 
that the provider of a service such as that at 
issue in the main proceedings does not deter-
mine the works which are actually chosen and 
watched by the subscribers, the fact remains 
that that provider, like any operator broadcast-
ing television programmes intended for recep-
tion by the public, chooses the works which 
he broadcasts. The films which are in a list that 
that provider offers to the subscribers to the 
service all give rise to the broadcast of signals, 
transmitted in identical conditions to the sub-
scribers, who have the choice to unencode or 
not the images thus transmitted. The provider 
therefore knows his overall transmission time, 
and can thus comply with the obligation im-
posed on him to’reserve for European works 
… a majority proportion of [his] transmission 
time’. 

52. In the light of the foregoing, the answer to the 
third question should be that the conditions in 
which the provider of a service such as Film-
time complies with the obligation referred to 
in Article 4(1) of Directive 89/552 to reserve for 
European works a majority proportion of his 
transmission time are irrelevant for the classifi-
cation of that service as a television broadcast-

ing service. 

Costs
53. Since these proceedings are, for the parties to 

the main proceedings, in the nature of a step in 
the action pending before the national court, 
the decision on costs is a matter for that court. 
Costs incurred in submitting observations to 
the Court, other than the costs of those parties, 
are not recoverable. 

On those grounds, the Court (Third Chamber) 
hereby rules:

1. The concept of’television broadcasting’ re-
ferred to in Article 1(a) of Council Directive 
89/552/EEC of 3 October 1989 on the coordi-
nation of certain provisions laid down by law, 
regulation or administrative action in Mem-
ber States concerning the pursuit of television 
broadcasting activities, as amended by Direc-
tive 97/36/EC of the European Parliament and 
of the Council of 30 June 1997, is defined inde-
pendently by that provision. It is not defined 
by opposition to the concept of’information 
society service’ within the meaning of Article 
1(2) of Directive 98/34/EC of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 22 June 1998 
laying down a procedure for the provision of 
information in the field of technical standards 
and regulations and of rules on information 
society services, as amended by Directive 
98/48/EC of the European Parliament and of 
the Council of 20 July 1998, and therefore 
does not necessarily cover services which are 
not covered by the latter concept.

2. A service comes within the concept 
of’television broadcasting’ referred to in Ar-
ticle 1(a) of Directive 89/552, as amended 
by Directive 97/36, if it consists of the initial 
transmission of television programmes in-
tended for reception by the public, that is, an 
indeterminate number of potential television 
viewers, to whom the same images are trans-
mitted simultaneously. The manner in which 
the images are transmitted is not a determin-
ing element in that assessment. 

3. A service such as filmtime, which consists 
of broadcasting television programmes in-
tended for reception by the public and which 
is not provided at the individual request of a 
recipient of services, is a television broadcast-
ing service within the meaning of Article 1(a) 
of Directive 89/552, as amended by Directive 
97/36. Priority is to be given to the standpoint 
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of the service provider in the analysis of the 
concept of’television broadcasting service’. 
However, the situation of services which com-
pete with the service in question is not rel-
evant for that assessment. 

4. The conditions in which the provider of a ser-
vice such as filmtime complies with the obli-
gation referred to in Article 4(1) of Directive 
89/552, as amended by Directive 97/36, to 
reserve for European works a majority propor-
tion of his transmission time are irrelevant for 
the classification of that service as a television 
broadcasting service.

[Signatures]
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ECHR AND ECJ, FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS AND COMMU-
NITY LAW, RIGHTS OF THE DEFENCE, DEVELOPMENT 
OF CRIMINAL LAW THROUGH CASE-LAW, NULLUM 
CRIMEN, NULLA POENA SINE LEGE, DEFINITION OF PER-
PETARTOR

CAsE t-99/04 AC-
tREUHAnD AG v 
CoMMIssIon oF 
tHE EURoPEAn 
CoMMUnItIEs
(Competition – Agreements, decisions and con-
certed practices – Organic peroxides – Fines – Ar-
ticle 81 EC – Rights of the defence – Right to a fair 
hearing – Meaning of perpetrator of an infringe-
ment – Principle of nullum crimen, nulla poena 
sine lege – Principle of legal certainty – Legitimate 
expectations)

KEYWORDS

1. Competition – Administrative procedure – Ob-
servance of the rights of the defence – Under-
taking concerned able to rely in full on those 
rights only after the notification of the state-
ment of objections – Commission under an 
obligation to inform the undertaking of the 
subject-matter and purpose of the preliminary 
investigation when the first measure is taken in 
respect of that undertaking (Council Regula-
tion No 17, Arts 11 and 14)

2. Competition – Agreements, decisions and con-
certed practices – Imputed to an undertaking 
– Commission decision attributing joint liabil-
ity to a consultancy firm which is not active on 
the market concerned but which contributed 
actively and intentionally to the cartel (Arts 3(1)
(g) EC and 81(1) EC; Council Regulation No 17, 
Art. 15(2))

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

1. In the context of the administrative procedure 
under Regulation No 17, it is only after the no-
tification of the statement of objections that 
the undertaking concerned is able to rely in full 
on its rights of defence, because it is not until 
then that it is informed of all the essential evi-
dence on which the Commission is relying at 

that stage of the procedure and that it has a 
right of access to the file in order to ensure that 
its rights of defence are effectively exercised. If 
those rights were extended to the period pre-
ceding the notification of the statement of ob-
jections, the effectiveness of the Commission’s 
investigation would be compromised, since 
the undertaking concerned would already be 
able, at the preliminary investigation stage, to 
identify the information known to the Com-
mission, hence the information that could still 
be concealed from it. 

The fact nevertheless remains that the meas-
ures of inquiry adopted by the Commission 
during the preliminary investigation – in par-
ticular, the measures of investigation and re-
quests for information under Articles 11 and 
14 of Regulation No 17 – suggest, by their very 
nature, that an infringement has been commit-
ted and may have a significant impact on the 
situation of the undertakings suspected. Con-
sequently, it is necessary to prevent the rights 
of the defence from being irremediably com-
promised during that stage of the administra-
tive procedure since the measures of inquiry 
taken may be decisive in providing evidence of 
the unlawful nature of conduct engaged in by 
undertakings for which they may be liable. 

It follows that when the first measure is taken 
in respect of an undertaking, including in re-
quests for information under Article 11 of Reg-
ulation No 17, the Commission is required to 
inform the undertaking concerned, inter alia, of 
the subject-matter and purpose of the inves-
tigation underway. In that regard, the reason-
ing does not need to be so extensive as that 
required for decisions ordering investigation, 
owing to the more restrictive nature of the lat-
ter and the particular intensity of their impact 
on the legal situation of the undertaking con-
cerned. That reasoning must, however, enable 
the undertaking to understand the purpose 
and the subject-matter of that investigation, 
which means that the putative infringements 
must be specified and, in that context, the fact 
that the undertaking may be faced with allega-
tions related to that possible infringement, so 
that it can take the measures which it deems 
useful for its exoneration and, thus, prepare its 
defence at the inter partes stage of the admin-
istrative procedure. 

(see paras 48, 50-51, 56)

2. A Commission decision establishing that a 
consultancy firm shares liability for an infringe-

Case T-99/04 AC-Treuhand AG v Commission of the European Communities
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ment of Article 81(1) EC where it contributes 
actively and intentionally to a cartel between 
producers which are active on a market other 
than that on which the consultancy firm itself 
operates does not exceed the limits of the 
prohibition laid down in that provision and, 
consequently, by imposing a fine on that firm, 
the Commission does not exceed the powers 
conferred on it under Article 15(2) of Regula-
tion No 17. 

A literal, contextual and teleological interpreta-
tion of the term’agreements between under-
takings’ as used in Article 81(1) EC does not re-
quire a restrictive interpretation of the notion 
of perpetrator of the infringement, according 
to which the relationship of a firm of that kind 
with the cartel would merely have been one of 
non-punishable complicity. On the contrary, an 
undertaking may infringe the prohibition laid 
down in that provision where the purpose of 
its conduct, as coordinated with that of other 
undertakings, is to restrict competition on a 
specific relevant market within the common 
market, and that does not mean that the un-
dertaking has to be active itself on that relevant 
market. Any other interpretation might restrict 
the scope of the prohibition laid down in Arti-
cle 81(1) EC to an extent incompatible with its 
useful effect and its main objective, as read in 
the light of Article 3(1)(g) EC, which is to ensure 
that competition in the internal market is not 
distorted, since proceedings against an under-
taking for actively contributing to a restriction 
of competition could be blocked simply on the 
ground that that contribution does not come 
from an economic activity forming part of the 
relevant market on which that restriction mate-
rialises or on which it is intended to materialise. 

If the attribution of the infringement as a whole 
to such an undertaking is to be in line with the 
requirements of the principle of individual lia-
bility, two conditions – one objective, one sub-
jective – must be met. The first condition is that 
the undertaking concerned must have contrib-
uted to the implementation of the cartel even 
if only in a subsidiary, accessory or passive role, 
since the potentially limited importance of that 
contribution may be taken into consideration 
for the purposes of determining the level of 
the penalty. The second condition is that the 
undertaking must have manifested its own in-
tention, showing that it is in agreement, albeit 
only tacitly, with the objectives of the cartel. 
The latter condition constitutes the justification 
for holding that the undertaking concerned 
shares liability, since it intends to contribute 

through its own conduct to the common ob-
jectives pursued by the participants as a whole 
and is aware of the anti-competitive conduct 
of the other participants, or is in a position rea-
sonably to foresee that conduct, and is ready to 
accept the attendant risk. 

Even though, at the time of the alleged mis-
conduct, the Community judicature had not 
made an explicit ruling on that question, such 
an interpretation of Article 81(1) EC is not con-
trary, either, to the principle of nullum crimen, 
nulla poena sine lege, which need not neces-
sarily have the same scope as when it is ap-
plied to a situation covered by criminal law in 
the strict sense, because the procedure before 
the Commission under Regulation 17 is merely 
administrative in nature. Thus, any undertaking 
which has adopted collusive conduct, includ-
ing consultancy firms which are not active on 
the market affected by the restriction of com-
petition, could reasonably have foreseen that 
the prohibition laid down in Article 81(1) EC 
was applicable to it in principle. Such an un-
dertaking could not have been unaware, or 
was in a position to realise, that a sufficiently 
clear and precise basis was already to be found, 
in the former decision-making practice of the 
Commission and in the existing Community 
case-law, for expressly recognising that a con-
sultancy firm is liable for an infringement of Ar-
ticle 81(1) EC where it contributes actively and 
intentionally to a cartel between producers 
which are active on a market other than that 
on which the consultancy firm itself operates. 

Lastly, even though the Commission’s deci-
sion-making practice prior to the contested de-
cision could appear to conflict with the above 
interpretation of Article 81(1) EC, the principle 
of the protection of legitimate expectations 
cannot stand in the way of the reorientation 
of the Commission’s decision-making prac-
tice, based on a correct interpretation of the 
full implications of the prohibition laid down 
in Article 81(1) EC and even more foreseeable, 
given the existence of a precedent. (see paras 
112, 113, 117, 122-123, 127, 133-135, 149-150, 
157, 163-164)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT OF 
FIRST INSTANCE (THIRD CHAMBER, 
EXTENDED COMPOSITION)

8 July 20088 

8 Language of the case: German.
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(Competition – Agreements, decisions and con-
certed practices – Organic peroxides – Fines – Ar-
ticle 81 EC – Rights of the defence – Right to a fair 
hearing – Meaning of perpetrator of an infringe-
ment – Principle of nullum crimen, nulla poena 
sine lege – Principle of legal certainty – Legitimate 
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AC-Treuhand AG, established in Zurich (Switzer-
land), represented by M. Karl, C. Steinle and J. Drols-
hammer, lawyers,  applicant,

v

Commission of the European Communities, rep-
resented by A. Bouquet, acting as Agent, and by 
A. Böhlke, lawyer,  defendant,

ACTION for annulment of Commission Decision 
2005/349/EC of 10 December 2003 relating to a 
proceeding under Article 81 [EC] and Article 53 of 
the EEA Agreement (Case COMP/E-2/37.857 – Or-
ganic peroxides) (OJ 2005 L 110, p. 44), 

THE COURT OF FIRST INSTANCE OF THE EUROPEAN 
COMMUNITIES (Third Chamber, Extended Compo-
sition),

composed of M. Jaeger, President, J. Azizi and 
O. Czúcz, Judges, Registrar: K. Andová, Administra-
tor,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 12 September 2007, gives the fo 
lowing Judgment

Background to the dispute
1. Commission Decision 2005/349/EC of 10 De-

cember 2003 relating to a proceeding under 
Article 81 [EC] and Article 53 of the EEA Agree-
ment (Case COMP/E-2/37.857 – Organic per-
oxides) (OJ 2005 L 110, p. 44;’the contested 
decision’) concerns a cartel formed and imple-
mented on the European market for organic 
peroxides – chemicals used in the plastics and 
rubber industry – by the AKZO group (‘AKZO’), 
Atofina SA, successor to Atochem (‘Atochem/
Atofina’), and Peroxid Chemie GmbH & Co. KG, 
a company controlled by Laporte plc, now De-
gussa UK Holdings Ltd (‘PC/Degussa’), inter alia. 

2. It is apparent from the contested decision that 
the cartel was founded in 1971 by a written 
agreement (‘the 1971 agreement’), amended 
in 1975 (‘the 1975 agreement’), between three 
producers of organic peroxides, namely AKZO, 
Luperox GmbH, which later became Atochem/
Atofina, and PC/Degussa (‘the cartel’). The aim 

of that cartel was, inter alia, to preserve the 
market shares of those producers and to co-
ordinate their price increases. Meetings were 
held regularly to ensure the proper function-
ing of the cartel. Under the cartel, Fides Trust 
AG (‘Fides’), and subsequently, from 1993, the 
applicant, AC-Treuhand AG, were entrusted, 
on the basis of agency agreements with AKZO, 
Atochem/Atofina and PC/Degussa, with, inter 
alia, storing certain secret documents relating 
to the cartel, such as the 1971 agreement, on 
their premises; collecting and treating certain 
information concerning the commercial activ-
ity of the three organic peroxide producers; 
communicating to them the data thus treated; 
and completing logistical and clerical-adminis-
trative tasks associated with the organisation of 
meetings between those producers, particular-
ly in Zurich (Switzerland), such as the reserva-
tion of rooms and the reimbursement of their 
representatives’ travel costs. However, certain 
factual elements relating to the applicant’s ac-
tivities in relation to the cartel are contested 
between the parties. 

3. The Commission had initiated an investiga-
tion into the cartel following a meeting on 7 
April 2000 with AKZO’s representatives, who 
informed it of an infringement of the Com-
munity competition rules in order to gain im-
munity under the Commission notice on the 
non-imposition or reduction of fines in cartel 
cases (OJ 1996 C 207, p. 4;’the Leniency No-
tice’). Subsequently, Atochem/Atofina and PC/
Degussa also decided to cooperate with the 
Commission and provided it with additional 
information (recitals 56 to 63 in the preamble 
to the contested decision). 

4. On 3 February 2003 the Commission sent a re-
quest for information to the applicant. In that 
request, the Commission essentially stated that 
it was in the process of investigating a putative 
infringement of Article 81 EC and Article 53 of 
the Agreement on the European Economic 
Area (EEA) by the European organic peroxide 
producers. It also requested the applicant to 
provide an organigram of its undertaking, to 
describe its activity and its development, in-
cluding its takeover of the activity of Fides, its 
activity as the’secretariat’ for the organic perox-
ide producers and its turnover for 1991 to 2001. 
The applicant responded to that request for in-
formation by letter of 5 March 2003 (recital 73 
of the contested decision). 

5. On 20 March 2003 a meeting was held between 
the representatives of the applicant and the 
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Commission’s staff in charge of the case-file, at 
the end of which the latter stated that the ap-
plicant was also concerned by the proceedings 
initiated by the Commission, without however 
specifying the offences alleged against it. 

6. On 27 March 2003 the Commission initiated 
the formal examination procedure and adopt-
ed a statement of objections which was subse-
quently served on the applicant, among oth-
ers. The applicant submitted its observations 
on the objections on 16 June 2003 and at-
tended the hearing on 26 June 2003. The Com-
mission finally adopted the contested decision 
on 10 December 2003, which it served on the 
applicant on 9 January 2004, and by which it 
imposed a fine on it of EUR 1 000 (recital 454 
and Article 2(e) of the contested decision). 

7. The adoption and the notification of the con-
tested decision were accompanied by a press 
release in which the Commission stated, inter 
alia, that, as a consultancy firm, the applicant 
had played, from the end of 1993, an essential 
role in the cartel by organising meetings and 
covering up evidence of the infringement. 
Therefore, the Commission concluded that the 
applicant had also infringed the competition 
rules and stated: 
‘Thesanction taken [against theapplicant] is
ofalimitedamountduetothenoveltyofthe
policy followed in that area. Themessage is
clear however: those who organise or facili-
tatecartels,thusnotonlytheirmembers,must
henceforthfearbeingcaughtandhavingvery
heavysanctionsimposedonthem’.

Procedure and forms of order sought 
by the parties
8. By application lodged at the Registry at the 

Court of First Instance on 16 March 2004, the 
applicant brought the present action. 

9. By letter lodged at the Court Registry on 30 
November 2005, the applicant requested, as 
regards the publication of the judgment of the 
Court of First Instance bringing the proceed-
ings to an end, confidential treatment of the 
entire agreement which it had concluded with 
Fides, which forms part of the annex to the ap-
plication, and of the name of Fides and of the 
applicant’s former employee, Mr S. 

10. By letter lodged at the Court Registry on 1 Feb-
ruary 2006, the applicant stated that it wished 
to maintain its request for confidentiality and, 
in the alternative, requested that confidential 

treatment be granted to certain passages, ren-
dered unreadable, of the text of the agreement 
cited in paragraph 9 above, of which it pro-
duced a non-confidential version at the Court’s 
request. 

11. Pursuant to Article 14 of the Rules of Procedure 
of the Court of First Instance and on the pro-
posal of the Third Chamber, the Court decided, 
after hearing the parties in accordance with 
Article 51 of the Rules of Procedure, to refer the 
case to a Chamber sitting in extended compo-
sition. 

12. On hearing the report of the Judge-Rappor-
teur, the Court of First Instance (Third Cham-
ber, Extended Composition) decided to open 
the oral procedure. 

13. At the hearing, which took place on 12 Sep-
tember 2007, the parties presented oral argu-
ment and answered the oral questions put by 
the Court. 

14. The oral procedure was closed at the end of 
the hearing on 12 September 2007. Pursuant 
to Article 32 of the Rules of Procedure, since 
a member of the Chamber was prevented 
from taking part in the judicial deliberations, 
the most junior judge within the meaning of 
Article 6 of the Rules of Procedure accordingly 
abstained from taking part in the deliberations 
and the Court’s deliberations were conducted 
by the three judges whose signatures the pre-
sent judgment bears. 

15. At the hearing, the applicant withdrew its re-
quest for confidential treatment in so far as it 
concerned mention of the name of Fides; for-
mal note of this was taken in the minutes of the 
hearing. 

16. The applicant claims that the Court should: 

• annul the contested decision in so far as it 
concerns the applicant;

• order the Commission to pay the costs.

17. The Commission contends that the Court 
should: 

• dismiss the action;

• order the applicant to pay the costs. 

Law

A. Preliminary observations
18. The Court of First Instance considers it neces-

sary to address, first, the applicant’s request for 
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confidential treatment since it did not with-
draw that request at the hearing (see para-
graphs 9, 10 and 15 above). 

19. As regards the name of the applicant’s former 
employee, the Court took account of that re-
quest in accordance with its practice regarding 
publication in relation to the identity of natural 
persons in other cases (see, to that effect, Case 
T120/04 Peróxidos Orgánicos v Commission 
[2006] ECR II4441, paragraphs 31 and 33). How-
ever, the Court considers that the existence 
as such of the agreement between Fides and 
the applicant has, in any event, lost its poten-
tially confidential character in the light of the 
identification of that agreement in the extract 
from the – publicly accessible – companies 
register of the canton of Zurich regarding the 
applicant’s establishment, as produced in the 
annex to the application and in recitals 20 and 
91 of the version of the contested decision 
published provisionally on the internet site of 
the Directorate-General for Competition of the 
Commission (see, to that effect, the order of 
the President of the Third Chamber, Extended 
Composition, of the Court of First Instance in 
Case T289/03 BUPA and Others v Commission 
[2005] ECR II741, paragraphs 34 and 35), no ob-
jection to that publication having been made 
by the applicant in accordance with the pro-
cedure laid down in Article 9 of Commission 
Decision 2001/462/EC, ECSC of 23 May 2001 
on the terms of reference of hearing officers 
in certain competition proceedings (OJ 2001 L 
162, p. 21). 

20. Consequently, the request for confidential 
treatment must be rejected in so far as it con-
cerns the existence of the agreement between 
Fides and the applicant. 

21. Next, the Court points out that, in support of its 
action, the applicant relies on five pleas in law: 
(i) infringement of the rights of the defence 
and of the right to a fair hearing; (ii) infringe-
ment of the principle of nullum crimen,nulla 
poena sine lege; (iii) infringement of the prin-
ciple of the protection of legitimate expecta-
tions; (iv) in the alternative, infringement of the 
principle of legal certainty and the principle of 
nulla poena sine lege certa; and (v) infringe-
ment of the principle of legal certainty and the 
principle of nulla poena sine lege certa as re-
gards the second paragraph of Article 3 of the 

contested decision. 

B. The first plea, alleging infringement of 
the rights of the defence and of the right 
to a fair hearing

1.Argumentsoftheparties
a. Arguments of the applicant 

22. The applicant maintains that the Commission 
was late in informing it – three years after the 
start of the investigation – of the proceeding 
which had been initiated and the complaints 
made against it. It first learned of this when 
the formal investigation procedure was initi-
ated and the statement of objections of 27 
March 2003 adopted. Before that, the applicant 
had received only the request for information 
dated 3 February 2003, to which it had duly re-
sponded by letter of 5 March 2003. It was not 
until 20 March 2003, at the meeting with the 
Commission, that the applicant learned that 
it was also concerned by the investigation, 
without, however, receiving any precise infor-
mation on the extent of the accusations made 
against it. 

23. In the applicant’s view, under Article 6(3)(a) of 
the European Convention for the Protection 
of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 
(‘ECHR’), signed at Rome on 4 November 1950, 
anyone charged with a criminal offence has 
the right to be informed promptly, in a lan-
guage which he understands and in detail, of 
the nature and cause of the accusation against 
him. That right is a corollary of the fundamental 
right to a fair hearing laid down in Article 6(1) 
of the ECHR and is an integral part of the rights 
of the defence, as recognised by the caselaw 
as general principles of Community law ap-
plicable to the penalty-based administrative 
procedures laid down in Council Regulation 
No 17 of 6 February 1962, First Regulation im-
plementing Articles [81 EC] and [82 EC] (OJ, 
English Special Edition 1959-1962, p. 87) (Cases 
41/69 ACF Chemiefarma v Commission [1970] 
ECR 661, paragraphs 172 to 176; C7/98 Krom-
bach [2000] ECR I1935, paragraphs 25 and 26; 
C274/99 P Connolly v Commission [2001] ECR 
I1611, paragraphs 37 and 38; and Joined Cases 
C204/00 P, C205/00 P, C211/00 P, C213/00 P, 
C217/00 P and C219/00 P Aalborg Portland 
and Others v Commission [2004] ECR I123, 
paragraphs 63 and 64; see also Case T15/99 
Brugg Rohrsysteme v Commission [2002] ECR 
II1613, paragraphs 109 and 122, and Case 
T23/99 LR AF 1998 v Commission [2002] ECR 
II1705, paragraph 220), and is confirmed by Ar-
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ticle 6(2) EU and by Article 48(2) of the Charter 
of fundamental rights of the European Union, 
proclaimed on 7 December 2000 at Nice (OJ 
2000 C 364, p. 1). 

24. Under Article 15(2) of Regulation No 17, the 
fines which may be imposed on undertakings 
do, in fact – notwithstanding what is stated in 
Article 15(4) of that regulation – have a’criminal 
law character’ given their deterrent and puni-
tive objective (Opinion of Judge Vesterdorf, 
acting as Advocate General in Case T1/89 
Rhône-Poulenc v Commission [1991] ECR 
II867; see also the Opinion of Advocate General 
Roemer in Case 14/68 Wilhelm [1969] ECR 1, 
points 17 and 24; Opinion of Advocate General 
Mayras in Joined Cases 40/73 to 48/73, 50/73, 
54/73 to 56/73, 111/73, 113/73 and 114/73 
Suiker Unie and Others v Commission [1975] 
ECR 1663; Opinion of Advocate General Léger 
in Case C185/95 P Baustahlgewerbe v Commis-
sion [1998] ECR I8417, I8422, point 31; and the 
Opinions of Advocate General RuizJarabo Co-
lomer in Case C204/00 P Aalborg Portland and 
Others v Commission [2004] ECR I133, point 
26; Case C205/00 P Irish Cement v Commission 
[2004] ECR I171, point 32; Case C213/00 P Ital-
cementi v Commission [2004] ECR I230, point 
26; Case C217/00 P Buzzi Unicem SpA v Com-
mission [2004] ECR I267, point 29; and in Case 
C219/00 P Cementir v Commission [2004] ECR 
I342, point 25). That conclusion is also to be in-
ferred from the caselaw of the European Court 
of Human Rights (‘Eur. Court H. R.’) (Engel and 
others v. the Netherlands, judgment of 8 June 
1976, Series A no. 22 (1977), § 82; Oztürk v Ger-
many, judgment of 21 February 1984, Series A 
no. 73, § 53; and Lutz v Germany, judgment of 
25 August 1987, Series A no. 123, § 54). 

25. In that regard, the applicant disputes the 
Commission’s statement that no offence is 
imputed to undertakings during the investiga-
tion stage of the administrative proceedings. 
On the contrary, according to the applicant, 
the Commission takes measures during that 
stage which suggest that an infringement 
has been committed and which have a sig-
nificant impact on the situation of the under-
takings suspected (Joined Cases C238/99 P, 
C-244/99 P, C-245/99 P, C247/99 P, C250/99 P 
to C252/99 P and C254/99 P Limburgse Vinyl 
Maatschappijand Others v Commission [2002] 
ECR I8375, paragraph 182). The fact that, under 
the procedure laid down in Regulation No 17, 
the persons concerned are not the subject of 
any formal accusation until they receive the 
statement of objections (Joined Cases T5/00 

and T6/00 Nederlandse Federatieve Verenig-
ing voor de Groothandel op Elektrotechnisch 
Gebied and Technische Unie v Commission 
[2003] ECR II5761, paragraph 79) is not decisive 
and does not rule out the possibility that, dur-
ing the investigation stage, the applicant may 
already have become’a person charged’ for the 
purposes of Article 6(3) of the ECHR, as inter-
preted by the Eur. Court H. R. In the light of that 
caselaw, a formal indictment is not necessary 
but the initiation of an investigation procedure 
of criminal law character is sufficient (Eur. Court 
H. R. Delcourt v Belgium, judgment of 17 Janu-
ary 1970, Series A no. 11, p. 13, § 25; Ringeisen 
v Austria, judgment of 17 July 1971, Series A 
no. 13, p. 45, § 110; Deweer v Belgium, judg-
ment of 27 February 1980, Series A no. 35, p. 22, 
§ 42; Viezzer v Italy, judgment of 19 February 
1991, Series A no. 196-B, p. 21, § 17; Adolf v 
Austria, judgment of 26 March 1982, Series A 
no. 49, p. 15, § 30; and Imbrioscia v Switzer-
land, judgment of 24 November 1993, Series A 
no. 275, p. 13, § 36). 

26. The applicant submits that it is apparent from 
the objective of Article 6(3)(a) of the ECHR that, 
in the context of criminal proceedings, a per-
son charged with an offence must be informed 
immediately of the initiation and purpose of 
the investigation concerning him, so that he is 
not left in a state of uncertainty for longer than 
necessary. By contrast, a notification only at the 
formal indictment stage, which often does not 
take place until after a series of long investiga-
tions, is not sufficient and risks seriously com-
promising the fairness of the remainder of the 
proceedings and depriving the right guaran-
teed by Article 6(3)(c) of the ECHR of its useful 
effect. Where, as in the present case, the Com-
mission carries out the investigation secretly 
for approximately three years before adopting 
the statement of objections, it gains an unfair 
start in terms of collecting evidence which is 
incompatible with Article 6 of the ECHR. That 
stems from the fact that, in view of the time 
which has elapsed, it is difficult – or even vir-
tually impossible – for the undertakings con-
cerned to reconstruct the facts and to provide 
evidence to the contrary. 

27. In addition, the obligation to notify immediate-
ly the undertakings concerned stems from the 
importance, or decisive nature, of the investiga-
tion procedure for the Commission’s future de-
cision (Joined Cases 46/87 and 227/88 Hoechst 
v Commission [1989] ECR 2859, paragraph 15, 
and Aalborg Portland and Others v Commis-
sion, cited in paragraph 23 above, paragraph 
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63). After a long investigation, carried out with 
the support of the applicants for immunity or 
clemency, which precedes the adoption of the 
statement of objections, the Commission has a 
tendency to believe that the facts have already 
been established and is subsequently not very 
inclined to review the conclusions which it 
has drawn from that investigation. The risk of 
the forthcoming decision being biased is all 
the greater given that the Commission alone 
acts as investigator, prosecutor and judge. 
In the circumstances of the present case, the 
Commission was no longer an impartial judge 
and the applicant no longer had an adequate 
and sufficient opportunity (see Eur. Court H. 
R., Delta v France, judgment of 19 December 
1990, Series A no. 191-A, p. 16, § 36) to con-
test the false allegations made by AKZO, the 
main witness for’the prosecution’. Thus, at the 
stage of notification of the statement of objec-
tions, the undertaking concerned finds itself in 
a situation in which its chances of convincing 
the Commission of the erroneous nature of the 
presentation of the facts in that statement are 
significantly reduced, which seriously impairs 
the effectiveness of its defence. 

28. The applicant points out that, in the present 
case, the Commission based its complaints al-
most exclusively on the witness statement of 
the applicant for immunity, AKZO, with which 
it has had close contact since the year 2000. 
Accordingly, the applicant maintains that, in 
the eyes of the Commission, AKZO was more 
credible than any undertaking, such as the ap-
plicant, which did not undertake to cooperate 
under point B(d) of the Leniency Notice and 
which the staff in charge of the case-file did 
not know personally. Consequently, the Com-
mission attributed more weight to AKZO’s false 
statements concerning the applicant’s role 
than to the information provided by the appli-
cant, without giving the applicant the oppor-
tunity to defend itself in an effective manner 
against AKZO’s statements and to rectify them. 

29. In the present case the Commission should 
have informed the applicant of the nature and 
the reasons for the suspicions against it when, 
on 27 June 2000, AKZO sent it a description of 
the applicant’s alleged role in the cartel – given 
that, as of that moment, the Commission’s 
future decision risked being biased as a result 
of AKZO’s false allegations – and, at the lat-
est, on 18 June 2001, when AKZO submitted 
its final witness statement to the Commission. 
The contested decision was based, as far as 
concerns the applicant, almost exclusively on 

that witness statement. Consequently, by not 
informing the applicant as soon as the inquiry 
was launched against it, the Commission in-
fringed the applicant’s right to a fair hearing 
and its rights of defence under Article 6(1) and 
(3)(a) of the ECHR. 

30. In the applicant’s view, that illegality must 
lead to the annulment of the contested deci-
sion (Opinion of Advocate General Mischo in 
Case C250/99 P Limburgse Vinyl Maatschappij 
and Others v Commission, cited in paragraph 
25 above, ECR I8503, point 80). In order to en-
sure the useful effect of the right guaranteed 
under Article 6(3)(a) of the ECHR, which is an 
elementary procedural guarantee in a society 
governed by the rule of law, the undertaking 
concerned cannot be required to show that 
the Commission’s decision would have been 
different if it had been informed in good time. 
The act of informing the accused in good time 
and in an exhaustive manner constitutes the 
condicio sine qua non of a fair hearing and is 
mandatory. Accordingly, any decision impos-
ing a fine which has been adopted in infringe-
ment of that procedural guarantee must be 
annulled. 

31. In the alternative, the applicant claims that, if 
the Commission had respected the right guar-
anteed under Article 6(3)(a) of the ECHR and 
had informed it without delay of the nature 
and purpose of the investigation against it, it 
could have reconstructed the relevant facts 
more easily and more exhaustively than it had 
been able to in 2003. In particular, it could have 
drawn the Commission’s attention to the er-
roneous nature of AKZO’s witness statement 
concerning its role in the cartel. That challenge 
to the evidence would have led the Commis-
sion to seek further information from AKZO 
and, where necessary, to carry out an investiga-
tion under Article 14 of Regulation No 17. 

32. However, in the absence of timely information, 
the applicant was deprived of the possibility of 
exercising decisive influence over the conduct 
of the investigation or over the Commission’s 
internal decision-making process. Otherwise, 
the Commission would have concluded that 
the applicant had not actually committed an 
infringement and that its relationship to the 
organic peroxide producers involved in the 
cartel was one of non-punishable complicity. 
Thus, at that decisive stage of the procedure, 
the Commission deprived the applicant of the 
opportunity to defend itself quickly and effec-
tively against AKZO’s allegations. 
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33. Accordingly, the contested decision should be 
annulled for infringement of the rights of the 
defence and of Article 6(3)(a) of the ECHR. 

34. In that regard, the applicant none the less ac-
knowledged at the hearing, in response to 
a specific question put by the Court, that, in 
its view, even if it had been informed at the 
stage of the request for information of 3 Feb-
ruary 2003 and had thus had the opportunity 
to defend itself more effectively, that would 
not have changed the Commission’s findings 
concerning the applicant in the contested de-
cision. Formal note to that effect was taken in 
the minutes of the hearing. 

b. Arguments of the Commission

35. The Commission disputes that it is required, 
prior to notifying the statement of objections, 
to inform the applicant of the nature of and the 
reasons for the investigation concerning it. 

36. First, as is expressly confirmed in Article 15(4) 
of Regulation No 17, neither the administra-
tive procedure nor the possibility of imposing 
fines under that regulation is of a criminal law 
nature. Second, that procedure is divided into 
two stages, namely a preliminary investigation 
stage and an inter partes stage which covers 
the period from notification of the statement 
of objections to adoption of the final deci-
sion. Although the inter partes stage enables 
the Commission to give a final decision on 
the infringement concerned (Limburgse Vinyl 
Maatschappij and Others v Commission, cited 
in paragraph 25 above, paragraphs 182 to 184), 
no offence is imputed to the undertakings 
concerned during the investigation stage. That 
stage enables a search to be made for the fac-
tual evidence which enables the Commission 
to determine whether or not it is appropriate 
to take action against an undertaking. To that 
end, the Commission can require information 
and the undertakings are under an obligation 
to cooperate actively in providing all infor-
mation relating to the subject-matter of the 
inquiry (Case 374/87 Orkem v Commission 
[1989] ECR 3283, paragraph 27). 

37. At the time when such measures of inquiry 
are adopted, the Commission is not yet in a 
position to impute offences to undertakings 
because it is still seeking the evidence which 
might lead a statement of objections to be 
adopted. Accordingly, the mere fact that an 
undertaking is the subject of measures of in-
quiry on the part of the Commission cannot be 
assimilated to an accusation of that undertak-

ing (Opinion of Advocate General Mischo in 
Case C250/99 P Limburgse Vinyl Maatschappij 
and Others v Commission, cited in paragraph 
25 above, paragraphs 41 to 46). Consequently, 
the applicant’s argument that it should already 
have been informed at the investigation stage 
in order to be able to draw up its defence can-
not be upheld. 

38. The Commission acknowledges that the rights 
of the defence, as fundamental rights, form 
an integral part of the general principles of 
law, whose observance the Community judi-
cature must ensure (Krombach, cited in para-
graph 23 above, paragraphs 25 and 26, and 
Connolly v Commission, cited in paragraph 
23 above, paragraphs 37 and 38). In addition, 
it is true that the Commission has to ensure 
that those rights are not impaired during the 
investigation stage, which may be decisive in 
providing evidence of the unlawful nature of 
conduct engaged in by undertakings such that 
they may incur liability (Hoechst v Commission, 
cited in paragraph 27 above, paragraph 15, 
and Aalborg Portland and Others v Commis-
sion, cited in paragraph 23 above, paragraph 
63). However, that obligation relates only to 
certain rights of the defence, such as the right 
to legal representation and the privileged na-
ture of correspondence between lawyer and 
client, whereas other rights relate only to the 
inter partes proceedings initiated following the 
adoption of a statement of objections (Hoechst 
v Commission, cited in paragraph 27 above, 
paragraph 16). 

39. In any event, the alleged right to be informed 
immediately of the nature of and the reasons 
for the investigation does not exist, nor does it 
result from Article 6(3)(a) of the ECHR, because 
there is no element of’accusation’ during the 
investigation stage. Such formal’accusation’ 
occurs only at the stage of the notification of 
the statement of objections (Nederlandse Fed-
eratieve Vereniging voor de Groothandel op 
Elektrotechnisch Gebied and Technische Unie 
v Commission, cited in paragraph 25 above, 
paragraph 79). That statement implies the 
initiation of the procedure under Article 3 of 
Regulation No 17 and demonstrates the Com-
mission’s intention to adopt a decision finding 
an infringement (see, to that effect, Case 48/72 
Brasserie de Haecht [1973] ECR 77, paragraph 
16). At the same time, that statement serves as 
a means of informing the undertaking of the 
subject-matter of the procedure which is initi-
ated against it and of the conduct imputed to 
it by the Commission (Joined Cases T305/94, 
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T-306/94, T-307/94, T313/94, T-316/94, 
T-318/94, T-325/94, T-328/94, T-329/94 and 
T335/94 Limburgse Vinyl Maatschappij and 
Others v Commission [1999] ECR II931, para-
graph 132, and Nederlandse Federatieve 
Vereniging voor de Groothandel op Elektro-
technisch Gebied and Technische Unie v Com-
mission, cited in paragraph 25 above, para-
graph 80). 

40. That is confirmed in the caselaw according to 
which there is no right under Community com-
petition law to be informed of the state of the 
administrative procedure before the statement 
of objections is formally issued; an interpreta-
tion to the contrary would give rise to a right 
to be informed of an investigation in circum-
stances where suspicions exist in respect of 
an undertaking, which would seriously ham-
per the work of the Commission (Case T50/00 
Dalmine v Commission [2004] ECR II2395, para-
graph 110). 

41. The Commission adds that, although the casel-
aw of the Eur. Court H. R. in relation to Article 6 
of the ECHR may, where necessary, play a role in 
the context of investigation procedures which 
have a criminal law character – as regards, for 
example, the calculation of a’reasonable time’ 
within the meaning of Article 6(1) of the ECHR 
– there is nothing to suggest that that is also 
the case for Article 6(3)(a) of the ECHR. In order 
to be taken into account, failure to respect the 
guarantees under Article 6(3)(a) of the ECHR at 
the investigation stage must seriously compro-
mise the fair nature of the proceedings (Eur. 
Court H. R. Imbroscia v Switzerland, judgment 
of 24 November 1993, Series A no. 275, § 36, 
and the caselaw cited therein), account being 
taken of the implementation of the procedure 
as a whole. 

42. In the present case, the inter partes stage of 
the administrative procedure laid down in 
Regulation No 17 is particularly important in 
that regard since it aims precisely to inform the 
person concerned of the nature and grounds 
of the accusation made against him. However, 
the applicant has not brought any complaint 
regarding the proper conduct of that stage of 
the procedure. Thus, the applicant cannot as-
sert for the first time in its reply that it was not 
given the opportunity, during the inter partes 
stage of that procedure, to voice its point of 
view, in an appropriate and sufficient man-
ner, on the version of the facts adopted by the 
Commission. In any event, the applicant’s false 
allegation cannot call into question either the 

inter partes nature of that stage of the adminis-
trative procedure, or its fairness. 

43. Consequently, the present plea must be reject-
ed as unfounded. 

2.FindingsoftheCourt
44. By its first plea, the applicant claims in es-

sence that the Commission infringed its rights 
of defence and, in particular, its right to a fair 
hearing, as recognised by Article 6(3)(a) of the 
ECHR, by failing to inform it, very early on in the 
investigation procedure, of the nature of and 
the reasons for the accusation made against it 
and, in particular, by failing to send it AKZO’s 
witness statements earlier. 

45. It should be pointed out, at the outset, that the 
Court has no jurisdiction to assess the lawful-
ness of an investigation under competition law 
in the light of provisions of the ECHR, inasmuch 
as those provisions do not as such form part of 
Community law. That said, the fact remains 
that the Community judicature is called upon 
to ensure the observance of the fundamental 
rights which form an integral part of the gen-
eral principles of law and, for that purpose, it 
draws inspiration from the constitutional tra-
ditions common to the Member States and 
from the guidelines supplied by international 
instruments for the protection of human 
rights, on which the Member States have col-
laborated and to which they are signatories. In 
that regard, the ECHR has special significance, 
as confirmed by Article 6(2) EU (see, to that ef-
fect, Case T112/98 MannesmannröhrenWerke 
v Commission [2001] ECR II729, paragraphs 
59 and 60 and the caselaw cited therein). That 
has also been reaffirmed in the fifth recital in 
the preamble to the Charter of Fundamental 
Rights of the European Union, and Articles 
52(3) and 53 thereof. 

46. In that regard, it is settled caselaw that the 
rights of the defence in any proceedings in 
which penalties, especially fines or penalty 
payments, may be imposed, such as those pro-
vided for in Regulation No 17, are fundamental 
rights forming an integral part of the general 
principles of law, whose observance the Com-
munity judicature ensures (see, to that effect, 
Aalborg Portland and Others v Commission, 
cited in paragraph 23 above, paragraph 64, 
and Case C3/06 P Groupe Danone v Commis-
sion [2007] ECR I1331, paragraph 68). 

47. It should also be pointed out that the admin-
istrative procedure under Regulation No 17, 
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which takes place before the Commission, is 
divided into two distinct and successive stag-
es, each having its own internal logic, namely 
a preliminary investigation stage and an inter 
partes stage. The preliminary investigation 
stage, during which the Commission uses the 
powers of investigation provided for in Regu-
lation No 17 and which covers the period up 
until the notification of the statement of objec-
tions, is intended to enable the Commission to 
gather all the relevant information confirming 
or not the existence of an infringement of the 
competition rules and to adopt an initial posi-
tion on the course of the procedure and how it 
is to proceed. By contrast, the inter partes stage, 
which covers the period from the notification 
of the statement of objections to the adoption 
of the final decision, must enable the Commis-
sion to reach a final decision on the infringe-
ment concerned (see, to that effect, Limburgse 
Vinyl Maatschappij and Others v Commission, 
cited in paragraph 25 above, paragraphs 181 
to 183, and Case C105/04 P Nederlandse Fed-
eratieve Vereniging voor de Groothandel op 
Elektrotechnisch Gebied v Commission [2006] 
ECR I8725, paragraph 38). 

48. First, as regards the preliminary investigation 
stage, the Court has stated that the starting 
point of that stage is the date on which the 
Commission, in exercise of the powers con-
ferred on it by Articles 11 and 14 of Regulation 
No 17, takes measures which suggest that an 
infringement has been committed and which 
have a significant impact on the situation of 
the undertakings suspected (Limburgse Vi-
nyl Maatschappij and Others v Commission, 
cited in paragraph 25 above, paragraph 182, 
and Nederlandse Federatieve Vereniging voor 
de Groothandel op Elektrotechnisch Gebied 
v Commission, cited in paragraph 47 above, 
paragraph 38). Second, it is apparent from the 
caselaw of the Court of Justice that it is not 
until the beginning of the inter partes admin-
istrative stage that the undertaking concerned 
is informed, by means of the notification of 
the statement of objections, of all the essen-
tial evidence on which the Commission relies 
at that stage of the procedure and that that 
undertaking has a right of access to the file in 
order to ensure that its rights of defence are 
effectively exercised. Consequently, it is only 
after the notification of the statement of objec-
tions that the undertaking concerned is able to 
rely in full on its rights of defence (see, to that 
effect, Limburgse Vinyl Maatschappij and Oth-
ers v Commission, cited in paragraph 25 above, 

paragraphs 315 and 316; Aalborg Portland 
and Others v Commission, cited in paragraph 
23 above, paragraphs 66 and 67; Nederlandse 
Federatieve Vereniging voor de Groothandel 
op Elektrotechnisch Gebied v Commission, 
cited in paragraph 47 above, paragraph 47; 
and Case C407/04 P Dalmine v Commission 
[2007] ECR I829, paragraph 59). If those rights 
were extended to the period preceding the 
notification of the statement of objections, the 
effectiveness of the Commission’s investiga-
tion would be compromised, since the under-
taking concerned would already be able, at the 
preliminary investigation stage, to identify the 
information known to the Commission, hence 
the information that could still be concealed 
from it (Dalmine v Commission, cited in para-
graph 40 above, paragraph 60). 

49. Accordingly, the applicant’s argument that 
respect for the rights of the defence and the 
right to a fair hearing implies that it be granted 
access to AKZO’s witness statements during 
the preliminary investigation stage must be 
rejected. 

50. The fact nevertheless remains that, as is ap-
parent from the caselaw cited in paragraph 48 
above, the measures of inquiry adopted by the 
Commission during the preliminary investiga-
tion stage – in particular, the measures of in-
vestigation and requests for information under 
Articles 11 and 14 of Regulation No 17 – sug-
gest, by their very nature, that an infringement 
has been committed and may have a signifi-
cant impact on the situation of the undertak-
ings suspected. 

51. Consequently, it is necessary to prevent the 
rights of the defence from being irremediably 
compromised during that stage of the adminis-
trative procedure since the measures of inquiry 
taken may be decisive in providing evidence of 
the unlawful nature of conduct engaged in by 
undertakings for which they may be liable (see, 
to that effect, Hoechst v Commission, para-
graph 27 above, paragraph 15). As regards the 
observance of a reasonable period of time, the 
Court has thus held, in essence, that an exces-
sively lengthy preliminary investigation may 
have an effect on the future ability of the un-
dertakings concerned to defend themselves, in 
particular by reducing the effectiveness of the 
rights of the defence where those rights are re-
lied on during the inter partes stage. The more 
time that elapses between a measure of inves-
tigation and the notification of the statement 
of objections, the greater the likelihood that 
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exculpatory evidence can no longer be ob-
tained or only obtained with difficulty. For that 
reason, examination of any interference with 
the exercise of the rights of the defence must 
not be confined to the actual phase in which 
those rights produce their full effects, that is to 
say, the inter partes stage of the administrative 
procedure, but must extend to the entire pro-
cedure and be carried out by reference to its 
total duration (see, to that effect, Nederlandse 
Federatieve Vereniging voor de Groothandel 
op Elektrotechnisch Gebied v Commission, 
cited in paragraph 47 above, paragraphs 49 
and 50). 

52. The Court considers that those considerations 
apply by analogy to the question whether and, 
if so, to what extent the Commission is re-
quired to provide the undertaking concerned, 
as of the preliminary investigation stage, with 
certain information on the subject-matter and 
purpose of the investigation, which enable its 
defence in the inter partes stage to be effec-
tive. Even though, in formal terms, the under-
taking concerned does not have the status of’a 
person charged’ during the preliminary investi-
gation stage, the initiation of the investigation 
in its regard, by the adoption of a measure of 
inquiry concerning it, cannot generally be dis-
sociated, in substantive terms, from the exist-
ence of suspicion, hence from an implied im-
putation of misconduct for the purposes of the 
caselaw cited in paragraph 48 above, which 
justifies the adoption of that measure (see also, 
to that effect, Eur. Court H. R., Casse v Luxem-
bourg, no. 40327/02, § 29 to 33, 71 and 72, 27 
April 2006). 

53. As regards the scope of that duty to inform, it 
should be noted that, in a request for informa-
tion – whether informal for the purposes of 
Article 11(2) of Regulation No 17 or in the form 
of a decision under Article 11(5) thereof – the 
Commission is required, under Article 11(3) 
and in order, inter alia, to respect the rights 
of defence of the undertakings concerned, to 
state the legal basis and the purpose of that re-
quest. Thus, the necessity, for the purposes of 
Article 11(1) of Regulation No 17, of the infor-
mation requested by the Commission must be 
assessed by reference to the purpose of the in-
quiry, as compulsorily stated in the request for 
information itself. In that regard, the Court has 
pointed out that the Commission is entitled 
to require only the disclosure of information 
which may enable it to investigate putative in-
fringements which justify the investigation and 
which are set out in the request for information 

as such (see, to that effect, Case T39/90 SEP v 
Commission [1991] ECR II1497, paragraph 25, 
and Case T34/93 Société générale v Commis-
sion [1995] ECR II545, paragraphs 39, 40, 62 and 
63). 

54. Next, it should be noted that the Commission 
is required to point out in a decision ordering 
investigation, under Article 14(3) of Regulation 
No 17, the subject-matter and purpose of that 
investigation. That requirement constitutes 
a fundamental guarantee of the rights of de-
fence of the undertakings concerned, with 
the result that the scope of the obligation to 
state the reasons on which decisions ordering 
investigations are based cannot be restricted 
on the basis of considerations concerning 
the effectiveness of the investigation. In that 
regard, it is apparent from the caselaw that, 
although it is true that the Commission is not 
required to communicate to the addressee of 
a decision ordering investigation all the infor-
mation at its disposal concerning the putative 
infringements or to make a precise legal analy-
sis of those infringements, it must neverthe-
less clearly indicate the presumed facts which 
it intends to investigate (see, to that effect, 
Hoechst v Commission, cited in paragraph 27 
above, paragraph 41; Case 85/87 Dow Benelux 
v Commission [1989] ECR 3137, paragraphs 
8 and 9; judgment of 12 July 2007 in Case 
T266/03 CB v Commission, not published in 
the ECR, paragraph 36; see, by analogy, Société 
générale v Commission, cited in paragraph 53 
above, paragraphs 62 and 63). By the same to-
ken, in the context of an investigation based 
on Article 14(2) of Regulation No 17, the Com-
mission’s inspectors must produce written au-
thorisation specifying the subject-matter and 
purpose of the investigation. 

55. The Court considers that the requirements 
set out in paragraphs 53 and 54 above apply 
independently of the question whether the 
request for information, which is sent to an 
undertaking suspected of having committed 
an infringement, is a formal decision for the 
purposes of Article 11(5) of Regulation No 17, 
or an informal letter for the purposes of Article 
11(2) thereof. In addition, in the context of the 
preliminary investigation stage, the opportu-
nity for the undertaking concerned to prepare 
its defence effectively cannot vary depending 
on whether the Commission adopts a measure 
of inquiry under Article 11 or Article 14 of Regu-
lation No 17, since all those measures suggest 
that an infringement has been committed and 
may have a significant impact on the situation 
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of the undertakings suspected (see, to that ef-
fect, Limburgse Vinyl Maatschappij and Others 
v Commission, cited in paragraph 25 above, 
paragraph 182, and Nederlandse Federatieve 
Vereniging voor de Groothandel op Elektro-
technisch Gebied v Commission, cited in para-
graph 47 above, paragraph 38). 

56. It follows that, when the first measure is taken 
in respect of an undertaking, including in 
requests for information under Article 11 of 
Regulation No 17, the Commission is required 
to inform the undertaking concerned, inter 
alia, of the subject-matter and purpose of the 
investigation underway. In that regard, the 
reasoning does not need to be so extensive as 
that required for decisions ordering investiga-
tion, owing to the more restrictive nature of 
the latter and the particular intensity of their 
impact on the legal situation of the undertak-
ing concerned (see, in relation to the Commis-
sion’s powers of investigation, CB v Commis-
sion, cited in paragraph 54 above, paragraph 
71). That reasoning must, however, enable 
the undertaking to understand the purpose 
and the subject-matter of that investigation, 
which means that the putative infringements 
must be specified and, in that context, the fact 
that the undertaking may be faced with allega-
tions related to that possible infringement, so 
that it can take the measures which it deems 
useful for its exoneration and, thus, prepare its 
defence at the inter partes stage of the admin-
istrative procedure. 

57. Consequently, in the present case, the Com-
mission was required, when it sent the request 
for information of 3 February 2003, to inform 
the applicant, inter alia, of the putative in-
fringements concerned by the investigation 
and of the fact that, in that context, the Com-
mission might have to impute to it unlawful 
conduct. It is apparent solely from that request 
that the Commission was in the process of in-
vestigating a putative infringement of Article 
81 EC committed by European organic per-
oxide producers as a result of certain conduct, 
mentioned therein by way of example and in 
a general manner, but without any indication 
that the investigation also concerned a possi-
ble infringement attributed to the applicant. It 
appears that it was not until the meeting of 20 
March 2003 – that is to say, several weeks be-
fore initiation of the formal investigation pro-
cedure – that the officials of the Commission in 
charge of the case-file pointed out that the ap-
plicant was also covered by the investigation. 
As matters stood, the need to give prior notice 

to the applicant was all the greater since, as 
the Commission itself stated, its decision to 
investigate a consultancy firm constituted a re-
orientation of its former decisionmaking prac-
tice and, consequently, the applicant could not 
necessarily expect to be directly concerned by 
the statement of objections. 

58. However, that circumstance cannot, in itself, 
lead to the annulment of the contested deci-
sion. It is also necessary to establish whether 
the irregularity committed by the Commission 
was capable of actually compromising the ap-
plicant’s rights of defence in the procedure in 
question (see, to that effect, Aalborg Portland 
and Others v Commission, cited in paragraph 
23 above, paragraphs 71 et seq., and Neder-
landse Federatieve Vereniging voor de Groo-
thandel op Elektrotechnisch Gebied v Commis-
sion, cited in paragraph 47 above, paragraphs 
55 and seq.). 

59. In the present case, the applicant has not pro-
duced any concrete evidence to establish that 
the irregularity in question adversely affected 
the efficiency of its defence during the inter 
partes stage of the administrative procedure 
and that the progress of that procedure, as a 
whole, and the content of the Commission’s 
decision could have been influenced by a 
more efficient defence. On the contrary, at 
the hearing, the applicant admitted that prior 
information regarding the allegations against 
it, in particular at the stage of the request for 
information of 3 February 2003, would not 
have had any influence on the conclusions 
reached by the Commission in its regard in the 
contested decision, and formal note of that ac-
knowledgement was taken in the minutes of 
the hearing. The possibility of any such influ-
ence is even less likely since there was a gap of 
only seven weeks or thereabouts between the 
request for information, on the one hand, and 
the notification of the initiation of the formal 
investigation procedure and the notification of 
the statement of objections, on the other. 

60. Consequently, the present plea must be reject-
ed as unfounded. 

C. The second plea, alleging infringement 
of the principle of nullum crimen, nulla 
poena sine lege

1.Argumentsoftheparties
(a)  Arguments of the applicant 

General part
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61. The applicant maintains that it has not in-
fringed Article 81 EC since its relationship to 
the cartel members – AKZO, Atochem/Atofina 
and PC/Degussa – was merely one of non-pun-
ishable complicity. It claims that the Commis-
sion itself acknowledged, in recital 339 of the 
contested decision, that the applicant was not 
a contracting party to the cartel concluded by 
those organic peroxide producers. None the 
less, the Commission reached the very vague 
conclusion, in recital 349 of the contested deci-
sion, that the applicant’was party to the agree-
ment and/or took decisions as an undertaking 
and/or as an association of undertakings’. Next, 
the Commission acknowledged, in recital 454 
of that decision, that’addressing a decision to 
an undertaking and/or association of undertak-
ings having a role of this kind in a cartel is to a 
certain extent a novelty’. In the applicant’s view, 
the Commission thus overstepped the limits 
of the power conferred on it by Article 15(2) 
of Regulation No 17, read in conjunction with 
Article 81(1) EC, and infringed the principle of 
nullum crimen,nulla poena sine lege. In addi-
tion, the Commission’s imprecise legal assess-
ment is based on erroneous findings of fact 
concerning the applicant’s role in the cartel. 

The challenge of the facts found in the con-
tested decision

62. The applicant essentially disputes the impor-
tance attributed by the Commission, in the 
contested decision, to its activity in the cartel 
(recitals 95, 105, 332, 333 and 345 of the con-
tested decision). In reality, the applicant, as a 
consultancy firm and an agent subject to the 
instructions of AKZO, Atochem/Atofina and 
PC/Degussa, merely provided those undertak-
ings with clerical-administrative services, the 
vast majority of which had nothing to do with 
the cartel. 

63. First, between the end of 1993 and the end 
of 1999, the applicant was linked, by virtue of 
the Swiss law of obligations and without any 
anticompetitive intention, to those three or-
ganic peroxide producers by service contracts 
termed’agency agreements’. On the basis of 
those agency agreements and on the instruc-
tions of those producers, it (i) established mar-
ket statistics; (ii) organised four official meetings 
of those producers in Zurich while attending 
the official part of those meetings; (iii) reserved 
a meeting room for four unofficial meetings of 
those producers in Zurich, but without attend-
ing – or only partly – those meetings or being 
aware of their content; (iv) reimbursed the rep-

resentatives of those producers the travel costs 
incurred in attending those meetings; and 
(v) kept hold of certain documents – some of 
which were anti-competitive – on behalf of PC/
Degussa and Atochem/Atofina. 

64. In addition, contrary to the finding in recital 
340 of the contested decision, those agency 
agreements did not restrict competition; only 
the agreements between the producers, in 
particular the 1971 agreement, to which the 
applicant was never a party (recital 339 of 
the contested decision), provided for restric-
tions of competition on the organic peroxide 
market. Thus, the statement in recital 335 of 
the contested decision that the applicant’s 
activity’formed the basis to realise the cartel’ 
is also incorrect, since that cartel was created 
in 1971 by AKZO, Atochem/Atofina and PC/
Degussa without the applicant’s assistance. 
In essence, the applicant states that, in so far 
as those of its activities characterised as mis-
conduct were linked to the cartel, such as the 
reservation of meeting rooms and the reim-
bursement of travel costs, for the three organic 
peroxide producers they were merely of a lo-
gistical and clerical-administrative nature. 

65. Second, the applicant essentially claims that, in 
referring – in recitals 87, 109 et seq. and, in par-
ticular, in recital 209 of the contested decision 
– to’Fides/AC-Treuhand’ as a single unity, the 
Commission wrongly attributed to it the acts 
committed by Fides during the period from 
1971 to 1993. In so doing, the Commission 
infringes the principles of culpability and indi-
vidual liability and adversely affects the appli-
cant’s reputation (Case C49/92 P Commission 
v Anic Partecipazioni [1999] ECR I4125, para-
graph 145). The applicant, which was founded 
in 1993, is not liable for Fides’ conduct and 
there is no structural link, in terms of company 
law, between the two. At the end of 1993, the 
applicant acquired from Fides only the depart-
ment in charge of providing management ad-
vice to associations, and then concluded new 
agency agreements with Fides’ former clients. 
In addition, Fides’ letter of November 1993, in 
which it advised its former clients to continue 
their commercial relations with the applicant, 
is not evidence which is relevant to show the 
alleged’personal continuity’ between Fides 
and the applicant. It is common practice in the 
context of company takeovers that, for market-
ing reasons, the seller sends such’letters of rec-
ommendation’ concerning the possible trans-
fer of agency to the company which has taken 
over. The applicant concludes from this that it 
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cannot be held liable for Fides’ conduct, a fact 
which should have led the Commission to at-
tribute significantly less importance to its role 
during the decisive period from 1994 to 1999. 

66. In that regard, the applicant states that, unlike 
Fides, it did not participate in the anti-com-
petitive exchange of information between the 
three organic peroxide producers. The descrip-
tion of the applicant’s role in recitals 91 et seq. 
of the contested decision does not take ac-
count of the fact that, in 1993, those produc-
ers substantially modified the manner of op-
eration of the cartel by abandoning thereafter 
the practice of communicating to one another, 
with the participation of Fides, sales and price 
figures in meetings. After 1993 that system was 
replaced by a system run by AKZO, in which 
the applicant did not participate and of which 
it was not even aware, under which informa-
tion was exchanged by fax and in meetings re-
ferred to as’working groups’ (recital 136 of the 
contested decision). In that context, AKZO es-
tablished detailed statistics to be presented at 
the meetings of the working group, ran those 
meetings, ensured that market shares were be-
ing respected and insisted that the other pro-
ducers increase their prices. 

67. Third, as regards the storage of the originals of 
the 1971 and 1975 agreements, the applicant 
asserts that it stored in its safe only the copies 
of Atochem/Atofina and PC/Degussa, which 
were free to take them away or consult them at 
any time. Furthermore, the applicant admits to 
having calculated until 1995 or 1996, on behalf 
of the organic peroxide producers, the devia-
tions from the quotas agreed between them. 
The members of the cartel were also free to 
consult the documents relating to that calcu-
lation at any time. The conservation of docu-
ments of a third party by the applicant does 
not constitute, in itself, conduct which is pro-
hibited under the competition rules. 

68. Fourth, the applicant disputes the allegation 
that it collected information on the sale of 
organic peroxide and provided the’relevant 
statistics’ to the members of the cartel (recital 
92 of the contested decision). The applicant 
claims that those statistics were lawful and had 
nothing to do with the cartel, as has been con-
firmed, according to the applicant, by AKZO, 
Atochem/Atofina and PC/Degussa. Following 
the implementation by Fides, at the request 
of those producers, of an official information 
system on the organic peroxide market, the 
applicant concluded tacitly, at the end of 1993, 

new agency agreements with them which 
concerned the drawing up of’neutral’ market 
statistics. Those statistics were based on past 
sales figures (in tons), as provided by those pro-
ducers, and neither the prices charged by them 
nor the names of their clients were identified in 
those statistics. They were accompanied by a 
list of the categories of relevant goods which 
the Commission wrongly designated as’code 
AC-Treuhand’ (recital 105 of the contested de-
cision). However, that list was merely a working 
tool for the applicant to enable it to establish 
the market statistics and for the company in 
charge of auditing the sales volumes commu-
nicated by the producers. The statistics estab-
lished in that manner indicated, for the catego-
ries of organic peroxide concerned, merely the 
total volume of the market for the preceding 
year or the preceding quarter, the sales volume 
for each producer and its market share, but no 
information concerning competitors. 

69. In that regard, the applicant points out that, 
between 1993 and 1999, the exchange be-
tween the organic peroxide producers of sales 
volumes and prices by country and by client 
and, consequently, the coordination of their 
conduct, no longer followed the rules agreed 
in 1971 and in 1975, but was made by fax or at 
separate meetings of the working group and, 
occasionally, following official meetings in Zu-
rich, but without the applicant’s participation 
(recitals 128 and 136 of the contested deci-
sion). The applicant concludes from this that, 
contrary to the impression created in recital 
92 of the contested decision, the market sta-
tistics which the applicant established did not 
serve to coordinate the conduct of the produc-
ers. Nor did the preparation and the review of 
the data from the market information system 
constitute the basis of the infringement. From 
1993 onwards, the statistics established by the 
applicant were not related to its attendance at 
the meetings of the cartel or proposing of quo-
tas. That link was broken, at the latest, in 1996 
when the applicant stopped calculating the 
deviations from the agreed quotas. 

70. The applicant states that the auditing of the 
sales figures of the organic peroxide producers 
had nothing to do with the cartel. The appli-
cant neither’undertook nor approved’ the au-
diting in that regard (recital 333 of the contest-
ed decision); nor was it the cartel’s’accountant’ 
(recital 404 of the contested decision). That er-
roneous assessment is a result of: (i) bracketing 
together the functioning of the lawful market 
information system and that of the cartel’s 
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system; and (ii) a confusion with the duties of 
the company acting as subagent for the ap-
plicant, which audited the sales volumes com-
municated to the applicant by the producers, 
every three to six months, concerning each 
category of products. On that basis, the appli-
cant calculated the respective market shares in 
order to send the’total market figures’ back to 
the producers. Finally, the auditing of the sales 
volumes communicated to the applicant met 
the wishes of the three producers and is a com-
mon and lawful practice in the context of pro-
fessionally competent market information sys-
tems which has nothing to do with the cartel. 

71. Fifth, the applicant disputes the Commission’s 
assertion that it attended’at least at one in-
stance’ a working group meeting (recital 92 of 
the contested decision), or even a number of 
those meetings (recital 99 thereof). In reality, 
the applicant almost never attended the meet-
ings of the three organic peroxide producers 
which were held for anti-competitive purpos-
es. Out of the 63 meetings which took place 
from the end of December 1993, as set out in 
table 4 of the contested decision (p. 28 et seq.), 
of which only nine were held in Zurich, only 
five were partly attended by employees of the 
applicant, namely the meetings in Zurich on 
25 October 1994, 16 February 1995, 16 January 
and 19 April 1996 and 23 November 1998. To 
that list it is appropriate to add the meeting in 
Amersfoort (Netherlands) on 19 October 1998, 
which was attended only by representatives of 
AKZO and a former employee of the applicant, 
Mr S. However, the applicant disputes, in a very 
detailed manner, the significance attributed by 
the Commission, in the contested decision, to 
the attendance of Mr S. In any event, it is for 
the Commission to prove that the applicant 
actually attended meetings which had an anti-
competitive purpose (Aalborg Portland and 
Others v Commission, cited in paragraph 23 
above, paragraph 78). 

72. The applicant states that, with the exception of 
the meeting of 16 January 1996, all the meet-
ings were so-called’summit’ meetings consist-
ing of an’official’ part and an’unofficial’ part. 
The applicant’s employees attended only the 
official part of those meetings in the context of 
which only issues relating to official market sta-
tistics, product classification and product safety 
were addressed. In that context, the applicant’s 
role was limited to clerical-administrative ac-
tivities, such as sending out letters of invita-
tion setting out the agenda, reserving meeting 
rooms and, where necessary, hotel rooms, wel-

coming participants and taking minutes of the 
official meetings. On instruction, the applicant 
also made a telephone booking to reserve a 
hotel conference room for the’unofficial’ meet-
ings in Zurich on 23 October 1997, 17 April 
1998 and 27 October 1998, but without attend-
ing those meetings itself. 

73. Accordingly, AKZO’s assertion, as reproduced 
in recital 127 of the contested decision, that 
the applicant was’continuously’ involved in the 
yearly meetings – for example, when market 
shares needed to be adapted – is manifestly 
erroneous. The applicant’s attendance was not 
necessary for that purpose, since each of the 
organic peroxide producers knew the’official’ 
market shares owing to the exchange between 
them of their sales volumes by fax or at work-
ing group meetings (recital 128 of the contest-
ed decision). 

74. Sixth, the applicant submits that it was neither 
the chairman nor the moderator of the cartel 
(recitals 92, 99, 102 and 336 of the contested 
decision). Firstly, there was no’chairperson’ at 
the few meetings of the three organic perox-
ide producers which the applicant attended 
between 1994 and 1999 and during which its 
role was limited to welcoming the participants 
and taking minutes of the official part of the 
meeting. Secondly, the applicant neither acted 
as’moderator’ in the case of tension between 
the members of the cartel nor encouraged the 
latter to reach a compromise: the participants 
always came to the conclusion by themselves 
that abandoning the discussions would only 
make the situation worse. Furthermore, in view 
of the fact that the applicant did not attend the 
unofficial meetings (see paragraph 72 above), 
it could not have acted as moderator in the 
case of tension between the members of the 
cartel. 

75. In that regard, the applicant disputes having 
declared in its response to the statement of ob-
jections that it had’acted as an intermediary’ (re-
citals 92, 94 and 99 of the contested decision). 
In reality, the applicant had stated that, as secre-
tary, Mr S had merely played an’organisational 
role in the meetings’, which means, inter alia, 
that he opened with a few words of welcome 
the four official and lawful’summit’ meetings 
held between 1994 and 1999 (see paragraph 
72 above) and that he announced the lunch 
break. However, Mr S never or almost never at-
tended, during that same period, the unofficial 
meetings of the three organic peroxide pro-
ducers. Point 10 of the 1971 agreement, under 
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the title’Arbitration’, shows that the produc-
ers themselves played the role of moderators, 
which was confirmed by Atochem/Atofina in 
relation to AKZO’s role as moderator at numer-
ous meetings. The applicant concludes from 
this that AKZO made false accusations against 
it in order to turn attention away from the role 
which AKZO itself played as moderator. 

76. Seventh, the applicant reaffirms that it carried 
out the task of calculating the deviations from 
the agreed quotas and sending them to the 
organic peroxide producers, under the terms 
of its mandate and on instruction, only until 
1995 or 1996. From 1997 at the latest the cal-
culation of those deviations was made by the 
three producers themselves, under the super-
vision of AKZO, on the basis of their sales sta-
tistics which they exchanged at the meetings 
of the working group or by fax (see paragraph 
69 above). AKZO then established, on that ba-
sis, the overall statistics consisting of the sales 
statistics of all the organic peroxide produc-
ers and presented them at the next meeting 
of the working group. In addition, the docu-
ments produced by AKZO with the intention of 
proving that, in 1996 or in 1997, the applicant 
continued to calculate the deviations from the 
agreed quotas originated from AKZO itself and 
not from the applicant. 

77. Finally, the applicant submits that the Com-
mission’s assessment of the evidence is un-
lawful because it fails to have regard to the 
presumption of innocence (Baustahlgewerbe 
v Commission, cited in paragraph 24 above, 
paragraph 58) or the fundamental right to a 
fair hearing, as laid down in Article 6(1) of the 
ECHR and Article 47(2) of the Charter of Fun-
damental Rights of the European Union. The 
Commission endorsed AKZO’s erroneous wit-
ness statement without investigating whether 
it was well founded in the light of the witness 
statements provided by Atochem/Atofina, PC/
Degussa and the applicant contradicting that 
statement. It is apparent from Article 6(1) of 
the ECHR that statements made by a cooper-
ating party can be regarded as credible only 
when they are supported by additional and 
independent evidence (Eur. Commission H. R., 
X v United Kingdom, no 7306/75, decision of 
6 October 1976, Decisions and Reports, no 7, 
p. 119, 122). In addition, credibility is the sole 
relevant criterion for assessing the evidence 
produced (Case T44/00 Mannesmannröhren-
Werke v Commission [2004] ECR II2223, refer-
ring to the Opinion of Judge Vesterdorf, acting 
as Advocate General in Rhône-Poulenc v Com-

mission, cited in paragraph 24 above, ECR II869; 
see also, to that effect, Joined Cases C310/98 
and C406/98 MetTrans and Sagpol [2000] ECR 
I1797, paragraph 29, and Joined Cases T141/99, 
T142/99, T150/99 and T151/99 Vela and Tec-
nagrind v Commission [2002] ECR II4547, para-
graph 223). 

78. A cooperating party has every reason not to tell 
the truth and the Commission is required, of its 
own motion, to call its statement into question, 
especially if it is decisive for the final decision 
and is contradicted by another statement (see 
also recital 85 in the preamble to Commission 
Decision 86/399/EEC of 10 July 1986 relating to 
a proceeding under Article [81 EC] (IV/31.371 – 
Roofing felt) (OJ 1986 L 232, p. 15), and recital 
278 of the contested decision). In the present 
case, the Commission infringed those princi-
ples by accepting numerous false accusations 
made by AKZO against the applicant without 
producing other independent evidence to 
that effect (see also, to that effect, judgment 
of 14 October 1994 in Case T44/02 Dresdner 
Bank v Commission, not published in the ECR, 
paragraph 74). As it is, a particularly critical ex-
amination of AKZO’s statements was necessary 
in the light, first, of the danger that AKZO was 
exaggerating the role and importance of the 
applicant in order to turn attention away from 
its own decisive role in the implementation of 
the cartel and, second, of the fact that AKZO 
was late in making some of its unfounded ac-
cusations against the applicant. 

79. If AKZO had admitted in its letter of 17 Febru-
ary 2003 that it was itself responsible for the 
proposal of new quotas and not the applicant, 
the Commission would have had no choice 
but to take note of AKZO’s decisive role in the 
cartel, which – pursuant to point B(e) of the 
Leniency Notice – would have prohibited it 
from exempting AKZO from a fine. According 
to the applicant, the risk of being refused im-
munity from the fine and the scale of the fine 
with which AKZO was faced confirm the fact 
that AKZO had an incentive to testify against 
the applicant. Consequently, in basing its de-
cision on AKZO’s erroneous statements in the 
absence of additional and independent evi-
dence in support of its complaints and without 
questioning the credibility of those statements 
or taking account of all the facts exculpating 
the applicant, the Commission failed to have 
regard to the requirements of the fundamental 
right to a fair hearing and to the presumption 
of innocence. 
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The infringement of the principle of nullum cri-
men, nulla poena sine lege

• The effects of the principle of nullum cri-
men, nulla poena sine lege on the distinc-
tion in Community competition law be-
tween perpetration and complicity 

80. The applicant points out that, under Article 
15(2)(a) of Regulation No 17, the Commission 
may impose fines on undertakings or associa-
tions of undertakings where, either intention-
ally or negligently, they infringe Article 81(1) 
EC. However, undertakings which, without 
participating in the cartel within the meaning 
of that latter provision, merely facilitate the in-
fringement of Community law committed by 
the members of the cartel or encourage such 
an infringement to be committed do not in-
fringe Article 81(1) EC and are not liable to a 
fine under Article 15(2) of Regulation No 17. 
Consequently, by finding, in the contested 
decision, that the applicant had infringed Ar-
ticle 81(1) EC and by imposing a fine on it, the 
Commission infringed the principle of nullum 
crimen, nulla poena sine lege as laid down in 
Article 7(1) of the ECHR. In addition, according 
to the applicant, the broad interpretation of 
Article 81(1) EC adopted by the Commission 
means that the constituent element of the in-
fringement laid down in Article 81(1) EC may 
be discerned in all manner of conduct and thus 
fails to have regard for the principle of nulla po-
ena sine lege certa. 

81. The applicant submits that, under Community 
competition law, a distinction must be made 
between, on the one hand, perpetration of an 
infringement and, on the other, instigation of 
or complicity in an infringement. That distinc-
tion forms part of the general principles of 
Community law, in view of the similarity be-
tween the rules to that effect contained in the 
national legal orders, such as those laid down 
in Article 27(1) of the Strafgesetzbuch (Ger-
man penal code), Article 48 of the Wetboek 
van Strafrecht (Netherlands penal code), Arti-
cle 67 of the code pénal belge (Belgian penal 
code), Article 121-7 of the code pénal français 
(French penal code), Section 8 of the Acces-
sories and Abettors Act 1861 (United Kingdom 
penal code), Article 28(2)(b) and Article 29 of 
the Código penal (Spanish penal code) relat-
ing to complicity, Articles 46 and 47 of the 
Poinikos Kodikas (Greek penal code), Articles 
66 and 67 of the code pénal luxembourgeois 
(Luxembourg penal code), Articles 26 et seq. 
of the Código penal (Portuguese penal code), 

Chapter 23, section 4, of the Brottsbalk (Swed-
ish penal code) and Chapter 5 of the Rikoslaki 
(Finish penal code). It is also confirmed by Arti-
cle 2(1) of the Convention on the protection of 
the European Communities’ financial interests 
of 26 July 1995 (OJ 1995 C 316, p. 49), and by 
Article 11 of the Corpus Juris introducing pe-
nal provisions for the purpose of protecting 
the financial interests of the European Union 
(established under the responsibility of Mireille 
Delmas-Marty, Economica, 1997). 

82. Consequently, where penalties are imposed 
under Regulation No 17, it is also necessary to 
distinguish perpetration of an infringement 
from instigation of the infringement or com-
plicity therein. According to the applicant, in 
Community competition law there is no legis-
lative provision making it possible to penalise 
instigation of or complicity in an infringement. 
Thus, only a person who, as the perpetrator 
of an infringement, satisfies the condition laid 
down in Article 81(1) EC concerning the con-
stitution of the infringement may be penalised. 
Instigation of an infringement or complicity 
therein is not punishable. 

83. A contrary and broad interpretation of Article 
81(1) EC, such as that adopted by the Commis-
sion in the present case, infringes the principle 
of nullum crimen, nulla poena sine lege within 
the meaning of Article 7(1) of the ECHR and 
Article 49(1) of the Charter of Fundamental 
Rights of the European Union. The Eur. Court H. 
R. has acknowledged that Article 7 of the ECHR 
enshrines both that principle and the princi-
ple that the criminal law may not be applied 
broadly, in particular by analogy, to the detri-
ment of the defendant. It follows that an in-
fringement must be clearly defined by the law 
itself (Streletz and Others v Germany, judgment 
of 22 March 2001, Reports of Judgments and 
Decisions, no 34044/96 inter alia, ECHR 2001II, 
§ 50 and the caselaw cited therein). 

84. The applicant maintains that the principle of 
nullum crimen, nulla poena sine lege, as a gen-
eral principle of Community law, also applies 
to the penalty-based administrative proce-
dure under Regulation No 17 and, in particu-
lar, to the fines provided for in Article 15(2) of 
that regulation. That follows clearly from both 
Article 6(2) EU and the caselaw (Joined Cases 
C74/95 and C129/95 X [1996] ECR I6609, para-
graph 25; Brugg Rohrsysteme v Commission, 
cited in paragraph 23 above, paragraphs 109 
and 122; and LR AF 1998 v Commission, cited 
in paragraph 23 above, paragraphs 209 and 
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210). In addition, it is a principle intrinsic to the 
rule of law which ensures effective protection 
against arbitrary prosecution and punishment 
(Eur. Court H.R. Streletz and Others v Germany, 
cited in paragraph 83 above, § 50 and the 
caselaw cited therein). 

• The concept of perpetrator for the purpos-
es of Article 81 EC

85. The applicant states that the principle nulla 
poena sine lege certa, laid down in Article 7(1) 
of the ECHR (see paragraph 80 above), requires 
that a restrictive approach be adopted to the 
concept of perpetrator of an infringement for 
the purposes of Article 81(1) EC (see also, X, 
cited in paragraph 84 above, paragraph 25, and 
Case C195/99 P Krupp Hoesch v Commission 
[2003] ECR I10937, paragraph 86). That princi-
ple seeks to ensure that the penalty incurred 
for the infringement of a legal provision, such 
as the penalty provided for in Article 15(2) of 
Regulation No 17, is foreseeable for the person 
to whom that provision applies and that the 
decision-making power of the competent au-
thority is delimited in such a way as to rule out 
the possibility of’surprise’ decisions. The Court 
of Justice has held that a penalty provided for 
under Community law, even where it is not a 
criminal penalty, cannot be imposed unless it 
rests on a clear and unambiguous legal basis 
(Case 117/83 Könecke [1984] ECR 3291, para-
graph 11, and Case 137/85 Maizena [1987] ECR 
4587, paragraph 15). 

86. Moreover, according to the applicant, the 
greater the adverse effects for the individual, 
the more precise the terms in which the act of 
Community law must be framed. The Court has 
ruled to that effect in stating that the require-
ment of legal clarity is imperative in a sector in 
which any uncertainty may well lead to the ap-
plication of particularly serious penalties (Case 
32/79 Commission v United Kingdom [1980] 
ECR 2403, paragraph 46). In view of the particu-
larly heavy fines which may be imposed under 
Article 15(2) of Regulation No 17, which is con-
firmed by the Commission’s recent practice, 
the principle that penalties must have a proper 
legal basis justifies the application of a restric-
tive approach to the concept of perpetrator 
in the context of Article 81(1) EC. By the same 
token, the broad interpretation of Article 81(1) 
EC adopted by the Commission goes well be-
yond the mere gradual clarification, by means 
of judicial interpretation, of the rules governing 
criminal liability, since it is incompatible both 
with the generally recognised definition of the 

notion of’agreement’ and with the fundamen-
tal idea of autonomy which underlies the pro-
visions in the field of competition. 

87. The applicant submits that, in the present case, 
it was not the perpetrator of an infringement 
since it was neither a party to the cartel nor an 
association of undertakings. In reality, it merely 
colluded with AKZO, Atochem/Atofina and PC/
Degussa, and such conduct does not consti-
tute an infringement for the purposes of Article 
81(1) EC. In the light of the national legislation 
referred to in paragraph 81 above, the distinc-
tion between the perpetrators of an infringe-
ment and the participants must be drawn on 
the basis of objective criteria. In order to be 
subject to punishment as the perpetrator of an 
infringement under Article 81(1) EC, it is nec-
essary to belong to the categories of persons 
referred to in Article 81(1) EC and to commit 
the act referred to therein. By contrast, a person 
who, without satisfying the conditions relating 
to the constitution of an infringement for the 
purposes of Article 81(1) EC, knowingly facili-
tates, by either helping or assisting, the prepa-
ration or the commission of the infringement is 
merely complicit in the infringement and not 
subject to punishment. 

88. The infringements specified in Articles 81 
EC and 82 EC fall within a category known 
as’special’ offences since those articles restrict 
the circle of undertakings capable of being per-
petrators of such infringements to those which 
satisfy specific requirements, namely, in the 
case of Article 81 EC, the undertakings which 
are contracting parties to the agreement re-
stricting competition. That follows from the 
formulation’agreements between undertak-
ings’ used in Article 81(1) EC and is confirmed 
by the caselaw (Krupp Hoesch v Commission, 
cited in paragraph 85 above, paragraph 86). 
Accordingly, only undertakings which are 
contracting parties to the agreement restrict-
ing competition are liable to a fine under Arti-
cle 15(2) of Regulation No 17. 

89. The applicant claims that the wording and pur-
pose of Article 81(1) EC, which seeks to safe-
guard competition, make the status of perpe-
trator dependent on the question whether the 
undertaking in question is a competitor, hence 
exposed to competition and required to adopt 
certain competitive conduct. That provision 
applies only to undertakings which are sub-
ject to that specific obligation related to the 
objective of free competition. An agreement 
restricting competition can be concluded only 
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between undertakings which have the status, 
on the market concerned, of competitors, or 
sources of supply or demand. 

90. Consequently, an undertaking may be classed 
as the perpetrator of an infringement only 
where the agreement restricting competition 
comes into being in the context of its own sec-
tor of activity. The restriction of the circle of 
perpetrators of the infringement is also clear 
from the caselaw relating to the requirement 
of’autonomy’ which underlies the Treaty com-
petition rules, according to which each eco-
nomic operator must determine autonomous-
ly the policy which it intends to follow on the 
common market. That requirement of autono-
my thus strictly precludes any direct or indirect 
contact between operators, the purpose or ef-
fect of which is either to influence the conduct 
on the market of an actual or potential com-
petitor or to disclose to such a competitor the 
course of conduct which they themselves have 
decided to adopt or which they contemplate 
adopting on the market (Suiker Unie and Oth-
ers v Commission, cited in paragraph 24 above, 
paragraph 174, and Case C199/92 P Hüls v 
Commission [1999] ECR I4287, paragraph 160). 

• The applicant’s complicit and non-punish-
able status

91. The applicant maintains that it was not a party 
to the agreement restricting competition en-
tered into by the organic peroxide producers 
and that, in consequence, it did not infringe 
the requirement of autonomy which underlies 
competition law. It neither contacted its own 
competitors nor influenced or sought to influ-
ence their conduct on the market. Given that 
its economic activity is unrelated to the organic 
peroxide market, which was the subject of the 
infringement, the applicant does not satisfy the 
conditions laid down in Article 81(1) EC relat-
ing to the constitution of the infringement and 
cannot be considered to be a perpetrator of 
the infringement. Similarly, the Commission’s 
submission that the 1971 agreement, together 
with the agency agreements between the ap-
plicant, on the one hand, and AKZO, Atochem/
Atofina and PC/Degussa, on the other, form an 
alleged’general and single agreement’ imply-
ing the applicant’s participation, is erroneous. 
The preamble to the 1971 agreement refers 
exclusively to the organic peroxide producers 
as the parties to that agreement (recital 80 of 
the contested decision). 

92. As it is, the applicant has never been a party 

to that agreement (recital 339 of the contested 
decision), which formed the framework for the 
activities of the cartel between 1971 and 1999 
(recitals 89, 90 and 316 of the contested deci-
sion); nor was it ever likely to become one since 
its economic activity is unrelated to the mar-
ket concerned. However, by classing the ap-
plicant’s participation in relation to certain as-
pects of the cartel as an infringement of Article 
81(1) EC, the Commission fails to have regard 
to the wording of that provision. In addition, 
even supposing that the applicant had actu-
ally carried out the role which the Commission 
wrongly attributes to it (recital 334 of the con-
tested decision), that role, in the absence of di-
rect participation in the agreement which was 
restrictive of competition on the market con-
cerned, is not capable of infringing Article 81(1) 
EC but is one of non-punishable complicity. 

• The Commission’s former and contrasting 
decision-making practice

93. In addition, the applicant submits that the 
Commission’s approach in the contested deci-
sion is at odds with its former decision-making 
practice, as followed since 1983, in accordance 
with which consultancy firms, which are not 
present on the market concerned by the in-
fringement, are not considered to be parties to 
the agreement restricting competition or, con-
sequently, as perpetrators of an infringement 
under Article 81(1) EC. The opposite approach, 
which was defended by the Commission in 
Decision 80/1334/EEC of 17 December 1980 
relating to a proceeding under Article [81 EC] 
(IV/29.869 – Italian cast glass) (OJ 1980 L 383, p. 
19;’the Italian cast glass decision’), fails to have 
regard to the principle of nullum crimen, nulla 
poena sine lege, since the consultancy firm 
concerned was not a party to the agreement 
restricting competition, but merely complicit 
in that agreement. For that reason, the Com-
mission was right to abandon that approach 
implicitly as of 1983. In Decision 83/546/EEC 
of 17 October 1983 relating to a proceeding 
under Article [81 EC] (IV/30.064 – Cast iron and 
steel rolls) (OJ 1983 L 317, p. 1;’the cast iron and 
steel rolls decision’), the Commission classed 
only the undertakings which were present on 
the market concerned by the infringement and 
which were parties to the agreement restrict-
ing competition as perpetrators of an infringe-
ment for the purposes of Article 81(1) EC, and 
not the consultancy firm entrusted with man-
aging, inter alia, the system for the exchange 
of information between the members of the 
cartel (recitals 10 et seq.). That approach was 
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also followed by the Commission in Decision 
86/398/EEC of 23 April 1986 relating to a pro-
ceeding under Article [81 EC] (IV/31.149 – Poly-
propylene) (OJ 1986 L 230, p. 1;’the polypropyl-
ene decision’), (see recital 66); Decision 89/191/
EEC of 21 December 1988 relating to a pro-
ceeding pursuant to Article [81 EC] (IV/31.866, 
LdPE) (OJ 1989 L 74, p. 21;’the LdPE decision’) 
(see recitals 11 and 19); and Decision 94/601/
EC of 13 July 1994 relating to a proceeding un-
der Article [81 EC] (IV/C/33.833 – Cartonboard) 
(OJ 1994 L 243, p. 1;’the cartonboard decision’) 
(see recitals 2, 27 et seq., 33, 37, 61 et seq., 134 
and 162). 

94. The Commission cannot claim that the appli-
cant played a more important role, in the pre-
sent case, than the consultancy firms in the de-
cisions cited above. On the contrary, unlike the 
consultancy firms involved in the cases which 
gave rise to the cast iron and steel rolls deci-
sion and the cartonboard decision, the appli-
cant almost never attended the meetings with 
an anticompetitive purpose (see paragraph 72 
et seq. above). In addition, the other facts com-
plained of in respect of the applicant lack rel-
evance and have nothing to do with the cartel. 
Thus, the market information system based on 
official statistics did not infringe Article 81(1) EC 
(Case C179/99 P Eurofer v Commission [2003] 
ECR I10725, paragraph 44, and Case T136/94 
Eurofer v Commission [1999] ECR II263, publi-
cation by extracts, paragraph 186) since it did 
not involve the transfer between competitors 
of information covered by business secrets. In 
the light of the Commission’s settled decision-
making practice, that applies a fortiori where a 
consultancy firm merely uses the sales figures 
sent to it without itself participating in the ex-
change as such of sensitive information (recital 
12 to Commission Decision 94/599/EC of 27 
July 1994 relating to a proceeding pursuant 
to Article [81 EC] (IV/31.865 – PVC) (OJ 1994 
L 239, p. 14); recital 11 to the LdPE decision; 
and recital 66 to the polypropylene decision). 
Finally, the auditing by independent expert ac-
countants of the sales figures sent by the cartel 
members is not restrictive of competition for 
the purposes of Article 81(1) EC. Accordingly, 
the applicant’s’secretarial’ activities, referred to 
above, which are related to the cartel, amount 
merely to acts of complicity. 

• The absence of any control over the cartel 
on the part of the applicant and of a causal 
link between the applicant’s activity and 
the restriction of competition 

95. The applicant states that it had no control over 
the infringement. The decisions relating to the 
implementation, the management and the 
orientation of the cartel were taken exclusively 
by the three organic peroxide producers. Con-
sequently, there is no causal link between the 
applicant’s activity and the restriction of com-
petition on the organic peroxide market. As an 
agent under the Swiss law of obligations, sub-
ject to the instructions of those producers and 
to an obligation of confidentiality, the appli-
cant was merely a tool of the cartel members. 
However, even that is not sufficient reason for 
the applicant to be regarded as a coperpetra-
tor of the infringement on the same level as the 
organic peroxide producers. The applicant’s 
lack of control over the infringement is also 
evident from the fact that it did not participate 
in the collusive activity proper, namely the ex-
change of information between the producers 
by fax, by mobile telephone and at meetings of 
the working group at which the applicant was 
not present (see paragraph 72 et seq. above). 

96. In addition, the applicant claims that, contrary 
to the finding in recital 345 of the contested 
decision, as regards the services which it pro-
vided in the context of the cartel, such as the 
reimbursement of travel expenses, it could 
have been replaced at any moment by either 
the organic peroxide producers themselves 
or by another consultancy firm, without the 
functioning of the cartel being disrupted as it 
would have been if one of the producers had 
withdrawn. 

97. In the light of all the foregoing, the applicant 
maintains that its relationship with the three 
organic peroxide producers involved in the 
cartel should be classed as one of non-punish-
able complicity. In that regard, it is irrelevant 
that the applicant had some knowledge of the 
cartel, since that knowledge is not sufficient to 
justify the conclusion that the applicant itself 
committed an infringement (Case C286/98 P 
Stora Kopparbergs Bergslags v Commission 
[2000] ECR I9925, paragraph 39, and the Opin-
ion of Advocate General Mischo in that case, 
ECR I9928, paragraph 80). 

• The erroneous classification of the appli-
cant as an’association of undertakings’

98. Finally, the applicant disputes its classification 
as an’association of undertakings’ in Article 1 
and recitals 347, 373 and 464 of the contested 
decision. By adopting a broad interpretation 
of that concept, the Commission infringed 
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the prohibition against reasoning by analogy 
which is a corollary of the principle of nullum 
crimen, nulla poena sine lege laid down in Ar-
ticle 7(1) of the ECHR (see paragraph 83 above) 
and which also applies in the penalty-based 
administrative procedure laid down in Regu-
lation No 17. A consultancy firm such as the 
applicant is not generally regarded as consti-
tuting an’association of undertakings’, that is 
to say, an organisational structure made up of 
member undertakings. Since it is not made up 
of member undertakings, the applicant is an in-
dependent undertaking controlled exclusively 
by natural persons as shareholders. Similarly, it 
is not linked to its clients by a structural link but 
by agency agreements which are purely con-
tractual in nature. 

99. The Commission’s approach also runs counter 
to the meaning and purpose of the concept 
of’association of undertakings’. The purpose 
of that concept is not to make it possible to 
penalise persons who are complicit in the con-
duct of cartel members, but merely to prevent 
undertakings from being able to circumvent 
the rules on competition simply by virtue of 
the form they adopt in order to coordinate 
their conduct on the market; and, consequent-
ly, to encompass also institutionalised forms of 
cooperation through a collective structure or 
a common body (Opinion of Advocate Gen-
eral Léger in Case C309/99 Wouters and Others 
[2002] ECR I1577, paragraph 62). By contrast, in 
the present case, the organic peroxide produc-
ers did not act through a collective structure or 
a common body, but coordinated their con-
duct directly by fax, by telephone and through 
the meetings of the working group. In that 
regard, the applicant merely provided admin-
istrative or logistical assistance, which does not 
mean that it represents the’collective structure’ 
or the’common body’ of those producers. 

100. The applicant concludes from this that, hav-
ing played a role of non-punishable complic-
ity in relation to AKZO, Atochem/Atofina and 
PC/Degussa, it is not guilty of infringing Article 
81(1) EC and that the fact that the Commission 
imputed to it such an infringement is contrary 
to the principle of nullum crimen, nulla poena 
sine lege. 

(b)  Arguments of the Commission

The factual context of the contested decision

101. As regards the relevant facts, the Commission 
essentially submits that the applicant does 
not question the fact that it stored in its safe, 

inter alia, copies of the 1971 and 1975 agree-
ments belonging to Atochem/Atofina and PC/
Degussa. In addition, the Commission disputes 
the fact that the applicant classed the official 
market information system as a separate issue 
and maintains that that system must be placed 
back in the context of the cartel. The collect-
ing, preparing and monitoring of figures, and 
the establishing of statistics, in the framework 
of that system, in full knowledge of the reasons 
why and of the anticompetitive aims, consti-
tuted – together with the attending of meet-
ings, the proposing of quotas and the calculat-
ing of the deviations from the agreed quotas 
– a condicio sine qua non for the functioning 
of the cartel. 

102. In addition, it is not disputed that the appli-
cant attended five meetings in Zurich between 
1994 and 1998, of which four were’summit’ 
meetings, as well as the meeting with the 
AKZO representatives in Amersfoort. The appli-
cant also admitted to having reserved meeting 
rooms for three’unofficial’ meetings in Zurich 
between 1997 and 1998. In the light of those 
facts, which are not disputed, the applicant 
cannot minimise its participation by using 
words such as’rarely’ or’almost never’. The ap-
plicant also does not dispute that it calculated 
the deviations from the agreed quotas until at 
least 1995 or 1996. It also acted as a clearing 
house in order to ensure that the anticompeti-
tive meetings were not traceable from the ac-
counts of the participating undertakings. Thus, 
the applicant itself ensured, when making 
reimbursements, that no mention was made 
thereof in the internal payment orders filled 
in and signed by Mr S. Finally, the Commis-
sion disputes the applicant’s argument that 
the contested decision is based on statements 
made by AKZO to which no credibility should 
be attributed. In that regard, the Commission 
points out that the various statements regard-
ing the relevant facts, even those whose cred-
ibility is necessarily tenuous, may be regarded 
as mutually supportive (Mannesmannröhren-
Werke v Commission, cited in paragraph 77 
above, paragraph 86). 

Infringement of the principle of nullum crimen, 
nulla poena sine lege

103. The Commission denies that the contested de-
cision infringes the principle of nullum crimen, 
nulla poena sine lege. It rejects the applicant’s 
premisses that, under Community competition 
law, following the example of the criminal laws 
of a number of Member States, a formal distinc-
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tion must be made between perpetration, on 
the one hand, and instigation or complicity, on 
the other. Neither the relevant primary nor sec-
ondary legislation makes such a distinction. In 
addition, as confirmed by Article 15(4) of Regu-
lation No 17, the administrative procedure laid 
down in that regulation is not of a criminal-law 
nature (Case T83/91 Tetra Pak v Commission 
[1994] ECR II755, paragraph 235). Furthermore, 
it is not necessary to make such a formal dis-
tinction in Community competition law since, 
in determining the amount of the fine, account 
may be taken of the existence of different 
forms of participation and of the gravity of the 
contribution to the infringement (Opinion of 
Advocate General StixHackl in Krupp Hoesch v 
Commission, cited in paragraph 85 above, ECR 
I10941, footnote 15). 

104. In the absence of a rule distinguishing the per-
petrator from the participant, any person satis-
fying the conditions relating to the constitution 
of the infringement specified in Article 81(1) EC 
may be fined under Article 15(2) of Regulation 
No 17. The Commission adds that the impera-
tive requirement, resulting from the principle 
of legal certainty, that Community legal acts be 
clear and that their application be sufficiently 
predictable for the persons concerned does 
not mean that it is never necessary to interpret 
those acts. The Eur. Court H. R. also recognises 
the need to strike a balance between, on the 
one hand, the obligation to be precise and 
the prohibition under Article 7(1) of the ECHR 
against reasoning by analogy in criminal law 
matters and, on the other, interpretation by 
the courts which is intended, in particular, to 
clarify the rules on criminal liability gradually, 
from one case to another (Eur. Court H. R., S.W. 
v United Kingdom, judgment of 22 November 
1995, Series A no 335-B, § 36). Consequently, 
any person who satisfies the conditions laid 
down in Article 81(1) EC is a perpetrator of an 
infringement. 

105. The Commission objects to the applicant’s 
claim that it was not a party to the cartel and 
could not be one. The 1971 agreement, con-
cluded between the organic peroxide produc-
ers, and the agency agreements, concluded 
between the applicant and those producers, 
should be regarded as essential elements of 
one and the same cartel. Given that the agency 
agreements served for the implementation of 
the 1971 agreement, they should be assessed 
together with that agreement as complemen-
tary and accessory agreements (recitals 339 
and 340 of the contested decision; see also the 

Italian cast glass decision). 

106. In that regard, it is not necessary, in the light of 
the wording of Article 81(1) EC, for the appli-
cant, in its capacity as a consultancy firm, to be 
active on the market at issue as a competitor 
or on the side of supply or demand. Nor is it a 
requirement that the commercial autonomy of 
the undertakings concerned, and the compe-
tition between them, be restricted: rather, any 
restriction of competition within the common 
market is sufficient. That is consistent with the 
objective of Article 81 EC which, in accordance 
with Article 3(1)(g) EC, forms part of a system 
ensuring that competition in the internal mar-
ket is not distorted (see also recital 9 to Coun-
cil Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 of 16 December 
2002 on the implementation of the rules on 
competition laid down in Articles 81 [EC] and 
82 [EC] (OJ 2003 L 1, p. 1)). 

107. Article 81(1) EC is applicable not only 
to’horizontal’ agreements but also to’vertical’ 
agreements restrictive of competition, con-
cluded between undertakings situated at dif-
ferent stages of the distribution chain (Joined 
Cases 56/64 and 58/64 Consten and Grundig 
v Commission [1966] ECR 299), or concluded 
between undertakings active on different mar-
kets. In that regard, the notion of agreement 
seeks merely to enable a distinction to be 
made between coordination which is prohib-
ited, and parallel conduct which is permitted 
(see, also, Case T61/99 Adriatica di Navigazione 
v Commission [2003] ECR II5349, paragraph 
89). Moreover, an infringement under Arti-
cle 81(1) EC is in the nature of an abstraktes 
Gefährdungsdelikt (an offence consisting in 
the creation of a state of affairs which is dan-
gerous, where no specific danger need be 
statutorily defined) since that provision also 
concerns the restriction of competition, that is 
to say, the cartel poses a danger for competi-
tion, generally speaking and quite apart from 
the individual case. 

108. Next, the Commission refers to caselaw to 
the effect that, where an undertaking merely 
attends meetings with an anticompetitive 
purpose and tacitly approves an unlawful ini-
tiative, without publicly distancing itself from 
the content of that initiative or reporting it 
to the administrative authorities, it thereby 
engages in a passive form of participation in 
the infringement which is capable of render-
ing that undertaking liable in the context of a 
single agreement (Aalborg Portland and Oth-
ers v Commission, cited in paragraph 23 above, 
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paragraphs 83 and 84; Case T7/89 Hercules 
Chemicals v Commission [1991] ECR II1711, 
paragraph 232; Case T12/89 Solvay v Commis-
sion [1992] ECR II907, paragraph 98; and Case 
T141/89 Tréfileurope v Commission [1995] ECR 
II791, paragraphs 85 and 86). That is a fortiori 
the case where an undertaking actively partici-
pates in a cartel, whether or not that undertak-
ing is active on the market at issue. 

109. In the present case, the applicant’s role in the 
cartel was not one of passive complicity: it par-
ticipated actively in that cartel as an organiser 
and by fostering its proper implementation 
(recital 343 of the contested decision). Through 
its activities, the applicant was of considerable 
assistance in keeping the cartel alive and in 
concealing its existence; thus it contributed 
considerably to the serious and long-term 
restriction of competition on the organic 
peroxide market. According to the Commis-
sion, those are both necessary and sufficient 
elements on which to base the applicant’s li-
ability under Article 81(1) EC. In that regard, 
it is irrelevant whether or not a participant in 
an infringement derives a profit from it (Krupp 
Hoesch v Commission, cited in paragraph 85 
above), since Article 81(1) EC is not based on 
the criterion of enrichment but on that of jeop-
ardising competition. 

110. In any event, the applicant directly benefited 
from the success of the cartel (recital 342 of the 
contested decision). According to the Com-
mission, another factor which is not decisive is 
whether or not a participant is in a position to 
exert a direct influence on the prices and quan-
tities which indicate the parameters of compe-
tition (see, by analogy, Brugg Rohrsysteme v 
Commission, cited in paragraph 23 above, par-
agraph 61). Otherwise, the useful effect of the 
prohibition laid down in Article 81(1) EC would 
be frustrated, as it would be possible to circum-
vent that prohibition by engaging’specialists in 
the provision of collusive services’, who could 
be entrusted with organising the cartel, keep-
ing it alive and concealing its existence. 

111. The Commission therefore contends that the 
present plea should be rejected. 

2.FindingsoftheCourt
(a)  Preliminary observations

112. It should be pointed out, first, that the appli-
cant does not dispute as such the amount of 
the fine imposed on it in the contested deci-
sion. By the present plea, the applicant essen-

tially submits that, by holding it liable for an in-
fringement of Article 81(1) EC and by imposing 
a fine on it, the Commission oversteps the lim-
its of the decision-making power conferred on 
it under Article 15(2) of Regulation No 17 and 
infringes the principle of nullum crimen, nulla 
poena sine lege for the purposes of Article 7(1) 
of the ECHR. In that regard, according to the 
applicant, the Commission should have taken 
account of the fact that the applicant merely 
played a role of non-punishable complicity in 
the cartel, and cannot therefore be classed as 
an undertaking or association of undertakings 
which is the’perpetrator’ of an infringement, as 
referred to in Article 81(1) EC. 

113. Next, it should be pointed out that the pro-
cedure before the Commission under Regula-
tion 17 is merely administrative in nature (see, 
to that effect, Aalborg Portland and Others 
v Commission, cited in paragraph 23 above, 
paragraph 200; Joined Cases T-25/95, T-26/95, 
T-30/95, T31/95, T-32/95, T-34/95, T-35/95, 
T36/95, T-37/95, T-38/95, T39/95, T-42/95, 
T-43/95, T-44/95, T-45/95, T46/95, T-48/95, 
T50/95, T-51/95, T-52/95, T-53/95, T-54/95, 
T-55/95, T56/95, T57/95, T-58/95, T-59/95, 
T-60/95, T-61/95, T-62/95, T-63/95, T64/95, 
T-65/95, T-68/95, T-69/95, T-70/95, T-71/95, 
T-87/95, T88/95, T103/95 and T-104/95 Cimen-
teries CBR and Others v Commission [2000] ECR 
II491, paragraphs 717 and 718) and that, conse-
quently, the general principles of Community 
law and, in particular, the principle of nullum 
crimen, nulla poena sine lege, as applicable 
to Community competition law (Joined Cases 
C-189/02 P, C-202/02 P, C-205/02 P to C-208/02 
P and C-213/02 P Dansk Rørindustri and Oth-
ers v Commission [2005] ECR I5425, paragraphs 
215 to 223) need not necessarily have the same 
scope as when they apply to a situation cov-
ered by criminal law in the strict sense. 

114. In order to determine whether it is necessary to 
draw a distinction, in the light of the prohibition 
laid down in Article 81(1) EC and the principle 
of nullum crimen, nulla poena sine lege, be-
tween an undertaking which is a’perpetrator’ 
of an infringement and an undertaking whose 
role is one of non-punishable’complicity’, it is 
necessary to make a literal, contextual and tele-
ological interpretation of Article 81(1) EC (see, 
as regards the methodology, Case T251/00 La-
gardère and Canal+ v Commission [2002] ECR 
II4825, paragraphs 72 et seq., and Joined Cases 
T22/02 and T23/02 Sumitomo Chemical and 
Sumika Fine Chemicals v Commission [2005] 
ECR II4065, paragraphs 41 et seq.). 



1037CASET-99/04AC-TREUHANDAGVCOMMISSIONOFTHEEUROPEANCOMMUNITIES

EC
J

EC
HR

(b)  The literal interpretation of Article 81(1) EC 

115. Article 81(1) EC states that’[t]he following shall 
be prohibited as incompatible with the com-
mon market: all agreements between under-
takings, decisions by associations of undertak-
ings and concerted practices which may affect 
trade between Member States and which have 
as their object or effect the prevention, restric-
tion or distortion of competition within the 
common market’. 

116. It is appropriate to consider the full implica-
tions of the term’agreements between under-
takings’. 

117. In that regard, it should be noted, first, that 
the Community judicature has yet to give an 
explicit ruling on the question whether the no-
tions of agreement and undertaking as used in 
Article 81(1) EC are conceived in accordance 
with a’unitary’ perspective, so as to cover any 
undertaking which has contributed to the 
committing of an infringement, irrespective of 
the economic sector in which that undertaking 
is normally active or – as the applicant submits 
– in accordance with a’bipolar’ perspective, so 
that a distinction is drawn between undertak-
ings which’perpetrate’ an infringement and 
those whose role is one of’complicity’ in the 
infringement. It should also be noted that, ac-
cording to the applicant, there is a lacuna in 
the wording of Article 81(1) EC, in that, in refer-
ring to the’undertaking’ which is the perpetra-
tor of the infringement and to its participation 
in the’agreement’, that provision covers only 
certain undertakings with particular charac-
teristics and refers only to certain forms of par-
ticipation. Consequently, it is only on the as-
sumption that the notions of undertaking and 
agreement fall to be so narrowly construed, 
and that the scope of Article 81(1) EC is accord-
ingly so limited, that the principle of nullum 
crimen, nulla poena sine lege could be applied 
in such a way as to preclude a broad interpreta-
tion of the wording of that provision. 

118. As regards the term’agreement’, it should be 
noted, first of all, that that term is merely an-
other way of indicating coordinated/collusive 
conduct which is restrictive of competition, or 
a cartel in the wider sense, in which at least two 
distinct undertakings participate after express-
ing their joint intention of conducting them-
selves on the market in a specific way (see, to 
that effect, Commission v Anic Partecipazioni, 
cited in paragraph 65 above, paragraphs 79 
and 112; Case T41/96 Bayer v Commission 

[2000] ECR II3383, paragraphs 67 and 173; and 
Joined Cases T-44/02 OP, T-54/02 OP, T-56/02 
OP, T60/02 OP and T-61/02 OP Dresdner Bank 
and Others v Commission [2006] ECR II3567, 
paragraphs 53 to 55). Furthermore, in order to 
constitute an agreement within the meaning 
of Article 81(1) EC, it is sufficient that an act or 
conduct, albeit apparently unilateral, be the 
expression of the concurrence of wills of at 
least two parties, the form in which that con-
currence is expressed not being by itself deci-
sive (Case C74/04 P Commission v Volkswagen 
[2006] ECR I6585, paragraph 37). That broad 
notion of agreement is confirmed by the fact 
that the prohibition laid down in Article 81(1) 
EC also covers concerted practice whereby 
there is a form of coordination between un-
dertakings which does not lead to the con-
clusion of an agreement as such (see, to that 
effect, Commission v Anic Partecipazioni, cited 
in paragraph 65 above, paragraph 115 and the 
caselaw cited therein). 

119. In the present case, the question arises wheth-
er, as claimed by the applicant, the cartel must 
concern a specific sector of activity, or even the 
same market for goods or services, so that only 
undertakings which are active in such a sec-
tor or market as competitors, or on the side of 
supply or demand, are capable of coordinating 
their conduct as undertakings which are the 
(co)perpetrators of an infringement. 

120. In that regard, it should be noted that Article 
81(1) EC applies not only to’horizontal’ agree-
ments between undertakings exercising a 
commercial activity on the same market for 
the relevant goods and services, but also 
to’vertical’ agreements which entail the co-
ordination of conduct between undertakings 
active at different stages of the production 
and/or distribution chain, and, consequently, 
operating on markets for different goods or 
services (see, in that regard, Cour Consten and 
Grundig v Commission, cited in paragraph 
107 above, pp. 339 and 340; Joined Cases 
C2/01 P and C3/01 P BAI and Commission v 
Bayer [2004] ECR I23; Case C551/03 P General 
Motors v Commission [2006] ECR I3173; Com-
mission v Volkswagen, cited in paragraph 118 
above; order of the Court of Justice in Case 
C552/03 P Unilever Bestfoods v Commission 
[2006] ECR I9091; Case T112/99 M6 and Others 
v Commission [2001] ECR II2459, paragraph 72 
et seq.; see, also, Commission Regulation (EC) 
No 2790/1999 of 22 December 1999 on the ap-
plication of Article 81(3) [EC] to categories of 
vertical agreements and concerted practices 



1038 CASET-99/04AC-TREUHANDAGVCOMMISSIONOFTHEEUROPEANCOMMUNITIES

EC
HR

EC
J

(OJ 1999 L 336, p. 21) and Commission notice 
(2000/C 291/01) – Guidelines on Vertical Re-
straints (OJ 2000 C 291, p. 1)). 

121. Similarly, it is apparent from the caselaw that, 
to fall within the ambit of the prohibition laid 
down in Article 81(1) EC it is sufficient that 
the agreement at issue restricts competition 
on the neighbouring and/or emerging mar-
kets on which at least one of the participating 
undertakings is not (yet) present (see, to that 
effect, Case T328/03 O2 (Germany) v Commis-
sion [2006] ECR II1231, paragraphs 65 et seq.; 
see also, as regards the application of Article 
82 EC, Case C333/94 P Tetra Pak v Commission 
[1996] ECR I5951). 

122. In that regard, the formulations used in the 
caselaw – the’joint intention of conducting 
themselves on the market in a specific way’ 
(Bayer v Commission, cited in paragraph 118 
above, paragraph 67) or’expression of the joint 
intention of the parties to the agreement with 
regard to their conduct in the common market’ 
(ACF Chemiefarma v Commission, cited in par-
agraph 23 above, paragraph 112) – stress the 
element of’joint intention’ and do not require 
the relevant market on which the undertak-
ing which is the’perpetrator’ of the restriction 
of competition is active to be exactly the same 
as the one on which that restriction is deemed 
to materialise. It follows that any restriction of 
competition within the common market may 
be classed as an’agreement between under-
takings’ within the meaning of Article 81(1) EC. 
That conclusion is confirmed by the criterion of 
the existence of an agreement whose object 
is to restrict competition within the common 
market. That criterion implies that an undertak-
ing may infringe the prohibition laid down in 
Article 81(1) EC where the purpose of its con-
duct, as coordinated with that of other under-
takings, is to restrict competition on a specific 
relevant market within the common market, 
and that does not mean that the undertaking 
has to be active on that relevant market itself. 

123. It is clear from the foregoing that a literal in-
terpretation of the term’agreements between 
undertakings’ does not require a restrictive in-
terpretation of the notion of perpetrator of the 
infringement as argued by the applicant. 

(c)  The  contextual  and  teleological  interpre-
tation of Article 81(1) EC 

The requirement of restricted commercial au-
tonomy

124. In support of its plea, the applicant also claims 
that the notion of perpetrator of the infringe-
ment necessarily implies that the latter restricts 
its own commercial autonomy vis-à-vis its 
competitors and thus contradicts the require-
ment of autonomy which underlies Article 
81(1) EC, according to which each economic 
operator must determine autonomously the 
policy which it intends to follow on the com-
mon market. 

125. As pointed out by the applicant by reference 
to the relevant caselaw, the requirement of 
autonomy was developed, inter alia, in the 
context of the caselaw on the distinction be-
tween prohibited concerted practices and 
parallel conduct which is permitted between 
competitors (see, to that effect, Commission 
v Anic Partecipazioni, cited in paragraph 65 
above, paragraphs 115 to 117 and the caselaw 
cited therein, and Adriatica di Navigazione v 
Commission, cited in paragraph 107 above, 
paragraph 89). In addition, it is apparent from 
the distinction made by the caselaw between 
the existence of an agreement restricting com-
petition for the purposes of Article 81(1) EC, on 
the one hand, and the presence of a simple 
unilateral measure adopted by an undertaking 
seeking to impose a certain form of conduct 
on other undertakings, on the other, that the 
restriction of competition must result from 
the manifestation, sufficiently established, of 
a concurrence of wills between the undertak-
ings involved as regards the implementation 
of a particular line of conduct (see, to that ef-
fect, BAI and Commission v Bayer, cited in para-
graph 120 above, paragraphs 96 to 102 and 
141, and Commission v Volkswagen, cited in 
paragraph 118 above, paragraph 37). It follows 
that, contrary to the applicant’s submissions, 
the requirement of autonomy is not directly 
linked to the question – which is not relevant 
in the present case (see paragraphs 120 to 
123 above) – whether or not the undertak-
ings restricting their commercial freedom are 
active in the same sector of activity or on the 
same relevant market, but rather to the notions 
of’concerted practice’ and’agreement’, since 
those notions require proof of a sufficiently 
clear and precise manifestation of a concur-
rence of wills between the undertakings in-
volved. 

126. Furthermore, the applicant overestimates the 
importance of the criterion of restriction of 
commercial freedom in the context of assess-
ing whether there is a restriction of competi-
tion for the purposes of Article 81(1) EC. As 



1039CASET-99/04AC-TREUHANDAGVCOMMISSIONOFTHEEUROPEANCOMMUNITIES

EC
J

EC
HR

is apparent from settled caselaw, not every 
agreement between undertakings or every de-
cision of an association of undertakings which 
restricts the freedom of action of the parties 
or of one of them necessarily falls within the 
ambit of the prohibition laid down in Article 
81(1) EC. For the purposes of applying that 
provision to a particular case, account must 
first be taken of the overall context in which 
that agreement or that decision was arrived at 
or produces its effects and, more specifically, 
of its objectives (Wouters and Others, cited in 
paragraph 99 above, paragraph 97, and Case 
C519/04 P MecaMedina and Majcen v Com-
mission [2006] ECR I6991, paragraph 42). In 
that regard, the Court has made it clear that 
it was not necessary to hold, wholly abstractly 
and without drawing any distinctions, that any 
agreement restricting the freedom of action of 
one or more of the parties is necessarily caught 
by the prohibition laid down in Article 81(1) EC 
but that, in assessing the applicability of Article 
81(1) to an agreement, account must be taken 
of the actual conditions in which it functioned, 
in particular the economic and legal context in 
which the undertakings operated, the prod-
ucts or services covered by the agreement and 
the actual structure and operating conditions 
of the market concerned (see M6 and Others 
v Commission, cited in paragraph 120 above, 
paragraph 76 and the caselaw cited therein). 

127. As regards that contextual notion of restriction 
of competition, it is not therefore to be ruled 
out that an undertaking may participate in the 
implementation of such a restriction even if it 
does not restrict its own freedom of action on 
the market on which it is primarily active. Any 
other interpretation might restrict the scope of 
the prohibition laid down in Article 81(1) EC to 
an extent incompatible with its useful effect 
and its main objective, as read in the light of 
Article 3(1)(g) EC, which is to ensure that com-
petition in the internal market is not distorted, 
since proceedings against an undertaking for 
actively contributing to a restriction of compe-
tition could be blocked simply on the ground 
that that contribution does not come from an 
economic activity forming part of the relevant 
market on which that restriction materialises or 
on which it is intended to materialise. It should 
be pointed out that, as submitted by the Com-
mission, it is only by making all’undertakings’ 
within the meaning of Article 81(1) EC subject 
to liability that that useful effect can be fully 
guaranteed, since that makes it possible to pe-
nalise and to prevent the creation of new forms 

of collusion with the assistance of undertakings 
which are not active on the markets concerned 
by the restriction of competition, with the aim 
of circumventing the prohibition laid down in 
Article 81(1) EC. 

128. The Court concludes from this that a reading 
of the term’agreements between undertak-
ings’ in the light of the objectives pursued by 
Article 81(1) EC and by Article 3(1)(g) EC tends 
to confirm that the notions of a cartel and of 
an undertaking which is the perpetrator of an 
infringement are conceptually independent 
of any distinction based on the sector or the 
market on which the undertakings concerned 
are active. 

The conditions in which the participation of an 
undertaking in a cartel constitutes an infringe-
ment of Article 81(1) EC 

129. Next, it is necessary to note the caselaw con-
cerning the conditions which the participation 
of an undertaking in a cartel must satisfy for it 
to be possible to hold that undertaking liable 
as a coperpetrator of the infringement. 

130. In that regard, it is sufficient for the Commis-
sion to show that the undertaking concerned 
attended meetings at which anticompetitive 
agreements were concluded, without mani-
festing its opposition to such meetings, to 
prove to the requisite legal standard that that 
undertaking participated in the cartel. In order 
to establish that an undertaking participated 
in a single agreement, made up of a series of 
unlawful acts over time, the Commission must 
prove that that undertaking intended, through 
its own conduct, to contribute to the common 
objectives pursued by the participants as a 
whole and that it was aware of the substantive 
conduct planned or implemented by other 
undertakings in pursuance of those objectives, 
or that it could reasonably have foreseen that 
conduct and that it was ready to accept the 
attendant risk. In that regard, where an un-
dertaking tacitly approves an unlawful initia-
tive, without publicly distancing itself from the 
content of that initiative or reporting it to the 
administrative authorities, the effect of its be-
haviour is to encourage the continuation of the 
infringement and to compromise its discovery. 
It thereby engages in a passive form of partici-
pation in the infringement which is therefore 
capable of rendering that undertaking liable in 
the context of a single agreement (see, to that 
effect, Commission v Anic Partecipazioni, cited 
in paragraph 65 above, paragraphs 83 and 87; 
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Aalborg Portland and Others v Commission, 
cited in paragraph 23 above, paragraphs 81 to 
84; and Dansk Rørindustri and Others v Com-
mission, cited in point 113 above, paragraphs 
142 and 143; see also Tréfileurope v Commis-
sion, cited in paragraph 108 above, paragraph 
85 and the caselaw cited therein). It is also ap-
parent from the caselaw that those principles 
apply mutatis mutandis in respect of meetings 
which are attended not only by competing 
producers, but also by their clients (see, to that 
effect, Joined Cases T-202/98, T-204/98 and 
T-207/98 Tate & Lyle and Others v Commission 
[2001] ECR II2035, paragraphs 62 to 66). 

131. In addition, as regards the determination of 
the individual liability of an undertaking whose 
participation in the cartel is not as extensive or 
intense as that of the other undertakings, it is 
apparent from the caselaw that, although the 
agreements and concerted practices referred 
to in Article 81(1) EC necessarily result from 
collaboration by several undertakings, all of 
whom are co-perpetrators of the infringement 
but whose participation can take different 
forms – according to, inter alia, the character-
istics of the market concerned and the position 
of each undertaking on that market, the aims 
pursued and the means of implementation 
chosen or envisaged – the mere fact that each 
undertaking takes part in the infringement in 
ways particular to it does not suffice to rule 
out its liability for the entire infringement, in-
cluding conduct put into effect by other par-
ticipating undertakings but sharing the same 
anticompetitive object or effect (Commission 
v Anic Partecipazioni, cited in paragraph 65 
above, paragraphs 78 to 80). 

132. Accordingly, the fact that an undertaking did 
not take part in all aspects of an anti-compet-
itive scheme, or that it played only a minor 
role in the aspects in which it did participate, 
is not material to the establishment of an in-
fringement on its part. Although the limited 
importance, as the case may be, of the partici-
pation of the undertaking concerned cannot 
therefore call into question its individual liabil-
ity for the infringement as a whole, it none the 
less has an influence on the assessment of the 
extent of that liability and thus on the sever-
ity of the penalty (see, to that effect, Commis-
sion v Anic Partecipazioni, cited in paragraph 
65 above, paragraph 90; Aalborg Portland and 
Others v Commission, cited in paragraph 23 
above, paragraph 86; and Dansk Rørindustri 
and Others v Commission, cited in paragraph 
113 above, paragraph 145). 

133. It is clear from the above considerations that, 
as regards the relationship between competi-
tors on the same relevant market and the rela-
tionship between such competitors and their 
clients, the caselaw recognises the joint liability 
of the undertakings which are coperpetrators 
of an infringement under Article 81(1) EC and/
or which have played an accessory role in such 
an infringement, in so far as it has been held 
that the objective condition for the attribution 
of various anticompetitive acts constituting the 
cartel as a whole to the undertaking concerned 
is satisfied where that undertaking has contrib-
uted to its implementation, even in a subsidi-
ary, accessory or passive role, for example by 
tacitly approving the cartel and by failing to 
report it to the administrative authorities, since 
the potentially limited importance of that con-
tribution may be taken into consideration for 
the purposes of determining the level of the 
fine. 

134. In addition, the attribution of the infringement 
as a whole to the participating undertaking 
depends on the manifestation of its own in-
tention, which shows that it is in agreement, 
albeit only tacitly, with the objectives of the 
cartel. That subjective condition is inherent in 
the criteria relating to the tacit approval of the 
cartel and to the undertaking having publicly 
distanced itself from the content of the cartel 
(Aalborg Portland and Others v Commission, 
cited in paragraph 23 above, paragraph 84; 
Dansk Rørindustri and Others v Commission, 
cited in paragraph 113 above, paragraph 143; 
and Tréfileurope v Commission, cited in para-
graph 108 above, paragraph 85), in that those 
criteria imply a presumption that the under-
taking concerned continues to endorse the 
objectives of the cartel and to support its im-
plementation. That condition also constitutes 
the justification for holding the undertaking 
concerned to be liable together with the oth-
ers, since it intended to contribute through its 
own conduct to the common objectives pur-
sued by the participants as a whole and was 
aware of the anticompetitive conduct of the 
other participants, or could reasonably have 
foreseen that conduct, and was ready to ac-
cept the attendant risk (Commission v Anic 
Partecipazioni, cited in paragraph 65 above, 
paragraphs 83 and 87, and Aalborg Portland 
and Others v Commission, cited in paragraph 
23 above, paragraph 83). 

135. If the attribution of the infringement as a whole 
to the undertaking concerned is to be in line 
with the requirements of the principle of indi-
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vidual liability, the conditions set out in para-
graphs 133 and 134 above must be complied 
with (see, to that effect, Commission v Anic 
Partecipazioni, cited in paragraph 65 above, 
paragraph 84). 

136. In the light of the considerations set out in par-
agraphs 115 to 127 above, the Court considers 
that those principles apply mutatis mutandis 
to the participation of an undertaking whose 
economic activity and professional expertise 
mean that it cannot but be aware of the anti-
competitive nature of the conduct at issue and 
enable it to make a significant contribution to 
the committing of the infringement. In those 
circumstances, the applicant’s argument that 
a consultancy firm cannot be regarded as a 
coperpetrator of an infringement – because 
it does not carry out an economic activity on 
the relevant market affected by the restriction 
of competition and because its contribution to 
the cartel is merely subordinate – cannot be 
upheld. 

The interpretation of Article 81(1) EC in the 
light of the principle of nullum crimen, nulla 
poena sine lege

137. However, the applicant submits, in essence, 
that such a’unitary’ conception of the perpe-
trator of an infringement under Article 81(1) EC 
is incompatible with the requirements flowing 
from the principle of nullum crimen, nulla po-
ena sine lege under Article 7(1) of the ECHR, as 
well as with those flowing from the rules com-
mon to the legal systems of the Member States, 
concerning the distinction between perpetra-
tion and complicity, which are applicable to 
both criminal law and competition law. 

138. In that regard, the Court notes, first, as was 
pointed out in paragraph 45 above, that funda-
mental rights are an integral part of the general 
principles of law whose observance the Com-
munity judicature ensures by taking account, 
in particular, of the ECHR as a source of inspi-
ration. 

139. Next, the Community judicature has applied 
the principle of nullum crimen, nulla poena 
sine lege as a general principle of Community 
law in cases concerning competition law, in the 
light of the caselaw of the Eur. Court H. R. (see 
Dansk Rørindustri and Others v Commission, 
cited in paragraph 113 above, paragraphs 215 
et seq., and Case T43/02 Jungbunzlauer v Com-
mission [2006] ECR II3435, paragraphs 71 et 
seq. and the caselaw cited therein). Generally 
speaking, that principle requires, inter alia, that 

any Community legislation, in particular where 
it imposes or permits the imposition of penal-
ties, must be clear and precise so that the per-
sons concerned may know without ambiguity 
what rights and obligations flow from it and 
may take steps accordingly. By the same token, 
that principle must be observed in regard both 
to provisions of a criminal-law nature and to 
specific administrative instruments imposing 
or permitting the imposition of administrative 
penalties (see, to that effect, Maizena, cited in 
paragraph 85 above, paragraphs 14 and 15, 
and X, cited in paragraph 84 above, paragraph 
25), such as penalties imposed under Regula-
tion No 17. 

140. In addition, it is apparent from the consist-
ent interpretation which the Eur. Court H. R. 
has given to Article 7(1) of the ECHR that the 
principle of nullum crimen, nulla poena sine 
lege, which is laid down therein, requires, inter 
alia, that criminal law not be applied broadly, 
in particular by analogy, to the detriment of 
the defendant. It follows that an infringement 
must be clearly defined by the law, a condi-
tion which is satisfied where the individual can 
know from the wording of the relevant provi-
sion – and, if need be, with the assistance of 
the courts’ interpretation – what acts or omis-
sions would make him criminally liable. In that 
regard, the Eur. Court H. R. has stated that the 
concept of law used in Article 7 of the ECHR is 
the same as that to be found in other articles 
thereof and that it encompasses both law de-
riving from legislation and that deriving from 
case-law, and implies qualitative conditions, 
in particular those of accessibility and foresee-
ability (see Eur. Court H. R. Kokkinakis v Greece, 
judgment of 25 May 1993, Series A no. 260-A, § 
40, 41 and 52; S.W. v United Kingdom, cited in 
paragraph 104 above, § 35; Cantoni v France, 
judgment of 15 November 1996, Reports of 
Judgments and Decisions, 1996-V, p. 1627, § 
29; Başkaya and Okçuoğlu v Turkey, judgment 
of 8 July 1999, Reports of Judgments and Deci-
sions, 1999-IV, p. 308, § 36; Coëme and Others 
v Belgium, judgment of 22 June 2000, Reports 
of Judgments and Decisions, 2000VII, p. 1, § 
145; E.K. v Turkey, no. 28496/95, § 51, 7 Febru-
ary 2002; see also DanskRørindustri and Others 
v Commission, cited in paragraph 113 above, 
paragraph 216). 

141. In the light of that caselaw, the principle of nul-
lum crimen, nulla poena sine lege cannot be 
interpreted as prohibiting the gradual clarifi-
cation of the rules of criminal liability through 
interpretation by the courts (Dansk Rørindustri 
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and Others v Commission, cited in paragraph 
113 above, paragraph 217). According to 
the caselaw of the Eur. Court H. R., however 
clearly a legal provision is drafted, including 
a provision of criminal law, there is inevitably 
a need for interpretation by the courts and it 
will always be necessary to elucidate points of 
doubt and to adapt the wording to changing 
circumstances. Moreover, according to the Eur. 
Court H. R., it is well established in the legal tra-
ditions of the contracting parties to the ECHR 
that caselaw, as a source of law, necessarily 
contributes to the progressive development of 
the criminal law (S.W. v United Kingdom, cited 
in paragraph 104 above, § 36). In that regard, 
the Eur. Court H. R. has recognised that even 
the wording of many statutes is not absolutely 
precise and that, because of the need to avoid 
excessive rigidity and to keep pace with chang-
ing circumstances, much legislation is inevita-
bly couched in terms which, to a greater or 
lesser degree, are vague and their interpreta-
tion and application depend on practice (Kok-
kinakis v Greece, cited in paragraph 140 above, 
§ 52, and E.K. v Turkey, cited in paragraph 140 
above, § 52, and Jungbunzlauer v Commis-
sion, cited in paragraph 139 above, paragraph 
80). Thus, in addition to the actual wording of 
the legislation, the Eur. Court H. R. also takes 
account of the settled and published case-law 
when deciding whether the concepts used are 
definite or not (G. v France, judgment of 27 
September 1995, Series A no. 325-B, § 25). 

142. Nevertheless, although the principle of nul-
lum crimen, nulla poena sine lege in principle 
enables the rules governing criminal liability to 
be gradually clarified through interpretation 
by the courts, it may preclude the retroactive 
application of a new interpretation of a rule es-
tablishing an offence. That is particularly true 
if the result of that interpretation was not rea-
sonably foreseeable at the time when the of-
fence was committed, especially in the light of 
the interpretation attributed to the provision in 
the case-law at the material time. Furthermore, 
the notion of foreseeability depends to a con-
siderable degree on the content of the text in 
issue, the field it is designed to cover and the 
number and status of those to whom it applies, 
and does not preclude the person concerned 
from taking appropriate legal advice to assess, 
to a degree that is reasonable in the circum-
stances, the consequences which a given ac-
tion may entail. This is particularly true in the 
case of persons engaged in a professional ac-
tivity, who are used to having to proceed with 

a high degree of caution when pursuing their 
occupation. They can thus be expected to take 
special care in assessing the risks that such an 
activity entails (DanskRørindustri and Others 
v Commission, cited in paragraph 113 above, 
paragraphs 217 to 219, referring to Cantoni v 
France, cited in paragraph 140 above, para-
graph 35). 

143. It is apparent from the above considerations 
that the interpretation of the full implications 
of Article 81(1) EC and, in particular, of the 
terms’agreement’ and’undertaking’, according 
to which any undertaking which has contrib-
uted to the implementation of the cartel falls 
within its scope even if that undertaking is not 
active on the relevant market affected by the 
restriction of competition, must have been suf-
ficiently foreseeable, at the time of the perpe-
tration of the alleged misconduct, in the light 
of the wording of that provision, as interpreted 
by the caselaw. 

144. In that regard, it should be pointed out that 
the terms’agreement’ and’undertaking’, within 
the meaning of Article 81(1) EC, constitute le-
gal concepts which have not been delimited, 
the full implications of which fall ultimately to 
be determined by the Community judicature, 
and the application of which by the adminis-
tration is subject to full judicial review. In those 
circumstances, the gradual clarification of the 
notions of’agreement’ and’undertaking’ by the 
Community judicature is of decisive impor-
tance in assessing whether their application in 
practice is definite and foreseeable. 

145. First, the Court considers that, in the light of the 
settled caselaw referred to in paragraphs 115 
to 128 above, the term ‘agreements between 
undertakings’ in Article 81(1) EC constitutes a 
sufficiently precise expression of the notions 
of cartel and perpetrator of the infringement, 
as described in paragraph 128 above – in that 
that term covers any undertaking which acts in 
a collusive manner, irrespective of the sector 
of activity or of the relevant market on which 
it is active – to ensure that such an undertak-
ing cannot be unaware, or even fail to recog-
nise, that it is exposing itself to legal action if it 
adopts such conduct. 

146. Second, as has been pointed out in paragraphs 
129 to 135 above, settled caselaw exists in rela-
tion to the shared liability under Article 81(1) 
EC of undertakings which are coperpetrators 
of an infringement and/or which are complicit 
in the overall infringement, to which the anti-
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competitive conduct of the other participating 
undertakings is also attributed. That caselaw, 
which is also based on a ‘unitary’ conception of 
the notions of cartel and perpetrator of an in-
fringement, states clearly and precisely the ob-
jective and subjective conditions which must 
be satisfied if it is to be possible to hold an un-
dertaking liable in respect of an infringement 
committed by a number of coperpetrators or 
complicit parties. In that regard, the mere fact 
that the Court of Justice did not define those 
principles of accountability until 1999 (Com-
mission v Anic Partecipazioni, cited in para-
graph 65 above, paragraphs 78 et seq.) cannot, 
in itself, detract from their foreseeability at the 
time material to the applicant (between 1993 
and 1999), since the elements determining 
individual liability already emerged, with suf-
ficient precision, from the broad conception of 
cartel and undertaking for the purposes of Arti-
cle 81(1) EC and the earlier caselaw of the Court 
of First Instance (see Tréfileurope v Commis-
sion, cited in paragraph 108 above, paragraph 
85 and the caselaw cited therein). Furthermore, 
the fact that the Community judicature has not 
given a ruling on the specific question whether 
a consultancy firm which is not active on the 
same market as the main participants in the 
cartel can be attributed a share of the liability 
for an infringement is not sufficient to support 
the conclusion that an administrative and ju-
risprudential practice establishing that such 
an undertaking shares liability – or, at the very 
least, that such shared liability is possible – is 
not reasonably foreseeable by professionals in 
the light of both the wording of Article 81(1) EC 
and the caselaw cited above. 

147. On the contrary, as regards the penalty-based 
administrative practice in that connection, it 
should be pointed out that, as the applicant 
itself admits, the Commission had already de-
cided in 1980 to attribute an infringement of 
Article 81(1) EC to a consultancy firm which 
had actively participated, in a manner compa-
rable to the way in which the applicant partici-
pated in the present case, in the implementa-
tion of the cartel in question (the Italian cast 
glass decision; see, in particular, point II. A. 4. at 
the end of the recitals). In that regard, the fact 
that the Commission no longer adopted that 
approach in a number of subsequent decisions 
does not justify the conclusion that such an 
interpretation of the full implications of Article 
81(1) EC is not reasonably foreseeable. That is 
especially true in the case of a consultancy firm, 
which must be presumed, given the Commis-

sion’s decision-making practice since 1980, to 
manage its economic activities with a very high 
degree of caution and to seek informed advice, 
in particular from legal experts, in order to as-
sess the risks associated with its conduct (see, 
to that effect, Dansk Rørindustri and Others v 
Commission, cited in paragraph 113 above, 
paragraph 219). 

148. In that context, the applicant cannot legiti-
mately claim that such an interpretation is 
contrary to the rules common to the Member 
States on the subject of individual liability, 
which draw a distinction between the perpe-
trators of an infringement and those whose 
role is one of complicity. The rules cited by the 
applicant (see paragraph 81 above) concern 
only national criminal law, and the applicant 
does not explain whether – and, if so, to what 
extent – those rules also apply, in the respec-
tive national legal systems, in the context of 
penalty-based administrative procedures and, 
in particular, to procedures designed to punish 
anticompetitive practices. 

149. Moreover, it is not apparent from either the 
caselaw of the Eur. Court H. R. or the decision-
making practice of the former European Hu-
man Rights Commission that the principle of 
nullum crimen, nulla poena sine lege requires 
a distinction to be drawn, both in criminal pro-
ceedings and in the context of penalty-based 
administrative procedures, between the per-
petrator of the infringement and a party whose 
role is one of complicity, so that the latter is 
not punishable where the relevant legal rule 
does not expressly provide for a penalty to be 
imposed in such a case. That means, on the 
contrary, that for that principle to be complied 
with, the conduct of the person to whom the 
misconduct is imputed must be covered by 
the definition of perpetrator of the offence in 
question, such that it can be inferred from the 
wording of the provision at issue, where nec-
essary in the light of the interpretation given 
in the caselaw. If that definition is sufficiently 
broad to cover both the conduct of the main 
perpetrators of the infringement and that of 
the parties whose role is one of complicity, 
there can be no infringement of the principle 
of nullum crimen, nulla poena sine lege (see, 
for the reasoning a contrario, Eur. Court H. R. 
E.K. v Turkey, cited in paragraph 140 above, § 
55 and 56, and Eur. Commission H. R., decision 
on admissibility L.G. R. v Sweden, of 15 January 
1997, application no 27032/95, p. 12). 

150. In the light of all the above considerations, the 
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Court concludes that any undertaking which 
has adopted collusive conduct, including con-
sultancy firms which are not active on the mar-
ket affected by the restriction of competition, 
could reasonably have foreseen that the prohi-
bition laid down in Article 81(1) EC was applica-
ble to it in principle. Such an undertaking could 
not have been unaware, or was in a position 
to realise, that a sufficiently clear and precise 
basis was already to be found, in the former 
decision-making practice of the Commission 
and in the existing Community caselaw, for 
expressly recognising that a consultancy firm 
is liable for an infringement of Article 81(1) EC 
where it contributes actively and intentionally 
to a cartel between producers which are active 
on a market other than that on which the con-
sultancy firm itself operates. 

(d)  The applicant’s classification as a coperpe-
trator of the cartel 

151. Next, it must be determined whether, in the 
present case, the objective and subjective 
conditions for establishing that the applicant 
shares liability, in that the anticompetitive con-
duct of the other participating undertakings 
can be attributed to it, are satisfied. In that re-
gard, it should be pointed out, first of all, that 
in order to be able to attribute the whole of an 
infringement to an undertaking, that undertak-
ing must have contributed, even in a subordi-
nate manner, to the restriction of competition 
at issue, and the subjective condition relating 
to the manifestation of that undertaking’s in-
tention in that regard must be met. 

152. Independently of the question whether the 
applicant was a ‘contracting’ party to the 1971 
and 1975 agreements and whether the agency 
agreements concluded with the three organic 
peroxide producers were an integral part of 
the cartel in the wider sense, the Court notes 
that it has become apparent that the applicant 
actively contributed to the implementation of 
that cartel between 1993 and 1999. 

153. First, it is common ground that the applicant 
stored and concealed on its premises the 
originals of the 1971 and 1975 agreements of 
Atochem/Atofina and PC/Degussa, and in the 
latter case, until as late as 2001 or 2002 (recitals 
63 and 83 of the contested decision). Second, 
the applicant admits to having calculated and 
communicated to the members of the cartel 
the deviations of the respective market shares 
from the agreed quotas, until 1995 or 1996 at 
the very least, an activity which was expressly 

provided for in the 1971 and 1975 agreements, 
and to having stored secret documents on its 
premises, pursuant thereto. Third, as regards 
the meetings between the organic peroxide 
producers which had some anticompetitive 
content, the applicant admitted to having or-
ganised and partly attended five of those meet-
ings, as well as the meeting held in Amersfoort 
on 19 October 1998 to prepare a proposal re-
garding the allocation of quotas among the 
producers. Fourth, it is common ground that 
the applicant regularly reimbursed the travel 
expenses which the representatives of the or-
ganic peroxide producers incurred in attend-
ing meetings with an anticompetitive purpose, 
and it did so with the manifest intention of 
covering up any traces of the implementation 
of the cartel in the books of those producers, or 
of not leaving any such traces (see paragraphs 
63 and 102 above). 

154. Without there being any need to assess in de-
tail the points of dispute between the parties 
regarding the actual extent of the applicant’s 
participation in the cartel, the Court concludes 
from the information set out in paragraph 153 
above that the applicant actively contributed to 
the implementation of the cartel and that, con-
trary to its submissions, there was a sufficiently 
definite and decisive causal link between that 
activity and the restriction of competition on 
the organic peroxide market. At the hearing, 
the applicant did not dispute the existence of 
that causal link but merely challenged the legal 
classification of its contribution as an act of a 
perpetrator of the infringement, maintaining 
that its contribution could be classed only as 
an act of complicity which could have been 
carried out by any consultancy firm. 

155. Accordingly, it is not relevant that the applicant 
was not formally and directly a contracting 
party to the 1971 and 1975 agreements. First, 
for the purposes of applying Article 81(1) EC, 
the question whether or not there is an agree-
ment which is in writing, or otherwise explicit, 
between the participating undertakings is not 
decisive so long as they act in collusion (see 
paragraphs 115 to 123 above). Second, the ap-
plicant itself acknowledges that, by tacit agree-
ment with the organic peroxide producers, it 
undertook – in its own name and on its own 
account – some of Fides’ activities as specifical-
ly provided for under those agreements, such 
as the calculation and communication of the 
deviations from the agreed quotas. It should be 
added that, given that the Commission merely 
imposed on the applicant a fine of a minimal 
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amount of EUR 1 000 and that that amount 
as such has not been called into question by 
the applicant, the Court is not required to give 
a ruling on the exact extent of the applicant’s 
participation for the purposes of its effect on 
the lawfulness of the level of the fine imposed. 

156. Moreover, in the light of all the objective cir-
cumstances characterising the applicant’s par-
ticipation, the Court finds that the applicant 
acted in full knowledge of the facts and inten-
tionally when it made its professional expertise 
and infrastructure available to the cartel, in or-
der to benefit from it, at least indirectly, in the 
course of implementing the individual agency 
agreements which linked it to the three organic 
peroxide producers. Quite apart from the ques-
tion whether the applicant thus also knowingly 
infringed the rules of professional ethics by 
which it is bound as a commercial consultant, 
it clearly could not have been unaware, or in-
deed it knew, that the objective of the cartel to 
which it contributed was anticompetitive and 
unlawful, that objective having become appar-
ent, inter alia, in the context of the 1971 and 
1975 agreements which the applicant stored 
on its premises, from the meetings which were 
held with an anticompetitive aim and from the 
exchange of sensitive information in which the 
applicant actively participated, at least until 
1995 or 1996. 

157. In the light of all of the above considerations, 
the Court finds that, in so far as the contested 
decision establishes that the applicant shares 
liability for the infringement committed pri-
marily by AKZO, Atochem/Atofina and PC/De-
gussa, that decision does not exceed the limits 
of the prohibition laid down in Article 81(1) EC 
and that, consequently, by imposing on the ap-
plicant a fine of EUR 1 000, the Commission did 
not exceed the powers conferred on it under 
Article 15(2) of Regulation No 17. 

158. In those circumstances, the Court considers it 
unnecessary to give a ruling on the question 
whether the Commission could also have le-
gitimately based the applicant’s liability on the 
notion of a decision by an association of under-
takings. As the Commission acknowledged at 
the hearing, the present case involves a purely 
alternative or secondary assessment, which 
can neither confirm nor invalidate the legal le-
gitimacy of the Commission’s main approach, 
as based on the notions of ‘cartel’ and ‘under-
taking’. By the same token, it is unnecessary 
to assess whether the Commission correctly 
examined and evaluated certain evidence 

against the applicant which is not decisive for 
the outcome of the present dispute. In that re-
gard, the applicant’s arguments, as set out in 
paragraphs 77 to 79 above, seek merely to sup-
port the wellfoundedness of the present plea 
and do not constitute a separate plea. 

159. Consequently, the second plea must be reject-
ed as unfounded. 

D. The third plea, alleging infringement 
of the principle of the protection of 
legitimate expectations 

1.Argumentsoftheparties
160. The applicant maintains that, in view of the 

established decision-making practice of the 
Commission since 1983, it could legitimately 
expect that the Commission would assess its 
conduct in the same way as it assessed com-
parable conduct on the part of other consul-
tancy firms in previous cases. Accordingly, 
the contested decision runs counter to the 
principle of protection of legitimate interests. 
According to the applicant, although the deci-
sions of the Commission are binding only on 
those to whom they are addressed, they none 
the less constitute – particularly where they 
establish consistent decision-making practice 
– legal acts which are relevant to comparable 
situations. The possibility for the individual to 
rely on the continuance of a certain decision-
making practice merits protection a fortiori 
because the application of Article 81 EC is de-
pendent on a great number of undefined legal 
terms, the practical implications of which it is 
vital to specify through decision-making prac-
tice. 

161. The applicant submits that the principle of 
protection of legitimate expectations, as rec-
ognised in the caselaw (Case 112/77 Töpfer 
and Others [1978] ECR 1019, paragraph 19, and 
Case T266/97 Vlaamse Televisie Maatschappij 
v Commission [1999] ECR II2329, paragraph 
71) precludes the Commission from abandon-
ing, without warning, its own decision-making 
practice in relation to Article 81 EC, or from 
retroactively classifying as an infringement, 
and imposing a fine for, conduct which has 
hitherto been regarded as falling outside the 
scope of that provision. Since 1983, contrary to 
its approach in the Italian case glass decision, 
the Commission has no longer regarded as an 
infringement assistance provided by consul-
tancy firms which are not party to the agree-
ment restricting competition (see, inter alia, 
the cast iron and steel rolls decision of 1983; 
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the polypropylene decision of 1986; the LdPE 
decision of 1988; and the cartonboard decision 
of 1994). Thus, at the time of its establishment 
at the end of 1993, the applicant could legiti-
mately expect that the assistance provided to 
the three organic peroxide producers was also 
not classed as an infringement of Article 81(1) 
EC. According to the applicant, its activity did 
not go beyond that of other consultancy firms 
in the cases which gave rise to the cast iron and 
steel rolls decision or the cartonboard decision. 
Consequently, the Commission should not 
have held the applicant liable for an infringe-
ment of Article 81(1) EC or imposed a fine on it. 

162. The Commission contends that the present 
plea should be rejected. 

2.FindingsoftheCourt
163. The Court considers that, in the light of the rec-

ognition under Community competition law of 
the principle that a consultancy firm which has 
participated in a cartel shares liability for the 
infringement, the principle of the protection 
of legitimate expectations cannot stand in the 
way of the reorientation of the Commission’s 
decision-making practice in the present case. 
As is apparent from paragraphs 112 to 150 
above, that reorientation is based on a correct 
interpretation of the full implications of the 
prohibition laid down in Article 81(1) EC. Since 
the interpretation of the undefined legal con-
cept of ‘agreements between undertakings’ 
ultimately falls to be determined by the Com-
munity judicature, the Commission does not 
have any leeway enabling it, where relevant, to 
forgo bringing an action against a consultancy 
firm which satisfies the criteria for shared liabil-
ity. On the contrary, by virtue of its duty under 
Article 85(1) EC, the Commission is required to 
ensure the application of the principles laid 
down in Article 81 EC and to investigate, on its 
own initiative, all cases of suspected infringe-
ment of those principles, as interpreted by the 
Community judicature. Accordingly, since – 
notwithstanding the Italian cast glass decision 
– the Commission’s decision-making practice 
prior to the contested decision could appear to 
conflict with the above interpretation of Article 
81(1) EC, that practice was not capable of giv-
ing rise to legitimate expectations on the part 
of the undertakings concerned. 

164. Furthermore, as is apparent from paragraphs 
147 and 148 above, the current reorientation 
of the Commission’s decision-making practice 
was even more foreseeable for the applicant 

given the existence of a precedent, namely the 
Italian cast glass decision of 1980. Also, as is 
apparent from paragraph 163 above, the Com-
mission’s post-1980 decision-making practice 
could not reasonably be construed as a defini-
tive abandonment of the initial approach fol-
lowed in the Italian case glass decision. Further-
more, although, in the polypropylene decision 
of 1986, the Commission did not class Fides 
Trust as a perpetrator of the infringement, it 
none the less clearly censured the information 
exchange system established and managed by 
that company as being incompatible with Ar-
ticle 81(1) EC (the polypropylene decision, re-
cital 106 and Article 2; see also the cartonboard 
decision, recital 134). In those circumstances, 
the Commission’s post-1980 decision-making 
practice – which does not censure or penalise 
the consultancy firms involved, but goes no 
further, that is to say, it does not disavow, as a 
matter of law, the approach initially followed in 
the Italian cast glass decision – was even less 
capable of giving rise to a legitimate expecta-
tion on the part of the applicant that the Com-
mission would in future abstain from bringing 
actions against consultancy firms where they 
participate in a cartel. 

165. The present plea must therefore be rejected as 
unfounded. 

E. The fourth plea raised in the alternative, 
alleging infringement of the principle 
of legal certainty and of the principle of 
nulla poena sine lege certa

1.Argumentsoftheparties
166. The applicant submits that, in so far as it is 

concerned, the Commission’s legal analysis is 
so vague and contradictory that it infringes the 
principle of legal certainty and the principle of 
nulla poena sine lege certa. The Commission 
refrains from indicating with the necessary clar-
ity the parameters and limits of unlawful and 
punishable conduct on the part of a consultan-
cy firm such as the applicant, and thus deprives 
the applicant of the legal certainty required in 
a society governed by the rule of law. 

167. The applicant points out that the principle of 
nulla poena sine lege certa, as laid down in 
Article 7(1) of the ECHR and recognised as a 
general principle of Community law, is a corol-
lary of the principle of legal certainty (X, cited 
in paragraph 84 above, paragraph 25). The lat-
ter is a fundamental principle of Community 
law (Case 74/74 CNTA v Commission [1975] 
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ECR 533, paragraph 44; Joined Cases 212/80 
to 217/80 Salumi and Others [1981] ECR 2735, 
paragraph 10; and Case 70/83 Kloppenburg 
[1984] ECR 1075, paragraph 11), which requires, 
in particular, that Community legislation must 
be certain and its application foreseeable by 
those subject to it. The applicant states that 
the decisions of the Commission adopted 
under Article 81 EC, which may impose very 
heavy fines, must be particularly precise and 
certain (Case 32/79 Commission v United King-
dom [1980] ECR 2403, paragraph 46), so that 
the undertakings concerned can review and 
determine their conduct in the light of and in 
accordance with criteria which are sufficiently 
clear and concrete in terms of indicating the 
unlawful nature of certain conduct. 

168. Contrary to those requirements, in the con-
tested decision the Commission devoted al-
most five pages to setting out the reasons why 
it considers that the applicant infringed Article 
81(1) EC (recitals 331 et seq. of that decision). 
Nevertheless, that reasoning does not clearly 
show which aspects of the applicant’s conduct 
actually fall within the scope of Article 81(1) 
EC, and which do not (see, inter alia, recitals 
339, 343, 344 and 349 of the contested deci-
sion). The applicant adds that the Commission 
mistakenly alleges that it gave legal advice (re-
cital 339 of the contested decision). Even if that 
were to be established, the fact of dispensing 
legal advice cannot be regarded as an infringe-
ment of the competition rules. In any event, 
the Commission cannot maintain that legal 
advice and supportive action given by the ap-
plicant, as described in the contested decision, 
collectively constitute an infringement of Arti-
cle 81(1) EC when such acts do not amount to 
an infringement when considered individually. 
Otherwise, it would be impossible to predict at 
what precise moment a lawful act slides into 
illegality. Next, the applicant criticises the Com-
mission’s mode of expression in recitals 332 et 
seq. of the contested decision as vague, incom-
prehensible and contradictory as regards the 
applicant’s alleged participation in the cartel. 
As regards the Commission’s contention that 
the present plea is not autonomous, the appli-
cant objects that, even supposing that it were 
guilty of an infringement of competition law, 
the grounds of the contested decision do not 
show, with the requisite clarity and precision, 
which of the specific acts imputed to it consti-
tute an infringement of Article 81(1) EC. 

169. In the absence of a clear answer to the ques-
tion why and how the applicant infringed Arti-

cle 81(1) EC, the contested decision should be 
annulled for infringement of the principle of 
nulla poena sine lege certa and the principle 
of legal certainty. 

170. The Commission contends that the present 
plea should be rejected in so far as it merely 
constitutes a repetition of the second plea. 

2.FindingsoftheCourt
171. It should be noted, first of all, that, in the con-

text of the present plea, the applicant essential-
ly raises the same arguments as in the context 
of the second and third pleas. It is thus suffi-
cient to refer to the considerations set out in 
paragraphs 112 to 159 above in order to con-
clude that the contested decision contains suf-
ficient information establishing the active and 
intentional participation of the applicant in the 
cartel, thus making it possible for the applicant 
to be held liable for an infringement of Article 
81(1) EC, independently of the real extent of 
that participation in detail. 

172. Even supposing that the present plea had also 
to be understood as alleging an infringement 
of the duty to give reasons under Article 253 
EC, it is also apparent from those considera-
tions that the contested decision contains all 
the relevant information for the purposes of 
making it possible for the applicant to dispute 
its wellfoundedness and for the Court to review 
the lawfulness of the decision in accordance 
with the caselaw established in that regard (see 
Case T228/02 Organisation des Modjahedines 
du peuple d’Iran v Council [2006] ECR II4665, 
paragraph 138 and the caselaw cited therein). 

173. Accordingly, the present plea must also be re-
jected as unfounded. 

f. The fifth plea, alleging that the second 
paragraph of Article 3 of the contested 
decision infringes the principle of legal 
certainty and the principle of nulla poena 
sine lege certa

1.Argumentsoftheparties
174. According to the applicant, in the absence of 

a clear and precise indication of the unlawful 
acts imputed to it, both the legal analysis and 
the second paragraph of Article 3 of the con-
tested decision are contrary to the principle of 
legal certainty and the principle of nulla poena 
sine lege certa. The grounds of the contested 
decision do not show, in a precise manner, the 
specific acts by virtue of which the applicant 
is deemed to have infringed Article 81(1) EC. 
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Consequently, it is also impossible for the ap-
plicant to know which of its acts are concerned 
by the obligation laid down in Article 3 of that 
decision. It follows that Article 3 infringes the 
‘requirement of certainty and predictability’ 
of Community legislation, which must be ob-
served all the more strictly in the case of rules 
liable to entail financial consequences, so that 
those concerned may know precisely the ex-
tent of the obligations thereby imposed on 
them (Case 169/80 Gondrand and Garancini 
[1981] ECR 1931, paragraphs 17 and 18; Case 
325/85 Ireland v Commission [1987] ECR 5041, 
paragraph 18; Case 326/85 Netherlands v Com-
mission [1987] ECR 5091, paragraph 24; Joined 
Cases 92/87 and 93/87 Commission v France 
and United Kingdom [1989] ECR 405, para-
graph 22; Case C30/89 Commission v France 
[1990] ECR I691, paragraph 23; Case C354/95 
National Farmers’ Union and Others [1997] ECR 
I4559, paragraph 57; and Case C177/96 Banque 
Indosuez and Others [1997] ECR I5659, para-
graph 27). 

175. The lack of precision in the legal analysis and in 
the obligation laid down in Article 3 of the con-
tested decision is exacerbated by the fact that, 
under that article, the applicant is also required 
to refrain from any agreement or any concert-
ed practice with a ‘similar’ object or effect, and 
any infringement of that article may lead to the 
imposition of a fine, which may be very heavy 
by virtue of Article 15(2) of Regulation No 17. 
Moreover, the Commission admitted that it 
had addressed a ‘new aspect’ of law (recital 454 
of the contested decision). That being so, the 
precision of the requirement to refrain from 
repeating the infringement should have to 
satisfy particularly strict requirements in order 
to enable interested undertakings to assess the 
true and full implications of the prohibition laid 
down in Article 81 EC. The ensuing legal uncer-
tainty poses a threat to the commercial activity 
of consultancy firms such as the applicant, as 
regards the drawing up of market statistics and 
administering federations. 

176. As regards the Commission’s contention that 
the present plea is directed against the require-
ment that the infringement be brought to an 
end (first paragraph of Article 3 of the contest-
ed decision), the applicant states that its action 
concerns only the requirement to refrain from 
repeating the infringement (second paragraph 
of Article 3 of the contested decision). The first 
requirement does not affect it adversely since 
the infringement had already ceased by the 
end of 1999 or the beginning of 2000 (recital 

91 of the contested decision). 

177. The applicant maintains that Article 3 of the 
contested decision should therefore be an-
nulled in so far as it concerns the applicant. 

178. The Commission contends that the present 
plea is unfounded and should be rejected. 

2.FindingsoftheCourt
179. The Court considers that the present plea con-

stitutes merely a reformulation of the fourth 
plea – which also alleges infringement of the 
principle of legal certainty and of the principle 
of nulla poena sine lege certa – and cannot 
therefore be assessed differently. 

180. In so far as the present plea refers to the sec-
ond paragraph of Article 3 of the contested 
decision, it is sufficient to point out that the 
Commission is empowered, on the basis of 
Article 3(1) of Regulation No 17, to impose on 
the addressees of a decision taken pursuant 
to Article 81(1) EC a binding instruction to put 
an end to the unlawful conduct and to refrain 
in future from practices which may have the 
same object or effect, or a similar object or ef-
fect (Limburgse Vinyl Maatschappij and Others 
v Commission, cited in paragraph 39 above, 
paragraphs 1252 and 1253). 

181. Accordingly, the present plea must also be re-
jected as unfounded. 

182. It follows that the action must be dismissed as 
unfounded in its entirety. 

Costs
183. Under Article 87(2) of the Rules of Procedure, 

the unsuccessful party is to be ordered to pay 
the costs if they have been applied for in the 
successful party’s pleadings. Since the appli-
cant has been unsuccessful, it must be ordered 
to pay the costs, in accordance with the form of 
order sought by the Commission. 

On those grounds, THE COURT OF FIRST INSTANCE 
(Third Chamber, Extended Composition) hereby:

1. Dismisses the action;

2. Orders AC-Treuhand AG to pay the costs.

Jaeger  Azizi  Czúcz

Delivered in open court in Luxembourg on 8 
July 2008.
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E. Coulon, Registrar 
M. Jaeger, President
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NO NEED TO JUSTIFY ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS OF 
THE INSTITUTIONS – DENIAL OF ACCESS FOR THE 
PURPOSES OF THE PROTECTION OF PRIVACY AND PER-
SONAL DATA – PRIVATE LIFE – CONCEPT OF PERSONAL 
DATA – CONCEPT OF PROCESSING PERSONAL DATA – 
RIGHTS OF THE DATA SUBJECT - BREACH OF ARTICLE 
8 OF ECHR – ’NECESSARY IN A DEMOCRATIC SOCIETY’ 
– PUBLIC AND PRIVATE INTERESTS

CAsE t-194/04 tHE 
BAVARIAn LAGER Co. 
LtD v CoMMIssIon 
oF tHE EURoPEAn 
CoMMUnItIEs
(Access to documents – Regulation (EC) No 
1049/2001 – Documents relating to proceedings 
for failure to fulfil obligations – Decision refusing 
access – Protection of physical persons in relation 
to processing of personal data – Regulation (EC) No 
45/2001 – Concept of private life)

KEYWORDS

1. Actions for annulment – Jurisdiction of the 
Community judicature (Art. 230 EC)

2. Actions for annulment – Actionable measures 
(EC Treaty, Art. 169 (now Art. 226 EC))

3. Approximation of laws – Protection of physical 
persons in relation to processing of personal 
data – Processing of such data by Commu-
nity institutions and bodies – Regulation No 
45/2001 (European Parliament and Council 
Regulations Nos 45/2001, Art. 5(a) and (b), and 
1049/2001)

4. European Communities – Institutions – Right 
of public access to documents – Regulation 
No 1049/2001 (European Parliament and 
Council Regulations Nos 45/2001, Art. 8(b), and 
1049/2001, Arts 2 and 6(1))

5. European Communities – Institutions – Right 
of public access to documents – Regulation 
No 1049/2001 (European Parliament and 
Council Regulations Nos 45/2001, Art. 8(b), and 
1049/2001, Art. 4(1)(b))

6. Approximation of laws – Protection of physical 
persons in relation to processing of personal 
data – Processing of such data by Commu-

nity institutions and bodies – Regulation No 
45/2001 (European Parliament and Council 
Regulations Nos 45/2001, Arts 5(b) and 18, and 
1049/2001, Art. 4(1)(b))

7. Approximation of laws – Protection of physical 
persons in relation to processing of personal 
data – Processing of such data by Commu-
nity institutions and bodies – Regulation No 
45/2001 (Art. 6(2) EU; European Parliament and 
Council Regulation No 45/2001)

8. European Communities – Institutions – Right 
of public access to documents – Regulation No 
1049/2001 (Art. 6(2) EU; European Parliament 
and Council Regulations Nos 45/2001, Art. 10, 
and 1049/2001, Art. 4(1)(b); European Parlia-
ment and Council Directive 95/46)

9. Approximation of laws – Protection of physical 
persons in relation to processing of personal 
data – Processing of such data by Commu-
nity institutions and bodies – Regulation No 
45/2001 (EC Treaty, Art. 169 (now Art. 226 EC); 
European Parliament and Council Regulations 
Nos 45/2001, Art. 2(a), and 1049/2001, Art. 4(1)
(b))

10. European Communities – Institutions – Right 
of public access to documents – Regulation No 
1049/2001 (European Parliament and Council 
Regulation No 1049/2001, Art. 4(2), third in-
dent)

11. European Communities – Institutions – Right 
of public access to documents – Regulation No 
1049/2001 (European Parliament and Council 
Regulation No 1049/2001)

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

1. Claims submitted in an annulment action seek-
ing that the Commission be ordered to adopt 
specific measures are inadmissible. The Com-
munity judicature is not entitled, when exer-
cising judicial review of legality, to issue direc-
tions to the institutions or to assume the role 
assigned to them. That limitation of the scope 
of judicial review applies to all types of conten-
tious matters that might be brought before it, 
including those concerning access to docu-
ments. (see paras 47-48)

2. An annulment action brought by an individual 
against a refusal by the Commission to institute 
proceedings against a Member State for failure 
to fulfil its obligations is inadmissible. 

Under Article 169 of the Treaty (now Article 

Case T-194/04 The Bavarian Lager Co. Ltd v Commission of the European Communi-
ties
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226 EC), the Commission is not bound to bring 
proceedings for failure to fulfil obligations, but 
has a discretionary power precluding the right 
of individuals to require it to adopt a particular 
position or to bring an action for annulment 
against its refusal to take action. (see paras 54-
55)

3. Pursuant to Article 5(a) or (b) of Regulation No 
45/2001 on the protection of individuals with 
regard to the processing of personal data by 
the Community institutions and bodies and 
on the free movement of such data, accord-
ing to which the processing must be necessary 
for the performance of a task carried out in the 
public interest or for compliance with a legal 
obligation to which the controller is subject, 
the processing must be lawful. The right of ac-
cess to documents of the institutions to which 
citizens of the European Union and any natural 
or legal person residing in or having its regis-
tered office in a Member State are entitled, laid 
down by Article 2 of Regulation No 1049/2001 
regarding public access to European Parlia-
ment, Council and Commission documents, 
constitutes a legal obligation for the purposes 
of Article 5(b) of Regulation No 45/2001. There-
fore, if Regulation No 1049/2001 requires the 
communication of data, which constitutes 
‘processing’ within the meaning of Article 2(b) 
of Regulation No 45/2001, Article 5 of that 
same regulation makes such communication 
lawful in that respect. (see para. 106)

4. Access to documents containing personal data 
falls within the application of Regulation No 
1049/2001 regarding public access to Europe-
an Parliament, Council and Commission docu-
ments. According to Article 6(1) of the latter, 
a person requesting access is not required to 
justify his request and therefore does not have 
to demonstrate any interest in having access 
to the documents requested. Therefore, where 
personal data are transferred in order to give 
effect to Article 2 of Regulation No 1049/2001, 
laying down the right of access to documents 
for all citizens of the Union, the situation falls 
within the application of that regulation and, 
therefore, the applicant does not need to 
prove the necessity of disclosure for the pur-
poses of Article 8(b) of Regulation No 45/2001 
on the protection of individuals with regard to 
the processing of personal data by the Com-
munity institutions and bodies and on the free 
movement of such data. If one were to require 
the applicant to demonstrate the necessity of 
having the data transferred, as an additional 
condition imposed in Regulation No 45/2001, 

that requirement would be contrary to the 
objective of Regulation No 1049/2001, namely 
the widest possible public access to docu-
ments held by the institutions. (see para. 107)

5. Given that access to a document will be re-
fused under Article 4(1)(b) of Regulation No 
1049/2001 regarding public access to Europe-
an Parliament, Council and Commission docu-
ments where disclosure would undermine 
protection of the privacy and the integrity of 
the individual, a transfer of personal data that 
does not fall under that exception cannot, in 
principle, prejudice the legitimate interests of 
the person concerned within the meaning of 
Article 8(b) of Regulation No 45/2001 on the 
protection of individuals with regard to the 
processing of personal data by the Community 
institutions and bodies and on the free move-
ment of such data. (see para. 108)

6. Article 18 of Regulation No 45/2001 on the 
protection of individuals with regard to the 
processing of personal data by the Commu-
nity institutions and bodies and on the free 
movement of such data provides that the data 
subject has the right to object at any time, on 
compelling legitimate grounds relating to his 
or her particular situation, to the processing 
of data relating to him or her, except in cases 
covered by, in particular, Article 5(b) of that 
regulation. Therefore, given that the process-
ing envisaged by Regulation No 1049/2001 re-
garding public access to European Parliament, 
Council and Commission documents con-
stitutes a legal obligation for the purposes of 
Article 5(b) of Regulation No 45/2001, the data 
subject does not, in principle, have a right to 
object. However, since Article 4(1)(b) of Regu-
lation No 1049/2001 lays down an exception 
to that legal obligation, it is necessary to take 
into account, on that basis, the impact of the 
disclosure of data concerning the data subject. 
In that regard, if communication of those data 
would not undermine protection of the privacy 
and the integrity of the individual concerned, 
as required by Article 4(1)(b) of Regulation No 
1049/2001, that person’s objection cannot pre-
vent such communication. (see paras 109-110)

7. The provisions of Regulation No 45/2001 on 
the protection of individuals with regard to the 
processing of personal data by the Community 
institutions and bodies and on the free move-
ment of such data, in so far as they govern the 
processing of personal data capable of affect-
ing fundamental freedoms, and the right to 
privacy in particular, must necessarily be inter-
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preted in the light of fundamental rights which 
form an integral part of the general principles 
of law with which the Court of First Instance 
ensures compliance and have been expressly 
included in Article 6(2) EU as general principles 
of Community law. (see paras 111-112)

8. Any decision taken pursuant to Regulation 
No 1049/2001 regarding public access to Eu-
ropean Parliament, Council and Commission 
documents must comply with Article 8 of the 
European Convention on Human Rights, in ac-
cordance with Article 6(2) EU. Regulation No 
1049/2001 determines the general principles 
and the limits which, for reasons of public or 
private interest, govern the exercise of the right 
of access to documents, in accordance with Ar-
ticle 255(2) EC. Therefore, Article 4(1)(b) of that 
regulation provides an exception designed to 
ensure protection of the privacy and integrity 
of the individual. Since exceptions to the prin-
ciple of access to documents must be inter-
preted restrictively, that exception concerns 
only personal data that are capable of actually 
and specifically undermining the protection of 
privacy and the integrity of the individual. 

The fact that the concept of ‘private life’ is a 
broad one, in accordance with the case-law of 
the European Court of Human Rights, and that 
the right to the protection of personal data 
may constitute one of the aspects of the right 
to respect for private life does not mean that 
all personal data necessarily fall within the con-
cept of ‘private life’. 

A fortiori, not all personal data are by their na-
ture capable of undermining the private life of 
the person concerned. In recital 33 of Directive 
95/46 on the protection of individuals with re-
gard to the processing of personal data and on 
the free movement of such data, reference is 
made to data which are capable by their na-
ture of infringing fundamental freedoms or 
privacy and which should not be processed 
unless the data subject gives his explicit con-
sent, which implies that not all data are of that 
nature. Such sensitive data may be included in 
those referred to by Article 10 of Regulation No 
45/2001 on the protection of individuals with 
regard to the processing of personal data by 
the Community institutions and bodies and 
on the free movement of such data, concern-
ing processing relating to particular categories 
of data, such as those revealing racial or ethnic 
origin, religious or philosophical beliefs, or data 
concerning health or sex life. (see paras 116-
119)

9. A list of participants at a meeting held in the 
context of proceedings for failure to fulfil ob-
ligations under Article 169 of the Treaty (now 
Article 226 EC), appearing in the minutes of 
that meeting and classified by reference to the 
bodies in the name of which and on behalf of 
which those persons attended, described by 
their title, the initial of their forename, their 
surname and, where relevant, the service, de-
partment or association to which they belong 
within those bodies, contains personal data for 
the purposes of Article 2(a) of Regulation No 
45/2001 on the protection of individuals with 
regard to the processing of personal data by 
the Community institutions and bodies and 
on the free movement of such data, since the 
persons who participated in that meeting can 
be identified in them. However, the mere fact 
that a document referred to in a request for ac-
cess under Regulation No 1049/2001 regarding 
public access to European Parliament, Council 
and Commission documents contains personal 
data does not necessarily mean that the priva-
cy or integrity of the persons concerned is af-
fected, even though professional activities are 
not, in principle, excluded from the concept of 
‘private life’ within the meaning of Article 8 of 
the European Convention on Human Rights. 

The fact that the minutes contain the names of 
those representatives does not affect the pri-
vate life of the persons in question, given that 
they participated in the meeting as representa-
tives of the bodies to which they belonged. 
Moreover, the minutes do not contain any 
individual opinions attributable to those per-
sons, but positions attributable to the bodies 
which those persons represented. In any event, 
disclosure of the names of the representatives 
is not capable of actually and specifically affect-
ing the protection of the privacy and integrity 
of the persons concerned. The mere presence 
of the name of the person concerned in a list 
of participants at a meeting, on behalf of the 
body which that person represented, does not 
constitute such an interference, and the pro-
tection of the privacy and integrity of the per-
sons concerned (under Article 4(1)(b) of Regu-
lation No 1049/2001) is not compromised. (see 
paras 121-123, 125-126)

10. The third indent of Article 4(2) of Regulation 
No 1049/2001 regarding public access to Eu-
ropean Parliament, Council and Commission 
documents, which is designed to protect ‘the 
purpose of inspections, investigations and au-
dits’, applies only where disclosure of the docu-
ments in question risks jeopardising the com-
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pletion of the inspections, investigations or 
audits. That exception, from the way in which 
it is formulated, is designed not to protect in-
vestigations as such but the purpose of those 
investigations, which consists, in the case of 
proceedings for failure to fulfil obligations, in 
causing the Member State concerned to com-
ply with Community law. 

Where the Commission has already closed 
infringement proceedings against a Member 
State six years before the request for access to 
documents, that Member State having amend-
ed the legislation at issue, the purpose of the 
investigations has been achieved. Thus, at the 
time the Commission decision refusing access 
to the minutes of a meeting held in the context 
of proceedings for failure to fulfil obligations 
was adopted, no investigation whose purpose 
could have been jeopardised by disclosure of 
the minutes containing the names of certain 
representatives of bodies which participated 
in the meeting was in progress, with the result 
that the exception under the third indent of 
Article 4(2) of Regulation No 1049/2001 cannot 
be applied. (see paras 148-149)

11. The assessment required for processing an ap-
plication for access to documents under Regu-
lation No 1049/2001 regarding public access to 
European Parliament, Council and Commission 
documents must be of a concrete nature. First, 
the mere fact that a document concerns an 
interest protected by an exception is not suf-
ficient to justify that exception being applied. 
Secondly, the risk of a protected interest being 
affected must be reasonably foreseeable and 
not merely hypothetical. Therefore, the assess-
ment which the institution must undertake in 
order to apply an exception must be carried 
out in a concrete way and be apparent from 
the grounds of the decision. 

Thus, whilst the need to preserve the anonym-
ity of persons providing the Commission with 
information on possible infringements of Com-
munity law constitutes a legitimate objective 
capable of justifying the Commission in not 
granting complete, or even partial, access to 
certain documents, the fact remains that, in 
this case, the Commission ruled in the abstract 
on the effect which disclosure of the docu-
ment concerned with names might have on 
its investigative activity, without demonstrat-
ing to a sufficient legal standard that disclosure 
of that document would actually and specifi-
cally undermine protection of the purposes of 
investigations. Thus it has not been shown in 

this case that the purpose of investigations 
was actually and specifically jeopardised by 
the disclosure of data requested six years after 
the closure of those investigations. (see paras 
151-152)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT OF FIRST 
INSTANCE (THIRD CHAMBER)

8 November 20079

(Access to documents – Regulation (EC) No 
1049/2001 – Documents relating to proceedings 
for failure to fulfil obligations – Decision refusing 
access – Protection of physical persons in relation 
to processing of personal data – Regulation (EC) No 
45/2001 – Concept of private life)

In Case T194/04,

The Bavarian Lager Co. Ltd, established in Clitheroe 
(United Kingdom), represented initially by J. Pear-
son and C. Bright, and subsequently by J. Webber 
and M. Readings, solicitors, applicant, supported by 
European Data Protection Supervisor (EDPS), repre-
sented by H. Hijmans, acting as Agent, intervener,

v

Commission of the European Communities, repre-
sented by C. Docksey and P. Aalto, acting as Agents, 
defendant,

APPLICATION for annulment of the Commission’s 
decision of 18 March 2004, rejecting an applica-
tion by the applicant for access to the full minutes 
of a meeting held in the context of proceedings 
for failure to fulfil obligations and an application 
for a declaration that the Commission erroneously 
terminated the proceedings brought against the 
Government of the United Kingdom of Great Brit-
ain and Northern Ireland under Article 169 of the EC 
Treaty (now Article 226 EC), 

THE COURT OF FIRST INSTANCE OF THE EUROPEAN 
COMMUNITIES (Third Chamber),

composed of M. Jaeger, President, V. Tiili and O. 
Czúcz, Judges, Registrar: C. Kristensen, Administra-
tor, having regard to the written procedure and fur-
ther to the hearing on 13 September 2006,

gives the following Judgment

Legal background
1. According to Article 6 EU: 

9 Language of the case: English.
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‘1.TheUnion is foundedontheprinciplesof
liberty, democracy, respect for human rights
and fundamental freedoms, and the rule of
law, principles which are common to the
MemberStates.

2.TheUnionshallrespectfundamentalrights,
as guaranteed by the European Convention
for theProtectionofHumanRightsandFun-
damentalFreedomssignedinRomeon4No-
vember1950andastheyresultfromthecon-
stitutionaltraditionscommontotheMember
States, as general principles of Community
law.

…’

2. According to Article 255 EC: 
‘1.AnycitizenoftheUnion,andanynaturalor
legalperson residingorhaving its registered
officeinaMemberState,shallhavearightof
access to European Parliament, Council and
Commissiondocuments, subject to theprin-
ciplesandtheconditionstobedefinedinac-
cordancewithparagraphs2and3.

2.Generalprinciplesandlimitsongroundsof
publicorprivateinterestgoverningthisright
of access to documents shall be determined
bytheCouncil,actinginaccordancewiththe
procedurereferredtoinArticle251[EC]within
twoyearsoftheentryintoforceoftheTreaty
ofAmsterdam.

…’

3. Regulation (EC) No 1049/2001 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2001 
regarding public access to European Parlia-
ment, Council and Commission documents 
(OJ 2001 L 145, p. 43), defines the principles, 
conditions and limits for the right of access 
to documents of those institutions laid down 
by Article 255 EC. That regulation has applied 
since 3 December 2001. 

4. Commission Decision 2001/937/EC, ECSC, Eur-
atom of 5 December 2001 amending its rules 
of procedure (OJ 2001 L 345, p. 94), repealed 
Commission Decision 94/90/ECSC, EC, Euratom 
of 8 February 1994 on public access to Com-
mission documents (OJ 2001 L 46, p. 58), which 
implemented, in relation to the Commission, 
the Code of conduct concerning public access 
to Council and Commission documents (OJ 
1993 L 340, p. 41; ‘the Code of Conduct’). 

5. Recitals 4 and 11 in the preamble to Regulation 
No 1049/2001 state: 
‘(4) Thepurposeof thisRegulation is togive
thefullestpossibleeffecttotherightofpub-

licaccesstodocumentsandto laydownthe
generalprinciplesandlimitsonsuchaccessin
accordancewithArticle255(2)...EC.

…

(11) In principle, all documents of the insti-
tutions should be accessible to the public.
However, certainpublicandprivate interests
should be protected by way of exceptions.
Theinstitutionsshouldbeentitledtoprotect
their internal consultationsanddeliberations
wherenecessary to safeguard their ability to
carry out their tasks. In assessing the excep-
tions, the institutions should takeaccountof
the principles in Community legislation con-
cerningtheprotectionofpersonaldata,inall
areasofUnionactivities.’

6. According to Article 4 of Regulation No 
1049/2001, concerning exceptions to the right 
of access: 
‘1.Theinstitutionsshallrefuseaccesstoadoc-
umentwheredisclosurewouldunderminethe
protectionof:

…

(b)privacyandtheintegrityoftheindividual,
in particular in accordance with Community
legislation regarding the protection of per-
sonaldata.

2.Theinstitutionsshallrefuseaccesstoadoc-
umentwheredisclosurewouldunderminethe
protectionof:

…

– the purpose of inspections, investigations
andaudits,

unlessthereisanoverridingpublicinterestin
disclosure.

3.Accesstoadocument,drawnupbyan in-
stitutionforinternaluseorreceivedbyanin-
stitution,whichrelatestoamatterwherethe
decisionhasnotbeentakenbytheinstitution,
shallberefusedifdisclosureofthedocument
would seriously undermine the institution’s
decision-making process, unless there is an
overridingpublicinterestindisclosure.

Accesstoadocumentcontainingopinionsfor
internaluseaspartofdeliberationsandpre-
liminary consultations within the institution
concernedshallberefusedevenafterthede-
cisionhasbeentakenifdisclosureofthedocu-
mentwould seriouslyundermine the institu-
tion’sdecision-makingprocess,unlessthereis
anoverridingpublicinterestindisclosure.

…
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6.Ifonlypartsoftherequesteddocumentare
coveredbyanyoftheexceptions,theremain-
ingpartsofthedocumentshallbereleased…’

7. Article 6(1) of Regulation No 1049/2001 pro-
vides that ‘[t]he applicant is not obliged to 
state reasons for the application’. 

8. Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament 
and of the Council of 24 October 1995 on the 
protection of individuals with regard to the 
processing of personal data and on the free 
movement of such data (OJ 1995 L 281, p. 31) 
requires Member States to ensure the protec-
tion of the fundamental rights and freedoms of 
natural persons, and in particular their privacy 
in relation to the handling of personal data, in 
order to ensure the free movement of personal 
data in the Community. 

9. Article 286 EC provides that Community acts 
on the protection of individuals with regard to 
the processing of personal data and the free 
movement of such data are to apply to Com-
munity institutions and bodies. 

10. Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 
2000 on the protection of individuals with re-
gard to the processing of personal data by the 
Community institutions and bodies and on the 
free movement of such data (OJ 2001 L 8, p. 1), 
was adopted on the basis of Article 286 EC. 

11. According to recital 15 in the preamble to Reg-
ulation No 45/2001: 
‘…Accesstodocuments,includingconditions
foraccess todocumentscontainingpersonal
data,isgovernedbytherulesadoptedonthe
basisofArticle255...ECthescopeofwhichin-
cludesTitlesVandVIofthe[EU]Treaty.’

12. Regulation No 45/2001 provides: 
‘...

Article 1

Object of the Regulation
InaccordancewiththisRegulation,theinstitu-
tionsandbodiessetupby,oronthebasisof,
the Treaties establishing the EuropeanCom-
munities,hereinafter referred toas “Commu-
nity institutions or bodies”, shall protect the
fundamental rights and freedoms of natural
persons,andinparticulartheirrighttoprivacy
with respect to the processing of personal
data and shall neither restrict nor prohibit
thefreeflowofpersonaldatabetweenthem-
selvesortorecipientssubjecttothenational

law of theMember States implementing Di-
rective95/46...

2.The independent supervisoryauthorityes-
tablished by this Regulation, hereinafter re-
ferredtoastheEuropeanDataProtectionSu-
pervisor, shallmonitor theapplicationof the
provisionsofthisRegulationtoallprocessing
operationscarriedoutbyaCommunity insti-
tutionorbody.

Article 2

Definitions

For the purposes of this Regulation:

c. “personal data” shall mean any informa-
tion relating to an identified or identifiable 
natural person...; an identifiable person is 
one who can be identified, directly or indi-
rectly, in particular by reference to an iden-
tification number or to one or more factors 
specific to his or her physical, physiological, 
mental, economic, cultural or social iden-
tity; 

d. “processing of personal data”... shall mean 
any operation or set of operations which is 
performed upon personal data, whether or 
not by automatic means, such as collection, 
recording, organisation, storage, adapta-
tion or alteration, retrieval, consultation, 
use, disclosure by transmission, dissemina-
tion or otherwise making available, align-
ment or combination, blocking, erasure or 
destruction; 

e. “personal data filing system”... shall mean 
any structured set of personal data which 
are accessible according to specific crite-
ria, whether centralised, decentralised or 
dispersed on a functional or geographical 
basis; 

f. …

Article 3

Scope
ThisRegulationshallapply to theprocessing
ofpersonaldatabyallCommunityinstitutions
andbodies insofar as suchprocessing is car-
riedoutintheexerciseofactivitiesallorpart
ofwhich fallwithin thescopeofCommunity
law.

ThisRegulationshallapply to theprocessing
ofpersonaldatawhollyorpartlybyautomatic
means,andtotheprocessingotherwisethan
by automaticmeans of personal datawhich
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formpartofafilingsystemorareintendedto
formpartofafilingsystem.

...

Article 4

Data quality
1.Personaldatamustbe:

(a)processedfairlyandlawfully;

(b) collected for specified, explicit and legiti-
matepurposesandnotfurtherprocessedina
wayincompatiblewiththosepurposes…;

…

Article 5

Lawfulness of processing

Personal data may be processed only if:

g. processing is necessary for the performance 
of a task carried out in the public interest 
on the basis of the Treaties establishing the 
European Communities or other legal in-
struments adopted on the basis thereof or 
in the legitimate exercise of official author-
ity vested in the Community institution or 
body or in a third party to whom the data 
are disclosed, or 

h. processing is necessary for compliance 
with a legal obligation to which the control-
ler is subject, or 

i. …

j. the data subject has unambiguously given 
his or her consent …

Article 8

Transfer of personal data to recipients, other 
than Community institutions and bodies, sub-
ject to Directive 95/46...

Without prejudice to Articles 4, 5, 6 and 10, 
personal data shall only be transferred to re-
cipients subject to the national law adopted for 
the implementation of Directive 95/46...: 

k. if the recipient establishes that the data are 
necessary for the performance of a task car-
ried out in the public interest or subject to 
the exercise of public authority, or 

l. if the recipient establishes the necessity of 
having the data transferred and if there is 
no reason to assume that the data subject’s 
legitimate interests might be prejudiced. 

m. …

Article 18

The data subject’s right to object

The data subject shall have the right:

n. to object at any time, on compelling le-
gitimate grounds relating to his or her par-
ticular situation, to the processing of data 
relating to him or her, except in the cases 
covered by Article 5(b), (c) and (d). Where 
there is a justified objection, the processing 
in question may no longer involve those 
data; 

o. …’

13. Article 8 of the European Convention for the 
Protection of Human Rights and Fundamen-
tal Freedoms, signed in Rome on 4 November 
1950 (ECHR) provides: 
‘1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.’

14. The Charter of Fundamental Rights of the 
European Union, proclaimed in Nice on 7 De-
cember 2000 (OJ 2000 C 364, p. 1; ‘the Charter’) 
provides: 

‘Article 7

Respect for private and family life

Everyone has the right to respect for his or her 
private and family life, home and communica-
tions.

Article 8

Protection of personal data
1.Everyonehastherighttotheprotectionof
personaldataconcerninghimorher.

2.Suchdatamustbeprocessedfairlyforspeci-
fiedpurposesandonthebasisoftheconsent
ofthepersonconcernedorsomeotherlegiti-
matebasislaiddownbylaw.Everyonehasthe
right of access to data which has been col-
lectedconcerninghimorher,andtherightto
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haveitrectified.

3.Compliancewiththeserulesshallbesubject
tocontrolbyanindependentauthority.

…

Article 42

Right of access to documents
Any citizen of theUnion, and any natural or
legalperson residingorhaving its registered
officeinaMemberState,hasarightofaccess
toEuropeanParliament,CouncilandCommis-
siondocuments.

…’

Background to the dispute
15. The applicant was established on 28 May 1992 

for the importation of German beer for public 
houses and bars in the United Kingdom, situ-
ated primarily in the North of England. 

16. However, the applicant was not able to sell its 
product, since a large number of publicans in 
the United Kingdom were tied by exclusive 
purchasing contracts obliging them to obtain 
their supplies of beer from certain breweries. 

17. Under the Supply of Beer (Tied Estate) Order 
1989 SI 1989/2390, British breweries holding 
rights in more than 2 000 pubs are required to 
allow the managers of those establishments 
the possibility of buying a beer from another 
brewery, on condition, according to Article 7(2)
(a) of the order, that it is conditioned in a cask 
and has an alcohol content exceeding 1.2 % by 
volume. That provision is commonly known as 
the ‘Guest Beer Provision’ (‘the GBP’). 

18. However, most beers produced outside the 
United Kingdom cannot be regarded as ‘cask-
conditioned beers’, within the meaning of the 
GBP, and thus do not fall within its scope. 

19. Considering that the GBP constituted a meas-
ure having equivalent effect to a quantitative 
restriction on imports, and was thus incom-
patible with Article 30 of the EC Treaty (now, 
after amendment, Article 28 EC), the applicant 
lodged a complaint with the Commission by 
letter of 3 April 1993, registered under refer-
ence P/93/4490/UK. 

20. Following its investigation, the Commission 
decided, on 12 April 1995, to institute proceed-
ings against the United Kingdom of Great Brit-
ain and Northern Ireland under Article 169 of 

the EC Treaty (now Article 226 EC). It notified 
the applicant on 28 September 1995 of that 
investigation and of the fact that it had sent a 
letter of formal notice to the United Kingdom 
on 15 September 1995. On 26 June 1996, the 
Commission decided to send a reasoned opin-
ion to the United Kingdom and, on 5 August 
1996, issued a press release announcing that 
decision. 

21. On 11 October 1996, a meeting was held (the 
‘meeting of 11 October 1996’ or the ‘meeting’), 
which was attended by officers of the Direc-
torate-General (DG) for the Internal Market 
and Financial Services, officials of the United 
Kingdom Government Department of Trade 
and Industry and representatives of the Con-
federation des Brasseurs du Marche Commun 
(‘CBMC’). The applicant had requested the right 
to attend the meeting in a letter dated 27 Au-
gust 1996 but the Commission refused to grant 
permission to attend. 

22. On 15 March 1997 the Department of Trade 
and Industry in the United Kingdom an-
nounced a proposal to amend the GBP under 
which a bottle-conditioned beer could be sold 
as a guest beer, as well as cask-conditioned 
beer. After the Commission had, on two occa-
sions, namely 19 March 1997 and 26 June 1997, 
suspended its decision to issue a reasoned 
opinion to the United Kingdom, the head of 
Unit 2 ‘Application of Articles 30 to 36 of the 
EC Treaty (notification, complaints, infringe-
ments etc.) and removal of trade barriers’ of 
Directorate B ‘Free movement of goods and 
public procurement’ of DG ‘Internal Market and 
Financial Services’, in a letter of 21 April 1997, 
informed the applicant that, in view of the pro-
posed amendment of the GBP, the Article 169 
procedure had been suspended and the rea-
soned opinion had not been served on the 
United Kingdom Government. He indicated 
that the procedure would be discontinued en-
tirely as soon as the amended GBP came into 
force. The new version of the GBP became ap-
plicable on 22 August 1997. Consequently, the 
reasoned opinion was never sent to the United 
Kingdom and the Commission finally decided 
on 10 December 1997 to take no further action 
in the infringement procedure. 

23. By fax of 21 March 1997, the applicant asked 
the Director-General of DG ‘Internal Market and 
Financial Services’ for a copy of the ‘reasoned 
opinion’, in accordance with the Code of Con-
duct. That request, despite being repeated, 
was refused. 
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24. By letter of 18 September 1997 (‘the decision 
of 18 September 1997’), the Secretary-General 
of the Commission confirmed the refusal of the 
application sent to DG ‘Internal Market and Fi-
nancial Services’. 

25. The applicant brought an action, registered 
as Case T309/97, before the Court of First In-
stance against the decision of 18 September 
1997. In its judgment of 14 October 1999 in 
Case T309/97 Bavarian Lager v Commission 
[1999] ECR II3217, the Court of First Instance 
dismissed the action, stating that the preserva-
tion of the aim in question, namely allowing a 
Member State to comply voluntarily with the 
requirements of the Treaty, or, where neces-
sary, to give it the opportunity to justify its po-
sition, justified, for the protection of the public 
interest, the refusal of access to a preparatory 
document relating to the investigation stage of 
the procedure under Article 169 of the Treaty. 

26. On 4 May 1998, the applicant addressed a 
request to the Commission under the Code 
of Conduct for access to all of the submis-
sions made under file reference P/93/4490/
UK by 11 named companies and organisations 
and by three defined categories of person or 
company. The Commission refused the initial 
application on the ground that the Code of 
Conduct applies only to documents of which 
the Commission is the author. The confirma-
tory application was rejected on the grounds 
that the Commission was not the author of the 
document in question and that any application 
had to be sent to the author. 

27. On 8 July 1998, the applicant complained to 
the European Ombudsman under reference 
713/98/IJH, stating, by letter dated 2 February 
1999, that it wished to obtain the names of the 
delegates of the CBMC who had attended the 
meeting on 11 October 1996 and the names of 
the companies and any persons who fell into 
one of the 14 categories identified in the origi-
nal request for access to documents contain-
ing the communications to the Commission 
under file reference P/93/4490/UK. 

28. Following an exchange of letters between the 
Ombudsman and the Commission, the latter 
indicated to the Ombudsman in October and 
November 1999 that, of the 45 letters that it 
had written to the persons concerned request-
ing approval to disclose their identities to the 
applicant, 20 replies had been received, of 
which 14 were positive and 6 were negative. 
The Commission supplied the names and ad-

dresses of those that had responded positively. 
The applicant stated to the Ombudsman that 
the information provided by the Commission 
was still incomplete. 

29. In his draft recommendation addressed to 
the Commission in Complaint 713/98/IJH of 
17 May 2000, the Ombudsman proposed that 
the Commission should inform the applicant of 
the names of the delegates of the CBMC who 
had attended the meeting of 11 October 1996 
and of the companies and persons in the 14 
categories identified in the applicant’s original 
request for access to documents containing 
submissions made to the Commission under 
file reference P/93/4490/UK. 

30. On 3 July 2000, the Commission sent a detailed 
opinion to the Ombudsman, in which it main-
tained that the consent of the persons con-
cerned was still necessary, but indicated that it 
would be able to provide the names of those 
persons from whom it had received no reply to 
its request for their consent because, in the ab-
sence of a reply, the interests and fundamental 
rights and freedoms of the persons concerned 
did not prevail. The Commission thus included 
the names of 25 further persons. 

31. On 23 November 2000, the Ombudsman made 
his special report known to the Parliament, 
following up the recommendation project 
addressed to the Commission in Complaint 
713/98/IJH (‘the special report’) in which he 
concluded that there was no fundamental 
right to supply information to an administra-
tive authority in secret and that Directive 95/46 
did not require the Commission to keep secret 
the names of persons who submit views or in-
formation to it concerning the exercise of their 
functions. 

32. On 30 September 2002, the Ombudsman 
wrote a letter to the Commission President, Mr 
Prodi, in which he expressed his concern that: 
‘dataprotectionrulesarebeingmisinterpret-
edasimplyingtheexistenceofageneralright
toparticipateanonymouslyinpublicactivities.
This misinterpretation risks subverting the
principle of openness and the public’s right
of access to documents, both at the level of
theUnionandinthoseMemberStateswhere
opennessandpublicaccessareenshrined in
nationalconstitutionalrules.’

33. According to a press release No 23/2001 issued 
by the Ombudsman on 12 December 2001, 
the Parliament had adopted a resolution on 
the special report by requesting the Commis-
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sion to provide the information required by the 
applicant. 

34. By e-mail of 5 December 2003, the applicant 
sent a request to the Commission for access 
to the documents referred to in paragraph 26 
above, based on Regulation No 1049/2001. 

35. The Commission replied to that request by 
letter of 27 January 2004 stating that certain 
documents relating to the meeting could 
be disclosed, but drawing the applicant’s at-
tention to the fact that five names had been 
blanked out from the minutes of the meeting 
of 11 October 1996, following two express re-
fusals by persons to consent to the disclosure 
of their identity and the Commission’s failure to 
contact the remaining three attendees. 

36. By e-mail of 9 February 2004, the applicant 
made a confirmatory application within the 
meaning of Article 7(2) of Regulation No 
1049/2001, in which it requested the full min-
utes of the meeting of 11 October 1996, includ-
ing all of the names. 

37. By letter of 18 March 2004 (‘the contested deci-
sion’), the Commission rejected the confirma-
tory application of the applicant. It confirmed 
that Regulation No 45/2001 applied to the re-
quest for disclosure of the names of the other 
participants. As the applicant had not estab-
lished an express and legitimate purpose or 
need for such a disclosure, the conditions set 
out by Article 8 of that regulation had not been 
met and the exception provided for in Arti-
cle 4(1)(b) of Regulation No 1049/2001 applied. 
It added that, even if the rules on the protec-
tion of personal data did not apply, it would 
nevertheless have had to refuse to disclose the 
other names under Article 4(2), third indent, of 
Regulation No 1049/2001 so as not to compro-
mise its ability to conduct inquiries. 

Procedure and forms of order sought
38. The applicant brought the present action by an 

application lodged at the Registry of the Court 
of First Instance on 27 May 2004. 

39. By order of 6 December 2004, the President of 
the Third Chamber of the Court granted the 
Republic of Finland leave to intervene in sup-
port of the form of order sought by the appli-
cant. Following the withdrawal of the Republic 
of Finland, the President of the Third Chamber 
of the Court, by order of 27 April 2005, struck 
out that intervention. 

40. By a document lodged at the Registry of the 
Court on 28 February 2006, the European Data 
Protection Supervisor (‘the EDPS’) requested 
leave to intervene in the dispute in support of 
the form of order sought by the applicant. By 
order of 6 June 2006, the President of the Third 
Chamber of the Court granted the EDPS leave 
to intervene in support of the applicant. 

41. By way of measures of organisation of proce-
dure, the applicant and the Commission were 
requested to produce certain documents. They 
complied with those requests within the speci-
fied time-limits. 

42. By order of 16 May 2006, in accordance with Ar-
ticle 65(b), Article 66(1) and Article 67(3), third 
subparagraph, of the Rules of Procedure of the 
Court of First Instance, the latter ordered the 
Commission to produce the complete minutes 
of the meeting of 11 October 1996, including 
the names of all the participants, whilst provid-
ing that that document would not be commu-
nicated to the applicant in the context of the 
current proceedings. That order was complied 
with. 

43. The parties presented oral argument and re-
plied to the oral questions of the Court of First 
Instance at the hearing on 13 September 2006. 

44. The applicant claims that the Court should: 

• declare that the Commission’s acceptance 
of the amendment to the GBP by the Unit-
ed Kingdom Government is contrary to Ar-
ticle 30 of the EC Treaty (now Article 28 EC); 

• declare that the Commission should not 
have accepted the abovementioned 
amendment and that it therefore breached 
Article 30 of the EC Treaty; 

• annul the contested decision;

• order the Commission to produce the full 
set of names of persons who attended the 
meeting;

• order the Commission to pay the costs.

45. At the hearing, the EDPS, supporting the appli-
cant’s application for access to the documents, 
contended that the Court should annul the 
contested decision. 

46. The Commission contends that the Court 
should: 

• dismiss the claims concerning the infringe-
ment procedure as inadmissible;
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• dismiss the application for annulment of 
the contested decision;

• dismiss the request that the Commission be 
ordered to disclose the names of the other 
persons who participated in the meeting as 
inadmissible; 

• order the applicant to pay the costs.

AdmissibilityoftherequestthattheCourt
shouldordertheCommissiontodisclose
thenamesofallpersonswhoparticipated
inthemeeting
47. It is settled case-law that the Court of First In-

stance is not entitled, when exercising judicial 
review of legality, to issue directions to the 
institutions or to assume the role assigned to 
them. That limitation of the scope of judicial 
review applies to all types of contentious mat-
ters that might be brought before it, including 
those concerning access to documents (Case 
T204/99 Mattila v Council and Commission 
[2001] ECR II2265, paragraph 26, confirmed by 
the Court of Justice in Case C353/01 P Mattila 
v Council and Commission [2004] ECR I1073, 
paragraph 15). 

48. Therefore, an application by the applicant, re-
questing the Court of First Instance to order 
the Commission to send it the names of all the 
persons who attended the meeting of 11 Octo-
ber 1996, is inadmissible. 

Theunlawfulclosureoftheprocedure
forfailuretofulfilobligationsunder
Article169oftheECTreaty
Arguments of the parties
49. The applicant argues that the Commission 

agreed to close a procedure for failure to ful-
fil its obligations, in breach of Article 30 of the 
EC Treaty, or, alternatively, of Article 6 of the EC 
Treaty (now, after amendment, Article 12 EC), 
of which the meeting of 11 October 1996 was 
a crucial component. 

50. Given that the Commission refused the ap-
plicant’s request to attend the meeting, that 
it wrongly settled the proceedings for failure 
to fulfil obligations, that the amended GBP 
continued to discriminate against beers from 
Member States other than the United King-
dom, and that the Commission showed ex-
treme reluctance to reveal the names of those 
present at the meeting, that meeting must, 
the applicant argues, have been used as an 

opportunity for the United Kingdom Govern-
ment and large United Kingdom beer produc-
ing companies to persuade the Commission to 
adopt an amendment that served to prevent 
beer importers such as the applicant from 
being able to sell their products to a sizeable 
portion of the United Kingdom market. That 
agreement, seeking to obtain unlawful closure 
of the procedure for failure to fulfil obligations, 
caused the applicant to suffer loss of opportu-
nity and as a result, substantial financial loss. 
Therefore, it argues, there was a breach of Ar-
ticle 30 of the EC Treaty. 

51. The applicant argues that the amended GBP is 
also contrary to Article 6 of the EC Treaty in that 
its effect is to establish discrimination based on 
nationality against beers produced in Member 
States other than the United Kingdom. 

52. The Commission considers, essentially, that 
the applicant’s claims for a declaration that the 
Commission’s acceptance of the amendment 
made by the United Kingdom Government to 
the GBP was contrary to Article 30 of the EC 
Treaty, that it should not have accepted that 
amendment, and that it thus infringed Arti-
cle 30 of the EC Treaty, are manifestly inadmis-
sible. 

Findings of the Court
53. The applicant is requesting the Court to de-

clare that the Commission’s acceptance of the 
amendment made by the United Kingdom 
Government to the GBP is contrary to Arti-
cles 30 and 6 of the EC Treaty. That request 
should be interpreted, in reality, as an argu-
ment by the applicant that the Commission 
acted wrongly in deciding to take no further 
action on its complaint against measures of the 
United Kingdom allegedly contrary to Commu-
nity law. 

54. In that regard, it should be noted that private 
individuals are not entitled to bring proceed-
ings against a refusal by the Commission to in-
stitute proceedings against a Member State for 
failure to fulfil its obligations (order of 12 June 
1992 in Case C29/92 Asia Motor France v Com-
mission [1992] ECR I3935, paragraph 21; order 
of 15 March 2004 in Case T139/02 Institouto 
N. Avgerinopoulou and Others v Commission 
[2004] ECR II875, paragraph 76; and order of 
19 September 2005 in Case T247/04 Asepro-
far and Edifa v Commission [2005] ECR II3449, 
paragraph 40). 

55. Under Article 169 of the EC Treaty, the Com-
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mission is not bound to bring proceedings for 
failure to fulfil obligations, but has a discretion-
ary power precluding the right of individu-
als to require it to adopt a particular position 
or to bring an action for annulment against 
its refusal to take action (order of 16 Febru-
ary 1998 in Case T182/97 Smanor and Others 
v Commission [1998] ECR II271, paragraph 27, 
and Institouto N. Avgerinopoulou and Others v 
Commission, paragraph 77). 

56. In this case, therefore, the applicant has no 
standing to request the annulment of the 
Commission’s refusal to bring an action for 
failure to fulfil obligations against the United 
Kingdom on the ground that the amended 
GBP infringed Articles 6 and 30 of the EC Treaty. 
In those circumstances, the Commission can-
not be accused of itself infringing those articles 
by taking no further action on the proceedings 
in question. 

57. In any event, even if the applicant’s request 
were interpreted as seeking annulment not of 
that refusal but of the decision to take no fur-
ther action on its complaint of 10 December 
1997, it should be noted that a decision where-
by the Commission decides to take no further 
action on a complaint informing it of conduct 
by a State capable of giving rise to proceedings 
for failure to fulfil obligations does not have 
binding force and is not therefore a measure 
that is open to challenge (order in Aseprofar 
and Edifa v Commission, paragraph 48). More-
over, the action would be clearly out of time, 
having regard to the date of that decision. 

58. In those circumstances, the applicant’s claims 
concerning the decision to take no further ac-
tion on its complaint are inadmissible. 

59. Moreover, concerning the applicant’s claim 
that unlawful closure of the proceedings for 
failure to fulfil obligations caused it loss of op-
portunity and significant financial loss, it is suf-
ficient to note that the applicant has not made 
a claim for compensation as part of its action. 
Therefore, there is no need to rule in that re-
spect. 

Accesstodocuments
Arguments of the parties
60. The applicant submits that, in accordance with 

the conclusions drawn by the Ombudsman’s 
Special Report, the exception contained in Ar-
ticle 4(1)(b) of Regulation No 1049/2001 does 
not apply to this case, since Directive 95/46 

does not oblige the Commission to withhold 
the names of persons who submit views or in-
formation to it. The applicant refers in that re-
spect to the letter from the Ombudsman to the 
President of the Commission on 30 September 
2002, to complain about misuse of Directive 
95/46. 

61. Nor, the applicant argues, does Article 4(3) of 
Regulation No 1049/2001 apply. Given that 
the meeting took place in 1996, any potential 
undermining of the Commission’s decision-
making process would be at best minimal, 
given that over seven years have passed since 
the holding of that meeting and the bringing 
of the action. Even if that provision did apply, 
the Commission could not rely on it to support 
its refusal to disclose the information request-
ed, because of the overwhelming public inter-
est in disclosure in this case. For example, the 
Ombudsman and the Parliament have taken a 
particular interest, in this case, in the high level 
of secrecy surrounding the way in which pow-
erful third parties can make their views known 
to the Commission, which is contrary to the 
principles of open government. 

62. In its reply, the applicant argues that there is a 
new element in the defence, namely that the 
persons whose names the applicant requested 
were employees of the CBMC and had acted in 
accordance with the instructions of the body 
which they represented. The applicant argues 
that, since the Commission has revealed that 
those persons were representatives of the 
CBMC, that statement is now in the public do-
main, so that no further compromising of the 
Commission’s reputation for confidentiality 
would occur by disclosing their names. 

63. The applicant points out that trade associa-
tions, such as the CBMC, usually represent all or 
most of the participants in a market, and thus 
tend to expound views on behalf of an indus-
try as a whole. The Commission’s reputation 
could be damaged only if it were to transpire 
that, at the meeting on 11 October 1996, the 
CBMC representatives represented a specific 
group of brewers with an interest in maintain-
ing foreclosure in the United Kingdom market 
for beer sold in pubs and bars. The applicant 
argues that, where the information provid-
ers are employees of such a trade association, 
there is no risk emanating from the loss of that 
confidentiality, unless the trade association is 
not accurately reflecting the views of all of its 
members. 
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64. The applicant concludes that Article 2 of Regu-
lation No 1049/2001 obliges the Commission 
to make full disclosure of the attendees of the 
meeting and the submissions made with re-
spect to the procedure for failure to fulfil obli-
gations, and that none of the exceptions con-
tained in Article 4 of Regulation No 1049/2001 
apply to this case. 

65. The EDPS argued at the hearing that the Com-
mission has infringed Article 4(1)(b) of Regula-
tion No 1049/2001. He refers in that regard to 
a document entitled ‘Public access to docu-
ments and data protection’ (Reference docu-
ments, July 2005 No 1, EDPS – European Data 
Protection Supervisor), which can be found on 
the EDPS internet site. 

66. The EDPS stresses the need to establish an op-
timal balance between, on the one hand, the 
protection of data of a private nature, and, on 
the other, the fundamental right of the Euro-
pean citizen to have access to documents of 
the institutions. The Commission’s reasoning 
did not correctly take account of that balance, 
which is explicitly governed by Article 4(1)(b) 
of Regulation No 1049/2001. Since a request 
for access to documents is based on demo-
cratic principles, it is not necessary to state the 
reasons why the documents are requested, so 
that Article 8 of Regulation No 45/2001 does 
not apply in this case. Similarly, the EDPS con-
siders that data protection rules do not allow 
the inference of a general right to participate, 
anonymously, in public activities. 

67. According to the EDPS, the interest protected 
in Article 4(1)(b) of Regulation No 1049/2001 is 
private life and not the protection of personal 
data, which is a much broader concept. Whilst 
the name of a participant, mentioned in the 
minutes of a meeting, falls within the scope 
of personal data, since the identity of that per-
son would be revealed and the concept of the 
protection of personal data applies to those 
data, whether or not they fall within the scope 
of private life, the EDPS points out that, in the 
area of professional activities, the disclosure of 
a name does not normally have any link to pri-
vate life. The EDPS concludes that the Commis-
sion cannot rely on Article 4(1)(b) of Regulation 
No 1049/2001 in order to refuse to disclose the 
names of the persons concerned. 

68. The EDPS concludes that, in any case, on a 
proper interpretation of Article 4(1)(b) of Regu-
lation No 1049/2001, the right to refuse disclo-
sure is not an absolute right, but implies that 

private life must be affected to an important or 
considerable extent, which must be assessed 
having regard to the rules and principles on 
the protection of personal data. No general 
right is conferred on the person concerned to 
oppose disclosure. A person concerned who 
opposes disclosure must put forward a plausi-
ble reason, explaining why disclosure might be 
harmful to him. 

69. The Commission argues that the application 
for annulment of the contested decision is 
unfounded. It notes that, in this case, what is 
at issue is the interaction of two rights, namely 
the right of the public to have access to docu-
ments and the right to the protection of pri-
vate life and data. 

70. On the one hand, the right of public access to 
documents under Regulation No 1049/2001 
is generally unrestricted and automatic and is 
not dependent on the demonstration of any 
special interest peculiar to the person request-
ing access. The person making the request is 
not normally obliged to state reasons justifying 
it. 

71. On the other hand, personal data may only be 
disclosed lawfully and legitimately according 
to the basic principles governing the right to 
privacy and the specific provisions governing 
the processing of personal data. The Commis-
sion refers to Article 8 of the ECHR, Article 286 
EC and Articles 7 and 8 of the Charter. The pro-
visions of Regulation No 45/2001 require that 
the person making a request for personal data 
must establish the necessity for disclosure of 
such data and the Commission must be satis-
fied that the data subject’s interests will not be 
prejudiced. 

72. The Commission notes that the applicant does 
not present any legal arguments in support of 
its contention that the exception of Article 4(1)
(b) of Regulation 1049/2001, and subsequently 
Regulation No 45/2001, does not apply, but 
has merely relied on the Ombudsman’s draft 
recommendation and the resolution of the 
European Parliament supporting it. However 
the Ombudsman’s conclusion was based on 
an interpretation of Directive 95/46, and of the 
Code of Conduct, which was subsequently dis-
proved by the Court (Case C41/00 P Interporc 
v Commission [2003] ECR I2125; Case T 92/98 
Interporc v Commission [1999] ECR II3521, par-
agraph 70; and Case T47/01 Co-Frutta v Com-
mission [2003] ECR II4441, paragraphs 63 and 
64). Since the applicant’s latest request for ac-
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cess was made after Regulations Nos 45/2001 
and 1049/2001 came into force, the Commis-
sion’s decision to withhold the names should 
be examined under those rules. In any event, 
the conclusive interpretation of the law is not 
within the remit of either the Ombudsman or 
the Parliament. 

73. The Commission argues that the Court has 
confirmed the position taken by the Com-
mission with regard to the scope of the data 
protection rules. The Court has ruled that the 
data protection rules, and in particular the 
principle of proportionality, apply to the pub-
lication of individuals’ names even when the 
individuals are public employees and the pro-
cessing is for a public purpose (Joined Cases 
C465/00, C138/01 and C139/01 Österreichis-
cher Rundfunk and Others [2003] ECR I4989, 
paragraph 64). That approach, in relation to 
Directive 95/46, was subsequently confirmed 
by the Court in Case C101/01 Lindqvist [2003] 
ECR I12971, paragraph 24, according to which 
the term ‘personal data’ undoubtedly covers 
the name of a person in conjunction with his 
telephone number or information about his 
working conditions or hobbies. 

74. The Commission argues that the specific 
means to reconcile the rights of public access 
and of privacy and data protection is enshrined 
in Article 4(1)(b) of Regulation No 1049/2001, 
which should be read in the light of recital 11 
of that regulation, which explains that’[i]n as-
sessing the exceptions, the institutions should 
take account of the principles in Community 
legislation concerning the protection of per-
sonal data, in all areas of Union activities’. That 
exception does not have to be balanced with 
any overriding public interest in disclosure, 
but specifically requires the Community insti-
tutions to refuse access to a document where 
disclosure would undermine the protection of 
privacy and the protection of personal data. 

75. Regulation No 45/2001 does not preclude dis-
closure or other processing of personal data by 
the Commission, but provides the means of as-
sessing on a casebycase basis whether it is law-
ful and legitimate for an institution to process 
personal data, and hence whether such pro-
cessing would not undermine data protection. 

76. The Commission argues that, where process-
ing is lawful and legitimate under Regulation 
No 45/2001 in a particular case, the exception 
to the right of public access in Article 4(1)(b) of 
Regulation No 1049/2001 does not apply and 

a document containing personal data must 
be disclosed. Where, however, the process-
ing requested is not lawful and legitimate and 
the applicant has been unable to demonstrate 
why disclosure is necessary, the Commission is 
not required to disclose those data. 

77. Since, the Commission argues, both rights are 
of the same nature, importance and degree, 
they have to be applied together, and, where 
a request is made for access to a public docu-
ment containing personal data, a balance must 
be sought on a casebycase basis. 

78. The Commission refers in that regard to a re-
port on the situation of Fundamental Rights 
in the European Union and its Member States, 
drawn up in 2002 by the EU Network of Inde-
pendent Experts on Fundamental Rights, ac-
cording to which ‘while taking into account 
the possibility of granting only partial access 
to certain documents, it is essential that the 
Community institution does not grant right 
of access to documents when the interests of 
the applicant do not have any reasonable re-
lationship of proportionality with the resulting 
violation of the right of the person concerned 
to protect his privacy regarding the processing 
of personal data’. 

79. The need for such a balanced approach has 
also been highlighted by the Data Protection 
Working Party established under Article 29 of 
Directive 95/46, in its Opinion 5/2001 of 17 May 
2001 on the European Ombudsman Special 
Report. According to that Opinion: 
‘It should be noted... that the obligation to
public disclosure imposed by the legislation
onpublicaccesstoadministrativedocuments
does not establish an absolute obligation of
openness. It rather makes the obligation to
grantaccesstodocumentssubjecttoduere-
gardbeingmadeoftherighttoprivacy.There-
fore,itdoesnotjustifyunlimitedorunfettered
disclosure of personal data.On the contrary,
ajointreadingoflegislationonpublicaccess
andondataprotectionnormallyimposesthat
ananalysisofthecircumstancessurrounding
eachsituationismadeonacasebycasebasis,
inordertostrikeabalancebetweenthosetwo
rights.Inparticular,asaresultofsuchassess-
ment,legislationonpublicaccessmayprovide
fordifferentrulestoapplytodifferentcatego-
riesofdataordifferentkindsofdatasubjects.’

80. The Commission points out that Regulation No 
1049/2001 does not impose an automatic, un-
restricted obligation to disclose documents or 
parts of documents containing personal data, 
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but that that obligation exists only so far as it 
does not undermine the data protection rules. 

81. In this case, the Commission took all the rel-
evant circumstances into account. In the case 
of the representatives of UK authorities and of 
the CBMC, the applicant was fully informed of 
the interests and of the bodies represented at 
the meeting. As representatives, the persons 
present there were acting on instructions of 
the represented bodies in their capacity as em-
ployees of those bodies and not in a personal 
capacity. The effects of the decisions taken 
there applied to the represented bodies and 
not to the representatives in their personal ca-
pacity. It is therefore the information concern-
ing the represented bodies that is relevant for 
the public scrutiny pursued by the principle 
of transparency, and the Commission’s refusal 
to disclose the names of the individuals repre-
senting those interests is, the Commission sub-
mits, not to be considered as a breach of the 
rights of the applicant. The Commission also 
took account of the need to protect its ability 
to carry out investigations and its sources of 
information. 

82. The Commission further argues that the appli-
cant has never fulfilled the obligation to prove 
the need for a transfer of data, imposed by Arti-
cle 8(b) of Regulation No 45/2001. Disclosure of 
the names of the participants would not shed 
any additional light on the Commission’s deci-
sion to close the proceedings for failure to fulfil 
obligations. Since the minutes were disclosed, 
the public is fully aware of the facts and argu-
ments on the basis of which the Commission 
took its decision. Thus, in the absence of a spe-
cific and valid reason demonstrating the need 
to disclose personal data to third parties, the 
Commission was therefore obliged to refuse to 
make such a disclosure. 

83. According to the Commission, contrary to 
what the applicant argues in its reply, the fact 
that the names of the staff of the CBMC are 
in the public domain does not mean that the 
identity of the staff who attended the meeting 
with the Commission must also be in the pub-
lic domain. It does not follow that the names of 
the particular employees of a trade association 
who represented that association at a meeting 
can necessarily be deduced from the publica-
tion of the identities of all its staff. If that were 
the case, the applicant would have no reason 
to ask for these names to be revealed to it. 
Moreover, the applicant has not suggested 
that the representatives of the CBMC did not 

represent the views of the association at the 
meeting, or demonstrated how knowing the 
identities of the persons concerned would 
provide more necessary information than was 
concerned in the meeting report and the other 
documents which were disclosed. 

84. Concerning the applicant’s arguments as to 
the alleged application of Article 4(3) of Regu-
lation No 1049/2001, the Commission stresses 
that it based its refusal to disclose the names 
not on the exception under that paragraph, 
but on that laid down by the third indent of 
Article 4(2) of that regulation. 

85. The applicant was informed that, even if the 
rules on data protection did not apply to the 
request, the Commission would have reasons 
to refuse to disclose the names of five persons 
against their will, in order to protect its abil-
ity to carry out investigations into possible in-
fringements of Community law. The meeting 
of 11 October 1996 took place in the context of 
such an investigation. If the names of persons 
who provided information to the Commission 
could be disclosed against their will, the Com-
mission could be deprived of a valuable source 
of information, putting at risk its ability to carry 
out such investigations. 

86. The Commission argues that, under complaint 
and infringement procedures, complainants 
are given the possibility to choose between a 
‘confidential’ and a ‘non confidential’ handling 
of their complaint, and that there are no good 
reasons why other parties interested in the 
infringement procedure should not enjoy the 
same right. 

87. Thus, the exception mentioned in the third in-
dent of Article 4(2) of Regulation No 1049/2001 
required the Commission not to disclose the 
five names to the applicant. 

88. Finally, the Commission argues that the ap-
plicant has not demonstrated any ‘overriding 
public interest in disclosure’ of those remaining 
names so as to preclude the Commission from 
applying that exception. 

89. In this case, the disclosure of the names of the 
other persons, against their will and contrary 
to their expectation of confidentiality when 
contributing to the investigation into the al-
leged infringement, would undermine the 
protection of all investigations. Therefore, the 
Commission argues, there is a manifest public 
interest in favour of preserving confidentiality 
in investigations rather than endangering it. 
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Findings of the Court
Preliminary observations

90. The applicant’s request for access to the full 
document, and its application, are based on 
Regulation No 1049/2001. 

91. In the contested decision, the Commission 
held that Regulation No 45/2001 applied to 
the request that the names of the participants 
at the meeting of 11 October 1996 be revealed. 
The Commission took the view that, since the 
applicant had not established either an express 
and legitimate purpose or the need for such 
disclosure, the conditions set out by Article 8 
of that regulation had not been met and the 
exception provided for in Article 4(1)(b) of Reg-
ulation No 1049/2001 applied. It added that, 
even if the rules on the protection of personal 
data did not apply, it would nevertheless have 
had to refuse to disclose the other names un-
der Article 4(2), third indent, of Regulation No 
1049/2001 so as not to compromise its ability 
to conduct inquiries. 

92. In that regard, it should be noted that, accord-
ing to Article 6(1) of Regulation No 1049/2001, 
a person requesting access is not required to 
justify his request and therefore he does not 
have to demonstrate any interest in having 
access to the documents requested (Joined 
Cases T391/03 and T70/04 Franchet and Byk v 
Commission [2006] ECR II2023, paragraph 82, 
and case-law cited). 

93. It should also be noted that access to docu-
ments of the institutions constitutes the princi-
ple and that a decision to refuse access is valid 
only if it is based on one of the exceptions laid 
down in Article 4 of Regulation No 1049/2001. 

94. According to settled case-law, those excep-
tions must be construed and applied restric-
tively so as not to defeat the general principle 
enshrined in that regulation (Joined Cases 
C174/98 P and C189/98 P Netherlands and van 
der Wal v Commission [2000] ECR I1, para-
graph 27; Case T211/00 Kuijer v Council [2002] 
ECR II485, paragraph 55; and Franchet and Byk, 
paragraph 84). 

95. It is in the light of that case-law that the Court 
must examine how the Commission ap-
plied the exceptions under Article 4(1)(b) and 
Article 4(2), third indent, of Regulation No 
1049/2001. 

The exception concerning the protection of 
privacy and the integrity of the individual, un-

der Article 4(1)(b) of Regulation No 1049/2001 

 - Preliminary observations concerning the interac-
tion between Regulations Nos 1049/2001 and 
45/2001

96. Under Article 4(1)(b) of Regulation No 
1049/2001, the institutions are to refuse access 
to a document where disclosure would under-
mine the protection of privacy and the integ-
rity of the individual, in particular in accordance 
with Community legislation regarding the pro-
tection of personal data. 

97. Although the applicant refers in its application 
only to Directive 95/46 and not to Regulation 
No 45/2001, its action must be understood as 
referring to that regulation, since the contested 
decision is, in part, based upon it. At the hear-
ing, moreover, the applicant correctly referred 
to that regulation. 

98. It is necessary at the outset to examine the rela-
tionship between Regulations Nos 1049/2001 
and 45/2001 for the purpose of applying the 
exception under Article 4(1)(b) of Regulation 
No 1049/2001 to this case. For that purpose, it 
should be borne in mind that they have differ-
ent objectives. The first is designed to ensure 
the greatest possible transparency of the deci-
sion-making process of the public authorities 
and the information on which they base their 
decisions. It is thus designed to facilitate as far 
as possible the exercise of the right of access 
to documents, and to promote good admin-
istrative practices. The second is designed to 
ensure the protection of the freedoms and fun-
damental rights of individuals, particularly their 
private life, in the handling of personal data. 

99. Recital 15 of Regulation No 45/2001 indicates 
that access to documents, including condi-
tions for access to documents containing per-
sonal data, is governed by the rules adopted on 
the basis of Article 255 EC. 

100. Therefore, access to documents contain-
ing personal data falls under Regulation No 
1049/2001, according to which, in principle, all 
documents of the institutions should be acces-
sible to the public. It also provides that certain 
public and private interests must be protected 
by a regime of exceptions. 

101. Thus, for example, that regulation lays down 
an exception, referred to above, concerning 
cases where disclosure would adversely affect 
the protection of privacy and the integrity of 
the individual, particularly in accordance with 
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Community legislation on the protection of 
personal data, such as Regulation No 45/2001. 

102. In addition, according to recital 11 of Regula-
tion No 1049/2001, in assessing the need for an 
exception, the institutions should take account 
of the principles in Community legislation con-
cerning the protection of personal data in all 
areas of activity of the Union, thus including 
principles laid down in Regulation No 45/2001. 

103. In that regard, it is necessary to recall the most 
relevant provisions of Regulation No 45/2001. 

104. Pursuant to Article 2(a) of Regulation No 
45/2001, ‘personal data’ means any informa-
tion relating to an identified or identifiable 
natural person. An identifiable person is one 
who can be identified, directly or indirectly, 
in particular by reference to an identification 
number or to one or more factors specific to 
his or her physical, physiological, mental, eco-
nomic, cultural or social identity. Personal data 
would therefore include, for example, surname 
and forenames, postal address, e-mail address, 
bank account number, credit card numbers, 
social security number, telephone number or 
driving licence number. 

105. In addition, under Article 2(b) of Regulation No 
45/2001, ‘processing of personal data’ means 
any operation or set of operations which is per-
formed upon personal data, whether or not by 
automatic means, such as collection, record-
ing, organisation, storage, adaptation or al-
teration, retrieval, consultation, use, disclosure 
by transmission, dissemination or otherwise 
making available, alignment or combination, 
blocking, erasure or destruction. Therefore, 
communication of data, by transmission, dis-
semination or otherwise making available, falls 
within the definition of ‘processing’, and thus 
this regulation itself provides, independently of 
Regulation No 1049/2001, for the possibility of 
making certain personal data public. 

106. The processing must, in addition, be lawful un-
der Article 5(a) or (b) of Regulation No 45/2001, 
according to which the processing must be 
necessary for the performance of a task car-
ried out in the public interest or for compliance 
with a legal obligation to which the controller 
is subject. The right of access to documents of 
the institutions recognised to citizens of the 
European Union and to any natural or legal 
person residing in or having its registered of-
fice in a Member State, laid down by Article 2 
of Regulation No 1049/2001, constitutes a le-
gal obligation for the purposes of Article 5(b) 

of Regulation No 45/2001. Therefore, if Regu-
lation No 1049/2001 requires the communi-
cation of data, which constitutes ‘processing’ 
within the meaning of Article 2(b) of Regula-
tion No 45/2001, Article 5 of that same regula-
tion makes such communication lawful in that 
respect. 

107. As regards the obligation to prove the need to 
transfer, laid down by Article 8(b) of Regulation 
No 45/2001, it should be remembered that ac-
cess to documents containing personal data 
falls within the application of Regulation No 
1049/2001, and that, according to Article 6(1) 
of the latter, a person requesting access is not 
required to justify his request and therefore 
does not have to demonstrate any interest in 
having access to the documents requested 
(see paragraph 92 above). Therefore, where 
personal data are transferred in order to give 
effect to Article 2 of Regulation No 1049/2001, 
laying down the right of access to documents 
for all citizens of the Union, the situation falls 
within the application of that regulation and, 
therefore, the applicant does not need to prove 
the necessity of disclosure for the purposes of 
Article 8(b) of Regulation No 45/2001. If one 
were to require the applicant to demonstrate 
the necessity of having the data transferred, 
as an additional condition imposed in Regu-
lation No 45/2001, that requirement would 
be contrary to the objective of Regulation No 
1049/2001, namely the widest possible public 
access to documents held by the institutions. 

108. Moreover, given that access to a document will 
be refused under Article 4(1)(b) of Regulation 
No 1049/2001 where disclosure would under-
mine protection of the privacy and the integ-
rity of the individual, a transfer that does not 
fall under that exception cannot, in principle, 
prejudice the legitimate interests of the person 
concerned within the meaning of Article 8(b) 
of Regulation No 45/2001. 

109. As regards the data subject’s right to object, Ar-
ticle 18 of Regulation No 45/2001 provides that 
that person has the right to object at any time, 
on compelling legitimate grounds relating to 
his or her particular situation, to the processing 
of data relating to him or her, except in cases 
covered by, in particular, Article 5(b) of that 
regulation. Therefore, given that the process-
ing envisaged by Regulation No 1049/2001 
constitutes a legal obligation for the purposes 
of Article 5(b) of Regulation No 45/2001, the 
data subject does not, in principle, have a right 
to object. However, since Article 4(1)(b) of Reg-
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ulation No 1049/2001 lays down an exception 
to that legal obligation, it is necessary to take 
into account, on that basis, the impact of the 
disclosure of data concerning the data subject. 

110. In that regard, this Court considers that, if com-
munication of those data would not under-
mine protection of the privacy and the integ-
rity of the individual concerned, as required by 
Article 4(1)(b) of Regulation No 1049/2001, that 
person’s objection cannot prevent such com-
munication. 

111. Moreover, it should be recalled that the provi-
sions of Regulation No 45/2001, in so far as they 
govern the processing of personal data capa-
ble of affecting fundamental freedoms, and 
the right to privacy in particular, must neces-
sarily be interpreted in the light of fundamental 
rights which, according to consistent case-law, 
form an integral part of the general principles 
of law with which the Court of Justice and the 
Court of First Instance ensure compliance (see, 
by analogy, as regards Directive 95/46, Öster-
reichischer Rundfunk, paragraph 68). 

112. Those principles have been expressly included 
in Article 6(2) EU, according to which the Un-
ion shall respect fundamental rights, as guar-
anteed by the ECHR and as they result from 
the constitutional traditions common to the 
Member States, as general principles of Com-
munity law. 

113. It should be noted in that respect that Article 8 
of the ECHR, whilst laying down in paragraph 
1 the principle that public authorities shall not 
interfere with the exercise of the right to pri-
vate life, does acknowledge, in paragraph 2, 
that such interference is possible in so far as 
it’is in accordance with the law and is neces-
sary in a democratic society in the interests of 
national security, public safety or the economic 
well-being of the country, for the prevention of 
disorder or crime, for the protection of health 
or morals, or for the protection of the rights 
and freedoms of others’. 

114. It should also be noted that, in accordance with 
the case-law of the European Court of Human 
Rights, ‘private life’ is a broad concept that 
does not lend itself to an exhaustive definition. 
Article 8 of the ECHR also protects the right to 
identity and personal development and also 
the right of any individual to establish and de-
velop relationships with other human beings 
and with the outside world. There is no reason 
in principle to exclude professional or busi-
ness activities from the concept of ‘private life’ 

(see ECHR judgments in Niemietz v Germany 
of 16 December 1992, Series A No 251B, § 29; 
Amann v Switzerland of 16 February 2000, 
ECHR 2000II, § 65; and Rotaru v Romania of 
4 May 2000, ECHR 2000V, § 43). There is thus 
an area of interaction between the individual 
and others which, even in a public context, 
may fall within the concept of ‘private life’ (see 
ECHR judgment in Peck v United Kingdom of 
28 January 2003, ECHR 2003I, § 57, and case-
law cited). 

115. In order to determine whether there has been 
a breach of Article 8 of the ECHR, it needs to 
be determined, first, whether there has been 
an interference in the private life of the person 
concerned and, secondly, if so, whether that 
interference is justified. In order to be justified, 
it must be in accordance with the law, pursue 
a legitimate aim and be necessary in a demo-
cratic society. Concerning that latter condition, 
in order to determine whether a disclosure is 
‘necessary in a democratic society’, it needs 
to be examined whether the grounds relied 
on in justification are ‘relevant and sufficient’, 
and whether the measures adopted are pro-
portionate to the legitimate aims pursued. In 
cases concerning the disclosure of personal 
data, the European Court of Human Rights 
has recognised that the competent authorities 
have to be granted a certain discretion in order 
to establish a fair balance between competing 
public and private interests. That margin of dis-
cretion is, however, accompanied by judicial 
review, and its breadth is to be determined 
by reference to factors such as the nature and 
importance of the interests at stake and the 
seriousness of the interference (see Peck v 
United Kingdom, especially § 76 and 77; see 
also the Opinion of Advocate General Léger in 
Joined Cases C317/04 and C318/04 Parliament 
v Council and Commission [2006] ECR I4721, 
I4724, points 226 to 228). 

116. Any decision taken pursuant to Regulation No 
1049/2001 must comply with Article 8 of the 
ECHR, in accordance with Article 6(2) EU. In that 
regard it should be noted that Regulation No 
1049/2001 determines the general principles 
and the limits which, for reasons of public or 
private interest, govern the exercise of the right 
of access to documents, in accordance with Ar-
ticle 255(2) EC. Therefore, Article 4(1)(b) of that 
regulation provides an exception designed to 
ensure protection of the privacy and integrity 
of the individual. 

117. Moreover, exceptions to the principle of access 
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to documents must be interpreted restrictively. 
The exception under Article 4(1)(b) of Regula-
tion No 1049/2001 concerns only personal 
data that are capable of actually and specifi-
cally undermining the protection of privacy 
and the integrity of the individual. 

118. It should also be emphasised that the fact that 
the concept of ‘private life’ is a broad one, in 
accordance with the case-law of the European 
Court of Human Rights, and that the right to 
the protection of personal data may constitute 
one of the aspects of the right to respect for 
private life (see, to that effect, the Opinion of 
Advocate General Leger in Parliament v Coun-
cil and Commission, point 209), does not mean 
that all personal data necessarily fall within the 
concept of ‘private life’. 

119. A fortiori, not all personal data are by their na-
ture capable of undermining the private life of 
the person concerned. In recital 33 of Directive 
95/46, reference is made to data which are ca-
pable by their nature of infringing fundamental 
freedoms or privacy and which should not be 
processed unless the data subject gives his ex-
plicit consent, which implies that not all data 
are of that nature. Such sensitive data may be 
included in those referred to by Article 10 of 
Regulation No 45/2001, concerning processing 
relating to particular categories of data, such as 
those revealing racial or ethnic origin, religious 
or philosophical beliefs, or data concerning 
health or sex life. 

120. It follows from the whole of the above that, in 
order to be able to determine whether the ex-
ception under Article 4(1)(b) of Regulation No 
1049/2001 applies, it is necessary to examine 
whether public access to the names of the par-
ticipants at the meeting of 11 October 1996 is 
capable of actually and specifically undermin-
ing the protection of the privacy and the integ-
rity of the persons concerned. 

 - Application to this case of the exception con-
cerning the undermining of the protection of 
the privacy and integrity of the persons con-
cerned, laid down in Article 4(1)(b) of Regulation 
No 1049/2001 

121. In this case, the request for access at issue con-
cerns the minutes of a Commission meeting, 
attended by officers of the DG for the Internal 
Market and Financial Services, officials of the 
United Kingdom Government Department 
of Trade and Industry and representatives of 
the CBMC. Those minutes contain a list of the 

participants at the meeting, classified by refer-
ence to the bodies in the name of which and 
on behalf of which those persons attended, 
described by their title, the initial of their fore-
name, their surname and, where relevant, the 
service, department or association to which 
they belong within those bodies. The text of 
the minutes refers not to physical persons but 
to the bodies in question, such as the CBMC, 
the DG for the Internal Market and Financial 
Services, or the United Kingdom Department 
of Trade and Industry. 

122. The list of meeting participants appearing in 
the minutes in question thus contains personal 
data for the purposes of Article 2(a) of Regula-
tion No 45/2001, since the persons who par-
ticipated in that meeting can be identified in 
them. 

123. However, the mere fact that a document con-
tains personal data does not necessarily mean 
that the privacy or integrity of the persons con-
cerned is affected, even though professional 
activities are not, in principle, excluded from 
the concept of ‘private life’ within the mean-
ing of Article 8 of the ECHR (see paragraph 114 
above, and the case-law of the European Court 
of Human Rights cited there). 

124. As the Commission itself has indicated, the 
persons present at the meeting of 11 October 
1996, whose names have not been disclosed, 
were present as representatives of the CBMC 
and not in their personal capacity. The Com-
mission has also indicated that the conse-
quences of the decisions taken at the meeting 
concerned the bodies represented and not 
their representatives in their personal capacity. 

125. In those circumstances, this Court finds that 
the fact that the minutes contain the names of 
those representatives does not affect the pri-
vate life of the persons in question, given that 
they participated in the meeting as representa-
tives of the bodies to which they belonged. 
Moreover, as noted above, the minutes do not 
contain any individual opinions attributable to 
those persons, but positions attributable to the 
bodies which those persons represented. 

126. In any event, disclosure of the names of the 
CBMC representatives is not capable of actu-
ally and specifically affecting the protection of 
the privacy and integrity of the persons con-
cerned. The mere presence of the name of the 
person concerned in a list of participants at a 
meeting, on behalf of the body which that per-
son represented, does not constitute such an 
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interference, and the protection of the privacy 
and integrity of the persons concerned is not 
compromised. 

127. That approach is not contradicted by the judg-
ment in ÖsterreichischerRundfunk, relied on by 
the Commission. In that judgment, the Court 
held that the gathering of data with names 
concerning the income of an individual, with 
a view to communicating those data to third 
parties, fell within the scope of Article 8 of the 
ECHR. It held that, whilst the mere recording by 
an employer of data by name relating to the 
remuneration paid to his employees could not 
as such constitute an interference with private 
life, the communication of that data to third 
parties, in that case a public authority, infringed 
the right of the persons concerned to respect 
for private life, whatever the subsequent use of 
the information thus communicated, and con-
stituted an interference within the meaning of 
Article 8 of the ECHR (ÖsterreichischerRund-
funk, paragraph 74). The Court added that, to 
establish the existence of such an interference, 
it did not matter whether the information 
communicated was of a sensitive character or 
whether the persons concerned had been in-
convenienced in any way. It was sufficient to 
find that data relating to the remuneration re-
ceived by an employee or pensioner had been 
communicated by the employer to a third par-
ty (ÖsterreichischerRundfunk, paragraph 75). 

128. This Court finds that the circumstances of that 
case are different from those at issue here. This 
case falls within the application of Regulation 
No 1049/2001, and the exception laid down 
by Article 4(1)(b) of that regulation concerns 
only the disclosure of personal data which 
would undermine the protection of the privacy 
and integrity of the individual. As established 
in paragraph 119 above, not all personal data 
are capable by their nature of undermining 
the private life of the person concerned. In the 
circumstances of this case, the mere disclosure 
of the participation of a physical person, acting 
in a professional capacity, as the representative 
of a collective body, at a meeting held with a 
Community institution, where the personal 
opinion expressed by that person on that occa-
sion cannot be identified, cannot be regarded 
as an interference with that person’s private 
life. A distinction must thus be drawn from the 
situation which obtained in Österreichischer-
Rundfunk, where the matter at issue was the 
gathering and communication by an employer 
to a public authority of a specific combination 
of personal data, namely the names of employ-

ees and the income received by them. 

129. In its judgment in Lindqvist, also relied upon 
by the Commission, the Court held that an 
operation consisting of referring to various 
persons on an internet page and identify-
ing them either by name or by other means, 
such as their telephone number or informa-
tion on their working conditions and pastimes, 
constituted’the processing of personal data 
wholly or partly by automatic means’ within 
the meaning of Directive 95/46 (Lindqvist, 
paragraph 27). That judgment is not decisive 
for the present case. As stated in the previous 
paragraph, this case falls under Regulation No 
1049/2001, and the matter at issue is therefore, 
in addition to whether a processing of personal 
data is involved, to determine whether the dis-
closure of the data in question would under-
mine the privacy and integrity of the individual. 

130. Nor does the approach of the Court of First In-
stance contradict the case-law of the European 
Court of Human Rights, according to which 
the right to respect for private life includes 
the right of the individual to establish and de-
velop relations with others and may extend to 
professional or business activities (Niemietz v 
Germany, § 29; Amann v Switzerland, § 65; 
Rotaru v Romania, § 43, and Peck v UnitedK-
ingdom, § 57). 

131. Even if one cannot, a priori, exclude the possi-
bility that the concept of private life may cover 
certain aspects of the professional activity of an 
individual, that does not mean that any profes-
sional activity is wholly and necessarily covered 
by protection of the right to respect for pri-
vate life. In this case, the Court takes the view 
that the mere participation of a representative 
of a collective body in a meeting held with a 
Community institution does not fall within the 
sphere of that person’s private life, so that the 
disclosure of minutes revealing his presence at 
that meeting cannot constitute an interference 
with his private life. 

132. Thus, the disclosure of the names in question 
does not lead to an interference with the pri-
vate life of the persons who participated in the 
meeting and would not undermine the protec-
tion of their private life and the integrity of their 
person. 

133. The Commission is therefore wrong in its view 
that the exception under Article 4(1)(b) of Reg-
ulation No 1049/2001 had to be applied in this 
case. 
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134. Moreover, the Commission does not claim 
that, in this case, at the time of the gathering 
of the data, namely at the meeting of 11 Oc-
tober 1996, it undertook to keep the names of 
the participants secret, or that the participants 
requested at that meeting that the Commis-
sion not reveal their identity. It was not until 
1999, when the Commission requested au-
thorisation to reveal their identity, that certain 
participants refused to allow their name to be 
disclosed. 

135. Since in this case the condition under Article 
4(1)(b) of Regulation No 1049/2001 that pro-
tection of the relevant person’s privacy and in-
tegrity must be affected has not been fulfilled, 
refusal by that person cannot prevent disclo-
sure. Moreover, the Commission has not even 
attempted to establish that the persons who 
refused, after the meeting, to allow disclosure 
of their name had demonstrated that protec-
tion of their privacy and integrity would be af-
fected by disclosure. 

136. It should also be noted in that respect that, 
in the end, the Commission received refusals 
from only two of the persons in question, and 
that it was not able to contact the three other 
persons in question, whose names it had also 
not disclosed (see paragraph 35 above). 

137. The persons who participated in that meeting 
had no grounds for believing that the opinions 
expressed in the name of and on behalf of the 
bodies they represented enjoyed confidential 
treatment. This was a meeting held in the con-
text of proceedings for failure to fulfil obliga-
tions. Although, under such proceedings, the 
applicant may, pursuant to internal Commis-
sion rules, choose confidential treatment, there 
is no provision for such treatment in respect of 
the other persons participating in the investi-
gations. Moreover, since the Commission dis-
closed the minutes, albeit with certain names 
removed, it clearly took the view that this was 
not information covered by business secrecy. 
Regulation No 45/2001 does not require the 
Commission to keep secret the names of per-
sons who communicate opinions or informa-
tion to it concerning the exercise of its func-
tions. 

138. As for the Commission’s argument that the 
applicant has never satisfied the obligation to 
prove the necessity for transfer, as provided 
under Article 8(b) of Regulation No 45/2001, it 
is sufficient to note that, as held in paragraphs 
107 and 108 above, where the disclosure gives 

effect to Article 2 of Regulation No 1049/2001 
and does not fall under the exception laid 
down by Article 4(1)(b) of that regulation, the 
applicant has no need to prove necessity for 
the purposes of Article 8(b) of Regulation No 
45/2001. Therefore, the Commission’s argu-
ment that communication of the identity of 
the participants would not have thrown any 
additional light on the decision to close the 
proceedings for failure to fulfil obligations can-
not succeed. 

139. The Commission therefore erred in law by 
holding, in the contested decision, that the ap-
plicant had not established either an express 
and legitimate purpose or any need to obtain 
the names of the five persons who participated 
in the meeting and who, after that meeting, 
objected to communication of their identity to 
the applicant. 

140. It is also necessary to examine the application 
of the exception under the third indent of Arti-
cle 4(2) of Regulation No 1049/2001. 

The exception concerning protection of the 
purpose of inspections, investigations and au-
dits

141. Under the third indent of Article 4(2) of Regula-
tion No 1049/2001, the institutions must refuse 
access to a document where disclosure would 
undermine the protection of the purpose of 
inspections, investigations and audits, unless 
there is an overriding public interest in disclo-
sure. 

142. Although, by confusion, the applicant cites 
in its application Article 4(3) of Regulation No 
1049/2001, its application should be interpret-
ed as relying on the third indent of Article 4(2) 
of that regulation, since it is on that provision 
that the Commission based, in the alternative, 
its refusal to grant access to the full minutes. 
In any event, at the hearing, the applicant re-
ferred to the third indent of Article 4(2) of Reg-
ulation No 1049/2001. 

143. It is for the institution to assess in each individ-
ual case whether the documents disclosure of 
which has been requested actually fall within 
the exceptions set out in the regulation con-
cerning access to documents. 

144. The document at issue in this case is the min-
utes of a meeting which took place in the con-
text of proceedings for failure to fulfil obliga-
tions. 

145. However, the fact that the document at issue is 
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linked to proceedings for failure to fulfil obliga-
tions, and thus concerns investigations, cannot 
in itself justify applicant of the exception plead-
ed (see, to that effect, Bavarian Lager v Com-
mission, paragraph 41). As stated above, any 
exception to the right of access to documents 
under Regulation No 1049/2001 must be in-
terpreted and applied strictly (Case T20/99 
Denkavit Nederland v Commission [2000] ECR 
II3011, paragraph 45). 

146. In that respect, it should be remembered that 
the Commission’s investigations were already 
over at the time the contested decision was 
adopted, on 18 March 2004. Indeed, it had 
already closed the infringement proceedings 
against the United Kingdom without taking 
any further action on 10 December 1997. 

147. It thus needs to be examined in this case 
whether the document concerning investi-
gations was covered by the exception under 
the third indent of Article 4(2) of Regulation 
No 1049/2001, whereas the investigation 
was complete and infringement proceedings 
closed for more than six years. 

148. The Court of First Instance has already had 
occasion to hold that the third indent of Arti-
cle 4(2) of Regulation No 1049/2001, which is 
designed to protect ‘the purpose of inspec-
tions, investigations and audits’, applies only 
where disclosure of the documents in ques-
tion risks jeopardising the completion of the 
inspections, investigations or audits (Franchet 
and Byk, paragraph 109). 

149. It should be noted that that exception, from 
the way in which it is formulated, is designed 
not to protect investigations as such but the 
purpose of those investigations, which, as is 
shown in the judgment in BavarianLager v 
Commission (paragraph 46), consists, in the 
case of proceedings for failure to fulfil obliga-
tions, in causing the Member State concerned 
to comply with Community law. In this case, 
the Commission had already closed the in-
fringement proceedings against the United 
Kingdom on 10 December 1997, since the lat-
ter had amended the legislation at issue and 
the purpose of the investigations had thus 
been achieved. Thus, at the time the contested 
decision was adopted, no investigation whose 
purpose could have been jeopardised by dis-
closure of the minutes containing the names of 
certain representatives of bodies which partici-
pated in the meeting of 11 October 1996 was 
in progress, with the result that the exception 

under the third indent of Article 4(2) of Regu-
lation No 1049/2001 cannot be applied in this 
case. 

150. In order to justify its refusal to disclose the 
whole of the minutes in question, the Com-
mission further argues that, if the names of 
persons who have supplied information to the 
Commission could be disclosed against their 
wishes, the Commission could be deprived of 
a precious source of information, which could 
compromise its ability to conduct investiga-
tions into presumed infringements of Commu-
nity legislation. 

151. In that regard it should be noted that, accord-
ing to consistent case-law, the assessment 
required for processing an application for 
access to documents must be of a concrete 
nature. First, the mere fact that a document 
concerns an interest protected by an excep-
tion is not sufficient to justify that exception 
being applied (see, to that effect, Denkavit 
Nederland, paragraph 45). Secondly, the risk 
of a protected interest being affected must be 
reasonably foreseeable and not merely hypo-
thetical. Therefore, the assessment which the 
institution must undertake in order to apply 
an exception must be carried out in a concrete 
way and be apparent from the grounds of the 
decision (Case T188/98 Kuijer v Council [2000] 
ECR II1959, paragraph 38; Case T2/03 Verein 
für Konsumenteninformation v Commission 
[2005] ECR II1121, paragraphs 69 and 72; and 
Franchet and Byk, paragraph 115). 

152. Thus, whilst it must be acknowledged that the 
need to preserve the anonymity of persons 
providing the Commission with information 
on possible infringements of Community law 
constitutes a legitimate objective capable 
of justifying the Commission in not granting 
complete, or even partial, access to certain 
documents, the fact remains that, in this case, 
the Commission ruled in the abstract on the 
effect which disclosure of the document con-
cerned with names might have on its inves-
tigative activity, without demonstrating to a 
sufficient legal standard that disclosure of that 
document would actually and specifically un-
dermine protection of the purposes of investi-
gations. Thus it has not been shown in this case 
that the purpose of investigations was actually 
and specifically jeopardised by the disclosure 
of data requested six years after the closure of 
those investigations. 

153. Moreover, as stated above, the procedure for 
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failure to fulfil obligations does not provide 
for confidential treatment for persons who 
participated in the investigations, save for the 
complainant. It appears that, if the Commission 
disclosed the minutes in question without the 
names of persons who had not given authori-
sation for their names to be disclosed, that is 
because it considered, in principle, that disclo-
sure of that document did not fall within the 
exception under the third indent of Article 4(2) 
of Regulation No 1049/2001. 

154. In that respect, the Commission’s reference 
during the hearing to Case 145/83 Adams 
v Commission [1985] ECR 3539 concerning 
the confidentiality of information covered 
by business secrecy is not relevant. That case 
concerned an informer who had denounced 
anti-competitive practices of his employer and 
whose identity the Commission had to keep 
secret. That informer had specifically asked it 
not to reveal his identity from the beginning of 
the proceedings. In this case, however, as stat-
ed above, the Commission has not shown that, 
at the time they participated in the meeting in 
question, the persons concerned had reason-
able grounds for believing that they enjoyed 
confidential treatment of any kind, or that 
they had asked the Commission not to reveal 
their identity. Moreover, as stated in paragraph 
137 above, given that the Commission dis-
closed the minutes, albeit with certain names 
removed, it must have taken the view that 
this was not information covered by business 
secrecy. Finally, the Commission has not put 
forward any argument to demonstrate in what 
way disclosure of the names of the persons 
who refused their consent could have harmed 
any investigations involved in this case. 

155. In those circumstances, the arguments based 
on protection of the purposes of inspections 
and investigations cannot succeed. 

156. There is therefore no need to examine the pos-
sible existence of a higher public interest jus-
tifying disclosure of the document concerned. 

157. It follows from the whole of the above that 
the full minutes of the meeting of 11 October 
1996, containing all the names, does not fall 
within the exceptions under Article 4(1)(b) or 
the third indent of Article 4(2) of Regulation No 
1049/2001. 

158. The contested decision must therefore be an-
nulled.

159.  Costs
160. Under Article 87(2) of the Rules of Procedure, 

the unsuccessful party is to be ordered to pay 
the costs if they have been applied for in the 
successful party’s pleadings. Since the Com-
mission has been unsuccessful, it must be or-
dered to pay the applicant’s costs, as the ap-
plicant has pleaded. 

161. Under the third subparagraph of Article 87(4) 
of the Rules of Procedure, the Court of First In-
stance may order an intervener to bear his own 
costs. In this case, the intervener in support of 
the applicant is ordered to bear his own costs. 

On those grounds, THE COURT OF FIRST INSTANCE 
(Third Chamber) hereby:

1. Annuls the Commission’s decision of 18 March 
2004, rejecting an application for access to 
the full minutes of the meeting of 11 October 
1996, containing all the names;

2. Orders the Commission to pay the costs in-
curred by The Bavarian Lager Co. Ltd;

3. Orders the European Data Protection Supervi-
sor (EDPS) to bear his own costs.

Jaeger  Tiili Czúcz

Delivered in open court in Luxembourg on 8 No-
vember 2007.

E. Coulon, Registrar
M. Jaeger, President
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DATA PROCESSING FOR PUBLIC SECURITY PURPOSES – 
PRIVATE OPERATORS IN THE REALM OF ACTIVITIES OF 
STATE AUTHORITIES 

JoInED CAsEs C-317/04 
AnD C-318/04 EURoPEAn 
PARLIAMEnt v CoUnCIL 
oF tHE EURoPEAn 
UnIon AnD CoMMIssIon 
oF tHE EURoPEAn 
CoMMUnItIEs 
(Protection of individuals with regard to the pro-
cessing of personal data – Air transport – Decision 
2004/496/EC – Agreement between the European 
Community and the United States of America – Pas-
senger Name Records of air passengers transferred 
to the United States Bureau of Customs and Border 
Protection – Directive 95/46/EC – Article 25 – Third 
countries – Decision 2004/535/EC – Adequate level 
of protection)

KEYWORDS

1. Approximation of laws – Directive 95/46 – 
Scope (European Parliament and Council Di-
rective 95/46, Art. 3(2); Commission Decision 
2004/535)

2. International agreements – Conclusion – EEC-
United States Agreement on the processing 
and transfer of Passenger Name Records of 
air passengers to the United States Bureau of 
Customs and Border Protection (Art. 95 EC; Eu-
ropean Parliament and Council Directive 95/46, 
Arts 3(2) and 25; Council Decision 2004/496)

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

1. Decision 2004/535 on the adequate protection 
of personal data contained in the Passenger 
Name Record of air passengers transferred 
to the United States Bureau of Customs and 
Border Protection relates to personal-data pro-
cessing operations concerning public security 
and the activities of the State in areas of crimi-
nal law, operations which are excluded from 
the scope of Directive 95/46 on the protection 
of individuals with regard to the processing of 

personal data and on the free movement of 
such data, by virtue of the first indent of Article 
3(2) of that directive. 

The fact that the personal data are collected 
by private operators for commercial purposes 
and it is they who arrange for their transfer to a 
third country does not alter such a conclusion, 
inasmuch as their transfer falls within a frame-
work established by the public authorities that 
relates to public security, and is not necessary 
for the supply of services by those operators. 

(see paras 56-59)

2. Decision 2004/496 on the conclusion of an 
Agreement between the European Communi-
ty and the United States of America on the pro-
cessing and transfer of PNR (Passenger Name 
Record) data by Air Carriers to the United States 
Department of Homeland Security, Bureau of 
Customs and Border Protection, cannot have 
been validly adopted on the basis of Article 95 
EC, read in conjunction with Article 25 of Direc-
tive 95/46 on the protection of individuals with 
regard to the processing of personal data and 
on the free movement of such data. 

The agreement relates to data processing op-
erations which, since they concern public se-
curity and the activities of the State in areas of 
criminal law, are excluded from the scope of 
Directive 95/46 by virtue of the first indent of 
Article 3(2) of that directive. 

(see paras 67-69)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (GRAND 
CHAMBER)

30 May 200610

(Protection of individuals with regard to the pro-
cessing of personal data – Air transport – Decision 
2004/496/EC – Agreement between the European 
Community and the United States of America – Pas-
senger Name Records of air passengers transferred 
to the United States Bureau of Customs and Border 
Protection – Directive 95/46/EC – Article 25 – Third 
countries – Decision 2004/535/EC – Adequate level 
of protection)

In Joined Cases C-317/04 and C-318/04,

ACTIONS for annulment under Article 230 EC, 
brought on 27 July 2004, European Parliament, 
represented by R. Passos, N. Lorenz, H. Duintjer 

10 Language of the case: French.

Joined Cases C-317/04 and C-318/04 European Parliament V Council and Commission
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Tebbens and A. Caiola, acting as Agents, with an 
address for service in Luxembourg, applicant, sup-
ported by European Data Protection Supervisor 
(EDPS), represented by H. Hijmans and V. Perez Asi-
nari, acting as Agents, intervener,

v

Council of the European Union, represented by M.C. 
Giorgi Fort and M. Bishop, acting as Agents, defend-
ant in Case C-317/04, supported by Commission of 
the European Communities, represented by P.J. 
Kuijper, A. van Solinge and C. Docksey, acting as 
Agents, with an address for service in Luxembourg, 
United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ire-
land, represented by M. Bethell, C. White and T. Har-
ris, acting as Agents, and by T. Ward, Barrister, with 
an address for service in Luxembourg, interveners,

and v

Commission of the European Communities, rep-
resented by P.J. Kuijper, A. van Solinge, C. Docksey 
and F. Benyon, acting as Agents, with an address for 
service in Luxembourg, 

defendant in Case C-318/04,

supported by

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ire-
land, represented by M. Bethell, C. White and T. Har-
ris, acting as Agents, and by T. Ward, Barrister, with 
an address for service in Luxembourg, 

intervener,

THE COURT (Grand Chamber),

composed of V. Skouris, President, P. Jann, C.W.A. 
Timmermans, A. Rosas and J. Malenovský, Presi-
dents of Chambers, N. Colneric (Rapporteur), S. von 
Bahr, J.N. Cunha Rodrigues, R. Silva de Lapuerta, 
G. Arestis, A. Borg Barthet, M. Ilešič and J. Klučka, 
Judges, Advocate General: P. Léger, Registrar: M. 
Ferreira, Principal Administrator, having regard to 
the written procedure and further to the hearing 
on 18 October 2005, after hearing the Opinion of 
the Advocate General at the sitting on 22 Novem-
ber 2005, gives the following Judgment

1. By its application in Case C-317/04, the Euro-
pean Parliament seeks the annulment of Coun-
cil Decision 2004/496/EC of 17 May 2004 on 
the conclusion of an Agreement between the 
European Community and the United States 
of America on the processing and transfer of 
PNR data by Air Carriers to the United States 
Department of Homeland Security, Bureau 
of Customs and Border Protection (OJ 2004 L 
183, p. 83, and corrigendum at OJ 2005 L 255, 

p. 168). 

2. By its application in Case C-318/04, the Parlia-
ment seeks the annulment of Commission De-
cision 2004/535/EC of 14 May 2004 on the ade-
quate protection of personal data contained in 
the Passenger Name Record of air passengers 
transferred to the United States Bureau of Cus-
toms and Border Protection (OJ 2004 L 235, p. 
11; ‘the decision on adequacy’). 

Legal context 
3. Article 8 of the European Convention for the 

Protection of Human Rights and Fundamen-
tal Freedoms, signed in Rome on 4 November 
1950 (‘the ECHR’), provides: 
‘1. Everyone has the right to respect for his
privateand family life,hishomeandhiscor-
respondence.

2. There shall beno interferenceby apublic
authoritywiththeexerciseofthisrightexcept
such as is in accordancewith the law and is
necessaryinademocraticsocietyintheinter-
ests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the
preventionofdisorderorcrime,fortheprotec-
tionofhealthormorals,orfortheprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofothers.’

4. The second sentence of Article 95(1) EC is 
worded as follows: 
‘TheCouncil shall, acting in accordancewith
the procedure referred to in Article 251 and
after consulting the Economic and Social
Committee, adopt the measures for the ap-
proximation of the provisions laid down by
law, regulation or administrative action in
MemberStateswhichhaveastheirobjectthe
establishmentandfunctioningoftheinternal
market.’

5. Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament 
and of the Council of 24 October 1995 on the 
protection of individuals with regard to the 
processing of personal data and on the free 
movement of such data (OJ 1995 L 281, p. 31), 
as amended by Regulation (EC) No 1882/2003 
of the European Parliament and of the Coun-
cil of 29 September 2003 adapting to Council 
Decision 1999/468/EC the provisions relating 
to committees which assist the Commission 
in the exercise of its implementing powers laid 
down in instruments subject to the procedure 
referred to in Article 251 of the EC Treaty (OJ 
2003 L 284, p. 1) (‘the Directive’), was adopted 
on the basis of Article 100a of the EC Treaty 
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(now, after amendment, Article 95 EC). 

6. The 11th recital in the preamble to the Direc-
tive states that ‘the principles of the protection 
of the rights and freedoms of individuals, no-
tably the right to privacy, which are contained 
in this Directive, give substance to and amplify 
those contained in the Council of Europe Con-
vention of 28 January 1981 for the Protection 
of Individuals with regard to Automatic Pro-
cessing of Personal Data’. 

7. The 13th recital in the preamble reads as fol-
lows: 
‘…theactivitiesreferredtoinTitlesVandVIof
theTreatyonEuropeanUnionregardingpub-
licsafety,defence,Statesecurityortheactivi-
tiesoftheStateintheareaofcriminallawsfall
outsidethescopeofCommunitylaw,without
prejudicetotheobligationsincumbentupon
MemberStatesunderArticle56(2),Article57
orArticle100aof theTreatyestablishing the
EuropeanCommunity...’.

8. The 57th recital states: 
‘...thetransferofpersonaldatatoathirdcoun-
trywhichdoesnotensureanadequatelevelof
protectionmustbeprohibited’.

9. Article 2 of the Directive provides: 
‘ForthepurposesofthisDirective:

(a)“personaldata”shallmeananyinformation
relatingtoanidentifiedoridentifiablenatural
person(“datasubject”);anidentifiableperson
isonewhocanbeidentified,directlyor indi-
rectly, in particular by reference to an iden-
tification number or to one or more factors
specifictohisphysical,physiological,mental,
economic,culturalorsocialidentity;

(b) “processing of personal data” (“process-
ing”) shallmean any operation or set of op-
erations which is performed upon personal
data, whether or not by automatic means,
such as collection, recording, organisation,
storage, adaptation or alteration, retrieval,
consultation,use,disclosureby transmission,
disseminationorotherwisemakingavailable,
alignment or combination, blocking, erasure
ordestruction;

…’

10. Article 3 of the Directive is worded as follows: 
‘Scope

1.ThisDirectiveshallapplytotheprocessing
ofpersonaldatawhollyorpartlybyautomatic
means,andtotheprocessingotherwisethan

by automaticmeans of personal datawhich
formpartofafilingsystemorareintendedto
formpartofafilingsystem.

2.ThisDirectiveshallnotapplytotheprocess-
ingofpersonaldata:

– in thecourseofanactivitywhich fallsout-
side the scope of Community law, such as
those provided for by Titles V and VI of the
TreatyonEuropeanUnionandinanycaseto
processing operations concerning public se-
curity, defence, State security (including the
economic well-being of the State when the
processingoperationrelatestoStatesecurity
matters)andtheactivitiesoftheStateinareas
ofcriminallaw,

…’

11. Article 6(1) of the Directive states: 

‘Member States shall provide that personal
datamustbe:

…

(b) collected for specified, explicit and legiti-
mate purposes and not further processed in
awayincompatiblewiththosepurposes.Fur-
therprocessingofdataforhistorical,statistical
orscientificpurposesshallnotbeconsidered
asincompatibleprovidedthatMemberStates
provideappropriatesafeguards;

(c)adequate,relevantandnotexcessiveinre-
lationtothepurposesforwhichtheyarecol-
lectedand/orfurtherprocessed;

…

(e)keptinaformwhichpermitsidentification
of data subjects for no longer than is neces-
saryforthepurposesforwhichthedatawere
collected or for which they are further pro-
cessed....’

12. Article 7 of the Directive provides: 

‘Member States shall provide that personal
datamaybeprocessedonlyif:

…

(c) processing is necessary for compliance
withalegalobligationtowhichthecontroller
issubject;or

…

(e) processing is necessary for the perfor-
manceof a task carriedout in thepublic in-
terest or in the exercise of official authority
vested in thecontrolleror ina thirdparty to
whomthedataaredisclosed;or
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(f) processing is necessary for the purposes
of the legitimate interests pursued by the
controller or by the third party or parties to
whom the data are disclosed, except where
suchinterestsareoverriddenbytheinterests
[or] fundamental rights and freedomsof the
data subjectwhich require protection under
Article1(1).’

13. The first subparagraph of Article 8(5) of the Di-
rective is worded as follows: 
‘Processingofdatarelatingtooffences,crimi-
nal convictions or securitymeasuresmaybe
carried out only under the control of official
authority,orifsuitablespecificsafeguardsare
providedundernationallaw,subjecttodero-
gationswhichmaybegrantedbytheMember
Stateundernationalprovisionsprovidingsuit-
ablespecificsafeguards.However,acomplete
register of criminal convictionsmay be kept
onlyunderthecontrolofofficialauthority.’

14. Article 12 of the Directive provides: 
‘Member States shall guarantee every data
subjecttherighttoobtainfromthecontroller:

(a)withoutconstraintat reasonable intervals
andwithoutexcessivedelayorexpense:

–confirmationastowhetherornotdatarelat-
ingtohimarebeingprocessedandinforma-
tionatleastastothepurposesoftheprocess-
ing,thecategoriesofdataconcerned,andthe
recipientsorcategoriesofrecipientstowhom
thedataaredisclosed,

–communicationtohiminanintelligibleform
ofthedataundergoingprocessingandofany
availableinformationastotheirsource,

–knowledgeofthe logic involved inanyau-
tomaticprocessingofdataconcerninghimat
least in the case of the automateddecisions
referredtoinArticle15(1);

(b)asappropriatetherectification,erasureor
blockingofdatatheprocessingofwhichdoes
notcomplywith theprovisionsof thisDirec-
tive,inparticularbecauseoftheincompleteor
inaccuratenatureofthedata;

(c) notification to third parties to whom the
datahavebeendisclosedofanyrectification,
erasureorblockingcarriedoutincompliance
with (b), unless this proves impossible or in-
volvesadisproportionateeffort.’

15. Article 13(1) of the Directive is worded as fol-
lows: 
‘Member Statesmay adopt legislativemeas-
ures to restrict the scope of the obligations

and rights provided for in Articles 6(1), 10,
11(1),12and21whensucharestrictioncon-
stitutesanecessary[measure]tosafeguard:

(a)nationalsecurity;

(b)defence;

(c)publicsecurity;

(d) the prevention, investigation, detection
and prosecution of criminal offences, or of
breachesofethicsforregulatedprofessions;

(e)animportanteconomicorfinancialinterest
ofaMemberStateoroftheEuropeanUnion,
including monetary, budgetary and taxation
matters;

(f)amonitoring,inspectionorregulatoryfunc-
tion connected, even occasionally, with the
exerciseofofficial authority in cases referred
toin(c),(d)and(e);

(g)theprotectionofthedatasubjectorofthe
rightsandfreedomsofothers.’

16. Article 22 of the Directive provides: 
‘Remedies

Withoutprejudicetoanyadministrativerem-
edy for which provisionmay bemade, inter
aliabefore the supervisoryauthority referred
toinArticle28,priortoreferraltothejudicial
authority,MemberStatesshallprovideforthe
rightofeverypersontoa judicial remedyfor
any breach of the rights guaranteed him by
thenationallawapplicabletotheprocessing
inquestion.’

17. Articles 25 and 26 of the Directive constitute 
Chapter IV, on the transfer of personal data to 
third countries. 

18. Article 25, headed ‘Principles’, provides: 
‘1. TheMember States shall provide that the
transfer to a third country of personal data
which are undergoing processing or are in-
tendedforprocessingaftertransfermaytake
placeonlyif,withoutprejudicetocompliance
withthenationalprovisionsadoptedpursuant
to the other provisions of this Directive, the
thirdcountryinquestionensuresanadequate
levelofprotection.

2.Theadequacyofthelevelofprotectionaf-
fordedbyathirdcountryshallbeassessedin
thelightofallthecircumstancessurrounding
adatatransferoperationorsetofdatatransfer
operations; particular consideration shall be
given to thenatureof thedata, thepurpose
anddurationoftheproposedprocessingop-
eration or operations, the country of origin
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and country of final destination, the rules of
law,bothgeneralandsectoral,inforceinthe
thirdcountryinquestionandtheprofessional
rules and securitymeasures which are com-
pliedwithinthatcountry.

3. The Member States and the Commission
shall inform each other of cases where they
considerthatathirdcountrydoesnotensure
an adequate level of protection within the
meaningofparagraph2.

4. Where the Commission finds, under the
procedure provided for in Article 31(2), that
athirdcountrydoesnotensureanadequate
levelofprotectionwithinthemeaningofpar-
agraph 2 of thisArticle,Member States shall
take themeasures necessary to prevent any
transferofdataofthesametypetothethird
countryinquestion.

5. At the appropriate time, the Commission
shall enter into negotiations with a view to
remedying the situation resulting from the
findingmadepursuanttoparagraph4.

6. The Commission may find, in accordance
withtheprocedurereferredtoinArticle31(2),
thatathirdcountryensuresanadequatelevel
of protection within the meaning of para-
graph2ofthisArticle,byreasonofitsdomes-
ticlaworoftheinternationalcommitmentsit
hasenteredinto,particularlyuponconclusion
ofthenegotiationsreferredtoinparagraph5,
fortheprotectionoftheprivatelivesandbasic
freedomsandrightsofindividuals.

MemberStatesshalltakethemeasuresneces-
sary to comply with the Commission’s deci-
sion.’

19. Article 26(1) of the Directive, under the head-
ing ‘Derogations’, is worded as follows: 
‘BywayofderogationfromArticle25andsave
where otherwise provided by domestic law
governing particular cases, Member States
shallprovidethata transferorasetof trans-
fersofpersonaldatatoathirdcountrywhich
doesnotensureanadequatelevelofprotec-
tionwithin themeaningofArticle25(2)may
takeplaceonconditionthat:

(a)thedatasubjecthasgivenhisconsentun-
ambiguouslytotheproposedtransfer;or

(b) the transfer is necessary for the perfor-
manceofacontractbetweenthedatasubject
and the controller or the implementation of
precontractualmeasurestakeninresponseto
thedatasubject’srequest;or

(c)thetransferisnecessaryfortheconclusion
orperformanceofacontractconcludedinthe

interestofthedatasubjectbetweenthecon-
trollerandathirdparty;or

(d)thetransferisnecessaryorlegallyrequired
on important public interest grounds, or for
theestablishment,exerciseordefenceoflegal
claims;or

(e)thetransferisnecessaryinordertoprotect
thevitalinterestsofthedatasubject;or

(f)thetransfer ismadefromaregisterwhich
accordingtolawsorregulationsisintendedto
provide information to thepublicandwhich
is open to consultation either by the public
ingeneralorbyanypersonwhocandemon-
strate legitimate interest, to the extent that
theconditions laiddownin lawforconsulta-
tionarefulfilledintheparticularcase.’

20. It was on the basis of the Directive, in particular 
Article 25(6) thereof, that the Commission of 
the European Communities adopted the deci-
sion on adequacy. 

21. The 11th recital in the preamble to that deci-
sion states: 

‘The processing by CBP [the Bureau of Cus-
toms and Border Protection] of personal
data contained in the PNR [PassengerName
Record] of air passengers transferred to it is
governedbyconditionssetoutintheUnder-
takingsoftheDepartmentofHomelandSecu-
rityBureauofCustomsandBorderProtection
(CBP)of11May2004(hereinafterreferredto
astheUndertakings)andinUnitedStatesdo-
mestic legislation to the extent indicated in
theUndertakings.’

22. The 15th recital in the preamble to the deci-
sion states that PNR data will be used strictly for 
purposes of preventing and combating terror-
ism and related crimes, other serious crimes, in-
cluding organised crime, that are transnational 
in nature, and flight from warrants or custody 
for those crimes. 

23. Articles 1 to 4 of the decision on adequacy pro-
vide: 

‘Article 1

For thepurposesofArticle25(2)ofDirective
95/46/EC,theUnitedStatesBureauofCustoms
andBorderProtection(hereinafterreferredto
asCBP) is considered toensureanadequate
level of protection for PNR data transferred
fromtheCommunityconcerningflightstoor
fromtheUnitedStates,inaccordancewiththe
UndertakingssetoutintheAnnex.
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Article 2

This Decision concerns the adequacy of
protection provided by CBP with a view to
meeting the requirements of Article 25(1) of
Directive 95/46/EC and shall not affect other
conditionsorrestrictionsimplementingother
provisionsofthatDirectivethatpertaintothe
processingofpersonaldatawithintheMem-
berStates.

Article 3

1.Without prejudice to their powers to take
action to ensure compliance with national
provisions adopted pursuant to provisions
otherthanArticle25ofDirective95/46/EC,the
competentauthoritiesinMemberStatesmay
exercisetheirexistingpowerstosuspenddata
flows to CBP in order to protect individuals
withregardtotheprocessingoftheirpersonal
datainthefollowingcases:

(a)whereacompetentUnitedStatesauthority
hasdeterminedthatCBPisinbreachoftheap-
plicablestandardsofprotection;or

(b)wherethereisasubstantiallikelihoodthat
thestandardsofprotectionsetoutintheAn-
nexarebeinginfringed,therearereasonable
grounds for believing that CBP is not taking
orwillnottakeadequateandtimelystepsto
settlethecaseatissue,thecontinuingtransfer
wouldcreateanimminentriskofgraveharm
todatasubjects,andthecompetentauthori-
tiesintheMemberStatehavemadereasona-
bleeffortsinthecircumstancestoprovideCBP
withnoticeandanopportunitytorespond.

2. Suspension shall cease as soon as the
standards of protection are assured and the
competent authorities of theMember States
concernedarenotifiedthereof.

Article 4

1.MemberStatesshallinformtheCommission
without delay when measures are adopted
pursuanttoArticle3.

2. The Member States and the Commission
shallinformeachotherofanychangesinthe
standards of protection and of cases where
theactionofbodiesresponsible forensuring
compliancewith the standardsofprotection
byCBPassetoutintheAnnexfailstosecure
suchcompliance.

3.IftheinformationcollectedpursuanttoAr-
ticle3andpursuanttoparagraphs1and2of
this Article provides evidence that the basic
principlesnecessary for an adequate level of
protection for natural persons are no longer
beingcompliedwith,orthatanybodyrespon-

sibleforensuringcompliancewiththestand-
ardsofprotectionbyCBPassetoutintheAn-
nexisnoteffectivelyfulfillingitsrole,CBPshall
be informedand, ifnecessary, theprocedure
referredtoinArticle31(2)ofDirective95/46/
ECshallapplywithaviewtorepealingorsus-
pendingthisDecision.’

24. The ‘Undertakings of the Department of Home-
land Security Bureau of Customs and Border 
Protection (CBP)’ annexed to the decision on 
adequacy state: 
‘InsupportoftheplanoftheEuropeanCom-
mission(Commission)toexercisethepowers
conferred on it by Article 25(6) of Directive
95/46/EC… and to adopt a decision recog-
nising the Department of Homeland Secu-
rityBureauofCustomsandBorderProtection
(CBP)asprovidingadequateprotectionforthe
purposesofaircarrier transfersof [PNR]data
whichmayfallwithinthescopeoftheDirec-
tive,CBPundertakesasfollows...’

25. The Undertakings comprise 48 paragraphs, ar-
ranged under the following headings: ‘Legal 
authority to obtain PNR’; ‘Use of PNR data by 
CBP’; ‘Data requirements’; ‘Treatment of “sen-
sitive” data’; ‘Method of accessing PNR data’; 
‘Storage of PNR data’; ‘CBP computer system 
security’; ‘CBP treatment and protection of 
PNR data’; ‘Transfer of PNR data to other gov-
ernment authorities’; ‘Notice, access and op-
portunities for redress for PNR data subjects’; 
‘Compliance issues’; ‘Reciprocity’; ‘Review and 
termination of Undertakings’; and ‘No private 
right or precedent created’. 

26. The Undertakings include the following: 
‘1.Bylegalstatute(title49,UnitedStatesCode,
section44909(c)(3))anditsimplementing(in-
terim) regulations (title 19, Code of Federal
Regulations, section 122.49b), each air car-
rieroperatingpassenger flights in foreignair
transportation to or from the United States
mustprovideCBP (formerly, theUSCustoms
Service)withelectronicaccesstoPNRdatato
theextentitiscollectedandcontainedinthe
air carrier’s automated reservation/departure
controlsystems(reservationsystems).

…

3. PNRdata are usedbyCBP strictly for pur-
posesofpreventingandcombating:1.terror-
ismandrelatedcrimes;2.otherseriouscrimes,
including organised crime, that are transna-
tionalinnature;and3.flightfromwarrantsor
custody for the crimes described above.Use
of PNR data for these purposes permits CBP
to focus its resources on high-risk concerns,
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thereby facilitating and safeguarding bona
fidetravel.

4.DataelementswhichCBPrequiresarelisted
hereinatAttachmentA.…

…

27. CBP will take the position in connection
withanyadministrativeorjudicialproceeding
arisingoutofaFOIA[FreedomofInformation
Act] request for PNR information accessed
fromaircarriers,thatsuchrecordsareexempt
fromdisclosureundertheFOIA.

…

29.CBP,initsdiscretion,willonlyprovidePNR
datatoothergovernmentauthorities,includ-
ing foreign government authorities, with
counter-terrorism or law-enforcement func-
tions,onacase-by-casebasis,forpurposesof
preventingandcombatingoffencesidentified
inparagraph3herein.(Authoritieswithwhom
CBPmaysharesuchdatashallhereinafterbe
referredtoastheDesignatedAuthorities).

30.CBPwill judiciouslyexercise itsdiscretion
to transferPNRdata for thestatedpurposes.
CBPwill first determine if the reason fordis-
closing the PNR data to another Designated
Authority fitswithin the stated purpose (see
paragraph29herein).Ifso,CBPwilldetermine
whetherthatDesignatedAuthorityisrespon-
sibleforpreventing,investigatingorprosecut-
ing the violations of, or enforcing or imple-
menting,astatuteorregulationrelatedtothat
purpose,whereCBPisawareofanindication
ofaviolationorpotentialviolationoflaw.The
meritsofdisclosurewillneedtobereviewed
inlightofallthecircumstancespresented.

…

35.Nostatement intheseUndertakingsshall
impede the use or disclosure of PNRdata in
anycriminal judicialproceedingsorasother-
wise requiredby law.CBPwilladvise theEu-
ropeanCommissionregardingthepassageof
anyUSlegislationwhichmateriallyaffectsthe
statementsmadeintheseUndertakings.

…

46.TheseUndertakingsshallapplyforaterm
ofthreeyearsandsixmonths(3.5years),be-
ginning on the date upon which an agree-
ment enters into force between the United
StatesandtheEuropeanCommunity,author-
isingtheprocessingofPNRdatabyaircarriers
forpurposesoftransferringsuchdatatoCBP,
inaccordancewiththeDirective.…

47.TheseUndertakingsdonotcreateorcon-

feranyrightorbenefitonanypersonorparty,
privateorpublic.

…’

27. Attachment A to the Undertakings contains 
the ‘PNR data elements’ required by CBP from 
air carriers. The PNR data elements include the 
‘PNR record locator code’, date of reservation, 
name, address, all forms of payment informa-
tion, contact telephone numbers, travel agen-
cy, travel status of the passenger, e-mail ad-
dress, general remarks, seat number, no-show 
history and any collected APIS (Advanced Pas-
senger Information System) information. 

28. The Council adopted Decision 2004/496 on the 
basis, in particular, of Article 95 EC in conjunc-
tion with the first sentence of the first subpara-
graph of Article 300(2) EC. 

29. The three recitals in the preamble to that deci-
sion state: 
‘(1)On23February2004theCouncilauthor-
ised theCommission tonegotiate, onbehalf
of the Community, an Agreement with the
United States of America on the processing
andtransferofPNRdatabyAirCarrierstothe
UnitedStatesDepartmentofHomelandSecu-
rity,BureauofCustomsandBorderProtection.

(2)TheEuropeanParliamenthasnotgivenan
Opinionwithinthetime-limitwhich,pursuant
to the first subparagraphofArticle 300(3) of
the Treaty, the Council laid down in view of
the urgent need to remedy the situation of
uncertainty inwhich airlines and passengers
found themselves, as well as to protect the
financialinterestsofthoseconcerned.

(3)ThisAgreementshouldbeapproved’.

30. Article 1 of Decision 2004/496 provides: 
‘TheAgreementbetweentheEuropeanCom-
munity and theUnited States ofAmericaon
the processing and transfer of PNR data by
Air Carriers to theUnited StatesDepartment
ofHomelandSecurity,BureauofCustomsand
BorderProtection isherebyapprovedonbe-
halfoftheCommunity.

ThetextoftheAgreementisattachedtothis
Decision.’

31. That agreement (‘the Agreement’) is worded 
as follows: 
‘The European Community and the United
StatesofAmerica,

Recognising the importance of respecting
fundamentalrightsandfreedoms,notablypri-
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vacy,andtheimportanceofrespectingthese
values,while preventing and combating ter-
rorism and related crimes and other serious
crimesthataretransnationalinnature,includ-
ingorganisedcrime,

HavingregardtoUSstatutesandregulations
requiringeachaircarrieroperatingpassenger
flightsinforeignairtransportationtoorfrom
theUnitedStatestoprovidetheDepartment
ofHomelandSecurity(hereinafter“DHS”),Bu-
reauofCustomsandBorderProtection(here-
inafter“CBP”)withelectronicaccesstoPassen-
gerNameRecord (hereinafter “PNR”)data to
theextentitiscollectedandcontainedinthe
air carrier’s automated reservation/departure
controlsystems,

HavingregardtoDirective95/46/EC…,andin
particularArticle7(c)thereof,

HavingregardtotheUndertakingsofCBPis-
suedon11May2004,whichwillbepublished
in the Federal Register (hereinafter “the Un-
dertakings”),

Having regard to Commission Decision
2004/535/EC adopted on 14May 2004, pur-
suant to Article 25(6) of Directive 95/46/EC,
whereby CBP is considered as providing an
adequate level of protection for PNR data
transferred from the European Community
(hereinafter “Community”) concerning flights
toorfromtheUSinaccordancewiththeUn-
dertakings,whichareannexedthereto(here-
inafter“theDecision”),

Noting that air carriers with reservation/de-
parturecontrolsystemslocatedwithintheter-
ritoryof theMemberStatesof theEuropean
Community should arrange for transmission
ofPNRdata toCBPas soonas this is techni-
cally feasible but that, until then, theUS au-
thoritiesshouldbeallowedtoaccessthedata
directly, inaccordancewiththeprovisionsof
thisAgreement,

…

Haveagreedasfollows:

(1)CBPmayelectronicallyaccessthePNRdata
fromaircarriers’reservation/departurecontrol
systems(“reservationsystems”)locatedwithin
theterritoryof theMemberStatesof theEu-
ropeanCommunitystrictlyinaccordancewith
theDecisionandforsolongastheDecisionis
applicableandonlyuntilthereisasatisfactory
system in place allowing for transmission of
suchdatabytheaircarriers.

(2)Air carriers operatingpassenger flights in
foreignairtransportationtoorfromtheUnit-
ed States shall process PNR data contained

intheirautomatedreservationsystemsasre-
quiredbyCBPpursuanttoUSlawandstrictly
in accordance with the Decision and for so
longastheDecisionisapplicable.

(3)CBPtakesnoteoftheDecisionandstates
that it is implementing theUndertakingsan-
nexedthereto.

(4) CBP shall process PNR data received and
treat data subjects concerned by such pro-
cessinginaccordancewithapplicableUSlaws
andconstitutional requirements,withoutun-
lawfuldiscrimination,inparticularonthebasis
ofnationalityandcountryofresidence.

…

(7) This Agreement shall enter into force
upon signature. Either Party may terminate
this Agreement at any time by notification
through diplomatic channels. The termina-
tionshalltakeeffectninety(90)daysfromthe
dateofnotificationofterminationtotheother
Party.ThisAgreementmaybeamendedatany
timebymutualwrittenagreement.

(8) This Agreement is not intended to dero-
gatefromoramendlegislationoftheParties;
nordoesthisAgreementcreateorconferany
rightorbenefitonanyotherpersonorentity,
privateorpublic.’

32. According to Council information concerning 
the date of its entry into force (OJ 2004 C 158, p. 
1), the Agreement, signed in Washington on 28 
May 2004 by a representative of the Presiden-
cy-in-Office of the Council and the Secretary 
of the United States Department of Homeland 
Security, entered into force on the date of its 
signature, as provided by paragraph 7 of the 
Agreement. 

Background
33. Following the terrorist attacks of 11 Septem-

ber 2001, the United States passed legislation 
in November 2001 providing that air carriers 
operating flights to or from the United States 
or across United States territory had to provide 
the United States customs authorities with 
electronic access to the data contained in their 
automated reservation and departure control 
systems, referred to as ‘Passenger Name Re-
cords’ (‘PNR data’). While acknowledging the 
legitimacy of the security interests at stake, 
the Commission informed the United States 
authorities, in June 2002, that those provisions 
could come into conflict with Community and 
Member State legislation on data protection 
and with certain provisions of Council Regu-
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lation (EEC) No 2299/89 of 24 July 1989 on a 
code of conduct for computerised reservation 
systems (OJ 1989 L 220, p. 1), as amended by 
Council Regulation (EC) No 323/1999 of 8 
February 1999 (OJ 1999 L 40, p. 1). The United 
States authorities postponed the entry into 
force of the new provisions but, ultimately, 
refused to waive the right to impose penalties 
on airlines failing to comply with the legislation 
on electronic access to PNR data after 5 March 
2003. Since then, a number of large airlines in 
the European Union have granted the United 
States authorities access to their PNR data. 

34. The Commission entered into negotiations 
with the United States authorities, which gave 
rise to a document containing undertakings 
on the part of CBP, with a view to the adoption 
by the Commission of a decision on adequacy 
pursuant to Article 25(6) of the Directive. 

35. On 13 June 2003 the Working Party on the Pro-
tection of Individuals with regard to the Pro-
cessing of Personal Data, set up by Article 29 
of the Directive, delivered an opinion in which 
it expressed doubts regarding the level of data 
protection guaranteed by those undertakings 
for the processing operations envisaged. It re-
iterated those doubts in an opinion of 29 Janu-
ary 2004. 

36. On 1 March 2004 the Commission placed 
before the Parliament the draft decision on 
adequacy under Article 25(6) of the Directive, 
together with the draft undertakings of CBP. 

37. On 17 March 2004 the Commission submitted 
to the Parliament, with a view to its consulta-
tion in accordance with the first subparagraph 
of Article 300(3) EC, a proposal for a Council de-
cision concerning the conclusion of an agree-
ment with the United States. By letter of 25 
March 2004, the Council, referring to the urgent 
procedure, requested the Parliament to deliver 
an opinion on that proposal by 22 April 2004 
at the latest. In that letter, the Council stated: 
‘The fight against terrorism, which justifies the 
proposed measures, is a key priority of the Eu-
ropean Union. Air carriers and passengers are 
at present in a situation of uncertainty which 
urgently needs to be remedied. In addition, it is 
essential to protect the financial interests of the 
parties concerned.’ 

38. On 31 March 2004 the Parliament, acting pur-
suant to Article 8 of Council Decision 1999/468/
EC of 28 June 1999 laying down the procedures 
for the exercise of implementing powers con-
ferred on the Commission (OJ 1999 L 184, p. 

23), adopted a resolution setting out a number 
of reservations of a legal nature regarding the 
proposal which had been submitted to it. In 
particular, the Parliament considered that the 
draft decision on adequacy exceeded the pow-
ers conferred on the Commission by Article 25 
of the Directive. It called for the conclusion of 
an appropriate international agreement re-
specting fundamental rights that would cover 
a number of points set out in detail in the reso-
lution, and asked the Commission to submit 
a new draft decision to it. It also reserved the 
right to refer the matter to the Court for review 
of the legality of the projected international 
agreement and, in particular, of its compatibil-
ity with protection of the right to privacy. 

39. On 21 April 2004 the Parliament, at the request 
of its President, approved a recommendation 
from the Committee on Legal Affairs and the 
Internal Market that, in accordance with Article 
300(6) EC, an Opinion be obtained from the 
Court on the compatibility of the agreement 
envisaged with the Treaty. That procedure was 
initiated on that very day. 

40. The Parliament also decided, on the same 
day, to refer to committee the report on the 
proposal for a Council decision, thus implicitly 
rejecting, at that stage, the Council’s request of 
25 March 2004 for urgent consideration of the 
proposal. 

41. On 28 April 2004 the Council, acting on the ba-
sis of the first subparagraph of Article 300(3) EC, 
sent a letter to the Parliament asking it to de-
liver its opinion on the proposal for a decision 
relating to the conclusion of the Agreement by 
5 May 2004. To justify the urgency of that re-
quest, the Council restated the reasons set out 
in its letter of 25 March 2004. 

42. After taking note of the continuing lack of all 
the language versions of the proposal for a 
Council decision, on 4 May 2004 the Parliament 
rejected the Council’s request to it of 28 April 
for urgent consideration of that proposal. 

43. On 14 May 2004 the Commission adopted the 
decision on adequacy, which is the subject of 
Case C-318/04. On 17 May 2004 the Council 
adopted Decision 2004/496, which is the sub-
ject of Case C-317/04. 

44. By letter of 4 June 2004, the Presidency-in-
Office of the Council informed the Parliament 
that Decision 2004/496 took into account the 
fight against terrorism – a priority of the Union 
– but also the need to address the uncertain 
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legal situation of air carriers as well as their fi-
nancial interests. 

45. By letter of 9 July 2004, the Parliament informed 
the Court of the withdrawal of its request for an 
Opinion, which had been registered under No 
1/04. 

46. In Case C-317/04, the Commission and the 
United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern 
Ireland were granted leave to intervene in sup-
port of the form of order sought by the Council, 
by orders of the President of the Court of 18 
November 2004 and 18 January 2005. 

47. In Case C-318/04, the United Kingdom was 
granted leave to intervene in support of the 
form of order sought by the Commission, by 
order of the President of the Court of 17 De-
cember 2004. 

48. By orders of the Court of 17 March 2005, the 
European Data Protection Supervisor was 
granted leave to intervene in support of the 
form of order sought by the Parliament in both 
cases. 

49. Given the connection, confirmed at the hear-
ing, between the cases, it is appropriate to join 
them under Article 43 of the Rules of Procedure 
for the purposes of the judgment. 

The application in Case C-318/04
50. The Parliament advances four pleas for annul-

ment, alleging, respectively, ultravires action, 
breach of the fundamental principles of the 
Directive, breach of fundamental rights and 
breach of the principle of proportionality. 

Thefirstlimbofthefirstplea:breach
ofthefirstindentofArticle3(2)ofthe
Directive
Arguments of the parties
51. The Parliament contends that adoption of the 

Commission decision was ultra vires because 
the provisions laid down in the Directive were 
not complied with; in particular, the first indent 
of Article 3(2) of the Directive, relating to the 
exclusion of activities which fall outside the 
scope of Community law, was infringed. 

52. In the Parliament’s submission, there is no 
doubt that the processing of PNR data after 
transfer to the United States authority covered 
by the decision on adequacy is, and will be, car-
ried out in the course of activities of the State 

as referred to in paragraph 43 of the judgment 
in Case C-101/01 Lindqvist [2003] ECR I12971. 

53. The Commission, supported by the United 
Kingdom, considers that the air carriers’ activi-
ties clearly fall within the scope of Community 
law. It submits that those private operators 
process the PNR data within the Community 
and arrange for their transfer to a third coun-
try. Activities of private parties are therefore in-
volved, and not activities of the Member State 
in which the carriers concerned operate, or of 
its public authorities, as defined by the Court in 
paragraph 43 of Lindqvist. The aim pursued by 
the air carriers in processing PNR data is simply 
to comply with the requirements of Commu-
nity law, including the obligation laid down in 
paragraph 2 of the Agreement. Article 3(2) of 
the Directive refers to activities of public au-
thorities which fall outside the scope of Com-
munity law. 

 Findings of the Court
54. The first indent of Article 3(2) of the Directive 

excludes from the Directive’s scope the pro-
cessing of personal data in the course of an ac-
tivity which falls outside the scope of Commu-
nity law, such as activities provided for by Titles 
V and VI of the Treaty on European Union, and 
in any case processing operations concerning 
public security, defence, State security and the 
activities of the State in areas of criminal law. 

55. The decision on adequacy concerns only PNR 
data transferred to CBP. It is apparent from 
the sixth recital in the preamble to the deci-
sion that the requirements for that transfer 
are based on a statute enacted by the United 
States in November 2001 and on implement-
ing regulations adopted by CBP under that 
statute. According to the seventh recital in the 
preamble, the United States legislation in ques-
tion concerns the enhancement of security 
and the conditions under which persons may 
enter and leave the country. The eighth recital 
states that the Community is fully committed 
to supporting the United States in the fight 
against terrorism within the limits imposed by 
Community law. The 15th recital states that 
PNR data will be used strictly for purposes of 
preventing and combating terrorism and re-
lated crimes, other serious crimes, including or-
ganised crime, that are transnational in nature, 
and flight from warrants or custody for those 
crimes. 

56. It follows that the transfer of PNR data to CBP 
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constitutes processing operations concerning 
public security and the activities of the State in 
areas of criminal law. 

57. While the view may rightly be taken that PNR 
data are initially collected by airlines in the 
course of an activity which falls within the 
scope of Community law, namely sale of an 
aeroplane ticket which provides entitlement 
to a supply of services, the data processing 
which is taken into account in the decision on 
adequacy is, however, quite different in nature. 
As pointed out in paragraph 55 of the present 
judgment, that decision concerns not data 
processing necessary for a supply of services, 
but data processing regarded as necessary 
for safeguarding public security and for law-
enforcement purposes. 

58. The Court held in paragraph 43 of Lindqvist, 
which was relied upon by the Commission in 
its defence, that the activities mentioned by 
way of example in the first indent of Article 3(2) 
of the Directive are, in any event, activities of 
the State or of State authorities and unrelated 
to the fields of activity of individuals. However, 
this does not mean that, because the PNR data 
have been collected by private operators for 
commercial purposes and it is they who ar-
range for their transfer to a third country, the 
transfer in question is not covered by that pro-
vision. The transfer falls within a framework es-
tablished by the public authorities that relates 
to public security. 

59. It follows from the foregoing considerations 
that the decision on adequacy concerns pro-
cessing of personal data as referred to in the 
first indent of Article 3(2) of the Directive. That 
decision therefore does not fall within the 
scope of the Directive. 

60. Accordingly, the first limb of the first plea, al-
leging that the first indent of Article 3(2) of the 
Directive was infringed, is well founded. 

61. The decision on adequacy must consequently 
be annulled and it is not necessary to consider 
the other limbs of the first plea or the other 
pleas relied upon by the Parliament. 

The application in Case C-317/04 
62. The Parliament advances six pleas for annul-

ment, concerning the incorrect choice of Arti-
cle 95 EC as legal basis for Decision 2004/496 
and breach of, respectively, the second sub-
paragraph of Article 300(3) EC, Article 8 of the 

ECHR, the principle of proportionality, the re-
quirement to state reasons and the principle of 
cooperation in good faith. 

Thefirstplea:incorrectchoiceofArticle
95ECaslegalbasisforDecision2004/496
 Arguments of the parties
63. The Parliament submits that Article 95 EC does 

not constitute an appropriate legal basis for 
Decision 2004/496. The decision does not have 
as its objective and subject-matter the estab-
lishment and functioning of the internal mar-
ket by contributing to the removal of obstacles 
to the freedom to provide services and it does 
not contain provisions designed to achieve 
such an objective. Its purpose is to make lawful 
the processing of personal data that is required 
by United States legislation. Nor can Article 
95 EC justify Community competence to con-
clude the Agreement, because the Agreement 
relates to data processing operations which are 
excluded from the scope of the Directive. 

64. The Council contends that the Directive, val-
idly adopted on the basis of Article 100a of 
the Treaty, contains in Article 25 provisions 
enabling personal data to be transferred to a 
third country which ensures an adequate level 
of protection, including the possibility of en-
tering, if need be, into negotiations leading to 
the conclusion by the Community of an agree-
ment with that country. The Agreement con-
cerns the free movement of PNR data between 
the Community and the United States under 
conditions which respect the fundamental 
freedoms and rights of individuals, in particu-
lar privacy. It is intended to eliminate any dis-
tortion of competition, between the Member 
States’ airlines and between the latter and the 
airlines of third countries, which may result 
from the requirements imposed by the United 
States, for reasons relating to the protection of 
individual rights and freedoms. The conditions 
of competition between Member States’ air-
lines operating international passenger flights 
to and from the United States could have been 
distorted because only some of them granted 
the United States authorities access to their 
databases. The Agreement is designed to im-
pose harmonised obligations on all the airlines 
concerned. 

65. The Commission observes that there is a ‘con-
flict of laws’, within the meaning of public in-
ternational law, between the United States leg-
islation and the Community rules and that it is 
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necessary to reconcile them. It complains that 
the Parliament, which disputes that Article 95 
EC can constitute the legal basis for Decision 
2004/496, has not suggested an appropriate 
legal basis. According to the Commission, that 
article is ‘the natural legal basis’ for the decision 
because the Agreement concerns the external 
dimension of the protection of personal data 
when transferred within the Community. Arti-
cles 25 and 26 of the Directive justify exclusive 
Community external competence. 

66. In addition, the Commission submits that the 
initial processing of the data by the airlines is 
carried out for commercial purposes. The use 
which the United States authorities make of 
the data does not remove them from the effect 
of the Directive. 

 Findings of the Court
67. Article 95 EC, read in conjunction with Article 

25 of the Directive, cannot justify Community 
competence to conclude the Agreement. 

68. The Agreement relates to the same transfer of 
data as the decision on adequacy and there-
fore to data processing operations which, as 
has been stated above, are excluded from the 
scope of the Directive. 

69. Consequently, Decision 2004/496 cannot have 
been validly adopted on the basis of Article 95 
EC. 

70. That decision must therefore be annulled and 
it is not necessary to consider the other pleas 
relied upon by the Parliament. 

Limitation of the effects of the 
judgment 
71. Under paragraph 7 of the Agreement, either 

party may terminate the Agreement at any 
time and the termination takes effect 90 days 
from the date of notification of termination to 
the other party. 

72. However, in accordance with paragraphs 1 
and 2 of the Agreement, CBP’s right of access 
to PNR data and the obligation imposed on air 
carriers to process them as required by CBP ex-
ist only for so long as the decision on adequacy 
is applicable. In paragraph 3 of the Agreement, 
CBP stated that it was implementing the Un-
dertakings annexed to that decision. 

73. Given, first, the fact that the Community cannot 
rely on its own law as justification for not fulfill-

ing the Agreement which remains applicable 
during the period of 90 days from termination 
thereof and, second, the close link that exists 
between the Agreement and the decision on 
adequacy, it appears justified, for reasons of 
legal certainty and in order to protect the per-
sons concerned, to preserve the effect of the 
decision on adequacy during that same period. 
In addition, account should be taken of the pe-
riod needed for the adoption of the measures 
necessary to comply with this judgment. 

74. It is therefore appropriate to preserve the effect 
of the decision on adequacy until 30 Septem-
ber 2006, but its effect shall not be preserved 
beyond the date upon which the Agreement 
comes to an end. 

Costs
75. Under Article 69(2) of the Rules of Procedure, 

the unsuccessful party is to be ordered to pay 
the costs if they have been applied for in the 
successful party’s pleadings. Since the Parlia-
ment has applied for costs and the Council and 
the Commission have been unsuccessful, the 
Council and the Commission must be ordered 
to pay the costs. Pursuant to the first subpara-
graph of Article 69(4), the interveners in the 
present cases must bear their own costs. 

On those grounds, the Court (Grand Chamber) 
hereby:

1. Annuls Council Decision 2004/496/EC of 17 
May 2004 on the conclusion of an Agreement 
between the European Community and the 
united States of America on the processing 
and transfer of PNR data by Air Carriers to 
the united States Department of Homeland 
Security, Bureau of Customs and Border Pro-
tection, and Commission Decision 2004/535/
EC of 14 May 2004 on the adequate protection 
of personal data contained in the Passenger 
Name Record of air passengers transferred to 
the united States Bureau of Customs and Bor-
der Protection;

2. Preserves the effect of Decision 2004/535 until 
30 September 2006, but not beyond the date 
upon which that Agreement comes to an end;

3. Orders the Council of the European union to 
pay the costs in Case C317/04;

4. Orders the Commission of the European Com-
munities to pay the costs in Case C318/04;

5. Orders the Commission of the European 
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Communities to bear its own costs in Case 
C-317/04;

6. Orders the united Kingdom of Great Britain 
and Northern Ireland and the European Data 
Protection Supervisor to bear their own costs.

[Signatures]
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GENERAL INTERNATIONAL LAW AND COMMUNITY 
LAW, REFERENCE TO INTERNATIONAL PEACE AND SE-
CURITY, PRINCIPLE OF TERRITORIALITY

Judgment of the Court of First Instance (Second 
Chamber), 31 January 2007 

CAsE t-362/04 LEonID 
MInIn v CoMMIssIon 
oF tHE EURoPEAn 
CoMMUnItIEs
(Common foreign and security policy – Restrictive 
measures in respect of Liberia – Freezing of funds 
of persons associated with Charles Taylor – Com-
petence of the Community – Fundamental rights 
– Action for annulment)

KEYWORDS

1. Public international law – United Nations Char-
ter – Obligations thereunder – Binding on the 
Community

2. Acts of the institutions – Choice of legal basis 
(Arts 60 EC, 301 EC and 308 EC; Council Regu-
lation No 872/2004; Commission Regulations 
Nos 1149/2004 and 874/2005)

3. EC Treaty – Systems of property ownership – 
Principle of neutrality – Limits (Arts 60 EC, 83 
EC, 133 EC, 295 EC and 301 EC)

4. Acts of the institutions – Statement of reasons 
(Art. 253 EC; Council Regulation No 872/2004)

5. Public international law – Principle of territori-
ality – Community act providing for restrictive 
measures in respect of a third country – No 
extraterritorial effect (Arts 60 EC and 301 EC; 
Council Regulation No 872/2004; Commission 
Regulations Nos 1149/2004 and 874/2005)

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

1. In so far as under the EC Treaty the Community 
has assumed powers previously exercised by 
the Member States in the area governed by the 
Charter of the United Nations, the provisions 
of that Charter have the effect of binding the 
Community, and the latter is bound, by the very 

Treaty by which it was established, to adopt, in 
the exercise of its powers, all the measures nec-
essary to enable its Member States to fulfil their 
obligations under that Charter. 

(see para. 67)

2. The Community is competent to adopt restric-
tive measures directly affecting individuals on 
the basis of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, where 
a common position or a joint action adopted 
under the provisions of the EU Treaty relating 
to the Common foreign and security policy so 
provides, provided that those measures actu-
ally seek to interrupt or reduce, in part or com-
pletely, economic relations with one or more 
third countries. On the other hand, restrictive 
measures having no link with the territory or 
rulers of a third country cannot be based on 
those provisions alone. However, the Com-
munity does have the power to adopt such 
measures on the basis of Articles 60 EC, 301 EC 
and 308 EC. 

In that regard, the Community was compe-
tent to adopt, on the basis of Articles 60 EC 
and 301 EC alone, Regulation No 872/2004 
concerning further restrictive measures in rela-
tion to Liberia, and Regulations Nos 1149/2004 
and 874/2005 amending the first regulation, 
which implement in the Community restric-
tive measures against the former president of 
Liberia, Charles Taylor, and his associates, as 
provided for by Common Position 2004/487. 
To the extent that the United Nations Security 
Council, the body to which the international 
community has entrusted the principal role of 
maintaining international peace and security, 
considers that that former president and his 
associates continue to be able to undermine 
peace in Liberia and in neighbouring countries, 
the restrictive measures adopted against them 
have a sufficient link with the territory or the 
rulers of that country to be regarded as seeking 
to interrupt or to reduce, in part or completely, 
economic relations with a third country for the 
purposes of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC. 

(see paras 68-69, 74)

3. Notwithstanding Article 295 EC, under which 
the system of property ownership falls within 
the sphere of each Member State, other provi-
sions of the Treaty empower the Community 
to adopt sanctions or preventative measures 
having an effect on the right of individuals to 
property. That is the case, in particular, in the 
fields of competition (Article 83 EC) and of 
commercial policy (Article 133 EC). That is also 

Case T-362/04 Leonid Minin v Commission of the European Communities
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the case in respect of measures to interrupt or 
to reduce, in part or completely, economic re-
lations with a third country taken pursuant to 
Articles 60 EC and 301 EC. 

(see para. 77)

4. If one recital of a contested measure contains 
a factually incorrect statement, that procedural 
defect cannot lead to the annulment of that 
measure if the other recitals in themselves sup-
ply a sufficient statement of reasons. 

(see para. 81)

5. Regulation No 872/2004 concerning further 
restrictive measures in relation to Liberia, and 
Regulations Nos 1149/2004 and 874/2005 
amending the first regulation, apply only to 
funds and economic resources located in 
the territory of the Community and do not, 
therefore, have any extraterritorial effect. Ac-
cordingly, those regulations do not infringe 
the principle of territoriality. The fact that the 
conduct which gave rise to the adoption of the 
contested regulations produces its effects ex-
clusively outside the Community is irrelevant 
in that respect, since the measures adopted 
under Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, such as those 
regulations, are aimed precisely at the imple-
mentation, by the Community, of common 
positions or common action adopted under 
the provisions of the EU Treaty relating to the 
Common foreign and security policy (CFSP) 
and providing for action in relation to third 
countries. Moreover, under Article 11(1) EU, 
one of the objectives of the CFSP is to preserve 
peace and strengthen international security, in 
accordance with the principles of the Charter 
of the United Nations. Such an objective could 
quite clearly not be attained if the Community 
were to limit its action to cases in which the sit-
uation giving rise to its intervention produces 
effects on its territory. 

The same applies in respect of the fact that 
the regulations in question seek ultimately to 
produce their effects in the territory of Libe-
ria, since Articles 60 EC and 301 EC precisely 
empower the Community to adopt measures 
involving economic sanctions intended to pro-
duce their effects in third countries. 

(see paras 106-108)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT OF FIRST 
INSTANCE (SECOND CHAMBER)

31 January 200711

(Common foreign and security policy – Restrictive 
measures in respect of Liberia – Freezing of funds 
of persons associated with Charles Taylor – Com-
petence of the Community – Fundamental rights 
– Action for annulment)

In Case T362/04, Leonid Minin, residing in Tel-Aviv 
(Israel), represented by T. Ballarino and C. Bovio, 
lawyers, applicant,

v

Commission of the European Communities, repre-
sented by E. Montaguti, L. Visaggio and C. Brown, 
acting as Agents, defendant, supported by Coun-
cil of the European Union, represented initially by 
S. Marquardt and F. Ruggeri Laderchi, and sub-
sequently by S. Marquardt and A. Vitro, acting as 
Agents, and by United Kingdom of Great Britain 
and Northern Ireland, represented initially by R. 
Caudwell, and subsequently by E. Jenkinson, acting 
as Agents, interveners,

ACTION principally, originally, for the annulment of 
Commission Regulation (EC) No 1149/2004 of 22 
June 2004 amending Council Regulation (EC) No 
872/2004 concerning further restrictive measures 
in relation to Liberia (OJ 2004 L 222, p. 17), and, sub-
sequently, for the annulment in part of Commis-
sion Regulation (EC) No 874/2005 of 9 June 2005 
amending Regulation No 872/2004 (OJ 2005 L 146, 
p. 5), 

THE COURT OF FIRST INSTANCE OF THE EUROPEAN 
COMMUNITIES (Second Chamber),

composed of J. Pirrung, President, N.J. Forwood and 
S. Papasavvas, Judges, Registrar: J. Palacio González, 
Principal Administrator,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 13 September 2006,

gives the following Judgment

Legal context
1. Under Article 24(1) of the Charter of the United 

Nations, signed at San Francisco (United States 
of America) on 26 June 1945, the members 
of the United Nations ‘confer on the Security 
Council primary responsibility for the mainte-

11 Language of the case: Italian.
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nance of international peace and security, and 
agree that in carrying out its duties under this 
responsibility the Security Council acts on their 
behalf’. 

2. Under Article 25 of the Charter of the United 
Nations, ‘[t]he Members of the United Nations 
agree to accept and carry out the decisions of 
the Security Council in accordance with the 
present Charter’. 

3. According to Article 41 of the Charter of the 
United Nations:
‘TheSecurityCouncilmaydecidewhatmeas-
uresnotinvolvingtheuseofarmedforceare
tobeemployedtogiveeffecttoitsdecisions,
anditmaycallupontheMembersoftheUnit-
edNationstoapplysuchmeasures.Thesemay
include complete or partial interruption of
economicrelationsandofrail,sea,air,postal,
telegraphic, radio, and othermeans of com-
munication, and the severanceofdiplomatic
relations.’

4. In accordance with Article 48(2) of the Charter 
of the United Nations, the decisions of the Se-
curity Council for the maintenance of interna-
tional peace and security ‘shall be carried out 
by the Members of the United Nations directly 
and through their action in the appropriate in-
ternational agencies of which they are mem-
bers’. 

5. According to Article 103 of the Charter of the 
United Nations, ‘[i]n the event of a conflict be-
tween the obligations of the Members of the 
United Nations under the present Charter and 
their obligations under any other international 
agreement, their obligations under the present 
Charter shall prevail’. 

6. In accordance with Article 11(1) EU:
‘TheUnionshalldefineandimplementacom-
mon foreign and security policy covering all
areasofforeignandsecuritypolicy,theobjec-
tivesofwhichshallbe:

– to safeguard the common values, funda-
mental interests, independenceand integrity
oftheUnioninconformitywiththeprinciples
oftheUnitedNationsCharter;

–tostrengthenthesecurityoftheUnioninall
ways;

– to preserve peace and strengthen interna-
tionalsecurity, inaccordancewiththeprinci-
plesoftheUnitedNationsCharter...’.

7. Under Article 301 EC:

‘Where it is provided, in a common position
or ina jointactionadoptedaccordingtothe
provisions of the Treaty on European Union
relating to thecommon foreignand security
policy,foranactionbytheCommunitytoin-
terrupt or to reduce, in part or completely,
economic relations with one or more third
countries, the Council shall take the neces-
sary urgent measures. The Council shall act
byaqualifiedmajorityonaproposalfromthe
Commission.’

8. Article 60 EC provides:
‘1.If,inthecasesenvisagedinArticle301,ac-
tionbytheCommunityisdeemednecessary,
theCouncilmay,inaccordancewiththepro-
cedure provided for in Article 301, take the
necessaryurgentmeasuresonthemovement
of capital and on payments as regards the
thirdcountriesconcerned.

2.WithoutprejudicetoArticle297andaslong
astheCouncilhasnottakenmeasurespursu-
ant toparagraph1,aMemberStatemay, for
serious political reasons and on grounds of
urgency, take unilateral measures against a
third country with regard to capital move-
ments and payments. The Commission and
theotherMemberStatesshallbeinformedof
suchmeasuresbythedateoftheirentryinto
forceatthelatest.

…’

9. Lastly, Article 295 EC provides that ‘[t]his Treaty 
shall in no way prejudice the rules in Member 
States governing the system of property own-
ership’. 

Background to the dispute 
10. In response to the serious threats to peace in 

Liberia, and having regard to the role played in 
that connection by Charles Taylor, the former 
president of that country, the United Nations 
Security Council (‘the Security Council’) has, 
since 1992, adopted a series of resolutions con-
cerning that country on the basis of Chapter VII 
of the Charter of the United Nations. 

11. The first of these is Resolution 788 (1992), 
adopted on 19 November 1992, paragraph 8 
of which provides that ‘all States shall, for the 
purposes of establishing peace and stability in 
Liberia, immediately implement a general and 
complete embargo on all deliveries of weap-
ons and military equipment to Liberia until the 
[Security] Council decides otherwise.’ 

12. On 7 March 2001, noting that the conflict in 
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Liberia had been resolved, the Security Coun-
cil adopted Resolution 1343 (2001), in which 
it decided to terminate the prohibitions im-
posed by paragraph 8 of Resolution 788 (1992). 
However, the Security Council also found that 
the Liberian Government actively supported 
armed rebel groups in neighbouring coun-
tries, and accordingly it adopted a new series 
of sanctions against Liberia. As set out in para-
graphs 5 to 7 of that resolution, all the Member 
States had, inter alia, to take the measures nec-
essary to prevent the sale or supply to Liberia of 
arms and related materiel, the direct or indirect 
import from Liberia of all rough diamonds and 
the entry into or transit through their territories 
of certain persons linked to the Liberian Gov-
ernment or supporting it. 

13. Paragraph 19 of Resolution 1343 (2001) pro-
vides for the establishment of a panel of ex-
perts responsible, inter alia, for investigating 
compliance with and violations of the meas-
ures imposed by that resolution and for report-
ing back to the Security Council in that regard. 
That report, bearing the number S/2001/1015, 
was transmitted to the President of the Secu-
rity Council on 26 October 2001. 

14. On 22 December 2003 the Security Council 
adopted Resolution 1521 (2003). Noting that 
the changed circumstances in Liberia, in partic-
ular the departure of former President Charles 
Taylor and the formation of the National Transi-
tional Government of Liberia, and the progress 
achieved in the peace process in Sierra Leone, 
required it to revise its action under Chapter 
VII of the United Nations Charter, the Security 
Council decided to terminate the prohibitions 
imposed, in particular, by paragraphs 5 to 7 
of its Resolution 1343 (2001). However, those 
measures were replaced by revised measures. 
Thus, under paragraphs 2, 4, 6 and 10 of Reso-
lution 1521 (2003), all the Member States had, 
inter alia, to take the measures necessary to 
prevent the sale or supply to Liberia of arms 
and related materiel, the entry into or transit 
through their territories of individuals desig-
nated by the Sanctions Committee referred to 
in paragraph 15 below, the direct or indirect 
import of all rough diamonds from Liberia to 
their territories, and the import into their ter-
ritories of all round logs and timber products 
originating in Liberia. 

15. In paragraph 21 of Resolution 1521 (2003) the 
Security Council decided to establish, in ac-
cordance with rule 28 of its provisional rules of 
procedure, a committee of the Security Coun-

cil composed of all its members (‘the Sanc-
tions Committee’), responsible, inter alia, for 
designating and updating the list of the indi-
viduals who, under paragraph 4 of that resolu-
tion, constitute a threat to the peace process 
in Liberia, or who are engaged in activities 
aimed at undermining peace and stability in 
Liberia and the subregion, including those 
senior members of former President Charles 
Taylor’s Government and their spouses, those 
members of Liberia’s former armed forces who 
retain links to Charles Taylor, those individuals 
acting in violation of the prohibitions on arms 
trafficking, and any individuals associated with 
entities providing financial or military support 
to armed rebel groups in Liberia or in countries 
in the region. 

16. Taking the view that action by the Community 
was necessary in order to implement that reso-
lution, on 10 February 2004 the Council adopt-
ed Common Position 2004/137/CFSP concern-
ing restrictive measures against Liberia and 
repealing Common Position 2001/357/CFSP 
(OJ 2004 L 40, p. 35). Article 2 of that common 
position provides that, under the conditions 
set out in Resolution 1521 (2003) of the Secu-
rity Council, Member States are to take the nec-
essary measures to prevent entry into, or transit 
through, their territories of all the individuals 
designated by the Sanctions Committee. 

17. On 10 February 2004 the Council adopted, on 
the basis of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, Regu-
lation (EC) No 234/2004 concerning certain 
restrictive measures in respect of Liberia and 
repealing Regulation (EC) No 1030/2003 (OJ 
2004 L 40, p. 1). 

18. On 12 March 2004 the Security Council adopt-
ed Resolution 1532 (2004), intended in particu-
lar to freeze the funds of Charles Taylor and 
certain members of his family, his allies and 
associates. In the words of paragraph 1 of that 
resolution, the Security Council ‘[d]ecides that, 
to prevent former Liberian President Charles 
Taylor, his immediate family members, in par-
ticular Jewell Howard Taylor and Charles Taylor, 
Jr., senior officials of the former Taylor regime, 
or other close allies or associates as designated 
by the [Sanctions] Committee from using mis-
appropriated funds and property to interfere in 
the restoration of peace and stability in Liberia 
and the sub-region, all States in which there 
are, at the date of adoption of this resolution 
or at any time thereafter, funds, other financial 
assets and economic resources owned or con-
trolled directly or indirectly by Charles Taylor, 
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Jewell Howard Taylor, and Charles Taylor, Jr. 
and/or those other individuals designated by 
the [Sanctions] Committee, including funds, 
other financial assets and economic resources 
held by entities owned or controlled, directly 
or indirectly, by any of them or by any persons 
acting on their behalf or at their direction, as 
designated by the [Sanctions] Committee, shall 
freeze without delay all such funds, other finan-
cial assets and economic resources, and shall 
ensure that neither these nor any other funds, 
other financial assets or economic resources 
are made available, by their nationals or by any 
persons within their territory, directly or indi-
rectly, to or for the benefit of such persons’. 

19. Paragraph 2 of Resolution 1532 (2004) provides 
for a number of derogations from the meas-
ures referred to in paragraph 1, in particular as 
regards funds, other financial assets and eco-
nomic resources necessary to cover the basic 
or extraordinary expenses of the persons con-
cerned. Those derogations may be granted by 
States subject, depending on the case, to the 
non-opposition or approval of the Sanctions 
Committee. 

20. In paragraph 4 of Resolution 1532 (2004), the 
Security Council placed the Sanctions Com-
mittee in charge of designating the individuals 
and entities referred to in paragraph 1, circulat-
ing to all States the list of the said individuals 
and entities, and of maintaining and regularly 
updating that list and reviewing it every six 
months. 

21. In paragraph 5 of Resolution 1532 (2004), the 
Security Council decided to review the meas-
ures imposed in paragraph 1 at least once a 
year, the first review to take place at the latest 
on 22 December 2004, and to determine at 
that time what further action was appropriate. 

22. Taking the view that action by the Community 
was necessary in order to implement that reso-
lution, on 29 April 2004 the Council adopted 
Common Position 2004/487/CFSP concern-
ing further restrictive measures in relation to 
Liberia (OJ 2004 L 162, p. 116). That common 
position requires the freezing of funds and 
economic resources held directly or indirectly 
by the individuals and entities referred to in 
paragraph 1 of Resolution 1532 (2004), subject 
to the same conditions as those laid down in 
that resolution. 

23. On 29 April 2004 the Council adopted, on the 
basis of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, Regulation 
(EC) No 872/2004 concerning further restrictive 

measures in relation to Liberia (OJ 2004 L 162, 
p. 32). 

24. As provided in the fourth recital in the pream-
ble to that regulation, the freezing of the funds 
of Charles Taylor and his associates is necessary 
‘[i]n view of the negative impact on Liberia of 
the transfer abroad of misappropriated funds 
and assets, and the use of such misappropri-
ated funds by Charles Taylor and his associates 
to undermine peace and stability in Liberia and 
the region’. 

25. In the words of the sixth recital in the preamble 
to that regulation these measures ‘fall within 
the scope of the Treaty’ and, ‘therefore, in order 
to avoid any distortion of competition, Com-
munity legislation is necessary to implement 
them as far as the Community is concerned’. 

26. Article 1 of Regulation No 872/2004 defines 
what is to be understood by ‘funds’, ‘freezing 
of funds’, ‘economic resources’ and ‘freezing of 
economic resource[s]’. 

27. Under Article 2 of Regulation No 872/2004:

‘1.All fundsandeconomic resourcesowned,
orcontrolled,directlyor indirectly,by former
LiberianPresidentCharlesTaylor,JewellHow-
ardTaylorandCharlesTaylorJr,andbythefol-
lowingpersonsandentities,asdesignatedby
theSanctionsCommitteeandlistedinAnnex
I,shallbefrozen:

(a)otherimmediatefamilymembersofformer
LiberianPresidentCharlesTaylor;

(b)seniorofficialsoftheformerTaylorregime,
andotherclosealliesandassociates;

(c) legalpersons,bodiesorentitiesownedor
controlled,directlyorindirectlybythepersons
referredtoabove;

(d)anynaturalorlegalpersonactingonbehalf
orat thedirectionof thepersons referred to
above.

2. No funds or economic resources shall be
madeavailable,directlyorindirectly,toorfor
thebenefitofthenaturalorlegalpersons,en-
titiesorbodieslistedinAnnexI.

3.Theparticipation,knowinglyandintention-
ally,inactivitiestheobjectoreffectofwhichis,
directlyorindirectly,tocircumventthemeas-
uresreferredtoinparagraphs1and2shallbe
prohibited.’

28. Annex I to Regulation No 872/2004 contains 
the list of natural or legal persons, bodies and 
entities referred to in Article 2. In its original 
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version, the applicant’s name does not appear. 

29. Under Article 11(a) of Regulation No 872/2004, 
the Commission is empowered to amend An-
nex I to that regulation on the basis of determi-
nations made by either the Security Council or 
the Sanctions Committee. 

30. Under Article 3 of Regulation No 872/2004:
‘1. By way of derogation from Article 2, the
competentauthoritiesoftheMemberStates,
aslistedinAnnexII,mayauthorisetherelease
ofcertainfrozenfundsoreconomicresources
orthemakingavailableofcertainfrozenfunds
or economic resources, if the competent au-
thorityhasdeterminedthatthefundsoreco-
nomicresourcesconcernedare:

(a) necessary for basic expenses, including
payments for foodstuffs, rent or mortgage,
medicines and medical treatment, taxes, in-
surancepremiums,andpublicutilitycharges;

(b) intended exclusively for payment of rea-
sonableprofessionalfeesandreimbursement
ofincurredexpensesassociatedwiththepro-
visionoflegalservices;

(c)intendedexclusivelyforpaymentoffeesor
servicechargesforroutineholdingormainte-
nanceoffrozenfundsoreconomicresources,

provided it has notified the intention to au-
thorise access to such funds and economic
resourcestotheSanctionsCommitteeandhas
notreceivedanegativedecisionbytheSanc-
tionsCommitteewithin twoworkingdaysof
suchnotification.

2. By way of derogation from Article 2, the
competentauthoritiesoftheMemberStates,
aslistedinAnnexII,mayauthorisetherelease
ofcertainfrozenfundsoreconomicresources
orthemakingavailableofcertainfrozenfunds
or economic resources, if the competent au-
thorityhasdeterminedthatthefundsoreco-
nomic resources are necessary for extraordi-
naryexpenses,andprovidedthatcompetent
authority has notified that determination to
theSanctionsCommitteeandthatthedeter-
minationhasbeenapprovedbythatCommit-
tee.’

31. On 15 June 2004 the Sanctions Committee 
adopted the Guidelines for the application of 
paragraphs 1 and 4 of Resolution 1532 (2004) 
(‘the Guidelines of the Sanctions Committee’). 

32. Section 2 of those guidelines, entitled ‘Updat-
ing and Maintaining the Assets Freeze List’, pro-
vides, in paragraph (b) thereof, that the Sanc-
tions Committee will consider expeditiously 

requests to update that list, to be provided 
through Member States and, in paragraph (d) 
thereof, that the Sanctions Committee will 
review the assets freeze list every six months, 
including in connection with any outstanding 
requests to delist individuals and/or entities 
(see the following paragraph of this judgment). 

33. Section 4 of the Guidelines of the Sanctions 
Committee, entitled ‘Delisting’, provides: 
‘(a)withoutprejudicetoavailableprocedures,
a petitioner (individual(s), and/or entities
on the 1521 [Sanctions] Committee’s assets
freeze list) may petition the government of
residence and/or citizenship to request re-
viewofthecase.Inthisregard,thepetitioner
shouldprovide justification for thede-listing
request, offer relevant information and re-
questsupportforde-listing;

(b)thegovernmenttowhichapetitionissub-
mitted (the petitioned government) should
review all relevant information and then ap-
proach bilaterally the government(s) origi-
nallyproposingdesignation (thedesignating
government(s))toseekadditionalinformation
and to hold consultations on the de-listing
request;

(c) the original designating government(s)
mayalsorequestadditionalinformationfrom
thepetitioner’scountryofcitizenshiporresi-
dency. The petitioned and the designating
government(s) may, as appropriate, consult
with the Chairman of the [Sanctions] Com-
mitteeduringthecourseofanysuchbilateral
consultations;

(d) if,after reviewinganyadditional informa-
tion, the petitioned government wishes to
pursueade-listing request, it should seek to
persuade the designating government(s) to
submit jointlyor separatelya request forde-
listingtothe [Sanctions]Committee.Thepe-
titionedgovernmentmay,withoutanaccom-
panyingrequestfromtheoriginaldesignating
government(s),submitarequestforde-listing
tothe[Sanctions]Committee,pursuanttothe
no-objection procedure described in section
3(b)and3(c)above;

(e)theChairmanwillsendaninterimresponse
toanydelistingrequestthatisnotconsidered
within the standard two-day consideration
periodorareasonableextensionthereof.’

34. On 14 June 2004 the Sanctions Committee de-
cided to amend the list of individuals and enti-
ties to which the measures set out in paragraph 
1 of Resolution 1532 (2004) of the Security 
Council apply. The applicant’s name appears 
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on that amended list, and he is designated on 
that list as the owner of Exotic Tropical Timber 
Enterprises and one the main financial backers 
of former President Charles Taylor. 

35. By Commission Regulation (EC) No 1149/2004 
of 22 June 2004 amending Regulation No 
872/2004 (OJ 2004 L 222, p. 17), Annex I to 
Regulation No 872/2004 was replaced by the 
Annex to Regulation No 1149/2004. That new 
Annex I includes, in paragraph 13, the appli-
cant’s name, identified as follows: 
‘Leonid Minin (alias (a) Blavstein, (b) Blyuvs-
htein, (c) Blyafshtein, (d) Bluvshtein, (e) Bly-
ufshtein, (f) Vladimir Abramovich Kerler, (g)
VladimirAbramovichPopiloveski,(h)Vladimir
Abramovich Popela, (i) Vladimir Abramov-
ich Popelo, (j) Wulf Breslan, (k) Igor Osols).
Date of birth: (a) 14 December 1947, (b) 18
October 1946, (c) unknown[)]. Nationality:
Ukrainian. German Passports (name: Minin):
(a) 5280007248D, (b) 18106739D. Israeli
Passports: (a) 6019832 (6/11/94-5/11/99), (b)
9001689 (23/1/97-22/1/02), (c) 90109052
(26/11/97).RussianPassport:KI0861177;Boliv-
ianPassport:65118;GreekPassport:nodetails.
OwnerofExoticTropicalTimberEnterprises.’

36. On 21 December 2004 the Security Council 
adopted Resolution 1579 (2004). After review-
ing inter alia the measures imposed by para-
graph 1 of Resolution 1532 (2004) and deter-
mining that the situation in Liberia continued 
to constitute a threat to international peace 
and security in the region, the Security Coun-
cil noted that those measures would remain 
in force to prevent former President Charles 
Taylor, his immediate family members, senior 
officials of the former Taylor regime, or other 
close allies or associates from using misappro-
priated funds and property to interfere in the 
restoration of peace and stability in Liberia and 
the subregion, and reconfirmed its intention to 
review these measures at least once a year. 

37. On 2 May 2005 the Sanctions Committee de-
cided to include additional identifying infor-
mation on the entries in the list of persons, 
groups and entities referred to in paragraph 1 
of Security Council Resolution 1532 (2004). 

38. By Commission Regulation (EC) No 874/2005 of 
9 June 2005 amending Regulation No 872/2004 
(OJ 2005 L 146, p. 5, ‘the contested regulation’), 
Annex I to Regulation No 872/2004 was re-
placed by the Annex to the contested regula-
tion. That new Annex I includes, in paragraph 
14, the applicant’s name, identified as follows: 

‘LeonidYukhimovichMinin(alias(a)Blavstein,
(b)Blyuvshtein,(c)Blyafshtein,(d)Bluvshtein,
(e)Blyufshtein,(f)VladamirAbramovichKerler
(g) Vladimir Abramovich Kerler, (h) Vladimir
Abramovich Popilo-Veski, (i) Vladimir Abra-
movich Popiloveski, (j) Vladimir Abramov-
ich Popela, (k) Vladimir Abramovich Popelo,
(l) Wulf Breslan, (m) Igor Osols). Date[s] of
birth: (a) 14.12.1947, (b) 18.10.1946. Place of
birth: Odessa, USSR (nowUkraine). National-
ity: Israeli. Forged German passports (name:
Minin): (a) 5280007248D, (b) 18106739D. Is-
raeli passports: (a) 6019832 (valid 6.11.1994
to 5.11.1999), (b) 9001689 (valid 23.1.1997
to 22.1.2002), (c) 90109052 (issued on
26.11.1997). Russian passport: KI0861177;
Bolivian passport: 65118; Greek passport: no
details. Other information: owner of Exotic
TropicalTimberEnterprises.’

39. On 20 December 2005 the Security Council 
adopted Resolution 1647 (2005). After review-
ing inter alia the measures imposed by para-
graph 1 of Resolution 1532 (2004) and deter-
mining that the situation in Liberia continued 
to constitute a threat to international peace 
and security in the region, the Security Coun-
cil noted that those measures would remain in 
force and reconfirmed its intention to review 
them at least once a year. 

Procedure
40. By application lodged at the Registry of the 

Court of First Instance on 3 September 2004, 
registered under number T362/04, Leonid 
Minin brought this action under the fourth 
paragraph of Article 230 EC. 

41. By orders of the President of the Second Cham-
ber of the Court dated 8 December 2004 and 
21 February 2005 respectively, the Council 
and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and 
Northern Ireland were granted leave to inter-
vene in support of the form of order sought by 
the Commission. The Council lodged its inter-
vention within the prescribed period. By letter 
received at the Court Registry on 19 April 2005, 
the United Kingdom informed the Court that it 
would not be lodging a statement in interven-
tion, whilst reserving the right to take part in 
any hearing. 

42. Upon hearing the report of the Judge-Rappor-
teur, the Court (Second Chamber) decided to 
open the oral procedure and, by way of meas-
ures of organisation of procedure as laid down 
in Article 64 of the Rules of Procedure of the 
Court of First Instance, requested the parties 



1095CASET-362/04LEONIDMININVCOMMISSIONOFTHEEUROPEANCOMMUNITIES

EC
J

EC
HR

to reply in writing to written questions for the 
purpose of the hearing. The applicant and the 
defendant complied with that request. 

43. Save for the United Kingdom, which presented 
apologies for its absence, the parties presented 
oral argument and answered questions put 
by the Court at the hearing on 13 September 
2006. 

Forms of order sought by the parties 
44. In his application, the applicant claims that the 

Court should: 

• annul paragraph 13 of the Annex to Regula-
tion No 1149/2004;

• annul that regulation in its entirety; 

• declare that Regulations Nos 872/2004 and 
1149/2004 are inapplicable under Article 
241 EC. 

45. In its defence, the Commission contends that 
the Court should: 

• dismiss the action as in part inadmissible 
and in part unfounded;

• reject as inadmissible or unfounded the 
new pleas in law put forward in the reply;

• order the applicant to pay the costs. 

46. n its intervention, the Council contends that 
the Court should dismiss the action. 

47. In his written answer to the questions put by 
the Court, the applicant stated that, in the light 
of the adoption of Regulation No 874/2005, he 
intended to amend his original heads of claim. 
Henceforth, the applicant claimed that the 
Court should: 

• annul paragraph 14 of the Annex to the 
contested regulation;

• annul Regulation No 872/2004, as amend-
ed by the contested regulation, in so far as it 
provides, at Article 2, for the freezing of the 
applicant’s funds and economic resources. 

48. At the hearing, the applicant (i) withdrew the 
second head of his claim thus amended and (ii) 
applied for an order that the defendant pay the 
costs, formal note of which was taken in the 
minutes of the hearing. 

The admissibility and the subject-
matter of the action 
49. The first head of the applicant’s original claim, 

set out in the manner indicated in paragraph 
44 above, sought the annulment of paragraph 
13 of the Annex to Regulation No 1149/2004, 
which had replaced Annex I to Regulation No 
872/2004. 

50. Annex I to Regulation No 872/2004, thus re-
placed, having in turn been replaced, during 
the proceedings, by the annex to the contest-
ed regulation, the parties were requested to 
submit their written observations on the infer-
ences to be drawn from that new factor for the 
pursuit of this action. 

51. The applicant therefore reformulated his heads 
of claim in the manner indicated in paragraph 
47 above. In the light of the circumstances of 
the present case, the Commission did not raise 
any objections as regards the principle of such 
a reformulation. In principle, that reformulation 
is in fact consistent with the caselaw of this 
Court according to which, where one measure 
freezing the funds of an individual is replaced 
during the proceedings by another having the 
same subject-matter, this must be considered 
a new factor allowing the applicant to adapt its 
pleas in law, claims for relief and arguments so 
that they relate to the later measure (see Case 
T306/01 Yusuf and Al Barakaat International 
Foundation v Council and Commission [2005] 
ECR II3533, currently under appeal, ‘Yusuf’, 
paragraphs 71 to 74, and Case T315/01 Kadi 
v Council and Commission [2005] ECR II3649, 
currently under appeal, ‘Kadi’, paragraphs 52 to 
55, and the caselaw cited). 

52. Furthermore, since the applicant withdrew the 
second head of his claim thus reformulated 
at the hearing, the sole object of the action is 
henceforth a claim for annulment of paragraph 
14 of the Annex to the contested regulation, 
which maintains the applicant’s name on the 
list of persons whose funds must be frozen in 
accordance with Regulation No 872/2004. 

53. In this respect, it must be borne in mind that 
the contested regulation is indeed a regulation 
within the meaning of Article 249 EC (see, to 
that effect and by analogy, Yusuf, paragraphs 
184 to 188), and not a bundle of individual de-
cisions, as the applicant incorrectly submits. 
Paragraph 14 of the Annex to that regulation is 
also legislative in nature and does not therefore 
constitute an individual decision addressed to 
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the applicant, contrary to what the Commis-
sion submits. The fact remains that that act is of 
direct and individual concern to the applicant, 
in so far as he is expressly named in paragraph 
14 of its Annex (see, to that effect and by anal-
ogy, Yusuf, paragraph 186, and Case T253/02 
Ayadi v Council [2006] ECR II0000, currently 
under appeal, ‘Ayadi’, paragraph 81). To that 
extent, the applicant’s claim for annulment is 
admissible. 

Substance
1.Factualclaimsoftheparties

54. The applicant states that his name is Leonid 
Minin and that he is an Israeli citizen domiciled 
in Tel-Aviv (Israel), although he was resident in 
Italy at the time of the facts giving rise to this 
action. The applicant adds that all his funds and 
economic resources in the Community were 
frozen following the adoption of Regulation 
No 1149/2004, so that he was not even able 
to look after his son or pursue his activities as 
manager of a timber importexport company. 
The applicant states, moreover, that he was ac-
quitted of the charges brought against him in 
Italy for arms trafficking. 

55. In this respect, the Commission and the Coun-
cil refer however to the report dated 26 Octo-
ber 2001 of the group of experts referred to in 
paragraph 19 of Resolution 1343 (2001) (see 
paragraph 13 above). According to those insti-
tutions, it is apparent from paragraphs 15 to 17 
and 207 et seq. in particular of that report that, 
when arrested by the Italian authorities, on 5 
August 2000, the applicant was found in pos-
session of several documents implicating him 
in arms trafficking. When questioned in prison 
by the group of experts the applicant admit-
ted his role in several transactions relating to 
that trafficking. Furthermore, the grounds of 
the applicant’s acquittal in Italy were based on 
the fact that the Italian courts lacked territorial 
jurisdiction to hear the proceedings brought 
against him in that Member State. 

2.Law
56. In support of his heads of claim, the appli-

cant relies on two pleas in law, the first alleg-
ing that the Community lacks competence to 
adopt Regulation No 872/2004, Regulation No 
1149/2004 and the contested regulation (to-
gether ‘the contested regulations’), the second 
alleging breach of his fundamental rights. 

first plea: the Commission lacks competence to 
adopt the contested regulations 

57. This plea may be broken down into two parts, 
the second of which was put forward at the 
stage of the reply.

The first part of the plea 

Arguments of the parties
58. In the first part of the plea, the applicant claims, 

first, that Security Council resolutions concern 
exclusively the States to which they are ad-
dressed and that they are not designed to ap-
ply directly to individuals, unlike Community 
Regulations, which produce direct effects erga 
omnes in the Member States. The contested 
regulations therefore conferred ‘added value’ 
on the sanctions provided for by the Security 
Council resolutions, the provisions of which 
they adopted, namely direct effect in the ter-
ritory of the Union, which is not justified from 
a legislative point of view. The Community 
possesses only conferred powers. In particu-
lar, it is apparent from Article 295 EC that the 
Community does not have specific powers so 
far as concerns the rules governing the system 
of property ownership. It therefore lacks com-
petence to adopt measures depriving individu-
als of their property. Responsibility for that lies 
with the Member States, which are, according 
to the applicant, alone competent to confer 
direct and binding effect on the individual 
economic sanctions adopted by the Security 
Council. 

59. The applicant claims, second, that the address-
ees of measures provided for by Articles 60 EC 
and 301 EC are third countries. Consequently, 
those articles do not constitute an adequate 
legal basis for the purposes of adopting puni-
tive or preventative measures affecting indi-
viduals and producing direct effect on them. 
Such measures do not fall within the Commu-
nity’s competence, unlike, firstly, the restrictive 
measures of a commercial nature adopted 
against Liberia by Regulation No 234/2004 and, 
secondly, the trade embargo measures against 
Iraq reviewed by the Court in Case T184/95 
Dorsch Consult v Council and Commission 
[1998] ECR II667. 

60. The arbitrary nature of the body of rules estab-
lished by the contested regulations is apparent 
from a comparison between those rules and 
the body of rules set up by Council Regulation 
(EC) No 1294/1999 of 15 June 1999 concern-
ing a freeze of funds and a ban on investment 
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in relation to the Federal Republic of Yugosla-
via (FRY) and repealing Regulations (EC) No 
1295/98 and (EC) No 1607/98 (OJ 1999 L 153, 
p. 63). The applicant observes that the persons 
affected by that regulation were, under Article 
2 thereof, deemed to be persons ‘acting or pur-
porting to act for or on behalf of’ the govern-
ments concerned. He adds that Regulation No 
1294/1999 contained rules addressed to the 
Member States and that it reformulated meas-
ures to freeze funds already applied by the 
Member States at the national level. 

61. At the hearing the applicant put forward a 
variant of the second part of his argument by 
claiming that, since Charles Taylor had been 
ousted from power in Liberia before the con-
tested regulations were adopted, those regu-
lations could no longer be based on Articles 
60 EC and 301 EC alone, but should also have 
been founded on the additional legal basis of 
Article 308 EC. He relied, in support of this, on 
paragraph 125 et seq. of Yusuf. 

62. The applicant claims, third, that the freezing 
of his assets bears no relation to the objective 
of ‘avoid[ing] any distortion of competition’, 
set out in the sixth recital in the preamble to 
Regulation No 872/2004, since there is no 
agreement between undertakings. Similarly, 
the applicant states that he does not see how 
assets wrongfully acquired, but amounting to a 
derisory sum in relation to the economy of the 
Union, could undermine the rules on the free 
movement of capital. 

63. The Commission and the Council dispute the 
merits of all the arguments put forward by 
the applicant during the written procedure. 
Identical or similar arguments were moreover 
rejected by the Court in Yusuf, Kadi and Ayadi. 

64. As regards the argument put forward by the 
applicant at the hearing on the basis of para-
graph 125 et seq. of Yusuf (see paragraph 61 
above), the Commission takes the view that 
it constitutes a new plea in law, which, under 
Article 48(2) of the Rules of Procedure, may 
not be introduced in the course of proceed-
ings since it is not based on matters of law or 
of fact which came to light in the course of the 
procedure. 

Findings of the Court
65. The applicant submits, in essence, that the 

Member States alone are competent to im-
plement, by the adoption of measures having 
direct and binding effect on individuals, eco-

nomic sanctions imposed against individuals 
by the Security Council. 

66. It is necessary to reject that argument at the 
outset for the same reasons, in essence, as 
those set out in Yusuf (paragraphs 107 to 
171), Kadi (paragraphs 87 to 135) and Ayadi 
(paragraphs 87 to 92) (with regard to the Com-
munity judicature’s power to give reasons for 
its judgment by reference to an earlier judg-
ment ruling on largely identical questions, see 
Case C-229/04 Crailsheimer Volksbank [2005] 
ECR I-9273, paragraphs 47 to 49, and Ayadi, 
paragraph 90; see also, to that effect, order of 
5 June 2002 in Case C204/00 P Aalborg Port-
land v Commission, not published in the ECR, 
paragraph 29, and, by analogy, Case C155/98 P 
Alexopoulou v Commission [1999] ECR I4069, 
paragraphs 13 and 15). 

67. First, the Court of First Instance held, in Yusuf, 
Kadi and Ayadi, that, in so far as under the EC 
Treaty the Community has assumed powers 
previously exercised by the Member States in 
the area governed by the Charter of the United 
Nations, the provisions of that Charter have 
the effect of binding the Community (Yusuf, 
paragraph 253), and that the latter is bound, 
by the very Treaty by which it was established, 
to adopt, in the exercise of its powers, all the 
measures necessary to enable its Member 
States to fulfil their obligations under that 
Charter (Yusuf, paragraph 254). 

68. Second, the Court held, in those judgments, 
that the Community is competent to adopt re-
strictive measures directly affecting individuals 
on the basis of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, where 
a common position or a joint action adopted 
under the provisions of the EU Treaty relating 
to the CFSP so provides, and provided that 
those measures actually seek to interrupt or re-
duce, in part or completely, economic relations 
with one or more third countries (Yusuf, para-
graphs 112 to 116). On the other hand, restric-
tive measures having no link with the territory 
or rulers of a third country cannot be based on 
those provisions alone (Yusuf, paragraphs 125 
to 157). However, the Community does have 
the power to adopt such measures on the ba-
sis of Articles 60 EC, 301 EC and 308 EC (Yusuf, 
paragraphs 158 to 170, and Ayadi, paragraphs 
87 to 89). 

69. In this instance, the Council found in Common 
Position 2004/487, adopted pursuant to the 
provisions of Title V of the EU Treaty, that ac-
tion by the Community was necessary in order 
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to put into effect certain restrictive measures 
against Charles Taylor and his associates, in 
accordance with Security Council Resolution 
1532 (2004), and the Community put those 
measures into effect by adopting the contest-
ed regulations (see, in support of this and by 
analogy, Yusuf, paragraph 255). 

70. In the specific circumstances of the present 
case, it must none the less be observed that 
the contested regulations have as their legal 
basis only Articles 60 EC and 301 EC. Whether 
or not the argument put forward in this respect 
by the applicant at the hearing is classified as 
a new plea in law, on the basis of paragraph 
125 et seq. of Yusuf (see paragraph 61 above), 
it is therefore necessary to determine whether 
the sanctions imposed on the applicant, in his 
capacity as an associate of the former Presi-
dent of Liberia, Charles Taylor, actually seek to 
interrupt or to reduce, in part or completely, 
economic relations with a third country, which 
amounts to ascertaining whether the sanctions 
have a sufficient link with the territory or the 
rulers of such a country. 

71. The Court considers that that is the case in view 
of the Security Council Resolutions, of the com-
mon positions of the CFSP and of the Commu-
nity measures in question in the present case, 
even though Charles Taylor was removed from 
presidential power in Liberia in August 2003. 

72. According to the settled assessment of the 
Security Council, which it is not for this Court 
to call in question, the situation in Liberia con-
tinues to constitute a threat to international 
peace and security in the region, and the re-
strictive measures taken against Charles Taylor 
and his associates remain necessary to pre-
vent them from using misappropriated funds 
and property to interfere in the restoration of 
peace and stability in Liberia and the region 
(see, in particular, paragraphs 12, 14, 15, 18 and 
36 above as regards the period 2001-2005, and 
paragraph 39 above as regards the period after 
20 December 2005). 

73. Similarly, as stated in the fourth recital in the 
preamble to Regulation No 872/2004, the 
freezing of the funds of Charles Taylor and his 
associates is necessary ‘[i]n view of the nega-
tive impact on Liberia of the transfer abroad of 
misappropriated funds and assets, and the use 
of such misappropriated funds by Charles Tay-
lor and his associates to undermine peace and 
stability in Liberia and the region’. 

74. The Court finds that, to the extent that the 

body to which the international community 
has entrusted the principal role of maintaining 
international peace and security considers that 
Charles Taylor and his associates continue to 
be able to undermine peace in Liberia and in 
neighbouring countries, the restrictive meas-
ures adopted against them have a sufficient 
link with the territory or the rulers of that coun-
try to be regarded as ‘[seeking] to interrupt 
or to reduce, in part or completely, economic 
relations with [a] … third countr[y]’, for the 
purpose of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC. There-
fore, the Community has the power to adopt 
the measures in question on the basis of those 
provisions. 

75. The other arguments more specifically relied 
on by the applicant in the first part of the first 
plea are not capable of calling in question that 
assessment. 

76. As regards the argument that the contested 
regulations wrongfully conferred ‘added value’ 
on the Security Council resolutions at issue, on 
account of the direct effect that they produce 
in the territory of the Community, the Commis-
sion is correct to dispute it by observing, first, 
that Articles 60 EC and 301 EC do not limit the 
choice of measures ensuring their application 
and, second, that Resolution 1532 (2004) does 
not impose any more specific limits on the 
form that can be taken by the implementing 
measures that the Member States of the UN 
must adopt, directly or, as in this case, by the 
intermediary of international bodies of which 
they are part. On the contrary, that resolution 
requires the adoption of ‘necessary measures’ 
for the purposes of its implementation. In 
this respect, the Commission and the Council 
rightly submit that the adoption of a Commu-
nity regulation is justified by obvious reasons of 
uniformity and effectiveness and makes it pos-
sible to prevent the funds of the persons con-
cerned from being transferred or concealed 
during the time that it takes the Member States 
to transpose a directive or a decision into na-
tional law. 

77. As regards the argument that the Community 
infringes Article 295 EC by ordering the freez-
ing of individuals’ funds, even supposing that 
the measures in question in the present case 
do interfere with the rules governing the sys-
tem of property ownership (see, in this respect, 
Yusuf, paragraph 299), it is sufficient to observe 
that, notwithstanding the provision in ques-
tion, other provisions of the Treaty empower 
the Community to adopt sanctions or preven-
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tative measures having an effect on the right 
of individuals to property. That is the case, in 
particular, in the fields of competition (Article 
83 EC) and of commercial policy (Article 133 
EC). That is also the case in respect of measures 
taken, as in the present case, under Articles 60 
EC and 301 EC. 

78. As regards, lastly, the argument that the freez-
ing of the applicant’s assets bears no relation 
to the objective of ‘avoid[ing] any distortion of 
competition’, set out in the sixth recital in the 
preamble to Regulation No 872/2004, it is true 
that the assertion that there is a risk of com-
petition’s being distorted, which according to 
that recital that regulation seeks to prevent, is 
unconvincing (see, to that effect and by anal-
ogy, Yusuf, paragraphs 141 to 150, and Kadi, 
paragraphs 105 to 114). 

79. However, as the Court observed at paragraph 
165 of Ayadi, the statement of reasons for a 
regulation must be examined as a whole. Ac-
cording to the case-law, even if one recital of a 
contested measure contains a factually incor-
rect statement, that procedural defect cannot 
lead to the annulment of that measure if the 
other recitals in themselves supply a sufficient 
statement of reasons (Case 119/86 Spain v 
Council and Commission [1987] ECR 4121, 
paragraph 51, and Joined Cases T129/95, T2/96 
and T97/96 Neue Maxhütte Stahlwerke and 
Lech-Stahlwerke v Commission [1999] ECR II-
17, paragraph 160), which in this case they do. 

80. In this connection, it is to be remembered that 
the statement of reasons required by Article 
253 EC must show clearly and unequivocally 
the reasoning of the Council, so as to enable 
the persons concerned to ascertain the reasons 
for the measures and to enable the Commu-
nity judicature to exercise its powers of review. 
In addition, the question whether a statement 
of reasons satisfies the requirements must be 
assessed with reference not only to the word-
ing of the measure but also to its context and 
to the whole body of legal rules governing the 
matter in question. In the case of a measure 
intended to have general application, as in 
this case, the preamble may be limited to in-
dicating the general situation which led to its 
adoption, on the one hand, and the general 
objectives which it is intended to achieve, on 
the other (see Case C344/04 International Air 
Transport Association and Others [2006] ECR 
I403, paragraphs 66 and 67, and the caselaw 
cited). 

81. In the present case, the legal bases cited in 
Regulation No 872/2004 and the first to fifth 
recitals in the preamble thereto, in particular, 
fully satisfy those requirements, especially in so 
far as they refer, first, to Articles 60 EC and 301 
EC and, second, to Security Council Resolutions 
1521 (2003) and 1532 (2004), as well as to Com-
mon Positions 2004/137 and 2004/487. 

82. Furthermore, in so far as the contested regu-
lation expressly names the applicant in its an-
nex, as a person to whom the freezing of funds 
must apply, sufficient reasons are supplied by 
the reference made in the second recital in the 
preamble to that regulation to the correspond-
ing designation made by the Sanctions Com-
mittee. 

83. It follows from the foregoing that the first part 
of the first plea must be rejected. 

The second part of the plea

Arguments of the parties
84. In the second part of the plea, put forward at 

the stage of the reply, the applicant alleges 
infringement of the principle of subsidiarity, 
which, in his submission, is central to this dis-
pute. 

85. Whilst taking the view that that complaint is 
inadmissible, as a new plea put forward for the 
first time in the reply, the Commission submits 
that the applicant has not, in any event, sub-
stantiated his claims. 

86. In the Commission’s submission, Articles 60 EC 
and 301 EC have brought about an unequivo-
cal and unconditional transfer of competence 
in favour of the Community. That competence 
is of an exclusive nature, so that the principle 
of subsidiarity is not applicable in the present 
case. 

87. Lastly, the Commission and the Council main-
tain that, even if the principle of subsidiarity 
were applicable in the present case, the en-
tirely secondary role left to Member States 
by Article 60 EC implies recognition that the 
objectives of a measure freezing funds can be 
achieved more effectively at Community level. 
That is clearly the case here. 

Findings of the Court
88. It should be noted at the outset that the Com-

munity judicature is entitled to assess, depend-
ing on the circumstances of each individual 
case, whether the proper administration of 
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justice justifies the rejection of a plea on the 
merits without ruling beforehand on its ad-
missibility (see, to that effect, judgment of 
13 September 2006 in Joined Cases T217/99, 
T321/99 and T222/01 Sinaga v Commission, 
not published in the ECR, paragraph 68, and 
the caselaw cited). 

89. In the present case, the complaint alleging 
breach of the principle of subsidiarity must, in 
any event, be rejected as unfounded for the 
same reasons, in essence, as those set out in 
paragraphs 106 to 110, 112 and 113 of Ayadi, in 
response to a substantially identical plea relied 
on by Mr Ayadi. The Court considers that that 
principle cannot be relied on in the sphere of 
application of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, even 
on the assumption that it does not fall within 
the exclusive competence of the Community. 
In any event, even assuming that that princi-
ple finds application in circumstances such as 
those of this case, it is plain that the uniform 
implementation in the Member States of Secu-
rity Council resolutions, which are binding on 
all members of the United Nations without dis-
tinction, can be better achieved at Community 
level than at national level. 

90. It follows from the foregoing that the second 
part of the first plea and therefore that plea as a 
whole must be rejected. 

Second plea: breach of fundamental rights 

91. This plea may be broken down into three parts, 
the third of which was put forward at the stage 
of the reply.

The first and second parts of the plea 

Arguments of the parties
92. In the first part of the plea, the applicant al-

leges breach of the right to property which, 
in his submission, is one of the fundamental 
rights that the Community is required to ob-
serve (Case 44/79 Hauer [1979] ECR 3727), in 
particular by taking account of the First Ad-
ditional Protocol to the European Convention 
on Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 
(ECHR). 

93. The applicant recognises that, according to the 
caselaw, that right may be subject to restric-
tions if and in so far as those restrictions pursue 
a Community objective of general interest. He 
observes, however, that the contested regula-
tions make no mention of any objective of that 
type. In particular, the objective of avoiding 
any distortion of competition, which is of no 

relevance in the present case (see paragraph 
61 above), cannot be considered to be such an 
objective. The objective of punishing the thefts 
committed by ‘Taylor the dictator and his 
“henchmen”’ is one of the tasks of the States, as 
addressees of Security Council resolutions, and 
not one of the tasks of the Community. 

94. In his reply, the applicant submits that the prin-
ciples laid down by the Court of Justice in Case 
C84/95 Bosphorus [1996] ECR I3953, relied on 
by the Commission, are not applicable in the 
present case. First, unlike the measures in ques-
tion in Bosphorus, the proportionality of the 
measures provided for by the contested regu-
lations was not reviewed before their adoption. 
Second, the situation of the Federal Republic 
of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro), where 
the civil war was raging, cannot be compared 
to that of Liberia, where a peace process had 
been set up. Third, according to Articles 46 and 
53 of the Regulations attached to the Hague 
Convention of 18 October 1907 concerning 
the Laws and Customs of War on Land, means 
of transport, such as the aircraft seized by the 
Irish authorities in the case which gave rise to 
Bosphorus, cited above, enjoy, during times of 
war, a lesser degree of protection than other 
forms of private property. 

95. The applicant further submits, in his reply, 
that none of the derogations from the right to 
property allowed by Article 1 of the First Addi-
tional Protocol to the ECHR is applicable in the 
present case. In any event, the European Court 
of Human Rights has held that the conduct of a 
State which created a state of affairs such that 
an owner is prevented from making full use of 
his goods, without that owner receiving any 
benefit aimed at compensating the loss suf-
fered, runs counter to that provision (Eur. Court 
H.R., Papamichalopoulos v Greece, judgment 
of 24 June 1993, Series A No 260-B). 

96. In the second part of the plea, the applicant al-
leges breach of the rights of the defence, in so 
far as the Community adopted the contested 
regulations, which constitute, in essence, bun-
dles of individual administrative decisions, 
without having conducted a real inquiry into 
the frozen funds, and in the absence of any 
adversarial procedure. In this respect, the ap-
plicant claims that observance of the rights 
of the defence is required in all administrative 
proceedings (Case T11/89 Shell v Commission 
[1992] ECR II757). 

97. The Commission and the Council dispute the 
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merits of all the arguments put forward by 
the applicant during the written procedure. 
Identical or similar arguments were moreover 
rejected by the Court in Yusuf, Kadi and Ayadi. 

Findings of the Court 
98. In the present case, Regulation No 872/2004, 

adopted, in particular, in the light of Common 
Position 2004/487, constitutes the implemen-
tation at Community level of the obligation 
placed on the Member States of the Com-
munity, as Members of the United Nations, to 
give effect, if appropriate by a Community act, 
to the sanctions against Charles Taylor and his 
associates, which have been decided and later 
reinforced by several resolutions of the Secu-
rity Council adopted under Chapter VII of the 
Charter of the United Nations. The recitals in 
the preamble to Regulation No 872/2004 refer 
expressly to Resolutions 1521 (2003) and 1532 
(2004). 

99. The same applies both to Regulation No 
1149/2004, which was adopted following the 
inclusion of the applicant in the list of persons, 
groups and entities to which the sanctions in 
question must apply, that inclusion having 
been decided by the Sanctions Committee 
on 14 June 2004 (see paragraphs 34 and 35 
above), and to the contested regulation, which 
was adopted following an amendment to that 
list, that amendment having been decided on 
2 May 2005 by the Sanctions Committee (see 
paragraphs 37 and 38 above). 

100. Furthermore, the Security Council resolutions 
and the contested regulations in the present 
case provide for economic sanctions (freez-
ing of funds and other economic resources) 
against the persons concerned which are es-
sentially the same in nature and scope as those 
which were at issue in the cases which gave 
rise to Yusuf, Kadi and Ayadi. All those sanc-
tions, which are periodically reviewed by the 
Security Council or the competent sanctions 
committee (see, in particular, paragraphs 20, 
21, 32, 36 and 39 above and Yusuf, paragraphs 
16, 26 and 37), are coupled with similar deroga-
tions (see, in particular, paragraphs 19 and 30 
above and Yusuf, paragraphs 36 and 40) and 
analogous mechanisms enabling the persons 
concerned to request review of their case by 
the competent sanctions committee (see, in 
particular, paragraphs 31 to 33 above and Yu-
suf, paragraphs 309 and 311). 

101. In those circumstances, and in accordance 

with the caselaw cited in paragraph 66 above, 
the applicant’s arguments alleging breach of 
his fundamental rights, right to property and 
rights of defence must be rejected in the light 
of Yusuf (paragraphs 226 to 283, 285 to 303 and 
304 to 331), Kadi (paragraphs 176 to 231, 234 
to 252 and 253 to 276) and Ayadi (paragraphs 
115 to 157), in which essentially identical argu-
ments were rejected for reasons connected, in 
essence, with the supremacy of international 
law originating under the Charter of the United 
Nations over Community law, the correspond-
ing restriction on the review of legality that the 
Court must carry out in respect of Community 
measures implementing decisions of the Secu-
rity Council or of its Sanctions Committee, and 
the fact that there was no breach of jus cogens 
by measures to freeze funds of the type at issue 
in the present case. 

102. Accordingly, the first and second parts of the 
second plea must be rejected. 

The third part of the plea

Arguments of the parties
103. In the third part of the plea, put forward at the 

stage of the reply, the applicant alleges breach 
of the principle of territoriality. He relies, in sup-
port of this, on settled caselaw according to 
which the exercise of the Community’s powers 
of coercion in respect of conduct originating 
outside its territory is subject to the condition 
that that conduct produces effects within that 
territory (Joined Cases 89/85, 104/85, 114/85, 
116/85, 117/85 and 125/85 to 129/85 Ahlström 
Osakeyhtiö and Others v Commission [1988] 
ECR 5193, and Case C286/90 Poulsen and Diva 
Navigation [1992] ECR I6019; Case T102/96 
Gencor v Commission [1999] ECR II753). 

104. In addition, the contested regulations seek 
ultimately to produce their effects in the terri-
tory of Liberia, and not in the territory of the 
Community, as is apparent from the third and 
fourth recitals in the preamble to Regulation 
No 872/2004. According to the applicant, that 
factor distinguishes that regulation from Regu-
lation No 1294/1999 (see paragraph 60 above), 
the objective of which was to ‘significantly in-
crease the pressure’ on Serbia and which there-
fore had a ‘generic purpose entirely detached 
from any territorial aspect’. 

105. The Commission submits that, as a new plea, 
the applicant’s complaint relating to the al-
leged extraterritoriality of the effects of the 
contested regulations is inadmissible. In any 
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event, those regulations have no extraterrito-
rial effect, since they apply only to funds and 
economic resources located in the territory of 
the Community. 

Findings of the Court 
106. Without there being any need to rule on its 

admissibility (see, in this respect, paragraph 88 
above), the complaint alleging infringement of 
the principle of territoriality must be rejected 
as unfounded, since the contested regulations 
apply only to funds and economic resources 
located in the territory of the Community and 
do not, therefore, have any extraterritorial ef-
fect. 

107. As regards the fact that the conduct which 
gave rise to the adoption of the contested reg-
ulations produces its effects exclusively outside 
the Community, it is irrelevant since the meas-
ures adopted under Articles 60 EC and 301 EC 
are aimed precisely at the implementation, 
by the Community, of common positions or 
common action adopted under the provisions 
of the EU Treaty relating to the CFSP and pro-
viding for action in relation to third countries. 
It must be added that, under Article 11(1) EU, 
one of the objectives of the CFSP is to preserve 
peace and strengthen international security, in 
accordance with the principles of the Charter 
of the United Nations. Such an objective could 
quite clearly not be attained if the Community 
were to limit its action to cases in which the sit-
uation giving rise to its intervention produces 
effects on its territory. 

108. The same applies in respect of the fact that 
the contested regulations seek ultimately to 
produce their effects in the territory of Libe-
ria, since Articles 60 EC and 301 EC precisely 
empower the Community to adopt measures 
involving economic sanctions intended to pro-
duce their effects in third countries. 

109. It follows from the foregoing that the third part 
of the second plea and therefore that plea as a 
whole must be rejected. 

110.  Since none of the grounds raised by the ap-
plicant in support of its action is well founded, 
the action must be dismissed.

Costs
111. Under Article 87(2) of the Rules of Procedure, 

the unsuccessful party is to be ordered to pay 
the costs, if they have been asked for in the 
successful party’s pleadings. Since the appli-

cant has been unsuccessful, it must, having re-
gard to the form of order sought by the Com-
mission, be ordered to pay the costs. 

112. Under the first paragraph of Article 87(4) of the 
Rules of Procedure, the Member States and 
institutions which have intervened in the pro-
ceedings are to bear their own costs. 

On those grounds, THE COURT OF FIRST INSTANCE 
(Second Chamber) hereby:

1. Dismisses the action;

2. Orders the applicant to bear, in addition to his 
own costs, those of the Commission; 

3. Orders the Council and the united Kingdom 
of Great Britain and Northern Ireland to bear 
their own costs.

Pirrung Forwood Papasavvas

Delivered in open court in Luxembourg on 31 
January 2007.

E. Coulon, Registrar 
J. Pirrung, President
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THE IMPLICATIONS OF THE NE BIS IN IDEM  PRINCIPLE

CAsE C-150/05 JEAn 
LEon VAn stRAAtEn v 
stAAt DER nEDERLAnDEn 
AnD REPUBLIEK ItALIë
(Reference for a preliminary ruling from the Rech-
tbank’s-Hertogenbosch)

(Convention implementing the Schengen Agree-
ment – Ne bis in idem principle – Meaning of ‘the 
same acts’ and of ‘trial disposed of’ – Exporting in 
one State and importing in another State – Acquit-
tal of the accused)

KEYWORDS

1. Preliminary rulings – Jurisdiction of the Court – 
Limits (Art. 234 EC)

2. Preliminary rulings – Jurisdiction of the Court – 
Limits (Art. 234 EC)

3. European Union – Police and judicial coopera-
tion in criminal matters – Protocol integrating 
the Schengen acquis – Convention imple-
menting the Schengen Agreement – Ne bis in 
idem principle (Convention implementing the 
Schengen Agreement, Art. 54)

4. European Union – Police and judicial coopera-
tion in criminal matters – Protocol integrating 
the Schengen acquis – Convention imple-
menting the Schengen Agreement – Ne bis in 
idem principle (Convention implementing the 
Schengen Agreement, Art. 54)

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

1. In the context of the cooperation between the 
Court of Justice and national courts that is pro-
vided for by Article 234 EC, it is solely for the na-
tional court before which the dispute has been 
brought, and which must assume responsi-
bility for the subsequent judicial decision, to 
determine in the light of the particular circum-
stances of the case both the need for a pre-
liminary ruling in order to enable it to deliver 
judgment and the relevance of the questions 

which it submits to the Court. Consequently, 
where the questions submitted concern the 
interpretation of Community law, the Court is, 
in principle, bound to give a ruling. 

The Court may refuse to rule on a question 
referred for a preliminary ruling by a national 
court only where it is quite obvious that the in-
terpretation of Community law that is sought 
bears no relation to the actual facts of the main 
action or its purpose, where the problem is hy-
pothetical, or where the Court does not have 
before it the factual or legal material necessary 
to give a useful answer to the questions sub-
mitted to it. (see paras 33-34)

2. Although the Court has no jurisdiction under 
Article 234 EC to apply a rule of Community 
law to a particular case and thus to judge a 
provision of national law by reference to such 
a rule, it may, in the framework of the judicial 
cooperation provided for by that article and on 
the basis of the material presented to it, pro-
vide the national court with an interpretation 
of Community law which may be useful to it in 
assessing the effects of the provision in ques-
tion. (see para. 37)

3. Article 54 of the Convention implementing 
the Schengen Agreement must be interpreted 
as meaning that the relevant criterion for the 
purposes of the application of that article is 
identity of the material acts, understood as the 
existence of a set of facts which are inextricably 
linked together, irrespective of the legal clas-
sification given to them or the legal interest 
protected. 

In the case of offences relating to narcotic 
drugs, first, the quantities of the drug that are at 
issue in the two Contracting States concerned 
or the persons alleged to have been party to 
the acts in the two States are not required to 
be identical. It is therefore possible that a situ-
ation in which such identity is lacking involves 
a set of facts which, by their very nature, are 
inextricably linked. Second, punishable acts 
consisting of exporting and of importing the 
same narcotic drugs and which are prosecut-
ed in different Contracting States party to the 
Convention are, in principle, to be regarded as 
‘the same acts’ for the purposes of Article 54 
of the Convention, the definitive assessment in 
that respect being the task of the competent 
national courts. (see paras 48-51, 53, operative 
part 1)

4. The ne bis in idem principle, enshrined in Ar-
ticle 54 of the Convention implementing the 

Case C-150/05 Jean Leon Van Straaten v Staat der Nederlanden and Republiek Italië
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Schengen Agreement, a provision which has 
the objective of ensuring that no one is pros-
ecuted for the same acts in several Contracting 
States on account of the fact that he exercises 
his right to freedom of movement, falls to be 
applied in respect of a decision of the judicial 
authorities of a Contracting State by which the 
accused is acquitted finally for lack of evidence. 

The main clause of the single sentence com-
prising Article 54 of the Convention makes 
no reference to the content of the judgment 
that has become final. It is only in the subordi-
nate clause that Article 54 refers to the case of 
a conviction by stating that, in that situation, 
the prohibition of a prosecution is subject to a 
specific condition. If the general rule laid down 
in the main clause were applicable only to 
judgments convicting the accused, it would be 
superfluous to provide that the special rule is 
applicable in the event of conviction. 

Furthermore, not to apply Article 54 of the 
Convention to a final decision acquitting the 
accused for lack of evidence would have the 
effect of jeopardising exercise of the right to 
freedom of movement. 

Finally, in the case of a final acquittal for lack 
of evidence, the bringing of criminal proceed-
ings in another Contracting State for the same 
acts would undermine the principles of legal 
certainty and of the protection of legitimate 
expectations. The accused would have to fear a 
fresh prosecution in another Contracting State 
although a case in respect of the same acts has 
been finally disposed of. (see paras 56-59, 61, 
operative part 2)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (FIRST 
CHAMBER)

28 September 200612

(Convention implementing the Schengen Agree-
ment – Ne bis in idem principle –Meaning of ‘the 
same acts’ and of ‘trial disposed of’ – Exporting in 
one State and importing in another State – Acquit-
tal of the accused)

In Case C-150/05,

REFERENCE for a preliminary ruling under Arti-
cle 35 EU from the Rechtbank’s-Hertogenbosch 
(Netherlands), made by decision of 23 March 2005, 
received at the Court on 4 April 2005, in the pro-

12 Language of the case: Dutch.

ceedings 

Jean Leon Van Straaten

v

Staat der Nederlanden, Republiek Italië,THE COURT 
(First Chamber), composed of K. Schiemann, Presi-
dent of the Fourth Chamber, acting for the Presi-
dent of the First Chamber, N. Colneric (Rapporteur), 
J.N. Cunha Rodrigues, M. Ilešič and E. Levits, Judges, 
Advocate General: D. Ruiz-Jarabo Colomer, Regis-
trar: H. von Holstein, Deputy Registrar,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 4 May 2006, after considering the 
observations submitted on behalf of:

• the Netherlands Government, by H.G. Sev-
enster and D.J.M. de Grave, acting as Agents, 

• the Italian Government, by I.M. Braguglia, 
acting as Agent, and G. Aiello, avvocato dello 
Stato,

• the Czech Government, by T. Boček, acting 
as Agent,

• the Spanish Government, by M. Muñoz Pé-
rez, acting as Agent,

• the French Government, by G. de Bergues 
and J.-C. Niollet, acting as Agents,

• the Austrian Government, by E. Riedl, acting 
as Agent,

• the Polish Government, by T. Nowakowski, 
acting as Agent,

• the Swedish Government, by K. Wistrand, 
acting as Agent,

• the Commission of the European Communi-
ties, by W. Bogensberger and R. Troosters, 
acting as Agents,

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 8 June 2006, gives the following 
Judgment

1. This reference for a preliminary ruling concerns 
the interpretation of Article 54 of the Conven-
tion implementing the Schengen Agreement 
of 14 June 1985 between the Governments of 
the States of the Benelux Economic Union, the 
Federal Republic of Germany and the French 
Republic on the gradual abolition of checks at 
their common borders (OJ 2000 L 239, p. 19; 
‘the CISA’), signed in Schengen (Luxembourg) 
on 19 June 1990. 

2. The reference was made in proceedings be-
tween, first, Mr Van Straaten and, second, the 
Staat der Nederlanden (the Netherlands State) 
and the Republiek Italië (the Italian Repub-
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lic) relating to the alert concerning Mr Van 
Straaten’s conviction in Italy for drug trafficking 
which the Italian authorities had entered in the 
Schengen Information System (‘the SIS’) for the 
purpose of his extradition. 

Legal context 

Communitylaw
3. Under Article 1 of the Protocol integrating the 

Schengen acquis into the framework of the 
European Union, annexed to the Treaty on 
European Union and to the Treaty establishing 
the European Community by the Treaty of Am-
sterdam (‘the Protocol’), 13 Member States of 
the European Union, amongst them the Italian 
Republic and the Kingdom of the Netherlands, 
are authorised to establish closer cooperation 
among themselves within the scope of the 
Schengen acquis as set out in the annex to the 
Protocol. 

4. The Schengen acquis thus defined includes, 
inter alia, the Agreement between the Govern-
ments of the States of the Benelux Economic 
Union, the Federal Republic of Germany and 
the French Republic on the gradual abolition 
of checks at their common borders, signed in 
Schengen on 14 June 1985 (OJ 2000 L 239, p. 
13; the Schengen Agreement’), and the CISA. 
The Italian Republic signed an agreement for 
its accession to the CISA on 27 November 1990 
(OJ 2000 L 239, p. 63), and it entered into force 
on 26 October 1997. 

5. By virtue of the first subparagraph of Article 
2(1) of the Protocol, from the date of entry into 
force of the Treaty of Amsterdam the Schen-
gen acquis was to apply immediately to the 
13 Member States referred to in Article 1 of the 
Protocol. 

6. Pursuant to the second sentence of the second 
subparagraph of Article 2(1) of the Protocol, on 
20 May 1999 the Council of the European Un-
ion adopted Decision 1999/436/EC determin-
ing, in conformity with the relevant provisions 
of the Treaty establishing the European Com-
munity and the Treaty on European Union, the 
legal basis for each of the provisions or deci-
sions which constitute the Schengen acquis 
(OJ 1999 L 176, p. 17). It is apparent from Article 
2 of the decision, in conjunction with Annex A 
thereto, that the Council selected Articles 34 
EU and 31 EU, which form part of Title VI of the 
Treaty on European Union entitled ‘Provisions 
on police and judicial cooperation in criminal 

matters’, as the legal basis for Articles 54 to 58 
of the CISA. 

7. Articles 54 to 58 form Chapter 3 (‘Application of 
the ne bis in idem principle’) of Title III (‘Police 
and security’) of the CISA. 

8. Article 54 of the CISA provides: 
‘Apersonwhosetrialhasbeenfinallydisposed
of inoneContractingPartymaynotbepros-
ecuted in another Contracting Party for the
sameactsprovidedthat,ifapenaltyhasbeen
imposed, it has been enforced, is actually in
theprocessofbeingenforcedorcannolonger
beenforcedunderthelawsofthesentencing
ContractingParty.’

9. Article 55(1) of the CISA states: 
‘AContractingPartymay,when ratifying, ac-
ceptingorapprovingthisConvention,declare
that it is not bound by Article 54 in one or
moreofthefollowingcases:

(a)wheretheactstowhichtheforeignjudg-
mentrelatestookplaceinwholeorinpartin
its own territory; in the latter case, however,
thisexceptionshallnotapplyiftheactstook
placeinpartintheterritoryoftheContracting
Partywherethejudgmentwasdelivered;

...’

10. Article 71(1) of the CISA, for which Article 34 EU 
and Articles 30 EU and 31 EU were selected as 
the legal basis, provides: 
‘TheContractingPartiesundertakeasregards
the direct or indirect sale of narcotic drugs
and psychotropic substances of whatever
type, includingcannabis, and thepossession
of such products and substances for sale or
export,toadoptinaccordancewiththeexist-
ingUnitedNationsConventions…,allneces-
sarymeasurestopreventandpunishtheillicit
traffickinginnarcoticdrugsandpsychotropic
substances.’

11. Article 95(1) and (3) of the CISA are worded as 
follows: 
‘1.Dataonpersonswantedforarrestforextra-
ditionpurposesshallbeenteredattherequest
ofthejudicialauthorityoftherequestingCon-
tractingParty.

3.A requestedContractingPartymayaddto
thealertinthedatafileofitsnationalsection
of the Schengen Information System a flag
prohibitingarrestonthebasisofthealertuntil
the flag isdeleted. The flagmustbedeleted
nolaterthan24hoursafterthealerthasbeen
entered,unless theContractingParty refuses
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tomaketherequestedarrestonlegalgrounds
orforspecialreasonsofexpediency.Inpartic-
ularlyexceptionalcaseswherethisisjustified
bythecomplexnatureofthefactsbehindthe
alert,theabovetime-limitmaybeextendedto
oneweek.Withoutprejudicetoaflagorade-
cisiontorefusethearrest,theotherContract-
ingPartiesmaymakethearrestrequested in
thealert.’

12. Article 106(1) of the CISA states: 
‘Only the Contracting Party issuing the alert
shallbeauthorisedtomodify,addto,correct
ordeletedatawhichithasentered.’

13. Article 111 of the CISA provides: 
‘1. Any person may, in the territory of each
ContractingParty,bringbefore the courtsor
the authority competent under national law
anactiontocorrect,deleteorobtaininforma-
tionortoobtaincompensationinconnection
withanalertinvolvingthem.

2.TheContractingPartiesundertakemutually
toenforcefinaldecisionstakenbythecourts
orauthoritiesreferredtoinparagraph1,with-
outprejudicetotheprovisionsofArticle116.’

14. Article 35 EU governs the Court’s jurisdiction 
to give preliminary rulings in this field. Article 
35(3) EU is worded as follows: 
‘AMemberStatemakingadeclarationpursu-
anttoparagraph2shallspecifythateither:

(a)…;or

(b)anycourtortribunalofthatStatemayre-
questtheCourtofJusticetogiveapreliminary
rulingonaquestionraisedinacasepending
beforeitandconcerningthevalidityorinter-
pretationofanactreferredtoinparagraph1
ifthatcourtortribunalconsidersthatadeci-
siononthequestionisnecessarytoenableit
togivejudgment.’

15. The Kingdom of the Netherlands has declared 
its acceptance of the Court’s jurisdiction in ac-
cordance with the arrangements laid down in 
Article 35(2) and (3)(b) EU (OJ 1997 C 340, p. 
308). 

Internationallaw
16. Article 4 of Protocol No 7 to the European Con-

vention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms, signed in Rome 
on 4 November 1950, is worded as follows: 
‘1.Noone shall be liable tobe triedorpun-
ishedagainincriminalproceedingsunderthe
jurisdictionofthesameStateforanoffencefor

whichhehasalreadybeenfinallyacquittedor
convictedinaccordancewiththelawandpe-
nalprocedureofthatState.

2.Theprovisionsoftheprecedingparagraph
shallnotpreventthereopeningofthecasein
accordancewiththelawandpenalprocedure
oftheStateconcerned,ifthereisevidenceof
newornewlydiscoveredfacts,oriftherehas
been a fundamental defect in the previous
proceedings,whichcouldaffecttheoutcome
ofthecase.

3. No derogation from this Article shall be
madeunderArticle15oftheConvention.’

17. Article 14(7) of the International Covenant on 
Civil and Political Rights, which was adopted 
on 16 December 1966 and entered into force 
on 23 March 1976, is worded as follows: 

‘Nooneshallbeliabletobetriedorpunished
againforanoffenceforwhichhehasalready
beenfinallyconvictedoracquittedinaccord-
ance with the law and penal procedure of
eachcountry.’

18. Article 36 of the Single Convention on Narcotic 
Drugs, concluded in New York on 30 March 
1961 under the aegis of the United Nations, is 
worded as follows: 

‘1. (a)Subjectto itsconstitutional limitations,
eachParty shall adopt suchmeasures aswill
ensurethatcultivation,production,manufac-
ture, extraction, preparation, possession, of-
fering,offeringforsale,distribution,purchase,
sale, delivery on any termswhatsoever, bro-
kerage,dispatch,dispatchintransit,transport,
importationandexportationofdrugscontrary
totheprovisionsofthisConvention,andany
otheractionwhichintheopinionofsuchParty
maybecontrarytotheprovisionsofthisCon-
vention, shall be punishable offences when
committed intentionally, and that seriousof-
fencesshallbeliabletoadequatepunishment
particularlyby imprisonmentor otherpenal-
tiesofdeprivationofliberty.

(b)…

2.Subjecttotheconstitutionallimitationsofa
Party,itslegalsystemanddomesticlaw,

(a)(i)Eachoftheoffencesenumeratedinpar-
agraph1, ifcommitted indifferentcountries,
shallbeconsideredasadistinctoffence;

…’
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The main proceedings and the 
questions referred for a preliminary 
ruling
19. It is apparent from the order for reference that 

on or about 27 March 1983 Mr Van Straaten 
was in possession of a consignment of ap-
proximately 5 kilograms of heroin in Italy, that 
this heroin was transported from Italy to the 
Netherlands and that Mr Van Straaten had a 
quantity of 1 000 grams of that consignment 
of heroin at his disposal during the period from 
27 to 30 March 1983. 

20. Mr Van Straaten was prosecuted in the Neth-
erlands for (i) importing a quantity of approxi-
mately 5 500 grams of heroin from Italy into 
the Netherlands on or about 26 March 1983, 
together with A. Yilmaz, (ii) having a quantity 
of approximately 1 000 grams of heroin at his 
disposal in the Netherlands during or around 
the period from 27 to 30 March 1983 and (iii) 
possessing firearms and ammunition in the 
Netherlands in March 1983. By judgment of 
23 June 1983, the Rechtbank’s-Hertogenbosch 
(’s-Hertogenbosch District Court, Netherlands) 
acquitted Mr Van Straaten on the charge of 
importing heroin, finding it not to have been 
legally and satisfactorily proved, and convicted 
him on the other two charges, sentencing him 
to a term of imprisonment of 20 months. 

21. In Italy, Mr Van Straaten was prosecuted along 
with other persons, for possessing on or about 
27 March 1983, and exporting to the Neth-
erlands on several occasions together with 
Mr Karakus Coskun, a significant quantity of 
heroin, totalling approximately 5 kilograms. By 
judgment delivered inabsentia on 22 Novem-
ber 1999 by the Tribunale ordinario di Milano 
(District Court, Milan, Italy), Mr Van Straaten 
and two other persons were, upon conviction 
on the charges, sentenced to a term of impris-
onment of 10 years, fined ITL 50 000 000 and 
ordered to pay the costs. 

22. The main proceedings are between, first, Mr 
Van Straaten and, second, the Netherlands 
State and the Italian Republic. The national 
court refers to an alert regarding Mr Van 
Straaten the legality of which is at issue in 
those proceedings, and which the national 
court examines in the light of the CISA. By or-
der made on 16 July 2004, the Italian Republic 
was summoned to appear in the proceedings. 

23. Before the national court, the Italian Republic 
rejected Mr Van Straaten’s claims that, by virtue 

of Article 54 of the CISA, he should not have 
been prosecuted by or on behalf of the Ital-
ian State and that all acts connected with that 
prosecution were unlawful. According to the 
Italian Republic, no decision was given on Mr 
Van Straaten’s guilt by the judgment of 23 June 
1983, in so far as it concerns the charge of im-
porting heroin, since he was acquitted on that 
charge. Mr Van Straaten’s trial had not been 
disposed of, within the meaning of Article 54 
of the CISA, as regards that charge. The Italian 
Republic further submitted that, as a result of 
the declaration as referred to in Article 55(1)
(a) of the CISA which it had made, it was not 
bound by Article 54 of the CISA, a plea which 
was rejected by the national court. 

24. No further information on the nature of the 
proceedings is given in the order for reference. 

25. According to the Netherlands Government, the 
judgment of the Rechtbank’s-Hertogenbosch 
of 23 June 1983 was upheld by a judgment of 
the Gerechtshof te ‘s-Hertogenbosch (Regional 
Court of Appeal, ‘s-Hertogenbosch) of 3 Janu-
ary 1984, which amended the terms of the sec-
ond charge against Mr Van Straaten. The Ger-
echtshof te ‘s-Hertogenbosch described the 
act as ‘voluntary possession of a quantity of ap-
proximately 1 000 grams of heroin in the Neth-
erlands during or around the period from 27 to 
30 March 1983’. The appeal on a point of law 
brought by Mr Van Straaten against that judg-
ment was dismissed by judgment of the Hoge 
Raad der Nederlanden (Supreme Court of the 
Netherlands) of 26 February 1985. That judg-
ment became final. Mr Van Straaten served the 
sentence imposed upon him. 

26. The Netherlands Government then states that 
in 2002, at the request of the Italian judicial 
authorities, an alert was entered in the SIS for 
the arrest of Mr Van Straaten with a view to his 
extradition, on the basis of an arrest warrant of 
the Milan Public Prosecutor’s Office of 11 Sep-
tember 2001. The Kingdom of the Netherlands 
added to that alert a flag as referred to in Article 
95(3) of the CISA, so that he could not be ar-
rested in the Netherlands. 

27. After Mr Van Straaten had, in 2003, been in-
formed of that alert and, therefore, of his con-
viction in Italy, he first requested, in vain, from 
the Italian judicial authorities the deletion of 
the data in the SIS concerning him. The Korps 
Landelijke Politiediensten (Netherlands Na-
tional Police Services; ‘the KLPD’) stated to him 
by letter of 16 April 2004 that, since the KLPD 
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was not the authority that issued the alert, un-
der Article 106 of the CISA it was not authorised 
to delete it from the SIS. 

28. The Netherlands Government further states 
that Mr Van Straaten then applied to the Rech-
tbank ‘s-Hertogenbosch for an order requiring 
the minister concerned and/or the KLPD to de-
lete his personal data from the police register. 
The national court found in an order of 16 July 
2004 that, by virtue of Article 106(1) of the CISA, 
only the Italian Republic was authorised to de-
lete the data as requested by Mr Van Straaten. 
In light of that fact, the court treated the ap-
plication as an application for an order requir-
ing the Italian Republic to delete the data. The 
Italian Republic was consequently joined as a 
party to the main proceedings. 

29. According to the Netherlands Government, 
the national court then found that, under Ar-
ticle 111(1) of the CISA, Mr Van Straaten had 
the right to bring an action before the compe-
tent court under national law challenging the 
entry by the Italian Republic in the SIS of data 
concerning him. Pursuant to Article 111(2), the 
Italian Republic would be required to enforce a 
final decision of the Netherlands court on such 
an action. 

30. It was in those circumstances that the Rech-
tbank ‘s-Hertogenbosch decided to stay pro-
ceedings and to refer the following questions 
to the Court for a preliminary ruling: 
‘(1) What is to be understood by “the same
acts”within themeaningofArticle54of the
[CISA]? (Is having at one’s disposal approxi-
mately1000gramsofheroin in theNether-
lands in or around theperiod from27 to 30
March1983thesameactasbeinginposses-
sionofapproximately5kilogramsofheroinin
Italyonorabout27March1983,regardbeing
hadtothefactthattheconsignmentofheroin
intheNetherlandsformedpartoftheconsign-
mentofheroininItaly?Isexportingaconsign-
mentofheroin from Italy to theNetherlands
thesameactasimportingthesameconsign-
mentofheroinfromItalyintotheNetherlands,
regardalsobeinghadtothefactthatMrVan
Straaten’sco-accusedintheNetherlandsand
Italyarenotentirelythesame?Havingregard
totheactsasawhole,consistingofpossess-
ing theheroin inquestion in Italy, exporting
itfromItaly,importingitintotheNetherlands
andhavingitatone’sdisposalintheNether-
lands,arethose“thesameacts”?)

(2) Isaperson’strialdisposedof, forthepur-
posesofArticle54of theCISA, if the charge

brought against that person has been de-
clarednottohavebeenlegallyandsatisfacto-
rilyprovedandthatpersonhasbeenacquit-
tedonthatchargebywayofajudgment?’

Admissibility of the reference for a 
preliminary ruling
31. In the present case, the Court has jurisdiction 

to rule on the interpretation of Article 54 of the 
CISA since the system under Article 234 EC is 
capable of applying to references for a prelimi-
nary ruling pursuant to Article 35 EU, subject 
to the conditions laid down in the latter arti-
cle (see, in this regard, Case C-105/03 Pupino 
[2005] ECR I-5285, paragraph 28), and the King-
dom of the Netherlands made a declaration in 
accordance with Article 35(3)(b) EU taking ef-
fect on 1 May 1999, the date upon which the 
Treaty of Amsterdam entered into force. 

32. The French Government expresses doubts as 
to the admissibility of the reference for a pre-
liminary ruling, on the ground that the infor-
mation provided by the national court is brief 
and does not make it possible to understand 
what the purpose of the action is or why an-
swers to the two questions submitted are nec-
essary. 

33. In that regard, it must be borne in mind that 
it is solely for the national court before which 
the dispute has been brought, and which must 
assume responsibility for the subsequent judi-
cial decision, to determine in the light of the 
particular circumstances of the case both the 
need for a preliminary ruling in order to en-
able it to deliver judgment and the relevance 
of the questions which it submits to the Court 
(see Case C-437/97 EKW and Wein & Co. [2000] 
ECR I1157, paragraph 52, and Case C-448/01 
EVN and Wienstrom [2003] ECR I14527, para-
graph 74). Consequently, where the questions 
submitted concern the interpretation of Com-
munity law, the Court is, in principle, bound to 
give a ruling. 

34. The Court may refuse to rule on a question 
referred for a preliminary ruling by a national 
court only where it is quite obvious that the in-
terpretation of Community law that is sought 
bears no relation to the actual facts of the main 
action or its purpose, where the problem is hy-
pothetical, or where the Court does not have 
before it the factual or legal material neces-
sary to give a useful answer to the questions 
submitted to it (see, inter alia, Case C-379/98 
PreussenElektra [2001] ECR I-2099, paragraph 
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39; Case C-35/99 Arduino [2002] ECR I-1529, 
paragraph 25; and Case C-13/05 Chacón Navas 
[2006] ECR I-0000, paragraph 33). 

35. In the present case, although the grounds of 
the order for reference are succinct and lack 
structure, the information which they contain 
is sufficient, first, to rule out that the questions 
submitted bear no relation to the actual facts 
of the main action or its purpose or that the 
problem is hypothetical and, second, to enable 
the Court to give a useful answer to those ques-
tions. It is apparent from the context of the or-
der for reference that Mr Van Straaten’s action 
is for the annulment of the alert concerning 
him entered in the SIS and that, in the view of 
the national court, the action can succeed only 
if, under the ne bis in idem principle pursuant 
to Article 54 of the CISA, the conviction in the 
Netherlands precludes the prosecution of him 
in Italy which is the cause of that alert. 

36. The Spanish Government submits that the first 
question is inadmissible. It maintains that this 
question concerns only the facts of the main 
action and that the national court is in actual 
fact asking the Court to apply Article 54 of the 
CISA to the facts which gave rise to the domes-
tic proceedings. 

37. As to those submissions, although the Court 
has no jurisdiction under Article 234 EC to 
apply a rule of Community law to a particular 
case, it may, in the framework of the judicial 
cooperation provided for by that article and 
on the basis of the material presented to it, 
provide the national court with an interpreta-
tion of Community law which may be useful 
to it in assessing the effects of the provision in 
question (Joined Cases C-515/99, C-519/99 to 
C-524/99 and C-526/99 to C540/99 Reisch and 
Others [2002] ECR I-2157, paragraph 22). 

38. By its first question, the national court seeks an 
interpretation of Article 54 of the CISA in light 
of the facts which it takes pains to specify in 
parentheses. The Court is not requested, on the 
other hand, to apply that article to the facts set 
out. 

39. It follows from the foregoing that the reference 
for a preliminary ruling is admissible. 

The questions

Question1
40. By this question, the national court essentially 

asks what the relevant criteria are for the pur-
poses of applying the concept of ‘the same 
acts’ within the meaning of Article 54 of the 
CISA, having regard to the facts which it has 
specified in parentheses. 

41. The Court held in Case C-436/04 Van Esbroeck 
[2006] ECR I-2333, at paragraph 27, that the 
wording of Article 54 of the CISA, ‘the same 
acts’, shows that that provision refers only to 
the nature of the acts in dispute and not to 
their legal classification. 

42. The wording used in that article thus differs 
from that in other international instruments 
which enshrine the ne bis in idem principle 
(Van Esbroeck, paragraph 28). 

43. There is a necessary implication in the ne bis 
in idem principle enshrined in Article 54 of the 
CISA that the Contracting States have mutual 
trust in their criminal justice systems and that 
each of them recognises the criminal law in 
force in the other Contracting States even 
when the outcome would be different if its 
own national law were applied (Van Esbroeck, 
paragraph 30). 

44. The possibility of divergent legal classifications 
of the same acts in two different Contracting 
States is therefore no obstacle to the applica-
tion of Article 54 of the CISA (Van Esbroeck, 
paragraph 31). 

45. The above findings are further reinforced by 
the objective of Article 54 of the CISA, which 
seeks to ensure that no one is prosecuted for 
the same acts in several Contracting States on 
account of his having exercised his right to 
freedom of movement (Van Esbroeck, para-
graph 33, and the case-law cited). 

46. That right to freedom of movement is effec-
tively guaranteed only if the perpetrator of 
an act knows that, once he has been found 
guilty and served his sentence, or, where ap-
plicable, been acquitted by a final judgment in 
a Contracting State, he may travel within the 
Schengen area without fear of prosecution in 
another Contracting State on the basis that the 
legal system of that Member State treats the 
act concerned as a separate offence (see Van 
Esbroeck, paragraph 34). 

47. Because there is no harmonisation of national 
criminal law, a criterion based on the legal 
classification of the acts or on the legal inter-
est protected might create as many barriers to 
freedom of movement within the Schengen 
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area as there are penal systems in the Contract-
ing States (Van Esbroeck, paragraph 35). 

48. In those circumstances, the only relevant crite-
rion for the application of Article 54 of the CISA 
is identity of the material acts, understood as 
the existence of a set of concrete circumstanc-
es which are inextricably linked together (Van 
Esbroeck, paragraph 36). 

49. In the case of offences relating to narcotic 
drugs, the quantities of the drug that are at is-
sue in the two Contracting States concerned or 
the persons alleged to have been party to the 
acts in the two States are not required to be 
identical. 

50. It is therefore possible that a situation in which 
such identity is lacking involves a set of facts 
which, by their very nature, are inextricably 
linked. 

51. In addition, the Court has already held that 
punishable acts consisting of exporting and of 
importing the same narcotic drugs and which 
are prosecuted in different Contracting States 
party to the CISA are, in principle, to be regard-
ed as ‘the same acts’ for the purposes of Article 
54 (Van Esbroeck, paragraph 42). 

52. However, as rightly pointed out by the Neth-
erlands Government, the definitive assessment 
in this regard is a matter for the competent na-
tional courts which are charged with the task of 
determining whether the material acts at issue 
constitute a set of facts which are inextricably 
linked together in time, in space and by their 
subject-matter (Van Esbroeck, paragraph 38). 

53. In the light of the foregoing, the answer to the 
first question must be that Article 54 of the 
CISA must be interpreted as meaning that: 
–therelevantcriterionforthepurposesofthe
applicationofthatarticleisidentityofthema-
terialacts,understoodastheexistenceofaset
offactswhichareinextricablylinkedtogether,
irrespectiveofthelegalclassificationgivento
themorthelegalinterestprotected;

– in the caseof offences relating tonarcotic
drugs,thequantitiesofthedrugthatareatis-
sue in the twoContractingStatesconcerned
orthepersonsallegedtohavebeenpartyto
theactsinthetwoStatesarenotrequiredto
beidentical;

–punishableactsconsistingofexportingand
of importing the same narcotic drugs and
whichareprosecutedindifferentContracting
StatespartytothatConventionare,inprinci-

ple, toberegardedas ‘thesameacts’ forthe
purposesofArticle54oftheConvention,the
definitiveassessmentinthatrespectbeingthe
taskofthecompetentnationalcourts.

Question2
54. By this question, the national court essentially 

asks whether the ne bis in idem principle, 
enshrined in Article 54 of the CISA, applies in 
respect of a decision of the judicial authorities 
of a Contracting State by which the accused is 
acquitted for lack of evidence. 

55. Under Article 54 of the CISA, a person may not 
be prosecuted in a Contracting State for the 
same acts as those in respect of which his trial 
has already been’finally disposed of’ in another 
Contracting State provided that, in the event 
of conviction, the penalty has been enforced, is 
actually in the process of being enforced or can 
no longer be enforced. 

56. The main clause of the single sentence com-
prising Article 54 of the CISA makes no refer-
ence to the content of the judgment that 
has become final. It is only in the subordinate 
clause that Article 54 refers to the case of a 
conviction by stating that, in that situation, the 
prohibition of a prosecution is subject to a spe-
cific condition. If the general rule laid down in 
the main clause were applicable only to judg-
ments convicting the accused, it would be 
superfluous to provide that the special rule is 
applicable in the event of conviction. 

57. It is settled case-law that Article 54 of the CISA 
has the objective of ensuring that no one is 
prosecuted for the same acts in several Con-
tracting States on account of the fact that he 
exercises his right to freedom of movement 
(see Joined Cases C187/01 and C-385/01 Gözü-
tok and Brügge [2003] ECR I-1345, paragraph 
38). 

58. Not to apply that article to a final decision 
acquitting the accused for lack of evidence 
would have the effect of jeopardising exercise 
of the right to freedom of movement (see, to 
this effect, Van Esbroeck, paragraph 34). 

59. Furthermore, in the case of a final acquittal for 
lack of evidence, the bringing of criminal pro-
ceedings in another Contracting State for the 
same acts would undermine the principles of 
legal certainty and of the protection of legiti-
mate expectations. The accused would have to 
fear a fresh prosecution in another Contracting 
State although a case in respect of the same 
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acts has been finally disposed of. 

60. It should be added that, in Case C-469/03 Mi-
raglia [2005] ECR I-2009, at paragraph 35, the 
Court held that the ne bis in idem principle, en-
shrined in Article 54 of the CISA, does not fall to 
be applied in respect of a decision of the judi-
cial authorities of one Member State declaring 
a case to be closed, after the Public Prosecu-
tor has decided not to pursue the prosecution 
on the sole ground that criminal proceedings 
have been started in another Member State 
against the same defendant and for the same 
acts, without any determination whatsoever 
as to the merits of the case. While there is no 
need to give a ruling in the present case as to 
whether an acquittal which is not based on a 
determination as to the merits of the case may 
fall within that article, it must be found that an 
acquittal for lack of evidence is based on such 
a determination. 

61. Consequently, the answer to the second ques-
tion must be that the ne bis in idem principle, 
enshrined in Article 54 of the CISA, falls to be 
applied in respect of a decision of the judicial 
authorities of a Contracting State by which the 
accused is acquitted finally for lack of evidence. 

Costs
62. Since these proceedings are, for the parties 

to the main proceedings, a step in the action 
pending before the national court, the deci-
sion on costs is a matter for that court. Costs in-
curred in submitting observations to the Court, 
other than the costs of those parties, are not 
recoverable. 

On those grounds, the Court (First Chamber) here-
by rules:

1. Article 54 of the Convention implementing 
the Schengen Agreement of 14 June 1985 be-
tween the Governments of the States of the 
Benelux Economic union, the federal Repub-
lic of Germany and the french Republic on the 
gradual abolition of checks at their common 
borders, signed on 19 June 1990 in Schengen, 
must be interpreted as meaning that:

– the relevant criterion for the purposes of 
the application of that article is identity of 
the material acts, understood as the exist-
ence of a set of facts which are inextricably 
linked together, irrespective of the legal 
classification given to them or the legal 
interest protected;

– in the case of offences relating to nar-
cotic drugs, the quantities of the drug that 
are at issue in the two Contracting States 
concerned or the persons alleged to have 
been party to the acts in the two States are 
not required to be identical;

– punishable acts consisting of exporting 
and of importing the same narcotic drugs 
and which are prosecuted in different 
Contracting States party to that Conven-
tion are, in principle, to be regarded as’the 
same acts’ for the purposes of Article 54 of 
the Convention, the definitive assessment 
in that respect being the task of the com-
petent national courts.

2. The ne bis in idem principle, enshrined in Arti-
cle 54 of that Convention, falls to be applied in 
respect of a decision of the judicial authorities 
of a Contracting State by which the accused is 
acquitted finally for lack of evidence.

[Signatures]
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GENERAL INTERNATIONAL LAW AND COMMUNITY 
LAW

CAsE C-306/05 soCIEDAD 
GEnERAL DE AUtoREs 
Y EDItoREs DE EsPAñA 
(sGAE) v RAFAEL HotELEs 
sA
(Reference for a preliminary ruling from the Audi-
encia Provincial de Barcelona)

(Copyright and related rights in the information so-
ciety – Directive 2001/29/EC – Article 3 – Concept 
of communication to the public – Works communi-
cated by means of television sets installed in hotel 
rooms)

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

Approximation of laws – Copyright and related 
rights – Directive 2001/29 – Harmonisation of cer-
tain aspects of copyright and related rights in the 
information society – Communication to the public 
– Concept 

(European Parliament and Council Directive 
2001/29, Art. 3(1))

The mere provision of physical facilities, such as 
that of television sets installed in hotel rooms, does 
not as such amount to a communication to the 
public within the meaning of Directive 2001/29 on 
the harmonisation of certain aspects of copyright 
and related rights in the information society. On 
the other hand, the distribution of a signal enabling 
works to be communicated by means of those tel-
evision sets by a hotel to customers staying in its 
rooms, whatever technique is used to transmit the 
signal, constitutes communication to the public 
within the meaning of Article 3(1) of that directive. 

As is explained in the Guide to the Berne Con-
vention for the Protection of Literary and Artistic 
Works, when the author authorises the broadcast 
of his work, he considers only direct users, that is, 
the owners of reception equipment who, either 
personally or within their own private or family 
circles, receive the programme. If reception is for 
a larger audience, by an independent act through 

which the broadcast work is communicated to a 
new public, such public reception falls within the 
scope of the author’s exclusive authorisation right. 
The clientele of a hotel forms such a new public, in-
asmuch as the transmission of the broadcast work 
to that clientele using television sets is not just a 
technical means to ensure or improve reception of 
the original broadcast in the catchment area. On 
the contrary, the hotel is the organisation which 
intervenes, in full knowledge of the consequences 
of its action, to give access to the protected work 
to its customers. 

The private nature of hotel rooms does not pre-
clude a signal from constituting communication to 
the public. (see paras 41-42, 47, 54, operative part 
1-2)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (THIRD 
CHAMBER)

7 December 200613

(Copyright and related rights in the information so-
ciety – Directive 2001/29/EC – Article 3 – Concept 
of communication to the public – Works communi-
cated by means of television sets installed in hotel 
rooms)

In Case C-306/05,

REFERENCE for a preliminary ruling under Article 
234 EC from the Audiencia Provincial de Barcelona 
(Spain), made by decision of 7 June 2005, received 
at the Court on 3 August 2005, in the proceedings 
Sociedad General de Autores y Editores de España 
(SGAE) v Rafael Hoteles SA, THE COURT (Third 
Chamber),

composed of A. Rosas, President of the Chamber, 
A. Borg Barthet, J. Malenovský (Rapporteur), U. Lõh-
mus and A. ó Caoimh, Judges, Advocate General: 
E. Sharpston, Registrar: M. Ferreira, Principal Admin-
istrator,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 4 May 2006, after considering the 
observations submitted on behalf of:

• the Sociedad General de Autores y Editores 
de España (SGAE), by R. Gimeno-Bayón Co-
bos and P. Hernández Arroyo, abogados,

• Rafael Hoteles SA, by R. Tornero Moreno, 
abogado,

• the French Government, by G. de Bergues 
and J.C. Niollet, acting as Agents,

13 Language of the case: Spanish.

Case C-306/05 Sociedad General de Autores y Editores de España (SGAE) v Rafael Hoteles 
SA
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• Ireland, by D.J. O’Hagan, acting as Agent, as-
sisted by N. Travers BL,

• the Austrian Government, by C. Pesendorfer, 
acting as Agent,

• the Polish Government, by K. Murawski, 
U. Rutkowska and P. Derwicz, acting as 
Agents,

• the Commission of the European Communi-
ties, by J.R. Vidal Puig and W. Wils, acting as 
Agents,

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 13 July 2006, gives the following 
Judgment

1. The reference for a preliminary ruling con-
cerns the interpretation of Article 3 of Directive 
2001/29/EC of the European Parliament and of 
the Council of 22 May 2001 on the harmoni-
sation of certain aspects of copyright and re-
lated rights in the information society (OJ 2001 
L 167, p. 10). 

2. This reference was made in the context of pro-
ceedings between the Sociedad General de 
Autores y Editores de España (SGAE) and Rafael 
Hoteles SA (‘Rafael’), concerning the alleged 
infringement, by the latter, of intellectual prop-
erty rights managed by SGAE. 

Legal context

Applicableinternationallaw
3. The Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of 

Intellectual Property Rights (‘the TRIPs Agree-
ment’), as set out in Annex 1C to the Mar-
rakesh Agreement establishing the World 
Trade Organisation, was approved on behalf 
of the European Community by Council De-
cision 94/800/EC of 22 December 1994 con-
cerning the conclusion on behalf of the Euro-
pean Community, as regards matters within 
its competence, of the agreements reached in 
the Uruguay Round multilateral negotiations 
(1986-1994) (OJ 1994 L 336, p. 1). 

4. Article 9(1) of the TRIPs Agreement provides: 
‘MembersshallcomplywithArticles1through
21oftheBerneConvention(1971)andtheAp-
pendix thereto.However,Members shall not
have rights or obligations under this Agree-
mentinrespectoftherightsconferredunder
Article6bisofthatConventionoroftherights
derivedtherefrom.’

5. Article 11 of the Berne Convention for the Pro-
tection of Literary and Artistic Works (Paris Act 

of 24 July 1971), as amended on 28 September 
1979 (‘the Berne Convention’) provides: 
‘1. Authors of dramatic, dramatico-musical
and musical works shall enjoy the exclusive
rightofauthorising:

(i) the public performance of their works,
including such public performance by any
meansorprocess;

(ii) any communication to the public of the
performanceoftheirworks.

2. Authors of dramatic or dramatico-musical
worksshallenjoy,duringthefulltermoftheir
rights in the original works, the same rights
withrespecttotranslationsthereof.’

6. Article 11bis(1) of the Berne Convention pro-
vides: 
‘Authorsofliteraryandartisticworksshallen-
joytheexclusiverightofauthorising:

(i)thebroadcastingoftheirworksorthecom-
municationthereoftothepublicbyanyother
meansofwirelessdiffusionofsigns,soundsor
images;

(ii)anycommunication to thepublicbywire
orby rebroadcastingof thebroadcastof the
work,whenthiscommunicationismadebyan
organizationotherthantheoriginalone;

(iii)thepubliccommunicationbyloudspeaker
or anyother analogous instrument transmit-
ting,bysigns,soundsorimages,thebroadcast
ofthework.’

7. The World Intellectual Property Organisation 
(WIPO) adopted in Geneva, on 20 December 
1996, the WIPO Performances and Phono-
grams Treaty and the WIPO Copyright Treaty. 
Those two treaties were approved on behalf of 
the Community by Council Decision 2000/278/
EC of 16 March 2000 (OJ 2000 L 89, p. 6). 

8. Article 8 of the WIPO Copyright Treaty provides: 
‘WithoutprejudicetotheprovisionsofArticles
11(1)(ii),11bis(1)(i)and(ii),11ter(1)(ii),14(1)(ii)
and14bis(1)oftheBerneConvention,authors
of literary and artistic works shall enjoy the
exclusive right of authorising any communi-
cationtothepublicoftheirworks,bywireor
wireless means, including the making avail-
abletothepublicoftheirworksinsuchaway
thatmembersofthepublicmayaccessthese
worksfromaplaceandatatimeindividually
chosenbythem.’

9. Joint declarations concerning the WIPO Copy-
right Treaty were adopted by the Diplomatic 



1116 CASEC-306/05SOCIEDADGENERALDEAUTORESYEDITORESDEESPAñA(SGAE)VRAFAELHOTELESSA

EC
HR

EC
J

Conference on 20 December 1996. 

10. The joint declaration concerning Article 8 of 
that Treaty provides: 
‘It is understood that the mere provision of
physical facilities for enabling or making a
communication does not in itself amount to
communication within the meaning of this
Treaty or the Berne Convention. It is further
understoodthatnothinginArticle8precludes
a Contracting Party from applying Article
11bis(2).’

Communitylegislation
11. The ninth recital in the preamble to Directive 

2001/29 states: 
‘Any harmonisation of copyright and related
rights must take as a basis a high level of
protection,sincesuchrightsarecrucialtoin-
tellectual creation. Their protection helps to
ensurethemaintenanceanddevelopmentof
creativityintheinterestsofauthors,perform-
ers, producers, consumers, culture, industry
and the public at large. Intellectual property
has thereforebeen recognisedasan integral
partofproperty.’

12. The 10th recital in the preamble to that direc-
tive states: 
‘Ifauthorsorperformersaretocontinuetheir
creativeandartisticwork,theyhavetoreceive
an appropriate reward for the use of their
work,asmustproducersinordertobeableto
financethiswork.Theinvestmentrequiredto
produceproductssuchasphonograms,films
ormultimediaproducts,andservicessuchas
“on-demand” services, is considerable. Ad-
equate legal protection of intellectual prop-
erty rights isnecessary inorder toguarantee
theavailabilityof sucha rewardandprovide
theopportunityforsatisfactoryreturnsonthis
investment.’

13. The 15th recital in the preamble to that direc-
tive states: 
‘The Diplomatic Conference held under the
auspices of the [WIPO] in December 1996
led to theadoptionof twonewTreaties, the
[WIPO Copyright Treaty] and the [WIPO Per-
formances and Phonograms Treaty], dealing
respectively with the protection of authors
and the protection of performers and pho-
nogramproducers.ThoseTreatiesupdatethe
internationalprotectionforcopyrightandre-
latedrightssignificantly,notleastwithregard
totheso-called“digitalagenda”,andimprove
the means to fight piracy world-wide. The
CommunityandamajorityofMemberStates

havealreadysignedtheTreatiesandthepro-
cessofmakingarrangements for theratifica-
tionoftheTreatiesbytheCommunityandthe
Member States is under way. This Directive
alsoservestoimplementanumberofthenew
internationalobligations.’

14. The 23rd recital in the preamble to that direc-
tive states: 
‘This Directive should harmonise further the
author’s rightof communication to thepub-
lic.Thisrightshouldbeunderstoodinabroad
sensecoveringallcommunicationtothepub-
lic not present at the placewhere the com-
municationoriginates.Thisrightshouldcover
any such transmissionor retransmissionof a
worktothepublicbywireorwirelessmeans,
includingbroadcasting.This rightshouldnot
coveranyotheracts.’

15. The 27th recital in the preamble to Directive 
2001/29 states: 
‘The mere provision of physical facilities for
enabling or making a communication does
notinitselfamounttocommunicationwithin
themeaningofthisDirective.’

16. Article 3 of that directive provides: 
‘1.MemberStates shallprovideauthorswith
theexclusiverighttoauthoriseorprohibitany
communication to the public of theirworks,
bywireorwirelessmeans,includingthemak-
ing available to the public of their works in
suchaway thatmembersof thepublicmay
access themfromaplaceandata time indi-
viduallychosenbythem.

2.MemberStatesshallprovidefor theexclu-
siverighttoauthoriseorprohibitthemaking
available to the public, by wire or wireless
means, in such a way that members of the
publicmayaccessthemfromaplaceandata
timeindividuallychosenbythem:

(a)forperformers,offixationsoftheirperfor-
mances;

(b)forphonogramproducers,oftheirphono-
grams;

(c) for the producers of the first fixations of
films,oftheoriginalandcopiesoftheirfilms;

(d)forbroadcastingorganisations,offixations
oftheirbroadcasts,whetherthesebroadcasts
aretransmittedbywireorovertheair,includ-
ingbycableorsatellite.

3.Therightsreferredtoinparagraphs1and2
shallnotbeexhaustedbyanyactofcommuni-
cationtothepublicormakingavailabletothe
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publicassetoutinthisArticle.’

Nationallegislation
17. The codified text of the Law on intellectual 

property, which rectifies, clarifies and harmo-
nises the legislative provisions in force in that 
area (‘the LIP’), was approved by Royal Legis-
lative Decree No 1/1996 of 12 April 1996 (BOE 
No 97 of 22 April 1996). 

18. Article 17 of the LIP provides: 
‘Theauthorhastheexclusiverightsofexploi-
tationofhisworksregardlessoftheirformand,
interalia,theexclusiverightsofreproduction,
distribution, public communication and con-
versionwhichcannotbeexercisedwithouthis
permissionexceptincircumstanceslaiddown
inthisLaw.’

19. Article 20(1) of the LIP provides: 
‘Publiccommunicationshallmeananyactby
whichanumberofpersonscanhaveaccessto
theworkwithoutpriordistributionof copies
toeachofthosepersons.

Communication which takes place within a
strictly domestic location which is not inte-
grated into or connected to a distribution
networkofanykindshallnotbeclassifiedas
public.’

The main proceedings and the 
questions referred for a preliminary 
ruling
20. SGAE is the body responsible for the manage-

ment of intellectual property rights in Spain. 

21. SGAE took the view that the use of television 
sets and the playing of ambient music within 
the hotel owned by Rafael, during the period 
from June 2002 to March 2003, involved com-
munication to the public of works belonging 
to the repertoire which it manages. Consider-
ing that those acts were carried out in breach 
of the intellectual property rights attached to 
the works, SGAE brought an action for com-
pensation against Rafael before the Juzgado 
de Primera Instancia (Court of First Instance) 
No 28, Barcelona (Spain). 

22. By decision of 6 June 2003, that court partially 
rejected the claim. It took the view that the 
use of television sets in the hotel’s rooms did 
not involve communication to the public of 
works managed by SGAE. It considered, on the 
other hand, that the claim was well founded 

as regards the well-known existence in hotels 
of communal areas with television sets and 
where ambient music is played. 

23. SGAE and Rafael both brought appeals before 
the Audiencia Provincial (Provincial Court) de 
Barcelona, which decided to stay the proceed-
ings and to refer the following questions to the 
Court of Justice for a preliminary ruling: 

‘(1)Doestheinstallationinhotelroomsoftel-
evision sets towhich a satellite or terrestrial
televisionsignalissentbycableconstitutean
actof communication to thepublicwhich is
coveredbytheharmonisationofnationallaws
protectingcopyrightprovidedfor inArticle3
ofDirective[2001/29]?

(2) Isthefactofdeemingahotelroomtobe
astrictlydomesticlocation,sothatcommuni-
cationbymeansoftelevisionsetstowhichis
fedasignalpreviouslyreceivedbythehotelis
notregardedascommunicationtothepublic,
contrary to the protection of copyright pur-
suedbyDirective[2001/29]?

(3) For the purposes of protecting copyright
in relation to acts of communication to the
publicprovidedforinDirective[2001/29],can
a communication that is effected through a
television set inside a hotel bedroom be re-
gardedaspublicbecause successive viewers
haveaccesstothework?’

The request to have the oral procedure 
reopened
24. By letter received at the Court of Justice on 12 

September 2006, Rafael requested the reopen-
ing of the oral procedure, pursuant to Article 
61 of the Rules of Procedure of the Court of 
Justice. 

25. That request is based on the alleged incon-
sistency of the Advocate General’s Opinion. 
Rafael submits that the negative response in 
the Opinion to the first question unavoidably 
implies a negative response to the second and 
third questions, whereas the Advocate General 
suggests that the answer to the latter ques-
tions should be in the affirmative. 

26. On that point, it is appropriate to recall that nei-
ther the Statute of the Court of Justice nor the 
Rules of Procedure make provision for the par-
ties to submit observations in response to the 
Advocate General’s Opinion (see, in particular, 
Case C-259/04 Emanuel [2006] ECR I3089, para-
graph 15). 
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27. The Court may, certainly, of its own motion, 
on a proposal from the Advocate General or at 
the request of the parties, order that the oral 
procedure should be reopened in accordance 
with Article 61 of its Rules of Procedure, if it 
considers that it lacks sufficient information or 
that the case must be dealt with on the basis 
of an argument which has not been debated 
between the parties (see, in particular, Case 
C-209/01 Schilling and Fleck-Schilling [2003] 
ECR I13389, paragraph 19, and Case C-30/02 
Recheio – Cash & Carry [2004] ECR I6051, para-
graph 12). 

28. However, the Court finds that in the present 
case it has all the information necessary to give 
judgment. 

29. Consequently, there is no need to order the 
reopening of the oral procedure. 

The questions

Preliminaryobservations
30. It should be stated at the outset that, contrary 

to Rafael’s submissions, the situation at issue 
in the main proceedings does not fall within 
Council Directive 93/83/EEC of 27 Septem-
ber 1993 on the coordination of certain rules 
concerning copyright and rights related to 
copyright applicable to satellite broadcast-
ing and cable retransmission (OJ 1993 L 248, 
p. 15), but within Directive 2001/29. The latter 
applies to all communications to the public 
of protected works, whereas Directive 93/83 
only provides for minimal harmonisation of 
certain aspects of protection of copyright and 
related rights in the case of communication to 
the public by satellite or cable retransmission 
of programmes from other Member States. 
As the Court has already held, unlike Directive 
2001/29, this minimal harmonisation does not 
provide information to enable the Court to re-
ply to a question concerning a situation similar 
to that which is the subject of the questions 
referred for a preliminary ruling (see, to that 
effect, Case C-293/98 Egeda [2000] ECR I629, 
paragraphs 25 et 26). 

31. Next, it should be noted that the need for uni-
form application of Community law and the 
principle of equality require that where pro-
visions of Community law make no express 
reference to the law of the Member States for 
the purpose of determining their meaning and 
scope, as is the case with Directive 2001/29/EC, 
they must normally be given an autonomous 

and uniform interpretation throughout the 
Community (see, in particular, Case C-357/98 
Yiadom [2000] ECR I9265, paragraph 26, and 
Case C-245/00 SENA [2003] ECR I1251, para-
graph 23). It follows that the Austrian Govern-
ment cannot reasonably maintain that it is for 
the Member States to provide the definition 
of’public’ to which Directive 2001/29 refers but 
does not define. 

Thefirstandthirdquestions
32. By its first and third questions, which it is ap-

propriate to examine together, the referring 
court asks, essentially, whether the distribution 
of a signal through television sets to customers 
in hotel rooms constitutes communication to 
the public within the meaning of Article 3(1) of 
Directive 2001/29, and whether the installation 
of television sets in hotel rooms constitutes, in 
itself, an act of that nature. 

33. In that respect, it should be noted that that Di-
rective does not define’communication to the 
public’. 

34. According to settled case-law, in interpreting 
a provision of Community law it is necessary 
to consider not only its wording, but also the 
context in which it occurs and the objectives 
pursued by the rules of which it is part (see, in 
particular, Case C156/98 Germany v Commis-
sion [2000] ECR I6857, paragraph 50, and Case 
C53/05 Commission v Portugal [2006] ECR 
I-0000, paragraph 20). 

35. Moreover, Community legislation must, so far 
as possible, be interpreted in a manner that is 
consistent with international law, in particular 
where its provisions are intended specifically to 
give effect to an international agreement con-
cluded by the Community (see, in particular, 
Case C341/95 Bettati [1998] ECR I4355, para-
graph 20 and the case-law cited). 

36. It follows from the 23rd recital in the pream-
ble to Directive 2001/29 that’communication 
to the public’ must be interpreted broadly. 
Such an interpretation is moreover essential 
to achieve the principal objective of that direc-
tive, which, as can be seen from its ninth and 
tenth recitals, is to establish a high level of pro-
tection of, inter alios, authors, allowing them 
to obtain an appropriate reward for the use 
of their works, in particular on the occasion of 
communication to the public. 

37. The Court has held that, in the context of this 
concept, the term’public’ refers to an indeter-
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minate number of potential television viewers 
(Case C89/04 Mediakabel [2005] ECR I4891, 
paragraph 30, and Case C-192/04 Lagardère 
Active Broadcast [2005] ECR I7199, paragraph 
31). 

38. In a context such as that in the main proceed-
ings, a general approach is required, making it 
necessary to take into account not only cus-
tomers in hotel rooms, such customers alone 
being explicitly mentioned in the questions 
referred for a preliminary ruling, but also cus-
tomers who are present in any other area of the 
hotel and able to make use of a television set 
installed there. It is also necessary to take into 
account the fact that, usually, hotel customers 
quickly succeed each other. As a general rule, 
a fairly large number of persons are involved, 
so that they may be considered to be a public, 
having regard to the principal objective of Di-
rective 2001/29, as referred to in paragraph 36 
of this judgment. 

39. In view, moreover, of the cumulative effects of 
making the works available to such potential 
television viewers, the latter act could become 
very significant in such a context. It matters lit-
tle, accordingly, that the only recipients are the 
occupants of rooms and that, taken separately, 
they are of limited economic interest for the 
hotel. 

40. It should also be pointed out that a commu-
nication made in circumstances such as those 
in the main proceedings constitutes, according 
to Article 11bis(1)(ii) of the Berne Convention, 
a communication made by a broadcasting or-
ganisation other than the original one. Thus, 
such a transmission is made to a public differ-
ent from the public at which the original act of 
communication of the work is directed, that is, 
to a new public. 

41. As is explained in the Guide to the Berne Con-
vention, an interpretative document drawn 
up by the WIPO which, without being legally 
binding, nevertheless assists in interpreting 
that Convention, when the author authorises 
the broadcast of his work, he considers only 
direct users, that is, the owners of reception 
equipment who, either personally or within 
their own private or family circles, receive the 
programme. According to the Guide, if recep-
tion is for a larger audience, possibly for profit, 
a new section of the receiving public hears or 
sees the work and the communication of the 
programme via a loudspeaker or analogous 
instrument no longer constitutes simple re-

ception of the programme itself but is an in-
dependent act through which the broadcast 
work is communicated to a new public. As the 
Guide makes clear, such public reception falls 
within the scope of the author’s exclusive au-
thorisation right. 

42. The clientele of a hotel forms such a new pub-
lic. The transmission of the broadcast work to 
that clientele using television sets is not just a 
technical means to ensure or improve recep-
tion of the original broadcast in the catchment 
area. On the contrary, the hotel is the organi-
sation which intervenes, in full knowledge of 
the consequences of its action, to give access 
to the protected work to its customers. In the 
absence of that intervention, its customers, al-
though physically within that area, would not, 
in principle, be able to enjoy the broadcast 
work. 

43. It follows from Article 3(1) of Directive 2001/29 
and Article 8 of the WIPO Copyright Treaty that 
for there to be communication to the public 
it is sufficient that the work is made available 
to the public in such a way that the persons 
forming that public may access it. Therefore, 
it is not decisive, contrary to the submissions 
of Rafael and Ireland, that customers who have 
not switched on the television have not actu-
ally had access to the works. 

44. Moreover, it is apparent from the documents 
submitted to the Court that the action by the 
hotel by which it gives access to the broadcast 
work to its customers must be considered an 
additional service performed with the aim of 
obtaining some benefit. It cannot be seriously 
disputed that the provision of that service has 
an influence on the hotel’s standing and, there-
fore, on the price of rooms. Therefore, even tak-
ing the view, as does the Commission of the 
European Communities, that the pursuit of 
profit is not a necessary condition for the exist-
ence of a communication to the public, it is in 
any event established that the communication 
is of a profit-making nature in circumstances 
such as those in the main proceedings. 

45. With reference to the question whether the 
installation of television sets in hotel rooms 
constitutes, in itself, a communication to the 
public within the meaning of Article 3(1) of Di-
rective 2001/29, it should be pointed out that 
the 27th recital in the preamble to that direc-
tive states, in accordance with Article 8 of the 
WIPO Copyright Treaty, that’[t]he mere provi-
sion of physical facilities for enabling or making 
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a communication does not in itself amount to 
communication within the meaning of [that] 
Directive.’ 

46. While the mere provision of physical facilities, 
usually involving, besides the hotel, companies 
specialising in the sale or hire of television sets, 
does not constitute, as such, a communication 
within the meaning of Directive 2001/29, the 
installation of such facilities may nevertheless 
make public access to broadcast works tech-
nically possible. Therefore, if, by means of tel-
evision sets thus installed, the hotel distributes 
the signal to customers staying in its rooms, 
then communication to the public takes place, 
irrespective of the technique used to transmit 
the signal. 

47. Consequently, the answer to the first and sec-
ond questions is that, while the mere provision 
of physical facilities does not as such amount 
to a communication within the meaning of Di-
rective 2001/29, the distribution of a signal by 
means of television sets by a hotel to custom-
ers staying in its rooms, whatever technique is 
used to transmit the signal, constitutes com-
munication to the public within the meaning 
of Article 3(1) of that directive. 

Thesecondquestion
48. By its second question, the referring court asks, 

essentially, whether the private nature of hotel 
rooms precludes the communication of a work 
to those rooms by means of television sets 
from constituting communication to the pub-
lic within the meaning of Article 3(1) of Direc-
tive 2001/29. 

49. In that respect, Ireland submits that communi-
cation or making available of works in the pri-
vate context of hotel rooms should be distin-
guished from the same acts which take place in 
public areas of the hotel. This argument cannot 
however be accepted. 

50. It is apparent from both the letter and the spirit 
of Article 3(1) of Directive 2001/29 and Article 8 
of the WIPO Copyright Treaty – both of which 
require authorisation by the author not for re-
transmissions in a public place or one which 
is open to the public but for communications 
by which the work is made accessible to the 
public – that the private or public nature of the 
place where the communication takes place is 
immaterial. 

51. Moreover, according to the provisions of Direc-
tive 2001/29 and of the WIPO Copyright Treaty, 

the right of communication to the public cov-
ers the making available to the public of works 
in such a way that they may access them from 
a place and at a time individually chosen by 
them. That right of making available to the 
public and, therefore, of communication to the 
public would clearly be meaningless if it did 
not also cover communications carried out in 
private places. 

52. In support of the argument concerning the pri-
vate nature of hotel rooms, Ireland also invokes 
the European Convention for the Protection 
of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, 
signed in Rome on 4 November 1950 (‘the 
ECHR’), and in particular its Article 8, which 
prohibits any arbitrary or disproportionate in-
terference by a public authority in the sphere 
of private activity. However, this argument can-
not be accepted either. 

53. In that respect, it should be pointed out that 
Ireland does not make clear who, in a context 
such as that of the main proceedings, would 
be the victim of such an arbitrary or dispropor-
tionate intervention. Ireland can hardly have 
in mind the customers who benefit from the 
signal which they receive and who are under 
no obligation to pay the authors. Nor can the 
victim be the hotel since, even though it must 
be concluded that the hotel is obliged to make 
such payment, it cannot claim to be a victim 
of an infringement of Article 8 of the ECHR in 
so far as the rooms, once made available to its 
customers, cannot be considered as coming 
within its private sphere. 

54. Having regard to all of the foregoing consid-
erations, the answer to the second question 
is that the private nature of hotel rooms does 
not preclude the communication of a work 
by means of television sets from constituting 
communication to the public within the mean-
ing of Article 3(1) of Directive 2001/29. 

Costs
55. Since these proceedings are, for the parties 

to the main proceedings, a step in the action 
pending before the national court, the deci-
sion on costs is a matter for that court. Costs in-
curred in submitting observations to the Court, 
other than the costs of those parties, are not 
recoverable. 

On those grounds, the Court (Third Chamber) here-
by rules:
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1. While the mere provision of physical facilities 
does not as such amount to communication 
within the meaning of Directive 2001/29/EC 
of the European Parliament and of the Council 
of 22 May 2001 on the harmonisation of copy-
right and related rights in the information so-
ciety, the distribution of a signal by means of 
television sets by a hotel to customers staying 
in its rooms, whatever technique is used to 
transmit the signal, constitutes communica-
tion to the public within the meaning of Arti-
cle 3(1) of that directive. 

2. The private nature of hotel rooms does not 
preclude the communication of a work by 
means of television sets from constitut-
ing communication to the public within the 
meaning of Article 3(1) of Directive 2001/29.

[Signatures]
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SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

1. To accept the interpretation of Articles 60 EC 
and 301 EC that it is enough for the restrictive 
measures laid down by Resolution 1390 (2002) 
of the United Nations Security Council and giv-
en effect by Regulation No 881/2002 imposing 
certain specific restrictive measures directed 
against certain persons and entities associated 
with Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network 
and the Taliban to be directed at persons or 
entities present in a third country or associ-
ated with one in some other way, would give 
those provisions an excessively broad mean-
ing and would fail to take any account at all of 
the requirement, imposed by their very word-
ing, that the measures decided on the basis of 
those provisions must be taken against third 
countries. 

Interpreting Article 301 EC as building a proce-
dural bridge between the Community and the 
European Union, so that it must be construed 
as broadly as the relevant Community compe-
tences, including those relating to the com-
mon commercial policy and the free move-
ment of capital, threatens to reduce the ambit 
and, therefore, the practical effect of that pro-
vision, for, having regard to its actual wording, 
the subject of that provision is the adoption 
of potentially very diverse measures affecting 
economic relations with third countries which, 
therefore, by necessary inference, must not be 
limited to spheres falling within other material 
powers of the Community such as those in the 
domain of the common commercial policy or 
of the free movement of capital. Moreover, that 
interpretation finds no support in the wording 
of Article 301 EC, which confers a material com-
petence on the Community the scope of which 
is, in theory, autonomous in relation to that of 
other Community competences. 

Having regard to the purpose and subject-mat-
ter of that regulation, it cannot be considered 
that the regulation relates specifically to inter-
national trade in that it is essentially intended 
to promote, facilitate or govern trade, and it 
could not, therefore, be based on the powers of 
the Community in the sphere of the common 
commercial policy. A Community measure falls 
within the competence in the field of the com-
mon commercial policy provided for in Article 
133 EC only if it relates specifically to interna-
tional trade in that it is essentially intended 
to promote, facilitate or govern trade and has 
direct and immediate effects on trade in the 

products concerned. Nor can that regulation 
be regarded as falling within the ambit of the 
provisions of the EC Treaty on free movement 
of capital and payments, in so far as it prohibits 
the transfer of economic resources to individu-
als in third countries. With regard, first of all, 
to Article 57(2) EC, the restrictive measures at 
issue do not fall within one of the categories 
of measures listed in that provision. Next, so far 
as Article 60(1) EC is concerned, that provision 
cannot furnish the basis for the regulation in 
question either, for its ambit is determined by 
that of Article 301 EC. As regards, finally, Article 
60(2) EC, this provision does not include any 
Community competence to that end, given 
that it does no more than enable the Member 
States to take, on certain exceptional grounds, 
unilateral measures against a third country 
with regard to capital movements and pay-
ments, subject to the power of the Council to 
require a Member State to amend or abolish 
such measures. (see paras 168, 176-178, 183, 
185, 187-191, 193)

2. The view that Article 308 EC allows, in the spe-
cial context of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, the 
adoption of Community measures concerning 
not one of the objectives of the Community 
but one of the objectives under the EU Treaty 
in the sphere of external relations, including 
the common foreign and security policy (the 
CFSP), runs counter to the very wording of Ar-
ticle 308 EC. 

While it is correct to consider that a bridge has 
been constructed between the actions of the 
Community involving economic measures un-
der Articles 60 EC and 301 EC and the objec-
tives of the EU Treaty in the sphere of external 
relations, including the CFSP, neither the word-
ing of the provisions of the EC Treaty nor the 
structure of the latter provides any foundation 
for the view that that bridge extends to other 
provisions of the EC Treaty, in particular to Ar-
ticle 308 EC 

Recourse to Article 308 EC demands that the 
action envisaged should, on the one hand, re-
late to the’operation of the common market’ 
and, on the other, be intended to attain’one of 
the objectives of the Community’. That latter 
concept, having regard to its clear and precise 
wording, cannot on any view be regarded as 
including the objectives of the CFSP. 

The coexistence of the Union and the Com-
munity as integrated but separate legal orders, 
and the constitutional architecture of the pil-
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lars, as intended by the framers of the Treaties 
now in force, constitute considerations of an 
institutional kind militating against any exten-
sion of that bridge to articles of the EC Treaty 
other than those with which it explicitly creates 
a link. 

In addition, Article 308 EC, being an integral 
part of an institutional system based on the 
principle of conferred powers, cannot serve as 
a basis for widening the scope of Community 
powers beyond the general framework created 
by the provisions of the EC Treaty as a whole 
and, in particular, by those defining the tasks 
and the activities of the Community. 

Likewise, Article 3 EU, in particular its second 
paragraph, cannot supply a base for any wid-
ening of Community powers beyond the ob-
jects of the Community. (see paras 197-204)

3. Article 308 EC is designed to fill the gap where 
no specific provisions of the Treaty confer on 
the Community institutions express or implied 
powers to act, if such powers appear none the 
less to be necessary to enable the Community 
to carry out its functions with a view to attain-
ing one of the objectives laid down by the 
Treaty. 

Regulation No 881/2002 imposing certain 
specific restrictive measures directed against 
certain persons and entities associated with 
Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and 
the Taliban, inasmuch as it imposes restrictive 
measures of an economic and financial nature, 
plainly falls within the ambit ratione materiae 
of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC. Since those arti-
cles do not, however, provide for any express 
or implied powers of action to impose such 
measures on addressees in no way linked to 
the governing regime of a third country such 
as those to whom that regulation applies, that 
lack of power, attributable to the limited ambit 
ratione personae of those provisions, may be 
made good by having recourse to Article 308 
EC as a legal basis for that regulation in ad-
dition to the first two provisions providing a 
foundation for that measure from the point of 
view of its material scope, provided, however, 
that the other conditions to which the appli-
cability of Article 308 EC is subject have been 
satisfied. 

The objective pursued by the contested regu-
lation being to prevent persons associated 
with Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network 
or the Taliban from having at their disposal any 
financial or economic resources, in order to im-

pede the financing of terrorist activities, it may 
be made to refer to one of the objectives of the 
Community for the purpose of Article 308 EC. 
Inasmuch as they provide for Community pow-
ers to impose restrictive measures of an eco-
nomic nature in order to implement actions 
decided on under the common foreign and 
security policy, Articles 60 EC and 301 EC are 
the expression of an implicit underlying objec-
tive, namely, that of making it possible to adopt 
such measures through the efficient use of a 
Community instrument. That objective may 
be regarded as constituting an objective of the 
Community for the purpose of Article 308 EC. 

Implementing such measures through the 
use of a Community instrument does not go 
beyond the general framework created by the 
provisions of the EC Treaty as a whole, because 
by their very nature they offer a link to the op-
eration of the common market, that link consti-
tuting another condition for the application of 
Article 308 EC. If economic and financial meas-
ures such as those imposed by the regulation 
were imposed unilaterally by every Member 
State, the multiplication of those national 
measures might well affect the operation of 
the common market. (see paras 211, 213, 216, 
222, 225-227, 229-230)

4. The Community is based on the rule of law, 
inasmuch as neither its Member States nor its 
institutions can avoid review of the conform-
ity of their acts with the basic constitutional 
charter, the Treaty, which established a com-
plete system of legal remedies and procedures 
designed to enable the Court of Justice to re-
view the legality of acts of the institutions. An 
international agreement cannot affect the allo-
cation of powers fixed by the Treaties or, con-
sequently, the autonomy of the Community 
legal system, observance of which is ensured 
by the Court by virtue of the exclusive jurisdic-
tion conferred on it by Article 220 EC, jurisdic-
tion that forms part of the very foundations of 
the Community. 

With regard to a Community act which, like 
Regulation No 881/2002 imposing certain 
specific restrictive measures directed against 
certain persons and entities associated with 
Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and 
the Taliban, is intended to give effect to a reso-
lution adopted by the Security Council under 
Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Na-
tions, it is not for the Community judicature, 
under the exclusive jurisdiction provided for 
by Article 220 EC, to review the lawfulness of 
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such a resolution adopted by an international 
body, even if that review were to be limited to 
examination of the compatibility of that resolu-
tion with jus cogens, but rather to review the 
lawfulness of the implementing Community 
measure. 

Any judgment given by the Community judi-
cature deciding that a Community measure 
intended to give effect to such a resolution is 
contrary to a higher rule of law in the Commu-
nity legal order would not entail any challenge 
to the primacy of that resolution in internation-
al law. (see paras 281-282, 286-288)

5. Fundamental rights form an integral part of the 
general principles of law whose observance 
the Court ensures. For that purpose, the Court 
draws inspiration from the constitutional tradi-
tions common to the Member States and from 
the guidelines supplied by international instru-
ments for the protection of human rights on 
which the Member States have collaborated 
or to which they are signatories. In that regard, 
the European Convention for the Protection of 
Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms has 
special significance. Respect for human rights 
is therefore a condition of the lawfulness of 
Community acts, and measures incompatible 
with respect for human rights are not accept-
able in the Community. 

The obligations imposed by an international 
agreement cannot have the effect of prejudic-
ing the constitutional principles of the EC Trea-
ty, which include the principle that all Com-
munity acts must respect fundamental rights, 
that respect constituting a condition of their 
lawfulness which it is for the Court to review in 
the framework of the complete system of legal 
remedies established by the Treaty. 

It is not a consequence of the principles gov-
erning the international legal order under 
the United Nations that any judicial review of 
the internal lawfulness of the Regulation No 
881/2002 imposing certain specific restrictive 
measures directed against certain persons and 
entities associated with Usama bin Laden, the 
Al-Qaeda network and the Taliban in the light 
of fundamental freedoms is excluded by vir-
tue of the fact that that measure is intended 
to give effect to a resolution of the Security 
Council adopted under Chapter VII of the Char-
ter of the United Nations. Such immunity from 
jurisdiction for a Community measure, as a 
corollary of the principle of the primacy at the 
level of international law of obligations under 

the Charter of the United Nations, especially 
those relating to the implementation of reso-
lutions of the Security Council adopted under 
Chapter VII of that Charter, cannot find a basis 
in the EC Treaty. Article 307 EC may in no cir-
cumstances permit any challenge to the prin-
ciples that form part of the very foundations of 
the Community legal order, which include the 
principles of liberty, democracy and respect for 
human rights and fundamental freedoms en-
shrined in Article 6(1) EU as a foundation of the 
Union. If Article 300(7) EC, providing that agree-
ments concluded under the conditions set out 
therein are to be binding on the institutions of 
the Community and on Member States, were 
applicable to the Charter of the United Nations, 
it would confer on the latter primacy over acts 
of secondary Community law. That primacy at 
the level of Community law would not, how-
ever, extend to primary law, in particular to the 
general principles of which fundamental rights 
form part. 

The Community judicature must, therefore, in 
accordance with the powers conferred on it by 
the EC Treaty, ensure the review, in principle 
the full review, of the lawfulness of all Com-
munity acts in the light of the fundamental 
rights forming an integral part of the general 
principles of Community law, including review 
of Community measures which, like the regula-
tion at issue, are designed to give effect to the 
resolutions adopted by the Security Council 
under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United 
Nations. (see paras 283-285, 299, 303-304, 306-
308, 326)

6. The Community must respect international 
law in the exercise of its powers and a measure 
adopted by virtue of those powers must be in-
terpreted, and its scope limited, in the light of 
the relevant rules of international law. 

In the exercise of its power to adopt Commu-
nity measures taken on the basis of Articles 
60 EC and 301 EC, in order to give effect to 
resolutions adopted by the Security Council 
under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United 
Nations, the Community must attach special 
importance to the fact that, in accordance with 
Article 24 of the Charter of the United Nations, 
the adoption by the Security Council of resolu-
tions under Chapter VII of the Charter consti-
tutes the exercise of the primary responsibility 
with which that international body is invested 
for the maintenance of peace and security at 
the global level, a responsibility which, under 
Chapter VII, includes the power to determine 
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what and who poses a threat to international 
peace and security and to take the measures 
necessary to maintain or restore them. 

The Charter of the United Nations does not, 
however, impose the choice of a predeter-
mined model for the implementation of reso-
lutions adopted by the Security Council under 
Chapter VII, since they are to be given effect in 
accordance with the procedure applicable in 
that respect in the domestic legal order of each 
Member of the United Nations. The Charter of 
the United Nations leaves the Members of the 
United Nations a free choice among the vari-
ous possible models for transposition of those 
resolutions into their domestic legal order. (see 
paras 291, 293-294, 298)

7. So far as concerns the rights of the defence, 
in particular the right to be heard, with regard 
to restrictive measures such as those imposed 
by Regulation No 881/2002 imposing certain 
specific restrictive measures directed against 
certain persons and entities associated with 
Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and 
the Taliban, the Community authorities cannot 
be required to communicate, before the name 
of a person or entity is included for the first 
time in the list of persons or entities concerned 
by those measures, the grounds on which that 
inclusion is based. Such prior communication 
would be liable to jeopardise the effectiveness 
of the freezing of funds and resources imposed 
by that regulation. Nor, for reasons also con-
nected to the objective pursued by that regu-
lation and to the effectiveness of the measures 
provided by the latter, were the Community 
authorities bound to hear the appellants be-
fore their names were included for the first 
time in the list set out in Annex I to that regula-
tion. In addition, with regard to a Community 
measure intended to give effect to a resolution 
adopted by the Security Council in connec-
tion with the fight against terrorism, overriding 
considerations to do with safety or the conduct 
of the international relations of the Community 
and of its Member States may militate against 
the communication of certain matters to the 
persons concerned and, therefore, against 
their being heard on those matters. 

Nevertheless, the rights of the defence, in par-
ticular the right to be heard, were patently not 
respected, for neither the regulation at issue 
nor Common Position 2002/402 concerning 
restrictive measures against Usama bin Laden, 
members of the Al-Qaeda organisation and the 
Taliban and other individuals, groups, under-

takings and entities associated with them, to 
which that regulation refers, provides for a pro-
cedure for communicating the evidence justi-
fying the inclusion of the names of the persons 
concerned in Annex I to that regulation and for 
hearing those persons, either at the same time 
as that inclusion or later and, furthermore, the 
Council neither communicated to the appel-
lants the evidence used against them to jus-
tify the restrictive measures imposed on them 
nor afforded them the right to be informed of 
that evidence within a reasonable period after 
those measures were enacted. (see paras 334, 
338-339, 341-342, 345, 348)

8. The principle of effective judicial protection is a 
general principle of Community law stemming 
from the constitutional traditions common to 
the Member States, which has been enshrined 
in Articles 6 and 13 of the European Conven-
tion on Human Rights, this principle having fur-
thermore been reaffirmed by Article 47 of the 
Charter of fundamental rights of the European 
Union. 

Observance of the obligation to communicate 
the grounds on which the name of a person or 
entity is included in the list forming Annex I to 
Regulation No 881/2002 imposing certain spe-
cific restrictive measures directed against cer-
tain persons and entities associated with Usa-
ma bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and the 
Taliban is necessary both to enable the persons 
to whom restrictive measures are addressed to 
defend their rights in the best possible con-
ditions and to decide, with full knowledge of 
the relevant facts, whether there is any point 
in their applying to the Community judicature 
and also to put the latter fully in a position in 
which it may carry out the review of the law-
fulness of the Community measure in question 
which is its duty under the EC Treaty. 

Given that those persons or entities were not 
informed of the evidence adduced against 
them and having regard to the relationship be-
tween the rights of the defence and the right 
to an effective legal remedy, they have also 
been unable to defend their rights with regard 
to that evidence in satisfactory conditions be-
fore the Community judicature and the latter is 
not able to undertake the review of the lawful-
ness of that regulation in so far as it concerns 
those persons or entities, with the result that it 
must be held that their right to an effective le-
gal remedy has also been infringed. (see paras 
335-337, 349, 351)
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9. The importance of the aims pursued by a Com-
munity act is such as to justify negative con-
sequences, even of a substantial nature, for 
some operators, including those who are in no 
way responsible for the situation which led to 
the adoption of the measures in question, but 
who find themselves affected, particularly as 
regards their property rights. 

With reference to an objective of public inter-
est as fundamental to the international com-
munity as the fight by all means, in accordance 
with the Charter of the United Nations, against 
the threats to international peace and security 
posed by acts of terrorism, the freezing of the 
funds, financial assets and other economic 
resources of the persons identified by the Se-
curity Council or the Sanctions Committee as 
being associated with Usama bin Laden, mem-
bers of the Al-Qaeda organisation and the 
Taliban cannot per se be regarded as inappro-
priate or disproportionate. In this respect, the 
restrictive measures imposed by Regulation No 
881/2002 imposing certain specific restrictive 
measures directed against certain persons and 
entities associated with Usama bin Laden, the 
Al-Qaeda network and the Taliban constitute 
restrictions of the right to property which may, 
in principle, be justified. 

The applicable procedures must, however, af-
ford the person or entity concerned a reasona-
ble opportunity of putting his or its case to the 
competent authorities, as required by Article 1 
of Protocol No 1 to the European Convention 
on Human Rights. 

Thus, the imposition of the restrictive measures 
laid down by that regulation in respect of a per-
son or entity, by including him or it in the list 
contained in its Annex I, constitutes an unjusti-
fied restriction of the right to property, for that 
regulation was adopted without furnishing any 
guarantee enabling that person or entity to put 
his or its case to the competent authorities, in 
a situation in which the restriction of property 
rights must be regarded as significant, having 
regard to the general application and actual 
continuation of the restrictive measures affect-
ing him or it. (see paras 361, 363, 366, 368-370)

10. In so far as a regulation such as Regulation No 
881/2002 imposing certain specific restrictive 
measures directed against certain persons and 
entities associated with Usama bin Laden, the 
Al-Qaeda network and the Taliban must be 
annulled so far as concerns the appellants, by 
reason of breach of principles applicable in the 

procedure followed when the restrictive meas-
ures introduced by that regulation were adopt-
ed, it cannot be excluded that, on the merits 
of the case, the imposition of those measures 
on the appellants may for all that prove to be 
justified. 

Annulment of that regulation with immediate 
effect would thus be capable of seriously and 
irreversibly prejudicing the effectiveness of the 
restrictive measures imposed by the regula-
tion and which the Community is required to 
implement, because in the interval preceding 
its replacement by a new regulation the ap-
pellants might take steps seeking to prevent 
measures freezing funds from being applied 
to them again. In those circumstances, Article 
231 EC will be correctly applied in maintaining 
the effects of the contested regulation, so far as 
concerns the appellants, for a period that may 
not exceed three months running from the 
date of delivery of this judgment. (see paras 
373-374, 376)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (GRAND 
CHAMBER)

3 September 200814 

(Common foreign and security policy (CFSP) – Re-
strictive measures taken against persons and enti-
ties associated with Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda 
network and the Taliban – United Nations – Secu-
rity Council – Resolutions adopted under Chapter 
VII of the Charter of the United Nations – Imple-
mentation in the Community – Common Position 
2002/402/CFSP – Regulation (EC) No 881/2002 
Measures against persons and entities included in 
a list drawn up by a body of the United Nations – 
Freezing of funds and economic resources – Com-
mittee of the Security Council created by paragraph 
6 of Resolution 1267 (1999) of the Security Council 
(Sanctions Committee) – Inclusion of those per-
sons and entities in Annex I to Regulation (EC) No 
881/2002 – Actions for annulment – Competence 
of the Community – Joint legal basis of Articles 60 
EC, 301 EC and 308 EC – Fundamental rights – Right 
to respect for property, right to be heard and right 
to effective judicial review) 

In Joined Cases C-402/05 P and C-415/05 P,

TWO APPEALS under Article 56 of the Statute of the 
Court of Justice, lodged on 17 and 21 November 
2005, respectively,

14 Languages of the case: English and Swedish.
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Yassin Abdullah Kadi, residing in Jeddah (Saudi Ara-
bia), represented by I. Brownlie QC, D. Anderson QC 
and P. Saini, Barrister, instructed by G. Martin, Solici-
tor, with an address for service in Luxembourg, 

Al Barakaat International Foundation, established in 
Spånga (Sweden), represented by L. Silbersky and T. 
Olsson, advokater, appellants,

the other parties to the proceedings being: Council 
of the European Union, represented by M. Bishop, 
E. Finnegan and E. Karlsson, acting as Agents, de-
fendant at first instance, supported by Kingdom 
of Spain, represented by J. Rodríguez Cárcamo, 
acting as Agent, with an address for service in Lux-
embourg, French Republic, represented by G. de 
Bergues, E. Belliard and S. Gasri, acting as Agents, 
Kingdom of the Netherlands, represented by H.G. 
Sevenster and M. de Mol, acting as Agents, inter-
veners on appeal, Commission of the European 
Communities, represented by C. Brown, J. Enegren 
and P.J. Kuijper, acting as Agents, with an address 
for service in Luxembourg, defendant at first in-
stance, supported by: French Republic, represented 
by G. de Bergues, E. Belliard and S. Gasri, acting as 
Agents, intervener on appeal, United Kingdom of 
Great Britain and Northern Ireland, represented by 
R. Caudwell, E. Jenkinson and S. Behzadi-Spencer, 
acting as Agents, assisted by C. Greenwood QC and 
A. Dashwood, Barrister, with an address for service 
in Luxembourg, intervener at first instance, 

THE COURT (Grand Chamber), composed of: V. Sk-
ouris, President, C.W.A. Timmemans (Rapporteur), 
A. Rosas and K. Lenaerts, Presidents of Chambers, 
J.N. Cunha Rodrigues, R. Silva de Lapuerta, K. Schie-
mann, J. Makarczyk, P. Kūris, P. Lindh, J.-C. Bonichot, 
T. von Danwitz and A. Arabadjiev, Judges, Advocate 
General: M. Poiares Maduro, Registrar: J. Sweden-
borg, Administrator,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 2 October 2007, after hearing the 
Opinion of the Advocate General at the sitting on 
16 January 2008 (C402/05 P) and 23 January 2008 
(C415/05 P), gives the following Judgment

1. By their appeals, Mr Kadi (C-402/05 P) and 
Al Barakaat International Foundation (‘Al 
Barakaat’) (C-415/05 P) seek to have set aside 
the judgments of the Court of First Instance 
of the European Communities of 21 Septem-
ber 2005 in Case T315/01 Kadi v Council and 
Commission [2005] ECR II3649 (‘Kadi’) and 
Case T306/01 Yusuf and Al Barakaat Interna-
tional Foundation v Council and Commission 
[2005] ECR II3533 (‘Yusuf and Al Barakaat’) 
(together,’the judgments under appeal’). 

2. By those judgments the Court of First Instance 
rejected the actions brought by Mr Kadi and 
Al Barakaat against Council Regulation (EC) 
No 881/2002 of 27 May 2002 imposing certain 
specific restrictive measures directed against 
certain persons and entities associated with 
Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and 
the Taliban, and repealing Council Regula-
tion (EC) No 467/2001 prohibiting the export 
of certain goods and services to Afghanistan, 
strengthening the flight ban and extending 
the freeze of funds and other financial resourc-
es in respect of the Taliban of Afghanistan (OJ 
2002 L 139, p. 9,’the contested regulation’), in 
so far as that act relates to them. 

Legal context
3. Under Article 1(1) and (3) of the Charter of the 

United Nations, signed at San Francisco (Unit-
ed States of America) on 26 June 1945, the 
purposes of the United Nations are inter alia’[t]
o maintain international peace and security’ 
and’[t]o achieve international cooperation in 
solving international problems of an economic, 
social, cultural, or humanitarian character, and 
in promoting and encouraging respect for hu-
man rights and for fundamental freedoms for 
all without distinction as to race, sex, language, 
or religion’. 

4. Under Article 24(1) and (2) of the Charter of the 
United Nations: 
‘1.Inordertoensurepromptandeffectiveac-
tionbytheUnitedNations,itsMembersconfer
ontheSecurityCouncilprimaryresponsibility
for the maintenance of international peace
and security, and agree that in carrying out
itsdutiesunderthisresponsibilitytheSecurity
Councilactsontheirbehalf.

2. In discharging these duties the Security
Council shallact inaccordancewith thePur-
poses and Principles of the United Nations.
The specific powers granted to the Security
Council for thedischargeof theseduties are
laiddowninChaptersVI,VII,VIII,andXII.’

5. Article 25 of the Charter of the United Nations 
provides that’[t]he Members of the United Na-
tions agree to accept and carry out the deci-
sions of the Security Council in accordance 
with the present Charter’. 

6. Articles 39, 41 and 48 of the Charter of the 
United Nations form part of Chapter VII there-
of, headed’Action with respect to threats to 
the peace, breaches of the peace, and acts of 
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aggression’. 

7. In accordance with Article 39 of the Charter of 
the United Nations: 
‘TheSecurityCouncil shalldetermine theex-
istenceofany threat to thepeace,breachof
thepeace,oractofaggressionandshallmake
recommendations, or decidewhatmeasures
shallbe taken inaccordancewithArticles41
and 42, to maintain or restore international
peaceandsecurity.’

8. Article 41 of the Charter of the United Nations 
is worded as follows: 
‘TheSecurityCouncilmaydecidewhatmeas-
uresnotinvolvingtheuseofarmedforceare
tobeemployedtogiveeffecttoitsdecisions,
anditmaycallupontheMembersoftheUnit-
edNationstoapplysuchmeasures.Thesemay
include complete or partial interruption of
economicrelationsandofrail,sea,air,postal,
telegraphic, radio, and othermeans of com-
munication, and the severanceofdiplomatic
relations.’

9. By virtue of Article 48(2) of the Charter of the 
United Nations, the decisions of the Security 
Council for the maintenance of international 
peace and security’shall be carried out by the 
Members of the United Nations directly and 
through their action in the appropriate inter-
national agencies of which they are members’. 

10. Article 103 of the Charter of the United Na-
tions states that’[i]n the event of a conflict be-
tween the obligations of the Members of the 
United Nations under the present Charter and 
their obligations under any other international 
agreement, their obligations under the present 
Charter shall prevail’. 

Background to the disputes
11. The background to the disputes has been set 

out in paragraphs 10 to 36 of Kadi and in para-
graphs 10 to 41 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat. 

12. For the purposes of this judgment it may be 
summarised as follows. 

13. On 15 October 1999 the Security Council 
adopted Resolution 1267 (1999), in which it, 
inter alia, condemned the fact that Afghan ter-
ritory continued to be used for the sheltering 
and training of terrorists and planning of ter-
rorist acts, reaffirmed its conviction that the 
suppression of international terrorism was es-
sential for the maintenance of international 
peace and security and deplored the fact that 

the Taliban continued to provide safe haven to 
Usama bin Laden and to allow him and others 
associated with him to operate a network of 
terrorist training camps from territory held by 
the Taliban and to use Afghanistan as a base 
from which to sponsor international terrorist 
operations. 

14. In the second paragraph of the resolution 
the Security Council demanded that the Tali-
ban should without further delay turn Usama 
bin Laden over to appropriate authorities in 
a country where he has been indicted, or to 
appropriate authorities in a country where he 
will be arrested and effectively brought to jus-
tice. In order to ensure compliance with that 
demand, paragraph 4(b) of Resolution 1267 
(1999) provides that all the States must, in 
particular,’freeze funds and other financial re-
sources, including funds derived or generated 
from property owned or controlled directly or 
indirectly by the Taliban, or by any undertaking 
owned or controlled by the Taliban, as desig-
nated by the Committee established by para-
graph 6 below, and ensure that neither they 
nor any other funds or financial resources so 
designated are made available, by their nation-
als or by any persons within their territory, to or 
for the benefit of the Taliban or any undertak-
ing owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, 
by the Taliban, except as may be authorised by 
the Committee on a case-by-case basis on the 
grounds of humanitarian need’. 

15. In paragraph 6 of Resolution 1267 (1999), the 
Security Council decided to establish, in ac-
cordance with rule 28 of its provisional rules of 
procedure, a committee of the Security Coun-
cil composed of all its members (‘the Sanctions 
Committee’), responsible in particular for en-
suring that the States implement the meas-
ures imposed by paragraph 4, designating the 
funds or other financial resources referred to 
in paragraph 4 and considering requests for 
exemptions from the measures imposed by 
paragraph 4. 

16. Taking the view that action by the Community 
was necessary in order to implement Resolu-
tion 1267 (1999), on 15 November 1999 the 
Council adopted Common Position 1999/727/
CFSP concerning restrictive measures against 
the Taliban (OJ 1999 L 294, p. 1). 

17. Article 2 of that Common Position prescribes 
the freezing of funds and other financial re-
sources held abroad by the Taliban under the 
conditions set out in Security Council Resolu-
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tion 1267 (1999). 

18. On 14 February 2000, on the basis of Articles 60 
EC and 301 EC, the Council adopted Regulation 
(EC) No 337/2000 concerning a flight ban and a 
freeze of funds and other financial resources in 
respect of the Taliban of Afghanistan (OJ 2000 
L 43, p. 1). 

19. On 19 December 2000 the Security Council 
adopted Resolution 1333 (2000), demanding, 
inter alia, that the Taliban should comply with 
Resolution 1267 (1999), and, in particular, that 
they should cease to provide sanctuary and 
training for international terrorists and their 
organisations and turn Usama bin Laden over 
to appropriate authorities to be brought to jus-
tice. The Security Council decided, in particular, 
to strengthen the flight ban and freezing of 
funds imposed under Resolution 1267 (1999). 

20. Accordingly, paragraph 8(c) of Resolution 1333 
(2000) provides that the States are, inter alia,’[t]
o freeze without delay funds and other finan-
cial assets of Usama bin Laden and individuals 
and entities associated with him as designated 
by the [Sanctions Committee], including those 
in the Al-Qaeda organisation, and including 
funds derived or generated from property 
owned or controlled directly or indirectly by 
Usama bin Laden and individuals and entities 
associated with him, and to ensure that neither 
they nor any other funds or financial resources 
are made available, by their nationals or by any 
persons within their territory, directly or indi-
rectly for the benefit of Usama bin Laden, his 
associates or any entities owned or controlled, 
directly or indirectly, by Usama bin Laden or 
individuals and entities associated with him 
including the Al-Qaeda organisation’. 

21. In the same provision, the Security Council in-
structed the Sanctions Committee to maintain 
an updated list, based on information provided 
by the States and regional organisations, of the 
individuals and entities designated as associ-
ated with Usama bin Laden, including those in 
the Al-Qaeda organisation. 

22. In paragraph 23 of Resolution 1333 (2000), the 
Security Council decided that the measures 
imposed, inter alia, by paragraph 8 were to 
be established for 12 months and that, at the 
end of that period, it would decide whether to 
extend them for a further period on the same 
conditions. 

23. Taking the view that action by the European 
Community was necessary in order to imple-

ment that resolution, on 26 February 2001 the 
Council adopted Common Position 2001/154/
CFSP concerning additional restrictive meas-
ures against the Taliban and amending Com-
mon Position 96/746/CFSP (OJ 2001 L 57, p. 1). 

24. Article 4 of that common position provides: 
‘Funds and other financial assets of Usama
binLadenandindividualsandentitiesassoci-
atedwithhim,asdesignatedbytheSanctions
Committee,willbefrozen,andfundsorother
financialresourceswillnotbemadeavailable
to Usama bin Laden and individuals or enti-
tiesassociatedwithhimasdesignatedbythe
Sanctions Committee, under the conditions
setoutin[Resolution1333(2000)].’

25. On 6 March 2001, on the basis of Articles 60 
EC and 301 EC, the Council adopted Regula-
tion (EC) No 467/2001 prohibiting the export 
of certain goods and services to Afghanistan, 
strengthening the flight ban and extending 
the freeze of funds and other financial resourc-
es in respect of the Taliban of Afghanistan, and 
repealing Regulation No 337/2000 (OJ 2001 L 
67, p. 1). 

26. The third recital in the preamble to that regula-
tion states that the measures provided for by 
Resolution 1333 (2000)’fall under the scope of 
the Treaty and, therefore, notably with a view 
to avoiding distortion of competition, Com-
munity legislation is necessary to implement 
the relevant decisions of the Security Council 
as far as the territory of the Community is con-
cerned’. 

27. Article 1 of Regulation No 467/2001 defines 
what is meant by’funds’ and’freezing of funds’. 

28. Under Article 2 of Regulation No 467/2001: 
‘1.Allfundsandotherfinancialresourcesbe-
longingtoanynaturalor legalperson,entity
orbodydesignatedby the... SanctionsCom-
mitteeandlistedinAnnexIshallbefrozen.

2.No fundsorother financial resources shall
bemadeavailable,directlyorindirectly,toor
for thebenefitof,persons,entitiesorbodies
designatedbytheTalibanSanctionsCommit-
teeandlistedinAnnexI.

3.Paragraphs1and2shallnotapplytofunds
and financial resources forwhich theTaliban
Sanctions Committee has granted an ex-
emption.Suchexemptions shallbeobtained
through the competent authorities of the
MemberStateslistedinAnnexII.’

29. Annex I to Regulation No 467/2001 contains 
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the list of persons, entities and bodies affected 
by the freezing of funds imposed by Article 2. 
Under Article 10(1) of Regulation No 467/2001, 
the Commission was empowered to amend or 
supplement Annex I on the basis of determi-
nations made by either the Security Council or 
the Sanctions Committee. 

30. On 8 March 2001 the Sanctions Committee 
published a first consolidated list of the en-
tities which and the persons who must be 
subjected to the freezing of funds pursuant to 
Security Council Resolutions 1267 (1999) and 
1333 (2000) (see the Committee’s press release 
AFG/131 SC/7028 of 8 March 2001). That list 
has since been amended and supplemented 
several times. The Commission has in conse-
quence adopted various regulations pursuant 
to Article 10 of Regulation No 467/2001, in 
which it has amended or supplemented Annex 
I to that regulation. 

31. On 17 October and 9 November 2001 the Sanc-
tions Committee published two new additions 
to its summary list, including in particular the 
names of the following entity and person: 
– ’Al-Qadi, Yasin (A.K.A. Kadi, Shaykh Yassin
Abdullah; A.K.A. Kahdi, Yasin), Jeddah, Saudi
Arabia’,and

– ’Barakaat International Foundation, Box
4036, Spånga, Stockholm, Sweden; Rinkeby-
torget1,04,Spånga,Sweden’.

32. By Commission Regulation (EC) No 2062/2001 
of 19 October 2001 amending, for the third 
time, Regulation No 467/2001 (OJ 2001 L 277, 
p. 25), Mr Kadi’s name was added, with others, 
to Annex I. 

33. By Commission Regulation (EC) No 2199/2001 
of 12 November 2001 amending, for the fourth 
time, Regulation No 467/2001 (OJ 2001 L 295, 
p. 16), the name Al Barakaat was added, with 
others, to Annex I. 

34. On 16 January 2002 the Security Council adopt-
ed Resolution 1390 (2002), which lays down 
the measures to be directed against Usama bin 
Laden, members of the Al-Qaeda network and 
the Taliban and other associated individuals, 
groups, undertakings and entities. Paragraphs 
1 and 2 of that resolution provide, in essence, 
for the continuance of the measures freezing 
funds imposed by paragraphs 4(b) of Resolu-
tion 1267 (1999) and 8(c) of Resolution 1333 
(2000). In accordance with paragraph 3 of Res-
olution 1390 (2002), those measures were to 
be reviewed by the Security Council 12 months 

after their adoption, at the end of which period 
the Council would either allow those measures 
to continue or decide to improve them. 

35. Taking the view that action by the Community 
was necessary in order to implement that reso-
lution, on 27 May 2002 the Council adopted 
Common Position 2002/402/CFSP concerning 
restrictive measures against Usama bin Laden, 
members of the Al-Qaeda organisation and 
the Taliban and other individuals, groups, un-
dertakings and entities associated with them 
and repealing Common Positions 96/746, 
1999/727, 2001/154 and 2001/771/CFSP (OJ 
2002 L 139, p. 4). Article 3 of that Common Po-
sition prescribes, inter alia, the continuation of 
the freezing of the funds and other financial as-
sets or economic resources of the individuals, 
groups, undertakings and entities referred to in 
the list drawn up by the Sanctions Committee 
in accordance with Security Council Resolu-
tions 1267 (1999) and 1333 (2000). 

36. On 27 May 2002 the Council adopted the con-
tested regulation on the basis of Articles 60 EC, 
301 EC and 308 EC. 

37. According to the fourth recital in the pream-
ble to that regulation, the measures laid down 
by, inter alia, Resolution 1390 (2002) fall within 
the scope of the Treaty and,’therefore, notably 
with a view to avoiding distortion of competi-
tion, Community legislation is necessary to im-
plement the relevant decisions of the Security 
Council as far as the territory of the Community 
is concerned’. 

38. Article 1 of Regulation No 881/2002 
defines’funds’ and’freezing of funds’ in terms 
which are essentially identical to those used in 
Article 1 of Regulation No 467/2001. 

39. Under Article 2 of Regulation No 881/2002: 
‘1.All fundsandeconomicresourcesbelong-
ingto,orownedorheldby,anaturalorlegal
person, group or entity designated by the
Sanctions Committee and listed in Annex I
shallbefrozen.

2. No funds shall bemade available, directly
orindirectly,to,orforthebenefitof,anatural
orlegalperson,grouporentitydesignatedby
theSanctionsCommitteeandlistedinAnnexI.

3.Noeconomicresourcesshallbemadeavail-
able,directlyorindirectly,to,orforthebenefit
of, a natural or legal person, group or entity
designatedby theSanctionsCommitteeand
listedinAnnexI,soastoenablethatperson,
grouporentitytoobtainfunds,goodsorser-
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vices.’

40. Annex I to the contested regulation contains 
the list of persons, groups and entities affected 
by the freezing of funds imposed by Article 2 
of that regulation. That list includes, inter alia, 
the names of the following entity and persons: 
– ’Al Barakaat International Foundation; Box
4036, Spånga, Stockholm, Sweden; Rinkeby-
torget1,04,Spånga,Sweden’,and

– ’Al-Qadi, Yasin (alias KADI, Shaykh Yassin
Abdullah; alias KAHDI, Yasin), Jeddah, Saudi
Arabia’.

41. On 20 December 2002 the Security Council 
adopted Resolution 1452 (2002), intended 
to facilitate the implementation of counter-
terrorism obligations. Paragraph 1 of that reso-
lution provides for a number of derogations 
from and exceptions to the freezing of funds 
and economic resources imposed by Resolu-
tions 1267 (1999) and 1390 (2002) which may 
be granted by the Member States on humani-
tarian grounds, on condition that the Sanctions 
Committee gives its consent. 

42. On 17 January 2003 the Security Council 
adopted Resolution 1455 (2003), intended to 
improve the implementation of the measures 
imposed in paragraphs 4(b) of Resolution 1267 
(1999), 8(c) of Resolution 1333 (2000) and 1 and 
2 of Resolution 1390 (2002). In accordance with 
paragraph 2 of Resolution 1455 (2003), those 
measures are again to be improved after 12 
months or earlier if necessary. 

43. Taking the view that action by the Community 
was necessary in order to implement Resolu-
tion 1452 (2002), on 27 February 2003 the 
Council adopted Common Position 2003/140/
CFSP concerning exceptions to the restric-
tive measures imposed by Common Position 
2002/402 (OJ 2003 L 53, p. 62). Article 1 of Com-
mon Position 2003/140 provides that, when 
implementing the measures set out in Article 
3 of Common Position 2002/402, the Commu-
nity is to provide for the exceptions permitted 
by that resolution (2002). 

44. On 27 March 2003 the Council adopted Regu-
lation (EC) No 561/2003 amending, as regards 
exceptions to the freezing of funds and eco-
nomic resources, Regulation (EC) No 881/2002 
(OJ 2003 L 82, p. 1). In the fourth recital in the 
preamble to that regulation, the Council states 
that it is necessary, in view of Resolution 1452 
(2002), to adjust the measures imposed by the 
Community. 

45. In accordance with Article 1 of Regulation No 
561/2003, the following article is to be inserted 
in the contested regulation: 

‘Article 2a 

1.Article2shallnotapplytofundsoreconom-
icresourceswhere:

(a) any of the competent authorities of the
MemberStates,aslistedinAnnexII,hasdeter-
mined,uponarequestmadebyaninterested
natural or legal person, that these funds or
economicresourcesare:

(i)necessary tocoverbasicexpenses, includ-
ingpaymentsforfoodstuffs,rentormortgage,
medicines and medical treatment, taxes, in-
surancepremiums,andpublicutilitycharges;

(ii) intended exclusively for payment of rea-
sonableprofessionalfeesandreimbursement
ofincurredexpensesassociatedwiththepro-
visionoflegalservices;

(iii) intended exclusively for payment of fees
or service charges for the routineholdingor
maintenance of frozen funds or frozen eco-
nomicresources;or

(iv)necessaryforextraordinaryexpenses;and

(b) such determination has been notified to
theSanctionsCommittee;and

(c) (i) in the case of a determination under
point(a)(i),(ii)or(iii),theSanctionsCommittee
hasnotobjectedtothedeterminationwithin
48hoursofnotification;or

(ii)inthecaseofadeterminationunderpoint
(a)(iv),theSanctionsCommitteehasapproved
thedetermination.

2.Anypersonwishingtobenefitfromthepro-
visionsreferredtoinparagraph1shalladdress
itsrequesttotherelevantcompetentauthor-
ityoftheMemberStateaslistedinAnnexII.

The competent authority listed in Annex II
shall promptly notify both the person that
madetherequest,andanyotherperson,body
or entity known to be directly concerned, in
writing,whethertherequesthasbeengrant-
ed.

The competent authority shall also inform
otherMemberStateswhethertherequestfor
suchanexceptionhasbeengranted.

3. Funds released and transferredwithin the
Communityinordertomeetexpensesorrec-
ognised by virtue of this Article shall not be
subject to further restrictivemeasurespursu-
anttoArticle2.
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…’

The actions before the Court of First 
Instance and the judgments under 
appeal
46. By applications lodged at the Registry of the 

Court of First Instance, Mr Kadi and Al Barakaat 
both brought actions seeking annulment of 
Regulation No 467/2001, the former seeking 
annulment also of Regulation No 2062/2001 
and the latter annulment also of Regulation 
No 2199/2001, in so far as those measures con-
cern them. During the proceedings before the 
Court of First Instance, the appellants amend-
ed their claims and pleas in law, so as to refer 
thenceforth to the contested regulation, in so 
far as that measure concerns them. 

47. By orders of the President of the First Cham-
ber of the Court of First Instance, the United 
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland 
was given leave to intervene in support of the 
forms of order sought by the defendants at first 
instance. 

48. In the judgments under appeal, the Court of 
First Instance decided as a preliminary point 
that each action must be regarded as being di-
rected thenceforth against the Council alone, 
supported by the Commission and the United 
Kingdom, and the sole object of each must be 
considered to be a claim for annulment of the 
contested regulation, in so far as it concerned 
the respective applicants (Kadi, paragraph 58, 
and Yusuf and Al Barakaat, paragraph 77). 

49. In support of his claims, Mr Kadi put forward 
in his application before the Court of First In-
stance three grounds of annulment alleging, 
in essence, breaches of his fundamental rights. 
The first alleges breach of the right to be heard, 
the second, breach of the right to respect for 
property and of the principle of proportional-
ity, and the third, breach of the right to effec-
tive judicial review. 

50. For its part, Al Barakaat based its claims on 
three grounds of annulment: the first alleges 
that the Council was incompetent to adopt 
the contested regulation, the second alleges 
infringement of Article 249 EC and the third al-
leges breach of its fundamental rights. 

AsregardstheCouncil’scompetence
concerningtheadoptionofthecontested
regulation
51. In the contested judgments, the Court of First 

Instance first of all considered whether the 
Council was competent to adopt the contest-
ed regulation on the legal basis of Articles 60 
EC, 301 EC and 308 EC, taking the view, in para-
graph 61 of Kadi, that that was a matter of pub-
lic policy which could therefore be raised by 
the Community judicature of its own motion. 

52. In Yusuf and Al Barakaat, the Court of First In-
stance at the outset dismissed the applicants’ 
claim alleging that there was no legal basis for 
Regulation No 467/2001. 

53. In paragraph 107 of that judgment, the Court of 
First Instance found it appropriate to take such 
a step, even though the ground of challenge 
had become devoid of purpose because of 
the repeal of that regulation by the contested 
regulation, for it considered that the grounds 
on which it dismissed that claim formed part of 
the premisses of its reasoning concerning the 
legal basis of the latter regulation, thenceforth 
the sole subject of the action for annulment. 

54. In this connection, it first rejected, in Yusuf 
and Al Barakaat, paragraphs 112 to 116, the 
argument that the acts in question affected 
individuals, who were moreover nationals of a 
Member State, whereas Articles 60 EC and 301 
EC authorised the Council to take measures 
against third countries only. 

55. In paragraph 115 of that judgment, the Court 
of First Instance held that, just as economic or 
financial sanctions may legitimately be direct-
ed specifically at the rulers of a third country, 
rather than at the country as such, they may be 
directed at the persons or entities associated 
with those rulers or directly or indirectly con-
trolled by them, wherever they may be. 

56. According to paragraph 116, that interpreta-
tion, which is not contrary to the letter of Arti-
cle 60 EC or Article 301 EC, is justified both by 
considerations of effectiveness and by humani-
tarian concerns. 

57. Next, in Yusuf and Al Barakaat, paragraphs 117 
to 121, the Court of First Instance rejected the 
argument that the measures at issue in that 
case were not intended to interrupt or reduce 
economic relations with a third country but to 
combat international terrorism and, more par-
ticularly, Usama bin Laden. 
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58. Finally, in paragraphs 122 and 123 of that judg-
ment, it rejected the argument that those 
measures were disproportionate to the objec-
tive pursued by Articles 60 EC and 301 EC. 

59. With regard, next, to the challenge to the legal 
basis of the contested regulation, the Court of 
First Instance first held, that, as the Council and 
the Commission have maintained, Articles 60 
EC and 301 EC did not constitute in themselves 
a sufficient legal basis for that regulation (Kadi, 
paragraphs 92 to 97, and Yusuf and Al Barakaat, 
paragraphs 128 to 133). 

60. It found, in particular, that that regulation 
was intended to enforce what are known 
as’smart’sanctions of a new kind, a feature of 
which is that there is nothing at all to link the 
sanctions to the territory or the governing re-
gime of a third country, for after the collapse 
of the Taliban regime the measures at issue, as 
provided for by Resolution 1390 (2002), were 
aimed directly at Usama bin Laden, the Al-
Qaeda network and the persons and entities 
associated with them. 

61. According to the Court of First Instance, in the 
light of the wording of Articles 60 EC and 301 
EC, and especially of the expressions’as regards 
the third countries concerned’ and’with one 
or more third countries’ appearing there, it is 
not possible to have recourse to those articles 
to impose that new kind of sanction. They in 
fact authorise only the adoption of measures 
against a third country, which may include the 
rulers of such a country and the individuals and 
entities associated with them or controlled by 
them, directly or indirectly. When, however, the 
regime targeted by those measures has disap-
peared, there no longer exists a sufficient link 
between those individuals or entities and the 
third country concerned. 

62. The Court of First Instance held, secondly, that 
the Council had rightly considered that Article 
308 EC did not on its own constitute an ade-
quate legal basis for the adoption of the con-
tested regulation (Kadi, paragraphs 98 to 121, 
and Yusuf and Al Barakaat, paragraphs 134 to 
157). 

63. In that regard it decided that the fight against 
international terrorism, particularly by the im-
position of economic and financial sanctions, 
such as the freezing of funds, in respect of indi-
viduals and entities suspected of contributing 
to the funding of terrorism, cannot be made 
to refer to one of the objects which Articles 
2 EC and 3 EC expressly entrust to the Com-

munity (Kadi, paragraph 116, and Yusuf and Al 
Barakaat, paragraph 152). 

64. According to the Court of First Instance, the 
measures provided for by the contested regu-
lation could not be authorised by the object of 
establishing a common commercial policy (Ar-
ticle 3(1)(b) EC), since the Community’s com-
mercial relations with a third country are not 
at issue in a situation such as that in the cases 
before it. Nor could the objective of creating a 
system ensuring that competition in the inter-
nal market is not distorted (Article 3(1)(g) EC) 
be validly relied on, for in any event the ele-
ments presented to the Court of First Instance 
provided no grounds for considering that the 
contested regulation actually helps to avoid 
the risk of impediments to the free movement 
of capital or of appreciable distortion of com-
petition. 

65. The Court of First Instance held, thirdly, that the 
Council was competent to adopt the contest-
ed regulation which sets in motion in the Com-
munity the economic and financial sanctions 
provided for by Common Position 2002/402, 
on the joint basis of Articles 60 EC, 301 EC and 
308 EC (Kadi, paragraph 135, and Yusuf and Al 
Barakaat, paragraph 170). 

66. On this point, the Court of First Instance con-
sidered that account had to be taken of the 
bridge, explicitly established at the time of the 
revision caused by the Maastricht Treaty, be-
tween Community actions imposing econom-
ic sanctions under Articles 60 EC and 301 EC 
and the objectives of the Treaty on European 
Union in the sphere of external relations (Kadi, 
paragraph 123, and Yusuf and Al Barakaat, par-
agraph 159). 

67. According to the Court of First Instance, Arti-
cles 60 EC and 301 EC are wholly special pro-
visions of the EC Treaty, in that they expressly 
contemplate situations in which action by the 
Community may prove to be necessary in or-
der to achieve not one of the objects of the 
Community as fixed by the EC Treaty but rather 
one of the objectives specifically assigned to 
the European Union by Article 2 EU, namely, 
the implementation of a common foreign and 
security policy (‘CFSP’) (Kadi, paragraph 124, 
and Yusuf and Al Barakaat, paragraph 160). 

68. Under Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, action by the 
Community is in actual fact, according to the 
Court of First Instance, action by the Union, the 
implementation of which finds its basis in the 
Community pillar after the Council has adopt-
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ed a common position or a joint action under 
the CFSP (Kadi, paragraph 125, and Yusuf and 
Al Barakaat, paragraph 161). 

ObservanceofArticle249EC
69. In Yusuf and Al Barakaat, the Court of First In-

stance then went on to examine a plea raised 
only in the case giving rise to that judgment, 
alleging that the contested regulation, in so 
far as it directly prejudiced the rights of indi-
viduals and prescribed the imposition of indi-
vidual sanctions, had no general application 
and therefore contravened Article 249 EC. That 
regulation could not, as a result, be understood 
to be a regulation, but rather a bundle of indi-
vidual decisions. 

70. In paragraphs 184 to 188 of that judgment the 
Court of First Instance rejected that plea. 

71. In paragraph 186 of that judgment, it held 
that the contested regulation unarguably had 
general application within the meaning of 
the second paragraph of Article 249 EC, since 
it prohibits anyone to make available funds or 
economic resources to certain persons. 

72. The Court of First Instance added that the fact 
that those persons are expressly named in An-
nex I to the regulation, so that they appear to 
be directly and individually concerned by it, 
within the meaning of the fourth paragraph of 
Article 230 EC, in no way affects the general na-
ture of that prohibition which is effective erga 
omnes, as is made clear, in particular, by Article 
11 of the regulation. 

Concerningrespectofcertain
fundamentalrights
73. As regards, last, the pleas alleging, in both 

cases, breach of the applicants’ fundamental 
rights, the Court of First Instance considered 
it appropriate to consider, in the first place, 
the relationship between the international 
legal order under the United Nations and the 
domestic or Community legal order, and also 
the extent to which the exercise by the Com-
munity and its Member States of their powers 
is bound by resolutions of the Security Council 
adopted under Chapter VII of the Charter of 
the United Nations. This consideration would 
effectively determine the scope of the review 
of lawfulness, particularly having regard to fun-
damental rights, which that court must carry 
out in respect of the Community acts giving 
effect to such resolutions. It is only if it should 

find that they fall within the scope of its judicial 
review and that they are capable of leading to 
annulment of the contested regulation that 
the Court of First Instance would have to rule 
on those alleged breaches (Kadi, paragraphs 
178 to 180, and Yusuf and Al Barakaat, para-
graphs 228 to 230). 

74. Examining first the relationship between the 
international legal order under the United Na-
tions and the domestic legal orders or the Com-
munity legal order, the Court of First Instance 
ruled that, from the standpoint of international 
law, the Member States, as Members of the 
United Nations, are bound to respect the prin-
ciple of the primacy of their obligations’under 
the Charter’ of the United Nations, enshrined in 
Article 103 thereof, which means, in particular, 
that the obligation, laid down in Article 25 of 
the Charter, to carry out the decisions of the 
Security Council prevails over any other obli-
gation they may have entered into under an 
international agreement (Kadi, paragraphs 181 
to 184, and Yusuf and Al Barakaat, paragraphs 
231 to 234). 

75. According to the Court of First Instance, that 
obligation of the Member States to respect the 
principle of the primacy of obligations under-
taken by virtue of the Charter of the United Na-
tions is not affected by the EC Treaty, for it is an 
obligation arising from an agreement conclud-
ed before the Treaty, and so falling within the 
scope of Article 307 EC. What is more, Article 
297 EC is intended to ensure that that principle 
is observed (Kadi, paragraphs 185 to 188, and 
Yusuf and Al Barakaat, paragraphs 235 to 238). 

76. The Court of First Instance concluded that res-
olutions adopted by the Security Council un-
der Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Na-
tions are binding on all the Member States of 
the Community which must therefore, in that 
capacity, take all measures necessary to ensure 
that those resolutions are put into effect and 
may, and indeed must, leave unapplied any 
provision of Community law, whether a pro-
vision of primary law or a general principle of 
Community law, that raises any impediment 
to the proper performance of their obligations 
under that Charter (Kadi, paragraphs 189 and 
190, and Yusuf and Al Barakaat, paragraphs 239 
and 240). 

77. However, according to the Court of First In-
stance, the mandatory nature of those resolu-
tions stemming from an obligation under in-
ternational law does not bind the Community, 
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for the latter is not, as such, directly bound by 
the Charter of the United Nations, not being a 
Member of the United Nations, or an addressee 
of the resolutions of the Security Council, or the 
successor to the rights and obligations of the 
Member States for the purposes of public in-
ternational law (Kadi, paragraph 192, and Yusuf 
and Al Barakaat, paragraph 242). 

78. Nevertheless, that mandatory force binds the 
Community by virtue of Community law (Kadi, 
paragraph 193, and Yusuf and Al Barakaat, par-
agraph 243). 

79. In that regard, the Court of First Instance re-
ferring, by analogy, to Joined Cases 21/72 to 
24/72 International Fruit Company and Others 
[1972] ECR 1219, paragraph 18, in particular, 
held that, in so far as under the EC Treaty the 
Community has assumed powers previously 
exercised by Member States in the area gov-
erned by the Charter of the United Nations, 
the provisions of that Charter have the effect of 
binding the Community (Kadi, paragraph 203, 
and Yusuf and Al Barakaat, paragraph 253). 

80. In the following paragraph in those judgments, 
the Court of First Instance concluded, first, that 
the Community may not infringe the obliga-
tions imposed on its Member States by the 
Charter of the United Nations or impede their 
performance and, second, that in the exercise 
of its powers it is bound, by the very Treaty by 
which it was established, to adopt all the meas-
ures necessary to enable its Member States to 
fulfil those obligations. 

81. Being thus called upon, in the second place, to 
determine the scope of the review of legality, 
especially in the light of fundamental rights, 
that it must carry out concerning Community 
measures giving effect to resolutions of the 
Security Council, such as the contested regula-
tion, the Court of First Instance first recalled, in 
Kadi, paragraph 209, and Yusuf and Al Barakaat, 
paragraph 260, that, according to case-law, the 
European Community is based on the rule of 
law, inasmuch as neither its Member States nor 
its institutions can avoid review of the ques-
tion whether their acts are in conformity with 
the basic constitutional charter, the EC Treaty, 
which established a complete system of legal 
remedies and procedures designed to enable 
the Court of Justice to review the legality of 
acts of the institutions. 

82. In Kadi, paragraph 212, and Yusuf and Al 
Barakaat, paragraph 263, the Court of First In-
stance considered, however, that the question 

arising in the cases before it was whether there 
exist any structural limits, imposed by general 
international law or by the EC Treaty itself, on 
that judicial review. 

83. In that connection the Court of First Instance 
recalled, in Kadi, paragraph 213, and Yusuf and 
Al Barakaat, paragraph 264, that the contested 
regulation, adopted in the light of Common 
Position 2002/402, constitutes the implemen-
tation at Community level of the obligation 
placed on the Member States of the Com-
munity, as Members of the United Nations, to 
give effect, if appropriate by means of a Com-
munity act, to the sanctions against Usama bin 
Laden, members of the Al-Qaeda network and 
the Taliban and other associated individuals, 
groups, undertakings and entities, which have 
been decided and later strengthened by sever-
al resolutions of the Security Council adopted 
under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United 
Nations. 

84. In that situation, the Community acted, ac-
cording to the Court of First Instance, under 
circumscribed powers leaving it no autono-
mous discretion in their exercise, so that it 
could, in particular, neither directly alter the 
content of the resolutions at issue nor set up 
any mechanism capable of giving rise to such 
alteration (Kadi, paragraph 214, and Yusuf and 
Al Barakaat, paragraph 265). 

85. The Court of First Instance inferred therefrom 
that the applicants’ challenging of the internal 
lawfulness of the contested regulation implied 
that the Court of First Instance should under-
take a review, direct or indirect, of the lawful-
ness of the resolutions put into effect by that 
regulation in the light of fundamental rights 
as protected by the Community legal order 
(Kadi, paragraphs 215 and 216, and Yusuf and 
Al Barakaat, paragraphs 266 and 267). 

86. In paragraphs 217 to 225 of Kadi, drawn up in 
terms identical to those of paragraphs 268 to 
276 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat, the Court of First 
Instance held as follows: 

‘217TheinstitutionsandtheUnitedKingdom
ask theCourt as amatter of principle to de-
clinealljurisdictiontoundertakesuchindirect
reviewof the lawfulnessof those resolutions
which, as rules of international law binding
on the Member States of the Community,
are mandatory for the Court as they are for
all theCommunity institutions.Thoseparties
areoftheview,essentially,thattheCourt’sre-
viewoughttobeconfined,ontheonehand,
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to ascertaining whether the rules on formal
and procedural requirements and jurisdic-
tion imposed in thiscaseon theCommunity
institutionswereobservedand,on theother
hand,toascertainingwhethertheCommunity
measuresat issuewereappropriateandpro-
portionateinrelationtotheresolutionsofthe
SecurityCouncilwhichtheyputintoeffect.

218Itmustberecognisedthatsucha limita-
tionofjurisdictionisnecessaryasacorollaryto
theprinciples identifiedabove, intheCourt’s
examinationof the relationshipbetween the
internationallegalorderundertheUnitedNa-
tionsandtheCommunitylegalorder.

219Ashasalreadybeenexplained, thereso-
lutions of the Security Council at issuewere
adopted under Chapter VII of the Charter of
the United Nations. In these circumstances,
determiningwhat constitutes a threat to in-
ternationalpeaceandsecurityandthemeas-
uresrequiredtomaintainorre-establishthem
is the responsibility of the Security Council
aloneand,assuch,escapesthejurisdictionof
nationalorCommunityauthoritiesandcourts,
subjectonlytotheinherentrightofindividual
orcollectiveself-defencementionedinArticle
51oftheCharter.

220Where,actingpursuant toChapterVIIof
theCharteroftheUnitedNations,theSecurity
Council,throughitsSanctionsCommittee,de-
cides that the funds of certain individuals or
entitiesmustbefrozen,itsdecisionisbinding
onthemembersoftheUnitedNations,inac-
cordancewithArticle48oftheCharter.

221 In light of the considerations set out in
paragraphs193 to204above, theclaim that
theCourtof First Instancehas jurisdiction to
reviewindirectlythelawfulnessofsuchadeci-
sion according to the standardofprotection
of fundamental rights as recognised by the
Communitylegalorder,cannotbejustifiedei-
theronthebasisofinternationallaworonthe
basisofCommunitylaw.

222 First, such jurisdiction would be incom-
patiblewiththeundertakingsoftheMember
StatesundertheCharteroftheUnitedNations,
especiallyArticles25,48and103thereof,and
alsowithArticle27oftheViennaConvention
ontheLawofTreaties[concludedinViennaon
25May1969].

223 Second, such jurisdictionwouldbe con-
trarytoprovisionsbothoftheECTreaty,espe-
ciallyArticles5EC,10EC,297ECandthefirst
paragraphofArticle307EC,andoftheTreaty
onEuropeanUnion,inparticularArticle5EU,
inaccordancewithwhichtheCommunityju-
dicature istoexercise itspowersonthecon-

ditionsand for thepurposesprovided forby
theprovisionsoftheECTreatyandtheTreaty
on European Union. It would, what is more,
be incompatible with the principle that the
Community’spowersand,therefore,thoseof
theCourtofFirstInstance,mustbeexercised
in compliance with international law (Case
C286/90PoulsenandDivaNavigation [1992]
ECR I6019, paragraph 9, and Case C162/96
Racke[1998]ECRI3655,paragraph45).

224 It has to be added that, with particular
regardtoArticle307ECandtoArticle103of
the Charter of the United Nations, reference
toinfringementseitheroffundamentalrights
asprotectedbytheCommunitylegalorderor
oftheprinciplesofthatlegalordercannotaf-
fectthevalidityofaSecurityCouncilmeasure
oritseffectintheterritoryoftheCommunity
(see, by analogy, Case 11/70 Internationale
Handelsgesellschaft [1970] ECR 1125, para-
graph3;Case234/85Keller [1986]ECR2897,
paragraph7,andJoinedCases97/87to99/87
DowChemical IbéricaandOthersvCommis-
sion[1989]ECR3165,paragraph38).

225 Itmust thereforebeconsidered that the
resolutionsoftheSecurityCouncilatissuefall,
inprinciple,outside theambitof theCourt’s
judicial reviewandthattheCourthasnoau-
thoritytocallinquestion,evenindirectly,their
lawfulness in the light of Community law.
Onthecontrary,theCourtisbound,sofaras
possible, to interpretandapply that law ina
manner compatible with the obligations of
theMember States under theCharter of the
UnitedNations.’

87. In Kadi, paragraph 226, and Yusuf and Al 
Barakaat, paragraph 277, the Court of First 
Instance found that it was, none the less, em-
powered to check, indirectly, the lawfulness of 
the resolutions of the Security Council in ques-
tion with regard to jus cogens, understood as a 
body of higher rules of public international law 
binding on all subjects of international law, in-
cluding the bodies of the United Nations, and 
from which no derogation is possible. 

88. In paragraphs 227 to 231 of Kadi, drawn up in 
terms identical to those of paragraphs 278 to 
282 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat, the Court of First 
Instance held as follows: 
‘227Inthisconnection,itmustbenotedthat
theViennaConventionontheLawofTreaties,
which consolidates the customary interna-
tionallawandArticle5ofwhichprovidesthat
it istoapply“toanyTreatywhichisthecon-
stituentinstrumentofaninternationalorgani-
sation and to any Treaty adopted within an
internationalorganisation”,providesinArticle
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53foraTreatytobevoidif itconflictswitha
peremptorynormofgeneralinternationallaw
(juscogens),definedas“anormacceptedand
recognised by the international community
of States as a whole as a norm from which
noderogationispermittedandwhichcanbe
modifiedonlybyasubsequentnormofgen-
eralinternationallawhavingthesamecharac-
ter”.Similarly,Article64oftheViennaConven-
tionprovidesthat:“Ifanewperemptorynorm
of general international law emerges, any
existing Treaty which is in conflict with that
normbecomesvoidandterminates”.

228 Furthermore, the Charter of the United
Nations itself presupposes the existence of
mandatory principles of international law, in
particular, theprotectionof the fundamental
rightsof thehumanperson. In thepreamble
totheCharter,thepeoplesoftheUnitedNa-
tionsdeclaredthemselvesdeterminedto“re-
affirm faith in fundamental human rights, in
thedignityandworthofthehumanperson”.
Inaddition,itisapparentfromChapterIofthe
Charter, headed “Purposes and Principles”,
thatoneofthepurposesoftheUnitedNations
istoencouragerespectforhumanrightsand
forfundamentalfreedoms.

229 Those principles are binding on the
Members of the United Nations as well as
onitsbodies.Thus,underArticle24(2)ofthe
Charter of the United Nations, the Security
Council,indischargingitsdutiesunderitspri-
mary responsibility for the maintenance of
internationalpeaceand security, is toact “in
accordancewith thePurposesandPrinciples
of the United Nations”. The Security Coun-
cil’spowersofsanctionintheexerciseofthat
responsibility must therefore be wielded in
compliancewithinternationallaw,particularly
withthepurposesandprinciplesoftheUnited
Nations.

230 International law thus permits the infer-
encethatthereexistsonelimittotheprinciple
that resolutions of the Security Council have
bindingeffect:namely,thattheymustobserve
thefundamentalperemptoryprovisionsofjus
cogens.Iftheyfailtodoso,howeverimprob-
ablethatmaybe,theywouldbindneitherthe
Member Statesof theUnitedNationsnor, in
consequence,theCommunity.

231Theindirectjudicialreviewcarriedoutby
theCourtinconnectionwithanactionforan-
nulmentofaCommunityactadopted,where
no discretion whatsoever may be exercised,
withaviewtoputtingintoeffectaresolution
of theSecurityCouncilmay therefore,highly
exceptionally,extendtodeterminingwhether
the superior rules of international law falling

withintheambitofjuscogenshavebeenob-
served,inparticular,themandatoryprovisions
concerningtheuniversalprotectionofhuman
rights,fromwhichneithertheMemberStates
nor the bodies of the United Nations may
derogate because they constitute “intrans-
gressibleprinciplesofinternationalcustomary
law” (Advisory Opinion of the International
CourtofJusticeof8July1996,TheLegalityof
theThreatorUseofNuclearWeapons,Reports
1996, p. 226, paragraph 79; see also, to that
effect, AdvocateGeneral Jacobs’sOpinion in
Case C84/95 Bosphorus [1996] ECR I3953,
paragraph65).’

89. Firstly, with particular regard to the alleged 
breach of the fundamental right to respect 
for property, the Court of First Instance con-
sidered, in Kadi, paragraph 237, and Yusuf and 
Al Barakaat, paragraph 288, that it fell to be as-
sessed whether the freezing of funds provided 
for by the contested regulation, as amended 
by Regulation No 561/2003, and, indirectly, by 
the resolutions of the Security Council put into 
effect by those regulations, infringed the appli-
cant’s fundamental rights. 

90. In Kadi, paragraph 238, and Yusuf and Al 
Barakaat, paragraph 289, the Court of First 
Instance decided that such was not the case, 
measured by the standard of universal protec-
tion of the fundamental rights of the human 
person covered by jus cogens. 

91. In Kadi, paragraphs 239 and 240, and Yusuf and 
Al Barakaat, paragraphs 290 and 291, the Court 
of First Instance held that the exemptions to 
and derogations from the obligation to freeze 
funds provided for in the contested regulation 
as a result of its amendment by Regulation No 
561/2003, itself putting into effect Resolution 
1452 (2002), show that it is neither the purpose 
nor the effect of that measure to submit the 
persons entered in the summary list to inhu-
man or degrading treatment. 

92. In Kadi, paragraphs 243 to 251, and Yusuf and 
Al Barakaat, paragraphs 294 to 302, the Court of 
First Instance held, in addition, that the freez-
ing of funds did not constitute an arbitrary, 
inappropriate or disproportionate interference 
with the right to private property of the per-
sons concerned and could not, therefore, be 
regarded as contrary to jus cogens, having re-
gard to the following facts: 

• the measures in question pursue an objec-
tive of fundamental public interest for the 
international community, that is to say, the 
campaign against international terrorism, 
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and the United Nations are entitled to un-
dertake protective action against the activi-
ties of terrorist organisations; 

• freezing of funds is a temporary precau-
tionary measure which, unlike confiscation, 
does not affect the very substance of the 
right of the persons concerned to property 
in their financial assets but only the use 
thereof; 

• the resolutions of the Security Council at is-
sue provide for a means of reviewing, after 
certain periods, the overall system of sanc-
tions; 

• those resolutions set up a procedure ena-
bling the persons concerned to present 
their case at any time to the Sanctions 
Committee for review, through the Mem-
ber State of their nationality or that of their 
residence. 

93. As regards, secondly, the alleged breach of the 
right to be heard, and more particularly, first, 
the applicants’ alleged right to be heard by the 
Community institutions before the contested 
regulation had been adopted, the Court of 
First Instance held as follows in paragraph 258 
of Kadi, to which paragraph 328 of Yusuf and Al 
Barakaat corresponds, mutatis mutandis: 
‘In this instance,as isapparent fromthepre-
liminary observations above on the relation-
ship between the international legal order
undertheUnitedNationsandtheCommunity
legalorder, theCommunity institutionswere
required to transpose into the Community
legal order resolutions of the Security Coun-
cilanddecisionsoftheSanctionsCommittee
that in noway authorised them, at the time
of actual implementation, toprovide for any
Community mechanism whatsoever for the
examination or re-examination of individual
situations, since both the substance of the
measures in question and the mechanisms
for re-examination (see paragraphs 262 et
seq.…) fellwhollywithin thepurviewof the
SecurityCouncilanditsSanctionsCommittee.
As a result, the Community institutions had
nopowerof investigation,noopportunityto
checkthematterstakentobefactsbytheSe-
curityCouncil and theSanctionsCommittee,
no discretion with regard to those matters
andnodiscretioneitherastowhether itwas
appropriate to adopt sanctions vis-à-vis the
applicants. The principle of Community law
relatingtotherighttobeheardcannotapply
insuchcircumstances,wheretoheartheper-
sonconcernedcouldnotinanycaseleadthe
institutiontoreviewitsposition.’

94. The Court of First Instance concluded in Kadi, 
paragraph 259, that the Council was not 
obliged to hear the applicant on the subject 
of his inclusion in the list of persons and enti-
ties affected by the sanctions, in the context 
of the adoption and implementation of the 
contested regulation and, in Yusuf and Al 
Barakaat, paragraph 329, that the Council was 
not obliged to hear the applicants before the 
contested regulation was adopted. 

95. With regard, second, to breach of the appli-
cants’ alleged right to be heard by the Sanc-
tions Committee in connection with their in-
clusion in the summary list, the Court of First 
Instance held in paragraph 261 of Kadi and 
paragraph 306 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat that 
no such right was provided for by the Security 
Council’s resolutions at issue. 

96. It further held in Yusuf and Al Barakaat, para-
graph 307, that no mandatory rule of public 
international law requires a prior hearing for 
the persons concerned in circumstances such 
as those of the case in point. 

97. The Court of First Instance observed, moreover, 
that although the resolutions of the Security 
Council concerned and the subsequent regu-
lations that put them into effect in the Com-
munity do not provide for any right of audi-
ence for individual persons, they nevertheless 
set up a mechanism for the re-examination 
of individual cases, by providing that the per-
sons concerned may address a request to the 
Sanctions Committee, through their national 
authorities, in order either to be removed from 
the summary list or to obtain exemption from 
the freezing of funds (Kadi, paragraph 262, and 
Yusuf and Al Barakaat, paragraph 309). 

98. Referring, in Kadi, paragraph 264, and in 
Yusuf and Al Barakaat, paragraph 311, to 
the’Guidelines of the [Sanctions] Committee 
for the conduct of its work’, as adopted by that 
committee on 7 November 2002 and amended 
on 10 April 2003 (‘the Sanctions Committee’s 
Guidelines’), and, in Kadi, paragraph 266, and 
Yusuf and Al Barakaat, paragraph 313, to vari-
ous resolutions of the Security Council, the 
Court of First Instance noted, in those para-
graphs, the importance attached by the Secu-
rity Council, in so far as possible, to the funda-
mental rights of the persons entered in the list, 
and especially to their right to be heard. 

99. In Kadi, paragraph 268, and in Yusuf and Al 
Barakaat, paragraph 315, the Court of First In-
stance found that the fact, noted in the pre-
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vious paragraph of both judgments, that the 
re-examination procedure confers no right di-
rectly on the persons concerned themselves to 
be heard by the Sanctions Committee the only 
authority competent to give a decision, on a 
State’s petition, on the re-examination of their 
case with the result that those persons are de-
pendent, essentially, on the diplomatic protec-
tion afforded by the States to their nationals, is 
not to be deemed improper in the light of the 
mandatory prescriptions of the public interna-
tional order. 

100. The Court of First Instance added that it is open 
to the persons involved to bring an action for 
judicial review based on domestic law, indeed 
even directly on the contested regulation and 
the relevant resolutions of the Security Council 
which it puts into effect, against any wrongful 
refusal by the competent national authority to 
submit their cases to the Sanctions Committee 
for re-examination (Kadi, paragraph 270, and 
Yusuf and Al Barakaat, paragraph 317). 

101. The Court of First Instance held, in addition, 
that in circumstances such as those of the cas-
es in point, in which what is at issue is a tem-
porary precautionary measure restricting the 
availability of the applicants’ property, obser-
vance of the fundamental rights of the persons 
concerned does not require the facts and evi-
dence adduced against them to be communi-
cated to them, once the Security Council or its 
Sanctions Committee is of the view that there 
are grounds concerning the international com-
munity’s security that militate against it (Kadi, 
paragraph 274, and Yusuf and Al Barakaat, 
paragraph 320). 

102. Having regard to those considerations, the 
Court of First Instance held in Kadi, paragraph 
276, and Yusuf and Al Barakaat, paragraph 330, 
that the applicants’ plea alleging breach of the 
right to be heard must be rejected. 

103. Lastly, with regard to the plea alleging breach 
of the right to effective judicial review, the 
Court of First Instance found as follows in para-
graphs 278 to 285 of Kadi, drawn up in terms 
essentially identical to those of paragraphs 333 
to 340 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat: 
‘278Inthecircumstancesofthiscase,theap-
plicant has been able to bring an action for
annulmentbefore theCourtofFirst Instance
underArticle230EC.

279Indealingwiththataction,theCourtcar-
ries out a complete reviewof the lawfulness
ofthecontestedregulationwithregardtoob-

servancebytheinstitutionsoftherulesofju-
risdictionandtherulesofexternallawfulness
and the essential procedural requirements
whichbindtheiractions.

280TheCourtalso reviews the lawfulnessof
thecontestedregulationhavingregardtothe
SecurityCouncil’sregulationswhichthatactis
supposedtoputintoeffect,inparticularfrom
theviewpointsofproceduralandsubstantive
appropriateness, internal consistency and
whethertheregulationisproportionatetothe
resolutions.

281Givingadecisionpursuanttothatreview,
theCourtfindsthatitisnotdisputedthatthe
applicantisindeedoneofthenaturalpersons
entered in the summary list on 19 October
2001.

282 In this action for annulment, the Court
hasmoreover held that it has jurisdiction to
reviewthe lawfulnessof thecontested regu-
lation and, indirectly, the lawfulness of the
resolutionsoftheSecurityCouncilatissue,in
the light of the higher rules of international
law fallingwithin theambitof juscogens, in
particular the mandatory prescriptions con-
cerningtheuniversalprotectionoftherights
ofthehumanperson.

283On the other hand, as has already been
observed in paragraph 225 above, it is not
fortheCourttoreviewindirectlywhetherthe
SecurityCouncil’s resolutions inquestionare
themselves compatible with fundamental
rights as protected by the Community legal
order.

284NordoesitfalltotheCourttoverifythat
therehasbeennoerrorofassessmentofthe
facts and evidence relied on by the Security
Councilinsupportofthemeasuresithastak-
enor,subjecttothelimitedextentdefinedin
paragraph282above, tocheck indirectly the
appropriatenessandproportionalityof those
measures.Itwouldbeimpossibletocarryout
suchacheckwithouttrespassingontheSecu-
rityCouncil’sprerogativesunderChapterVIIof
theCharter of theUnitedNations in relation
to determining, first, whether there exists a
threattointernationalpeaceandsecurityand,
second, the appropriate measures for con-
fronting or settling such a threat. Moreover,
thequestionwhetheranindividualororgani-
sation poses a threat to international peace
andsecurity, likethequestionofwhatmeas-
ures must be adopted vis-à-vis the persons
concerned in order to frustrate that threat,
entailsapoliticalassessmentandvaluejudg-
ments which in principle fall within the ex-
clusivecompetenceoftheauthoritytowhich
the international community has entrusted
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primaryresponsibilityforthemaintenanceof
internationalpeaceandsecurity.

285Itmustthusbeconcludedthat,totheex-
tentsetout inparagraph284above, there is
nojudicialremedyavailabletotheapplicant,
the Security Council not having thought it
advisable to establish an independent inter-
national court responsible for ruling, in law
and on the facts, in actions brought against
individual decisions taken by the Sanctions
Committee.’

104. In Kadi, paragraph 268, and Yusuf and Al 
Barakaat, paragraph 315, the Court of First In-
stance held that any such lacuna in the judicial 
protection available to the applicant is not in 
itself contrary to jus cogens. 

105. In this respect, the Court of First Instance 
found as follows in paragraphs 288 to 290 of 
Kadi, drawn up in terms essentially identical to 
those of paragraphs 343 to 345 of Yusuf and 
Al Barakaat: 
‘288Inthisinstance,theCourtconsidersthat
thelimitationoftheapplicant’srightofaccess
to a court, as a result of the immunity from
jurisdictionenjoyedasarule,inthedomestic
legalorderoftheMemberStatesoftheUnited
Nations,byresolutionsoftheSecurityCouncil
adopted under Chapter VII of the Charter of
the United Nations, in accordance with the
relevantprinciplesofinternationallaw(inpar-
ticularArticles25and103of[that]Charter),is
inherentinthatrightasitisguaranteedbyjus
cogens.

289Sucha limitation is justifiedbothby the
natureofthedecisionsthattheSecurityCoun-
cilisledtotakeunderChapterVIIoftheChar-
teroftheUnitedNationsandbythelegitimate
objectivepursued.Inthecircumstancesofthis
case,theapplicant’sinterestinhavingacourt
hear his case on itsmerits is not enough to
outweigh the essential public interest in the
maintenance of international peace and se-
curityinthefaceofathreatclearlyidentified
by the Security Council in accordance with
theCharter of theUnitedNations. In this re-
gard, special significancemust attach to the
fact that, far fromproviding formeasures for
an unlimited period of application, the reso-
lutions successively adopted by the Security
Council have always provided a mechanism
for re-examining whether it is appropriate
to maintain those measures after 12 or 18
monthsatmosthaveelapsed…

290Last, theCourtconsiders that, in theab-
senceofaninternationalcourthavingjurisdic-
tiontoascertainwhetheractsoftheSecurity

Council are lawful, the setting-up of a body
such as the Sanctions Committee and the
opportunity, provided for by the legislation,
ofapplyingatanytimetothatcommittee in
ordertohaveanyindividualcasere-examined,
bymeansof aprocedure involvingboth the
“petitioned government” and the “designat-
ing government”…, constitute another rea-
sonable method of affording adequate pro-
tectionof theapplicant’s fundamental rights
asrecognisedbyjuscogens.’

106. Consequently the Court of First Instance dis-
missed the pleas alleging breach of the right 
to effective judicial review and, as a result, the 
actions in their entirety. 

Forms of order sought by the parties to 
the appeal
107. By his appeal, Mr Kadi claims that the Court 

should: 

• set aside in whole the judgment in Kadi; 

• declare the contested regulation null and 
void, and 

• order the Council and/or the Commission 
to pay the costs in this appeal and those in-
curred in the proceedings before the Court 
of First Instance. 

108. By its appeal, Al Barakaat claims that the Court 
should: 

• set aside the judgment in Yusuf and Al 
Barakaat; 

• declare the contested regulation null and 
void, and

• order the Council and the Commission to 
pay the costs relating to the present appeal 
and to the proceedings before the Court of 
First Instance. 

109. The Council contends in both cases that the 
Court should reject the appeal and order the 
appellant to pay the costs. 

110. In Case C-402/05 P the Commission contends 
that the Court should: 

• declare that none of the grounds of appeal 
put forward by the appellant is capable of 
impugning the operative part of the judg-
ment in Kadi, and replace the grounds of 
that judgment with those proposed in its 
response; 

• in consequence, reject the appeal; and 
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• order the appellant to pay the costs. 

111. In Case C-415/05 P the Commission contends 
that the Court should: 

• reject the appeal in its entirety, and

• order the appellant to pay the costs.

112. The United Kingdom has brought a cross-ap-
peal contending that the Court should: 

• dismiss the appeals, and

• set aside that part of the judgments under 
appeal which deal with the question of jus 
cogens, that is to say, paragraphs 226 to 
231 of Kadi and paragraphs 277 to 281 of 
Yusuf and Al Barakaat. 

113. The Kingdom of Spain, granted leave to inter-
vene in support of the forms of order sought 
by the Council by orders of the President of the 
Court of 27 April 2006 (Case C402/05 P) and 15 
May 2006 (Case C-415/05 P), contends that the 
Court should: 

• reject the appellants’ appeals in their en-
tirety and uphold in their entirety the judg-
ments under appeal, and

• order the appellants to pay the costs;

• dismiss the Commission’s contentions in 
relation to the first ground of each appeal, 
upholding the judgments under appeal, 
and 

• order the Commission to pay the costs;

• in the alternative, if the Court should set 
aside the judgment under appeal and, con-
sequently, annul Regulation No 881/2002, 
order the effects of that regulation to be 
maintained, pursuant to Article 231 EC, un-
til a new regulation is adopted replacing it. 

114. The French Republic, granted leave to inter-
vene in support of the forms of order sought 
by the Council by orders of the President of the 
Court of 27 April 2006 (Case C402/05 P) and 15 
May 2006 (Case C-415/05 P), contends that the 
Court should: 

• reject the appellants’ appeals, allow the 
cross-appeal of the United Kingdom and 
carry out a substitution of the grounds as 
regards the part of the judgments under 
appeal which concerns jus cogens, and 

• order the appellants to pay the costs. 

115. The Kingdom of the Netherlands, granted 

leave to intervene in support of the form of 
order sought by the Council by orders of the 
President of the Court of 27 April 2006 (Case 
C402/05 P) and 15 May 2006 (Case C-415/05 P), 
contends in both cases that the Court should 
dismiss the appeal, with the proviso that there 
should be substitution of the grounds with re-
gard to the scope of the review of legality or, 
alternatively, to the question whether norms of 
jus cogens have been infringed. 

The grounds of challenge to the 
judgments under appeal
116. Mr Kadi puts forward two grounds of appeal, 

the first alleging lack of any legal basis for the 
contested regulation and the second concern-
ing breach of several rules of international law 
by the Court of First Instance and the conse-
quences of that breach as regards the assess-
ment of his arguments relating to the infringe-
ment of certain of his fundamental rights which 
he pleaded before the Court of First Instance. 

117. Al Barakaat puts forward three grounds of ap-
peal, the first alleging lack of any legal basis for 
the contested regulation, the second infringe-
ment of Article 249 EC and the third infringe-
ment of certain of its fundamental rights. 

118. In its cross-appeal the United Kingdom puts 
forward a single ground relating to the error of 
law allegedly committed by the Court of First 
Instance in concluding in the judgments un-
der appeal that it was competent to consider 
whether the Security Council’s resolutions at 
issue were compatible with the rules of jus co-
gens. 

Concerning the appeals
119. By order of 13 November 2007 the President 

of the Court ordered the name of Ahmed Ali 
Yusuf to be struck from the Court’s register in 
response to his abandonment of the appeal 
that he had brought jointly with Al Barakaat in 
Case C415/05 P. 

120. The parties and the Advocate General having 
been heard in this regard, it is appropriate, on 
account of the connection between them, to 
join the present cases for the purposes of the 
judgment, in accordance with Article 43 of the 
Rules of Procedure of the Court. 
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Concerningthegroundsofappeal
relatingtothelegalbasisofthecontested
regulation
 Arguments of the parties
121. By his first ground of appeal Mr Kadi claims that 

the Court of First Instance erred in law when it 
held, in paragraph 135 of Kadi, that it was pos-
sible for the contested regulation to be adopt-
ed on the joint basis of Articles 60 EC, 301 EC 
and 308 EC. 

122. That plea falls into three parts. 

123. In the first part Mr Kadi maintains that the Court 
of First Instance erred in law in ruling that Ar-
ticles 60 EC and 301 EC could be regarded as 
constituting a partial legal basis for the con-
tested regulation. Furthermore, the Court of 
First Instance did not explain how those provi-
sions, which can provide a basis only for meas-
ures against third countries, could be envis-
aged, together with Article 308 EC, as the legal 
basis of the contested regulation, when the lat-
ter contains only restrictive measures directed 
against individuals and non-State entities. 

124. In the second part, Mr Kadi asserts that, if Ar-
ticles 60 EC and 301 EC were nevertheless to 
be held to constitute a partial legal basis for 
the contested regulation, the Court of First 
Instance erred in law because it misconstrued 
Article 301 EC and its function as a’bridge’, for 
that article in no circumstances includes the 
power to take measures intended to attain an 
objective of the EU Treaty. 

125. In the third part, Mr Kadi argues that the Court 
of First Instance erred in law by interpreting 
Article 308 EC in such a way that that article 
might provide a legal basis for legislation for 
which the necessary powers have not been 
provided in the EC Treaty and which was not 
necessary in order to attain one of the Com-
munity’s objectives. In Kadi, paragraphs 122 to 
134, the Court of First Instance wrongly assimi-
lated the objectives of the two integrated but 
separate legal orders constituted by the Union 
and the Community and thus misinterpreted 
the limitations of Article 308 EC. 

126. Furthermore, such a view is, to his mind, incom-
patible with the principle of conferred powers 
laid down in Article 5 EC. It follows from para-
graphs 28 to 35 of Opinion 2/94 of 28 March 
1996 (ECR I1759) that the fact that an objective 
is mentioned in the Treaty on European Union 
cannot make good the lack of that objective in 

the list of the objectives of the EC Treaty. 

127. The Council and the French Republic contest 
the first part of Mr Kadi’s first ground of appeal, 
arguing inter alia that the reference to Articles 
60 EC and 301 EC in the legal basis of the con-
tested regulation is warranted by the fact that 
those provisions enact restrictive measures 
whose ambit was to be extended, by means of 
recourse to Article 308 EC, to persons or non-
State entities that were not, therefore, covered 
by those two articles. 

128. For its part, the United Kingdom maintains that 
Article 308 EC was used as a means of supple-
menting the instrumental powers provided 
for by Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, those articles 
not constituting, therefore, a partial legal basis 
for the contested regulation. The Kingdom of 
Spain raises in essence the same line of argu-
ment. 

129. With regard to the second part of that ground 
of appeal, the Council maintains that the raison 
d’être of the bridge provided for in Article 301 
EC is precisely to give it the power to adopt 
measures intended to attain an objective of 
the EU Treaty. 

130. The Kingdom of Spain, the French Republic 
and the United Kingdom maintain that it is 
Article 308 EC, and not Articles 60 EC and 301 
EC, that enabled the adoption of restrictive 
measures aimed at individuals and non-State 
entities, so enlarging the ambit of those two 
articles. 

131. So far as the third part of Mr Kadi’s first ground 
of appeal is concerned, the Council argues 
that the whole point of the bridge provided 
by Article 301 EC is, exceptionally, to use those 
powers conferred on the Community to im-
pose economic and financial sanctions for the 
purpose of attaining an objective of the CFSP, 
and so of the Union, rather than a Community 
objective. 

132. The United Kingdom and the Member States 
intervening in the appeal broadly support that 
position. 

133. The United Kingdom clarifies its position by 
stating that, in its view, the action provided for 
by the contested regulation can be regarded 
as contributing to the attainment, not of an ob-
jective of the Union but of an objective of the 
Community, namely, the implicit and purely 
instrumental objective underlying Articles 60 
EC and 301 EC of providing effective means 
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of giving effect, exclusively by way of coercive 
economic measures, to acts adopted under the 
power conferred upon the Union by Title V of 
the EU Treaty. 

134. According to that Member State, when attain-
ment of that instrumental objective requires 
forms of economic coercion going beyond the 
powers specifically conferred on the Council by 
Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, it is appropriate to 
have recourse to Article 308 EC to supplement 
those powers. 

135. The Commission, having declared that it had 
reconsidered its point of view, argues, primar-
ily, that Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, having re-
gard to their wording and context, constituted 
in themselves appropriate and sufficient legal 
bases for the adoption of the contested regula-
tion. 

136. In this connection the Commission raises the 
following arguments: 
–thewordingofArticle301ECissufficiently
broad to cover economic sanctions against
individuals–providedthattheyarepresentin
orotherwiseassociatedwitha third country.
The expression’economic relations’ covers a
vast range of activities. Any economic sanc-
tion,evendirectedatathirdcountry,suchas
an embargo, directly affects the individuals
concerned and the country only indirectly.
ThewordingofArticle301EC,especially the
term’inpart’,doesnotcall forapartialmeas-
uretobedirectedagainstaparticularsection
ofthecountriesinquestion,suchasthegov-
ernment.Allowing,asitdoes,theCommunity
to break off completely economic relations
withallcountries,thatprovisionmustalsoau-
thoriseittointerrupteconomicrelationswith
a limited number of individuals in a limited
numberofcountries;

–thefactthatsimilarwordsareusedinArticle
41oftheCharteroftheUnitedNationsandin
Article301ECshowsthattheauthorsofthat
latterprovisionclearly intended toprovidea
platformfortheimplementationbytheCom-
munityofallmeasuresadoptedbytheSecu-
rity Council that call for action by the Com-
munity;

– Article 301 EC puts in place a procedural
bridgebetweentheCommunityandtheUn-
ion, but seeks neither to increase nor to re-
duce the ambit of Community competence.
Asaresult,thatprovisionhastobeinterpreted
asbroadlyastherelevantCommunitypowers.

137. The Commission maintains that the measures 
at issue fall within the ambit of the common 

commercial policy, having regard to the effect 
on trade of measures prohibiting the move-
ment of economic resources, and even that 
those measures constitute provisions relating 
to the free movement of capital, since they in-
volve the prohibition of transferring economic 
resources to individuals in third countries. 

138. The Commission also argues that it is clear 
from Article 56(1) and (2) EC that movements 
of capital and payments between the Commu-
nity and third countries fall within Community 
competence, the Member States being able 
to adopt sanction measures only within the 
framework of Article 60(2) EC and not of Article 
58(l)(b) EC. 

139. In consequence, the Commission believes that 
recourse may not be had to Article 308 EC for 
the adoption of the contested regulation, since 
power to act is provided for in Articles 60 EC 
and 301 EC. The Commission, referring in par-
ticular to Case C-94/03 Commission v Council 
[2006] ECR I1, paragraph 35, argues that those 
articles provide the basis for the main or pre-
dominant component of the contested regu-
lation, in relation to which other components 
such as the freezing of the assets of persons 
who are both nationals of Member States of 
the Union and associated with a foreign terror-
ist group are merely secondary. 

140. Alternatively, the Commission contends that, 
before resorting to Article 308 EC, it is neces-
sary to examine the applicability of the articles 
of the EC Treaty dealing with the common 
commercial policy and the free movement of 
capital and payments. 

141. In the further alternative, it maintains that, if 
Article 308 EC were to be held to be the legal 
basis of the contested regulation, it would be 
the sole legal basis, for recourse to that provi-
sion must be based on the consideration that 
action by the Community is necessary in order 
to attain one of the objectives of the Commu-
nity and not, as the Court of First Instance held, 
the objectives of the EU Treaty in the sphere of 
external relations, in this case the CFSP. 

142. The Community objectives involved in this 
instance are the common commercial policy, 
mentioned in Article 3(1)(b) EC, and the free 
movement of capital, referred to by implica-
tion in Article 3(1)(c) EC, read in conjunction 
with the relevant provisions of the EC Treaty, 
namely those contained in Article 56 EC relat-
ing to the free movement of capital to and 
from third countries. The measures at issue, 
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producing effects on trade, regardless of the 
fact that they were adopted in pursuit of for-
eign policy objectives, fall within the ambit of 
those Community objectives. 

143. Mr Kadi, the Kingdom of Spain, the French Re-
public and the United Kingdom, contest the 
view principally put forward by the Commis-
sion, objecting as follows: 
– it is an extensive interpretation of Articles
60ECand301ECmisconstruingtheradically
differentandnewnatureofwhatareknown
asthe’smart’sanctionsinquestion,inthatthey
arenolongerlinkedtoanythirdcountry,and
a hazardous interpretation, for those articles
were introduced at a timewhen such a link
wasafeatureofsanctions;

– unlike the’smart’sanctions in question, a
total embargo is essentially directed against
the rulers of a third country on whom such
ameasure isdesignedtoexertpressure,and
onlyindirectlyagainsteconomicoperatorsin
thecountryconcerned,sothatitcannotbear-
guedthatallsanctions,includingembargoes,
areprimarilydirectedatindividuals;

–unlikeArticle41oftheCharteroftheUnited
Nations, Article 301 EC is specifically con-
cerned with the interruption of economic
relations’with one or more third countries’,
withtheresultthatnoargumentcanbedrawn
fromthesimilarityofthewordingofthosetwo
provisions;

–Article301EC isnot justaproceduralpro-
vision. It institutes a specific legal basis and
procedure and clearly confersmaterial com-
petenceupontheCommunity;

–themeasuresimposedbythecontestedreg-
ulation do not concern commercial relations
betweentheCommunityandthirdcountries,
andcannot,therefore,relyontheobjectiveof
thecommoncommercialpolicy;

–theCourtofFirstInstancecorrectlyheldthat
thosemeasuresdonothelptoavoidtherisk
ofobstacles to the freemovementof capital
and that Article 60(2) EC cannot be used as
the basis for restrictive measures aimed at
individualsorentities.Thatprovisionconcern-
ingonlymeasuresagainstthirdcountries,the
measures at issue could have been adopted
onlypursuanttoArticle58(1)(b)EC.

144. The Commission’s alternative argument is also 
challenged by both Mr Kadi and the Kingdom 
of Spain and the French Republic. 

145. Recourse to Articles 133 EC or 57(2) EC is not 
permitted, given that the measures laid down 

by the contested regulation do not concern 
commercial relations with third countries and 
do not fall within the category of movements 
of capital referred to in Article 57(2) EC. 

146. Nor can it be argued that the contested regula-
tion is designed to attain any Community ob-
jectives within the meaning of Article 308 EC. 
The objective of the free movement of capital 
is excluded, for application of the measure 
freezing funds provided for by that regulation 
is not capable of giving rise to any credible and 
serious danger of divergence between Mem-
ber States. The objective of the common com-
mercial policy is not relevant either, given that 
the freezing of the funds of an individual in no 
way linked to the government of a third coun-
try does not concern trade with such a country 
and does not pursue an objective of commer-
cial policy. 

147. If the submission it principally advances should 
be accepted, the Commission asks the Court, 
for reasons of legal certainty and for the sake of 
the proper performance of the obligations un-
dertaken vis-à-vis the United Nations, to con-
sider as definitive the effects of the contested 
regulation as a whole, pursuant to Article 231 
EC. 

148. In the same situation, the Kingdom of Spain 
and the French Republic have also made a re-
quest to that effect. 

149. In contrast, Mr Kadi objects to those requests, 
claiming that the contested regulation consti-
tutes a serious breach of fundamental rights. 
In any case, an exception must be made for 
persons who, like the applicant, have already 
brought an action against the regulation. 

150. Al Barakaat’s first ground of challenge is that 
the Court of First Instance held in paragraphs 
158 to 170 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat that it was 
possible for the contested regulation to be 
adopted on the joint basis of Articles 60 EC, 301 
EC and 308 EC. 

151. In its view, the Court of First Instance erred in 
law when it held, in paragraphs 160 and 164 of 
that judgment, that Articles 60 EC and 301 EC 
are not concerned solely with the performance 
of an action by the Community but may also 
concern one of the objectives specifically as-
signed to the Union by Article 2 EU, namely, 
the implementation of the CFSP. 

152. Second, Al Barakaat criticises the Court of First 
Instance for finding, in paragraphs 112, 113, 
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115 and 116 of that judgment, that sanctions 
decided on against individuals for the purpose 
of influencing economic relations with one or 
more third countries are covered by the pro-
visions of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, and that 
that interpretation is justified both by consid-
erations of effectiveness and by humanitarian 
concerns. 

153. The Council counters that the Court of First 
Instance was right to rule, in paragraph 161 of 
Yusuf and Al Barakaat, that, by reason of the 
bridge supplied by Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, 
sanctions laid down on the basis of those pro-
visions, as a result of the adoption of a common 
position or of a joint action under the CFSP 
providing for the interruption or reduction of 
the economic relations of the Community with 
one or more third countries, are intended to at-
tain the CFSP objective pursued by those acts 
of the Union. 

154. The Council also argues that the Court of First 
Instance was entitled to find that recourse to 
Article 308 EC as an additional legal basis for 
the contested regulation was justified, given 
that that article serves only to enable the ex-
tension of the economic and financial sanc-
tions already provided for in Articles 60 EC 
and 301 EC to individuals and entities not suf-
ficiently linked to any given third country. 

155. Finally, the Council is of the view that the ap-
plicant’s complaint concerning the efficiency 
and proportionality of the sanctions provided 
for by that regulation is irrelevant to the issue 
of the appropriateness of the legal basis of the 
regulation. 

156. With regard to that second complaint, the 
United Kingdom too takes the view that it 
has no bearing on the appeal brought by Al 
Barakaat, given that, as held in paragraph 1 
of the operative part of the judgment under 
appeal, the Court of First Instance found that 
there was no longer any need to adjudicate on 
the legality of Regulation No 467/2001. 

157. As to the rest, the arguments raised by the 
Kingdom of Spain, the French Republic, the 
United Kingdom and the Commission, are, in 
substance, the same as those raised by those 
parties in connection with Mr Kadi’s appeal. 

Findings of the Court
158. With regard, first, to the challenges made by Al 

Barakaat to paragraphs 112, 113, 115 and 116 
of Yusuf and Al Barakaat, it must be held that 

those paragraphs relate to the legal basis of 
Regulation No 467/2001. 

159. Now, that regulation has been repealed and 
replaced by the contested regulation. Moreo-
ver, as indicated by the Court of First Instance 
in Yusuf and Al Barakaat, paragraph 77, with-
out challenge from Al Barakaat in its appeal, 
the sole object of the action before the Court 
of First Instance, after Al Barakaat had adjusted 
its claims for relief and pleas in law to the con-
tested regulation, was annulment of that latter 
regulation, in so far as it concerns that appli-
cant. 

160. In those circumstances, those claims cannot in 
any case lead to the setting aside of that judg-
ment and must therefore be regarded as im-
material. 

161. In any event, the considerations of Yusuf and Al 
Barakaat to which those claims relate, treated 
by the Court of First Instance as premisses of 
its reasoning with regard to the legal basis of 
the contested regulation, are reproduced in 
later paragraphs of that judgment and in Kadi 
and will be examined during the assessment of 
the grounds of appeal challenging those para-
graphs. 

162. There is, therefore, no reason to examine those 
heads of claim in so far as they relate to the le-
gal basis of Regulation No 467/2001. 

163. It is appropriate to rule in the second place on 
the merits of the principal argument put for-
ward by the Commission, that Articles 60 EC 
and 301 EC, in the light of their wording and 
context, are in themselves an appropriate and 
sufficient legal base for the contested regula-
tion. 

164. That argument is directed against paragraphs 
92 to 97 of Kadi and paragraphs 128 to 133 of 
Yusuf and Al Barakaat, in which the Court of 
First Instance ruled to the contrary. 

165. That argument must be rejected. 

166. The Court of First Instance in fact rightly 
ruled that, having regard to the wording of 
Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, especially to the 
expressions’as regards the third countries con-
cerned’ and’with one or more third countries’ 
used there, those provisions concern the adop-
tion of measures vis-à-vis third countries, since 
that concept may include the rulers of such a 
country and also individuals and entities asso-
ciated with or controlled, directly or indirectly, 
by them. 
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167. The restrictive measures provided for by 
Resolution 1390 (2002), which the contested 
regulation was intended to put into effect, are 
measures notable for the absence of any link 
to the governing regime of a third country. 
Following the collapse of the Taliban regime, 
those measures were aimed directly at Usama 
bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and the per-
sons and entities associated with them, as they 
appear in the summary list. They do not, there-
fore, as such, fall within the ambit of Articles 60 
EC and 301 EC. 

168. To accept the interpretation of Articles 60 EC 
and 301 EC proposed by the Commission, that 
it is enough for the restrictive measures at issue 
to be directed at persons or entities present in 
a third country or associated with one in some 
other way, would give those provisions an ex-
cessively broad meaning and would fail to take 
any account at all of the requirement, imposed 
by their very wording, that the measures de-
cided on the basis of those provisions must be 
taken against third countries. 

169. In addition, the essential purpose and object of 
the contested regulation is to combat interna-
tional terrorism, in particular to cut it off from 
its financial resources by freezing the econom-
ic funds and resources of persons or entities 
suspected of involvement in activities linked to 
terrorism, and not to affect economic relations 
between the Community and each of the third 
countries where those persons or entities are, 
always supposing, moreover, that their place of 
residence is known. 

170. The restrictive measures provided for by Reso-
lution 1390 (2002) and put into effect by the 
contested regulation cannot be considered 
to be measures intended to reduce economic 
relations with each of those third countries, 
or, indeed, with certain Member States of the 
Community, in which are to be found persons 
or entities whose names are included in the list 
reproduced in Annex I to that regulation. 

171. Nor can the argument supported by the Com-
mission be justified by the expression’in part’ 
appearing in Article 301 EC. 

172. In point of fact, that expression refers to the 
possible limitation of the scope ratione mate-
riae or personae of the measures that might, 
by definition, be taken under that provision. It 
has, however, no effect on the necessary status 
of the persons to whom those measures might 
be addressed and cannot, therefore, warrant 
extending the application of the measures to 

such persons who are in no way linked to the 
governing regime of a third country and who, 
by the same token, do not fall within the ambit 
of that provision. 

173. The Commission’s argument relating to the 
similarity of the words used in Article 41 of the 
Charter of the United Nations and in Article 
301 EC, from which it deduces that the latter 
provision constitutes a platform for the imple-
mentation by the Community of all measures 
adopted by the Security Council that call for ac-
tion by the Community, cannot succeed either. 

174. Article 301 EC specifically refers to the interrup-
tion of economic relations’with one or more 
third countries’, whereas such an expression 
is not used in Article 41 of the Charter of the 
United Nations. 

175. What is more, in other respects the ambit of 
Article 41 of the Charter of the United Nations 
does not coincide with that of Article 301 EC, 
for the first provision enables the adoption of a 
series of measures other than those referred to 
by the second, including measures of a funda-
mentally different nature from those intended 
to interrupt or reduce economic relations with 
third countries, such as the breaking off of dip-
lomatic relations. 

176. The Commission’s argument that Article 301 
EC builds a procedural bridge between the 
Community and the European Union, so that it 
must be interpreted as broadly as the relevant 
Community competences, including those re-
lating to the common commercial policy and 
the free movement of capital, must also be 
rejected. 

177. That interpretation of Article 301 EC threatens 
to reduce the ambit and, therefore, the practi-
cal effect of that provision, for, having regard 
to its actual wording, the subject of that provi-
sion is the adoption of potentially very diverse 
measures affecting economic relations with 
third countries which, therefore, by necessary 
inference, must not be limited to spheres fall-
ing within other material powers of the Com-
munity such as those in the domain of the 
common commercial policy or of the free 
movement of capital. 

178. Moreover, that interpretation finds no support 
in the wording of Article 301 EC, which confers 
a material competence on the Community the 
scope of which is, in theory, autonomous in 
relation to that of other Community compe-
tences. 
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179. It is necessary to examine in the third place the 
alternative argument raised by the Commis-
sion that, if it was not possible for the contest-
ed regulation to be adopted on the sole legal 
basis of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, recourse to 
Article 308 EC would not be justified, for that 
latter provision is, in particular, applicable only 
if no other provision of the EC Treaty confers 
the powers necessary to adopt the measure 
concerned. The restrictive measures imposed 
by the contested regulation fall within the 
Community’s powers of action, in particular its 
powers in the sphere of the common commer-
cial policy and free movement of capital. 

180. In this connection, the Court of First Instance 
held, in paragraphs 100 of Kadi and 136 of Yu-
suf and Al Barakaat, that no specific provision 
of the EC Treaty provides for the adoption of 
measures of the kind laid down in the contest-
ed regulation relating to the campaign against 
international terrorism and, more particularly, 
to the imposition of economic and financial 
sanctions, such as the freezing of funds, in re-
spect of individuals and entities suspected of 
contributing to the funding of international 
terrorism, where no connection whatsoever 
has been established with the governing re-
gime of a third State, with the result that the 
first condition for the applicability of Article 301 
EC was satisfied in the case in point. 

181. That conclusion must be upheld. 

182. According to the Court’s settled case-law, the 
choice of legal basis for a Community measure 
must rest on objective factors which are ame-
nable to judicial review, including, in particular, 
the aim and the content of the measure (see, 
inter alia, Case C440/05 Commission v Council 
[2007] ECR I9097, paragraph 61 and the case-
law there cited). 

183. A Community measure falls within the compe-
tence in the field of the common commercial 
policy provided for in Article 133 EC only if it re-
lates specifically to international trade in that it 
is essentially intended to promote, facilitate or 
govern trade and has direct and immediate ef-
fects on trade in the products concerned (see, 
inter alia, Case C347/03 Regione autonoma 
Friuli-Venezia Giulia andERSA [2005] ECR I3785, 
paragraph 75 and the case-law there cited). 

184. With regard to its essential purpose and ob-
ject, as explained in paragraph 169 above, the 
contested regulation is intended to combat 
international terrorism and it provides to that 
end a series of restrictive measures of an eco-

nomic and financial kind, such as freezing the 
economic funds and resources of persons or 
entities suspected of contributing to the fund-
ing of international terrorism. 

185. Having regard to that purpose and object, it 
cannot be considered that the regulation re-
lates specifically to international trade in that 
it is essentially intended to promote, facilitate 
or govern trade. 

186. Furthermore, although that regulation may in-
deed produce effects on international trade, it 
is plainly not its purpose to give rise to direct 
and immediate effects of that nature. 

187. The contested regulation could not, therefore, 
be based on the powers of the Community in 
the sphere of the common commercial policy. 

188. On the other hand, according to the Com-
mission, in so far as the contested regulation 
prohibits the transfer of economic resources to 
individuals in third countries, it falls within the 
ambit of the provisions of the EC Treaty on free 
movement of capital and payments. 

189. That assertion too must be rejected. 

190. With regard, first of all, to Article 57(2) EC, the 
restrictive measures imposed by the contested 
regulation do not fall within one of the catego-
ries of measures listed in that provision. 

191. Nor can Article 60(1) EC furnish the basis for 
the contested regulation, for its ambit is deter-
mined by that of Article 301 EC. 

192. As has earlier been held in paragraph 167 
above, that latter provision is not concerned 
with the adoption of restrictive measures such 
as those at issue, which are notable for the ab-
sence of any link to the governing regime of a 
third country. 

193. As regards, finally, Article 60(2) EC, this provi-
sion does not include any Community compe-
tence to that end, given that it does no more 
than enable the Member States to take, on 
certain exceptional grounds, unilateral meas-
ures against a third country with regard to 
capital movements and payments, subject to 
the power of the Council to require a Member 
State to amend or abolish such measures. 

194. In the fourth place it is appropriate to examine 
the claims directed by Mr Kadi, in the second 
and third parts of his first ground of appeal, 
against paragraphs 122 to 135 of Kadi, by Al 
Barakaat against paragraphs 158 to 170 of Yu-
suf and Al Barakaat, and the Commission’s criti-



1149JOINEDCASESC-402/05PANDC-415/05PYASSINABDULLAHKADIVCOUNCILANDCOMMISSION

EC
J

EC
HR

cisms of those same paragraphs of the judg-
ments under appeal. 

195. In those paragraphs, the Court of First Instance 
ruled that it was possible for the contested reg-
ulation to be adopted on the joint basis of Ar-
ticles 60 EC, 301 EC and 308 EC, on the ground 
that, by reason of the bridge explicitly estab-
lished between Community actions imposing 
economic sanctions under Articles 60 EC and 
301 EC, on the one hand, and the objectives 
of the EU Treaty in the sphere of external rela-
tions, on the other, recourse to Article 308 EC 
in the particular context envisaged by the two 
former articles is justified in order to attain such 
objectives, in this instance the objective of the 
CFSP pursued by the contested regulation, that 
is to say, the campaign against international 
terrorism and its funding. 

196. In this regard it must be held that the judg-
ments under appeal are indeed vitiated by an 
error of law. 

197. In point of fact, while it is correct to consider, 
as did the Court of First Instance, that a bridge 
has been constructed between the actions of 
the Community involving economic measures 
under Articles 60 EC and 301 EC and the objec-
tives of the EU Treaty in the sphere of external 
relations, including the CFSP, neither the word-
ing of the provisions of the EC Treaty nor the 
structure of the latter provides any foundation 
for the view that that bridge extends to other 
provisions of the EC Treaty, in particular to Ar-
ticle 308 EC. 

198. With specific regard to Article 308 EC, if the 
position of the Court of First Instance were to 
be accepted, that provision would allow, in 
the special context of Articles 60 EC and 301 
EC, the adoption of Community measures con-
cerning not one of the objectives of the Com-
munity but one of the objectives under the 
EU Treaty in the sphere of external relations, 
including the CFSP. 

199. The inevitable conclusion is that such a view 
runs counter to the very wording of Article 308 
EC. 

200. Recourse to that provision demands that the 
action envisaged should, on the one hand, re-
late to the’operation of the common market’ 
and, on the other, be intended to attain’one of 
the objectives of the Community’. 

201. That latter concept, having regard to its clear 
and precise wording, cannot on any view be 

regarded as including the objectives of the 
CFSP. 

202. Furthermore, the coexistence of the Union and 
the Community as integrated but separate le-
gal orders, and the constitutional architecture 
of the pillars, as intended by the framers of the 
Treaties now in force, referred to by the Court 
of First Instance in paragraphs 120 of Kadi and 
156 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat, constitute con-
siderations of an institutional kind militating 
against any extension of the bridge to articles 
of the EC Treaty other than those with which it 
explicitly creates a link. 

203. In addition, Article 308 EC, being an integral 
part of an institutional system based on the 
principle of conferred powers, cannot serve as 
a basis for widening the scope of Community 
powers beyond the general framework created 
by the provisions of the EC Treaty as a whole 
and, in particular, by those defining the tasks 
and the activities of the Community (Opinion 
2/94, paragraph 30). 

204. Likewise, Article 3 EU, referred to by the Court 
of First Instance in paragraphs 126 to 128 of 
Kadi and 162 to 164 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat, in 
particular its second paragraph, cannot supply 
a base for any widening of Community powers 
beyond the objects of the Community. 

205. The effect of that error in law on the validity 
of the judgments under appeal will be con-
sidered later, after the evaluation of the other 
claims raised against the explanations given in 
those judgments concerning the possibility of 
including Article 308 EC in the legal basis of the 
contested regulation jointly with Articles 60 EC 
and 301 EC. 

206. Those other claims may be divided into two 
categories. 

207. The first category includes, in particular, the 
first part of Mr Kadi’s first ground of appeal, in 
which he argues that the Court of First Instance 
erred in law when it accepted that it was pos-
sible for Article 308 EC to supplement the legal 
basis of the contested regulation formed by 
Articles 60 EC and 301 EC. In his submission, 
those two latter articles cannot form the legal 
basis, even in part, of the contested regulation 
because, according to the interpretation given 
by the Court of First Instance itself, measures 
directed against persons or entities in no way 
linked to the governing regime of a third coun-
try the only persons to whom the contested 
regulation is addressed do not fall within the 
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ambit of those articles. 

208. That criticism may be compared with that 
made by the Commission, to the effect that, if 
it were to be held that recourse to Article 308 
EC could be allowed, it would have to be as the 
sole legal basis, and not jointly with Articles 60 
EC and 301 EC. 

209. The second category includes the Commis-
sion’s criticisms of the Court of First Instance’s 
decision, in paragraphs 116 and 121 of Kadi 
and 152 and 157 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat, that, 
for the purposes of the application of Article 
308 EC, the objective of the contested regu-
lation, namely, according to the Court of First 
Instance, the fight against international terror-
ism, and more particularly the imposition of 
economic and financial sanctions, such as the 
freezing of funds, in respect of individuals and 
entities suspected of contributing to the fund-
ing of terrorism, cannot be made to refer to 
one of the objects which the EC Treaty entrusts 
to the Community. 

210. The Commission maintains in this respect that 
the implementing measures imposed by the 
contested regulation in the area of economic 
and financial sanctions fall, by their very nature, 
within the scope of the objects of the Com-
munity, that is to say, first, the common com-
mercial policy and, second, the free movement 
of capital. 

211. With regard to that first category of claims, it is 
to be borne in mind that Article 308 EC is de-
signed to fill the gap where no specific provi-
sions of the Treaty confer on the Community 
institutions express or implied powers to act, if 
such powers appear none the less to be neces-
sary to enable the Community to carry out its 
functions with a view to attaining one of the 
objectives laid down by the Treaty (Opinion 
2/94, paragraph 29). 

212. The Court of First Instance correctly held that 
Article 308 EC could be included in the legal 
basis of the contested regulation, jointly with 
Articles 60 EC and 301 EC. 

213. The contested regulation, inasmuch as it im-
poses restrictive measures of an economic and 
financial nature, plainly falls within the ambit 
ratione materiae of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC. 

214. To that extent, the inclusion of those articles in 
the legal basis of the contested regulation was 
therefore justified. 

215. Furthermore, those provisions are part of the 

extension of a practice based, before the in-
troduction of Articles 60 EC and 301 EC by the 
Maastricht Treaty, on Article 113 of the EC Trea-
ty (now, after amendment, Article 133 EC) (see, 
to that effect, Case C70/94 Werner [1995] ECR 
I3189, paragraphs 8 to 10, and Case C124/95 
Centro-Com [1997] ECR I81, paragraphs 28 and 
29), which consisted of entrusting to the Com-
munity the implementation of actions decided 
on in the context of European political coop-
eration and involving the imposition of restric-
tive measures of an economic nature in respect 
of third countries. 

216. Since Articles 60 EC and 301 EC do not, howev-
er, provide for any express or implied powers of 
action to impose such measures on addressees 
in no way linked to the governing regime of a 
third country such as those to whom the con-
tested regulation applies, that lack of power, 
attributable to the limited ambit ratione mate-
riae of those provisions, could be made good 
by having recourse to Article 308 EC as a legal 
basis for that regulation in addition to the first 
two provisions providing a foundation for that 
measure from the point of view of its material 
scope, provided, however, that the other con-
ditions to which the applicability of Article 308 
EC is subject had been satisfied. 

217. The claims in that first category must therefore 
be rejected as unfounded. 

218. With regard to the other conditions for the 
applicability of Article 308 EC, the second cat-
egory of claims will now be considered. 

219. The Commission maintains that, although 
Common Position 2002/402, which the con-
tested regulation is intended to put into effect, 
pursues the objective of the campaign against 
international terrorism, an objective covered 
by the CFSP, that regulation must be consid-
ered to lay down an implementing measure 
intended to impose economic and financial 
sanctions. 

220. That objective falls within the scope of the ob-
jectives of the Community for the purpose of 
Article 308 EC, in particular those relating to 
the common commercial policy and the free 
movement of capital. 

221. The United Kingdom takes the view that the 
purely instrumental specific objective of the 
contested regulation, namely, the introduc-
tion of coercive economic measures, must be 
distinguished from the underlying CFSP objec-
tive of maintaining international peace and 
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security. That specific objective contributes to 
the implicit Community objective underlying 
Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, which is to supply ef-
fective means to put into effect, solely by coer-
cive economic measures, acts adopted under 
the CFSP. 

222. The objective pursued by the contested regu-
lation is immediately to prevent persons as-
sociated with Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda 
network or the Taliban from having at their 
disposal any financial or economic resources, 
in order to impede the financing of terrorist ac-
tivities (Case C117/06 Möllendorf and Möllen-
dorf-Niehuus [2007] ECR I8361, paragraph 63). 

223. Contrary to what the Court of First Instance 
held in paragraphs 116 of Kadi and 152 of Yusuf 
and Al Barakaat, that objective can be made to 
refer to one of the objects which the EC Treaty 
entrusts to the Community. The judgments un-
der appeal are therefore vitiated by an error of 
law on this point also. 

224. In this regard it may be recalled that, as ex-
plained in paragraph 203 above, Article 308 EC, 
being an integral part of an institutional system 
based on the principle of conferred powers, 
cannot serve as a basis for widening the scope 
of Community powers beyond the general 
framework created by the provisions of the EC 
Treaty as a whole. 

225. The objective pursued by the contested regu-
lation may be made to refer to one of the ob-
jectives of the Community for the purpose of 
Article 308 EC, with the result that the adoption 
of that regulation did not amount to disregard 
of the scope of Community powers stemming 
from the provisions of the EC Treaty as a whole. 

226. Inasmuch as they provide for Community 
powers to impose restrictive measures of an 
economic nature in order to implement ac-
tions decided on under the CFSP, Articles 60 
EC and 301 EC are the expression of an implicit 
underlying objective, namely, that of making it 
possible to adopt such measures through the 
efficient use of a Community instrument. 

227. That objective may be regarded as constituting 
an objective of the Community for the purpose 
of Article 308 EC. 

228. That interpretation is supported by Article 
60(2) EC. Although the first paragraph thereof 
provides the power, within strict limits, for 
Member States to take unilateral measures 
against a third country with regard to capital 

movements and payments, that power may, as 
provided for by that paragraph, be exercised 
only so long as Community measures have not 
been taken pursuant to paragraph 1 of that 
article. 

229. Implementing restrictive measures of an eco-
nomic nature through the use of a Community 
instrument does not go beyond the general 
framework created by the provisions of the EC 
Treaty as a whole, because such measures by 
their very nature offer a link to the operation 
of the common market, that link constituting 
another condition for the application of Article 
308 EC, as set out in paragraph 200 above. 

230. If economic and financial measures such as 
those imposed by the contested regulation, 
consisting of the, in principle generalised, 
freezing of all the funds and other economic 
resources of the persons and entities con-
cerned, were imposed unilaterally by every 
Member State, the multiplication of those 
national measures might well affect the op-
eration of the common market. Such measures 
could have a particular effect on trade between 
Member States, especially with regard to the 
movement of capital and payments, and on 
the exercise by economic operators of their 
right of establishment. In addition, they could 
create distortions of competition, because any 
differences between the measures unilaterally 
taken by the Member States could operate to 
the advantage or disadvantage of the com-
petitive position of certain economic operators 
although there were no economic reasons for 
that advantage or disadvantage. 

231. The Council’s statement in the fourth recital in 
the preamble to the contested regulation that 
Community legislation was necessary’notably 
with a view to avoiding distortion of competi-
tion’ is shown, therefore, to be relevant in this 
connection. 

232. At this point it is appropriate to rule on the ef-
fect of the errors of law, recorded in paragraphs 
196 and 223 above, on the validity of the judg-
ments under appeal. 

233. It is to be borne in mind that, according to 
case-law, if the grounds of a judgment of the 
Court of First Instance reveal an infringement 
of Community law but its operative part ap-
pears well founded on other legal grounds 
the appeal must be dismissed (see, in particu-
lar, Case C167/04 P JCB Service v Commission 
[2006] ECR I8935, paragraph 186 and the case-
law cited). 
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234. Clearly the conclusion reached by the Court 
of First Instance in paragraphs 135 of Kadi and 
158 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat concerning the le-
gal basis of the contested regulation, that is to 
say, that the Council was competent to adopt 
that regulation on the joint basis of Articles 60 
EC, 301 EC and 308 EC, appears justified on 
other legal grounds. 

235. Although, as held in paragraphs 196 to 204 
above, the inclusion of Article 308 EC in the 
legal basis of the contested regulation can-
not be justified by the fact that that measure 
pursued an objective covered by the CFSP, that 
provision could nevertheless be held to pro-
vide a foundation for the regulation because, 
as shown in paragraphs 225 to 231 above, that 
regulation could legitimately be regarded as 
designed to attain an objective of the Commu-
nity and as, furthermore, linked to the opera-
tion of the common market within the mean-
ing of Article 308 EC. Moreover, adding Article 
308 EC to the legal basis of the contested regu-
lation enabled the European Parliament to take 
part in the decision-making process relating to 
the measures at issue which are specifically 
aimed at individuals whereas, under Articles 
60 EC and 301 EC, no role is provided for that 
institution. 

236. Accordingly, the grounds of appeal directed 
against the judgments under appeal inasmuch 
as by the latter the Court of First Instance de-
cided that Articles 60 EC, 301 EC and 308 EC 
constituted the legal basis of the contested 
regulation must be dismissed in their entirety 
as unfounded. 

Concerningthegroundofappealrelating
toinfringementofArticle249EC
 Arguments of the parties
237. By its second ground of appeal Al Barakaat 

complains that the Court of First Instance held, 
in paragraph 188 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat, that 
the contested regulation satisfies the condi-
tion of general application laid down in Article 
249 EC, given that it is addressed in a general 
and abstract manner to all persons who might 
actually hold funds belonging to one or more 
persons mentioned in the Annex to the regula-
tion. 

238. Al Barakaat maintains that it is wrong not to 
consider the person whose funds are frozen as 
the addressee of the act concerned, because 
the implementation of the decision must rea-

sonably be founded on a legal measure di-
rected against the person in possession of the 
resources. 

239. What is more, according to that appellant, it is 
contradictory to state, on the one hand, in par-
agraph 112 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat, that the 
measures at issue were restrictive measures 
directly affecting individuals or organisations 
and, on the other, in paragraph 188 of that 
judgment, that those measures were not ad-
dressed to those individuals or organisations, 
but rather constituted a kind of implementing 
measure addressed to other persons. 

240. The Kingdom of Spain, the United Kingdom, 
the Council and the Commission broadly en-
dorse the analysis of the Court of First Instance. 

Findings of the Court
241. The Court of First Instance rightly held in para-

graphs 184 to 188 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat that 
the fact that the persons and entities who are 
the subject of the restrictive measures imposed 
by the contested regulation are expressly 
named in Annex I thereto, so that they appear 
to be directly and individually concerned by it, 
within the meaning of the fourth paragraph of 
Article 230 EC, does not mean that that act is 
not of general application within the meaning 
of the second paragraph of Article 249 EC or 
that it is not to be classified as a regulation. 

242. In fact, while it is true that the contested regu-
lation imposes restrictive measures on the per-
sons and entities whose names appear in the 
exhaustive list that constitutes Annex I thereto, 
a list which is, moreover, regularly amended by 
the removal or addition of names, so that it is 
kept in line with the summary list, the fact re-
mains that the persons to whom it is addressed 
are determined in a general and abstract man-
ner. 

243. The contested regulation, like Resolution 1390 
(2002) which it is designed to put into effect, 
lays down a prohibition, worded exceptionally 
broadly, of making available funds and eco-
nomic resources to those persons or entities 
(see, to that effect, Möllendorf and Möllendorf-
Niehuus, paragraphs 50 to 55). 

244. As the Court of First Instance quite rightly 
held in paragraphs 186 and 188 of Yusuf and 
Al Barakaat, that prohibition is addressed to 
whoever might actually hold the funds or eco-
nomic resources in question. 

245. That is how that prohibition falls to be applied 
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in circumstances such as those of the case giv-
ing rise to the judgment in Möllendorf and 
Möllendorf-Niehuus, which concerned the 
question whether the contested regulation 
forbids the final registration of the transfer of 
ownership of real property in a land register 
following the conclusion of a contract of sale 
if one of the purchasers is a natural person ap-
pearing in the list in Annex I to the regulation. 

246. In paragraph 60 of that judgment, the Court 
decided that a transaction such as that regis-
tration is prohibited under Article 2(3) of the 
contested regulation if, in consequence of 
that transaction, an economic resource would 
be made available to a person entered in that 
list, which would enable that person to obtain 
funds, goods or services. 

247. In the light of the foregoing, Al Barakaat’s 
ground of appeal relating to infringement of 
Article 249 EC must also be dismissed as un-
founded. 

Concerningthegroundsofappeal
relatingtoinfringementofcertain
fundamentalrights

The heads of claim concerning the part of the 
judgments under appeal relating to the limits 
of the review by the Community judicature, in 
the light of fundamental rights, of the internal 
lawfulness of the contested regulation 

248. In the first part of his second ground of ap-
peal, Mr Kadi maintains that inasmuch as the 
judgment in Kadi takes a view, first, of the re-
lationships between the United Nations and 
the members of that organisation and, second, 
of the procedure for the application of resolu-
tions of the Security Council, it is vitiated by 
errors of law as regards the interpretation of 
the principles of international law concerned, 
which gave rise to other errors of law in the as-
sessment of the pleas in law relating to breach 
of certain of the applicant’s specific fundamen-
tal rights. 

249. That part contains five claims. 

250. By his first claim, Mr Kadi argues that in para-
graphs 183 and 184 of the judgment the Court 
of First Instance erred in law in confusing the 
question of the primacy of the States’ obliga-
tions under the Charter of the United Nations, 
enshrined in Article 103 thereof, with the relat-
ed but separate question of the binding effect 
of decisions of the Security Council laid down 
in Article 25 of that Charter. 

251. By his second claim, Mr Kadi complains that 
the Court of First Instance erred in law when, 
in paragraphs 217 to 225 of that judgment, it 
took as its premiss that, like obligations under 
Treaty law, resolutions adopted by virtue of 
Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations 
must automatically form part of the sphere of 
law and competence of the members of the 
United Nations. 

252. By the third claim, Mr Kadi alleges that the 
Court of First Instance erred in law when it held, 
in paragraphs 212 to 225 and 283 and 284 of 
that judgment, that it had no power enabling 
it to review the lawfulness of resolutions of the 
Security Council adopted by virtue of Chapter 
VII of the Charter of the United Nations. 

253. By the fourth claim, Mr Kadi maintains that 
the reasoning of the Court of First Instance in 
paragraphs 225 to 232 of that judgment on 
the subject of jus cogens displays considerable 
incoherence, in so far as, if it must prevail, the 
principle that resolutions of the Security Coun-
cil may not be the subject of judicial review and 
in support of this enjoy immunity from jurisdic-
tion would have to apply generally, and the 
matters covered by jus cogens would not then 
constitute an exception to that principle. 

254. By the fifth claim, Mr Kadi argues that the fact 
that the Security Council has not established an 
independent international court responsible 
for ruling, in law and on the facts, on actions 
brought against individual decisions taken by 
the Sanctions Committee, does not mean that 
the Member States have no lawful power, by 
adopting reasonable measures, to improve the 
finding of facts underlying the imposition of 
sanctions and the identification of the persons 
affected by them, or that the Member States 
are prohibited from creating an appropriate le-
gal remedy by reason of the latitude they enjoy 
in the performance of their obligations. 

255. In his reply, referring to Bosphorus, Mr Kadi 
maintains, in addition, that Community law 
requires all Community legislative measures 
to be subject to the judicial review carried out 
by the Court, which also concerns observance 
of fundamental rights, even if the origin of the 
measure in question is an act of international 
law such as a resolution of the Security Council. 

256. So long as the law of the United Nations of-
fers no adequate protection for those whose 
claim that their fundamental rights have been 
infringed, there must be a review of the meas-
ures adopted by the Community in order to 
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give effect to resolutions of the Security Coun-
cil. According to Mr Kadi, the re-examination 
procedure before the Sanctions Committee, 
based on diplomatic protection, does not af-
ford protection of human rights equivalent to 
that guaranteed by the European Convention 
for the Protection of Human Rights and Fun-
damental Freedoms, signed in Rome on 4 No-
vember 1950 (‘the ECHR’), as demanded by the 
European Court of Human Rights in Bosphorus 
Hava Yolları Turizm ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi v. 
Ireland of 30 June 2005, Reports of Judgments 
and Decisions 2005-VI, § 155. 

257. Mr Kadi submits that that line of argument, an 
alternative to the arguments based on inter-
national law, is raised in case the Court should 
hold that there is a conflict between the objec-
tives of faithful implementation of resolutions 
of the Security Council and the principles of 
due process or judicial protection. 

258. Furthermore, he states that that head of claim 
is not a new ground of appeal but a develop-
ment of the fundamental proposition, raised 
in the notice of appeal, that the Community 
is bound, when it decides to act by legislative 
means to give effect to a resolution of the Se-
curity Council, to ensure, as a condition of the 
lawfulness of the legislation it intends thus to 
introduce, that that legislation should observe 
the minimum criteria in the field of human 
rights. 

259. By the first part of its third ground of appeal, Al 
Barakaat criticises the Court of First Instance’s 
preliminary observations in Yusuf and Al 
Barakaat on the relationship between the inter-
national legal order under the United Nations 
and the domestic legal order or the Commu-
nity legal order and on the extent of the review 
of lawfulness which the Court of First Instance 
had to carry out. 

260. A resolution of the Security Council, binding 
per se in public international law, can have le-
gal effect vis-à-vis persons in a State only if it 
has been implemented in accordance with the 
law in force. 

261. In this appellant’s view, there are no legal 
grounds for inferring the existence of special 
treatment or of an exception with regard to 
implementation of resolutions of the Security 
Council to the effect that a Community regu-
lation intended to carry out such implementa-
tion need not accord with Community rules on 
the adoption of regulations. 

262. Conversely, the French Republic, the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands, the United Kingdom and 
the Council approve, in essence, the analysis 
made in that connection by the Court of First 
Instance in the judgments under appeal and 
endorse the conclusion drawn therefrom that, 
so far as concerns the internal lawfulness of the 
contested regulation, the latter, inasmuch as 
it puts into effect resolutions adopted by the 
Security Council pursuant to Chapter VII of the 
Charter of the United Nations, in principle es-
capes all review by the Community judicature, 
even concerning observance of fundamental 
rights, and so for that reason enjoys immunity 
from jurisdiction. 

263. However, unlike the Court of First Instance, 
those parties take the view that no review of 
the internal lawfulness of resolutions of the 
Security Council may be carried out by the 
Community judicature. They therefore com-
plain that the Court of First Instance decided 
that such review was possible in the light of jus 
cogens. 

264. They argue that the judgments under appeal, 
by allowing an exception in that regard, but 
without identifying its legal basis, in particular 
under the provisions of the Treaty, are incon-
sistent, inasmuch as the arguments excluding 
in a general manner the exercise of judicial 
review by the Community judicature of reso-
lutions of the Security Council also militate 
against the recognition of powers to carry out 
such a review solely in the light of jus cogens. 

265. Further, the French Republic, the Kingdom of 
the Netherlands, the United Kingdom and the 
Commission consider that the Court of First 
Instance erred in law when it ruled that the 
fundamental rights at issue in these cases fell 
within the scope of jus cogens. 

266. A norm may be classified as jus cogens only 
when no derogation from it is possible. The 
rights invoked in the cases in point – the right 
to a fair hearing and the fight to respect for 
property – are, however, subject to limitations 
and exceptions. 

267. The United Kingdom has brought a cross-
appeal in this connection, seeking to have set 
aside the parts of the judgments under appeal 
dealing with jus cogens, viz., paragraphs 226 
to 231 of Kadi and 277 to 281 of Yusuf and Al 
Barakaat. 

268. For their part, the French Republic and the 
Kingdom of the Netherlands suggest that 
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the Court should undertake a replacement 
of grounds, claiming that Mr Kadi’s and Al 
Barakaat’s pleas in law relating to jus cogens 
should be dismissed by reason of the absolute 
lack of jurisdiction of the Community judica-
ture to carry out any review of resolutions of 
the Security Council, even in the light of jus 
cogens. 

269. The Commission maintains that two reasons 
may justify not giving effect to an obligation to 
implement resolutions of the Security Council 
such as those at issue, whose strict terms leave 
the Community authorities no discretion in 
their implementation; they are, first, the case in 
which the resolution concerned is contrary to 
jus cogens and, second, the case in which that 
resolution falls outside the ambit of or violates 
the purposes and principles of the United Na-
tions and was therefore adopted ultra vires. 

270. The Commission takes the view that, given 
that, according to Article 24(2) of the Charter 
of the United Nations, the Security Council is 
bound by the purposes and principles of the 
United Nations, including, according to Article 
1(3) of the Charter, the development of human 
rights and their promotion, an act adopted by 
that body in breach of human rights, including 
the fundamental rights of the individuals at is-
sue, might be regarded as having been adopt-
ed ultra vires and, therefore, as not binding on 
the Community. 

271. In the Commission’s view, however, the Court 
of First Instance was right to hold that the 
Community judicature cannot in principle re-
view the validity of a resolution of the Security 
Council in the light of the purposes and princi-
ples of the United Nations. 

272. If, nevertheless, the Court were to accept that 
it could carry out such a review, the Commis-
sion argues that the Court, as the judicature 
of an international organisation other than 
the United Nations, could express itself on this 
question only if the breach of human rights 
was particularly flagrant and glaring, referring 
here to Racke. 

273. That is not, in the Commission’s view, the case 
here, owing to the existence of the re-exami-
nation procedure before the Sanctions Com-
mittee and because it must be supposed that 
the Security Council had weighed the require-
ments of international security at issue against 
the fundamental rights concerned. 

274. With regard to the guidance given in Bospho-

rus, the Commission maintains that, in contrast 
to the case giving rise to that judgment, the 
question of the lawfulness and possible nullity 
of the resolution in question could arise with 
regard to the contested regulation if the Court 
were to rule that the Community may not im-
plement a binding resolution of the Security 
Council because the standards applied by that 
body in the sphere of human rights, especially 
in respect of the right to be heard, are insuf-
ficient. 

275. In addition, the United Kingdom is of the view 
that Mr Kadi’s arguments that the lawfulness 
of any legislation adopted by the Community 
institutions in order to give effect to a resolu-
tion of the Security Council remains subject, 
by virtue of Community law, to full review by 
the Court, regardless of its origin, constitute a 
new ground of appeal because they were put 
forward for the first time in that appellant’s re-
ply. That Member State submits that in accord-
ance with Articles 42(2) and 118 of the Rules 
of Procedure, those arguments must therefore 
be rejected. 

276. In the alternative, the United Kingdom main-
tains that the special status of resolutions 
adopted under Chapter VII of the Charter of 
the United Nations, as a result of the interac-
tion of Articles 25, 48 and 103 of that Charter, 
recognised by Article 297 EC, implies that ac-
tion taken by a Member State to perform its 
obligations with a view to maintaining interna-
tional peace and security is protected against 
any action founded on Community law. The 
primacy of those obligations clearly extends 
to principles of Community law of a constitu-
tional nature. 

277. That Member State maintains that, in Bospho-
rus, the Court did not declare that it had juris-
diction to determine the validity of a regulation 
intended to give effect to a resolution of the Se-
curity Council adopted under Chapter VII of the 
Charter of the United Nations, but did no more 
than interpret the regulation concerned for the 
purpose of determining whether a measure 
laid down by that regulation had to be applied 
by the authorities of a Member State in a given 
case. The French Republic essentially agrees 
with that interpretation of Bosphorus. 

Findings of the Court
278. Before addressing the substance of the ques-

tion, the Court finds it necessary to reject the 
objection of inadmissibility raised by the Unit-
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ed Kingdom in respect of the line of argument 
put forward by Mr Kadi in his reply, to the effect 
that the lawfulness of any legislation adopted 
by the Community institutions, including an 
act intended to give effect to a resolution of 
the Security Council remains subject, by virtue 
of Community law, to full review by the Court, 
regardless of its origin. 

279. In point of fact, as Mr Kadi has stated, that is 
an additional argument supplementing the 
ground of appeal set out earlier, at least im-
plicitly, in the notice of appeal and closely con-
nected to that ground, to the effect that the 
Community, when giving effect to a resolution 
of the Security Council, was bound to ensure, 
as a condition of the lawfulness of the legisla-
tion it intended thus to introduce, that that leg-
islation should observe the minimum criteria in 
the field of human rights (see, to that effect, 
inter alia, the order in Case C430/00 P Dürbeck 
v Commission [2001] ECR I8547, paragraph 17). 

280. The Court will now consider the heads of claim 
in which the appellants complain that the 
Court of First Instance, in essence, held that it 
followed from the principles governing the re-
lationship between the international legal or-
der under the United Nations and the Commu-
nity legal order that the contested regulation, 
since it is designed to give effect to a resolution 
adopted by the Security Council under Chapter 
VII of the Charter of the United Nations afford-
ing no latitude in that respect, could not be 
subject to judicial review of its internal lawful-
ness, save with regard to its compatibility with 
the norms of jus cogens, and therefore to that 
extent enjoyed immunity from jurisdiction. 

281. In this connection it is to be borne in mind that 
the Community is based on the rule of law, in-
asmuch as neither its Member States nor its in-
stitutions can avoid review of the conformity of 
their acts with the basic constitutional charter, 
the EC Treaty, which established a complete 
system of legal remedies and procedures de-
signed to enable the Court of Justice to review 
the legality of acts of the institutions (Case 
294/83 Les Verts v Parliament [1986] ECR 1339, 
paragraph 23). 

282.  It is also to be recalled that an international 
agreement cannot affect the allocation of 
powers fixed by the Treaties or, consequently, 
the autonomy of the Community legal system, 
observance of which is ensured by the Court 
by virtue of the exclusive jurisdiction conferred 
on it by Article 220 EC, jurisdiction that the 

Court has, moreover, already held to form part 
of the very foundations of the Community (see, 
to that effect, Opinion 1/91 [1991] ECR I6079, 
paragraphs 35 and 71, and Case C-459/03 
Commission v Ireland [2006] ECR I4635, para-
graph 123 and case-law cited). 

283. In addition, according to settled case-law, fun-
damental rights form an integral part of the 
general principles of law whose observance 
the Court ensures. For that purpose, the Court 
draws inspiration from the constitutional tradi-
tions common to the Member States and from 
the guidelines supplied by international instru-
ments for the protection of human rights on 
which the Member States have collaborated 
or to which they are signatories. In that regard, 
the ECHR has special significance (see, inter 
alia, Case C305/05 Ordre des barreaux franco-
phones et germanophone and Others [2007] 
ECR I5305, paragraph 29 and case-law cited). 

284. It is also clear from the case-law that respect for 
human rights is a condition of the lawfulness 
of Community acts (Opinion 2/94, paragraph 
34) and that measures incompatible with re-
spect for human rights are not acceptable in 
the Community (Case C112/00 Schmidberger 
[2003] ECR I5659, paragraph 73 and case-law 
cited). 

285. It follows from all those considerations that the 
obligations imposed by an international agree-
ment cannot have the effect of prejudicing 
the constitutional principles of the EC Treaty, 
which include the principle that all Community 
acts must respect fundamental rights, that re-
spect constituting a condition of their lawful-
ness which it is for the Court to review in the 
framework of the complete system of legal 
remedies established by the Treaty. 

286. In this regard it must be emphasised that, in 
circumstances such as those of these cases, the 
review of lawfulness thus to be ensured by the 
Community judicature applies to the Commu-
nity act intended to give effect to the interna-
tional agreement at issue, and not to the latter 
as such. 

287. With more particular regard to a Community 
act which, like the contested regulation, is in-
tended to give effect to a resolution adopted 
by the Security Council under Chapter VII of the 
Charter of the United Nations, it is not, there-
fore, for the Community judicature, under the 
exclusive jurisdiction provided for by Article 
220 EC, to review the lawfulness of such a reso-
lution adopted by an international body, even 
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if that review were to be limited to examina-
tion of the compatibility of that resolution with 
jus cogens. 

288. However, any judgment given by the Com-
munity judicature deciding that a Community 
measure intended to give effect to such a reso-
lution is contrary to a higher rule of law in the 
Community legal order would not entail any 
challenge to the primacy of that resolution in 
international law. 

289. The Court has thus previously annulled a deci-
sion of the Council approving an international 
agreement after considering the internal law-
fulness of the decision in the light of the agree-
ment in question and finding a breach of a 
general principle of Community law, in that in-
stance the general principle of non-discrimina-
tion (Case C122/95 Germany v Council [1998] 
ECR I973). 

290. It must therefore be considered whether, as 
the Court of First Instance held, as a result of 
the principles governing the relationship be-
tween the international legal order under the 
United Nations and the Community legal or-
der, any judicial review of the internal lawful-
ness of the contested regulation in the light of 
fundamental freedoms is in principle excluded, 
notwithstanding the fact that, as is clear from 
the decisions referred to in paragraphs 281 to 
284 above, such review is a constitutional guar-
antee forming part of the very foundations of 
the Community. 

291. In this respect it is first to be borne in mind 
that the European Community must respect 
international law in the exercise of its pow-
ers (Poulsen and Diva Navigation, paragraph 
9, and Racke, paragraph 45), the Court having 
in addition stated, in the same paragraph of 
the first of those judgments, that a measure 
adopted by virtue of those powers must be in-
terpreted, and its scope limited, in the light of 
the relevant rules of international law. 

292. Moreover, the Court has held that the powers 
of the Community provided for by Articles 177 
EC to 181 EC in the sphere of cooperation and 
development must be exercised in observance 
of the undertakings given in the context of the 
United Nations and other international organi-
sations (Case C91/05 Commission v Council 
[2008] ECR I0000, paragraph 65 and case-law 
cited). 

293. Observance of the undertakings given in the 
context of the United Nations is required just as 

much in the sphere of the maintenance of in-
ternational peace and security when the Com-
munity gives effect, by means of the adoption 
of Community measures taken on the basis of 
Articles 60 EC and 301 EC, to resolutions adopt-
ed by the Security Council under Chapter VII of 
the Charter of the United Nations. 

294. In the exercise of that latter power it is neces-
sary for the Community to attach special im-
portance to the fact that, in accordance with 
Article 24 of the Charter of the United Nations, 
the adoption by the Security Council of resolu-
tions under Chapter VII of the Charter consti-
tutes the exercise of the primary responsibility 
with which that international body is invested 
for the maintenance of peace and security at 
the global level, a responsibility which, under 
Chapter VII, includes the power to determine 
what and who poses a threat to international 
peace and security and to take the measures 
necessary to maintain or restore them. 

295. Next, it is to be noted that the powers provided 
for in Articles 60 EC and 301 EC may be exer-
cised only in pursuance of the adoption of a 
common position or joint action by virtue of 
the provisions of the EC Treaty relating to the 
CFSP which provides for action by the Com-
munity. 

296. Although, because of the adoption of such an 
act, the Community is bound to take, under 
the EC Treaty, the measures necessitated by 
that act, that obligation means, when the ob-
ject is to implement a resolution of the Secu-
rity Council adopted under Chapter VII of the 
Charter of the United Nations, that in drawing 
up those measures the Community is to take 
due account of the terms and objectives of the 
resolution concerned and of the relevant ob-
ligations under the Charter of the United Na-
tions relating to such implementation. 

297. Furthermore, the Court has previously held 
that, for the purposes of the interpretation 
of the contested regulation, account must 
also be taken of the wording and purpose of 
Resolution 1390 (2002) which that regulation, 
according to the fourth recital in the preamble 
thereto, is designed to implement (Möllendorf 
and Möllendorf-Niehuus, paragraph 54 and 
case-law cited). 

298. It must however be noted that the Charter of 
the United Nations does not impose the choice 
of a particular model for the implementation of 
resolutions adopted by the Security Council 
under Chapter VII of the Charter, since they are 
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to be given effect in accordance with the pro-
cedure applicable in that respect in the domes-
tic legal order of each Member of the United 
Nations. The Charter of the United Nations 
leaves the Members of the United Nations a 
free choice among the various possible models 
for transposition of those resolutions into their 
domestic legal order. 

299. It follows from all those considerations that it is 
not a consequence of the principles governing 
the international legal order under the United 
Nations that any judicial review of the internal 
lawfulness of the contested regulation in the 
light of fundamental freedoms is excluded by 
virtue of the fact that that measure is intended 
to give effect to a resolution of the Security 
Council adopted under Chapter VII of the Char-
ter of the United Nations. 

300. What is more, such immunity from jurisdiction 
for a Community measure like the contested 
regulation, as a corollary of the principle of 
the primacy at the level of international law 
of obligations under the Charter of the United 
Nations, especially those relating to the imple-
mentation of resolutions of the Security Coun-
cil adopted under Chapter VII of the Charter, 
cannot find a basis in the EC Treaty. 

301. Admittedly, the Court has previously recog-
nised that Article 234 of the EC Treaty (now, 
after amendment, Article 307 EC) could, if the 
conditions for application have been satisfied, 
allow derogations even from primary law, for 
example from Article 113 of the EC Treaty on 
the common commercial policy (see, to that 
effect, Centro-Com, paragraphs 56 to 61). 

302. It is true also that Article 297 EC implicitly per-
mits obstacles to the operation of the common 
market when they are caused by measures 
taken by a Member State to carry out the in-
ternational obligations it has accepted for the 
purpose of maintaining international peace 
and security. 

303. Those provisions cannot, however, be under-
stood to authorise any derogation from the 
principles of liberty, democracy and respect 
for human rights and fundamental freedoms 
enshrined in Article 6(1) EU as a foundation of 
the Union. 

304. Article 307 EC may in no circumstances per-
mit any challenge to the principles that form 
part of the very foundations of the Community 
legal order, one of which is the protection of 
fundamental rights, including the review by 

the Community judicature of the lawfulness of 
Community measures as regards their consist-
ency with those fundamental rights. 

305. Nor can an immunity from jurisdiction for the 
contested regulation with regard to the review 
of its compatibility with fundamental rights, 
arising from the alleged absolute primacy of 
the resolutions of the Security Council to which 
that measure is designed to give effect, find 
any basis in the place that obligations under 
the Charter of the United Nations would oc-
cupy in the hierarchy of norms within the Com-
munity legal order if those obligations were to 
be classified in that hierarchy. 

306. Article 300(7) EC provides that agreements 
concluded under the conditions set out in that 
article are to be binding on the institutions of 
the Community and on Member States. 

307. Thus, by virtue of that provision, supposing it 
to be applicable to the Charter of the United 
Nations, the latter would have primacy over 
acts of secondary Community law (see, to that 
effect, Case C308/06 Intertanko and Others 
[2008] ECR I0000, paragraph 42 and case-law 
cited). 

308. That primacy at the level of Community law 
would not, however, extend to primary law, 
in particular to the general principles of which 
fundamental rights form part. 

309. That interpretation is supported by Article 
300(6) EC, which provides that an international 
agreement may not enter into force if the 
Court has delivered an adverse opinion on its 
compatibility with the EC Treaty, unless the lat-
ter has previously been amended. 

310. It has however been maintained before the 
Court, in particular at the hearing, that the 
Community judicature ought, like the Euro-
pean Court of Human Rights, which in several 
recent decisions has declined jurisdiction to re-
view the compatibility of certain measures tak-
en in the implementing of resolutions adopted 
by the Security Council under Chapter VII of the 
Charter of the United Nations, to refrain from 
reviewing the lawfulness of the contested reg-
ulation in the light of fundamental freedoms, 
because that regulation is also intended to give 
effect to such resolutions. 

311. In this respect, it is to be found that, as the Eu-
ropean Court of Human Rights itself has noted, 
there exists a fundamental difference be-
tween the nature of the measures concerned 
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by those decisions, with regard to which that 
court declined jurisdiction to carry out a review 
of consistency with the ECHR, and the nature of 
other measures with regard to which its juris-
diction would seem to be unquestionable (see 
Behrami and Behrami v. France and Saramati v. 
France, Germany and Norway of 2 May 2007, 
not yet published in the Reports of Judgments 
and Decisions, §151). 

312. While, in certain cases before it the European 
Court of Human Rights has declined jurisdic-
tion ratione personae, those cases involved 
actions directly attributable to the United Na-
tions as an organisation of universal jurisdic-
tion fulfilling its imperative collective security 
objective, in particular actions of a subsidiary 
organ of the UN created under Chapter VII of 
the Charter of the United Nations or actions 
falling within the exercise of powers lawfully 
delegated by the Security Council pursuant to 
that chapter, and not actions ascribable to the 
respondent States before that court, those ac-
tions not, moreover, having taken place in the 
territory of those States and not resulting from 
any decision of the authorities of those States. 

313. By contrast, in paragraph 151 of Behrami and 
Behrami v. France and Saramati v. France, Ger-
many and Norway, the European Court of Hu-
man Rights stated that in the case leading to 
its judgment in Bosphorus Hava Yolları Turizm 
ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi v. Ireland, concerning 
a seizure measure carried out by the authori-
ties of the respondent State on its territory fol-
lowing a decision by one of its ministers, it had 
recognised its competence, notably ratione 
personae, vis-à-vis the respondent State, de-
spite the fact that the source of the contested 
measure was a Community regulation taken, in 
its turn, pursuant to a resolution of the Security 
Council. 

314. In the instant case it must be declared that the 
contested regulation cannot be considered to 
be an act directly attributable to the United 
Nations as an action of one of its subsidiary or-
gans created under Chapter VII of the Charter 
of the United Nations or an action falling within 
the exercise of powers lawfully delegated by 
the Security Council pursuant to that chapter. 

315. In addition and in any event, the question of 
the Court’s jurisdiction to rule on the lawful-
ness of the contested regulation has arisen in 
fundamentally different circumstances. 

316. As noted above in paragraphs 281 to 284, the 
review by the Court of the validity of any Com-

munity measure in the light of fundamental 
rights must be considered to be the expres-
sion, in a community based on the rule of law, 
of a constitutional guarantee stemming from 
the EC Treaty as an autonomous legal system 
which is not to be prejudiced by an interna-
tional agreement. 

317. The question of the Court’s jurisdiction arises 
in the context of the internal and autonomous 
legal order of the Community, within whose 
ambit the contested regulation falls and in 
which the Court has jurisdiction to review the 
validity of Community measures in the light of 
fundamental rights. 

318. It has in addition been maintained that, having 
regard to the deference required of the Com-
munity institutions vis-à-vis the institutions of 
the United Nations, the Court must forgo the 
exercise of any review of the lawfulness of the 
contested regulation in the light of fundamen-
tal rights, even if such review were possible, 
given that, under the system of sanctions set 
up by the United Nations, having particular 
regard to the re-examination procedure which 
has recently been significantly improved by 
various resolutions of the Security Council, fun-
damental rights are adequately protected. 

319. According to the Commission, so long as un-
der that system of sanctions the individuals or 
entities concerned have an acceptable oppor-
tunity to be heard through a mechanism of ad-
ministrative review forming part of the United 
Nations legal system, the Court must not inter-
vene in any way whatsoever. 

320. In this connection it may be observed, first 
of all, that if in fact, as a result of the Secu-
rity Council’s adoption of various resolutions, 
amendments have been made to the system 
of restrictive measures set up by the United Na-
tions with regard both to entry in the summary 
list and to removal from it [see, in particular, 
Resolutions 1730 (2006) of 19 December 2006, 
and 1735 (2006) of 22 December 2006], those 
amendments were made after the contested 
regulation had been adopted so that, in prin-
ciple, they cannot be taken into consideration 
in these appeals. 

321. In any event, the existence, within that United 
Nations system, of the re-examination proce-
dure before the Sanctions Committee, even 
having regard to the amendments recently 
made to it, cannot give rise to generalised im-
munity from jurisdiction within the internal le-
gal order of the Community. 
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322. Indeed, such immunity, constituting a signifi-
cant derogation from the scheme of judicial 
protection of fundamental rights laid down by 
the EC Treaty, appears unjustified, for clearly 
that re-examination procedure does not offer 
the guarantees of judicial protection. 

323. In that regard, although it is now open to any 
person or entity to approach the Sanctions 
Committee directly, submitting a request to 
be removed from the summary list at what is 
called the’focal’ point, the fact remains that the 
procedure before that Committee is still in es-
sence diplomatic and intergovernmental, the 
persons or entities concerned having no real 
opportunity of asserting their rights and that 
committee taking its decisions by consensus, 
each of its members having a right of veto. 

324. The Guidelines of the Sanctions Committee, 
as last amended on 12 February 2007, make 
it plain that an applicant submitting a request 
for removal from the list may in no way assert 
his rights himself during the procedure before 
the Sanctions Committee or be represented 
for that purpose, the Government of his State 
of residence or of citizenship alone having the 
right to submit observations on that request. 

325. Moreover, those Guidelines do not require the 
Sanctions Committee to communicate to the 
applicant the reasons and evidence justifying 
his appearance in the summary list or to give 
him access, even restricted, to that information. 
Last, if that Committee rejects the request for 
removal from the list, it is under no obligation 
to give reasons. 

326. It follows from the foregoing that the Com-
munity judicature must, in accordance with 
the powers conferred on it by the EC Treaty, 
ensure the review, in principle the full review, 
of the lawfulness of all Community acts in the 
light of the fundamental rights forming an 
integral part of the general principles of Com-
munity law, including review of Community 
measures which, like the contested regulation, 
are designed to give effect to the resolutions 
adopted by the Security Council under Chapter 
VII of the Charter of the United Nations. 

327. The Court of First Instance erred in law, there-
fore, when it held, in paragraphs 212 to 231 of 
Kadi and 263 to 282 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat, 
that it followed from the principles govern-
ing the relationship between the international 
legal order under the United Nations and the 
Community legal order that the contested reg-
ulation, since it is designed to give effect to a 

resolution adopted by the Security Council un-
der Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Na-
tions affording no latitude in that respect, must 
enjoy immunity from jurisdiction so far as con-
cerns its internal lawfulness save with regard to 
its compatibility with the norms of jus cogens. 

328. The appellants’ grounds of appeal are there-
fore well founded on that point, with the result 
that the judgments under appeal must be set 
aside in this respect. 

329. It follows that there is no longer any need to 
examine the heads of claim directed against 
that part of the judgments under appeal relat-
ing to review of the contested regulation in 
the light of the rules of international law fall-
ing within the ambit of jus cogens and that it is, 
therefore, no longer necessary to examine the 
United Kingdom’s cross-appeal on this point 
either. 

330. Furthermore, given that in the latter part of the 
judgments under appeal, relating to the spe-
cific fundamental rights invoked by the appel-
lants, the Court of First Instance confined itself 
to examining the lawfulness of the contested 
regulation in the light of those rules alone, 
when it was its duty to carry out an examina-
tion, in principle a full examination, in the light 
of the fundamental rights forming part of the 
general principles of Community law, the latter 
part of those judgments must also be set aside. 

Concerning the actions before the 
Court of First Instance
331. As provided in the second sentence of the first 

paragraph of Article 61 of the Statute of the 
Court of Justice, the latter, when it quashes the 
decision of the Court of First Instance, may give 
final judgment in the matter where the state of 
proceedings so permits. 

332. In the circumstances, the Court considers that 
the actions for annulment of the contested 
regulation brought by the appellants are ready 
for judgment and that it is necessary to give fi-
nal judgment in them. 

333. It is appropriate to examine, first, the claims 
made by Mr Kadi and Al Barakaat with regard 
to the breach of the rights of the defence, in 
particular the right to be heard, and of the 
right to effective judicial review, caused by the 
measures for the freezing of funds as they were 
imposed on the appellants by the contested 
regulation. 
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334. In this regard, in the light of the actual circum-
stances surrounding the inclusion of the appel-
lants’ names in the list of persons and entities 
covered by the restrictive measures contained 
in Annex I to the contested regulation, it must 
be held that the rights of the defence, in par-
ticular the right to be heard, and the right to 
effective judicial review of those rights, were 
patently not respected. 

335. According to settled case-law, the principle 
of effective judicial protection is a general 
principle of Community law stemming from 
the constitutional traditions common to the 
Member States, which has been enshrined in 
Articles 6 and 13 of the ECHR, this principle 
having furthermore been reaffirmed by Article 
47 of the Charter of fundamental rights of the 
European Union, proclaimed on 7 December 
2000 in Nice (OJ 2000 C 364, p. 1) (see, to this 
effect, Case C432/05 Unibet [2007] ECR I2271, 
paragraph 37). 

336. In addition, having regard to the Court’s case-
law in other fields (see, inter alia, Case 222/86 
Heylens and Others [1987] ECR 4097, para-
graph 15, and Joined Cases C189/02 P, C202/02 
P, C205/02 P to C208/02 P and C213/02 P Dansk 
Rørindustri and Others v Commission [2005] 
ECR I5425, paragraphs 462 and 463), it must be 
held in this instance that the effectiveness of 
judicial review, which it must be possible to ap-
ply to the lawfulness of the grounds on which, 
in these cases, the name of a person or entity 
is included in the list forming Annex I to the 
contested regulation and leading to the impo-
sition on those persons or entities of a body of 
restrictive measures, means that the Commu-
nity authority in question is bound to commu-
nicate those grounds to the person or entity 
concerned, so far as possible, either when that 
inclusion is decided on or, at the very least, as 
swiftly as possible after that decision in order 
to enable those persons or entities to exercise, 
within the periods prescribed, their right to 
bring an action. 

337. Observance of that obligation to communi-
cate the grounds is necessary both to enable 
the persons to whom restrictive measures are 
addressed to defend their rights in the best 
possible conditions and to decide, with full 
knowledge of the relevant facts, whether there 
is any point in their applying to the Community 
judicature (see, to that effect, Heylens and Oth-
ers, paragraph 15), and to put the latter fully in 
a position in which it may carry out the review 
of the lawfulness of the Community measure in 

question which is its duty under the EC Treaty. 

338. So far as concerns the rights of the defence, in 
particular the right to be heard, with regard to 
restrictive measures such as those imposed by 
the contested regulation, the Community au-
thorities cannot be required to communicate 
those grounds before the name of a person or 
entity is entered in that list for the first time. 

339. As the Court of First Instance stated in para-
graph 308 of Yusuf and Al Barakaat, such prior 
communication would be liable to jeopardise 
the effectiveness of the freezing of funds and 
resources imposed by that regulation. 

340. In order to attain the objective pursued by that 
regulation, such measures must, by their very 
nature, take advantage of a surprise effect and, 
as the Court has previously stated, apply with 
immediate effect (Möllendorf and Möllendorf-
Niehuus, paragraph 63). 

341. Nor were the Community authorities bound to 
hear the appellants before their names were 
included for the first time in the list set out in 
Annex I to that regulation, for reasons also con-
nected to the objective pursued by the con-
tested regulation and to the effectiveness of 
the measures provided by the latter. 

342. In addition, with regard to a Community meas-
ure intended to give effect to a resolution 
adopted by the Security Council in connec-
tion with the fight against terrorism, overriding 
considerations to do with safety or the conduct 
of the international relations of the Community 
and of its Member States may militate against 
the communication of certain matters to the 
persons concerned and, therefore, against 
their being heard on those matters. 

343. However, that does not mean, with regard 
to the principle of effective judicial protec-
tion, that restrictive measures such as those 
imposed by the contested regulation escape 
all review by the Community judicature once 
it has been claimed that the act laying them 
down concerns national security and terrorism. 

344. In such a case, it is none the less the task of the 
Community judicature to apply, in the course 
of the judicial review it carries out, techniques 
which accommodate, on the one hand, legiti-
mate security concerns about the nature and 
sources of information taken into account in 
the adoption of the act concerned and, on the 
other, the need to accord the individual a suffi-
cient measure of procedural justice (see, to that 
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effect, the judgment of the European Court of 
Human Rights in Chahal v. United Kingdom of 
15 November 1996, Reports of Judgments and 
Decisions 1996-V, § 131). 

345. In the circumstances, the inevitable conclusion 
is, first of all, that neither the contested regula-
tion nor Common Position 2002/402 to which 
the former refers provides for a procedure for 
communicating the evidence justifying the in-
clusion of the names of the persons concerned 
in Annex I to that regulation and for hearing 
those persons, either at the same time as that 
inclusion or later. 

346. It has next to be pointed out that the Coun-
cil at no time informed the appellants of the 
evidence adduced against them that allegedly 
justified the inclusion of their names for the 
first time in Annex I to the contested regula-
tion and, consequently, the imposition of the 
restrictive measures laid down by the latter. 

347. It is not indeed denied that no information 
was supplied in that connection to the appel-
lants, whether in Regulation No 467/2001 as 
amended by Regulations Nos 2062/2001 and 
2199/2001, their names being mentioned for 
the first time in a list of persons, entities or bod-
ies to whom and to which a measure freezing 
funds applies, in the contested regulation or at 
some later stage. 

348. Because the Council neither communicated to 
the appellants the evidence used against them 
to justify the restrictive measures imposed on 
them nor afforded them the right to be in-
formed of that evidence within a reasonable 
period after those measures were enacted, the 
appellants were not in a position to make their 
point of view in that respect known to advan-
tage. Therefore, the appellants’ rights of de-
fence, in particular the right to be heard, were 
not respected. 

349. In addition, given the failure to inform them of 
the evidence adduced against them and hav-
ing regard to the relationship, referred to in 
paragraphs 336 and 337 above, between the 
rights of the defence and the right to an ef-
fective legal remedy, the appellants were also 
unable to defend their rights with regard to 
that evidence in satisfactory conditions before 
the Community judicature, with the result that 
it must be held that their right to an effective 
legal remedy has also been infringed. 

350. Last, it must be stated that that infringement 
has not been remedied in the course of these 

actions. Indeed, given that, according to the 
fundamental position adopted by the Council, 
no evidence of that kind may be the subject 
of investigation by the Community judicature, 
the Council has adduced no evidence to that 
effect. 

351. The Court cannot, therefore, do other than find 
that it is not able to undertake the review of 
the lawfulness of the contested regulation in 
so far as it concerns the appellants, with the 
result that it must be held that, for that reason 
too, the fundamental right to an effective legal 
remedy which they enjoy has not, in the cir-
cumstances, been observed. 

352. It must, therefore, be held that the contested 
regulation, in so far as it concerns the appel-
lants, was adopted without any guarantee be-
ing given as to the communication of the in-
culpatory evidence against them or as to their 
being heard in that connection, so that it must 
be found that that regulation was adopted 
according to a procedure in which the appel-
lants’ rights of defence were not observed, 
which has had the further consequence that 
the principle of effective judicial protection has 
been infringed. 

353. It follows from all the foregoing considerations 
that the pleas in law raised by Mr Kadi and Al 
Barakaat in support of their actions for annul-
ment of the contested regulation and alleging 
breach of their rights of defence, especially the 
right to be heard, and of the principle of effec-
tive judicial protection, are well founded. 

354. Second, the Court will now examine the plea 
raised by Mr Kadi with regard to breach of the 
right to respect for property entailed by the 
freezing measures imposed on him by virtue of 
the contested regulation. 

355. According to settled case-law, the right to 
property is one of the general principles of 
Community law. It is not, however, absolute, 
but must be viewed in relation to its function 
in society. Consequently, the exercise of the 
right to property may be restricted, provided 
that those restrictions in fact correspond to ob-
jectives of public interest pursued by the Com-
munity and do not constitute, in relation to the 
aim pursued, a disproportionate and intoler-
able interference, impairing the very substance 
of the right so guaranteed (see, in particular, 
Regione autonoma Friuli-Venezia Giulia and 
ERSA, paragraph 119 and case-law cited; see 
also, to that effect in the context of a system of 
restrictive measures, Bosphorus, paragraph 21). 
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356. In order to assess the extent of the funda-
mental right to respect for property, a general 
principle of Community law, account is to be 
taken of, in particular, Article 1 of the First Ad-
ditional Protocol to the ECHR, which enshrines 
that right. 

357. Next, it falls to be examined whether the 
freezing measure provided by the contested 
regulation amounts to disproportionate and 
intolerable interference impairing the very 
substance of the fundamental right to respect 
for the property of persons who, like Mr Kadi, 
are mentioned in the list set out in Annex I to 
that regulation. 

358. That freezing measure constitutes a temporary 
precautionary measure which is not supposed 
to deprive those persons of their property. It 
does, however, undeniably entail a restriction 
of the exercise of Mr Kadi’s right to property 
that must, moreover, be classified as consider-
able, having regard to the general application 
of the freezing measure and the fact that it has 
been applied to him since 20 October 2001. 

359. The question therefore arises whether that 
restriction of the exercise of Mr Kadi’s right to 
property can be justified. 

360. In this respect, according to the case-law of the 
European Court of Human Rights, there must 
also exist a reasonable relationship of propor-
tionality between the means employed and the 
aim sought to be realised. The Court must de-
termine whether a fair balance has been struck 
between the demands of the public interest 
and the interest of the individuals concerned. 
In so doing, the Court recognises that the leg-
islature enjoys a wide margin of appreciation, 
with regard both to choosing the means of 
enforcement and to ascertaining whether the 
consequences of enforcement are justified in 
the public interest for the purpose of achieving 
the object of the law in question [see, to that 
effect, in particular, European Court of Human 
Rights, judgment in J.A. Pye (Oxford) Ltd. and 
J.A. Pye (Oxford) Land Ltd. v. United Kingdom 
of 30 August 2007, Reports of Judgments and 
Decisions 2007-0000, §§ 55 and 75]. 

361. As the Court has already held in connection 
with another Community system of restrictive 
measures of an economic nature also giving 
effect to resolutions adopted by the Security 
Council under Chapter VII of the Charter of the 
United Nations, the importance of the aims 
pursued by a Community act is such as to jus-
tify negative consequences, even of a substan-

tial nature, for some operators, including those 
who are in no way responsible for the situation 
which led to the adoption of the measures in 
question, but who find themselves affected, 
particularly as regards their property rights 
(see, to that effect, Bosphorus, paragraphs 22 
and 23). 

362. In the case in point, the restrictive measures 
laid down by the contested regulation con-
tribute to the implementation, at Community 
level, of the restrictive measures decided on by 
the Security Council against Usama bin Laden, 
members of the Al-Qaeda organisation and 
the Taliban and other individuals, groups, un-
dertakings and entities associated with them. 

363. With reference to an objective of general inter-
est as fundamental to the international com-
munity as the fight by all means, in accordance 
with the Charter of the United Nations, against 
the threats to international peace and security 
posed by acts of terrorism, the freezing of the 
funds, financial assets and other economic 
resources of the persons identified by the Se-
curity Council or the Sanctions Committee as 
being associated with Usama bin Laden, mem-
bers of the Al-Qaeda organisation and the 
Taliban cannot per se be regarded as inappro-
priate or disproportionate (see, to that effect, 
Bosphorus, paragraph 26, and the judgment 
of the European Court of Human Rights in Bos-
phorus Hava Yolları Turizm ve Ticaret Anonim 
Şirketi v. Ireland, § 167). 

364. On this point, it is also to be taken into consid-
eration that the contested regulation, in the 
version amended by Regulation No 561/2003, 
adopted following Resolution 1452 (2002), pro-
vides, among other derogations and exemp-
tions, that, on a request made by an interested 
person, and unless the Sanctions Committee 
expressly objects, the competent national au-
thorities may declare the freezing of funds to 
be inapplicable to the funds necessary to cover 
basic expenses, including payments for food-
stuffs, rent, medicines and medical treatment, 
taxes or public utility charges. In addition, 
funds necessary for any’extraordinary expense’ 
whatsoever may be unfrozen, on the express 
authorisation of the Sanctions Committee. 

365. It is further to be noted that the resolutions of 
the Security Council to which the contested 
regulation is intended to give effect provide for 
a mechanism for the periodic re-examination 
of the general system of measures they enact 
and also for a procedure enabling the persons 
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concerned at any time to submit their case to 
the Sanctions Committee for re-examination, 
by means of a request that may now be made 
direct to the Committee at what is called 
the’focal’ point. 

366. It must therefore be found that the restrictive 
measures imposed by the contested regula-
tion constitute restrictions of the right to prop-
erty which might, in principle, be justified. 

367. In addition, it must be considered whether, 
when that regulation was applied to Mr Kadi, 
his right to property was respected in the cir-
cumstances of the case. 

368. It is to be borne in mind in this respect that 
the applicable procedures must also afford the 
person concerned a reasonable opportunity of 
putting his case to the competent authorities. 
In order to ascertain whether this condition, 
which constitutes a procedural requirement in-
herent in Article 1 of Protocol No 1 to the ECHR, 
has been satisfied, a comprehensive view must 
be taken of the applicable procedures (see, 
to that effect, the judgment of the European 
Court of Human Rights in Jokela v. Finland of 21 
May 2002, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 
2002-IV, § 45 and case-law cited, and § 55). 

369. The contested regulation, in so far as it con-
cerns Mr Kadi, was adopted without furnishing 
any guarantee enabling him to put his case 
to the competent authorities, in a situation 
in which the restriction of his property rights 
must be regarded as significant, having regard 
to the general application and actual continu-
ation of the freezing measures affecting him. 

370. It must therefore be held that, in the circum-
stances of the case, the imposition of the re-
strictive measures laid down by the contested 
regulation in respect of Mr Kadi, by including 
him in the list contained in Annex I to that reg-
ulation, constitutes an unjustified restriction of 
his right to property. 

371. The plea raised by Mr Kadi that his fundamental 
right to respect for property has been infringed 
is therefore well founded. 

372. It follows from all the foregoing that the con-
tested regulation, so far as it concerns the ap-
pellants, must be annulled. 

373. However, the annulment to that extent of the 
contested regulation with immediate effect 
would be capable of seriously and irreversibly 
prejudicing the effectiveness of the restric-
tive measures imposed by the regulation and 

which the Community is required to imple-
ment, because in the interval preceding its re-
placement by a new regulation Mr Kadi and Al 
Barakaat might take steps seeking to prevent 
measures freezing funds from being applied to 
them again. 

374. Furthermore, in so far as it follows from this 
judgment that the contested regulation must 
be annulled so far as concerns the appellants, 
by reason of breach of principles applicable 
in the procedure followed when the restric-
tive measures introduced by that regulation 
were adopted, it cannot be excluded that, on 
the merits of the case, the imposition of those 
measures on the appellants may for all that 
prove to be justified. 

375. Having regard to those considerations, the ef-
fects of the contested regulation, in so far as it 
includes the names of the appellants in the list 
forming Annex I thereto, must, by virtue of Ar-
ticle 231 EC, be maintained for a brief period to 
be fixed in such a way as to allow the Council 
to remedy the infringements found, but which 
also takes due account of the considerable im-
pact of the restrictive measures concerned on 
the appellants’ rights and freedoms. 

376. In those circumstances, Article 231 EC will be 
correctly applied in maintaining the effects of 
the contested regulation, so far as concerns the 
appellants, for a period that may not exceed 
three months running from the date of delivery 
of this judgment. 

Costs
377. Under the first paragraph of Article 122 of the 

Rules of Procedure, where the appeal is well 
founded and the Court of Justice itself gives 
final judgment in the case, it is to make a deci-
sion as to costs. Under Article 69(2) of the Rules 
of Procedure, applicable to appeal proceed-
ings by virtue of Article 118 thereof, the unsuc-
cessful party is to be ordered to pay the costs 
if they have been applied for in the successful 
party’s pleadings. The first paragraph of Article 
69(4) provides that the Member States which 
have intervened in the proceedings are to bear 
their own costs. 

378. Because Mr Kadi and Al Barakaat’s appeals must 
be upheld and because the contested regula-
tion must be annulled in so far as it concerns 
the appellants, the Council and the Commis-
sion must each be ordered to pay, in addition 
to their own costs, half of those incurred by Mr 
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Kadi and Al Barakaat, both at first instance and 
in the present proceedings, in accordance with 
the forms of order sought to that effect by the 
appellants. 

379. The United Kingdom of Great Britain and 
Northern Ireland is to bear its own costs both 
at first instance and in the appeals. 

380. The Kingdom of Spain, the French Republic 
and the Kingdom of the Netherlands are to 
bear their own costs relating to the appeals. 

On those grounds, the Court (Grand Chamber) 
hereby:

1. Sets aside the judgments of the Court of first 
Instance of the European Communities of 21 
September 2005 in Case T315/01 Kadi v Coun-
cil and Commission and Case T306/01 yusuf 
and Al Barakaat International foundation v 
Council and Commission;

2. Annuls Council Regulation (EC) No 881/2002 
of 27 May 2002 imposing certain specific re-
strictive measures directed against certain 
persons and entities associated with usama 
bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and the Tali-
ban, and repealing Council Regulation (EC) 
No 467/2001 prohibiting the export of certain 
goods and services to Afghanistan, strength-
ening the flight ban and extending the freeze 
of funds and other financial resources in re-
spect of the Taliban of Afghanistan, in so far as 
it concerns Mr Kadi and the Al Barakaat Inter-
national foundation;

3. Orders the effects of Regulation No 881/2002 
to be maintained, so far as concerns Mr Kadi 
and the Al Barakaat International founda-
tion, for a period that may not exceed three 
months running from the date of delivery of 
this judgment;

4. Orders the Council of the European union 
and the Commission of the European Com-
munities each to pay, in addition to their own 
costs, half of those incurred by Mr Kadi and 
Al Barakaat International foundation both at 
first instance and in these appeals;

5. Orders the united Kingdom of Great Britain 
and Northern Ireland to bear its own costs 
both at first instance and in these appeals;

6. Orders the Kingdom of Spain, the french Re-
public and the Kingdom of the Netherlands to 
bear their own costs.

Signatures
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COUNCIL FRAMEWORK DECISION 2001/220/JHA OF 15 
MARCH 2001 ON THE STANDING OF VICTIMS IN CRIMI-
NAL PROCEEDINGS, CONCEPT OF VICTIM

CAsE C-467/05 CRIMInAL 
PRoCEEDInGs AGAInst 
GIoVAnnI DELL’oRto
(Reference for a preliminary ruling from the judge 
in charge of preliminary investigations at the Tribu-
nale di Milano)

(Police and judicial cooperation in criminal mat-
ters – Framework Decision 2001/220/JHA – Direc-
tive 2004/80/EC – Concept of’victim’ in criminal 
proceedings – Legal person – Return of property 
seized in the course of criminal proceedings)

Opinion of Advocate General Kokott delivered on 
8 March 2007 

Judgment of the Court (Third Chamber), 28 June 
2007 

KEYWORDS

1. Preliminary rulings – Question on the interpre-
tation of a Framework Decision adopted under 
Title VI of the EU Treaty (Art. 234 EC; Arts 35 EU 
and 46(b) EU)

2. Preliminary rulings – Jurisdiction of the Court 
– Police and judicial cooperation in criminal 
matters (Art. 234 EC; Arts 35 EU and 46(b) EU)

3. Acts of the institutions – Temporal application 
– Procedural rules 

4. European Union – Police and judicial coopera-
tion in criminal matters – Standing of victims 
in criminal proceedings – Framework Deci-
sion 2001/220 (Council Framework Decision 
2001/220, Arts 1(a), 2(1) and 8(1))

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

1. The fact that an order for reference concern-
ing the interpretation of a Framework Decision 
adopted under Title VI of the EU Treaty does 
not mention Article 35 EU, but refers to Article 
234 EC, cannot of itself make the reference for 
preliminary ruling inadmissible. That conclu-
sion is reinforced by the fact that the EU Treaty 

neither expressly nor by implication lays down 
the form in which the national court must pre-
sent its reference for a preliminary ruling. (see 
para. 36)

2. In accordance with Article 46(b) EU, the system 
under Article 234 EC is capable of being ap-
plied to Article 35 EU, subject to the conditions 
laid down by that provision. Like Article 234 EC, 
Article 35 EU makes reference to the Court of 
Justice for a preliminary ruling subject to the 
condition that the national court’considers 
that a decision on the question is necessary in 
order to enable it to give judgment’, meaning 
that the case-law of the Court of Justice on the 
admissibility of references under Article 234 EC 
is, in principle, transposable to references for 
a preliminary ruling submitted to the Court of 
Justice under Article 35 EU. 

It follows that the presumption that questions 
referred by national courts for a preliminary rul-
ing are relevant may be rebutted only in excep-
tional cases, where it is quite obvious that the 
interpretation which is sought of the provisions 
of Union law referred to in the questions bears 
no relation to the actual facts of the main ac-
tion or to its purpose or where the problem is 
hypothetical or the Court does not have before 
it the factual or legal material necessary to give 
a useful answer to the questions submitted to 
it. Save for such cases, the Court is, in principle, 
required to give a ruling on questions concern-
ing the interpretation of the acts referred to in 
Article 35(1) EU. (see paras 34, 39-40)

3. Procedural rules are generally held to apply to 
all proceedings pending at the time when they 
enter into force, whereas substantive rules are 
usually interpreted as not applying to situa-
tions existing before their entry into force. 

The question as to the power of the national 
court to take a decision concerning the re-
turn to the victim of property which has been 
seized in criminal proceedings relates to pro-
cedural rules, with the result that there is no 
obstacle deriving from the temporal applica-
tion of the law which precludes the taking into 
account, in proceedings on that question, of 
the relevant provisions of Framework Decision 
2001/220 on the standing of victims in criminal 
proceedings, with a view to the interpretation 
of the applicable national law in conformity 
with those provisions. (see paras 48-49)

4. Framework Decision 2001/220 on the stand-
ing of victims in criminal proceedings must 
be interpreted as meaning that, in criminal 

Case C-467/05 Criminal proceedings against Giovanni Dell’Orto
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proceedings and, in particular, in enforcement 
proceedings following a judgment which re-
sulted in a final criminal conviction, the con-
cept of’victim’ for the purposes of the Frame-
work Decision does not include legal persons 
who have suffered harm directly caused by 
acts or omissions that are in violation of the 
criminal law of a Member State. 

To interpret the Framework Decision as also 
applying to’legal’ persons who maintain that 
they have suffered harm directly caused by a 
criminal act, would contradict the very letter of 
Article 1(a) of that Framework Decision, which 
applies only to natural persons who have suf-
fered harm directly caused by conduct which 
infringes the criminal law of a Member State. 
In addition, there is no indication in any other 
provision of the Framework Decision that the 
European Union legislature intended to extend 
the concept of victim for the purposes of the 
application of the Framework Decision to le-
gal persons. The converse is in fact the case, as 
several provisions of the Framework Decision, 
particularly Articles 2(1) and (2) and 8(1) con-
firm that the legislature’s objective was to limit 
its scope exclusively to natural persons who are 
victims of harm resulting from a criminal act. 

That interpretation cannot be invalidated by 
Directive 2004/80 relating to compensation to 
crime victims. Even supposing that the provi-
sions of a directive adopted on the basis of the 
EC Treaty were capable of having any effect on 
the interpretation of the provisions of a Frame-
work Decision based on the Treaty on Europe-
an Union and that the concept of victim for the 
purposes of the directive could be interpreted 
to include legal persons, the directive and the 
Framework Decision are not on any analysis 
linked in a manner which would call for a uni-
form interpretation of the concept in question. 

(see paras 53-55, 57-58, 60, operative part)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (THIRD 
CHAMBER)

28 June 200715 

(Police and judicial cooperation in criminal mat-
ters – Framework Decision 2001/220/JHA – Direc-
tive 2004/80/EC – Concept of’victim’ in criminal 
proceedings – Legal person – Return of property 
seized in the course of criminal proceedings)

15 Language of the case: Italian.

In Case C-467/05,

REFERENCE for a preliminary ruling under Article 
234 EC from the judge in charge of preliminary in-
vestigations at the Tribunale di Milano (Italy), made 
by decision of 6 October 2005, received at the 
Court on 27 December 2005, in the criminal pro-
ceedings against 

Giovanni Dell’Orto,

joined party: Saipem SpA,

THE COURT (Third Chamber), composed of A. Ro-
sas, President of the Chamber, J. Klučka, J.N. Cunha 
Rodrigues (Rapporteur), A. ó Caoimh and P. Lindh, 
Judges, Advocate General: J. Kokott, Registrar: C. 
Strömholm, Administrator,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 1 February 2007,

after considering the observations submitted on 
behalf of:

• Mr Dell’Orto, by M. Brusa, avvocato,
• the Italian Government, by I.M. Braguglia, 

acting as Agent, and D. Del Gaizo, avvocato 
dello Stato,

• Ireland, by D. O’Hagan, acting as Agent, and 
N. Travers BL,

• the Netherlands Government, by H.G. Sev-
enster, C. ten Dam and M. de Grave, acting 
as Agents,

• the Austrian Government, by H. Dossi, acting 
as Agent,

• the United Kingdom Government, by E. 
O’Neill, acting as Agent, and J. Turner, Bar-
rister,

• the Commission of the European Communi-
ties, by M. Condou-Durande, E. Righini and L. 
Visaggio, acting as Agents,

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 8 March 2007, gives the following

Judgment

1. This reference for a preliminary ruling concerns 
the interpretation of Council Framework Deci-
sion 2001/220/JHA of 15 March 2001 on the 
standing of victims in criminal proceedings (OJ 
2001 L 82, p. 1;’the Framework Decision’) and of 
Council Directive 2004/80/EC of 29 April 2004 
relating to compensation to crime victims (OJ 
2004 L 261, p. 15;’the Directive’). 

2. The reference was presented in criminal en-
forcement proceedings following a judgment 
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which resulted in a final criminal conviction, 
brought before the judge in charge of prelimi-
nary investigations at the Tribunale di Milano 
(District Court, Milan), acting as the judge re-
sponsible for enforcement, and concerning the 
return of assets placed under sequestration. 

Legal context

EuropeanUnionlaw
The Framework Decision
3. Article 1 of the Framework Decision provides:

‘ForthepurposesofthisFrameworkDecision:

(a) “victim” shallmeananaturalpersonwho
hassufferedharm,includingphysicalormen-
tal injury, emotional suffering or economic
loss,directlycausedbyactsoromissionsthat
areinviolationofthecriminallawofaMem-
berState;

…

(c)“criminalproceedings”shallbeunderstood
in accordancewith thenational law applica-
ble;

(d) “proceedings” shall bebroadly construed
toinclude,inadditiontocriminalproceedings,
allcontactsofvictimsassuchwithanyauthor-
ity,publicserviceorvictimsupportorganisa-
tioninconnectionwiththeircase,before,dur-
ing,oraftercriminalprocess;

…’

4. Article 2 of the Framework Decision provides:
‘1.EachMemberStateshallensurethatvictims
havearealandappropriateroleinitscriminal
legal system. It shall continue tomakeevery
effort toensure thatvictimsare treatedwith
due respect for the dignity of the individual
during proceedings and shall recognise the
rightsandlegitimateinterestsofvictimswith
particularreferencetocriminalproceedings.

2.EachMemberStateshallensurethatvictims
who are particularly vulnerable can benefit
from specific treatment best suited to their
circumstances.’

5. In accordance with Article 8(1) of the Frame-
work Decision:
‘Each Member State shall ensure a suitable
levelofprotectionforvictimsand,whereap-
propriate,theirfamiliesorpersonsinasimilar
position, particularly as regards their safety
and protection of their privacy, where the

competentauthoritiesconsiderthatthereisa
seriousriskofreprisalsorfirmevidenceofseri-
ousintenttointrudeupontheirprivacy.’

6. Under Article 9 of the Framework Decision:

‘1. EachMember State shall ensure that vic-
tims of criminal acts are entitled to obtain
a decision within reasonable time-limits on
compensationbytheoffenderinthecourseof
criminalproceedings,exceptwhere,incertain
cases,nationallawprovidesforcompensation
tobeawardedinanothermanner.

…

3.Unlessurgentlyrequiredforthepurposeof
criminal proceedings, recoverable property
belonging to victims which is seized in the
course of criminal proceedings shall be re-
turnedtothemwithoutdelay.’

7. In accordance with the third indent of Article 
17 of the Framework Decision, each Member 
State shall bring into force the laws, regulations 
and administrative provisions necessary for the 
purposes of the implementation of the articles 
cited in paragraphs 3 to 6 of this judgment by 
22 March 2002 at the latest. 

The Directive
8. Under Article 1 of the Directive:

‘MemberStatesshallensurethatwhereavio-
lentintentionalcrimehasbeencommittedin
aMemberStateotherthantheMemberState
where the applicant for compensation is ha-
bituallyresident, theapplicantshallhavethe
righttosubmittheapplicationtoanauthority
oranyotherbodyinthelatterMemberState.’

9. Article 2 of the Directive provides:

‘Compensation shall be paid by the compe-
tentauthorityoftheMemberStateonwhose
territorythecrimewascommitted.’

10. Article 12 of the Directive is worded as follows:

‘1. The rules on access to compensation in
cross-border situations drawn up by this Di-
rectiveshalloperateonthebasisofMember
States’schemesoncompensationtovictimsof
violent intentional crime committed in their
respectiveterritories.

2. All Member States shall ensure that their
national rules provide for the existence of a
schemeoncompensationtovictimsofviolent
intentionalcrimescommittedintheirrespec-
tiveterritories,whichguaranteesfairandap-
propriatecompensationtovictims.’
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11. Article 17 of the Directive provides:
‘This Directive shall not prevent Member
States,insofarassuchprovisionsarecompat-
iblewiththisDirective,from:

(a) introducing or maintaining more favour-
able provisions for the benefit of victims of
crimeoranyotherpersonsaffectedbycrime;

(b)introducingorretainingprovisionsforthe
purpose of compensating victims of crime
committedoutsidetheirterritory,oranyother
personaffectedbysuchacrime,subjecttoany
conditionsthatMemberStatesmayspecifyfor
thatpurpose.’

12. Article 18(1) and (2) of the Directive provides:
‘1. Member States shall bring into force the
laws, regulations and administrative provi-
sionsnecessarytocomplywiththisDirective
by 1 January 2006 at the latest,with the ex-
ceptionofArticle12(2),inwhichcasethedate
ofcomplianceshallbe1July2005.Theyshall
forthwithinformtheCommissionthereof.

2.MemberStatesmayprovidethatthemeas-
ures necessary to complywith this Directive
shall apply only to applicantswhose injuries
result from crimes committed after 30 June
2005.’

Nationallegislation
13. In accordance with Article 263 of the Italian 

Code of Criminal Procedure, as amended by 
Law No 134 of 12 June 2003 (‘CPP’):
‘1. The return of property placed under se-
questration shall be ordered by the judge
providedthatthereremainsnodoubtastoits
ownership.

…

3.Where there is adispute as to theowner-
shipofpropertyplacedunder sequestration,
the judge shall refer the case, in so far as it
concernsthereturn,tothecivilcourtwithter-
ritorialjurisdictioncompetentatfirstinstance,
while maintaining sequestration during this
period.’

…

6.Oncethejudgmentisnolongersubjectto
appeal,thejudgeresponsibleforenforcement
shalltakestepstoreturntheproperty.’

14. Article 444 CPP provides:
‘1. The accused and the public prosecutor
mayrequestthecourttoapplyanalternative
sanction,ofakindandextentappropriate,or

afinancialpenalty,reducedtoamaximumof
one third of the quantum, or a sentence of
imprisonmentwhich,takingintoaccountthe
circumstancesandreducedtoamaximumof
one third of the quantum, does not exceed
fiveyears,aloneoraccompaniedbyafinancial
penalty.

2. If there isanagreement,evenoftheparty
whodidnotmaketherequest,andprovided
therehasbeennoacquittal…, thecourt,on
thebasisof thedocumentsbefore it,assum-
ing that thecharacterisationof the factsand
theapplicationandcomparisonofthecircum-
stances of the casemade by the parties are
correctandthatthesanctionindicatedisad-
equate, shallby judgment impose that sanc-
tion,mentioning in theoperativepart that it
wasrequestedbytheparties. Incaseswhere
a civil party joins the proceedings, the court
shallnotgivejudgmentonthatclaim;…

…’

15. Article 665(1) CPP provides:
‘Unless provided otherwise by law, only the
judge who took the decision in the case is
competenttoenforcethatdecision.’

The main action and the questions 
referred for a preliminary ruling
16. It is apparent from the order for reference that 

criminal proceedings were brought before the 
Tribunale di Milano against Mr Dell’Orto and 
other accused persons in respect of the of-
fence of giving false information about compa-
nies (false accounting), with the further inten-
tion of committing the offences of aggravated 
embezzlement and of unlawful financing of 
political parties. Several companies belong-
ing to the Italian group ENI were among the 
persons affected by those crimes, including 
Saipem SpA (‘Saipem’), which joined those 
criminal proceedings as a civil party. 

17. According to the order for reference, Mr 
Dell’Orto and the other accused persons em-
bezzled large sums of money belonging to 
those companies by obtaining remuneration 
for fictional consultancy activities provided 
to offshore companies with which one of the 
accomplices was institutionally linked, appro-
priating part of those sums for themselves. In 
particular, Mr Dell’Orto appropriated for him-
self a sum of EUR 1 064 069.78 which belonged 
to Saipem, a sum which was placed under se-
questration by the Italian courts in the course 
of the criminal proceedings. Such a protective 
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measure had, in particular, the main and spe-
cific goal of guaranteeing that the civil obliga-
tions arising from the crime would be met. 

18. The criminal proceedings resulted in the issue 
of a judgment by the judge in charge of the 
preliminary investigations at the Tribunale di 
Milano on 4 May 1999, which became res ju-
dicata on 5 June 1999, applying a penalty on 
the basis of Article 444 CPP, that is by a means 
known as’by settlement’. Mr Dell’Orto was sen-
tenced by this judgment to a term of imprison-
ment and a fine, the sentence being suspend-
ed. No decision was taken as to the fate of the 
sum placed under sequestration. 

19. Saipem obtained the return of the above sum 
following an order of that judge made on 3 
December 1999. That order was set aside by a 
judgment of the Corte suprema di cassazione 
(Supreme Court of Cassation) of 8 November 
2001. That judgment pointed out in particular 
that, as the judgment of 4 May 1999 made no 
decision on the sum placed under sequestra-
tion, the criminal court lacked the power to 
order its return to Saipem. 

20. Following the judgment of 8 November 2001, 
Mr Dell’Orto requested the judge in charge of 
preliminary investigations to order Saipem in 
turn to return the sum in question, given that it 
might again be placed under sequestration in 
anticipation of a decision on its possible return. 
According to Mr Dell’Orto, it is for the civil court 
to take that decision pursuant to Article 263(3) 
CPP, on the ground that there is a dispute as to 
the ownership of that sum. 

21. By order of 18 July 2003, the judge in charge 
of preliminary investigations at the Tribunale di 
Milano ordered the transfer of the case-file to 
the civil court, rejecting Mr Dell’Orto’s request 
as to the remainder. 

22. That order was annulled by a judgment of 21 
April 2005 of the Corte suprema di cassazione, 
which sent the case back to the same judge. 
According to that judgment, if, pursuant to 
Article 263(3) CPP, the dispute as to the owner-
ship of the seized property is decided by the 
civil court judge in interim proceedings, that 
does not thereby deprive the criminal court 
judge of the power to take measures regard-
ing the safe keeping of the property pending 
resolution of the dispute as to its ownership, 
with the result that it is for the judge in charge 
of preliminary investigations at the Tribunale di 
Milano to’adopt the appropriate measures for 
the purposes of actually placing under seques-

tration the sum which has in the meantime 
been returned to Saipem’. 

23. The proceedings before the court making the 
reference were therefore reopened in order to 
ensure the enforcement of the second judg-
ment of the Corte suprema di cassazione. 

24. According to the court making the refer-
ence, there cannot in the main action be any 
remaining’dispute as to ownership’ of the 
sums placed under sequestration, of such a 
kind as to justify the opening of interim pro-
ceedings before the civil court judge. The as-
sets placed under sequestration are not owed 
to a third party and should be returned to 
Saipem pursuant to Article 2037 of the Italian 
Civil Code, and it follows from the examina-
tion of the documents in the case-file that Mr 
Dell’Orto has never questioned that the sums 
in question are the property of that company. 

25. The court making the reference considers 
that, in reality, a purely procedural obstacle 
precludes it from itself ordering the return of 
the sums in question to Saipem, the question 
being one as to the power of the judge re-
sponsible for enforcement to take a decision 
on the return of the sums placed under se-
questration following a judgment on applica-
tion of the penalty imposed under Article 444 
CPP. According to the case-law of the Corte 
suprema di cassazione, in particular the above-
mentioned judgment of 8 November 2001, the 
judge with responsibility for enforcement does 
not have the power to take a decision concern-
ing return to the victim of the property seized 
following a judgment issued under Article 444, 
which makes no provision in that regard. 

26. In that context, the court making the refer-
ence raises the question of the applicability of 
the principles set out in Articles 2 and 9 of the 
Framework Decision. 

27. It asks, in particular, whether those articles of 
the Framework Decision are applicable from 
the point of view of their personal scope, as 
the victim is not a natural person but a legal 
person. 

28. Article 1(a) of the Framework Decision provides 
that it applies to a’natural person’ who has suf-
fered harm. The court making the reference 
nevertheless asks whether it is possible to in-
terpret the Framework Decision, when read in 
the light of Articles 12 and 17 of the Directive, 
to mean that it also applies to any other person 
who is the victim of a crime, and, in particular, 
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to legal persons. If this is the case, the princi-
ple referred to in Article 9(3) of the Framework 
Decision, according to which property seized 
in the course of criminal proceedings which 
belongs to victims shall be returned to them 
without delay, is applicable in the main action. 
In accordance with the case-law of the Court 
(Case C-105/03 Pupino [2005] ECR I-5285), the 
national judge is obliged, in so far as possible, 
to interpret the provisions of the CPP concern-
ing the extent of the decision-making powers 
of the judge responsible for enforcement, with 
regard to the return of property seized in the 
course of criminal proceedings, in conformity 
with Article 9(3) of the Framework Decision, 
which sanctions a simplified procedure in or-
der to obtain the objectives established by the 
legislation relating to the compensation of vic-
tims. 

29. The court making the reference comments 
moreover that the Court has held with regard 
to certain forms of procedure which bar further 
prosecution and are analogous to that result-
ing from a judgment reached by’settlement’ 
for the purposes of Article 444 CPP, that they 
are to be considered as equivalent to a judg-
ment which finally disposes of a case and 
closes the criminal proceedings (Joined Cases 
C-187/01 and C-385/01 Gözütok and Brügge 
[2003] ECR I-1345). 

30. Since, in the main action, the dispute as to the 
return of sums placed under sequestration 
arises following the closure of criminal pro-
ceedings by the judgment of 4 May 1999, the 
national court making the reference also raises 
the question of the applicability of the princi-
ples referred to in Articles 2 and 9 of the Frame-
work Decision in the specific context of crimi-
nal enforcement proceedings which follow the 
closure of the criminal proceedings proper. 

31. In those circumstances, the judge in charge of 
preliminary investigations at the Tribunale di 
Milano decided to stay the proceedings and to 
refer the following questions to the Court for a 
preliminary ruling: 
‘(1)CantherulesreferredtoinArticles2and9
oftheFrameworkDecision…applyincriminal
proceedings,ingeneral,toanypartyaffected
byacrime,byvirtueofArticle1etseq.ofthe
Directive…orofotherprovisionsofCommu-
nitylaw?

(2)CantherulesreferredtoinArticles2and9
of theFrameworkDecision…apply incrimi-
nal proceedings for enforcement following

a judgmentwhichresulted ina finalcriminal
conviction (and thus also following a judg-
ment applying a penalty as provided for in
Article444oftheCodeofCriminalProcedure)
toanypartyaffectedbyacrime,byvirtueof
Article1etseq.oftheDirective…orofother
provisionsofCommunitylaw?’

The questions referred for a 
preliminary ruling

Admissibility
32. Several governments which have submitted 

observations in the course of these proceed-
ings have cast doubt upon the admissibility of 
the reference for a preliminary ruling. 

33. The United Kingdom Government submits 
that the reference for a preliminary ruling is 
inadmissible because it is based on Article 234 
EC whereas the interpretation sought concerns 
the Framework Decision, that is an act adopted 
under Title VI of the Treaty on European Union. 
In such a case, the reference should be based 
exclusively on Article 35(1) EU, whereas Arti-
cle 234 EC is not applicable. Ireland maintains 
that, since the conditions for application of Ar-
ticle 35 EU are met in this case, the mistaken 
reliance on Article 234 EC as the basis for the 
reference should not preclude the Court from 
giving a reply to the questions referred by the 
court making the reference. 

34. First of all, it should be noted that, in accord-
ance with Article 46(b) EU, the provisions of the 
EC and EAEC Treaties concerning the powers of 
the Court of Justice and the exercise of those 
powers, including the provisions of Article 234 
EC, apply to the provisions of Title VI of the Trea-
ty on European Union under the conditions 
laid down by Article 35 EU. Contrary to what is 
argued by the United Kingdom Government, 
it therefore follows that the system under Ar-
ticle 234 EC is capable of being applied to the 
Court’s jurisdiction to give preliminary rulings 
by virtue of Article 35 EU, subject to the condi-
tions laid down by that provision (see, to that 
effect, Pupino, paragraphs 19 and 28). 

35. It is established that the Italian Republic indi-
cated, by a declaration which took effect on 
1 May 1999, the date on which the Treaty of 
Amsterdam came into force, that it accepts 
the jurisdiction of the Court to rule on the va-
lidity and interpretation of the acts referred to 
in Article 35 EU in accordance with the rules 
laid down in paragraph 3(b) of that article. It 



1172 CASEC-467/05CRIMINALPROCEEDINGSAGAINSTGIOVANNIDELL’ORTO

EC
HR

EC
J

is also undisputed that the Framework Deci-
sion, based on Articles 31 EU and 34 EU, is one 
of the acts referred to in Article 35(1) EU on 
which the Court may rule in a reference for a 
preliminary ruling (Pupino, paragraphs 20 and 
22) and it is accepted that the judge in charge 
of preliminary investigations at the Tribunale di 
Milano, acting in proceedings such as those in 
the main action, must be considered as a court 
or tribunal of a Member State for the purposes 
of Article 35 EU. 

36. In those circumstances, and regardless of the 
fact that the questions referred for a prelimi-
nary ruling also concern the interpretation of 
a directive adopted under the EC Treaty, the 
fact that the order for reference does not men-
tion Article 35 EU, but refers to Article 234 
EC, cannot of itself make the reference for a 
preliminary ruling inadmissible. This conclu-
sion is reinforced by the fact that the Treaty 
on European Union neither expressly nor by 
implication lays down the form in which the 
national court must present its reference for a 
preliminary ruling (see, by analogy, with regard 
to Article 234 EC, Case 13/61 De Geus [1962] 
ECR 45, 50). 

37. The Netherlands Government questions the 
admissibility of the reference for a preliminary 
ruling on the ground that the factual and leg-
islative context is not defined sufficiently in the 
order for reference. According to that govern-
ment, the relevance of the questions asked 
does not emerge from it sufficiently clearly, 
since, in the absence of further clarification of 
the applicable national law, it is impossible to 
confirm whether, as submitted by the court 
making the reference, a question is raised con-
cerning the interpretation of that law in con-
formity with the Framework Decision, which in 
any event lacks direct effect. 

38. The Austrian Government submits that Italian 
law prevents the court making the reference 
from taking a decision in the main action on 
questions of a civil law nature, with the conse-
quence that the questions referred for a pre-
liminary ruling are hypothetical. 

39. The Court observes that, like Article 234 EC, 
Article 35 EU makes reference to the Court of 
Justice for a preliminary ruling subject to the 
condition that the national court’considers 
that a decision on the question is necessary in 
order to enable it to give judgment’, meaning 
that the case-law of the Court of Justice on the 
admissibility of references under Article 234 EC 

is, in principle, transposable to references for 
a preliminary ruling submitted to the Court of 
Justice under Article 35 EU (Pupino, paragraph 
29). 

40. It follows that the presumption that questions 
referred by national courts for a preliminary rul-
ing are relevant may be rebutted only in excep-
tional cases, where it is quite obvious that the 
interpretation which is sought of the provisions 
of Union law referred to in the questions bears 
no relation to the actual facts of the main ac-
tion or to its purpose or where the problem is 
hypothetical or the Court does not have before 
it the factual or legal material necessary to give 
a useful answer to the questions submitted to 
it. Save for such cases, the Court is, in principle, 
required to give a ruling on questions concern-
ing the interpretation of the acts referred to in 
Article 35(1) EU (Pupino, paragraph 30). 

41. Furthermore, the need to provide an interpre-
tation of Community law which will be of use 
to the national court presupposes that the lat-
ter sets out the factual and legislative context 
of the questions it is asking or, at the very least, 
explains the factual circumstances on which 
those questions are based. In that regard, it is 
essential that the national court should give at 
the very least some explanation of the reasons 
for the choice of the provisions of Union law 
which it requires to be interpreted and on the 
link it establishes between those provisions 
and the national legislation applicable to the 
dispute (see, inter alia, with regard to Article 
234 EC, Case C-295/05 Asemfo [2007] ECR 
I-0000, paragraphs 32 and 33). 

42. The information provided in orders for refer-
ence must not only be such as to enable the 
Court to reply usefully but must also enable 
the governments of the Member States and 
other interested parties to submit observations 
pursuant to Article 23 of the Statute of the 
Court of Justice (see, inter alia, Case C-303/05 
Advocaten voor de Wereld [2007] ECR I-0000, 
paragraph 20). 

43. As is evident from paragraphs 16 to 30 of this 
judgment, the order for reference sets out the 
underlying facts of the main action and the 
provisions of applicable national law which 
are directly relevant and it explains the reasons 
why the court making the reference is seeking 
an interpretation of the Framework Decision, 
and also the link between the latter and the 
national legislation applicable in the matter. 

44. Contrary to the argument submitted by the 
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Austrian Government, it is not obvious that 
an interpretation of national law in conformity 
with the Framework Decision in the main ac-
tion is impossible, this being a matter for the 
national court to determine (see, to that effect, 
Pupino, paragraph 48). 

45. In those circumstances, it is not obvious that 
the interpretation which is sought of the pro-
visions of the Framework Decision referred to 
in the questions raised bears no relation to the 
actual facts of the main action or to its purpose 
or that the problem is hypothetical or that the 
Court lacks the factual or legal material neces-
sary to give a useful answer to those questions. 

46. Finally, the information contained in the order 
for reference is also sufficient to ensure that the 
parties to the main action, the Member States, 
the Council of the European Union and the 
Commission of the European Communities are 
able to submit their observations pursuant to 
Article 23 of the Statute of the Court of Justice, 
as is, moreover, indicated by the observations 
lodged by the parties who have intervened in 
these proceedings. 

47. During the written procedure before the Court, 
the question was raised whether the Frame-
work Decision can be considered as applicable 
from a temporal perspective to a set of facts 
which, as in the main action, occurred well be-
fore adoption of the Framework Decision on 15 
March 2001, let alone the period prescribed for 
its implementation, which expired on 22 March 
2002 with regard inter alia to Article 9 of the 
Framework Decision. 

48. In that regard, it must be recalled that, ac-
cording to settled case-law, procedural rules 
are generally held to apply to all proceedings 
pending at the time when they enter into 
force, whereas substantive rules are usually 
interpreted as not applying to situations ex-
isting before their entry into force (see, inter 
alia, Case C-293/04 Beemsterboer Coldstore 
Services [2006] ECR I-2263, paragraph 21 and 
case-law cited). 

49. The question which is at the centre of the main 
proceedings, that is the power of the national 
court to take a decision concerning the return 
to the victim of property which has been seized 
in criminal proceedings, relates to procedural 
rules, with the result that there is no obstacle 
deriving from the temporal application of the 
law which precludes the taking into account, in 
those proceedings, of the relevant provisions 
of the Framework Decision with a view to the 

interpretation of the applicable national law in 
conformity with those provisions. 

50. The reference for a preliminary ruling is there-
fore admissible.

The questions referred for a preliminary ruling

51. By its two questions, which it is appropriate to 
examine together, the court making the refer-
ence asks essentially whether the Framework 
Decision must be interpreted as meaning that, 
in criminal proceedings, and, more specifically, 
in enforcement proceedings following a judg-
ment resulting in a final criminal conviction, 
such as that at issue in the main proceedings, 
the concept of’victim’ for the purposes of the 
Framework Decision includes legal persons 
who have suffered harm directly caused by 
acts or omissions that are in violation of the 
criminal law of a Member State. 

52. Article 1(a) of the Framework Decision 
defines’victim’, for the purposes of the Frame-
work Decision, as a’natural’ person who has 
suffered harm, including physical or mental 
injury, emotional suffering or economic loss, 
directly caused by acts or omissions that are in 
violation of the criminal law of a Member State. 

53. It follows from the wording of this provision 
that the Framework Decision applies only to 
natural persons who have suffered harm di-
rectly caused by conduct which infringes the 
criminal law of a Member State. 

54. To interpret the Framework Decision to mean 
that it would also apply to’legal’ persons who, 
like the civil party to the main action, maintain 
that they have suffered harm directly caused 
by a criminal act, would contradict the very let-
ter of Article 1(a) of the Framework Decision. 

55. In addition, there is no indication in any other 
provision of the Framework Decision that the 
European Union legislature intended to extend 
the concept of victim for the purposes of the 
application of the Framework Decision to legal 
persons. The converse is in fact the case, as sev-
eral provisions of the Framework Decision con-
firm that the legislature’s objective was to limit 
its scope exclusively to natural persons who are 
victims of harm resulting from a criminal act. 

56. In that regard, apart from Article 1(a) of the 
Framework Decision, which refers, so far as the 
principal categories of harm are concerned, to 
physical or mental injury and to emotional suf-
fering, reference should also be made to Article 
2(1) of the Framework Decision, which obliges 
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each Member State to make every effort to en-
sure that victims are treated with due respect 
for the dignity of the individual, Article 2(2), 
which refers to the specific treatment from 
which victims who are particularly vulnerable 
can benefit, and also Article 8(1) of the Frame-
work Decision, which obliges the Member 
States to ensure a suitable level of protection 
to the family of the victim or to persons in a 
similar position. 

57. The Directive is not of such a kind as to invali-
date this interpretation. The Framework Deci-
sion and the Directive govern different matters. 
The Directive sets up a system of cooperation 
to facilitate access to compensation to victims 
of crimes in cross-border situations. It seeks to 
ensure that where a violent intentional crime 
has been committed in a Member State other 
than that in which the victim is habitually resi-
dent, the victim shall receive compensation 
from the former Member State. The Frame-
work Decision, on the other hand, aims to ap-
proximate the legislation of the Member States 
concerning the protection of the interests of 
the victim in criminal proceedings. It seeks to 
ensure that the offender makes reparation for 
the harm suffered by the victim. 

58. Even supposing that the provisions of a direc-
tive adopted on the basis of the EC Treaty were 
capable of having any effect on the interpreta-
tion of the provisions of a framework decision 
based on the Treaty on European Union and 
that the concept of victim for the purposes of 
the directive could be interpreted to include 
legal persons, the directive and the framework 
decision are not on any analysis linked in a 
manner which would call for a uniform inter-
pretation of the concept in question. 

59. Moreover, a situation such as that in the main 
action does not fall within the scope of the 
Directive. As is evident from paragraph 57 of 
this judgment, the Directive provides for com-
pensation only where a violent intentional 
crime has been committed in a Member State 
other than that in which the victim is habitually 
resident, whereas the main action relates to of-
fences of false accounting, aggravated embez-
zlement and unlawful financing of political par-
ties committed substantially on the territory of 
the Member State in which the victim resides. 

60. The answer to the questions referred is there-
fore that the Framework Decision must be 
interpreted as meaning that, in criminal pro-
ceedings and, in particular, in enforcement pro-

ceedings following a judgment which resulted 
in a final criminal conviction, such as those in 
the main action, the concept of’victim’ for the 
purposes of the Framework Decision does not 
include legal persons who have suffered harm 
directly caused by acts or omissions that are in 
violation of the criminal law of a Member State. 

Costs
61. Since these proceedings are, for the parties to 

the main action, a step in the action pending 
before the national court, the decision on costs 
is a matter for that court. Costs incurred in sub-
mitting observations to the Court, other than 
the costs of those parties, are not recoverable. 

On those grounds, the Court (Third Chamber) here-
by rules:

Council framework Decision 2001/220/JHA of 
15 March 2001 on the standing of victims in 
criminal proceedings must be interpreted as 
meaning that, in criminal proceedings and, 
in particular, in enforcement proceedings fol-
lowing a judgment which resulted in a final 
criminal conviction, such as those in the main 
action, the concept of’victim’ for the purposes 
of the framework Decision does not include 
legal persons who have suffered harm directly 
caused by acts or omissions that are in viola-
tion of the criminal law of a Member State. 

[Signatures]
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PROTECTION OF CHILDREN AND THE FREE MOVEMENT 
OF GOODS, GENERAL INTERNATIONAL LAW AND COM-
MUNITY LAW

CAsE C-244/06 DYnAMIC 
MEDIEn VERtRIEBs GMBH 
v AVIDEs MEDIA AG
(Reference for a preliminary ruling from the 
Landgericht Koblenz)

(Free movement of goods – Article 28 EC – Meas-
ures having equivalent effect – Directive 2000/31/
EC – National rules prohibiting the sale by mail or-
der of image storage media which have not been 
examined and classified by the competent authori-
ty for the purpose of protecting children and which 
do not bear a label from that authority indicating 
the age from which they may be viewed – Image 
storage media imported from another Member 
State which have been examined and classified by 
the competent authority of that State and bear an 
age-limit label – Justification – Child protection – 
Principle of proportionality) 

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

Free movement of goods – Quantitative restric-
tions – Measures having equivalent effect (Art. 28 
EC)

National rules which prohibit the sale and transfer 
by mail order of image storage media which have 
not been examined and classified by a competent 
national authority or by a national voluntary selfreg-
ulatory body for the purposes of protecting young 
persons and which do not bear a label from that 
authority or body indicating the age from which 
they may be viewed, does not constitute a selling 
arrangement which is capable of hindering, directly 
or indirectly, actually or potentially intra-Communi-
ty trade, but a measure having equivalent effect to 
quantitative restrictions within the meaning of Arti-
cle 28 EC and is, in principle, incompatible with the 
obligations arising from that provision. 

However, those rules may be compatible with 
that provision provided that they do not go be-
yond what is necessary to attain the objective of 
protecting children pursued by the Member State 
concerned, as will be the case where the rules do 
not preclude all forms of marketing of unchecked 

image storage media and where it is permissible 
to import and sell such image storage media to 
adults, while ensuring that children do not have 
access to them. It could be otherwise only if it ap-
pears that the procedure for examining, classifying 
and labelling image storage media established by 
those rules is not easily accessible or cannot be 
completed within a reasonable period or that the 
decision of refusal cannot be open to challenge 
before the courts. (see paras 29, 32, 35, 42, 47-48, 
operative part)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (THIRD 
CHAMBER)

14 February 200816

(Free movement of goods – Article 28 EC – Meas-
ures having equivalent effect – Directive 2000/31/
EC – National rules prohibiting the sale by mail or-
der of image storage media which have not been 
examined and classified by the competent authori-
ty for the purpose of protecting children and which 
do not bear a label from that authority indicating 
the age from which they may be viewed – Image 
storage media imported from another Member 
State which have been examined and classified by 
the competent authority of that State and bear an 
age-limit label – Justification – Child protection – 
Principle of proportionality) 

In Case C244/06,

REFERENCE for a preliminary ruling under Article 
234 EC from the Landgericht Koblenz (Germany), 
made by decision of 25 April 2006, received at the 
Court on 31 May 2006, in the proceedings 

Dynamic Medien Vertriebs GmbH

v

Avides Media AG,

THE COURT (Third Chamber),

composed of A. Rosas (Rapporteur), President of 
the Chamber, U. Lõhmus, J. Klučka, A. ó Caoimh 
and P. Lindh, Judges, Advocate General: P. Mengoz-
zi, Registrar: J. Swedenborg, Administrator,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 2 May 2007, after considering the 
observations submitted on behalf of:

• Dynamic Medien Vertriebs GmbH, by 
W. Konrad and F. Weber, Rechtsanwälte,

• Avides Media AG, by C. Grau, Rechtsanwalt,

16 Language of the case: German.

Case C-244/06 Dynamic Medien Vertriebs GmbH v Avides Media AG
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• the German Government, by M. Lumma, 
C. Blaschke and C. Schulze-Bahr, acting as 
Agents,

• Ireland, by D. O’Hagan, acting as Agent, and 
P. McGarry, BL,

• the United Kingdom Government, by 
V. Jackson, acting as Agent, and M. Hoskins, 
Barrister,

• the Commission of the European Communi-
ties, by B. Schima, acting as Agent,

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 13 September 2007, gives the fol-
lowing Judgment

1. This reference for a preliminary ruling concerns 
the interpretation of Articles 28 EC and 30 EC 
and of Directive 2000/31/EC of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2000 
on certain legal aspects of information society 
services, in particular electronic commerce, in 
the Internal Market (‘the Directive on electronic 
commerce’) (OJ 2000 L 178, p. 1). 

2. The reference has been made in the course of 
proceedings between two companies incorpo-
rated under German law, Dynamic Medien Ver-
triebs GmbH (‘Dynamic Medien’) and Avides 
Media AG (‘Avides Media’), with respect to mail 
order sales by Avides Media in Germany, via 
the internet, of image storage media from the 
United Kingdom which have not been exam-
ined and classified by a higher regional author-
ity or a national voluntary self-regulation body 
for the purpose of protecting young persons 
and which do not bear any label from such 
an authority or body as to the age from which 
such image storage media may be viewed. 

Legal framework

Communitylaw
3. According to Article 1(1) thereof, Directive 

2000/31 seeks to contribute to the proper 
functioning of the internal market by ensuring 
the free movement of information society ser-
vices between the Member States. 

4. Article 2(h) of Directive 2000/31 defines the 
concept of’coordinated field’ as’requirements 
laid down in Member States’ legal systems ap-
plicable to information society service provid-
ers or information society services, regardless 
of whether they are of a general nature or spe-
cifically designed for them.’ 

5. Article 2(h)(ii) states that the coordinated field 

does not cover requirements such as those 
applicable to goods as such or requirements 
applicable to the delivery of goods. As regards 
the requirements relating to goods, recital (21) 
in the preamble to Directive 2000/31 mentions 
safety standards, labelling obligations, and li-
ability for goods. 

6. Article 3(2) of Directive 2000/31 provides that 
Member States may not, for reasons falling 
within the coordinated field, restrict the free-
dom to provide information society services 
from another Member State. Article 3(4), how-
ever, states that under certain conditions Mem-
ber States may, in respect of a given informa-
tion society service, take measures necessary 
for reasons such as public policy, in particular 
the protection of young persons and the pro-
tection of public health and consumers. 

7. Directive 97/7/EC of the European Parliament 
and of the Council of 20 May 1997 on the pro-
tection of consumers in respect of distance 
contracts (OJ 1997 L 144, p. 19) seeks, ac-
cording to Article 1 thereof, to harmonise the 
provisions applicable in the Member States 
concerning distance contracts between con-
sumers and suppliers. 

Nationallaw
8. Paragraph 1(4) of the Law on the protection 

of young persons (Jugendschutzgesetz) of 
23 July 2002 (BGBl. 2002 I, p. 2730) defines sale 
by mail order as’any transaction for considera-
tion carried out by means of the ordering and 
dispatch of a product by postal or electronic 
means without personal contact between the 
supplier and the purchaser or without tech-
nical or other safeguards to ensure that the 
product is not dispatched to children or ado-
lescents’. 

9. Paragraph 12(1) of the Law on the protection 
of young persons provides that pre-recorded 
video cassettes and other image storage media 
programmed with films or games to be repro-
duced or played on a screen (picture carriers) 
may be made publicly accessible to a child or 
adolescent only if the programmes have been 
authorised for that person’s age range and la-
belled by the highest authority of the Land or 
by a voluntary self-regulation body under the 
procedure described in Paragraph 14(6) of that 
Law, or if they are information, educational or 
training programmes labelled by the supplier 
as’information programmes’ or’educational 
programmes’. 
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10. Paragraph 12(3) of the Law provides that’image 
storage media which have not been labelled 
or have been labelled “Not suitable for young 
persons” under Paragraph 14(2) by the highest 
authority of the Land or by a voluntary self-reg-
ulation body under the procedure described 
in Paragraph 14(6), or which have not been 
labelled by the supplier in accordance with 
Paragraph 14(7), may not: 
1. be offered, transferred or otherwisemade
accessibletoachildoradolescent;

2.beofferedortransferredinretailtradeout-
side of commercial premises, in kiosks or in
other sales outlets which customers do not
usuallyenter,orbymailorder.’

The dispute in the main proceedings 
and the questions referred for a 
preliminary ruling
11. Avides Media sells video and audio media by 

mail order via its internet site and an electronic 
trading platform. 

12. The dispute in the main proceedings concerns 
the importation by that company of Japa-
nese cartoons called’Animes’ in DVD or video 
cassette format from the United Kingdom to 
Germany. The cartoons were examined before 
importation by the British Board of Film Clas-
sification (‘the BBFC’). The latter checked the 
audience targeted by the image storage me-
dia by applying the provisions relating to the 
protection of young persons in force in the 
United Kingdom and classified them in the 
category’suitable only for 15 years and over’. 
The image storage media bear a BBFC label 
stating that they may be viewed only by ado-
lescents aged 15 years or older. 

13. Dynamic Medien, a competitor of Avides Me-
dia, brought proceedings for interim relief be-
fore the Landgericht (Regional Court) Koblenz 
(Germany) with a view to prohibiting Avides 
Media from selling such image storage media 
by mail order. Dynamic Medien submits that 
the Law on the protection of young persons 
prohibits the sale by mail order of image stor-
age media which have not been examined in 
Germany in accordance with that Law, and 
which do not bear an age-limit label corre-
sponding to a classification decision from a 
higher regional authority or a national self-reg-
ulation body (‘competent authority’). 

14. By decision of 8 June 2004, the Landgericht 
Koblenz held that mail order sales of image 

storage media bearing only an age-limit label 
from the BBFC is contrary to the provisions of 
the Law on the protection of young persons 
and constitutes anti-competitive conduct. On 
21 December 2004, the Oberlandesgericht 
(Higher Regional Court) Koblenz, ruling in an 
application for interim relief, confirmed that 
decision. 

15. The Landgericht Koblenz, called to rule on the 
merits of the dispute and unsure whether the 
prohibition provided for by the Law on the 
protection of young persons complied with 
the provisions of Article 28 EC and Directive 
2000/31, decided to stay the proceedings and 
to refer the following questions to the Court for 
a preliminary ruling: 
‘[1]Does theprincipleof the freemovement
ofgoodswithinthemeaningofArticle28EC
precludeaprovisionofGermanlawprohibit-
ing the sale bymail order of image storage
media(DVDs,videos)thatarenot labelledas
havingbeenexaminedinGermanyastotheir
suitabilityforyoungpersons?

[2] Inparticular:Does theprohibitionofmail
ordersalesofsuchimagestoragemediacon-
stitute a measure having equivalent effect
withinthemeaningofArticle28EC?

[3] If so: Is such a prohibition justified un-
der Article 30 EC, having regard to Directive
[2000/31]even if the imagestoragemedium
has been examined as to its suitability for
young persons by anotherMember State…
and is labelled accordingly, or does such a
checkbyanotherMemberState…constitute
a less severemeans for thepurposesof that
provision?’

The questions referred for a 
preliminary ruling

Preliminaryobservations
16. By its questions, which it is appropriate to 

examine together, the referring court asks 
whether the principle of free movement of 
goods within the meaning of Articles 28 EC to 
30 EC, the latter being read, where appropriate, 
in conjunction with the provisions of Direc-
tive 2000/31, precludes national rules, such as 
those at issue in the main proceedings, which 
prohibit the sale and transfer by mail order of 
image storage media which have not been 
examined or classified by the competent au-
thority for the purpose of protecting young 
persons and which does not bear a label from 
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that authority indicating the age from which 
they may be viewed. 

17. As far as concerns the national legal context 
giving rise to the request for a preliminary rul-
ing, the German Government submits that the 
prohibition of mail order sales of unexamined 
image storage media is not absolute. In fact, 
that type of sale is in accordance with national 
law when it is ensured that the order was made 
by an adult and that delivery of the goods con-
cerned to children or adolescents is prevented 
by effective means. 

18. In that context, the question arises as to the 
definition in national law of the concept of 
mail order sales. It is clear from the case-file 
that that concept is defined by Paragraph 1(4) 
of the Law on the protection of young persons 
as’any transaction for consideration carried 
out by means of the ordering and dispatch of 
a product by postal or electronic means with-
out personal contact between the supplier and 
the purchaser or without technical or other 
safeguards to ensure that the product is not 
dispatched to children or adolescents’. 

19. However, it is not for the Court, in the context 
of a reference for a preliminary ruling, to give a 
ruling on the interpretation of provisions of na-
tional law or to decide whether the interpreta-
tion given by the national court of those provi-
sions is correct (see, to that effect, Case C58/98 
Corsten [2000] ECR I-7919, paragraph 24). The 
Court must take account, under the division of 
jurisdiction between the Community Courts 
and the national courts, of the factual and 
legislative context, as described in the order 
for reference, in which the questions put to it 
are set (see Case C475/99 Ambulanz Glöckner 
[2001] ECR I8089, paragraph 10; Case C136/03 
Dörr and Ünal [2005] ECR I4759, paragraph 46; 
and Case C419/04 Conseil général de la Vienne 
[2006] ECR I-5645, paragraph 24). 

20. In such circumstances, it is appropriate to reply 
to the request for a preliminary ruling by start-
ing from the premiss, which is that of the refer-
ring court, that the rules at issue in the main 
proceedings prohibit any sale by mail order 
of image storage media which have not been 
examined and classified by the competent 
authority for the purpose of protecting young 
persons and which do not bear a label from 
that authority indicating the age from which 
they may be viewed. 

21. Furthermore, it is apparent, in the light of the 
evidence in the case-file, that the rules at issue 

in the main proceedings apply not only to sup-
pliers established on the territory of the Fed-
eral Republic of Germany but also to suppliers 
whose registered offices are in other Member 
States. 

22. As regards the provisions of Community law 
applicable in circumstances such as those in 
the main proceedings, certain aspects relat-
ing to the sale of image storage media by mail 
order may come within the scope of Directive 
2000/31. However, as is clear from Article 2(h)
(ii) thereof, that directive does not govern the 
requirements applicable to goods as such. The 
same is true of Directive 97/7. 

23. Since the national rules relating to the protec-
tion of young persons at the time of the sale 
of goods by mail order have not been harmo-
nised at Community level, the rules at issue in 
the main proceedings must be assessed by ref-
erence to Articles 28 EC and 30 EC. 

Theexistenceofarestrictiononthefree
movementofgoods
24. Avides Media, the United Kingdom Govern-

ment and the Commission of the European 
Communities take the view that the rules at 
issue in the main proceedings constitute a 
measure having equivalent effect to a quanti-
tative restriction prohibited, in principle, by Ar-
ticle 28 EC. According to the United Kingdom 
Government and the Commission that regime 
is, however, justified on grounds relating to the 
protection of young persons. 

25. Dynamic Medien, the German Government 
and Ireland submit that the rules at issue in 
the main proceedings concern selling arrange-
ments within the meaning of the judgment in 
Joined Cases C-267/91 and C268/91 Keck and 
Mithouard [1993] ECR I-6097. Since they are ap-
plicable to both national and imported prod-
ucts alike, and affect the marketing of those 
two types of products in the same way in law 
and in fact, they do not fall within the prohibi-
tion laid down in Article 28 EC. 

26. According to settled case-law, all trading rules 
enacted by Member States which are capa-
ble of hindering, directly or indirectly, actually 
or potentially, intra-Community trade are to 
be considered as measures having an effect 
equivalent to quantitative restrictions and are, 
on that basis, prohibited by Article 28 EC (see, 
inter alia, Case 8/74 Dassonville [1974] ECR 837, 
paragraph 5, Case C-420/01 Commission v 
Italy [2003] ECR I-6445, paragraph 25, and Case 
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C143/06 Ludwigs-Apotheke [2007] ECR I-0000, 
paragraph 26). 

27. Even if a measure is not intended to regulate 
trade in goods between Member States, the de-
termining factor is its effect, actual or potential, 
on intra-Community trade. By virtue of that fac-
tor, in the absence of harmonisation of national 
legislation, obstacles to the free movement of 
goods which are the consequence of applying, 
to goods coming from other Member States 
where they are lawfully manufactured and 
marketed, rules that lay down requirements 
to be met by such goods constitute measures 
of equivalent effect (such as those relating to 
designation, form, size, weight, composition, 
presentation, labelling or packaging), even if 
those rules apply to all products alike, unless 
their application can be justified by a public-
interest objective taking precedence over the 
requirements of the free movement of goods 
(see, to that effect, Case 120/78 Rewe-Zentral 
(‘Cassis de Dijon’) [1979] ECR 649, paragraphs 
6, 14 and 15; Case C-368/95 Familiapress [1997] 
ECR I3689, paragraph 8; and Case C-322/01 
Deutscher Apothekerverband [2003] ECR 
I-14887, paragraph 67). 

28. In its case-law, the Court has also treated as 
measures having equivalent effect, prohibited 
by Article 28 EC, national provisions making a 
product lawfully manufactured and marketed 
in another Member State subject to additional 
controls, save in the case of exceptions pro-
vided for or allowed by Community law (see, 
inter alia, Case C390/99 Canal Satélite Digital 
[2002] ECR I-607, paragraphs 36 and 37, and 
Case C14/02 ATRAL [2003] ECR I-4431, para-
graph 65). 

29. By contrast, the application to products from 
other Member States of national provisions re-
stricting or prohibiting certain selling arrange-
ments is not such as to hinder directly or indi-
rectly, actually or potentially, trade between 
Member States for the purposes of the line of 
case-law beginning with Dassonville, on condi-
tion that those provisions apply to all relevant 
traders operating within the national territory 
and that they affect in the same manner, in law 
and in fact, the marketing of domestic products 
and of those from other Member States (see, 
inter alia, Keck and Mithouard, paragraph 16; 
Case C292/92 Hünermund and Others [1993] 
ECR I6787, paragraph 21; and Case C434/04 
Ahokainen and Leppik [2006] ECR I9171, para-
graph 19). Provided that those conditions are 
fulfilled, the application of such rules to the sale 

of products from another Member State meet-
ing the requirements laid down by that State is 
not by nature such as to prevent their access to 
the market or to impede access any more than 
it impedes the access of domestic products 
(see Keck and Mithouard, paragraph 17). 

30. Subsequently, the Court treated as provisions 
governing sales arrangements within the 
meaning of the judgment in Keck and Mith-
ouard provisions concerning, in particular, a 
number of marketing methods (see, inter alia, 
Hünermund and Others, paragraphs 21 and 22; 
Case C-254/98 TK-Heimdienst [2000] ECR I-151, 
paragraph 24; and Case C-441/04 A-Punkt 
Schmuckhandel [2006] ECR I-2093, paragraph 
16). 

31. It is clear from paragraph 15 of the judgment 
in Case C391/92 Commission v Greece [1995] 
ECR I-1621 that rules which restrict the mar-
keting of products to certain points of sale, 
and which have the effect of limiting the 
commercial freedom of economic operators, 
without affecting the actual characteristics of 
the products referred to, constitute a selling 
arrangement for the purposes of the case-law 
cited in paragraph 29 of this judgment. There-
fore, the need to adapt the products in ques-
tion to the rules in force in the Member State in 
which they are marketed prevents the above-
mentioned requirements from being treated 
as selling arrangements (see Canal Satélite 
Digital, paragraph 30). That is the case, inter 
alia, with regard to the need to alter the label-
ling of imported products (see, inter alia, Case 
C33/97 Colim [1999] ECR I3175, paragraph 37, 
and Case C416/00 Morellato [2003] ECR I9343, 
paragraphs 29 and 30). 

32. In the present case, the rules at issue in the 
main proceedings do not constitute a selling 
arrangement within the meaning of the case-
law resulting from Keck and Mithouard. 

33. Those rules do not prohibit sale by mail order 
of image storage media. They provide that, 
in order to be marketed in that way, image 
storage media must be subject to a national 
examination and classification procedure for 
the purpose of protecting young persons, re-
gardless of whether a similar procedure has 
already been followed in the Member State 
from which those image storage media were 
exported. Furthermore, those rules lay down 
a condition with which image storage media 
must comply, namely that with regard to their 
labelling. 
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34. Such rules are liable to make the importation 
of image storage media from a Member State 
other than the Federal Republic of Germany 
more difficult and more expensive, with the 
result that they may dissuade some interested 
parties from marketing such image storage 
media in the latter Member State. 

35. It follows that the rules at issue in the main 
proceedings constitute a measure having 
equivalent effect to quantitative restrictions 
within the meaning of Article 28 EC, which in 
principle is incompatible with the obligations 
arising from that article unless it can be objec-
tively justified. 

Possiblejustificationfortherulesatissue
inthemainproceedings
36. The United Kingdom Government and the 

Commission take the view that the rules at 
issue in the main proceedings are justified in 
so far as they are designed to protect young 
people. That objective is linked in particular 
to public morality and public policy, which are 
grounds of justification recognised in Article 30 
EC. Furthermore, Directives 97/7 and 2000/31 
expressly authorise the imposition of restric-
tions on grounds of public interest. 

37. Dynamic Medien, the German Government 
and Ireland concur with that position if it is 
established that those rules do not fall outside 
the prohibition laid down by Article 28 EC. The 
German Government submits that they pursue 
public-policy objectives and ensure that young 
people are able to develop their sense of per-
sonal responsibility and their sociability. Fur-
thermore, the protection of young people is an 
objective which is closely related to ensuring 
respect for human dignity. Ireland also invokes 
the imperative requirement of consumer pro-
tection recognised by the judgment in Cassis 
de Dijon. 

38. Avides Media takes the view that the rules at 
issue in the main proceedings are dispropor-
tionate in so far as they have the effect of sys-
tematically prohibiting the sale by mail order of 
image storage media not bearing the labelling 
which they require, regardless of whether or 
not the image storage media concerned were 
examined in another Member State for the 
purpose of protecting young people. In addi-
tion, it is argued, German law fails to provide 
for a simplified procedure in cases where such 
an examination has in fact been made. 

39. In that connection, it must be recalled that 

the protection of the rights of the child is rec-
ognised by various international instruments 
which the Member States have cooperated on 
or acceded to, such as the International Cov-
enant on Civil and Political Rights, which was 
adopted by the General Assembly of the Unit-
ed Nations on 19 December 1966 and entered 
into force on 23 March 1976, and the Conven-
tion on the Rights of the Child, which was 
adopted by the General Assembly of the Unit-
ed Nations on 20 November 1989 and entered 
into force on 2 September 1990. The Court has 
already had occasion to point out that those 
international instruments are among those 
concerning the protection of human rights of 
which it takes account in applying the general 
principles of Community law (see, inter alia, 
Case C-540/03 Parliament v Council [2006] ECR 
I-5769, paragraph 37). 

40. In this context, it must be observed that, under 
Article 17 of the Convention on the Rights of 
the Child, the States Parties recognise the im-
portant function performed by the mass media 
and are required to ensure that the child has 
access to information and material from a di-
versity of national and international sources, 
especially those aimed at the promotion of 
his or her social, spiritual and moral well-being 
and physical and mental health. Article 17(e) 
provides that those States are to encourage 
the development of appropriate guidelines for 
the protection of the child from information 
and material injurious to his or her well-being. 

41. The protection of the child is also enshrined in 
instruments drawn up within the framework of 
the European Union, such as the Charter of fun-
damental rights of the European Union, pro-
claimed on 7 December 2000 in Nice (OJ 2000 
C 364, p. 1), Article 24(1) of which provides that 
children have the right to such protection and 
care as is necessary for their well-being (see, to 
that effect, Parliament v Council, paragraph 58). 
Furthermore, the Member States’ right to take 
the measures necessary for reasons relating to 
the protection of young persons is recognised 
by a number of Community-law instruments, 
such as Directive 2000/31. 

42. Although the protection of the child is a le-
gitimate interest which, in principle, justifies a 
restriction on a fundamental freedom guaran-
teed by the EC Treaty, such as the free move-
ment of goods (see, by analogy, Case C112/00 
Schmidberger [2003] ECR I5659, paragraph 74), 
the fact remains that such restrictions may be 
justified only if they are suitable for securing 
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the attainment of the objective pursued and 
do not go beyond what is necessary in order 
to attain it (see, to that effect, Case C36/02 
Omega [2004] ECR I-9609, paragraph 36, and 
Case C438/05 International Transport Workers’ 
Federation and Finnish Seamen’s Union [2007] 
ECR I-0000, paragraph 75). 

43. It is clear from the decision making the refer-
ence that the national rules at issue in the main 
proceedings are designed to protect children 
against information and materials injurious to 
their well-being. 

44. In that connection, it is not indispensable that 
restrictive measures laid down by the authori-
ties of a Member State to protect the rights of 
the child, referred to in paragraphs 39 to 42 
of this judgment, correspond to a conception 
shared by all Member States as regards the lev-
el of protection and the detailed rules relating 
to it (see, by analogy, Omega, paragraph 37). 
As that conception may vary from one Mem-
ber State to another on the basis of, inter alia, 
moral or cultural views, Member States must 
be recognised as having a definite margin of 
discretion. 

45. While it is true that it is for the Member States, 
in the absence of Community harmonisation, 
to determine the level at which they intend 
to protect the interest concerned, the fact re-
mains that that discretion must be exercised in 
conformity with the obligations arising under 
Community law. 

46. Although the rules at issue in the main pro-
ceedings correspond to the level of child pro-
tection that the German legislature has sought 
to ensure on the territory of the Federal Re-
public of Germany, it is also necessary that the 
measures implemented by those rules be suit-
able for securing that objective and do not go 
beyond what is necessary in order to attain it. 

47. There is no doubt that prohibiting the sale and 
transfer by mail order of image storage media 
which have not been examined and classified 
by the competent authority for the purpose 
of protecting young persons and which do 
not bear a label from that authority indicat-
ing the age from which they may be viewed 
constitutes a measure suitable for protecting 
children against information and materials in-
jurious to their well-being. 

48. As far as concerns the substantive scope of the 
prohibition concerned, the Law on the protec-
tion of young persons does not preclude all 

forms of marketing of unchecked image stor-
age media. It is clear from the decision making 
the reference that it is permissible to import 
and sell such image storage media to adults 
by way of distribution channels involving per-
sonal contact between the supplier and the 
purchaser, which thus ensures that children do 
not have access to the image storage media 
concerned. In the light of those factors, it ap-
pears that the rules at issue in the main pro-
ceedings do not go beyond what is necessary 
to attain the objective pursued by the Member 
State concerned. 

49. As regards the examination procedure estab-
lished by the national legislature in order to 
protect children against information and mate-
rials injurious to their well-being, the mere fact 
that a Member State has opted for a system 
of protection which differs from that adopted 
by another Member State cannot affect the 
assessment of the proportionality of the na-
tional provisions enacted to that end. Those 
provisions must be assessed solely by refer-
ence to the objective pursued and the level of 
protection which the Member State in ques-
tion intends to provide (see, by analogy, Case 
C-124/97 Lääräand Others [1999] ECR I-6067, 
paragraph 36, and Omega, paragraph 38). 

50. However, such an examination procedure 
must be one which is readily accessible, can be 
completed within a reasonable period, and, if it 
leads to a refusal, the decision of refusal must 
be open to challenge before the courts (see, 
to that effect, Case C-344/90 Commission v 
France [1992] ECR I4719, paragraph 9, and Case 
C-95/01 Greenham and Abel [2004] ECR I-1333, 
paragraph 35). 

51. In the present case, it appears from the obser-
vations submitted by the German Government 
before the Court that the procedure for exam-
ining, classifying, and labelling image storage 
media, established by the rules at issue in the 
main proceedings, fulfils the conditions set out 
in the preceding paragraph. However, it is for 
the national court, before which the main ac-
tion has been brought and which must assume 
responsibility for the subsequent judicial deci-
sion, to ascertain whether that is the case. 

52. Having regard to all the foregoing consid-
erations, the answer to the questions referred 
must be that Article 28 EC does not preclude 
national rules, such as those at issue in the 
main proceedings, which prohibit the sale and 
transfer by mail order of image storage media 
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which have not been examined and classified 
by the competent authority for the purposes 
of protecting young persons and which do not 
bear a label from that authority indicating the 
age from which they may be viewed, unless it 
appears that the procedure for examination, 
classification and labelling of image storage 
media established by those rules is not read-
ily accessible or cannot be completed within a 
reasonable period, or that a decision of refusal 
is not open to challenge before the courts. 

Costs
53. Since these proceedings are, for the parties 

to the main proceedings, a step in the action 
pending before the national court, the deci-
sion on costs is a matter for that court. Costs in-
curred in submitting observations to the Court, 
other than the costs of those parties, are not 
recoverable. 

On those grounds, the Court (Third Chamber) 
hereby rules:

Article 28 EC does not preclude national rules, 
such as those at issue in the main proceed-
ings, which prohibit the sale and transfer by 
mail order of image storage media which have 
not been examined and classified by a higher 
regional authority or a national voluntary self-
regulation body for the purposes of protecting 
young persons and which do not bear a label 
from that authority or that body indicating the 
age from which they may be viewed, unless it 
appears that the procedure for examination, 
classification and labelling of image storage 
media established by those rules is not read-
ily accessible or cannot be completed within a 
reasonable period, or that a decision of refusal 
is not open to challenge before the courts.

[Signatures]
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PERSONAL DATA IN TERMS OF PRIVATE LIFE, SCOPE OF 
PERSONAL DATA, CONFIDENTIALITY AND STORAGE 
OF TRAFFIC DATA, THE POSSIBILITY TO RESTRICT THE 
OBLIGATION TO ENSURE CONFIDENTIALITY OF TRAFFIC 
DATA,  UNAUTHORISED USE OF THE ELECTRONIC COM-
MUNICATIONS SYSTEM, BALANCE BETWEEN VARIOUS 
FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS

CAsE C-275/06 
PRoDUCtoREs DE 
MúsICA DE EsPAñA 
(PRoMUsICAE) v 
ELEFónICA DE EsPAñA 
sAU
(Reference for a preliminary ruling from the Juz-
gado de lo Mercantil nº 5 de Madrid)

(Information society – Obligations of providers of 
services – Retention and disclosure of certain traffic 
data – Obligation of disclosure – Limits – Protection 
of the confidentiality of electronic communications 
– Compatibility with the protection of copyright 
and related rights – Right to effective protection of 
intellectual property)

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

Approximation of laws – Harmonisation of certain 
aspects of copyright and related rights in the in-
formation society – Directive 2001/29 – Electronic 
commerce – Directive 2000/31 – Processing of per-
sonal data and the protection of privacy in the elec-
tronic communications sector – Directive 2002/58 
– Enforcement of intellectual property rights – Di-
rective 2004/48 – Agreement on Trade-Related As-
pects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPs) (TRIPs 
Agreement, Arts 41, 42 and 47; European Parlia-
ment and Council Directives 2000/31, 2001/29, 
2002/58 and 2004/48)

Directive 2000/31 on certain legal aspects of in-
formation society services, in particular electronic 
commerce, in the internal market (Directive on 
electronic commerce), Directive 2001/29 on the 
harmonisation of certain aspects of copyright and 
related rights in the information society, Directive 
2004/48 on the enforcement of intellectual prop-
erty rights, and Directive 2002/58 concerning the 
processing of personal data and the protection of 
privacy in the electronic communications sector 

(Directive on privacy and electronic communica-
tions) do not require the Member States to lay 
down an obligation to communicate personal data 
in order to ensure effective protection of copyright 
in the context of civil proceedings, in a situation 
in which a non-profit-making organisation of pro-
ducers and publishers of musical and audiovisual 
recordings has brought proceedings seeking an 
order that a provider of internet access services dis-
close to the organisation the identities and physi-
cal addresses of certain subscribers, so as to enable 
civil proceedings to be brought for infringement of 
copyright. 

Similarly, as to Articles 41, 42 and 47 of the Agree-
ment on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual 
Property Rights (TRIPs Agreement), in the light of 
which Community law must as far as possible be 
interpreted where it regulates a field to which that 
agreement applies, while they require the effective 
protection of intellectual property rights and the 
institution of judicial remedies for their enforce-
ment, they do not contain provisions which require 
those directives to be interpreted as compelling 
the Member States to lay down an obligation to 
communicate personal data in the context of civil 
proceedings. 

However, Community law requires that, when 
transposing those directives, the Member States 
take care to rely on an interpretation of them 
which allows a fair balance to be struck between 
the various fundamental rights protected by the 
Community legal order. Further, when implement-
ing the measures transposing those directives, the 
authorities and courts of the Member States must 
not only interpret their national law in a manner 
consistent with those directives but also make sure 
that they do not rely on an interpretation of them 
which would be in conflict with those fundamental 
rights or with the other general principles of Com-
munity law, such as the principle of proportionality. 
(see paras 60, 70, operative part)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (GRAND 
CHAMBER)

29 January 200817

(Information society – Obligations of providers of 
services – Retention and disclosure of certain traffic 
data – Obligation of disclosure – Limits – Protection 
of the confidentiality of electronic communications 
– Compatibility with the protection of copyright 
and related rights – Right to effective protection of 

17 Language of the case: Spanish.

Case C-275/06 Productores de Música de España (Promusicae) v elefónica de España SAU
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intellectual property)

In Case C275/06,

REFERENCE for a preliminary ruling under Article 
234 EC by the Juzgado de lo Mercantil No 5 de 
Madrid (Spain), made by decision of 13 June 2006, 
received at the Court on 26 June 2006, in the pro-
ceedings 

Productores de Música de España (Promusicae)

v

Telefónica de España SAU,

THE COURT (Grand Chamber), composed of V. Sk-
ouris, President, C.W.A. Timmermans, A. Rosas, K. 
Lenaerts, G. Arestis and U. Lõhmus, Presidents of 
Chambers, A. Borg Barthet, M. Ilešič, J. Malenovský 
(Rapporteur), J. Klučka, E. Levits, A. Arabadjiev and 
C. Toader, Judges, Advocate General: J. Kokott, Reg-
istrar: M. Ferreira, Principal Administrator,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 5 June 2007, after considering the 
observations submitted on behalf of:

• Productores de Música de España (Promu-
sicae), by R. Bercovitz Rodríguez Cano, A. 
González Gozalo and J. de Torres Fueyo, 
abogados,

• Telefónica de España SAU, by M. Cornejo 
Barranco, procuradora, R. García Boto and P. 
Cerdán López, abogados,

• the Italian Government, by I.M. Braguglia, 
acting as Agent, assisted by S. Fiorentino, av-
vocato dello Stato,

• the Slovenian Government, by M. Remic and 
U. Steblovnik, acting as Agents,

• the Finnish Government, by J. Heliskoski and 
A. Guimaraes-Purokoski, acting as Agents,

• the United Kingdom Government, by Z. 
Bryanston-Cross, acting as Agent, and S. Ma-
lynicz, Barrister,

• the Commission of the European Communi-
ties, by R. Vidal Puig and C. Docksey, acting 
as Agents,

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 18 July 2007, gives the following 
Judgment

1. This reference for a preliminary ruling concerns 
the interpretation of Directive 2000/31/EC of 
the European Parliament and of the Council of 
8 June 2000 on certain legal aspects of infor-
mation society services, in particular electronic 
commerce, in the Internal Market (‘Directive 

on electronic commerce’) (OJ 2000 L 178, p. 1), 
Directive 2001/29/EC of the European Parlia-
ment and of the Council of 22 May 2001 on the 
harmonisation of certain aspects of copyright 
and related rights in the information society 
(OJ 2001 L 167, p. 10), Directive 2004/48/EC of 
the European Parliament and of the Council of 
29 April 2004 on the enforcement of intellec-
tual property rights (OJ 2004 L 157, p. 45, and 
corrigendum, OJ 2004 L 195, p. 16), and Arti-
cles 17(2) and 47 of the Charter of Fundamen-
tal Rights of the European Union proclaimed 
in Nice on 7 December 2000 (OJ 2000 C 364, 
p. 1,’the Charter’). 

2. The reference was made in the course of pro-
ceedings between Productores de Música de 
España (Promusicae) (‘Promusicae’), a non-
profit-making organisation, and Telefónica de 
España SAU (‘Telefónica’) concerning Telefóni-
ca’s refusal to disclose to Promusicae, acting on 
behalf of its members who are holders of intel-
lectual property rights, personal data relating 
to use of the internet by means of connections 
provided by Telefónica. 

Legal context

Internationallaw
3. Part III of the Agreement on Trade-Related 

Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (‘the 
TRIPs Agreement’), which constitutes Annex 
1C to the Agreement establishing the World 
Trade Organisation (‘the WTO’), signed at 
Marrakesh on 15 April 1994 and approved by 
Council Decision 94/800/EC of 22 December 
1994 concerning the conclusion on behalf of 
the European Community, as regards matters 
within its competence, of the agreements 
reached in the Uruguay Round multilateral 
negotiations (1986-1994) (OJ 1994 L 336, p. 1), 
is headed’Enforcement of intellectual property 
rights’. That part includes Article 41(1) and (2), 
according to which: 
‘1. Members shall ensure that enforcement
proceduresas specified in thisPartareavail-
ableundertheir lawsoastopermiteffective
action against any act of infringement of
intellectual property rights covered by this
Agreement, including expeditious remedies
topreventinfringementsandremedieswhich
constitute a deterrent to further infringe-
ments. These procedures shall be applied
in suchamanneras toavoid thecreationof
barrierstolegitimatetradeandtoprovidefor
safeguardsagainsttheirabuse.
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2.Proceduresconcerningtheenforcementof
intellectual property rights shall be fair and
equitable. They shall not be unnecessarily
complicatedorcostly,orentailunreasonable
time-limitsorunwarranteddelays.’

4. In Section 2 of Part III,’Civil and administra-
tive procedures and remedies’, Article 42, 
headed’Fair and Equitable Procedures’, pro-
vides: 
‘Members shallmakeavailable to righthold-
ers civil judicial procedures concerning the
enforcementofanyintellectualpropertyright
coveredbythisAgreement…’

5. Article 47 of the TRIPs Agreement, headed’Right 
of Information’, provides: 
‘Members may provide that the judicial au-
thorities shall have the authority, unless this
wouldbeoutofproportiontotheseriousness
of the infringement, toorder the infringer to
informtherightholderoftheidentityofthird
personsinvolvedintheproductionanddistri-
butionoftheinfringinggoodsorservicesand
oftheirchannelsofdistribution.’

Communitylaw
Provisions relating to the information society 
and the protection of intellectual property, es-
pecially copyright

• Directive 2000/31

6. Article 1 of Directive 2000/31 states: 
‘1. This Directive seeks to contribute to the
proper functioningof the internalmarketby
ensuring the free movement of information
societyservicesbetweentheMemberStates.

2. ThisDirective approximates, to the extent
necessary for the achievement of the objec-
tive set out in paragraph 1, certain national
provisions on information society services
relatingto the internalmarket, theestablish-
ment of service providers, commercial com-
munications,electroniccontracts,theliability
of intermediaries, codes of conduct, out-of-
court dispute settlements, court actions and
cooperationbetweenMemberStates.

3. This Directive complements Community
lawapplicabletoinformationsocietyservices
without prejudice to the level of protection
for, inparticular,publichealthandconsumer
interests, as established by Community acts
and national legislation implementing them
insofarasthisdoesnotrestrictthefreedom
toprovideinformationsocietyservices.

…

5.ThisDirectiveshallnotapplyto:

…

(b) questions relating to information society
services covered by Directives 95/46/EC and
97/66/EC;

…’

7. According to Article 15 of Directive 2000/31: 
‘1.MemberStatesshallnot imposeageneral
obligation on providers,when providing the
servicescoveredbyArticles12,13and14,to
monitor the informationwhichtheytransmit
or store, nor a general obligation actively to
seek facts or circumstances indicating illegal
activity.

2. Member States may establish obligations
for information society service providers
promptly to inform the competent public
authorities of alleged illegal activities under-
taken or information provided by recipients
oftheirserviceorobligationstocommunicate
tothecompetentauthorities,attheirrequest,
informationenabling the identificationof re-
cipientsoftheirservicewithwhomtheyhave
storageagreements.’

8. Article 18 of Directive 2000/31 provides: 
‘1.MemberStates shallensure thatcourtac-
tionsavailableundernationallawconcerning
information society services’ activities allow
fortherapidadoptionofmeasures,including
interimmeasures,designedto terminateany
alleged infringementandtopreventanyfur-
therimpairmentoftheinterestsinvolved.

…’

–Directive2001/29

9. According to Article 1(1) of Directive 2001/29, 
the directive concerns the legal protection of 
copyright and related rights in the framework 
of the internal market, with particular emphasis 
on the information society. 

10. Under Article 8 of Directive 2001/29: 
‘1. Member States shall provide appropriate
sanctionsandremediesinrespectofinfringe-
mentsoftherightsandobligationssetoutin
thisDirectiveand shall takeall themeasures
necessarytoensurethatthosesanctionsand
remediesareapplied.Thesanctionsthuspro-
videdforshallbeeffective,proportionateand
dissuasive.

2.EachMemberStateshalltakethemeasures
necessary to ensure that rightholderswhose
interestsareaffectedbyaninfringingactivity



1187CASEC-275/06PRODUCTORESDEMúSICADEESPAñA(PROMUSICAE)VELEFóNICADEESPAñASAU

EC
J

EC
HR

carriedoutonitsterritorycanbringanaction
for damages and/or apply for an injunction
and,whereappropriate, fortheseizureof in-
fringingmaterial aswell as of devices, prod-
uctsorcomponentsreferredtoinArticle6(2).

3.MemberStatesshallensurethatrighthold-
ersareinapositiontoapplyforaninjunction
against intermediaries whose services are
usedbyathirdpartytoinfringeacopyrightor
relatedright.’

11. Article 9 of Directive 2001/29 reads: 
‘This Directive shall be without prejudice to
provisions concerning in particular patent
rights,trademarks,designrights,utilitymod-
els,topographiesofsemi-conductorproducts,
typefaces,conditionalaccess,accesstocable
of broadcasting services, protection of na-
tional treasures, legal deposit requirements,
laws on restrictive practices and unfair com-
petition,tradesecrets,security,confidentiality,
dataprotectionandprivacy,access topublic
documents,thelawofcontract.’

• Directive 2004/48

12. Article 1 of Directive 2004/48 states: 
‘ThisDirectiveconcernsthemeasures,proce-
dures and remedies necessary to ensure the
enforcementofintellectualpropertyrights…’

13. According to Article 2(3) of Directive 2004/48: 
‘3.ThisDirectiveshallnotaffect:

(a) theCommunity provisions governing the
substantive law on intellectual property, Di-
rective95/46/EC,Directive1999/93/ECorDi-
rective2000/31/EC,ingeneral,andArticles12
to15ofDirective2000/31/ECinparticular;

(b) Member States’ international obligations
and notably the TRIPS Agreement, including
those relating to criminal procedures and
penalties;

(c) anynationalprovisions inMember States
relatingtocriminalproceduresorpenaltiesin
respect of infringement of intellectual prop-
ertyrights.’

14. Article 3 of Directive 2004/48 provides: 
‘1.MemberStatesshallprovideforthemeas-
ures, procedures and remedies necessary
to ensure the enforcement of the intellec-
tualpropertyrightscoveredbythisDirective.
Those measures, procedures and remedies
shallbefairandequitableandshallnotbeun-
necessarilycomplicatedorcostly,orentailun-
reasonabletime-limitsorunwarranteddelays.

2.Thosemeasures,proceduresandremedies
shallalsobeeffective,proportionateanddis-
suasive and shall be applied in such aman-
neras toavoid thecreationofbarriers to le-
gitimate tradeand toprovide for safeguards
againsttheirabuse.’

15. Article 8 of Directive 2004/48 provides: 
‘1.MemberStatesshallensurethat,inthecon-
text of proceedings concerning an infringe-
mentof an intellectualproperty right and in
response to a justified andproportionate re-
questoftheclaimant,thecompetentjudicial
authoritiesmayorderthatinformationonthe
originanddistributionnetworksofthegoods
orserviceswhichinfringeanintellectualprop-
ertyrightbeprovidedbytheinfringerand/or
anyotherpersonwho:

(a)was found inpossessionof the infringing
goodsonacommercialscale;

(b)was found tobeusing the infringingser-
vicesonacommercialscale;

(c)wasfoundtobeprovidingonacommercial
scaleservicesusedininfringingactivities;

or

(d) was indicated by the person referred to
inpoint(a),(b)or(c)asbeinginvolvedinthe
production,manufactureordistributionofthe
goodsortheprovisionoftheservices.

2.Theinformationreferredtoinparagraph1
shall,asappropriate,comprise:

(a)thenamesandaddressesoftheproducers,
manufacturers,distributors,suppliersandoth-
erpreviousholdersofthegoodsorservices,as
wellastheintendedwholesalersandretailers;

(b) information on the quantities produced,
manufactured,delivered,receivedorordered,
aswellasthepriceobtainedforthegoodsor
servicesinquestion.

3. Paragraphs 1 and 2 shall apply without
prejudicetootherstatutoryprovisionswhich:

(a)granttherightholderrightstoreceivefuller
information;

(b)governtheuseincivilorcriminalproceed-
ingsoftheinformationcommunicatedpursu-
anttothisArticle;

(c)governresponsibilityformisuseoftheright
ofinformation;

or

(d)affordanopportunity for refusing topro-
vide informationwhichwould force theper-
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sonreferredtoinparagraph1toadmittohis/
herownparticipationorthatofhis/herclose
relatives inan infringementofan intellectual
propertyright;

or

(e)governtheprotectionofconfidentialityof
informationsourcesortheprocessingofper-
sonaldata.’

Provisionsontheprotectionofpersonaldata

–Directive95/46/EC

16. Article 2 of Directive 95/46/EC of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 24 October 
1995 on the protection of individuals with re-
gard to the processing of personal data and 
on the free movement of such data (OJ 1995 L 
281, p. 31) states: 
‘ForthepurposesofthisDirective:

(a)“personaldata”shallmeananyinformation
relatingtoanidentifiedoridentifiablenatural
person(“datasubject”);anidentifiableperson
isonewhocanbeidentified,directlyor indi-
rectly, in particular by reference to an iden-
tification number or to one or more factors
specifictohisphysical,physiological,mental,
economic,culturalorsocialidentity;

(b) “processing of personal data” (“process-
ing”) shallmean any operation or set of op-
erations which is performed upon personal
data, whether or not by automatic means,
such as collection, recording, organisation,
storage, adaptation or alteration, retrieval,
consultation,use,disclosureby transmission,
disseminationorotherwisemakingavailable,
alignment or combination, blocking, erasure
ordestruction;

…’

17. According to Article 3 of Directive 95/46: 
‘1.ThisDirectiveshallapplytotheprocessing
ofpersonaldatawhollyorpartlybyautomatic
means,andtotheprocessingotherwisethan
by automaticmeans of personal datawhich
formpartofafilingsystemorareintendedto
formpartofafilingsystem.

…’

18. Article 7 of Directive 95/46 reads as follows: 
‘Member States shall provide that personal
datamaybeprocessedonlyif:

…

(f) processing is necessary for the purposes
of the legitimate interests pursued by the

controller or by the third party or parties to
whom the data are disclosed, except where
suchinterestsareoverriddenbytheinterests
or fundamental rights and freedoms of the
data subjectwhich require protection under
Article1(1).’

19. Article 8 of Directive 95/46 provides: 
‘1.MemberStates shallprohibit theprocess-
ingofpersonaldatarevealingracialorethnic
origin, political opinions, religious or philo-
sophical beliefs, trade-union membership,
andtheprocessingofdataconcerninghealth
orsexlife.

2.Paragraph1shallnotapplywhere:

…

(c) processing is necessary to protect the vi-
tal interestsofthedatasubjectorofanother
personwherethedatasubjectisphysicallyor
legallyincapableofgivinghisconsent…

…’

20. According to Article 13 of Directive 95/46: 
‘1.MemberStatesmayadoptlegislativemeas-
ures to restrict the scope of the obligations
and rights provided for in Articles 6(1), 10,
11(1),12and21whensucharestrictioncon-
stitutesanecessarymeasuretosafeguard:

(a)nationalsecurity;

(b)defence;

(c)publicsecurity;

(d) the prevention, investigation, detection
and prosecution of criminal offences, or of
breachesofethicsforregulatedprofessions;

(e)animportanteconomicorfinancialinterest
ofaMemberStateoroftheEuropeanUnion,
including monetary, budgetary and taxation
matters;

(f)amonitoring,inspectionorregulatoryfunc-
tion connected, even occasionally, with the
exerciseofofficial authority in cases referred
toin(c),(d)and(e);

(g)theprotectionofthedatasubjectorofthe
rightsandfreedomsofothers.

…’

–Directive2002/58/EC

21. Article 1 of Directive 2002/58/EC of the Euro-
pean Parliament and of the Council of 12 July 
2002 concerning the processing of personal 
data and the protection of privacy in the elec-
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tronic communications sector (Directive on 
privacy and electronic communications) (OJ 
2002 L 201, p. 37) states: 
‘1. This Directive harmonises the provisions
of theMember States required to ensure an
equivalent level of protection of fundamen-
tal rightsandfreedoms,and inparticular the
righttoprivacy,withrespecttotheprocessing
ofpersonaldataintheelectroniccommunica-
tionsectorandtoensurethefreemovement
ofsuchdataandofelectroniccommunication
equipmentandservicesintheCommunity.

2.TheprovisionsofthisDirectiveparticularise
and complement Directive 95/46/EC for the
purposesmentionedinparagraph1…

3. This Directive shall not apply to activities
whichfalloutsidethescopeoftheTreatyes-
tablishing theEuropeanCommunity, suchas
thosecoveredbyTitlesVandVIoftheTreaty
onEuropeanUnion,andinanycasetoactivi-
tiesconcerningpublicsecurity,defence,State
security (including the economic well-being
oftheStatewhentheactivitiesrelatetoState
securitymatters)andtheactivitiesoftheState
inareasofcriminallaw.’

22. Under Article 2 of Directive 2002/58: 
‘Saveasotherwiseprovided,thedefinitionsin
Directive95/46/ECand inDirective2002/21/
EC of the European Parliament and of the
Councilof7March2002onacommonregu-
latory framework for electronic communica-
tions networks and services (Framework Di-
rective)…shallapply.

Thefollowingdefinitionsshallalsoapply:

…

(b) “traffic data” means any data processed
forthepurposeoftheconveyanceofacom-
municationonanelectroniccommunications
networkorforthebillingthereof;

…

(d) “communication”means any information
exchangedorconveyedbetweenafinitenum-
berofpartiesbymeansofapubliclyavailable
electroniccommunicationsservice.Thisdoes
notincludeanyinformationconveyedaspart
ofabroadcastingservicetothepublicoveran
electroniccommunicationsnetworkexceptto
theextentthattheinformationcanberelated
totheidentifiablesubscriberoruserreceiving
theinformation;

…’

23. Article 3 of Directive 2002/58 provides: 

‘1.ThisDirectiveshallapplytotheprocessing
ofpersonaldatainconnectionwiththeprovi-
sion of publicly available electronic commu-
nications services in public communications
networksintheCommunity.

…’

24. Article 5 of Directive 2002/58 provides: 
‘1.MemberStates shall ensure the confiden-
tiality of communications and the related
trafficdatabymeansofapubliccommunica-
tionsnetworkandpubliclyavailableelectronic
communications services, through national
legislation. In particular, they shall prohibit
listening,tapping,storageorotherkindsofin-
terceptionorsurveillanceofcommunications
and the related trafficdatabypersonsother
thanusers,without the consent of theusers
concerned, except when legally authorised
todosoinaccordancewithArticle15(1).This
paragraphshallnotpreventtechnicalstorage
which is necessary for the conveyance of a
communicationwithoutprejudicetotheprin-
cipleofconfidentiality.

…’

25. Article 6 of Directive 2002/58 provides: 
‘1.Trafficdatarelatingtosubscribersandus-
ersprocessedandstoredbytheproviderofa
public communications network or publicly
available electronic communications service
must be erased or made anonymous when
it isnolongerneededforthepurposeofthe
transmission of a communication without
prejudicetoparagraphs2,3and5ofthisAr-
ticleandArticle15(1).

2. Traffic data necessary for the purposes of
subscriber billing and interconnection pay-
mentsmaybeprocessed.Suchprocessing is
permissibleonlyup to theendof theperiod
during which the bill may lawfully be chal-
lengedorpaymentpursued.

3. For the purpose of marketing electronic
communications services or for the provi-
sionofvalueaddedservices,theproviderofa
publicly availableelectronic communications
service may process the data referred to in
paragraph1totheextentandfortheduration
necessaryforsuchservicesormarketing,ifthe
subscriber or user to whom the data relate
hasgivenhis/her consent.Usersor subscrib-
ersshallbegiventhepossibility towithdraw
theirconsentfortheprocessingoftrafficdata
atanytime.

…

5.Processingoftrafficdata,inaccordancewith
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paragraphs1,2,3and4,mustberestrictedto
personsactingundertheauthorityofprovid-
ers of the public communications networks
andpubliclyavailableelectroniccommunica-
tions serviceshandlingbillingor trafficman-
agement,customerenquiries,frauddetection,
marketing electronic communications ser-
vicesorprovidingavalueaddedservice,and
mustberestrictedtowhatisnecessaryforthe
purposesofsuchactivities.

6. Paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 5 shall applywith-
outprejudicetothepossibilityforcompetent
bodies tobe informedof traffic data in con-
formitywithapplicablelegislationwithaview
tosettlingdisputes,inparticularinterconnec-
tionorbillingdisputes.’

26. Under Article 15 of Directive 2002/58: 
‘1.MemberStatesmayadoptlegislativemeas-
ures to restrict the scope of the rights and
obligationsprovidedforinArticle5,Article6,
Article8(1),(2),(3)and(4),andArticle9ofthis
Directive when such restriction constitutes
a necessary, appropriate and proportionate
measurewithinademocraticsociety tosafe-
guard national security (i.e. State security),
defence, public security, and theprevention,
investigation, detection and prosecution of
criminaloffencesorofunauthoriseduseofthe
electroniccommunicationsystem,asreferred
toinArticle13(1)ofDirective95/46/EC.Tothis
end,MemberStatesmay,interalia,adoptleg-
islativemeasures providing for the retention
of data for a limited period justified on the
grounds laiddown in thisparagraph.All the
measuresreferredtointhisparagraphshallbe
in accordancewith the general principles of
Communitylaw,includingthosereferredtoin
Article6(1)and(2)oftheTreatyonEuropean
Union.

…’

27. Article 19 of Directive 2002/58 provides: 
‘Directive97/66/ECisherebyrepealedwithef-
fectfromthedatereferredtoinArticle17(1).

References made to the repealed Directive
shallbeconstruedasbeingmade to thisDi-
rective.’

Nationallaw
28. Under Article 12 of Law 34/2002 on informa-

tion society services and electronic commerce 
(Ley 34/2002 de servicios de la sociedad de 
la información y de comercio electrónico) 
of 11 July 2002 (BOE No 166 of 12 July 2002, 
p. 25388,’the LSSI’), headed’Duty to retain traf-
fic data relating to electronic communications’: 

‘1. Operators of electronic communications
networksandservices,providersofaccessto
telecommunications networks and provid-
ersofdata storageservicesmust retain fora
maximumof 12months the connection and
trafficdatageneratedbythecommunications
establishedduring the supplyofan informa-
tion society service, under the conditions
established inthisarticleandtheregulations
implementingit.

2.…Theoperatorsofelectroniccommunica-
tions networks and services and the service
providers to which this article refers may
notuse thedata retained forpurposesother
thanthose indicated intheparagraphbelow
orotherpurposespermittedby theLawand
mustadoptappropriatesecuritymeasuresto
avoidthelossoralterationofthedataandun-
authorisedaccesstothedata.

3.Thedatashallberetainedforuseinthecon-
textofacriminalinvestigationortosafeguard
publicsecurityandnationaldefence,andshall
bemadeavailabletothecourtsorthepublic
prosecutorattheirrequest.Communicationof
thedatatotheforcesofordershallbeeffected
inaccordancewiththeprovisionsoftherules
onpersonaldataprotection.

…’

The main proceedings and the order 
for reference
29. Promusicae is a non-profit-making organisa-

tion of producers and publishers of musical 
and audiovisual recordings. By letter of 28 
November 2005 it made an application to the 
Juzgado de lo Mercantil No 5 de Madrid (Com-
mercial Court No 5, Madrid) for preliminary 
measures against Telefónica, a commercial 
company whose activities include the provi-
sion of internet access services. 

30. Promusicae asked for Telefónica to be ordered 
to disclose the identities and physical address-
es of certain persons whom it provided with 
internet access services, whose IP address and 
date and time of connection were known. Ac-
cording to Promusicae, those persons used the 
KaZaA file exchange program (peer-to-peer or 
P2P) and provided access in shared files of per-
sonal computers to phonograms in which the 
members of Promusicae held the exploitation 
rights. 

31. Promusicae claimed before the national court 
that the users of KaZaA were engaging in un-
fair competition and infringing intellectual 
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property rights. It therefore sought disclosure 
of the above information in order to be able 
to bring civil proceedings against the persons 
concerned. 

32. By order of 21 December 2005 the Juzgado de 
lo Mercantil No 5 de Madrid ordered the pre-
liminary measures requested by Promusicae. 

33. Telefónica appealed against that order, con-
tending that under the LSSI the communica-
tion of the data sought by Promusicae is au-
thorised only in a criminal investigation or for 
the purpose of safeguarding public security 
and national defence, not in civil proceedings 
or as a preliminary measure relating to civil 
proceedings. Promusicae submitted for its part 
that Article 12 of the LSSI must be interpreted 
in accordance with various provisions of Direc-
tives 2000/31, 2001/29 and 2004/48 and with 
Articles 17(2) and 47 of the Charter, provisions 
which do not allow Member States to limit 
solely to the purposes expressly mentioned in 
that law the obligation to communicate the 
data in question. 

34. In those circumstances the Juzgado de lo Mer-
cantil No 5 de Madrid decided to stay the pro-
ceedings and refer the following question to 
the Court for a preliminary ruling: 
‘Does Community law, specifically Articles
15(2) and 18 of Directive [2000/31], Article
8(1) and (2) of Directive [2001/29], Article 8
of Directive [2004/48] and Articles 17(2) and
47oftheCharter…permitMemberStatesto
limittothecontextofacriminalinvestigation
or to safeguard public security and national
defence, thus excluding civil proceedings,
the duty of operators of electronic commu-
nicationsnetworksandservices,providersof
access to telecommunications networks and
providers of data storage services to retain
and make available connection and traffic
data generated by the communications es-
tablishedduringthesupplyofaninformation
societyservice?’

Admissibility of the question referred
35. In its written observations the Italian Govern-

ment submits that the statements in point 
11 of the order for reference indicate that the 
question referred would be justified only in 
the event that the national legislation at issue 
in the main proceedings were interpreted as 
limiting the duty to disclose personal data to 
the field of criminal investigations or the pro-
tection of public safety and national defence. 

Since the national court does not exclude the 
possibility of that legislation being interpreted 
as not containing such a limitation, the ques-
tion thus appears, according to the Italian 
Government, to be hypothetical, so that it is 
inadmissible. 

36. In this respect, it should be recalled that, in the 
context of the cooperation between the Court 
of Justice and the national courts provided 
for by Article 234 EC, it is solely for the na-
tional court before which the dispute has been 
brought, and which must assume responsi-
bility for the subsequent judicial decision, to 
determine in the light of the particular circum-
stances of the case both the need for a prelimi-
nary ruling in order to enable it to deliver judg-
ment and the relevance of the questions which 
it submits to the Court (Case C217/05 Confed-
eración Española de Empresarios de Estaciones 
de Servicio [2006] ECR I11987, paragraph 16 
and the case-law cited). 

37. Where questions submitted by national courts 
concern the interpretation of a provision of 
Community law, the Court of Justice is thus 
bound, in principle, to give a ruling unless it is 
obvious that the request for a preliminary rul-
ing is in reality designed to induce the Court to 
give a ruling by means of a fictitious dispute, or 
to deliver advisory opinions on general or hy-
pothetical questions, or that the interpretation 
of Community law requested bears no relation 
to the actual facts of the main action or its pur-
pose, or that the Court does not have before it 
the factual or legal material necessary to give 
a useful answer to the questions submitted to 
it (see Confederación Española de Empresarios 
de Estaciones de Servicio, paragraph 17). 

38. Moreover, as regards the division of responsi-
bilities under the cooperative arrangements 
established by Article 234 EC, the interpreta-
tion of provisions of national law is admittedly a 
matter for the national courts, not for the Court 
of Justice, and the Court has no jurisdiction, in 
proceedings brought on the basis of that arti-
cle, to rule on the compatibility of national rules 
of law with Community law. On the other hand, 
the Court does have jurisdiction to provide the 
national court with all the guidance as to the 
interpretation of Community law necessary to 
enable that court to rule on the compatibility 
of national rules with Community law (see, to 
that effect, Case C506/04 Wilson [2006] ECR 
I8613, paragraphs 34 and 35, and Joined Cases 
C338/04, C359/04 and C360/04 Placanica and 
Others [2007] ECR I1891, paragraph 36). 
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39. However, in the case of the present reference 
for a preliminary ruling, it is perfectly clear 
from the grounds of the order for reference as 
a whole that the national court considers that 
the interpretation of Article 12 of the LSSI de-
pends on the compatibility of that provision 
with the relevant provisions of Community law, 
and hence on the interpretation of those provi-
sions which it asks the Court to provide. Since 
the outcome of the main proceedings is thus 
linked to that interpretation, the question re-
ferred clearly does not appear hypothetical, so 
that the ground of inadmissibility put forward 
by the Italian Government cannot be accepted. 

40. The reference for a preliminary ruling is there-
fore admissible. 

The question referred for a preliminary 
ruling
41. By its question the national court asks essen-

tially whether Community law, in particular 
Directives 2000/31, 2001/29 and 2004/48, 
read also in the light of Articles 17 and 47 of 
the Charter, must be interpreted as requiring 
Member States to lay down, in order to ensure 
effective protection of copyright, an obligation 
to communicate personal data in the context 
of civil proceedings. 

Preliminaryobservations
42. Even if, formally, the national court has limited 

its question to the interpretation of Directives 
2000/31, 2001/29 and 2004/48 and the Charter, 
that circumstance does not prevent the Court 
from providing the national court with all the 
elements of interpretation of Community law 
which may be of use for deciding the case be-
fore it, whether or not that court has referred to 
them in the wording of its question (see Case 
C392/05 Alevizos [2007] ECR I3505, paragraph 
64 and the case-law cited). 

43. It should be observed to begin with that the 
intention of the provisions of Community law 
thus referred to in the question is that the 
Member States should ensure, especially in 
the information society, effective protection 
of industrial property, in particular copyright, 
which Promusicae claims in the main proceed-
ings. The national court proceeds, however, 
from the premiss that the Community law ob-
ligations required by that protection may be 
blocked, in national law, by the provisions of 
Article 12 of the LSSI. 

44. While that law, in 2002, transposed the provi-
sions of Directive 2000/31 into domestic law, it 
is common ground that Article 12 of the law is 
intended to implement the rules for the pro-
tection of private life, which is also required 
by Community law under Directives 95/46 
and 2002/58, the latter of which concerns the 
processing of personal data and the protection 
of privacy in the electronic communications 
sector, which is the sector at issue in the main 
proceedings. 

45. It is not disputed that the communication 
sought by Promusicae of the names and ad-
dresses of certain users of KaZaA involves the 
making available of personal data, that is, in-
formation relating to identified or identifiable 
natural persons, in accordance with the defini-
tion in Article 2(a) of Directive 95/46 (see, to 
that effect, Case C101/01 Lindqvist [2003] ECR 
I12971, paragraph 24). That communication of 
information which, as Promusicae submits and 
Telefónica does not contest, is stored by Tel-
efónica constitutes the processing of personal 
data within the meaning of the first paragraph 
of Article 2 of Directive 2002/58, read in con-
junction with Article 2(b) of Directive 95/46. 
It must therefore be accepted that that com-
munication falls within the scope of Directive 
2002/58, although the compliance of the data 
storage itself with the requirements of that di-
rective is not at issue in the main proceedings. 

46. In those circumstances, it should first be ascer-
tained whether Directive 2002/58 precludes 
the Member States from laying down, with a 
view to ensuring effective protection of copy-
right, an obligation to communicate personal 
data which will enable the copyright holder to 
bring civil proceedings based on the existence 
of that right. If that is not the case, it will then 
have to be ascertained whether it follows di-
rectly from the three directives expressly men-
tioned by the national court that the Member 
States are required to lay down such an obli-
gation. Finally, if that is not the case either, in 
order to provide the national court with an an-
swer of use to it, it will have to be examined, 
starting from the national court’s reference to 
the Charter, whether in a situation such as that 
at issue in the main proceedings other rules of 
Community law might require a different read-
ing of those three directives. 

Directive2002/58
47. Article 5(1) of Directive 2002/58 provides that 

Member States must ensure the confidentiality 
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of communications by means of a public com-
munications network and publicly available 
electronic communications services, and of 
the related traffic data, and must inter alia pro-
hibit, in principle, the storage of that data by 
persons other than users, without the consent 
of the users concerned. The only exceptions 
relate to persons lawfully authorised in accord-
ance with Article 15(1) of that directive and the 
technical storage necessary for conveyance of 
a communication. In addition, as regards traf-
fic data, Article 6(1) of Directive 2002/58 pro-
vides that stored traffic data must be erased or 
made anonymous when it is no longer needed 
for the purpose of the transmission of a com-
munication without prejudice to paragraphs 2, 
3 and 5 of that article and Article 15(1) of the 
directive. 

48. With respect, first, to paragraphs 2, 3 and 5 of 
Article 6, which relate to the processing of traf-
fic data in accordance with the requirements 
of billing and marketing services and the provi-
sion of value added services, those provisions 
do not concern the communication of that 
data to persons other than those acting under 
the authority of the providers of public com-
munications networks and publicly available 
electronic communications services. As to the 
provisions of Article 6(6) of Directive 2002/58, 
they do not relate to disputes other than those 
between suppliers and users concerning the 
grounds for storing data in connection with 
the activities referred to in the other provisions 
of that article. Since Article 6(6) thus clearly 
does not concern a situation such as that of 
Promusicae in the main proceedings, it cannot 
be taken into account in assessing that situa-
tion. 

49. With respect, second, to Article 15(1) of Direc-
tive 2002/58, it should be recalled that under 
that provision the Member States may adopt 
legislative measures to restrict the scope inter 
alia of the obligation to ensure the confiden-
tiality of traffic data, where such a restriction 
constitutes a necessary, appropriate and pro-
portionate measure within a democratic so-
ciety to safeguard national security (i.e. State 
security), defence, public security, and the 
prevention, investigation, detection and pros-
ecution of criminal offences or of unauthorised 
use of the electronic communications system, 
as referred to in Article 13(1) of Directive 95/46. 

50. Article 15(1) of Directive 2002/58 thus gives 
Member States the possibility of providing for 
exceptions to the obligation of principle, im-

posed on them by Article 5 of that directive, to 
ensure the confidentiality of personal data. 

51. However, none of these exceptions appears to 
relate to situations that call for the bringing of 
civil proceedings. They concern, first, national 
security, defence and public security, which 
constitute activities of the State or of State 
authorities unrelated to the fields of activ-
ity of individuals (see, to that effect, Lindqvist, 
paragraph 43), and, second, the prosecution of 
criminal offences. 

52. As regards the exception relating to unauthor-
ised use of the electronic communications 
system, this appears to concern use which calls 
into question the actual integrity or security of 
the system, such as the cases referred to in Arti-
cle 5(1) of Directive 2002/58 of the interception 
or surveillance of communications without the 
consent of the users concerned. Such use, 
which, under that article, makes it necessary for 
the Member States to intervene, also does not 
relate to situations that may give rise to civil 
proceedings. 

53. It is clear, however, that Article 15(1) of Direc-
tive 2002/58 ends the list of the above excep-
tions with an express reference to Article 13(1) 
of Directive 95/46. That provision also author-
ises the Member States to adopt legislative 
measures to restrict the obligation of confiden-
tiality of personal data where that restriction 
is necessary inter alia for the protection of the 
rights and freedoms of others. As they do not 
specify the rights and freedoms concerned, 
those provisions of Article 15(1) of Directive 
2002/58 must be interpreted as expressing 
the Community legislature’s intention not to 
exclude from their scope the protection of the 
right to property or situations in which authors 
seek to obtain that protection in civil proceed-
ings. 

54. The conclusion must therefore be that Direc-
tive 2002/58 does not preclude the possibility 
for the Member States of laying down an obli-
gation to disclose personal data in the context 
of civil proceedings. 

55. However, the wording of Article 15(1) of that 
directive cannot be interpreted as compelling 
the Member States, in the situations it sets out, 
to lay down such an obligation. 

56. It must therefore be ascertained whether the 
three directives mentioned by the national 
court require those States to lay down that ob-
ligation in order to ensure the effective protec-



1194 CASEC-275/06PRODUCTORESDEMúSICADEESPAñA(PROMUSICAE)VELEFóNICADEESPAñASAU

EC
HR

EC
J

tion of copyright. 

The three directives mentioned by the 
national court
57. It should first be noted that, as pointed out in 

paragraph 43 above, the purpose of the direc-
tives mentioned by the national court is that 
the Member States should ensure, especially 
in the information society, effective protection 
of industrial property, in particular copyright. 
However, it follows from Article 1(5)(b) of Direc-
tive 2000/31, Article 9 of Directive 2001/29 and 
Article 8(3)(e) of Directive 2004/48 that such 
protection cannot affect the requirements of 
the protection of personal data. 

58. Article 8(1) of Directive 2004/48 admittedly 
requires Member States to ensure that, in the 
context of proceedings concerning an in-
fringement of an intellectual property right 
and in response to a justified and proportion-
ate request of the claimant, the competent 
judicial authorities may order that information 
on the origin and distribution networks of the 
goods or services which infringe an intellectual 
property right be provided. However, it does 
not follow from those provisions, which must 
be read in conjunction with those of paragraph 
3(e) of that article, that they require the Mem-
ber States to lay down, in order to ensure ef-
fective protection of copyright, an obligation 
to communicate personal data in the context 
of civil proceedings. 

59. Nor does the wording of Articles 15(2) and 18 
of Directive 2000/31 or that of Article 8(1) and 
(2) of Directive 2001/29 require the Member 
States to lay down such an obligation. 

60. As to Articles 41, 42 and 47 of the TRIPs Agree-
ment, relied on by Promusicae, in the light 
of which Community law must as far as pos-
sible be interpreted where – as in the case of 
the provisions relied on in the context of the 
present reference for a preliminary ruling – it 
regulates a field to which that agreement ap-
plies (see, to that effect, Joined Cases C300/98 
and C392/98 Dior and Others [2000] ECR 
I11307, paragraph 47, and Case C431/05 Merck 
Genéricos – Produtos Farmacêuticos [2007] 
ECR I0000, paragraph 35), while they require 
the effective protection of intellectual property 
rights and the institution of judicial remedies 
for their enforcement, they do not contain pro-
visions which require those directives to be in-
terpreted as compelling the Member States to 
lay down an obligation to communicate per-

sonal data in the context of civil proceedings. 

Fundamentalrights
61. The national court refers in its order for refer-

ence to Articles 17 and 47 of the Charter, the 
first of which concerns the protection of the 
right to property, including intellectual prop-
erty, and the second of which concerns the 
right to an effective remedy. By so doing, that 
court must be regarded as seeking to know 
whether an interpretation of those directives 
to the effect that the Member States are not 
obliged to lay down, in order to ensure the ef-
fective protection of copyright, an obligation 
to communicate personal data in the context 
of civil proceedings leads to an infringement of 
the fundamental right to property and the fun-
damental right to effective judicial protection. 

62. It should be recalled that the fundamental 
right to property, which includes intellectual 
property rights such as copyright (see, to that 
effect, Case C479/04 Laserdisken [2006] ECR 
I8089, paragraph 65), and the fundamental 
right to effective judicial protection constitute 
general principles of Community law (see re-
spectively, to that effect, Joined Cases C154/04 
and C155/04 Alliance for Natural Health and 
Others [2005] ECR I6451, paragraph 126 and 
the case-law cited, and Case C432/05 Unibet 
[2007] ECR I2271, paragraph 37 and the case-
law cited). 

63. However, the situation in respect of which the 
national court puts that question involves, in 
addition to those two rights, a further funda-
mental right, namely the right that guarantees 
protection of personal data and hence of pri-
vate life. 

64. According to recital 2 in the preamble to Direc-
tive 2002/58, the directive seeks to respect the 
fundamental rights and observes the princi-
ples recognised in particular by the Charter. In 
particular, the directive seeks to ensure full re-
spect for the rights set out in Articles 7 and 8 of 
that Charter. Article 7 substantially reproduces 
Article 8 of the European Convention for the 
Protection of Human Rights and Fundamen-
tal Freedoms signed at Rome on 4 November 
1950, which guarantees the right to respect for 
private life, and Article 8 of the Charter express-
ly proclaims the right to protection of personal 
data. 

65. The present reference for a preliminary ruling 
thus raises the question of the need to recon-
cile the requirements of the protection of dif-
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ferent fundamental rights, namely the right to 
respect for private life on the one hand and the 
rights to protection of property and to an effec-
tive remedy on the other. 

66. The mechanisms allowing those different 
rights and interests to be balanced are con-
tained, first, in Directive 2002/58 itself, in that 
it provides for rules which determine in what 
circumstances and to what extent the process-
ing of personal data is lawful and what safe-
guards must be provided for, and in the three 
directives mentioned by the national court, 
which reserve the cases in which the measures 
adopted to protect the rights they regulate af-
fect the protection of personal data. Second, 
they result from the adoption by the Member 
States of national provisions transposing those 
directives and their application by the national 
authorities (see, to that effect, with reference to 
Directive 95/46, Lindqvist, paragraph 82). 

67. As to those directives, their provisions are rela-
tively general, since they have to be applied to 
a large number of different situations which 
may arise in any of the Member States. They 
therefore logically include rules which leave 
the Member States with the necessary discre-
tion to define transposition measures which 
may be adapted to the various situations possi-
ble (see, to that effect, Lindqvist, paragraph 84). 

68. That being so, the Member States must, when 
transposing the directives mentioned above, 
take care to rely on an interpretation of the di-
rectives which allows a fair balance to be struck 
between the various fundamental rights pro-
tected by the Community legal order. Further, 
when implementing the measures transposing 
those directives, the authorities and courts of 
the Member States must not only interpret 
their national law in a manner consistent with 
those directives but also make sure that they 
do not rely on an interpretation of them which 
would be in conflict with those fundamen-
tal rights or with the other general principles 
of Community law, such as the principle of 
proportionality (see, to that effect, Lindqvist, 
paragraph 87, and Case C305/05 Ordre des 
barreaux francophones et germanophone and 
Others [2007] ECR I0000, paragraph 28). 

69. Moreover, it should be recalled here that the 
Community legislature expressly required, 
in accordance with Article 15(1) of Directive 
2002/58, that the measures referred to in that 
paragraph be adopted by the Member States 
in compliance with the general principles of 

Community law, including those mentioned in 
Article 6(1) and (2) EU. 

70. In the light of all the foregoing, the answer 
to the national court’s question must be that 
Directives 2000/31, 2001/29, 2004/48 and 
2002/58 do not require the Member States to 
lay down, in a situation such as that in the main 
proceedings, an obligation to communicate 
personal data in order to ensure effective pro-
tection of copyright in the context of civil pro-
ceedings. However, Community law requires 
that, when transposing those directives, the 
Member States take care to rely on an inter-
pretation of them which allows a fair balance 
to be struck between the various fundamen-
tal rights protected by the Community legal 
order. Further, when implementing the meas-
ures transposing those directives, the authori-
ties and courts of the Member States must not 
only interpret their national law in a manner 
consistent with those directives but also make 
sure that they do not rely on an interpretation 
of them which would be in conflict with those 
fundamental rights or with the other general 
principles of Community law, such as the prin-
ciple of proportionality. 

Costs
71. Since these proceedings are, for the parties 

to the main proceedings, a step in the action 
pending before the national court, the deci-
sion on costs is a matter for that court. Costs in-
curred in submitting observations to the Court, 
other than the costs of those parties, are not 
recoverable. 

On those grounds, the Court (Grand Chamber) 
hereby rules:

Directive 2000/31/EC of the European Parlia-
ment and of the Council of 8 June 2000 on 
certain legal aspects of information society 
services, in particular electronic commerce, in 
the Internal Market (‘Directive on electronic 
commerce’), Directive 2001/29/EC of the Eu-
ropean Parliament and of the Council of 22 
May 2001 on the harmonisation of certain 
aspects of copyright and related rights in the 
information society, Directive 2004/48/EC of 
the European Parliament and of the Council of 
29 April 2004 on the enforcement of intellec-
tual property rights, and Directive 2002/58/EC 
of the European Parliament and of the Council 
of 12 July 2002 concerning the processing of 
personal data and the protection of privacy in 
the electronic communications sector (Direc-
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tive on privacy and electronic communica-
tions) do not require the Member States to lay 
down, in a situation such as that in the main 
proceedings, an obligation to communicate 
personal data in order to ensure effective pro-
tection of copyright in the context of civil pro-
ceedings. However, Community law requires 
that, when transposing those directives, the 
Member States take care to rely on an inter-
pretation of them which allows a fair balance 
to be struck between the various fundamental 
rights protected by the Community legal or-
der. further, when implementing the meas-
ures transposing those directives, the authori-
ties and courts of the Member States must not 
only interpret their national law in a manner 
consistent with those directives but also make 
sure that they do not rely on an interpretation 
of them which would be in conflict with those 
fundamental rights or with the other general 
principles of Community law, such as the prin-
ciple of proportionality.

[Signatures]



1197CASEC-275/06PRODUCTORESDEMúSICADEESPAñA(PROMUSICAE)VELEFóNICADEESPAñASAU

EC
J

EC
HR



1198 CASEC-301/06IRELANDVEUROPEANPARLIAMENTANDCOUNCILOFTHEEUROPEANUNION

EC
HR

EC
J

ENISA , DATA RETENTION, USE OF RETAINED DATA BY 
THE POLICE OR JUDICIAL AUTHORITIES OF THE MEM-
BER STATES, DATA-PROCESSING FOR PUBLIC SECURITY 
PURPOSES

CAsE C-301/06 IRELAnD v 
EURoPEAn PARLIAMEnt 
AnD CoUnCIL oF tHE 
EURoPEAn UnIon
(Action for annulment – Directive 2006/24/EC – Re-
tention of data generated or processed in connec-
tion with the provision of electronic communica-
tions services – Choice of legal basis)

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

Acts of the institutions – Choice of legal basis (Art. 
95 EC; European Parliament and Council Directive 
2006/24)

Directive 2006/24/EC on the retention of data 
generated or processed in connection with the 
provision of publicly available electronic commu-
nications services or of public communications 
networks had to be adopted on the basis of Article 
95 EC. 

The Community legislature may have recourse to 
Article 95 EC in particular where disparities exist be-
tween national rules which are such as to obstruct 
the fundamental freedoms or to create distortions 
of competition and thus have a direct effect on the 
functioning of the internal market. 

It is apparent that the differences between the 
various national rules adopted on the retention of 
data relating to electronic communications were 
liable to have a direct impact on the functioning 
of the internal market and that it was foreseeable 
that that impact would become more serious with 
the passage of time. Such a situation justified the 
Community legislature in pursuing the objective of 
safeguarding the proper functioning of the internal 
market through the adoption of harmonised rules. 

Furthermore, Directive 2006/24 regulates opera-
tions which are independent of the implemen-
tation of any police and judicial cooperation in 
criminal matters. It harmonises neither the issue 
of access to data by the competent national law-
enforcement authorities nor that relating to the use 
and exchange of those data between those author-

ities. Those matters, which fall, in principle, within 
the area covered by Title VI of the EU Treaty, have 
been excluded from the provisions of that directive. 
It follows that the substantive content of Directive 
2006/24 is directed essentially at the activities of 
service providers in the relevant sector of the inter-
nal market, to the exclusion of State activities com-
ing under Title VI of the EU Treaty. In light of that 
substantive content, it must be held that that direc-
tive relates predominantly to the functioning of the 
internal market. (see paras 63, 71-72, 83-85, 93)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (GRAND 
CHAMBER)

10 February 200918 

(Action for annulment – Directive 2006/24/EC – Re-
tention of data generated or processed in connec-
tion with the provision of electronic communica-
tions services – Choice of legal basis)

In Case C301/06,

ACTION for annulment under Article 230 EC, 
brought on 6 July 2006, Ireland, represented by D. 
O’Hagan, acting as Agent, E. Fitzsimons, D. Barniv-
ille and A. Collins, SC, with an address for service 
in Luxembourg, applicant, supported by: Slovak 
Republic, represented by J. Čorba, acting as Agent, 
intervener,

v

European Parliament, represented initially by H. 
Duintjer Tebbens, M. Dean and A. Auersperger 
Matić, and subsequently by the latter two and 
K. Bradley, acting as Agents, with an address for ser-
vice in Luxembourg, Council of the European Un-
ion, represented by J.-C. Piris, J. Schutte and S. Kyria-
kopoulou, acting as Agents, defendants, supported 
by: Kingdom of Spain, represented by M.A. Sam-
pol Pucurull and J. Rodríguez Cárcamo, acting as 
Agents, with an address for service in Luxembourg, 
Kingdom of the Netherlands, represented by C. ten 
Dam and C. Wissels, acting as Agents, Commission 
of the European Communities, represented by 
C. Docksey, R. Troosters and C. O’Reilly, acting as 
Agents, with an address for service in Luxembourg, 
European Data Protection Supervisor, represented 
by H. Hijmans, acting as Agent, interveners,

THE COURT (Grand Chamber), composed of V. 
Skouris, President, P. Jann, C.W.A. Timmermans, 
A. Rosas and K. Lenaerts, Presidents of Chambers, A. 
Tizzano, J. N. Cunha Rodrigues (Rapporteur), R. Silva 

18 Language of the case: English.

Case C-301/06 Ireland v European Parliament and Council of the European Union
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de Lapuerta, K. Schiemann, J. Klučka, A. Arabadjiev, 
C. Toader and J.J. Kasel, Judges, Advocate General: 
Y. Bot, Registrar: C. Strömholm, Administrator, hav-
ing regard to the written procedure and further to 
the hearing on 1 July 2008, after hearing the Opin-
ion of the Advocate General at the sitting on 14 Oc-
tober 2008,

gives the following Judgment

1. By its action, Ireland requests the Court to an-
nul Directive 2006/24/EC of the European Par-
liament and of the Council of 15 March 2006 on 
the retention of data generated or processed in 
connection with the provision of publicly avail-
able electronic communications services or of 
public communications networks and amend-
ing Directive 2002/58/EC (OJ 2006 L 105, p. 54), 
on the ground that it was not adopted on an 
appropriate legal basis. 

Legal framework

Directive95/46/EC
2. Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament 

and of the Council of 24 October 1995 on the 
protection of individuals with regard to the 
processing of personal data and on the free 
movement of such data (OJ 1995 L 281, p. 31) 
lays down rules relating to the processing of 
personal data in order to protect the rights of 
individuals in that respect, while ensuring the 
free movement of those data in the European 
Community. 

3. Article 3(2) of Directive 95/46 provides: 
‘ThisDirectiveshallnotapplytotheprocess-
ingofpersonaldata:

– in thecourseofanactivitywhich fallsout-
side the scope of Community law, such as
those provided for by Titles V and VI of the
TreatyonEuropeanUnionandinanycaseto
processing operations concerning public se-
curity, defence, State security (including the
economic well-being of the State when the
processingoperationrelatestoStatesecurity
matters)andtheactivitiesoftheStateinareas
ofcriminallaw,

–byanaturalpersoninthecourseofapurely
personalorhouseholdactivity.’

Directive2002/58/EC
4. Directive 2002/58/EC of the European Parlia-

ment and of the Council of 12 July 2002 con-
cerning the processing of personal data and 

the protection of privacy in the electronic com-
munications sector (Directive on privacy and 
electronic communications) (OJ 2002 L 201, p. 
37) was adopted with a view to supplement-
ing Directive 95/46 by provisions specific to the 
telecommunications sector. 

5. Under Article 6(1) of Directive 2002/58: 
‘Trafficdata relating to subscribersandusers
processed and stored by the provider of a
public communications network or publicly
available electronic communications service
must be erased or made anonymous when
it isnolongerneededforthepurposeofthe
transmission of a communication without
prejudicetoparagraphs2,3and5ofthisAr-
ticleandArticle15(1).’

6. Article 15(1) of Directive 2002/58 states: 
‘Member Statesmay adopt legislativemeas-
ures to restrict the scope of the rights and
obligationsprovidedforinArticle5,Article6,
Article8(1),(2),(3)and(4),andArticle9ofthis
Directive when such restriction constitutes
a necessary, appropriate and proportionate
measurewithinademocraticsociety tosafe-
guard national security (i.e. State security),
defence, public security, and theprevention,
investigation, detection and prosecution of
criminaloffencesorofunauthoriseduseofthe
electroniccommunicationsystem,asreferred
toinArticle13(1)ofDirective95/46/EC.Tothis
end,MemberStatesmay,interalia,adoptleg-
islativemeasures providing for the retention
of data for a limited period justified on the
grounds laiddown in thisparagraph.All the
measuresreferredtointhisparagraphshallbe
in accordancewith the general principles of
Communitylaw,includingthosereferredtoin
Article6(1)and(2)oftheTreatyonEuropean
Union.’

Directive2006/24
7. Recitals 5 to 11 in the preamble to Directive 

2006/24 provide as follows: 
‘(5)SeveralMemberStateshaveadoptedleg-
islationprovidingfortheretentionofdataby
service providers for the prevention, investi-
gation,detectionandprosecutionofcriminal
offences.Thosenationalprovisionsvarycon-
siderably.

(6) The legal and technical differences be-
tweennationalprovisionsconcerningthere-
tentionofdataforthepurposeofprevention,
investigation, detection and prosecution of
criminaloffencespresentobstaclestothein-
ternalmarket forelectroniccommunications,
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sinceserviceprovidersarefacedwithdifferent
requirements regarding the types of traffic
andlocationdatatoberetainedandthecon-
ditionsandperiodsofretention.

(7)TheConclusionsof theJusticeandHome
AffairsCouncilof19December2002underline
that,becauseofthesignificantgrowthinthe
possibilitiesaffordedbyelectroniccommuni-
cations,datarelatingtotheuseofelectronic
communications are particularly important
and therefore a valuable tool in the preven-
tion,investigation,detectionandprosecution
of criminal offences, in particular organised
crime.

(8) The Declaration on Combating Terror-
ismadoptedby the EuropeanCouncil on25
March2004instructedtheCounciltoexamine
measures forestablishing ruleson the reten-
tionofcommunicationstrafficdatabyservice
providers.

(9)UnderArticle 8 of the EuropeanConven-
tion for the ProtectionofHumanRights and
FundamentalFreedoms(ECHR),everyonehas
therighttorespectforhisprivatelifeandhis
correspondence. Public authorities may in-
terferewith theexerciseof that rightonly in
accordance with the law and where neces-
sary inademocratic society, interalia, in the
interestsofnational securityorpublic safety,
forthepreventionofdisorderorcrime,orfor
theprotectionof the rightsand freedomsof
others.Becauseretentionofdatahasproved
to be such a necessary and effective inves-
tigative tool for law enforcement in several
Member States, and in particular concerning
seriousmatters such asorganised crimeand
terrorism, it is necessary to ensure that re-
taineddataaremadeavailabletolawenforce-
mentauthorities foracertainperiod, subject
totheconditionsprovidedforinthisDirective.
Theadoptionofaninstrumentondatareten-
tion that complies with the requirements of
Article8oftheECHRisthereforeanecessary
measure.

(10)On 13 July 2005, the Council reaffirmed
initsdeclarationcondemningtheterroristat-
tacksonLondontheneedtoadoptcommon
measuresontheretentionoftelecommunica-
tionsdataassoonaspossible.

(11)Giventheimportanceoftrafficandloca-
tiondataforthe investigation,detectionand
prosecution of criminal offences, as demon-
strated by research and the practical experi-
enceofseveralMemberStates,thereisaneed
toensureatEuropeanlevelthatdatathatare
generatedorprocessed, in thecourseof the
supplyofcommunicationsservices,byprovid-
ers of publicly available electronic commu-

nications servicesorof apublic communica-
tionsnetworkareretainedforacertainperiod,
subject totheconditionsprovidedfor in this
Directive.’

8. Recital 21 in the preamble to Directive 2006/24 
states: 
‘SincetheobjectivesofthisDirective,namely
toharmonisetheobligationsonprovidersto
retain certain data and to ensure that those
dataareavailableforthepurposeoftheinves-
tigation,detectionandprosecutionofserious
crime,asdefinedbyeachMemberStateinits
national law, cannot be sufficiently achieved
by theMember States and can therefore, by
reason of the scale and effects of thisDirec-
tive, bebetter achieved at Community level,
the Communitymay adoptmeasures, in ac-
cordancewiththeprincipleofsubsidiarityas
set out in Article 5 of the [EC] Treaty. In ac-
cordancewiththeprincipleofproportionality,
as set out in that Article, this Directive does
notgobeyondwhat isnecessary inorder to
achievethoseobjectives.’

9. Recital 25 in the preamble to Directive 2006/24 
is worded as follows: 
‘This Directive is without prejudice to the
powerofMemberStates toadopt legislative
measures concerning the right of access to,
and use of, data by national authorities, as
designatedby them. Issuesofaccess todata
retainedpursuanttothisDirectivebynational
authorities for such activities as are referred
tointhefirstindentofArticle3(2)ofDirective
95/46/ECfalloutsidethescopeofCommunity
law.However,theymaybesubjecttonational
laworactionpursuanttoTitleVIoftheTreaty
onEuropeanUnion.Suchlawsoractionmust
fullyrespectfundamentalrightsastheyresult
fromthecommonconstitutionaltraditionsof
theMemberStatesandasguaranteedbythe
ECHR.…’

10. Article 1(1) of Directive 2006/24 provides: 
‘This Directive aims to harmonise Member
States’provisionsconcerning theobligations
of the providers of publicly available elec-
tronic communications services or of public
communicationsnetworkswithrespecttothe
retentionofcertaindatawhicharegenerated
orprocessedbythem,inordertoensurethat
thedataareavailableforthepurposeofthein-
vestigation,detectionandprosecutionofseri-
ouscrime,asdefinedbyeachMemberStatein
itsnationallaw.’

11. Article 3(1) of that directive provides: 
‘BywayofderogationfromArticles5,6and9
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ofDirective2002/58/EC,MemberStatesshall
adoptmeasurestoensurethatthedataspeci-
fied inArticle 5of thisDirective are retained
inaccordancewiththeprovisionsthereof, to
the extent that those data are generated or
processed by providers of publicly available
electronic communications services or of a
public communications networkwithin their
jurisdiction in the process of supplying the
communicationsservicesconcerned.’

12. Article 4 of Directive 2006/24 states: 
‘Member States shall adoptmeasures to en-
surethatdataretainedinaccordancewiththis
Directiveareprovidedonlytothecompetent
nationalauthoritiesinspecificcasesandinac-
cordancewithnationallaw.Theproceduresto
befollowedandtheconditionstobefulfilled
inordertogainaccesstoretaineddatainac-
cordance with necessity and proportionality
requirementsshallbedefinedbyeachMem-
ber State in its national law, subject to the
relevantprovisionsofEuropeanUnionlawor
public international law,andinparticularthe
ECHRasinterpretedbytheEuropeanCourtof
HumanRights.’

13. Article 5 of Directive 2006/24 states: 
‘Member States shall ensure that the follow-
ingcategoriesofdataareretainedunderthis
Directive:

(a) data necessary to trace and identify the
sourceofacommunication:

…

(b)datanecessary to identify thedestination
ofacommunication:

…

(c) data necessary to identify the date, time
anddurationofacommunication:

…

(d)datanecessarytoidentifythetypeofcom-
munication:

…

(e)datanecessarytoidentifyusers’communi-
cationequipmentorwhatpurportstobetheir
equipment:

…

(f) data necessary to identify the location of
mobilecommunicationequipment:

…

2.Nodatarevealingthecontentofthecom-

municationmayberetainedpursuanttothis
Directive.’

14. Article 6 of Directive 2006/24 provides: 
‘MemberStatesshallensurethatthecatego-
riesofdataspecified inArticle5areretained
forperiodsofnotlessthansixmonthsandnot
morethantwoyearsfromthedateofthecom-
munication.’

15. Article 7 of Directive 2006/24 states: 
‘Withoutprejudicetotheprovisionsadopted
pursuant toDirective95/46/ECandDirective
2002/58/EC, eachMemberState shall ensure
thatprovidersofpubliclyavailableelectronic
communicationsservicesorofapubliccom-
municationsnetworkrespect,asaminimum,
thefollowingdatasecurityprincipleswithre-
specttodataretainedinaccordancewiththis
Directive:

…’

16. Under Article 8 of Directive 2006/24: 
‘Member States shall ensure that the data
specified in Article 5 are retained in accord-
ancewiththisDirectiveinsuchawaythatthe
data retained and anyother necessary infor-
mationrelatingtosuchdatacanbetransmit-
ted upon request to the competent authori-
tieswithoutunduedelay.’

17. Article 11 of Directive 2006/24 is worded as fol-
lows: 
‘The followingparagraphshallbe inserted in
Article15ofDirective2002/58/EC:

“1a.Paragraph1 shallnotapply todata spe-
cificallyrequiredbyDirective[2006/24]tobe
retainedforthepurposesreferredtoinArticle
1(1)ofthatDirective”.’

Background to the dispute
18. On 28 April 2004, the French Republic, Ire-

land, the Kingdom of Sweden and the United 
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland 
submitted to the Council of the European Un-
ion a proposal for a framework decision to be 
adopted on the basis of Articles 31(1)(c) EU 
and 34(2)(b) EU. The subject of that proposal 
was the retention of data processed and stored 
in connection with the provision of publicly 
available electronic communications services 
or data in public communication networks 
for the purposes of the prevention, investiga-
tion, detection and prosecution of criminal of-
fences, including terrorism (Council Document 
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8958/04). 

19. The Commission of the European Communi-
ties stated that it favoured the legal basis used 
in that proposed framework decision with re-
spect to a part of it. In particular, it pointed out 
that Article 47 EU did not allow an instrument 
based on the EU Treaty to affect the acquis 
communautaire, in this case Directives 95/46 
and 2002/58. Taking the view that the determi-
nation of the categories of data to be retained 
and of the relevant retention period fell within 
the competence of the Community legislature, 
the Commission reserved the right to submit a 
proposal for a directive. 

20. On 21 September 2005, the Commission 
adopted a proposal, based on Article 95 EC, for 
a directive of the European Parliament and of 
the Council on the retention of data processed 
in connection with the provision of public elec-
tronic communication[s] services and amend-
ing Directive 2002/58 [COM(2005) 438 final]. 

21. During its session on 1 and 2 December 2005, 
the Council decided to seek the adoption of a 
directive based on the EC Treaty, rather than 
pursuing the adoption of a framework deci-
sion. 

22. On 14 December 2005, the European Parlia-
ment delivered its opinion in accordance 
with the co-decision procedure under Article 
251 EC. 

23. The Council adopted Directive 2006/24 by 
qualified majority at its session on 21 February 
2006. Ireland and the Slovak Republic voted 
against the adoption of that directive. 

Forms of order sought by the parties
24. Ireland claims that the Court should: 

• annul Directive 2006/24 on the ground that 
it was not adopted on an appropriate legal 
basis, and

• order the Council and the Parliament to pay 
the costs.

25. The Parliament contends that the Court should: 

• primarily, dismiss the action as unfounded, 
and

• order Ireland to pay all the costs of the pre-
sent proceedings,

• or, in the alternative, should the Court an-
nul Directive 2006/24, declare that the ef-

fects of that directive are to remain in force 
until a new measure enters into force. 

26. The Council contends that the Court should: 

• dismiss the action brought by Ireland, and

• order Ireland to pay the costs.

27. By orders of 1 February 2007, the President of 
the Court granted leave to the Slovak Repub-
lic to intervene in support of the form of order 
sought by Ireland and to the Kingdom of Spain, 
the Kingdom of the Netherlands, the Commis-
sion and the European Data Protection Super-
visor to intervene in support of the forms of or-
der sought by the Parliament and the Council. 

The action

Arguments of the parties
28. Ireland submits that the choice of Article 95 EC 

as the legal basis for Directive 2006/24 is a fun-
damental error. Neither Article 95 EC nor any 
other provision of the EC Treaty is, in its view, 
capable of providing an appropriate legal ba-
sis for that directive. Ireland argues principally 
that the sole objective or, at least, the main or 
predominant objective of that directive is to fa-
cilitate the investigation, detection and prose-
cution of crime, including terrorism. Therefore, 
the only legal basis on which the measures 
contained in Directive 2006/24 may be validly 
based is Title VI of the EU Treaty, in particular 
Articles 30 EU, 31(1)(c) EU and 34(2)(b) EU. 

29. Ireland argues that an examination of, in par-
ticular, recitals 7 to 11 and 21 in the preamble 
to Directive 2006/24 and of the fundamental 
provisions laid down therein, in particular Arti-
cle 1(1) thereof, shows that reliance on Article 
95 EC as the legal basis for that directive is in-
appropriate and unjustifiable. That directive, it 
contends, is clearly directed towards the fight 
against crime. 

30. Ireland submits that measures based on Arti-
cle 95 EC must have as their’centre of gravity’ 
the harmonisation of national laws in order to 
improve the functioning of the internal mar-
ket (see, inter alia, Joined Cases C317/04 and 
C-318/04 Parliament v Council and Commis-
sion [2006] ECR I4721). The provisions of Direc-
tive 2006/24 concern the fight against crime 
and are not intended to address defects in the 
internal market. 

31. If, contrary to its main argument, the Court 
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were to hold that Directive 2006/24 is indeed 
intended, inter alia, to prevent distortions or 
obstacles to the internal market, Ireland sub-
mits in the alternative that that objective must 
be regarded as being purely incidental to the 
main or predominant objective of combating 
crime. 

32. Ireland adds that Directive 2002/58 could be 
amended by another directive, but the Com-
munity legislature is not competent to use an 
amending directive adopted on the basis of 
Article 95 EC in order to incorporate into Di-
rective 2002/58 provisions falling outside the 
competence conferred on the Community 
under the first pillar. The obligations designed 
to ensure that data are available for the inves-
tigation, detection and prosecution of criminal 
offences fall within an area which may only be 
the subject of a measure based on Title VI of 
the EU Treaty. The adoption of such an instru-
ment would not affect the provisions of Direc-
tive 2002/58 within the meaning of Article 47 
EU. If the verb’affect’, which is used in that ar-
ticle, were to be properly construed, it would 
be necessary to interpret it as not precluding 
a random or incidental overlap of unimportant 
and secondary subject matter between instru-
ments of the Community and those of the Un-
ion. 

33. The Slovak Republic supports Ireland’s position. 
It takes the view that Article 95 EC cannot serve 
as the legal basis for Directive 2006/24, since 
the latter’s main objective is not to eliminate 
barriers and distortions in the internal market. 
The directive’s purpose, it submits, is to harmo-
nise the retention of personal data in a manner 
which goes beyond commercial objectives in 
order to facilitate action by the Member States 
in the area of criminal law and, for that reason, 
it cannot be adopted under Community com-
petence. 

34. According to the Slovak Republic, the reten-
tion of personal data to the extent required by 
Directive 2006/24 amounts to an extensive in-
terference in the right of individuals to privacy 
as provided for by Article 8 of the ECHR. It is 
questionable whether such far-reaching inter-
ference may be justified on economic grounds, 
in this case the enhanced functioning of the 
internal market. The adoption of an act outside 
the scope of Community competence, the pri-
mary and undisguised purpose of which is the 
fight against crime and terrorism, would be a 
more appropriate solution, providing a more 
proportionate justification for interference 

with the right of individuals to protection of 
their privacy. 

35. The Parliament submits that Ireland is being 
selective in its interpretation of the provisions 
of Directive 2006/24. Recitals 5 and 6 in the 
preamble thereto, it argues, make it clear that 
the main or predominant purpose of that di-
rective is to eliminate obstacles to the internal 
market for electronic communications services, 
while recital 25 confirms that the access to and 
use of the retained data for law-enforcement 
purposes fall outside the scope of Community 
competence. 

36. The Parliament submits that, following the 
terrorist attacks of 11 September 2001 in New 
York (United States), 11 March 2004 in Madrid 
(Spain) and 7 July 2005 in London (United King-
dom), a number of Member States adopted 
divergent rules on the retention of data. Such 
differences were liable to impede the provision 
of electronic communications services. The 
Parliament takes the view that the retention of 
data constitutes a significant cost element for 
the providers of publicly available electronic 
communications services or of public commu-
nications networks (‘service providers’) and the 
existence of different requirements in that field 
may distort competition within the internal 
market. It adds that the main purpose of Direc-
tive 2006/24 is to harmonise the obligations 
imposed by the Member States on service pro-
viders in regard to data retention. It follows that 
Article 95 EC is the correct legal basis for that 
directive. 

37. The Parliament also argues that reliance on Ar-
ticle 95 EC as the legal basis is not invalidated 
by the importance attributed to combating 
crime. While crime prevention has clearly influ-
enced the choices made in Directive 2006/24, 
that concern does not invalidate the choice of 
Article 95 EC as the legal basis for that directive. 

38. Furthermore, Article 4 of Directive 2006/24 
provides, in a manner consistent with the view 
expressed in recital 25 in the preamble thereto, 
that the conditions for access to and process-
ing of retained data must be defined by the 
Member States subject to the legal provisions 
of the Union and international law, in particu-
lar the ECHR. That approach differs from that 
adopted for the measures which were the sub-
ject of the judgment in Parliament v Council 
and Commission, a case in which airline com-
panies were obliged to grant access to pas-
senger data to a law-enforcement authority 
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in a non-member country. Directive 2006/24 
thus respects the separation of areas of com-
petence between the first and third pillars. 

39. According to the Parliament, although the re-
tention of an individual’s personal data may 
in principle constitute interference within the 
meaning of Article 8 of the ECHR, that interfer-
ence may be justified, in terms of that article, 
by reference to public safety and crime pre-
vention. The issue of justification for such in-
terference must be distinguished from that of 
the correct choice of the legal basis within the 
legal system of the Union, that being an unre-
lated matter. 

40. The Council submits that, in the years follow-
ing the adoption of Directive 2002/58, national 
law-enforcement authorities were becoming 
increasingly concerned about the exploita-
tion of developments in the area of electronic 
communications for the purpose of commit-
ting criminal acts. Those new concerns led the 
Member States to adopt measures to prevent 
data relating to those communications from 
being erased and to ensure that they were 
available to law-enforcement authorities. 
Those measures, the Council continues, were 
divergent and began to affect the proper func-
tioning of the internal market. Recitals 5 and 6 
in the preamble to Directive 2006/24 are ex-
plicit in that regard. 

41. That situation obliged the Community legisla-
ture to ensure that uniform rules were imposed 
on service providers with regard to the condi-
tions under which they carried out their activi-
ties. 

42. For those reasons, during 2006 the Community 
legislature considered it necessary to put an 
end to the obligation to erase data imposed by 
Articles 5, 6 and 9 of Directive 2002/58 and to 
provide that, in future, the data referred to in 
Article 5 of Directive 2006/24 would have to be 
retained for a certain period. That amendment 
obliges the Member States to ensure that such 
data are retained for a minimum period of six 
months and a maximum of two years from the 
date of the communication. The purpose of 
that amendment was to establish precise and 
harmonised conditions with which service pro-
viders must comply in respect of the erasure or 
non-erasure of the personal data referred to in 
Article 5 of Directive 2006/24 by thus introduc-
ing common rules in the Community with a 
view to ensuring the unity of the internal mar-
ket. 

43. The Council takes the view that, while the need 
to combat crime, including terrorism, was a de-
termining factor in the decision to amend the 
scope of the rights and obligations laid down 
in Articles 5, 6 and 9 of Directive 2002/58, 
that circumstance did not prevent Directive 
2006/24 from having to be adopted on the ba-
sis of Article 95 EC. 

44. Neither Articles 30 EU, 31 EU and 34 EU nor 
any other article in the EU Treaty can serve as 
the basis for a measure which, in substance, 
has the objective of amending the conditions 
under which service providers carry out their 
activities or of making the system established 
by Directive 2002/58 inapplicable to them. 

45. Rules relating to the categories of data to be 
retained by service providers and the reten-
tion period for those data which amend the 
obligations imposed on the latter by Directive 
2002/58 cannot be the subject of an instru-
ment based on Title VI of the EU Treaty. The 
adoption of such an instrument would affect 
the provisions of that directive, in breach of 
Article 47 EU. 

46. According to the Council, the rights protected 
by Article 8 of the ECHR are not absolute and 
may be subject to restrictions under the con-
ditions laid down in Article 8(2) thereof. As 
provided in Directive 2006/24, the retention 
of data serves a legitimate public interest, rec-
ognised in Article 8(2) of the ECHR, and consti-
tutes an appropriate means by which to pro-
tect that interest. 

47. The Kingdom of Spain and the Kingdom of the 
Netherlands submit that, as is apparent from 
recitals 1, 2, 5 and 6 in the preamble to Direc-
tive 2006/24, the main purpose of that direc-
tive is to eliminate obstacles to the internal 
market generated by existing legal and techni-
cal differences between the national provisions 
of the Member States. That directive, in their 
view, regulates the retention of data with the 
aim of eliminating that type of obstacles, first, 
by harmonising the obligation to retain data 
and, second, by specifying the criteria relevant 
to that obligation, such as the categories of 
data to be retained and the retention period. 

48. The fact that, under Article 1, Directive 2006/24 
effects such harmonisation’in order to ensure 
that the data are available for the purpose of 
the investigation, detection and prosecution 
of serious crime, as defined by each Member 
State in its national law’ is a separate matter. 
Directive 2006/24 does not regulate the pro-
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cessing of data by the public or law-enforce-
ment authorities of the Member States. On the 
contrary, that harmonisation relates only to the 
aspects of data retention which directly affect 
the commercial activities of service providers. 

49. In so far as Directive 2006/24 amends Directive 
2002/58 and has a connection with Directive 
95/46, the amendments which it contains may 
be properly implemented only by means of a 
Community instrument and not by an instru-
ment based on the EU Treaty. 

50. The Commission recalls that, prior to the 
adoption of Directive 2006/24, several Mem-
ber States had adopted national measures 
on data retention pursuant to Article 15(1) of 
Directive 2002/58. It highlights the significant 
divergences which existed between those 
measures. For example, the retention periods 
varied from three months in the Netherlands 
to four years in Ireland. The obligations relating 
to data retention have significant economic 
implications for service providers. Divergences 
between those obligations could lead to dis-
tortions in the internal market. In that context, 
it was legitimate to adopt Directive 2006/24 on 
the basis of Article 95 EC. 

51. Furthermore, Directive 2006/24 limits, in a 
manner harmonised at Community level, the 
obligations laid down by Directive 2002/58. 
Since the latter was based on Article 95 EC, the 
legal basis of Directive 2006/24 cannot be dif-
ferent. 

52. The reference to the investigation, detection 
and prosecution of serious crime in Article 
1(1) of Directive 2006/24 falls under Commu-
nity law because it serves to indicate the legiti-
mate objective of the restrictions imposed by 
that directive on the rights of individuals with 
regard to data protection. Such an indication 
is necessary in order to comply both with the 
requirements of Directives 95/46 and 2002/58 
and with those of Article 8 of the ECHR. 

53. The European Data Protection Supervisor 
submits that the subject-matter of Directive 
2006/24 is covered by Article 95 EC because, 
first, that directive has a direct impact on the 
economic activities of service providers and 
may therefore contribute to the establish-
ment and functioning of the internal market 
and, second, had the Community legislature 
not intervened, a distortion of competition in 
the internal market might have occurred. The 
aim of combating crime is not the sole, or even 
the predominant, objective of that directive. 

On the contrary, it was intended in the first 
place to contribute to the establishment and 
functioning of the internal market and to the 
elimination of distortions of competition. The 
directive harmonises the national provisions 
on the retention by private undertakings of 
certain data in the course of their normal eco-
nomic activities. 

54. Furthermore, Directive 2006/24 amends Direc-
tive 2002/58, which was adopted on the basis 
of Article 95 EC, and ought for that reason to 
be adopted on the same legal basis. Under Ar-
ticle 47 EU, the Community legislature alone is 
competent to amend obligations arising from 
a directive based on the EC Treaty. 

55. According to the European Data Protection 
Supervisor, if the EC Treaty could not serve as 
the basis for Directive 2006/24, the provisions 
of Community law relating to data protection 
would not protect citizens in cases where the 
processing of their personal data would facili-
tate crime prevention. In such a situation, the 
general system of data protection under Com-
munity law would apply to data-processing for 
commercial purposes but not to the process-
ing of those data for purposes of crime preven-
tion. That would give rise to difficult distinc-
tions for service providers and to a reduction in 
the level of protection for data subjects. Such 
a situation should be avoided. The need for 
consistency justifies the adoption of Directive 
2006/24 under the EC Treaty. 

Findings of the Court
56. It must be noted at the outset that the question 

of the areas of competence of the European 
Union presents itself differently depending on 
whether the competence in issue has already 
been accorded to the European Union in the 
broad sense or has not yet been accorded to it. 
In the first hypothesis, it is a question of ruling 
on the division of areas of competence within 
the Union and, more particularly, on whether 
it is appropriate to proceed by way of a di-
rective based on the EC Treaty or by way of a 
framework decision based on the EU Treaty. By 
contrast, in the second hypothesis, it is a ques-
tion of ruling on the division of areas of com-
petence between the Union and the Member 
States and, more particularly, on whether the 
Union has encroached on the latters’ areas of 
competence. The present case comes under 
the first of those two hypotheses. 

57. It must also be stated that the action brought 
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by Ireland relates solely to the choice of legal 
basis and not to any possible infringement of 
fundamental rights arising from interference 
with the exercise of the right to privacy con-
tained in Directive 2006/24. 

58. Ireland, supported by the Slovak Republic, con-
tends that Directive 2006/24 cannot be based 
on Article 95 EC since its’centre of gravity’ does 
not concern the functioning of the internal 
market. The sole objective of the directive, or at 
least its principal objective, is, it is contended, 
the investigation, detection and prosecution 
of crime. 

59. That argument cannot be accepted. 

60. According to the Court’s settled case-law, the 
choice of legal basis for a Community measure 
must rest on objective factors which are ame-
nable to judicial review, including in particular 
the aim and the content of the measure (see 
Case C-440/05 Commission v Council [2007] 
ECR I9097, paragraph 61 and the case-law 
cited). 

61. Directive 2006/24 was adopted on the basis of 
the EC Treaty and, in particular, Article 95 EC. 

62. Article 95(1) EC provides that the Council is to 
adopt the measures for the approximation of 
the provisions laid down by law, regulation or 
administrative action in Member States which 
have as their object the establishment and 
functioning of the internal market. 

63. The Community legislature may have recourse 
to Article 95 EC in particular where disparities 
exist between national rules which are such 
as to obstruct the fundamental freedoms or 
to create distortions of competition and thus 
have a direct effect on the functioning of the in-
ternal market (see, to that effect, Case C380/03 
Germany v Parliament and Council [2006] ECR 
I-11573, paragraph 37 and the case-law cited). 

64. Furthermore, although recourse to Article 95 
EC as a legal basis is possible if the aim is to 
prevent the emergence of future obstacles to 
trade resulting from the divergent develop-
ment of national laws, the emergence of such 
obstacles must be likely and the measure in 
question must be designed to prevent them 
(Germany v Parliament and Council, paragraph 
38 and the case-law cited). 

65. It is necessary to ascertain whether the situ-
ation which led to the adoption of Directive 
2006/24 satisfies the conditions set out in the 
preceding two paragraphs. 

66. As is apparent from recitals 5 and 6 in the pre-
amble to that directive, the Community legisla-
ture started from the premiss that there were 
legislative and technical disparities between 
the national provisions governing the reten-
tion of data by service providers. 

67. In that connection, the evidence submitted to 
the Court confirms that, following the terror-
ist attacks mentioned in paragraph 36 of this 
judgment, several Member States, realising 
that data relating to electronic communica-
tions constitute an effective means for the 
detection and prevention of crimes, including 
terrorism, adopted measures pursuant to Ar-
ticle 15(1) of Directive 2002/58 with a view to 
imposing obligations on service providers con-
cerning the retention of such data. 

68. It is also clear from the file that the obligations 
relating to data retention have significant eco-
nomic implications for service providers in so 
far as they may involve substantial investment 
and operating costs. 

69. The evidence submitted to the Court shows, 
moreover, that the national measures adopted 
up to 2005 pursuant to Article 15(1) of Direc-
tive 2002/58 differed substantially, particularly 
in respect of the nature of the data retained 
and the periods of data retention. 

70. Finally, it was entirely foreseeable that the 
Member States which did not yet have rules 
on data retention would introduce rules in that 
area which were likely to accentuate even fur-
ther the differences between the various exist-
ing national measures. 

71. In the light of that evidence, it is apparent that 
the differences between the various national 
rules adopted on the retention of data relating 
to electronic communications were liable to 
have a direct impact on the functioning of the 
internal market and that it was foreseeable that 
that impact would become more serious with 
the passage of time. 

72. Such a situation justified the Community leg-
islature in pursuing the objective of safeguard-
ing the proper functioning of the internal mar-
ket through the adoption of harmonised rules. 

73. Furthermore, it must also be noted that, by 
laying down a harmonised level of retention 
of data relating to electronic communications, 
Directive 2006/24 amended the provisions of 
Directive 2002/58. 

74. Directive 2002/58 is based on Article 95 EC. 
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75. Under Article 47 EU, none of the provisions of 
the EC Treaty may be affected by a provision of 
the EU Treaty. That requirement appears in the 
first paragraph of Article 29 EU, which introduc-
es Title VI of the EU Treaty, entitled’Provisions 
on police and judicial cooperation in criminal 
matters’ (Case C-440/05 Commission v Council, 
paragraph 52). 

76. In providing that nothing in the EU Treaty is to 
affect the Treaties establishing the European 
Communities or the subsequent Treaties and 
Acts modifying or supplementing them, Article 
47 EU aims, in accordance with the fifth indent 
of Article 2 EU and the first paragraph of Arti-
cle 3 EU, to maintain and build on the acquis 
communautaire (Case C-91/05 Commission v 
Council [2008] ECR I-0000, paragraph 59). 

77. It is the task of the Court to ensure that acts 
which, according to one party, fall within the 
scope of Title VI of the Treaty on European 
Union and which, by their nature, are capable 
of having legal effects, do not encroach upon 
the powers conferred by the EC Treaty on 
the Community (Case C-91/05 Commission v 
Council, paragraph 33 and the case-law cited). 

78. In so far as the amendment of Directive 
2002/58 effected by Directive 2006/24 comes 
within the scope of Community powers, Direc-
tive 2006/24 could not be based on a provision 
of the EU Treaty without infringing Article 47 
thereof. 

79. In order to determine whether the legislature 
has chosen a suitable legal basis for the adop-
tion of Directive 2006/24, it is also appropriate, 
as follows from paragraph 60 of this judgment, 
to examine the substantive content of its pro-
visions. 

80. In that connection, the provisions of Directive 
2006/24 are essentially limited to the activities 
of service providers and do not govern access 
to data or the use thereof by the police or judi-
cial authorities of the Member States. 

81. More specifically, the provisions of Directive 
2006/24 are designed to harmonise national 
laws on the obligation to retain data (Article 3), 
the categories of data to be retained (Article 5), 
the periods of retention of data (Article 6), data 
protection and data security (Article 7) and the 
conditions for data storage (Article 8). 

82. By contrast, the measures provided for by Di-
rective 2006/24 do not, in themselves, involve 
intervention by the police or law-enforcement 

authorities of the Member States. Thus, as is 
clear in particular from Article 3 of the directive, 
it is provided that service providers are to re-
tain only data that are generated or processed 
in the course of the provision of the relevant 
communication services. Those data are solely 
those which are closely linked to the exercise 
of the commercial activity of the service pro-
viders. 

83. Directive 2006/24 thus regulates operations 
which are independent of the implementation 
of any police and judicial cooperation in crimi-
nal matters. It harmonises neither the issue of 
access to data by the competent national law-
enforcement authorities nor that relating to 
the use and exchange of those data between 
those authorities. Those matters, which fall, 
in principle, within the area covered by Title 
VI of the EU Treaty, have been excluded from 
the provisions of that directive, as is stated, in 
particular, in recital 25 in the preamble to, and 
Article 4 of, Directive 2006/24. 

84. It follows that the substantive content of Direc-
tive 2006/24 is directed essentially at the activi-
ties of service providers in the relevant sector 
of the internal market, to the exclusion of State 
activities coming under Title VI of the EU Treaty. 

85. In light of that substantive content, Directive 
2006/24 relates predominantly to the function-
ing of the internal market. 

86. Against such a finding, Ireland argues that, 
by the judgment in Parliament v Council and 
Commission, the Court annulled Council De-
cision 2004/496/EC of 17 May 2004 on the 
conclusion of an Agreement between the Eu-
ropean Community and the United States of 
America on the processing and transfer of PNR 
data by Air Carriers to the United States De-
partment of Homeland Security, Bureau of Cus-
toms and Border Protection (OJ 2004 L 183, p. 
83, and – corrigendum – OJ 2005 L 255, p. 168). 

87. In paragraph 68 of the judgment in Parliament 
v Council and Commission, the Court held that 
that agreement related to the same transfer of 
data as did Commission Decision 2004/535/
EC of 14 May 2004 on the adequate protection 
of personal data contained in the Passenger 
Name Record of air passengers transferred to 
the United States Bureau of Customs and Bor-
der Protection (OJ 2004 L 235, p. 11). 

88. The latter decision concerned the transfer of 
passenger data from the reservation systems of 
air carriers situated in the territory of the Mem-
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ber States to the United States Department of 
Homeland Security, Bureau of Customs and 
Border Protection. The Court held that that 
the subject-matter of that decision was data-
processing which was not necessary for a sup-
ply of services by the air carriers, but which was 
regarded as necessary for safeguarding public 
security and for law-enforcement purposes. In 
paragraphs 57 to 59 of the judgment in Parlia-
ment v Council and Commission, the Court 
held that such data-processing was covered 
by Article 3(2) of Directive 95/46, according to 
which that directive does not apply, in particu-
lar, to the processing of personal data relating 
to public security and the activities of the State 
in areas of criminal law. The Court accordingly 
concluded that Decision 2004/535 did not fall 
within the scope of Directive 95/46. 

89. Since the agreement which was the subject of 
Directive 2004/496 related, in the same way as 
Decision 2004/535, to data-processing which 
was excluded from the scope of Directive 
95/46, the Court held that Decision 2004/496 
could not have been validly adopted on the 
basis of Article 95 EC (Parliament v Council and 
Commission, paragraphs 68 and 69). 

90. Such a line of argument cannot be transposed 
to Directive 2006/24. 

91. Unlike Decision 2004/496, which concerned a 
transfer of personal data within a framework 
instituted by the public authorities in order to 
ensure public security, Directive 2006/24 cov-
ers the activities of service providers in the in-
ternal market and does not contain any rules 
governing the activities of public authorities 
for law-enforcement purposes. 

92. It follows that the arguments which Ire-
land draws from the annulment of Decision 
2004/496 by the judgment in Parliament v 
Council and Commission cannot be accepted. 

93. Having regard to all of the foregoing consid-
erations, Directive 2006/24 had to be adopted 
on the basis of Article 95 EC. 

94. The present action must accordingly be dis-
missed. 

Costs
95. Under Article 69(2) of the Rules of Procedure, 

the unsuccessful party is to be ordered to pay 
the costs if they have been applied for in the 
successful parties’ pleadings. Since the Parlia-
ment and the Council have applied for Ireland 

to be ordered to pay the costs and Ireland has 
been unsuccessful, Ireland must be ordered 
to pay the costs. Pursuant to the first subpara-
graph of Article 69(4), the interveners in this 
case are to bear their own costs. 

On those grounds, the Court (Grand Chamber) 
hereby:

1. Dismisses the action;

2. Orders Ireland to pay the costs;

3. Orders the Kingdom of Spain, the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands, the Slovak Republic, the 
Commission of the European Communities 
and the European Data Protection Supervisor 
to bear their own respective costs.

[Signatures]
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COMMON FOREIGN AND SECURITY POLICY, OBLIGA-
TION TO REVIEW ALL COMMUNITY ACTS IN THE LIGHT 
OF THE FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS

JoInED CAsEs C 399/06 
P AnD C-403/06 P FARAJ 
HAssAn v CoUnCIL 
oF tHE EURoPEAn 
UnIon AnD EURoPEAn 
CoMMIssIon (C-399/06 
P) AnD CHAFIQ AYADI 
v CoUnCIL oF tHE 
EURoPEAn UnIon (C-
403/06 P)
3 December 2009

(Common foreign and security policy (CFSP) – Re-
strictive measures taken against persons and enti-
ties associated with Usama bin Laden, the Al-Qae-
da network and the Taliban – Regulation (EC) No 
881/2002 − Freezing of the funds and economic 
resources of a person following his inclusion in a list 
drawn up by a body of the United Nations − Sanc-
tions Committee − Subsequent inclusion in Annex 
I to Regulation (EC) No 881/2002 − Action for an-
nulment − Fundamental rights − Right to respect 
for property, right to be heard and right to effective 
judicial review) 

In Cases C399/06 P and C-403/06 P,

TWO APPEALS under Article 56 of the Statute of the 
Court of Justice, brought on 20 and 22 September 
2006, respectively, Faraj Hassan, residing in Leices-
ter (United Kingdom), represented by E. Grieves, 
Barrister, instructed by H. Miller, Solicitor, and sub-
sequently by J. Jones, Barrister, instructed by M. 
Arani, Solicitor, appellant,

the other parties to the proceedings being:

Council of the European Union, represented by S. 
Marquardt, M. Bishop and E. Finnegan, acting as 
Agents, European Commission, represented by P. 
Hetsch and P. Aalto, acting as Agents, with an ad-
dress for service in Luxembourg, defendants at first 
instance, supported by: French Republic, United 
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, 

interveners on appeal (C399/06 P), Chafiq Ayadi, 
residing in Dublin (Ireland), represented by S. Cox, 
Barrister, instructed by H. Miller, Solicitor, appellant,

the other parties to the proceedings being:

Council of the European Union, represented by M. 
Bishop and E. Finnegan, acting as Agents, defend-
ant at first instance, supported by: French Republic, 
intervener on appeal, United Kingdom of Great Brit-
ain and Northern Ireland, European Commission, 
represented by P. Hetsch and P. Aalto, acting as 
Agents, with an address for service in Luxembourg, 
interveners at first instance (C-403/06 P),

THE COURT (Second Chamber), composed of J.-C. 
Bonichot, President of the Fourth Chamber, acting 
as President of the Second Chamber, C. Toader, 
C.W.A. Timmermans (Rapporteur), K. Schiemann 
and P. Kūris, Judges, Advocate General: M. Poiares 
Maduro,

Registrar: M.-A. Gaudissart, Head of Unit,

having regard to the written procedure and fur-
ther to the hearing on 24 September 2009, in Case 
C399/06 P, 

having decided, after hearing the Advocate Gen-
eral, to proceed to judgment without an Opinion, 
gives the following Judgment

1. By their appeals, Mr Hassan (Case C399/06 P) 
and Mr Ayadi (Case C403/06 P) seek to have 
set aside the judgments of the Court of First 
Instance of the European Communities of 12 
July 2006 in Case T49/04 Hassan v Council and 
Commission [2006] ECR II52 (‘Hassan’) and in 
Case T253/02 Ayadi v Council [2006] ECR II2139 
(‘Ayadi’) (together,’the judgments under ap-
peal’). 

2. By the judgments under appeal the Court of 
First Instance dismissed the actions brought 
by Mr Hassan and Mr Ayadi for annulment of 
Council Regulation (EC) No 881/2002 of 27 
May 2002 imposing certain specific restrictive 
measures directed against certain persons and 
entities associated with Usama bin Laden, the 
Al-Qaeda network and the Taliban, and repeal-
ing Council Regulation (EC) No 467/2001 pro-
hibiting the export of certain goods and servic-
es to Afghanistan, strengthening the flight ban 
and extending the freeze of funds and other 
financial resources in respect of the Taliban of 
Afghanistan (OJ 2002 L 139, p. 9,’the contested 
regulation’), in so far as that act concerned 
them. Mr Hassan’s action was particularly di-
rected against the contested regulation as 
amended by Commission Regulation (EC) No 

Joined cases C 399/06 P and C-403/06 P Hassan v Council and Commission and Ayadi v Council
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2049/2003 (OJ 2003 L 303, p. 20). By its judg-
ment in Hassan the Court of First Instance also 
dismissed Mr Hassan’s claim for compensation. 

History of the cases 
3. The history of the cases was set out in Hassan, 

paragraphs 6 to 34, and in Ayadi, paragraphs 
11 to 49. 

4. For the purpose of this judgment, those histo-
ries may be briefly summarised as follows. 

5. On 19 October 2001, the committee estab-
lished by Resolution 1267 (1999) of the Security 
Council of the United Nations (‘the Sanctions 
Committee’) published an addendum to its 
consolidated list of 8 March 2001 of entities 
and individuals to be subject to the freezing of 
funds under Resolutions 1267 (1999) and 1333 
(2000) of the Security Council of the United 
Nations (see press release SC/7180), including 
inter alia the name of Mr Ayadi, who was iden-
tified as being a person associated with Usama 
bin Laden. 

6. On the same day, the Commission of the Eu-
ropean Communities adopted Regulation (EC) 
No 2062/2001 of 19 October 2001 amending, 
for the third time, Council Regulation (EC) No 
467/2001 (OJ 2001 L 277, p. 25). By Regulation 
No 2062/2001 Mr Ayadi’s name was added, 
with others, to the list forming Annex I to 
Council Regulation No 467/2001 of 6 March 
2001 (OJ 2001 L 67, p. 1). 

7. On 16 January 2002 the Security Council of the 
United Nations (‘the Security Council’) adopted 
Resolution 1390 (2002), which lays down the 
measures to be directed against Usama bin 
Laden, members of the Al-Qaeda network and 
the Taliban and other associated individuals, 
groups, undertakings and entities. Paragraphs 
1 and 2 of that resolution provide, in essence, 
that the measures, in particular the freezing 
of funds, imposed by paragraph 4(b) of Reso-
lution 1267 (1999) and by paragraph 8(c) of 
Resolution 1333 (2000) are to be maintained. 

8. Considering that action by the European Com-
munity was necessary in order to implement 
Resolution 1390 (2002), on 27 May 2002 the 
Council of the European Union adopted Com-
mon Position 2002/402/CFSP concerning re-
strictive measures against Usama bin Laden, 
members of the Al-Qaeda organisation and 
the Taliban and other individuals, groups, un-
dertakings and entities associated with them 

and repealing Common Positions 96/746/
CFSP, 1999/727/CFSP, 2001/154/CFSP and 
2001/771/CFSP (OJ 2002 L 139, p. 4). Article 3 
of Common Position 2002/402 prescribes, in-
ter alia, the continuation of the freezing of the 
funds and other financial assets or economic 
resources of the individuals, groups, undertak-
ings and entities referred to in the list drawn 
up by the Sanctions Committee in accordance 
with Security Council Resolutions 1267 (1999) 
and 1333 (2000). 

9. On 27 May 2002 the Council adopted the con-
tested regulation on the basis of Articles 60 EC, 
301 EC and 308 EC. 

10. According to the fourth recital in the preamble 
to that regulation, the measures laid down, in-
ter alia, by Resolution 1390 (2002)’fall [within] 
the scope of the [EC] Treaty and, therefore, 
notably with a view to avoiding distortion of 
competition, Community legislation is neces-
sary to implement the relevant decisions of 
the Security Council as far as the territory of the 
Community is concerned.’ 

11. Article 1 of the contested regulation defines 
the concepts of’funds’ and’freezing of funds’ in 
terms substantially identical to those in Article 
1 of Regulation 467/2001. In addition, it defines 
what is meant by’economic resources’. 

12. Article 2 of the contested regulation states: 
‘1.All fundsandeconomicresourcesbelong-
ingto,orownedorheldby,anaturalorlegal
person, group or entity designated by the
Sanctions Committee and listed in Annex I
shallbefrozen.

2. No funds shall bemade available, directly
orindirectly,to,orforthebenefitof,anatural
orlegalperson,grouporentitydesignatedby
theSanctionsCommitteeandlistedinAnnexI.

3.Noeconomicresourcesshallbemadeavail-
able,directlyorindirectly,to,orforthebenefit
of, a natural or legal person, group or entity
designatedby theSanctionsCommitteeand
listedinAnnexI,soastoenablethatperson,
grouporentitytoobtainfunds,goodsorser-
vices.’

13. Annex I to Regulation No 881/2002 contains 
the list of persons, entities and groups affected 
by the freezing of funds imposed by Article 2 of 
that regulation. That list includes, inter alia, Mr 
Ayadi’s name. 

14. While Mr Ayadi’s name remains to this day 
included in that list, the wording of the entry 
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referring to him has on several occasions been 
replaced by Commission regulations adopted 
on the basis of Article 7(1) of the contested 
regulation and conferring on the Commission 
the power to amend or add to Annex I to that 
regulation, most recently by Regulation (EC) 
No 76/2006 of 17 January 2006 (OJ 2006 L 12, 
p. 7). 

15. On 20 December 2002 the Security Council 
adopted Resolution 1452 (2002), intended to 
facilitate the implementation of counterterror-
ism obligations. Paragraph 1 of that resolution 
provides for a number of derogations from 
and exceptions to the freezing of funds and 
economic resources imposed by Resolutions 
1267 (1999) and 1390 (2002), which may be 
granted by the Member States on humanitar-
ian grounds, on condition that the Sanctions 
Committee gives its consent. 

16. On 17 January 2003 the Security Council 
adopted Resolution 1455 (2003), intended 
to improve the implementation of the meas-
ures imposed in paragraph 4(b) of Resolution 
1267 (1999), paragraph 8(c) of Resolution 1333 
(2000) and paragraphs 1 and 2 of Resolution 
1390 (2002). In accordance with paragraph 2 of 
Resolution 1455 (2003), those measures were 
again to be improved after 12 months or earlier 
if necessary 

17. Taking the view that action by the Community 
was necessary in order to implement Security 
Council Resolution 1452 (2002), the Council 
adopted Common Position 2003/140/CFSP of 
27 February 2003 concerning exceptions to the 
restrictive measures imposed by Common Po-
sition 2002/402/CFSP (OJ 2003 L 53, p. 62). Ar-
ticle 1 of Common Position 2003/140 provides 
that, when implementing the measures set out 
in Article 3 of Common Position 2002/402, the 
European Community is to provide for the ex-
ceptions permitted by that resolution. 

18. On 27 March 2003 the Council adopted Regu-
lation (EC) No 561/2003 amending, as regards 
exceptions to the freezing of funds and eco-
nomic resources, Regulation (EC) No 881/2002 
(OJ 2003 L 82, p. 1). In the fourth recital in the 
preamble to that regulation, the Council states 
that it is necessary, in view of Resolution 1452 
(2002), to adjust the measures imposed by the 
Community. 

19. On 12 November 2003 the Sanctions Commit-
tee adopted an addendum to its consolidated 
list of entities and individuals to be subject to 
the freezing of funds under Resolutions 1267 

(1999), 1333 (2000) and 1390 (2002). That ad-
dendum includes, inter alia, the name of Mr 
Hassan, identified as being a person associated 
with the Al-Qaeda organisation. 

20. On 20 November 2003 the Commission adopt-
ed Regulation No 2049/2003 amending for the 
25th time Regulation No 881/2002. By Regula-
tion No 2049/2003 Mr Hassan’s name was add-
ed, with others, to the list forming the Annex to 
the contested regulation. 

21. On 30 January 2004 the Security Council adopt-
ed Resolution 1526 (2004), designed, first, to 
improve the implementation of the measures 
imposed by paragraph 4(b) of Resolution 1267 
(1999), paragraph 8(c) of Resolution 1333 
(2000) and paragraphs 1 and 2 of Resolution 
1390 (2002), and, secondly, to strengthen the 
mandate of the Sanctions Committee. In ac-
cordance with Paragraph 3 of Resolution 1526 
(2004), those measures were to be further im-
proved in 18 months, or sooner if necessary. 

22. On 29 July 2005 the Security Council adopted 
Resolution 1617 (2005). This provides, inter alia, 
for the continuation of the measures imposed 
by paragraph 4(b) of Resolution 1267 (1999), 
paragraph 8(c) of Resolution 1333 (2000) and 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Resolution 1390 (2002). 
In accordance with paragraph 21 of Resolu-
tion 1617 (2005), those measures were to be 
reviewed within 17 months with a view to their 
possible further strengthening or sooner if nec-
essary. 

23. Mr Ayadi remains included in the list forming 
Annex I to the contested regulation. The entry 
concerning him has been replaced by Com-
mission Regulation No 1210/2006 of 9 August 
2006 (EC) amending for the 67th time Regula-
tion (EC) No 881/2002 (OJ L 219, p. 14). 

24. Similarly, while Mr Hassan’s name too still ap-
pears in that list, the entry concerning him has 
been replaced by Commission Regulation (EC) 
No 46/2008 of 18 January 2008 amending for 
the 90th time Regulation (EC) No 881/2002 (OJ 
L 16, p. 11. 

The actions before the Court of First 
Instance and the judgments under 
appeal
25. By application lodged at the Registry of the 

Court of First Instance on 12 February 2004, Mr 
Hassan brought an action against the Council 
and the Commission for annulment of the con-
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tested regulation and claimed that the Court of 
First Instance should: 

• principally, annul in whole or in part the 
contested regulation as amended by Regu-
lation No 2049/2003, or the latter regula-
tion only; 

• or, alternatively, declare the contested reg-
ulation and Regulation No 2049/2003 inap-
plicable to him;

• take such further action as it might deem 
appropriate;

• order the Council to pay the costs and

• order the Council to pay him damages.

26. At the hearing before the Court of First In-
stance, Mr Hassan stated that his action chal-
lenged the contested regulation and Regula-
tion No 2049/2003 only in so far as they were 
of direct and individual concern to him. 

27. By application lodged at the Registry of the 
Court of First Instance on 26 August 2002, Mr 
Ayadi brought an action against the Council for 
annulment of the contested regulation, claim-
ing that the Court of First Instance should: 

• annul Article 2 of the contested regulation 
and, in so far as it refers to Article 2, Article 
4 thereof;

• or, alternatively, annul the entry mention-
ing him in the list forming Annex I to the 
contested regulation, and

• order the Council to pay the costs.

28. At the hearing before the Court of First Instance, 
Mr Ayadi stated that his action challenged the 
contested regulation only in so far as it was of 
direct and individual concern to him. 

29. In the case concerning Mr Ayadi, the United 
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland 
and the Commission were granted leave to 
intervene before the Court of First Instance in 
support of the forms of order sought by the 
Council. 

30. In support of his claims, Mr Hassan raised a sin-
gle plea in law alleging breach of certain of his 
fundamental rights and of the general princi-
ple of proportionality. His complaints related 
more particularly to the alleged breach of the 
right to respect for property and of the right to 
respect for private and family life, on the one 
hand, and to the alleged breach of the right to 
be heard and of the right to a fair hearing, on 

the other. 

31. Mr Ayadi, for his part, based his claims on three 
pleas in law, the first alleging that the Council 
was not competent to adopt Articles 2 and 4 of 
the contested regulation and a misuse of pow-
ers, the second alleging breach of the funda-
mental principles of subsidiarity, proportional-
ity and respect for his fundamental rights and 
the third alleging infringement of an essential 
procedural requirement. 

32. Because, without prejudice to the claim for 
compensation in Mr Hassan’s appeal, these 
appeals are confined to the parts of the judg-
ments under appeal relating to the pleas in law 
alleging breach of the appellants’ fundamental 
rights, only those parts of those judgments will 
be summarised below. 

33. With regard to those pleas in law, the Court 
of First Instance held in Hassan, paragraph 91, 
and Ayadi, paragraph 115, that, subject only to 
a single point of law specific to each of those 
cases, all the points of law raised by the ap-
plicants had already been settled in its judg-
ments of 21 September 2005 in Case T306/01 
Yusuf and Al Barakaat International Foundation 
v Council and Commission [2005] ECR II3533 
(‘Yusuf at first instance’), paragraphs 226 to 346, 
and Case T315/01 Kadi v Council and Commis-
sion [2005] ECR II3649 (‘Kadi at first instance’), 
paragraphs 176 to 291 (together,’Yusuf and 
Kadi at first instance’). 

34. In paragraph 92 of Hassan, as in paragraph 116 
of Ayadi, similarly worded, it was noted that, 
in Yusuf and Kadi at first instance, the Court of 
First Instance had in particular ruled as follows: 
‘–…

fromthestandpointof international law, the
obligationsoftheMemberStatesoftheUnit-
ed Nations under the Charter of the United
Nationsclearlyprevailovereveryotherobliga-
tionofdomesticlaworofinternationalTreaty
lawincluding,forthoseofthemthataremem-
bers of the Council of Europe, their obliga-
tionsunderthe[EuropeanConventionforthe
ProtectionofHumanRightsandFundamental
Freedoms, signed at Rome on 4 November
1950(‘theECHR’),]and,forthosethatarealso
membersoftheCommunity,theirobligations
under the EC Treaty (Yusuf at first instance,
paragraph231,andKadiatfirstinstance,para-
graph181);

– that primacy extends to decisions con-
tainedinaresolutionoftheSecurityCouncil,
in accordancewith Article 25 of the Charter
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oftheUnitedNations(Yusufat first instance,
paragraph234,andKadiatfirstinstance,para-
graph184);

– althoughnot amember of theUnitedNa-
tions, theCommunitymustbeconsideredto
beboundbytheobligationsundertheChar-
teroftheUnitedNations inthesamewayas
itsMemberStates,byvirtueoftheTreatyes-
tablishingit(Yusufatfirstinstance,paragraph
243,andKadiatfirstinstance,paragraph193);

– first, the Communitymay not infringe the
obligationsimposedonitsMemberStatesby
theCharterof theUnitedNationsor impede
theirperformanceand,second,intheexercise
of its powers it is bound, by the very Treaty
bywhich itwasestablished, to adopt all the
measures necessary to enable its Member
Statestofulfilthoseobligations(Yusufatfirst
instance, paragraph 254, andKadi at first in-
stance,paragraph204);

– as a result, the arguments challenging the
contestedregulationsandbased,ontheone
hand, on the autonomy of the Community
legalordervis-à-visthelegalorderunderthe
UnitedNationsand,ontheother,onthene-
cessity of transposing Security Council reso-
lutions intothedomestic lawoftheMember
States, in accordancewith the constitutional
provisionsandfundamentalprinciplesofthat
law,mustberejected(Yusufat first instance,
paragraph258,andKadiatfirstinstance,para-
graph208);

–[thecontested]regulation…,adoptedinthe
light of Common Position 2002/402, consti-
tutestheimplementationatCommunitylevel
oftheobligationplacedontheMemberStates
oftheCommunity,asMembersoftheUnited
Nations,togiveeffect,ifappropriatebymeans
ofaCommunityact, tothesanctionsagainst
Usamabin Laden,members of theAl-Qaeda
network and the Taliban and other associ-
ated individuals, groups, undertakings and
entities, which have been decided and later
strengthened by several resolutions of the
Security Council adopted under Chapter VII
oftheCharteroftheUnitedNations(Yusufat
firstinstance,paragraph264,andKadiatfirst
instance,paragraph213);

–inthatsituation,theCommunityinstitutions
acted under circumscribed powers, with the
result that they had no autonomous discre-
tion (Yusuf at first instance, paragraph 265,
andKadiatfirstinstance,paragraph214);

–inlightoftheconsiderationssetoutabove,
theclaimthat theCourtofFirst Instancehas
jurisdictiontoreviewindirectlythelawfulness
ofdecisionsof theSecurityCouncilorof the

SanctionsCommitteeaccordingtothestand-
ardofprotectionoffundamentalrightsasrec-
ognisedbytheCommunitylegalordercannot
bejustifiedeitheronthebasisofinternational
laworonthebasisofCommunitylaw(Yusuf
at first instance, paragraph 272, and Kadi at
firstinstance,paragraph221);

–theresolutionsoftheSecurityCouncilatis-
suethereforefall,inprinciple,outsidetheam-
bitoftheCourt’sjudicialreviewandtheCourt
hasnoauthoritytocallinquestion,evenindi-
rectly,theirlawfulnessinthelightofCommu-
nity law;onthecontrary,theCourt isbound,
sofaraspossible,to interpretandapplythat
law inamannercompatiblewiththeobliga-
tionsoftheMemberStatesundertheCharter
oftheUnitedNations(Yusufat first instance,
paragraph276,andKadiatfirstinstance,para-
graph225);

– none the less, the Court is empowered to
check,indirectly,thelawfulnessoftheresolu-
tionsoftheSecurityCouncil inquestionwith
regardtojuscogens,understoodasabodyof
higher rulesofpublic international lawbind-
ingonallsubjectsofinternationallaw,includ-
ingthebodiesoftheUnitedNations,andfrom
whichnoderogationispossible(Yusufatfirst
instance, paragraph 277, andKadi at first in-
stance,paragraph226);

– the freezing of funds provided for by [the
contestedr]egulation…infringesneitherthe
fundamental right of the persons concerned
tomakeuseoftheirpropertynorthegeneral
principleofproportionality,measuredbythe
standardofuniversalprotectionofthefunda-
mentalrightsofthehumanpersoncoveredby
juscogens(Yusufatfirstinstance,paragraphs
288and289,andKadiat first instance,para-
graphs237and238);

– since the Security Council resolutions con-
cerneddonotprovidearightforthepersons
concernedtobeheardbytheSanctionsCom-
mitteebeforetheirinclusioninthelistinques-
tion and since it appears that nomandatory
ruleofpublicinternationallawrequiresaprior
hearingforthepersonsconcernedincircum-
stances such as those of this case, the argu-
mentsallegingbreachofsucharightmustbe
rejected (Yusuf at first instance, paragraphs
306, 307 and 321, and Kadi at first instance,
paragraphs261and268);

–inthesecircumstancesinwhichwhatisatis-
sueisatemporaryprecautionarymeasurere-
strictingtheavailabilityofthepropertyofthe
persons concerned, observance of their fun-
damentalrightsdoesnotrequirethefactsand
evidence adduced against them to be com-
municatedtothem,oncetheSecurityCouncil
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oritsSanctionsCommitteeisoftheviewthat
therearegroundsconcerningtheinternation-
al community’s security thatmilitate against
it (Yusufat first instance,paragraph320,and
Kadiatfirstinstance,paragraph274);

– nor were the Community institutions
obligedtohearthepersonsconcernedbefore
[the contested r]egulation … was adopted
(Yusuf at first instance, paragraph 329) or in
the context of the adoption and implemen-
tationof thatact (Kadiat first instance,para-
graph259);

–indealingwithanactionforannulmentsuch
as thepresentaction, theCourtcarriesouta
completereviewofthelawfulnessofthatreg-
ulationwithregardtoobservancebytheinsti-
tutionsoftherulesofjurisdictionandtherules
ofexternallawfulnessandtheessentialproce-
dural requirementswhich bind their actions;
the Court also reviews the lawfulness of the
contested regulations having regard to the
SecurityCouncil’sregulationswhichthatactis
supposedtoputintoeffect,inparticularfrom
theviewpointsofproceduralandsubstantive
appropriateness, internal consistency and
whether those regulations are proportion-
ate to the resolutions; theCourt reviews the
lawfulness of the contested regulations and,
indirectly,thelawfulnessoftheresolutionsof
theSecurityCouncilatissue,inthelightofthe
higherrulesofinternationallawfallingwithin
theambitofjuscogens,inparticulartheman-
datoryprescriptionsconcerningtheuniversal
protectionoftherightsofthehumanperson
(Yusuf at first instance, paragraphs 334, 335
and337,andKadiatfirstinstance,paragraphs
279,280and282);

−ontheotherhand,itisnotfortheCourtto
review indirectlywhether theSecurityCoun-
cil’s resolutions in question are themselves
compatible with fundamental rights as pro-
tected by the Community legal order; nor
doesitfalltotheCourttoverifythattherehas
beennoerrorofassessmentof thefactsand
evidencereliedonbytheSecurityCouncil in
supportofthemeasures ithastakenor,sub-
jecttothelimitedextentdefinedinparagraph
337 above, to check indirectly the appropri-
atenessandproportionalityofthosemeasures
(Yusuf at first instance, paragraphs 338 and
339,andKadiatfirstinstance,paragraphs283
and284);

– to that extent, there is no judicial remedy
availabletothepersonsconcerned,theSecu-
rityCouncilnothavingthoughtitadvisableto
establish an independent international court
responsibleforruling,inlawandonthefacts,
inactionsbroughtagainstindividualdecisions

taken by the Sanctions Committee (Yusuf at
firstinstance,paragraph340,andKadiatfirst
instance,paragraph285);

–the lacunathusfoundtoexist intheprevi-
ousindentinthejudicialprotectionavailable
tothepersonsinvolvedisnotinitselfcontrary
tojuscogens,for(a)therightofaccesstothe
courtsisnotabsolute;(b)thelimitationofthe
rightofthepersonsconcernedtoaccesstoa
court, as a resultof the immunity from juris-
dictionenjoyedasarule,inthedomesticlegal
order of the Member States, by resolutions
of theSecurityCounciladoptedunderChap-
terVIIoftheCharteroftheUnitedNations,is
inherent in that right; (c) such a limitation is
justified both by the nature of the decisions
thattheSecurityCouncil is ledtotakeunder
Chapter VII and by the legitimate objective
pursued, and (d) in the absence of an inter-
nationalcourthavingjurisdictiontoascertain
whetheractsoftheSecurityCouncilarelawful,
thesetting-upofabodysuchastheSanctions
Committeeandtheopportunity,providedfor
by the legislation,ofapplyingatany time to
thatcommitteeinordertohaveanyindividual
case re-examined, by means of a procedure
involving the governments concerned, con-
stituteanother reasonablemethodofafford-
ing adequate protection of the fundamental
rightsofthepersonsconcernedasrecognised
by jus cogens (Yusuf [at first instance], para-
graphs341to345,andKadi[atfirstinstance],
paragraphs286to290);

– the arguments relied on to challenge the
contested regulations alleging breach of the
righttoaneffectivejudicialremedymustcon-
sequentlyberejected(Yusuf[atfirstinstance],
paragraph 346, and Kadi [at first instance],
paragraph291).’

35. In paragraphs 95 to 124 of Hassan, the Court of 
First Instance added a number of points in re-
sponse to the arguments more specifically pro-
pounded by Mr Hassan at the hearing concern-
ing, on the one hand, the allegedly excessive 
strictness of the measure freezing all his funds 
and economic resources and, on the other, 
the alleged invalidity, in the circumstances, of 
the conclusions reached by the Court of First 
Instance in Yusuf and Kadi at first instance con-
cerning the compatibility with jus cogens of 
the lacuna found in those judgments to exist 
in the judicial protection of the persons con-
cerned. 

36. Similarly, in paragraphs 117 to 154 of Ayadi, 
the Court of First Instance added a number of 
points to those set out in paragraph 34 above 
in response to the arguments more specifi-
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cally propounded by Mr Ayadi concerning, on 
the one hand, the alleged ineffectiveness of 
the exemptions to and derogations from the 
freezing of funds provided for by Regulation 
No 561/2003, especially as regards carrying 
on a trade or business and, on the other, the 
alleged invalidity, in the circumstances, of the 
conclusions reached by the Court in Yusuf and 
Kadi at first instance concerning the compat-
ibility with jus cogens of the lacuna found to 
exist in the judicial protection of the persons 
concerned. 

37. The Court of First Instance examined those ar-
guments, concluding that they could not call 
in question the assessment it had made of the 
points of law raised in Yusuf and Kadi at first 
instance. 

38. In paragraphs 126 to 128 of Hassan, the Court 
of First Instance went on to examine Mr Has-
san’s complaints relating to a breach of his 
right to respect for private and family life and 
an attack on his reputation, and rejected them 
for the essential reason that, according to the 
standard of jus cogens, it must be held that 
that applicant had not suffered any arbitrary 
interference with the exercise of those rights. 

39. Similarly, in paragraph 156 of Ayadi, the Court 
of First Instance rejected the argument, not yet 
examined in Yusuf and Kadi at first instance, 
that the Member States of the United Nations 
are not bound to apply as they stand the meas-
ures that the Security Council’calls upon’ them 
to adopt. 

40. The Court of First Instance therefore dismissed 
the appellants’ claims for annulment as un-
founded. 

41. Lastly, the Court of First Instance declared in-
admissible Mr Hassan’s claim for compensation 
because it lacked all detail, adding that with re-
gard to the other evidence he had produced 
the claim was on any view unfounded. 

42. In consequence, the Court of First Instance dis-
missed the two actions in their entirety. 

Procedure before the Court
43. By order of the President of the Court of 5 

November 2008, the French Republic and the 
United Kingdom were given leave to intervene 
in support of the form of order sought by the 
Council and the Commission in Case C399/06 
P. By order of the President of the Court of 30 
March 2009, the French Republic was given 

leave to intervene in support of the form of 
order sought by the Council in Case C403/06 P. 

44. By application lodged at the Court Registry on 
7 January 2009, Mr Ayadi applied for the legal 
aid provided for by Article 76 of the Court’s 
Rules of Procedure. 

45. By order of 2 September 2008 the Court grant-
ed his application. 

46. The parties and the Advocate General having 
been heard on this point, these cases must, on 
account of the connection between them, be 
joined for the purposes of the judgment, in ac-
cordance with Article 43 of the Court’s Rules of 
Procedure. 

Forms of order sought by the parties to 
the appeals
47. By his appeal, Mr Hassan claims that the Court 

should: 

• set aside the judgment in Hassan; 

• annul the contested regulation and/or Reg-
ulation No 2049/2003 in their entirety or in 
respect of the measures directed against 
him; 

• or, alternatively, declare those regulations 
inapplicable to him;

• take such further action as the Court may 
deem appropriate;

• order the Council to pay the costs and

• order the Council to pay him damages.

48. By his appeal, Mr Ayadi claims that the Court 
should: 

• set aside the judgment in Ayadi in its en-
tirety; 

• declare null and void Articles 2 and 4 of and 
Annex I to the contested regulation in so far 
as they are of direct and individual concern 
to him and 

• order the Council to pay the costs of the 
proceedings before the Court and the 
Court of First Instance.

49. In the two cases the Council and the Commis-
sion contend that the Court should dismiss the 
appeals, with the exception of the grounds 
similar to those held to be well founded by the 
Court in its judgment of 3 September 2008 in 
Joined Cases C402/05 P and C415/05 P Kadi 
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and Al Barakaat v Council and Commission 
[2008] ECR I6351 (‘Kadi on appeal’) and order 
the appellants to pay so much of the costs as 
the Court may deem appropriate. 

The grounds put forward in support of 
the appeals
50. In his first ground of appeal Mr Hassan argues 

that the Court of First Instance erred in law in 
its examination of the pleas he raised before 
it with regard to the breach of certain of his 
fundamental rights, in that it did not deter-
mine directly whether the Security Council 
offered protection equivalent to that offered 
by the ECHR, more particularly by Articles 6, 8 
and 13 thereof and by Article 1 of Protocol 1 
of the ECHR, but rather examined indirectly the 
actions of the Security Council by virtue of the 
principle of jus cogens. 

51. In his second ground of appeal Mr Hassan 
maintains that the Court of First Instance erred 
in law in considering that restriction of the use 
of property was not relevant with regard to the 
actual substance of the right to property. 

52. It is clear from Mr Ayadi’s reply that, in the light 
of Kadi on appeal, he now means to submit 
only two grounds of appeal, the first of which 
is that the Court of First Instance erred in law 
in finding that the Community judicature may 
evaluate the lawfulness of a Community meas-
ure giving effect to a resolution of the Security 
Council only with regard to jus cogens and in 
not holding that it could annul such a measure 
in order to guarantee the protection of the fun-
damental rights recognised by the legal order 
of the United Nations, and the second of which 
is that the Court of First Instance erred in law 
in not holding that the parts of the contested 
regulation which are under challenge consti-
tute a breach of Mr Ayadi’s fundamental rights. 

Concerning the appeals

TheeffectofRegulation(EC)No954/2009
onwhetheritisnecessarytoadjudicate
53. By Regulation (EC) No 954/2009 of 13 October 

2009 amending for the 114th time Regulation 
No 881/2002 (OJ L 269, p. 20), the decisions 
to include Mr Hassan and Mr Ayadi in the list 
forming Annex I to the contested regulation 
were replaced by fresh decisions confirming 
and amending their inclusion. 

54. According to the preamble to Regulation No 
954/2009, the Commission adopted that regu-
lation, having regard to the case-law of the 
Court of Justice, in particular to Kadi on appeal, 
after apprising Mr Hassan and Mr Ayadi of the 
grounds for their inclusion in the list, as pro-
vided by the Sanctions Committee and after 
examining the comments made by the appel-
lants concerning those grounds. 

55. In that preamble it is also stated that, after 
careful examination of those comments, the 
Commission considered, given the preven-
tive nature of freezing of funds and economic 
resources, that the inclusion of the two ap-
pellants in the list in question was justified by 
reason of their association with the Al-Qaeda 
network. 

56. In accordance with Article 2 of Regulation No 
954/2009, the latter entered into force on the 
day following its publication in the Official 
Journal of the European Union, that is to say, 
15 October 2009, and has applied as from 30 
May 2002 as regards Mr Ayadi and from 21 No-
vember 2003 as regards Mr Hassan. 

57. The question therefore arises whether, in the 
light of the withdrawal of the contested regula-
tion and its retroactive replacement by Regula-
tion No 954/2009 with effect from those dates 
with regard to the appellants, it is still neces-
sary to adjudicate on these cases. 

58. It is to be borne in mind that the Court may, 
of its own motion, raise the objection that a 
party has no interest in bringing or in maintain-
ing an appeal because an event occurring after 
the judgment of the Court of First Instance re-
moves the prejudicial effect thereof as regards 
the appellant, and declare the appeal inadmis-
sible or devoid of purpose for that reason (see, 
in particular, Case C535/06 P Moser Baer India 
v Council [2009] ECR I0000, paragraph 24, and 
the case-law cited). 

59. In the present case, Article 2 of Regulation No 
954/2009 provides that the latter is to apply 
from the original inclusion of Mr Ayadi and Mr 
Hassan in the list forming Annex I to the con-
tested regulation, that is to say, since 30 May 
2002 and 21 November 2003 respectively. 

60. Mr Ayadi and Mr Hassan have been included 
in that list for a period of seven and six years 
respectively and have, therefore, been subject 
to the restrictive measures provided by the 
contested regulation which the Court has held 
to have a considerable impact on the rights 



1218 JOINEDCASESC399/06PANDC-403/06PHASSANVCOUNCILANDCOMMISSIONANDAYADIVCOUNCIL

EC
HR

EC
J

and freedoms of the persons concerned (see 
Kadi on appeal, paragraph 375), while they 
have maintained, first before the Court of First 
Instance and then before the Court of Justice 
in proceedings covering nearly the whole of 
those periods, that the inclusion of their names 
in that list was unlawful, for it failed, in particu-
lar, to have regard to their fundamental rights, 
which is not now denied by either the Council 
or the Commission, in the light of Kadi on ap-
peal. 

61. Regulation No 954/2009 has kept the names 
of Mr Ayadi and Mr Hassan in that list with ret-
roactive force, so that the resulting restrictive 
measures continued to apply to them for the 
period for which the contested regulation, as 
referred to in their actions, was applicable, al-
though the purpose of their actions is to have 
their names removed from that list. 

62. The adoption of Regulation No 954/2009 can-
not, therefore, be considered to constitute a 
fact occurring after the judgments under ap-
peal and capable of rendering the appeals de-
void of purpose. 

63. Furthermore, Regulation No 954/2009 is not 
yet definitive, inasmuch as it may be the ob-
ject of an action for annulment. It is therefore 
not inconceivable that, supposing that that 
measure were annulled as a result of such 
proceedings, the contested regulation might 
come back into force so far as the appellants 
are concerned. 

64. Those matters supply confirmation that the 
adoption of Regulation No 954/2009 cannot 
be regarded as equivalent to annulment pure 
and simple of the contested regulation in so 
far as it concerns the appellants by which they 
have obtained the only result that their actions 
could have secured for them and that there is 
accordingly no longer any need for the Court 
to adjudicate. In that regard the contested reg-
ulation differs from the measure at issue in the 
order of 8 March 1993 in Case C123/92 Lezzi 
Pietro v Commission [1993] ECR I809. 

65. In these particular circumstances, the appeals 
have not become devoid of purpose and it is 
necessary for the Court to adjudicate on them 
in that regard. 

Substance
66. A preliminary point to be noted is, in the first 

place, that at the hearing before the Court 
of Justice Mr Hassan expressly withdrew his 

ground of appeal relating to the claim for com-
pensation. There is, therefore, no longer any 
need to consider that ground in this appeal. 

67. In the second place, as regards the subject-
matter of the grounds of appeal, it must be 
observed that that must be understood to 
concern, in so far as it relates to each of the ap-
pellants respectively, the contested regulation 
as amended, in connection with Mr Ayadi’s 
case, by Regulation No 1210/2006 and, in Mr 
Hassan’s, by Regulation No 46/2008. 

Theappellants’groundsofappealrelating
tothecontestedregulation’sfailureto
observetheirfundamentalrights
68. It is necessary to consider the grounds ad-

vanced by the appellants in support of their 
appeals, in which they object that the Court 
of First Instance dismissed their pleas in law al-
leging that the contested regulation failed to 
observe their fundamental rights. 

69. In the judgments under appeal, and relying 
on its judgments in Yusuf and Kadi, the Court 
of First Instance essentially held that it follows 
from the principles governing the relationship 
between the international legal order under 
the United Nations and the Community legal 
order that the contested regulation, because it 
is designed to give effect to a resolution adopt-
ed by the Security Council under Chapter VII of 
the Charter of the United Nations affording no 
latitude in that respect, may not be the subject 
of judicial review of its internal lawfulness save 
with regard to its compatibility with the norms 
of jus cogens and therefore enjoys, subject to 
that reservation, immunity from jurisdiction 
(Hassan, paragraph 92, and Ayadi, paragraph 
116). 

70. Again relying on its judgments in Yusuf and 
Kadi, the Court of First Instance held, therefore, 
that it is with regard to jus cogens, understood 
as a public international order binding on all 
subjects of international law, including the 
bodies of the United Nations, and from which 
no derogation is possible, that the lawfulness 
of the contested regulation may be examined, 
in relation also to the appellants’ pleas alleg-
ing breach of their fundamental rights (Hassan, 
paragraph 92, and Ayadi, paragraph 116). 

71. It is apparent from paragraphs 326 and 327 of 
Kadi on appeal that that reasoning amounts 
to an error of law. The Community judicature 
must, in accordance with the powers conferred 
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on it by the Treaty, ensure the review, in princi-
ple the full review, of the lawfulness of all Com-
munity acts in the light of the fundamental 
rights forming an integral part of the general 
principles of Community law, including review 
of Community measures which, like the con-
tested regulation, are designed to give effect 
to the resolutions adopted by the Security 
Council under Chapter VII of the Charter of the 
United Nations. 

72. The Court concluded, in paragraph 328 of Kadi 
on appeal, that the grounds of appeal put 
forward by the persons concerned being well 
founded on that point, it was necessary to set 
aside Yusuf and Kadi at first instance in that re-
spect. 

73. In addition, the Court held, in paragraph 330 of 
Kadi on appeal, that because in the latter parts 
of Yusuf and Kadi at first instance, relating to 
the specific fundamental rights invoked by the 
appellants, the Court of First Instance had con-
fined itself to examining the lawfulness of the 
contested regulation in the light of the rules of 
jus cogens alone, when it was its duty to carry 
out an examination, in principle a full exami-
nation, in the light of the fundamental rights 
forming part of the general principles of Com-
munity law, the latter parts of those judgments 
also had to be set aside. 

74. It follows that, given that the legal grounds of 
the judgments under appeal are, as pointed 
out in paragraphs 69 and 70 above, the same 
as those relied on in Yusuf and Kadi at first 
instance, the judgments under appeal are 
marred by the same error in law and must, 
therefore, for the same reasons, be set aside 
in so far as they contain the Court of First In-
stance’s response to the appellants’ arguments 
alleging breach of certain of their fundamental 
rights. 

75. That conclusion is not called in question by the 
addition, in paragraphs 95 to 125 of Hassan and 
in paragraphs 117 to 155 of Ayadi, of a number 
of points in response to the arguments more 
specifically propounded by the appellants, giv-
en that the Court of First Instance concluded 
that those points demonstrate the correctness 
of the legal grounds of Yusuf and Kadi at first 
instance and, in consequence, of the judg-
ments under appeal. 

76. Lastly, it is to be noted that at the hearing be-
fore the Court Mr Hassan acknowledged that 
the head of claim raised before the Court of 
First Instance and dismissed by the latter, relat-

ing to the alleged breach of his right to respect 
for private and family life, guaranteed by Article 
8 of the ECHR, had not been included in his ap-
peal. In the circumstances, there is no need to 
examine it. 

77. The grounds of appeal put forward by the ap-
pellants are therefore well founded with the 
result that the judgments under appeal must 
be set aside. 

Concerning the actions before the 
Court of First Instance
78. As provided in the second sentence of the first 

paragraph of Article 61 of the Statute of the 
Court of Justice, the latter, when it quashes the 
decision of the Court of First Instance, may give 
final judgment in the matter where the state of 
proceedings so permits 

79. In the circumstances, the Court considers that 
the actions for annulment of the contested 
regulation brought by the appellants are ready 
for judgment and that it is necessary to give fi-
nal judgment in them. 

80. It is appropriate to examine, in the first place, 
the claims made by the appellants with regard 
to the breach of the rights of defence, in partic-
ular the right to be heard, and of the right to ef-
fective judicial review, caused by the measures 
for the freezing of funds as they were imposed 
on the appellants by the contested regulation. 

81. In this regard it has to be found that it is not dis-
puted that the actual circumstances surround-
ing the inclusion of the appellants’ names in 
the list of persons and entities covered by the 
restrictive measures contained in Annex I to 
the contested regulation are identical to those 
in which the names of the parties concerned 
in the cases giving rise to Kadi on appeal had 
been entered in that list. 

82. In the light of those circumstances, the Court 
held in paragraph 334 of Kadi on appeal that 
the rights of defence, in particular the right 
to be heard, and the right to effective judicial 
review of observance of those rights, had pa-
tently not been respected. 

83. In paragraph 348 of that judgment the Court 
likewise held that, because the Council had 
neither communicated to the persons con-
cerned the evidence used against them to jus-
tify the restrictive measures imposed on them 
nor afforded them the right to be informed of 
that evidence within a reasonable period after 
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those measures were enacted, those persons 
had not had the opportunity to make their 
point of view in that respect known to advan-
tage. The Court concluded in that paragraph 
that their rights of defence, in particular the 
right to be heard, had not been respected. 

84. That conclusion must be reached in the instant 
cases, and for the same reasons, so that it must 
be found that the appellants’ rights of defence 
have not been respected. 

85. Moreover, the Court ruled in paragraph 349 of 
Kadi on appeal that, given the failure to inform 
them of the evidence adduced against them 
and having regard to the relationship, referred 
to in paragraphs 336 and 337 of that judgment, 
between the rights of defence and the right 
to an effective legal remedy, the parties con-
cerned had also been unable to defend their 
rights with regard to that evidence in satisfac-
tory conditions before the Community judica-
ture, with the result that it must be held that 
their right to an effective legal remedy had also 
been infringed. 

86. The same conclusion must be reached in the 
instant cases with regard to the appellants’ 
right to an effective legal remedy, so that it 
must be found that, in the circumstances, that 
fundamental right of Mr Hassan and Mr Ayadi 
has not been respected. 

87. It must, furthermore, be stated that that in-
fringement has not been remedied in the 
course of these actions. Indeed, given that, ac-
cording to the fundamental position adopted 
by the Council, no evidence of that kind may 
be the subject of investigation by the Com-
munity judicature, the Council has adduced no 
evidence to that effect (see, by analogy, Kadi 
on appeal, paragraph 350). What is more, al-
though the Council took formal note in these 
appeals of the guidance given in Kadi on ap-
peal, it must be found that it has produced no 
information concerning the evidence adduced 
against the appellants. 

88. The Court cannot, therefore, do other than find 
that it is not able to undertake the review of 
the lawfulness of the contested regulation in 
so far as it concerns the appellants, with the 
result that it must be held that, for that reason 
too, the fundamental right to an effective legal 
remedy which they enjoy has not, in the cir-
cumstances, been observed (see, by analogy, 
Kadi on appeal, paragraph 351). 

89. It must, therefore, be held that the contested 

regulation, in so far as it concerns the appel-
lants, was adopted without any guarantee 
being given as to the communication of the 
evidence adduced against them or as to their 
being heard in that connection, so that it must 
be found that that regulation was adopted 
according to a procedure in which the appel-
lants’ rights of defence were not observed, 
which has had the further consequence that 
the principle of effective judicial protection has 
been infringed (see, by analogy, Kadi on ap-
peal, paragraph 352). 

90. It follows from all the foregoing considerations 
that the pleas in law raised by Mr Hassan and 
Mr Ayadi in support of their actions for annul-
ment of the contested regulation and alleging 
breach of their rights of defence, especially the 
right to be heard, and of the principle of effec-
tive judicial protection, are well founded (see, 
by analogy, Kadi on appeal, paragraph 353). 

91. In the second place, so far as the heads of claim 
relating to a breach of the right to respect for 
property caused by the fund-freezing meas-
ures imposed by the contested regulation are 
concerned, the Court held, in paragraph 366 of 
Kadi on appeal, that the restrictive measures 
imposed by that regulation constituted restric-
tions of the right to property which might, in 
principle, be justified. 

92. It is, however, established that the contested 
regulation, in so far as it concerns Mr Hassan 
and Mr Ayadi, was adopted without furnishing 
any guarantee enabling them to put their case 
to the competent authorities, in a situation in 
which the restriction of their property rights 
must be regarded as significant, having regard 
to the general application and actual continu-
ation of the freezing measures affecting them 
(see, by analogy, Kadi on appeal, paragraph 
369). 

93. It must therefore be held that, in the circum-
stances of these cases, the imposition of the 
restrictive measures laid down by the contest-
ed regulation in respect of Mr Hassan and Mr 
Ayadi, by including them in the list contained 
in Annex I to that regulation, constitutes an 
unjustified restriction of their right to property 
(see, by analogy, Kadi on appeal, paragraph 
370). 

94. The appellants’ claims that their fundamental 
right to respect for property has been infringed 
are therefore well founded. 

95. In the circumstances, it is no longer necessary 
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to examine Mr Hassan’s heads of claim con-
cerning the alleged breach of his right to re-
spect for his private and family life, guaranteed 
by Article 8 of the ECHR. 

96. It follows from all the foregoing that the con-
tested regulation, so far as it concerns the 
appellants, must be annulled, account being 
taken of the clarification in paragraph 67 above 
as to the version of that regulation concerned 
by the appellants’ respective appeals. 

Costs
97. Under the first paragraph of Article 122 of the 

Rules of Procedure, where the appeal is well 
founded and the Court of Justice itself gives 
final judgment in the case, it is to make a deci-
sion as to costs. Under Article 69(2) of the Rules 
of Procedure, applicable to appeal proceed-
ings by virtue of Article 118 thereof, the unsuc-
cessful party is to be ordered to pay the costs 
if they have been applied for in the successful 
party’s pleadings. The first paragraph of Article 
69(4) provides that the Member States which 
have intervened in the proceedings are to bear 
their own costs. 

98. Because Mr Hassan and Mr Ayadi’s appeals 
must be upheld and because the contested 
regulation must be annulled in so far as it 
concerns the appellants and within the limits 
described in paragraph 67 above, the Council 
must be ordered to pay, in addition to its own 
costs, those incurred by Mr Hassan and Mr 
Ayadi, both at first instance and on appeal in 
accordance with the forms of order sought by 
the appellants. 

99. The United Kingdom is to bear its own costs 
both at first instance and in the appeals. 

100. The French Republic is to bear its own costs 
relating to the appeals. 

101. The Commission is to bear its own costs at first 
instance and in the appeal in the case con-
cerning Mr Hassan. In the case concerning Mr 
Ayadi, the Commission is to bear its own costs, 
in respect both of its intervention before the 
Court of First Instance and of the proceedings 
before the Court. 

On those grounds, the Court (Second Chamber) 
hereby:

1. Sets aside the judgments of the Court of first 
Instance of the European Communitiesof 12 
July 2006 in Case T49/04 Hassan v Council 

and Commission and in Case T253/02 Ayadi 
v Council;

2. Annuls Council Regulation (EC) No 881/2002 
of 27 May 2002 imposing certain specific re-
strictive measures directed against certain 
persons and entities associated with usama 
bin Laden, the Al-Qaeda network and the Tali-
ban, and repealing Council Regulation (EC) 
No 467/2001 prohibiting the export of certain 
goods and services to Afghanistan, strength-
ening the flight ban and extending the 
freeze of funds and other financial resources 
in respect of the Taliban of Afghanistan, as 
amended by Commission Regulation (EC) No 
46/2008 of 18 January 2008, in so far as it con-
cerns Mr Hassan;

3. Annuls Regulation No 881/2002, as amended 
by Commission Regulation (EC) No 1210/2006 
of 9 August 2006, in so far as it concerns Mr 
Ayadi;

4. Orders the Council of the European union to 
pay, in addition to its own costs, the costs in-
curred by Mr Hassan and Mr Ayadi both at first 
instance and in these appeals; 

5. Orders the united Kingdom of Great Britain 
and Northern Ireland to bear its own costs, 
both at first instance in the case concerning 
Mr Ayadi and in these appeals; 

6. Orders the french Republic to bear its own 
costs;

7. Orders the European Commission to bear its 
own costs both at first instance and in the ap-
peal in the case concerning Mr Hassan. Orders 
the European Commission, in the case con-
cerning Mr Ayadi, to bear its own costs, in re-
spect both of its intervention before the Court 
of first Instance of the European Communities 
and of the proceedings before the Court of 
Justice of the European union.

[Signatures]
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PROTECTION OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AS 
SUBSTANTIVE RIGHT,  REFERENCE TO ARTICLE 8 OF THE 
ECHR , WITHHOLDING INFORMATION TO PRESERVE THE 
FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES, PRIVATE 
LIFE, PROTECTION OF BUSINESS SECRETS

VAREC sA v BELGIAn 
stAtE 

14 February 200819

(Public procurement – Review – Directive 89/665/
EEC – Effective review – Meaning – Balance be-
tween the adversarial principle and the right to 
observance of business secrets – Protection, by the 
body responsible for the review, of the confidential-
ity of information provided by economic operators)

In Case C450/06,

REFERENCE for a preliminary ruling under Article 
234 EC from the Conseil d’état (Council of State) 
(Belgium), made by decision of 24 October 2006, 
received at the Court on 6 November 2006, in the 
proceedings Varec SA

v

état belge, intervener: Diehl Remscheid 
GmbH & Co., 

THE COURT (Third Chamber), composed of A. Ro-
sas, President of Chamber, J.N. Cunha Rodrigues 
(Rapporteur), J. Klučka, P. Lindh and A. Arabadjiev, 
Judges, Advocate General: E. Sharpston, Registrar: 
R. Grass,

having regard to the written procedure, after con-
sidering the observations submitted on behalf of:

• Varec SA, by J. Bourtembourg and C. Molitor, 
avocats,

• the Belgian Government, by A. Hubert, act-
ing as Agent, assisted by N. Cahen, avocat,

• the Austrian Government, by M. Fruhmann, 
acting as Agent,

• the Commission of the European Communi-
ties, by B. Stromsky and D. Kukovec, acting 
as Agents,

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 25 October 2007, gives the follow-
ing Judgment

19 Language of the case: French.

1. The reference for a preliminary ruling concerns 
the interpretation of Article 1(1) of Council Di-
rective 89/665/EEC of 21 December 1989 on 
the coordination of the laws, regulations and 
administrative provisions relating to the ap-
plication of review procedures to the award 
of public supply and public works contracts 
(OJ 1989 L 395, p. 33), as amended by Council 
Directive 92/50/EEC of 18 June 1992 relating to 
the coordination of procedures for the award 
of public service contracts (OJ 1992 L 209, 
p. 1;’Directive 89/665’). 

2. The reference was made in proceedings be-
tween Varec SA (‘Varec’) and the Belgian State, 
represented by the Minister for Defence, con-
cerning the award of a public contract for the 
supply of track links for’Leopard’ tanks. 

Legal context

Communitylegislation
3. Article 1(1) of Directive 89/665 provides: 

‘TheMember States shall take themeasures
necessary toensure that,as regardscontract
awardprocedures fallingwithin thescopeof
Directives71/305/EEC,77/62/EEC,and92/50/
EEC…,decisionstakenbythecontractingau-
thoritiesmaybe reviewed effectively and, in
particular,asrapidlyaspossibleinaccordance
with the conditions set out in the following
Articles and, in particular, Article 2(7) on the
grounds that such decisions have infringed
Communitylawinthefieldofpublicprocure-
mentornationalrulesimplementingthatlaw.’

4. Article 33 of Council Directive 93/36/EEC of 
14 June 1993 coordinating procedures for 
the award of public supply contracts (OJ 1993 
L 199, p. 1) repeals Council Directive 77/62/EEC 
of 21 December 1976 coordinating procedures 
for the award of public supply contracts (OJ 
1977 L 13, p. 1), and provides that the refer-
ences to that repealed directive are to be con-
strued as references to Directive 93/36. Simi-
larly, Article 36 of Council Directive 93/37/EEC 
of 14 June 1993 concerning the coordination 
of procedures for the award of public works 
contracts (OJ 1993 L 199, p. 54) repeals Council 
Directive 71/305/EEC of 26 July 1971 concern-
ing the co-ordination of procedures for the 
award of public works contracts (OJ 1971 L 185, 
p. 5), and provides that references to Directive 
71/305 are to be construed as references to Di-
rective 93/37. 

5. Article 2(8) of Directive 89/665 provides: 

Varec SA v Belgian State
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‘Where bodies responsible for review proce-
duresarenotjudicialincharacter,writtenrea-
sonsfortheirdecisionsshallalwaysbegiven.
Furthermore,insuchacase,provisionmustbe
made toguaranteeprocedureswherebyany
allegedlyillegalmeasuretakenbythereview
bodyoranyallegeddefect in theexerciseof
thepowersconferredonitcanbethesubject
of judicial reviewor reviewby anotherbody
whichisacourtortribunalwithinthemean-
ing of Article [234 EC] and independent of
boththecontractingauthorityandthereview
body.

Themembers of such an independent body
shallbeappointedandleaveofficeunderthe
sameconditionsasmembersof the judiciary
as regards theauthority responsible for their
appointment, theirperiodofoffice,andtheir
removal. At least the President of this inde-
pendentbodyshallhave thesame legaland
professionalqualificationsasmembersofthe
judiciary.Theindependentbodyshalltakeits
decisionsfollowingaprocedureinwhichboth
sidesareheard,andthesedecisionsshall,by
meansdeterminedbyeachMemberState,be
legallybinding.’

6. According to Article 7(1) of Directive 93/36, as 
amended by European Parliament and Coun-
cil Directive 97/52/EC of 13 October 1997 (OJ 
1997 L 328, p. 1;’Directive 93/36’): 
‘Thecontractingauthorityshall,within15days
ofthedateonwhichtherequest is received,
informany eliminated candidate or tenderer
ofthereasonsforrejectionofhisapplication
orhistenderandanytendererwhohasmade
anadmissibletenderofthecharacteristicsand
relativeadvantagesof thetenderselectedas
wellasthenameofthesuccessfultenderer.

However, contracting authorities may de-
cide thatcertain informationon thecontract
award, referred to in thepreceding subpara-
graph,shallbewithheldwherereleaseofsuch
informationwould impede law enforcement
orotherwisebecontrarytothepublicinterest
orwouldprejudicethelegitimatecommercial
interestsofparticularundertakings,publicor
private, or might prejudice fair competition
betweensuppliers.’

7. Article 9(3) of Directive 93/36 provides: 
‘Contracting authorities who have awarded
a contract shall make known the result by
meansofanotice.However,certain informa-
tion on the contract award may, in certain
cases,notbepublishedwherereleaseofsuch
informationwould impede law enforcement
orotherwisebecontrarytothepublicinterest,
would prejudice the legitimate commercial

interests of particular enterprises, public or
private, or might prejudice fair competition
betweensuppliers.’

8. Article 15(2) of Directive 93/36 provides: 
‘Thecontractingauthoritiesshallrespectfully
theconfidentialnatureofanyinformationfur-
nishedbythesuppliers.’

9. The provisions of Articles 7(1), 9(3) and 15(2) 
of Directive 93/36 have been substantially re-
produced in Article 6, the fifth subparagraph 
of Article 35(4), and Article 41(3) respectively 
of Directive 2004/18/EC of the European Parlia-
ment and of the Council of 31 March 2004 on 
the coordination of procedures for the award 
of public works contracts, public supply con-
tracts and public service contracts (OJ 2004 
L 134, p. 114). 

Nationallegislation
10. Article 87 of the Decree of the Regent of 23 

August 1948 establishing the procedure be-
fore the Administrative Section of the Conseil 
d’état (Moniteur belge of 23 to 24 August 1948, 
p. 6821), provides: 
‘Parties, their advisers and the government
commissionermayinspectthecase-fileatthe
registry.’

11. According to the third and fourth subpara-
graphs of Article 21 of the Coordinated Laws 
on the Conseil d’état of 12 January 1973 (Moni-
teur belge of 21 March 1973, p. 3461): 
‘Where the defendant fails to lodge the ad-
ministrative filewithintheprescribedperiod,
withoutprejudice toArticle21a, the factsal-
leged by the applicant shall be deemed to
havebeenproven,unlesstheyaremanifestly
inaccurate.

Wheretheadministrativefileisnotinthepos-
sessionof thedefendant,heshall informthe
Chamberseisedoftheactionaccordingly.The
Chamber may order that the administrative
filebelodged,onpenaltyofafineinaccord-
ancewithArticle36.’

The dispute in the main proceedings 
and the question referred for a 
preliminary ruling
12. On 14 December 2001, the Belgian State initi-

ated a contract award procedure in respect of 
the supply of track links for’Leopard’ tanks. Two 
tenderers submitted bids, namely Varec and 
Diehl Remscheid GmbH & Co. (‘Diehl’). 
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13. When examining those tenders, the Belgian 
State considered that the tender submitted by 
Varec did not satisfy the technical selection cri-
teria and that that tender was unlawful. By con-
trast, it took the view that the tender submitted 
by Diehl satisfied all the selection criteria, that 
it was lawful and that its prices were normal. 
Consequently, the Belgian State awarded the 
contract to Diehl by decision of the Minister for 
Defence of 28 May 2002 (‘the award decision’). 

14. On 29 July 2002, Varec brought an action for 
annulment of the award decision before the 
Conseil d’état. Diehl was granted leave to in-
tervene. 

15. The file delivered to the Conseil d’état by the 
Belgian State did not include Diehl’s tender. 

16. Varec requested that that tender be added to 
the file. The same request was made by the 
Auditeur of the Conseil d’état who was respon-
sible for drawing up a report (‘the Auditeur’). 

17. On 17 December 2002, the Belgian State add-
ed Diehl’s tender to the file, explaining that 
neither the plans of the whole of the proposed 
track link nor those of its constituent parts 
were included. It stated that these had been 
returned to Diehl in accordance with the speci-
fication and at Diehl’s request. It further stated 
that that was why it could not place those doc-
uments on the file and that, if it was essential 
that they be included, it would be necessary 
to ask Diehl to provide them. The Belgian State 
also observed that Varec and Diehl are in dis-
pute about the intellectual property rights to 
the plans in question. 

18. By letter of the same date, Diehl informed the 
Auditeur that the version of its tender that was 
placed on the file by the Belgian State con-
tained confidential data and information, and 
that it was objecting on the ground that third 
parties, including Varec, would be able to pe-
ruse those confidential data and information 
relating to business secrets included in the 
tender. According to Diehl, certain passages 
in Annexes 4, 12 and 13 to its tender contain 
specific data concerning the detailed revisions 
of the relevant manufacturing plans and also 
the industrial process. 

19. In his report of 23 February 2006, the Auditeur 
concluded that the award decision should be 
annulled on the ground that’in the absence 
of the defendant’s cooperation in the sound 
administration of justice and fair proceedings, 
the only possible sanction is the annulment of 

the administrative measure whose lawfulness 
is not established where documents are ex-
cluded from inter partes proceedings’. 

20. The Belgian State challenged that conclusion 
and requested the Conseil d’état to rule on the 
issue of respecting the confidentiality of Diehl’s 
tender documents containing information 
relating to business secrets which had been 
placed on the file in the proceedings before 
that court. 

21. In those circumstances, the Conseil d’état de-
cided to stay the proceedings and to refer the 
following question to the Court of Justice for a 
preliminary ruling: 
‘Must Article 1(1) of [Directive 89/665], read
withArticle15(2)of[Directive93/36]andAr-
ticle6of[Directive2004/18],beinterpretedas
meaningthattheauthorityresponsibleforthe
appealproceduresprovidedforinthatarticle
must ensure confidentiality and observance
of thebusiness secrets contained in the files
communicatedtoitbythepartiestothecase,
including the contractingauthority,whilst at
thesametimebeingentitledtoappriseitself
ofsuchinformationandtakeitintoconsidera-
tion?’

Admissibility
22. Varec submits that in order to resolve the dis-

pute before the Conseil d’état it is not neces-
sary for the Court to answer the question re-
ferred for a preliminary ruling. 

23. In that regard, it must be observed that, in pro-
ceedings under Article 234 EC, which is based 
on a clear separation of functions between the 
national courts and the Court of Justice, any 
assessment of the facts in the case is a matter 
for the national court. Similarly, it is solely for 
the national court before which the dispute 
has been brought, and which must assume 
responsibility for the subsequent judicial deci-
sion, to determine in the light of the particular 
circumstances of the case both the need for a 
preliminary ruling in order to enable it to de-
liver judgment and the relevance of the ques-
tions which it submits to the Court. Conse-
quently, where the questions submitted by the 
national court concern the interpretation of 
Community law, the Court of Justice is, in prin-
ciple, bound to give a ruling (see, in particular, 
Case C326/00 IKA [2003] ECR I1703, paragraph 
27; Case C145/03 Keller [2005] ECR I2529, para-
graph 33; and Case C419/04 Conseil général de 
la Vienne [2006] ECR I5645, paragraph 19). 
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24. Nevertheless, the Court has also held that, in 
exceptional circumstances, it can examine 
the conditions in which the case was referred 
to it by the national court, in order to assess 
whether it has jurisdiction (see, to that effect, 
Case 244/80 Foglia [1981] ECR 3045, paragraph 
21). The Court may refuse to rule on a question 
referred for a preliminary ruling by a national 
court only where it is quite obvious that the in-
terpretation of Community law that is sought 
bears no relation to the actual facts of the main 
action or its purpose, where the problem is hy-
pothetical, or where the Court does not have 
before it the factual or legal material neces-
sary to give a useful answer to the questions 
submitted to it (see, in particular, Case C379/98 
PreussenElektra [2001] ECR I2099, paragraph 
39; Case C390/99 Canal Satélite Digital [2002] 
ECR I607, paragraph 19; and Conseil général de 
la Vienne, paragraph 20). 

25. It must be pointed out that that is not the case 
here. If the Conseil d’état follows the form of 
order proposed by the Auditeur, it will have 
to annul the award decision which is before it, 
without examining the substance of the dis-
pute. On the other hand, if the provisions of 
Community law which the Conseil d’état seeks 
to have interpreted justify the confidential 
treatment of the documents of the file at issue 
in the main proceedings, it will be in a position 
to examine the substance of the dispute. For 
those reasons it may be concluded that the 
interpretation of those provisions is necessary 
for the resolution of the dispute in the main 
proceedings. 

Merits
26. In the question referred to the Court, the Con-

seil d’état refers both to Directive 93/36 and to 
Directive 2004/18. Since Directive 2004/18 has 
replaced Directive 93/36, it is necessary to es-
tablish which of the two directives is relevant 
to the examination of the question referred. 

27. It must be borne in mind that, according to 
settled case-law, procedural rules are gener-
ally held to apply to all proceedings pending at 
the time when they enter into force, whereas 
substantive rules are usually interpreted as not 
applying, in principle, to situations existing be-
fore their entry into force (see Case C-201/04 
Molenbergnatie [2006] ECR I2049, paragraph 
31 and the case-law cited). 

28. The dispute in the main proceedings concerns 
the right to the protection of confidential in-

formation. As the Advocate General noted in 
point 31 of her Opinion, such a right is in es-
sence a substantive right, even if its application 
can have procedural consequences. 

29. The right crystallised when Diehl submitted its 
tender in the award procedure at issue in the 
main proceedings. Since that date was not 
specified in the order for reference, it is appro-
priate to conclude that it falls between 14 De-
cember 2001, the date of the call for tenders, 
and 14 January 2002, the date of the opening 
of bids. 

30. Directive 2004/18 had not yet been adopted 
at that time. It follows that the provisions of 
Directive 93/36 must be taken into considera-
tion for the purposes of the dispute in the main 
proceedings. 

31. There is no provision in Directive 89/665 which 
expressly governs the protection of confiden-
tial information. It is necessary, in that respect, 
to refer to that directive’s general provisions, 
and in particular to Article 1(1). 

32. Article 1(1) provides that the Member States 
are to take the measures necessary to ensure 
that, as regards contract award procedures 
falling within the scope of, inter alia, Directive 
93/36, decisions taken by the contracting au-
thorities may be reviewed effectively on the 
grounds that such decisions have infringed 
Community law in the field of public procure-
ment or national rules implementing that law. 

33. Since the objective of Directive 89/665 is to 
ensure compliance with Community law in the 
field of public procurement, Article 1(1) of that 
directive must be interpreted in the light of the 
provisions of Directive 93/36 as well as of other 
provisions of Community law in the field of 
public procurement. 

34. The principal objective of the Community rules 
in that field is the opening-up of public pro-
curement to undistorted competition in all the 
Member States (see, to that effect, Case C26/03 
Stadt Halle and RPL Lochau [2005] ECR I1, para-
graph 44). 

35. In order to attain that objective, it is important 
that the contracting authorities do not release 
information relating to contract award proce-
dures which could be used to distort competi-
tion, whether in an ongoing procurement pro-
cedure or in subsequent procedures. 

36. Furthermore, both by their nature and accord-
ing to the scheme of Community legislation 
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in that field, contract award procedures are 
founded on a relationship of trust between 
the contracting authorities and participating 
economic operators. Those operators must be 
able to communicate any relevant information 
to the contracting authorities in the procure-
ment process, without fear that the authorities 
will communicate to third parties items of in-
formation whose disclosure could be damag-
ing to them. 

37. Accordingly, Article 15(2) of Directive 93/36 
provides that the contracting authorities are 
obliged to respect fully the confidential nature 
of any information furnished by the suppliers. 

38. In the specific context of informing an elimi-
nated candidate or tenderer of the reasons for 
the rejection of his application or tender, and 
of publishing a notice of the award of a con-
tract, Articles 7(1) and 9(3) of Directive 93/36 
give the contracting authorities the discretion 
to withhold certain information where its re-
lease would prejudice the legitimate commer-
cial interests of particular undertakings, public 
or private, or might prejudice fair competition 
between suppliers. 

39. Admittedly, those provisions relate to the con-
duct of the contracting authorities. It must 
nevertheless be acknowledged that their ef-
fectiveness would be severely undermined 
if, in an appeal against a decision taken by a 
contracting authority in relation to a contract 
award procedure, all of the information con-
cerning that award procedure had to be made 
unreservedly available to the appellant, or even 
to others such as the interveners. 

40. In such circumstances, the mere lodging of an 
appeal would give access to information which 
could be used to distort competition or to prej-
udice the legitimate interests of economic op-
erators who participated in the contract award 
procedure concerned. Such an opportunity 
could even encourage economic operators 
to bring an appeal solely for the purpose of 
gaining access to their competitors’ business 
secrets. 

41. In such an appeal, the respondent would be 
the contracting authority and the economic 
operator whose interests are at risk of being 
damaged would not necessarily be a party to 
the dispute or joined to the case to defend 
those interests. Accordingly, it is all the more 
important to provide for mechanisms which 
will adequately safeguard the interests of such 
economic operators. 

42. In a review, the body responsible for the review 
procedure assumes the obligations laid down 
by Directive 93/36 with regard to the contract-
ing authority’s respect for the confidentiality of 
information. The’effective review’ requirement 
provided for in Article 1(1) of Directive 89/665, 
read in conjunction with Articles 7(1), 9(3) and 
15(2) of Directive 93/36, therefore imposes on 
that body an obligation to take the measures 
necessary to guarantee the effectiveness of 
those provisions, and thereby to ensure that 
fair competition is maintained and that the 
legitimate interests of the economic operators 
concerned are protected. 

43. It follows that, in a review procedure in rela-
tion to the award of public contracts, the body 
responsible for that review procedure must be 
able to decide that the information in the file 
relating to such an award should not be com-
municated to the parties or their lawyers, if that 
is necessary in order to ensure the protection 
of fair competition or of the legitimate interests 
of the economic operators that is required by 
Community law. 

44. The question arises whether that interpretation 
is consistent with the concept of a fair hearing 
in accordance with Article 6 of the European 
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
and Fundamental Freedoms, signed in Rome 
on 4 November 1950 (‘ECHR’). 

45. As the order for reference shows, Varec claimed 
before the Conseil d’état that the right to a fair 
hearing means that both parties must be heard 
in any judicial procedure, that the adversarial 
principle is a general principle of law, that it has 
a foundation in Article 6 of the ECHR, and that 
that principle means that the parties are enti-
tled to a process of inspecting and comment-
ing on all documents or observations submit-
ted to the court with a view to influencing its 
decision. 

46. The Court notes that Article 6(1) of the ECHR 
provides inter alia that’everyone is entitled to 
a fair and public hearing within a reasonable 
time by an independent and impartial tribunal 
…’. The European Court of Human Rights has 
consistently held that the adversarial nature of 
proceedings is one of the factors which ena-
bles their fairness to be assessed, but it may be 
balanced against other rights and interests. 

47. The adversarial principle means, as a rule, that 
the parties have a right to a process of inspect-
ing and commenting on the evidence and 
observations submitted to the court. However, 
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in some cases it may be necessary for certain 
information to be withheld from the parties in 
order to preserve the fundamental rights of a 
third party or to safeguard an important public 
interest (see Rowe and Davis v The United King-
dom [GC] no 28901/95, §61, ECHR 2000II, and 
V v Finland no 40412/98, §75, ECHR 2007…). 

48. One of the fundamental rights capable of be-
ing protected in this way is the right to respect 
for private life, enshrined in Article 8 of the 
ECHR, which flows from the common consti-
tutional traditions of the Member States and 
which is restated in Article 7 of the Charter of 
fundamental rights of the European Union, 
proclaimed in Nice on 7 December 2000 (OJ 
2000 C 364, p. 1) (see, in particular, Case C62/90 
Commission v Germany [1992] ECR I2575, 
paragraph 23, and Case C404/92 P X v Com-
mission [1994] ECR I4737, paragraph 17). It fol-
lows from the case-law of the European Court 
of Human Rights that the notion of’private life’ 
cannot be taken to mean that the professional 
or commercial activities of either natural or le-
gal persons are excluded (see Niemietz v Ger-
many, judgment of 16 December 1992, Series 
A no 251B, §29; Société Colas Est and Others 
v France, no 37971/97, §41, ECHR 2002III; and 
also Peck v The United Kingdom no 44647/98, 
§57, ECHR 2003I). Those activities can include 
participation in a contract award procedure. 

49. The Court of Justice has, moreover, acknowl-
edged that the protection of business secrets 
is a general principle (see Case 53/85 AKZO 
Chemie and AKZO Chemie UK v Commis-
sion [1986] ECR 1965, paragraph 28, and Case 
C36/92 P SEP v Commission [1994] ECR I1911, 
paragraph 37). 

50. Finally, the maintenance of fair competition in 
the context of contract award procedures is 
an important public interest, the protection of 
which is acknowledged in the case-law cited in 
paragraph 47 of this judgment. 

51. It follows that, in the context of a review of a 
decision taken by a contracting authority in 
relation to a contract award procedure, the 
adversarial principle does not mean that the 
parties are entitled to unlimited and absolute 
access to all of the information relating to the 
award procedure concerned which has been 
filed with the body responsible for the review. 
On the contrary, that right of access must be 
balanced against the right of other economic 
operators to the protection of their confiden-
tial information and their business secrets. 

52. The principle of the protection of confidential 
information and of business secrets must be 
observed in such a way as to reconcile it with 
the requirements of effective legal protection 
and the rights of defence of the parties to the 
dispute (see, by analogy, Case C-438/04 Mobi-
star [2006] ECR I6675, paragraph 40) and, in the 
case of judicial review or a review by another 
body which is a court or tribunal within the 
meaning of Article 234 EC, in such a way as to 
ensure that the proceedings as a whole accord 
with the right to a fair trial. 

53. To that end, the body responsible for the re-
view must necessarily be able to have at its 
disposal the information required in order to 
decide in full knowledge of the facts, including 
confidential information and business secrets 
(see, by analogy, Mobistar, paragraph 40). 

54. Having regard to the extremely serious dam-
age which could result from improper commu-
nication of certain information to a competitor, 
that body must, before communicating that 
information to a party to the dispute, give the 
economic operator concerned an opportunity 
to plead that the information is confidential 
or a business secret (see, by analogy, AKZO 
Chemie and AKZO Chemie UK v Commission, 
paragraph 29). 

55. Accordingly, the answer to the question re-
ferred must be that Article 1(1) of Directive 
89/665, read in conjunction with Article 15(2) of 
Directive 93/36, must be interpreted as mean-
ing that the body responsible for the reviews 
provided for in Article 1(1) must ensure that 
confidentiality and business secrecy are safe-
guarded in respect of information contained 
in files communicated to that body by the par-
ties to an action, particularly by the contracting 
authority, although it may apprise itself of such 
information and take it into consideration. It is 
for that body to decide to what extent and by 
what process it is appropriate to safeguard the 
confidentiality and secrecy of that information, 
having regard to the requirements of effec-
tive legal protection and the rights of defence 
of the parties to the dispute and, in the case 
of judicial review or a review by another body 
which is a court or tribunal within the mean-
ing of Article 234 EC, so as to ensure that the 
proceedings as a whole accord with the right 
to a fair trial. 

Costs
56. Since these proceedings are, for the parties 
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to the main proceedings, a step in the action 
pending before the national court, the deci-
sion on costs is a matter for that court. Costs in-
curred in submitting observations to the Court, 
other than the costs of those parties, are not 
recoverable. 

On those grounds, the Court (Third Chamber) here-
by rules:

Article 1(1) of Council Directive 89/665/EEC 
of 21 December 1989 on the coordination of 
the laws, regulations and administrative pro-
visions relating to the application of review 
procedures to the award of public supply and 
public works contracts, as amended by Coun-
cil Directive 92/50/EEC of 18 June 1992 relat-
ing to the coordination of procedures for the 
award of public service contracts, read in con-
junction with Article 15(2) of Council Directive 
93/36/EEC of 14 June 1993 coordinating pro-
cedures for the award of public supply con-
tracts, as amended by European Parliament 
and Council Directive 97/52/EC of 13 October 
1997, must be interpreted as meaning that 
the body responsible for the reviews provided 
for in Article 1(1) must ensure that confiden-
tiality and business secrecy are safeguarded 
in respect of information contained in files 
communicated to that body by the parties to 
an action, particularly by the contracting au-
thority, although it may apprise itself of such 
information and take it into consideration. It 
is for that body to decide to what extent and 
by what process it is appropriate to safeguard 
the confidentiality and secrecy of that infor-
mation, having regard to the requirements 
of effective legal protection and the rights of 
defence of the parties to the dispute and, in 
the case of judicial review or a review by an-
other body which is a court or tribunal within 
the meaning of Article 234 EC, so as to ensure 
that the proceedings as a whole accord with 
the right to a fair trial.

[Signatures]
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SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

1. Article 3(2) of Directive 95/46 on the protection 
of individuals with regard to the processing of 
personal data and on the free movement of 
such data expressly excludes from its scope 
of application, inter alia, the processing of per-
sonal data concerning public security, defence, 
State security and the activities of the State in 
areas of criminal law. It follows that, while the 
processing of personal data for the purposes of 
the application of the legislation relating to the 

right of residence and for statistical purposes 
falls within the scope of application of Directive 
95/46, the position is otherwise where the ob-
jective of processing those data is connected 
with the fight against crime. 

(see paras 44-45)

2. A system for processing personal data relating 
to Union citizens who are not nationals of the 
Member State concerned, putting in place a 
central register of foreign nationals and hav-
ing as its object the provision of support to the 
national authorities responsible for the applica-
tion of the law relating to the right of residence 
does not satisfy the requirement of necessity 
laid down by Article 7(e) of Directive 95/46 on 
the protection of individuals with regard to the 
processing of personal data and on the free 
movement of such data, interpreted in the 
light of the prohibition on any discrimination 
on grounds of nationality, unless: 

• it contains only the data which are neces-
sary for the application by those authorities 
of that legislation, and

• its centralised nature enables that legisla-
tion to be more effectively applied as re-
gards the right of residence of Union citi-
zens who are not nationals of that Member 
State. 

It is for the national court to ascertain whether 
those conditions are satisfied. 

Having regard to the objective of Directive 
95/46 of ensuring an equivalent level of pro-
tection in all Member States, the concept of ne-
cessity laid down by Article 7(e) of the directive 
cannot have a meaning which varies between 
the Member States. It follows that what is at is-
sue is a concept which has its own independ-
ent meaning in Community law. 

As regards the use of a central register of for-
eign nationals for the purpose of the applica-
tion of the legislation relating to the right of 
residence, it is necessary for a Member State, 
within the meaning of Article 7(e), to have the 
relevant particulars and documents available 
to it in order to ascertain, within the framework 
laid down under the applicable Community 
legislation, whether a right of residence in its 
territory exists in relation to a national of anoth-
er Member State and to establish that there are 
no grounds which would justify a restriction on 
that right. It follows that the use of a register 
for the purpose of providing support to the au-
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thorities responsible for the application of the 
legislation relating to the right of residence is, 
in principle, legitimate and, having regard to 
its nature, compatible with the prohibition of 
discrimination on grounds of nationality laid 
down by Article 12(1) EC. However, such a reg-
ister must not contain any information other 
than what is necessary for that purpose. In that 
regard, as Community law presently stands, 
the processing of personal data contained 
in the documents referred to in Articles 8(3) 
and 27(1) of Directive 2004/38 on the right of 
citizens of the Union and their family members 
to move and reside freely within the territory 
of the Member States amending Regulation 
No 1612/68 and repealing Directives 64/221, 
68/360, 72/194, 73/148, 75/34, 75/35, 90/364, 
90/365 and 93/96 must be considered to be 
necessary, within the meaning of Article 7(e) of 
Directive 95/46, for the application of the legis-
lation relating to the right of residence. 

With respect to the necessity that a central-
ised register be available in order to meet the 
requirements of the authorities responsible 
for the application of the legislation relating 
to the right of residence, even if it were to be 
assumed that decentralised registers such as 
district population registers contain all the data 
which are relevant for the purposes of allowing 
the authorities to undertake their duties, the 
centralisation of those data could be necessary, 
within the meaning of Article 7(e) of Directive 
95/46, if it contributes to the more effective 
application of that legislation as regards the 
right of residence of Union citizens who wish 
to reside in a Member State of which they are 
not nationals. 

The storage and processing of personal data 
containing individualised personal informa-
tion in such a register for statistical purposes 
cannot, on any basis, be considered to be 
necessary within the meaning of Article 7(e) 
of Directive 95/46. While Community law has 
not excluded the power of Member States to 
adopt measures enabling the national authori-
ties to have an exact knowledge of population 
movements affecting their territory, the ex-
ercise of that power does not, of itself, mean 
that the collection and storage of individu-
alised personal information is necessary. It is 
only anonymous information that requires to 
be processed in order for such an objective to 
be attained. (see paras 52, 58-59, 62-63, 65-68, 
operative part 1)

3. Article 12(1) EC must be interpreted as mean-

ing that it precludes the putting in place by 
a Member State, for the purpose of fighting 
crime, of a system for processing personal data 
specific to Union citizens who are not nationals 
of that Member State. 

The principle of non-discrimination, which has 
its basis in Articles 12 EC and 43 EC, requires 
that comparable situations must not be treat-
ed differently and that different situations must 
not be treated in the same way. Such treatment 
may be justified only if it is based on objective 
considerations independent of the nationality 
of the persons concerned and is proportionate 
to the objective being legitimately pursued. 

While it is true that the objective of fighting 
crime is a legitimate one, it cannot be relied 
on in order to justify the systematic process-
ing of personal data when that processing is 
restricted to the data of Union citizens who are 
not nationals of the Member State concerned. 
The fight against crime necessarily involves 
the prosecution of crimes and offences com-
mitted, irrespective of the nationality of their 
perpetrators. It follows that, as regards a Mem-
ber State, the situation of its nationals cannot, 
as regards the objective of fighting crime, be 
different from that of Union citizens who are 
not nationals of that Member State and who 
are resident in its territory. Therefore, a differ-
ence in treatment between those nationals 
and those Union citizens which arises by virtue 
of the systematic processing of personal data 
relating only to Union citizens who are not na-
tionals of the Member State concerned for the 
purposes of fighting crime constitutes discrimi-
nation which is prohibited by Article 12(1) EC. 
(see paras 75, 77-81, operative part 2)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (GRAND 
CHAMBER)

16 December 200820

(Protection of personal data – European citizen-
ship – Principle of non-discrimination on grounds 
of nationality – Directive 95/46/EC – Concept of 
necessity – General processing of personal data re-
lating to citizens of the Union who are nationals of 
another Member State – Central register of foreign 
nationals)

In Case C524/06,

REFERENCE for a preliminary ruling under Article 

20 Language of the case: German.



1232 CASEC-524/06HEINZHUBERVBUNDESREPUBLIKDEUTSCHLAND

EC
HR

EC
J

234 EC from the Oberverwaltungsgericht für das 
Land Nordrhein-Westfalen (Germany), made by de-
cision of 15 December 2006, received at the Court 
on 28 December 2006, in the proceedings 

Heinz Huber

v

Bundesrepublik Deutschland,

THE COURT (Grand Chamber), composed of V. Sk-
ouris, President, P. Jann, C.W.A. Timmermans and 
K. Lenaerts, Presidents of Chambers, P. Kūris, G. Ar-
estis, U. Lõhmus, E. Levits (Rapporteur) and L. Bay 
Larsen, Judges, Advocate General: M. Poiares Ma-
duro, Registrar: B. Fülöp, Administrator,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 8 January 2008, after considering 
the observations submitted on behalf of:

• Mr Huber, by A. Widmann, Rechtsanwalt,
• the German Government, by M. Lumma and 

C. Schulze-Bahr, acting as Agents, and by 
Professor K. Hailbronner, 

• the Belgian Government, by L. Van den Broe-
ck, acting as Agent,

• the Danish Government, by B. Weis Fogh, 
acting as Agent,

• the Greek Government, by E.-M. Mamouna 
and K. Boskovits, acting as Agents,

• the Italian Government, by I.M. Braguglia, 
acting as Agent, and by W. Ferrante, avvo-
cato dello Stato,

• the Netherlands Government, by H.G. Sev-
enster, C.M. Wissels and C. ten Dam, acting 
as Agents,

• the Finnish Government, by J. Heliskoski, 
acting as Agent,

• the United Kingdom Government, by E. 
O’Neill, acting as Agent, and J. Stratford, Bar-
rister,

• the Commission of the European Communi-
ties, by C. Docksey and C. Ladenburger, act-
ing as Agents,

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 3 April 2008, gives the following 
Judgment

1. This reference for a preliminary ruling concerns 
Article 12(1) EC, read in conjunction with Ar-
ticles 17 EC and 18 EC, the first paragraph of 
Article 43 EC, as well as Article 7(e) of Directive 
95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of 
the Council of 24 October 1995 on the protec-

tion of individuals with regard to the process-
ing of personal data and on the free movement 
of such data (OJ 1995 L 281, p. 31). 

2. The reference was made in proceedings be-
tween Mr Huber, an Austrian national who is 
resident in Germany, and the Bundesrepublik 
Deutschland, represented by the Bundesamt 
für Migration und Flüchtlinge (Federal Office 
for Migration and Refugees) (‘the Bundesamt’), 
regarding Mr Huber’s request for the deletion 
of the data relating to him in the Central Regis-
ter of Foreign Nationals (Ausländerzentralreg-
ister) (‘the AZR’). 

Legal context

Communitylegislation
3. The eighth recital in the preamble to Directive 

95/46 states: 
‘Whereas,inordertoremovetheobstaclesto
flowsofpersonaldata,thelevelofprotection
oftherightsandfreedomsofindividualswith
regardtotheprocessingofsuchdatamustbe
equivalentinallMemberStates;…’.

4. The tenth recital in the preamble to that direc-
tive adds: 
‘…theapproximationof[thenationallawson
theprocessingofpersonaldata]mustnotre-
sultinanylesseningoftheprotectiontheyaf-
fordbutmust,onthecontrary,seektoensure
ahighlevelofprotectionintheCommunity’.

5. Article 1 of Directive 95/46 is entitled’Object of 
the Directive’ and Article 1(1) provides: 
‘In accordance with this Directive, Member
States shall protect the fundamental rights
and freedomsofnaturalpersons,and inpar-
ticulartheirrighttoprivacywithrespecttothe
processingofpersonaldata.’

6. Article 2 of that directive includes the following 
definitions: 
‘…

(a)“personaldata”shallmeananyinformation
relatingtoanidentifiedoridentifiablenatural
person(“datasubject”);anidentifiableperson
isonewhocanbeidentified,directlyor indi-
rectly, in particular by reference to an iden-
tification number or to one or more factors
specifictohisphysical,physiological,mental,
economic,culturalorsocialidentity;

(b) “processing of personal data” (“process-
ing”) shallmean any operation or set of op-
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erations which is performed upon personal
data, whether or not by automatic means,
such as collection, recording, organisation,
storage, adaptation or alteration, retrieval,
consultation,use,disclosureby transmission,
disseminationorotherwisemakingavailable,
alignment or combination, blocking, erasure
ordestruction;

…’.

7. The scope of application of Directive 95/46 is 
laid down by Article 3, in the following terms: 
‘1.ThisDirectiveshallapplytotheprocessing
ofpersonaldatawhollyorpartlybyautomatic
means,andtotheprocessingotherwisethan
by automaticmeans of personal datawhich
formpartofafilingsystemorareintendedto
formpartofafilingsystem.

2.ThisDirectiveshallnotapplytotheprocess-
ingofpersonaldata:

– in thecourseofanactivitywhich fallsout-
side the scope of Community law, such as
those provided for by Titles V and VI of the
TreatyonEuropeanUnionandinanycaseto
processing operations concerning public se-
curity, defence, State security (including the
economic well-being of the State when the
processingoperationrelatestoStatesecurity
matters)andtheactivitiesoftheStateinareas
ofcriminallaw,

–byanaturalpersoninthecourseofapurely
personalorhouseholdactivity.’

8. Article 7(e) of Directive 95/46 states: 
‘Member States shall provide that personal
datamaybeprocessedonlyif:

…

(e) processing is necessary for the perfor-
manceof a task carriedout in thepublic in-
terest or in the exercise of official authority
vested in thecontrolleror ina thirdparty to
whomthedataaredisclosed;

…’.

9. Article 4 of Council Directive 68/360/EEC of 15 
October 1968 on the abolition of restrictions 
on movement and residence within the Com-
munity for workers of Member States and their 
families (OJ, English Special Edition 1968 (II), p. 
485) provides: 
‘1.MemberStatesshallgranttherightofresi-
denceintheirterritorytothepersonsreferred
to in Article 1 who are able to produce the
documentslistedinparagraph3.

2.Asproofof the rightof residence,adocu-
mententitled“ResidencePermitforaNational
ofaMemberStateoftheEEC”shallbeissued.
…

3.FortheissueofaResidencePermitforaNa-
tionalofaMemberStateoftheEEC,Member
Statesmayrequireonlytheproductionofthe
followingdocuments:

–bytheworker:

(a)thedocumentwithwhichheenteredtheir
territory;

(b) a confirmation of engagement from the
employeroracertificateofemployment;

–bythemembersoftheworker’sfamily:

(c)thedocumentwithwhichtheyenteredthe
territory;

(d) a document issued by the competent
authority of the State of origin or the State
whencetheycame,provingtheirrelationship;

(e)inthecasesreferredtoinArticle10(1)and
(2)of[CouncilRegulation(EEC)No1612/68of
15October1968onfreedomofmovementfor
workers within the Community (OJ, English
SpecialEdition1968(II),p.475)],adocument
issuedbythecompetentauthorityoftheState
oforiginortheStatewhencetheycame,tes-
tifyingthattheyaredependentontheworker
orthattheyliveunderhisroofinsuchcountry.

…’

10. Article 10 of Directive 68/360 provides: 
‘Member States shall not derogate from the
provisionsofthisDirectivesaveongroundsof
publicpolicy,publicsecurityorpublichealth.’

11. Article 4(1) of Council Directive 73/148/EEC of 
21 May 1973 on the abolition of restrictions on 
movement and residence within the Commu-
nity for nationals of Member States with regard 
to establishment and the provision of services 
(OJ 1973 L 172, p. 14) states: 
‘Each Member State shall grant the right of
permanent residence to nationals of other
Member States who establish themselves
withinitsterritoryinordertopursueactivities
as self-employed persons, when the restric-
tionsontheseactivitieshavebeenabolished
pursuanttotheTreaty.

Asproofoftherightofresidence,adocument
entitled“ResidencePermitforaNationalofa
MemberStateoftheEuropeanCommunities”
shallbe issued. Thisdocument shallbevalid
fornotlessthanfiveyearsfromthedateofis-



1234 CASEC-524/06HEINZHUBERVBUNDESREPUBLIKDEUTSCHLAND

EC
HR

EC
J

sueandshallbeautomaticallyrenewable.

…’

12. Article 6 of Directive 73/148 states: 
‘An applicant for a residence permit or right
ofabodeshallnotbe requiredbyaMember
Statetoproduceanythingotherthanthefol-
lowing,namely:

(a)theidentitycardorpassportwithwhichhe
orsheentereditsterritory;

(b)proofthatheorshecomeswithinoneof
theclassesofperson referred to inArticles1
and4.’

13. Article 8 of that directive sets out the dero-
gation provided for in Article 10 of Directive 
68/360. 

14. On 29 April 2004, the European Parliament and 
the Council of the European Union adopted 
Directive 2004/38/EC on the right of citizens of 
the Union and their family members to move 
and reside freely within the territory of the 
Member States amending Regulation (EEC) No 
1612/68 and repealing Directives 64/221/EEC, 
68/360/EEC, 72/194/EEC, 73/148/EEC, 75/34/
EEC, 75/35/EEC, 90/364/EEC, 90/365/EEC and 
93/96/EEC (OJ 2004 L 158, p. 77, with Corrigen-
dum, OJ 2004 L 229, p. 35), which required to 
be transposed by 30 April 2006. Article 5 of that 
directive provides: 
‘1.Withoutprejudicetotheprovisionsontrav-
el documents applicable to national border
controls,MemberStatesshallgrantUnionciti-
zensleavetoentertheirterritorywithavalid
identitycardorpassportandshallgrantfamily
memberswhoarenotnationalsofaMember
Stateleavetoentertheirterritorywithavalid
passport.

…

5.TheMemberStatemayrequiretheperson
concerned to report his/her presencewithin
its territorywithina reasonableandnon-dis-
criminatoryperiodof time.Failuretocomply
with this requirementmaymake the person
concerned liable to proportionate and non-
discriminatorysanctions.’

15. Article 7(1) of that directive governs the right 
of residence for a period of more than three 
months of Union citizens in a Member State of 
which they are not nationals in the following 
terms: 
‘AllUnioncitizensshallhavetherightofresi-
dence on the territory of another Member

Stateforaperiodoflongerthanthreemonths
ifthey:

(a) are workers or self-employed persons in
thehostMemberState;or

(b) have sufficient resources for themselves
and their family members not to become a
burden on the social assistance system of
thehostMemberStateduringtheirperiodof
residence and have comprehensive sickness
insurancecoverinthehostMemberState;or

(c)–areenrolledataprivateorpublicestab-
lishment, accredited or financedby the host
MemberStateonthebasisofitslegislationor
administrativepractice, for theprincipalpur-
poseoffollowingacourseofstudy,including
vocationaltraining;and

 – have comprehensive sickness insurance
cover in the host Member State and assure
the relevant national authority, bymeans of
adeclarationorbysuchequivalentmeansas
theymaychoose,thattheyhavesufficientre-
sourcesforthemselvesandtheirfamilymem-
bers not to become a burden on the social
assistance system of the hostMember State
duringtheirperiodofresidence;or

…’.

16. Article 8 of Directive 2004/38 provides: 
‘1.WithoutprejudicetoArticle5(5),forperiods
of residence longer than three months, the
hostMemberStatemayrequireUnioncitizens
toregisterwiththerelevantauthorities.

2. The deadline for registration may not be
less than threemonths from the date of ar-
rival.A registration certificate shall be issued
immediately, stating the name and address
ofthepersonregisteringandthedateofthe
registration. Failure to comply with the reg-
istration requirementmay render theperson
concerned liable to proportionate and non-
discriminatorysanctions.

3.Fortheregistrationcertificatetobeissued,
MemberStatesmayonlyrequirethat:

–Unioncitizens towhompoint (a)ofArticle
7(1) applies present a valid identity card or
passport,aconfirmationofengagementfrom
theemployeroracertificateofemployment,
orproofthattheyareself-employedpersons;

–Unioncitizenstowhompoint (b)ofArticle
7(1) applies present a valid identity card or
passport and provide proof that they satisfy
theconditionslaiddowntherein;

–Unioncitizens towhompoint (c)ofArticle
7(1) applies present a valid identity card or
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passport,provideproofofenrolmentatanac-
creditedestablishmentandofcomprehensive
sickness insurance cover and thedeclaration
orequivalentmeansreferredtoinpoint(c)of
Article7(1).…’

17. Article 27 of that directive, entitled’General 
principles’, states: 
‘1. Subject to the provisions of this Chapter,
Member States may restrict the freedom of
movement and residence of Union citizens
andtheir familymembers, irrespectiveofna-
tionality, on grounds of public policy, public
securityorpublichealth.Thesegroundsshall
notbeinvokedtoserveeconomicends.

2.Measurestakenongroundsofpublicpolicy
orpublicsecurityshallcomplywiththeprin-
ciple of proportionality and shall be based
exclusively on the personal conduct of the
individual concerned. Previous criminal con-
victions shall not in themselves constitute
groundsfortakingsuchmeasures.

The personal conduct of the individual con-
cernedmustrepresentagenuine,presentand
sufficientlyseriousthreataffectingoneofthe
fundamentalinterestsofsociety.Justifications
that are isolated from the particulars of the
caseorthatrelyonconsiderationsofgeneral
preventionshallnotbeaccepted.

3. In order to ascertain whether the person
concerned represents a danger for public
policy or public security, when issuing the
registration certificate or, in the absence of
a registration system, not later than three
monthsfromthedateofarrivaloftheperson
concernedonitsterritoryorfromthedateof
reportinghis/herpresencewithintheterritory,
asprovidedforinArticle5(5),orwhenissuing
the residence card, the host Member State
may,shoulditconsiderthisessential,request
theMember State of origin and, if need be,
otherMember States to provide information
concerning any previous police record the
person concernedmay have. Such enquiries
shallnotbemadeasamatterofroutine.…

…’

18. Lastly, Regulation (EC) No 862/2007 of the Eu-
ropean Parliament and of the Council of 11 
July 2007 on Community statistics on migra-
tion and international protection and repeal-
ing Council Regulation (EEC) No 311/76 on the 
compilation of statistics on foreign workers (OJ 
2007 L 199, p. 23) lays down the framework in 
which the Member States are to supply statis-
tics to the Commission of the European Com-
munities relating to migratory flows in their 

territories. 

Nationallegislation
19. In accordance with Paragraph 1(1) of the Law 

on the central register of foreign nationals 
(Gesetz über das Ausländerzentralregister) of 
2 September 1994 (BGBl. 1994 I, p. 2265), as 
amended by the Law of 21 June 2005 (BGBl. 
1994 I, p. 1818) (‘the AZRG’), the Bundesamt, 
which is attached to the Federal Ministry of the 
Interior, is responsible for the management of 
the AZR, a centralised register which contains 
certain personal data relating to foreign na-
tionals who, inter alia, are resident in Germany 
on a basis which is not purely temporary. The 
foreign nationals concerned are those who re-
side in that territory for a period of more than 
three months, as is shown by the general ad-
ministrative circular of the Federal Ministry of 
the Interior relating to the AZRG and to the 
regulation implementing that Law (Allgemeine 
Verwaltungsvorschrift des Bundesministeriums 
des Innern zum Gesetz über das AZR und zur 
AZRG-Durchführungsverordnung) of 4 June 
1996. That information is collected in two da-
tabases which are managed separately. One 
contains personal data relating to foreign na-
tionals who live or have lived in Germany and 
the other to those who have applied for a visa. 

20. In accordance with Paragraph 3 of the AZRG, 
the first database contains, in particular, the fol-
lowing information: 

• the name of the authority which provided 
the data;

• the reference number allocated by the Bun-
desamt;

• the grounds of registration; 

• surname, surname at birth, given names, 
date and place of birth, sex and nationality; 

• previous and other patronymics, marital 
status, particulars of identity documents, 
the last place of residence in the country of 
origin, and information supplied on a vol-
untary basis as to religion and the national-
ity of the spouse or partner; 

• particulars of entries into and exits from the 
territory, residence status, decisions of the 
Federal Employment Agency relating to a 
work permit, refugee status granted by an-
other State, date of death; 

• decisions relating, inter alia, to any applica-
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tion for asylum, any previous application for 
a residence permit, and particulars of, inter 
alia, any expulsion proceedings, arrest war-
rants, suspected contraventions of the laws 
on drugs or immigration, and suspected 
participation in terrorist activities, or convic-
tions in respect of such activities; and 

• search warrants.

21. As the authority entrusted with the manage-
ment of the AZR, the Bundesamt is responsible 
for the accuracy of the data registered in it. 

22. According to Paragraph 1(2) of the AZRG, by 
registering and supplying personal data relat-
ing to foreign nationals, the Bundesamt assists 
the public authorities responsible for the ap-
plication of the law on foreign nationals and 
the law on asylum, together with other public 
bodies. 

23. Paragraph 10(1) of the AZRG provides that 
every application made by a public authority to 
consult the AZR or for the making available of 
personal data contained in it must satisfy cer-
tain conditions, compliance with which must 
be determined by the Bundesamt on a case-
by-case basis. The Bundesamt must, in particu-
lar, examine whether the data requested by an 
authority are necessary for the performance of 
its tasks and must also examine the precise use 
to which those data are intended to be put. 
The Bundesamt may reject an application if it 
does not satisfy the prescribed conditions. 

24. Paragraphs 14 to 21 and 25 to 27 of the Law 
specify the personal data which may be made 
available depending on the body which made 
the application in respect of them. 

25. Thus, Paragraph 14(1) of the AZRG authorises 
the communication to all German public au-
thorities of data relating to identity and domi-
cile, as well as the date of death and particulars 
of the authority responsible for the file and of 
any decision not to make data available. 

26. Paragraph 12 of the AZRG provides that ap-
plications, termed’group applications’, that is 
to say, which relate to a group of persons hav-
ing one or more common characteristics, are 
to be subject to certain substantive and formal 
conditions. Such applications may be made 
only by a limited number of public bodies. In 
addition, every communication of personal 
data pursuant to such an application must be 
notified to the Federal and regional regulators 
responsible for the protection of personal data. 

27. In addition, Paragraph 22 of the AZRG permits 
public bodies authorised for that purpose to 
consult the AZR directly through an automated 
procedure. However, the right to do so arises 
only in strictly defined circumstances and after 
a weighing up by the Bundesamt of the inter-
ests of the data subject and the public interest. 
Moreover, such consultation is allowed only in 
the case of so-called group applications. The 
public bodies having rights under Paragraph 
22 of the AZRG are, by virtue of Paragraph 7 
of that Law, also authorised to enter data and 
information directly in the AZR. 

28. Lastly, Paragraphs 25 to 27 of the AZRG specify 
the public bodies which may obtain certain 
data contained in the AZR. 

29. The national court adds that, in Germany, every 
inhabitant, whether a German national or not, 
must have his particulars entered in the reg-
ister kept by the authorities of the district in 
which he resides (Einwohnermelderegister). 
The Commission has stated in that regard that 
that type of register contains only some of the 
data comprised in the AZR, with those relating, 
in particular, to a person’s status as regards his 
right of residence not appearing there. There 
are currently some 7 700 district registers. 

The facts and the questions referred 
30. Mr Huber, an Austrian national, moved to Ger-

many in 1996 in order to carry on business 
there as a self-employed insurance agent. 

31. The following data relating to him are stored 
in the AZR: 

• his name, given name, date and place of 
birth, nationality, marital status, sex;

• a record of his entries into and exits from 
Germany, and his residence status;

• particulars of passports issued to him;

• a record of his previous statements as to 
domicile; and

• reference numbers issued by the Bundesa-
mt, particulars of the authorities which sup-
plied the data and the reference numbers 
used by those authorities. 

32. Since he took the view that he was discrimi-
nated against by reason of the processing of 
the data concerning him contained in the AZR, 
in particular because such a database does not 
exist in respect of German nationals, Mr Huber 
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requested the deletion of those data on 22 July 
2000. That request was rejected on 29 Septem-
ber 2000 by the administrative authority which 
was responsible for maintaining the AZR at the 
time. 

33. The challenge to that decision also having 
been unsuccessful, Mr Huber brought an ac-
tion before the Verwaltungsgericht Köln (Ad-
ministrative Court, Cologne) which upheld the 
action by judgment of 19 December 2002. The 
Verwaltungsgericht Köln held that the general 
processing, through the AZR, of data regarding 
a Union citizen who is not a German national 
constitutes a restriction of Articles 49 EC and 50 
EC which cannot be justified by the objective 
of the swift treatment of cases relating to the 
right of residence of foreign nationals. In ad-
dition, that court took the view that the stor-
age and processing of the data at issue were 
contrary to Articles 12 EC and 18 EC, as well as 
Articles 6(1)(b) and 7(e) of Directive 95/46. 

34. The Bundesrepublik Deutschland, acting 
through the Bundesamt, brought an appeal 
against that judgment before the Oberverwal-
tungsgericht für das Land Nordrhein-Westfalen 
(Higher Administrative Court for the Land 
North-Rhine Westphalia), which considers that 
certain of the questions of law raised before it 
require an interpretation of Community law by 
the Court. 

35. First, the national court notes that, according 
to the Court’s case-law, a citizen of the Euro-
pean Union lawfully resident in the territory of 
a Member State of which he is not a national 
can rely on Article 12 EC in all situations which 
fall within the scope of Community law. It re-
fers in that regard to Case C85/96 Martínez Sala 
[1998] ECR I2691, paragraph 63; Case C-184/99 
Grzelczyk [2001] ECR I-6193, paragraph 32; and 
Case C-209/03 Bidar [2005] ECR I-2119, para-
graph 32. Accordingly, having exercised the 
right to the freedom of movement conferred 
on him by Article 18(1) EC, Mr Huber was enti-
tled to rely on the prohibition of discrimination 
laid down by Article 12 EC. 

36. The national court states that the general pro-
cessing of personal data relating to Mr Huber 
in the AZR differs from the processing of data 
relating to a German national in two respects: 
first, some of the data relating to Mr Huber are 
stored not only in the register of the district in 
which he resides but also in the AZR, and, sec-
ondly, the AZR contains additional data. 

37. The national court doubts whether such a dif-

ference in treatment can be justified by the 
need to monitor the residence of foreign na-
tionals in Germany. It also raises the question 
whether the general processing of personal 
data relating to Union citizens who are not Ger-
man nationals and who reside or have resided 
in Germany is proportionate to the objective 
of protecting public security, inasmuch as the 
AZR covers all of those citizens and not only 
those who are subject to an expulsion order or 
a prohibition on residing in Germany. 

38. Secondly, the national court is of the opinion 
that, in the circumstances of the main proceed-
ings, Mr Huber falls within the scope of applica-
tion of Article 43 EC. Since the freedom of es-
tablishment extends not only to the taking up 
of activities as a self-employed person but also 
the framework conditions for that activity, the 
national court raises the question whether the 
general processing of data relating to Mr Huber 
in the AZR is liable to affect those conditions to 
such an extent that it comprises a restriction on 
the exercise of that freedom. 

39. Thirdly, the national court raises the question 
whether the criterion of necessity imposed by 
Article 7(e) of Directive 95/46 can be a criterion 
for assessing a system of general data process-
ing such as the system put in place under the 
AZR. The national court does not, in fact, rule 
out the possibility that the directive may leave 
it open to the national legislature itself to de-
fine that requirement of necessity. However, 
should that not be the case, the question arises 
how that requirement is to be understood, 
and more particularly whether the objective 
of administrative simplification might justify 
data processing of the kind put in place by the 
AZRG. 

40. In those circumstances, the Oberverwal-
tungsgericht für das Land Nordrhein-Westfalen 
decided to stay the proceedings and refer the 
following questions to the Court of Justice for a 
preliminary ruling: 

‘(1) Is the general processing of personal
dataofforeigncitizensoftheUnioninacen-
tral register of foreign nationals compatible
with… the prohibition of discrimination on
groundsofnationalityagainst citizensof the
Unionwhoexercisetheirrighttomoveandre-
sidefreelywithintheterritoryoftheMember
States (Article 12(1) EC, in conjunction with
Articles17ECand18(1)EC)[?]

(2) [Is such processing compatible with] the
prohibitionof restrictions on the freedomof
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establishmentofnationalsofaMemberState
intheterritoryofanotherMemberState(first
paragraphofArticle43EC)[?]

(3) [Is such treatment compatible with] the
requirementofnecessityunderArticle7(e)of
Directive95/46…?’

The questions referred

Preliminaryobservations
41. By its questions, the national court asks the 

Court whether the processing of personal data 
which is undertaken in a register such as the 
AZR is compatible with Community law. 

42. In that regard, it must be noted that Paragraph 
1(2) of the AZRG provides that, through the 
storage of certain personal data relating to 
foreign nationals in the AZR and the making 
available of those data, the Bundesamt, which 
is responsible for maintaining that register, 
assists the public authorities responsible for 
the application of the legislation relating to 
the law on foreign nationals and the law on 
asylum, together with other public bodies. In 
particular, the German Government has stated 
in its written observations that the AZR is used 
for statistical purposes and on the exercise by 
the security and police services and by the ju-
dicial authorities of their powers in relation to 
the prosecution and investigation of activities 
which are criminal or threaten public security. 

43. At the outset, it must be stated that data 
such as those which, according to the order 
for reference, the AZR contains in relation to 
Mr Huber constitute personal data within the 
meaning of Article 2(a) of Directive 95/46, be-
cause they represent’information relating to an 
identified or identifiable natural person’. Their 
collection, storage and transmission by the 
body responsible for the management of the 
register in which they are kept thus represents 
the’processing of personal data’ within the 
meaning of Article 2(b) of that directive. 

44. However, Article 3(2) of Directive 95/46 ex-
pressly excludes from its scope of application, 
inter alia, the processing of personal data con-
cerning public security, defence, State security 
and the activities of the State in areas of crimi-
nal law. 

45. It follows that, while the processing of personal 
data for the purposes of the application of the 
legislation relating to the right of residence and 
for statistical purposes falls within the scope of 

application of Directive 95/46, the position is 
otherwise where the objective of processing 
those data is connected with the fight against 
crime. 

46. Consequently, the compatibility with Com-
munity law of the processing of personal data 
undertaken through a register such as the AZR 
should be examined, first, in the context of its 
function of providing support to the authori-
ties responsible for the application of the legis-
lation relating to the right of residence and to 
its use for statistical purposes, by having regard 
to Directive 95/46 and more particularly, in 
view of the third question, to the condition of 
necessity laid down by Article 7(e) of that direc-
tive, as interpreted in the light of the require-
ments of the Treaty including in particular the 
prohibition of any discrimination on grounds 
of nationality under Article 12(1) EC, and, sec-
ondly, in the context of its function in the fight 
against crime, by having regard to primary 
Community law. 

Theprocessingofpersonaldatafor
thepurposeoftheapplicationofthe
legislationrelatingtotherightof
residenceandforstatisticalpurposes

The concept of necessity 

47. Article 1 of Directive 95/46 requires Member 
States to ensure the protection of the funda-
mental rights and freedoms of natural persons, 
and in particular their privacy, in relation to the 
handling of personal data. 

48. Chapter II of Directive 95/46, entitled’General 
rules on the lawfulness of the processing of 
personal data’, provides that, subject to the 
exceptions permitted under Article 13, all pro-
cessing of personal data must comply, first, 
with the principles relating to data quality set 
out in Article 6 of the directive and, secondly, 
with one of the criteria for making data pro-
cessing legitimate listed in Article 7 (see, to 
that effect, Joined Cases C-465/00, C-138/01 
and C-139/01 Österreichischer Rundfunk and 
Others [2003] ECR I4989, paragraph 65). 

49. In particular, Article 7(e) provides that personal 
data may lawfully be processed if ’it is neces-
sary for the performance of a task carried out in 
the public interest or in the exercise of official 
authority vested in the controller or in a third 
party to whom the data are disclosed’. 

50. In that context, it must be noted that Direc-
tive 95/46 is intended, as appears from the 
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eighth recital in the preamble thereto, to en-
sure that the level of protection of the rights 
and freedoms of individuals with regard to the 
processing of personal data is equivalent in all 
Member States. The tenth recital adds that the 
approximation of the national laws applicable 
in this area must not result in any lessening of 
the protection they afford but must, on the 
contrary, seek to ensure a high level of protec-
tion in the Community. 

51. Thus, it has been held that the harmonisation 
of those national laws is not limited to mini-
mal harmonisation but amounts to harmoni-
sation which is generally complete (see Case 
C-101/01 Lindqvist [2003] ECR I12971, para-
graph 96). 

52. Consequently, having regard to the objective 
of ensuring an equivalent level of protection 
in all Member States, the concept of necessity 
laid down by Article 7(e) of Directive 95/46, the 
purpose of which is to delimit precisely one of 
the situations in which the processing of per-
sonal data is lawful, cannot have a meaning 
which varies between the Member States. It 
therefore follows that what is at issue is a con-
cept which has its own independent meaning 
in Community law and which must be inter-
preted in a manner which fully reflects the ob-
jective of that directive, as laid down in Article 
1(1) thereof. 

Thenecessityfortheprocessingof
personaldata,suchastheprocessing
undertakenthroughtheAZR,forthe
purposeoftheapplicationofthe
legislationrelatingtotherightof
residenceandforstatisticalpurposes
53. It is apparent from the order for reference that 

the AZR is a centralised register which contains 
certain personal data relating to Union citizens 
who are not German nationals and that it may 
be consulted by a number of public and pri-
vate bodies. 

54. As regards the use of a register such as the 
AZR for the purpose of the application of the 
legislation relating to the right of residence, 
it is important to bear in mind that, as Com-
munity law presently stands, the right of free 
movement of a Union citizen in the territory of 
a Member State of which he is not a national 
is not unconditional but may be subject to 
the limitations and conditions imposed by the 
Treaty and by the measures adopted to give 
it effect (see, to that effect, Case C33/07 Jippa 

[2008] ECR I-0000, paragraph 21 and the case-
law cited). 

55. Thus, Article 4 of Directive 68/360, read in con-
junction with Article 1 thereof, and Article 6 
of Directive 73/148, read in conjunction with 
Article 1 thereof, provided that, in order for a 
national of a Member State to be entitled to re-
side for a period of more than three months in 
the territory of another Member State, that per-
son had to belong to one of the categories laid 
down by those directives and provided for that 
entitlement to be subject to certain formalities 
linked to the presentation or the provision by 
the applicant of a residence permit together 
with various documents and particulars. 

56. In addition, Article 10 of Directive 68/360 and 
Article 8 of Directive 73/148 permitted Mem-
ber States to derogate from the provisions of 
those directives on grounds of public policy, 
public security or public health and to limit the 
right of entry and residence of a national of an-
other Member State in their territory. 

57. While Directive 2004/38, which fell to be trans-
posed by 30 April 2006 and which accordingly 
did not apply at the time of the facts of the 
present case, repealed both of the abovemen-
tioned directives, it sets out, in Article 7, condi-
tions which are generally equivalent to those 
laid down under its predecessors as regards 
the right of residence of nationals of other 
Member States and, in Article 27(1), restrictions 
relating to that right which are essentially iden-
tical to those laid down under its predecessors. 
It also provides, in Article 8(1), that the host 
Member State may require every Union citizen 
who is a national of another Member State and 
who wishes to reside in its territory for a period 
of more than three months to register with the 
relevant authorities. In that regard, the host 
Member State may, by virtue of Article 8(3), re-
quire certain documents and particulars to be 
provided in order to enable those authorities 
to determine that the conditions for entitle-
ment to a right of residence are satisfied. 

58. It must therefore be held that it is necessary for 
a Member State to have the relevant particulars 
and documents available to it in order to ascer-
tain, within the framework laid down under 
the applicable Community legislation, whether 
a right of residence in its territory exists in rela-
tion to a national of another Member State and 
to establish that there are no grounds which 
would justify a restriction on that right. It fol-
lows that the use of a register such as the AZR 
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for the purpose of providing support to the au-
thorities responsible for the application of the 
legislation relating to the right of residence is, 
in principle, legitimate and, having regard to 
its nature, compatible with the prohibition of 
discrimination on grounds of nationality laid 
down by Article 12(1) EC. 

59. However, such a register must not contain any 
information other than what is necessary for 
that purpose. In that regard, as Community law 
presently stands, the processing of personal 
data contained in the documents referred to 
in Articles 8(3) and 27(1) of Directive 2004/38 
must be considered to be necessary, within the 
meaning of Article 7(e) of Directive 95/46, for 
the application of the legislation relating to the 
right of residence. 

60. Moreover, while the collection of the data re-
quired for the application of the legislation 
relating to the right of residence would be of 
no practical benefit if those data were not to 
be stored, it must be emphasised that, since a 
change in the personal situation of a party enti-
tled to a right of residence may have an impact 
on his status in relation to that right, it is incum-
bent on the authority responsible for a register 
such as the AZR to ensure that the data which 
are stored are, where appropriate, brought up 
to date so that, first, they reflect the actual situ-
ation of the data subjects and, secondly, irrel-
evant data are removed from that register. 

61. As regards the detailed rules for the use of such 
a register for the purposes of the application of 
the legislation relating to the right of residence, 
only the grant of access to authorities having 
powers in that field could be considered to be 
necessary within the meaning of Article 7(e) of 
Directive 95/46. 

62. Lastly, with respect to the necessity that a cen-
tralised register such as the AZR be available in 
order to meet the requirements of the authori-
ties responsible for the application of the legis-
lation relating to the right of residence, even if 
it were to be assumed that decentralised reg-
isters such as the district population registers 
contain all the data which are relevant for the 
purposes of allowing the authorities to under-
take their duties, the centralisation of those 
data could be necessary, within the meaning 
of Article 7(e) of Directive 95/46, if it contrib-
utes to the more effective application of that 
legislation as regards the right of residence of 
Union citizens who wish to reside in a Member 
State of which they are not nationals. 

63. As regards the statistical function of a register 
such as the AZR, it must be recalled that, by 
creating the principle of freedom of movement 
for persons and by conferring on any person 
falling within its ambit the right of access to the 
territory of the Member States for the purposes 
intended by the Treaty, Community law has 
not excluded the power of Member States to 
adopt measures enabling the national authori-
ties to have an exact knowledge of population 
movements affecting their territory (see Case 
118/75 Watson and Belmann [1976] ECR 1185, 
paragraph 17). 

64. Similarly, Regulation No 862/2007, which pro-
vides for the transmission of statistics relat-
ing to migratory flows in the territory of the 
Member States, presupposes that information 
will be collected by those States which allows 
those statistics to be determined. 

65. However, the exercise of that power does not, 
of itself, mean that the collection and storage 
of individualised personal information in a reg-
ister such as the AZR is necessary, within the 
meaning of Article 7(e) of Directive 95/46. As 
the Advocate General stated at point 23 of his 
Opinion, it is only anonymous information that 
requires to be processed in order for such an 
objective to be attained. 

66. It follows from all of the above that a system 
for processing personal data relating to Union 
citizens who are not nationals of the Member 
State concerned, such as that put in place by 
the AZRG and having as its object the provision 
of support to the national authorities responsi-
ble for the application of the legislation relat-
ing to the right of residence, does not satisfy 
the requirement of necessity laid down by Ar-
ticle 7(e) of Directive 95/46, interpreted in the 
light of the prohibition on any discrimination 
on grounds of nationality, unless: 

• it contains only the data which are neces-
sary for the application by those authorities 
of that legislation, and

• its centralised nature enables that legisla-
tion to be more effectively applied as re-
gards the right of residence of Union citi-
zens who are not nationals of that Member 
State. 

67. It is for the national court to ascertain whether 
those conditions are satisfied in the main pro-
ceedings. 

68. The storage and processing of personal data 
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containing individualised personal information 
in a register such as the AZR for statistical pur-
poses cannot, on any basis, be considered to 
be necessary within the meaning of Article 7(e) 
of Directive 95/46. 

Theprocessingofpersonaldatarelating
toUnioncitizenswhoarenationalsof
otherMemberStatesforthepurposesof
fightingcrime
69. As a preliminary point, it should be noted that, 

according to settled case-law, citizenship of 
the Union is destined to be the fundamental 
status of nationals of the Member States, ena-
bling those who find themselves in the same 
situation to receive the same treatment in law 
irrespective of their nationality, subject to such 
exceptions as are expressly provided for (see, 
to that effect, Grzelczyk, paragraphs 30 and 31; 
Case C148/02 Garcia Avello [2003] ECR I11613, 
paragraphs 22 and 23; and Bidar, paragraph 
31). 

70. In that regard, a Union citizen lawfully resident 
in the territory of the host Member State can 
rely on Article 12 EC in all situations which fall 
within the scope ratione materiae of Com-
munity law (see Martínez Sala, paragraph 63; 
Grzelczyk, paragraph 32; and Bidar, paragraph 
32). 

71. Those situations include those involving the 
exercise of the fundamental freedoms guar-
anteed by the Treaty and those involving the 
exercise of the right to move and reside within 
the territory of the Member States, as conferred 
by Article 18 EC (see, to that effect, Bidar, para-
graph 33 and the case-law cited). 

72. It is apparent from Paragraph 1 of the AZRG, 
read in conjunction with the general admin-
istrative circular of the Federal Ministry of the 
Interior of 4 June 1996 relating to the AZRG and 
to the regulation implementing that Law, that 
the system of storage and processing of per-
sonal data put in place through the AZR con-
cerns all Union citizens who are not nationals 
of the Federal Republic of Germany and who 
reside in Germany for a period of over three 
months, irrespective of the reasons which lead 
them to reside there. 

73. That being the case, since Mr Huber exercised 
his freedom to move and reside within that ter-
ritory as conferred by Article 18 EC, reference 
should, having regard to the circumstances of 
the main proceedings, be made to Article 12(1) 

EC in order to determine whether a system for 
the storage and processing of personal data 
such as that at issue in the main proceedings is 
compatible with the principle that any discrim-
ination on grounds of nationality is prohibited, 
in so far as those data are stored and processed 
for the purposes of fighting crime. 

74. In that context, it should be pointed out that 
the order for reference does not contain any 
detailed information which would allow it to 
be established whether the situation at issue in 
the main proceedings is covered by Article 43 
EC. However, even if the national court were to 
consider that to be the case, the application of 
the principle of non-discrimination cannot vary 
depending on whether it finds its basis in that 
provision or on Article 12(1) EC, read in con-
junction with Article 18(1) EC. 

75. It is settled case-law that the principle of non-
discrimination, which has its basis in Articles 12 
EC and 43 EC, requires that comparable situa-
tions must not be treated differently and that 
different situations must not be treated in the 
same way. Such treatment may be justified 
only if it is based on objective considerations 
independent of the nationality of the persons 
concerned and is proportionate to the objec-
tive being legitimately pursued (see, to that 
effect, Case C-164/07 Wood [2008] ECR I-0000, 
paragraph 13 and the case-law cited). 

76. It is therefore, in circumstances such as those 
at issue in the main proceedings, necessary to 
compare the situation of Union citizens who 
are not nationals of the Member State con-
cerned and who are resident in the territory 
of that Member State with that of nationals 
of that Member State as regards the objective 
of fighting crime. In fact, the German Govern-
ment relies only on that aspect of the protec-
tion of public order. 

77. Although that objective is a legitimate one, it 
cannot be relied on in order to justify the sys-
tematic processing of personal data when that 
processing is restricted to the data of Union 
citizens who are not nationals of the Member 
State concerned. 

78. As the Advocate General noted at point 21 
of his Opinion, the fight against crime, in the 
general sense in which that term is used by the 
German Government in its observations, nec-
essarily involves the prosecution of crimes and 
offences committed, irrespective of the nation-
ality of their perpetrators. 
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79. It follows that, as regards a Member State, the 
situation of its nationals cannot, as regards the 
objective of fighting crime, be different from 
that of Union citizens who are not nationals of 
that Member State and who are resident in its 
territory. 

80. Therefore, the difference in treatment between 
those nationals and those Union citizens which 
arises by virtue of the systematic processing of 
personal data relating only to Union citizens 
who are not nationals of the Member State 
concerned for the purposes of fighting crime 
constitutes discrimination which is prohibited 
by Article 12(1) EC. 

81. Consequently, Article 12(1) EC must be in-
terpreted as meaning that it precludes the 
putting in place by a Member State, for the 
purpose of fighting crime, of a system for pro-
cessing personal data specific to Union citizens 
who are not nationals of that Member State. 

Costs
82. Since these proceedings are, for the parties 

to the main proceedings, a step in the action 
pending before the national court, the deci-
sion on costs is a matter for that court. Costs in-
curred in submitting observations to the Court, 
other than the costs of those parties, are not 
recoverable. 

On those grounds, the Court (Grand Chamber) 
hereby rules:

1. A system for processing personal data relat-
ing to union citizens who are not nationals 
of the Member State concerned, such as that 
put in place by the Law on the central regis-
ter of foreign nationals (Gesetz über das Aus-
länderzentralregister) of 2 September 1994, 
as amended by the Law of 21 June 2005, and 
having as its object the provision of support 
to the national authorities responsible for the 
application of the law relating to the right of 
residence does not satisfy the requirement 
of necessity laid down by Article 7(e) of Di-
rective 95/46/EC of the European Parliament 
and of the Council of 24 October 1995 on the 
protection of individuals with regard to the 
processing of personal data and on the free 
movement of such data, interpreted in the 
light of the prohibition on any discrimination 
on grounds of nationality, unless:

• it contains only the data which are neces-
sary for the application by those authori-

ties of that legislation, and 

• its centralised nature enables the legisla-
tion relating to the right of residence to 
be more effectively applied as regards un-
ion citizens who are not nationals of that 
Member State.

It is for the national court to ascertain whether 
those conditions are satisfied in the main pro-
ceedings.

The storage and processing of personal data 
containing individualised personal informa-
tion in a register such as the Central Register 
of foreign Nationals for statistical purposes 
cannot, on any basis, be considered to be nec-
essary within the meaning of Article 7(e) of 
Directive 95/46.

2. Article 12(1) EC must be interpreted as mean-
ing that it precludes the putting in place by 
a Member State, for the purpose of fighting 
crime, of a system for processing personal 
data specific to union citizens who are not na-
tionals of that Member State. 

[Signatures]
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MEANING OF PERSONAL DATA, PROCESSING OF PER-
SONAL DATA, EXCEPTIONS OF  APPLICABILITY OF 
DIRECTIVE 95/46/EC, APPLICABILITY IN RESPECT TO 
PUBLISHED INFORMATION, RIGHT TO PRIVACY, RECON-
CILIATION OF FUNDAMENTAL FREEDOMS, TRANSMIT-
TING PROCESSED DATA FOR JOURNALISTIC PURPOSES

CAsE C-73/07 
tIEtosUoJA- 
VALtUUtEttU 
v sAtAKUnnAn 
MARKKInAPÖRssI oY 
AnD sAtAMEDIA oY
(Reference for a preliminary ruling from the Korkein 
hallinto-oikeus)

(Directive 95/46/EC – Scope – Processing and flow 
of tax data of a personal nature – Protection of nat-
ural persons – Freedom of expression)

KEYWORDS

1. Approximation of laws – Protection of individ-
uals with regard to the processing of personal 
data – Directive 95/46 (European Parliament 
and Council Directive 95/46, Art. 3(1))

2. Approximation of laws – Protection of individ-
uals with regard to the processing of personal 
data – Directive 95/46 (European Parliament 
and Council Directive 95/46, Art. 9)

3. Approximation of laws – Protection of individ-
uals with regard to the processing of personal 
data – Directive 95/46 (European Parliament 
and Council Directive 95/46)

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

1. Article 3(1) of Directive 95/46 on the protection 
of individuals with regard to the processing of 
personal data and on the free movement of 
such data, which governs the scope of appli-
cation of the directive, is to be interpreted as 
meaning that an activity in which data on the 
earned and unearned income and the assets of 
natural persons are: 

• collected from documents in the public 
domain held by the tax authorities and pro-
cessed for publication,

• published alphabetically in printed form 
by income bracket and municipality in the 
form of comprehensive lists,

• transferred onward on CD-ROM to be used 
for commercial purposes, and,

• processed for the purposes of a text-mes-
saging service whereby mobile telephone 
users can, by sending a text message con-
taining details of an individual’s name and 
municipality of residence to a given num-
ber, receive in reply information concern-
ing the earned and unearned income and 
assets of that person, 

must be considered as the’processing of per-
sonal data’ within the meaning of that provi-
sion.

(see para. 37, operative part 1)

2. Article 9 of Directive 95/46 on the protection 
of individuals with regard to the processing 
of personal data and on the free movement 
of such data, which governs the relationship 
between the protection of such data and 
freedom of expression, is to be interpreted as 
meaning that an activity in which data on the 
earned and unearned income and the assets of 
natural persons are: 

• collected from documents in the public 
domain held by the tax authorities and pro-
cessed for publication,

• published alphabetically in printed form 
by income bracket and municipality in the 
form of comprehensive lists,

• transferred onward on CD-ROM to be used 
for commercial purposes, and,

• processed for the purposes of a text-mes-
saging service whereby mobile telephone 
users can, by sending a text message con-
taining details of an individual’s name and 
municipality of residence to a given num-
ber, receive in reply information concern-
ing the earned and unearned income and 
assets of that person, 

must be considered as activities involving the 
processing of personal data carried out’solely 
for journalistic purposes’, within the meaning 
of that provision, if the sole object of those ac-
tivities is the disclosure to the public, irrespec-
tive of the medium which is used to transmit 
them, of information, opinions or ideas. Wheth-
er that is the case is a matter for the national 
court to determine. 

Case C-73/07 Tietosuojavaltuutettu v Satakunnan Markkinapörssi Oy and Satamedia Oy
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In any event, those activities are not limited to 
media undertakings and may be undertaken 
for profit-making purposes.

(see paras 61-62, operative part 2)

3. The scope of application of Directive 95/46 
on the protection of individuals with regard 
to the processing of personal data and on the 
free movement of such data extends to the 
processing of personal data which consists in 
transferring onward on CD-ROM, in order for 
them to be used for commercial purposes, data 
on the earned and unearned income and the 
assets of natural persons which has been col-
lected from documents in the public domain 
held by the tax authorities and processed for 
publication and which has already been pub-
lished in the media. The scope of application of 
the directive also extends to the processing of 
such data for the purposes of a text-messaging 
service whereby mobile telephone users can, 
by sending a text message containing details 
of an individual’s name and municipality of res-
idence to a given number, receive those data. 

(see para. 49, operative part 3)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (GRAND 
CHAMBER)

16 December 200821

(Directive 95/46/EC – Scope – Processing and flow 
of tax data of a personal nature – Protection of nat-
ural persons – Freedom of expression)

In Case C73/07,

REFERENCE for a preliminary ruling under Article 
234 EC from the Korkein hallinto-oikeus (Finland), 
made by decision of 8 February 2007, received at 
the Court on 12 February 2007, in the proceedings 

Tietosuojavaltuutettu v Satakunnan Markkinapörssi 
Oy, Satamedia Oy,

THE COURT (Grand Chamber),

composed of V. Skouris, President, P. Jann, C.W.A. 
Timmermans, A. Rosas, K. Lenaerts and A. ó Cao-
imh, Presidents of Chambers, P. Kūris, E. Juhász, 
G. Arestis, A. Borg Barthet, J. Klučka, U. Lõhmus and 
E. Levits (Rapporteur), Judges,  Advocate General: J. 
Kokott, Registrar: C. Strömholm, Administrator,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 12 February 2008, after consider-

21 Language of the case: Finnish.

ing the observations submitted on behalf of:

• Satakunnan Markkinapörssi Oy and Satame-
dia Oy, by P. Vainio, asianajaja,

• the Finnish Government, by J. Heliskoski, 
acting as Agent,

• the Estonian Government, by L. Uibo, acting 
as Agent,

• the Portuguese Government, by L.I. Fer-
nandes and C. Vieira Guerra, acting as 
Agents,

• the Swedish Government, by A. Falk and K. 
Petkovska, acting as Agents,

• the Commission of the European Commu-
nities, by C. Docksey and P. Aalto, acting as 
Agents,

after hearing the Advocate General at the sitting on 
8 May 2008, gives the following Judgment

1. This reference for a preliminary ruling relates to 
the interpretation of Directive 95/46/EC of the 
European Parliament and of the Council of 24 
October 1995 on the protection of individuals 
with regard to the processing of personal data 
and on the free movement of such data (OJ 
1995 L 281, p. 31) (‘the directive’). 

2. The reference was made in proceedings be-
tween the Tietosuojavaltuutettu (Data Protec-
tion Ombudsman) and the Tietosuojalautakun-
ta (Data Protection Board) relating to activities 
involving the processing of personal data 
undertaken by Satakunnan Markkinapörssi Oy 
(‘Markkinapörssi’) and Satamedia Oy (‘Satame-
dia’). 

Legal context

Communitylegislation
3. As is apparent from Article 1(1) of the direc-

tive, its objective is to protect the fundamental 
rights and freedoms of natural persons, and, in 
particular, their right to privacy with respect to 
the processing of personal data. 

4. Article 1(2) of the directive states: 
‘MemberStatesshallneither restrictnorpro-
hibit the free flowofpersonaldatabetween
Member States for reasons connected with
theprotectionaffordedunderparagraph1.’

5. Article 2 of the directive, entitled’Definitions’, 
provides: 
‘ForthepurposesofthisDirective:
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(a)“personaldata”shallmeananyinformation
relatingtoanidentifiedoridentifiablenatural
person(“datasubject”);anidentifiableperson
isonewhocanbeidentified,directlyor indi-
rectly, in particular by reference to an iden-
tification number or to one or more factors
specifictohisphysical,physiological,mental,
economic,culturalorsocialidentity;

(b) “processing of personal data” (“process-
ing”) shallmean any operation or set of op-
erations which is performed upon personal
data, whether or not by automatic means,
such as collection, recording, organisation,
storage, adaptation or alteration, retrieval,
consultation,use,disclosureby transmission,
disseminationorotherwisemakingavailable,
alignment or combination, blocking, erasure
ordestruction;

(c)

“personaldatafilingsystem”(“filingsystem”)
shallmeananystructuredsetofpersonaldata
which are accessible according to specific
criteria, whether centralised, decentralised
ordispersedona functionalorgeographical
basis;

…’

6. Article 3 of the directive defines its scope of ap-
plication in the following manner: 
‘1.ThisDirectiveshallapplytotheprocessing
ofpersonaldatawhollyorpartlybyautomatic
means,andtotheprocessingotherwisethan
by automaticmeans of personal datawhich
formpartofafilingsystemorareintendedto
formpartofafilingsystem.

2.ThisDirectiveshallnotapplytotheprocess-
ingofpersonaldata:

– in thecourseofanactivitywhich fallsout-
side the scope of Community law, such as
those provided for by Titles V and VI of the
TreatyonEuropeanUnionandinanycaseto
processing operations concerning public se-
curity, defence, State security (including the
economic well-being of the State when the
processingoperationrelatestoStatesecurity
matters)andtheactivitiesoftheStateinareas
ofcriminallaw,

–byanaturalpersoninthecourseofapurely
personalorhouseholdactivity.’

7. The relationship between the protection 
of personal data and freedom of expres-
sion is governed by Article 9 of the directive, 
entitled’Processing of personal data and free-
dom of expression’, in the following terms: 

‘MemberStates shallprovide forexemptions
or derogations from the provisions of this
Chapter,ChapterIVandChapterVIforthepro-
cessingofpersonaldatacarriedoutsolelyfor
journalisticpurposesorthepurposeofartistic
orliteraryexpressiononlyiftheyarenecessary
toreconciletherighttoprivacywiththerules
governingfreedomofexpression.’

8. In that connection, recital 37 in the preamble 
to the directive is worded as follows: 
‘Whereas theprocessingofpersonaldata for
purposesof journalismor forpurposesof lit-
eraryorartisticexpression,inparticularinthe
audiovisualfield,shouldqualifyforexemption
fromtherequirementsofcertainprovisionsof
thisDirective in so far as this is necessary to
reconcile the fundamental rightsof individu-
alswith freedomof [expression]andnotably
the right to receive and impart information,
asguaranteedinparticularinArticle10ofthe
European Convention for the Protection of
Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms;
whereasMemberStates should therefore lay
downexemptionsandderogationsnecessary
for the purpose of balance between funda-
mentalrightsasregardsgeneralmeasureson
thelegitimacyofdataprocessing,measureson
thetransferofdatatothirdcountriesandthe
power of the supervisory authority; whereas
thisshouldnot,however,leadMemberStates
tolaydownexemptionsfromthemeasuresto
ensuresecurityofprocessing;whereasatleast
the supervisoryauthority responsible for this
sectorshouldalsobeprovidedwithcertainex-
postpowers,e.g.topublisharegularreportor
torefermatterstothejudicialauthorities.’

9. Article 13 of the directive, entitled’Exemptions 
and restrictions’, states: 
‘1.MemberStatesmayadoptlegislativemeas-
ures to restrict the scope of the obligations
and rights provided for in Articles 6(1), 10,
11(1),12and21whensucharestrictioncon-
stitutesanecessarymeasuretosafeguard:

(a)nationalsecurity;

…’

10. Article 17 of the directive, entitled’Security of 
processing’, provides: 
‘1.MemberStatesshallprovidethatthecon-
troller must implement appropriate techni-
cal and organisational measures to protect
personal data against accidental or unlawful
destruction or accidental loss, alteration, un-
authorised disclosure or access, in particular
where the processing involves the transmis-
sion of data over a network, and against all
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otherunlawfulformsofprocessing.

Havingregardtothestateoftheartandthe
cost of their implementation, suchmeasures
shallensurea levelofsecurityappropriateto
the risks represented by the processing and
thenatureofthedatatobeprotected.

2. TheMember States shall provide that the
controller must, where processing is carried
outonhisbehalf,chooseaprocessorprovid-
ing sufficient guarantees in respect of the
technicalsecuritymeasuresandorganisation-
almeasures governing the processing to be
carriedout,andmustensurecompliancewith
thosemeasures.

…’

Nationallegislation
11. Paragraph 10(1) of the Constitution (Perus-

tuslaki (731/1999)) of 11 June 1999 states: 
‘The right to privacy, honour and the invio-
labilityof thehomeof everyperson shall be
guaranteed.Moredetailedprovisionson the
protectionofpersonaldatashallbelaiddown
bylaw.’

12. Paragraph 12 of the Constitution provides: 
‘Everyone shall have the right to freedomof
expression.Freedomofexpressionentailsthe
right to express oneself and to disseminate
and receive information, opinions and other
communications without prior hindrance.
Moredetailedprovisionsrelatingtotheexer-
ciseoftherighttofreedomofexpressionshall
belaiddownbylaw.…’

Documents andother records in theposses-
sion of the authorities shall be in the public
domain, unless specifically restricted by law
for compelling reasons. Every person shall
havetherightofaccesstopublicdocuments
andrecords.’

13. The Law on personal data (Henkilötietolaki 
(523/1999)) of 22 April 1999, which transposed 
the directive into national law, applies to the 
processing of those data (Paragraph 2(1)), apart 
from personal data files which contain solely, 
and in unaltered form, material that has been 
published in the media (Paragraph 2(4)). It ap-
plies only in part to the processing of personal 
data for journalistic purposes and for the pur-
pose of artistic or literary expression (Paragraph 
2(5)). 

14. Paragraph 32 of the Law on personal data pro-
vides that the controller is to take all technical 
and organisational measures necessary in or-

der to protect personal data against unauthor-
ised access to those data, and their accidental 
or unlawful destruction, alteration, disclosure 
or transfer, together with any other unlawful 
processing of those data. 

15. The Law on public access in relation to of-
ficial activities (Laki viranomaisten toiminnan 
julkisuudesta (621/1999)) of 21 May 1999 also 
governs access to information. 

16. Paragraph 1(1) of the Law on public access in 
relation to official activities states that the gen-
eral principle is that documents covered by 
that law are to be in the public domain. 

17. Paragraph 9 of that law provides that every 
person is to have the right of access to a public 
document held by the public authorities. 

18. Paragraph 16(1) of that law lays down the de-
tailed rules governing access to a document of 
that kind. It provides that the public authorities 
are to explain the contents of the document 
orally, make the document available in their 
offices where it may be studied, copied or lis-
tened to, or issue a copy or a print-out of the 
document concerned. 

19. Paragraph 16(3) of that law specifies the cir-
cumstances in which data in files containing 
personal data kept by the public authorities 
may be disclosed: 
‘A file containing personal data may be dis-
closedintheformofaprint-out,orthosedata
may be disclosed in electronic form, unless
providedotherwiseby law, if the recipient is
authorisedtostoreandusesuchdatabyvir-
tueoftheprovisionsgoverningtheprotection
ofpersonaldata.However,accesstopersonal
data for the purposes of direct marketing,
market surveys or market research shall not
be permitted unless specifically provided for
bylaworifthedatasubjecthasgivenhiscon-
sent.’

20. The national court states that the provisions of 
the Law on the public disclosure and confiden-
tiality of tax information (Laki verotustietojen 
julkisuudesta ja salassapidosta (1346/1999)) of 
30 December 1999 are to prevail over those of 
the Law on personal data and the Law on pub-
lic access in relation to official activities. 

21. Paragraph 2 of the Law on the public disclosure 
and confidentiality of tax information provides 
that the provisions of the Law on public access 
in relation to official activities and the Law on 
personal data are to apply to documents and 
information relating to tax matters, save as may 
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be otherwise provided in a legislative measure. 

22. Paragraph 3 of the Law on the public disclosure 
and confidentiality of tax information states: 
‘Informationrelatingtotaxmattersshallbein
thepublicdomaininaccordancewiththede-
tailedruleslaiddowninthislaw.

Every person shall have the right to obtain
access toadocumentrelatingtotaxmatters
which is in the public domain and held by
the tax authorities, in accordance with the
detailedruleslaiddownintheLawonpublic
access in relation toofficialactivities, subject
totheexceptionslaiddowninthislaw.’

23. Paragraph 5(1) of the Law on the public dis-
closure and confidentiality of tax information 
provides that details of the taxpayer’s name, his 
date of birth and his municipality of residence, 
as set out in his annual tax return, are to be in 
the public domain. The following information 
is also in the public domain: 
‘1.Earnedincomeforthepurposesofnational
taxation;

2.Unearned income and income fromprop-
ertyforthepurposesofnationaltaxation;

3.Earnedincomeforthepurposesofmunici-
paltaxation;

4. Taxes on income and property, munici-
pal taxes and the total amount of taxes and
chargeslevied.

…’

24. Lastly, Paragraph 8 of Chapter 24 of the Crimi-
nal Code (Rikoslaki), in the version brought into 
force by Law 531/2000, imposes penalties in 
respect of the disclosure of information which 
infringes an individual’s right to privacy. Under 
those provisions, it is an offence to dissemi-
nate, through the media or otherwise, any in-
formation, innuendo or images relating to the 
private life of another person where to do so 
would be liable to cause harm or suffering to 
the person concerned or to bring that person 
into disrepute. 

The dispute in the main proceedings 
and the questions referred 
25. For several years, Markkinapörssi has collected 

public data from the Finnish tax authorities for 
the purposes of publishing extracts from those 
data in the regional editions of the Veropörssi 
newspaper each year. 

26. The information contained in those publica-
tions comprises the surname and given name 
of approximately 1.2 million natural persons 
whose income exceeds certain thresholds as 
well as the amount, to the nearest EUR 100, of 
their earned and unearned income and details 
relating to wealth tax levied on them. That in-
formation is set out in the form of an alphabeti-
cal list and organised according to municipality 
and income bracket. 

27. According to the order for reference, the 
Veropörssi newspaper carries a statement that 
the personal data disclosed may be removed 
on request and without charge. 

28. While that newspaper also contains articles, 
summaries and advertisements, its main pur-
pose is to publish personal tax information. 

29. Markkinapörssi transferred personal data pub-
lished in the Veropörssi newspaper, in the 
form of CD-ROM discs, to Satamedia, which is 
owned by the same shareholders, with a view 
to those data being disseminated by a text-
messaging system. In that connection, those 
companies signed an agreement with a mo-
bile telephony company which put in place, on 
Satamedia’s behalf, a text-messaging service 
allowing mobile telephone users to receive 
information published in the Veropörssi news-
paper on their telephone, for a charge of ap-
proximately EUR 2. Personal data are removed 
from that service on request. 

30. The Tietosuojavaltuutettu and the Tietosuo-
jalautakunta, who are the Finnish authorities 
responsible for data protection, supervise the 
processing of personal data and have the regu-
latory powers laid down in the Law on personal 
data. 

31. Following complaints from individuals al-
leging infringement of their right to privacy, 
on 10 March 2004, the Tietosuojavaltuutettu 
responsible for investigating the activities of 
Markkinapörssi and Satamedia requested the 
Tietosuojalautakunta to prohibit the latter 
from carrying on the personal data processing 
activities at issue. 

32. That request having been rejected by the Ti-
etosuojalautakunta, the Tietosuojavaltuutettu 
brought proceedings before the Helsingin 
hallinto-oikeus (Administrative Court, Hel-
sinki), which also rejected his application. The 
Tietosuojavaltuutettu then brought an appeal 
before the Korkein hallinto-oikeus (Supreme 
Administrative Court). 
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33. The national court emphasises that the appeal 
brought by the Tietosuojavaltuutettu does 
not concern the transfer of information by the 
Finnish authorities. It also states that the public 
nature of the tax data in question is not at issue. 
On the other hand, it has concerns as regards 
the subsequent processing of those data. 

34. In those circumstances, it decided to stay the 
proceedings and to refer the following ques-
tions to the Court for a preliminary ruling: 
‘(1) Can an activity inwhich data relating to
theearnedandunearned incomeandassets
ofnaturalpersonsare:

(a) collected from documents in the public
domain held by the tax authorities and pro-
cessedforpublication,

(b)publishedalphabeticallyinprintedformby
incomebracketandmunicipality in the form
ofcomprehensivelists,

(c)transferredonwardonCD-ROMtobeused
forcommercialpurposes,and

(d)processedforthepurposesofatext-mes-
sagingservicewherebymobiletelephoneus-
erscan,bysendingatextmessagecontaining
detailsofanindividual’snameandmunicipal-
ityofresidencetoagivennumber,receivein
replyinformationconcerningtheearnedand
unearnedincomeandassetsofthatperson,

be regarded as the processing of personal
datawithinthemeaningofArticle3(1)of[the
directive]?

(2)Is[thedirective]tobeinterpretedasmean-
ingthatthevariousactivitieslistedinQuestion
1(a)to(d)canberegardedastheprocessing
ofpersonaldatacarriedoutsolelyforjournal-
isticpurposeswithinthemeaningofArticle9
ofthedirective,havingregardtothefactthat
dataonoveronemilliontaxpayershavebeen
collected from information which is in the
public domain under national legislation on
therightofpublicaccesstoinformation?Does
the fact thatpublicationof thosedata is the
principalaimoftheoperationhaveanybear-
ingontheassessmentinthiscase?

(3) IsArticle 17of [thedirective] tobe inter-
pretedinconjunctionwiththeprinciplesand
purpose of the directive as precluding the
publication of data collected for journalistic
purposesanditsonwardtransferforcommer-
cialpurposes?

(4)Is[thedirective]tobeinterpretedasmean-
ingthatpersonaldata filescontaining,solely
and in unaltered form, material that has al-

ready been published in themedia fall alto-
getheroutsideitsscope?’

The questions referred

Thefirstquestion
35. It must be held that the data to which this 

question relates, which comprise the surname 
and given name of certain natural persons 
whose income exceeds certain thresholds 
as well as the amount, to the nearest EUR 
100, of their earned and unearned income, 
constitute personal data within the mean-
ing of Article 2(a) of the directive, since they 
constitute’information relating to an identified 
or identifiable natural person’ (see also Joined 
Cases C465/00, C138/01 and C139/01 Öster-
reichischer Rundfunk and Others [2003] ECR 
I-4989, paragraph 64). 

36. It is sufficient to hold, next, that it is clear 
from the wording itself of the definition set 
out in Article 2(b) of the directive that the ac-
tivity to which the question relates involves 
the’processing of personal data’ within the 
meaning of that provision. 

37. Consequently, the answer to the first question 
must be that Article 3(1) of the directive is to 
be interpreted as meaning that an activity in 
which data on the earned and unearned in-
come and the assets of natural persons are: 

• collected from documents in the public 
domain held by the tax authorities and pro-
cessed for publication,

• published alphabetically in printed form 
by income bracket and municipality in the 
form of comprehensive lists,

• transferred onward on CD-ROM to be used 
for commercial purposes, and

• processed for the purposes of a text-mes-
saging service whereby mobile telephone 
users can, by sending a text message con-
taining details of an individual’s name and 
municipality of residence to a given num-
ber, receive in reply information concern-
ing the earned and unearned income and 
assets of that person, 

must be considered as the’processing of per-
sonal data’ within the meaning of that provi-
sion. 
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Thefourthquestion
38. By its fourth question, which should be exam-

ined next, the national court asks, in essence, 
whether activities involving the processing 
of personal data such as those referred to at 
points (c) and (d) of the first question and relat-
ing to personal data files which contain solely, 
and in unaltered form, material that has already 
been published in the media, fall within the 
scope of application of the directive. 

39. By virtue of Article 3(2) of the directive, the 
directive does not apply to the processing of 
personal data in two situations. 

40. The first situation involves the processing of 
personal data undertaken in the course of an 
activity which falls outside the scope of Com-
munity law, such as those provided for by Titles 
V and VI of the Treaty on European Union and, 
in any case, to processing operations concern-
ing public security, defence, State security (in-
cluding the economic well-being of the State 
when the processing operation relates to State 
security matters) and the activities of the State 
in areas of criminal law. 

41. Those activities, which are mentioned by way 
of example in the first indent of Article 3(2) are, 
in any event, activities of the State or of State 
authorities unrelated to the fields of activity 
of individuals. They are intended to define the 
scope of the exception provided for there, with 
the result that that exception applies only to 
the activities which are expressly listed there or 
which can be classified in the same category 
(ejusdem generis) (see Case C-101/01 Lindqvist 
[2003] ECR I-12971, paragraphs 43 and 44). 

42. Activities involving the processing of personal 
data of the kind referred to at points (c) and (d) 
of the first question concern the activities of 
private companies. Those activities do not fall 
in any way within a framework established by 
the public authorities that relates to public se-
curity. Consequently, such activities cannot be 
assimilated to those covered by Article 3(2) of 
the directive (see, to that effect, Joined Cases 
C-317/04 and C-318/04 Parliament v Council 
[2006] ECR I4721, paragraph 58). 

43. As regards the second situation, which is cov-
ered by the second indent of that provision, 
recital 12 in the preamble to the directive – re-
lating to that exception – mentions as exam-
ples of data processing carried out by a natural 
person in the course of a purely personal or 
household activity, correspondence and the 

holding of records of addresses. 

44. It follows that the latter exception must be 
interpreted as relating only to activities which 
are carried out in the course of private or family 
life of individuals (see Lindqvist, paragraph 47). 
That clearly does not apply to the activities of 
Markkinapörssi and Satamedia, the purpose of 
which is to make the data collected accessible 
to an unrestricted number of people. 

45. It must therefore be held that activities involv-
ing the processing of personal data of the kind 
referred to at points (c) and (d) of the first ques-
tion are not covered by any of the situations 
referred to in Article 3(2) of the directive. 

46. Moreover, it should be pointed out that the 
directive does not lay down any further limita-
tion of its scope of application. 

47. In that regard, the Advocate General observes 
at point 125 of her Opinion that Article 13 of 
the directive permits derogations from its pro-
visions only in certain cases, which do not ex-
tend to the provisions of Article 3. 

48. Lastly, it must be held that a general derogation 
from the application of the directive in respect 
of published information would largely deprive 
the directive of its effect. It would be sufficient 
for the Member States to publish data in order 
for those data to cease to enjoy the protection 
afforded by the directive. 

49. The answer to the fourth question should 
therefore be that activities involving the pro-
cessing of personal data such as those referred 
to at points (c) and (d) of the first question and 
relating to personal data files which contain 
solely, and in unaltered form, material that has 
already been published in the media, fall within 
the scope of application of the directive. 

Thesecondquestion
50. By its second question, the national court asks, 

in essence, whether Article 9 of the directive 
should be interpreted as meaning that the 
activities referred to at points (a) to (d) of the 
first question, relating to data from documents 
which are in the public domain under national 
legislation, must be considered as activities 
involving the processing of personal data car-
ried out solely for journalistic purposes. The 
national court states that it seeks clarification 
as to whether the fact that the principal aim of 
those activities is the publication of the data 
in question is relevant to the determination of 
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that issue. 

51. It must be observed, as a preliminary point, 
that, according to settled case-law, the provi-
sions of a directive must be interpreted in the 
light of the aims pursued by the directive and 
the system it establishes (see, to that effect, 
Case C-265/07 Caffaro [2008] ECR I-0000, para-
graph 14). 

52. In that regard, it is not in dispute that, as is ap-
parent from Article 1 of the directive, its objec-
tive is that the Member States should, while 
permitting the free flow of personal data, pro-
tect the fundamental rights and freedoms of 
natural persons and, in particular, their right to 
privacy, with respect to the processing of per-
sonal data. 

53. That objective cannot, however, be pursued 
without having regard to the fact that those 
fundamental rights must, to some degree, be 
reconciled with the fundamental right to free-
dom of expression. 

54. Article 9 of the directive refers to such a rec-
onciliation. As is apparent, in particular, from 
recital 37 in the preamble to the directive, the 
object of Article 9 is to reconcile two funda-
mental rights: the protection of privacy and 
freedom of expression. The obligation to do so 
lies on the Member States. 

55. In order to reconcile those two’fundamental 
rights’ for the purposes of the directive, the 
Member States are required to provide for a 
number of derogations or limitations in rela-
tion to the protection of data and, therefore, 
in relation to the fundamental right to privacy, 
specified in Chapters II, IV and VI of the direc-
tive. Those derogations must be made solely 
for journalistic purposes or the purpose of ar-
tistic or literary expression, which fall within the 
scope of the fundamental right to freedom of 
expression, in so far as it is apparent that they 
are necessary in order to reconcile the right to 
privacy with the rules governing freedom of 
expression. 

56. In order to take account of the importance of 
the right to freedom of expression in every 
democratic society, it is necessary, first, to inter-
pret notions relating to that freedom, such as 
journalism, broadly. Secondly, and in order to 
achieve a balance between the two fundamen-
tal rights, the protection of the fundamental 
right to privacy requires that the derogations 
and limitations in relation to the protection of 
data provided for in the chapters of the direc-

tive referred to above must apply only in so far 
as is strictly necessary. 

57. In that context, the following points are rel-
evant. 

58. First, as the Advocate General pointed out at 
point 65 of her Opinion and as is apparent 
from the legislative history of the directive, 
the exemptions and derogations provided for 
in Article 9 of the directive apply not only to 
media undertakings but also to every person 
engaged in journalism. 

59. Secondly, the fact that the publication of data 
within the public domain is done for profit-
making purposes does not, prima facie, pre-
clude such publication being considered as 
an activity undertaken’solely for journalistic 
purposes’. As Markkinapörssi and Satamedia 
state in their observations and as the Advocate 
General noted at point 82 of her Opinion, every 
undertaking will seek to generate a profit from 
its activities. A degree of commercial success 
may even be essential to professional journal-
istic activity. 

60. Thirdly, account must be taken of the evolution 
and proliferation of methods of communica-
tion and the dissemination of information. As 
was mentioned by the Swedish Government in 
particular, the medium which is used to trans-
mit the processed data, whether it be classic in 
nature, such as paper or radio waves, or elec-
tronic, such as the internet, is not determinative 
as to whether an activity is undertaken’solely 
for journalistic purposes’. 

61. It follows from all of the above that activities 
such as those involved in the main proceed-
ings, relating to data from documents which 
are in the public domain under national legisla-
tion, may be classified as’journalistic activities’ 
if their object is the disclosure to the public of 
information, opinions or ideas, irrespective of 
the medium which is used to transmit them. 
They are not limited to media undertakings 
and may be undertaken for profit-making pur-
poses. 

62. The answer to the second question should 
therefore be that Article 9 of the directive is 
to be interpreted as meaning that the activi-
ties referred to at points (a) to (d) of the first 
question, relating to data from documents 
which are in the public domain under national 
legislation, must be considered as activities in-
volving the processing of personal data carried 
out’solely for journalistic purposes’, within the 
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meaning of that provision, if the sole object of 
those activities is the disclosure to the public 
of information, opinions or ideas. Whether that 
is the case is a matter for the national court to 
determine. 

The third question

63. By its third question, the national court asks, 
in essence, whether Article 17 of the direc-
tive should be interpreted as meaning that it 
precludes the publication of data which have 
been collected for journalistic purposes and 
their onward transfer for commercial purposes. 

64. Having regard to the answer given to the sec-
ond question, there is no need to reply to this 
question. 

Costs
65. Since these proceedings are, for the parties 

to the main proceedings, a step in the action 
pending before the national court, the deci-
sion on costs is a matter for that court. Costs in-
curred in submitting observations to the Court, 
other than the costs of those parties, are not 
recoverable. 

On those grounds, the Court (Grand Chamber) 
hereby rules:

1. Article 3(1) of Directive 95/46/EC of the Eu-
ropean Parliament and of the Council of 24 
October 1995 on the protection of individu-
als with regard to the processing of personal 
data and on the free movement of such data 
is to be interpreted as meaning that an activ-
ity in which data on the earned and unearned 
income and the assets of natural persons are:

• collected from documents in the public 
domain held by the tax authorities and 
processed for publication,

• published alphabetically in printed form 
by income bracket and municipality in the 
form of comprehensive lists,

• transferred onward on CD-ROM to be used 
for commercial purposes, and 

• processed for the purposes of a text-mes-
saging service whereby mobile telephone 
users can, by sending a text message con-
taining details of an individual’s name and 
municipality of residence to a given num-
ber, receive in reply information concern-
ing the earned and unearned income and 
assets of that person, 

• must be considered as the’processing of 
personal data’ within the meaning of that 
provision.

2. Article 9 of Directive 95/46 is to be interpreted 
as meaning that the activities referred to at 
points (a) to (d) of the first question, relating 
to data from documents which are in the pub-
lic domain under national legislation, must be 
considered as activities involving the process-
ing of personal data carried out’solely for jour-
nalistic purposes’, within the meaning of that 
provision, if the sole object of those activities 
is the disclosure to the public of information, 
opinions or ideas. Whether that is the case is 
a matter for the national court to determine. 

3. Activities involving the processing of personal 
data such as those referred to at points (c) 
and (d) of the first question and relating to 
personal data files which contain solely, and 
in unaltered form, material that has already 
been published in the media, fall within the 
scope of application of Directive 95/46. 

[Signatures]
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FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION,  FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS,  
LIMITATIONS TO FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION

CAsE C-421/07 CRIMInAL 
PRoCEEDInGs AGAInst 
FREDE DAMGAARD
(Reference for a preliminary ruling from the Vestre 
Landsret)

(Medicinal products for human use – Directive 
2001/83/EC – Concept of’advertising’ – Dissemina-
tion of information about a medicinal product by a 
third party acting on his own initiative)

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

Approximation of laws – Medicinal products for hu-
man use – Directive 2001/83 – Advertising

(European Parliament and Council Directive 
2001/83, as amended by Directive 2004/27, Art. 86)

Article 86 of Directive 2001/83 on the Community 
code relating to medicinal products for human use, 
as amended by Directive 2004/27, is to be inter-
preted as meaning that dissemination by a third 
party of information about a medicinal product, 
including its therapeutic or prophylactic properties, 
may be regarded as advertising within the mean-
ing of that article, even though the third party in 
question is acting on his own initiative and com-
pletely independently, de jure and de facto, of the 
manufacturer and the seller of such a medicinal 
product. It is for the national court to determine 
whether that dissemination constitutes a form of 
door-to-door information, canvassing activity or 
inducement designed to promote the prescription, 
supply, sale or consumption of medicinal products. 

(see para. 29, operative part)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (SECOND 
CHAMBER)

2 April 200922

(Medicinal products for human use – Directive 
2001/83/EC – Concept of’advertising’ – Dissemina-

22 Language of the case: Danish.

tion of information about a medicinal product by a 
third party acting on his own initiative)

REFERENCE for a preliminary ruling under Article 
234 EC from the Vestre Landsret (Denmark), made 
by decision of 6 August 2007, received at the Court 
on 13 September 2007, in the criminal proceedings 
against Frede Damgaard,

THE COURT (Second Chamber), composed of 
C.W.A. Timmermans, President of the Chamber, J.C. 
Bonichot, K. Schiemann (Rapporteur), J. Makarczyk 
and C. Toader, Judges,  Advocate General: D. Ruiz-
Jarabo Colomer, Registrar: C. Strömholm, Adminis-
trator,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 9 October 2008, after considering 
the observations submitted on behalf of:

• Mr Damgaard, by S. Stærk Ekstrand, advokat,
• the Danish Government, by B. Weis Fogh, 

acting as Agent,
• the Belgian Government, by J.C. Halleux, act-

ing as Agent,
• the Czech Government, by M. Smolek, act-

ing as Agent, 
• the Greek Government, by N. Dafniou, S. 

Alexandriou and K. Georgiadis, acting as 
Agents,

• the Polish Government, by T. Krawczyk, P. 
Dąbrowski and M. Dowgielewicz, acting as 
Agents,

• the United Kingdom Government, by Z. Bry-
anston-Cross, acting as Agent, and J. Strat-
ford and J. Coppel, Barristers,

• the Commission of the European Communi-
ties, by H. Støvlbæk and M. Šimerdová, act-
ing as Agents,

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 18 November 2008, gives the fol-
lowing Judgment

1. This reference for a preliminary ruling concerns 
the interpretation of Article 86 of Directive 
2001/83/EC of the European Parliament and of 
the Council of 6 November 2001 on the Com-
munity code relating to medicinal products for 
human use (OJ 2001 L 311, p. 67), as amended 
by Directive 2004/27/EC of the European Par-
liament and of the Council of 31 March 2004 
(OJ 2004 L 136, p. 34). 

2. The reference was made in the context of crim-
inal proceedings brought by the Anklagemyn-
digheden (Public Prosecutor) against Mr Dam-
gaard, a journalist, who has been charged with 

Case C-421/07 Criminal proceedings against Frede Damgaard
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having publicly disseminated information 
about the properties and availability of a me-
dicinal product the marketing of which is not 
authorised in Denmark. 

Legal context

Directive2001/83
3. Recitals 2 and 3 in the preamble to Directive 

2001/83 state the following: 
‘(2) The essential aimof any rules governing
the production, distribution and use of me-
dicinalproductsmustbetosafeguardpublic
health.

(3)However, this objectivemustbe attained
bymeanswhichwillnothinderthedevelop-
mentofthepharmaceuticalindustryortrade
inmedicinalproductswithintheCommunity.’

4. According to recital 40 in the preamble to the 
same directive: 
‘The provisions governing the information
supplied to users should provide a high de-
greeofconsumerprotection,inorderthatme-
dicinalproductsmaybeusedcorrectlyonthe
basisoffullandcomprehensibleinformation.’

5. Recital 45 in the preamble to that directive is 
worded as follows: 
‘Advertising to the general public, even of
non-prescription medicinal products, could
affect public health, were it to be excessive
and ill-considered. Advertising of medicinal
products to the general public, where it is
permitted, ought therefore to satisfy certain
essentialcriteriawhichoughttobedefined.’

6. Title III of Directive 2001/83, as amended by 
Directive 2004/27 (‘Directive 2001/83’), con-
cerns the placing of medicinal products on the 
market, whilst Title IV thereof lays down rules 
governing their manufacture and importa-
tion. Title VII of that directive lays down rules 
governing wholesale distribution of medicinal 
products. 

7. Article 86 of Directive 2001/83, the first article 
under Title VIII thereof, entitled’Advertising’, 
provides: 

‘1.ForthepurposesofthisTitle,“advertisingof
medicinalproducts”shallincludeanyformof
door-to-door information,canvassingactivity
orinducementdesignedtopromotethepre-
scription,supply,saleorconsumptionofme-
dicinalproducts;itshallincludeinparticular:

–theadvertisingofmedicinalproductstothe
generalpublic,

–advertisingofmedicinalproductstopersons
qualifiedtoprescribeorsupplythem,

– visits by medical sales representatives to
personsqualifiedtoprescribe[orsupply]me-
dicinalproducts,

–thesupplyofsamples,

–theprovisionofinducementstoprescribeor
supplymedicinalproductsbythegift,offeror
promiseof anybenefit orbonus,whether in
moneyor inkind,exceptwhentheir intrinsic
valueisminimal,

– sponsorship of promotional meetings at-
tended by persons qualified to prescribe or
supplymedicinalproducts,

–sponsorshipofscientificcongressesattend-
edbypersonsqualifiedtoprescribeorsupply
medicinalproductsandinparticularpayment
of their travelling and accommodation ex-
pensesinconnectiontherewith.

2.ThefollowingarenotcoveredbythisTitle:

– the labelling and the accompanying pack-
age leaflets, which are subject to the provi-
sionsofTitleV,

– correspondence, possibly accompanied by
materialofanon-promotionalnature,needed
toansweraspecificquestionaboutaparticu-
larmedicinalproduct,

–factual,informativeannouncementsandref-
erencematerialrelating,forexample,topack
changes,adverse-reactionwarningsaspartof
general drug precautions, trade catalogues
andpricelists,providedtheyincludenoprod-
uctclaims,

– information relating to human health or
diseases,providedthat there isnoreference,
evenindirect,tomedicinalproducts.’

8. Article 87 of the same directive provides: 
‘1.MemberStatesshallprohibitanyadvertis-
ingofamedicinalproductinrespectofwhich
amarketingauthorisationhasnotbeengrant-
edinaccordancewithCommunitylaw.

2. All parts of the advertising of amedicinal
productmustcomplywiththeparticularslist-
edinthesummaryofproductcharacteristics.

3.Theadvertisingofamedicinalproduct:

–shallencouragetherationaluseoftheme-
dicinal product, by presenting it objectively
andwithoutexaggeratingitsproperties,
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–shallnotbemisleading.’

Nationallegislation
9. Paragraph 27b of the Danish Law on medicinal 

products (Lægemiddellov, Consolidating Law 
No 656/1995) provides: 
‘Advertisingofmedicinalproductswhichmay
not lawfullybemarketedorsuppliedinDen-
markshallbeprohibited.’

The dispute in the main proceedings 
and the question referred for a 
preliminary ruling
10. Hyben Total in powder and capsule form, after 

having been classified as a medicinal product 
by the Lægemiddelstyrelsen (Danish agency 
for medicinal products), was previously mar-
keted in Denmark by its manufacturer, Natur-
Drogeriet A/S (‘Natur-Drogeriet’), as a product 
relieving or treating gout, gallstones, kidney 
disorders, bladder disorders, sciatica, bladder 
bleeding, diarrhoea, stomach cramps, diabe-
tes and kidney stones. The information mate-
rial on the medicinal product was prepared by 
Mr Damgaard. Sales of that medicinal product 
were halted in 1999, however, when marketing 
authorisation was refused. 

11. In 2003, Mr Damgaard stated on his website 
that Hyben Total contained rosehip powder, 
which is supposed to relieve the pain caused 
by various types of gout or arthrosis, and that 
the medicinal product was on sale in Sweden 
and Norway. By decision of 16 June 2003, the 
Lægemiddelstyrelsen informed Mr Damgaard 
that those statements constituted advertising 
contrary to Paragraph 27b of Law No 656/1995 
on medicinal products and criminal proceed-
ings were commenced against him. 

12. By judgment of 2 December 2005, the Retten 
i Århus (Århus City Court) (Denmark) found Mr 
Damgaard guilty under the aforementioned 
national provision and sentenced him to a fine. 
He appealed against that judgment before 
the Vestre Landsret (Western Regional Court) 
(Denmark), arguing in those proceedings that 
he was not employed by Natur-Drogeriet and 
had no interest in that company or in sales of 
Hyben Total. His activities as a journalist in the 
health food sector were limited to the commu-
nication, to retailers and other interested par-
ties, of information on food supplements. Mr 
Damgaard did not receive any remuneration 
from Natur-Drogeriet for the information he 

disseminated concerning Hyben Total. 

13. The Anklagemyndigheden, who brought the 
proceedings against Mr Damgaard, maintains 
that that dissemination of information was 
aimed at encouraging consumers to buy Hy-
ben Total, irrespective of whether there was 
a link between Mr Damgaard and the manu-
facturer or seller of that medicinal product. Ac-
cordingly, that activity constitutes’advertising’ 
within the meaning of Article 86 of Directive 
2001/83 and must be prohibited, since the 
marketing of that medicinal product, whose 
consumption that activity seeks to promote, is 
prohibited in Denmark. 

14. Mr Damgaard contends that the information 
published on his website did not constitute 
advertising as contemplated in Article 86 of 
Directive 2001/83, as that concept must be 
construed more narrowly, that is, as not cover-
ing door-to-door information effected by an 
independent third party. 

15. It is in those circumstances that the Vestre 
Landsret decided to stay the proceedings and 
to refer the following question to the Court for 
a preliminary ruling: 
‘IsArticle86ofDirective2001/83…tobein-
terpretedasmeaningthatdisseminationbya
third party of information about amedicinal
product, including in particular information
aboutthemedicinalproduct’s therapeuticor
prophylactic properties, is to be understood
as constituting advertising, even though the
third party in question is acting on his own
initiative and completely independently, de
jureanddefacto,ofthemanufacturerandthe
seller?’

The question referred for a preliminary 
ruling
16. Recital 2 in the preamble to Directive 2001/83 

states that the essential aim of any rules gov-
erning the production, distribution and use of 
medicinal products must be to safeguard pub-
lic health. That aim is reiterated in the various 
titles of that directive, including Titles III, IV and 
VII thereof, the provisions of which guarantee 
that no medicinal product is placed on the 
market, manufactured or distributed without 
the necessary authorisations first having been 
obtained. 

17. Similarly, in the area of information and adver-
tising relating to medicinal products, recital 40 
in the preamble to Directive 2001/83 states 
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that the provisions governing the information 
supplied to users should provide a high degree 
of consumer protection, in order that me-
dicinal products may be used correctly on the 
basis of full and comprehensible information. 
Recital 45 in the preamble to the directive fur-
ther states that since advertising to the general 
public of non-prescription medicinal products 
could affect public health, were it to be exces-
sive and ill-considered, it should therefore, 
where it is permitted, satisfy certain essential 
criteria which ought to be defined. 

18. Article 87(1) of Directive 2001/83 prohibits any 
advertising of a medicinal product in respect of 
which a marketing authorisation has not been 
granted in accordance with Community law. 

19. The public dissemination of information about 
a medicinal product which is not authorised in 
a particular Member State may, depending on 
the context in which that dissemination takes 
place, influence consumers’ behaviour and 
encourage them to purchase the medicinal 
product in question, which could affect public 
health. As the case-file referred to the Court 
shows, Mr Damgaard stated on his website 
that Hyben Total was available in Sweden and 
Norway. 

20. Article 86(1) of Directive 2001/83 defines the 
concept of’advertising of medicinal products’ 
as’any form of door-to-door information, can-
vassing activity or inducement designed to 
promote the prescription, supply, sale or con-
sumption of medicinal products’. Whilst that 
definition explicitly emphasises the purpose 
of the message, it does not provide any indi-
cation as to the people who disseminate that 
information. 

21. Thus, the wording of Directive 2001/83 does 
not rule out the possibility that a message orig-
inating from an independent third party may 
constitute advertising. Nor does the directive 
require a message to be disseminated in the 
context of commercial or industrial activity in 
order for it to be held to be advertising. 

22. In that regard, it must be stated that, even 
where it is carried out by an independent third 
party outside any commercial or industrial ac-
tivity, advertising of medicinal products is li-
able to harm public health, the safeguarding of 
which is the essential aim of Directive 2001/83. 

23. It is for the national court to determine wheth-
er Mr Damgaard’s actions constituted a form 
of door-to-door information, canvassing activ-

ity or inducement designed to promote the 
prescription, supply, sale or consumption of 
Hyben Total. 

24. To that end and as the Advocate General ob-
served in point 37 of his Opinion, the situation 
of the author of a communication about a me-
dicinal product and, in particular, his relation-
ship with the company which manufactures 
or distributes it, are a factor which, although it 
may help to determine whether the communi-
cation constitutes advertising, must be evalu-
ated together with other circumstances, such 
as the nature of the activity carried out and the 
content of the message. 

25. Regarding Mr Damgaard’s argument alleging 
infringement of his right to freedom of ex-
pression as a result of his criminal conviction, 
it should be borne in mind that, according to 
settled case-law, fundamental rights form an 
integral part of the general principles of law the 
observance of which the Court ensures. 

26. Whilst the principle of freedom of expression is 
expressly recognised by Article 10 of the Euro-
pean Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, signed in 
Rome on 4 November 1950, and constitutes 
one of the fundamental pillars of a democratic 
society, it nevertheless follows from the word-
ing of Article 10(2) that freedom of expression 
is also subject to certain limitations justified 
by objectives in the public interest, in so far as 
those derogations are in accordance with the 
law, motivated by one or more of the legiti-
mate aims under that provision and necessary 
in a democratic society, that is to say justified 
by a pressing social need and, in particular, pro-
portionate to the legitimate aim pursued (see 
Case C71/02 Karner [2004] ECR I3025, para-
graph 50). 

27. It is common ground that the discretion en-
joyed by the national authorities in determin-
ing the balance to be struck between freedom 
of expression and the abovementioned objec-
tives varies for each of the goals justifying re-
strictions on that freedom and depends on the 
nature of the activities in question. When the 
exercise of the freedom does not contribute to 
a discussion of public interest and, in addition, 
arises in a context in which the Member States 
have a certain amount of discretion, review is 
limited to an examination of the reasonable-
ness and proportionality of the interference. 
This holds true for the commercial use of free-
dom of expression, particularly in a field as 
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complex and fluctuating as advertising (see 
Karner, paragraph 51). 

28. If the information disseminated on Mr Dam-
gaard’s website, which is at issue in the 
main proceedings, were to be found to 
constitute’advertising’ for the purposes of Di-
rective 2001/83, his conviction could be con-
sidered reasonable and proportionate, in the 
light of the legitimate aim pursued, namely the 
protection of public health. 

29. In the light of all the foregoing, the answer to 
the question referred is that Article 86 of Direc-
tive 2001/83 is to be interpreted as meaning 
that dissemination by a third party of informa-
tion about a medicinal product, including its 
therapeutic or prophylactic properties, may 
be regarded as advertising within the mean-
ing of that article, even though the third party 
in question is acting on his own initiative and 
completely independently, de jure and de 
facto, of the manufacturer and the seller of 
such a medicinal product. It is for the national 
court to determine whether that dissemination 
constitutes a form of door-to-door information, 
canvassing activity or inducement designed to 
promote the prescription, supply, sale or con-
sumption of medicinal products. 

Costs
30. Since these proceedings are, for the parties 

to the main proceedings, a step in the action 
pending before the national court, the deci-
sion on costs is a matter for that court. Costs in-
curred in submitting observations to the Court, 
other than the costs of those parties, are not 
recoverable. 

On those grounds, the Court (Second Chamber) 
hereby rules:

Article 86 of Directive 2001/83/EC of the Eu-
ropean Parliament and of the Council of 6 
November 2001 on the Community code re-
lating to medicinal products for human use, 
as amended by Directive 2004/27/EC of the 
European Parliament and of the Council of 
31 March 2004, is to be interpreted as mean-
ing that dissemination by a third party of in-
formation about a medicinal product, includ-
ing its therapeutic or prophylactic properties, 
may be regarded as advertising within the 
meaning of that article, even though the third 
party in question is acting on his own initiative 
and completely independently, de jure and de 
facto, of the manufacturer and the seller of 

such a medicinal product. It is for the national 
court to determine whether that dissemina-
tion constitutes a form of door-to-door infor-
mation, canvassing activity or inducement 
designed to promote the prescription, supply, 
sale or consumption of medicinal products.

[Signatures]
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PERSONAL DATA, INFORMATION ON RECIPIENTS OF 
DATA, TIME-LIMITS FOR STORAGE OF DATA, IMPOR-
TANCE OF PROTECTING PRIVACY, OBLIGATIONS OF 
DATA PROCESSORS/CONTROLLERS, RIGHTS OF DATA 
SUBJECTS

CAsE C-553/07 CoLLEGE 
VAn BURGEMEEstER 
En WEtHoUDERs VAn 
RottERDAM V M.E.E. 
RIJKEBoER
(Reference for a preliminary ruling from the Raad 
van State)

(Protection of individuals with regard to the pro-
cessing of personal data – Directive 95/46/EC – 
Respect for private life – Erasure of data – Right of 
access to data and to information on the recipients 
of data – Timelimit on the exercise of the right to 
access)

SUMMARY OF THE JUDGMENT

Approximation of laws – Protection of individuals 
with regard to the processing of personal data – Di-
rective 95/46

(European Parliament and Council Directive 95/46, 
Art. 12(a))

The right to privacy, set out in Article 1(1) of Direc-
tive 95/46 on the protection of individuals with 
regard to the processing of personal data and on 
the free movement of such data, means that the 
data subject may be certain that his personal data 
are processed in a correct and lawful manner, that 
is to say, in particular, that the basic data regard-
ing him are accurate and that they are disclosed 
to authorised recipients. As is stated in recital 41 in 
the preamble to the directive, in order to carry out 
the necessary checks, the data subject must have a 
right of access to the data relating to him which are 
being processed. 

Article 12(a) of Directive 95/46 requires Member 
States to ensure a right of access to information on 
the recipients or categories of recipient of personal 
data and on the content of the data disclosed not 
only in respect of the present but also in respect of 
the past. It is for Member States to fix a time-limit 
for storage of that information and to provide for 
access to that information which constitutes a fair 

balance between, on the one hand, the interest of 
the data subject in protecting his privacy, in partic-
ular by way of his rights to object and to bring legal 
proceedings and, on the other, the burden which 
the obligation to store that information represents 
for the controller. 

Rules limiting the storage of information on the 
recipients or categories of recipient of personal 
data and on the content of the data disclosed to 
a period of one year and correspondingly limit-
ing access to that information, while basic data is 
stored for a much longer period, do not constitute 
a fair balance of the interest and obligation at issue, 
unless it can be shown that longer storage of that 
information would constitute an excessive burden 
on the controller. It is, however, for national courts 
to make the determinations necessary.

(see paras 49, 70, operative part)

JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (THIRD 
CHAMBER)

7 May 200923

(Protection of individuals with regard to the pro-
cessing of personal data – Directive 95/46/EC – 
Respect for private life – Erasure of data – Right of 
access to data and to information on the recipients 
of data – Timelimit on the exercise of the right to 
access)

In Case C553/07,

REFERENCE for a preliminary ruling under Article 
234 EC made by the Raad van State (Netherlands), 
by decision of 5 December 2007, received at the 
Court on 12 December 2007, in the proceedings 

College van burgemeester en wethouders van Rot-
terdam v M.E.E. Rijkeboer,

THE COURT (Third Chamber),

composed of A. Rosas, President of the Chamber, 
A. ó Caoimh, J. Klučka, U. Lõhmus and P. Lindh (Rap-
porteur), Judges, Advocate General: D. Ruiz-Jarabo 
Colomer, Registrar: M. Ferreira, Principal Adminis-
trator,

having regard to the written procedure and further 
to the hearing on 20 November 2008, after consid-
ering the observations submitted on behalf of:

• the College van burgemeester en wethoud-
ers van Rotterdam, by R. de Bree, advocaat,

• M.E.E. Rijkeboer, by W. van Bentem, juridisch 

23 Language of the case: Dutch.

Case C-553/07 College van burgemeester en wethouders van RotterdaM v M.E.E. Rijkeboer
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adviseur,
• the Netherlands Government, by C.M. Wis-

sels and C. ten Dam, acting as Agents,
• the Czech Government, by M. Smolek, act-

ing as Agent,
• the Greek Government, by E.-M. Mamouna 

and V. Karra, acting as Agents,
• the Spanish Government, by M. Muñoz Pé-

rez, acting as Agent,
• the Government of the United Kingdom 

of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, by 
Z. Bryanston-Cross and H. Walker, acting as 
Agents, and by J. Stratford, Barrister, 

• the Commission of the European Communi-
ties, by R. Troosters and C. Docksey, acting 
as Agents,

after hearing the Opinion of the Advocate General 
at the sitting on 22 December 2008,

gives the following Judgment

1. The reference for a preliminary ruling relates to 
the interpretation of Article 12(a) of Directive 
95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of 
the Council of 24 October 1995 on the protec-
tion of individuals with regard to the process-
ing of personal data and on the free movement 
of such data (OJ 1995 L 281, p. 31;’the Direc-
tive’). 

2. This reference has been made in the context 
of proceedings between Mr Rijkeboer and 
the College van burgemeester en wethoud-
ers van Rotterdam (Board of Aldermen of 
Rotterdam;’the College’) regarding the partial 
refusal of the College to grant Mr Rijkeboer ac-
cess to information on the disclosure of his per-
sonal data to third parties during the two years 
preceding his request for that information. 

Legal context

Communitylegislation
3. Recitals 2 and 10 in the preamble to the Direc-

tive, relating to fundamental rights and free-
doms, state: 
‘(2) Whereas data-processing systems are
designed to serve man; whereas they must,
whateverthenationalityorresidenceofnatu-
ral persons, respect their fundamental rights
and freedoms, notably the right to privacy,
and contribute to economic and social pro-
gress, tradeexpansionand thewell-beingof
individuals;

…

(10)Whereas theobjectof thenational laws
ontheprocessingofpersonaldata is topro-
tect fundamental rights and freedoms, nota-
bly the right to privacy, which is recognised
bothinArticle8oftheEuropeanConvention
for theProtectionofHumanRightsandFun-
damentalFreedomsandinthegeneralprinci-
plesofCommunitylaw...’

4. Pursuant to recital 25 in the preamble to the 
Directive, the principles of protection must be 
reflected, on the one hand, in the obligations 
imposed on persons responsible for process-
ing, in particular regarding data quality, and, 
on the other hand, in the right conferred on 
individuals, the data on whom are the subject 
of processing, to be informed that processing 
is taking place, to consult the data, to request 
corrections and even to object to processing in 
certain circumstances. 

5. Recital 40 in the preamble to the Directive, 
which relates to the obligation to inform a data 
subject when the data have not been gathered 
from him, states that there will be no such ob-
ligation if the provision of information to the 
data subject proves impossible or would in-
volve disproportionate efforts and that, in that 
regard, the number of data subjects, the age 
of the data, and any compensatory measures 
adopted may be taken into consideration. 

6. Pursuant to recital 41 in the preamble to the 
Directive, any person must be able to exer-
cise the right of access to data relating to him 
which are being processed, in order to verify in 
particular the accuracy of the data and the law-
fulness of the processing. 

7. Article 1, entitled’Object of the Directive’, reads 
as follows: 
‘1. InaccordancewiththisDirective,Member
States shall protect the fundamental rights
and freedomsofnaturalpersons,and inpar-
ticulartheirrighttoprivacywithrespecttothe
processingofpersonaldata.

2.MemberStatesshallneitherrestrictnorpro-
hibit the free flowofpersonaldatabetween
Member States for reasons connected with
theprotectionaffordedunderparagraph1.’

8. The concept of’personal data’ is defined in 
Article 2(a) of the Directive as any information 
relating to an identified or identifiable natural 
person (‘data subject’). 

9. The Directive defines, in Article 2(b) 
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thereof,’processing of personal data’ as: 
‘any operation or set of operations which is
performed upon personal data, whether or
not by automaticmeans, such as collection,
recording, organisation, storage, adaptation
or alteration, retrieval, consultation, use, dis-
closurebytransmission,disseminationoroth-
erwisemakingavailable,alignmentorcombi-
nation,blocking,erasureordestruction’.

10. In accordance with Article 2(d) of the Directive, 
the’controller’ is the natural or legal person, 
public authority, agency or any other body 
which alone or jointly with others determines 
the purposes and means of the processing of 
personal data. 

11. Article 2(g) of the Directive defines’recipient’ 
as a natural or legal person, public authority, 
agency or any other body to whom data are 
disclosed, whether a third party or not, as de-
fined in Article 2(f) of the Directive. 

12. Article 6 of the Directive sets out the princi-
ples relating to data quality. With regard to 
storage, Article 6(1)(e) provides that Member 
States are to ensure that personal data are’kept 
in a form which permits identification of data 
subjects for no longer than is necessary for the 
purposes for which the data were collected or 
for which they are further processed. Member 
States shall lay down appropriate safeguards 
for personal data stored for longer periods for 
historical, statistical or scientific use’. 

13. Articles 10 and 11 of the Directive set out the 
information with which the controller or his 
representative must provide a data subject, ei-
ther where data relating to him are collected 
from him or where such data have not been 
collected from him. 

14. Article 12 of the Directive, entitled’Right of ac-
cess’, states as follows: 
‘Member States shall guarantee every data
subjecttherighttoobtainfromthecontroller:

(a)withoutconstraint,atreasonableintervals
andwithoutexcessivedelayorexpense:

–confirmationastowhetherornotdatarelat-
ingtohimarebeingprocessedandinforma-
tionatleastastothepurposesoftheprocess-
ing,thecategoriesofdataconcerned,andthe
recipientsorcategoriesofrecipientstowhom
thedataaredisclosed,

–communicationtohiminanintelligibleform
ofthedataundergoingprocessingandofany
availableinformationastotheirsource,

–knowledgeofthe logic involved inanyau-
tomaticprocessingofdataconcerninghimat
least in the case of the automateddecisions
referredtoinArticle15(1);

(b)asappropriatetherectification,erasureor
blockingofdatatheprocessingofwhichdoes
notcomplywith theprovisionsof thisDirec-
tive,inparticularbecauseoftheincompleteor
inaccuratenatureofthedata;

(c) notification to third parties to whom the
datahavebeendisclosedofanyrectification,
erasureorblockingcarriedoutincompliance
with (b), unless this proves impossible or in-
volvesadisproportionateeffort.’

15. Article 13(1) of the Directive, 
entitled’Exemptions and restrictions’, author-
ises Member States to derogate, inter alia, 
from Articles 6 to 12 thereof, if necessary to 
safeguard certain public interests, including 
national security, defence, the prevention, in-
vestigation, detection and prosecution of crim-
inal offences and other interests, namely, the 
protection of the data subject or of the rights 
and freedoms of others. 

16. Article 14 of the Directive provides that Mem-
ber States are to grant the data subject the 
right, on certain grounds, to object to the pro-
cessing of data relating to him. 

17. In accordance with the second subparagraph 
of Article 17(1) of the Directive, Member States 
are to provide that the controller must imple-
ment appropriate technical and organisational 
measures which, having regard to the state of 
the art and the cost of their implementation, 
are to ensure a level of security appropriate to 
the risks represented by the processing and 
the nature of the data to be protected. 

18. Pursuant to Articles 22 and 23(1) of the Direc-
tive, Member States are to provide for the right 
of every person to a judicial remedy for any 
breach of the rights guaranteed him by the 
national law applicable to the processing in 
question and to provide that any person who 
has suffered damage as a result of an unlaw-
ful processing operation or of any act incom-
patible with the national provisions adopted 
pursuant to this Directive is entitled to receive 
compensation from the controller for the dam-
age suffered. 

Nationallegislation
19. The Directive was transposed into Netherlands 

law by a general provision, the Law on the 
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protection of personal data (Wet bescherming 
persoonsgegevens). Furthermore, certain laws 
were adapted in order to take account of the 
Directive. Such is the case of the Law at issue 
in the main proceedings, that is to say, the Law 
on personal data held by local authorities (Wet 
gemeentelijke basisadministratie persoonsge-
gevens, Stb. 1994, No 494;’the Wet GBA’). 

20. Article 103(1) of the Wet GBA provides that, on 
request, the College must notify a data subject 
in writing, within four weeks, whether data 
relating to him from the local authority per-
sonal records have, in the year preceding the 
request, been disclosed to a purchaser or to a 
third party. 

21. In accordance with Article 110 of the Wet GBA, 
the College is to retain details of any commu-
nication of data for one year following that 
communication, unless that communication is 
apparent in another form in the database. 

22. It is apparent from the written observations 
of the College that the data held by the local 
authority include, in particular, the name, the 
date of birth, the personal identity number, the 
social security/tax number, the local authority 
of registration, the address and date of registra-
tion at the local authority, civil status, guardian-
ship, the custody of minors, the nationality and 
residence permit of aliens. 

The dispute in the main proceedings 
and the question referred for a 
preliminary ruling
23. By letter of 26 October 2005, Mr Rijkeboer 

requested the College to notify him of all in-
stances in which data relating to him from the 
local authority personal records had, in the two 
years preceding the request, been disclosed to 
third parties. He wished to know the identity of 
those persons and the content of the data dis-
closed to them. Mr Rijkeboer, who had moved 
to another municipality, wished to know in par-
ticular to whom his former address had been 
disclosed. 

24. By decisions of 27 October and 29 November 
2005, the College complied with that request 
only in part by notifying him only of the data 
relating to the period of one year preceding his 
request, by application of Article 103(1) of the 
Wet GBA. 

25. Communication of the data is registered and 
stored in electronic form in accordance with 

the’Logisch Ontwerp GBA’ (GBA Logistical Pro-
ject). This is an automated system established 
by the Ministerie van Binnenlandse Zaken en 
Koninkrijkrelaties (Netherlands Ministry of the 
Interior and Home Affairs). It is apparent from 
the reference for a preliminary ruling that the 
data requested by Mr Rijkeboer dating from 
more than one year prior to his request were 
automatically erased, which accords with the 
provisions of Article 110 of the Wet GBA. 

26. Mr Rijkeboer lodged a complaint with the Col-
lege against the refusal to give him the infor-
mation relating to the recipients to whom data 
regarding him had been disclosed during the 
period before the year preceding his request. 
That complaint having been rejected by deci-
sion of 13 February 2006, Mr Rijkeboer brought 
an action before the Rechtbank Rotterdam. 

27. That court upheld the action, taking the view 
that the restriction on the right to information 
on provision of data to the year before the re-
quest, as provided for in Article 103(1) of the 
Wet GBA, is at variance with Article 12 of the 
Directive. It also held that the exceptions re-
ferred to in Article 13 of that directive are not 
applicable. 

28. The College appealed against that decision to 
the Raad van State. That court finds that Article 
12 of the Directive on rights of access to data 
does not indicate any time period within which 
it must be possible for those rights to be exer-
cised. In its view, that article does not neces-
sarily, however, preclude Member States from 
imposing a time restriction in their national 
legislation on the data subject’s right to infor-
mation concerning the recipients to whom 
personal data have been provided, but the 
court has doubts in that regard. 

29. In those circumstances the Raad van State de-
cided to stay the proceedings and to refer the 
following question to the Court for a prelimi-
nary ruling: 
‘Is the restriction, provided for in the [Neth-
erlands] Law [on local authority personal re-
cords],onthecommunicationofdatatoone
yearpriortotherelevantrequestcompatible
withArticle12(a)of[the]Directive…,whether
ornotreadinconjunctionwithArticle6(1)(e)
of thatdirectiveand theprincipleofpropor-
tionality?’

The question referred
30. It should be recalled at the outset that, under 



1264 CASEC-553/07COLLEGEVANBURGEMEESTERENWETHOUDERSVANROTTERDAMVM.E.E.RIJKEBOER

EC
HR

EC
J

the system of judicial cooperation established 
by Article 234 EC, it is for the Court of Justice 
to interpret provisions of Community law. As 
far as concerns national provisions, under that 
system their interpretation is a matter for the 
national courts (see Case C449/06 Gysen [2008] 
ECR I553, paragraph 17). 

31. Accordingly, the question referred by the na-
tional court should be understood, essentially, 
as seeking to determine whether, pursuant 
to the Directive and, in particular, to Article 
12(a) thereof, an individual’s right of access to 
information on the recipients or categories of 
recipient of personal data regarding him and 
on the content of the data communicated may 
be limited to a period of one year preceding his 
request for access. 

32. That court highlights two provisions of the Di-
rective, that is to say, Article 6(1)(e) on the stor-
age of personal data and Article 12(a) on the 
right of access to those data. However, neither 
that court nor any of the parties which submit-
ted observations to the Court has raised the 
question of the exceptions set out in Article 13 
of the Directive. 

33. Article 6 of the Directive deals with the qual-
ity of the data. Article 6(1)(e) requires Member 
States to ensure that personal data are kept for 
no longer than is necessary for the purposes 
for which the data were collected or for which 
they are further processed. The data must 
therefore be erased when those purposes have 
been served. 

34. Article 12(a) of the Directive provides that 
Member States are to guarantee data subjects 
a right of access to their personal data and to 
information on the recipients or categories of 
recipient of those data, without setting a time-
limit. 

35. Those two articles seek, therefore, to protect 
the data subject. The national court wishes to 
know whether there is a link between those 
two articles in that the right of access to infor-
mation on the recipients or categories of recip-
ient of personal data and on the content of the 
data disclosed could depend on the length of 
time for which those data are stored. 

36. The observations submitted to the Court give 
different points of view on the interaction be-
tween those two provisions. 

37. The College and the Netherlands, Czech, Span-
ish and United Kingdom Governments submit 

that the right of access to information on the 
recipients or categories of recipients referred 
to in Article 12(a) of the Directive exists only in 
the present and not in the past. Once the data 
have been erased in accordance with national 
legislation, the data subject can no longer have 
access to them. That consequence does not 
run contrary to the Directive. 

38. The College and the Netherlands Government 
also submit that Article 103(1) of the Wet GBA, 
pursuant to which the local authority is to in-
form a data subject, on request, of data relat-
ing to him which, in the year preceding the 
request, have been disclosed to recipients, 
goes beyond the requirements laid down in 
the Directive. 

39. The Commission and the Greek Government 
submit that the Directive provides for a right of 
access not only in the present but also for the 
period preceding the request for access. How-
ever, their views diverge with regard to the ex-
act duration of that right of access. 

40. In order to assess the scope of the right of ac-
cess which the Directive must make possible, it 
is appropriate, first, to determine what data are 
covered by the right of access and, next, to turn 
to the objective of Article 12(a) examined in the 
light of the purposes of the Directive. 

41. A case such as that of Mr Rijkeboer involves 
two categories of data. 

42. The first concerns personal data kept by the 
local authority on a person, such as his name 
and address, which constitute, in the present 
case, the basic data. It is apparent from the 
oral observations submitted by the College 
and the Netherlands Government that those 
data may be stored for a long time. They 
constitute’personal data’ within the meaning 
of Article 2(a) of the Directive, because they 
represent information relating to an identi-
fied or identifiable natural person (see, to that 
effect, Joined Cases C465/00, C138/01 and 
C139/01 Österreichischer Rundfunk and Others 
[2003] ECR I4989, paragraph 64; Case C101/01 
Lindqvist [2003] ECR I12971, paragraph 24; and 
Case C524/06 Huber [2008] ECR I0000, para-
graph 43). 

43. The second category concerns information on 
recipients or categories of recipient to whom 
those basic data are disclosed and on the con-
tent thereof and thus relates to the processing 
of the basic data. In accordance with the na-
tional legislation at issue in the main proceed-
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ings, that information is stored for only one 
year. 

44. The time-limit on the right of access to informa-
tion on the recipient or recipients of personal 
data and on the content of the data disclosed, 
which is referred to in the main proceedings, 
thus concerns that second category of data. 

45. In order to determine whether or not Article 
12(a) of the Directive authorises such a time-
limit, it is appropriate to interpret that article 
having regard to its objective examined in the 
light of the purposes of the Directive. 

46. Pursuant to Article 1 of the Directive, its pur-
pose is to protect the fundamental rights and 
freedoms of natural persons, and in particular 
their right to privacy with respect to the pro-
cessing of personal data, and thus to permit 
the free flow of personal data between Mem-
ber States. 

47. The importance of protecting privacy is high-
lighted in recitals 2 and 10 in the preamble 
to the Directive and emphasised in the case-
law of the Court (see, to that effect, Österrei-
chischer Rundfunk and Others, paragraph 70; 
Lindqvist, paragraphs 97 and 99; Case C275/06 
Promusicae [2008] ECR I271, paragraph 63; and 
Case C73/07 Satakunnan Markkinapörssi and 
Satamedia [2008] ECR I0000, paragraph 52). 

48. Furthermore, as follows from recital 25 in the 
preamble to the Directive, the principles of pro-
tection must be reflected, on the one hand, in 
the obligations imposed on persons responsi-
ble for processing, in particular regarding data 
quality – the subject-matter of Article 6 of the 
Directive – and, on the other hand, in the right 
conferred on individuals, the data on whom 
are the subject of processing, to be informed 
that processing is taking place, to consult the 
data, to request rectification and even to ob-
ject to processing in certain circumstances. 

49. That right to privacy means that the data sub-
ject may be certain that his personal data are 
processed in a correct and lawful manner, 
that is to say, in particular, that the basic data 
regarding him are accurate and that they are 
disclosed to authorised recipients. As is stated 
in recital 41 in the preamble to the Directive, 
in order to carry out the necessary checks, the 
data subject must have a right of access to 
the data relating to him which are being pro-
cessed. 

50. In that regard, Article 12(a) of the Directive pro-

vides for a right of access to basic data and to 
information on the recipients or categories of 
recipient to whom the data are disclosed. 

51. That right of access is necessary to enable the 
data subject to exercise the rights set out in 
Article 12(b) and (c) of the Directive, that is to 
say, where the processing of his data does not 
comply with the provisions of the Directive, 
the right to have the controller rectify, erase or 
block his data, (paragraph (b)), or notify third 
parties to whom the data have been disclosed 
of that rectification, erasure or blocking, unless 
this proves impossible or involves a dispropor-
tionate effort (paragraph (c)). 

52. That right of access is also necessary to enable 
the data subject to exercise his right referred 
to in Article 14 of the Directive to object to his 
personal data being processed or his right of 
action where he suffers damage, laid down in 
Articles 22 and 23 thereof. 

53. With regard to the right to access to informa-
tion on the recipients or categories of recipient 
of personal data and on the content of the data 
disclosed, the Directive does not make it clear 
whether that right concerns the past and, if so, 
what period in the past. 

54. In that regard, to ensure the practical effect of 
the provisions referred to in paragraphs 51 and 
52 of the present judgment, that right must of 
necessity relate to the past. If that were not the 
case, the data subject would not be in a posi-
tion effectively to exercise his right to have 
data presumed unlawful or incorrect rectified, 
erased or blocked or to bring legal proceedings 
and obtain compensation for the damage suf-
fered. 

55. A question arises as to the scope of that right 
in the past. 

56. The Court has already held that the provisions 
of the Directive are necessarily relatively gen-
eral since it has to be applied to a large number 
of very different situations and that the Direc-
tive includes rules with a degree of flexibility, in 
many instances leaving to the Member States 
the task of deciding the details or choosing 
between options (see Lindqvist, paragraph 83). 
Thus, the Court has recognised that, in many 
respects, the Member States have some free-
dom of action in implementing the Directive 
(see Lindqvist, paragraph 84). That freedom, 
which becomes apparent with regard to the 
transposition of Article 12(a) of the Directive, is 
not, however, unlimited. 
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57. The setting of a time-limit with regard to the 
right to access to information on the recipients 
or categories of recipient of personal data and 
on the content of the data disclosed must al-
low the data subject to exercise the different 
rights laid down in the Directive and referred 
to in paragraphs 51 and 52 of the present judg-
ment. 

58. The length of time the basic data are to be 
stored may constitute a useful parameter with-
out, however, being decisive. 

59. The scope of the Directive is very wide, as 
the Court has already held (see Österreichis-
cher Rundfunk and Others, paragraph 43, and 
Lindqvist, paragraph 88), and the personal data 
covered by the Directive are varied. The length 
of time such data are to be stored, defined in 
Article 6(1)(e) of the Directive according to the 
purposes for which the data were collected or 
for which they are further processed, can there-
fore differ. Where the length of time for which 
basic data are to be stored is very long, the data 
subject’s interest in exercising the rights to ob-
ject and to remedies referred to in paragraph 
57 of the present judgment may diminish in 
certain cases. If, for example, the relevant recip-
ients are numerous or there is a high frequency 
of disclosure to a more restricted number of re-
cipients, the obligation to keep the information 
on the recipients or categories of recipient of 
personal data and on the content of the data 
disclosed for such a long period could repre-
sent an excessive burden on the controller. 

60. The Directive does not require Member States 
to impose such burdens on the controller. 

61. Accordingly, Article 12(c) of the Directive ex-
pressly provides for an exception to the obli-
gation on the controller to notify third parties 
to whom the data have been disclosed of any 
correction, erasure or blocking, namely, where 
this proves impossible or involves a dispropor-
tionate effort. 

62. In accordance with other sections of the Direc-
tive, account may be taken of the dispropor-
tionate nature of other possible measures. With 
regard to the obligation to inform the data sub-
ject, recital 40 in the preamble to the Directive 
states that the number of data subjects and the 
age of the data may be taken into considera-
tion. Furthermore, in accordance with Article 
17 of the Directive concerning security of pro-
cessing, Member States are to provide that the 
controller must implement appropriate techni-
cal and organisational measures which, having 

regard to the state of the art and the cost of 
their implementation, are to ensure a level of 
security appropriate to the risks represented by 
the processing and the nature of the data to 
be protected. 

63. Analogous considerations are relevant with re-
gard to the fixing of a time-limit on the right of 
access to information on the recipients or cat-
egories of recipient of personal data and on the 
content of the data disclosed. In addition to the 
considerations referred to in paragraph 57 of 
the present judgment, a number of parameters 
may accordingly be taken into account by the 
Member States, in particular applicable provi-
sions of national law on time-limits for bring-
ing an action, the more or less sensitive nature 
of the basic data, the length of time for which 
those data are to be stored and the number of 
recipients. 

64. Thus it is for the Member States to fix a time-
limit for storage of information on the recipi-
ents or categories of recipient of personal data 
and on the content of the data disclosed and 
to provide for access to that information which 
constitutes a fair balance between, on the one 
hand, the interest of the data subject in pro-
tecting his privacy, in particular by way of his 
rights to rectification, erasure and blocking of 
the data in the event that the processing of the 
data does not comply with the Directive, and 
rights to object and to bring legal proceedings 
and, on the other, the burden which the obli-
gation to store that information represents for 
the controller. 

65. Moreover, when fixing that time-limit, it is ap-
propriate to take account also of the obliga-
tions which following from Article 6(e) of the 
Directive to ensure that personal data are kept 
in a form which permits identification of data 
subjects for no longer than is necessary for the 
purposes for which the data were collected or 
for which they are further processed. 

66. In the present case, rules limiting the storage of 
information on the recipients or categories of 
recipient of personal data and on the content 
of the data disclosed to a period of one year 
and correspondingly limiting access to that in-
formation, while basic data is stored for a much 
longer period, do not constitute a fair balance 
of the interest and obligation at issue, unless it 
can be shown that longer storage of that infor-
mation would constitute an excessive burden 
on the controller. It is, however, for national 
courts to make the verifications necessary in 
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the light of the considerations set out in the 
preceding paragraphs. 

67. Having regard to the foregoing considerations, 
the argument of some Member States that ap-
plication of Articles 10 and 11 of the Directive 
renders superfluous a grant in respect of the 
past of a right to access to information on the 
recipients or categories of recipient referred to 
in Article 12(a) of the Directive cannot be ac-
cepted. 

68. Articles 10 and 11 impose obligations on the 
controller or his representative to inform the 
data subject, in certain circumstances, in par-
ticular of the recipients or categories of re-
cipient of the data. The controller or his repre-
sentative must communicate that information 
to the data subject of their own accord, inter 
alia when the data are collected or, if the data 
are not collected directly from the data subject, 
when the data are registered or, possibly, when 
the data are disclosed to a third party. 

69. In that way, those provisions are intended to 
impose obligations distinct from those which 
follow from Article 12(a) of the Directive. Con-
sequently, they in no way reduce the obliga-
tion placed on Member States to ensure that 
the controller is required to give a data subject 
access to the information on the recipients 
or categories of recipient and on the data 
disclosed when that data subject decides to 
exercise his right to access conferred on him 
by Article 12(a). Member States must adopt 
measures transposing, firstly, the provisions of 
Articles 10 and 11 of the Directive on the ob-
ligation to provide information and, secondly, 
those of Article 12(a) of the Directive, without it 
being possible for the former to attenuate the 
obligations following from the latter. 

70. The answer to the question referred must 
therefore be that: 

• Article 12(a) of the Directive requires Mem-
ber States to ensure a right of access to in-
formation on the recipients or categories of 
recipient of personal data and on the con-
tent of the data disclosed not only in respect 
of the present but also in respect of the past. 
It is for Member States to fix a time-limit for 
storage of that information and to provide 
for access to that information which con-
stitutes a fair balance between, on the one 
hand, the interest of the data subject in pro-
tecting his privacy, in particular by way of his 
rights to object and to bring legal proceed-
ings and, on the other, the burden which 

the obligation to store that information rep-
resents for the controller. 

• Rules limiting the storage of information 
on the recipients or categories of recipient 
of personal data and on the content of the 
data disclosed to a period of one year and 
correspondingly limiting access to that in-
formation, while basic data is stored for a 
much longer period, do not constitute a 
fair balance of the interest and obligation 
at issue, unless it can be shown that longer 
storage of that information would constitute 
an excessive burden on the controller. It is, 
however, for national courts to make the de-
terminations necessary. 

Costs
71. Since these proceedings are, for the parties 

to the main proceedings, a step in the action 
pending before the national court, the deci-
sion on costs is a matter for that court. Costs in-
curred in submitting observations to the Court, 
other than the costs of those parties, are not 
recoverable. 

On those grounds, the Court (Third Chamber) here-
by rules:

Article 12(a) of Directive 95/46/EC of the Eu-
ropean Parliament and of the Council of 24 
October 1995 on the protection of individu-
als with regard to the processing of personal 
data and on the free movement of such data 
requires Member States to ensure a right of 
access to information on the recipients or cat-
egories of recipient of personal data and on 
the content of the data disclosed not only in 
respect of the present but also in respect of 
the past. It is for Member States to fix a time-
limit for storage of that information and to 
provide for access to that information which 
constitutes a fair balance between, on the 
one hand, the interest of the data subject in 
protecting his privacy, in particular by way of 
his rights to object and to bring legal proceed-
ings and, on the other, the burden which the 
obligation to store that information repre-
sents for the controller.

Rules limiting the storage of information on 
the recipients or categories of recipient of 
personal data and on the content of the data 
disclosed to a period of one year and corre-
spondingly limiting access to that informa-
tion, while basic data is stored for a much 
longer period, do not constitute a fair balance 
of the interest and obligation at issue, unless 
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it can be shown that longer storage of that 
information would constitute an excessive 
burden on the controller. It is, however, for 
national courts to make the determinations 
necessary. 

[Signatures]
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INTERNET ACCESS PROVIDER, DISCLOSURE OF PER-
SONAL DATA IN CIVIL PROCEEDINGS, ’INTERMEDIARIES’ 
PURSUANT TO DIRECTIVE 2001/29/EC

LsG-GEsELLsCHAFt ZUR 
WAHRnEHMUnG Von 
LEIstUnGssCHUtZ-
RECHtEn GMBH v tELE2 
tELECoMMUnICAtIon 
GMBH
19 February 200924

(Article 104(3) of the Rules of Procedure – Informa-
tion society – Copyright and related rights – Saving 
and disclosure of certain traffic data – Protecting the 
confidentiality of electronic communications –’In-
termediaries’ within the meaning of Article 8(3) of 
Directive 2001/29/EC)

In Case C557/07,

REFERENCE for a preliminary ruling under Arti-
cle 234 EC, from the Oberster Gerichtshof (Austria), 
made by decision of 13 November 2007, received 
at the Court on 14 December 2007, in the proceed-
ings 

LSG-Gesellschaft zur Wahrnehmung von Leis-
tungsschutzrechten GmbH v Tele2 Telecommuni-
cation GmbH,

THE COURT (Eighth Chamber), composed of 
T. von Danwitz, President of the Chamber, G. Arestis 
and J. Malenovský (Rapporteur), Judges, Advocate 
General: Y. Bot, Registrar: R. Grass,

proposing to give its decision on the second ques-
tion by reasoned order in accordance with the first 
subparagraph of Article 104(3) of the Rules of Pro-
cedure,  having informed the referring court that 
the Court proposes to give its decision on the first 
question by reasoned order in accordance with the 
second subparagraph of Article 104(3) of the Rules 
of Procedure,  after calling on the interested per-
sons referred to in Article 23 of the Statute of the 
Court of Justice to submit their observations in that 
regard,  after hearing the Advocate General,

makes the following Order

24 

1. This reference for a preliminary ruling concerns 
the interpretation of Directive 2001/29/EC of 
the European Parliament and of the Council of 
22 May 2001 on the harmonisation of certain 
aspects of copyright and related rights in the 
information society (OJ 2001 L 167, p. 10), Di-
rective 2002/58/EC of the European Parliament 
and of the Council of 12 July 2002 concerning 
the processing of personal data and the pro-
tection of privacy in the electronic communi-
cations sector (Directive on privacy and elec-
tronic communications) (OJ 2002 L 201, p. 37) 
and Directive 2004/48/EC of the European Par-
liament and of the Council of 29 April 2004 on 
the enforcement of intellectual property rights 
(OJ 2004 L 157, p. 45). 

2. The reference has been made in the context of 
proceedings brought by LSGGesellschaft zur 
Wahrnehmung von Leistungsschutzrechten 
GmbH (‘LSG’) against Tele2 Telecommunica-
tion GmbH (‘Tele2’) concerning Tele2’s refusal 
to send LSG the names and addresses of the 
persons for whom it provides Internet access. 

Legal context

Communitylegislation
• The provisions concerning the information 

society and the protection of intellectual 
property, particularly copyright

• Directive 2000/31/EC

3. Under Article 1(1) thereof, Directive 2000/31 of 
the European Parliament and of the Council of 
8 June 2000 on certain legal aspects of infor-
mation society services, in particular electronic 
commerce, in the Internal Market (‘Directive on 
electronic commerce’) (OJ 2000 L 178, p. 1) 
seeks to contribute to the proper functioning 
of the internal market by ensuring the free 
movement of information society services be-
tween the Member States. 

• Directive 2001/29

4. Recital 59 in the preamble to Directive 2001/29 
states: 
‘In the digital environment, in particular, the
services of intermediaries may increasingly
beusedby thirdparties for infringing activi-
ties. In many cases such intermediaries are
bestplacedtobringsuchinfringingactivities
toanend.Therefore,withoutprejudicetoany
othersanctionsandremediesavailable,right-
holdersshouldhavethepossibilityofapplying

LSG-GESELLSCHAFT ZUR Wahrnehmung von leistungsschutz-rechten gmbh v tele2
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foraninjunctionagainstanintermediarywho
carries a third party’s infringement of a pro-
tectedworkorothersubject-matter inanet-
work.Thispossibilityshouldbeavailableeven
wheretheactscarriedoutbytheintermediary
areexemptedunderArticle5.Theconditions
and modalities relating to such injunctions
shouldbelefttothenationallawoftheMem-
berStates.’

5. Under Article 1(1) thereof, Directive 2001/29 
concerns the legal protection of copyright and 
related rights in the framework of the internal 
market, with particular emphasis on the infor-
mation society. 

6. Paragraph 1 of Article 5 of Directive 2001/29, 
which is entitled’Exceptions and limitations’, 
provides: 
‘Temporary acts of reproduction referred to
inArticle 2,which are transientor incidental
[and]anintegralandessentialpartofatech-
nologicalprocessandwhose solepurpose is
toenable:

(a)atransmissioninanetworkbetweenthird
partiesbyanintermediary,or

(b)alawfuluse

ofaworkorothersubject-mattertobemade,
and which have no independent economic
significance, shall be exempted from the re-
productionrightprovidedforinArticle2.’

7. Article 8 of Directive 2001/29, which is 
entitled’Sanctions and remedies’, provides: 
‘1. Member States shall provide appropriate
sanctionsandremediesinrespectofinfringe-
mentsoftherightsandobligationssetoutin
thisDirectiveand shall takeall themeasures
necessarytoensurethatthosesanctionsand
remediesareapplied.Thesanctionsthuspro-
videdforshallbeeffective,proportionateand
dissuasive.

2.EachMemberStateshalltakethemeasures
necessary to ensure that rightholderswhose
interestsareaffectedbyaninfringingactivity
carriedoutonitsterritorycanbringanaction
for damages and/or apply for an injunction
and,whereappropriate, fortheseizureof in-
fringingmaterial aswell as of devices, prod-
uctsorcomponentsreferredtoinArticle6(2).

3.MemberStatesshallensurethatrighthold-
ersareinapositiontoapplyforaninjunction
against intermediaries whose services are
usedbyathirdpartytoinfringeacopyrightor
relatedright.’

• Directive 2004/48

8. Article 8 of Directive 2004/48 is worded as fol-
lows: 
‘1.MemberStatesshallensurethat,inthecon-
text of proceedings concerning an infringe-
mentof an intellectualproperty right and in
response to a justified andproportionate re-
questoftheclaimant,thecompetentjudicial
authoritiesmayorderthatinformationonthe
originanddistributionnetworksofthegoods
orserviceswhichinfringeanintellectualprop-
ertyrightbeprovidedbytheinfringerand/or
anyotherpersonwho:

(a)was found inpossessionof the infringing
goodsonacommercialscale;

(b)was found tobeusing the infringingser-
vicesonacommercialscale;

(c)wasfoundtobeprovidingonacommercial
scaleservicesusedininfringingactivities;or

(d) was indicated by the person referred to
inpoint(a),(b)or(c)asbeinginvolvedinthe
production,manufactureordistributionofthe
goodsortheprovisionoftheservices.

2.Theinformationreferredtoinparagraph1
shall,asappropriate,comprise:

(a)thenamesandaddressesoftheproducers,
manufacturers,distributors,suppliersandoth-
erpreviousholdersofthegoodsorservices,as
wellastheintendedwholesalersandretailers;

(b) information on the quantities produced,
manufactured,delivered,receivedorordered,
aswellasthepriceobtainedforthegoodsor
servicesinquestion.

3. Paragraphs 1 and 2 shall apply without
prejudicetootherstatutoryprovisionswhich:

(a)granttherightholderrightstoreceivefuller
information;

(b)governtheuseincivilorcriminalproceed-
ingsoftheinformationcommunicatedpursu-
anttothisArticle;

(c)governresponsibilityformisuseoftheright
ofinformation;or

(d)affordanopportunity for refusing topro-
vide informationwhichwould force theper-
sonreferredtoinparagraph1toadmittohis
ownparticipationorthatofhiscloserelatives
inaninfringementofanintellectualproperty
right;or

(e)governtheprotectionofconfidentialityof
informationsourcesortheprocessingofper-
sonaldata.’

 Theprovisionsconcerning theprotectionof
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personaldata

• Directive 95/46/EC

9. Paragraph 1 of Article 13 of Directive 95/46/
EC of the European Parliament and of the 
Council of 24 October 1995 on the protection 
of individuals with regard to the processing 
of personal data and on the free movement 
of such data (OJ 1995 L 281, p. 31), which is 
entitled’Exceptions and restrictions’, provides: 
‘1.MemberStatesmayadoptlegislativemeas-
ures to restrict the scope of the obligations
and rights provided for in Articles 6(1), 10,
11(1),12and21whensucharestrictioncon-
stitutesanecessarymeasuretosafeguard:

(a)nationalsecurity;

(b)defence;

(c)publicsecurity;

(d) the prevention, investigation, detection
and prosecution of criminal offences, or of
breachesofethicsforregulatedprofessions;

(e)animportanteconomicorfinancialinterest
ofaMemberStateoroftheEuropeanUnion,
including monetary, budgetary and taxation
matters;

(f)amonitoring,inspectionorregulatoryfunc-
tion connected, even occasionally, with the
exerciseofofficial authority in cases referred
toin(c),(d)and(e);

(g)theprotectionofthedatasubjectorofthe
rightsandfreedomsofothers.’

• Directive 2002/58

10. Article 5(1) of Directive 2002/58 provides: 
‘MemberStatesshallensuretheconfidential-
ityofcommunicationsand the related traffic
data by means of a public communications
network and publicly available electronic
communications services, through national
legislation. In particular, they shall prohibit
listening,tapping,storageorotherkindsofin-
terceptionorsurveillanceofcommunications
and the related trafficdatabypersonsother
thanusers,without the consent of theusers
concerned, except when legally authorised
todosoinaccordancewithArticle15(1).This
paragraphshallnotpreventtechnicalstorage
which is necessary for the conveyance of a
communicationwithoutprejudicetotheprin-
cipleofconfidentiality.’

11. Article 6 of Directive 2002/58 provides: 
‘1.Trafficdatarelatingtosubscribersandus-

ersprocessedandstoredbytheproviderofa
public communications network or publicly
available electronic communications service
must be erased or made anonymous when
it isnolongerneededforthepurposeofthe
transmission of a communication without
prejudicetoparagraphs2,3and5ofthisAr-
ticleandArticle15(1).

2. Traffic data necessary for the purposes of
subscriber billing and interconnection pay-
mentsmaybeprocessed.Suchprocessing is
permissibleonlyup to theendof theperiod
during which the bill may lawfully be chal-
lengedorpaymentpursued.

3. For the purpose of marketing electronic
communications services or for the provi-
sionofvalueaddedservices,theproviderofa
publicly availableelectronic communications
service may process the data referred to in
paragraph1totheextentandfortheduration
necessaryforsuchservicesormarketing,ifthe
subscriber or user to whom the data relate
hasgivenhis/her consent.Usersor subscrib-
ersshallbegiventhepossibility towithdraw
theirconsentfortheprocessingoftrafficdata
atanytime.

…

5.Processingoftrafficdata,inaccordancewith
paragraphs1,2,3and4,mustberestrictedto
personsactingundertheauthorityofprovid-
ers of the public communications networks
andpubliclyavailableelectroniccommunica-
tions serviceshandlingbillingor trafficman-
agement,customerenquiries,frauddetection,
marketing electronic communications ser-
vicesorprovidingavalueaddedservice,and
mustberestrictedtowhatisnecessaryforthe
purposesofsuchactivities.

6. Paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 5 shall applywith-
outprejudicetothepossibilityforcompetent
bodies tobe informedof traffic data in con-
formitywithapplicablelegislationwithaview
tosettlingdisputes,inparticularinterconnec-
tionorbillingdisputes.’

12. Under Article 15(1) of Directive 2002/58: 
‘Member Statesmay adopt legislativemeas-
ures to restrict the scope of the rights and
obligationsprovidedforinArticle5,Article6,
Article8(1),(2),(3)and(4),andArticle9ofthis
Directive when such restriction constitutes
a necessary, appropriate and proportionate
measurewithinademocraticsociety tosafe-
guard national security (i.e. State security),
defence, public security, and theprevention,
investigation, detection and prosecution of
criminaloffencesorofunauthoriseduseofthe
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electroniccommunicationsystem,asreferred
toinArticle13(1)ofDirective95/46/EC.Tothis
end,MemberStatesmay,interalia,adoptleg-
islativemeasures providing for the retention
of data for a limited period justified on the
grounds laiddown in thisparagraph.All the
measuresreferredtointhisparagraphshallbe
in accordancewith the general principles of
Communitylaw,includingthosereferredtoin
Article6(1)and(2)oftheTreatyonEuropean
Union.’

Nationallegislation
13. Paragraph 81 of the Austrian Federal Law on 

copyright in literary and artistic works and re-
lated rights (Bundesgesetz über das Urheber-
recht an Werken der Literatur und der Kunst 
und über verwandte Schutzrechte), in the ver-
sion published in BGBl. I, 81/2006 (‘the Austrian 
Federal Law on Copyright’), provides: 
‘(1) A person who has suffered an infringe-
mentofanyexclusiverightsconferredbythis
Law,orwhofearssuchaninfringement,shall
beentitledtobringproceedingsforarestrain-
inginjunction.Legalproceedingsmayalsobe
broughtagainsttheproprietorofabusinessif
the infringement is committed in the course
of theactivitiesofhisbusinessbyoneofhis
employees or by a person acting under his
control,orifthereisadangerthatsuchanin-
fringementwillbecommitted.

1(a)Ifthepersonwhohascommittedsuchan
infringement,orbywhomthereisadangerof
suchan infringementbeingcommitted,uses
the services of an intermediary for that pur-
pose, the intermediary shall alsobe liable to
aninjunctionundersubparagraph(1).

…’

14. Paragraph 87b(2) to (3) of the Austrian Federal 
Law on Copyright is worded as follows: 
‘(2) A person who has suffered an infringe-
mentofanyexclusiverightsconferredbythis
Lawshallbeentitledtorequireinformationas
regards the origin and distribution channels
ofinfringinggoodsandservices,totheextent
thatthiswouldnotbedisproportionatetothe
gravityoftheinfringementandwouldnotin-
fringestatutoryobligationsofconfidentiality;
the obligation to disclose information is on
the infringerandonanypersonswho in the
courseofbusiness:

1.havebeeninpossessionofinfringinggoods;

2.havereceivedinfringingservices;or

3.havesuppliedservicesusedfortheinfringe-

ment.

(2a)So faras isnecessary, theobligationun-
der subparagraph (2) todisclose information
includes:

1. the names and addresses of the produc-
ers,distributors,suppliersandotherprevious
holdersofthegoodsorservices,aswellasthe
intendedwholesalersandretailers;

2.thequantitiesproduced,delivered,received
or ordered, as well as the price paid for the
goodsorservicesinquestion.

(3) Intermediaries within the meaning of
Paragraph81(1a)shallgivethepersonwhose
rights havebeen infringed information as to
the identity of the infringer (name and ad-
dress)ortheinformationnecessarytoidentify
theinfringer,followinganapplicationinwrit-
ingbythepersonwhoserightshavebeenin-
fringed,suchapplicationtoincludesufficient
reasons. The reasons given must include in
particularsufficientlyprecisedetailsastothe
factswhichgiverisetoasuspicionthatthere
hasbeenan infringementof rights. Theper-
son whose rights have been infringed shall
pay the intermediary reasonable compensa-
tionforthecosts incurredintheprovisionof
thatinformation.’

The dispute in the main proceedings 
and the questions referred for a 
preliminary ruling
15. LSG is a collecting society. It enforces as trustee 

the rights of recorded music producers in their 
worldwide recordings and the rights of the 
recording artists in respect of the exploitation 
of those recordings in Austria. The rights con-
cerned are, in particular, the right to reproduce 
and distribute the recordings and the right to 
make them available to the public. 

16. Tele2 is an Internet access provider which as-
signs to its clients Internet Protocol Addresses 
(‘IP addresses’), which are most often dynamic 
rather than static. Tele2 is able to identify indi-
vidual clients on the basis of the IP address and 
the period or date when it was assigned. 

17. The holders of the rights defended by LSG 
suffer financial loss as a result of the creation 
of filesharing systems which make it possible 
for participants to exchange copies of saved 
data. In order to be able to bring civil proceed-
ings against the perpetrators, LSG applied for 
an order requiring Tele2 to send it the names 
and addresses of the persons to whom it had 



1274 LSG-GESELLSCHAFTZURWAHRNEHMUNGVONLEISTUNGSSCHUTZ-RECHTENGMBHVTELE2

EC
HR

EC
J

provided an Internet access service and whose 
IP addresses, together with the day and time 
of the connection, were known. Tele2 took the 
view that it was obliged to refuse that request 
for information. It stated that it is not an inter-
mediary and is not authorised to save access 
data. 

18. By judgment of 21 June 2006, the Handelsger-
icht Wien (Commercial Court, Vienna) granted 
LSG’s application, on the view that, as an Inter-
net access provider, Tele2 is an intermediary 
within the meaning of Paragraph 81(1a) of the 
Austrian Federal Law on Copyright and that, as 
such, it is required to provide the information 
referred to in Paragraph 87b(3) thereof. 

19. According to the order for reference, the de-
cision at first instance was confirmed on ap-
peal by the Oberlandesgericht Wien (Higher 
Regional Court, Vienna) by judgment of 
12 April 2007, in respect of which an appeal 
on a point of law has been brought before 
the Oberster Gerichtshof (Austrian Supreme 
Court). 

20. Before the Oberster Gerichtshof, Tele2 claims, 
first, that it is not an intermediary within the 
meaning of Paragraph 81(1a) of the Austrian 
Federal Law on Copyright or Article 8(3) of Di-
rective 2001/29, since, as Internet access pro-
vider, it indeed enables the user to access the 
Internet, but it exercises no control, whether 
de iure or de facto, over the services which the 
user makes use of. Secondly, the tensions in the 
relationship between the right to information 
entailed by the legal protection of copyright 
and the limits placed by data protection laws 
on the saving and disclosure of personal data 
have been resolved, in favour of data protec-
tion, by the Community directives. 

21. The Oberster Gerichtshof is of the view that 
the Opinion of the Advocate General in Case 
C-275/06 Promusicae [2008] ECR I271, de-
livered after the present order for reference, 
raises doubts as to whether the right to infor-
mation conferred by Paragraph 87b(3) of the 
Austrian Federal Law on Copyright, read in 
conjunction with Paragraph 81(1a) thereof, is 
in conformity with the directives adopted in 
the data protection field and, in particular, with 
Articles 5, 6 and 15 of Directive 2002/58. The 
aforementioned provisions of Austrian law re-
quire private third parties to be provided with 
information on personal data relating to Inter-
net traffic, thereby imposing a duty to disclose, 
which presupposes that the Internet traffic 

data have first been processed and saved. 

22. In those circumstances, the Oberster Ger-
ichtshof decided to stay the proceedings and 
to refer the following questions to the Court of 
Justice for a preliminary ruling: 
‘(1)Istheterm“intermediary”inArticle5(1)(a)
andArticle8(3)ofDirective[2001/29]tobein-
terpretedasincludinganaccessproviderwho
merelyprovidesauserwithaccesstothenet-
workbyallocatinghimadynamic IPaddress
butdoesnothimselfprovidehimwithanyser-
vicessuchasemail,FTPorfilesharingservices
anddoesnotexerciseanycontrol,whetherde
iure or de facto, over the serviceswhich the
usermakesuseof?

(2) If the firstquestion isanswered in theaf-
firmative:

Is Article 8(3) of Directive [2004/48], regard
beinghadtoArticle6andArticle15ofDirec-
tive[2002/58],tobeinterpreted(restrictively)
as not permitting the disclosure of personal
trafficdatatoprivatethirdpartiesforthepur-
posesofcivilproceedingsforallegedinfringe-
mentsofexclusive rightsprotectedbycopy-
right(rightsofexploitationanduse)?’

The questions referred for a 
preliminary ruling
23. Under Article 104(3) of the Rules of Procedure 

– that is to say, inter alia, where the answer to a 
question referred to the Court for a preliminary 
ruling may be clearly deduced from existing 
case-law or where the answer to the question 
admits of no reasonable doubt – the Court may 
give its decision by reasoned order. 

Thesecondquestion
24. By its second question, which it is appropriate 

to consider first, the national court essentially 
asks whether Community law, in particular Ar-
ticle 8(3) of Directive 2004/48, read in conjunc-
tion with Articles 6 and 15 of Directive 2002/58, 
precludes Member States from imposing an 
obligation to disclose to private third parties 
personal data relating to Internet traffic in or-
der to enable them to bring civil proceedings 
for copyright infringements. 

25. The reply to that question can be clearly in-
ferred from the case-law of the Court. 

26. In paragraph 53 of Promusicae, the Court stated 
that the exceptions provided for in Article 15(1) 
of Directive 2002/58, which refers expressly to 
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Article 13(1) of Directive 95/46, include meas-
ures which are necessary for the protection of 
the rights and freedoms of others. As it does 
not specify the rights and freedoms covered 
by that exception, Directive 2002/58 must be 
interpreted as reflecting the intention of the 
Community legislature not to exclude from its 
scope the protection of the right to property or 
situations in which authors seek to obtain that 
protection through civil proceedings. 

27. The Court inferred from this, in paragraphs 54 
and 55 of Promusicae, that Directive 2002/58 
– in particular, Article 15(1) thereof – does not 
preclude the Member States from imposing 
an obligation to disclose personal data in the 
context of civil proceedings, nor does it oblige 
them to impose such an obligation. 

28. Moreover, the Court pointed out that the 
freedom which Member States retain to give 
priority to the right to privacy or to the right 
to property is qualified by a number of require-
ments. Accordingly, when transposing Direc-
tives 2000/31, 2001/29, 2002/58 and 2004/48 
into national law, it is for the Member States 
to ensure that they rely on an interpretation 
of those directives which allows a fair balance 
to be struck between the various fundamental 
rights protected by the Community legal or-
der. Furthermore, when applying the measures 
transposing those directives, the authorities 
and courts of Member States must not only in-
terpret their national law in a manner consist-
ent with those directives, but must also make 
sure that they do not rely on an interpretation 
of those directives which would conflict with 
those fundamental rights or with the other 
general principles of Community law, such as 
the principle of proportionality (Promusicae, 
paragraph 70). 

29. Accordingly, the answer to the second ques-
tion is that Community law – in particular, 
Article 8(3) of Directive 2004/48, read in con-
junction with Article 15(1) of Directive 2002/58 
– does not preclude Member States from 
imposing an obligation to disclose to private 
third parties personal data relating to Inter-
net traffic in order to enable them to bring 
civil proceedings for copyright infringements. 
Community law nevertheless requires Member 
States to ensure that, when transposing Direc-
tives 2000/31, 2001/29, 2002/58 and 2004/48 
into national law, they rely on an interpretation 
of those directives which allows a fair balance 
to be struck between the various fundamental 
rights involved. Moreover, when applying the 

measures transposing those directives, the 
authorities and courts of Member States must 
not only interpret their national law in a man-
ner consistent with those directives, but must 
also make sure that they do not rely on an in-
terpretation of those directives which would 
conflict with those fundamental rights or with 
the other general principles of Community law, 
such as the principle of proportionality. 

Thefirstquestion
30. By its first question, the national court asks, 

essentially, whether access providers which 
merely provide users with Internet access, 
without offering other services or exercis-
ing any control, whether de iure or de facto, 
over the services which users make use of, 
are’intermediaries’ within the meaning of Arti-
cles 5(1)(a) and 8(3) of Directive 2001/29. 

31. On the view that the answer to that question 
admits of no reasonable doubt, the Court in-
formed the national court, in accordance with 
the second paragraph of Article 104(3) of the 
Rules of Procedure, that it proposed to give its 
decision by reasoned order, and called on the 
interested parties referred to in Article 23 of the 
Statute of the Court of Justice to submit any 
observations they might have in that regard. 

32. LSG, the Spanish and United Kingdom Govern-
ments and the Commission of the European 
Communities indicated to the Court that they 
had no objection to the Court’s proposal to 
give its decision by reasoned order. 

33. Tele2 confines its observations in that regard, 
essentially, to those matters already raised in 
its written pleadings. According to Tele2, Com-
munity law accords Internet access providers 
privileged treatment, in terms of liability, which 
is incompatible with an unlimited obligation 
to disclose information. However, those argu-
ments are not such as to lead the Court to rule 
out the procedural route envisaged. 

34. It follows clearly both from the order for refer-
ence and from the wording of the questions 
referred that, by its first question, the national 
court wishes to know whether Internet access 
providers who merely enable the user to ac-
cess the Internet may be required to provide 
the information referred to in the second ques-
tion. 

35. First, it should be pointed out that Article 5(1)
(a) of Directive 2001/29 requires Member 
States to provide for exemptions from repro-
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36. The point at issue in the dispute before the re-
ferring court is whether LSG can rely on a right 
to information as against Tele2, not whether 
Tele2 has infringed reproduction rights. 

37. It follows that an interpretation of Article 5(1)
(a) of Directive 2001/29 serves no purpose in 
relation to the outcome of the dispute before 
the referring court. 

38. Tele2 maintains, inter alia, that intermediaries 
must be in a position to bring copyright in-
fringements to an end. Internet access provid-
ers, on the other hand, in as much as they ex-
ercise no control, whether de iure or de facto, 
over the services accessed by the user, are not 
capable of bringing such infringements to an 
end and, accordingly, are not’intermediaries’ 
within the meaning of Directive 2001/29. 

39. It should be noted at the outset that Promu-
sicae concerned the communication by Tel-
efónica de España SAU – a commercial un-
dertaking engaged, inter alia, in the provision 
of Internet access services – of the identities 
and physical addresses of certain persons to 
whom it provided such services and whose IP 
addresses and dates and times of connection 
were known (Promusicae, paragraphs 29 and 
30). 

40. It is common ground, as is apparent from the 
question referred and from the facts in Pro-
musicae, that Telefónica de España SAU was 
an Internet access provider (Promusicae, para-
graphs 30 and 34). 

41. Accordingly, in holding – in paragraph 70 of 
Promusicae – that Directives 2000/31, 2001/29, 
2002/58 and 2004/48 do not require the Mem-
ber States to impose, in a situation such as that 
in Promusicae, an obligation to communicate 
personal data in order to ensure effective pro-
tection of copyright in the context of civil pro-
ceedings, the Court did not immediately rule 
out the possibility that Member States may, 
pursuant to Article 8(1) of Directive 2004/48, 
place Internet access providers under a duty of 
disclosure. 

42. It should also be pointed out that, under Arti-
cle 8(3) of Directive 2001/29, Member States 
are to ensure that rightholders are in a position 
to apply for an injunction against intermediar-
ies whose services are used by a third party to 
infringe a copyright or related right. 

43. Access providers who merely enable clients to 

access the Internet, even without offering oth-
er services or exercising any control, whether 
de iure or de facto, over the services which us-
ers make use of, provide a service capable of 
being used by a third party to infringe a copy-
right or related right, inasmuch as those access 
providers supply the user with the connection 
enabling him to infringe such rights. 

44. Moreover, according to Recital 59 in the pre-
amble to Directive 2001/29, rightholders 
should have the possibility of applying for an 
injunction against an intermediary who’carries 
a third party’s infringement of a protected work 
or other subject-matter in a network’. It is com-
mon ground that access providers, in granting 
access to the Internet, make it possible for such 
unauthorised material to be transmitted be-
tween a subscriber to that service and a third 
party. 

45. That interpretation is borne out by the aim 
of Directive 2001/29 which, as is apparent in 
particular from Article 1(1) thereof, seeks to 
ensure the legal protection of copyright and 
related rights in the framework of the inter-
nal market. The protection sought by Direc-
tive 2001/29 would be substantially dimin-
ished if ’intermediaries’, within the meaning 
of Article 8(3) of that directive, were to be 
construed as not covering access providers, 
which alone are in possession of the data mak-
ing it possible to identify the users who have 
infringed those rights. 

46. In view of the foregoing, the answer to the first 
question is that access providers which merely 
provide users with Internet access, without 
offering other services such as email, FTP or 
filesharing services or exercising any control, 
whether de iure or de facto, over the services 
which users make use of, must be regarded 
as’intermediaries’ within the meaning of Arti-
cle 8(3) of Directive 2001/29. 

Costs
47. Since these proceedings are, for the parties 

to the main proceedings, a step in the action 
pending before the national court, the deci-
sion on costs is a matter for that court. Costs in-
curred in submitting observations to the Court, 
other than the costs of those parties, are not 
recoverable. 

On those grounds, the Court (Eighth Chamber) 
hereby rules:
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1. Community law – in particular, Article 8(3) 
of Directive 2004/48/EC of the European Par-
liament and of the Council of 29 April 2004 
on the enforcement of intellectual property 
rights, read in conjunction with Article 15(1) 
of Directive 2002/58/EC of the European Par-
liament and of the Council of 12 July 2002 
concerning the processing of personal data 
and the protection of privacy in the electronic 
communications sector (Directive on privacy 
and electronic communications) – does not 
preclude Member States from imposing an 
obligation to disclose to private third parties 
personal data relating to Internet traffic in 
order to enable them to bring civil proceed-
ings for copyright infringements. Community 
law nevertheless requires Member States to 
ensure that, when transposing into national 
law Directive 2000/31/EC of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2000 
on certain legal aspects of information society 
services, in particular electronic commerce, in 
the Internal Market (‘Directive on electronic 
commerce’), Directive 2001/29/EC of the Eu-
ropean Parliament and of the Council of 22 
May 2001 on the harmonisation of certain 
aspects of copyright and related rights in the 
information society, and Directives 2002/58 
and 2004/48, they rely on an interpretation of 
those directives which allows a fair balance to 
be struck between the various fundamental 
rights involved. Moreover, when applying the 
measures transposing those directives, the 
authorities and courts of Member States must 
not only interpret their national law in a man-
ner consistent with those directives but must 
also make sure that they do not rely on an in-
terpretation of those directives which would 
conflict with those fundamental rights or with 
the other general principles of Community 
law, such as the principle of proportionality.

2. Access providers which merely provide us-
ers with Internet access, without offering 
other services such as email, fTP or file-
sharing services or exercising any control, 
whether de iure or de facto, over the services 
which users make use of, must be regarded 
as’intermediaries’ within the meaning of Arti-
cle 8(3) of Directive 2001/29.

[Signatures]
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